

European Commission

# Proceedings of the 7<sup>th</sup> International Conference EEDAL'2013 Energy Efficiency in Domestic Appliances and Lighting

Gueorgui Trenev Paolo Bertoldi

JOINT RESEARCH CENTRE

2014

Report EUR 26660 EN



European Commission Joint Research Centre Institute for Energy and Transport

Contact information Paolo Bertoldi Address: Joint Research Centre, Via Enrico Fermi 2749, TP 450, 21027 Ispra (VA), Italy E-mail: paolo.bertoldi@ec.europa.eu Tel.: +39 0332 78 9299 Fax: +39 0332 78 9992 www.jrc.ec.europa.eu http://re.jrc.ec.europa.eu/energyefficiency/

Legal Notice

Neither the European Commission nor any person acting on behalf of the Commission is responsible for the use which might be made of this publication.

Europe Direct is a service to help you find answers to your questions about the European Union Freephone number (\*): 00 800 6 7 8 9 10 11 (\*) Certain mobile telephone operators do not allow access to 00 800 numbers or these calls may be billed.

A great deal of additional information on the European Union is available on the Internet. It can be accessed through the Europa server http://europa.eu/.

JRC 89810

EUR 26660 EN

ISBN 978-92-79-38406-6

ISSN 1831-9424

doi: 10.2790/2313

Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union, 2014

© European Union, 2014

Reproduction is authorised provided the source is acknowledged.

Printed in Italy

# Proceedings of the 7<sup>th</sup> International Conference EEDAL'2013 Energy Efficiency in Domestic Appliances and Lighting

**Gueorgui Trenev** 

Paolo Bertoldi

......

JOINT RESEARCH CENTRE

# Contents

Programme and Policies. Monitoring and Evaluation	
Improving confidence of evaluation of energy savings through international standards Li Pengcheng, Liu Meng, Chen Haihong	1
Sustainability - Measuring Environmental Impacts Sriram Gopal, Kevin Messner, Wayne Morris	8
Economic analysis of the energy-efficient household appliances and the rebound effect Abdessalem Tahar, Labidi Etidel	17
Towards an Evaluation Framework for Appliance Standards, Labeling, and Incentive Programs in China John Romankiewicz, Nan Zhou, Edward Vine, Nina Zheng Khanna, David Fridley	31
An econometric model to access residential electricity savings in the EU <i>Paolo Bertoldi, Bettina Hirl</i>	45
Measuring Success in Mid-Stream Programs: Design and Evaluation Recommendations from a TV Program <i>Marti Frank, Jane Peters, Joe Van Clock, Alex Dunn</i>	56
The Supply Side Matters: Estimating the Impact of a Residential Lighting Program Using Sales Data Iris Sulyma, K.H. Tiedemann	69
Systematic market monitoring: a pilot project on TVs demonstrates the value for policy design Sophie Attali, Anette Michel, Eric Bush	80
The electricity consumption of household appliances in the European Union and the effects of existing EU energy efficiency policies on its evolution <i>Nicola Labanca, Paolo Bertoldi, Bettina Hirl</i>	94
Trends in Residential Electricity Use and Other Lesson from Data Analysis Virve Rouhiainen	109
Assessment of electricity consumption explanatory factors for large electrical appliances Bruno Lapillonne, Carine Sebi and Didier Bossebouef	124
Government subsidies to replace energy inefficient appliances; The outcome and the impacts on the consumers and the local market <i>Eddie Bet Hazavdi, Rachel Zaken</i>	139
Strategies for Increasing Efficiency	
Bottom-up scenario calculations for 10 world regions reveal worldwide efficiency potentials of about 50 % for refrigeration and washing	147

Claus Barthel,	Thomas	Götz,	Antoine	Durand,	Lena Tholen	

 Measuring Electric Energy Efficiency in Portuguese Households: a tool for energy policy
 164

 Thomas Weyman-Jones, Júlia Mendonça Boucinha, Catarina Feteira Inácio
 164

Lessons from a large scale energy consumption study in UK households 177 Chris Evans

Project ACHIEVE: promotion of practical and structural solutions that help Europeans to reduce fuel poverty *Marie Moisan, Lidija Živčič, Barbara Kalker* 

Community based social marketing and energy efficiency – an evaluation of engagement strategies and domestic retrofit policies <i>Aaron Gillich, Minna Sunikka-Blank</i>	206
Do we know the way now? Using international comparison to confirm a policy package that can deliver energy savings from appliances Lena Tholen, Stefan Thomas, Thomas Adisorn	219
The practical scope for reducing air conditioning energy consumption in Europe: policy opportunities and priorities Roger Hitchin, Christine Pout, David Butler	233
Enhance energy efficiency, technical and marketing tools to switch people habits in the long term <i>Gilles Guerassimoff, Johann Thomas</i>	253
Market Transformation Programmes	
Monitoring and Evaluation of green public procurement programs Aure Adell, Bettina Schaefer, Kavita Ravi, Jenny Corry	264
Energy efficiency and the Australian water heating market Michael Whitelaw	284
Avoiding 100 new power plants by increasing efficiency of room air conditioners in India: opportunities and challenges Amol Phadke,. Nikit Abhyankar, Nihar Shah	291
Transforming a residential appliance market K. H. Tiedemann, Iris Sulyma	305
Costs and benefits of energy efficiency improvement in ceiling fans Nihar Shah, Nakul Sathaye, Amol Phadke, Virginie Letschert	314
Efficiency 2.1 – New media for best informed consumers regarding sustainable and energy efficient products <i>Thomas Bogner et al.</i>	328
What is the price of energy efficiency or which appliance efficiency class is the most suitable? <i>Miha Tomšič, Anja Glušič</i>	338
Energy Profits with Controllable Electric Vehicle's Charger under Energy Box Decisions Hugo Neves de Melo*, João Trovão, Paulo Pereirinha, Humberto Jorge	348
Financing, Subsidies, Energy Efficiency Funds	
Italian financial and energy saving policies: Cost/Benefit Analysis based on the Enea Reports issued within the survey span 2007 – 2010 Lorenza Di Pilla, Per Heiselberg, Anna Joanna Marszal, Salvatore Mura	357
Enhancing energy efficiency – Product related incentive schemes for the general public Kathrin Graulich, Corinna Fischer, Ina Rüdenauer, Dietlinde Quack	370
An Investigation of China's Subsidy Program for Energy-saving Products Zheng Tan, Hu Bo, Li Jiayang, Zeng Lei	380
A Review of the Concept of Energy Service Efficiency as a Metric for Assessing the Provision of Energy Services in Residential Buildings Erica Marshall, J. Steinberger, T. Foxon and V. Dupont	393

# International Co-operation

The benefits of creating a cross-country data framework for energy efficiency Alex Katzman*, Michael McNeil, Stephen Pantano	409
The SEAD Global Efficiency Medal Competition: Accelerating Market Transformation for Efficien Televisions <i>Kavita Ravi et al.</i>	t 422
Game Consoles: Comparing International Policy Actions Paul Ryan, Jonathan Wood	434
Focus on Developing Countries and Economies in Transition	
An evaluation of the energy efficiency Level of households appliances and lighting in Bauchi Tov Nigeria <i>Ibrahim Hussaini</i>	vn, 446
Promoting enery efficiency refrigerators in Ghana Eric Kumi Antwi-Agyei	456
The West African energy efficiency policy: using efficiency to achieve universal energy access Mahama Kappiah, Ibrahim Soumaïla, Anne Rialhe, Cristina Clain, Edgar Blaustein	462
MaximizingcClimate benefits through energy efficiency and refrigerant regulations for air condition case from India	oners: A 467
The Turkish energy efficiency plan – an ex-ante assessment of the residential sector Rainer Elsland, Can Divrak, Tobias Eleiter	480
Nigerian energy efficiency standard and label initiative: progress so far and lessons learnt Uyigue Etiosa, Jason Yapp, Benoit Lebot, Muyiwa Odele	497
Effects of appliance standby electricity consumption on Turkish residential electricity sector Mustafa Cagri Sahin, Gul Nihal Gugul, Merih Aydinalp Koksal	504
Metering	
Encouraging public support for smart metering through demonstrating energy saving potential of appealing home energy management <i>Henk van Elburg</i>	516
Detailed end-use metering of domestic appliances in Japan Takahiro Tsurusaki, Tatsunori Tsujimaru, Chiharu murakoshi, Hidetoshi Nakagami	524
Development of an interactive web application to improve residential end-use efficiency <i>HJ Vermeulen, Catharina du Preez</i>	537
The impact of home energy feedback displays and load management devices in a low energy ho development David Whaley, S.R. Berry, W.Y. Saman	ousing 549
Home Automation for a sustainable living – Modelling a detached house in Northern Finland Jean-Nicolas Louis, Antonio Caló, Kauko Leiviskä, Eva Pongrácz	561
Benchmark results towards energy efficiency in residential care homes for the elderly Paula Fonseca, Pedro Esteves, Lino Marques, Aníbal de Almeida, Darko Fercej	572
Whole Home Energy Use Study with Comprehensive Metering Package Robert Davis	585

#### **Measurement Methods**

-

.

ATLETE II – Verification of the energy label and ecodesign declarations Stefano Faberi et al.	598
A Proposed framework for moving towards International comparability of appliance energy efficiency policies Debbie Karpay, Stephen Pantano, Paul Waide	608
Are test procedures passing the test? Ensuring that measured results are representative of energy use in the field <i>Chris Calwell</i>	616
Communication	
Development of a communicating power supply to assist in energy monitoring and management Alan Meier, Steven Lanzisera, Anna Liao, Andrew Weber	629
Wireless communication in Smart Grids Home Area Network: a survey Victor Santos, João Trovão, Paulo Pereirinha	636
Energy efficiency in Inovcity Évora <i>Paulo Monteiro</i>	647
SMARTplug: Using smart devices for a managed charge of electric vehicles Ricardo Faria, Victor Ramirez, Pedro Moura, José Moreno, Joaquim Delgado, Aníbal de Almeida	657
Standards and Labels	
Widening the scope of the EU energy label Stephanie Boulos, Louise Evans	669
Come On Labels - Supporting energy labelling of products by monitoring labels in shops, collecting information about tests, supporting surveillance, and promoting to consumers <i>Juraj Krivošík, Corinna Fisher, Milena Presutto</i>	681
Evidence of progress- measurment of impacts of Australia's S&L program from 1990-2010 Danielle Lowenthal-Savy, Michael McNeil, Lloyd Harrington	697
YAECI – Yearly Appliance Energy Costs Indication Boudewijn Huenges Wajer, Rebecca van Leeuwen-Jones, Juraj Krivošík	709
Study on the energy efficiency of flat panel televisions in China: implications for energy efficiency standard, China energy labelling program and national incentive policies <i>Li Jiayang, Hu Bo, Zheng Tan, Zeng Lei</i>	723
TV Energy consumption trends and energy-efficiency improvement in the context of the Eco-design Directive (EU) No 642/2009 for mandatory use of the TV energy label Beate Diga	737
Appliance minimum energy performance Standards and Labelling (S&L) programmes: Whither thou Sub- Saharan Africa? <i>Mercy Shuma-Iwisi</i>	752
Building capacity for better enforcement of EU Eco-design and Energy Labelling in an EU accession country – Turkey case study <i>Necmettin Tokur, Tom Lock</i>	766
Appliances	

Timely replacement of notebooks considering energy consumption and global warming potential Siddharth Prakash\*, Ran Liu, Karsten Schischke,. Phil. Lutz Stobbe

Best available technology of plug-in refrigerated cabinets, beverage coolers and ice cream freezers and the challenges of measuring and comparing energy efficiency <i>Eva Geilinger, Martien Janssen, Per Henrik Pedersen, Paul Huggins, Eric Bush</i>	788
Efficiency strategies assessment for three appliances in the residential sector: refrigerator, dishwashing and washing machines Henrique Pombeiro, Carlos Silva	803
Innovative add-on to the home energy management system for residential swimming pool energy efficiency Pedro Adão, António Coutinho, Pedro Geirinhas Rocha	815
Residential Appliances	
Are German consumers using their dishwashers in an energy-efficient way? An Online Study of German Households <i>Sandra Bichler, Susanne Gorny, Rainer Stamminger</i>	824
Energy & Appliances 2015 project: a new approach for testing appliances with respect to end-users behavior <i>Patrizia Pistochini et al.</i>	831
Consumer-relevant assessment of automatic dishwashing machines by a new testing procedure for 'automatic' programmes Anna Bruchner, Rainer Stamminger	844
Heat Pump Tumble Driers: New EU Energy Label and Ecodesign Requirements in Europe, MEPS in Switzerland, Initiatives in North America <i>Eric Bush, Diane Damino, Barbara Josephy</i>	855
Vacuum space insulation for household appliances Roland Brüniger, Johannes Eckstein, Hans Tischhauser, Gerhard Staufert	867
Early replacement of circulator pumps - lessons from 400,000 PumpChecks motivating one in two German home owners <i>Johannes D. Hengstenberg, Justus von Widekind</i>	881
Office Luminaires: voluntary labels can pave the way to the next level in energy saving Eva Geilinger, Tobias Schleicher, Stefan Gasser, Eric Bush	886
Residential Lighting	
An investigation of the power consumption and quality of supply of LED lamp Adiel Jakoef, HJ Vermeulen,, S Fast, JC Bekker	894
High quality energy efficient lighting for the domestic sector Bernd Schäppi et al.	906
Going down the efficiency road for domestic lighting: Detailed assessments of possible savings in one- person house hold by new, efficient lighting solutions - a study based on measurements and health aspects <i>Egil Ofverholm, Carlos Lopes, Zinaida Kadic, Peter Bennich</i>	918
Comparison of omni-directional LED lamp performance: How do the IEA 4E performance tiers compare to current LED lamp technology in the United States? <i>Christopher Wold, Allison Hua Fan</i>	927
LEDs and Solid-State Lighting: the potential health issues Georges ZISSIS et al.	937
Product classification for LEDs: Lessons learned from other emerging technology efficiency policies Allison Fan, My Ton, James E. McMahon	950

A preliminary study of lighting energy performance in houses with various window systems 962 Jiangtao Du<sup>\*</sup>, Bengt Hellström, Marie-Claude Dubois

# Lifestyles and Consumer Behaviour

"GfK Global Green Index" Consumers contribution to energy efficiency Patrick Niemeyer	973
Are people continuing to save electricity?: Consistency of measures and behavior changes in the electricity crisis in Japan Ken-ichiro Nishio, Kenta Ofuji	985
Cold Wash – Do prejudices impede high energy savings? Barbara Josephy, Eric Bush, Jürg Nipkow, Karin Kleeli, Sandro Glanzmann	995
Residential survey to assess South Africa's energy saving potential – energy efficiency Theo Covary*, Yoshiaki Shibata	1007
Age as a determinant of residential energy demand <i>Philip Timpe, Matthias Deutsch</i>	1019
Study of the energy related properties' impacts on the price of appliances on Chinese market <i>Hu Bo, Zheng Tan, Li Jiayang, Zhao Feiyan</i>	1032
Understanding the consumer perspective: product solutions to enable and inspire consumers Francesca Meloni, Stefano Frattesi, Fabioluigi Bellifemine, Lucio Bianchi	1046
"Waking up the dragon – Can energy efficiency induce new and more consuming lighting practices?" Susana Fonseca	1059
Household energy saved by changing behaviour A case study from four islands Antje Klaesener et al.	1070
Residential energy consumption habits: The way European consumers use energy and their perceptions regarding energy efficiency <i>Silviya Yordanova, Mihai Petcu</i>	1080
Influence of user behaviour and home automation on energy consumption Viktor Grinewitschus, Tanja Lovrić, Nele Rumler	1092
Consumer Electronics	
Meeting the Challenge of Power Supply Efficiency in Regulations with Low Power Modes Richard Fassler	1104
"Battery Charger Systems: The Next Cross-cutting Policy Opportunity to Address Plug Load Energy Use" Suzanne Porter, David Denkenerger, Peter May-Ostendorp, Pat Eilert	1115
Potential for Energy Savings for Personal Video Recorders in Australia Keith Jones, Paul Rayn	1125
Behave and save money in consumer electronics products Laura Carvalho, F. Ferreira, A.R. Antunes, F. Alves, S. Ramos	1137
Energy efficient broadband infrastructure in mobile and fixed networks and use in the domestic sector Slavisa Aleksic, Gerald Franzl, Thomas Bogner, Oskar Mair vom Tinkhof	1145
Energy use trends, policies and savings opportunities related to consumer electronics Noah Horowitz	1156
Audio-Video Inter-Device Power Control Bruce Nordman, H.Y. Iris Cheung	1168

What is an energy efficient TV? Trying to find the best TV in China and in Europe Anette Michel, Eric Bush, Conrad U. Brunner, Hu Bo, Diane Damino	1179
Smart Appliances	
Smart Appliances: The Future of Appliance Energy Efficiency Kevin Messner, Charlotte Skidmore	1193
Improving Energy Efficiency with Smart Home Appliance Monitoring Amar Seeam, Jing Liao, Lina Stankovic, Vladimir Stankovic	1207
Where are the Smart Appliances? George Wilkenfeld	1219
Energy Efficient Products and Smart Homes Angeliki Papadopoulou, Bas Flipsen, Sacha Silvester, Han Brezet	1231
Smart Homes	
Smart home system: integration of energy facilities and environmental factors Weiliang Zhao, Lan Ding, Paul Cooper, Pascal Perez, Duane Robinson	1242
Use cases & requirements for smart home environment Josef Baumeister, Gerhard Fuchs	1252
Smart domestic solar -Why solutions for solar thermal and photovoltaics do not integrate into home automation? Gerfried Cebrat	1267
The potential for domestic hot water tanks and hot-fill appliances to help balance power systems and reduce CO2 emissions Daniel Saker, Phil Coker, Maria Vahdati, Charles Carey	1279
Demand Response	
Impact of residential demand response on the integration of intermittent renewable generation into the Smart Grid Smart Grid Pedro Moura, Gregorio Lónez, José Moreno, Aníbal de Almeida	1393
Voluntary peak load curtailment: What drives household performance? Dulane Moran, Hale Forster	1304
The Demand Reduction Potential of Smart Appliances in U.S. Homes Atefe Makhmalbaf, Viraj Srivastava, Graham Parker	1316
Review of load research studies applied to the Portuguese household sector Pedro Miguel, Luis Neves, A.Gomes Martins, João Sousa	1327
Buildings	
Energy and Economic Optimization to Achieve Near Zero Energy Homes in Europe: Implications of Inclusion of Lighting and Appliances Danny S. Parker, Philip W. Fairey, Andreas H. Hermelink	1339
Advanced Renovation of three Residential Buildings – Evaluation of a Field Test Davide Calì, Tanja Osterhage, Rita Streblow, Dirk Mueller	1349
Short term policy strategies and long term targets: the case of the German building sector Lukas Kranzl et al.	1358

Impact on energy consumption of a home automation system. A case study	1373
Angelo Baggini, Franco Bua, Annalisa Marra	

# Residential HVAC

Economic and environmental analysis of residential heating and cooling systems: a study of heat pump performance in U.S. cities Kenji Takahashi, Patrick Knight, Jeremy Fisher, David White	1386
High efficiency motor and drive for residential HVAC <i>Vijay Earanky, Paul Mullin</i>	1399
Study of China variable speed air conditioner: energy efficiency, life-cycle cost and impacts of subsidy program Zhao Feiyan, Hu Bo, Zheng Tan, Li Jiayang, Zeng Lei	1411
Ground-Source Heat Pump coupled with Thermal Energy Storage João Fong, André Quintino, Anabela Carvalho, Aníbal de Almeida	1420
Refrigerators	
Domestic refrigeration: low climate change impact solution for energy efficiency James Bowman, Tim G. A. Vink	1431
Unveiling the mysteries of refrigerator energy consumption Lloyd Harrington	1441
Dynamic model for predicting energy consumption of a household refrigerator Hiromi Habara, Sayako Nagayama, Ryo Nakano, and Yoshiyuki Shimoda	1455
Techno-economic analysis for introduction of super-efficient refrigerators in India Sumedha Malaviya, Amit Khare, Pramod Kumar Singh	1468

#### Introduction

Citizens and households are responsible for a large share of global energy and electricity consumption and the related greenhouse gas emissions into the atmosphere. Residential energy demand is also rapidly increasing, due to a higher degree of basic comfort and level of amenities: larger homes, new services and new appliances and equipment (in particular information and communications technology, ICT), which is putting a strain on the economies and energy infrastructures of both developed and developing countries.

Energy efficiency improvements in *residential appliances, heating and cooling equipment, ICT equipment and lighting* can play a key role in achieving a sustainable energy future and socio-economic development, and at the same time mitigate climate change. Energy efficiency measures related to residential appliances, heating equipment and lighting are in most cases highly cost-effective  $CO_2$  emission reduction actions, and offer good opportunity to increase the security and reliability of energy supply. In developing countries efficient residential appliances and lighting are vital to reduce household energy costs, to improve living conditions while reducing local pollution. In addition to technical progress on efficiency, large energy savings and carbon reduction can only be achieved with a paradigmatic change in consumer behaviour in the context of usage patterns of energy using products. These changes must be aided by "smart" product design providing automatic optimisation of energy and water resource usage for a given task and providing readily accessible feedback to the consumer to catalyse optimum usage patterns.

These themes are echoed in a growing number of *policy commitments* and in strategies calling for action at local, regional, national and global levels. The challenge, now, is to ensure market, policy, trade and information barriers do not impede the timely development, delivery and proper use of energy efficient residential equipment, resulting in a missed opportunity for climate change mitigation, security of energy supply and socio-economic development, particularly considering the present global economy. Last, but not least, the consumer must accept these changes and not misuse energy saving on one side by energy consumption for other purposes.

In addition, *smart appliances* and equipment, *smart meters* and communication protocols, allow households to be a key part of the *smart grids*, with storage, load flexibility and generation capabilities through renewable energies and *demand response and system energy savings*.

The international community of stakeholders dealing with residential appliances, equipment, metering and lighting (including manufacturers, retailers, consumers, governments, international organisations and agencies, academia and experts) have already gathered six times at the **International Conference on Energy Efficiency in Domestic Appliances and Lighting (EEDAL)** (Florence 1997, Naples 2000, Turin 2003, London 2006, Berlin 2009, Copenhagen 2011) to discuss the progress achieved in technologies, behavioural aspects and policies, and the strategies that need to be implemented to further progress this important work.

The previous EEDAL conferences have been very successful in attracting an international audience, representing a wide variety of stakeholders involved in policy implementation and development, as well as the manufacturing and promotion of energy efficient residential appliances and lighting. The EEDAL conference has

established itself as an influential and recognised international event where participants can discuss the latest developments, establish synergies and build international partnerships among stakeholders.

Following the success of the previous EEDAL conferences, the University of Coimbra and the European Commission Joint Research Centre, in collaboration with the United Nations Development Programme, the International Energy Agency, and the Collaborative Labeling and Appliance Standards Program (CLASP), organised the 7th International Conference on Energy Efficiency in Domestic Appliances and Lighting – EEDAL'13, 11-13 September 2013, in Coimbra, Portugal

EEDAL'13 provided a unique forum to discuss and debate the latest developments in energy and environmental impact of residential appliances and lighting, heating and cooling equipment, ITC equipment, smart meters and smart grids, consumer behaviour, the policies and programmes adopted and planned, as well as the technical and commercial advances in the dissemination and penetration of technologies and solutions, particularly: energy efficient residential appliances, consumer electronics and ICT, heating and cooling equipment and lighting.

The three-day conference included plenary sessions where key representatives of governments and international organisations, manufacturers and academia presented their views and programmes to advance energy efficiency in residential appliances and lighting, for example, through international co-operation on product information and eco-design requirements. Parallel sessions on specific themes and topics allowed in-depth discussions among participants. The conference also hosted ad-hoc workshops to review and advance international collaboration and provided opportunities strengthen existing and promote new initiatives and partnerships.

# Improving confidence of evaluation of energy savings through international standards<sup>1</sup>

# Li Pengcheng, Liu Meng, Chen Haihong

#### China National Institute of Standardization

#### Abstract

Several regions and organizations have standardized the evaluation of energy savings with different objects and diverse technical perspective. In 2008, ISO (International Organization for Standardization) and IEA worked together to identify standardized methodologies for the calculation of energy savings. International standards were proposed to harmonize the framework, principles and methodologies of evaluation of energy savings. In 2010, ISO decided to establish a new Technical Committee (ISO/TC 257, Energy savings) to start the development of international standards for determining energy savings in three categories: regions, organizations and projects. This paper presents the working program and newest progress of the international standards in this new technical field. The impact of the standards on stakeholders including policy-makers, evaluators, ESCOs and energy-using organizations will be discussed. The implementation of international standards and the paper discusses ways to implement these standards. The authors will also discuss the key factors which may affect successful implementation of these standards.

#### Introduction

In recent years, concerns about rising energy demand and climate change have greatly affected global energy-related practices. Both suppliers and users of energy resources now have to work toward conservation and increasing efficiency. Energy savings and resulting improvement of energy efficiency are the most effective ways to restrain energy consumption and reduce greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. Without energy savings and the progress made in energy efficiency since 1973, total energy consumption of OECD countries would have been 63% higher than at present. Further, IEA analysis shows that, for a group of 17 IEA countries (the IEA 17), total final energy consumption would have been 17% higher in 2006. According to this trend, it means IEA 17 has saved energy of 20 EJ in 2004.<sup>[1]</sup> More recently, the IEA and the IPCC 2007 Working Group III identified energy efficiency's significant potential to reduce GHG emissions over the next 20 to 30 years.<sup>[2]</sup>

IEA analysis shows many barriers to energy efficiency affect all economic sectors. These obstacles include uninformed investors with little familiarity with energy-efficient products and the difficulty of quantifying external benefits. As a result, it is important to coordinate policies in a way that addresses all of these barriers, across all sectors. As a cross-sector recommendation, it is recommended to develop measurement and verification protocols to ensure consistency in methodology, overcome uncertainties in quantifying the benefits of energy efficiency investments, and stimulate increased private-sector involvement. The total potential energy savings by sectors per year by 2030 may reach 82.1 EJ. (Fig. 1)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Project 201210231 supported by Special Fund for Sector Research in the Public Interest.



#### Figure 1 Potential energy savings from energy efficiency by sector per year by 2030<sup>[3]</sup>

Energy utilities play an important role in promoting energy efficiency. Utility activities to promote energy efficiency often combine a requirement to meet energy efficiency with the use of market-based instruments to enable utilities to trade savings obligations and to allow competition in the delivery of energy services towards savings targets. Through properly structured programs, utilities can recover costs and maintain revenues and profits by sharing the costs and benefits with the final consumer. This gives utilities a large incentive to ensure energy savings are delivered at least cost.<sup>[3]</sup> Energy savings and the resulting improved energy efficiency are the best ways to restrain energy consumption and reduce GHG emissions. The gains could be huge: total potential energy savings could reach 82.1 EJ by 2030, exceeding the annual electricity consumption in 2009 of China, Japan and the USA combined.

Measurement, calculation and verification have established themselves as the cornerstone to stimulate technologies and policies and encourage efficiency. According to the IEA, when determining energy savings it is important to ensure consistency in methodology; overcome uncertainties in quantifying the benefits of investments; and stimulate increased private-sector involvement.<sup>[4]</sup>

International standards are recognized as efficient tools to reduce uncertainty for all economic players. Technical consensus supports international trade and the development of new markets. Standards are also valuable in improving consumer understanding and confidence, which influences behaviour and choices. Technical standards to evaluate energy savings are not limited to the measurement of performance metrics; other standards in the field help in monitoring, identifying and verifying energy savings delivered via a range of programs. The adoption of these broader standards contributes to the development of more fungible and international energy efficiency markets, bringing us closer to the day when energy savings can be bought and sold as commodities in the same way electricity and gas are currently traded.

The standardization of energy savings is actually not an entirely new field, but has been carried out globally for two decades. As part of its national energy conservation plan, China has worked since the 1990s to develop and revise its national standards GB/T 13234, Method of calculating energy saved for enterprises (first published in 1991), and GB/T 13471s, Methods for calculating and evaluating the economic value of electricity saving measures (first published in 1992). The US Department of Energy (DOE) began working with industry in early 1994 to develop a consensus approach to measuring and verifying efficiency investments with the aim of overcoming existing barriers to efficiency. The North American Measurement and Verification Protocol (NEMVP) was published in 1996. The second version of the protocol renamed the International Performance Measurement and Verification Protocol (IPMVP), was published in 1997. A growing number of energy efficiency services companies are adopting the IPMVP, which is maintained by the Efficiency Valuation Organization (EVO) to measure and verify energy savings. In Europe, the European Union's Energy End-use Efficiency and Energy Services Directive (2006/32/EC) calls for the development of harmonized measurement and verification methods for energy savings. South Africa has also taken steps toward development of a

national standard for measurement and verification of energy savings. Internationally, the IEA has plans to evaluate energy savings policies worldwide.

#### **Development of ISO standards**

In 2007, ISO and the IEA recognized the need for an International Standard to promote energy efficiency and a shift to renewable sources. The two organizations agreed that the new standard should harmonize terminology and calculation methods for energy efficiency, consumption and savings, as well as methods and criteria to calculate energy yield of various primary energy sources.

In September 2010, the ISO Technical Management Board approved the creation of ISO technical committee ISO/TC 257, Energy savings, to develop the ISO standard. The scope of ISO/TC 257 is: Standardisation in the field of energy savings through general technical rules and specific methodologies for the calculation of energy savings in projects, organizations and regions, and guidance on measurement, verification, and assessment of data quality as it relates to these calculations. This TC is actively involved in developing the basic standards for determining energy savings in projects, organizations and regions; and providing effective tools, including quantitative methodologies, to enable stakeholders to better define, adopt, manage and improve technical and management measures to achieve energy savings and increase energy efficiency.

#### Working framework of ISO/TC 257

The main purpose of the new standards being developed by ISO/TC 257 is to facilitate the harmonization of national standards, specifications and requirements for determination of energy savings. Building on international practices and experiences, the upcoming ISO standards will target different levels, such as project level, enterprise level and regional level. The essential terminologies, technical rules, methodologies, tools and guidance for measurement, calculation and verification of energy savings may be addressed in different standards. The main work of these standards will include procedures, methodologies, principles, requirements and guidelines.



#### Figure 2 Working framework for measurement, calculation and verification of energy savings<sup>[5]</sup>

Figure 2 shows the working framework for measuring, calculating and verifying energy savings. According to the working scope, five categories are proposed to promote the development of standards in ISO/TC 257. These are:

- General technical rules
- Guidance on cross-cutting issues
- Methodology for regions

- Methodology for organizations
- Methodology for projects

#### ISO/TC 257 work programme

Energy savings amount to avoided energy consumption, which means that it cannot be directly measured in practice – a measured difference in energy consumption is often not a real energy savings because underlying conditions may have changed. It is usually necessary to calibrate inputs to determine real energy savings, and multiple methods (for example benchmarking) have been introduced to deal with this issue. Problems arise in evaluation of energy efficiency measures due to different methodologies in the calculation and evaluation methods used internationally. Many countries experience considerable difficulty in evaluating energy efficiency activities because of a lack of relevant International Standards. Transverse rules must be robust in relation to existing innovations in different countries and different fields if the new International Standards are to succeed.

Prior working items include general technical rules and some fundamental methodologies. These subjects will build the framework of principles and essential guidelines for developing special methodologies in different levels of items.



#### Figure 3 Working program of ISO/TC 257<sup>[6]</sup>

As shown in Figure 3, there are four standards have already been launched as new work in progress items and approved for registration within ISO/TC 257. The planed timeline for these projects is shown in table 1.

Table 1	planed	timeline	for IS	O/TC	257's	projects
---------	--------	----------	--------	------	-------	----------

Sequence number	Title	Current Stage	Planed published date
17741	General technical rules for measurement, calculation and verification of energy savings for projects	Working draft (WD)	April, 2015
17742	General calculation methods on energy efficiency and savings for countries, regions or cities	The 2nd versions of Committee draft	March, 2015
17743	Definition of a methodological framework applicable to calculation and reporting	The 2nd versions of Committee draft	April, 2015
17747	Determination of energy savings in organizations	Working draft (WD)	September, 2015

Note: Normally, the project of international standard in ISO will go through 5 key stages: New project (NP), Working Draft (WD), Committee Draft (CD), Draft International Standard (DIS) and Final Draft International Standard (FDIS).

More subjects could be developed as International Standards, or as a part of International Standards in ISO/TC 257, to enrich guidelines and tools to develop special methodologies in different levels. Potential additional subjects include: 1) framework and guidelines on measurement, calculation, verification and report of energy savings in energy efficiency services; 2) guidelines for selecting energy savings evaluators; 3) requirements of data quality for quantification of energy savings; 4) guidelines and procedures for analysis of energy savings potential; and 5) guidelines for evaluating and declaring energy savings in procurement of energy efficient products.

## Implementation of ISO standards

#### Users of ISO standards

When used properly, these tools can provide significant advantages and benefits to users in the private and public sectors. As a solid technical foundation for energy savings quantification, ISO/TC 257's work products may create a flourishing market in energy efficiency improvements. For International Standards on this issue, target users may include:

• Organizations quantifying their tally in relation to energy saving projects, installing the equipment and implementing the programmes

- Investors evaluating projects and/or technologies
- Policy-makers evaluating and quantifying the energy savings of energy efficiency policies and programmes
- Stakeholders quantifying cuts in GHG emissions due to initiatives at project, organizational or regional level

#### Benefits of the ISO standards

Adopting ISO standards to determine energy savings – whether in projects, organizations or regions – can help to manage increased numbers of national, regional and private methodologies. ISO/TC 257's International Standards will provide the comprehensive tools to better understand and communicate scores at different levels, and to improve performance.

Because these standards cover both producers and users of energy resources, their beneficiaries will be highly diverse. The new standards will help avoid technical barriers to trade while stimulating the market for energy efficiency services providers, most of which are small- and medium-sized enterprises. The standards will make efficiency measures more reliable and competitive in energy management and public administration. They will also reduce technical barriers in energy savings trade and, hopefully, ignite a flourishing market.

When used properly, the standards can bring users significant advantages and benefits. These include:

- More opportunities to identify worthwhile investment in technologies/projects
- · Enhanced clarity in understanding energy savings in projects/organizations/regions
- Greater confidence in the guaranteed/declared energy savings for projects
- · Increased potential to use energy rationally and to minimize waste

• More consistent, scientific and effective policy instruments to promote efficiency or cut consumption

- · Greater assurance for consumers of the validity of energy savings
- More firmly grounded assessments of GHG emission reductions linked to projects, organizations and programmes
- No technical barriers for energy efficiency services

These advantages and benefits contribute directly and indirectly to the interested parties' commitments to improved energy performance and sustainable development.

#### Key factors for success

A validation process by independent parties is the key factor in driving global acceptance of the ISO standards (such as certification of ISO 9000 series or ISO 14000 series standards). Similarly, the validation process is also an essential component of the GHG emissions reduction mechanism (liking Clean Development Mechanism, CDM). These standards also need a validation process that can be implemented by an independent party who will evaluate or verify the energy savings from projects, organization or regions. This will improve stakeholders' confidence in energy savings resulting from energy efficiency improvements. To establish a solid and practical validation process of energy savings according with these international standards, it is necessary to develop an integrated framework defining procedures for validating, requirements of validation bodies and competence of evaluator.

The new standards, combined with a validation progress, will give policy-makers greater confidence in making decisions based on potential energy savings from policy instrument liking energy efficiency programs. Furthermore, also as an important policy instrument, the energy savings trading systems (liking White Certification Scheme in Europe) built by authorities also show its big demand on standardization of procedures, methodologies, principles, requirements and guidelines for measurement and verification of energy savings in projects and organizations. The effective policy instrument will also push the governors, enterprise administrators or managers of energy efficiency projects to consider the energy savings results according to the international standards.

Capacity building is another key factor in the smooth implementation of standards. To help move the basic methods in the standards into real applications, it is necessary to have an abundance of competent personnel to apply these standards. It is important to develop a training and education program for the evaluators or verifiers of energy savings who will use the international standards. Efficiency Valuation Organization (EVO) has carried out a Certified Measurement & Verification Professionals (CMVP) program for persons determining energy savings of projects globally. It may provide best practices for future capacity building program for these international standards.

#### Conclusions

The effective measurement, calculation and verification of energy savings are the cornerstone of energy efficiency and sustainable development. In order to be successful, they require standardized tools, technologies and policies. Ongoing concerns about increasing energy demand and climate change have significantly affected global practices in recent years and both suppliers and users of energy resources have now to save energy and to improve energy efficiency. The work products of ISO/TC 257 – the basic standards for determination of energy savings in projects, organizations and regions and others – provide effective tools, including quantitative methodologies, for different stakeholders to better define, adopt, manage and improve the technical and management measures to achieve energy savings and increase energy efficiency. When used properly, these tools can provide significant advantages and benefits to users in both the private and public sectors. As a solid technical foundation for energy savings trade. Key factors include validation process, policy instrument and personnel competence will impact the wide use of these ISO standards.

# References

[1] International Energy Agency (IEA), Implementing Energy Efficiency Policies: Are IEA Member Countries on Track? 2009. ISBN 978-92-61-07568-9.

- [2] International Energy Agency (IEA), IEA World Energy Outlook, 2007.
- [3] International Energy Agency (IEA), 25 Energy Efficiency Policy Recommendations: 2011 update, 2011.
- [4] International Energy Agency (IEA), Joint Public-Private Approaches for Energy Efficiency Finance: Policies to scale-up private sector investment, 2011.
- [5] Li. P. and Li T. *Re-energizing energy saving: boosting global efforts to save energy and the environment.* ISO Focus+. Vol. 4, No. 1, January 2013, pp. 16-18.

# Sustainability – Measuring Environmental Impacts

Sriram Gopal, Kevin Messner, Wayne Morris

## Association of Home Appliance Manufacturers

# Abstract

The term "Sustainability" is well on its way to being incorporated into the standard business lexicon as manufactured products are evaluated and designed to lessen their environmental impact. Defining and measuring sustainability has been more difficult. The appliance industry has taken the next steps to integrate sustainable practices throughout its value chain. Historically in the appliance industry, the environmental burden of products was measured through energy efficiency or water efficiency, in addition to non-environmental measures such as safety and performance. Now, multi-attribute measures have been implemented, so the industry must also look at the material composition and end-of-life disposition of products/packaging, as well as the overall operations of the facilities that manufacture these appliances and their supply chains. In 2010, the Association of Home Appliance Manufacturers (AHAM) embarked on a process to develop a series of technical sustainability standards. Their goal is to comprehensively measure, and then reduce, the overall environmental impact of home appliances. Another important goal is to establish one credible standard that avoids competing and confusing standards that may or may not be relevant or accurate. AHAM's standard covering refrigeration products was published in June 2012, and 2013 will see the release of standards covering, clothes washers, dishwashers and clothes dryers. This paper describes the process AHAM is using to develop these standards, which starts with Life Cycle Assessment and includes pilot testing and collaborative input from key stakeholders in government, retail, academia, environmental advocacy, and others with expertise in sustainability.

#### Introduction

The Association of Home Appliance Manufacturers (AHAM) is a trade association that represents manufacturers of major, portable and floor care home appliances, and suppliers to the industry. AHAM's membership includes over 150 companies located throughout the world. In the U.S., AHAM members employ tens of thousands of people and produce more than 95% of the household appliances shipped for sale. The factory shipment value of these products is more than \$30 billion annually. The home appliance industry, through its products and innovation, is essential to U.S. consumer lifestyle, health, safety and convenience. Through its technology, employees and productivity, the industry contributes significantly to U.S. jobs and economic security. Home appliances also are a success story in terms of energy efficiency and environmental protection. New appliances often represent the most effective choice a consumer can make to reduce home energy use and costs.

AHAM is also a standards development organization, accredited by the American National Standards Institute (ANSI). The Association authors numerous appliance performance testing standards used by manufacturers, consumer organizations and governmental bodies to rate and compare appliances. AHAM's consumer safety education program has educated millions of consumers on ways to properly and safely use appliances such as portable heaters, clothes dryers, and cooking products.

# What Do We Mean By "Sustainability?"

There are many definitions of Sustainability or Sustainable Development. One definition was discussed when the World Commission on Environment and Development was convened in 1983 by the United

Nations. The commission was created to address growing concern "about the accelerating deterioration of the human environment and natural resources and the consequences of that deterioration for economic and social development." In establishing the commission, the UN General Assembly recognized that environmental problems were global in nature and determined that it was in the common interest of all nations to establish policies for sustainable development.

The Commission (also known as the Brundtland Commission in tribute to its Chair, Gro Harlem Brundtland) defined Sustainable Development in 1987 as a way of "development which meets the needs of the present generation without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs." It contains within it two key concepts:

- 1. the concept of 'needs,' in particular the essential needs of the world's poor, to which overriding priority should be given; and
- 2. the idea of limitations imposed by the state of technology and social organization on the environment's ability to meet present and future needs.

In the U.S., the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) has also embraced the concept of sustainability, stating that "[a] public policy perspective would define sustainability as the satisfaction of basic economic, social and security needs now and in the future without undermining the natural resource base and environmental quality on which life depends." This public policy recognizes "the need to support a growing economy while reducing the social and economic costs of economic growth."

The appliance sector has been advancing with technology continuously since it first appeared in the early 20<sup>th</sup> century. Today, technological advancements are occurring at an ever more rapid pace along with the size of many of the appliances. The main driver in the last 40 years has been to reduce the overall energy demands of the products and the achievements in this direction have been dramatic.

When the first life cycle analysis studies were performed on appliances in the latter 1990's, it clearly showed that energy during the use phase was the dominant driver on the environment. Today, while this is still a major contributor, it may not be the only major driver, and we need to be acutely aware of what those drivers may be. Through more advanced life cycle analysis approaches, we can better quantify the demands of these products on the environment.

# Why Are We Measuring Sustainability?

Certainly we could be satisfied with just measuring the energy when the product is used, but as we continue to make improvements in this area, we need to be able to apply a life cycle study approach to the inter-relationship between energy and other environmental demand factors.



Figure 1: Appliance Remanufacturing and Energy Savings (Source: Boustani et al. (2010))

As home appliances become more energy efficient, relatively speaking, the proportion of energy impacts from other activities within the product life cycle are increasing (see Figure 1). While this shows energy being significant, when we measure the full life cycle of the product, energy is but one of several attributes we need to consider.

One key element beyond energy will be the design of products in such a way as to minimize their environmental impacts through the materials that are used and how they are handled at end-of-life. An integrated way to quantify the environmental impact of products and to assess different product elements will assist design engineers with a methodology and tool with which to judge different designs and look for ways to reduce the overall demand on the environment.

Many companies are already assessing the impact of their products on the environment. They focus on this in their advertising and consumers are becoming more aware of the impact of their purchasing decisions on the environment. Increasingly, retailers are beginning to be aware that their purchasing decisions of what products they carry within their portfolio can have a definite impact on the overall environment.

We currently see more than 350 marks, symbols or "ecologos" across a variety of product sectors (see Figure 2). Many of these represent certification programs. Some represent single-attribute programs and others look at more than one attribute. Certainly consumers could easily be confused with all these environmental marks if care is not taken to create programs based on sound principles of science. These programs must also be transparent and equitable.



More than 350 "ecologos" across a variety of sectors...

Figure 2: Ecologos (Source: CSA Standards)

# Standards

AHAM believes the development of open and transparent standards using expertise from standards development organizations, industry experts and consultation with sustainability experts will benefit its member companies. To this end, we have involved multiple organizations, including The Sustainability Consortium, several individual retailers, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Environment Canada and Consumers Union. We are meeting regularly with these groups to discuss the process and the standards throughout their development. We believe a set of measurement standards will allow companies to judge their own products against those of other companies, and within their own product portfolio, in order to make decisions about future designs. Consensus standards development will allow all parties to present technical information and to participate among their peers.

The AHAM standards development process is also committed to ensuring that the development of the standard follows the principles outlined in ISO 14020 on Environmental Labels and Declarations. These core principles, as applied to the sustainability standard for refrigeration appliances, are listed below:

- 1. The product sustainability standard shall be accurate, verifiable, relevant and not misleading.
- 2. Procedures and requirements for the product sustainability standard shall not create unnecessary obstacles to international trade.
- 3. The product sustainability standard shall be based on scientific methodology that is sufficiently thorough and comprehensive to support the claim and that produces results that are accurate and reproducible.

- 4. Information concerning the procedure, methodology, and any criteria used to support the product sustainability standard shall be available and provided upon request to all interested parties.
- 5. The development of the product sustainability standard shall take into consideration all relevant aspects of the life cycle of the product.
- 6. The product sustainability standard shall not inhibit innovation.
- 7. All organizations, regardless of size, should have equal opportunity to use the product sustainability standard.
- 8. The process of developing the product sustainability standard should include an open, participatory consultation with interested parties.
- 9. Information on the environmental aspects of products and services relevant to the product sustainability standard shall be available to purchasers and potential purchasers.
- 10. The focus of the product sustainability standard shall be on improving the sustainability performance of products designed today and in the future, rather than those designed in the past. We support the environmentally responsible disposal and recycling of appliances currently at end-of-life through existing initiatives such as the Appliance Recycling Information Center (ARIC) and North American Appliance Resource Management Alliance (NAARMA).
- 11. The product sustainability standard should lead to the differentiation of environmentally preferable products.
- 12. The requirements for the product sustainability standard should evolve with changes in the marketplace.
- 13. The requirements for the product sustainability standard should not set pricing or other commercial terms.

In addition, the standards are being drafted as to ensure conformity with the U.S. Federal Trade Commission's *Guides for the Use of Environmental Marketing Claims*, often simply called the FTC Green Guides.

#### Tools

The initial stages of the standard development process is built on an extensive review of the available life cycle literature for a given product category. While a number of life cycle analyses have been conducted, many focused on appliances distinctly different from those produced today, or in North America. In some cases, they also do not cover important environmental attributes. Therefore, in this standard development process, AHAM, CSA Standards Group, and UL Environment (ULE) partnered to produce more comprehensive life cycle analysis and "hot spot" analysis of many of these products for today's product designs. These life cycle analyses and hot-spot analysis will guide the development of the selection of the major attributes and help us derive the relative weighting of these attributes. Figure 3 is an example of the life cycle screening.



#### Figure 3: Life Cycle Screening

In all of the appliance categories AHAM has studied, there are several key attributes with impact on the overall environmental position of these appliances. These may include:

- Materials
- Energy During Use
- Manufacturing and Operations
- Performance
- End-of-Life Management
- Innovation

#### Nomenclature

We are utilizing the nomenclature of environmental effects as found in the ISO 14000 series of standards as in Figure 4.



Figure 4: Standards Requirements

# Development

The eventual goal for these standards is to develop consensus standards within the framework first of the American National Standards Institute (ANSI) and Standards Council of Canada (SCC) framework for North American standards. AHAM has joined together with three organizations to assist with these standards developments: CSA Standards, Underwriters Laboratories, and P.E./Five Winds International.

CSA Standards is a leading standards-based solutions organization serving industry, government, consumers and other interested parties in North America and the global marketplace. Focusing on standards and codes development, application products, training, advisory and personnel certification services, the organization aims to enhance public safety, improve quality of life, preserve the environment and facilitate trade. For more information, visit <u>www.csa.ca</u>.

The environmental group at Underwriters Laboratories (UL) supports the growth and development of sustainable products and services in the global marketplace through standards development and independent third-party assessment and certification. It is a wholly owned subsidiary of Underwriters Laboratories, a global leader in conformity assessment that has been testing products and writing standards for more than a century. UL currently offers Environmental Claims Validation (ECV), a service testing and verifying manufacturers' self-declared environmental claims, Sustainable Products Certification (SPC), a service testing and certifying products to accepted industry standards for environmental sustainability and Energy Efficiency Certification (EEC), a service testing and verifying product compliance with mandatory and voluntary energy efficiency regulations and programs. UL is developing additional environmental standards, as well as training and advisory services to support organizations in the sustainable products and services industry. For more information, visit www.ulenvironment.com.

Five Winds International, which recently merged with P.E. International, is an internationally recognized sustainability consulting firm, has been selected as a project manager for the AHAM project. Five Winds brings twelve years experience in improving the sustainability of companies and has been instrumental in helping to write international environmental standards.

These sustainability standards are being developed with a variety of uses in mind, and there is strong commitment from both member companies and retailers to employ the standards. Companies may simply use them for self-assessment in order to determine those areas in which they should concentrate their resources. They may also seek third-party certification using the standard to make a claim of sustainability on their products.

AHAM has made considerable progress in the three years since it first embarked upon this project. Hundreds of meetings, both virtual and face-to-face, took place between company representatives that were divided into Task Forces based on product category. AHAM facilitated these discussions, but it was AHAM members that took the lead in drafting the standards. ULE provided support in the LCA screening while CSA has taken the lead in the editorial process.

The sustainability standard for refrigeration products was published in 2012 and is currently in the ANSI accreditation process. Standards for clothes washers are nearing completion for release in 2013. The development process is also well underway for non-microwave kitchen cooking appliances, dishwashers, and clothes dryers with tentative publication dates in late 2013/early 2014. Sustainability standards on smaller appliances such as microwave ovens, room air conditioners and dehumidifiers will follow in 2014. At that point, it will also be time to re-visit the earlier standards in order to update them based on experience and changes in the regulatory environment.

## **Accreditation and Conformity Assessment**

AHAM's standard development process is a hybrid, wherein most of the drafting is done by industry experts with input from AHAM, CSA, UL and Five Winds. Key Outside stakeholders are consulted regularly and are invited to comment on drafts of the standard. This approach aims to find a balance between transparency and expediency. However, once the AHAM-UL-CSA process is completed and the ANSI accreditation process begins, the amount of outside input also increases, thereby lengthening the timeline. On the other hand, it would be difficult to go straight to the accreditation process without first having a standard that companies can use to gain practical knowledge that will inform the ANSI process.

From the very outset, conformity assessment has not been included in the standards because they are designed to be strictly voluntary. Companies may use the standards simply to determine where to best allocate resources. However, should a company wish to certify a product using the standard, it is free to self-certify. The standards were never designed to make any certification, self or 3<sup>rd</sup> party, a requirement; however, they do contain provisions requiring a product to achieve a certain level of performance under the standard before allowing a company to make a claim of sustainability.

#### **Lessons Learned**

Now that AHAM has spent over three years in the sustainability arena, there have been a number of teaching moments that are applicable to not only future appliance standards, but to any other industry wishing to establish similar standards.

#### Consensus building is essential

AHAM's sustainability standards were developed through a collaborative effort with key stakeholders through a consensus process. Key steps in the process include identifying and recruiting committed individuals with the proper knowledge and skills to participate. Defining the goals of the effort is also important, as this establishes the boundaries of discussion. Recognizing that the companies involved are

competitors in the marketplace, the process should encourage frank and substantive dialogue in which parties are given a number of options from which they can choose an appropriate compromise. However, compromise should never sacrifice the over-arching goal of these sustainability standards, which is to reduce the environmental impacts that result from the manufacture, use and disposal of home appliances.

#### Scoping is key

There are several aspects to scoping with respect to AHAM's sustainability standards. First, there is the scope of product categories that a standard will cover. The drafters of the standard must also determine the key attributes that the standard will address. The discussions covering the standard's scope should take place early on in the development process and must be well-documented. That said, there will be instances where circumstances will require that the scoping be modified, but those modifications should be well-considered.

#### Pay attention to the regulatory environment

The home appliance industry is heavily regulated and those regulations are constantly shifting. The standard development process has had to take new regulations into account. For example, the publication of the FTC Green Guides in October 2012 resulted in substantial changes to the standards that were being drafted at the time.

## Conclusion

Through the combined efforts of our industry and other stakeholders, we believe that the AHAM-CSA-ULE sustainability standards will offer the appliance industry and others in this industry segment a set of objective standards for measuring product sustainability for future designs and for improvements to the environment. The appliance industry is pleased to continue our leadership in the area of environmental responsibility, and we look forward to the technical expertise provided by many stakeholders to produce strong, technical product sustainability standards that can help in the design of the next generation of appliances.

# Economic analysis of the energy-efficient household appliances and the rebound effect

## Abdessalem Tahar, Labidi Etidel

Laboratory of Economics and Industrial Management, Tunisia Polytechnic School.

#### Abstract

Energy efficiency improvement is one of the means to reduce energy consumption and carbon emissions. However, potential energy savings and carbon reductions resulting from technological improvements in energy consumption may be reduced by a rebound effect.

The rebound effect refers to the idea that some or all of the expected reductions in energy consumption, as a result of energy efficiency improvements, are offset by an increasing demand for energy services, arising from decrease of the effective price of energy services resulting from those improvements.

The present paper explores the rebound effects from an economist's viewpoint by applying a general equilibrium model in three sectors to measure these effects on the household side. Both, direct and indirect rebound effects expressed as efficiency elasticity and price elasticity are quantified and commented.

On the basis of our theoretical discussion and numerical simulation, we show that he size of direct and indirect rebound effects strongly depends on the elasticity of substitution between energy services.

#### 1. Introduction

Energy efficiency improvement is one of the means to reduce energy consumption and carbon emissions. However, potential energy savings and carbon reductions resulting from technological improvements in energy consumption may be reduced by a rebound effect (Wigley, 1997).

The rebound effect appears when some or all of the expected reductions in energy consumption, as a result of energy-efficiency improvements, are offset by an increasing demand for energy services, arising from decrease of the effective price of energy services resulting from those improvements (Greening et al. 2000).

The first academic discussion of the rebound effect goes back to Jevons (1865) who observed that improvements in the efficiency of steam engines would lead to increasing rather than decreasing coal consumption. More recently, Khazzoom (1980) argued that improved efficiency reduces the effective price of energy and hence results in increasing demand. Following this pioneering study, a considerable work has been done on the rebound effect; these studies focused on theoretical and empirical aspects and are extremely diverse in terms of definitions, methodological approaches and data sources (Lovins, 1988; Henly et al., 1988; Brookes, 1990, 2000; Greene, 1992; Saunders, 1992, 2000; Herring, 1999, 2006; Berkhout et al., 2000; Reinhard et al., 2000; Roy, 2000; Birol et al., 2000; Jaccard et al., 2000; Sanne, 2000; Binswanger, 2001; Bentzen, 2004; Grepperud et al., 2004; Dimitropoulos, 2007; Sorrell et al., 2007; Brannlund et al., 2007; Sorrell, 2009; Sorrell et al., 2009; Jonas et al., 2009; Taoyuan, 2010; Jeroen, 2011).

Rebound effects may derive from energy efficiency improvements in production sectors and consumption household behavior. The literature distinguishes three types of rebound effect: direct, indirect and economy-wide (Greening et al. 2000).

- Direct rebound effect: increased energy efficiency for a particular energy service lowers the price of that service, and hence increases the consumption of it because of the substitution effect and the income effect.
- Indirect effects: the lower effective price of the energy service may lead to increased consumption of other goods, services and factors of production that also require energy.

Economy-wide effects: a price reduction of the energy service may reduce the price of intermediate and final goods throughout the economy, leading to series of price and quantity adjustments in supply and demand in all sectors. An improvement in energy efficiency has an effect of reducing energy prices and leads to faster economic growth which eventually leads to an increase in energy demand (Barker et al. 2009). According to Sorrell (2009), the overall or economy-wide effects are the addition of direct and indirect effects.

This study is confined to direct and indirect rebound effects in household behavior.

Section 2 presents the general equilibrium model for three sectors in the economy (Energy and two types of appliance) where we:

- Model the behavior of households, energy suppliers and appliances suppliers.
- Determine and comment on the direct and indirect rebound effects expressed as efficiency elasticity and prices elasticity.
- Determine equilibrium prices and quantities which quantify the direct and indirect rebound effects.
- Give a numerical example to illustrate the results of the model.

Section 3 concludes the paper.

#### 2. The rebound effect model

#### 2.1. Consumer's behavior

Energy consumption in itself does not provide utility, but rather the services of the equipment that operate on energy. The consumer can thus be regarded as a producer of useful services, using energy as an input (Berkhout et al. 2000). For example, energy services represent the heating of a dwelling at a certain temperature, a certain number of kilometres travelled at a certain speed, comfort and reliability, etc. These services are assured by the consumption of energy goods such as air conditioners, cars, refrigerators, TV, etc (Quirion, 2005).

We consider two types of energy services, G and Q. Both have a price, respectively  $P_{G}$  and  $P_{Q}$ . The consumer maximizes the utility function U(G,Q), under his budget constraint. In this model, a Constant Elasticity of Substitution (CES) utility function is used. The household maximization program is given by:

$$\max_{(G,Q)} U(G,Q) = [\theta G^{-\rho} + (1-\theta)Q^{-\rho}]^{-\frac{1}{\rho}}$$
(1)  
s.t  
$$P_G G + P_Q Q \le R$$
(2)

Where  $\rho$  denotes the substitution parameter; the elasticity of substitution  $\sigma$  then equals  $\frac{1}{1+\rho}$ .

The energy service G (resp Q) is produced by the consumer, by combining equipment g (resp q) and energy  $E_g$  (resp  $E_q$ ) in a Cobb-Douglas production function. Formally:

$$G = E_q^{\alpha} g^{1-\alpha}$$
(3)

$$Q = E_q^{\beta} q^{1-\beta}$$
(4)

where  $\alpha, \beta \in (0, 1)$ .

Consumer purchases energy, appliance g and appliance q at the respective prices  $P_{\mathbf{F}}$ ,  $P_{g}$  and  $P_{q}$ . These goods cannot be consumed infinitely, since the consumer has a limited revenue R.

 $D_G$  denotes the energy service cost for appliance g.

$$D_{G} = P_{G}G$$
 (5)

$$= P_E E_g + P_g g$$
 (6)

Also,  $D_{Q}$  denotes the energy service cost for appliance q.

$$D_Q = P_Q Q$$
 (7)

$$= P_E E_q + P_q q$$
 (8)

Then, the budget constraint faced by the consumer may be rewritten as follows:

$$P_E E_g + P_g g + P_E E_q + P_q q \le R$$
 (9)

The household maximization program described above may be changed as follows:

$$\max_{(E_g, E_q, g, q)} U(G, Q) = \left[\theta(E_g^{\alpha}g^{1-\alpha})^{-\rho} + (1-\theta)(E_q^{\beta}q^{1-\beta})^{-\rho}\right]^{-\frac{1}{\rho}}$$
(10)

s.t

$$P_E E_g + P_g g + P_E E_q + P_q q \le R$$

First-order conditions lead to energy and goods demands:

$$E_g = \left(\frac{R}{P_E}\right) \left(\frac{\alpha\beta A}{\alpha + \beta A}\right) \tag{11}$$

$$E_q = \left(\frac{R}{P_E}\right) \left(\frac{\alpha\beta}{\alpha + \beta A}\right) \tag{12}$$

$$g = \left(\frac{R}{P_g}\right) \left(\frac{(1-\alpha)\beta A}{\alpha+\beta A}\right)$$
(13)

$$q = \left(\frac{R}{P_q}\right) \left(\frac{(1-\beta)\alpha}{\alpha+\beta A}\right) \tag{14}$$

Where A is given by this expression:

$$A = \left[\frac{\alpha\theta}{\beta(1-\theta)}\right]^{\frac{1}{1+\rho}} \left[\frac{\left(\frac{1-\beta}{\beta}\frac{P_{\mathbb{R}}}{P_{\mathbb{R}}}\right)^{1-\beta}}{\left(\frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha}\frac{P_{\mathbb{R}}}{P_{\mathbb{R}}}\right)^{1-\alpha}}\right]^{\frac{p}{1+\rho}}$$
(15)

The total energy demand is:

$$E_d = (E_g + E_q)_d = \frac{R}{P_E} \left(\frac{\alpha\beta(A+1)}{\alpha + \beta A}\right)$$
(16)

Based on these demand functions, the two energy services can be calculated:

$$G = \left(\frac{R\alpha\beta A}{\alpha + \beta A}\right) \left(\frac{1}{P_E}\right)^{\alpha} \left(\frac{1}{P_g}\right)^{1-\alpha} \left(\frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha}\right)^{1-\alpha} \tag{17}$$

$$Q = \left(\frac{R\alpha\beta}{\alpha + \beta A}\right) \left(\frac{1}{P_E}\right)^{\beta} \left(\frac{1}{P_q}\right)^{1-\beta} \left(\frac{1-\beta}{\beta}\right)^{1-\beta}$$
(18)

The energy service cost  $D_{G}$  may be rewritten as follows:

$$D_G = \frac{R\beta A}{\alpha + \beta A}$$
(19)

Based on (17), we then know

$$D_G = \left(\frac{P_E}{\alpha}\right)^{\alpha} \left(\frac{P_g}{1-\alpha}\right)^{1-\alpha} G = P_G G \qquad (20)$$

In a similar way, the energy service cost  $D_Q$  may be rewritten as follows:

$$D_Q = \frac{R\alpha}{\alpha + \beta A}$$
(21)

With (18), we get:

$$D_Q = \left(\frac{P_E}{\beta}\right)^{\beta} \left(\frac{P_q}{1-\beta}\right)^{1-\beta} Q = P_Q Q \tag{22}$$

where  $P_{G}$  and  $P_{Q}$  represent the consumer price-index for the energy services which are given by the standard form for a Cobb-Douglas function:

$$P_{G} = \left(\frac{P_{E}}{\alpha}\right)^{\alpha} \left(\frac{P_{g}}{1-\alpha}\right)^{1-\alpha}$$
(23)  
$$P_{Q} = \left(\frac{P_{E}}{\beta}\right)^{\beta} \left(\frac{P_{q}}{1-\beta}\right)^{1-\beta}$$
(24)

Energy efficiency coefficient defined as the ratio between the useful energy outputs and the energy inputs is given for each appliance g and q:

$$e_g = \frac{G}{E_g} = \left(\frac{P_E}{P_g}\right)^{1-\alpha} \left(\frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha}\right)^{1-\alpha}$$

$$Q = \left(\frac{P_E}{P_g}\right)^{1-\beta} \left(1-\beta\right)^{1-\beta}$$
(25)

$$e_q = \frac{Q}{E_q} = \left(\frac{P_E}{P_q}\right)^{1-\beta} \left(\frac{1-\beta}{\beta}\right)^{1-\beta}$$
(26)

Now substitute the energy efficiency coefficients from equation (25) and (26) into the expression (15) to obtain:

$$A = \left[\frac{\alpha\theta}{\beta(1-\theta)}\right]^{\frac{1}{1+\rho}} \left[\frac{e_q}{e_g}\right]^{\frac{\rho}{1+\rho}}$$
(27)

Also, the energy service demands may be rewritten as a function of the energy efficiency coefficients:

$$G = \left(\frac{R}{P_E} \frac{\alpha \beta A}{\alpha + \beta A}\right) e_g \tag{28}$$
$$Q = \left(\frac{R}{P_E} \frac{\alpha \beta}{\alpha + \beta A}\right) e_q \tag{29}$$

Combining (23) and (25), the energy service price  $P_G$  may be rewritten as:

$$P_G = \frac{P_E}{\alpha e_g}$$
(30)

Also, combining (24) and (26), the energy service price  $P_Q$  may be rewritten as:

$$P_Q = \frac{P_E}{\beta e_q}$$
(31)

To analyze the impact of energy efficiency improvements on the households energy consumption, we suppose that G represents the energy services of the equipment which becomes more efficient. Thus, we assume that  $e_g$  increases and  $e_q$  remains constant. Then, we study its impact on the household energy demand.

The change in energy demand following a small change in energy efficiency may be measured by the efficiency elasticity of the energy demand:

$$\nu_{E_g}^{e_g} = -\left(\frac{\rho}{1+\rho}\right) \left(\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+\beta A}\right)$$
(32)  
$$\nu_{E_g}^{e_g} = \left(\frac{\rho}{1+\rho}\right) \left(\frac{\beta A}{\alpha+\beta A}\right)$$
(33)

2.1.1. The measure of the direct rebound effect

#### a) The rebound effect as efficiency elasticity

In order to measure the direct rebound effect, we have to determine the efficiency elasticity of the demand for energy service G:

$$\nu_{G}^{e_{g}} = \left(\frac{1}{1+\rho}\right) \left(1 + \frac{A\beta\rho}{\alpha + \beta A}\right)$$
(34)

Then, it can easily be shown that:

$$\nu_{E_q}^{e_g} = \nu_G^{e_g} - 1$$
 (35)

We find analytically the expression used by Khazzoom, 1980; Greene et al.1999a; Berkhout et al., 2000; Binswanger, 2001; Sorrell et al., 2009; and Dimitropoulos, 2007a; to measure the direct rebound effect. Hence, the efficiency elasticity of energy demand  $\nu_{E_g}^{e}$  is equal to the efficiency elasticity of the demand for energy service  $\nu_{d}^{e}$  minus one.

Rebound due to energy efficiency improvements may be understood in terms of technical-engineering versus behavioral-economic phenomena. In fact, engineering models predict that an  $x^{\%}$  improvement in energy efficiency should lead to an  $x^{\%}$  reduction in energy consumption (i.e.  $\nu_{E_g}^{s_g} = -1$ ). So, the engineering approach does not correctly quantify the impact of conservation measures on the demand for energy when it consider that  $\nu_{G}^{s_g} = 0$ .

Besides the engineering side, there is also an economic side which considers that a positive efficiency elasticity of the demand for energy service ( $\nu_G^{e_g} \ge 0$ ) may be taken as a direct measure of the rebound effect (Berkhout et al. 2000). For example, if  $\nu_G^{e_g} = 10\%$ , then  $\nu_{E_g}^{e_g} = 90\%$  and the rebound effect is equal to 10%. This means that 10% of the potential energy savings are taken back as a result of the increased demand for energy services.

#### b) The rebound effect as price elasticity

In the following paragraph, we show that the rebound effect may be equal to one of two price elasticities, namely:

 $\nu_{G}^{P_{G}}$ : the elasticity of demand for energy services with respect to the energy cost of energy services(PG),

 $\nu_E^{P_E}$ : the elasticity of energy demand with respect to the price of energy.

First, the definition of the direct rebound effect may be based on the elasticity of the demand for a particular energy service, with respect to the energy cost of energy services. In fact, based on (35) we know:

$$\nu_{E_g}^{e_g} = \frac{\partial G}{\partial e_g} \frac{e_g}{G} - 1$$
(36)  
$$= \frac{\partial G}{\partial P_G} \frac{\partial P_G}{\partial e_g} \frac{e_g}{P_G} \frac{P_G}{G} - 1$$
(37)

In this equation (40),  $^{-\nu_G^{P_G}}$  measures rebound in terms of energy cost elasticity where minus energy service price elasticity of useful service is used as a proxy for the efficiency elasticity of useful service  $\nu_d^{e_G}$ .

Secondly, the rebound may be captured by  $\nu_{E_g}^{P_E}$  because  $\nu_{G}^{P_G} = \nu_{E_g}^{P_E}$ :

$$\nu_G^{P_G} = \frac{\partial G}{\partial P_G} \frac{P_G}{G}$$
(41)

Or we have:

$$\left\{ \begin{array}{l} G=e_g E_g \\ P_G=\frac{P_E}{\alpha e_g}. \end{array} \Leftrightarrow \frac{P_G}{G}=\frac{1}{\alpha e_g^2} \end{array} \right.$$

Also:

$$\frac{\partial G}{\partial P_G} = \frac{\partial G}{\partial E_g} \frac{\partial E_g}{\partial P_G} \qquad (42)$$
$$= \frac{\partial G}{\partial E_g} \frac{\partial E_g}{\partial P_E} \frac{\partial P_E}{\partial P_G}$$
$$= \alpha e_g^2 \frac{\partial P_E}{\partial P_G}$$

Now substitute into (41) to obtain:

 $\nu_G^{P_G}=\nu_{E_g}^{P_E}$ 

So that,

$$\nu_{E_g}^{e_g} = -\nu_{E_g}^{P_E} - 1$$
 (43)

This expression shows that the rebound effect may be calculated by the price elasticity of energy demand for the relevant energy service.

#### c) Interpretation

Under this model, we showed and verified that the direct rebound effect (noted  $RE_{direct}$ ) is given by:

$$RE_{direct} = \nu_G^{e_g} = -\nu_G^{P_G} = -\nu_{E_g}^{P_E} \qquad (44)$$

This means that nearly  $RE_{direct}$ % of the engineer's estimate of the energy savings is lost because of the feedback from the engineering measures to the economy. In fact, consumers will react to changes in the energy efficiency of appliance ( $e_{g}$ ). It is verified that the increase in energy efficiency appliances has an impact on the decrease in both energy service price and energy service cost which lead consumers to save an amount of money:

$$\nu_{P_G}^{e_g} = -1$$
 (45)  
 $\nu_{D_G}^{e_g} = -\left(\frac{\rho}{1+\rho}\right)\left(\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+\beta A}\right)$  (46)

For consumers, the direct effect of a price reduction may be decomposed into a substitution effect and an income effect.

- The substitution effect: if the price of the energy service  $P_G$  drops following an energy efficiency improvement (45), the energy service *G* becomes less expensive relative to other service *Q*. This may lead to an increased demand for the service *G* and therefore the efficiency appliance *g*.
- The income effect: energy efficiency improvements reduce the cost of energy service *G* (46) and leads to an amount of money being saved. So, consumers have an additional income which they may choose to spend on the same energy service *G* and get more of the same appliance *g*. For example, people may buy more air conditioners when it becomes more efficient, and heat more their homes than before.

2.1.2. The measure of the indirect rebound effect

In this model, the indirect rebound effect is measured by the efficiency elasticity of the demand for energy service Q:

$$\nu_{Q}^{s_{g}} = \left(\frac{\rho}{1+\rho}\right) \left(\frac{\beta A}{\alpha + \beta A}\right) \qquad (47)$$

Recalling the equation (33), we notice that:

$$\nu_{E_q}^{e_g} = \nu_Q^{e_g}$$
 (48)

Under the engineering side, if the increase in efficiency is implemented, the level of energy demand of appliance q will not be changed  $\nu_{E_q}^{a_g} = 0$ . However, under our economic analysis we show  $\nu_{E_q}^{a_g} \ge 0$ . This
shows that an improvement of the efficiency of the equipment g may increase the energy consumption of the other equipment q. From this, the indirect rebound effect rises beyond the increase of energy service Q where the energy efficiency  $e_g$  is improved.

$$ER_{indirect} = \nu_{E_g}^{e_g} = \nu_Q^{e_g} \qquad (49)$$

The prominent mechanism responsible for this type of rebound is believed to be secondary effect, which may also happen by way of income effect. In fact, energy efficiency improvements of appliance  ${}^g$  reduce the price of energy service G and have no impact on the price of energy service Q, because:  $\nu_{Br}^{eg} = -1$ 

$$\nu_{P_Q}^{e_g} = 0$$
 (50)

As a result, an amount of money is saved. This leads to more expenditure on the energy service Q:

$$\nu_{D_Q}^{e_g} = \left(\frac{\rho}{1+\rho}\right) \left(\frac{\beta A}{\alpha + \beta A}\right) \qquad (51)$$

So, the energy service Q increase, which leads to an increase in energy demand Eq. For example, the use of a more efficient air-conditioner may create more energy demand for lighting, cooking or driving.

#### 2.2. Energy suppliers behavior

We define the energy suppliers production function as a Cobb-Douglas function which takes factor inputs  $K_{E,L_{E}}$  and converts them to energy output *E*:

$$E = b K_E^{\gamma} L_E^{1-\gamma}$$
(52)

Given the wage rate w and the capital rate of return r, the cost of the input bundle  $(K_E, L_E)$  is:  $rK_E + wL_E$  (53)

For given r, w and  $P_E$ , the suppliers profit-maximization behavior is:

$$\max_{(K_E, L_E)} \Pi_E = P_E b \ K_E^{\gamma} \ L_E^{1-\gamma} - (rK_E + wL_E)$$
(54)

First-order conditions are:

$$P_E b \gamma K_E^{\gamma-1} L_E^{1-\gamma} = r \tag{55}$$

$$P_E b(1 - \gamma) K_E^{\gamma} L_E^{-\gamma} = w \qquad (56)$$

They lead to the marginal rate of transformation:

$$\frac{\gamma}{1 - \gamma} \frac{L_E}{K_E} = \frac{r}{w}$$
(57)

This can also be written as:

$$K_E = \frac{\gamma}{1 - \gamma} \frac{w}{r} L_E \qquad (58)$$

Or:

$$L_E = \frac{1 - \gamma}{\gamma} \frac{r}{w} K_E \qquad (59)$$

Now substitute  $K_E$  from equation (58) into (52) and (55) to obtain:

$$E = b \left(\frac{\gamma}{r}\right)^{\gamma} \left(\frac{1-\gamma}{w}\right)^{-\gamma} L_E \tag{60}$$

$$P_E = \frac{1}{b} \left(\frac{r}{\gamma}\right)^{\gamma} \left(\frac{\omega}{1-\gamma}\right)^{1-\gamma} \tag{61}$$

Also, substitute  $L_E$  from equation (59) into (52) to obtain:

$$E = b \left(\frac{\gamma}{r}\right)^{1-\gamma} \left(\frac{1-\gamma}{w}\right)^{1-\gamma} K_E$$
(62)

Then, based on (60) and (61) we get:

$$P_E E = \frac{\omega}{1 - \gamma} L_E \qquad (63)$$

and based on (62) and (61) we get:

$$P_E E = \frac{r}{\gamma} K_E \tag{64}$$

#### 2.3. Appliance q producer's behavior

Under perfect competition, the suppliers of appliance q maximize q their profit and production under constant returns to scale. Then a Cobb-Douglas production function is:

$$q = a \ K_q^{\mu} \ L_q^{1-\mu} \tag{65}$$

Given r and  $w_{i}$ , the firm's cost is:

$$rK_q + wL_q$$
 (66)

Then the firm's profit maximization problem is:

$$\max_{(K_q, L_q)} \Pi_q = P_q a \ K_q^{\mu} \ L_q^{1-\mu} - (rK_q + wL_q)$$
(67)

First-order conditions lead to

$$P_q = \frac{1}{a} \left(\frac{r}{\mu}\right)^{\mu} \left(\frac{\omega}{1-\mu}\right)^{1-\mu} \tag{68}$$

$$P_q q = \frac{1}{a} \frac{\omega}{1 - \mu} L_q \qquad (69)$$

$$P_q q = \frac{1}{a} \frac{r}{\mu} K_q \qquad (70)$$

#### 2.4. Appliance g producer's behavior

Producers of the appliance <sup>g</sup> have also a Cobb-Douglas production function:

$$g = c K_g^{\eta} L_g^{1-\eta}$$
(71)

and a total cost:

$$rK_{g} + wL_{g}$$
 (72)

For given r, w, and  $P_{g}$ , profit-maximization firm's behavior is:

$$\max_{(K_g,L_g)} \Pi_g = P_g c \ K_g^\eta \ L_g^{1-\eta} - (rK_g + wL_g) \tag{73}$$

Based on the first-order conditions we get:

$$P_g = \frac{1}{c} \left(\frac{r}{\eta}\right)^{\eta} \left(\frac{\omega}{1-\eta}\right)^{1-\eta} \tag{74}$$

$$P_g g = \frac{\omega}{1 - \eta} L_g \qquad (75)$$

$$P_g g = \frac{r}{\eta} K_g \qquad (76)$$

#### 2.5. Market equilibrium

This model supposed only three goods: energy E, appliances g and q. Thus, after establishing consumer's and firm's equilibriums, we examine the general equilibrium. In order to simplify the notations, we normalize the number of firms and consumers to one. Market clearing for the three goods implies:

$$E_s = (E_g + E_q)_d \qquad (77)$$

$$g_s = g_d$$
 (78)

$$q_s = q_d$$
 (79)

Firms are owned by the consumer and this taken into account in the budget constraints. Total income equals then the sum of returns to total capital and labor:

$$R = r(K_E + K_g + K_q) + w(L_E + L_g + L_q)$$
(80)

$$= P_E E + P_g g + P_q q$$

If capital supply (noted  $\overline{K}$ ) and labor supply (noted  $\overline{L}$ ) are exogenous, balanced capital and labor markets fulfill:

$$\overline{K} = K_E + K_g + K_q \tag{81}$$

$$\overline{L} = L_E + L_g + L_g \qquad (82)$$

Then:

$$R = r\overline{K} + w\overline{L}$$
 (83)

Now insert (64) and (16) into (77):

$$P_{E}E_{s} = P_{E}E_{d}$$
 (84)

$$\frac{rK_E}{\gamma} = \left(\frac{\alpha\beta(A+1)}{\alpha+\beta A}\right)R$$
(85)

$$K_E = \left(\frac{\gamma}{r}\right) \left(\frac{\alpha\beta(A+1)}{\alpha+\beta A}\right) R \tag{86}$$

and with (76) and (13) into (78):

$$P_{g}g_{s} = P_{g}g_{d}$$
 (87)

$$\frac{rK_g}{\eta} = \left(\frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha}\right) \left(\frac{\alpha\beta A}{\alpha + \beta A}\right) R \quad (88)$$

$$K_g = \left(\frac{\eta}{r}\right) \left(\frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha}\right) \left(\frac{\alpha\beta A}{\alpha+\beta A}\right) R \tag{89}$$

Also, insert (70) and (14) into (79):

$$P_q q_s = P_q q_d$$
 (90)

$$\frac{rK_q}{\mu} = \left(\frac{1-\beta}{\beta}\right) \left(\frac{\alpha\beta}{\alpha+\beta A}\right) R \tag{91}$$

$$K_q = \left(\frac{\mu}{r}\right) \left(\frac{1-\beta}{\beta}\right) \left(\frac{\alpha\beta}{\alpha+\beta A}\right) R$$
 (92)

At this step, recall that  $\overline{K} = K_E + K_g + K_q$  and substitute (86), (89), and (92) to obtain:

$$\overline{K} = \frac{R}{r} \left( \frac{\alpha \beta}{\alpha + \beta A} \right) \left[ \gamma(A+1) + \eta \frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha} A + \mu \frac{1-\beta}{\beta} \right]$$
(93)

Then insert  $R = r\overline{K} + w\overline{L}$  into (93):

$$\frac{\alpha\beta}{\alpha+\beta A} = \left(1+w\frac{\overline{L}}{\overline{K}}\right)\left[\gamma(A+1) + \eta\frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha}A + \mu\frac{1-\beta}{\beta}\right]$$
(94)

Equation (94) can also be rearranged as:

$$A \left(\gamma + \eta \frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha} - \frac{1}{\alpha}\right) + \frac{\overline{L}}{\overline{K}} w A \left(\gamma + \eta \frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha}\right) + \frac{\overline{L}}{\overline{K}} w \left(\gamma + \mu \frac{1-\beta}{\beta}\right)$$
$$+ \left(\gamma + \mu \frac{1-\beta}{\beta} - \frac{1}{\beta}\right) = 0 \qquad (95)$$

By (61), (68), and (74) we can calculate the relative prices. As a result, the expression A mentioned above by (15) can be rewritten as function of labor and capital prices:

$$A = \left(\frac{\theta}{1-\theta}\frac{\alpha}{\beta}\right)^{\frac{1}{1+\rho}} \left[\frac{\left[r^{\gamma-\mu}\omega^{\mu-\gamma}\left(\frac{\mu^{\mu}\left(1-\mu\right)^{1-\mu}}{\gamma^{\gamma}\left(1-\gamma\right)^{1-\gamma}}\right)\left(\frac{1-\beta}{\beta}\right)\left(\frac{a}{b}\right)\right]^{1-\beta}}{\left[r^{\gamma-\eta}\omega^{\eta-\gamma}\left(\frac{\eta^{\eta}\left(1-\eta\right)^{1-\eta}}{\gamma^{\gamma}\left(1-\gamma\right)^{1-\gamma}}\right)\left(\frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha}\right)\left(\frac{c}{b}\right)\right]^{1-\alpha}}\right]^{\frac{1}{1+\rho}}\right]$$
(96)

 $A = Dw^{\epsilon}$ 

If the return to capital *r* is normalized as unity, we obtain:

where

$$D = \left(\frac{\theta}{1-\theta}\frac{\alpha}{\beta}\right)^{\frac{1}{1+\rho}} \left[\frac{\left[\left(\frac{\mu^{\mu}\left(1-\mu\right)^{1-\mu}}{\gamma^{\gamma}\left(1-\gamma\right)^{1-\gamma}}\right)\left(\frac{1-\beta}{\beta}\right)\left(\frac{a}{b}\right)\right]^{1-\beta}}{\left[\left(\frac{\eta^{\eta}\left(1-\eta\right)^{1-\eta}}{\gamma^{\gamma}\left(1-\gamma\right)^{1-\gamma}}\right)\left(\frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha}\right)\left(\frac{c}{b}\right)\right]^{1-\alpha}}\right]^{1-\alpha}\right]^{1-\alpha}$$
(98)

and

$$\varepsilon = \left(\frac{\rho}{1+\rho}\right) \left[\mu(1-\beta) + \gamma(\alpha-\beta) + \eta(\alpha-1)\right] \tag{99}$$

Applying (97) into (95), we get:

$$D \quad w^{\varepsilon} \left( \gamma + \eta \frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha} - \frac{1}{\alpha} \right) + \frac{\overline{L}}{\overline{K}} D w^{\varepsilon+1} \left( \gamma + \eta \frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha} \right) + \frac{\overline{L}}{\overline{K}} w \left( \gamma + \mu \frac{1-\beta}{\beta} \right)$$
$$+ \left( \gamma + \mu \frac{1-\beta}{\beta} - \frac{1}{\beta} \right) = 0 \tag{100}$$

The equilibrium labor price w is the solution to (100).

This leads to equilibrium prices  $P_E^*$ ,  $P_g^*$ ,  $P_g^*$ ,  $P_G^*$  and  $P_Q^*$  which are function of  $w^*$ , equilibrium quantities  $E_g^*$ ,  $E_q^*$ ,  $g^*$ ,  $q^*$  and equilibrium energy services  $G^*$  and  $Q^*$ . Direct and indirect rebound effects are then calculated with  $P_E^*$ ,  $P_g^*$ ,  $P_q^*$  substituted in (34) and (47).

#### 3. Numerical simulations

Numerically, for  $\alpha = \beta = 0.5$ ,  $\theta = 0.5$ ,  $\gamma = \eta = \mu = 0.5$ ,  $\rho = 0.5$ , a = b = c = 1 equation (100) becomes:

$$2w\frac{\overline{L}}{\overline{K}} - 2 = 0 \qquad (101)$$

Equilibrium prices are:

$$w^* = \left(\frac{\overline{K}}{\overline{L}}\right)$$
 (102)

$$r^* = 1$$
 (103)  
 $r^* = \sqrt{K}^{0.5}$  (104)

$$P_{\overline{E}}^{*} = 2 \left( \frac{\overline{L}}{L} \right)$$
(104)  
$$P^{*} = 2 \left( \frac{\overline{K}}{L} \right)^{0.5}$$
(105)

$$P_{q}^{*} = 2\left(\frac{\overline{L}}{\overline{L}}\right)^{0.5}$$
(106)  
$$P_{q}^{*} = 2\left(\frac{\overline{K}}{\overline{L}}\right)^{0.5}$$
(106)

Equilibrium quantities of energy and appliances are:

$$g^* = 0.125 (\overline{K} \overline{L})^{0.5}$$
 (107)

$$q^* = 0.125 (\overline{K} \overline{L})^{0.5}$$
(108)

$$E_g^* = 0.125 (\overline{K} \, \overline{L})^{0.5}$$
 (109)

$$E_q^* = 0.125 (\overline{K} \overline{L})^{0.5}$$
(110)

Under these circumstances, the increase in the energy efficiency of the appliance *g* leads to an amount of energy savings generate by the use of this appliance, since

$$\nu_{E_g}^{e_g} = -\left(\frac{\rho}{1+\rho}\right) \left(\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+\beta A}\right) = -0.17 \tag{111}$$

This energy savings is offset by an increase in energy consumption of the appliance q:

$$\nu_{E_q}^{e_q} = \left(\frac{\rho}{1+\rho}\right) \left(\frac{\beta A}{\alpha+\beta A}\right) = 0.17 \tag{112}$$

Here, the energy efficiency improvement does not affect energy consumption. This is due to the direct and indirect rebound effects.

First, we have:

$$RE_{direct} = \nu_G^{e_g} = \left(\frac{1}{1+\rho}\right) \left(1 + \frac{A\beta\rho}{\alpha+\beta A}\right) = 0.83$$
 (113)

This means that 83% of the potential energy savings generated by the use of efficiency appliance g are lost as a result of the increased demand for energy services G. As a consequence, an increase in energy efficiency of the appliance g leads to reduced energy consumption of this appliance at only by 17%.

Secondly, we have:

$$RE_{indirect} = \nu_Q^{e_g} = \left(\frac{\rho}{1+\rho}\right) \left(\frac{\beta A}{\alpha+\beta A}\right) = 0.17$$
 (114)

So an increase in energy efficiency of the appliance g leads to a rise in energy consumption of appliance q by 17%.

In addition we may calculate the total rebound effect as the sum of the direct and indirect rebound effect.

$$RE_{total} = RE_{direct} + RE_{indirect}$$
(115)

$$= 0.83 + 0.17 = 1$$

On the basis of our theoretical discussion, the magnitude of the direct and indirect rebound effects strongly depends on the elasticity of substitution  $\sigma$  (see Fig. 1). In order to assess the sensitivity of the rebound effect to the substitution elasticity, we vary the value of  $\sigma$ , keeping unchanged all other parameters.

When the elasticity of substitution is assumed to equal zero ( $\sigma = 0$ ) and ( $\ell \rightarrow \infty$ ), the CES function reduces to a Leontief utility function assuming strict complementarity between the

energy services G and Q. In this case, total rebound effect is shared in two equal parts: 50% for direct rebound and 50% for indirect rebound.

- The next simulation is calculated with  $0 < \sigma < 1$  and  $\rho > 0$ . The direct, indirect and total rebound effects may be calculated for different values of the elasticity of substitution as follows (see Table 1). Under a low elasticity of substitution, the direct rebound effect is increasing with the substitution elasticity. On the other hand, the indirect rebound effect is decreasing with  $\sigma$ . But, both direct and indirect rebounds are positive and their sum is always equal to one.
- In a next set of figures, the elasticity of substitution is equal to one ( $\sigma = 1$ ) since ( $\rho \rightarrow 0$ ), and CES function reduces to a Cobb-Douglas function. In this case, the rebound effect is generated only through the service *G* because we have  $RE_{direct} = 1$  and  $RE_{indirect} = 0$ .
- In the high elasticity case ( $\sigma > 1$  when  $-1 < \rho < 0$ ), the direct rebound effect is greater than one and the indirect rebound effect is negative ( $RE_{direct} > 1$  and  $RE_{indirect} < 0$ ).
- When the energy services G and Q are perfect substitutes, with  $\sigma \to \infty$ , since  $\rho = -1$ , the direct rebound effect becomes very important and the indirect rebound effect is negative and equal to the direct rebound.

0.1	0.5	0.9
0.55	0.75	0.95
0.45	0.25	0.05
1	1	1
	0.1 0.55 0.45 1	0.10.50.550.750.450.2511

#### Table 1: Variation of the rebound effects with substitution elasticity



Figure 1: Variation of the rebound effects with substitution elasticity

#### 4. Concluding remarks

The present paper explores the rebound effects from an economist's viewpoint by applying a general equilibrium modeling with three goods to quantify these effects on household energy consumption. First, improvements in energy efficiency make energy services cheaper, and therefore encourage increased consumption of those services. This so-called direct rebound effect offsets the energy savings that may otherwise be achieved.

We determine an analytic measure of the direct rebound effect. Then, we show that this measure may be expressed as efficiency elasticity and price elasticity, which are used by Khazzoom (1980) and other various authors to capture empirically the direct rebound effect.

Second, an increase in energy efficiency of a one particular appliance leads to an increase in the energy consumption of the other appliances and goods. This is called the indirect rebound effect which may be measured through the efficiency elasticity of the demand for the other goods energy services.

Third, the price effects and income effects are the prominent mechanisms accounting for these direct and indirect rebound effects. Further, price effects due to reduced variable costs of energy services and income effects due to the redirection of saved money to other consumption have been expressed analytically and quantified.

Finally, on the basis of our theoretical discussion and numerical simulation, we show that the size of direct and indirect rebound strongly depends on the elasticity of substitution between energy services.

#### References

- [1] Barker, T., Dagoumas, A., Rubin, J., 2009. *The macroeconomic rebound effect and the world economy*. Energy Efficiency 2, 411-427.
- [2] Bentzen, J., 2004. *Estimating the rebound effect in US manufacturing energy consumption*. Energy Economics 26, 123-134.
- [3] Collard Berkhout, P.H.G., Muskens, J.C., Velthuijsen, J.W., 2000. *Defining the rebound effect*. Energy Policy 28, 425-432.
- [4] Binswanger, M., 2001. *Technological progress and sustainable development: What about the rebound effect?* Ecological Economics 36, 119-132.
- [5] Birol, F., Keppler, J.H., 2000. *Prices, technology development and the rebound effect*. Energy Policy 28, 457-479.
- [6] Brannlund, R., Ghalwash, T., Nordstrom, J., 2007. *Increased energy efficiency and the rebound effect: effects on consumption and emissions*. Energy Economics 29, 1-17.
- [7] Brookes,L.G.,1990. The greenhouse effect: the fallacies in the energy efficiency solution. Energy Policy 18(2),199-201.
- [8] Brookes, L.G., 2000. Energy efficiency fallacies revisited. Energy Policy 28(6-7), 355-366.
- [9] Dimitropoulos, J., 2007. Energy productivity improvements and the rebound effect: an overview of the state of knowledge. Energy Policy 35(12), 6354-6363.
- [10] Greene, D.L., 1992. Vehicle use and fuel economy: how big is the rebound effect? The Energy Journal 13, 117143.
- [11] Greene, D. L., Kahn, J. R., Gibson, R. C., 1999. Fuel economy rebound effects for U.S. household vehicles. The Energy Journal 20, 1-31.
- [12] Greening, L.A., Greene, D.L., Difiglio, C., 2000. *Energy efficiency and consumption: The rebound effect: a survey*. Energy Policy 28, 389-401.
- [13] Grepperud, S., Rasmussen, I., 2004. A general equilibrium assessment of rebound effects. Energy Economics 26(2), 261-282.
- [14] Henly, J., Ruderman, H., Levine, M.D., 1988. *Energy saving resulting from the adoption of more efficient appliances: a follow-up*. The Energy Journal 9, 163-170.
- [15] Herring, H., 1999. Does energy efficiency save energy? The debate and its consequences. Appl Energy 63, 209-226.

[16] Herring, H., 2006. Energy efficiency-a critical view. Energy 31, 10-20.

- [17] Jaccard, M., Bataille, C., 2000. *Estimating future elasticities of substitution for the rebound debate*. Energy Policy 28, 451-455.
- [18] Jeroen, C.J., van den Bergh, M., 2011. *Energy conservation more effective with rebound policy*. Environ Resource Econ 48, 43-58.
- [19] Jevons, W.S., 1865. *The coal question: can Britain survive?* (First published in 1865). Republished by Macmillan, London, U.K. 1906.
- [20] Jonas, N., John, H., 2009. Quantifying the rebound effects of energy efficiency improvements and energy conserving behavior in Sweden. Energy Efficiency 2, 221-231.
- [21] Khazzoom, J.D., 1980. Economic implications of mandated efficiency in standards for household appliances. Energy Journal 1(4), 21-40.
- [22] Lovins, A.B., 1988. Energy saving from more efficient appliances: another view. Energy Journal 9, 155162.
- [23] Quirion, Ph., 2005. Distributional impacts of energy-efficiency certificates vs. taxes and standards .CIRED.
- [24] Reinhard, H., Peter, B., 2000. The rebound effect for space heating: empirical evidence from Austria. Energy Policy 28, 403-410.
- [25] Roy, J., 2000. The rebound effect: some empirical evidence from India. Energy Policy 28, 433-438.
- [26] Sanne, C., 2000. Dealing with environmental savings in a dynamical economy how to stop chasing your tail in the pursuit of sustainability. Energy Policy 28 (6-7), 487-496.
- [27] Saunders, H.D., 1992b. *The Khazzoom-Brookes postulate and neoclassical growth*. The Energy Journal 13(4), 131.
- [28] Saunders, H.D., 2000. *Does predicted rebound depend on distinguishing between energy and energy services*? Energy Policy 28(6-7), 497-500.
- [29] Sorrell. S., Dimitropoulos J., (2007). *The rebound effect: microeconomic definitions, limitations and extensions*. Ecol Econ 65(3):636649
- [30] Sorrell, S., 2009. Jevons' Paradox revisited: the evidence for backfire from improved energy efficiency. Energy Policy 37, 1456-1469.
- [31] Sorrell, S., Dimitropoulos, J., Sommerville, M., 2009. *Empirical estimates of the direct rebound effect :Areview*. Energy Policy 37, 1356-1371.
- [32] Taoyuan, W., 2010. A general equilibrium view of global rebound effects. Energy Economics 32, 661-672.
- [33] Van den Bergh, J. C. J. M., 2011. *Energy conservation more effective with rebound policy*. Environ Resource Econ. 48, 43-58.
- [34] Wigley, K.J., 1997. Assessment of the importance of the rebound effect. Paper presented at the 18th North American Conference of the USAEE/IAEE, San Francisco.

## Towards an Evaluation Framework for Appliance Standards, Labeling, and Incentive Programs in China

## John Romankiewicz, Nan Zhou, Edward Vine, Nina Zheng Khanna, David Fridley

#### Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory

#### Abstract

China's standards and labeling programs have grown rapidly in recent years with mandatory minimum efficiency performance standards and mandatory labeling requirements for 45 products and 23 products, respectively. China has also implemented a number of incentive programs such as the Rural Area Household Appliance Subsidy and Highly Efficient Products Discount which both drove an increase in energy-efficient appliance sales. However, China lacks a framework to evaluate the savings of these standards, labeling, and incentive programs. Furthermore, China has not set aside a budget to perform such evaluations, even though they will likely play an increasingly critical role in China's energy efficiency policy making as energy intensity targets become increasingly difficult to hit and the government needs to understand which policies are most effective at increasing efficiency. In order to recommend evaluation methodologies for China, we have reviewed frameworks in the U.S. (federal and state level), E.U., and Australia and identified key methodologies and related data requirements. This paper provides an overview of ex-ante and ex-post evaluation types for standards and labeling, with discussion on baseline setting as well as correction factor and compliance rate adjustments. For incentives, gross savings and net savings approaches are addressed, including an explanation of free ridership. Finally, we look at China's data availability in order to select or adapt appropriate methodologies such that they can carry out an evaluation of the energy savings from various standards, labeling, and incentive programs.

#### 1. Introduction

Governments around the world are undertaking energy efficiency program evaluations with similar motivations but varying levels of budget and data collection. While data are the foundation of evaluation, primary data collection can be costly, and many organizations rely on secondary sources for the majority of their data needs. As China ramps up its efforts in energy efficiency in the 12<sup>th</sup> Five Year Plan<sup>1</sup> and beyond, data availability for program evaluation is becoming an increasingly relevant question. In particular, China's programs for mandatory standards and categorical labeling have grown very rapidly to cover 45 products and 23 products, respectively, and a number of incentive programs (Energy-Efficient Products for the Benefit of the People, Rural Area Household Appliance Subsidy, and Highly Efficient Products Discount) have led to increased sales of energy-efficient appliances [1]. In this paper, we describe the methodologies and associated data inputs for the availability and uncertainty of those data inputs in China.

Section 1 describes the relationship of evaluation goals, data uncertainty, and budget availability in order to provide some background for key decisions that China will make as it continues to improve its capabilities in program evaluation. Section 2 highlights key findings from Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory's (LBNL) recent review of methodologies used in different countries around the world (U.S., E.U., and Australia) to evaluate the impact (energy savings) of standards, labeling, and incentives programs [2]. Section 3 provides the key data requirements for those methodologies, an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Following on the success of the energy intensity target of the 11th Five Year Plan and in support of the 2020 target to reduce carbon intensity by 40-45% below 2005 levels, the State Council set forth new intensity targets for the 12th Five Year Plan (2011-2015). Under the new targets, energy intensity (energy consumption per unit of GDP) will be reduced by 16% and carbon intensity (carbon emissions per unit of GDP) will be reduced by 17% below 2010 levels by the end of 2015.

assessment of China's data availability, and three methodology options for China to consider in light of their data availability.

#### 2. Data and uncertainty issues for program evaluation

There are strong relationships among the goals, data availability, uncertainty, and budget resources for any program evaluation process. As shown in Figure 1, the data inputs and algorithms used are usually determined by the goals and scope of the evaluation. Data inputs come from both primary and secondary sources collected from a wide range of literature and surveys of stakeholder groups, including consumers, manufacturers, and retailers. Each data source will carry with it an associated uncertainty, and each data input will have a relative sensitivity on the output of the evaluation algorithm. The organizations carrying out these studies should place an emphasis on measuring these levels of uncertainty and sensitivity in order to best serve the goals of the energy efficiency programs that they are implementing.



#### Figure 1: Interaction between goals, data, uncertainty, and budget for program evaluation

In the U.S., utilities are often seeking to determine energy savings, peak demand reductions, or market transformation of energy efficiency programs and, in turn, calculate the cost effectiveness of dollars spent on those programs. Cost-effectiveness mandates have driven evaluators to often spend additional money on data collection and evaluation in order to reduce uncertainty and improve estimates of energy savings. In China, program evaluation does not yet have these cost effectiveness mandates, but China's first demand-side management regulations were only set in place at the beginning of the 12<sup>th</sup> Five Year Plan (i.e., 2011). China's energy intensity and carbon intensity goals are providing an additional impetus for implementation and accurate impact evaluation of a growing number of energy efficiency programs.

In addition to determining the goals of any program evaluation, the scope of the process should also be outlined in terms of what measures (or products) were covered, what delivery strategy was used, and what impacts were expected in the design of the standard and program. For instance, determining the energy savings from a rebate program for compact fluorescent light (CFL) bulbs, the market transformation from a voluntary labeling program for refrigerators, or peak demand reduction for a retrofit program for commercial central air conditioning units are all viable scopes for program evaluation. Once the scope has been set, then the required data inputs and appropriate algorithms can be determined as shown in Figure 1. In evaluations, both primary and secondary data sources are used for collecting data: for example, reviewing engineering literature for estimating savings, or conducting surveys to collect hours of usage for a particular product.

All data sources, primary or secondary, will carry with them an associated degree of uncertainty. This uncertainty should be estimated. Additionally, the sensitivity of altering each input on the output should be tested using Monte Carlo simulation or some other estimation methodology. Together, the uncertainty and sensitivity of various data inputs can help determine where efforts and budget should be spent to improve data inputs and in turn improve the end accuracy of any evaluation or standards

development. If energy efficiency goals are present, then this type of analysis enables the assessment of whether those goals were met or not.

In the U.S., risk analysis has been performed for utility-sponsored energy efficiency programs to identify which programs' energy savings estimates have the highest uncertainty [3]. The uncertainty of the savings for each program will depend on the uncertainty for each data input for that program's energy savings algorithm. For example, in this case, the following energy savings evaluation algorithm was used:

$$\Delta kWh_{tifetime,net,measure} = units \times \frac{\Delta kWh_{gross}}{unit} \times NTG \times EUL$$

- ∆kWh<sub>lifetime, net, measure</sub>= Net energy savings
- ∆kWh<sub>gross</sub>/unit = Gross energy savings per measure (unit savings)
- Units = number of measures (count) •
- NTG = net to gross ratio<sup>2</sup>
- EUL = effective useful life<sup>3</sup>

#### Table 1: Primary and secondary data sources for standards development and program evaluation, adapted from [4]

	Primary data sources					Secondary data sources				
	Direct measurement (metering)	Laboratory test data	Manufacturer surveys	Program participant surveys	Retailer surveys	National energy surveys	Government statistics	Energy/evaluation literature	Deemed values	Simulation and modeling
Usage	Х					Х		Х		
Unit energy consumption	Х	Х	Х			Х		Х	Х	Х
Existing stock, saturation						Х	Х	Х		
Lifetime	Х		Х	Х		Х		Х		
Sales/shipments (real or forecasts)			Х		Х		Х			
Site-to-source energy conversion factors							Х	Х		
Emission factors							Х	Х		
Free ridership				Х				Х	Х	
Compliance		Х								
Number of participants, non-participants				Х				Х		
Participant spillover				Х				Х		
Market effects				Х				Х		
Heating and cooling degree days							Х	Х		

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The net-to-gross (NTG) ratio determines the actual energy savings attributable to a particular program, as distinct from energy efficiency improvements that would have occurred without the program. The NTG ratio equals the program's net energy savings divided by the program's gross energy savings. Factors such as free ridership, participant spillover, and market effects contribute to NTG ratios according to varying definitions. More description is available in section 3.1.3. <sup>3</sup> The effective useful life (EUL) of a measure (i.e., measure lifetime) is the period of time that the measure is expected to

perform its intended function in a typical installation [19].

The number of measures (count), gross energy savings per measure (unit savings), and net-to-gross ratio all have uncertainty. In California, there is an impetus for the utilities to ensure that their energy savings are credible and reliable (not just estimated) given energy efficiency targets and cost-effectiveness mandates (getting the most efficiency with the least amount of money). In China, there are energy efficiency targets, but explicit cost-effectiveness mandates do not yet exist and estimated savings are acceptable. Given the limited budgets for evaluation in China, however, it is essential that only the most critical issues influencing the estimated savings be investigated – for example, the data issues that bring the most uncertainty (data sources, data types, program implementation methods, etc.). As energy efficiency targets become harder and harder to meet (with potentially the added pressure of tighter budgets), this type of risk and uncertainty analyses will help China focus on conducting accurate and credible evaluation studies, aiding future policy decisions and enabling cost-effective energy savings. If it is found that a certain data input has high uncertainty and sensitivity on the final output, then funds should be allocated for collecting additional primary data that would reduce that uncertainty. The impetus for that particular budget, however, must originate from the need for accurate and credible evaluations [4].

Table 1 outlines the common primary and secondary data sources used in program evaluation. While secondary sources largely consist of existing literature (including technical resource manuals) and simulations, primary sources involve metering and surveys of manufacturers, retailers, and consumers (participants). Additionally, some governments carry out national energy surveys, such as the Residential Energy Consumption Survey (RECS) that is used to gather socio-demographic data and energy usage in homes across the U.S.

## 3. International review of evaluation methodologies for standards, labeling, and incentives

This section provides a quick overview of impact evaluation methodologies and outlines key evaluation studies performed to date on appliance standards, labeling, and incentives in the U.S., E.U., and Australia.

#### 3.1 Common methodologies in impact evaluation

The basic research question in impact evaluation is: What were the true effects produced by a program or intervention in terms of energy savings (as well as other impacts, such as changes in electricity demand and carbon emissions), separated out from what would have otherwise occurred absent the program or intervention? The recent international evaluation framework review prepared by LBNL referenced over 60 evaluation studies from the U.S., E.U., Australia, and other countries, and it examined 30 studies in depth for unique evaluation methodologies [2]. In general, evaluation of standards, labeling, and incentives follow a similar methodology, which is summarized in Figure 2 and can be broken down into three main parts: 1) stock model (steps 1-3), 2) baseline setting (step 1), and 3) *ex-post* evaluation options (steps 4-7).

#### 3.1.1 Stock model

*Ex-ante* evaluation of appliance standard programs plays a large role in a number of countries' standards development process, whereby the impact on national energy demand can be estimated for different levels of proposed standards – essentially, different unit energy consumption (UEC) levels against the same baseline (step 1). The unit energy consumption (UEC<sub>e</sub>) for the unit replacing or displacing the baseline unit can be gathered from engineering specification documents from the manufacturer. Subtracting UEC<sub>e</sub> (energy use of the energy-efficient product) from UEC<sub>b</sub> (energy use of the product in the baseline) under the correct usage conditions will give the per unit energy savings (step 2). The usage of the old and new products may vary in certain cases. Unit energy savings can be multiplied by the number of measures or units sold to calculate gross savings (step 3). Shipment projections are used to estimate the "number of measures," the number of products that will be sold under a new standard or labeling program. In the case of incentive programs, the "number of measures" typically mirrors the number of rebates given out for more efficient appliances.

These elements (UEC and number of measures) compose what is typically called an engineeringbased model or a stock model in the literature. For the purposes of streamlining these calculations for large numbers of products and product groups, spreadsheet models are usually developed to track product vintage, efficiency, hours of use/lifetime, price, and other factors. Stock model methodologies do not vary widely for appliances. Typically, the model is simply an interaction between the existing stock, sales, and retirement of appliances, and their related energy consumption over time [5, 6].



#### Figure 2: *Ex-ante* and *ex-post* evaluation frameworks for standards, labeling, and incentives

#### 3.1.2 Setting the Baseline

Baselines can be set to estimate some initial level of market penetration for high efficiency products in the absence of standards or labeling. Setting the baseline against which energy savings are measured is one of the most important steps in program evaluation. Since standards, labeling, and incentive programs are all seeking to push more efficient appliances and products into the market, the questions regarding the baseline include the following:

- What is the efficiency of the products that they are replacing or displacing?
- What would have been purchased if the program had not been put in place?
- What would manufacturers have produced and retailers stocked without appliance standards?
- What type of refrigerator would a consumer have purchased without a rebate for a more energy-efficient model?

Setting baselines for standards evaluation is becoming more difficult. There is no longer much data on autonomous efficiency improvements over time in many countries, as standards and labeling (S&L) programs have increased in number. While the proliferation of these programs is good for energy efficiency, it does make setting baselines somewhat of a guessing game, although methodologies are improving. In general, standards evaluations have three baseline setting techniques to choose from:

- 1. Frozen baseline: the efficiency of new products remains constant in the base case
- 2. Improvement baseline: where historic UEC data exist, the efficiency of new products improves at a similar rate of historic autonomous efficiency improvement, declining into future
- 3. Market share baseline: where data on market share for models of different efficiencies exist, a baseline efficiency can be estimated for future years<sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> An additional baseline setting methodology using Bass curves to describe market adoption is discussed in [1]

Frozen baselines have typically been used when there is a lack of data on market-driven improvements, as is typically seen in many developing countries. The China National Institute of Standardization (CNIS), the technical body responsible for developing standards and managing the mandatory energy labeling program, also uses frozen baselines in its annual white papers that have projections on the potential savings from new minimum energy performance standards (MEPS) on various products [1]. Improvement baselines have been used in a few cases; for example, they were used in the case of a recent, comprehensive evaluation of standards and labeling (S&L) programs for refrigerators in Australia [7], where high quality data on shipments were available. As shown in Figure 3, various S&L programs have had distinct impacts on the efficiency of refrigerators sold, including the first mandatory labeling implemented in 1986, updated labeling and MEPS implemented in 1999, and updated MEPS implemented in 2005. Finally, market share baselines have been used in the ex-ante evaluation of potential standards levels for U.S. federal standards. For example, given that ENERGY STAR now plays a significant role in the evolution of appliance energy efficiency, it is often taken into account when forming a baseline. Typically, the U.S. Department of Energy (DOE) will work with the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) to come up with estimates of where the ENERGY STAR market share of a particular appliance is heading in the absence of standards [6].



#### Figure 3: Average efficiency of top-mount refrigerator-freezers under different policy scenarios Source: [7]

#### 3.1.3 Ex-ante and ex-post evaluations

*Ex-ante* evaluations are quite common for appliance standards, since they help prove the case for energy efficiency, in both reducing a country or state's energy demand and likely saving consumers money in the process. These evaluations take on many assumptions about appliance performance in the field, however, and there is a growing interest in correcting *ex-ante* evaluations with field data to achieve more accurate savings estimates through the use of correction factors. Finally, *ex-post* evaluation of incentives offers the option to include free ridership, reflecting the fact that some consumers would have purchased a more efficient appliance in the absence of an incentive, as well as program spillover, since some customers install additional energy efficiency measures, whether or not they participate in a program.

Appliance efficiency may vary widely in the field due to a number of factors. For example, the UEC<sub>e</sub> that is used in *ex-ante* evaluation is often based on engineering specifications as claimed or declared by the manufacturer. In many countries, these specifications are verified by third-party laboratory testing, but not all countries have product testing, and non-compliant products may still exist even where testing is done. Verification testing can be done on a sample of products to get a representative compliance rate (step 4 in Figure 2), and test for how laboratory performance might differ from claimed performance (as shown in Figure 4). In fact, reliable data on compliance rates are not that widely available in many places around the world, so many program evaluations often skip this step. Alternatively, metering measurements could be taken on an appliance once it is installed in a home or commercial building, and then installed performance could be compared with claimed performance to get a representative correction factor (step 5). A recent study at LBNL explored this issue in depth [8].



#### Figure 4: Relationships of compliance rates and correction factors to performance data

Net savings adjustments (step 6) are common for incentive evaluations and include combinations of estimates for free riders, participant spillover, and market effects. One of the most important concepts to understand within a technical measurement approach is that net savings is a behavior metric that adjusts gross savings to account for how a program influences the decision-making processes of the participants or people in the marketplace. In the case of free riders, the original baseline will account for the product being replaced or displaced, while the free rider proportion will account for those participants who would have gone ahead with purchasing a more efficient product even without the incentive that was offered. Participant spillover will account for additional energy saving actions that the participants may have made due to the incentive program. Market effects evaluations estimate a program's influence on encouraging future energy efficiency projects because of changes in the marketplace. The evaluation focuses on the changes in the structure or functioning of a market, or the behavior of participants in a market, that results from one of more program efforts [9, 10].

In the last step, a specific savings amount has to be attributed to a specific program (step 7). This is important when there are various programs that overlap in their influence on one sector's energy efficiency. It is common for labeling and incentive programs to have some overlap, for instance, since both programs are pushing the consumer to purchase an above average efficiency product. Like free riders, attribution factors are also calculated using some mixture of surveying and expert input.

Not depicted in Figure 2 are site-to-source energy conversion factors and emissions factors, which help to determine primary energy savings and emissions savings once secondary energy savings have been determined from the evaluation. Site-to-source energy conversion factors differentiate between primary and secondary energy use and efficiency, which the U.S. EPA has a standardized definition for: "When primary energy is consumed on site, the conversion to source energy must account for losses that are incurred in the storage, transport and delivery of fuel to the building. When secondary energy is consumed on site, the conversion must account for losses incurred in the production, transmission, and delivery to the site. The factors used to restate primary and secondary energy in terms of the total equivalent source energy units are called the source-site ratios" [11]. Once the quantity and type (coal, natural gas, oil, etc.) of primary energy or source energy units is known, then a carbon dioxide emissions factor can be used to find the associated carbon emission savings for the energy saved. Similar emissions factors could be used to determine the amount of emissions avoided for other common air pollutants including sulfur dioxide, nitrogen oxides, and ozone.

#### 3.2 Review of international impact evaluation studies

#### 3.2.1 United States – Federal level

LBNL has conducted a number of national impact assessments for standards for major residential and commercial appliances, using dynamic Business-as-Usual (BAUs) scenarios where assumptions were made on baseline efficiency improvements over time in the absence of new standards. The data for making these assumptions came from a mixture of sources including trade associations (e.g., the Association of Home Appliance Manufacturers) and U.S. DOE Technical Support Documentation (TSD) for related appliance standards development [6, 12, 13, 14]. Also at the federal level, the U.S. EPA carries out impact evaluations for its certification labeling system ENERGY STAR. Key indicators such as ENERGY STAR awareness and ENERGY STAR impact on purchasing decisions are quantified through annual surveys [15]. LBNL has also conducted impact studies on the resultant energy savings from the ENERGY STAR program [16].

#### 3.2.2 California and other U.S. States

California is a leader in energy efficiency, and as such, has developed protocols and procedures for impact and process evaluation [17, 18, 19]. Particularly in the area of incentive programs for building, appliance, and lighting efficiency, these protocols have been very helpful for program evaluators.

Alongside the development of protocols, the evaluation community in California developed the Database for Energy Efficient Resources (DEER) that contains "deemed savings" values for efficiency measures that are commonly installed in the marketplace. California has also established codes and standards in product areas that are not covered by federal standards [20]. Additionally, they recently performed an impact evaluation of several state standards that they had implemented, which incorporated estimates for naturally occurring market adoption and compliance rates [21].

There have been a number of studies by experts at LBNL, EPA, and the American Council for an Energy Efficient Economy (ACEEE) looking at the wide range of evaluation practices found across the U.S. [9, 22, 23]. Other states have developed their own regional or state-based technical resource manuals (TRMs), similar to California's DEER database [24]. Amidst the diversity of existing methodologies given the U.S.'s diverse regulatory space for electricity and energy efficiency, there have been efforts to consolidate methodologies and potentially make a national impact evaluation protocol for various energy efficiency measures. The State and Local Energy Efficiency Action (SEEAction) Network wrote a scoping study to identify issues with developing such a protocol [25], while the National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL) is running the Uniform Methods Project, which has developed draft methodologies for specific efficiency measures in residential lighting, commercial HVAC, and other areas.<sup>5</sup>

#### 3.2.3 Australia

Australia has had a number of efforts in the evaluation of appliance programs. In 2002, Australia created its first draft framework for the evaluation of the Australian Energy Efficiency S&L program. An additional program audit for labeling was performed in 2004/2005, with more comprehensive program audits for air conditioners and refrigerators performed as recently as 2010 [7, 26]. These studies are very helpful for their use of improving baselines and correction factors as well as their strong data collection techniques.

#### 3.2.4 European Union

European evaluation efforts have been headlined by two recent large-scale projects in support of E.U. energy efficiency targets. The first project was the Evaluation and Monitoring for the E.U. Directive on Energy End-Use Efficiency and Energy Services (EMEEES), which focused on bottom-up methodologies for 20 different energy efficiency measures [27]. The second project was the European Energy Efficiency Database (ODYSSEE), which focused on top-down indicators for energy efficiency as a route to monitor energy efficiency trends and policy measures in Europe [27]. In addition to these two projects, a number of studies have been done to evaluate the savings from the E.U.'s categorical labeling program [29, 30].

The EMEEES methodologies covered all forms of common programs including regulation (MEPS), labeling and training measures, financial incentives, and voluntary agreements. In addition to creating bottom-up methodologies for 20 different measures, the EMEEES project also proposed a template for member states to establish National Energy Efficiency Action Plans (NEEAPs) and a methodology for the E.U. Commission to perform *ex-ante* assessments and *ex-post* evaluations of the NEEAPs. The summary report for the EU's EMEEES project argued that top-down methodologies are accurate enough for appliances and vehicles, if there were well defined statistical indicators of average specific energy consumption per unit, while bottom-up methodologies were difficult due to free rider and multiplier effects which can be very costly to quantify.<sup>6</sup> If the measure saved more than 40 million kWh in annual electricity savings, more than 100 million kWh in annual energy savings, or greater than 5% of any individual member state's Energy Services Directive target, bottom up methodologies were justified. If a member state had only limited data about the measure, they used EU default values. If a member state had very measure-specific data, then there were specific harmonized guidelines they could follow to calculate the savings [31].

For a full list of other countries and program evaluation studies reviewed, see [2].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> More information on NREL's Uniform Methods Project can be found at: http://www.nrel.gov/extranet/ump/about.html

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> While bottom-up evaluation relies on surveys and quantification (of participants and specific measures) to inform inputs into engineering-based models, top-down evaluation uses aggregate consumption indicators (such as total energy consumption or per-capita energy consumption) as inputs to macro-economic demand models.

#### 4. Program evaluation options for standards, labeling, and incentives

This section provides the key data requirements for the methodologies reviewed in section 3, an assessment of China's data availability, and three methodology options for China to consider in light of their data availability for standards and labeling evaluations as well as incentive evaluations.

For the three methodology options, the first is largely based on China's existing capabilities and data availability. The second option proposes a small budget increase to conduct some data collection that will improve results and reduce uncertainty for the related analysis, with the idea that this option could be implemented on a shorter time scale of one to three years. The third option is a long-term implementation (five to ten years) of a number of improved data collection methods to achieve the lowest uncertainty with an effective use of budget.

Whether or not the Chinese government seeks to move towards these options that involve increased data collection and may require additional funds depends on their goals in the energy efficiency space. For instance, additional budget for surveying and metering may yield more certainty in the energy savings estimates from incentive evaluations. A full assessment of China's data availability will certainly aid the Chinese government's efforts in energy efficiency planning as they continue to improve their rapidly expanding standards, labeling, and incentive programs.

#### 4.1 Key data requirements and China data availability

Table 2 outlines the data types needed for evaluations of standards, labeling, and incentive programs. The bolded items indicate which data types that China is already collecting through surveys and other types of data collection [1]. The shaded items are those data types that are optional in some cases. For instance, in the evaluation of incentives, free ridership is not needed for a gross energy savings evaluation but is required for a net energy savings evaluation. The levels of uncertainty and sensitivity have been estimated for this preliminary study based on the authors' knowledge of evaluation literature and familiarity with Chinese data availability. These hypothesized levels can later be tested once formal program evaluations are underway in China.

Associated with each data type is an assigned sensitivity based on that data's impact on the evaluation algorithm. Previous ex-post evaluations have shown that number of measures, unit energy savings, and net-to-gross ratio have the highest impact on the end result [3]. As such, those options have all been flagged as high sensitivity in Table 2. Each data type also has an assigned uncertainty based on the currently used data source. For example, the annual UEC data currently collected by the China Energy Label Center (CELC) are a combination of the unit's efficiency (since energy labeling is now mandatory for many consumer products, these data must be reported by the manufacturers to CELC) multiplied by some assumption on usage. Although there is low uncertainty about the declared unit efficiencies, there could be higher uncertainty on the usage of the product (air conditioner usage varies widely, for instance).

Data type	Standards, labeling, incentives? (S,L,I)	Data source	Sensitivity (high, medium, low)	Uncertainty (high, medium, low)
Annual energy savings per unit product	S, L, I	CELC white paper, assumptions	High	Medium
Existing stock	S, L	Calculation	Low	Low
Market saturation (ownership, market shares)	S, L	China Statistical Yearbook	Medium	Low
Lifetime or retirement function	S, L, I	Literature, assumptions	Medium	Medium
Future shipment forecasts	S, L	Assumptions, calculation	High	Medium
Usage adjustment factor (UAF)	S, L, I	Literature, assumptions	Medium	Medium

Table 2: Data types required for standards, labeling, and incentives evaluation with China's current data sources and associated uncertainty and sensitivity

Naturally occurring market adoption	S, L	Estimation	Medium	Medium
Compliance rate	S, L, I	Literature, assumptions	Medium	Medium
Real shipments/sales	S, L	CELC white paper	High	Low
Site-to-source energy conversion factors	S, L, I	Literature, assumptions	Medium	Low
Emission factors	S, L, I	Literature, assumptions	Medium	Low
Number of measures	Ι	Ministry data (e.g. Ministry of Finance)	High	Low
Free ridership		Survey needed	High	High
Participant spillover		Survey needed	Medium	Medium
Market effects	1	Survey needed	Medium	Medium

Note: bolded data types are for data that China has already collected, shaded data types are optional in some cases.

As mentioned in section 2, once the sensitivity has been determined, this can assist in deciding priorities for enhanced data collection. Here, we add the uncertainty as an additional parameter to help determine data collection priorities. Table 3 outlines the high, medium, and low priorities for data collection based on sensitivity and uncertainty parameters. For instance, if an input has a high sensitivity on the evaluation algorithm but a very low uncertainty based on the current data source, then it is a low priority for improved data collection methods. Table 2 shows that real sales for products have a high sensitivity for standards and labeling evaluation but a low uncertainty. Sales has perhaps the largest impact on the evaluation algorithm (thus the high sensitivity), but China has had data collection in place for about three years now via a retail sales survey company, so this would be a relatively low priority for any new or improved data collection. As another example, lifetimes of products can help in projecting sales or in determining useful life of a product and thus carry a medium sensitivity. The data are currently estimated based on international literature giving them a medium uncertainty since product lifetimes within China may vary from those in the U.S. or E.U.

Uncertainty Sensitivity	High	Medium	Low
High	High priority	High priority	Low priority
Medium	Medium priority	Medium priority	Low priority
Low	Medium priority	Low priority	Low priority

Table 3: Relationship of sensitivity and uncertainty of data inputs to data collection priority

#### 4.2 Identifying evaluation options for China

Identifying where China current collects data will aid in recommending options for China for evaluations that it can currently carry out with little or no additional data collection. Assigning sensitivity and uncertainty to all other data types will aid in recommending options for evaluation that it can carry out in the short-term (1-3 years) and long-term (5-10 years) based on expanded and improved data collection. In this section, we identify evaluation options for China for standards and labeling as well as incentive programs. We outline three options based on: 1) current capabilities, 2) increased but limited data collection over the next few years, and 3) a more expansive increased data collection over the next five to ten years.

#### 4.2.1 Standards and labeling options

The three options for standards and labeling evaluation are as follows:

- 1. Ex-ante or simple ex-post evaluation based on existing capabilities (to implement now)
- 2. Ex-post evaluation with improved data on product usage, compliance, and site-to-source factors (to implement on a 1-3 year time scale)
- 3. Full ex-post evaluation with expanded surveying, testing, and/or metering (to implement on a 5-10 year time scale)

Within each option (outlined in Table 4), there is a specific direction for each data source:

- 1. Literature: Pull data from domestic or international literature
- 2. Existing data: Use data sources that China has already collected, including the China Energy Label Center's annual white paper
- 3. Datasets: Use a dataset that China should have at a future date (e.g. emissions factors)
- 4. Survey/metering: Employ new survey, laboratory testing, or on-site metering to gather new and improved data

Table 4: Data sources for standards and labeling evaluation options

Data type	Implement now	Short-term (1-3 years)	Long-term (5- 10 years)
Annual energy savings per unit product	Existing data	Survey/metering	Survey/metering
Market saturation	Existing data	Existing data	Existing data
Lifetime	Literature	Literature	Survey/metering
Usage adjustment factor (UAF)	Exclude	Exclude	Survey/metering
NOMAD or other baseline	Exclude	Exclude	Datasets
Compliance rate	Exclude	Datasets	Survey/metering
Real shipments/sales (or forecasts if <i>ex-ante</i> )	Existing data	Existing data	Existing data
Site-to-source energy conversion factors	Literature	Datasets	Datasets
Emission factors	Literature	Datasets	Datasets

Note: Exclude means that data point is not needed for the specified analysis in this option.

**Option 1** is roughly based on China's current evaluation capabilities and data availability and, therefore, does not involve any expanded surveys. Unit savings, market saturation, and sales can be taken from CELC's existing databases and retail surveys. All ex-post evaluation adjustments (such as usage adjustment factor and compliance rates) are excluded. Site-to-source energy conversion factors and emission factors can be estimated with existing domestic literature, such as project design documents reported under the Clean Development Mechanism.

**Option 2** makes two major changes from Option 1. First, there would be a set amount of surveying or on-site metering to determine hours of usage for various products (e.g. lighting, televisions, air conditioners, etc.). This would help decrease the uncertainty surrounding the high sensitivity data point on unit energy savings but would also carry an associated need for budget to finance that surveying or metering. Second, new estimates could be made on compliance rate and emission factors based on expanded datasets that China is likely to have in one to three years. For example, China is currently expanding its product verification testing (within CNIS's Energy Efficiency Laboratory Division) and may have an expanded dataset on product compliance in the coming years. Additionally, with China's expanding reporting for carbon intensity targets and growing carbon market programs, data on emission factors will likely improve over the coming years.

**Option 3** suggests a full set of evaluation capabilities, the extent of which is even beyond current evaluation scopes in the U.S., E.U., and elsewhere. The main difference in going from option 2 to option 3 is in using more sophisticated ex-post evaluation adjustment factors, including usage adjustment factors, compliance rates, and baselines. Through a mixture of laboratory testing and onsite metering, China can get a more accurate energy savings estimate by comparing how products perform in the field versus how they are declared to perform by manufacturers. It should be noted, however, that extensive testing like this is not yet regularly performed for ex-post evaluation in major developed countries due to the high budget required. There will always be a balance between budget and certainty, and China should make appropriate decisions based on their evaluation goals. For baselines, China will have enough data to perform a more sophisticated baseline analysis given that it will have collected 10-15 years of retail sales data broken down by energy efficiency labeling level.

#### 4.2.2 Incentives options

Unique data points for an incentives evaluation (as compared to a standards or labeling evaluation) are highlighted in Table 5. The options for evaluation follow a similar categorization.

- 1. Simple ex-post gross savings evaluation based on existing capabilities (to implement now)
- 2. Ex-post net savings evaluation with improved data on free ridership and unit energy savings (to implement on a 1-3 year time scale)
- 3. Full ex-post net savings evaluation with expanded surveying on free ridership, participant spillover, and market effects (to implement on a 5-10 year time scale)

Data type	Implement now	Short-term (1-3 years)	Long-term (5-10 years)
Annual energy savings per unit product	Existing data	Survey/metering	Survey/metering
Number of measures	Existing data	Existing data	Existing data
Free ridership	Exclude	Survey/metering	Survey/metering
Participant spillover	Exclude	Exclude	Survey/metering
Market effects	Exclude	Exclude	Survey/metering

#### Table 5: Data sources for incentives evaluation options

Note: 'Exclude' means that data point is not needed for the specified analysis in this option.

China has implemented a number of rebate programs for energy efficient products in the past few years including Rural Area Household Appliance Subsidy Program (also known as "Appliances to the countryside") and Energy Efficient Products Discount Program (also known as "Huimin gongcheng") [1]. Evaluations for gross energy savings can be performed on these programs by simply multiplying the number of rebates by the unit energy savings and expected useful life of the product. This assumes, however, that all of the measures or efficient products were successfully installed which may not be the case. Inspections and surveying could be performed on a selection of sites to determine the proportion of measures installed to rebates granted. For a net energy savings evaluation, a survey will be needed to evaluate the amount of free ridership. Further down the line, a more sophisticated survey can be administered to estimate other values including participant spillover and market effects. The degree to which these values are used in estimating net-to-gross ratios in expost evaluation varies widely in the U.S. Additionally, there is a concern that with a proliferation of energy efficiency policies (standards, labeling, incentives, other awareness campaigns) impacting any one consumer's purchase, it may become increasingly difficult to attribute the savings from an energy-efficient product to any one incentive program [9].

#### 5. Conclusion

As China ramps up its efforts in energy efficiency in the 12<sup>th</sup> Five Year Plan and beyond, data availability for standards development and program evaluation is becoming an increasingly relevant question. In this study, we have surveyed international evaluation methodologies and recommended options for China to improve its capabilities in program evaluation. In order to establish the foundation of these recommendations, we first outlined the relationships between program goals and budget, choice of algorithm and methodology, data gathering, and data sensitivity and uncertainty. Improvement to data inputs should be prioritized based on how much those inputs impact the end result of the analysis (sensitivity) and an assessment of data quality and collection method (uncertainty). Given the scope of China's appliance standards, labeling, and incentive programs and the scale of energy consumption growth in this sector, improvements to practices in development and evaluation should continue to be recommended. We found that data types with high sensitivity and high or medium uncertainty should be prioritized for increased or improved data collection in the medium term (1-3 years). Both annual energy savings per unit and free ridership fit this description, and China can plan increased surveying and metering to reduce the uncertainty of these values. Any increased data collection will need extra budget and human resources, which may be difficult for CNIS to manage. A small-scale surveying and metering pilot program could be introduced as a near-term, low budget option for China to test out how China might improve its evaluations and decrease the uncertainty of energy savings achieved by its expansive standards, labeling, and incentive programs.

#### Acknowledgments

We would like to express our deep appreciation to the China Sustainable Energy Program of the Energy Foundation and the Collaborative Labeling and Appliance Standard Program (CLASP) for providing funding for this project. We would especially like to thank Kevin Mo and Steven Zeng. This work was supported by the China Sustainable Energy Program of the Energy Foundation and the

Collaborative Labeling and Appliance Standard Program (CLASP) through the U.S. Department of Energy under Contract No. DE-AC02-05CH11231.

#### References

- [1] CNIS. (2012). White paper for the energy efficiency status of China energy-use products. Beijing: China Standards Press.
- [2] Zhou, N., Romankiewicz, J., Vine, E., Khanna, N., & Fridley, D. (2012). International Review of Frameworks for Impact Evaluation of Appliance Standards, Labeling, and Incentives. Berkeley, CA: Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory.
- [3] Jacobs, P., Kromer, S., & Hall, N. (2006). Risk Analysis Overview. California Evaluation Protocols Public Workshop. San Francisco, CA: California Public Utilities Commission.
- [4] Kiefer, K. (1993). A Framework for Strategic Evaluation Planning. International Energy Program Evaluation Conference (IEPEC). Chicago, IL: IEPEC.
- [5] McNeil, M., Letschert, V., de la Rue du Can, S., & Ke, J. (2012). Bottom-Up Energy Analysis System – Methodology and Results. Washington, DC: Collaborative Labeling and Appliance Standards Program.
- [6] U.S. Department of Energy. (2011a). Technical Support Document in support of Energy Conservation Standards for Residential Refrigerators, Refrigerator-Freezers, and Freezers. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Energy.
- [7] EE Strategies. (2010). Evaluation of energy efficiency policy measures for household refrigeration in Australia. Canberra, Australia: Australia's Department of Climate Change and Energy Efficiency.
- [8] Greenblatt, J., Hopkins, A., Letschert, V., & Blasnik, M. (2012). Energy use of US residential refrigerators and freezers: function derivation based on household and climate characteristics. Energy Efficiency, 6 (1): 135-162.
- [9] Vine, E., Hall, N., Keating, K., Kushler, M., & Prahl, R. (2012). Emerging issues in the evaluation of energy-efficiency programs: the US experience. Energy Efficiency, 5:5-17.
- [10] Northeast Energy Efficiency Partnerships. (2009). Glossary of Terms (Version 1.0). Lexington, MA: Northeast Energy Efficiency Partnerships.
- [11] U.S. EPA. (2012). Understanding Source and Site Energy. Retrieved January 9, 2012, from U.S. Environmental Protection Agency: http://www.energystar.gov/index.cfm?c=evaluate\_performance.bus\_benchmark\_comm\_bldgs
- [12] Meyers, S., McMahon, J., & Atkinson, B. (2008). Realized and Projected Impacts of U.S. Energy Efficiency Standards for Residential and Commercial Appliances. Berkeley, CA: Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory.
- [13] Meyers, S., Williams, A., & Chan, P. (2011). Energy and Economic Impacts of U.S. Federal Energy and Water Conservation Standards Adopted from 1987 through 2010. Berkeley, CA: Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory.
- [14] U.S. Department of Energy. (2011b). Residential Refrigerators, Refrigerator-Freezers and Freezers Final Rule Analytical Tools. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Energy.
- [15] Environmental Protection Agency. (2011). National Awareness of ENERGY STAR® for 2010: Analysis of 2010 CEE Household Survey. Washington, DC: EPA Office of Air and Radiation, Climate Protection Partnerships Division.
- [16] Homan, G., Sanchez, M., & Brown, R. (2010). Calendar Year 2009 Program Benefits for ENERGY STAR Labeled Products. Berkeley, CA: Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory.

- [17] TecMarket Works. (2004). The California evaluation framework. San Francisco, CA: California Public Utilities Commission.
- [18] California Public Utilities Commission. (2006). California Energy Efficiency Evaluation Protocols: Technical, Methodological and Reporting Requirements for Evaluation Professionals. San Francisco, CA: California Public Utilities Commission.
- [19] Vine, E., Rhee, C., & Lee, K. (2006). Measurement and evaluation of energy efficiency programs: California and South Korea. Energy, 31: 1100-1113.
- [20] Itron. (2011). DEER Database: 2011 Update Documentation. San Francisco, CA: California Public Utilities Commission.
- [21] Quantec. (2007). Statewide Codes and Standards Market Adoption and Noncompliance Rates. Portland, OR: Quantec.
- [22] National Action Plan for Energy Efficiency. (2007). Model Energy Efficiency Program Impact Evaluation Guide. Washington, DC: U.S. Environmental Protection Agency and Department of Energy.
- [23] Kushler, M., Nowak, S., & White, P. (2012). A National Survey of State Policies and Practices for the Evaluation of Ratepayer-Funded Energy Efficiency Programs. Washington, DC: American Council for an Energy Efficient Economy.
- [24] Vermont Energy Investment Corporation. (2010). State of Ohio Energy Efficiency Technical Reference Manual. Columbus, OH: Public Utilities Commission of Ohio.
- [25] Schiller, S., Goldman, C., & Galawish, E. (2011). National Energy Efficiency Evaluation, Measurement and Verification (EM&V) Standard: Scoping Study of Issues and Implementation Requirements. Berkeley, CA: Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory.
- [26] EE Strategies. (2002). Evaluation of the Australian energy efficiency standards and labeling program: Report to the Australian Greenhouse Office and the National Appliance and Equipment Energy Efficiency Committee. Canberra: Australia Department of Climate Change and Energy Efficiency.
- [27] Larsonneur, P., & Desbrosses, N. (2009). EMEES bottom-up case application 5: Energyefficient cold appliances and washing machines. Wuppertal, Germany: Wuppertal Institute for Climate, Environment, and Energy.
- [28] Lapillonne, B., Bosseboeuf, D., & Thomas, S. (2009). Top-down Evaluation Methods of Energy Savings: A Summary Report. Wuppertal, Germany: Wuppertal Institute for Climate, Environment, and Energy.
- [29] Waide, P. (1997). Refrigerators: Developments in the European Market. In P. Bertoldi, A. Ricci, & B. Huenges Wajer, Proceedings of the First International Conference on Energy Efficiency in Household Appliances. Florence, Italy: Springer.
- [30] Larsen, T., Petersson, K., & Naeraa, R. (2012). Estimation Tool for National Effects of MEPS and Energy Labeling. International Energy Program Evaluation Conference. Rome, Italy.
- [31] Wuppertal Institute. (2009). Measuring and reporting energy savings for the Energy Services Directive – how it can be done. Wuppertal, Germany: Wuppertal Institute for Climate, Environment, and Energy.

# An econometric model to assess residential electricity savings in the EU

#### Paolo Bertoldi, European Commission Joint Research Centre

#### Bettina Hirl, University of Lugano

#### Abstract:

For policy makers at the European and national level it is important to know how effective energy policies and measures are and how much energy has been saved, in particular towards the 2020 energy saving target. Alongside the evaluation of the energy savings, it is also necessary to collect as much information and knowledge as possible about energy consumption trends and factors influencing energy consumption. Moreover, for policy makers it is crucial that a monitoring and evaluation method is giving good and reliable results on the one hand and is relatively easy and straightforward to use in practice on the other hand. In the paper a new methodology for quantifying the energy savings produced by energy efficiency measures and policies is described. The methodology is based on a relatively simple econometric model that is used to estimate consumption and, based on that model, to forecast energy consumption. The forecasted consumption is then compared with the actual consumption. The differences between the forecasted and the actual consumption can be interpreted as the estimated energy savings.

We present a general energy demand model which is used to evaluate energy savings due to energy efficiency policies. The general model can be applied to different sectors (e.g. residential, tertiary) and different fuels (e.g. electricity, gas). In this paper the model is applied to the residential electricity sector.

Based on the econometric model, the energy savings are estimated for six Member States. The results show that energy efficiency policies are already starting to be successful and their impact on energy consumption is already visible in the analyzed MSs, which achieved important savings in consumption.

#### 1. Introduction

Energy efficiency has become one of the main policy goals in the European Union. Many important directives and regulations to promote energy efficiency have been implemented or are in the planning phase just before implementation. Furthermore a lot of EU Member States have been very active in the area of energy efficiency on the national level, having implemented many important policies and measures. For the policy maker at the European and national level it is therefore important to know how effective these measures are, where the different countries stand in terms of energy efficiency, and how they compare to each other. A monitoring and evaluation system is needed. Alongside the evaluation of these policies, it is also necessary to collect as much information and knowledge as possible about energy consumption trends and factors influencing energy consumption. In this project we build a methodology to evaluate energy efficiency improvements of a country by quantifying the energy savings produced by energy efficiency measures and programmes. For policy makers it is crucial that a monitoring and evaluation method is giving good and reliable results on the one hand and is relatively easy and straightforward to use in practice on the other hand. The methodology we are using in this project is a relatively basic econometric model that is used to estimate actual consumption and based on that model to forecast energy consumption.

The general economic model used to estimate energy demand usually includes energy prices, an indicator for the economic situation (e.g. GDP), a variable for weather/climatic conditions (e.g. heating degree days), and the population size. To this variables we add the stock of electric appliances (i.e. refrigerators). Energy demand is then estimated as a function of these factors. Based on the model, we also forecast energy demand for a pre-specified period (2 and 4 years).

The forecasted consumption is then compared with the actual consumption. The differences between the forecasted and the actual consumption are the achieved (estimated) can be interpreted as energy savings (the interpretation of this difference will be discussed in more detail in chapters 3.2. and 3.3..) In this project we present a general model<sup>1</sup> that can be applied to different sectors (residential and tertiary sector) and different markets (electricity and gas) under different conditions and specifications.

#### 2 Design of the Database

#### 2.1 Methodology

The database is created for the econometric analysis with a statistical software programme. In this project Eviews is used but any other statistical software can be used as well. The structure of the database consists of multiple levels. The first level consists of the raw datasets (Excel files) taken from various data sources. On a second level, the relevant data needed for the model is transformed, processed and formatted for use in Eviews.

The formatted data can then be analysed (statistical analysis, graphs etc.) as a preparation for the econometric analysis. The creation of the database is a crucial step in the project process as the guality of the models depends to a large extent on the data used. The statistical analysis can be found in chapter 3 as a part of the research design/methodology.

The methodology for the database design and data analysis is as follows:



#### 2.2 Outline of the Database

The database consists of all collected raw datasets. From these raw datasets we produced two individual excel sheets with the data needed for the econometric analysis, one for each of the two econometric models.

The following table gives an overview of the database with the collected datasets/variables that could be used for the econometric model and also for further analysis related to the project. The database is as inclusive as possible to give an overview of all relevant data. Not all datasets / variables included in the database will actually be used in the modelling process.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The models are based on the National Consumption Metrics Models developed by Marvin Horowitz.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Note: The econometric analysis as described in this report is done in Eviews and hence the database is formatted for use in Eviews. However, the available, collected datasets can be used in any other statistical software.

While the geographic dimension of the dataset all EU-27 countries are included in the database, for the econometric analysis not all EU-27 Member States have been included but only certain group of countries. The Member States that have been included in the analysis depends on data availability, the choice of the regression model and the grouping of countries. The time dimension of the database is: 1990 to 2010 (2010 being the latest available year on Eurostat at the time of the project). The economic sectors coverage is the residential sector

Data Source	Dataset/ Variables					
All Sectors						
Eurostat	Actual heating degree days					
	Real GDP per capita					
	Population					
	Value added by economic sectors					
	GDP deflator					
Odyssee Database	Energy efficiency index					
	Final energy intensity					
Resident	ial Sector					
Eurostat	Final energy consumption					
	Final electricity consumption					
	Final gas consumption					
	Gas prices					
	Electricity prices					
	Number of households (per country)					
	Average people per household					
Odyssee Database	Stock of appliances					

#### Tab. 1: Overview of available datasets

#### 2.3 Data availability and quality

In general, the datasets are available for the full timeframe of the analysis from 1990 to 2010. Only the population dataset and the energy consumption datasets are complete for all Member States. The heating degree dataset is complete from 1990 until 2009 but ends at 2009, there is no data on actual heating degree days for 2010 on Eurostat at the time of the project. All other datasets are incomplete with missing observations for at least one Member State but usually for several Member States and over several periods. For data on households like the number of households per country, average people per household and average size of dwelling in square meters the datasets are very incomplete and cover only a few countries and short time periods.

The countries that are being analyzed in this project were partly also selected because of the high availability and quality of their corresponding datasets. This is true for the four bigger countries, namely France, Germany, Italy, and the United Kingdom. However, also for these countries we have incomplete datasets and/or differences in the quality of the available data. For Italy, for instance, the electricity prices for the residential sector are missing for three periods.

There are several ways to deal with missing data. One way to deal with missing data would be to pool countries together to a group and then do a panel analysis. Another way is to estimate the missing

data points or extrapolate them. For some Member States there might exist a similar dataset without the missing observations in another database, e.g. a national database. However, this is only true for some countries and the different languages in the EU make it difficult to collect those data.

The quality of the available data can differ to a great extent and is closely related to the methodology of data collection. Methodologies may change over time which can cause a disturbance of the dataset. These disturbances can have significant impacts on the econometric models' results.. Apart from a change in data collection methodology, other factors can influence the quality of the data. These factors are seldom known and are difficult to detect in the data. One possibility to understand more about the quality of the data is to look at the graphs of the different datasets. If there are important outliers or very unusual trend patterns it is very likely that the quality of the data is not very high. Data quality was another determinant in order to select countries for our econometric analysis. The quality of the datasets of France, Germany, Italy, and the United Kingdom is in general relatively high compared to other countries also because these countries have a long tradition in data collection.

#### 3 Design of the econometric models

#### 3.1 General research outline

The aim of this project was to build a methodology that produces good and reliable energy efficiency (energy savings) estimates to evaluate if policies designed to reduce energy consumption in the EU have already been successful. Furthermore, the models have to be relatively simple to be of use in the daily practice of the policy maker for policy evaluation and further development of policies. The project presents a general model that can be applied to different sectors (residential and tertiary sector) and different markets (electricity and gas) under different conditions and specifications.

We have used two different estimation approaches to estimate the models. The first approach is to estimate individual time series models with OLS. The second approach is to estimate a panel model with country fixed effects (LSDV) including either all 27 EU Member States or, alternatively, a sub-group of countries.

The individual time series models generally deliver more precise results and smaller forecast erros whereas the panel models have more observations and hence deliver more stable coefficients less affected by multicollinearity and outliers.

We estimate different models for each of the six countries selected, by changing the cut-off period, the explanatory variables, and also the estimation method (panel and individual time series models) We then compare models according to forecast results, forecast percentage errors, goodness of fit of the estimated regression, and significance level of the regression coefficients.

The general aggregate energy demand function our models are build on can be written as follows:

$$Y_{it} = f(RP_{it}, HDD_{it}, RGDP_{it}, POP_{it}, ST_{it}, t)$$

Where  $Y_{it}$  is the aggregated energy demand (electricity or gas),  $RP_{it}$  is the real price,  $HDD_{it}$  are the actual heating degree days,  $RGDP_{it}$  is the real GDP,  $POP_{it}$  is population,  $ST_{it}$  is the stock of appliances, and t is the year.

Our general econometric model consists of a dependent variable and multiple explanatory variables. In this project the dependent variable is defined as the energy consumption of a single fuel (electricity or gas) divided by population (or employees in some cases). Based on the economic theory of energy demand, the following main factors were identified to influence energy consumption: energy prices, economic situation/development, and weather conditions. These factors are included as explanatory variables in all the models presented in this project. For some models, a time trend variable is added, which represents the change in equipment stock and/or other societal trends. The model is in log-log form (dependent and explanatory variables are expressed in logarithms) so that the coefficients can be directly interpreted as elasticities.

Energy prices are delivered for fuel categories on a half-yearly basis by Eurostat. From these halfyearly prices, annual average prices are calculated. Energy prices are transformed into real prices by correcting them with the individual GDP deflators for each country and period. In the case of Italy, electricity prices are missing for three consecutive years. However, prices including taxes are delivered for these years by Eurostat. The missing values are extrapolated by taking the average amount of taxes that add to the price of electricity and subtracting this value from the prices with taxes. Energy consumption is closely linked to the weather. The reason for this lies mainly in the fact that heating is the biggest part of residential gas consumption. In many countries, electrical heating is getting more popular compared to other heating methods. In that sense, cooler temperatures than normal also have an influence on electricity consumption. It is also very likely that people spend more time in the house using electric appliances in cold years and cooler climates. This also increases electricity consumption. The model accounts for climatic and weather conditions by including annual actual heating degree days for each country into the regression equation. Degree days are available for the period 1990 until 2009. The average value for 1980 until 2009 is then used for the year 2010.

Another important influencing factor of energy consumption is the economic situation. A general positive relation between economic growth and energy consumption can be observed although this correlation decreased slightly during the last years due to a more efficient and less energy intense economy. Nevertheless, the models show that the influence of economic growth on energy consumption is positive and statistically significant in most cases. The models account for economic growth and the economic situation by including GDP per capita or an industrial production index into the equation. The GDP is provided by Eurostat as real GDP per capita.

In line with our analysis of the available data and of the factors influencing energy consumption, we specify the following general econometric model:

$$\frac{\ln Y_{ijt}}{N_{ijt}} = \alpha_{ijt} + \beta_{HDD} lnHDD_{jt} + \beta_{RP} \ln RP_{ijt} + \beta_{RGDPPC} \ln RGDPPC_{ijt} + \beta_{ST} \ln ST_{ijt} + \beta_{DT}DT_{jt} + \varepsilon_{ijt}$$

where  $Y_{ijt}$  is aggregated energy consumption,  $N_{ijt}$  is population or number of employees,  $HDD_{jt}$  are the actual heating degree days,  $RP_{ijt}$  is the real price per kWh for electricity or per Gj for gas respectively,  $RGDPPC_{ijt}$  is the real GDP per capita,  $ST_{ijt}$  is the stock of electrical appliances (e.g. refrigerators)  $DT_{jt}$  is a series of time dummy variables and  $\varepsilon_{ijt}$  is the disturbance term all for country j, year t and fuel market i<sup>3</sup>. As energy consumption and the regressors are in logarithms, the coefficients are directly interpretable as demand elasticity.

The general model is valid for all countries, sectors, single fuels and estimation methods. We estimate panel data models (with all 27 EU Member States and with only a small group of countries) and individual time series models. For the panel data models, we include fixed effects (FE) time and cross section dummy variables, whereas the cross section dummies are the individual intercepts,  $\alpha_{ijt}$  and the time dummy variables are represented by  $DT_{jt}$  in the model specified above. For the individual time series models, one individual intercept and no time dummy variables are included in the model, as the time dummy variables capture the unobserved heterogeneity of individual countries.

Since the data availability is best for the residential electricity consumption models, we estimated a panel-27 model, two sub-panel models (one with four countries (DE, FR, IT, UK) and one with two countries (BG, RO), and individual time series models for Germany, France, Italy, and the United Kingdom. The reason why we estimated different models is to try out under which setting the model works best and we get the most precise saving estimates.

**Residential electricity** 

Panel 27 (y/pop, gdp) Panel 27 (y/employees, value

X

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>There are four fuel markets analyzed in our project, hence i=1,2,3,4; residential electricity, tertiary electricity, residential gas, and tertiary gas.

added) Sub-panel (DE, FR, IT, UK) Sub-panel (BG, RO) Individual time series (3 variables) Individual time series (4 variables, incl. fridge)

The energy demand models we estimated were then used as the basis for the energy consumption forecasts in order to determine the energy savings occurred in a specific country. We forecast for two cut-off periods (2006 and 2008), meaning the forecasting periods are two and four years respectively. The forecast consumption levels were then compared to the actual consumption levels, the difference between the two can be interpreted as the achieved energy savings under suitable assumptions. Generally the difference between actual consumption and forecasted consumption is the part that is not explained by our econometric model (the residual). In a regression the residual is usually the result of a combination of omitted variables, measurement error, misspecification of the model, and other random events. By including all relevant variables, choosing the correct function form (e.g. log-log as in our case), and minimizing measurement error by understanding the data, we are reducing the part of the difference/residual which is not due to a omitted variable. The variable which is missing (hence the omitted variable in our model) is clearly the level of energy efficiency policies in a given country. Hence, by controlling as good as possible for the other factors that make part of the residual, we can expect that the omitted variable, energy efficiency policy, takes up a large part of it. A significant part of the difference between actual and forecasted consumption can thus be attributed to the impact of energy efficiency policies. We cannot tell how large the part of the difference that is due to the energy efficiency policy variable is in terms of percentages but it can be shown that our models deliver good results and have a good overall fit. Nevertheless, we suggest to interpret the estimated savings as a general trend in savings rather than very precise estimations of actual savings.

х

х

x

Х

#### 3.2Estimation results

This chapter summarizes estimation outputs and results of the models estimated.<sup>4</sup>

The overall goal of the project is to quantify savings resulting from energy efficiency measures and policies. Important for our analysis is therefore the performance of the models in terms of forecasting preciseness, measured by the percentage forecast error<sup>5</sup>. This is a slightly different approach than usually undertaken in econometric studies, where the primary attention lies on the estimation outputs, i.e. sign and significance level of the coefficients and the goodness-of-fit measure (e.g.  $R^2$ ). For the evaluation of the different models, we focus primarily on the preciseness of the forecasts. As we are interested in forecasting energy demand rather than explaining and interpreting the impact of each individual variable on energy demand, we place less focus on the individual coefficients of the regression estimation and place more emphasis on the preciseness of the forecasts.

Our analysis shows that the individual time series models produce – in most cases- better forecasting results than the panel models (by panel models we mean the panel-27 model with all 27 EU Member States and the smaller sub-panel models with 2-4 countries). The results from the individual time series models are generally more precise and more reliable than from the panel models. In some cases, however, panel models provide superior results for some countries. For instance, some sub-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>All estimation output tables, consumption forecast graphs, and savings' estimates and precision levels' tables can be found in the annex of the full report. The most relevant tables and graphs can be found at the end of this chapter.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The percentage forecast error is calculated by dividing the standard error of the forecast by the forecasted consumption

panel models for a group of four countries (DE, FR, IT, UK) produce better results for some countries. In all models estimated some coefficients are statistically significant and carry the expected sign. <sup>6</sup> As expected, the number of significant coefficients is generally a bit higher in the panel models. The differences in significance levels between panel models and individual time series models is most likely due to the number of observations. For the panel models, the number of observations is substantially higher than for the individual time series models.

In general, the estimation outputs are in line with our expectations concerning the sign of parameter coefficients. The results show that the price has a negative influence on consumption, although the price elasticity of energy demand is relatively inelastic. In some models, the values of the coefficient for the real price are also in the expected range, mostly close to -0.30 which is in line with usual estimates of price elasticity of electricity demand.

Actual heating degree days are significant and carry a positive sign in some cases, showing there is a positive correlation between heating degree days and energy consumption. However, our models also show that sometimes the influence of heating degree data is not as clear and important as may be expected, some of the coefficients are not significant and carry a negative sign. The coefficient for real GDP per capita is usually positive, showing that an increase in GDP will also increase energy consumption.

Apart from the three main explanatory variables (real price, real GDP per capita, and actual heating degree days) included in all models estimated, some models also include the stock of refrigerators. The coefficients for the stock of refrigerators, which is only included in the residential electricity consumption models, have the expected positive sign and are statistically significant in some cases (see Appendix), which indicates that the stock of refrigerators is important to be included in the models as time trend for the rate of use/change of appliances in households. Furthermore, it might be desirable to include a comparable variable also for gas consumption models.

### Tab. 2: Comparison of regression coefficients of selected models for residential electricity consumption: Panel-27 LSDV (fixed effects) model vs individual time series models (OLS)

	Residential electricity consumption, three explanatory variables, cut-off period 2006									
		Panel 27 Model					Individua	Individual time series		
Variables	EU-27	Coefficients	St. Err.	t-stat.	Variables	DE	Coefficients	St. Err.	t-stat.	
Constant		-12,124860	0,677586	-17,894210	Constant		-15,052000	0,877522	-17,152830	
RP		-0,296200	0,053339	-5,553187	RP		-0,063978	0,082963	-0,771168	
RGDPPC		0,388337	0,060088	6,462799	RGDPPC		0,633204	0,067358	9,400638	
HDD		0,145155	0,071626	2,026579	HDD		0,257335	0,034118	7,542399	
						FR				
					Constant		-11,257080	3,759526	-2,994282	
					RP		-0,594732	0,189174	-3,143831	
					RGDPPC		0,254105	0,346695	0,732935	
					HDD		0,150513	0,115271	1,305734	
						IT				
					Constant		-10,659910	3,109759	-3,427889	
					RP		-0,216080	0,103834	-2,081005	
					RGDPPC		0,347446	0,284202	1,222530	
					HDD		-0,006295	0,104989	-0,060013	
						UK				
					Constant		-13,484400	1,274771	-10,577900	
					RP		-0,028664	0,062834	-0,456190	
					RGDPPC		0,525784	0,087932	2,575557	
					HDD		-0,226376	0,089119	5,899765	

Although the significance level of estimation outputs of our models is worth noting, the primary goal of the project is to produce precise forecasts of energy consumption and energy savings, therefore the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The  $\mathbb{R}^2$  is generally in the expected range for the individual time series models. For the panel data models, the reported  $\mathbb{R}^2$  is not the correct one. To obtain the correct  $\mathbb{R}^2$  for a panel model, one has to calculate the within  $\mathbb{R}^2$  which adjusts for the fixed effects.

main focus should be on the forecasting results rather than on significance levels of individual coefficients. There exists a trade-off between estimation outputs that are statistically significant and the preciseness of the forecasts. Whereas the panel models generally produce a higher number of statistically significant coefficients, the individual time series models generally deliver more precise forecasts. The first result is – as already mentioned- due to the increased number of observations; the second result is due to the differences between countries. Although our panel models account for heterogeneity (observed and unobserved) between countries not all differences can be captured in the models. Therefore, individual time series models is a sufficient number of observations. For France, Germany, Italy, and the United Kingdom the number of observations was sufficient to produce good forecasts whereas for Bulgaria and Romania we do not have enough observations and hence have to rely on the panel model estimates for these two countries.

#### 3.3 Energy savings

yet as visible as in the other four countries.

For policy makers it is of crucial interest to know if the policies they implemented are delivering the desired results, in our case energy savings. During the last years, energy efficiency has become one of the main policy goals in energy policy in the EU. A series of EU-wide, national and also regional policies have been implemented. The models we estimated were built to forecast energy consumption and hence show the accumulated energy savings of the last years as a result of the policies implemented. Our results show that we can already see an impact of energy efficiency policies on energy consumption. The impact varies between sectors and fuels. The most significant effect of policies can be seen in the residential electricity sector where our models estimated energy savings for the majority of countries analysed. As explained in chapter 3.2, energy savings are calculated as the difference of actual and forecasted consumption. The difference between actual and forecasted consumption is largely driven by the omitted variable, energy efficiency policy, in our model. Although we cannot say how large the difference due to energy policy and how large the part of other factors influencing the residual is (as mentioned above the difference could in theory also be caused by measurement error, a wrong function form or temporary random events), we can show that our models have a general good fit, and deliver precise results with small forecasts errors. Hence, it is very likely that the difference between actual and forecasted consumption is mainly due to energy efficiency policies. The forecasts are produced based on the energy consumption models estimated. Since we estimated a series of different models (individual time series models and panel models) with different specifications (i.e. varying explanatory variables) our results in terms of estimated energy savings for the same countries differ between the models.

Our results show that the highest energy savings have been realized in residential electricity consumption showing that energy efficiency policies have already been successful there. In line with our expectations, we find that for the four bigger EU countries (France, Germany, Italy, United Kingdom) our models estimated higher energy savings as for the two newer EU Member States, Bulgaria and Romania. This can be explained by the different implementation times of energy efficiency policies in the two groups of countries. Germany, France, Italy, and the United Kingdom started to implement policies to reduce energy consumption since the early 1990s whereas Bulgaria and Romania implemented most policies during recent years. Hence, results of these policies are not

In the panel model for residential electricity consumption with all 27 EU Member States almost no energy savings are visible. The general observation is that actual consumption lies above forecasted consumption for the countries analysed only Italy and Germany achieved savings in this model. Contrary to that, the sub-panel models and individual time-series models show significant savings for most countries and periods analysed. The individual time series models estimated for France, Germany, Italy and the United Kingdom show savings in residential electricity consumption for all countries and periods except for France in the year 2010. Savings lie between 0.42% and 11.34% per year in these models. The graphs (Fig.2) show that actual consumption is flattening for the four countries whereas forecasted consumption follows a rising curve.

The most precise results are gained from the residential electricity consumption models, whereas the gas consumption models deliver less precise forecasts. This is to a great extent caused by an overall lower quality of the data for this sector compared to the data for residential electricity consumption. Furthermore, some variables included in the residential electricity consumption models (i.e. stock of

electricity consuming appliances) are not are available for gas consumption such as the stock of energy consumption appliances.

The percentage errors of the forecast for the individual time series models are generally lower than for the panel models. Percentage errors for the individual time series models for residential electricity consumption with four regressors are between 0.63% and 4.61%. For residential gas consumption, our models delivered comparatively low forecasting errors lying between 2.56% and 6.91

In summary, we can say that policies are starting to have a visible effect on energy consumption, especially in the residential electricity sector, where our models show important energy savings for some countries. Furthermore, in Bulgaria and Romania, important energy efficiency potential could be realised. Until today, our models show no significant energy savings for these two countries. Concerning the preciseness of the forecasts, it can be said that individual time series models generally delivered better and more reliable results than panel models although there are some individual exceptions. Furthermore, it is important to note that the availability and quality of the datasets has a great influence on the models. Models generally produced better results where more data and data of better quality was available (as was the case for residential electricity consumption). Finally, we can say that our models perform generally well when being used for modelling electricity consumption and less well for modelling gas consumption.

Tab. 3: Forecasted consumption, energy savings, and percentage error of forecasts for the
individual time series models for residential electricity consumption (regressors: RP, RGDPPC,
HDD, ST), for DE, FR, IT, UK

Forecasted consumption & Energy savings		Cut-off pe	riod 2006		Cut-off period 2008		
		TWh Savings	% Savings	% SE	TWh Savings	% Savings	% SE
	2007	503.00	0.42%	0.63%	Savings	Savings	1 0160431
	2007	0007.00	0,4270	0,0370			
DE	2008	2067,00	1,48%	0,94%			
	2009	3451,00	2,48%	0,55%	3.299	2,37%	0,60%
	2010	2144,00	1,51%	0,87%	1.286	0,91%	0,76%
	2007	5149,00	3,53%	2,69%			
-0	2008	5730,00	3,80%	2,77%			
FR	2009	4586,00	3,02%	3,57%	739	0,49%	3,41%
	2010	-7798,00	-4,80%	3,80%	-13.200	-8,12%	3,03%
	2007	2330,30	3,47%	1,36%			
17	2008	4421,70	6,47%	1,53%			
11	2009	7492,30	10,87%	2,54%	972	1,41%	3,50%
	2010	7914,90	11,38%	2,43%	1.655	2,38%	3,29%
	2007	3238,00	2,63%	2,93%			
	2008	8312,00	6,94%	3,97%			
UK	2009	9679,00	8,17%	4,29%	1.979	1,67%	3,62%
	2010	13567,00	11,43%	4,61%	6.030	5,08%	4,15%



Fig. 2: Forecasted and actual residential electricity consumption, individual time series models (regressors: RP, RGDPPC, HDD, ST), for DE, FR, IT, UK



## Fig. 3: Forecasted and actual residential electricity consumption, panel27 model (regressors: RP, RGDPPC, HDD), for BG and RO

### **4** Conclusions

Energy efficiency has become one of the main policy goals in energy policy in the European Union. In order to develop and implement new policies, it is of crucial importance for the policy maker to evaluate the impact of the policies. In this project we applied a general energy demand model to the residential sector to analyse electricity and gas consumption savings. Based on the econometric model, we estimated the respective energy savings for six selected countries. Our results show that energy efficiency policies are already starting to be successful and their impact on energy consumption is already visible in some sectors, as for instance in residential electricity consumption, where the majority of the analysed countries achieved important savings in consumption. The project also showed that generally individual time series models deliver better forecasting results than panel models whereas panel models have a higher number of statistically significant coefficients.

This project has to been seen in the context of an ongoing study of energy consumption in the European Union. It builds a valuable basis for future research and points out opportunities and also difficulties for future research. The project shows that the models that have been used can deliver important and reliable results of energy savings estimates. However, it became also clear during the project work that the quality of the models' results depends to a large extent also on the quality and availability of the database. For future research projects, it will be of great importance to expand the now existing database with datasets that are not yet available now but will be maybe in the future. The datasets, estimation outputs, graphs and tables delivered by this project are a good basis for future research work.

### Measuring Success in Mid-stream Programs: Design and Evaluation Recommendations from a TV Program

Marti Frank, Ph.D., Jane Peters, Ph.D., Joe Van Clock, and Alex Dunn, Ph.D.

Research Into Action, Inc., USA

#### Abstract

"Mid-stream" energy efficiency programs are gaining popularity in the United States because of the efficiency with which they can target a product's supply chain. These programs typically entail the formation of partnerships between major retail chains and program administrators, enabling them to reach a large proportion of the consumer market while maintaining just a few relationships.

Although funders and implementers have lauded the success of these programs in increasing adoption of efficient televisions, evaluations have not supported this perspective. Previous evaluations found that programs had little measurable influence on the complex and fast-changing television market. If an approach to evaluation cannot be found, major funders may withdraw their support, putting the future of mid-stream consumer electronics programs in the U.S. at risk.

Evaluators and program designers must meet three key challenges in order for mid-stream programs to continue, and succeed: 1) Create an evaluation approach for retailers and manufacturer participants; 2) Identify relevant, observable metrics for measuring a mid-stream program's success and establish an appropriate standard of proof for assessment of market influence; and 3) Agree on an approach to determine the market baseline, in other words, what would have happened, absent the program.

This paper proposes approaches to each of these challenges based on the authors' experience evaluating one of the largest and longest-running consumer electronics efficiency programs in the U.S. and discusses opportunities to employ the methodology from this study in evaluating energy efficiency policy and codes and standards efforts.

#### Introduction

"Mid-stream" energy efficiency programs take their name from the point, in a product's supply chain, they seek to influence – a middle ground between the product's manufacturers and component suppliers (the "upstream" players) and the end user. In the U.S., this middle ground is dominated by a handful of retailers. For example, four retailers together account for two-thirds of refrigerator sales (Sears, Lowe's, Home Depot, and Best Buy) and two retailers account for more than half of television sales (Best Buy and Wal-mart) [2, 3].

Mid-stream energy efficiency programs are gaining popularity in the United States because of the efficiency with which they can target a product's supply chain. Consolidation in the retail sector makes mid-stream programs particularly attractive because of their potential for operational efficiency, and with it a positive benefit/cost ratio. In these programs, administrators typically form partnerships with major retail chains, enabling them to reach a broad swath of the consumer market while maintaining just a few relationships. In addition, mid-stream programs facilitate access to top corporate decision-makers, direct influence over product assortment, and access to product sales data, impacts that end-user-focused programs may not as easily obtain.

These are a few of the advantages of mid-stream programs, to which there is also an important drawback: mid-stream programs are difficult to evaluate and in the U.S. there are few evaluation precedents. Below, we describe the evaluation of a TV energy efficiency program operated by the Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance (NEEA), from 2009 to the present, in the Pacific Northwest

region of the U.S. (the states of Oregon, Washington, Idaho, and Montana) [1].<sup>1</sup> The study can serve as an example to other evaluators of mid-stream programs, or energy policy or regulation, in how to meet three key challenges in evaluating these programs: 1) Creating a qualitative evaluation approach for retailers and manufacturer participants; 2) Identifying relevant, observable metrics for measuring a mid-stream program's success and establishing an appropriate standard of proof for qualitative assessment of market influence; and 3) Agreeing on an approach to determining the market baseline (what would have happened, absent the program) suitable to mid-stream programs. The evaluation described in this paper adds to the scant midstream program evaluation literature. Previous evaluations include a theory white paper and a baseline study conducted in advance of the launch of one of the first large midstream programs [4, 5]; an evaluation of NEEA's 2010 television program [3]; and a program "review" of a similar program in California in 2011 [8].

#### **NEEA's TV Program**

The Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance (NEEA) is a non-profit organization that works to accelerate the innovation and adoption of energy-efficient products, services, and practices in the Pacific Northwest region of the U.S. In 2009, NEEA launched the Consumer Electronics Television Initiative (the program) with the goal of increasing the availability of energy efficient televisions at retail stores in its four-state region. As a mid-stream program, NEEA's TV program pays incentives to the retailers who sell the products, rather than the end users who buy them. The program theory stipulates payment of an incentive for each qualified product sale will lead to several outcomes, most important of which is that retailers will bring more qualified products into their TV assortments than they would absent the program.

The program's other activities include sustained engagement with retailers' corporate sustainability staff and in some cases TV buyers; the delivery of timely, detailed information about the program's energy specification to help retailers identify qualified models when making their assortment decisions; employment of retail store "detailers" who visit each participating store three to ten times per year to place point-of-purchase (POP) marketing materials on qualified televisions; the coordination of social media-driven marketing campaigns; and participation in the ENERGY STAR television specification development process to encourage the strictest possible energy consumption limits.

NEEA expected these activities to result in several outcomes of varying importance to the program's success. The most significant expected outcome, described above, was a shift in retailers' TV assortments to include a higher proportion of program-qualified products. Other expected outcomes included retailers taking actions to accelerate the sales of program-qualified TVs; retailers increasing their demand on TV manufacturers for program-qualified TVs; improvement in consumers and retail sales associates' ability to identify program-qualified TVs; and increasing stringency of the ENERGY STAR TV specification.

Although the program's other expected outcomes were given less emphasis by program managers and not considered by NEEA as critical to the program's success, the evaluation team found them useful in guiding the design of a study that would have enough breadth to uncover program influence, should it exist.

#### Evaluation Questions, Challenges, and the Study Design

The study design for the evaluation of NEEA's 2011 TV program was driven by NEEA's explicit research questions and the evaluation team's hypotheses about where the program's influence might be both material and observable. NEEA's several research questions fell into four key areas of inquiry, three of which provided evaluators with methodological challenges: What was the program's influence on television retailers, television manufacturers, and on increasing sales of qualified televisions?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The full study includes detailed findings and all data collection instruments. The study is the source of all data and quotes used in this paper, unless noted otherwise.

The study that resulted was multi-modal and included five distinct data collection activities, qualitative and quantitative analytical methods. Table 1 shows the evaluation activities, data sources, sample size, and the research areas addressed. Below we discuss the three biggest challenges to evaluating NEEA's TV program, and mid-stream programs in general.

Table 1. Data Collection A	Activities
----------------------------	------------

Activity	Source of Data	Research Topics
Program Data Review	Salesforce.com database	Influence of program on retailer behavior Influence of program on ENERGY STAR specifications Characteristics of participating stores
	Reports submitted by store detailers	
	Public comments on proposed ENERGY STAR specifications	
	Comparison of findings with raw data from the previous evaluation	
In-depth Interviews	Program Staff	Influence of program on retailer behavior, including assortment decisions Influence of program on product design
	Other TV Program Managers	
	EPA ENERGY STAR Staff	
	Retailer Corporate Staff	
	Manufacturers	ENERGY STAR specifications
Store/Department Manager Surveys	Retail store and TV department managers	Influence of program at store level
		Store-level awareness of program
Retail Store Visits	"Mystery shopping" visits to participating stores	Store-level awareness and attitudes toward efficiency
		TV promotional activities
Sales Data Analysis	TV sales data submitted to online program incentives database	Characteristics of Northwest U.S. TV market
		Program influence on sales of qualified TVs

#### Challenge #1: Creating an evaluation approach for the supply chain

Although data collection needs vary based on the program design and research questions, efficiency programs targeting retailers and manufacturers will likely be attempting to influence both product assortment (the products on a retailers' shelves) and/or product design. As the NEEA evaluation showed, evaluating influence on supply chain partners like these is different, and more difficult, than measuring influence on end-users.
Retailers are the participants in the NEEA program and the program's ability to influence retailers' assortment decisions was perhaps the key factor in its success. More research questions focused on the program's expected impact on retailers than any other area. For example: How did retailer behavior change as a result of the program? How has NEEA's relationship with retailers changed as a result of the program? How have retailer attitudes toward efficiency changed at the corporate level and store management levels, as a result of the program?

In residential programs targeting end users, the decisions at the core of the evaluation are made by the product's purchaser, typically the one or two decision-makers in a household. In order to receive the incentive, participants usually provide the program with their names and contact information. Participants typically share a language and time zone with evaluators. In energy efficiency programs, participants rarely have any extenuating factors that make them unwilling to discuss their decision-making process (for example, privacy concerns are more common in medical studies). Even though some end-user participants may be unreachable or unwilling to speak to evaluators, there are usually a sufficient number of participants to constitute a representative sample, such that evaluators can apply both qualitative and quantitative evaluation methods to the data.

None of the characteristics of end user participants apply to the retailers and manufacturers who are the participants in mid-stream (or even up-stream) programs.

*Evaluators may have limited access to the decision-makers.* In mid-stream programs, the contacts with whom the program staff interact may not be the ultimate decision-makers who the program seeks to influence, and may be unavailable to evaluators. In the NEEA TV program, TV buyers were the ultimate assortment decision-makers but were usually unwilling to speak with evaluators, as were product managers and design decision-makers at major manufacturers. Among retailers, evaluators were only allowed to speak with buyers at one retail organization, even after repeated requests to different individuals. Questions submitted by email went unanswered. Further, most manufacturers' design staff are located in Asia; may not feel comfortable conversing in English, and were unwilling to respond to questions.

The decision-making process is a team effort. Unlike end-user purchase decisions made by householders, many people contribute to decisions made by organizations. In the NEEA TV evaluation, the number of individuals and corporate "teams" complicated the effort to understanding the program's influence.

*The decision-making process is confidential.* Retailers' assortment selection and manufacturers' product design processes are considered proprietary. As areas of competitive intelligence, interviewees were willing to speak only in generalities about their organization's processes and considerations. No one was willing to share evidence that would have allowed the evaluators to quantify or even just verify program influence, for example, a product selection algorithm or product matrix. As one retailer interviewee commented about his company's television selection algorithm, "Pursuit of confirmation of what that algorithm is would be futile. I work [there], and they won't even tell me. . . It's like asking for the secret combination for how to make Coca-Cola. They're just not going to tell you."

The small number of participants does not support quantitative evaluation methods. In a typical midstream program the participants, measured as business entities, will usually number in the single digits. If participants are taken as the unit of analysis, quantitative approaches to measuring influence are eliminated, leaving only qualitative or anecdotal methods.

#### Strategies for measuring influence on supply chain partners

The strategies the evaluators used to get around these barriers in evaluating NEEA's TV program may be useful to other evaluators. The team took the following steps:

*Employ a multi-modal study design with consistency in research questions across modes.* The study was designed for triangulation, and included several data sources *in addition* to in-depth interviews with the participants. This allowed for multiple data points on each research question and provided a balanced picture of the changes taking place in the market as a result of the program. As a result of a previous evaluation of the TV program, the evaluation team knew their go-to data collection activity for deeply qualitative information, the in-depth interview, would need to be supplemented by additional

data sources. Interviews with retail store managers, "mystery shopping" visits to participating stores, a quantitative analysis of sales data, and a thorough review of program data all contributed to answering NEEA's research objectives.

Use multiple informants at each organization. Business decisions may ultimately be made by a single individual, but many people contribute to them. Even though evaluators were not able to speak to the ultimate decision-makers, they did succeed in reaching multiple informants in varying positions within each retail organization, all of whom attempted to influence the TV buyers' decisions. For example, at one major retailer, evaluators interviewed the sustainability lead, the utility coordinator, and a senior director focused on energy management. Evaluators had several conversations with the interviewees, some of which occurred in person at industry events.

Use program documentation to fill in the gaps. The implementer of the NEEA TV program used Salesforce.com to track email correspondence with the participants. Evaluators conducted a thorough review of this database and created a chronology of the program's interactions with each participant organization.

Ask indirect questions and capture the nuance. In addition to asking a direct question like, "Do you have a sense of how often the fact that a TV is qualified for this program weighs into your decision to buy it?" evaluators also asked many indirect questions like, "What, if anything, would you have to stop doing if this program ended?" Another example of this approach was in the series of questions about the implementer and the information they provided. Evaluators chose not to use typical satisfaction questions and instead asked both about respondents' familiarity ("Would you say that you feel well-informed about upcoming changes to the program's specifications?"), usefulness ("How do you use the information from the program in your conversations with manufacturers?") and suggestions for improvement (The implementer told us that they check in with you throughout the year. Is there anything they could do to better support you?").

Hypothesize about what might have happened if the program achieved its desired influence, and test these hypotheses. This tactic influenced nearly every aspect of the data collection process, from interview questions to the inclusion of entire collection methods. Mystery shopping visits to participating stores and interviews with store managers, for example, were only included in the study in order to test these hypotheses but resulted in findings that were some of the most helpful to program managers in improving the program. For example, evaluators speculated that if the program influenced buying decisions, retail buyers would: demonstrate familiarity with the gualifying product criteria, have received them well in advance of their decision-making, and have discussed the specifications with manufacturers. Evaluators sought to document whether this was the case in their questions to retailers and manufacturers and close examination of the content and chronology of the program implementer's correspondence. In another example, evaluators also theorized that if the program influenced retailers to work to increase sales of qualified products, corporate executives (the program's primary contacts within the retail organizations) might have taken several possible actions, including: communicating program details to store managers and/or sales associates; providing incentives to store managers and/or sales associates for increased sales of gualified products; and acting to increase promotion of qualified products. Evaluators interviewed store managers and conducted "mystery shopping" visits to participating stores to document whether influence of this type was observable.

# Challenge #2: Identifying observable, measurable metrics

Relevant success metrics are important for all social programs. For programs working with retailers and manufacturers, ensuring that the chosen metrics can be measured, given the realistic constraints of most evaluations, is an important selection criterion. In evaluating NEEA's TV program we encountered four types of problems in the way the program documented its projected outputs (the program's own work products) and outcomes (expected changes in the market). Below, we summarize the problems and recommendations for avoiding them. Table 2 provides metrics from the NEEA TV program that illustrate each of these problems and the evaluators' recommended changes.

#### **Outdated Metrics**

Outdated program metrics prevent evaluators from gauging the true success of a program because they focus attention on factors that are no longer relevant. The key metric for the TV program's

interaction with its retailer participants was measuring the combined market share of participating retailers. This was an important metric during the program's first year or two, when the goal was to engage retailers in the program. But by the time of this evaluation the program had already achieved its goal of gaining 80% market share and that metric was no longer useful.

#### Recommendations

Evaluate the appropriateness of metrics annually. Revise outdated metrics to reflect the program's achievements and current goals. For example, a metric that gauges the extent of retailers' commitment to the program may be more relevant.

#### **Imprecise Metrics**

Imprecise metrics do harm to both the program and its evaluation. Precise metrics allow implementers to design activities that will incentivize their participants toward the program's own goals, and further allow implementers to make knowledgeable, thoughtful decisions about which activities to pursue and with what degree of effort. A key objective for the TV program was to influence retailers to "stock" and "promote" energy efficient TVs. Evaluators and program staff struggled to define precisely what was meant by "stocking" and how it should be measured. The retail industry uses "stock" to mean the number of units of a given model that are available for sale at a particular store and a specific time. The program used the word "stock" in the same way that the retail industry uses "assortment," meaning the variety of product models carried by each store. So what was to be evaluated? Stocking or assortment? In another example, program staff felt their program design de-emphasized the promotion metric and argued that they did not expect their activities to result in retailers' increased promotion of efficient TVs. Program documentation however gave equal weight to the program's influence on stocking and promotion.

#### Recommendations

Evaluate each metric to assess whether it is in fact a goal of the program, and of equal weight with other goals. Review the program logic model and/or other documentation for accuracy. Write a description of the activities that can be used to measure the metric, include what data need to be obtained and potential sources. Check with participants and/or industry literature to sure that the terminology used complies with typical industry conventions.

#### **Un-measurable Metrics**

Program staff and evaluators accustomed to end-user-focused programs may be surprised to find that some of the more straightforward elements in these evaluations are much harder to determine in a mid-stream program evaluation. Quantitative influence on retail assortment and manufacturer product design are examples of un-measurable metrics. In the NEEA TV evaluation, evaluators could not determine a way to quantify the program's influence on either. Participants themselves were unable to render an estimate when asked directly in in-depth interviews and were not willing to give evaluators access to data that would allow quantitative assessment based on inputs to their decision-making process (or, may not have even possessed such data). Further, the data evaluators needed to measure changes to assortment or product design, which were difficult if not impossible to obtain. For example, lists of all TV models produced by every manufacturer in each model year and all of their features, energy use data, and the manufacturer's suggested retail price (MSRP).

#### Recommendation

Plan for evaluation during program design so that all metrics have an evaluation plan in place. Change or eliminate any metric for which an evaluation plan cannot be specified. Obtain access to data required for evaluation at program outset, or ideally when contracting with participants.

#### **Inappropriate Metrics**

It is possible for a program's success metrics to be up-to-date, precise, and measurable (i.e. meeting the criteria described above), but still not provide an accurate assessment of the program's progress. In cases like these we describe the metric as "inappropriate," but "irrelevant" or "misleading" may also be accurate. NEEA's metric, "Increase in the number of TVs that meet current ENERGY STAR specifications," is an excellent example. This metric is both precise and measurable, but irrelevant to

measuring the program's influence as it is affected by changes to the ENERGY STAR TV specification and in TV technology.

#### Recommendation

Select metrics that are observable and verifiable. Ask whether a program's influence is likely to result in or lead to changes in the metric. If so, can the evaluation can distinguish the influence of the program from all other plausible causes that could influence this metric? If other potential drivers exist, program evaluators need to capture additional data in order to control for these alternatives.

Program Metric	Problem	Recommended Revision	Explanation
Market share of participating retailers exceeds 80% of NW TV sales	Outdated	Retailers and manufacturers contacted at correct times to influence decisions; ongoing needs addressed	Participation rate is an output of recruitment, and at this point is an assumption because it has already been completed. The recommended language reflects the output of the implementer's current activities.
TVs that consume less energy	Imprecise	Year-over-year decrease in annual TV unit energy consumption (UEC) at all sizes and price points	This is not an output of the program and cannot be measured with program data. Recommended wording increases clarity.
Retailers commit to stocking and promoting the most energy-efficient TVs	Imprecise and un- measurable	Retailers increase the proportion of qualified TVs in their assortment, and promote these TVs	This outcome is one of the most important in the program theory. However, the Initiative does not require retailers to make any explicit commitments, so as- worded it is not accurate and not measurable. "Stocking" refers to the number of units kept onsite at a retail store, an activity the Initiative is not aiming to influence. And the outcome should specify "qualified" TVs.
Increase in the number of TVs that meet current ENERGY STAR specifications	Inappropriate	Market data are sufficient to track initiative progress, support spec development and inform retailer discussions	This outcome is not a good indicator of Initiative progress and could indicate an overly lax ENERGY STAR specification or an increase in the total number of TV models produced. The desired outcome it reflects (decreasing TV UEC) is covered by "Year-over-year decrease in annual TV UEC at all sizes and price points"

#### Table 2. Example before/after comparison of success metrics for NEEA's TV program

#### Contextualizing program goals using market data

Once there are appropriate metrics for a mid-stream program, how does one define success? How much does the program need to increase sales? How much influence does the program need to have on decision-makers to be judged successful? While the answers will vary by program and metric, one rule that can be generalized to nearly all is to rely on the specific market context when setting the bar. The use of the market context in setting the program goals will provide program staff, funders, and

policy-makers realistic expectations for potential program outcomes and guide evaluators in portraying the program's achievements as success or something less.

There have been two evaluations of NEEA's TV program, by two different evaluation firms. The first evaluator to study NEEA's TV program concluded the program had succeeded in establishing strong relationships with retailers but had not influenced their assortment decisions in any substantial way. The evaluator pointed to the fact that decision-makers stated the program was not one of the primary influences on their assortment decisions and were unable to quantify the influence of the program over their TV assortments. In support of these points, the evaluator paraphrased one major retailer interviewee as referring to the program generally as "a tie-breaker when deciding between two very similar models." Because retailers were unable to quantify how often the program served as a tie-breaking factor in their assortment decisions, this information could not be used to measure the program's impact.

We, the authors of the second and more recent evaluation of NEEA's TV program, reached a very different conclusion based on much the same evidence from retailers, but with one major difference: we contextualized the findings based on what we had learned about the retailer's *milieu*. Like the first evaluation, decision makers told us the fact that although they did consider whether a particular television model qualified for a program incentive, this was never the primary factor in their decision to include the product in their assortment. But when we asked retailers to explain the broader context of the assortment decision, we learned why energy efficiency and NEEA's TV program were not of the utmost consideration. Other product characteristics, including supply chain security, product features, value to the customer, and negotiations with manufacturers take priority. One interviewee said balancing all of the considerations is like putting together a jigsaw puzzle with "ten or twelve really big pieces." In this context, it becomes obvious that energy efficiency will never trump factors like supply chain security and retailers' need to minimize the potential for disruptions to product availability. Nor will retailers bring products into the assortment if doing so jeopardizes their relationship with manufacturers, who provide retailers with "market development funds" as an incentive for retailers to assort particular number of models, or promote their products in certain ways.

As a result of contextualizing the program goal of influencing retail assortment decision-making within the retailers' operating environment, we came to the conclusion that the Initiative had succeeded in influencing retailers to consider its qualification criteria during their assortment decision-making. A no small task considering the number of influences with which the program was competing. We further judged that because the assortment decision-making process is complex and critically important to the retailers' financial success, the program's potential for impact on this area of decision-making was extremely limited.

# Challenge #3: Setting the baseline

In the U.S., energy efficiency programs use a variety of methods for calculating a program's impact on energy savings. The method used by market transformation programs and most mid-stream programs may be described as a "baseline" method because it attempts to determine what would have happened absent the program. Baselines are commonly set in one of two ways.

A hypothetical baseline is created by evaluators or program staff based on a series of assumptions about the market, ideally grounded in market data. NEEA uses the hypothetical baseline approach to establish energy savings for its programs. Key inputs include the estimated "take-off" year of the incented product, absent the program, and the number of years required to reach full market penetration potential.

A measured baseline is composed of data on program metrics from non-program areas. In the last few years, "non-program areas" have been defined as geographic areas outside the program's service territory. The evaluation of NEEA's TV program took a similarly quantitative, but very different approach to creating a measured baseline. The evaluation applied a quasi-experimental design methodology to estimate program impact on TV sales. The method compares findings from treatment and control groups and is similar to quantitative approaches used in research projects in psychology or the medical sciences. The use of statistical analysis, following a quasi-experimental design approach, bears much potential for energy efficiency program evaluation and may be especially fruitful when program interventions can be designed in cooperation with evaluators, thus allowing an even broader range of analysis.

#### Using sales data to set a measured baseline for mid-stream programs

One benefit of mid-stream programs is access to detailed unit sales data provided by the participating retailers. These data can be obtained in other ways, for example purchased from a third-party like NPD or GfK, or tabulated based on submitted rebates (in an end-user focused program). Retailer-sourced data has several advantages, however. Retailer data includes identifying information for each unit sold, like retail chain and store, that is absent from aggregated third-party data and necessary for statistical analysis of program influence. Retailer-sourced data may also include fields of use to program managers and evaluators, like the presence or absence of efficiency features. And retailer-sourced data, unlike unit sales data derived from end users' rebate submissions, has the potential to include "full category" data, meaning all unit sales and not merely qualified unit sales.

There were several challenges in using sales data to evaluate the impact of this mid-stream program, and which other evaluators will likely encounter:

National retailers centralized decision-making and consistent store-level execution, combined with only limited regional program activities, resulted in the lack of an adequate control group. NEEA's TV program focused on building relationships with national retail chains and conducted limited regional activities, other than field staff visits to stores to place program point-of-purchase materials. Because retail chains determine product assortment nationally, with little regional variation, the program's influence on assortment affected the energy efficiency of televisions available nationally, not just in NEEA territory. This spillover effect benefits consumers but was detrimental to evaluators' ability to measure impact. In addition, the evaluation provided new evidence of the consistency in execution among stores in retail chains, further supporting the importance of regional, store-level activities to the quantitative evaluation effort. Sales data showed the proportion of qualified televisions sold by samechain stores changed in similar ways, either increasing or decreasing from year to year, from 2010 to 2012. Figure 1 provides a visual representation of these changes, with each point representing a single store and the color denoting the store's chain. Points of the same color cluster together with few outliers, showing that chain stores perform similarly to one another and thus that execution is consistent within a chain. There is almost no overlap among the color/chain clusters, showing that the four major chains perform differently from one another. Results show that the majority of stores decreased sales of gualified televisions from 2010 to 2011 (all stores in the left two guadrants in

Figure 1). The high proportion of qualified televisions sold in 2010 (81%) partially explains the decrease in sales for the bulk of stores in these two quadrants. As the specifications became more stringent in 2011 and 2012, sales of qualified televisions decreased. In contrast to the other three retailers, most of Retailer 1 stores increased sales of qualified televisions in 2012. The clustering of same-chain stores suggests good store-level execution of a chain's planogram. This, in turn, reinforces that the program influences national retailer behavior, limiting the measurability of program impact regionally without region-specific activities.



#### Figure 1: Differences in the Proportion of Qualified Television Sales by Retailer, 2010-2012

Difference in Proportion of Qualified TV Sales - 2010 to 2011

Insufficient data to define a control group. In order to create a control group, the team required two types of information: sales data from non-participating stores in areas without TV energy efficiency programs, and detailed store characteristics for all stores, to support the use of propensity score analysis (a statistical technique for making comparisons between treatment and control groups). None of the retailer participants supplied store characteristics and only retailer supplied sales data from non-participating stores. Although the retailer did provide full category data, they were at the year and state levels (for example, total 2011 sales in Florida), limiting the potential for statistical analysis to a simple comparison of the average proportion of qualified televisions sold annually. This comparison lacked face validity because evaluators could not control for previous impact factors on sales, such as: regional promotional activities, seasonal differences, and store-level characteristics.

Varying levels of data quality, with two of the biggest retailers providing low-quality data. Evaluators needed full category sales data in daily or at least weekly intervals. Out of the four biggest retailers, only two provided quality data. One retailer provided only qualified product sales, preventing the team from including this retailer in any of their analysis. A second retailer provided data in monthly rather than daily increments.

These challenges and findings, from the qualitative portion of the evaluation, led the team to execute only one of its four intended approaches. All of them have the potential to be employed to evaluate other mid-stream programs, should the program design and data collection support them. They are:

Compare periods before and after a change in program criteria. Evaluators hypothesized that if the program was influencing retailers to boost sales of qualified TV models, the proportion of sales of qualified units would be visible around periods in which the program criteria changed. For example, a decrease in sales of televisions that no longer qualified for an incentive. Two factors curtailed this approach. First, the program's sales data lacked information on non-energy related television features like unit sale price that could confound this analysis. Interviews revealed a second confounding factor: retailers assort low-priced televisions specifically for the holiday period, the same period in which the program criteria changed. Further, field staff data and store manager interviews showed store-level staff lacked direction from corporate, awareness of the program and its qualification criteria, and did not conduct the type of promotion necessary to support the underlying hypothesis.

Compare similar participating and non-participating stores. This approach requires detailed characteristics for all stores in order to match participating and non-participating stores. The approach also requires sales data from non-participating stores at the same level of detail as those received

from participating stores. As noted above, the data required to make this comparison were lacking, as were the program design elements required to show variation.

Compare major national chains and small chain and non-chain stores. The small data sample size and the lack of sales dates prevented this analysis. Although some minor and non-chain stores provided full category data, many provided only partial year data for 2011, disqualifying many potential statistical comparisons. Additionally, buying groups typically provided the sales data for minor and non-chain stores, rather than the stores themselves. Thus the date-of-sale included with each unit was the date when unit shipped from the buying group to the store; not the date-of-sale to the customer. Lacking a probable estimate for the length of turnover for these units, evaluators could not accurately compare sales between major chain and non-major chain stores.

*Quantitatively assess influence of promotional activities.* This approach holds perhaps the greatest potential for quantitatively evaluating mid-stream program impact. It requires implementing program activities following an experimental or quasi-experimental design approach. It demands either cooperation between program staff and evaluators or, as was the case in the NEEA evaluation, a spot of luck. One of the participating retailers aired a 15-second promotional video on in-store video walls at one of the major retailers. The data were sufficient to support analysis because the retailer provided high-quality data and the video aired in a one-month-on, one-month-off pattern throughout nearly the entire calendar year, providing treatment and control periods.

#### Case study: Findings from the statistical analysis of the NEEA TV program's sales data

The NEEA TV program expected to increase sales of TVs meeting the program qualifications in NEEA territory. In two cases, statistical analysis showed an increase in sales of qualified televisions resulting from the program's activities. A program-produced video, aired at all stores in one major chain, increased sales of top-tier televisions (televisions qualified at the highest energy efficiency level incented by the program). Across all retailers, an increase in the proportion of qualified televisions in a retailers' assortment increased the proportion of sales of qualified televisions.

Statistical analysis showed evidence that a promotional effort Initiative increased sales of top-tier televisions<sup>2</sup>. One participating retailer played an Initiative-produced video on in-store video walls in its stores during alternating months of 2011 (February, April, June, August, October, and November). Top-tier TV sales increased 3% in months when the video played, compared to months when it did not (11% of total sales compared to 8%)<sup>3</sup>.

A second program impact demonstrated, by analysis of sales data, there is direct relationship between television assortment and sales, with a 1% increase in assortment leading to a 1.3% increase in sales of qualified products<sup>4</sup>.

# Conclusions and Recommendations for Designing and Evaluating Mid-stream Programs

The study yielded many recommendations specific to NEEA's TV program, but with broad applicability to other mid-stream programs.

*Mid-stream programs are most effective when a set of shared program requirements are incented in cooperation by several funders.* Mid-stream interviewees agreed that achieving a critical mass of program sponsors is key to earning their attention and participation. When evaluating a program with several sponsors, evaluators need to balance the role of their client with the impact of the sponsorship

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Top-tier TVs in 2011 were ENERGY STAR 5 + 20% televisions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> A repeated measures t-test (t(49)=-8.1, p<.0001) was used to compare the averaged proportion of sales of top-tier TVs, by store, in months when the video did and did not play. Sales in November and December were excluded because the video played in both months and did not follow the alternating-month pattern found during the rest of the year.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> A random effects model showed a significant effect of assortment on the proportion of qualified TVs sold.

group as a whole. Local or regional activities, discussed below, can help identify the impacts of a single funders' efforts.

*Participants' contracts should specify, and incentive structures should support, the activities or goals the program desires.* The way in which a program contracts with its mid-stream partners, significantly impacts program results. Programs have many options in structuring incentive payments (for example, paying per-unit vs. for meeting sales targets) and as the study showed, programs would be wise to make explicit the expected commitments from its partners.

*Programs need to plan ahead at least as far as their supply chain partners.* Retailers and manufacturers plan much further ahead than typical efficiency programs, and the design-sales cycle times vary greatly depending on the product. The market timing should be taken into account when programs plan releases of and updates to qualification criteria, plan promotional campaigns, and enter into contracts.

Regional or local activities are important to support impact evaluation, if designed following an experimental or quasi-experimental design approach. Even though mid-stream programs recognize operational efficiencies by focusing on retailers' corporate-level staff, activities at the store level are necessary to further increase product sales and support quantitative evaluation. Even with today's national markets, evaluators can still measure what happens locally, when data collection and intervention design are sufficient.

*Evaluators need to look at the entire supply chain, even if the program's activities are more limited.* In this study, actionable findings resulted from looking at all levels of the TV supply chain, from manufacturers to sales associates, even though the program's activities focused on interacting with retailers' corporate staff.

Data collection is an important part of mid-stream programs. Sales data collection is key, especially for tracking program impact. Sales data should be "full category" and include all product characteristics, including sales price or MSRP, and sale data, including store and date. Store characteristics are also important, including store location, format, size, sales area, age, number of local competitors, proximity to local competition, volume code, shrink, and surrounding demographics. Field staff, too, should track multiple data points during each store visit, including identifying store data, visit date, time in store, version of POP materials, number of qualified products on display, number of qualified products found unlabeled and incorrectly labeled, number of sales associates trained, and any positive or negative feedback received from store staff or customers. It is also important for program managers to track their correspondence with mid-stream participants. Salesforce.com served as an effective tool for the NEEA TV program, although it is incumbent on the program staff to be conscientious in uploading contact records, and for evaluators to provide program staff several reminders to make those uploads before beginning their evaluation.

Like all energy efficiency programs, a detailed logic model and up-to-date progress indicators are vital to evaluation. Program managers know more about the markets in which they're acting and the characteristics of their mid-stream partners than evaluators. Program documentation provides evaluators a roadmap to the program's current state of knowledge and helps focus the evaluation, resulting in study findings that will be relevant and actionable. Accurate documentation is also a guide for program managers, who can use it to prioritize their "asks" when negotiating with retailers.

# References

- [1] Cho, S., McCardle, K., and C. Tang. 2009. "Optimal Pricing and Rebate Strategies in a Twolevel Supply Chain." Production and Operations Management 18 (4): 426-446.
- [2] DeHoratius, N. and A. Raman. 2007. "Store Manager Incentive Design and Retail Performance: An Exploratory Investigation." Manufacturing & Service Operations Management 9 (4): 518-534.
- [3] Energy Market Innovations, Inc. 2011. *Consumer Electronics Television Initiative Market Progress Evaluation Report.* Report #E11-230. Portland, Ore.: Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance.

- [4] Opinion Dynamics Corporation. 2009. Statewide Business and Consumer Electronics Baseline Study. Study ID: PGE0283.01. Pacific Gas & Electric Company, Southern California Edison, and San Diego Gas & Electric.
- [5] Opinion Dynamics Corporation. 2010. *The Market for Energy Efficient Electronics: Pre-Program Findings on Consumer Perceptions and Retail Shelf Stocking Practices*. November 1, 2010.
- [6] Raman, A., DeHoratius, N., and Z. Kanji. 2009. Supply Chain Optimization at Hugo Boss (A). Harvard Business School Case Study # 9-609-029. Boston, Mass.: President and Fellows of Harvard College.
- [7] Research Into Action, Inc. Frank M., Van Clock J., Dunn A., Hathaway Z., Peters J., and DeHoratius, N. *Final Report: Consumer Electronics Television Initiation Market Progress Evaluation Report #2.* Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance, Portland, Ore. U.S.A.: 2012. Available for download: <u>http://neea.org/resource-center/market-research-and-evaluation-reports</u>
- [8] Research Into Action. Peters J., Frank M., Armstrong, A., Dunn A., Bordner R., Howard A., Baron Z., and Parry S. *Final Report: Program & Technology Review of Two Residential Product Programs: Home Energy Efficiency Rebate (HEER) / Business & Consumer Electronics (BCE)*. Study #SCE0306. Southern California Edison, Rosemead, Calif, U.S.A.: 2012. Available for download: http://www.calmac.org/publications/HEER\_BCE\_083012\_FINAL.pdf
- [9] Research Into Action. Frank M., Peters J., Van Clock J., Hardy G., and Krick M. Final Report: Energy Savings Opportunities and Market Descriptions for Four Residential Consumer Electronics Products TVs, Desktop PCs, Game Consoles and Streaming Media. Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance, Portland, Ore., U.S.A.: 2011. Available for download: http://neea.org/resource-center/market-research-and-evaluation-reports

# THE SUPPLY SIDE MATTERS: ESTIMATING THE IMPACT OF A RESIDENTIAL LIGHTING PROGRAM USING SALES DATA

Iris M. Sulyma and K.H. Tiedemann

**BC Hydro** 

# Abstract

Compact fluorescent lamps and light emitting diodes use about one-quarter as much energy as incandescent lamps with similar lumen outputs. Although they have higher initial costs than do incandescent lamps, compact fluorescent lamps and light emitting diodes last from ten to twenty times longer than incandescent lamps. This report provides an evaluation of the energy and peak impacts of the BC Hydro Energy Star Lighting Program, which is a multi-year energy acquisition and market transformation initiative that encourages its customers to use energy-efficient lighting, with a focus on compact fluorescent lamps (CFLs), light emitting diodes (LEDs), Energy Star fixtures and LED fixtures. The BC Hydro Energy Star Lighting Program has been successful in increasing product availability, product awareness, product affordability and product acceptability for energy efficient lighting. A significant degree of market transformation has occurred with respect to replacement of traditional incandescent lamps with spiral CFLs. The program reported energy savings for F2012 of 16.2 GWh per year compared to evaluated savings of 28.7 GWh per year. The difference between the evaluated and the reported savings is primarily due to the evaluated impact of spillover.

# Introduction

Compact fluorescent lamps (CFLs) and light emitting diodes (LEDs) use about one-quarter as much energy as incandescent lamps with similar lumen outputs. Although they have higher initial costs than do incandescent lamps, compact fluorescent lamps and light emitting diodes last from ten to twenty times longer than incandescent lamps. To earn the Energy Star label, manufacturers must certify that the product meets the energy efficiency criteria jointly set by Natural Resources Canada, the US Environmental Protection Agency, and the US Department of Energy. When products are certified to meet these energy efficiency standards, the manufacturers may place the Energy Star label on their lighting products. As technology advances and more energy-efficient lighting products are available in the marketplace, Energy Star reviews the guidelines for the lighting category and strengthens them as necessary to ensure that generally only the top 25% of lighting products in terms of energy efficiency can earn the Energy Star label.

The BC Hydro Energy Star Lighting Program is a multi-year energy acquisition and market transformation initiative that encourages its customers to use energy-efficient lighting, with a focus on CFLs, LEDs, Energy Star fixtures and LED fixtures. The objectives of the program include: (1) sustain and increase a greater market share in advance of regulations for more efficient lighting; (2) promote efficient lighting products not covered by regulations and newer products such as LEDs; (3) promote and increase awareness and drive customers to retailers to purchase efficient products; and (4) provide residents province-wide with an accessible and simple lighting program.

This report provides an evaluation of the impacts and effects of BC Hydro's Energy Star Lighting Program. A quasi-experiment involving non-equivalent group comparisons was employed to assess supply and demand side impacts, and to estimate energy and peak savings. A number of methods have been proposed to estimate free riders and spillover including purchaser self-report surveys, trade ally surveys, quasi-experimental designs with a comparison group, and discrete choice modelling.

# **Literature Review**

In many jurisdictions, residential lighting programs represent a significant share of electricity demand side management (DSM) savings. To date, most of these savings have come from the promotion of purchase and installation of standard twister or spiral CFLs. As a significant degree of market transformation has been achieved with standard CFLs replacing incandescent lamps, a number of utilities and other DSM implementing agencies have reduced or eliminated incentives for standard CFLs, and they have instead provided support for purchase and installation of "specialty" CFLs including reflectors, A-lamps, globes and dimmable lamps; Energy Star lighting fixtures; and LEDs. Residential lighting programs have emphasized four main mechanisms.

(1) Upstream Buy-Down. Upstream buy-downs involve retail price reductions where incentives are provided to manufactures which then provide a mark down to the retailer, who provides a reduced price to the consumer at the time of purchase.

(2) Direct Installation. Direct installation typically involves the installation of CFLs at the time of a residential audit.

(3) **Downstream Buy-Down**. Downstream buy-downs typically involve point-of-sale or mail-in coupons for consumers to obtain the product at a discounted price.

(4) Give Away. Give away typically involves provision of free CFLs at promotional events or through the mail.

A large number of studies have evaluated the impacts of residential lighting programs on energy consumption. Almost all studies use some form of the following algorithms to estimate energy savings and, less frequently, peak demand savings. Key parameters in these algorithms are the difference in average watts between the base and the efficient technology (delta watts,  $\Delta W$ ), annual hours of use, the peak coincidence rate, the installation rate net of replacements which is often called the in-service rate ("Install"), the free rider rate (FR), the spillover rate (SO), the cross effects rate (CE) which is often called the cooling and heating interactive effect, and the number of rebated measures. For first-year energy savings, the basic algorithm is:

 $\Delta kWh = \Delta W \cdot Hours \cdot Install \cdot (1 - FR + SO) \cdot (1 - CE) \cdot no. of measures.$ 

For peak demand savings, the basic algorithm is:

 $\Delta MW = \Delta W \cdot Coincidence \cdot Install \cdot (1 - FR + SO) \cdot (1 - CE) \cdot no. of measures.$ 

An extensive literature review was undertaken to understand the values of these various parameters calculated in recent studies. The data bases examined included the Social Science Research Network, the Consortium for Energy Efficiency, California Measurement Advisory Council (CALMAC) International Energy Program Evaluation Conference (IEPEC) Proceedings and Scopus. In a number of cases, only some of the parameters were provided, but the others could be derived from available information.

Some observations on these studies include the following.

**Delta Watts.** Delta watts refers to the difference between the (average) wattage of the efficient lighting measure and the (average) wattage of the baseline measure. The delta watts vary from 33.3 watts (PG&E, CFL globes) to 53.3 watts (Focus on Energy Wisconsin, CFL). Recent studies have used a variety of approaches to estimate delta watts. The self-report method uses customer survey information to determine the wattage that was used before and after the lamp or fixture change out. The in-home inspection approach uses program implementation contractors to determine the pre-efficient measure wattage in similar fixtures. The multiplier approach assumes that the baseline wattage is an assumed multiple (between three and four) of the efficient wattage. The manufacturer rating approach uses replacement wattage information on the lamp packaging.

**Daily Hours of Use**. Daily hours of use refers to the estimated hours of use of the efficient lighting product. The hours of use vary from 1.30 hours per day (SDG&E, CFL globes) to 3.20 hours per day (NYSERDA, CFL). Hours of use is affected by a number of factors including demographics, attitudes towards energy use and energy efficiency, dwelling type and age, saturation rate of lamps and fixtures, location and application of the lamps, electricity prices and hours of sunshine. Hours of use is estimated from on-site metered data, with some key considerations for the metering protocols including the type of loggers used (current sensing vs. light sensing), the length of the metering period (short periods with statistical modelling versus twelve months to produce annual load shapes), additional data collected on site (such as a full socket inventory) and data integrity.

**Peak Coincidence.** Peak coincidence refers to the share of lamps which are on during the peak demand period. The peak coincidence vary from 0.032 (SDG&E, reflector) to 0.22 (Markdown and Buydown, New England). Peak coincidence is also affected by a number of factors including demographics, attitudes towards energy use and energy efficiency, dwelling type and age, saturation rate of lamps and fixtures, location and application of the lamps, electricity prices and hours of sunshine. Again, peak coincidence is estimated from on-site metered data, with some key considerations for the metering protocols including the type of loggers used (current sensing or light sensing), the length of the metering period, additional data collected on site.

**Installation Rate**. The installation rate or in-service rate represents the percentage of incented lighting products which are ultimately installed by the program participant. The installation rates vary from 0.67 (PG&E, CFL globes) to 0.83 (New Jersey Clean Energy, CFL). Installation rates are affected by a number of factors including whether the efficient technology is replacing an inefficient technology, whether the customer is responsible for purchase and/or installation, whether products are purchased in multi-packs, the type of lamp and especially the length of life of the lamp being replaced, and the discounted price.

**One – Free Riders + Cross Effects**. Free riders refer to customers who received an incentive to purchase an energy efficient lamp or fixture, but would have purchased the energy efficient product at the same time without the incentive. Spillover refers to customers who purchased an additional energy efficient lamp or fixture without an incentive, but would not have done so at the same time in the absence of the program. The one minus free rider plus cross effects vary from 0.36 (NYSERDA, CFL) to 1.00 (Markdown and Buydown, New England and New Hampshire Home Performance, CFL). A number of methods have been proposed to estimate free riders and spillover including purchaser self-report surveys, trade ally surveys, quasi-experimental designs with a comparison group, and discrete choice modelling.

**One – Cross Effects.** Cross effects or interactive effects refer to the waste heat given off by lamps which affects heating, cooling and ventilation energy requirements. Only one utility, EmPOWER Maryland, reported a one minus cross effects value which was 1.06. For the non-reporting utilities, it was assumed that the one minus cross effects value was 1.0. Cross effects are affected by a number of factors including space conditioning mode, climate zone, dwelling characteristics, electricity and natural gas prices and attitudes towards energy use and energy conservation.

# Method

The basic design of this evaluation study was a quasi-experiment with a non-equivalent comparison group. For the evaluation, there were five main activities: (1) conduct a program review; (2) undertake a supply-side assessment; (3) undertake a demand-side assessment; (4) measure hours of use and peak demand; and (5) estimate energy and peak savings. This study used multiple lines of evidence, which are summarized as follows:

**Program Review.** To undertake the program review, we reviewed program documents, interviewed BC Hydro staff, and built a program logic model.

**Supply-side Assessment.** To conduct the supply-side assessment, we tabulated and examined results of annual in-store surveys of lighting stocking behaviour at representative samples of retail establishments. The surveys have about 40 participants per year.

**Demand-side Assessment.** To conduct the demand-side assessment, we tabulated and examined results of the 2011 residential lighting surveys. The treatment group survey (British Columbia survey) had 601 respondents and the comparison group survey (North and South Dakota) also had 601 respondents. We also used information from the Residential End Use Surveys conducted since 1997 to build econometric demand models for energy efficient lamps. We also received, aggregated and analyzed limited sales data for the time frames before, during and after the marketing campaign.

**Hours of Use and Peak Coincidence**. To measure hours of use and peak coincident demand, we conducted in-home monitoring of 333 lighting fixtures in some 50 single family dwellings, with each fixture monitored for a minimum of twelve months.

**Energy and Peak Savings**. To estimate energy and peak impacts, we used detailed engineering algorithms which were informed by the data from the supply-side assessment.

# Results

Program Review. From a program logic perspective, there were three main program activities: retailer education, product rebates and consumer education.

(1) BC Hydro Power Smart has provided retailer education for the residential lighting market since the inception of the program. Retailer education is a key component of the current Energy Star Lighting program, and retailer education has both on-site and on-line components.

(2) Product rebates are aimed at creating customer interest in energy efficient lighting and reducing first costs. The Lighting Campaign Spring 2011 included in store instant discounts on selected lighting products from March 1 to April 30, 2011, while the Lighting Campaign Fall 2011 included in store instant discounts on selected lighting products from October 1 to November 30, 2011.

(3) Consumer education is aimed at creating customer awareness, knowledge and purchase intent for energy efficiency lighting products, and the lighting campaigns included radio, print, television and point of purchase materials.

A key aspect of a program review is an assessment of the program rationale, in other words, does the program make sense? Program rationale can be assessed in a variety of ways, but the most straight forward way is to build a program logic model. A program logic model divides a program into its main activities, and then examines the logic chain of inputs, outputs, purpose and goal for each activity. The following table provides a program logic model and describes key assumptions which must be met for the program to be effective. The program rationale was examined using this program logic model, which was developed from interviews with staff, a documents review and a literature review. This review and analysis confirmed that the basic program logic was valid. There were strong linkages among inputs, outputs, purposes and goal statements. Indicators for key components of the logic model were clear, well defined and measurable.

	Retailer education	Product rebates	Consumer education	Assumptions
Inputs	Retailer staff	Power Smart and	Advertising,	Suitable inventory
	training	manufacturer	promotions and	available in stores
	conducted	rebates in place	point of purchase	
			material provided	
Outputs	Increased sales	Reduce first cost	Increased	Energy efficient
	person knowledge	of energy efficient	customer	lighting meets
	of energy	lighting products	knowledge and	customers'
	efficiency		awareness of	lighting
			energy efficiency	requirements
Purpose	Increased sales of energy efficient lamps by 679,000 units			Rebound is
	and energy efficient fixtures by 186,000 units by fiscal 2014			negligible
Goal	Save 41 GWh of energy per year by fiscal 2014 at program			-
	cost of 414.9 millior	1		

#### Table 1. Program Logic Model

**Supply-side Assessment.** The main supply side analysis was an examination of trends over the most recent three years using shelf stock information. Table 2 shows trends in shelf stock shares for standard base lamps. For the three years for which we have data, the shelf stock shares by lamp type are constant, with the share of energy efficient lamps (CFLs and LEDs) at 28%. Note that halogen share was available only for the 2011 survey, so it was assumed that this share was constant, which is consistent with evidence from recent Residential End Use Surveys on installed lamp shares.<sup>1</sup>

Product	2009	2010	2011			
Lamps						
Incandescent lamps	61	61	60			
CFL	23	24	24			
LED	4	3	4			
Halogen	12	12	12			
Fixtures						
Energy Star fixtures	6	8	7			
Other fixtures	94	92	93			

#### Table 2. Shelf Stock Shares by Product

Table 3 shows trends in prices for lamps. From 2009 to 2010, incandescent lamps have fallen in price, and most types of CFLs have increased in price. There is not yet enough information to make a conclusion about LED lamp or halogen lamp price trends.

#### Table 3. Prices for Selected Products (dollars)

Product	2009	2010	2011				
	Lamps						
Incandescent 40 W	1.14	0.80	0.91				
Incandescent 60W	1.20	0.85	1.10				
Spiral CFL	4.21	4.29	4.58				
Globe CFL	7.42	7.53	8.55				
A19 LED	-	24.63	24.34				
PAR LED	-	27.27	29.13				
Fixtures							
ES ceiling fan	118.78	118.51	155.73				
ES ceiling fixture	33.47	32.44	39.66				
ES floor lamp	73.51	55.69	50.79				
ES table lamps	37.70	22.96	22.36				

**Demand-side Assessment.** Survey respondents were asked about whether or not they were aware of various lighting products, and Table 4 shows the survey results for lighting product awareness. Differences which are significant at the 10%, 5% or 1% level are indicated by one, two or three asterisks respectively. BC survey respondents show a higher level of awareness than Dakota survey respondents for all four lamp categories, and these differences are statistically significant for every lamp product category except incandescent lamps. Dakota survey respondents show a higher level of awareness than BC survey respondents for both fixture categories, and these differences are both statistically significant.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Note, as of January 2011 British Columbia prohibits retailers from ordering 100 and 75 watt incandescent lamps. These actions do not affect the data in this report, but will be apparent in the next round of data collection.

#### Table 4. Product Awareness (%)

	BC	Dakotas	Difference	Z-test
Incandescent	97.4	97.0	0.4	0.35
CFL	94.5	91.8	2.7*	1.83
LED	71.7	63.7	8.0***	2.96
Halogen	84.3	77.7	6.6***	2.94
Energy Star	28.8	35.6	-6.8***	-2.53
fixture				
LED fixture	43.4	50.6	-7.2***	-2.48

One, two and three asterisks mean that the coefficient is statistically significant at the 10%, 5% or 1% level respectively.

Survey respondents were asked whether or not they had purchased various lighting products, and Table 5 shows the survey results for lighting product purchases. BC survey respondents show a higher level of purchase than Dakota survey respondents for three of the six product categories, and these differences are statistically significant. Dakota survey respondents show a higher level of purchase than BC survey respondents for basic CFLs and specialty CFLs, but neither difference is statistically significant. Those who purchased at least one of these lighting products were asked how many they purchased, and this information was used to calculate the average purchase rate.

	BC	Dakotas	Difference	Z-test
Incandescent	44.4	52.6	-8.2***	-2.82
Basic CFL	39.6	41.2	-1.6	-0.59
Specialty CFL	10.4	10.8	-0.4	-0.09
LED	12.3	7.7	4.6***	2.69
Halogen	24.7	15.4	9.3***	3.96
Any fixture	21.7	16.6	5.1***	2.20

#### Table 5. Purchased at Least One (%)

One, two and three asterisks mean that the coefficient is statistically significant at the 10%, 5% or 1% level respectively.

Survey respondents were asked whether or not they had installed various types of lighting products, and Table 6 shows the survey results for lighting product installation. BC survey respondents show a higher level of product installation than Dakota survey respondents for five of the six product categories, and these differences are statistically significant for three of them. Dakota survey respondents show a higher level of product installation than BC survey respondents for incandescent lamps.

#### Table 6. Installed at Least One (%)

	BC	Dakotas	Difference	Z-test
Incandescent	60.3	65.5	-5.2**	-1.91
Basic CFL	55.7	54.9	0.8	0.29
Specialty CFL	15.3	13.9	1.3	0.65
LED	13.5	8.3	5.2***	2.87
Halogen	29.9	19.9	10.0***	4.00
Any fixture	21.7	17.0	4.7***	2.05

One, two and three asterisks mean that the coefficient is statistically significant at the 10%, 5% or 1% level respectively.

Survey respondents were asked how influential program activity was in their decision to purchase energy efficient lighting products, and attribution rates were calculated by weighting the responses and finding a weighted average. If spillover is ignored, the attribution rate is equal to one minus the free rider rate, the larger the attribution rate the more influential a program is, and the larger the proportion of reported energy savings attributed to the program. Table 7 shows the attribution rates

calculated from customer survey data for specialty CFL lamps and for Energy Star fixtures. The attribution rate for specialty CFLs is 0.81, and the attribution rate for Energy Star fixtures is 0.73.

Specialty CFL	Very influential	Somewhat influential	Not too influential	Not at all influential	Attribution (1 – free rider)
Share	0.43	0.57	0.00	0.00	
Weight	1.00	0.67	0.33	0.00	
Weighted	0.43	0.38	0.00	0.00	0.81
share					
Energy Star	Very	Somewhat	Not too	Not at all	Attribution
Fixture	influential	influential	influential	influential	(1 –free rider)
Share	0.46	0.30	0.18	0.06	
Weight	1.00	0.67	0.33	0.00	
Weighted share	0.46	0.21	0.06	0.00	0.73

Table 8 provides an attribution analysis for LED lamps and LED fixtures based on reported sales data. Program management was able to obtain sales data for the eight weeks of the fall lighting campaign as well as four weeks before and four weeks after the fall campaign for companies representing some 80% of the market, and this sales information was inflated to represent the whole market. Since out of campaign sales represent base sales levels, one minus (ratio of out of campaign sales to in campaign sales) is the attribution rate. The attribution rate for LED lamps is 0.89, and the attribution rate for LED fixtures is 0.84.

#### Table 8. LED Lamp and LED Fixture Attribution (sales based)

	Out of campaign sales (8 weeks)	In campaign sales (8 weeks)	Out of campaign/in campaign	Attribution (1 – free rider rate)
LED	5,924	55,474	0.11	0.89
LED fixtures	610	3,797	0.16	0.84

To understand the longer-term impact of the program we build an econometric demand model using annual estimates of residential saturation of energy efficient lamps and prices of energy efficient lamps, as well as awareness of energy efficient lamps and a dummy variable for the Energy Star program period. Data for the period from 1997 through 2008 was used. Both ordinary least squares (OLS) and maximum likelihood (ML) models were estimated. The regression results are shown in Table 9. The estimated models perform well with very high adjusted R-squared and minimal auto-correlation.

#### Table 9. Demand for Energy Efficient Lamps (log of average installed)

	OLS		ML	
	Coefficient	St. dev.	Coefficient	St. dev.
Constant	3.12***	-0.66	3.19***	0.63
Log of price	-1.52***	0.29	-1.55***	0.27
Log of awareness	1.57*	0.72	1.55**	0.67
Program dummy	1.04***	0.29	1.10***	0.28
Adjusted R-sq.	0.99	-	0.99	-
Durbin-Watson	1.89	0.05	2.11	-0.05

One, two and three asterisks mean that the coefficient is statistically significant at the 10%, 5% or 1% level respectively.

Because the regression models are in double log form, the regression coefficients are elasticities, except for the program period dummy variable which needs to be rescaled. Table 10 shows the

elasticities based on the demand regression models. These elasticities say that a 1% increase in price reduces saturation of energy efficient lamps by 1.52% to 1.55%, a 1% increase in customer awareness of energy efficient lamps increases saturation of energy efficient lamps by 1.57% to 1.55%, and the presence of the Energy Star Lighting program increase saturation of energy efficient lamps by 175% to 183%.

#### Table 10. Elasticities (%)

	OLS	ML
Price	-1.52	-1.55
Awareness	1.57	1.55
Program	183.0	175.0

Note. For price and awareness the elasticity is the percentage change due to a one percent change in the forcing variable, but for program the elasticity the elasticity is the percentage change due to the presence of the Energy Star Lighting program.

**Hours of Use and Peak Coincidence.** The purpose of the hours of use and peak coincidence analysis was to determine annual, seasonal and daily operating hours of use for light fixtures located in different areas of the home. Information collected through the Residential Load Monitoring Study was used to estimate annual hours of use and peak coincidence with sample drawn from BC Hydro's 2008 Residential End Use Survey participants. Lighting end uses (n = 333) were monitored using time of use loggers between June 2010 and July 2011, so that at least 12 months of data was collected for each monitored lamp. Information on location of lamps and fixtures by room was used to weight the monitored hours of use by room to calculate weighted hours of use and peak for lamps and for fixtures. The results of these calculations are shown in Table 11.

#### Table 11. Hours of Use and Peak Coincidence

	Average hours of use	Peak coincidence		
Lamps	2.56	0.31		
Fixtures	3.18	0.39		

**Energy and Peak Savings.** The purpose of the impact analysis was to estimate the program impact on energy and peak demand savings for CFLs, LEDs, Energy Star fixtures and LED fixtures and determine the extent of spillover, if any. Key parameters are the difference in watts between the base and the efficient technology, annual hours of use, the peak coincidence rate, the installation rate net of replacements, the free rider, the spillover rate, the electricity cross effects adjustment, and the number of rebated units. For first-year energy savings, the basic algorithm is:

 $\Delta$ GWh =  $\Delta$ W · Hours · Install · (1 – FR + SO) · (1 – CE) · Units.

For peak demand savings, the basic algorithm is:

 $\Delta MW = \Delta W \cdot Peak Coincidence \cdot Install \cdot (1 - FR + SO) \cdot (1 - CE) \cdot Units.$ 

Table 12 shows gross unit savings for lamps and lighting fixtures without spillover. The delta watts estimates were provided by the program based on internal analysis, and the annual hours and peak coincidence estimates came from the Residential Load Monitoring Study. At first glance the smaller level of delta watts for LEDs than for CFLs may seem surprising since LEDs are more efficient than CFLs, but this is due to the fact that LEDs have typically been replacements for lower wattage standard efficiency lamps than has been the case for CFLs.

#### Table 12. Gross Unit Savings

	∆ watts	Annual hours	Peak coincidence	Unit energy savings (kWh/y)	Unit peak demand (W)
CFL	53	934	0.31	49.5	16.4
LED	44	934	0.31	41.1	13.6
LED fixtures	53	1,161	0.39	61.5	20.7
Energy Star fixtures	110	1,161	0.39	127.7	42.9

Table 13 shows net unit savings for lamps and lighting fixtures without spillover. The estimates of unit energy demand, unit peak demand, the installation rate and one minus the free rider rate are explained above, while the estimate of one minus cross effects comes from a recent internal study by Power Smart engineering staff. For net unit energy savings, the algorithm is:

(5) kWh =  $\Delta$ kWh · Install · (1 – FR) · (1 – CE).

For peak savings, the basic algorithm is:

(6) kW =  $\Delta W \cdot \text{Install} \cdot (1 - FR) \cdot (1 - CE)$ .

#### Table 13. Net Unit Savings

	Unit energy (kWh/y)	Unit demand (W)	Install rate	1 - FR	1 - CE	Net unit energy (kWh/y)	Net unit demand (W)
CFL	49.5	16.4	0.94	0.81	0.95	35.8	11.9
LED	41.1	13.6	0.82	0.89	0.94	28.2	9.3
LED fixtures	61.5	20.7	1.00	0.84	0.94	48.6	16.3
Energy Star fixtures	127.7	42.9	1.00	0.79	0.98	98.9	33.2

Table 14 shows net energy and demand savings including spillover. Net unit energy and net unit demand come from the previous table, while the number of program incented units was provided by the program. For net unit energy savings, the basic algorithm is:

(7) GWh = Net unit energy savings  $\cdot$  Program incented units.

For net peak savings, the algorithm is:

(8) MW = Net unit demand savings  $\cdot$  Program incented units.

The evaluated savings were 28.7 GWh and 9.5 MW. This is substantially above the program reported savings of 15.5 GWh and 5.5 MW. The difference between the evaluated and the reported savings is primarily due to the evaluated impact of spillover.

	Net unit energy (kWh)	Net unit demand (kW)	Units	Net energy savings (GWh)	Net demand savings (MW)
CFL	35.8	11.9	236.532	8.5	2.8
LED	28.2	9.3	140,402	4.0	1.3
LED spillover	28.2	9.3	411,164	11.6	3.8
LED fixtures	48.6	16.3	12,322	0.6	0.2
Energy Star fixtures	98.9	33.2	40,567	4.0	1.4
total				28.7	9.5

#### Table 14. Net Total Savings

# Conclusions

**Program Design and Implementation.** The BC Hydro Energy Star Lighting Program has been successful in increasing product availability, product awareness, product affordability and product acceptability for energy efficient lighting. A significant degree of market transformation has occurred with respect to replacement of traditional incandescent lamps with spiral CFLs. The Energy Star Lighting Program has continued to evolve and now successfully features a wide range of energy efficient lighting specialty CFLs, LEDs, Energy Star fixtures, and LED fixtures.

**Program Energy, Peak and Price Impacts.** Engineering algorithms informed by BC Hydro customer survey, North and South Dakota customer survey data, on-site metering data and a series of shelf stock studies were used to estimate direct program impacts. The program reported energy savings for F2012 of 16.2 GWh per year compared to evaluated savings of 28.7 GWh per year. The difference between the evaluated and the reported savings is primarily due to the evaluated impact of spillover.

**Evaluation Methods.** Most evaluations of residential lighting programs focus on information based primarily on demand-side or purchaser analysis and in-home metering of hours of use. This study argues that a richer and more persuasive evaluation can be undertaken by supplementing the study with supply –side information collected through shelf stock surveys and interviews with trade allies to collect detailed sales information.

# References

- [1] Habart, J., J. Kelley, I. Sulyma and K. Tiedemann. "Impacts of an Energy Star Promotion, ACEEE 2004 Summer Study, Vol. 2.
- [2] Horowitz, M. Economic Indicators of Market Transformation: Energy Efficient Lighting and EPA's Green Lights. The Energy Journal, Vol. 22, No. 4, 2001.
- [3] Horowitz, M. and Haeri, H. Economic Efficiency versus Energy Efficiency: Do Model Conservation Standards Make Good Sense? Energy Economics, Vol. 12, No. 2, 1990.
- [4] Jaffe, A. and Stavins, R. "Dynamic Incentives of Environmental Regulations: The Impact of Alternative Policy Instruments on Technology Diffusion," Journal of Environmental Economics and Environment, Vol. 29, 1995.
- [5] LBL. Lawrence Berkley Laboratory. EETD Newsletter, Summer 2001. Accessed at <u>www.eetdnews.lbl.gov</u>.
- [6] Mauldin, T., Li, A., Hoefgen, L., Ledyard, T., Tolkin, B. and Feldman, S. Are Retailers Gaming the System? Availability and Pricing of Energy Star Room Air Conditioners. Proceedings of the 2005 International Energy Program Evaluation Conference, Brooklyn, New York, 2005.
- [7] Meyers, S., McMahon, J., McNeil, M. and Liu, X. (2003). "Impacts of US Federal Energy Efficiency Standards for Residential Appliances," Energy 28, 2003.
- [8] Nadel, S., Thorne, J., Sach, H., Prindle, B. and Elliott, R. (2003). Market Transformation: Substantial Progress from a Decade of Work, ACEEE, Washington, D. C., Report No. 036, April 2003.
- [9] Rosenberg, M. (2003). "The Impact of Regional Programs on the Market Share of Energy Star Appliances," in P. Bertoldi, F. Conti and R. Pagani, ed, Energy Efficiency in Domestic Appliances and Lighting, Softech: Turin, Italy, 2003.
- [10] Tiedemann, K. (2004). "Learning from the Market: Efficient Lighting in China," Data Mining IV, 2004.

- [11] Tiedemann, K. (2007). "Impact of Energy Prices and Energy Efficiency Activities on Sales of Energy Star Appliances in California," 2007 International Energy Program Evaluation Conference, Chicago, 2007.
- [12] Titus, E. and Feldman, S. (2003). "Tracking the Effectiveness of Energy-Efficient Appliance Programs in the U.S.," in P. Bertoldi, F. Conti and R. Pagani, ed, Energy Efficiency in Domestic Appliances and Lighting, Softech: Turin, Italy, 2003.
- [13] Vine, E., R. Prahl, S. Myers, and I. Turiel (2010). "An Approach for Evaluating the Market Effects of Energy]Efficiency Programs," Energy Efficiency, Vol. 3, 2010.

# Systematic market monitoring: a pilot project on TVs demonstrates the value for policy design

# Sophie Attali, Anette Michel, Eric Bush

# Topten International Services, Switzerland

# Abstract

The Ecodesign and Energy Labelling regulations, covering a long list of energy using products, can have a strong influence on the market towards higher efficiency. But several decisions on minimum requirements and labelling scales have been taken based on weak and outdated market data. Some of the regulations are assumed to have been missing their targeted energy savings because the policy instruments had not been appropriately designed. A systematic monitoring of the market evolution based on quality data - which does exist – would allow evaluating the effects of policies and serve as a basis for future policy design.

Using GfK market data and in collaboration with WWF Switzerland, Topten has undertaken a monitoring of the TV market in Europe. Market data from 2007 to 2012, covering the entire EU and at the country-level for six countries, has been analysed regarding developments in sales, screen size, price and On mode power. For the 2012 data also the crucial information on the energy efficiency class is included. The results show the market trends towards larger screen size and higher energy efficiency and how the Label and Ecodesign implementing measures (in combination with the new measurement standard) have influenced the TV market.

The results of the TV market monitoring provide a sound basis for decisions in the framework of the Ecodesign regulation for TVs' revision. In addition the project' results demonstrate the value of a systematic market monitoring, when it is based on sound data.

# Introduction

#### Decisions on product policies: systematic market monitoring needed

Based on the Ecodesign Directive from 2005 [1], its recast [2] and the recast of the Energy Labelling Directive from 2010 [3] the European Commission has introduced Ecodesign requirements for 16 product groups and new or updated Energy Labels for 9 product groups since 2005. These implementing measures are estimated to lead to Energy Savings of about 430 TWh annually by 2020 [4]. In 2013 some 15 new implementing measures will be adopted, saving another 360 TWh annually by 2020 [4], and more are to come in the near future. In general, the Ecodesign and Energy Labelling process is a success.

In many cases however, higher energy savings could have been achieved with policy instruments better aligned to the market and technical development. Several of the new Energy Labels need to be revised shortly after their introduction to the market: many products are already in the top-A+++- classes of the new Labels for washing machines [5], dishwashers [6], and tumble driers [7]. In the case of TVs, the Ecodesign regulation is thought to have been of only little impact, because 'the requirements are at a lower level than many products already on the market' [8]. As a key reason for not setting adequately ambitious requirements, the Ecodesign evaluation study [8] identifies 'the absence of up-to-date information on market developments'.

Today, market data is gathered by the authors of the preparatory study, based on which a Working Document is drafted, which is discussed by the Consultation Forum, before a draft regulation is voted. The whole process takes up to 7 years (in the case of the recently adopted Ecodesign and Labelling regulations for boilers and water heaters), and by the time of the application of a measure, the data the decision was based on was out-dated in many cases. Another problem is the quality of the market data: as the budget for the preparatory study does not cover expenses to buy quality market data, the authors have to rely on publicly available data –usually data provided directly by the industry. The data is often only a sample, not sales-weighted and quickly outdated, and is not comparable to data assessed at a later stage for evaluation reasons. The time-consuming task of data gathering is not

cost-effective, because it has to be repeated each time a market overview is of interest (preparatory study, impact assessment, evaluation of measures, revision of measures...), while the results are not comparable because different sources and methods have been used. In order to improve the availability of market data to adequately decide on Labels and requirements, Topten International suggests a systematic market monitoring activity in Europe, based on quality sales data. Sound sales data showing the market development in recent years can be bought from market research companies (e.g. GfK) [9]. If in the future a mandatory product registration database is set up, sales data could be linked to this and an annual report on (aggregated) sales development could be produced using the database. It would be more cost-effective to observe the market with a regular (e.g. annual) monitoring, based on sound data that is comparable over time and between countries, than to undertake isolated data gathering tasks whenever the state of the market is of interest. A regular market monitoring for all product categories with an Energy Label allows to react in time and start a revision of the Label before all models are in the top class, and to design new Ecodesign requirements and Energy Labels appropriately so that these instruments, the introduction of which goes hand in hand with high administrative costs before and during their implementation<sup>1</sup>, have a maximum effect on the market towards higher energy efficiency. An example of how simple an effective market analysis regarding energy efficiency can be is shown in a recent publication covering Swiss appliances sales data [10 and 11].

With the present paper, Topten demonstrates the value of a systematic market monitoring, through the example of a market monitoring on TVs. The study on TVs was realized based on GfK data, and thanks to the support of WWF Switzerland [12] and the European Climate Foundation [13],

The Ecodesign regulation on TVs [14] is the first Ecodesign implementing measure to be revised. The revision process started in 2012 with the publication of a discussion paper [15] and a Consultation Forum. The adoption of the revised Ecodesign and Labelling regulations is planned for the fourth quarter of 2013 [4]. The TV sales data analysed in the present study allows to draw conclusions on the effectiveness of the requirements on On mode power introduced by the 2009 Ecodesign regulation [14] and of the Energy Label adopted in 2010 [16]. At the same time the availability of sound market data will help to support decisions on appropriate minimum efficiency requirements for the revised regulations.

#### TVs: market development, standards and product policies

The preparatory study on TVs was started in early 2006. At the same time, the measurement standard was revised to introduce a different methodology to measure the TVs On mode power. The Ecodesign regulation on TVs was adopted in July 2009, the Energy Labelling regulation in September 2010. During these years and up to now the market changed dramatically: the formerly dominating Cathode Ray Tube (CRT) TVs completely disappeared from the market and were replaced by flat panel TVs – mainly by Liquid Crystal Display (LCD) TVs. This development was to a large extent drawn by the change from analogue to digital TV broadcasting, the trend to high resolution (HD) displays, and went hand in hand with a trend to larger screens [17]. In 2012 Light Emitting Diode (LED)-backlit LCD-TVs are dominating the market, and current driving forces to market development are trends towards internet connectivity, 3D or ultra high definition TVs [14]. It is expected that in the mid-term Organic Light Emitting Diode (OLED)-TVs will start the next fundamental market change. The most important steps in TV standardization and policy making since 2007 are briefly presented below.

#### a) August 2007: preparatory study finalised

Started in early 2006, the preparatory study on TVs was finalised in August 2007. Sales data used in the study was from 2003 and 2004, when CRT TVs were still clearly dominating the market. The authors of the preparatory study stated that a fast development was happening at the time of research and that it was 'difficult to give a precise evaluation of the mid to long term situation' [17]. LCD and Plasma TVs had newly entered the market and started to replace CRT TVs.

b) October 2008: Publication of IEC 62087:2008 standard

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> According to the Evaluation of the Ecodesign Directive [8], 12.5 million Euros were spent between 2006 and 2011 by the European Commission for preparatory studies and a similar amount on staff and other costs.

Already since 2004 experts from major TV manufacturers and independent international experts were involved in the development of the new IEC dynamic test signal methodology [18]. IEC 63087:2008 [19], published in October 2008, was the first international test standard to introduce a test methodology based on a dynamic broadcast signal for measuring the average On mode power of TVs. The authors of the preparatory study recommended basing the Ecodesign and Labelling declarations on this methodology. Before 2008, according to IEC 62087:2003, a static three-bar black & white test pattern was used. Many manufacturers however also declared maximum power, established for safety testing [18].

#### c) October 2008: Consultation Forum

A working document (WD) on Ecodesign requirements for TVs was discussed at a Consultation Forum (CF). This was not the first WD but a version that had already been updated [20].

d) March 2009: Final Ecodesign draft

The Regulatory Committee approves the final draft Ecodesign regulation.

#### e) May 2009: Rejection of Energy Labelling draft

The energy labelling proposal is rejected by the European Parliament. The labelling scale in the proposal was based on the 'A-20%' format. The Parliament claimed that the Labelling format was confusing to consumers (the same day however the Parliament adopted a new Energy Label for refrigerators and freezers based on the same format) [21].

f) July 2009: adoption of the Ecodesign regulation

The European Commission adopts the Ecodesign regulation on TVs [14]. It enters into force in August 2009, and after one year the requirements regarding maximum On mode power apply. The requirements on Standby and Off mode power (max. 1W / 2W) apply already from January 2010.

#### g) February 2010: new Energy Labelling draft

A new Energy labelling draft is circulated for stakeholders' comments. The labelling scale is now based on the A+ format, which is in line with the recast of the Energy Labelling Directive to be adopted in May 2010 [3]. The A class limit has been shifted to a 20% more ambitious level compared to the proposal from 2009. Soon after (in March), a classification scale with an even more ambitious class limit is circulated.



Fig 1: Energy Label for TVs

#### h) August 2010: tier 1 On mode power applies

New TV models put on the market after this date are required to have a power consumption in On mode corresponding to class F or better ('normal' resolution). Full HD TVs can have higher power, as defined in the regulation. Thus, class G is partly banned from August 2010.

#### i) September 2010: adoption of Labelling regulation

The new Energy Labelling regulation for TVs [16] is adopted by the Commission. The Energy Label with the classification scale proposed in March enters into force in December 2010. The classification scale of the Energy Label is based on the Energy Efficiency Index (EEI), which is also used in the Ecodesign regulation. The EEI expresses the power of a TV relative to the power of a reference model of the same screen size. The EEI and the Energy Efficiency class are thus indicators of the relative power (and energy consumption, as this is directly linked to power). Consequently, a large TV can be labelled with the same or even better Energy class despite consuming more energy than a small TV. The annual energy consumption is also indicated on the label (Fig. 1). It is however questioned whether consumers are responsive to this secondary information figure [24].

#### j) December 2011: the Energy Label applies

The transition phase of the Energy Labelling regulation is terminated and the declaration according to the Energy Label is compulsory.

k) April 2012: tier 2 On mode applies (class D)

The second step of the minimum efficiency requirement of the Ecodesign regulation applies: new TVs put on the market must be in class D or better.

Present / Future developments:

The Ecodesign regulation for TVs [14] asks for a review of the regulation in 2012. The revision process has started in 2012 with the publication of a discussion paper [15] and a Consultation Forum. The adoption of the revised Ecodesign and Labelling regulations is planned for the fourth quarter of 2013 [4].

#### Development of the Best Available Technology (BAT)

Topten [23] is an online tool to inform about the most energy efficient products. Topten selects its products according to official Labels and Standards. In 2009 the European Topten website started to list TVs according to the Energy Label draft. The rapidly increasing efficiency of the TVs listed on Topten.eu demonstrates the fast technological development that happened along the discussions and already before the introduction of the implementing measures. In September 2010, when the Labelling regulation was adopted, Topten already listed 60 class B and 5 class A TV models. One year later, when the Energy Label applied, there were 110 class A TVs and 17 A+ TVs on Topten.eu. By April 2012 the number of A+ TVs on Topten.eu has climbed to 99 and the lists showed that the first A++ TVs had emerged on the market [25]. At present, there are more than 170 A+ TVs and 21 A++ TVs on the lists of Topten.eu, despite additional selection criteria such as a strict maximum On mode power of 64W (the model numbers include all similar models on the market. Some might be of similar construction).

# **Data and Methods**

#### Coverage

GfK [26] is a professional market analysis company present around the world. In Europe GfK covers over 90% of the markets in all 27 Member States. Sales data plus many product characteristics are obtained from retailers. For this market monitoring TV sales data were obtained from GfK, for the years 2007 – 2012. The data covers TV sales in the EU-24 plus additionally sales on country level for six countries (table 1).

Country	Population <sup>2</sup>
EU-24*	499.3 Mio
Germany	81.7
France	64.7
UK (without Northern Ireland)	62
Spain	46
Poland	38.1
Denmark	5.5

#### Table 1: Countries covered and population

\* EU-24 includes Germany, Denmark, United Kingdom, Italy, Poland, Spain, Austria, Belgium, Bulgaria, Estonia, Finland, France, Greece, Hungary, Ireland, Latvia, Lithuania, Netherlands, Portugal, Czech Republic, Romania, Slovakia, Slovenia and Sweden.

For the years 2007 – 2011 sales numbers, price and annual energy consumption as declared for different size categories and TV technologies were retrieved. As power was not available, it was recalculated from annual energy consumption. From 2008 - 2010 for about 80% of the TVs power was declared according to the IEC 62087:2008 standard. Annual energy consumption was declared according to the calculation formula that was included in the Energy Labelling regulation later (E= P\*1.46) (for more details on measurement and calculation methods see below). After November 2011 the Energy Label for TVs became compulsory [16]. So, for the 2012 dataset also the energy efficiency class was included. No information on brands or models is included.

Sales of CRT TVs are included in the total sales and in the average price, but no detail information such as size, price or power/energy consumption is available for CRT TVs sold in Poland, Germany and Denmark. After 2010, CRT sales were 0 in these countries, and the missing information concerns only the years before. The details of the data gap are shown in [28].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Data from Eurostat: <u>http://epp.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/portal/page/portal/eurostat/home/</u>

#### On mode power – changing measurement methods

Between 2007 and 2010 the declaration of the TVs On mode power changed, because a new measurement methodology was introduced. IEC 62087:2008 was the first international measurement standard to introduce a testing methodology based on a dynamic broadcast signal for measuring the On mode power of TVs. The Ecodesign regulation [14] refers to a dynamic measurement method. Since 2010 On mode power of TVs on the European market is declared according to this measurement method.

Experts were developing the new test standard since 2004 already. Also the authors of the preparatory study recommended the new method based on the dynamic broadcast content signal to be referred to for the Ecodesign and Energy Labelling regulations in 2006/2007 [17]. At the same time it was decided that annual energy consumption would be declared, based on an assumed daily use in On mode of four hours and not considering low power modes. Major manufacturers started to apply this methodology from 2008 [18].

Which of the On mode power testing methods (static 3-bar signal of IEC 62087:2003, dynamic signal contained in IEC 62087:2008 or maximum On mode power as declared for safety testing) and annual energy consumption calculation methods were used in the declarations before 2008 is not known. Additionally before 2010 there was no obligation to declare a power or energy consumption value according to a given test standard. Therefore the power values before 2009 / 2010 should be interpreted with caution. It is assumed that for 2008 - 2009, about 80% of the TVs were declared according to the measurement and calculation methods used today in the Energy Labelling regulation for TVs [18].

#### Not included: Standby power and total energy consumption

Information on Standby and Off mode power is not included in the TV Monitoring project. These were certainly relevant modes for the energy consumption before the TVs Ecodesign regulation became effective in 2010, and which limited the power of these modes to maximally 2W. Before 2009 Standby and Off mode power were not declared in a standardised way, and since 2010 these low power modes are no longer crucial for the total energy consumption.

The monitoring project does not present total energy consumption values, even though this figure can be calculated from the On mode power and the sales – based on the calculation formula used in the Energy Label. The Labelling regulation assumes a daily On mode duration of 4 hours [16], based on the findings from the preparatory study [17]. The authors of the preparatory study expected that the On mode duration per day would rise to an average of 5 hours in the future. Daily viewing time may differ between countries, but also for different TVs. The DEFRA study 'Powering the nation' from 2012 for instance found an average daily TV watching time of six hours in UK, the average household possessing 2.3 TVs [27]. The study does not differentiate between different TV sets. Assuming that larger TVs are used in the living room than in the sleeping room and that average viewing times for the two TV types differ, this influences the total energy consumption. Considering this, the different methods used for declaring the On mode power over the years plus the decreasing importance of the low power modes (without having information on it) it was decided to only present On mode power figures instead of annual energy consumption. The data presented however allows deriving estimations on the evolution of TVs' energy consumption in Europe.

# **Results and interpretation**

The graphs and results presented below represent a 'best of'-selection. The full results are publicly available in the full report: *European TV market 2007 – 2012: development of energy efficiency before and during the implementation of the Ecodesign and Energy Labelling regulations* [28].

From 2007 to 2010 the number of annually sold TVs increased by 50% - from 37 million to 56 million units per year (fig. 2). These figures impressively show the impact the introduction of new technologies have had – assumedly especially the switchover from analogue to digital TV. After 2010 the sales decreased at a similar pace – back to 47 million units in 2012.

Not only were more TVs bought, but also larger ones: Fig. 3 shows the on-going trend towards larger screens. Between 2007 and 2012 the sales have generally shifted to larger screen sizes. Fig. 3 shows a constant decrease of the sales proportion of very small TVs (screen diagonal < 20 inches)

and a constant increase for the two largest size categories (screen diagonal between 40 and 50 inches and 50 to 60 inches). The sales proportions of the intermediate sizes (20" - 30" and 30" - 40") show less clear trends but some fluctuations over the observed years. This graph can be interpreted





Fig. 2: Total annual TV sales in the EU-24

Fig. 3: TV sales in the EU-24: percentage of different screen size categories

Data source: GfK

" = inches; 1 inch = 2.54 cm. Data source: GfK

with the trend towards two or more TVs per household in mind. While living room TVs are clearly getting larger, TVs bought to be placed in bedrooms will usually be smaller. Looking at the detail screen sizes and the 2012 EU sales, 32" and 40" – 43" turn out to be by far the most popular screen sizes: these two categories together accounted for 53% of the sales in 2012 (32": 29%; 40" – 43": 24%) (graph in [28]).

From 2007 to 2012 two interesting market transformations regarding technology happened: CRT TVs disappeared completely from the market and were replaced by flat panel TVs (LCD and Plasma), and the first generation of LCD-TVs (with Cold Cathode Fluorescent Lamps (CCFL)-backlight) was replaced by the next LCD-generation, using LED for the backlight (fig. 4). The Plasma technology never reached the breakthrough and the sales share always remained below 10%. Also Rear Projection TVs ('Rear Pro') do not reach a noteworthy market share.



Fig. 4: EU-Sales of different TV technologies

Fig. 5: TV sales per person

Data source: GfK

Data source: GfK

People do not show the same readiness to buy new TVs all over Europe; there are considerable differences between countries (fig. 5). Most striking is the buying behaviour of UK consumers: in 2007 the British bought almost twice as many TV sets per person as the EU average. At the other end of the scale is Poland: from 2007 to 2011 Polish were around 50% less likely to buy a new TV than the EU average. Contrary to the other countries however, sales in Poland continued to increase until 2012.

Fig. 5 cannot be interpreted without also looking at fig. 6, which shows the trends in average screen size in the countries. As fig. 3, also this figure impressively shows the strong and on-going trend towards larger screen sizes. Across the EU-24, the average screen diagonal increased from 29.3" (74.4cm) by 4.5 inches (+11.4 cm) to 33.7" (85.6cm) between 2007 and 2012 – equalling an increase of 15%.

Fig. 6 also shows that in the UK, where people buy most TVs, they buy smaller TVs than in other countries. UK is a very mature TV market with an average of 2.3 TV sets per household [27]. The smaller average size will be a result from a high sales percentage of secondary TVs, which are placed in the sleeping room or kitchen. These TVs are smaller than living room TVs. The contrary applies to Poland, where comparatively few but rather large TVs are sold. Are these mostly living room TVs, and therefore on average larger? The number of TVs Germans buy is close to the European average, but the average screen size is among the largest. In France the trend towards larger screen size stopped in 2008, the sales per person remained near the EU-average. Also in Spain TV sales per person were near the EU-average, but dropped to lower values in 2011 and 2012. The average screen size however was higher in these two years, after having been among the lowest before. Danish TV consumers compete with Germans and Polish for the largest average screen size, while sales per person increased to values a bit higher than the EU average. When dividing the sales by the number of households instead of persons and thus considering for different household sizes, the outcome is not changed much, but some of the differences between countries become smaller [28].





#### Data source: GfK

Despite growing screen sizes, average TV prices in general decreased from 2007 to 2012, at a slowing rate which seems to have stopped in 2011. Average price reduction in the EU was 29% from 2007 to 2012, but around 50% when looking at certain size categories and thus minimising the effect of increasing average screen size [28]. The price decrease over these years was smallest in Poland (-15%) and Germany (-19%), and strongest in Denmark (-42%) and France (-41%). Not surprisingly, the two countries with lower average screen size, UK and Spain, also pay the lowest average prices for their new TVs. Prices in Poland have been similarly low, probably mostly due to the rather low Purchasing Power (PP)<sup>3</sup>. French average prices decreased to be among the lowest after 2010, more or less in line with shrinking screen sizes. In Denmark, which has the highest PP of all EU Member States, the highest average TV prices are paid.

The analysis of the 2012 data in the full report [28] shows that TV prices are closely linked to screen size, but not to energy efficiency.

Larger TVs (of the same technology) have higher power in On mode [17] – this easy-to-understand rule which is also embedded in the EEI calculation formula of the Ecodesign and Energy Labelling regulations (larger TVs can have higher power), leads us to fearing that the strong trend towards

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Source: Eurostat

http://epp.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/statistics\_explained/index.php/Comparative\_price\_levels\_of\_consumer\_goods\_and\_services

larger screen sizes observed above goes hand in hand with higher average On mode power. Fig. 8 makes clear that this fear is not justified: despite the TVs getting larger, the declared average power in On mode has dramatically decreased, especially between 2008 and 2012.

As mentioned in the chapter 'Data and Methods', On mode power values before 2010 have to be interpreted with caution. Before 2010 manufacturers were not obliged to declare power values, and before 2009 different and changing measurement standards were used. Despite these restrictions there are no large discrepancies or jumps in the power values from 2007 – 2009. From 2007 to 2008 the declared average power values increased a bit – probably due to the application of the new measurement method IEC 62087:2008. When going more into detail and looking at certain sizes and technologies, the graphs in the full report [28] show a power 'jump' especially for Plasma TVs, while there was little change in the average power of LCD TVs. It is not known according to which measurement standards the On mode power was declared before 2008, and we'll only consider the information from 2008, when assumedly most manufacturers would use the same method as recommended later for the Energy Label, when looking at the development in On mode power,



Fig. 8: Average TV On mode power

#### Data source: GfK

After 2008 the average power of TVs decreased continuously: from 2008 to 2012 the average On mode power of TVs sold in the EU-24 decreased by impressive 55% - despite an average screen diagonal increase of 10% over the same period. In 2008 the average TV sold in the EU reached an On mode power of 156W – by 2012 the average On mode power was 70W.

Not surprisingly, average power is higher in those countries with large average screen sizes: Germany, Denmark, Poland. In Spain and, from 2010, France, where consumers preferred smaller TVs, average On mode power is lower. The average power of TVs in UK was close to the European average, even though average TVs are smaller in UK than in the EU average. The differences between countries became smaller over the years. Especially in 2012, average power is much more levelled across the countries than before. Graphs 9 and 10 show that this cannot be the effect of the On mode power Ecodesign requirements (because their level was clearly above the average power). Was it the effect of the newly compulsory Energy Label, leading manufacturers to design their models along the energy class limits? Another factor is certainly the number of market players that was reduced: the number of different TV brands available on the EU market declined from 746 in 2007 to 480 in 2012 (minus 36%; source: GfK). It is thinkable that the market transformation process towards flat panel and especially LED-backlit LCD TVs eliminated a number of market players, who could not keep up with the pace of development and dropped out of the competition. The reduction of competitors may have lead to a reduction of product 'diversity' on the market and thus contributed to a more uniform market also regarding average power in different countries.

The reduction in average On mode power is impressive. But the graph does not answer the question on the role of the Ecodesign regulation in this development. Obviously most of the trends leading to higher efficiency (e.g. flat panel TVs, LED-backlight) had started a long time before the implementation of the Ecodesign regulation. So, does the graph above show a 'natural' market

development that would have equally happened without implementing measures, or did the Ecodesign regulation lead to the product improvement? Toulouse et al. [24] state that the On mode power requirements of the Ecodesign regulation had practically no impact on the market, because both tier 1 and 2 requirements were already met by most main manufacturers. Also the Evaluation of the Ecodesign Directive from 2012 [8] concludes that the Ecodesign requirements for TVs were at a lower level (in terms of energy efficiency) than many products already on the market, while more ambitious requirements could have been introduced.

The detail market data on power for specific screen sizes here allows to investigate this question further. In order to find out more about the effect of the Ecodesign regulation we need to look at certain screen sizes, since the 'cut-off' level of the Ecodesign regulation is dependent on the screen size. The two most popular screen sizes (32" and 40" – 43") are selected for the detail analysis regarding On mode power development. The arrows in the figures 9 and 10 indicate the progress in standardisation and policy making and implementation. It should be noted that before decisions were taken, yearlong discussions including the industry (and some other stakeholders) took place. Many manufacturers were aware of the standards' and regulations' content some time before their publication.



Figs. 9 + 10: Average On mode power and Ecodesign requirements for 32" and for 40"-43"TVs

# Data source: GfK

For the  $40^{\circ} - 43^{\circ}$  TVs, the Ecodesign limits were calculated for a screen size of 41.5 inches. Between 2008 and 2012 the average On mode power decreased by 57% to 64W for 32" and to 85W (-65%) for  $40^{\circ} - 43^{\circ}$  TVs.

Tier 1 of the Ecodesign requirements on On mode power applied from August 2010. For both screen sizes considered here the level of tier 1 was close to the average power from 2008, but clearly higher than the average power in 2010. For 32" TVs the limits were 31% (full HD) and 18% (other resolutions) above the average power, for 40" - 43"-TVs 45% (full HD) and 31% (other resolutions). The percentage of full HD TV sales was not assessed in this study.

In April 2012 the tier 2 On mode power requirement applied, corresponding to class D. A quick glance forward at fig. 11 shows that class D had almost entirely disappeared from the EU-market in 2012, and that this measure must have been of very little impact: only 1% of the TVs sold in the EU in 2012 were class D TVs – the least efficient class still allowed on the market. For both screen size categories in figs. 9 and 10 the average power of the complete 2012 sales was even more below the Ecodesign limit than for tier 1: for 32" TVs the average On mode power was 78% lower than the second Ecodesign limit, for 40" – 43" TVs the average was even 113% lower. The average power of this latter size category was below the tier 2 limit in 2010 already.

Based on these figures we can agree with the studies mentioned above [24 and 8] and conclude that, for the two most important screen sizes, all On mode power limits of the Ecodesign regulation had practically no impact on the market. The efficiency development was happening anyway, the Ecodesign regulation did not have any effect on it. The discussions about energy efficiency may however have supported the technological development to focus also on this aspect, and not only on increasing screen size and additional functions.



# Fig. 11: Energy efficiency of TV sales, 2012

#### Data source: GfK

Fig. 11 comes close to the simple type of graph we are suggesting to update and publish on an annual basis for all products with an Energy Label in place: evolution of the efficiency, shown in the classes, over the years (as in [10]). Because for TVs the Energy Label was only compulsory after November 2011, such 'dynamic' graphs for the different countries will only be possible from next year. Figure 22 shows the distribution of the 2012 sales on the Energy Classes in the countries and the EU-24. 'Others' include sales of models that were marketed before December 2011 and were not required to have a label, and new models, for which the label information was missing. Fig. 11 lets us draw interesting conclusions:

- In the first full year of the new Energy Label, between 29% (UK) and 50% (Poland) of the sold TVs were in class A or better. Across the EU 39% were in class A or better.
- Class D is no longer visible on the market (EU: 1%). Class D corresponds to the tier 2 power limit enforced in April 2012.
- 6% (UK) to 14% (Germany) of the sales were of class A+, across the EU A+ accounted for 8% of the sales. This class was not expected to appear on the market before 2014; only then will this class have to be shown on the Energy Label.
- For many models the information on the Energy Class was missing: between 15% (Poland) and 36% (UK) of the sold TVs were not labelled. The EU-average is 28%. These figures also include models that were marketed before December 2011 and do not need to have the Label. A figure containing only data on 2012 models in [28] shows that also many of the new models were sold without Energy Label (21% across the EU).
- The most important class regarding sales share in 2012 is class A: class A has the largest sales share in all countries observed. Across the EU, 31% of all TV sales were class A TVs.
- Once again, differences between countries are considerable. Quite surprising is the high sales share of A and A+ TVs in Poland. The explanation might be linked to the findings above

that consumers in Poland buy larger (but fewer) TVs than in other countries and that larger TVs reach better efficiency classes.

The possibility to provide an overview on the efficiency of the market with simple graphs like fig. 11 is one of the strengths of a compulsory Energy Label. The opportunity to observe the market development on a regular and systematic basis should not be missed.

# Conclusions

#### General

The reduction in average declared On mode power of 55% between 2008 and 2012 is impressive. The gains in efficiency on a power per screen area basis have been clearly stronger than the trend to larger screen sizes. What this means for the effective electricity consumption by TVs is however not clear. Several factors drive the electricity consumption to higher values than declared for single TVs or to higher values than some years ago for the entire EU (more details in [28]):

- The real average TVs use duration in On mode, and of primary and secondary TVs, is not known and has most likely become longer than before the market transformation to flat panel TVs.
- Real On mode power is in most cases higher than what is declared, up to 30% according to [30].
- Only in 2012 the average declared On mode power was back at the level of the On mode power the old CRT TVs [28]. The sales peak in 2009 – 2010 occurred before the efficiency gains through technological development made up for the increased functionality and screen size of the flat panel TVs. These 'energy hungry' TVs remain installed for the next decade or so.

#### Evaluation of Ecodesign requirements and Energy Label

#### Ecodesign requirements on On mode power

The results show that the development towards lower power in On mode has started in 2008 / 2009 and that the development was much faster than anticipated. The development towards better efficiency seems mainly to be linked to the new technologies that were introduced, especially LED-backlit LCD-TVs. The efficiency development clearly outran the Ecodesign regulation, which was left without any impact.

According to the Ecodesign Directive [1] the minimum requirements should be placed at a level which aims at the Least Life Cycle Cost (LLCC) for consumers. Because the question on the credibility of the data provided by the industry lead to intense discussions and because it was difficult to predict the market development based on the data at hand, the Commission decided to define cautious minimum requirements but to include an early revision date [23].

However, when the Ecodesign regulation was adopted in mid-2009, even the availability of sound data on average On mode power like the one presented here would not have much helped the Commission to define more appropriate power limits. The trend towards lower power started only in that year, and because of changing measurement standards and no obligation to declare standardised power values, also the data up to 2008 would not have allowed to predict the fast development of the years to come. Only manufacturers might have been able to make more adequate estimations.

#### Energy Label

With the Energy Label for TVs, a brand new Label was designed. Since there was no existing older Label, there was no resistance about possible downgrading of existing products, and clearly the original A to G scale should have been aimed at. This is what the Energy Labelling Directive [3] stipulates: "The format of the label shall retain as a basis the classification using letters from A to G (...)". And only the next paragraph adds the possibility to go beyond A if needed: "Three additional classes may be added (...) if required by technological progress. Those (...) will be A+, A++ and A+++ ...". However, already in the first year of the Label being compulsory, 8% of the products were in class A+ across the EU. A+ was not expected to be reached before 2014 and therefore does not

have to be displayed on the Label. Obviously the development towards higher efficiency has been faster than anticipated when the Energy Label was designed in 2010.

However, also when the Energy Label was adopted, the rate of improvement to come was difficult to be predicted – even with more up-to-date data at hand. With data up to 2009, only the beginning of the efficiency development could have been observed, and the sales share of LED-LCD-TVs was only 3% in that year and just starting to grow. The number of TV models on the product lists of Topten.eu [25] shows that a rising number of models met the class B limit, but only very few the class A limit at the time of adoption.

A positive point is that, contrarily to the situation for most Labels that have been revised (refrigerators, washing machines, dishwashers, tumble driers), the top class of the TV energy Label is still empty [6]. Also the A++ limit seems yet to require a lot of technological efforts and the use of the discount granted for Automatic Brightness Control (ABC) [30]. The current Energy Label continues to provide an incentive for further efficiency developments.

In addition the Label now provides a basis for a continuous and easy market monitoring, and it will be interesting to see if the market continues to evolve at the current pace – or even faster, now that the Label is in place.

#### Combined effect

The Ecodesign regulation and Energy Label did have only a faint influence on the trend towards higher efficiency of TVs. It can however be questioned whether without power and energy consumption of TVs being a topic of interest, information obligation, minimum requirements, and the possibility to market high efficiency TVs with a good label class, manufacturers would have used the new technologies to the same extent. The improved measurement standard combined with the introduction of the implementing measures has certainly supported the market development towards better efficiency.

#### **Recommendations for revision**

The revised Ecodesign regulation on TVs must avoid setting requirements that would not be ambitious enough and only leading to administrative efforts without effect. The market overview provided in the present paper can be used for more precise prognoses about the future market development. The insights gained here can support the setting of ambitious minimum requirements. Today's class A should be defined as minimum requirement from 2015, A+ announced as second step.

At the same time the Energy Label should be revised to restore the original A to G scale. Class A could be the 'incentive' to be reached by future, even more efficient TVs, and correspond to today's class A+++. Today's best TVs are in A++ [6]. Considering the fast efficiency development of the last few years and the even more efficient OLED technology, which is expected to enter the market in the future, a future-oriented labelling scale is appropriate.

Another point that should be tackled is the strictly linear relative efficiency approach. The current EEI formula and Labelling classification scale allow large TVs to reach a good Energy Class despite consuming more energy than smaller TVs (which can get a worse classification). This approach does nothing to stop the continuing trend towards larger screen sizes, as shown in fig. 6. Up to now, the increasing efficiency of the products has the stronger effect on average power than the growing screen sizes, and average power has been decreasing dramatically in the last few years despite TVs getting larger. At some point however the efficiency potential will become smaller, and a Labelling / Ecodesign approach favoring large TVs will impede reaching the targeted energy savings. Therefore a digressive or even capped approach (like Energy Star Version 5.0 for TVs, which introduced a maximum power in On mode of 108W in 2011 [31]) should be considered for this revision, for both the Ecodesign requirements and the Energy Label.

#### Systematic market monitoring is essential

Whether the European Commission would have been able to define more appropriate Ecodesign requirements and Energy Label, had there been market data at hand the way it is presented here is not clear because there were changes in the measurement standards, no declaration obligation and a

very fast technological development. With the present situation with an Energy Label in place, it is however easy to track the market. The chance for a systematic market monitoring must not be missed. The data exists - professional market analysis companies like GfK collect the data anyway mainly for their primary costumers, the industry and retailers. The data is not too expensive, and it is more cost-effective to buy it and analyze aggregated figures, which needs not consume much time, on a regular basis than to hire consultants to search for freely available data whenever a revision or an impact analysis is due. The data presented here is up-to-date, complete (covering all countries, manufacturers, technologies, ...), sales-weighted and the assessment method remains the same. Therefore it can be compared between countries and over time, which is not true for the data now collected for preparatory studies and impact assessments. On a longer term sound, aggregated sales data could also be provided by a mandatory product registration database – if such a system is set up in the future. A systematic market monitoring based on sound data allows seeing in advance if the Ecodesign and Labelling regulations need to be revised. It allows evaluating the effect of implementing measures, and it serves as a sound basis for the decision on the level of the revised Ecodesign requirements and Labelling scales. After some years (equaling the average lifetime of a product) the data can serve as a basis for quite precise models on the development of the energy consumption by the stock of the monitored products across the EU. With high quality data at hand, the time-consuming task of data collection and discussions about the credibility of the data are unnecessary. The policy making process can be sped up, and the resulting regulations will be of higher impact. Therefore, a systematic market monitoring - based on sound market data - in Europe is a need, for all product categories with an Energy Label.

#### References

- [1] European Commission: Directive 2005/32/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 6 July 2005 establishing a framework for the setting of ecodesign requirements for energy-using products
- [2] European Commission: Directive 2009/125/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 21 October 2009 establishing a framework for the setting of ecodesign requirements for energy-related products
- [3] European Commission: Directive 2010/30/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 19 May 2010 on the indication by labelling and standard product information of the consumption of energy and other resources by energy-related products
- [4] Ismo Grönroos-Saikkala, DG Energy: *State of implementation of the Ecodesign*. Ecodesign Consultation Forum Meeting on Horizontal Issues. March 2013.
- [5] Barbara Josephy: *Washing machines: Key Criteria for Best Available Technology BAT.* Presented at EEDAL 2011, Copenhagen.
- [6] Best products of Europe: <u>www.topten.eu</u>
- [7] Bush, Damino, Michel et al.: *Heat Pump Tumble Driers: MEPS in Switzerland and New A Classes in Europe, Market Introduction in North America.* Presentation at EEDAL 2013, Coimbra, Portugal.
- [8] CSES, 2012: *Evaluation of the Ecodesign Directive* (2009/125/EC), Final Report.
- [9] Attali, Bush, Michel et al., Topten International: *Can Europe continue deciding on product policies (MEPS, labels, etc.) without monitoring the market?* Presented at eceee 2013, France.
- [10] S.A.F.E. and FEA: Swiss appliances sales data, 2004 2011. August 2012. http://www.topten.eu/uploads/File/Swiss%20appliance%20sales%20data,%202004%20-%202011.pdf
- [11] Topten: Swiss appliances sales data 2004 2011: Analysis and recommendations for EU market monitoring. August 2011. www.topten.eu/uploads/File/Swiss\_appliance\_market\_analysis\_and\_recommendations.pdf
- [12] World Wide Fund (WWF), Switzerland: www.wwf.ch

- [13] European Climate Foundation ECF: <u>www.europeanclimate.org</u>
- [14] European Commission: Commission regulation (EC) No 642/2009 of 22 July 2009 implementing Directive 2005/32/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council with regard to ecodesign requirements for televisions
- [15] Discussion paper on the review of the Ecodesign and Energy Labelling Regulations for televisions and on the draft Regulation on electronic displays, including computer monitors. August 2012.
- [16] European Commission: Commission delegated regulation (EU) No 1062/2010 of 28 September 2010 supplementing Directive 2010/30/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council with regard to energy labelling of televisions
- [17] Stobbe et al.: *EuP Preparatory Studies 'Televisions' (Lot 5).* Tasks 1-8. Deutsche Umwelthilfe and Fraunhofer IZM. Berlin, August 2007.
- [18] Bob Harrison; personal communication in April 2013.
- [19] International Electrotechnical Commission (IEC): IEC 62087:2008 Methods of measurement for the power consumption of audio, video and related equipment. October 2008. Withdrawn and replaced by IEC 62087:2011.
- [20] eceee, Ecodesign and Labelling, products and status: http://www.eceee.org/Eco\_design/products/televisions
- [21] http://www.euractiv.com/energy-efficiency/parliament-muddles-energy-labels-news-221877
- [22] European Committee for Electrotechnical Standardization (CENELEC): EN 62087:2009 Methods of measurement for the power consumption of audio, video and related equipment. Withdrawn and superseded by EN 62087:2012
- [23] Topten, most energy efficient products. Topten Europe: <u>www.topten.eu</u> , Topten around the world: <u>www.topten.info</u>
- [24] Toulouse, Sivitos, Arditi et al.: *EU Ecodesign and Labelling regulations for TVs: is the picture half full or half empty?* Presented at the EGG conference, September 2012.
- [25] Topten Focus, June 2012: *Televisions: Energy Label speeds up efficiency development*. http://www.topten.eu/uploads/File/Newsletters/Topten%20Focus%20TVs%20June%2012.pdf
- [26] GfK: <u>www.gfk.com</u>
- [27] Energy Saving Trust / DEFRA: *Powering the nation. Household electricity-using habits revealed.* London, 2012.
- [28] Topten International: *European TV market 2007 2012: energy efficiency before and during the implementation of the Ecodesign and Energy Labelling regulations.* July 2013. (not yet published. Will be available for download on Topten.eu.)
- [29] Swiss Alpine Laboratories for Testing of Energy Efficiency S.A.L.T.: *Vergleichstest von Best-Fernsehgeräten.* November 2009. <u>www.topten.ch/uploads/images/download-</u> <u>files/091117 Vergleichstest TV.pdf</u>
- [30] Michel, Bush, Hu Bo: *Finding the most energy efficient TV in China and in Europe: not such an easy job…* Presented at eceee 2013, France.
- [31] Energy Star Product Criteria: TVs. Version 5.3, effective since September 30, 2011. http://www.energystar.gov/index.cfm?c=tv\_vcr.pr\_crit\_tv\_vcr

# The electricity consumption of household appliances in the European Union and the effects of existing EU energy efficiency policies on its evolution

# Nicola Labanca

*European Commission, Joint Research Centre, Institute for Energy and Transport* 

# Paolo Bertoldi

*European Commission, Joint Research Centre, Institute for Energy and Transport* 

# Bettina Hirl

# Università della Svizzera italiana (University of Lugano), Institute of Economics

# Abstract

The final total electricity consumption of the residential sector in the EU-27 has increased by almost 40% in the period between 1990 and 2010. Excepting a slight decrease in 2007, the annual variation trend of final per capita electricity consumption has been always positive during these two decades. However, important improvements in the energy efficiency of practically all domestic products consuming electricity consumption growth rate. The merit of this certainly goes also to EU and national energy efficiency policy measures so far implemented and expected to allow achieving a further and significant amount of energy savings by 2020. Nevertheless, the number and the capacity of models installed and consuming electricity in the households is raising, products are used for longer periods of time and many of them have more functions or special features that require more electricity. This trend weakens and sometimes counteracts the expected impacts of energy efficiency improvement measures.

This paper aims to analyse the present status of electricity consumption of domestic products and the energy efficiency progresses recently registered for each of the main product categories commercialized in the EU. The main energy efficiency policies implemented at the EU level in the residential sector are also described together with their expected impact on electricity consumption. Finally the paper identifies the main areas of possible improvement concerning the process leading to the implementation of these policies. These areas relate to the duration of the preparatory studies and their synchronization with the standardization activities needed, to the enforcement of market surveillance activities, to the definition of policy measures aiming at limiting the total energy consumption and not just the energy efficiency of products installed by households.

# Key words

Electricity consumption, domestic appliances, energy efficiency policy

# Introduction

This paper describes the total final electricity consumption trends recently registered in the EU residential sector and complements this description with an analysis of the energy impacts and the effects of the energy efficiency improvements recently observed in the main residential electricity end-
uses. This allows drawing some general conclusions concerning the overall effects achieved by EU energy efficiency policies addressing these end-uses and the main areas of improvements for these policies.

The overview of the existing trends in the total final electricity consumption of the residential sector is based on the information presently available in the literature and in the Eurostat database. The breakdown of this consumption in the main electricity end-uses presented in the paper is instead the result of an on-going survey of statistical data performed by the Joint Research Centre of the European Commission and of the analyses presented in several studies and reports as of 2006.

The impacts on the EU electricity consumption and the energy performance trends of the main product categories installed in the households are described mainly based on the information available in the literature and in the preparatory studies performed by the European Commission for the implementation of the EU 2009/125/EC establishing a framework for the setting of eco-design requirements of energy-related products.

# Overview of existing trends in the electricity consumption of the European Union

The residential final electricity consumption in the EU-27 accounted for 29% of the total final electricity consumption in the year 2010. In this year, the residential sector was the second major electricity consumer after the industry sector (36%) and achieved the same amount of final electricity consumed by the service sector [1]. Its annual electricity consumption results to have always increased with respect to the consumption of the previous year, at least since 1990 and with the exception of the year 2007<sup>1</sup>. The total residential electricity consumption grew by 40% in the EU-27 between 1990 and 2010, whereas it grew by 39% in the EU-15 and by 42% in the 12 New Member States (NMS-12) in the same period. In 2010 it reached 843 GWh in absolute terms in the EU-27; its highest point in 20 years.

When it comes to residential electricity consumption per capita, it can be observed that this consumption shows a same trend with a slower annual increase compared to total residential electricity consumption in the period between 1999 and 2010<sup>2</sup>.

Concerning electricity consumption at the national level, the following 4 EU Member States (MSs) have registered negative growth rates in the period between 2000 and 2010 (see figure 1 below): Slovakia (-20%), Malta (-15%), Belgium (-15%) and Sweden (-4%). The ones with the highest growth rates were Spain (78%), Cyprus (65%) and Latvia (63%). The number of EU MSs with negative growth rates in residential electricity consumption in the period between 2005 and 2010 is instead 6. Besides the countries previously mentioned, also UK and Denmark managed to achieve a negative growth rate respectively of -6% and -1% in this period.



# Figure 1: Final residential electricity consumption growth rates in the EU-27 (source Eurostat, JRC)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In 2007 the residential total final electricity consumption decreased by 0.8% compared to the previous year. This can be related to the higher winter temperatures registered during 2007 (implying less electricity use for heating).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In the EU-27 per capita residential electricity consumption was around 1470 kWh in 1999 and around 1680 kWh in 2010. In the EU-15 this consumption was instead around 1680 kWh in 1999 and around 1880 kWh in 2010. In the NMS-12 it was 725 kWh in 1999 and 900 kWh in 2010 (source Eurostat).

Per dwelling residential annual final electricity consumption was around 4100 kWh in the period between 2005 and 2009 in the EU-27<sup>3</sup>. As happened for the total EU electricity consumption, a slightly lower consumption was achieved in 2007 probably due to the unusually higher winter temperatures registered during this year.

The residential final electricity consumption per household shows a large dispersion across EU MSs (see figure 2). The highest residential electricity consumption per household has been registered in Finland. This is mainly due to its above EU-average household electricity consumption for heating and to the use of saunas which can be found in many Finnish houses<sup>4</sup>. It can also be observed that per household consumption variation between 2005 and 2009 is positive for some Member States, e.g. Finland, France and Cyprus, whereas it is negative for other Member States like, for instance, Belgium and Germany. Clearly, the average consumption per household shown results from an average over a wide variety of different household types.

Figure 2: Residential per household final electricity consumption trends in the EU-27 (source Eurostat)



Unfortunately, information and data available do not allow establishing with certainty whether the consumption trends so far described may be correlated to the variations of parameters like energy price, GDP, economies structural changes, degree days, technology energy efficiency improvements as registered at the national level in the EU MSs. Concerning energy prices, considering that the average electricity price increase between 2007 and 2011 has been of 9.72%<sup>5</sup> and given the low elasticity of electricity demand, it seems however quite unlikely that this increase alone may have significantly affected these trends. In any case, a detailed analysis of possible correlations would be surely worthwhile and would deserve more attention. The following paper sections can only try to highlight which are the trends in the diffusion and in the energy performances of existing domestic technologies in order to provide qualitative indications concerning potential correlations between technologies diffusion and energy performance trends and overall electricity consumption in the residential sector. These qualitative indications might represent the starting point for detailed and quantitative correlation analyses that could be undertaken in the future.

# Residential electricity consumption breakdown and existing trends in the different end-uses

A breakdown of total electricity consumption is reported in the graph below (see figure 3 below) for the main electricity end-uses. This graph represents a Joint Research Centre (JRC) electricity consumption breakdown resulting from an on-going survey of statistical data and analysis presented in several studies and reports as of 2006. The estimates are in line with other similar consumption breakdowns such as the REMODECE project consumption breakdown [5]. They are also similar to the results of the analysis available in [4].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Source: Eurostat

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> It is worth mentioning that Finland and Sweden had the highest mean heating degree days in the EU-27 in the period between 1980 and 2004.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Source: Eurostat. Datum referring to households consuming around 3,500 kWh/year.

Figure 3: Residential electricity consumption breakdown in the EU-27, 2009 (source JRC)



The picture above shows that electricity consumption for thermal uses (i.e. for space and water heating) has by far the highest share among the different electricity end-uses in the residential sector. Existing analyses indicated indeed that electricity consumption for thermal uses is above 20% in all EU countries excepting Romania, Slovakia, Lithuania and The Netherlands, whereas it is around or above 50% in Estonia, Sweden, France, Czech Republic and Ireland [4].

The following of this section is dedicated to a brief quick overview concerning the impact of the main household appliances on the overall EU electricity consumption and the recent developments in their energy performances. This will allow to get qualitative indications about possible areas of future policy intervention and the impacts of the current energy policies. Data concerning total electricity consumption in the EU of the existing appliances stocks are mostly taken from the EU Commission preparatory studies for the implementation of eco-design regulations.

#### White appliances

White appliances include refrigerators and freezers (cold appliances), washing machines, dishwashers and dryers.

According to GfK<sup>6</sup> data, the average annual consumption per appliance of these 4 product groups in 23 EU countries<sup>7</sup> was 246 kWh in 2010 and decreased by 7 % compared to the average of 265 KWh in 2005. Data available for Western EU (see figure 4 below) indicate that the average energy consumption of new products in Western EU was cut down by 7-14% depending on the category since 2005. The exception is washing machines due to higher loading capacities, as further discussed in the following.





<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> GfK is an international market research organization providing services in customer research, retail and technology, media (see <u>www.gfk.com</u> for further information).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The 23 EU countries considered for the average were AT, BE, DE, DK, ES, FI, FR, GB, GR, IT, NL, PT, SE, BG, CZ, EE, HU, LT, LV, PL, RO, SI, SK.

#### Cold appliances

Over the last years, the refrigerator stock reached the saturation level with penetration rates of around 100% in almost all EU-27 countries. At the same time, the freezer market registered a significant decreasing tendency, due to the increased use of combined refrigerators/freezers [7].

The energy consumption of the cold appliance stock was estimated to be around 82 TWh/year for refrigerators and 40 TWh/year for freezers in 2005 [6].

In the five years between 2005 and 2010 the market share of cold appliances with NoFrost technology increased from 16% to 25% [1]. Appliances with NoFrost Technology are more practical for the consumer but also have higher energy consumption than cooling appliances without NoFrost technology. The trend shows that the NoFrost technology will continue to grow in the future. At the same time a recent Gfk panel survey of Western Europe shows that energy efficient appliances on the cold appliances market became less expensive over the last 10 years indicating that existing market conditions can actually stimulate energy efficiency improvements in the existing stock<sup>8</sup>. Despite the significant energy efficiency improvements achieved and the still relevant energy saving potential, the total energy consumption due to domestic cold appliances seems however destined to increase due to the increase in the household number and second appliance ownership.

### Washing machines

Also the washing machines market has reached the saturation level with penetration rates of up to 100% in all EU-27 countries.

The Eco-design preparatory studies of the European Commission estimated an energy consumption of the washing machine stock in 2005 around 51 TWh/year, with an average yearly consumption per appliance of 295 kWh in the EU-27 households [7]. The energy consumption of the washing machine stock has increased between 2005 and 2009 mainly because of a continuous increase in the number of washing machines installed [8] and because of an increase in the number of washing cycles and in the load capacity of the new appliances bought [1]. Topten<sup>9</sup> identifies nowadays the ten most energy efficient products on the EU market every year and the most energy efficient washing machine with loading capacity smaller than 8kg<sup>10</sup> results to have an energy consumption of 158 kWh/year and 0.9 kWh/ 60° washing cycle.

### **Tumble driers**

The market of tumble driers instead did not transform as fast as for example the cold appliance market. In 2005, 90% of appliances sold in the EU-25 were in the class C of the existing energy labelling scheme, and the overall consumption of the existing stock was 17 TWh (including both air vented and condenser driers). In 2007, the share of class C appliances dropped to 75% of all driers sold in the EU-20<sup>11</sup> and 16.7% of appliances sold were class B. The share of class A appliances was still very small with 1% [7]. In 2008, the sales share of A-class driers was already significant in some EU Member States, for example in Italy this share was over 10%.

As for washing machines, the average loading capacity of tumble driers has been increasing in the last years. In the year 2000, the average capacity of models available was 4.9 kg. In 2008, eight years later, the average capacity was 6.6 kg. Tumble driers became more efficient during this period: the product weighted performances fell from 0.71 kWh/kg to 0.59 kWh/kg.<sup>12</sup> However, this does not necessary imply that the energy impact of these appliances has or will be reduced in the future. Energy efficiency improvements may indeed have been due to the commercialisation of appliances with higher volumes which typically consume more electricity but have higher performances per weight unit dried. On the other hand, considering that this market is not yet saturated, it may happen that the reduction of energy consumption due to better energy performances of new models can be nullified by an increased product market penetration due to new buyers. Where possible, reducing tumble dryers usage through more use of natural air drying could very effectively reduce the electricity consumption these appliances are responsible for. In general the use of tumble dryers appears to be strongly affected by the cultural differences existing in the various EU MSs, by regulations banning outdoor clothes drying and by structural factors (e.g. linked to the reduced average dwellings' size) impeding that clothes can be dried indoor by natural air.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> In February 2011, the average price of an A+++ appliance (the most energy efficient class) was 1186 EUR, whereas the average price for an A appliance was 459 EUR [10]. www.topten.eu

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The washing machine mentioned has a loading capacity of 7kg. <sup>11</sup> Incl. AT, BE, BG, CZ, DE, DK, ES, FI, FR, GB, GR, HU, IT, NL, PL, PT, RO, SE, SI, SK.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> This decrease might be due to the higher capacity.

### Dishwashers

Also dishwashers have a lower penetration level than other major appliances (e.g. refrigerators and washing machines) in the EU-27. Penetration differs from country to country and is around 50-60% [9]. The most energy efficient product on the market with a place setting of 13 consumes 205 kWh/year and falls into the energy efficiency class  $A^{+++}$  (source: Website Topten International Group 2011)<sup>13</sup>. Between 2001 and 2005 there was only a relatively small efficiency progress in the dishwasher market. The efficiency improvements started to be visible after the year 2005 when the total consumption of the existing stock was estimated to be around 19 TWh in the EU-25.

### **Cooking appliances**

Electricity consumption of cooking appliances is a substantial portion of total residential electricity consumption and there is still a significant energy saving potential for them.

The total electricity consumption for electric cooking was estimated to be around 60TWh (electric hobs and grills together) in 2007 [7]. The JRC estimates the consumption in 2009 to be slightly higher than in 2007.

In 2007, five years after the introduction of the energy label for electric ovens, more than 50% of new sales were made of A class appliances. The impact of the energy labelling is hence already visible on the market [7]. However a European Commission working document on possible energy labelling requirements for domestic electric and gas ovens and electric mains-operated range hoods has been produced in 2013 and proposed new energy efficiency classes (from A+++ to D) for electric and gas ovens.

### Space and water heaters

Space heating equipment is the single largest electricity end-user in the residential sector and caused an electricity consumption of 150 TWh in 2007, this including electrical equipment (electric boilers and radiators) and monitoring and control equipment of other heating equipment fuelled by gas or oil [7]. Electric water heaters accounted instead for 8.7% of total electricity consumption corresponding to 73 TWh consumed in 2009. The energy consumption due to single electric space and water heaters is generally decreasing due to their competition with gas boilers and heat pumps and their consequent energy efficiency improvements. Nevertheless their overall electricity consumption has not changed in the period 2007-2009 probably also because of the increased per capita dwelling size observed in the recent years. Concerning water heaters, it is worth mentioning that the solar thermal heating systems have had an impressive development on the EU-27 market in the last years with much of the market made in one and two family houses. The solar thermal market in the EU-27 had in general a strong performance in 2008, growing by 60% and allowing achieving an overall installed capacity around 18.97 GWth in EU-27 ([7], [11]). Between 2009 and 2011, the EU market experienced an overall decrease in Europe but still remained above its 2007 level [12].

### Residential room air conditioners

The European market for air-conditioning is still relatively young and still growing substantially. Summer periods represent more than 80% of the total yearly market volume for most of the regions [13] and weather conditions during these periods have a strong influence on the related market trends. In 2007 the overall electricity consumption of the EU-27 air-conditioning stock was around 17 TWh for both the residential and the tertiary sector. Low market growth rates were registered during between 2008 and 2009 because of the particular weather conditions. The air-conditioning stock and the overall electricity consumption is hence estimated to have remained almost constant until 2009. The biggest EU markets are Italy, Greece, Spain, and Southern France. More than three quarters of total EU sales for residential use were realised in these countries in 2005 (cooling capacity) [7]. The current energy label still leaves room for important improvements in energy efficiency, especially for split products. This market is indeed characterized by a so-called "impulse buying" caused by warm temperatures and inducing people to buy low price and inefficient models not mounting any inverter technology. Nevertheless, a quite recent GfK market survey shows that the sales of class A residential room air-conditioners increased from 41% to 57% across Europe between 2007 and 2010.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> More information can be found under: http://www.topten.eu/

### Lighting

Lighting represents around 10% of the residential electricity consumption, being the third main consumer after heating and food refrigeration. Electricity consumption of households lighting was estimated to be around 84 TWh in 2007. Since then the consumption decreased substantially compared to other appliances groups resulting in an estimated electricity consumption around 79.8 TWh in 2009. This trend is expected to continue in the coming years.

Compact fluorescent lamps (CFLs) represent one of the most efficient solutions available today for improving energy efficiency in residential lighting. The recent price drop together with several information and promotion campaigns have had a positive impact on sales. The observed price reduction has been triggered mainly by the EU ban on incandescent completed in Sept 2012. An ecodesign preparatory study of the European Commission [14] estimates a growth of CFL sales around 340% between 2003 and 2007. These estimates include however both domestic and non-domestic sales. This increase in CFL penetration was strongly stimulated in many Member States with special national policies and measures like the white certificates schemes implemented in Italy and the energy supplier obligations implemented the United Kingdom.

LEDs are an even more promising emerging technology and fall under the energy efficiency class A of the existing labelling scheme [7]. LED lighting starts to penetrate the market for replacement lamps, and special purpose lighting, although the market price for LEDs was still very high and their market penetration rate was still very low in 2011.

Class C halogen clear lamps (xenon-filled) will remain on the market until 2016. Starting from this year the dominant clear lamps will be the class B low voltage halogen lamps, with integrated or non-integrated transformer, unless new technologies will emerge.

### Information and Communication Technology

Information and communication technologies (ICTs) are among the fastest growing electricity end-use in the residential and tertiary sector. The market is expected to continue growing. The size of the digital technology sector in Europe represents 4.5 % of EU aggregate GDP and even more if value added of digital technologies in other sectors is also accounted for [15]. Televisions (analogue and digital services), set-top boxes, broadband communication equipment, personal computers, computer monitors, imaging equipment, and external power supplies/ battery chargers are among the main product categories that fall under the ICT category or that cause electricity consumption because of the installation of products falling under this category.

The most important trends concerning the market of televisions relates to bigger screen sizes, flat panel displays, digital television broadcasting and high-resolution television (HD).

In 2007, the estimated electricity consumption of televisions in Europe was around 54 TWh. Despite an increase in energy efficiency, the total consumption of TV sets has been raising over the last years. This consumption increased by 2-3% between 2007 and 2009 and reached 56 TWh in 2009.

The increasing of the viewing time per person is accompanying the increase in sales of TVs in the EU. On average, people in the EU watched televisions for 225 minutes per day in 2007. Two years later the average viewing time per person reached 231 minutes [16].

The electricity consumption of TVs in the EU-27 in 2007 is estimated around 60 TWh, 54 TWh of which are generated in on-mode and 6 TWh in stand-by/off-mode. These figures are expected to have remained almost constant in 2009. The increase in the number of models installed per household, the fact that the old TV sets are often kept in the households, and the increase in viewing-time are working against the efficiency improvements.

The energy consumption of TV sets depends heavily on the screen size. The bigger the screen size the bigger the energy consumption. In the years between 2006 and 2010 the average energy consumption per TV set decreased for all screens of a same size. However, there are still large differences in consumption between different TV display types<sup>14</sup>.

Digital TV, in the form of digital cable, satellite, digital terrestrial (DTT), and IPTV (Internet Protocol Television), is fast replacing analogue technologies. The adoption of digital television in Europe should grow strongly over the next years, providing enhanced image quality and advanced features (greater breadth of content and bundled communications). Apart from this enhancement, the switch-off of analogue transmission is a further key driver for the transition to digital TV in the EU [7].

During the on-going transition from analogue to digital broadcasting, TV sets not adapted to receive digital signals will need to be accompanied by simple set-top boxes (SSTBs) having the primary

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Plasma screens for example consume at least 35% more than LCD screens per screen unit area and tend to be larger than LCD screens (see 4E Mapping and Benchmarking report as available at http://mappingandbenchmarking.iea-4e.org/).

function of converting digital input into analogue output signals. Taking into account the fast penetration of digital TV sets on the EU markets, it is expected that in the next years the SSTBs will lose importance in favour of the complex SSTBs including additional features like pay-TV and network connectivity [7].

The annual energy consumption of SSTBs is estimated at 6 TWh in 2010 and 14 TWh in 2014 (without any minimum efficiency standards) [17].

#### Broad Band Communication equipment

Broadband equipment is becoming an important electricity end-user in the residential sector and associated electricity consumption in the standby status is also becoming relevant. It is estimated to consume up to 50 TWh/year by 2015 in the EU-27. Its market penetration increased from 4.9% in 2004 to 25.6% in 2010 and continues to grow. DSL is the main technology in the EU fixed broad band market (77.5%), although its market share in the new connections was decreasing in 2010 compared to the year before. The highest growth took place in the mobile broadband market (dedicated data service cards/modems/keys) which grew by 30% in the period between July 2009 and July 2010.

### Personal computers, computer monitors and imaging equipment

Computers have become ubiquitous and numbers representing their penetration in the household sectors are impressive. In 2010 their penetration has been above 80% in DE, DK, LU, NL, SE, FI, UK, above 70% in AT, BE, FR, IE, MA, SI, SK and below 50% only in RO and BG where it was anyhow over 30%. Practically all houses where a computer is installed have an internet access [18]. In order to grasp the impact of computer technologies and office equipment in general on the EU-27 electricity bill, it may be useful to consider that the electricity consumption due to this equipment has been around 50 TWh in 2010 (source Energy star programme in 2006-2010 and [19]). It has been estimated that without the EU Energy Star programme on voluntary energy labelling for office equipment this consumption will have been 20% higher in 2010 and 30% higher in 2020. Electricity consumption due to computers, displays and imaging equipment is expected to achieve 55 TWh in 2020.

### External power supplies/battery chargers

Electricity consumption to be attributed to external power supplies (EPS) not including the electricity consumption of primary load products, was estimated to be around 17 TWh/year in 2009 [21]. According to [7], EPS for notebooks, set top boxes, mobile phones, DECT (digital enhanced cordless telecommunication) and printers represent respectively 32%, 11%, 23%, 15% and 13% of the above mentioned total electricity consumption. This consumption will be destined to increase in the next years especially due to the increase of ICT equipment installed.

#### Stand-by and off-mode losses

Standby functions and off-mode losses are a common feature of electrical and electronic household and office equipment (consumer electronics, information and communication technology equipment, personal care products, etc.). The users are often not aware of the electricity consumption and costs for stand-by/off-mode (small for a single product) and low power consumption in stand-by/off-mode is not an important purchasing criterion. Taking into consideration that a typical household is in general equipped with dozens of products having stand-by/off-mode, the resulting electricity consumption and the associated costs are significant. The technical solutions reducing energy consumption in stand-by/off-mode are frequently not applied, for example due to possible additional costs for the manufacturer, and also because it is not a market access requirement ([20], [7]).

Available statistics indicate that the total standby electricity consumption of home appliances in EU-27 in 2007 amounted to around 43TWh, representing 5.4% of total residential electricity consumption in this year [7]. According to a more recent study based on measurements in 1300 homes across the EU, the average standby electricity consumption is about 305 kWh per household per year, representing about 11% of the total annual electricity consumption per household [5]. Horizontal standby policy measures like those implemented in the EU represent probably the best approach to counteract the increase of standby and off-mode electricity consumption due to the constant proliferation and evolution of electrical and electronic equipment.

# Summary on electricity consumption trends for the main residential energy end-uses

As showed by the data provided in the previous paper sections, the general trend for residential sector is an increase in its electricity consumption. Although many appliances are becoming more efficient, the number of installed appliances is raising, appliances are used more often or for longer periods of time, and many appliances have more functions or special features that require more energy.

For white appliances the case of washing machines is for example remarkable. Despite a significant increase in the energy efficiency of the models commercialized, the increase in the number of washing cycles and loading capacities seem to have caused an increase of the overall electricity consumption to be attributed to these appliances<sup>15</sup>. Tumble driers and air conditioners are other domestic appliances whose impact on the European electricity bill could rise despite important improvements in their energy performances. In this case this might happen because of an increased market penetration of these products caused by a change in building practices and in practices or regulations concerning how people dry their clothes or create good comfort conditions in their houses. The evolution of the overall impact of space and water heaters on the EU electricity bill is being instead affected by different and counteracting trends. These trends are the increasing energy performances of these appliances, the increasing per capita dwelling size observed at least in the recent years, the possible push for a fuel-switching from gas to electricity caused by the increased penetration of renewable energy sources for electricity, the increased installation of solar thermal water heating systems.

An important contribution to increased EU residential electricity consumption comes finally from the ICT equipment. Televisions (analogue and digital services), set-top boxes, broadband communication equipment, personal computers, computer monitors, imaging equipment, and associated external power supplies/battery chargers and standby consumption represent together at least the second source of electricity consumption in the households and their increasing impact on the household electricity bills appears difficult to be counteracted despite the significant energy efficiency improvements registered.

There are, however, also end-uses whose overall energy impact is decreasing with time at the EU level. This is the case, for instance, of electricity consumption due to residential lighting. The decreased electricity consumption of residential lighting is to a large extent the result of the phasingout of less energy efficient incandescent light bulbs caused by EU regulations. Also the large promotion of CFLs in many EU Member States, even before the incandescent lamp phase out period concluded in 2012, contributed to this success. Overall, EU policy instruments have in general the fundamental merit of having significantly reduced or at least increased awareness concerning the overall impact of practically all household appliances nowadays installed. The next paper section will be dedicated to a short overview of these instruments.

# EU legislation on household appliances and related impacts on electricity consumption

Energy efficiency legislation of household appliances implemented at the EU level focuses on two main approaches: labelling and standard product information and minimum energy performance standards (eco-design). In the last four years two important directives concerning energy efficiency have been published: directive 2010/30/EU on labelling (*directive on the indication by labelling and standard product information of the consumption of energy and other resources by energy-related products*) and directive 2009/125/EC on eco-design (*directive establishing a framework for the setting of ecodesign requirements for energy-related products*). Both directives are new versions of already existing directives (directive 92/75/EEC for labelling and directive 2005/32/EC establishing a framework for the setting of eco-design requirements for energy-using products).

A list of measures implemented or in course of implementation under these two framework directives is provided in Table 1 below.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> It seems unlikely that the observed increase in the energy consumption can be attributed to any kind of direct or indirect rebound effect of the energy efficiency improvements registered in this sector.

Table 1: Measures implemented or in course of implementation under Directive 2009/125/EC on eco-design and Directive 2005/32/EC on energy labelling.

Product group	EcoDesign Measure Implemented
Dishwashers	YES
Washing Machines	YES
Air-conditioning	YES
Space and Combination Heaters	NOT YET
Water Heaters	NOT YET
Computers and Servers	NOT YET
Directional Lighting	NOT YET
Domestic Lighting	YES
External Power Supplies	YES
Laundry driers	YES
Ovens, hobs and grills	NOT YET
Refrigerators and Freezers	YES
Residential ventilation	NOT YET
Simple Set-Top Boxes	YES
Complex Set-Top Boxes	YES (VA*)
Standby and Off Mode	YES
Televisions	YES
Imaging equipment	YES (VA*)

Product group	Energy label implemented
Cold appliances	YES
Washing machines, dryers and their combinations	YES
Dishwashers	YES
Ovens	YES
Heat and water heaters	NOT YET
Lighting sources	YES
Air conditioning	YES

\* VA = Voluntary agreement

The impact of the above measures on the electricity consumption of the products addressed is expected to be extremely relevant as indicated, for example, in the existing estimates concerning the annual energy savings that will be achieved in 2020 thanks to the eco-design requirements so far established (see Table 2 below). Moreover existing analyses of their cost effectiveness for the European Commission and the Member States indicate a potentially very high benefit to cost ratio [2].

 Table 2: Estimated energy savings for eco-design regulations implemented in the residential sector<sup>16</sup>

Adopted implementing measures	Estimated savings (annual savings by 2020) in TWh
Standby and off mode losses of electrical and electronic equipment (household and office)	35
Simple set top boxes	6
Domestic lighting	39
External power supplies	9
Televisions	28
Circulators	23
Domestic refrigeration	4
Domestic dishwashers	2
Domestic washing machines	1.5
Air conditioners and comfort fans	11

Unfortunately the situation of general scarcity of market data does not allow performing precise evaluations on the electricity savings so far achieved because of the implementation of the above listed measures.

However, despite this data scarcity, despite several measures implementing eco-design requirements have been introduced very recently and despite their most stringent requirements (e.g.Tier-2 requirements) have not yet entered into force, evidences of the their positive impacts on residential electricity consumption already start to be available. Independent assessments of the impacts so far achieved by the eco-design regulations ([2], [3]) have indeed confirmed a positive and direct impact on energy efficiency of domestic lighting and an indirect role in the improvement in relation to standby and off modes. In the case of televisions, cold appliances, washing machines and dishwashers, existing evidences do not yet seem to allow to directly link the important market developments in the direction of a higher efficiency to the eco-design regulations addressing these products, although these studies admit that the regulations may have contributed to amplify existing improvement trends. No data are instead yet available to assess the impact of measures on battery charges and simple set-top boxes.

Concerning market impacts, no evidence on possible negative impacts of the regulations on the price of energy related products has been gathered and it is generally recognized that these regulations have not introduced excessive additional costs for the industry (although these costs may clearly represent a higher burden for SMEs than for larger industries). Moreover market operation does not seem to have been affected by adverse effects due to the regulations and a positive impact on technology innovation is widely acknowledged.

On the procedural, side some points of improvement have been identified, especially concerning the length of the procedures for the development of the implementing measures. It has been estimated that the time needed to implement a regulation from the starting of the preparatory studies to its publication is typically 4 years and often it tends to stretch out to 6 years [2]. Such a long implementation time is typically attributed to the scarcity of human resources available in the European Commission and may cause that requirements adopted are less stringent than expected

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>Source:<u>http://ec.europa.eu/enterprise/policies/sustainable-business/ecodesign/product-groups/</u> Some of the measures listed (e.g. external power supplies, standby and off mode losses, air conditioners and comfort fans) do not concern exclusively products installed in the residential sector.

because they are based on market data which may be outdated. For example, it has been pointed out that delays occurred in the development of the eco-design regulations for space and water heaters and for televisions may have caused the missing of an opportunity to realise much more energy savings [2], [3]. Synchronization between the development of implementing measures and the development of harmonised standards needed for the measurement of the energy performance parameters mentioned in the regulations is another important point of attention. Harmonised standards have indeed to be in line with the assumptions adopted in the EU Commission preparatory studies for the estimation of the energy performances of products and in the regulations for the definition of the parameters and the formulas whereby energy performance requirements and threshold values for possible energy efficiency indexes are established. If this is not the case, it may happen that the effects of the regulations result very different form the expected ones. It is for this reason that final harmonised standards should be developed only once at least a draft of the regulation requiring their application has been produced by the European Commission based on a as wide as possible consensus among all concerned stakeholders on the assumptions and the parameters considered in the regulation. On the other hand, measurement and testing methods adopted in the harmonised standards should not differ significantly (in terms of resulting energy consumption of products) from those assumed in the preparatory studies. Otherwise the consequent revision of these studies and of the analyses leading to the formulas and the requirements included in the regulations might cause a delay in their implementation.

Market surveillance and regulation enforcement at the national level represent a further important point of attention, as it is widely believed that sufficient resources for effective monitoring and enforcement are not allocated at this level.

A final point of attention relates to the co-ordination of existing EU sustainable product policies (i.e. EU policies concerning energy labelling, eco-label, green public procurement and eco-design). Although eco-design regulations are effectively linked with the EU labelling scheme, the EU Commission is working at possibly improving their co-ordination with the green public procurement (GPP) and the EU eco-label schemes in order to better integrate and streamline the implementation process of these policies.

# Conclusions

The residential sector is the second consumer of electricity coming after the industry sector in the EU 27. Its electricity consumption grew by about 40% between 1990 and 2010 achieving 843 TWh (i.e. 30% of the total EU electricity consumption) in 2010. This consumption increased almost constantly during these two decades.

Space and water heating systems consume all together 28% of the final electricity used by EU households. They are the first electricity consumer in the EU and are followed by information and communication technologies in the electricity consumption ranking of domestic appliances. Important improvements in the energy efficiency of all domestic appliances sold on the EU market have been achieved and are responsible for the lower annual average electricity consumption grow rates being registered. The merit for this goes to policy induced and spontaneous technological improvements that have taken place in the domestic sector.

As far as EU policies fostering energy efficiency improvements are concerned, energy efficiency policy measures have been implemented at the EU level for practically all appliances used by households. Eco-design regulations for these products are expected in particular to allow achieving further and significant amounts of energy savings by 2020. Available data are however generally not sufficient to evaluate the overall impact on electricity consumption they have had until today. This difficulty is also partly due to the fact that several eco-design regulations have been implemented very recently and that their most stringent requirements have not yet entered into force. Nevertheless some evidences start to be available concerning a positive and direct impact had on energy efficiency of domestic lighting and an indirect role in the improvement in relation to standby and off modes.

Undoubtedly, it cannot be denied that improvements must be achieved in the field of data collection and data analysis in order to allow a proper monitoring and a better design and enforcement of the energy efficiency policies implemented. These improvements relate mainly to the following three areas:

a) standardization of test methods used to measure the energy consumption and other relevant energy related characteristics of the domestic appliance commercialized on the EU market;

b) availability of data and information concerning models put on the EU market for an independent evaluation of their energy performance and other relevant associated characteristics (e.g. models' sale price);

c) reliability of the reference consumption baselines used for the calculation of the energy performances of the products commercialized.

The proper realization of the activities to be accomplished under each of these areas require a strong and collective engagement of manufacturers who receive the highest benefit from their efforts to improve the energy performances of their products when independent (regulatory) bodies co-ordinate and support the standardization processes needed, provide suitable platforms for data collection while guaranteeing transparency and respecting possible data confidentiality issues, perform the analyses for the calculation of the expected energy efficiency improvements expected or achieved in the market. Although a huge amount of work has been and is still being carried out by all the actors involved, the amount and the quality of data available and the resources employed in the above areas do not always allow to exploit an important part of the economic and energy saving potentials associated to energy efficiency. Recent actions undertaken by the European Commission to achieve improvements under these areas are described in its communication COM(2012) 765 and include an increase in the level of involvement of other EU bodies (e.g. the Joint Research Centre), external experts and NGOs in the the standardization work concerning the measurement of products' energy consumption as well as the creation of a database on the energy efficiency and on other environmental aspects of products placed on the EU market. Another useful action not mentioned in the communication that could facilitate data collection and market surveillance activities would be the requirement for on-line registration of all new models put on the EU market by manufacturers.

Concerning the energy efficiency policy implementation process and the nature of the measures put in place at the EU level, the following three remarks can be formulated:

a) one area of improvement concerns the usually too long duration of the time period passing from the starting of the preparatory studies needed for the definition of the implementing measures to the actual implementation of these measures. There is also a need for a better synchronization between the processes leading to the definition of the implementing measures and the definition of the harmonized standards necessary for product performance measurement. Moreover an improved co-ordination and a more streamlined and integrated approach in the implementation of existing EU sustainable product policies (i.e. EU policies concerning energy labelling, eco-label, green public procurement and eco-design) has to be achieved. It is however worth mentioning that in 2012 the EU Commission started a pilot project carried out by the main directorates involved in the implementation of the sustainable product policies (DG ENER, DG ENTR, DG ENV) and by the Joint Research Centre in order to address these issues.

b) Market surveillance activities and EU regulation enforcement at the national level is another important area of improvement. In this case the contribution of the EU MSs is fundamental in order to ensure that market surveillance is properly realized, whereas the rules to be applied have to be defined at the EU level. In order to provide support on market surveillance, the EU Commission has launched an annual market surveillance data collection exercise and promoted a joint action on market surveillance among national authorities under the Intelligent Energy Europe (IEE) Work Programme 2013 to enhance the enforcement of the Ecodesign and Energy labelling legislation.

c) The trends observed in the evolution of electricity consumption of domestic appliances indicate that the improvement registered in the energy efficiency of products is not always accompanied by a reduction of the total electricity consumption these products generate in the households. As already mentioned in this paper, this may happen because of additional services attached to products (e.g. larger sizes, additional functionalities), more intensive usage, multiplication of same product types in the households (e.g. televisions, refrigerators), etc. This issue represents probably the main challenge of current policies and according to some experts it puts under question the actual effectiveness of energy efficiency policies as a whole. Finding solutions to face it is of paramount importance especially when it is taken into account that the shift towards renewable energies that is taking place in the EU seems to be destined to determine a fuel-switch towards electricity for many domestic and not domestic energy end-uses and that this switch will very likely make the problem of limiting total households electricity consumption even more important. Solutions so far proposed to address the problem basically propose to design policies promoting energy efficiency and simultaneously limiting total consumption growth. According to some experts this could be achieved by combining energy efficiency policies with policies aiming at increasing energy prices. According to others energy efficiency policies should instead be accompanied by measures limiting energy consumption growth directly (e.g. by establishing volume limits for refrigerators commercialized, by increasing the price of bits/sec. transmitted by communication technologies, etc.). Both approaches, however, can become questionable for different reasons. Whereas the former approach may raise social equity issues

connected to any energy price increase, the latter is often perceived as a limitation of individual freedom. A shift of paradigm is probably requested in this case and requires that mechanisms whereby human needs and wants related to energy end-use technologies are socially constructed are better understood and possibly modified through policy action. Unfortunately sociological studies do not have so far gained the attention they deserve in the energy policy field.

## References

- [1] Bertoldi, P., Hirl, B., Labanca, N., 2012. Energy Efficiency Status Report 2012. Electricity Consumption and Efficiency Trends in the EU-27. ISSN 1018-5593.
- [2] CSES, 2011. Evaluation of the Ecodesign Directive (2009/125/EC). Draft Final report available at <u>www.cses.co.uk</u>
- [3] Ecofys, 2012. Economic benefits of the EU Ecodesign Directive. Report available at http://www.ecofys.com/en/publication/economic-benefits-of-the-eu-ecodesign-directive/
- [4] Enerdata, 2012. Energy Efficiency Trends in Buildings in the EU. Lessons from the Odyssee Mure project. Report available at <u>http://www.odyssee-indicators.org/publications/PDF/Buildingsbrochure-2012.pdf</u>
- [5] Grinden, B., Feilberg, N., 2008. Analysis of Monitoring Campaign in Europe. Report produced in the framework of the Remodece project and available at <u>http://remodece.isr.uc.pt/</u>
- [6] Presutto, M., Scialdoni, R., Lombardi, F., Mebane, W., Esposito, R., Faberi, S., 2008. Preparatory Studies for Eco-design Requirements of EuPs, LOT13: Domestic Refrigerators& Freezers. Final Report, Draft Version, Lead Contractor: ISIS, March 2008
- [7] Bertoldi, P., Atanasiu, B., 2009. Electricity Consumption and Efficiency Trends in European Union Status Report 2009. European Commission DG Joint Research Centre, 2009
- [8] European Commission, 2010. Working Document, Impact assessment, Accompanying document to the Draft Commission Regulation implementing Directive 2009/125/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council with regard to ecodesign requirements for household washing machines.
- [9] Presutto, M., Scialdoni, R., Cutaia, L., Mebane, W., Esposito, R., Faberi, S., 2007. Preparatory Studies for Eco-design Requirements of EuPs, LOT14: Domestic Washing Machines and Dishwashers. Final Report, Lead Contractor: ISIS, December 2007
- [10] Eckl, A., 2011.At the doorstep of the new EU Label How much further can White Goods cut down on the energy bills?, GfK, Proceedings of the 6<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Energy Efficiency in Domestic Appliances and Lighting (EEDAL'11), 24-26 May 2011, Copenhagen, Denmark.
- [11] European Solar Thermal Industry Association, 2009. Solar Thermal Markets in Europe. Trends and Market Statistics 2008. May 2009.
- [12] European Solar Thermal Industry Federation, 2010. Solar Thermal Markets in Europe, Trends and Market Statistics 2010. June 2010.
- [13] Riviere, P., Adnot, J., Andre, P., Alexandre, J., L., Benke, G., Conroy, A., 2008. Preparatory Studies for Eco-design Requirements of EuPs, LOT10: Residential Room Conditioning Appliances, Final Report, Lead Contractor: ARMINES, July 2008.
- [14] Tichelsen, V.,P., Vercalsteren, A., Mudgal, S., Tinetti, B., Turunen, L., Kofod, C., Vanhooydonck, L., Deswert, J., M., 2007. Preparatory Studies for Eco-design Requirements of EuPs, Final Report, Lot9: Public Street Lighting, January 2007

- [15] DIGITALEUROPE, 2009. European Competitiveness Report; European Information Techology Observatory 2006, March 5, 2009.
- [16] Heyder, T., 2011. Market Trends on the TV Market and their Impact on Energy Consumption, GfK, Proceedings of the 6<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Energy Efficiency in Comestic Appliances and Lighting (EEDAL'11), 24-26 May 2011, Copenhagen, Denmark.
- [17] European Commission, COMMISSION STAFF WORKING DOCUMENT Accompanying document to the "Commission Regulation implementing Directive 2005/32/EC with regard to ecodesign requirements for simple set-top boxes", IMPACT ASSESSMENT {C(2009) 582 final} {SEC(2009) 113}", February 2009.
- [18] International Telecommunication Union, 2011. Measuring the Information Society 2011, ISBN: 92-61-13801-2.
- [19] European Commission, COMMUNICATION FROM THE COMMISSION on the implementation of the ENERGY STAR programme in the European Union in the period 2006 – 2010, June 2011.
- [20] Fraunhofer Institute for Reliability and Microintegration, IZM and Oeko-Institut, 2007. EuP Preparatory Studies Lot 5: Televisions", Final Report on Task 2: "Economic and Market Analysis, August 2007.
- [21] Commission Regulation (EC) No 278/2009 of 6 April 2009 implementing Directive 2005/32/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council with regard to ecodesign requirements for no-load condition electric power consumption and average active efficiency of external power supplies.

# Trends in Residential Electricity Use and Other Lesson from Data Analysis

# Virve Rouhiainen

# Adato Energia Oy

# Abstract

The paper analyses the trends in residential electricity use in Finland on basis of three cross section studies (1993, 2006 and 2011). In 2011 appliances stood for 41 % of the electricity consumption of household, sauna stoves and HVAC appliances for 9 %. The rest is electric space and domestic hot water heating. Between 2006 and 2011 electricity consumption in households increased by more than two terawatt hours (TWh) and is now close to 20 TWh. The increase is due entirely to the increase in electricity consumption associated with the heating of homes. A number of factors contribute to this development. The most important are increased number of heat pumps, increased secondary electric heat and increased mechanical ventilation and heat recovery. Adoption of energy efficient technologies in heating increases the use of electricity because the heating energy saved is other than electricity.

The electricity consumption of household appliances in 2011 was on the same level as in 2006, because the reduction in consumption in lighting and TV appliances offset the increased electricity consumption of computers, dishwashers and car heating. In appliances the most important trends are: electricity consumption of televisions is decreasing (reduced standby dominates), electricity consumption of computers (including internet connection) is increasing (volume effect dominates), lighting consumption is decreasing.

Number of smaller lessons can be drawn from the data analysis. These include a need to improve customer information on heating and ventilation especially in the segment flats, need to investigate further the actual performance of heat pumps in the field and effect of technology and price incentives on water usage patterns. Further prebound effect may be present in Finland.

### Introduction

The Finnish Household Electricity Use Studies comprise three studies on the years 1993 [1], 2006 [2] and 2011 [3]. This paper describes the trends in residential electricity use in Finland on basis of these studies.

The paper is structured as follows. First, the studies and the used methodology and data are outlined briefly. Then the results are presented and discussed.

The results are: the country (area) level decomposition of electricity consumption to end-use categories, construction of example households used in customer communication and the distribution of consumption for the 40 reference groups for the user reports the Finnish electric utilities are required to send their customers. The two first ones are described in the paper in detail. The third result was introduced in 2010 and it is illustrated by appending the model report for time of use tariff. The comparison tables of this report show how electricity use varies between customer groups and are based on 2006 data.

One should note that the paper is highly descriptive in nature. The statistical methodology is only outlined, not discussed in detail in theoretical context. The need for these results is taken for granted and so the usefulness of this kind of description is not discussed. The focus of the paper is presenting the results.

## Methodology

Figure 1 describes the types of data used to derive models and the three types of results of the study. The ellipses describe data. The studies use three or four types of data: purpose tailored survey combined with total measured electricity consumptions, measurements in the survey sample

(optional), population data from Statistics Finland and data collected from other sources like laboratory measurements for energy labels.

The 2011 study used survey data on app. 4500 households. For 2006 the sample size was over 3000 observations and for 1993 over 2000. In the first two studies measurements were carried out in approximately 100 households. Number of measured appliances was app. 700 in 1993 and 950 in 2006

The first line of boxes describes analysis needed for generalization and model building and the second line of boxes describes model testing. The third line shows how these steps in the analysis are combined to derive results. Next these steps will be described briefly. A reader unfamiliar with statistical modeling and testing may wish to skip the formulas in the next three paragraphs. More detailed description of this part can be found in EEDAL09 proceedings [4].

The first stage of building the appliance models for survey data is to calculate unit consumption for all the major appliances in all of the surveyed households. As the 2011 study only used survey data, the model specified with the help of auxiliary data, was statistically tested and modified till the test indicated that the model was correctly specified.<sup>1</sup>

The test used was a variation of a standard test for testing restrictions set for parameters in linear regression models. In modeling the total electricity consumption  $y_i$  of each household i in the survey was decomposed on basis of the questionnaire data to end-uses EU<sub>j</sub> and an error term  $\varepsilon_i$ , shown as formula (1).

(1) 
$$y_i = \sum_{j=1}^k EU_j + \varepsilon_i$$

This is then written in form of a linear regression by adding the regression coefficients  $\beta_j$  for all the end uses i.e.

(2) 
$$y_i = \beta_j \sum_{j=1}^k EU_j + \varepsilon_i$$

If the model is correctly specified,  $\beta_j = 1$  for all j. To test the hypothesis of correct specification one estimates both the restricted and unrestricted model. The test statistic F constructed from the error sum of squares is

(3) 
$$F = \frac{(SSE_r - SSE_f)/(p-q)}{SSE_f/(n-p)} \approx F((p-q), (n-p))$$

The formulation above applies for homoscedastic error term, when in practice the error term is heteroscedastic. To allow for heteroscedastic errors one can use weighted least squares and replace SSE with weighted residuals to get an appropriate F-test. Another alternative is to use likelihood ratio tests, which also allow for testing non-linear restrictions. This is needed when testing heating models where additive structure of end-uses is no longer sufficient.

The analysis of representativeness and determination of weights is an extremely important part of the analysis. Of the random sample drawn, only 34 % responded, so the results are subject to non-response bias. The analysis revealed a picture similar to that of earlier studies: larger households, households in single family houses and houses with electric heat were clearly overrepresented. The weights were determined on basis of the analysis auxiliary population data and the model results were then weighted on population level via post stratification.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In technical terms this means that H<sub>0</sub> hypothesis of correct model specification would not be rejected at 5 % confidence level.

Figures 2 and 3 illustrate<sup>2</sup> the effect of weighing with 2006 data. The data is divided into five strata which are weighted so that size of each stratum corresponds to its share of the dwellings in Finland<sup>3</sup>.



# Overview of the Data Collection and Analysis

### Figure 1. Overview of the Data Collection and Analysis

It is easy to see that the weighing changes the form of the histogram (or empirical distribution) considerably. The spike at 2000 kWh's is much clearer and the right tail considerably flatter in the weighted distribution than in the non-weighted distribution. Without weighting the estimate derived from the data for the total consumption of residential electricity in these segments is 25 % higher than actual known number. The propensity to answer is higher the higher the electricity consumption of the household. This makes the sample biased. Weighting is used to correct this bias.

The definition of strata depends on the available population data and expected differences between the strata. The five segments in figures 2 and 3 are clearly different. First explanatory factor is whether the home is electrically heated or not. In Finland approximately two thirds of residential energy consumption is space heating [4], so this component, when electricity, is large. However, practically no apartment block in Finland is electrically heated. The dominant heating form is central heating with district heat. In addition, in apartment blocks the electricity used by the heating system, car heating, common saunas and hallway and garden lighting is billed from the housing company and paid by the households as a part of a maintenance fee. Similar arrangement is typical in three out of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The word illustrate is used because the number of strata in the actual weighting was 35, not 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This data is based on population and building register and the data on number of occupied and unoccupied dwellings and number of occupants is highly accurate. There's more uncertainty with main heating energy source, because change of heating energy source is not always registered. Statistics Finland is now working to improve this information,

four row houses. Approximately 25 % of the dwellings in row houses use direct electric heat and residents pay for their heating in their electricity bill. In contrast, a resident of single family house is billed for all residential energy by the energy company<sup>4</sup>.

This means that electricity companies bill residential energy including electricity from housing companies. In electricity this component amounts to approximately to 2 TWh at country level [4]. This electricity is not covered by this study, though it is included in the official residential energy statistics of Finland. Same applies to holiday residences, second homes and vacant dwellings. Finland has app. 280 000 dwellings without permanent residents. That is 10 % of the dwelling stock. These include both second homes and vacant dwellings. In addition, Finland has app. 500 000 holiday homes.

The sampling frame in 2011 covered these, but only 2 % of answers belonged to these strata. This data set was not large enough for any meaningful generalization, so the results presented here describe electricity use of permanently occupied dwellings excluding electricity paid by the housing companies.

## Results

### **Results at Country Level**

Table 1 shows how the total electricity consumption of permanently inhabited dwellings falls into three broad categories in 1993, 2006 and 2011. The first category is appliances and lighting, the second category is sauna stoves and heating and ventilation equipment and the third category is electric space heating and domestic hot water. These categories are further broken down in tables 2, 3 and 4 and the percentages calculated from the grand total.

# Table 1. Electricity consumption of permanently inhabited dwellings in Finland 1993, 2006 and2011.

End use category	1993		2006	%	2011	%
	GWh	%	GWh		GWh	
Appliances and lighting	6379	44 %	8201	46 %	7935	41 %
Sauna stoves and heating and ventilation equipment	1089	8 %	1473	8 %	1809	9 %
Electric space heating and domestic hot water	6894	48 %	7996	45 %	9493	49 %
Total	14362	100 %	17670	100 %	19237	100 %

Table 2 presents the electricity consumption of appliances and lighting in Finland by appliance category in 1993, 2006 and 2011. The classification of the earlier studies has been changed to correspond to the concepts used in the official statistics. The first thing to note is that the total of consumption by appliances and lighting decreased from 2006 to 2011 in absolute terms. The largest reduction is estimated in lighting by app. 900 GWh and the second largest in televisions by app. 270 GWh. Categories cooking, cold appliances and washing and drying laundry also show slightly reduced consumption. The computers show the largest increase in electricity consumption by app. 440 GWh. The second largest increase is found in car heating by app. 350 GWh and the third largest increase in dish washing by app.100 GWh.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This is a simplification. A number of Finnish households use wood that they obtain from their own forests or receive from relatives. They, however, are aware of the fact.



Figure 2. Histogram of the total electricity use by strata using the non-weighted data of the 2006 study.



Figure 3. The histogram of the total electricity use by strata using the non-weighted data of the 2006 study.

Both in lighting and television the reduction results from increased energy efficiency. The number of TV's is no longer growing. During the years 2007-2010 over 1.7 million LCD televisions were sold [6], so that 70 % of the total television stock was renewed, the new appliances having stand by below 1 W and an inbuilt digital receiver. This resulted in large decrease energy consumption. The energy efficiency of computers also increased during 2007-2010. Today 63 % of computers are laptops compared to 40 % in 2006. In measurement studies the average laptop consumes 80-90 % less than an average desk top [2,7,8,9]. However, the number of computers and broad band connections are increasing at a very rapid pace. In 2006 40 % of Finnish households did not have a computer or a broadband connection, In 2011 this share was 15 % [10]. In 2006 a laptop was used on average 2 hours per week. In 2011 the average was 4. In 2006 the average desk tops usage was 4 hours a week, in 2011 the usage increased to 4,5 hours. Between 2006 and 2011 total share of computer increased from 123 % to 153 %, which means that second and third computer became increasingly common. This resulted in an overall increase in electricity consumption.

Table 3 shows the electricity consumption of heating and ventilation equipment and electric sauna stoves. Both categories show increase in absolute consumption as well as their share of the total consumption. The electricity consumption doubled from 1993 to 2011, yet it is worth noting that heating and ventilation represent just 8% of the overall dwellings consumption. Much from the increase is attributable to heating and ventilation equipment which are increasing in numbers and to an extent in intensity of use. Existing building regulations require use of mechanical ventilation with heat recovery.

	1993		20	06	2011		
Appliance category	GWh	%	GWh	%	GWh	%	
Cooking	796	6 %	653	4 %	632	3 %	
Cold appliances	2 215	15 %	1 461	8 %	1410	7 %	
Dish washing	125	1 %	261	1 %	367	2 %	
Washing and drying laundry	316	2 %	391	2 %	373	2 %	
Television and related appliances	537	4 %	834	5 %	564	3 %	
PC's and related appliances	(-)		407	2 %	848	4 %	
Car heating	226	2 %	218	1 %	571	3 %	
Lighting	1 541	11 %	2 516	14 %	1520	8 %	
Other equipment	623	8 %	1468	8 %	1649	9 %	
Total	6379	44 %	8201	46 %	7935	41 %	

### Table 2. Electricity consumption of appliances and lighting in Finland in 1993, 2006 and 2011

# Table 3. Electricity consumption of HVAC equipment and sauna stoves in Finland in 1993, 2006 and 2011

Category	199 GWb	93	20 GWb	06	2011 GWb %		
	Gwn	70	Gwn	70	Gwn	70	
equipment	483	4 %	621	5 %	948	5 %	
Electric sauna stoves	606	3 %	852	4%	861	4 %	
Total	1089	8 %	1473	8 %	1809	9 %	

	200	06	201	11
Electric heating category	GWh	%	GWh	%
Domestic Hot water				
Room heating	1242	7 %	1307	7 %
Central heating	250	1 %	520	3 %
Secondary electric heating of living space				
Floor heating (electric cable)	206	1 %	464	2 %
Heat pumps	50	0 %	142	1 %
Other	60	0 %	122	1 %
Hydronic central heating – heat pumps				
Ground heat pumps	125	1 %	287	1 %
Other heat pumps	60	0 %	79	0 %
Secondary electric heating living space	20	0 %	29	0 %
Traditional electric heat				
Room heating (dry)	4823	27 %	4562	24 %
Central heating	550	3 %	681	4 %
Secondary electric heating living space	400	2 %	485	3 %
Heating of annexes	209	1 %	303	2 %
Air conditioning	0	0 %	46	0 %
Total	7996	45 %	9493	49 %

Table 4. Electricity consumption of electric heating in Finland in 2006 and 2011

Electric heating in table 4 is divided into three categories. These are non-electrically heated homes, hydronic heat pump systems, and traditional electric heating. In addition, electric heating of ancillary buildings and outdoors, air-conditioning and hot domestic water each form a category.

Electricity is used in non-electrically heated homes to provide alternative or additional heating. Nonelectrically heated homes include all centrally heated dwellings in apartment blocks and row houses irrespective of heat sources and single family dwellings with central heating using district heating, oil or wood or pellet as a heat source. Additional heating is sometimes called comfort heating as the most common form is floor heating in bathroom.

Secondary electric heating of living space is divided into three groups: floor heating (electric cable), heat pumps and other additional electric heating. The increase in floor heating is of the same magnitude as the decrease in the consumption of televisions and it can be seen in all dwelling types. Heat pumps in this category are usually air-to-air heat pumps mostly found in single family houses with central oil fired heating. 22 % of these houses have an air-to-air heat pump used for heating. Other additional electric heating includes electric radiators and similar items. They are seldom used in centrally heated dwellings unless part of dwelling is without central heating.

Hydronic central heating with heat pumps includes ground source heat pumps, the air-to-water heat pumps and part of the exhaust air heat pumps. As the figures show a ground source heat pumps dominate this group. Geothermal energy is used for space heating in nearly 6% of the Finnish single family houses [11] and this share is increasing rapidly. The group secondary electric heating covers floor heating with electronic cable, air source heat pumps and separate electric radiators.

The traditional electric heating is divided into two categories dry systems and water based systems. In both groups heat pumps are becoming increasingly common. In 2011 approximately 40 % of the electrically heated single family houses also used heat pump. But that is not the only additional heat source, namely 75 % of these households use wood in heating as well. Figure 4 shows how this is reflected in electricity use.



Figure 4. Total electricity use per square meter by heating energy source combination and time of construction, single family houses with dry heating system.

#### **Reference households**

The reference households are used as a communication tool, the most important target group being household customers. Most customers are interested in their electricity bill, thus the reference households are defined so, that they cover the variation in electricity use and analysis is limited to the electric energy paid directly by the consumer. Figure 7 shows the total consumption and its development in time for each reference household defined in the three studies. Note that the number of reference households has been increasing. The 2011 study included electric heating so two new reference households were defined. In 2006 study, four new households were defined and one definition from 1993 was revised.

The upper level definition is based on dwelling type (flat, row house, single family house) and number of inhabitants. The equipment stock and level use is determined from the data using set principles:

- 1. If 50 % or more of the household type in questions owns an appliance then it belongs to the equipment stock of the typically equipped reference household.
- 2. If app. 10 % of the household type in questions owns an appliance then it belongs to the equipment stock of the highly equipped reference household.
- 3. In both groups the amount of use of the appliances corresponds to median. The reason for this is for skew distributions that median is better suited for comparison as 50 % of the observations are below and 50 % of them are above median.

Basing the definition of the reference household on data defined statistics also facilitates comparison over time. Though this typically is not necessary in customer communication, it helps explaining the development of the aggregate figures.

Figure 1 shows the numbers for a single in flat and figure 2 for a family of four in a detached house. In these examples district heat is used as heating energy, though for different reasons. In flats this reflects reality -90 % of Finnish flats use district heating. In 2011 only 7 % of the detached houses

used district heat, in central heating the most common energy source was fuel oil. The analysis of data, however, revealed that what was typical for fuel oil was atypical for district heat. Namely, the combined share of electric floor heating and air-to-air heat pump in house using fuel oil as main heating energy was over 50 % and thus secondary electric heating would be part of a typical appliance stock in these houses. Though adding up 30 % of the typical consumption of the floor heating and 20 % of the typical consumption of air-to-air heat pump would result in a plausible figure for floor heating, the adoption of verbal description of the situation was preferred to incorporating this kind of calculation into the example.

This development has more general bearing. As time passes by the appliances that once belonged to the highly equipped house become part of a typically equipped house. Secondary electric space heating is now about to become part of the typical equipment stock in single family houses and similar phenomenon is emerging in flats. Mechanical ventilation was included as part of a typical equipment stock in detached houses in 2006 and now in 2011 it is emerging as part of the high equipment stock in flats. A dishwasher and a computer which in 2006 were part of the appliance stock of a highly equipped flat became part of the typical equipment stock of a flat in 2011, hence the increases in home electronics and cooking and dishwashing. The increased energy efficiency of home electronics show as a reduction in consumption only in highly equipped households, most notably in flats were the volume effect is negligible. The total electricity consumption is increasing in all of these four reference households. Only one of the eight reference household defined in 2006 and 2011 show a slightly decreasing trend namely a family of three in flat. See figure 7 for details.

This analysis suggests that the heating related electricity end uses will continue to increase in importance. Mechanical ventilation and heat pumps in principle enhance energy efficiency though they increase electricity consumption when the heating energy used is not electricity.

# Lesson from data analysis

The reliability of survey data is often questioned and it is true that the formulation of the questionnaire affects the answers. People cannot answer to questions they do not understand nor if they do not know the answer. Badly designed questions are not a fault in the method, but a fault in the execution. People not knowing the answer on the other hand indicate issues that might need addressing in communication. Further, analysis of data and model testing may reveal unexpected patterns and these in turn indicate issues for further investigation. The following are examples of the issues that emerged in the analysis of 2011 data:

- 32 % of households living in block of flats did not know the heating energy of the apartment block, in row houses this percentage was 8 % and in single family houses 0 %. In population terms, 15% of households did not know the energy source of the two largest residential energy end use components. Targeted communication is obviously needed.
- People in flats also lack knowledge on the ventilation system of the apartment block and the share of apartment specific mechanical ventilation was not as high as expected in the flats built after 2000. The likely reason for this is that the occupant is unaware of the systems existence. The other alternative, severe breach of existing building regulations, is much less likely. This also has communication implications.
- The variance of total electricity use per square feet of living area in houses heated with electricity was lower than that of houses heated with ground source heat pumps. (The data was controlled for the year of construction.) This indicates that similar performance problems to those found in Energy Saving Trust's heat pump field trial [11] may be present in Finland.
- The testing of the model revealed that domestic water consumption is lower in houses risking running out of hot water. This is the case when hot water is produce night time taking advantage of the time of use tariff, a practise very common in Finland. Similar results to this can be found in measurement studies from the 1980's in Finland.
- The construction year did not affect the energy consumption as much as expected and the observed trends were in line with those of Norway and Sweden. This indicates that the prebound effect introduced by Sunikka-Blank and Galvin could also be present in Finland [13].



Figure 5. Reference household, one person in a flat.



Figure 6. Reference household, a family of four in a detached house



Figure 7. Summary of the total annual electricity use in reference households in 1993, 2006 and 2011.

# Conclusions

Electricity consumption in households has increased by more than two terawatt hours (TWh) from 2006 to 2011 and is now close to 20 TWh. The increase is due entirely to the increase in electricity consumption associated with the heating of homes. A number of factors contribute to this development. The most important are increased number of heat pumps, increased secondary electric heat and increased mechanical ventilation and heat recovery.

The electricity consumption of household appliances is on the same level as before, because the reduction in consumption in lighting and TV appliances offset the increased electricity consumption of computers, dishwashers and car heating.

The reduction in consumption is attributable to the regulations issued under the EU Directive on Ecodesign. Electricity consumption for lighting is approximately halved. Lighting accounts for only 8 percent of electricity consumption in the residential sector, while the share in 2006 was 14 percent.

The electricity consumption of TVs fell 32 percent over five years and represent now just 3 percent of electricity consumption in households. Their number hardly increased and much of the equipment was replaced with new ones during 2007-2010. In most of the new TV sets it is the consumption in standby and off mode under 1 W, which explains this share reduction in electricity consumed.

The electricity consumption of IT devices increased rapidly, doubling in the past five years as the equipment became more common. The increased efficiency brought by the switch of desk tops to lap tops was not large enough to compensate for the increased volume. he number of computers has increased dramatically and fewer households cope without a computer and broadband connection. The proportion of such households was only 15 percent in 2011, while their share even in 2006 was as high as 40 percent.

Number of smaller lessons can be drawn from the data analysis. These include a need to improve customer information on heating and ventilation especially in the segment flats, need to investigate further the actual performance of heat pumps in the field and effect of technology and price incentives on water usage patterns.

### References

- [1] Suomen Sähkölaitosyhdistys ry. 1995. Kotitalouksien sähkökäyttötutkimus 1993. 79 s. Helsinki
- [2] Adato Energia & TTS. 2008. Kotitalouksien sähkönkäyttö 2006.
- [3] Adato Energia. 2013. Kotitalouksien sähkönkäyttö 2011.
- [4] Rouhiainen, Virve. 2009. "Decomposing Electricity Use of Finnish Households to Appliance Categories" EEDAL'09. Berlin.
- [5] Official Statistics of Finland. 2012. Energy Statistics. Yearbook 2011.
- [6] KOTEK, ETK ja GfK. Kodintekniikkaindeksit 2006, 2007, 2008, 2009 ja 2010.[webb publication]. http://www.kotek.fi/tilastot/
- [7] Intelligent Energy Europe. Residential Monitoring to Decrease Energy Use and Carbon Emissions in Europe. (REMODECE) Final report. Nov 2009.
- [8] Zimmerman Jean Paul. End-Use Metering Campaing in 400 Households in Sweden. Assessing the Potential Energy Savings. Final report, September 2009. Swedish Energy Agency
- [9] Zimmerman Jean Paul & alia. Household Electricity Survey. A study of domestic electrical product usage. Intertek report R66141. May 2012.
- [10] Official Statistics of Finland. 2012. Väestön tieto- ja viestintätekniikan käyttö [verkkojulkaisu]. ISSN=1799-3504. 2011. Helsinki: Statistics Finland [referenced: 2.11.2012]. Obtained: http://www.stat.fi/til/sutivi/2011/sutivi\_2011\_2011-11-02\_tie\_001\_fi.html
- [11] Interview with Kari Grönfors of Statistics Finland, Jan 29<sup>th</sup>, 2013.
- [12] Energy Saving Trust. 2012. Detailed analysis from the first phase of the Energy Saving Trust's heat pump field trial.
- [13] Sunikka-Blank, Minna & Galvin, Ray 2012. Introducing the prebound effect: the gap between performance and actual energy consumption. Building Research& Information. Volume 40, Issue 3.
- [14] Statistics Finland. 2011. Asumisen energian kulutus –loppuraportti, 24 s.
- [15] Statistics Finland. 2012.a Asunto-olot 2006, 1993 ja 2011. Tilastotietokannat. [webb documenti] 2012.

APPENDIX 1: A Model of the Year Report of the Household customers, time of use tariff



YEAR REPORT 10 June 2009

Customer

Eric Electrician

Address of the metering point

Metering point ID

Substation Road 2 86000 Town 12345689

# Basic model (two-rate product)



### Tips

You may get an unpleasant surprise if your home electronics are kept switched on at all times. For example, a PC that is always on may consume as much as 1,000 kWh of electricity a year. This equals the annual consumption of an electric sauna stove in a detached house.

# Further information The following websites provide further information about efficient use of energy:

www.vinkkilista.fi www.energianeuvoja.fi

Please turn over 🕩

# Comparison tables – LOOK UP THE GROUP CORRESPONDING TO YOUR HOUSEHOLD

Other than electrically heated households – comparison figures								kWh/year
Number of occupants Type of dwelling		1	2	3	4	5	6	
Detached or semi-detached house	economical consumption average consumption	3,500 5,000	4,500 6,000	5,600 7,000	6,600 8,000	7,600 9,000	8,600 10,000	
Terraced house	economical consumption average consumption	1,730 2,400	2,700 3,700	3,200 4,200	3,700 4,700	4,000 5,000	4,200 5,200	
Block of flats	economical consumption average consumption	1,090 1,500	2,000 2,500	2,500 3,000	3,000 3,500	3,500 4,000	3,700 4,200	
			1		1			

#### Electrically heated households - comparison figures

kWh/year

Floor area m <sup>2</sup> Type of dwelling	under 40	41-60	61-80	81-100	101-120	121-140	141-160	161-180	181-200	201-250	over 250
Detached or semi-detached house economical consumption average consumption	n 3,113 5,707	6,249 8,853	10,431 13,039	14,082 16,689	16,168 19,297	17,732 21,383	19,297 23,469	21,383 25,556	23,484 28,181	26,631 31,331	29,773 34,474
Terraced house or block of flats economical consumption average consumption	n 2,477 5,056	5,191 7,787	8,957 11,561	12,185 14,789	13,852 16,976	14,997 18,643	16,143 20,309	17,809 21,975	19,476 24,163	21,871 26,558	24,475 29,162

#### Holiday homes

kWh/year

ELECTRICITY C Floor area of holiday home m <sup>2</sup> under	ONNECTIC 60 61-100	N, NO EI	LECTRIC HEATING	ELECTF under 60	RIC HEAT 61-100	TNG 101-140	over 140
Summer season 250	500	1,000	1,500	500	1,000	2,000	3,000
Six months 500	1,000	2,000	2,500	2,000	4,000	8,000	9,000
Constant use 1,00	2,000	4,000	4,500	4,000	8,000	16,000	18,000

Average annual electricity consumption describes normal electricity use in each group. A quarter of the households in each group consume less electricity than the figure for economical consumption. Only average annual consumption is given for holiday homes.

The amount of electricity used for heating depends strongly on the heating need, which varies in different years and locations. The comparison figures for electrically heated households are adjusted to the temperature of a normal year in accordance with the location of your metering point. The temperature of the normal year is calculated as average of actual temperatures over 30 years. Further information about the temperature adjustment is available on the website www.motiva.fi/kayttoraportti/.

# Assessment of electricity consumption explanatory factors for large electrical appliances

Bruno Lapillonne and Carine Sebi

Enerdata

## **Didier Bosseboeuf**

ADEME

# Abstract

This paper aims at identifying and quantifying the main factors influencing electric consumption for large electrical appliances. Results are illustrated in the case of France and Germany.

The role of various factors have been considered: appliance ownership, appliances' size, efficiency level according to energy label class, equipment features, equipment price according to respective energy efficiency, consumer attitude, and electricity tariffs. A technico-economic decomposition analysis of energy demand changes has been developed to quantify each factor's impact for five of the main observed factors. The analysis has been carried-out by type of appliance. The results show that only two factors significantly impact consumption: the equipment ownership rate and the energy label penetration; however, they tend to offset each other. Qualitative factors (e.g. behaviours, retailers' strategies, policy factors) have been also considered and some of which were assessed. In conclusion we will show how these factors explain the difference in the specific consumption of appliance in France and Germany.

# **Context and objectives**

Residential electricity consumption for domestic appliances and lighting is on average steadily increasing: the unit consumption per dwelling for lighting and electrical appliances has been increasing by 1.3% per year at EU level during the period 1990-2008 (Figure 1), and up to 4% per year for Greece, Cyprus or Ireland<sup>1</sup>. This paper aims at identifying and quantifying the main factors influencing electric consumption for large electrical appliances. To illustrate the different trends, we will study in particular the cases of France and Germany, where detailed data by appliance type were made available<sup>2</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The trends are on purpose shown over the period before the start of the economic crisis.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> <u>http://www.odyssee-indicators.org/publications/PDF/Summary-benchmark-electricity-EN.pdf</u>



Figure 1. Annual trends in household electricity consumption for appliances and lighting between 1990-2008

Source: Odyssee

## Driving factors of the energy consumption

The analysis focuses on large domestic appliances, which present the largest available set of data and consume more than 40% of captive uses, on lighting (which accounts for 15% of specific electricity), and on the main consumer electronics (TV, computers). As shown in Figure 2, we will try to understand the factors behind the changes in the household electricity consumption of large appliances, so as to asses why it been increasing in France since 2008 and not in Germany. Several explanatory factors will be considered such as:

- Equipment rate in large appliances, home entertainment electronics (TVs, PCs) and lighting;
- Appliances' size, especially for cold appliances and TVs;
- **Equipment features and functionalities** impacting consumption (upright versus chest freezers; frost-free and built-in cold appliances);
- **Efficiency level** according to energy label (A, A+, etc.); for the diffusion of the different class we will take into account the equipment price for energy efficient classes and the potential role of electricity price.
- Finally, the **consumer behavior** (frequency of use and preferred temperature for washing appliances; duration of use of TVs and lighting equipment);



### Figure 2. Electricity consumption per household for domestic appliances and lighting by enduse in France and Germany

Source: Odyssee

### Large domestic appliances

### Equipment rate and size

Except washing machine where equipment rates were roughly steady during 1990-2008, for all other large appliances their diffusion increased, especially for freezers, dish washers and dryers. For instance we observe an increase of 34 points in Germany for dish washers and of 20 points in France for freezers and dryers (Figure 3). Although both countries' equipment rates are close, Germany's rates are higher. But France is gradually reaching similar rates, in particular for freezers, refrigerators, and washing machines.



## Figure 3. Equipment rate in France and Germany

## Source: Odyssee, INSEE, SOFRES

For large domestic appliances, the size of new appliances has been increasing: since 2004, increase of 2% for fridges sold in France (and almost +7% in Germany), average size increase of 2% for freezers in both countries and significant increase for washing machine capacity (+20% in both countries, Figure 4).

Refrigerators and freezers sold in France are larger than the ones sold in Germany (+30% and +23% respectively): it may be partly explained by the average size of household, i.e. the average number of inhabitant per household, that is 13% higher in France, and by the fact that dwellings are on average smaller in Germany (by about 9%), due a larger share of apartments compared houses. The size difference for washing machines and dishwashers is hardly significant.



## Figure 4. Average size of new appliances in France and Germany

Source: GfK, Enerdata calculation

### Equipment types and functionalities

Sales of less electricity intensive cold appliances' (table-top, 1 and 2-doors<sup>3</sup>) are decreasing since 2004 in both countries: from 77% to 67% of sales in France and from 75% to 56% in Germany between 2004 and 2008. And the sales of these "less intensive equipment" are higher in Germany than in France (Figure 5). French consumers buy twice the number of frost-free refrigerators (32% of French sales in 2008, versus 11% in Germany). This system is more energy intensive. On the contrary, the German market share of built-in refrigerators, which are less energy-efficient, was 41% in 2008 vs. only 15% in France.



### Figure 5. Sales of fridge according to main features in 2004 and 2008

Source: GfK

The market share of upright-freezers', which are more energy intensive than the chest type are slightly increasing over time (Figure 6). It is 30 % larger in Germany than in France. Frost-free freezers' market share is also higher in Germany (23% vs. 10%). Freezers sold in Germany are thus more energy intensive than the appliances sold in France.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> "Table-Top" models are 1-door refrigerators, with a 90 cm maximum height.



Figure 6. Sales of freezers according to main features in 2004 and 2008

Source: GfK

Front-loading washing machines' sales are higher in Germany (90% vs. 59% in France), but their share has been quickly increasing in France (from 25% in 2000 to 59% in 2008). Top-loading washers are usually less efficient than the front-loading type<sup>4</sup>.

Since 2004, the sales of less efficient type of equipment are increasing, such as combined or American fridges or upright freezers. While refrigerators and washing machines bought in France are overall more energy intensive than in Germany, German consumers tend to buy freezers with more energy intensive functionalities than the products favoured by French consumers.

## Equipment efficiency

Thanks to the Energy Labelling Directive the share of energy efficient appliances has remarkably increased since 2002, but at a different pace among countries (Figure 7). The penetration of very energy efficient appliances<sup>5</sup> has been much higher in Germany than in France: in 2010<sup>6</sup>, A+ rated washing machines' market share is 10 points higher in Germany; the share of A+ and A ++ labels is respectively 34 and 47 points higher for refrigerators and freezers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Top-loading washing machines lower efficiency level can be explained by their relative small market share, and by the fact that manufacturers choose to invest in the front-loading range optimisation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> For washing machines the most efficient label is officially A but manufacturers are allowed to use "A+".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> There has not been massive subsidy programmes in Germany to explain such differences. Prices are on average lower in Germany for the most efficient appliances (e.g. 10% of difference for a given A++ freezer), because demand for these types of product is higher thanks in particular to awareness programmes and the marketing strategy of suppliers and resellers(see below for further explanations). There has not been massive subsidy programmes in Germany.



Figure 7. Penetration of A+ and A++ labels for new appliances

Source: GfK

These different trends between France and Germany may be partly linked to the fact that efficient appliances are cheaper in Germany than in France and that the price of electricity is twice higher in Germany.

Most energy-efficient cold appliances are more expensive in France than in Germany. The price difference can reach up to 20% for class A+ or A freezers and 13% for A+ refrigerators. In addition, the price difference between an A and an « A+/A++ » washing machine is higher in France than in Germany (39% vs. 23%).

Sales prices according to the energy label are partly determined according to market shares. High efficient appliances (A++ and A+) market share is notably lower in France compared to Germany. The price difference can be explained by the smaller size of the market, and the lack of trust of manufacturers in the French consumer "green" awareness, which leads them to market less energy-efficient models.

The average electricity price for households in France is currently about half of the German price<sup>7</sup>. Half of the difference can be explained by cost differences and the other half by a different level of taxes. VAT weighs equally in both countries (around 15%). Other taxes are much higher in Germany, accounting for 27% of electricity total price (of which an 8% eco-tax since 2000), versus 10% in France<sup>8</sup>.

Behaviours

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Source : Enerdata Global Energy & CO2 data.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Source : IAE Statistics, Energy prices & taxes – quarterly statistics.
If Germans use higher temperature<sup>9</sup> water to wash their laundry and dishes than French households, they will use more frequently economic cycles. In addition, German households tend to load more their washing appliances, reducing the number of cycles and the electricity consumption (Remodece, 2007<sup>10</sup>).

French households declare cleaning the refrigerator's rear grid more often (25% monthly vs. 5% in Germany; and 38% once a year in France vs. 15% in Germany (Remodece). French consumers defrost their refrigerators and freezers more often. In Germany, over 20% of respondents declare having set the thermostat on the lowest temperature, vs. only 3% in France (Remodece).

Although it is impossible to quantify each attitude's impact in terms of consumption, they tend to partially compensate each other, and hardly play a part in the observed consumption discrepancy.

#### Lighting

Lighting electricity consumption is decreasing over time in both countries by 1.4%/year (Figure 1). However, it is notably higher (+49%) in France than in Germany in 2008. This consumption gap does not lie in the number of lighting points, because it is identical in both countries: 25 lights on average per household.

In contrast, the German households have installed twice as many compact fluorescent lamps as in France (6,5 /house in Germany vs. 3 in France). Compact fluorescent lamps' penetration can explain most of the difference in consumption. According to Remodece report, the differences in consumers' attitude for lighting offset each other.

#### **ICT** appliances

The average number of TVs per household is similar, with around 1,5 TV/household in 2008 in both countries. TV size and duration of use are also close and increasing over time (Figure 8).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> In Germany 50% of households wash their laundry at 65°C vs 29% in France. In Germany, 44% of households wash their dishes at 65°C vs. 21% in France.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> This study involved a panel of 500 households in the two countries. Although it was led in 2006, it helps understand consumers' attitudes differences between the two countries "Residential monitoring to decrease energy use and carbon emissions in Europe"; EIE project, 2007.



Figure 8. Sales of TV according to their size

Source: GfK

The equipment rate in computers is higher in Germany. Screens sold in Germany are slightly larger than the models sold in France: 21" vs. 20" in 2010.

Laptops spreading encouraged multi equipment in PC's. The average number of PCs per household has grown from 56% in 2003 to 103% in 2010 in France; and from 82% to 110% in Germany. It has been paired with the Internet development, resulting in a higher penetration rate in Germany than in France (82% et 75% en 2010).

Set-top-box systems have also rapidly grown in the last ten years, again spreading faster in Germany than in France.

With a higher equipment rate in PCs, electricity consumption is also higher in Germany: in 2008, the consumption of these three appliances accounted for 200 kWh in France and 250 kWh in Germany.

## Factors responsible for the consumption variation of all electrical appliances in both countries

In order to quantify the effect of the different factors on the consumption variation, a bottom-up model was developed to simulate the change in the specific consumption of the stock of the different appliances based on the characteristics of the appliances sold every year in France and Germany over the period 1990-2010<sup>11</sup>. For that purpose a detailed database was compiled with information per

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> The model simulates the consumption of new appliances sold per year as well as the average annual consumption of the stock based on the evolution of equipment rate and market shares of energy labels from 1990 to 2010. The final results for

country regarding sales of appliances, rate of equipment, stock of appliances, type of appliance and specific electrical consumption per energy efficiency class.

For each appliance, different types or categories depending on some particular characteristics were considered, such as the layout of a freezer or the average load of clothes for a washing machine (see previous analysis). Thanks to this model, several parameters that affect the electrical consumption of appliances such as types of appliances, energy labelling and penetration of new equipment can be identified and their impact can be estimated.

Figure 9 shows how much the consumption of all major electrical appliances has changed between the years 2000 and 2009 in France and in Germany and what factors are responsible for this change. The factors for which the effect on the electrical consumption have been quantified are the equipment rate, the total stock of permanently occupied dwellings (effect of demography), the shares of new appliances sold per energy class and the specific consumption of new appliances sold per energy class (energy efficiency effect).

It can be observed that total electrical consumption for large appliances (fridge, freezers, washing machine and dish washer) in France has risen by nearly 3 TWh. The growing number of households and increasing equipment rate have strongly contributed to this rise (for the equivalent of 7 TWh); this increase has been partially offset by almost 4 TWh of energy savings caused by energy efficiency improvements, namely energy labelling. In other words, without any energy efficiency measures France's electrical consumption would have risen by 7 TWh. The rise of the total consumption in Germany is considerably smaller compared to France (around 0.2 TWh). The effect of demography is almost half as significant compared to France, whereas the increase of equipment rate is analogous to the French one. In addition, the impact of energy efficiency measures is stronger than in France, resulting in energy savings of 4.5 TWh.

every appliance were compared with other relevant studies, such as the "Benchmarking of Domestic Cold Appliances" by IEA 4E and the "Reestimation en 2005 de la consommation d'électricité par usage fin" by CEREN.



Figure 9. Factors responsible for the total variation in the consumption of all electrical appliances in France and Germany between 2000 and 2009

Source: Enerdata

#### **Comparison between France and Germany**

As seen above in Figure 2, France is not performing as well as Germany regarding captive uses of electricity<sup>12</sup>. A benchmarking of household specific electricity consumption in ODYSSEE (2012) shows that households' specific electricity consumption was 26% higher than in Germany in 2008<sup>13</sup> (Figure 10). Italy and Spain are also in a better position. However their good ranking can mainly be explained by the lower income and consequent lower equipment rate, compared to France<sup>14</sup>. To explain the gap between France and Germany and in particular as to the role of the different factors presented above, adjusted indicators of specific electricity consumption have been designed to quantify each factor's impact in the observed discrepancies between the two countries.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Captives uses, also referred to as "specific electricity uses" or "specific electricity consumption" in short, include all non-thermal uses, i.e. small and large domestic appliances, consumer electronics and lighting.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> 2008 is the preferred reference due to 2009's particularity with the economic crisis.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> In addition, most Italian households benefit of a 3kW subscription contract, because of inclining electricity tariffs, which limits their consumption level.



Figure 10. Household electricity consumption for appliances and lighting

Source: Odyssee

Adjustments have been made on the following factors of differences between France and Germany: equipment rate and size (for large domestic appliances<sup>15</sup>), energy labels penetration (for large domestic appliances and lighting), and appliances' features and frequency of use (for washing machines). They have been calculated for each appliance (fridge, freezer, TV, etc.) and then sum up by type/group of appliance: large domestic, lighting, consumer electronics and small electric appliances. This allowed calculating for each of these factors a fictive Germany's specific electricity consumption adjusted to French conditions: for example, with the equipment rate adjustment, we apply the rate observed in France to Germany for each type of appliance to calculate the fictive specific consumption of Germany adjusted to French equipment rate, all else being equal.

Adjusting the German unit consumption to the French equipment rate enlarged the initial gap between the two countries from 26% to 33,5% (Table 2).

kWh/household/year	Large domestic	Lighting	Consumer electronics	Small electric appl.	Other	Total
Germany	929	278	569	394	67	2,237
Germany, adjusted to equipment rate in France	820	278	507	445	67	2,117
France	1,195	414	507	425	284	2,825

Table 1. Adjuste	d Germany's e	electricity consum	ption to France's e	quipment rate (2008

Source: Odyssee, adjustment calculation Enerdata

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Large domestic adjustments were calculated thanks to a model simulating stock evolution from annual sales (to take into account the impact of new appliances sold since 1990 and according to different criteria: label, type and size of appliance).

The adjustment for the higher penetration of efficient appliances in Germany reduced the spread between the two countries, from 26% to 15% (Table 2): in conclusion, 40% of the gap could be explained by the difference in penetration of highly efficient appliances.

kWh/household/year	Large domestic	Lighting	Consumer electronics	Small electric appl.	Other	Total
Germany	929	278	569	394	67	2,237
Germany, adjusted to energy label penetration in France	1,002	372	569	394	67	2,404
France	1,195	414	507	425	284	2,825

#### Table 2. Adjusted Germany's consumption to France's energy label penetration rate (2008)

Source: Odyssee, adjustment calculation Enerdata

The adjustment of German specific consumption to the average size of appliances sold in France only reduces slightly the spread from 26% to 25%. This means that the size of large domestic and lighting equipment<sup>16</sup> plays a minor role. Technical features and functionalities have also a marginal impact as the adjustment only shows a reduction of the difference by 2 points. And finally, when adjusted to frequency of use in France, the German specific consumption only increases marginally (20 kWh).

The respective weight of the above five adjustments differ, as only two adjustments significantly impact the specific electricity consumption: the equipment rate and energy labels penetration. Unfortunately, these two factors partly offset each other, which cannot explain the total performance gap between France and Germany. The calculation shows that only 21% of the observed difference can be explained by these factors (Figure 11).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Indeed, the equipment rate for lighting corresponds to the number of lighting points, which is the same in France and Germany: on average 25 lighting points per dwelling.



Figure 11. Decomposition of the difference in the electricity consumption per household between France and Germany for captive uses

Source: Enerdata

#### Conclusion

Thanks to several existing databases (GfK, Odyssee, etc.), the main driving factors behind the change in the residential electricity consumption for domestic appliances have been analysed for France and Germany. To complete this descriptive analysis, a model was developed to provide a complete evaluation of the impact of these factors on specific energy consumption of new products sold as well as the stock of electrical appliances over the period 1990-2010. The results show that indeed equipment rate, total stock of households, size of appliances, and market shares of efficient equipment and behaviour influence the electrical consumption of appliances at a country level. Differences in these parameters from country to country could explain why a country has a better performance that another.

Two main factors partly explain the higher specific consumption in France:

- Large domestic appliances are larger in France than in Germany: over 20% larger refrigerators and freezers, which are both the most common and the most energy consuming appliances in households.
- A larger penetration of very efficient large appliances in Germany (washing machines, cold appliances, and lighting), which can mostly be explained by the lower price of these products in Germany.

In order to quantify the respective impact of these factors, we have calculated a fictive specific consumption per household for Germany adjusted to France's specificities. The results show that only two of the five adjustments significantly impact the consumption: the equipment rate factor and the energy label penetration; however, they tend to compensate each other. As a result, the five adjustments only account for 21% of the performance gap observed between France and Germany, i.e. 125 kWh for an initial difference of approximately 600 kWh.

How could the residual gap be explained? One can think of qualitative factors such as prices, policies and all other qualitative factors reviewed above. Electricity is 50% cheaper in France; it certainly plays

a role, but an econometric analysis carried out in the framework of the study failed to quantify the impact. It could be linked to statistical problems<sup>17</sup>. The analysis of policy instruments in France and in Germany shows that Germany has implemented public awareness programmes for longer that France, and with more continuity and that German households benefit from numerous DSM programmes implemented locally by Länders, cities, and more than a thousand electricity providers.

#### References

ATLETE, http://www.atlete.eu/

ATLETE 2010, Report on the national legislations regarding energy labelling, Deliverable 2.1, work package under the lead for ADEME, Therese Kreitz

Attali, Sophie and Bush, Eric (2009) Factors influencing the penetration of energy efficient electrical appliances into national markets in Europe, DEFRA – MTP 2009

Odyssee, 2012, http://www.odyssee-indicators.org/

National French Institute of Statistics, INSEE, http://www.insee.fr/fr/themes/document.asp?ref\_id=T10F062

TNS SOFRES, http://www.tns-sofres.com/

GfK, http://www.gfk.fr/

REMODECE, http://remodece.isr.uc.pt/ First reference, 1992, Code of practice for formatting papers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> In particular to the way thermal uses have been assessed to get by difference the captive electricity consumption, especially in the case of France where electric thermal uses are well developed.

#### **G**OVERNMENT SUBSIDIES TO REPLACE ENERGY INEFFICIENT APPLIANCES; THE OUTCOME AND IMPACTS ON THE CONSUMERS AND THE LOCAL MARKET

#### Eddie Bet Hazavdi Rachel Zaken

#### Abstract

In 2010 the state of Israel announced a new energy efficiency plan aimed to reduce 20% of the total electricity consumption in 2020 at all the sectors in Israel. During 2011 the Ministry of Energy and Water Resources adopted the "national energy efficiency plan to reduce electricity consumption in 20% by 2020" with a budget of 85 million US\$ just for the domestic sector.

Among the activities that were done in the residential sector we introduced a set of new appliances regulation and launched a national project of replacing old and inefficient appliances with new ones. The state subsidizes the replacement of new highly efficient refrigerators, air-conditioners, solar installation and lighting.

The paper will include the outcome of two projects (replacing refrigerators); the regulations and the impacts on the local appliances market (this case, refrigerators).

The paper will focus on the Israeli consumer behavior toward efficient appliance and the changes in the market.

In addition, barriers and obstacles in promoting such projects are identified, and the influence of those projects on energy saving and the indirect benefits is also introduced.

The paper is based on the national energy efficiency program, an appliances market analysis and a research that was conducted to evaluate the influence of the projects on direct energy savings and indirect energy savings.

#### Introduction

The Energy Conservation and Efficiency Division at the Ministry of Energy and Water Resources works to improve Israel's energy balance by more efficient energy use and optimal exploitation of energy, and promote the use of alternative energy resources.

The Division takes the lead in all facets of energy efficiency: regulation, enforcement, planning, and initiation and execution of the energy efficiency projects at all sectors.

To meet government's decision, energy savings of at least 20% by 2020, the Ministry of Energy and Water Resources published in 2010, The National Energy Efficiency Program.

According to government resolution, the Division of Energy Conservation and Efficiency will promote energy efficiency activities in the domestic sector, by replacing old inefficient appliances with more energy efficient appliances.

Among other activities the Division proposed a plan to replace via incentive old inefficient appliance with new and highly efficient once. The program was first introduced to an economically weak population and then, added with two projects to the entire population.

In order to determine which refrigerator will be subsidized, bids were given by the producers and importers for three size groups, suggesting best energy efficiency performance. Offers were scored according to energy consumption and performance, lowest price and other characteristics.

Since December 2011 till June 2011, taking advantage of the projects, up to 110,000 households replaced their inefficient refrigerators.

#### Work purpose

The purpose of this paper is to show the impact of old refrigerators' replacement on the refrigerators' market in Israel, and the change in consumer behavior toward efficient appliances.

#### Methods

The assessment of attainable energy efficiency was performed for each and every project. In every project a database was built, through a governmental system. Access to the system was for suppliers and appliances stores, each and its own level of access, one refrigerator allowed for each consumer.

The data were examined and then, analyzed, in order to evaluate the savings out of carrying the projects and lessons learned for following projects.

#### Summary

Electricity production capacity of the State of Israel is not growing at a rate of consumption growth and the state of Israel suffers from chronic limited power supply. The domestic consumption of electricity in the last decade is ranging from 30 to 32 percent of the total annual consumption. In 2002, the domestic consumption was 32 percent and reached 12,747 million kWh and in 2011 reached 15,909 kWh (30 percent of total consumption).

Energy performance and label regulations for refrigerators and freezers came into effect on January 2005. Till then, 500-liter refrigerators' average consumption was about 4.5 kWh a day for non-frost tropical. With the regulation we achieved 2.2 kWh saving for a day per refrigerator.

As mentioned, the first project addressed the economically disadvantage families. According to the Central Bureau of Statistics, the monthly consumption expenditure for electricity is about 25 percent of dwelling and household maintenance expenditures. The relative expenditure for electricity, among the economically weak population, is higher than the relative expenditure for electricity among the economically strong population

Refrigerators offered under the project were divided into three orders of volumes, small, medium and large, 350 to 450 liter, 451 to 550 liter and 551 to 680 liter, respectively. The projects were led with campaign on TV, Radio and other media.

To date, three projects were held and the forth is ongoing. In these projects 110,000 households (5% of the total households), replaced old refrigerators with new, efficient ones. Consumers have shown great willingness to participate in operations, since in the beginning of the projects most of the refrigerators were purchased.

The projects boosted the refrigerators market, changed the energy rating distribution of the refrigerators that are being used by the population, reduced the price level of the refrigerators and change the consciousness of the consumer toward energy efficiency and energy rating at the appliances market.

#### Energy Efficiency Rating

Since 2005 the Energy Conservation Division certifies every year the refrigerators models. A certification and label then issued to indicate the rate for each model. The impact of the project is

well seen as the distribution of refrigerators by their rating is moved toward the "B" rating. At 2012, out of 645 models, 73% of the approved refrigerators were rated "A" "B" and "C". In 2007, out of 89 models, only 36 percent were rated "A" "B" and "C".

### Table 1: Percentage of certified refrigerators, by energy efficiency rating, years 2007 and 2011-2013

Energy efficiency rating	Average annual consumption (For adjusted 500 liter)	Average annual consumption (For 500 liter)	2007	2011	2012	2013
Α	082	402	0	4	5	7
В	072	600	17	26	36	41
C	767	705	15	33	31	37
D	407	784	8	25	19	11
E	606	879	12	6	5	3
F	487	870	47	6	3	2
G	607		1	1	0	0

Figure 1: Certified refrigerators, by energy efficiency rating and year



The data in figure 1 reflects the change in the consciousness of consumers, regarding to energy efficiency. The consumers go toward the energy efficient appliances (refrigerators rated A and B). Following the consumers' requests, the suppliers' requests, seeking to please the consumers, are to approve more and more A and B rated refrigerators.

The exception value in 2007 - Licensing 47% F-rated refrigerators - is due to toughening the energy rating that year. Changing the standards automatically decreased the rate for many refrigerators models to F.

The effect of the projects held on 2012 is notable. In one year, the weight of requests for B rated refrigerator have grown much higher (from 26% in 2011 to 41% in 2013).

 Table 2: Number of certifications by energy efficiency rating (2007-2013):

Energy efficiency rating	Number of certifications
Α	64
В	441
С	454
D	287
E	73
F	54
G	4
Total refrigerators approved:	1,377

#### **Refrigerators' Energy Consumption**

Compared with refrigerators approved before the changes in the regulations, the electricity consumption per adjusted liter fell by 65%. Following the tender requirements, the refrigerators consumption per adjusted liter decreased more by 20%. Refrigerators authorized and purchased under the projects have adjusted consumption average of 0.0020 kWh (small - 0.0022 kWh/liter, medium - 0.0020 kWh/liter and large - 0.0018 kWh/liter).

In 2007 most of the requests were to approve large refrigerators. The average energy consumption per adjusted liter for small refrigerators was the highest and reached 0.0049 kWh. The reduction in energy consumption for the refrigerators in 2012 is 14% for small size refrigerators, 28% for middle size and 25% for large refrigerators.

#### The Projects

The projects of The Ministry of Energy and Water Resources to assist households, replacing inefficient appliances started at the end of 2011 and continued during the year 2012. All refrigerators that were authorized under these projects have energy rating "B" (A is most efficient).

The first project was aimed for disadvantaged population with a subsidy of 60% for replacing the old inefficient refrigerators with the new efficient ones. The refrigerator for replacement had to be in working condition, bought before 2005 and with a volume at least 300 liter. During this project, 22,245 refrigerators were replaced in less than one week.

The second and third project, of old refrigerators replacement, addressed the entire population with a subsidy of 30% subsidy. The conditions for the old refrigerator were the same as in the first project. About 50,000 refrigerators were replaced in the second project and already about 40,000 were replaced during the third and still ongoing project. In all projects the consumer had to give up his old refrigerator, to be sent to a scrapping site, authorized by the Ministry of Environmental Protection. According to the national energy efficiency program the estimated savings through the refrigerators replacement the estimated amount is higher and comes up to 156,250,000 kWh a year, a reduction of 114,348 tons in carbon dioxide emissions. Considering lifetime of 10 years for a refrigerator, we will have a total direct saving of 1,562,500,000 kWh.

#### **Refrigerators Supply**



Figure 2: Number of suppliers and models, by project

In order to be an authorized supplier within the projects, suppliers were required to meet a number of conditions, including low prices and low electricity consumption of refrigerator (given volume of refrigerator).

As shown in figure 2, number of suppliers has grown with projects as well as the number of models. In the first project, 2 out of 4 suppliers, and 6 out of 11 models, were approved to distribute and be distributed, under the project. In the second project, 3 suppliers and 8 models, and in the third project out of 7 suppliers and 36 models, 13 models were approved to be distributed by 6 suppliers.

The Increased number of bidders (suppliers) shows that the project is considered credible in the eyes of the population and does bring the buyers to stores.

In the year, 2012 the number of refrigerators sales reached 380,000 while in previous years the average number of refrigerators sales was 250,000. The increased number of sales, along with attractive prices, under the projects, affected the entire refrigerators market, and prices for similar refrigerators fell in about 45%. The stores raised the discounts flag on subsidized refrigerators, added more discounts for refrigerators that weren't included in the projects and offered removal and transportation as part of the deal.

In the fourth and upcoming project to replace more inefficient refrigerators for the disadvantaged famillies 13,000 refrigerators will be replaced.

#### **Population's Participation**

At the beginning of the projects the participation was high and most of the refrigerators were purchased. As shown in figure 3, the middle size refrigerators were first to sell.



Figure 3: Refrigerators sales, by month and size

#### Figure 4: Refrigerators sales, by age of consumers and size of refrigerators (percent)



As shown in figure 4, up to 70 percent of the consumers, participating in the projects, were at the age of 50 years and older. Consumers ages 31-60 prefer large refrigerator, while consumers over 60 prefer the small and middle sizes.

#### Projects' cost

Size group	Disadvantaged population		Entire p	opulation A	Entire population B		Total	
	Quantity	subsidy	Quantity	Subsidy	Quantity	Subsidy	Quantity	Subsidy
Small	3,029	1,089,627	12,352	2,718,418	9,247	2,197,509	24,628	6,005,554
Medium	9,077	4,521,437	21,327	5,796,475	19,434	5,235,417	9,838	15,553,329
Large	8,139	4,046,770	14,483	4,237,467	14,692	4,830,172	37,314	13,114,409
Total	20,245	9,657,834	48,162	12,752,360	43,373	12,263,098	111,780	34,673,292

#### Table 3: Quantity and Government subsidy (\$<sup>1</sup>) by population and refrigerators' size

Subsidy, the main component of the project cost is already 34,673,292\$. Along with the cost, there are the savings that will come up to 700,483,570 NS (190,193,750\$, calculated for 10 years).

#### **Electricity Savings**

Other than direct saving in electricity there are many other benefits in energy efficiency. The benefits include savings in energy and storage cost, saving water and fuel, used to produce electricity and savings in cost of emissions. Energy savings can, also, lead to a decline in demand and lower prices that can boost the economy, increase employment and energy security.

However, it is difficult to translate these benefits to money. Using energy efficient appliances, we save not only in kWh but also in other elements that are not necessarily connected to electricity.

The direct electric energy saving achieved from carrying out the projects, for a single year, comes to 117,787,719 kWh (As of June 2013).

Size	Yearly saving (kWh)	Yearly saving (NS)	Yearly saving (\$)
Small	27,805,320	16,535,824	4,489,770
Medium	52,163,139	31,021,419	8,422,867
Large	37,819,260	22,491,114	6,106,737
Total	117,787,719	70,048,357	19,019,375

#### Table 4: Savings in electricity and money, by refrigerators' size<sup>2</sup>

The savings in electric energy, since 2005, are much greater, considering the new regulations along with the projects of replacing appliances.

The direct kWh savings were calculated as follow:

Saving kWh =  $\Sigma$ (Co-Cni)\*365

Co – Daily consumption of old refrigerator

Cn - Daily consumption of new refrigerator

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> According to exchange rate of 3.683, from May 31, 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Savings were calculated according to ICE's 2013 rate for residential sector, 0.5947 ns per kWh (including VAT).

#### i - 1... 111,780 Refrigerators

#### **Review of Regulations**

The effectiveness of the regulations (which refer to electrical appliances used by the residential sector<sup>3</sup>) will be reviewed in accordance with the following parameters:

- The maximum electricity consumption required for an electric appliance according to the present regulations.
- The average electricity consumption of an electric appliance which has either been imported or manufactured in Israel during the last years.
- The average electricity consumption of new models of an electric appliance, which were authorized by the regulations during the last years.

#### In the near future

In the coming months several more projects will be implemented: replacement of air conditioners for the entire population; replacement of old refrigerators for disadvantaged populations and replacement of electric water heaters with solar water heaters for the entire population, as well as projects for the other sectors. Projects as chillers replacements or increasing energy efficiency will be promoted.

#### References

- [1] E. Bet Hazavdi, Drori A:State of Israel, Ministry of National infrastructures. National Energy Efficiency Program Reducing Electricity Consumption 2010 – 2020, July 2010, http://www.mni.gov.il/mni/en-US
- [2] Statistical report 2010: Israel Electrical Corporation, http://www.iec.co.il/EN/IR/Documents/stat2010.pdf
- [3] Statistical Abstract of Israel, Israel's Central Bureau of Statistics, http://cbs.gov.il/reader/shnatonenew\_site.htm
- [4] State of Israel. Energy Resources Regulation, 1998, 2004, 2008, state of Israel. (Hebrew).
- [5] The Standards Institution of Israel, Standard IS 721 <u>http://portal.sii.org.il/heb/standardization/teken/?tid=2b2f58f7-740c-4942-8609-84cacde53285</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Based on the content of the regulations, as it is published on the website of the Ministry of National Infrastructures.

# Bottom-up scenario calculations for 10 world regions reveal worldwide efficiency potentials of about 50 % for refrigeration and washing

Claus Barthel, Thomas Götz, Antoine Durand, Lena Tholen

#### Wuppertal Institute for Climate, Environment and Energy, Germany

#### Abstract

Domestic refrigerators, freezers and washing machines are among the most widely used electrical appliances all around the world. Currently, about 1.4 billion domestic cold appliances and 840 million washing machines worldwide use about 740 TWh electricity, which is more than Germany's total electricity consumption, cause  $CO_2$ eq emissions of 500 million tons and use 19 km<sup>3</sup> of water a year.

Although the specific electricity consumption per volume of cold appliances or per kg laundry in washing machines has decreased during recent years due to technical progress, total worldwide energy consumption of these appliances is on the increase.

In the framework of a new website "bigEE.net - Your guide to energy efficiency in buildings", which aims to provide information about technical options but also about policies to support the development of energy-efficient appliances, bottom-up scenario calculations were carried out for all 10 IPCC world regions by the Wuppertal Institute. Results show that about half of the specific energy consumption could be saved with the most energy-efficient appliances available today, and even higher savings will be possible with next generation technologies by 2030. According to the model, these savings are usually very cost-effective. The scenario results and policy strategies to address these potentials will be presented in this paper.

#### Introduction

Domestic refrigerators, freezers and washing machines are among the most widely used electrical appliances in the residential sector all around the world, contributing significantly by their electricity consumption to the greenhouse effect. Therefore political instruments focus on the introduction of labels, minimum energy performance standards (MEPS) or subsidies in order to improve the efficiency of appliances on the market. In addition, washing machines are related to water consumption, which could cause problems in regions of the world with drinking water shortages.

This raises the question of how high the worldwide electricity and water consumption of household appliances in the different regions of the world is today and how the number of devices and their consumption per unit and so their total consumption for cold appliances and washing machines will develop in the future in the business as usual case.

It is well known from international appliances databases like "Topten" (www.topten.info), which present the most efficient appliances worldwide, that significant differences in consumption between the average and the most efficient appliances exist. Based on this, the questions arise, what is the saving potential if only the most efficient appliances are purchased and what kind of policies and policy instruments are required for such a market transformation.

## Distribution of current worldwide electricity and water consumption of domestic cold appliances and washing machines

Distribution of current worldwide electricity consumption of domestic cold appliances

Country specific bottom-up analysis – based on several sources<sup>1</sup> all around the world – shows that currently 1.4 billion refrigerators, fridge freezers and freezers are in use in households. The average electricity consumption of these cold appliances amounts to about 450 kWh per year and appliance. With an annual total electricity consumption of 650 TWh, they account for almost 14 % of the electricity consumption of the residential sector and cause worldwide annual greenhouse gas emissions of 440 million tons of  $CO_2$ eq.

Thereby, the distribution of domestic cold appliances varies widely between the different world regions. In North America (NAM), Western Europe (WEU) and Pacific OECD (PAO) about 1.7 people own one cold appliance, whereas in other world regions the level of ownership is still well below saturation (see figure 1). This is expected to change significantly in the future, especially due to the booming markets in Asia (CLASP / LBNL 2007).



## Figure 1: World population and number of cold appliances in the different world regions according to IPCC systematic in 2010. (Reference: Own calculation based on WEC 2009, IEA 2010 and other reports)

The worldwide uneven distribution of domestic cold appliances as well as their different size and efficiency levels lead to large differences in electricity consumption of this group of appliances in different world regions.

### Distribution of current worldwide electricity and water consumption of domestic washing machines

The country specific bottom-up analysis for washing machines<sup>2</sup> shows that about 840 million domestic washing machines are in use worldwide. The average annual consumption of each of these washing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> IEA 2010, WEC 2009, Department of the Environment, Water, Heritage and the Arts 2008, Hollanda 2010, Schaeffer 2008, Vendrusculo 2008, Natural Resources Canada 2010, Fridley 2007, 2008, Lin 2006, Lu 2006, Bertoldi 2006, Ademe 2009, Presutto 2007, Qader 2009, Hagan 2006, The World Bank 2006, 2008, 2009, De la Rue du Can 2009, Letschert 2007, Murakami 2009, Cabanas 2009, WECS 2010, Ministry of Economic Development 2010, Foran 2010, DOE 2009

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Based on data by Pakula / Stamminger (2010) and other available reports (e.g. AATCC 2011, ACEEE 2011, Berkholz et al. 2006, Biermayer / Lin 2004, Faberi et al. 2007, GfK 2011, Josephy et al. 2011, RECS 2009, IEA-4E 2011)

machines amounts to about 110 kWh of electricity and 23 m<sup>3</sup> of water. With an electricity consumption of 92 TWh per year, they account for about 2 % of the total electricity consumption of the residential sector worldwide. Annually, washing machines also consume about 19 billion m<sup>3</sup> of water and cause worldwide greenhouse gas emissions of 62 million tons of  $CO_2$ eq.

Thereby, the distribution of domestic washing machines is very uneven between different world regions. In the world regions NAM, WEU and PAO, on average 2.9 to 4.4 people own one washing machine (see Figure 2). In other world regions the level of ownership is still well below saturation. For example in Sub Saharan Africa (AFR), there is on average one washing machine per 125 persons. However, this is also expected to change significantly in the future, especially in the booming markets in Asia (CLASP / LBNL 2007).



## Figure 2: World population and number of washing machines in the different world regions according to IPCC systematic in 2010 (Reference: Own calculation based on IEA, Pakula / Stamminger (2010) and other reports)

The uneven distribution of domestic washing machines worldwide, different types of machines (different technologies like horizontal and vertical axis washing machines) and their various efficiency levels, as well as different wash habits and practices (e.g. wash temperatures, number of wash cycles per year) lead to substantial disparities in electricity and water consumption within the different world regions.

#### Types of automatic washing machines, main features and geographical distribution

While the technology for refrigerators, fridge freezers and freezers does not vary significantly worldwide, domestic washing machines can be assigned to two different main categories:

#### - Horizontal axis machines

In horizontal axis machines (Figure 3), only the bottom of the washtub is filled with water. Compared to vertical axis machines, significantly less water per wash cycle is used. Horizontal axis machines are commonly equipped with an internal electric water heating system. Hence, the energy consumption heavily depends on the chosen washing temperature. Modern washing machines with horizontal axis technology have an automatic load sensing function in order to reduce water and electricity consumption in response to consumer loads that are smaller than the rated capacity. Horizontal axis machines are gaining market shares in almost all markets worldwide (Pakula / Stamminger 2010).

#### - Vertical axis machines

Traditionally, the tub of vertical axis machines (Figure 4) is entirely filled with water. Although most modern vertical axis machines also have automatic water level settings or the user can set the water level manually, even presentday machines often consume about twice as much water per wash cycle as horizontal axis machines. Vertical axis machines are usually not equipped with an integrated electric water heating system, but warm washes can be done by using hot water from external sources. This additional energy needed to heat up water from the tap is hard to estimate, because it can be done by electricity or other energy sources like gas, coal, oil or solar power (Pakula / Stamminger 2010). Vertical axis machines are still most widespread in America, Australia and Asia.

Within these two basic categories, appliances vary in their configurations and the range of options. The most common types of automatic washing machines worldwide are:

## Horizontal axis, front- or top loading washing machine (also known as "front-loader" or "drum type" machines).

These machines show large energy- and water savings when comparing most efficient to inefficient average models on the market, especially in Europe as such washing machines are most popular in this region. Additionally, the share of horizontal axis machines is also steadily rising in most other markets worldwide. Switching







Figure 4: Vertical axis washing machine (Agitator type). Source: own illustration (www.bigee.net 2013)

from vertical axis to horizontal axis machines offers another important water and energy saving potential, because horizontal axis machines usually consume significantly less (pre-)heated water per wash cycle than vertical axis machines.

In a horizontal axis washing machine, the textiles are placed in a horizontal drum and partially immersed in the washing water. The mechanical action is provided by the rotation of the drum about its axis. The drum is accessible from one single door on the front (front-loader configuration) or from several adjacent doors on the top of the machine and the drum (top-loader configuration). Many

traditional horizontal axis machines have a minimum program temperature of 30°C, which means that these machines use electricity to heat up water even in the coldest program selectable (Pakula / Stamminger 2010). Since the introduction of high efficient low-temperature detergents, many contemporary washing machines have been equipped with 20°C, 15°C and "cold wash" programs to reduce the energy consumption significantly.

Horizontal axis drum type washing machines are used mainly in WEU/EEU, and increasingly in most other markets (Pakula / Stamminger 2010).

#### Vertical axis, top loading agitator washing machines

This type of washing machines shows large energy- and water savings compared to inefficient models

on the market, especially in North- and Latin America, as such washing machines are popular in these regions. If cold water is used, the energy consumption per wash cycle is low. But although the majority of washing machines in North America are vertical axis machines without internal heating system, the average washing temperature is reported to be at about 30°C, which causes an electricity consumption of about 0.43 kWh per wash cycle (Pakula / Stamminger 2010). This might include warm water from the tap and thus energy from external resources, which are hard to quantify.

### Vertical axis, top loading impeller washing machines

These machines show large energy- and water savings compared to inefficient models on the market, especially in Asia (China, South Korea, Japan) and Australia as such washing machines are popular in these regions. The mechanical swirl-action is produced by a device, which is named by most manufacturers as 'impeller', rotating about its axis (Figure 5). During operation, the uppermost point of this device is substantially below the minimum water level (Faberi et al. 2007). This type of washing machines is traditionally designed as top-loading device (accessible from one single door on the top). If cold water is used, the energy consumption per wash cycle is low. However, although vertical axis impeller machines are usually not equipped with an internal water heating system, the usage of preheated water from external sources through a separate hot water inlet is commonly possible and is often reported (Pakula / Stamminger 2010).



Figure 5: Vertical axis washing machine, agitator. Source: iStockphoto (2013)



Figure 6: Vertical axis 'high-efficiency' washing machine, Impeller, Source: iStockphoto (2013)

Occasionally, impeller-type washing machines are also referred to as "high efficient washers" (especially in North America) due to an improved washing process and a reduced water usage compared to inefficient agitator-type models. Nevertheless, a higher usage of bleach and other detergents, as well as washing treatments with relevant amounts of water and energy outside the washing machine may indicate only a mediocre level of washing performance provided also by these machines.

#### Techno-economical saving potentials

#### Description of the model calculations

The bottom-up model used for the purposes of this paper is a simplified version of the DEESY Stock Model developed by the Wuppertal Institute, which assesses scenarios with focus on energy and water consumption as well as costs<sup>3</sup>. According to the development of the stock volume<sup>4</sup> and the typical lifetime of an appliance (15 years for cold appliances and washing machines), the model calculates the per-annum market volume for each year of the covered scenario time period (2010 to 2030), including the first-time acquisition as well as the replacement of end-of-life appliances. The techno-economical characteristics of the typical product purchased in a certain year are dependent on the Base Case and Best Available Technology (BAT) available at the time of purchase and on a weighting factor reflecting the level of energy efficiency for the respective scenario. Future BAT technology, named BNAT (best not yet available technology), is becoming more efficient in terms of electricity and water consumption each year and is regarded in the model as well as additional costs for these product improvements. The modelling of the historical appliance stock purchased within the 15 years in advance of the covered scenario time period (1995 to 2009) is essentially based on the same methodology. However, the development of these preceding years is additionally calibrated for the base year (2010) to meet the expected stock volume in this year<sup>5</sup>.

In order to assess the techno-economical saving potential of the most efficient appliances, subsequently two scenarios are compared: a Baseline<sup>6</sup> scenario, in which Base Case products have 100 % market share after 2010, and an Energy Efficiency scenario, assuming a 100 % market share of BAT products. The characteristics of the Base Case and BAT products are based on the country specific bottom-up analysis, which was performed as preparatory work for the modelling. Account has been taken to different regional economic and market specific conditions. Consequently, the savings in terms of energy, water and costs depend on the year and the world region considered respectively.

#### **Results for domestic cold appliances**

As the results from the model calculations show, large efficiency improvements can be achieved globally if the most energy-efficient appliances available on the market are systematically purchased instead of standard technologies. Despite the expected 27 % increase of the worldwide cold appliance stock in use by 2020 and the 62 % increase by 2030, the annual electricity consumption of domestic cold appliances could be reduced from 650 TWh in 2010 to 475 TWh by 2020 and to about 400 TWh by 2030 (see Figure 7) with the best available technologies on the market. The potential would be even larger and achieved faster if old and inefficient cold appliances would be replaced and recycled before they have reached the end of their technical lifetime.

The analysis also shows that the electricity consumption of domestic cold appliances per unit varies very much between the different world regions. As this consumption is not proportional to the typical appliances size in the respective region it can only be explained by different efficiencies.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> For more information on the DEESY stock-based bottom-up accounting model see ECN (2011)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Future stock volume (2020, 2030) based on CLASP PAMS2007 model (CLASP / LBNL 2007)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Existing stock volume of domestic cold appliances in 2010 is based on own elaboration by Wuppertal Institute.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The baseline scenario assumes a moderate efficiency improvement according to historical trends



Figure 7: Development of the worldwide domestic cold appliances stock 2010-2030 and the total electricity consumption in the Baseline Scenario versus the Efficiency (BAT) Scenario. Source: own calculation; WEC 2009 and IEA 2010 for current electricity consumption and population data

World regions	Present sit	uation	Results of model calculations for 2030			
	Stock number domestic cold appliance s [m]	Electricity consumptio n [TWh/year]	Stock number domestic cold appliance s [m]	Baseline Scenario electricity consumpti on [TWh/yea r]	Efficiency Scenario electricity consumpti on [TWh/yea r]	Electricity savings Efficiency Scenario vs. Baseline Scenario
NAM	209	123.3	265	117.7	62.0	47 %
WEU / EEU	335	126.3	411	111.1	59.1	47 %

PAO	108	48.6	137	49.6	28.0	44 %
NIS	69	28.5	125	39.2	17.8	54 %
AFR	49	20.4	107	33.7	18.1	46 %
СРА	260	108.3	570	179.7	96.5	46 %
SAS	63	40.2	138	54.5	29.4	46 %
PAS	82	31.8	148	48.1	29.2	39 %
MEA	142	60.4	256	80.9	43.5	46 %
LAM	118	61.6	175	60.2	30.1	50 %
Total	1,435	649.4	2,332	774.8	413.8	47 %

If every time a domestic cold appliance is purchased in the efficiency scenario, the most efficient model is chosen instead of a standard model, 240 TWh of electricity and 158 million tons of  $CO_2$ -eq can be saved per year in 2020. Moreover, in 2030, even 360 TWh of electricity and 235 million tons of  $CO_2$ -eq can be saved per year. Based on the assumptions of the performed model calculation<sup>7</sup>, over the whole lifetime of the energy-efficient refrigerators and freezers purchased until 2030, the total economic benefit (discounted) is 193 billion EUR<sup>8</sup> for end-user perspective and 105 billion EUR for societal perspective. However, the actually achievable savings are dependent on varying investment costs and electricity prices in the different world regions. For example, the incremental investment costs for BAT could be very low in countries where already high efficiency standards are established and high where no market and no manufacturer of efficient cold appliances exist.

Therefore, regionally optimized policy measures and programs have to address this technical efficiency improvement potential under consideration of cost-effectiveness for society as well as for end-users.

#### Results for washing machines

In order to assess the techno-economical saving potential of the most energy and water efficient washing machines, an identical approach to the domestic cold appliances has been followed. This also includes a comprehensive country specific bottom-up analysis and the same two-scenario comparison based on a typical lifetime of 15 years for washing machines.

As the results from the model calculations show, large efficiency improvements can be achieved globally if the most energy and water efficient washing machines available on the market are systematically purchased instead of standard technologies. By this means, a relative decoupling of the growth of the worldwide annual energy and water consumption and the increasing stock of domestic washing machines can be achieved. While the stock is expected to grow by 36 % until 2020, in the efficiency scenario the energy consumption would only increase by 12 % and the water consumption by 5 %. Although the stock is expected to grow by another 26 % until 2030, the increase of the energy and water consumption would be limited to half of that value (13 %), each for energy as well as water consumption (see Figure 8 and Figure 9). Thereby, higher living standards, represented by increasing appliance ownership rates, a more frequent usage of warm wash cycles as well as a technological change towards more water efficient horizontal axis washing machines already have

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Presuming an average worldwide electricity price for all world regions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> For the purposes of the model calculation, all monetary figures are provided in EUR 2010

been anticipated. In contrast, in the baseline scenario, the energy and water consumption would increase by 43 % and 15 % by 2020 and additionally by 35 % and 18 % by 2030.

If every time a washing machine is purchased, the most energy- and water-efficient model is chosen instead of a standard model, 31.5 TWh of electricity, 2.2 billion  $m^3$  and 20.8 million tons of CO<sub>2</sub>-eq can be saved per year in 2020. Moreover, in 2030, even 65 TWh of electricity, 3.6 billion  $m^3$  of water and 42.4 million tons of CO<sub>2</sub>-eq can be saved per year.



Figure 8: Total electricity consumption of domestic washing machines, Baseline Scenario compared to the Efficiency Scenario (Source: own calculation; WEC 2009 and IEA 2010 for current electricity consumption and population data)



Figure 9: Total water consumption of domestic washing machines, Baseline Scenario compared to the Efficiency Scenario (Source: own calculation; WEC 2009 and IEA 2010 for population data)

World regions	Present situation		Results of model calculations for 2030			
	Stock number domestic washing machines [m]	Electricity consumption [TWh/year]	Stock number domestic washing machines [m]	Baseline Scenario electricity consumptio n [TWh/year]	Efficiency Scenario electricity consumptio n [TWh/year]	Electricity savings Efficiency Scenario vs. Baseline Scenario
AFR	6.4	1.3	19.9	2.63	1.78	32.2%
СРА	247.4	7.4	462.0	67.65	34.46	49.1%
LAM	69.2	5.6	124.3	9.35	7.24	22.6%

MEA	38.5	9.3	70.5	13.69	9.51	30.6%
NAM	106.8	15.9	148.6	18.87	14.56	22.8%
NIS	58.3	11.3	65.2	8.64	5.91	31.6%
PAO	71.0	6.1	85.7	7.48	5.48	26.8%
PAS	28.4	2.7	70.9	7.25	4.80	33.8%
SAS	20.7	1.6	151.0	13.61	8.31	38.9%
WEU / EEU	192.9	31.0	239.8	29.11	21.21	27.1%
Total	839.6	92.2	1,437.9	178.3	113.3	36.5%

World regions	Present situatio	n	Results of model calculations for 2030			
	Stock number domestic washing machines [m]	Water consumption [km <sup>3</sup> /year]	Stock number domestic washing machines [m]	Baseline Scenario water consumptio n [km <sup>3</sup> /year]	Efficiency Scenario water consumptio n [km <sup>3</sup> /year]	Water savings Efficiency Scenario vs. Baseline Scenario
AFR	6.4	0.2	19.9	0.47	0.41	13%
СРА	247.4	3.3	462.0	5.16	4.02	22%
LAM	69.2	2.4	124.3	3.12	2.79	11%
MEA	38.5	1.1	70.5	1.19	1.04	12%
NAM	106.8	3.9	148.6	3.62	3.29	9%
NIS	58.3	0.7	65.2	0.56	0.49	12%
PAO	71.0	3.5	85.7	2.88	2.74	5%
PAS	28.4	1.0	70.9	1.62	1.42	12%
SAS	20.7	1.0	151.0	5.49	4.56	17%
WEU_E EU	192.9	2.0	239.8	1.94	1.69	13%
Total	839.6	19.1	1,437.9	26.0	22.4	14%

#### Policy strategies to address the potentials

The previous section has illustrated the possible energy savings of refrigerators and washing machines worldwide and in different world regions. This means that energy efficient appliances can bring large energy savings, while providing the same or better service. The energy efficiency efforts do not only achieve high energy saving potentials.  $CO_2$  emissions can also be reduced cost-effectively from a life-cycle perspective and thus provide economic benefits. Furthermore, several

other co-benefits like energy security, health and increased competitiveness can be realised. By offering innovative products this can open up new (niche) markets, which will likely have a positive effect on the economy as a whole. Co-benefits increase social and/or individual welfare and come as a free add-on to the direct benefits of energy efficiency for investors.

However, there are still lots of inefficient appliances available on the market and market forces alone are often unlikely to bring a very high energy-efficient market development about (Sorrel et al. 2004; Thomas 2007). There are various barriers to manufacture, sell or buy energy efficient products that hinder a market transformation towards energy efficiency. All elements and levels of the appliances value chain have their own and specific characteristics. Financial, knowledge and technical barriers as well as lack of interest and the investor-user dilemma are some of the major reasons why there is a gap between the saving potentials and the energy savings actually realised by markets alone (Thomas 2006; IEA 2008).

Policy is needed to overcome these respective barriers and to exploit the existing potentials. Policymakers have to intervene and develop adequate strategies to change this market development. The overall goal for policy makers should be to move the market towards to the best available technology and perspectively to the best not yet available technology (BNAT) with very high energy efficiency levels. Almost half of the energy saving potential could be achieved from the worldwide adoption of the most stringent energy efficiency regulations. Furthermore there are lots of energy efficiency technologies, which are already far beyond existing regulations, so the other half of the potential lies in reaching this "best practice" level. This emphasises that energy efficiency policy is incomplete. Even in economies that already have policies requiring or promoting high energy efficiency levels, significant savings are possible. Where requirements are limited, the savings from accelerated adoption of leading policies would stimulate much larger savings (Wuppertal Institute 2012).

Therefore, it is highly advisable for policy makers all over the world to pay attention to the large potentials and to energy efficiency improvements. It is important to abandon the prevailing approach of 'as-fast-and-as-cheap-as-possible' because it will be wasting vast amounts of energy and money throughout their lifetime. To tap this tremendous potential, appropriate and integrated packages of policies and measures are necessary, supporting very efficient appliances.

The first step is to pay attention to every actor in the value chain. By knowing the barriers and incentives of each type of actor, the policy package can be adapted to guarantee desired results and achieve the greatest possible energy savings. In order to be able to adequately design and implement energy efficiency policies and measures, political decision makers must have good knowledge of the concerned market actors and thoroughly analyse the specific incentives and barriers faced by each of them. These market actors are for instance manufactures, whole sales, retailers, investors and users. All of these actors make decisions that can influence the energy performance of appliances in question.

The second step concerns the following question: How can the incentives that market actors have be strengthened, and how can the barriers be overcome. Experience from pro-active countries and an analysis of market barriers show that several instruments need to interact and reinforce each other in a comprehensive policy package (cf. next box). Every policy measure is tailored to overcome one or a few of the mentioned market barriers, but none can address all these barriers (Tholen & Thomas 2011). The impact of well-combined policies is often synergistic i.e. the impact of two or more instruments is often larger than the sum of the individual expected impact. Therefore different policies addressing the demand- and supply side of markets should be properly combined according to regional circumstances. As pro-active countries have demonstrated, a comprehensive and coherent policy package for energy efficiency will usually provide a sound balance between clear ambitious mandatory measures, incentives, information and capacity building. It also needs a governance framework to enable implementation of these policies.

This governance framework includes a concrete and ambitious roadmap, an organisation to design, implement and monitor the policy (like an energy agency), and an independent test procedure. Furthermore a compliance system, and financial mechanisms such as Energy Saving Obligations and Energy Efficiency Funds to realise a successful implementation of specific policies in this package are needed. These specific policies are the following:

Legal provisions on minimum energy performance standards (MEPS) reduce search and transaction costs and partly overcome the investor-user dilemma. They are a cost-effective way to eliminate the segment of the worst energy-performing products from the market. However, they do not harness additional savings potentials due the most energy-efficient products in such cases. Therefore, appliance standards are often combined with labelling and rebates in order to give incentives for investments beyond the level required by the MEPS. Financial or other incentives can give the decisive push that makes people opt for the more energy-efficient investments. In addition, financing instruments such as soft loans can be needed to overcome potential incremental costs for BAT products and to enable investors to make more sustainable upfront investments.

To pull the market even more into an energy efficient direction, information programmes, trainings for sales staff and manufacturers, and especially procurement programmes can influence the market to promote energy efficient appliances. With procurement programmes but also with bulk purchasing projects and competitions it is even possible to go beyond the best available technology and to support a market development towards BNAT with very high energy-efficiency levels.

This general description of a comprehensive policy package should be adapted to national circumstances and to specific appliances. Each appliance and each market has its own specificity and the barriers as well as incentives for the market transformation are also diverse. Therefore the package must be adapted to specific circumstances of single product groups. For examples refrigerators have several specialities like the high energy and cost saving potentials as well as many differing technical characteristics (volume and additional features like climate class, built-in appliance, free-standing freezer, 'no-frost' function, etc). Policy makers should pay attention to all these factors and create policy packages that reach the desired results.

The next box shows how China has implemented an overall policy package to influence the market development of refrigerators and freezers. In some areas China is very successful with its policy package and is on a good way to promote energy efficiency.

China achieved a substantial transformation towards higher energy efficiency in the refrigerator market using a policy package adapted to its national conditions. Along with the rapid economic growth of the country in recent years, the sales figures of appliances also increased. The sales figures of top-rated energy-efficient refrigerators skyrocketed from 360,000 to 46 million units in nine years (from 1999 to 2008). In light of this development, it must be a top priority to the government to phase out the production of the least efficient products while promoting sales of highly efficient ones. Population size and increasing prosperity make China a highly attractive market for appliance manufacturers. This makes energy efficiency policies in the country even more important as policies can have huge impacts on greenhouse gas (GHG) levels. Moreover, China is regarded as the world's workbench. Thus, policy makers can implement regulation targeting the production process of appliances directly. Due to this situation the Chinese government introduced a comprehensive policy package to increase the energy efficiency of appliances.

The 11th Five-Year plan (FYP) was established in 2005 and aimed at reducing energy intensity by 20% up to 2010. For the exemplary product group refrigerators, this meant that their average energy-efficiency indicator was to be reduced to between 62% and 50% by 2010, meaning they would be in the two most energy-efficient classes of the energy label (Zhou et al. 2010, p6442). According to results mentioned in the National 12th Five Year Plan, the actually achieved energy conservation and GHG emission reduction was 49%. The 12th Five-Year plan for 2011 to 2015 targets a total energy and carbon intensity reduction by 17%.

China has committed to achieving these goals through different measures. There has been a minimum energy performance standard (MEPS) since 1990 in order to eliminate very inefficient models from the market. The standards are mandatory, but compliance is sill a big issue and needs to be targeted (Zhou 2010). In addition to this MEPS regulation a mandatory comparative energy labelling system (CELS) was established in 2005. The label is based on the coloured arrows design of the European Union's appliance energy label. However, it uses number 1 to 5 instead of characters A to G. The rating goes from grade 1, which counts for refrigerators having an energy consumption of at most 55% of the MEPS and goes over grade 2: 55-65%, grade 3: 65-80%, grade 4: 80-90%, to grade 5: 90-100%. The mandatory label uses the MEPS as a reference point for the thresholds. Refrigerators not meeting the MEPS will not be labelled, nor even produced (Fridley 2008, p. 6 f). This mandatory label provides market transparency on the energy efficiency of

appliances to consumers.

Furthermore, China introduced a voluntary endorsement label, and refrigerators will only be provided with it, if they have an energy performance of at least a grade 2 level of the energy information label. To inform the consumers about the labels and energy efficiency in general several information and education campaigns were implemented. The energy efficiency information week takes place annually and focuses on different themes. A consumer education programme has focused on awareness raising towards energy efficient refrigerator advantages and the willingness of purchasing them. Assistance was also granted to engineers from refrigerator manufacturers who received training in international technology options. The international organisation, Top10 China, establishes an internet-based platform to provide independent and up-to-date information on the best available energy efficient products in the Chinese market.

The Chinese government also established a law obliging state agencies and organisations to purchase only energy-efficient appliances. The "Energy Efficient Products For Government Procurement" law tries to raise awareness of higher standards and the benefits of purchasing energy efficient appliances by setting a good example to the people. A series of energy efficiency appliance lists have been submitted by the Ministry of Finance and the National Development and Reform Commission (NDRC), where all appliances covered by that scheme are listed (State Council Office 2007).

Moreover, in 2012, the Ministry of Finance (MoF) has launched a financial incentive programme offering grants for the purchase of energy saving refrigerators (and other appliances) of up to 70-400 Yuan depending on the product size. Consumers receive the subsidies immediately at the retailers. Funding, which totals 26.5 billion yuan (~3.3 billion EUR), has been provided for the period from June 2012 until May 2013.

#### Conclusion

Within the bigEE project, an extensive data gathering was carried out for domestic cold appliances and washing machines worldwide as well as a modeling work, in order to assess the saving potentials in terms of energy, water, GHG emissions and costs. The results show between 2010 and 2030 a stock increase of more than 60 % worldwide for cold appliances and of about 70 % for washing machines. Consequently, in the baseline scenario, which already includes a moderate efficiency improvement, the electricity consumption is to be expected to rise by 20 % for cold appliances. For washing machines, even an increase of 93 % for electricity and 36 % for the water consumption is expected.

However the modeling has also shown that with existing (BAT) and coming (BNAT) technologies, it is almost possible to halve worldwide electricity demand for both, residential cold appliances and washing machines in comparison to this baseline in year 2030. In the efficiency scenario absolute reductions are possible for cold appliances in all regions, even in developing and emerging regions such as CPA with China, where the stock is expected at least to double within 20 years. One additional outcome of this study is that these electricity savings are cost-effective both for end-users and society.

However, this market transformation towards energy efficient appliances is unlikely to happen itself, therefore policy packages are needed. Within the bigEE-project a new theoretical and empirical foundation has been developed that shows what is a necessary and advisable package of policies for energy efficiency in appliances.

#### References

- AATCC (2011): American Association of Textile Chemists and Colorists: High Efficiency Washers in North America, http://www.aatcc.org/testing/resources/docs/204-HiEfWash.pdf
- ACEEE (2011): American Council for an Energy-Efficient Economy, Washington, D.C http://www.aceee.org/topics/laundry, Accessed: 09/2011
- Ademe (2009): Energy Efficiency Trends and Policies in the Household & Tertiary sectors in the EU 27, Lessons from the ODYSSEE/MURE project. Paris, France
- Berkholz, P., Stamminger, R., Kruschwitz, A., & Brückner, A. (2006): Definition und Ermittlung verhaltensabhängiger Energiesparpotentiale beim Betrieb elektrischer Haushaltswaschmaschinen. Bonn.
- Bertoldi, Paolo; Atanasiu, Bogdan (2007): Electricity Consumption and Efficiency Trends in the Enlarged European Union - Status report 2006-, Luxembourg
- Biermayer, P. J. / Lin, J. (2004): Clothes Washer Standards in China the Problem of Water and Energy Trade-offs in Establishing Efficiency Standards, Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory (LBNL), Conference Paper, 2004 ACEEE Summer Study, August 22 - August 27, 2004 2004-05-19, LBNL-55115
- Cabanas, F.G. Arroo (2009): Electric energy saving potential by substitution of domestic refrigerators in Mexico. In: Energy Policy 37 (2009) 4737–4742
- CEC (2010): 2010 Appliance Efficiency Regulations.
- CLASP / LBNL (2007): CLASP Policy Analysis Modeling System (PAMS) to forecast the impacts of S&L policies, http://www.clasponline.org/en/ResourcesTools/Tools/PolicyAnalysisModelingSystem
- De la Rue du Can, Stephane et al. (2009): Residential and Transport Energy Use in India: Past Trend and Future Outlook. Berkeley, USA
- Department of the Environment, Water, Heritage and the Arts (2008): Energy Use in the Australian Residential Sector 1986 2020, Canberrra, Australia
- ECN (2011): Modelling the energy use of products: A review of approaches from practice, http://www.ecn.nl/docs/library/report/2011/e11027.pdf
- Faberi, S. / Presutto, M. / Stamminger, R. / Scialdoni, R. / Mebane, W. / Esposito, R. (2007): Preparatory Studies for Eco-design Requirements of EuPs (Tender REN/D1/40-2005), LOT 14: Domestic Washing Machines and Dishwashers Final Report, Draft Version, Tasks 1-2, www.ecowet-domestic.org
- Foran, Tira et al. (2010): Securing energy efficiency as a high priority: scenarios for common appliance electricity consumption in Thailand. In: Energy Efficiency (2010) 3:347–364
- Fridley, D. / Aden, N. / Zhou, N. / Lin, J. (2007): Impacts of China's Current Appliance Standards and Labeling Program to 2020, Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory Environmental Energy Technologies Division, March 2007
- Fridley, David et al. (2008): China Refrigerator Information Label: Specification Development and Potential Impact. Berkeley, USA
- GfK Retail and Technology Asia (2011): Washing Machine Sales Spur Growth of the Major Domestic Appliances Sector in Southeast Asia: GfK Asia, July 21, 2011, Singapore, http://www.gfkrt.com/asia/news\_events/news/news\_single/008395/index.en.html
- Hagan, Essel Ben et al. (2006): Refrigerator Efficiency in Ghana: Tailoring an appliance market transformation program design for Africa. Preprint LBNL 61251

- Harrington, Lloyd; Holt, Shane (2002): Matching World's Best Regulated Efficiency Standards Australia's success in adopting new refrigerator MEPS. ACEEE Summer Study 2002
- Hollanda, Lavinia; Dias, Victor Pina; Dutra, Joisa (2010): Household Electricity Demand in Brazil: a microdata approach, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil
- International Energy Agency (IEA); Organisation for Economic Co-Operation and Development (OECD) (2003): Cool Appliances. Policy Strategies for Energy-Efficient Homes
- International Energy Agency (IEA); Agence Francaise de Développement (AFD) (2008): Promoting energy efficiency investments. Case studies in the residential sector. France.
- International Energy Agency (IEA) (2010): Key World Energy Statistics. Paris, France
- International Energy Agency (IEA) (2010): Energy Efficiency Governance: Handbook
- International Energy Agency (IEA); Agence Francaise de Développement (AFD) (2008): Promoting energy efficiency investments. Case studies in the residential sector. France.
- IEA-4E (2011A): Efficient Electrical End-Use Equipment, Documents related to the mapping and benchmarking of Domestic Washing Machines, http://mappingandbenchmarking.iea-4e.org/matrix?type=product&id=3
- Irrek, Wolfgang; Jarczynski, Lutz (2007): Overall Impact Assessment of Current Energy Efficiency Policies and Potentials 'Good Practice' Policies. Within the framework of the AID-EE project
- Josephy, B. / Bush, E. / Nipkow, J. / Attali, S. (2011): Washing Machines, Key Criteria for Best Available Technology (BAT), Topten International Services (Paris, France), http://www.topten.eu/uploads/File/039\_Barbara\_Josephy\_final\_Washing.pdf
- Letschert, Virginie E. et al. (2007): Coping with Residential Electricity Demand in India's Future How Much Can Efficiency Achieve? Berkeley, USA
- Lin, Jiang (2006): Mitigating Carbon Emissions: the Potential of Improving Efficiency of Household Appliances in China. Berkeley, USA
- Lu, Wei (2006): Potential energy savings and environmental impact by implementing energy efficiency standard for household refrigerators in China. In: Energy Policy 34 (2006) 1583–1589
- Ministry of Economic Development (2010) New Zealand Energy Data File. Wellington, New Zealand
- Murakami, Shuzo et al. (2009): Overview of energy consumption and GHG mitigation technologies in the building sector of Japan. In: Energy Efficiency (2009) 2:179–194
- Natural Resources Canada (2010): Energy Use Data Handbook. Ottawa, Canada
- Neubauer, Max (2011): Appliance and Equipment Efficiency Standards. In: 2011 State Energy Efficiency Scorecard, ACEEE
- Pakula, C. / Stamminger, R. (2010): Electricity and water consumption for laundry washing by washing machine worldwide, Energy Efficiency (2010) 3:365–382 DOI 10.1007/s12053-009-9072-8
- Presutto, Milena et al. (2007): Preparatory Studies for Eco-design Requirements of EuPs, LOT 13: Domestic Refrigerators & Freezers, Final Report.
- productivity.in (2009): Productivity & Competitiveness of Light Electrical Industry in India Report 1, Main Report, Department of Industrial Policy & Promotion (DIPP), Ministry of Commerce and Industry, Government of India, study submitted by the National Productivity Council, Economic Services Group
- Qader, Mohammed Redha (2009): Electricity Consumption and GHG Emissions in GCC Countries. In: Energies 2009, 2, 1201-1213

- RECS (2009): US Residential Energy Consumption Survey 2009, carried out by the U.S. Energy Information Administration, EIA, http://www.eia.gov/consumption/residential/data/2009/
- Schaeffer, Roberto et al (2008): The potential for electricity conservation and carbon dioxide emission reductions in the household sector of Brazil. In: Energy Efficiency (2009) 2:165-178.
- Sorrell, Steve; O'Malley, Eoin; Schleich, Joachim; Scott, Sue: The Economics of Energy Efficiency, Barriers to Cost-Effective Investment. Cheltenham. Edward Elgar Publishing Limited. 2004
- State Council Office (2007): The circular of establishing institutions of obligatory government procurement of energy efficient products
- The World Bank (2006): Pakistan Household Use of Commercial Energy
- The World Bank (2008): Residential consumption of electricity in India, documentation of data and methodology, Background Paper India: Strategies for Low Carbon Growth, DRAFT, July 2008, The World Bank, <u>http://moef.nic.in/downloads/public-information/Residentialpowerconsumption.pdf</u>
- The World Bank (2009): Changing Patterns of Household Expenditures on Energy, A Case Study of Indonesia and Pakistan
- Tholen, Lena; Thomas, Stefan (2011): Combining theoretical and empirical evidence: Policy packages to make energy efficiency in appliances happen. In: EEDAL `11 Energy Efficiency in Domestic Appliances and Lighting 2011
- Thomas, Stefan (2006): Aktivitäten der Energiewirtschaft zur Förderung der Energieeffizienz auf der Nachfrageseite in liberalisierten Strom- und Gasmärkten europäischer Staaten: Kriteriengestützter Vergleich der politischen Rahmenbedingungen. Wuppertal
- U.S. Department of Energy (DOE) (2009): 2008 Buildings Energy Data Book.
- U.S. Department of Energy (DOE) (2009): Refrigerator Market Profile 2009
- Vendrusculo, Edson Adriano et al (2008): Life cycle cost analysis of energy efficiency design options for refrigerators in Brazil. In: Energy Efficiency (2009) 2:271–286.
- World Energy Council (WEC); ADEME (2004): Energy Efficiency: A worldwide Review. Indicators, Policies, Evaluation. London
- World Energy Council (WEC) (2009): World Energy and Climate Policy: 2009 Assessment. Geneva, Switzerland.
- Water and Energy Commission Secretariat (WECS) (2010): Energy Sector Synopsis Report 2010. Kathmandu, Nepal
- Wuppertal Institute (2012): Why policy needs to assist building and appliance markets to become energy-efficient.
- Zhou, Nan (2010): Overview of current Energy efficiency policies in China, 2009: in Energy Policy 38 (2010)

#### **Internet References**

www.bigee.net

www.topten.info

## Measuring Electric Energy Efficiency in Portuguese Households: a tool for energy policy

#### Thomas Weyman-Jones<sup>1</sup>

School of Business and Economics, Loughborough University, UK

Júlia Mendonça Boucinha

#### Catarina Feteira Inácio

EDP Serviço Universal, Lisboa, Portugal

Abstract: There is a great interest in measuring the efficiency of energy use in households, and this is an area where EDP has done research in both data collection and methodology. This paper reports on a survey of electric energy use in Portuguese households, and reviews and extends the analysis of how efficiently households use electrical energy. In addition, we compare the stratified cross-section analysis with a time-series study to extend our understanding of how to measure energy efficiency.

It is relatively common to model energy efficiency in terms of an energy intensity or electricity intensity relationship with aggregate income or aggregate consumption. A new approach to this problem was suggested by Filippini and Hunt (Energy Economics 2012) [1] in which an econometric energy demand model was estimated to control for the exogenous variables determining the energy demand. The variation in energy efficiency over time and space could then be estimated by applying econometric efficiency analysis to determine the variation in energy efficiency. In this paper we apply this approach to the Portuguese electricity sector in particular. The analysis allows the identification of priority areas for the implementation of measures to enhance electricity efficiency. On the other hand, it is also possible to evaluate the success of the energy efficiency measures, which have been launched by Government and the Regulator, in the recent past.

Keywords: Electric Energy Efficiency, households, econometric efficiency analysis

#### Introduction and Contribution of this Paper

EDP Serviço Universal has carried out a structured interview and survey of about 3500 Portuguese households that asked about appliance ownership, family income and family size. The sample was stratified by region, subscribed demand categories (kVA) and actual electric energy consumption bands (kWh). The appliance ownership covered space heating/cooling, refrigeration, cooking and washing, and the survey applied to ownership levels in 2008, before the recent economic crisis dominated economic decision making, allowing the sample findings to be relevant to the long term. The survey complemented earlier surveys of the same variables. These data can be used to model the electric energy efficiency of the households in the Portuguese mainland.

The aim of this paper is to show the results from the application of an econometric approach to evaluate energy efficiency to this cross-section data set. The fact that the survey was conducted in 2008 means that the results are illustrative of the analysis that could now be updated with more recent surveys, as consumers' behaviour may have changed in the recent past. The same method

<sup>1</sup> Corresponding author - T.G.Weyman-jones@lboro.ac.uk, School of Business and Economics, Loughborough University, Leicestershire LE11 3TU UK, Direct Line: +44 (0)1509 222710, Fax: +44 (0)1509 223910

was applied to a time series data set also collected by EDP on electric energy use in households in Portugal.

This new approach is based on a recent study by Filippini & Hunt (2012) [3] on energy efficiency within the European Union. The paper begins with a review of the datasets collected by EDP, and then moves on to the different ways in which these can be modelled to understand energy efficiency amongst households in Portugal, according to region and subscribed demand, and also over time.

#### Data sample 1: cross section study of EDP customers in 2008

The first cross section sample, which was collated from interviews with household customers, was based on EDP consumption data for 2006, and it was stratified by region, subscribed demand categories (kVA) and actual electric energy consumption bands (kWh). The following figure illustrates the sample distribution. Interviews took place during 2008.



Figure 1: Overall number of customers (population) and sample stratification

The data collected includes information on appliance ownership per region and for each selected group of subscribed demand. The following graphs exhibit the same data broken down according to family income and family size. This information is relevant for demand forecasting purposes, as it gives an idea of the saturation levels for the ownership rates in the different appliances. In the case of dishwashing machines, for instance, the rate of ownership of the highest income class (84%) may be used as a proxy for the saturation level, whereas only 40% of the households in the highest income group have clothes' driers; the comparison with the average (58% and 27%, respectively) shows the potential increase for these appliances. The data also shows that, despite the fact that bigger families tend to have more appliances, families with more than four persons have lower rates of ownership of appliances like the dishwahing machine or electric oven and stove, possibly due to income constraints. The opposite is true for freezers.





Figure 2: Ownership Rates vs. Family Income


Figure 3: Ownership Rates According to Family Size

Turning now to the efficiency analysis, we have selected the following variables:

- ° Household Electricity Consumption (y);
- <sup>°</sup> Clients (for electricity consumption), i. e. the number of customers (x<sub>1</sub>);Family Income (x<sub>2</sub>);
- Additional variable to explain inefficiency: electric Heating ownership/ electric water heating ownership

The following graphs illustrate how household electricity consumption varies across regions/ subscribed demand bands with the variation in clients and family income. Band 6, marked in red, exhibits a slightly different behaviour, as the number of consumers in this band is lower, but consumption is relatively higher; this fact is taken into account through a dummy variable (the intercept moves upwards):





Figure 4: Household Electricity Consumption versus Clients

Figure 5: Household Electricity Consumption versus Family Income

#### **Econometric Modelling of Energy Efficiency**

It is relatively common to model energy efficiency in terms of an energy intensity or electricity intensity relationship with aggregate income or aggregate consumption. A new approach to this problem was suggested by Filippini and Hunt (*Energy Economics* 2012) [1] in which an econometric energy demand model was estimated to control for the exogenous variables determining the energy demand. The variation in energy efficiency over time and space could then be estimated by applying econometric efficiency analysis to determine the variation in energy efficiency.

Energy efficiency is conventionally measured by the ratio of energy consumption (E) to a measure of aggregate national income or expenditure (Y), i.e. energy intensity is:

E/Y = energy consumption relative to income

However, this measure is too simple because other variables (Z) and random errors impact on the measured intensity, and therefore the efficiency relationship itself varies over time:

$$E = f(Y, Z, efficiency, errors)$$

Filippini & Hunt (2012) [1] suggested a regression model (to be precise the model of stochastic frontier analysis, SFA) of this relationship which includes two components in the error term:

$$E = f(Y, Z) + u + v$$

In this relationship we identify two types of error:

- ° u = inefficiency;
- ° v = measurement, specification, sampling error

The kernel relationship: f(Y, Z) however must be specified parametrically.

Therefore we can measure a stochastic demand frontier to judge energy efficiency, and a schematic representation of this is given in the figure 6 below.



Figure 6: SFA model of energy intensity: inefficiency ui stochastic error vi

Formally, we write ln  $y_i$  as the dependent variable and we let  $X_i$  represent the explanatory variables. The remaining variation in the dependent variable is due to a composite error term comprising inefficiency ( $u_i$ ) and idiosyncratic error ( $v_i$ ).

SFA Model: In 
$$y_i = a + bX_i + u_i + v_i$$
  
 $\hbar \not \exists$   
Composite error term

A measure for the presence or contribution of inefficiency is then derived from the variances of the error components

$$\gamma = \frac{\sigma_u^2}{\sigma_u^2 + \sigma_v^2}$$

We can interpret this parameter as follows:

 $\gamma$  = 0: no inefficiency, while  $\gamma$  = 1: errors are exclusively related with inefficiency.

Having fitted the regression model, we identify three curves in figure 6. The highest curve represents the average relationship amongst the variables, while the lowest curve represents the efficient frontier that relates minimum household energy use to the number of clients. The lowest curve is the frontier if there is no stochastic error in our data. Allowing for a stochastic error component means the efficient frontier is the intermediate curve, and it is the distance to this curve which is used to measure efficiency of energy use. We begin our analysis therefore by fitting this model to the cross-section data on household consumption.

## Electric Energy Efficiency in Households – cross-section sample

A Technical Effects model was adopted, in which additional variables are introduced as explanatory variables of the error term, and the distribution of inefficiency includes a constant (truncated) [4] [5].

Parametric kernel of the behavioural relationship:  $\ln E_i = \alpha + \beta_1 \ln FI_i + \beta_2 NC_i + \beta_3 D + u_i + v_i$ 

Assumed probability distributions for the inefficiency and error terms:  $u_i \sim |N(\mu_i, \sigma_u^2)| v_i \sim N(0, \sigma_v^2)$ 

Assumed model for how Z-variables affect the average inefficiency:  $\mu_i = \delta_0 + \mathbf{Z}'_i \delta$   $\forall i = 1...n$ 

Where:

E = Electricity Household Consumption

FI = family income;

NC = number of clients;

D = 1 for band 6 (subscribed demand > 20.7 kVA), D = 0 otherwise;

Z-variables = determinants of the inefficiency, including electric heating and electric water heating ownership

The results of fitting three different versions of this model which allow for different Z-variables to determine the inefficiency are shown in table 1 below with the significance codes for the probability-values associated with each coefficient.

	moo	del 1	model	2	model	3
Intercept	-0.791	****	-0.595		8.482	****
family income	0.762	****	0.762	****	0.356	*
clients					0.388	*
band 6 clients	0.627	***	0.538	**	0,577	*
Z-Intercept	0.256		0.444		-0,610	
Z-electric heating ownership	0.842				1.204	
Z-electric water heating ownership			0.155			
sigmaSq	0.120	****	0.117		0.097	***
gamma	1.000	****	0.712		0.008	
mean efficiency:	0.529		0.624		0.969	

Table 1: Results for the stochastic frontie	r analysis of electric ener	gy consumption
---	-----------------------------	----------------

Significance codes: 0 '\*\*\*\*' 0.001 '\*\*\*' 0.01 '\*\*' 0.025 '\*'

From these results, we conclude as follows: there is a strong positive relationship of energy consumption with family income and the relationship does shift for band 6 consumers. There is significant variation in energy efficiency in consumption patterns across the different regions averaging about 60 per cent. Electric heating and water heating increase the inefficiency but not in a statistically significant way.

Including also the number of clients as an explanatory variable, we find that the level of efficiency of the households shows a major improvement — mean efficiency increases to 96.9%. This result highlights the importance of using more than one explanatory variable to determine efficiency, which is one of the advantages of this method, in comparison with the simple energy intensity measurement, as referred above.

The Figures below illustrate the resulting measured performance of energy efficiency across region/ subscribed demand.



#### Figure 7: Electric Energy Efficiency Results

Dependent Variable: In Household Electricity Consumption

Independent Variables: In Family Income, In Number of Clients, Dummy for band 6

Additional variable to explain inefficiency: Electric Heating ownership

In summary, the results from this survey lead to the conclusion that priority regions to reduce inefficiency in electricity consumption are Greater Porto, Greater Lisbon and Alentejo. Litoral is the most efficient region. The additional information included in figure 8, relating to consumption per client, shows that the regions with higher consumption per client are not necessarily the less efficient, reflecting the importance of the additional explanatory variables.

Residential clients included in the band between 13.8 and 20.7 kVA of subscribed demand should also be considered as the main target for the promotion of electric energy efficiency measures.



## Figure 8: Electric Energy Efficiency per region according to 6 bands for subscribed demand

## Extending the Data Set

Having established that energy efficiency does vary across different regions and population groups, we now consider how it has varied through time for the household sector in the whole of the Portuguese mainland. The data are for 1970-2011 and forecasts for 2012-2015 [3]  $^{2}$ .

From amongst these additional yearly data collected by EDP, we select for initial analysis the following variables, to which we fitted a stochastic frontier analysis as we did with the cross-section data:

Household Electricity Consumption (*y*)

Private Consumption (of all goods and services)  $(x_1)$ 

Consumers for electricity consumption  $(x_2)$ 

The following graphs, figures 9 and 10, illustrate how household electricity consumption varies over time with the variation in  $x_1$  and  $x_2$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Part of these results was presented at the 4<sup>th</sup> Workshop on Efficiency and Productivity Analysis, Porto, 29<sup>th</sup> of October 2012.



## Figure 9: Household Electricity Consumption versus Private Consumption

Figure 10: Household Electricity Consumption versus Consumers

Source: Forecasts based on a model for Household electricity consumption developed by Pedro M. Martins and Júlia Boucinha (EDP).

## Electric Energy Efficiency in Households – SFA model

The behavioural relationship is an Error Component function estimated through Maximum Likelihood as we illustrated previously for the cross section sample.

Dependent Variable: In Household Electricity Consumption

Independent Variables: In Private Consumption, In Consumers

The sample consists of Aggregate residential electricity consumption in the Portuguese mainland over the period 1970-2011. Results are shown in the table below.

	coefficient	standard-error	t-ratio
constant	-11.30	0.42	-27.01
InPrivate Consumption	0.69	0.05	12.96
InConsumers	1.49	0.05	30.14
gamma	0.925	0.07	13.03
Log likelihood function	98.54		
LR	2.23		

#### Table 2: results for the stochastic frontier analysis of electric energy consumption

In the following figure we illustrate the resulting trend in the measured performance of energy efficiency over time, showing that electric energy efficiency in households has fallen in the recent

past. The introduction of a weather correction in the last few years leads to an increase in the efficiency levels, except in 2007 and 2008, when the mild weather conditions led to a reduction in electricity demand, whereas in the remaining years, from 2003 onwards, the temperature effects led to an increase in electricity consumption and, hence, an apparent reduction in efficiency.

Current forecasts for household electricity consumption are consistent with an increase in efficiency (99% in 2014-2015).



#### Figure 11: Electric Energy Efficiency Trend in Portuguese Households (%) - (1970-2015)

Dependent Variable: In Household Electricity Consumption

Independent Variables: In Consumers, In Private Consumption

Corrected for weather effects: 2003-2008 REN; 2009-2011 – estimates by J. J. Domingos and J. Boucinha

According to our estimates for the period 2008-12, expected savings from energy efficiency initiatives, from the Ministry of Economy and from the Regulator, were fully accomplished, if we take temperature effects into account. This fact is illustrated in figure 12, which shows the reduction in electricity consumption which would be needed to eliminate inefficiency in 2008, in comparison with our estimates for 2012. According to the efficiency level given by our model for 2008, electricity consumption in 2008 should have been lower than the actual value by 269 GWh, for the efficiency frontier to be attained (this value is illustrated in the first column of the graph). If we take into account the fact that the mild temperature conditions led to a reduction of 205 GWh in consumption, for normal weather conditions consumption in 2012, the corresponding reduction is only 321 GWh. Hence, we have an increase in efficiency of 152 GWh, given by the difference between the targets for the efficiency frontiers in the two years. These predicted efficiency changes are aligned closely with the official targets for energy efficiency savings (156 GWh).



Figure 12: Estimated Targets for electricity savings derived from the efficiency model vs expected savings from official initiatives

13

## Conclusions

In this paper we have outlined a new procedure for developing useful tools for modelling energy efficiency. These tools were successfully applied to electricity consumption in the Portuguese residential sector.

Through the application of an econometric model to a set of data collected from a survey launched to a sample of residential customers, we are able to identify priority regions and consumer bands to reduce inefficiency in electricity consumption. Hence, this approach may lead to the implementation of electricity saving measures in a more cost effective way.

Finally, through the application of the same method to a time-series data set, we related this efficiency measurement to policy developments in Portugal, concluding that the expected electricity savings from the efficiency measures introduced by the Government (essentially distribution of efficient light bulbs) and enhanced by the Regulator, through successive plans to promote efficiency in the use of electricity (PPEC – Planos de Promoção de Eficiência no Consumo), were fully realized. The corresponding savings, which amount to 150 GWh, represent 1.2% of household electricity consumption in 2012.

## References

[1] Hunt, L. C. and Filippini M. (2012), US Residential Energy Demand and Energy Efficiency: A Stochastic Demand Frontier Approach, *Energy Economics* 34, Issue 5, 1484-1491;

[2] Hunt, L. C., Filippini M., Zoric J., (2012), Residential Energy Demand and Energy Efficiency of the EU member states: A Stochastic frontier approach. Can be downloaded at: http://www.webmeets.com/files/papers/AIEE/2012/280/Filippini\_Hunt\_Zoric\_abstract.pdf [3] Weyman-Jones,\_Thomas, Boucinha, Júlia and Inacio, Catarina (2012), Electric Energy Efficiency Trend in Portuguese Households, 4<sup>th</sup> Workshop on Efficiency and Productivity Analysis, Porto

[4] Coelli, Tim and Arne Henningsen (2012), Frontier, contributed package for R, R Development Core Team (2012), *R: A language and environment for statistical computing*, R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. ISBN 3-900051-07-0, URL <u>http://www.R-project.org/</u>

[5] Kumbhakar, S. C., Lovell, C. A. K. (2003), Stochastic Frontier Analysis, Cambridge University Press.

# Lessons from a large scale energy consumption study in UK households

## Chris Evans Consumer Research Associates Ltd UK

#### ABSTRACT

Most authorities need to establish the types of data that can only be produced from household studies but are put off from commissioning them due to their anticipated cost and complexity. This paper demystifies these complexities and demonstrates a successful management structure that can be confidently adopted by any authority planning to commission such studies in future.

A study monitoring some consumer behaviour and the electricity consumption of all the domestic appliances in 250 households was completed in England in 2012. The results of the initial analyses and, uniquely, the entire 8Gb database have already been made publically available. Although this presentation will pick some headlines from the findings, its main theme is to identify the key features of the design and management processes that enabled this huge and complex research programme to be completed as specified, on time and on budget.

#### INTRODUCTION

There have been many small scale studies of energy consumption in households but few have been attempted on a national basis. Whilst the 250 households study reported here may seem large by comparison it is still small when compared to the 26million total of households in the UK.

(Note that the households monitored in this Study were all in England.)

The Study was commissioned by the authorities responsible for energy consumption and climate change policy in the UK. It was focussed on the consumption of electricity as additionally monitoring the consumption of gas and water would have more than doubled the cost of the planned programme.

There were two main needs that the study had to satisfy; one was identify what electrical products made the main contributions to consumption during the peak energy demand periods which, for the UK, occur during the coldest days of the winter. The other was to more reliably establish the average consumption for each of the major energy consuming products in domestic households. This data was needed for consumption projection modelling which, in the absence of any better data, would otherwise need to be based on assumptions about consumption patterns or on consumption data established in trials comprising just a few households. And, since the data from this study typically showed variations between the lowest and highest consuming households of some 500% for many of the different product types, it is clear that small scale household trials can yield very unreliable data due to the huge variation of household size, affluence and living patterns.

The purpose of this paper is not to discuss or share some of the findings of the study, remarkable though they were. Links to the reports of the findings are given at the end of this document. The purpose is to provide details of how this study was managed, what skills were needed to deliver it and what lessons were learnt that can be passed onto those undertaking their own large scale trials in the future.

#### THE ESSENTIALS

#### BUDGET

Undertaking a study to provide robust findings of national significance is likely to be a substantial undertaking. This study had a budget of €1million and an earlier, larger (400 households) study in Sweden is believed to have cost substantially more.

This UK Study was completed with an underspend of 5%.

#### **TEAM MAKE-UP**

The following roles each played an essential part in the delivery of the Study. All, except those making up the Governing Body, were contractors.

#### **GOVERNING BODY**

The Governing Body comprised of representatives of the commissioning Government departments. They initially drew up the specification of the Study and, following a competitive tendering exercise, appointed a consortium of contractors. All the bidders for the contract were consortia, this being a recognition that the variety of skills and experience required to deliver this Study do not normally exist within a single company.

The specification required the successful contractor to be responsible for all features of delivery i.e. the Government staff who commissioned the study would be left free to concentrate on its overall stewardship and so not be responsible for ensuring that specific parts of the programme were being delivered. All day-to-day management, all organisation, all problem solving etc. occurring within the Study being the responsibility of the contractors.

Once commissioned, the role of the Governing Body was to act as a Steering Group which met with the Managing Contractor (described below) every 3-4 months in order to monitor progress and to provide advice as needed. Over time, the Steering Group grew with additional members joining from the Government Departments that originally commissioned the Study. The diversity of steering group members represented a wide range of policy interests and this ensured the Study delivered data that could be used by several Government departments.

#### MANAGING CONTRACTOR

This Study required the delivery of a variety of technical solutions e.g. market research, installation of measuring equipment, data analysis etc. Put simply, it was the managing contractor's job to ensure the smooth and successful integration of all these technical activities. The importance of this role should not be underestimated. There is a myriad of things that can (and do) go wrong in a study of this size and complexity. So there is a continuous need to develop and implement contingency plans and have problem solving expertise to hand. Importantly, the Managing Contractor for the Study was not responsible for providing any of the technical solutions, so was able to focus entirely on the overall management of the study without being distracted by the responsibilities of having to deliver one of the technical solutions too.

The Managing contractor thus developed and then monitored progress on the complex timing and activity plans to ensure each of the 250 households was recruited, interviewed, had instrumentation installed and later removed, maintained their activity diaries etc. This process worked very efficiently as the Managing Contractor assigned one person to manage the whole project. This ensured good project continuity but it did place that individual under considerable pressure at times.

This Study was completed on time.

#### **TECHNICAL TEAM MEMBER (1) – MARKET RESEARCHER**

It was known that locating suitable households was a task that organisers of studies often underestimate. In the case of this Study, the demographic profile of the householder sample needed to be a good match to the overall population in England in terms of:

- Social grade using a classification system enabling a household and all of its members to be classified according to the occupation of the Chief Income Earner
- Number of people living in a household
- Life-stage
- Working status
- Property age
- Geographical region

Thus a challenging task best undertaken by a professional market research company that already has this type of statistical data available and who has the recruiting capacity to locate not just 250 suitable households but also enough additional ones to act as a reserve in case some households drop out after volunteering. In the case of this Study, the drop-out rate was close to 30% - a strong indication of how challenging this aspect of the Study was.

Employing the skills of a professional market research company meant that attitudinal interviews could be undertaken at each household in the study. And, whilst there, the interviewer was able to conduct an initial audit survey to establish what electrical appliances were available for use in each household.

The interview ensured that data about social grade, household size, etc. was collected. The attitudinal survey covered pro-environmental behaviours segmentation, views towards climate change and energy saving. The appliance audit revealed that the average household had 41 appliances; the minimum found was 15, the maximum 85.

#### **TECHNICAL TEAM MEMBER (2) – MEASURING INSTRUMENTATION SUPPLIER**

The supplier (contractor) for the Study provided all the measuring instrumentation, data capture processes and data analysis. Having a single contractor to provide all the instrumentation, data capture and storage was attractive because it meant just one entity was responsible for a key part of the process which involved the interplay of several technologies. In the case of this Study, that contractor was also responsible for data analysis. This brought certain benefits but also some drawbacks – these elements are discussed in a later section of this paper.

One of the choices that needed to be made at the time of commissioning the Study was what measurement technologies were to be employed. Each of the consortia that tendered for the Study were required to make their own proposals and most chose to submit just one option rather than a choice. The options submitted varied. There were 3 main variations:

- Serial wattmeters for plug loads, combined with clamp-on meters used for individual circuits at the consumer unit – all measuring devices having some form of integrated data storage. The data being manually downloaded by a technician when visiting that household.
- Serial wattmeters for plug loads, combined with clamp-on meters used for individual circuits at the consumer unit – all measuring devices having some form of integrated data storage. The data being automatically downloaded and transmitted using ZigBee type technology.
- Plug load data capture using Radio-Frequency Identification (RFID) technology. The data being automatically downloaded and transmitted utilising the household's Wi-Fi router.

The choice made for the Study was to employ serial wattmeters for plug loads, combined with clamp-on meters used for individual circuits at the consumer unit with data being manually downloaded by a technician when visiting that household. The reason for making this choice was that it was based on well-proven technology of known reliability. The newer, higher technology options, though attractive as some were physically less intrusive for householders, did not have such a well-established reputation for reliability. Although remote monitoring meant that data streams could be checked in real time, the cost of dispatching a technician to make the necessary repairs could become very high.

One other important choice about the instrumentation was whether to purchase it or rent it. Rental was much less costly than purchase but it meant that the client departments would not have the instrumentation available for further studies once this Study had been completed. In this case, the equipment was rented.

Details of the instrumentation used for the Study are provided in the literature referenced at the end of this paper.

#### **TECHNICAL TEAM MEMBER (3) – MEASURING INSTRUMENTATION FITTER**

All households needed to be visited by a technician to fit the measuring instrumentation and again sometime later to remove it. During their return visit, these technicians also downloaded the captured data onto laptop computers for subsequent onward transmission for storage in the database and eventual analysis.

For the tasks they had to do, the technicians needed two key attributes. One was that they needed to be qualified electricians as minor dismantling of household electrical supplies was occasionally necessary in order to fit the measuring devices. Clearly, any such task had to be undertaken in a completely safe manner and in accordance with wiring regulations, so only certified electricians were employed for this task. The other attribute was not a technical one, for it required inter-personal skills. These were necessary as the electricians were, apart for the market researcher who made the initial recruitment visit to each household, the only person to person contact that the householders had with those running the Study. These electricians were also going to spend as much as one day in the household fitting the instrumentation and, because this meant them visiting every room in the house, could be rather intrusive at a personal level. Therefore, it was particularly important that these electricians had very good "client management" skills i.e. were very polite, prepared to spend time with the householder to explain what they were doing, worked very tidily and were even attentive to small considerations such as removing their shoes when entering people's homes.

This consideration might seem unnecessary but these "ambassadors" received excellent feedback from householders and on a few occasions were able to identify pre-existing safety faults in household wiring systems that they were able draw to the attention of the householder.

Prior to commencing their role in the Study the electricians (two small teams of electricians covered the whole of England) were provided with substantial training by the instrument suppliers.

#### **TECHNICAL TEAM MEMBER (4) – DATA ANALYSER**

Studies like this generate a huge amount of data (220 million lines of data in this Study) and those who commission them may not understand this aspect well – so can find themselves being offered advice about the provisioning of databases and analytical solutions that they do not fully understand the implications of. Some of this impacted this Study. The solution offered by the measuring instrument supplier, which was for them to also store the data in their preferred data base solution complete with their in-house analytical tools, was very convenient and produced elegant outputs in accordance with the wishes of the Steering Group.

In the short term, this provided a very satisfactory solution – the solution only being limited by the Steering Group themselves as they were required to produce a list of requested analyses. But this solution can impose limitations in the longer term as other parties begin to ask for analyses for which no solution can be provided other than through the inflexible and added-cost route of needing to request and pay the data base custodian (the Measuring instrument Supplier) to provide the required analyses.

The solution that was developed for this Study was to migrate all of the data into a MySQL database. MySQL was chosen as it is widely used open source software, so available to all would-be users. Such databases provide storage facilities only so need some additional features to enable users to access the data in suitable formats for their intended use. The following were developed for this Study:

- WAMP database solution package with pre-defined queries (WAMP is a pre-packed set of programs that enable web based queries to be made of the MySQL database). This solution being designed to enable non-database base experts to run their own queries on the database.
- The MySQL database was given a Microsoft Access front end to allow users to design their own queries (users can use the core MySQL database and add their own front end). This solution being designed to suit those with some familiarity with databases, particularly the most common one MS Access,
- Or, for database experts, they would be able to export data files directly from the MySQL database.

## SOME OTHER FACTORS

- All of the households in the Study were owner-occupied. It was not possible to recruit households from the social housing sector and rented sectors as the wiring needed to be modified to fit some of the measuring instruments and landlords were not expected to readily give permission for this.
- The most difficult household population to recruit was younger single occupiers. These were important to include as 29% of UK households are single person dwellings.
- Ownership of the intellectual property rights to the analytical tools required to analyse the database needs to be established at the outset.
- The detailed analyses that were required should be determined well in advance of completion of the study.
- Downloading of data during intensive (peak) periods could be intrusive for householders and should be done remotely where possible.
- Owning rather than renting the instrumentation may encourage the development of lower cost studies that can be used to refresh the data in future years.
- Only the data analyser could check the data as the project progressed and as much of this was done at the end it meant that problems with missing or corrupted date were not always spotted as early as they could have been.
- Appliances that are built into kitchen units in such a way that their power input plugs are inaccessible can be particularly difficult to monitor.
- Households that use portable electric heating to supplement a non-electrical main heating source need particularly close attention to ensure these extra heating sources are included in the monitoring programme.
- Studies such as this only provide a snapshot in time; so will eventually need to be repeated.

## SOME EYE-CATCHING FINDINGS

- The study found the total average annual electricity demand for all dwellings monitored in the survey (excluding electrically heated homes) to be >3200KWh.



- This average annual electricity consumption in the Study's households was 10% higher than the UK national average.
- Single person households were found to use as much, and sometimes more energy than typical families. This is particularly true of cooking and laundry activities.
- TV viewing is close to 6 hours in a typical day; the typical household having 2 TV sets...



- Although peak domestic electricity demand occurs at breakfast time and again in the evening, there remains a seemingly high baseline demand of 175-200 watts throughout the 01.00- 05.00 hours period.
- Excluding electric heating, the largest contributor to the average annual household demand is the combination of consumer electronics and ICT (20.5%), followed by cold appliances (16.2%) and lighting (15.4%). Cooking and wet appliances consume similar levels of energy at 13.8% and 13.6% respectively.
- UK households use much more energy to dry clothes (annual average 394 kWh), than to wash them (166 kWh) and they use more energy to wash dishes (294 kWh) than to wash clothes...



 Incandescent lamps accounted for the majority of lighting with close to 40% of all installed light bulbs. Halogens come next with 31%, demonstrating that CFL and LED technologies still have a huge market to penetrate and huge savings to potentially be made...

## **REFERENCES AND FURTHER READING**

UK Study main Report: *Household Electrical Study* <u>http://efficient-products.defra.gov.uk/cms/publication-of-the-household-electricity-study/</u>

Summary of UK report: *Powering the nation: household electricity-using habits revealed* <u>http://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/About-us/What-we-do/Recent-reports</u>

Address to apply for a copy of the complete database: efficient.products@defra.gsi.gov.uk

List of Australian sub-studies into designing an enlarged (electricity, water and gas) household consumption study: <u>http://www.energyrating.gov.au/resources/program-</u> <u>publications/? wpnonce=2a79832528& wp http\_referer=%2Fresources%2Fprogram-</u> <u>publications%2F&er\_doc\_query=REMP&er\_doc\_submitted\_query=1&submit=Search&er\_doc\_year=&er\_doc\_category=&er\_doc\_subcategory=</u>

End-use metering campaign in 400 households in Sweden, Assessment of the Potential Electricity Savings. Jean Paul Zimmermann. Swedish Energy Agency, 2009 http://www.energimyndigheten.se/Global/Statistik/F%C3%B6rb%C3%A4ttrad%20energistatist ik/Festis/Final\_report.pdf

#### **Acknowledgements**

The Study that has formed the basis for the content of this paper was inspired by an earlier study of electricity in 400 households undertaken by the Swedish Energy Agency. The expert advice provided by Egil Öfverholm and Peter Bennich proved to be invaluable during the period when the specification for the UK study was being formulated.

# Project ACHIEVE: promotion of practical and structural solutions that help Europeans to reduce fuel poverty

## Marie Moisan, Lidija Živčič, Barbara Kalker

## CLER – Réseau pour la transition énergétique, Focus, Association for Sustainable Development, Caritasverband Frankfurt e.V.

## Abstract

With rising energy prices, more and more households across Europe are facing fuel poverty. Although the problem is a complex one, some solutions are simple and cost-effective. The paper presents ACHIEVE (*ACtions in low income Households to Improve energy efficiency through Visits and Energy diagnosis*), a pan-European action with practical and structural solutions that helps Europeans to reduce fuel poverty.

ACHIEVE works towards uniting the various definitions of fuel poverty across Europe and sharing approaches to better identify fuel poor households. It is known that these households are often not well reached by energy saving awareness campaigns oriented towards the general public, and thus do not seek the help they might need to improve their situation.

In this action, long-term unemployed people are mobilized and trained to carry out home visits to fuel poor households, where energy use is monitored while families are recommended tailor-made measures. The households are stimulated to reduce their energy and water use through energy saving devices provided free of charge and behavioural adjustments. The action's important social innovation is that it contributes to social reintegration, both by empowering households and by engaging long-term unemployed people to fight fuel poverty. Visits also provide an opportunity to identify complementary long term measures for improving the buildings' energy performance.

The action also looks for structural solutions, from building retrofit to financing mechanisms for abating fuel poverty at micro and macro levels. Some of the structural solutions for fuel poverty need to be formed at EU level and for this reason international collaboration in tackling fuel poverty is needed.

## Short introduction to fuel poverty

#### **Definition of fuel poverty**

Defining fuel poverty has and still is causing numerous debates, but as this is not the topic of this paper, the issue is addressed only briefly. Brenda Boardman [1] explains the challenge in the following manner: 'Now that the fuel poverty is politically accepted as a real problem, there are some difficult definitional issues to consider. All of these are compounded by the circular argument: who is fuel poor depends on the definition, but the definition depends on who you want to focus on and this involves political judgement.'

At the EU level, there is no common definition of what constitutes a fuel poor household. However, one way of defining it, which is used in practice, is that a household, which has twice the median fuel expenditure as a proportion of income, is facing fuel poverty [2]. Another commonly used definition is that any household that would need to spend more than 10% of its annual income on having adequate energy services is in fuel poverty [3].

For the purpose of the project ACHIEVE, the following definition of a fuel poor household emerged: a fuel poor household is one that has a difficulty, or sometimes inability, to be able to afford its basic energy needs [4]. Households in fuel poverty have energy costs, which are excessive, compared to overall household income.

#### Causes of the problem

Fuel poverty is mainly caused by the convergence of the following inter-related factors [5]:

- · low income, which is often linked to general poverty
- high energy prices, including the use of relatively expensive fuel sources

• poor energy efficiency of a home, e.g. through low levels of insulation and old or inefficient heating systems.

Heating is the first item that strains the global energy bill for a household (around 70% of the annual energy consumption). However, the running of appliances and the energy used for hot water consumption are also important: appliances account for a growing proportion of households' energy budgets (low income households tend to use older and more inefficient appliances), and water consumption is showing a general tendency to increase (amongst all categories of households) [6].

#### Scale of the problem

Even though the European Union is one of the richest areas in the world, many EU citizens have such limited resources that they cannot afford the basics. Between 50 million and 125 million people (about 10 - 25 %) in Europe are estimated to be fuel poor [7]. The span of fuel poverty estimations is so large mostly because – as explained above – in many countries there is no definition that constitutes fuel poverty and since there is no definition, there are no statistics [8]. However, most of the evidence shows that the problem is inevitably deemed to increase in the future, in line with rising energy prices [9]. The problem is particularly expressed in the eastern European member states, where the energy liberalization strategies, which had to be put in place to access the EU, led many households from a situation with subsidized energy prices into a situation with market based energy prices, which meant (and still means) a major rise in costs for them [10].

#### Health impacts of fuel poverty

Fuel poverty has considerable physical and mental impacts. Living in a cold home exacerbates circulatory and respiratory conditions and accounts for around 40% of excess winter deaths. Around one third of excess winter deaths are due to respiratory illness [11]. Older people are more likely to be vulnerable to cold weather, partly because they are more likely to have existing medical conditions. However, other vulnerable groups include young children and people with long-term illness. Home energy improvements have proved to decrease school sickness absences by 80% in children with asthma or recurrent respiratory infections [12]. People living in homes with bedroom temperatures at 21 °C are 50% less likely to suffer depression and anxiety than those with temperatures of 15 °C [13].

## Project ACHIEVE in a nutshell [14]

Project ACHIEVE is an Intelligent Energy Europe [15] supported pan-European action with practical and structural solutions that help Europeans reduce unnecessary energy and water use. The action reaches to low income households that are most vulnerable to fuel poverty and works with them to reduce their consumption. It links dispersed local actors into an EU-wide concerted effort to reduce fuel poverty and develops common tools and methodologies for addressing energy poverty at the European level.

#### Starting point of ACHIEVE in the covered countries

Although in some countries (UK, France and Germany) activities, similar to ACHIEVE, already exist, the programme is upgrading the existing activities. In France, several local initiatives have been in place for more than 15 years to implement actions against energy poverty, most of them relying on the housing solidarity fund, which helps people who have difficulties to pay their energy bills. Only recently an action started at a national level, the so called Grenelle Plan for Buildings. ACHIEVE in France builds on those initiatives. In the UK, UK fuel Poverty Strategy, the Climate Change Act and the Energy Act are the bases for fuel poverty action. Some local authorities have established Affordable Warmth strategies and partnerships, however there are many areas where activity is very limited and support is needed. ACHIEVE works with those, while also building on the results of initiatives to improve the insulation, such as Cavity Wall and Loft Insulation. In Germany, more specifically in Frankfurt, initiative "Energiesparservice" (energy saving service) has been in place since 2005. Unemployed people are being qualified as "Service Consultants for Energy and Water Saving Techniques". With the necessary measuring and testing gear, informational brochures and sample equipment, the consulting teams go to low-income households and document the current usage of electricity, water and heat with the help of a comparison chart. ACHIEVE benefits from sharing the experiences of this initiative and transferring them to the other partner countries.

In Slovenia and Bulgaria the initiatives for abating fuel poverty are practically non-existent. In Slovenia there is an existing financing scheme for refurbishment investments of low-income households, while in Bulgaria grants are available through the National Programme for Refurbishment of Dwelling Buildings. The direct state subsidy amounts to 20% of the basic package of measures necessary for refurbishment of the buildings. There are many questions opened about the criteria related to the ways of supporting low income households.

#### Aim and objectives of the action

The aim of ACHIEVE is to contribute to practical and structural solutions for reduction of fuel poverty in Europe. The strategic objectives of this action are the following:

- · Improve health and well being for households facing fuel poverty,
- Link dispersed local actors into an EU wide concerted effort to reduce fuel poverty, through common understanding, communication and networking,
- Reduce social exclusion and marginalisation of households that suffer fuel poverty

• Develop a methodological and economical concept for addressing energy poverty at the European level

#### Activities of the project

Basing its approach on the best practices throughout Europe, ACHIEVE identifies households that are most vulnerable to fuel poverty and works with them to implement suitable steps to reduce unnecessary energy use and of course, costs.

Indeed, private households do often not take up or know the solutions they can mobilise to decrease their energy consumptions and bills. The information available often does not fit their specific situation. In addition, this target group lacks the financial resources to make energy efficiency investments in their homes A proper understanding of their situation, through a socio-technical diagnosis during a home visit, is the very first step to be able to help them further and orientate them towards existing solutions and support.

In ACHIEVE, long-term unemployed people, volunteers or students are mobilized and trained to develop a large-scale campaign of home visits to households who have hitherto not had access to help and support, and who are facing difficulties with paying their energy bills.

The service is based on home visits, with the main purpose to identify on a case-by-case basis the everyday actions that can have a real impact on their energy consumption. Visits focus on the following points:

• to understand vulnerable consumers' energy consumption, bills and habits, and to check their appliances with a set of reporting/analysing tools;

• to distribute and install a set of energy-efficient and water-saving devices (such as light bulbs, power strips, tap aerators...), which are free of charge for the households, and give advice to the households on how to implement further practical measures for saving energy;

• to analyse which longer term solutions can be introduced to improve the households' situation, by linking local actors into a concerted local action plan.

Fuel poverty and long-term unemployment are often linked with social marginalisation. ACHIEVE's important social innovation is that it contributes to social reintegration, both by empowering households to fight fuel poverty by improving understanding of their energy use, and by engaging people who have been unemployed long-term to raise awareness on fuel poverty.

A crucial programme activity is to trigger building improvement when thermal improvement works are needed: by better connecting tenants and landlords, informing, motivating and orientating them with easy to understand and tailored documents and methods. To do this, project partners cooperate closely with tenants, home owners, landlords, social services, consumer protection agencies and other relevant actors.

#### Expected results and impacts of the project

ACHIEVE runs from May 2011 until April 2014. It is expected that ACHIEVE will result in:

• changing energy using behaviour,

• introducing energy efficiency measures at the level of individual households,

• reducing overall energy consumption and thus reduce the risk of energy poverty in target households, energy savings and

• a reduction in CO<sub>2</sub> emissions in each household visited,

• developing competences and job opportunities for those energy advisors carrying out the visits, and thereby

· reintegrating them into the labour market,

• improving health and well being for households facing fuel poverty,

· linking dispersed local actors into a EU-wide concerted effort,

- reducing fuel poverty, through common understanding, communication and networking,
- reducing social exclusion and marginalisation of households that suffer from fuel poverty and
- developing a concept for addressing energy poverty at the European level.

2600 visits are planned to be implemented within the frame of the ACHIEVE in 2012 – 2014 (300 to 500 visits in each of the 6 target areas of the project). Each ACHIEVE visit targets the following reductions, depending on the countries and the saving devices offered:

- 400 to 500 kWh decrease / household /year
- 150 to 300 kg / CO2/ household / year
- 20 to 30 m<sup>3</sup> of water / household / year

These figures are based only on the calculation of the direct savings generated by the installation of energy and water saving devices at the households. They don't take into account the potential savings generated by the application, by the family, of the advice and tips given during the visits. To monitor the achievements of the project, evaluation will be a separate step in the process. Evaluation of the success will be done through interviews with the visited households.

The ACHIEVE concept is based on the idea of promoting climate-friendly behaviour, together with money savings considerations, - specifically for low-income households. Developing and replicating ACHIEVE methodology in Europe would definitely contribute to meet the 2020 EU target consisting in a 20% reduction in EU greenhouse gas emissions.

#### Target groups of the project

The key target group consists of households that have difficulties in affording basic energy needs. Through diagnostic visits and the installation of free energy saving devices they can save energy and money by better controlling their energy consumption. The visits show them where and how they can save energy and water and help them to decide what behavioural changes to introduce.

This implies working with any other local actor that might be able to identify the targeted households and be relevant to proposing longer-term and durable aid or solutions to the households, after the visit.

Other target groups are:

• *Local authorities* with access to information on how to reduce fuel poverty. They can support housing schemes and housing renovations that secure sustainable energy consumption and improve wellbeing of occupants. They can support the households through their technical or legal services.

• Owners of buildings in which fuel poverty situations are concentrated: by learning how to improve energy performance of the building they can improve the living conditions in their buildings and improve the value of their property.

• *Local actors* (such as local housing associations, tenants' associations, health, energy or social actors, for whom addressing poverty challenges are at the core of their mission) can both benefit from and take part in implementing the project through networking and shared competences.

• *People* who have the right basic skills to be trained to give energy advice to low income households, such as volunteers, people who are long-term unemployed or students that wish to gain work experience.

#### Partners of the action

ACHIEVE project partners are

- CLER Réseau pour la transition énergétique (Coordinator; France)
- CARITAS Energiesparservice Caritasverband Frankfurt e.V. (Germany)
- EAP Energy Agency of Plovdiv (Bulgaria)

- FOCUS društvo za sonaraven razvoj (Slovenia)
- GERES Groupe Energies Renouvelables, Environnement et Solidarités (France)
- IDEMU Institut de l'Ecologie en Milieu Urbain (France)
- Severn Wye Severn Wye Energy Agency (UK)

#### Local circumstances in countries, covered by the action

This chapter describes the situation in each of the countries where ACHIEVE is trying to make an impact. This is to describe the backdrop against which the activities of the project are set [16].

#### France

In France, it is assumed that between 4 and 5 million households face fuel poverty. Either because they spend more than 10% of their income on energy costs, or because they impose self- limitations on their energy consumption and suffer from cold homes. Despite a national plan and funding scheme starting in 2010, (aiming to help 300,000 tenants with low-incomes to improve the energy performances of their home by 2017) visits remain the first step for any action, whether it is on occupant behaviour or actual energy efficiency upgrades to the building itself. If visits are not clearly organised, they are not implemented at all. The success of the national plan depends on the local actors and authorities to find a way to identify the concerned households in their territory, and to organise and finance these mass visits. Several local initiatives are being implemented in France to fight energy poverty, similar to ACHIEVE activities. Within the framework of ACHIEVE, the French partners have set up a national task force to build a range of structures for carrying out these type of projects that offer visits. Partners include local authorities, enterprises that work on the integration of immigrants, and non-profit organizations. This task force aims to exchange and share each structure's experience, and to push forward the need and opportunities for public authorities to participate in such type of actions. The final aim of the task force meets the ACHIEVE goal: to develop an economical and organisational pattern for mass visits.

#### Bulgaria

The term fuel poverty has no concrete definition in Bulgarian legislation. For the purposes of the project, we define a fuel poor household as one that applies for social aid to cover heating costs during the winter. The Social Ministry in Bulgaria grants aid for heating during winter to selected households. The target group of ACHIEVE consists of/includes households applying for this kind of aid. An important target group is households that use coal for heating. As part of the project Energy Agency Plovdiv will co-operate with the Ministry of Environment and Water and the Ministry of Labour and Social Policy to propose and implement changes in the current legislation, so that the use of inefficient and polluting coal in heating is discontinued and, instead, use of modern sources of biomass is encouraged.

#### Slovenia

Due to growing prices of energy, fuel poverty is becoming an alarming issue in Slovenia. Approximately one third of the households in Slovenia suffer fuel poverty (as specified by the UK definition). However, energy prices are not the only contributing factor. The poor condition of buildings is also relevant. 44.5% of low income families and 28% of families with higher incomes live in humid and poorly maintained buildings (leaking roof, humid foundations, floor or walls, shattered windows). This means that in Slovenia fuel poverty could be widespread also in households that are not strictly poor, as poorly maintained buildings cause high energy consumption and hence high costs to the residents. In the municipality of Ljubljana, where the Slovene ACHIEVE activities take place, more than half of the buildings date between 1945 and 1990, which characterizes the flats as energy inefficient. Yet, there are many unresolved questions as how to identify the households in need of support.

#### Germany

In Germany, there is neither an official definition for fuel poverty nor is there statistical data about people who live in fuel poverty. The German consumer protection association estimates that more than 800,000 households (2%) are cut off from their power supply each year because they are not able to pay their bills. The energy prices in Germany have gone up continuously over the past few years. After liberalisation of the electricity market in 1998, the average price for electricity has risen from 15 cents to 24 cents per kWh in 2011. At the same time, households lack control of their energy usage because they only get a bill once a year, based on their yearly consumption. This leads to significant problems for low-income households whenever they have to manage additional payments at the end of the year. For people with low income, e.g. people who receive social welfare or long-term unemployment benefits, the costs for heating, water and water heating are paid by the municipality. Thus the main problem is how to pay for the electricity consumption for cooking, washing and cooling. Only 5 % of the German households use electricity also for heating.

#### **United Kingdom**

Project ACHIEVE comes at a time when an unfavourable economic climate and rising energy prices have impacted those groups who both traditionally and recently are considered to be at risk of energy poverty. In 2009, the number of fuel poor households in the UK was estimated at around 5.5 million. In the UK, project ACHIEVE is based in the county of Wiltshire, in the western region of the county which statistically has a higher propensity towards energy poverty. Wiltshire has been working towards creating training and employment opportunities for its residents; a policy designed to mitigate the impact of the economic recession. ACHIEVE will work to address the training needs of residents in line with the 'Green Deal' a flagship energy efficiency policy for the domestic sector based on a 'Pay as you save' model. The government expects around 250,000 new jobs to be created as a result of this policy. Project ACHIEVE hopes to help advisors on the road to employment within this sector and to develop a local, skilled workforce.

## Transferring experiences and know-how

ACHIEVE covers some countries where advising households on how to abate fuel poverty is already ongoing (Germany, UK and France) and others where fuel poverty is hardly tackled at all (Slovenia and Bulgaria). For this reason the first step of the programme was to present to partners from all the participating countries how energy efficiency measures and equipment are being introduced in German households.

Caritas Frankfurt has been running a programme for empowering households to act on fuel poverty since 2005. The programme, called Energiesparservice, was developed jointly by Rhein-Main Energy Supplier and the Department of Social Services of the city of Frankfurt am Main, JobCenter Frankfurt am Main and Caritas Association Frankfurt. The programme started with 12 advisors who were long-term unemployed and has now developed into a national initiative called "Stromspar-Check" in over 100 cities and communities in Germany [17].

The programme empowers households by two visits of energy efficiency advisors. During the first visit, the advisors check the household's equipment and energy bills. Based on the check, calculations are made on where to save energy most efficiently. A set of recommendations is made and during the second visit, the experts install easy-to-use energy saving devices like efficient bulbs, tap aerators or power strips. They also provide advice on changes in behaviour to further save energy and water. Practical experience from the programme so far shows that annual savings for households can run up to 140 EUR yearly and more than 1100 EUR in long-term-savings [18].

As this programme has been successfully running since 2005, it was selected to be the starting point of ACHIEVE. The project partners visited Caritas in Frankfurt in May 2011 to see how the visits are implemented in practice. Apart from the visit, the partners also translated Caritas' "Guidelines

Introducing Advisory Services on How to Save Energy in Low-income Households" [19], which describe the concept of service of Caritas Frankfurt, called Cariteam Energy Saving Service, and the procedure of introducing and implementing the project step by step. To provide material for trainings of energy advisors, Caritas also developed a "Curriculum for Specialized Training on Saving Energy and Water" [20]. The curriculum covers topics such as general introduction to energy, detecting fuel poverty situations, showing a concept of thermal comfort and heat loss, procedure and data documentation, evaluation and installation of devices or communication training. For each chapter, a corresponding module has been developed – contents, tips about the method of presentation (exercises, group work, role playing, homework, etc.), and time frame. This curriculum was taken as a general basis for defining, designing and developing training modules and exercises for all ACHIEVE partners.

Equipped with the materials, the partners implemented trainings for energy advisors. Each partner decided to use a different approach to identifying and training energy advisors (see Table 1).

Partner	Used approaches
IDEMU	4 people in an integration programme have been recruited for 6 months and trained by IDEMU. The recruitment was done by IDEMU, in cooperation with key recruitment offices. An information event was organized in January 2012 to present the project and the mission to the applicants, followed by individual interviews.
GERES	GERES works with people in an integration programme. GERES decided to work with EVOLIO, an NGO implementing integration programmes. The recruitment was organized by EVOLIO in close cooperation with centre for unemployed and a youth organization.
SWEA	Advisors are people who have been long term unemployed. Advisors were recruited through Job Centre Plus. Their training will form part of a national initiative to remove barriers to work- the Sector Based Work Academy
CARITAS	Caritas works with long-term unemployed people, people in an integration programme and volunteers. People for the integration programme are pre-selected by the job centre. Volunteers are recruited through PR activities.
FOCUS	Focus works mainly with unemployed people (some long-term unemployed) and some recently graduated young people, who seek experience. The recruitment was done through promotion (leaflet, mailing lists, news and social networks) and presentation at the Office for Employment. 12 advisors were selected and trained.
EAP	EAP works with students from professional schools. Agreements with two professional schools (for household technology and for electric technology) have been signed. The training served as an addition to the students' curriculum. The visits that they implement give a chance to put their knowledge and skills into practice.

Table 1: Approaches to identifying and training energy advisors in project Achieve

Source: First project report

## **Detecting fuel poor households**

Fuel poverty is not a term that households will apply spontaneously to themselves, hence they often need to be detected. They can be identified through a number of relevant indicators including [21]:

- The inability to pay energy bills,
- · Cold damp living conditions,
- Disconnection from energy supply,
- · Self-disconnection (in some countries),
- Debts owed to the energy supplier,

- · Health impacts associated with poor living conditions,
- Homes with low energy performance

Thus, the first challenge for ACHIEVE when setting up local action plans to tackle fuel poverty was to identify those households that are facing problems in affording their basic energy needs. This challenge was tackled by exchanging experience between partners/countries: - looking to identify fuel poor households, - implementing site-tailored discussions and interviews with key actors and affected households - elaborating reports on the findings [22]. Based on the analyses and consultations, the partners decided on their target group – households that were identified to be the most prone to fuel poverty, as described in Table 2.

Table	2:	Parameters	for	identifying	fuel	poor househo	olds
-------	----	------------	-----	-------------	------	--------------	------

Location	Used parameters for identifying fuel poor households
Frankfurt, Germany	Results of the evaluation of the programme Energiesparservice, which offers visits to fuel poor households, show that 32 % of the households have a migration background, 66 % are unemployed and 20 % receive social welfare because of other problems. 35 % are single households, 18 % are single parent families and in 26 % of the households there are four or more members. The main problem for these households was their inability to pay their electricity costs. In Germany, there is neither an official definition for fuel poverty nor is there statistical data. There are only some indicators for fuel poverty: very low income or social benefit, problems to pay the bill, cutting off from power supply. More than 8 million people (thus about 10 %) in Germany use social support. The consumer protection association estimates that each year more than 800,000 households (that equals 2 %) are cut off from their power supply because they are not able to pay their bills.
Plaine Commune, France	Given the problems of private housing and socio-economic characteristics of the population, Plaine Commune appears to be particularly vulnerable to fuel poverty. The area is very exposed to poverty, with 30% of people living under the poverty threshold, compared to 13.6 % at a national level. In 2009, 21,546 people were in receipt of income benefits, and 4,649 households received financial aid to pay energy bills. This aid is proposed in the case of severe fuel debt and with the intervention of social services. There is no specific data or statistics to estimate the number of people in situation of fuel poverty. The tenants from private housing seem to be particularly vulnerable to fuel poverty in Plaine Commune: 78% of them live in a building built before 1975 (71,5% for owners, 69% for tenants of social housing). 53% of the buildings are heated by electricity, which is the most expensive type of energy in France (23 % for owners, 18% for tenants of social housing).
Marseille, France	Households in this region are extremely poor: between 50 and 70% of the population live below the poverty line. 20% of the population is unemployed and 30 % have part time jobs. The majority of the households benefit from social welfare (70% receive financial support for housing, 30% support for health security). Around 60% of the households benefiting from social welfare are families with children, including around 16% of families with more than 2 children and 25% of single parent families. In general, the thermal performance of the buildings' stock is very low in line with the age of the buildings' stock. Hence a significant part of the population is at high risk of energy poverty.

Ljubljana, Slovenia	The unemployment rate is currently slightly under national average – 9,9 % compared to the national 11,5 %. More than half of the buildings date between 1945 and 1990; this characterizes the housing stock as an energy inefficient one. Structure of social welfare does not allow bills to be paid by the welfare organization; they are paid by the individual regardless of circumstances. 11 % out of 813,531 households nationally are low income households. Thus they live below the poverty threshold. But if we take the numbers for fuel poverty, the percentage rises to 30 % of persons in Slovenia (British definition of fuel poverty). Target group are households on social benefit or receiving less than 300 EUR/month/person (as those often fall just short out of the social benefit system).
Plovdiv, Bulgaria	In 2010, 9,056 households applied for the Winter Supplement Programme and 7,138 of them received funding. The Winter Supplement Programme provides partial funding for households' heating bills. To receive funding from the programme a household has to meet certain criteria such as: income level, dwelling size, health or other conditions, etc. In the city of Plovdiv approximately 36% use wood or coal for heating, 23% use electric energy, 21% use district heating, and 20% of the homes are unheated. About 60% of the buildings are 30 years old or older, many of them constructed from prefabricated panels and are categorized as highly energy inefficient. The analysis showed that the target group are people who apply for funding through the Winter Supplement Programme and especially of people who are using inefficient ways of heating (for example, low-quality coal and electricity).
County of Wiltshire, UK	In 2010, 8.8% of Wiltshire (39,100 people) was classified as low income. Social welfare benefits include paying for rent, council tax relief, child care vouchers and winter fuel payments. In Wiltshire, 26,650 were claiming benefits in May 2011, 9.3% of the working age group (15-64). In 2011, 1% of Wiltshire's population (99,510) were of retirement age and older. This group is set to be the fastest growing group in all population. The Building Research Establishment estimates that around 12% - or 19,777 – of households in Wiltshire are in fuel poverty. The target group should, besides active recipients of benefits, also include households earning £15,000 per year or less. The elderly is also a growing target group.

Source: Achieve. *Report on the specific areas targeted in ACHIEVE.* 2012. http://www.achieve-project.eu/index.php?option=com\_phocadownload&view=category&download=49%3Adescription-of-the-areas-targeted-in-achieve-d23aeu-version&id=1%3Aeu-targetareas&Itemid=6&Iang=eeu

## Reaching out to households

An important element of the ACHIEVE approach was developing a methodology for accessing the target households. The decision on methodology was based on learning from various projects, which showed that: there is a need for being proactive in approaching households, community engagement (neighbourhood events for example) demonstrates success, opportunities for co-promotion with partner organisations working with the target group should be sought after, promotion of the service through local media is useful and advisors could explore the possibility of promoting the scheme in ways that the community responds to: for example, by activities such as door-to-door canvassing to reach hard to reach households [23].

Bearing this in mind, the partners developed a variety of communication campaign approaches and tools to reach target households. The information about the project was given to target households by a variety of local actors, such as welfare associations / non-profit associations, municipalities and local authorities, utility providers, presentations in newspapers, unions of low-income, disadvantaged people, employment offices, social housing providers, social landlords, and community foundations

[24]. Communicating with agencies who work with families is important to gain access to the households. Additionally, German and UK projects have found that in order to empower households to make real lasting changes to the way that they use energy other agencies who interact with clients need also to be informed about the project: its aims and possibly key messages can help to keep households motivated [25].

There are many projects that have aimed to provide energy advice to households with the overarching aim of reducing household energy expenditures. A running theme of much of the partners' research demonstrated that web-based support tools can be very effective in communicating energy advice messages both to households and also to stakeholders [26]. Another approach, which turned out to be successful, is joining households together in a neighbourhood to help them to work together to save energy as a community competing against other such communities [27]. Also children may be a key agent of change as they are well versed in current discourses around environmental issues [28]. This learning could be incorporated into tailored energy advice reports to help motivate behaviour change in the whole household. Other examples put forward by partners suggest that a competition element with the prospect of prizes can help to stimulate households. Again, this may be an area where partners can explore the possibility of directing clients to such initiatives on a case-by-case basis [29].

The key messages communicated to the target households were shaped based on the inputs of focus groups and interviews, which showed that the emphasis should be on reduction of costs (not environmental matters), on the fact that it is a free offer (no long term engagement), free-of-charge devices, neutrality of the advisors and the structures managing them [30].

## Implementation of the visits in households

#### Identifying the devices to be given to households

In order to manage energy and water consumption well, one has to have the appropriate knowledge as well as access to various devices in order to be able to reduce energy and water consumption. Due to their general financial situation, households facing fuel poverty are often the same as those who have less opportunity to purchase energy and water saving devices [31], or even simply have less or no information about their existence. The devices can be efficient light bulbs, appliances, and consumer electronics, thermometers and thermostats, weather stripping for windows and doors, transparent insulation foil for simple-glazing, tap aerators, dual-flow flush mechanisms, and even shower timers. One way to alleviate fuel poverty is to make these devices more accessible for households at risk, either by providing them, or by installing them. The impact of these devices can be easily measured in kWh or litres of water, which are easy to convert into monetary units [32].

The first step in deciding which devices to offer free of charge to households was to gather a list of possible energy and water saving devices and estimate their savings potentials, costs and ease of installation. The scope of devices was developed jointly by the partners, with the assistance of CARITAS experience. This resulted in a list of 26 devices to be potentially used [33]. It showed the devices that appear to offer the highest savings are those related to space and water heating. However, some appliances in this field (often those with the highest savings) will require more skill and time to install. The partners made their device packages and decisions based on the following aspects [34]:

• Time and skill needed to install the devices (e.g. drought proofing is really efficient, but it can take a lot of time and skill),

• Devices must fit to the household's situation: some devices may be systematically distributed (thermometers, CFLs, etc.), but some devices will be installed only when relevant (e.g. transparent thermo cover insulation foil for windows - only where single glazing is currently available),

• Availability and costs of each of the devices on the respective national markets (linked to the willingness of transferability and reproducibility of the project activities),

• Targets on energy savings and CO2 reductions,

• Quality of the devices - people need to accept the material (user-friendly) and to be able to count on its efficiency for a long time (quality).

#### Advising the households

On the basis of the information and documents CARITAS brought to the consortium through its experience in Energiesparservice, the implementation of the household visits was prepared. The first step was organizing an Excel tool to gather and analyze data, and define the devices/tips to be given in priority. Next step was to organize the corresponding data collection sheets to report information about energy and water consumptions/habits of the households during the visits. Each partner adapted the final tools to its country context (language, energy prices and emission factors, heating systems, currency, devices used, etc.) [35].

Another step was to define the format of the visits. Generally, the following approach is used [36]:

- Procedure before visits: getting in touch with the household (appointment and first contact);
- First visit: analysis of water and energy consumption and habits;

• Second visit: installation of the most relevant devices according to previous observations and calculations from the first visit, likely to generate the best savings for the households; delivery of report and tips for behaviour change;

• Third contact (minimum 6 months later): this contact is made over phone to help evaluate the effects of the visit (currently a questionnaire is being finished).

Experience showed that a minimum of 8 hours is necessary for each household visit: travel, presence in the households (1-2 hours x2 visits), analysis of data collected at the household, and evaluation of impacts [37]. The number of energy advisors to visit a household varies in the countries, depending on the feedback received from focus groups and interviews at the beginning of the project, as presented in Table 3.

Partner	Number of advisors
IDEMU	The 1st visit is made in teams of 2 advisors, and the 2nd one by a single advisor.
GERES	The visits are implemented by two advisors at the start of the project. Then, if the energy advisors feel more self-confident, they may do the visits alone.
SWEA	2 advisors per visit for at least the first 5 visits. After this advisors will be expected to operate alone.
CARITAS	Two advisors, one with more experience, one with less, are to visit the households
FOCUS	First $1 - 2$ visits of each advisor are done in pair with a supervisor, the next visits are done by one advisor.
EAP	At the beginning there will be 2 advisors per visit, later this could be changed to 1 per visit, depending on the feedback.

Table 3: Number of energy advisors	for visiting hou	useholds in project /	ACHIEVE
------------------------------------	------------------	-----------------------	---------

Source: Achieve Project Report 1.

The energy and water saving devices that are installed have two main advantages:

• The devices support/initiate a general talk about how the households can improve their energy and water use in their everyday life, as well as the importance of taking care of their consumptions. As such, they generate more savings than just those linked to the installation of devices (i.e. savings linked to behavioural changes, which are, however, difficult to assess);

• The devices make it easier to get into the homes. The devices are seen like a present by the families. The visit is essential to be able to make a first analysis of the situation (socioeconomic situation of the household, technical situation of the dwelling), and then find structural solutions that will allow more ambitious and more sustainable savings, through an intervention on the building envelope itself or on the appliances (including heating systems). Often, poor households are not aware that financial or legal support exists and could help them retrofit their home or find the assistance they need.

Home visits implemented through ACHIEVE are a starting point to detect and understand critical situations. However, it is essential to find a way to link this type of local projects to national schemes or even European regulations, and make sure that the proper level of action is activated when and where necessary. All materials developed or adapted for the purpose of ACHIEVE home visits service (and notably training modules and saving calculation software) are dedicated to be utilized by any organization willing to implement such a service.

## **Developing structural solutions**

As much as the household visits are designed to make a lasting impact, they cannot bridge the structural components of the fuel poverty problem: they cannot improve energy efficiency of the whole building, they cannot guarantee financial support needed for large investments in fuel poor households, they cannot reduce the general level of energy prices, nor increase the income level of the households. Hence one of the objectives of ACHIEVE is to coordinate key actors into a concerted effort for formulating long-term solutions and develop a network for implementing the long-term solutions. The project seeks to develop a concept for addressing energy poverty at the European level, through a set of tested and assessed structural solutions and a widely transferable set of tools, so as to launch similar experiences elsewhere [38].

One key field to look into is social housing, where the majority of fuel poor families live. Social housing is organized very differently in the targeted countries. Table 4 shows the most critical barriers to energy renovations in the owner groups. In most countries, either high initial costs or (more frequently) long payback times represent a critical barrier. The landlord-tenant dilemma is another fairly widespread barrier [39].

## Table 4: The most critical barriers to improving energy efficiency of the social/professionally owned rental housing in several EU countries



Source: Entranze. Working paper: Literature review of key stakeholders, users and investors. 2012.

Large scale efficiency retrofit is one key element of developing structural solutions for addressing fuel poverty [40]. Financial aspects are the key barrier in triggering energy retrofits (long pay-back time, access to funds). Currently there is a lack of understanding of the process, the costs and results of energy renovations among owners. ACHIEVE will help to inform them by providing reference data bases. Information should encourage owners to undertake such works [41]. For landlords and owner occupiers, ACHIEVE will provide information tools about retrofitting measures (costs, interests) and local/national existing financial mechanisms. These tools will provide clear guidance on whom to contact to receive further information and advice.

Another structural solution is to provide pedagogical tools for the households visited, to link the often already existing but dispersed information (about energy or water consumption, prices, contracts, payments, social, economical, health, etc.) and to give insight into bills, selection of suppliers, availability of financial assistance, etc.

## Evaluating the results [42]

To properly monitor the effects of the household visits and advising, an evaluation of the results will be conducted in the second half of 2013. The aim of the evaluation is to monitor the success of the project and the measures developed, to identify potential problems and find solutions to improve the programme. To do this, the evaluation is divided in 2 general parts:

• an impact evaluation to analyse qualitative and quantitative effects of the project, and

• a process evaluation to monitor the strategies set up within the project duration and the transferability of the methodologies and results.

The impact evaluation concerns the impacts that the actions undertaken by the partners have, for instance on environmental issues, social and security aspects, economic and comfort improvements for the households etc. This is based on quantified indicators and measurements defined in the initial evaluation plan, and précised in the interim evaluation report. Possible indicators include:

• The implementation of the advice (e.g. the number of mobilized local structures (associations, organisations etc.), management of financial support)

• The quality and quantity of the advice and savings (e.g. number of visits, the amount of savings, satisfaction of the households) and the cost-benefit-ratio

• The level of public awareness (e.g. total number of people reached by the dissemination of the project, participation to external /national / international events)

• The (re)integration of advisors into the labour market

• The number of landlords and owner-occupiers contacted and provided with targeted information on retrofitting measures.

The evaluation framework for the ACHIEVE-project is based on the experience of the evaluation of the Cariteam-Energiesparservice in Frankfurt 2009. It was adapted to the situation in the different countries. The concept of the development of structural solutions was added to the evaluation. The data-collection methodology is based around a mix of attitude and awareness surveys with specific target groups appropriate to the situation in each participating location.

The following chart shows the concept of the evaluation of the visits. At the first visit, a huge amount of data for the baseline-evaluation is collected. The savings from the installed devices and from the recommendations given start at the day of the second visit. Usually there is a period of 1-2 weeks between the visits. At least 6 months after the second visit, the conditions of the devices installed and the implementation of the recommendations are checked by a survey.



#### Table 5: Concept of the impact evaluation

Source: Achieve Interim Evaluation Report

Data collected at the first visit:

• Data about the actual consumption and cost of electricity, heat energy and water

• Data about the situation of the household (number of people, family situation, time spent at home every day, etc.)

Data about the flat/house (size, age, energy standard, etc.), appliances used and water installations
Data about the behaviour related to energy and water uses (e.g. way of ventilating the room, number

and duration of showers, number of washes a week, etc.)

All the data is typed into an EXCEL-TOOL that was developed for the purpose of the project, based on the calculation tool of the Energiesparservice Frankfurt. The tool is used to calculate the savings generated by the visits and to collect data for the baseline-evaluation. That means that the baselineevaluation is also a full part of the visit. The collection of these data can generally help to learn more about the situation of low-income households. On the other hand, it supports the visits and makes tailor-made advises and devices to the households possible. With the EXCEL-TOOL of ACHIEVE, a first calculation of the savings generated is possible. There are three different kinds of savings of energy and water:

• Savings based on the devices installed: These savings will be reached whenever people use the devices installed correctly (e.g. keep the CFL, always switch off the switchable power strip, etc.). In a report delivered to each visited household (during the second visit), people are given information about the potential amount of savings (in kWh, m<sup>3</sup> and €) they can expect if they use the devices correctly.

• Possible savings by adapting behaviour: These savings will be reached if people follow the additional advices.

• Possible savings by own investment: These savings will be reached if people could buy new energy efficient appliances by own investment. They are given information about these possible savings (in kWh, m³ and €) in the report they are delivered.

A further possibility to check the savings is to read the meter several times. This is usually possible for electricity and/or water (if there is an individual meter for the flat). The consumption of heat energy, if it can be metered, is largely influenced by the weather and does not help to prove the savings. Special fields are foreseen in the EXCEL-TOOL to insert data read from the meter for electricity and water.

The questionnaire survey is the main part of the impact evaluation. It will be administered by telephone, and analyses the qualitative and quantitative effects of the advice. The survey will be organized by each partner / WP leader by themselves, by using the evaluation framework and a commonly agreed questionnaire. External support can be used by subcontracting.

For the evaluation, a minimum of 200 households visited in each local target area is necessary. Visits can be evaluated three month or later after the second visit at the earliest: households need some time to get experience in using the devices and to adapt their behaviour depending on the advise they receive (do they intend to make it an experimental behaviour or a new habitual behaviour, lasting in the long run?). They also need some time to buy new appliances by own investment if they wish to do so (like energy/water efficient fridges, washing machines etc.). Visits are planned not only during the heating period, to be able to reach the maximum clients within the 3 years of the project. The surveys should start in autumn 2013.

For the scientific validation of the analyses, a minimum of 100 feedbacks per target area or 50% of the visited households is necessary. People have to agree to be contacted again for the evaluation. It is thus necessary to ask whether a household would volunteer to participate in an interview at the first or second visit, and to complete a list of households that accepted to be contacted again for evaluation purpose. Individual survey results will be used to conduct an overall quantitative and qualitative assessment of the impacts of the project. It is recommended that an external interviewer asks the questions, to avoid socially desired answers. If the same people or even the same institution that the one offering the advice ask the questions, people could feel controlled.

The survey includes the following groups of questions:

• Acceptance and satisfaction: Awareness of the availability of the offer, reasons for using the advice, use of the energy saving products, satisfaction with the advice and the advisors

- Learning effects: Behaviour changes based on the advice, new appliances by own investment
- Multiplier Effects: Recommendation of the audits, public awareness of the project / of the issue
- · Quantitative Effects: Savings of energy and water, CO2, cost
- Further aspects: comfort, health, poverty etc.
- Socio-demographic items: sex, age, education, income, size of family, etc.

Some of these items, like family size, are already asked during the first visit. With the survey, it can be checked whether the number of persons has changed (could have an influence on the consumption of energy and water).

In addition to the questionnaire survey, some of the partners (precise) will organise face-to-face interviews with 10-20 households. The above described questionnaire will constitute the basis of the face-to-face interviews' process. This method will allow an extensive exploration of the level of satisfaction of the respondents regarding to the service proposed, giving them the opportunity to formulate recommendations. This way of data collection also minimizes non-response and maximizes the quality of the data collected.

The savings generated through the service have to be calculated by each partner. The savings are calculated for yearly savings and long-term savings (multiplying the yearly savings by the average lifetime of the devices and actions). A reduction is applied if the devices are not used correctly, especially for switchable power strips. People have to be asked questions about their behaviour changes in a very sensitive way, so that they do not feel controlled (e.g. "We would like to know if the devices fit for you or if we should improve the service. Here you can help us. How often could you switch out the power strip?"). There is another reduction of savings if devices are not used anymore. The experience of the Energiesparservice Frankfurt shows that some reasons can lead people to remove the devices they were given. For example, it can be people who did not like the colour of the light of the CFL, or dissatisfaction regarding the flow of water running from the tap, or malfunctioning of the water heater after installing the tap aerator, etc. It is helpful to ask for these reasons, to be able to improve the guality of the devices or the training of the energy advisors installing the devices. In addition to the savings that can be calculated in a precise way, some further savings from specific devices cannot be calculated exactly: it is savings generated thanks to the thermometer, thermohygrometer, key for the radiator, thermometer for the fridge or shower timer). On the other hand these devices are very important to support behaviour changes. Other effects, such as multiplier effects or further learning effects, cannot be counted in kWh at all. The savings will be taken to calculate a costbenefit-ratio. For the transferability of the project it is necessary to know whether it runs costeffectively. To calculate the cost-benefit-ratio, two groups of items should be compared: total costs of the project and total effects of the project.

## ACHIEVEd so far

ACHIEVE's energy advisors have been visiting households in five European countries for more than a year now. The first results are therefore already visible (see Table 5). Please, bear in mind that the presented figures are not to be compared directly between countries as each of the covered countries applies a different approach to working with households (e.g. the devices given to households vary between countries hence also the savings are different). The presented figures are meant to show the first effects of the project.

So far, ACHIEVE partners have [43]:

• Designed and developed training content and modules for people recruited to perform the visits

• Designed and developed tools to be used by the advisors for the implementation of the visits (a guide on how to prepare and implement a visit, data collection sheets to collect data during a visit, a "software" to automatically calculate the savings generated by the energy and water saving devices distributed and installed...)

• Summarised, for organisations willing to develop such a service, the procedure and materials needed

- · Designed materials to communicate on the service locally
- · Reached a total of about 1000 households that received a visit,

• Trained 94 people to become advisors (among them, 57 students, and 37 volunteers/unemployed people).

Table 5: Estimated average savings	from household visits of ACHIEVE
------------------------------------	----------------------------------

Country	No. of visite d hh*	Avg. invest ment (€/hh)	Electric ity savings (kWh/ hh/a)	Heatin g saving s (kWh/ hh/a)	Water savings (m3/ hh/a)	Energ y saving s (%/ hh/a)	Water savin gs (%/hh /a)	CO2 savings (per site kg /a)	EUR saving s/ hh/a
Bulgaria	203	30	793	389	5.4	9	8	126	91
France	138	44	260	815	31	8	26	243	142
Germany	270	60-70	296	693	14	N/A	N/A	433	173
Slovenia	59	31	283	412	13	7	11	248	92
UK	33	31	164	254	1.6	11	2.7	154	42

N/A The figure is not available at the moment.

\* hh- household

Source: Data collected in visits to the households. Data is collected from the home metering and invoices of the households.

## Key findings and lessons learned

As the project is still ongoing at the time of preparing this contribution, it is hard to draw final conclusions and lessons learned from the experience. However, some insights of what worked well and what mistakes can be avoided in the future are already available and presented in this chapter. The chapter is based on feedback provided by project partners during a project meeting [44] and interim report [45]

The first lessons from the project are oriented to the training modules for advisors. It was discovered that during training it is necessary to emphasize knowledge about social issues, so that the advisors are able to identify social problems (involve social workers in the training sessions so that advisors know how to identify social issues too, not only technical issues). It is also important to train communication requirements. The last important aspect is to clearly define the limits of the mission during the training in order to limit frustration among advisors and households (in practice it often happens that the household expects more than an advisor is able to give, as well as that advisors attempt to provide support for which they are not qualified to provide). In relation to this, it is important to better inform the advisors about possible solutions they can propose to households at the end of the visit (orientate them towards the proper structures).

In regard to selecting and training energy advisors several important findings came to light. The most important is that when recruiting energy advisors to be trained, a particular focus should be put on their social and communication skills: even if a large part of the work around the visits is technical (assessment and calculation of the main possible energy and water savings, advice given to households to reduce their consumptions...), the visits are also largely about "human" contact. Technical capacities can be strengthened, but this is not necessary the case with the ability to speak and listen to people. It is also suggested that visits are performed by two advisors, one of whom has an emphasis on technical skills, and the other has an emphasis on social skills or else one of whom is an experienced advisor and one a new advisor.

Another relevant finding is that people who wish to become energy advisors might have different expectations and the job does not necessarily suit them. To avoid disappointment when starting energy advising in practice it is suggested that the potential advisors do one visit before they get fully involved in the project, or have a movie to present the content of the mission – the aim is to clarify expectations before training. It is also advisable to work closely with the job agencies and employment centres in order to define the competences needed for energy advising.

When working with long-term unemployed people or volunteers, it is very likely that those who are trained to perform the visits will leave the programme when they find another job opportunity This means one has to plan regular new training sessions to train newcomers to the programme that replace the leaving advisors. Time dedicated to training activities should not be underestimated. This is the same for time dedicated to supervise/follow the advisors before they can be fully operational on their own (especially if the "turnover" of advisors is high). Training activities and general supervision of the visits are thus highly time consuming for project managers willing to implement a home visits service. It is a full time job for project managers. As a lot of support is needed to help advisors in the management of their own time, to plan the visits for them, to check the quality of the work and results that they are producing, it is advisable to receive some support from professional organizations when possible.

When dealing with households, it is of utmost importance to pay attention to their circumstances. Fuel poverty closely coincides with general poverty, which means that some of the households are very sensitive to their situation and are reserved in asking for support. It is advisable to have advising teams of one man and one woman, as it seems more acceptable for the households (in some cases it will even only be women who are accepted by the households). When working in areas where many immigrants are settled, it is preferable to work with advisors who are familiar with the languages of the immigrants.

Visits are a good occasion to get in touch with households who sometimes have not received any visits from "external" parties for a long time. As a consequence, the time needed for one visit can be much higher than expected, as people might have a lot to say to advisors (not necessarily strictly linked to the core purpose of the visit – this calls for social skills, as mentioned above). Also a lot of critical situations linked to unsanitary / inadequate housing or extreme poverty situations call for the need to organise, from the very beginning of the project, appropriate responses and procedures when such situations are needed. This means systematically linking with tenant/landlords mediation structures, sanitary services of the municipality, etc.

In regard to the local networks, the lessons learned are that creating and maintaining these networks (with social/health services mainly) is time consuming and it must be done regularly. One time contacts do not deliver long-term results. There can be barriers when working with social/health services. A possible solution could be sending a report on the results of visits (anonymous) to them to show and explain clearly the benefit of the visits.
# References

- [1] Boardman, B. Fixing fuel poverty. Challenges and Solutions. Earthscan, London. 2009. ISBN-13: 978-1844077441
- [2] Achieve Newsletter No. 1. November 2011. Available at: http://www.achieve-project.eu/index.php? option=com\_phocadownload&view=category&download=15%3Aachieve-newsletter-issue-1&id=32%3Aeu-dissemination&Itemid=6&lang=eeu
- [3] Heffner, G. and Campbell, N. *Evaluating the co-benefits of low-income energy-efficiency program,* International Energy Agency. 2011
- [4] Achieve project presentation leaflet. Available at: http://www.achieve-project.eu/index.php?option= com\_phocadownload&view=category&download=12%3Apresentation-leafletachieveeu&id=32%3Aeu-dissemination&Itemid=6&lang=eeu
- [5] EPEE. Tackling fuel poverty in Europe. Ademe. 2009. ISBN 978-2-35838-069-0.
- [6] Achieve Newsletter No. 1. November 2011. Available at: http://www.achieve-project.eu/index.php? option=com\_phocadownload&view=category&download=15%3Aachieve-newsletter-issue-1&id=32%3Aeu-dissemination&Itemid=6&lang=eeu
- [7] EPEE. Tackling fuel poverty in Europe. Ademe. 2009. ISBN 978-2-35838-069-0.
- [8] Boardman, B. Fixing fuel poverty. Challenges and Solutions. Earthscan, London. 2009. ISBN-13: 978-1844077441

[9] ibid.

[10] ibid.

- [11] Marmot Review Team. Chief Medical Officer Report 2009. Cited in 'The Health Impacts of Cold Homes and Fuel Poverty', 2011. http://www.kentjppbhousing.org/uploads/MarmotCold HomesandFuelPoverty.pdf
- [12] Akerman, P., Brown, P., Cooke, H., McConalogue, D., Verne, J. Fighting Winter Cold in the South West – Reducing Health Inequalities. South West Public Health Observatory. 2008. http://www.swpho.nhs.uk/resource/item.aspx?RID=47184

[13] ibid.

- [14] The whole chapter is based on Achieve web page (www.achieve-project.eu) and presentation leaflet.
- [15] Intelligent Energy Europe (IEE) offers a helping hand to organisations willing to improve energy sustainability. Launched in 2003 by the European Commission, the program is part of a broad push to create an energy-intelligent future for us all. It supports EU energy efficiency and renewable energy policies, with a view to reaching the EU 2020 targets (20% cut in greenhouse gas emissions, 20% improvement in energy efficiency and 20% of renewables in EU energy consumption). http://ec.europa.eu/energy/intelligent/about/iee-programmeme/index\_en.htm
- [16] Achieve project description, Achieve Newsletter No. 1 and Caritas Frankfurt. Curriculum for Specialised Training: Saving Energy and Water. 2012. http://www.achieve-project.eu/index. php?option=com\_phocadownload&view=category&download=43%3Acaritas-curriculum-d32-inenglishcompleted-for-achieve&id=8%3Aeutraining&Itemid=6&Iang=eeu
- [17] Achieve Newsletter No. 1. November 2011. Available at: http://www.achieveproject.eu/index.php?option=com\_phocadownload&view=category&download=15%3Aachievenewsletter-issue-1&id=32%3Aeu-dissemination&Itemid=6&Iang=eeu

[18] ibid.

- [19] Caritas Frankfurt. *Guidelines: Introducing Advisory Services on How to Save Energy For Low-income Households.* 2012. http://www.achieve-project.eu/index.php?option=com\_phocadownload&view=category&download=8%3Aguidelines-introducing-advisory-services-on-how-to-save-energy-for-low-income-households&id=1%3Aeu-targetareas&Itemid=6&Iang=eeu
- [20] Caritas Frankfurt. Curriculum for Specialised Training: Saving Energy and Water. 2012. http://www.achieve-project.eu/index. php?option=com\_phocadownload&view=category&download=43%3Acaritas-curriculum-d32-inenglishcompleted-for-achieve&id=8%3Aeutraining&Itemid=6&lang=eeu
- [21] Achieve Newsletter No. 1. November 2011. Available at: http://www.achieveproject.eu/index.php?option=com\_phocadownload&view=category&download=15%3Aachievenewsletter-issue-1&id=32%3Aeu-dissemination&Itemid=6&Iang=eeu
- [22] Achieve project report no.1.
- [23] Achieve. National Report with 4-6 Case Studies per country. Key Learning for Project ACHIEVE. 2012. http://www.achieve-project.eu/index.php?option=com\_phocadownload&view=category &download=44%3Acase-studies-a-key-learning-for-achieved-21eu-report&id=1%3Aeutargetareas&Itemid=6&Iang=eeu
- [24] Achieve project report no.1.
- [25] Achieve. National Report with 4-6 Case Studies per country. Key Learning for Project ACHIEVE. 2012. http://www.achieve-project.eu/index.php?option=com\_phocadownload&view=category &download=44%3Acase-studies-a-key-learning-for-achieved-21eu-report&id=1%3Aeutargetareas&Itemid=6&Iang=eeu
- [26] ibid.
- [27] ibid.
- [28] ibid.
- [29] ibid.
- [30] Achieve project report no.1.
- [31] Achieve Newsletter No. 1. November 2011. Available at: http://www.achieveproject.eu/index.php?option=com\_phocadownload&view=category&download=15%3Aachievenewsletter-issue-1&id=32%3Aeu-dissemination&Itemid=6&lang=eeu

[32] ibid.

- [33] Achieve. Matrix of devices potentially and actually used in ACHIEVE Pros and cons! 2012. http://www.achieve-project.eu/index.php?option=com\_phocadownload&view=category &download=52%3Amatrix-of-devices-used-in-achieve-d25&id=1%3Aeutargetareas&Itemid=6&Iang=eeu
- [34] Achieve project report no.1.
- [35] ibid.
- [36] ibid.
- [37] ibid.
- [38] Achieve project proposal.
- [39] Entranze. *Working paper: Literature review of key stakeholders, users and investors.* 2012. http://www.entranze.eu/files/downloads/D2\_4/D2\_4\_Complete\_FINAL3.pdf

- [40] Achieve. National Report with 4-6 Case Studies per country. Key Learning for Project ACHIEVE. 2012. http://www.achieve-project.eu/index.php?option=com\_phocadownload&view=category &download=44%3Acase-studies-a-key-learning-for-achieved-21eu-report&id=1%3Aeutargetareas&Itemid=6&Iang=eeu
- [41] Achieve project report no.1.
- [42] ibid.
- [43] Achieve Interim Evaluation Report. Forthcoming.
- [44] Achieve Project Meeting 4 Minutes.
- [45] Achieve draft interim report.

# Community based social marketing and energy efficiency – an evaluation of engagement strategies and domestic retrofit policies.

# Aaron Gillich, Minna Sunikka-Blank

# Department of Architecture, University of Cambridge

# Abstract

It is widely acknowledged that efforts to reduce carbon emissions must consider strategies to improve the energy efficiency of existing building stock. A considerable number of policy options have been enacted to address barriers to energy efficiency improvements in the domestic sector. The Better Buildings Neighborhood Program in the United States has awarded competitive grants to state and local programs designed to transform the market for domestic retrofits. Therefore national level policy objectives are used to guide the creation of state and local programs and strategies that are specifically calibrated to their individual communities. These programs make use of similar but differing approaches to retrofit financing and end user engagement allowing for a comparative analysis amongst them. Many programs employ innovative methods of engagement with end users including community based social marketing strategies. This work examines case studies from two Better Buildings programs using a common methodology. This unique group of programs targeting similar objectives allows the opportunity to study the indicators for engagement mechanisms that most effectively translate policy theory into successful energy savings for the end user. In addition, it offers a discussion of community based social marketing in end user engagement strategies and policy design.

#### Introduction

This paper explores the issue of outreach in driving domestic energy efficiency retrofits. A number of barriers exist that limit the effectiveness of retrofit programs. This work explores some of these barriers and the past policy responses that have been used to address them. Furthermore, it argues that the community based social marketing (CBSM) methodology presents numerous advantages in reaching out to homeowners and driving participation in retrofit programs. Using two case studies from the Better Buildings Neighborhood Program in the United States, this work presents a methodology through which to approximate the quantitative impact of various outreach strategies as well as qualitatively explore the themes that deliver successful outreach for retrofit programs and better address the barriers present.

#### **Barriers to Energy Efficiency Retrofits**

The past several decades has seen considerable academic and policy focus directed at the topic of barriers to energy efficiency in the built environment [1][2][3][4][5][6]. Among these barriers, the low priority of energy issues, lack of information, upfront cost barriers, and split incentives have been highlighted as limiting the potential for retrofits in existing dwellings [7][8][9].

For the purposes of this work, the principal barriers to domestic retrofits can be summarized in three categories: upfront cost, information, and trust. The upfront cost barrier, or access to capital, is a self-evident barrier that often receives the majority of attention in policy solutions. Information is a slightly more complex barrier, as customers frequently indicated having either too much, or too little information upon which to make an informed decision. The barrier might be better described as a lack of time, as customers report rarely having the time required to filter the available information into what is useful. Additionally, the time required to plan and allow for the work itself is often cited as a barrier. Finally the barrier of trust can be disassembled into a collection of issues. Customers frequently report a lack of trust in the contractor, the program operation, or the promised savings. [10][11]

It is widely acknowledged that these barriers are pervasive and will not be addressed by any single policy mechanism or financial instrument [8]. Policies to incentivize domestic retrofits have tended to

focus on specific technologies and often costly giveaways and rebates. Despite much positive progress, a significant energy efficiency gap remains [8].

#### An alternate behaviour model

Much recent work has highlighted the potential for behavioural economics to provide new perspectives on policy design [12]. However, historically, policies commonly rely on rational behaviour models to influence our energy use decision making and drive behaviour change.

The attitude behaviour model states that the provision of information will drive behaviour change, while the economic self-interest model assumes that individuals will change behaviour in order to maximize their own utility [10]. While these directly address the cost and information barriers discussed above, they have consistently underperformed against expectations. Both theory and practice have demonstrated that the provision of information and financing are necessary but insufficient drivers to encourage widespread adoption of energy efficiency measures [13].

CBSM builds on these theories and offers a clearer path towards enhancing communication between program designers and participants in two critical ways. It allows the delivery of targeted messaging that caters more directly to a given audience, and also enables a more interactive form of discussion that engages the end user rather simply disseminating information in a one sided manner [10]. CBSM is a methodology, not a particular outreach strategy or action. This methodology is described by Douglas McKenzie-Mohr [14]:

- 1. Targeted behaviour is selected.
- 2. Barriers and benefits associated with this behaviour are identified.
- 3. A strategy is designed using behaviour change tools to address these barriers and benefits.
- 4. The strategy is employed at the community level.
- 5. Program impacts are evaluated.

While these five steps describe a fairly intuitive process that is akin to improving outreach simply by reaching out to more people, the CBSM methodology accomplishes this using some less intuitive principles that draw on insights from psychology to enhance the persuasive power of the messaging. Principal among these is the idea of using social norms to reinforce group solidarity and reduce barriers to new ideas as a collective [10]. Social norms are useful because people value social relationships and therefore orient their behaviour in line with what they perceive is socially desired [15]. CBSM incorporates this idea into an outreach strategy in a fundamental way by targeting barriers at the level of social group rather than the individual [10]. It does this using the principle of the trusted messenger and the identification of leaders and authority figures within a social group. The next section will describe examples of this methodology and describe why it is particularly well suited to addressing barriers to domestic retrofits.

#### A new generation of retrofit programs

The CBSM methodology has been applied to a diverse range of social outreach and behaviour change campaigns. A number of studies have documented the effectiveness of CBSM towards fostering behaviour change [16] [17], as well as noted its potential applications to energy efficiency programs [18]. The application of CBSM to retrofit policies is a relatively recent, but increasingly popular trend.

The principle of establishing a program simply around the provision of information and financing faces several shortcomings. There is an accepted wisdom to the use of personalized information, relevant role-models, and personal service when engaging the behavioural aspects of energy use [19]. Some studies have indicated that the marketing and implementation of the program may even be more important than the size of the incentive [20]. It is important to note that CBSM is not a behaviour change campaign in the usual sense. Behaviour change programs typically centre on the provision of information or feedback, whereas CBSM uses these ideas to help define a more comprehensive methodology for outreach and engagement.

Financial incentives have historically targeted specific and isolated measures over more comprehensive whole-house solutions. In a national survey (n=505), people overestimated the impacts of small savings like changing light bulbs but drastically underestimated the savings realized through deeper retrofit measures such replacing appliances and HVAC equipment [21]. As this work will show, the use of CBSM can be effective at improving customer service and encouraging homeowners to take a comprehensive look at energy efficiency.

While providing giveaways and rebates are indisputably popular, they neglect to motivate those with non-financial barriers to retrofit actions. A number of behavioural studies suggest that a population is likely made up of groups with very differing, sometimes mutually exclusive motivations for pursuing retrofits, and furthermore, will have varying types of messaging and outreach to which they will be responsive [22].

It is well accepted that barriers are pervasive and must be addressed with a range of solutions [8]. Deeper retrofits require the engagement of homeowners with new feedback mechanisms, operation of new devices, adoption of new habits, and making long-term investments in their homes. All of these actions may be invisible, intangible, and grossly undervalued by the real estate industry [10]. CBSM offers a method of enhancing a programs engagement with the end user and addressing the barriers of upfront cost, information and time, and trust, more comprehensively.

# Method

This work proposes to assess the application of CBSM to domestic retrofit programs on both a qualitative and quantitative basis. This will be done using two case studies from Vermont and Maine that form part of the Better Buildings Neighborhood Program.

The qualitative component of this work will explore the ways in which each program markets their services and reaches out to homeowners. This will focus on the ways in which these methods are calibrated to the specific barriers discussed in the previous section, with the aim of extracting principles that have broader applications for retrofit policy design.

The next element of this discussion seeks to define an outreach rate and an upgrade rate that will quantify the effectiveness of the marketing and outreach methods employed by each program. The outreach rate will be defined in terms of the percentage of initial program participants per household in the targeted area. The retrofit rate is defined as the percentage of program participants that proceed past the application stage and implement the recommended upgrade measures. The exact products and services included in both the initial program outreach stage and the retrofit upgrade stage varies by program and will be discussed in detail for each case study.

This work will consider the number of potential participants in the program to be the number of households in the targeted geographic region according to the most recent available census data from the US Department of Commerce [25]. The Fuller [18] review of 18 financing programs in North America employed similar criteria for potential participants, noting that this is a much larger pool than the actual potential customers. Ideally one would only include those eligible customers who could qualify for the loan and had not participated already [18]. However, the size of this smaller pool is unknown.

This work will strive to compare the outreach and retrofit rates of these two case study programs, however noting that methodological differences between them prevent a perfect like for like comparison. This is a frequent hurdle in program evaluation; however, the selection of two case studies that exist under the same Better Buildings policy umbrella allows for enough structural similarities that meaningful trends can still be extracted.

#### Better Buildings Neighborhood Program

Before describing the case studies with which this work explores the topic of CBSM, this section will briefly describe the policy environment within which the two presented case studies are set. The United States Department of Energy (DOE) and the office of Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy (EERE) created the Better Buildings Neighborhood Program to improve domestic energy efficiency and drive the transformation of the retrofit market. [33]

A funding block of \$508 Million USD primarily through the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act (ARRA) was awarded as competitive grants to 41 separate programs around the country. In each case, the programs applying for the ARRA funding fit into an established system of state programs already in operation. The Better Buildings portions of these programs run from September 2010 to the end of 2013[23]. This offers opportunities for comparisons across communities due to the federally determined framework and objectives set out by the DOE. This gives consistencies across program design, implementation, measurement, and evaluation [24]. This paper will consider case studies from two of these 41 programs: the Vermont NeighborWorks Program and the Efficiency Maine Trust. Before detailing the program descriptions and analysis, Table 1 gives a brief comparison of the outreach strategies employed by each program. Note that many of the outreach strategies overlap. This work will detail the differences in their implementation.

Table 1: Outreach strategies employed by Vermont NeighborWorks and Efficiency Maine.

Vermont NeighborWorks - CBSM	Efficiency Maine – Traditional marketing
<ul> <li>-collaborating with existing NeighborWorks community group</li> <li>-traditional outreach: tv, radio, newspapers</li> <li>-earned newspaper publicity (unpaid)</li> <li>-town meetings</li> <li>-bill inserts/brochures/newsletters</li> <li>-events/energy parties</li> <li>-online/social media</li> <li>-phonathons</li> <li>-word of mouth referrals</li> </ul>	Statewide -print media, newspapers -television, radio advertising -online/social media Local -word of mouth referrals -collaborations with contractors -collaborations with established community groups

# Case Study #1 – NeighborWorks of Western Vermont

#### **Program Description**

NeighborWorks of Western Vermont is a non-profit organization founded in 1985. They are a community based social service agency created to engage homeowners in making health and safety repairs to their homes. Over the past decade they have gradually incorporated energy efficiency into part of their work scope. In 2009 they were awarded USD\$4.5 million in funding from the DOE's Better Buildings grant program with the target of delivering energy efficiency retrofits to 1000 in homes in Rutland County, Vermont [26]. Rutland County has a total of 33,837 housing units [25].

The Better Buildings funding was used to establish the HEAT Squad, which is a specialized group within NeighborWorks dedicated to identifying and circumnavigating the barriers to retrofits in local groups using the community based social marketing methodology. NeighborWorks began the program with a staff of 12 people, 5 of which are now dedicated to the HEAT Squad energy efficiency program. The project hypothesized that one-on-one information sharing and greater attention to customer service could reduce or replace the need for cash incentives to drive the uptake of energy saving measures in homes [27].

The Better Buildings funding is used to create and deliver the HEAT Squad marketing, outreach, monitoring, and customer services. The Better Buildings grant is therefore not used for direct lending or rebates, but rather to drive participation in programs such as the state-wide Home Performance with EnergySTAR Program, which is separately funded through Efficiency Vermont and offers rebates on energy measures that are undertaken.

#### Program Process

The HEAT Squad has created a range of events and outreach activities specific to the communities in which they are operating. A HEAT Squad staff member typically guides the homeowner through the entire program process, including the selection of an appropriate contractor to carry out the work. Any follow-ups that the customer has are carried out with the same individual from the initial home audit to the final loan application process. A customer satisfaction survey (n=108) indicated that 98% of

respondents were 'very satisfied' (84%) or 'satisfied' (14%) with the HEAT Squad customer service [27].

Typically, when a homeowner approaches NeighborWorks, a HEAT Squad representative will help them contact a contractor certified by the Building Performance Institute (BPI) and arrange a home energy audit. The audit is a 4-5 hour survey of the property that includes a blower door test, thermal imaging scans, and inspections of the insulation, heating, and ventilation systems. The audit identifies potential areas for improvement but does not offer any direct install measures such as weatherization or light-bulb replacements. The contractor will then issue a report with their recommendations, the potential savings, and the likely cost of the measures. Typical upgrade measures include insulation and weatherization, and heating system replacements. Should the homeowner decide to proceed with any of the upgrade measures, they will likely be eligible for a rebate offered through Efficiency Vermont. The average rebate offered by this incentive is approximately USD\$1,200, and is funded via the state program, not the Better Buildings grant.[28]

While the NeighborWorks program and Better Buildings funding are not used to directly subsidize any of these measures, they have used their collective bargaining power to reduce the prices of the energy audit and thus reduce the upfront cost barrier to undertaking retrofits. Contractors typically charge USD\$350-\$500 for the initial energy audit. NeighborWorks have encouraged them to reduce this upfront cost to USD\$100. If customers do proceed with the work the contractor will receive USD\$200 in additional payment out of the USD\$1,200 rebate offered by Efficiency Vermont. If customers do not proceed with any work, the contractor bears the loss for offering the audit at a reduced price; however, they typically deem this a worthwhile risk due to the increased workflow they receive through their relationship with NeighborWorks[28]. Contractors generally felt that NeighborWorks was a more trusted messenger than they could be on their own [11].

The increased workflow has resulted in the creation of 62 new contracting jobs in Rutland County. However, contractors have been cautious about the risk of taking on full time workers, so in addition, the HEAT Squad created the LaborWorks with NeighborWorks Program as an employment service with 9 further part-time contractors that can be called upon when needed.[28]

#### Analysis

This section will now consider the outreach rate and the retrofit rate for the NeighborWorks Program. Table 2 gives the results from the previous year using the most recent statistics available at the time of writing, as well as the total rates for the program to date.

Rutland County - Vermont	Past Year	Program to Date
Total Households	33837	33837
Data Period	Mar 2012 - Feb 2013	Feb 2011 - Feb 2013
Total Audits	487	1509
Total Upgrades (including in process)	195	627
Outreach Rate - Audits per Household	1.4%	4.5%
Upgrade Rate - Upgrades per Household	0.6%	1.9%

Table 2: Outreach rates for Nei	abborWorks of Western	Vermont in Rutland	County Vermon
Table 2. Outreacti fates for Nei			county, vermon

The results in Figure 1 show that the program has delivered consistent results since its debut in February 2011.



#### Figure 1: Audits and Upgrades under NeighborWorks program. [28]

As noted, the NeighborWorks program exists alongside the Efficiency Vermont Home Performance with EnergySTAR program. A report commissioned by the independent Cadmus Group [11] reviewed the success of the NeighborWorks program thus far. They compared the uptake of retrofit measures in Rutland County under the CBSM outreach program to those of the state-wide Efficiency Vermont program that relies on traditional outreach and media. They conclude that customers receiving the NeighborWorks messaging are 46% more likely to install measures. This was even more notable for lower income households (those earning below 80% of the average median income), where those that received outreach from NeighborWorks were 146% more likely to install measures [11].

The Cadmus evaluation also highlighted the fact that participants, including those that did not proceed from an audit to an upgrade, report a high likelihood of installing further energy-efficiency measures in the future.

Despite the fact that NeighborWorks and HEAT Squad use their Better Buildings funding for outreach and not to directly subsidize energy saving measures, the Cadmus report concludes the program delivers sufficient savings to be cost-effective on its own, with a net present value benefit to cost ratio of 1.72[11].

## Case Study #2 – Efficiency Maine

#### **Program Description**

In June 2010, the DOE awarded the Efficiency Maine Trust a funding block of USD \$30 million through the Better Buildings Neighborhood Program. The Better Buildings funding application was based on the funds primarily being used to finance Property Assessed Clean Energy (PACE) loans [29]. In April 2012, Efficiency Maine introduced the PowerSaver Loan Program and the Residential Direct Install Program to drive up signup rates. The programs serve a total of 725,577 housing units state-wide [25].

The program officially relies primarily on traditional outreach such as television, radio, web, and print advertising for their state-wide marketing strategy. They do however include some fundamental principles of CBSM in their local outreach when possible through collaborations with contractors or already established community groups.

Efficiency Maine commissioned an independent interim review of the ongoing PACE program [30]. From the USD\$30 million ARRA Better Buildings funding, USD\$20.4 million USD was used for the PACE revolving loans. PACE loans differ from typical financing by tying the value of the loan to the property not the individual. As of February 2013, a total of 158 Maine municipalities had passed PACE ordinances and entered into an agreement with Efficiency Maine to administer the loan program on their behalf, accounting for 74% of the state population. PACE loans are available in 5,

10, or 15 year terms at a fixed interest rate of 4.99%APR. Participants may borrow from USD\$6,500 to \$15,000, up to 100% of their home equity.

The average loan value under PACE is USD\$12,898, with 50% of loans receiving the maximum USD\$15,000 available [30]. Most participants were those in the top 35% of income by household. Projects below USD\$7,500 are typically financed directly by the homeowner.

The suggestions in the interim program review included bundling loans with rebates, and subsidising the upfront cost of energy assessments needed for PACE loan applications [30]. These suggestions were taken onboard when Efficiency Maine introduced the PowerSaver Loan Program and the Residential Direct Install Program (RDI) in spring 2012 to expand the eligible participants. Both programs are also funded by the ARRA Better Buildings grant [30]. The PowerSaver Program covers the same home energy improvements as PACE, but offers a wider range of loan amounts, is available state-wide, and has slightly different eligibility criteria. The RDI program initially offered a USD\$300 rebate towards air sealing and insulation work. In September 2012, the rebate was increased to USD\$600 or six hours of work. The aim is for this to overcome the upfront cost barrier for homeowners considering retrofits. [31]

#### Program Process

There are two separate processes for the RDI program and the PACE/PowerSaver loan program. Customers approaching the RDI program receive a rebate for up to 6 hours of work towards direct install measures carried out by BPI certified contractors. The measures include a blower door test, thermal imaging, combustion safety testing, and air sealing and weatherisation measures. The homeowner must pay any costs out of pocket that exceed the USD\$600 subsidy.

The retrofit measures targeted by the RDI program are meant to be direct install options with little follow-up or long term planning. The PACE/PowerSaver loans on the other hand begin with an energy audit that takes a more long term view at the potential retrofit measures. A BPI certified contractor will perform a survey of the possible measures including the generation of a thermal model that simulates the potential savings and payback periods. The proposed measures must demonstrate a minimum savings of 20% to be eligible for the loan.

The audit typically costs around USD\$500 and is part of the loan application procedure, but does not include any on the spot improvements. The program designers hoped that customers would use the RDI direct install program as a stepping stone to the deeper retrofit measures of the PACE/PowerSaver loans. To incentivise this, homeowners may count their RDI measures as meeting the 20% energy savings threshold required for the loan, thus removing a barrier to the application process. [31]

#### Analysis

This section will discuss the outreach and retrofit rates for the RDI and PACE/PowerSaver loan programs. While there may be some overlap in the customer base between the two programs, these statistics are not presently available.

	Maine RDI
Total Households	725577
Data Period	Apr 2012 - Feb 2013
Total Outreach	2752
Outreach Rate per Household	0.4%

#### Table 3: Outreach rates for RDI Program

Table 3 gives the outreach rate for the RDI program. Since there are no follow on steps for the process, the outreach rate is simply the percentage of RDI customers per household. Note that the RDI program was introduced partway through the Better Buildings grant period to help drive further turnout. The cumulative total of RDI completions since the program's introduction, as shown in Figure 2, demonstrates the rapidly increasing popularity of the program, particularly since the benefit was



raised from USD\$300 to USD\$600 in September 2012. The trend suggests that the outreach rate indicated in Table 3 will increase significantly before the program's completion.

Figure 2: Number of RDI Completions.[31]

The outreach rates for the PACE/PowerSaver loan programs can be calculated in the same way as that of the Vermont program. Since the energy audit typically costs USD\$500, customers seldom undertake it unless they plan to make the following step of completing the loan application. As such the completion rate from audit to application is very high and for the purposes of this calculation the outreach rate can effectively be taken as the number of loan applications per eligible household. The decrease from the number of applications to the number of upgrades is due primarily to loan applications being rejected or customers withdrawing from the process.

Table 3: Outreach rates	for PACE & PowerSave	r Loan Programs
-------------------------	----------------------	-----------------

Maine PACE & PowerSaver Loans	Past Year	Program to Date
Total Households	725577	725577
Data Period	Mar 2012 - Feb 2013	Jun 2011 - Feb 2013
Total Applications	1253	2003
Total Upgrades (including in process)	358	488
Outreach Rate - Applications per Household	0.2%	0.3%
Upgrade Rate - Upgrades per Household	0.05%	0.07%

With an average loan value of USD\$12,838, the PACE and PowerSaver programs have closed loans totaling a value of USD\$4,993,806 as of 02/10/2013.



#### Figure 3: PACE and PowerSaver Loan Tracker.[31]

The very recent downturn in the application rate is presently unexplained. Program organizers theorize that it is perhaps due to the rapid escalation in RDI completions, and the limited resources of contractors to meet the demands of both programs simultaneously. This further suggests that if customers are using the RDI measures as a stepping stone to the deeper retrofits, then the program will likely see an imminent increase in PACE/PowerSaver loan applications.

# Findings

The two case studies highlight several key ideas about the application of CBSM to domestic retrofit programs. The available data set does not permit a thorough investigation of customer motivations or a detailed analysis of free-ridership and spillover effects from other initiatives. While such methodological constraints and operational differences between programs will always cloud the potential for direct comparisons, there are some trends that can still be gleaned from the available data. Several such comparisons will now be explored in turn.

Fuller's review of 18 financing programs in North America found that on average most upgrade less than 0.05% of their potential customers in a year [18]. By this measure, both the Vermont and Maine loan programs have therefore reached more homeowners in the past year than an average loan program. Furthermore, based on the increasing outreach rates shown in Figures 1, 2, and 3, it is highly probable that the outreach rates will only improve as the programs move towards their conclusions at the end of 2013.

The NeighborWorks Vermont program utilized a CBSM approach and achieved outreach rates and upgrade rates roughly an order of magnitude higher than the Efficiency Maine PACE/PowerSaver Loan program, which relied on a traditional marketing strategy state-wide and employed CBSM principles where possible. The NeighborWorks CBSM program even delivers comparable outreach rates to the RDI direct install rebate program, which offers a higher financial incentive. Note that the link between the outreach rate and the CBSM strategy as calculated in this work demonstrates a correlation, and not a causal relationship. Nonetheless, the correlation supports the idea that CBSM is a useful tool in overcoming barriers to retrofits.

The Cadmus Report [11] included an analysis of participant motivation that was able to assign a causal relationship by comparing the results of the NeighborWorks CBSM program to the state-wide Efficiency Vermont program. They conclude that customers receiving the NeighborWorks messaging were 46% more likely to install measures and lower income households were 146% more likely to install measures [11].

The Efficiency Maine PACE/PowerSaver loan program possesses several features that enable it deliver favourable outreach rates compared to most loan programs. A significant tool is its tie-ins with the RDI direct install subsidy which lowers the upfront cost barrier. Additionally, while the program does not officially use a CBSM approach, it does incorporate several of the principles of CBSM into its

marketing. The Opinion Dynamics interim report [30] observed the effective use of contractor networks and word of mouth in generating awareness of the program as well as enabling contractors to be the trusted messenger on the program's behalf.

Efficiency Maine holds monthly webinars in which it relays program information as well as training items regarding customer service and sales. This not only improves relationships with clients, but helps organize a cohesive narrative between contractors and gives unity to the Efficiency Maine brand. There are over 100 contracting firms around Maine, over half of which work with the RDI and PACE/PowerSaver programs. Over half of these participating contractors consistently attend the monthly webinars. [31]

It is noted in other behaviour change campaigns that as the sample size increases, the effect size decreases [32]. The results in this work agree with this principle. The Vermont program has roughly 5% the target population of the Efficiency Maine program and yet a similar number of total staff members. Smaller programs within tightly-knit communities have evident advantages over larger populations in delivering local and personal customer service. The success of Efficiency Maine's outreach therefore offers some useful insights in how to bring such programs to scale.

Efficiency Maine began by trying to artificially implant a community outreach structure into different community groups around the state. It created field offices and sent staff members door to door to generate interest in the program. They encountered disinterest and even resistance, and realized that their groups were outsiders and thus not suitably trusted messengers.

They therefore adopted the more traditional outreach strategy described in this paper, and turned to contractors as the focus of their community outreach. Additionally, where possible they seek collaborations with local groups that already have an established presence in their communities. Fostering these connections then allows their community presence to grow organically via the established trusted messengers, allowing them very high outreach rates in some communities. [31]

The NeighborWorks experience supports this idea, having held an established community presence for over a decade before directing their efforts to energy efficiency in recent years.

# Conclusions

This work attempted to explore the application of the CBSM outreach methodology to energy efficiency retrofit programs and comment on the utility of a CBSM approach in addressing particular barriers to retrofits. It did this using two case studies of ongoing programs under the Better Buildings Neighborhood Program in the United States. These case studies were used to demonstrate qualitatively the benefits of a CBSM approach at addressing the barriers of upfront cost, time and information, and trust. Where the data permitted, the study also attempted to draw quantitative correlations between program outreach rates.

This work showed a positive correlation between the use of CBSM and increasing outreach rates, as the NeighborWorks Vermont program achieved higher outreach rates than the Efficiency Maine PACE/PowerSaver Loan program, and rates comparable to those of the RDI program which had higher financial incentives.

The Cadmus analysis of participant motivation was able to assign a causal link between the CBSM messaging of NeighborWorks and found a 46% increase in the installation of retrofit measures compared to state-wide rates. Among lower income households the CBSM outreach corresponded to a 146% increase suggesting that CBSM is particularly well suited to expanding the available audience for retrofit programs.

The Efficiency Maine PACE/PowerSaver program still achieved high outreach rates for a loan program, and the trends suggest this will only increase as the program continues to the end of 2013. The higher outreach rates of NeighborWorks Vermont enjoy the advantages of having a smaller target audience, and higher number of employees per potential customers. The Efficiency Maine program therefore offers a useful example of how to expand the principles of a CBSM strategy to a larger scale, while maintaining a state-wide outreach based on traditional marketing strategies. They did this by fostering strong relationships with the workforce and using the contractors themselves to drive community outreach. They also allowed partnerships with existing community groups to grow

organically, encouraging them to be the trusted messengers, rather than trying to artificially implant a CBSM structure into a community.

This work gave examples of how the use of CBSM strategies can more directly address the barriers of upfront cost, time and information, and trust. Vermont was able to address the upfront cost barrier by collaborating with another program and using collective negotiation to create a mutually beneficial arrangement with contractors that both reduced the upfront cost for homeowners and provided additional business and created jobs for local contractors. The barrier of information and time is also better addressed with CBSM as evidenced with the high customer satisfaction rates of the HEAT Squad team compared to the state-wide results of Efficiency Vermont [11]. The barrier of trust is addressed almost by definition when employing the use of trusted messengers to deliver program information as demonstrated by Maine's strategy in allowing relationships with trusted messengers to grow organically.

In evaluating the utility of CBSM strategies for addressing barriers to energy efficiency retrofits, one must consider many factors that were beyond the scope of this paper. Factors such as cost effectiveness, and the overall energy savings achieved are obviously critical to an energy efficiency program's success. Furthermore, the downstream effects of different marketing strategies should be explored. Customers exposed to CBSM strategies expressed a strong willingness to undertake future retrofit work, and this effect should be investigated. The application of CBSM to retrofit programs is a relatively new development and many of the programs are still ongoing. While the long-term success of CBSM as a tool to overcome barriers to retrofits remains to be proven, the present results show much promise. Future work should attempt to break down the cost structures of various approaches to outreach and engagement and assess the implementation costs of the different programmes.

# References

- [1] Meier, Alan, Wright, Janice and Rosenfeld, A.H. Supplying Energy Through Greater Efficiency: The Potential for Conservation in California's Residential Sector. Berkeley: University of California Press, 1983.
- [2] The Energy-Efficiency Gap. Jaffe, Adam B. and Stavins, Robert N. 1994, Energy Policy, pp. 22 (10) 808-810.
- [3] Energy Efficieny Policy and Market Failures. Levine, Mark D., et al. 1995, Annual Review of Energy and the Environment, pp. 20:535-555.
- [4] Golove, William H. and Eto, Joseph H. Market Barriers to Energy Efficiency: A Critical Reappraisal of the Rationale for Public Policies to Promote Energy Efficiency. Berkeley : Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, 1996.
- [5]. Gillingham, Kenneth, Newell, Richard G. and Palmer, Karen. Energy Efficiency Economics and Policy. Washington, DC. : Resources for the Future, 2009. Discussion Paper.
- [6]. McKinsey & Company. Unlocking Energy Efficieny in the U.S. Economy. s.l. : McKinsey Global Energy and Materials, 2009.
- [7]. Sorrell, Steve, et al. The Economics of Energy Efficiency Barriers to Cost Effective Investment. Cheltenham, UK : Edward Elgar Publishing Inc., 2004.
- [8]. IEA. Mind the Gap: Quantifying Principal-Agent Problems in Energy Efficiency. Paris : International Energy Agency, 2007.
- [9]. Retrofit Report. Recovery Through Retrofit. s.l. : Vice President's Middle Class Task Force -Executive Office of the President of the United States, 2009.
- [10]. Vigen, Michelle and Mazur-Stommen, Susan. Reaching the "High-Hangning Fruit" through Behavior Change: How Community-Based Social Marketing Puts Enery Savings within Reach. s.l.: ACEEE White Paper, 2012.
- [11]. Cadmus Group Inc. Evaluation of NWWVT's H.E.A.T. Squad Final Report. Portland, OR : Cadmus Group, Inc. Energy Services Division, 2012.

- [12]. The Role of Behavioural Economics in Energy. Pollitt, Michael G. and Shaorshadze, Irina. 2011, EPRG Working Paper 1130.
- [13]. Fuller, Merrian C., et al. Driving Demand for Home Energy Improvements: Motivating residential customers to invest in comprehensive upgrades that eliminate energy waste, avoid high bills, and spur the economy. s.l. : Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, 2010.
- [14]. McKenzie-Mohr, D. Fostering sustainable behaviour: An introduction to community-based social marketing. 3rd ed. Gabriola Island, BC : New Society, 2011.
- [15]. Feedback on Household Electricity Consumption: a tool for saving energy? Fischer, Corinna. 2008, Energy Efficiency, pp. 1:79-104.
- [16]. Strohm, Sonya. Community-Level Energy Efficiency Programs: A Literature Review of Best Practices for Promotion and Recruitment. University of Guelph : The Research Shop, 2011.
- [17]. Action Research. Community Based Social Marketing to Inform Homeowner Participation in California Energy-Efficiency Home Improvement Programs. San Marcos, CA : Build it Green, 2010.
- [18]. Enabling investments in energy efficiency: a study of residential energy efficiency financing programs in North America. Fuller, Merrian. University of California, Berkeley : ECEEE Summer Study, 2009.
- [19]. Social and Behavioral Aspects of Energy Use. Lutzenhiser, Loren. 1993, Annual Review, Vol. 18, pp. 247-89.
- [20]. The Effectiveness of Incentives for Residential Energy Conservation. Stern, Paul C., et al. 2, 1985, Evaluation Review, Vol. 10.
- [21]. Public perceptions of energy consumption and Savings. Attari, Shahzeen Z., et al. 2010, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States, Vol. Early Edition, pp. 1-6.
- [22]. Opinion Dynamics. Market Segmentation Findings. s.l.: Memorandum prepared for the California Public Utilities Commission., 2009.
- [23]. EERE. Better Buildings Neighborhood Program. [Online] 2012. [Cited: 12 09, 2012.] http://www1.eere.energy.gov/buildings/betterbuildings/neighborhoods/index.html.
- [24]. Crauderueff, Robert. Driving Equitable Demand: Early Lessons from the Better Buildings Program to Access 'Hard-to-Reach' Communities for Energy Efficiency Building Improvements. Boston : Masters Thesis, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, 2011.
- [25]. USCB. United States Census Bureau US Department of Commerce. [Online] 2013. [Cited: 03 19, 2013.] http://quickfacts.census.gov.
- [26]. NeighborWorks. NeighborWorks HEAT Squad. [Online] 2013. [Cited: March 19, 2013.] http://heatsquad.org.
- [27]. DOE. H.E.A.T. Squad A Top Leader in Home Energy Efficiency Results. s.l. : Better Buildings US Department of Energy, 2013.
- [28]. Biddle, Ludy. Private Communication Ludy Biddle, Executive Director, NeighborWorks of Western Vermont. s.l.: 03/19/2013, 03 19, 2013.
- [29]. Efficiency Maine Trust. Revised Statement of Project Objectives. s.l. : Efficiency Maine Trust -Maine Better Buildings, 2012.
- [30]. Opinion Dynamics Co. Evaluation of the Efficiency Maine Trust PACE Loan Program: Interim Process Report. s.l. : Opinion Dynamics Corporation on Behalf of Efficency Maine Trust, 2012.

- [31]. Fischer, Dana. Private Communication Dana Fischer, Residential Program Manager, Efficiency Maine Trust. 03/20/2013 : s.n., 2013.
- [32]. Allcott, Hunt. Social Norms and Energy Conservation. s.l.: Working paper, Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT), Cambridge, MA, 2010. (revision of July 2009 working paper -Allcott 2009).
- [33]. Gillich, Aaron and Sunikka-Blank, Minna. Barriers to domestic energy efficiency an evaluation of retrofit policies and market transformation strategies. Proceedings from the ECEEE Summer Study; Hyeres, France, June3, 2013.

# Acknowledgements

This work forms a component of research towards my PhD thesis. I would like thank my supervisor Dr. Minna Sunikka-Blank. I would also like to thank Dana Fischer and the project team behind the Efficiency Maine Program, as well as Ludy Biddle from NeighborWorks Vermont for their support and assistance in gathering data on their ongoing works in these states. This research is supported by an EPSRC Doctoral Training Grant.

# Do we know the way now? Using international comparison to confirm a policy package that can deliver energy savings from appliances

Lena Tholen, Wuppertal Institute for Climate, Environment and Energy

Stefan Thomas, Wuppertal Institute for Climate, Environment and Energy

Thomas Adisorn, Wuppertal Institute for Climate, Environment and Energy

#### Abstract

What are effective packages of policies and measures to stimulate energy efficiency from appliances? In the project "bigEE – Bridging the Information Gap on Energy Efficiency in Buildings", we have addressed the question in a systematic way – by combining theoretical evidence on what policy support markets need, and an international comparison on which packages of policies have worked well. The project develops an international internet-based knowledge platform for energy efficiency in buildings (<u>www.bigee.net</u>). Hence, it must provide evidence-based information.

On the theoretical side, presented in earlier papers, the analysis starts with the barriers but also market-inherent incentives that the different types of market participants face. This enables to identify, which regulatory, economic and other policies and measures need to be combined to overcome barriers and strengthen incentives. On the empirical side, model examples of good practice for policy packages have been collected and their design and impact compared. Finally, the model examples, lessons learned, and the preconditions for their transferability are used to validate the generic policy package identified in the theoretical analysis.

In this way, we were able to support the well-known recommendable policy package for appliances, combining MEPS, mandatory energy labelling, and information of consumers and training of sales staff, financial incentives where appropriate, and measures to stimulate innovation and market introduction such as award competitions and public or co-operative procurement, with fresh evidence. The paper will present the recommended package as well as a comparison of existing national policy packages from Brazil, China, Japan and California (USA) and what we learned from it for effective packages and implementation.

## Introduction

Policy-makers worldwide have increasingly recognised energy efficiency as a key factor to reduce the energy consumption and to realise a sustainable energy future. In this context, appliances, as a major source of energy use should be a focus to control the energy consumption and to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. The most energy-efficient appliances available today can save between 60% and 85% of energy compared to inefficient models that are still on sale in many countries [19]. The energy efficiency efforts do not only achieve high energy saving potentials. CO<sub>2</sub> emissions can also be reduced cost-effectively from a life-cycle perspective and thus provide economic benefits. Furthermore, a policy package that concentrates on the whole life-cycle of the product can address other sustainability aspects like other resources and health aspects and realise several co-benefits like an increased competitiveness. By offering innovative products this can open up new (niche) markets, which will likely have a positive effect on the economy as a whole [8].

Yet, at least as many papers have concluded that in spite of their cost-effectiveness, these savings are not going to be realised by market forces alone (e.g., [11]; [15]). This lack of market uptake results from a large variety of barriers and market failures that hinder market actors to manufacture, sell or buy energy efficient products [18].

Therefore, the challenge remains to reach all relevant target groups and to transform the appliance sector in a way that efficient solutions will no longer be an exception but become the standard choice of market actors. We have to abandon the prevailing 'as-fast-and-cheap-as-possible' construction approach, because it systematically ignores lifecycle costs and creates appliances that will be wasting enormous amounts of energy and money throughout their whole lifetime [15].

To reach this goal, actor-specific and well-designed packages of policies are required. Policy-makers should be encouraged and informed to combine a selection of instruments tackling the most important market barriers.

The web-based platform "bigEE.net - Your guide to energy efficiency in buildings" was developed to make structured information easily available and to enable policy-makers to make well-considered decisions. The demonstration of the practicability of different policy approaches and the successful implementation can be a key motivation for policy makers to transfer a similar policy or to improve existing ones. The project seeks to address this problem by summarising knowledge and presenting comprehensive, independent and high-quality information on energy efficiency in buildings and appliances on its international website. In particular, the project aims to make the information about existing policies and technologies throughout the world comparable and present it in a targeted way so as to support investors and policy makers in making the right – energy-efficient – choices.

Many studies (e.g. [7]; [15]; [17]) have argued that different types of policies – most notably regulation, financial incentives and information, or "the sticks, the carrots, and the tambourines" – need to be combined into packages in order for them to be effective and make energy efficiency easy and attractive for market actors. However, we are not aware of a systematic and comprehensive analysis to underpin and derive what kind of policies and measures the packages should consist of, and how they need to interact.

To develop the evidence-based information required for bigee.net, we addressed in a different way than usual the question of how policy can support improved appliance energy efficiency most effectively: We combined (1) a theoretical, actor-centred analysis of market-inherent barriers and incentives for all actors in the supply and use chain of (energy-efficient) appliances to derive a recommended package combining the types of policies and measures the actors need to overcome all these barriers, with (2) empirical evidence on model examples of good practice policy packages to check if pro-active countries have indeed used the combination of policies we derived from the actor-centred analysis. While the actor-centred analysis has been presented during the EEDAL conference 2011, this paper focuses on the empirical evidence.

In the paper, we will therefore briefly describe the bigEE project to illustrate the project background and its scope. Next, the methodological approach to developing the recommended policy packages for energy efficiency in appliances will be presented. Then follows the resulting strategic package approach to energy efficiency policy for energy efficient appliances, proven in practice by a comparison of the existing national policy packages from California (USA), China, Japan, and Brazil.

# bigEE – Your guide to energy efficiency



"bigEE – bridging the information gap on energy efficiency in buildings" is a project by the Wuppertal Institute, with financial support from the German Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature Conservation and Nuclear Safety (BMU). Within the project, the international internet-based knowledge platform "bigEE – Your guide to energy efficiency in buildings was developed (see: www.bigee.net). Three comprehensive guides – for building design and technologies, for appliance energy efficiency and for policy implementation present detailed information about how to increase energy efficiency and how policy can support this development. Apart from information universally applicable for policy makers and investors from all over the world, up to five partner countries will be addressed, starting with China and South Africa and possibly soon Mexico.

A central task for bigEE is collecting and updating information on the best available technologies (BAT) on a comparable basis, as well as the gathering of possible energy saving potentials (depending on different scenarios and market developments) and their net economic benefits, and the demonstration of successful implemented good practice policies. To achieve the required quality of information, the bigEE team collaborates with scientific institutes and with existing initiatives (international and in partner countries) including the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) and the International Energy Agency (IEA). Furthermore, bigEE engages in the active dissemination of information relevant for policy-makers in the partner countries.

# Methodology<sup>1</sup>

Different steps are needed to derive an 'ideal' policy package, which increases the energy efficiency of appliances and which assist the various actors in overcoming their specific barriers and strengthening their incentives. Experience from pro-active countries and an analysis of market barriers show that several instruments will need to interact and reinforce each other in a comprehensive policy package. The question we have to answer then is which specific policies and measures should be combined in strategic policy packages to address the barriers and incentives, and how they need to interact. We used a two-step approach combining (1) an actor-centred theoretical analysis with (2) an empirical proof.

The methodological approach we use on the theoretical side is based on and seeking to extend and refine the theory-based policy evaluation approach, which goes back to experiences with energy efficiency policy evaluation in the USA (e.g., [2]) and was applied and developed further more recently within the EU project AID-EE (cf. www.aid-ee.org). Originally, the theory-based approach was developed for ex-post evaluation of existing policies. It aims at understanding how policies work and the factors of success or failure by defining for each step of implementation a theory on the implementation mechanism or strategy of the step and indicators to measure success of the step and the instrument overall. It can be used both for process evaluation and for theoretically explaining the reasons for the impact achieved – success or failure. The AID-EE project has pointed out that this can also be used to examine ex ante whether policies are expected to be successful, and therefore guide policy design. In bigEE, we developed this further to analyse, which implementation strategies and policies need to be combined to a package to achieve success in realising energy efficiency.

The actor-centred theoretical analysis starts with the identification of all relevant market actors along the value chain of the national market for the type of appliance concerned. In order to be able to adequately design and implement energy efficiency policies and measures, political decision makers must have good knowledge of the concerned market actors and thoroughly analyse the specific incentives and barriers faced by each of them. These market actors are for instance manufactures, whole sales, retailers, investors and users. All of these actors make decisions that can influence the energy performance of appliances in question.

After identifying the relevant actors in the appliances market, it is necessary to put the focus on the actor-specific barriers and incentives. All actors have some inherent incentives to develop, offer, demand or invest in energy-efficient solutions, but are on the other hand facing strong barriers that prevent them from choosing energy efficiency [6]. The challenge is to identify the reasons that cause actors to be inclined towards or to refrain from choosing low-energy appliances - these barriers are the major reason why there is a gap between potential and realised energy savings. Each actor group has its own characteristics and therefore every policy has to pay attention to these. By knowing the barriers and incentives the policy package can be adapted to guarantee desired results and achieve the greatest possible success [15]. Barriers are for example the lack of knowledge and motivation, the high search and transaction costs, the uncertainty about the related monetary and other benefits,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The actor-centred analysis was already published during the EEDAL conference 2011 (see [14]). For a detailed analysis of this theoretical approach please refer to this paper of visit <u>www.bigee.net</u>

capital constraints, the investor-user barrier or technical barriers. In comparison to these actor-specific barriers several incentives can be identified like saved energy costs, the increased (re-sale) value of the appliance or the contribution to environmental protection. The relevance of some of these barriers and incentives may differ from country to country depending on national circumstances [6]. Two guestions remains:

- How can the immanent incentives that market actors have be strengthened?
- How can the specific barriers that market actors face be overcome?

In this context policy is needed to overcome the respective barriers and to exploit the existing potentials. For policy makers it is essential to identify the different barriers and incentives and to develop appropriate remedies in the form of tailored policy packages, which aim to remove the barriers and strengthen the incentives identified [6]. The overall goal for policy makers should be to move the market towards to the best available technology and to the best not yet available technology (BNAT) with very high energy efficiency levels. There are a number of direct ways to target the barriers and incentives and barriers, these strategies aim to make energy efficiency feasible, easy, and attractive, and eventually even the default (i.e., the behavioural norm or even the legal standard). An implementation strategy may act on several incentives and barriers. Some examples for these implementation strategies are:

- Bring down the first costs of energy-efficient appliances via market transformation or economics of scale
- Increasing motivation by making it as easy as possible to choose the energy efficient option make appliance energy consumption and quality visible and comparable; use social marketing tools
- Improve access to capital, e.g. subsidize purchase of energy- efficient appliances, establish innovative financing mechanisms

As a next step, political decision makers but also non-governmental actors such as energy service companies must take concrete measures and enact actual policies in order to put the implementation strategies to work. For each of the implementation strategies, a package of policies and measures is needed to make it work, and since also a combination of implementation strategies is necessary to tackle the manifold barriers, these targeted policy packages must then be merged into a consolidated overall package, which is ultimately capable of kick-starting a real market transformation in the appliance market. It is essential to have a look at the technology and the product-specific potential and to demonstrate the best way to increase energy efficiency with a package of different but coordinated instruments. Some instruments are alternative to each other, but usually several instruments should be coordinated in an adequate policy package to establish synergy effects and realise the implementation strategy.

## The strategic policy package to deliver energy efficiency in appliances

According to international research and experience, a package of several types of consistent and technology-specific and actor-specific policy instruments is useful to be most successful. Instead of a single instrument, a package offers the opportunity to achieve synergies between single instruments, and to reach all market actors [15]. The ideal policy package consists of consumer-oriented instruments and instruments for manufacturers (to build a "push and pull strategy" to push consumers and manufacturers away from energy intensive practices and to pull them towards energy efficient ones). Each policy is tailored to overcome one or a few certain market barriers and to strengthen the actor-specific incentives, but none can address all of these barriers and incentives. Therefore, the impact of well-combined policies is often larger than the sum of the individual expected impact [7].

Different policies addressing the demand-and supply-side actors of markets should consequently be properly combined according to national circumstances. This does not mean that governments seeking to improve the energy efficiency of appliances have to implement all possible policies in order

to be successful, but they should combine a selection of instruments tackling the most important market barriers.

As our analysis has concluded and successful countries have demonstrated (cf. also Table 1 below), a comprehensive and coherent policy package for energy efficiency in appliances will usually provide a sound balance between clear mandatory measures, incentives, information and capacity building. It also needs a governance framework to enable implementation of these policies.

The presentation starts with this overarching governance framework for energy efficiency that is general to appliances. Afterwards, the specific parts of the package with concrete policies and measures for energy efficiency in appliances follow suit.

# The governance framework for energy efficiency

In the bigEE recommended policy packages, the general governance framework serves to guide and enable implementation of the sector-specific policies, as well as to remove price distortions in energy markets that would make energy efficiency improvements appear less cost-effective than they are.

A Policy Roadmap with a clear timetable and targets will guide policy-making and signal to the market a reliable political support for energy efficiency. The targets should be: Prepare markets for mainstreaming highest energy efficiency levels.

The administrative infrastructure and the funding for the other policy elements need to be in place. This includes (1) an energy agency or similar institution for co-ordinating activities. To ensure (2) stable funding, government energy efficiency funds and/or energy companies with the task to achieve energy savings via energy efficiency programmes are also required.

Energy prices should 'tell the economic and ecological truth'. In addition, they must also consider social issues and should encourage energy sufficiency. It is essential that subsidies for energy production or on energy prices be gradually removed - governments are advised to rather use the budget saved to fund energy efficiency schemes for low-income households, so as to keep energy bills affordable instead of keeping energy prices artificially low. In addition to removing energy subsidies, energy or  $CO_2$  taxes will finally internalise environmental damage and threats to health into final energy prices.

#### How the specific policies and measures for energy efficiency in appliances interact

For energy efficiency in appliances, the appliance-specific instruments can be packaged as follows:

- Mandatory minimum energy performance standards (MEPS) are the most important policy for energy efficiency in appliances. They should be created by law and then strengthened step by step every three to five years, to finally require energy efficiency levels equivalent to very energy-efficient appliances. MEPS reduce transaction costs as well as the landlord-tenant and buyer-user dilemma by removing the least energy-efficient models from the market. They should, however, always be at least as stringent as the energy performance level leading to least life-cycle costs. In a transition period before a law can make MEPS mandatory, a voluntary standard may help. Preferably, other statutory requirements, such as individual metering, would complement the legal framework.
- Energy labelling works together perfectly with energy performance standards. MEPS usually eliminate the worst products from the market but do not harness additional energy-saving potentials. Energy labels present the best products on the market and are primarily made for buyers and end-users. They are, thus, one element of the package to "reach the energy efficiency top", like the others that follow here. Mandatory energy labelling schemes mostly compare the products on a classification scale to show the best but also the worst products on the market. Such classification labels are, however, useful only if there is a large enough spread of energy efficiency levels between the models of a type of appliance offered in a market. Where that is not the case, an endorsement label for the most energy-efficient

models only may be an alternative. Furthermore, an information campaign is needed in order to promote the label and to raise the consumers' awareness towards energy efficiency.

• The market should, furthermore, be prepared for the next step(s) of MEPS regulation towards very efficient appliances through policies tackling the substantial information deficits and financing barriers. This includes the already mentioned energy labels, but also advice, easy-to-use product choice and life-cycle cost calculation tools. Policies for consumers should be designed to address specific actor groups but also the broad public. Highly consumer oriented approaches can bring energy efficiency on the agenda for many actors like end-users and investors (e.g. by TV spots or included in the school curriculum). Such programmes can address the rebound effect. These effects occur when consumers buy bigger and bigger appliances, such as large televisions of refrigerators or when they improve their desired thermal comfort (e.g. higher indoor temperatures in cold seasons). Policymakers should try to limit these rebound effects e.g. through motivation and information campaigns on energy-efficient user behaviour.

Financial incentives - such as rebates, grants and tax incentives – can guarantee a broad market introduction of energy-efficient appliances. The latter are more costly than other instruments, so they will be particularly useful if there is a very large spread of energy efficiencies in the market and, hence, large energy cost savings are possible. In addition, they can often be limited to a certain time period (e.g., two or three years) until the market offer and demand has switched to the energy-efficient models. For low-income households, financing support may be needed to purchase very energy-efficient appliances that have a higher upfront price but pay back over their lifetime through lower energy bills. Policies, which can be perfectly combined with education and financial instruments, are policies addressing the life-cycle of the product including other sustainability aspects like resources, recycling and health. It is mainly for such information and financial programmes that energy efficiency funds or energy companies must contribute.

- Education and training of professionals (manufacturers, sales staff, and other relevant market actors) should prepare introduction and further strengthening of MEPS regulation. Certification of successful participation to the training can make it more attractive for both the qualified market actors and their customers.
- Once a certain market share of (highly) energy-efficient appliances is reached, the professionals are trained and used to selling the energy-efficient models, and the costeffectiveness of the next step is proven, then this level can then be mandated by the regulation to become the new MEPS level.
- Future steps of MEPS regulation towards very energy-efficient appliances should be prepared by innovation support through R&D funding, award competitions, and maybe also already by financial incentives for broad market introduction. The public sector should lead by example through energy-efficient public procurement, thereby paving the way for the other sectors to follow. To push the market further towards energy-efficient appliances and create first markets for them, co-operative procurement programmes can make an important contribution towards very efficient products due to the high purchasing power. Voluntary agreements with large buyers to purchase more energy efficiently than required by MEPS may also support market introduction.

The following figure illustrates exemplarily a comprehensive policy package for appliances and describes the interactions between minimum energy performance standards, energy labels, financial incentives, energy-efficient procurement, RD&D (Research, development and demonstration) promotion as well as education and training programmes.



#### Figure 1: The interaction of policy instruments for energy efficiency in appliances

Source: Wuppertal Institute 2012

# Model examples of good practice policy packages

The next step of our above mentioned methodology was to find out whether the results of our theoretical analysis are consistent with actually implemented examples of successfully operating policy packages. Consequently, we had to search for empirical evidence of good practice packages in pro-active countries. This next step was therefore the analysis of the policy packages that a number of countries have actually implemented to provide the empirical proof. Therefore the country analysis was to check whether the main elements of the theoretically adequate policy package can indeed be found in real life in the policy packages of advanced countries, so as to confirm the composition of the package. However, this does not yet include an assessment of whether all of the policy elements these countries have combined to their package are good practice for themselves.

This search started from a number of publicly available databases (such as International Energy Agency, World Energy Council, the EU project ODYSSEE-MURE<sup>2</sup>) and was continued with in-depth literature review on candidates identified by the team and international experts we approached for advice.

As some pro-active countries show (cf. Table 1), the policy package that we derived from our actorcentred analysis is exactly what these countries have introduced to approach very high levels of energy efficiency in appliances. These can be considered good practice for the consistent packaging of policies; however, more research is needed to analyse whether each element is a "good practice" policy of its kind and which country has achieved the biggest progress towards very energy-efficient appliances. The table can thus not be read as giving any statement on these further questions.

#### Table 1: Comparing the recommended policy package with good practice from four countries

Category of policies and measures	Subcategory of policies and measures	Implementation in California, USA	Implementation in China	Implementation in Brazil	Implementation in Japan
Governance framework					

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> www.iea.org/policiesandmeasures/energyefficiency/; www.wec-poliicies.enerdata.eu; www.odyssee-indicators.org

Energy efficiency targets and planning	Policy roadmap and targets for very efficient appliances	Assembly Bill 32, Climate Change Scoping Plan and Long Term Energy Efficiency Strategic Plan (Updated 2011)	China has a programme for mandatory minimum efficiency standards	National energy plan 2030, the Energy Efficiency Act	Basic Energy Plan, Energy Conservation Law
	International cooperation	California is part of the Western Climate Initiative, Co-operation with the Province of Jiangsu in China	China cooperates with the US Environmental Agency and with the Energy Management Corporation of South Korea	International organisations helped raise the profile of energy efficiency, substantial contributions from other countries	Japan is member of the IPEEC, EMAK, GSEP, Green Purchasing Network, JICA organises several activities
Infra-structure and funding for energy efficiency programmes and policy	Energy agencies	State level: California Energy Commission and California Public Utilities Commission; Federal level: Environmental Protection Agency, Department of Energy	National Development and Reform Commission (NDRC)	National Electrical Agency	Agency for Natural Resources and Energy (ANRE) Energy Conservation Centre of Japan (ECCJ)
	Overall co- ordination and financing	Each utility company must provide energy efficiency programmes and services: Energy Efficiency Portfolios and Budgets approved by the California Public Utilities Commission; Public Goods Charge	The Ministry of Finance is the key player in terms of funding; NDRC, CNIS and CSC are also instrumental for implementation	There are different financing schemes: Funding comes from the Public Benefits Funds, ELECTROBAS, the ANEEL Energy Efficiency Programme, PROESCO and other programmes to support energy efficiency	ANRE, ECCJ, NEDO agencies and budget by METI
Eliminating distortions	Removal/reduction of subsidies on end-user energy prices and on energy supply (if they exist); Energy/ CO <sub>2</sub> taxation and emissions trading	The electricity rate is divided into tiers	China plans to gradually implement a carbon trading system from 2013 on		There are some energy taxes but not a emission trading or a carbon tax
Opposition politicione	Regulation of energy companies	Cost recovery of energy efficiency programme costs plus performance- based incentives; Decoupling of energy company profits from sales;		Regulatory supervision of the use of the Public Benefits Funds;	
Regulation	Minimum energy	MEPS were	China has a	Federal Law 10 205	
regulation	performance standards (MEPS)	implemented in 1977; currently "2010 Appliance Efficiency Regulation"	programme for mandatory minimum efficiency standards	MEPS	
	Other legal requirements			Madel	Top Runner Program, Home Appliance Recycling Law, Agreement to reduce stand-by power consumption
Information	Mandatory labelling scheme	Energy Guide	Energy Information	Mandatory A-G labelling scheme, Energy Standard Information System	Uniform Energy Saving Label

			(ESIS)		
	Voluntary labelling scheme	ENERGY STAR	Voluntary Energy Efficiency Endorsement Label	Voluntary labelling scheme PROCEL	Energy labelling programme; ENERGY STAR for office equipment
	Provision of targeted information	Product database for customers ENERGY STAR programmes, Flex your power	EE Information week, consumer education programme, online appliance databases	PROCEL provides relevant information on experiences and success	School programmes, training courses, up-to-date information, "Energy efficient household appliance forum", product database
	Feedback and other measures targeting user behaviour	Opower			Energy Conservation Navi Smart Life
Financial incentives and financing	Financial incentives	Financial incentives are given by both private and public energy companies. For example, SCE offers a rebate on refrigerators if an ENERGY STAR product is purchased, Energy Management Assistance Program	There are plans to subsidise the purchase of energy-saving refrigerators and other appliances	Refrigerator replacement programme	Eco-Point Scheme
	Financing instruments (e.g. soft loans)				
Capacity building & networking	Education & training for supply chain actors	Training of retail sales staff (ENERGY STAR – Retailer Resources)	GEF Project: Chinese manufacturers participated in design training workshops, study tours, and expert technical assistance	PROCEL offers training courses, seminars and conferences	Energy education in schools; Training of retail sales staff by retailers under the Energy Efficient Product Retailer Assessment Program
Promotion: Research, Development & Demo and Best Available Technology	Public sector programmes ('Lead-by- example', energy- efficient public procurement)	FEMP - EEPP	In 2006 the legal requirement "Energy Efficient Products For Government Procurement" came into force	Targets for the public sector	Green Procurement Law
	Research and development funding	Public Interest Energy Research programme		The Ministry co- ordinates research and development projects	NEDO is the largest R&D management organisation, METI has some R&D programmes
	Competition and awards	SERP, Super- efficient Refrigerator Program	The GEF project introduced the "principal award" The programme also included a lottery-style purchaser award		Energy Efficient Product Retailer Assessment Program

Note: the table only shows the priority types of policies in the bigEE recommended policy package

Source: bigEE analysis (online including all types of policies and all sources at <u>www.bigee.net</u>)

# Discussion: What the countries do vs. bigEE's recommended policy package

A look through the table confirms that the empirical evidence proves the composition of policy package developed with the actor-centred theoretical analysis and presented above to be the right combination of policies and measures.

#### The governance framework for energy efficiency

Although all four countries have designed a roadmap facilitating the efficient use of energy, there are some notable differences. California stands out because of its long-term commitment to decrease GHG emissions by 80% of 1990 levels by 2050 set out in the Climate Change Scoping Plan (CCSP), which together with the Long Term Energy Efficiency Strategic Plan signals reliable political support for energy efficiency. Expanding and strengthening appliance standards are considered "key elements" [12]. For the medium-term, Assembly Bill 32 legislates GHG reductions by 2020. Similarly, China has been legislating energy intensity targets since its 11th Five-Year-Plan, established 2005, which is supported by Medium and Long-Term Energy Conservation Plan. This plan, however, does not go beyond 2020. Brazil's and Japan's strategic plans cover a period until 2030.

In Brazil and China, the Ministry of Mines and Energy and National Development and Reform Commission, respectively, pave the way towards an energy-efficient future. However, at least for Brazil, there is much room more for improvement in terms of allocating financial and human resource. California's Energy Commission (CEC) was, among other things, established to promote energy efficiency through appliance standards. Together with the Utility Commission, closely supervising privately owned energy companies, CEC designs energy efficiency measures. In Japan, the Agency for Natural Resources and Energy (which is under the Ministry of Economic, Trade and Industry) and the Energy Conservation Centre of Japan are the most important actors for increasing energy efficiency.

Brazil, California, China as well as Japan have realised that market distortions negatively affect rational energy consumption. However, different approaches have been pursuit. In California utilities are required to promote energy efficiency programmes to end-users funded through the Public Goods Charge. Moreover, energy companies are obliged to participate in a cap-and-trade programme on GHG emissions, which incentivises them even more to engage in energy-efficiency measures for end-users (e.g. refrigerator rebates). Because the less energy their clients consume, the less emission certificates need to be bought. The Chinese government plans to gradually implement emissions trading system nationwide and Japan introduced the Carbon Tax in 2012, whose funds are used for energy efficiency and renewable energy measures. Through this scheme, end-users are to use energy more rationally due to increasing energy costs. Brazil's government legislated utilities to invest 0.5% of their annual net revenues in end-user programmes aimed at increasing energy efficiency. Half of that sum must be spend on low-income households

#### Specific policies and measures for energy efficiency in appliances

Minimum energy performance for appliances is a key issue for all four governments, stressing its significance within an appliance package. While a comparison of the country-specific standard-setting processes would go beyond the scope of this paper, a brief description of Japan's innovative Top-Runner approach seems to be appropriate. Simply put, the Top-Runner programme identifies the most efficient appliances (or the top runners) of an appliance category on the market. Their energy efficiency value is applied as a future minimum energy efficiency standard to be achieved after a transition period of three to twelve years. This period is determined by taking into account technological development forecast and the development period of products. "Because the standard is based upon data from existing products, it can be said that the standard is market driven, i.e. no standard is set that is not (yet) available in a product on the market" [10].

Each of the four governments utilises mandatory and voluntary labels in order to accelerate market transformation by providing consumers with transparent and comparable information about the energy consumption of appliances. In Japan, the most energy efficient appliances can reach five stars. Only Japan's voluntary label, which can be incorporated into the mandatory one, shows a) whether a products meets the respective standard, b) in how far (in %) the device performs better or worse than its standard and c) how much energy a given product consumes. China's label classifies appliances into five different categories, from class one (highly efficient) to class five. Similarly, Brazil scales

devices from class A (highly efficient) to class G. Both are reminiscent of the EU Energy Label and also make use of a voluntary label. The U.S. stands out because it does not incorporate a classic classification scheme. It rather focuses on the estimated annual operating costs. This suggests that the U.S. Government considers the lack of consumer information regarding the operating costs of devices a main barrier towards market transformation. On the upper end are operating costs for highly efficient devices and energy-inefficient devices (available on the market) constitute the scale's lower end. In terms of worldwide implementation, the voluntary label of the USA, the Energy Star, can be considered a huge success. Japan, the EU and other countries have made use of the Energy Star for a broad range of appliances, for office equipment, in particular. However, the Energy Star label is not very ambitious and the requirements are not based on the best products on the market. The label is also used for the public procurement in the USA but the function is mainly to set minimum energy performance standards. By this, it only cuts the most inefficient products from the market.

In order to make consumers more fully aware of energy-efficient appliances, all four governments provide information through different information campaigns. Feedback measures such as the Energy Conservation Navi in Japan or the Home Energy Report, offered by Opower in California (and other U.S. regions and countries), are to inform the end-users more comprehensively about their energy use and can be considered an asset for both cases. California, China and Brazil support or supported the purchase of some energy-efficient appliances. Particularly in Brazil, low-income households are focused on. The Japanese Eco-Points programme is like the Top-Runner approach a very innovative measure. Eco-points can be received for the purchase of appliances that, at least, score four stars on Japans mandatory energy label.

Education and Training programmes for supply chain actors are implemented in each of the four cases. However, capacity building measures in China, which were supported by the Global Environment Facility, can have a very positive effect. First, China's sales figures for the domestic market rise constantly (Fridley 2008, p.5). Second, increasing energy efficiency in products made in China, will improve energy performance of devices worldwide.

All governments also seem to acknowledge the usefulness of public sector programmes. Whereas California, China and Japan introduced public procurement law, Brazil's commitment to only "consider" energy efficiency in the procurement process appears to be a less ambitious. Research and development funding programmes are implemented in all cases but China. Regarding competition and awards, Brazil poses an exception. China, again, benefits from the GEF project, which, among other things, announced a reward of USD 1 million to the manufacturer achieving the greatest total energy savings.

#### Discussion: What are the achievements?

As noted before, the comparison between these four cases served as an empirical proof for the composition of the recommended policy packages for energy efficiency in appliances. Still, one question remains. Can these four cases also be considered successful in terms of energy saved? And what has been the contribution of policy packages? Unfortunately, information that would make the countries' achievements comparable is not easily available, if at all. To compare the four governments the following impact analysis focuses on cold appliances.

- Between 1977, when the USA fired the starting gun for energy-efficient policy measures, and 2001 the maximum allowed energy consumption of a typical fridge-freezer has dropped from 1,546 to 476 kWh/year. Further reductions are expected. An indicator showing the success of the policy package may also be the stabilisation of electricity consumption (per capita) at around 7,000 KWh since 1978. This stagnation contradicts electricity consumption of the USA in general (1978: ~9,000 kWh/capita, 2008: 12,000 kWh/capita) [3].
- With regard to China, the bigEE-analysis focused on refrigerators, freezers and combinations
  of the two. Sales figures rose from 360,000 devices in 1999 to 46 million in 2008. Between
  2008 and 2010 the market share of Grade 1 appliances increased dramatically from below
  10% to 77%. As far as China's mandatory energy label is concerned, it is estimated to have
  the potential to save more than 16 TWh by 2020 alone [5]. Due to continuous economic
  growth, that may become more inclusive in the near future, sales figures for appliances are

likely to rise, which makes a comprehensive policy package aimed at reducing energy consumption of appliances even more important.

- The Brazilian government achieved to reduce the average energy consumption of new refrigerators from 491.3 kWh/yr to 270.4 kWh/yr between 1990 and 2005 [1]. Moreover, regarding the Brazil's voluntary label, PROCEL, established in 1993, saved 22 billion KWh by mid-2008 [9].
- With the Top Runner Program, Japan achieved an energy efficiency improvement rate of 55.2% from fiscal year (FY) 1998 (647.3kWh/yr) till FY 2004 (290.3 kWh/yr) for electric refrigerators. The expected average energy consumption for the target year for refrigerators was 449.7 kWh/yr [13]. For 2010, a study expected further energy savings of 21% for refrigerators and 12.7% for freezers compared to 2005 levels. Actual efficiency improvement is 43.0% from FY 2005 (572kwh/yr) to FY2010 (326kwh/yr) especially for large refrigerators and 24.9% for freezers.

Information on impacts resulting from energy-efficient policies and policy packages, in particular, are highly diverse. However, the cases discussed have implemented a broad range of policy instruments that are necessary to overcome barriers and strengthen incentives to achieve an energy-efficient appliance stock. As has been shown, developed and developing countries can make such important steps. However, more needs to be done and, hopefully, bigee.net can guide future measures for an energy efficient future.

# Conclusion

With the two-pillar approach to policy analysis used here, we have been able to add new foundation, both theoretical and empirical, to the conclusion about what is a necessary and advisable package of policies to effectively advance high energy efficiency improvements in appliance:

As the first pillar, the actor-centred approach to policy analysis has confirmed our presumption that there is not one silver bullet that will kick-start a real energy efficiency transformation in the appliance sector. What is urgently needed are consistent packages of policies and measures, carefully tailored to the needs and incentive structures of all actors in the appliance value chain. Our theoretical analysis along this value chain has given us good insight as to which implementation strategies can successfully tackle the many existing barriers and which combinations of policies are needed to put these strategies into practice. The first important result is thus the policy packages we now recommend on bigee.net. There are sometimes alternative policies for one strategy, so the final composition of the package will depend on the circumstances in a specific country.

As a secondary result, we have also advanced the methodology that governments and consultants can use to assess given appliance markets and the policy support that all relevant actors need to harness energy efficiency.

As the second pillar, we also ascertained that the main elements of the theoretically adequate policy package could indeed be found in real life in the policy packages of advanced countries. This does not yet include an assessment of whether all of the policy elements these countries have combined to their package are good practice for themselves. But it confirms the composition of the package.

During our research on such model examples, we found, however, that the lack of thoroughly documented and evaluated policies and measures (both for single policies and for sectoral policy packages) makes the search for good practice quite difficult. Accordingly, resulting from our analysis there are two key messages for policy makers planning to implement a new policy or measure: it is crucial already in the policy design phase to bear in mind both the actors concerned and the data needs and other requirements in terms of monitoring and evaluation of the impacts, costs and benefits as well as for compliance with the policy, in order to ensure its effectiveness.

## References

- [1] Balbino Cardoso, Rafael; Augusto Horta Nogueira, Luiz; Haddad, Jamil: *Economic feasibility for acquisition of efficient refrigerators in Brazil 2009.* In Applied Energy 87 pp.28-37. 2010
- [2] Blumstein, Carl; Goldstone, Seymour; Lutzenhiser, Loren: A Theory-Based Approach to Market Transformation. Energy Policy 28:137-144. 2000
- [3] Buchan, David: *California's Climate Policy A Model?* The Oxford Institute for Energy Studies. 2010
- [4] California Energy Commission (CEC): 2010 Appliance Efficiency Regulations. 2010
- [5] Fridley, David; Zheng, Nina; Zhou, Nan; Aden, Nathaniel; Lin, Jiang; Cheng, Jianhong; Sakamoto, Tomoyuki: *China Refrigerator Information Label: Specification Development and Potential Impact.* Ernest Orlando Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory. 2008
- [6] Höfele, Vera; Thomas, Stefan: Combining theoretical and empirical evidence: policy packages to make energy savings in buildings happen. Proceedings eceee 2011
- [7] International Energy Agency (IEA): Evaluating Energy Efficiency Policy Measures & DSM Programmes Volume I Evaluation Guidebook. Paris. 2005
- [8] International Energy Agency (IEA): Spreading the Net: The Multiple Benefits of Energy Efficiency Improvements. Paris: OECD/IEA. 2012
- [9] Mihlmeste, Philip; Anderson, Donald; Dube, Sanjay; Hathaway, David; Medeiros, Lucio; Sankovski, Alexei: *BRIC'd Up Energy Efficiency: Energy and Climate Policies in Brazil, Russia, India, and China*. In: ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings 2010
- [10] Siderius, P.J.S.; Nakagami, H.: A MEPS is a MEPS is a MEPS: comparing Ecodesign and Top Runner schemes for setting product efficiency standards. Energy Efficiency 6:1-18. 2013
- [11] Sorrell, Steve; O'Malley, Eoin; Schleich, Joachim; Scott, Sue: The Economics of Energy Efficiency, Barriers to Cost-Effective Investment. Cheltenham. Edward Elgar Publishing Limited. 2004
- [12] The California Air Resources Board for the State of California: *Climate Change Scoping Plan*. A framework for change. 2008
- [13] The Energy Conservation Center Japan: *Final Report by Electric Refrigerator Evaluation Standards Subcommittee, Energy Efficiency Standards Subcommittee of the Advisory Committee for Natural Resources and Energy*. 2006
- [14] Tholen, Lena; Thomas, Stefan: *Combining theoretical and empirical evidence: policy packages to make energy savings in appliances happen*. EEDAL proceedings 2011
- [15] Thomas, Stefan: A ti it ten der Energie i rtsc a ft zur rder ung der Energieeffizienz auf der ac frag eseite in li e ralisierten trom- und asm r ten europ isc e r taaten: riteriengest t zter ergleic der politisc e n Ra men edingungen. Kommunalwirtschaftliche Forschung und Praxis 13, Frankfurt a. M. 2007 (English translation: Activities of the energy supply sector in support of end-use energy efficiency in liberalised electricity and gas markets in Europe: A criteria-based comparison of political framework conditions)
- [16] Thomas, Stefan; Höfele, Vera; Tholen, Lena: Combining theoretical analysis with empirical evidence from an international comparison: policy packages to make energy savings in buildings happen. IEPEC proceedings. 2012
- [17] Wuppertal Institute: How policies need to interact in packages. bigEE recommendations on which measures to combine for effective policy. 2012

- [18] Wuppertal Institute: Why policy needs to assist buildings and appliance markets to become energy efficient. 2012
- [19] Wuppertal Institute: It is really worth it: the potential for energy savings in buildings. 2012. Link: http://www.bigee.net/en/tour/
- [20] Zhou, Nan; Levine, Mark D.; Price, Lynn: Overview of current Energy efficiency policies in China, 2009: in Energy Policy 38 (2010)

# The Practical Scope for Reducing Air Conditioning Energy Consumption in Europe: Policy Opportunities and Priorities

# Roger Hitchin, Christine Pout, David Butler

# Building Research Establishment, UK

# Abstract

For a variety of reasons, market penetration of air conditioning and consequently demand for cooling in Europe continues to increase and on a "business as usual" basis would increase by over 50% by 2020, although recent economic events may result in a somewhat smaller increase.

This paper summarises the results of an extensive "Study to assess barriers and opportunities to improving energy efficiency in cooling appliances/systems" carried out by the Building Research Establishment and funded by CLASP. The purpose of the study was to contribute to the development of relevant policy by identifying and quantifying the potential impact of possible measures to reduce the energy consumption of air conditioning in Europe over a ten year period, relative to a business as usual case.

Many of the policy measures relate to the performance of products and equipment, but there is also considerable potential in the areas of load reduction and more effective operation and management of systems. The analysis focuses on quantified realisable savings that reflect technically feasible measures whose rate of introduction is constrained by the replacement rate of air conditioning systems and appliances, refurbishment rates of buildings and different levels of ambition for performance regulations placed on air conditioning equipment and systems. It is disaggregated by country, but this paper concentrates on results for Europe as a whole.

The measures that offer the largest realisable savings formed the basis for recommendations for policy measures, often using existing policy instruments. These measures fall into two groups relating, on the one hand, to policies that impact directly on technical requirements for systems and products and, on the other hand, to those that do not. The second group includes policy measures to incentivize effective operation of buildings and systems, and to influence take-up rates for high-efficiency products.

Additional recommendations relate to the application of policy: consistency of approach between instruments; choice of application at national or European level. The report also identifies areas where further work is needed to improve the robustness of studies similar to this one.

More detailed results and information about the study can be found at <a href="http://www.bre.co.uk/searchresults.jsp?category=5&g=energy+management">http://www.bre.co.uk/searchresults.jsp?category=5&g=energy+management</a>

# Introduction

This paper assesses the realisable potential for reducing energy consumption in Europe over a tenyear period by analysing a number of idealised cases which represent different types of possible measure applied with different ambition levels. The cases which yield the largest potential savings are identified, routes to implementation are\_discussed and recommendations to support implementation are offered.

The market for air-conditioning in European building is immature in the sense that ownership in most countries is considerably lower than in equivalent climates in North America or the Far East. (see, for example [1] This is reflected in the fact that most sales are for first-time installations in new or existing buildings with relatively few replacement sales. [2] This is very different from the markets for most other forms of building services, such as heating or lighting, where most sales are replacements.

The empirical evidence is that market penetration has increased fairly steadily over several decades with only a few signs of saturation [2] [3]. In consequence, consumer demand for cooling is likely to

increase and, other things being equal, so is the associated demand for mainly electrical energy. However, there are many opportunities for reducing demand and improving the efficiency of use. For example, in a growing market, the impact of high-efficiency products is more immediate than in a market where the penetration of efficient products is constrained entirely by the replacement rate. In the study underpinning this paper we have also sought to engage with a wide range of policy options for constraining the growth of air conditioning energy consumption, including minimum performance requirements placed on products, on systems and on whole buildings and their systems. This broad perspective implies a more integrated approach to the development of policy, mobilising in a more deliberate way a comprehensive set of policy elements to form an integrated policy package.

The European market for air conditioning products and systems is far from being homogeneous. Consequently, the same is true of the installed stock of systems. Cooling demand varies with climate and with building type. New building may have higher (or lower) cooling requirements than existing ones. Different types of air conditioning system are more convenient to install in new or existing buildings, and for use in simple or complex buildings.

#### **Categories of Systems**

European product policy reflects the recognition that air conditioning systems designed to provide comfort in buildings can be divided broadly into three categories, with different principal applications and supply chains.

- Moveable units: These are appliances bought over the counter or on-line and do not generally require any installation expertise. These appliances are mostly used in dwellings and small commercial buildings.
- Room air conditioners/Packaged systems: These are series-produced self-contained units or systems comprising a unit that conditions a single room. They should generally be installed professionally. These systems are used in both commercial buildings and dwellings.
- Central systems: These are larger systems that serve more than one room (often large numbers of rooms or an entire building). They are generally bespoke systems designed for specific buildings, but are largely composed of standardised component products. In Europe they are predominantly used in non-residential buildings. There are a number of different types of central system, each with particular areas of applicability. For example some types of system are difficult to install in existing buildings.

#### **Categories of Energy Saving Measures**

There is no shortage of opportunities for reducing the energy used for air conditioning. Energy saving measures fall into three general categories: reduced loads, higher technical efficiency and improved operation.

- **Reduction of cooling loads** through improved building design and construction, and through the use of more efficient appliances and lighting systems.
  - The range of economically feasible measures relating to building design is more limited in existing buildings than in new designs. Some measures can only be practicably applied to existing buildings as part of major refurbishment works.
  - Cooling demand reductions from more efficient appliances and lighting often result from energy-efficiency measures specifically directed at those products.
- Improve the technical efficiency of air conditioning systems.
  - Moveable units and room air conditioners are series-produced products to which performance tests and minimum requirements can be applied in a similar way to other energy-using products.
  - It is more difficult to devise practicable performance metrics for central systems, which are essentially bespoke. Such metrics can be applied in principle to specific components, but in-use energy use is often dependent on the design of the system as a whole. For example, energy use for air movement is often substantial in central systems and is, to a large extent dependent on the design of the air distribution

system. Component replacement is more frequent than complete system replacement

- Reduce wasteful operation of air conditioning systems.
  - In principle, this category of measure is immediately and universally applicable. In practice its application is often constrained by a shortage of easily assimilated information and pressure on building managers to prioritise other operational problems.

#### **Policy Instruments**

There are a variety of policy instruments that can be deployed to reduce the consumption of energy for air conditioning, including mandatory minimum performance requirements applied to products, systems or buildings; information provision, including energy labelling; financial incentives and energy pricing. Different instruments bear on different types of system, and on different categories of measures. Some instruments can only be practically applied at a Member State (or region or municipality) level while others are more suitable for a European level of application. The mapping of policies onto the most important cases is discussed later in this paper.

#### **Realisable Savings**

Realistic objectives for energy saving must take account of a range of practical constraints, not least the relatively long lifetime of air conditioning products and systems and the long time interval between major refurbishment of buildings. This study assessed "realisable savings" that would accrue over a ten-year period relative to a business as usual base case.

A ten-year period is sufficiently long to include the growth rates of the markets for: new systems in existing buildings; new systems on new buildings; replacement systems; product and system turnover rates; and building refurbishment rates. It is sufficiently short to constrain uncertainties due to long-term market projections; changes in policy priority; and changes in technology and pricing. During a ten-year period most of the initial stock of room air conditioners and moveable air conditioners will have been replaced, but a significant proportion of the original energy-using components of central systems will remain in place at the end of the period. In addition, many buildings will not have undergone major refurbishment during this period. In consequence there is considerable remaining potential for savings from building-related load reductions and from the complete replacement of central systems as part of major refurbishments.

## **Analysis Approach and Data Sources**

#### **General approach**

This section of the paper provides an overview of the modelling process and data sources.

The core of the analysis is explicit, disaggregated modelling of energy consumption for a range of different assumptions, denoted "cases". The modelling takes into account the replacement rate of air conditioning systems and appliances, refurbishment rates of buildings and rates of market growth. Levels of realisable savings were estimated for different levels of ambition for performance regulations placed on air conditioning equipment and systems, for practicable load reductions, and for improvements to operational efficiency.

We have calculated savings as if policy instruments were introduced instantaneously at the start of the period (the base year for the modelling is 2010.) This is obviously not realistic, but provides directly comparable estimates and avoids the complication of assessing the timescale for policy to be agreed and implemented. In addition, national data were sparse for some countries with smaller market potential and it was necessary to make estimates based on parallels with other apparently similar countries. For example, the figures for Norway are derived from market statistics for Sweden, scaled for population. The realisable savings are therefore to be viewed as idealised indicators of the scale of savings that are possible within the 10-year time frame.

The model generates estimates of annual energy consumption for the cooling and air movement functions of air conditioning systems. The calculation is disaggregated in a number of ways:

- Country
  - In order to capture the different national market dynamics, climates and national energy requirements for air conditioning, each of the EU-27 Member States and the EEA countries was separately modelled.
  - This paper, however, focuses on the EU-wide results.
- System type
  - The three broad categories described above were further disaggregated into 14 specific system types.
- Building type
  - Buildings of different age and use have different cooling demand levels. It was not
    practicable to include all building types and ages.
  - The stock was disaggregated into the three types of building that market research revealed to represent the largest shares of equipment cooling capacity: dwellings, offices and retail buildings. Each of these was represented in both a new-build and existing building form.

Air conditioning system energy consumption was calculated for a ten-year period for each combination of country, system type and building type, based on the aggregate installed cooling power, the aggregate air conditioning system efficiency characteristics, and the climatic and building design features were specific to each combination. This was repeated for both a base case and a number of variant cases which included energy-saving measures.

28 different combinations of plant (system energy performance), fabric and equipment energy saving measures were modelled, representing different energy saving measures and levels of ambition (for minimum performance requirements for example). Some cases represented combinations of measures since the combined impacts are not simply additive. These cases represented typical operating practice: the impact of more effective system operation and management was then explored as variations to these "technical" cases. A separate analysis explored the theoretical scope for savings if less-efficient types of existing central systems were replaced by more efficient alternatives (separately from simply replacing components).

#### Methodology overview and data sources

#### Stock and sales

The existing and future stock of air conditioning systems drew on previous studies by the authors [2] [3], The general approach was to obtain historical sales figures from market research sources, and by a process of fitting these to a market diffusion equation for each country and comparing reported proportions of sales in to new buildings, first-time sales into existing buildings and replacement sales, to build up sales trajectories and levels of installed cooling capacity. Aggregate floor areas of cooled space were not explicitly estimated, as suitable data sources are extremely limited. However, the resulting base case estimates of total energy use for air conditioning are consistent with published assessments based on floor area estimates which are summarised in the "results" section below).



Figure 1. Installed cooling capacity (EU-27, ref [2])



Figure 2. Sales by end-use (cooling capacity) (EU-27, ref [2])

# System energy consumption and efficiency

In order to estimate annual energy consumption from the installed aggregate cooling power it is necessary to first estimate the load factor or "equivalent full-load operating hours" (EFLH) of the cooling plant.

The energy efficiency of moveable and fixed room units is defined by a seasonal energy efficiency ratio value (SEER) for a standard climate. In this project the values reflect the specific standardised climate assumptions of the ESEER metric. [4] The estimated energy savings for these products are derived from modelled changes in the mixture of products of different SEER in the installed stock of systems.

Central systems cannot be adequately represented by a single efficiency metric, not least because there are a number of system configurations and within each general configuration there are variations to match the needs of the specific building in which they are installed. The energy modelling is consequently also more complicated. The calculation procedure uses a set of algorithms originally developed for use in software for the implementation of the European Energy Performance of Building Directive (EPBD): SBEM [5] [6]. The software was developed specifically to estimate annual energy consumption taking into account inter alia HVAC system characteristics, and consequently has different objectives, structure and capabilities from software developed primarily to support detailed building design. The annual consumption of each combination of system, building, and climate is estimated by combining the total installed cooling power with an aggregate seasonal energy efficiency ratio (SEER) of the cooling plant and with a number of system characteristics that can lead to energy wastage [7]. These characteristics include: fan energy consumption as a function of specific fan power (itself a function of ductwork design), heat energy gains from fans, heat transfer to distribution duct- and pipe-work, control imperfections and duct leakage. For the UK, it produces energy consumption figures that are a close match to empirical benchmarks, including energy use for air movement associated with the air conditioning system. In this study the fan energy used to supply outdoor air (for ventilation) has been separately accounted: air movement for air conditioning is the additional air movement that is used to distribute cooling in some system types. The cooling algorithms have been modified to allow the use of different climates and design conditions. The basic UK load factors (expressed as equivalent full-load hours) for each building and climate combination are consistent with empirical consumption benchmarks. For other countries, they have been modified to reflect differences between building types and climates by scaling them according to the results of previous building simulations carried out by the University of Athens in support of Ecodesign projects. In addition, stand-by and off-mode consumptions have been added.

A general flow diagram for the central system model shown below in Figure 3 illustrates the structure of the central system model.


## Figure 3. Schematic of Central System Model

Aggregate SEER values for products were derived where possible from the distribution of values weighted by sales figures for each product type. More commonly, sales-weightings were not available and aggregate figures were estimated from the distribution of products listed on the Eurovent database, [8] converted from EER values where necessary. An example of the source data is shown in Figure 4 below.



## Figure 4. Example of ESEER distributions (air-cooled chillers)

The impact of energy efficiency measures such as minimum performance requirements and energy labelling on the aggregate SEER values were represented by changes to the relative frequencies of products of different performance.

Similar processes were used to estimate other parameter values.

#### Load Reduction Measures

The principal data sources for estimates of load reduction – both from building envelope measures and from the use of equipment and lighting systems with reduced heat gains – were two previously published studies: KeepCool [9] and Harmonac [10].

The KeepCool project assessed the potential for reducing cooling demand in existing offices across Europe from a number of measures in the following categories:

- Reduced solar gain
- Enhanced ventilation
- Improved equipment and lighting efficiency
- Reflective surfaces and added insulation
- Windows

The study assessed the potential savings by carrying out energy demand simulations for example buildings to which various load reduction measures had been applied in each of five climate zones across Europe. The results were generalized by the KeepCool project assigning each country to one of the zones.

The KeepCool study used energy simulations to assess the potential savings in example buildings in each of five climate zones across Europe. The results were generalized by the KeepCool project by assigning cities in each European country to one of these climate zones.

In the present study, these results were taken to represent the theoretically available savings if there were few practical implementation barriers (including cost). In practice, this theoretical potential is constrained by practical and financial constraints. These constraints were represented in the present study by using additional information from the Harmonac project. The Harmonac project carried out detailed assessments of the practical potential for reducing air-conditioning energy consumption in 42 "Case Study" air-conditioned buildings, including but not restricted to office buildings. The frequency with which measures appeared in these buildings was taken to represent a "technically feasible" level

of implementation which might be included in new buildings or in existing ones during major refurbishment.

A second, lower, estimate of realisable savings was developed from the Harmonac project. The project carried out several hundred inspections of air-conditioned buildings in order to determine what energy saving opportunities were identified and the time required to identify them. These were much less detailed studies than for the Case Study buildings, carried out by air-conditioning technical staff (who were briefed to look for demand reduction opportunities) and identified fewer measures, and generally lower-cost variants (for example adding shading film to windows rather than external shading). These measures, and the frequency with which they were identified, were used to represent the effect of generally feasible and identifiable measures.

The impact of the load reduction measures was represented by reducing the EFLH figure to represent the (aggregate) reduction in consumption.

## Improved system operation

The EFLH figures used in the energy consumption calculations are consistent with empirical benchmarks and therefore implicitly reflect typical usage. The inspections and Case Study analyses carried out by the Harmonac project confirmed that there is often substantial energy wastage through imperfect operational practices: such as poorly-set temperatures controls and time clocks, missing controls and filters that are in need of cleaning.



## Figure 5. Harmonac Summary of Types of Cooling Energy Saving Potential

The empirical estimates of potential savings from this project were used to estimate the potential savings from better operational practice. "Practically realisable" savings were based on additional results from the project that identified what proportion of this theoretical potential was actually identified by air conditioning inspections.

## **Cases Examined**

The cases examined included the introduction of different levels of minimum performance requirements (including "best available technology"), with and without energy labeling and with and without financial incentives for each of:

- Seasonal energy efficiency ratios for
  - Movable air conditioners
  - Room air conditioners
  - Central system chillers
  - Complete central systems
  - o Central system fan coil terminal units

- Central system pumps
- Specific fan power factors for central system air handling units
- Air leakage requirements for ductwork and air handling units
- Reduced fresh air requirements to reflect smoking bans
- Load reductions from building and equipment improvements
- Measures to improve operational management of systems

The possible take-up rate of measures will clearly be different according to whether they apply to firsttime installations of products or systems, replacement products or systems, new buildings or existing buildings. This is reflected in the modeling of the theoretically realizable 10-year savings. In particular, the rate of implementation for measures that would not realistically be likely to be introduced except as part of major refurbishment was controlled by assumed refurbishment rates.

## **Principal Results:**

## Base Year: comparison with other estimates

Table 1 compares the estimated aggregate energy consumption for the base year from the present study with figures from other studies and shows generally good agreement, given the different definitions of scope used and the different dates of estimates. The Ecodesign Studies use a similar approach as the present study, while the other figures are derived from estimates of air conditioned floor area and consumption per unit floor area.

The figures in this section relate only to the annual consumption in the base *year* – although this study uses base case covering a ten-year base period, comparable figures are not available from other studies.

Name of Study	Total estimated Annual Energy Consumption TWh pa	Comments
This study	76.91 (moveables+ Room ACs + central systems) plus 63.6 for air movement energy consumption (140.5 cooling and air movement)	"Air movement" excludes that attributable to fresh air supply
EcoDesign Preparatory Studies [12].[13],[14]	Cooling only: 38.6 (Lot 10 but for earlier year) + 74 (Lot 6) = 112.6 Ventilation (not only associated with air conditioning) 100 TWh <sup>1</sup>	Ventilation figure includes use in non-air-conditioning applications
EECCAC study [4]	94.7	EU-12 only, 2003
Harmonac study [10]	198	
Electricity Consumption and Efficiency Trends in European Union - Status Report 2009, European Commission Joint Research Centre Institute for Energy [14]	38.6	Appears to only include room units < 12kW (Lot 10 study)

## Table 1. Comparison of estimated annual air conditioning energy consumption for EU from various studies

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This figure is not explicitly stated in the report but has been inferred from data in the report)



## Figure 6. Summary of Energy Consumption for Air Conditioning: Base Case, EU-27

The relative contribution of central air conditioning systems compared to the distribution of installed cooling capacity shown earlier is the result of the higher distribution losses (and energy needed to offset fan energy heat gains) associated with this type of systems. As can be seen, the energy associated with air movement in centralised systems is substantial.

## **Base Case and Theoretical Potential Savings**

In the base case, the market penetration of air conditioning increases but no new energy saving measures are introduced. Existing policies such as energy labelling of room air conditioners and movable units are included in the base case.

From the modelling, we have estimated that universal application of the best available technology and practices in the three categories of energy-saving measures might, in theory, reduce consumption by up to 80%. The maximum realisable ten-year reductions approximately 10% of the base case.

## **Summary of Principal Results**

The seven cases that generated the largest estimated energy savings over 10 years are illustrated below. In most cases there are energy savings related to both the cooling and air movement functions.



Figure 7. Summary of the Cases showing the largest Realisable Savings

These high-potential cases impact on all three of the types of energy saving mechanism, but it is noticeable that all have some bearing on system efficiency and only one directly addresses operational practice. The number of "X"s indicates our subjective view of their relative impact on the different forms of saving. Thus improved specific fan power can have a major impact on system efficiency through the reduction of fan energy use but a much smaller impact on the cooling load placed on the system (through reduced heat pick-up from fans).

Case	Impacts on:			
	Cooling load	System efficiency	Operation	
Minimum performance requirements integrating building and system characteristics	xxx	xxx		
Detailed energy audits of air conditioning systems	XX	XX	XXX	
Reduced fresh air in spaces where smoking is now prohibited	XXX	xx		
Minimum energy performance requirements for complete systems		xxx		
Demanding minimum performance requirements for chillers		xxx		
Performance requirements for specific fan power and air leakage	х	xxx		
Demanding minimum performance requirements for room air conditioners and other packaged units		xxx		

## Table 2. Relationship between Principal Cases and types of Energy Saving

As noted in the previous section, in many of the cases, the 10-year take-up for some savings is constrained by the likely refurbishment rate of existing buildings. In particular major changes to central air conditioning systems (apart from component replacements) and to the building fabric are unlikely except as part of major refurbishment. As a result further savings beyond the 10 years period can be expected for most of the high-impact cases. Few further savings beyond the 10 year period will occur for minimum performance requirements for room air conditioners (of which many existing products will be replaced within the ten-year period), nor for energy audits (we have assumed mandatory application and good take-up of recommendations). The effect is present, but to a lesser extent for minimum performance requirements applied to air conditioning chillers, which typically have operating lives of the order of 20 years, resulting in a significant number of older products still being in use after ten years.

Some measures occur within more than one case – though not necessarily with the same ambition levels – and there are also interactions between measures. The savings from each are therefore not simply additive.

## **Discussion of Principal Results**

## Minimum performance requirements integrating building and system characteristics

## Scope

This case represents the application of minimum performance requirements to the combination of the building and its air conditioning systems and products, applied during initial design and major refurbishment. It also assumes that minimum performance requirements are applied to replacement air conditioning systems and products, albeit at a less demanding level than assumed in the case for product requirements alone. This combination permits designers to meet the performance requirement by trading off different forms of energy saving according to the specific needs and circumstances of each building. As a proxy for this flexibility, the modelling assumes a combination of moderately demanding performance requirements for systems and load reduction mechanisms.

Specific buildings could, of course, combine more demanding performance in some areas with less demanding performance in others.

## Implementation Method

This case follows the principles of the EPBD minimum performance requirements for buildings. As it has to be applied at the level of individual buildings, practical implementation has to be by Member States – most conveniently using the framework of their existing building energy regulations or standards.

## Implementation Issues

The savings estimates assume that every Member State has relatively demanding (but not extreme) ambition levels. This is far from certain, notwithstanding the cost-optimality requirements of the EPBD Recast.

As far as is known, only a few Member States building energy regulations apply minimum performance requirements to replacement air conditioning products and systems. The movement towards the introduction of such requirements for products, through the Ecodesign Directive will partially address this gap, though the levels of requirements for products that can be justified for single-market products that may be used in many different climates and applications might be problematical.

A more fundamental barrier is that few Member States' regulations contain detailed calculation methods for the seasonal energy consumption of air conditioning systems. In a survey by the EPBD Concerted Action [15], only 6 of the 15 respondents claimed to have such a calculation method. Where calculation procedures do exist, Member States have largely developed them in isolation from each other and there is a need for a recognised and practicable methodology. A practicable methodology needs to be compatible with the rather low data reliability for existing buildings and systems, balancing the complexity (or otherwise) of calculation against the uncertainty of the data. It should also, as far as possible be consistent and make use of experience with those methods that are already in use.

## Recommendations to support implementation

- A consensus should be developed for a generally acceptable energy consumption calculation procedure, which should then be developed and tested.
- Member States should be required to implement an effective calculation procedure.
- In order to support the application of such calculations, energy labelling requirements for air conditioning products should make mandatory the public provision of the part-load data used to define the label.

## Detailed energy audits of air conditioning systems

## Scope

This case assumes the mandatory implementation "detailed energy audits". These are more detailed – and more costly - site investigations than the "inspection" that is required by the EPBD, In addition to more detailed physical inspection and testing of systems it includes an element of consumption monitoring and associated diagnosis. EPBD inspections have been shown to identify only a small proportion of potential energy savings, albeit these are usually easily-implemented low-cost measures. It is the only case offering substantial savings through improved energy management.

## Implementation Method

Since this measure has to implemented at an individual building level, implementation has to be by Member States. A number of Member States already have active programmes of Energy Audits which offer a model for general implementation.

## Implementation Issues

Energy audits are not cheap, can intrude on business operations and savings are not guaranteed. Implementation of the less costly, but less effective EPBD inspections has been slow and is widely seen as not being cost-effective. The most effective combination of measurement, analysis and physical inspection is uncertain. The use of remote monitoring as an adjunct to inspection or auditing is currently being investigated [16]. In order to achieve savings, identification of opportunities has to lead to actions, some of which may incur significant costs.

## Recommendations to support implementation

- Review existing Member States' energy audit programmes and policies
- Investigate the use of electronic monitoring of air conditioning systems to improve the costeffectiveness of inspections and audits

## Reduced fresh air supply to spaces where smoking is now prohibited

## Scope

The supply of outdoor air for many existing air conditioning systems was designed in the anticipation that occupants would be permitted to smoke. In many buildings smoking is now no longer permitted. There is scope for new systems to have lower ventilation energy requirements than older ones, and also for many existing systems to be modified to use lower outdoor air supply rates. This leads to reduced fan energy consumption and, to a lesser extent to reduced cooling demands to deal with hot outdoor air and to offset heat released by the fans.

## Implementation Method

Since this measure has to implemented at an individual building level, implementation has to be by Member States. For new systems fresh air rates in design guidance should be reviewed. The energy saving opportunity should be brought to the attention of building operators and air conditioning system inspectors.

## Implementation Issues

The savings for this case are rather uncertain since the number of air conditioning systems designed for spaces where smoking is permitted is uncertain and the extent to which Member states have banned smoking is poorly documented

## Recommendations to support implementation

- Fresh air design rates and regulatory requirements should be reviewed in the light of smoking legislation and amended where appropriate.
- Air conditioning inspectors should be reminded of the potential for savings.

## Minimum energy performance requirements for complete systems

## Scope

This case assumes the mandatory application of minimum energy performance requirements for air conditioning systems: in practice central systems, since packaged units and movable air conditioners are series-produced self-contained products that can be subject to Ecodesign requirements. This would apply to new installations in new buildings, new installations in existing buildings and replacement systems.

## Implementation Method

Central systems are, in essence, bespoke systems using more or less standard components. They are tailored to match the needs of individual buildings and implementation has to be by Member States. For new buildings and major refurbishments this can be through national building energy regulations and standards, but the scope of these does not necessarily include the installations of new systems in existing buildings.

## Implementation Issues

Although this case offers the potential for substantial realisable savings, there are several implementation challenges. The absence of a suitable calculation methodology discussed above applies equally to this case. In addition, installations in existing buildings are commonly outside the remit of national building energy regulations and codes, and additional infrastructure to implement the measure (or an extension of the remit of national building energy regulations) would be needed. For example, either installers or contractors will need training, or they would be required to employ accredited specialists in order to demonstrate compliance. This is not impossible but would add an extra workload onto a structure that is already heavily loaded.

With the exception of new installations in existing buildings, the benefits can more easily be gained through the "*Minimum performance requirements integrating building and system characteristics*" case discussed earlier. Minimum performance requirements for air conditioning components such as chillers would capture a proportion of the savings potential of new systems in existing buildings and it seems debatable whether the advantages of this case justify the need for extra support infrastructure.

The EPBD Recast specifically calls for the introduction of minimum performance standards for technical building systems but does not specify how these are to b implemented.

## Recommendations to support implementation

• Air conditioning system-level performance requirements should not be treated as priority issue, but the case for them should be reviewed from time to time.

## Demanding minimum performance requirements for chillers

## Scope

This case applies demanding minimum energy performance requirements to air conditioning chillers.

## Implementation Method

Chillers are series-produced products and can be subject to Ecodesign requirements including minimum energy performance requirements.

## Implementation Issues

A Preparatory Study [11] was released in 2012 (after the work summarised in this paper was completed) that makes the case for such requirements. The recommendations are currently being considered. A potentially difficult issue for European product performance requirements for air conditioning products is that the performance levels that can be justified vary, in principle between climates and applications. Demanding requirements – if they incur extra costs – may not be cost-effective for relatively mild climates and national requirements ma offer better value for money than a single Europe-wide requirement. The performance levels proposed by the Preparatory Study are cost-effective for most European climates, at least for the building type considered (although only very marginally so in milder climates).

## Recommendations to support implementation

- Introduce mandatory energy labelling and MEPS for chillers
- Before introducing Europe-wide demanding levels of product minimum performance requirements, consideration should be given to implementing them via national building codes, accompanied by an over-riding but less demanding European minimum performance requirement.

## Maximum specific fan power requirements and leakage requirements for air handling systems

## Scope

A significant proportion of the energy used in air conditioning systems is for air movement. This case assumes the universal application of requirements to limit air leakage from ductwork and to limit fan energy use. The metric for the latter is "specific fan power" and is a characteristic of the air handling system as a whole. It is determined by a combination of ductwork design, air handling unit design, (including cooling coil design and filter specification) and fan and fan motor efficiency.

## Implementation Method

A number of Member States have such requirements within their national building energy regulations and standards. This case makes such provision universal.

## Implementation Issues

A Preparatory Study into the application of Ecodesign [12] requirements to ventilation products has recommended an alternative energy performance metric for air handling units. This metric relates to the product (the air handling unit) alone and characterises its performance under standardised operating conditions. It therefore ignores the important contribution to energy consumption made by other parts of the air handling system and, from the wider perspective of system performance is incomplete.

## Recommendations to support implementation

- Minimum energy performance requirements for specific fan power should be introduced in those Member States that do not already have such requirements.
- Minimum energy performance requirements for ductwork and air handling unit leakage should be introduced in those Member States that do not already have such requirements.
- To assist Member States to introduce these requirements, model clauses and guidelines should be developed, based on the experience of those that already have them

# Demanding minimum performance requirements for room air conditioners and other packaged units

## Scope

This case considers the implementation of demanding minimum energy performance requirements for room air conditioners and other packaged air conditioning systems.

## Implementation Method

From 2013 minimum energy performance requirements for room air conditioners of less than 12kW cooling capacity (the majority) have been implemented under the Ecodesign Directive [14]. The Requirements will be made more demanding in 2014.

## Implementation Issues

The analysis supporting the current requirements was carried out some time ago and, notwithstanding some revisions, is less demanding than those assumed in this case. In the meantime, the range of high-performance products on the market has expanded substantially. In some countries, sales of high-efficiency units have also increased significantly. As in the case of chillers, universal requirements for demanding performance levels may not be cost-effective in some milder climates.

## Recommendations to support implementation

• Evaluate the case for progressively making the minimum performance requirements more demanding.

Supplementary recommendations relating to the principal results are summarised in table 3 below.

Case	Recommendations and relevant Policy Instruments				
	EPBD	National Building Energy Codes (may be implemented via EPBD)	EcoDesign Directives		
Minimum performance requirements integrating building and system characteristics	Develop agreed air conditioning system efficiency calculation procedure		Provision of part-load information		
Detailed energy audits of cooling systems	Stronger implementation of current requirements	Explore use of automatic performance monitoring			
Supporting actions for energy audits	Report calculated EPC Report measured consumption Expand use of me				
Reduced fresh air in spaces where smoking is now prohibited		Review of outdoor air requirements			
Minimum performance standards for air conditioning systems	Introduction of system MEPS				
Demanding minimum performance requirements for chillers			Introduction of MEPS		
Performance requirements for specific fan power and air leakage		Wider introduction of requirements			
Demanding minimum performance requirements for room air conditioners and other packaged units			Review MEPS		
Generic Recommendations	Consider combination of EU and national MEPS				
Recommendations for further work	Investigate effectiveness of information provision measures in business to business supply chains Investigate relationship between product price trends, energy performance and MEPS				

Table 3. Summary of recommendations (including supplementary recommendations)

## A note on cost-effectiveness and ambition levels

The results discussed above relate to the cases which generate the largest 10-year "theoretically realisable" energy savings. In practice they represent relatively demanding levels of ambition embedded policy instruments that either already exist or seem to us to be feasible. Equivalent cases with lower levels of ambition were also examined but are not reported in this summary paper.

Deciding what is an appropriate level of ambition is clearly an important policy decision, but is no simple matter. While the general direction of travel of policy is reasonably clear, the pace of change and justifiable levels are not.

A rational choice of appropriate measures and ambition levels depends, amongst other considerations, on their expected cost-effectiveness. However, the concept and definition of "cost-effectiveness" are also less clear-cut than is often assumed. From a policy perspective, for example, cost effectiveness can be viewed from the perspective of the direct costs faced by building owners and operators, or from the costs and benefits to society as a whole. Regulatory intervention may be justified for measures that are cost effective for society but not from the end-user perspective. Broadly

speaking, the "demanding" performance levels referred to above reflect measures that are currently likely to be seen as cost effective by a only few building owners and operators in a limited number of building types and climates, but are – in our opinion - .plausibly likely to become cost-effective for society in general in the foreseeable future.

This section discusses a number of issues that surround (and often complicate) the definition of costeffectiveness.

These two different perspectives are both important, but for different reasons. Ideally both need to be taken into consideration. Unhelpfully to the development of consistent policy, practice differs between different pan-European and National policy strands relating to energy use for air conditioning.

The two perspectives are:

- The perspective of society as a whole, including shadow prices for externalities (such as damage inflicted by climate change) excluding taxes and subsidies, using a (low) social discount rate.
- The perspective of end-users. This perspective includes taxes and subsidies, excludes nonpriced impacts and uses commercial interest rates. Typically this only justifies lower performance levels than the societal perspective

Commonly both types of assessment are based on a hypothetical "typical" user and do not take account of different levels of impact on different parts of society. In the context of air conditioning, this could be users resident in different climates, for example.

From an economic perspective, in principle, all energy policy packages and measures should be designed to be cost-effective to society as a whole. However, policy measures that can be justified from this perspective may seem uneconomic from the perspective of some, or all, end-users. This situation is often used to justify the imposition of state regulation.

In practice, the cost effectiveness of product MEPS in Europe is generally assessed from that of an idealised end-user (who, somewhat inconsistently, is usually assumed to take a perspective that reflects the whole life of the measure and to apply a social discount rate). However, for building energy standards and regulations, the perspective differs between Member States. Roughly equal numbers of countries apply either a societal perspective or an end-user perspective, but a significant number consider both perspectives. Renewable energy policy generally takes a societal perspective.

For consistency of policy making it would be desirable to have an agreed set of conventions. The proposed EPBD methodology for cost-optimal building energy standards could be, in principle, a suitable basis for this but has become unnecessarily complex, yet still incomplete.

A common objective of policy design is that measures should be cost-effective or cost-optimal<sup>2</sup>. A policy is *cost effective* if its costs are less than the value of the resulting benefits. Cost effectiveness is sensitive to the assumed price and performance of the "base case" with which potential measures are compared. A policy is *cost-optimal* when the net benefits are maximised. This is a stronger requirement.

Many of the data needed for cost effectiveness calculations are inherently uncertain. This is most obviously the case for future prices (of, for example, energy) or of "shadow" prices (such a carbon damage price) for which there is no empirical evidence.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> And improved energy efficiency should not be at the expense of other aspects of performance such as comfort or noise.

For product and system performance policy there is the extra complication of possible interaction between the introduction of minimum performance requirements and product prices. Engineering analysis for products in the USA [17] show ratios of between 0.5% and 1.5%, with the higher figures relating to higher performance equipment. Calculations in Preparatory studies for Ecodesign [11] show a similar range. Japanese product prices [18] suggest that a 1% improvement of efficiency is associated with a 5% increase in price, but that some of this results from non-efficiency factors. Equivalent figures at less demanding performance levels from China suggest a somewhat lower effect.

The impact on market prices may, however, be different since there may be compensating reductions in the cost of stocking and supply resulting from the higher volume of high-performance product sales (and the removal of low-performance products). Non-mandatory high-efficiency products may also command higher prices by being positioned as "premium" products with additional features such as self-cleaning filters.

An IEA report [18] not specifically dealing with air conditioning) concluded that "Although there appears to be no correlation between price and energy efficiency and the average price of appliances has been falling consistency, there is evidence that the most efficient products in some categories are more expensive than products which are less efficient." Some of this increase was thought likely to be due to the inclusion of non-energy-related features in "premium" products. However, "the commercially sensitive nature of pricing policies, together with the complexity of separating out pure efficiency costs from other appliance features, makes it difficult for an outside observer to understand how prices relate to costs of manufacture"

Thus while the idea that policy should be guided by some kind of assessment of the costs and benefits of that policy is generally accepted, *what* costs and to *whom* is the subject of continuing scientific, methodological and political discussion.

## **Concluding remarks**

In this paper we have quantified the growing energy, economic and environmental challenge arising from growing demand for cooling. A significant technical potential for reducing the projected growth in the associated energy demand has been identified at the component, product, system, whole buildings, and operational level. A comprehensive menu of recommendations assembled on how existing and new policies can be mobilised, in an integrated manner, to help curb the projected rise in energy consumption from air conditioning.

## Acknowledgement.

The work summarised in this paper was funded by CLASP. The conclusions and any errors or omissions are the responsibility of the authors.

## References

- [1] Michael A. McNeil, and Virginie E, Letschert, 'Future Air Conditioning Energy Consumption in Developing Countries and what can be done about it: The Potential of Efficiency in the Residential Sector', Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, 2008. <u>http://escholarship.org/uc/item/64f9r6wr</u>
- [2] Roger Hitchin, Christine Pout, Philippe Riviere 'Assessing the market for air conditioning systems in European buildings', Energy and Buildings, Volume 58, March 2013, Pages 355–
- [3] C.Pout and E.R.Hitchin, 'Future environmental impacts of room air-conditioners in Europe', Building Research & Information (2009) 37(4), 358–368
- [4] J.Adnot, et al. Energy Efficiency and Certification of Central Air Conditioners (EECCAC) Final Report - April 2003. Study for the D.G. Transportation-Energy (DGTREN) of the Commission of the E.U.

- [5] Roger Hitchin, A guide to the Simplified Building Energy Model (SBEM): What it does and how it works, BRE Report FB24, Apr 13, 2010 ISBN 978-1-84806-129-3
- [6] Roger Hitchin, 'HVAC System Efficiencies for EPBD Calculations', REHVA World Congress Clima 2007 WellBeing Indoors, Helsinki 2007
- [7] BS EN 15243:2007 'Ventilation for buildings. Calculation of room temperatures and of load and energy for buildings with room conditioning systems' British Standards Institute 2008
- [8] Eurovent database at <u>www.eurovent-certification.com</u>
- [9] 'KeepCool: From cooling to sustainable summer comfort' www.keep-cool.eu July 2010
- [10] I. Knight et al, 'HARMONAC Harmonizing Air Conditioning Inspection and Audit Procedures in the Tertiary Building Sector Energy Consumption in European Air Conditioning Systems and the Air Conditioning System Inspection Process' FINAL REPORT 2010 <u>http://www.harmonac.info/fileadmin/downloads/docs/home/HARMONAC%20FINAL%20Report</u> %20-%20Public%20Version.pdf
- [11] Ecodesign Preparatory Study ENTR Lot 6 Air Conditioning and Ventilation Systems: Chillers http://www.ecohvac.eu/
- [12] Ecodesign Preparatory Study ENTR Lot 6 Air Conditioning and Ventilation Systems: Ventilation http://www.ecohvac.eu/
- [13] P. Riviere et al. Ecodesign Preparatory Study TREN Lot 10 Eco Design of room air conditioning appliances 2007 <u>http://www.ecoaircon.eu/</u>
- [14] P. Bertoldi and B. Atanasiu, Electricity Consumption and Efficiency Trends in European Union -Status Report 2009 - European Commission Joint Research Centre Institute for Energy EUR 24005 EN – 2009
- [15] E. Maldonado (ed) Implementing the Energy Performance of Buildings Directive, European Union 2010 <u>http://www.epbd-ca.org/</u>
- [16] iSERV Inspection of HVAC systems through continuous monitoring and benchmarking project http://www.iservcmb.info/
- [17] Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, Technical Support Document for Energy Conservation Standards for Room Air Conditioners September 1997
- [18] S. Koizumi, Energy Efficiency Of Air Conditioners In Developing Countries and The Role Of CDM, IEA Information Paper 2007 http://www.iea.org/papers/2007/energy\_efficiency\_air\_conditioners.pdf

# Enhance energy efficiency, technical and marketing tools to switch people habits in the long-term

## Gilles GUERASSIMOFF, Centre for Applied Mathematics, Mines ParisTech

Johann THOMAS, GridPocket SAS

## Abstract

Electricity consumer behaviors are known to be both hard to change and unstable. From this point of view a state of the art of smart-grid experiment and an overview of Home Energy Management Systems show that after a first phase of enthusiasm and energy efficient efforts, the moves cool down. Equipped people tend to take back their habits or to let the system run on its own, giving no more consideration to energy saving actions. Several cases even show a rebound effect, where people consume more energy that before the system was launch.

In order to keep people focused on their own energy efficiency behavior and help them to make the effects more long-lasting, the Grid-Teams project, held in 2012 in the city of Cannes, French Riviera, decided to focus on nudge marketing to assess whether these kind of services could enhance user's loyalty on efficiency habits.

By *nudge marketing*, we mean several tools to help users to understand and act. The experimentation helps them focus and to fully handle their own electrical impact. For this purpose, we metered forty households and built a complete Web user interface with several nudge services including a range of energy consumption, with two bounds; a higher level: the consumption as usual (CAU), and a target to reach: the goal. In the same time a genuine loyalty program called EcoTroks<sup>™</sup> was also developed. This paper explains how this electricity consumption range, from CAU to *the goal*, is computed and how the associated loyalty program seems to be an efficient manner to keep people involved in the program.

## Introduction

The ongoing research on Smart Grid's deployment and applications [1, 2, 3] promotes the energy management in residential dwelling [4, 5, 6]. The future integration of smart metering needs to set new tools to inform and educate the final user to new consumption modes in the housing. Indeed, for many families, energy management is not a particular priority as the energy price is not high enough to be a significant part of the household expense.

It is still important to find a way of informing the final user so as to put them in a central place to be able to use all the potential of the smart grids. The *demand response* process that will be possible in the residential sector with the appropriate technologies will need the active participation of the final user. So how can we change the end user behavior to become active and reactive in his energy consumption?

It is the aim of the Grid-Teams' project supported by the program "agir ensemble pour l'énergie" of the regional authorities for south east of France (Région PACA) and the French agency for environment and energy management (ADEME) and coordinated by the company Gridpocket. The project involves the following companies: Planete Oui, WIT, the city of Cannes (in the south of France) and research laboratories (the Centre for Applied Mathematics of Mines ParisTech and the Sociological Centre of Telecom ParisTech). This project has developed a specific tool to assess the families' consumption and help them in the energy management of their housing. The originality of the project is to encourage the families in their way of having a better energy management by creating some social and cultural incentives. To verify the veracity of the methodology, the project has conducted experimentation on 40 families during one year in the city of Cannes [7].

We will present in the first part of this paper the methodology that has been employed to assess the housing and the family's energy behavior. In a second part we will present the tools that have been developed and deployed on the experimental panel. Then in the last part we will present some results obtained with some families.

## Methodology

The project presented here aims at explaining the families the way of they use energy in their housing. As soon as they will understand where they can act to reduce their consumption, then they will be able to plan actions to reduce their consumption.

To achieve such an objective, we have to propose these families some tools to assess their consumption and other methodologies to make them active in the reduction of their consumption. To be able to show the users their consumption's level and to give them bounds adjusted to their particular case (an upper bound and a lower one), it is necessary to know details about three aspects:

The first one is **the structure of the housing**; the second one is **the appliances employed in this housing** and the third one is **the behavior of the family** living in this housing regarding energy uses. When these three topics will be identified, we will be able to propose them a kind of instrument panel that will show them in real time their consumption and the corresponding level regarding their specific bounds.

For these three levels of information we have to focus on, detailed inputs are very difficult to obtain without a completed study for each housing. The project proposes to elaborate a simplified model that can be representative of each housing without having resort to detailed analysis. To provide such a tool, we have analyzed a panel of 40 housings to validate our methodology.

## Structure characterization

First of all we have realized a dynamic thermal simulation of the housing to determine its thermal performance and its sensitivity to its environment [8, 9]. The aim of this simulation is to determine some key parameters to elaborate some criteria that can be reused for similar buildings. For example, in a flat, the numbers of neighbors or the structure of the building is of a high importance to evaluate the bounds of the energy consumption.

Here is a scheme of the model for a flat that has been modeled with Comfie/Pleiade software.



Figure 1 - Example of the housing representation in the dynamic thermal simulation tool.

With this simulation we obtain the need of the energy need of the building to maintain a given comfort temperature during an all year.

After that, the confrontation of these detailed simulations with a simplified thermal model for the building brings us to be able to identify the global thermal looses coefficient that can be identify to a category of building. This combination of the detailed way and a global way of calculus permits to elaborate some cursors to characterize similar buildings in the same range. The finality of this structure's building evaluation is to provide some cursors that can be adjusted with the results of a simplified survey.

## Appliances characterization

The second phase is to inventory all the appliances in the housing and to assess the use of them by the families. It is difficult to quantify the reality of a specific use for an appliance. For example, how long do we use a kettle in a day? To achieve this inventory and the level of use of them, we have worked with the results of a European project (Remodece) [10, 11, 12] that has produced a big database of appliances load curves for several countries. Regarding the appliances, first of all different categories have been established to ensure a generalization of the methodology. Indeed, the numbers of appliances are too important and too diversified to have, for each family, and exhaustive count of them. And even it could have been possible, the quantification of their exact use is impossible to implement except with an energy metering for each of them that is not feasible. To compensate this lack of available information, a "brown" category including all appliances dealing with audio and video (TV, DVD player, video games, internet box...) has been created. A "white" category has also been created included all appliances we can find in the kitchen (Washing machine, oven, coffee machine...). The lightning, hot water, heating and cooling of the building are considered individually.

With these categories, two kinds of index have been determined. The first one is the level of equipment of the family. Based on a simplified survey regarding the kind and the number of appliances the family's got, the cursor can be move from a low equipped family to an over equipped family. The cursor will imply a level of power installed for appliance in the housing. The second one is also based on a simplified survey that evaluates the order of magnitude of the use of these appliances. This cursor can vary from a low use to an intensive use of these appliances. This level will determine a level of energy consumption in the housing. The combination of these two cursors gives a characterization of the family regarding their appliances uses in term of energy consumption and then it becomes possible to inform the family on its behavior.



Figure 2 - Example of a breakdown of the consumption a of family provided bay our characterization

#### Behavior characterization

The last phase is to have an idea of the family behavior inside its housing. It is a very tricky task because this assessment can provide very significant differences in the results. To achieve such a goal, a sociologist team has realized detailed interview of the panel of families involved in the experiment. With these interviews, the sociologists have to identify the most pertinent characterization of a kind of family in term of its energy sensibility to be able to inform them about their uses and to orient them to a path of a more efficient way of their energy management [13, 14].

These interviews have to be match with their relative energy profiles (Building and appliances characterization) to provide an estimation of the differences we can observe between the theoretical energy needs regarding the structure of the housing and the real energy consumption realized. The second important point of this part of the analyses is to characterize the ability of the family to react to its own consumption and its capacity of reaction to these signals. The behavioral changes have to appear and also have to be sustained in a long term. To achieve with goal, the tools deployed in this project have to be well adapted for family that may not have any knowledge of energy topics. Some incentives have been included to strengthen such a goal. Indeed, one of the originality of this project is to add social incentive to the process of encouraging the families to a way of a better energy management of their housing. The goal is double; on the one hand is to encourage the family to make efforts on their energy consumption, on the other hand it is to develop some new social links as a consequence of their efforts. The incentive provides some useful gifts as bus ticket, low consumption light bulb, or social or cultural activities like concert places of tickets for local events.

The results of this behavior's characterizations have to be consolidate at the end of the project to assess its sustainability. The results of such a methodology can strengthen the effect of energy efficiency actions [15, 16].

## **Tool conception**

To assess the characteristics of the buildings and to be able to provide the information in real time to the families, a smart meter has been installed in each housing of our panel. This smart meter is sending to a data center the power consumption of the housing each 50 watt modulation. These data provide to the system the detailed load curve of the family. Moreover, the temperature of the principal room of the housing is also sent to the data center. This temperature measure is very important to assess the comfort level and also give us precious information on the thermal behavior of the family. As the heating and cooling energy consumption can be the most important part in a building that do not correspond to the latest thermal regulation.

Regarding the results of the three characterizations describe previously, a web interface has been created to show the families their load curves and the bounds that correspond to their specific housing. A direct and secure connection for each family has been crated and they can interact by Email with a person that can answer to their interrogation. Moreover, the system can provide individually some advices after a rough analyze of their load curve to put them on the way of their energy management.

## Web Interface development

The interface is the meeting point between technic and human. Therefore, it must be a good balance between information and usability, which means that the data should be bring to the user in the more easy to handle manner. This part explains the data path from the dwelling to the final user, from smart meter to Internet browser.

## Data harvesting and storage

In France, the smart meter deployment is not completed yet; for the purpose of the Grid-Teams project we enjoy the help of the smart meter made by Wit, a French SME, targeted for industrial activity. This meter is able to measure, collect, store and send data for a huge list of commodity and time slice. On our experiment three commodities were monitored, Table 1, and took as input for both the thermal model and the final display.

Commodity	Unit y	Monitor with	Send every
Power	W	Amper clips after main electrical meter	time a trigger of 50 W is activated
Energy	Wh	Amper clips after main electrical meter	hour during the day two hours at night
Temperature	C°	Thermometer	hour time a trigger of 2° is activated

Table 1 - Commodities monitored in the Grid-Teams project

Three kinds of data sharing information on the three fields characterized earlier see infra p.2. Power and Energy spend were needed to level and understand the electricity consumption but also to assess user equipment rate and to profile usages. In the mean time the inside Temperature was useful to compute the stress on heating devices; to well understand this fight for heating we also collect external temperature to have an amount of degree to beat.

Once collected at the box level, data were sent via the general packet radio service (Gprs) protocol to the Wit datacenter, then forward to GridPocket Datacenter where data were pre-processed for the display on Web Interface. The architecture, Table 2, built on open source technologies helps the data consolidation and display.

Architecture layer	Technology
OS	Ubuntu
SGBDR	Postgresql 8.4.8
Application Server	NodeJs
Web Server	Nginx

Table 2 - Web Display architecture

## Web Interface vs. In-home display

In the Grid-Teams project we choose the Web Application display instead of an In-home one because of the lighter development, the cheaper cost and the agility of the process. That means in a large-scale deployment to deal with the Web Access. By agility and large scale of features, we mean examples shown in the next paragraph.

## Features

The design process involved final users in a co-conception process, to ease the service's acceptability by all users. There is two ways of displaying data in Grid-Teams, on one hand a simply informational way and on the other hand an augmented way, to nudge the energy efficiency. The second one involves some analyses and engines, when the challenges of the first stay in the best way to display the chart and plot to be understandable<sup>1</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Finding the good shapes and design for plot and graph are not as easy at it seems, these challenges need ergonomics and designer skills. Within this project, with a lack of support in this fields we exchange directly with the users.

## Energy data

The way people consume energy could be display through different displays, from a gauge at a specific moment, Figure 3, to a time series with the choice of commodity to display, Figure 5, Figure 4.







Figure 4 - Load Curve for user Demo 7 the 17th feb.



Figure 5 - Energy by hours within a day

Without help these information were already useful, but in some aspects quite difficult to handle and were not that easy to start switching for an energy efficient behavior. Other tools were offered to help the action to start.

## Currency data

Speaking in technical terms, like the energy data above, can be sometimes hard to understand, so we decide to translate energy consumption to money.



Figure 6 - From energy to money

#### Scale and loyalty program

An important thing to do to motivate the participant and to keep him in the dynamic of the project is to show them bounds. The fact to show that you have to stay away from your upper bound and that you have a lower bound that is reachable is crucial. These bounds have been converted into currencies but are calculated with the thermal building knowledge, the appliances and behavior of the concerned candidate. Figure 7 show what the candidate can see on his interface.



Figure 7 - Energy Scale

Showing bounds permit to assess the efforts that have been made, but for energy savings, due to relative low gains that can produce a real effort, a supplementary action has been integrate to the project. It is the reward mechanism that we have called EcoTroks TM. This reward is calculated regarding the level of effort that can be shown on the previous figure. If the candidate has reduced its consumption during the previous week, it earns some EcoTroks. The calculus of the level of EcoTroks earned by the candidates regarding their specific case is not explained in the present paper. With their EcoTroks, the families can choose rewards on a dedicated WebSite. When it is validated, they can go to the town hall of the city of Cannes to take them. It is the city of Cannes that has provided the rewards for the project. The figure below represents the screen shot of the EcoTroks Shop.

EcoTroks S	Shop	1 10
There is 3670 TK to spend Shop	Kit économiseur d'eau           Ce kit content un sabiler et deux aérateurs. Le sabiler permet de limiter sa douche à 4 min et a           More .ité         Price : 1000 TK Stock : 27	Quantity : 100 Total : 1000 TK Buy
Message	T-shirt et casquette Agenda 21 Un ensemble constitué d'une casquette et d'un T-Shirt	Quantity : 11
	More into Price : 1000 TK Stock : 29	Buy
Status		
	Page 2	

Figure 8 - The program's shop

## **Experimentation and results**

## **Enrolment of the candidates**

The project consist in an experiment conducted on a reduce sample to validate the methodology describe in the previous section. The first step was to proceed to the selection of a representative panel of family that corresponds to the different constraints we have decided previously. To be able to manage such experimentation we decide to choose specific housings principally renters with electrical heaters. We also decide to have various types of families (singles, families with children ...).

The selection process was a project's milestone; the enrolment goes through a public advertisement and with the help of a city database of green association<sup>2</sup>. The sociologists have provided some questionnaires to manage the final choice for the experimentation. A panel of 30 families has been chosen at the beginning of the study and at the end of the project, 20 families have conducted the complete experiment. Some of them have given up because of a lack of time or because they have changed their housing. Several causes have been identified but the majority hasn't given up due to their lack of interest in the project.

## Smart metering

For each family a smart meter design, built by WIT was installed. This smart meter was programmed to send to the data center of the project every change in the power level as it exceeds 50 watts (See previous part above). The project will assess the capacities of the use of such devices in helping distribution grid operator (DGO) to have a better understanding of final user's behavior. In our experiment, this metering and the frequency of data transmission have a key role in the analysis we can produce and for the representation we want to show to the final user.

## Sociological questionnaire survey

For each family that has been enrolled in the experiment, a Sociologist has met the family and several individual and group meetings have been made to explain the purpose of the project and to assess the characteristics of the candidates in term of their level in the energy management feeling at the beginning of the project. Each interview of the candidate has been recorded (audio and video) with the authorization of the participant and the interviews have been transcribed and analyzed. The procedure of explanation in several stages is very important in the acceptance process of the project. This kind of information is essential to be able to establish the progress of the candidates during the project and their ability to continue in the same way.

## Results

From a one year experiment a lot of feedbacks were significant for all the partners from the smart grid deployment point of view, technical issues, marketing tools to be improve, thermal model

One of the main results is the involvement within the loyalty program; orders were sent during all the program time.

From energy efficiency perspectives the results need to be improved and tested in a larger scale, but first analyze brings a reduction close to 10 % from an assumed consumption as usual. The loyalty program EcoTroks played a significant role in this dynamics. The two figures below, show two different situation, Figure 9 shows an user earning and spending EcoTroks (TK) in the Grid-Teams shop, we can see a consumption stick to the target while an other user, who didn't care about the loyalty program, who was more erratic (and sometimes even more efficient) and finally less efficient in average.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> UN's Action 21 for the twenty-first century was implemented by french government in an "Agenda 21" plan where cities and local government were able to labelise associations and other green actions groups.



Figure 9 - User with TK gain, with a real consumption close to the targeted one



Figure 10 - User without TK, no clear path followed

## Conclusion

The Grid-Teams project was an opportunity to test the potential of a smart meter for residential users in a way of energy reduction. The project shows that with a fine data collection, a fine analysis with a sociologist team, families can be involved in an energy management process. The methodology shows that we need some preliminary questionnaires (for the building part and for the inhabitant part) and a quick sample for the electricity consumption to be pertinent in our assessment of the family behavior. The results for the families are really encouraging. They validate the concept of the kind of information we have to provide to the families by our web interface to make them involved in a way of a sustainable reduction of their use of energy.

This is a first step towards robust tools that could be deployed at a large scale as soon as the smart meters will be available. A following project is forecast in this way to test the part that we couldn't test during this project. It is the social implication of the family regarding other similar families. A specific web interface was studied to imply a group of families and to put some competitions between candidates through the social networks to encourage them to reinforce their effort with the comparison they would make between each other.

## References

- [1] Soma Shekara Sreenadh Reddy Depuru, Lingfeng Wang, Vijay Devabhaktuni: *Smart meters for power grid: Challenges, issues, advantages and status.* Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, Volume 15, Issue 6, August 2011, Pages 2736-2742
- [2] Geert P.J. Verbong, Sjouke Beemsterboer, Frans Sengers: Smart grids or smart users? Involving users in developing a low carbon electricity economy. Energy Policy, Volume 52, January 2013, Pages 117-125.
- [3] Cédric Clastres: *Smart grids: Another step towards competition, energy security and climate change objectives.* Energy Policy, Volume 39, Issue 9, September 2011, Pages 5399-5408
- [4] R. Baetens, R. De Coninck, J. Van Roy, B. Verbruggen, J. Driesen, L. Helsen, D. Saelens: Assessing electrical bottlenecks at feeder level for residential net zero-energy buildings by integrated system simulation. Applied Energy, Volume 96, August 2012, Pages 74-83
- [5] Merve Bedir, Evert Hasselaar, Laure Itard: *Determinants of electricity consumption in Dutch dwellings*. Energy and Buildings, Volume 58, March 2013, Pages 194-207
- [6] Will Gans, Anna Alberini, Alberto Longo: *Smart meter devices and the effect of feedback on residential electricity consumption: Evidence from a natural experiment in Northern Ireland.* Energy Economics, Volume 36, March 2013, Pages 729-743
- [7] Grid-Teams Project: Final report, april 2013
- [8] H. Boyer, F. Garde, J.C. Gatina, J. Brau: A multimodel approach to building thermal simulation for design and research purposes. Energy and Buildings, Volume 28, Issue 1, August 1998, Pages 71-78
- [9] Anna Laura Pisello, Michele Goretti, Franco Cotana: A method for assessing buildings' energy efficiency by dynamic simulation and experimental activity. Applied Energy, Volume 97, September 2012, Pages 419-429
- [10] REMODECE: Residential Monitoring to Decrease Energy Use and Carbone Emissions in *Europe*. Intelligent Energy Europe, Publishable Report, November 2008, 96 pages.
- [11] Aníbal de Almeida, Paula Fonseca, Barbara Schlomann, Nicolai Feilberg: *Characterization of the household electricity consumption in the EU, potential energy savings and specific policy recommendations.* Energy and Buildings, Volume 43, Issue 8, August 2011, Pages 1884-1894
- [12] S.P. Borg, N.J. Kelly: The effect of appliance energy efficiency improvements on domestic electric loads in European households Energy and Buildings, Volume 43, Issue 9, September 2011, Pages 2240-2250
- [13] Sarah J. Darby, Eoghan McKenna: Social implications of residential demand response in cool temperate climates. Energy Policy, Volume 49, October 2012, Pages 759-769
- [14] Susanne Bodach, J. Hamhaber: Energy efficiency in social housing: Opportunities and barriers from a case study in Brazil. Energy Policy, Volume 38, Issue 12, December 2010, Pages 7898-7910
- [15] ADEME, Evaluation and Monitoring of Energy Efficiency in the New EU Member Countries and the EU-25, Intelligent Energy Europe, 2007. http://www2.ademe.fr/servlet/getDoc?sort=-1&cid=96&m=3&id=51262&ref=17618&nocache=yes&p1=111 (last accessed 15.04.13).
- [16] Lorraine Murphy, Frits Meijer, Henk Visscher: A qualitative evaluation of policy instruments used to improve energy performance of existing private dwellings in the Netherlands. Energy Policy, Volume 45, June 2012, Pages 459-468

## Monitoring and Evaluation of Green Public Procurement Programs

Aure Adell, Ecoinstitut Barcelona

Bettina Schaefer, Ecoinstitut Barcelona

Kavita Ravi, United States Department of Energy

Jenny Corry, The Collaborative Labeling and Appliance Standards Program

## Abstract

Effective procurement policies can help governments save considerable amounts of money while also reducing energy consumption. Additionally, private sector companies which purchase large numbers of energy-consuming devices can benefit from procurement policies that minimize life-cycle energy costs. Both public and private procurement programs offer opportunities to generate market-transforming demand for energy efficient appliances and lighting fixtures.

In recent years, several governments have implemented policies to procure energy efficient products and services. When deploying these policies, efforts have focused on developing resources for implementation (guidelines, energy efficiency specifications for tenders, life cycle costing tools, training, etc.) rather than defining monitoring systems to track progress against the set objectives. Implementation resources are necessary to make effective policies; however, developing Monitoring and Evaluation (M&E) mechanisms are critical to ensure that the policies are effective.

The purpose of this article is to provide policy makers and procurement officials with a preliminary map of existing approaches and key components to monitor Energy Efficient Procurement (EEP) programs in order to contribute to the improvement of their own systems.

Case studies are used throughout the paper to illustrate promising approaches to improve the M&E of EEP programs, from the definition of the system or data collection to complementary instruments to improve both the monitoring response and program results.

## 1. Introduction

Public procurement is the process whereby government organisations acquire the goods, constructions, and services (referred to hereafter only as "products") required to operate and perform all necessary functions. By introducing environmental considerations into procurement processes and requirements – that is, by implementing Green Public Procurement (GPP) – the public sector reduces the environmental impacts of its operations, improves efficiency, and can reduce expenditures by reducing purchase needs and minimizing life-cycle costs. GPP requirements encompass a large number of environmental considerations, and usually include energy efficiency as this contributes to reduced energy consumption and costs by organisations.

In OECD countries government procurement represents approximately 18% of GDP [1] and up to 30% of GDP in developing countries [2]. Given the market share that the public sector represents, public procurement can transform the market for green solutions, eco-innovations and new, environmentally conscious business models. Therefore, the public sector is increasingly including procurement as a policy instrument to achieve the objectives set in a wide range of environmental and economic development policies.

To support practitioners implementing green and/or energy efficient procurement, efforts have focused on providing resources for implementation (including guidelines, environmental specifications for tenders with information on verification documents, lifecycle costing tools, best practices

recommendations, or training) while little or no attention has been given to establishing mechanisms or systems to monitor and evaluate policy implementation and results.

When monitoring EEP/GPP programs, organisations track the implementation of the actions and measures taken as part of the program. With this information, policymakers can evaluate progress against policy objectives, and identify areas that need improvement, which will help in the development of supportive measures to improve efficiency and effectiveness in policy deployment. Furthermore, making results available both internally and externally demonstrates political commitment, enhances transparency, legitimizes the promotion of sustainable consumption and production by other sectors of society, and promotes policy embedment throughout the organization by keeping each agency accountable. As is often the case, accountability increases policy compliance. The type of M&E system that an organisation will choose to put in place will depend primarily on the objectives and actions set at the policy level, as the system will serve to track and assess progress in relation to them.

## 2. EEP at Policy Level

## 2.1. Policies Including EEP Requirements

Public authorities around the world are adopting policies that encourage or require the acquisition of energy efficient products by the public organisations within their jurisdiction [3]. The type of policies range from normative regulations and laws to general guidelines or recommendations, and their focus can vary from a specific energy efficient product, to general green procurement, climate protection, green growth or sustainable development as a whole. Table 1 presents the main type of policies where EEP commitments are included, with some examples from countries with different levels of economic development.

Policy scope	Examples
Product-specific policies	<ul> <li>Examples from the European Union include:</li> <li>Regulation (EC) No 106/2008 of 15 January 2008 on a Community Energy-efficiency Labelling Programme for Office Equipment.</li> <li>Directive 2009/33/EC of 23 April 2009 on the promotion of clean and energy efficient road transport vehicles.</li> <li>Directive 2010/31/EU of 19 May 2010 on the energy performance of buildings.</li> </ul>
Energy efficient procurement policies	<ul> <li>China Circular of 17 December 2004 on the Implementation of Government Procurement of Energy-saving Products and Circular of 30 July 2007 on Establishing a Mandatory Government Procurement Scheme of Energy-saving Products.</li> <li>Japan Green Contract Law (Law No. 56 of 2007) Concerning the Promotion of Contracts Considering Reduction of Emissions of Greenhouse Gases and Others by the State and Other Entities.</li> </ul>
Overarching green procurement strategies	<ul> <li>Canada Federal Government Policy on Green Procurement.</li> <li>Brazil Regulation nº1 of 19 January 2010, on environmental sustainability criteria in the procurement of goods, services and works of the Federal Public Administration and related agencies.</li> <li>Spain Order PRE/116/2008 of 21 January 2008 publishing the approval of the Plan on Green Public Procurement of the Central Government and Related Agencies.</li> </ul>

## Table 1. Type of Policies Including EPP/GPP Requirements

Energy/ Environmental operations policies	<ul> <li>United States Executive Order 13514 of 5 October 2009 - Federal Leadership in Environmental, Energy and Economic Performance.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>United Kingdom Greening Government Commitments: Operations and Procurement (February 2011).</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>France Circular of 3 December 2008 concerning the exemplarity of the State in respect of sustainable development in the operation of its services and institutions.</li> </ul>
Environment protection policies (such as climate protection strategies, sustainable development strategies, etc.)	- Mexico City Climate Action Program 2008-2012.
	<ul> <li>South Africa Notice 908 of 2009, National Energy Efficiency Strategy of the Republic.</li> </ul>
	- Colombia National Development Plan 2010-2014: Prosperity for all.
Green growth policies	<ul> <li>United States Farm Security and Rural Investment Act of 2002 (FSRIA) and Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA).</li> </ul>
	- European Union Lead Market Initiative.

Source: Ecoinstitut.

## 2.2. The Effect of Policy Objectives in the Definition of M&E Systems

The objectives and targets of the policies that include EEP requirements are diverse. For example, in its Communication Green Public Procurement for a Better Environment, the EC proposed that by 2010 50% of all tendering procedures should be green [4]. In Japan, the policy concerning the Promotion of Contracts Considering Reduction of Emissions of Greenhouse Gases and Others by the State and Other Entities, also known as Green Contract Law, sets the objective to reduce direct and indirect GHG emissions by 8% from 2010 to 2012 using the 2001 level as a benchmark through contracts related to the supply of electricity, the procurement and leasing of vehicles, the procurement of ships, the construction and/or renovation of buildings, and contracting Energy Service Companies [5]. In Spain, the GPP Plan of the Spanish Central Government sets different objectives depending on the actions. Thus, the plan includes an objective of energy saving of up to 9% by 2010 and 20% by 2016 in buildings; a reduction of 20% in fossil fuel consumption and an increase in the consumption of biofuels to up to 38% in transportation; and for IT equipment, 100% of all new computers, screens and imaging equipment must comply with the energy consumption limits defined in the Energy Star standard [6]. Mexico City's 2008-2012 Climate Action Program set specific annual CO<sub>2</sub>-equivalent reduction targets for a variety of energy efficient measures in public buildings, transport, and other areas [7].

The different objectives set at the policy level can be classified into four main goals related to procurement that can be present either individually or in combination:

- 1. To transform the market for energy efficient products
- 2. To achieve greenhouse gas (GHG) mitigation and reduce other environmental impacts
- 3. To embed EEP/GPP in the organisations' operations and procedures
- 4. To increase actual procurement of environmentally preferable products and services

The first two, *final goals,* justify the inclusion of EEP requirements. The other two, more *practical goals,* determine how to reach those final goals.

As the objectives of each policy might be different, the design of the M&E system will vary, as it has to be in line and able to track and assess progress in the achievement of the set goals and commitments.

## 3. Monitoring EEP Requirements

As listed above, one of the principal reasons for introducing EEP requirements in policies is to serve as a catalyst for the market penetration of green products and services. As such, an approach to evaluating the success of EEP commitments could be to assess to what extent EEP has contributed to an increase in the market share of more energy efficient products. However, this approach has rarely been followed, this may be due to the fact that market transformation is used as a motive or justification but no targets are set to monitor against. Also, the public sector is not the only player nor is public procurement the only instrument influencing market changes. Instruments such as taxes, subsidies, regulations, and demand from the private sector and consumers can have a more significant impact, making it difficult to measure the effect of EEP in market changes. Furthermore, such studies might have a negative cost-benefit balance, as the resources required to conduct the research does not justify the benefits yielded. These studies analyze the market and may provide limited useful information for better EEP embedment. We should not forget that monitoring is not only used to evaluate policy compliance and results/impact, but also to hold agencies accountable for better implementation and to identify areas for improvement and this information cannot be obtained through market studies.

In comparison to market transformation monitoring, assessing EEP embedment in operations is a much more straightforward process. In all the cases analyzed, the M&E systems to track and assess compliance are based on surveys, which for the most part require little or no data digging and gather qualitative information, making them easy to complete. One weakness of surveys is that the results are not always precise and may represent only the opinion or perception of people who complete them. This is especially critical when results are compiled to reflect the entire organization, because procurement is decentralized and may be implemented differently in each department. To accurately evaluate the extent to which EEP is actually conducted in procurement processes a more objective and quantitative analysis of procurement of energy efficient products is recommended.

Therefore, this paper focuses on the two M&E approaches to measure EEP implementation and results that have received the most interest from government agencies: 1) the monitoring of the procurement level of energy efficient products and 2) the assessment of the environmental relief achieved through EEP.

## 3.1. Monitoring the Procurement of Energy Efficient Products

In order to measure actual EEP implementation, many organizations have developed or are developing M&E systems to quantify how many of the products they buy/contract or the tenders they publish include or comply with energy efficient or other environmental criteria. In fact, this is the approach where more examples and experiences from public authorities exist.

In order to set up such a system, different elements have to be considered, which are summarized in Figure 1 and discussed below.





Source: Ecoinstitut.

## 3.1.1. Decide the Approach

The first decision to be made is whether to monitor tenders or actual purchases. This decision can be made at the policy level, or may be defined later if objectives are not specified in such detail in the

policy. In the second case, it is advisable to first analyse existing data tracking systems (see section 3.1.5) before deciding on the approach.

The main advantage of *monitoring tenders* is that they can be tracked more rapidly than product purchases, as all the information is found in the tender itself and does not require data input from different people or from suppliers.

The disadvantages are that when monitoring tenders, direct purchases are frequently, if not always, excluded from the scope of the monitoring, losing what might be an important portion of overall public procurement. Special attention must also be paid to framework agreements; they might approve several products and/or companies, but the resulting secondary contracts might not qualify as energy efficient. Furthermore, monitoring tenders does not show, in general, the actual result of the process and what is purchased or contracted in the end. Thus, a tender counted as "greened" might not yield the acquisition of an energy efficient product, unless only tenders with compulsory environmental criteria qualify as such. Nevertheless, it is often argued that for public procurement to create a market pulling effect for energy efficient and green products, organizations have to clearly signal to suppliers their green purchasing preferences. Public administrations do this through their tender documents and purchase orders, which capture their organizations' purchasing requirements. Therefore, to evaluate the impact, it would not be necessary to monitor what is actually procured, but the degree to which energy efficiency criteria are included in tender documents.

The advantage of *monitoring acquisition* of energy efficient products is that this shows not just intentions, as could be the case when monitoring tenders, but rather actual purchases. This type of monitoring tends to cover all kinds of purchases—both from contracts and direct purchases—and facilitates the evaluation of environmental relief achieved with EEP (see section 3.2).

However, tracking green product acquisition is less straightforward than tracking tenders. Financial systems and budgets are normally aggregated and coded at a higher level than product procurement, so certain products might not be directly identifiable in existing systems unless they are set up to track information at a product level. Additionally, products used within service contracts cannot be tracked using the organizations' systems, but require input and reporting from the service providers. That can be an obstacle to tracking given the tendency to outsource services, and to change acquisition models from procurement of products to services. Also, purchases occur more frequently than tenders, increasing the number of transactions to be monitored. Such transactions are normally carried out by a larger number of people, which implies the involvement of more staff in tracking green expenditures, increasing the possibility of data errors.

Therefore, tracking tenders is easier than tracking purchases unless products are purchased through procurement platforms (stores or catalogues), which allow direct and automatic tracking.

## 3.1.2. Choose the Indicators

Secondly, organisations must define the Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) to express and evaluate results. According to the case studies analyzed:

- When monitoring tenders, the indicators most commonly used are the total amount and the percentage of tenders (both in number and in economic terms) that are green in relation to the total amount within a given reporting period.
- When monitoring the acquisition of products, the level of EEP is calculated using the total amount and the percentage of energy efficient products purchased in terms of expenditure and, to a lesser extent, in units in relation to the total purchased during the reporting period. This second indicator is relevant to estimate the environmental benefits of EEP based on products, as normally environmental factors for transforming green purchases into environmental benefits use number of units purchased rather than economic ones (see Section 3.2).

## 3.1.3. Determine the Scope

Thirdly, the product groups that will be monitored must be identified. Public administrations buy or contract many different types of energy-consuming products (IT equipment, vehicles and transport services, traffic and street lighting systems, building heating and cooling systems, medical appliances, vending machines and kitchen appliances, etc.). Organizations might focus on all of them, but normally a group of priority products is chosen. Examples of criteria considered when selecting product groups to monitor include: 1) prior selection at policy level; 2) the existence of standardized EEP criteria at the regional, national, or municipal level; 3) the availability of energy efficiency standards and/or labels (if no standards exist, it is very difficult to implement EEP); or 4) the significance in terms of expenditure and/or ubiquity within the organizations being monitored.

## 3.1.4. Define what Qualifies as Energy Efficient

For a tender or purchase to be considered energy efficient, it is necessary to first define the parameters by which it will qualify as such. This is normally based on standardized labels or EEP/GPP criteria implemented at the regional, national, or local levels.

## Case 1. Chinese Government Definition of Energy Efficient

In 2004, the Ministry of Finance and the National Development and Reform Commission promulgated an EEP policy, the "Implementation Guidelines for Government Procurement of Energy-saving Products", which required public agencies to give preference to energy efficient products when procuring (becoming mandatory for certain product groups from 2007). Energy efficient products are defined as those that have been awarded the Energy Conservation Certification of the Chinese Government and are included in the Government Procurement List on Energy Conservation Products [8]. The definition refers to the existing National energy label.

## Case 2. Definition of Energy Efficient in the Pilot M&E Methodology of the European Union

In 2008, the European Commission (EC) contracted the development and testing of a methodology to monitor the implementation of GPP in the European Union (EU). Contractors used the existing EC GPP standard criteria developed the previous year to define what qualified as energy efficient. IT equipment had to comply with the energy consumption thresholds defined in the Energy Star standard [9], thus using a standard as reference. For passenger cars and light duty vehicles, there is not yet an energy efficiency label at the EU level (unlike other energy-consuming products such as electrical appliances/white goods or tires), but all vehicles are sold with a compulsory label that informs consumers of the average  $CO_2$  emissions per kilometre of the vehicle. Therefore, the M&E methodology used this label and the GPP criteria to qualify vehicles as "green" if the  $CO_2$  emissions of awarded vehicles were below the maximum threshold defined for the vehicle's category. [7]. In this case, the EC GPP criteria in combination with the compulsory label were used as reference to define "green".

## 3.1.5. Select, adapt or set data tracking systems

One of the difficulties of monitoring EEP in terms of expenditure in green products and services or incorporation of environmental criteria in tender documents is the lack of integration of EEP tracking requirements within existing procurement and/or financial procedures and tools. Because of this, data is not systematically registered and annual tracking of EEP is extremely time-consuming, especially when EEP covers a wide variety of products and services and there is little centralization. Additional difficulties might arise if EEP is monitored as part of GPP policies and the criteria used to define "green products" demands compliance with multiple specifications.

Listed below are methods that may be used to track the purchase of energy efficient products or data on product use in service contracts.

• Adapt internal financial systems to track expenditure at product level. This approach might also require adaptation to track the number of units purchased as organizations typically only

record expenditures. However, these systems don't allow the tracking of products used within service contracts and require input by many different people, increasing the risk of errors.

- Insert reporting requirements in tender and/or contract language. This approach makes providers accountable for tracking green product sales to public authorities and is crucial for tracking products used within services. If this method is used, it is very important to clearly define: 1) what qualifies as green, as vendors might erroneously describe items as green, and 2) what information is needed to integrate data from other providers, compare results between units or agencies, and/or calculate environmental benefits thus organisations have to develop data reporting standards. Some downsides are that it is difficult to verify data accuracy and information gathering can be time consuming, requiring tight contract management by the administration to ensure that contractors deliver reports.
- Use or develop electronic catalogues for centrally purchased items. These systems make information easily available internally, provide accurate data on energy efficient product purchases (for both expenditures and physical units), and allow central analysis without requiring reporting by each organization or department. The downside is that this method is only useful for a limited number of products, as most purchases are not centralized nor are all of them suitable for an e-catalogue, and cannot yield data on products used within service contracts.

The following strategies may be used to track data more efficiently when the monitoring approach is based on tenders:

- Insert a section in the tender documents that clearly identifies any applicable energy efficiency criteria. This method makes it easier for departments or organisations to identify green tenders, but it still requires manual analysis and reporting. This may be done for example with: 1) a simple checkbox to indicate whether green criteria have been introduced in the tender; 2) a table for purchasers to indicate where in the tender EEP criteria have been introduced (technical specifications, award criteria, etc.); 3) a list that indicates if criteria for designated products have been introduced; or 4) a table to indicate if national or local standard green criteria have been introduced (fully vs. partially, core vs. comprehensive, mandatory vs. best practice).
- Request procurers to complete a form when submitting a bid, awarding a contract, and/or completing a project. The form can summarize the energy efficiency or green criteria introduced in the tender or complied with by the awarded offer, depending on how the indicator has been defined.
- Adapt information fields if using an electronic tender publishing platform to track relevant information required for the M&E system. The benefits of such systems are that they allow automatic data analysis, process larger amounts of information quickly, and minimize bias. However, if not properly programmed they might leave out certain energy efficient tenders, and using such automated systems might limit the awareness raised within the organization of the M&E process as no input is required from them.

Therefore, when quantitatively monitoring the level of green procurement, M&E systems should use data sources that are directly available and require the input of the least number of people in order to minimize errors, eliminate bias, and reduce the time required for M&E from the organisation as a whole. Measures that require adapting financial platforms, electronic catalogues, electronic tendering platforms, or any other procurement management software that can facilitate tracking green tenders or expenditures on green products requires an initial investment, but will save resources that would otherwise be required to collect data.

Some cases of administrations that have applied some of the solutions presented are described below.

## Case 3. Tracking Green Purchases via the Finance System in Cardinia Shire Council (Australia) [10]

Cardinia Shire Council, a public authority in the State of Victoria (Australia), participates in the State's EcoBuy Program and is committed to buy green products and report progress annually. To do so, the Council has set up mandatory fields in its financial software that procurers fill in to accurately and

consistently capture expenditures under various green categories. To ensure appropriate data recording, measuring, and tracking, green procurement has also been integrated into the finance system's procedures and training.

## Case 4. Tenders Language for Procurement Tracking by Suppliers in King County (US) [11]

According to the guidelines for procuring environmentally preferable computers by King County, staff are required to include specific language in its call for tenders requiring suppliers to track and report green sales. Two options are provided. The first requires contractors to provide quarterly reports quantifying the EPEAT registered and unregistered products purchased under the contract in a format acceptable to King County. The second option includes a matrix that vendors have to use to report sales (see Figure 2).

## Figure 2. Matrix for vendors to report green sales

	Unregistered		EPEAT Bronze		EPEAT Silver		EPEAT Gold		Total	
	No. units	\$ spent								
Desktops										
Laptops										
Monitors (LCD)										
Monitors (CRT)										
Total										

Source: Environmental Purchasing Program (2012). Environmentally Preferable Computers. King County.

## Case 5. Tracking Sustainable Tenders in Chile Through an E-tendering Platform

The public sector in Chile uses two centralized electronic platforms for its purchasing activities. The national tendering platform, *Mercado Público*, centralizes the call for tenders of goods and services from most public agencies in the country (excluding public companies). The online store, *ChileCompra Express*, is used by public authorities to buy products centrally procured through Framework contracts by the Directorate of Public Procurement of the Ministry of Finance (known as *ChileCompra*).

When tendering through *Mercado Público*, public authorities not only upload their tender documents and publicize them, but also fill in several online forms that correspond approximately to the administrative tendering document. In these forms, procurers have to specify, among other details, the selection criteria for companies to be able to participate, administrative information about the tender (duration, guarantees, insurances, etc.), and the award criteria. Procurers can specify different award criteria from a list of categories, including Energy Efficiency and Environmental Impact. This information is registered in the platform database, making it easy to identify tenders that include energy efficiency or other environmental specifications as award criteria. The limitation of the system is that it excludes tenders conducted by public companies and it doesn't allow tracking of tenders that include compulsory energy efficiency criteria, as they are not registered in the platform database (the technical tender is uploaded as a document, preventing automatic search for environmental requirements).

For purchases conducted via *ChileCompra Express*, the environmental characteristics of awarded products are displayed in the online store as an output of the platform database, making it possible not only to quantify the tenders that included sustainability award criteria, but also tenders that resulted in the selection of more sustainable alternatives.

As the monitoring system is designed to use the parameters and variables registered in the eprocurement platform (in the form of SQL databases), the sustainable procurement indicator is very easy to obtain and therefore to monitor. Through standardized queries to the e-platform database, *ChileCompra* monitors the evolution of the percentage of sustainable procurement each month at the internal level, without requiring input from the organisations tendering through the platforms.

## Case 6. Tracking green tenders in Malta [12 and 13]

Since 2012, procurers in the Government of Malta have been required to include GPP criteria set by the government in the tender documents for certain prioritized product groups. To monitor compliance, all calls for tenders must be supported by a form (Tender Originators Form), which was revised to include data on the application of GPP along with information on the tender (promoter, estimated value, lots, etc.). Procurers must submit a scanned signed copy of this form to the Office of the Prime Minister by e-mail to track and verify compliance.

## 3.1.6. Establish the Data Reporting System

After tracking the relevant data, information has to be reported to the organisation or department in charge of the overall monitoring for evaluation. As presented in the previous section (3.1.5), each department or organization may track and/or gather information from different data sources. For example, some data can be accessed directly by the "monitoring" agency or a central body reporting for all the organisations subject to the monitoring, while other data collection requires compilation by each department or organization.

Reporting data from procurement or tenders via a survey can be time consuming if too much information is required and no automatic system (not even at department level) exists, reducing the response rate. Moreover, results are rarely verified unless a small amount of data is required, and departments or organizations with low performance might not respond. However, the request can raise awareness and promote EEP implementation in the future. If all information is processed automatically and no benchmarking, training, or communication efforts are in place, departments or agencies may not be aware that EEP requirements exist and have no incentive or knowledge to implement EEP.

If data is centrally available, EEP evaluation can be conducted directly by the "monitoring" agency, reducing the monitoring time as little or no waiting time is required as compared to surveys. A central data source also makes it possible to analyze results from organizations with varying levels of performance. Thus data and results are more reliable and comprehensive than those obtained through a questionnaire/survey.

Whenever possible data reporting systems should: 1) be integrated with other reporting tools to simplify procedures; 2) be standardized to allow comparison among organisations; 3) be designed to require information in the same format as organisations gather it to avoid confusion; 4) be in an electronic format to facilitate data aggregation by the "monitoring" agency; and 5) be able to provide instant feedback on performance and progress to the organisations.

## Case 7. Reporting Mechanism for GPP Monitoring in the United Kingdom (UK)

In 2006, the UK Government approved the Framework for Sustainable Operations on the Government Estate (SOGE) and the Sustainable Procurement Action Plan for the public sector as a whole. As the SOGE is the Central Government's umbrella for sustainable operations, it was agreed to integrate all elements of government sustainable operations, including those from the Sustainable Procurement Action Plan, into the SOGE monitoring and reporting system. The reporting mechanism was through an on-line questionnaire that gathered performance data reported by departments. Each department had its own system to collect and process the required data, but all of them input data in a standardized manner to allow comparison and benchmarking among departments. Until 2008 the questionnaire was a stand-alone tool, but from the fiscal year 2008–09 until the end of the SOGE reporting process in 2010–11 the questionnaire was integrated with the e-PIMS platform, an existing central government property database used to collect building-level data for other SOGE targets.

In 2011, the SOGE framework was replaced by the Greening Government Operations and Procurement Commitments (GGC) and the reporting system changed. The new system uses a spreadsheet as a template. One advantage of this method is that the spreadsheet automatically calculates and graphically presents each organization's performance against baseline data to show progress towards achieving the targets and forecast the evolution to the GGC deadline in 2014/15.



## Figure 3. Defra's GGC Carbon Dashboard and Carbon Chart

Source: Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs. Greening Government Commitments: Defra's Performance. 2012/13 & Baseline. December 2012.

## 3.2. Monitoring Environmental Relief

Despite the fact that EEP is promoted as a means to reduce the environmental impacts of an organisations' activities and processes, very few of the EEP or larger GPP programs analyzed actually monitor the environmental relief obtained through the procurement of energy efficient or further green products. However, its calculation is more frequent when monitoring "green-the-government" or climate protection policies that include EEP requirements, as most of them set specific environmental relief objectives.

One of the main differences between general GPP and EEP is that purchasing energy efficient products can directly impact an organisation's environmental performance. The impacts of many green products (e.g. products with a high percentage of recycled content, bio-based, or free from certain hazardous substances) occur during the production phase and if they do occur during use by the administration, they don't have a direct impact on organisations' environmental parameters that can be monitored to evaluate environmental results. Energy efficient products influence the organisation's energy consumption, which is a measurable parameter. Therefore, environmental relief achieved through EEP can be measured or calculated by 1) the environmental characteristics of the products purchased or used in services and constructions and 2) on the energy performance of the organisation.

To evaluate results, the KPIs for EEP programs are quite straightforward and in line with other energy-related policies, namely energy consumption and GHG emissions (expressed frequently as  $CO_2$ -equivalent).

Given that this kind of monitoring tracks or estimates energy consumption, and information on product costs are also available, cost savings achieved with EEP can also be used as KPIs to support EEP in regions or organisations where costs of green products are often highlighted as an obstacle to GPP implementation.

## 3.2.1. Estimates Based on Products Purchased

When the environmental benefits are calculated based on the purchase of energy efficient products, the resulting figures are only estimates that can either over- or underestimate final performance. Furthermore, impact analysis generally focuses on the impacts during the use phase linked to energy consumption and is therefore expressed as a reduction in energy consumption or GHG emissions.

For such calculations, the first data points to gather are the number of products purchased or used. Data will have to be reported or adjusted to be in units that are consistent with the consumption units (see below). M&E system designers should take into account that sometimes only expenditures are recorded, thus requiring additional information can present a challenge for those that collect data.

Secondly, the environmental characteristics of the products, namely energy consumption per unit and energy source (electricity, gas, diesel, biomass, etc.), have to be registered. These characteristics can be either of the product – direct evaluation – or of an agreed proxy – proxy evaluation. In the first case, the exact energy consumption in each operating mode of the items purchased in a contract has to be registered. In the proxy evaluation, a reference energy consumption value is selected as proxy and applied to all products. For example, if televisions rated class-A according to the national energy label are purchased, reduction in energy consumption can be calculated using the exact energy consumption of each TV (direct evaluation) or using the minimum consumption for class-A as a proxy. While direct evaluation of the estimated environmental benefit is slightly more accurate, that level of data tracking makes the process burdensome and unnecessarily exact given that other approximations have to be used to calculate the environmental benefits afterwards. Proxy evaluation is less precise and might underestimate environmental benefits, but it is simpler and data is easier to track. That is why most organizations use proxy evaluations to estimate the environmental benefits of EEP/GPP.

Thirdly, the environmental impact factors have to be established. This includes estimated functioning modes (for computers, it might be hours a day in "on", "stand-by" and "off" mode and annual workdays; for vehicles annual mileage is normally used) and conversion factors. These conversion factors translate estimated consumption units into GHG emissions by energy source (for example grams of  $CO_2$  by kWh of electricity, litre of fuel or m<sup>3</sup> of natural gas).

Finally, and in order to communicate how EEP has reduced energy consumption and GHG emissions, the environmental characteristics of products used previously or non-efficient alternatives have to be recorded. When doing so, it is recommended to track not only the improvement ratios between green and not-green products, but also the absolute figure to calculate the environmental relief achieved from buying less. GPP is meant to improve the environmental performance of public authorities throughout the whole purchasing cycle. Thus, the effects of these programs can go beyond buying green product and include other activities in the field of responsible consumption, such as reducing needs or using resources more efficiently. If only the environmental benefits of buying green are evaluated, an organization buying a larger quantity of products might show better results in environmental relief than another one that reduced its overall consumption. Therefore, monitoring the environmental performance on the basis of purchased products should also consider overall purchases to avoid penalizing organizations that become more efficient and reduce their purchasing needs.

## Case 8. Benefits of Vienna's ÖkoKauf Program

The green procurement program of the Vienna City Council, known as *ÖkoKauf Wien*, was set up in 1999 as one of the key elements of the city's climate protection program, *KliP Wien*. Even though *ÖkoKauf* does not maintain detailed records of the environmental relief achieved, some calculations have been done to communicate the environmental benefits and cost reductions of the program, as there is a general misperception that ecological goods and services always come with a price premium. For the environmental component, the program calculated impacts during either the use or production phase of the product or service. For example, with organic food an estimated factor of the environmental relief during production of organic versus conventional food was used. For energy efficient lamps and water-saving devices, the impact was estimated based on the reduction of water, hot water, and electricity consumption during use [14].


Figure 4.  $CO_2$ -equivalent reduction achieved with GPP in the City of Vienna, Austria (2004-2008)

Source: Patak, G. *ÖkoKauf Wien* [slides presentation]. European Public Sector Award 2011 (Maastricht, the Netherlands 15-17 November 2011).

## 3.2.2. Calculations Based on Energy Consumption

Due to the influence of energy efficient products on the organisation's energy consumption, the benefits of EEP can also be calculated indirectly by monitoring the energy consumed by the organisation. For example, the reduction in vehicle fuel consumption expected from buying energy efficient vehicles can be estimated, or annual fuel consumption can be tracked to measure the actual reduction due to green procurement.

The procurement of energy efficient products and services is key to reducing energy consumption; however, product use and behaviour may have a greater impact on actual energy consumption. In fact, energy savings estimates based on purchases (see previous section 3.2.1) does not guarantee a decrease in energy consumption, and how the product is used and consumer usage habits must be taken into consideration. Therefore, whenever possible, it is best to calculate real energy savings and  $CO_2$  reduction by monitoring actual energy consumption. This approach reduces the number of parameters to track and makes it possible to monitor the effects of green solutions without making estimates. However, as an indirect evaluation, EEP effects might be masked due to the interaction with other variables.

## Case 9. Indirect Evaluation of Green Vehicle Procurement in the USA [15]

In the United States, energy efficiency improvements and GHG emissions reduction achieved in government owned vehicle fleets through green procurement actions are not monitored based on annual purchases, but indirectly through the overall performance of the improved fleet using real usage data. Through the web-based Federal Automobile Statistical Tool, agencies input data required by several regulations (both energy and economic/budget related). These inputs include: vehicle inventory, purchases and disposals (actual, planned, projected, forecast), type of fuel, type of ownership (purchased, GSA-leased, commercially-leased), mileage, cost data (acquisition, indirect, maintenance and depreciation costs), and fuel cost and consumption. Using this information, GHG emissions reduction associated with vehicle procurement and use can be calculated and integrated into the overall target for GHG emissions reduction by the federal government.

## 4. Supportive Instruments

### 4.1. Incentives

Even when monitoring is part of EEP policies, organizations' commitment to implement a policy and track progress on achievements may vary, especially when the targets or objectives are voluntary, no enforcement mechanisms are in place, and/or when policy commitments are set at a higher administration level with little or no jurisdiction over other administrations' activities.

In order to promote implementation, monitoring, and reporting some administrations have supplemented EEP policies with incentives. Two types of incentives, economic and reputational, are described below.

#### 4.1.1. Economic Incentives

Monetary incentives reward public administrations that advance EEP implementation and may also punish organisations or departments that fail to comply with minimum green procurement levels. The economic incentive can be designed in many different ways. The following cases reflect some of those options.

#### Case 10. GPP Reporting Incentives in South Korea [16]

To promote the purchase of green products and reporting results, the "Korean Act on Encouragement of Purchase of Green Products" from 2011 states that the Ministry of Environment may grant environment-related subsidies preferentially to local governments with excellent purchase records of green products. This assessment is based on the annual green products records that each public institution submits to the Ministry of the Environment within the three months after the end of each fiscal year.

#### <u>Case 11. Financial Mechanism to Promote Environmental Monitoring and Performance in France's</u> <u>Central Government</u> [17, 18 and 19]

In 2008, the French Central Government, recognizing the unique role of the government in achieving sustainable development, passed a regulation requiring all ministerial departments to develop an Exemplary Administration Plan to achieve sustainable development in their services and operations. To guarantee a certain consistency and efficacy in the government's actions, a set of common measures and targets for all Ministries was defined, focusing on procurement, eco-responsibility (mainly consumption reduction), and social responsibility. To track compliance, mandatory annual reports are also required.

To encourage the achievement of common objectives and the integration of sustainable development in the Ministries' operations, a financial mechanism was established to accompany implementation and reporting of the plans (from 2009 onwards). The mechanism consists of a virtual fund of approximately 100 million Euros created by setting aside ("freezing") 1% of the budget that each Ministry is allocated for procurement at the beginning of each year. Each ministerial department has to report on its achievements against the commonly set targets to recover the "frozen" budget. The frozen funds are redistributed among the departments according to their performance in achieving the targets. Thus, the more targets achieved, the higher the return will be, with a minimum number of targets reached to participate in the redistribution (in 2012, at least 11 out of 18 indicators had to be met- including requirements on energy consumption, procurement of low  $CO_2$  emitting vehicles and work related travels). Two cases may arise:

If a department does not reach the minimum threshold of indicators, it immediately loses 50% of its contribution, which will be redistributed among the departments that meet or exceed the threshold (explained below). The department can recover the other 50% if it complies with the objectives for the previous reporting year during the following year. If it still fails, the money cannot be recovered and is added to the fund for next year's distribution among those that do comply.

If a department meets or exceeds the minimum threshold, it immediately gets 50% of its contribution and benefits from the redistribution of the other portions (from them, the other departments that met

the threshold, and percentages lost by other departments). The amount allocated to each ministry is proportional to its financial contribution to the fund and its performance.

## 4.1.2. Reputational Incentives

Comparison between peers and recognition of achievements and improved efforts can have a positive effect on policy implementation if it impacts the reputation of organizations. Agencies with low performance in certain areas become motivated to improve their results and thus their reputation. Those with higher achievements get recognition for their efforts and improve their image with stakeholders. In order to have an impact, results have to be published internally, or ideally publically, and they can be presented in two ways: 1) as a ranking or benchmark of agencies based on their results, presenting both good and bad performances, or 2) as a list of top-performing agencies based on overall results or on leadership in specific areas of EEP implementation, such as policy quality, supplier engagement, monitoring systems, etc.

These mechanisms require, in general terms:

- Defining simple indicators that easily convey the different performance levels if more than one parameter is monitored (e.g. traffic light indicator, stars rating, medals indicator, etc.).
- Evaluating organizations' performance against the defined indicators to benchmark agencies according to their results.
- Making results public through a regular publication, organization's website, awards ceremony, etc.
- Keeping the mechanism in place for a defined period of time to be able to have an impact on agencies' reputations.

To leverage the impacts from these programs the publication of results should share lessons learned and best practices from departments and organizations excelling in a particular area. These examples can help other organisations improve their performance.

#### Case 12. Green Procurement Performance Appraisal and Award in Taiwan [20]

To promote GPP implementation and recognize efforts of leading agencies, the Government of Taiwan annually evaluates agencies' performance on green procurement based on "Green Procurement Amount Reports" and rewards those with excellent performance at a public event. Performance evaluation is based on three elements:

- 1. Percentage of total products procured from a list of designated green products—this list covers 20 product groups including: office stationery and paper products, office ICT equipment, electronic appliances, and a set of other items such as cleaning products or paints (70 points)
- 2. Number of other green products purchased (10 points)
- 3. Activities to support GPP implementation, including training courses, communication and dissemination actions, involvement of chief officers and subordinated agencies, creative procurement, etc. (20 points)

Depending on the total points obtained, agencies can be classed as Superior, Grade A, Grade B, or Grade C. Results by class from 2002 to 2006 are summarized below:

## Figure 5. GPP Performance Appraisal of Taiwan Government Agencies 2002-2006

Appraisal class	Points (out of 100)	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006
Superior	More than 90	1	26	17	16	23
Grade A	More than 80	6	33	26	38	41
Grade B	More than 70	32	0	16	7	0
Grade C	Less than 70	21	1	1	0	0

Source: http://greenliving.epa.gov.tw/GreenLife/eng/E-The Green Procurement Promotion Result.aspx

## Case 13. Mayor of London's Green Procurement Code [21]

The Mayor of London's Green Procurement Code is a support service for organisations committed to reducing their environmental impact through responsible purchasing. Awareness that management and behavioural changes are as important as technical specifications to source green products, the initiative provides assistance to embed green purchasing into all aspects of the organizations.

Organisations that sign the Green Procurement Code commit to achieving progressive environmental targets and can be awarded bronze, silver, or gold status as a mark of their success, depending on the results of their progress review and the completion of a third-party audit. The progress review consists of two parts: 1) performance against a set list of management questions based on the UK Government Flexible Framework; and 2) green purchases of products and services recorded during the previous financial year. Based on the combined results of both parts, organisations can be awarded one of the three levels:

#### Figure 6. Level awarding in the Mayor of London's Green Procurement Code

Part one Part two	Bronze	Silver	Gold
Bronze	Bronze	Bronze	Bronze
Silver	Bronze	Silver	Gold
Gold	Silver	Silver	Gold

Source: http://www.greenprocurementcode.co.uk/?q=node/304

Once organizations have been audited, success is celebrated at an annual awards ceremony, and award winners are listed online and in the initiative's annual progress report.

## 4.2. Integration in Environmental Management Systems

Environmental Management Systems (EMS) are management approaches that serve to systematically:

- Evaluate the environmental performance, risks, and impacts of an organization's operations and activities (caused directly or indirectly);
- Establish objectives, measures, and procedures to address issues causing or threatening significant environmental impacts in order to improve the organization's environmental performance; and
- Monitor and analyze performance in implementation in order to define new actions and ensure continual improvement.

When first implemented, EMS programs tend to focus on direct impacts occurring in the organisation's facilities (e.g. water and energy consumption, waste generation and recycling, use and manipulation of hazardous products, generation of noise, odours, and gases emissions, etc.). Particularly in administrative and office buildings, the scope is soon enlarged to include indirect impacts stemming from the supply chain, including first-tier contractors and following-tier suppliers. Including procurement activities as part of EMS will serve not only to apply EEP as a measure to reduce direct impacts, but also to evaluate the overall effects of unsustainable acquisition practices and help implement EEP in a consistent manner.

As EMS requires regular monitoring of results, such systems help define and implement mechanisms for careful tracking of EEP measures. When doing so, special attention must be given to defining mechanisms and monitoring systems that yield results in line with the EEP monitoring requirements and objectives set at a policy level. In any case, EMS will monitor the impact of EEP actions, though indirectly, when tracking energy consumption.

Additionally, the integration of EEP into the EMS should foresee that adverse findings are fed into the EMS corrective action process to ensure that action is taken and EEP implementation is progressively improved.

#### Case 14. Implementing GPP Requirements in the EMS of U.S. Department of Energy Facilities [22]

Executive Order 13423 directed U.S. federal agencies to implement EMS at all appropriate organizational levels to ensure the use of EMS as the primary management approach for addressing environmental aspects of internal agency operations and activities. In order to coordinate this requirement with others on GPP, the U.S. Department of Energy (DoE) approved an internal order for all facilities managed by federal staff or contractors, requiring: 1) the implementation of EMS in all DoE sites integrated with the site's Integrated Safety Management System, and 2) the inclusion in the EMS of the objectives and targets for annual review that contribute to achieving DoE sustainable environmental stewardship goals, including those on the acquisition and use of environmentally preferable products (including energy efficient products) in the conduct of operations.

## 5. Conclusions and Recommendations

Even though the results and impacts of many policies that include EEP requirements are not routinely monitored, the proper tracking, evaluation, and reporting of results can yield remarkable benefits to organisations. Through monitoring, policymakers can improve efficiency and effectiveness in policy deployment by identifying areas or elements that need improvement, which will help to target supportive measures. Furthermore, making results available both internally and externally demonstrates political commitment, enhances transparency, and legitimizes the promotion of sustainable consumption and production by other sectors of society. The publication of results also promotes policy embedment by keeping each agency accountable.

Existing M&E approaches applied by different public administrations show a broad range of priorities and systems for the monitoring and evaluation of EEP. Reasons behind this diversity include the variety in policy objectives, targets and goals, the relation to other sectoral policies, the difference between policy development and implementation, the structure and level of centralization of purchasing systems or the commitment level of involved actors, among others. A clear definition of policy goals and indicators, embedment in existing tracking systems, additional facilitating measures, and visibility of results are necessary for successful and cost-effective implementation of M&E systems.

## 5.1. Ensure Leadership and Clearly Define Objectives, Indicators and Progress Tiers

As can be observed in Table 1, EEP requirements are generally embedded in environmental policies, creating a gap between who is responsible for defining the policy and who is responsible for implementing it. The former (usually the Environment or Energy Departments) predetermines policy objectives and targets that affect the monitoring system, but it is within the Procurement units that

policies are implemented. Therefore, it is key to have procurement managers participate in developing an efficient M&E system that is accurate and representative, but not too complex or burdensome, and that is integrated in existing purchaser workflows (especially when monitoring actual procurement of energy efficient products). The same applies if EEP is monitored based on consumption levels where other staff are involved (for example fleet or building managers).

In general terms, policies tend to define overall EEP targets, however it is recommended to set progress levels and evaluate against them to encourage implementation, as green procurement requires changing habits and practices, and performance tiers convey that sense of progress and the time needed to achieve those targets. Furthermore, tiers help communicate achievements to all relevant stakeholders.

To measure success, key performance indicators have to be identified. Typical indicators used to monitor the procurement of products are the total and percentage of green products and/or tenders (in units and economic terms) in relation to the total acquired or tendered for a list of prioritized product groups. When evaluating the environmental relief obtained with EEP, as highlighted in a recent report by the Energy Sector Management Assistance Program [3], indicators such as energy consumption, GHG emissions, and even cost savings are commonly used.

## 5.2. Set efficient systems to monitor products procurement

M&E systems might cover different objectives; therefore, an appropriate approach should be selected for each objective and this may results in a mixed system. Regardless of the system(s) selected, it is key to accompany a M&E system with clear definitions, explanations, instructions, and verification documents (if required) to avoid misinterpretations, improve the efficiency of the organisations responsible for monitoring,, and ease the centralization of data at a pan-government level. Organisations should be able to invest less time to answer queries or verify data and more on data analysis and evaluation of results. The systems should also be tested in advance, as sometimes definitions are not as straightforward as intended, and defined with the relevant parties. Linked to this, changes in the M&E systems should be minimized to facilitate understanding, ensure data comparability, and identify trends.

In general terms, monitoring green product purchases is more burdensome than monitoring green tenders. Furthermore, with the trend to change contracting models from purchase to service contracts, it can be foreseen that tracking product consumption will be increasingly onerous, as more data will be required from suppliers. Therefore, strong relationships and good reporting habits will need to be established with contractors. When monitoring tenders, the risk is to count as "green" tenders that in the end don't yield a green result. To avoid it, only compulsory criteria should be used to qualify tenders as "green".

For quantitative data, an early analysis of existing tracking mechanisms (of tenders, expenditure, consumption, etc.) is advisable in order to start monitoring where data is available or to introduce the required changes for efficient and reliable data tracking. This is especially relevant when monitoring green tenders and/or acquisition of green products. To be efficient, EEP tracking has to be integrated from the beginning into the procurement process and tracking systems.

Tracking mechanisms vary depending on what is monitored; however, for quantitative indicators, it is always preferable to use public data (i.e., from e-tendering platforms) or data centrally collected (such as centralized purchases), as data tracked through questionnaires is less reliable and more time consuming. In the era of electronic information technologies, online applications and internal software are the most efficient solution for compiling information and processing it automatically. Such software can be programmed to retrieve data from other platforms (reducing data input duplication) and to produce direct calculations and graphical outputs of results and their deviation from the set targets. That requires certain standardization in procurement management software and other applications, which might not exist within an organization, let alone between different public authorities. However, when tracking systems are semi-automatic and multiple users are responsible for inputting data, providing training to understand definitions, information requirements, and tool operation (either a spreadsheet or an online platform) is key to ensure appropriate data tracking and minimize errors.

## 5.3. Calculate Representative Environmental Benefits

As EEP has an impact on organisations' energy consumption, in most cases it is best to evaluate the evolution in real energy consumption when calculating the environmental relief achieved with EEP, to identify if EEP yields results or if other factors are overriding them. If the environmental relief is calculated only on the basis of purchased products, benefits are only theoretical, misrepresenting the EEP impacts. In spite of that, if environmental benefits are calculated directly or by proxies based on purchased products, this has to be taken into consideration from the beginning when identifying the data to be reported, as some parameters might be necessary for a meaningful assessment (for example, to report both in expenditure and physical units). And special attention should be paid to establishing an M&E system that calculates environmental benefits not only in relation to energy efficient versus conventional products, but also in relation to overall purchases and to communicate the benefits of reducing procurement needs and rationalise acquisitions.

In those regions or agencies where green procurement is considered more expensive, it is advisable to evaluate, either as a one-time evaluation or as part of the regular monitoring, the lifecycle cost reductions achieved, to make the business case for EEP and GPP, as savings achieved with EEP can be used to compensate premium costs in other GPP actions.

## 5.4. Implement Facilitating Measures

In order to ensure or promote better monitoring and overall implementation, organizations might design reputational and/or economic incentives to accompany M&E systems. Reputational incentives are linked to the public presentation of results and can be designed as "rewards", when only the best are acknowledged, or as "rewards and punishment", when all departments or organizations are benchmarked, from the most to the least performing. Economic incentives can also take the form of rewards and/or penalties. In the second case, it is best when all parties agree on how the penalties are to be applied in order to minimize opposition.

Another strategy to facilitate monitoring and implementation is to integrate EEP requirements within existing EMS, as EMS requires regular monitoring of results and therefore they "force" organisations to define and implement mechanisms for careful tracking of EEP measures. When doing so, attention has to be paid to define procedures that yield results in line with the EEP monitoring requirements set at policy level.

## 5.5. Communicate and show results

Finally, EEP individual results (by department or administration, depending on the level of monitoring) should be published and made publicly available in order to increase government transparency and demonstrate public leadership. Visual elements such as graphics and simple evaluation and rating indicators serve to present progress in an easy-to-understand manner that can be used to openly report on government performance and to benchmark progress by each agency, fostering improvement through reputational incentives. However, reports should not focus only on results but also include information on why and how department or public agency's excelling in a particular area have achieved such results, in order to tie actions to results and share examples that can help others improve.

## 6. Acknowledgement

This article draws on the study commissioned by the Super-Efficient Equipment and Appliance Deployment Initiative (SEAD): Ecoinstitut. *Resource Guide on Monitoring and Evaluation of Green Public Procurement Programs*. SEAD, 2013 (expected to be published in May/June 2013).

## 7. References

- [1] OECD. Government at a Glance 2011. http://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/sites/gov\_glance-2011en/09/01/index.html?contentType=/ns/Book,/ns/StatisticalPublication&itemId=/content/book/gov \_glance-2011en&containerItemId=/content/serial/22214399&accessItemIds=&mimeType=text/html [Consulted on 13/02/2012].
- [2] World Bank in Harris, J. et al. Public Sector Leadership: Transforming the Market for Efficient Products and Services. Proceed. *ECEEE 2005 Summer Study*. ADEME Editions, Paris:2005.
- [3] Singh J., Culver A. and Bitlis M. *Technical Report 003/12. Public procurement of energy efficient products. Lessons from Around the World*. Energy Sector Management Assistance Program, The World Bank, Washington DC: 2012.
- [4] European Commission. Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions Public procurement for a better environment COM(2008) 400 final.
- [5] Government of Japan. Basic Policy concerning the Promotion of Contracts considering Reduction of Emissions of Greenhouse Gases and Others by the State and Other Entities (Approved by the Cabinet on February 5, 2010).
- [6] Government of Spain. Order PRE/116/2008 of 21 January 2008 publishing the approval of the Plan on Green Public Procurement of the Central Government and Related Agencies. BOE n°27, jueves 31 enero 2008, p. 5706-5710.
- [7] District Federal Government. Mexico City Climate Action Program 2008-2012/Summary (second edition, September 2008).
- [8] Fuguo C., Yuying Y. and Fen Z. Towards Sustainable Public Procurement In China: Policy And Regulatory Framework, Current Developments And The Case For A Consolidated Green Public Procurement Code. Proc. of the 4<sup>th</sup> International Public Procurement Conference (Seoul, South Korea, 26-28 August 2010).
- [9] PricewaterhouseCoopers, Significant and Ecofys. *Collection of statistical information on Green Public Procurement in the EU. Report on methodologies*. PricewaterhouseCoopers, Digital: 2009.
- [10] EcoBuy. EcoBuy Awards 2011 Winner: Cardinia Shire Council Tracking green purchases via its finance system. Award for Excellence in Green Purchasing, Measurement and Continuous Improvement. 9th ECO-Buy Awards, Celebrating Achievements in Green Purchasing, EcoBuy, Digital: 2011.
- [11] King County. Environmental Purchasing Program. Environmentally Preferable Computers. (2012).
- [12] Payne, C., Weber, A. & Semple, A. *Energy efficient Public Procurement. Best Practice in Program Delivery*. SEAD, Digital: 2013 (to be published).
- [13] Government of Malta. Contracts Circular N° 21/2011, of 14th November 2011, Green public procurement and other procedures.
- [14] ESMAP. Good Practices in City Energy Efficiency. Vienna, Austria (European Union) Municipal Eco-Purchasing. ESMAP Energy Efficient Cities Initiative. ESMAP, Digital: 2011.
- [15] https://federalfleets.energy.gov/federal\_requirements/reporting/fast
- [16] Government of Korea. Act on Encouragement of Purchase of Green Products 2011.

- [17] Government of France. Circular nº5351/SG of 3 December 2008 concerning the exemplarity of the State regarding sustainable development in the operation of its services and its public buildings (2008).
- [18] Government of France. Complement to the Circular n°5351/SG operation of the financial mechanism accompanying the implementation of the Exemplary Administration Plans (2010).
- [19] Government of France. Complement to the Circular nº5351/SG 2012 Indicators (2012).
- [20] Environmental Protection Administration of the Government of Taiwan. *The Green Procurement Promotion Result in the Government Agency*, GreenLiving Information Platform [website]. Retrieved on 20 November 2012, <u>http://greenliving.epa.gov.tw/GreenLife/eng/E-The\_Green\_Procurement\_Promotion\_Result.aspx</u>
- [21] Mayor of London's green procurement code. *Achieving gold, silver and bronze* [website]. Retrieved on 16 November 2012 <u>http://www.greenprocurementcode.co.uk/?g=node/304</u>
- [22] US Department of Energy. Order DOE O 450.1A Environmental Protection Program. US Department of Energy, Washington DC: 2008.

## **Energy Efficiency and the Australian Water Heating Market**

## Mr Michael Whitelaw

## Australian Department of Resources, Energy and Tourism

## Abstract

Recent increases in energy prices have led to a focus on cost-of-living issues in Australia. Water heating in Australia accounts for approximately 25% of household energy use, second only to space heating and cooling, and plays an important role in relation to energy costs. Hot water energy use plays an important role in the magnitude and management of 'peak' electricity demand and associated grid infrastructure requirements. Over the past decade the increase in the Australian water heating market has been extraordinary. Factors attributed to driving this change include regulations, subsidy programs, technology advancements, shifts in consumer demand, fuel price inflation, carbon pricing, and changing attitudes towards water consumption. The ability for policy makers and stakeholders to develop and set appliance-specific energy efficiency requirements in a timely and efficient manner have been impacted by rapid changes in the hot water market. Decision makers established limited incentive programs to institute long-term changes in the market. The setting of hot water appliance energy efficiency requirements remains a highly effective tool and recent national legislation has streamlined processes and improved responsiveness. However, reliance on government 'push' policies may not provide optimal outcomes. New regulatory policies may be needed to improve efficiency for all hot water technologies (electric resistance, heat pump, solar, gas etc.). Information-based 'pull' policies can effectively promote new energy-efficient products, provide manufactures with greater certainty, and reduce costs for governments. New 'push' policies can help consumers make informed decisions to purchase energy efficient water heaters.

## Introduction

#### Importance and pressures in the Australian hot water market

Water heating is responsible for approximately 25% of energy consumed in Australia's residential sector. Conventional hot water heaters are installed in nearly half of these eight million homes that in turn produce nearly three times the amount of greenhouse gas equivalents ( $CO_2$ -e) as more efficient technologies, while potentially costing significantly more to operate. The lifespan of water heaters can exceed 10 years. Therefore, the choice of a water heater can cause large and long lasting implications on consumer energy bills.

Australian water heater market shares are as follows: 52% conventional electric storage water heaters, 40% gas water heaters, 9% solar water heaters (both gas and electric), and 2% heat pump water heaters [1, 2]. The breakdown of technology by Australian jurisdiction varies substantially and is driven by factors such as different climatic conditions, availability of gas networks, and separate tariffs.

There are two broad, related sources of pressure on the Australian hot water market.

- 1. 'Cost of living' pressures have become a priority issue. The substantial reliance on expensive-tooperate conventional hot water heaters and increasing energy prices is creating pressure to reduce this reliance and reduce energy bills for consumers.
- 2. The hot water market remains subject to two distinct of 'market failures'. These failures can be described as information failures (inability to access independent and reliable information on the lifetime costs of various water heating technologies) and 'split-incentives' where the purchaser of hot water systems will not be responsible for the operating costs of the appliance (e.g. a landlord purchasing an inexpensive conventional water heater while the renter will ultimately become responsible for the associated running costs).

## **Pressures in the Hot Water Market**

## Pressure One – Cost-of-Living and Energy Costs

#### Energy Consumption and Cost Pressures

Australia is the world's eighteenth largest energy consumer and ranks fourteenth on a per-person basis. Australia's energy consumption is primarily composed of non-renewable energy sources [3]. **Figure 1** shows electricity generation by energy source in 2009-10. Coal accounts for approximately 75% of total generation, gas accounts for 15%, and renewable energy accounts for 8% (mainly hydroelectricity, wind and bio-energy). The high reliance on abundant non-renewable sources has led to recent price pressures as governments have sought to address carbon emissions though interventions such as a nation-wide carbon price (currently \$AUD23 per ton of  $CO_2$ -e) and renewable energy targets.



## Figure 1. Australia's Electricity Generation by Energy Source in 2009-10

Source: Energy in Australia, 2012.

Growth in peak daily electricity demand over recent years has been a significant contributor to rising electricity costs. Between 10% and 25% of maximum demand occurs for only 1% of the time, creating demand for high-cost, fast-start generation capacity and additional network infrastructure to be maintained. The two main drivers causing the growth in inefficient peak demand are the increased use of relatively low-cost, energy-intensive domestic appliances and inefficient pricing structures [4]. More recently, there have been declines in average annual consumption and reduced rates of peak demand growth, but these trends have yet to impact retail prices.

Australia's gas market is undergoing major transformation, including increased demand competition and rising costs of production from new gas fields. While Australia has adequate overall gas reserves to meet projected domestic demand and exportation needs until at least 2035, there may be some transitional tightness in the east coast gas market as new coal-seam gas and LNG projects ramp up to full production. These factors are already manifesting in higher gas prices and tighter supply dynamics.

#### Impact on Cost-of-Living

Rising electricity and gas prices are affecting the costs-of-living of many Australian households. Recent increases in power prices reflect mainly increases in network costs caused by a complex combination of increasing peak demand, replacing and augmenting ageing infrastructure, as well as a marginal impact from various energy efficiency and renewable energy policy interventions at both the state and national levels [4]. Australia's electricity prices were slightly below the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) average in 2010. Since that time there has been rapid price increases in most areas of Australia. Retail electricity costs have increased on average by around 40% in the past three years, and by well over 50% in certain regions.

## Pressure Two - Market Failures

#### Information Failures

A rational, informed consumer wishing to minimise the 'lifetime-cost' of purchasing a water heater would ideally research and take into account both the initial purchase cost and the projected running costs associated with the appliance. Water heaters are purchased in drastically different ways than other household appliances which complicates the ability to make informed decisions. Market research shows 'people usually understand the appliance, a range of makes and models is readily available and able to be directly compared in showrooms, and energy usage parameters are simple as the appliance is on all the time...the decision regarding a water heater is often unexpected (water heaters rarely give warning of problems), hasty and ill-considered. The current study clearly identifies that the appliance installer (plumber and/or electrician) has a primary role to play in the water heater decision' [5].

BIS Shrapnel quantified the magnitude of information failures in a survey on purchasers of water heaters. They found that 22% of water heater buyers conducted no research at all in purchasing a water heater and 66% of conventional electric storage water heater buyers considered no alternatives. Low consideration of alternative water heating technologies with significantly lower operating costs suggests that consumers may not be aware of options available [6].

The market failures relating to energy efficiency were also investigated. The nature and implication of the informational market failure was described as, "residential consumers are poorly informed when it comes to retail electricity arrangements, the price of electricity and how their electricity consumption impacts on their bill. As a consequence, consumers have been unable to choose retail electricity offers better suited to their needs or modify their electricity consumption in ways that would help minimise their electricity costs" [7].

The Select Committee described energy efficiency as 'the "low hanging fruit" of electricity consumption and emissions reduction efforts and as 'the easiest, simplest and most cost efficient' tool to meet these goals. The report also noted arguments that energy efficiency efforts should focus on heaters, air conditioners and hot-water systems as these appliances can offer faster payback periods and will result in 'material' rather than 'symbolic' benefits to households.

#### Split Incentives

A split incentive situation can arise when an agent (landlord, plumber or builder) is acting on behalf of a principal (buyer, tenant) and therefore may have different motivations. The split incentive is caused an insufficient focus on the likely running costs of the water heater which will be payable by the enduser, rather than the agent. It is estimated that approximately 20% of sales may be affected by a builder/owner split incentive while at least 30% of sales may be affected by a landlord/tenant split incentive. The purchase and installation cost of an average conventional electric water heater in 2012 was approximately \$800 cheaper than a heat pump water heater, however the latter can offer savings of \$330 per annum. 270,000 conventional water heaters are estimated to have been sold in Australia in 2011 and 50% may have been affected by split incentives; clearly the implications of sub-optimal purchases are substantial.

## Impact of Failures

Due to the sheer number of expensive-to-operate conventional water heaters, there is significant opportunity for Australians to shift to more efficient water heating technologies. However, information failures reduce the ability for a consumer to easily identify and understand the lifetime benefits of more efficient heaters. Since up to half of all water heater purchases may be driven by the upfront cost of the heater rather than the lifetime operational costs, there is vast room for informational improvement.

## **Current Hot Water Market – Trends and Current Interventions**

## **Technological and Consumer Trends**

Australia has recently experienced a high level of technological advancement in the water-heating sector. In recent years the heat pump water heater sales have rapidly risen as shown in **Figure 2**. Established technologies, such as solar water heaters, have also continued to be refined with in-line boosting rather than tank boosting becoming increasingly common.



#### Figure 2. Heat pump water heater installations by year

Source: Product Profile: Heat Pump Water Heaters, Equipment Energy Efficiency Program June 2012.

The issues facing consumers are more complex than just water heating priorities. With increasing energy bills there can be trade-offs in consumer purchasing habits such as diverting their funds to more efficient water heating products or to reducing their net-power demand through actions such as installing solar PV. While the number of solar hot water installations has historically overshadowed solar PV, both experienced significant growth since 2009 as shown in **Figure 3**. In 2011, solar PV installations overtook solar hot water, especially as installations of the latter declined.



## Figure 3. Number of installations of small-scale systems

Source: Renewable Energy Target Review – Final Report, Climate Change Authority, December 2012

From 2003 to 2012 many parts of Australia experienced a severe drought with various degrees of water usage restrictions imposed. While the drought did not explicitly alter the market for hot water appliances, a stronger focus on water efficiency emerged. Through general consumer action, construction requirements, and other government initiatives lower levels of demand may now impact the average hot water appliance. There has also been new areas of consumer concern in purchasing water heaters – such as an interest in the amount of water an 'instantaneous' water heater may supply before providing peak hot water temperature.

There are many factors that led to the above changes in consumer behaviors such as changing electricity tariffs, solar 'feed-in' prices, government subsidies, and decreases in solar PV costs. This is a good example of how different elements can rapidly change the market in a short period of time. This makes the need for efficient government intervention critical to achieving desired policy outcomes.

#### **Limitations to Current Government Interventions**

The Australian hot water market is currently subject to a number of energy usage or energy efficiency related interventions. The most significant include:

- 1. Subsidies for solar and heat pump water heaters based on potential energy displacement
- 2. Electric storage water heaters maximum tank heat loss limits
- 3. Gas water heaters an industry managed label as well as government managed maximum annual gas consumption levels
- 4. Government mandated installation codes specifying minimum 'star ratings' for gas water heaters and minimum energy displacement levels for solar and heat pump water heaters
- 5. An economy wide carbon price scheme which assists in internalizing economic externalities associated with the CO<sub>2</sub>-e emissions For water heaters the impact of the carbon price is largely through increased electricity or gas prices, although the carbon intensity of such inputs vary across the nation.

While assessing the level of success of the above interventions is outside the scope of this paper, some broad observation about the limitations of the above policies can be noted.

## Subsidies

In relation to subsidy-based programs Australia is facing challenging fiscal circumstances. While rebates can be effective in influencing consumer purchasing decisions, maintaining rebates of sufficient magnitude, scope, and duration to permanently shift the market is expensive. Additionally, there is the potential for disruptions to industry when such programs commence or cease. While carefully targeted programs can deliver strong net-benefits, it is unlikely that the more broad and persistent market failures can be solved by subsidy programs alone.

## Minimum Energy Performance Regulation

Regulatory intervention in the form of minimum energy performance metrics can be justified where it provides an economic net-benefit. Australia, like many OECD nations, has a robust regulation impact assessment (RIA) framework that ensures all interventions are well designed and model the national net-cost. As part of the RIA framework, appliance energy efficiency interventions typically require three significant technical reports produced over a series of years to ensure that an appliance under investigation is suitable for regulatory intervention, to ensure that stakeholders have multiple opportunities to provide feedback and the eventual decision makers can be provided a range of reform options. Even if this process results in an agreed upon regulatory option, implementing the decision through changes to national Standards as well as providing sufficient notification time can take years.

Performance metrics can be a powerful tool in improving appliances and aid in mitigation of problems. However, the regulatory process is both time and resource intensive and as such is poorly suited to take advantage of rapid changes in technology or consumer preference. Such regulation can help address split-incentive issues but ultimately has little effect on market information failures.

#### Installation Requirements

Installation requirements are an effective tool for minimising split-incentives by effectively banning the worst performing products. However, installation requirements often require an established and suitable metric upon which to base the aforementioned requirements. Where ideal benchmarks do not exist, installation codes can be based on 'proxy' requirements. For example, in the energy efficiency sections of the National Construction Code for residential buildings, requirements for solar water heaters and heat pump water heaters are based on energy displacement metrics, not energy efficiency metrics. While the energy displacement metrics may improve the overall outcome, issues such as oversizing can result.

## Increasing the Responsiveness of Government Intervention

Each key water heating technology will still be subject to an investigation of minimum level of acceptable energy efficiency along with possible additional requirements to ensure that the products are fit-for-purpose. However, as such interventions need to proceed cautiously through a comprehensive RIA process while issues facing consumers constantly evolve, reliance on such defined government 'push' policies may not provide optimal outcomes.

Labelling initiatives that provide customers with simple and easy-to-understand information are key to overcoming current market failures. Educating customers will not only address current information failures, but an information-based 'pull' approach will also immediately capture new products. If a particular technology offers the best outcome, the market will be able to quickly shift to that specific appliance type. This will place a higher onus on all manufacturers and importers to ensure that their products are competitive in regards to both cost and energy efficiency. An information-based approach may also provide manufactures with a higher level of certainty as well as reducing overhead government costs. An example of such a consumer information initiative is the climatic hot water labelling framework currently being pursued in the EU<sup>1</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> http://www.eceee.org/Eco\_design/products/water\_heaters/

## Conclusion

Given the increasing focus on the price of energy and cost-of-living, government interventions into the Australian hot water market can offer significant net-benefits. Government policies need to address current market failures in the form of split incentives and informational failures in order to optimise efficiency. While government 'push' policies such as rebates and minimum energy performance standards play a very important role in achieving policy goals, such tools may not be able to keep pace with the rapid level of change occurring in the water heating market. Information-based 'pull' policies can promote new energy-efficient products, provide manufactures with greater certainty, and reduce costs for governments.

## References

- [1] Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) 2011. Environmental Issues: Energy Use and Conservation, Table 8, 4602.0.55.001.
- [2] Regulation Impact Statement: For Decision, Phasing out greenhouse-intensive water heaters in Australian homes, National Framework for Energy Efficiency, 15 November 2010.
- [3] Australian Bureau of Resources and Energy Economics. 2012. Energy in Australia 2012.
- [4] Energy White paper 2012, Australia's energy transformation, Department of Resources, Energy and Tourism.
- [5] Artcraft Research (2006) Appliance performance labelling in Australia and New Zealand: Final report on a major quantitative study among consumers and retailers on the labelling of household appliances, for E3 Committee, August 2006.
- [6] BIS Shrapnel (2012) The Household Appliances Market in Australia 2012: Volume 4: Hot Water Systems, BIS Shrapnel, September 2012.
- [7] Australian Select Committee on Electricity Prices. November 2012. Reducing Energy Bills and Improving Efficiency'.

## Avoiding 100 New Power Plants by Increasing Efficiency of Room Air Conditioners in India: Opportunities and Challenges

Dr. Amol Phadke, Dr. Nikit Abhyankar, and Dr. Nihar Shah

## Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, Berkeley, USA

## Abstract

Electricity demand for room ACs is growing very rapidly in emerging economies such as India. We estimate the electricity demand from room ACs in 2030 in India considering factors such as weather and income growth using market data on penetration of ACs in different income classes and climatic regions. We discuss the status of the current standards, labels, and incentive programs to improve the efficiency of room ACs in these markets and assess the potential for further large improvements in efficiency and find that efficiency can be improved by over 40% cost effectively. The total potential energy savings from Room AC efficiency improvement in India using the best available technology will reach over 118 TWh in 2030; potential peak demand saving is found to be 60 GW by 2030. This is equivalent to avoiding 120 new coal fired power plants of 500 MW each. We discuss policy options to complement, expand and improve the ongoing programs to capture this large potential.

## 1 Introduction

Room air conditioner (AC) demand is growing rapidly at rate of 20% on average per year over the last ten years and is likely to be a major contributor to the need for new power plants in India. In 2010, the room AC saturation amongst urban households was only 3% compared to 100% in China ([1], [2], [3]). With rising incomes and urbanization, falling AC prices, and a hot climate, it is expected that the AC ownership is going to rapidly increase in India. Based on the projections in [4], the authors have estimated the electricity demand from ACs to increase to 239 TWh/yr by 2030, which translates to a peak demand contribution of about 143 GW. Meeting this demand requires construction of nearly 300 new coal fired power plants of 500 MW each. We show in this paper that the efforts to accelerate the adoption of efficient ACs can lead to reduction of the AC demand by more than 40% cost effectively; this translates to avoiding building more than 100 new power plants. Since most of the AC stock in India is yet to be purchased, the demand could be reduced at lower costs if the actions are taken now compared to actions taken after most of the stock is installed.

Limited technical and economic analysis exists on options to improve the efficiency of room ACs in India, the cost effectiveness of these options, and the total saving potential. In this paper, we undertake a detailed engineering-economic assessment of the efficiency potential of room ACs in India and verify some of our findings using efficiency and prices observed in the market.

In section 2, we summarize the current status of the room AC efficiency and related policies in India, and compare them to other countries and regions. We show the engineering options to improve the efficiency of room ACs and the costs of these options in India, and estimate the cost of saving electricity by implementing these options in section 3. In section 4, we present the correlation of air conditioner ownership with income and weather, and estimate the electricity demand from room ACs in 2020 and 2030. In section 5, we estimate the total electricity and peak demand saving potential by improving the efficiency of room ACs. In section 6, we conclude the analysis by providing insights for policies and programs to accelerate the penetration of efficient ACs and realize the electricity savings.

## 2 Current status of room AC efficiency and related policies

## 2.1 Status of the room AC market

AC market in India is dominated by room ACs, which make up nearly 99% of the annual sales [5]. The room AC market in India has seen a rapid growth in the last several years as shown in the following chart. Since 2004, except the small drop in 2011, room AC sales have grown at an average annual growth rate of 17%.



## Figure 1: Sales of Room ACs (split and window units) in India

## (Data Source: [6])

The Room AC market is increasingly dominated by split ACs (split-packaged non-ducted units). In the financial year 2011-12, split units accounted for 75% of the total room AC sales, while the window units (single packaged non-ducted) accounted for the remaining 25% [6].<sup>1</sup> Rooms ACs are primarily used in the residential, and small and medium commercial sector. According to [5], about 80% of the window units and 50% of the split units are sold in the residential market; moreover, the current market trends indicate that share of the residential sector is increasing faster than that of the commercial sector [7].

## 2.2 Status of efficiency and related policies

Since 2006, the Bureau of Energy Efficiency (BEE), a nodal agency for implementing energy efficiency policies in India, has initiated a standards and labeling (S&L) program for different electrical appliances. The energy efficiency labels in India are given in the form a star rating - from one-star to five-star; five-star being the most efficient. The labeling program has been made mandatory for all room ACs sold in India since 2012. This implies that any room AC must earn at least the one-star label before it could be marketed in the Indian market. Therefore, the efficiency level for one-star label serves as the de facto Minimum Energy Performance Standard (MEPS). The following chart shows the current and future ranges of the energy efficiency ratios (EER) for different star ratings in India.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Indian financial year starts in April and ends in March. For example, financial year 2011-12 started in April 2011 and ended in March 2012.



## Figure 2: Current and Future Schedule of energy efficiency labels for Room ACs (split units) in India

(Data Source: [8])

It can be seen from the chart that the current MEPS for split ACs in India is an EER of 2.5, which is scheduled to increase to 2.7 by January 2014. Similarly, all ACs with EER of 3.3 and above are currently labeled as 5-star, which is scheduled to increase 3.5 by January 2014.

MEPS and maximum efficiency labels of the Indian room ACs, however, are significantly lower than that compared with other countries as shown in the following table.

For countries which implement product specific MEPS (all countries shown in the table except Japan and South Africa), the minimum EER is influenced by MEPS whereas the average and the maximum EER depend on several factors such as market conditions, energy efficiency policies etc. Compared to several countries, MEPS in India is less stringent. For example, in China, the MEPS is 16 % more stringent than India; the average EER of the Indian room AC market is comparable with the products with lowest energy efficiency rating in China.

	EER (W/W)		
Country	Min	Max	Average
Australia	2.67	4.88	3.16
Brazil	2.92	4.04	3.19
Canada	2.14	4.33	3.6
China	2.9	6.14	3.23
EU	2.21	5.55	3.22
India	2.5	3.8	2.9
Japan	2.37	6.67	4.1
Korea	3.05	5.73	3.78
Mexico	2.42	4.1	2.92
Russia	2.5	3.6	2.79
South Africa	2.28	5	2.91
UAE	2.14	3.22	2.69
USA	-	4.6	3.04

Table 1: Minimum, Maximum and Average EER (W/W) in the room AC market (split units) in different countries (illustrative)<sup>2</sup>

(Data Source: [9], [10])

We understand that the EER values are not directly comparable across different countries because of the minor differences in the test procedures followed in each country. Moreover, comparison of the MEPS and market average EERs between different countries offer few insights for improving energy efficiency policies and programs. This is primarily because of the differences in the weather conditions, usage patterns, electricity rates, and discount rates across countries. These factors influence the efficiency of the air conditioners in the market as well as the level of MEPS. Therefore, in this paper, we assess the cost-benefit of improving efficiency of room ACs only in the Indian context.

# 3 Techno-economic analysis of efficiency improvement options for Room ACs in India

In this section, we first summarize the efficiency improvement options considered, the amount of efficiency gains, and estimate the corresponding incremental costs. We then estimate the cost of conserved electricity (CCE) for each of these options, and then compare it to the cost of supply from several perspectives to provide insights into the cost effective efficiency improvement levels.

## 3.1 Various options to improve the efficiency of the room ACs

Following on from [9], we present a list of design options that can improve the efficiency of room air conditioners and estimate the incremental cost of such options. In this paper, we have considered only such design options that can be directly applied within the standard room air conditioner technologies currently on the market; these options will show energy savings under the existing product energy performance test procedures and they can be integrated into current products (i.e. do not imply changing the basic product configurations). The following room air conditioner features were considered for design improvements, namely: compressor efficiency, compressor control, heat exchanger performance, expansion valves, crankcase heaters and controls, and standby power use [9]. For each design option, there are up to five levels of efficiency improvement. The following table summarizes these options, levels of efficiency improvement, possible efficiency improvement over the base case and incremental manufacturing cost.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This data should be treated as illustrative as no overlapping datasets were available to cross-check these data points. [9], [10].

 Table 2: Summary of the efficiency improvement options and incremental manufacturing cost

	Base Case (Market Average)	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5
Option 1: Compressor Efficiency (Increase compressor efficiency)	Base case compressor	<b>6.5%</b> improvement at Rs 1,310	<b>12.3%</b> improvement at Rs 4,138	<b>18.7%</b> improvement at Rs 12,270		
Option 2: Compressor Control (Variable speed drives)	Single- speed compressor control	<b>20%</b> improvement at Rs 4138	<b>20.7%</b> improvement at Rs 8067	<b>24.8%</b> improvement at Rs 11996		
Option 3: Heat Exchanger (Increase exchanger efficiency)	Base case heat exchanger	<b>9.1%</b> improvement at Rs 3391	<b>16%</b> improvement at Rs 7271	<b>21.3%</b> improvement at Rs 11122	<b>24.8%</b> improvement at Rs 14948	<b>28.6%</b> improvement at Rs 18753
Option 4: Expansion Valve (Use thermostatic or electrostatic valves)	No expansion valve control	<b>5%</b> improvement at Rs 728	<b>8.8%</b> improvement at Rs 2038			
Option 5: Crankcase heater efficiency and crankcase heater control (increase efficiency & reduce heating period)	Base case crankcase heating and control	<b>9.8%</b> improvement at Rs 1048	<b>10.7%</b> Improvement at no incremental manufacturing cost.			
Option 6: Standby (Reduce standby load)	Base case standby loads	<b>2.2%</b> improvement at Rs 786				

(Source:[9]

Note: 1. EER for the base case air conditioning unit is taken as the market average EER.

2. All the efficiency improvement numbers are relative to the base case.

3. Design options 2, 4 and 5 require a seasonal metric to show savings and will not show savings under EER metric even though annual energy consumption may be lower, due to savings during operation at partial load.)

The efficiency gains associated with these options depend on the seasonal load characteristics assumed and hence depend on the climate and usage factors. In India, a room air conditioner is assumed to run for about 8 hours every day for 6 months in a year i.e. 1440 hours/year. This assumption is in agreement with multiple other sources such as [10], [11], [12], [13].

Table 2 shows the incremental manufacturing cost for each design option. However, the final price that the customers pay (which we term as the installed cost) includes the manufacturer's selling price, installer margin and tax. To arrive at the installed cost for each design option, we have used a set of multipliers developed in [9], which represent the mark up from the original manufacturer's cost.

The following chart shows the total manufacturing cost and total installed cost against the EER for each design option. The chart also shows the actual retail price in the Indian market for a few room AC units selected randomly against their EERs. The retail price data was taken from <u>www.compareindia.com</u>.



## Figure 3: Total Manufacturing Cost, Installed Cost and Actual Retail price for a range of EERs

(Data Source: [9], [14])

## 3.3 Cost-Effectiveness of Efficiency Improvement

## 3.3.1 Cost of Conserved Electricity

In this analysis, the cost effectiveness of efficiency improvement options and the corresponding savings potential is assessed by comparing the cost of conserved electricity (CCE) for these options with the cost of electricity. CCE is estimated by dividing the incremental cost of the design change by the incremental energy saving due to the efficiency gain.

$$CCE = \frac{Annualized incremental cost of efficient AC}{Annual electricity saved by efficient AC}$$

CCE, therefore, could be readily compared against the consumer tariff or the marginal cost of supplying electricity. If the CCE is lower than the consumer tariff, it will be cost-effective for consumers to invest in the efficient AC. Similarly, if the CCE is lower than the long run marginal cost of electricity, investing in a market transformation program would be cost-effective relative to building new power plants.

In this analysis, we have estimated two types of CCE: cost to the manufacturer of conserved electricity,  $CCE_m$  and cost to the consumer of conserved electricity,  $CCE_c$ .  $CCE_m$  uses the incremental manufacturing cost, while  $CCE_c$  uses the incremental installed cost of the higher efficiency models. Naturally,  $CCE_m$  is lower than  $CCE_c$  because it does not include the distributor markups and installation costs. Therefore,  $CCE_m$  can be used to measure the cost-effectiveness of a market transformation program such as an upstream incentive program, while  $CCE_c$  would be used to measure the cost effectiveness of a standards program or a downstream incentive program targeting the consumer [9].

We understand that the seasonal energy efficiency ratio (SEER) provides a fuller picture of the energy efficiency of a room AC, since it captures AC operation at partial loads. However, in India, MEPS and labels are prescribed using EER; therefore, in this paper, we have chosen to use EER as the efficiency. If SEER metric is used, potential energy savings could be higher by nearly 20%, if part load conditions are prevalent often [9]. For more discussion on EER and SEER, refer to [9].

## 3.3.2 Electricity costs and consumer tariffs in India

Consumer tariffs in India include government subsidies and cross subsidies among consumer classes. However, under the current power sector reforms, there is a strong push for tariff rationalization and reduction of the amount of such cross-subsidy. The domestic fuel sector in India (mainly coal and gas) is severely constrained. Therefore, most of the marginal generation capacity addition is coming in the form of imported coal or imported LNG. Imported coal prices have been increasing in the world market and are significantly above the domestic coal prices in India. The following table shows the average consumer tariffs and the long run marginal costs of electricity supply (including the transmission and distribution costs).

## Table 3: Consumer Tariffs and Long Run Marginal Cost of Power Supply

Consumer Tariffs	
Average residential tariff (Rs/kWh)	4.5
Average commercial tariff (Rs/kWh)	6.0
Long Run Marginal Cost of Electricity Supply	
Cost of generation – imported coal (Rs/kWh)	3.5
Transmission and distribution loss %	15%
Transmission and distribution cost (Rs/kWh)	1
Long Run Delivered cost of electricity supply (Rs/kWh)	5.12

Note: The cost numbers shown here are the 2013 values and do not account for discount rates.

(Data Source: Authors' calculations)

## 3.3.3 Cost-Effective Electricity Saving Potential

The following chart shows the cost of conserved electricity from consumers' perspective ( $CCE_c$ ) against the EERs of all the design options discussed in the earlier sections. It also shows the average consumer electricity tariff for residential consumers and the long run marginal cost of electricity supply. As shown in the chart, CCE is lower than the consumer tariff up to an EER of nearly 4.21; this implies that from consumers' perspective, achieving an efficiency gain up to an EER of 4.21 is cost-effective i.e. consumers would be better off if they bought an AC with EER of up to 4.21. This makes a strong case for setting the MEPS at the cost-effective EER from consumers' perspective. From the utility's perspective, the long run marginal cost of power supply is higher than the CCE up to an EER of about 4.7; this implies that the utility would find it cost effective to offer a downstream incentive (like a consumer rebate) than investing in a new power plant.



Figure 4: Cost of Conserved Electricity and Cost-effective energy saving Potential

# 4 Current and future electricity demand from Room ACs and energy and peak power saving potential

In this section, we estimate the current AC stock in India and project the future demand for air conditioners in India and their contribution to total electricity consumption and peak demand.

#### 4.1 Future Demand for Air Conditioners

Ceiling fan is the most common household and commercial appliance used for space cooling in India. However, the saturation level of ceiling fans in urban households is more than 90% [1]. The demand for other space cooling appliances like air coolers and air conditioners has been increasing rapidly, as shown in the subsequent sections of this paper.

#### 4.1.1 Current Stock of Air Conditioners in India

Unfortunately, national level electric load survey is not conducted in India. The national sample survey, conducted by the ministry of program implementation and statistics of the federal government of India, does collect information on household appliances; but it reports air coolers and air conditioners together. The following chart shows the total saturation of air conditioners and air coolers in the urban Indian households over the last ten years by expenditure class.



# Figure 5: Saturation of air conditioners and air coolers in urban Indian households by expenditure decile

(Data Source: [1], [2], [15])

There are two important observations that can be made from these charts, namely: (a) ownership of air coolers and air conditioners has increased significantly across all income classes. On average, the penetration of air coolers and air conditioners has doubled between 2000 and 2010. The increase in ownership in the top 2 income deciles is even more striking. (b) There is a non-linear relationship between incomes and the ownership of air coolers and air conditioners. The appliance ownership in the highest expenditure decile is significantly higher than that in the lower deciles.

In major cities like Delhi, where the temperatures and incomes are higher than the national average, the air cooler and air conditioning appliance penetration is significantly higher. Note that, on average, air conditioners account for about 15% of the total air cooler and air conditioner saturation. However, in the higher expenditure brackets and in urban areas with higher average incomes like Delhi, the share of air conditioners is as high as 30-60% [2], [16]. This implies that, on average, the saturation of room ACs in the urban Indian households in 2010 was about 3.1% (15% of the air cooler and air conditioner ownership). While average household incomes have risen significantly over the last decade, prices of electrical appliances have dropped in real terms. Most of the major Indian cities are populous and have very high number of cooling degree days compared to other cities in the world.

In short, Indian cities have significantly high cooling requirement; the AC and air cooler ownership in India shows a strong correlation with urbanization and income, and there is a non-linear relationship between income and AC ownership. Moreover, a few media reports have indicated that the share of air coolers in the Indian market is slowly being taken over by air conditioners. With rising incomes and falling prices, room AC penetration is expected to increase rapidly in India.

## 4.2 **Projecting the Future Room AC Stock**

The example of China is illuminating for understanding the rapid growth in household appliance ownership as a result of rising incomes and urbanization. The saturation of air conditioners in urban China went from nearly zero in 1992 to about 100% by 2007 i.e. within a span of 15 years [3]. Because of the factors mentioned in the previous section, we believe that the AC ownership in India is may witness a similar growth. In this paper, we have estimated the future AC stock based on [4]. The future stock is estimated by dividing the electricity saving projected in [4] by unit energy consumption of the efficient AC. The stock projections are shown in the following table.

### Table 4: Room AC Consumption and Stock in 2020 and 2030

	2010	2020	2030
Total Electricity Consumption by room ACs for Business as Usual (BAU) (TWh/yr)	8	77	239
Total stock of room ACs (millions)	4	37	116
Room AC penetration in urban areas (total stock as % of urban households)	3%	22%	47%

(Data source: [1], [4], authors' calculations )

As shown in the table, we estimate that about 22% of the urban households will own a room air conditioner by 2020 and about 47% would own a room air conditioner by 2030. Given the projected incomes and urbanization in India, we believe that these are fairly conservative estimates of the future AC stock.

### 4.3 Contribution of ACs to the Peak Electricity Demand

In this section, we describe the usage pattern of the space cooling load in India and assess the impact of high penetration of room ACs on peak demand.

Several load surveys in India have found that the space cooling demand in India is highly coincident within a sector and also with the peak demand [11], [13], [16], [17]. Based on these surveys, the following observations could be made: (a) If a household or a commercial establishment owns an AC, its contribution to the peak demand is significant, (b) Residential and commercial space cooling demand has a significant seasonal correlation, (c) diurnally, residential AC demand peaks at night and commercial AC demand peaks in the afternoon. But during the afternoon, there are a few hours where residential and commercial demands coincide, and (d) space cooling is the only end-use that shows significant seasonal variation.

The following charts show the hourly system demand curves on average summer and winter days in two major Indian cities: Mumbai and Delhi. More than 75% of the load in these cities is residential and commercial; moreover, these cities have a modest level of AC penetration in the residential and commercial sector. Therefore, the system level data essentially represents the pattern in which these two consumer types use the electricity.



(a) Mumbai

(b) Delhi

Figure 6: Average Hourly Demands in Summer and Winter in Mumbai and Delhi

(Data Source: [18], [19])

Both Mumbai and Delhi systems are afternoon peaking in the summer; coincidence of the residential and commercial space cooling demand in the afternoon causes the system demands to peak in summer afternoons. Since space cooling is responsible for the seasonal variation in electricity demand in both sectors, the peak demand in winter drops by nearly 40% and 25% respectively in Mumbai and Delhi.

## 4.4 Coincidence of the space cooling demand across regions in India

So far, we have shown that the space cooling demand from residential and commercial sector makes a significant contribution to the peak demand. The following chart shows the hourly heat indices in four large Indian cities located in different geographic regions in the country.



#### (a) May

(b) June

### Figure 7: Average Hourly Heat Indices of Major Indian Cities in May and June

#### (Data Source: [20])

It can be seen that the average heat index pattern during the summer months in India is very similar across geographic regions in India. There would be some daily variation due to local conditions, but in general, the space cooling demand may have a high peak coincidence across geographic regions.

### 4.5 Estimation of the Peak Demand from room ACs

Because of the reasons mentioned in the previous section, we have assumed a peak coincidence factor of 0.7 for the room ACs in India. The demand for space cooling would peak during summer afternoons. The following table shows our estimates of the peak demand contribution from room ACs.

#### Table 5: Projected Peak Demand from room ACs

	2010	2020	2030
Total stock of room ACs (millions)	4	37	116
BAU Electrical load per AC (W)	1500	1500	1500
Peak Coincidence factor	0.7	0.7	0.7
T & D Loss	15%	15%	15%
Peak demand contribution from room ACs (GW)	5	46	143

Note that because of the daily variations in heat indices, the actual peak coincidence and therefore the peak demand contribution from ACs may be more or less than what we have estimated. More work is needed to account for such variations possibly by introducing random variables while estimating the daily peak demands.

## 5 Saving Potential

## 5.1 Energy Saving Potential

Based on the efficiency improvement design options discussed in the previous sections, the total technical potential for saving electricity by improving efficiency of the room ACs in India is found to be 118 TWh at bus-bar in 2030. The efficiency supply curve is shown in the following chart:



Figure 8: Efficiency Supply Curve in 2030 for Room ACs in India

The cost-effective saving potential from consumers' perspective is 62 TWh at bus-bar while the costeffective saving potential from the utility perspective is found to be 109 TWh at bus-bar in 2030.

### 5.2 Peak Saving Potential

The following chart shows the peak demand from room ACs in 2020 and 2030. The chart also shows the peak saving potential in the form of wedges; each wedge refers to an efficiency improvement design option presented in section 3.1.





By 2030, enhancing the AC efficiency can save nearly 60 GW of peak demand at bus-bar. This is equivalent to saving nearly 120 power plants of 500 MW each. Note that power system has to be planned for meeting the total energy as well as peak demand. High seasonal or diurnal variation in demand makes inefficient use of the generation and transmission assets and therefore increases the total cost of system operation. Reduction in the peak demand lowers the power system investment and also improves the capacity factor of the existing power plants.

## 6 Conclusions

In this paper, we have showed the design options and estimated the incremental cost for enhancing efficiency of room air conditioners in India. Electricity consumption by room ACs is expected to increase from 8 TWh in 2010 to 239 TWh by 2030. Such growth would have significant impact on the Indian power sector and would require unprecedented construction of new power plants. We find that 40% of the energy consumed by room ACs could be saved cost-effectively by enhancing their efficiency. This translates to a potential energy saving of 118 TWh at bus-bar or a peak demand saving of 60 GW by

2030. This potential saving is equivalent to avoiding the construction of 120 new coal-fired power plants of 500 MW each. In order to realize this large cost-effective potential, a coordinated approach of market push (standards) and market pull (awards, labels, and incentives) is needed. Indian MEPS is one of the lowest in the world; therefore, the standards and labeling program in India need to be revised significantly. Given that the AC demand reduction is cost-effective from consumer as well as utility perspective, ratepayer funds can be used to undertake incentive programs. Such funds for ACs can be collected from high electricity consumption customers to ensure equity. Because the space cooling demand in India is temporally coincident across regions, the contribution of room ACs to the peak demand would be significant. Therefore, standards for making the room ACs demand response ready are recommended. It is also important to pursue efforts such as improved building design and cool rooms to reduce or postpone the AC demand. More research and analysis is required for assessing the use of climate specific space cooling technologies like modified evaporative ACs designed specifically for humid climates. For estimating the peak demand contribution and saving from ACs more accurately, daily and hourly variations in the space cooling demand (i.e. heat indices) should be considered. Therefore, an important future work emerging out of this analysis is developing a methodology for estimating the impact of space cooling demand on the power system more accurately. This analysis could be performed by introducing a random variable for local weather changes, and elementary load-flow analysis.

## References

- [1] NSSO, "Household Consumption of Various Goods and Services in India (2009-2010)," National Sample Survey Organization, Ministry of Statistics and Program Implementation, Government of India, Feb. 2012.
- [2] NSSO, "Household Consumption of Various Goods and Services in India, 2004-05," National Sample Survey Organization, Ministry of Statistics and Program Implementation, Government of India, Apr. 2007.
- [3] N. Zhou, N. Zheng, J. Romankiewicz, and D. Fridley, "LBNL China Group Cooperation on Energy Efficiency in China: Standards and Labeling," Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, 2012.
- [4] V. Letschert, L.-B. Desroches, J. Ke, and M. McNeil, "Estimate of Technical Potential for Minimum Efficiency Performance Standards in 13 Major World Economies," Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, Jul. 2012.
- [5] E. Caliò, "Splits Systems India: A multi client study," BSRIA, Mar. 2011.
- [6] PWC, "Analysis of the impact of super efficiency on AC manufacturers/ suppliers in India," PriceWaterhouseCoopers India, Jun. 2012.
- [7] A. Chunekar, K. Kadav, D. Singh, and G. Sant, "Potential Savings from Selected Super-Efficient Electric Appliances in India," Prayas Energy Group, Pune (India), Jun. 2011.
- [8] MoP, "Energy Consumption Standards for Star Labeled room Air Conditioners." Ministry of Power (Government of India), Jan-2012.
- [9] N. Shah, P. Waide, and A. Phadke, "Cooling the Planet: Opportunities for Deployment of Superefficient Room Air Conditioners," Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, 2013, LBNL 6164E.
- [10] BEE, "Verified Energy Savings Related with the Activities of 'Bureau of Energy Efficiency' for the year 2009-10," Bureau of Energy Efficiency, Government of India, Sep. 2010.
- [11] N. Abhyankar and A. Phadke, "Impact of large-scale energy efficiency programs on utility finances and consumer tariffs in India," *Energy Policy*, vol. 43, pp. 308–326, Apr. 2012.
- [12] BEE, "Verified Energy Savings Related with the Activities of 'Bureau of Energy Efficiency' for the year 2008-09," Bureau of Energy Efficiency, Government of India, Jul. 2009.
- [13] A. Garg, J. Maheshwari, and J. Upadhyay, "Load research for residential and commercial establishments in Gujarat," Energy Conservation and Commercialization (ECO III), Bureau of Energy Efficiency (BEE), Indian Institute of Management Ahmedabad, Mar. 2010.
- [14] CompareIndia, "Survey of air conditioners in the Indian market." Mar-2013.
- [15] NSSO, "Consumption of some important commodities in India (1999-2000)," National Sample Survey Organization, Ministry of Statistics and Program Implementation, Government of India, Jul. 2001.
- [16] NDPL, "Load research survey," North Delhi Power Limited, 2011.
- [17] N. Abhyankar, "Load Survey of Residential and Commercial Consumers in Maharashtra," Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory (forthcoming), 2011.

- [18] MSLDC, "Hourly Demand Data from the State Load Dispatch Center." Maharashtra State Load Dispatch Center, 2012.
- [19] DSLDC, "Hourly Demand Data from the State Load Dispatch Center." Delhi State Load Dispatch Center, 2012.
- [20] ASHRAE, "International Weather for Energy Calculaions (Database)," American Society of Heating, Refrigerating and Air-Conditioning Engineers, 2012.

## TRANFORMING A RESIDENTIAL APPLIANCE MARKET

## K H. Tiedemann and I. Sulyma

## BC Hydro

## Abstract

This report provides an evaluation of the impacts of the Energy Star Appliance Rebate Program in British Columbia, Canada. BC Hydro's Energy Star Appliance Rebate program is a multi-year energy acquisition and market transformation initiative that encourages its customers to purchase energy-efficient Energy Star appliances. The program objectives are to: (1) significantly impact market penetration of Energy Star appliances to increase market share and energy savings, and (2) drive future enhancements to energy efficiency legislation for household appliances. The purpose of this study is to conduct a process, impact and market evaluation of BC Hydro's Energy Star Appliance Rebate program.

## Introduction

This report provides an evaluation of the impacts and effects of the Energy Star Appliance Rebate Program. BC Hydro's Energy Star Appliance Rebate program is a multi-year energy acquisition and market transformation initiative that encourages its customers to purchase energy-efficient Energy Star appliances. The program objectives are to: (1) significantly impact market penetration of Energy Star appliances to increase market share and energy savings, and (2) drive future enhancements to energy efficiency legislation for household appliances. The purpose of this study is to conduct a process, impact and market evaluation of BC Hydro's Energy Star Appliance Rebate program.

The Environmental Protection Agency introduced the Energy Star program as a voluntary initiative in 1992 (Brown, et al. 2000). The purpose of the program was to identify and promote energy-efficient products with the goal of reducing carbon dioxide emissions. The program began with computers, computer monitors and printers in 1992. Subsequent additions included: fax machines, copiers, residential heating and cooling equipment, thermostats, new homes, commercial buildings and exit signs in 1995; refrigerators, room air conditioners, clothes washers and dishwashers in 1996; windows in 1998; and screw-in CFLs in 1999. From January 2008 to May 2010, the BC Hydro Appliances Rebate Program provided rebates on Energy Star labelled clothes washers, refrigerators and freezers.

## **Literature Review**

Market transformation programs create new challenges and opportunities for program evaluation. On the one hand, traditional evaluation techniques such as use of pre/post comparisons with treatment and control/comparison groups may not be possible if the treatment group is potentially the whole population. On the other hand, econometric techniques, such as the interrupted time-series model, can potentially deal with confounding market effects including free riders and spillover in a comprehensive and credible manner. The program evaluation literature on appliance markets includes both econometric and non-econometric studies. In this brief review, some of the peer-reviewed literature on market transformation in the residential sector is summarized.

The econometric studies use information on sales and drivers of sales to estimate the impact of program interventions on sales of energy-efficient products. Duke and Kammen (1999) found that accounting for the interaction between the demand response and production response for electronic ballasts increases the consumer benefit-cost ratio. Habart et al. (2004) found a significant impact of Energy Star promotion on sales of qualifying refrigerators and clothes washers. Horowitz (2001) found that coordinated national electronic ballast programs were more cost effective than local efforts. Horowitz and Haeri (1990) found that the cost of energy efficiency investments was fully capitalized in housing prices and that purchasing an energy-efficient house was cost effective. Jaffe and Stavins

(1995) found that insulation levels in new residential housing appropriately reflect energy prices. Tiedemann (2004) found that the China Green Lights program, which was closely modeled on the U.S. program, had statistically significant positive impacts on sales of more efficient lighting products and negative impacts on sales of less efficient lighting products. Tiedemann (2007) found that increases in energy prices and energy efficiency activities launched in the wake of the 2001 California energy crisis led to increased sales of Energy Star appliances. One reviewer commented that the following factors were important during the California energy crisis: they saw a four-fold increase in EE PGC-funds; were in the news all the time; there was a "panic" and rebates that were too juicy to pass by. Retailers sought to differentiate themselves by stocking more (and one even exclusively) E Star products. It was not just about prices and energy efficiency activities—there were many other reinforcing elements—social pressure, media, and the like that were adding significant impetus.

The non-econometric studies employ a variety of approaches. Nadel et al. (2003) provided a comprehensive overview of market transformation activities in the United States, and they found the beginnings of significant transformation in appliance markets. Titus and Feldman (2003) defined the analytical and data requirements for tracking the effectiveness of energy-efficient appliance programs, and they applied their model to the Wisconsin Focus on Energy's CFL Program and to the Efficiency Vermont's appliance program. Rosenberg (2003) used cross-section state data to estimate the determinants of Energy Star market share for the four major household appliances. Webber, Brown and Koomey (2000) provided a comprehensive set of both historical energy savings and forecast savings due to Energy Star. They explored the magnitude and allocation of Energy Star savings in detail, but they did not examine the determinants of sales. Meyers et al. (2003) estimated historical and forecast impacts of Energy Star sales on energy use and carbon emissions, and they estimated that Energy Star products saved 740 PJ of energy and 13 million tonnes of carbon emissions through 1999. Mauldin et al (2005) examined determinants of prices for Energy Star and non-Energy Star room air conditioners. Vine et al. (2010) developed a comprehensive framework for the evaluation of market effects in California. Their framework included six components: (1) prepare a scoping study: (2) analyze market conditions; (3) analyze market effects; (4) assess attribution; (5) estimate energy savings; and (6) assess sustainability. Using this framework, their study examined market transformation for three California programs, CFLs, residential new construction and high bay lighting.

## Method

For this study, there were five main activities: (1) conduct a program review; (2) undertake a supplyside assessment; (3) undertake a demand-side assessment; (4) review price trends for Energy Starqualifying and non-Energy Star-qualifying appliances; and (5) estimate energy and peak savings.

- **Program Review.** To conduct the program review and develop the program logic model, we reviewed program documents, interviewed BC Hydro program staff, and conducted a literature review focussing on recent studies and reports of residential appliances.
- **Supply-Side Assessment.** To undertake the supply-side assessment, we tabulated and examined relevant results of the annual in-store surveys of appliance stock behaviour in representative samples of retail sales establishments. The surveys have about 40 participants per year.
- **Demand-Side Assessment.** To undertake the demand-side assessment, we tabulated and examined relevant results of the quarterly Energy Star Tracker surveys. The surveys have about 700 participants per quarter.
- **Price Trends.** To review price trends for Energy Star and non-Energy Star appliances, we tabulated and examined relevant results from the annual in-store surveys.
- Energy and Demand Savings. To estimate demand and energy savings, we used the following algorithms:

(1)  $\Delta kW$  = Incremental units\*unit energy savings,

(2)  $\Delta kWh$  = Incremental units\*unit peak savings.

The number of incremental units is based on an econometric model, and the unit energy savings are based on information on models available for sale from the in-store surveys.

## Results

**Program Review.** At the time of program launch in 2008, a market analysis indicated that there were several barriers to market transformation including low awareness of Energy Star appliances among consumers, low availability of Energy Star product in stores, and high prices for Energy Star products. BC Hydro has employed a phased strategy to transform the household appliance market and acquire energy and peak savings. The program has successfully addressed these barriers through four main activities: information and promotions, sales tax exemption, financial incentives and legislative support for more stringent Minimum Energy Performance Standards.

Table 1 provides a program logic model focussing on input, output, purpose and goal statements for each of the four main activities. The program rationale was examined using this program logic model, which was developed from interviews with staff, a documents review and a literature review. This review and analysis confirmed that the basic program logic was valid. There were strong linkages among inputs, outputs, purposes and goal statements. Indicators for key components of the logic model were clear, well defined and measurable.

	Information and promotions	Sales tax exemption	Financial incentives	Legislative support		
Inputs	Develop information and promotional materials	Provincial Sales Tax (7% PST) exemption for Energy Star clothes washers, refrigerators and freezers thru March 31, 2010	\$50 (CAD) incentive for Energy Star fridges and clothes washers and \$25 (CAD) incentive for Energy Star freezers thru March 31, 2010	Technical support for efficient appliance standards development		
Outputs	Customer product awareness increased	First cost of Energy Star appliances reduced	First cost of Energy Star appliances reduced	Legislation and regulations in place		
Purpose	Increased customer intent to purchase Energy Star appliances	Increased consumer purchases of Energy Star appliances	Increased consumer purchases of Energy Star appliances	Prevent backsliding in the residential appliance market		
Goal	Significantly impact market penetration of Energy Star appliances to increase market share and energy savings of 4.9 GWh					
	Drive energy enciency legislation for nousehold appliances					

Tabla 1	BC	Hydro	Enorav	Star	Annlianco	Pohato	Drogram		Model
I able I		пушо	Ellergy	Jiai	Appliance	repate	FIUYIAIII	LUYIC	wouer

**Supply-side Assessment.** In this section, we examine the supply side of the market for refrigerators, freezers and clothes washers. The surveyed retail stores averaged 35 refrigerator units on display. The product shares are as follows: bottom mount - 56%, top-mount - 26%, side by side - 19%. Table 2 shows the Energy Star share for refrigerators by type of store. The Energy Star share increased from 57% in 2009 to 78% in 2010.

## Table 2. Energy Star Share of Refrigerators by Store Type

	Department store	Appliances/ furniture	Other	Total
2009	61%	46%	71%	57%
2010	84%	71%	78%	78%

The surveyed retail stores averaged 8 freezer units on display. The product shares are as follows: chest freezers - 61%; upright freezers - 39%. Table 3 shows the Energy Star share for freezers by type of store. The Energy Star share decreased from 48% in 2009 to 39% in 2010. The reason for this is not clear, but with a small sample size there may be a high level of variability.

## Table 3. Energy Star Share of Freezers by Store Type

	Department store	Appliances/ furniture	Other	Total
2009	53%	25%	73%	48%
2010	43%	15%	60%	39%

The surveyed retail stores averaged 24 clothes washer units on display. The product shares are as follows: front load - 73%; top load - 27%. Table 4 shows the Energy Star share for clothes washers by type of store. The Energy Star share increased from 70% in 2009 to 79% in 2010.

### Table 4. Energy Star Share of Clothes Washers Freezers by Store Type

	Department store	Appliances/ furniture	Other	Total
2009	72%	66%	75%	70%
2010	74%	81%	80%	79%

**Demand-side Assessment.** To determine unaided awareness of Energy Star, respondents were asked "Have you seen or heard of the Energy Star label?" Those who indicated "yes" were viewed as having unaided awareness of the Energy Star label. Those who responded "no" to this first question were asked "Please look at the Energy Star label: have you seen or heard of this label?" Those who responded "yes" were added to the unaided aware to determine aided awareness. Table 5 shows the results for Energy Star awareness for the period 2007:Q4 to 2010:Q2. Unaided awareness has increased substantially over the period surveyed, from 46% in 2007:Q4 to 68% in 2010:Q2. Total awareness has also increased, rising from 72% in 2007:Q4 to 85% in 2010:Q2.

## Table 5. Energy Star Awareness

	Unaided (%) Additional (%)		Total %
2007:Q4	46	26	72
2008:Q1	49	25	74
2008:Q2	50	26	76
2008:Q3	53	20	73
2008:Q4	61	23	74
2009:Q1	62	21	83
2009:Q2	62	19	81
2009:Q3	75	13	88
2009:Q4	70	16	86
2010:Q1	65	24	89
2010:Q2	68	17	85

Respondents who purchased various products over the 12 months before the survey were asked a series of questions about the label and about the product they purchased, but it should be noted that the sample sizes were relatively small, since in any given year, only a small share of customers purchase a new major appliance.

Table 6 shows the results for Energy Star recall for the period 2007:Q4 to 2010:Q2. For all three appliances, the share of Energy Star label recall increased over the period covered by the surveys. Energy Star label recall increased from 51% to 62% for refrigerators, from 45% to 54% for freezers, and from 58% to 65% for clothes washers.

	Refrigerators (%)	Freezers (%)	Clothes Washers (%)	
2007:Q4	51	45	58	
2008:Q1	40	41	41	
2008:Q2	57	56	53	
2008:Q3	56	48	45	
2008:Q4	63	68	56	
2009:Q1	68	58	61	
2009:Q2	55	59	61	
2009:Q3	57	59	66	
2009:Q4	65	61	68	
2010:Q1	66	54	66	
2010:Q2	62	54	65	

## Table 6. Energy Star Label Recall

Respondents who saw the Energy Star label on the products they purchased were asked questions about the importance of the influence of the Energy Star label on their purchase decision. Table 7 shows the results of this enquiry. For all three appliances, the influence of the Energy Star label is quite high, but there is no particular trend in the share of respondents saying that the Energy Star label is very or somewhat important in the purchase decision. In other words, using 2007:Q4 as the baseline period, there is little apparent movement in the share of respondents indicating that the Energy Star label was very or somewhat influential in their choice of product.

	Refrigerators (%)	Freezers (%)	Clothes Washers (%)
2007:Q4	86	90	86
2008:Q1	74	78	75
2008:Q2	81	95	78
2008:Q3	89	100	79
2008:Q4	93	91	83
2009:Q1	90	93	90
2009:Q2	88	86	88
2009:Q3	90	90	90
2009:Q4	86	90	90
2010:Q1	77	67	86
2010:Q2	85	95	80

Table 7	Energy Cler	Influence en	Durahaaa		le e me essile et	
rapie /	Energy Star	infillence on	Purchase	iver	vsomewnat	Infillential
1 4 2 1 2 1 1	Enorgy ora		i ai onaco i		/001110111101	machtar

**Prices.** Appliance price comparisons are complicated because prices are driven by a number of factors including volume, features, materials used as well as whether or not they are Energy Star compliant. Table 8 shows the prices for major appliances by Energy Star status for the 2009 in-store survey. This study suggests that the wedge between Energy Star and non-Energy Star appliances may be substantial, with Energy Star appliances being more expensive than non-Energy Star appliances.

## Table 8. Energy Star and Non-Energy Star Prices, 2009

	Energy Star	Non-Energy Star	All appliances
Clothes washers	\$1250	\$767	\$1105
Refrigerators	\$1586	\$1346	\$1501
Upright freezers	\$831	\$488	\$638
Chest freezers	\$431	\$356	\$395

Table 9 shows the prices for major appliances by Energy Star status for the 2010 in-store survey. This study suggests that the wedge between Energy Star and non-Energy Star appliances may have widened for clothes washers and refrigerators but narrowed substantially for upright freezers and for chest freezers.

#### Table 9. Energy Star and Non-Energy Star Prices, 2010

	Energy Star	Non-Energy Star	All appliances
Clothes washers	\$1266	\$734	\$1149
Refrigerators	\$1646	\$1219	\$1589
Upright freezers	\$635	\$581	\$611
Chest freezers	\$344	\$311	\$331

**Energy and Peak Savings.** The energy and peak savings were estimated in several steps. First, unit energy savings were calculated for each appliance, using the information on the Energy Star labels. Second, the program impact on shipments of Energy Star appliances was estimated using an econometric model. Third, the results of the regression model were used to estimate the program impacts on appliance shipments. Fourth, engineering algorithms were used to estimate energy and peak impacts.

Information on kWh per cubic foot for Energy Star and non-Energy Star appliances and average volumes in cubic feet were obtained from the in-store survey.

Step 1. The following algorithm was used to estimate energy savings per unit for appliance j:

(3) Unit savings<sub>j</sub> = (ES kWh per cu  $ft_j$  – Non-ES kWh per cu  $ft_j$ )\* (Volume in cu  $ft_j$ )\*(1 –cross effects<sub>j</sub>).

The results are shown in Table 10. Unit savings for clothes washers were estimated to be 188.0 kWh per year. Unit savings for refrigerators were estimated to be 55.9 kWh per year. Unit savings for freezers were estimated to be 29.3 kWh per year.

	ES (kWh per cubic ft)	Non-ES (kWh per cubic ft)	Volume (cubic ft)	Cross effects (%)	Savings (kWh per unit)
Clothes washers	48	95	3.9	-	188.0
Refrigerators	23	26	20.3	8.2	55.9
Freezer	39	42	10.0	2.4	29.3

Table 10. Appliance Unit Energy Savings

**Step 2.** The following monthly econometric model for the period January 2003 to March 2010 was used to estimate the impact of the program on monthly appliance shipments:

(4) Ship<sub>m</sub> =  $\alpha$  +  $\beta$ Perm<sub>m</sub> +  $\gamma$ Wage<sub>m</sub> +  $\delta$ PSARP<sub>m</sub> +  $\theta$  Q2<sub>m</sub> +  $\lambda$ Q3<sub>m</sub> +  $\eta$ Q4<sub>m</sub> +  $\epsilon_m$ 

where variables (and their sources) are as follows: Ship is shipments of ES qualifying refrigerators and clothes washers (from the Canadian Appliance Manufacturers Association). Perm is residential
building permits (from BCStats<sup>1</sup>); wage is wage rate (from BCStats); PSARP is dummy variable for presence of program; Q2, Q3 and Q4 are quarterly dummy variables;  $\epsilon$  is an error term; m indexes months.

Results are shown in Table 11. The regression results are good with an adjusted R-squared of 0.66, and all of the coefficients are significant at the 10% level. The key point is that realization on the program variable is 2,355 units per month compared to program incentives of 4,874 for clothes washers and refrigerators for a realization rate of 48.3%. We use this realization rate for freezers too, where we have no monthly shipments data.

Variable	Coefficient	Standard error
Constant	-18686*	9584
PSARP	2355***	824
Wage	28.2**	12.9
Building permits	0.0049***	0.0012
Q2	1045**	501
Q3	1582***	494
Q4	1374***	501
Adjusted R-squared	0.66	

 Table 11. Regression Results for Refrigerators and Clothes Washers

One, two and three asterisks mean that the coefficient is statistically significant at the 10%, 5% or 1% level respectively.

**Step 3.** The following algorithm was used to estimate net units shipped for appliance j:

(5) Net unit<sub>j</sub> = Rebates per month<sub>j</sub>\*Net to gross ratio.

Results are shown in Table 12. As explained above, a common net-to-gross ratio of 0.483 is applied to the average number of rebates per month. The number of units attributable to program activities per month is 1,249 clothes washers, 1,106 refrigerators, and 155 freezers. It should be noted that regression models were also run separately for clothes washers and refrigerators. However, the project team decided to use the results of the pooled regression and apply the results to freezers because of the absence of freezer shipment data.

#### Table 12. Net Units per Month

	Rebates per month	Net to gross ratio	Net units per month
Clothes washers	2584	0.483	1249
Refrigerators	2290	0.483	1106
Freezers	320	0.483	155

Step 4. The following algorithm was used to estimate energy savings for appliance j:

(6) Energy savings<sub>i</sub> = Unit savings<sub>i</sub>\*Change in net number of units<sub>i</sub>.

Results are shown in Table 13. For clothes washers, annual energy savings are 6.1 GWh and annual peak savings are 1.9 MW. For refrigerators, annual energy savings are 1.6 GWh and annual peak savings are 0.5 MW. For freezers, annual energy savings are 0.1 GWh and annual peak savings are 0.04 MW. It should be noted that the current residential appliance metering project will provide more accurate and recent information on peak savings in relation to energy savings.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> <u>http://www.bcstats.gov.bc.ca/Home.aspx</u>

#### Table 3. Energy and Peak Savings

	Savings (kWh per unit)	Change in net number of units	Energy (GWh per year)	Peak (MW per year?)
Clothes washers	188.0	32474	6.11	1.91
Refrigerators	55.9	28756	1.61	0.51
Freezers	29.3	4030	0.12	0.04
Total			7.84	2.49

## Conclusions

**Program Design and Implementation.** The BC Hydro Residential Energy Star Appliance Program achieved considerable success in building product awareness, and purchase behaviour for Energy Star qualifying appliances. Total awareness increased, rising from 72% in 2007:Q4 to 85% in 2010:Q2 and for all three appliances, the share of Energy Star label recall increased over the period covered by the surveys. The program is cost effective (Total Resource Cost greater than 1.0 and Ratepayer Impact Measure greater than 0.8) and has evolved over time in response to changes in market conditions, with the current program focusing on the highest tier of energy efficient appliances.

**Program Energy, Peak and Price Impacts.** Engineering algorithms informed by customer survey data and by the showroom stock study were used to estimate program impacts. Evaluated energy savings were 7.8 GWh compared to business plan forecast energy savings of 11.6 GWh, while evaluated peak savings were 2.5 MW. The price wedge between Energy Star qualifying and non-Energy Star qualifying appliances may be substantial, but it is not clear how much of the price wedge is due to energy-efficient features and how much is due to other factors.

**Evaluation Methods.** Evaluations of residential appliance programs usually rely heavily on self-report information to deal with attribution including the issue of free riders. However, in market transformation programs, the evaluation issues are relatively subtle and may require more sophisticated methods. In this study, econometric modelling of appliance demand has been used to estimate program impacts. This may be a fruitful approach for the future evaluation of residential appliance programs.

## References

- [1] Brown, R., C. Webber and J. Koomey. *Status and Future of the ENERGY STAR Program*. Proceedings of the 2000 ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings, 2000.
- [2] Habart, J., J. Kelley, I. Sulyma and K. Tiedemann. *Impacts of an Energy Star Promotion*. ACEEE 2004 Summer Study, Vol. 2, 2004.
- [3] Horowitz, M. *Economic Indicators of Market Transformation: Energy Efficient Lighting and EPA's Green Lights.* The Energy Journal, Vol. 22, No. 4, 2001.
- [4] Horowitz, M. and Haeri, H. *Economic Efficiency versus Energy Efficiency: Do Model Conservation Standards Make Good Sense?* Energy Economics, Vol. 12, No. 2, 1990.
- [5] Jaffe, A. and Stavins, R. *Dynamic Incentives of Environmental Regulations: The Impact of Alternative Policy Instruments on Technology Diffusion.* Journal of Environmental Economics and Environment, Vol. 29, 1995.

- [6] LBL. Lawrence Berkley Laboratory. *EETD Newsletter*, Summer 2001. Accessed at <u>www.eetdnews.lbl.gov</u>, 2001.
- [7] Mauldin, T., Li, A., Hoefgen, L., Ledyard, T., Tolkin, B. and Feldman, S. Are Retailers Gaming the System? Availability and Pricing of Energy Star Room Air Conditioners. Proceedings of the 2005 International Energy Program Evaluation Conference, Brooklyn, New York, 2005.
- [8] Meyers, S., McMahon, J., McNeil, M. and Liu, X. *Impacts of US Federal Energy Efficiency Standards for Residential Appliances*. Energy 28.
- [9] Nadel, S., Thorne, J., Sach, H., Prindle, B. and Elliott, R. *Market Transformation: Substantial Progress from a Decade of Work.* ACEEE, Washington, D. C., Report No. 036, April 2003.
- [10] Rosenberg, M. The Impact of Regional Programs on the Market Share of Energy Star Appliances. In P. Bertoldi, F. Conti and R. Pagani, ed, Energy Efficiency in Domestic Appliances and Lighting, Softech: Turin, Italy,2003.
- [11] Tiedemann, K. Learning from the Market: Efficient Lighting in China. Data Mining IV, 2004.
- [12] Tiedemann, K. Impact of Energy Prices and Energy Efficiency Activities on Sales of Energy Star Appliances in California. 2007 International Energy Program Evaluation Conference, Chicago, 2007.
- [13] Titus, E. and Feldman, S. Tracking the Effectiveness of Energy-Efficient Appliance Programs in the U.S. In P. Bertoldi, F. Conti and R. Pagani, ed, Energy Efficiency in Domestic Appliances and Lighting, Softech: Turin, Italy, 2003.
- [14] Vine, E., R. Prahl, S. Myers, and I. Turiel. An Approach for Evaluating the Market Effects of Energy Efficiency Programs. Energy Efficiency, Vol. 3, 2010.
- [16] Webber, C., Brown, R. and Koomey, J. Savings Estimates for the ENERGY STAR Voluntary Labelling Program. Energy Policy, Vol. 28, 2000.

## **Costs and Benefits of Energy Efficiency Improvement in Ceiling Fans**

## Nihar Shah, Nakul Sathaye, Amol Phadke and Virginie Letschert

## Energy Analysis Department, Environmental Energy Technologies Division, Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, Berkeley CA USA

## Abstract

Ceiling fans contribute significantly to residential electricity consumption, especially in developing countries with warm climates. The paper provides analysis of costs and benefits of several options to improve the efficiency of ceiling fans to assess the global potential for electricity savings and green house gas (GHG) emission reductions. Ceiling fan efficiency can be cost-effectively improved by at least 50% using commercially available technology. If these efficiency improvements are implemented in all ceiling fans sold by 2020, 70 terawatt hours per year could be saved and 25 million metric tons of carbon dioxide equivalent ( $CO_2$ -e) emissions per year could be avoided, globally. We assess how policies and programs such as standards, labels, and financial incentives can be used to accelerate the adoption of efficient ceiling fans in order to realize potential savings.

## Introduction

This report presents the results of an analysis of ceiling fan efficiency, prepared in support of the Superefficient Equipment and Appliance Deployment (SEAD) initiative.<sup>1</sup> SEAD aims to transform the global market through increasing availability of efficient equipment and appliances. The objective of this analysis is to provide the background technical information necessary to improve the efficiency of ceiling fans and to provide a foundation for the voluntary market transformation activities of SEAD participating countries.

Ceiling fans contribute significantly to residential electricity consumption in warm climates and especially in developing countries. For example, in India, ceiling fans alone accounted for approximately 6% of residential energy use in 2000. This figure is expected to grow to 9% in 2020 [1], an increase that is equivalent to the energy output of 15 mid-sized power plants.<sup>2</sup> In addition, ceiling fan ownership rates have been shown to significantly increase in low-income Indian households as income levels increase [1]. Although ceiling fan standards and labeling programs are specified for every major economy in the world, these programs only discourage the use of highly inefficient fans [8]. In developed countries and countries with milder climates, a smaller fraction of electricity consumption is attributable to ceiling fans. Nevertheless, ceiling fans account for as much as 5% of residential electricity use in the U.S., although this varies greatly by region [12]. Even in those areas where they do not constitute a significant fraction of electricity demand, ceiling fans can reduce energy consumption by reducing the use of other cooling devices. Fans are well known to be a cost-effective option for reducing the electricity demand of air conditioners [13], [14]. Air conditioners are responsible for approximately 16% of residential electricity consumption in the U.S. In addition, ceiling fans are essential features in passive cooling systems aimed at achieving energy-efficient thermal comfort [15], [16].

This study assesses the potential for global ceiling fan energy-efficiency improvement. We analyze the cost-effectiveness of ceiling fan efficiency improvements while estimating the global potential for both energy consumption and  $CO_2$ -e emission reductions. We utilize the Bottom-Up Energy Analysis System

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> An initiative of the Clean Energy Ministerial (CEM) and a task within the International Partnership for Energy Efficiency Cooperation (IPEEC), SEAD seeks to engage governments and the private sector to transform the global market for energy-efficient equipment and appliances. As of October 2012, the governments participating in SEAD are: Australia, Brazil, Canada, the European Commission, France, Germany, India, Japan, Korea, Mexico, Russia, South Africa, Sweden, the United Arab Emirates, the United Kingdom, and the United States. More information on SEAD is available from its website at <a href="http://www.superefficient.org/">http://www.superefficient.org/</a>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> For this estimate we assume an increase in BAU power consumption of ~20TWh, as outlined in the section titled "Energy Savings Potential". We also conservatively estimate that one-tenth of ceiling fans are used during the peak hour and that a mid-sized power plant has a 500-megawatt capacity and runs at 70% efficiency (as described in [11]). However, currently installed power plants in India have a much lower average efficiency [1].

(BUENAS) to make these estimates [11]. First we present a technological economic analysis of fan efficiency improvement options followed by global energy savings estimates. Finally we discuss implications for design of market transformation programs, and conclude the paper.

## Techno-Economic Assessment of Efficiency Improvement Options in Ceiling Fans

Ceiling fan energy performance is typically measured in units of meters cubed per minute per Watt  $(m^3/min/W)$ . This represents the ratio of air delivery to power input. The term "efficiency" is commonly used to represent the ratio of mechanical-output to electrical-input power. In this paper, we follow the example of earlier studies [17]. The term "efficacy" refers to fan performance, while the term "efficiency" is used as a general performance descriptor and when discussing the performance of motors.

Note: In Europe and India the term "Service Value" is used to refer to efficacy.

Country	Agency	Standard/ L	abel Type	Speed	Size category	Rating type
India	BIS	Standard	Voluntary		Yes	Specifies minimum efficacy for various fan sizes
India	BEE	Label	Voluntary		Only 1200 mm	Assigns star ratings to fans meeting minimum efficacy requirements
China	NDRC, AQSIQ	Standard	Mandatory		Yes	Assigns ratings based on efficacy, to fans classified by size
U.S.	EPA	Label	Voluntary	Yes		Specifies minimum efficacy for fans classified by operating speed
Europe	Ecodesign Forum	Standard	Mandatory		Yes	Specifies a minimum efficacy for various fan sizes

 Table 1. Summary of characteristics used in various standards and labeling programs

Standards and labeling programs for ceiling fans are typically designed to ensure a specified level of efficacy. Specifications include sub-categories that are classified by characteristics such as fan size, operating speed, or airflow. Fans have higher efficacy at lower speeds meaning standards and labeling programs categorize fans by operating speed [17]. Fan efficacy can be increased through increasing blade length because power consumption decreases with as blade length increases assuming constant airflow. Accordingly, some programs categorize fan standards and labeling frameworks in various countries. In the U.S., the ENERGY STAR program specifies minimum ceiling fan efficacy rankings for three different airflow levels [3]. Similarly, the Indian standard IS-374 defines minimum efficacy levels for five different ceiling fan size categories [10]. In addition to this, the Indian Bureau of Energy Efficiency (BEE) maintains a star rating system based on fan efficacy [4]. However, the Indian star rating system is applicable to only one size of fan (1200 mm) and does not vary by fan speed.

#### Efficiency Improvement Options for Ceiling Fan Systems

The ceiling fan system consists of multiple components that together determine the fan's overall energy consumption. We focus on engineering improvements that are easily quantifiable such as changes to fan motors and blades that improve ceiling fan efficiency.

## Fan Motors

Historically ceiling fans have utilized AC induction motors because these motors are durable, easy-toconstruct, and relatively inexpensive to manufacture. Permanent split-capacitor motors are prevalent in ceiling fans manufactured in India, and shaded-pole motors are prevalent in ceiling fans manufactured in the U.S. and Europe [20]. However, these AC induction fan motors are relatively inefficient because of the slip<sup>3</sup> associated with single-phase induction motors. Brushless DC (BLDC) motors have become increasingly common in appliances in recent decades due to developments in electronic commutation and the availability of inexpensive and high-performing magnetic materials [21]. Such motors are more efficient than brushed DC motors because they do not have the friction loss associated with mechanical commutation. Induction motors are inefficient because their rotors do not rotate synchronously with the magnetic field that induces rotor motion which results in slip. BLDC motors alleviate these issues because the rotor moves synchronously with the rotating AC magnetic field produced by electronic commutation. For instance, a 75 W BLDC motor has been estimated to have an efficiency of up to about 90% whereas the average new 75-W AC induction motor has an efficiency of around 75% [21]. Table 2 shows these efficiencies along with those of other 75-W motors.

Multiple engineering studies have estimated the potential for reducing energy consumption through the use of BLDC motors. One experimental Taiwanese study shows that the energy consumption of a ceiling fan with a BLDC motor is about 50% that of a fan with a split-phase induction motor [22]. An experimental study from Australia shows that BLDC motors decreases ceiling fan energy consumption by a factor of three at low speeds and a factor of two at high speeds [23]. Industry experts indicate that using a BLDC motor can reduce energy consumption by an estimated 60% in the U.S. and 50% in India [24],[20]. In addition to the potential energy efficiency improvements achieved with BLDC motors, some fans in India incorporate a combination of elements that affect AC induction motor efficiency. These fans consume significantly less energy than normal [20],[25]. At high speeds, these fans can reduce power consumption from 70-75 W to about 45-50 W. The elements that [20] cites as influencing AC induction motor efficiency in these fans are increased amount of "active" material (such as lamination steel and copper), reduced air gap between stator and rotor and incorporation of standard-grade aluminum for die-cast rotors.

Motor type	Efficiency
NovaTorque⁴	90%
Practical Limits BLDC <sup>6</sup>	87%
Practical Limits AC Induction	84%
Average New Production	75%
Average Installed Base	60%

Table 2. Efficienc	v data for various	75-W motor typ	pes in the U.S.
	y aata ioi vailoao		

Source: Desroches & Garbesi 2011 [21] Fan Blades

Improving fan blade design has been shown to have significant influence on fan efficiency. Efficiency improvements have been achieved by multiple approaches. Incorporation of aerodynamic attachments for conventional blades [26]; a decrease in the angle of attack through the use of twisted, tapered (TT) blades [27]; and use of TT blades with an air foil [28]. We focus on the last of these options due to wide use of this type of blade and the potentially large energy savings that are associated with this design.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The slip is the difference between the speed of the rotor and the magnetic field in an AC induction motor.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The company Novatorque has incorporated technical improvements to push efficiency further beyond the so-called "practical limits" of a BLDC motor.



**Figure 1. Design drawings from a patent for a ceiling fan with twisted, tapered blades with an airfoil.** <sup>5</sup> Source: Parker et al. [40]

TT blades with an airfoil increase efficiency by reducing energy lost to turbulence and flow-separation as shown in Figure 1 [29]. Optimal blade design requires a balance between multiple objectives including maximization of air speed, uniform air speed along the fan radius, and maximization of airflow coverage. A test of one such patented blade design indicates that the subject invention has an efficacy 86%-111% higher than that of a conventional flat blade, indicating remarkable potential for energy-efficiency improvements from changes in fan blade design [30]. These blades can also be used to reduce motor size and cost, and the resulting device will still outperform a conventional fan [30]. Some efficient blade designs have been adapted for aesthetic purposes to appear like traditional blades from the bottom-side while being aerodynamic on the top-side, thus improving efficiency 10%- 26% when compared to conventional designs [31]. The blade has been designed to meet a market preference by some consumers for energy-efficient fans with a traditional appearance.

#### Fan Efficiency Improvement Opportunities: Empirical Evidence from the US Market

Figure 2 shows ENERGY STAR market data for qualifying fans being sold in the U.S. and Canada [3]. The information regarding motor and blade type was obtained from product catalogs and phone calls with representatives from ceiling fan manufacturers producing fans with the highest efficacies. These companies include Monte Carlo, Fanimation, Regency, and Emerson [32]. The data in the figures are comparable to the performance of the most efficient fans being introduced in U.S. and Canadian markets. For instance, the Emerson Midway Eco fan is advertised as having a 75% reduction in energy consumption due to the Emerson EcoMotor <sup>™</sup> [9].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> We note that most fans sold in India have 3 blades as opposed to the 5 pictured here. However, to be consistent with the patent filed by Parker (2003), we have pictured the 5 bladed design from the patent. The blade improvements will be similar for a fan with 3 blades.



Figure 2. Efficacies for ENERGY STAR ceiling fans (fan only, without lights) at high speed<sup>6</sup>

#### Source: ENERGY STAR [33]

The figure shows that fans with BLDC motors have far higher efficacies than the current ENERGY STAR high-speed standard requires (2 m<sup>3</sup>/min/W). This data indicates that engineering improvements, such as those previously discussed, can be used for purposes other than increasing efficacy. Other purposes include reducing motor size or material quality to reduce manufacturing costs in the absence of policy intervention to improve efficiency. To the authors' knowledge, there are no fans with BLDC motors in these figures other than those highlighted, although this is unconfirmed as we were not able to contact every fan manufacturer.

#### **Technical and Economic Analysis of Efficiency Improvement Options**

Here we estimate the costs of efficiency improvement of ceiling fans using the options previously described. We estimate the cost of conserved electricity (CCE) to assess the cost-effectiveness of these efficiency improvements. Due to data constraints, we only cite costs from a few countries while estimating the CCE.

#### Fan Motors

Based on data collected from industry experts we estimate the incremental cost of efficiency improvements of motors typically used in ceiling fans. We consider two types of efficiency improvement options. First, given that BLDC motors are significantly more efficient than induction motors, we estimate the incremental cost of BLDC motors of the same size and performance specifications over the typical induction motor. Second, we consider the cost of improving the efficiency of the induction motor itself, where the efficiency improvements are smaller and less costly compared to those achieved by a BLDC motor. BLDC motors are typically more expensive when compared to induction motors primarily because of the extra cost of the controller. Note that induction motors and BLDC motors have similar materials costs (excluding the BLDC motor controller). This is primarily because the extra cost of permanent magnets in a BLDC motor is compensated by reduction in costs due to less copper and steel (See [36] and [21] for a detailed discussion). Desroches & Garbesi find that that the global cost of materials for a 750-W (note that fan motors are typically much smaller, < 75W) induction motor is about US\$43.80, and, for a BLDC motor, the materials cost ranges from US\$24.20 to US\$36.74, as of 2011 [21]. This indicates

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> In 2010 and 2011, the market penetration of ENERGY STAR qualified ceiling fans was 18% and 13%, respectively [34] [35].

that the *materials* cost of a smaller BLDC motor, such as would be used in ceiling fans, should also range from a little less than to about equal to that of a comparable AC induction motor. Therefore, the incremental cost of the BLDC motor over an induction motor is essentially the cost of the controller. A BLDC motor controller is estimated to have a manufacturing cost between INR300-700 in India [20], [25]. The same controller would cost between US\$3.2 to US\$22.5 in the US [36]. We assume the incremental cost of a BLDC motor that replaces a typical ceiling fan induction motor of 75 W to be approximately US\$10.50 for the purposes of this report.

#### Fan Blades

The cost of manufacturing efficient ceiling fan blades in the U.S. is estimated to be about US\$2.25, versus US\$0.25 per conventional flat blade [31], [30]. The incremental cost of manufacturing an efficient blade versus a conventional blade in India is about INR60 for 3 blades i.e. US\$0.36/blade [20]. Although these appear to be significant cost increases for these components, they are not very large (~5%) compared to the total retail price of a ceiling fan. An important point to mention in the case of efficiency improvement through blade design is that blade design and manufacturing are driven by aesthetic considerations rather than just efficiency. This is also reflected in *divergent* estimates of the costs of manufacturing depending on the design, material, manufacturing, and treatment/finishing processes. The significance of aesthetic considerations in blade manufacture implies that *mandating* more efficient blades through minimum energy performance standards (MEPS) is not likely to be a practical or desirable option. However, given that some fans may be designed to meet energy efficiency policy specifications by using more efficient blades, it is still useful to estimate the costs of efficiency improvement through more efficient blades, particularly for labeling and incentive programs. Table 3 reports these costs in dollar terms along with average numbers, which are used as the input for the cost effectiveness calculation.

	India				
Efficiency Improvement Option	[20]	[25]	[36]	[31]	Average(\$)
Improved AC Induction Motor	\$1.09	\$1.82			\$1.5
BLDC Motor	\$5.45	\$10.91	\$3.2-\$22.5		\$10.5
Efficient Blades	\$1.09			\$6.00	\$3.5

Table 3. Summary of reported manufacturing costs in dollars of efficiency improvement options<sup>7</sup>

#### Cost of Conserved Electricity

This section presents the CCE in India for motor and blade improvements described above, using the efficiency assumptions discussed earlier along with corresponding cost assumptions. Two kinds of CCEs are calculated as follows: the manufacturing cost of conserved electricity ( $CCE_m$ ) which considers the incremental cost of the higher efficiency fan to the manufacturer and the cost to the consumer of conserved electricity ( $CCE_c$ ) which considers the incremental cost of the higher efficiency fan to the manufacturer and the cost to the consumer of consumer. The former metric ( $CCE_m$ ) is lower than the latter ( $CCE_c$ ) as it does not include markups or taxes. Therefore,  $CCE_m$  can be used to measure the cost-effectiveness of a market transformation program, such as an upstream incentive program, while  $CCE_c$  can be used to measure the cost effectiveness of a standards program, or a downstream incentive program.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>In converting from a per-blade to a total incremental cost we assume the fan has 3 blades.

Efficiency Improvement Option <sup>9</sup>	Average Power Savings (W)	% Reduction from baseline power	Average incremental manufacturing cost(\$)	CCE <sub>m</sub> (\$/kWh)	CCE <sub>c</sub> (\$/kWh)
Improved AC Induction Motor (A)	25	36%	\$1.5	\$0.003	\$0.005
BLDC Motor (B)	35	50%	\$10.5	\$0.014	\$0.027
Efficient Blades (C)	10	15%	\$3.5	\$0.015	\$0.031
A+C	32	45%	\$5.0	\$0.007	\$0.014
B+C	40	57%	\$14.0	\$0.016	\$0.032

Table 4. Cost of conserved electricit	v for various efficien	cv improvement o	pptions in India <sup>8</sup>
	jiei taneae enteren	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	

Assumptions: Lifetime=10 years; hours of use per day = 8.7; discount rate = 7.6%; multiplier for markup and taxes = 2.0

Shown above, improved AC induction motors are the most cost effective single option, followed by BLDC motors. We also note that our cost and efficiency assumptions (and resulting CCE estimates) regarding efficiency improvement using more efficient blades are *conservative* and may very well be lower than those shown. This can be attributed to using cost and efficiency estimates for more efficient blades with a traditional appearance as discussed earlier rather than the most efficient blades [31]. Also, data on blades indicated *divergent* estimates of the costs of manufacturing depending on design, material, manufacturing, and treatment/finishing processes, which varied due to aesthetic considerations. Given the globally traded nature, maturity, and high contribution of material costs to the total costs of the efficiency technologies considered, we argue that cost estimates based on the data in India and US are likely to be a reasonable approximation of the costs in other regions.

## **Energy Savings Potential**

We used the Bottom-Up Energy Analysis System<sup>10</sup> (BUENAS) to estimate the potential global energy and  $CO_2$  emission savings from accelerated implementation of the engineering developments for ceiling fans described earlier. A detailed description of the methodology is available in [11] and [38]. This version of BUENAS covers thirteen major economies, representing 80% of the world's total energy consumption. Our objective is to provide an approximate estimate for the potential savings from accelerated adoption of efficient fans. Precise estimates of the saving potential in each of the economies covered will require significant further work in order to provide a more robust empirical basis for the assumptions used. Note that we have more robust data on India, China, and the US compared to other countries and hence the estimates of saving potential for these countries are likely to be more accurate than for the others.

#### Data and Methodology

BUENAS is an end-use energy forecasting model designed to provide a detailed assessment of the potential for energy savings and GHG emissions reductions from energy-efficiency standards and labeling programs worldwide (see [38] for a detailed description of the model). The model is "bottom-up" in that it calculates energy demand based on input data for individual appliance products. BUENAS is composed of three modules. The first calculates the number of appliances per household (diffusion) in a country at a given point in time, primarily based on an empirical relationship observed between appliance ownership and macroeconomic household variables such as household income. The second module

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> We have assumed a 100% markup in estimating costs to the consumer in line with [25]. Lifetime and hours of use assumptions are in line with [37].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Efficiency improvement options from single components (A, B, C) are presented first followed by efficiency improvement options from combining two options (A+C and B+C). The options are subsequently ordered by increasing cost of conserved energy. Also option C, efficient blades can be used with both BLDC and AC motors. While BLDC motors and AC motors are widely available, efficient blades may be proprietary designs, and also carry associated aesthetic tradeoffs.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> <u>http://www.superefficient.org/en/Products/BUENAS.aspx</u>

estimates energy consumption and efficiency improvements at the appliance level. The third module is a stock turnover module that calculates the sales of appliances every year based on retirement of old units and increased penetration of appliances in households. This module combines the sales in every year with unit energy consumption (UEC) to estimate the total stock energy consumption. The difference in stock energy consumption between a Business As Usual (BAU) and an efficiency case equals the savings. Energy savings are then converted into  $CO_2$  equivalent emission mitigation according to the power generation mix from each country.

#### Results

This section presents the BUENAS results in terms of stock energy consumption and global potential energy savings. BUENAS also provides  $CO_2$  emission mitigation potential calculated using country-specific carbon factors [11].



Figure 3. Potential  $CO_2$  emissions reductions resulting from introduction of efficient fans, 2000-2030

#### Efficiency Scenario

In the efficiency scenario, efficient fans with BLDC motors gradually enter the market, gaining 20% of market share starting in 2012. The market reaches saturation in 2017 when 100% of fans sold are assumed to be efficient. The unit energy consumption (UEC) for efficient fans is assumed to be constant throughout the forecast period. We evaluate energy savings potentials in 2016, 2020, and 2030. Table 5 shows the results of the energy savings potential analysis, and Figure 3 shows the corresponding  $CO_2$  emission results. India represents almost half of the potential electricity savings and  $CO_2$  emission mitigation potential in the economies covered in this analysis.

	Annual Electricity Savings (TWh)			Cumulative Electricity Savings (TWh)		
Year	2016	2020	2030	2012- 2016	2012- 2020	2012- 2030
Australia	0.05	0.12	0.21	0.12	0.50	2.31
Brazil	1.43	3.35	6.09	3.29	13.83	65.41
Canada	0.05	0.11	0.19	0.11	0.46	2.08
China	9.01	20.68	35.77	21.02	86.50	396.59
EU	0.48	1.08	1.76	1.14	4.59	20.22
India	14.17	33.54	62.38	32.52	137.91	660.60
Indonesia	1.12	2.63	4.81	2.59	10.88	51.51
Japan	0.24	0.54	0.84	0.56	2.27	9.90
Korea	0.11	0.26	0.44	0.26	1.07	4.91
Mexico	0.41	0.93	1.53	0.96	3.90	17.43
Russia	0.15	0.34	0.52	0.37	1.46	6.19
South Africa	0.17	0.40	0.65	0.40	1.67	7.46
U.S.	2.43	5.65	9.86	5.61	23.47	108.57
Total	29.82	69.62	125.05	68.94	288.51	1353.19

Table 5. Annual and cumulative energy savings forecasts

## Realizing Cost-Effective Efficiency Improvements: Lessons for Market Transformation Programs

As discussed earlier in this report, there are several cost-effective options for improvement of ceiling-fan efficiency that would reduce fan energy consumption by more than 50%. Although highly efficient fans that incorporate most of the efficiency improvement options discussed in this paper are commercially available in certain countries (e.g., the U.S.), they constitute a very small percentage of sales. In some countries (e.g., India), fans with BLDC motors and efficient blades are not currently commercially available. Several barriers, including high purchase price and lack of information (e.g., lack of labels that recognize highly efficient performance), have been identified that contribute to the limited adoption of highly efficient fans [4]. In this section we discuss some broad insights for energy efficiency market transformation programs based on the earlier discussion.

#### **General Insights**

Some of the insights that can be drawn from the preceding discussion apply across various types of market transformation programs and policies. We discuss some such general insights with respect to key fan characteristics such as fan size and speed, and with respect to blade design.

It is important for market transformation programs to classify fans by size and take into account the effect of fan speed on efficacy. First-and-foremost, size categories are important in market transformation programs to preclude the possibility that simply increasing blade length, without necessarily delivering better service, could circumvent a policy based merely on efficacy. For instance, although airflow increases with larger blades the amount of cooling felt by the user may not. This is because the service delivered to the final user (in this case, cooling) depends not on the total volume of air moved, but also on the velocity of the air<sup>11</sup>. If market transformation policies classify fans by size, fan manufacturers will not be able to simply install longer blades to improve efficacy nominally without competing with other manufacturers in a separate size category or improving the service delivered to the final user. Second, operating speed is also an important criterion in designing market transformation programs because efficacy varies inversely with increasing fan speed [39]. This effect can be addressed either by using standard speed or minimum airflow in the test procedure for the program, such as in India's standard and labeling programs, or by changing the efficacy requirement at various speeds, such as in the ENERGY

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>The coefficient of convective heat transfer off the human body depends on the velocity of the air [75].

STAR program. It should be noted that the testing burden would be lower in the first case, with a tradeoff on the accuracy of the test procedure at various speeds.

The literature discussed earlier indicates that there is remarkable potential for energy-efficiency improvements from changes in fan blade design. We also find that blade design improvements have greater efficacy/power consumption savings impact at higher speeds. This implies that market transformation programs in economies with hotter climates and higher average airflows (e.g. India) will benefit proportionally more from blade design improvements than economies where average airflows tend to be lower. (e.g. the US). For example, the most efficient blade designs discussed in the literature will improve efficacy by 86% at lower speeds (airflows), versus 111% at higher speeds (airflows) compared with conventional blade designs [30].

#### **Standards and Labeling Programs**

Efficiency levels specified by standards and labeling programs are far below what can be achieved by implementing cost-effective energy-efficiency options in ceiling fans (see Figure 4). For example, as seen from data on the efficacy of fans meeting the US ENERGY STAR requirements, fans using BLDC motors and efficient blades are significantly more efficient (with efficacy as high as 15  $\frac{m^3}{min}/W$ ) compared to efficiency requirement for qualifying for ENERGY STAR (efficacy of 2.1-4.2  $\frac{m^3}{min}/W$ ). Furthermore, the Indian Bureau of Energy Efficiency (BEE) voluntary star rating program for fans only covered 2% of the Indian market and only 18% of fans (without a light kit) on the US ceiling fan market were compliant with ENERGY STAR, indicating significant room for efficiency improvement [25], [3].

The standards and labels levels for BEE's star rating program in India are presented in Figure 13. These efficacy levels are tested under different conditions (notably airflow requirements/speeds) than standards and labels in the US, Europe and China so they cannot be directly compared against each other without accounting for this.<sup>12</sup> However, the improvements in efficacy discussed in this report are applicable across the range of commonly encountered airflows. This means that these improvements will offer significant energy savings of a similar order of magnitude regardless of airflow or test procedure alignment. For comparison, the US ENERGY STAR label has an efficacy requirement of 4.2 (m<sup>3</sup>/min/W) at low speeds and 2.1 (m<sup>3</sup>/min/W) at high speeds while the lowest standard for efficacy in China varies by fan size from 3.47 (m<sup>3</sup>/min/W) for 1800 mm fans to 2.75 (m<sup>3</sup>/min/W) for 900 mm fans [3], [5]. Figure 13 makes clear the significant potential for improvement in fan efficacy through increases in specified standards and labels.

The highest efficacy level recognized by labels in several countries is significantly lower than what can be achieved by adopting cost effective efficiency options. Hence current efficacy label levels need to be revised significantly to encourage deeper penetration of efficient ceiling fans at the top of the market with efficacies achievable using BLDC motors and efficient blades that are already on the market in the US, and that are cost-effective in other countries. The low penetration level of efficient ceiling fans in both India and the US seems to indicate the presence of barriers to efficiency other than information, such as first cost, that may not be able to be addressed within a standards and labeling framework.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> See [39] for a discussion of the effect of fan speed and motor speed on efficacy. Increasing airflow from 5000 CFM (the US high speed) to 7415 CFM (i.e.210 m<sup>3</sup>/min, the minimum airflow for star rated fans in India), i.e. A 48% increase will yield a decrease in efficacy of at most 35%.



Figure 4. BEE (India) star labels compared to estimates of potential ceiling fan efficacy<sup>13</sup>

#### **Incentive Programs**

Incentive programs for efficient fans could accelerate the penetration of superefficient fans for the following reasons. First, adoption of cost-effective efficient appliances is often hindered by high first cost, e.g. as discussed in [6]. In emerging economies, consumers are highly sensitive to high first costs [4]. Second, due to the importance of aesthetics discussed earlier, it is not practical or desirable to mandate efficiency improvement from blade design through MEPS. However, the full existing potential from more efficient blades, as well as from BLDC motors, could be exploited through incentive programs for superefficient fans. Such programs could cost effectively target efficacies of up to  $15 \frac{m^3}{min}/W$ , as discussed earlier. There are several examples of financial incentive programs that lower the first cost of cost-effective energy efficient appliances and equipment to accelerate their adoption. However, despite the large saving potential, financial incentive programs to promote the adoption of highly efficient fans are not common.

## Conclusions

This paper presents an analysis of the potential for improvement of ceiling fan components to reduce global energy consumption and GHG emissions. Improved blade design and AC induction motor materials, and the increased use of BLDC motors, are identified as cost effective options to improve the efficiency of ceiling fans. Adaptation of these technologies could provide ceiling fan power consumption savings of more than 50%. Out of the several types of policies typically used to accelerate adoption of efficient products (e.g., awards, incentives, and standards and labeling programs), standards and labeling programs are most commonly used to accelerate the market penetration of efficient fans.

Efficacy levels are tested under different conditions (notably airflow requirements/speeds) in various countries so they cannot be directly compared against each other without accounting for this fact. Nevertheless, the improvements in efficacy discussed in this report are applicable across the range of commonly encountered airflows. Meaning these improvements will offer significant energy savings of a similar order of magnitude regardless of airflow or test procedure alignment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Note: The baseline efficacy value is based on the average values reported as 'National Player's Models'

presented in (Garg & Jose 2009). Incremental improvements correspond to those presented earlier. The efficacy level of the best available fan corresponds to the fan with the highest efficacy in Figure 8.

The highest efficacy level required by standards and labeling programs in several countries is significantly lower than what can be achieved by adopting the cost effective efficiency improvement options discussed here. Hence current efficacy label levels need to be revised significantly to encourage deeper penetration of efficient ceiling fans at the top of the market.

The low penetration level of efficient ceiling fans in both India and the US, even with labeling programs in place,<sup>14</sup> seem to indicate the presence of barriers. These barriers to efficiency, in addition to information, such as first cost, may not be able to be addressed fully within a standards and labeling framework, particularly in emerging economies with price sensitive consumers. However, despite the large saving potential, financial incentive programs that promote the adoption of highly efficient fans by removing the first cost barrier are not common.

One notable example under development is the Super-Efficient Equipment Program (SEEP) in India where financial incentives will be provided to fan manufacturers to produce and sell highly efficient fans; fans that consume less than half of the energy consumed by fans typically sold on the Indian market [4]. Even if the entire incremental cost of the highly efficient fans is covered by the financial incentives, the cost of the conserved electricity for efficiency improvements over 50% is just 0.7 rupees per kWh (US\$0.014/kWh) which is about one sixth of the cost of supplying electricity in India [6]. SEEP or a similar upstream incentive program for ceiling fans would be cost-effective even assuming higher costs and lower hours of use as discussed earlier. Therefore there remains significant scope for improvements.

## References

- [1] de la Rue du Can S., et al. *Residential and Transport Energy Use in India: Past Trend and Future Outlook*. Berkeley CA: Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory report LBNL-1753E, 2009
- [2] Garg S. and Jose A. Energy-Efficiency Labelling of Ceiling Fans in India: Challenges and the way forward. Proceedings of the 5th International Conference on Energy Efficiency in Domestic Appliances and Lighting, 2009 <u>http://www.enbook.pl/sites/default/files/publikacje/150/20120130/energy efficinency in domestic v ol 3 p2.pdf</u>
- [3] U.S. DOE and U.S. EPA. ENERGY STAR. Available at: <u>http://www.energystar.gov/</u>. Accessed July 26, 2011.
- [4] Singh D., Barve A. and Sant G. *Ceiling Fan The Overlooked Appliance in Energy Efficiency Discussions*, Pune, India: Prayas Energy Group, 2010.
- [5] General Administration of Quality Supervision Inspection and Quarantine of the People's Republic of China, (AQSIQ). *Minimum allowable values of energy efficiency and energy efficiency grades of AC electric fans GB 12021.9-2008*. Standardization Administration of the People's Republic of China, 2010.
- [6] Sathaye J. and Gupta A. *Eliminating Electricity Deficit through Energy Efficiency in India: An Evaluation of Aggregate Economic and Carbon Benefits*. Berkeley CA: Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory report LBNL-3381E, 2010.
- [7] Letschert V. and McNeil M. *The Boom of Electricity Demand in the Residential Sector in the Developing World and the Potential for Energy Efficiency*. Berkeley, CA: Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory report LBNL-2329E, 2008.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> BEE's voluntary star rating program for fans only covered 2% of the Indian market, while only 18% of the fans(without a light kit) on the US ceiling fan market were compliant with ENERGY STAR (PWC, 2012, and EPA 2011) indicating significant room for efficiency improvement.

- [8] Waide P., et al. Opportunities for Success and CO2 Savings from Appliance Energy Efficiency Harmonisation. Navigant Consulting in Partnership with CLASP. Available at: <u>http://www.clasponline.org/clasp.online.resource.php?disdoc=781#opportunities</u>. Accessed July 26, 2011.
- [9] Emerson Climate Technologies. Midway Eco. http://www.emersonfans.com/Pages/Fan.aspx?Fan=Midway%20Eco. Accessed 12/15/2010.
- [10] Bureau of Indian Standards, 2007. Indian Standard Specification for Electric Ceiling Type Fans and Regulators (3rd Revision), Edition 4.6, (Incorporating Amendment Nos 1-6).
- [11] Koomey J., et al. *Defining a standard metric for electricity savings*. Environmental Research Letters 5. 2010.
- [12] Calwell C. and Horowitz N. *Ceiling Fans: Fulfilling the Energy Efficiency Promise*. Home Energy, 18(1) 2001, pp.24-30.
- [13] Hwang R.-L., et al. Thermal perceptions, general adaptation methods and occupant's idea about the trade-off between thermal comfort and energy saving in hot-humid regions. Building and Environment 44(6) 2009, pp.1128-1134.
- [14] Arens E., et al. 2009. Moving Air for Comfort. ASHRAE Journal 51(5) 2009, pp.18-28.
- [15] Ho S., Rosario L. and Rahman M. *Thermal comfort enhancement by using a ceiling fan*. Applied Thermal Engineering 29(8-9) 2009, pp.1648-1656.
- [16] Santamouris M., et al. Recent progress on passive cooling techniques: Advanced technological developlments to improve survivability levels in low-income households. Energy and Buildings 39(7) 2007, pp.859-866.
- [17] Chakraborty A., et al. *Energy Conservation in Ceiling Fans*. Proceedings of the 13th National Power Systems Conference. Chennai, India, 2004, pp. 835-838.
- [18] Riviere P. Preparatory study on the environmental performance of residential room conditioning appliances (airco and ventilation). Study on comfort fans - final report, 2008. Available at: http://www.ebpg.bam.de/de/ebpg\_medien/010\_studyf\_08-11\_comfortfans\_parts1-8.pdf [Accessed July 26, 2011].
- [19] European Commission. Commission Working Document on possible Ecodesign Requirements for air-conditioning appliances and comfort fans, 2010. Available at: <u>http://www.eup-network.de/fileadmin/user\_upload/Produktgruppen/Lots/Working\_Documents/Lot\_10\_Air-Con\_April\_2010/WD\_Airco\_Ecodesign\_Regulation\_for\_CF.pdf</u>. Accessed July 26, 2011.
- [20] Pednekar A. Personal Communication, 2010.
- [21] Desroches L.-B. and Garbesi K. Max Tech and Beyond: Maximizing Appliance and Equipment Efficiency by Design. Berkeley CA: Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory Report LBNL-4998E, 2011.
- [22] Liu C.-S., et al. Development of New Structure of BLDC Servo Motor for Ceiling Fan. In Proceedings of the 4th IEEE Conference on Industrial Electronics and Appliances, 2009, pp. 2640-2643.
- [23] Schmidt K. and Patterson D. Performance results for a high efficiency tropical ceiling fan and comparisons with conventional fans: Demand side management via small appliance efficiency. Renewable Energy 22(1-3) 2001, pp.169-176.
- [24] Parker D. Personal Communication at Florida Solar Energy Center, 2010.

- [25] PWC (Price Waterhouse Coopers). *Design of Monitoring and Verification Systems for SEEP for Fans- Inception Report.* unpublished draft, 2012.
- [26] Volk S. Propeller Breeze Enhancing Blades for Conventional Ceiling Fans. United States Patent Number 4892460,1990.
- [27] Bird G. High Efficiency Ceiling Fan. United States Patent Number 6733241, 2004.
- [28] Sonne J. and Parker D. Measured Ceiling Fan Performance and Usage Patterns: Implications for Efficiency and Comfort Improvement. In Proceedings of ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings: Energy Efficiency in a Competitive Environment (Pacific Grove CA, 1998), pp. 335-341.\
- [29] Gossamer Wind. *What is So Special About These Fans.* <u>http://www.gossamerwind.com/content/what-so-special-about-these-fans-0</u>. Accessed 4/20/2011.
- [30] Parker D., Hua G. and Hibbs B. High Efficiency Ceiling Fan. United States Patent Number 6039541, 2000.
- [31] Parker D. & Hibbs B. Efficient Traditionally Appearing Ceiling Fan Blades with Aerodynamical Upper Surfaces. United States Patent Number 7665967, 2010.
- [32] Sathaye N. 2011. Personal Communication.
- [33] ENERGY STAR. ENERGY STAR Ceiling Fan Product List posted on November 14, 2012. http://www.energystar.gov/index.cfm?fuseaction=find\_a\_product.showProductGroup&pgw\_code=C F
- [34] ENERGY STAR. ENERGY STAR Unit Shipment and Market Penetration Report Calendar Year 2010 Summary, 2011. <u>http://www.energystar.gov/ia/partners/downloads/unit\_shipment\_data/2010\_USD\_Summary\_Repor\_ t.pdf</u>
- [35] ENERGY STAR. ENERGY STAR Unit Shipment and Market Penetration Report Calendar Year 2011 Summary, 2012. http://www.energystar.gov/ia/partners/downloads/unit\_shipment\_data/2011\_USD\_Summary\_Repor t.pdf
- [36] Chiang J., Fairchild Semiconductor. Power Point presentation, September 16, 2010. Available at: http://edg1.vcall.com/irwebsites/fairchildsemi/Final%20-%20PCIA.pdf
- [37] Boegle A., Singh, D. and Sant, G. *Estimating Technical Energy Saving Potential from Improving Appliance Efficiency in Indian Households*. In ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings: The Climate for Efficiency is Now (Pacific Grove CA, 2010).
- [38] McNeil M., Letschert V.E., de la Rue du Can S., and Ke J. Bottom-Up Energy Analysis System Methodology and Results. Berkeley CA: Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory report LBNL 5722E, 2012.
- [39] Davis Energy Group Energy Solutions. Codes and Standards Enhancement Initiative For PY2004: Title 20 Standards Development: Analysis of Standards Options for Ceiling Fans, 2004
- [40] Parker D., Su G. and Hibbs B. High Efficiency Ceiling Fan Blades. United States Patent Number 6659721, 2003

# Efficiency 2.1 – New media for best informed consumers regarding sustainable and energy efficient products

Thomas Bogner, Austrian Energy Agency

Falko Müller, CO2online, Germany Michal Staša, SEVEn, Czech Republic Paola Pendenza, ADICONSUM, Italy Cristina Ramos, Ecoserveis, Spain Boštjan Krisper, International Consumer Research Institute, Slovenia Nikolaos Tsemperlidis, Evangelia Kekeleki, KEPKA - Consumers Protection Centre, Greece Sophie Attali, GuideTopten, France Stephane Arditi, EEB, Belgium Bettina Scheucher, EVOLARIS, Austria Bernard Govaert, BBLV, Belgium Anna Bogusz, FEWE, Poland

## Abstract

The main objective of this initiative – co-funded by the EU programme Intelligent Energy Europe Programme of the European Union and conducted by a consortium of 12 partners – is to support consumers in their purchase decisions by providing up-to-date information about the most energy efficient products on the market.

The way consumers access information has changed rapidly in recent years; this, in turn, has significantly influenced the purchase decision-making process. Information published online makes it possible and easy for consumers to directly search and compare products; superseding traditional instore sales advice to some extent.

This initiative reacts to mainstream trends for smartphone use as well as for adoption social media like Facebook or Twitter and provides the roll out of an "Efficiency adviser" smartphone app (available from late autumn 2013). The guidance app will be easy to use and accessed through mobile devices as smartphones and tablets for product identification and in-store advice, covering the most relevant consumer decision-making criteria, namely: cost, product quality and energy efficiency. Smartphone optimized consumer web portals will be used to raise awareness of the benefits of energy efficient and sustainable products and social media channels will encourage users to share the information with friends and family.

This project will specifically target the online 'early adopters' and 'early majority' (also called internet natives) but will also serve the more than 70% of European households that are connected to the Internet aiming at energy aware purchase decisions and effective change of user behaviour regarding every day energy use.

## **Starting point**

#### Household electricity consumption

The electrical energy consumption in the domestic sector in EU countries has risen significantly for more than two decades (e.g. in Austria increase by 30 % within 1990 and 2006, since then almost stagnating [1], for EU 27 the overall situation is quite similar with an increase by 35 % within 1990 and 2006 and a reduction by 1.5% onwards from 2006 to 2011 [2]). First of all raised saturation levels for appliances in households as well as demographic trends were effective as main influencing factors for the growth in consumption. An enormous energy efficiency increase plays a crucial role in many scenarios in the context of energy politics to exploit all potentials for energy savings and to maintain a significant reduction of electricity consumption in the household sector.

#### Spontaneous purchase decisions and lack of sufficient guidance in shops

In the vast majority of purchase decisions, "energy efficiency" is not usually a key deciding factor. Purchase decisions are sometimes made spontaneously (this applies especially for cases where a certain – individually different – price limit is not exceeded).[3], [4]

Only a very limited share of people are willing to or capable of investing a significant time for gathering information and comparison of different products prior to the purchase decision. More likely people will search for the cheapest price of a certain product, possibly preselected in a more or less arbitrary manner. A decent share of consumers only relies on advertisement information and marketing oriented messages beside the price tag to select appliances.

Advice in shop is a crucial element in guiding consumers, but unfortunately quite too often sales personnel is not sufficiently trained or willing to explain the benefits of higher efficient (and sometimes more expensive) products. As a consequence the situation where thorough guidance of customers in shops takes place is definitely not common, as this service most likely, but still limited will be offered in specialist shops. The benefits of more efficient products in terms of lower running costs and possibly higher product quality will be overlooked or underestimated. As a consequence customers would purchase appliances with rather poor efficiency even if they were willing to choose high efficient products.

Major retail chains in the sector "electric and electronic products" are apparently understaffed; hence customers have to rely on information printed on product packages or on labels only. The situation in terms of appropriate customer information is even worse in the case of mixed food/non-food markets selling appliances as part of their assortments.

Especially young customers expect to find information concerning product purchase online or even by mobile access to the Internet. Classic means of information, like printed articles, flyers, etc. are getting less relevant. This obvious trend is actually hitting the overall mainstream thus forcing market players to establish and promote appropriate information services online.

#### The long tail of disadvantageous (purchase) decisions

Appliances partly have long product lives – up to and beyond 10 years, depending on the product category. Inefficient products will cause high accumulated running costs.

The revised EU efficiency label improves the market transparency in terms of energy efficiency again; but will challenge the consumers' understanding of labelling classes and their interpretation regarding the product's life cycle costs.

#### Consumers' perceptions of labels and efficiency classes

Learning from previous experience gained from the Eurotopten-Network, people will need some time to actually learn how to consider the information displayed on the label. As classes of the European Energy efficiency label have not been readjusted, thus new products will likely populate classes from A upwards, many consumer will expect no real improvement by choosing classes beyond A (being for very long time the best class available)[5]. For example only a very few consumers will expect a 40 % energy saving, choosing an A+++ fridge instead of an A+ (actually now representing the minimum efficiency standard stipulated by Regulation 643/2009). The revised labelling scheme for directional and non-directional lamps valid by September 2013 will again challenge customers to really understand differences in running costs and efficiency. The relatively newly introduced label for TVs covers an important section in consumer electronics segment, but will have to be moved to the customers' focus.

#### Green commercial messages vs. factual label data

In the light of this, there is significant need for complementary measures targeting the choice. Considering the huge diversity of (non standardized) product declarations and labels introduced by manufacturers on the market, uncertainty on different levels will challenge consumers making an informed decision.

It is very obvious that consumers risk confusion between official labelling schemes and multiple green commercial messages. Quite understandably consumers do not want to focus on efficiency only but would consider quality related aspects as well. Merging the levels quality, efficiency and price in an easy accessible service, especially on the point of sale, even independent from sales personnel, will be seen as significant advantage and added value from the customers' view. Concluding from the aspects mentioned above developing and disseminating an easily accessible information service on EU level - meeting crucial requirements as high quality, neutrality, timeliness, will be obligatory to significantly increase the share of sustainable and energy efficient products.

#### Purchase of efficient products AND efficient use - need for day to day behaviour change

Aiming at effective energy savings, the purchase of efficient products is an important precondition. However the efficient use of appliances in day to day life is important either. People e.g. need to understand how to enable power management features, to be aware that eco programmes will take more time and thus save energy according to Sinner's circle (as a composition of the factors temperature, chemistry, time, mechanics) opposite to express programs, most likely consuming more energy but finishing sooner, and so on. To exploit the full potential of energy savings efforts have to be made to effectively change energy use behaviour as well. This support of course has to be helpful, relevant, low-threshold and easy to use, to be appreciated and accepted by consumers. Thus ideally guidance regarding selecting efficient products will be accompanied by specific advice for energy- and cost efficient routine use.

## Social media and the role of smartphone use

#### Internet User in Europe

Access to Internet media is a standard for most of European households, actually independent from social stratum, purchase power and age. For the region directly covered by the partners in the consortium almost 175 Million adults (older than 14 years) are using the Internet, these are already two thirds in average of the overall population.



Figure 1: Coverage of "Efficiency 2.1" (Source: Austrian Energy Agency, 2013)

	Internet users	Internet users
	(age > 14 years)	(age > 14 years)
	[Mio]	[%]
Austria	5,6	79
Germany	51,7	73
Czech Republic	4,9	57
Italy	25,0	50
Spain	22,7	57
Poland	18,5	61
Slovenia	1,3	79
Greece	3,4	49
Belgium	6,6	78
France	33,2	60
Total	172,9	Avg. 64,3

Table: Internet Use in Europe 2011 / Markets directly covered by initiative "Efficiency 2.1": (Source: GfK Online Monitor, GfK Austria, January 2012)

#### Social media reach

Amongst many social media, Facebook is the most widely used one. The EU average monthly penetration of the Internet user population amounts to 63.6 % (data for 2011). Despite the fact that Facebook has been available for years, trends still indicate increases in use, for example, in Germany Facebook accounts grew by 43 % from March 2011 to March 2012. [6]

#### Smartphone penetration in target region and trend

Smart phones are already widely used in Europe. Within one year the share of smartphones compared to total mobile phone users grew from 31 % to 44 % (Dec. 2010 – Dec 2011). In December 2012 all European countries crossed the 50% mark for smartphone penetration. The highest adoption of smartphones is documented for Spain with 66%, followed by UK with 64 %, while the EU average lies at a level of 57%. Even 75 % of phones were smartphones acquired in December 2012. [7]

Quite interesting and being an important factor for success regarding the "Efficiency 2.1" strategy the smartphone use is not limited to a certain age range. However the age segment "25 - 34 years" is insignificantly dominating (averages for Germany, Italy, France, Spain and UK).



#### Age Composition of Smartphone Audience

#### Figure 2: Age Composition of Smartphone Audience

(Source: Comscore, Europe Digital Future in Focus 2013, March 2013)

#### Smart phone use related to purchasing products

Until now there is limited evidence-based data on the interaction of smartphone usage/penetration and mobile consumer behaviour. But in "Our Mobile Planet: Austria, Understanding the Mobile Consumer" (May 2012) Google points out, that 67% of smartphone users do not leave home without their device, 98% use smartphones at home and 71% while being in a store.

The same study (which is also available for US, Denmark and Ireland with more or less similar results) highlights that smartphone users seek information concerning daily life on a regular basis: 58% of smartphone users search for product info, followed by items "Restaurants, Pubs" and "Travel".

Again the outcomes of this user survey prove that smartphones are primary shopping companions for a significant share of users: 20 % agree to the statement "I intentionally have my smart phone with me to compare prices and inform myself about products. Even 16 % commit to the statement "I have changed my mind about purchasing a product or service in store as a result of information I gathered using my smartphone."

## The Initiative "Efficiency\_2.1"

In designing the initiative "Efficiency 2.1" (funded by the Programme Intelligent Energy Europe) the following important aspects have been kept in mind, summing up framework conditions discussed above:

- The share of adults who are using the internet is considerably high: in average two thirds, in some EU countries almost 80 %.
- Social media (Facebook, Twitter, etc.) have been attractive for a huge share of internet users; the number of accounts is still increasing.
- Smartphone penetration is growing rapidly, showing an increase of 40% within one year. Especially the age segment 25 34 years represents the biggest share. Smartphone apps and their regular use represent the day to day standard.
- Online information sources linked to product data and sources of supply like price comparison
  portals are extremely popular. Moreover, smart phone apps being designed for accessing
  detailed product data are in demand. This e.g. is proven by the download statistics for the
  comprehensive shopping app Barcoo, which has been installed more than 2.5 million times in
  Germany.
- Nevertheless the above mentioned online channels and services are seldom linked to energy efficiency or aspects of consumer behaviour change.

Assuming that the daily time for using communication and information media (for private purpose) is limited to some extent, it seems to be obligatory to focus information and promotion regarding purchase and use of sustainable and efficient products to the channels with priority right from now. Otherwise, there is a risk that awareness and information regarding efficiency could lose ground again.

Thus the main objective of this project is to support consumers in their purchase decisions by providing up-to-date information about the most energy efficient products on the market by using this new means of information. This will be done through the development of an "Efficiency Adviser" smartphone app that is easy to use and access through mobile devices as smartphones and tablets. Smartphone optimized consumer web portals (including Euro-topten sites) will be used to raise awareness of the benefits of energy efficient and sustainable products and social media channels (e.g. Twitter and Facebook) will encourage users to share the information with friends and family.

Consequently the main project objectives of "Efficiency 2.1" are

- Drive demand for higher efficient and sustainable products and solutions, by providing userfriendly mobile accessible information that will help and encourage consumers to choose these products.
- Fill the current gap in the retail sector by providing up-to-date advice about energy efficient and sustainable purchase and use of products directly at the point of sale.
- Support awareness of especially younger consumers for energy efficient purchase and use of products and enhancing energy aware and ecological sound behaviour in everyday life.
- Support the effective implementation of labelling regulations for white goods, (replacing the existing well-known efficiency label), TV sets and domestic lighting as well as established product declaration schemes for office equipment by implementing information measures, which help over viewing the overwhelming number of multiple green commercial messages.

The following major outputs lay the basis for striving the goals described above

- An "Efficiency adviser" smartphone app will be rolled out for product identification and in-store advice, covering the most relevant consumer decision-making criteria, namely: cost, product quality (if data from third party sources are available) and energy efficiency.
- web portals and social media channels (Twitter, Facebook) will be established dedicated to sustainable and energy efficient products and their energy- and eco-conscious use, benefitting from synergies with existing initiatives and programmes (e.g. top lists, independent product testing sites, labelling programmes, etc.).
- A broad involvement of stakeholders and experts is maintained, keeping experts informed through an news feed (Twitter) fed into an EU-level platform, serving as hub for all activities at a national level.

Consequently, it seems quite clear that the initiative "Efficiency 2.1" can effectively support closing the common gap in very popular online information sources regarding easy to use guidance for efficient purchase and use by establishing a high quality, neutral, up to date and EU wide aligned information service. Concluding from the observation mentioned above the EU initiative "Efficiency\_2.1" preliminary insights the app "Efficiency Advisor" can effectively impact the day to day live user behavior of the addressed target group concerning consumption and energy usage on two levels – as source of inspiration and incentive in the "day to day" mode as well as backing guidance in the selection and purchase of devices in shops.

## Basic concept for EU-wide app "Efficiency Advisor"

Generally the smartphone app "Efficiency Adviser" will guide consumers on two different levels:

- Shopping mode: assisting the selection of energy efficient and sustainable products on the point of sale
- Day to day mode: supporting consumers in leading an energy efficient and eco conscious lifestyle aiming at a stimulation of behavioural changes.

In the following both service levels are briefly described. The actual implementation of the app, available in autumn 2013, will be based on design process, including thorough evaluation of user needs and expectation as well as usability testing.

Shopping mode:

 App offers support for selecting products in a certain product category, based on user input (relevant product category plus size of household for cold appliances, view distance for TV) including relevant information regarding features (interfaces, protocols, low power modes)

- Show data for best performing products in given category (TV 42/48 Inch screen size, On mode XX / YY Watt) providing an added value for comparison of different products
- Provide a list of up to date actual available best performing products (topten product lists)
- Based on the database entry the app delivers an info regarding product test from independent testing institutes showing test result and providing link to test report (with costs if applicable)
- The app offers a simple cost calculator for comparing different products (two TVs, A resp. B class) evaluating total costs (purchase price and running costs for project lifetime) to assist eco-conscious purchase decisions (based on default settings).
- Show user generated content to related product features, (only if defined quality criteria are met)

Day to day mode:

- App presents key word filtered (filter on hashtags, e.g. "#LED") content from social media channels provided by partner portals.
- The App offers a direct communication channel to social media sites as well. The User is able to post messages to Facebook, Google+ and Twitter and is able to upload pictures to the social media sites.
- App shows energy advise at least once per week ("tip of the day", "did you know?")
- In the case of co-branded version: App delivers appropriate topic oriented content from cooperating key market actor

Especially implementing the feature "Continuous news feed / social media link" will be essential as it makes sure that smartphone users are encouraged to actually download and use this app as it has the capability of delivering a daily basis service and helps keeping in mind, that the app is installed once a product will be purchased. Consequently this specific feature has to be highlighted in promotional tasks. Thinking of a smartphone app without this feature customers could be reluctant regarding the installation as then they expect a rather seldom everyday use.



Figure 3: dummy front end of smartphone application "Efficiency Adviser"

## Relation to Euro-topten-Network and other related initiatives

It's worthwhile to emphasize that the initiative "Efficiency 2.1" considers two crucial aspects concerning scope and objective:

First it's not intended establishing a new brand, which would have to be communicated to consumers. However the project will focus on coupling and connecting to existing successful and already known initiatives at the national level, hence enhancing the service for consumers.

Second "Efficiency 2.1" will complement existing activities and avoiding duplication: The logic of this activity is consciously designed to preclude any duplication with existing activities. Instead, it will appear joined up from the consumers' perspective by transferring relevant information to attractive, up-to-date channels (via social media and accessible at the point of sale.) The project will make use of, and further promote, the outputs and synergies provided by the Euro-Topten-Max and other relevant IEE projects.

Especially this initiative is implemented as a complementary service to the Eurotopten-Network. Eurotopten is a consumer-oriented online search tool, which presents the best appliances in various categories of products. The key criteria are energy efficiency, impact on the environment, health and quality. Topten was launched in 2000 in Switzerland. Since then, sixteen other national Topten sites have been established, thanks to the European IEE-projects Euro-Topten, Euro-Topten Plus and today Euro-Topten Max (Intelligent Energy Europe). Each Topten website provides a selection of best appliances from the energy point of view. Topten information targets consumers (pictures, functions, price, no complex calculation, for products available locally in their country) and large buyers. Topten is rigorous and transparent, independent from producers and commercial distributors. Topten relies on neutral tests and analysis of independent institutions, labels and on standardized declarations of manufacturers (e.g. EU-directives for household appliances). www.topten.eu serves as a portal to reach all sites of participating countries. Beyond that "Efficiency 2.1" will collaborate with other EU projects and initiatives like Coolproducts, PremiumLight, Marketwatch, etc.

## Role of key actors and co-operation partners

An intense cooperation with key actors is indeed a core activity within this initiative aiming at significant increase in promotion coverage and lay the groundwork for a permanent maintenance of the provided services – various smart phone app versions and social media channels – even beyond the project lifetime.

Beyond the roll out of an independent smartphone app "Energy Adviser" the consortium further aims at implementing co-branded apps jointly with key market actors as well as incorporating core functionalities in already well-established apps. This activity will ensure gaining the widest possible outreach of this point-of-sale (POS) customer service. Several stakeholders have already expressed their interest for cooperation (energy utilities, price comparison platform, online advertisement portal, app provider, etc.)

For many market players (e.g. energy utilities, NGOs, etc.) it potentially will be a very appealing situation to use a semi-final smartphone app (white label version) and promote this service as their own product (ensuring that the IEE funding background will remain visible for users). Beyond the approach to establish and disseminate a pure IEE branded app the partners will aim at involving key players committing to use and widely promote this app in their branded version too. This will also lay the essential groundwork for the service provided beyond the project's time horizon.

## Outlook

After the project start in April 2013 the preparation and design process as well the implementation of all social media channels will be finalized by summer. The smart phone app "Efficiency Advisor" as jointly developed service will be available by autumn. In September all results from the evaluation of

user needs and experience gained from European wide usability testing will be presented to professional audience.



Co-funded by the Intelligent Energy Europe Programme of the European Union

The sole responsibility for the content of this Document lies with the authors. It does not necessarily reflect the opinion of the European Union. Neither the EACI nor the European Commission are responsible for any use that may be made of the information contained therein.

## References

- [1] Statistik Austria, 2013
- [2] Eurostat, 2013
- [3] R. Gaspar, D. Antunes: "Energy efficiency and appliance purchases in Europe: Consumer profiles and choice determinants" Elsevier Energy Policy, Vol. 39, pp. 7335–7346, September 2011
- [4] T. Bogner, B. Schäppi, J. Gsellmann, A. Schiffleitner, M. Stachura, J. Wiener, A. Müller, "Outlook Life Style 2030 - Determinanten für den Stromverbrauch in österreichischen Haushalten", 2012. (<u>http://www.energyagency.at/fileadmin/dam/pdf/publikationen/berichteBroschueren/LifeStyle20</u> <u>30 Endbericht.pdf</u>)
- [5] S. Heinzle R. Wüstenhagen: "Disimproving the European Energy Label's value for consumers? Results from a consumer survey", Institute for Economy and the Environment (IWÖ-HSG), University of St. Gallen, 2010
- [6] BITKOM: "Soziale Netzwerke Eine repräsentative Untersuchung zur Nutzung sozialer Netzwerke im Internet (2. Auflage), 2012
- [7] comScore: "2013 Europe Digital Future in Focus", March 2013

## What is the price of energy efficiency or which appliance efficiency class is the most suitable?

## Miha Tomšič MSc, Anja Glušič

## Building and Civil Engineering Institute ZRMK, Ljubljana, Slovenia

## Abstract

Electricity used for household appliances can represent an important part of the overall building energy balance and operational costs. Increasing electricity prices force our purchasing decisions to be more elaborated, and energy efficiency is their vital element. An important question is: can an average consumer get a comprehensive impression about long-term effects of the purchase based on data currently available at the point of sale?

An indicator showing average annual operational costs for a particular appliance can be a helpful tool, helping consumers to make reasonable decisions for the long-term framework. This type of information also fosters transition in consumer behaviour from the lowest cost orientation to economically most viable option, thus providing firm reasoning for green decisions in private and public procurement. It can also help in transforming the market towards a consumer-friendlier one. In this context Slovenia is taking part in two Intelligent Energy Europe projects entitled Yearly Appliance Energy Cost Indication (YAECI), and (green procurement-oriented) BuySmart+.

The relevance of elaborating energy cost indicators for the Slovenian appliances' market is underlined in the paper, the market itself is analysed and typical energy use data are presented. Aspects of energy cost indication are shown, among other the retailer point of view and reasons for cooperation (e.g. upgraded service for customers, market competition, improved company profile), and the consumer point of view received as feedback to two polls conducted by ZRMK (e.g. energy costs indication at point of sale, eventual influence upon change in purchasing practice and decisions).

## 1. Slovenian market of household appliances – past and current situation

Slovenian market of household appliances is well developed with regard to both variety of brands and models available as well as their technical and environmental quality. Also, as all the major international manufacturers are present in Slovenian shops it can be said that during the last two decades the situation has evolved to a level quite similar to other EU countries.

Households are a significant consumer of electricity, where the appliances play a very important role. Official statistical data for Slovenia [1] show that until the year 2007 electricity consumption was increasing fast. The global crisis hitting also many segments of Slovenian economy discontinued this trend. However, the household sector has some particular characteristics. In 2010 the share of electricity consumed in the household sector was 27%, nominally being the largest since 1991 and exceeding the figures from 2000 by almost one quarter.

This situation can be viewed at from different angles. On one hand it is related to the rising number of apartments, which brings along a higher number of household appliances. For example, comparison of inventories from 1991 and 2002 shows an increase in the number of apartments by almost 95000. The national statistics quotes that around 92% of residential buildings or apartments are owned privately. On the other hand, the number of building permits issued has been decreasing since 2007; in 2010 14.6% less permits than in 2009 were issued, and in 2011 6.8% less than in 2010. This means fewer purchased appliances for new apartments, with the sales reflecting a shift towards a larger share of appliances bought to replace old ones.

It can be reasoned that not only a higher number of appliances, but also their more frequent and intensified use related to changed living habits and patterns contribute to higher electricity consumption, although contemporary products have a significantly improved energy efficiency. According to estimations on an average around 1000 large household appliances are being sold annually in Slovenia [2], which has a population of slightly over 2 million.

The latest Energy Efficiency Status Report by JRC [3] states that final residential electricity consumption accounted for 29.71% of total final electricity consumption in the year 2010. Compared to this figure the final electricity consumption in the Slovenian residential sector is slightly below the EU-27 average.

It is interesting to observe the shares of some of the more significant appliances in the annual electricity consumption as included in the report. If we focus on the ones with a nearly 100% market saturation in Slovenia, namely refrigerators (usually as a refrigerator-freezer combination) and washing machines, we see that they fall into the "cold appliances" category with a 14,5% share, and "washing and drying" category with a 7,2% share on the EU-27 level, as illustrated in the figure below.



Figure 1: Residential electricity consumption breakdown in the EU-27; status 2009. (Source: [3])

The report brings an important conclusion, which confirms the above discussion about the situation in Slovenia; quote: "Residential electricity consumption is still rising. Although many appliances are becoming more efficient, the number of appliances is rising, appliances are used more often and for longer periods of time, and many appliances have more functions or special features that require more energy. The general trend in the residential sector is therefore an increase in electricity consumption."

In the Slovenian non-residential sector trends related to appliances are similar, although not that dynamic. Since 2012 the public sector has to comply with specific rules for green public procurement, which will be presented in more detail below.

The most recent (2013) Energy Efficiency Watch report for Slovenia [4] states that the policy package for appliances is to a large extent based on the implementation of the EU Directives on ecodesign and energy labelling. Currently there are no public subsidies available for purchase of energy efficient household appliances, but some commercial banks offer favourable loans with lower interest rate for such purpose.

## 2. Energy efficient appliances in the Slovenian strategic framework

National short- and mid-term energy and environmental strategies and goals in Slovenia are in line with the EU framework and related targets, for instance with the Directive on Energy Efficiency 2012/27/EU requesting purchase of products, services and buildings with high energy efficiency performance. For the appliances' sector labelling of products and gradual phasing out of inefficient models represent the starting point for improvements and progress. The public sector is supposed to play the leading role and represent a good example to the private one, based also on the requirements of the Decree on Green Public Procurement.

#### 2.1 Decree on Green Public Procurement

Green (public) procurement has been identified as one of the crucial elements of national strategies oriented towards sustainable growth, low-carbon society and nearly zero energy buildings. Slovenian authorities have in the recent past taken more concrete steps for improvement of the usual procurement practice using solely the lowest price as a predominant selection criterion. In the year 2007 the lowest price as the only selection criterion was used in 79,81% of all procurement cases by value, and in 73,48% of all procurement cases by number. The national Action Plan on GPP 2009-2012, AP GPP [5], set targets in accordance with the EU ones, and it was followed by development of a specific decree bringing forward requirements and selection criteria for 11 product groups. The Decree on Green Public Procurement [6] prepared on the basis of AP GPP strategy has been in use since March 2012. It is a mandatory operational document and has the status of a regulation.

The decree sets basic (core) environmental requirements, which are the mandatory level, and additional environmental requirements in the primary sense of recommendations. Procurement bodies have of course a free choice of shaping further, more rigorous requirements. One of the product groups where consideration of these legal obligations is mandatory comprises refrigerators, freezers, combined refrigerators and freezers, washing machines, dishwashers, and air conditioners.

The technical specifications and selection criteria for the above mentioned appliance types all follow the same principle of using the energy label as the starting point. Technical specifications used as minimum requirements are: class A+ or higher for refrigerators, freezers, combined refrigerators and freezers, washing machines, and dishwashers, and class A or higher for air conditioners. Selection criteria are based on the bonus points principle, i.e. the offer is given additional points for A++ and A+ class (or higher) appliances, respectively. The procurer shall define the method for bonus calculation and the share of these criteria in the overall set. There are additional bonus points possibilities included in the decree regarding the selection criteria: class A or higher for the wringing cycle (washing machines), and class A or higher for the drying cycle (dishwashers).

The ZRMK institute representatives cooperated in the work of a special expert group appointed by the Government, with a task of preparing draft structure of the decree and its product appendices, and of defining the core and additional criteria and technical specifications. Here our experience from the Intelligent Energy Europe project Buy Smart+ (and its predecessors Buy Smart and GreenLabelsPurchase) proved to be very useful [7]. The project addresses both private companies and public authorities, and offers free consultation, guidelines and procurement tools, information about procurement directives and labels, good practice database and other materials of interest. The product groups considered are building components, green electricity, lighting, office equipment and vehicles, and also household appliances.

The decree will certainly go through changes and be upgraded in the future, especially concerning the product groups where technological development is fast or where the labelling scheme undergoes amendments. The national GPP legislation directly relates also to some other fields, one of the more important being EPBD-based regulation on energy efficiency of buildings. At first sight maybe not very obvious, but potentially important can be the range and type of input data for future building energy performance calculation method. Namely, a very important topic which all Member States need to deal with already at this moment is the national definition of a "nearly Zero Energy Building" (nZEB). To formulate the most appropriate nZEB criteria several questions need to be answered, one of them touching also the appliances' sector: where will the system border be set and how detailed will the "energy" definition be, i.e. will the appliances be included in it. If yes, then the demand for most efficient products will grow faster, fostering also the development and manufacturing of new advanced products, and provision of additional information. Not only that, as the nZEB level will be mandatory for new public buildings already from 2018 on, the green public procurement criteria could need to be amended also considering this aspects. From this brief overview of a particular Slovenian regulatory segment it can be seen that many topics are interlinked and that in the future an instrument such as the YAECI indicator can play a noticeable direct or indirect role beyond the current one.

## 3. Energy efficiency versus investment and operational costs of appliances

Electricity used for various domestic appliances as reflected on monthly bills for operational costs can represent an important part of the overall building energy balance. The more efficient a building is the larger is the relative share of electricity consumption in the delivered energy score. It is somehow understandable that a highly energy efficient building is equipped with highly efficient products. But, as a consequence of increasing living costs related to electricity prices the purchasing decisions need to be more elaborated, and energy efficiency is becoming a logical yet sometimes not clear enough criterion. A very important question is: can an average consumer, be it private or public, get a comprehensive impression about long-term effects of the purchase based on data currently available at the point of sale?

For the appliances the same basic principle is to be followed as for the building energy efficiency itself. An analysis of long-term effects of individual choices and their impact on the overall performance is needed to gain the most profit out of the investment. At the same time another important fact has to be taken into account: electricity consumption and related operational costs depend also upon user behaviour, and patterns, frequency and duration of use.

It is fair to assume that data about average annual operational costs calculated according to a uniform method for a particular appliance can be one of the most helpful tools for the consumers, helping them to make reasonable decisions and bringing forward long-term advantages of buying a maybe somewhat more expensive yet much more efficient appliance in terms of energy use. This type of information also fosters transition in consumer behaviour from the lowest cost orientation to economically most viable option, and thus provides firm and clear reasoning for green procurement decision-making process in private as well in the public sector. Such an instrument can gradually bring further improvements and help in transforming the market towards a greener and consumer-friendlier one.

#### 3.1 Indicator of operational costs as additional consumer information

Experienced partners from 11 European countries, including Slovenia with the ZRMK institute, have formed a consortium under coordination of the NL Agency and started developing a voluntary indicator as described above [8]. The project (Yearly Appliance Energy Costs Indication; YAECI) has been supported by the Intelligent Energy Europe programme. It is based on a successful Dutch practice EnergieWeter. The main objective of the project is to provide customers with information at the point of sale on the yearly energy cost of products with an energy label, in order to stimulate the uptake of affordable efficient products.

As discussed above, the EU energy label currently provides the consumer with information on the energy efficiency (energy class), energy consumption and several other energy-related aspects. However, it lacks the information about an aspect that many consumers find very important, i.e. the product's (yearly) running costs. The calculation of costs follows a common method based on data from the energy label and average national electricity and water prices. For products with the old energy label the method has been modified to allow for comparison with the new labelling.

There are at least two major yet slightly different aspects of presenting these data at the point of sale (shop, catalogue, Internet). Firstly, consumers are able to better comprehend the difference between more and less efficient products when it is illustrated by lower operational costs for the first group. In this way the usually higher price of a more efficient product seizes to be perceived as a disadvantage frequently posing as an obstacle for a purchasing decision in favour of such items. Secondly, there may be cases when some product would for one reason or another be only seldom used, i.e. with much lower frequency than in a "standard" pattern of use. In such a situation the cost indicator would show that purchasing a more expensive and more energy efficient appliance would not bring long-term advantages as the operational costs' savings would not cover the price difference. This can be done in a simple way by checking the ratio between price difference and annual energy costs difference.

An example: a customer compares a highly energy efficient but more expensive (price: 400 EUR) appliance with a less efficient but cheaper (price: 350 EUR) one. Let us say that with "average (standard, normal, ...) use" the energy costs are 30 EUR/a and 39 EUR/a, respectively. The price

difference would be covered by a reduction of energy costs in ca. 5 years (50 EUR/9 EUR), so the purchase of a more efficient appliance seems completely rational and beneficial. However, in a case when the intended use is only occasional, for instance only one third of the "average" one, the energy costs would be only 10 EUR/a and 13 EUR/a, respectively. In this case the price difference would be covered by reduction of energy costs only in ca. 16 years (50 EUR/3 EUR), which may even be past the technical lifetime of a particular appliance.

Of course, points of sale will be equipped with simple but clear information for customers about the considered average use patterns of appliances fitted with indicators. These data and the calculation methodology behind the YAECI indicator are for each appliance type presented in detail in a report publicly available at the YAECI website (<u>http://www.appliance-energy-costs.eu/eu/library/library</u>).

It may be argued that the second case does not represent green purchasing decisions, but only if we look at the subject in a very narrow way, not taking into account the principle of searching for an economically most viable offer and the fact that lower usage rate also means lower electricity consumption and related lower negative environmental effects.

Although the visual appearance of the indicator has not been defined within the YAECI consortium to allow for customisation for different use options such as on a price tag, as an individual label and similar, in Slovenia the decision has been made to prepare a unified design. This initiative came in fact from the side of the largest retailers, pointing out that such an instrument needs own graphical identity so that the buyers will recognize it and accept it more quickly. Therefore the indicator carries the project logo and the text "Yearly energy costs" followed by the value expressed in EUR as illustrated in the figure below.



Figure 2: An example of the YAECI indicator for the Slovenian market. (Source: ZRMK)

## 4. Selected statistical data for Slovenia

The Statistical Office of the Republic of Slovenia provides access to statistical data from various sources and about various categories on its web portal [9], also about electricity consumption in households including information about electrical appliances and the shares of labelled ones. If we take a look at washing machines, refrigerators (also combined with freezers) and dishwashers we can see that in the year 2010 there were about two thirds of these appliances equipped with an energy label: washing machines, 65,3%; refrigerators (+freezers), 64,7%; dishwashers, 72,2%. Having in mind that in Slovenia energy labelling started in practice about a decade ago we can estimate that over two thirds of the mentioned appliances in use in Slovenian households are not older than ten years. The above mentioned statistical source offers further interesting data, some of which are presented in the figures below.

There are no official cumulative statistical data available which would allow for an estimation of the share of household appliances in the electricity consumption in the non-residential sector. This sector is very specific and the figures can vary significantly, for example between schools and hospitals on one side and office buildings on the other side. However, in relative terms the status can be estimated as being similar to the residential sector: continuous uptake of more efficient appliances both as first buy and as a replacement of old ones, increasing number of appliances or at least of some of the types due to technological upgrade, intensified and more frequent use.

Municipalities in Slovenia have an obligation to prepare local energy concepts (LEC), where the baseline conditions are established and various technically and economically feasible strategies for improvement of energy efficiency on the local level are defined. Current practice touches the share of

electricity consumption as discussed in this paper only seldom, but with respect to the strategies for sustainable growth this aspect will probably have to find its place in the LECs as well.

A clear picture of electricity consumption range evolving from different sources can be established during energy audits, which are being carried out for example in Slovenian hospitals, schools and kindergartens as a precondition to apply for state funds for improvement of energy efficiency. Here again not only an estimation of improvements in technical terms is important, but also from the financial aspects. An indicator of operational costs for large appliances can offer valuable help as an input to mid- and long term financial flow projections and planning of necessary budget.



Figure 3: Energy label class shares, residential sector: washing machines, refrigerators (+freezers), dishwashers; status 2010. (Source: [9])

We can also observe (Fig. 4) that in the residential sector in the period between 2009 and 2011 the total electricity consumption for washing machines and refrigerators was slowly decreasing, which is probably due to uptake of more efficient products, not due to a reduced total number of these appliances. As opposed to this trend the consumption of dishwashers was slightly increasing, which can be related to a larger number of households, both old and new, equipped with this appliance.



Figure 4: Annual electricity consumption for three selected products in GWh. (Source: [9])

## 5. Consumers' and retailers' point of view

Since the beginning of the IEE YAECI project in spring 2012 many promotional activities have been carried out in Slovenia by ZRMK, including presenting the indicator two times on the first programme of the national TV.

On the February 12, 2013 ZRMK presented YAECI project on the 1st programme of the Slovenian national TV in prime time just before the evening news. The additional information to consumers - appliances' operational costs was presented and explained at the interview. The second TV appearance was on March 5, 2013, when the Slovenian YAECI partner, ZRMK, went live into the national morning TV programme. The meaning and importance of energy labelling, and the idea of the yearly energy costs indicator for domestic appliances ware presented in the Merkur retailer trade centre in Ljubljana.

To obtain the consumers point of view about the energy labels, understanding of the appliances' operational costs and about key aspects when purchasing a new appliance, two polls were conducted by ZRMK. The first one was distributed after the workshop about the energy efficiency of appliances at the DOM Fair, Ljubljana, from March 13 to 17, 2013. The second one was an electronic version sent randomly to different costumers who just recently made the purchase of an appliance or are planning to do so in the near future. Altogether 204 opinions were collected and are presented in the figures below.



Figure 5: 114 female and 88 male persons mainly of the age from 20 to 60 years responded to the poll. (Source: ZRMK)



Figure 6: As seen from the chart the awareness about energy labels is quite high in Slovenia. (Source: ZRMK)



Figure 7: According to received answers the efficiency class followed by the price and operational costs are key elements when purchasing a new domestic appliance. (Source: ZRMK)



Figure 8: The calculation of annual operational cost of an appliance has proven to be a problem. The consumers are either not familiar with the calculation process or haven't considered it yet, basically for the reason of not knowing the methodology of calculation. (Source: ZRMK)



Figure 9: The final part of the poll shows that Slovenian consumers would highly appreciate additional information about the operational costs of an appliance. (Source: ZRMK)

The major Slovenian retailers contacted by ZRMK about YAECI so far underlined that one of the key elements of their approach to consumers is providing relevant and adequate information, be it in

shops, catalogues or on their web pages. They confirmed great care of proper display of energy labels and showed interest in the cost indicator idea as an additional information for the buyers. The prevailing positive aspects seen from their side can be summarised as building up the company image of being environmentally aware and consumer friendly, keeping up with current EU and national standpoints, and using the indicator as a marketing tool to strengthen their position on the national market.

## 6. Conclusion

Electricity consumption and related costs used to be somehow in the shadow of consumption and costs for heating. With the rising thermal standard of buildings (new construction and renovation) and with increasing energy costs in general this segment is quickly gaining importance. Building owners and users are more attentive to the possibilities of reducing related operational costs. Household appliances can contribute a significant share to the overall expenditure of energy and financial resources.

Based on these facts it would be logical that the fundamental decision making process when purchasing a new appliance is similar to the one when selecting for example a new boiler: defining the actual need in technical terms, choosing an appropriately high level of energy efficiency, comparing prices, and estimating long-term effects and payback time. We are talking about green procurement here, irrespective of the fact that especially in the private sector many buyers don't actually think about such a definition, but do it in a self-evident way simply because they are looking for the most rational solutions according to their available budget.

As shown in the paper the general awareness about the energy label for domestic appliances is high, meaning that buyers know how to differentiate between more and less energy efficient products. Knowing how to use data from the label to calculate long-term costs related to operation of appliances is another question. According to our survey an indicator presenting these facts at the point of sale as developed within the IEE YAECI project will be warmly appreciated not only by buyers, but also by retailers. The advantages are obvious and manifold: additional information for the consumer, a transparent picture of the relation between product price and its operational costs, clearer advantages of selecting more efficient products and better basis for planning of future budget expenditure. These facts are important both for private and for public purchasers and contribute to meeting individual as well as local and national environmental targets combined with cost savings.

## References

- [1] <u>http://www.stat.si</u>
- [2] <u>http://www.amikodlab.com</u>
- [3] Bertoldi P, Hirl, B. and Labanca, N. Energy Efficiency Status Report 2012 Electricity Consumption and Efficiency Trends in the EU-27. European Commission, Joint Research Centre, 2012. Can be downloaded at: <u>http://iet.jrc.ec.europa.eu/energyefficiency/sites/energyefficiency/files/energy-efficiency-statusreport-2012.pdf</u>
- [4] Energy Efficiency Watch. Energy Efficiency in Europe, Assessment of Energy Efficiency Action Plans and Policies in EU Member States, Country Report: Slovenia, 2013. Can be downloaded at: <u>http://www.energy-efficiency-watch.org/index.php?id=90</u>
- [5] Ministry of Finance, Republic of Slovenia. Action Plan for Green Public Procurement. Can be downloaded at: <u>http://www.mf.gov.si/si/delovna\_podrocja/sistem\_javnega\_narocanja/zelena\_javna\_narocila/</u>
- [6] Ministry of Finance, Republic of Slovenia. *Decree on Green Public Procurement*. Can be downloaded at: http://www.mf.gov.si/si/delovna podrocja/sistem javnega narocanja/zelena javna narocila/
- [7] IEE Buy Smart+, Green Procurement in Europe. http://www.buy-smart.info
- [8] IEE YAECI, Yearly Appliance Energy Cost Indication. <u>http://www.appliance-energy-costs.eu</u>, <u>http://www.energijainaparati.si</u>
- [9] <u>http://pxweb.stat.si/pxweb/Database/Okolje/Okolje.asp</u>

#### Energy Profits with Controllable Electric Vehicle's Charger under Energy Box Decisions

Hugo Neves de Melo\*, João P. Trovão<sup>#</sup>, Paulo G. Pereirinha<sup>#</sup> and Humberto M. Jorge<sup>\*†</sup>

\* R&D Unit Institute for Systems Engineering and Computers at Coimbra <sup>F</sup>Department of Electrical Engineering, Polytechnic Institute of Coimbra <sup>‡</sup>Department of Electrical Engineering and Computers, University of Coimbra

#### Acknowledgements

This work has been framed under the Energy for Sustainability Initiative of the University of Coimbra and partially supported by the Energy and Mobility for Sustainable Regions Project (CENTRO-07-0224-FEDER-002004) and by Fundação para a Ciência e a Tecnologia (FCT) under project grants MIT/SET/0018/2009, PTDC/EEA-EEL/121284/2010 and PEst-C/EEI/UI0308/2011.

#### ABSTRACT

Nowadays, there is a wide interest in the transformation of electric grids into smart grid, especially in the residential sector. This technology change provides the basis for a more efficient use of the electric power infrastructure at a global scale. Since electricity is an indispensable commodity for people, which has its own trade market, there is a growing need for technologies that make a sustainable, intelligent and optimized management of electricity. Thus, technologies have been presented based on demand-sensitive pricing strategies that already have proved to be effective for load profile changes such as the one mentioned in this paper, which is designated as Energy Box (EB). This is a benefic technology not only for the environment, but also for utilities and especially for the end users by referring to the domestic sector and their respective loads, emphasizing one "special" domestic load, which is the Electric Vehicle (EV).

Therefore, in this paper the EB technology, the demanding EV charger characteristics and the associated benefits regarding end users and utilities are examined. This paper also compares several case studies based on daily EV usage, electricity price evolution and EV batteries State-of-Charge. The presented results are based on ECE 15 standard driving cycle and different electricity tariffs, such as, single and two rate tariff, and dynamic tariff based on *OMIE* market prices which considers the access to networks tariffs for January 2013 in Portugal. For each case study, possible EB decisions concerning one random end user are presented and fully discussed. The battery life impact for the proposed application and the achieved monthly handling cost ( $\in$ ) are also approached.

Keywords: Electric Vehicles; Charger; Energy Profit; Vehicle to Grid; Energy Box.

#### INTRODUCTION

Currently the optimization of energetic resources usage, beholding the associated costs, is one of the most discussed hot topics, mainly when the crude oil and respective arising products are considered. The global aspects concerning the energy supply, leads to economic, ecologic and geopolitical issues, which are gaining today's political and scientific attention. Contemporary society is increasingly dependent on energetic resources, with the fossil fuels being (e.g. coal, natural gas and crude oil) the most problematic, due to their limited existence and currently attained importance,

which leads to their price instability. Only in Portugal during 2011 approximately 5.5 million tons just in fuels for the public transportation sector was expended [1].

The resulting emissions from thermoelectric plants and the massive utilization of internal combustion engine (ICE) vehicles, mainly in the transportation sector, substantially increase the global gas emissions. Carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) is probably the most famous greenhouse gas emitted to our atmosphere. During 2010 in Portugal, only from fossil sources approximately 53 thousand tons of this greenhouse gas was released [2]. ICE vehicles emissions are one of the major urban pollution sources, especially in medium and large cities, leading to public health issues, as air pollution contribute to mortality and morbidity [3]. Thus, it is easy to understand why pollution coefficients must be reduced in order to increase planet sustainability and life quality. The reduction of greenhouse gases emission could be achievable through losses reduction from generation, transmission, distribution and consumption of electrical power. This reduces the amount of produced energy needed, as well as the resulting pollution and greenhouse gas emissions, being achieved more efficient energy production systems. For this purpose, renewable resources and Electric Vehicles (EV) are considered good alternatives [4].

On the other hand, the smart grid applicability in the residential sector provides technological basis for a more efficient use of the electric power infrastructure at a global scale. Since electricity is a good indispensable for people commodity, which has its own trade market, there is a growing need for technologies that make a sustainable, intelligent and optimized management of electricity. Thus, technologies have been presented based on demand-sensitive pricing strategies that have already proved to be effective in altering patterns of electricity usage as the one mentioned in this paper, which is designated as Energy Box (EB). In fact, demand-sensitive pricing of electricity is expected to become the standard pricing mechanism in smart grids, maintaining electric system security and reliability at least cost. This is a benefic technology not only for the environment, but also for utilities and especially for the end users by referring to the domestic sector and their respective loads. emphasizing one "special" domestic load, which is the EV. These end users benefits are assigned based on their willingness in the assistance to the utility in several energy exchange scenarios, as the ones described further in this paper. Recent concepts and developments in EV philosophy and technology not only point for the need for charging (Grid to Vehicle - G2V) but also on delivering storage energy back to the grid (Vehicle to Grid - V2G), providing economic benefits for EV owners (end users) and utilities, decreasing the environmental impact through electricity generation plants and pollution reduction. Accordingly to this, technologies like the EB when attached to EV bidirectional and power adaptive chargers, as mentioned in this paper, will allow exploiting all the capacity and benefits of EB technology. This is possible by managing the EVs energy as they represent important loads or supplies in the end user and utilities perspective [5] [6]. Therefore, in this paper the EB technology is examined, including the demanding EV charger characteristics, how both are related, and the end users and utilities associated benefits are also discussed. Facing the enormous challenge of energetic exchanges between the EV and the grid, this paper approaches the importance of energy management, while maintaining the end user satisfaction level. Maintain electrical energy quality service without neglecting the dynamic electricity price changes is also highlighted. This paper also compares several case studies based on daily EV usage, electricity price evolution and EV batteries State-of-Charge (SoC). The presented results are based on ECE 15 standard driving cycle and different electricity tariffs, such as, single and two rate tariff, and dynamic tariff based on OMIE market prices considering the access to networks tariffs for January 2013 in Portugal. For each case study, possible EB decisions concerning one random end user are presented and fully discussed, as well as battery life impact for the proposed application and the achieved monthly handling cost ( $\in$ ).

#### ENERGY BOX CONCEPT AND ELECTRIC VEHICLE INTERACTION

The EB is proposed as a 24/7 operating technology for home or small business electrical energy usage management, which could take new actions within small step times (e.g. minute). EB is designed to operate in a demand-sensitive real-time pricing environment, which is feasible through smart grids technology evolution (see Figure 1). Thus, under this purpose it is assumed that, every electrical device in a home or small business will be controllable from one EB [6] [7].



#### Figure 1: Energy Box concept illustration [6].

The current transformation of the electrical grid according to the smart grid concept generates opportunities for implementation of demand-side energy management systems technologies based on different pricing strategies that will allow a more efficient use of the electric power infrastructure. These strategies, already demonstrate that they are efficient in the application of electricity consumption alternative patterns. This kind of approach means benefits for the end users (e.g. reducing their electricity bill without degrading comfort levels) and for utilities as well (e.g. by the assistance that end users might provide in order to have better management of energy peaks, flattening the aggregate demand curve, and meeting supply with demand), leading also to environmental benefits [5]. Concerning EB technology, the most relevant aspect approached in this paper is the capability to manage the energy of one residential specific load, the EV. Thus, to obtain profitable electricity exchanges between end users and utilities, the EB will have the ability to store and learn about the end users profile. This allows taking cyclical decisions of storing or selling electricity from and to the grid, given dynamic variables such as, the price of electricity, weather conditions, comfort requirements, and electricity availability from decentralized renewable sources, without need human intervention.

In terms of command signal trades among utilities, end user's EB and the EV, a bidirectional communication system will be need. These involve communication devices, which will send and receive information signals about energy price, peak demand, reduce power demand curve and unused renewable energy. Then, according to the EV user cooperation capability and their respective storage energy or power supply capacity, can behave as a support system. With this technology, the decision about storage energy or selling electricity to the grid is based on the specific user profile and other dynamic variables. This is a quite interesting challenge that will require some sort of autonomous support based on decision support tools and adequate algorithms, where EV has a benefic and important role. Thus, technologies similar to EB are crucial for meeting the several opportunities and challenges offered by evolution through smart grids. However there is still needed investigation and pilot-projects in order to archive an energy management system of this kind [5].

#### Main Benefits and Drawbacks in End User and Utility Perspective

The G2V and V2G operation modes allow that all the EV can be seen as load, distributed energy storage system or as isolated electrical energy supplies. Thus, with a large EV and respective chargers integration (similar to the one presented in [8]) the electric grid will make possible the offer of several services which will differ in control regime, response time, terms of contract and price, having different benefits and drawbacks in the end user and utility perspective. Some of these services are related with peak power response capacity, storage for renewable energy, backup ability, peak shaving, spinning reserves and voltage and frequency regulation in order to improve quality service. One common benefit for each one of these services is related to energy acquiring possibility at the lowest prices, being the main drawback related to the still limited EV Energy Storage Systems (ESS) energetic capacity of [8] [9] [10].

#### **Electric Vehicle Charger Characteristics**

In order to accomplish the desired interaction between the EV and the EB, is important notice that the EV need to be associated a charger designed accordingly some specific features. Those are bidirectionality in power flow for charge and discharge operation modes (G2V and V2G respectively), capable of establish unit power factor and low Total Harmonic Distortion (THD) in order to not degrade power quality. The EV charger should also perform power control, have low construction complexity, if possible be classified as an on-board charger and be compatible with a regular 16 A plug. In order to fulfill these requirements the considered charger topology is the one presented and fully discussed in [8]. Regarding the battery technology, also in [8], are presented the considered battery pack characteristics. LiFePO4 is the deemed technology, because based on recent studies for energy storage systems applicability in EV, this is the most appropriate nowadays for EV powertrain purpose [11] [12].

#### **ELECTRICITY TARIFF SCENARIOS**

As previously mentioned, in near future demand-sensitive electricity pricing is expected to become the operative standard for energy tariffs mechanism. Since this paper intends to focus the importance and benefits of energy management technologies, mainly for the residential sector, is mandatory set all the pricing options in the end user perspective. Therefore, in this paper are considered three pricing methodologies presented in Table 1.

Table 1. (	Considered	electrical	energy tariffs.
------------	------------	------------	-----------------

Tariff	€/kWh
Simple	0,1418
Two Rate (peak period)	0,1674
Two Rate (off-peak period)	0,0878
Dynamic pricing (based on market)	Average hourly for week and weekend days

The two first methodologies, stated in Table 1, are designated as simple tariff and two rate tariff, being these established by "*Entidade Reguladora Dos Serviços Energéticos*" (ERSE) in 2013. The third is the dynamic tariff based on *OMIE* market prices ( $\in$ /MWh) considering the access to networks tariffs, for each hour in January 2013 for Portugal [13]. To obtain the same price evolution to the end user, this hourly dynamic tariff was divided by a thousand in order to achieve an  $\in$ /kWh relation. Lastly, this final daily electricity dynamic energy pricing was obtained by adding the access to grid tariff accordingly to the ERSE electricity price structure presented in Figure 2. The considered access to grid tariff value, was 0.0654  $\in$ /kWh for end users with power contracted under 20.7 kVA, accordingly to ERSE 2013's grid access tariff tables [14].



#### Figure 2: ERSE 2013 dynamic energy pricing tariff architecture.

In order to achieve more accurate results analysis, the 2013 January month was split into week days (twenty three) and weekend days (eight), being obtained two different dynamic tariff curves. These are the used price curves, for variable tariff case. These evolutions are the most updated electricity price values in Portugal for dynamic energy pricing, in order to obtain a less erroneous approximation facing the future of electricity market operation system.

In this paper is considered for the variable tariff, that each hour price is also the same for the utility to pay to the end users for their sold electricity. For the simple and two rate tariff is no admissible sell energy to the grid.

#### **CASE STUDIES**

This section introduces the approached scenarios in this paper. Four case studies will be next presented, where for each one of these, should be noted that the expectable life time conservation and safety levels preservation demands for 80% of the battery pack SoC utilization (for LiFePO4 batteries technology). The batteries operation temperature is considered constant (around 25°C), and the proposed charger for this application ensures that the permissible voltage and current limits are not exceeded [8] [15]. Thus, for further understanding of EB possible decisions facing each scenario is a relevant remark that the maximum SoC level (100%) is equal to 8.640 kWh while the minimum (20%) equals to 1.728 kWh. For all presented scenarios it is considered that the EV is the family 2<sup>nd</sup> car, used at working days (week) for travelling and grid energetic exchanges participation, and at weekend days essentially for the grid energetic exchanges, being associated at one random residence.

The adopted strategy for buying or selling electricity is based on knowledge of the maximum and minimum electricity price along the daily 24 hours for each case. One third variable located between this maximum and minimum, will define the price slots for buying or selling electrical energy. Finally is established a linear relation between the current price and the power level applied in that instant, in order to valorize the flowing energy. Therefore, for the instants with the lowest and highest price, the EB will command purchase or sale operations respectively, using the maximum charger power level (2.3 kW), if none of the SoC limits is reached. For the further presented scenarios regarding the week days, the EV is daily out from home from 7:30 AM until 6:30 PM. Along this daily time slot, the first drive time period (expended time to get to work) goes from 7:30 AM to 9 AM, then the EV stays parked from 9 AM until 5 PM where energetic exchanges (charge or discharge) are not allowed. Finally, the end user daily trip back home takes 1.5 hours (like the morning period), arriving at home around 6:30 PM. In the driving periods was considered a typical routine for mobility in big European cities with low average speed and frequent start and stop situations, designated as ECE 15. These were used according the tests presented in [11] for a small EV prototype only with the considered battery pack as ESS and with regenerative breaking capacity. Thus, both 1.5 hour drive periods was formed by 27 times the ECE15 drive cycle, which corresponds to approximately 27.35 km, being the daily considered total journey distance of 54.7 km.

In this paper it is also important remark that only one EV is considered. Therefore, the grid impact of several EV simultaneously connected for charge or discharge purpose is not addressed.

The first case study approaches the considered dynamic energy pricing for the week days (see Figure 3). Through Figure 3 analysis, it is possible notice that the purchase and sale energy amount is defined according to the involved daily price slot, in order to valorize the EV storage energy and minimize the EV charging cost as previous mentioned. The variable for the price slot definition was approximately the mean value of this price curve ( $0.13 \in$ , in this case). Thus, the EV energy evolution slope is bigger when the price is lower and is smaller when the price is higher for purchase and sale situations respectively.



Figure 3: a) Week days' electricity price and EV energy evolution. b) Dynamic energy pricing handling costs for week days.

As previously stated, for the week days from 7:30 AM until 6:30 PM is the daily time slot where the EV is out from home, therefore in this period exists energy consumption by travelling, as presented in Figure 3 a) zoomed area. In Figure 3 b) the handling costs are presented for the considered one week average day and the respectively total monthly amount, which is 23 (number of week days in January 2013) times the approximately 0.80 € value corresponding to the green bar.





Figure 4: a) Weekend days' electricity price and EV energy evolution. b) Dynamic energy pricing handling costs for weekend days.

Therefore in Figure 4 a) the purchase or sale energy price slots were defined using as reference value 0.12 €. This possible EB decision means to purchase electricity when the price was

approximately under  $0.12 \in$  and only sell it back around 7 PM which is the beginning of the day period where the electricity price is higher. Thus, this is one possible decision in order to maximize the profit, being the monthly handling cost around 7  $\in$ . Notice that when the energy sold is higher than the purchase amount, the obtained difference between both is negative, which means profit in the end user perspective.

In Figure 5 and Figure 6 are presented the simple and two rate tariff scenarios respectively. For these, selling electricity back to the grid is not permissible, being only considered the January 2013 week days (23 days). As is possible notice, in the presented cases the EV fully charge level is attained before the end of the day, being minimized the partial or minimum SoC level time in the battery pack, which also increasing their life time expectance. Figure 5 presents single tariff scenario based on stated values in Table 1.



Figure 5: a) Week days' simple tariff electricity price and EV energy evolution. b) Simple tariff handling costs for week days.

Through Figure 5 analysis and considering what was previously stated in this paper, is understandable the lack of sold energy amount, and the high monthly expended amount for EV charge purpose. In fact, is only possible buy energy following a constant and high price level when compared to the other case studies.

Figure 6 presents the two rate tariff scenario based on stated values in Table 1.



Figure 6: a) Week days' two rate tariff electricity price and EV energy evolution. b) Two rate tariff handling costs for week days.

In the two rate tariff, the most profitable EV charging period is from 0 AM to 7 AM, which is the offpeak period having the lowest electricity price among all presented cases. Once is achievable a meaningful difference price between the peak and off-peak period, the EB decides to charge only in the off-peak, because that time slot is big enough for fully charge the EV before the beginning of the drive period, being minimizing the EV charging cost.



The final overview facing all presented scenarios is made through Figure 7 analysis.

Figure 7: Final monthly handling costs for each approached tariff method.

In this figure are summarized all final monthly EV electricity expenses amounts for each considered case. The final variable tariff value is obtained by the sum of the monthly total amounts for the 23 week days and the 8 weekend days which totaling the first 2013 month. Obviously the other two case studies concern the simple and two rate tariff, being understandable their final bigger values. Thus in this cases is not possible sell back to the grid the EV storage energy and average electricity price value is higher than in the variable tariff case. The final two rate tariff monthly cost is close to the variable one due to the EV charging was performed in the off-peak period where the price is lower.

#### CONCLUSIONS

This paper tackles the end user achieved benefits in the exchange of electrical energy with the utilities concerning one EV. This is a dynamic process managed by autonomous support technologies like EB devoted to residential sector where the EV is approached as a load or supply identity. Thus, the EV may have a prominent role when associated to autonomous residential electricity management systems like EB, being mandatory to have associated EV chargers with specific features, which are fundamental for a more sustainable energy system.

Through the presented results analysis and authors considerations it was possible to conclude that the future of electricity dynamic energy pricing associated to the EB and EV technologies could allow to end users archive important monetary benefits. Hereupon, a good trade among EV energy needs given the electricity prices is always attained. Thus, among all presented case studies the dynamic tariff case associated to the mentioned technologies is the most profitable being its monetary profit of 7.6  $\in$  and 1.5  $\in$  when compared to the simple and two rate tariffs respectively. If we consider twelve equal months like the approached in this paper, one single end user will achieve approximately 91  $\in$  and 18 $\in$  of annual profit, given the previous presented comparison.

Due EB decisions for minimize the charging cost and maximize the sale price, the end user always obtains good tradeoff in the energetic exchanges. The fact of the charger being power "flexible" allows performing charge/discharge with different power levels, which benefits the power distribution among all domestic loads. The end user also has the advantage of not need to concern about price

scheduling since the EB takes the better decision for him, he just needs to plug the EV once he at home.

It should be noted that in all of these cases and presented results several capabilities and characteristics of EB are not being taken into account, such as crossing power requirements of the other domestic loads or taking decisions in order to a specific user profile. Exploiting all the potentialities of EB technology is not the objective of this paper. The developed study cases were based on real energy price approximation, real battery technologies restrictions and logical random end user decisions concerning EV needs and price evolution, just to demonstrate what could be the end user economic benefits.

Thus, the controllable EV's charger under EB decisions will be crucial in the future of residential energy trades, being archived significant profits which leads to optimized energetic handling cost.

#### REFERENCES

- [1] <u>http://www.pordata.pt/Subtema/Portugal/Energia-90</u>
- [2] <u>http://www.pordata.pt/Subtema/Portugal/Poluicao+Atmosferica+e+Clima-86</u>
- [3] João P. Trovão, Paulo G. Pereirinha and Humberto M. Jorge, *Design Methodology of Energy Storage Systems for a Small Electric Vehicle*. EVS24 Stavanger, Norway, May 13-16, 2009.
- [4] Byeon, G.; Yoon, T.; Oh, S.; Jang, G., "Energy Management Strategy of the DC Distribution System in Buildings Using the EV Service Model," Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on , vol.28, no.4, pp.1544,1554, April 2013.
- [5] Marta Lopes, Carlos H. Antunes, et al. "An automated energy management system in a Smart Grid context ", 2012 IEEE ISSST – Proc. Int. Symp. Sustainable Systems and Technology, Boston, May 16-18-2012.
- [6] Daniel Livengood, Richard Larson. Jorge, *The Energy Box: Locally Automated Optimal Control of Residential Electricity Usage*. Service Science, pp. 1-16, ©SSG, 2009.
- [7] Kathy Donnelly, Daniel Livengood, *To Intelligent Energy Infrastructure: Achieving Energy Efficiency through Behavioural Economics and Energy Box Technology Implementation*. Massachusetts Institute of Technology, January 22, 2008.
- [8] Hugo Neves de Melo, João P. Trovão, Paulo G. Pereirinha and Humberto M. Jorge, *Electric Vehicles' Intelligent Charger for Automated Energy Management System*. International Workshop on Energy Efficiency for a More Sustainable World", September 2012.
- [9] Lopes, J.A.P.; Soares, F.J.; Almeida, P.M.R.; , "Integration of Electric Vehicles in the Electric Power System," Proceedings of the IEEE , vol.99, no.1, pp.168-183, Jan. 2011.
- [10] Hegazy, O.; Van Mierlo, J.; Lataire, P.; , "Design and control of bidirectional DC/AC and DC/DC converters for plug-in hybrid electric vehicles," Power Engineering, Energy and Electrical Drives (POWERENG), 2011 International Conference on, pp.1-7, 11-13 May 2011.
- [11] aulo . ereirinha and o o . Trov o (2012). Multiple Energy Sources Hybridization: The Future of Electric Vehicles?, New Generation of Electric Vehicles, Zoran Stevic (Ed.), ISBN: 978-953-51-0893-1, InTech, DOI: 10.5772/53359.
- [12] de Melo, H.N.; Trovao, J.P.; Pereirinha, P.G.; , "Batteries usability for Electric Vehicle powertrain," Energetics (IYCE), Proceedings of the 2011 3rd International Youth Conference on, pp.1-7, 7-9 July 2011.
- [13] <u>http://www.omie.es/files/flash/ResultadosMercado.swf</u>
- [14] <u>http://www.erse.pt/pt/electricidade/tarifaseprecos/Paginas/default.aspx</u>
- [15] ThunderSky, "Instruction Manual for LF /LC /LM Lithium ower Battery", 2007.

# Italian Financial and Energy saving policies: Cost-Benefit Analysis based on the Enea Reports issued within the survey span 2007-2010

Lorenza Di Pilla<sup>1</sup>, Per Heiselberg<sup>2</sup>, Anna Joanna Marszal<sup>2</sup>, Salvatore Mura<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Cagliari University, Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering and Architecture – DICAAR

<sup>2</sup> Aalborg University, Department of Civil Engineering

#### Abstract

The aim of the present research is to assess the cost-effectiveness of mixing and combining different energy retrofit measures for the several geographical areas of Italy. The research work is based on the analysis of the results supplied by the several Reports drawn up by **ENEA** - the **Italian National Agency for New Technologies, Energy and Sustainable Economic Development** - year by year since 2007. The work is centered on finding out a criterion, based on simple and available data, that is able to identify the most cost-effective retrofit measures to improve dwellings' energy efficiency.

With the final objective of adjusting and addressing the subsidies and the policy makers' decisions in the most profitable way, there were developed some comparative cost-effectiveness analyses and there were highlighted the most consistent kinds of renovation, both with the current economic outlook and depending on the specific geographical and climatic background.

This paper presents and discusses the consequences of the Italian government leaders' policies and purposes of reducing the energy demand in the residential sector, in order to facilitate the development of a consistent plan and extention of public incentives and tax deductions for dwellings' energy-saving retrofits.

Thence, it's designed to represent a reference point to help decision-makers and relevant stakeholders appreciate how targets have been used till now and how effective they could be, also providing evidence to be used in the upcoming policy development discussions.

Actually, as this paper proves, the earlier outcomes connected with the current National Energy Strategy reveal that some such adjustments and refinements are needed, in order to make it really effective and worthwhile.

Although the praiseworthy initiative and aim that underlies such a political-economic venture, it shows several gaps and faults that should be offset and filled up.

#### Nomenclature

OO: Opaque horizontal surfaces' insulation (floors and roofs);

OV: Opaque vertical surfaces' insulation (walls);

IN: Replacement of windows with low transmittance ones;

ST: Installation of solar thermal collectors;

CI: Replacement of boilers with condensing or biomass ones or with high efficiency heat pumps;

NW: NorthWest Italian macro-area (Piemonte, Valle d'Aosta, Lombardia, Liguria);

NE: NorthEast Italian macro-area (Trentino-Alto Adige, Veneto, Friuli-Venezia Giulia, Emilia-Romagna); CE: Central Italian macro-area (Toscana, Umbria, Marche, Lazio);

ME: Southern Italian macro-area (Abruzzo, Molise, Campania, Puglia, Basilicata, Calabria);

IS: Islands Italian macro-area (Sicilia and Sardegna).

#### Introduction

The present research-work is a report and a review of the most representative financial instruments introduced in Italy since the enactment of the Finance Act 2007 (and its successive 2008 and 2010 edition), i.e. the Fiscal Incentives for Energy Savings in the Household Sector (a.k.a. "The 55% Tax Reductions for Building Retrofitting").

It is in particular focused on those only kinds of building renovations related to the three last Commas (i.e. 345, 346 and 347) of the First Finance Act Article, that were carried out in private dwellings within

the time span of 2007-2010. With reference to the several Reports drawn up by the ENEA in order to relate the Authorities about costs and results of the above incentives, there were written and filled out different spreadsheets, schedules and graphs to collect and sum up all the data and information that could be the most significant to define an all-embracing cost-benefit assessment.

The main purpose of the present research is in fact aimed at the assessment of the results till now obtained in terms of their cost-effectiveness, resting on an amount of data large enough to take stock of the early stages of the Government Campaign.

Thanks to that it could be possible, in the foreseeable future, to adjust the Italian Energy Policies and address the politicians' decisions in order to encourage those kinds of renovation, where they should be more cost-effective, and instead give up and/or limit such a financial support, whereas some other interventions reveal their lacks and disadvantages.

Actually, the rising energy costs, the growing concern about environmental issues and the approaching exhaustion of world energy resources are urging the whole European Community and the several National Governments to improve their energy management.

With European overall policy being to significantly decarbonize its economy by 80% to 95% by 2050, the building's sector, which accounts for 40% of the region's energy consumption and almost the same level of GHG emissions, must undoubtedly play a key role [5].

And any strategy to tackle the challenge in the buildings sector will clearly require a significant amount of financial investments and therefore long-term political commitments.

Hence, the main goal of the present work is to gather key facts derived from the use of some such financial instruments as the next steps in improving the energy performance of buildings: this paper would like to show the Italian tax reliefs already in place and points out the main observations related to the impact of such a policy in an all-embracing assessment.

In general, a particular attention is usually paid to Public Administrations, as European and National Legislations often point out that these entities must provide energy efficiency measures, as well as for the reasons above indicated, also in order to represent an example for the entire community and for the citizens too [6].

But it's very important also to find out how to foster and encourage energy efficiency improvements and energy saving measures in private dwellings, in order to achieve the double advantage, both to reduce the global energy consumption level within the private sector, and to increase investments favouring the creation of additional cash flows too.

"Buildings are at the centre of our social and economic activity. Not only do we spend most of our lives in buildings, we also spend most of our money on buildings. The built environment is not only the largest industrial sector in economic terms, it is also the largest in terms of resource flow"[7].

Hence, the possible combination of some such multiple benefits makes the building sector a crucial field for policy makers at EU and national levels. Therefore, a policy framework that can support the national markets in unlocking these potentials is strongly needed.

And moreover, most of the previous, several researches already developed, demonstrate that financial and environmental aims are not necessarily a contradiction, but can actually support each other [8].

## The background of the previous knowledge and the potentialities disclosed by this paper

There were already depicted, at European International level, various reports and surveys that have taken a closer look at how financial instruments are currently being used in Europe, providing some evidence of their effectiveness too [5,10,17]. In particular, they have underlined a great variety of financial instruments available throughout the EU to support the improvement of the energy performance of buildings, but, although their undoubtable relevance, none of them has analyzed into details the respective implications at a "single-nation-level". As a matter of fact, this particular topic isn't thoroughly discussed, neither in scientific literature, nor in specific technical guidelines: thus, the example offered by the ENEA Reports could represent, at a national level, a very important instrument to develop a concrete strategy with the aim of creating some guidelines to optimize and address the challenge of renovating the existing building stock, keeping also pace with the ambitious aims of both the Italian Nation and the European Union.

Actually, all the data on costs and energy savings collected through the last four years by the ENEA and provided by such reports, represent a valuable source that should be used systematically to evaluate the financial policies' current approach and to give some guidance on the future. And moreover, since achieving energy savings in buildings is a complex process, policy making in this field requires a meaningful understanding of several aspects and characteristics of the building stock:

reducing the energy demand involves the deployment of effective policies which, in turn, make it necessary to understand what affects people's decision making processes, the key characteristics of the building stock, the impact of current policies etc...

As already mentioned in a recent article [9], many other authors have already pointed out that there are many obstacles to the spreading of good practices. One of the main problems is the cost-effectiveness of home energy retrofits that is rarely taken into account in national policy programs [27].

In particular, the literature review highlights some critical issues:

- National legislation can be too strict and prescribe energy efficiency requirements that make retrofits cost-ineffective for homeowners [22, 25];
- Energy price is fictitiously low because social costs of production are often hidden and not charged directly on users' bills [23, 24, 26, 27];
- Uncertainties on future energy price make the economic feasibility analysis of works really difficult [19, 20];
- Public subsidies are necessary to reduce payback time and increase economic benefits for investors [26, 27].

Taking account of some such remarks and focusing the attention on Italy and on its own financial policies and energy regulations, it reveals very important (after due considerations related to the previous, early stages of the public incentives established till now) to plan and address the future energy policies so them to be consistent and profitable.

Therefore, the Enea Reports and their analysis in depth could play a fundamental role to understand which and where some kinds of buildings' renovation reveal their cost-effectiveness (and thence should be encouraged with a suitable financial support), and when instead they display a lower all-embracing consistence.

The ENEA REPORTS: the so-called reports consist in all the information and data collections drawn up by the *Italian National Agency for New Technologies, Energy and Sustainable Economic Development* in order to test and assess the effectiveness of Italian laws and regulations related to the "55% tax reductions" for building retrofitting in Italy [1, 2, 3, 4].

The above reports were issued, year by year since 2007 (i.e. since the earliest incentives settled by the Finance Act of 2007), in order to monitorize the results of the financial policies adopted in Italy to increase the Nation's energy efficiency. They involve the entire country and, splitting it into 5 different geographical macroareas, allow to carry out an investigation and to develop an analysis centered both on the single macroarea's level and on the whole Italian level.

In line with the EU general objectives, and most of all in the light of both the recent 2006/32/CE and the 2010/31/CE Directives' enactment, besides the so-called *EU 20:20:20* energy saving planks, the primary goal of the Italian energy policy concerns the implementation of several measures addressed to liberalize and increase the overall efficiency of the energy sector [10, 17].

And in order to align with the above mentioned European policies and objectives, the Italian Government has in fact adopted a strategy aiming at the diversification and the penetration of new energy forms in power generation, with a concurrent improvement of energy efficiency and conservation in end uses, as well as with a wider eploitation of renewable energy sources.

Thence, on the one hand it is attempting to incentive mechanisms and methodologies for quantifying energy consumptions and energy savings in dwellings, and on the other hand, since the Finance Act issued in 2007 and in order to increase energy savings for winter heating in existing buildings, has established a system of generous financial incentives: they allow a tax deduction of 55% for all the investements sustained both by private, individual citizens and by companies.

#### Description of the method used

"If you cannot measure it, you cannot improve it "(Sir William Thomson, Lord Kelvin) [10].

The present analysis has been based on all the all the statistical data provided by the several Enea Reports issued in these latest four years. Actually, the above data consist in a huge set of statistical information related to the following main and most significant key-elements: the number of different kind of renovations respectively realized in the several italian macroareas, their relative average costs, and the consequent energy savings (and economical benefits) achieved. After the initial scanning and collecting of the most relevant results summed up by the reports issued in 2008 (based on the 2007 Energy Campaign results), 2009 (based on the 2008 results), 2010 (related to the 2009 Campaign) and 2012 (based on the 2010 results), there were in fact filled up several resume schedules, drawing the respective graphs and summary tables, in order to follow and outline the evolution and the statistical changes within the whole timespan analyzed (as below detailed). All the

assessments were carried out through excel, hand cost-benefit calculations and spreadsheets, and were developed basing such analyses on those which should be the most suitable lifespan values for the different kinds of intervention: thence, after a global review of the current European Standardization and of the Regulations related to this topic, there were introduced some adjustment factors which, due to the statistical nature of all the data processed and being the typological range of such renovations so wide and general, were assumed quite "widespread and global-fitting".

There were adopted the following reference intervals: 50 years both for the horizontal and vertical surfaces insulation (i.e. walls, floors and roofs), 30 years for the windows' replacement and 25 years both for the solar thermal collectors' installation and the heating plants' replacement [11,13,16].

2007						
	NUMBER INTERVENTIONS 2007	NORTH-WEST	NORTH-EAST	CENTER	SOUTH	ISLANDS
	OPAQUE HORIZONTAL SURFACES INTERVENTION	413	472	280	119	52
	OPAQUE VERTICAL SURFACES INTERVENTION	674	932	379	188	53
	WINDOWS FRAME REPLACEMENT	13.868	10.263	5.410	2.863	935
	SOLAR PANEL	3.341	8.899	3.180	978	2.661
	THERMAL PLANT REPLACEMENT	9.620	9.564	5.756	2.068	563
2008						
	NUMBER INTERVENTIONS 2008	NORTH-WEST	NORTH-EAST	CENTER	SOUTH	ISLANDS
	OPAQUE HORIZONTAL SURFACES INTERVENTION	2.339	2.518	916	341	139
	OPAQUE VERTICAL SURFACES INTERVENTION	1.221	1.690	285	227	62
	WINDOWS FRAME REPLACEMENT	42.915	28.484	16.972	9.731	3.306
	SOLAR PANEL	6.691	16.525	6.484	2.480	4.417
	THERMAL PLANT REPLACEMENT	21.563	21.999	12.543	4.124	1.487
2009						
	NUMBER INTERVENTIONS 2009	NORTH-WEST	NORTH-EAST	CENTER	SOUTH	ISLANDS
	OPAQUE HORIZONTAL SURFACES INTERVENTION	4.331	3.440	1.481	407	179
	OPAQUE VERTICAL SURFACES	2.133,00	2.283	438	385	138

Table 1: Number of renovations registered by Enea in the several Italian macroa	areas	within the
time-span 2007-2010		

	INTERVENTION					
	WINDOWS FRAME REPLACEMENT	48.735	32.777	18.741	10.632	3.921
	SOLAR PANEL	9.383	15.771	5.664	2.079	3.042
	THERMAL PLANT REPLACEMENT	25.120	23.800	13.209	5.983	2.650
2010						
	NUMBER INTERVENTIONS 2010	NORTH-WEST	NORTH-EAST	CENTER	SOUTH	ISLANDS
	OPAQUE HORIZONTAL SURFACES INTERVENTION	2.338	2.555	880	316	145
	OPAQUE VERTICAL SURFACES INTERVENTION	1.570	2.067	493	347	113
	WINDOWS FRAME REPLACEMENT	94.503	62.986	36.208	20.058	7.654
	SOLAR PANEL INSTALLATION	14.527	19.542	7.494	3.088	3.060
	THERMAL PLANT REPLACEMENT	48.079	43.890	20.232	9.429	4.053





Fig.1: Time-span 2007 – 2010: Cumulative overall renovations' distribution along the whole Italy

As it's easy to note, there are a lot of differences and discrepancies among the several resume tables and the figures above shown, both related to the number of renovations registered along the entire country, and to their respective distribution. First of all, an evident gap is recognized between the global number of renovations reported during the first campaign year and the successive ones. And such a statistical phenomenon is essentially ascribable to the following main reasons: on the one side, it is due to the first venture's year being such an "initial, testing experience". Thence, despite the awareness campaign and the Enea's Helpdesk and informative venture, people hadn't enough experience with such an investment plan yet. On the other side, an error had occurred in the earliest version of the Budget Law issued in 2007 (and hence in the consequent so-called "Decreto Edifici"): due to an editing and drafting mistake, the U-Value, thermal transmittance limits to be respected in realizing the different kinds of opaque horizontal renovations, there were in fact reversed. Thence, one more reason that has made even fewer the already low rate of such a quite expensive kind of building's retrofit.

#### **Research Results and Discussion**

Also in the light of the above considerations, it's important to underline the difficulty of globally implementing a meaningful, exhaustive and fair comparison among all the different yearly reports analyzed. Beside that, a further alteration and data corruption that affects this global trend overlooking is made up by the sensible differences in the population's amount - and thence in the dwellings' number - among the different macroareas scanned (and above of all, in the case of Islands Macroarea).

COST-BENEFIT BALANCE SUMMARY 2007	NORTH-WEST	NORTH-EAST	CENTER	SOUTH	ISLANDS
OPAQUE HORIZONTAL SURFACES INTERVENTION	42,43	35,82	45,47	79,35	52,18
OPAQUE VERTICAL SURFACES INTERVENTION	54,10	47,15	57,56	72,34	126,02
WINDOWS FRAME REPLACEMENT	95,54	92,94	115,68	163,54	172,33
SOLAR PANEL	78,90	68,70	59,72	37,93	37,79
THERMAL PLANT REPLACEMENT	35,92	45,72	46,98	60,93	73,45
COST-BENEFIT BALANCE SUMMARY 2008	NORTH-WEST	NORTH-EAST	CENTER	SOUTH	ISLANDS
OPAQUE HORIZONTAL SURFACES INTERVENTION	32,53	32,13	49,72	71,83	99,82
OPAQUE VERTICAL SURFACES INTERVENTION	42,11	38,22	54,62	62,86	98,72
WINDOWS FRAME	113,64	103,33	153,81	243,47	232,14

### Table 2: Cost-Benefit balance values reckoned for the several Italian macroareas within the time-span 2007-2010

REPLACEMENT					
SOLAR PANEL	44,95	50,72	30,24	14,04	15,72
THERMAL PLANT REPLACEMENT	34,97	46,82	42,31	43,12	57,45
COST-BENEFIT BALANCE SUMMARY 2009	NORTH-WEST	NORTH-EAST	CENTER	SOUTH	ISLANDS
OPAQUE HORIZONTAL SURFACES INTERVENTION	32,22	35,53	44,37	61,92	80,96
OPAQUE VERTICAL SURFACES INTERVENTION	42,50	37,27	59,12	58,75	108,55
WINDOWS FRAME REPLACEMENT	116,72	105,23	142,66	188,65	214,81
SOLAR PANEL	52,24	52,37	31,01	23,34	24,49
THERMAL PLANT REPLACEMENT	42,89	52,19	44,55	68,82	68,58
COST-BENEFIT BALANCE SUMMARY 2010	NORTH-WEST	NORTH-EAST	CENTER	SOUTH	ISLANDS
OPAQUE HORIZONTAL SURFACES INTERVENTION	33,12	41,46	58,70	79,35	85,56
OPAQUE VERTICAL SURFACES INTERVENTION	46,86	53,71	76,63	88,99	103,15
WINDOWS FRAME REPLACEMENT	106,19	98,06	136,33	167,53	197,53
SOLAR PANEL INSTALLATION	67,79	60,93	54,09	28,42	23,58
THERMAL PLANT REPLACEMENT	55,93	74,93	86,59	94,45	108,35

The overall frame depicted by the above table confirms what right now outlined and provides much further, very interesting food for thought and research questions to delve into: first of all, it's important to appreciate the big effort required by such a survey and data gathering. Beside that, also the main aim and intentions which led this global campaign play a strategic role to realize the broad sweep and the weight of such financial and energetic policies, with the final target to improve and refine them.

And although the trends' analyses and data-processing implemented by the above cost-saving ratio values actually don't directly supply a clear indication about how to address and develop a future, worthwhile financial policy and investment plan, they reveal themselves fairly meaningful.

The cost-benefit balances were assessed, year by year and for all the several Italian macroareas, through the evaluation of the ratio between the weighted average cost (i.e. the actual average cost, given in  $\in$ ) and the weighted average energy saving (expressed in MWh per year) calculated for any kind of renovation, also considering the respective LCC factors before introduced.

Actually, those data provide a global frame quite patchy and uneven and, at first sight, could be seem affected by some such mistakes and/or evaluating errors.

But a deeper analysis and a careful examination of the boundary conditions and global background that lay behind that lead us to some reasonable comments and observations.

Beside the already highlighted appreciable differences in the population's amount and in the dwellings' number of all the macroareas, another reason of such a relevant results' gap and mismatching is ascribable to the substantially different economic conditions which make the northern areas more active and resourceful.

And a further element which doesn't help the survey to find out a global, common analyzing criterion and that concurs to such a result is closely connected to the distinct weather patterns that concern the entire Italy.

Actually, the whole nation involves a quite wide range of different Climatic Zones: 6 exactly - from the A Zone, till the F Zone - and thence 6 distinct weather contexts and environmental backgrouds.

But, despite all the above considerations, such a huge amount of data and informations however plays a very important role.

And although the earliest results till now outlined reveal themselves so much heterogeneous, it could reveal possible and quite worthwhile to base on them a final knowledge and an overall comprehension of which and why should be the most cost-effective kinds of renovation for any Italian Macroarea.

Thence it would be also easier to find out the most profitable adjustments and optimizations that should be applied to the already issued financial strategies.

However, it should also be remarked that, since all the previous years' analyses didn't allow us to detect any significant and reliable prediction or trend to base on and to develop the future steps of the research, it could be possible only work out some few, very rough assumptions to lead the work.

For example, it could be possible gathering that, in the future and with some such further technical developments, the average cost of the different energy saving solutions should decrease, but on the other hand, some new technologies are going to be probably developed and should increase and vary also the inflation rate, the interest rate and the price of money...

Moreover, although the ongoing global climate changes, the southern Italian areas are actually in general more warm and with a wider solar radiation than the rest of the country; but, besides the above considerations, we don't have any mathematical certainty regarding the future, unless the information and the data already collected.

Also the latest, lowest cost-benefit ratio value registerd in the Islands macroarea for solar panel installations (23,58) confirms the appropriateness of such an already registered trend, while it should be strongly recommended to enhance and encourage the solar thermal collector equipments in the south of Italy (due to the other two, lowest ratio values reckoned of 23,34 and 14,04).

But another, really important and more precise information is needed with reference to the already issued financial strategies and, most of all, in relation both to the current and to the incoming tax reduction criteria.

While it would be necessary to adopt a far-sighted policy in order to allow, in the future, such facilitations during a wider time-span, a lot of care is needed in order to plan them avoiding unfruitful investments.

Restrictive upper limit should be settled, also exploiting all the earliest cost-effective information already carried out. Moreover, turning towards both the latest, urgent European statements and Regulations, and towards the overall economic crisis, the standard-range to be respected in order to obtain such fiscal reliefs should be stiffened.

Thence, just related to the above last topic, it clearly turns out to be a suitable decision the hardening of U-value limit ranges to be respected along the different macro-areas, while it should be avoided the incoming decision to make no more binding the energy efficiency certification proofs for most of the kinds of renovation - i.e. with reference to windows' replacement, solar panel installation and thermal plant replacement.

On the other hand, it should be recognized that right this last kind of energy retrofit, in spite of its higher cost-benefit ratio value and thence its flimsiness, is also the most affordable measure (from an economic point of view), besides its most quick and easy feasibility.

Hence, recalling that a National Policy and Energy Strategy could be really worthwhile if enough balanced and widely exploitable by a large users' bracket, a reasonable and fairly-weighted financial support should be preserved also into boosting such outwardly fruitless type of renovation.

#### Conclusions

As this work shows, the building sector - and above all the residential private dwellings - can significantly contribute to mitigate and smooth over the ongoing climate change, while delivering many other social benefits too. Political courage and initiative, innovative investement tools, together with a

social awareness, are the real key factors that could contribute to a radical trasformation and improvement of the whole sector.

Thence, the already existing EU policies - and in this case the Italian financial programmes - should be implemented in a best practice manner in order to achieve the intended energy savings, while on the other side some new instruments are strongly needed to stimulate a deeper renovation wave across the entire country [5,16,17].

But another fundamental challenge is represented by the observation that good policy making requires a good knowledge about the *status quo* of building performances and thence, to contribute to the success of its main goals, it will be also necessary plugging some relevant gaps that make it difficult to develop targeted programmes, to monitor policy's implementation and to evaluate its progress.

Thus, the principal actors of the whole process should strongly invest all their efforts into fill up these data gaps, harmonizing the entire monitoring, reporting and evaluation process, in order to provide for the best resolutions.

On the other side, it's important to underline that, although these targets are fundamental, they should be definitively seen as only one among all the other elements that make up the global solution.

Only thanks to an all-embracing assessment it will be possible attending to a relevant renovation opportunity, both innovating products and services and building a well-functioning energy saving renovation market. Thence it will be also possible to offer at the same time attractive solutions to private and commercial customers, as well as making the highly efficient buildings a common standard for the entire Italian building stock.

Moreover, recalling the main goals and purposes that have led the earliest analysis, the future steps of such a work will be focused on the single study of all the several Italian Macroareas - one by one - in order to find out how it could be possible to define the future energy-saving strategies, refinining and calibrating the results already achieved.

The above process will be planned both in function of the previous results and the respective different climate conditions, and will involve a full exploitation of the linear programming analysis potentialities, implementing in particular the Dantzig's simplex method.

#### Future Outlook

As already intended and set out to do, the future studies would proceed and go on starting from the data and sentences already available and will be based on the same life-span ranges already assumed for the different kinds of renovation, but will also resort to such more advanced algorithms and calculation technics than the simple spreadsheet-hand computations.

And also in the light of the ongoing political financial strategies and policy makers' statements (which will globally involve an investment valued at around 180 billions of Euros till the year 2020), the main research goal to find out and encourage only the most cost-effective kinds of building retrofit has been confirmed [18].

Moreover, the Italian Revenue Agency has recently published the New *"Guida sulle Agevolazioni Fiscali per il risparmio energetico"* (the New Guide about how to join the 55% Tax Deduction for energy-saving renovations). Since the Decree n. 83/2012 has been definitively approved by the Italian Government and transformed into the Law n.134 - 07/08/2012 - the 55% tax deduction has been extended until the 30th June 2013 while, with effect from July the first 2013, the 55% tax cut will be replaced by the normal 36% tax deduction provided for generic buildings' retrofits which, since the year 2012, had become definitively structural and never-ending.

And the most important aspect to underline with reference to the last proof of the "Strategia Energetica Nazionale – National Energy Strategy" is referable, besides to the lengthening of the 55% tax deduction, to the tax cut differentiation based on the real and concrete benefits renovationsrelated. They are also going to play a fundamental role into the future banks' plans of innovative, financial and contractual models focused on such a feature.

But on the other side, it's also important to observe that, as well as it happens in almost every context, a balance should be reached between the ideal and most profitable actions to plan and the real economic background of the people middle classes to deal with.

Whilst a different, best-fitting binding target is needed in order to address the future policy makers' statements, the risk that it would limit a certain flexibility of response should be recognized.

Furthermore, a binding target should be linked to a harmonized measurement method; but this should be both robust and flexible so that stakeholders have enough confidence that it will enable the demonstration of all the consequent, achievable progresses.

Such targets are very important in galvanizing action and understanding progress, but they also have to tread a fine balance between achievability and ambition [10].

They must be founded upon need and evidence of the energy saving potential, moderated by realword expectations (in addition to economic and technical considerations) of what can realistically be achieved, as well as upon the progresses that can be credibly and transparently shown.

Undoubtedly, there will be necessary more innovative ideas and initiatives. Deep renovations are expensive, even if they are cost-effective. They require considerable up-front capital that is normally beyond the support of any single financial instrument.

Moreover, new strategies to secure sufficient financing for deep renovations of the whole building stock are needed, which ideally bring together private and public investment streams. The future targets need to balance achievability and ambition: in fact, if they are too low, they reveal themselves meaningless, but on the other side, if they are too much high-flying and ambitious, it is likely that key-stakeholders will not engage in the entire innovation process.

Thence, policy makers and all the relevant stakeholders in the building sector should elaborate which policy framework would enable the necessary investments: and this would, not only create new investment opportunities for the private sector, but would also reduce the global burden on public budgets.

#### References

- [1] Gruppo di Lavoro "Efficienza Energetica" ENEA, Dip.Ambiente, Cambiamenti globali e Sviluppo sostenibile. *Le detrazioni fiscali del 55% per la riqualificazione energetica del patrimonio edilizio esistente nel 2007.*
- [2] Gruppo di Lavoro "Efficienza Energetica" ENEA, Dip.Ambiente, Cambiamenti globali e Sviluppo sostenibile. *Le detrazioni fiscali del 55% per la riqualificazione energetica del patrimonio edilizio esistente nel 2008*.
- [3] Gruppo di Lavoro "Efficienza Energetica" ENEA, Dip.Ambiente, Cambiamenti globali e Sviluppo sostenibile. *Le detrazioni fiscali del 55% per la riqualificazione energetica del patrimonio edilizio esistente nel 2009*.
- [4] Gruppo di Lavoro "Efficienza Energetica" ENEA, Dip.Ambiente, Cambiamenti globali e Sviluppo sostenibile. *Le detrazioni fiscali del 55% per la riqualificazione energetica del patrimonio edilizio esistente nel 2010.* ISBN 978-88-8286-263-3.
- [5] J.MAIO, S.ZINETTI, R.JANSSEN. Energy Efficiency Policies in Buildings The use of financial instruments at Member State Level. Published by Buildings Performance Institute Europe -BPIE – August 2012.
- [6] L.ANDREASSI, O.BARAGATTI, V.CARDI, S.CAPOBIANCHI, F.MARTINI. Definizione e sviluppo di una metodologia per la valutazionrie dell'efficienza energetica dell'illuminazione pubblica. In La Termotecnica - Monthly official journal of ATI (Italian Association of Thermotecnics) and CTI (Italian Committee of Thermotecnics) - September 2012.
- [7] PAUL HAWKEN in *The HOK Guidebook to Sustainable Design* SANDRA F.MENDLER, WILLIAM ODELL January 15, 2000. ISBN 10: 0471379069 ISBN 13: 978-0471379065.
- [8] Buildings Performance Institute Europe-BPIE. Cost Optimality Discussing methodology and challenges within the recast Energy Performance of Building Directive.Year 2010.
- [9] G.DESOGUS, L.DI PILLA, S.MURA, G.L.PISANO, R.RICCIU. Economic efficiency of social housing thermal upgrade in Mediterranean climate. Energy and Buildings N.57 (2013) – DOI: 10.1016/j.enbuild.2012.11.016, pp.354-360
- [10] M.ECONOMIDOU et al. Europe's Building under the Microscope: a country-by-country review of the energy performance of buildings. Published by Buildings Performance Institute Europe-BPIE – October 2011 – ISBN 978-9491143014.

- [11] European Standard *prEN* 15459:2007 Energy performance of buildings Economic evaluation procedure for energy systems in buildings.
- [12] *Directive 2010/31/EU* of the European Parliament and of the Council 19 May 2010 on the Energy Performance of Buildings.
- [13] U.S. Department of Commerce. *Life-Cycle Costing Manual for the Federal Energy Management Program.* 1995 Edition.
- [14] Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) N. 244/2012 16 January 2012.
- [15] Notices from European Union Institutions, Bodies, Offices and Agencies. *Guidelines accompanying Commission Delegated Regulation* (EU) N.244/2012 of 16 January 2012.
- [16] T.BOERMANS, K.BETTGENHÄUSER, A.HERMELINK and other Ecofys International Staff. Cost Optimal building performance requirements – Calculation methodology for reporting on national energy performance requirements on the basis of cost optimality within the framework of the EPBD. Published by European Council for an Energy Efficient Economy – 2 May 2011.
- [17] J.WADE, P.GUERTLER, D.CROFT, L.SUNDERLAND from the Association for the Conservation of Energy U.K. National Energy Efficiency and Energy Savings Targets. Published by European Council for an Energy Efficient Economy – 24 May 2011.
- [18] RINNOVABILI.IT Quotidiano d'informazione sulle fonti rinnovabili Editor MAURO SPAGNOLO. Strategia Energetica Nazionale: per un'energia più competitiva e sostenibile – Sintesi degli elementi chiave del documento di consultazione pubblica Ottobre 2012.
- [19] AVIEL VERBRUGGEN, MOHAMED AL MARCHOHI, BART JANSSENS. The anatomy of investing in energy efficient buildings. Energy and Buildings 43 (2011), pp. 905–914.
- [20] CAROL C.MENASSA. *Evaluating sustainable retrofits in existing buildings under uncertainty*. Energy and Buildings 43 (2011), pp. 3576–3583.
- [21] G.VERBEECK, H.HENS. *Energy savings in retrofitted dwellings: economically viable?* Energy and Buildings 37 (2005), pp. 747–754.
- [22] HUGO HENS. Energy efficient retrofit of an end of the row house: Confronting predictions with long-term measurements. Energy and Buildings 42 (2010), pp.1939–1947.
- [23] LOLLINI, BAROZZI, FASANO, MERONI, ZINZI. Optimisation of opaque components of the building envelope. Energy, economic and environmental issues. Building and Environment 41 (2006), pp.1001–1013.
- [24] M.R.GATERELL, M.E. MCEVOY. The impact of energy externalities on the cost effectiveness of energy efficiency measures applied to dwellings. Energy and Buildings 37 (2005), pp. 1017– 1027.
- [25] RAY GALVIN. Thermal upgrades of existing homes in Germany: The building code, subsidies and economic efficiency. Energy and Buildings 42 (2010), pp.834–844.
- [26] ROGER W.AMSTALDEN, MICHAEL KOST, CARSTEN NATHANI, DIETER M.IMBODEN. Economic potential of energy-efficient retrofitting in the Swiss residential building sector: The effects of policy instruments and energy price expectations. Energy Policy 35 (2007), pp. 1819– 1829.
- [27] WILHELM KUCKSHINRICHS, TOBIAS KRONENBERG, PATRICK HANSEN. The social return on investment in the energy efficiency of buildings in Germany. Energy Policy 38 (2010), pp.4317–4329.

# Enhancing energy efficiency – Product related incentive schemes for the general public

#### Kathrin Graulich, Dr. Corinna Fischer, Ina Rüdenauer, Dr. Dietlinde Quack

#### Öko-Institut e.V., Germany

#### Abstract

Consumers are increasingly confronted with demands for  $CO_2$  savings, increasing energy prices, power cuts and energy poverty. Especially low-income households do not have the financial means to buy energy efficient household appliances and they often lack the knowledge how to save energy in their daily life. However, from washing machines, refrigerators, lighting to outlet strips – in nearly every household there are appliances with relevant saving potentials.

By strengthening the awareness of private households through information and direct advice, consumers more likely adapt their use behaviour and thus reduce their energy consumption. Supporting the purchase of energy efficient appliances at the same time can also lead to a decrease of energy costs in private households.

Within the European project 'Common appliance policy – all for one, one for all – energy labels (ComeOn Labels)' [1], Öko-Institut has compiled an overview of a variety of informational tools and financial incentives with focus on replacement of household appliances to enhance the overall energy efficiency. The paper will highlight the overall benefits and results regarding energy savings and reduction of  $CO_2$  emissions of the product related incentive schemes as well as discuss more detailed the different options and possible optimisations for the implementation of such programmes and initiatives.

#### Introduction - Underlying mechanisms of product related incentive schemes

White goods are generally being used for 10 to 20 years. Therefore, most private households still own a lot of old appliances with significantly lower energy efficiency than that of the best models on the market. And if they do purchase a new appliance, they often choose a product with a low upfront price (and higher follow-up costs); even if a highly efficient product would have the same or lower life cycle costs [2].

By promoting highly efficient appliances, i.e. devices of the best energy efficiency classes, a variety of ecological and economic savings can be achieved. According to [3] two general mechanisms can be distinguished that are briefly explained in the following.

#### **Better replacement**

Better replacement means that consumers choose a more energy efficient appliance than they would have chosen without the corresponding policy instrument. The fundamental decision to buy new equipment, however, has already been made. The environmental advantage arises from the lower power consumption of the "better" appliance. A class A++ refrigerator or freezer, for example, consumes about 45% less electricity than an A model of the same size and with the same technical and functional performance characteristics. An A+++ model consumes about 60% less [4]. Furthermore, highly energy efficient products can also be advantageous not only from an energy/environmental point of view. They can be also associated with lower operating costs, resulting in lower overall life cycle costs (i.e. the sum of all product-related costs affecting the consumer including the purchasing price).

#### Early replacement

Early replacement means the replacement of an (old) installed appliance although it is still working. Whether early replacement is environmentally beneficial or not, essentially depends on two factors: first, on the potential savings due to the reduced energy consumption of the new appliance, and

secondly, on the environmental impact of the manufacturing and the disposal of the equipment, since the old equipment's useful life is not fully exploited.

In many product types, there is a large difference between the energy consumption of the average equipment in use and that of the most efficient new appliances available on the market. For example, an average refrigerator-freezer combination bought in 2000 in Germany, usually still quite functional today, consumes about 390 kWh of electricity per year. A class A++ appliance with the same storage capacity and technical and functional performance characteristics, however, only needs 180 kWh per year. Therefore, by replacing the old appliance with a highly efficient new one, around 210 kWh of electricity could be saved each year.

By contrast, the environmental impact (in terms of life cycle analysis (LCA) resulting from the production and disposal of household appliances is in general relatively small. Depending on the appliance and impact category, it accounts for 5-25% of the environmental impact throughout the equipment's entire life cycle (see Table 1).

Table 1:	Global warming potential of selected household appliances in different life
cycle phases	

	Production	Use	Disposal	Source
Washing machines	25%	79%	4% <sup>1</sup>	[5]
Tumble dryer	5,7%	94,1%	0,2%	[6]
(condenser dryer of				
energy efficiency class B				
Refrigerator/freezer	13%	89%	-2%	[7]
combination (200 I + 90 I)				

From an environmental point of view, therefore, early replacement often pays off. The "environmental payback period" denotes the time after which the environmental impact of the cumulative energy savings outweigh the additional environmental impact from the premature disposal of the old appliance. For the replacement of an average refrigerator-freezer combination manufactured in 2000 by a corresponding A++ appliance, this period is only about 2 years in terms of cumulative energy demand (CED) and global warming potential.

According to current information, valid for Germany, early replacement makes sense in particular for cold appliances, tumble dryers and circulators for central heating, as well as for electric and gas stoves. For other appliances like washing machines and dish washers an early replacement must be checked more carefully. There may be variations between EU Member States, though, mainly due to differences in climate conditions, consumer behaviour, the efficiency of the installed appliance stock and purchasing power.

However, even if environmentally beneficial, early replacement usually doesn't pay off in monetary terms – at least not in the sense that the purchase price of the new appliance will be completely compensated by the cost savings during its use phase. However, usually a noticeable reduction of electricity costs can be achieved. When replacing an average refrigerator/freezer combination built in 2000 with a corresponding A++ device, and assuming an average European electricity price of about 17 ct/kWh, about 35 EUR can be saved annually. It is difficult to compare the actual costs of "early" and "later" replacement though, since it is unknown for how long the old appliance would still have been serviceable in the "late" replacement case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The negative sign means that the disposal even has an environmentally beneficial effect, since the gains from recycling the material outweigh the negative impacts of the disposal and recycling process itself.

# General choice of instruments to increase energy efficiency in private households

#### Overview

There is a variety of policy tools to increase energy efficiency in private households. According to [8] three basic categories of instruments can be distinguished:

- 1. Informational tools (such as labels, information campaigns)
- 2. Financial and fiscal incentives (such as direct subsidies, subsidized loans, indirect subsidies)
- 3. Regulatory tools (such as limit values or minimum requirements for new appliances)

Furthermore, there is the new category of cooperative tools such as voluntary agreements and network building.

In this paper, the focus is laid on the informational tools and financial incentives which will be explained into further detail.

#### Differences between instruments for better and early replacement

Not all tools and designs are equally suitable for all purposes. While measures to promote early replacements will always result in a better replacement, as they are also available to those consumers who just want to replace their old appliance anyway, the reverse is not true.

If early replacement is to be stimulated and the possible benefits that may be associated therewith are to be realized, certain criteria must be met:

- The measures must provide an appropriate financial incentive to consumers; otherwise there will be no reason to dispose of an old but still functioning appliance prematurely.
- The measures must be limited in terms of time or budget; otherwise consumers will just await the end of their appliance's technical life assuming that the incentive will still be in place by then. On the other hand, they must be long enough to support market transformation.
- The return and proper disposal of the old appliance must be part of the measure, otherwise it may continue to be operated as a spare device or supplied to the second-hand market.
- Also, the implementation of an effective system for the take-back of old appliances supports early replacement. In many EU countries, as a consequence of the WEEE directive, shops are obliged to accept any discarded appliances that customers bring back, independently of its brand or place of purchase.

The following sections list appropriate informational tools and financial incentives promoting particularly efficient household appliances. Labelling with the EU energy label as one example for an informational tool is taken for granted, thus only those going beyond the energy label are considered.

#### Informational instruments

In the domain of voluntary information measures, the credibility of the initiator or sponsor is relevant for their success. A high level of credibility increases the willingness of manufacturers to participate and the willingness of consumers to initially spend more money for highly efficient products or the early replacement of old appliances.

#### Communication of life cycle costs

This means consumers are given information on the financial savings they can achieve throughout the product life cycle by purchasing a highly efficient appliance. As we have seen, the argument is mainly valid for better replacement, and less so for early replacement. In contrast to a label only declaring energy efficiency, the communication of monetary information has the advantage that a general environmental benefit of a product is converted into an individual benefit for the consumer. This is particularly advantageous when broader customer segments beyond the niche are to be addressed.

For example, Öko-Institut is participating in the European project 'YAECI - Yearly Appliance Energy Cost Indication' sponsored by the Intelligence Energy Europe (IEE) programme with the main objective to provide customers with information on the yearly running cost of products at the point of sale, in order to stimulate the uptake of affordable efficient products. [8] In the project running until March 2015, the following activities will be carried out in each participating country:

- 1. Development/ replication of a database with yearly running costs for the following products: cold appliances, washing machines, dishwashers, dryers, televisions;
- 2. Recruitment of retailers (in addition to the retailers who have already committed to participate at the start of the action);
- 3. Provision of information on yearly energy costs at the point of sale (shops) and on websites where the energy labelling class is shown of participating retailers;
- 4. Update of information on yearly running costs every 12 months;
- 5. Evaluation of the impact of the action.

Further on, there are several Internet platforms that present life cycle costs or at least operation costs/energy costs together with the presented products. One example, covering several European and non-European countries with specific websites is topten.info. In Germany the consumer information website EcoTopTen [9] presents the life cycle costs of energy efficient products in comparison to an average product of the same product category at its, see also next point.

#### Market overviews and product databases

Market overviews and product databases such as the German website www.ecotopten.de provided by Öko-Institut [10] or the European website www.topten.eu [11] facilitate the purchase process by providing potential purchasers with an overview of efficient products, their features and prices, and eventually their life cycle costs under average conditions. Hence, they are rather a tool for better replacement. They may be provided by different actors, such as national energy agencies, manufacturers' associations, NGOs or other independent bodies. An innovative element is the inclusion of a price competition, enabling potential customers to inform themselves not only about the average purchase price of the desired product but also about the cheapest supplier. With this method, the Danish site www.hvidevarepriser.dk achieved a major price reduction: Within three weeks, the recommended retail prices fell by 20% [12].

#### Additional voluntary labelling

In addition to the mandatory EU energy label, there are voluntary ecolabels both on EU level and in some national states (such as the German Blue Angel, the British label "Energy Saving Recommended" and the Danish Energy Saving Label.) The goal is to particularly reemphasize highly efficient products or products that, beyond the energy savings, meet further environmental and quality criteria. This measure can especially promote better replacement.

Voluntary labels can generally be quite cost-effective. A harmonization with other tools (e.g. GPP, incentive programs) and a regular update play a crucial role. So far, however, it could not yet be demonstrated that one of these voluntary schemes had a market transformation effect reaching beyond that of the EU energy label.

#### Information campaigns

Information campaigns must accompany many other instruments in order to draw consumers' attention to the existence of that instrument. Especially when aiming at early replacement, a comprehensive information campaign aimed at the general public is important in order to reach those consumers who are not currently facing a purchase decision and actively searching for information.

Information campaigns are relatively inexpensive. Their effectiveness, however, is difficult to assess. Just like voluntary labelling, they are generally more effective in combination with other tools (e.g. incentives for replacing an old appliance with an efficient new one).

#### Measuring energy consumption

The measurement of the energy consumption of appliances in private households is an appropriate measure to promote early replacement. Firstly, it may raise the consumer's awareness to an associated cost. Secondly, it can form an integral part of a broader programme. For example, inhouse measurement may be used to determine the eligibility of a household / appliance to participate in a subsidy program.

#### Financial incentives

#### Direct incentives to consumers

The basic idea is to provide consumers who buy particularly efficient appliances (which are at the same time disposing of an old appliance) with a financial reward. This is one of the most popular instruments. Examples of national programmes abound, and there are even more examples of programmes set up by trade, manufacturers or energy companies.

If the measure is limited in terms of time or budget, rather early replacement will be stimulated. If it is planned on a long-term basis (i.e. over several years), better replacement is promoted more or less ad infinitum, thus bringing forward falling prices and a longer-term market transformation. Early replacement, however, is stimulated to a smaller extent, as there is no incentive to replace the old appliance unit as quickly as possible.

In the design of incentives, a number of conceptual questions need to be answered, impacting on the success of the measure:

- Target group (e.g. restriction to low-income households or households with particularly energy-intensive appliances?)
- Appliance groups to be promoted
- Criteria for incentive / requirements to be met by the appliance
- Amount of incentive (high enough to have visible effects; low enough to avoid free riders; differentiated according to appliance type and efficiency? differentiated for household income?)
- Duration of measure
- Organizational implementation of premium payment (e.g. by retailers or national agency?) and take-back of the obsolete appliances.

Incentives are often effective, but not always cost-efficient, which is due to free riders. To be costefficient, measures should focus on very innovative appliances currently still having high purchase prices, but a good potential for reducing them by economies of scale.

For example, in 2009 Öko-Institut was commissioned by the German Federal Ministry for Environment to develop an implementation concept for a product related subsidy scheme within the German Federal Climate Protection Initiative (NKI). [13] The project prepared concrete implementing measures and developed a master plan for the overall organization of the planned programme. Besides setting of ambitious criteria, the main responsibility of Öko-Institut was to coordinate and balance the different interests of the implementing organisations (Federal Ministry for Environment, the granting authority, the German Energy Agency, the Federation of German Consumer Organisations, the marketing agency) and the market actors (retailers, disposers, hundreds of thousands consumers) to ensure a smooth operation of the programme. Most of the challenges and arising questions could be clarified within the project, for example the advantages and disadvantages of different pay-out options, the proof of disposal, the requirements for products that shall be eligible, the amount of subsidies granted, additional electricity saving advisory services, possibilities for

consumer information, as well as implementation of a database for products that shall be eligible. In the end, however, the German Federal Government decided against the implementation of the subsidy scheme.

A variant of the consumer subsidy is the "free giveaway". For example, a popular measure in a number of countries has been the distribution of free energy saving light-bulbs. The effects are contested, however. First, free giveaways may destroy markets for these appliances. Secondly, free appliances are often not installed by consumers, limiting the effect. In the UK, this type if programme is therefore no more eligible as an energy saving measure under the Carbon Emissions Reduction Target (CERT) scheme.

In Germany, pilot projects (Stromsparcheck and Stromsparcheck Plus [14]) have successfully tested and applied the combination of energy checks and advice together with financial supporting the purchase of energy efficient appliances for low-income households. For example, they received freeof-charge appliances like energy saving lamps, water-saving flow regulators and outlet strips. By these direct installations, CO<sub>2</sub> and energy cost savings could be realized. Further, the project resulted in social benefits as long-term unemployed persons were trained to "energy savings assistants" implementing the energy checks in the households. [15]

A further variant would be to just offer an incentive for disposal of the old appliance, without subsidizing the new one. This could take the form of a bonus for having an old appliance removed.

#### **Fiscal incentives for consumers**

Tax incentives have been extremely successful for major household appliances in Italy. But in other countries, they are rarely applied for household appliances. This is probably due to the comparably low purchase price of these devices, and, as a result, of the high administrative costs. Also, the lack of an immediate connection between appliance acquisition and financial benefit reduces the psychological effect. Tax benefits therefore are primarily applied in the building sector, relating to equipment such as boilers, water heaters or air-conditioning systems. They can take the form of tax credits, deductions from income tax or enhanced capital allowances and may be financed by an energy tax which is "returned" to consumers in the form of appropriate incentives. Depending on operational features (limited in time or not), tax incentives can be appropriate means for both better replacement and early replacement.

Another variant is to reduce the VAT rate and thus the selling price for highly efficient appliances. However, due to EU VAT rules, reduced VAT rates may only apply to building-related measures, such as water heaters [16]. Furthermore, appliance manufacturers are sceptical of this measure, as the subsidy is not transparent to the consumer. Seeing only the final price, consumers might believe that highly efficient appliances are cheaper to produce than ordinary equipment, and their willingness to pay will (further) decline. All in all, these reasons suggest that this tool is not recommendable.

Tax incentives can be both effective and cost-efficient but there are also other cases where they showed little effect and high windfall profits. A windfall occurs when individuals are funded by the State for an action that they would have made even without State support. The higher the windfall, the lower the effectiveness of the measure. For an example of high windfall profits of 70-80% from modernising insulation of buildings see [17].

Therefore, design details are crucial. Among the criteria of success are: reliability, good timing, stakeholder participation and accompanying information measures, regular updates, appropriate level of requirements, selection of appropriate appliances (in most countries, products whose purchase price proves to be a major hurdle).

#### Indirect subsidies

In the case of indirect subsidies, as practised in the "Eco-point" system in Japan or the Korean "Carbon Cashbag", consumers obtain credit "points" instead of money upon the purchase of a highly efficient product [1]. Then, these points can be traded for certain products or services (e.g. for discounts in public transport, for other environmentally friendly products, cultural events, etc.). Another variant is that consumers can acquire vouchers or bonus points when they buy other products, or as a bonus on their salary, which can then be used to purchase highly efficient appliances.

The advantage of such indirect subsidies as compared to the disbursement of money is that the type of products or services that can be bought to receive the subsidies can be influenced. This can at least reduce direct rebound effects (when subsidies / refunds are used to purchase flights or other products with high  $CO_2$  intensity).

#### **Bonus/malus programmes**

Bonus / malus programmes aim at adjusting the price of energy-using products according to their efficiency. When buying a highly efficient appliance, an allowance (bonus) is granted to the consumer, while he or she must pay an additional amount (malus) on purchase of a particularly inefficient product. When buying an average appliance, neither a bonus nor a malus does accrue.

The advantage of this tool is that it can be set so that it will either generate net revenues, that it will be revenue-neutral, or that subsidies will be needed. In designing the instrument, it is important that the threshold value between bonus and malus (i.e. the average efficiency) will be regularly adjusted to the market development. Due to the malus element, this is a tool to promote better rather than early replacement, as consumers buying less efficient appliances will actually be penalized.

So far, there is only one example, namely for automobiles in France. Here, the tool was linked to the  $CO_2$  emissions, which has proven to be very effective. The market share of cars of emission class B has risen from 20 to 33% while the share of class G cars has been halved. An extension of the scheme to other products is being discussed.

#### **Micro-credit models**

Micro-credit models aim at eliminating the hurdle of high upfront costs by granting advantageous loans for the total purchase price or a part thereof. They are currently mainly used in the building sector and less for household appliances. The advantage may either reside in subsidized loans (low / no interest rates) and/or in a specific repayment mode, i.e. the loan will be repaid through the savings resulting from the lower energy consumption during the use phase. The latter is also known as "contracting". Credits/loans may be offered by different actors, such as governments, independent agencies, energy providers or third parties (e.g. ESCOs, Energy Service Companies).

- Government loans are generally only relevant in the building sector. Due to high transaction cost, they are not yet granted for household appliances.
- Due to various barriers, loans by third parties are only granted to a small extent, so far. Government subsidies could, however, stimulate the granting of loans by third parties.
- When loans are granted by energy providers, the latter installs energy-efficient appliances, which are paid with the monthly energy bill. The savings in energy consumption costs at least partly offset the costs for the installation of the device. There are both the credit and the rate variant: While the credit is tied directly to the customer, who has to pay it back even if he moves house, the rate is bound to the consumption meter and thus to the real estate. The rate option has the advantage that even tenants can participate without taking a greater risk.

This measure is mainly suitable for better replacement. It can be used for early replacement, too, if it would be temporary limited so as to provide an incentive to immediately replace the old appliance, and connected with a return of the obsolete appliance.

One problem that is encountered with this tool is that it often fails to reach the neediest households as well as tenant households. Further issues are high costs associated with the programme, the low participation rate, and the difficulty to make realistic estimates of the savings in advance.

### Financial incentives for producers (upstream incentives) or retailers and installers (midstream incentives)

Producers may receive financial incentives to produce and sell more highly efficient appliances or to reduce their prices. Lower consumer prices improve the conditions both for better and early replacement. Such incentives may, for example, take the form of tax credits per produced unit or of a grant if certain criteria are met. Such incentives are particularly effective when the market is dominated by a few large producers that are present in all countries.

Furthermore, as a tool for better replacement, sales personnel or installers receive (financial) incentives to sell particularly efficient appliances. Hence, they will preferentially offer these appliances highlighting them in their sales discussions.

As compared to incentives offered directly to consumers, benefits of upstream or mid-stream incentives may be:

- lower transaction costs, because the number of manufacturers or retail companies is significantly lower than the number of consumers. Also, instead of many different criteria influencing the private consumer's buying decision, profit is basically the only decision criterion in companies;
- lower incentive needed, as trade margins and taxes are avoided;
- lower total costs for the state, as losses in the electricity tax and costs of the tax relief are compensated by increased VAT revenues and increased corporate in-come taxes.

On the other hand, these instruments contribute less to consumer awareness and sensitization. Also, compared to end user rebates, it is mostly retailers and manufacturers who profit financially. Distributional effects therefore have to be considered.

#### **Outlook: Integrated strategies**

Integrated strategies combine several of these tools. In Denmark, for example, there have been three campaigns aimed at promoting highly efficient refrigerating appliances, combining a subsidy with an aggressive marketing campaign and a website launched to enable consumers to search for products and to compare prices. Another Danish campaign, targeting highly efficient circulators, linked voluntary agreements with manufacturers, retailers and installers with a voluntary labelling and a proactive marketing. A programme to replace old refrigerators in Oregon combined information measures, measurement of the household's energy consumption, personal contact, financial incentives and comprehensive services for households.

In addressing different phases of the market launch process as well as different barriers, sophisticated combinations have proven to be more powerful than individual measures. Therefore it is suggested to consider an adequate bundle of single measures, addressing e.g. manufacturers, retailers and consumers and using different ways of addressing and involving people (e.g. personal contact, websites, interactive communities) when developing a new incentive scheme.

#### References

- [1] Krivosik, J.; Valentova, M. in collaboration with Fischer, C.; Rüdenauer, I.; Teufel, J. et al.: Common appliance policy – all for one, one for all – energy labels (ComeOn Labels); SEVEn – The Energy Efficiency Center in cooperation with ABEA, Belgium; AEA, Austria; CRES, Greece; ENEA, Italy; Ekodoma, Latvia; Elma Kurtalj, Hungary; Escan, Spain; KAPE, Poland; Öko-Institut, Germany; PIM, Malta; Quercus, Portugal; SWEA, Great Britain; sponsored by: EU Commission, Executive Agency for Competitiveness and Innovation (EACI), Brussels; in progress
- [2] Rüdenauer, Ina. Konzept zur Kommunikation von Lebenszykluskosten im Handel. Centre for Sustainability Management (CSM) Leuphana Universität Lüneburg. 2011
- [3] Rüdenauer, Ina, Seifried, Dieter & Gensch, Carl-Otto (2007): Kosten und Nutzen eines Prämienprogramms für besonders effiziente Kühl- und Gefriergeräte [Costs and benefits of a rebate programme for particularly efficient refrigerators and freezers] – Studie im Auftrag des Zentralverbands Elektrotechnik- und Elektronikindustrie e.V. (ZVEI). Öko-Institut/Büro Ö-Quadrat: Freiburg.
- [4] COMMISSION DELEGATED REGULATION (EU) No 1060/2010 of 28 September 2010 supplementing Directive 2010/30/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council with regard

to energy labelling of household refrigerating appliances; can be downloaded at: <u>http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2010:314:0017:0046:EN:PDF</u>

- [5] Rüdenauer, Ina; Gensch, Carl-Otto & Quack, Dietlinde (2005): Eco-Efficiency Analysis of Washing machines – Life Cycle Assessment and determination of optimal life span. Öko-Institut; Freiburg.
- [6] Rüdenauer, Ina; Gensch, Carl-Otto & Liu, Ran (2008): Vergleich der Umweltauswirkungen und Kosten verschiedener Wäschetrocknungssysteme. [Comparison of environmental impacts and costs of different laundry drying systems], Öko-Institut: Freiburg.
- [7] Rüdenauer, Ina & Gensch, Carl-Otto (2007): Environmental and economic evaluation of the accelerated replacement of domestic appliances. Case study refrigerators and freezers. Öko-Institut; Freiburg.
- [8] De la Rue du Can, Stéphane; Shah, Nihar & Phadke, Amol (2011): Country review of energyefficiency financial incentives in the residential sector. ECEEE summer study proceedings.
- [9] van Leeuwen-Jones, R.; Huenges Wajer, B. et al. in collaboration with Quack, D.; Brommer, E. et al.: Yearly Appliance Energy Cost Indication; NL Agency in cooperation with Öko-Institut e.V. (DE); SEVEn (CZ); BIOIS (FR); ESCAN, S.A. (ES); Icemenerg (RO); ENA (PT); EIHP (CR); PiM (MT); ZRMK (SI); AEA (AT) & UNETO-VNI (NL); (sponsored by: EU Commission, European Agency for Competitiveness and Innovation (EACI), Brussels); in progress
- [10] Quack, D.; Grießhammer, R.; Hacker, F.; Lüders, B.; Manhart, A.; Marquardt, M.; Prakash, S.; Schleicher, T.; Stratmann, B.: EcoTopTen 2.0 – Förderung von energieeffizienten Produkten und Energieeinsparungen mit Marktübersichten, Social-Media-Aktivitäten und Aktionen [EcoTopTen 2.0 – Promoting energy efficient products and energy savings through market surveys, social media activities and campaigns]; Öko-Institut e.V. in co-operation with Utopia-Stiftung; sponsored by: Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature Conservation and Nuclear Safety (BMU), Berlin, within the German Federal Climate Protection Initiative (NKI); in progress; www.ecotopten.de
- [11] Quack, D.; Brommer, E.; Lüders, B. et al.: Maximising TopTen Communication on Top Runner Products; ADEME (F) in cooperation with REGEA (HR); ICLEI (DE); AEA (AT); Wuppertal Institut (DE); Motiva (FI); SEVEn (CZ); Natuur Milieu (NL); WWF France; WWF Belgium; FEWE (PL); WWF Spain; Quercus (PT); LNCF (LT); Icemenerg (RO); Oeko-Zenter (LU); WWF Greece; WWF Italy; Öko-Institut (DE); Norges Naturvernforbund (NO); SSNC (SE); Waste Watch (UK); commissioned by: EU Commission, Intelligent Energy Europe (IEE); in progress; www.topten.eu
- [12] Fawcett, T.; Lane, K.; Boardman, B. et al.. Lower carbon futures for European households. Environmental Change Institute (ECI); Ecofys; ISR. Oxford 2000 [13] Grether, S.; Graulich, K.; Grießhammer, R.; Seifried, D.: Konzeption eines produktbezogenen Impulsprogramms im Rahmen der Nationalen Klimaschutz-Initiative – Erarbeitung von Programm-Modulen zur praktischen Umsetzung [Designing an impulse programme for activities relating to products within the context of the German National Climate Initiative – development of programme modules for practical implementation]; Öko-Institut e.V. in cooperation with Fraunhofer IZM; 2009; sponsored by: Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature Conservation and Nuclear Safety (BMU), Berlin
- [14] Stromspar-Check für einkommensschwache Haushalte. Bundesverband der Energie- und Klimaschutzagenturen Deutschlands (eaD) e. V.. Deutscher Caritasverband e.V. (DCV). Projektbericht Phase I – Kurzfassung (12/2008 – 08/2009). Freiburg / Berlin 2010
- [15] Seifried, D.; Grießhammer, R.: Zielgruppenspezifische Förderprogramme [Target group-specific incentive programmes]; Sub-study within the framework of the project "Energy-efficient climate protection of products"; Öko-Institut e.V. in cooperation with Büro Ö-Quadrat; sponsored by: Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature Conservation and Nuclear Safety (BMU), Berlin / Project management Jülich); Freiburg; 2012

- [16] COUNCIL DIRECTIVE 2006/112/EC of 28 November 2006 on the common system of value added tax; Art. 98 in combination with Annex III; can be downloaded at: <u>http://eur-lex.europa.eu/Lex.UriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2006:347:0001:0118:en:PDF</u>
- [17] Baur, M.; Schneider, L.; Himmel, M.; Gutzwiller, L.; Wiederkehr, S.; König, F.; Steuerliche Anreize für energetische Sanierungen von Gebäuden. Studie der interdepartementalen Arbeitsgruppe. ESTV, EFV, BFE. Schweizerische Eidgenossenschaft. Januar 2009

#### An Investigation of China's Subsidy Program for Energy-saving Products

ZHENG Tan, HU Bo, LI Jiayang, ZENG Lei

#### **TOP10 CHINA & CLASP**

#### Abstract

Subsidy is used in many countries as an important instrument to promote energy-saving products. China started subsidizing energy-saving products, including light bulbs and automobiles, in 2009. The subsidized product groups quickly expanded to major home appliances such as air conditioners, flat-panel TVs, refrigerators, washing machines and water heaters. The latest subsidies for purchasing the five types of energy-saving products reached 26.5 billion RMB since June 2012. It is expected that even larger financial budgets from the Chinese government will be allocated to support the wide deployment of high energy efficient products according to the national 12th Five-Year-Plan, which adopted the "energy conservation and emission reduction" as the national long-term development strategy.

In this paper, the policy framework of China's Subsidy Program for Energy-saving Products is reviewed. The recent subsidy schemes for air conditioners, flat-panel TVs, refrigerators, washing machines and water heaters are introduced. Based on retail market data, an investigation of the market status for the five types of products is conducted. The subsidy schemes are analyzed in terms of products' properties such as type, size, energy efficiency tiers, price, functional capacities etc. This paper concludes with suggested options to improve the subsidy program.

#### Introduction

In order to mitigate climate change and sustain human development, changing the way in which we use energy is more economically efficient than simply increasing the energy supplies. Energy efficiency was addressed by the Mckinsey & Company [1] as a cost-effective tool to fulfill this goal. In the last three decades, much effort has been made on promoting energy efficient appliances and equipment including technologies, regulation measures (e.g. MEPS - Minimum Energy Performance Standards - and mandatory labeling schemes such as Energy Label in China and Europe), financial incentives (e.g. tax, electricity price etc.), voluntary actions (e.g. endorsement labels such as "Energy Star" in USA) and more. Among financial incentives, subsidies are widely used in various ways to increase market penetration of energy-saving products in developed economies such as Europe [2] and USA [3].

China is now the world's largest carbon emitter [4]. With China's fast urbanization and increasing deployment of electrical appliances, the share of residential electricity consumption over total electricity consumption went up from 3.5% in 1980 to 12.5%<sup>1</sup> in 2012. Given the continuing trend in middle class growth, the residential electricity consumption in China will remain high in the coming years. Additionally, China has become a dominant player globally, which produces the majority of the world's home appliances. A report<sup>2</sup> showed that the nation's production capacity of color televisions accounted for 80% of the world's total. The production capacity of air-conditioners, refrigerators and washing machines also accounted for 70%, 50% and 40%, respectively. In August 2012, the State Council issued the 12th Five-Year-Plan on Energy Conservation and Emission Reduction in which China announced a goal of 16% cuts in energy consumption per unit of GDP by 2015 along with carbon dioxide emissions set to be cut by 17% from 2010 levels. This strong political commitment has led to a series of policy initiatives in which the so-called "Jienenghuimin" project [5] (a project to promote energy-efficient products for the benefit of the people) is a key subsidy program during this

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Data published by China National Energy Administration. <u>http://www.gov.cn/gzdt/2013-01/14/content\_2311167.htm</u> (in Chinese and read in January 2013)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> A report published by the China Economic Weekly, using data from the China Household Electrical Appliances Association, 2012.

five-year period to stimulate demand for products and drive market transformation towards higher energy efficiency.

China had subsidized efficient lighting products since 2008. Based on a series of important decisions (Guofa [2006] No.28 and Guofa [2008] No.23, see Table 1) made by the State Council, the "Jienenghuimin" project was initiated in June 2009. Together with the lighting products, air conditioners and cars were included into this program. The subsidies are given to manufactures by the central government. The participating manufactures must register to the program according to implementing rules for a specific product category. Additional cost between an energy-efficient model and an inefficient one is determined and taken as the subsidized amount to remove the purchase barrier for expensive efficient products. In general, the manufactures/retailers pay customers cash first (except cars) and they can only get the subsidy back from the government when they fulfill mandatory requirements such as a certain amount of registered models were sold, all procedures are proper and they pass the monitoring inspection etc. The energy efficient appliances are defined in national energy efficiency standards by "evaluating values of energy conservation" which is the minimum requirement for energy-efficient products certification (a voluntary endorsement label). The evaluating values of energy conservation also determine tier 2 products in the mandatory China Energy Label. Under this context, energy efficient appliances are known as those products which have the energy-efficient products certification, and those which are ranked tier 2 and tier 1 in China Energy Label. By the end of the 2010, 16 billion RMB were spent and 34 million efficient air conditioners, 1 million efficient cars and 360 million efficient lighting bulbs were sold and subsidized. The market share of energy efficient products has been highly increased, e.g. the market share of energy-efficient air conditioners increased from 5% to 70%. It was estimated that through this round of subsidies, 120 billion RMB of domestic demand was stimulated, 22.5 billion kWh of electricity was saved annually and 14 million tons of  $CO_2$  emissions were reduced<sup>3</sup>.

Content	Document No.	Publishing Time
State Council Decisions on Energy Conservation	Guofa [2006] No.28	Aug 6, 2006
State Council Notice on Energy Conservation	Guofa [2008] No.23	Aug 1, 2008
Implementing rules for lighting products	Caijian [2007] No.1027	Dec 28, 2007
Official kick-off of the project and the subsidy management framework	Caijian [2009] No.213	May 18, 2009
Implementing rules for air conditioners	Caijian [2009] No.214	May 18, 2009
Implementing rules for air conditioners (adjusted)	Caijian [2010] No.119	Apr 30, 2010
Implementing rules for cars (with displacement lower than 1.6L)	Caijian [2010] No.219	May 26, 2010
Implementing rules for electric motors	Caijian [2010] No.232	May 31, 2010
Implementing rules for flat-panel TVs	Caijian [2012] No.259	May 25, 2012
Implementing rules for air conditioners	Caijian [2012] No.260	May 25, 2012
Implementing rules for household refrigerators	Caijian [2012] No. 276	Jun 4, 2012
Implementing rules for washing machines	Caijian [2012] No. 277	Jun 4, 2012
Implementing rules for household water heaters	Caijian [2012] No. 278	Jun 4, 2012

Table 1: Policy documents for the subsidy project "Jienenghuimin".

Note: Analysis is based on the highlighted policy documents in this paper.

From June 2012, a new round subsidy program with a larger scale of budget (26.5 billion RMB) has started and it covers five major household appliances including flat-panel TVs, air conditioners, household refrigerators, washing machines and household water heaters. Under such context, questions are raised, for example, how will this new policy shift the market? Can the regulation measures such as MEPS and labeling schemes effectively support this policy? How can you make this policy an opportunity to save more energy? To answer these questions, we reviewed this new

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Data published by National Development and Reform Commission. <u>http://www.sdpc.gov.cn/xwfb/t20111009\_437354.htm</u> (in Chinese and read in February 2013)

policy and investigated the Chinese retail market for these five kinds of products. Based on our analysis, we introduced our findings and provided recommendations to improve the effectiveness of this policy.

#### China's MEPS, Labeling and Certification System

As the technical basis of implementing financial incentives for energy-saving products such as government procurement and subsidy programs, China has built an energy efficiency standards, labeling and certification system (see Figure 1).



Figure 1: China's Energy Efficiency Standards, Labeling and Certification System (source: Cheng Jianhong, China National Institute of Standardization (CNIS), March 2009).

Figure 1 helps explain that the Minimum Energy Performance Standards (MEPS) eliminate inefficient products from the market. Comparative labeling and grading schemes (the mandatory China Energy Label) create market transparency that is particularly helpful for consumers to select energy efficient products, while the voluntary endorsement certifications (with energy efficient products labels) encourage manufactures to produce more high energy efficient products and to keep innovating energy-saving technologies.

From 1989 to 2012, China has established 48 MEPS covering household appliances, lighting equipment, commercial equipment, industrial equipment, vehicles and office equipment. Adapted from the EU energy label, China launched the mandatory "China Energy Label" [6] in 2005. As a comparable information label, three or five tiers are defined in the product MEPS. Tier 1 has the highest energy efficiency; tier 2 specifies the evaluating values of energy conservation for the product, which are the minimum requirements for energy-saving product certification; and the last grade (3 or 5) sets the minimum allowable values of energy efficiency, which are the threshold of market access. The principles of setting standards and grading the products are based on market statistics. To ensure a reachable value and enough product availability, top 15%-20% products in the market are identified as energy efficient products (tier 2 and tier 1). 10%-15% are to be eliminated as inefficient products from the market, and the rest in the middle are pushed to reach a higher level of energy efficiency. By the end of 2012, China Energy Label had covered 27 product categories. The MEPS and energy label information for the five subsidized products can be seen in Table 2.
Product	MEPS Reference	Standard Implementation Date	China Energy Label Implementation Date	Energy Efficiency Tiers
Flat-panel TVs	GB 24850-2010	2010-12-1	2011-3-1	3
Variable speed air conditioners	GB 21455-2008	2008-9-1	2009-3-1	5
Fixed speed air conditioners	GB 12021.3-2010	2010-6-1	2005-3-1	3
Refrigerators	GB 12021.2-2008	2009-5-1	2005-3-1	5
Washing Machines	GB 12021.4-2004	2005-5-1	2007-3-1	5
Gas water heaters	GB 20665-2006	2007-7-1	2008-6-1	3
Solar water heaters	GB 26969-2011	2012-8-1	2012-9-1	3

Table 2: China's MEPS and energy label for the target five subsidized product categories.

Based on these MEPS and the energy label implementing rules, the subsidy schemes were made and implemented for each product category. Since tier 2 specifies the minimum requirement for energy-saving product certification, the subsidies usually went to the models that fulfill energy efficiency requirements for tier 1 and tier 2. However, technologies innovate very quickly and the market transforms all the time, so the regulation measures, including MEPS, labeling and subsidy schemes, shall follow the market and change themselves accordingly.

We investigated market status of the target subsidized energy efficient products. The model-based distribution of energy efficiency tiers of each product is illustrated in Figure 2.



Figure 2: Distribution of energy efficiency tiers for target subsidized energy using products on Chinese retailer market by May 2012 (model based without sales data).

The share of tier 1 products for refrigerators, flat-panel TVs and washing machines are 76%, 57% and 32% respectively, which is too high to determine the actual energy efficient products. About 77% models of gas water heaters and solar water heaters are tier 2 products, so this is too hard to tell they are actual energy-saving products although all of them may have the energy efficient products certification. The share of tier 1 together with tier 2 products for the five products is all more than half of the models, so that subsidies shall not simply go to tier 1 and tier 2 products, but be used for those actual top efficient products.

# Subsidy Schemes & Analysis

Our analysis was conducted on an available product model (*not sales*) basis. Several data sources including retailers, independent market research companies and labeling programs were integrated into one database for the analysis. It examines product type, size, energy efficiency tiers, energy consumption and efficiency index, price, functional capacity etc, and the correlation between these factors. In the following we review the policy, present our main findings and introduce what our analysis means to the subsidy schemes and how the policy can systematically be improved. The detailed subsidy schemes and analysis for each product are introduced as follows.

# Flat-panel TVs<sup>4</sup>

MEPS for flat-panel TVs (GB 24850-2010) regulate two basic types of flat panel technologies that dominate the television market, Plasma Display Panels (PDPs) and Liquid Crystal Displays (LCDs). LCD televisions break down further into two types differentiated by the backlighting source, either Cold Cathode Fluorescent Lamps (CCFLs) or Light Emitting Diodes (LEDs). During 2008 and 2009, backlighting technologies have been rapidly innovated and in particular, the high efficiency LED has replaced traditional CCFL and become the dominant backlight in China's market. In June 2012, we analyzed 2337 models of which 66% were LED, 28% were CCFL and only 6% were PDP. Because of this fast technology upgrading, the market shifts to higher efficiency rapidly and 80.9% (see Figure 3) of LCD TVs based on LED backlight technology can reach the energy efficiency level Tier 1.



Figure 3: Distribution of televisions on the market in July 2012 across the 2010 energy efficiency standard tiers (note derivation of EEI's not comparable between LED/CCFL televisions and PDP televisions)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> http://www.sdpc.gov.cn/zcfb/zcfbqt/2012qt/t20120529\_482367.htm

The latest subsidy program (see Table 3) only supports flat-panel TVs with EEIs higher than the current Tier 1 (GB 24850-2010) requirement. This illustrates policy makers are aware that the current Tier 1 requirements for LCD and PDP televisions are not sufficiently high to reflect the current levels of higher efficiency televisions. Further, the subsidy thresholds set suggest EEIs of 1.7 for LCD and 1.4 for PDP represent energy efficient products, and EEIs of 1.9 for LCD and 1.7 for PDP represent highly energy efficient products.

Table 3: Subsidy scheme for flat-panel TVs of varying efficiency and screen size (Energy Efficiency Index values calculated using GB 24850-2010).

Screen Size (inches)	Liquid Crysta (RMI	ll Display - LCD B/Unit)	Plasma Display Panel - PD (RMB/Unit)	
	EEI>=1.7	EEI>=1.9	EEI>=1.4	EEI>=1.7
19-32	100	150	-	-
32-42	250	300	250	250
42 and above	350	400	350	350

However, in the coming MEPS revision draft, the proposed minimum energy performance requirement (MEPR) for LCD and PDP are 1.7 and 1.4, respectively. This means these values will be the requirement as an entry level. In this case, it reflects that the requirements for this subsidy policy are not stringent enough as declared to be only for efficient products, and most of the televisions on the market could benefit from it.

Secondly, there is only EEI and passive standby power information on the energy label so ordinary consumers are highly unlikely to understand the meaning of EEI. They don't have any idea how much energy the TV consumes per day for a certain time of use. This gives the consumer no indication that that a PDP television is actually consuming significantly more energy than an equivalent LCD model, and thus removes the consumer's ability to chose the fundamentally more efficient LCD television with the associated lower energy consumption. The reason is that the EEI thresholds defined in the MEPS for LCD and PDP televisions are not directly comparable. A compensation coefficient "EFF<sub>PDP,ref</sub>" is defined to calculate EEIs for PDP televisions on an equivalent basis to LCD televisions. It means that both technologies can "fair play", however without adoption of the "technology neutrality" approach as well as the information transparency for energy consumption, the energy label loses its nature of "saving energy by information". We believe that the PDP TVs shall not be subsidized anymore and subsides shall only go to energy-saving technologies such as LED.

We also found that there is no energy consumption cap in the subsidy schemes, i.e. from the point of view of saving energy, subsidy program should exclude extremely big size TVs such as TVs over 60 inches because, based on the actual living condition in China, TVs bigger than 60 inches could be regarded as luxury products with very high energy efficiency but TVs consume more energy when they are bigger (See Figure 4) and should not be encouraged for purchase if a relatively smaller size product could meet the needs. TVs with bigger size get more subsidies. This will encourage



consumers to buy big sized it vs which consume more energy. Or course, the subsidy program has also goals to stimulate the domestic market and boom the economy. But without having a cap to control the total energy consumption, the "Jevons paradox" might happen.

# Figure 4: Relationship between the energy efficiency index, power and screen size of televisions\*

\*Due to limited data availability, the data of power is not complete for all models. Power data was available for 1,547 models consisting of 925 LED models, 520 CCFL models and 102 PDP models.

## Air conditioners

Fixed speed air conditioners were within the first batch of subsidized products in 2009. The subsidy scheme is listed in Table 4. Both the fixed and variable speed air conditioners are included in the latest subsidy program from June 2012 to May 2013. The subsidy scheme is shown in Table 5.

## Table 4: Subsidy scheme for fixed-speed air conditioners (2009 ~ 2011).

|--|

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> http://www.sdpc.gov.cn/zcfb/zcfbqt/2009qt/t20090525\_281606.htm

Capacity (W)	Tier 1	Tier 2	Tier 1	Tier 2
CC≤2800	500	300	200	150
2800 <cc≤4500< td=""><td>550</td><td>350</td><td>200</td><td>150</td></cc≤4500<>	550	350	200	150
4500 <cc≤7100< td=""><td>650</td><td>450</td><td>250</td><td>200</td></cc≤7100<>	650	450	250	200
CC>7100	850	650	1	1

Table 5: Subsidy scheme for fixed-speed and variable-speed air conditioners (20
---

Cooling	Fixed speed (RMB/Unit)	air conditioner	Variable speed (RMB/Unit)	air conditioner
	Tier 1	Tier 2	Tier 1	Tier 2
CC≤4500	240	180	300	240
4500 <cc≤7100< td=""><td>280</td><td>200</td><td>350</td><td>280</td></cc≤7100<>	280	200	350	280
CC>7100	330	250	400	330

It was reported [7] that during the first subsidy period (2009-2010), the subsidized price (i.e. original price minus the subsidy) of an efficient air conditioner, with power consumption of around 1.5HP (horse power), was cheaper by 2000 RMB for tier 1 products, and by 1500 RMB for tier 2 products than its original price. It is clear that the latest subsidy scheme for air conditioners is not as generous as in the first phase. We found that taking the subsidy into consideration, it cannot sufficiently close or reduce the price gap between tier 1, tier 2 and tier 3 products (see Figure 5).





The price gaps and the increasing rate are shown in the Table 6.

<sup>6</sup> http://www.sdpc.gov.cn/zcfb/zcfbqt/2010qt/t20100511\_346219.htm

	Price Gap (%)			Price increasing rate (%)				
Tier	CC≤2800	2800 <cc≤ 4500</cc≤ 	4500 <cc ≤7100</cc 	CC>7100	CC≤2800	2800 <cc ≤4500</cc 	4500 <cc ≤7100</cc 	CC>7100
1~ 2	1,399	1,345	1,519	4,287	33	30	18	37
1~3	2,584	2,550	3,289	7,814	86	76	48	98
1~4	2,457	2,402	2,905	8,332	79	69	40	112
1~5	3,097	2,673	3,890	6,880	125	83	62	77
2~3	1,184	1,205	1,769	3,526	40	36	26	44
2~4	1,058	1,057	1,385	4,045	34	30	19	54
3~5	1,697	1,328	2,371	2,593	68	41	38	29

Table 6: Price gaps and increasing rate among the tiers.

The price difference between high efficiency products and lower efficiency products is so great that the higher tier models are at least 20% more expensive than those in lower tiers. Potentially, the price gap is large enough for the consumers to switch to the low efficiency products when they make their purchasing decision. It is speculated that the actual manufacturing costs of the high efficiency products are not as high as reflected by the price differences, as shown above. It is possible that the manufacturers and retailers are using the high efficiency tiers as a marketing tool to boost the retail price.

# Refrigerators<sup>7</sup>

The implementing rules for subsidizing refrigerators took effect on June 4, 2012 with subsidies for energy-efficient refrigerators ranging from 70 RMB per unit to a maximum of 400 RMB per unit, depending on efficiency tiers and refrigerator type. The detailed subsidy scheme is shown in Table 7.

Refrigerator type		Subsidy Amount (RMB/Unit)	Energy Efficiency Requirement	
Freezer,	Total Storage Volume (TSV) ≤120L	70	Energy Efficiency	
Fridge/Freezer	120L< TAV ≤ 300L	130	Tior 1	
	TSV > 300L	180		
Fridge Freezer,	TSV ≤ 240L	260	n < 320/	
frost-free fridge	240L < TSV ≤ 300L	330	1  = 52 /0	
freezer	TSV > 300L	400	η < 40% Tier 1	

Table 7: Subsidy scheme for household refrigerators (2012).

China Energy Label for refrigerators does have energy consumption information (kWh/24h), but there is no Energy Consumption Cap included in this subsidy scheme. It is still designed according to the EEI that is calculated as the ratio of the measured energy consumption of the unit during the test to the baseline value (maximum allowable value was proportionally set to the baseline value) of energy consumption. Since 90% of the available models in the retailer market are fridge freezers, we investigated 1143 of them in terms of EEI. 73.8% are tier 1 products and 248 models' EEI are lower than 32%. This indicates the subsidy scheme could be more stringent and the MEPS needs to be revised as well.

By the end of November 2012, 4197 refrigerator models had been registered and will be covered by the national subsidy programs. While it is possible that the subsidy has fulfilled its primary focus of stimulating demand for products, it appears the secondary goal of driving higher product efficiency

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> http://www.sdpc.gov.cn/zcfb/zcfbqt/2012qt/t20120608\_484887.htm

has not been fulfilled. It appears the subsidy program for refrigerators was designed based on outdated product information and thus a very high proportion of refrigerators were eligible for the subsidy rather than restricted to the higher efficiency products.

Currently 14.3% of the 4197 models that have been registered to receive a subsidy have a storage volume over 300L and will be given 400RMB per unit, of those, 9.1% have a volume over 350L. While sales figures for these models are unknown, the data from GOME<sup>8</sup> suggests that larger units are taking an increasing proportion of the market. If such big amounts of money can be used to subsidize the small and middle-sized refrigerators, the concept of both sufficiency and efficiency can be covered in this program.

Since the manufactures and retailers get more profit from the high-end market of refrigerators and the people who buy these expensive products are less likely to be sensitive to price, the impact of the subsidy is likely to be marginal even when at the maximum subsidy level of 400RMB. Figure 6 illustrates how the bigger the subsidized refrigerator is, the lesser percentage the subsidies account for from the average prices for the initial purchase. China's new subsidies average less than 10% of the appliance cost. Therefore, it is potentially helpful to stop subsidizing money-and-energy-consuming products and instead, add this budget to increase subsidies to attract the customers to buy ultra-energy-efficient refrigerators with the best energy-saving technologies.



## Figure 6: Average prices (RMB) for refrigerators with different subsidized volume groups.

Furthermore, it is found that some manufactures registered their refrigerator models for the subsidy with exactly the minimum value of the required energy efficiency index<sup>9</sup>. This raises risk for the monitors of the policy. To effectively examine and verify such kind of values, it is useful to define the tolerances that the tested parameters shall be subject to, namely each measured value shall be within the allowed tolerance from the value as required or declared.

# Washing machines<sup>10</sup>

There are two main technologies of washing machine on the Chinese market: drum (front load) and impeller (top load). GB 12021.4-2004 regulates these two technologies with the same indicators

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> It is estimated by GOME, one of the biggest electrical appliances retailers in China, that the market share of three-door and side-by-side door refrigerators (both of which typically use more energy than their two door top vertical equivalent units) will increase from 50% to 65% in 2012.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> http://www.sdpc.gov.cn/zcfb/zcfbgg/2012gg/W020120914638886942311.xls (read in October 2012)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> http://www.sdpc.gov.cn/zcfb/zcfbqt/2012qt/t20120608\_484897.htm

including energy consumption (kWh/cycle/kg), water consumption (L/cycle/kg) and washing ability. Both types of product are included in this subsidy program and the scheme is shown in Table 8.

Product type	EET and Energy efficiency requirements	Subsidy amount (RMB/Unit)
Full-automatic	Washing capacity≤3.5 kg, tier 2 and tier 1	100
impeller	Washing capacity>3.5 kg, tier 1	200
Double barrel impeller	Tier 2 and tier 1	70
Drum	Tier 1, Washing ability≥1.03, Water consumption≤10 L/cycle/kg, Energy consumption≤0.17 kWh/cycle/kg	260

Table 8: Subsidy scheme for	washing machines (2012).
-----------------------------	--------------------------



# Figure 7: Energy efficiency tier share in different product types

Figure 7 shows all the drum washing machines are tier 1 products, while 25% of the impeller washing machines are tier 1 products. Taking tier 1 and 2 as the energy-saving products which is defined in the standard, there are more than 85% of washing machines that are energy-saving products. Resetting of the MEPS and energy efficiency classification of the washing machine is urgently needed.

## Water heaters<sup>11</sup>

The latest subsidy program includes three kinds of water heaters: 1) Gas water heaters, 2) Solar water heaters, and 3) Air-source heat pump water heaters. It was encouraging that the electrical water heater was excluded from the subsidy because such kinds of products waste energy by multiple transformations (coal to electricity, electricity to heat). We found that the subsidy scheme was established before the minimum energy performance standard for air-source heat pump water heaters was available. This implies that the standardization work is sometimes behind the policy and the process time needs to be improved. Due to the current limited data and page, more detailed discussion about this product can be seen in our specific report.

# Conclusions

This paper reviewed the latest subsidy program for energy-saving products in China, and analyzed the subsidy schemes for the five target product categories based on a market analysis. Due to the data limitation, we cannot see the full spectrum of the truth, but based on our existing analysis we still arrived at the following conclusions:

- 1. MEPS need to be revised soon. On one hand, the market share of tire1 models is too high to determine the high energy efficient products, on the other hand, the recent subsidy program needs a more stringent standard to regulate the energy-efficient appliances market. Technology-neutralism is needed to have lowest energy consumption when we receive the same services. In addition, the energy consumption information shall be visible on the energy label to ensure customers have options to select energy-saving products.
- It is recommended that the new MEPS replace the last tier with a meaningful value according to the models distribution of energy efficiency tiers, and reclassify tier 1 accordingly. We also proposed possible plans, for example reclassification for refrigerators is given based on EEI distribution and the subsidy scheme.
- 3. The effectiveness of the subsidy program can be improved given the following advices: from the energy saving perspective, subsidies shall only go to top-efficient necessary products (follow the rules of both efficiency and sufficiency), i.e. no wrong signals shall be given to consumers to get the maximum subsidy and buy a big-sized product which is unnecessary, otherwise "Jevons paradox" might happen. Therefore high absolute energy consumption modes (even if it is very efficient) shall not be subsidized; High-end models and luxury products shall not be subsidized, instead, to promote energy-saving technologies for mainstream models, subsidies shall intensively go to those models that have small and medium size. (this statements is from our point of view of saving energy, not considering the economic effect)
- 4. Many products in Tier 1 and Top10 are made artificially expensive to profit from affluent customers. This needs to be stopped. Subsidy should only go to end-consumer, not manufacturers.
- 5. To ensure an effective implementation of the energy policies, more enforcement and monitoring measures need to be taken. Tolerance is strongly recommended for the evaluation of the difference between the tested parameter values and the required or declared values, especially during subsidy registration.

# Acknowledgement

We thank Mr. Conrad U. Brunner for his insights and guidance, we thank Mr. Zhao Zhonghua for his guidance and support, and we also show appreciation to Mr. Stuart Jeffcott for his comments.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> http://www.sdpc.gov.cn/zcfb/zcfbqt/2012qt/t20120608\_484891.htm

# References

References (Use "normal" style or Arial 10 justified here)

Number references in the text in square bracket. Use "references" style here or Arial 10 justified single space. After each reference skip one line (inbuilt into style). See the examples below

- [1] McKinsey & Company. *Pathways to a Low-Carbon Economy: Version 2 of the Global Greenhouse Gas Abatement Curve*. January 2009.
- [2] Sophie Attali, Eric Bush and Anette Michel. *Factors influencing the penetration of energy efficient electrical appliances into national markets in Europe.* Defra report, Paris 2009.
- [3] <u>Http://www1.eere.energy.gov/recovery/appliance\_rebate\_program.html</u>
- [4] Jos G.J. Olivier et al. *Trends in global co2 emissions 2012 report*. ISBN: 978-92-79-25381-2. PBL Netherlands Environmental Assessment Agency, 2012, pp.6.
- [5] <u>Http://www.jienenghuimin.net/</u> (in Chinese and accessed in January 2013)
- [6] <u>Http://www.energylabel.gov.cn/en/</u> (accessed in January 2013)
- [7] Cao Ning. Introduction of implementation for subsidy program for energy-saving air conditioners. Magazine World Standards News, 05/2010, p. 50 54.

# A Review of the Concept of Energy Service Efficiency as a Metric for Assessing the Provision of Energy Services in Residential Buildings

Authors: E. Marshall, J. Steinberger, T. Foxon and V. Dupont

University of Leeds

# Abstract

Energy is used in buildings to provide multiple services such as illumination, comfortable temperature, sustenance, hygiene, communication and entertainment. This paper considers the potential methods and metrics for developing a framework to quantify the efficiency of delivered residential energy. If it were possible to provide these same services at the desired levels in more energy-efficient ways, the result would be lower emissions of greenhouse gases without a reduction in welfare of the building occupants. This paper develops the ideas of energy service efficiency as a more rigorous metric by which to choose appropriate low carbon technologies and energy efficiency measures.

The generally accepted engineering definition of energy efficiency as the ratio between useful output to energy input has been studied. The chain through which energy is transformed from primary energy to final and useful energy has been scrutinised under 'energy input', while the metrics for measuring the output have been examined in detail. This will lead to a better understanding and higher level of rigor in the analysis of the concept of service efficiency. Although the concept of energy services has long been considered, there is a dearth of literature focussing on methodologies for measuring the delivered service and on metrics for comparing efficiency.

This paper works towards establishing a tool for future assessment of the performance of low carbon technologies and practices such that the most appropriate options can be applied to individual buildings. The focus is on residential energy services, but the approach could subsequently be extended to other services.

# 1. Introduction

It is increasingly being recognised that the traditional focus for energy planning solely on the energy supply systems has resulted in a limited view of the potential for energy reductions [1], [2]. Expectation that supply can continue to meet an increasing demand lacks the reality that the majority of energy supply worldwide continues to be reliant on fossil fuels, supply of which is not unlimited and results in more intensive and controversial methods of extraction such as tar sands and arctic drilling. With better consideration of the demand side, greater potential for a drastic change to energy systems may be possible.

Energy demand is not a demand for fuels or electricity, it is driven by a demand for the services which energy can provide – comfortable rooms, illuminated spaces, sustenance, hygiene, mobility, entertainment [3–5]. Daly [6] described the 'ultimate end' of these services as 'want satisfaction' and Nørgård [7] extended the full energy chain beyond energy services through 'lifestyle' ('the system in which people organise society and daily behaviour in an attempt to satisfy their needs...constrained by the frames provided by the natural environment and society') and 'welfare' ('well-being, quality of life...the ultimate end of satisfying people's real needs and wants').

The concept of energy services is not novel, and it has formed a part of the business model of energy service companies (ESCos) and energy performance contracts (EPCs) since the early 1990s [8–10]. However, the method of measuring the efficiency of the delivery of energy services has still not been fully developed.

This paper provides the justification behind a new type of metric for assessing the performance of technologies and energy efficiency measures (design and control can also improve energy performance but are not specifically technologies). It is a framework through which different technical, design and operational configurations could be assessed, with the intention of developing the concept of energy efficiency to a more meaningful consideration of the energy required to deliver what people want and need to satisfy their welfare.

In order to identify the potential for this area of development, the concept of service efficiency requires more thorough analysis. This paper provides a review of the work done surrounding this area of research and combines the ideas to present a new methodology for assessing the efficient delivery of energy services. The concept of energy services are introduced in section 2 and the chain of the energy system which goes to delivering these services is discussed in section 3. In section 4, efficiency is explored, commonly defined as a ratio of output to input or the proximity that a system is operating relative to maximum potential. This leads into section 5 which starts with a literature review of the concept of energy service efficiency before going deeper into the discussion of how the development of these ideas could improve upon current metrics for assessing technology and building energy performance. A framework for development towards a systematic methodology for the measurement of service efficiency is presented. Section 6 develops this broader discussion and finally section 7 is a conclusion including outline of further areas of work which would move this area of study towards achieving its goals.

# 2. Energy Services

Energy demand is not driven by a demand for commercial energy itself, but rather by a demand for energy services [3–5], [11]. The term energy services is well used in literature as 'the benefits that energy carriers produce for human wellbeing' [12]. By making energy service delivery the focus of energy use, there is greater scope for consideration of the reduction of energy use without an implicit reduction in welfare. When aiming for a more detailed way of defining energy services, a balance is required between qualitative and quantitative metrics such that the service demand can be most accurately defined but comparable between different methods of delivery. Energy services include mobility, thermally conditioned spaces, cold beverages, warm meals, food storage, hygiene, illumination, communication, entertainment and security.

As a society we have come to rely heavily on an unabated supply of energy to deliver these services. It is not only energy which goes to their delivery; water, materials, infrastructure and data are examples of other flows which are required and for this reason, Jonsson *et al.* [13] explicitly used the term services as opposed to energy services. However, energy is required in the delivery of all of these flows also, and therefore a consideration of the energy system is useful within this discussion as is given in the following section.

Of course, energy is not only used in society to deliver these 'direct' energy services. Some authors included physical structure - consumer goods, buildings, machines, steel making, tables [3], [4], [13], [14] – Haas [11] and Jonsson *et al.* [13] described these as 'indirect energy services' through which the embodied energy in all of the technologies, materials, structures and other objects we use and own can be accounted for. The field of Life-Cycle Assessment (LCA) has developed methods for including embodied energy and all lifecycle aspects of energy use and waste into analysis of energy impact. These can be extended to analysis of indirect energy services. Haas *et al.* [11] also discussed the idea that short term and long term components of service demand exist; choice of temperature setting, km driven and stand-by operation of a TV or computer are examples of short term service demand, whilst area of an apartment, size of car and number of light bulbs form the long term service demand.

# 3. Energy Chain

The energy that we use for the delivery of services comes from a long chain of transformations through different forms. The flow of energy is not a simple linear chain and there are feedback loops



# Figure 1: Energy system chain adapted from various sources [4], [7], [13], [14], [17], [18]. The image of the house shows the split between on and off site stages, in this case suggesting the example of residential energy services.

which need to be considered. **Error! Reference source not found.** depicts the energy chain and the parts along the chain are discussed below.

# 3.1. Supply Side Energy Carriers

# Primary Energy

Primary energy is the term commonly used for the energy input to the whole energy system[15][15][15][15][15][15], most commonly from natural sources [4], [5], [7], [13], [15–20]. Conventional examples are fossil fuels (coal, petroleum, natural gas), other non-renewable fuels (uranium) and renewables (wind, sunlight, geothermal, hydropower, biomass). Waste may or may not be included as a type of primary energy carrier [21] and this definition will need to be agreed upon as waste to energy schemes becomes more common.

## Final Energy

Final energy is the form of energy which is delivered to the end user or point of consumption [5], [17] such as electricity, natural gas, fuel oil, district heat, charcoal, petrol or diesel [4], [5], [7], [17], [18]. In the context of building energy use, final energy may either be centrally provided, such as grid electricity, mains gas and district heat, or it may be self-generated by an onsite technology such as a micro wind turbine or solar panel which converts primary natural energy (wind or sun) into final energy (electricity or hot water).

The term secondary energy is also commonly used in the literature, but the difference between secondary energy and final energy is not always clear. Some distinctions hold secondary energy as an intermediate energy carrier, where primary energy carriers are transformed, refined or converted into secondary energy carriers [7], [17], [22] which in many cases are *also* final energy carriers. Nakićenović *et al.*'s [23] distinction gave a more rigid distinction; that primary energy is transformed into secondary energy (eg coal to electricity) and secondary energy becomes final energy through distribution to point of use.

Within the building industry, the concept of 'Zero Energy Buildings' is gaining attention, for which onsite energy generation is equal to or exceeds the energy taken from the grid, over a year period. The 'net delivered energy', (energy delivered to site by energy companies less the exported energy from on-site generation) should not be confused with final energy as there will ordinarily still be significant energy consumption within a zero energy building and embodied energy in the construction [1], [24].

## Useful Energy

Useful energy is heat, light or motion. Final energy is converted into useful energy in appliances [5], end-use devices [4], [17] or conversion devices and it is this form of energy carrier which goes towards delivering an energy service. Care must be taken in analyses as the term useful energy is

also used synonymously with secondary or final energy, exergy or energy services [7], [20], [21], [25–27].

# Indirect Energy

Currently, attention to energy efficiency tends to focus on operating energy, and although this is important, it must not occur at the expense of a greater increase in energy use at other stages of the life cycle. Jonsson *et al.* [13] proposed that the 'ultimate energy efficiency measure is to be able to provide the same [service] output without any input from the energy supply system', but this fails to take account of the input of indirect energy. As the energy used in operation decreases, the relative importance of embodied energy in all aspects of the production phase of technologies and energy efficiency measures increases and optimisation of design should be aimed at minimising the energy use over the whole life cycle [20], [28], [29]. Inclusion of these factors of indirect energy consumption is important for consideration of the full energy input to energy services.

# 3.2. Delivery of Energy Services

Most commonly, the focus of delivering energy services is on the conversion devices, defined as 'devices which transform or upgrade energy into more useful forms' [30]. However, it is the combination of delivering useful energy at the right time, in the right space that produces the required service. The idea that this space is important was a focus of the work by Cullen and Allwood in their analysis of the global efficiency of the flow from fuel to service [14] and they introduced the term 'passive system'. They described the delivery of energy services as being a two stage process whereby final energy was transformed or upgraded into useful energy in a conversion device and this useful energy is degraded and consequentially lost as low-grade heat within a passive system, in exchange for the provision of final energy services. Most literature has no inclusion of such a concept, but considerable improvements in the delivery of energy services can be made through improvements to the passive system; the requirement on room heating can be significantly reduced by improved insulation, as well as improvements to the heaters.

With regards to welfare, Daly [6] described the 'ultimate end' of these services as 'want satisfaction', and Nørgård [7] used the term 'welfare' as the 'ultimate end' after the intermediary 'lifestyle'. Welfare in this case means 'well-being, quality of life, or whatever terms have been applied to express the ultimate end of satisfying people's *real needs and wants*' [7 italics in original]. The inclusion of this step in the energy system represents the notion that the perceived need for energy services and the quality or quantity of service provided can also be a step for attention and optimisation. Optimisation in this case is not about maximisation but about sufficing people's needs.

## 3.3. Discussion

The breakdown of the energy system into the stages discussed in this section is useful when considering the energy input used in the equation for service efficiency considered later in this paper. Nakićenović *et al.*'s [23] analysis of the energy and exergy efficiencies at the different stages of the energy chain found that the main losses of energy and exergy occur at different points in the energy chain for different fuel types and although the data used would now be obsolete, the salient point is that comparison between different fuel inputs must reflect their relative efficiency of conversion through the whole energy chain.

For comparing the energy efficiency of whole systems - individual houses or single pieces of equipment - defining the boundaries is important for meaningful assessments. Considering different boundaries may highlight different opportunities for efficiency improvements. These boundaries should include the loops in the energy system whereby final energy is also required at every point along the chain and embodied energy is incumbent in all infrastructure of the chain.

This focus on energy input is important for thorough analysis of energy efficiency which is discussed in the next section.

# 4. Concepts of Efficiency

The term "energy efficiency" is 'widely used but not always well understood' [31]. It is used to represent how well a system is performing; the manner or quality of functioning or the extent to which a desired effect is achieved [1]. Quantitatively, it gives the ratio between input and output energy (or other measurable quantity), or the ratio of actual result to the best theoretically achievable result. These different approaches to a measurement of the performance of a system will be discussed in this section

Efficiency can be considered and assessed at different levels from the micro scale across a single piece of technology or energy efficiency measure, at a meso level across a whole house or community, or at a macro level at a national or global scale.

# 4.1. Efficiency as the ratio of output to input

In the field of engineering, energy efficiency is generally defined as the ratio of useful output to the energy input as shown in Eq 1.

A similar metric is energy intensity, or specific energy consumption (SEC), which is the inverse of efficiency and represents the input of energy required to achieve a useful output as shown in equation **Error! Reference source not found.** 

These metrics are related to the first law of thermodynamics, that within a closed system, energy is conserved. Energy efficiency in this form shows the proportion of energy input which is converted to the desired output. Thermodynamic energy efficiency would have an output measured as energy, although other useful metrics involve a different output metric such as those indicative of a service delivered (mass of product, square metres of floor area or passenger-km), or an economic variable such as GDP; Patterson [32] termed these physical-thermodynamic and economic-thermodynamic indicators respectively.

The input measured can have an effect on the value of efficiency calculated depending on where the boundary of the system is defined. The energy may be measured at different points in the supply chain as discussed above; final (site) energy, delivered energy, primary energy, and may or may not include indirect (or embodied) energy [1], [18].

The type of metric measured can alter the insight gained from the efficiency term. Consideration of exergy as well as energy can give more meaningful analysis of the appropriate energy quality being used. Exergy is a thermodynamic quantity which represents the 'quality of energy' and includes the concept of the change in entropy from the second law of thermodynamics. Exergy is defined as the maximum amount of work which can be produced by a system as a consequence of it not being at stable equilibrium with some reference environment [33]. Unlike energy, which according to the first law of thermodynamics is conserved across a system's boundary, exergy is not conserved. When considering efficiencies of energy systems, exergy takes into account the quality of the energy carrier and accounts for the fact that electricity has more potential for doing work than low temperature hot water which can only be used for heating purposes [15]. The second law indicates that although it is possible to achieve full conversion of work into heat and internal energy (through dissipation), exergy losses in combustion and heat transfer contribute to poor thermodynamic performance [34]. In many cases, exergy efficiency is lower than energy efficiency, indicating that improvements could be made in terms of matching energy input to energy output. [35], [36].

# 4.2. Efficiency as the proximity to best theoretically achievable result

An alternative efficiency metric provides a measure of the actual input compared to the minimum input that would be required in the ideal case and therefore providing an indication of the proximity to the

ideal system. This is referred to as second law efficiency when exergy is considered and incorporates the idea that exergy is not conserved and the quality of energy is degraded through conversion processes. When addressing the performance of a system, a baseline is useful for comparison to an ideal value to give an idea of potential for improvement. **Error! Reference source not found.** shows the generalised case (where input may be energy or exergy or some other input).

Examples of the use of second law efficiency are found by Ayres [37] and Nakićenović [38] and Perez Lombard et al. approached the energy efficiency of heating system as the 'thermal energy virtually needed (ideal demand) to the final energy actually consumed', showing the use of a similar approach for efficiency as ideal energy demand to actual energy use.

Cullen and Allwood [14] calculated an estimate for the potential for energy savings in the global energy system by calculating the difference between current and target efficiency as shown in equation Eq  $\mathbf{4}$ .

Potential for Scale of saving energy flow × Target Current efficiency efficiency Eq.4

The target and current efficiency terms were measured as a 'utilisation ratio', calculated as the ratio of energy input to service output, and this shows an approach for using efficiency terms which combine the two alternatives above. This difference between target efficiency and current efficiency as an indication of the performance of the system allows identification of areas where current performance is sub-optimal and for energy efficiency improvements to be focused.

Other definitions of improved efficiency are achieving the same level of output at a reduced energy consumption, or an increased level of output for the same energy consumption [32], [39], [40]. The latter definition may signify an improvement in energy efficiency but not in energy consumption [1] and is related to the Jevons Paradox, or the rebound effect [41–44].

## 4.3. Considerations for measurement of efficiency

The '*where*, *when* and *how* ... input and output [should] be measured and valued?' [13 italics in original] needs to be considered when accurately trying to define energy efficiency, and encompasses several important factors as listed below [1], [13], [45] and any assumptions should be clearly stated;

- the system boundaries,
- quality judgment of delivered output
- types of energy, quality of energy and units of measurement,
- method of determination (measured or estimated),
- temporal characteristics (static or dynamic)
- baseline (best theoretical, best practise or the performance of similar systems in other locations or at other times in history)

The evaluation of the efficiency of an energy system has been attempted on micro, meso and macro scales, for each of which a different methodology is suitable. The efficiency term is only as useful as the data available for its evaluation and often economic or supply side efficiency measures are favoured, particularly on macro national or global scale as this data is more widely available and comparisons can be made across regions. However, the temporal variation of monetary value means this is less useful at a micro scale [32], [40], [46] and limited insight can be gained into the current performance or potential for improvement and therefore new metrics for energy service would be valuable for the improvement of technology or building assessment.

# 4.4. Discussion

Of the approaches to energy efficiency discussed above, both present valuable information on the performance of a system. It is helpful to include explicit information of what the input and output of the system are, but this needs to be supported by details of what boundary is being used and what type of input and output are being measured. It is also useful to include an indication of how close a system is performing compared to its optimum as this gives the calculated value context. Ideally, a combination of the two types of indicators included above would provide context and clearer identification of where priorities for energy efficiency improvements should be concentrated.

# 5. Energy Service Efficiency

Energy efficiency has been extended to "service efficiency" in a number of publications. Daly [6] used the term "service efficiency" in his equation to describe 'ultimate efficiency' as 'getting more service per unit of time from the same stock<sup>1</sup>. Patterson's [32] 'physical-thermodynamic indicators', and Haas *et al.*'s [11] term 'technical efficiency' both gave a measurement of a specific energy service per energy input. In other cases, the inverse is used; Pérez-Lombard *et al.*'s [47] definition of energy intensity, and Cullen and Allwood's term 'utilisation ratio' calculates the ratio of energy input to service output. Other publications have given equivalent definitions of using less useful energy without a loss of service quality [7], [13], [17]. The most common metric of energy service efficiency is the energy service energy intensity (the inverse of efficiency) as shown in equation 5.

Energy Service Energy Intensity 
$$=$$
  $\frac{\text{Energy Input}}{\text{Service Output}}$  Eq 5

Ayres [37] uses the terms second law efficiency and service delivery efficiency synonymously in his analysis of the UK energy system as the difference between current and ideal maximum efficiencies. This was a similar approach to that used by Cullen and Allwood [48] for the estimation of the practical limits of energy reduction in the global energy system as discussed above. These show the approach of efficiency as a measure of proximity to the ideal system.

For use as the output term in a service efficiency metric, the quantification of energy services is necessary. Quantification requires the measurement of a suitable magnitude of demand indicator which involves the definition, assessment and analysis of a set of energy efficiency indicators (as discussed in the following section). In previous literature, measures of service efficiency similar to Patterson's [32] physical-thermodynamic efficiency indicators have been used where the service demand is measured in terms of capita, households or people. Cullen and Allwood [14] go beyond this and use units of final service of cubic metre-Kelvin of air for thermal comfort, or hot water and Newton-metres of work for hygiene, Joules of food for sustenance, lumen-seconds for illumination and bytes for communication. Other 'energy efficiency indicators' can be found in the literature, which appear to take the form of the above mentioned ratios and have been developed for the assessment of energy performance and for quantifying the success of energy efficiency improvement measures. **Error! Not a valid bookmark self-reference.** shows a broader range of such metrics found in literature and existing databases for describing energy efficiency by end use. The term 'energy efficiency indicator' is used in the literature, although the form of the indicators is the inverse of the efficiency and therefore technically a measure of energy intensity.

Service	Energy Efficiency Indicator	Measurement	Ref
Thermal Comfort	Unit Consumption (UC) per floor area for space heating	toe/m <sup>2</sup>	[49]
	UC of useful energy per dwelling for space heating	toe/dw	[49]

Table 1: Energy	y efficiency	/ Indicators by	y End Use in	Literature and	Existing Databases
-----------------	--------------	-----------------	--------------	----------------	--------------------

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> where 'stock' is the constant content of a steady state economy eg constant physical wealth and material artefacts

	UC of useful energy requirement per m <sup>2</sup> for space heating	toe/m <sup>2</sup>	[49]
	UC of useful energy for space heating per	toe/dd	[49]
	UC consumption at constant structure of heating	toe/dw	[49]
	UC per floor area per degree day for space	kJ / (m <sup>2</sup> . dd)	[50]
	UC per floor area per degree day for air conditioning	kJ / (m <sup>2</sup> . dd)	[50]
Illumination	Electricity per m <sup>2</sup> floor space for lighting	kWh / m²	[51]
Sustenance	UC per capita for cooking UC per dwelling for cooking Specific Consumption (SC) for refrigerators, freezers,	kWh or toe / cap kJ / dw (kWh/equi)	[49] [50] [49]
Hygiene	SC for washing machines, dish washers		
Tiygiene	UC for washing machines, dish-washers UC per person	kJ / dw kJ / p	[49] [49] [50] [50]
Communication & entertainment	SC for TV, (other electrical appliances) UC for appliances	(kWh/equi) kJ / dw	[49] [50]

**UC:** Unit consumption, **SC:** Specific consumption, **kWh**: Kilowatt hour, **toe**: Tonne of oil equivalent, **dw**: Dwelling, **tCO**<sub>2</sub>: Tonne of CO<sub>2</sub>, **dd**: Degree-day, **cap**: Capita, **equi:** Piece of equipment **p**: Person

# 5.1. Measurement of Energy Services

When developing a metric by which technologies can be assessed for their service efficiency, the starting focus should be the desired service output. The above metrics go some way towards this, but they don't fully capture the extent of the required service and work in this area could be valuable for the development of the concept of energy service efficiency. This aspect must be considered, giving attention to the precise service required and the comparability of service delivery methods needs to be considered. For example, there is potential to further develop a metric for thermal comfort to occupied spaces not only being at a desired temperature, but more specifically that spaces in the building are at a specified temperature for the time that they are occupied. Overheating or overcooling any area, or heating or cooling unoccupied space, would be a waste of useful energy. Equally, a current measurement of chilled refrigeration space as litres of chilled storage doesn't address cases of a household having a large fridge when a smaller fridge would suffice for the service of 'chilled storage for the household's required food'.

A good example of how the definition of energy services can alter the approach was given by Haas *et al.* [11] in the contrast between the services of 'mobility' and 'transport'. They put that a common and more technical definition of 'transport' considers the energy service 'to reach the office' for which the aim would be to provide this 'distance travelled' with as low an energy input as possible, whereas 'mobility' considers the energy service 'to reach the shop where I can buy a certain product', which allows other possible approaches to reducing the energy input such as through alternative infrastructure (taking a bus or buying the product on the internet) or special planning (stopping at the shop as part of an existing journey). When comparing an inefficient bus in Delhi to an ultra-efficient sports utility vehicle, the Delhi bus is more efficient at delivering service quantity in terms of energy per passenger-km, but the quality of service is not equivalent [11]. Conversely, conservation measures for a car journey - improved use of the car, traffic conditions, walking, or replacing the journey with a phone call – could deliver the same desired service with less energy requirement, depending on the purpose of the journey [17].

This gives rise to the question of comparative services where by different means for service delivery can be compared. Jonsson *et al.* [13] discuss the potential for reducing the required energy input whilst maintaining the same 'experienced utility and quality of service'. They presented a rigorous qualitative framework for approaching service through four underlying of *volume*, *content*, *quality* and *motivation* to suggest an approach for 'complementary views' of the service delivery which would have a lower energy demand.

- **Volume**, as the underlying 'quantifiable amount of energy service delivered' such as passenger-km for transport and area of thermally conditioned rooms
- **Content**, as the 'experienced utility of service' such as thermal comfort or commuting to work
- **Quality**, as the 'experienced reliability, accessibility, safety and security, convenience and ease' such as acceptable journey time, ease of control panel for heating system or reliability of electricity delivered from the grid
- **Motivation**, as the reason for 'why a service is called upon in terms of practical (those which sustain comfortable everyday life), symbolic (those with symbolic value which support a certain lifestyle) or aesthetic (those which convey feelings of wellbeing to an individual) reasons

Due to the complexity of valuing the output of a service, tied into consideration of varying perceptions of 'quality of life', 'lifestyle' and 'welfare', they suggest that 'service should be considered quantifiable only in part'. They advocate for a broader interdisciplinary systemisation, focusing on why the service is called upon, but this qualitative aspect introduces complexities when trying to integrate service efficiency into a modelling context. Pérez-Lombard et al. [47] reinforced this point, highlighting the difficulty in quantifying the very diverse range of activities which services encompass, and they suggest the differentiation between quality and quantity. They suggest that energy efficiency indicators of any system or device are best sought in a case by case basis. The concept of analysing comparative methods of service delivery confers with Nakićenović's [17] argument that energy reduction requires not only 'the reduction in specific energy needs for performing a given task', but 'the reduction in energy needs due to changes in the nature or level of the required energy services' (which he defined as energy efficiency and energy conservation respectively). A reduction of level of energy service is unlikely to be popular with the general society unless it can be perceived that this level of service is chosen and therefore the focus on the change in delivery method is beneficial.

In order to compare service efficiencies, either to a maximum potential or when comparing the efficiencies of different technologies or measures, it is important to explicitly identify the service which is being compared. When comparing different systems to deliver a common output, it is beneficial to have a definition of a 'service unit'. As in the work by Cullen and Allwood discussed above, the service is defined in base SI units, but there is potential to develop these to match more closely the services people require, for a micro bottom up analysis or for use as efficiency indicators on a building level.

A 'service unit' could be defined for each service. This would be equivalent to a functional unit defined in life cycle assessment (LCA) as the 'quantification of the identified functions (performance characteristics) of the product basis for comparison for alternative goods or services' [52]. As with the functional unit in LCA [53], the service unit should relate as closely as possible to the function or service i.e. rather than a technology or energy efficiency measures being assessed on heating a square meter of floor area, it should be assessed on how well it can maintain an area of a certain type<sup>2</sup> for a given period at a desired temperature. This would enable comparison between different delivery methods, such as heaters, insulation or a given combination, based on this equivalent service requirement. Similarly, using a service unit for clothes washing as 'kg of clothing' does not account for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Factors such as height of ceiling, or type of space (room, corridor, outside area) may lead to different options performing better in different situations

the variation in washing requirements of different types of clothing of different weight; a more appropriate service unit would be 'a cleanly clothed person for a given duration'.

# 5.2. Development of Energy Service Efficiency Metrics

In order to extend the concept of energy services to being commonly used in the performance of technologies and buildings, development of this work is required. If it is energy services we desire, then surely buildings should be designed to deliver energy services and assessments of buildings and technologies within them should be assessed directly related to these. Ideally, a metric of energy service efficiency, or as is shown here, the inverse of energy service efficiency (energy service energy intensity), could be developed relating to a more precise energy service required and this service unit could be a common point of comparison for different technologies or other energy efficiency measures; both conversion devices and passive systems. For the application to a building performance metric, the level of service unit demand for the different services could be multiplied by the energy service energy intensity to evaluate the energy input required by a building, as given in Eq 6.

 $\frac{\text{Energy Input}}{\frac{\text{Service Unit}}{\text{Energy Service}}} \times \text{Level of Service Unit Demand} = \text{Energy Requirement} \qquad \text{Eq 6}$ 

As the 'service unit' metric in the efficiency equation gets more defined, characterisation of service demand becomes more difficult, but this approach is necessary in order to overcome the rebound effect such as that as energy per square meter of heated space or litre of chilled storage reduces, the demand for these aspects of service decrease.

However, with a miss-defined metric of service, this approach would be susceptible to a rebound in service demand with less energy leading to an ever increasing demand for house size and appliance size and therefore the right definition of services is important.

This methodology could lead to a new approach for energy service companies (ESCos) in which the customer pays for their demanded services. ESCos (or energy performance contracting as it is commonly sold as in the UK) has become more closely about selling energy efficiency measures rather than selling services, and the better quantification of energy services and associated efficiency metrics could allow this. The metric of total service demand could give freedom to an occupant to stipulate the service which they demand, i.e. the areas which they want thermally conditioned or illuminated, and at what temperature or light intensity, or the clothing regime which they prefer. This would allow greater flexibility that the current approach in which an 'adjustment factor' to accounts for changes in the service required, but in general it is assumed that the service demand will stay constant<sup>3</sup>. There are particular difficulties if the service demand changes or if historic data is not available, which is particularly prevalent in the residential sector, and this alternative methodology would allow for the consumer to specifically choose the level of service which they desire and pay for these services.

# 6. Discussion

The aim of this work is to produce a metric for the measurement and evaluation of the efficiency of delivering energy services; the energy service efficiency. This would be a valuable metric for assessing the performance of low carbon technologies and other energy efficiency measures acting as conversion devices and passive systems in delivering energy services.

Any measurement of energy service efficiency should be based around the energy service required. This would be most conveniently addressed by considering service units, equivalent to functional units used in LCA. Previous work in this area has used service definitions such as 'squared metre of heated area', 'litres of chilled storage' or 'kg of washing', but there is potential to improve upon these

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The adjustment is also used to account for weather variation, particularly relevant to energy consumption in heating, using the concept of degree-days

metrics in order to most closely match the service measured to the service required and reduce the potential for rebound in the increasing demand for services. For example, a measure of sufficient clothing for a person for a week instead of kilograms of cleaned clothes for hygiene or sufficient food for a household instead of kilograms of cooked food for sustenance. The definition of these service units should consider the service being provided and the motivation for this service demand, the quality of service which is required and consideration of the time period over which the service is demanded may also be relevant. A meaningful quantification of the service required, including details of these aspects, would form the energy service demand metric. This metric would not be directly comparable for different services, but would provide the basis for comparison between different technologies and energy efficiency measures.

With the energy service defined and the requirement of useful energy input and schedule of operation determined, technologies or measures can be compared based on their energy, exergy or other inputs, or their related environmental impact such as  $CO_2$  emissions. For meaningful comparison, the boundary over which the inputs are considered must be consistent; the use of final energy rather than primary energy would give different, potentially misleading, results over the whole energy system. The inclusion of indirect energy will help to build a more thorough comparison of the overall energy input to each technology or energy efficiency measure for delivery of the defined energy service.

Assessment of technologies and measures should include aspects of actual performance as used as opposed to only rated performance in laboratory tests, and the ease with which it can be installed and operated. Existing approaches to rating individual technologies exist, whereby technologies are assigned 'energy labels' based on the performance of the technology in a standardised test [54]. These test procedures measure the performance of the appliance under steady state in a controlled environment at the beginning of the product's life time [55], [56]. Meier [56] stated that 'every test procedure is a compromise' as the goals for an 'ideal test procedure which reflects annual usage conditions without compromising on reliability and cost effectiveness' are contradictory. However, in order for the concept of energy services to proliferate, an alternative assessment approach would be required which more accurately rates the technology based on the service which it is required to deliver. The methodology could also lead to a new approach for energy service companies (ESCos) whereby the customer pays not for the electricity and gas they consume but for the demanded services.

The work presented in the previous section provides a methodology through which the total energy demand of a building could be calculated based on the level of energy services desired by the occupants. This could provide an aggregated measure of the performance of delivering services for a whole house. This approach has the potential to be extended in order to provide a more rigorous method for assessing the energy performance of a building than the current approach using Standard Assessment Procedure (SAP) or Energy Performance Certificate (EPC). This micro scale approach could also be extrapolated to give an indication of the service efficiency on a national scale, but the inherent inaccuracies in these approximations should be recognised.

For a better metric of energy performance of a building to be developed, a more detailed reporting of what, where, when and why energy is being used would be highly valuable, and could provide a realtime indication of how well a building is performing compared to a modelled optimum. It would require heavier data collection than some metrics, but as the availability of smart metering and sub metering improves, and data processing becomes more effective, this will become less of a barrier the future.

Expected levels of service are a function of culture and lifestyle; by minimising energy service demand, significant levels of energy can be saved. The perception of this effect on welfare can be influenced by psychological means such as whether the change in energy service level is perceived as chosen or forced.

# 7. Conclusion

Faced with the challenge of shifting an existing well established energy system from supply focused to demand focused, this paper has considered some of the important issues related to the concept of energy service efficiency.

In the case of both energy efficiency and energy service efficiency, two types of metric were identified; a ratio of output over input, and a ratio of current demand compared to the minimum demand in the ideal case. This paper focussed mainly on the former case, exploring the stages of the energy chain from primary energy to welfare including the importance of considering indirect energy as well as direct energy and considering aspects for the quantification of energy services. In the latter case, the ideal maxima may be calculable for a given service, and a comparison to these would be useful to put into context how well the system is performing. However, when comparing services, it should be done on an equivalent basis regarding the quality as well as quantity and Jonsson *et al*'s [13] framework could be a useful guideline for this.

The existing quantified approach to demand side measurement in literature and national statistics, typically giving energy consumed per end use, is somewhat limited in its approach to actually addressing why energy is used. Conversely, the ideal approach to assessing energy service demand is qualitative and difficult to quantify. This work goes towards bridging this gap and developing a more rigorous quantitative approach.

Further work is required in the development of this area to turn the concept into a useful model such that data from upstream in the energy chain and metrics for the quantification of service delivery can be fed in and meaningful service efficiency results be calculated. The next steps are to bring together required energy input for point of use and embodied energy for all technical options for energy service delivery and link them to the service which they can provide. This could be integrated into new or existing building modelling packages to make them more explicitly apply the theory of energy services to building performance analysis. It could also give a better method for recommending the most appropriate technologies for delivering energy services.

This paper has not looked into the link between energy service and welfare however, but this link should not be overlooked as a reduction in demanded energy services would lead to a reduction in energy consumed overall. Determination of service can be taken from standards, but this average does not reflect the wide variety of people's needs and wants. As of yet, a method for using the concept of energy services has not been flexible enough to fully replace the traditional view of energy and this would be valuable work for the transition to a sustainable energy system in the future.

# 8. References

- [1] L. Pérez-Lombard, J. Ortiz, and D. Velázquez, "Revisiting energy efficiency fundamentals," *Energy Efficiency*, no. Schnapp, Nov. 2012.
- [2] J. C. Jansen and A. J. Seebregts, "Long-term energy services security: What is it and how can it be measured and valued?," *Energy Policy*, vol. 38, no. 4, pp. 1654–1664, Apr. 2010.
- [3] A. B. Lovins, "Energy Strategy The road not taken?," *Foreign Affairs*, pp. 65–96, 1976.
- [4] E. Jochem, "Energy end-use efficiency (World Energy Assessment: Energy and the challenge of sustainability)," 2000.
- [5] J. K. Steinberger, J. van Niel, and D. Bourg, "Profiting from negawatts: Reducing absolute consumption and emissions through a performance-based energy economy," *Energy Policy*, vol. 37, no. 1, pp. 361–370, Jan. 2009.
- [6] H. E. Daly, "The Economics of the Steady State," *The American Economic Review*, vol. 64, no. 2, 1974.
- [7] J. S. Nørgård, "Models of energy saving systems: the battlefield of environmental planning," *International Journal of Global Energy Issues*, vol. 13, pp. 102–122, 2000.
- [8] E. Vine, "An international survey of the energy service company (ESCO) industry," *Energy Policy*, vol. 33, no. 5, pp. 691–704, Mar. 2005.
- [9] P. Bertoldi, S. Rezessy, and E. Vine, "Energy service companies in European countries: Current status and a strategy to foster their development," *Energy Policy*, vol. 34, no. 14, pp. 1818–1832, Sep. 2006.
- [10] G. E. Shippee, A. C. Commission, and A. State, "The Future for Energy Service Companies : Changes and Trends," *The Electricity Journal*, vol. 9, no. 6, pp. 80 84, 1996.
- [11] R. Haas, N. Nakićenović, A. Ajanović, T. Faber, L. Kranzl, A. Müller, and G. Resch, "Towards sustainability of energy systems: A primer on how to apply the concept of energy services to identify necessary trends and policies," *Energy Policy*, vol. 36, no. 11, pp. 4012–4021, Nov. 2008.
- [12] V. Modi, S. McDade, D. Lallement, and J. Saghir, "Energy Services for the Millennium Development Goals," New Haven, CT, 2005.
- [13] D. K. Jonsson, S. Gustafsson, J. Wangel, M. Höjer, P. Lundqvist, and Ö. Svane, "Energy at your service: highlighting energy usage systems in the context of energy efficiency analysis," *Energy Efficiency*, vol. 4, no. 3, pp. 355–369, Jan. 2011.
- [14] J. M. Cullen and J. M. Allwood, "The efficient use of energy: Tracing the global flow of energy from fuel to service," *Energy Policy*, vol. 38, no. 1, pp. 75–81, Jan. 2010.
- [15] G. P. Hammond and a J. Stapleton, "Exergy analysis of the United Kingdom energy system," Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, Part A: Journal of Power and Energy, vol. 215, no. 2, pp. 141–162, Jan. 2001.

- [16] L. Pérez-Lombard, J. Ortiz, and I. R. Maestre, "The map of energy flow in HVAC systems," *Applied Energy*, vol. 88, no. 12, pp. 5020–5031, Dec. 2011.
- [17] N. Nakićenović, "Energy Conversion, Conservation, and Efficiency," *Energy*, vol. 18, no. 5, pp. 421–435, 1993.
- [18] A. H. C. dos Santos, M. T. W. Fagá, and E. M. dos Santos, "The risks of an energy efficiency policy for buildings based solely on the consumption evaluation of final energy," *International Journal of Electrical Power & Energy Systems*, vol. 44, no. 1, pp. 70–77, Jan. 2013.
- [19] H. D. Lightfoot, "Understand the three different scales for measuring primary energy and avoid errors," *Energy*, vol. 32, no. 8, pp. 1478–1483, Aug. 2007.
- [20] L. Gustavsson and A. Joelsson, "Life cycle primary energy analysis of residential buildings," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 42, no. 2, pp. 210–220, Feb. 2010.
- [21] Y. Demirel, *Energy: Green Energy and Technology*. London: Springer London, 2012.
- [22] J. Sathaye, "Energy Efficiency Indicators Methodology Booklet." Berkeley, CA, 2010.
- [23] N. Nakićenović, P. V. Gilli, and R. Kurz, "Regional and global exergy and energy efficiencies," *Energy*, vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 223–237, 1996.
- [24] P. Hernandez and P. Kenny, "From net energy to zero energy buildings: Defining life cycle zero energy buildings (LC-ZEB)," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 42, no. 6, pp. 815–821, Jun. 2010.
- [25] J. Forsström, P. Lahti, E. Pursiheimo, M. Rämä, J. Shemeikka, K. Sipilä, P. Tuominen, and I. Wahlgren, "Measuring energy efficiency: Indicators and potentials in buildings, communities and energy systems." Vuorimiehentie, Finland, 2011.
- [26] A. Hepbasli, "Low exergy (LowEx) heating and cooling systems for sustainable buildings and societies," *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 73–104, Jan. 2012.
- [27] R. Sims, R. N. Schock, A. Adegbululgbe, J. Fenhann, I. Konstantinaviciute, W. Moomaw, H. B. Nimir, B. Schlamadinger, C. Turner, Y. Uchiyama, N. Wamukonya, X. Zhang, O. R. Davidson, P. R. Bosch, and R. Dave, "Energy Supply," in *Climate Change 2007: Mitigation. Contribution of Working Group III to the fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*, B. Metz, O. R. Davidson, P. R. Bosch, R. Dave, and L. A. Meyer, Eds. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2007.
- [28] A. Stephan, R. H. Crawford, and K. de Myttenaere, "Towards a more holistic approach to reducing the energy demand of dwellings," *Procedia Engineering*, vol. 21, pp. 1033–1041, Jan. 2011.
- [29] D. Z. Li, H. X. Chen, E. C. M. Hui, J. B. Zhang, and Q. M. Li, "A methodology for estimating the life-cycle carbon efficiency of a residential building," *Building and Environment*, vol. 59, pp. 448–455, Jan. 2013.
- [30] J. M. Cullen and J. M. Allwood, "Theoretical efficiency limits for energy conversion devices," *Energy*, vol. 35, no. 5, pp. 2059–2069, May 2010.

- [31] S. Sorrell, A. Mallet, and S. Nye, "Barriers to industrial energy efficiency: a literature review." Vienna, 2011.
- [32] M. G. Patterson, "What is energy efficiency? Concepts, indicators and methodological issues," *Energy Policy*, vol. 24, no. 5, pp. 377–390, 1996.
- [33] I. Dincer and M. A. Rosen, "Thermodynamic aspects of renewables and sustainable development," *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 169–189, Apr. 2005.
- [34] G. P. Hammond, "Energy and sustainability in a complex world: Reflections on the ideas of Howard T. Odum," *International Journal of Energy Research*, vol. 31, pp. 1105–1130, 2007.
- [35] J. Dewulf, H. Van Langenhove, B. Muys, S. Bruers, B. R. Bakshi, G. F. Grubb, D. M. Paulus, and E. Sciubba, "Critical Review Exergy: Its Potential and Limitations in Environmental Science and Technology," *Environmental science & technology*, vol. 42, no. 7, pp. 2221–2232, 2008.
- [36] R. U. Ayres, L. Talens Peiró, and G. Villalba Méndez, "Exergy efficiency in industry: where do we stand?," *Environmental science & technology*, vol. 45, no. 24, pp. 10634–41, Dec. 2011.
- [37] R. U. Ayres, "Technological Progress: A Proposed Measure," *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, vol. 59, pp. 213–233, 1998.
- [38] N. Nakićenović, "Decarbonization: Doing More with Less," *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, vol. 51, pp. 1–17, 1996.
- [39] EC, "IPPC Draft Reference Document on Energy Efficiency Techniques." Seville, 2006.
- [40] K. Tanaka, "Assessment of energy efficiency performance measures in industry and their application for policy," *Energy Policy*, vol. 36, no. 8, pp. 2887–2902, Aug. 2008.
- [41] W. S. Jevons, *The coal question: an inquiry concerning the progress of the nation, and the probable exhaustion of our coal-mines.* York: The Macmillan Company, 1906.
- [42] B. Alcott, "Jevons' paradox," *Ecological Economics*, vol. 54, no. 1, pp. 9–21, Jul. 2005.
- [43] S. Sorrell, "Jevons' Paradox revisited: The evidence for backfire from improved energy efficiency," *Energy Policy*, vol. 37, no. 4, pp. 1456–1469, Apr. 2009.
- [44] S. Sorrell, "Energy, Economic Growth and Environmental Sustainability: Five Propositions," Sustainability, vol. 2, no. 6, pp. 1784–1809, Jun. 2010.
- [45] R. C. McKenna, "Industrial energy efficiency technical and economic constraints," University of Bath, 2009.
- [46] L. Schipper, F. Unander, S. Murtishaw, and M. Ting, "Indicators of Energy Use and Carbon Emissions: Explaining the Energy Economy Link," pp. 49–81, 2001.
- [47] L. Pérez-Lombard, J. Ortiz, I. R. Maestre, and J. F. Coronel, "Constructing HVAC energy efficiency indicators," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 47, pp. 619–629, Apr. 2012.

- [48] J. M. Cullen, J. M. Allwood, and E. H. Borgstein, "Reducing Energy Demand: What Are the Practical Limits?," *Environmental science & technology*, pp. 1711–1718, Jan. 2011.
- [49] D. Bosseboeuf, B. Chateau, and B. Lapillonne, "Cross-country comparison on energy efficiency indicators: the on-going European effort towards a common methodology," *Energy Policy*, vol. 25, no. 7–9, pp. 673–682, Jun. 1997.
- [50] R. Haas, "Energy efficiency indicators in the residential sector What do we know and what has to be ensured ?," vol. 25, pp. 789–802, 1997.
- [51] G. J. M. Phylipsen, "Energy Efficiency Indicators: Best practice and potential use in developing country policy making," no. June. Utrecht, 2010.
- [52] ISO, "ISO/FDIS 14040:2006. Environmental management Life cycle assessment Principles and framework." International Standdardisation Organisation, 2006.
- [53] B. P. Weidema, H. Wenzel, and C. Petersen, "The Product, Functional Unit and Reference Flows in LCA," *Environmental News*, vol. 7. Danish Environmental Protection Agency, 2004.
- [54] T. M. I. Mahlia and R. Saidur, "A review on test procedure, energy efficiency standards and energy labels for room air conditioners and refrigerator-freezers," *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, vol. 14, no. 7, pp. 1888–1900, Sep. 2010.
- [55] I. Turiel, "Present status of residential appliance energy efficiency standards an international review," vol. 26, no. 1997, pp. 5–15, 2000.
- [56] A. K. Meier and J. E. Hill, "Energy test procedures for appliances," *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 26, no. 1, pp. 23–33, Jan. 1997.
- [57] H. Groscurth, T. Bruckner, and R. Kummel, "Modeling of energy-services supply systems," *Energy*, vol. 20, no. 9, pp. 941–958, 1995.
- [58] J. Keirstead, "Behavioural responses to photovoltaic systems in the UK domestic sector," *Energy Policy*, vol. 35, no. 8, pp. 4128–4141, Aug. 2007.
- [59] IEA, "Key World Energy," Paris, 2011.
- [60] DECC, "Digest of United Kingdom Energy Statistics," London, 2012.
- [61] S. Carley, "Energy Demand-Side Management : New Perspectives for a New Era," vol. 31, no. 1, pp. 6–32, 2012.
- [62] S. C. Breukers, E. Heiskanen, B. Brohmann, R. M. Mourik, and C. F. J. Feenstra, "Connecting research to practice to improve energy demand-side management (DSM)," *Energy*, vol. 36, no. 4, pp. 2176–2185, Apr. 2011.

# The benefits of creating a cross-country data framework for energy efficiency

Alex Katzman, VP of Business Development and Project Manager for SEAD Energy Efficiency Data Access Project, Enervee

Michael McNeil, Deputy Leader, International Energy Studies Group (Acting), Environmental Energy Technologies Division, Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory

Stephen Pantano, Senior Director of Global Programs, CLASP (Collaborative Labeling and Appliance Standards Program)

# Abstract

As manufacturers now sell a similar range of consumer electronics and home appliances to major markets around the world, the task of identifying a product's energy efficiency rating has usually been the responsibility of each country and its respective government agency. This has led to a multitude of energy efficiency testing procedures, ratings, and certifications, resulting in disparate data being captured on identical products. Furthermore, lack of consistent product identification criteria means product energy performance is not easily connected to relevant information about the product such as market availability, price or real world energy consumption.

This paper presents a new data standard for reporting energy performance and related product information that can be adopted internationally. To inform the development of this standard, we explore the existing energy efficiency market data for the two example products of TVs and Room Air Conditioners. This paper discusses current/future use cases of appliance level energy efficiency data across all stakeholders, including consumers, retailers/manufacturers, global standards organizations, third party service providers, and regulatory agencies. It also explains the key benefits of moving to a common international data framework for energy efficiency, such as: 1) a centralized product information repository for comparing energy use, ratings/certifications, and pricing data 2) improved access to relevant consumer electronics and appliance data to facilitate new policy development and harmonization across markets 3) enablement of retailers and other third parties to embed actionable energy efficiency information as part of the consumer experience.

# 1. Introducing a Cross-country Data Framework for Energy Efficiency

Among the most useful tools in the development of effective consumer electronics and home appliances efficiency programs and promoting consumer awareness of efficiency are data that allow for:

- Linking consumer retail information to efficiency parameters more effectively.
- Tracking efficiency trends over time (monitoring) and comparison of efficiency in different markets and jurisdictions (benchmarking).
- Tracking retail prices of appliances over time, and between countries.

Currently, broad access to consumer electronics and home appliances efficiency and price data and comparability between markets is imperfect. Product energy use labels, in countries that require them, are often not prominently displayed on sales websites; and in many cases it is difficult to access detailed product energy rating information. Policy makers must invest significant time and money in collecting data about the market status of the efficiency of available products when determining appropriate levels for energy efficiency policies. In addition, comparability of attributes across markets is often difficult, even for identical products, due to inconsistencies in model identifiers and efficiency metrics and protocols. A well-defined *data standard* for appliance attributes and efficiency characteristics could potentially solve this and many other product energy information access problems.

Key objectives of the data standard include: (1) development of internationally compatible data specifications for populating, retrieving, and cross-referencing data from web-based product databases and (2) definition of standardized methods for populating these product-specific databases. Data sources may include the use of product certification databases (such as those maintained by agencies that administer energy labeling and minimum performance standards programs); software tools (e.g., "webcrawlers" to gather and regularly update product-specific availability, efficiency and pricing data); and guidelines for the gathering and reporting of actual field (on-site) data on product energy use.

This paper outlines a proposed data framework for consumer electronics and home appliances energy performance and cost data being developed as part of the Super-efficient Equipment and Appliance Deployment (SEAD) Initiative of the Clean Energy Ministerial.[1] The goal of this project is to publish a data standard that can be implemented by relevant organizations that collect and store data about the energy performance, market availability and costs of energy-consuming equipment and appliances. This data standard can be used for sharing data among relevant organizations, and in the development of databases that store and analyze this information.

The data framework relies on two main data source types and anticipates a high degree of data collection automation. Product model lists are collected directly from retail websites, using online shopping application programmer interfaces (APIs). Connection to these online data feeds enables automated downloading of product model numbers, many product attributes and current retail prices. The second dataset type consists of efficiency certification databases, often maintained by regulating bodies responsible for minimum energy performance standards (MEPS) and labeling programs.

The combination of these two datasets provides a wealth of new information. The correlation of models found on retail websites with those in efficiency databases provides a time-dependent picture of the distribution of efficiencies on offer. These data could be updated frequently (perhaps daily), creating a high temporal resolution picture of the evolution of the market. Finally, datasets collected in this way can be used to compare the market for efficiency in different countries. By connecting real time prices with efficiency ratings and market share for the same product sold across markets, there is the potential to compare the cost consumers are willing to pay for efficiency across markets. This step may require robust algorithms for converting efficiency metrics between test procedures used in different countries.

The following sections provide a detailed description of the framework developed as a pilot project supported by the U.S. Department of Energy as part of the SEAD initiative. We then consider two products – room air conditioners (Room ACs) and televisions (TVs) – as a test case to demonstrate the facility of the data standard. The paper concludes by considering applications of a fully implemented framework and discussion of implications.

# 2 Defining the Framework and Data Standard

# 2.1. Overview

The SEAD Energy Efficiency Data Access framework was designed to be able to capture and compare energy efficiency product data for the many types of consumer electronics and home appliances that are sold around the world. It uses a product-centric model with an extensible design to ensure that it can meet the requirements of any market or category. The core of the framework standardizes markets, brands, categories, product attributes, and units of measurement with common definitions. An intelligent application layer would connect with the framework to normalize, aggregate, and match data across the disparate energy efficiency certification and retailer data sources. The outcome is a new data standard that defines a methodology for capturing and sharing this data.



Figure 1 – Data Framework Conceptual Overview

## 2.2. Identifying Use Cases

To ensure that the new framework design could handle a wide range of potential use cases, feedback was gathered through surveys and interviews with the members of the SEAD Standards and Labeling Working Group, which consists primarily of policymakers from the 13 SEAD member economies. The outcome of the surveys and interviews was a prioritized list of use cases.

#	Use Case	Need Type	Priority
1	Access to other countries' certifications and ratings for monitoring, verification, and policy design	Policy	High
2	Connect sales and efficiency trends	Policy	High
3	Ability to assess impact of marketing campaigns	Policy	Medium
	on consumer adoption		
4	Enables comparison of product rating methods	Policy	High
	across countries		
5	Facilitates procurement activities	Consumer	Medium
6	Enables development of consumer mobile	Consumer	High
	apps/online comparison tools		
7	Facilitates product energy efficiency awards	Consumer	Medium
8	Facilitates utility incentive programs	Consumer	Medium
9	Enables comparison of testing procedures	Policy	Medium

Table 1 – Prioritized Use	e Cases
---------------------------	---------

Expressed needs broke down into two distinct categories: Policy and Consumer. 'Policy' refers to use cases that relate to analyzing, benchmarking, or creating appliance standards. 'Consumer' refers to use cases that enable consumers to have access to and leverage this data in their purchasing decisions. The overwhelming feedback was that this data standard should focus mostly on Policy development but also enable development of consumer mobile apps/online comparison tools.

## 2.3. Creating a Global Data Standard

An essential part of establishing a data standard is agreeing on a simple, consistent model that can be applied across diverse markets. To accomplish this task, the concept of a Global Category was developed which defines a universal set of product attributes that are gathered irrespective of the category. This is the mandatory information that will be captured for any category, covering the unique product identifiers, market, brand/manufacturer, pricing, energy, certification, and marketing related data.

## Global Category Definition

To the greatest extent possible, the Global Category definitions have been based off of the IEA 4E Mapping and Benchmarking[2] and GS1 Global Product Classification (GPC)[3]. These existing definitions were chosen to facilitate harmonization of product category definitions across markets using international standards. Table 2 shows the proposed definition.

Attribute	Туре	Notes
Manufacturer Part Number (MPN)	String	Product Model Number stripped of extraneous characters
Brand	String	Normalized Across All Markets
Manufacturer	String	Parent Relationship to Brand
Market	Code	Defined region based on ISO 3166-1 country codes
Global Trade Item Number (GTIN)	String	Universal Product Code (UPC) or International Article Number (EAN)
QR Code	String	Quick-Response Code
Price	Numeric	Min, Max, Mean, Median, and Standard Deviation of Daily Prices
MSRP	Numeric	Manufacturers Suggested Retail Price
Product Energy	Numeric	Operating and Standby Watts, Annual Energy Consumption (from a single data source)
Product Certification	Code, Date	Certifying Authority, Current Test Procedure, Registration Date
Product Images	String	Links to Images of the Product (multiple)
Product Marketing	String	Product Title, Headline, and General Description

## Product Category Definition

While the Global Category attributes capture the common data across all products, it is also necessary to capture attributes specific to each product category, since the data required for TVs will vary substantially from that of Room ACs or Refrigerators. These category-specific attributes are the descriptors that bridge regional differences across markets. Below are examples of the TV and Room AC category definitions.

Attribute	Туре	Notes
Screen	String	LCD, LED, Plasma, Projection, CRT
Technology	_	
Functions	String	Analog, Digital
Available	_	
Screen Size	Numeric	Size in inches, centimeters, meters, or
		other unit of measurement
Resolution	String	HD or Conventional
Aspect Ratio of	String	4:3, 16:10, 16:9
Screen	-	
3D Ready	String	Yes, No

## Table 4: Room AC Data Standard

Attribute	Туре	Notes
Cooling Capacity	Numeric	BTU, kW, W
Refrigeration Method	String	Electrically driven, Absorption units
Condenser	String	Air cooled, Water cooled

Cooling		
Heat Transfer Fluid	String	Air, Water
Туре	String	Unitary, Split units, Multi-split
Cooling/heating	String	Cooling, Heating, Cooling/heating
Variable speed drive/multi-speed compressor	String	Present or Not
Refrigerant	String	Refrigerant Type

## 2.4. Customization by Market

While the standard sets guidelines for which attributes to capture, it still allows for flexibility when implementing for a specific market. Each market using the framework will have the capability to add new attributes to an existing category or define a new category for products that are not currently covered. These extensions cannot be compared across markets.

## Modifying a Category Definition

For example, some countries may want to classify types of Room ACs in more granularity and therefore there may need a 'SubType' attribute added to their Room AC category definition. Additionally, there may be a need to set up an attribute to capture a numeric rating that is assigned by a country's certification program.

## New Category Definitions

It is also possible to define an entirely new category that is not currently covered by the data standard. This new category would automatically inherit the base attributes (such as MPN, UPC, or Brand) and would only need to have defined the specific attributes unique to that product category and market.

As more and more countries begin to adopt the data standard, the result will be that the majority of categories will have been standardized across all markets.

## 2.5. Methodology for Populating the Database Framework

To make the adoption of the data standard as seamless as possible, a comprehensive approach for populating the framework from existing data sources is detailed below. An application layer is required to normalize the disparate data across markets into the new standard.

A system using the framework would create unique products from online shopping APIs such as Google, Amazon, and EBay by pulling in product IDs, marketing details, technical specifications, and prices. Access to Amazon, EBay, and other international online shopping APIs is provided for all organizations that agree to be part of that retailer's affiliate network.

It would then match energy efficiency data based on MPN or GTIN via CSV uploads of certification data sets. An unlimited number of feeds from retailer APIs and certification data sets can be utilized in the framework to ensure strong coverage of each market.

## Online Shopping APIs

Online shopping feeds from the retailers with the broadest product coverage will be utilized for creating a list of all current products on the market. One or many APIs per market will be accessed on a daily basis to pull the most up to date products and pricing data. The methodology for doing this as follows:

- Data feed retrieval: establish a connection with the retailer API to select which products should be returned by the data feed.
- Normalization: map the raw data in the retailer data feed to the definitions of the data standard. Data rules will need to be applied to common factor MPN, Brand, and product attributes.
- Aggregation: combine product specifications and prices (Min, Max, Mean, Median, and Standard Deviation of daily offers) from multiple retailer feeds to create and maintain a single, unique product record in the framework.
- Matching: update offers and product specifications on already existing products based on MPN or GTIN. Matching MPNs requires logic to strip extraneous characters and process the many wildcards present in certification records.

## Data rules

Rules can be defined per retailer API to control for the variation in data quality coming from online data sources. The power of this data framework is that rules can be configured to reject products based on category attributes, using logical operators such as any, in, not, >, <, >=, <=, and =.

Examples would be: TV Screen Technology in "LCD, LED" or Screen Size > "15 inches" or for Room AC Volume Capacity <= "14 kW". This ensures only data of the highest quality is captured into the framework. Additionally, it will be necessary to rewrite attribute names and values to normalize them across data sources and markets.

## Certification Data Sets

Government certification/rating data will be utilized to capture products' energy efficiency information. This data will be imported into the framework as a Comma-separated Value (CSV) file. The framework will then match each record's MPN to an existing product in the database following the methodology below:

- Data set parsing: Certification data sets are uploaded in CSV format to add energy efficiency related attributes to product records.
- Matching: Capture the associated energy efficiency data such as energy consumption, certification level, certifying authority, registration date, etc. on already existing products based on a matched MPN or GTIN code.

If an MPN match is not successful there is also the capability to capture the certification record directly into the database. This will cover the use case whereby certification data sets contain historical products which are not currently available on the market.

## 2.6. Mapping Products Across Markets

As many manufacturers sell the same products across many markets using different MPNs and GTINs, there is a need to be able to link comparable products. The data framework includes a reference that links an MPN and/or GTIN from one market to another. The power in capturing product attributes in a standard way is to enable automated cross-market mapping.

By using logical rules to compare MPNs and key product attributes such as a product's size, capacity, or energy consumption, the framework could facilitate identification of potential matches. As testing procedures may differ across markets, the challenge will be to identify which conversion factors and thresholds to apply. With the framework linking the test method with each product's energy certification record, it would be possible to compare differences in the actual test procedure conditions (such as AC room temperature or TV viewing mode) between comparable products. Further analysis

by all countries planning to participate in the data standard would be required to identify appropriate conversion factors and thresholds.

A good example would be for Samsung TVs across the US, Europe, South Korea, and Australia. Samsung TVs: UN40EH5000F (US), UE40EH5000 (Europe), and UA40EH5006M (Australia). Notice that the first two letters of the MPN define the market: UN for the US or South Korea, UE for Europe, or UA for Australia. This is the most basic way of identifying comparable products but does not guarantee success.

The next step would be to look at attributes such as Screen Size and Annual Energy Consumption. Using logical rules to first convert these attributes to a common unit of measurement, it will be possible to apply thresholds based on the underlying testing procedures to have the framework automate the identification of potential matches across markets. By continually fine-tuning the attribute conversion and threshold algorithms, the framework can significantly cut down on the amount of manual work required to clearly establish a set of like products across markets in each category.

# 3. Benefits of a Data Standard

A data standard accomplishes the following primary goal – improving access to data about consumer electronics and home appliances products' availability, pricing, and performance.

## 3.1. Existing Data

Currently, much of the data to feed into the proposed standard is not provided in a consistent format. For example, currently 26 countries have some type of minimum performance standard or energy performance labeling program.[4] Several of these have multiple programs, and may have different government or non-governmental agencies responsible for administering the program.

Each agency maintains their own qualification system, verifying that products comply with the requirements of their program. Often, these agencies publish lists of qualified products. For instance, the US ENERGY STAR program publishes a list of qualified products on their website.[5] This list contains 37 attributes about each product, such as manufacturer, manufacturer's product number, energy rating, size, and ENERGY STAR model identification number. Meanwhile, the Australian government collects similar information for its categorical labeling program, including 17 fields. Aligning these data formats to make reasonable comparisons across economies requires working directly with the governments that collect this data, as IEA 4E does in its mapping and benchmarking studies.

However, this certification data is further limited in that it doesn't necessarily represent the range of products available in a market, and it is not connected to price information. For instance, data from an endorsement label naturally represents the higher performing products on the market; it would not be possible to use this data to illustrate trends in efficiency of products in that market. However, each day vendors of this equipment are offering this equipment for sale – with associated identifying information such as manufacturer part number/model number (MPN), global trade identification number (GTIN) and manufacturer. By collecting these offers, we can know what fraction of the market is represented by the high performing products and what fraction of products do not have energy information available. When these products are available for sale, these products also have price information. By matching the offers for products at a given price with the energy rating provided by the rating agency, we can estimate average incremental cost for increased efficiency.

## 3.2. Uses

While a snapshot summary of most of this information can be done with existing tools, it requires significant undertaking on the part of the government or organization doing the research. In many cases, governments must purchase data or do their own research; the high cost of this puts it out of the reach of many organizations and often means that potential uses of the data are not cost effective. A data standard lowers the incremental cost of implementing any particular use by reducing the amount of work needed to reformat and clean the data sources.

Importantly, a data standard also opens up the possibility for continuous, real-time monitoring. Under the conventional approaches, the manual effort involved in collecting and aligning data sources means that information may lag by months or years, and only be available publicly in aggregate summary reports. While with the standard it make take effort to build an initial platform for viewing information, summaries can be updated on demand when source data is updated.

By developing a data standard, this data could be used to feed any number of applications or resources, limited only by what people are willing to design and create. We propose some potential applications of this data that could be developed.

## Informing policy

Currently, it is an expensive process to collect data on market status and the availability of products. Most energy performance standards and labeling programs use cost-effectiveness as a test for setting improved target levels. This data standard could enable real-time monitoring of efficiency distribution within a market or region and changes in price among products of different efficiencies. Lowered cost of this process by automating the data collection can put this type of data collection into the reach of some governments that currently can't afford to do thorough market evaluation, and can shorten the revision process for those that already do this.

## Cross-market advocacy

Currently, mapping and benchmarking studies by organizations like IEA 4E provide a way for countries to compare the performance of products in their markets. However, these are limited in how frequently they can be updated and how many products can be done. Implementation of a data standard would allow richer data to inform studies such as these, as well as broader product coverage.

## Comparison of test methods

In many cases, products are available across markets and are tested to different standards. However, because of variations in test methods, direct comparison of the results is not possible – it is comparing apples to oranges. By using the data standard to identify the same product sold in multiple markets, conversion factors can be estimated.

## Consumer mobile applications

Currently, consumers must rely on energy efficiency information that is presented via various types of labeling schemes – usually showing the relative efficiency of a product and an estimated annual energy cost based on average utility rates and usage profiles (i.e. hours of TV watched per day). The data standard could enable developers to build a mobile application that allows consumers to scan a product's bar code to instantly compare personalized energy cost across all products of a specific class. The application could then recommend more efficient products within a specific price range that are available to purchase at local retailers within the consumer's local area. By also including the

savings available from retailer incentives and utility rebates, it could incentivize consumers to purchase more energy efficient appliances.

# 4. Example Application

## 4.1. Efficiency Distribution Across Markets

As part of the development process, we collected sample data sets of room air conditioner performance from several countries. While this is the most basic comparison available, it does illustrate the first possible level of comparison. With the implementation of a data standard, this information could be made available via web portal that is up-to-date with current product information, along with data from additional countries.



## Figure 2 – Distribution of Room AC EER

In this example, Country A and Country B follow the same methodology for calculating the energy efficiency ratio (EER). However, Country C uses a different methodology. Previous research assessed the differences in test procedures and demonstrated that the ISO 5151 test conditions could be estimated by dividing the NAFTA test condition EER used in Country C by 1.032. This conversion factor has been applied to the dotted green line in Figure 2. While this conversion approximation is available for EER, many other products do not have such conversions available. Applying analysis of the same products across markets, as described above, could be used to obtain additional conversions; building the test method and conversion factors into the data standards allows for improved comparison in product availability. [6] [7]
#### 4.2. Price-Efficiency Trend Across Markets

A key additional benefit to the data framework is the ability to compare price to efficiency across markets. In the chart below, we show an illustrative example using real data to compare the average EER (in Watts Output/Watts Input), which has been normalized to W/W, and retail price level in US dollars for Room ACs across three different markets. This type of analysis could be automatically generated based on any interval (i.e. daily, weekly, monthly, quarterly) and using any price bucket (i.e. specific dollar amounts as shown below or more general divisions such as low, medium, or high). In addition, it could be filtered by size to look at the price-efficiency relationship for Room ACs of a specific cooling capacity.





# 5. Conclusion

This paper has presented the first steps of an attempt to develop the framework of an international consumer electronics and home appliances database and demonstrate some of its most important applications. The next stage of development will rely heavily on input from stakeholders within the SEAD initiative and elsewhere, to optimize and populate the database. Establishment of a full set of use cases will drive database design. In addition, the population of the database is in early stages. A major test of the data standard and algorithms will be its ability to associate products for offer in online shopping websites with models listed in certification database. The intended result of this project is a well-populated database that allows access to both efficiency and price data for a wide range of uses and end users.

An equally important outcome of the project will be the establishment of an international data standard for appliances. The natural follow-up to this outcome is to seek wide diffusion and stakeholder input, with the ultimate goal of seeking adherence to the standard from as many countries as possible. As argued above, the establishment and adoption of such a standard would yield rich benefits to policymakers, consumers and researchers concerned with consumer electronics and home appliances energy efficiency.

# 6. References

- [1] Super-efficient Equipment and Appliance Deployment (SEAD) Initiative, <u>http://www.cleanenergyministerial.org/OurWork/Initiatives/Appliances.aspx</u>
- [2] IEA 4E Mapping and Benchmarking Annex, http://mappingandbenchmarking.iea-4e.org
- [3] GS1 Global Product Classification, <u>http://www.gs1.org/gdsn/gpc</u>
- [4] CLASP Global S&L Database, http://www.clasponline.org/en/Tools/Tools/SL\_Search
- [5] Energy Star Televisions, <u>http://www.energystar.gov/index.cfm?fuseaction=find\_a\_product.showProductGroup&pgw\_cod</u> <u>e=TV</u>
- [6] E3 Energy Rating Compare Appliances, http://reg.energyrating.gov.au/comparator/product\_types/
- [7] Energy Star Room Air Conditioners, <u>http://www.energystar.gov/index.cfm?fuseaction=find\_a\_product.showProductGroup&pgw\_cod</u> <u>e=AC</u>

# The SEAD Global Efficiency Medal Competition: Accelerating Market Transformation for Efficient Televisions

# Kavita Ravi, U.S. Department of Energy

Peter Bennich, Energy Efficiency Department, Swedish Energy Agency

John Cockburn, Office of Energy Efficiency, Natural Resources Canada

Naoko Doi, Institute of Energy Economics, Japan

Sandeep Garg, Program Specialist-Energy and Environment United Nations Development Program (UNDP)

S.P. Garnaik, ICF International India

Shane Holt, Department of Resources, Energy and Tourism, Canberra, ACT, Australia

Mike Walker, Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, UK

Elizabeth Westbrook-Trenholm, Office of Energy Efficiency, Natural Resources Canada

Anna Lising, Collaborative Labeling and Appliance Standards Program (CLASP)

Steve Pantano, Collaborative Labeling and Appliance Standards Program (CLASP)

Amit Khare, Collaborative Labeling and Appliance Standards Program (CLASP)

Won Young Park, Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory

# Abstract

The Global Efficiency Medal competition, a cornerstone activity of the Super-efficient Equipment and Appliance Deployment (SEAD) Initiative, is an awards program that encourages the production and sale of super-efficient products. SEAD is a voluntary multinational government collaboration of the Clean Energy Ministerial (CEM). This winner-takes-all competition recognizes products with the best energy efficiency, guides early adopter purchasers towards the most efficient product choices and demonstrates the levels of energy efficiency achievable by commercially available and emerging technologies. The first Global Efficiency Medals were awarded to the most energy-efficient flat panel televisions; an iconic consumer purchase.

SEAD Global Efficiency Medals were awarded to televisions that have proven to be substantially more energy efficient than comparable models available at the time of the competition (applications closed in the end of May 2012). The award-winning TVs consume between 33 to 44 percent less energy per

unit of screen area than comparable LED-backlit LCD televisions sold in each regional market and 50 to 60 percent less energy than CCFL-backlit LCD TVs.

Prior to the launch of this competition, SEAD conducted an unprecedented international round-robin test (RRT) to qualify TV test laboratories to support verification testing for SEAD awards. The RRT resulted in increased test laboratory capacity and expertise around the world and ensured that the test results from participating regional test laboratories could be compared in a fair and transparent fashion.

This paper highlights a range of benefits resulting from this first SEAD awards competition and encourages further investigation of the awards concept as a means to promote energy efficiency in other equipment types.

# **Competition Objectives**

The SEAD awards program is part of a suite of policy interventions by governments designed to drive markets towards greater efficiency in electrical end-use equipment. The Super-efficient Equipment and Appliance Deployment (SEAD) Global Efficiency Medal competition recognizes products with the best energy efficiency performance, subject to certain quality constraints, in different regions as well as globally. This program complements existing standards and labeling programs in promoting energy efficiency.

The primary goal of the competition is to maximize energy savings by increasing the market share of efficient products. It also aims to spur innovation among manufacturers and foster international government collaboration to strengthen the technical foundation of efficiency policies for globally traded products. The competition process supports the harmonization of test procedures, the building of testing capabilities and the provision of internationally-comparable and transparent test results. The SEAD awards program is provides insights into market dynamics, stakeholder positions, potential market interventions, and gaps in the supporting policy environment for the product in question.

# **Competition Design and Features**

The SEAD Global Efficiency Medal competition for flat-panel display televisions was launched at the International Consumer Electronics Show in Las Vegas, Nevada, USA in January 2012. Between August and October 2012, SEAD awarded Medals to Samsung and LG for producing the most energy efficient flat panel display televisions (FPD TVs) in the world. A global awards ceremony was held at the Clean Energy Ministerial in New Delhi on 17 April 2013. The awards are a pure recognition prize and do not involve a financial component.

TVs consume more than 3%-4% of global residential electricity consumption. Relative to a baseline prevalent in the market today, there is an energy efficiency improvement potential of up to 35% with more efficient technologies [11]. Based on technology market shares and specific technology efficiency forecasts, an average improvement of 10% is in energy efficiency expected over the business-as-usual forecasts as of 2012. The choice of TVs as the product category for the first round of the competition was driven by the significant energy savings potential and efficiency improvement potential indicated by the above analysis. Within the broader television category, the choice of flat-panel televisions was based on the trend of increasing global market share. In addition, the existence of a well-established, accepted international test method (IEC 62087) and the ability to differentiate TV models by their energy efficiency reinforced this selection. Finally, the relative homogeneity of the global market and market dominance by a few manufacturers contributed to the feasibility of launching a global competition and successfully promoting it to manufacturers.

The first SEAD Global Efficiency Medal competition aimed to encourage the production and sale of super-efficient TVs in three different size categories (small, medium and large as described in Table 1) and four geographical regions (Australia, Europe, India, and North America). Size categories were determined through a market analysis and are consistent with natural segmentations found in these markets. TV screen technologies sold in different regions of the world are very similar, as TV manufacturing is highly aggregated. The four award regions of the SEAD TV Awards account for more than 40 percent of the global TV market. An award ceremony to announce the European regional winners was held at the Internationale Funkausstellung (IFA) Fair on August 31, 2013 in Berlin. The

global awards also recognized an overall winner for each size category, as well as the most efficient emerging technology product.

<u></u>	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
	Small	Medium	Large
Viewable Screen	Less than $2400 \text{ cm}^2$	2401 cm <sup>2</sup> (372 in <sup>2</sup> )	4801 cm <sup>2</sup> (744 in <sup>2</sup> )
Area	$(372 \text{ in}^2)$	to $t^2 (744 \text{ im}^2)$	to $e^{2}(1060 e^{2})$
		4800 Cm (744 m)	
Nominal Diagonal	Less than 20 in	20 in to less than 42 in	42 in to 50 in*
Screen Size		23 11 10 1633 11141 42 11	42 11 10 50 11

Table 1. Size Categories for Commercially Available Products

Note: TVs with screen larger than 6890 cm<sup>2</sup> (equivalent to 50 inches in diagonal) were eligible for this competition, but a value of 6890cm<sup>2</sup> was used as the screen area in the efficiency calculation (on-mode power/min{viewable screen area, 6890}) for these products.

Winning TVs were selected based on energy efficiency performance, which was evaluated as onmode power consumption (expressed in Watts) normalized by screen area (expressed in square centimeters), using the IEC 62087: 2011 test procedure. Efficiency was evaluated based on product performance with "out-of-box" settings, and products were required to have a default luminance setting that was 65% of the maximum luminance (aligned with US EPA ENERGY STAR requirements). These requirements were aimed at ensuring that winning products delivered good picture quality and that test results were representative of real-world consumption, since most consumers use their TV's default settings. Additionally, products were required to have a maximum standby power consumption of 0.5W.

A note on the automatic brightness control (ABC) feature: According to the IEC 62087 test procedure, on-mode power consumption is measured with ABC disabled if the feature exists. If the ABC feature cannot be disabled, then measurements are performed with the light shone directly into the television's ambient light sensor at a level of 300 lux or greater, effectively disabling the ABC feature. The competition adopted the same approach to ABC.

The SEAD competition further established minimum sales requirements as a condition of entry to ensure market access of winning products. For the Commercially Available Technology product subcategory, applicants were required to have plans to sell at least a minimum number of units of a product model in the region of nomination as specified below.

Region	Minimum Sales Threshold Units
Australia	5,000
Europe	10,000 in one country or 50,000 units across all EU27 and EFTA-countries
India	5000
North America	50,000

The sales threshold was intended to ensure that award-winning TVs have a significant footprint in terms of market share, in order to maximize potential energy savings. For the Emerging Technology product sub-category, applicants were required to have plans for mass production of nominated products within two years of the end of the competition.

The competition identifies the most efficient products based on manufacturers' nominations, requiring active participation by the manufacturers, rather than awarding products based on publicly available data. The active approach was adopted, to expose interest from the manufacturers in producing more efficient products and spur innovation to compete and win the competition. Manufacturers entered the competition by submitting nominations forms with details about their products, including their on-mode energy usage. The Awards Administrator then identified presumptive wining products based on manufacturers' energy efficiency performance claims. Manufacturers were required to provide serial

numbers for 50 products from different retail or warehouse locations from which the Awards Administrator randomly selected 2 products for verification testing. The tested products were required demonstrate an energy efficiency performance within a margin of 2 percent of the manufacturer's claims. Models that exceeded the 2 percent margin requirement during verification testing would be disqualified and the Awards Administrator would request test samples for the TV model with the next best energy efficiency performance claim for verification testing. Testing costs were borne by the SEAD governments of the respective Awards region while manufacturers were responsible for paying the shipping costs to send test samples to the laboratories.

A detailed description of the design of the competition can be found in a paper published in the conference proceedings of the 2013 European Council for an Energy Efficient Economy (ECEEE) Summer Study [10].

# **Competition Results**

SEAD Global Efficiency Medals in the Commercially Available Technology category were awarded to the most energy efficient TVs in each of four award regions, as specified in Table 2. All award-winning models are light emitting diode (LED) backlit liquid crystal display (LCD) TVs.

Within each size category, winning products in each region were similar models from a single manufacturer, with minor technology differences to comply with regional regulations. This is reflective of the global homogeneity of the TV market and the market aggregation around a few manufacturers. The standby power of these models are well below the competition limit of 0.5W, following the global trends of sharply dropping standby power consumption driven by regulation.

Another interesting observation is that the large size winners consume less power and have lower luminance than the medium size winners. Since larger TVs typically consume more power, this demonstrates the commercial viability of technology that can significantly reduce the power consumption of TVs.

	Size category	Australia	Europe	India	North America
Small	Model	Samsung UA26EH4000M	Samsung UE26EH4000W	Samsung UA26EH4000R	Samsung UN26EH4000F*
	On Mode Power (W)	24.4	24.9	24.9	22
	Viewable Screen Area (cm2)	1863.83	1863.83	1863.83	1863.83
	Standby Power (W)	0.15	0.13	0.13	0.13
	Max. Luminance (cd/m2)	220	260	240	240
Medium	Model	Samsung UA40EH5306M	Samsung UE40EH5000W*	Samsung UA40EH5330R	Samsung UN40EH5000F*
	On Mode Power (W)	47.4	44	47.4	44
	Viewable Screen Area (cm2)	4411.62	4411.62	4411.62	4411.62
	Standby Power (W)	0.15	0.17	0.15	0.17
	Max. Luminance	240	280	290	240

Table 2. Award-winning Models in Commercially Available Technology Category

	(cd/m2)				
Large	Model	LG 47LM6700	LG 47LM670S*	LG 47LM6700	LG 47LM6700
	On Mode	43.4	43,1	43.4	44.5
	Power (W)				
	Viewable	6080.6	6080.6	6080.6	6080.6
	Screen Area				
	(cm2)				
	Standby	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.12
	Power (W)				
	Max.	160	160	147	159
	Luminance				
	(cd/m2)				

\* International Winners

Note: More details are available at http://www.superefficient.org/TVawards

The SEAD Global Efficiency Medal in the Emerging Technology category was awarded to an LG 47inch LED backlit LCD prototype TV that used an advanced optical film and back-light dimming technology. Per the competition rules and eligibility criteria, the Emerging Technology winning TV will be commercially available within 2 years of winning the SEAD Global Efficiency Medal.

# **Competition Outcomes**

The first round of the SEAD Global Efficiency Medal competition provided many new insights into the global television market and demonstrated the potential for greater energy savings through increased product efficiency. This section provides an overview of the major findings that resulted from this competition.

# 1. Award-winning TVs are up to 71% more efficient than commercially available TVs, demonstrating significant efficiency improvement potential in flat-panel TVs

The energy efficiency performance of SEAD award-winning TVs was compared with TVs registered to regional databases in 2012. The dataset includes only TVs with standby power consumption less than 0.5 W and the luminance ratio between default home mode and brightest picture mode greater than 65 percent. [1], [4], [5] All TVs in the database were considered to be commercially available and weighted equally since sales weighted data was not available at the time. For North America, the dataset was taken from the U.S. EPA ENERGY STAR database and for Australia, the source of the dataset is the Australian Energy Rating. The majority of TV models compared with the European winning models are from the Intertek database, which can be regarded as representative of TVs sold in Europe. (Country-specific changes from basic models are made mostly in tuners.)

The performance of the award-winning TVs is shown in comparison to the other TVs in the different regional databases in Figure 1. The figure compares against two different U.S. EPA ENERGY STAR datasets. Since the U.S. EPA ENERGY STAR Version 5 on-mode power calculation is weighted by ABC for ABC-enabled TVs, award results are compared to on-mode power consumption of ABC-enabled U.S. EPA ENERGY STAR qualified TVs at high ambient lighting conditions (300 lux) and TVs without ABC.<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> It is also important to note that on-mode power with ABC at 300 lux is not necessarily the same as on-mode power with ABC deactivated.



Note: AUS (Australia), EU (European Union), IND (India), NA (North America), ABC (Automatic Brightness Control) **Figure 1. On-mode power performance (W/cm<sup>2</sup>) –SEAD TV Awards Winners vs. Commercially Available TVs** 

Figure 1 shows that the award-winning models in the Commercially Available Technology category can be regarded as the most efficient products in the regional markets in most cases. However due to voluntary nature of participation, it is possible that the most efficient products were not nominated for this competition. It is also possible that the most efficient models do not meet the sales criteria stipulated by the competition. A more detailed comparison to the regional labels is available in [12].

The efficiency of award-winning models compared to the average efficiency among commercially available TVs in the different regions is summarized in Figure 2. "Conventional TVs" denote Cold Cathode Fluorescent Lamp (CCFL) backlit LCD TVs and "Comparable TVs" denote Light Emitting Diode (LED) backlit LCD TVs. The winners were at least 20% and as much as 71% more efficient than the average TV in the datasets. While the comparison was made to the average performance of the TVs in the database, the median performance was very close to the average.

The international award-winning model for the Emerging Technology category is approximately 30% more efficient than the winners of the large-size Commercially Available Technology category and approximately 59% more efficient than the most efficient models available in the market. This demonstrates that there is significant potential to improve the energy performance of TVs.



Figure 2. Comparison of Award-Winning Models vs. Commercially Available TVs

# 2. The SEAD Global Efficiency Medal spurs manufacturers to make ongoing changes in efficiency improvement

The regional award-winning models for the Commercially Available Technology category were already registered to the corresponding regional energy efficiency database, such as the U.S. EPA ENERGY STAR database. That is, these models were not new at the time of nomination; rather the models were a part of the manufacturers' existing product line. However, the on-mode power consumption values registered in early 2012 in the U.S. EPA ENERGY STAR database are higher than those claimed for the SEAD TV Awards.

Typically, manufacturers take into account a margin-of-error when reporting on-mode power consumption of their products to the regional databases. The volatile nature of television markets suggests that on-mode power consumption can be expected to decrease throughout the production year as manufacturers make running changes<sup>2</sup>. However, the 30 percent reduction in the energy use of the large size winner is well beyond the running changes typically achieved through the year. It is likely that the manufacturer made significant improvements to compete in and win this competition.

This improvement is an indication that the SEAD Global Efficiency Medal competition can spur innovation among manufacturers to improve the efficiency of their products. In fact, one of the winning manufacturers reported that they examined the product efficiency of their entire product line as a result of this competition.

# 3. Award-winning TVs demonstrate significant global energy savings potential

In our analysis, we estimate that if all the TVs sold were as efficient as the SEAD award-winning models, more than 84 billion kilowatt-hours (or 84 terawatt-hours [TWh]) of electricity would be saved worldwide in the year 2020 [12]. Table 3 provides the estimated savings by region.

If all new TVs (with the exception of OLED TVs) expected to be sold globally from 2013 to 2020 meet the efficiency levels that award-winning models for the Commercially Available Technology category have achieved, compared to the scenario of all new TVs with *no further efficiency improvement* within each screen technology from 2013 onward, it would provide annual savings in 2020 as follows:

- 2.9 TWh in Australia (equivalent to the national annual electricity use of Botswana [6])
- 17.2 TWh in Europe (equivalent to the national annual electricity use of Croatia [6])
- 5.4 TWh in India (equivalent to the national annual electricity use of Bolivia)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> A generally accepted industry term denoting "ongoing design changes made throughout the year"

- 18.6 TWh in North America (equivalent to the national annual electricity use of Nigeria [6])
- 84.6 TWh, equivalent to 28 medium size coal-fired power plants with 500 megawatts capacity, or taking nearly 12.3 million cars off the road for a full year [9], in all regions (more than the combined annual national electricity use of Denmark and New Zealand [6]).

	Annual Sav	/ings (TWh)	Cumulative S	avings (TWh)
	in 2015	in 2020	2013-2015	2013-2020
Australia	1.2	2.9	2.5	13.7
India	2.3	5.4	4.6	25.9
Europe	7.0	17.2	14.0	81.1
North America	8.0	18.8	15.6	88.7
Global	34.8	84.6	69.8	399.6

#### Table 3. Regional and Global Savings Potential for Efficiency Improvement in SEAD TV Awards

If all new large TVs (screen size equal to or larger than 42 inches) expected to be sold globally from 2013 to 2020 meet the efficiency level that the award-winning model for the Emerging Technology category has achieved, it would provide additional annual savings in 2020 of approximately 12 TWh for all regions. This is the equivalent to 28 medium size coal-fired power plants with 500 megawatts capacity<sup>3</sup>, or taking nearly 12.3 million U.S. cars off the road for a full year [9].

#### 4. SEAD Award-winning TVs demonstrate that energy efficient products can be cost effective

For the U.S. market, Commercially Available Technology winners in the small and medium size categories are entry-level models and that are less expensive than comparable TVs (see Table 4), which suggests that consumers can reap electricity cost savings without incurring an additional first cost for efficient technology. This demonstrates that energy efficiency can come at cost effective prices. A type of LED-direct<sup>4</sup> backlit LCD TVs, often referred to in industry parlance as "low-cost LED-direct backlighting" or "emerging market TVs", employ about half of the LEDs used in typical LED backlights, and use lower-cost optical components in the backlight system [13], [14], resulting in overall lower cost TVs for the same picture quality.

It is also possible to intelligently decrease the maximum luminance level and color-reproduction capability with material-based and algorithmic improvement and without sacrificing picture quality. Lower luminance allows manufacturers to use fewer LED lamps as well as low-voltage driven electronic parts in the circuitry [11].

Table 4.	Market	Prices	and	On-mode	Power	of t	the	Regional	Winners	in	North	America	and
Typical <sup>-</sup>	ΓVs with	Simila	' Tec	hnology									

Regional Wi	Regional Winners in North America			Typical TVs in the U.S. Market			
Model	Price <sup>a</sup>	On-mode Power Consumption	Model	Price <sup>b</sup>	Average On- mode Power Consumption <sup>c</sup>		
Samsung UN26EH4000F	\$260	22.0 W	26" LED-LCD 1366×768	\$278	29.2 W		
Samsung UN40EH5000F	\$548	44.1 W	40" LED-LCD 1920×1080	\$566	64.9 W		
LG 47LM6700 (3D enabled)	\$919	44.5 W	47" LED-LCD 1920×1080	\$845 (3D)	92.2 W		

www.amazon.com, www.alltimetvs.com (lowest price, as of Sep 2012)

<sup>b</sup> Average market price as of Q3 2012 projected by DisplaySearch in Q4 2011 [2]

<sup>c</sup> Average on-mode power consumption of U.S. EPA ENERGY STAR qualified TVs in the given category. This data is measured in the same manner as specified by the competition.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In rough back-of-the-envelope calculations, if an efficiency technology or policy would save 3 TWh per year, it saves one 500 MW coal plant operating at 70 percent capacity factor in that year, this unit of energy savings is called one Rosenfeld [7].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> "LED-direct" or "LED full-array" configuration means that the LEDs are uniformly arranged behind the entire LCD panel. Unlike LED-direct models, "LED-edge" or "Edge-lit" configuration means that all of the LEDs are mounted on sides (or edges) of the display.

On the other hand, the large size winner (LG 47LM6700) does not appear to be cheaper than a typical model of its size. Another way to look at cost effectiveness is the cost of conserved electricity (CCE)<sup>5</sup>. CCE is estimated by dividing the annualized incremental cost (IC) (i.e., incremental price) of the energy efficient model by annual energy savings due to that option. For this calculation, the comparable product category is defined by screen size, backlight type and 3D capability (i.e., 47-inch 3D-capable LED-LCD TV). The CCE for the product category is calculated using annualized IC for the product category and energy savings for the product category, as follows:

where

$$Energy \ Savings_{i}\left(\frac{kWh}{year}\right) = Power \ reduced\left(\frac{watts}{unit}\right) \times daily \ usage\left(\frac{hours}{day}\right) \times \frac{365 \ days}{year} \times \frac{1 \ kilowatts}{1000 \ watts} \dots \dots (3)$$

, *lifetime*, is the TV economic lifetime<sup>6</sup>, i.e. and *discount rate<sup>7</sup>* is the discount rate of the end user.

Given that on-mode power saved is 47.7 W and the incremental price is \$74, compared to a typical model, the winner in the large size category (LG 47LM6700) has CCE with a range of \$0.105/kWh and \$0.178/kWh as described in Table 5.

	/k\//b			Economic Lifetime	e	
030/		6 years	7 years	8 years	9 years	10 years
0	4%	0.162	0.142	0.126	0.114	0.105
ate	5%	0.167	0.147	0.132	0.120	0.110
t R	6%	0.173	0.152	0.139	0.125	0.115
	7%	0.178	0.158	0.142	0.130	0.121

Table 5. Cost of Conserved Electricity (CCE) for the Large Winner (LG 47LM6700)

The average electricity price of the U.S is \$0.115/kWh. Thus, the CCE of the LG 47LM6700 model, with 3D capability and wireless network functions, is currently similar to or higher than the average residential electricity prices of many states in the U.S. (in some regions, average residential prices (tariffs) are lower than the marginal residential tariffs---the tariff for the last unit consumed which is equivalent to the reduction in consumer bill if one unit of electricity is saved.) The market price of 3D capable 47-inch LED-LCD TVs was projected to come down to about \$560 by the end of 2015 [2]. Therefore, while the winning model in the large size category may not be cost effective today, it is likely to become cost effective in the future.

#### 5. Several energy efficiency organizations support the competition and the SEAD awardwinning TVs through promotional campaigns and financial incentives

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> CCE is a metric used to compare the cost of saving electricity to the cost of providing electricity to assess the desirability of energy efficiency measures. CCE is estimated by dividing the annualized incremental cost of the energy efficient model by annual energy savings.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> In the U.S., the average age of recently replaced TVs was about 8 years [3]. This analysis provides the CCE results in range of 6 to 10 years.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Residential and commercial sectors may use various methods to finance the purchase of TVs. The U.S. Department of Energy (DOE), in a technical support document for the energy efficiency program for consumer products analyzed that the average discount rates are 4.8 percent for residential consumers and 6.2 percent for commercial sectors [8]. This analysis provides the CCE results in range of 4 to 7 percent.

SEAD promoted the winning televisions through media campaigns and partnerships with key organizations with synergistic goals for promoting energy efficiency. Partner organizations include the Alliance to Save Energy, Consortium for Energy Efficiency, Consumer Electronics Association, Efficiency Vermont, Enervee, EPEAT, New York State Energy Research and Development Authority (NYSERDA), and TopTen USA. These organizations supported SEAD by promoting the Global Efficiency Medal competition and the award-winning televisions to their consumer base.

SEAD promotional efforts resulted in:

- Features in prominent media outlets across the globe, including Reuters and the Wall Street Journal. The competition was also promoted through popular consumer blogs such as CNET, ClimateWire, Gizmag, and Sustainable Brands. Winner announcements also appeared on digital displays in Times Square in New York City.
- SEAD award-winning TVs being placed in the top tier incentive of Efficiency Vermont's threetier incentive program directed at retailers. Efficiency Vermont is a non-profit organization that provides technical assistance and financial incentives to reduce energy costs.
- A social media campaign to give away 10 SEAD award-wining TVs. Mass Save, an energy
  efficiency program in the U.S. state of Massachusetts, partnered with Samsung to organize
  the give-away.The sweepstakes was promoted through radio and social media campaigns
  and increased awareness of Mass Save's energy efficiency programs.

# 6. The SEAD Global Efficiency Medal competition supports testing capacity building and test method harmonization

Reliable and comparable test results are essential to a global awards program's credibility. To this end, it is critical to ensure that laboratories responsible for performing verification tests have the necessary qualifications and capabilities, and that common test protocols are available for use.

This competition employed the IEC 62087:2011 test procedure, an internationally accepted test procedure for TVs and other video equipment, to verify manufacturers' energy efficiency claims. An international round-robin test (RRT) was conducted across the designated verification test laboratories in the different participating regions by shipping the same set of 6 TVs to each laboratory and testing them in an out-of-box condition as per IEC 62087. An expert witness was dispatched to each laboratory and charged with ensuring the consistency of testing across all test laboratories. The expert witness assessed test laboratory equipment and provided training to lab technicians to ensure that all test labs were qualified to conduct TV efficiency testing according to the IEC 62087:2011 procedure. As a result, two test laboratories in India have improved testing capabilities, which are now the only test labs in India capable of testing television efficiency using IEC test methods.

At the request of the Philippines Department of Energy, SEAD extended the RRT to include a recently built government TV test laboratory. SEAD identified necessary improvements to laboratory equipment and trained several staff technicians. As a result, the Philippines Department of Energy TV test laboratory is now comparable to other leading international TV test laboratories.

Lastly, SEAD collaborated with the China National Institute of Standardization (CNIS) to incorporate the international SEAD television RRT in CNIS's ongoing national television round robin testing. This allowed SEAD to further validate the international test procedure used for verification testing.

It also allowed Awards Administrator to identify international winners without having to test all of the regional winners in the same test laboratory.

#### 7. Data from the SEAD TV awards competition informs standards and labeling processes

The competition influenced energy efficiency standards and labeling in three different countries/regions as described below.

- Korea: Based on the test results from the SEAD competition, the Republic of Korea revised its television efficiency standards. These new standards are expected to save 2.2 billion kWh annually in 2020. That's enough to offset the CO<sub>2</sub> emissions of over 320,000 U.S. cars for a year [9].
- *India:* As a result of participating in the SEAD competition, India's Bureau of Energy Efficiency:
  - Added LED-backlit LCD televisions to the top category of their 5-star energy label
  - Is adopting the latest version of the IEC 62087 international test procedure as a basis for their efficiency labeling program. This was supported by the improved test laboratories described above.
  - Is improving the 5-star energy label rating criteria for color televisions.
- *Europe:* The SEAD competition informed the European Commission's revision of the EcoDesign regulation for televisions.

# 8. The competition's success necessitates further analysis of awards program as a concept

Outcomes of this first competition will help policy makers:

- Determine if an awards program can be an effective market transformation mechanism to promote energy efficient products in other markets,
- Inform subsequent rounds of the competition for other award category productsm, and
- See how efficiency improvement of globally manufactured products can be effectively accelerated.

This first round of the SEAD Global Efficiency Medal competitions merits further analysis to carefully establish its impacts in the aspects described below.

- An increase in the sales of internationally or regionally recognized award-winning products is
  expected to reduce electricity consumption in newly sold TVs that would otherwise have been
  less efficient. To determine the impact of the sales of the award winning TVs, SEAD proposes
  to purchase sales data for these TVs and perform further analysis to determine the net
  impacts of this competition.
- All award-winning Commercially Available Technology models within each size category are very similar in product design across all 4 regions. Consequently, it would be interesting to determine whether the cost effectiveness results for the U.S. market are applicable to other countries.<sup>8</sup>

# Acknowledgements

This paper is based on earlier work and analysis, *Assessment of SEAD Global Efficiency Medals for Televisions*, of Won Young Park at Lawrence Berkley National Laboratory, in Berkeley USA. The request for this work came from participating SEAD government.

# References

- [1] Australian TV Data Set (AUS TV). Provided by Keith Jones of Australian Digital Testing (ADT) for the exclusive use only for this study. 2012.
- [2] DisplaySearch. Quarterly LCD TV Cost & Price Forecast Model Report, Fourth Quarter 2011.
- [3] DisplaySearch. Global TV Replacement Study United States. 2011.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Unfortunately, we did not have the data for this analysis at the time of writing this paper.

- [4] ENERGY STAR/ICF (U.S. TV). Provided by Verena Radulovic of Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and Matt Malinowski of ICF International from the U.S. for the exclusive use only for this study. 2012.
- [5] European TV Data Set (EU TV) represented by the Intertek database. (2012). Provided by Bob Harrison of Intertek UK from the United Kingdom for the exclusive use only for this study. 2012.
- [6] International Energy Agency (IEA). *IEA Key World Energy Statistics*. 2010 <u>http://www.iea.org/textbase/nppdf/free/2010/key\_stats\_2010.pdf</u>
- [7] Koomey et al. *Defining a standard metric for electricity savings*. IOP SCIENCE 2010 Environmental Research Letter 5 (2010) 014017
- [8] United States Department of Energy (U.S. DOE). Preliminary Technical Support Document: Energy Efficiency Program for Consumer Products: Refrigerators, Refrigerator-Freezers, and Freezers. November 2009.
- [9] United States Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA). Greenhouse Gas Equivalencies Calculator. Updated on October 2012. <u>http://www.epa.gov/cleanenergy/energy-</u> resources/calculator.html
- [10] Ravi et al., Super-efficient Equipment and Appliance Deployment (SEAD) Awards Working Group, *Policy into Practice: The SEAD Global Efficiency Medal Competition* June 2013 Summer Study Proceedings of the European Council for an Energy Efficient Economy
- [11] Park et. al., Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratories, TV Energy Consumption Trends and Energy-Efficiency Improvement Options July 2011 Page 96, <u>http://superefficient.org/en/Activities/Awards/~/media/Files/SEAD%20TV%20Analysis/SEAD%20Technical%20Analysis.pdf</u>
- [12] Won Young Park Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratories, Assessment of SEAD Global Efficiency Medals for Televisions April 2013 <u>http://superefficient.org/~/media/Files/TV%20Awards/Assessment%20of%20SEAD%20Global</u> %20Efficiency%20Medals%20for%20TVs\_FINAL.pdf
- [13] Kim, J., *Lower-cost LED backlights darken CCFL's future*. DisplaySearch. May 2012 http://www.electroiq.com/articles/sst/2012/05/lower-cost-led-backlights-darken-ccflfuture. Html
- [14] Semenza, P., *The TV of the Future. Society for Information Display (SID)*. Information Display November, December 2011.

# **Game Consoles: Comparing International Policy Actions**

# Paul Ryan<sup>1</sup>, Jonathan Wood <sup>2</sup>

# <sup>1</sup> EnergyConsult, Australia, <sup>2</sup>Tenvic, UK

# Abstract

Video game consoles have been identified for policy action in the European Union (EU), USA, Australia and New Zealand. Game consoles, such as the PS3, Xbox 360 and the Nintendo Wii U are increasingly being used for non-gaming functions, including media play and motion control of entertainment systems. In Europe, the Ecodesign Directive on Energy Related Products (ErP) Lot 3 Sound and Imaging Equipment Impact study report identified game consoles as using over 6,000 GWh pa of electricity in 2013. In Australia, game consoles are estimated to use 395 GWh pa in 2010, representing over 15% of the total energy consumption by devices associated with household home entertainment (other than TVs).

Game console energy efficiency has been the focus of several international policy initiatives, including the EU Ecodesign Directive, US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) ENERGY STAR, E3 program in Australia and New Zealand and the Appliance Standards for California. The EU is currently conducting an impact study on policy options for game consoles, while the Australian government has been exploring voluntary agreements with the game console suppliers to improve the efficiency of their products. The USA EPA has also established an ENERGY STAR recognition scheme for video game consoles, and the California Energy Commission (CEC) requested proposals for consideration of new appliance energy efficiency standards in California in October 2012. These policy initiatives are under development, but most propose maximum power demand limits for game consoles in various modes. Game play modes have been specifically excluded from some policies/programs, but media play/streaming and navigation modes are included. Standby power and auto power-down requirements are also specified.

These policy initiatives aim to improve the energy efficiency of video game consoles using a variety of approaches, voluntary agreements, Minimum Energy Performance Standards (MEPS) or endorsement labeling. There have been some early moves by policy makers to harmonize the various policy requirements, and this paper explores, compares and contrasts the different policy frameworks. It may be possible to leverage the existing policy initiatives and create an internationally harmonized requirement, or at least partial overlap, as the game consoles are traded internationally, with little variation in product design between markets. There are however challenges to address, including the different video and game-play specifications between console suppliers, and models.

# Introduction

Game consoles are consumer electronic devices that are optimized to play video games and deliver media entertainment in the home. There are currently three main suppliers of video game consoles internationally; Nintendo, Sony and Microsoft (although it is recognised that more manufacturers are entering the market). They sell current generation consoles (Xbox360, PS3 and until recently the Wii) and are transitioning to future generations of game consoles (the Wii-U was released in late 2012), the PS4 (planned for release late 2013) and Microsoft's next generation console the Xbox One (also planned for release late 2013). There is usually a period of 4 to 8 years between releases of different generations of game console. During this period iterations of the same game console model may be released, with the manufacturers generally modifying the circuitry components with the aim of decreasing the power demand and size (or both). During these iterations there is often no significant change to the basic architecture of the platform. The game console market is changing however, with new types of game consoles coming to market which threaten to disrupt the current status quo of the three main players. These new types of game consoles are likely to be either lower powered devices or higher powered devices which are more closely related to traditional gaming personal computers.

Over the last four years, game consoles have been promoted as devices which offer more than just game playing functionality. Additional features include multimedia capabilities, such as HD video play back (streaming, video on demand, DVD, BluRay), entertainment (news, chat, web access), on-line

gaming, TV tuners (add-on to PS3), and motion user interfaces (Xbox Kinect, Sony Move, etc.). The range of services provided by the three major manufacturers is increasing and the future of gaming is certainly changing to the motion user interface, very high definition video (e.g. 4K) and probably 3D capabilities.

In Europe, the recently published Energy Related Products (ErP) Lot 3 Sound and Imaging Equipment *Impact Assessment Study For Sustainable Product Measures* report estimated that game consoles used 6000 GWh pa of electricity in 2013 [1]. In Australia game consoles were estimated to use 395 GWh pa in 2010, representing over 15% of the total energy consumption by devices associated with household home entertainment (other than TVs) [2].

Several international policy initiatives have begun to focus on the energy efficiency of game consoles. These initiatives include the EU Ecodesign Directive, US EPA ENERGY STAR, E3 program in Australia and New Zealand and the Appliance Standards for California. The EU has undertaken a comprehensive preparatory study on game consoles which sought to detail the current and future environmental impacts arising from these products as well as identify policy options that could help to reduce the future impacts [3]. Following the preparatory study, the EU launched an Impact Assessment which sought to quantify the energy savings that could be achieved through the introduction of different policy measures aimed at game consoles and updated some of the background technical data found in the earlier preparatory study. The Australian government has also been exploring policy measure options which tackle the energy efficiency of game consoles. The US EPA has developed an ENERGY STAR specification for game consoles in anticipation that manufacturers will strive for ENERGY STAR recognition. ENERGY STAR is not the only US based initiative aiming to improve the energy efficiency of game consoles as the CEC is also investigating the development of mandatory energy efficiency requirements for game consoles. Most of the policy measures appear to focus on maximum power demand requirements in non-game playing modes such as media playback, navigation and low power modes. Attention has not focused on game play modes due to the close correlation between game play functionality and power demand. These developments are described in the following sections.

# Game console power demand and energy use

#### Comparison of power demand and modes of operation

The energy use of game consoles is a function of the power demand and usage time by mode. There are several different modes of operation found in game consoles but these may not be standard across all consoles. The main power modes found in game consoles can be seen in Table 1 (based on ENERGY STAR requirements [4]).

Mode	Description
Game Play	A game is actively loaded and running either with or without user input.
Game Play pause	A game otherwise being played is paused after receiving user input or an
	automatic signal
Media Play	The game console is providing video or audio playback
Video Stream Play	playing a video via a network connection
Optical Disk Play	playing a video via an optical disk
HDD Video Play	playing a video direct from an internal or external storage device
Audio Stream Play	playing audio via a network connection
Optical Disk Play	playing audio via an optical disk
HDD Audio Play	playing audio direct from an internal or external storage device
Navigation	Includes the screen(s) initially displayed for user navigation through the game
	console operating system (e.g. the home menu)
Network standby	A lower power mode where the game console maintains connectivity to at
	least one external network.
Standby/Off	The mode where the game console is plugged into a power source but is not
	providing any primary or secondary function and has no saved hardware
	state. The game console has no active network link although may be capable
	of charging devices in this mode

#### Table 1: Modes of operation

The current High Definition (HD) generation consoles have managed to reduced their overall power demand from over 180 W when first released in 2008 to around 60W to 90W now in game play mode. However, power scaling of internal components during media play back or navigation mode is minimal and so power demand remains relatively high. Microsoft and Sony have both engaged with policy makers and advocates to develop an Auto Power Down (APD) functionality that is progressively being applied to their current generation game consoles via a firmware update. The APD is planned to be set to 1 hour or less from the time of the last user interaction and after 4 hours or less of audio or video media playback (or 1 hour after video play has finished). These measures have improved the energy efficiency of game consoles however there are concerns that with increased media play and no power scaling, energy use will trend higher. Table 2 shows the power demand by mode of use, for the various game consoles in the market during 2012.

Mode	MS Xbox 360 (W)	Sony PS3	Nintendo Wii	Nintendo Wii U
		(W)	(W)	(W)
Off or Standby	0.67	0.05	10/0.8*	11.0/0.5*
Idle (UCI Home Screen)	76.9	67.6	13.0	32.0
Gameplay	81.3	76.6	14.4	35.0
Video Streaming	73.8	61.9	13.3	29.0
Video - DVD	58.9	73.5	n/a	Unknown

Table 2. Video Game Console i Ower Demand by Mode (Watts) 2012
--

Source: EnergyConsult 2012 [2], and CEC for Wii U [5].

\* Wii power use in standby mode WiiConnect24 enabled/disabled

#### **Energy Consumption**

The energy consumption of game consoles has been estimated in Australia to be 395 GWh pa in 2010, representing over 15% of the total energy consumption by devices associated with household home entertainment (other than TVs) [2]. The EU has estimated that game consoles used 6,000 GWh pa of electricity in 2013 [1]. Forecasts of energy consumption by game consoles are difficult to undertake, as assumptions need to be made regarding the sales, power and usage of future games console products, and these details are not released by the manufacturers before the launch of a product. However, in Australia, the EnergyConsult study has assumed that next generation game consoles will have power demand by mode and incremental reductions similar to current generation products as hardware is modified. APD was assumed to be implemented. Another key assumption of this study was that usage would remain at current levels (approximately 1 hour game play, 1 hour media play and navigation mode and 22 hours standby mode per day). The study forecast that energy use of game consoles will increase by 19% to 470 GWh pa in 2020.

Using this forecast model, updated scenarios have been provided with different usage and the power demand of the latest next generation game consoles. If usage increases along the trends shown in the Nielsen survey for 2012 [6], the average time spent playing games on consoles will decrease while the time spent streaming video, watching movies or other functions (music, internet browsing) will increase. Assuming that the game console manufacturers continue to improve the media capability and content of the next generation and current game consoles, a scenario was modelled with slowly increased usage (~ 3 mins per day per year increase in game play time and 9 mins per day per year increase in media play till 2020. Total game play = 1 hr 24 mins, total media play = 2 hrs 10 mins in 2020). This results in an increase of energy use by game consoles by 60% to 640 GWh pa in 2020 as shown in Figure 1 and demonstrates that the assumptions relating to usage are critical to estimating the overall impact of game consoles and energy use.

Similar proportional increases in total energy consumption have also been estimated in the EC Impact Assessment study [1]. Under the BAU scenario, energy consumption by Games Consoles is estimated to increase from 6,000 GWh pa in 2013 to 11,000 GWh pa in 2020, an increase of over 80%.



Figure 1: Forecast energy consumption of game consoles in Australia with increased usage.

# Game console policy initiatives

# Europe

The European Commission – as part of the Ecodesign Directive 2009/125/EC on Energy Related Products (ErP), is investigating possible policy approaches for 'sound and imaging equipment', of which game consoles are included. A preparatory study identified game consoles for action in December 2010, and the commission is undertaking an Impact Assessment Study [1] in 2013. This study, of which a draft consultants' report has already been published, investigates several policy approaches, including voluntary agreements and mandatory regulations. The main options considered, which offer greater potential energy savings that under the BAU scenario; are:

- 1. Industry proposal for self-regulation/self-commitment: with draft energy efficiency criteria. The feasibility of this proposal would depend on sufficiently stringent requirements that result in an improvement over the business-as- usual scenario and a clear commitment to future revisions as products evolve. Also, the effectiveness would require the participation of all 3 manufacturers (there is a risk that if just one manufacturer was to default then the failure rate would be 33.33%). An appropriate legal framework would be required for administrative aspects of the agreement (there is currently no clear legal commitment by the three manufacturers in the draft document).
- 2. Mandatory Ecodesign requirements (regulation): This option would involve setting mandatory maximum levels for the power demand of game consoles. The aim is to: (i) set limit values at a level providing the highest energy savings while ensuring no negative impact on product functionality and affordability, and (ii) specify implementation timing so that the cost-effective potential is realized as early as possible while ensuring that the industry has sufficient time to redesign the effected products.
- 3. **Mandatory energy labeling**: Energy labeling has advantages in terms of transparency, consumer information and consistency with approaches for other products. However this approach has significant issues that decrease effectiveness. There are only three main product types/models and product architectures vary widely between the three different products. This means considerable differences in functionality and power demand between each manufacturer's product may make application of an across-the-board categorization

unrepresentative. In addition, the level of energy efficiency exhibited by a game console is unlikely to be the most important purchasing criteria for most consumers. Despite these drawbacks, the EC considers that impacts may be estimated and are included in the Impact Assessment.

The potential for an international agreement on game console energy efficiency, (brokered by the Australian Department of Climate Change and Energy Efficiency (DCCEE) under the IEA banner within the 4E implementing Agreement) is under exploration. As an example, an international agreement could involve as a minimum the EC, the Australian DCCEE and the CEC. The chosen requirements could be the most robust of the requirements from the EC and Australian industry initiatives. There are advantages in this approach for manufacturers, as there will be less variation in requirements placed upon them among countries. There would need to be active input from the EC and other collaborating countries to ensure that the end agreement complied with the principles of effectiveness, efficiency and consistency. An Internationally recognized agreement was considered by the EC, but as discussions are at an early stage, the effectiveness of the proposal could not be evaluated. The EC Impact Assessment assumes the outcomes would be broadly comparable to either the industry proposal approach or the Mandatory Eco design option, depending on the requirements put forward.

#### Australia and New Zealand

The DCCEE have been investigating the potential for a voluntary agreement with the game consoles manufacturers since 2011. They received the industry proposal in August 2012 (which is the same as the European Commission received from industry [7]). A study by EnergyConsult recently reviewed the impact of game consoles energy use and efficiency opportunities and was prepared with input and suggestions from game console manufacturers (however they do not endorse the study). A voluntary agreement must demonstrate energy savings above the Business as Usual (BAU) for it to be considered acceptable by the Australian and New Zealand governments. The industry proposal does not appear to provide significant benefits compared to the BAU, and hence the DCCEE is now investigating other options, especially harmonization with similar regulatory approaches internationally.

#### USA

#### EPA Energy Star

The US EPA ENERGY STAR program has released their "Recognition Criteria for Game Consoles", which recognizes game consoles that meet the energy efficiency criteria, measured by the ENERGY STAR test method [4]. The EPA has proposed maximum power limits for three modes: Active Navigation Menu (40.0 W), Active Streaming Media (50.0 W), and Standby (0.5 W). Auto Power Down (APD) is also specified and activated by default. The game console must auto-power down to a Standby Mode within the period of user inactivity specified (1 hour for Active Game Play/Game Pause, Video Stream Pause or navigation Menu and 4 hours for Active Video Stream Play)

The EPA recognizes that consoles are increasingly providing non-gaming services, such as media play and could demand similar amounts of power as devices providing these same services (standard IP set-top boxes typically consume 10-20 W). These voluntary requirements are reflective of current and well-tested approaches used in related products and are intended to incentivize greater efficiencies in game consoles. The EPA will recognize manufacturers that take the steps to make energy efficiency a top priority for the design of their game consoles. Leadership is demonstrated by the companies who achieve these levels of performance. However, it is less clear if ENERGY STAR recognition will encourage purchasers to consider energy efficiency above other features of game consoles such as gaming functionality.

#### California Energy Commission (CEC)

The CEC requested proposals for consideration of new appliance energy efficiency standards in California in October 2012, and has prioritized game consoles for investigation in Phase 1 (2nd Qtr. 2012 to 2nd Qtr. 2013). The modes and levels proposed by the CEC are not yet published.

The CEC has received a proposal from the state Investor Owned Utilities (including Pacific Gas and Electric Company, Southern California Edison, Southern California Gas, San Diego Gas & Electric) for

Video Game Consoles. The proposal was prepared by the Natural Resources Defense Council (NRDC) [8] and proposes that California adopt a two-tier standard (2014 and 2016) for video game consoles, including auto-power down requirements and power limits in significant modes other than active gameplay. The proposed limits are shown in Table 3.

Table 3: Proposed Tier 1 and Tier 2 Measures by the NRDC for the CEC New Applian	ice
Regulations	

Function	Tier 1 – Jan 2014	Tier 2 – Jan 2016	Rationale
Auto Power Down (APD)	Enabled by default	Enabled by default	Savings estimate: 50% reduction in idle time.
Active Gameplay	N/A	N/A	No limit on active gaming for fairness with gaming PCs and in order not to impact performance.
Inactive - Gaming (Pause)	70 W	60 W	Console needs to scale power-down when not fully utilizing the capabilities of the device.
Navigation	70 W	60 W	Modest reductions from current levels, recognizing that this is a transitory mode with a limited impact on annual energy use.
Media (movies, music, internet)	50 W	25 W	Benchmarks: - Most efficient stand-alone Blu-Ray player: 9.9W - Wii movie streaming: 14 W
Other modes (internet browsing, photos, music, set- top etc.)	70 W	60 W	Same as Navigation. If any of the other modes emerge as one of the primary uses of consoles, specific limits would need to be set.
Standby/Off	0.5 W	0.5 W	Same as EU Ecodesign 1275/2008
Networked Standby	4.0 W	2.0 W	Same as proposed EU Ecodesign Lot 26, which have recently changed to 6W and 3W

In June 2013, the CEC issued a request for proposals from stakeholders in relation to the potential efficiency opportunities from Game Consoles. These stakeholder proposals will be considered by the CEC staff in formulating a staff report with draft proposed regulations. The staff report and draft regulations (if applicable) are likely to be published in the late 2013.

# **Comparison of policy initiatives**

To contrast the approaches by these different regions/programs each of the following key factors has been compared:

- Policy Approach mandatory, voluntary, endorsement,
- Metric for performance measure power demand by mode or Typical Energy Consumption (TEC) or similar
- Modes of operation game play, media play, standby, etc.
- Testing method
- Timeline
- Scope

#### **Policy Approach**

The policy approach to be used by each of the programs is yet to be determined; however a comparison is made in Table 4.

#### **Table 4: Policy Approaches**

Region/Program	Approach
Europe – Ecodesign	Not Decided, voluntary agreement, mandatory labelling mandatory measures
Directive	to be fully investigated
USA – ENERGY STAR	Recognition of those manufacturers that pledge to meet ENERGY STAR
	requirements
USA – CEC	Not Decided, but mandatory appears to be favored based on historical rules
Australia New	Not Decided, joining an international agreement is preferred
Zealand	

The USA ENERGY STAR program is currently the only formally announced policy measure on game consoles, and has opted for recognition of those game consoles that meet the published ENERGY STAR requirements. If a substantial economic region (such as the EU or California in the USA) implements a mandatory approach, this may become the de facto international standard as manufacturers will be unwilling to forgo such a market. The implementation of mandatory limits (such as MEPS) aims to prevent poorly performing products from entering the market. However as there are only three main consoles from the manufacturers currently being sold, a MEPS may prevent one or more manufacturers from offering their product. If this occurs, the overall efficiency may increase, however the reduction in product availability may have a detrimental effect on consumer choice. This may not occur, if all the suppliers meet the MEPS levels, but the risk is that manufacturers may choose not to enter a particular market if the product changes required to meet the MEPS are too costly or difficult to achieve over a short time frame. However, this potential negative aspect for MEPS can be offset by developing suitable mandatory levels which ensure energy efficiency without being too stringent as to remove products from the market place.

#### Metric for performance measure

The measurement metric that will be employed by most of the policy measures discussed above is yet to be defined. However the application of Maximum Power Limits (MPL) by mode appears to be the favoured choice rather than other approaches such as energy efficiency metrics. A comparison is made in Table 5.

Region/Program	Approach
Europe – Ecodesign Directive	Most likely approach, Maximum Power Limit (MPL) by mode
USA – ENERGY STAR	Decided, Maximum Power by mode
USA – CEC	<b>Not Decided</b> , but Maximum Power Limit (MPL) by mode appears to be favored based on submissions to the 2012 Rulemaking
Australia New Zealand	Not Decided, joining an international agreement is preferred

#### Table 5: Metric for performance measure by Region

A Maximum Power Limit would provide certainty to the manufacturers that the absolute maximum power demand in a certain mode is not to exceed a specific value. The verification is relatively simple and straightforward, with power measurements taken during each predefined mode of operation. A Typical/Total Energy/Electricity Consumption (TEC) metric for performance measurement takes the power demand of the devices in various modes and multiplies this by an assumed period of time to produce an energy consumption figure over a given period of time. A maximum TEC value is then set and the manufacturers are free to meet the TEC value by reducing the power demand in different modes in a flexible manner. While this approach provides some flexibility, the assumed time spent in each mode is often difficult to establish and varies by region and potentially by game console model. The TEC approach provides an incentive to manufacturers to minimize the energy consumption of products in all power modes while providing some flexibility on how much power may be used in each mode.

A major issue with any TEC approach is the need to define and consistently measure all the major power modes of game consoles and to identify suitable periods of time for each power mode. For example, one of the major modes that could potentially be included in any TEC approach is "game

play". The game play mode is difficult to measure as there can be variation in user behavior, the performance specifications vary between game consoles and there are few games released for all three of the game consoles currently on the market. It has only been since late 2012 that all three game console suppliers have a HD console on the market and the features of future generation game consoles are not known until they are released. This makes direct comparisons of game play performance difficult to measure.

#### Modes of Operation and Maximum Power Limits (MPL)

Perhaps the most contentious issue for harmonization approaches for game console policy is the selection and definition of various modes that are included in the metric for measuring performance. Table 6 shows the various modes chosen or potentially proposed for the regional programs.

Mode/Feature	Europe – Ecodesign	USA – ENERGY STAR (2)	USA – CEC (3)	Industry Proposal (4)	Australia/ New Zealand
Timing (Tier 1/2)	2014/2017	2013	2014/2016	2013/2017	Joining an
Game Play	×	×	Not Decided	×	international
Game Play pause	×	×	70W/60W	×	is the
Media Play MPL	70W/50W	50W	50W/25W	90W/70W	preferred
Video Stream Play	√	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	option
Optical Disk Play	✓	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	
HDD Video Play	√	×	✓	$\checkmark$	
Audio Stream Play	✓	×	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	
Optical Disk Play	✓	×	70W/60W	$\checkmark$	
HDD Audio Play	✓	×	70W/60W	$\checkmark$	
Navigation	70W/50W	40W	70W/60W	90W/70W	
Standby	1W	0.5W	0.5W or 1W	0.5W or 1W	
Network standby	6W/3W	In future	4W/2W	4W/4W TBC	
Auto Power Down	✓ (1 hour)	🗸 (1 hr, 4 hr	🗸 (1 hr, 4 hr	🗸 (1 hr, 4 hr	
		media play	media play	media play	
Natural User Interface	7W/5W	×	Not yet	20W/15W	
Additional Allowance			considered		ļ
Power Supply	<ul> <li>✓</li> </ul>	×	Not yet	×	
Efficiency			considered		

Table 6: Modes of Operation Considered and MPL where relevant

Sources: (1) Europe – Impact Assessment Study For Sustainable Product Measures – Lot 3 Sound And Imaging Equipment, 2013 see [1]. Not Decided

(2) USA – **ENERGY STAR** – Final Version 1.0 EPA Voluntary Criteria for Energy Efficient Game Consoles see [4]. **Decided** 

(3) USA – CEC, Based on the submission by utilities PG&E, SCE, SoCalGas, SDG&E to the CEC see [8]. **Not Decided** 

(4) *Energy Efficiency of Games Consoles*, by Sony, Microsoft and Nintendo, submission to Australia and Europe Commission see [7]. **Draft outline Proposal** 

The coverage and MPLs described in Table 6 are not yet confirmed in the majority of regions, however early indications show that regional differences may exist if the preliminary proposals are adopted. Also, the ENERGY STAR requirements are not comparable to the MPLs for a regulatory program, as the ENERGY STAR requirements recognize the most efficient products in a category and are revised regularly to ensure they maintain this bias. There appears to be consistent consideration of the Standby Mode with all regional programs requiring that the European Commission Ecodesign regulations 1275/2008 [9] are met. Similarly, the proposed Network Standby limits are mostly similar to the Lot 26 draft amendment (27/07/2011) to the ErP standby regulation (EC) No 1275/2008. ENERGY STAR has noted they will adopt the outcome of this regulatory proposal in their future game console requirements.

The proposed MPLs for Media Play and Navigation mode range from 90W to 25W across the regions/programs. There are also substantial differences in the coverage of modes, with ENERGY

STAR not considering audio play and the other proposals including this mode. Other programs are also considering the addition of allowances for gesture and speech recognition Natural User Interface (NUI) functionality. The game console industry proposal has proposed the highest limits for most modes. Again, many of the programs have not yet officially proposed modes and MPLs and hence the final proposals may differ or converge.

Auto power-down is another area where all programs agree with the implementation of this feature, but differences may exist in the implementation. There are various discussions underway between program officers and the industry to determine the best way to implement APD without impacting on the user's operation of the game console or encouraging users to bypass the APD. These discussions center on the ways users can change the default settings (or accept the defaults on setting up the games console) and how accessories bundled with the console and using the console as a direct power source shall also power-down.

#### Scope

The scope of coverage of the various programs can also vary; with the ENERGY STAR program not applying to game consoles incapable of rendering HD (720p) video output via HDMI. The EU scheme will likely apply to '*Mains powered standalone devices providing video game playing as the primary function through an external screen*', which includes all current generation consoles as well as future generation game consoles. There are no indications on the scope of coverage for the CEC appliance regulations at this time.

The definitions of Media Play are possibly another area where the scope of coverage could be important. In the industry proposal, Media play is playing of anything up to high definition (1080p), whereas the future generations of game consoles are likely to support 4K content or even higher definition content.

# International Harmonization

These policy initiatives discussed earlier aim to improve the energy efficiency of video game consoles using a variety of approaches, voluntary agreements, MEPS or endorsement labeling. There have been some early moves by policy makers to harmonize the various policy requirements; however there are potentially major differences in the modes, scope and MPLs proposed in the various policy frameworks.

The most effective framework for international harmonization is still to be explored, with some proposals to the IEA 4E implementing agreement [10] considering game consoles as a separate work area. If the regional programs can cooperate to create an international framework for harmonization, there will be significant advantages, including:

- Supplier certainty regardless of the nature of the policy initiative, suppliers will be able to produce and sell game consoles across regions without modification to their products.
- Greater negotiation power the regional policy officials may be able to negotiate more effectively and enhance the efficiency outcomes when all regions agree on the same MPLs and modes.
- Lower policy development costs if the policy initiatives are sharing common technical/market resources.

It may be possible to leverage the existing policy initiatives and create an internationally harmonized requirement, or at least partial overlap, as the game consoles are traded internationally with little variation in product design between markets. There are however challenges to address, including the different video and game play specifications between console suppliers and models. At the very least there seems to be potential for the harmonization of energy efficiency programs targeting game consoles in the following areas:

**Standby and Network Standby Levels** – all programs have initially proposed to harmonize with the European regulatory requirements of ErP.

**Modes for MPLs** – the majority of programs target media play and navigation. These are fairly easy to define and measure. The remaining issues to be harmonized are the media playback modes

included and the MPLs specified. The largest area of contention will likely be the target values for MPLs. It should be possible for all regions to specify the same MPLs, taking into account the differences between programs targeting recognition and those regulating minimum performance standards.

**Auto Power-Down** – the requirements for APD are very similar between regions and the industry proposal (auto power-down after last user interaction of 4 hours for media play and 1 hour for all other modes). There are few potential small variations to finalize, including the default settings for disabling and setting up APD and including peripheral controllers/interfaces.

**Timing** – the programs have focused on two tiers – with levels for the Tier 1 in 2013 or 2014, and Tier 2 from 2016 to 2017. The timing appears to be very close to common dates for all initiatives, however these are not yet decided.

The major areas of difference will require further research and negotiation. These are likely to include:

- MPLs for Media Play and Navigation agreement on the appropriate levels for regulatory programs will require significant cooperation between regions/programs.
- Game Play Pause the inclusion of this mode is not supported by the manufacturers. The ENERGY STAR program focused on using APD to save energy when the user pauses the game rather than a MPL for this mode.
- Power Supply efficiency it is argued by ENERGY STAR that a manufacturer should have the design freedom to meet the MPLs via whatever cost effective method is applicable to their console, rather than a prescriptive requirement on the power supply componentry.
- Allowances for NUI the inclusion of various Gesture and Speech Recognition Natural User Interface (NUI) functionality will increase the power demand of game consoles, however further research is required to determine the appropriate levels/allowances.
- Charging peripherals there is likely to be greater power use by consoles as controllers incorporate secondary screens (e.g., Wii U) and require these devices to be charged from the primary console. How APD is implemented without impeding the user experience will be essential to ensure that consoles power-down after the peripheral is charged.
- Network Standby Modes the availability of network connected consoles will increase the importance of this mode and the impact of standby power in the overall console energy use. As network connections are prevalent now, the efficiency of how they are implemented will be highly important to the overall potential energy savings. If a product uses 8W when in a network connected mode, its overall energy use in this mode will be significantly higher than most current generations of game consoles. However, game consoles which provide more functionality in network standby mode, such as support for software updates, may allow for game consoles to spend more time in this mode than in on mode and therefore save energy overall.

These challenges are potentially addressable when local policy makers and technical experts engage with the manufacturers in a coordinated and resourced manner. Examples of other product groups that have led to generally agreed outcomes in recent times include MEPS for external power supplies and televisions. These two product groups include products that are generally manufactured in a single location but traded internationally. The coordinated test development and policy action led to the creation of international test methods and agreed performance levels across many jurisdictions. This same approach could be used for game consoles, especially as very few manufacturers need to be engaged.

#### **Technical Challenges**

There are a number of technical challenges to the development of policies that aim to reduce the energy use of game consoles. The key issue for game consoles is that power and functionality in some power modes is closely correlated (meaning reducing power may reduce functionality, especially in game play mode). Also, the functionality in one mode (e.g. game play) can influence power demand in another mode (e.g., media play back) because the commands are run through the same components. Some proponents suggest that separate components may be a way to reduce the power use (such as separate DVD player integrated into the game console), however separate components can't be easily used or their functionality updated via software updates. Perhaps a better

approach is to use power scaling, where the power use is scaled down and up according the use/function of the device. The amount of power used by the current generation of consoles only decreases by 10% to 20% when playing a video or streaming media. Other media devices and PCs can reduce power demand significantly when lower levels of processing power are engaged.

Finally, the exact functionality of future products is often not known. This creates a situation where policy makers are unable to assess the impact on functionality from power demand limits placed on individual power modes and rely on the manufacturers to indicate what is possible. For example, the suppliers provided statements to the EPA Energy Star process [11] that *"neither the navigation nor the media streaming power caps suggested in Draft 3 are achievable, either by the present generation of game consoles or by employing the best scalable technology appropriate for any next generation console platform"*. Nintendo released the Wii U a month later which easily achieved these requirements.

There are also difficulties in comparing game consoles with other products, such as gaming notebook PCs, which offer higher functionalities than current generation game consoles but use significantly less energy. To compare game console with gaming desktops, which may use more energy but provide a higher graphic functionality, is also difficult. Comparisons to gaming computers are difficult because these products provide significantly more functionality than most game consoles but may have very different energy use profiles such as significantly higher active mode power demands but lower idle mode power demands. Game consoles, on first release, may also offer significantly more functionality than an average gaming computer and so initially have higher power demands which are reduced overtime as more efficient components become available. However, the game console manufacturers have more control over the manufacturing and the software that is used on the devices compared to computers, which should enable greater system optimization. Other comparisons can involve comparing game consoles with stand-alone media/optical disc player/streaming devices, which use between 10W and 25W, compared to the Nintendo Wii U (32W) and current generation HD consoles (60W to 70W). These media playing devices have less functionality than game consoles.

# **Policy Challenges**

There a number of policy challenges to the development of internationally harmonized energy performance goals for game consoles. These include:

- **Different timing** various regional policy approaches are progressing at different rates, with some (e.g., ENERGY STAR) already announced. The EU is likely to announce their policy approach during 2013, while the CEC has just begun their appliance standards rulemaking. These different timings inhibit the development of coherent approaches because when government policy developments are progressing at different rates this creates multiple timings for implementation.
- **Different policy drivers** some regional policy approaches are targeting voluntary or mandatory minimum energy performance standards while others are setting aspirational targets. These varied objectives create differences in the targeted levels for game console energy performance.
- Different levels of ambition and political support the targeted power levels envisage an improvement over the BAU scenario. However, various regional jurisdictions have diverse levels of ambition in this regard and likewise different levels of support by the political leaders. Greater levels of ambition usually require high level support from leaders in political institutions as industry may lobby against implementing significant changes to the energy efficiency of products, especially if any changes lead to increased product costs.

# Conclusions

The energy consumption of game consoles is likely to rise over the next decade. The escalation in usage of media streaming could be one of the major drivers of an increase in the overall energy consumption of game consoles. A user may not need to purchase a separate device for these media playing functions, however the power consumption of the current generation HD game console when playing media is at least three times higher than a dedicated media playing device (of around 20 W or less).

There are significant opportunities for international cooperation on the various policy and technical approaches that governments can apply to improve the energy efficiency of game consoles. Although there is often different timing, policy drivers and levels of ambition in various regions, the fundamental elements of policy approach (modes of use, standby/network power levels, testing approach, APD, etc.) are similar. These policy parameters are potentially close to harmonisation internationally and will benefit from coordinated action. The major issues faced by policy officers will be the maximum power demand levels that can be established to encourage efficiency improvements. International cooperation by various regions/programs will assist in developing suitable mandatory levels which will encourage energy efficiency in game consoles without being too stringent as to remove products from the market place. It will also provide certainty for game console manufacturers who will be deploying their next generation of game console during 2013 to 2014.

# References

- [1] Impact Assessment Study For Sustainable Product Measures Lot 3 Sound And Imaging Equipment, Prepared by Ricardo-AEA and Intertek as a Report to the European Commission, March 2013
- [2] *Video Game Consoles: Energy Efficiency Options,* Prepared by EnergyConsult for Department of Climate Change and Energy Efficiency, Canberra, Australia, July 2012 (Amendment 2)
- [3] Building on the Eco-design Directive, EuP Group Analysis (I) ENTR Lot 3 Sound and Imaging Equipment Task 1–7 Report, Prepared by AEA as a Report to the European Commission DG ENTR ED 45386 Issue Number 1, November 2010
- [4] Final Version 1.0 EPA Voluntary Criteria for Energy Efficient Game Consoles, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), March 5, 2013. Available from http://energystar.gov/products/specs/node/146.
- [5] *Results of Invitation to Participate: Game Consoles 2013 Appliance Efficiency Rulemaking* Presentation by the California Energy Commission May 29, 2013.
- [6] <u>http://www.nielsen.com/us/en/newswire/2013/play-vs--stream--the-modern-gaming-console.html</u>, visited on 1 April 2013.
- [7] Energy Efficiency of Games Consoles, Draft Outline proposal to further improve the energy consumption of Games Consoles, Sony Computer Entertainment Inc., Microsoft Corporation, Nintendo Co., Ltd. Downloaded on 19 March 2013, Available from <u>http://ec.europa.eu/enterprise/policies/sustainable-business/ecodesign/product-groups/soundimaging/files/console maker proposal en.pdf</u>
- [8] Proposal Information Template Game Consoles 2011 Appliance Efficiency Standards TN-62462, prepared by Natural Resources Defense Council in collaboration with the California Statewide Utility Codes and Standards Program. September 30, 2011
- [9] European Commission, COMMISSION REGULATION (EC) No 1275/2008, of 17 December 2008, implementing Directive 2005/32/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council with regard to Ecodesign requirements for standby and off mode electric power consumption of electrical and electronic household and office equipment. Official Journal of the European Union, L339/45, Brussels, 18.12.2008
- [10] IEA Implementing Agreement for a Co-operating Programme on Efficient Electrical End-Use Equipment (4E), see <u>http://www.iea-4e.org/</u>
- [11] Version 1.0 Draft 3 Game Console Performance Requirements Stakeholder Comment Summary (Distributed December 10, 2012), USA EPA, Available from <u>http://energystar.gov/products/specs/node/146</u>.

# An Evaluation of the Energy Efficiency Level of Households Appliances and Lighting in Bauchi Town, Nigeria

Ibrahim Udale **Hussaini** (PhD)

Architecture Programme, Abubakar Tafawa Balewa University, Bauchi-Nigeria

# Abstract

Nigeria as a nation is endowed with abundance of natural resources, yet undergoing energy crisis. It is currently experiencing rampant energy poverty due to the inefficiency of the energy industry to meet the energy demands of its customers. This situation adversely affects all sectors of the economy, and particularly the housing sector with great impact on the welfare of the residents. In fact, the household energy consumption constitutes a substantial amount of societal energy demand resulting from rapid growing population, increase in living standards and the rising number of apartments in all parts of Nigeria including Bauchi. An immediate complementary measure suitable for the current Nigerian situation is to reduce energy demand which can be achieved through use of energy efficient designs, appliances and practices. On this premise, a study was undertaken on some selected households in Bauchi town to determine the energy efficiency level of appliances/lighting in use through an inventory study (case study). The result reveals a very low level of energy efficiency in appliances and lighting; therefore prompting the need to direct attention towards improving the energy efficiency level of household appliances and lighting.

**Keywords:** Energy resources, Energy efficiency, Appliances, Inventory study, Households, Bauchi-Nigeria.

# Introduction

The issue of energy efficiency has recently become a critical one in all aspects of national development, particularly housing. This is because energy represents not only a high percentage of the running cost of a building but it also has a major effect on the thermal and optical comfort of the occupants. In Nigeria, the residential building sector is the highest energy/power consumption sector of the economy [1], and is associated with energy efficiency problems. Most household appliances and lighting are electrical and constitute a major part of the energy consumption bill [2]. To adequately address this issue, the energy performance of households needs to be improved upon, which according to Baker [3] is dependent largely on three factors of building, systems and occupants; i.e.,

- i. that which is inherent in the building design,
- ii. that which relates to services systems design and efficiency, and
- iii. that which is due to the effect of occupant behaviour.

This shows the importance of services system /appliances design efficiency in household energy use. Unfortunately, most households' lighting installations/appliances today are inefficient due to inadequate briefing at the design stage, too much emphasis on capital cost, lack of thought during design and installation, and poor maintenance procedures. Therefore, to design or accomplish a house which has low energy running and maintenance costs, energy efficient considerations must be taken into consideration at every stage of the design process [4, 5]. The implication of this (i.e. attaining energy efficiency) is that developers can build cheaper and simpler buildings, landlords can increase rents due to added benefits of lower running and maintenance costs, tenants pay lower running and maintenance

costs, and building users are more productive and healthier in the better indoor environments which can accompany energy efficiency in buildings [6].

# The Need for Energy-Efficient Appliances and Lighting

A careful selection of building materials/services systems can have a dramatic effect on energy consumption and the operational costs of a building. Though, increasing number of households tends to raise energy consumption, but improving efficiencies of appliances and lighting will tend to reduce consumption. According to Zold [7], the energy consumption of household appliances is more uncertain because variations in their type and power cannot be predicted, nor can changes in the use of the building itself; and also the variation in the schedule of use of the different household appliances, and the consumption of hot water. But recent developments in energy technology has made it possible to decrease significantly the energy consumption of buildings, to create housing that is more comfortable and to implement a major decrease in emissions to the environment [2]. The housing designers can therefore do much to cut energy costs of electric lighting and other appliances by specifying and installing low energy lighting and appliances. However, the continuing shortfall between electricity demand and supply, the escalating cost of building new power plants and the competing needs for investment capital are some of the few obvious reasons why Nigeria should have improved energy-efficient households. Moreover, the prevailing rampart power shortages are attributable in part to peak demands caused majorly by lighting, air conditioning, and use of other higher energy consuming appliances (water heaters, deep freezers, washing machines, etc.) in major cities.

Continued effort by the government in establishing a lasting sustainable financial structure and incentives for energy-efficient products backed up with formidable policies and public awareness programme in this direction can help abate the efficiency problem.

In fact, appliances and lighting represent the bulk of residential energy use growth area, and has been witnessing increasing consumption levels (about 2% per year) since the 1970s [8]. In Nigeria, the residential energy is about 50% of the total electricity consumption [1]. This value compared to the global residential energy consumption as in figure 1 is due largely to the gross inadequacy of the Nigerian energy industry to provide the needed energy drive for industrial growth (leading to the almost collapsed industrial sector).



#### Figure 1: Worldwide residential energy consumption

Source: (Meyers et al., 2003; Nicola, 2001; Boardman, 2004; Ueno et al., 2006; Araujo et al., 2001; Kamal, 1997; Lenzena et al., 2006) in Saidur, Masjuki, Jamaluddin [9].

Household energy use occurs in the form of space conditioning, lighting, water heating, food refrigeration/freezing; and other miscellaneous energy services like clothes washing and drying, cooking and cleaning, home entertainment, etc. [10].

# Space Conditioning

Space conditioning occurs in the form of heating, cooling, ventilation and humidity control. This requires more energy than any other service in both commercial and residential buildings. It accounts for more than half of total residential/commercial energy use. In residential buildings, space heating accounts for about 46% and space cooling for about 9% of energy use [10]. Because of the tropical climatic conditions of Nigeria, space heating is almost negligible except for a few mountainous regions of north central and north eastern part of the country.

There has been serious advancement in the technologies for room air conditioners in recent years. There is the new trend in household air conditioning toward central air conditioning systems in new single-family homes and multifamily buildings in developed worlds, particularly in the United States where over two-third of households are constructed with central systems. This development show a trend of increased efficiency resulting from continual free-tuning and adjustment: larger condenser and evaporator coils, better motors, improved insulation, reduced airflow-path resistance, and better fan blade design.

The energy efficiency of room air conditioners has improved due to higher efficiency compressors, improved fan designs, and larger heat exchangers. The average new unit bought today needs about 30% less electricity to deliver the same cooling as the average unit bought in early seventies [10]. Yet, many households in Bauchi, Nigeria with space conditioning facilities still maintain the old energy-inefficient types.

# Lighting

In fact, a good lighting system design enhances the energy performance of buildings by offering extraordinary opportunities for energy and cost saving. Using the technologies currently available in the market, electricity use for residential lighting could be cut by about one-third [10].

The quest for increased light levels for good performance coupled with the growth in population and building construction will cause lighting demand to grow quickly, probably faster than overall electricity demand. During the last five years, the average annual increase in lamp production was about 15% compared to an 8-9% increase in electricity production [11].

However, the lighting needs of a household need to be identified, both quantitatively and qualitatively as part of the environmental programming conducted early in the project. This is because, some spaces require more of daylighting like lobbies and circulation areas with low lighting levels. But spaces used for high demanding tasks require high light levels and a glare-free environment. Such spaces may shift the designer's attention from daylighting system to a very efficient electrical lighting system with integrated occupancy sensors and other controls [12].

In Nigeria at the moment, the illumination levels for households and other functions like classrooms, hospital examination rooms, general office, falls grossly below 100 lux as compared to other advanced nations (see table 1), except in exclusive private dwellings of the high class people with sufficient and independent power plant.

Incandescent lamps provide most lighting in the residential sector. Although, there are several improved (advanced) incandescent lamps (presently not available in Nigerian markets), they are still far less efficient than fluorescent lamps.

Fluorescent lamps are about four times more efficient than incandescent lamps, but their use in residences has been limited by their higher frost cost, unattractive light, and inability to fit in incandescent fixtures.

#### Table 1: Comparison of illumination standards in different countries (lux)

	U.K.	Germany	Japan	Russia	USA	China
General office	500	500	300-750	300	300	100–200
Drafting	750	750	750-1500	500	750	200-500
Classroom		300	200-750	300	300	75–150
Hospital examination room	500	500-1000	200-500		540	75–100

Source: Min, Mills and Zhang [11].

Production of CFL provides reasonably attractive light and fitting regular incandescent fixtures yet using the efficient fluorescent technology. The CFL achieves an efficiency of 61 lumens per watt, or 3.8 times the efficiency of a comparable incandescent, though they are not suitable for all residential applications. Therefore, lighting efficiency can be improved by improved lighting operation and design. That is;

- i. turning off lights when not needed,
- ii. using automatic (dusk-to-dawn) switches on outdoor lights, and
- iii. designing fixtures that reflect rather than absorb light.

These opportunities are difficult to quantify, and their savings potential will depend on the specific situation [10]. However, the bulk of the lighting facilities in the households in Bauchi according to this study, are incandescent lamps (over 50%). This provides the opportunity to achieve great reduction in lighting energy consumption if they are replaced by CFLs.

#### Water Heating

Water heating accounts for about 15% of residential and 4% of commercial energy use. In residential buildings, hot water is used for personal washing (in showers and baths), clothes washing, dishing washing and other miscellaneous uses.

The efficiency of residential-size water heaters has improved in recent years due largely to increased tank insulation, smaller pilot lights, and improved heat transfer from combustion gases to the water in the tank. Other methods of improving water heating efficiency include demand reduction, retrofits to existing units, and technical improvement in new units [10]. But, due to the hot climatic region of N. E. Nigeria where Bauchi is located (except a few mountainous regions), the water heating energy demand is not much emphasized.

#### Food Refrigeration/Freezing

About 10% of residential energy use goes into keeping food cold. The energy efficiency of food refrigeration equipment has improved greatly in the last 10-20 years. Among these improvements are the use of polyurethane foam rather than fiberglass insulation, more efficient motors and compressors, improved door seals, and improved air flow between cold coils and food compartments.

Many other technologies such as improving compressor design, installing separate compressors for the freezer and the refrigerator (dual compressors), and moving the compressor from the bottom to the top of the refrigerator to reduce heat flow from the compressor into the refrigerator could be considered to improve energy efficiency [10]. In fact, there is a gradual 'phase-out' of inefficient refrigeration appliances in the Nigerian households as the old ones (no longer in the market) are being replaced by the new energy-efficient types.

#### **Other Energy Services**

There is a wide range of energy services provided in residential buildings other than space conditioning, lighting, water heating, food refrigeration and freezing. These include clothes washing and drying, cooking and cleaning, home entertainment, etc. These miscellaneous energy services account for about 13% of residential energy use [10]. Except for cooking, majority of these 'other energy services' in Bauchi town are energy-efficient types as available in the market.

# **Approaches and Methods**

The objective of this study is to evaluate the energy efficiency level of households' appliances and lighting in Bauchi town, Nigeria as a prelude to proffering ways to improving household energy efficiency. To accomplish this effort, an inventory (case study) of households' appliances and lighting was undertaken in twelve (12) selected houses from the three (3) geographical districts of Bauchi town between October and December, 2010. That is, two (2) housing units from each housing estate; and two (2) housing estates from each of the three (3) geographical districts (Bauchi, Galanbi & Zungur) of Bauchi (metropolis) LGA.

In the process, the items were categorized as lighting, cooling, heating, refrigeration, cooking, computers, electronics; and 'others' which comprise of pressing iron, blender, toaster, deep fryer and washing machine as identified in all houses understudied.

These items were further classified as 'ordinary' (i.e. not efficient), 'efficient-type,' and 'undetermined' for ease of analysis (see table 2).

The result obtained was further subjected to appliances description categorization *scale of 1-5* (% range) to measure energy efficiency from 'Very unsatisfactory' to 'Very satisfactory' for the subsequent inventory analysis:

Appliances Classification	Definition
1. Ordinary	Appliances with higher energy consumption ratings. Usually of old technology, either labeled or determined by deduction based on none performance at low voltage levels.
2. Efficient	Appliances with lower energy consumption ratings compared with existing types with higher ratings. Usually of modern technology, either labeled or determined by deduction based on very low voltage performance.
3. Undetermined	Appliances that the energy consumption rating is not labeled and could not be determined by deduction.

#### Table 2: Classification of Appliances/Lighting

#### Categorization scale: 1-5 (% range)

	Unsatisfactory		Satisfactory	
<u>(0-20%)</u>	<u>(21-40%)</u>	<u>(41-60%)</u>	<u>(61-80%)</u>	<u>(81-100%)</u>
Very unsatis	sfactory	Neutral		Very satisfactory

Source: Hussaini [13]

# **Result and Discussions**

The lighting appliances were categorized into incandescent and fluorescent lightings respectively as recorded in table 3. Meanwhile, the incandescent lamps are generally described as 'ordinary' (i.e. not efficient) since there are no efficient incandescent bulbs in Bauchi market for now. On the other hand, the fluorescent lighting can either be 'ordinary' or 'efficient-type'. The 'efficient-type' refers to the compact fluorescent lights (CFL).

From table 3, it is observed that there were one-hundred (100) incandescent lamps and ninety-nine (99) fluorescent lamps in the twelve (12) households. Out of the ninety-nine (99) fluorescent lights, twenty-six (26) (i.e. 26.3%) were the ordinary type while seventy-three (73) (i.e. 73.7%) were the CFLs. That is, in a total of one hundred and ninety-nine (199) lighting points, only seventy-three (73) points are fixed with energy saving bulbs. This accounts for only 36.7% lighting efficiency. This level of energy efficiency in lighting which is a fundamental aspect of energy consumption in Nigeria and based on the above scale is *unsatisfactory*.

The cooling appliances are categorized as fans and air-conditioners respectively. From table 3, it is clear that there were sixty-eight (68) fans and five (5) air-conditioners (ACs) in the twelve (12) households surveyed. Fifty-nine (59) (i.e.86.8%) of the fans are 'ordinary' while only nine (9) (i.e. 13.2%) are the 'efficient-type.' Meanwhile, all the five (5) ACs (i.e. 100%) were observed to be energy efficient-type. That is, in a total of seventy-three (73) cooling appliances, only fourteen (14) (i.e. 19.2%) are energy efficient. This level of energy efficiency is *very unsatisfactory* considering the importance of cooling appliances which is next to lighting in terms of consumption level in Nigeria.

Table 3 indicates that there are seven (7) room heaters and all are 'ordinary' type; ten (10) water heaters and all are 'ordinary' type; and fifteen (15) water boiler/kettles, out of which two (2) are efficient-type (13.3%) and thirteen (13) are 'ordinary' type (86.7%). This implies that only two (2) (i.e. 6.3%) of the thirty-two (32) heating appliances are energy efficient. This is a *very unsatisfactory* level of energy efficiency.

The refrigeration group of appliances includes the fridge and the deep freezer. There were fourteen (14) fridges in all; out of which nine (9) are 'ordinary' type and five (5) are efficient-type. The deep freezers are thirteen (13) in all, and only four (4) are 'ordinary' type while nine (9) are 'efficient-type'. That is, in a total of twenty-seven (27) refrigeration appliances, only fourteen (14) (i.e. 51.9%) are energy efficient. The energy efficiency in this scenario is on the *neutral* level (i.e. neither satisfactory nor unsatisfactory).

As indicated in table 4, four (4) different modes of cooking were identified in the households surveyed. Among them are three (3) electricity-type cooking appliances, one (1) gas-type cooking appliance, one (1) kerosene-type cooking appliance and wood fuel (one-type) for cooking. Except for the electrical appliances, all others were classified as undetermined.

The three (3) electricity-type appliances are; electric cooker, electric stove and micro-wave oven. There were three (3) electric cookers and all classified as 'ordinary'; six (6) electric stoves, all classified as 'ordinary'; and one (1) micro-wave oven which is classified as 'efficient-type'. That is, among all the ten (10) electricity-type cooking appliances, only one (1) (i.e. 10%) is energy efficient. This is a *very unsatisfactory* level of energy efficiency.

Factors	Parameters	Description	Frequency	Percentage (%)
	Incandescent	Ordinary	100	100
		Efficient type	-	-
1 Lighting		Undetermined	-	-
		Ordinary	26	26.3
	Fluorescent	Efficient type	73	73.7
		Undetermined	-	-
		Ordinary	59	86.8
	Fans	Efficient type	09	13.2
2 Cooling		Undetermined	-	-
2. C00iiiig		Ordinary	-	-
	Air Conditioners	Efficient type	05	100
		Undetermined	-	-
	Room Heater	Ordinary	07	100
		Efficient type	-	-
		Undetermined	-	-
	Water Heater	Ordinary	10	100
3. Heating		Efficient type	-	-
		Undetermined	-	-
	Water Boiler/Kettle	Ordinary	13	86.7
		Efficient type	02	13.3
		Undetermined	-	-
4. Refrigeration	Fridge	Ordinary	09	64.3
		Efficient type	05	35.7
		Undetermined	-	-
		Ordinary	04	30.8
	Deep Freezer	Efficient type	09	69.2
		Undetermined	-	-

# Table 3: Inventory of Appliances in Use in 12 Selected Housing Units

There were sixteen (16) computer appliances identified in the twelve (12) households under study classified as PC/accessories and Laptops (see table 4). There were eight (8) PCs out of which three (3) are 'ordinary', three (3) 'efficient-type', and two (2) 'undetermined'. All the identified eight (8) laptops are classified as 'efficient-type'. That is, eleven (11) (i.e. 68.8%) of the sixteen (16) computer appliances are energy efficient. This score is a *satisfactory* level of energy efficiency according to the scale of measurement.

There were fifty-two (52) electronic appliances as shown in table 4, classified as television sets, satellite decoders, and DVDs/Video/Radio players. There were twenty-seven (27) television sets, out of which twenty-three (23) are 'ordinary' and four (4) 'efficient-type'. The satellite decoders are ten (10), out of which are two (2) 'ordinary', seven (7) 'efficient-type', and one (1) 'undetermined'. The DVD/video/radio players are fifteen (15), out which six (6) are 'ordinary' and nine (9) 'efficient-type'. That is, in a total of fifty-two (52) electronic appliances, only twenty (20) (i.e. 38.5%) are energy efficient. This level of energy efficiency score is *unsatisfactory*.

Factors	Parameters	Description	Frequency	Percentage (%)
		Ordinary	03	100
	Electric Cooker	Efficient type	-	-
		Undetermined	-	-
		Ordinary	06	100
	Electric Stove	Efficient type	-	-
		Undetermined	-	-
		Ordinary	05	100
	Gas Cooker	Efficient type	-	-
E. Cooking		Undetermined	-	-
5. Cooking		Ordinary	-	-
	Micro-wave Oven	Efficient type	01	100
		Undetermined	-	-
		Ordinary	-	-
	Kerosene Stove	Efficient type	-	-
		Undetermined	17	100
		Ordinary	-	-
	Wood Fuel	Efficient type	-	-
		Undetermined	11	100
	PC and Accessories	Ordinary	03	37.5
		Efficient type	03	37.5
6 Computero		Undetermined	02	25
6. Computers	Laptops	Ordinary	-	-
		Efficient type	08	100
		Undetermined	-	-
		Ordinary	23	85.2
	Television Sets	Efficient type	04	14.8
		Undetermined	-	-
	Satellite Decoders	Ordinary	02	20
7. Electronics		Efficient type	07	70
		Undetermined	01	10
	DV/De/V/idee/Dedie	Ordinary	06	40
	DVDs/Video/Radio Players	Efficient type	09	60
		Undetermined	-	-
	Pressing iron,	Ordinary	04	18.2
8. Others	Blender. Toaster, Deep fryer.	Efficient type	18	81.8
		Undetermined	-	-

#### Table 4: Inventory of Other Miscellaneous Energy Services

In the category of 'other' appliances as in table 4, we have the pressing iron, blender, toaster, deep fryer and washing machine; all together twenty-two (22) in number. Among these, four (4) are 'ordinary' while the remaining eighteen (18) are 'efficient-type'. That is 81.8% energy efficiency score which is *very satisfactory*. The effect of this result is negligible as most of the houses do not possess these appliances.

The cumulative result reveals a very low level of energy efficiency in household appliances in Bauchi. Invariably, lighting and all appliances of cooling, heating, cooking, refrigeration and electronics are in the category scores of very unsatisfactory, unsatisfactory or neutral. These scores fall below the desirable satisfactory level necessary for the accomplishment of good energy efficiency practice in the households.

The finding has also indicated that cooking in Bauchi, typical of Nigeria and other underdeveloped countries (Africa) has both the modern and traditional methods incorporated in a majority of the households. The modern ways include the use of electric cooker, electric stove, gas cooker, micro-wave

oven etc., while the traditional method includes the use of kerosene stove and wood as fuel. The latter is a substitute and an alternative to the former in most cases because of the scarcity and high price of the electric energy and cooking gas required to utilize these appliances. Meanwhile, kerosene and wood are relatively cheap and readily available. As a result, almost all households subscribe to this substitute. However, it is discovered that among the electricity-type appliances only ten percent (10%) are energy efficient. Improving the reliability of power supply along with the use of energy efficient appliances would assist to remedy this situation.

# Conclusion

Concisely, it is apparent that the lighting appliance is the dominating appliance in use in all the households; an indication that lighting is a very important part of our energy need. Therefore, promoting efficiency in lighting alone can lead to immediate enormous gains. In general, the government must ensure the promulgation of policies/measures that would lead to the replacement of the existing inefficient appliances either by retrofitting, halting the production/importation of inefficient appliances, and/or adopting the following improvement strategies (according to literatures) to remedy the appalling situation of households appliances and lighting energy efficiency;

- Reduce energy consumption by substitution of electric heating by other energy sources.
- Reduction of energy consumption of air conditioning systems and lighting.
- Reduction of energy consumption of electronic equipment in stand-by mode.
- Development of windows with heat transfer coefficient less than 2W/m<sup>2</sup>k and the development of special glass with increased reflection and selective absorption and emission abilities.
- Consideration of the passive energy design strategies for natural lighting (daylight) and natural ventilation; and the development of measurement techniques for evaluating the energy efficiency of buildings.
- Setting energy efficiency standards by the controlling authority by imposing minimum level of efficiency though manufacturers are not usually disposed to it because of administrative and adaptation costs.
- Stimulating the supply of efficient products by technology procurement, i.e. offering incentives to manufacturers to take part in development and diffusion of highly energy efficient products.

# References

- [1] Sambo, A. S. (2010). Renewable Energy Development in Nigeria. A paper presented at the *World Future Council/Strategy Workshop* on Renewable Energy, Accra, Ghana, 21-24 June, 2010.
- [2] Santamouris, M. (2005). Energy Performance of Residential Buildings; A practical guide for energy rating and efficiency. Uk: James & James/Earthscan.
- [3] Baker, N. (1992). *Low Energy Strategies for Non-domestic Buildings* in Roaf, S. & Hancock, M. (1992). (Eds). Energy Efficient Building: A Design Guide, Oxford: Blackwell Scientific Publications.
- [4] Bell, M. Lowe, R. & Roberts, P. (1996). *Energy Efficiency in Housing*. England: Avebury Ashgate Publishing Limited. pp. 87.
- [5] Pitts, G. & Willoughby, J. (1992). A design guide to energy efficient housing in Roaf, S. & Hancock, M. (1992). (Eds). Energy Efficient Building: A Design Guide, Oxford: Blackwell Scientific Publications.
- [6] Roaf, S. & Hancock, M. (1992). (Eds). *Energy Efficient Building: A Design Guide*, Oxford: Blackwell Scientific Publications.
- [7] Zold, A. (2006). Energy Efficiency and Lifestyle in Dooley, B. (2006). *Energy and Culture; Perspectives on the power to work.* England: Ashgate.
- [8] Postnote (2005). *Household Energy Efficiency*, Parliamentary Office of Science and Technology. U.S. Department of Energy; October, 2005: Number 249
- [9] Saidur, R., Masjuki, H.H., & Jamaluddin, M.Y. (2007). An application of energy and exergy analysis in residential sector of Malaysia. *Energy Policy* 35 (2007) 1050-1063 @ www.elsevier.com/locate/en pol. Available online 11 April, 2006.
- [10] U.S. Congress, Office of Technology Assessment, *Building Energy Efficiency, OTA-E-518* (Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office, May 1992).
- [11] Min, G. U., Mills, E., & Zhang, Q. (1995). Energy-Efficient Lighting in China: Problems and Prospects. *Proceedings of the Third European Conference on Energy-Efficient Lighting*, Newcastle, UK, 1995, pp. 261-268. The updated version submitted to *Energy Policy*. Volume 25, Number 1, pp. 77-83 (January 1997).
- [12] Federal Energy Management Programme, DOE/EE 0249. Low-Energy Building Design Guidelines; Energy-efficient design for new federal facilities, U.S. Department of Energy @ http://www.eren.doe.gov/femp/
- [13] Hussaini, I. U. (2012). Household Energy Efficiency Practice in Bauchi, Nigeria. Unpublished PhD Thesis. Department of Architecture, Kulliyyah of Architecture and Environmental Design, International Islamic University Malaysia.

## **PROMOTING ENERGY EFFICIENCY REFRIGERATORS IN GHANA**

## Eric Kumi Antwi-Agyei

## **UNDP-GEF-Energy Commission**

## ABSTRACT

Ghana launched a Refrigerator Rebate and Exchange Scheme in September 2012 as a tool to reduce energy consumption and address the environmental impacts of old refrigerators. The West African nation has taken significant strides in promoting energy efficiency in recent times by instituting regulations and other innovative market tools to curb the rising demand for energy.

This paper discusses the implementation of a refrigerating appliance transformation project, which intends to promote more energy efficient appliances on the Ghanaian Market. This project, which is at its mid-term, is already making significant impact and proves that market transformation schemes in developed countries could equally work in a developing country such as Ghana when modified to suit local conditions.

#### Introduction

In most developing countries, the demand for electrical energy is fast on the heels of installed generation capacity. Ghana is experiencing a similar situation in view of its growing population and attendant economic growth. As the standard of living in any country improves, residential electricity demand is expected to grow rapidly as more people purchase TVs, refrigerator, air conditioners and other appliances. This is the case of Ghana, which achieved a growth rate of 7.1% in 2012 against a global growth of 3.2% and Sub-Saharan Africa growth of 4.8% [1]

As expected, electricity demand in Ghana is also growing at an average rate of 11% annually. However, wastage in the end-use of electricity is estimated at about 30% [2]. The main electricity consuming sectors in the country are the industrial, commercial and the residential sectors. As shown in figure 1, the industrial sector continues to be the highest consumer of electricity followed by residential and the commercial sectors respectively.

The Government has therefore committed to increase the total electricity output to 5,000 MW by 2015 to meet the growing demand for electrical energy[3].



Figure 1: Electricity consumption from 2000 – 2011 Source: Energy Commission, 2013

There is however great potential to also reduce national demand through energy efficiency programmes. In 2007 when the country experienced a power crisis, there was a justification for the Government of Ghana to improve energy efficiency by distributing six million pieces of compact fluorescent lamps (CFLs) free of charge to replace an equivalent number of incandescent bulbs throughout the country. This intervention saved approximately 124.2MW in peak demand and about 112,320 tCO<sub>2</sub> per annum [4]

Another achievement of the exercise was the significant increase in the penetration of CFLs in the country. As at 2009, the penetration of CFLs had increased from 20% in 2007 to 79%, with a corresponding decrease in the penetration of incandescent lamps from 58% in 2007 to just 3% in 2009 [4].

Energy efficiency standards and labelling regulations have been introduced for lighting, domestic refrigeration and air conditioning Ghana is now operating a mandatory appliance standards and labelling regime under which importers and retailers of air conditioners, compact fluorescent lamps (CFLs) and domestic refrigerators are required to import and sell only products that meet minimum energy efficiency and performance standards. Legislative instruments (Ll's) prohibiting the importation and sale of inefficient incandescent bulbs, used refrigerators and air conditioners has also been introduced to ensure that only domestic appliances that meet the minimum energy efficiency standards enter the Ghanaian market. The energy efficiency Lls that have come into effect in Ghana are:

- Energy efficiency Standards and Labelling (Non-ducted Air Conditioners and Self ballasted fluorescent Lamps) Regulations, 2005 (LI 1815)
- Energy Efficiency Standards and Labelling (Household Refrigerating Appliances) Regulations, 2009 (LI 1958)
- Energy Efficiency (Prohibition of Manufacture, sale or Importation of Incandescent Filament Lamps, Used Refrigerator, Used Refrigerator-Freezer, Used Freezer and Used Air Conditioner) Regulations, 2008 (LI 1932).

These first sets of LI's focused on Light bulbs, refrigerators and air conditioners because of the fact that they are the major sources of electricity consumption in the domestic sector of the economy.

The first two legislative instruments 1815 and 1958 prohibit the importation into the country of air conditioners, refrigerators and CFLs that are not properly labelled and do not meet specified minimum energy efficiency and performance standards. The purpose of the labels is to help the public make informed decisions about the appliances they intend to purchase.

The third legislative instrument (LI 1932) prohibits the importation and sale of incandescent lamps, used air conditioners and used refrigerators in the country. This legislative instrument has succeeded in eliminating the energy inefficient incandescent lamps from the Ghanaian market and will eventually do the same to used air conditioners and refrigerators. In addition to these actions, programmes have been implemented to improve the power factors of commercial buildings and industrial facilities to at least 0.9.

A study conducted by the Centre for Scientific and Industrial Research (CSIR) on consumption of Refrigerating appliances established that refrigerators consume an average of 1,140 kWh/year in Ghana, or approximately three times more energy than the maximum allowed in countries with robust standards and labeling programs.[5] Such inefficient appliances result in US\$50 to US\$100 per year of potentially unnecessary electricity expenses for a typical owner, which he/she can ill-afford. The wasteful consumption of electricity results in more than 0.7 tons per year of CO<sub>2</sub> emissions per appliance, and uncontrolled release of ozone depletion substances (ODS) from used appliances can result in the equivalent of another 2 tons of  $CO_2$  every time an inefficient, used appliance is improperly disposed or replaced.

Refrigerators and Freezers account for as much as 25% to 30% of household electricity bill as such there is room to substantially reduce household electricity consumption in the Country[5].

It is for these reasons that the UNDP and the Global Environmental Facility is supporting Ghana through a project titled *"Promoting Appliance Energy Efficiency and Transformation of the Refrigerating Appliances Market in Ghana"*. The project involves among others the introduction of energy efficiency standards and labels for refrigerating appliances, establishment of test facilities and market tools such as

rebate schemes. The implementation of the project indicates that the potential exist in developing countries to adapt measures that have been successful in some developed countries for the local environment.

## Implementation of the Refrigerator Project in Ghana

Based on the significant strides made in the area of energy efficiency, UNDP-GEF is supporting a project titled: *"Promoting Appliance Energy Efficiency and Transformation of the Refrigerating Appliances Market in Ghana"*. The global objective of the project is to reduce Ghana's energy-related CO<sub>2</sub> and ozone depleting substance (ODS) emissions by mitigating the demand for energy in household refrigeration and by encouraging recovery, recycling and/or destruction of environmentally damaging refrigerants.

The project has eight components namely:

Component 1 -	Strengthening of regulatory and institutional framework
Component 2 -	Design of certification, labelling and enforcement systems
Component 3 -	Training and public outreach
Component 4 -	Establishment of refrigerating appliance test facility
Component 5 -	Used appliance collection and disposal facilities
Component 6 -	Efficiency program evaluation and monitoring capacity development
Component 7: -	Conduct of refrigeration appliance rebate and exchange program
Component 8:	Financial design of follow-up national market transformation programs

The project commenced in July, 2011 and has a life-span of three years. The significant progress made under each of the eight components named above at the half life point of the project is discussed in the following sections of this report.

#### Component 1 Strengthening of regulatory and institutional framework

The project has fostered strong collaboration between Ministries, Departments and Agencies required to develop and implement regulations that will provide a good foundation to transform the refrigerator market. The Ministries of Energy, Environment and Trade are providing policy direction whilst the Energy Commission, Environmental Prevention Authority and the Ghana Standards Authority is involved in planning, implementation and enforcement. All such institutions have been involved on the Steering Committee of the project to promote institutional buy-in, provide general direction and enhance quick feedback on deliverables.

The Energy Commission and the Ghana Standards Authority in particular have also built their capacity in developing regulations and policy options to address the issues involved. This has been done through seminars, workshops and practical engagement in the development of the regulations.

#### Component 2 - Design of certification, labelling and enforcement systems

The Ghana Standards Authority has adopted GS IEC 62552 which outlines the test methods for checking the performance characteristics of household refrigerators. The Country has also developed labels to reflect the particular circumstance of Ghana where black stars have been used to indicate the efficiency rating. In Ghana, the black star, which is a prominent feature in the national flag, is recognised for its relevance in building confidence. As such the more stars on the label the more efficient the refrigerator. Fig 2 shows a sample of the label for refrigerating appliances.

In 2011, the labelling of new refrigerators and freezers for sale was commenced. The take-off of the mandatory labelling requirement commenced with a few market leaders who were already importing refrigerating appliances that met the minimum energy performance standards. In the few months after enforcement of the regulations, the Commission continued to educate importers and retailers on the requirements. As part of activities to enforce the regulations, the Energy Commission has also trained custom officials at all the major entry points to stop at the point of entry all refrigerators without labels from entering the market. Custom officials have also been educated on the labelling requirements.

The Inspectorate Unit at the Energy Commission has also received a boost in their personnel and capacity to conduct compliance monitoring. There is however the need to recruit more staff to this department.



Fig 2: Energy Efficiency Standards and Label Source: Energy Commission

#### Component 3 - Training and public outreach

Even though most Ghanaians are familiar with appliance labels due to previous labelling requirements on CFLs and air conditioners, most customers could not realise the huge potential for energy savings with the high efficient refrigerating appliances. The project had employed a mix of strategies to publicize the refrigerator labels and its benefits to a greater section of the public. Publicity was therefore focused on Radio, TV, Newspapers and Billboards. For radio, a 60-second jingle was produced to broadcast the newly introduced labels for refrigerators/freezers and their benefits. Several radio interviews were granted on morning shows at major radio stations with wide listenership.

On television, a documentary was produced to underscore the impacts of old refrigerators on energy use and environment. It also addressed the newly introduced energy efficiency labels with explanations on the useful information that could be gleaned from it to enable customers make informed purchasing decision. In addition, a captivating animation on the labels was commissioned and shown on TV for over two months to simplify the message and create an appeal to the whole family. The project also employed the large captive power of local sitcoms and incorporated aspects of energy efficiency and the newly introduced labels in the story line. This was merged in the running story of the sitcom which was aired in five weekly episodes. All the videos acquired have become very useful tools during training seminars.

To compliment radio and television, newspaper articles and adverts were also employed to target the mid to upper segments of the public. In addition to all the above, retailers and refrigerator technicians are continuously trained by the Energy Commission to enhance their knowledge and selling skills of refrigerators.

#### Component 4 - Establishment of refrigerating appliance test facility

The project is in the process of establishing a refrigerator test facility that will enhance enforcement of the refrigerator standards and labelling. With the establishment of the refrigerator test facility, any suspicious item on the shop floor can be picked up and tested for compliance. Samples can also be collected from

imported units to confirm their energy performance levels. It is expected that the facility will be operational by the end of 2013.

#### Component 5 - Used appliance collection and disposal facilities

A company has been selected to provide support in collecting turned-in refrigerators, recovering refrigerants and properly dismantling the refrigerators for recycling. The company has invested in a stage-1 refrigerator recovery facility specifically for the project. This facility has the capacity to recover refrigerants from 200 refrigerators per day. The refrigerator dismantling company is responsible for transporting all refrigerators that are turned-in as part of the refrigerator rebate and exchange scheme.

#### Component 6 - Efficiency program evaluation and monitoring capacity development

Monitoring and evaluation plays a critical role in the implementation of the Refrigerator Energy Efficiency Project. In order to realize the indicators ascribed to the various outcomes, project monitoring has been tailored to derive specific results that would feed into the evaluation process as well. The project has developed a monitoring and evaluation matrix to collect data that will assist in evaluating the scheme to gauge the impacts.

#### Component 7 - Refrigeration appliance rebate and exchange program

A refrigerator rebate and exchange scheme was launched in the Country on 19<sup>th</sup> September 2012 on a pilot basis in the regional capital of Accra. The rebate programme is geared to provide an incentive for buyers to purchase new energy star refrigerators to replace old high consuming refrigerators. In designing the refrigerator rebate scheme, a review of similar programmes in the U.S.A, Malaysia and Brazil were studied and some adjustments were made to accommodate the local conditions in Ghana.

Under the scheme, customers send their old but functional refrigerators to the participating shops where tests are carried out to confirm functionality. Customers who pass the test are awarded an instant discount of US\$75 towards the purchase of a 2-star rated refrigerator or US\$100 for the purchase of 3-5 star rated refrigerators. Customers then pay the difference after the face-value on the refrigerator/freezer has been discounted. The project has made an arrangement with a Bank to provide consumer loans for customers who still require financial support to complete the purchase.

All returned refrigerators are collected by the dismantling company at scheduled times. The retailer will then send their sales reports to the Energy Commission to claim the total amount of discounts offered for the period. Verification is done at the Energy Commission to confirm that the dismantling company has received all the turned-in refrigerators covering each claim before payment is made.

To promote the scheme, the project invested in a number of advertisements on the rebate scheme on TV, radio and newspapers, and participating retail outlet. Various marketing channels of the retail outlets were also used to publicize the scheme. After three months of implementing the scheme, a little over 1000 refrigerators were turned-in for purchase of energy efficient refrigerators at the two participating retail outlets, which operated a total of 17 outlets in the city.

Based on the success of the pilot phase which was restricted to the national capital and only two retail shops was scaled-up nationwide in May, 2013. The number of retailers was increased from 2 to 4 and all regional capitals were included.

#### Component 8: Financial design of follow-up national market transformation programs

The refrigerator project is a work in progress and so far the results show that certain portions of the project could be replicated to fit not only national conditions but also the African sub-region.

## **Initial Results**

The following are some of the major results from the project:

- A dipstick survey conducted by the Energy Commission indicated that out of 1,000 people who were interviewed, over 90% were aware of the energy efficiency labels.
- The major household appliance dealers in the country have also been trained on the energy efficiency labels and the potential to use the label to market their products.

- Also, over 600 refrigerator technicians have been trained in proper maintenance of refrigerators to prevent emission of refrigerants during repairs. The technicians were also taken through the details on the labels and the potential benefits to clients.
- The project had recovered over 2,200 old high energy consuming refrigerators and replaced it with energy efficient appliances after six months of implementing the pilot phase.

## Challenges

- Enforcement on the ban on the importation of used refrigerating appliances had to be postponed for four years after the law was established due to petition by importers to Government to scrap the law. The importers of used Government were initially strongly opposed to the law and it required numerous rounds of meetings with Government officials to address their issues. The Energy Commission has been instrumental in providing training to members on the need for energy efficient appliances and providing some channels to enable them to market new appliances. The target is to ultimately promote the establishment of a local manufacturing facility in Ghana that will reduce prices of new refrigerators and tap into the wide distribution network of the importers.
- Due to the high influx of substandard appliances prior to establishment of regulations, there is a general perception from customers that used appliances are more durable. A lot of work therefore remain to sieve out all the low-quality appliances marketed as new and promote quality brands to enable customers to make the right switch.

## Conclusion

The project will continue to use the lessons learnt from the initial phase of implementation to continually enhance the impacts expected from the intervention. The initial feedback promises positive results for the remaining project period. There exist a potential electricity savings of 216MWh and  $CO_2$  reduction of 251.6 kilotonness over the project period if a substantial amount of over 50,000 units of refrigerators could be replaced[6]. This is certainly an interesting prospect for making energy efficiency the new power generation plants to support the slow pace of investment in power generation capacity.

## References

- Budget Statement, Ministry of Finance and Economic Affairs, <u>http://www.mofep.gov.gh/sites/default/files/budget/2013\_Budget\_Statement.pdf</u>, Accessed on 13<sup>th</sup> March, 2013
- [2] Energy Commission, August 2012, National Energy Statistics 2000-2011, <u>http://www.energycom.gov.gh/files/Energy\_Statistics\_2011.pdf</u>, Assessed on 13<sup>th</sup> March, 2013
- [3] Ministry of Energy, "Energy Sector Development Plan, 2010", http://ghanaoilwatch.org/images/laws/energy\_strategy.pdf, Accessed on 4th June, 2013
- [4] Energy Commission, 2009, Final Report CFL Exchange Programme Impact Assessment, http://www.energycom.gov.gh/files/CFL%20Report%20final.pdf, Assessed on 13<sup>th</sup> March, 2013
- [5] Center for Scientific and Industrial Research(CSIR), Ghana, Measurement and Evaluation of Refrigerator Energy Consumption and Efficiencies in Ghana. Energy Commission Library
- [4] Essel Ben Hagan, Robert Van Buskirk, Alfred Ofosu-Ahenkorah, Michael McNeil, Refrigerator Efficiency in Ghana: Tailoring an Appliance Market Transformation Program Design for Africa. <u>http://ideas.repec.org/a/eee/enepol/v35y2007i4p2401-2411.html</u>, Accessed on 4<sup>th</sup> July,2013

# The West African Energy Efficiency Policy: Using Efficiency To Achieve Universal Energy Access

Mahama Kappiah, Executive Director, ECOWAS Centre for Renewable Energy and Energy Efficiency (ECREEE)

Ibrahim Soumaïla, ECREEE

Anne Rialhe, AERE

Cristina Clain, AERE

Edgar Blaustein

#### Abstract

The West African energy system is facing serious interrelated challenges of energy access, energy security and climate change adaptation and mitigation. To address these multiple challenges, ECOWAS has taken action to adopt and implement a Regional Energy Efficiency Policy. The ECOWAS energy efficiency action plan is based on five flagship energy initiatives, each including policy, capacity building, awareness raising and financing elements.

## Introduction

The ECOWAS region, comprising 15 countries<sup>1</sup> in West Africa, is faced with a multifaceted energy crisis. About 60% of the population does not have access to electricity, and over 80% cooks with traditional biomass causing serious health and environmental problems.

The ECOWAS region governments have initiated an ambitious programme to achieve "Sustainable Energy for All", within the framework of the UN Secretary General's initiative. The ECOWAS approach is built on three regional policies: access to energy, renewable energy and energy efficiency.

The regional energy efficiency policy (EEP developed by the ECOWAS Centre for Renewable Energy and Energy Efficiency (ECREEE), was approved by the Ministers of Energy in October 2012. The EEP strategy focuses on policy, capacity building, awareness raising and finance. The EEP is targeting areas where short and medium term action can bring substantive impact on economic development and well being of the region's people. For each target, the EEP action plan includes an initiative.

The five targets and initiatives of EEP are:

- Phase out inefficient incandescent lighting;
- Reduce electricity distribution losses to under 10%;
- Achieve universal access to safe, clean, affordable, efficient and sustainable cooking;
- Adopt initial region-wide standards and labels for major energy equipment;
- Create instruments for financing sustainable energy.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> ECOWAS is a Regional Economic Community, the West African institution equivalent of the European Union. The ECOWAS member states are Benin, Burkina Faso, Cape Verde, the Gambia, Ghana, Guinea, Guinea Bissau, Ivory Coast, Liberia, Mali, Niger, Nigeria, Senegal, Sierra Leone, Togo ECOWAS has built partnerships with major public and private organizations to implement the EEP action plan, including: European Commission, ADEME, AEA, UNDP, ENERGIA, Copper Alliance, UNEP en.lighten, and CLASP.

## The Energy and Development Challenge in West Africa

ECOWAS countries are faced with an immense development challenge. They must meet development needs - job creation, education, health, drinking water – for a rapidly growing population of more than 300 millions, despite the numerous institutional weaknesses of the region.

Supplying access to clean energy involves the following. To:

- Allow everyone access to vital services
- Guarantee the reliability of energy supply and distribution systems
- Maximize the contribution of energy to economic development, to gender equality and to social equity
- Protect the local and global environment from the negative aspects of energy value chains.

Indeed, it will not be possible for the region's countries to progress without electricity in schools, adequate mechanical power for industry and water pumping, or without sustainable supply of clean fuels for cooking. Nonetheless, today, 2/3 of the population of the region does not have access to electricity [1], nor to mechanical power other than from human and animal muscular force.

Furthermore, over  $\frac{3}{4}$  of families cook using wood or charcoal, with rudimentary stoves that emit highly harmful smoke [2], affecting both the women who cook and the young children that accompany them (See Fig 1). Two energy related tasks – carrying water and collecting cooking fuel – require substantial amounts of

time from women and girls, limiting their opportunities for educational and economic activities, and often exposing them to life threatening dangers.



Figure 1: Deaths attributable to household air pollution, Source: World Health Organization

The region's governments, acting within the framework of ECOWAS have clearly understood this challenge. Thus, in January 2006, ECOWAS adopted the ECOWAS-UEMOA "White Paper for a Regional Policy for Increasing Access to Energy Services for Populations in Rural and Peri-Urban Areas in Order to Achieve the Millennium Development Goals" [3], that included ambitious objectives for access to energy by 2015, for electricity, cooking, and power for productive activities and social services. Because of weak institutions and lack of means and political commitment, the region has not progressed as rapidly as planned to achieve these goals. Consequently, ECOWAS acted to create the ECOWAS Centre for Renewable Energy and Energy Efficiency (ECREEE) in 2007. ECREEE is responsible for leading regional action in favour of renewable energy and energy efficiency. ECREEE - with the support of the European Commission, ADEME, the UNDP, Austria and Spain – has acted to harness the enormous potential of energy efficiency, through a five-step approach:

- stock taking missions in the fifteen countries of the region. These missions reached the following main conclusions:
  - Most of the region's countries, to different degrees, suffer from a crisis situation in the energy sector. Power cuts affect users for an average of 56 days per year. The World Bank estimates that the resulting loss in production amounts to a reduction of growth

by 2% annually<sup>2</sup>. Supply of cooking fuels is in danger in the long term: indeed, many city dwellers already spend as much for fuel as for food.

- $\circ$  The energy efficiency potential in the region is quite substantial. With just two measures phasing out incandescent lamps and reducing electricity distribution losses to under 10%<sup>3</sup> savings of as much as 20% overall could be achieved.
- The majority of countries have not acted effectively to capture the potential of energy savings, with less than half disposing of institutions responsible for implementation of concrete programs, and only Ghana having achieved substantial results.
- drafting of a political strategic document on energy efficiency on the basis of data collected;
- validation of the draft energy efficiency strategy by the competent national political authorities;
- submission for consideration and adoption by the region's Energy Ministers;
- implementation of the policy.

ECOWAS and ECREEE have now engaged the last step of this process, with implementation of the Energy Efficiency Policy's (EEP) recommendations.

## A policy and an action plan for energy efficiency

On the basis of the stock taking conclusions, ECREEE developed a draft policy document on energy efficiency. This included the current situation, analysis of energy efficiency at the level of major economic sectors (transport and city planning, industry and services, households) and the public action necessary to capture the potential savings. The document concludes with a regional strategy composed of: political and policy actions; awareness raising for energy efficiency; human and institutional capacity building; financial measures; an action plan.

The EEP includes five concrete initiatives, each with partners, an action plan, and a financing framework in order to maximise the probability of success of the policy, given that Ministerial approval of a policy document does not guaranty implementation. These initiatives focus on lighting, electricity distribution, cooking, standards and labels, and finally environmental finance for sustainable energy.

1. The initiative on lighting focuses on the one electrical appliance that represents the single biggest component of power consumption in West Africa: indeed, for the region's electrified households, lighting is the first, and sometimes the only, use of electricity [4]. The initiative aims at replacing incandescent bulbs with high efficiency bulbs: CFLs in the short term. Ghana has already carried out a successful programme on lighting, substantially achieving market transformation, with a 70% penetration in the market of standard neon and CFL bulbs. The Ghana programme consisted of a massive initial distribution of 5 million CFLs, coordinated with an awareness raising campaign. Teams spread out across the country to remove and replace the incandescent bulbs, and destroy them with steam rollers in city and village public places. The programme achieved a 10% reduction in peak power demand, with corresponding savings for the government in avoided investment in power plants and lines more than paying for the programme. It is expected that the key elements of the Ghanaian programme can be replicated throughout the region.

2. The initiative on electricity distribution is of a different nature. Whereas lightbulbs concern tens of millions of households, distribution losses directly concern only a few dozen enterprises. The nature of the challenge is also different. While lighting is a low cost consumer good, distribution systems are highly capitalistic and complex. The distribution infrastructure of the region suffers from chronic underinvestment, as well as insufficient maintenance. The initiative aims at supporting utilities in implementing global programmes in two areas. Investment in infrastructure – power lines,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Fact Sheet -The World Bank and Energy in Africa: http://go.worldbank.org/8VI6E7MRU0

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Current distribution losses in the region vary from 15% to 40%, as compared to losses in developed countries of around 7%.

transformers, sub-stations – and institutional capacity for preventive maintenance, effective billing and collection of payment. Guaranteeing payment for services is a major challenge, since non-payment and theft of electricity are so widespread. In some cases, technical solutions can play a role in improving commercial performance. Prepayment meters have proved to be effective in aiding households in controlling budgets for electricity. High voltage distribution systems, that replace 220 V lines with higher voltage lines, both reduce line losses and make theft more difficult. The potential gains are large. Whereas well run systems have distribution losses of approximately 7 to 8%, distribution losses in West Africa range from 15% to  $40\%^4$ .

3. Another initiative addresses the complex challenge of cooking, an absolutely vital issue. Despite its importance, long term supply of cooking fuel is in danger in West Africa. The forest resources that supply wood and charcoal are declining, due to the conjunction of a variety of factors: conversion of forests to agricultural land; desertification due to the advance of the Sahara; climate change; overcutting near cities that prevent regrowth. Liquid petroleum gas, the major alternative to wood and charcoal fuel, is too expensive for the majority of the population<sup>5</sup>. The cooking initiative aims to address sustainability of cooking at each link of the cooking value chain as shown in Figure 2

Sustainable forest management  $\rightarrow$  controlled wood cutting  $\rightarrow$  (improved charcoal transformation)  $\rightarrow$ 

Optimised transport and distribution  $\rightarrow$  clean and efficient cook stoves

Fig 2: Title

4. The region also intends to create a coherent regional system of standards for energy using equipment. Such a system is an essential basis for consumer labels for energy efficiency, for testing and certification of products, and for Minimum Energy Performance Standards (MEPS). In the short term, the newly established regional Technical Committee on Standards and Labels plans to concentrate on MEPS to support the lighting initiative.

5. Finally, the initiative on environmental finance aims to mobilise the various existing financial instruments that could provide support for energy efficiency efforts. The most important is climate finance, since energy efficiency translates directly into reduction of emissions of the Green House Gases carbon dioxide and methane in most cases. In West Africa, reduction of methane is particularly pertinent, since methane emissions from uncontrolled waste dumping could be converted into useful fuel, notably for cooking, as well as for power generation. Furthermore, proper recycling of refrigerant gases (CFLs) could benefit from the financial instruments of the Montreal Protocol on ozone depleting substances. Similarly, the CILSS (Comité permanent Inter-Etats de Lutte contre la Sécheresse), a regional organisation fighting desertification, could support efforts in the field of sustainable forest management for cooking fuels. Finally, on-going negotiations on a convention to control mercury pollution could finance efforts to capture emissions from coal-fired power stations, as well as for the recycling of mercury containing light bulbs.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Given the nature of West African power systems, notably the large distances covered by lines and the low population density, it is considered that a reasonable goal is to reduce losses to 10%.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> It is perhaps useful to recall, that although LPG is a fossil fuel, cooking with LPG emits less Green House Gases than poorly burned wood. Indeed, poorly burned wood emits both  $CO_2$  and large quantities of powerful GHGs such as methane and  $NO_2$ , as well as black carbon. A typical meal cooked on a 3 stone fire emits over 800 g  $CO_2$  equiv of GHG, of which over half is in non  $CO_2$  GHGs, as compared to less that 200 g  $CO_2$  equiv for a meal cooked with LPG [5].

## Conclusion

The Energy Efficiency Policy, including the five initiatives, was adopted by the ECOWAS Energy Ministers at their meeting in Accra from 29 to 31 October 2012. This meeting was organised in parallel with a "Global Forum on Sustainable Energy<sup>6</sup>" meeting on the theme "Towards Sustainable Energy For All in West Africa: Paving the Way through Renewable Energy and Energy Efficiency". Representatives of the international community, private sector and civil society, participated along with the region's public authorities in discussion on the contribution of energy efficiency and renewable energy to meet the challenge of achieving universal access to energy in West Africa.

## References

- [1] *The energy access situation in developing countries* United Nations Development Program-World Health Organization, 2009
- [2] WHO Household energy database: http://www.who.int/indoorair/health\_impacts/he\_database/en/index.html
- [3] ECOWAS White Paper for Energy Access: <u>http://www.ecowrex.org/document/ecowas-white-paper-access-energy</u>
- [4] Energy consumption in ECOWAS and EMCCA countries Study Report ADEME, 2008
- [5] <u>http://www.scribd.com/doc/31339153/Cooking-in-Developing-Countries-Fuel-Consumption-and-GHG-Emissions-User-Acceptance</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The Global Forum on Sustainable Energy is a biannual event, usually taking place in Austria, around the themes of sustainable energy and development.

# Maximizing Climate Benefits through Energy Efficiency and Refrigerant Regulations for Air Conditioners: A case from India

## Amit Khare, Ana Maria Carreño

## Collaborative Labeling and Appliance Standards Program (CLASP)

## Abstract

The ownership and usage of room Air Conditioners (ACs) in India is increasing rapidly mainly due to a growing economy and a high number of cooling days per year. Today air conditioning accounts for a significant share of peak electricity demand during the summer months in many Indian cities. In response to growing AC usage, the Indian Bureau of Energy Efficiency (BEE) launched a voluntary energy efficiency labeling program for room ACs in 2006, which became mandatory in 2010.

Most ACs globally use hydrochlorofluorocarbons (HCFCs), ozone depleting substances expected to be phased-out in developed countries by 2020 and in developing countries by 2030, per the Montreal Protocol. Hydrofluorocarbons (HFCs), commercially available alternatives to HCFCs, do not deplete the ozone layer but are potent greenhouse gases. If all the AC manufacturers in India switch over to HFCs the greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions would increase by at least 15%<sup>1</sup>. If HCFCs could be cost effectively replaced by "climate friendly refrigerants" such as natural refrigerants instead of HFCs, the climate benefits of the HCFC phase-out would be maximized.

This paper develops three policy scenarios for room ACs in India analyzing their impact in terms of GHG emissions reductions due to electricity savings and usage of climate friendly refrigerants, and its cost-effectiveness. The scenarios examine a business as usual approach, using current and planned efficiency standards for room ACs, and additional climate benefits by introducing the requirements for the mandatory use of climate friendly refrigerants. GHG emissions savings are estimated using the methodology provided by the Total Equivalent Warming Impact (TEWI) indicator. The paper identifies the scenario that will result in maximum reduction of GHG emissions and still be cost-effective if adopted, which corresponds to a policy scenario of doubling the current pace of efficiency increases and requiring the use of refrigerants with low Global Warming Potential (GWP < 150) in 2016.

#### Introduction

The ownership and usage of Room Air Conditioners (ACs) in India is increasing rapidly mainly due to a growing economy and a high number of cooling days per year. The AC industry estimates sales of 3.5 million new units in 2012 and forecasts sales in 2020 and 2030 of more than 12 million and 40 million units respectively [1].

BEE's labeling program for room ACs has resulted in savings over 5000 MW [2] and related greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions reductions so far, but the standards do not include any requirements to use climate-friendly refrigerants to further lower overall GHG emissions. Adding such requirements would help India in achieving its commitment of cost-effectively reducing emissions per unit of GDP by 20 to 25 percent below 2005 levels by 2020 [3].

This paper develops three policy scenarios for energy efficient room ACs in India, analyzing their impacts in-terms of GHG emissions reductions due to electricity savings and usage of climate friendly refrigerants, and its cost-effectiveness. This approach is expected to serve as a foundation for designing future policies to maximize climate benefits considering not only the emissions derived from energy use but also climate impacts from refrigerants. Finally, the results will be presented to BEE and the Ozone Cell<sup>2</sup> in India for their consideration prior to the launch of the next revision of AC energy efficiency standards in 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Estimated from the rate of GWP<sub>HFC</sub>/GWP<sub>HCFC</sub>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Indian Ministry of Environment and Forests has set up Ozone Cell in India for the work related to protection of ozone layer and implementation of the Montreal Protocol

## The Residential Room Air Conditioners market in India

The current market in India is divided between two types of room ACs: window units and split units. Their rated cooling capacity is usually up to 11 kW. In 2012, window ACs sales were nearly 25% of the total market, down from 50% of the market in 2007, showing the increased popularity of split ACs over the past years<sup>3</sup>. Nonetheless, sales of the two air conditioner types in India grew steadily from 2007 to 2011, as can be seen in Figure 1, with a drop in 2011-12 possibly due to a cooler summer and an early arrival of the monsoons. Larger sales in the previous period, 2010-11, might have also negatively affected sales the following year. This is thought to be the result of a bonus offered by the Indian Government to federal employees, which translated in higher purchases of appliances for that period.



Figure 1: Room Air Conditioner Sales in India (2007-2012)

Over the five year period in Figure 1, sales of window air conditioners more than tripled, from over 180,000 units in  $2007-08^4$  to 626,000 units in 2011-12. Sales of split air conditioners increased more rapidly; for the same period, sales in 2011-12 were ten times more than those in 2007-08 (from 195,000 to more than 2,000,000).

At a global level, sales of ACs in India are still significantly lower than countries like Japan and the United States which have annual sales of more than 6 million and 9 million units respectively, and economies like China, and Brazil which are expected to reach similar market sizes in the coming years. The room ACs market (for the residential sector) is dominated by split units worldwide; inverter units<sup>5</sup> are available in developed economies and their popularity is increasing among developing economies [4]. The market in India is still dominated by fixed-speed units.

However, India's annual sales of ACs are expected to increase dramatically in the next 20 years. Ownership of ACs in India is estimated to be between  $4 - 5\%^6$ . The market penetration potential is still very large and thus growth in the coming years is only expected to rise. Sales forecasts in 2020 and 2030 are of more than 12 million and 40 million units respectively, corresponding to a 13% increase per year [5].

#### The Standards and Labeling program for ACs in India

The standards and labeling (S&L) program in India was initiated in 2006 as a response to growing energy demand by refrigerators and air conditioners. The energy performance standard for room ACs applies to single-phase split and unitary (window) air conditioners of the vapor compression type for household use up to a rated cooling capacity of 11 kW being manufactured, imported or sold in India

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Sales data from BEE records: Production Data: Financial Year: 2007-08, 2008-09, 2009-10, 2010-11, 2011-12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> BEE's production data over the financial year period covers April 1st Year X to March 31st Year X+1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Units with variable-speed drives

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Population: 1.2 billion; average household size: 4 – 5 people; access to electricity: 60 – 65%; Stock in 2011 ~ 8 million units.

[6]. Energy efficiency is rated by the number of stars displayed in the energy label, between a minimum of one and a maximum of five.

Comparative labeling requirements for room ACs were voluntary until 2010; from the period between January 7, 2010 to December 31, 2011 the mandatory minimum energy performance standard (MEPS) for room ACs under this regulation was of EER<sup>7</sup> (W/W) 2.3. The next update occurred in January 1, 2012 when the minimum EER became 2.5. An additional scheduled update will take place in January 1, 2014, as per Table 1 below.

	07 Janu to 31 De 20	ary 2010 ecember 011	01 January 2012 to 31 December 2013		01 January 2014 to 31 December 2015	
	EER(	(W/W)	EER(W/W)		EER	(W/W)
Star Rating	Min.	Max.	Min.	Max.	Min.	Max.
1 star	2.3	2.49	2.5	2.69	2.7	2.89
2 star	2.5	2.69	2.7	2.89	2.9	3.09
3 star	2.7	2.89	2.9	3.09	3.1	3.29
4 star	2.9	3.09	3.1	3.29	3.3	3.49
5 star	3.1		3.3		3.5	

#### Table 1: Energy Performance Standard for Room ACs in India

The schedule above requires an increase in the minimum efficiency level of 8% each 2-year period until 2015.

#### Room ACs efficiency levels and other parameters

Today, air conditioning accounts for a significant share of peak electricity demand during the summer months in many Indian cities [7]. BEE's labeling program aims to reduce ACs energy demand and there is actually a slow shift to more efficient units since the program began.

The average Energy Efficiency Ratio (EER) values for both split and window units increased over time, as shown in Figure 2, illustrating the shift to more efficient units. The average efficiency of split ACs increased 27% (or an average of 4% per year) from 2.30 in 2006 to 2.91 in 2012. The average efficiency of window units has increased at a slower pace of 17% over the same period (or 3% per year), from 2.30 in 2006 to 2.68 in 2012.



#### Figure 2: Average EER of Room ACs in India

Interestingly, the increase rate displayed by the market average EER levels from 2006 to 2012 in Figure 2 above (an increase of 4% per year) corresponds to the increase required by BEE on the minimum efficiency level of 8% each 2-year period. One could argue that BEE's program is driving the market towards higher efficiency levels and the market's response is closely linked to the level of standards required. It could also be the other way around, and observations of the market behavior

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Energy Efficiency Ratio (EER) is the ratio of the cooling capacity to the electricity consumption when measured at full load at a specific outdoor temperature (usually 95 degree Fahrenheit).

before the introduction of the labeling program drove BEE to choose a policy that reflected this trend. The average EER level of Room ACs on the market in any year (during the period 2010-2012) was on average 0.3 units above the minimum EER of that year (this is 16% better than the minimum energy performance standard – MEPS - in 2010 or 12% better than the MEPS in 2012).

The labeling program requires that products on the market are rated using a scale from 1 star (least efficient) to 5 stars (most efficient). Figure 3 and Figure 4 show the trends of room ACs sales according to their efficiency level over a five year period. Split air conditioners in star level 5, the most efficient level, had a 25% market share for the first time in 2012. However, star levels 2 and 3 remain very popular as shown in Figure 3. For window ACs, the more efficient levels (5 and 4) still have a very low market share (see Figure 4), an indication that the production of more efficient window AC units is not taking place under current market conditions<sup>8</sup>. This is a trend also present in other countries: while the market share of window ACs is decreasing globally, efficiency levels have remained the same or even decreased over the past years [4]. In Europe, for instance, the market share of window units stagnated since 2005 at 200,000 units per year; the average EER level reached a maximum of 2.9 in 2005 and then decreased to 2.7 in 2011.



Figure 3: Efficiency levels of split ACs sales [4] Figure 4: Efficiency levels of window ACs sales [4]

Another relevant parameter to characterize room ACs is the size (cooling capacity). The most recent available data (from 2009) indicates that rooms ACs below 3kW have minor market shares in both types (window and split units).



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Manufacturers' feedback is that due to technology constraints it becomes very costly to produce 4 and 5 star window ACs.

The most popular sizes are 4.4kW to 6.1kW, followed by 3.0 to 4.4kW. Window units over 6.1kW are not very common, while split ACs from 6.1 to 14kW accounted for 14% of the split AC market in 2009. Figure 5 and Figure 6 above show market shares of various sizes by type of AC [4].

## **Refrigerants in ACs**

Most ACs globally use fluorocarbon refrigerants to facilitate the heat transfer process; hydrochlorofluorocarbons (HCFCs) are among those commonly used in air conditioning applications and have been used as transitional substitutes for the now phased-out chlorofluorocarbons (CFCs) for a host of applications. In 2007, the Parties to the Montreal Protocol decided to accelerate the phase-out of HCFCs. The Decision also encourages Parties to maximize other environmental benefits of the HCFC phase out, including those related to climate change.

HCFCs are scheduled to be totally phased out in developed countries by 2020 and in developing countries by 2030. Non-ozone depleting hydrofluorocarbons (HFCs) are commercially available alternatives to HCFCs; annual consumption of HFCs has doubled over the last decade. While they do not deplete the ozone layer, they are potent greenhouse gases and are about 2,000 times more powerful in trapping heat in the atmosphere than carbon dioxide. If HCFCs could be replaced by "climate friendly refrigerants" such as natural refrigerants (hydrocarbons, carbon dioxide, ammonia) and/or by new very low-GWP hydrofluoroolefins (HFOs, e.g. HFO-1234yf, HFO-1234ze, etc.) cost effectively, then the climate benefits of the HCFC phase-out could be maximized.

HCFC-22 (R-22) is still the most commonly-used refrigerant in ACs in developing countries, with an Ozone Depleting Potential (ODP) of 0.055 and a Global Warming Potential (GWP) of 1,810 [8]. Developed countries are transitioning to HFC-410A (R-410A), with zero ODP but a GWP of 2,088, which can adversely impact the climate due to its large capacity as greenhouse gas. Some of the alternatives considered for transitioning to lower GWP refrigerants in room ACs, which pose a lower burden to the global climate, include carbon dioxide (R-744), propane (R-290), HFC-32 (R-32), and HFO blends.

Table 2 shows, in a very simplified manner, technical characteristics and economic considerations for various refrigerants and how they ranked in comparison to others. This is only indicative and aims to highlight the potential challenges of a transition to any of those alternative refrigerants.

	GWP	Flammability	Toxicity	Price of Refrigerants	Price of System	Volumetric Refrigeration Capacity	Theoretical System Efficiency
Hydrofluoro- carbons (HFCs)	High	No	No	Moderate	Low	Medium	Good
Hydrocarbons (HCs)	Low	Yes	No	Low	Medium	Medium	Good
Carbon Dioxide	Low	No	Only at high concentration	Low	Medium	High	Medium

Table 2: Technical characteristics and economic considerations for some refrigerants<sup>9</sup>

Table 2 shows that a transition to hydrocarbons or carbon dioxide as AC refrigerants will increase equipment cost, as the price of the refrigeration system for these refrigerants is higher than that of HFCs. There are impacts on efficiency, especially in the case of carbon dioxide, and flammability issues linked to the use of hydrocarbons. Even though the use of these alternatives poses technical challenges, leading AC manufacturers are proving the feasibility of this transition. In China, Gree announced the completion of a demonstration production line for split ACs using R-290, while Midea is ready to commercialize products also using R-290 [1]. In India, one of the domestic appliance manufacturers "Godrej" has started production of R-290 based split ACs system with energy efficiency ratio close to 3.7 (i.e. 6% better than the 5 star level of the 2014-15 standard).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Author's interpretation from Kauffeld, 2011. [12]

## Assessing the impacts of a transition to climate friendly refrigerants in India

BEE's labeling program for room ACs has resulted in savings over 5000 MW [2] and related GHG emissions reductions, but the standards do not include any requirements to use climate friendly refrigerants to further lower overall GHG emissions. Adding such requirements would help India achieve its voluntary commitment of cost-effectively reducing emissions per unit of GDP by 20 to 25 percent below 2005 levels by 2020 [3].

To examine the impacts of a transition to lower GWP refrigerants, this paper develops three policy scenarios for room ACs in India:

- Base case: Energy efficiency requirements for room ACs after 2015 continue to increase by 8% every two years to reach a minimum efficiency level EER = 3.3 in 2020. This is consistent with the previous schedule adopted by BEE, where efficiency increases 8% in two-year intervals. There are no requirements for the GWP of refrigerants used in Room ACs in this scenario.
- Policy option 1: BEE adopts a schedule that will reach the minimum efficiency levels of the current best available technology in the Korean market<sup>10</sup>, EER =  $5.7^{11}$ , in 2020. There are no requirements for the GWP of refrigerants used in room ACs in this scenario.
- Policy option 2: BEE adopts a schedule that will increase the minimum efficiency levels to an EER = 4.2 in 2020. This is the result of doubling the current pace of efficiency increases, from 8% every two years to 16%. In addition, this policy option requires the use of refrigerants with GWP < 150<sup>12</sup> in 2016.
- Policy option 3: Policy option 1 and requires the use of refrigerants with GWP < 150 in 2016.

	Minimum Efficiency levels in EER					
	Base case	Policy 1	Policy 2	Policy 3		
2010	2.3	2.3	2.3	2.3		
2011	2.3	2.3	2.3	2.3		
2012	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5		
2013	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5		
2014	2.7	2.7	2.7	2.7		
2015	2.7	2.7	2.7	2.7		
2016	2.9	3.7	3.1	3.7		
2017	2.9	3.7	3.1	3.7		
2018	3.1	4.7	3.6	4.7		
2019	3.1	4.7	3.6	4.7		
2020	3.3	5.7	4.2	5.7		
GWP < 150 starting in 2016	No	No	Yes	Yes		

#### Table 3: Summary of policy scenarios

For the three policy options, we analyze energy savings and GHG emissions reductions from the base case by forecasting energy use of ACs sold from 2012 to 2020 and 2030. We assume that every unit

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The market in India is dominated by Korean and Japanese manufacturers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Maximum EER reported in Korea in 2010-2011 [13] <sup>12</sup> Two regulations in the EU currently use this threshold (GWP<150): i) Regulation (EC) No 842/2006 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 17 May 2006 on certain fluorinated greenhouse gases, exempts preparations where the total global warming potential is less than 150, and ii) Commission Regulation (EU) No 206/2012 of 6 March 2012 with regard to ecodesign requirements for air conditioners and comfort fans, requires different (less stringent) minimum energy efficiencies for appliances if GWP of refrigerant  $\leq 150$ .

sold in a specific year has an EER equal to the minimum energy performance requirement as per Table 3 above. This means we do not estimate additional energy savings from the labeling program. This is a conservative approach given that the labeling program has effectively shifted the market towards higher efficiency levels (on average 0.3 units above the minimum EER level for any specific vear) as discussed earlier.

We also consider that the stock has a survival function based on a normal distribution of the median life of ACs (10 years) and a sales growth of 13% per year. Figure 7 shows the sales forecast per year, the portion of the stock (from those annual sales) that survives in 2030 and the portion that has been retired<sup>13</sup>.



Figure 7: Room ACs sales forecast 2012 – 2030

The Total Equivalent Warming Impact (TEWI), an indicator used to estimate the global warming impact of room ACs (and other equipment using refrigerants), is based on the emissions of greenhouse gases during the operation (use) and the disposal of the refrigerants at the end-of-life [9]. The method of calculating the TEWI is the following:

TEWI = GWP (direct emissions from refrigerant leaks and end of life treatment) + GWP (indirect emissions from the operation of the equipment)<sup>14</sup>

#### Indirect emissions

Indirect emissions, corresponding to GHG emissions resulting from the operation of room ACs throughout their lifetime, were estimated as follows.

The room AC unit energy consumption (UEC) is estimated for a typical 1.5T unit [10], considered representative of the AC market, with the following parameters<sup>15</sup>:

Hours of operation (residential): 5 months/year x 30days/month x 8hrs/day = 1200hrs/year<sup>16</sup>

Average cooling capacity (CC): 4,580 kW

Operating at 75% of full capacity

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Surviving stock in 2030 refers to the number of units purchased in a year X that are still operating in 2030. Retired stock refers to the units that are no longer operating due to failure.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> The terms direct and indirect emissions used here are as per the TEWI method of calculation best practice guidelines [9] <sup>15</sup> The typical unit size and operation conditions are as per McNeil and Iyer.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> As per BEE's assumption when calculating ACs labeling program impacts (energy consumption and savings).

$$UEC(y) = \frac{CC}{EER(y)} \times 0.75 \times 1200 \quad (kWh/y)$$

The Total Energy Consumption (TEC) in a year is estimated with the surviving stock in that year and the corresponding unit energy consumption. The following equation uses 2030 as the year for the calculations.

$$TEC_{2030} = \sum_{y=2012}^{2030} Surviving \ stock \ in \ 2030 \ (y) \times UEC \ (y) \qquad (kWh/y)$$

GHG emissions savings are estimated with the total energy consumption and an emissions factor of 0.82 tonnes of CO2 eq per MWh [11].

GHG savings in 
$$2030 = TEC_{2030} \times 0.82$$
 (tCO2e)

Results from the analysis above are presented in Table 4 for 2020 and 2030.

Table 4: Energy and GHG emissions savings due to ACs operation from policy scenarios

	Base case	Policy Option 1	Policy Option 2	Policy Option 3
Total energy consumption in 2020 (GWh)	73,739	57,786	67,133	57,786
Total energy savings in 2020 (GWh)	-	15,953	6,606	15,953
GHG savings in 2020 (Mtonnes of CO2 eq)	-	13.1	5.4	13.1
Total energy consumption in 2030 (GWh)	247,406	133,791	195,528	133,791
Total energy savings in 2030 (GWh)	-	113,615	51,878	113,615
GHG savings in 2030 (Mtonnes of CO2 eq)	-	93.2	42.5	93.2

#### **Direct emissions**

To analyze the climate benefits of introducing a requirement for the use of refrigerants with lower GWP, emissions of greenhouse gases from the refrigerants need to be considered.

In the previous section we estimated the GHG emissions from the operation of ACs (indirect emissions) and provided a total GHG savings in 2020 and 2030; in this section we will only consider the first part of the TEWI equation to estimate emissions from the refrigerants.

$$GWPdirect = GWP \times m \times L_{annual} \times n + GWP \times m \times (1 - \alpha_{recovery})$$

Where:

GWP = Global Warming Potential of the refrigerant

m = refrigerant charge

L<sub>annual</sub> = leakage rate per annum

n = operating life

 $\alpha_{recovery}$  = recycling factor from 0 to 1

The recycling factor in India is considered to be 0, thus we assume that all the refrigerant charge will be released at the end-of-life<sup>17</sup> (disposal of the AC), and only estimate the right side of the equation. For the analysis, two parameters are considered: the refrigerant charge and the GWP.

The typical refrigerant charge of AC units relevant to the Indian market is shown in Table 5 and the GWP values for current and alternative refrigerants are shown in Table 6.

		Average charge (kg)					
Unit	Capacity	R-410A	R-22	R-32	R-290		
Mini- split	1.5 T	1.5	1.2	1.3	0.4		

## Table 5: Typical refrigerant charges in ACs<sup>18</sup>

#### Table 6: GWP values for selected refrigerants [8]

Refrigerant	GWP
R-410A	2088
R-22	1810
R-407C	1774
HFO Blends	<1,032
R-32	675
R-1234ze	6
R-1234yf	4
R-290 (propane)	3.3
R-744 (CO2)	1

For the policy options (Base Case and Policy Option 1) for which there is no requirement to transition to lower GWP refrigerants, we consider a GWP that corresponds to that of R-22 until 2020 (as scheduled by the Montreal Protocol) and is replaced by R-410A from 2020 (which is the current trend). For the policy options where a refrigerant requirement will be in place in 2016, we consider the GWP of R-22 until 2015, and the propane GWP of 3.3 from then onwards. The refrigerant charge varies depending on the refrigerant as per Table 5.

Table 7: Summary of policy scenarios in the transition to lower GWP refrigerants

	GWP values					
	Base case	Policy 1	Policy 2	Policy 3		
2012-2015	1810	1810	1810	1810		
2016-2019	1810	1810	3.3	3.3		
2020-2030	2088	2088	3.3	3.3		

Using the retired stock of ACs from 2012 – 2030, and the corresponding *GWPdirect*, we estimate the cumulative value of greenhouse gas emissions by 2030 from their refrigerants charge as:

Cumulative 
$$GHG_{2030} = \sum_{y=2012}^{2030} Retired stock in 2030 (y) \times GWP direct (y)$$

The same calculation is done for the year 2020 using the retired stock from 2012- 2020. Results from the analysis above are presented in Table 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> If a recycling program for ACs were in place, the recovery rate will be > 0. There are no recycling or recovery policies as of today in India.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Based on discussion with key AC and chemical manufacturers in India

#### Table 8: GHG emissions savings from the transition to lower GWP refrigerants

	Base case	Policy Option 1	Policy Option 2	Policy Option 3
Cumulative GHG emissions by 2020 (Mtonnes of CO2 eq)	7	7	6	6
Cumulative GHG savings by 2020 (Mtonnes of CO2 eq)	-	-	1	1
Cumulative GHG emissions by 2030 (Mtonnes of CO2 eq)	143	143	37	37
Cumulative GHG savings by 2030 (Mtonnes of CO2 eq)	-	-	106	106

## Cost considerations and feasibility analysis

#### Technology options for improving efficiency of ACs

Typically, the options for improving the energy efficiency of ACs focus on changes in the following components:

- Compressor
- Heat exchanger
- Fan motor

Both efficiency and cost implications associated with improvements in these components largely vary from manufacturer to manufacturer and are based on overall system design.

*Improvements in compressor*: The two major types of compressors used in ACs are rotary and scroll compressors. Rotary compressors are manufactured locally in India and are also imported. At present rotary compressors with an EER of 3.6 are already being used by some Indian manufacturers. According to compressor suppliers, both 1<sup>st</sup> stage and 2<sup>nd</sup> stage rotary compressors can achieve a gain of 0.2 units in the EER. However the incremental costs associated with 1<sup>st</sup> stage and 2<sup>nd</sup> stage rotary compressors are 10% and 20% respectively, over base case.

Scroll compressors are 15-20% more efficient than rotary compressors but they are not manufactured locally in India. A USD 20 increase in manufacturing cost is likely with the use of scroll compressor over rotary compressor.

*Improvements in heat exchanger*: Currently manufactured ACs use copper tube aluminum fin CTAF technology for heat exchangers. But new technologies like Brazed Aluminium Micro Channel (BAM) can achieve same efficiency with 25-30% less area and thus reduce costs of achieving higher efficiency in ACs. A few manufacturers in India are importing BAM heat exchangers but its applicability for RACs is yet to be established.

*Improved fan motors*: Brush Less DC (BLDC) fan motors are 50% more efficient than the conventional AC motors. However the cost difference between the two types of AC motors is substantial. Each unit of BLDC fan motor costs approx. USD 40 compared to USD 6-8 for an AC fan motor. Besides, BLDC fan motors are not locally manufactured and have to be imported.

#### Efficiency, cost and feasibility considerations under policy scenarios

**Under policy option 1**, minimum efficiency levels for ACs would increase to an EER of 5.7 by 2020 from the base case EER of 3.3. This 70% improvement in minimum efficiency levels can be achieved by incorporation of BLDC fan motors that lead to 50 to 60% improvement in energy efficiency compared to AC fan motors uses in currently manufactured ACs in India. However, use of BLDC fan motor will increase the manufacturing cost by 5 times. Besides, manufacturers will have to rely on importing this technology as there are limited numbers of BLDC fan motor suppliers in India. However, production of BLDC fan motors in India will lead to cost-effective improvements in energy efficiency.

**Under policy option 2**, BEE adopts a schedule that increases the minimum efficiency levels to an EER of 4.2 in 2020 and also requires the use of refrigerants with GWP < 150 by 2016. In India, a leading AC manufacturer has recently produced an AC which has a GWP < 150 and an EER of 3.7. Further increase in EER from 3.7 to 4.2 can be achieved by using a combination of improved compressor technology like scroll compressor and use of BLDC fan motors.

The use of climate friendly refrigerants with GWP < 150 will lead to substantial reductions in  $CO_2$  emissions over the life of the AC. An Indian manufacturer is already producing R-290 (GWP < 20) based ACs. It has been found that the cost of R-290 is more than that of conventional HFC refrigerants like R-410a in the current scenario. However, if adopted on a large scale, the cost will drastically come down due to economies of scale and will be at part with the conventional refrigerants. Propane is also a byproduct of some of the industries in India, although in impure form. If AC industry starts using propane by extracting the pure chemical from the byproduct, the cost can come down significantly. The application of propane is limited currently because of safety concerns due to its flammable nature.

**Under policy option 3**, BEE adopts policy option 1 and requires the use of refrigerants with GWP < 150 in 2016. This can be achieved by using the measures identified under policy option 1 and option 2.



## Summary of Results



Figure 8: Direct emissions – cumulative GHG emissions from 2012 - 2030

Figure 9: Indirect emissions – Annual GHG emission in 2030

## Conclusions

Including the use of climate friendly refrigerants as part of the energy efficiency requirements for room ACs can have a great impact on the long term emissions from this equipment. This analysis showed that in 2020 (only 4 years after the proposed implementation date of 2016) the savings are not significant since the retired appliances over that period are very few. However, there are considerable savings from the transition to lower GWP refrigerants in the long term. If implemented, the cumulative savings from direct emissions by 2030 (106 Mtonnes of CO2 eq.) could be nearly 75% of the cumulative emissions (143 Mtonnes of CO2 eq.) of the base case (if no policy was implemented).

From the energy savings point of view, policy options 1 and 3 result in total energy savings of 113,615 GWh in 2030 (and corresponding GHG emissions mitigation = 93.2 Mtonnes of CO2 eq.). Policy option 3 offers additional GHG emissions savings from direct emissions (106 Mtonnes of CO2 eq. cumulative by 2030). However, in the context of an emerging market, adopting the measures to increase the energy efficiency of ACs by 70% in a time frame of 6 years with the use of climate friendly refrigerants (GWP<150) would be quite challenging and costly. It could increase the price of the retail product significantly, making efficient ACs out of reach for an average consumer. Policy option 1 presents the same challenges as option 3 in terms of increasing AC efficiency (without the additional cost of transitioning to low GWP refrigerants) and it offers the least GHG mitigation potential; hence it is not the recommended policy option.

Policy option 2 is the most suited option for the Indian scenario: it is a cost effective option (one of the Indian manufacturer has already started the production of such units) and has significant impact in terms of GHG emissions reduction. It results in GHG emissions savings of over 93.2 Mtonnes of CO2 eq. per year after 2030 (from indirect emissions) and additional cumulative savings of 106 Mtonnes of CO2 eq by 2030 (from direct emissions).

Therefore, this paper identifies policy option 2 as the recommended option for future AC regulations in India. It also recognizes implementation challenges since it would require enhanced coordination and communications between two agencies, BEE and Ozone Cell, which until now regulate energy efficiency and consumption of refrigerants in India independently. However, if these challenges could be addressed, India's ACs policy would result in long term sustainability through significant GHG emissions reduction from energy savings and the use of climate friendly refrigerants.

## References

- [1] Air Conditioners. TV Veopar Journal Annual Issue, April 2012. ADI Media. Can be downloaded at: <u>http://www.adi-media.com/PDF/TVJ/annual\_issue/006-Air-Conditioners.pdf</u>
- [2] BEE's annual report, 2012.
- [3] December 2009 Copenhagen Climate Change Summit, <u>http://www.nrdc.org/international/copenhagenaccords/</u>
- [4] Econoler, Navigant, CEIS and ACEEE in partnership with CLASP. *Cooling Benchmarking Study Report,* June 2011. Can be downloaded at: http://www.clasponline.org/CoolingBenchmarking
- [5] CLASP India PPAT Tool, 2013.
- [6] Indian Bureau of Energy Efficiency (BEE). *Schedule 3 Room Air Conditioners*. Can be downloaded at: <u>http://220.156.189.26:8080/beeLabel/index.jsp</u>
- [7] Jaiswal, A. India's Blackout: A Wake-Up Call to Energize Clean Energy Solutions. NRDC staff blog, August 2012.Can be downloaded at: <u>http://switchboard.nrdc.org/blogs/ajaiswal/indias\_blackout\_a\_wake-up\_call.html</u>
- [8] IPCC Fourth Assessment Report: Climate Change 2007 (AR4).
- [9] Methods of calculating total equivalent warming impact (TEWI) 2012 Best practice guidelines. The Australian Institute of Refrigeration, Air Conditioning and Heating.

- [10] McNeil, M. and Iyer, M. *Techno-economic analysis of Indian Draft Standard Levels for Room Air Conditioners*. Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, 2008.
- [11] CO2 Baseline for the Indian power sector, Central Electricity Authority. Can be downloaded at: http://www.cea.nic.in/reports/planning/cdm\_co2/user\_guide\_ver6.pdf
- [12] Kauffeld, M. *Refrigeration Technologies for the 21st Century*. Institute of Refrigeration, Air Conditioning and Environmental Engineering, Karlsruhe University of Applied Sciences, 2011.
- [13] Shah, N., Phadke A., Waide P. Cooling the Planet: Opportunities for Deployment of Superefficient Room Air Conditioners. SEAD Technical Analysis Working Group. Environmental Energy Technologies Division. International Energy Studies Group. Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, 2013.

## The Turkish Energy Efficiency Plan – an ex-ante assessment of the residential sector

## ELSLAND, Rainer; DIVRAK, Can; FLEITER, Tobias

## Fraunhofer Institute for Systems and Innovation Research ISI

## Abstract

The aim of this study is to analyse the impact of the Strategic Energy-Efficiency Plan (SEEP) on residential energy demand in Turkey until 2030. For this purpose, three different explorative scenarios have been developed: a reference scenario (REF-S); a scenario based on the SEEP (SEEP-S) and a scenario which includes even more ambitious policies (HiEff-S). The scenarios are being compared in terms of energy demand and allow conclusions about the potential impact of the policy packages. For the analysis, a detailed bottom-up modelling approach is applied. The results show that the final energy demand decreases in all scenarios from about 944 PJ in 2008 to 851 PJ (REF-S), 736 PJ (SEEP-S) and 659 PJ (HiEff-S) in 2030. The decreasing demand even in the REF-S reflects a structural break with the past and mainly comes from the building sector and is driven by a very high demolition rate and a very low level of efficiency in the existing building stock. This drastic policy induces a fast building turnover, which is a window of opportunity from an energy efficiency point of view – which, however, is not taken into account by current legislation and not particularly addressed in the SEEP. Both the share of electricity but also the total demand in all scenarios is increasing mainly driven by the growing ownership of various electric appliances. The SEEP-S will achieve 10 TWh of savings in 2030 compared to the REF-S which mainly comes from more ambitious appliance and lighting standards. Generally, the scenarios assumed a relatively high rate of compliance and a strong enforcement of policies, which might not be the case in reality (as already indicated by the observed slow progress of building certification by 2013 which is running far behind schedule).

#### Introduction

In recent years, Turkey has become one of the largest emerging markets in the world with high economic growth and a relatively young as well as fast-growing population. In 2010 GDP rose by 9 % and GDP per capita has tripled since 2002 (after the financial crisis in 2001), reaching 10,500 US\$ in 2010 [1]. In the same year, Turkey's population reached the level of 74.7 million compared to 56.5 million in 1990. As a result, Turkey has become the sixth biggest economy in Europe [2, 3]. As could be witnessed in the past, economic growth came together with an increase in energy demand. Final energy demand increased by approximately 4 % per annum between the years 2009 and 2011, while growth of electricity demand has been even higher, 4.7 % per annum for the same years and expected to rise [23]. This dynamic development induces high pressure on the Turkish energy system, as Turkey depends on foreign resources for 72 % of its demand in 2010 [43].

In 2012 the Turkish government developed the strategic energy efficiency plan (SEEP) to cope with the increasing demand [34]. The plan sets targets for the coming ten years until 2023 and requires policies to be implemented in all demand sectors, such as market transformation of energy-using products (following the EU Eco-design Directive [27, 28]) or energy usage in buildings [18, 19]. To reach the goals defined in the SEEP, i.e. improving energy efficiency in the residential sector, plays a significant role. In 2010, 35% of final energy demand in Turkey was attributed to the residential sector and the importance of this sector is expected to grow even more. Not only because of its high percentage share in final energy demand, but also due to rising living standards, decreasing average size of households and as a result of an increasing demand for new buildings due to high urbanization rates [4].

The aim of this study is to analyse the impact of the SEEP on residential energy demand in Turkey until 2030 based on three explorative scenarios. The reference scenario (REF-S) is used as a baseline, the scenario SEEP-S simulates the impact of the SEEP policies, and the scenario HiEff-S includes even more ambitious policies than the SEEP requires. For the analysis the bottom-up model, FORECAST-Residential is applied that uses empirical data such as the ownership rate of appliances, the building typology or the efficiency development of heating systems to determine final energy demand projections [5, 6]. The explicit consideration of individual end-uses allows a very detailed

modelling of the individual policy measures defined in the SEEP. Besides techno-economic parameters and socio-economic parameters, such as the number of households, are also taken into account in the simulation. Thus, the main determinants of Turkish energy demand are considered in this approach.

## Status quo of energy-efficiency policies for the residential sector in Turkey

In the last decades, Turkey has reacted to the expanding energy demand with increasing the import of fossil fuels. As a result, Turkey has become more import-dependent and  $CO_2$  emissions have increased drastically. However, a significant share of energy demand could have been avoided by reducing the energy losses in production, transportation/distribution and final demand by lowering the need for fossil fuel use and import. This point of view has become more central in recent years in Turkey and a mix of energy-efficiency policies has been implemented, of which several measures address the residential sector.

#### Laws and regulations in force

The legal framework and its key laws and regulations that aim to improve energy efficiency in the residential sector in Turkey are summarized in Table 1.

## Table 1: Overview of regulations addressing energy efficiency in the residential sector in Turkey

Law / regulation	Aim and scope with regard to residential sector	Implementation (latest revision)					
Laws and regulations addressing residential buildings							
Energy Efficiency Law (no. 5627) [15]	A broad frame for energy-efficiency policies in all sectors and the implementation of more specific regulations.	2007					
Energy Efficiency Regulation [16, 17]	Authorization and standards for ESCOs including training curricula for energy managers, public entities energy efficiency programs.	2008 (revised 2011)					
Building Energy Performance Regulation [18, 19]	Setting minimum energy performance standards (MEPS) for buildings, regulation of MEPS calculation, use of renewable energies and HVAC systems.	2008 (superseded Reg. on Heat Insulation in 2009, revised 2010)					
Regulation on Heat Insulation in Buildings [20, 21]	Requirements for thermal performance of building insulation.	2000 (superseded in 2009)					
National Standard of Thermal Insulation Requirements for Buildings (TS 825) [22]	Calculation procedures for standards for building insulation.	2000 (revised 2008)					
Laws and regulations address	ing residential appliances						
Directive on Eco-Design Requirements for Energy- Related Products [24]	Defines MEPS for energy-related products (refrigerators, freezers, dish washers, washing machines and televisions) and stand-by and off-mode losses of electronic equipment. Related to relevant EU Directive and Regulations.	2010					
Directive on Displaying Standard Product Information and Labelling [25]	Requires energy labels for energy-related products (currently refrigerators, dish washers, washing machines and televisions) also aligned to EU law.	2011					

The *Energy Efficiency Law* implemented in 2007 [15] covers principles and procedures applicable to increasing and promoting energy efficiency and renewable energies in all sectors and sets the framework for further implementation of more specific policies.

For the building sector, this law aims to create an institutional framework for supporting energy efficiency measures, including the establishment of an Energy Efficiency Coordination Board. Trainings, audits, consultancy, monitoring activities, and other support and/or incentives for energy efficiency projects are regulated by this law as well. The main entity assigned responsible for the implementation of the law is the General Directorate of Electrical Power Resources Survey and Development Administration (EIE). The provisions of the Energy Efficiency law which specifically addresses buildings include:

- Appointment of energy managers at commercial and public buildings over specified size and accreditation and support of ESCOs;
- implementation of minimum energy performance standards (MEPS) for buildings;
- establishment of 'Building Energy Performance Certificates'; and
- application of individual heat meters for buildings with central heating systems.

Additional regulations and notifications have been published to implement the law, of which the most important are the Energy Efficiency Regulation and the Buildings Energy Performance Regulation. Both regulations were implemented in 2008 and revised a few years later.

The *Energy Efficiency Regulation* [16, 17] published in October 2008 describes mainly how ESCOs will be established, their training curricula set, and how they will be authorized. This regulation was fundamentally revised three years later after its first publication (October 2011). Although this regulation mainly focuses on the industrial, commercial and public buildings, it is also relevant for the residential sector as it requires labelling systems for energy-related appliances and equipment.

The *Building Energy Performance (BEP)* Regulation [18, 19] was implemented by the Ministry of Public Works and Settlement (MoPWS) in 2008 according to the requirements of the Energy Efficiency Law. It superseded the former Regulation on Heat Insulation in Buildings in 2009 and is designed in accordance with the European Union Energy Performance of Buildings Directive (EPBD). The BEP Regulation's main objectives are:

- defining the calculation methods for the overall energy use of buildings;
- defining the performance criteria and their application principles and classifying the buildings with respect to the primary energy use and CO<sub>2</sub> emissions;
- determining the minimum energy performance (MEPs) requirements of existing buildings that undergo a major renovation;
- requiring new buildings to comply with efficiency class C;
- encouraging use of renewable energy sources (RES); and
- demanding from house owners to conduct periodic inspections of heating and cooling systems.

According to the BEP Regulation all buildings have to have a 'Building Energy Performance Certificate' by 2017, which includes information about the thermal efficiency, emissions, energy performance classification (A, B, C, D, E; F and G), insulation properties, heating and/or cooling systems of the buildings. Since January 2011 owning energy performance certificates has been mandatory for new buildings. The certificates are valid for 10 years [18, 19]. Until the end of February 2013 energy performance certificates have been given to 64,805 existing and new buildings [26]. In the light of this slow progress, the goal of 9 million certified buildings by 2017 seems relatively unrealistic.

Some other features of the BEP are:

- Central heating systems are mandatory for new buildings over 2000 m<sup>2</sup>.
- Buildings with central heating systems have to use central or local heat/temperature control equipment as well as systems enabling the distribution of heating costs on the basis of heat utilization quantities.
- In buildings, single spaces or self-contained houses with gas fuelled space heating, or of a size of 250 m<sup>2</sup> and more the use of condensing gas boilers with integrated economizers is mandatory.

Compared to the EU countries with similar climate conditions the MEPS (i.e. heat transfer/U-Value) defined for new buildings is still lower in Turkey [47].

Another key legal act for building efficiency is the *National Standard of Thermal Insulation Requirements for Buildings TS 825*, which became mandatory in June 2000. Together with BEP, TS 825 provides the backbone for improving energy performance in buildings. It complies with international standards (ISO 9164 and EN 832) and:

- sets the thermal insulation requirement for new and existing buildings where renovation of at least 15% of the total area is carried out;
- defines the rules for the calculation methods of heating energy requirements in buildings

In addition to the mentioned regulations addressing buildings, the Turkish government also published regulations to encourage the use of energy-efficient home appliances.

These regulations mainly follow the standards and requirements set out in the EU Eco-Design Directives on Energy Using Products [27] and its successor on Energy-Related Products [28]. They are specified in the *Regulation on Eco-Design Requirements for Energy-Related Products* published by the Ministry of Science, Industry and Technology (MoSIT) in 2010 [24]. The regulation sets MEPS for refrigerators, freezers, dish washers, washing machines and televisions. It also regulates the stand-by and turned-off energy consumption of electronic home and office appliances. The MEPS require from retail sellers that all products of the above categories sold on the market in Turkey comply with the standards.

Furthermore, in December 2011 the Directive on displaying standard product information and labelling [25] was implemented, which requires energy labels for refrigerators, dishwashers, washing machines and televisions - aligned with EU labelling requirements.

#### The Strategic Energy Efficiency Plan (SEEP) 2010-2023

In 2004 an energy efficiency plan was drafted by the Government that has never been published. The Strategic Energy Efficiency Plan (SEEP) was not published until 2012 [34]. It provides a framework for the development of energy-efficiency policy until 2023 and targets for the improvement of energy efficiency combined with actions necessary to reach these targets. The main target is to reduce the amount of energy consumed per unit of GDP (energy intensity) by at least 20% until 2023 compared to 2011. The SEEP contains a total of seven strategic aims (SA) of which the following address the residential sector in particular.

- SA-2: Decrease energy demand and carbon emissions of buildings and promote sustainable environment-friendly buildings using renewable energy sources.
- SA-3: Achieve market transformation of energy efficient appliances.

SA-2 comprises two main targets.

First, it requires more ambitious efficiency standards for a particular category of existing buildings until 2023 (excluding small buildings, buildings in the scope of the urban transformation plan and rural buildings). To reach this target, the actions defined by the Government are:

- Revision of the current legislation on the energy performance of buildings (BEP) parallel to the EU regulations.
- Limiting the maximum energy demand and maximum CO<sub>2</sub> emissions of buildings.
- Defining the maximum energy demand of buildings according to their functions (hotels, dwellings, schools etc.), to the climate conditions of the region, to their architectural design and to the current mandatory standards considering heating, cooling and lightning.
- Determining the maximum CO<sub>2</sub> emissions for new buildings. Furthermore, in 2017 penalties will be applied to those buildings which exceed the defined CO<sub>2</sub> emission standards.
- Encouraging refurbishment of existing buildings to comply with CO<sub>2</sub> emission standards

Second, it requires that at least one fourth of the building stock from 2010 will be sustainable by 2023, while sustainability is not exactly defined.

SA-3 aims to complete the market transformation of lamps, refrigerators and electrical motors until the end of 2012 and for heating/cooling systems and other energy efficient products parallel to the EU

regulations. To reach this target, MEPS are defined for each product group and controlled via market surveillance.

The General Directorate of Renewable Energy (YEGM) is responsible for realizing defined actions, applying the measures and evaluating the results for the next 11 years. The aims, targets and actions of the SEEP are going to be revised annually according to changes in governmental and EU policies.

Despite the positive intention of the government to improve energy efficiency, some questions regarding the application and time plan of the defined actions still remain open. According to the Chamber of Mechanical Engineers (TMMOB), many actions in the strategy plan are defined without analysing the present situation or without questioning the practicability in a short period such as 11 years in terms of capacity and budget. The time plan can be questioned even more for the building related measures, given the long lifetime of buildings. Taking these critics into account we extend our model-based analysis to the year 2035 to assess a possible long-term impact of the SEEP even after 2023.

## Methodology

#### Structural framework and drivers

The applied bottom-up model for the Turkish residential sector – FORECAST-Residential – is based on a simulation approach. FORECAST-Residential includes a module for 'household appliances, lighting and air conditioning' (*Module 1*), and another module for 'heating systems' (*Module 2*). FORECAST-Residential is set up as a vintage stock model with detailed techno-economic parameters of energy end-uses in the residential sector (Figure 1). *Module 1* covers the appliance categories of white appliances, stoves, ICT appliances, lighting and air conditioning systems. The appliance categories listed contain exclusively electricity-based devices apart from stoves. The technological structure in *Module 1* considers three hierarchical levels of household appliances (e.g. televisions) on the highest level of aggregation, which are further differentiated by technology (e.g. plasma, LCD) and then divided again into efficiency classes (e.g. A++, A+). The *Module 2* for heating systems is based on the existing useful energy demand, which is derived from the Turkish building typology. The building typology is subdivided by construction period, building type and multiple refurbishment levels. The heating systems are discretely assigned to the different building segments.

#### Modelling of technology diffusion

Decision-making in private households is based on the observation that each decision maker selects the option which offers the highest individual benefits or utility from a large number of alternatives [8]. This concept is based on the studies of Thurstone, who examined the influence of psychological stimuli on individual's decision behaviour [9]. Ultimately, this concept was further developed by Marschak, who interpreted the stimuli as individual benefits and then derived the phenomenon of maximizing utility from this [41]. Due to the fact that the decision makers in private households differ with regard to their preferences, lifestyles, available information and other characteristics, individual utility is a complex variable and to a certain extent not quantifiable [42]. However, because satisfying a utility always results from the decision in favour of one alternative, at the macroeconomic level, the sum of all decisions can be described if this is linked to measurable variables. Logit models are used to illustrate this type of decision logic in energy models [7]. The market share of substitution alternatives can be determined from a market perspective using a Logit model by means of observable variables (e.g. investments). Three properties have to be given for a Logit model to be applied [42].

- The substitution alternatives have to mutually exclude one another from the decision maker's perspective.
- All the substitution alternatives have to be included in the decision-making.
- The number of substitution alternatives has to be finite.

In line with the heterogeneous utility function of the decision maker, the Logit approach delivers a distribution of market shares as the result, which takes all the substitution alternatives into account. The main descriptive factor which influences the utility function is the Total Cost of Ownership (TCO): the investment sum plus payments for energy and maintenance [13, 14]. By determining the correlation between TCO and the market shares of competing technologies the price elasticity is



## Figure 1: Structural framework of FORECAST-Residential

explicitly taken into account using the Logit approach [7]. As in a real investment decision only limited knowledge is available about the period of the investment cycle the investment decision is based on a calculation with myopic information [10]. Calculating the TCO is done using a dynamic net present value calculation and subsequently an annuity calculation, which makes it possible to compare different investment alternatives in monetary terms.

The Logit approach aims at quantifying the market shares of rival alternatives (e.g. replacement of heating systems). Furthermore, growth curves are used to determine the total number of investment decisions in each year, if there is no substitution relationship between end-uses. This is the case for all end-uses captured by Module 1. Another function of the growth curves is to consider market dynamic and saturation effects. Growth curves are based on an epidemic interpretation of market growth, which uses the empirical market growth as the basis for projecting the growth curve [8]. These generally S-shaped curves can be described by different explanatory approaches of technology diffusion. Since a large number of analyses has already revealed that word-of-mouth represents the main driver of technology diffusion, an extended version of the Bass function was chosen, which also takes income elasticity into account [11, 12, 46]. The saturation point of equipment penetration rates was derived, among other things, from the disposable income [12, 45]. The Bass function is fitted by a least squares deviation based on empirical stock development and the saturation point. The stock turnover of appliances is calculated by a normal distributed failure probability, which is used to determine the point in time at which the lifetime of an old appliance ends [7]. The probability of building demolition and heating replacement is calculated based on the age distribution using a Weibull distribution [44].

The final energy demand of appliances is calculated according to the average penetration rate (for lighting, this corresponds to the share of lighting points per dwelling), the market share of the technologies and efficiency classes, the specific consumption (based either on the number of operating hours, for example, of televisions, or on the number of cycles per year, for example, of

dishwashers), and the number of dwellings. The final energy demand of heating systems is calculated in two steps: in a first step the useful energy demand is quantified based on the building typology and in a second step it is transformed into the final energy demand by the heating systems.

## Scenario analysis

#### Scenario definition

To analyse the impact of alternative policy strategies on the residential energy demand in Turkey an ex ante scenario analysis is applied. For all scenarios similar assumptions are taken for the socioeconomic parameters such as population, GDP or number of dwellings. As only the techno-economic parameters depend on the scenario specific policy framework, the difference in energy demand between the scenarios equals the impact of the analysed policy packages. The three explorative scenarios are distinguished as follows:

- Reference scenario (REF-S): technological changes are driven by autonomous progress and policies implemented until 2012 are considered (see Table 1). The SEEP is explicitly excluded.
- Strategic Energy Efficiency Plan scenario (SEEP-S): according to the SEEP more ambitious efficiency standards and new regulations regarding energy efficiency are included.
- *High efficiency scenario (HiEff-S)*: based on the SEEP scenario, but assumes more ambitious policies in fields where the SEEP still remains at a lower level of ambition. This scenario shows what is possible beyond the current Turkish strategy.

The policy-related assumptions are discussed in the following and summarized in Table 2 and Table 3.

#### Buildings

*Thermal efficiency of buildings (kWh/m²a):* According to the BEP regulation, the efficiency of new buildings must correspond at least to energy class C. The thermal efficiency of a class depends on the climatic zones, the architectural design and the building type. We used the reference parameters for different climatic zones defined in the BEP to calculate average thermal efficiencies of building envelopes for energy class C for single-family houses (SFH) and multi-family houses (MFH). To receive an average value for the thermal efficiency per building segment, the thermal efficiency per climate zone is weighted by the number of residents living in this zone. The resulting MEPS for single-family and multi-family houses are approximately 269 kWh/m²a and 254 kWh/m²a, respectively. For existing buildings, the REF-S contains no restrictions. In the SEEP-S existing buildings have to comply with efficiency class C, if they are multi-family houses with a floor area above 10.000 m². The HiEff-S is more ambitious and applies thermal efficiency standards for both types of existing buildings.

*Refurbishment rate (%)*: The refurbishment rate only describes the energetic refurbishment of buildings. Empirical data on the refurbishment rate in Turkey is scarce. The REF-S assumes a business as usual refurbishment rate of 0.9%, based on analogous assumptions from other European countries [29]. In the SEEP-S the refurbishment rate starts at 0.9% and then approaches its maximum of 2.08% in 2023 and remains at this level. The increase is derived from the SEEP goal to make at least a quarter of the 2010 building stock sustainable until 2023. In the HiEff scenario the refurbishment rate increases earlier to 2.08% and then remains at this level.

*Demolition rate (%):* The demolition rate gives the share of the building stock demolished each year. The Urban Transformation Plan [30] requires that a number of 6.5 million buildings are demolished until 2030. The resulting demolition rate equals 1.71% and is assumed constant for all scenarios. The related construction rate is calculated endogenously based on the exogenously given number of dwellings per year or building stock, respectively.

Other parameters like the *interest rate* [32], *investment subsidies* [33] and the *compliance rate* [29], which are not mentioned in the policy measures of Turkey, are quantified related to other studies for each scenario.

Category	Parameter	Unit	REF-S	SEEP-S	HiEff-S			
	Control and Regulatory mechanisms							
Buildings	Thermal efficiency (existing buildings)	kWh/m²a	No restrictions	Minimum efficiency class C (MFH: 254 kWh/m²a)	Minimum efficiency class A (SFH: 107 kWh/m²a, MFH: 101 kWh/m²a)			
	Thermal efficiency (new buildings)	kWh/m²a	Minimum efficiency class C (SFH: 269 kWh/m²a, MFH: 254 kWh/m²a)	Minimum efficiency class A (SFH: 107 kWh/m²a, MFH:101 kWh/m²a)	Minimum efficiency of 30–80 kWh/m²a for SFH and MFH			
	Refurbishment rate	%	Constant at 0.9%	0.9 % until 2012, increase to 2.08 % until 2023 and remains constant	0.9 % until 2012, instantaneous increase to 2.08 % in 2013 and remains constant			
	Compliance rate	%	Increases from 60 to 70 % until 2030	Increases from 60 to 85 % until 2030	Increases from 60 to 90 % until 2030			
	Demolition rate	molition rate % Constant over time (1.71 %)						
	Financial instruments and incentives							
	Interest Rate	%	7%	7%	3%			
	Investment Subsidies	%	No subsidies provided	No subsidies provided	15% of investment			

#### Table 2: Relation of model parameters and scenarios – buildings

#### **Heating systems**

*Diffusion restrictions for heating technologies:* According to the BEP regulation, existing buildings with a floor area of 250 m<sup>2</sup> and more must use a condensing boiler with integrated economizer [19]. We calculate the affected building stock based on the floor area distribution as given in the building census from 2000 [31] resulting in a share of 4.78% for the existing buildings. For new buildings of 2000 m<sup>2</sup> and more the BEP regulation requires central heating systems. We assume that 2000 m<sup>2</sup> correspond to multi-family houses with 8 or more dwellings. In 2010 this building class made up 62.5% of all multi-family houses that received a construction permit in that year [35]. We assume the share to remain constant over time. Both requirements are assumed to be similar for all scenarios.

Other parameters like *interest rate* and *investment subsidies*, which are not part of the current policy mix in Turkey, are assumed for the HiEff-S to arrive at a similar level as in Germany. Accordingly, the HiEff-S foresees a lower interest rate and an investment subsidy of about 16.4 percent for heat pump systems [32].

#### Appliances

*MEPS*: In the REF-S MEPS are defined for seven residential appliances (refrigerators, freezers, dish washers, washing machines, dryers, air-conditioners and televisions). In the SEEP-S MEPS are additionally set for lamps and the standards for the other products are updated according to EU Eco-Design law. For the HiEff-S we assume that MEPS are not set according to least lifecycle cost, but instead based on the best available technology (BAT).

Other parameters like *interest rate* and *investment subsidies*, which are not part of the current policy mix in Turkey, are assumed for the HiEff to arrive at a similar level as in Germany.

Category	Parameter	Unit	REF-S	SEEP-S	HiEff-S			
		Co	ontrol and Regulatory	mechanisms				
	Diffusion restriction (Existing Buildings)	%	4.78% of existing bui heaters	4.78% of existing building stock must use condensing type of heaters				
systems	Diffusion restriction (New buildings)	%	62.5% of new buildin system	62.5% of new buildings after 2009 must have central heating system				
ing s		Fir	nancial instruments a	ind incentives				
Heati	Interest Rate	%	7%	7%	3%			
	Investment Subsidies	%	No subsidies provided	No subsidies provided	16.4 % of investment for heat pump systems in existing and new buildings			
	Control and Regulatory mechanisms							
S	MEPS	%	MEPS for refrigerators, freezers, dish washers, washing machines, dryers, air-conditioners and televisions	Additional MEPS for lamps and more ambitious MEPS for other appliances	Standards more ambitious than SEEP scenario based on BAT			
liano	Financial Instruments and Incentives							
Appl	Interest Rate	%	7%	7%	7%			
	Investment Subsidies	%	No subsidies provided	No subsidies provided	20% of investment for high-efficient appliances combined with duty to return the old appliances			

#### Table 3: Relation of model parameters and scenarios – heating systems and appliances

#### Socio-economic and techno-economic parameters

The socio-economic parameters including the population, number of households, gross domestic product (GDP), and energy carrier prices are similar across the three scenarios (see Table 4) [1, 3, 36, 52, own calculation]. Turkey's population will continue to rise in the future and is estimated to reach 86.7 million in 2030. The demand for new houses will also increase, resulting from the rising population. Energy carrier prices for households are expected to increase as well.

	Unit	2008	2010	2015	2020	2025	2030	
Socio-economic parameters								
Population	Million	70.9	72.8	77.0	80.8	83.9	86.7	
Pers. per household	Pers./HH	4.01	3.95	3.79	3.66	3.53	3.42	
Number of households	Million	17.7	18.4	20.3	22.1	23.8	25.3	
GDP	Billion Euro '05	798	726	857	987	1117	1247	
Energy carrier prices								
Electricity	Cent / kWh '10	12.2	12.7	12.7	14.3	15.6	16.3	
Light fuel oil	Cent / kWh '10	13.3	12.3	12.0	12.5	13.6	13.9	
Coal / lignite	Cent / kWh '10	3.66	4.19	4.56	4.47	4.61	4.70	
Natural gas	Cent / kWh '10	4.67	4.38	4.81	4.74	5.00	5.24	
Biomass	Cent / kWh '10	3.63	4.69	5.42	5.25	5.53	5.70	
District heating	Cent / kWh '10	7.62	7.63	9.80	9.50	10.7	11.8	

## Table 4: Summary of socio-economic model parameters and energy carrier prices in the period 2008-2030

Assumptions on technological parameters (e.g. operation hours and operation power, lifetime) are based on various market and technology studies, particularly for large appliances, ICT-appliances, air-conditioning as well as lighting [37, 38, 39, 40]. The stock of residential appliances in 2008 is represented by multiplying the ownership rate with the amount of households. The ownership rate and the specific energy consumption (SEC) of appliances in 2008 are listed in Table 5.

Regarding the prospective development of technological parameters until 2030, the ownership rate is developing identically in all scenarios, whereas the SEC of appliances depends on the scenario. For many appliances (except for freezers, wash machines, dishwashers and dryers) the ownership rate has almost reached the level of saturation. The ownership rate of ICT appliances will increase significantly during the next decades. For ICT appliances the saturation level of ownership is derived from the amount of people living in a household whereas for large appliances the saturation rate is linked to the overall household. Due to an increasing demand of individual comfort the market share of air conditioners will continue to grow in the future.

Appliance group	Appliance	Ownership rate	SEC [kWh/year]
		[number/nousenoid]	
Large appliances	Refrigerator [37]	1.01	233
	Freezer [37]	0.06	373
	Dryer [37]	0.05	271
	Dishwasher [37]	0.36	194
	Washing machine [37]	0.87	174
ICT appliances	Desktop Computer [1]	0.27	154
	PC screen [1]	0.27	90
	Laptop [1]	0.11	73
	Television [39, 48, 49]	1.04	243
	Set-Top Box [39, 48, 49]	0.35	76
	Modem/Router [1]	0.23	88
Lighting	Lighting [51]	1.00	438
Air-Conditioner	Air Conditioner [40, 50]	0.11	633

Table 5: Ownership rate and specific energy consumption (SEC) of appliances in 2008

## Results

The results for the future development of energy demand are shown in Figure 2. All scenarios show a decreasing demand starting from the level of 944 PJ in 2008. In the REF-S final energy demand decreases to about 851 PJ by 2030, while the SEEP-S adds additional savings of about 13% and arrives at about 736 PJ in 2030. The more ambitious HiEff-S results in 659 PJ in 2030 equal additional savings of about 10%.

In the SEEP scenario, the share of electricity and solar thermal energy increases continuously until 2030. Electricity demand increases from 143 PJ to 190 PJ (33 %) by 2030 and solar thermal energy reaches about 0.3 PJ in 2030, starting from nearly zero. On the other hand, conventional fuels

decrease over time. The demand for oil diminishes from 63 PJ to 22 PJ (-65 %), coal and lignite decrease from 248 PJ to 152 PJ (-39 %) and natural gas from 272 PJ to 224 (-18 %). Also the energy demand for (mostly traditional) biomass decreases constantly (-38%), losing its position as the third most important energy carrier. It is substituted by electricity, district heating, and solar thermal heating. Thus, conventional fuels lose their share and decrease in absolute numbers, while the share of renewable energy sources (RES) and electricity increases. In the HiEff-S, the trends by energy carrier are similar, but even more pronounced.



Figure 2: Final energy demand by energy carrier and by scenario for the period 2008-2030

As discussed above, demand for energy sources mainly used for space heating decreases in all scenarios. This development marks a structural break with the increasing demand in the past and is mainly due to a falling useful energy demand for space heating in buildings. Two main factors can be identified that drive space heating demand down: the (very ambitious) urban transformation plan resulting in very high demolition rates and a quick stock turnover as well as the low efficiency level of the existing building stock. In combination with the assumption of a relatively high compliance rate, space heating demand decreases significantly – even in the REF-S (see Figure 3).



Figure 3: Useful energy demand for space heating by construction period and building type for the period 2008-2030

The SEEP-S assumes more ambitious MEPS for buildings and a high refurbishment rate resulting in additional useful energy savings of about 10% until 2030. The development of space heating demand
by building type in Figure 3 reflects the high refurbishment rate and stock turnover, as the existing building categories are mostly refurbished or replaced by 2030. As a result, new buildings account for about one half of the space heating demand in 2030. While the SEEP-S is already relatively ambitious, the HiEff-S achieves an even faster efficiency improvements induced by a higher refurbishment rate and more ambitious standards.

Figure 4 shows the results for heating energy demand until 2030, which in total follows the shape of the useful energy demand for space heating. In the SEEP-S, the distribution among energy carriers changes only slowly. Natural gas and district heating increase continuously, at the cost of coal, oil and biomass. Also the use of heat pumps and solar thermal energy grows substantially, but remains on a very low level. Generally, the substitution among energy carriers is relatively low because no policy measure particularly addresses individual heating systems. This is different in the HiEff-S where a subsidy is provided for the installation of heat pump systems. But even in this case, only marginal changes are induced and the sensitivity analysis reveals that subsidies for heat pumps must be substantially higher to have any effect on heating system shares.



### Figure 4: Final energy demand of heating systems by system type and by scenario for the period 2008-2030

Figure 5 shows the electricity consumption of large appliances, lighting and other appliances under different scenarios. In the REF-S, the electricity consumption of large appliances increases from 10 TWh in 2008 to 12 TWh in 2030. Also in the SEEP-S, electricity demand increases continuously, but is 15% lower in 2030 than in the REF-S, mainly due to more ambitious MEPS. The HiEff-S reveals further saving potentials of about 19% by 2030 compared to the SEEP-S resulting from more ambitious MEPS set at BAT level.

Electricity consumption of lighting increases in the REF-S from 8 TWh to 9 TWh in 2030, whereas in the SEEP-S it decreases to 4 TWh in 2030, resulting in savings of 54% compared to REF-S. These high savings mainly result from the fact that the REF-S does not contain MEPS for lighting, which are introduced in the SEEP scenario in line with EU legislation. In the HiEff-S, consumption decreases even more to 2 TWh (-75% compared to REF-S), reflecting MEPS based on BAT which results in a fast diffusion of LED technology.

A third groups comprises the remaining appliances including IT, air-conditioning but also a high number of small appliances not individually modelled as well as potential new appliances arising in the future. These groups of appliances generally show a growing trend, which also is reflected in the scenarios, as even in the HiEff-S demand increases substantially until 2030. The policies defined in the SEEP only induce a small mitigation of about 8% compared to REF-S, resulting in a growth of 68% compared to 2008. This increase indicates the importance to regulate this heterogeneous group of appliances as well as the difficulty to do so.



Figure 5: Electricity demand of large appliances, lighting and others electricity user by scenario for the period 2008-2030

Figure 6 shows the share of individual efficiency classes and its evolution in the stock of dryers for the SEEP-S. It shows that MEPS introduced in the SEEP result in a complete phase-out of class E and D appliances by 2020 and class C appliances by 2025. On the other hand, in the long term even new efficiency classes (A+++ and beyond) emerge and gain substantial shares in the stock of dryers.





### **Conclusion and Outlook**

We applied an explorative scenario analysis to assess the ex-ante impact of the current and future energy-efficiency policies in Turkey on the final energy demand of the residential sector until 2030. The three scenarios use the same socio-economic framework data, but differ regarding technoeconomic data depending on the policy design. The reference scenario (REF-S) represents the basis for impact calculation and considers the current policy-mix. The second scenario SEEP-S is based on the policy measures of the strategic energy efficiency plan (SEEP), which was published in 2012 by the Turkish Government and provides the framework for an energy-efficiency strategy until 2023. The third scenario (HiEff-S) assumes even more ambitious efficiency standards (such as BAT assumption for MEPS) and aims to identify potentials for efficiency improvement beyond the SEEP.

The results show that the final energy demand decreases in all scenarios from about 944 PJ in 2008 to 851 PJ (REF-S), 736 PJ (SEEP-S) and 659 PJ (HiEff-S) in 2030. The decreasing demand even in the REF-S reflects a structural break with the past and is mainly coming from the building sector

driven by a very high demolition rate (due to the urban transformation plan) and a very low level of efficiency in the existing building stock. In the SEEP-S, most existing buildings will be either refurbished or demolished by 2030 indicating the high level of ambition behind these assumptions.

Electricity not only gains in its share but also increases in terms of total demand in all scenarios - driven by ownership growth of various electric appliances. The SEEP-S achieves 10 TWh of savings in 2030 compared to the REF-S, mainly originating in more ambitious appliance and lighting standards.

Thus, regarding the policy mix we can conclude that the SEEP achieves considerable energy savings, but also significant saving potentials still remain. 6.5 million buildings will be demolished until 2030 through the Urban Transformation Plan, and new buildings have to comply with thermal efficiency standards. This window of opportunity is, however, not addressed by the current building efficiency standards that on average require a minimum thermal efficiency of around 254 kWh/m<sup>2\*</sup>a for single family houses. The SEEP is not very specific with regard to the thermal efficiency required, besides demanding higher standards from future building regulations. A central conclusion from our analysis is to apply more ambitious standards for buildings in this framework and make use of the current window of opportunity. The results of the SEEP scenario, however, have to be interpreted with caution, as the SEEP is still rather vague in many aspects (e.g. sustainability of buildings is not exactly defined) and open to interpretation in order to translate it into model parameters.

The analysis also contains elements of uncertainty. The outline of the scenarios follows very closely the policy requirements as described in the various legislative documents including a high rate of building demolition and refurbishment and an assumed compliance rate on a similar level as observed in EU countries. Thus, the scenarios assume a strong enforcement which might not be the case in the coming years. Still, the comparison of the scenarios shows the order of magnitude of the SEEP's impact and the fields where it has the strongest effect (building standards, refurbishment rate, lighting standards).

From the methodological point of view, it is worth mentioning that our analysis is the most detailed bottom-up assessment of the Turkish residential sector – at least to the knowledge of the authors. Most other studies rely on top-down approaches, which have the disadvantage that they are not able to model policies that address particular technology parameters like the thermal efficiency of buildings. One disadvantage, however, of the bottom-up approach is the high need for very detailed data. While we were generally able to fill all required model input parameters with sufficiently reliable data, room for improvement certainly remains. Sometimes even data sources differ from one another as it is the case with the number of households.

### References

- [1] Turkish Statistical Institute (TUIK): Statistics, <u>http://www.tuik.gov.tr/</u>, accessed on 10.11.2012.
- [2] Republic of Turkey Prime Ministry Undersecretariat of Treasury: Statistics, <u>http://www.treasury.gov.tr</u>, accessed on 12.11.2012.
- [3] World Bank: GDP Statistics; <u>http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.MKTP.CD</u>, accessed on 12.11.2012.
- [4] Republic of Turkey Ministry of Energy and Natural Resources: Statistics, <u>http://www.enerji.gov.tr/index.php?dil=tr&sf=webpages&b=y\_istatistik&bn=244&hn=244&id=39</u> <u>8</u>, accessed on 12.11.2012.
- [5] Elsland R., Schlomann, B., Eichhammer, W.: Is enough electricity being saved? Impact of energy efficiency policies addressing electrical household appliances in Germany until 2030, in: Conference Proceedings, Summer study on energy efficiency (ECEEE 2013), Hyères, 2013.
- [6] Elsland R.; Boßmann, T.; Wietschel, M.: Analysis of the European residential building stock until 2050 - Contribution of an energy-efficient building envelope to reduce space heating demand, in: 1st KIC Inno-Energy Science Conference, Irish College, KU Leuven, Leuven, 2012.
- [7] Tutz G.: Regression for Categorial Data, Cambridge University Press, New York, 2012.

- [8] Decanio S. J., Laitner J. A.: Modeling Technological Change in Energy Demand Forecasting A Generalized Approach, in: Technological Forecasting and Social Change, Vol. 55, pp. 249-263, 1997.
- [9] Thurstone L.L.: A law of comparative judgement, in: Psychological Review 34, pp. 273-288, 1927.
- [10] Keppo I., Strubegger M.: Short term decisions for long term problems The effect of foresight on model based energy systems analysis, in: Energy 35, pp. 2033-2042, 2010.
- [11] Bass F.: A New Product Growth for Model Consumer Durables, in: Management Science, Vol. 15, pp. 215-227, 1969.
- [12] Horsky D.: A diffusion model for incorporating product benefits, price, income and information, in: Marketing Science 9, pp. 342–364, Rochester, 1990.
- [13] DIN (Deutsches Institut f
  ür Normung): DIN V 4108-6 W
  ärmeschutz und Energie-Einsparung in Geb
  äuden, Teil 6: Berechnung des Jahresheizw
  ärme- und des Jahresheizenergiebedarfs, Berlin, 2003.
- [14] DIN (Deutsches Institut für Normung): DIN V 4701-10 Energetische Bewertung heiz- und raumlufttechnischer Anlagen, Teil 10: Heizung, Trinkwassererwärmung, Lüftung, Berlin, 2003.
- [15] Energy Efficiency Law 5627 of 18.04.2007, Official Journal 26510, 02.05.2007, http://mevzuat.dpt.gov.tr/kanun/5627.htm, accessed on 21.03.2013.
- [16] Energy Efficiency Regulation of 25.10.2008, Official Journal 27035, http://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2008/10/20081025-4.htm, accessed on 21.03.2013.
- [17] Energy Efficiency Regulation of 27.11.2011, Official Journal 28097, http://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2011/10/20111027-5.htm, accessed on 21.03.2013.
- [18] Building Energy Performance Regulation of 05.12.2008, Official Journal 27075, http://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2008/12/20081205-9.htm, accessed on 21.03.2013.
- [19] Building Energy Performance Regulation of 07.12.2010, Official Journal 27778, http://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2010/12/20101207M1-1.htm, accessed on 21.03.2013.
- [20] Regulation on Heat Insulation in Buildings of 08.05.2000, Official Journal 24043, can be downloaded at: <u>http://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/main.aspx?home=http://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/arsiv/24043.pdf</u> <u>&main=http://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/arsiv/24043.pdf</u>
- [21] Regulation on Heat Insulation in Buildings of 09.10.2008, Official Journal 27019, http://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2008/10/20081009-2.htm, accessed on 21.03.2013.
- [22] National Standard of Thermal Insulation Requirements for Buildings (TS 825) of 26.08.2008, Official Journal 26979, <u>http://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2008/08/20080826-7.htm</u>, accessed on 21.03.2013.
- [23] Deloitte: Turkiye Elektrik Enerjisi Piyasasi 2010-2011 (Turkey Electricity Market 2010-2011), <u>http://www.deloitte.com/assets/Dcom-Turkey/Local%20Assets/Documents/turkey-</u> tr er ElektrikEPiyasasi2010 090710.pdf, accessed on 25.06.2013.
- [24] Framework directive on environment friendly design of energy related products of 07.11.2010, Official Journal 27722, <u>http://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2010/10/20101007-7.htm</u>, accessed on 21.03.2013.
- [25] Directive on displaying standard product information and labeling energy and other resource consumption of energy related products of 02.12.2011, Official Journal 28130, http://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2011/12/20111202-6.htm, accessed on 21.03.2013.

- [26] Building Energy Performance TR (BEP-TR) Website: Total Energy Certification Number, http://88.255.60.11:7070/, accessed on 28.02. 2013.
- [27] Directive 2005/32/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 6 July 2005 establishing a framework for the setting of eco-design requirements for energy-using products and amending Council Directive 92/42/EEC and Directives 96/57/EC and 2000/55/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council. OJL191, p. 29–58, 2005.
- [28] Directive 2009/125/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 21 October 2009 establishing a framework for the setting of eco-design requirements for energy-related products (recast). OJ L285, 2009.
- [29] Fraunhofer-Institute for Systems and Innovation Research (ISI): Study on the Energy Savings Potentials in EU Member States, Candidate Countries and EEA Countries for the European Commission Directorate-General Energy and Transport, Karlsruhe, 2009.
- [30] Ministry of Environment and Urban Planning: Statistics, https://www.csb.gov.tr/turkce/index.php?Sayfa=kentseldonusum#, accessed on 12.02.2013.
- [31] Turkish Statistical Institute (TUIK): Building Census 2000, can be downloaded at: http://www.turkstat.gov.tr/Kitap.do?metod=KitapDetay&KT\_ID=9&KITAP\_ID=64
- [32] Michelsen C.C., Madlener R.: Homeowners' preferences for adopting innovative residential heating systems: A discrete choice analysis for Germany, Energy Economics 34, pp.1271– 1283, 2012.
- [33] Ministerium für Umwelt, Klima und Energiewirtschaft Baden Württemberg: Förderprogramme im Energiebereich für Wohngebäude in Baden-Württemberg, Stuttgart, 2012.
- [34] Strategic Energy Efficiency Plan of Turkey of 25.02.2012, Official Journal 28215, http://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2012/02/20120225-7.htm, accessed on 01.03.2013.
- [35] Turkish Statistical Institute (TUIK): Statistical Yearbook 2011, can be downloaded at http://www.turkstat.gov.tr/Kitap.do?metod=KitapDetay&KT\_ID=0&KITAP\_ID=1
- [36] EUROSTAT (2013): European Commission: Statistics. Available online at <u>http://epp.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/portal/page/portal/eurostat/home/</u>, accessed on 01.03.2013.
- [37] TURKBESD: White Goods Manufacturers' Association of Turkey: Communication with Rifat Oztaskin from TURKBESD via email
- [38] Cengel Y.: Market transformation of inefficient refrigerators, pp.4, 2009.
- [39] Istanbul Ticaret Odasi (Istanbul Chamber of Commerce), Cakir: Televizyon Sektör raporu (Television sector report), pp.11, 2004.
- [40] Air Conditioning and Refrigeration Manufacturers' Association (ISKID): ISKID statistics, http://www.iskid.org.tr/, accessed on 21.03.2013.
- [41] Marschak J.: Binary choice constraints on random utility indications, in: Arrow, K.(Ed.), Stanford Symposium on Mathematical Methods in these Social Sciences. Stanford University Press, Stanford, pp. 312–329, 1960.
- [42] Train K.E.: Discrete Choice Methods with Simulation. Cambridge University Press, 2003.
- [43] Publishing, W.: The Oil & Gas Year Turkey 2010: Wildcat Publishing, 2010.
- [44] Weibull W.: A statistical distribution function of wide applicability." J. Appl. Mech.-Trans. ASME 18(3), pp. 293-297, 1951.
- [45] Letschert V. E.; McNeil, M., A.: Material world: forecasting household appliance ownership in a growing global economy, in: ECEEE proceedings 2009, Berkeley, 2009.

- [46] Rao K.U.; Kishore, V.V.N.: A review of technology diffusion models with special reference to renewable energy technologies, in: Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, Vol. 14, 1070-1078, New Delhi, 2010.
- [47] Union of Chambers of Turkish Engineers and Architects (TMMOB): Dunya'da ve Turkiye'de enerji verimliligi oda raporu (Energy efficiency in Turkey and in the world), http://www.mmo.org.tr/yayinlar/kitap\_goster.php?kodu=356, accessed on 04.12.2012.
- [48] Turkish Electronic Manufacturers Association (TESID): Statistics, http://www.tesid.org.tr/tsd/default.asp, accessed on 11.06.2013.
- [49] Turkish Statistical Institute (TUIK): Statistical Indicators 1923-2011. www.tuik.gov.tr/IcerikGetir.do?istab\_id=158, accessed on 11.06.2013.
- [50] Taylan, T.: HVAC-R industry in Turkey, <u>http://goo.gl/d8cdK</u>, accessed on 01.06.2013.
- [51] Utlu Z. and Hepbasli, A.: A study on the evaluation of energy utilization efficiency in the Turkish residential-commercial sector using energy and exergy analyses. *Energy and Buildings*, 35, pp. 1145-1153, 2003.
- [52] IEA: Energy prices and taxes Quarterly statistics, Paris, 2012.

### Nigerian Energy Efficiency Standards and Labels Initiative: Progress So Far and Lessons Learnt

### Etiosa Uyigue, Jason Yapp, Benoit Lebot and Muyiwa Odele

### **United Nations Development Programme**

### Abstract

With support from the Global Environment Facility (GEF), the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) in collaboration with relevant government agencies has commenced the implementation of a project in Nigeria. The overall objective of the Project is to improve the energy efficiency of selected end-use appliances used in residential and public sector in Nigeria through the introduction of appropriate energy efficiency policies such as standards and labels (S&L) and demand-side management programs. Such interventions will help to reduce Nigeria's energy-related CO<sub>2</sub> emissions by reducing the demand for energy (electricity). An understanding of the national level of efficiency of targeted appliances is imperative to establish the baseline for Minimum Energy Performance Standard (MEPS) in any country. This initiated the end-use monitoring study across the six geopolitical zones of Nigeria to assess the current level of energy efficiency of selected appliances (lighting, refrigerators and air conditioners). A total of 200 households were monitored during the study. The household volunteers were selected at random and based on income status. Data logger devices such as serial wattmeter, wattmeter with ammeter pliers, lamp meters and temperature sensors were used to collect energy related data over a period of one month (30 days) from each household. This paper will present the preliminary report of the study in Abuja while comparing data with other countries where similar studies were done. The paper will also enumerate the challenges and lessons learnt in the process of introducing standards and label to transform the appliance market in Nigerian.

### Introduction

With a population of well over 160 million people, only about 40% of Nigerians have access to electricity. In places where there is access to electricity (mainly in the urban areas), consumers of electricity suffer from frequent power outages that last for several hours. The survey conducted in three large cities in Nigeria – Abuja, Lagos and Benin City revealed that over 80% of those interviewed do not get electricity supply for up to 24 hours a day (CREDC, 2009).



Fig. 1: The numbers of hour respondents get electricity per day

It was reported in 2012 that Nigeria reached grid generating capacity of about 4,477.7 MW of electricity (Daily Times, August 15<sup>th</sup>, 2012); this capacity however fluctuates for reasons such as shortage of gas supply, lack of maintenance, technical hitches etc. Apparently, this is grossly inadequate for the Nigerian population, which is about 25% of the population of sub-Sahara Africa. The unstable and inadequate power supply have forced a large portion of the industry, businesses and households to rely on diesel and petrol generators as primary or back-up source of electricity. This is expensive and a source of noise and air pollutions. More also, a large part of the energy generated is wasted due to the wasteful behaviour and the use of energy intensive technologies.

Energy consumption contributes to about 25% to 30% of energy-related  $CO_2$  emission, accounting for 26% of all anthropogenic  $CO_2$  emission and 14% of global net contribution to climate change from greenhouse gases (Wiel, 1998). Energy efficiency programmes/projects are ways that have been identified to reduce the impacts of energy generation on the fragile environment and at the same time increase access to electricity. Moreover, energy efficiency will play a pivotal role in the mitigation of climate change as asserted in the Fourth Assessment Report (AR4) of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). Energy efficiency measures have the potential to promote economic development and can lead to job creation and create opportunities for savings of personal income. The efficient use of energy will help to reduce family energy bill. It will avoid the need to build more power stations, thus the money saved could be spent on other sectors of the economy and the energy saved will make it possible for more people will have access to energy.

It is against this background that the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) with support from the Global Environment Facility (GEF) and in Collaboration with the Federal Ministry of Environment (FME), the Energy Commission of Nigeria (ECN), and the National Centre for Energy Efficiency and Conservation (NCEEC) commenced the implementation of a project to promote energy efficiency best practices in Nigeria. The overall objective of the Project is to improve the energy efficiency of selected end-use appliances used in residential and public sector in Nigeria (refrigeration appliances, air conditioners, lighting, electric motors, etc.) through the introduction of appropriate energy efficiency policies and measures, such as standards and labels (S&L) and demand-side management programs. The project is to reduce Nigeria's energy-related CO<sub>2</sub> emissions by reducing the demand for energy (electricity) in the country's residential and public sectors through the introduction of energy labels and minimum energy performance standards (MEPS) for new equipment and appliances (UNDP GEF, 2011).

The on-going UNDP GEF project will assist the Nigerian government to set MEPS for selected appliances. MEPS are useless if there are no mechanism and facilities to enforce them. Consequently, the Project will assist the Nigerian government in the area of enforcement of energy efficiency policies and laws by helping to set up testing centres in Nigeria to test the energy efficiency of appliances. The project is also designed to create awareness to change behaviour and build the capacity of relevant stakeholders in the country to promote energy efficiency. The objective of this paper is to share the progress made so far as well as share the success stories and lesson learnt. The paper will give the preliminary report of the end-use energy monitoring study which was conducted in the six geopolitical zones of Nigeria. The study is on-going, thus the paper will present the report of the study that was conducted in the Federal Capital Territory, Abuja to represent the North-Central Geopolitical Zone of Nigeria. The data collected will be compared with data collected in other part of the world where similar study has been carried out.

### Methodology for the Study

The locations for metering study were assigned to six geopolitical zones of Nigeria– from Abuja (North Central), Sokoto (North West), Bauchi (North East), Benin City (South South), Nsukka (South East) and Lagos (South West)- (see figure 2 below). As part of the study, a total of 200 households were monitored and surveyed, an average of 35 households from each of the six geopolitical zones of Nigeria. Another 20 households will be monitored continuously for 12 months to study seasonality impact. The criteria for choosing households included the size of the family and the socio-economic status such as the income level. A total of 35 households were monitored during the study in Abuja. The data logger devices were used to collect data for a period of one month (30 days) from each household. The baseline data of each household were recorded that included name, address, annual income, family size, age and type of appliances, size (volume capacity), energy rating on the nameplate (where exist) and brand/made.



Figure 2: Map of Nigeria showing the six geopolical zones

The study team collected data using different electronic data logger devices. Data logger devices are portable devices used to directly measure electric consumption of different appliances. Three different data loggers were used for monitoring during the study. They included a *serial wattmeter*, which was designed to measure the active energy and voltage for single-phase appliances with power level lower than 2.6 kW. The device was placed in serial between the standard socket-outlet (designed to accommodate voltage from 0-250 V) and the plug of the appliance to be measured. The *serial wattmeter* can be left in place several months according to the frequency of the selected data memory - memory can record data for up to 13 months. At the end of the measurement period, the data recorded were uploaded to a computer for analysis using the Oscar software. The Serial Wattmeter was used to collect data from refrigerators and lighting equipment that are plugged to wall sockets.

The other equipment used was the Multivoies (multichannel) meter device, that is designed for the measurement of a large number of channels of power consumption and energies from electrical switch boxes. It includes a Din rail mounted concentrator to measure voltages and supplied power to the system, and several modules equipped with current sensors. The memory of the Multivoies can collect data for up to 4 months. If recording is required for more than 4 months, the device can be reset to collect more data. The Multivoies system can interface with Personal Data Assistant (PDA) using infrared communication or low power radio (Bluetooth). The Multivoies meter helped to collect the total consumption from the household, energy consumption from air conditioners and lighting equipment that are not connected to wall socket.

The third equipment was the electronic thermometers, that were installed in all the houses monitored to provide information on the temperature changes during the time of measurement. The thermometer is an autonomous electronic data logger of reduced size provided with temperature sensor. It takes regularly measurements and stores at selected time steps the average of several measurements (2)

minutes interval between each measurement). The thermometer has a very broad range of measurements (-50°C to 120°C). The data are stored in a non volatile memory of strong capacity (64Ko) allowing a recording going up to 65,000 measurements (1 byte per data, for an autonomy of approximately 1 year and 3 months for recordings with the step of 10 minutes).

### **Result of Study**

Only preliminary results are presented here to illustrate the types of data that could be collected and presented. Out of the 35 households monitored during the study in Abuja, 18 of them had air conditioners installed in them. From Fig. 3 below, the highest energy consuming air conditioner was recorded as 3,307 kwh/annum while the lowest was approximately 92 Kwh/annum to give an average of 1387 kWh/annum.



Fig 3: Annual consumption of air conditioners monitored in Abuja

Many of the houses monitored had one or more of the following appliances – fridge-Freezer (having both a fridge and freezer compartment), Fridge (only fridge compartment) and freezer (having only freezer compartment). A total of 13 households had fridge-freezer cooling systems. The average annual consumption for fridge-freezer was recorded as 698 kWh/annum; the highest consumption was recorded as 1230 kWh/annum while the lowest was 427 kWh/annum.



Fig. 4: Annual consumption of fridge-freezer monitored in Abuja

Freezers (popularly called deep freezers) were found in 16 households out of the 35 households monitored. The average annual consumption for freezers was 756 kWh/annum, the highest consumption was approximately 1318 kWh/annum, while the lowest was 212.50 kWh/annum.



Fig. 5: Annual consumption of freezers monitored in Abuja

Sixteen (16) fridges were monitored during the study and the average annual consumption for was 420 kWh/annum; the highest reading was 941 kWh/annum and the lowest was 125 kWh/annum.



Fig 6: Annual consumption of fridges monitor in Abuja, Nigeria

### **Challenges and Lessons Learnt**

The study in the Nigerian Federal Capital Territory revealed that the energy consumption of appliances is still very high compared to countries where effective energy efficiency measures had been put in place. Similar studies have been carried out in France (2007), Sweden (2007) and England (2011). Compared to these countries in, the average annual consumption of fridges, fridge-freezers and freezers in Nigeria is the highest. The lowest records were for these appliances were in England in 2011.

	Table	e 1: A	Average	annual	consumpt	tion for	Nigeria	and	European	countries	S
--	-------	--------	---------	--------	----------	----------	---------	-----	----------	-----------	---

	Annual consumption per equipment (kWh/an)				
	Fridge	Fridge Fridge-freezer Freezer			
FRANCE 2007	253	460	556		
<b>SWEDEN 2007</b>	225	469	470		
ENGLAND 2011	162	427	344		
NIGERIA 2012	420	698	756		

Table 1 above also revealed that the average annual consumption for cooling appliances in European countries decreases with time. From the study conducted in France in 2007, the average annual consumption of fridge, fridge-freezer and freezer were 253, 460 and 556 kWh/annum respectively. The study conducted in England in 2011 (about four years after the study in France) reveal a considerable fall in the annual energy consumption of domestic cold appliances. This may be as a result of several energy efficiency measures such as standard and label which have been introduced in many European countries. From the study in France (2007) and the study in England (2011), there was 36%, 7% and 38% decrease in average annual consumption for fridges, fridge-freezer and freezer respectively.

These preliminary study in Abuja (2012) compared to the study in England (2011) revealed that the average annual consumption recorded in the current study are significantly higher than that recorded in England (2011). For instance, the study revealed that the average annual energy consumption for fridge, fridge-freezer and freezer for Nigeria was 61%, 39% and 54% respectively higher compared to the study in England. This call for the need to embark on energy efficiency programmes in Nigeria. This further justifies the objective of the on-going UNDP GEF Nigeria Energy Efficiency Programme, on the need to introduce measures to promote energy efficiency in end-use appliances.

The on-going UNDP GEF project is positioned to transform the Nigerian market and lay the foundation for developing an energy efficient culture in Nigeria. To develop and implement an effective and efficiency standard and labelling programme will require collaboration between different agencies of government and stakeholders. For instance, the Standard Organization of Nigeria has the mandate within the national law to develop and enforce standards. The enforcement of appliance standards will not be possible without the involvement of the Nigerian Custom Services, having the mandate to protect the Nigerian border from substandard and unaccredited goods.

One of the challenges encountered so far in developing the S& L initiative in Nigeria was bringing all actors to the 'table' to pursue one course. To address this, the project implementation has adopted the bottom-top approach where the project activities were driven by stakeholders who will be directly affected by the policy. Through adequate consultation and capacity enhancement, the Project received the support and buy-in of state and non-state actors, most especially the central government in Nigeria; this has been a major achievement in this project. The Project Team aligned with relevant state and non-state actors to execute the various activities of the project.

### CONCLUSION

These preliminary results has clearly demonstrated the benefits of using metering study for the monitoring of the electricity consumption of selected appliances in the households based on different income groups in Nigeria. The choice of equipment chosen did not only allow continuous monitoring but allowed huge amount of baseline data to be collected and stored. These baseline data are currently being analysed in detail and a full report will be available in September 2013. These results will subsequently be used for the designing of the MEPS for lighting, AC and refrigerators.

### References

CREDC 2009. Energy efficiency survey in Nigeria: a guide for developing policy and legislation. <u>www.credcentre.org</u>

Wiel, S., Martin N., Levine M., Price L. And Sathaye J. 1998. *The role of building energy efficiency in Managing atmospheric Carbon Dioxide*. Environmental Science Policy. 1:28-29

UNDP GEF 2011. *Promoting energy efficiency in residential and public sector in Nigeria*. Project document <u>www.ng.undp.org/energy</u>

## Effects of Appliance Standby Electricity Consumption on Turkish Residential Electricity Sector

### Mustafa Cagri Sahin, Gul Nihal Gugul, and Merih Aydinalp Koksal

### Hacettepe University

### Abstract

Turkey's rapidly growing population and economy have resulted in a rapidly growing demand for energy, especially for electricity. Currently, residential electricity consumption has the second highest share and accounts for about 25% of the national electricity consumption. The increase in residential electricity consumption is mainly due to the increase in household income levels and decrease in the costs of household appliances which resulted in a dramatic increase in appliance ownership in recent years. There is very limited number of studies on residential electricity consumption, and there is currently no study on residential end-use and specifically standby electricity consumption for Turkish households. Studies on standby electricity consumption conducted in many other countries show that standby electricity consumption accounts for about 7 to 15% of the total household electricity consumption. Thus, the objective of this study is to determine the standby electricity consumption of urban Turkish households, which is carried out by conducting surveys and standby power measurements at 260 households in Ankara, Turkey. Among 260 households, 1746 appliances with standby electricity consumption are determined and their standby powers are measured; and type, power, and hourly usage information of 3423 bulbs are gathered. The average household active appliance, standby appliance, and lighting electricity consumption and associated CO<sub>2</sub> emissions are estimated as 2448, 95, 209 kWh/year, and 1021, 45, and 100 kg CO<sub>2</sub>/year, respectively. It was also found that standby electricity consumptions of the households accounts for about 4% of the total household electricity consumption, whereas active appliance and lighting end-uses account for 88 and 8% of the total, respectively.

### Introduction

Research on determining the electricity consumption of household appliances that were either switched off or not performing their main function started in early 1990's [1,2,3]. Standby electricity consumption (SEC) is the best known and widely used term for this type of residential electricity end-use. Many more studies are later conducted to determine SEC consumption of various new and stock household appliances [4,5,6,7,8,9,10], amount of household and national SEC and/or standby power [11,12,13,14,15,16,17,18,19,20,21,22,23], and associated  $CO_2$  emissions [21,24]. Due to the increasing trend in electricity consumption of standby end-use, many countries and non-governmental bodies have taken steps to reduce standby power of new appliances in the market, such as implementing appliance energy efficiency standards and labels [25,26,27,28,29,30,31,32]. The effects of these steps in reducing the household and national electricity consumption, electricity expenditures, and associated  $CO_2$  emissions are also studied by many researchers [9,10,12,14,20,33,34].

The share of residential sector in total electricity consumption has been increasing and currently accounts for about one fourth of the total electricity consumption in Turkey. The residential electricity consumption was 1.0566 TWh and 14.5% of the total consumption in 1970 and increased by about 10% per year to 41.4107 TWh and became 24.1% of the total in 2010, whereas the national electricity consumption was increased by about 8% per year in this period [35].

Due to the significant increase in per capita income levels from €4805 in 1990 to €12,046 in 2010 [36] and decrease in the costs of household appliances; new appliance purchases have increased from 2.8 million in 2002 to 6.18 million in 2010 in Turkey [37]. As the number of appliances increases, the amount of electricity consumed by appliances at standby mode also increases. In a study that

estimated the SEC of Turkish households using the bottom-up approach, Lebot et al. [24] assumed an average standby power of 10 W per household for Turkey for 1997. Also assuming that this standby electricity consumption is for 24 hours, the authors estimated that residential SEC accounts for 1.5% of the national electricity consumption in 1997. In another study conducted by International Energy Agency in 2001, the standby power estimate for Turkey is taken as 20 W, which increases the SEC share to 3% for 1997 [38]. Other than these studies, no other study has yet been conducted using either whole-house measurement or bottom-up approach to determine the amount and percentage of SEC for Turkish households.

In this study, the average standby power and electricity consumption of urban Turkish households are determined using whole-house measurements approach. Surveys and measurements are conducted at 260 homes in Ankara, the capital city of Turkey. The SEC fraction in the total household electricity consumption is also determined and compared with results of other whole-house measurements studies. These results are also extrapolated to the national urban housing stock to determine the reductions in national residential electricity consumption and total  $CO_2$  emissions.

### Methodology

Currently two approaches are used in determining the standby electricity consumption of the households, namely whole-house measurements approach or bottom-up estimates approach. The whole-house measurements approach mostly involves visiting a number of sample houses, conducting a detailed survey about appliances characteristics and occupant electricity consumption behavior, and measuring standby power of the appliances in the homes. The total household electricity consumption is calculated by using the data gathered while conducting the survey and billing data of the households. The standby power of the appliances determined from measurements is multiplied by the number of hours the appliances are left at standby mode, which was obtained from the surveys, to determine the SEC of the household. By using these information, the share of SEC to the total household electricity consumption is then determined.

Bottom-up estimates approach is used when detailed appliance saturation and appliance standby power data is available. In this approach, the appliance saturation data is multiplied by the average estimated appliance standby power and standby hours. This approach is mostly accurate for major appliances for which detailed saturation and power data are available; but not very accurate for minor appliances due to lack of saturation and power data , which actually constitute most of the SEC of the households [39].

The primary objective of this study is to determine average standby power and electricity consumption, and fraction of SEC to the total household electricity consumption for urban Turkish households using whole-house measurements approach. Thus, during house visits data on lighting and appliances of the household is documented, and all appliances with standby power are measured, where available (*i.e.* if the appliance is hard wired into the electrical system it is not measurements are conducted with a true RMS power Extech 380803 power analyzer [40]. This is a dual range meter (0–200 and 200–2000 W) with 0.1 W resolution for the low range and 1 W resolution for the high range. The accuracy of the measurements is  $\pm 0.9\%$  of reading + 0.4 W for the low range and  $\pm 0.9\%$  of reading + 4 W. for the high range. The meter also has a built-in data logger, which can store up to 1012 readings during continuous data logging.

The standby power measurements of the appliances are conducted when the appliances are plugged to the power, not performing their main functions but can be activated or switched on by a remote control, can be performing some secondary function (e.g. could have a display or clock which is active

in this mode), and in their lowest power consuming mode. This type of mode of the appliances is also called as "passive standby power" [41, 42].

The volunteer households for the whole-house measurements are identified mainly based on their household income levels, since income is the main contributor to the number of appliances owned by the home owners and the consumption levels of the occupants [49]. It is desired that the sample of this study would be a representative of the income distribution of the urban Turkish household stock so that the number of homes surveys in each income category will be similar. The other criterion is that these households do not use electricity for space heating. A survey with 45 questions and a section to tabulate the standby power measurements is prepared. The survey questions are prepared to get detailed information of the dwelling (house type, area, and ownership), occupants (income, age, education, gender, and "at home" profile), appliances (type, age, model, size, power, and usage) and lighting (power, number, type, and usage), consumption behavior (plug-off, turn off or leave the appliances at standby when not in use), and billing data.

In order to determine the total household electricity consumption, average electricity consumption of major household appliances are gathered from open literature based on their size, model, brand, age, *etc.* For example; the refrigerators are categorized based on their type (top or bottom freezer, single or two doors, etc.), volume, and age; and average annual electricity consumption for each category is determined from the web sites of local and international retailers and government agencies such as *Natural Resources of Canada* and *U.S. Federal Trade Commission.* The active appliance electricity consumption is calculated by summing the electricity consumption of all appliances in the household when they are performing their primary functions. The lighting electricity consumption of each household is determined by multiplying the power of each lamp with its usage (number of hours per day). Similar to the household lighting electricity consumption, SEC is determined by multiplying the standby power of appliance with the number of hours it is left at standby mode.

The total annual household electricity is then calculated by adding the lighting, active and standby appliance electricity consumptions. This estimated total annual electricity consumption determined using the survey and appliance consumption data is then compared with the billing data, where available.

The carbon emission factor for Turkey is taken as 476 kg  $CO_2/MWh$ , which is calculated by taking the fuel specific emission factors from [43] and 2011 electricity generation by primary energy resources data from Turkish Electricity Transmission Company [44]. The cost of electricity is calculated by using tariffs that were in use by April 2012 [45]. Detailed information on methodology of the study can be found in [46].

### **Results and Discussion**

The results of the study are presented in two sections; namely appliance and household standby power and consumption statistics.

### Appliance and Household Standby Power Statistics

A total of 1746 appliances with SEC are identified and measured in the surveyed 260 households which yields on average 6.7 appliances with standby power per household. The average standby power of various appliances measured at the surveyed households, appliance saturation levels (number of appliances in the surveyed homes divided by the number of surveyed homes) and average household standby power based on saturation levels are presented in Table 1.

Appliance	Average Standby Power, W	Saturation Level, %	Average Household Standby Power Based on Saturation Level, W
Satellite Receiver	7.7	106	8.1
CRT TV	4.8	154	7.4
Modem/Router	4.6	71	3.2
Plasma TV	4.3	9	0.4
Stereo Tape/ CD Player	3.6	27	1.0
Desktop PC	3.4	46	1.6
Home Audio System	3.2	23	0.7
Rechargeable Vacuum Cleaner	3.1	27	0.9
Laptop Computer	2.8	49	1.4
DVD, VCD Player	2.7	37	1.0
Printer/Scanner	2.6	18	0.5
Furnace Fan	2.6	44	1.1
Cordless Phone	2.4	64	1.5
Desktop PC Monitor	2.3	45	1.0
Water Cooler	2.3	4	0.1
Air Conditioner	2.1	3	0.1
Clothes Dryer	2.0	0	0.0
Dishwasher	2.0	7	0.1
Alarmed Clock	1.9	4	0.1
Radio	1.8	12	0.2
Oven	1.7	17	0.3
LCD TV	1.6	73	1.2
Game Console	1.6	4	0.1
Home Theater	1.5	4	0.1
Clothes Washer	1.5	8	0.1
Microwave Oven	1.3	8	0.1
LED TV	0.3	4	0.0
Total		-	32.2

## Table 1. Appliance Average Standby Power, Saturation Level, and Household Standby Power Based on Saturation Level

As seen in this table, the satellite receivers have the highest average standby power values (7.7 W) and the CRT TV are the appliances with the highest saturation levels among the appliances measured in the surveyed homes. The average standby power for DVD players and receivers are found to be lower than the values stated in other studies [6,9,34,48], since DVD players are found in this survey were purchased by households in more recent years and exhibit lower standby power. The ranges of the standby power for the remaining appliances are similar to those reported in [6,15,17,34].

The average standby powers of the appliances are multiplied by the appliance saturation levels to determine the average household standby power. When these values are summed up, the average household standby power is calculated as 32.2 W, as presented in Table 1. This shows that the based on the saturation levels determined in this study, the average household standby power is 32.2 W.

The distribution of the household standby powers determined for 260 homes is presented in Figure 1. As seen here, the majority of the surveyed households have standby powers between 15 and 30 W, and the maximum value is 120 W. The geometric mean of this distribution is 22 W. As seen here and also based on Chi-squared and Kolmogorov–Smirnov tests, the distribution of these households presents a log-normal distribution. Thus, the average household standby power of these households can be taken as 22 W. The average household standby power was estimated as 20 W in a previous study conducted by IEA [38]. Thus, it shows that this estimate is close to the one estimated by EIA [38].



Figure 1. Distribution of Total Standby Power of the Households

The average household standby power and the number of surveyed in this study are presented together with the results of other studies based on whole-house approach in Figure 2. As seen in this figure, the average standby power estimated in this study presents one of the lowest values after the ones found for Romania and Argentina, where the household income levels are lower than the countries in which higher standby power results were obtained.

The whole-house measurement approach involves uncertainties mainly due to defining and measuring standby power. Each study has its own definition for standby power and conducts measurements based on the appliances that fit in their definition. Some studies included continuous and hard wired appliance standby loads, which resulted in higher estimate for the household standby power. In some studies, only major appliances are measured and smaller electronic appliances are ignored, which led to lower estimates of standby power [28], in addition to the effect of lower household income levels.

Among the appliances of which standby power measurements were conducted, 39% of them were used for entertainment, 20% used in kitchen, 20% used in home office, 10% used for communication, and 11% were used for other purposes.

### Appliance and Household Standby Electricity Consumption Statistics

The factors that determine the amount of SEC of the homes are appliance standby power and saturation levels, and the amount of hours that these appliances are left at standby mode. As presented in the *Methodology* section, the SECs of the appliances are calculated by multiplying the appliances' standby powers and the numbers of hours the appliances are left at standby mode, which

was obtained from the declaration of the occupants during the survey. Thus, the amount of hours the appliances left at standby mode is as important as the standby power of the appliances. The average number of hours of the various appliances left at standby mode, average appliance SECs, appliance saturation levels, and household SEC based on saturation levels are shown in Table 2.



## Figure 2. Household Standby Power (W) Results of Studies Based on Whole-house Measurement Approach

\*Sources: [17,24,26,27,39]

\*\*Belgium, Bulgaria, Czech Rep, Denmark, France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Italy, Norway, Portugal, Romania

Based on the results presented in Table 2, the satellite receivers have the highest SEC in the surveyed homes, which also presented the highest standby powers. Their saturation level is second to that of CRT TV's. The SECs of the satellite receivers are found as 41 kWh/year, whereas their active electricity consumption is calculated as 38 kWh/year using the power and active usage hours data obtained during surveys. This shows that these appliances are left on standby more than they are actively used in a day and have very similar active and standby powers (2-3 W). Even though CRT TVs are one of the second highest standby powers, their SECs are not high due to their low standby usage (average 9 hours per day). This is probably because these old technology TVs are typically not the main TVs in the homes and have easy to reach on/off buttons. Thus the occupants can easily turn them off when not in use. Modems/routers have the second highest SEC among the appliances in the surveyed households with a saturation of 55%, and they are left on standby mode on average 16 hours per day. The average SECs of the appliances are multiplied by the appliance saturation levels to determine the average household SEC. When these values are summed up, the average household SEC is calculated as 156 kWh/year, as presented in Table 2. This shows that the based on the saturation levels determined in this study, the average household SEC is 156 kWh/year.

## Table 2. Appliance Average Standby Power, Saturation Level, and Household Standby Power Based on Saturation Level

Appliance	Saturation Level, %	Avg. # Hours Appl. Left at Standby Mode, hours/day	Avg. SEC, kWh/year	Average Household SEC Based on Saturation Level, kWh/year
Satellite Receiver	106	15	41	43
Modem/Router	71	16	26	19
Rechargeable Vacuum Cleaner	27	21	23	6
Furnace Fan	44	23	21	9
Cordless Phone	64	23	20	13
Plasma TV	9	13	19	2
Game Console	4	19	19	1
Air Conditioner	3	24	18	1
Stereo Tape/ CD Player	27	15	18	5
Home Theater	23	18	18	4
Alarmed Clock	4	2	17	1
Water Cooler	4	16	16	1
CRT TV	154	9	16	24
Oven	17	23	14	2
Desktop PC	46	13	14	6
Printer/Scanner	18	13	12	2
Microwave Oven	8	24	11	1
Desktop PC Monitor	45	13	10	4
Radio	12	15	10	1
DVD, VCD Player	37	14	9	3
LCD TV	73	14	7	5
Laptop Computer	49	7	5	2
Home Audio System	4	9	5	0
Clothes Dryer	0	3	2	0
Dishwasher	7	2	2	0
Clothes Washer	8	4	2	0
LED TV	4	11	1	0
Total			376	156

The distribution of the household SECs determined for 260 homes is presented in Figure 3. As seen here, the majority of the surveyed households have SECs between 50 and 150 kWh/year, and the maximum value is 1180 kWh/year. The geometric mean of this distribution is 95 kWh/year. As seen here and also based on Chi-squared and Kolmogorov-Smirnov tests, the distribution of these households presents more of a log-normal distribution. Thus, the average household SEC of these homes can be taken as 95 kWh/year. Using the emission factor for Turkish electricity sector given in *Methodology* section, the CO<sub>2</sub> emission associated with SEC for an average household is calculated as 45 kg CO2 /year. The cost of SEC for an average Turkish household is calculated as 18 USD/year.



Figure 3. Distribution of Total SEC of the Households

The average household SEC and the number of surveyed homes in this study are presented together with the results of other studies based on whole-house approach in Figure 4. As seen in this figure, similar to average standby power results, the average SEC estimated in this study presents the lowest values after the SEC estimated for China [14]. The SEC results are low due to the electricity consumption habits of urban Turkish households. Most occupants of the surveyed household stated that they turn off or unplug their appliances when not in used for a safety measure to protect them against possible voltage fluctuations. This habit reduces the household SEC.



Figure 4. Household SEC (kWh/year) Results of Some Whole-house Measurement Studies

\*Sources: [17,24,26,27,39]

\*\*Belgium, Bulgaria, Czech Rep, Denmark, France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Italy, Norway, Portugal, Romania

The lighting and active appliance end-uses are calculated for each household and summed with the SEC to determine the fraction of SEC in the total household electricity consumption. The average annual household end-use and total electricity consumptions, costs,  $CO_2$  emissions, and their distributions are presented in Table 3. As seen here the average household SEC is 4% of the total household electricity consumption for the surveyed households.

End-use	Consumption, kWh/year	Cost, €/year	CO <sub>2</sub> Emissions, kg/year	Distribution, %
Standby	95	13	45	4
Lighting	209	29	100	8
Active	2144	295	1021	88
Total	2448	337	1166	

 Table 3. Appliance Average Standby Power, Saturation Level, and Household Standby Power

 Based on Saturation Level

The number of urban households is determined as 22,278,548 in 2011 for Turkey [47]. Using the average SEC per household results, the amount of electricity and associated  $CO_2$  emissions from the appliances left at standby at all urban households in Turkey can be estimated as 2116 GWh (5% of the total electricity consumed in Turkish residential sector in 2011 [35]) and 1003 thousand tons, respective (1% of the electricity generation associated  $CO_2$  emission in 2009 [43]). The cost of this end use accounts for about 305 million  $\in$  based on 2012 electricity tariffs in Turkey [44]. The amount of electricity generated for standby end-use is very close to the amount of electricity generated in 2011 at Kangal Power Plant which uses lignite as fuel [44].

### Conclusions

In this study, to the authors' knowledge for the first time, average standby power and SEC of urban Turkish households, and the fraction SEC in the total electricity consumption are determined using whole-house measurements approaches. The study is conducted by surveying 260 homes in Ankara, Turkey. A total of 1746 appliance standby power measurements are conducted, which makes about seven appliances with standby power per household. The satellite receiver was found to be the appliance with the highest average standby power and also SEC due to its high saturation and standby hours. The average total household standby power, SEC, and SEC fraction of the total household electricity consumption are determined as 22 W, 95 kWh/year, and 4%, respectively. The standby power found in this study is higher than the value estimated for Turkey [38], but lower than majority of the other national/regional values. It is difficult to compare the standby power and SEC estimates of the studies conducted using whole-house measurement approach since each study has its own standby definition and measurement protocol. The amount of electricity that is used by appliances left at for standby mode at urban households is estimated to account for almost 5% of the total electricity used in the residential sector in 2011 and close to the amount generated by a single lignite power plant.

### Acknowledgement

This study is funded by The Scientific and Technological Research Council of Turkey (TUBITAK). The authors would like to acknowledge TUBITAK for their financial support.

### References

- [1] Meier, A.; Greenberg, S. Emerging Miscellaneous Uses of Electricity in Homes. Proc. of ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings, Pacific Grove, CA, 1992; pp. 4.141-4.143.
- [2] Meier, A.; Rainer, L.; Greenberg, S. Miscellaneous Electricity Energy Use in Homes. Energy 1992, 17 (5), pp. 509-518.
- [3] Sandberg, E. Electronic Home Equipment Leaking Electricity. Proc. of 1993 ECEEE Summer Study, Paris, 1993; pp. 373-375.
- [4] Lane, K.; Wajer, B. H. Standby Consumption in TVs and VCRs: Lessons for Other Equipment with 'Leaking Electricity'. Proc. of 1997 ECEEE Summer Study, Paris, 1997.
- [5] Floyd, D.; Webber, C. Leaking Electricity: Individual Field Measurements of Consumer Electronics. Proc. of ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings, Pacific Grove, CA, 1998; pp. 1.93-1.101.
- [6] Rosen, K.; Meier, A. Power Measurements and National Energy Consumption of Televisions and Videocassette Recorders in the USA. Energy 2000, 25, pp. 219-232.
- [7] Ross, J. P.; Meier, A. Measurements of Whole-House Standby Power Consumption in California Homes. Energy 2002, 27, pp. 861-868.
- [8] Meier, A.; Nordman, B. Low Power Mode Energy Use in California Homes. Proc. of ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings, Pacific Grove, CA, 2008; pp. 9.211 9.2220.
- [9] Hamer, G.; Delves, K.; Saint-Laurent, I.; Peloquin, N.; Vladimer, M.; Scholand, M. Canadian Standby Power Study of Consumer Electronics and Appliances. Proc. of ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings, Pacific Grove, CA, 2008; pp. 9.119 - 9.133.
- [10] Guan, L.; Berrill, T.; Brown, R. J. Measurement of Standby Power for Selected Electrical Appliances in Australia. Energy and Buildings 2011, 43, pp. 485-490.
- [11] Rainer, L.; Greenberg, S.; Meier, A. You Won't Find These Leaks with a Blower Door: The Latest in "Leaking Electricity" in Homes. Proc. of ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings, Pacific Grove, CA, 1996; pp. 1.187-1.191.
- [12] Urge-Vorsatz; Sroukanska, K.; Asztalos, S. Standing By in Central Europe: A Survey of Hungarian, Romanian and Bulgarian Residences. Proc. of ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings, Pacific Grove, CA, 2002; pp. 7.259-7.272.
- [13] Fung, A.; Aulenback, A.; Ferguson, A.; Ugursal, I. Standby Power Requirements of Household Appliances in Canada. Energy and Buildings 2003, 35, pp. 217-228.
- [14] Meier, A.; Lin, J.; Liu, J.; Li, T. Standby Power Use in Chinese Homes. Energy and Buildings 2004, 36, pp. 1211-1216.
- [15] Camilleri, M.; Isaacs, N.; French, L. Standby and Baseload in New Zealand Houses: A Nationwide Statistically Representative Study. Proc. of ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings, Pacific Grove, CA, 2006; pp. 9.61 - 9.72.
- [16] Bredekamp, A.; Uken; EA; Borrill, L. Standby Power Consumption of Domestic Appliances in South Africa. Proc. of the Domestic Use of Energy Conference, Cape Town, South Africa, 2006.

- [17] Clement, K.; Pardon, I.; Driesen, J. Standby Power Consumption in Belgium. Proc. of the International Conference on Electrical Power Quality and Utilization, Barcelona, 2007.
- [18] Kilpatrick, R. A. R.; Banfill; P.F.G.; Jenkins, D. P. Methodology for Characterising Domestic Electrical Demand by Usage Categories. Applied Energy 2011, 88, pp. 612-621.
- [19] deAlmeida, A.; Fonseca, P.; Scholmann, B.; Feilberg, N. Characterization of the Household Electricity Consumption in the EU, Potential Energy Savings and Specific Policy Recommendations. Energy and Buildings 2011, 43, pp. 1884-1894.
- [20] Gram-Hanssen, K.; Gudbjerg, E. Reducing Standby Consumption in Households: By Means of Communication or Technology? Proc. of ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings, Pacific Grove, CA, 2006; pp. 7.73 - 7.84.
- [21] Lu, T. K.; Yeh, C. T.; Chang, W. C. Measuring the use of residential standby power in Taiwan. Energy and Buildings 2011, 43, pp. 3539-3547.
- [22] Coleman, M.; Brown, N.; Wright, A.; Firth, S. K. Information, communication and entertainment appliance use—Insights from a UK household study. Energy and Buildings 2012, 54, pp. 61-72.
- [23] Solanki, P. S.; Mallela, V. S.; Zhou, C. An investigation of standby energy losses in residential sector: Solutions and policies. International Journal of Energy and Environment 2013, 4 (1), pp. 117-126.
- [24] Lebot, B.; Meier, A.; Anglade, A. Global Implications of Standby Power Use. Proc. of ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings, Pacific Grove, CA, 2000; pp. 7.77-7.87.
- [25] Bertoldi, P.; Conti, F.; Berrutto, V. The European Strategy for Reducing Stand-By Losses in Consumer Electronics: Status and Results. Proc. of ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings, Pacific Grove, CA, 2000; pp. 7.1-7.10.
- [26] Bertoldi, P.; Aebisher, B.; Edlington, C.; Heshberg, C.; Lebot, B.; Lin, J.; Marker, T. M. A.; Nakagami, H.; Shibata, Y. S. H.; Webber, C. Standby Power Use: How Big Is the Problem? What Policies and Technical Solutions Can Address It? Proc. of ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings, Pacific Grove, CA, 2002; pp. 7.41-7.60.
- [27] Holt, S.; Harrington, L. Standby Power and How to Use Less of It. Proc. of ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings, Pacific Grove, CA, 2004; pp. 11-48 11-60.
- [28] Meier, A. Standby: Where Are We Now? Proc. of 2005 ECEEE Summer Study, Paris, 2005; pp. 847 - 854.
- [29] Meier, A.; Siderius, H.-P. Regulating Standby. Proc. of ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings, Pacific Grove, CA, 2006; pp. 9.225 - 9.235.
- [30] Edlington, C.; Ryan, P.; Damnics, M.; Harrington, L. Standby Trends in Australia and Mandatory Standby Power Proposals. Proc. of ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings, Pacific Grove, CA, 2006; pp. 9.92 - 9.106.
- [31] Harrington, L.; Siderius, H.-P.; Ellis, M. Standby Power: Building a Coherent International Policy Framework. Proc. of ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings, Pacific Grove, CA, 2008; pp. 9.134 - 9.149.
- [32] Blok, K. Enhanced Policies for the Improvement of Electricity Efficiencies. Energy Policy 2005, 33, pp. 1635-1641.
- [33] Sanchez, M.; Koomey, J.; Moezzi, M.; Meier, A. H. W. Miscellaneous Electricity in U.S. Homes;

Historical Decomposition and Future Trends. Energy Policy 1998, 26 (8), pp. 585-593.

- [34] Zyzniewski, A. Standby Power in the Residential Sector in Canada and Future Trends. Proc. of ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings, Pacific Grove, CA, 2004; pp. 8.324 -8.332.
- [35] TEDC. Turkish Electricity Distribution Company (TEDC) Statistics (in Turkish), 2011. <u>http://www.tedas.gov.tr/BilgiBankasi/Sayfalar/IstatistikiBilgiler.aspx</u> (accessed February 5, 2012).
- [36] WorldBank. GDP per capita for countries, 2011. http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.PCAP.PP.CD (accessed May 5, 2012).
- [37] BeySad. Appliance Purchase Rates (in Turkish), 2012. http://www.beysad.org.tr/Dergi/index.html#/category.
- [38] IEA. International Energy Agency- Things That Go Blip in the Night, 2001. http://people.trentu.ca/rloney/files/blipinthenight01.pdf (accessed February 12, 2012).
- [39] Meier, A. A Worldwide Review of Standby Power Use in Homes. Proc. of Symposium on Highly Efficient Use of Energy and Reduction of Its Environmental Impact, Osaka, Japan, 2002.
- [40] Extech. Power Analyzer, 2011. <u>http://www.tequipment.net/Extech380803.asp</u> (accessed January 5, 2011).
- [41] NRCan. Natural Resources Canada (NRCan)- Office of Energy Efficiency: Standby Power -Introduction. <u>http://oee.nrcan.gc.ca/equipment/electronics/13431</u>.
- [42] AU-EnergyRating. Australian Energy Rating International Standby Power Data Project. http://www.energyrating.com.au/standbydata/app/ModeDefinitions.aspx.
- [43] Ari, I.; Aydinalp Koksal, M. Carbon Dioxide Emission from the Turkish Electricity Sector and its Mitigation Options. Energy Policy 2011, 39, pp. 6120-6135.
- [44] TETC. Turkish Electricity Transmission Company (TETC)- Turkish monthly electricity statistics (in Turkish), 2012. <u>http://www.teias.gov.tr/AylikElektrikIstatistikleri/AylikElektrikIstatistikleri.xls</u> (accessed February 15, 2012).
- [45] TEDC. Turkish Electricity Distribution Company (TEDC)- Electricity prices (in Turkish). http://www.tedas.gov.tr/17,Tarifeler\_Index.html (accessed February 5, 2010).
- [46] Sahin, M. C.; Gugul, G. N.; Aydinalp Koksal, M. Determining Appliance Standby Electricity Consumption for Turkish Households. Proc. of ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings, Pacific Grove, CA, 2012; pp. 9.276-9.288.
- [47] TurkStat. Turkish Statistical Institute (TurkStat)- Population, Demography, Housing and Gender Statistics, 2012. <u>http://www.tuik.gov.tr/AltKategori.do?ust\_id=11</u> (accessed February 29, 2012).
- [48] Bran, I.; Luo, J.; Webber, C.; Lin, J. Plug Loads and Energy Efficiency Programs: Focusing on the U.S. and China. Proc. of the ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings, Pacific Grove, CA, 2006; pp. 9.25-9.36.
- [49] Gram-Hanssen, K.; Kofod, C.; Petersen, K. N. Different Everyday Lives: Different Patterns of Electricity Use. Proc. of ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings, Pacific Grove, CA, 2004; pp. 7.74 - 7.85.

# Encouraging public support for smart metering through demonstrating energy saving potential of appealing home energy management

Author

Henk van Elburg

NL Agency

### Abstract

Backed by raising energy demands, volatile oil prices and threat of climate change, smart metering is rapidly gaining momentum in Europe. Although considerations for large scale rollouts take place in many EU member states, public support and energy saving success should not be taken for granted. Smart meters only enable consumer satisfaction and energy efficiency if they come publicly undisputed and in the company of empowering energy feedback services. *This paper analyses the European progress on the implementation of smart metering and feedback services in general and elaborates in particular on the efforts in the Netherlands to win public support for smart meters and prove the energy saving potential.* 

Following the United Kingdom (EDRP) and Ireland (CBT), the Netherlands is today the third EU-Member State to perform a set of large and scientific designed consumer live trials across the country involving more than 10000 households to deliver evidence for the energy saving potential of smart meters in combination with several kinds of innovative energy management systems and services. These trials will deliver input for the upcoming decision in Dutch parliament on how to proceed with the large scale rollout of smart meters between 2014 and 2020. *NL Agency will provide EEDAL 2013 participants a preview of the monitoring results of the trial programme and share practical lessons on the experience and expertise of relevant (market) actors.* 

### Introduction

Backed by rising energy demands and fears over security of supply and climate change, smart metering is rapidly gaining momentum across the world. Europe is expected to become a world leading centre of this development, thanks to the European Services Directive (ESD), Third Energy Package and Energy Efficiency Directive (EED). The 2006 Energy Services Directive laid the foundation for a European wide legislation for smart metering, by requiring individual energy meters and standards for frequent and understandable energy bills. The 2009 Third Energy Package accelerated the penetration of smart electricity metering in EU by setting a target of at least 80% of all households to have a smart meter by 2020, given a positive economic assessment. Finally, the 2012 Energy Efficiency Directive connected smart meters directly to dynamic pricing and improved feedback programs and strengthened smart meter and consumer feedback regulation.

Although considerations for large-scale smart meter rollouts take place in a growing number of Member States, public support and hypothesized energy savings should not be taken for granted. Experiences in the Netherlands demonstrate that smart metering can only contribute to increasing consumer involvement and enable effective household energy savings if smart meters are publicly accepted and accompanied by empowering energy management services. Without meeting such preconditions, rollout and energy efficiency prospects will be much more uncertain.

By elaborating on these experiences in the Netherlands, this paper could provide practical lessons for stakeholders from other Member States who also face public reluctance with the imposition of smart meters. Additionally, the solution adopted in the Netherlands to learn together with relevant stakeholders and subsequently arrive at better policy proposals that also acknowledge end-user

needs and ensure more promising prospects for energy savings, could help other Member States to develop regulatory frameworks that are more likely contribute to consumer satisfaction and increased energy efficiency.

This paper starts with a brief introduction on smart metering and a short European wide overview of Member States where large-scale smart meter penetration are already underway or being considered. This overview is extracted from the new European Smart Metering Landscape Report (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.), a deliverable of the SmartRegions project. SmartRegions, funded by Intelligent Energy Europe, focuses on promoting innovative smart metering services, such as informative billing and feedback, variable tariffs and load control services that offer most potential to bring about energy savings and peak load reduction. The SmartRegions project aims to inspire and encourage energy utilities, energy service providers as well as law makers across Europe to initiate the development of effective smart metering policies and innovative smart metering services by:

- 1. Monitoring the smart metering landscape in European countries and giving recommendations for regulatory frameworks.
- 2. Defining best practices for innovative smart metering services by analyzing their economic, environmental and social costs and benefits.
- 3. Promoting best practices for innovative smart metering services and exemplary smart metering regions as models for other Member States and regions.

The new European Smart Metering Landscape is a comprehensive rollout report on smart meters and metering services in Europe, including in-depth country profiles of all EU Member States and Norway together with case studies of related services for consumer feedback and peak-load shifting<sup>1</sup>.

The main section of the paper elaborates on the experiences in the Netherlands, associated with intense political discussions in the past and defining the most important causes. The paper concludes with a brief overview of the actual situation and the upcoming trend of performing national scientifically designed live trials to deliver evidence for the smart metering energy saving potential and ensure a more (cost-) effective rollout.

### Smart metering characteristics and European overview

Traditional meters provide less than perfect information for both consumers and suppliers. Consumers are generally only aware of consumption on a monthly, or even annual, basis, unless they make timeconsuming efforts to monitor the readings on their meters frequently. Also, most suppliers only know how much energy a household consumes after a manual meter read. In addition, difficulties arising from limited data accuracy may cause disputes over bills, thereby possibly also hindering switching between suppliers and limiting market competition.

Smart meters eliminate many of these issues for consumers and suppliers by adding two dynamic key features to the functionality of the static traditional meter:

- 1. Storage of accurate metering data at specified time intervals.
- 2. Two-way communication between the consumers' smart meters and the operating system of the network operator / supplier.

By integrating storage capacity and communication technology, the smart meter allows for a radical change in customer-utility relations. In conjunction with smart technology, utilities can adopt pre-pay or innovative time-of-use pricing plan options to incentivize customers to use power more wisely.

<sup>1</sup> The European Smart Metering Landscape Report can be downloaded free of charge from the project's website www.smartregions.net.

Smart meters also enable consumers to track their usage in real-time and better understand their power habits via in-home display units, web-based interfaces or both.

The benefits from a rollout of smart meters potentially fall to all actors:

- 1. To consumers in terms of more frequent and more accurate bills, (near) real-time information to enable household energy savings and facilitation of new energy services.
- 2. To suppliers in terms of more frequent and accurate information and reduced operational costs.
- 3. To network operators in terms of more efficient network operation and capacity control.
- 4. Finally, to society in terms of a better functioning energy market and reduced carbon emissions.

Smart meters also pave the way for smart grids, an allied tool to help utilities to balance loads across their electricity networks and help consumers to manage their energy demand more effectively. Smart grids integrate the actions of all users connected to an electricity power system, employing communications, innovative products and services, and intelligent monitoring and control technologies to:

- 1. Help utilities to efficiently manage the full array of power generation assets, including traditional generation facilities and renewable sources such as wind turbines, to meet customer needs.
- 2. Provide consumers with more information about their own usage and peak demand so they can adjust their behaviour.
- 3. Reduce the environmental impact of power generation through incentivizing customers to reduce electricity use and/or shift electricity usage from peak to off-peak hours to avoid running costly fossil-fuelled peak generation units.

### European overview

Due to legislation such as the Energy Services Directive and the 3rd Energy Package, a majority of the countries in Europe already have, or are about to implement a legal framework for the installation of smart meters. However, the topic continues to generate heated discussions in the individual EU member states. The Landscape Report 2012 depicts the developments in each country and shows the relative advance in respect of the topic of smart metering. These different approaches in the Member States are represented through the classification in the following categories: dynamic movers, market drivers, ambiguous movers, waverers, laggards.

Countries such as Estonia, Finland, France, Ireland, Italy, Malta, Netherlands, Norway, Portugal, the United Kingdom, Spain and Sweden are "dynamic movers". Most of them have already decided on a mandatory rollout with a specified timetable. "Market drivers" such as Germany, the Czech Republic and Denmark have not established legal requirements for a full rollout. There are the obligations for the introduction of smart metering only for a certain category of customers, e.g. in newly built houses and renovated houses. Nevertheless, utilities go ahead with the installation of smart meters either because of internal synergetic effects or because of customer demands. The situation in Austria and Poland can be characterized as "ambiguous". Although significant progress is visible, there are still some important decisions lacking. In the countries called "waverers", first initiatives and pilot projects for the introduction of smart meters have been launched. In the "laggard" countries smart metering is not yet a focus. The following illustration provides an overview of the legal and regulatory situation and the implementation status in the EU countries and Norway.



### Smart metering regulation in the Netherlands

The Netherlands is the first EU Member State to opt for a voluntary-based rollout of smart meters to obtain widespread consumer involvement and effective household energy management. In order to understand the argument for a voluntary-based rollout as an equally effective alternative for a mandated rollout, the course of events in the Netherlands will be chronologically presented and analyzed in more detail.

### Chronological overview

In the Netherlands the smart meter rollout is part of a broader new energy market model for consumers and small business users. Apart from the desire to correct and avoid administrative problems following the liberalization of the Dutch energy market in 2004, other main drivers were to stimulate competition in the energy market, i.e. easy switching for consumers between suppliers, improve operational efficiency for market parties and support energy savings for end-use customers. Demand response related objectives, such as dynamic pricing to avoid peak loads, are not important because of the temperate climatic conditions. The Dutch tariff system is based primarily on fixed rates. Except for national reasons, the legal rollout was also designed to simultaneously meet the requirements of the European Energy End-use and Energy Services Directive (ESD).

### The original plan: mandated rollout of smart meters.

In 2008, the Dutch government presented a first legislative proposal to bring the smart meter under the responsibility of network operators in the regulated domain in conjunction with a mandated rollout to all households. Following consultations in the market sector, the Ministry of Economic Affairs proposed the following meter market changes:

1. All small users will be given a smart meter.

- 2. The grid operators will be responsible for rollout. The grid operators will own and maintain the smart meter and be responsible for a total distribution.
- 3. The meters will become part of the regulated domain of the grid operator, being considered part of the physical infrastructure.
- 4. The cost of the hardware (meter rent) will be regulated.
- 5. The energy retailers will be responsible for all customer-related processes and metering data management.
- 6. The smart meters must comply with minimum functionality requirements and technology specifications to ensure cost-efficiency, interoperability.and consumer interests.

To meet the obligation arising from the above-mentioned ESD to provide regular feedback to consumers about energy consumption, the government stated a preference for setting a minimum frequency of 6 times per year (every two months).

The government proposed a mandated rollout as a prerequisite, because it was expected that a smart metering rollout in a liberalized market, without further regulation, would probably reach no more than about 30% penetration. In that case, several of the smart meter benefits mentioned above would not be realized.

The smart meter rollout will be partly funded from the current meter tariff. Also, the tariff will be stable in the first years of the rollout and will eventually be based on actual costs reduced by profits made in the first period. To date, the meter charge has not been regulated and has increased by up to 100% since 2001. The Dutch regulator (NMa) concluded in 2008 that there was no relation between the increased tariffs and actual costs and the meter costs should therefore be regulated.

In 2009, after an intense political debate, the Dutch Senate declined to approve a mandated rollout of smart meters because of privacy and security concerns. To solve the privacy issue, the mandatory rollout of smart meters was turned into a voluntary rollout. Furthermore, the revised proposal settled security concerns by introducing additional security guarantees.

### Revised plan 2011: voluntary rollout of smart meters

In 2011 the Dutch parliament accepted a revised Electricity Act and the Gas Act, in which **network operators** (as the owners of the smart meters) are mandated to offer households and small businesses a smart meter with minimum functional and technical standards. Households and small businesses will have a legal choice to accept or refuse this meter. Legal customer options are:

- 1. The option to refuse the installation of a smart meter and keep the traditional meter.
- 2. The option to have a smart meter installed, or once it has been installed, the prerogative to opt out of sending meter readings automatically. As such, smart meter functions as a traditional meter, still requiring a meter reader.
- 3. The option to have a smart meter installed, with standard meter reading frequencies of which the most important are: final billing in case of switching energy supplier or moving house, once a year for annual billing and bi-monthly meter readings for additional energy advice in cost and consumption overviews.
- 4. The option to have a smart meter fitted, with full automatic smart meter reading.

The revised Dutch Electricity Act and the Gas Act also mandates **Energy suppliers** to provide consumers with bi-monthly cost and consumption overviews as a standard feedback service. Additional regulation has been developed to set out the minimum information requirements for these bi-monthly overviews. Providing consumers with more detailed smart metering feedback services for household energy management, such as displays and internet applications, are, however, considered to be a market responsibility without regulation. The customer is free to choose and authorize any

commercial service provider offering (real-time) smart meter data services beyond the minimum regulated level. In order to give market players access to the measurement data, the network operators have set up uniform authorization and authentication procedures. These procedures ensure that individual measurement data is only used for the specific purposes for which the customer has given his or her consent.

With these legal revisions included, the national consumers' organizations and privacy campaigners expressed their contentment with the bill, assuring the freedom of choice for the consumer. After a two year delay, the Netherlands had a legal rollout scheme in place.

### New cost-benefit analysis

The need to revise the legal proposal also required the Ministry of Economic Affairs to perform a recalculation of the original national cost-benefit analysis performed in 2005 regarding the business case for the introduction of smart meters in the Netherlands.<sup>2</sup> The two major changes that prompted a new cost-benefit analysis were:

- 1. The smart meter will only be read once every two months in the standard situation. Only if express and unequivocal permission has been obtained from the consumer a more detailed reading can be done. In the 2005 analysis, detailed reading was still the standard situation.
- 2. The consumer will have the option of refusing the smart meter. This means that the consumer in question will keep his or her traditional meter. In the case of new construction and renovations of houses and small buildings it is compulsory to install a smart meter, and there is no obligation to replace it with a traditional meter at the request of the consumer. In this case the consumer can have the smart meter treated like a traditional meter by registering it as "administratively off".

Considering a situation of almost 100% acceptance of the smart meter as well as almost 100% standard readings, the updated cost-benefit-analysis still showed a positive business case result of approximately EUR 770 million. The main benefits derive from the expected energy savings potential. Based on the analysis of previous national and international experiments and expert opinions, the average structural energy savings potentials are estimated at 3,2% for electricity and 3,7 for gas. Other beneficial items (in order of positive contribution) are savings on call centre costs, a lower cost level as a result of the market mechanism (increased switching) and savings in meter reading costs.

### Two year experience phase: delivering proof for energy saving potential

Today, the Dutch smart meter rollout has started following a two-stage approach. From 2012 until 2014, a small-scale rollout is in place for experiential purposes. During the small-scale rollout, up to 500000 smart meters for electricity and gas will be installed in cases of regular meter replacements (e.g. depreciation), newly built houses, large scale renovations and on request by customers. Based on these experiences and learnings, the rollout will continue on a larger scale eventually offering every household and small business a smart meter. Despite the voluntary nature of the rollout, the target remains the same: the installation of a smart meter by at least 80% of households and small businesses by 2020, as mandated through the 3rd Energy Package.

Part of the small-scale experience phase is a set of large and scientifically designed consumer trials taking place across the country. Following similar national programs in the UK (EDRP) and Ireland (CBT), the Netherlands is now the third EU-Member State to perform such a series of consumer trials to deliver differentiated evidence for the energy efficiency potential of a wide range of smart metering-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Prior to the original proposed changes in the Electricity Act and the Gas Act, which included a mandated rollout of the smart meter, a thorough cost-benefit analysis was conducted in 2005. This cost-benefit analysis, performed by KEMA by order of SenterNovem (now Agentschap NL), resulted in an expected positive business case of approx. EUR 1.3 billion(SenterNovem, 2005).

based feedback methods to contribute to balanced decisions favouring the future rollout of smart meters. To date, the Dutch monitoring program covers the largest and statistically most robust smart metering behavioural trials conducted nationally and is expected to provide a wealth of information on the impact of smart metering-enabled feedback initiatives on Dutch electricity and gas consumers.

The monitoring program distinguishes a range of informational stimuli on energy consumption and associated costs for dual fuel meters.

#### Effect of cost and consumption overviews

On the one hand, the program will focus on the actual measurable reduction effects in customers' electricity and gas demand achievable through the use of smart meters in combination with bimonthly cost and consumption overviews. As mentioned earlier, Dutch energy suppliers are legally mandated to issue six cost and consumption overviews each year. The overviews will be required to give a comprehensive account of the customer's energy usage and associated costs. Part of this will be a comparison of the customer's consumption with the equivalent period in the previous year, and a comparison with the consumption of their peer group. These comparisons should be provided in graphical format where practical. This is similar to the informative billing requirements in the EU Energy Efficiency Directive (2006/ 73).

For monitoring the energy saving effect of the cost and consumption overviews, a representative sample of over 10000 anonymous residential electricity and gas consumers with smart meters throughout the country will be involved in the trial. A control group, made up of 300000 consumers with traditional meters will be included to ensure a balanced experimental trial design. Their energy consumption will also be recorded to enable comparisons with the households that have received interventions under the trial program.

### Effects of additional information stimuli

On the other hand, trials are programmed to investigate the behavioural and reduction effects in customer electricity and gas demand through the use of smart meters in combination with additional (free market) monitoring and managements systems. These interventions include in-home displays, web-based information systems and community-based concepts. In total, over 1400 residential consumers throughout the country will participate in these metering services trials. The trial participants are also allocated across different population groups and connected to control groups to ensure a balanced experimental trial design. Although the relatively small trials are not fully representative, the program is expected to deliver relevant and fact-based information about the Netherlands. The trials are also expected to help shed light on the relative attractiveness of various media, functional and design options for specific metering service concepts.

All trials in the national monitoring program will be performed by, or in cooperation with the largest Dutch network operators Liander, Enexis and Stedin (representing approximately 90% of all meter connections in the Netherlands). This takes place under the supervision of independent academic advisors who will statistically analyze the consumption data gathered from the trials to determine the customer response to the smart metering enabled measures tested in terms of the impact on their overall electricity and gas usage. Pre-trial and post-trial surveys will also be conducted to draw demographic, behavioural and experiential conclusions from the trials.

The monitoring program results will deliver input for parliamentary evaluation of the small-scale rollout towards the end of 2013. The statistical evidence from the trials will also provide relevant consumer information for the commercializing and/or the deployment of smart metering services by free market players.

### **Conclusions and learnings**

The Netherlands is the first EU Member State to opt for a voluntary-based rollout of smart meters, after fierce opposition from consumers' organizations and privacy campaigners. Taking into account that government mandated rollouts are generally considered to be the preferential method to reap the

benefits of smart metering, the question arises about the significance of the developments in the Netherlands for future rollout decisions in other Member States. How would a trend towards voluntarybased rollout schemes affect the economic and environmental advantages of widespread smart metering, as foreseen by the 3<sup>rd</sup> Energy package and EED?

This question is hard to answer at the moment, although similar discussions take place in other Member States. The occurrences in the Netherlands highlight the importance of a well-considered regulatory introduction of smart meters. Although more challenging, the Dutch pioneering route towards a voluntary rollout offers equally good prospects for a widespread rollout of smart meters and promising energy savings. However, a crucial factor for success in the first place will be close contact and collaboration with important stakeholders and opinion leaders in society to better meet end-user needs and agree on joint prospects for a widespread rollout of smart meters. Another factor of success is to provide evidence-based information related to actual, behavioural and attitude effects on household electricity and gas consumption following the simultaneous installation of smart meters and accompanying energy management services. Overall, it must be realized that a mandated rollout only ensures a full penetration of smart meters but does not guarantee successful consumer involvement and widespread energy savings.

### References

- [1] Smart meters in the Netherlands, Revised financial analysis and policy advice, KEMA Netherlands, Arnhem, July 2010.
- [2] Monitor Energiebesparing Slimme meter Kleinschalige Uitrol, Tussenrapportage, Agentschap NL, November 2012.
- [3] SmartRegions, 'European Smart Metering Landscape Report', a comprehensive report on the developments of smart metering and metering services in Europe, SmartRegions, 2nd edition, October 2012.

### Detailed end-use metering of domestic appliances in Japan

## Takahiro TSURUSAKI, Tatsunori TSUJIMARU, Chiharu MURAKOSHI, Hidetoshi NAKAGAMI

### Jyukankyo Research Institute, Inc., Japan

### Abstract

Since the March 2011 Great East Japan Earthquake, nearly all Japan's nuclear power plants are shut down, making electricity saving measures urgent. However, there are not yet databases for evaluation of measures to decrease household appliance electricity demand. In 2012, the Ministry of Environment of Japan began both a questionnaire survey and an end-use metering survey. In this paper the breakdown of household electricity consumption in 56 households in the Tokyo area and in Hokkaido (a cold climate) is shown, based on results of the end-use metering survey over a 7-month period and a questionnaire about lighting usage. On average, for the metering period, understand 79% of overall usage in Tokyo can be accounted for and 87% in Hokkaido, including estimates for lighting.

For peak grid demand, for Tokyo summer daytime peak, air conditioning consumes the most, at 38%. Together with refrigerators and TVs, these three make up 70% of total demand. The Hokkaido winter daytime peak occurs in early evening, with no single appliance dominating the demand. For the six specified household electrical appliances with standard indicators for annual electricity consumption, metered results were compared with labeled values. Actual refrigerator unit electricity consumption (UEC) was 1.6 times the labeled value. For models after the 2006 revision of standard measurement conditions this difference shrunk, and both UEC and UEC per unit of internal volume tended to decrease. TVs and DVDs also exceeded their labeled UEC, while microwaves, rice cookers, and electric toilet seats consumed less than their labeled UEC.

### Introduction

The Great East Japan Earthquake of March 2011 damaged many power plants in eastern Japan, leading to serious electricity shortages. In the summer of 2011, the Government of Japan, empowered by law, called for a 15% reduction in peak power demand by all large customers of Tokyo Electric Power Company (TEPCO) and Tohoku Electric Power Company. After that, due to concerns over the safety of nuclear power, nearly all Japan's nuclear power plants that shut down for scheduled maintenance were not restarted, so electricity saving measures expanded to all of Japan (except for Okinawa, where there are no nuclear power plants).

As of June 2013, unexpected or planned power outages have successfully been avoided through electricity saving measures. In planning electricity savings, it is vital to understand the structure of electricity demand. However, in Japan, while there were surveys for residential sector energy consumption (for example, see [1],[2]), existing data were insufficient to understand the structure of electricity demand. In particular, no database had been compiled for electricity demand by appliance type, and change in demand for each appliance by time of day (load curves), although results from past studies have been published sporadically in research reports and academic papers [3],[4]. For this reason, the electricity saving effects of measures sought by government and electric utility companies and implemented by businesses and residents could not be adequately predicted. In summer of 2011, measures with large impacts on service but relatively small saving effects (such as reducing the number of elevators in use) were widely carried out, causing a great burden on users. Of course, there were also businesses that could use effective monitoring data from building energy management systems (BEMS) already installed.

From before the Great East Japan Earthquake, opinion solidified that Japan should develop statistics similar to other countries, related to energy use for measures implemented as energy efficiency and climate change countermeasures. In the basic plan concerning the development of official statistics agreed on in 2009, it was specified to develop statistics that accurately grasp the CO<sub>2</sub> emission quantities of each sector. Therefore, from the fall of 2012, the Ministry of Environment began a test survey with the goal to develop statistics for the residential sector. The test survey is a questionnaire

survey that provides an understanding of monthly energy consumption by energy source, but it cannot provide load information by type of appliance and time of use.

As shown in Figure 1, the proportion of household energy use held by lighting and appliances is high, so the need to understand its internal structure is significant. In order to do so, independently of the above mentioned questionnaire survey, the Ministry of Environment carried out an end-use metering survey relating to residential electricity demand, and for lighting equipment (for which it is difficult to measure electricity consumption) carried out a questionnaire survey about types of lights owned and conditions of their use.



Figure 1: Household energy consumption by end-use in 2011

Source: Estimation by Jyukankyo Research Institute from Family Income and Expenditure Survey and other resources. Note 1: Value in parenthesis shows heating degree days (HDD14-14) of the region. Note 2: The heat conversion factor for electricity is 3.6MJ/kWh.

In this paper, we present breakdowns of residential electricity demand by appliance, based on results of the end-use metering survey and the lighting questionnaire survey. Results are shown for both overall electricity use, and for times when electricity savings are especially needed (times of grid peak demand). We also compare the label values for annual electricity consumption (based on energy efficiency standards) with the metered results.

### Methodology

### Profile of monitored households

Two regions were chosen for this study. One is Japan's most populous region, the Tokyo metropolitan area. The other is Hokkaido, which has a cold climate and different patterns of energy use than Tokyo.

The number of households studied by region, household type, and house type are shown in Table 1. In Tokyo, 36, and in Hokkaido 20 households were monitored. Targets for the distribution of house type were equal numbers of single-family detached houses and apartments. Targets for household type were singles and couples each at 20%, couples with children at 50%, and three-generation families at 10%. Participating households were chosen from those that applied via an online survey company's internet research panel, met the conditions for inclusion, and showed their intent to cooperate with the study. Excluded from consideration were the few households living in all electric houses, as well as those generating their own power (for example, by solar cells) due to concerns that the monitoring system could not be used correctly. Also, we note that the average number of personal

computers per household was 1.9, which exceeds the average value in the March 2012 Monthly Consumer Confidence Survey of 1.1 by more than 70%.

	Tokyo metropolitan area		Hokkai	Total	
Household type	Single-family detached house	Apartment house	Single-family detached house	Apartment house	
Single-person	2	5	0	4	11
Couple	4	3	2	2	11
Couple and children	10	9	5	5	29
Three-generation	3	0	2	0	5
Total	19	17	9	11	56

Note: This includes one replacement household for a family in the Tokyo area who quit the survey in December 2012.

Basic attributes of the monitored households are shown in Table 2. The average number of people per household is 2.64 in the Tokyo area and 2.85 in Hokkaido. This exceeds the average from the 2010 National Census of 2.26 for the Tokyo metropolitan area (for Tokyo, Kanagawa, Chiba, and Saitama) and 2.21 for Hokkaido. Similarly, the average floor areas of the monitored houses exceeded those from the 2010 Census ( $75 \text{ m}^2$  for the Tokyo area and  $86 \text{ m}^2$  for Hokkaido). The average house age was 22 years for Tokyo and 16 years for Hokkaido. When compared to the 2008 Housing and Land Survey average age (21 years for Tokyo, 22 years for Hokkaido) we see that, on average, the houses in our Hokkaido study population are somewhat newer.

### Table 2: Basic attributes of monitored households

Item	Tokyo metropolitan area	Hokkaido	Total
Average size of household [persons]	2.64	2.85	2.71
Average floor space [square meters]	82.0 (n=35)	97.2 (n=18)	87.2 (n=53)
Average of age of house [years]	22 (n=35)	16 (n=18)	20 (n=53)
Number of households	36	20	56

### End-use metering survey

The monitoring study is planned for the one-year period from July 2012 to June 2013. The research in this paper describes an analysis performed using metering data through 17 February 2013. The targets of metering were electricity consumption of the whole house and of electrical appliances. Data other than electricity, such as room temperature, outdoor temperature, gas consumption, water consumption, were not collected.

Two types of power consumption meters were used. First, to measure power consumption for the whole house, a sensor was installed at the main circuit breaker at the house power distribution board. If a certain appliance had a dedicated distribution circuit (e.g. air conditioner) a sensor would also be installed in that circuit. Second, for appliances that could not be metered at the power distribution board, a small electric meter was installed between the power cord and the outlet. A total of 12 small meters were prepared for each household, and these were distributed according to numbers of appliances in the household, obtained from a preliminary questionnaire. The metering interval was 30 minutes. Metered data were automatically collected and transmitted over cell phone network or the internet.

Electricity use of the metering system is high enough that it cannot be ignored, so a fixed value is subtracted from the whole house value for each 30-minute measurement. Furthermore, although corrections due to air temperature were generally not made, to compare appliance label values from energy efficiency standards to metered results, temperature corrections were made in some cases.
Table 3 shows numbers of each appliance monitored in August 2012. All air conditioners in all participating households were metered. For other main appliances, such as refrigerators and TVs, more than 80% of units were metered. Appliances not metered included those with (1) no space in which to put the meter (for appliances like refrigerators and washers) or (2) in cases constrained by the number of meters per household, appliances expected to have low consumption (such as a TV in a bedroom, a router, a fan in Hokkaido). In winter, electricity used by heating appliances increases. Therefore, in autumn 2012, appliances chosen for metering were adjusted, from those only used in summer (e.g., electric fans) or those with small consumption, to heating appliances, not only including electric heaters and electric carpets, but also boilers and heaters mainly fueled by kerosene or gas.

Appliance	Quantity of metered appliance [units]			Proportion of metered appliances to appliances in use		
	Tokyo metropolitan	Hokkaido	Total	Tokyo metropolitan	Hokkaido	
	area			area		
Air conditioner	87	6	93	100%	100%	
TV set	54	31	85	84%	82%	
Refrigerator	37	20	57	97%	91%	
Laundry machine	33	19	52	94%	90%	
Microwave oven	34	18	52	92%	90%	
Rice cooker	30	19	49	91%	95%	
Electric toilet seats	32	16	48	89%	100%	
Desktop PC	28	15	43	85%	100%	
Notebook PC	24	17	41	62%	89%	
DVD / Blu-ray recorder	26	12	38	63%	41%	
Modem / Router	16	6	22	40%	30%	
Electric fan	22	0	22	35%	0%	
Air cleaner	11	4	15	69%	40%	
Electric pot	8	6	14	40%	60%	
Dishwasher	8	5	13	73%	71%	
Other	32	39	71	-	-	
Total	482	233	715	-	-	

#### Table 3: Quantity of metered appliances in August 2012

Note: There were 35 Tokyo area and 20 Hokkaido households participating in August 2012.

#### Questionnaire survey on lighting

Direct measurement of electricity consumption of lighting equipment was outside the scope of the end-use metering survey, but lighting was expected to use a high percentage of overall electricity. There are various methods to understand lighting electricity usage. Besides direct measurement, other methods involve measuring lighting intensity or lamp temperature and estimating electricity consumption. All these methods are expensive and difficult for occupants to cooperate. For this work, we investigated essentially all lighting equipment in use, using a questionnaire survey regarding kinds of lighting (incandescent, fluorescent, LED), lamp wattage, and average hours of illumination. From those results values for lighting electricity usage were estimated. The questionnaire period was October 2012. For future research, it would be good to validate the accuracy of this method.

## Results

#### Breakdown of residential electricity consumption

Results of the lighting questionnaire survey and estimated values of electricity consumption are shown in Tables 4 and 5. Average consumption per lighting appliance of a Tokyo area household was 0.11 kWh/day. With an average of 13.9 lights, the average household was estimated to use 1.5 kWh/day for lighting. The average Hokkaido household used 1.6 kWh/day for lighting. Electricity consumption by incandescent lamps made up 22% and 16% of total lighting electricity usage in the Tokyo area and Hokkaido, respectively.

		Consumed	Hour of use	Unit electricity	N
Area	Type of lamp	[W/unit]	[h/dav/unit]	[kWh/unit/dav]	[unit]
Tokyo	Incandescent lamp	52	1.4	0.08	114
metropolitan	Fluorescent lamp	43	2.5	0.12	200
area	LED lamp	15	3.6	0.07	35
	Complex or unknown	89	2.7	0.19	7
	average, total	44	2.3	0.11	356
Hokkaido	Incandescent lamp	51	1.0	0.06	83
area	Fluorescent lamp	49	2.6	0.13	168
	LED lamp	11	2.4	0.03	15
	Complex or unknown	48	4.8	0.29	3
	average, total	47	2.1	0.10	269

### Table 4: Lighting appliance power consumption, hours used, and estimated daily UEC

Note: Results of the questionnaire survey, including valid responses only.

	Number o	f units	Daily electricity consumption		
	Tokyo metropolitan	Tokyo metropolitar		Hokkaido area	
	area		area	TIOKKAIUU alea	
Type of lamp	[units/household]		[kWh/day/household]		
Incandescent lamp	4.2	4.6	0.32	0.26	
Fluorescent lamp	7.0	9.3	0.87	1.21	
LED lamp	1.9	1.0	0.14	0.02	
Complex or unknown	0.8	0.4	0.14	0.10	
total	13.9	15.2	1.47	1.57	
Number of households	36	20	36	20	

#### Table 5: Numbers of lighting appliances used and estimated daily electricity consumption

Note: These results are estimated from the lighting questionnaire survey.

Figure 2 shows the average electricity consumption per household from August 2012 to January 2013 for Tokyo metropolitan area households. In summer, electricity consumption rose, mainly due to air conditioning, while in winter it rose due to air conditioners (in heating mode) and other heating appliances, electric toilet seats, etc. Refrigerator electricity consumption was nearly twice as high in August as in January. TV electricity consumption showed essentially no seasonal change. Lighting electricity consumption based on the questionnaire survey was estimated at 1.5 kWh/day per household in October 2012. While lighting electricity consumption is expected to have seasonal changes, these were not measured as part of this study. Note that the category, "Other", includes consumption by unmetered refrigerators, TVs and lighting (except for October and for the annual average, when the estimated value for lighting is subtracted based on the October 2012 estimated values). "Other" consumption increased in winter, which may be due to some heating appliances and lighting not being metered.





Figure 3 shows the average electricity consumption per household over the same period for households in Hokkaido. There is hardly any demand for cooling so summer and fall consumption is nearly the same. Compared to the Tokyo area, heating demand in Hokkaido is very high, but kerosene heating appliances are predominant, so the increase in electricity consumption is not as great as that of Tokyo. Electricity consumption to operate gas and oil heating appliances exceeds electricity consumption by electric heating appliances.



Figure 3: Monthly electricity consumption by appliance in Hokkaido

Figure 4 shows the relative contribution of each electrical appliance to total household electrical consumption for both regions. The breakdown of consumption that can be understood from the enduse metering survey is on average 65% for the Tokyo metropolitan area and 68% for Hokkaido. On average during the measurement period, for Tokyo, refrigerators and AC both used 17%, lighting was estimated at 13%, and TVs used 9%. For Hokkaido, refrigerators used 20%, lighting was estimated at 17%, TVs and electric components of gas and oil heating appliances each used 12%. The remainder ("Other"), which was not sub-metered and not estimated as lighting use, made up 22% for Tokyo and 15% for Hokkaido.



#### Figure 4: Composition of electricity consumption by appliance

Note: As explained in the text, lighting was estimated only for October 2012.

#### Breakdown of residential electricity consumption in grid peak hours

Based on the half-hourly metered values, the electricity consumption breakdown for each appliance for the survey households during grid peak hours was investigated. For the Tokyo area, TEPCO's top three daily peak demand days during summer 2012 were considered. For Hokkaido, Hokkaido Electric Power Company's (HEPCO) top three daily peak demand days during the winter of 2012-2013 were considered. There is a direct relation between grid power demand and outdoor temperature, so these peak demand days were extremely hot in the Tokyo metropolitan area and extremely cold in Hokkaido.

Figures 5 and 6 show the electricity consumption averaged over the three peak days by appliance for each half hour period, in both regions. On very hot days in the Tokyo area, air conditioner electricity consumption is high, can be seen throughout the day, and is particularly high between 8 pm and midnight. Refrigerator electricity consumption stays roughly constant at about 0.12 to 0.13 kWh/h. On very cold days in Hokkaido, daily electricity consumption of heating appliances (gas and kerosene, mostly kerosene) is about the same as that of refrigerators and TVs. During the grid peak hours of 17:00 to 19:00 they hold the third largest share of consumption, behind refrigerators and TVs. Refrigerator consumption is roughly constant at about 0.06 kWh/h.



# Figure 5: Half hourly electricity consumption by appliance on hot days in the Tokyo metropolitan area

Note: The days aggregated are TEPCO's top three daily peak demand days for summer 2012 (7/27/2012, 8/23/2012, 8/30/2012).



Figure 6: Half hourly electricity consumption by appliance on cold days in Hokkaido

Note: The days aggregated are HEPCO's top three daily peak demand days for winter 2012-2013 (12/26/2012, 12/27/2012, 1/18/2013).

Figure 7 shows the composition of household electricity consumption during grid peak hours for the two regions. Peak hours in the Tokyo metropolitan area are 14:00-15:00. At this time, the breakdown of electricity consumption is AC 38%, refrigerator 25%, and TV 7%. These three appliances make up 70% of consumption. Therefore, AC and refrigerator control measures are important for curbing peak demand. Peak hours in Hokkaido are 17:00-19:00, and compared to Tokyo's summer peak, the composition of electricity usage is diverse. "Other" is a significant 36%, which is probably due to the overlap of lighting hours with peak hours. Also, HEPCO's power demand on extremely cold days stays at a high level all day, with demand during the early morning (3 to 4 am) and morning (9 to 10 am) varying only about 1% from the peak demand. This is influenced by the demand of electric thermal storage heaters, electric tank water heaters, and also electric snow melting systems, operating in early morning hours. Note that households with such appliances were excluded from this study. Overnight, refrigerators and gas and oil heating equipment make up 38% of total electricity consumption (Table 6, so control of these appliances would be effective in reducing peak demand.



#### Figure 7: Composition of electricity consumption in grid peak hours

Note: Days aggregated are the same as those in Figures 5 and 6.

Table 6: Composition of electric	ty consumption in	grid pe	ak hours in	Hokkaido
----------------------------------	-------------------	---------	-------------	----------

	Refrigerator and Freezer	TV set	Heating equipment (Gas & Oil)	Grid Demand [MW]
3:00-4:00	23%	5%	15%	5377
9:00-10:00	14%	11%	12%	5401
17:00-19:00	10%	10%	8%	5445

Note: Days aggregated are the same as those in Figure 6.

#### Comparison with labeled unit energy consumption (UEC)

In Japan there are energy efficiency standards for major household appliances. For air conditioners the energy efficiency indicator is the annual performance factor (APF), which compounds the coefficient of performance (COP) for heating and cooling, but it is very difficult to measure the APF under conditions of actual use. In contrast, for appliances such as refrigerators, for which the energy efficiency indicator is set as annual electricity consumption, through the end-use metering survey it is possible to understand the efficiency of appliances under conditions of actual use, and examine the validity of the labeled UEC.

The standard, JIS C 9801, specifying measurement conditions for determining refrigerator energy efficiency (annual electricity consumption) was revised in 2006. The catalyst for the revision was that a large difference had been seen between the labeled values and the results of metering under conditions of actual use [5]. End-use metering can be effective in validating measurement conditions related to energy efficiency standards.

Besides refrigerators (including freezers), other appliances in Japan with standard energy efficiency indicator of annual electricity consumption are TVs, DVD recorders (including Blu-ray), microwave ovens, rice cookers, and electric toilet seats. Below, the results from this end-use metering survey are compared with the labeled values based on energy efficiency standards.

#### Refrigerators and freezers

Refrigerator electricity consumption is highly correlated with ambient temperature, but temperature was not measured in this study. Figure 8 shows a comparison of the temperature at the regional Local Meteorological Observatory and refrigerator electricity consumption. The inflection point in the vicinity of 15°C for Hokkaido is due to the room temperature not decreasing as much as with outdoor temperature past that point. Also, the observation that at temperatures below about 20°C refrigerators in Hokkaido use more electricity than those in Tokyo can be explained since the temperatures in rooms with refrigerators (mainly kitchens) are lower in Tokyo than in Hokkaido.

For this analysis data from 1 July 2012 to 17 February 2013 were used, which includes metered results for three seasons. Although this is acceptable for obtaining an average value, for each refrigerator a piecewise linear function for electricity consumption as a function of temperature was generated, and then temperature data for a normal year were used to calculate temperature-adjusted annual electricity consumption.

Table 7 shows the temperature-adjusted actual unit electricity consumption (UEC) and the labeled UEC. The overall average actual UEC is 613 kWh/year, which is 1.6 times the labeled UEC. When broken down according to refrigerator model year, the ratio of actual to labeled UEC was 3.0 for products from 2003 to 2005--a bigger difference than for other years. This result is consistent with previous research [5]. After the 2006 revision of JIS C 9801 governing test measurement conditions for refrigerators, the ratio for units made in 2006 to 2008 decreased to 1.2, and for units made in 2009 or later the ratio stayed at 1.4. The actual UEC for units made in 2009 or later was 443 kWh/year, which is 37% lower than that of the 2003 to 2005 group. Also, the actual UEC per unit rated volume was lower for newer refrigerator models at 1.2 kWh/L-year for units made in 2009 or later, a decrease to about half the level of pre-1999 refrigerators. Therefore, it is evident that refrigerator energy efficiency has greatly improved in recent years.

	Actual UEC (temperature adjusted)	Labeled UEC	Rated volume	Ratio of actual to labeled	Actual UEC per rated volume	Ν
Year of	[kWh/year]	[kWh/year]	[L]		[kWh/L/year]	
production	[a]	[b]	[C]	[a]/[b]	[a]/[c]	
until 1998	704	445	284	1.6	2.5	12
1999-2002	644	406	347	1.6	1.9	10
2003-2005	704	233	394	3.0	1.8	10
2006-2008	590	487	357	1.2	1.7	13
since 2009	443	316	382	1.4	1.2	12
All	613	383	352	1.6	1.7	57

# Table 7: Comparison of actual and labeled electricity consumption of refrigerators and freezers

Note 1: UEC is unit electricity consumption. Note 2: Actual UEC (temperature adjusted) is calculated for each refrigerator using the observed relationship between outdoor temperature and that refrigerator's electricity consumption, using temperature data for a normal climate year to calculate temperature-adjusted annual electricity consumption. Note 3: Labeled UEC standard measurement conditions were revised in 1994, 1999, and 2006.



# Figure 8: Daily electricity consumption of refrigerator and freezer versus outdoor air temperature

Note1: The metering period is from 1 July 2012 to 17 February 2013. N varies, depending on the day. Note 2: Outdoor air temperature is the Meteorological Observatory's observed value. For the Tokyo metropolitan area it is Tokyo and for Hokkaido, it is Sapporo.

#### TV sets

Table 6 shows the comparison results for TV sets. The TV labeled UEC assumes 4.5 h/day of use. Because TVs in living rooms were used a lengthy 7.3 h/day, the actual UEC exceeded the labeled UEC by a factor of 2.3. TVs in other places, such as bedrooms, were used relatively briefly, so the ratio of actual to labeled UEC was lower, at 1.3. For each TV set, a usage adjusted UEC was calculated by multiplying the actual UEC by the ratio of standard (4.5 h) to actual usage hours. The average usage adjusted actual UEC was 182 kWh/year, exceeding the labeled UEC by a factor of 1.5. A detailed examination of the reasons for this gap is needed, but it is possible that it arises due to differences in modes of use, such as screen brightness.

Table 8: Comparison of actual and labeled electrici	ty consumption of TV sets
---	---------------------------

		Actual UEC		Hour of	Display	Ratio of	Ratio of actual	N
	Actual DEC	(usage adjusted)	Labeleu OEC	use	size	actual to	(adjusted) to	IN
	[kWh/year]	[kWh/year]	[kWh/year]	[h/day]	[inch]	labeled	labeled	
Place	[a]	[b]	[c]			[a]/[c]	[b]/[c]	
Living room	314	197	137	7.3	36	2.3	1.4	48
Other	124	146	94	4.2	26	1.3	1.6	20
All	258	182	124	6.4	33	2.1	1.5	68

Note 1: UEC is unit electricity consumption. Note 2: Actual UEC (usage adjusted) is calculated for each TV set, adjusting its usage to the standard (4.5 h/day) used for the labeled UEC.

#### DVD recorders

As shown in Table 7, the ratio of actual UEC to labeled UEC for DVD recorders (including Blu-ray) was 2.7 on average. To identify the time of use from the electricity consumption level is more difficult than for TV sets, so time in use was not added up. For recorders that had particularly big differences between actual and labeled UEC, a trend to exceed 10 W of minimum power consumption was seen.

The labeled UEC is calculated using the mode in which standby power is small, but it is likely that in these households, occupants set their recorders for the mode in which standby power is more significant, in order to shorten the wait time during start-up.

	Actual UEC	Labeled UEC	Ratio of actual to	Ν
Average of daily	[kWh/year]	[kWh/year]	labeled	
minimum power	[a]	[b]	[a]/[b]	
Above 10 Watt	255	54	4.7	6
10 Watt or below	87	44	2.0	20
All	125	46	2.7	26

Table 9: Comparison of actual and labeled electricity consumption of DVD/Blu-ray recorders

Note 1: UEC is unit electricity consumption.

Other

Results of comparisons for microwave ovens, rice cookers and electric toilet seats, together with the other three appliances are summarized in Table 8. The actual UEC was less than the labeled UEC for microwave ovens, rice cookers and electric toilet seats. However, the difference was not statistically significant for rice cookers. The standard measurement conditions for these three appliances have been set in detail based on survey results of actual conditions of use (such as environmental conditions and frequency of use), and it is possible that the circumstances of use of these microwave ovens and electric toilet seats differed from the standard assumptions.

Table 10: Compariso	n of actual and	l labeled electricity	consumption	of appliances
---------------------	-----------------	-----------------------	-------------	---------------

	Actual UEC	Labeled UEC	Ratio of actual to	Ν	Significant
	[kWh/year]	[kWh/year]	labeled		difference
	[a]	[b]	[a]/[b]		
Refrigerator and freezer	613	383	1.6	57	***
TV set	182	124	1.5	68	***
DVD / Blu-ray recorder	125	46	2.7	26	***
Microwave oven	46	71	0.66	21	***
Rice cooker	80	96	0.83	33	-
Electric toilet seat	115	210	0.55	28	***

Note 1: UEC is unit electricity consumption. Note 2: Refrigerator and electric toilet seat are temperature adjusted UEC, and TV is usage adjusted UEC. Note 3: Except for rice cookers, all appliances have actual UEC that are significantly different from the Labeled UEC at the 0.01 significance level. For rice cookers, the difference is not statistically significant even at the 0.1 level.

# Conclusion

In Japan, in addition to their relevance as climate change countermeasures, electricity saving measures have become an urgent topic in their own right, but existing data were insufficient to understand the structure of electricity demand of household appliances. With the objective to understand in detail the breakdown of household contributions to  $CO_2$  emissions, the Ministry of Environment carried out a questionnaire survey and an end-use metering survey.

In this paper the composition of household electricity use has been presented, from results of an enduse metering survey (over about a 7-month period) and a questionnaire survey about lighting equipment and usage, conducted in 56 households in the Tokyo metropolitan area and in Hokkaido (a cold climate region). Over the measurement period, on average, it was possible to account for 79% of total household electricity use in the Tokyo metropolitan area and 87% in Hokkaido, including estimated values for lighting.

Additionally, the composition of electricity consumption during grid peak demand hours was also shown. During the Tokyo metropolitan area's summer grid peak hours, electricity consumption in the

metered households could be broken down into AC with 38%, refrigerators with 25%, and TV sets with 7% of total household consumption. In other words, these three appliances accounted for a 70% share. The winter peak hours in the cold climate region of Hokkaido occur in the early evening, and various appliances contribute to household electricity consumption. However, it is noted that on very cold days in Hokkaido, electricity demand in the late night and the morning is also very high.

For appliances with energy efficiency standards that specify annual electricity consumption as an energy efficiency indicator, the metered results were compared with the labeled values. For refrigerators and freezers, the actual UEC was 1.6 times the labeled value. However, for units made in or after 2006, when the standard measurement conditions were revised, this difference was smaller, and both the UEC and the UEC per rated volume tended to decrease. TV sets and DVD recorders also exceeded their labeled UEC, probably due to being used in a different mode than that specified in the standard measurement conditions. Microwave ovens, rice cookers, and electric toilet seats used less than their labeled UEC, but the difference was not statistically significant for rice cookers.

# Acknowledgements

We are grateful to the Ministry of the Environment, Government of Japan, for sponsoring our work for the report "Structural analysis and encouragement of model business subcontractors for electricity conservation and CO2 reduction" (*setsuden CO2 sakugen no tame no kouzou bunseki jissen sokushin moderu jigyou suishin itaku gyoumu*) in 2012. We appreciate Barbara Litt's help in translating this paper from Japanese.

# References

- [1] Sawachi, T., K. Bougaki, H. Yoshino, K. Suzuki, S. Akabayashi, T. Inoue et al. Energy Consumption for Different Uses in Dwelling and its Estimation Formulas : Study of energy consumption in residential buildings from the viewpoint of life style on the basis of national scale surveys Part 1. Architectural Institute of Japan Journal of Architecture and Planning, no.462, pp.41-48. August 1994. (in Japanese)
- [2] Inoue, T., S. Mizutani, T. Tanaka. Energy Consumption in Housing on the Basis of National Scale Questionnaire : Analysis of influence of various factors on annual energy consumption part 2. Architectural Institute of Japan Journal of Environmental Engineering, no.606 pp.75-80. August 2006. (in Japanese)
- [3] Tsuji, K., O. Saeki, A. Suzuhigashi, F. Sano and T. Ueno. An End-Use Energy Demand Monitoring Project for Estimating the Potential of Energy Savings in the Residential Sector. Proceedings of 2000 ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings, pp.2.311-2.322. August 2000.
- [4] Akabayashi, S., S. Murakami, K. Bougaki, T. Tanaka, H. Hayama, H. Yoshino et al. Study on the Energy Consumption of Various Electric Appliances for the 80 Houses in Japan. Architectural Institute of Japan Journal of Environmental Engineering, no.619 pp.61-67. September 2007. (in Japanese)
- [5] Tsurusaki, T., Y. Iwafune, Y. Shibata, C. Murakoshi and H. Nakagami. Actual Energy Consumption of Top-Runner Refrigerators in Japan. Proceedings of the 4th International Conference on Energy Efficiency in Domestic Appliances and Lighting (EEDAL'06), pp.49-58. June 2006.

# Development of an interactive web application to improve residential end-use efficiency

## HJ Vermeulen, C du Preez

Dept. of Electrical and Electronic Engineering, Stellenbosch University, Stellenbosch, South Africa

#### Abstract

In South Africa and elsewhere, electricity supply exigencies and a need to promote the sustainable use of resources have prompted an emphasis on affordable, rapidly scalable solutions in the form of Demand Side Management and Energy Efficiency. The improvement of end-use energy efficiency is generally accepted as an obvious, simple and inexpensive measure to manage a consumer's energy demand. Residential electrical end-use has been identified as an area where the potential for change exists and the research documented in this paper is aimed at a residential end-user. The ability of an interventionist strategy to harness this potential determines its effectiveness in delivering desired results. The paper describes the development of an interactive web application for residential endusers as an intuitive, dynamic tool to improve energy efficiency through modified consumption behaviour and the adoption of energy efficient habits. Emphasis has been placed on the education of end-users through exposure to energy efficient guidelines and consumption analysis. Current web technology was evaluated and the resulting format is a Rich Internet Application favouring an interactive, minimalistic design with graphic content. "At-a-glance" feedback is presented by means of data visualization to resemble a dashboard. With extendibility and ease of maintenance in mind, the desired functionality and dynamic content have been achieved through a relational database-driven design structured around electric end-use categories and associated household appliance types.

#### Introduction

The vulnerability of energy systems impacts energy security on economic, technical and social levels. At a micro-economic level, this vulnerability determines how exposed consumers are to possible interruption of supply as well as an increase in price [1]. In 2008, supply-related issues culminated in a large-scale power crisis in South Africa. Insufficient coal supplies, infrastructure requirements and supply disruption had depleted the country's electricity reserves and caused immense pressure on the state-owned electrical supply utility, Eskom. The course of events underlined the pressing need for affordable, rapidly scalable solutions in the form of Demand Side Management (DSM)/Energy Efficiency (EE) initiatives to reduce disruptive measures such as load shedding [2].

Eskom's ability to deliver sustained energy security is routinely beleaguered with bureaucratic issues and concerns. South African consumers must adjust to a steep electricity price increase to compensate for a lack in investment in generation capacity and a historically too low electricity price. In the beginning of 2010, the National Energy Regulator of South Africa (NERSA) approved the implementation of a sliding-scale tariff-based structure for the residential customer base in the form of an Inclining Block Tariff (IBT). A Time Of Use (TOU) pricing scheme correlates electricity price with time of consumption and according to the tariff structure, higher consumption customers will be charged more based on their electricity usage. The time-based pricing scheme for the suburban residential sector with relatively high consumption, will be phased in once advanced smart metering infrastructure is in place. The IBT roll-out by Eskom commenced in the first half of 2010 [3].

The category of households whose fuel expenditure is in excess of 10% of the household income is deemed vulnerable to fuel poverty [1]. However, as electricity consumers are demanding higher levels of reliability, efficiency and environmental performance [4], coupled with the need to promote the sustainable use of resources, the introduction of simple interventionist measures to manage consumer energy demand can significantly benefit most households. This research paper documents a number of key aspects of the development of a tool to educate residential end-users on energy efficiency and improve end-use energy efficiency by means of an interactive, web-based application. The provision of consumption analysis feedback in the form of appliance usage profiles, can assist a

consumer in realizing the cost benefits associated with appliance scheduling based on a TOU framework.

# Energy Efficiency (EE) and Demand-Side Management (DSM)

The cumulative residential load on a power system or part thereof, is determined according to different residential customer types whose household activities are unique yet in accordance with certain predictable usage patterns. In order to establish energy security within the energy provision-consumption context, DSM involves all interventions that occur on the demand side (as opposed to the supply side) where the end-user resides. Consumer participation within the residential sector can minimize peak hour consumption through the implementation of measures such as appliance scheduling and a more judicious use of electricity. Demand in most households can be directly correlated with family activity peak times and is simultaneously linked to affordability, lifestyle and preferences [5]. Knowledge of household consumer loads is considered essential in order to both forecast demand at utility level and to predict potential savings through DSM schemes. In recent years, an extensive body of research knowledge has been collected on interaction between members of a household and their appliances and how consumption is defined by non-technological factors such as price, convenience and habit.

End-use analysis is proposed to be the best way to study load usage in order to fully grasp and model customer usage and is defined as the study of basic causes of electric demand by customer type, time, end-use category, and type of appliance [5]. Disaggregation of residential consumption has been applied in research studies as a means of distinguishing between different energy consuming appliances to reveal consumption trends. As noted by Paatero and Lund, unless exposed, "(t)he fluctuation of electricity consumption concerning an individual household remains unrevealed as well as the division of consumption between different types of household appliances." [6]

Findings from a study on the effectiveness of feedback on energy consumption indicate that, domestic energy use is largely invisible to the user and most consumers are ignorant of their consumption behaviour, i.e. how much energy they use towards various ends [7]. Consequently, consumers are also ignorant of the effect of modified behaviour through an investment in efficiency measures. The case for feedback is put forward as a measure to "make energy more visible and more amenable to understanding and control" [7]. The author recommends a user-friendly display to show "instantaneous usage, expenditure and historic feedback as a minimum, with the potential for displaying information on microgeneration, tariffs and carbon emissions" for optimal usefulness [7].

## **Overview of end-user feedback**

The research documented in this paper underwrites the proposition that, through readily accessible real-time feedback, consumers can adjust usage patterns in accordance with energy efficiency principles. The utilisation of instantaneous direct feedback can serve as means to devolve and transfer both control and ownership to the end-user. Feedback should enable the consumer to immediately see the effect of switching on an appliance and realise the benefits of a reduction in consumption.

Feedback is associated with a learning process through its contribution to the end-user's implicit knowledge repository. Through the exercise of interpreting feedback on energy supply and usage, end-users assimilate information concerning their energy use which in turn prompts them to act and modify their behaviour in some way [7]. The combination of a home energy audit and "disaggregated" feedback, made available as at-a-glance displays, can reveal to the end-user which end-uses consume most energy. The rationale for this type of feedback is based on the educational value in raising awareness of the relative demand from different appliances. Disaggregated feedback can be included in billing in a format such as a pie-chart to display a typical breakdown of main domestic end-uses [7].

The feedback system in this research is conceptualized as a virtual residence which the end-user can construct and populate with appliances to observe the effects of various end-use scenarios. A web application was used to accomplish this and channel feedback to the user by means of a dashboard

interface. A dashboard is nowadays commonly associated with a real-time user interface to convey an organization's Key Performance Indicators (KPIs).

Efforts in recent years have been made to develop residential energy management systems to intelligently manage and raise awareness about residential energy consumption [8]. This has given rise to the development of both commercial projects such as Microsoft's System Hohm, and freely available energy monitoring tools such as Google's PowerMeter [9]. Nevertheless, the GoogleMeter service was retired in September 2011 and similarly Microsoft's Hohm has been halted [9]. A number of conjectures are put forward as to why the big Internet companies' online energy monitoring tools have failed [10]. One reason considers the American market for home energy management to be still too immature and that the online energy tools were prematurely introduced.

In comparison with the American market, there is a far greater financial incentive for South Africans to utilise energy saving tools. When measured in real terms, the cost of residential electricity in the US decreased by an annual average of 0.8 percent in both 2012 and 2013 [11]. In terms of disposable income, an average American household spends far less on electricity compared to a South African household.

To date there is no market research available from the Human Sciences Research Council (HSRC) in South Africa on how the South African market may respond to online energy metering tools. In February 2012, the European Utilities Telecom Council (EUTC) and Eskom held a conference on the Smart Grid in Africa in view of planning for the development and deployment of smart metering [12]. Eskom's spokesperson noted that the commercial viability of smart metering still needs to be demonstrated since it is key to be able to deploy and interface with existing systems [13].

South Africa's diverse demographic make-up poses a challenge in identifying the target market and the average end-user with whom to engage during the design process. An honest review is required of what can be most effectively accomplished, yet presented and communicated in a simple, intuitive way. Although income levels are indicative of end-user energy consumption, a high earning household does not necessarily waste energy. Similarly, an indigent household does not necessarily consume energy prudently. Despite the marked differences in literacy levels amongst South Africans, the technological dexterity of the youth, forming a large portion of the South African society, and the ubiquitous presence of smart phones set the stage for a high adoption rate of a web-based application. With many metropolitan schools in South Africa providing computers with Internet access and with increased access to wireless (Wi-Fi) network points, the channels to modify energy consumption behaviour and cultivate awareness of EE habits are more readily available.

# Profiling residential electrical energy demand

Domestic demand can be qualified by means of end-use energy models by considering particular end-uses. The accuracy of end-use models is dependent on grass-root level consumption details such as appliance inventories and associated usage profiles [6]. Demand is determined as a load-average for a given time period referred to as the "demand interval", for example measured for 15 minute intervals, 30 minute intervals, or on an hourly, daily, monthly or annual basis [5]. Demand which is measured and recorded on an hourly or half-hourly basis for one day yields a load curve. If measured half-hourly, there are 48 intervals and each of the values is an indication of the average demand for that interval. The domestic load profile fluctuates on an hourly, daily and seasonal basis [5]. Demand for lighting, for example, is characterized by a daily pattern, varying according to the time of day, i.e. usually highest in the early morning and after dusk. End-uses such as cooling and heating exhibit seasonal variations as accompanying weather conditions impact daylight hours and ambient temperatures.

An energy profile associated with an appliance depicts its usage over a designated period of time, such as a half-hourly energy consumption profile. For DSM interventions and EE initiatives, conventions that apply in the field of Measurement and Verification (M&V) are used to consolidate consumption into half-hour intervals associated with applicable TOU tariffs [15]. Indicators such as Half-hourly Energy Consumption profiles and Cumulative Energy Consumption are typically included in feedback information. Cumulative Energy Consumption, as the sum of the half-hourly energy consumption profile values for a specified period, is reported as kW demand.

Instead of directly measuring demand, daily half-hourly energy consumption profiles can be calculated from knowledge of the appliance's kilowatt (kW) rated value and a user-defined period. Based on the user's choice of appliance, a database query can extract the appropriate kW value and, together with the user's input of start- and end-timestamps, the appliance's energy consumption can be calculated. Proceeding in this way, a daily energy consumption profile over 48 half-hour intervals 00:00, 00:30, 01:00 etc., can be constructed for one or more appliances.

It is conventional to utilize one of two time-stamping formats in M&V, namely forward filling and backward filling timestamps [15]. In the case of forward filling timestamps the associated energy consumption value designates the value for the half-hour starting at the time-stamp value. In the case of backward filling timestamps the associated energy consumption value designates the value for the half-hour starting at the timestamp value. In the case of backward filling timestamps the associated energy consumption value designates the value for the half-hour ending at the timestamp value [15]. Forward-filling timestamps are used in the application.

#### Appliance duty cycles

Unlike resistive loads such as lights, toasters and kettles, a number of appliances' operation exhibit cyclic on and off temporal patterns. These cycles are referred to as duty cycles and are features of appliances that typically have an embedded controller such as a temperature control system. Appliances that have duty cycles are for example hot water geysers, air conditioning units, heaters, refrigerators and freezers as well as dishwashers and washing machines. Most of these appliances have, as part of their control system, a thermostat to control temperature. For example, in the case of an air conditioning unit, during the hottest part of the day the unit will remain on for longer and off for shorter periods in order to achieve and maintain a required set ambient temperature [5].

It is important to differentiate between an appliance duty cycle, which is intrinsically part of the operation of some appliances, and a user-initiated usage cycle, as illustrated in Figure 1. When a user switches on an appliance such as a washing machine at 06:15 on a weekday morning in summer, the user has initiated a usage cycle. If that is the usual time that the user uses the appliance on a weekday in summer, a usage pattern or profile can be identified for the particular appliance. On the other hand, once the washing machine is switched on, and depending on its setting, the appliance itself runs through an appliance specific pattern of on and off cycles of variable duration. These duty cycles will vary based on the particular machine's washing, rinsing or spinning cycles.



Figure 1: Appliance duty cycle versus usage cycle

To avoid compromising accuracy, the software application makes provision for controlled appliances through the inclusion of duty cycle data in the background as shown in the diagram in Figure 2. Duty cycle data was obtained and stored in a database during a case study in which household appliances were logged to generate event log data.



Figure 2: Incorporation of duty cycle data in profiling consumption

Since appliances, such as washing machines and their settings, vary greatly, it is not feasible to establish a universal duty cycle pattern per appliance. Extensive research would be required in order to accumulate such data for all household appliances whose operation display cyclic on and off patterns. However, for a more accurate representation, duty cycle data should be incorporated during the creation of usage profiles of relevant appliances/loads.

# **Application Development Methodology**

#### Design

The research was aimed at creating a tool to educate an end-user on the benefits of improved energy efficiency through changed attitudes and behaviour. The design philosophy has therefore been focused on the need to extend both information and control to the user by means of a real-time feedback system. System inputs are tailored around the user's specific end-use scenarios with associated load types and energy-consuming activities.

A dynamic application ensures extendibility and ease of maintenance. To achieve a dynamic application, the design is divided into a server side, to provide dynamic content by means of a relational database, and an interactive user interface on the client side, as demonstrated in Figure 3.



Figure 3: Interaction between the client and server sides

The relational database is structured around end-use categories and appliance types. The database is a data repository associating certain end-uses with certain areas or venues. Accordingly, only those appliances which are grouped within certain end-use categories would be available choices for the user. This logical grouping constrains the number of scenarios which a user can create, as illustrated by the intersection shown in the Venn diagram in Figure 4.



#### Figure 4: Intersection between area, end-use category and load type

Under normal circumstances, a user will not have a washing machine in a dining room or a microwave in a bathroom. The application caters for the general case, whereby an activity is associated with the most likely venue choice. An end-use category such as laundry is therefore associated with areas such as a kitchen, scullery, garage or bathroom.

Two platforms were used during the development and testing of the application, namely Microsoft Windows and the UNIX/Linux platform with their respective open-source stacks, i.e. WAMP (Windows, Apache, MySQL and PHP) and LAMP (Linux, Apache, MySQL and PHP).

Extensive research was conducted to collect data on common household appliances and their electrical power ratings for inclusion in the MySQL database. For the client side, current web technology was evaluated and the resulting format is a Rich Internet Application (RIA) favouring an interactive, minimalistic design with graphic content. An RIA provides more seamless data exchange and interactive features resulting in a richer user experience than traditional page-based HyperText Markup Language (HTML) applications. The following considerations were taken into account:

- Ease and speed with which to achieve a complex level of interactivity.
- Cross-browser compatibility.
- Full integration with a MySQL database where Hypertext Preprocessor (PHP) can be used as the scripting language to facilitate the data exchange between the client and the server side.

At the time of the application's development, Flash technology, using the Flex framework, was best suited to achieve the desired functionality, although HTML5 is now making similar features more available. A Flash Player plug-in (downloadable for free) is required, however, the adoption rate is high and if a user's computer does not have a current enough version, a prompt to upgrade will follow. With regard to future deployment alternatives, Flash content is, however, not supported on all mobile devices. To date, Apple is famously resistant meaning that iPhone and iPad users cannot view Flash content.

Emphasis was placed on designing for the user, otherwise referred to as "User Experience Design", which relies on the implementation of three primary aspects, i.e. Content Strategy, Interaction Design and Visual Design [16]. A number of principles for effective user interface design was originally developed by Molich and Nielsen [17] and since distilled by Nielsen to a set of "Usability Heuristics" [18]. The following four have been considered most significant during the application's development:

- Conformation between the system and the real world: The system design should adopt familiar conventions with which the user can relate. The presentation and ordering of information should appear natural and logical. The design and terminology should be user-oriented as opposed to system-oriented.
- *Consistency and standards:* Ambiguity should be avoided so that users do not have to wonder about the meanings of different words, situations or actions.
- *Enhanced visibility:* Visibility should be promoted in favour of reliance on the user's ability to recall objects, actions and selections. Dialogue and program flow should demonstrate a sense of continuity. Instructions for system-use should be easily perceptible and retrievable as needed.
- *Clear and minimalist design:* Essential and relevant information must be conveyed, since a focus on one particular area or dialogue inadvertently reduces the relative visibility of other areas.

Usability engineer, Donald Norman, cautions against the tendency to increase complexity through the addition of features which in turn leads to a decrease in usability and comprehension [19]. According to Wood and Newborough, a design should establish preferred or optimal display arrangements by restricting features which are not absolutely necessary and organizing and grouping features to broadcast a message of simplicity [20].

#### Implementation

Interactive features such as drag-and-drop functionality as well as data visualization were implemented to create the concept of a virtual residence that is designed to combine simplicity with a user-friendly, intuitive approach. The development of the application and its Graphical User Interface (GUI) was accomplished by implementing the four usability features within the framework of Content Strategy, Interaction Design and Visual Design as follows:

- Content Strategy:
  - Logical layout and navigation.
  - Graphic content in the form of generic icons.
  - Dashboard presentation with panels and charts.
  - Dropdown boxes with filtered choices based on dynamic database-driven content to reduce typed data input and dialogue.
  - Preserved data integrity and avoidance of SQL injections by keeping user input to the minimum.
- Interaction Design:
  - Rich Internet Application technology with event-driven features such as click events and interactive charts.
  - Drag-and-drop functionality.
  - Dynamic client-server data exchange.
  - Intuitive navigation.
- Visual Design:
  - Use of graphic icons to minimize text and dialogue.
  - Watermarked areas to support recognition rather than recall.
  - Dashboard "at-a-glance" presentation.
  - Data visualization using Flex native charts and 3<sup>rd</sup> party charting solutions.

The application combines the above design features with the following functionality in a three-tier arrangement whereby the user can perform certain tasks:

- Survey:
  - Create a virtual residence.
  - Conduct an appliance audit in order to identify electrical loads within the residence.
- Analysis:
  - Analyse installed capacity based on different end-use categories.
  - Analyse appliance usage through division of consumption.
  - Select an appliance and assign a daily usage profile to it by determining the times during the day when the appliance is in use. The user can thereby characterize and create a load profile based on appliance-specific usage.
  - View a resultant daily usage profile generated from the accumulated usage profiles of a number of appliances.
  - View a cost analysis by combining the time of appliance operation depicted in the usage profile with a Time Of Use (TOU) tariff structure.
- Educational guidelines:
  - Raise awareness and educate the user through exposure to practical energy efficient guidelines.
  - Educate the user on the load characteristics of common household appliances.

This functionality is summarised in Figure 5:



Figure 5: Three-tier functionality of the web application

Figure 6 and Figure 7 present some features of the GUI. Implementation of the concept of "recognition rather than recall" was accomplished by means of a watermarked area within the virtual residence, as illustrated in Figure 6:

Drag and drop appliances into your Kitchen	My Kitchen
Cleaning 🗸	
Dishwashers 🔹	
Drag appliances from this list:	
Silver Inox Dishwasher Bosch, SMS 69	
Bosch, SGS 45 N 18 EU	
Compact Dishwasher Bosch, SKS 50 E 12 EU	
Stainless Steel Dishwasher Siemens, SE 25 T 852 EU	

Figure 6: Virtual residence with watermarked area

Figure 7 provides an example of logical grouping for simplicity and disaggregated guided feedback from which the end-user can view installed capacity for a specific virtual venue and for a specific end-use category.



Figure 7: Disaggregated feedback showing installed capacity per venue and per end-use category

#### User-defined daily usage profiles

Various types of feedback of varying complexity and detail can be utilised by means of data visualisation objects such as charts. The following end-user feedback regarding appliance usage is incorporated in the application:

- ON/OFF daily profile for a specific appliance or load.
- Daily average ON time (as %) per half-hour interval for a specific appliance or load.
- Cumulative daily kW demand for a user-defined selection of appliances.
- Comparative/relative daily kW demand for a user-defined range of appliances over a defined period.
- A daily TOU cost profile per appliance.

The conceptualization of a user-defined ON/OFF profile is shown in Figure 8, whereby a user can define a specific usage pattern per appliance:

	Select Time of day:	-	Profile name	My Microwave profile
Switched ON at:	Select a time:	-	Create profile	
For how long?	Select an interval:	-		

Figure 8: Conceptualization of a user-defined ON/OFF profile

An example of an ON/OFF profile for an individual load is shown in Figure 9 where the ON/OFF cycle is portrayed by switching between 1 and 0. Depending on the choice of appliance/load by the user, duty cycle information would automatically be incorporated into a profile.



Figure 9: User-defined ON/OFF profile for a geyser with duty cycle information incorporated

As shown in Figure 10, the user can be provided with feedback on the average daily ON time (as a percentage) for one or more user-selected appliances.



Figure 10: Daily average ON time (%) per half-hourly intervals for a geyser

Figure 11 shows feedback in the form of cumulative kW demand for one day for a selection of loads:



Figure 11: Cumulative daily kW demand for three user-selected appliances

Figure 12 portrays feedback in the form of a grouping for three consecutive days so that the user can compare relative demand for a user-defined set of appliances/loads.



Figure 12: Three-day comparative kW demand for a user-defined set of appliances

The TOU pricing scheme applicable for suburban South African residential consumers will be phased in once advanced metering infrastructure is in place [3]. Based on the TOU pricing scheme, the following functionality, shown in Figure 13, is included in the application tool to provide user feedback in the form of a cost analysis and encourage appliance scheduling.



Figure 13: User-defined TV usage and TOU cost profile for one day

## Test case

The web application was applied to a middle-income residence within the Stellenbosch municipal area in the Western Cape. The household consists of four members, namely two adults and two children. A virtual residence was created followed by an appliance audit per area/venue in order to establish both an area inventory and a loads inventory. The analysis features were tested and usage profiles were generated for a number of the appliances. As recommended in the next section, assessment on two different levels is required, i.e. testing of the technical features and market research.

# **Conclusion and recommendations**

Active participation by consumers to improve EE requires some form of intervention to educate and raise awareness. The paper has promoted the use of a feedback system as a tool to transfer knowledge and control to the end-user to reduce energy consumption and improve efficiency. The research outcomes have been the product of an investigation into various technology and display options in order to ensure the presentation of fairly complex functionality in the simplest, most intuitive fashion. The resultant feedback interface has been a web application in the form of an RIA to present the end-user with relevant information. Dynamic interactivity has been achieved through the development of a relational database on the server-side.

#### Recommendations

Further development and ongoing research would be required in terms of the database to ensure upto-date, comprehensive content with regards to common household appliances.

It is proposed that the application's technical features are reviewed by releasing a beta version of the application to a selected focus group. Based on the outcome, an iterative software development process will follow to prepare a version for the next phase of testing.

A test group, representative of the South African population, would need to be identified to use the application as part of a survey in order to evaluate aspects such as:

- How is the application received by a varied group of end-users?
- Is the application's design and layout user-friendly and intuitive?
- How effective are the educational guidelines and real-time feedback for end-users to make sensible consumption decisions?
- Can the application meet the overall objective of encouraging consumers to reduce consumption and adjust their usage patterns by, for example, scheduling appliances?

Evaluation of adjusted consumption patterns can be accomplished by comparing the test group to a control group who have had no exposure to the application.

Based on the outcomes of the evaluation stages, it may be worthwhile to investigate the creation of a mobile application or "app" in order to migrate to a mobile platform in addition to the web platform. Incorporating the application with technology employed in smart metering could also become a consideration in order to interface with smart systems.

# References

- [1] P. O'Keefe, G. O'Brien and N. Pearsall, *The Future of Energy use.* London: Earthscan, 2010.
- [2] Implementing energy efficiency and demand side management: South Africa's standard offer model. *Energy Sector Management Assistance Program (ESMAP)* Available: <u>http://www-wds.worldbank.org/external/default/WDSContentServer/WDSP/IB/2012/05/22/000427087\_20</u> 120522115749/Rendered/PDF/690330ESM0P1180SouthAfrica0WebFinal.pdf.
- [3] Tariffs & charges booklet 2011/12. Available:http://www.eskom.co.za/content/Tariffbrochure2011.pdf.
- [4] C. W. Gellings, *The Smart Grid: Enabling Energy Efficiency and Demand Response.* Lilburn, GA: Lilburn, GA: Fairmont Press, 2009.
- [5] H. L. Willis, *Power Distribution Planning Reference Book.* New York, N.Y.: Dekker, 1997.
- [6] J. V. Paatero and P. D. Lund, "A model for generating household electricity load profiles," *Int. J. Energy Res.*, vol. 30, pp. 273-290, 2006.
- [7] S. Darby. The effectiveness of feedback on energy consumption. A review for DEFRA of the literature on metering, billing and direct displays. *Environmental Change Institute*, 2006. Available: http://www.eci.ox.ac.uk/research/energy/downloads/smart-metering-report.pdf

- [8] A. Barbato, A. Capone, G. Carello, M. Delfanti, M. Merlo and A. Zaminga, "Cooperative and non-cooperative house energy optimization in a smart grid perspective," in *World of Wireless, Mobile and Multimedia Networks (WoWMoM), 2011 IEEE International Symposium on a,* 2011, pp. 1-6.
- [9] Google PowerMeter: A google.org project. [Online] Available: http://www.google.com/powermeter/about/.
- [10] K. Fehrenbacher. 5 reasons why Microsoft's Hohm didn't take off. [Online] Available: <u>http://gigaom.com/cleantech/5-reasons-why-microsoft-hohm-didnt-take-off/</u>.
- [11] Short-term energy outlook. U.S. Energy Information Administration. United States of America. [Online] Available: <u>http://www.eia.gov/forecasts/steo/pdf/steo\_full.pdf</u>.
- [12] EUTC/ESKOM 2012. [Online] Available: http://eutceskom2012.utc.org/.
- [13] S. Burger. South Africa opts for incremental smart-grid migration. *Engineering News* [Online] Available: <u>http://www.engineeringnews.co.za/article/business-needs-crucial-for-eskom-smart-grid-migration-2012-03-30</u>.
- [14] SuperWEB interactive data. [Online] Available: http://interactive.statssa.gov.za/superweb/login.do.
- [15] H. J. Vermeulen, J. C. Bekker and A. Jakoef, "Measurement and verification reporting protocols for load shifting and energy efficiency demand management projects," in *Energy Efficiency Convention (SAEEC), 2012 Southern African,* 2012, pp. 1-7.
- [16] R. Van der Merwe. Presentation on 'User Experience Design' delivered at Stellenbosch University, September 2010.
- [17] R. M. J. Nielsen, "Heuristic evaluation of user interfaces," in ACM CHI'90, Seattle, WA, April 1990, pp. 249-256.
- [18] J. Nielsen. Ten usability heuristics. 2011(March), Available:<u>http://www.useit.com/papers/heuristic/heuristic\_list.html</u>.
- [19] D. A. Norman, *The Design of Everyday Things*. New York: Basic Books, 2002.
- [20] G. Wood and M. Newborough, "Influencing user behaviour with energy information display systems for intelligent homes," *Int. J. Energy Res.*, vol. 31, pp. 56-78, 2007.
- [21] C. Du Preez. Development of an interactive energy management web application for residential end users. 2012. Available: <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10019.1/71926</u>

# The impact of home energy feedback displays and load management devices in a low energy housing development

# D.M. Whaley, S.R. Berry, W.Y. Saman

# Barbara Hardy Institute, University of South Australia

# Abstract

Home energy feedback display and monitoring systems are a key feature of Australia's leading eco-friendly housing development at Lochiel Park in South Australia. The displays comprehensively measure electricity, gas and water usage in real-time, and can manage loads during periods of peak electricity demand. The houses are designed to be near net zero energy homes and incorporate a high performance building envelope, roof-mounted photovoltaic panels, solar water heaters and energy efficient appliances.

The paper describes the display and monitoring systems, summarises samples of delivered energy results for selected households, and the average for Lochiel Park. The results show that despite living in similarly constructed houses, often with the same number of occupants, there are significant monthly and annual variations in net delivered energy.

In addition, this paper draws on a series of in-depth interviews to discuss the residents' attitudes towards, and experiences interacting with, the in-home feedback display and associated energy systems, and describes how feedback displays may assist residents understand their end-use energy behaviour, reduce their net energy use, and assess whether household appliances and energy systems are operating correctly.

The interview responses reveal a mostly positive attitude to the energy feedback displays, but a generally negative attitude towards the load management system. This negative response may be due to the lack of perceived benefits from such a device, and a poor understanding of how to operate this feature. Finally, this paper outlines the residents' suggestions for improving the energy feedback monitoring systems.

# Background

Evidence presented by world leading climate scientists is showing that anthropogenic greenhouse gas emissions has reached the level which is altering the global climate, and continued high use of carbon based fuels will further exacerbate the problem [1, 2]. Leading economists have suggested that human impact on the global climate is one of the greatest economic, social, political and environmental challenges facing this generation and our immediate future generations [3, 4].

In most developed nations housing has evolved to the degree that households expect high levels of thermal comfort, the convenience of an almost endless supply of electricity available at the flick of a switch, and hot water on demand, irrespective of the environmental impact of making that energy available [5]. Increasing demand for thermal comfort and other energy services around the world, combined with factors such as increasing population, all contribute to a continuing upward trend in energy demand [6]. Housing expectations and cultural norms, embedded institutional construction practices, regulatory standards and dominant technologies have evolved without due consideration of the resultant ecological footprint [7]. What we build, the appliances we install, and the way we operate our buildings is the result of many social, economic and technical influences, such as the cultural institutions that shape communities, the technology norms applied by industry, the education and training of actors that meet market demand for new housing, and the experience of households that demand and use new residential products [8]. This interaction of actors, institutions, rules and technologies over many years has brought us to the point where housing in many nations has a significant negative impact on the local environment and the global climate [9].

Concern for anthropogenic greenhouse gas emissions has prompted individuals, communities and governments in many countries to consider reducing building energy use and thus lowering the carbon impact of the building sector [6, 10]. Researchers and government agencies alike have suggested that improving the energy and carbon performance of residential buildings will play a key role in delivering substantial and sustainable greenhouse gas emission reductions in developed economies [11-14]. This energy and carbon emission reduction will likely be the result of changes in the technology applied to buildings, changes to the design of buildings, and changes to the way we operate our buildings and appliances [15].

Responding to concern over building energy use and residential greenhouse gas emissions, the South Australian Government chose to showcase the cutting edge of climate relevant sustainable urban development by creating Lochiel Park, a model green village of national and international significance [16].

#### **Creation of Lochiel Park**

The Lochiel Park Green Village is a planned estate of 106 residential dwellings, created though the policy initiative of the State Government of South Australia, with estate design and management by a government agency, infrastructure and housing constructed by the private sector, and the majority of dwellings sold to the general public through the local real estate industry.

Located on 15 hectares of surplus government land, approximately eight kilometres North-East of the Adelaide central business district [17], the development was originally intended to be disposed to the property market as a standard broad-acre land sale of 150 residential allotments, but a change of state government introduced new policy objectives including an increased interest in environmental outcomes [18]. This resulted in the Premier of South Australia declaring in 2004 of the project's new intent [18]:

"I want South Australia to become a world leader in a new green approach to the way we all live. The Lochiel Park Development will become the nation's model 'Green Village' incorporating Ecologically Sustainable Development (ESD) technologies."

Given explicit direction from the State Premier to develop a niche green urban estate of world standing, an advisory panel of state and local government officials and community representatives was established to define high level objectives across a relatively broad range of areas including environmental sustainability, social sustainability, urban form, transport, industry development and economics [17]. By benchmarking against major international and national niche green residential developments, performance targets were set covering potable water, open space, water recycling, energy technologies, revegetation, solar passive design, waste reduction and management, designed building life span, local transport use, community interaction, and many other impacts. These detailed targets were refined in consultation with the various expert groups [18], with final design overarching targets set at a reduction of:

- 66% energy used
- 74% greenhouse gas emissions
- 78% potable water use

Expert consultative groups for energy and water were used to translate the original targets into rules and guidance materials that could communicate the desired sustainability principles to be applied to each house. These were published in the Urban Design Guidelines [19], with minimum requirements including:

- 7.5 NatHERS Stars thermal comfort<sup>1</sup>
- Solar water heating, gas boosted
- 1.0kWp photovoltaic system for each 100m<sup>2</sup> of habitable floor area
- High star rated (highly efficient) household appliances
- Low energy lighting (CFLs & LEDs)
- Ceiling fans in all bedrooms and living spaces (to promote air movement)
- Rainwater harvesting feeding the hot water system
- Treated storm water feeding toilets, cold laundry taps and irrigation
- An in-home energy use feedback display (in a location that encourages resident interaction)

The Guidelines established a new set of rules, calling for practices outside existing institutional and professional norms, requiring the application of technologies and systems uncommon to the mainstream building industry, and the consideration of new performance indicators bringing new concepts to building design and construction practices. These Guidelines meant that households were exposed to different technologies and styles of house design compared to new dwellings commonly available in South Australia.

Upon the release of the Guidelines, housing product was offered to the open market in 2007 with construction of the first homes beginning in 2008. The majority of the housing allotments had been sold by mid 2011, and the majority of the homes completed and occupied by late 2012.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The star rating indicates the dwelling's predicted annual heating and cooling requirement to maintain human thermal comfort, which is determined by a computer program that considers the dwelling's fabric and form, and assumed user behavioural patterns for a nominated climate year (see www.nathers.gov.au). A star rating of 10 means that that no external heating or cooling is required, whilst a star rating of 0 means that the building shell does practically nothing to reduce the discomfort of hot or cold weather.

This paper provides an insight into the energy performance of this green village, and in particular examines the effectiveness of in-home energy feedback displays in encouraging behaviour change. The paper is structured to provide a short review of the academic literature on the use and effectiveness of energy feedback displays, discuss the methodology and monitoring systems used in Lochiel Park, explore the energy performance of the development, and examine the findings from the in-depth household interviews.

# **Literature Review**

Energy use feedback typically exists in the form of periodic energy bills or through the need to gather and prepare fuel for cooking, heating and cooling or lighting. In developed and many developing countries, energy use feedback is often provided by regular bills based on metered consumption or predicted consumption of electricity, gas or liquid fuels. This feedback process is temporally removed from the day to day energy services that are responsible for the energy use, with billing intervals often monthly, bimonthly or quarterly. Metered bills typically show cumulative consumption over the billing period and are very unlikely to disaggregate consumption by end-use or time, while bills based on estimated consumption prevent households from recognising any relationship between energy services and energy use [20]. More recently, complex real-time of use information, even disaggregated to typical end-use, has become possible via computers, mobile phones, and other portable devices [21].

Readily accessible energy use information for households has been found to facilitate experimentation, encourage learning and support good energy management practices, but while feedback is necessary for the learning process, feedback on its own may not be sufficient to bring about behaviour change [20, 22]. Darby [20] notes that energy use feedback has an educational impact as well as directly impacting behaviour, facilitating a greater consumer understanding of the relationship between energy services and energy use.

Energy feedback is not limited to the provision of energy use information. The recent acceleration in the uptake of domestic rooftop solar photovoltaic panels by the general public has meant a more widespread distribution of electricity generation and household tracking of energy generation data. Evidence is available demonstrating that building-integrated electricity generation with feedback displays can lead to energy demand reduction [23, 24].

A number of studies have identified energy savings associated with the use of in-house energy feedback displays [20, 25-28], with the energy saving impact of feedback technologies varying modestly across the literature. Ueno et al. [27] monitored the energy use of 8 households in Japan pre and post the installation of an in-home interactive feedback display, finding an average 9 per cent energy saving in the first two months after installation. Darby [20] summarised the results of various feedback studies and noted that savings of between 5 to 15 per cent were associated with direct feedback displays. Faruqui et al. [25] examined a dozen North American and international pilot programs and found that energy savings range from 3 to 13 per cent, with an average of 7 per cent. Ehrhardt-Martinez et al. [26] reviewed 23 mostly North American programs and found that energy savings associated with real-time aggregate feedback typically fall somewhere between 0.5 and 18 per cent. Stromback et al. [28] investigated 74 energy feedback trials in Europe, North America, Australia and Japan reporting average savings of 8.68 per cent for in-home displays.

The amount and type of displayed information are important factors in the success of achieving energy savings [22, 26, 29]. Darby [22] and Ehrhardt-Martinez et al. [26] have found that 'direct' feedback, such as real-time energy use data, has a significantly larger impact than 'indirect' feedback, such as billing data provided after consumption has occurred. Ehrhardt-Martinez et al. [26] and Fischer [29] argue that greater savings occur when information is more frequent (current) and more detailed (disaggregated).

Ehrhardt-Martinez et al. [26] also noted a relationship between the energy savings impact of the study and the period of householder interaction with feedback information, finding that average energy savings tend to be higher for shorter studies (average 10.1 per cent) than for longer studies (average 7.7 per cent). This raises the issue of sustainability for energy use behaviour change due to direct feedback systems. Ueno et al. [27] found that energy saving behaviour extended beyond the technology associated with the direct feedback information, demonstrating that in-home feedback displays help householders become more energy literate and develop new behaviour patterns. For the small sample of houses in their research, Ueno et al. [27] found that total energy use of the appliances displayed on the feedback system was reduced by about 12 per cent whilst the total consumption of the not-displayed appliances was reduced by about 5 per cent.

The literature also identifies different levels and types of energy savings. Ehrhardt-Martinez et al. [26] found three categories of action: 1) simple changes in routines and habits, 2) infrequent and low-cost energy stocktaking behaviours (i.e. replacing incandescent bulbs with CFLs), and 3) investments in new energy-efficient appliances, devices, and materials. The study noted that most of the energy savings achieved

through feedback programs resulted from changes in behaviour rather than investments, although greater savings were achieved by those households that invested in new technology.

The literature shows that households can react quite differently to the availability of energy use feedback data [30]. In a study of various in-home feedback display devices in Sweden, Vassileva et al. [30] found that 47 per cent of the participants interacted with the display quite often, while 19 per cent of the participants never consulted it. This study also found that the use of energy feedback displays with low-energy use households might, in some cases, cause an increase in energy use.

The Australian specific research into the effectiveness of in-home energy feedback displays is reasonably limited with results available from only two small-scale surveys, both of which are limited because the sample households were in the early stages of interaction or had virtually no experience interacting with the newly installed technology [31, 32]. This paper provides an opportunity to survey a larger group of households, most with multi-year experience interacting with in-home energy feedback displays.

# Methodology

This research was based on the analysis of quantitative data collected from installed monitoring systems, and the analysis of qualitative data collected from interviewing 10 resident households living in Lochiel Park.

#### **Resident Interviews**

To understand the experience and perceptions of residents, primary qualitative data was gathered through a set of 10 in-depth interviews, with residents selected at random from a field of over 60 candidate households who had lived at Lochiel Park for a period not less than 12 months. All volunteer households were owner-occupiers, who represent the largest resident type at Lochiel Park. Where possible all adult owners of the same household were interviewed together, but where this was not possible prompts were used to enquire into any differences likely between the adult residents. For households with children, additional prompts were used to enquire into their likely usage of the energy feedback display.

The semi-structured interviews [33], conducted 'face-to-face' in their home, utilised open-ended questions to provide a replicable focus on the research questions, and were designed to explore the experiences and perceptions of households.

The questions probed the experience of residents during the home buying and construction phases, their perception of thermal comfort and ease of operating a passive solar home, and their experience interacting with new energy technologies such as solar photovoltaics, solar thermal water heaters and the energy feedback displays.

To protect the confidentiality of the interviews, anonymous verbatim quotes are used to illustrate points. Elsewhere the original language used by interviewees has been incorporated into the paper, or paraphrased with a light touch to facilitate the clarity of the message.

The information collected from the interviews was triangulated through a comparison with the experience of the principal authors, who have interacted with almost all potential candidate households at Lochiel Park on related energy use research. The researchers have informally discussed the use of the feedback displays with residents separately, sometimes on multiple occasions. These interactions have been used to test whether the sample survey results are representative of the experiences of the total potential population. Comparisons are also made with the findings of the 2010/2011 series of Lochiel Park residents' interviews and an associated survey [32]. This series of interviews was conducted during the early stages of the development of Lochiel Park when only around a quarter of the homes were occupied, and during a period when many residents were still establishing their household routines and behaviours, but nevertheless these interviews provide a valuable comparison with the more recent series of interviews.

## **Overview of Lochiel Park Monitoring Systems**

The data presented in this study is based on monthly analysis of one minute interval data collected from the in-home displays installed in each Lochiel Park dwelling. Although the systems collect electricity, gas and water use, and electricity generation information, the focus of this paper is on individual household delivered energy, i.e. the difference between the onsite energy consumption and that generated onsite.

Each home is fitted with an 'EcoVision' brand monitoring system, which incorporates an in-home display, a programmable logic controller, and an array of intelligent meters and sensors [34, 35]. This monitoring system measures and displays the residents' electricity, water and gas use, plus solar photovoltaic electricity

generation, in real-time. This level of monitoring is referred to as *general* in the data reported in this paper. In addition, other information are monitored in 10 of the houses, such as the indoor air temperature and relative humidity, the electrical consumption of up to eleven energy services (including heating and cooling, lighting, laundry, etc). This is referred to as *detailed* monitoring. Table 1 summarises the data measured by each monitoring system. Detailed information is available in [34].

Table.1: EcoVision measured and calculated parameters for the general and detailed monitoring systems. Note (D) indicates digital, (A) represents analogue (4-20mA) sensors [35].

	Electricity (kWh)					Water (L)				Tank Level (%)	Gas (L)		GHG (kg)	Temp / RH		
System	Solar (D)	Import (D)	Export (D)	Total*	Net*	Individual appliances (D)	Mains (D)	Recycled (D)	Hot Usage (D)	Mains Hot (D)	Rain*	Volume (A)	Mains (D)	Hot Water (D)	Greenhouse Gas Emissions*	Living , Lounge, Bed rooms (6 A)
General	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	×	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	×	$\checkmark$	×	$\checkmark$	×
Detailed	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	<b>~</b>	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	✓	$\checkmark$	<b>√</b>	$\checkmark$	✓

A detailed monitoring system schematic is shown in Figure 1. The figure identifies the EcoVision touch screen, the programmable logic controller (PLC), the optical network terminal (ONT), the contactors, the interconnecting cables, and the various analogue and digital sensors. Note that an overview of the general monitoring system can also be seen in the figure, due to the common components (i.e. the 8 digital sensors surrounded by the dashed box). Raw data from each system is collected remotely each month.



# Figure 1: Overview of the detailed monitoring systems, showing various components. The dashed box represents the sensors used in the general monitoring system [35].

The system can also control the peak power demand by limiting it to a preset value. A feature of the EcoVision monitoring system allows peak energy demand events to be managed by interrupting the power supply to up to 6 individual power circuits or appliances by controlling specific contactors. The contactors are typically wired to appliances such as reverse-cycle air conditioners; pool or spa pumps; ovens and dishwashers, and power circuits such as laundry and kitchen, but not systems important to health and safety such as lighting and refrigeration. The load limit and the order in which appliances are deactivated are customised by the resident. The feature shuts down nominated appliances until the electricity load falls below the preset limit. Due to safety reasons, deactivated appliances are not automatically re-energised; this must be done by the resident manually. The Load Management feature is voluntary, and to encourage initial uptake the electrical retailer offered a small financial incentive to residents who maintained a 3kW limit at all times, however, this incentive is no longer available.

The heart of the EcoVision system is the in-home display which offers residents direct feedback, and realtime monitoring. The touch screen allows users to quickly summarise their consumption by time period and type of fuel / water, for any desired hour, day, week or month. Data is displayed numerically as well as in bar charts. The *detailed* monitored systems also offer a small degree of electrical energy consumption disaggregation, by breaking down how much energy is consumed by specific appliances or power circuits. Figure 2 shows a summary of electricity consumption and generation for one day.

Electricity Eco	Vision 🔍 🕽
Total Bectricity (0.235 kW)         Becthody Exported (1.0655 kW)         Electricity Imported (0.kW)           Solar (1.294 kW)         Desthody Exported (1.0655 kW)         Electricity (kW)           Cursor Time:         April 22 2010 Time: 12:56:00         Total Electricity (kW)	Total Elec Solar Net Elec
Daily Data for April 22	
Electricity Water Gas Greenhouse Costs	7.722         9.775         9.2057           evenin         evenin         evenin           Manage         Home           Solution         Solution

Figure 2: EcoVision screen, showing electricity consumption and generation for a period of one day.

The EcoVision system not only provides real-time information, it also allows users to compare their energy use and generation historically by month, week, day or hour. It also has the capability of converting the energy consumption to associated greenhouse gas emissions. Currently the system does not allow residents to directly compare results against other residents' usage or estate averages.

The EcoVision system consumes about 38W continuously (0.92kWh per day). This means that an amount of behaviour change is required before the system is of net energy and economic benefit to households.

## **Energy Performance of Lochiel Park Homes**

Figure 3 shows the average delivered energy for the entire estate over a 12 month period. The dashed blue line represents the estate's average, and shows the monthly standard deviation as vertical bars, whilst the red dots represent the average of the households interviewed in this study. The close agreement between the two averages indicates that the interviewed households are broadly representative of the estate as a whole. Note the number within the round brackets of the x-axis represents the number of households within the estate for which data is available to calculate the average. This number generally increases over the monitoring period as newly constructed houses are connected to the monitoring system, however, in some instances the number slightly decreases due to intermittent data collection system problems.



Figure 3: Average monthly delivered energy for Lochiel Park households (blue dashes), and for the subset of interviewed households (red dots).

Figure 3 also highlights three key features. Firstly, some Lochiel Park households are operationally net zero or below zero energy for summer months and those months immediately pre and post summer. Such a result demonstrates the successful application of low energy house design and fitout for temperate Australian conditions. Secondly, the average of the interviewed households is similarly zero or near net zero energy for those months. Thirdly, the large standard deviation span, particularly for winter months and late summer (February), indicates that there is a significant spread in net delivered energy for some households. This is despite the many common design and resident characteristics and energy system fitouts.

Figure 4 below shows the net delivered energy per month per resident for each of the interviewed households. After normalising for the number of residents in each household, the monthly delivered energy varies significantly between households, possibly indicating different energy consumption behaviours and/or the impact of differences in patterns of use and efficiency for particular appliances and equipment. In general, each house follows the same trend of higher delivered energy in winter months, most likely due to a combination of significantly lower solar photovoltaic electricity generation, higher artificial lighting use, and higher heating demand. Note that some of the interviewed households are missing data points, due to intermittent monitoring system faults.



#### Figure 4: Normalised average monthly delivered energy per resident of the interviewed households.

Figure 4 shows that three of the interviewed households achieve below zero delivered energy for six months of the year, whilst another achieves this for five months. In addition, the figure highlights two key features: firstly, Households D and E require higher amounts of delivered energy in the winter months. This is probably due to use of gas space or underfloor hydronic heating, whilst the remaining households utilise reverse-cycle air conditioners with a high coefficient of performance. Secondly, Household G consistently achieves operationally net or below zero energy performance. This is probably due to the combination of frugal energy use, an all-electric house with high efficiency appliances, and a relatively large solar photovoltaic system to offset expected electrical loads.

#### **Comparison with other Households**

Although the results from Figures 3 and 4 demonstrate that some Lochiel Park households require near zero delivered energy for either part or full year periods, the performance of these households should be compared with other existing data sets for similar homes and similar climates to properly gauge their performance. Figure 5 compares the delivered energy of the interviewed houses per habitable floor area, with existing data collected by the research team for a nearby new housing estate (Mawson Lakes, MLK) in 2002/03, and with current state (SA AVG) and Australian (AUS AVG) national averages [34]. Note that the total delivered energy for Houses E, I and J has been extrapolated to correct for incomplete data sets.

Figure 5 demonstrates that Lochiel Park households require significantly less delivered energy compared with the monitored sample of new homes from the Mawson Lakes estate, and compared to both the state and national averages for all households (including apartments, units and holiday homes).



# Figure 5: Delivered annual energy per habitable floor area for the interviewed households, a sample of Mawson Lakes households, and both state and national averages.

# **Interview Findings and Discussions**

The level of interaction between the households and their in-home energy feedback display varies widely from no engagement, to occasional use, to multiple daily interactions. Differences can be observed across gender and age, with females less likely to use the display, and older (retired persons) less likely to have high frequency (daily) interaction with the feedback system.

The majority of households (6/10) had daily interaction with the feedback display, 3/10 households had occasional interaction and one household never interacted with the display. These figures hide differences between genders, whereby almost all male adults (9/10) interacted with the feedback display, yet 4/10 female adults stated they had no regular interaction with the display. The response from Household E characterises a reasonably typical level of interaction with the feedback system:

#### I think it's useful, I value having it there, I look at it most days.

The frequency of interaction is slightly lower than that noted in the previous study [32], which found 80 per cent had daily interaction, but this may be explained by the novelty of the system wearing off with residents. Our research found a perception that use patterns have changed since the initial period of interaction, with half of the households suggesting they use the display less now than in the first 12 months of having the system available. One household felt that they have increased their usage of the display as they have grown more comfortable and confident using the system and the information provided. Household H represents the majority perception of usage changes, stating:

#### Less, a lot of it's the curiosity and learning the patterns of our usage.

The Edwards and Pocock [32] research was conducted during the first months of occupation for the first tranche of Lochiel Park households, and changes to interaction frequency have most probably occurred as households settle into their new home, lose some of the initial curiosity with the display, and become more familiar and comfortable with the various energy technologies and the pattern of their use.

Very few households (2/10) keep detailed tracking of daily energy use and electricity generation, manually transferring data from the feedback display to separate spreadsheets. Other users more casually track energy use and electricity generation. Household J used the monitored energy data to help predict the size of their next energy bill. Household B represents a high frequency user, revealing:

# 'I love the touch panel. I keep an ongoing spreadsheet of all our daily solar generation and electricity usage.'

Most higher frequency users asked for wireless local area network or Bluetooth compatibility to allow data downloads to other devices. Almost all households (9/10) considered some value in having the feedback information available on other devices such as mobile phones, tablet or laptop computers, particularly so data could be checked when residents are away from the house (i.e. at work or on holidays). Some households suggested greater value could be gained from the feedback displays if they could facilitate other activities such as linking to the internet, or allow settings for their solar water heater to be altered. Some users expressed frustration that variables such as energy prices and the time-clock could not be altered by residents, reducing the accuracy and usefulness of the output information.

The feedback displays were most often used for checking electricity usage, electricity generation from the solar photovoltaic system, and to a lesser extent, water usage. The residents of a detailed monitored house also monitored the amount of water available in the rainwater tank, using their display. One household found the gas data confusing. Household B expressed a desire to use the data to track the deterioration of photovoltaic panels over time. The monitored data was also used for fault identification, with five of the households mentioning how the in-home feedback display was helpful in identifying system failures or underperformance. For example: Household F checks the solar generation data on a regular basis to ascertain whether their DC/AC inverter is still operating, as a response to the original inverter burning out.

Several households thought that comparing their energy and water use with others in the Lochiel Park estate would be useful. Household C suggested a creative competition to encourage behaviour change by having an energy use challenge across the estate, with households able to see the energy use patterns of other Lochiel Park households.

Most households (7/10) felt that the system was easy to use, although comments were made from some who felt the software was not intuitive. This finding is similar to that of Edwards and Pocock [32] who found 80 per cent of households perceived the feedback displays to be easy to use. Household C provides a typical response to the question of ease of use:

#### Yeh, not a lot to it really.

Several households suggested that some of the information provided was confusing, particularly the time axis information which doesn't show the actual time of use. This may limit the user's ability to recognise the relationship between specific technology use and energy use. Household H stated:

On the timescale it's not registering the time of day, so I can guess when the graph timescale is. I can see the beginning of the day and end of the day ...

Few (3/10) households had attended a training session, with 6/10 suggesting that either more guide material or training would be useful.

The Load Management feature of the system was not being used by any of the households. Many households thought that feature was no longer operating, others thought the feature was of little value to them for they were already very energy efficient. Household B did not use this feature because they wanted to maintain control of all electrical appliances and equipment. Household E had used the feature but found it 'useless' after it turned the washing machine off when they needed the clothes washed. Household G attempted to use the feature without success. Household I thought it was 'conceptually fantastic, but not a good feature at the moment', and referred to a negative experience of another Lochiel Park household that was not interviewed in this study. Household F was typical of responses to this feature:

[person's name] did mention that and explained it somewhat, but we haven't sort of run into that territory where we've been motivated to need to do it, ...

The majority of households (7/10) believe they have modified their behaviour due to their interaction with the feedback system. And although the quantum of behaviour change could not be determined with any confidence through the interview process, two of the households suggested their behaviour changes were relatively small, but others have achieved larger savings. Household D noted that they disposed of an old second refrigerator because it used too much electricity for the pleasure of providing cold drinks. When asked about behaviour change Household J felt the feedback system had been instrumental in helping them alter their energy use behaviour:

Yeh, definitely; the last two billing periods we have really examined what we using and how we are using it and have made some significant changes.

Other households were not as positive about the affect of the feedback display of their energy use behaviour. Similarly Edwards and Pocock [32] found that some households considered their behaviour to be reasonably energy efficient and suggested that their behaviour would not be greatly affected by the feedback display. This type of response was identified in our interview series, with Householder I stating:

*We're here because we already were wary of our behaviours, we had already taught ourselves to conserve power .... Our behaviours had already changed, and they go on changing as we read more and we live in our house, but the screen is not part of that.* 

The displays provided a variety of other benefits. Several households noted they use the feedback data to maximize their economic return from the local solar feed-in tariff, by reducing electricity use during

photovoltaic generation hours and maximising export to the grid when electricity is at its highest value. Household C has used the feedback display to determine the energy use change associated with installing standby-load reduction technology.

The display was also being used as an educational tool, both to other members of the household and to visitors. Both Households D and G noted the value of showing the display to visitors.

An issue expressed by many households was the importance of service to maintain and repair the in-house feedback system. Several households talked about sensor faults, poor levels of response from the display provider, the slow process for software upgrades, and the lack of technical support. Household J raised the question of whether the system will be maintained for the life of the house.

Overall the value of the in-home energy feedback system is reflected in the number of households that wish to have a system in their next home. Six out of ten households suggested they would like a feedback system in their next home, although not all wanted the same brand of monitoring system, and one household qualified the response with concern about the system's affordability. On the whole there was sufficient interest to suggest the majority of households valued having live energy use and electricity generation monitoring in their home.

A larger sample of Lochiel Park households will be interviewed or surveyed to gain further understanding and insight into the experiences of residents and their in-home energy feedback displays. The larger sample size will facilitate a broader range of both quantitative and qualitative analysis investigating relationships between energy usage and other factors, such as demographics, frequency of interaction with displays, perceived need for energy services, and perceived energy use behaviour change.

# Conclusions

The paper has provided integrated technical and social research on the outcomes of a world class model green village which demonstrates how building design and practices, energy efficient appliances, renewable energy technologies, and household behaviours may lead to a more environmentally sustainable lifestyle. The Lochiel Park development includes the first large-scale residential development in South Australia with in-home energy feedback displays.

Detailed energy use and electricity generation monitoring has demonstrated that households in the Lochiel Park Green Village use substantially less delivered energy than others residing in new homes in the same climate.

A series of ten household interviews, backed by informal discussions with over fifty households, provides a new insight into the interaction of residents with in-home energy feedback displays. This new research is compared with data collected from the first tranche of households arriving at the same housing estate.

The research has found that the majority of households interact regularly with the feedback displays to examine their energy use and solar generation, but a small number of households have little or no interest in drawing on the available energy use information. Most households, even some who rarely use the displays, find the system easy to use.

Households perceive that the frequency of use has lessened over time as the curiosity wanes and they establish more regular patterns of energy technology use, but many households maintain daily interaction.

The load management feature of the system is not being used by any interviewed household, and few considered the feature useful. This is not surprising as there is no current financial incentive for limiting the peak demand.

The evidence from the interviewee perceptions is that the energy feedback displays assist households to reduce their energy use and identify energy system faults, although the quantum of energy saving is difficult to ascertain. Most households considered the feedback displays to be valuable tools and indicated they would most likely install similar technology in a future home.

The response of interviewees indicates that further research should be conducted by the feedback display system developers to ensure the information provided is easy to understand, provides useful comparisons, and the software navigation is user-friendly. Feedback display system developers should also consider minimising the system's energy demand, which would reduce the amount of behaviour change that is required before the system is of net energy and economic benefit to households.

The research has found that in-home energy feedback displays may play a useful role in supporting and encouraging energy use behaviour change, leading to lower energy use.

# Acknowledgements

The authors wish to acknowledge the funding and support provided by the CSIRO's Intelligent Grid Cluster. They would also like to thank the support and information provided by Renewal SA, in particular Andrew Bishop and Phil Donaldson. Finally, the authors wish to thank Dr Anne Sharp for her valuable advice and assistance in shaping the Lochiel Park residents' interview design.

## References

- [1] CSIRO. Climate Change in Australia: Technical Report 2007. Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation, Canberra; 2007.
- [2] Metz B, Davidson O, Bosch P, Dave R, Meyer L. Climate change 2007: mitigation of climate change : contribution of Working Group III to the Fourth assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, New York; 2007.
- [3] Stern N. The Stern review on the economics of climate change. HM Treasury, London; 2006.
- [4] Garnaut R. The Garnaut climate change review: final report. Cambridge University Press, Port Melbourne, Vic; 2008.
- [5] Shove E. Users, Technologies and Expectations of Comfort, Cleanliness and Convenience. Innovation: The European Journal of Social Science Research, 2003;16:193-206.
- [6] Pérez-Lombard L, Ortiz J, Pout C. A review on buildings energy consumption information. Energy and Buildings, 2008;40:394-8.
- [7] Crabtree L. Sustainable housing development in urban Australia: Exploring obstacles to and opportunities for ecocity efforts. Australian Geographer, 2005;36:333-50.
- [8] Guy S. Designing urban knowledge: Competing perspectives on energy and buildings. Environment and Planning C: Government and Policy, 2006;24:645-59.
- [9] Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. Environmentally sustainable buildings: challenges and policies. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, Paris; 2003.
- [10] Kapsalaki M, Leal V. Recent progress on net zero energy buildings. Advances in Building Energy Research, 2011;5:129.
- [11] International Energy Agency. Advanced and sustainable housing renovation. International Energy Agency, Paris; 2010.
- [12] Boardman B. Home Truths: A Low Carbon Strategy to Reduce UK Housing Emissions by 80% by 2050. Environmental Change Institute., Oxford; 2007.
- [13] Levine M, Urge-Vorsatz D, Blok K, Geng L, Harvey D, Lang S *et al.* Residential and commercial buildings. Climate Change 2007; Mitigation. Contribution of Working Group III to the Fourth Assessment Report of the IPCC. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom; 2007.
- [14] Department of Climate Change and Energy Efficiency. Report of the Prime Minister's Task Group on Energy Efficiency. Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia; 2010.
- [15] Wood G, Newborough M. Dynamic energy-consumption indicators for domestic appliances: environment, behaviour and design. Energy and Buildings, 2003;35:821-41.
- [16] Bishop A. Lochiel Park Case Study. Your Development: CSIRO; 2008.
- [17] Land Management Corporation. Lochiel Park Green Village Development Project: Submission to Public Works Committee. Adelaide: Land Management Corporation; 2005.

- [18] Donaldson P, Bishop A, Wilson M. Lochiel Park A nation leading green village. Eco City World Summit, San Francisco; 2008.
- [19] Land Management Corporation. Lochiel Park Urban Design Guidelines. In: Corporation LM, editor., Adelaide: Land Management Corporation; 2009.
- [20] Darby S. Energy feedback in buildings: Improving the infrastructure for demand reduction. Building Research and Information, 2008;36:499-508.
- [21] Houde S, Todd A, Sudarshan A, Flora JA, Armel KC. Real-time feedback and electricity consumption: A field experiment assessing the potential for savings and persistence. Energy Journal, 2013;34:87-102.
- [22] Darby S. The effectiveness of feedback on energy consumption. Oxford: Environmental Change Institute, University of Oxford; 2006.
- [23] Keirstead J. Photovoltaics in the UK domestic sector: a double-dividend. ECEEE Summer Study, France; 2005, p. 1249-58.
- [24] Keirstead J. Behavioural responses to photovoltaic systems in the UK domestic sector. Energy Policy, 2007;35:4128-41.
- [25] Faruqui A, Sergici S, Sharif A. The impact of informational feedback on energy consumption—A survey of the experimental evidence. Energy, 2010;35:1598-608.
- [26] Ehrhardt-Martinez K, Donnelly K, Laitner S. Advanced metering initiatives and residential feedback programs: a meta-review for household electricity-saving opportunities. Washington: American Council for an Energy-Efficient Economy; 2010.
- [27] Ueno T, Sano F, Saeki O, Tsuji K. Effectiveness of an energy-consumption information system on energy savings in residential houses based on monitored data. Applied Energy, 2006;83:166-83.
- [28] Stromback J, Dromacque C, Yassin MH. The potential of smart meter enabled programs to increase energy and systems efficiency: a mass pilot comparison Short name: Empower Demand. Helsinki: VaasaETT on behalf of the European Smart Metering Industry Group (ESMIG); 2011.
- [29] Fischer C. Feedback on household electricity consumption: A tool for saving energy? Energy Efficiency, 2008;1:79-104.
- [30] Vassileva I, Dahlquist E, Wallin F, Campillo J. Energy consumption feedback devices' impact evaluation on domestic energy use. Applied Energy, 2013;106:314-20.
- [31] Miller W, Buys L. Householder experiences with resource monitoring technology in sustainable homes. Proceedings of the 22nd Conference of the Computer-Human Interaction Special Interest Group of Australia on Computer-Human Interaction, Brisbane, Australia: ACM; 2010, p. 228-31.
- [32] Edwards J, Pocock B. Comfort, convenience and cost: The calculus of sustainable living at Lochiel Park. Adelaide: Centre for Work + Life, University of South Australia; 2011.
- [33] Matthews B, Ross L. Research methods: a practical guide for the social sciences. Pearson Longman, Essex; 2010.
- [34] Saman W, Whaley D, Mudge L, Halawa E, Edwards J. The intelligent grid in a new housing development. In: CSIRO, editor. Intelligent Grid Research Cluster, Adelaide: University of South Australia; 2011.
- [35] Whaley D, Saman W, Halawa E, Mudge L. Lessons learnt from implementing intelligent metering and energy monitoring devices in a new housing development. Solar2010, Canberra: AuSES 2010.

# Home Automation for a sustainable living – Modelling a detached house in Northern Finland

Jean-Nicolas Louis<sup>1</sup>, Antonio Caló<sup>1</sup>, Kauko Leiviskä<sup>2</sup>, Eva Pongrácz<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> University of Oulu, Thule Institute, NorTech Oulu, Finland <sup>2</sup> University of Oulu, Control Engineering Laboratory, Finland

# Abstract

This paper presents a model of a detached house in which home automation has been progressively introduced into the building. The model integrates different factors related to end-user behaviour and decision-making regarding the management of electrical energy consumption, and integrates a gradual end-user response to home automation measures. The presented model aims to show the potential economic benefits obtained by the modelled changes of end-users' behaviours within a smart energy network based energy system. Matlab/Simulink is used as a simulation tool for representing the model in which a 10 year database of Nordic climatic data has been built in, on an hourly and half hourly basis. The modelled building environment comprises twenty-one appliances and two lighting systems with different power rates. Each appliance and light bulb is individually measured. The feedback methods assessed were self-comparison, inter-comparison, and a target based system. The effect of home automation on energy consumption at the building level is assessed, and the importance of end-users in energy reduction is highlighted. The model categorises "green" and "brown" energy users and integrates their behavioural profiles within the end-user response. As part of a smarter electricity management system, the home automation system is able to interact with other buildings, either in terms of geographic or building infrastructure similarities. This will enable taking or modifying decisions at any given time, thus contributing to the local flattening of power demand. Such systems must work hand-in-hand with the grid operator.

# 1. Introduction

With the massive deployment of smart meters across Europe allowing digital measurements, energy companies and Public Institutions have access to a consequent database of energy consumption data throughout a country. European Union (EU) Member States have the obligation of implementing smart meters covering 80 % of consumers by 2020 at the latest [1]. In contrast to European Directive 2012/27/EU [1], Finnish legislation (18.1.2013/50) sets a deadline of 2014. The deployment of smart meters also brings up the issue of data security and use of the collected information, in particular in relation to the role of energy utilities and Public Institutions [2]. Legal obligations to increase energy efficiency also provide a motivation to the deployment of renewable energy sources, as a vector for energy production, and an increase in the energy efficiency of buildings. Home energy management can have a significant role in contributing to energy efficiency and cutting down peak load. This can be achieved through an active collaboration of energy consuming systems and the information network e.g. at the local level [3], [4]. Putting together the different factors mentioned involves the development of a smart energy network (SEN), capable of managing the energy system through constant monitoring.

SEN can be seen as a multi-layered configuration of the energy infrastructure, within which smart buildings are at its foundation [5]. Within a SEN architecture, the energy network is split into multiple complexes, forming a set of networks that communicate between each other [6]. Each horizontal area belongs to the same layer and vertical area to different layers. Energy and data may travel horizontally and vertically but not in diagonal. The main objective in this context lays in an increase of energy efficiency along with an economically viable reduction of environmental impacts where home automation has an important role. The effect of energy efficiency on the decrease of energy consumption at the local level is often offset by the rebound effect. The direct rebound effect, which is affected by the variation of the home energy budget, shares a responsibility in the success of energy efficiency measures [7]. Analyses of energy end-use at the home level become necessary for structuring a bottom-up system.

For the past fifteen years, surveys of energy consumption habits have been carried out across European households. Most of the surveys were looking at the effect of energy feedback to end-

users' behaviour ([8-11]). Earlier work [6] showed that retrieving feedback regarding end-users' energy consumption could affect positively the overall impact on energy efficiency. An average decrease from 4 to 20 % of energy consumption has been found in the literature [12].

Modelling daily energy demand has been tackled from different angles in a top-down and bottom-up approach. A non-exhaustive list of these models have been described in [13] showing details of the different ways for representing the energy consumption in households. The timescale represented in previous models goes from hours to minutes [14-16]. In order to have a detailed energy profile, the bottom-up approach appears to be the most suitable method, compared to a top-down approach, where the overall energy consumption is broken down to individual appliances [16]. Modelling the energy consumption profile generally uses measured data from field tests as input data [13], [17]. Depending on the method used, energy consumption may be simulated from a human perspective by creating occupancy scenarios that will enhance the use of appliances. Grandjean et al. [13] pointed out the difficulties of such a technique, as it requires an extensive database on human behaviour and the activities undertaken. It is preferable to find a solution via the pattern of appliances' usage and deduce from it the human activity within the household. A comparable approach has been carried by Borg and Kelly [18] for evaluating the impact of appliances on energy efficiency in the future. They have not considered either the probability of an event or action occurring in the eventuality that home automation through smart metering would be applied in dwellings.

Modelling an energy system from the bottom up, more appropriately takes into account distributed energy systems [19] as an alternative to centralized energy production systems. Such energy architecture is being developed in parallel with the development of micro- and small-scale energy production systems [20]. Currently, Finland is considered to be a centralized system but has a considerable potential for having a decentralized system.

This paper investigates a bottom-up approach model centred on the use of appliances. The first part highlights the model description and its architecture. The second part details the data collection involved in order to run the model. The third part illustrates the model with the results obtained. Validation of the model puts in perspective the obtained results with real time energy consumption data of typical Finnish detached houses from the Oulu region.

# 2. Model

Structuring a model with a bottom-up approach requires detailed information regarding the studied living environment. Stokes [21] introduced a widely used system taking into account specific information related to the appliances, the socioeconomic status of the occupants, and a large panel of measured data as the basis for a statistical analysis of the energy profile. The energy system built with the bottom-up approach thus requires a precise, pre-defined system that creates a consequent database.

The model presented in this paper is based on an hourly scenario of appliance and lighting use. Based on a pre-selected number of users, their housing types, and the corresponding number of rooms, the model describes the usage of twenty-one pre-defined appliances. The lighting system presents two technological alternatives (incandescent and low consumption bulbs) in order to describe the energy consumption related to a lighting system. The model associates pre-determined energy consumption with the usage of different appliances (Figure 1). This is based on the assumption that, in order to use some of the appliances, a given number of persons are expected to be in the house, therefore consuming a statistically pre-defined amount of energy.

The user behaviour is evaluated depending on the feedback strategy chosen for the simulation. Feedbacks are dependent on the controller side of the model, which is used as a statistical tool. In this model, feedbacks are based on the self-consumption, the inter-comparison and the target based system.

The controller allows the piloting of certain appliances that are flexible over time, such as the washing machine and the dishwasher. The controller crosschecks information with the grid and between appliances in order to electrically decrease the power demand of relevant appliances during peak load hours.


Figure 1. Block diagram of the model developed (based on [13])

#### 2.1 Scenario Architecture

The model is built on an hourly basis using statistical results from earlier research [6].Firstly, the user behaviour regarding the use of appliances follows results coming from the Energy-using Product (EuP) [17] surveys on energy efficiency and use. These large-scale surveys intended to pattern the use of appliances in order to settle the energy efficiency rating scale under the European Energy Efficiency Directive. An example of data that can be extracted from these studies is shown in Table 1 which shows the different number of washing machine cycles that occur during the week per inhabitant. In the case of a washing machine, the type of program as well as the mean time for carrying out the action is given. Other information such as the average energy use per year or information that belong to specific appliances (e.g. mean recharging time of a mobile phone) is provided. These data set the model boundaries.

Table 1.	Time of	use and	probability	v of activity	v occurrence fo	or a washing n	nachine

	Nbr of wash/week	Temperature	Distribution	Time [min]
1 person	2.1	Cold	02 %	35
2 persons	3.4	30°C	09 %	40
3 persons	4.9	40°C	49 %	45
4 persons	6.4	50°C	07 %	50
5 persons	6.3	60°C	27 %	60
6 persons	7.0	90°C	06 %	70

The second part of the model consists of tracking the daily energy profile of each appliance. In order to understand how an appliance is used, results from the REDMODECE [3] European Project have been processed to give mean daily energy profiles for the twenty-one appliances used in this model. To create these vectors, empirical values from multiple surveyed houses have been extracted from comparable Nordic countries (Norway and Denmark). In addition, it seemed relevant to integrate in the model the use of a sauna, considering that, in Finland, there is an average of 0.38 electric sauna stoves per capita [22]. Therefore, field data and/or assumptions for sauna stove use were added.

Figure 2 indicates the daily usage of the abovementioned electric appliances. Each plot represents the probability function for an appliance to be used over the course of a day. This explains the very

high occurrence for some appliances such as a hair dryer in certain periods, due to the low probability of use another time of the day. Note that the hairdryer and iron peak at 56 % and 33 % respectively.



#### Figure 2. Daily energy profile for twenty-one appliances extracted from electric measurement

Once the profiles have been drawn out, daily and weekly safeguards are defined limiting the usage of an appliance [6]. Equations (1-4) express the conditions to be verified in order to have a confirmed action at t = n.

$$\overline{\mathbf{A}}_{d-1} < \frac{2}{7} \mathbf{A}_{w-max} \tag{1}$$

$$(1)$$

$$(1)$$

$$(2)$$

and 
$$C_{hn} < R_h \sim U(0,1) < C_{hn+1}$$
 (3)

and  $R_d \sim U(0,1) < C_w$  (4)

Where  $\overline{A}_{d-1}$  is the mean activity of the previous day,  $\overline{A}_{w-1}$  is the mean activity of the previous week,  $A_{w-max}$  is the maximum weekly activity as defined in Table 1,  $C_{hn}$  is the probability of use at t = n and  $C_{h\,n+1}$  is the probability of use at t = n+1,  $C_w$  is the probability that an action will occur over the week or the weekend,  $R_h \sim U(0,1)$  and  $R_d \sim U(0,1)$  are uniform random numbers generated for the hourly and daily activities respectively.

The usage model of appliances allows the occupation within the detached house to be defined, which is also used for the lighting model. The available luminosity is calculated following solar irradiation. The relationship between solar irradiation and luminosity has been empirically established by Yokoya and Shimizu [23]. The lighting model is built using three components; namely the activity/occupation scenario, the available natural luminosity, and the luminosity required to carry out a certain task. Combining these three factors establishes the probability of use of light between 10% and 100%, where 10% is the probability of using artificial light on a very clear day and 100% is the probability of using light when the natural light is non-existent.

#### 2.2 Demand Side Management

2

Including the user response within the model required the use of a demand side management (DSM) model. Consumption data are used for statistical purposes, monitoring the average appliance usage with reference values [17] on daily, weekly, monthly, and yearly levels.

These average consumption data are used for self-comparison and giving information to the endusers if they have over-consumed compared to the four reference levels. Independently from the user type, the fact that the end-user does not reach the level of consumption from the previous reference period (weekday, week, month or year) increases the acceptance of consuming energy at t = n [6]. The target-based system uses the previous data to build up the target for each dwelling (in case of multiple dwelling in the simulation). The tolerance for energy consumption increases or decreases depending on how well the end-user has performed at each iteration.

For both the self-comparison and the target-based system, the user response follows three trends, depending on the nature of response to the advice coming from the DSM system. A "green" user is considered to have a high positive response to the advice due to his/her personal background. In this context, such user is considered to have a standard positive response of 70 %. Similarly, an "orange" user will have a 50 % positive response, and a "brown" user a 30 % positive response. It is considered that a user would not have a 100 % positive response to any of the advice coming from the DSM system. The DSM ponders the standard response. Depending on the electrical consumption and the advice that the DSM may give, the standard response varies by up to +10 %. The user response will affect three variables related to use of the appliances: reducing the time of use of an appliance by integrating low-cost energy efficiency measures i.e. e.g. covering the pot, reducing the use of light; shifting the use of an appliance to an alternative time in case of peak load hours e.g. the use of the dishwasher during the night. In this case, the shifting requires the consent of the end-user but the time of the action is controlled by the automation system; and shifting the use of the sauna up to 1 hour in case of peak load. In the case of shifting the sauna use, the agreement of the end-user on actually agreeing on offsetting the use of the sauna from the traditional hour to another one is required. Therefore, it has been assumed that the end-users will not agree on taking a sauna in the middle of the night but would rather change the traditional sauna time by 30 minutes up to 1 hour.

The control system integrated in the model is capable of automatically postponing an action for specific appliances such as the washing machine or the dishwasher to any given time. It is highly unlikely that a control system would ever automate the use of all appliances in a household, thus a restriction to these two appliances has been made. Furthermore, in case of peak load time detected on the grid, the household control system is capable of reducing the power demand of appliances that require high power e.g. kettle, and iron. In these ways, the household power demand is reduced and a decrease in the peak load at the grid level is expected. Decision-making by the control system is currently based on the price information that it is receiving from the grid. In the case of a fixed-price system, critical hours are perceived during the high price period. In case of real-time pricing based on the electric spot price system, a combination of the real-time pricing and the price forecast is made in order to define the peak load time and thus apply a reduced power demand from the appliances.

#### 3. Data collection

Running the model requires the use of reliable data, including the price of electricity on the energy market, the power levels for each appliance that defines the quality and the age of the appliances, and the weather conditions on a regular basis. Each dataset was combined together into two monotonic increasing vectors of half an hour and an hour.

#### 3.1 Climatic Data

In order to create a dynamic model, data on temperature, solar irradiation, wind speed, wind direction, relative humidity, sky condition, atmospheric pressure, wind chill, dew point temperature and visibility were retrieved from an online weather database [24]. Raw data were given for 30 minutes samples on average, meaning that data processing was a necessary step to have a uniform vector of data. The Finnish Meteorological Institute issued the global horizontal irradiation data on an hourly basis for the years 2004 to 2012.

For the years 2000 to 2002, large amounts of data were found to be missing. In these few cases, artificial data was calculated from the mean variation of a variable for the previous and the following year, with the reference value of the previous hour. In the case of most recent years, smaller amounts of data were found missing for up to 6 hours in a row. In this case, a linear interpolation between the two existing values was created. The full processed dataset can be found in [6].

#### 3.2 Appliances Data

The power demand required for each appliance was defined following the Best Available Technology (BAT) defined in the EuP research tasks [17]. As long as the information was given in terms of kWh per year, the total working hours per year for each appliance were taken. The ratio between the total

energy consumption per year and the total number of working hours gave an average power demand in expressed in kW. Furthermore, seven categories (from A to G) were defined in the EuP report, "A" being the most efficient appliances and "G" the least efficient appliances. In order to select a certain category of appliance to be implemented within the model, each appliance was divided into three categories: A/B, C/D, and E/F. Each category was assigned a median value of the power demand calculated using the previous method as summarised in Table 2.

		E	Based on the E	uropean Energy	Label
			C/D		Standby
House zone	Appliance	A/B Category	Category	E/F Category	power
		[kW]	[kW]	[KW]	[kW]
	Washing machine	0.306	0.410	0.520	N/A
	Dish Washer	0.929	1.250	1.600	N/A
	Electric Cooktop		4.000		N/A
	Kettle	2.000	3.000	4.000	N/A
Kitchen	Electric Oven	4.000	5.000	6.000	0.005
Ritofich	Micro-wave	0.950	1.200	1.400	0.005
	Coffee Machine	0.600	0.800	1.000	N/A
	Toaster	0.800	1.300	1.600	N/A
	Waffle/Crêpes	0.900	1.200	1.500	N/A
	Fridge	0.300	0.400	0.600	N/A
	Radio	0.005	0.008	0.010	0.001
	Laptop Active	0.060	0.080	0.120	N/A
Bedroom	Laptop Sleeping	0.003	0.005	0.010	N/A
	Laptop off mode	0.002	0.003	0.006	N/A
	Telephone charger	0.010	0.015	0.020	N/A
	Electric heaters		1.500		N/A
Bathroom	Shaver	0.010	0.015	0.020	N/A
Bathroom	Hair dryer	1.000	1.200	1.500	N/A
	Sauna stove		6.000		N/A
Living Room	Television	0.125	0.150	0.200	0.005
	Stereo/Hi-Fi	0.080	0.100	0.120	0.001
Cleaning Tools	Iron	1.000	1.300	1.500	N/A
	Vacuum cleaner	0.700	1.200	1.400	N/A

#### Table 2. Rated power for each appliance used in the simulation

#### 3.3 Electricity price data

In order to integrate the price variation of electricity in the model, the public prices from the main energy retailer from the Finnish Oulu region (Oulun Energia Oy) have been compiled. Three contracts, offered from the same company, have been included. Each contract allows the end-user to choose what type of energy production system their energy comes from i.e. biofuel, wind energy or mixed energy. A fourth option was given to the end-user by selecting the real-time pricing system. A more complex system could be built in order to take into account the variation of energy demand on the network [25]. In this model, a method for creating the real-time pricing based on historical data has been developed. This approach requires the hourly price of electricity on the spot price market on one hand, and the average retailed electricity price to the end-user for the same period on the other hand. Both datasets are publicly available from the Energy Market Authority [26]. Using Equation (5) allowed the establishment of an hourly purchasing price for the end-user by correcting the spot price from its extreme incentive values, which can reach thousands of  $\in$ /MWh on the positive side for some specific hours in order to increase energy production, and may be a negative price to reduce energy production.

$$\mathbf{P}_{h} = \overline{\mathbf{P}}_{m} \times \frac{\mathbf{P}_{h-Network}}{\overline{\mathbf{P}}_{m-Network}}$$

(5)

Where  $P_h$  is the hourly price of electricity for the modelled dwelling [€cent/kWh],  $\overline{P}_m$  is the monthly average price of electricity for dwelling [€cent/kWh],  $P_{h-Network}$  is the hourly electricity price on the spot price market [€/MWh], and  $\overline{P}_{m-Network}$  is the monthly average price of electricity on the spot price market [€/MWh].

#### 4. Results and Discussion

The model presented above aimed to draw daily energy demand profiles coming from the appliances plus lighting systems. Moreover, the implementation of home automation is included in the model with the aim of increasing the effectiveness and efficiency of the household's energy consumption.

The model used measured data in order to build up the scenario of energy demand. The modelled data were contrasted with real-time energy consumption measurements carried out in 16 households in the Oulu region in 2012 [27]. The mean daily energy demand profiles have been drawn for the entire year in the case of the modelled dwellings and a typical four-person family house in Oulu (Figure 3). General electricity consumption as well as the electricity price was taken every six seconds for each phase (in the case of three-phase houses). These houses had dynamic pricing following the spot price market. The electricity consumption recorded varied from 5 929 kWh/y up to 13 706 kWh/y for the period of January 2012 to January 2013. The mean daily energy profiles aim to recognize a tendency in the energy production for each dwelling. A common pattern in a Finnish home sees a peak of consumption in the evening due to the use of the sauna stove, which levels out the other peaks occurring during the day e.g. the morning peak.

The modelled house was set for the twenty-one appliances named earlier and all of the appliances were classified as being A/B labelled. As an indicator, the sauna stove used for the modelled house was set to 6 kW as mentioned in Table 2. The overall electricity consumption coming from the appliances has been found to be around 4 501 kWh/y which is correlated with the findings in the European ODYSSEE MURE project and by the Sähkötohtori Analysis [28]. The measured data were carried out in a four-family detached house (in Oulu, Finland), which is equipped with a 10 kW sauna stove.



Figure 3. Comparison of a dwelling modelled with real time data measured in a four-person detached house in Oulu, Finland

It is not yet clear how the offset (of approximately 400 W of average power demand) shown in Figure 3 appeared. Our assumption is that it could be an electric under-floor heating in wet rooms, as is common in Finnish homes. This would be on constantly during certain periods of the year and it was not included in our model of the detached house. Earlier research has shown [6], [28] that the share of electricity demand for a secondary heating system may be considered as the highest proportion of

electricity demand, reaching up to 50 % of electricity consumption of detached houses in Finland. Nevertheless, it can be pointed out that the trend of modelled mean power demand follows the trend of data collected in real houses, giving confidence in the model.

We focused on the change in energy consumption due to the introduction of energy efficient appliances (Figure 4 a.), and on the impact of user response on final electricity consumption (Figure 4 b.). The simulation showed a decrease in energy consumption of 30% using the same scenarios when all C/D labelled appliances were replaced by A/B labelled appliances. In the second stage, a feedback system was introduced in the model in order to simulate the effect of providing data information to people using self-comparison or a target based system. The simulation presented a decrease of the overall electricity consumption by 8 %, which is coherent with the findings from Ehrhard-Martinez [12]. In the last stage, the automation system allowing the direct control on the washing appliances managed to decrease the energy consumption by 1 %.



Auto. Sys. + Feedback + A/B App. - "Orange User"
No Auto. Sys. + A/B App.

a.

b.

Auto. Sys. + Feedback + A/B App. - "Green User"
Auto. Sys. + Feedback + A/B App. - "Brown User"



Figure 4. a. Consumption level by upgrading the technology installed in the dwelling, b. Monthly energy consumption level by user category.

Figure 4 b. indicates the importance of user response on energy consumption. The difference of decrease in energy consumption between the two extreme categories varies from 3.3 % up to 7 % depending on the month. Compared to the base scenario where no feedback system is installed within the home (the brown bar on Figure 4 a. and the blue bar on Figure 4 b.), the difference in electricity consumption between the base scenario and the scenario that considers a high positive response from the end-user may reach as high as 10.9 %.

In the context of flattening the daily energy demand profile, the model looked at the consequences of consumer feedback and home automation on the mean daily electric demand. The shifting of electricity from one particular hour to another one can be seen in Figure 5. On one hand, the electric consumption from 12am to 6am increased by 50 %. On the other hand, the electric demand from 7am to 12pm slightly shifted down from their original level. This longer period of negative shift supports the decrease of energy consumption over the day. This is explained by the feedback effect that influences the way appliances are used and offers up to 10 % reduction of energy consumption, compared to the original demand profile.



# Figure 5. Effect of feedback strategies on demand profile and home automation in a detached house

The shift of energy demand seen in Figure 5 has to be balanced between the shift due to the automatic controller, and the one due to human behaviour. The latter is directly linked to user response and the way that end-users are utilizing their appliances at home. Thus, the "Brown User", with its lower response and more frequent use of certain appliances may have a higher consumption than an end-user with a higher positive response when the system is asking to reduce the demand (see the Blue plot and the Red plot between 5 and 6 in the morning on Figure 5).

#### 5. Conclusions, Recommendations and Future work

In this paper, a model of daily energy demand in a detached house in Finland has been set out. The model showed concordance with real data measured in a Finnish household. The model also integrated three types of user-responses as well as home automation, in order to control the use of programmable appliances. In terms of feedback impact, the model showed similar results to those found in the literature i.e. an average reduction of household electrical consumption by 8%. The automation system controlling the dishwasher and washing machine was able to decrease overall energy consumption by 1 %. In order to flatten the mean daily electricity consumption profile, some peak loads were shifted from the evening to the night period.

In order to fully use this model, it should be combined with a layered-grid model in charge of the energy management of multiple micro-grids. Such architecture should support a bottom-up approach of the electric infrastructure for creating dynamic pricing and managing the energy by geographical sectors. This model represents a starting point for evaluating the possibility to switch the mostly centralized energy system to a hybrid, mostly decentralized energy system. In this sense, the limitation of the model presented in this paper challenges to build up of viable scenarios involving dynamic pricing that would take into account the energy demand for building in the same geographical area.

Further work needs to be done in order to improve the model and get a better profile for each dwelling. Development should firstly focus on a minute-based electricity demand simulation, assuming that the output function would still be flexible enough to simulate a meter communicating hourly or daily data to the grid. Linked to the model, the daily energy demand profile per appliance will be varying in time, meaning that each appliance will follow the pre-defined energy profile and will evolve with the simulation time in order to integrate the end-user response and its effort for shifting the use of appliances in time. For integrating each aspect of energy efficiency, the direct- and micro- rebound effect should be integrated for each appliance and for the household. Finally, defining the appliances may be recurrent e.g. multiple TVs, video games and so on. In the future, the model should assess the impact of real-time pricing (hour-to-hour or minute-to-minute) on the peak load hours, and, its consequences on the electricity consumption by the end-users.

# 6. Acknowledgement

The authors would like to thank the Ympäristötili Pohjoista Voimaa foundation and the Thule Institute Research Programme for funding this research.

#### 7. References

- P. Office, Directive 2012/27/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 25 October 2012 on energy efficiency, amending Directives 2009/125/EC and 2010/30/EU and repealing Directives 2004/8/EC and 2006/32/ECText with EEA relevance. 2012, pp. 1–56.
- [2] H. S. Fhom and K. M. Bayarou, "Towards a Holistic Privacy Engineering Approach for Smart Grid Systems," presented at the 2011 IEEE 10th International Conference on Trust, Security and Privacy in Computing and Communications (TrustCom), 2011, pp. 234–241.
- [3] "REMODECE Survey Results for Norway," no. 670. REMODECE Project, 05-Feb-2008.
- [4] D. Long Ha, S. Ploix, M. Jacomino, and M. Hoang Le, "Home energy management problem: towards an optimal and robust solution," in *Energy Management*, no. 5, F. Macia Perez, Ed. InTech, 2010, pp. 77–106.
- [5] A. Calò, E. Juuso, R. Svento, and E. Pongracz, "Smart Energy Networks in the Northern Periphery: Development of an End-User Oriented Profiled Hybrid Micro-Grid Simulator," presented at the 7th Vienna International Conference on Mathematical Modelling, Vienna, 2012, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 985–990.
- [6] J.-N. Louis, "Smart Building to improve energy efficiency in the residential sector," Oulu University, 2012.
- [7] E. G. Hertwich, "Consumption and the Rebound Effect," *Journal of Industrial Ecology*, vol. 9, pp. 85–98, May 2005.
- [8] S. J. Darby, "Energy feedback in buildings: improving the infrastructure for demand reduction," *Building Research & Information*, vol. 36, no. 5, pp. 499–508, Oct. 2008.
- [9] W. Gans, A. Alberini, and A. Longo, "Smart Meter Devices and The Effect of Feedback on Residential Electricity Consumption: Evidence from a Natural Experiment in Northern Ireland," *Energy Economics*, pp. 1–56.
- [10] S. Karjalainen, "Consumer preferences for feedback on household electricity consumption," *Energy & Buildings*, vol. 43, no. 2, pp. 458–467.
- [11] G. Wood and M. Newborough, "Dynamic energy-consumption indicators for domestic appliances: environment, behaviour and design," *Energy & Buildings*, vol. 35, no. 8, pp. 821–841, Sep. 2003.

- [12] K. Ehrhardt-Martinez, J. A. Laitner, and K. A. Donnelly, "Beyond the Meter: Enabling Better Home Energy Management," Elsevier Inc., no. 10, Energy, Sustainability and the Environment, 2011, pp. 273–303.
- [13] A. Grandjean, J. Adnot, and G. Binet, "A review and an analysis of the residential electric load curve models," *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, vol. 16, no. 9, pp. 6539–6565, Dec. 2012.
- [14] J. Widén and E. Wäckelgård, "A high-resolution stochastic model of domestic activity patterns and electricity demand," *APPLIED ENERGY*, vol. 87, no. 6, pp. 1880–1892, Jun. 2010.
- [15] J. V. Paatero and P. D. Lund, "A model for generating household electricity load profiles," *Int. J. Energy Res.*, vol. 30, no. 5, pp. 273–290, 2006.
- [16] A. Capasso, W. Grattieri, R. Lamedica, and A. Prudenxi, "A Bottom-Up Approach to Residential Load Modeling," *IEEE Transactions on Power Systems*, vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 957–964, May 1994.
- [17] S. Faberi, M. Presutto, R. Stamminger, R. Scialdoni, W. Mebane, and R. Esposito, "Preparatory Studies for Eco-design Requirements of EuPs," European Commission, TREN/D1/40-2005, Dec. 2007.
- [18] S. P. Borg and N. J. Kelly, "The effect of appliance energy efficiency improvements on domestic electric loads in European households," *Energy & Buildings*, vol. 43, no. 9, pp. 2240–2250, Sep. 2011.
- [19] T. Ackermann, G. Andersson, and L. Söder, "Distributed generation: a definition, "*Electric Power Systems Research*, vol. 57, no. 3, pp. 195–204, Apr. 2001.
- [20] Z. Sun and X.-Y. Zhang, "Advances on Distributed Generation Technology," *Energy Procedia*, vol. 17, pp. 32–38, Jan. 2012.
- [21] M. Stokes, "Removing barriers to embedded generation : a fine-grained load model to support low voltage network performance analysis," Institute of Energy and Sustainable Development de Montfort University, Leicester, 2005.
- [22] Tietotekniikkapalvelu, "Buildings and summer cottages," no. 48. Statistics Finland.
- [23] M. Yokoya and H. Shimizu, "Estimation of Effective Day Length at Any Light Intensity Using Solar Radiation Data," *IJERPH*, vol. 8, no. 11, pp. 4272–4283, Nov. 2011.
- [24] "Weather DataBase." Weather Underground, Inc., San Francisco.
- [25] A. Faruqui, R. Hledik, and J. Tsoukalis, "The Power of Dynamic Pricing," *The Electricity Journal*, vol. 22, no. 3, pp. 42–56, Apr. 2009.
- [26] "Statistics and reports on price of electricity." Energy Market Authority Finland, Helsinki, 13-Mar-2012.
- [27] T. Korpela, "Energy Consumption of a four persons family house in Finland." OCTES Project, Oulu, 26-Feb-2013.
- [28] V. Rouhiainen, "Decomposing Electricity Use of Finnish Households to Appliance Categories," presented at the Energy efficiency in domestic appliances and lighting, Proceedings of the 5th international conference EEDAL '09, Berlin, 2010, vol. 2, pp. 438–455.

# Benchmark results towards energy efficiency in residential care homes for the elderly

Paula Fonseca, Pedro Esteves, Lino Marques, Aníbal de Almeida

ISR-University of Coimbra, Portugal

Darko Fercej

EZavod, Slovenia

#### Abstract

The Energy Performance of Buildings Directive has been the driver for the establishment of energy performance ratings and certification in buildings. The development of benchmarks to compare the energy performance of similar buildings across different countries has been an important method to promote energy efficiency in buildings. While energy consumption benchmarks for office buildings have been already studied in several countries, no energy benchmarks are available for Residential Care Homes for the Elderly (RCHE). However, this sector is becoming more and more important as the population is ageing at an increasing rate. Estimates indicate that in 2050 the European elderly population will have doubled, reaching 60 million people. Moreover a recent research (Intelligent Energy Europe SAVE AGE project) found Care Homes lack knowledge and awareness on energy efficiency, and they are generally quite reluctant to adopt new technologies, since their main concern is to provide the best quality care possible. Therefore, there is a significant potential for energy savings in this area. The benchmark indicators presented in this paper are based on data collected from monitoring 10 RCHE in each of 10 different Member States (MS) participating in the study. The monitoring was based on a detailed survey assessment, followed by a computer modeling that used a multivariate linear-regression approach to model the energy consumption data and correlate different energy usage indicators. Heating Degree Days (HDD), net area, year of construction, number of residents, and number of employees are selected as the factors that may influence the energy consumption of a building. User behavior has also been analyzed but was not considered for the benchmark. The results show that HDD was not the most important factor influencing the energy use intensity but rather total conditioned area and number of residents. However, energy consumption used for heating purposes per resident per year has a positive correlation with the HDD.

#### Introduction

The European Council of March 2007 emphasized the need to increase energy efficiency in the European Union (EU) and to reduce the EU's energy consumption by 20% by 2020 compared to projections. Therefore, an energy efficiency action plan was created and MS have identified significant potential for cost-effective energy savings in the buildings sector. The Energy Performance of Buildings Directive (EPBD 2002/91/EC) has been the driver for the establishment of energy performance ratings and certification in buildings by MS. Shortcomings in that Directive led to a recast to improve its effectiveness and set things more clearly. On 19 May 2010, the EU adopted the new Energy Performance of Buildings Directive 2010/31/EU (EPBD) which is the main legislative instrument in place to reduce the energy consumption of buildings. Under this Directive, MS must establish and apply minimum energy performance requirements for new and existing buildings, ensure the certification of building energy performance and require the regular inspection of boilers and air conditioning systems in buildings. The Directive requires MS to ensure that by 2021 all new buildings are so-called 'nearly zero-energy buildings'. However, a recent report by the Buildings Performance Institute Europe (BPIE) identifies the need for further guidance since weak rules put building efficiency off track [1]. The report says that EU countries may mismanage their energy efficiency commitments and risk missing their energy savings' target without further guidance. The report also said: "The building sector is responsible for the largest share of energy consumption and greenhouse gas emissions and therefore they are a key sector to reach the long-term climate and energy targets". The building sector accounts for 40% of the EU's energy consumption and 36% of

total CO2 emissions. Therefore, building energy efficiency is key to achieving the reduction targets established by EU Policies.

Benchmarking is an important tool to promote energy efficiency in buildings and for influencing energy policy within building management [2]. Energy use in RCHE is becoming an important concern, because the population is aging at an increasing rate and because these centers operate 24 hours a day, 365 days a year, usually with full occupancy. Driven by falling fertility rates and increases in life expectancy, the elderly population will continue to increase. The findings of this study potentially have much broader applicability than the EU. The number of people aged 65 or older is projected to grow from an estimated 524 million in 2010 to nearly 1.5 billion in 2050, with most increase in developing countries [3]. In Europe, according to the European Association for Directors of RCHE (EDE), nearly 14% of the population is over 65 years old and 1.5 million people live in more than 24,000 RCHEs. Estimates indicate that in 2050 European elderly population will double, reaching about 60 million people [4]. The rising life expectancy within the older population increases the need for long term care services, since age also brings many health problems and disabilities (dementia, Alzheimer, several dependencies, etc.) which require specific care and continuous surveillance. The demand for professional care for elderly will inevitably increase because traditional living arrangements are changing: family size is getting smaller and the prevalence of co-residence by multiple generations is declining. The global trend toward having fewer children assures that there will be less potential care and support for older people from their families in the future [3]. Building experts and policy makers should definitely pay attention to the energy efficiency of this sector, since the increasing aging population will likely lead to an increase in energy use in this sector.

There have been many European projects regarding energy efficiency in buildings, namely REMODECE, ManagEnergy, Build Health, ASIEPI etc. Nevertheless, no one has dealt specifically with this particular niche of buildings. SAVE AGE is the first European project to restrict its scope to RCHE, having analyzed the current situation and sought out technical, behavioral, knowledge and financial obstacles and solutions towards energy efficiency. The development of benchmarks that enable the comparison of the energy performance of similar RCHE, across different countries, can have a large impact on the energy use within this sector.

Energy consumption benchmarks for office buildings have been already studied in several countries [5, 6, 7, 8, 9]. These benchmarks are based on statistical analysis, of data collected through forms and include all type of energy consumption used in the buildings.

Benchmarking in buildings has been established using several approaches, depending on the degree of detail of data collection and on how informative the benchmark should be. Sharp [10] used averages, medians, simple ranking and normalized ranking to benchmark commercial office buildings. The collection of a list of potential drivers for increasing the energy consumption of buildings and apply regression techniques to identify the statistically significant factors for normalization is also an usual practice [11]. Xuchao [9] concluded that ranking buildings based on their energy use intensity (EUI) provides a more informative benchmark. However, simple ranking can mask the results and can unfairly penalize some buildings (for example, hotels with high occupancy will be penalized compared to hotels with much lower occupancy). These factors that influence energy consumption, such as HDD, occupancy rate, number of employees, floor area, operation schedule, and building age, need to be normalized in order to make comparisons between buildings more equitable.

Our extensive literature search found that energy benchmarks have not yet been studied for RCHE. Moreover, RCHE lack knowledge and awareness on energy efficiency and they are generally quite reluctant to new technologies. Their main concern is to provide the best quality care they are able to, and they often neglect technical energy issues. The development of cross country comparisons of energy efficiency within RCHE will raise their awareness and drive decision making towards energy efficiency.

This paper presents the methodology to develop energy performance benchmarks for RCHE in order to compare the performance of similar institutions within the 10 European countries involved in the SAVE AGE<sup>1</sup> Project.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> <u>http://www.saveage.eu</u>

In the first phase of the SAVE AGE project, an analysis of the total energy consumption in 100 RCHE (10 in each 10 countries) and building characteristics such as net area, year of construction, number of residents and employees, type of insulation, envelope materials, etc. was carried out. Energy consumption data and relevant information collected from the RCHE were subject to statistical analysis, and a multivariate regression based benchmarking model approach was established to correlate different EUI with factors that may influence the energy consumption of a building, namely heating degree days (X1), net area (X2), year of construction of the building (X3), number of residents (X4) and number of employees (X5) and year of retrofit (X6). This approach would allow comparing performances of different RCHEs, so that RCHE managers can assess European consumption levels and evaluate their own efficiency, acknowledging where they stand within a National and European sample. In order to compare the efficiency of RCHE, the following Energy Use Intensity (EUI) performance indicators were considered:

- EUI1 (kWh/m<sup>2</sup>/year) provides information on total consumption per square meter of the building;
- EUI2 (kWh/residents/year) provides information on total consumption per residents;
- EUI3 (kWh<sub>heating</sub>/m<sup>2</sup>/year) provides information on heating consumption per square meter;
- EUI4 (kWh<sub>heating</sub>/residents/year) provides information on heating consumption per residents.

Figure 1 summarizes the SAVE AGE benchmarking approach.



#### Figure 1 – Methodology of SAVE AGE Benchmarking

#### Methodology

To establish the energy efficiency benchmark, a literature survey assessment was carried out to collect information about energy efficiency benchmarks all over the world, in similar buildings. This survey enabled the collection of data related to performance indicators for assessing energy efficiency. In addition, a research on recent monitoring projects took place, in particular the Tertiary and REMODECE<sup>2</sup> projects, as well as older projects such as the SAVEII project DSM in Health-Care facilities, which aided decisions about on site data collection. Based on these assessments, it was possible to develop a detailed questionnaire used to monitor 10 RCHE in each of the 10 EU participating countries: Germany (DE), Greece (GR), Italy (IT), Portugal (PT), Slovenia (SI), Sweden

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> http://www.eu.fhg.de/el-tertiary and http://remodece.isr.uc.pt

(SE), Spain (SP), France (FR), The Netherlands (NL) and the Czech Republic (CZ), hence a total of 100 RCHE.

The following phase of the project dealt with monitoring the RCHE. This monitoring was based on a detailed survey assessment which was based on the collection of the questionnaire filled in through interviews with the RCHE managers, technical staff, maintenance staff, nursery, etc. The advantage is that the energy consumption benchmark is more practical, because it uses statistical analysis of the data collected from the survey form. However, there is a limitation of this approach. As the benchmark relies on the number of RCHE of the sample, if the entire population is energy inefficient the result of the benchmark can be poor confident. Moreover, the only requirement imposed to the sample was to collect data from 10 RCHE in each country, located in different locations. Although no other requirement was considered in order to guarantee a statistically representative sample and assuming that the houses were randomly selected, the final set of 100 RCHE spread throughout Europe is believed to contain a representative sample of this type of facilities.

All collected questionnaires were stored in a specific database which was developed to store the huge amount of collected data in an effective way. A web based platform<sup>3</sup> enabled each partner to feed in the database with the information collected from the field surveys regarding general information of the RCHE such as number of residents, number of employees, number of rooms, etc.; construction details such as type of building, net area, type of terrain, etc.; heating/cooling; equipment; type of lighting; and building's energy bills (electricity, natural gas, oil, etc.) for the three last years (whenever possible). In addition, climate factors have also been considered, since there are RCHE from countries with different climatic conditions and therefore climate adjustment of the energy data was considered in the analysis. Field collection of data is a huge task that is very time consuming, and it took longer than foreseen to collect enough data that could be useful to model the benchmark. This was a worthy effort, since data on energy supply and end-use are a pre-requisite for developing policies and initiating a change towards increased sustainability [11].

#### **Climate factors**

When applied to real-world buildings, common degree-day-based methods suffer from a number of problems that can easily lead to inaccurate, misleading results. Degree days should thus be handled with care and the most appropriate degree-day data should be used.<sup>4</sup> However, the degree-day data freely available is unlikely to be entirely appropriate for calculations relating to any specific buildings. Ideally, degree-day data should be obtained for an appropriate base temperature<sup>5</sup> and covering just the hours over which the building is heated. Heating degree days have been collected, but it was not possible to obtain degree-day data with an appropriate base temperature for all partners. However, it was possible to access mean-air-temperature data (e.g. monthly readings of mean air temperature), so the following methodology was used to obtain approximate degree-days, with a specified base temperature. The degree day value was defined as the difference between the daily mean temperature and the defined base temperature [11, 24].

Heating Degree-Days (HDD) are used for calculations relative to buildings' heating requirements. If considering a base temperature (T\_baseH), and the daily average temperature T\_out[i] for each day i in a period of N days<sup>6</sup>, the HDD provides a measure of how many degrees and for how long the average outside air temperature was below the base temperature. Similarly, Cooling Degree-Days (CDD) are commonly used for calculations that relate the cooling of buildings - especially those using air conditioning. If considering a base temperature (T\_baseC), and the daily average temperature

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> <u>http://www.isr.uc.pt/~saveage</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> <u>http://www.energylens.com/articles/degree-days</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The base temperature is a reference temperature used to calculate the Degree Days and allowing comparing thermal performance among buildings located in different climates.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Typically one year.

T\_out[i] for each day i in a period of N days<sup>6</sup>, the CDD provides a measure of how many degrees, and for how long the average outside air temperature was above the base temperature [23].<sup>7</sup>

# Establishing the Energy Efficiency Benchmark for RCHE

Energy benchmarking is an assessment approach in which energy-related metrics measured or estimated at one building are compared to those from other buildings and/or specific performance targets. These metrics can be specified at the level of the building, a functional area within a building or specific systems and operations. Benchmarks can be derived from distributions of metric values obtained from buildings that have a similar functionality or characteristics. Consequently, improvements in benchmarking methods can have a large impact on the energy use within the building.

To compare the energy performance of the RCHE, benchmarking energy indicators have been developed. These indicators should enable the comparison of different RCHE as accurately as possible. This is accomplished by using indicators that are normalized, like EUI. The EUI is the average annual energy consumption normalized by net area of the building, and it is typically expressed in kWh/m<sup>2</sup>/year.

This methodology of simple floor area normalized EUI was then developed using a multivariate linearregression model approach to correlate EUI with factors that influence the energy consumption of the RCHE, namely HDD, number of residents, number of employees and year of construction. If the data is nonlinear, this approach may not fit very well the data and other more complex ways of data fitting might be necessary for a credible energy-consumption performance rating.

After the data collection, there is a need to treat and process this data in order to establish the energy consumption benchmarks in terms of the EUI.

The benchmarking model makes use of the "best-fitted" regression model to calculate the predicted EUI. The EUI can then be expressed based on a set of explanatory variables: X1...Xn. The linear multivariate regression is performed in Excel.

#### Performance Indicators

The performance indicators calculated for the benchmark are used as an energy performance rating system to compare different buildings with the same functional use.

Table 1 shows the Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) selected to be used to compare the performance of the RCHE. The following Energy Use Intensity performance indicators were considered: kWh/m2/yr, kWh/res/yr, kWh<sub>heating</sub>/m2/yr and kWh<sub>heating</sub>/res/yr.

Key Performanc e Indicator	Source of Energy	Units	Data Required	Comments
Energy Use Intensity (EUI1)	All sources (electricity, gas, oil, biomass, district heating, etc.).	kWh/m²/yr	Annual energy consumption; Net area of the building	Provides information about the total energy consumption of the building per its net area.
EUI2	All sources (electricity, gas, oil, biomass, district	kWh/ residents/yr	Annual energy consumption; Number of	Provides information about the total energy consumption per

#### Table 1 - Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Base temperatures assumption: 15°C was established as the base temperature for degree-daybased calculations relating to the energy consumption of the heating system and 20°C as the base temperature for degree-day based calculation related to the energy consumption of the cooling system [http://www.energylens.com].

	heating, etc.).		residents	resident.
EUI3	All sources of energy used for heating	kWh heating/m2/ yr	Heating energy consumption; net area of the building	Provides information about the heating consumption per square meters.
EUI4	All sources of energy used for heating	kWh heating/ residents/yr	Heating energy consumption; Number of residents	Provides information about the heating consumption per resident.

#### Selection of EUI and explanatory variables

The EUI (kWh/m<sup>2</sup>/year and kWh/residents/year) are chosen as the dependent variables in the multiple regression models. Some factors that may affect the EUI, which were considered, are climate (degree days), number of residents, number of employees, age of the building and year of any retrofits. But there are other more qualitative factors which may also affect the EUI such as occupant's behavior, level of environmental awareness of user's, maintenance practices, etc. but these factors were not modeled since they are difficult to quantify or evaluate.

In the SAVE AGE study six explanatory variables, presented in Table 2, were considered in the multiple regression models.

Explanatory variable	Variable name
X1	HDD
X2	Net area (m2)
X3	Year of construction
X4	Number of residents
X5	Number of employees
X6	Year of retrofit

 Table 2: Explanatory variables considered in the model

A random selected sample of 10 RCHE in each country was surveyed to develop a data-base for energy-efficiency benchmarking. In principle, a sample size of 100 is sufficient to provide a statistically significant model. However, due to the lack of important data for some countries and in some RCHE, there was the elimination of 8 samples, and the final number of houses considered in the analysis is 92 samples.

#### The multiple regression model

If we assume that the typical distribution of energy consumption is affected by the selected explanatory variables, including HDD, net area, year of construction, number of residents, number of employees and year of retrofit, (X1...X6), the multiple regression model for the EUI(kWh/m<sup>2</sup>/yr) is given by:

$$EUI = \beta_0 + (\beta_1 * x_1) + ... + (\beta_8 * x_8) + u = \beta_0 + \sum_{i=1}^8 \beta_i \left(\frac{x_i - x_i}{S_i}\right) + u$$

Where  $x_i$  are the Xi explanatory variable average, Si is its variance, and  $\beta_i$  the regression coefficients that best fit a linear model to the available data and u represents the random error [6, 12]. The data analysis to obtain the above regression values has been carried out using Microsoft Excel. After

modeling the data, an analysis of the influence of the explanatory variables in the indicators showed that the explanatory variable Year of retrofit does not have influence on the benchmark, and therefore was neglected. Therefore only the explanatory variables X1...X5 were considered in the final modeling of the data.

#### EUI1 (kWh/m<sup>2</sup>/yr)

As an example, Table 3 summarizes the statistics of the survey results for EUI1. A similar procedure has been carried out for the other performance indicators EUI2, EUI3 and EUI4.<sup>8</sup>

Due to the presence of some outliers, the total number of houses considered in this case was 86. The Table presents the minimum and maximum values, the average and the standard deviation of EUI1 and the explanatory variables under evaluation. The linear coefficient generated by the model and the sensitivity of the model to a given variable (the product of the standard deviation of that variable by the linear coefficient generated by the model) is also presented in the Table 3.

	N	Min	Max	Mean	SD	βi	Sensitivity to the model
EUI1(kWh/m2/yr)	86	46	551	252	106		
X1 (HDD)	86	432	2775	1975	740	0,0329	24,35
X2 (Net area, m2)	86	220	18270	4278	2994	-0,0386	-115,84
X3 (Year of Construction)	86	1400	2010	1957	102	-0,0721	-7,32
X4 (Number of residents)	86	11	273	91	61	0,88732	54,43
X5 (Number of employees)	86	3	340	62	54	1,23484	66,12

As it can be seen the standard deviation is significant for all the explanatory variables. This is an indicator of large variability in the data sample.

 $R^2$  is the coefficient of determination. It gives a normalized indication, ranging from 0 until 1, of the error from the model to the sampled data. If it is 1, there is a perfect correlation to the sample. Anyway, it is worth noting that with the heterogeneous data of the current sample, no model would provide a perfect fit. For the case of EUI1,  $R^2$  is 0,4.

Figure 2 shows a frequency chart to depict the distribution of the RCHE according to their net area. This histogram is biased with most RCHE below  $5,000 \text{ m}^2$ , but the sample contains five outliers with areas above  $15,000 \text{ m}^2$ . The frequency of RCHE with more than  $3,000 \text{ m}^2$  decrease as area increases. Houses with areas above  $10,000 \text{ m}^2$  and with a relatively small number of residents were not properly modelled by the benchmark for the EUI1 (kWh/m<sup>2</sup>/yr) indicator. This happened because the study includes only five houses above that area and the regression coefficient reduces too much the magnitude of the performance indicator that might result in unreasonable expected values, as happened with some cases in Germany, The Netherlands and Spain being treated as outliers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> More information is available at www.saveage.eu.





#### **Major Findings**

The multivariate linear-regression model originated, for each performance indicator, the following equations that correlate each variable with the benchmark value:

- EUI1 = 335,81 + 0,033.X1 0,039.X2 0,072.X3 + 0,887.X4 + 1,235.X5
- EUI2 = 5812,9 + 3,099.X1 + 1,107.X2 + 0,102.X3 76,222.X4 + 29,052.X5
- EUI3 = 224,31 + 0,025.X1 0,018.X2 0,068.X3 + 0,419.X4 + 0,429.X5
- EUI4 = 5531,2 + 1,818.X1 + 0,549.X2 1,285.X3 34,800.X4 + 5,327.X5

In Figures 3, 4, 5 and 6, the indicator EUI1 is plotted against net area, number of residents, number of employees and HDD, respectively. Real values are presented in different colours for each country. Benchmark trend lines are also plotted.



Figure 3. EUI1 (kWh/m<sup>2</sup>/yr) versus net area (m<sup>2</sup>)

As expected, the energy consumption per square meter decreases as the net area of the building increases. This does not mean that larger buildings perform better; it just means that a building consumption increases less per square meter as the net area increases.







### Figure 5. EUI1 (kWh/m<sup>2</sup>/yr) versus number of employees

As it can be seen in Figures 4 and 5, there is a positive correlation between the energy consumption per square meter and both the number of residents and the number of employees. However, this relation is not very strong as the slope of the trend line is low in both cases.



Figure 6. EUI1 (kWh/m²/yr) versus HDD

There is a very small positive correlation between HDD and energy consumption per square meter. There are two main range levels of HDD: small number of HDD: [500; 1500], and large number of HDD [2000; 3000]. It is also possible to conclude that some RCHE are performing better than others for the same order of magnitude of HDD, both within the same country and across different countries.

Figures 7 and 8 plot the EUI2, energy consumption per resident per year and the EUI4, energy consumption used for heating purposes per resident per year, respectively, against the HDD. Both indicators have a positive correlation with HDD. Due to space limitation, this paper does not present all the graphs for the four Indicators, which can be found at the project web-site. The decision was to include here the indicators presenting stronger correlation with the explanatory variables.



Figure 7. EUI2 (kWh/resident/yr) versus HDD



Figure 8. EUI4 (kWh/resident/yr) versus HDD

In the same country, with the same HDD, it is possible to find RCHE with very different heating consumptions per resident per year. This is particularly significant for Sweden and France but is also true in other countries like Italy, Greece and Germany.

# Conclusions

If we look at the differences between the benchmark value for the different performance indicators and the real consumption value, as can be seen in Table 4, the following conclusions can be drawn:

	EUI1		EUI2		EUI3		EUI4	
	kWh/m²/yr		kWh/residents/yr		kWhheating/r	n²/yr	kWhheating/resident	ts/yr
	Estimated	Real	Estimated	Real	Estimated	Real	Estimated	Real
CZ	344	435	10012	10311	177	247	5429	6077
DE	244	227	14463	12275	128	110	7452	5812
FR	236	186	14468	10983	125	121	7751	8386
GR	214	187	7984	6241	106	101	4173	3159
IT	234	312	10498	13855	113	193	5195	8633
NL	237	187	14204	10744	112	82	6810	4824
PT	252	236	7857	8008	119	79	3868	3338
SI	326	301	7887	9741	162	141	4245	4599
SP	228	215	12266	9229	127	118	6728	4866
SE	203	241	17618	24521	117	110	9251	11133

Table 4: Real and estimated average values for indicators EUI1-4

EUI1: The average value for EUI1 is 252 kWh/m<sup>2</sup>/yr. Within the sample, it varies from 46 kWh/m<sup>2</sup>/yr in one RCHE in France to 551 kWh/m2/yr in one house in Czech Republic. Czech Republic, Italy and Sweden are the countries where RCHE are using more energy than the model estimated.

EUI2 ranges from 2215 kWh per resident per year in one house in Greece to the huge amount of 36349 kWh/residents/yr in one house in Sweden. Within a given country, the energy consumption per resident per year can vary significantly. According to the model, the maximum value should be 20156 kWh/residents/yr. Czech Republic, Italy, Portugal, Slovenia and Sweden are the worst countries in terms of total energy consumption per resident.

EUI3, which represents the heating consumption per square meter per year, is estimated to be 129 kWh/m2/yr, however the maximum reaches 333 kWh/m2/yr in one RCHE in Czech Republic, while the model predicts 216 kWh/m2/yr. Czech Republic and Italy are the worst positioned countries in terms of this heating indicator.

EUI4: The heating consumption per resident per year, as with EUI2, reached a maximum value for one particular house in Sweden, with 20556 kWh/residents/yr, while the model expected value for that situation is 10351 kWh/residents/yr. The average heating consumption value per resident per year is 6109 kWh. The countries with the highest heating consumption per resident are Czech Republic, France, Italy, Slovenia and Sweden.

#### Lessons learned

There is a large heterogeneity in the collected data, reflected by the sparse point clouds in the figures 3-8. Additionally, no non-linear tendency can be observed. Therefore, in an attempt to establish benchmarks in the 10 countries, multivariate linear regressions were fitted to the collected data, in order to model the energy consumption. Considering such sparse data, large global deviations between the models and the data were obtained, reflected by relatively small values of  $R^2$ .

Considering the sensitivity of the model to a given variable as the product of the standard deviation of that variable with the linear coefficient obtained by multi-linear regression, we can conclude that the most relevant variable for EUI1 and EUI3 is the net area and for EUI2 and EUI4 is the number of residents.

Since some outliers were found, it is advisable to double-check the information relative to those houses and eventually to carry out complementary data able to fill in the gap in-between the normal data and the outliers. As it is the basic idea of descriptive statistics, when encountering an outlier, we have to go further on the analysis and find out its cause. Insignificant explanatory variables should also be eliminated.

#### Acknowledgements

The SAVE AGE project was mainly supported by the European Commission, Executive Agency for Competitiveness and Innovation (EACI).

#### References

- [1] "Implementing the Cost-Optimal methodology in EU Countries Lessons learned from three case studies", Buildings Performance Institute Europe (BPIE), March 2013, ISBN: 978991143083.
- [2] Liddiard, R., Wright, A., Marjanovic-Halburd, L., "A review of non-domestic Energy Benchmarks and Benchmarking methodologies", 2008, CaRB (http://www.ucl.ac.uk/carb/pubdocs/CP-DMU-10-IEECB08-ReviewNDBenchmarks-2008-RL-LMH-AJW.pdf).
- [3] "Global Health and Aging", National Institute on Aging, National Institute of Health, NIH Publication nº 11-7737, October 2011, World Health Organization".
- [4] "European Economy", European Commission, Directorate-General for Economic and Financial Affairs, Special Report nº 1/2006 (http://ec.europa.eu/economy\_finance/publications/publication6654\_en.pdf)
- [5] Federspiel, C.; Zhang, Q.; Arens, E.; *"Model-based benchmarking with application to laboratory buildings"*, Energy Build 2002; 34:203-14.
- [6] Chung W., Hui, Y.V., Lam Miu, Y., "Benchmarking the energy efficiency of commercial buildings" Elsevier, Applied Energy, 83, 2006, 1-14.
- [7] William Chung, Y. V. Hui, "A study of energy efficiency of private office buildings in Hong Kong", Elsevier, Energy and buildings, 41, 2009, 696-701.
- [8] Paulina Bohdanowicz, Ivo Martinac, "Determinants and benchmarking of resource consumption in hotels, Case study of Hilton International and Scandic in Europe", Elsevier, Energy and buildings, 39, (2007), 82-95.

- [9] Xuchao, W., Priyadarsini, R., Eang, L.S., "Benchmarking Energy use and greenhouse gas emissions in Singapore's hotel industry", Energy Policy 2012, 38, 4520-4527.
- [10] Sharp T. "Energy benchmarking in commercial office buildings", In: ACEEE 1996 summer study on energy efficiency in buildings, vol. 4, 1996. p. 321-9
- [11] B.P.O. Gallachóir, M. Keane, E. Morrissey, J.O'Donnell, "Using indicators to profile energy consumption and to inform energy policy in a university – a case study in Ireland", Energy and Buildings, 39 (2007), 913-922.
- [12] Steven C. Chapra, Raymond P. Canale, "Numerical Methods for Engineers: with programming and software applications", McGraw-Hill, third edition, ISBN 0-07-115895-2, 1998
- [13] John A. Rice, "Mathematical Statistics and Data Analysis", Duxbury press, second edition, ISBN 0-534-20934-3, 1995.
- [14] Brett C. Singer, et al., "Hospital Energy Benchmarking", Guidance Version 1.0.
- [15] Kornkamon Tantiwanit, "Establishing Energy Consumption Benchmarks of Office Buildings in Bangkok",
- [16] Filippin C. "Benchmarking the energy efficiency and the greenhouse-gases emissions of school buildings in central Argentina", Build Environ 2000:35:407-14.
- [17] Paula Fonseca, Pedro Esteves, Lino Marques, Aníbal de Almeida; "Analysis of total energy consumption in 100 health care homes", 2011, SAVE AGE Project Report, IEE/09/676/SI2.558233. Can be ordered from www.isr.uc.pt
- [18] Pedro Esteves, Paula Fonseca, Aníbal Almeida, Urbano Nunes; "EU comprehensive document on energy efficiency in Residential Care Homes for the Elderly", 2011, SAVE AGE Project, IEE/09/676/SI2.558233. Can be ordered from www.isr.uc.pt
- [19] Patterson MG. "What is energy efficiency? Concepts, indicators and methodological issues". Energy Policy 1996; 24(5):377-90.
- [20] Gilligan J.M., Dietz T., Gardner G.T., Stern P.C., Vanderberg M.P. "The behavioural wedge: reducing greenhouse gas by individuals and households". Significance, 2010, (7):17-20.
- [21] www.eceee.org
- [22] http://www.php.net
- [23] http://www.energylens.com
- [24] www.degreedays.net
- [25] www.wunderground.com
- [26] www.saveage.eu

# Whole Home Energy Use Study with Comprehensive Metering Package

# Robert Davis, Ben Larson, Michael Logsdon

# Ecotope, Inc.

# Abstract:

The Pacific Northwest of the United States relies on a regional energy plan which is updated every 5 years. The first plan was published in 1981 and each plan prioritizes acquisition of conservation and renewable energy sources. The next plan will be published in 2014, and a comprehensive Residential Building Stock Assessment (RBSA), began in 2011 to provide a statistically representative summary of residential building characteristics throughout the Pacific Northwest. This study involved a half-day field audit of approximately 1400 site-built and manufactured homes. A subset of these homes received more detailed audits that focused on heating/cooling distribution efficiency and house air-tightness.

The Whole Home Energy Use Study (WHEUS) is part of the RBSA and directly measures most energy uses (natural gas/electric heating, cooling, hot water, 240 volt AC (VAC) appliances), plug loads, major 120 VAC appliances, and lighting in a sample of 100 homes which are statistically linked to the RBSA sample of 1400 homes. Data are collected as 5 minute summaries and include both energy and power (and duty cycle for lighting) plus additional measurements.

This paper will focus on two elements of the WHEUS. First, it will describe the design of the metering plan, focusing on how three different data logging platforms were designed and then melded to provide nearly real-time usage data. The semi-automated error-checking that is key to ensuring data quality will be described. Second, the paper will present some of the preliminary results, including whole-house and appliance-specific usage and time of use profiles.

# 1. Background

Recent history of the Pacific Northwest, especially that involving electricity production and distribution, has centered on the network of federally-financed dams that are operated on the Columbia River and its tributaries by the Bonneville Power Administration. Hydroelectric power has provided almost all of the electricity for the region until very recently and regional planning has therefore largely been the province of BPA (with a limited number of natural gas and coal-fired plants, plus some nuclear energy making up the difference) Wind power generating capacity has increased rapidly in the last decade and now represents a potential resource equal to about half of the average regional demand of about 9000 MW.

In the late 1970s, projected rapid growth of electricity demand led BPA to underwrite construction of a five facility nuclear power network. Demand did not materialize as expected, the bonds that had been sold to finance the project went into default, and BPA was compelled by federal legislation to agree to a broader regional planning process overseen by a new agency, the Northwest Power Planning Council (now called the Northwest Power and Conservation Council). The Council would prepare a regional plan every five years (prioritizing conservation and renewable resources) that

BPA and its customer utilities (over 150 in all throughout the region) would use as a blueprint to acquire conservation resources. These resources would come from a combination of utility programs and changing energy codes (which are administered by the four states in the region: Idaho, Montana, Oregon, and Washington). Periodic evaluations by the Council and others have concluded that conservation programs have succeeded in delivering an accumulated 500 MWa<sup>1</sup> over the past thirty years [1]. This is an impressive accomplishment, especially in a region where electricity's average cost is typically under \$0.10 USD/kWh. Note this graphic shows conservation gleaned from all sectors (residential, commercial, and industrial), with residential conservation estimated to have saved about 50% of the total over the past 10 years [2].



Figure 1. Historic Conservation Acquisition in United States' Pacific Northwest

The region's last major regional end use study, the End Use and Consumer Assessment Program (ELCAP) was begun in the mid-1980s, with most analysis complete by the early 1990s [3]. This was a \$60 million study (1988 USD), with the bulk of its effort concentrated on commercial/industrial end uses. Still, about 400 homes were instrumented in some form (but no plug load or lighting data were collected due to limitations in metering technology). The energy use and load shape data from that study has been used by the Council and others in several regional Plans. A few additional, smaller-scale end use studies have been conducted since ELCAP but the region has badly needed an update.

The seventh regional Plan is now in preparation. A key element of the Plan is analysis of data that is now being provided by the Residential Building Stock Assessment (RBSA). This study, funded by the Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance (NEEA) is a general survey-based study that provides a statistically representative summary of residential energy use characteristics throughout the region [4]. A subset of about 10% of the 1100 single-family homes in this study are the subject of intensive end-use metering (the Whole Home Energy Use Study (WHEUS)) and that is the subject

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> An average megawatt is the amount of electricity produced by the continuous production of one megawatt over a period of one year.

of this paper. Results from both studies support the Council in preparation of the 7<sup>th</sup> Plan, support the region's utility conservation programs, and also may provide a test bed for new technologies of interest to the region.

There are 101 single-family sites in the study, drawn from five regions across the Northwest. The distribution is approximately population-weighted. The sample was designed to focus the sampling resources on areas with large populations (that is, clustered around the major population centers, which are typically less than 100 miles from the Pacific Ocean and therefore in a relatively mild, maritime climate) as well as areas with diverse climates. The two most populous areas (Puget Sound and western Oregon) were sampled separately; about one-third of the sample was drawn from three eastern regions, including eastern Washington, Idaho, and western Montana.

Whereas there are adequate west-side sites to ensure statistical robustness, various recruiting challenges on the east side prevented drawing of a statistically significant sample by sub-region. The minimum statistical criteria were set at 80/20. These criteria allow substantial variation while still allowing some variables to be reported that will have a wide confidence interval. Setting these criteria as a minimum ensures that most data points could be useful in establishing a generalized picture of the region's residential customer energy use. For the individual sampling areas, the coefficient of variation (CV) was set at 0.85, which means that the ratio between the mean and the standard deviation of any one metered result could be as high as 85% and still meet the minimum statistical criteria. Nevertheless, results from the east side can be viewed as broadly representative of the energy usage of the region's more continental climate (which has from 30-80% more heating degree days than the west and which also typically has more demand for mechanical cooling (even though cooling represents on average less than 20% of the house's HVAC usage).

# 2. Metering Plan Elements

In concert with the regions' keen interest in careful energy planning, this project had to construct a durable metering plan which would be adaptable to a range of housing sizes and energy use loads. The plan would have to be able to measure as many individual loads in the house as possible (both at the electrical panel and elsewhere), be secure, and allow for remote monitoring and retrieval of data. Sites would be spread out over several thousand square miles over a period of at least 2 years, so there would have to also be careful consideration of cellular communication service.

The final metering plan included 3 parallel platforms. The first was centered at the house electrical panel and includes direct measurement of the whole house service drop plus major 240 VAC appliances such as heating systems, water heaters, and laundry equipment. The second platform is based on a network of branch circuit measurement nodes to pick up items such as consumer electronics; this platform included both wired and wireless elements. Finally, lighting fixture on-time is measured with stand-alone data loggers. This platform is the only one that requires on-site visits to gather data.

The metering platform in this study is not limited to measurement of electrical loads but also tracks consumption of gas-fired appliances (with a focus on gas furnaces and water heaters). Very little detailed information has been available in the region on residential natural gas load shapes, especially in relation to a physical survey of the home and related usage influences, and therefore this work will improve understanding of the major end uses in natural gas homes. Measuring gas usage can be challenging [5] but the approaches used in this study (current-sensing relays and thermocouples) have allowed a reasonable, safe estimation of time of use and accumulated consumption.

The combined platforms collect nearly 600,000 data points per day across the three platforms. Most of these data can be checked nightly using automated routines (described in following sections) but the lighting data is picked up manually (since those data loggers do not permit remote access).

# 2.1. End Use Measurement Architecture

Data from most end uses are uploaded to Ecotope's servers once per day. These data include the heating, hot water, appliances, and plug loads. The exception is lighting loggers, which are not networked and are periodically downloaded manually.

There are multiple layers of security at every level of the system so that data and participant privacy are protected. Within the home, the dataloggers, networking equipment, and wireless networks are all locked down to prevent access. The network between the homes and Ecotope is a private network, so unauthorized access is not available from the public Internet. In addition, there are firewalls both at the entrance to the home and at the gateway to Ecotope's servers. The network runs over a virtual private network (VPN) to enhance security further.

Site, datalogger, and sensor status is monitored continuously, primarily for network latency and uptime. Data streams are automatically checked for a variety of issues including unusual gaps and out-of-range values. Problem reports are generated automatically and reviewed by program staff. This monitoring system enables Ecotope to quickly address issues with equipment that may have broken or been moved by participants.

Many network issues can be handled remotely. The custom datalogger also acts as a management platform with tools that allow other networking equipment to be updated and fixed remotely. The ability to perform these tasks remotely delivers better overall uptime and reduces the number of site visits.

Redundancy is built into the system in a number of ways. The dataloggers store log files locally in addition to transmitting them to Ecotope's servers. If an issue arises with a file on the server end, the original can be manually retrieved. The two VPN servers that run the network both have the capacity to support the entire network on their own, so if one fails the network will not go down. The 3G router within the home can perform as a backup wireless router if the primary router fails.

The entry to the home is a 3G cellular router. The 3G router is connected to two dataloggers and a wireless router. One datalogger is an off-the-shelf product that manages the heating, domestic hot water (when heated with electricity), and any appliance that has a dedicated circuit at the electrical panel. Ecotope developed a parallel datalogger platform to support the plug load meters and provide a network management platform in the home. The wireless router runs the plug load network, directing traffic to the custom datalogger. Plug load meters communicate with the router via small wireless nodes. Figure 2 shows this network.



Figure 2. WHEUS Data Collection/Transfer

The 3G routers connect via a private cellular data network to redundant VPN routers at Ecotope. Traffic is routed through a firewall before reaching Ecotope's servers. Because the network is a cellular data network and not a phone network, connections are always live; this factor allows active monitoring of equipment, which helps ensure data quality. Finally, as mentioned above, the network is private, with no access to the public Internet.

# 2.2. Data Warehousing and Quality Control

The flowchart in Figure 3 depicts how data flow from raw sensor data and site visit forms to deliverable analysis materials. The process starts with physical sensors in the field, which send raw data in commaseparated value (CSV) log files to Ecotope's servers. From there the data are vetted, accumulated, rearranged, and eventually collapsed into high-level summaries and charts. Exploratory data analysis software and custom scripting routines are essential to this work. Very little data storage, cleaning, or analysis are done outside of these platforms.



Figure 3. WHEUS Data Flow & Processing

New data are uploaded to Ecotope's servers, and aggregation code runs once daily to incorporate the most recent data. The nightly processing code performs aggregation and error checking according to two general steps.

In the first step, new log files are opened, examined, and parceled accordingly into accumulating datasets, grouped by site ID and sensor type. Stray files and files lacking usable records are discarded. Data gaps, readings in violation of preset, credible bounds, and missing or stale sensors are recorded in a nightly error report.

In the second step, accumulating files for each site are merged together into a single analysis file of fiveminute raw data, with known bad data removed and special cases computed. These files are referred to as the reshaped analysis files. Residual errors (i.e., instances where the sum of metered end uses exceeds the measured service load) are tabulated and recorded in the nightly error report, along with a summary of the data fraction acquired and service fraction metered. The reshaped analysis files store the data in physically meaningful categories such as temperature, power, and time. Graphing routines referencing these files help analysts visualize the incoming data. These graphing routines prove valuable in investigating problems flagged by the error reports.

Examining each piece of raw five-minute data, even visually, quickly becomes overwhelming. Broader trends are investigated with a third analysis step, which involves collapsing the reshaped files into hourly, daily, weekly, monthly, and yearly summaries. In addition to aggregating by a coarser unit of time, all measurements of ontime from the reshaped files are converted into energy, which includes lighting and gas devices. Lighting wattages and gas appliance energy input rates are merged with the reshaped files before time aggregation. The broader time scales of the collapsed summary files assist in summarizing energy use patterns and creating end-use load shapes.

An exception to the automated file uploads and near real-time data collection are the lighting loggers, which do not upload data automatically. Each lighting logger data download includes time

synchronization, to ensure that the loggers are correctly recording time, which is the basis of alignment with other data. After each download, aggregation code accumulates, reshapes, and collapses the most recent lighting data in a manner virtually identical to the continuously updating data.

The specific errors encountered are summarized and then sent to project staff in nightly reports (spreadsheet format). Gaps in the data and non-responsive sensors may indicate hardware failure, a weak wireless signal, or the fact that a participant moved or unplugged a sensor. Range checks, in which recorded values are examined against credible bounds, often indicate a malfunctioning sensor or a post-processing multiplier that must be applied or adjusted. For instance, we never expect outside air temperature to be colder than -50°F or warmer than 120°F. Power measurements should never drop below zero. Likewise, extreme energy usage data (for example, a gaming system recorded as drawing 4 kilowatts (kW) of electricity) also indicates a measurement error. Errors of this sort are bundled into the nightly report. These range checks are performed with a power "snapshot," rather than average power over the five-minute logging interval, and sometimes deliver false positives in the case of devices with motors, capturing inrush current at startup. Range violation requirements have been relaxed accordingly for devices such as gas furnace air handlers, in which we expect periodically high inrush currents. Residual violations, where the metered end-use power draws add up to a value greater than the whole-house service power draw, also indicate malfunctioning sensors or incorrect post-processing multipliers.

In addition to the automated error checking, Ecotope also performs quality control spot checks. This step involves analysts examining selected sites and sensors at random intervals. Typically, the analyst visualizes the data through various graphing routines to see if the data spin a believable narrative. For example, television usage that peaks at 1:00 p.m. and is virtually zero at 9:00 p.m. would bear further investigation. It might be an accurate pattern if the house is occupied during the day, but it does not fit with "prime-time" viewing habits. Therefore, it might indicate a time synchronization error. This approach is very time intensive so is only used sparingly, but it can sometimes find issues missed by the automated error routines or lead to the development of additional automated routines. Next, analysts also visually inspect site data after the automated error checks alert them to potential problems. Data plots allow the analyst to home in on the error and direct field staff to the specific problem, which can then be targeted in a site repair visit.

The cost of this extensive data checking totals to about 25% of the total 2 year budget of about \$2.9 million. Ecotope's current estimate of believable data harvested is very high, though- about 87% of all possible data. This rate of successful capture is key to the success of the regional energy planning process.

# 3. Site Case Studies

The first case study is for a house (Site 22938) in East Wenatchee, Washington, with all electric loads including a tank water heater, forced-air furnace, and central air conditioner.

Figure 4 displays the most basic monitoring data output – the five-minute average power consumption by major end use. All of the loads plotted stack together to produce the total metered load. The whole-house service load drawn in black is metered separately. Whenever there is white space between the top of the colored plot and the black line, there is some load in the house that is not being separately metered (in this example, lighting is not plotted, which likely accounts for most of the white space).



Figure 4. Five-Minute Summary Loads at Site 22938

The furnace has two stages of electric resistance (ER and ER\_2). The heating elements engage simultaneously upon a call for heat and account for the largest loads during the day. Note that furnace runtime is greater in the morning than in the afternoon. The next two large loads are the water heater (DHW) and clothes dryer (Dryer). The electric tank water heater shows typical standby recoveries throughout the day and then a major water heating event starting at about 5:00 p.m. On this Saturday, the occupants used the electric dryer four times. At around 8:00 p.m., the kitchen range (Range) was used. The sum of all monitored plug loads is plotted in dark blue (WS\_sum).

Using the same time period as Figure 4, Figure 5 plots many plug-in devices that are connected to standard 120-volt branch circuits. On this graph, the plots do not stack but rather show the power consumed by each device.



Figure 5. Monitored 120V Plug Loads at Site 22938

During installation of the metering equipment, the occupants indicated that they used a plug-in electric space heater to augment the central furnace heat output. That space heater (ER\_3) shows regular use in Figure 5. The figure also shows a typical refrigerator (Refrig) usage pattern. The refrigerator compressor cycles on and off with roughly a 45-minute period to maintain the main box setpoint. Near 6:00 p.m., there is a spike in refrigerator usage, suggesting an automatic defrost event. Two clothes washing cycles (Cwash) occurred between 10:00 a.m. and 2:00 p.m., which correspond with the four dryer cycles noted in Figure 4.

The computers and televisions show more constant loads. The five electronic plug loads plotted in Figure 6 represent three computers (Comp, Comp\_2, and Comp\_3) and two televisions (TV and TV\_2). The plots show that the computers are constantly left on throughout the day. Comp and Comp\_2 draw a constant 60 watts (W), and Comp\_3 uses about 120 W. One of the televisions (TV) is used for much of the day and draws 80 W when on and nearly 0 W when off. The other television (TV\_2) is used for about 30 minutes from 10:30 to 11:00 a.m. TV\_2 draws less power than TV when on, but has a standby consumption of nearly 10 W.



Figure 6. Televisions and Computers at Site 22938

# 3.1. Consolidated Data

The high-resolution plots of energy use over hours and days facilitate specific and immediate investigations into individual channels and house behavior. Looking at many of these plots at a time, however, quickly becomes overwhelming. Broader patterns are visualized with a set of tools that accompany the collapsed, summary datasets, in which usage can be investigated at hourly, daily, monthly, or yearly intervals.

For example, Figure 7 shows data collapsed by day into end use category. The figure gives an overall picture of energy use for a house (Site 11418) in Carlton, Oregon. The house employs an air source heat pump for space conditioning and an electric resistance tank for water heating. It shows relatively constant DHW and appliance usage. The HVAC usage responds as expected to decreasing outdoor temperatures (ODT). The blue area at the top of the bars shows the remaining house service load not captured by the meters.



Figure 7. Daily Load by End Use at Site 11418 (ODT = outdoor temperature, DHW = domestic hot water)

Table 1 presents the same type of data that are used to produce graphs like Figure xx and consolidates the daily energy use for each major load category. For example, some of the data from the first winter's monitoring at Site 22938 include the coldest times of the year; the electricity usage in the house is dominated by the electric resistance heating. Note the lower number of days for lighting data; the most recent visit to retrieve lighting data was in early March, providing 122 days of data. Table 2hows that approximately 90% of the whole house service load was metered. Some of the "missing" 10% of the total service entry consumption can be attributed to lighting data yet to be collected, and the rest can be attributed to the occupants using devices not metered by our system.

Site 22938	# of	kWh/d	% of			
End Use	days	Mean	SD	Min	Max	Load
HVAC	216	56.7	38.6	0.0	145.0	69%
DHW	216	8.2	3.6	0.0	18.2	10%
Appliances (non-DHW)	216	3.4	3.4	0.0	16.2	4%
Plugs	216	5.1	1.3	0.0	6.8	6%
Lights <sup>2</sup>	122	0.7	0.7	0.0	3.0	1%
Total Submetered	216	74.1	40.6	0.0	161.9	90%
Whole House						
Service	216	82.6	41.3	0.6	173.2	100%

Table 1	Consolidated End	Use Data for F	lectric Resistance	Heat Site 22938

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Lighting data only for 122 days due to manual downloading. This biases the lighting fraction low in the table.

Another set of summarized end uses is presented in Table 2 for site 11418 in Carlton, Oregon. The data in the table cover 173 days from January to June 2012. Like the data from the Wenatchee site, this time period covers the cold heating season. Unlike the Wenatchee site, the HVAC energy use is a smaller fraction of the total load. One factor is that the climate is warmer in Carlton. More importantly, however, the air source heat pump is more efficient than an electric resistance furnace.

Site 11418	# of	kWh/da	% of Service			
End Use	days	Mean	SD	Min	Max	Load
HVAC	173	15.5	13.8	0.0	59.8	47%
DHW	173	6.9	4.0	0.9	19.0	21%
Appliances (non-DHW)	173	4.4	2.4	1.7	14.2	13%
Plugs	173	1.0	0.8	0.0	2.9	3%
Lights <sup>3</sup>	102	0.5	0.5	0.0	1.8	1%
Total Submetered	173	28.3	16.3	2.9	83.1	85%
Whole House Service	173	33.2	16.5	6.1	90.9	100%

 Table 2. Consolidated End Use Data for Heat Pump Conditioned Site 11418

In addition to summary statistics, it is also possible to conduct analytical exercises with the data. Figure 8 plots HVAC energy use versus outdoor temperature. The electric resistance furnace has two stages (ER and ER\_2), which nearly always operate simultaneously. The clean behavior on the graph indicates that the load is well regulated by the thermostat. The graph also shows the plug-in heater (ER\_3) energy use, which appears relatively flat versus outside temperature. This sort of pattern implies that plug-in heaters may be more appropriately classified as a plug load responding strongly to occupant whim, rather than a load that responds only to outside temperature. Most notable is an encouraging, orderly relationship between outside temperature and HVAC energy usage. A linear regression of total heating energy against daily outdoor temperature results in 3.6 kWh/day-°F, or a heat loss rate of 511 Btu/hr-°F. For a home with 1,875 square feet of conditioned floor area, this heat loss rate is well within expected bounds. Last, the graph in Figure 9 shows some cooling energy use, corresponding to the end of May and beginning of June when average daily outdoor temperatures are near 70°F and the daily maximum temperature was much warmer (almost 90°F on some days according to the five-minute data).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Lighting data only for 102 days due to manual downloading. This biases the lighting fraction low in the table.



Figure 8. Daily HVAC Energy Usage Versus Outdoor Temperature

# 3.2. Lighting Data

The region has never conducted a thorough lighting time-of-use study. Time of use logging is challenging since it requires deployment of about 20 lighting loggers in each home and manual retrieval of data. These data can be combined with lamp/fixture information to calculate lighting usage. The first look at the data shows very promising results. (At press time, visits to pick up the remainder of the first year of time of use lighting data are being scheduled.)

Figure 10 depicts hourly lighting load shapes at one house, which has occupants who work outside of the house during the day. The occupants get up in the morning, use the bedroom and bathroom lights between 6:00 a.m. and 7:00 a.m., and then presumably leave the house. Lighting usage picks up again around 4:00 p.m. and 5:00 p.m. with the living room lights. Note that the y-axis shows average kilowatt hours per hour (kWh/hr) for each named lighting group.



Figure 11. Hourly Lighting Load Shape – Site 21499

The daily load shape in Figure 14 also shows an expected pattern for a site where the occupants work outside of the home during the week. The Monday to Friday usage is about half of the Saturday and Sunday usage. In contrast, other sites (where homeowners are either retired or work from home) exhibits a mostly flat lighting load every day of the week.

# 4. Conclusion

Results from the 100 site Residential Building Stock Assessment Whole House Energy Use Study are key inputs to the 7<sup>th</sup> Northwest Power and Conservation Plan. The data collection system for this study was designed to achieve high rates of useful data recovery. A full report on the project will be available in early 2014. Because of this work, the Pacific Northwest region will have a better chance of identifying future energy conservation opportunities.

# 5. References

[1] Northwest Power and Conservation Council. September, 2012. *Regional Technical Forum 2011 Annual Report and 2012 Progress Update*. More in-depth information can be found at <u>http://rtf.nwcouncil.org/</u>.

[2] Eckman, T. (Manager of Conservation Resources for the Northwest Power and Conservation Council). 21 March 2013, Personal Communication.

[3] Pratt, R., et al. December, 1990. *Significant ELCAP Analysis Results: Summary Report. End Use and Consumer Assessment Program.* Pacific NW National Laboratory, Report PNL-6659. Prepared for Bonneville Power Administration under Related Services Agreement for US Dept. of Energy, Contract DE-AC06-76RLO-1830. Download at

http://dropbox.nwcouncil.org/ELCAP%20Data/ELCAP%20Data%20From%20PNNL/Reports/ELCAP\_Analysis%20(2).pdf.

[4] Baylon, D. et al. October 2012. *Residential Building Stock Assessment: Single Family Characteristics and Energy Use*. Prepared by Ecotope, Inc. for Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance. Download at <a href="http://neea.org/docs/reports/residential-building-stock-assessment-single-family-characteristics-and-energy-use.pdf?sfvrsn=8">http://neea.org/docs/reports/residential-building-stock-assessment-single-family-characteristics-and-energy-use.pdf?sfvrsn=8</a>.

[5] Pigg, S. and D. Cautley, 2010. <u>Energy Use by Residential Gas Water Heaters: A Technical Field</u> <u>Study in 10 Wisconsin Homes</u>. Wisconsin Energy Center.

# ATLETE II –

# Verification of the energy label and ecodesign declarations of washing machines

Author: Stefano Faberi, ISIS - Istituto di Studi per l'Integrazione dei Sistemi, ATLETE II coordinator,

Michal Zakrzewski, European Committee of Domestic Equipment Manufacturers CECED EU, Belgium

Milena Presutto, Italian National Agency for new Technology, Energy and Sustainable Economic Development, ENEA, Italy

Juraj Krivošík, SEVEn, The Energy Efficiency Center, SEVEn, Czech Republic

Therese Kreitz, French Environment and Energy Management Agency, ADEME, France

Edouard Toulouse, ECOS EU, Belgium

Thomas Bogner, Austrian Energy Agency, AEA, Austria

Rainer Stamminger, University of Bonn, Germany

Karolina Petersson, The Swedish Energy Agency, Sweden

Nils Borg, European Council for an Energy Efficient Economy, ECEEE, Sweden

Andrea Klag, International Consumer Research & Testing, ICRT, UK

ATLETE II - Appliance Testing for Energy Label & Evaluation – Washing Machines Co-funded by the Intelligent Energy Europe programme
# Table of contents

Background: history of the project – testing refrigerators	3
ATLETE II – a new exercise on washing machines	4
Exempt from the project actions and results achieved	5
(i) Overview of market surveillance activities	5
(ii) Definition of the compliance verification approach	6
(iil) Selection of washing machine models for testing	6
(iv) Voluntary protocol for manufacturers proactive participation	7
(v) Selection of the test laboratories	8
(vi) International Advisory Committee to the project	9
Other next steps	9
(i) Development of mini-Round Robin Tests	9
(ii) Harmonised application of the new standard for washing machines1	.0

## Abstract

The ATLETE II project is developed between May 2012 and October 2014, with 11 consortium partners from across the EU. The main project goals are to assess the pan-EU compliance of washing machines with energy labelling and eco-design requirements, to identify the potential problems in the use of the testing conditions of the new standard, to improve the capacity of testing laboratories, to stimulate co-operation among national Authorities for effective market surveillance, and to support the dialogue among main stakeholders: suppliers and Market Surveillance Authorities. ATLETE II objectives are:

- Carrying out a pan-European assessment of the compliance of 50 washing machines, semirandomly selected on the European market on the basis of agreed criteria, to the new energy labelling and ecodesign regulations through the verification of the:
  - ✓ formal compliance; check the availability of the label, product fiche and booklet of instructions provided with each appliance to the relevant requirements
  - ✓ compliance of the declared values through laboratory measurements
- Improving the know-how and testing capability of a group of laboratories having to face the more complex test conditions of the new standard: EN 60456:2011
- Verify through the field work the applicability of the new standard for the measurement of the washing machine energy and functional performance
- Support actions undertaken by the market surveillance authorities (MSA) upon the notification of the testing results highlighting products non-compliance.

The ATLETE II achievements will also include a detailed analysis of the test reports, assessing:

- the non-compliance cases: discussion of the reasons for non-compliance, in view of the revision of the washing machine labelling/ecodesign regulations
- the applicability of EN 60456:2011: in depth analysis with all the laboratories involved to evaluate the limits/problems of the new test method, if any, with a view to its improvement.

# Background: history of the project - testing refrigerators

The first ATLETE project ("Appliance Testing for Energy Label Evaluation")<sup>1</sup> was run between 2009 and 2011, with ISIS (Research and consultancy firm, Italy), CECED (European Committee of Domestic Equipment Manufacturers), ENEA (National Agency for New Technologies, Energy and Sustainable Economic Development, Italy), ADEME (French Environment and Energy Management Agency) and SEVEn (The Energy Efficiency Center, Czech Republic) as the project partners.

That project focused on testing refrigerating appliances for their compliance with the energy label declarations and it was the first European wide testing activity focusing on market surveillance of an EU policy measure, encompassing the laboratory testing of 80 semi-randomly selected (randomly selected by a notary from certain pre-defined market segments) refrigerating appliances. The project described in detail the results of product tests and confirmed the feasibility and affordability of market surveillance.

One of the main project conclusions was that by using an agreed methodology, defined taking into consideration the international experience, market surveillance activities for household appliance energy labelling are, technically feasible, and cost effective, and an essential element in meeting energy efficiency targets.

The final test results show that 80% of appliances subjected to testing and for which testing has been concluded complied with the energy efficiency class declaration and the two related key parameters: energy consumption and storage volume. But when all five parameters (see graph below) are taken into consideration, 57% of them do not comply with at least one of the test parameters.

In 25 cases, the manufacturers accepted the results of Step I (a single unit of the model under evaluation tested) and agreed to make specific remedy actions, such as the correction of the label declarations and/or of the product fiche, the improvement of the product's documentation and user's manual, as well as the printed and web catalogues. In some other cases the production of the model was discontinued. In a specific case, due to the ATLETE test result findings, a manufacturer has discovered - and then solved - a problem having occurred in the production of batch of products. Another example of improvement also includes product updates for the succeeding model range, if the original model was no longer distributed after the publication of the test results.

Test results and test reports for each individual model are publicly available on the project website and have been shared with the EU Member State Market Surveillance Authorities, media, experts and stakeholders.



Figure: Overview of test results (%) of refrigerating appliances from the first ATLETE Project

(Red (right) = non-compliance / Green (left) = Compliance)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> www.atlete.eu

# ATLETE II – a new exercise on washing machines

The ATLETE II<sup>2</sup> (Appliance Testing for Washing Machines Energy Label & Ecodesign Evaluation) project evaluates energy labelling and ecodesign compliance for the second most important appliance in terms of energy use in European households: the washing machine. The project lasts between May 2012 and October 2014, is supported by the European Commission's Intelligent Energy Europe (IEE) programme<sup>3</sup> and is conducted by eleven partners from seven different countries.

By assessing the compliance of washing machines to labelling and ecodesign ATLETE II aims to help Member States to improve the market surveillance of the EU legislation.

Energy labels and ecodesign requirements are crucial drivers for market transformation towards more efficient appliances and phasing-out of the least efficient models. In addition, consumers should be sure that the products found on the EU market comply with the legislative requirements. The goals of the ATLETE II project are to check the pan-EU compliance of washing machines with energy labelling and eco-design requirements using the new measurement method, to improve the capacity of testing laboratories and at the same time support co-operation among national Authorities for effective market surveillance.

ATLETE II encompasses:

- Detailed evaluation of the current level of market surveillance activities related to labelling and ecodesign compliance around the EU
- Semi-random selection (methodology explained on page 6) of 50 models of washing machines from the EU markets for assessing the compliance with the energy label and ecodesign requirements (except noise and standby)
- First large-scale laboratory testing of a washing machine under the new Energy labelling legislation, also applying a new measurement method: EN 60456:2011
- Organisation of mini-ring tests among some EU laboratories, ensuring improved quality and consistence in testing washing machines
- The publication of all project results, from the list of models selected for testing, through all methodologies applied, to test reports, and overall evaluation of results
- Inviting manufacturers, whose models will be tested, for undertaking voluntary remedy action in case of suspected non-compliance of their products
- Informing EU Member State Market Surveillance Authorities about all individual test results relevant to models sold on their own markets
- The organisation of EU-wide and national dissemination activities informing the stakeholders about the project's testing procedures and the consumers on the label requirements
- Concrete support to the EU and national authorities for an effective energy labelling and ecodesign implementation and verification

Through ATLETE II the project team seeks to confirm that compliance verification testing for market surveillance can be done in a systematic, effective and cost-efficient way, thus setting a major cornerstone in supporting market transformation and ensuring the highest benefit for consumers, manufacturers and the environment. Key stakeholders in the project include Market Surveillance Authorities, laboratories, suppliers, energy efficiency experts, and consumer and environmental protection organisations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> http://www.atlete.eu/2/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> http://ec.europa.eu/energy/intelligent/

# Excerpts from the project actions and results achieved<sup>4</sup>

### Overview of market surveillance activities

One of the introductory steps of the ATLETE II project was the organisation of a survey, collecting and evaluating detailed information about the level of market surveillance activities undertaken by individual EU member states. This survey evaluated the organisation and level of activities of national Authorities related to the new commitments envisaged by the new legislation on ecodesign (Directive 2009/125/EC) and labelling (Directive 2010/30/EU) including the obligation for member states to report to the Commission and then to the Parliament on the achieved market compliance (see Art 3.3 and whereas 10 of directive 2010/30/EU).

The following aspects of the Energy label and ecodesign verification, with a specific focus on washing machines, have been researched:

- Budget available for surveillance activities
- Number of staff and inspectors available
- Number of shop inspections undertaken, including the results on compliance, types of shops visited, online shopping, etc,
- Number of product tests performed, including available information on test results and their analysis
- Complaints received from physical or legal persons
- Number of non-compliant products found on the market
- Nature of the corrective action taken and the products withdrawn from the market
- Sanctions applied and / or voluntary measures taken by companies

The survey on market surveillance activities in all member states was conducted in early 2013<sup>5</sup> and summarises the level of Market Surveillance activities in individual EU countries, related to product labelling and ecodesign, with a specific focus on washing machines.

The survey provides an overview on the quantity and quality of activities, e.g. the number of product testing), review of shop visits undertaken to verify the presence of energy labels, and the opinion of the market surveillance authority representatives on the possible future enlargement of the label surveillance activities:

- Majority of MSA (6 MS out of the 7 MS who provided feedback on product compliance level) estimate that the current compliance rates for energy labelling and ecodesign requirements of washing machines are approximately similar as other products.
- There is a lack of financial resources allocated to market surveillance activities from national governments as reported by six of the eight MS who do not conduct testing of products.
- Testing facilities/laboratories are insufficient at MS level and EU-wide. Majority of MSA consider the current testing costs to be expensive (6 out of 8 MS who do not perform tests reported costs as a barrier), and may be time intensive (5 out of 6 MS who provided feedback on testing period commented that it can last up to few months).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Status of the project as of March 2013, submission of EEDAL 2013 paper

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> http://www.atlete.eu/2/market-surveillance-authorities

- With the transposition of the new Directives, some (8 MS) market surveillance authorities faced human resources constraints. These constraints are primarily associated to the new work associated with these legislations. This is because although 11 MS accepted impact on their activities however only 3 of them had a corresponding change in their staff.
- Around half (6 MS out of 13 MS) of the MS that test products held detailed records of the compliance level of washing machines.
- Almost half (11 MS out of 23 MS who responded) of the MS currently control the compliance of catalogues. Control of catalogues is planned to increase regardless of the fact that their use is not widely spread among consumers in some MS.
- More than half (13 MS out of 21 MS who responded) of the MS currently control the compliance of internet sales. Control of internet offers will further increase in coming years as 5 out of the 8 MS who do not perform a control on internet offers at present, intend to do it in future.

## Definition of the compliance verification approach

The main methodological approach for cost effective product compliance verification prepared within the previous ATLETE project has been re-assessed and tuned-up to adapt it to the washing machine verification. This update intends to eliminate the inconsistencies of some actions and elements that have been identified during the field work on refrigerating appliances, and the draft: *Guidelines for WM verification: models and laboratories selection, new standards and measurement methods* was prepared and published in the project website<sup>6</sup>. The aim of the Guidelines, which will be finalised at the end of the project, is to describe in detail a globally applicable procedure for the verification of the compliance of this product group to the implementing measures under the eco-design framework Directive 2009/125/EC and the energy labelling framework Directive 2010/30/EU. It is worth noting that within the ATLETE II project testing activities, the conformity verification of the washing machines will follow the essential requirements included in the EU legislation: a two Step verification procedure will be developed, testing first one single unit of the model under investigation.

Since one of the aims of this project is to contribute to increasing the quality of information and test reports received from individual laboratories a Test Report Template was prepared<sup>7</sup>. The template is aimed at improving the comparability of the test results and as a supporting tool for MSA when deciding about the compliance of a tested product. Laboratories participating in ATLETE II testing were asked to deliver their own test reports and to fill in the Test Report Template at least for the reporting of the test results of the first batch of washing machines. This will allow the template to be checked to confirm whether it is sufficiently developed to be used as the only test reporting system for the project, or if it requires further improvement. A decision will be taken by the project partners also on the basis of the comments received by the test laboratories.

# Selection of washing machine models for testing

ATLETE II foresees the testing of 50 models of washing machines, covering suppliers with both a large and small market share. Based on the previous successful experience with the refrigerating appliances, the selection of the washing machines is done among the best seller models for each supplier. In particular it was decided to select:

- the bestseller products for each manufacturer/producer that has a market share above 0.1% on the EU 27 market,
- and national champions in following countries AT, BE, CZ, DK, FR, DE, IT, NL, PL, ES, SE, UK with market share above 1%,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> http://www.atlete.eu/2/doc/DraftGuidelinesforWMverification\_September2012.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> http://www.atlete.eu/2/test-procedures

- 5 washing machine models for each of the expected 4 manufacturers with a Market Share (MS) ≥ 10% (for a total of 20 models);
- 3 models for each of the expected 4 manufacturers with 5%≤MS<10% (for a total of 12 models);
- 2 models for each of the expected 4 manufacturers with 1%≤MS<5% (for a total of 8 modes)
- 1 model for each of the expected 4 manufacturers with 0,5%≤MS<1% (for a total of 4 modes)
- and 6 models randomly selected for the remaining 252 manufacturers with a market share < 0,5%.</li>

The model selection process is organised following a 'semi-random' approach:

- the market is divided into market segments (based on the selling levels) from the segment of best sellers to the segment of least sellers
- an independent company was tendered to deliver the overview of the market, including the individual models sold and their market shares and country availability, based on which the individual models have been selected
- in each of these segments, some washing machine models were randomly selected by an external notary
- models are purchased by an independent partner of the project (ICRT) and delivered to the laboratories.

The overall total is thus 50 washing machines models. Models will be selected in three batches, in order to decrease as much as possible the time to testing, i.e. the time from the selection of the model to be tested and the actual testing. This approach is expected to reduce at least partially the possibility that a selected model disappears from the market before the two step verification procedure is completed.

As of February 2013, 13 models have been selected<sup>8</sup> and laboratories started to perform product testing. When the full testing of all (50) models will be completed (spring 2014), the project will publish not only the list of models tested, but also the results of tests and the test reports from individual laboratories.

# Voluntary protocol for manufacturers proactive participation

Manufacturers have access to the testing facilities to assist the procedure of testing their own products under a supervision of the laboratory and project representatives. All known manufacturers have been also invited to sign a voluntary protocol<sup>9</sup>, by which, should their products be suspected of being non-compliant after the development of Step 1 of the verification procedure, they will have the possibility to stop the testing and, to take remedy actions to reflect the test results.

Within the ATLETE II project the protocol has been circulated to all known manufacturers of washing machines. By signing the protocol, the individual manufacturers confirm that they will:

- take, within 30 (calendar) days after being informed of the testing all the remedy actions
  necessary to correct the energy labelling declarations of the appliance model/s concerned in
  accordance with the results of the testing procedure, alternatively modify the product to make
  it comply with its energy label declaration; and
- take, within 30 (calendar) days after being informed of the results of the testing all the remedy
  actions necessary to fulfil the eco-design requirements for the appliance model/s concerned;
  and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> http://www.atlete.eu/2/doc/ListOfTheSelectedModels

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> http://www.atlete.eu/2/doc/ManufacturersParticipationProtocol.pdf

 inform, within the same timeframe the ATLETE II Project Leader of the remedy actions taken to correct the energy labelling/eco-design declarations or parameters, and provide the ATLETE II Project Leader with the appropriate evidence of conformity and remedy actions taken, such as a copy of a letter sent to the trade, with a proof of the sending thereof, and a copy of brochures or leaflets marketing or advertising the concerned appliance model/s with the correct energy labelling/eco-design declarations, without disclosing any information which would be confidential.

The voluntary protocol has been circulated to the individual manufacturers before the selection of models for testing had been undertaken in February 2013. Out of 128 brands contacted, 27 manufacturers, covering approximately 90 % of the EU market share and minimum 41 out of 50 models to be tested have signed the protocol. The list of the manufacturers signing the protocol is available on the project website<sup>10</sup>.

## Selection of the test laboratories

One of the key project activities, ensuring that the project would deliver high quality results, was to select laboratories that would ensure a high capability of testing washing machines. The project has therefore organised a thorough selection procedure including<sup>11</sup>:

- Call for interest: independent laboratories in the EU known for being able to test washing machines have been invited to express their interest to participate to the call for tender, which took place by July 2012. The Call for tender was published also on the project website to allow all laboratories to participate
- Laboratory recognition Questionnaire: a detailed questionnaire<sup>12</sup> was circulated to the laboratories expressing their interest to participate to the project, asking for a confirmation of their intention to participate to the project, and collecting a large set of technical information about testing capability, instrumentation, calibration as well as laboratory experience, certification and personnel qualification and training. 9 laboratories, out of the 20 invited laboratories, have submitted the full information requested. The requirements to participate included for example:
  - Independent laboratory status
  - Ability to test automatic horizontal axis washing machines according to EN 60456:2011 and related standard(s)
  - Capability to fully follow the given test method (EN 60456:2011) without in-house interpretation of test conditions
  - Readiness to accept a visit of an expert from the project partners and of the representative of the manufacturer(s) of the tested unit(s)
  - experience in previous Round Robin Tests/Performing tests for washing machines and relevant models tested over the past years
  - periodic training of technicians who will perform the tests
  - confirmation on accuracy of equipment, including meters and calibration frequency
  - Regular supply of the consumables (i.e. standard detergent, load, etc.) needed to test washing machines from a well-known source
  - Capability to test all testing requirements for energy labelling and ecodesign.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> http://www.atlete.eu/2/manufacturers

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> http://www.atlete.eu/2/laboratories

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> http://www.atlete.eu/2/doc/LaboratoryrecognitionQuestionnaire.pdf

- Visit of external expert before confirming the final selection, the laboratories have been
  personally visited by two experts appointed by the project to check the responses given in the
  questionnaire.
- Finally, an economic offer was asked to the laboratories, through a Call for Tender. The score achieved with the offer has been then combined with the score achieved in the Questionnaire and the overall result lead to the selection of six laboratories:
- 1. CTTN (France),
- 2. IMQ (Italy),
- 3. INTERTEK (UK),
- 4. LCOE (Spain),
- 5. SLG (Germany),
- 6. VDE (Germany).

It is expected that on average 8 to 10 models will be tested by each laboratory.

A coordination meeting with the selected laboratories took place in February 2013, and three more meetings will take place within the project, to share the experience, discuss individual testing procedures and ensure the same level of reporting to be delivered.

# International Advisory Committee to the project

An International Advisory Committee (IAC) is also organised within the ATLETE II project. The IAC consists of national experts, stakeholders, MSA, representatives of the civil society, etc. IAC participants contribute to the formulation of the overall procedure, project activities and to the discussion of the specific outcomes.

The advisory committee has been established<sup>13</sup> at the start of the project and first two of the three foreseen meetings were held in November 2012 in Brussels and in May 2013 in Stockholm.

# Other next steps

# Development of mini-Round Robin Tests

Parallel to the compliance verification of the selected washing machines ATLETE II foresees that a mini-Round Robin Test exercise is developed to improve the experience of the existing testing laboratories around Europe. The aim is to support the creation of a sufficient testing capacity for an effective market surveillance action by the national Market Surveillance Authorities.

The exercise is open to laboratories able to test washing machines and not already contracted by the project. Laboratories participation is on voluntary basis, for free, and subject to some conditions. ATLETE II project will be responsible for the logistic and the purchase of some of the consumables (test loads, standard detergent, standard test strips) and for the calibration of the reference washing machine. Washing machines having passed the compliance verification tests will be circulated for the mini-Round Robin Test exercise.

The number of laboratories to be involved in the mini-Round Robin Test (at least 3 labs for each miniring test are needed for a meaningful statistical analysis of the tests results) and the overall number of mini-Round Robin Test will be decided considering the positive answers received to an invitation sent to a list of laboratories in February 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> http://www.atlete.eu/2/project-resources/category/5-meetings-with-target-groups

#### Harmonised application of the new standard for washing machines

The aim of this action is to analyse, with the contribution of all partners and involved laboratories the content of the new standard EN 60456:2011, to evaluate possible areas of uncertainty of its application in order to create – if needed - a common understanding and application of the test conditions. In this respect, if necessary, a set of recommendations to the EU Commission/DG ENER, the standardization bodies, the laboratories and the other involved stakeholders will be prepared at the end of the project

Follow the project website <u>www.atlete.eu</u> for latest project news and to see all project documents and outcomes!





The sole responsibility for the content of this Document lies with the authors. It does not necessarily reflect the opinion of the European Union. Neither the EACI nor the European Commission are responsible for any use that may be made of the information contained therein.

# A Proposed Framework for Moving Towards International Comparability of Appliance Energy Efficiency Policies

Debbie Karpay, Collaborative Labeling and Appliance Standards Program (CLASP)

# Stephen Pantano, Collaborative Labeling and Appliance Standards Program (CLASP)

Paul Waide, Waide Strategic Efficiency

#### Abstract

Alignment of appliance energy efficiency policy components enables consistent policy comparison around the world. Numerous policies exist, put in place product-by-product by individual economies; increased alignment can conserve national resources while accelerating policy impacts. Harmonization entails the convergence of critical elements of an appliance efficiency policy, including: test methods; product definitions/categorization; energy efficiency/performance metrics; and performance threshold tiers.

This paper proposes a framework for how to direct appliance standards and labeling analysis resources to promote greater international policy alignment. The approach includes four interrelated elements:

- 1. Analyzing gaps in existing policies ("gap analysis")
- 2. Evaluating test methods and policy stringency across economies ("benchmarking")
- 3. Developing suitable international standards to serve as the foundation for aligned efficiency policies
- 4. Tailoring information to inform economy-specific policy developments

First, policy gap analyses reveal "low-hanging fruit" on the international and national level. Second, a product benchmarking study can identify the source and magnitude of differences in existing test methods which inhibit international comparison, and provide the basis for conversion functions among energy efficiency metrics and test methods from various economies.

Third, international standards bodies such as IEC and ISO can improve the quality and comprehensiveness of international standards, encoding aligned policy elements to facilitate greater policy convergence. Finally, tailored analysis of the aforementioned information can identify the most important policy matters for consideration in a particular economy.

This technical and analytical framework for greater international harmonization of appliance efficiency policy should lead to more successful alignment of appliance energy efficiency policies around the world.

#### Introduction

Harmonization – the alignment or convergence of critical elements of one or more appliance efficiency policies – facilitates the comparison of policies around the world, which has the potential to promote faster and greater improvements to the stringency of energy efficiency standards and labeling (S&L) policies. Since policies are put in place product-by-product by individual countries, the quantity of policies in place is huge; increased alignment can save countries time and money while accelerating policy impacts. The elements of appliance efficiency policies that might be harmonized, or aligned, include test methods, product definitions and categorization, metrics for energy efficiency or energy performance, and performance thresholds.

It is important to note that the goal of harmonization is not to have *identical* global energy efficiency policies for all types of products; rather, it is to encourage incremental and responsible progress towards convergence. For example, it is likely that policy elements for globally-traded products such as televisions and computers can be made more consistent across economies than can policy elements for products such as air conditioners that are designed to serve climate conditions in specific markets. Harmonization objectives for air conditioners may therefore entail development of a menu of regional policy options to accommodate the range of expected climate conditions.

The benefits of convergent international energy efficiency standards are well characterized, as outlined below. [3]

- Enhanced transparency and clarity across economies. Aligned policy elements permit direct comparison (and benchmarking) of product efficiency and policy stringency across peer economies, and can inform prioritization and S&L policy decisions.
- Lower cost, higher quality, more rapid, and more ambitious domestic regulations. Harmonized policy elements facilitate the use of analyses from peer economies to determine technoeconomic potentials from higher energy efficiency levels and justify the adoption of regulations set at specific energy efficiency levels.
- Lower costs and higher quality of tests. The cost and expertise needed to develop and maintain test procedures is shared.
- *Reduced manufacturer costs for testing and production.* Globally-traded products that attain a harmonized energy efficiency rating will be accepted for sale in any economy that adopts the policy elements concerned.
- Accelerated market and manufacturer learning, lower consumer costs, and stimulation of innovation. A common set of energy efficiency thresholds supports the market for high efficiency products, since manufacturers know that products that meet a given performance threshold can be sold on a larger market. This drives up the volume of higher efficiency products, lowers the production costs through economies of scale, and thereby accelerates market transformation.
- *Facilitated technology transfer*. Given the certainty that efficiency thresholds are globally linked, manufacturers have greater long-term incentives to pioneer even more energy-efficient products to meet aspirational thresholds, thus facilitating technology transfer.

Presently, a greater degree of harmonization is taking place at the regional level than at the global level [1]. Some of these regional harmonization efforts aim to establish identical policies and policy elements even for appliances with large usage variations based on climate or behavior. The EU, for example, has regional S&L policies for many of these appliances. S&L policies are often harmonized within North America, especially between the US and Canada. Additionally, the 15 economies that form the Economic Community of West African States (ECOWAS) are developing a regional policy on energy efficiency that involves "a harmonized policy, legal and regulatory framework in energy efficiency for the ECOWAS region, including energy efficiency labels and standards." [2]

This paper proposes a comprehensive framework for how to direct and apply appliance S&L research and analysis resources to promote greater international policy alignment. The approach includes four interrelated elements:

- 1. Analyzing gaps in existing policies ("gap analysis")
- 2. Evaluating test methods and energy efficiency policy stringency across economies ("benchmarking")
- 3. Developing suitable international standards to serve as the foundation for aligned efficiency policies
- 4. Tailoring information to inform policy developments in individual economies

By establishing a technical and analytical foundation for greater international harmonization of appliance efficiency policy, this framework should lead to more compelling and successful efforts to develop appliance energy efficiency policies that may be readily adopted by economies around the world.

# Figure 1: A proposed methodological framework for promoting greater international convergence of S&L policies and policy elements



#### Gap analysis of existing policies

As a first step, S&L practitioners can assess the energy-saving potentials available for different products through convergent S&L policies, and use that information to define policy priorities. A policy gap analysis reveals "low-hanging fruit" on the international and national level. Product categories that lack international energy efficiency test methods present opportunities for international standards bodies, such as IEC and ISO. Similarly, product categories for which there are few national energy efficiency policies present opportunities for decision makers to adapt policies from other countries, thereby filling policy gaps and increasing international comparability.

Figure 2: Gap analysis reveals "low-hanging fruit" for S&L policies, and can lead to aligned standards



#### Sparsely regulated product categories: immediate global harmonization opportunities

One barrier to harmonization is a resistance to change in countries with long-standing S&L policies in place. Once domestic manufacturers, standardization bodies, and regulators have invested in the development and maintenance of a particular policy infrastructure, products may be designed to reflect the nuances of domestic test procedures, product classifications, and efficiency metrics [3].

Therefore, it is likely easier to establish convergent S&L policies for products or product categories that are sparsely regulated around the world. Gap analyses will reveal products that have less international S&L coverage and therefore would face fewer engrained structures within existing S&L programs. Figure 3 shows a gap analysis for several major energy-using products in the industrial sector, and illustrates that large motors use a large amount of energy but are not covered by S&L policies anywhere in the world. Medium-sized motors, however, are well-covered by S&L policies; furthermore, those policies are largely harmonized around the world, as will be discussed below in the section, "Facilitation of convergent international efficiency policies".





Commercial refrigeration equipment, for example, has relatively few S&L policies in place around the world (i.e., mandatory or voluntary minimum energy performance requirement, comparative label, or endorsement label). Based on the CLASP S&L Database [5], only 8 economies currently have any S&L policies in place for commercial refrigeration equipment: Australia, Canada, China, Japan, Korea, Mexico, New Zealand, and the US.<sup>1</sup> For comparison, residential refrigerators have S&L policies in place in 35 economies. From this simple gap analysis, it is apparent that internationally-convergent S&L policies and policy components for commercial refrigeration equipment will face fewer barriers from existing S&L programs.

For these sparsely regulated products, establishing effective international menus of policy settings can also ease the path for national regulators to broaden S&L policy coverage; if an international standard is suitable to be adopted for use in an economy, it lowers the cost and time required by that economy to cover that product.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> As of 20 March 2013, the EU has policies under development for commercial refrigeration equipment.

#### Gaps within individual economies: opportunities to adapt existing policies

Performing a gap analysis for a specific economy shows what products or product groups are not covered. In many cases, these products are covered in other economies, providing policymakers with a starting point from which they can adapt their own S&L policies. Figure 4 shows a gap analysis for the EU based on regulations and energy use in 2010, and illustrates that the commercial and industrial sectors in the EU have far more room to increase policy coverage than the residential sector.

Figure 4: EU energy consumption and energy subject to MEPS in 2010: an example of a highlevel economy-specific gap analysis [3]



Adaptation of existing S&L policies sometimes results in divergent policy components; the causes for this divergence can be identified through a benchmarking analysis, as described below. The analysis can be used to highlight important technical issues to consider when developing future policy components to maximize future convergence, as described below in the section "Facilitation of convergent international efficiency policies".

#### Product benchmarking analysis

After assessing potentials and setting priorities, the second step is for S&L stakeholders to analyze existing policies and markets, and in doing so to document current best practices. A benchmarking analysis focuses on a particular product in a group of selected economies to examine existing S&L policies, identify best practices, and characterize the most efficient models on the market. By doing so, benchmarking analyses lay the foundation for strong and comparable energy performance requirements around the world.

# Figure 5: Benchmarking efficiency of room air conditioners: an example of a benchmarking analysis [6]



Benchmarking analyses address another major barrier to global harmonization of appliance efficiency policy: a lack of national resources to put towards a comprehensive review of global policies, and thus understand how national policies compare to those in peer economies [3]. Figure 5 shows the results of a benchmarking study for room air conditioners that compares the minimum energy performance standards of several economies despite variations in test procedures and efficiency metric formulas. Figure 5 shows that Japan had the most stringent energy requirements for split room air conditioner units.

In order to compare policy stringency, benchmarking analyses must convert among divergent energy efficiency metrics and test methods from the selected economies. Because of this, benchmarking studies can generate conversion functions that define how to translate product S&L policy among these economies. In the absence of fully harmonized test methods, these conversion functions allow regulators some means of evaluating the stringency of a proposed policy against policies in peer economies, thereby enabling them to identify opportunities for policy improvement.

Going one step further, the generation of those conversion functions often requires a deep understanding of the source and magnitude of variations in existing test methods that otherwise inhibit international comparison. Identifying these differences can provide a path towards convergence of the policy components – once S&L stakeholders have an understanding of the variations, there is a clear direction towards addressing those differences.

#### Facilitation of convergent international S&L policies

Once S&L policymakers understand the variations in existing S&L policies and policy components, the third step is for international standardization processes to facilitate greater policy convergence. This can be achieved through the development of technical solutions in response to the pathways outlined through the expanded benchmarking analysis.

International standards bodies such as IEC and ISO can encode and disseminate best practice policy components in their standards. These informative classifications may include all of the key policy elements: test methods, product definitions and categorization, metrics for energy efficiency or energy performance, and suggested efficiency thresholds. For example, an air conditioner test method may include a series of test conditions that represent the various global climate zones plus conversion factors with which to compare test results depending on which test conditions are used. Policymakers could then choose to reference the test conditions most appropriate for their climate, and the results would still be comparable with other global policies based on the same test method.

An example of this type of approach exists today in the IEC standard for mid-size industrial electric motors [7].<sup>2</sup> The IEC developed a test method suitable for international use along with a series of recommended efficiency thresholds. The test method was subsequently adopted by many economies around the world, each of which then selected the efficiency threshold most suitable to their particular policy and local market needs. For stakeholders with diverse market transformation interests, this approach provides a single menu of thresholds from which to select efficiency levels for MEPS, labeling thresholds, and financial incentives.

The process of developing suitable international energy efficiency standards involves close coordination between policymakers and technical committees of international standards bodies. A comprehensive benchmarking analysis can provide a framework for a constructive dialogue, enabling stakeholders to focus on the specific factors within dissimilar test methods that create divergence.

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  These motors are single-speed, three-phase cage induction motors with a rated output between 0.75 kW and 375 kW, and run on 50 or 60 Hz.

Table 1: Relationships between international and domestic efficiency thresholds for motors [3]

Motor efficiency	Inter- national (new/old)	US	EU	China	India
Aspirational	IE4			2010: Grade 1 label	
Premium	IE3	<b>2010: MEPS</b> level (a)	2015: MEPS for most motors	2010: Grade 2 label (d)	2014: Recommended MEPS
		2001: Voluntary label (b)		2006: Grade 1 label	2011: Top label class
High	IE2	1997: MEPS level (c)	2015: MEPS for motors	2010: Grade 3 label	2011: Medium label class;
	Eff1		with VSDs	2006: MEPS	Recommended MEPS (e)
			2011: MEPS level	level	2004: Top label class
Standard	IE1				2011: Lowest label class
	Eff2				2004: Lowest label class
Below standard	Eff3				

Current regulations are in **bold**; past regulations are in standard font; future regulations are in *italics*. **Notes**:

(a) Based on Energy Independence and Security Act of 2007 (EISA); effective in 2010

(b) Voluntary label was called NEMA Premium and was based on industry consensus

(c) Based on Energy Policy Act of 1992 (EPAct); effective in 1997

(d) In China, the highest efficiency motors are represented by Grade 1 labels; efficiency decreases as Grades increase.

(e) The recommended MEPS in India are voluntary.

International efforts such as the Super-efficient Equipment and Appliance Deployment (SEAD) Initiative and the IEA-4E Implementing Agreement are among the organizations exploring ways to improve coordination between governments and standards organizations in pursuit of this goal.<sup>3</sup>

#### Tailoring policies for a specific economy

Once suitable policy foundations are in place, the fourth and final step is for economies to adopt the choices from the policy menu that are best suited to their climate, behavior, and economic conditions. This step is critical to achieving the maximum benefits of harmonization, since it translates international analysis and best practice into actual national policy. Tailored analysis for an individual economy can highlight the most appropriate policy options for consideration, and can also make policymakers aware of best practice examples they may not have otherwise considered.

In addition, a cost-benefit analysis of the selected policy options for a product can demonstrate to policymakers the potential benefits of such policies to domestic regulators, manufacturers, and consumers. Outlining the benefits in this way can create the political will needed to move from analysis to action, encouraging policymakers to undertake new policy development or policy revision to align with international standards. This assessment also contributes to policymakers' decisions regarding which efficiency threshold makes sense for adoption within their economy.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> More information about ongoing coordination efforts by the SEAD initiative and IEA-4E can be found online <u>here</u>.

#### **Conclusions and recommendations**

It is useful to begin with a global perspective to achieve the goal of local adoption of convergent appliance efficiency policies. Through gap analyses, the global view can point policymakers and technical experts to the least-regulated products globally, which should offer near-term opportunities for harmonization – resulting accelerated, cost-effective policy implementation – with few barriers from existing policies. This big-picture view can also direct national policymakers to low-hanging fruit – existing policies in other economies that can be adapted to meet national conditions.

For products that are subject to S&L policies around the world, benchmarking analyses can be used to determine which economies have the most stringent policies, and can provide conversion factors by which to translate among different economies' policies. Close examination of test methods in these analyses can result in a pathway for international standardization bodies to develop policy options suitable for different climate, behavioral, and economic conditions that exist in economies around the world.

Finally, if international standards bodies craft technical standards that work for the full range of global economies, then a cost-benefit analysis can take into account local conditions to determine the best specific policy set for an economy. This analysis can also generate political will for increasing the scope or stringency of S&L policies by illustrating to policymakers the potential benefits of adopting these internationally harmonized policies.

#### References

- [1] Janssen R. Harmonizing Energy Efficiency Requirements Building Foundations for Cooperative Action. International Centre for Trade and Sustainable Development (ICTSD), 2010.
- [2] The ECOWAS Energy Efficiency Policy (EEEP), 2012. Available online from the ECOWAS Observatory for Renewable Energy and Energy Efficiency: http://www.ecowrex.org/sites/default/files/081012-ecowas-ee-policy-final-en.pdf
- [3] Waide P. *et al Opportunities for Success and* CO<sub>2</sub> *Savings from Appliance Energy Efficiency Harmonization.* CLASP, 2010. Available online at: <u>www.clasponline.org/harmonization</u>
- [4] Humphrey N. and Karpay D. A Global Assessment of Appliance Energy Consumption and Coverage Gaps in Energy Efficiency Standards and Labels. Proc. of the eceee 2013 Summer Study (Toulon/Hyères, France, 3-8 June 2013). Forthcoming.
- [5] CLASP S&L Database. Accessed 20 March 2013. Available online at: <u>www.clasponline.org</u>
- [6] Cooling Benchmarking Study factsheet. CLASP, 2012. Derived from *Cooling Benchmarking Study Report*. Econoler, Navigant, CEIS, and ACEEE. 2011. Available online at: www.clasponline.org/coolingbenchmarking
- [7] Waide P and Brunner C. *Energy-Efficiency Policy Opportunities for Electric Motor-Driven Systems*. IEA Working Paper, 2011.

# Are Test Procedures Passing the Test? Ensuring That Measured Results Are Representative of Energy Use in the Field

Chris Calwell

Ecova[1]

#### Abstract

In every test method designed to measure the performance and energy consumption of a product, there is a natural tension between emphasizing precision and repeatability on the one hand, and representativeness and relevance on the other hand. It is very difficult to optimize both simultaneously. The way consumers use products in the real world can be complex and unpredictable. In response, lab technicians often specify a simplified duty cycle and set of operating conditions for each type of product in order to measure its performance and energy use in a precise, repeatable way.

However, as residential energy-using products have evolved and their capabilities have broadened, energy efficiency test procedures have often not kept pace. Instead, to minimize manufacturers' test burden, policymakers have become increasingly content measuring aspects of a product's behavior and energy consumption that diverge significantly from the way those products are actually operated in homes. They then often apply rough mathematical correction factors to "true up" the results to real-world conditions. This causes problems when different technologies behave in the real world in fundamentally different ways that cannot be corrected uniformly, especially when policymakers employ the resulting data sets to establish voluntary and mandatory efficiency specifications.

They can develop *precise*, but often *inaccurate* estimates of the real-world energy and carbon savings that will result from the adoption of their policies. In effect, as the old adage goes, we cannot manage what we do not measure. Our laboratory test methods should capture, to the maximum extent possible, the actual energy use that occurs when products are operated in the real world by their purchasers. Likewise, we should reward manufacturers for design changes that yield meaningful savings *under those conditions*. Theoretical or potential energy savings are far less useful, both to governments seeking to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, and to product purchasers, seeking to reduce energy bills.

This paper will examine three cases in particular where this problem has arisen (automobiles, refrigerators, and clothes dryers). It will summarize early efforts by governments and researchers to modify those test procedures to more realistically reflect their products' actual operating characteristics. The paper will also lay out a set of guiding principles that can be followed in future test procedure development and revision processes to minimize these problems, and to correct for observed differences between test procedure energy use and field energy use, both when products are new and when they have been operating for a significant period of time.

#### Introduction

It is the mark of an educated man to look for precision in each class of things just so far as the nature of the subject admits. --Aristotle

Global efforts to improve the energy efficiency of consumer products have made impressive headway in recent years, after repeated iterations of mandatory energy performance standards, voluntary and mandatory energy labeling programs, and financial incentives to encourage the sale of the best products. Indeed, we might assume from all of the efficiency gains that have been achieved in various consumer products that absolute energy consumption is dropping in a sustained way. But there is much left to do.

Refrigerators are perhaps the most commonly cited example of that success story. The average new US model has about 15% more adjusted interior volume than it did in 1972, yet consumes about 75% less electricity on the federal test procedure and costs 55% less to purchase in constant dollars (Figure 1).



# Figure 1. Average household refrigerator energy use, volume and price over time (Source: Appliance Standards Awareness Project)

European and Asian markets have also managed impressive improvements in refrigerator efficiency, yet the total energy consumed worldwide for residential refrigeration continues to rise. Why?

As noted in my earlier research for eccee and ENERGY STAR, a multitude of other factors influence total energy use beyond their energy efficiency, including steady growth in the global population, the number of refrigerators per person, and the average size and feature content of each refrigerator.[2] To the extent people upgrade and replace them more often, the efficiency of the average unit in use more closely approaches that of the newest models. However, the total amount of energy consumption associated with manufacturing, transporting, and ultimately recycling or disposing of them continues to rise as well. These factors and others are captured in a holistic equation (Figure 2) known as IPALUCEMD that attempts to address more comprehensively the overall greenhouse gas emissions impacts of a given product category:



Figure 2. IPALUCEMD equation

What this formula illustrates is that a product's greenhouse gas emissions can, and routinely do, keep rising even as that product becomes more energy efficient, because so many other attributes of that product are changing in ways that increase its environmental impact.

But what if even product efficiency is also not improving as much as we think? What is missing from this formulation is any recognition that the efficiency of a new product being measured in a laboratory test procedure might differ meaningfully from its operational efficiency in a home environment, when operated by a typical user.

### The Limitations of Test Procedure Results

Test procedures, methods and standards have been in widespread use for so many years that the energy efficiency community often finds itself conflating laboratory-measured energy consumption or efficiency with a product's *actual* energy performance in use. While they are indeed intended to be close or at least proportionate to each other, the degree to which that is actually achieved varies widely, both within a given end use and over time, as technologies and user behaviors change.

Paul Waide noted in a 2008 IEA presentation [3] that the ideal test procedure is:

- Reproducible
- Repeatable
- Produces measurements of an appliance's energy consumption and service provision that are representative of those in real use
- Inexpensive
- Universally recognized.

He then stated that "in reality, it is hard to find the right balance between these factors and many compromises are needed."

His list is similar to that offered by Alan Meier and James Hill in a seminal 1995 paper [4] on the question of what an ideal test procedure should do:

- Reflect actual usage conditions
- Yield repeatable, accurate results
- Accurately reflect the relative performance of different design options for a given appliance
- Cover a wide range of models within that category of appliance
- Be inexpensive to perform
- Be easy to modify to accommodate new technologies or features; and
- Produce results that can be easily compared with results from other test procedures

Meier and Hill also offered a cogent summary of the inherent tradeoffs and compromises associated with trying to optimize for so many attributes at once:

Clearly, an energy test procedure is a compromise: it does not fully achieve any of the criteria for an ideal test, but it satisfies enough of them to discourage excessive complaints. At a minimum, a ranking of different models by their tested energy use should correspond reasonably close to a ranking by the models' field energy use. An additional danger of compromise is that manufacturers may optimize performance for a test procedure that does not assure energy savings in the field.

Manufacturers of the affected products and their trade associations typically have the largest financial stake in the outcome of test procedure deliberations and the greatest resources of any of the

interested parties to contribute to the effort. Their engineers are also intimately familiar with the design and operation of the technologies being measured, which underscores the value of having them involved in the test procedure development process. But if they lead it or dominate it, their natural inclination will be to optimize those aspects of the test procedure that are of highest priority to them -- low cost to conduct, high repeatability and reproducibility, and universal recognition – all of which can help to minimize the engineering and legal costs associated with complying with mandatory efficiency standards and labeling programs around the world.

These are understandable, laudable goals, but the broader public interest is not being served unless test procedures also yield results that are realistic and representative of actual use. The public policies that brought these test procedures into existence or formalized their use nationally were created to help consumers understand and reduce their energy bills. Consumers can and should reasonably expect that a product labeled to use 20% less energy than another will, in fact, deliver those savings in typical use. If not, the extra money they spent purchasing the better product may have been wasted, or the money they spent on utility bills for an inefficient product not so labeled may have been equally wasted.

Meier and Hill correctly predicted, in 1995, how this mix of issues would play out over the coming decades:

As countries work to establish energy efficiency standards, the details of every test procedure will come under more scrutiny. Manufacturers will seek to make the testing requirements simple and inexpensive. Foreign manufacturers will regard complex or unique test procedures as a trade barrier. In addition, domestic manufacturers will want to ensure that their products appear as energy efficient as possible, while consumers will want the test procedures to reflect as realistic results as possible. Meanwhile, continuing technological innovations will undermine the ability of existing procedures to reasonably represent an appliance's energy efficiency.

We have arrived at that juncture, and are paying the price, to varying degrees depending on the product type and the associated government agency.

#### The Vehicles Example

One striking example is associated with vehicles. The US Environmental Protection Agency developed two test procedures for determining vehicle fuel efficiency in 1975 – one for highway and one for city driving. [5] The maximum speed encountered under either test is 60 mph and the maximum acceleration is 3.3 mph per second, meaning that it would take 18 seconds to reach 60 mph from a standing start.

Because EPA has been carefully tracking various aspects of vehicle performance since 1975, it is possible to see how different vehicle performance has become from the test procedure conditions with each passing year. [6] Today's vehicles commonly accelerate from 0-60 mph in about 8 to 10 seconds, and the most powerful cars do so in half that time. So the majority of new cars being tested in the US can accelerate two to four times faster than these test procedures are capable of measuring. That effect of this difference, not surprisingly, is that the energy efficiency of vehicles in normal driving conditions is often not as high as the efficiency derived from the test procedure and published on the vehicle's window sticker. This gave birth to an American phrase, initially applied as a manufacturer disclaimer to EPA fuel efficiency ratings vehicles, and now used to describe any situation in which one individual's results may differ from typical ones: "your mileage may vary."



Weight, Horsepower and 0-to-60 Performance



Average acceleration times in US vehicles have dropped virtually every year since 1983, even while vehicle weight continues to rise, in part because of steady increases in available horsepower. Vehicle test procedures use a laboratory dynamometer to simulate a vehicle's weight, tire rolling resistance, mechanical friction, and aerodynamic drag and operate at a fixed ambient temperature of 75 degrees, so give up a considerable degree of realism and representativeness in the interest of achieving a high degree of repeatability.[7] Such vehicles experience no differences in weather, road conditions, accessory usage, weight of passengers and cargo carried, elevation, or any of the variables routinely encountered by any of us on a typical drive.

In response to criticism that its test procedures no longer represent real world driving conditions, EPA recently developed three more tests to capture the impacts of high ambient temperatures (95 degrees F) with the air conditioner running, cold start behavior at low ambient temperatures (20 degrees F), and harder accelerations and higher speeds (brief periods of operation at 70 to 80 mph). These were laudable improvements, and helped to reveal that many cars had lower "real world" efficiency than the previous tests had indicated. Typical city fuel economy values dropped by an average of 11%, and highway fuel economy values dropped slightly less. It was not uncommon for hybrid vehicles to see fuel economy drops of 12 to 20%, in part because their hybrid technology offers the most efficiency benefit at low speeds and at moderate ambient temperatures – not the conditions the new EPA tests were examining.

But rather than require the use of those new procedures to determine the fuel economy of all new vehicles, EPA allows manufacturers to apply mathematical correction factors instead to the results derived from the 38-year old test procedures. Not surprisingly, the majority of manufacturers have opted to use this correction factor approach for the majority of new models they test, obtaining

optimistic numbers for expected fuel economy and lower compliance costs. Testing by consumer magazines has now shown that new Ford hybrid vehicles like the Fusion and C-Max are consistently achieving 17-21% worse fuel economy in actual driving conditions than predicted by their EPA-certified fuel economy ratings. When the vehicles are driven even more aggressively by magazine testers, their fuel economy can be as much as 32% below claimed values.[8] These kinds of discrepancies are leading to lawsuits and disgruntled purchasers, in part because the federal testing has failed to deliver the very service it was created to provide – a reasonable prediction of how many miles a particular vehicle will travel per gallon of fuel consumed.

Government agencies that manage test procedure development may update them infrequently, with or without an explicit intent to refine their approach as new field data become available. Two recent examples from the US Department of Energy (DOE) are illustrative: refrigerators and clothes dryers.

#### The Evolving Refrigerator Success Story

The US government has for decades been testing refrigerators at ambient temperatures of 90 degrees F, without placing food inside, opening and closing the product door during operation, or operating the refrigerator's included icemaker. The first factor tends to overestimate energy use relative to actual operating conditions, while the other mostly factors tend to underestimate it. However, we cannot intentionally err on both sides of reality in the hopes that the opposing factors will cancel out, especially when the physical mechanisms by which the energy losses occur are different.[9]

Warmer temperatures increase heat gains through the exterior of the refrigerator and cause its compressor to operate less efficiently. Putting room temperature food in the refrigerator causes it to work harder, while filling it with already-cooled food can help it maintain thermal mass when the door is opened. Opening the door causes a replacement of cooled air volume with ambient air that must be cooled again to the desired temperature. Likewise, refrigerators need a significant amount of energy per year to operate their automatic icemakers and detach the ice from cooling trays. This was a small enough share of total annual energy use to be ignored when refrigerators used more than 1,500 kWh/year, but not now, when the most efficient models can use less than 400 kWh/year. These mechanisms explain some of the observed differences in new models, but those differences can become greater over time, as discussed further below. Refrigerator compressors, insulation, gaskets, and heat exchanging coils can simply become less effective over time due to loss of lubrication, or dirt and dust build-up, or mechanical wear.

Measurements conducted in the field and in the laboratory when California utilities were collecting and recycling old refrigerators revealed the extent of these problems. [10] Of the 157 refrigerator models for which an original Energy Guide label value could be located for annual energy use, the average value found was 1,274 kWh/year. Yet measurement of those refrigerators in the homes where they were found suggested an average energy use of 1,573 kWh/year, or 23% more than the label value. Even more interestingly, when those refrigerators were taken back to the laboratory to have their original DOE energy efficiency test repeated, their average energy use was 1,809 kWh/year, or 42% more than the original label value. In both cases, the variation was quite inconsistent from model to model, with in situ (field) measurements often reflecting *lower* energy consumption than the original Energy Guide label value. Simply applying correction factors of 23 or 42% to the original Energy Guide label values would not have consistently predicted the consumption of individual models after multiple years spent in the field.

However, the results did show that utilities could save more energy, at least initially, than originally expected by replacing older refrigerators with highly efficient new models. It also meant that utilities needed to monitor degradation over time, to better understand how those savings might persist in the newest refrigerator designs.



#### Figure 4. Measured differences in older refrigerator energy use in the field

Given the concerns expressed by multiple stakeholders to its appliance standards process, DOE recently commissioned a comprehensive and mathematically robust analysis [11] of multiple refrigerator field measurement studies conducted over more than a decade. This helped DOE understand the extent to which field energy use of refrigerators was diverging from test procedure values, and the principal causes of that divergence, providing the government with a sound technical basis for updating its test procedure over time and its near-term energy savings analysis. The result was an increase of 0.35 quads in the expected energy savings from refrigerators and freezers over a 30 year period, yielding \$1.57 to \$4.1 billion of additional net present value benefits to society over that timeframe.

# Clothes Dryers: The Challenge of Obtaining Meaningful Energy Savings from a Constrained Test Procedure

By contrast, clothes dryers in the United States have long been considered an appliance where all of the available models have similar efficiency and few options exist to significantly improve energy efficiency. Yet they are the largest source of US residential energy consumption for which there are no ENERGY STAR or Energy Guide labels in place, and no incentives or promotions by utilities to encourage the sale of the most efficient models.[12] Yet, empirically, we know that clothes dryer energy use varies widely. When the Florida Solar Energy Center researchers placed identical clothes dryer models into identical houses in the same part of Florida, they found variation in clothes dryer energy consumption from 949 to 2,592 kWh/year, largely driven by differences in number of occupants per home and the behavior of those occupants.[13]

When different clothes dryer models of various sizes and ages are added into the mix, observed differences in annual energy use become even greater, and operational efficiency differences contribute strongly to that. Recent field measurements by the Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance (NEEA) found that dryers in homes were drying an average of 2.4 pounds of clothing per kWh of electricity consumed, while the DOE test procedure predicted efficiencies of 3.7 to 4.2 pounds of clothing per kWh for similar dryer models. [14] While some of this can be attributed to differences in initial load size and moisture content, the degree of duct restriction observed in homes, and the variety of settings and modes selected by users, one of the largest observed causes of variation was

the load composition itself. Typical laundry users place items in their dryers that are simply and obviously more difficult to dry than the thin, two-dimensional, uniformly sized, 50% synthetic test cloths utilized by DOE. These cloths are prized by DOE for the precision and repeatability they bring to the testing process, but they behave differently than clothing and only offer slight advantages in repeatability over the more realistic IEC test load. Real clothing is three-dimensional, having internal and external surfaces and pockets that experience differing amounts of contact with warm air in a dryer. Most of the dried items are thicker and have larger percentages of cotton content than the DOE test cloths as well, making them more likely to soak up and retain moisture than DOE test cloths. Historically the DOE test procedure for dryers has ascribed a fixed energy savings credits to dryers offering automatic termination capability as well, rather than measuring its effectiveness directly.

US DOE's recently completed clothes dryer test procedure final rule [15] represented an opportunity to correct these discrepancies. DOE asked for and received detailed, intensively analyzed, recent field data and comments from NEEA and the California utilities [16] regarding typical dryer load fabric types and sizes, initial moisture content, cycle selection preferences, degree of duct restriction, number of cycles occurring per year, and laboratory-normalized annual energy consumption data. DOE elected not to utilize any of that field data in its analysis, relying instead on two clothes dryer field studies conducted in the 1970s, manufacturer assertions of consumer usage patterns, and its own 2009 Residential Energy Consumption Survey (RECS) results. RECS ascribes portions of whole-house energy consumption in a national cross section of homes to particular end uses like washers and dryers from consumer self-reported answers to questions of approximately how many loads of laundry they wash per week and approximately what share of those loads they typically place in clothes dryers.

DOE also declined to entertain any changes to its test load composition, in its present or pending test procedure versions. This will continue to constrain the usefulness of DOE test data for dryer labeling or utility rebate program purposes, as the California utilities noted in their comments:

When the items being dried do not resemble what consumers actually place in their dryers, no amount of mathematical adjustment after the fact can compensate to reasonably predict how much energy consumers will use in the home if they purchase one dryer model instead of another. And isn't that the whole point of having a clothes dryer energy efficiency test procedure in the first place?

In the end, DOE also decided not to require that manufacturers actually measure the effectiveness of their automatic termination controls to comply with mandatory federal standards – the key dryer test procedure change that both manufacturers and efficiency advocates had jointly petitioned DOE to make. This is remarkable because DOE's own testing showed that dryers that terminate properly and promptly can reduce per-cycle energy consumption by 4 to 38% (with an average savings of 20%), relative to dryers that do not. Instead, DOE made the use of a new and more realistic test procedure *voluntary* – able to be used by manufacturers who wish to participate voluntarily in the newly proposed ENERGY STAR labeling program for clothes dryers. The likely effect of having two fundamentally different test procedures for clothes dryers operative simultaneously in the US will be that inefficient products will continue to be measured the old way and efficient products will increasingly be measured the new way, leading to inaccurate estimates of how much energy could be saved by switching from one to the other.

DOE did, however, eliminate a proposed 0.8 "field use factor" that would have had the effect of arbitrarily reducing by 20% the measured energy use during an automatic termination cycle. This helped to ensure that the full measured differences found in the voluntary test procedure would be visible in labeling programs, which will assist ENERGY STAR in promoting the most efficient models.

By not seeking out significant differences in dryer performance and energy efficiency in their mandatory test procedure, though, DOE indeed did not find them. It reached the conclusion in its associated mandatory efficiency standards analysis [17] that only about 5% of dryer energy use could be cost-effectively saved. Meanwhile, heat pump dryer models saving 30 to 50% of baseline energy consumption continue to achieve ever-greater market share in Europe, in part because they are tested and labeled in ways that intentionally help to reveal those differences. No heat pump dryers have yet been introduced in the US market.

The difference between the approaches to refrigerators and clothes dryers taken by the same government agency is stark and reveals a missed opportunity to save substantially more energy cost-effectively in a widely used appliance.

#### Causes of Divergence between Laboratory and Field Measurements of Product Energy Use

The case studies referenced above provide some examples of the reasons for major differences between laboratory and field measurements, but it can be helpful to understand them more generally. Even products that are new, can, and routinely do, behave differently on efficiency test procedures conducted in a laboratory setting than they do in a typical home or office environment, for a variety of reasons:

- Test procedures are often conducted on one or a limited number of samples of a particular model, so may miss some of the sample-to-sample variation in performance that is expected when products are manufactured by workers on an assembly line.
- Ambient temperature and humidity levels can be different than those specified in the test procedure and quite variable over time, or products can be operated at a different elevation than sea level.
- Known contributors to product energy use are often intentionally ignored by test procedures, as was the case with automatic ice makers in refrigerators, air conditioning systems in vehicles, and network standby power use in many electronic products until recently.
- Workloads can vary widely and continuously, and can be much more heterogeneous than they are in test procedures. Increasingly, products have the size and capability to be used for a wide variety of tasks, so we should not be surprised if the ways they get used increasingly differ from the simplistic scenarios under which they are tested.
- Most energy-using products are capable of operating in far more modes or with a far wider variety of chosen product settings than those default or dominant conditions that efficiency procedures are intended to test. Moreover, customer preferences for particular settings can shift over time, such that defaults no longer occur the majority of the time.
- Customers can install firmware updates, external peripherals, or additional applications to electronic products that did not have them when originally tested in the laboratory, increasing power use in idle mode or decreasing the percentage of time spent in idle mode.
- Human interaction with products is unpredictable; users may start and stop a product frequently instead of allowing it to run uninterrupted, or modify its settings mid-way through, or fail to read directions about how to setup and operate a product, or simply make an intentional operational choice that goes against manufacturer recommendations.
- Manufacturers may design their products to recognize standard test conditions and behave in ways that maximize efficiency under those conditions, but not under other conditions more commonly encountered in the field.

We can characterize most of these issues as sources of *field variance*. Field variance can either be addressed in the test procedure itself, by trying to make it as realistic and representative of real world product behavior as possible, or in a mathematical term that is multiplied by the test procedure value to obtain a term more likely to resemble field performance. Addressing as much of the field variance as possible in a revised and updated test procedure is preferable, because the ways in which actual consumption can vary from measured consumption under standardized conditions are often not linear or entirely predictable from one technology to the next. A deeply flawed test procedure will not even predict the correct rank order of appliances from least to most efficient if they were measured in the field, failing one of its primary reasons to exist. It is better to ensure that the range of conditions and modes likely to be encountered in the field is fully represented in the test procedure, giving policymakers better, more meaningful data to work with in constructing duty cycles and energy efficiency metrics. Once that is done, smaller and more straightforward sources of field variance can be addressed through an adjustment factor (see below).

As CLASP researchers have recently noted [18], a second key cause of divergence is simply the fact that the majority of energy-using products in operation are no longer new, and so can experience a drop in performance and a change in energy consumption over time that together shift their efficiency. Motors and other moving parts suffer mechanical wear or fail to receive needed maintenance, lubrication or brush replacements, steadily experiencing more friction with age. Coils, fins and other heat transfer surfaces become coated with dust and dirt, losing the ability to conduct heat as readily. Insulating materials break down, phosphors degrade, dirt and dust accumulate on the surface of light-emitting and diffusing elements, and heat alters the behavior and performance of electronic components. In short, entropy is the enemy of efficiency, and time is entropy's chief ally. With each passing day, energy-using products behave less like they did when they were new, and very rarely in ways that reduce energy consumption.

We can refer to this issue as *degradation over time*. For the most part, government test procedures do not attempt to capture this effect at all; they concern themselves primarily with product performance when the product is new and operating optimally, or after, at most, a brief break-in period of operation (as with lamps). And yet, if government and utility energy planning processes assume that the savings from an efficiency measure will be steady over time, they could be counting on savings that fail to materialize in later years. Or, they could be underestimating savings if the new, efficient technologies do a better job of preventing degradation than the conventional product designs do.

#### **Promising Solutions**

Provided that the test procedure is reasonably comprehensive and realistic, what else can be done to improve efficiency estimates? Including field adjustment and degradation factors changes our equation for comprehensively addressing the greenhouse gas impacts of energy-using products as follows:



# Figure 5. Proposed approach to account for energy efficiency differences in the field and over time

In this revised IPALUCEFDML equation, efficiency is now clearly labeled as "efficiency on test procedure" so as to distinguish from field or typical efficiency values in practice. Then a field adjustment percentage (upward or downward) is made to that value to better approximate real world efficiency when the product is new. Then a degradation over time adjustment percentage (upward or downward) is made to that value to better approximate the efficiency of products that might have been in use in the field for a number of years. "Durability" is also reframed as "Lifetime" in this updated equation form, in part to reduce confusion about how to measure and express that particular term. Note that many of these terms can change over time, such that the degree of luxury being delivered, or the hours of operation, or the carbon intensity of the energy source, or the degradation in efficiency performance can be different when a product is new than when it is has been in use for five years.

Beyond changes to the calculation process, however, changes to the testing *process* itself are urgently needed, and can be summarized as follows. First, measure power use in the laboratory under a precise, repeatable, and diverse set of operating conditions and modes. Put the products through their paces, so that most of the ways a consumer is likely to use them are reasonably captured and measured. Then log data in the field, in a representative sample of homes, to determine how much time products spend in each of their operating modes or performing each of their various functions. Log power consumption data in the field at the same time to confirm that a product's range

of operating conditions in the field is captured by the original testing that was done in the lab. Provided that the two line up, regularly updated field data can be analyzed annually and used to update governments' annual energy usage and energy savings potential estimates for each product category. These field data can also supplement or even supplant extensive reliance on survey tools like the Residential Energy Consumption Survey (RECS) to develop baselines of residential energy consumption by device.

An analogy to cooking may be helpful in explaining the merits of a philosophical change in our approach to energy efficiency test procedures. The goal of a good test procedure should not be to correctly bake the best cake, or even to surmise the precise recipe for doing so, which will invariably change over time as consumer preferences change. Rather, the goal of a good test procedure should be to inventory as many of the ingredients as possible that might be used to bake the range of cakes people prefer, and quantify the nutritional aspects and properties of each. Armed with that information, we can help consumers understand how much fat, protein and carbohydrates they might ingest from the various types of common cakes they could choose to bake from those ingredients. The error today comes in assuming that everyone will bake the same cake – they won't. But with the answers to just a few questions about preferences for flavor, texture and portion size, the government could give many different buyers a reasonable sense of what they might expect from the resulting mix.

Similarly, there is no way to know what percentage of the time a given dryer will spend drying jeans, but if one element of the test procedure assesses how rapidly and efficiently they dry jeans, that aspect can be incorporated into the ultimate duty cycle and efficiency metric. And jeans are so widely worn, washed, and dried throughout the developed world (450 million pairs purchased annually in the US alone) [20], that it seems odd that we would decline to measure dryer performance with them at all.

The Internet makes it increasingly easy to combine those measurements of how a product performs under various specific conditions with some simple information about how a purchaser intends to use the product, to provide product comparative energy consumption and savings information for his or her particular situation. This kind of meaningful context is largely absent from the one-size-fits-all, traditional physical energy labels placed on most energy-using products today.

#### Conclusions

Of all the goals a good test procedure can achieve, surely we can agree that producing values reasonably representative of actual usage in the field is among the most important. If test procedure results are unrealistic, mandatory labels provide incorrect information to buyers, voluntary labels imply greater or lesser benefits to buyers of an efficient product than they will actually realize, mandatory standards make the wrong decisions about the extent to which more efficient technologies are cost effective, and utilities assume they will achieve more or less energy from rebating the resulting products than they actually will. This is particularly problematic for utilities, since they rely on their savings estimates in resource planning, and may face electricity shortages and severe financial penalties from their regulators if they do not achieve the energy savings claimed for rebated products.

One truism that emerges from the last 20 years of refinements in appliance design is this: the better the technology, the more behavior matters. In other words, as products have made steady, remarkable gains in technological efficiency, most forms of gross, obvious energy waste have been removed from the system. Likewise, the products have been optimized to perform incredibly well on standardized test procedures, after repeated iterations of laboratory testing, product redesign, and tweaks to the software that controls product operation. Not surprisingly, then, the variation in product functionality and performance introduced by customer behavior ends up being one of the largest remaining contributors to differences in product energy use. We cannot strictly control for variations in user behavior in a laboratory setting, but we can monitor products under a wider range of usage patterns and conditions to understand how they might behave.

In the past, some efficiency test procedures were found to have measured precisely the wrong thing, and those wholesale problems were typically corrected reasonably quickly. Today's test procedures can suffer from a slightly less severe problem – they measure the wrong thing, precisely. They are, with laudable precision and repeatability, measuring things that can be increasingly irrelevant about a product's performance under a narrow set of laboratory conditions rarely found in the real world. This

quest for false precision leads, not to the truth, but to overconfidence in the relevance and usefulness of what is being measured.

The history of recent energy efficiency test procedures is filled with reasons for hope that greater realism and representativeness are achievable. In the past, ENERGY STAR measured only the standby power consumption of televisions in determining which models to label. US DOE only measured the power use associated with static test patterns on black and white cathode ray tube televisions, long after color, flat panel, and high definition capability came to televisions. Today, both agencies now utilize an internationally standardized high definition color video test clip and a range of ambient lighting levels interacting with televisions' automatic brightness control circuitry to more reasonably approximate actual viewing conditions, which represents remarkable progress. Likewise, the latest IEC test procedure revision for refrigerators shifts meaningfully toward the goal of testing a broad range of functions and capabilities, leaving to policymakers the option of constructing different "recipes" or duty cycles of those functions to mirror typical usage patterns in their part of the world.[19]

These types of shifts in our approach to test procedures are a healthy adaptation to changing technologies and capabilities in consumer products, and the changing ways in which all of us use those products. While this may introduce less precision and repeatability into measured values, it brings something much more valuable – an unvarnished honesty about what can and can't be known with precision.

#### References

- [1] The author gratefully acknowledges the financial support and input of the Pacific Gas & Electric Company for the research that led to this paper. The opinions and views in this paper are strictly those of the author, and do not necessarily represent the views of PG&E.
- [2] Chris Calwell, Is Efficient Sufficient? The Case for Shifting Our Emphasis in Energy Specifications to Progressive Efficiency and Sufficiency, eceee, March 22, 2010, pp. 27-32.
- [3] Paul Waide, IEA, "Appliance energy policy and technical standards: Plugging the gaps," *International standards for energy efficiency and carbon reduction*, March 16, 2009.
- [4] Alan K. Meier (LBNL) and James E. Hill (NIST), "Energy test procedures for appliances," *Energy and Buildings*, Volume 26, 1997, pp. 23-33.
- [5] <u>http://www.0-60cartimes.com/0-60-statistics/</u>
- [6] Transportation and Climate Division, Office of Transportation and Air Quality, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, *Light-Duty Automotive Technology, Carbon Dioxide Emissions, and Fuel Economy Trends:* 1975 Through 2012 Executive Summary, EPA-426-S-13-001, March 2013, p. ix. See www.epa.gov/oms/fetrends.htm#summary
- [7] Csaba Csere, "Why is the EPA so bad at estimating hybrid fuel economy?" *Car and Driver,* April 2013, pp. 68-71.
- [8] Csaba Csere, "Why is the EPA so bad at estimating hybrid fuel economy?" *Car and Driver,* April 2013, pp. 68-71.
- [9] Jim Gunshinan, "Caveat Emptor," *Home Energy*, January 1, 2007. See <u>www.homeenergy.org/show/article/nav/refrigerators/id/344</u>
- [10] Reuben Alexander Deumling, *Public Policies, Private Choices: Consumer Desire and the Practice of Energy Efficiency*, PhD Dissertation, Energy & Resources Group, University of California at Berkeley, Fall 2008, p. 200.
- [11] Jeffery Greenblatt, Asa Hopkins, Virginie Letschert, and Michael Blasnik, "Energy use of US residential refrigerators and freezers: function derivation based on household and climate characteristics," *Energy Efficiency*, February 2013, Volume 6, Issue 1, pp. 135-162.

- [12] This situation will begin to change in the coming months, as utilities move to promote EPA's recently designated "Emerging Technology" dryer models and as ENERGY STAR progresses in the development of a voluntary labeling specification for broader market use.
- [13] Danny S. Parker, Maria D. Mazzara, and John R. Sherwin, "Monitored Energy Use Patterns In Low-Income Housing In A Hot and Humid Climate," *Tenth Symposium on Improving Building Systems in Hot Humid Climates*, FSEC-PF-300-96, p. 316. See www.fsec.ucf.edu/en/publications/html/FSEC-PF-300-96/index.htm
- [14] Forthcoming report from the Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance, *Residential Clothes Dryer Energy Use: Modifying Test Procedures to More Realistically Reflect Field Operating Conditions*, prepared by Ecova, publication pending.
- [15] U.S. Department of Energy, Office of Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy, *Final Rule: Test Procedures for Residential Clothes Dryers*, Docket No. EERE-2011-BT-TP-054, RIN: 1904-AC63, August 2013.
- [16] Pacific Gas & Electric Company, San Diego Gas and Electric, and Southern California Edison, *Comments to the US Department of Energy Regarding Notice of Proposed Rulemaking on Test Procedures for Residential Clothes Dryers*, March 20, 2013.
- [17] <u>http://www1.eere.energy.gov/buildings/appliance\_standards/product.aspx/productid/36</u>
- [18] Jayond Lee, Steven Zeng, Jim McMahon, CLASP, *Degradation of Efficiency as Products Age: Preliminary Findings and Next Steps*, informal session at ECEEE Summer Study 2013, June 6, 2013.
- [19] Lloyd Harrington: *private communication*. June 2013.
- [20] <u>http://www.companiesandmarkets.com/News/Textiles-and-Clothing/Global-denim-jeans-</u> market-led-by-Levi-s-and-Diesel/NI6124

# Development of a Communicating Power Supply to Assist in Energy Monitoring and Management

Alan Meier

Steven Lanzisera

Anna Liao

Andrew Weber

Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory

#### Abstract

Saving energy in buildings is often hampered by lack of detailed information about what is using energy and how much. The problem is especially acute for the large number of small, energy-using devices that are present in both residential and commercial buildings. Most of these products use a power supply to operate electronic and other internal components. We developed a "communicating power supply" to enable communication of energy information to a building management system or other central entity. A related goal was to assign to each power supply or device a unique identifier, that is, a kind of "electronic UPC" (Universal Product Code) that can be recognized by a building energy management system or other networked entity. The communicating power supply must be flexible enough to transmit data through power line carrier (PLC) or wireless networks, or piggyback on communications capabilities of downstream devices.

We worked with a large manufacturer of power supplies and a large designer of microprocessors to miniaturize these functions onto a single chip which will, ultimately, add very little extra cost or complexity to existing power supply designs. We anticipate that Energy Star and other efficiency endorsement programs will include communications capability in future technical specifications. Our longer-term goal is to add control capabilities to the communicating power supplies.

#### **Background and Project Goals**

Saving energy in buildings is often hampered by lack of adequate information about which device is using energy and how much it is using. This problem is especially acute for the large number of smaller energy-using devices that are present in both residential and commercial buildings (e.g., plug loads). A large fraction of these loads are electronics, that is, devices that process information in some manner. In especially efficient homes, plug loads often represent 30% of total electricity use [1] and a similar fraction in commercial buildings [2]. Moreover, the amount of electricity used by plug loads is growing faster than any other load category in both sectors [3]. For example, in the United States, space heating and cooling have now fallen to less than half of total site residential energy use and has been overtaken by appliances, plug loads, and electronics [4]. Most major economies have begun to regulate the efficiencies of the energy-intensive appliances, but hundreds of other products are not expected to be regulated. The growth in these end uses makes their control and management increasingly important.

Today's solutions do a poor job of economically monitoring and controlling plug loads [5]. Furthermore, the in-building consumption is often strongly affected by individual operating practices and are therefore impossible to regulate. Effective energy *management* cannot occur until more information about energy *consumption* is obtained. To date, however, there is no cheap method to know and control the energy consumption of plugged-in devices. Numerous products have recently become available that offer monitoring and control capabilities incorporated in the wall outlet or as an independent power-strip [6]. These partly address the problem but have important drawbacks. First,

they must be individually installed and programmed. If the device is moved, or additional devices are plugged in, then the information and control aspects are undermined. Second, many of the products rely on proprietary communications protocols, which leads to incompatibilities and legacy networks. Finally, the products are still relatively expensive so installation of a network connected to all of the devices in a building can easily cost thousands of euros. Thus, they are adequate for short-term or limited operation but not suited for a permanent, scalable, system.



#### Figure 1. Relationship of the communicating power supply to appliances and the central entity

The goal of this project is to incorporate standard power measurement and reporting capability into power supplies in such a manner so that the incremental cost is very low. The power supply (typically converting AC to DC) is the first destination of electricity flowing to nearly all electronics and in a majority of the small loads. Figure 1 illustrates the general goal of the communicating power supply.

These capabilities will greatly increase the ability to understand energy use in buildings and identify opportunities for savings. These same features may also be exploited in other ways to provide new applications that we cannot predict today, such as to enhance health and safety.

The fundamental building block of this infrastructure is the conventional, switch-mode power supply. Billions of power supplies are manufactured every year for all types of IT equipment, audio and video equipment, mobile phones, and other products. These power supplies are a commodity, costing less than a few euros each for wholesale purchases. The market for these components is extremely competitive, so manufacturers of power supplies are reluctant to add capabilities unless they can be confident that the features are desired by their customers and will pay a higher price.

We collaborated with two companies to develop a technically feasible, economic solution. Power Integrations is a major supplier of high-performance electronic components used in high-voltage power-conversion systems. Its solutions enable compact, energy-efficient AC-DC power supplies for a vast range of electronic products, including TVs, PCs, appliances, smart utility meters and LED lights. We also collaborated with ARM, a supplier of microprocessors in many advanced digital products.

## **Technical Features of the Communicating Power Supply**

The communicating power supply has three features beyond those found in a standard power supply. These are:

- A unique identity for each power supply
- A means for the power supply to measure its energy consumption
- A means for the power supply to communicate that information to the network

Ultimately, the communicating power supply will have a fourth feature: a means of <u>controlling</u> the power use of the device, that is, to switch off the device.

The communicating power supply must participate in a network to deliver information about its activities. This capability requires two features:

- A central entity to receive and process the data
- Standardized protocols for communicating between the communicating power supply and the central entity

A schematic of the network is shown in Figure 2. Product A represents an electronic device without networking capability such as a compact fluorescent light, battery charger, etc. The communicating power supply in this case an external unit, collects product information, controls signals, and energy consumption from Product A. The communicating power supply transmits these data, plus a unique identifier, via power line communication (PLC), and the information is collected in a central entity (that is, a database). Product B represents a networked device, such as a computer, blu-ray, etc. Product B is similar to Product A, with one important difference: the data are transmitted by the networked device via the Ethernet to the central database.



Figure 2. System overview of communicating power supplies

The key aspects of the communicating power supply are described in the following sections.

#### **Unique Identity**

Each power supply will need to have a unique identity that no other device will have. In computers today, we use MAC address, a 48 bit identifier, to uniquely identify anything with an Ethernet or Wi-Fi connection. As many more devices are network-connected, there is concern that we may one day run out of MAC addresses because they are inefficiently distributed (i.e., many addresses will never be used, but it is not possible to be sure this is true). As a result the Extended Unique Identifier is new

standard in place to replace the MAC address [7], and it is a 64 bit sequence with 2 x 10<sup>19</sup> possible addresses. The EUI-64 is the standard unique identifier for the new generation of Internet Protocol networking (IPv6) and the Internet of Things. We have selected the EUI-64 as the unique identifier for this work.

In addition to unique identity, it is useful to have a means to identify the type of device and any other information about that device. The Universal Serial Bus (USB) specification includes a device classification system [8], and this system always includes the use of a few numbers to uniquely identify the vendor, the product (unique for a particular vendor), and the version of the product. It can also include long text strings or binary values to provide information to the user. In the case where only a few numbers are exchanged, the connected system must either be able to interpret these values on its own or connect to a database on the Internet to download the corresponding descriptions. A similar approach is appropriate for communicating power supplies. We propose to use a vendor ID, a vendor-specified device type, a vendor-specified product ID, and a version number. Allowing the vendor to specify these values provides flexibility and allows for innovation. However, if a vendor does not register these values with a central entity, end users and energy management systems will have no way to determine the device type. The alternative is to prescribe a taxonomy of device types rather than allowing for vendor selected values, and this improves device identification at the cost of flexibility. Because understanding the vendor stated device type seems small.

#### Measure and Accumulate Data

We developed a system to measure power and energy in a switching power supply using very lowcost components. The switching power supply modulates its switching properties based on the power needed by the load. Measuring these switching properties enables a microprocessor to estimate the load. Figure 3 shows two oscilloscope traces of the switching node of the power supply for low load and high load. The duty cycle (low spent time as a fraction of the total time) varies from 0.05 to 0.45 from low load to maximum load, and the waveform switches value tens or hundreds of thousands of times per second. To cheaply measure this duty cycle, we first take this high speed signal and use an analog filter to determine its average value. The average value is measured using an analog to digital converter, and the resulting digital value is turned into a power value using a look up table with interpolation. Look up tables are very efficient methods for storing non-linear functions on low-cost microprocessor systems.

Low-cost microprocessors often have analog to digital converters with sufficient accuracy to provide better than 1% accuracy over the full range of loads a power supply has to offer. The variability between different power supplies in terms of switching duty cycle versus the load is likely to be a few percent, and the overall accuracy and repeatability will be about 5%. Therefore, even very low-cost analog to digital converters will provide the accuracy needed. The sample rate of this analog signal can be quite low as well, which will further reduce costs. Our implementation has a signal bandwidth of about 1Hz; thus, a sampling rate of only a few times a second will enable the system to fully capture all of the system dynamics.



Figure 3. Oscilloscope traces demonstrating that a low-cost analog-to-digital monitoring method can achieve acceptable accuracy over a wide range of loads

#### **Communicate via a Network**

The communicating power supply must have a network interface to enable communication. Initially, we identified two high-level communication strategies: network communication in the power supply or local communication to another processor in the system that already has a network connection. The second method is preferred to lower system costs if the device is already connected to the network (e.g., an Ethernet or Wi-Fi enabled television). In many cases (e.g., light bulbs), the device will not already be connected to a network, and the lowest cost network connection that provides the required performance is desired. We previously surveyed a variety of network connections possible, and low-cost wireless connections such as Zigbee, Z-wave, or 6LoWPAN are the best options. Power line carrier communication requires not only expensive chips but also expensive passive components. The chips and passives required for Zigbee of 6LoWPAN can be purchased for under one euro in moderate volumes, and it seems likely these chips will decrease in cost further as volumes increase. Z-wave chips are more expensive but have enhanced interoperability. We do not want to pick a "winner" technology in this space, but it is clear that the low-cost wireless options have a significant advantage in terms of cost and implementation complexity.

#### **Results and Future Work**

Our goal was to demonstrate a proof of concept, that is, a power supply that can measure power use, store its identity, and then communicate this information to a central entity. As indicated, this is a hardware, software, and communications problem, extending beyond the power supply itself.

We successfully created a prototype communicating power supply (see Figure 4). This has already undergone one generation of miniaturization. Ultimately, the components will need to be integrated into a single chip (or two) so that it does not enlarge the form factor of existing power supplies.



Figure 4. Second-generation prototype of communicating power supply

We also created a network consisting of three devices, each with a communicating power supply. These products report identity and energy information over a wireless network (based on IEEE 802.15.4, the same wireless standard as Zigbee [9] and 6LoWPAN [10]. Finally, we created a basic energy dashboard that can display energy information collected by the system. This dashboard offers sufficient features to demonstrate functionality of the whole system. The data will be stored to a database, and users will be able to view data at will.

The same hardware and network can, in principle, be used in reverse to send control messages from the central entity to specific equipment. This will enable the devices to be remotely switched on and off. Remote control will be the subject of future work.

A communicating power supply will cost more than conventional power supplies. Our goal is to make the incremental cost very small. The measurement feature will cost less than  $\in 0.10$  when mass produced. For appliances already equipped with communications capability, the communicating power supply could piggy-back; this will lower the cost since communications is the most expensive feature. However, external incentives will still be needed to encourage manufacturers to add this feature. Voluntary programs, such as Energy Star, could easily make communications part of their specifications. These programs could assure a market and encourage economies of scale.

Communicating power supplies, and the ecosystem in which they operate, will permit much more detailed understanding of electricity consumption. This offers the potential for reducing energy consumption of products whose services are not required at that specific time without the active involvement of the occupants.
# Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the California Energy Commission's Public Interest Energy Research program and by the Assistant Secretary for Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy, Building Technologies Program, of the U.S. Department of Energy, under Contract No. DE-AC02-05CH11231.

### References

- [1] S. Lanzisera, S. Dawson-Haggerty, X. Jiang, H. Y. Cheung, J. Taneja, J. Lai, J. Ortiz, D. Culler, and R. Brown, "Wireless electricity metering of miscellaneous and electronic devices in buildings," in *Future of Instrumentation International Workshop (FIIW), 2011*, 2011, pp. 16–19.
- [2] R. S. Srinivasan, J. Lakshmanan, E. Santosa, and D. Srivastav, "Plug-load densities for energy analysis: K-12 schools," *Energy Build.*, vol. 43, no. 11, pp. 3289–3294, Nov. 2011.
- [3] O. Comstock and K. Jarzomski, "Consumption and Saturation Trends of Residential Miscellaneous End-Use Loads," in 2012 ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings, Pacific Grove, 2012.
- [4] Energy Information Administration, "Heating and cooling no longer majority of U.S. home energy use," 07-Mar-2013. [Online]. Available: http://www.eia.gov/todayinenergy/detail.cfm?id=10271#. [Accessed: 04-Apr-2013].
- [5] D. J. Nelson and A. J. Berrisford, "Residential End Use Monitoring: How Far Can We Go?," in Proceedings of ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings, Pacific Grove, Calif., 2010, p. 281.
- [6] D. Arnold, M. Sankur, and D. M. Auslander, "An architecture for enabling distributed plug load control for commercial building demand response," in *Innovative Smart Grid Technologies* (ISGT), 2013 IEEE PES, 2013, pp. 1–6.
- [7] G. Montenegro, N. Kushalnagar, J. Hui, and D. Culler, "Transmission of IPv6 packets over IEEE 802.15. 4 networks," *Internet Propos. Stand. Rfc*, vol. 4944, 2007.
- [8] USB Implementers Forum, "USB-IF Device Class Documents." [Online]. Available: http://www.usb.org/developers/docs/devclass/. [Accessed: 12-Apr-2013].
- [9] Zigbee Alliance, "ZigBee Standards Overview." [Online]. Available: http://www.zigbee.org/. [Accessed: 14-Apr-2013].
- [10] The 6lowpan Working Group, "IPv6 over Low power WPAN (6lowpan)." [Online]. Available: http://datatracker.ietf.org/wg/6lowpan/charter/. [Accessed: 14-Apr-2013].

# Wireless Communication in Smart Grid Home Area Networks: A Survey

Victor D. N. Santos<sup>1, 2</sup>, João P. Trovão<sup>1, 2</sup>, Paulo G. Pereirinha<sup>1, 2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> IPC-ISEC, Instituto Politécnico de Coimbra, ISEC, DEE

<sup>2</sup> Institute for Systems and Computers Engineering at Coimbra (INESC-C)

### Abstract

This paper presents a survey on the most promising wireless communications candidates to be used as part of a smart grid home area network. Particular attention is devoted to the systems' physical layer due to its implications on the coverage area and on the provided service throughput and latency. Different cellular networks (GSM/GPRS and UMTS) and wireless data networks (Bluetooth, ZigBee, Wi-Fi and WIMAX) are analyzed. Moreover, two very simple smart energy applications were designed and implemented in order to validate the selected wireless communication solutions. The first aims to accomplish vehicle to grid (V2G) energy exchange, thus allowing efficient energy management on the smart grid. The communications between the electric vehicle and the infrastructure is performed via WLAN at home and using SMS messages otherwise. The second application implements a home lighting automation process using the ZigBee/IEEE 802.15.4 protocol.

# INTRODUCTION

The "Smart grid" concept intends to improve the efficiency, reliability, and sustainability of electrical energy production and distribution using the energy consumption information on the consumer side and utility pricing [1]. Wireless technologies are promising candidates to perform that crucial, last mile, exchange of information because they inherently provide terminal mobility, low installation cost, rapid deployment and extended coverage. The accessibility to multiple radio access technology standards such as cellular networks (2G; 3G and 4G), IEEE 802.11 a/b/g/n wireless LAN, WiMAX and ZigBee supported on IEEE 802.15.4 provides the mentioned benefits and redundancy and therefore a clear advantage over wired technologies.

Among the loads present at home, the EV is perhaps the most promising candidate to optimize residential energy consumption due to the involved high power value, its energy storage capability and to its potential bidirectional transmission of electricity. Indeed, EV batteries can serve as an energy storage unit that can return energy back to the grid when parked, accomplishing the vehicle to grid (V2G) concept. Consequently, the accurate identification, on a given area, of the vehicle's location, parking status, and, mainly, its storage capacity and state of charge (SOC) can be used to design an energy efficiency strategy. When parked at home the EV can use available wireless networks to communicate with the smart grid. Home area network (HAN) communications typically require a relatively low data transfer rate (< 1 Mbps), high reliability, low latency, low power consumption, secure communication and a medium range coverage area [2].

Subsequent sections describe the radio interface of the most important cellular systems used nowadays, namely the GSM/GPRS, EDGE and UMTS systems. This description also includes wireless systems like ZigBee, Wi-Fi and WiMAX. Finally, an SMS-based application was developed to support the information exchange between EVs and the electric grid. The implemented communication solution used to send and receive data information is fully explained.

# WIRELESS COMMUNICATION SYSTEMS

Wireless communications systems are natural candidates to be used in smart grids and particularly in a home area network. The lack of wired connections enables equipment mobility, offers low-cost solutions and provides flexibility in the communications network configuration, aspects that are of particular value. Among the multiple wireless technologies that were examined, particular attention was given to mobile cellular systems (e.g. GSM and UMTS) and to wireless networks such as WiMAX, Wi-Fi and ZigBee.

#### Global System for Mobile Communications (GSM) - Cellular System

Cellular systems topology consists in multiple overlapping cells that provide coverage, obtained from relatively low power transmitters located on base stations. GSM is a second generation (2G) mobile system based on digital technology, designed and optimized to support the voice service.

GSM frequency bands or frequency ranges are the cellular frequencies designated worldwide by the International Telecommunication Union (ITU) for the operation of GSM mobile phones. In Europe most used frequencies to support GSM/GPRS are the 900 and 1800 MHz bands. However, according to the Third Generation Partnership Project (3GPP), there are fourteen licensed frequency bands defined to this system [3]. The available spectrum is divided into radio carriers, each having a bandwidth of 200 kHz. One or more carrier frequencies are then assigned to each base station. Each of these carrier frequencies is then divided in time, using a time division multiple access (TDMA) scheme, into eight distinct time slots which will be used to support speech and data channels. One time slot is used for transmission by the mobile and another one for reception. They are separated in time so that the mobile unit does not receive and transmit at the same time (as represented in Fig. 1).



Fig. 1 - GSM 900 carriers and TDMA frame structure. (Adapted from [4])

#### Enhanced Data Rates for GSM Evolution (EDGE) and General Packet Radio Service (GPRS)

Enhanced Data for GSM Evolution (EDGE) is a GSM evolution that provides third generation (3G) capabilities in the existing frequency bands. EDGE enables services like web browsing, email, multimedia and video conferencing to be accessible from its mobile terminals.

The GSM standard provides data services with bit transfer rates up to 14.4 kbps for circuit-switched data and up to 22.8 kbps for packet data (per time slot). Thus higher bit rates can only be achieved with multislot operation. The General Packet Radio Service (GPRS) provides bit transfer rates up to 171.2 kbps depending on the radio link quality, the number of other users sharing the service and the user-negotiated quality of service (QoS) [4, 5].

Both GSM and GPRS systems are based on the Gaussian minimum shift keying (GMSK) modulation technique that has a spectral efficiency of 1.35 bps/Hz, which correspond to an aggregate data rate per carrier of 270.833 kbps. The core of the EDGE concept includes the introduction of a new phase shift keying modulation scheme 8-PSK, which allows data to be sent at speeds up to 384 kbps [5]. This data rate increase is obtained from the usage of 8-PSK modulation technique that has a 3 bit per symbol efficiency. Note that the symbol rate for both modulations is 270.8(3) ksymb/s, leading to gross bit rates per time slot of 22.8 kbps and 59.2 kbps for GMSK and 8-PSK respectively.

#### Universal Mobile Telecommunications System (UMTS)

UMTS is a third generation cellular technology designed to provide mobile personal communications (with anyone, anywhere and anytime) with transmission rates up to 2 Mbps according to the environments of use, support universal roaming and wideband multimedia services offer. The UMTS system is based on a set of basic requirements that includes: a high spectral efficiency, a large traffic capacity, the support of different services and applications, indoor and outdoor coverage, the use of small, light, low price and high autonomy terminals, high quality service, and the establishment of secure communications. The system provides a broad range of services to a large number of users. The services provided by the system include the telephony voice service, new multimedia and Internet services, which should be available from a variety of terminals and platforms.

The first 3GPP version of the UMTS, known as Release 99, is an evolution of the GSM/GPRS network architecture, the main difference for these generations is the radio access network. The original base station system (BSS) was replaced by a new entity named UMTS terrestrial radio access network (UTRAN), where the radio network controller (RNC) and node B, replace the base station controller (BSC) and the base transceiver station (BTS), respectively. Subsequently, a second version was specified for UMTS, the 3GPP release 4, that was appropriated for new cellular network operators that initiate 3G services provision without a 2G network. In this version the main change occurs in the core network where the MSC is separated into two new network elements, the Media Gateway (MGW) and MSC server. The aim of these new elements is to separate the control/signalling tasks and transmission/support in order to use a single routing and transmission technology, making possible the support of services with different QoS requirements.

#### High Speed Downlink Packet Access (HSDPA)

HSDPA introduces a set of new features in the UTRAN (3GPP R5) that when combined enable a significant increase in data transmission rates up to a maximum of 14.4 Mbps. HSDPA creates a high-speed DSCH (HS-DSCH) by replacing the variable spreading factor (VSF) and fast power control with adaptive modulation and coding (AMC), short packet size, multi-code operation, and fast hybrid automatic repeat request (HARQ). A higher performance is obtained from the ability to share the HS-PDSCH channel that is dynamically partitioned by the HSDPA users, up to a maximum of 15 parallel in each cell. The channelization channels can be assigned to a single user or shared by multiple users in each transmission time interval (TTI). The observed reduction on the packet duration time, as it decreases from 10 or 20 ms (UMTS R99/R4) to a fixed duration of 2 ms (HSPDA), allows faster adaptation to changes in traffic conditions. Moreover, when the radio channel conditions are quite good HSDPA promotes the 16-QAM modulation technique usage. The 16-QAM modulation technique allows faster transmission rates than traditional quaternary phase shift keying QPSK modulation technique used for UMTS R99/R4 due to its increased spectral efficiency.

#### High Speed Unlink Packet Access (HSUPA)

HSUPA introduces a set of new features in the UTRAN (3GPP R6) that improves uplink performance (compared to R99 UMTS) and provides a higher throughput/data rates (up to 5.8 Mbps), superior capacity and reduced latency. The enhanced features in the uplink comprise several improvements, similar to those performed by the HSDPA, including multi-code transmission, short transmission time interval (TTI = 2 ms), fast scheduling and fast HARQ.

#### IEEE 802.11 protocol Wi-Fi

A wireless local area network (WLAN) is a wireless communication system that allows notebooks, computers, PDAs and tablets PC to access and share data, internet access or other network resources in the same way as for wired networks. Its main advantages comprise terminal mobility, short term usage, speed of deployment and scalability. There are also some disadvantages such as power consumption, low safety levels and operating frequencies that differ from country to country.

The IEEE 802.11 protocol usually referred as wireless fidelity, or simply Wi-Fi, is a network access technology that provides connectivity between wireless stations know as access points (APs) and wired networking infrastructures. The different versions of IEEE 802.11, presented in table 1, include:

- 802.11b is the older version, transmits in the 2.4 GHz band and supports transmission rate of 11 Mbps and uses complementary code keying (CCK) encoding;
- 802.11g also transmits in the 2.4 GHz band, but supports maximum speeds of 54 Mbps, the usage of orthogonal frequency division multiplexing (OFDM) increases the efficiency;
- 802.11a same as 802.11g, but it uses channels in the 5 GHz band;
- 802.11n introduces multiple input multiple output MIMO; a wider channel bandwidth 40 MHz as an option and considers beam forming and diversity in the antennas technology.

Parameters	802.11a	802.11b	802.11g	802.11n
Approval date	July 1999	July 1999	June 2003	October 2009
Frequency band	5 GHz	2.4 GHz	5 GHz	2.4 / 5 GHz
Max data rate	up to 54 Mbps	11 Mbps	up to 54 Mbps	up to 300 Mbps
Modulation	OFDM	CCK, PBCC, DSSS	OFDM, PBCC, CCK, DSSS	OFDM, CCK or DSSS

#### Table 1 - Comparison of Wi-Fi variants [5]

#### Worldwide Interoperability for Microwave Access (WiMAX)

WiMAX is broadband wireless access (BWA) technology, based on IEEE 802.16 standard created with the aim of providing wireless access to the Internet with the following characteristics: large geographical coverage area; huge number of simultaneous users accessing the network; high transmission rate and low cost. It fits a wide range of applications and environments: data, voice and multimedia fixed and mobile, licensed and unlicensed. The WiMAX original standard specified a frequency range of 10-66 GHz with a theoretical maximum bandwidth of 120 Mbps and maximum transmission range of 50 km [6]. It was designed to bring end-user wireless Internet without the expense and inconvenience of wiring or the distance limitations of digital subscriber line (DSL).

WiMAX physical layer is based on OFDM (in 802.16d) or OFDMA (in 802.16e). This guarantees two advantages: firstly the robustness against the multipath spatial multiplexing, i.e., transmitting independent streams performed in parallel for different antennas, and secondly the flexibility to include algorithms and techniques such as adaptive modulation and coding techniques and efficient multiple access techniques.

The signal is composed by 256 carriers (fixed) or 128-2048 carriers (mobile) depending on the bandwidth (restricted to 20 MHz or less and an integer multiple of 1.25 MHz, 1.5 MHz, or 1.75 MHz). From these carriers only 3/4 are actually used for data being remainders used as guard bands and as pilots. The pilot carrier always uses binary phase shift keying (BPSK) modulation and data modulation uses BPSK, QPSK, 16-QAM or 64-QAM depending on channel conditions. At closer ranges WiMAX can use M-ary QAM and support throughputs higher than 50 Mbps. At longer ranges, lower-order modulations with lower-rate coding must be used, hence decreasing the data throughput [6]. WiMAX can use both time division duplexing (TDD) and frequency division duplexing (FDD). The main differences between WiMAX variants are presented in table 2.

WiMAX is supported by the WiMAX Forum, whose primary mission is to ensure compatibility and interoperability between devices based on the IEEE 802.16 and is mainly composed of chipsets equipment manufacturers. The WiMAX Forum is the equivalent of the Wi-Fi Alliance, responsible for the great development and success of Wi-Fi all over the world.

Parameters	802.16	802.16a/d	802.16e
Approval date	Dec 2001	Jan. 2003/June 2004	End of 2005
Spectrum	10 to 66 GHz	2 to 11 GHz	2 to 6 GHz
Max data rate	134 Mbps (64-QAM, 28 MHz Ch)	75 Mbps (20 MHz Ch)	15 Mbps (5 MHz Ch)
Modulation	QPSK, QAM	BPSK, QPSK, QAM, OFDM	BPSK,QPSK, QAM, OFDM
Mobility	Fixed	Fixed and portable	Mobility, roaming

#### Table 2 - Comparison of WIMAX variants [5]

#### Bluetooth / IEEE 802.15.1

The Bluetooth protocol includes a specification for wireless personal area networks (PAN), developed by the Bluetooth Special Interest Group with the aim of connecting devices via a radio link of small range. Although operating on the same 2.4 GHz (2.4–2.5 GHz band) as Wi-Fi systems, the industrial, scientific and medical (ISM) band uses a different multiplex scheme, allowing their coexistence. The protocol allows data transfer at a speed of 1 Mbps with distances that can range from 1 m to 100 m. The fact that it is a standard protocol designed for low power and short range has allowed its dissemination into various types of devices.

#### ZigBee / IEEE 802.15.4

ZigBee is a low-cost, low-power, secure and reliable wireless mesh network standard appropriate for applications such as home automation (lighting control systems, intruder alarms), energy management, automatic meter reading systems, environmental and agricultural monitoring, video audio remote controls and personal health care (e.g. heart rate monitoring). The term ZigBee refers to a set of protocols that enable wireless communications between devices and is intended to replace the proliferation of cables and individual remote controls. One of the ZigBee protocol's major advantages is its low power consumption, allowing small batteries with a long life cycle, ideal to install and forget purposes. Another ZigBee characteristic is its potential widespread implementation on a huge number of wireless devices. ZigBee also has high throughput and extremely low latency, making it suitable for real time applications. ZigBee implements a fully reliable "hand shake" protocol and three network topologies possibilities: star, mesh and cluster-tree; allowing up to 65535 device network supported in a up to 64 bit IEEE address. ZigBee includes two layers of the OSI model, the Application Layer (APL) and the Network Layer (NWL) that operate on top of the IEEE 802.15.4 PHY and MAC layers.

There are three types of devices in a ZigBee network: a coordinator (single device on the network) that creates and configures the network, acts as an IEEE 802.15.4 PAN coordinator. However, once the network is formed it is a Full Functional Device (FFD) that implements the full protocol stack and makes the interconnection between other networks. A router that is also a FFD implementing the full protocol stack, will forward the packets on the network, relaying data. Finally, a ZigBee end node that can only transmit data packets to the network without additional functionality and does not participate in routing. ZigBee end devices are Reduced Function Device (RFD) that implements a reduced subset of the protocol stack. This equipment (typically a mobile device) is where one wishes to obtain low energy consumption, operating at a low duty cycle.

#### Physical Layer

The physical layer of IEEE 802.15.4 is responsible for the following tasks: activation and deactivation of the radio transceiver; energy detection; link quality indication; clear channel assessment and channel frequency selection. IEEE 802.15.4 operates in three ISM unlicensed bands: 2.4 GHz (global), 915 MHz (Americas), and 868 MHz (Europe) [8]. As Fig. 2 shows, there is a single channel between 868 and 868.6 MHz (numbered 0), 10 channels between 902 and 928 MHz (numbered 1-10), and 16 channels between 2.4 and 2.4835 GHz (numbered 11-26).

Each channel in the 2.4 GHz band provides a raw data transfer rate of 250 kbps. The channel width is 2 MHz with 5 MHz of channel spacing in a way that allows interoperability with IEEE 802.11b. Direct sequence spread spectrum (DSSS) is used in conjunction with offset quadrature phase-shift modulation (OQPSK). On the other hand, channels in the 915 MHz band use the BPSK modulation technique that results in a lower data transfer rate (40 kbps). The receiver sensitivity should be larger than -92 dBm for channels in the 915 MHz band and larger than -85 dBm for channels in the 2.4 GHz band.



#### Fig. 2 – IEEE 802.15.4 operating frequencies and bands [8]

#### Medium Access Control (MAC) Sub-layer

The MAC data service is responsible for the transmission and reception of MAC protocol data units across the PHY data service. The features of the MAC sublayer are beacon management, channel access, GTS management, frame validation, acknowledged frame delivery, association and disassociation.

The MAC protocol supports two operational modes (as shown in Fig. 3). In the <u>non-beacon enable</u> <u>mode</u>, a standard ALOHA mechanism is used to rule the medium access and neither beacons nor superframes are used when the coordinator selects this mode. In the <u>beacon enable mode</u>, the coordinator periodically sends beacons to other network devices in order to synchronize nodes. The beacon defines the start of a superframe used to control channel access. The proposed frame structure assures dedicated bandwidth and low latency to 16 equal width time slots. Medium access is ruled by slotted carrier sense medium access with collision avoidance (CSMA/CA).



Fig. 3 – IEEE 802.15.4 operational modes [8]

# V2G communications based on SMS

In the scope of this paper, efforts have been made in the V2G communications implementation [9]. The used onboard unit consists in a microprocessor, a GPS module and a GSM/GPRS module with a SIM card. The implemented test bed includes the LinkSprite GSM/GPRS module named SM5100B [10], a miniature single-side board, quad-band GSM 850/EGSM 900/DCS 1800/PCS 1900.

#### V2G communication required information

The considered information includes the following fields [11]:

- Vehicle/onboard unit identification; (using SIM module ID)
- Vehicle location; (using GPS and the GSM Cell ID)
- Vehicle speed; (using GPS)
- Charging station(s) location; (GPS)
- Driving destination;
- Driving cycle history; (supported on a high rate communication e.g. IEEE 802.11.b/g)
- Power demand profile;
- Power supplied or charged by the sources;
- Battery state of charge (SoC);
- Charging/discharging time and current data;
- Power electronics module parameters.

#### The Short Message Service (SMS)

The SMS is one of the most successful telecommunication services in terms of number of users and cost-effectiveness. SMS is supported by cellular networks such as GSM and UMTS. Initially the SMS specifications were written into the ETSI scope and included the service definition, network architecture, protocols and functionalities. Later, an innovative concept, the 3GPP, was created in order to define a radio access technology for a future generation cellular system that was intended to be global. The success of GSM system and its upgrades that include the GPRS and EDGE have led to the preservation of the GSM as a part of the future system's core.

The SMS provides short text messages transfer, in a connectionless mode, supported by the cellular networks radio resources. SMS offers a mean of sending messages, up to 160 characters (7 bit coding), to and from a mobile phone, fax machine and/or IP address [12]. SMS is a store and forward service that uses a Short Message Service Center (SMSC), to relay the messages from sender to the appropriate recipient. The cellular network, checks if the originating mobile station (MS) is allowed to use the short message service, by querying the Home Location Register (HLR) database. If the mobile is allowed to send the message, then MSC routes the short text message to the SMSC which must then direct it to the appropriate mobile device. The SMSC sends a SMS Request to the HLR in order to find the destination. The HLR responds to the query by sending the serving MSCs address of the terminating MS. The message in a Short Message Delivery Point-to-Point format is transferred from the SMSC to the serving system. Once the location of the receiver MS is found, the MSC further queries its Visitor Location Register (VLR) database, the system pages the recipient device, if it responds, the short message is delivered by the serving cell BSS. The final step in this protocol is the verification that the message was properly received [13].

#### The implemented data communication system

The implemented solution in this paper uses the well known AT commands in order to configure the message format, send a message and read, write and delete SMS messages. The 3GPP TS 27.005, (ETSI 07.05) specifies AT commands and interface protocols for control of SMS functions within a typical mobile cellular unit (e.g. SM5100B modem), from a remote terminal via an asynchronous interface [14].

In order to send SMS messages (V2G information), it is necessary to place a valid SIM card on the modem external socket that is directly connected with the Arduino Uno. The Arduino Uno presented in figure 4 is a microcontroller board based on the ATmega328. It has 14 digital input/output pins, 6 analog inputs, a 16 MHz crystal oscillator, and a USB connection. The serial communication between the Arduino Uno board and the SM5100B modem is established using TTL serial data.



Fig 4 - Arduino plus the GSM/GPRS shield containing the SM5100B modem

After that it is necessary to verify if the modem is waiting for a Personal Identification Number (PIN) using for example the AT command "AT+CPIN?". In order to overcome this step it is advisable to disable the PIN usage before place the SIM card on the modem. In order to operate in text mode it is necessary to set the cellular modem for that purpose using the command "AT+CMGF". To send a SMS message, the microprocessor should write the following command: AT+CMGS= "+35196xxxxxx" <ENTER>. If the modem responds positively the message text can be inserted reporting the available EV information following a proprietary protocol. The message is sent when the <CTRL><Z> is inserted.

In addition, it is necessary to configure the communication link in the opposite direction (grid to the vehicle). The EV receives information and/or commands also by SMSs. Thus, it is necessary to know how the newly arrived SMS messages should be handled by the modem. The command AT +CNMI is used to specify that the newly arrived SMS messages forward directly to the serial port disabling that way its storage in the SIM card. The information available in the serial port is handled by the micro processor that decodes the messages and/or commands and performs the required actions.

# Basic home automation system based on IEEE 802.15.4 communication

Home lighting and air conditioning are two very important systems to our well-being. However, they must be redesigned in order to increase energy efficiency. Nowadays home lighting systems use so far non efficient incandescent and fluorescent technologies instead of light emitting diode (LED) illumination. In addition, natural sunlight is not properly used in conjunction with artificial light resulting in excessive illumination in some daylight hours. Thus, future systems should be able of dimming the artificial light smartly based on light sensor information. Moreover, often lighting systems remain turned on unintentionally, even if nobody is in a particular room or office leading to severe energy inefficiencies.

In order to cope with the mentioned problems a simple prototype was developed in order to centrally switch on/off a particular room illumination based on human presence. It also monitors room temperature. The proposed solution is based on two different models modules: the sensor and the actuator. The communication between them (sensor and actuator) is performed using low power RF modules MRF24J40MA from Microchip [15]. The MRF24J40 is a 2.4 GHz transceiver that supports ZigBee and MiWi protocols over IEEE 802.15.4. However other private protocols can be used.



#### Fig 5 - Arduino plus the Microchip ZigBee MRF24J40 transceiver and sensors

The sensor module presented in Figure 5 has a motion sensor attached that must be installed on top of the room and one or more temperature sensors. The collected information (motion and temperature) is sent to the actuator module to perform both lighting system management and room temperature monitoring.

The microcontroller of sensor module was programmed as follows: every ten seconds, the room temperature is measured by each individual sensor being the obtained values transmitted to the actuator module. Thereafter, it stores the received temperature values in a database that can be accessed by Internet to monitoring purposes. The developed system does not implement any form of control over the air conditioning system, however from performed tests it is expected that future implementations integrate that functionality.

With a correct position of the motion sensor is possible to identify when people leave/came a/to a particular room. Thus, if the system identifies an empty room with the lights on it overrides manual mode and switch off the room lightning system. However, every time a movement is detected inside a likely empty room the module instantaneously switch on the lighting system. It is possible to know in real time what is happening in each module using an USB port to read the serial communications data. These readings can be accomplished using either the Arduino serial port or the Internet.

#### Conclusions

This paper presents a survey on wireless communication systems in order to investigate their feasibility for smart grid home area networks. Particular attention was devoted to cellular systems such as GSM/GPRS, EDGE and UMTS. Cellular systems offer ubiquitous coverage over existing network operators' infrastructure and low latency; however, the provision of data communication between smart entities and data aggregators is costly. This is because the network radio resources are shared with the mobile network users without QoS and availability guaranties. Moreover, offered QoS is directly related with the received radio signal strength and quality precluding high performance services usage in cells' boundaries.

The simple message service (SMS) common to all cellular systems is, however, very useful to support non-critical applications with low requirements such as home automation networks and alarms. Internet based services are possible using GPRS; EDGE and UMTS networks. Cellular systems coverage area extends the strictly HAN and is also available in neighborhood area network (NAN).

Wireless sensor networks are by nature skilled to interchange information between metering sensors and a data aggregator entity in a HAN scenario. Among the existent solutions ZigBee technology is probably the most suited for these application due to its inherent low power consumption, low cost of deployment, relatively large communication range (near to 100 m) and technical reliability supported on the IEEE 802.15.4 standardized protocol. Nevertheless, ZigBee operation at the 2.4 GHz frequency band is subject of interference from other radio systems and wireless networks that use the same part of the ISM band spectrum. The coordinated channels allocation on both network ZigBee and IEEE 802.11.g is complex but possible and simultaneous operation of both networks was considered in standardization.

The communication between EVs and the electrical grid, crucial to a reliable V2G implementation was analyzed in this paper. The EV location, speed, destination and parking status in conjunction with the batteries SoC is sent to a data aggregator entity using SMS supported by all the cellular networks. The retrieved data is then used to forecast the vehicle capacity to provide energy to the grid when parked. The EV might also furnish important statistics data such as the driving cycle history and the power demand profile using Wi-Fi when located on the home premises. The presented solution allows the V2G concept implementation by means of a more efficient energy management technique implementation on the smart grid.

### Acknowledgments

This work was supported in part by Portuguese FCT—Science and Technology Foundation, through the project grants MIT/SET/0018/2009, PTDC/EEA-EEL/121284/2010, and PEst- C/EEI/UI0308/2011.

#### References

- [1] Xi Fang, S. Misra, Guoliang Xue and Dejun Yang, *Smart Grid The New and Improved Power Grid: A Survey.* Can be downloaded at: <u>http://optimization.asu.edu/~xue/papers/SmartGrid Survey.pdf</u>
- [2] Vladimir Oksman, New ITU-T Recommendations for Smart Grid in-home and access communications. ETSI Smart Grid Workshops 5-6 April 2011, Sophia Antipolis.
- [3] 3GPP TS 45.005 version 10.0.0, *Radio transmission and reception*. Can be downloaded at: <u>http://www.3gpp.org/ftp/Specs/html-info/45005.htm</u>
- [4] C. Bettstetter, H.-J. Vogel, and J. Eberspacher, GSM phase 2+ general packet radio service GPRS: Architecture, protocols, and air interface, IEEE Communication Surveys, vol. 2, third quarter 1999.
- [5] Marcus L. Roberts, Michael A. Temple, Robert F. Mills, and Richard A. Raines *Evolution of the air interface of cellular communications systems toward 4G realization*, IEEE Communications. Surveys & Tutorials journal, Vol. 8, No.1st quarter 2006.
- [6] B. Li, Y. Qin, C.P. Low, and C.L. Gwee, *A Survey on Mobile WiMAX*, IEEE Communication Magazine, vol. 45, no. 2, pp. 70-75, Dec. 2007.
- [7] ZigBee Alliance, "ZigBee Specifications", version 1.0 r13, December 2006. Can be downloaded at: <u>http://www.zigbee.org/</u>
- [8] IEEE-TG15.4, "Part 15.4: Wireless Medium Access Control (MAC) and Physical Layer (PHY) Specifications for Low-Rate Wireless Personal Area Networks (WPANs)," IEEE standard for Information Technology, 2006.

- [9] Hugo Melo, João Trovão, Paulo Pereirinha, Humberto Jorge, *Electric Vehicles Intelligent Charger for Automated Energy Management System*, International Workshop on Energy Efficiency for a More Sustainable World, Univ. of Azores, São Miguel, 14-16 September 2012.
- [10] SM5100B Datasheet: Can be downloaded at: <u>http://www.sparkfun.com/datasheets/Cellular</u> Shield/SM5100B%20Datasheet.pdf
- [11] Huaqun Guo, Fan Yu N, W. C. Wong, Vivy Suhendra, Y. D. Wu Secure wireless communication platform for EV-to-Grid research, Proceedings of the 6th International Wireless Communications and Mobile Computing Conference, IWCMC '10, pp. 21-25, 2010.
- [12] Roshan D'Souza, Kariyappa B. S, Santhosh Kumar, Dr. M. Uttara Kumari "Protocol Implementation for Short Message Service over IP", 6th IEEE International Conference on Industrial and Information Systems (ICIIS 2011), pp 443 - 44716-19 Aug. 2011.
- [13] Jeff Brown, Bill Shipman, and Ron Vetter, "SMS: The Short Message Service" Computer, vol. 40 Issue 12, pp 106–110, Dec. 2007.
- [14] 3GPP TS 27.007 version 11.0.0, *AT command set for User Equipment (UE)*, Can be downloaded at: <u>http://www.3gpp.org/ftp/Specs/html-info/27007.htm</u>.
- [15] MRF24J40MA Data Sheet: Can be downloaded at: <u>http://ww1.microchip.com/downloads/en/</u> DeviceDoc/70329b.pdf

# Energy efficiency in Inovcity Évora

# Paulo Líbano Monteiro

# Inovgrid, Head of Solution Development, EDP Distribuição

# Abstract

EDP Distribuição, the Portuguese Distribution System Operator (DSO) for electricity, has been progressively developing a solution for the implementation of a smarter grid – the Inovgrid project. The municipality of Évora, in Portugal, was chosen as the ideal place to implement, measure, evaluate and enhance the Inovgrid solution – this specific implementation of the project is called the Inovcity.

The main objectives of Inovcity were (i) to validate the technical solution and its associated installation and operation processes, (ii) to validate the business case of the solution, evaluating its main costs and benefits and (iii) to promote energy efficiency and rational use of energy.

This paper intends to describe the energy efficiency results within the Inovcity, while giving an integrated view of the project that made possible those achievements and the importance of energy efficiency in the business case for the development of smart grids. Thus, the paper addresses the strategy of EDP for the smart grids, describes the main characteristics of the solution implemented in the Inovcity, highlights the most relevant benefits supporting the business case of such a solution, details the energy efficiency results obtained, presents the international cooperation context of the project and draws some conclusions focused on the results achieved and the next steps of the work.

# EDP's smart grids strategy

Inovgrid is EDP's umbrella project for smart grids. With this project, EDP Distribuição seeks to transform its distribution grid and position it as a robust answer to the main challenges ahead: the need for increased energy efficiency; the pressure to reduce costs and to increase operational efficiency; the commitment to keep and improve quality of service; the integration of a large share of dispersed renewables generation; the management of electric vehicles charging; the need to empower customers and to promote the development of new energy services. Beyond the technological aspects, project InovGrid is providing EDP Distribuição with the know-how and experience that will enable a smooth transition of the organization to the smart grid paradigm.

Inovgrid is a distinctive project in the European landscape because it combines a reasonable size (in its most known implementation in the city and region of Évora, the Inovcity) in terms of the number of customers reached, with a strong focus on the smart grid vision (as opposed to projects purely smart meter oriented). After compiling a catalogue of all European Smart Grid projects, the Joint Research Centre (JRC) of the European Commission (EC) has recognized the unique positioning of project Inovgrid by choosing it as the single case study on which to base the development of its "Guidelines for Conducting a Cost-Benefit Analysis of Smart Grid Projects" [1].

EDP believes that smart grids have the potential to help Distribution System Operators address the technical challenges posed by new technologies, such as dispersed generation and electric vehicles, while contributing to the ever-present challenges of efficiency and quality of service. The evolution towards a smarter grid is touching a number of different areas at EDP Distribuição, supporting the various components of the solution presented in figure 1. With project Inovgrid, we seek an integrated approach to this change process.



Figure 1: Smart grid components

# Évora Inovcity

The main development of project Inovgrid so far has been the implementation of a Smart Grid infrastructure in the Portuguese municipality of Évora, called the Inovcity [2]. The infrastructure spans the entire municipality, around 1.300 km<sup>2</sup>, reaching around 31.000 electricity customers with an annual consumption of approximately 270 GWh, and encompasses 340 secondary substations. Additionally, there are 140 medium voltage customers with an annual consumption of 110 GWh. In this non-residential segment, industrial activities account for 57% of electricity use, while services account for 34% and agriculture and other activities for the remaining 9%.

Évora Inovcity is a living lab for the Inovgrid project, with a set of different initiatives in several areas of the electricity grid and involving multiple players of the local community. The field implementation of the project took place during 2010 and 2011. Tuning of the solution, mainly in what concerns communications, systems and processes occurred essentially in 2011/2012.

In order to make visible and promote the Inovcity, EDP built a project showroom in one of the main squares of the city (Praça do Sertório), and ensured that several points of interest could be found in that same square, making it easier to explain and to understand, in short organized visits, the relevant characteristics of the solution. Thus, one can find, within a very short area, the following demo-sites as depicted in figure 2:

- the Inovcity showroom, presenting a demo-station with the main physical components of the implemented solution, several video presentations about smart grids and the Inovcity, a set of devices for in-home energy monitoring and control;
- the Vinyl Café, equipped with an EDP Box and energy control devices, presenting a real use case of the interaction with the costumer;
- the City Hall, where energy consumption and own production are presented, together with other information, in a totem at the entrance of the building;
- efficient public lighting system, based on LED luminaries with advanced sensing and remote control;

- electric vehicle public charging station;
- underground automated secondary substation, equipped with Distribution Transformer Controller (DTC) for monitoring and control, and EDP Boxes for metering the power transformers; this dual transformer secondary substation includes also the automation devices and a multiple sensors system for ambient and transformer oil temperature, humidity, melted fuse in feeders, door open.



Figure 2: Demo sites in the Inovcity (Sertório square, Évora)

From a technical perspective, the architecture of the system deployed in Évora includes the following components:

- EDP Boxes (EB), installed in all low voltage customers, offering advanced smart meter functionalities, such as real time readings on demand, load diagrams, voltage monitoring and remote services (connect/disconnect, contracted power and tariff setup, tampering alarms, etc.); it also offers a local connection for establishing a Home Area Network (HAN), allowing the consumer to access the information in the EB in real time (ZigBee and WiFi technologies have been used for the HAN);
- Distribution Transformer Controllers (DTC) installed in every secondary substation, acting as data concentrators and local measuring, monitoring and automation devices (power quality monitoring, medium voltage switching, local sensors, etc.); the DTC controls every EB connected to its low voltage network, independently of the technology used for communications;
- A communications network based on Power Line Carrier (PLC) and GPRS technologies between EBs and DTC (Radio Frequency Mesh has been also tested), and based on GPRS or any other TCP/IP supporting technology for connecting DTCs to the central systems;

 Central commercial system (head end + meter data management) for metering data and low voltage SCADA-like system for grid operation data, both communicating with DTCs, but using different protocols.



Figure 3: Inovgrid architecture

The mix of components and technical architecture used in Évora, depicted in figure 3, goes well beyond smart metering, serving other applications such as LV substation monitoring and automation.

# The business case

Inovgrid embraces all the different aspects of the smart grid ecosystem, from the central information systems to the end users, from the smart meter to the electric vehicle charging infrastructure, and being an open platform by construction it fosters innovation from all the participants in the ecosystem and provides the favourable environment that allows the evolution and creation of new business models, services and products that will ultimately benefit the different stakeholders.

The business case for Inovgrid is based on a set of benefits of the project accruing to several stakeholders, including the DSO itself, electricity users, electricity retailers, producers, energy services companies, and the economic and ecological impact in society in general. The deployment in Évora provided ample evidence about many of these benefits.

The diagram in figure 4 illustrates the main estimated and/or measured benefits of the project. For each of those benefits, Inovgrid created a team responsible for analysing, promoting and measuring it, whenever possible. This effort paid well, because it allowed EDP Distribuição to reach and measure some relevant results supporting the business case, and definitely contributed to the credibility of the project.



Figure 4: Areas of benefit of the project

The evidence obtained has supported EDP's assessment of the societal implications and cost-benefit analysis of a full smart grids rollout and the conclusion that smart grids have the potential to create substantial value for the society as a whole. Meanwhile, an independent study commissioned by the Portuguese regulator (ERSE) and produced by KEMA [3] reached very similar results and conclusions. The graph in figure 5 illustrates how the main benefits of a smart grid rollout are divided among different value drivers, in EDP's business case analysis.



Energy efficiency is the most important value driver

Figure 5: Main benefits

# Energy efficiency results from the Inovcity

From the beginning of the pilot in Évora, EDP understood the crucial impact of energy efficiency on the value of the project. Considering the critical role that customer engagement plays as a prerequisite to change behaviours and increase energy efficiency, EDP implemented in Évora a mix of initiatives aimed at raising awareness about the project and creating a special Inovcity dynamic. Key stakeholders were identified and multiple initiatives were designed to target specific customer groups and other stakeholders, such as schools, energy professionals and local authorities. Several activities of communication and dissemination of the project were key to get the involvement of different stakeholders, as shown in figure 6: the Inovcity showroom, the Energy Bus, the information spread around the city of Évora, the organization of Conferences and events, the presence in the local press or even the public sessions held for customers' clarifications of the project. Additionally, surveys were used to continuously monitor customer behaviour and guide communication decisions.



Figure 6: Local initiatives promoted awareness about the project

Regarding residential low voltage clients, a very broad study, including data from more than 30 thousand customers was developed together with Qmetrics, an independent company specialized in market studies and integrating university Professors from Universidade Nova de Lisboa. The basis of the study consisted in monitoring the electricity consumption of customers in Évora and comparing it to a control group in a nearby municipality, with similar socioeconomic and climatic conditions. An evaluation of results was done after gathering an initial 12 month of data, and their persistence was evaluated by monitoring consumption for an additional year.

The group under evaluation had their meter replaced by an EDP Box, started receiving monthly invoices based on real consumption (instead of estimates), had the possibility to monitor their consumption online (web portal) and were exposed to the general project communication effort in Évora, which included generic energy efficiency advice.

#### Average daily consumption between 2010 and 2012 [kWh]



Figure 7: Average daily consumption between 2010 and 2012

The results in terms of energy efficiency, shown in figure 7, were highly encouraging: in the first year an average reduction of consumption of 3.9% vs. the control group was observed. Furthermore, this was a statistically significant result, with the result falling in the interval of 1.8% to 6% for a 95% confidence interval (2.1% error margin). This applies to the whole Inovcity, around 31.000 consumers, assuming basically indirect feedback.

The data gathered so far also shows that the effect is persistent (4.4% energy reduction in the second year), at least two years after the project was launched. This result of about 4% increase in energy efficiency provides a comfortable margin when compared with the conservative estimate of 2% used in EDP's business case. The previously mentioned study performed by KEMA [3] considered several analytical scenarios, using figures of 1% and 2% for energy efficiency using indirect feedback, and 3% for direct feedback using in-home displays.



#### Costumer Interest in New Services related with Energy Efficiency (1-10)

Figure 8: Costumer interest in new services for energy efficiency

Beyond the impact of the project in the general population of Évora, EDP used the pilot to test the impact of more sophisticated smart grids products and services, using smaller test groups. The first step consisted in conducting surveys and focus group sessions to understand customers' preferences, whose results are presented in figure 8. From several possible new services (such as alerts, in-home displays, applications for delivering useful information and tariffs), customers elected the alerts as the most interesting ones. Pre-payment was considered the least interesting service.

In order to touch different customer segments, several innovative services were tested in a set of customers ranging from large companies to individuals. Aspects like energy efficiency, CO<sup>2</sup> reduction, energy consumption reduction, smart consumption patterns were taken into account in providing

these innovative services, which targeted not only economic aspects but also social and behavioural aspects.

EDP's desire to promote the active participation of customers was reflected in the technical specification of the EDP Boxes, which are prepared to accept a HAN module that allows the flow of information from the EDP Box to the customer premises, interacting in real time with devices such as in-home displays, energy controllers or the customer's WiFi router (figure 9), thus providing direct feedback.

In Évora, EDP provided in-home displays to a test group of customers and instructed them on how to use this data for their own benefit. Complementary, for another test group, simulated tariffs were introduced to allow customers to compare their real consumption pattern with what they would have achieved if they had chosen a different tariff and rewarding their energy efficiency. Frequent surveys were conducted near the target population to have a deep understanding of the evolving customers' perception, and focus groups were organized to extract additional feedback. For both, groups alerts were sent to customers based on individual consumption information (e.g. SMS, email). Results from these two groups are also encouraging, with observed increases in energy efficiency of around 7% (6.7% to 6.9%), but a higher error margin.



Figure 9: Home Area Network (HAN) interaction

Inovgrid technology is currently used as an open platform, based on public standards, by other independent companies developing new in-home tools and services supporting customers' involvement, which allow to deeply empowering consumers to make smart decisions about electricity consumption. Customer innovative products are under test, leveraging on Inovgrid platform but developed by independent companies.

So far results for heavy consumption customers' with sophisticated energy management systems, like Hospitals, Museums, Public Buildings and others show that significant energy savings are achievable and gains between 12% and 20% of consumption reduction were observed.

# International cooperation

The Inovgrid project is being developed in close cooperation with several organizations including Research Institutes and Universities across Europe, Industrial Partners, Local and National Authorities, Energy Sector Associations and Regulators, the involved Communities and other relevant stakeholders. Delegations from more than 30 countries from all continents, ranging from Australia to China, or Brazil to Angola, have visited Inovcity Évora.

The company participates in several European projects with major R&D components included in FP7 or IEE programs which foster innovative beyond the state of the art research and validation across different European Member States. EDP Distribuição leading a consortium of 8 partners was chosen to implement a major European Research and Development project named Sustainable. Partners include several R&D Institutions like INESC Porto, Comillas University from Madrid, National Technical University of Athens, University of Manchester or the Technical University of Berlin. The focus is the shift of paradigm in the distribution network concept of operation which strongly leverages in recent smart grid projects and aims at an increasing capacity of renewable energy hosting, allowing decarbonizing the economy. Other relevant projects where EDP participates is the EcoGrid project, which is an European project whose objective is the development of a new type of market with electricity prices in near real-time information, and which was nominated in the UN Conference of Sustainable Development (Rio+20) in June 2012 as one of the 100 most sustainable projects in the world, and it was one of the 10 finalists in the category of "Best IT Solution".

From a universe of more than 200 Smart Grid projects under development in Europe, compiled in a Smart Grids Project Catalogue by the Joint Research Centre Institute for Energy and Transport (JRC) and Eurelectric in 2011, Inovgrid was selected as the single case study for testing and validation of the EPRI Business Case assessment methodology. Following this selection and building in the work done at European level, Inovgrid was assigned the "Core Project" label [4] from the European Electricity Grid Initiative (EEGI), being one of the 4 projects that achieved it so far and being the only national project of the group. This shows full commitment and alignment between the identified European project needs and Inovgrid project, not only targeting new technological developments but also a very strong focus on customer service innovation. Figure 10 illustrates this international involvement.



Figure 10: International cooperation in Inovgrid

# Conclusions

Results from Évora provide ample support for EDP's business case for a nationwide rollout. Furthermore, EDP's results are aligned with those of the Portuguese regulator in concluding that the rollout of the Inovgrid solution would create value for society.

Consumer engagement is key to unlock the smart grid potential. Utilities face big issues today as they search to maximize consumer engagement – being able to manage the millions of data available, understanding the new and all different consumers, being able to build-in innovations in their operations and also focusing on maximizing value for all stakeholders.

Évora is a living lab for the Inovgrid project, with different valences from smart metering, public lighting, electric vehicles, energy efficiency and Client interaction, and the project has developed a strong involvement of local stakeholders and population which was key for its success

The results of the Energy Efficiency Study in Évora show that the implementation of a Smart Grids infrastructure led to an increase in energy efficiency of around 4%. Additionally, new products & services are being tested on selected segments of customers to understand the impact of different incentives in consumer behaviour.

EDP Distribuição is looking ahead in the smart grids and consumer engagement topic: first, it plans to install an additional 100k EDP Boxes in 6 locations with different network characteristics in Portugal; secondly, EDP Distribuição is aligned with the most important standardization projects in Europe and actively participates in several international forums and projects.

# References

- [1] Giordano V, Sánchez M., et all. *Guidelines for Conducting a Cost-Benefit Analysis of Smart Grid Projects*. Publications Office of the European Union, 2012. ISBN 978-92-79-23338-8. Can be downloaded at: <u>http://ec.europa.eu/energy/gas\_electricity/smartgrids/smartgrids\_en.htm</u>
- [2] <u>http://www.inovcity.pt/en/Pages/homepage.aspx</u>
- [3] KEMA, *Estudo sobre contadores inteligentes de electricidade e de gás natural*, Reports 1E/G, 2E/G and 3E/G for ERSE, February 2012. Can be downloaded at: <u>http://www.erse.pt/pt/consultaspublicas/consultas/Paginas/40\_1.aspx</u>
- [4] The European Electricity Grids Initiative, EEGI Newsletter, Issue #2, 26.11.2012, p. 3. Can be downloaded at: <u>http://www.gridplus.eu/publicationsandresults/newsletter</u>

# SMARTplug: Using smart devices for a managed charge of electric vehicles

Ricardo P. Faria\*, Víctor C. Ramirez\*\*, Pedro S. Moura\*, José I. Moreno\*\*, Joaquim B. Delgado\*, Aníbal T. de Almeida\*

# \* Institute of Systems and Robotics, University of Coimbra, Coimbra, Portugal \*\* Telematic Engineering Department, Carlos III University, Madrid, Spain

# Abstract

Electric vehicles are seen as an option to reduce greenhouse emissions from the transportation sector and their number on the road is growing in a daily basis. However, with their widespread adoption the increase in the demand for electricity to charge these vehicles could pose significant challenges to the electrical grid in terms of additional load due to unmanaged charge strategies. In order to mitigate this problem, the charging of the electrical vehicles must be managed. This paper presents the development of a hardware and software architecture to dynamically control the charge of electric vehicles to maintain the proper operation of the local distribution grid, by reducing the possibility of power outages due to overload, in a Smart Grid context. The hardware consists in two modules, a meter and controllable plugs both with communication capabilities, while the software consusts in a load forecast and scheduler module. The load forecast is calculated based on the power consumption behavior and is used to assign the best time slot to charge the vehicle. The system aims to minimize the load peaks and flatten the load profile.

Based on the user preferences, system characteristics and consumption forecast, the system will assign the most suitable time slot to charge the electric vehicle. For the case of multiple electric vehicles, the system will schedule their charge based on a calculated priority level, in order to maintain a reliable operation of the local electrical grid.

#### 1. Introduction

Electric Vehicles (EVs) are expected to have a large share in the future of the transportation system in order to reduce the share of Greenhouse Gas (GHG) emissions associated to personal transport and also due to the increasing costs of fossil fuels [1] [2]. This electrification of the transport system will cause an additional load on the electric grid, since the EVs will require a connection to the grid to charge the batteries. Currently, due to the EVs low penetration rate the additional load imposed to the grid by the vehicles charging is not an issue, however in the future, with a higher penetration rate, this could bring serious consequences to the grid reliability due to overload [3] [4]. The main problem is not in the extra energy required to charge the batteries, since the grid has enough capacity, but the peak load of the charging [5] [6].

Since the majority of EVs will be charged at home, it is expected that the vehicle will be plugged in when their owners get home, at the end of the afternoon. This behavior will lead to a considerable additional load that can overload the grid. In order to mitigate these problems, the charging cycle of EVs must be managed in some way [7]. This concept of coordinate charging is being explored due to the wake of smart grids, where the exchange of information using several communication technologies can improve the efficiency, reliability, economics, and sustainability of the production and distribution of electricity [5] [8]. Coordinate charging can also be beneficial for grids with a large share of renewable energy sources by absorbing the excess energy produced [9].

Alternatives to uncoordinated charging are currently being investigated by using devices with bidirectional communication capabilities to perform a coordinated charging [10] [11] [12]. This type of coordination is intended to minimize the negative impacts on the grid, due to a large number of vehicles charging at the same time by distributing this charge over a large period of time, flattening the load peak. Efficient operation in a smart grid environment usually is focused in reducing energy losses and increasing efficiency [13] [14], in this paper the focus is in maintain the grid stability by avoiding the overload due to the uncoordinated introduction of additional loads.

# 2. Motivation and Problem Definition

Intelligent control over the introduction of new loads into the grid has the potential to provide economic benefits since peak demands affect the grid investments and operational costs [15] [16]. Minimizing demand peaks by distributing the load over a longer period of time will contribute to reducing the transmission and distribution losses, since these losses grow with the square of the current, and stress in the grid equipment [17] [25]. In order to flatten the load profile, some utilities apply different price rates depending on the time of day to encourage customers to shift the use of certain appliances, such as washing machines, to off peak hours when electricity price is cheaper. This approach contributes to the reduction of peak demand, however this implies active consumer involvement which can be difficult to manage. Relying on consumers to manage their energy consumption to off peak hours can work during an initial period, where they are motivated by the novelty and savings that can be achieved, however after this initial period they will start to revert to old habits. Using an automated system that takes into account user preferences, to manage the loads is a better solution since the system will automatically adapt by continuously evaluating the grid status and could also allow the utility to disconnect/connect loads in certain situations [18] [19] [22].

Since EVs are a significant load (around 3.6 kW during the charging cycle of the EV, which can last up to 6-8 hours), the use of an automated load management system can contribute to an automated demand response program controlled by the grid. This demand response system refers to the ability to reduce loads at peak times to lighten the need for peaking generation sources. These power plants are usually gas turbines that burn natural gas, due to their fast response, and since they only supply power occasionally, the price per kilowatt hour is much higher when compared with the price for base load power plants. The shift of these loads to off peak hours can also contribute to a reduction of GHG emissions due to an increasing in the efficiency of gas and coal power plants [24].

Loads equipped with communication and control capabilities can be aggregated and dispatched to help to manage the grid. This load aggregation can provide the same regulation as ancillary services, nowadays provided by power plants. This regulation is very valuable since it provides real time matching between load and generation. Without this equilibrium the grid frequency will drift up or down affecting the quality of service [20] [21] [25]. Despite the benefits for the network in terms of increased reliability, this service provided by EVs is also beneficial since it will have a financial revenue associated [22].

Nowadays this regulation is achieved by forecasting the load based on past data and dispatch of generation accordingly, however this load following approach becomes more difficult as the share of renewable generation increases. The intermittent nature of renewable energy sources, such as wind and solar, makes very difficult to predict with certainty their contribution to the total generation and can require more conventional generation sources used as backup to provide ancillary services and regulation to the grid.

The introducing in the market of vehicles with the capability to be plugged into the grid associated with a daily commute distance under 50 km (which requires up to 10 kWh of energy) for the majority of the users will make the EV one of the major energy consuming devices in a household. An EV charging, using a Level 2 charging station will draw 3.6 kW of power during around 3 hours per day for a 50 km commute. Based on the commute profile of the users, is reasonable to expect that EVs will be plugged in at least during 8 hours per day (or more if the EV is also plugged in at work and not necessarily charging during this period) which is more than the required time to restore the energy spent, resulting in a flexibility that also can be harnessed to provide grid services while ensuring the requirements of the user.

EVs could be an excellent demand dispatch resource given their potential for rapid response (can be turned on or off in a matter of seconds), the significant amount of power that they can draw during large periods of time and expected market penetration. It is possible, that in the future, a significant part of the ancillary services to provide regulation to the grid will rely on EVs.

# 3. SMARTplug System Architecture

This paper presents the development of a hardware and software architecture for demand response, where the main goal is to manage in real time the additional load introduced by EVs when charging at home, avoiding triggering the installation protections due to overload (Figure 1). This management

also intends to flatten the load profile by shifting the peaks to the valleys based on user preferences, EV battery State of Charge SoC and local installation power capabilities. The system requires the following parameters from the user:

- Contracted power: Defines the maximum amount of power that can be used from the grid without tripping the installation protections. If at a given moment the present or foretasted power reaches 80% of this value, the electric vehicle is disconnected or the time slot is considered invalid for charge, respectively.
- Vehicle charger power: Specifies the amount of power that the electric vehicle will draw during the charge cycle (for a Level 2 charger this value is around 3.6 kW).
- Battery SoC required: Specifies the maximum state of charge for the electric vehicle.
- Unplug time: This time defines the deadline to achieve the required battery state of charge.
- Energy tariffs: Specifies the different costs of the consumed energy to different time periods. If several time slots are suitable to charge the electric vehicle, the chosen one will be the one with the lower tariff.



# Figure 1: Scenario where is possible to implement the SMARTplug system. The system is aimed for a residential environment, with a single or multiple charge points.

#### Hardware Architecture

The system, described as SMARTplug, is composed by two main devices, an energy meter and a smart plug (Figure 2), both with communication, data storage and local processing capabilities. The energy meter is installed on the feed point of the infrastructure, to measure in real time the global energy consumption, while the smart plug will replace the standard plug used to charge the EV. The energy meter will also store the load diagram from at least the previous three weeks. Depending on the number of charging points for EVs, it is possible to have multiple intelligent plugs in the same infrastructure, but only one energy meter is required. For a single charging point it is possible to integrate these two devices into one to avoid complexity and reduce costs.

The stored data is used to forecast the load during the time when the electric vehicle is plugged in and to assign a time slot to charge the EVs. If the EV is plugged in eight hours and only requires two hours to achieve the desired SoC, the time slot chosen will be the one with the lower tariff, with the lower footprint and the lower impact on the load diagram in terms of peak power.

Both devices have a dedicated energy measurement unit that calculates all the relevant parameters (voltage, current, energy, power and power factor). The micro-controller communicates with the energy measurement unit through RS-485, and stores the power data each minute. The smart plug additionally has a solid state relay used to turn on and off the power. The communication between the two devices is currently done by RS-232, but another communication interfaces could be used.



# Figure 2: SMARTplug system architecture with the energy meter (top) and the smart plug (bottom).

#### **Software Architecture**

In terms of software architecture, the SMARTplug system has three main components: a load forecast module, a classifier module and a scheduler module. The Load Forecast module is responsible to forecast the load based on previous data. This module uses the power data stored by the energy meter, excluding the contribution from EVs charging stations, for the global power consumption. The forecast is performed by using the average previous data for the same time frame and taking into account if it is a weekday or weekend, since the load diagram varies significantly from weekday to weekend. The forecast is performed with a five minutes interval, despite the data being stored each minute.

The Classifier module (Figure 3) is responsible by the analyses of the time slots where the charge of the EV may occur and classify them as valid or invalid. This module will run when the EV is plugged in and based the load forecast, electricity price, contracted power and power draw by the vehicle will determine a set of valid time frames to charge. The load forecast for a given timeslot considers the past five identical timeslots (e.g. the load from the previous five days at 15:00 hours) and is calculated using Equation 1.

#### **Equation 1**

 $L_t = \sum_{n=1}^5 \propto_n \cdot L_n$ 

Where  $L_n$  is one of the past timeslots and  $\propto_n$  the weight factor considered for that timeslot. A given time slot is only valid if the contracted power is higher than the load forecast plus the power draw by the vehicle. The availability of a time slot is calculated using Equation 2:

#### **Equation 2**

$$A_{vt} = P_{cont} - (F_{pt} + SM) - P_{ch}$$

Where  $P_{cont}$  is the contracted power,  $F_{pt}$  is power consumption forecast for time T,  $P_{ch}$  is the power of the EV charger (3.6 kW for Level 2) and SM is a safety margin (0.2 kW). From Figure 3 in the validation of availability, depending on the ratio between  $A_{vt}$  and  $P_{ch}$ . a grade is assigned. The values for the grade were chosen arbitrarily to penalize time slots with high energy tariffs and demand forecast.



# Figure 3: Diagram for the classifier implemented in the SMARTplug system. The classifier determines the valid time slots to charge the EV based on the load forecast, electricity price and planned power consumption.

The Scheduler module (Figure 4) is responsible by the generation of a charge plan. After the validation of the time slots, the planner will assign the best slot to charge the vehicle, based on load requirements (in this case the load is the EV).



Figure 4: Diagram for the scheduler implemented in the SMARTplug system. The scheduler generates a charge plan based on the available time slots and load requirements.

The load requirements are the capacity of the battery, the SoC of the battery when the vehicle is plugged in, the required SoC and the time of unplug. Based on these parameters the charge requirements are calculated using Equation 3:

#### **Equation 3**

$$T_{cr} = \frac{(B_{cap} - B_{cap} \times \frac{SoC_{ini}}{100})}{P_{ch}}$$

Where  $T_{cr}$  is the required time to charge in hours,  $SoC_{ini}$  is the initial SoC in % and  $B_{cap}$  in kWh is the useful battery capacity (on the Nissan Leaf from the 24 kWh only 20 kWh are useful). The feasibility is only validated if a set of available time slots required to charge the vehicle are less or equal than the ones available. If several sets of time slots are available to charge the vehicle, the chosen one will be the one with less impact in the load diagram.

#### Load Diagram Analyses

To understand the extent in which the management of the additional load introduced by EVs could be controlled by a system with minimal intervention by the user, it is important to have detailed information regarding the energy consumption during a large period of time. Figure 5 represents the load diagram for an average European household [23].



Figure 5: Load diagram, by type, for an average European residence during a day [23].

From Figure 5 it can be seen that the majority of the power consumption occurs between 17:00 and 00:00 and between 01:00 and 07:00 the consumption reaches its minimum. By analyzing the load diagram, is visible that the best time to charge an EV is between 01:00 and 07:00, however this implies that the user must plug in the vehicle or program it to charge during this period. Despite this being a valid solution, this implies active participation from the user, and as referenced before, cannot be guaranteed that the charging will occur at optimal times.

Figure 6 and Figure 7 show an extract of a load diagram for two residences that were monitored, A and B, for a weekend and three days of the week [23]. These load diagrams are only for the household loads, excluding EVs. By observing the load diagrams it is visible that the consumption is concentrated in specific points in time and is very similar from day to day. For a given residence the load diagram tends to be very stable for works days and weekends. Based on these facts and using consumption data gathered over time, the consumption for the next 12 hours can be predicted. Without access to this information it would be very difficult to the user to choose the ideal time to start charging the vehicle. The benefits of an automated system over the common approach, where the user is responsible for the process of start charging the vehicle, is that the system can choose the best time to charge the EV taking into account several variables.



Figure 6: Load diagram for three weekdays (top) and for a weekend (bottom), for residence A.



Figure 7: Load diagram for three weekdays (top) and for a weekend (bottom), for residence B.

To assess the impact that an EV can have in the energy and power consumption of a residence, the load profile during the charging cycle must be analyzed. Figure 8 presents the load profile of a Nissan Leaf for full charge and for a partial charge. The full charge absorbed 20.6 kWh of energy from the grid at an approximately constant rate of 3.6 kW during a period of five and a half hours. The profile of a partial charge is identical to the one of a full charge, except in the duration. This partial charge has absorbed 5.5 kWh during one and a half hour. For an EV with an energy consumption of 150 Wh/km, a charge of 20 kWh will provide a range of about 130 km, while a charge of 6 kWh will be suitable for 40 km.



Figure 8: Charge profile for the Nissan Leaf over a full charge cycle (blue), with an energy consumption of 20 kWh over five and a half hours, and a partial charge cycle (red), with an energy consumption of 5.5 kWh over one hour and a half.

Figure 9 and Figure 10 present the impact of the additional load imposed by the EV in different scenarios, where the EV is plugged at 19:00 and must be fully charged at 08:00. The managed charge is based on the load forecast while the real load profile is presented for comparison. Figure 9 represents the impact of a partial unmanaged charge, where the vehicle starts charging when is plugged, and for a managed scenario, managed by the SMARTplug system.



Figure 9: Load diagram (real and forecasted) for a household with an EV unmanaged (EV\_PCDC) and managed (EV\_PCSC) partial charge. The vehicle is plugged in at 19:00 hours and must be charged at 08:00. The charge takes two hours and consumes 7.2 kWh.



# Figure 10: Load diagram (real and forecasted) for a household with an EV unmanaged (EV\_PCDC) and managed (EV\_PCSC) full charge. The vehicle is plugged in at 19:00 hours and must be charged at 08:00. The charge takes six hours and consumes around 21 kWh.

Observing Figure 9, it is noticeable that the managed charge has a better performance than the unmanaged charge since it will occur in the valley of the load diagram that take place during the night, when the energy is cheaper. The managed charge also reduces the peak power required to charge the vehicle, since it only tries to charge it when the forecasted power consumption for the household, in a given time period, is minimum. If the vehicle is plugged in only at 23:00 hours the peak power will be much higher and the household protections could be tripped due to overload. The benefit of a managed charge is more visible for full charge cycles where a large amount of power is drawn over a long period of time (Figure 10).

In this approach a simple forecast algorithm was used and by observing the load diagram from Figure 9 is noticeable that for given time periods the load forecast will not follow the real load accurately. This happens for periods where the load variation for a given time period is not very constant during the past days. Upgrading it to consider the different types of loads found in a household and include a model based on their use could improve the load forecast, however this approach would require a more extensive configuration of the system.

If multiple EVs are charge at the same time, the algorithm takes into account the charge plan of the remaining (their load is considered in the load forecast) vehicle. The system will give priority to the vehicles with tighter deadlines to achieve a pre-determined battery SoC. If a given vehicle cannot meet the user requirements, the user intervention is required to change the parameters.

# 4. Future Work

Despite the system architecture described previously being intended to be used in a residential infrastructure; it can be scaled to be implemented at the grid level. Since the same working concept could be applied (a smart meter installed on the feed point manages the smart plugs). In this case, the system architecture is divided into tiers and areas based on the power level and feed transformers, where each tier is associated with a power level and areas are associated to a given feed transformer. This approach decentralizes the decision making, where only the transformers directly affected by the power overload in a given area take action (by broadcasting a command to turn off loads). The control of the system, by a centralized entity, is also possible by introducing virtual loads into a given area to bind off loads. This capability is key for the implementation in a smart grid environment. The scalability of this system to manage other type of loads can be easily implemented, by installing additional smart plugs and setup a load profile, since each load has its own requirements. In terms of software, adjusting the time granularity, for the load forecast and planner/scheduler algorithm, based on the load diagram will contribute to reduce redundant calculations and speed up the algorithm.

Depending on the loads types, it is also possible to implement a strategy that will adjust the amount of power that each load requires in order to maintain the stability and avoid disconnecting loads. The use of a load balancing algorithm is also possible by charging the vehicle between power peaks.

# 5. Conclusion

In the future EVs will have an active contribution in the electrical grid management, due to a significant penetration ratio, by being able to absorb and inject power in a smart grid environment (Nissan already has a device that allows the EV to provide electricity to a household). However, nowadays even with a low penetration ratio of EVs and with the smart grid in an embryonic stage it is already possible to develop solutions that can implement some concepts from the smart grid. The capacity to inject power into the grid will lead to additional cycling of the EV battery, and contributes to accelerate the battery aging, however this impact will depend on the frequency that the grid will require this service. Due to cheaper electronics, standardization and mass use of communication infrastructures it is possible to develop a system than can be integrated in a smart grid, by implementing state of the art concepts without or with minimal intervention from the consumer, simply by updating the software in the device. By using a system similar to the described, the charging of an EV is straightforward and situations that can pose a risk to the household electrical system can be mitigated.

Despite the system architecture presented be originally targeted to provide a managed control of the charging cycle of EVs, it can easily be adapted to manage other loads in the household, however, this additional capability must take into account the load characteristics. With the evolution of the smart grid, both in terms of communication and management algorithms, this system can also be upgraded to integrate the new control strategies by simply updating the software and installing a new network interface card. Currently, demand side management requires the active consumer involvement, which is not very effective. By relying on a system that only requires the consumer input to specify its preferences, it can be shown that the additional load due to the charge of EVs can be easily integrated in the daily load diagram of a household without contributing to increase the peak demand. The system is also able to detected abnormal situations and notify the consumer (when it is not possible to meet the charge requirements) or act accordingly (when the EV is charging and overload situation is imminent the charge is stopped).

# 6. Acknowledgment

This work has been framed under the Energy for Sustainability Initiative of the University of Coimbra and supported by the FEDER/COMPETE FCT Grant MIT/MCA/0066/2009 (Economic and Environmental Sustainability of Electric Vehicle Systems) and FEDER/PORC FCT Grant CENTRO-07-0224-FEDER-002004 (EMSURE – Energy and Mobility for Sustainable Regions).

# 7. References

- [1] Electric Power Research Institute. *The power to reduce CO2 emissions*. Discussion paper, Electric Power Research Institute; 2007.
- [2] EPRI. *Electric powertrains: opportunities and challenges in the US light-duty vheicle fleet.* Report; May 2007.
- [3] Robert C. Green II, Lingfeng Wang, Mansoor Alam, *The impact of plug-in hybrid electric vehicles on distribution networks: A review and outlook*, Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, Volume 15, Issue 1, January 2011, Pages 544-553
- [4] Lopes, J.A.P.; Soares, F.J.; Almeida, P.M.R., *Integration of Electric Vehicles in the Electric Power System,* Proceedings of the IEEE, vol.99, no.1, pp.168,183, Jan. 2011
- [5] Verzijlbergh, R.A.; Grond, M.O.W.; Lukszo, Z.; Slootweg, J.G.; Ilic, M.D., Network Impacts and Cost Savings of Controlled EV Charging, IEEE Transactions on Smart Grid, , vol.3, no.3, pp.1203,1212, Sept. 2012

- [6] Bauer, P.; Yi Zhou; Doppler, J.; Stembridge, N., Charging of electric vehicles and impact on the grid, MECHATRONIKA, 2010 13th International Symposium, vol., no., pp.121,127, 2-4 June 2010
- [7] Minghong Peng, Lian Liu, Chuanwen Jiang, A review on the economic dispatch and risk management of the large-scale plug-in electric vehicles (PHEVs)-penetrated power systems, Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, Volume 16, Issue 3, April 2012, Pages 1508-1515
- [8] Ipakchi, A.; Albuyeh, F., *Grid of the future,* Power and Energy Magazine, IEEE, vol.7, no.2, pp.52,62, March-April 2009
- [9] Khodayar, M.E.; Lei Wu; Shahidehpour, M., Hourly Coordination of Electric Vehicle Operation and Volatile Wind Power Generation in SCUC, Smart Grid, IEEE Transactions on , vol.3, no.3, pp.1271,1279, Sept. 2012
- [10] Dahai Han; Jie Zhang; Yongjun Zhang; Wanyi Gu, Convergence of sensor networks/internet of things and Power Grid Information Network at aggregation layer, Power System Technology (POWERCON), 2010 International Conference on , vol., no., pp.1,6, 24-28 Oct. 2010
- [11] Mets, K.; Verschueren, T.; Haerick, W.; Develder, C.; De Turck, F., Optimizing smart energy control strategies for plug-in hybrid electric vehicle charging, Network Operations and Management Symposium Workshops (NOMS Wksps), 2010 IEEE/IFIP, vol., no., pp.293,299, 19-23 April 2010
- [12] Slootweg, J.G.; Cordova, J.; Portela, C.M.; Morren, J., Smart grids intelligence for sustainable electrical power systems, Telecommunications Energy Conference (INTELEC), 2011 IEEE 33rd International, vol., no., pp.1,8, 9-13 Oct. 2011
- [13] Huachun Han; Haiping Xu; Zengquan Yuan; Yingjie Zhao, Interactive charging strategy of electric vehicles connected in Smart Grids, Power Electronics and Motion Control Conference (IPEMC), 2012 7th International, vol.3, no., pp.2099,2103, 2-5 June 2012
- [14] Sanseverino, E.R.; Di Silvestre, M.L.; Zizzo, G.; Graditi, G., Energy efficient operation in smart grids: Optimal management of shiftable loads and storage systems, Power Electronics, Electrical Drives, Automation and Motion (SPEEDAM), 2012 International Symposium on , vol., no., pp.978,982, 20-22 June 2012
- [15] Glanzer, G.; Sivaraman, T.; Buffalo, J.I.; Kohl, M.; Berger, H., Cost-efficient integration of electric vehicles with the power grid by means of smart charging strategies and integrated onboard chargers, Environment and Electrical Engineering (EEEIC), 2011 10th International Conference on , vol., no., pp.1,4, 8-11 May 2011
- [16] Monteiro, V.; Goncalves, H.; Afonso, J.L., Impact of Electric Vehicles on power quality in a Smart Grid context, Electrical Power Quality and Utilisation (EPQU), 2011 11th International Conference on , vol., no., pp.1,6, 17-19 Oct. 2011
- [17] Sean Kenneth Barker, Aditya Kumar Mishra, David E. Irwin, Prashant J. Shenoy, Jeannie R. Albrecht, *SmartCap: Flattening peak electricity demand in smart homes*, IEEE International Conference on Pervasive Computing and Communications, Lugano, Switzerland, March 19-23, 2012, pages 67-75
- [18] Samadi, P.; Mohsenian-Rad, H.; Schober, R.; Wong, V.W.S., Advanced Demand Side Management for the Future Smart Grid Using Mechanism Design, Smart Grid, IEEE Transactions on, vol.3, no.3, pp.1170,1180, Sept. 2012
- [19] Koutitas, G., *Control of Flexible Smart Devices in the Smart Grid*, IEEE Transactions on Smart Grid, vol.3, no.3, pp.1333,1343, Sept. 2012
- [20] Brooks, A.; Lu, E.; Reicher, D.; Spirakis, C.; Weihl, B., *Demand Dispatch*, Power and Energy Magazine, IEEE, vol.8, no.3, pp.20, 29, May-June 2010

- [21] Jasna Tomić, Willett Kempton, *Using fleets of electric-drive vehicles for grid support*, Journal of Power Sources, vol. 168, no. 2, 1 June 2007, Pages 459-468
- [22] Daniel Freund, Marco Lutzenberger, Sahin Albayrak, Costs and Gains of Smart Charging Electric Vehicles to Provide Regulation Services, Procedia Computer Science, vol. 10, pp. 846-853, 2012
- [23] Aníbal de Almeida, Paula Fonseca, Barbara Schlomann, Nicolai Feilberg, *Characterization of the household electricity consumption in the EU, potential energy savings and specific policy recommendations*, Energy and Buildings, Volume 43, Issue 8, August 2011, Pages 1884-1894
- [24] Aoife Foley, Barry Tyther, Patrick Calnan, Brian Ó Gallachóir, *Impacts of Electric Vehicle charging under electricity market operations,* Applied Energy, vol. 101, pp. 93-102, 2013
- [25] Changhua Zhang, Qi Huang, Jiashen Tian, Lei Chen, Yongxing Cao, Ran Zhang, *Smart Grid Facing the New Challenge: The Management of Electric Vehicle Charging Loads,* Energy Procedia, vol. 12, pp. 98-103, 2011

# Widening the Scope of the EU Energy Label

# Stephanie Boulos, Louise Evans

# Affiliation: Ricardo-AEA, Gemini Building, Fermi Avenue, Harwell OX11 0QR UK

# Abstract

The European Energy Labelling Directive has been in place for 20 years, and is now closely linked to the Ecodesign Directive which sets minimum energy efficiency performance standards. The Commission is considering widening the scope of the EU Energy label by introducing environmental indicators. There is the need to consider the type and number of indicators; how to present these additional indicators; but more crucially the requirement to establish and calculate such indicators. We present appropriate methodologies and discuss the best approach to expand the label. We then consider what this new label may mean to consumers, their understanding of a more complex label and the influence it may have on their purchasing behaviour, given that they will not directly gain financially from that purchasing decision. The conclusions from the project were that although there is an array of methodologies to underpin different type of indicators, only a few are multi category indicators, such as the BP X30 323 or the Product Environmental Footprint methodologies. There is still considerable work required to develop robust and appropriate methodologies to underpin environmental indicators before they can be added to the European energy label. A debate is also required as to which indicators are most influential and how to educate consumers on their meaning. The consumer survey demonstrated a clear interest for more environmental information on products purchased and that consumers are willing to pay more for products with better environmental performance.

# Introduction

This paper presents the findings of a European Commission funded project <sup>[1]</sup> delivered by a consortium led by Ispos MORI with Ricardo AEA and London Economics. The study considered how the scope of the current EU energy label could be widened, and how feasible it would be to upgrade it to include environmental performance ratings of products (carbon and water footprint, resource efficiency, eco-toxicity). The study tested consumers' attitude toward an upgraded energy label, through behavioural experiments, and whether they would pay more for a product which was better for the environment but that would not necessarily result in direct financial gains for them. In this paper, we first present a short overview of the Labelling Directive and its context, followed by an outline of how the current energy label could be upgraded and its implication. We then present a review and discussion of existing methodologies that could be used to underpin such changes to the energy label. Finally we report the high level findings of consumer behavioural experiment.

# The EU energy label

The European Union (EU) has established competitiveness and sustainable development as two priority policies. Within this, sustainable industrial policy is a key area that aims to foster environmental and energy efficient products within the internal market. Energy related products are important because they are responsible for a significant proportion of the energy and other resources consumed by the EU. There is also considerable potential for reducing their associated environmental impacts by adopting ecodesign measures at the product design stage. It has been estimated that up to 80% of a product's life cycle impacts are determined at the design stage, whether these are emissions to air and water, water use or waste generation. The original Energy Labelling Directive (92/75/EEC)<sup>[2]</sup> implemented in 1992 was limited to the mandatory labelling of household appliances and the original Ecodesign Directive 2005/32/EC<sup>[3]</sup> focused on energy using products (EuP). The Ecodesign and Labelling Directives were recast in 2009 (2009/125/EC)<sup>[4]</sup> and 2010 (2010/30/EU)<sup>[5]</sup> respectively, extending the scope of the two Directives to include Energy-related Products (ErP) as



Figure 1: Original washing machine Label 1995

well as EuPs, ensuring the scope of the two Directives was consistent. This allowed labelling and implementing measures to be used in tandem for applicable product groups, e.g. televisions.

So what is driving the EC to widen the scope of the energy label? There are a number of key policies pushing this agenda, the Sustainable Consumption and Production Action Plan<sup>[6]</sup> includes a proposal to examine the addition of relevant environmental information such as emissions and resource-use over the course of a product's life cycle; however, it emphasised that energy labelling must remain simple, concise and efficient. It also includes the potential to introduce the carbon footprint of products into the existing EU environmental labelling instruments such as the Eco-label and energy labelling. In addition The Single Market Act <sup>[7]</sup> includes a specific objective on environmental footprinting: Proposal No 10, states that the Commission will consider an initiative on the Ecological Footprint of Products, including carbon emissions. The Resource Efficiency Roadmap [8] further strengthens and defines the future role of an environmental footprint methodology by explaining that the Commission will establish a common methodological approach to enable Member States and the private sector to assess, display and benchmark the environmental performance of products, services and companies based on a comprehensive assessment of environmental impacts over the lifecycle.

Energy Label Regulations are adopted by the European Commission on a product by product basis and show the ranking of products according to their energy efficiency/consumption, using categories in the form of letters from A+++ - G and a colour scale as presented in Figure 1. The Labelling Directive requires that manufacturers and retailers of products covered by the Directive display a comparative label on each model, at the point of sale. The primary goal of the energy label is to

influence consumers to buy more energy-efficient products by providing information to help identify the better performing models. In the cases of refrigerators, dishwashers and washing machines, the energy label has been in place for 20 years, and has resulted in radically improved energy efficiencies, to the point that today, 90% of these appliances placed on the EU market reach class A and above. Such market transformation has been achieved by having a compulsory label that provides consumers with meaningful, credible, comparable and easy to understand information which brings directly measurable financial gains to consumers. Shift in the market and improvement in technologies prompted a review of the Labelling Directive (2010/30/EU)<sup>[5]</sup> and the introduction of the new categories A+ to A+++ and additional product specific information. The label today provides more than just the energy class of a product, it presents clear and comparable information for consumers on the energy efficiency; the energy consumption of the product (based on a specific EU-defined standard); additional product specific information including, for example for washing machines - load capacity, in-use water consumption, spinning performance and noise levels, using pictograms for ease of understanding, as presented in Figure 2. The current Labelling Directive (2010/30/EU) set a review of its effectiveness no later than 31 December 2014. The Commission has procured a number of projects to inform the review of the Directives, covering its successes, but also to understand how the Directive's scope might be further extended. Ricardo-AEA<sup>1</sup>, as part of a



Figure 2: Washing machine Label 2010<sup>[37]</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Ricardo AEA was AEA at the time of the project
Consortium led by MORI IPSO, was appointed by DG Energy to complete this study.



Figure 4a: Proposed Energy & Carbon Footprint Label

Figure 4b: Proposed Energy & Environmental Label

## Option to extend the scope of the Energy Label

Any change to the scope of the energy label has to be carefully considered as this is a mandatory measure and is the principal mechanism to influence consumer buving behaviours. The potential additional information on the label must be robust as the existing energy efficiency as information; that it can be harmonised for a wide range of products, and is practical for manufacturers to implement. Finally it is vital to consider how the label might look, how consumers will respond to it, and whether they will understand the information displayed. The project looked at two distinctive proposals for widening the scope of the current label. The first option was an Energy and Carbon Footprint Label which added a carbon footprint indicator to the current label, see Figure 4a. The second option was an Energy and Environmental Label with four additional environmental indicators (carbon footprint, water footprint, resource depletion and water eco-toxicity), Figure 4b. The key aspect is

that the additional environmental indicators would be taking a life cycle approach to the whole product rather than just the "in use" impact, which is what the current label provides. This raises key questions of how the scope be expanded to include life cycle based impacts and compared to "in use" only information. How can consumers make decisions that might require a trade-off between, for example, an A energy rating, but a B carbon footprint?

The symbols included on the proposed new label designs were as follows:



**Carbon footprint**: The contribution to climate change made by the product throughout its life. This is based on the total greenhouse gases released covering raw material extraction, manufacture, use period by consumers, and disposal.



**Water footprint:** The amount of water used throughout the product's life. For example the water used during production of the steel used to manufacture a washing machine, as well as water consumed during the use phase.



**Water eco-toxicity**: The poisonous effects of the product throughout its life on species living in rivers and seas and on the quality of fresh water. For example toxic substances released when the product is disposed of that affect the health of plants and animals in rivers.



**Resource depletion**: The rate at which this product leads to the depletion of natural resources faster than they are naturally replaced. For example the use of rare metals in the manufacture of a smart phone.

Figure 5: New indicators

#### Literature review

The available literature on environmental product labelling was reviewed, including previous studies funded by the European Commission in this area. A key study by Ernst & Young and Quantis on Product Carbon Footprinting<sup>[9]</sup> identified 62 methodologies and initiatives for calculating carbon impact (some of the methodologies were multi criteria, so covered more than carbon footprinting), 11 of which were examined in more detail because of their particular relevance to informing EU policy. The "Analysis of Existing Environmental Footprint Methodologies for Products and Organizations"<sup>[10]</sup> followed, identifying and reviewing key methodologies and standards aimed at calculating environmental footprint of products and organisations rather than just carbon footprint. It retained just 7 of the 62 methodologies previously identified. Finally the "Product Environmental Footprinting (PEF)" [11] methodology developed for DG Environment, a guide on how to calculate Environmental Footprints (EF) and development of product category specific methodological requirements for use in Product Environmental Footprint Category Rules (PFCRs) was reviewed. This report presented the requirements to calculate a product's EF and outlines the underlying methodologies that should be used to carry out the assessment, based on a multi criteria methodology. Obvious synergies between the methodologies that could be used to calculate each of the proposed indicators within this project exist so that manufacturers will not be faced with unduly different methodologies for similar environmental labelling exercises. In addition, the PEF methodology has been developed through consultation and is based on pre-existing peer reviewed work in terms of the assessment method to be used for specific impacts. A review of these studies identified the use of common methodologies. Building on the above, this review searched for other methods (or updated versions of previously reviewed methodologies) not involved in the Commission's previous studies to ensure it adequately covered all four indicator agreed.

#### Review of available methodologies

This review assessed the most recently published studies to establish the scope of the methodologies, their reliability, and their applicability. The study reviewed 15 methodologies in detail ranging from ISO standards, through to company specific tools. Just two methodologies were identified as robust across all four indicators, the EU Product Environmental Footprint<sup>[12]</sup> and BPX30-32 methodology <sup>[13]</sup>. In the wider context of product environmental footprinting the European Commission's Product Environmental Footprint Guide <sup>[12]</sup> introduced the need for Product Environmental Footprint Category Rules (PFCRs). PFCRs are important as their aim is to provide detailed technical guidance on how to complete a PEF study for a specific product. The PFCRs concentrate on providing additional specification at a product level, thus increasing the reproducibility, consistency and relevance of product environmental studies. AFNOR<sup>2</sup>, as part of the work within the BP X 3-323 <sup>[13]</sup> methodology is also in the progress of implementing "sectorial standards", to provide specific assessments for the product categories covered. These standards complement the overall methodology and ensure comparability between products of the same category (food, textiles, furniture, etc.). Table 1**Error! Reference source not found.** presents the reviewed methodologies and shows which indicators they apply to.

Table 1: Listing	g of the methodolog	ies reviewed and whic	h indicators they	can underpin.

Methodologies	Carbon footprint	Water Footprint	Resource Efficiency	Water Toxicity
<b>ISO 14044: Environmental management - Life cycle assessment</b> <b>2006</b> <sup>[14]-</sup> Developed by the International Standard Organisation	~	√3	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$
<b>ISO 14067: Product Carbon Footprint 2012</b> [15] - Developed by the International Standard Organisation	~			

<sup>2</sup> French National Office for Standardisation

<sup>3</sup> Indicators that are covered by the methodology, but not included in the list of relevant methodology for that indicator as over methodologies were deemed more appropriate,

<b>Product Environmental Footprint, (draft 2012)</b> <sup>[12]-</sup> Developed by the	✓	✓	✓	✓
II CD: International Reference Life Cycle Data System <sup>[16]</sup> Developed				
by the EC' IDC	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$
Ecological Ecotorist Standard 2000 <sup>[1/]</sup> Developed by the Clobal		ł – –		
Ecological Foolprint Standard 2009 Developed by the Global	✓	$\sim$	$\checkmark$	$\sim$
Product and Supply Chain Standards Greenhouse Gas Protocol				
Developed by World Business Council for Sustainable Development	✓			
(WBCSD) and the World Resources Institute (WRI).				
<b>Environmental Footprint BPX 30-323</b> <sup>[13]</sup> - Developed by ADEME <sup>4</sup> as	1	1		
part of a French law "Le Grenelle 1" <sup>[19]</sup> .	v	•	v	v
PAS 2050 for Product Carbon footprint <sup>[20]</sup> Developed by the Carbon				
Trust in the UK, and now published by BSI				
Sustainability Consortium [21] - Developed by a group of consumer	./		$\checkmark$	
goods companies, including Wal-Mart	V	•		
Water Footprint Index ISO 14046 <sup>[22]</sup> - Developed by the International		1		
Standard Organisation		•		
Water Impact Index [23] Developed by Veolia Environment Research &		1		
Innovation in the USA		•		
<b>O2 Eco-Rating</b> <sup>[24] -</sup> Developed by UK mobile phone operator O2.	$\checkmark$		✓	
Vodafone Eco rating <sup>[25]</sup> Developed by UK mobile operator Vodafone.	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	✓	$\checkmark$
Usetox model <sup>[26]</sup> Developed by UNEP-SETAC Life Cycle Initiative.				✓
Swiss Ecoscarcity model <sup>[27]</sup> Developed for Switzerland by the Swiss				
Federal Office for the Environment				¥

Carbon footprint methodologies - Carbon footprinting is the most established and widely used environmental indicator, yet the first comprehensive label was only launched in 2008. Since then the field has developed significantly and a number of reliable methodologies and initiatives have become established. Today there are many different methodologies for the 'carbon footprinting' of products internationally, some focusing on life cycle carbon emissions, others focusing on the benefits derived by the company undertaking carbon analysis of their products. These methodologies and initiatives are broad in scope and fast evolving which has led firms, public bodies and other structures to develop their own methodologies to support their specific needs. This in turn has created a huge range of variation in, for example, the system boundaries applied, allocation management, and end of life treatment. Our review of carbon footprinting methodologies concluded that while it is important to take into consideration all the environmental impacts of a product in a balanced way; there is general consensus that a carbon footprint can be a good indicator of the overall environmental impact for specific product categories, especially those considered as highly energy intensive and simple in terms of emission sources (no land use change, no biogenic emission, etc.). Such findings are relevant to the potential addition of environmental indicators to the energy label. Yet this conclusion has to be balanced with the fact that greenhouse gas emissions are not always the most significant environmental impact, for example in mobile phones, and therefore other environmental impacts have to be taken into account to provide balanced life cycle information. Thus ideally the most appropriate methodology to calculate the carbon footprint as part of the energy label has to be one that offers the possibility of widening the environmental scope of the methodology to include environmental impacts other than greenhouse gases, as well as to ensure that the whole life cycle is considered in the analysis. This conclusion appears to support the proposal for an Energy and Carbon Footprint Label, in that overall a lower carbon footprint would also signal an overall lower environmental footprint. Within our review the two most promising methodologies were the Product Environmental Footprint developed by the Commission and BPX 30-323, due to the fact that they have both been developed with a strong stakeholders' input, resulting in a strong multi criteria approach which means that a carbon label could be a first step with the possibility in the future to further widen the scope of an Energy and Carbon label into an Energy and Environment label.

<sup>4</sup> ADEME = French Environment and Energy Management Agency

Water footprint methodologies - Within the context of this study, a water footprint was defined as the amount of water used throughout the product's life from resource extraction, manufacture, use and disposal. The real-water content of products is generally negligible if compared to the whole cycle content. For example, a litre of milk contains nearly a litre of water, but the supply chain to produce one litre of milk has consumed 1,000 litres of water including water to irrigate the grass, concentrates to feed the cow, drinking water, washing water, cleaning water, cooling water and processing water <sup>[28]</sup>. This highlights the key reason why water footprints are gaining momentum as a way to educate and inform consumers. The process of considering a water footprint and prioritising improvements is more complex than carbon footprinting as the water returned to the environment may be returned with reduced water quality, or the water may be extracted when/where supply is scarce which makes it difficult to categorise the severity of the impacts. This makes comparisons more challenging due to the complexities that arise from global supply chains and water scarcity. There is also a close link between water and energy, which will be a key theme of future water strategies, particularly where water efficiency also results in energy savings<sup>[29]</sup>. While corporate water accounting methods and tools have been under development for the past decade, there is still a near universal agreement that current methods—though a good start—are inadequate and need to be refined <sup>[30]</sup>. For example there are no common definitions, - The Water Footprint Network <sup>[31]</sup> defines a water footprint as the volume of freshwater used to produce the product, measured over the full supply chain. It is a multi-dimensional indicator, showing water consumption volumes by source and polluted volumes by type of pollution; all components of a total water footprint have to be specified geographically and temporally. The European Water Partnership defines a comprehensive water footprint as one that should be split into three constituent elements, which are blue water (surface and ground water), grey water (polluted water from industry) and green water (volume of precipitation evaporated during the production process, most relevant to agricultural activities)<sup>[32]</sup>. The key achievement in this area is the development of the ISO 14046: Water Footprint Standard (still in draft format) which is based on an LCA approach as per ISO 14067: Carbon Footprint Standard. But, as mentioned earlier, the ISO standard alone will not guarantee that a methodology is fit for a mandatory label, and in order to be applicable within the context of mandatory labelling, changes to it would have to be made by policymakers.

**Resource depletion -** Within the context of our study resource depletion was defined as the impact of removal and use of, natural resources from the environment. This results in a decrease in resource availability of the total resource stock as non-renewable (usually abiotic i.e. non-living) resources are finite. Minimising the quantity of resources required to manufacture similar products, or increase the use of recycled materials will result in reduced resource depletion. Only a few methodologies cover this specific indicator, of the four methodologies reviewed in detail, half were developed by private corporations such as large manufacturers to support their brand sustainability claims. The methodologies embrace a life cycle approach as the results are often used to improve eco design at the conception stage or improve end of life management. The key methodologies that were highlighted were the French Environmental Footprint - BP X30 323, because it is developing a national database and implementing sectorial standards, and the draft Environmental Footprint of Product by the European Commission, which has been developed through stakeholder consultation process. The two methodologies developed by private corporation (the O<sub>2</sub> Eco-rating and Vodafone Eco rating) are both currently mobile phone specific and provide little transparency as the data is confidential.

**Water eco-toxicity -** Within the context of this study, water eco-toxicity was mainly concerned with chemical and heavy metals releases, reduction in biodiversity of the aquatic ecosystem, and fresh water quality. Our work sought to identify methods that quantitatively assess chemical risks to the aquatic environment i.e. methods that compile and generate data on the level of pollution that is released to the aquatic ecosystem and the impact on fresh water. It is worth noting that the chemical content of a product is strictly governed by regulation and covered under REACH <sup>[33]</sup> in the EC, which is not within the remit of this project. The tools reviewed here provide a framework to identify and quantify chemicals within a product or process that are released to water and what impact it has on the aquatic environment. As for resource depletion methodologies there is little work completed for methodologies on water eco-toxicity. There is little information available on initiatives aimed at labelling products or processes regarding water eco-toxicity impacts. On the other hand, this indicator

benefits from LCA methodologies in terms of characterisation methods so as to be able to express the level of pollution as a possible indicator. A French product labelling experiment<sup>5</sup> that ran during 2011/12 included a number of products bearing an indicator or an overall eco score including water eco-toxicity. The products most likely to bear such indicators were water related products such as detergent, shampoos, washing machines or dishwashers. The methodology used to calculate the indicator had to be the BPX 30-323 as part of the experiment's requirements.

#### Conclusions from the review of existing methodologies

Of the four indicators considered, carbon footprinting is the most mature, with the most established methodology and it will soon be underpinned by an ISO standard. A number of products across the world already bear carbon footprint indicators. Water footprinting will also benefit from an ISO standard in the near future. These are important developments and are essential to underpinning product performance labelling in terms of the rigour and confidence they instil, although as noted previously an ISO standard is not a pre requisite for a robust methodology. The resource depletion and water eco-toxicity indicators are likely to be widely used by industry within the tools utilised when completing a life cycle assessment of their products. However the outputs are kept confidential and rarely publically released. Table 2 presents a high level review of the status of the methodologies available for each indicator. It should be noted that the judgement presented here considers how well methodology.

Criteria assessment	Carbon Footprint	Water Footprint	Resource depletion	Water Eco- Toxicity
<b>Life cycle approach -</b> Do the methodologies consider the entire life cycle?				
<b>Reliability</b> - Do the methodologies consider the entire life cycle?				
<b>Robustness -</b> Have the methods been reviewed and critiqued?				
<b>Maturity -</b> How long have the methodologies been in used? This aspect considers the length of time that has been available for testing and further development reflecting market use.)				
<b>Degree of uptake -</b> Is the methodology widely used by different market sectors and communicated?				
<b>Credibility -</b> Considers who devised the methodology. If for example, the methodology is an International standard it is considered highly credible. At the other extreme might be a method devised by a student.				
<b>Communication -</b> Methodologies enable presentation of findings as an indicator/label rather than a report				
<b>Enforceability</b> -Ease of methodology to be verified by a third party in the context of a mandatory label				

Table 2: Level of methods' suitability for each indicate	Table 2:	Level of methods'	suitability	v for each indicato
--	----------	-------------------	-------------	---------------------

Green: methodologies are available and strong

Orange: Some methodologies are robust enough, but most still require further development Red: No clear methodologies available, further development required.

As carbon foot printing is the most advanced of the four impact areas there is the potential that this could be introduced as a good and simple proxy of a product's impacts, and may represent the next logical extension of the current energy label used within Europe. The drawback is that this would not necessarily provide a fully balanced description of the impacts of a product, and there remains the risk that some significant aspects of a product might be missed, particularly water eco-toxicity. An

<sup>5</sup> http://www.developpement-durable.gouv.fr/National-experimentation-for-the

alternative approach would be to adopt a multi criteria method capable of determining all four indicators. This would mean further development of methodologies such as the BP X30 323 or the Product Environmental Footprint. The work being carried out by the French Government on the nationwide product labelling experiment should be evaluated further by the Commission to draw out and understand the key findings and lessons learnt from those participating in the experiment. However, ahead of implementing such dramatic changes there is a need to better understand the cost of implementing such changes to a mandatory label, in terms of developing and standardising methodologies, policy development, compliance as well as the burden ton manufacturers to achieve compliance. Manufacturers are under growing pressure to provide products with increasing information and labels around the world using different compliance standards due to the flourishing field of environmental indicators and numerous initiatives are being developed within countries. The Commission would benefit from ensuring that businesses are not burdened by having to comply with numerous schemes setting different requirements for their products. There has to be a cost benefits analysis performed to ensure that the cost of such changes don't outweigh its benefits.

#### Creating a clear Format for a New Label

As important as the methodology issues addressed above, there is also the need to create a new label format that can best display the additional information in a clear and understandable way for the consumer. The current energy label is well understood by consumers; is there a risk that by adding information to the label it will distract consumers from its primary focus, i.e. to inform on the energy efficiency of the products they are purchasing?

To investigate the above issue, two surveys were conducted; a qualitative survey (focus group) in Poland, Italy and the UK to test potential symbols and scales; and a behavioural experiment to test consumers' attitude towards the different type of labels and willingness to pay for environmentally better products, online in nine EU countries. The project did not aim at understanding which indicator(s) might be more important (i.e. is carbon footprint more important than toxicity) to the consumer when making a purchasing decision. The results of the qualitative survey emphasised the lack of understanding and miss interpretation by consumers of some of the new proposed symbols. In particular the eco-toxicity symbol was not well understood, and the resource efficiency one was often mistaken for recycling (because of the arrow) or distance travelled by a product (i.e. how far the product travelled to the retailer). As a result of this qualitative survey, both symbols were reviewed and changed to the symbol presented in Figure 5. The focus groups also tested three formats for the rating scale: stars, drops, and just letters as shown in Figure 6. The main comments gathered on the star rating indicated some confusion over whether the number of stars indicated a positive or negative performance (e.g. do 7 stars for Eco toxicity mean this product causes a lot of harm to the environment or little harm?). The use of different colours across the scale was felt to add to the confusion, rather than help clarify the meaning of the scale. In the case of drops rating (the second label in Figure 5), this was the least preferred option. Respondents were not sure what the letter stood for, as there was no scale of reference. Generally respondents could understand that A was better than B, but could not tell how wide the scale was (unlike the star or letter rating which show how many stars a products can get or the range of letters). The preferred scale was the letters' one, it was the easiest to interpret across all markets. The scale has a clear frame of reference with the letters A-G, and respondents thought it was clear that the bigger letter represents the product rating. The letters were seen as mirroring the energy efficiency rating scale. However, there was some confusion as to why the two scales were not made to match exactly (i.e. A+++ - G). Overall, having only the applicable letter in coloured font was deemed to be preferable, as per the third label in Figure 5. It was acknowledged across all markets that more information would need to be provided in order to understand the environmental performance symbols. This information should include the definitions, and could be provided through a combination of support via the internet, advertising campaigns and shops displays.

The concept of consumers being provided with information about the environmental impact of a product throughout its *lifecycle* was unfamiliar. This led to some confusion about the meaning of the labels. For instance, some participants did not understand why a symbol depicting a water footprint would be displayed on the label for a light bulb. The analysis identified that consumers who correctly

identified the definitions of the new lifecycle performance symbols displayed more willingness to make environmentally favourable product choices. This was true for both the proposed Energy and Carbon Footprint Label and the proposed Energy and Environmental Label. The willingness of a responder to pay for "good" products increased as their understanding increased. Both of these points demonstrate that a consumers understanding of the symbols included on the proposed new labels is critical.



Figure 6: Different performance rating scales, left to right 'stars', 'drops', 'letters'.

## Would consumer pay more for environmentally better products?

The behavioural experiment ran online across nine EU countries, testing 6,000 participants in an on-line auction to identify their willingness to pay extra for more environmentally friendly goods. Participants were divided into three groups depending on the level of information they were provided with around the labels: the first group was provided with no information; the second group was given the definition of the symbols; and the last group received a detailed explanation. Respondents were each faced with very different products to identify what drives a consumer when making purchasing decisions on certain products. The products were a washing machine - a necessity, and an expensive product to buy; a television - a luxury item, with a very wide range of product features and prices; and a light bulb - a necessity but an inexpensive product. It is worth noting at this stage that

generally consumers will have a pre-existing list of parameters and product features that inform their purchasing decisions at the point of purchase. Within this, energy efficiency was identified to be considered relevant to consumers for the purchase of a washing machine but not for the purchase of a light bulb. The respondents appeared to be fairly pro-environmental as more than three quarters agreed with the statements, "I can personally help to reduce climate change by changing my behaviour" (77%) and "Even if others don't do the same, it's worth me doing things to live a sustainable lifestyle" (80%).By contrast only 15% agreed that "the effects of climate change are too far in the future to really worry me" and almost a quarter (24%) agreed "it's not worth us trying to combat climate change, because other countries will just cancel out what we do". The results suggest that it is not only climate change which is of concern to these respondents: three quarters (76%) agreed that the "earth has very limited room and resources" compared to only 9% who disagreed.

During the focus groups respondents were more concerned by the cost of running a washing machine, which is seen as a high energy using product, than the cost of using a light bulb, hence a more efficient washing machine was considered to be significantly less expensive to run. It was also identified that other product features where more important than the energy rating, so even for a washing machine for example, factors more important than energy efficiency included the wash capacity, the available programs, and the spin speed and so on. During the experiments conducted here product specific information (e.g. noise, spin speed, capacity, size of the screen and so) were held constant, so the focus of the experiment was on the impact of introducing *additional* environmental performance information to the current energy label.<sup>6</sup> The behavioural experiment did of course make the environmental label compete against price which is known to be a key determinant of product choice, but in reality, the environmental label would also have to compete with many other product features.

The use of both the proposed Energy and Carbon Footprint Label and the Energy and Environmental Label showed that respondents were willing to pay more for products than when they were only shown the current energy label as shown in Table 3I As all other characteristics of the products remained constant, this fully demonstrates that consumers are prepared to pay more for environmentally preferable products. However, comparing respondents' willingness to pay when they were presented with the proposed Energy and Carbon Footprint Label and then the proposed Energy and Environmental Label, showed that respondents were not willing to pay much more, so they did

<sup>6</sup> This was also a pragmatic choice to allow us to implement the experiment within the time-limit for the online experiment and survey.

not distinguish between the Carbon Footprint Label and the additional three further environmental parameters on the Energy and Environmental Label.

The methodology review showed that the carbon footprint can be a good indicator of the overall environmental impact for specific product categories. The evidence of consumer behaviour here appears to support the approach of presenting just the carbon footprint as the additional information on the product label. This was further emphasised by the focus groups' findings, which concluded that consumers tend to focus on product performance which are already displayed on existing product labels (for instance, screen size for televisions or per cycle water use for washing machines). These product characteristics very clearly represent private gains to the consumer as they directly impact the user in terms of product experience and the cost of running the product. Overall, therefore, the focus of the label rather than the new symbols being added to the right hand side of the label. As mentioned before respondents were willing to pay more when the carbon footprint symbol was introduced, but increasing the number of additional symbols to the four environmental symbols did not increase willingness to pay further. This clearly demonstrates that consumers' choices can be affected by adding a carbon footprint symbol to the current energy label; however a key driver of purchasing decisions is still likely to be the product performance characteristics.

Table 3: Willingness to pay a premium for products carrying the proposed Energy and Carbon Footprint Label or Energy and Environmental Label (average across all respondents)

	Energy and Ca Lal	rbon Footprint bel	Energy and Environmental Label			
Product category	Share willing to pay a premium for "better" ct category product <sup>1</sup>		Share willing to pay a premium for better product <sup>1</sup>	Minimum average premium they will pay <sup>2</sup>		
Washing			39.3%	€ 65.08		
Machines	39.8%	€ 64.19				
Televisions	36.8%	€ 64.00	39.1%	€ 65.29		
Light bulbs	50.2%	€ 0.47	45.8%	€ 0.46		

Finally the experiments revealed that there are relatively few other consistent drivers of consumer purchasing decisions. It was hypothesised that respondents with pro-environmental attitudes would be willing to pay more for environmentally friendly products. However, the experiment did not provide strong evidence for this. It was also hypothesised that respondents from markets with an extensive history of environmental product labelling would choose, and be willing to pay more for, environmentally friendly products. Again there was no evidence for this in the results of the experiments. The key conclusion from the experiments was that there is evidence to suggest that a new energy label incorporating further environmental performance symbols could have a positive impact on consumer purchasing behaviour. Overall consumers demonstrated that they had a willingness to pay for more environmentally preferable products affixed with the proposed new labels.

## Conclusion

This work investigated two aspects of extending the scope of the current product label used in Europe. The first was a review of whether it was technically feasible to extend the scope of the label to encompass energy and carbon, or energy and environmental aspects. A review of the existing methodologies, tools and information showed that this would be feasible, particularly for carbon and for water footprints, as these are the more developed areas. Use of the resource efficiency and water eco-toxicity footprints, while possible, would require significantly more development work as they are less well developed in the public domain at present. The second aspect of this work explored whether consumers would engage with should further information be provided, whether it would influence their purchasing decisions. The results show that consumers would be influenced by further information, and would be willing to pay more for the product that was "greener". However, environmental considerations come into the purchasing decision only after other aspects have been addressed. So

in the example of a washing machine, environmental concerns would be considered after the wash capacity, spin speed, wash setting, noise have been taken into account. The results show that consumers are potentially willing to pay more for a product that has better environmental credentials; although, the distinction between the Energy and Carbon Footprint label, and the Energy and Environmental Footprint Label is practically non-existent (Table 3). This clearly indicates that consumers are unable to distinguish an array of indicator and would favour just one additional indicator. Whether this additional indicator should this be a carbon inductor or an overall environmental score was not tested within this work.

The ultimate value of this work is combining the two aspects of a potential label extension, to understand whether this would deliver additional energy and environmental savings through further informing consumers' purchasing decisions at the point of purchase. The conclusion is that the energy label could be technically extended, and that consumers would respond to this additional information to some degree, likely delivering further energy and environmental savings. But, consumers are unlikely to respond to the full information, and the response to the mid-level of information (Energy and Carbon Footprint Label) was taken into account only after other factors – price and other features - had been taken into account. Hence attention needs to be paid to the value of extending the labelling scheme, and whether the increased amount a consumer is willing to pay will cover the increased costs to the manufacturers to achieve the declarations.

## Bibliography

- [1] Research on EU Product Label Options, Final report, Ipsos Mori, October 2012.
- [2] European Commission. Council Directive 92/75/EEC of 22.09.1992, on the indication by labelling and standard product information of the consumption of energy and other resources by household appliances, Official Journal L297, 13.10.1992, p16
- [3] European Commission. Directive 2005/32/EC of The European Parliament of 6.07.2005 establishing a framework for the setting of ecodesign requirements for energy-using products and amending Council Directive 92/42/EEC and Directives 96/57/EC and 2000/55/EC, Official Journal L 191, 22.7.1005, p29
- [4] European Commission. Directive 2009/125/EC of the European Parliament of 21.10.2009 establishing a framework for the setting of ecodesign requirements for energy-related products (recast), Official Journal L285, 21.10.2009, p10.
- [5] European Commission. Directive 2010/30/EU of The European Parliament of 19 May 2010 on the indication by labelling and standard product information of the consumption of energy and other resources by energy-related products (recast). Official Journal L153,18.6.2010, p1
- [6] European Commission. Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament on the Sustainable Consumption and Production and Sustainable Industrial Policy Action Plan, COM(2008) 397 final, 16.7.2008
- [7] European Commission. Communication from The Commission to The European Parliament, Towards a Single Market Act for a highly competitive social market economy 50 proposals for improving our work, business and exchanges with one another. COM(2010) 608. 27.10.2010.
- [8] European Commission. Communication from The Commission to The European Parliament, Roadmap to a Resource Efficient Europe. COM(2011) 571. 20.09.2011.
- [9] Product Carbon Footprinting A Study of Methodologies and Initiatives. Ernst & Young and Quantis. July 2010.
- [10] Analysis of Existing Environmental Footprint Methodologies for Products and Organization: Recommendations, Rationale, and Alignment. European Commission JRC IES. 2011.
- [11] Product Environmental Footprint Guide, European Commission JRC IES. 2012.
- [12] European Commission Joint Research Centre (JRC) and Institute for Environment and Sustainability (IES), "Product Environmental Footprint, draft for stakeholder consultation," 2012.

- [13] Principes généraux pour l'affichage environnemental des produits de grande consommation -Partie 0 : principes généraux et cadre méthodologique. AFNOR, 2011.
- [14] ISO 14044: Environmental management Life cycle assessment. International Standard Organisation, 2006.
- [15] ISO 14067:Carbon footprint of products. International Standard Organisation, 2013.
- [16] International Reference Life Cycle Data System Handbook. European Commission JRC, 2012.
- [17] Ecological Footprint Standard. Global Footprint Network Standards Committee, 2009.
- [18] Product and Supply Chain Standards Greenhouse Gas Protocol. World Resources Institute and the World Business Council for Sustainable Development (WRI/ WBCSD) 2011.
- [19] LOI no2009-967 du 3 Août 2009 de programmation relative à la mise en œuvre du Grenelle de l'environnement (1), Journal Officiel de la République Française, 5 Aout 2005.
- [20] PAS 2050:2011 Specification for the assessment of the life cycle greenhouse gas emissions of goods and services. British Standard Institute, 2011.
- [21] Sustainability Measurement & Reporting System (SMRS). Sustainability Consortium www.sustainabilityconsortium.org/smrs/
- [22] ISO 14046 -Water Footprint Principles, Requirements and Guidelines, Draft. International Standard Organisation, 2012.
- [23] Water Impact Index. Veolia Environment www.veoliawaterst.co.uk/Sustainability/
- [24] O2 Eco rating. Forum for the Future, 2010 http://www.forumforthefuture.org/project/o2-ecorating-assessing-sustainability-mobile-phones/overview
- [25] Vodafone Eco rating. Vodafone www.vodafone.com/content/index/about/sustainability/
- [26] USEtox The UNEP-SETAC toxicity model: Recommended characterisation factors for human toxicity and freshwater ecotoxicity in life cycle impact assessment. The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment, vol. 13, pp. 532-546, 2008.
- [27] Swiss Ecological Scarcity Method 2006. Swiss Federal Office for the Environment, 2008.
- [28] The green, blue and grey water footprint of farm animals and animal products, Value of Water. Research Report Series No.48, UNESCO-IHE., 2010.
- [29] Thematic Issue: Managing water demand, reuse and recycling. European Commission Science for Environment Policy, Issue 33, May 2012.
- [30] Corporate Water Accounting An Analysis of Methods and Tools for Measuring Water Use and Its Impacts. UNEP and the CEO Water Mandate, 2010.
- [31] The water footprint assessment manual: setting the global standard 2011. World Bank, 2011.
- [32] Water Stewardship Programme of the European Water Partnership www.ewp.eu/activities/ews/water-stewardship-standard/
- [33] European Commission. Regulation (EC) No 1907/2006 Of The European Parliament of 18.12.2006 concerning the Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation and Restriction of Chemicals (REACH). Official Journal L396, 30.12.2006, p1

## Come On Labels - Supporting energy labelling of products by monitoring labels in shops, collecting information about tests, supporting surveillance, and promoting to consumers

Juraj Krivošík, Executive Director – SEVEn, The Energy Efficiency Center, Come On Labels project coordinator

Corinna Fisher, Öko Institute, Germany

Milena Presutto, ENEA, Italy

### Abstract:

The Come On Labels project was organized between 12/2010 and 5/2013 and focused on the implementation of the energy labelling legislation in 13 European countries. The main project activities included:

- Overview of the national implementation of EU labelling legislation,
- Visiting over 900 shops to assess the proper display of energy labels at the points of sale,
- Collection and exchange of information about the product compliance verification activities through laboratory testing around the EU,
- Promotion of the energy labels to consumers, and
- Evaluation and monitoring of labelled product early and better replacement schemes.

This paper focuses on:

- Comparing EU legislation on energy labelling and ecodesign in terms of energy efficiency classes created in each product specific energy labelling scheme and actually existing on the market for the contemporary effect of the ecodesing requirements
- o Monitoring the level of market surveillance activities in selected countries for energy labelling,
- o Collected information about compliance verification tests within the project duration,
- The results of the shop visiting exercise that took place in 13 European countries:
  - 3 rounds of shop visits (spring and autumn 2012, spring 2013),
  - 20 shops at least in each country at each round,
  - Focus on all types of shops and labelled products.

#### 1. Summary: main project findings and achievements

The Come On Labels project has been designed in 2009, before the new energy labelling legislation were put in place. When, starting from 2010, the new framework directive and the first product specific delegated acts were enforced for the major household appliances, TV and lighting the Project was in the unique position to be the right tool to support the proper implementation of new energy labelling schemes in 13 European countries. The project targets are market surveillance Authorities, retailers, suppliers and consumers.

Examples of the most successful activities include:

#### Working with market surveillance authorities:

Each EU Member State is responsible for organising market surveillance activities, ensuring that correct information is shown on the energy labels, and that energy labels are properly displayed in shops and other points of sale. However since the level of such activity in a number of countries is insufficient, the Come On Labels project has organised the following supporting actions:

- Two presentations to ADCO Labelling group and numerous individual cooperations on energy labelling market surveillance, related to label display and product testing,
- discussions and explanations aimed to reach a common understanding of the legislation labelling requirements, for example about the meaning of individual icons displayed on the label,
- $\circ$   $\,$  clarification of the concept of "placing on the market and putting into service",
- sharing the outcome of the shop visits and the found levels of proper label display, and hypothesising possible improvement activities,
- organising common training activities for national inspectors, or the market actors such as the retailers and suppliers,
- analysing the feasibility of product compliance verification activities through laboratory testing and best ways for sharing test results data among national market surveillance Authorities in the EU Member States.

#### Collecting and sharing data on product compliance verification through laboratory tests:

Testing products to verify the declarations on the energy labels is one of the key factors for ensuring that energy and resources savings foreseen through energy labelling are really achieved. Unfortunately, the number of product compliance verification testing is insufficient. The project is not expected to directly test products, but has given an important contribution in this sector through:

- collecting publicly available information about product tests results. Information on product testing in the EU (UK, The Netherlands, Sweden), as well as in Australia and USA has been collected, together with product testing activities of other Intelligent Energy Europe projects. All information has been summarised and circulated among stakeholders with the aim to improve the knowledge on the feasibility and affordability of product testing.
- Stimulating EU wide cooperation in product testing: While manufacturers test their product only once for the whole EU market, MSA usually refer to the models available on their national markets. The Come On Labels project has therefore prepared documents summarising the existing experiences in testing products in foreign laboratories, regular meetings of authorities to share experience, regional testing approach sharing the model names of products, and the examples of European projects. All these reports are aimed at making the EU-wide cooperation easier for national authorities.

#### Monitoring the label presence in shops<sup>1</sup>:

Energy labels can be a successful tool for consumers if they are properly displayed in shops. But how often and how correctly are labels shown in shops? The Come On Labels project has organised three rounds of shops visits, each time visiting around 300 shops, monitoring the presence of energy labels per shop type and product type. Outcomes include:

- Monitoring the label presence per shop type and evaluating possible improvements for shop types where correct label display is lower: kitchen studios, individual retailers, and general hypermarkets,
- monitoring the label presence per product type, showing a lower percentage of labelled model for wine appliances, air-conditioners and electric ovens and the increasing percentage for TVs,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> http://www.come-on-labels.eu/displaying-energy-labels/status-of-appliance-labelling

 evaluating the effect of new energy labels, already displayed in 2012 on more than half of the models, to lower the amount of incorrect labelling, since the new energy labels are printed in one part only.

#### Retailer training manual<sup>2</sup>:

In order to improve the level of label display in shops, the Come On Labels project has prepared a retailer training manual aimed at educating shop assistants on the proper label display. The manual, available in 11 languages and 13 country adaptations, summarises the legal requirements of product labelling, explains the marketing importance of label display, shows examples of correct/incorrect label display in shops, and gives concrete advice which the shop assistants can give to customers. The training material has been:

- o Circulated to individual market surveillance authorities' inspectors
- $\circ$   $\:$  Used in individual retailer training seminars for retailer chains and shops
- o circulated to shops via national CECED manufacturers' association members
- o Disseminated at conferences and events for market actors.

#### Dissemination to consumers and end-users<sup>3</sup>:

Purchasing decisions by consumers influence the energy consumption of installed products for many years ahead. Therefore consumers are the primary target for energy labels. But consumers have to be fully aware about energy labelling and understand the content of the single products label. Consumer awareness and label understanding has become more important with the introduction of new energy labelling. The Come On Labels project has organised a number of activities for better consumer awareness:

- Numerous press releases and articles in general media over 170, with a readership/viewers of over 3,3 million,
- preparation of leaflets, brochures, posters, or bookmarks and distribution to consumers via shops, information centers, energy agencies, libraries, etc., - over 580 pieces printed,
- Organisation and participation to events, seminars, fairs and exhibitions, explaining the energy labels to visitors and participants.

#### Comparing energy labelling with ecodesign requirements<sup>4</sup>:

Energy labels were designed to help consumers to choose more energy efficient products at points of sale. Energy class A has been for long time the best energy efficiency class. However due to the technological development, the introduction of the three new A+/A++ / A+++ classes and the contemporary enforcement of the ecodesign requirements, class A is in a number of cases only the least available energy class on the market. The Come On Labels project has therefore produced a paper, summarising the range of energy classes displayed on energy labels and the effect of the enforcement of minimum ecodesign requirements. This paper has been circulated among national authorities and market actors, to explain the energy efficiency classes available on the market for individual products.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> http://www.come-on-labels.eu/displaying-energy-labels/retailer-training-manual

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> http://www.come-on-labels.eu/promoting-energy-labels/examples-of-promotion-activities

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> http://www.come-on-labels.eu/legislation/eu-product-energy-labelling

Product group		Energy efficiency classes shown on the energy label	Energy efficiency classes allowed on the market by minimum ecodesign requirements	Energy efficiency classes shown on the label, but not allowed by minimum ecodesign requirements
Washing machines		A+++ / D	A+++ / A	B, C, D
Dishwashers		A+++ / D	A+++ / A	B, C, D
Refrigerating	Compression type	A+++ / D	A+++ / A+	A, B, C, D
appliances	Absorption type	A+++ / G	A+++ / E	F, G
Televisions		A/G	A/G	
Light sources		A/G	A/C	D, E, F, G

Due to the complexity and the multiple actions of the project it is impossible to give a complete summary of the outcome in this paper. Therefore in the following paragraphs only three tasks will be described in detail: the implementation of the energy labelling and ecodesign legislation in EU Member States, the shop visits for monitoring label presence and the overview of product testing.

## 2. Energy Labelling and Ecodesign legislation implementation

While organising the project activities, such as visiting shops monitoring the presence of energy labels, collecting information about the product testing activities, disseminating energy labels to consumers and evaluating experience about product replacement schemes, one of the key features of the Come On Labels project activities in all of its 13 participating countries<sup>5</sup> was a regular contact with the national Market Surveillance Authorities, as well as other key national stakeholders, such as government representatives, manufacturer and retailer associations, etc. All of the project achievements, such as an overview of the presence of labels by the types of products and shops, or the examples of product tests, have been negotiated, with the aim to improve the quality of market surveillance activities, and thereby the level of product/shop compliance and consumer satisfaction.

One of the specific product project outcome was a detailed review of the level and nature of activities undertaken in individual project countries<sup>6</sup>. Find out here examples of some of the activities described in the main deliverable – only covering countries participating directly to the project:

A positive example of an increase of the level of surveillance activities came from the **Czech Republic**, which has in the past visited only limited number of shops, to verify the presence of energy labels, eg. 4 in the year 2010. In the year 2011 this has increased to 18 shops surveyed, and in 2012 to close to 300 shops. Overall results have been published in a press release. Authority representatives confirmed, to maintain this level of shop visits also for the future periods.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Austria, Belgium, Czech Republic, Croatia, Germany, Greece, Italy, Latvia, Malta, Poland, Portugal, Spain, UK

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Those interested in more information on related topics, may also consult another IEE projects: ATLETE II, focusing on market surveillance activities, by a questionnaire, mainly related to washing machines: <u>http://www.atlete.eu/2/market-surveillance-authorities</u> and Ecopliant project, focusing on ecodesign related activities: <u>http://www.ecopliant.eu/activity-streams/work-package-2-establishing-best-practice/</u>.

**Austria** reports 70 shop visits per year, with last year identifying 70 products not being labelled. This level of shop surveillance is considered by the authorities as sufficient and does not expect more controls in the future. No product testing takes place in Austria, but active participation to ADCO labelling group is confirmed.

In **Belgium**, 1,3 full time staff equivalent work at the ministry responsible for the legislation adaption and inspectorate responsible for its implementation, and 0,2 full time equivalent responsible for energy labelling related ecodesign and environmental product issues. In 2011, some 202 shops have been surveyed, and 3330 products declared as non compliant out of almost 20 thousand surveyed. 46 products have been tested in the last 4 years (2009 – 2012), mainly light sources, refrigerators and dishwashers, no sanctions have been applied, some lamp manufacturers have adapted the product packaging. Testing three units of the Step 2 is considered as one of the most prohibitive reasons for not conducting more product tests, and for the future foreign laboratories are expected to be able to submit tender applications.

The situation in **Germany** is more fragmented, since the surveillance activities take place by individual federal states. The recast of the German legislation on labelling, as a reaction to the EU Energy Labelling directive recast, has strengthened the role of market surveillance, eg. by introducing the requirement to set up a market surveillance plan, and reporting requirements. An example from the federal state *Hesse* includes a cooperation between the authorities and retailers, not only in ensuring correct labelling but also actively promoting efficient appliances. In *Bavaria*, laboratory testing of LED lamps is envisaged for 2013, related both to the energy labelling and ecodesign requirements. *Rhineland-Palatine* reports on 211 shop visits (including both first-time and follow-up visits) and 18 cases of administrative fines conducted. Baden-Wuerttemberg focused on a agreement between the federal state's ministry of environment and the local authorities, including a specific target for conducting market surveillance and establishing a management system comprising both labelling in shops and product testing. Results of activities are shared on a national level in the Bund-Länder working group, and internationally within the ADCO group on market surveillance.

The **Italian** surveillance authority is planning to implement a programme of checks on lighting products in the period 2013 - 2014 as part of a Memorandum of Understanding with the Italian Union of Chambers of Commerce, in cooperation with the chambers of commerce in the area, which includes the inspections of manufacturers and distributors as well as carrying out tests in selected laboratories. In general it is expected that suppliers must provide the technical documentation of the controlled product and, in case of doubt, the demonstration of compliance through the results of laboratory tests.. The monitoring costs are borne by the Authority. While few product tests take place in Italy, for 2013-2014 about 70 light sources are planned to be tested. As for the cooperation and international information exchange opportunities, Italian representatives appreciate the co-funding of market surveillance actions by the EU programmes and the European Commission offer of both financial support and the opportunity to meet with other Authorities and related institutions to share experience, compare procedure and when possible results. Also, EU centralised market surveillance actions and studies, developed by the European Commission such as the 2008 shop survey, or the funding of Round Robin test are welcomed.

One of the countries where little labelling compliance verification activities take place is **Latvia**, where no product testing and limited shop visits take place. However, Latvia can benefit significantly from the international cooperation. The 'Nordic project', focusing on market surveillance of the Nordic countries, also invites Baltic countries for cooperation and Latvian authority has confirmed its interest to receive the results and learn from its best practice.

The legislation in **Malta**, for example, includes the right of the Technical Regulations Division to request technical documentation in electronic format from suppliers within a specific timeframe and in case of potential and actual non-compliance cases, to order the supplier to forward the evidence

concerning the accuracy of the information supplied on their labels or fiches and take the necessary preventative steps to ensure compliance. Some 20 formal shop visits took place in 2012 and 20 are planned for 2013, and while no formal fines have been issued, information meetings and retailer trainings have been organised to inform non-compliant shops about their obligations related to energy labelling. No product tests take place, with one of the arguments being the lack of national accredited laboratory, but an interest in international exchange of experience and best practice was confirmed.

The last country to fully transpose the Energy Labelling directive has been **Poland**, which was officially and publicly urged by the European Commission to adapt it. The legislation was issued in September 2012 and entered force in Poland on February 1<sup>st</sup>, 2013. Two organisations are responsible for the market surveillance, one for all energy related products except TVs, and one for TVs only (and other electronic equipment for other surveillance matters). Due to the late approval of the legislation, no formal shop visits and product tests have yet been reported. A plan for testing 12 products has been announced for 2013, but the product categories have not yet been selected. Lack of financial resources and other priorities (dangerous products) are reported as the main barrier, but also an interest for international projects and active sharing and adaption of best practice.

**United Kingdom** is one of the EU countries, conducting regular product testing and shop surveillance visits. Its Advertising Standards Authority is also responsible for advertising and distance selling requirements. The approach of the National Measurement Office is to combine market surveillance with business support in order to increase compliance. In 2012, 188 retailers were visited, with average compliance over 70%, and 28 thousand products captured with over 60% compliant. Shops with a non-compliance rate of 50-100% products displayed were revisited, others received immediate advice followed by a letter requesting evidence of compliance. As regards product testing, the overall review of activities is not known, individual cases have been published in the form of press releases. The Energy Saving Trust, voluntary scheme covering 20% of the top energy efficient products, carried out 15 tests in 2010-2011 and 9 tests in 2011 – 2012, results of which have been discussed with the suppliers.

#### 3. Shop visits

The proper presence of energy labels at the point of sale, or specific information on catalogues and for internet sales, is crucial to allow consumers to make an educated choice of their new appliances.

The experience shows that the presence of labels on appliances in many shops is in general high around the European Member States; however, significant problems still exist in relation to specific product groups or distribution channels.

The Proper position of the label according to the EU legislation is shown in Table below.

**Internet sites and mail order catalogues check:** It is important that customers unable to see the product (and therefore the label) displayed are provided with the essential information of the products before the purchase. Internet sales and mail order catalogues check can be approached in the same way as shop inspections. The list of information to be checked is included in the product specific implementing measure.

**Checking of product advertisements:** According to the new energy labelling framework directive any advertisement for a specific products shall contain the energy efficiency class, if energy-related or price information are disclosed. Therefore, one of the market surveillance actions is also to verify if the energy class is always properly mentioned on the advertisements.

Table: Proper position of the label according to the EU legislation

Appliance	Position				
General	In the clearly visible position specified in the relevant implementing directive or regulation				
Refrigerators, freezers and their combinations					
Washing machines	The label shall be placed_on the outside of the front or the top of the appliance, in such way as to be clearly visible				
Dishwashers					
Televisions	On the front, in such a way as to be clearly visible				
Tumble driers					
Combined washer-driers	On the outside of the front or the top of the appliance, in such way as to be clearly visible, and not obscured.				
Air conditioners					
Ovens	On the door (outside) of the appliance in such way as to be clearly visible and not obscured. For multi-cavity ovens, each cavity shall have its own label, except a cavity which does not fall within the scope of the harmonized standards.				
Lamps	The label shall be placed or printed on, or attached to, the outside of the individual packaging of the lamp. Nothing else shall obscure it or reduce its visibility.				

#### 3.1 The shop visit methodology<sup>7</sup>

Within the Come On Labels project, 3 rounds of shop visits have taken place between December 2011 - January 2012 / August - September 2012 / and January - February 2013. The shop visits took place in 13 European countries and each partner visited at least 20 shops at every round of the shop visits. The check of the correct label presence in the shops within the Come On label project should follow the same procedure for every visit in order to make inspection results comparable.

The formal procedure for each shop visit includes three steps: preparation, inspection and follow–up. The label display for each model of the investigated products should be recorded following the check list and the shop should be informed about the next steps that the national Authority would be intending to take after the conclusion of the inspection. The follow-up depends on the verification procedure established in the national legislation.

In total, within the project, 900 shops have been visited, on average 300 shops per shop visit and 23 shops per country. The following types of shops were monitored:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> http://www.come-on-labels.eu/displaying-energy-labels/appliance-labelling-in-shops

- **Electronic superstores:** Large-scale specialists offering electrical appliances with a broad product range and often specialised departments for the different product groups.
- **Electric specialists:** Small and medium enterprises usually with a large range but a limited display area; often combined with service and maintenance offers.
- **Kitchen/Furniture stores:** Offering kitchen furniture including major household appliances; high degree of competence in planning and consulting services for clients; usually selling complete kitchens with most common major electrical appliances mainly of the built-in type.
- Hypermarkets/Cash and Carry: In most Member States, these are not as important for the sale of large household appliances as the other channels because the self-service character of these shops often does not respond to customers need for advice at the purchasing time.
- **Mail order and internet stores:** Based on websites and catalogues which are increasingly important for the sales of major domestic appliances. Information from the label and product fiche is displayed, often by text, not necessarily as a picture of the label.

Each country could select between two options for the selection of the range of shops covered:

- **Random selection:** in a selected town, region or country, making sure that each type of shops are represented. Within the random selection, some countries focused primarily on the retailers representing highest national sales.
- **Potentially "problematic" types**: the majority of shops covered are the ones expected to have lower presence of labels in general or for certain type of shops.

It is worth noting that the overall results of this exercise are not representative of the market for the EU and for individual countries, but only indicate some trends and identify some of the problems.

Project partners have monitored all products covered by the old and the new energy labelling scheme:

Appliances with a "new label":

- Washing machines
- Dishwashers
- Refrigerating appliances including wine storage appliances
- Televisions.

Note: TVs and wine storage appliances have been included in the calculations, even though some of the products may have entered the market before the labelling requirement entered into force in November 2011.

Appliances with the "old" energy label:

- Tumble driers<sup>8</sup>
- Electric ovens
- Air conditioners<sup>9</sup>
- Household lamps.

Light sources are not covered in the shop visit, since the label is printed on the package directly and therefore does not have the same potential label display problem as the other products.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Voluntarily the new label can be used since May 2012.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The new label is mandatory from 1 January 2013, but could be displayed before on a voluntary basis. This fact was reflected in the monitoring.

#### 3.2 Summary of findings of the proper presence of energy labels in shops

The overall result of the shop visit exercise is that between the late 2011 and early 2013 a **slight improvement** of the presence of energy labels at the points of sales has been occurred.



Figure: Share of proper label display in 1<sup>st</sup>, 2<sup>nd</sup> and 3<sup>rd</sup> round of shop visits per products

One of the main explanation, as shared by project partners, is the increased use of the new energy labels. The reasons for that are:

- The new energy label is only circulated in one piece which reduces the possibility of wrong label display
- Due to the new design and content there is a higher motivation of retailers to display label properly on products
- Organisation of a number of promotion activities increased the attention of consumers towards the labels
- Within the market surveillance activities, some authorities and other organisations increased the level of activities related to label display.

The Come On Labels project also monitored a "**partial/incorrect label**" display (i.e. for example labels being printed in shops, black and white copies, "strip" displayed only, labels placed at the back or inside the appliance, etc). There are two contradictory tendencies influencing the label display:

- As mentioned before, new energy labels are improving the situation reducing the opportunities for retailers to display only part of the label,
- With the growing importance of products sold over the internet, internet shops often display only partial information from the labels. While the legislation specifies the list of information to be provided for each product type, internet shops often only publish main product features, but not all the requested information.

Within the project duration (12/2010 - 5/2013), the **new energy labels** have entered stores for the three types of white appliances (refrigerating appliances, washing machines, dishwashers), and TVs and wine storage appliances.

New energy labels for tumble driers, air-conditioners, non-directional light sources and lamps, were also enforced, but due to the later dates of mandatory application, and because the project partners

were unable to gather the date of placing on the market of the single models the presence of the new label for these appliances have been monitored, but not statistically evaluated.

The new label display for refrigerating appliances has been most "successful", where over 80% of appliances in the shops in early 2013 had already the new energy label – up from half of the products of about one year earlier.

Televisions are the product group being labelled in shops for the first time. While less then one third of models was labelled in early 2012, one year later over two thirds of models bore the label.



Figure: Share of the new energy label display per product category

On the contrary the following products were the most "**problematic**" in terms of the proper label display:

- Wine storage appliances: newly labelled product group, with a niche position and slow turnover in most markets, taking the least attention of the retailers and presumably also consumers,
- Air-Conditioners: sometimes distributed in other types of shops (installers shops), where shop assistants are less used to display energy labels,
- TVs: A new product category, still showing a significant increase of the labels display, but with the date of market entry of individual products not possible to verify,
- Ovens: surprisingly this product category is often not labelled, even if ovens have had the label for a long time and are distributed in shops where other products are instead correctly labelled, and, moreover, large section of the market is listed as class A.

Table: Display of new energy labels in shops - Results per product type

	Labelled correctly	Partly labelled	Not labelled
Refrigerating appliances	76 %	14 %	10 %
Wine storage	34 %	8 %	58 % 🖌
TVs	57 %	10 %	33 % 🖌
Washing machines	73 %	15 %	12 %
Dishwashers	71 %	15 %	14 %
Air-Conditioners	28 %	32 %	39 % 🖌
Electric ovens	45 %	23 %	32 % 🖌
Tumble driers	58 %	24 %	18 %

When shop types are considered, the following ones are the most "**problematic**" in terms of the proper label display:

- Kitchen studios: since kitchen studios are specialised in furniture selling, many shop assistants do not use labels on purpose, arguing that the labels destroy the design of the kitchen furniture displayed
- General hypermarkets: since general hypermarkets focus on a large number of items, labelled products are only one (sometimes very small) part of their portfolio.
- Electric specialists: despite focusing mainly on electric products, these are individual shops (not chains) and the level of proper label display ranges considerably here, from almost 100% compliance to a very low level of label display, depending on the shop manager decisions.

Table:	Display	of (	energy	labels	in	shops -	<ul> <li>Results</li> </ul>	per	shop type	¢
--------	---------	------	--------	--------	----	---------	-----------------------------	-----	-----------	---

Shop type	Count	%	Labelled correctly	Partly / Incorrectly labelled	Not labelled
Electronic superstore	73	24%	70%	9%	21%
Electric specialist	126	30%	56%	12%	31% 📕
Kitchen studio / Furniture stores	58	24%	26%	15%	59% 🖌
General hypermarkets / Cash and Carry	47	14%	50%	8%	37% 🖌
Mail order and internet stores	27	8%	54%	35%	11%
Total - Visits 3	279		51%	13%	35%
Total - Visits 2	331		52%	11%	38%
Total - Visits 1	290		54%	13%	33%

#### 3.3 Example of labels not correctly displayed

The most common examples of labels not being correctly displayed include:

- Labels covered with other stickers, advertising materials, or price tags
- Labels placed inside the appliance, on the side or on the back
- "DIY" labels, hand written labels made by retailers
- Labels sealed in a plastic envelope, not accessible to consumers in shops
- For old labels only the data strip is displayed / or only the background with the coloured arrows but with no figures
- Labels not matching the appliances
- Two labels for one appliance in some cases also both the old/new labels, both showing a different energy class.
- For internet shops, some of the prescribed data is missing
- Usage of non-existing energy classes, such as A++++ or A+++-20% in internet sales, where it is used as the energy class indication.

These and other issues have also been reflected in the project's retailer training manual, which was then actively circulated around the shops, and which includes further sample pictures of wrong label placement.

Some of the shop visits were accompanied by informal interviews with shop assistants, seeking feedback on why labels were not displayed fully in certain shops or for certain products types. These interviews have been done on a voluntary basis – not as a formal project deliverable. Retailers have been, however, indicating the following reasons for not showing the labels correctly:

- The national system of the distribution of energy labels to shops influences the availability of labels.
- In countries, where labels are not distributed by supplier associations, the responsibility of individual suppliers to deliver the two parts of the old labels could be lower.
- Sometimes the energy label is sealed in a plastic bag, which neither the retailers nor the consumers want to open in the shop, since it could be perceived that the specific model is a used product, or that other parts included in the bag could be lost.
- Sticking a label onto the product could leave glue residues on the surface of the product, when the label is removed.
- The aesthetics of the labels on the products, mainly for built-in and in kitchen/furniture shops.
- The use of the shop's or manufacturer's own "eco" labels for retail stores. These labels, placed on selected products, are made clearly visible and are oft en part of marketing activities of the retail store. However, the criteria for selection are not always made available and in any case this behaviour is in contrast with the obligations of the retailers established in the energy labelling framework directive.
- Arguments of having no interest in labels, as if the label were simply a matter of choice.
- Slow turnover of some products, resulting in presumably old models being displayed that were placed on the market before the new legislation entering in force.
- Mandatory presence of energy class information generally unknown to managers of e-commerce shops' general catalogue websites and in product advertising since this is a new provision.

• Claiming that a different legal entity is selling the products to consumers, than the one displaying the products in the shop.

#### 4. Retailer training

To contribute to the improvement of the proper display of energy labels in shops, the Come On Labels project has prepared a Retailer Training Manual, summarising the following information:

- Explanation of the content and importance of energy labels
- Guidance on the proper label display
- Facts and tips on the labels and energy efficiency for consumers.

The document is available in 11 language and 13 national adaptations<sup>10</sup>.

Over 1000 copies of the training manual have been printed and circulated, numerous electronic samples have been circulated to retailers, suppliers, authorities and other interested stakeholders. Examples of the usage of the document include:

- Retailers: Individual training sessions for shop assistants from individual shops and shop chains and Inclusion into retailers' education and e-learning schemes
- Manufacturers: Common distribution of the manual to individual suppliers, either by individual manufacturers, or in cooperation with the national manufacturer association
- Authorities: Distribution to individual inspectors located around the country and organisation of common events and seminars for inspectors or the retailers
- Consumer NGOs etc: Common awareness raising about proper labels display

#### 5. Examples of known compliance tests<sup>11</sup>

Energy labels are a crucial driver for market transformation, orienting consumers' choice towards more energy efficient appliances and thus realizing the potential of available technologies.

Unfortunately, not all EU Member States apply effective actions for controlling the correct labelling implementation. Without a concerted effort the same is likely to happen for the forthcoming eco-design and energy labelling implementing measures for energy using products.

The Come On Labels project therefore seek to collect information about product testing, undertaken in order to verify energy consumption related information on the product energy labels. This information

is shared by the project partners in 13 European countries with stakeholders, such as national surveillance authorities, manufacturer and retailer representatives, consumer organisations, media, etc.

The main goal of this Deliverable was to increase European-wide implementation and control of energy labelling and eco-design implementing measures for appliances by:

 collecting and circulating results of the European testing results on household appliances;



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> http://www.come-on-labels.eu/displaying-energy-labels/retailer-training-manua

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> http://www.come-on-labels.eu/appliance-testing/appliance-tests-2011-2013

- contributing to increased the attention of the National Authorities through a better awareness of the impact of the energy labelling on the national energy efficiency;
- giving concrete guidance to EU and National Authorities for an increasingly effective labelling implementation;
- highlighting a shared procedure for the verification of the manufacturers' labelling declaration including referencing to a methodology for laboratories accreditation and models selection.

The Come On Labels project has focused on **The individual testing activities collected and explained in the three editions of this document include:** 

#### ATLETE project, Intelligent Energy Europe project, 2009 – 2011

The project has focused on testing refrigerating appliances for their compliance with the energy label declarations and it was the first European wide testing activity focusing on a EU policy measure concerning market surveillance and physically testing 80 randomly selected refrigerating appliances. The project has brought specific examples of product test results and confirmed the affordability of market surveillance.

The final test results show that 80% of appliances subjected to testing and for which testing has been concluded complied with the energy efficiency class declaration and the two related key parameters: energy consumption and storage volume. But when all five parameters are taken into consideration 57% of them do not comply with at least one of the tested parameters.

All test results and test reports for each individual model are publicly available on the project website and have been shared with the EU Member State Market Surveillance Authorities, media, experts and stakeholders.

#### • UK - National Measurement Office, 2010 – 2012

The National Measurement Office (NMO) tested refrigerators, fridge freezers and freezers across a broad spectrum of specifications for compliance against the EC regulation 94/2/EC for energy labelling accuracy and also EC 643/2009 for allowed energy use for household appliances.

Twelve models were purchased from on-line and high street retailers and sent to an independent accredited test house for examination. Four of them were subject to further testing to verify non-compliance. The four failed with a range of results requiring a range of investigation, enforcement action and sanctions. In the worst case, the test report identified the percentage difference between the measured and claimed energy consumption was over 120%, this would be the equivalent of claiming to be an A rating when in-fact the test results suggested a G rating.

#### • UK – Energy Saving Trust 2010 - 2012

The UK's Energy Saving Trust Recommended scheme (ESTR) voluntary product labelling scheme is an example of an Environmental Product Information Scheme encompassing its own compliance testing, enforcement activity and evaluation for environmental effectiveness and improvements in environmental quality.

In 2010-2012, EST tested 24 refrigerating appliances for the energy consumption and the storage volume, but not the other parameters of the energy labelling (storage temperature, temperature rise time and freezing capacity) to verify the (old or new) energy labelling declarations and the compliance with the ESTR minimum requirements (EEI corresponding to A+ class).

As far as the energy consumption is concerned, 4 models out of the 6 for which a Step 2 test (on 3 additional units of the same model) would have been necessary show a difference between the declared and the measured value largely exceeding the permitted tolerance of the relevant labelling scheme, while for other 2 models the difference is almost negligible.

#### • Spain – IDEA tests, 2008 – 2011

In Spain IDAE, the Institute for the Diversification and Saving of Energy, manages a national database efficient domestic appliances including the models eligible for the governmental rebate scheme. Compliance verification actions on the declared labelling parameters were run on these models according to the EU legislation and the relevant harmonised standards. IDEA acquires from the

manufacturer a sample of the product to be tested that is sent to LCOE (the Official Central Laboratory). In general, models selection is based on a higher probability of non-compliance. It is worth noting that since only one unit of each model has been tested no formal conclusions about the compliance with the labelling declaration can be drawn from the test results.

#### • Spain – ANFEL tests, 2010 - 2011

The Spanish Association of Domestic Appliances Manufacturers, ANFEL, is active in supporting market surveillance by denouncing non-compliant household appliances and relevant suppliers. Examples of their activities include publishing the results of tests of two models of refrigerator-freezers, accused not to be compliant with the energy label declaration, requesting the national authorities and the national subsidy scheme organisers to remove these from the list of models eligible for the subsidy.

#### Nordic project: 2011

Financed by The Nordic Council of Minister starting from 2011, the aim of the project is to develop the Nordic collaboration concerning market surveillance to check the accuracy of the information declared on the energy label and if the product fulfils the eco design requirements for Sweden, Norway, Denmark, Finland and Iceland.

Although limited additional information is available on the technical characteristics of the appliances tested, this is a good example on how test developed in one laboratory could be used as the basis for a market surveillance action in a number of EU countries.

#### • The Netherlands: testing in German laboratory

Another example of the successful use of test results achieved in a laboratory of a different country is included in the "Annual report 2009, Energy label compliance in the Netherlands". As reported, most of the tests on household appliances were done in the German laboratory VDE located in Offenbach. The testing of appliances followed a European procurement procedure, after which VDE Offenbach (and TNO Apeldoorn) were selected to carry out tests for 2009. On the basis of random sampling, several appliances from each category were tested to establish the level of correctness of information provided on energy labels. This example demonstrates the possibility of conducting testing in a cooperation between a MSA and laboratory from different countries.

#### Intelligent Energy Europe projects 2012 – 2014

Several European projects are currently organised with the aim to verify energy consumption of certain products groups and to compare this with the energy label declarations, and / or the ecodesign legislation requirements. Currently (Spring 2013) these projects are:

• **ATLETE II**: 50 models of washing machines, full tests, including test reports, to be published in 2014,

Ecopliant: product categories for testing to be decided, aggregated results expected in 2014,

• **PremiumLight**: focusing on high quality CFL and LED light sources, 60 – 80 models, test results expected in 2013-2014,

• Euro Topten MAX: high efficiency LED lamps, TV and tumble drier models, results in 2014,

• **MarketWatch**: product categories to be decided, based on non-compliance high risk suspicion, results expected in 2014,

• **ComplianTV**: 125 TVs and 75 monitors to be tested for energy labels and ecodesign compliance, results expected in 2014.

#### 6. Conclusion

•

main aspects of the energy labelling implementation: from cooperating with the market surveillance Authorities, to the actual monitoring of the labels presence in shops and the collection of information about the presence of labels in shops, to the analysis of the potential of product replacement schemes and the monitoring of existing ones, to finally organising numerous dissemination activities.

Within the two main activities described in this paper, the project has concluded:

- Slight improvement of the presence of energy labels in shops, presumably mainly due to the increased presence of new energy labels,
- An interest of market surveillance authorities to exchange information about product testing and surveillance best practice, so that the authorities could learn from each other and benefit from their individual activities.

The sole responsibility for the content of this report lies with the authors. It does not necessarily reflect the opinion of the European Union. Neither the EACI nor the European Commission is responsible for any use that may be made of the information contained therein.





Co-funded by the Intelligent Energy Europe Programme of the European Union

# Evidence of Progress – Measurement of Impacts of Australia's S&L Program from 1990-2010

Danielle Lowenthal-Savy Michael McNeil Lloyd Harrington

Nicholas School of the Environment, Duke University Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory Energy Efficient Strategies

#### Abstract

Australia first put categorical energy efficiency labels on residential appliances in the mid-1980s, and the first Minimum Energy Performance Standards (MEPS) for refrigerators was implemented in 1999. Updated in 2005, these MEPS were aligned with US 2001 levels. Considered together, these actions set Australia apart as having one of the most aggressive appliance efficiency programs in the world. For these reasons, together with good data on product sales over time, Australia represents a potentially fruitful case study for understanding the dynamics energy efficiency standards and labeling (EES&L) programs impacts on appliance markets. This analysis attempts to distinguish between the impacts of labeling alone as opposed to MEPS, and to probe the time-dependency of such impacts.

Fortunately, in the Australian case, detailed market sales data and a comprehensive registration system provides a solid basis for the empirical evaluation of these questions. This paper analyzes Australian refrigerator efficiency data covering the years 1993-2009. Sales data was purchased from a commercial market research organization (in this case, the GfK Group) and includes sales and average price in each year for each appliance model – this can be used to understand broader trends by product class and star rating category, even where data is aggregated. Statistical regression analysis is used to model market introduction and adoption of high efficiency refrigerators according to logistic adoption model formalism, and parameterizes the way in which the Australian programs accelerated adoption of high-efficiency products and phased out others. Through this analysis, the paper presents a detailed, robust and quantitative picture of the impacts of EES&L in the Australian case, but also demonstrates a methodology of the evaluation of program impacts that could form the basis of an international evaluation framework for similar programs in other countries.

#### Introduction

In attempts to address climate change and carbon emissions, Australia addressed energy efficiency improvements by first putting categorical energy efficiency labels on residential appliances in the mid-1980s<sup>1</sup>. Also promoting consumer information, this label uses stars to rate the energy efficiency of the product and promotes differentiation on the basis of energy and consideration of total life cycle costs. The original label, established in 1986, and its 2000 revision are illustrated below.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Holt, S., Weston, J., Foster, R. (2011). The Australian Experience of



Figure 1: Original label (1986) and 2000 revision

The energy labels are simple but very salient for consumers, and now have extremely high recognition and credibility with consumers in Australia. This label was one of the first categorical labels for energy efficiency used in the world and the concept has now been successfully adopted in all regions, except North America. The goal of the Minimum Efficiency Performance Standards (MEPS) is to accelerate energy efficiency adoption rates for appliances in advance of what the market will otherwise deliver with energy labeling alone. Such standards were first implemented in Australia for refrigerators in October 1999, and later revised in January 2005. As mandated by the Australian legislature, MEPS allow the Australian government to prohibit manufacturers from selling their products if they do not meet the performance standards. In order to facilitate adoption of new more stringent standards, the 2005 MEPS were harmonized with the American 2001 standards, at the time considered to be the most stringent in the world. Around the same time, in 2000, the efficiency rating algorithm was rescaled to better represent the relationship between efficiency and volume and to deal with extensive "market creep" where large numbers of models had achieved fairly high star ratings in the 14 years since labeling began. Considered together, these actions set Australia apart as having one of the most stringent appliance efficiency programs in the world, along with the United-States and Canada. For these reasons, the Australian example represents an illustrative case study for energy efficiency standards and labeling (EES&L) program dynamics and how they impact appliance markets. This paper analyzes Australian refrigerator efficiency data covering the years 1993-2009.

Statistical regression analysis is used to model market introduction and uptake of high efficiency refrigerators according to logistic adoption model formalism, and thereby parameterize the way in which the Australian programs accelerated adoption of high-efficiency products and phased out others. Through this analysis, the paper demonstrates a methodology of the evaluation of program impacts that could form the basis of an international evaluation framework for similar programs in other countries.

#### History of Refrigerator MEPS and Labeling in Australia

The 1999 Australian MEPS were announced three years prior in 1996, and the 2005 MEPS was announced in 2001. A different approach for determining the standards was used for both the determination of the 1999 and 2005 MEPS levels: the 1999 MEPS levels were determined by using a statistical approach in which 1992 market data was used to evaluate the relationship between energy and adjusted volume of the appliance. The original approach sought to draw a line below 40% of available models in each of the nine refrigerator categories. However, this statistical method was replaced in 2001 with what is referred to as the "international harmonization" approach, in which the Australia MEPS were updated to align with American 2001 MEPS levels for refrigerators<sup>2</sup>. American MEPS levels in 2001 were considered to be the most stringent, and by adopting such standards, Australia eliminated trade barriers and set out to achieve ambitious energy efficiency goals. Meeting these goals was a remarkable achievement for Australia; in October 2000 not a single refrigerator or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Holt, S., Weston, J., Foster, R. (2011). The Australian Experience of Minimum Product Standards.

freezer on the market met the proposed MEPS schedule which was intended to begin in 5 years<sup>3</sup>. A sparsely populated country like Australia is rarely in a position to unilaterally set MEPS to be the best in the world; it must rely on larger economic blocks like North America and Europe to invest the resources to push the market towards the technological limits, thus allowing smaller markets like Australia's to follow in their wake.

In addition to the new MEPS implementation approach, the energy labeling rating algorithm was rescaled in 2000 for all labeled appliances (and again in 2010 for refrigerators, but the impact of this label change is beyond the scope of this paper). The original algorithm developed in 1985 and introduced in 1986, used an approach to calculating the star rating based on energy consumption and adjusted volume of the appliance. This method used a linear relationship that unfairly biased larger appliances and had a fixed energy step per additional star. The revised algorithm also calculates the star rating based on adjusted volume but with a fixed energy offset, removing some of the volume bias in the older scheme. The new scheme also introduced the concept of a geometric progression, which effectively fixed the percentage energy reduction per additional star to be constant across all star ratings (reflecting the fact that additional energy reductions are harder to achieve as absolute energy declines). The old algorithm had six possible star ratings ranging from 1 (worst performing) through 6 (best performing), while the new system retained 1 to 6 stars but included half star intervals (giving a total of 11 possible grades). The label itself was redesigned so the unearned stars were now visible in outline. As a result of the change, the star ratings prior to 2000 were phased out. However, the data used in this analysis solely uses the new algorithm, where data prior to 2000 was converted from the old algorithm to the new one. The consistent use of the new algorithm established in 2000 illustrates the evolution of domestic refrigerator technologies while labeling categories are held constant.

#### Methods

#### The Data

This paper analyzes Australian refrigerator efficiency data covering the years 1993-2009. Sales data was purchased from a commercial market research company (GfK Group) and the data was cross matched to a comprehensive registration database by Energy Efficient Strategies on contract to the Australian government as part of its ongoing monitoring and evaluation program. The purchased sales data includes sales by model and average price paid by model in each year. The registration database included all technical details for each model such as tested energy, volume, features, configuration and other critical data. Cross matched model data was then aggregated into product categories and star rating. While there are currently 10 categories of refrigerators and freezers on the Australian market (called Groups), this analysis focuses on the four categories of refrigerators described as combined refrigerator-freezers, which constitute approximately 80% of the Australian refrigerator market<sup>4</sup>.

The data, used to evaluate the impact of the 1999 and 2005 MEPS, separated into 3 time periods delineated by the introduction of new MEPS.

- Period 1: 1993-1996
- Period 2: 2000-2003
- Period 3: 2005-2009

Statistical regression is used on the market share data of each star rating level for each time period to determine the rate of uptake of efficiency improvement. The regression parameters are then used in conjunction with the logistic formalism to develop S-curves representing the cumulative market share across efficiency levels.

The 1999 MEPS were introduced in the last annual quarter (October) and therefore the pre-1999 MEPS period is considered to be from 1993 through 1999. However, the 2005 MEPS revision occurred in January of that year, so the post-2005 MEPS period includes 2005 and is considered to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Harrington, L., & Holt, S. (2002). Matching World's Best Regulated Efficiency Standards: Australia's Success in Adopting New Refrigerator MEPS

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Energy Efficient Strategies, 2010

be 2005 – 2009. One of the important observations of our research is that there was significant movement in the market in advance of the 1999 and 2005 MEPS as a result of announcements of the regulations in before their implementation. For this reason, market behavior in these 'transition periods' before each MEPS implementation date is not well described by an S-curve and therefore these years (1997-1999 and 2004) were excluded from the regression. The exclusion of the transition years is results in an increased R<sup>2</sup>, confirming the rationale for their exclusion.

#### The Market Share Model

#### Original Market Share Data and Cumulative Market Share

The data includes sales and average price in each year for each product category and each star rating, which ranges from 1 to 6 stars in half star intervals. This data was used to obtain the market share percentage in each year of each efficiency rating. The market share percentage for each efficiency level indicates the percentage of the Australian market for residential refrigerators of each efficiency level. For example, if a 4-star refrigerator has a market share of 15% in 1993, this means that in 1993 4-star refrigerators only made up 15% of the total residential refrigerator market in Australia.

For this analysis, the cumulative market share across efficiency levels is used as the principal variable to evaluate the impacts of changes in efficiency over time. This cumulative market share of a specified efficiency level represents the additive value of the market shares of all of the star ratings equal to or greater than the specified star rating. For example, if the cumulative market share in 1993 for a 3-star appliance is 3.4%, than all appliances rated 3.0 or greater constitute a combined market share of 3.4%. The cumulative market share across star efficiency levels appears to be the best metric to evaluate the energy efficiency improvements because energy efficiency technologies that are used in one level are assumed to apply to higher levels as well<sup>5</sup>.

#### Model Formalism

The general form of the cumulative market share relationship with time follows an S-shaped sigmoid function and is best described by the function expressed below<sup>6</sup>:

$$F(t) = \frac{1}{1 + e^{-q \cdot (t - t_0)}}$$

- where *F*(*t*) indicates the cumulative market share of a specified efficiency level for a specific year, *t*;
- t represents the year of the market share data;
- $t_0$  is such that  $F(t_0) = 0.5$ ;
- and *q* is the adoption rate of a specific efficiency level.

This analysis uses the logistic model because it can easily be converted to a linear function, allowing for a linear regression analysis of the data and determination of the model parameters<sup>7</sup>. By definition, the logistic function has a maximum of 1, at which point market saturation is reached. The minimum of the function is 0, at which point the product has no share of the market. While the function has several parameters, those determined by the statistical regression are *q*, the rate of adoption, and *c*, the constant of the regression. The remaining parameters are functions of those determined by the regression.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Van Buskirk, R. (2012). An Adoption Curv-Fitting Method Estimating Market Efficiency Improvement and Acceleration

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> McNeil, M., & Letschert, V. E. (2010). Modeling Diffusion of Electrical Appliances in the Residential Sector

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Van Buskirk, R. (2012). An Adoption Curve-Fitting Method Estimating Market Efficiency Improvement and Acceleration

#### Analysis of the Data

The data is linearized to facilitate estimation of the cumulative market share with a function that can be estimated linearly. The linearization allows regression analysis to be performed and to estimate the values of the parameters *q* (the slope) and *c*, the constant.

A plot of the raw, untransformed cumulative market shares is provided below. The data used for the remainder of the analysis was rescaled using the logistic distribution described above.



Figure 2: Raw Data of Cumulative Market Share of Australian Refrigerator-Freezers

#### Estimation of Model Parameters: q and t<sub>0</sub>

In order to fit the data a regression is performed for each year on each of the 3 segments of the data delineated above to determine the slope of the trend line. The slope of the regression, representing the rate of adoption of new appliances, is represented by q. While the constant c does not appear as a parameter of the model, it is used to determine the value of  $t_0$ , the year at which the cumulate market share is 50% (i.e. the inflection point of the S-curve). Following from the fact that  $t_0$  is such that  $F(t_0) = 0.5$ , we find that  $t_0 = \frac{-c}{r}$ .

i able 1. Su	IIIIIai	y of Keyres	SIVII Falaili	eters and	Statistics				
				S	RI EFFICIE	ENCY LEV	ΞL		
	1.0	1.5	2.0	2.5	3.0	3.5	4.0	4.5	5.0
					VALUE	S OF q			
Period 1	-	0.17	0.19	0.16	0.19	-	-	-	-
Period 2	-	0.81	0.25	0.01	0.04	0.28	0.92	0.43	-
Period 3	-	6.69	5.65	1.74	1.62	0.58	-0.01	0.10	1.17
					VALUE	S OF C			
Period 1	-	-346.4	-369.6	-323.6	-380.5	-	-	-	-
Period 2	-	-1624.2	-507.0	-15.2	-83.8	-567.2	-1841.8	-863.0	-
Period 3	-	-13400.3	-11329.6	-3493.4	-3238.0	-1166.7	16.4	-202.5	-2345.7
					VALUE	S OF t₀			
Period 1	-	1986.9	1995.6	2001.4	2015.8	-	-	-	-
Period 2	-	1993.8	1990.9	1867.3	2013.5	2008.9	2005.9	2012.1	-
Period 3	-	0.0	2004.4	2002.4	2002.8	2000.5	2073.4	2027.8	2012.2

#### Table 1: Summary of Regression Parameters and Statistics

5.5

6.0

Period 2	_	0.79	0.74	0.01	0.30	0.77	0.85	0.44		-	-
Period 3	-	0.84	0.52	0.93	0.95	0.76	0.01	0.66	0.90	-	-
Std. Err. of q Coefficient											
Period 1	-	0.07	0.02	0.04	0.02	-	-	-	-	-	-
Period 2	-	0.42	0.11	0.05	0.05	0.11	0.27	0.34	-	-	-
Period 3	-	2.05	3.16	0.28	0.21	0.19	0.05	0.04	0.38	-	-
Std. Err. Of constant											
Period 1	-	136.75	41.14	78.79	31.48	-	-	-	-	-	-
Period 2	-	837.77	213.24	109.05	90.45	217.02	539.59	680.11	-	-	-
Period 3	-	4115.91	6337.04	554.94	425.39	381.25	96.50	83.03	765.87	-	-
t-statistic											
Period 1	-	2.54	8.98	4.09	11.96	-	-	-	-	-	-
Period 2	-	1.95	2.39	0.15	0.92	2.60	3.41	1.26	-	-	-
Period 3	-	-	1.79	6.31	7.63	3.07	-0.16	2.41	3.06	-	-

The results of the regressions for all efficiency levels are summarized in Table 1 (above). This table lists all of the regression parameters and regression statistics used in fitting the data to the cumulative market share model described above. For example, in the case of star efficiency level 2.0, the slope of the market share (represented by the value of q) in time period 1 is less than in periods 2 and 3. This indicates that the market share for appliances that have a 2.0 star rating or greater grows slowest in time period 1, then increases in period 2, and then increases down significantly in period 3.

Once that the values of q have been determined for each time period and each efficiency level, the logistic transformation is used to model the anticipated cumulative market share of each efficiency level. This model assumes that each new MEPS implementation (occurring in both 1999 and 2005) triggers the q value to change.

#### Cumulative Market Share Projections

This model produces 'S-curves', illustrating the changing cumulative market share value over time of each efficiency level. The S-curves are used to model three different historical scenarios. A description of the three scenarios follows:

- Scenario 1: No MEPS were implemented in either 1999 or 2005. This scenario models the cumulative market share if no MEPS had been implemented. This scenario is a counterfactual of the 1999 and 2005 MEPS. (The *q* value remains constant for each year in this scenario)
- Scenario 2: MEPS were implemented in 1999, but not in 2005. This scenario models the effect that the MEPS in 1999 had on the cumulative market share and estimates what the cumulative market shares would have been after 1999 assuming that no additional MEPS were implemented. This scenario is the second counterfactual. In this case, the *q* value for each year is the same period 2 and period 3, but different in period 1.
- **Scenario 3**: MEPS were implemented in both 1999 and 2005. This scenario models the effect that the MEPS had on the cumulative market shares. This scenario models the historical progression of cumulative market shares and closely resembles the actual data points. (In this case the *q* value is different in each time period for each year.)

As mentioned above, a change in MEPS policy such as the ones introduced in 1999 and 2005 are expected to trigger the value of q to change. A summary of the scenarios and the values of q that are used is summarized in the table below.

#### **Table 2: Summary of Model Scenarios**

Scenario	Description	Value of <i>q</i> parameter	Nbr. of Values of q
1	No MEPS	Constant q	1

2	MEPS in 1999	Value of <i>q</i> changes in 1999	2
3	MEPS in 1999 and 2005	Value of <i>q</i> changes in 1999 and 2005	3

#### Energy Efficiency Improvement

The goal of the cumulative market share projection is to evaluate the energy efficiency improvement and energy savings resulting from the 1999 and 2005 MEPS, as well as the rescaling of the labels in 2000 (which is effectively bundled into the 1999 MEPS change). The evaluation is based on the difference between the counterfactual scenarios (1 & 2) and the scenario that closely reflects actual historical changes (Scenario 3).

The energy efficiency improvement calculation is based on the comparative energy consumption (CEC), which corresponds to the energy that appears on the energy label. This energy consumption is measured in kWh/year and is used with the market share data to obtain a weighted average of the yearly energy consumption by energy star rating. The two steps in this calculation are: 1) Calculating the CEC for each star level for each year; 2) calculating the weighted average of the projected CEC by using the market share projections for each efficiency level for each star level. The equations below detail the calculation involved in the two steps mentioned above.

#### Comparative Energy Consumption

The refrigerator star rating algorithm<sup>8</sup> is:

$$SRI = 1 + \left[\frac{\frac{\text{III CEC}}{BEC}}{\ln(1 - ERF)}\right]$$

The terms from the equation above are defined as follows:

#### SRI is Star Rating Index (star efficiency level)

*CEC* is Comparative Energy Consumption (energy that appears on the energy label) *BEC* is Base Energy Consumption (this is the line that represents the energy for a star rating of 1.0). *ERF* is the Energy Reduction Factor (this is the energy reduction for each additional star).

The sales data analyzed provided the star rating. The sales by star rating, the CEC for each model, the average size and energy by star rating can also be calculated.

#### Weighted CEC

The *CEC* (label for annual energy) is weighted by the annual sales by model to obtain the yearly weighted average energy consumption for each star rating. The *CEC* for each efficiency level was then used in conjunction with the projected market share model to produce a projected counterfactual of consumed energy for each scenario.

#### Energy Savings

The energy savings are determined by calculating the difference between the weighted average energy consumption and the extrapolated weighted average energy consumption from the S-curves for both the 1999 MEPS and the 2005 MEPS. The difference is calculated as follows:

Yearly Energy Savings from Scenario 2 (1999 MEPS)

= (Projected Weighted Averave CEC from Scenario 2)

- (Projected Weighted Averave CEC from Scenario 1)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Appliance Energy Consumption in Australia: Equations for Appliance Star Ratings.

Yearly Energy Savings from Scenario 3 (1999 and 2005 MEPS) = (Projected Weighted Averave CEC from Scenario 3) - (Projected Weighted Averave CEC from Scenario 1)

Where the weighted average CEC is derived from the sales data and the projected weighted average CEC is derived from the S-curves.

#### Results

#### **Market Share Projections**

#### Cumulative Market Shares

Figure 4 illustrates the cumulative market share in Scenarios 2 and 3. The dotted line in the figures represents the counterfactual scenarios, the solid lines represent the model fit of the scenarios, and the points are the actual market share data points.

In Scenario 2 the counterfactual is considered to be the cumulative market share of the efficiency levels assuming that no MEPS had been implemented in 1999 or 2005 (Scenario 1); in Scenario 3 the counterfactual is considered to be the cumulative market share of efficiency levels assuming that MEPS had been implemented in 1999 but not in 2005 (Scenario 2).

The model produced the cumulative market share projections for 1993 through 2010 for all the efficiency levels in Scenario 1. Scenario 1, in which there was no MEPS in 1999 or 2005, illustrates that in 1993 the only efficiency levels that have a cumulative market share greater than 0 are the lower levels, such as the 1.5, 2.0, 2.5, and 3.0 star levels. Higher efficiency levels did not constitute any percentage of the market in 1993, and the model determines that they only entered the market after the first MEPS in 1999. The model indicates that efficiency star levels 3.5 through 6 would not been introduced to the Australian market if it were not for the MEPS in 1999.

The lower efficiency star levels, levels 1.5, 2.0, 2.5, and 3.0, are also determined by the model to reach or approach their saturation point by 2009. For example, the star levels of 2.0 or greater constitute close to 100% of the market in 2009.

Figure 4 illustrates the market impact for both Scenarios 2 and 3. As shown in time period 2 of the plot for Scenario 2 (left-hand panel), the projected cumulative market share for star efficiency levels 1.5 -3.0 is greater than the counterfactual cumulative market share, implying that for these low efficiency star levels the MEPS resulted in an increase of cumulative market share. Higher-efficiency levels, such as star efficiency levels 3.5 and greater, have no counterfactual because they did not exist in 1993, the start year for the data and on which was based the model. Therefore, the impact of the MEPS introduced in 1999 was to increase the cumulative market share of mid-range efficiency levels (i.e. 2.5 and 3.0 stars) and phase in higher efficiency appliances (i.e. 3.5 stars - 6.0 stars). The right-hand panel of Figure 4 illustrates Scenario 3, in which the MEPS was implemented in both 1999 and 2005 (this reflects reality). The projected cumulative market share of lower efficiency levels in time period 3 increase above the counterfactual and reaches the market saturation point. This increase is the case for star efficiency levels 1.5 - 3.5, where the solid line can clearly be seen rising above the dotted counterfactual. While the cumulative market shares of levels 1.5 - 4.0 increases above the counterfactual, the market saturation point is only reached by star efficiency levels 1.5 - 3.5. The increase in cumulative market share is most likely the result of increasing market shares in the recently introduced higher efficiency star levels, such as 4.0 - 6.0. However, the MEPS in 1999 seem to have caused SRI efficiency level 4.0 to jump, but it is then surpassed by the counterfactual. Levels greater than 5.0 have a cumulative market share of zero because those levels do not yet exist.

The increase in cumulative market share of star levels 1.5 - 3.5 most likely results from the increase in level 4.0 and 5.0. As a result of this increase in cumulative market share for low-efficiency appliances, the market makes room for higher efficiency appliances. As expected, the 2005 MEPS results in the introduction of higher efficiency appliances to the Australian market.



Figure 3: Adoption Curves of Australian Refrigerators-Freezers for Scenario 1



Figure 4: Adoption Curves of Australian Refrigerators for Scenarios 2 and 3

#### **Energy Efficiency Improvement and Energy Savings**

The left-hand panel of Figure 5 below illustrates the weighted average of energy consumption based on the market share data, as well as the weighted average calculated from the counterfactuals determined by the model. The right-hand panel illustrates the cumulative annual energy savings. It is important to note that the calculations of the cumulative annual energy savings for Scenario 2 include the impact of the label re-grade in 2000.



Figure 5: Annual Weighted Average of Energy Consumption (KWh/yr) and Cumulative Annual Energy Savings (GWh)

The black points represent the yearly weighted averages of energy consumption, calculated from data points provided by the market analysis, while the solid line is the weighted average of energy determined from the modeled S-curves. The dotted lines are counterfactuals extrapolated from the S-curves: the dotted blue line represents the counterfactual of Scenario 1 (no MEPS in 1999 or 2005) and the dotted red line represents the counterfactual of the MEPS introduced in both 1999 (Scenario 2). The solid green line represents the model fit for Scenario 3, which lines up nicely with the data points.

The energy savings from Scenarios 2 and 3 can be evaluated by looking at the area between both the dotted blue line and the solid red line, and between the solid green line and the dotted red line respectively.

As demonstrated by the right-hand panel of Figure 5 above, the MEPS in 1999 produces significant energy savings, however the savings are not as significant as when combined with the MEPS in 2005. While the 1999 MEPS served to phase in high-efficiency appliances and phase out low-efficiency appliances, it appears that the 2005 MEPS served to significantly accelerate the market and further increase energy savings.

## Conclusion

The approach set out in this paper provides an innovative methodology for more objective evaluation of energy savings from different program measures implemented at different points in time. The starting point of the analysis was to apply a consistent diffusion curve to each efficiency category within each policy in order to measure a critical parameter that characterizes the effectiveness of the program. In particular, the construction of a policy "counterfactual" using this method represents an improvement over more aggregate methods. There are two reasons for this. First, separate modeling of each efficiency category using standard diffusion curves captures saturation effects more accurately than extrapolation of market averages. Second, the statistical methods outlined here allow for quantification of the model's reliability through estimation of the uncertainty on fit parameters<sup>9</sup>.

The case of the Australian refrigerator efficiency program demonstrates both the advantages of this method, and its limitations. First of all, the interplay between the two types of programs that co-exist in the Australian program produces a complex picture. As can be seen in the figures above, MEPS cannot be seen as having simply accelerated the rate of improvement of efficiency in the Australian market. While MEPS were successful in raising the average efficiency of the market, once implemented they seem to have led to a period of relative stagnation in which the market shows little improvement until the announcement of the next round of MEPS. This is hardly surprising, as implementation of stringent MEPS will reduce opportunities for additional energy saving design

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>The statistical analysis allows for quantification of uncertainties using error propagation, which will be considered in future studies.
improvements by manufacturers for some time after MEPS, especially where all models have to be fully re-engineered just to meet the new mandatory requirements.

Interestingly, a dynamic that can clearly be seen is that both MEPS implemented in during the period of study seemed to have induced the introduction of new higher-efficiency products into the market. It should be noted, however, that this effect is more prominent in the case of the 1999 MEPS, and may be conflated with the effects of the 2000 rescaling of the label categories, which for practical reasons have been folded into the savings estimates for Scenario 2 (MEPS 1999).

Despite the analytical rigor offered by this methodology, therefore, some understanding of the context of program implementation and the practical timetable of market reactions needs to be taken into consideration. For example, in the face of large energy reductions from new MEPS regulations, manufacturers have to start introducing new compliant models well ahead of the final implementation date. So some judgment is still required regarding the effective points where the policy measure started to have an impact. However, with further investigations and experience, it should be possible to provide common sense guidelines to allow the approach to be applied in a coherent manner in appropriate circumstances in a range of countries and for a range of different appliance types.

In conclusion, from this example, we judge that the analysis we applied provides a useful framework for policy analysis, but should be used with care. The two most important lessons from the Australian refrigerator case:

- MEPS Announcements dates (in contrast with MEPS implementation dates) have an important early effect on transformation of the market;
- The time coincidence of the 1999 MEPS and the rescaling of the labels makes the separate impacts of these two policy shifts difficult to disentangle.

The method set out in this paper can already be shown to have provided some insights into these questions. Breaking up the market into labeling categories clearly shows three effects that drive market transformation (1) elimination of low-efficiency units as a response to MEPS (2) gradual increase in market share of high-efficiency products as a result of labels and (3) manufacturer response to announcement of MEPS. While these effects were known by researchers and practitioners of efficiency programs, the methodology described here provides a robust and consistent way to describe these effects and, ultimately, design more effective programs.

A related point is that where a product may be subject to a large number of program changes at relatively short intervals over a long period, it is unlikely that there will be sufficient time to establish reliable values for the diffusion parameters required for this type of analysis. The other observation is that to apply this methodology, some form of categorical system of energy labeling needs to be in place. Ideally this should be visible to purchasers and should provide a relatively neutral and objective assessment of the relative efficiency of different product types.

## References

- [1]. Equipment Energy Efficiency Committee Discussion Paper: Refrigerator Star Rating Algorithms in Australia and New Zealand, Revised Proposal. Report No 2007/09. Prepared by Energy Efficient Strategies for AGO & EECA, September 2007. Can be retrieved at http://www.energyrating.gov.au/resources/program-publications/?viewPublicationID=395
- [2]. Harrington, L., & Holt, S. (2002). Matching World's Best Regulated Efficiency Standards: Australia's Success in Adopting New Refrigerator MEPS. *Matching World's Best Regulated Efficiency Standards: Australia's Success in Adopting New Refrigerator MEPS*, (pp. 161-172). Asilomar, CA.
- [3]. McNeil, M., & Letschert, V. E. (2010). Modeling Diffusion of Electrical Appliances in the Residential Sector. *Energy and Buildings*, 783-790.

- [4]. Van Buskirk, R. (2012). An Adoption Curv-Fitting Method Estimating Market Efficiency Improvement and Acceleration. USDOE.
- [5]. Van Buskirk, R. (2012). *Modeling and Measuring Long-term Energy Efficiency Innovation Rates.* USDOE.
- [6]. Energy Efficient Strategies (2010), Greening Whitegoods: A report into the energy efficiency trends of whitegoods in Australia from 1993 to 2009, prepared by EES for the Equipment Energy Efficiency Committee, Report 2010/08, October 2010. See http://www.energyrating.gov.au/resources/program-publications/?viewPublicationID=2149
- [7]. Holt, S., Weston, J., Foster, R. (2011). The Australian Experience of Minimum Product Standards.

## YAECI – Yearly Appliance Energy Costs Indication

Boudewijn Huenges Wajer, NL Agency, Rebecca van Leeuwen-Jones, NL Agency

Juraj Krivošík, SEVEn, The Energy Efficiency Center, Czech Republic

## Abstract

The main objective of the YAECI [1] project is to provide customers with information at the point of sale on the yearly running cost of products with an energy label, in order to stimulate the uptake of affordable efficient products.

The EU energy label currently provides the consumer with information on the energy efficiency (energy class), energy consumption and several other energy-related aspects. However, the energy label lacks the information on an aspect that many consumers find very important i.e. the product's (yearly) running costs. As is well known, a product that is initially somewhat more expensive can in fact work out to be cheaper in the long run due to the running costs being less expensive.

The calculation for the running costs of the YAECI project is based on the following data for each participating country:

- 1. (average) cost per kWh based on the national electricity prices
- 2. data on the product's electricity consumption as included on the energy label.
- 3. Optionally water costs, based on data on the label and national average water price.

Retailers, which are participating to the YAECI project, are publishing the data on the products yearly running costs, the "Energy Indicator", at the points of sale to inform their customers so they can choose energy efficient products.

The project is organised by partners in 11 EU countries and has started with the preparatory phase in March 2012 and aims to attract retailers to display the running costs. The YAECI project was initiated as a follow-up to the successful programme "Energie Weter", organised in the Netherlands in hundreds of shops. In individual countries different product groups are covered, white appliances covered by the new energy label and displaying the annual energy consumption being dominant.

## Products covered by the YAECI project

For the selection of products, the YAECI project team considered [2] all appliances which are covered by the Directive on energy labelling. The Directive 92/75/EEC and the corresponding implementing Directives cover the following products (hereafter "old label products"):

- Refrigerators, freezers and their combinations;
- Washing machines, dryers and their combinations;
- Dishwashers;
- Ovens;
- Electrical lamps;
- Tumble dryers;
- Air-conditioning appliances.

The Directive 2010/30/EU which amends the Directive 92/75/EEC was adopted in May 2010. On the date of writing, Delegated Regulations were adopted for the following products (hereafter "new label products"):

- Refrigerators, freezers, their combinations and wine storage appliances;
- Washing machines, dryers and their combinations;
- Dishwashers;
- Televisions;

- Tumble Dryers;
- Electrical lamps and luminaires;
- Air-conditioning appliances.

Overall, the number of old label products sold in shops is decreasing and thus becoming less significant for their coverage by future YAECI action. For this reason only the new label products are covered by the YAECI energy indicator. Nevertheless, a methodology which associates the old and new energy labels has been developed for assisting the retailers, in case they prefer to display the energy indicators in all of their products.

The combined washer dryer is the only exception in which an old label product is included since no new energy label has yet been developed for this product category. Ovens and light bulbs and tubes, which are covered by the EU Directives on energy labels, are not included in the selection for the reasons provided below.

Products which are not covered by the EU Directive on energy labelling are not covered by the YAECI project because this would impose difficulties in establishing commonly accepted methodology and in collecting the necessary data from the manufacturers. This difficulty was experienced in the Dutch initiative EnergieWeter which attempted to include a wider range of products (e.g. laptops and computer monitors).

Some aspects related to specific product categories which were considered during the selection process are explained below.

#### Refrigerators, freezers and their combination, washing machines and dishwashers

The potential impact of displaying an energy indicator on wine refrigerators, which are covered by the new Directive on energy labelling, is expected to be insignificant in all countries due to their relatively low sales (both in terms of units and power capacity). For this reason, wine refrigerators have been excluded from the scope of products covered in this project.

## Tumble dryers and combined washer dryers

Tumble dryers and combined washer dryers have been excluded from the YAECI selection in countries with warmer climates. In addition, according to available market data, in some New Member States (including CZ, RO and SI), the market penetration of this type of products is generally much lower compared to the western European countries (e.g. FR and NL). However, the market trends show that the market penetration is increasing rapidly and therefore their inclusion was considered in CZ, CR, RO and SI as well.

The new Delegated Regulation on tumble dryers was published recently and it will become mandatory for all tumble dryers, which are placed on the market after May 2013. For this reason, only new label tumble dryers are included the database which will be developed by the project team to provide data on running costs to the retailers. Nevertheless, a methodology which associates the new and old label for tumble dryers has been developed as well to assist the retailers until no more old label products will be sold.

#### Ovens

The use of electric ovens is generally higher compared to gas ovens but their share of overall household electricity consumption, is relatively low. In the EU, the market penetration of electric ovens will continue to rise but this will not have any significant impact on the electricity consumption, since the current share of electric ovens is already very high.

Nevertheless, ovens have been excluded for the scope of product covered in this study due to the likelihood of similar difficulties that were experienced in the EnergieWeter initiative. The main difficulties relate to the estimation of the usage patterns which seem to differ considerably not only between different countries but also between households within the same country.

#### Air-conditioners

The use of air-conditioners in the residential sector is increasing in all EU countries, regardless of the local weather conditions. However, in the short-term the impact of this product will remain rather insignificant in countries with cold climates, because the main driver of the air-conditioners market is the cooling demand (regardless of the fact that some air-conditioners can be used for heating as well).

The new and old energy labels for air-conditioners cannot be correlated because they are based on different classifications and standards. For this reason, no methodology has been developed for old label air-conditioners.

#### Electrical lamps and luminaires

Usually, the retailers who trade white goods and televisions also sell light bulbs. Nevertheless, this product category has considerably different characteristics compared to other products covered by the EU legislation on energy labelling, limiting the impact of their potential inclusion. Most significantly, due to the small size of light bulbs and their packaging, the energy indicator might not be noticed by the consumers.

#### **Product selection**

Table 1 shows the selection of products which is mainly based on the market penetration and trends of different products in each country. Due to their large market penetration, the refrigerators and freezers, the washing machines, the dishwashers and the televisions are covered by all countries. The inclusion of washer dryers, tumble dryers and air-conditioners is excluded in some countries due to their low market uptake. For the reasons explained in the previous section, ovens and light bulbs have been excluded from the scope of analysis performed in this study.

The table also shows which labels are taken into account in the development of the YAECI database of running costs. The combined washer dryers is the only old label product which is included in the database since the new label for this product has not been published yet.

Product	Α	cz	CR	DE	ES	FR*	мт	NL	РТ	RO	SI	Old	New
Refrigerators and freezers <b>*</b> *	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		V
Washing machines	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$										
Dishwashers	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$										
Televisions	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$										
Combined washer dryers		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$				$\checkmark$	<b>√</b> ***
Tumble dryers	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$
Air-conditioners			$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$

#### **Table: Final YAECI product selection**

\* For the present YAECI is not be implemented in France

\*\* Including built-in freezers and excluding wine – refrigerators

\*\*\* Not published yet

## **Calculation of the Energy Indicator**

The term "energy indicator" refers to the running cost which will be displayed in shops either within the price tag of the products or separately. The aim of the energy indicator is to provide to the consumers an estimate of the running cost of products. This information is not included in the EU energy labels. The information which is currently displayed in the EU energy labels can assist the consumers to estimate their potential energy savings from more efficient products but not in monetary terms. This poses a risk that the information which is provided in the EU energy label (i.e. energy class and energy consumption) may not encourage consumers to purchase the most performing products.

For the development of YAECI energy indicator, the project team assessed different options covering the following 4 aspects:

- definition of the time frame of the indicator;
- selection of a common or a diverse approach between the participating countries;
- definition of potential presentation standards for energy indicator;
- adding supplementary information.

The selection of the approach for each of these aspects is described below.

#### The time frame of the indicator

The running cost of products can be calculated on an annual basis or for longer periods (e.g. 5 or 10 years). The project team assessed the option of displaying the running cost of products over their lifetime. In this option, the average lifetime for each product category would be based on a common source of information. Potential sources considered, include the base cases from the Ecodesign preparatory studies which were carried out in the context of the Ecodesign Directive . These base cases serve as a reliable source since they have been developed in consultation with the manufacturers. However, this option was abandoned due to the possibly significant differences between the actual lifetimes of products and the possible opposition by retailers and manufacturers on using one average value for all products.

For this reason, the project team selected the option of displaying the annual running cost which will be mandatory for all participating retailers and all products. This approach has already been applied in a real situation (under the EnergieWeter initiative in the Netherlands) which gives it additional credibility. Nevertheless, the retailers will be encouraged to display the running cost for longer periods without associating those periods with the lifetime of the respective products. The annual cost savings might appear insignificant and therefore the provision of the running costs for a longer period will further encourage the consumers to purchase energy efficient products.

#### Context and appearance

The context of the energy indicator will be based on EnergieWeter approach. Similar to the Dutch initiative, the YAECI energy indicator will follow the following principles:

- the energy indicator will be presented in the form of the statement "Energy cost per year is € X" (written in national languages and currency);
- in shops, the energy indicator must be set on the price tag (preferable on the last line) and for online sales the indicator will be presented in the product specification;
- the use of the YAECI logo is encouraged but not mandatory;
- the YAECI logo can be displayed on the price tags of the products and on separate tags.

This approach is preferred because of its acceptance by the retailers and also as its effectiveness has already been tested and applied in real life situations under the EnergieWeter initiative.

#### Use of supplementary information

The project team examined the possibility of including additional aspects of the running cost which could be used as supplementary information of the energy indicator. For this reason, the significance of the share of water consumption to the total running cost was analysed. The inclusion of water consumption was considered as it is one of the key elements included in the EU energy label and is largely related with the environmental impact of products. The products that would be affected by the inclusion of water consumption are the washing machines, dishwashers and washer dryers.

Next Table shows an estimate of costs that was carried out by the project team, for Austria, Malta and Portugal.

Countries	Share of water cost total runnin	in the annual g cost	Comments
	Washing machines	Dishwashers	
Austria	40- 50%	n.a.	Water cost = € 3.00 per m <sup>3</sup>
Malta	40 - 54 %	11 - 20 %	Water cost = € 3.04 per m <sup>3</sup> based on a national avg. consumption of 55 m <sup>3</sup> per person/year
Portugal	28 - 42%	7- 13 %	Water cost = € 1.28 per m <sup>3</sup> based on a national avg. consumption of 120 m <sup>3</sup> /year

#### Table: Weight of water consumption in washing machines and dishwashers

Depending on the specific models used for the estimation of the weight of water ranges between 28%-54% for washing machines and 7%-20% for dishwashers. The washing machines models used in the calculations for Malta and Portugal were the same but not for Austria where different models were applied.

Concerning washer-dryers, according to an estimate based on the performance of 4 units sold in France, the share of water cost ranges between 21%-39%. The share of water consumption is significant in this product category because most washer-dryers have a condensation-based drying function which uses cold water to cool down the drying process. In fact, the lower value (21%) of the range above, referrers to an air-vented appliance whereas the share of water consumption in the other three models which use water in the drying process, ranges between 33%-39%.

At least for the washing machines and washer dryers (especially the water-cooled units) the cost of water represents a significant share of total cost. Although the weight of water consumption is not as significant in dishwashers, it would still be reasonable to include the cost of water, to ensure consistency on the overall approach.

Overall, the benefits of including the cost of water consumption are the following:

- water represents a significant share of the total running cost for some products (e.g. in washing machines the share ranges 28%-54%;
- the water cost is included in other similar initiatives (e.g. in France);
- the water consumption is included in the EU energy label.

Following are the main disadvantages of including water consumption:

- potential difficulties might arise in defining a representative average cost for the water consumption (e.g. differences between municipalities/ regions and at different levels of consumption);
- the inclusion of water might cause difficulties for the evaluation of the YAECI action since this will be largely based on the share of products per energy class.

Therefore, although the water consumption represents a significant share in the total running cost of certain product categories, it also poses several challenges which relate mainly to the definition of a

representative average water price. For this reason, the running cost of water consumption is not mandatory in the YAECI action but it will be supported by YAECI if this is requested by the retailers.

#### Approach on the energy indicator

Based on the analysis of different options for the definition of the energy indicator the mandatory principles that should be followed by all retailers are the following:

- the annual running cost must be displayed in all shops and products;
- the annual running cost will be presented in the form of the statement "Energy cost per year is € X".

Non-mandatory, but desirable principles are the following:

- the energy running cost for a different number of years (e.g. 5 and/or 10 years) may also be displayed as supplementary information;
- retailers may display the YAECI logo in the tags which will include the energy indicator.
- Another optional element is the following:
- retailers may include the running cost for water consumption calculated based on the methodology provided by YAECI.

#### Methodology for the calculation of the running costs

This chapter describes the methodology for the calculation of the annual running costs for products selected in YAECI project. For all product groups which are displayed with the old and new EU energy label, two different formulas have been developed (expect for air-conditioners).

The development of the YAECI database takes into account only the methodologies referring to the new energy label (except for combined washer dryers for which only the old energy label exists). The methodologies for these products will be embedded in the YAECI database. All other methodologies have been developed to assist the retailers to make their own estimates, in case they wish to also display the running costs of products using the old energy label.

#### Refrigerators, freezers and combined units (displayed with the new energy label)

Both the new and the old energy labels indicate the annual energy consumption. In both labels the energy consumption is calculated based on similar standards . The formula for the calculation of the annual running cost is the following:

ARC= AEc x EP
Where:
ARC= Annual running cost
AEc= Annual energy consumption per kWh according to the label
EP= Electricity price per KWh

#### Washing machines (displayed with the new energy label)

The new energy label shows the weighted annual energy consumption which is calculated at 220 cycles per year and takes into account the energy consumption of the following programmes:

- standard 60 °C cotton programme at full load (Et,60);
- standard 60 °C cotton programme at partial load (Et,601/2);
- standard 40 °C cotton programme at partial load (Et,40<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub>).

The weighted annual consumption of washing machines also takes into consideration the weighted powers in "off- mode" (P0) and in "left-on mode" (PI).

The formula for the calculation of the annual running cost of washing machines is the following:

AEC= AEc x EP (this cost figure will be displayed by the participating retailers) AWC= AWc x WP (this cost figure might as an extra option be displayed by the participating retailers) ARC= AEC+ AWC Where: ARC= Annual running cost AEC= Annual energy cost AWC= Annual energy cost AWC= Annual water cost AEc= Annual energy consumption per kWh according to the label EP= Electricity price per KWh AWc = Annual Water consumption (L) WP= Water price per L

#### Dishwashers (displayed with the new energy label)

The annual energy consumption of dishwashers is provided in the new energy label. This is calculated based on 280 standard cleaning cycles using cold water fill and the low power modes.

As in the case of washing machines the new energy label for dishwashers also takes into consideration P0 and PI. The formula for the calculation of the annual running cost of dishwashers is similar to the one for washing machines mentioned above.

#### Televisions

All televisions which were placed on the market after March 2012 should be displayed with the new energy label. Currently there are still some unlabeled televisions on the market but this number is gradually decreasing.

The energy label for the televisions indicates the annual energy consumption and therefore the formula for the calculation of the annual running cost is straightforward:

ARC= AEc x EP
Where:
ARC= Annual running cost
AEc= Annual energy consumption per kWh according to the label
EP= Electricity price per KWh

#### Combined washer dryers

At the time of preparation of this report, the combined washer dryers were covered only by the old energy label. In relation to the energy consumption, the energy label includes the following information:

- energy consumption per complete operating cycle (washing, spinning and drying) using standard 60 °C cotton cycle with a full capacity wash load and a "dry cotton" drying cycle;
- energy consumption per washing cycle (washing and spinning only) using standard 60 °C cotton cycle.

The energy label also shows the capacity (in kg of cotton) for both the washing and drying functions. The following main aspects in the operation which needs to be taken into account for the calculation:

- consumers do not always use the drying function;
- the drying capacity does not often match the washing capacity and is normally smaller;

For this reason, the calculation of annual energy consumption of washer dryers is relatively more complex compared to other product groups. Consumers might use the drying function more than once for a single load of washing. Alternatively, consumers might prefer to wash loads which match the (normally smaller) drying capacity. There is no information on these specific usage patterns. Based on several assumptions derived from the energy label methodology, ecodesign and Energieweter the following assumptions have been applied:

- on average the consumers use the washing machine 220 times per year and the tumble dryers 160 times per year.
- for washing machines the average load is estimated at 3.4 kg for those with a capacity of 5.4 kg
- the total number of the wash-only cycles is 58 (200 kg, 3,4 kg in each cycle).
- the 40 °C programme is the most commonly used (63%) followed by the 60 °C one (37%).
- the energy consumption of the 40 °C programmes correspond to the 72% of the energy consumption of the 60 °C programme.
- the actual energy consumption compared to the energy consumption which is included in the label is 87 %.

The formula of the estimation of the annual energy consumption of washer dryers is as follows:

AEC= [(160 x 5.4/Cd x Ew,d) + (58 x 5.4/Cw x (Ew x 37% +Ew x 72% x 63%) x 87%)] \* EP (this cost figure will be displayed by the participating retailers)

AWC= [(160 x Wt) +(58 x Ww)] x WP (this cost figure might as an extra option be displayed by the participating retailers)

ARC= AEC+AWC

Where:

ARC= Annual running cost

AEC= Annual energy cost

AWC= Annual water cost

Cd= Capacity in the drying function according to the energy label in kg

Cw= Capacity in the washing function according to the energy label in kg

Ew,d= Energy consumption per cycle in the washing/ drying function in kWh

Ew= Energy consumption in the washing only function in kWh

EP= Electricity price per KWh

Wt = Total water consumption per cycle in L according to the energy label

Ww= Water consumption per cycle in L in washing and spinning functions according to the product fiche

WP= Water price per L

#### *Tumble Dryers (displayed with the new energy label)*

The new energy label on tumble dryers is mandatory for all products placed on the market from May 2013. The new energy label indicates the weighted annual energy consumption which is estimated at 160 cycles per year by taking into account the energy consumption of the standard cotton programme at full and partial loads (Edry and Edry<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub>). In addition to the air-vented and condenser tumble dryers, the new energy label also covers gas-fired appliances which are out of the scope of the YAECI project.

The formula for the calculation of the annual running costs of the air-vented and condenser tumble dryers which are be displayed with the new energy label is the following:

ARC= AEc x EP Where: ARC= Annual running cost AEc= Annual energy consumption per kWh according to the label EP= Electricity price per KWh

#### Air-conditioners (displayed with the new energy label)

The old label cannot be associated with the new energy label which becomes mandatory in January 2013. For this reason only products displayed with the new energy label will be taken into account.

The new Delegated Regulation on air-conditioners covers the following types:

- Single and multi split;
- Single duct;
- Double duct.

There are three main types of single and multi split air-conditioners according to which the information provided in the energy label varies. Particularly the specific types and the information provided is as following:

- Reversible air-conditioners annual energy consumption in kWh per year for cooling and heating. For the heating function, 3 different geographical zone oriented values are given.
- Heating-only air-conditioners annual energy consumption for 3 different geographical zones.
- Cooling-only air-conditioners annual energy consumption.

Similarly for the single and double duct air-conditioners, depending on the specific type, the information on energy consumption might refer to heating-only, cooling-only or to both heating and cooling functions. A key difference of the single and double duct air-conditioners compared to the single and multi splits is that the hourly energy consumption is indicated. In addition, for the heating function a single value is given instead of 3 zonal values.

The formula for the estimation of the annual energy running cost for split and multi split airconditioners is the following:

 $ARC=(AEc,h,x + AEc,c) \times EP$ 

Where:

ARC= Annual running cost

AEc,h,x = Annual energy consumption in the heating function per kWh according to the label, in the respective heating season

AEc,c= Annual energy consumption in the cooling function per kWh according to the label

EP= Electricity price per KWh

For the single and double duct air-conditioners the formula is as follows:

ARC=[(HEc,h x HUh) +( HEc,c x HUc )] x EP
Where:
ARC= Annual running cost
HEc,h = Hourly energy consumption in the heating function according to the label
HEc,c = Hourly energy consumption in the cooling function according to the label
HUh = Annual hours of use in the heating function, defined by partners
HUc = Annual hours of use in the cooling function , defined by partners
EP= Electricity price per KWh

## Definition of data per country

The calculation of the running cost is based on data which is mostly provided by the EU energy label, but certain parameters are defined by the project team. Specifically, the following data needs to be defined:

- energy prices per country;
- water prices per country (optional);
- usage patterns of single and double-duct air-conditioners (applicable in CR, ES, FR, MT, PT, RO and SI).

The data for each of these categories and their sources are described in the sections below.

## Energy prices per country

Table 4 shows the household energy prices in all countries represented in YAECI. These prices come from Eurostat and they refer to the first semester of 2012 and will be updated at the beginning of the YAECI action. These prices include all taxes and they are charged in direct current (DC) bands for annual consumptions between 2,500 and 5,000 kWh;

## Table: Energy prices per country (average of the first semester of 2012)

Country	Energy price €/KWh
AT	0.1975
CR	0.1208 (0.9109 kn)
CZ	0.1497 (3.7700 CZK)
DE	0.2595
ES	0.1822
FR	0.1412
MT	0.1700
NL	0.1858
PT	0.1993
RO	0.1050 (0.4612 lei)
SI	0.1542

The project team also examined the possibility of obtaining data from national sources (e.g. statistical offices, energy agencies) and for this purpose information was collected as well from such sources. Although national authorities and statistical offices often provide more up-to-date data, Eurostat was selected as the most appropriate source, due to the differences that exist between countries in the

definition of characteristics which relate to the electricity prices (e.g. corresponding bands and inclusion of taxes). In this context, the use of data from Eurostat can ensure consistency throughout the whole duration of YAECI.

#### Water prices

The inclusion of the cost of water consumption as a supplementary information to the energy indicator is optional. The inclusion will be based on the height of water prices at the national, regional or local levels and on the preferences of the participating retailers. Table 5 shows the average water prices per m3 in 7 countries covered by YAECI. These prices are either provided by national statistical sources (CZ and FR) or they have been estimated based on average prices from various suppliers. In addition, these estimates entail the following three aspects:

- the prices correspond to an annual consumption of approximately 120 m3/year;
- they reflect costs of both water supply and sewage;
- any extreme cases (i.e. particularly high or low prices in certain regions) have been excluded.

#### Table: Water price per m3

Country	Water price €/m³	Source
CR	1.52 (11.33 kn)	Estimate
CZ	2.92 (73.44 CZK)	CZSO
FR	1.73	INSEE
MT	3.20	Estimate
PT	1.28	Estimate
RO	1.29 (5.86 lei)	Estimate
SI	0.66	Estimate

## Involving retailers and endorsement

Retailers are the key actors in this action. They have to provide the information on the yearly energy costs at the point of sale and in advertisements. They benefit from clearly demonstrating their environmental commitment and by attracting consumers to more efficient products that may be (somewhat) more expensive but can generally also provide a higher margin.

The participation of retailers is an essential part of the action. Each project participant (in 10 countries) is expected to ensure in writing the participation of at least 1 national retailer chain with at least 7 participating retailers and 8 individual retailers or 2 national retailers with at least 7 participating retailers or at least 15 individual retailers.

The list of retailers actually cooperating with the YAECI programme at the moment of writing this paper is already beyond expectation. Besiddes the 1400 reatler partriciapting in EnergieWeter in the Netherlands several hunderds of shops in the other participating YAECI countries have committed themselves to the project. Amongst them big retailer chains and web shops which will be visible at the YAECI website <u>www.appliance-energy-costs.eu</u>. The actual date of the launch of the visibility in the shops for the consuklers of the YAECI Energy Indicator will differ from country to country and will take place in the 2<sup>nd</sup> quarter of 2013.

Retailers are understood to benefit by joining the scheme, since they will have an extra selling tool to attract the attention of the consumer and have stronger arguments to sell (sometimes) more expensive products.

A priori, manufacturers/suppliers would provide the energy and water consumption figures of their appliances to the YAECI database. The YAECI consortium developed this European database which

extends the Dutch "Energy Indicator" database containing already 4600 products of 40 brands from the start. During the project it had been decided to subcontract a service provider the consortium helping with the data gathering.

The Dutch version of the Energy Indicator was created in 2010 in cooperation between the Ministry of Environment, several appliance suppliers/importers and the association of contracting installing companies and technical retailers in the Netherlands (UNETO-VNI). The YAECI consortium members foster a similar cooperation and support in the participating countries beyond the Netherlands. [3]

## **Evaluating results**

Evaluating the impact of the project activities is one of the keys to understand if projects such as YEACI have the potential to further improve the position of energy efficient appliances on the market. A specific project activity provides both an evaluation of the market effect of the action and how the action was received by retailers and consumers. The evaluation of the action has 3 components:

- a quantitative evaluation at the end of the action answering the question whether the market share of more efficient appliances has increased for retailers that participated in the action,
- a qualitative evaluation of the action regarding consumers,
- a qualitative evaluation of the action regarding retailers.

Diance enter below the everall cales data nor product group within the time period indicated above

The qualitative evaluations regarding consumers and retailers are foreseen half way the action. In this way the results of the qualitative evaluations can be used to guide and, if necessary, further improve the approach of the action in between (mid term evaluation) whereas the quantitative evaluation aims at assessing the maximum result possible.

## Description of the tasks

## Preparation of the evaluation

The preparation already starts at the beginning of the project; defining the type of information required to be collected from individual retailers. The following table illustrates the information to be collected from participating retailers.

## Table: Information to be collected from individual retailers

riease encer below the overall sales data per product group within the time period indicated above								
	Overall Sales		If you do not wish to give the exact number of sales please indicate the range of sales numbers by crossing below the suitable section					
Productgroup	Number of sold appliances [pieces]		0-100 pieces	>100-250 pieces	>250-500 pieces	>500-750 pieces		
Refrigerators								
Freezers								
Fridge-freezers								
Washing machines								
Dishwashers 60cm								
Dishwashers 45 cm								
Televisions								
Combined washer dryers								
Tumble dryers								
Air-conditioners								

#### Qualitative evaluation consumers

Based on a questionnaire template, the evaluation regarding consumers is done by interviews directly at the Point of Sale (target group: consumers that bought some appliance for which yearly energy cost data was displayed). By few initial questions, the customers are asked if they agree participating in the interview. The more detailed interview will be done directly at the PoS or soon afterwards by a telephone interview. In each country at least 15 personal interviews with consumers are done. Per country a short evaluation report is produced being part of the overall evaluation report. This report is sent to representatives from national consumer organisations (if available) in order to ask for their opinion and discuss their further support for the action.

#### Qualitative evaluation retailers

In this task the evaluation of the action regarding retailers is carried out in each country. Each participating chain or retailer is interviewed based on a questionnaire template. The evaluation will include information about the promotional activities taken from their side, and the feedback and possible challenges during the sales conversation on the side of consumers regarding their purchasing decisions. Per country a short evaluation report is produced being part of the overall evaluation report.

#### Quantitative effect of the action

Before the start of the action, participating retailers in each country have to be instructed which kind of market data have to be prepared and collected (market share of more efficient products (to be defined as the products to be in the one or two most efficient energy classes) compared to less efficient products).

Data is acquired at the beginning of the action (before the actual providing of information on the yearly energy costs started), after 18 months and after 32 months of the action. If publicly available, this data is compared to a base line of data from the total national market (desk research). Per country a short evaluation report is expected to be produced being part of the overall evaluation report.

#### Evaluation report

By disclosing annual running costs on appliances at the point of sale, a new methodological approach of consumer information and motivation to buy efficient appliances will be tested and evaluated in a representative selection of EU countries.

## Promoting the project activities

Promoting the yearly appliance costs to consumers is one of the key conditions of the success of the programme. Within the programme, each national partner is expected to organize a range of activities, most of them in direct cooperation with the participating retailers. Examples of the promotion activities include:

- Project website, with national language sections for 11 participating countries
- Brochures for shop assistants and consumers
- Leaflets and/or posters for consumers
- Press conference (including press release) and seminars
- Articles in general media

Activities already undertaken within the project are regularly published on the project website:

http://www.appliance-energy-costs.eu/eu/news/

## References

- [1] YAECI project website: <u>www.appliance-energy-costs.eu</u>
- [2] Mudgal S., Mitsios A.: YAECI Approach, methodology and data per country. December 2012. Can be downloaded from: <u>http://www.appliance-energy-costs.eu/eu/news/yaeci-project-approach-methodology-and-data-per-country-defined-news</u>
- [3] UNETO-VNI: Van wens naar winkelvloer Report Energieweter 2010-2012. www.energieweter.nl



The YAECI Project has been supported by the Intelligent Energy Europe programme. The sole responsibility for the content of this website lies with the authors. It does not necessarily reflect the opinion of the European Union. Neither the EACI nor the European Commission are responsible for any use that may be made of the information contained therein.



## Study on the Energy Efficiency of Flat Panel Televisions in China: Implications for Energy Efficiency Standard, China Energy Labeling Program, and National Incentive Policies

## LI Jiayang, HU Bo, ZHENG Tan, ZENG Lei CLASP and TOP10 China

## Abstract

Flat panel televisions (TVs) have replaced traditional cathode ray tube (CRT) models as the dominant type of TV in China and are widely used for residential and similar purposes. TV energy efficiency has risen quickly over the last several years due to the rapid development of technology and the incentives from national subsidy programs. As a result, the current Chinese energy efficiency standard (EES) for flat panel TVs (GB 24850-2010) became outdated, and a revision process was initiated in 2011. A revised draft of the standard was released for public comments in August 2012.

This paper is based on the study of "Market Analysis of China Energy Efficient Products, MACEEP". The study assesses the energy efficiency of flat panel TVs that are available on the Chinese market. Based on the market data collected, the paper examines China's test method for TV energy performance, compares the energy efficiency requirements in current EES with the new revision draft, and tracks the evolution of TV energy efficiency over time. Additionally, it assesses the effectiveness of the EES and appliance subsidy programs for this product. It concludes with recommendations for developing more informed test methods and improved energy efficiency requirements for the EES, as well as adding more useful information to the TV energy label.

## 1. Introduction to TV market and policies in China

## 1.1. Market transformation from traditional cathode ray tube (CRT) TVs to flat panel TV

Historically, as elsewhere, the Chinese television market was dominated by cathode ray tube (CRT) televisions (TVs). However, beginning around the year 2005 [1], there has been a swift and complete market shift to flat panel TVs.

There are currently two basic types of flat panel technologies that dominate the TV market: plasma display panels (PDPs) and liquid crystal displays (LCDs). LCD TVs break down further into two sub-types, differentiated by the backlighting source. These are cold cathode fluorescent lamps (CCFLs) or

light emitting diodes (LEDs). Currently, the LCD TV market is undergoing a transition from CCFL to LED backlighting.<sup>1</sup>

There are clearly a number of technological differences between PDP and LCD televisions. This study compares these models based on their energy performance.

## 1.2. Energy efficiency requirement, labeling program, and test method for flat panel TVs in China

## 1.2.1 Energy efficiency requirement and labeling program

China's energy efficiency standard (EES) GB 24850-2010, *Minimum allowable values of energy efficiency and energy efficiency grades for flat panel televisions*, was introduced in December 2010. It defined the minimum energy performance requirement (MEPR) that all flat panel televisions must meet, outlined the energy efficiency tiers (EETs) denoting different levels of energy efficiency, and described the energy efficiency test methodology [2]. Table 1 shows the energy efficiency index (EEI) threshold values for the EETs.

Due to the rapid development of TV technology and major policy intervention (see Sections 1.3 and 2.5), the energy efficiency of televisions on the Chinese market has improved rapidly since the issuance of the EES. As a result, the Chinese Government initiated a revision process in 2011 to upgrade the TV EES in accordance with new technologies available on the market. A revised draft standard was released for public comments in August 2012. Table 1 details the EET and MEPR requirements proposed in the new draft.

## Table 1: Energy efficiency requirements in the current (2010) EES [2], and revised (August 2012) draft [3]

	Energy Efficiency Index (EEI) Tier Thresholds Requirements*							
	Current (2	2010) EES		Revised draft EES (August 2012)				
TV type	Tier 1	Tier 2	Tier 3**	Tier 1	Tier 2	Tier 3**		
LCD	1.4	1.0	0.6	2.6	2.2	1.7		
PDP	1.2	1.0	0.6	2.2	1.8	1.4		
PDP (normalized to LCD equivalent) ***	0.35	0.29	0.17	0.70	0.58	0.45		

\* The method for deriving EEI changed between 2010 and 2012 (See Section 1.2.2).

\*\*Tier 3 corresponds to the MEPR, which is the least efficient level, and Tier 1 is the most efficient level.

\*\*\* The EEI thresholds defined in both the two versions of EES for LCD and PDP televisions are not directly comparable (See to Section 1.2.2). The PDP (normalized to LCD equivalent) shows EEIs for PDP televisions if calculated on an equivalent basis to LCD televisions.

In March 2011, three months after the original EES was implemented, the Chinese government announced an energy labeling scheme for televisions. The television label (Figure 1) shows the specific energy efficiency tier of a television model, in these two cases Tier 2. Absolute values for the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> There is no information to suggest PDP TVs are experiencing any technological change similar to the transition being experienced in LCD TVs.

EEI and standby power are also stated at the bottom of the label. The label also includes the manufacturer's name and product model number.



Figure 1 China Energy Label for Flat Panel TVs (LCDs to the left and PDPs to the right)

As shown in Figure 1, EEI is used as the main indicator of energy efficiency on the TV energy label. However, as EEI is a technical term, it is assumed that typical consumers are highly unlikely to understand its significance. Moreover, the information is misleading as the EEIs for LCD and PDP are not directly comparable with each other (See Section 1.2.2). Specifically, there is no information on power. Thus, the information on the label gives the consumer no indication that a PDP television is actually consuming more energy than an equivalent LCD model, especially LED type.

Therefore, it is recommended adding a power consumption value to the label, either in addition to or instead of the EEI value. Furthermore, if possible, the label should display a typical daily, weekly, or annual energy consumption, which is likely to be of significant value to the consumer. Such revisions would more accurately reflect the real difference in power demand between products and thus be more useful for consumers' decision making.

## 1.2.2 Test method and energy efficiency calculation in the current and revised EES

Televisions are globally traded products; as such, the test method used to measure their energy efficiency performance has been aligned in much of the world through full or partial adoption of the International Electrotechnical Commission (IEC) standard 62087. However, China's TV test method differs significantly from that of the IEC.

The current Chinese television test method was first introduced in December 2010 as part of the original EES for televisions [2]. The test method requires televisions to be set to a standard viewing condition by adjusting "brightness" and "contrast" based on an eight-level grey pattern (See Figure 2), and the adjustment is undertaken in a dark room. This pattern is a brightness signal, with two rows grey levels against a background of 50% grey level. The first row consists of four levels: 0% (absolutely black), 5%, 10%, and 15%. The second contains 85%, 90%, 95%, and 100% (absolutely white). At first, brightness is adjusted to the point where the two neighbouring levels of 0% and 5% grey in the first row can be just differentiated by the test personnel. Then contrast is adjusted from

100% to a lower status, such that the 95% and 100% levels in the second row can be just differentiated by the test personnel. Test personnel then repeat the adjustment procedure until both neighbouring groups (0%-5% and 95%-100%) could be exactly differentiated at the same time. At that point, the brightness and contrast levels are deemed to have been set and are used for the rest of the testing procedures.

The test method also states "if such condition cannot be achieved, adjust the image to the best quality possible and record the brightness and contrast levels." However, there is no definition of "best quality."



Figure 2: Eight-level grey pattern used in Chinese TV energy efficiency test method GB 24580-2010

Once the adjustment is complete, the luminance of the screen is calculated based on the average of nine values measured at points spaced across the screen ( $P_0$  to  $P_8$  – see Figure 3) in a pattern dependent upon the screen size and shape.



Figure 3: Nine-point layer used in China's TV energy efficiency test method GB 24580-2010

The IEC standard broadcast loop is then played, and the power consumed by the television is measured during the broadcast. The energy efficiency of the television is calculated as the average measured luminance multiplied by screen size and divided by total power consumed, as shown below:

Equation 1

```
EEI = [Luminance * Screen Size / (Power-10W)]/ EEI<sub>ref</sub>
```

Where,

EEI is the Energy Efficiency Index of TV; and Luminance is the averaged luminance of the nine points as mentioned above; and Screen Size is the viewable size of TV screen; and Power is the tested on-mode power; and 10W is the power regarded for signal processing;<sup>2</sup> and EEI<sub>ref</sub> equals 1.1 and 0.32<sup>3</sup> for LCD and PDP respectively. [2]

There are three issues with the GB test method that should be considered in the current revision process:

- 1. The brightness and contrast of the television under the GB test method are adjusted in a dark room. This does not reflect a typical real-life viewing environment where most people would watch the television with a certain amount of background light in the room [4]. Consequently, levels of brightness and contrast required in the test are likely to be insufficient to enable satisfactory viewing in a normal environment.
- 2. For LCDs, the eight-level grey pattern required by the test method may be achieved through adjustment of either the television's screen brightness (by changing the angle of crystals of the panel) or the backlight brightness (by changing the light output of backlighting sources) settings. However, the two methods will typically result in considerable difference in power consumption and hence efficiencies.
- 3. Test personnel are required to make an accurate but ultimately subjective differentiation between neighboring grey-levels in the pattern. Differences in perception between numerous personnel may result in considerable variation or even errors to the testing results.

To address these issues, Chinese policy makers may wish to consider harmonizing the Chinese test standard with IEC 62087. It would not only resolve the issues with the current Chinese test standard noted above, but could also contribute to improved international trade. However, changing national test standard may need many efforts from a variety of stakeholders and could take a long time. Therefore, in order to solve the problems mentioned above in a timely manner, consideration should be given to a revision of the current Chinese test method to:

1. Reflect more realistic viewing situations, e.g. by requiring the adjustment of "brightness" and "contrast" in the presence of a defined "typical" level of background light. However, this may require further research.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> If a television has an Analog RF interface, it must be the system used in the test. Due to the TV signal system, almost all TVs sold in the Chinese market have this interface, therefore, the analysis in this report uses "10W".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>There are two  $EEI_{ref}$  values for PDP's in the EES depending on the screen resolution. For PDPs with intrinsic resolution of 1920\*1080 and higher, 0.32 is applied and for the others 0.45 is applied. In this report, the PDP  $EEI_{ref}$  of 0.32 is used because the proportion of LCD products with resolution of 1920\*1080 is similar to that of PDPs, and overall the market trend is increasingly towards high resolution televisions.

- 2. Differentiate the adjustment of television "screen brightness" from "backlight brightness" to ensure that no manufacturers take advantage of this potential loophole and products are tested fairly.
- 3. Avoid, or at least minimize, subjective measures in the test procedure, e.g. develop some equipment to replace test personnel to read the eight-level grey pattern.

The test method in the revised draft television standard has changed slightly from the original EES. As shown in



## Figure 4: New test pattern proposed in revision draft of GB 24850

, a new pattern for testing has been proposed, which integrates the two patterns.

## Figure 4: New test pattern proposed in revision draft of GB 24850

However, according to the testing principles, this minor change will not cause any difference in the test result.

The influential change actually lies in the calculation method. The newly proposed equation for EEI calculation in the revision draft is as below:

## Equation 2

EEI = (Luminance \* Screen Size / Power)/ EEI<sub>ref</sub>

Where every term means the same as Equation 1

EEI = [Luminance \* Screen Size / (Power-10W)]/ EEI<sub>ref</sub> except EEI<sub>ref</sub>, which is re-defined as below:

*EEI*<sub>ref</sub> equals 1.0 and 0.32<sup>3</sup> for LCD and PDP respectively.

Comparing with Equation 1, the value of  $EEI_{ref}$  for LCD has changed from 1.1 to 1.0. Additionally, the 10W of power regarded for signal processing has disappeared in the new equation. These two

changes in the equation have significantly impacted the stringency level of energy efficiency requirements, especially for small size TVs (see Section 2.4).

## 1.3. The Appliance Subsidy Program

The Chinese government announced a subsidy program in May 2012, entitled "Subsidize energy efficient products, Benefit people." The program covers a variety of categories of energy-using products and provides financial subsidies for energy efficient models. Flat panel TV is one of the beneficiary products. The program has caused a major transformation towards energy efficient of televisions in the Chinese market and has also played a key role in accelerating the revision of the television EES (see Section 2.5). Table 2 shows the levels of financial support for televisions of varying efficiency and screen size under the 2012 subsidy program in Chinese Yuan (RMB).

Table 2: Levels of support under the 2012 subsidy program for TVs of varying efficiency and screen size 4 [5]

	LCD (RI	MB/unit)	PDP (RMB/unit)		
Screen Size (inches)	EEI>=1.7	EEI>=1.9	EEI>=1.4	EEI>=1.7	
19-32 (not including)	100	150	-	-	
32-42 (not including)	250	300	250	250	
42 and above	350	400	350	350	

## 2. Market Analysis

Market research could show how products on the market perform against relative policies, in this paper's case, EES, Energy Labeling Program and subsidy program. Market data discloses products' energy efficiency status and how it evolves over time. Through comparison between market data and policy requirements, conclusions could be made on the effectiveness of such policies. Moreover, recommendations are then provided for potential improvement of the policies.

## 2.1. Data sources and types

Data used for analysis in the study of Market Analysis of China Energy Efficient Products (MACEEP), which this paper is based on, are primarily from internet sources, including online shops, the China National Bureau of Statistics (NBS), and other public sources. The data was collected for market study as of July 5, 2012. Any new models that entered the market afterwards were not included. Data types include product model number, specific product type, energy efficiency, energy efficiency tier, size, power, date of market entry, and price. All analysis in this report is model-based.

Online data should sufficiently represent the general TV market of China for two reasons. Firstly, online shops in China offer a larger number of models than any single retail store. They also offer

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> EEI values were calculated using 2010 energy efficiency standard methodology.

delivery services, so even consumers in remote cities and towns have access to all of their products. Secondly, large appliance chain stores in China such as GOME and SUNING, as well as some of the major appliance manufacturers, all have online shops.

## 2.2. Market distribution by product type

As shown in Figure 5, the Chinese TV market is dominated by LCD TVs, with LED and CCFL TVs splitting the entire market share by 66% and 28% respectively. PDP televisions only represent 6% of the models available on the market.



## Figure 5: Distribution of different types of TVs

## 2.3. Distribution of EEI

Figure 6 shows the distribution of televisions available on the Chinese market by EEI as declared by manufacturers. Again, note that EEI values for LCD and PDP televisions cannot be directly compared (See Section 1.2.2). It is clear that the products with the highest efficiency levels are LED backlight TVs. Further, despite the majority of EEI declarations being below 2.0, the highest EEI could reach up to 3.5. This may imply that there is significant room for policymakers to increase performance requirements in the future.



Figure 6: Distribution of EEI

Figure 6: Distribution of EEIComparing the declared product EEIs with the EET threshold requirements in GB 24850-2010 (Table 1) and the subsidy program criteria (Table 2) shows that the

declared EEIs of many models are barely satisfying the minimum requirements. This implies that, to some extent, TV manufacturers may be taking advantage of the fact that there is no regulation for declaration tolerance. Manufacturers could simply declare the energy efficiency of their products at the values that would benefit them the most, rather than test values.

Therefore, it is recommended that policymakers should develop a regulation that requires manufacturers to declare their products with the actual test value. This will assist in future policymaking as more accurate information will be able to assess and help consumers to know the real energy performance of their options.

## 2.4. Comparison of EEI requirements in the current EES and the revised draft

Section Test method and energy efficiency calculationdescribes the change in calculation method of EEI in the revision draft. This section will explore the impact of such change on enery efficiency and the TV market.

In an attempt to understand how current TV models rate on energy efficiency according to the levels of stringency proposed in the revised draft of EES, the proposed EEI (EEI<sub>new</sub>) needs to be converted to the current EEI (EEI<sub>current</sub>). This enables us to directly compare current TV models with the new EEI requirements. Equation 3 was developed by the author based on Equations 1 and 2 for this purpose.

## Equation 3

EEI<sub>current</sub> = (Power \* EEI<sub>ref.new</sub>) \* EEI<sub>new</sub> / [(Power – 10) X EEI<sub>ref.current</sub>]

According to Equation 3, EEI<sub>current</sub> and EEI<sub>new</sub> was plotted against power for each tier on



Figure 7

Figure 7: EEIs of models on the market against EES requirement of EEInew for both LCDs and PDPs. The declared EEI values of the models on the market are shown in the graph to compare with the EEI requirements<sup>5</sup>.

## Figure 7: EEIs of models on the market against EES requirement of EEInew for both LCDs and PDPs

Figure 7 shows a significant improvement in  $EEI_{new}$ . For both LCD and PDP models, the new MEPRs (Tier 3) are even higher than the current Tier 1 requirements, which are 1.4 and 1.2 respectively (See Table 1). However,  $EEI_{new}$  is much more stringent for low power TVs, which normally means small size TVs. This could be problematic because energy efficiency standards are supposed to be more stringent for large-sized products, as they are normally associated with higher energy consumption.

If the proposed requirements of EEI in the revised draft are fully adopted in the final version of the new EES, they will significantly impact the makeup of the TV market. As shown in

Figure 7**Error! Reference source not found.**, there are very few TV models with power lower than 100W that could meet the new MEPR. According to the data collected under MACEEP, those models are typically LEDs below 40" and CCFLs below 30". This implies that the majority of the TV models in this size range will be eliminated from the market. A rough estimate based on the Figure 7 is that, should the draft EEI<sub>new</sub> be fully adopted, 50% of LED models, 80% of CCFL models, and 95% of PDP models will be eliminated from the market.

There are several policy implications associated with EEI<sub>new</sub>. Firstly, it is too aggressively stringent for nearly all TVs, and may unexpectedly eliminate most of the models from the market. Secondly, EEI<sub>new</sub> is much more stringent for small-sized TVs than large-sized ones.<sup>6</sup> However, from the standpoint of energy saving, the revised EES should contain more stringent requirements or cap values for products with large capacity because they normally consume more energy.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In **Error! Reference source not found.**, the requirement of EEI<sub>new</sub> (curves) is based on values of test power as defined in the equations, while the scattered EEIs of models on the market are based on the declared powers by manufacturers. These two "powers" differ. For test power, some of the functions (e.g. automatic brightness control, internet connection, etc) are turned off and some settings are adjusted to the test mode. The declared power is supposed to be the highest possible power the product could consume during operation. However, they are very much linked and should be close in value. So, as the values of test power are not obtainable, the declared power is used as a substitute and it would provide close results for this analysis.

 $<sup>^{6}</sup>$  EEI<sub>new</sub> being less stringent for big size TVs is based on the comparison with EEI<sub>current</sub> and there might be argument that maybe EEI<sub>current</sub> is more stringent for big size TVs and EEI<sub>new</sub> is trying to re-balance it. However, according to the data collected under MACEEP, on which this paper is based, it shows that average EEIs of relatively bigger size TVs are not any lower than small size TVs, which indicates that EEI<sub>current</sub> is not being more stringent for big size TVs. Therefore, it's concluded that in nature EEI<sub>new</sub> is less stringent for big size TVs.

Thus, it is recommended that policy makers should re-consider the requirements to avoid unexpected elimination of TV models from the market. Meanwhile, requirements should be comparably stricter for big size products, which normally are of higher absolute energy consumption.

## 2.5. Market Transformation

This section discusses TV market evolution over time and policy intervention impacts on television efficiency. Figure 8 shows the energy efficiency tier and the average EEI declared for televisions at the time of market entry. Although not of equal lengths, the time periods selected are considered critical periods and correspond to the following events:

- 1. The two months prior to compulsory labeling of televisions on March 1, 2011;
- 2. The ten months following the introduction of the energy label through the end of 2011;
- 3. The first period of 2012 prior to the announcement of subsidy threshold levels on May 20th, 2012; and
- 4. The period after the announcement of subsidy levels up to the point of data collection completion on July 5, 2012.



Figure 8: Trends in the energy efficiency tiers and average EEI declared for televisions at the time of market-entry<sup>4</sup>

As demonstrated above, the proportion of products declared in the Tier 1, Tier 2, and Tier 3 energy efficiency categories remained broadly stable over time. There was a slight migration to higher tier levels from Jan 1 to May 19 in 2012, resulting in the minor improvement in average EEI. However, the pattern and proportionate number of declarations changed sharply after the announcement of the subsidy program in May 2012. Over one and a half months, as many products were registered as over the full preceding 4.5 months. Almost all of these were Tier 1 products whose declared EEI values were equal to or exceed 1.7, which is the minimum requirement of the subsidy criteria. This indicates that the incentive programs are having a substantial impact on the market.

## 3. Conclusions and Recommendations

Based on the analysis above, the following policy implications and recommendations are derived for policies related to flat panel TVs in China.

## 3.1. Revised Energy Efficiency Standard

 The proposed EEI<sub>new</sub> in the revision draft is being aggressively stringent for nearly all sizes of TVs, which may unexpectedly eliminate most of them from the market. Also, it is much more stringent for small size TVs than big size ones.

It is recommended that policy makers should re-consider the requirements so that they are not unexpectedly eliminating TV models from the market and the new requirements should be comparably stricter for big size products, which are normally of higher absolute energy consumption.

- 2. Test method of TV energy performance could be problematic. To address these issues, it is recommended that in the long term, GB test method harmonizes with IEC 62087. In the short term, policy makers may consider the following options:
  - Reflect realistic viewing situations, e.g. by requiring the adjustment of "brightness" and "contrast" in the presence of a defined "typical" level of background light.
  - Differentiate the adjustment of "screen brightness" from "backlight brightness" to ensure that no manufacturers able to take advantage of this potential loophole and products are tested fairly.
  - Develop some equipment to replace test personnel to read the eight-level grey pattern to avoid, or at least minimize, subjective measures in the test procedure.
- 3. The derivation of EEIs for PDPs and LCDs is based on a biased method in both the current EES and the revision draft. It makes the EEI value of PDPs appear to be close to LCDs. However, PDPs could consume much more energy than LCDs in real application, especially when compared with LED backlit type of TVs.

It is recommended that policy makers should develop energy efficiency requirements for LCDs and PDPs on a technology neutral basis so that consumers could be able make purchase decisions based on comparison of true energy performance.

## 3.2. Revised Energy Labeling Program

4. EEI is used as the main indicator of energy performance on TV energy label. However, it is a technical term and could be hard for typical consumers to understand its significance. Moreover, the information could be misleading as the EEIs for LCDs and PDPs are not directly comparable with each other.

It is recommended using power consumption value on the label. Furthermore, if possible, the label should display a typical daily, weekly, or annual energy consumption, which could valuable

to consumers. Such revisions would more accurately reflect the real difference in power demand between products and thus be more useful for consumers' decision making.

5. It is observed that some manufacturers are declaring products right on the lower threshold of energy efficiency tier requirement. This shows that they may be taking advantage that there is no regulation for declaration tolerance.

It is recommended that policy makers should develop a regulation that requires declaration of products with the test value. This will assist in future policymaking as more accurate information will be accessible and help consumers to compare real energy performance of their options.

## References

- [1] HC360.com, Color TV Industry Status of China, 1st Quarter of 2007.
- [2] GB 24850-2010, *Minimum allowable values of energy efficiency and energy efficiency grades for flat panel televisions.*
- [3] GB24850-xxxx, Revision of GB 24850-2010, Version of "For Comments".
- [4] CLASP 2011, Analysis of Background Illuminance Levels during Television Viewing.
- [5] Detailed rules for promoting energy efficient flat panel TVs under Programme of "Subsidize energy efficient products, Benefit people" at: <u>http://www.jienenghuimin.net/sFileShow1.jsp?index=446</u>

## TV Energy Consumption Trends and Energy-Efficiency Improvement in the Context of the Ecodesign Directive (EU) No 642/2009 for mandatory use of the TV Energy Label

## Beate Diga

Results of the Continuous and Precise Evaluation of the Technical and Economic Potential for Saving Energy - based on GfK Retail and Technology Reporting

## Abstract

Technology and smart environments are becoming an increasingly important factor in the everyday life. Thus the identification of potential energy improvements for technical consumer goods can change markets. The EU directive on TV establishes a framework of Eco design requirements.

"(10) Ecodesign requirements should harmonise electricity consumption requirements for televisions throughout the Community, thus contributing to the functioning of the internal market and to the improvement of the environmental performance of these products."<sup>1</sup>

Since November 2011 energy labels for TVs are mandatory in the European Union. The objective of this analysis of the European TV market<sup>2</sup> with its economic and technical background is to provide information necessary to improve the efficiency of TVs with insights in complex and competitive markets and their impact on energy consumption.

## 1. Introduction and Methodology

The overall goal is to provide relevant information to support and accelerate potential TV efficiency improvements with regards to:

- TV market assessment for EU 25 countries with significant technological trends (market size, LED TV, OLED TV, 3D and Smart TV with its impact on energy consumption). The large-scale transition towards LED TV's reduces the impact of retributive trends like screen size and increasing TV sales on total TV energy consumption.
- distribution of the TV Energy Label in Europe; importance and evolution of the different classes
- usage related issues (TV viewing time, saturation of TVs in households, replacement cycles) market dynamics and their impact on the energy consumption related issue.

This paper discusses the energy consumption trends and energy efficiency labelling schemes that were introduced in 2011 in accordance with the new EU directive and implemented to the European television market. We will use the technical and economic background of the European television market as the basis for this analysis and will evaluate how changes in the energy efficiency labelling scheme in Europe will influence market trends and accelerate energy efficiency for televisions. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> COMMISSION REGULATION (EC) No 642/2009 of 22 July 2009, implementing Directive 2005/32/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council with regard to Eco design requirements for televisions, p.1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Unless mentioned, all data related to TV mentioned hereafter are based on market sales out data audited within the retail panel by GfK Retail and Technology in 25 selected European countries, these are: Austria, Belgium, CZ, DK, Estonia, Finland, France, Germany, UK, Hungary, Ireland, Italy, Greece, Latvia, Lithuania, Netherland, Poland, Portugal, Slovakia, Slovenia, Sweden, Spain, Luxemburg, Bulgaria, Romania (Malta and Cyprus not audited)

sales data used in the analysis represents international data and is provided by GfK Retail and technology GmbH, Nürnberg.

#### Methodological annotation

The GfK Retail Panel

Worldwide, GfK Retail and Technology enjoys the reputation among both manufacturers and retailers as being a specialist in monitoring technical durable goods markets, as well as offering a high degree of insight and experience. With our research we are discovering new insights into the way people live, think and shop.

We have our origins in the universities of Germany, continuously nurtured through our work with pioneering clients, academic institutions and management consultancies. And our thought leadership has been recognized across the world. Quality is the hallmark of everything we do. In the digital world, the availability of data has made its provenance and reliability crucial. Our high standards and scientific precision continue to set us apart.



For IT and Office products (e.g. Monitors, PCs, Printers) GfK also tracks B2B channels such as System Houses in various countries for Mobile and Smart Phones GfK tracks B2B sales provided by network operators in some countries for Air Conditioners GfK audits Air Conditioner Specialists which target b2b customers in a few selected countries.

© GfK 20121 GfK Retail and Technology I September 201

Figure 1: Source: GfK Retail and Technology

#### International GfK Retail Panel

The term "retail panel research" defines the use of a panel to collect concrete facts, using a homogeneous system. The electronic data is collected at regular intervals from a panel of retail outlets, which are selected, and if necessary modified, to represent the current structure of the universe of relevant channels of distribution.

The main static and dynamic objectives are to generate (static) quantitative sales data relating to a specific time period, and to reflect current (dynamic) market trends in terms of relevant market segments, product and price groups. It should identify both short and long-term changes in individual

79

markets or market segments, so that management in both retailers and manufacturers are provided with an accurate information base. This can provide the basis for management to make decisions on an empirical basis with regard to the planning, control and monitoring of marketing strategies.

The data forming the basis of the retail trade panel should be complete with regard to the following three aspects, giving a solid and undistorted basis for:

- Complete recording of all relevant channels of distribution.
- Complete recording of the entire product range of the product groups in which there is an interest.
- Complete recording of the relevant product features of each individual product.

In this way the data relating to product features, product groups, sales and distribution structure can be clustered or analysed.

After the goods categories which are to be audited have been unambiguously defined in terms of their product characteristics, the relevant channels of distribution in which these goods categories are physically offered for sale are defined. A basic study works out the current total number of outlets (structure, number, regional distribution) in these channels. On the basis of this information a representative sample of outlets is recruited using the quota method, in which the data is to be collected in future by the field analysts or from electronic data-carriers (where there are stock control systems). The data collected in this manner is then checked, extrapolated and processed. It is then despatched to individual clients either in physical form through printed reports or electronically using special software:



Figure 2: Source: GfK Retail and Technology

The international GfK Retail Panel provides such information to a very high standard of accuracy. Instead of assumptions and opinions, objective facts are provided in terms of sales, purchases, stocks, prices and distribution levels for every single article within defined channels of distribution. This level of detailed information forms is an important basis for decision-making.

All figures regarding sales volume or market share mentioned in this work are based on the international GfK Retail and Technology retail panel in 25 selected European countries, these are: Austria, Belgium, CZ, DK, Estonia, Finland, France, Germany, UK, Hungary, Ireland, Italy, Greece, Latvia, Lithuania, Netherland, Poland, Portugal, Slovakia, Slovenia, Sweden, Spain, Luxemburg, Bulgaria, Romania (Malta and Cyprus not audited). Data from this retail panel show retail sales out information including volume, value, price, feature sets etc. for defined product groups down to single item level. Statements regarding energy consumption in Watt are based on the mandatory Energy EU energy label. The calculation of energy consumption in kWh is based on an on-mode time of 4 hours per day plus 20 hours standby.

# 2. TV market assessment for EU 25 countries with significant technological trends in the context of the new European Energy label

TV sales are affected by many variables, such as economic development, technological trends or relevant policy instruments like the Energy label. In addition new lifestyle trends like Smart TV are redefining the role of the product with effects on viewing hours, standby power and total TV energy consumption. Global TV sales were 258,7 mio. units in 2012 and expected to reach 264,1 mio in 2013, showing an impressive growth of 18% since 2008.

#### 300 1.000 271,1 264,1 263.4 258.7 900 250 232. 224.2 Global TV in Mio Units TV in units grew by +18% during 200 800 171 168 155 148 44 last 6 years. Global TV150 700 in Bill, US\$ \$650 \$635 But went down by -7% in value. 100 600 \$619 \$557 Expenditure \$544 per TV in 50 500 US\$ Price - 21% 0 400 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Global Sales 2013 estimated

## TV market is still growing in Consumer Demand.

42

Figure 3: Source: GfK Retail and Technology in cooperation with GfK Boutique Research

© GfK Jan 2013

Driven by Central and Eastern European countries (incl. Russia) with lower household saturation, the European LCD-TV Market in total is slightly growing as well. If we expand the look onto central Eastern Europe the Russian market is expected to overtake the leadership in sales volume from Germany in 2013. Western Europe is stabilizing itself on a relatively high consumption level with Germany as the biggest market, followed by UK and France. The continuously high sales volume is supported by accelerating replacement rates, e.g. in 2012, it was recorded that TVs in Germany were replaced after an average of 5.7 years, a strong contrast to the 11 years average of CRT (Cathode ray tube) TV sets.

## The European LCD TV Market in <u>Sales</u> Units (Mio.) in 2012/2013



Figure 4: Source: GfK Retail and Technology in cooperation with GfK Boutique Research

The large scale transition to LCD TV followed by the rapid improvement of LED technology reduced the impact of increases in screen size and TV sales on total power consumption significantly. Thus although the number of TV sold from 2009 to 2013 was increasing the average energy consumption of this TV sets was reduced by 58% from 207 kWh/year to 87 kWh/year. LED backlite TVs already capture more than 80 % of the sales in EU 25 in May 2013. Moreover, the energy efficiency for Plasma TV's improved in the same time as well from a high level of 420 kWh/year in 2009 to an average consumption of 220 kwh/Year in 2013.



## Large scale transition to LED technology - impact on energy consumption

Figure 5: Source: GfK Retail and Technology
Further on, the shift towards LED technology negates the impact of trends in increasing TV sales combined with increasing screen sizes in total energy consumption. In Europe 25 the share of TV sets featuring a screen size of 40 inch or more greatly increased from 33,7% in 2009 to 52,8% in 2013. This trend is supported by resolution in 4K UHD as well as UHD resolution allow consumers to get closer to the TV for a more immersive, home theatre experience on big screens with more than 80 inch. In view of these facts, it becomes obvious that an improvement of the energy efficiency for TV's with increasing screen sizes is of high importance.

# Trend towards increasing average screen size is countervailed by impressivly decreasing energy consumption





Figure 6: Source: GfK Retail and Technology

However increasing TV usage time exacerbates the necessity of energy efficiency. Several recent indicators corroborate this statement. Technical challenges redefine television as a product: Smart TVs (connected TV) will be established as a mainstream technology and a new overarching trend in life style and TV usage. It is difficult to quantify the Smart TV functionality and its effect in usage that it has to extended on-mode hours, but the increased household saturation with Smart TV and 3DTV may stimulate consumers to buy larger screens and extend viewing hours.

# Smart TV Europe 25 2011 - 2014 in Mio units





Quelle: GfK Retail and Technology

Figure 7: Source: GfK Retail and Technology, GfK Boutique Research and GfK Household Panel (Consumer Experiences)

On the other hand due to a higher degree of comfort the number of TV sets per household is a major factor that will increase the viewing hours with multiple TV's running in the future. Due to the "Statistisches Bundesamt", Wiesbaden counted for Germany in 2005 1,5 TV's per household while the number in 2012 grew to 1,7 TV's attended with a growing number of households (especially single households) itself. The majority of the new sold TV's are already equipped with Smart functionalities (web browser/app store). Smart TVs are expected to consume more energy compared to non-connected TVs. But due to the fact that these devices represent the newest development in the industry the energy consumption level of Smart TV's shows also the best possible performance in energy consumption – in total below the average of non-connected TV's.

# The majority of TV's in inch classes above 40" is Smart TV equipped (web browser and/or app store) – with an under average energy consumption





Figure 8: Source: GfK Retail and Technology

To make these trends transparent to end consumers on single model level it is possible to quantify the share of energy cost occurring during a TV life cycle of 7 years and 4 hours on mode - multiplied with the respective price development per kWh in the countries. The Top 5 products in EU 25 show a tremendous difference between 2010 and 2013 and in inter-model deviation within the same inch class regarding additional energy cost. But generally the share of energy costs shows a shrinking tendency – although energy prices increased significantly during the same period. For that reason the transparency of energy related information as provided by the energy label is essential.



# Share of Energy costs in life cycle for Top 5 products 2013/2010 e.g. Germany 2013, 7 years of use and 0,26 €/ kWh, 4 h on-mode



Figure 9: Source: GfK Retail and Technology and retail (end user) prices for energy prices for households from EEP "Europe's Energy Portal"

# 3. Distribution of the TV Energy Label in Europe; importance and evolution of the different efficiency classes

The objective now is to provide initial information supporting the design of the new TV Energy label with results from GfK retail Panel one and a half year after the introduction of the mandatory use. GfK reports provide TV market data according to volume, price, and screen technology, several features like screen size, energy consumption, energy label, brands and countries for every single model sold.

A correct implementation of the EU Ecodesign directive saves energy, and supports an environmental friendly consumer purchase decision. Currently the Ecodesign for TV does not deliver its full potential. Results of GfK Retail and Technology are showing a share of 16-18% of the sold devices without any Ecodesign identification (Energy Label) in EU 25. This result is underlined by another study of the German "Verbraucherzentrale Rheinland Pfalz" (Mainz, 6.5.2013, Elke Dünnhoff "Energy designation on technical consumer goods – results of the second market checking December 2012"). According to the results of this study 25% of the TV's offered in traditional shops (no Internet) haven't been labelled one year after the introduction of the mandatory use of the new Energy label. For models introduced before Nov 2011 to the market the label is not mandatory – but it is questionable if the long transition periods support the market transparency. A limitation of the transition period up to a maximum of one year would improve the situation significantly.

PTV/FLAT				Panelmarket EU 25 Consumption		Apr 12 - May 13 Sales Units %								
	Apr 12	May 12	Jun 12	Jul 12	Aug 12	Sep 12	Oct 12	Nov 12	Dec 12	Jan 13	Feb 13	Mar 13	Apr 13	May 13
	3.7	6,7	9,3	10,0	10,6	11,5	12,8	13,6	13,4	15,8	15,4	15,8	17,2	19,7
	22,8	25,0	<u> </u>											
A++			28,8	30,8	34,2	37,3	39,0	41.2						
A+	24,2	22.8						41,2	43,8	44,5	47,2	47,0	45,7	43,8
B		22,0	21,5	21,3										
D Others	13,7	12,5			20,2	19,5	19,8	40.0						
			11,4	10,0	9,5	8.8		10,0	17,9	17,2	16,3	15,7	14,9	13,7
	33.9	24.4				0,0	9,0	7,6	6,9	6,3	5,2	4,9	4,7	3,8
	00,0	31,4	27,7	26,8	24,7	22,1	18,9	18,3	17,5	15,8	15,5	16,2	17,0	18,4
Sales Ths. Units Sales Units +/- % PP © GfK 2013 - All rights	3.025,6 3,0	3.782,8 25,0 7/2013	3.313,2 -12,4	3.696,6 11,6	2.825,0 -23,6	3.042,1 7,7	3.982,2 30,9	3.873,1 -2,7	5.340,2 37,9	4.248,6 -20,4	2.716,4 -36,1	2.657,2 -2,2	2.418,5 -9,0	2.939,1 21,5

Already 17 months after the introduction of the new mandatory TV Ecodesign 45,7 % of the products use label A and 17% A+. Products within category C, D, F and G are underrepresented or missing completely. Though these findings are positive, they also raise the question "are the Ecodesign parameters already outdated?"

GfK Retail and Technology delivers representative results of the use of the new EU Energy Label with country specific developments and the associated different pace in transformation dynamics.

# Already 17 month with mandatory use of the new EU Energy Label trends towards energy class A and A+ are visible.







The Top 5 manufacturers produce more than 90 % of the sold LED TV's in EU 25 (March-May 2013). Some major brands provide more efficient LED TVs at lower prices on a similar equipment level. For that reason it is recommended to raise the awareness among the industry on the full power of the Ecodesign directive with its marketing advantages.

However the industry shows more interest in developing products with bigger screen sizes as average end consumer prices are increasing with bigger screen sizes. From the point of view of energy efficiency it would be highly desirable to have a price variance and competition within one inch class depending on absolute energy consumption.



# TOP 5 manufacturers with clear Energy Class focus in 40-42" Full HD, 3D, Smart TV, DVB T/C and CI+ Standard

Figure 12: Source: GfK Retail and Technology

GĒ

The Energy efficiency index per class is defined as specific relation between screen size and consumption and some other functionality like HD recording, integrated receivers or automatical brightness control. However it is obvious that in higher inch classes the share of A+ and better devices increases significantly as the index of the relation between inch size and energy consumption can be archived much easier. The inch class 32"-39" has a share of 14,8% A+ while 50+" has a share of 62,4% A+ devices. If we compare the energy consumption of Energy class A+ in absolute terms for inch size 32 -39 with 54 kWh/year and above 50" with 118 kWh/year we come to a wide possible range of absolute consumption within one energy class and much more impressive – a positive correlation between "high" Energy efficiency and increasing TV screen size. As bigger the screens and the absolute consumption as better the Energy efficiency class. Do we really want to encourage customers to buy products with higher absolute energy Consumption? Products with higher absolute energy consumption for energy Efficiency classes than smaller products. The absolute consumption in kWh/year is the criteria with higher importance – it is not enough to look onto efficiency classes.



## Energy Efficiency by inch class



## Figure 13: Source: GfK Retail and Technology

# **Summary and conclusions**

- The TV sales volume and the screen sizes will show further increase in the future. In the medium term energy costs will increase in parallel. For that reason it is necessary to track recent technological developments with retributive influence on increasing energy consumption and support consumers in their purchase decision with clear product information on Ecodesign.
- An improved and quicker European market monitoring before and after the setting of minimum performance standards would support the Ecodesign directive significantly.
- To tap the full benefits and potential of the new Ecodesign directive for TV it is necessary to avoid too complex and in-transparent regulations in the implementation and establishing an efficient market control.

## APPENDIX

1. Author

Beate Diga, Senior Marketing Consultant, Consumer Electronics, GfK Retail and Technology GmbH, Nordwestring 101, D-90419 Nuernberg, Germany, Tel + 49 911 395 3121, www.gfk.com Beate.diga@gfk.com

- 2. Relevant Topic and Related Technology
  - "6. Standards and Labels"
  - "3. Consumer Electronics"
- Abstract with Key Words Page 1

# Appliance Minimum Energy Performance Standards and Labelling (S&L) Programmes: Whither Thou Sub-Saharan Africa?

## Mercy V. Shuma-Iwisi

# School of Electrical & Information Engineering, University of Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, South Africa

# Abstract

Standard and labelling programmes are not yet a mainstay in most of Sub Saharan Africa (SSA). The barriers to the uptake of S&L programmes in SSA are identified to be: associated programme costs, lack of favorable regulatory environment and a weakened market for energy efficient appliances/equipment. Increased electrification, increased appliances/equipment ownership as well as the effects of regulations applied in the trading partners are considered to be the main indicators for instituting S&L programmes in SSA. Harmonization of Standards and Labels within and across regions is proposed to be the tool for accelerating the uptake of S&L programmes in SSA. Consumer awareness is considered key to the success of S&L programme implementation in SSA and the use of radio and mobile phones for educational and awareness campaigns is suggested.

## Introduction

Standards and Labelling (S&L) is a market transformation programme and many countries of the world have implemented such programmes [1]. Transformation of the electrical appliance/equipment market is derived from the removal of energy inefficient appliances and/or equipment from the market. Well designed and implemented S&L programmes have the following advantages [1]:

- Large electrical energy savings
- Limiting energy growth without limiting economic growth
- Require change of behaviour of manufacturers and retailers rather than the whole population of consumers of electricity

Sub-Saharan Africa is a region in the African continent south of the Sahara made up of 51 countries and has a population of 840 million people and approximately 148 million households [2]. Sub Saharan Africa is made up of the 51 countries that are listed in table 1. Sub-Saharan Africa is a vast area with wide differentiations in economic development, industrialisation levels, agricultural activity, mining activity, political stability and infrastructural development.

The electrification status for Africa as reported by International Energy Agency (IEA) [3] is presented in table 2. As seen in table 2, it is evident that the power sector of the Sub-Saharan Africa is immensely underdeveloped when compared to other regions of the world. The electrical power supply in most Sub-Saharan countries is unreliable with frequent power cuts and high dependency on emergency back-up diesel generators [4].

There is a broad relationship between electricity consumption and levels of economic development in any particular country [5]. It has been determined that electrification levels, household income and urbanisation affect the ownership of domestic appliances. Therefore, in a broader sense, figures in table 2 suggest low electricity end-uses in Sub Saharan African countries which in turn imply lower electrical appliance ownership levels.

## Table 1: Sub-Saharan Countries

1	Angola	15	Equatorial Guinea	29	Mauritania	43	South Africa
2	Benin	16	Eritrea	30	Mauritius	44	Southern Sudan
3	Botswana	17	Ethiopia	31	Mozambique	45	Swaziland
4	Burkina Faso	18	Gabon	32	Namibia	46	Tanzania
5	Burundi	19	The Gambia	33	Niger	47	Тодо
6	Cameroon	20	Ghana	34	Nigeria	48	Uganda
7	Cape Verde	21	Guinea	35	Northern Sudan	49	Western Sahara
8	Central African Republic	22	Guinea-Bissau	36	Réunion	50	Zambia
9	Chad	23	Kenya	37	Rwanda	51	Zimbabwe
10	Comoros	24	Lesotho	38	Sao Tome and Principe		
11	Congo (Brazzaville)	25	Liberia	39	Senegal		
12	Congo (Democratic Republic)	26	Madagascar	40	Seychelles		
13	Côte d'Ivoire	27	Malawi	41	Sierra Leone		
14	Djibouti	28	Mali	42	Somalia		

## Table 2: Electrification Status in Sub-Saharan Africa [3]

Region	Population without	<b>Electrification Rate</b>	
	<b>Electricity (Millions)</b>	(%)	
North Africa	1.6	99	
Sub-Saharan Africa	585.2	30.5	
Africa	586.8	41.8	

In Sub-Saharan Africa region where there are chronic electric energy shortages [4] [5] it would be advantageous to take on board S&L programmes to conserve electrical power. Even though currently the levels of electrification are low suggesting low appliance penetration levels this is expected to change due to the new infrastructure build-up in SSA. Furthermore, if the approach of regionalism is taken into consideration then ownership levels and market sizes grow significantly to warrant the introduction of S&L programmes especially because regional power sharing pools already exist.

This paper will discuss the state of S&L programs in Sub-Saharan Africa and point out the barriers to the uptake of S&L programmes in Sub-Saharan Africa. The indicators for S&L programs in SSA will be presented as well as proposals for the way forward to accelerate the uptakes of S&L programs in SSA.

# The State of S&L Programs in Sub-Saharan Africa

The first country based governmental work towards S&L was in Poland in 1962 and was then followed by work in France in 1966 [1]. Between the years 1966 and to date many other countries in Europe, USA, Canada, Australia, Japan and many others as documented in [1], have implemented S&L programmes for different appliances [1]. Different countries have implemented either voluntary or mandatory S&L programs as they have found it befitting to their countries. The progress and success of many of these programmes have been widely reported. The S&L programme in European Union (EU) countries is an example of a strong and thriving regional programme.

The uptake of S&L programmes in Sub-Saharan Africa is pictorially presented in figure 1.



## Figure 1: S&L Program Uptake in Sub-Saharan Africa

As indicated in figure 1, the uptake of S&L programmes in Sub-Saharan Africa has been very slow. Africa appears in the activity map of S&L programmes beginning in 2000. During the high activity years between 1960 and 2000 when S&L programmes were established and implemented in most European countries, USA, Australia, Japan, Brazil, India to mention a few, there was no activity in SSA countries. S&L programmes have been initiated in the following SSA countries: South Africa (2000), Ghana (2002), and most recently in Nigeria (2011) and in Kenya (2012). The programme in Kenya is expected to be extended to the rest of East African countries of Tanzania, Uganda, Burundi and Rwanda.

The programme initiated in South Africa has gone through different phases and currently the programme is being re-looked into and being re-established to cover the following appliances: Refrigerators, dish washing machines, clothes washing machines, electrical ovens, deep freezers, and geysers. The S&L programme in South Africa has not yet been able to bring forth much result, and Ghana is the only Sub-Saharan country in which S&L programme are said to have been successfully implemented.

In general, S&L programmes are non-existent in 47 countries of SSA; S&L programmes are at an infant stage in Nigeria and Kenya; S&L programmes have hardly been implemented and therefore unqualified in South Africa; and have been implemented successfully for one appliance group (refrigerators) in Ghana. In October 2012, ECOWAS Energy Efficiency Policy was adopted and an S&L technical committee was formed. This is evidence of the first steps towards regionalisation in formulation and implementation of S&L programmes in SSA.

Fall [6] summarizes the state of S&L programmes in Africa as follows:

"So far, labeling and minimum energy efficiency (performance) standards (MEPS) for appliances and equipment, although have proven to be one of the most essential policy options in developed countries' portfolio for energy efficiency and climate change mitigation programmes, are not very common in Africa, and rarely mandatory – and for most countries they do not exist at all in any economic sector."

Figure 1 also indicates that SSA is way behind other world countries in the uptake of S&L programmes. This is an advantage as well as a disadvantage. It is an advantage because SSA has the opportunity to learn from other well-established programmes and therefore avoid many pitfalls of badly designed and implemented programmes [7]. It is a disadvantage because countries without S&L programmes can become both dumping grounds as well as second-hand markets for appliances/equipment not meeting the program standards in countries where S&L are implemented and rigorously regulated [1][8].

The uptake of S&L programmes is low and slow in Sub-Saharan Africa countries, hence the need to answer the question "What are the barriers to the uptake of S&L programmes in Sub-Sahara African Countries?"

# Barriers to the Uptake of S&L Programmes in Sub-Saharan Africa

The barriers to the uptake of S&L programmes in Sub-Saharan Africa are mainly due to associated programme costs, lack of favourable regulatory environment and a restricted market for energy efficient appliance/equipment.

## Associated S&L Programme Costs

The process of developing and implementing well designed energy efficiency labels and standards require allocation of legal, financial, physical and institutional resources [1], for example in the USA the average annual expenditure has been 5.5 million. In the period from 1960's to mid-1990's, on average real GDP growth performance in Sub-Saharan Africa was reported to continuously deteriorate [9]. This is the same period where in other countries, S&L activity was at its peak [1]. The uptake of S&L could have not been a priority to the individual governments in SSA amidst declining GDP growth, if all the associated costs of designing and implementing S&L programmes are considered.

The running of S&L programmes requires well trained personnel to carry out;

- Appliance testing and certification
- Programme evaluation
- Programme monitoring and enforcement

Capacity building should be instituted to support S&L programmes and this adds to the programme costs. The success of S&L programmes hinges on the capacity to carry testing of appliance/equipment in specialized testing laboratories, which can be national or international institutions. The cost of developing and equipping a national testing facility or outsourcing the testing component of S&L programme are significant. Development of capacity for monitoring, enforcement and evaluation of S&L programmes adds another cost component to the programme.

Generally, in most SSA countries S&L programme costs would compete with other social/economical/infrastructural development agenda. For example, it would be difficult for S&L programmes to be given priority in national budgetary allocations ahead of education, health or infrastructure development especially in a period where the GDP growth was continuously declining. The costs outlined rendered the implementation of S&L programmes prohibitive to most SSA countries. This suggests why where S&L programmes have been implemented in SSA; there has also been a significant financial support of the programmes by international organizations.

## Lack of favourable regulatory environment

The establishment and implementation of a successful S&L programmes require a favourable regulatory environment. The presence of supportive national energy policies as well as national energy efficiency strategies is important. All existing energy efficiency labelling programmes in SSA are national initiatives, driven by the requirements of national government policy. In the absence of such regulatory environment it is not possible to institute S&L programmes. This is because by their very nature S&L programmes if mandatory have an enforcement component which must be supported by appropriate enacted national regulation and legislation. In most SSA countries such environment is absent and where it exists it has not yet been put into use.

## Weakened Energy Efficiency Appliance/Equipment Market

S&L programmes work well in countries where there is well developed manufacturing industry of the appliances/equipment under programme consideration and/or high appliance/equipment penetration levels. This necessitates that the local manufacturing companies equip their production lines for the production of energy efficient appliances/equipment to feed the local market. The high penetration rates of the appliance/equipment ensure a market that can meet the demand for energy efficient goods.

In SSA, the appliance market to a great extent is overwhelmed by non-efficient appliances/equipment or second hand appliances/equipment selling at very low prices. The sustainability of these markets is underlined by the affordability of appliances/equipment and consumers who are mostly only concerned by the price and the functionality of the appliance. Unfortunately the price of energy efficient appliances/equipment cannot compete with the price of new but extremely affordable or second hand appliances. In such a market environment, it is difficult to introduce S&L programmes because of a weakened energy efficient appliance/equipment market.

# Appropriateness of S&L in Sub-Saharan Africa at the Present Time

Sub Saharan Africa is seen as a region that will experience fast changes in economic activities in the coming years. The increased economic activity is linked to two main developments namely political stability and new discoveries of mineral, natural-gas and oil deposits. It is expected that the economic developments will be coupled with infrastructure and social developments. In the fore front is the development of the electrical power infrastructure to improve the supply, quality and reliability. It can therefore be said that the present time is appropriate for SSA to embark into S&L programme due to the following:

## **Expected Increased Electrification Rates**

Rural electrification rates in Sub-Saharan Africa countries are projected to increase to 50% by the year 2030 due to government power expansion projects facilitating grid and off-grid household connections [4][5]. There has been the establishment of regional power pools [11] [4] i.e. the South African Power Pool (SAPP), the Eastern Africa Power Pool (EAPP), the Central African Power Pool (PEAC) and the Western Africa Power Pool (WAPP) in SSA. Reliable electrical power infrastructure is required in SSA to fuel and sustain the projected levels of economic development activity envisaged in the region. The expansion in power generation will have to be accompanied by energy efficiency measures in generation, transmission, distribution and in all end-uses. This is unavoidable because energy efficiency improves energy security, increases competitiveness and reduces green gas emission [6] [10]. Energy efficiency (EE) measures will ensure enhanced reliability and sustainability and it is no doubt that EE measures are the most cost effective intervention and must be mainstreamed in energy delivery and usage.

In the period between 2000 and 2010, the output from African manufacturing sector roughly doubled [12]. With the increase in electrification in SSA it is expected that manufacturing activity will intensify. However, Africa has the highest energy per unit of economic output when compared to other countries of the world. The urgency of energy efficiency in SSA is further indicated by this apparent inefficient use of energy in manufacturing processes in the region.

## Increase in Domestic Appliance Ownership

An increase in appliance ownership levels is a natural consequence of increase in electrification rates. At household level, rise in rural electrification rates will bring about increase in ownership of electrical household appliances as well as installation of electrical lighting. The increase in appliance ownership is also linked to household income. It is reported that, 22 countries in Africa with a population of 400 million people are already middle income countries and by 2025 with modest growth and stability, another 10 countries with a population of 200 million will attain the status of middle income countries [13]. Furthermore, SSA is quietly but rapidly becoming a significant market for technology-based consumer products [14]. Sub-Saharan Africa countries will become the world's largest appliance market of the future because in the rest of the world economies household appliance ownership rates are rapidly reaching or are already in saturation levels. The increase in appliance ownership in SSA implies an increased electrical load in grid or non-grid connected households and highly indicates for S&L programmes.

## **Regulations Implemented in SSA Major Trading Partners**

Most of the products that are covered in Directives and regulations passed in the trading partners of SSA are traded globally. As expected, such directives impact on the global trading dynamics and SSA is not immune to the impacts.

## The European Union Energy related Produce (ErP) Directive

In the European Union (EU) region S&L activities have included work on EU Directives. The Energy related Products (ErP) directive [15] for example replaced the Energy using Products (EuP) directive in November 2009. The ErP directive provides a framework for establishing minimum eco design requirements for energy using and energy related products. The ErP directive widens the scope of the EuP directive of 2005. The objectives of ErP directive are the following [15]:

- Decrease the environmental effects and to promote environmental sustainability
- Reduce greenhouse gas emissions
- Reduce the damaging environmental impacts of products at the end of product life
- To ensure free-trade in energy using and energy related products.

Implementing measures (IM) have been provided on the following classes of products [15]: Circulators, electric motors, household refrigerators, external power supplies, non-directional household lamps, simple set top boxes, standby off mode, street and office lights and television sets. This implies that any of the products covered in the scope of the IM can be sold on the EU market only if the product meets the ErP directive. In essence, this directive closes the EU market for non-complying products. Products that cannot enter the EU market are sold elsewhere in other markets where regulation is lax. SSA has unfortunately become a favourable destination of such products as it continues to lag behind in S&L programmes.

The ErP directive is also about the life cycle cost on energy and the environment of a product, and it directly points to the cost of energy and cost to the environment in manufacturing processes. Manufacturers are required to realign manufacturing operations to the directive. This has resulted in some transnational corporate giants in the developed countries shifting their energy consuming and highly polluting operations to developing countries under the disguise of investments. In general the developing countries bear both the cost of non-efficient dumped products as well as the costs of high energy consuming and high polluting processes, SSA should become active in S&L programmes.

## Waste Electrical & Electronic Equipment (WEEE) Directive

The WEEE directive of January 2003 is an EU directive that seeks to reduce the quantity and harmfulness to the environment by electrical and electronic equipment and materials [16[17]. The implementation of the WEEE directive has brought about the export of equipment to other countries where the goods are recycled or re-used. The exported equipment falls into two groups i.e. properly declared and described equipment and grey market export where equipment and components are incorrectly listed as Green list Waste and shipped to non-OECD countries [16].

Equipment exported as grey market goods finds its way mostly to developing countries where the equipment is sold as second hand equipment or as spare parts. These equipment or parts are mostly old and would in almost all cases be very energy inefficient and are not environmentally friendly. Reintroducing such equipment/parts into the market results in increased energy use and increased green gas emissions. Unfortunately, SSA has become a major dumping ground of non-compliant or grey appliance/equipment fuelled mostly by the non-existent energy of appropriate standards and regulations.

## Conclusion

In the absence of S&L programmes, Sub-Saharan Africa will continue to be a dumping ground for non-efficient and grey appliances/equipment and the recipients of energy inefficient and highly pollutant manufacturing/industrial processes. In its quest to build and increase electrical power generating, transmission and distribution capacity, SSA cannot afford not to conserve the energy through energy efficiency practises.

Rural electrification in SSA in areas far away from grid is expected to be achieved through appropriate renewable energy technologies. S&L programmes will be critical for the sustainability of the rural power supply through the use of energy efficient lighting and appliances. In urban areas the penetration of electrical and electronic appliances/equipment will continue to grow at a much higher pace than the provision of reliable supply. In general, Sub-Saharan Africa can no longer push back the active design and implementation of S&L programmes.

# The Way Forward for S&L Programmes in Sub Saharan Africa

The steps for the successful design and implementation of a sustainable S&L programme are outlined to include the following seven steps [1]:

- Decide whether and how to implement S&L
- Develop a testing capability
- Design and implement a labelling program
- Set minimum energy performance standards
- Design and implement a communication campaign
- Ensure programme integrity
- Evaluate S&L program

It is proposed that there be an S&L programme for SSA with the following objectives:

- Increase consumer awareness on the energy efficiency appliances/equipment purchase and raise energy efficient appliance/equipment use behaviour
- Eliminate inefficient models on the market through appropriate incentives to importers and consumers.
- Avoid the importation of new or grey appliances/equipment that has failed to meet the set minimum energy performance standards for new/used appliances/equipment
- Avoid industrial investments that import highly inefficient and highly polluting manufacturing operations into SSA

These objectives can be met through the following proposed considerations bearing in mind the seven steps outlined above for the design and implementation of S&L programmes.

## Establishing Strong and Clear Political Legitimacy

The African Union (AU) through its two relevant organs i.e. AU Commission portfolio of Infrastructure and Energy and Specialized Technical Committee on Industry, Science and Technology, Energy, Natural Resources and Economics should be at the fore front to prepare suitable S&L programs in Africa for the ratification by the Executive Council. Through these two organs, there will be coordination and harmonization of the programme in AU. This should then be followed by the work of establishing appropriate policies and regulations in the S&L implementation regions.

## Implementation Level for S&L Programmes in Sub-Saharan Africa

Sub Saharan Africa is considered as one economic region and in most world economic analyses, and in statistical reporting's the figures captured are for SSA region. In AU and in particular inSub Saharan Africa there already exist economic regions namely [18]: Southern Africa Development Community (SADC), East African Community (EAC), Economic Community of West African States (ECOWAS), Common Market of Eastern and Southern Africa (COMESA) and Economic Community of Central African States (ECCAS). These economic regions create socio-economic and political stability which is conducive for trade and movement of goods resulting in enlarged market size. The resulting market sizes bring in a bargaining power to the economic regions. In some of the economic regions there are already customs unions and free trade which works well for a common market. Therefore, these existing economic regions can be defined to be S&L implementation regions.

Regional S&L programs are logical also because of the existence of power pools [11][4] in Sub Saharan Africa. The concept of regional S&L makes good sense because regional power pools are communities of countries where electrical power is sold and bought and the power grid is interconnected. If S&L programmes are implemented regionally, then regions would work together towards conservation of a common shared commodity i.e. electricity power.

The existence of economic regions [18] will give momentum to the implementation of S&L programmes in SSA. This is because regional programmes will bring in economies of scale in terms of programme implementation cost, institutional capacity, as well as the market size for the goods to be regulated. Considerations should be made for the economic regions to form the clusters in which common standards and labels are shared. The SSA S&L programme should like the Australian program take the least common denominator approach which holds all participating countries to the levels that are acceptable to the least progressive country [1]. This consideration could result in regional implementing agencies championed by the four countries which are at different stages of

implementing S&L programmes i.e. Kenya in East Africa, Ghana and Nigeria in West Africa, and South Africa in Southern Africa. It is good to report that the ECOWAS Energy Efficiency Policy already exists since October 2012 and an ECOWAS centre for Renewable Energy and Energy Efficiency is in operation [26] [27] [28]. As ECOWAS paves the way ahead, this can be a great model from which to learn for the other economic regions.

## Analyses Relevant for the Determination of Standards in SSA

In [1], several analyses are proposed in the process of determination of relevant minimum energy performance standards (MEPS). To carry out a proper and credible analysis, credible data is of great importance, and this is hard to come by in SSA. However, not all analyses are applicable to a particular S&L programme design. The question is which analyses are relevant for SSA?

There is a very small manufacturing component in SSA for most of the regions to benefit from a manufacturing analysis. The availability of credible data for engineering analysis is doubtful because of the existence of the second hand market for grey products whose energy performance data might be hard to find or trace. But also most of the new appliances sold in the SSA counties are without certification and therefore energy performance data for these appliances will also be difficult to gather especially because of lack of certification laboratories in the region and reliance on data from external international laboratories.

SSA countries are mainly importers of appliances/equipment into their local markets. The major stakeholders are the importers/retailers, consumers. This implies that the relevant analyses required for the S&L programme design & implementation will in most cases be a market analysis and a consumer analysis. It is assumed here that the data inputs for the two markets are not the same and this can be reflected in the analyses outputs only if separate data sets are used for the analyses. The market and consumer analysis should differentiate between new and used appliances/equipment to correctly differentiate between the two market\consumer sets. It is important to again stress that credible data is hard to find in most SSA and sometimes the data available can only provide limited insight.

The second hand market serves a purpose to its customers. The objective of S&L programmes should be to regulate the second hand market and do away with the worst energy performing goods as dictated by the MEPS to be set. The objective of S&L programmes should not be to close down this market especially because of affordability to consumers.

## Appliances/Equipment for Consideration for S&L programmes Implementation

The appliances to be considered for S&L programmes should be those with [1]:

- Potential for energy-efficiency improvement
- Adequate ownership and turnover
- Coverage by test procedures
- Energy efficiency regulations in other parts of the world
- Energy-labelling schemes

It is assumed here that the impact on total energy demand should be measured as an overall impact due to all the appliances/equipment in the programme rather than as an individual contribution of each

appliance. SSA will enter into S&L programme implementation after other countries/regions of the world such as EU have been in practise for over forty years. This implies that SSA will be able to benefit immensely from the experiences gained and tools that have been used successfully in other countries. It would therefore be beneficial to implement S&L programmes for appliances/equipment in which labels and methods of measuring energy performance have been developed and are now matured. In doing so, Sub Saharan Africa will capitalize on already existing labels as well as already existing testing and certification centres.

Appliances/equipment to be included should be those with adequate market penetration levels implying high ownership levels. However, it will be important that the appliances in consideration at any implementation stage be common across the different S&L regions. This is calling for harmonisation of the S&L implementation process across the different regions. If this is not done, there will unfortunately be movement of inefficient appliances/equipment into the regions depending on whether regulation exists or not.

The following appliances are recommended for consideration for S&L programmes in SSA:

## Lighting

Lighting products entering SSA market are either grid connected or non-grid connected lighting products. There have also been a number of initiatives for 'lighting Africa' that has resulted in high penetration of lighting products in SSA markets. It has been reported that sales of solar lanterns designed for low income households and micro-businesses grew by more than 300% in SSA between the period 2008 and 2012 [19] [20]. This indicates high market penetration rates for lighting products in SSA markets.

## Refrigerators

The ownership of refrigerators in SSA countries is expected to grow slowly in the coming years and is projected that in 2030 half of the households will own a refrigerator [21]. Whilst this does not indicate high overall market penetration levels, it will be beneficial to include refrigerators for S&L programme in SSA for the following reasons:

- Ownership of refrigerators in urban centres is expected to grow faster because of expected increased urbanisation rates in SSA. At present, electrified areas in SSA countries are mostly urban areas and it is in urban areas where electrical energy supply is immensely constrained.
- Refrigerators are one of the highly sought appliances for second hand markets [16]. The refrigerators are imported as grey product and there is an urgent need to regulate the importation of such goods to prevent dumping.

## Television sets

There are 44, 204,000 TV households at present in Sub Saharan Africa out of a total of 844 513 000 households [22]. This is not a very significant number to start with, but as for the refrigerators, rapid urbanisation will see the ownership rise sharply as the market for electronic goods continues to rise [14]. Again here, the issue of second hand good market is valid and it would be an oversight not to consider Televisions sets in an S&L programme implementation.

## Radios and Mobile phone chargers

Radio receivers are the leading media equipment in the world and ownership levels for the world are reported to be 70-80 % on average [23]. In West Africa radio ownership in Togo, Nigeria, Senegal and Ghana is between 87% and 91% [23]. In Kenya and Tanzania in East Africa the ownership levels ranges between 92% to 93% [23]. This is also the scenario in Southern Africa countries of Angola,

Mozambique, South Africa and Zimbabwe where radio ownership is between 56% and 90% [23]. Needless to say, that this indicates high ownership levels across the board.

The high ownership levels are partly driven by the fact that radios can easily be powered by battery cells and therefore the ownership levels are not affected by lack of high electrification rates. But it is also true that because radios are well priced, most households can afford one. With the expected increase in electrification levels, and because of the affordability of radios more and more households are expected to switch to electricity powered radios.

Access to and use of mobile phones has increased rapidly in Sub Saharan Africa and in 2009 it was reported that 60% of the population in SSA had mobile phones [24]. In 2012, the number of mobile subscribers in SSA rose to 311 562 800 people out of a population of 844 513 902 [22]. Projected figures indicate that there will be 700 million connections in 2016 accounting for 75% of the population [25]. These numbers indicate very high ownership levels. All mobile phones require electrical battery chargers which normally consume low electrical power. The problem here is when mobile phone chargers are left on for considerable amount of time between charging events. This leads to standby power losses which can accumulate to relatively sizeable load if not attended to.

Consideration into standby power regulation for radios, televisions and mobile phone chargers should therefore be considered in the implementation of S&L programmes in SSA.

## Harmonisation of Labels & Measurement Methods for Appliance Energy Performance

Harmonisation of labels and measurement methods already developed elsewhere will leapfrog the process of designing and implementing S&L programmes in SSA [7]. The labels and measurement methods and determination of minimum energy performance standards should however be tailored to the existing local conditions.

## Institutional Capacity for Testing, Enforcement and Evaluation

This is another great challenge for the implementation of S&L programmes in SSA. Here is where international assistance and cooperation must be greatly tapped in [1]. Most of the appliances/equipment would be imported into the regions. The enforcement of S&L programmes will hinge mostly on import regulation at the ports of entry. The success will depend mostly on collaboration of exporting and importing countries as well as retailers.

Testing can be done through agreements with international testing laboratories. This is costly but harmonisation is the key in reducing costs especially when common appliances that use the same test methods are considered for S&L across the regions. Programme evaluation can also be done through the contracting programme experts obtained through the assistance of international organisation such as United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), Global Environmental Facility (GEF), and Collaborative Libelling and Appliance Standards Program (CLAS) SP to mention a few [1]. The implementation agencies can also be started by international consultancies working with regional local personnel for the purpose of capacity building.

## **Consumer Awareness Programmes**

In Sub-Saharan Africa where appliance/equipment purchase is mainly driven by functionality and affordability (price), earnest efforts should be put into Consumer awareness programs. This is important in influencing the consumer appliance/equipment purchase and use behaviour which is

paramount to the success of S&L programme. Careful tailored incentives could be introduced accelerate the purchase of energy efficient appliances/equipment. Mobile phones and radios coupled with advancement in technology could be the most practical and cost effective ways to disseminate energy efficient information to dispersed populations and households in SSA countries. Energy awareness campaigns can also be conducted through these two mediums of communication.

# Conclusion

In the 40 years of implementation of S&L programmes in the world, the programmes have been initiated in only 4 countries and one economic region in Sub Saharan Africa. S&L have been initiated in Ghana, South Africa, Nigeria, Kenya and ECOWAS. The barriers to the uptake of S&L programmes in SSA countries have been articulated to be: The associated costs of design and implementing the programs, the non-existence of a favourable market and positive regulatory environment for S&L programmes.

The paper advocates that the present time is appropriate for SSA countries to embark on S&L programme design and implementation. The appropriateness of the time is substantiated by the expected increase in electrification rates in SSA which will in turn result in increase of ownership of appliances/equipment. The increase in appliance ownership levels will also be brought about by the fact that a substantial number of SSA countries will attain middle income status therefore raising household appliance/equipment purchasing power. The enactment and implementation of Energy efficient/environmental regulations in countries who are trading partners of SSA is another indicator for the appropriateness of the present time. Regulations such as ErP and the WEEE are the most significant because they directly affect the goods entering SSA. Sub Saharan Africa cannot afford to continue to be a dumping ground of non-compliant goods.

In the design and implementation of S&L programmes the following are recommended: An immediate response to by AU organs on mainstreaming of S&L programs in Africa. The existence of economic regions and regional power pools in SSA is an advantage in the formulation of S&L programmes which could be regional based to capitalize in economies of scale in terms of program costs and market sizes. Appliances/equipment considered for different stages of implementation should be common to all regions to benefit on harmonisation of test methods and labels. The appliances put forward for initial S&L programmes consideration are: lighting products grid and non-grid, refrigerators, television sets, radio and mobile phone chargers. The appliance/equipment market in most SSA countries is made up of imported goods. Market analysis and consumer analysis should be the analyses of choice due to data constraints. Finally consumer awareness and education as an important programme component in SSA S&L programme implementation is highlighted. The paper suggests the use of mobile phones and radios as media of communication in awareness and education programmes.

# References

- [1] Wiel S., McMahon J. E., *Energy-Efficiency Labels and Standards: A Guidebook for Appliances*, Equipment and Lighting, CLASP (Washington), Second Edition 2005.
- [2] United Nations Population Division, *An Overview of Urbanization, Internal Migration, Population Distribution and Development in the World*, UN/POP/EGM-URB/2008/01, January 2008.
- [3] IEA (2011), Energy for All. Financing Access for the Poor, Special Early Excerpt of the World Energy Outlook, International Energy Agency, Paris 2011.

- [4] Eberhard A., Rosnes O., Shkaratan M., Vennemo H., *Africa's Power Infrastructure Investment, Integration, Efficiency,* The World Bank, Washington DC ISBN: 978-0-8213-8455-8, 2011.
- [5] Eberhard A., Foster V., Briceno-Garmendia C., Ouedraugo F., Camos D., Shkaran M., Underpowered: The State of Power Sector in Sub-Saharan Africa, AICD Background Paper 6<sup>th</sup> May 2008.
- [6] Fall L., Achieving Energy Efficiency in Africa: What are the Priorities, The Best Practises and Policy Measures, XXI<sup>st</sup> World Energy Congress, Montreal Canada, September 12<sup>th</sup> -16<sup>th</sup> 2010.
- [7] Koskimaki P., Africa Could Take a Leap to Energy Efficiency: What Lessons could Sub Saharan Countries Learn from European Energy Efficiency Policy Implementation? Energy for Sustainable Development, Vol. 16, 2012, pp. 189-196.
- [8] Gbadamosi A., Oniku A. C., The Strategic Implications of China's Economic Pacts with Sub Saharan African Countries the Case of Nigeria, Conference of International Journal of Arts and Science 1(18): 115-130 (2009).
- [9] Tahari A., Ghura D., Akitoby B., Brouaka E., Sources of Growth in Sub Saharan Africa, IMF Working Paper, WP/04/176 of 2004.
- [10] The Energy Challenge: Access and Security for Africa and Europe, Africa-EU Partnership
- [11] Nyimbana P., The Challenges of Operationalizing Power Pools in Africa, UNDESA Seminar on Electricity Interconnections, Cairo Egypt 19<sup>th</sup>- 21<sup>st</sup> June 2005.
- [12] African Economic Outlook: New Opportunities for African Manufacturing, <u>http://www.africaeconomicoutlook.org/en/in-depth/emerging-partners/industialisation-debt-and-governance-more-fear-than-harm/new-opportunities-for-africa-manufacturing/#1</u> last accessed 26-03-2013
- [13] World Bank Press Release of October 4<sup>th</sup> 2012.
- [14] Jacobs S., *The Rise and Rise of Africa's Consumer Market*, New African, Tuesday 20<sup>th</sup> March 2012.
- [15] Directive 2009/125/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 21<sup>st</sup> October 2009, www.erp-compliance.com/elt.pdf last accessed 26-03-2013
- [16] ICER, WEEE-Green List Waste Study, Report for the Environmental Agency, April 2004, Copyright ICER 2004.
- [17] Brief Introduction of Directive 2002/96/EC of 27<sup>th</sup> January 2003 on Waste Electrical & Electronic Equipment.
- [18] Marupin N., Challenges for Regional Integration in Sub-Saharan Africa, Africa in World Economy The National, Regional and International Challenges, Chapter 11, Fondad, The Hague December 2005.
- [19] Regional Report on Efficient Lighting in Sub Saharan African Countries, UNEP, en-Lighten, GEF, Copyright United Nations Environment Programme, 2012.
- [20] African Lighting Market Records Explosive Growth, IFC/World Bank Study, www.lightingafrica.cvs/african-lighting-market-records-explosive-growth-ifcworld-bankstudy.html. Last accessed 26-03-2013
- [21] McNeil M. A., Letschert V. E., Wiel S., Reducing the Price of Development: The Global Potential of Energy Efficiency Standards in Residential Electricity Sector.
- [22] DISCOP Africa: <u>www.discop.com/ci/pages/show/about\_subsaharan\_africa\_</u> last accessed 26-03-2013

- [23] Myers M., *Radio Development in Africa: A Concept Paper*, paper prepared for International Development Research Centre (IDRC) of Canada, August 2008.
- [24] Aker J. C., Mbiti I. M., *Mobile Phone and Economic Development in Africa, Journal of Economic Perspectives*, Vol. 24, #3, Summer 2010 pp. 207-232
- [25] Sub-Saharan Africa Mobile Observatory 2012, published 13<sup>th</sup> November 2012
- [26] Vieyra O., Development of a Regional Efficient Lighting Strategy in ECOWAS, Regional Workshop of ECOWASD Initiative on Energy Saving Lighting, Hotel Azakai, 22<sup>nd</sup> April 2013, Ouagadougou Burkina Faso.
- [27] Uyigue E., Nigerian Standard and Label Initiative: Progress so Far and Lessons Learnt, Regional Workshop of ECOWASD Initiative on Energy Saving Lighting, Hotel Azakai, 22<sup>nd</sup> April 2013, Ouagadougou Burkina Faso.
- [28] Agyarko K., Towards Efficient Lighting Market, The Case of Ghana, Regional Workshop of ECOWASD Initiative on Energy Saving Lighting, Hotel Azakai, 22<sup>nd</sup> April 2013, Ouagadougou Burkina Faso.

# Building Capacity for Better Enforcement of EU Eco-design and Energy Labelling in an EU Accession Country – Turkey Case Study

*Necmettin TOKUR Project Manager, Market Transformation of EE Appliances UNDP – Turkey* 

# *Tom LOCK Certification Manager, Energy Efficiency Chair of EnR Labelling and Eco-design Working Group Energy Saving Trust, UK*

# Abstract

Based on the Customs Union obligations as well as accession efforts, Turkey is in the process of transposing and implementing EU Eco-design and Energy Labelling Directives as well as many other pieces of EU product legislation. Even though Turkey is the largest manufacturing base in Europe and the second largest in the world, Turkey still needs capacity building for better enforcement of the above mentioned legislation including for the market surveillance authority and upgrading energy efficiency testing facilities.

The Turkish Ministry of Energy and Natural Resources chose the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), as the Implementing Agency, with financial support from the Global Environment Facility (GEF) and launched the UNDP/GEF Market Transformation of Energy Efficient Appliances in Turkey Project, MTEEA (2010 to 2014) [1]. The project aims to transform the market towards more efficient appliances through a set of activities, primarily focusing on:

- 1. Establishment of a Market Monitoring System to monitor, manage and control Green House Gas (GHG) emissions caused by household appliances.
- 2. Capacity building for Turkish Governmental institutions for accelerated transposition, implementation and better enforcement of EU Energy Labelling and Eco-design Regulations.
- 3. Revised and upgraded Proactive Market Surveillance Programme, including a strengthening of the institutional capacity to test appliances in Turkey.

The project also includes provisions for raising public awareness for more efficient appliances, development of financial support mechanisms and training of sales staff to help sell the benefits to consumers of energy efficient household appliances.

This paper describes activities undertaken to build the necessary capacity and presents the results which have been achieved so far as well as what further steps should be taken in the future.

# Introduction

The rapid diffusion of globalization, beginning in the 1990s, changed the consumption habits of communities across the world, creating rapid consumption of energy resources, thereby increasing concerns about global climate change. This trend pushed most governments to take action for more rational and efficient use of resources without imposing barriers to trade. As a result the issue of resource efficiency became one of the most important items on the world agenda.

Under the Customs Union between Turkey and the EU, a collective transposition movement began following it's publication in 1995. Most of the regulations transposed focused on product safety, with the exception of the energy labelling regulations for household appliances, household refrigerating equipment 96/57/EC, fluorescent ballasts 2000/55/EC, and New Hot Water Boilers (NHWB) 92/42/EC.

However, the first framework directive 2005/32/EC for setting eco-design requirements for Energy using Products (EuP) as well as Implementing Measures thereunder for different product groups provided for minimum requirements for energy efficiency and prohibited the selling of EuPs not meeting these requirements. Later in 2009, the scope of the framework eco-design directive was extended to cover all products which directly or indirectly affect energy consumption and recast under 2009/125/EC for setting eco-design requirements for Energy related Products (ErP). The recast of the framework directive meant that products consuming vital resources such as gas and water, construction materials and even detergents which affects consumption of resources, were eligible to be included. Therefore it has been witnessed that resource efficiency based legislation takes equal prominence to that of product safety.

In the following sections, the details will be presented of how the transposition of the EU eco-design legislation as well as the recast of the EU Energy Labelling legislation was accelerated and how capacity for better enforcement of this legislation was built into Turkish governmental institutions.

# Market Transformation of Energy Efficient Appliances in Turkey Project

Just after the transposition of Directive 2009/125/EC in Turkey in October 2010, the DG for Renewable Energy under the Ministry of Energy and Natural Resources and UNDP launched the GEF supported project "Market Transformation of Energy Efficient Appliances in Turkey" as a market transformation programme towards more efficient appliances focusing on refrigerating equipment, wet products, electric ovens, air conditioners and televisions which is also supported by project partners from both industry and government.

Table 1 below presents the project partners which support the MTEEA Project:

## Table 1 – Shows the MTEEA Project Partners



Executing Agency for MTEEA Project and responsible for establishing general energy efficiency policies in all sectors in Turkey

Responsible for transposition and enforcement in Turkey of many parts of *Acquis Communautaire* including Eco-design and Energy Labeling

An industrial NGO representing white goods industry in Turkey

Worldwide reputable Turkish appliance manufacturer

International fund supporting climate change mitigation and adaptation projects in developing countries

Global network of the United Nations established in 1966 and operating in 177 countries in the world supporting national and global development efforts for better life quality for communities

The objective of the MTEEA Project is to reduce the household electricity consumption and the associated GHG emissions of Turkey by accelerating the market transformation of less energy consuming appliances. The project is being implemented to achieve the following outcomes:

DP

Güçlü bireyler Güçlü toplumla

- strengthening local institutional capacity to develop, adopt and implement effective appliance EE policies;
- developing and implementing a structured conformity assessment and enforcement program for appliance energy performance labels and standards;
- increasing consumer and the supply chain awareness and capacity to purchase and deliver energy efficient appliances in the Turkish market; and
- analyzing and reporting the results of the project for further learning, adaptive management and, as applicable, replication in other countries.

# Improvement of the Regulatory Framework and Capacity Building Activities

## Legal Framework:

In the early implementation phases, the MTEEA Project proceeded with the acceleration of the transposition of Implementing Measures under the Eco-design Framework Directive 2009/125/EC and Delegated Acts under the Energy Labelling Framework Directive 2010/30/EU for products covered by the scope of the Project. In this context, MTEEA supported the Turkish Ministry of Science Industry and Technology (MoSIT) in transposing the following Implementing Measures and Delegated Acts [2].

Table 2.	Shows	the	Implementation	of	EU	eco-design	and	energy	labelling	regulations	into
Turkish I	_aw										

Regulations	Published in
2009/125/EC Framework Eco-design Directive	October 2010
642/2009 – Televisions	September 2011
<ul> <li>643/2009 – Refrigerating appliances</li> </ul>	September 2011
1015/2010 – Washing Machines	September 2011
• 1016/2010 – Dishwashers	September 2011
206/2012 – Air Conditioners	FINAL DRAFT
<ul> <li>1275/2008 – Standby/Off</li> </ul>	August 2011
<ul> <li>107/2009 – Simple Set Top Boxes</li> </ul>	August 2011
<ul> <li>244/2009 – Non-directional household lamps</li> </ul>	August 2011
<ul> <li>245/2009 – Tertiary lighting</li> </ul>	August 2011
<ul> <li>278/2009 – External Power Supplies</li> </ul>	August 2011
<ul> <li>641/2009 – Circulators</li> </ul>	September 2011
2010/30/EU Framework Labelling Directive(*)	December 2011
<ul> <li>2002/40/EC – Electric Ovens</li> </ul>	February 2003
<ul> <li>1060/2010 – Refrigerators</li> </ul>	June 2012
1061/2010 – Washing Machines	June 2012
• 1059/2010 – Dishwashers	June 2012
• 1062/2010 – TV	June 2012
626/2011 – Air conditioners	FINAL DRAFT
• 392/2012 – Tumble Driers	FINAL DRAFT

(\*) Former labelling regulations were repealed as new version labelling regulations are put into force. (\*\*) Those transposed under the MTEEA Project are shaded in grey.

## Market Monitoring System

In parallel to the publication of the above listed regulations in Turkey, a Market Monitoring Database was developed within the DG for Renewable Energy under the Ministry of Energy and Natural Resources to summarize the annual sales of appliances by energy efficiency classes as well as energy consumption figures and associated GHG emissions caused by appliances. This database will, if updated every year, enable the DG for Renewable Energy to better administer energy efficiency policies by monitoring the energy consumption and GHG emission figures and the Ministry of Science Industry and Technology to better design their Market Surveillance Plans based on the sales figures of appliances by energy efficiency classes.

The database can be extended to include new product groups as new implementing measures and labeling regulations are introduced. To enable effective use of the database, the Measurement, Evaluation, Monitoring and Audit Department staff of the DG for Renewable Energy was trained in April 2012 [3].

## Market Surveillance Infrastructure

Although publication of the regulations is an important step, it should be backed by effective enforcement complete with trained market inspectors, a structured market surveillance plan and testing facilities. For this reason, 300 MoSIT headquarter staff and market inspectors have been trained by an international expert from the Energy Saving Trust (EST), UK, on the implementation of EU eco-design and energy labeling directives and implementing measures and delegated acts respectively. In addition, for further capacity building purposes, a market surveillance strategy was implemented. The proactive plans of MoSIT have been enhanced to cover checking compliance of products with these pieces of legislation, and the headquarters staff of MoSIT was provided with training on market surveillance programme management by the National Measurement Office (NMO), the market surveillance authority in the UK for eco-design and energy labelling. This is a key result of the MTEEA project – for the first time, MoSIT benefited from a capacity building programme for eco-design and energy labelling regulations as the two previous Twinning Projects implemented by MoSIT with EU Member States in 2004 and 2006 mostly focused on product safety directives.

## Training

MoSIT is the market surveillance authority in Turkey for products covered by a number of European Directives on safety and performance including LVD, EMC, Machinery, Lifts, NHWB, Gas Appliances, Civil Explosives as well as eco-design and energy labelling of products. Before the MTEEA project, all the training of market inspectors had focused on product safety and not eco-design and the energy labelling regulations. Consequently, MoSIT recognized the MTEEA project as a valuable opportunity to fill their capacity gap. Considering these training needs, the MTEEA management devised a training programme on eco-design and energy labeling regulations to cover both HQ staff (training of trainers) and market inspectors, totaling 300 people. MoSIT also needed market surveillance programme management training for delivery of the Proactive Market Surveillance Plan (PMSP) developed under MTEEA (as detailed below) and for the continued delivery of market surveillance after 2014 [4, 5]. Securing the Ministry's co-operation past 2014 is a major result for the MTEEA Project.

In collaboration with the NMO, a two-stage training programme was designed and implemented for MoSIT HQ staff:

- **Stage I:** Environmental Impact, Development of Market Surveillance Programmes, Enforcement Actions, Monitoring and Measuring Achievement of the Market Surveillance Programme
- Stage II: Follow-up of Progress of MoSIT's Market Surveillance Programme

## Results

With this training, MoSIT were able to manage the PMSP in co-operation with the MTEEA Project Management Unit and to better restructure their market surveillance organization using the outcomes of the training.

## Proactive Market Surveillance Plan

Previously, MoSIT's annual market surveillance programmes focused on product safety. Previous energy labelling surveillance focused only on the presence of labels, with only household lamps undergoing any performance and verification testing. The MTEEA project ensured, with the help of an International Consultant, that a comprehensive product testing programme was developed – to be implemented in two stages in two years (2013-2014) – covering all products included within the scope of the Project.

STAGE I (2013): *Establishing the baseline*. This first stage of the product testing programme is intended to provide an overall picture of the level of compliance of the marketplace for MoSIT. This seeks to help better design their future market surveillance programmes to decide on hot spots, product groups, country of origin, manufacturers, brands and models to be focus on. The testing programme is designed to cover as many brands and models as possible under the budgetary limits of the MTEEA Project.

STAGE II (2014): *Measuring the change in the level of compliance*. This second stage of the testing programme is intended to enable the MTEEA Project Management and MoSIT to measure to what extent the MTEEA Project activities are successful in increasing the level of compliance of the marketplace.

## Results

This PMSP is considered another key output of MTEEA Project. For the first time, a market screening programme has been prepared and will be delivered by MoSIT to check compliance with EU ecodesign and energy labelling regulations.

## Enhancing Testing Capacity

Success of a market surveillance programme is dependent on equipped and competent training facilities and personnel. Currently, the Turkish Standards Institute (TSE) is the testing body authorized by MoSIT in Turkey for testing of products subject to product regulations under the responsibility of MoSIT. As far as eco-design and energy labelling regulations are concerned, however, TSE has limited testing capacity for some products (refrigeration, electric ovens, TVs) and no testing capacity for some other products (laundry and dishwashing, air conditioners). Therefore, a capacity building programme was initiated by the MTEEA Project to undertake a laboratory inventory within Turkey, to devise a laboratory investment programme and to train laboratory staff [6].

## Laboratory Inventory

The objective was to establish an inventory of testing facilities in Turkey (both private and public) for testing of products against eco-design and energy labeling regulations. Table 3 displays the results of this exercise:

Product	Can these be currently tested in Turkey?
Domestic fridge, freezers and similar	Yes at TSE
Domestic washing machines	Only in manufacturer-owned facilities
Domestic dishwashers	Only in manufacturer-owned facilities
Domestic tumble driers	Only in manufacturer-owned facilities
Electric ovens	Yes at TSE (limited)
Air conditioners	Only in manufacturer-owned facilities
TVs	Yes at TSE (limited)

### Table 3. Shows the Capacities and Gaps in Testing Facilities in Turkey

As a result of this inventory, a 4-option strategic proposal was offered to MoSIT for upgrading the testing facilities in Turkey:

Table 4. Displays the Strategic Options for Upgrading Testing Facilities in Turkey						
Option	Advantage	Disadvantage				
<b>Option 1</b> : Test all (future) Energy Labelling and Eco-design products in Turkey at a University or other independent site.	Builds skill base and product knowledge in research capable centres within Turkey.	Very high (€millions) investment cost. High training and staff familiarisation cost.				

## Table 4. Displays the Strategic Options for Upgrading Testing Facilities in Turkey

<b>Option 2</b> : Test all (future) Energy Labelling and Eco-design products in Turkey at TSE.	Uses and builds testing expertise within Turkey's current testing centre.	High (€million+) investment cost (though some/all investment could possibly be made by TSE).
<b>Option 3</b> : Test all (future) Energy Labelling and Eco-design products in Turkey at TSE (where TSE has facilities) and at manufacturers' laboratories in Turkey using TSE staff.	Uses and builds testing expertise within Turkey's current testing centre, minimises investment costs.	Access to manufacturers' laboratories may be restricted and require advanced booking.
<b>Option 4</b> : Test those products at TSE where they already have facilities. Test all other products at a suitably qualified laboratory elsewhere in the EU.	No investment costs, access to a competitive market for the supply of testing services.	Minor. Need to set up suitable administrative procedure. Some difficulties associated with arranging the witnessing of testing. Note: several EU Member States use this option.

Having considered these four strategic options, MoSIT decided to begin by adopting a version of Option 4, with the addition of investing in air conditioner test facilities, thereafter to continue to invest in further test facilities, in a phased programme over a further 2 years, to arrive at Option 2. Upon this decision the MTEEA project proceeded with developing a Laboratory Investment Plan for TSE.

## Laboratory Investment Plan

The plan covered investment for testing of laundry and dishwashing products and air conditioners to EU eco-design and energy labelling requirements and included provision of training of testing staff of TSE. The plan was also shared with TURKBESD, and a very valuable collaboration was established to finalize the list of equipment and costs. Turkish appliance manufacturers have excellent testing facilities and expertise regarding eco-design and energy labelling testing of products. As a result of discussions with MoSIT and TSE, the Turkish government decided to develop air conditioner testing facilities at TSE. TSE delivered their commitment to make the necessary investment for developing testing facilities for energy efficiency testing of wet products and air conditioners in 2013 and to be ready for testing in 2014. This will be an important step in Turkey, facilitated by the MTEEA Project, to remove the gap in testing facilities which has been under discussion for nearly 10 years. For the product groups which can already be tested by TSE (i.e. cold products, electric ovens, TVs) the list of testing equipment already available within TSE were also reviewed by working groups for each product group, where TSE, TURKBESD members and MoSIT are represented, to identify missing or outdated testing equipment, improper setup (if any) and provide TSE with full testing capacity by bringing their laboratories proper operating condition.

## Training of Testing Staff

As part of the Laboratory Investment Plan, analysis was carried out with TSE with the help of an International Consultant to identify the training needs of TSE testing staff. Considering the results of this, a training programme was developed for TSE testing staff including mutual laboratory visits, theoretical standard training, practical training at manufacturers' laboratories and training at EU laboratories accredited to EN 17025. This training programme has already been initiated and is expected to be completed in 2013 [7].

# Other Activities - Consumer Awareness Survey, Training Of Sales Staff, Public Awareness Raising Campaigns

## Consumer Awareness Survey

Intended market transformation can be achieved only if consumer awareness is sufficiently raised. Therefore, another objective of the MTEEA project is to raise awareness of consumers regarding efficiency of appliances.

In line with this objective, as a first step, a consumer survey was designed and implemented to identify a baseline for the level of awareness of consumers about these issues and to help design the awareness raising campaign. The Consumer Survey Report [8] published in June 2012, identified the following trends:

- Females are more aware than males about energy efficiency in both rural and urban settlements;
- About 56% of the Turkish population claim awareness of energy labeling;
- The level of awareness about climate change is relatively high but the impacts by householders on climate change by, for example, purchasing in-efficient home appliances could not be positively correlated;
- Financial support mechanisms are necessary to accelerate the phase-out of old and inefficient appliances.

This consumer survey will be repeated after the public awareness raising campaign to identify to what extent the level of awareness has been increased as a result of the activities under the MTEEA Project.

A project website has also been designed and launched to promote the project objectives (Figure 1).



Figure 1. A screen shot from the MTEEA Project website [1]

## Training of Sales Staff on Energy Labelling and Sales Techniques

The consumer awareness survey noted that most of the Turkish people buy appliances after they physically see and check them at stores. The survey found that only 2-2.5% of them were informed of the energy efficiency aspects by salespersons in-store. This led the MTEEA project to design and deliver a training programme for sales staff covering the responsibilities of suppliers and dealers under the energy labelling regulations, about the information contained on the energy label and about sales techniques to highlight the energy efficiency properties of appliances. This training programme has been delivered in two phases:

PHASE I: This training targeted the salespersons of TURKBESD members as well as department stores who directly communicate with customers. It was delivered to a pilot group of 40 salespersons attended from stores of Arçelik and other TURKBESD members such as BSH, Vestel and Indesit as well as department stores like Metro, Real and Teknosa.

PHASE II: This training targeted 30 staff working in marketing and sales departments of TURKBESD members and prepared training documents and delivered sales training techniques to store salespersons to increase the profile of energy efficiency aspects in their training curricula.

Training attendees benefited from an increased understanding of the contents of the energy label. Turkey has some 40,000 to 50,000 retail sales staff; unfortunately, given the resource constraints of the programme, it was not possible to train more staff.

## **Public Awareness Raising Campaign:**

Based on the results of the consumer awareness survey, a set of promotional materials including TV and radio spots, newspaper advertisements, cinema spots and internet advertisements were produced, broadcasted and published in national media, including 6 prominent TV channels and the 4 highest circulated national newspapers, and on the internet (Figure 2). In addition, energy label flyers were also printed to be disseminated in appliance shops and department stores to inform consumers about the symbols and information presented on energy labels and to correctly guide them when buying and using appliances.



#### TV & Cinema Spot



Newspaper advertisement



Label Flyers

## Figure 2. Examples of Promotional materials prepared under the MTEEA project

# Key Results

- The creation of the country's first Market Monitoring System, which estimates that the aggregate reduction in electricity consumption as a result of the MTEEA project's activities is 5.8 TWh by 2014 and nearly 30 TWh by 2020.
- The adoption of 8 eco-design and energy labelling regulations which have then gone on to be published into Turkish Law, with a further 3 regulations drafted remaining as yet un-published.
- The training of 300 MoSIT headquarter staff and market inspectors on energy labelling and eco-design, with MoSIT headquarter staff also benefiting from market surveillance programme management training.
- The establishment for the first time in Turkey of a market surveillance programme to check compliance of products with energy labelling and eco-design regulations.
- The creation of an inventory of laboratory product testing capacities, a laboratory investment plan to close the gaps and training of laboratory staff and the delivery of the commitment by Turkish Standards Institute to implement this investment plan.
- The delivery of a consumer research survey to establish a baseline of understanding of the Turkish population towards energy efficiency.
- The training of a total of 70 sales staff on the contents of the energy label and how to profile energy efficiency in selling products.
- The delivery of a consumer awareness raising campaign across national media.

## Conclusions

The MTEEA Project has delivered many new achievements in Turkey as listed above under the "Key Results". However, as it is a single project, it is only a first step. Therefore, considering that the project will be implemented during a period of 4 years, it is very important to have the results and achievements obtained during the project implementation owned and sustained by all stakeholders. These include government, manufacturers and suppliers, consumers and media institutions. The efforts will be useful in order to utilize national resources more rationally and efficiently and to leave a better world to following generations. This accomplishment will be the most relevant achievement of the MTEEA Project.

## References

- [1] <u>www.evudp.net</u>
- [2] LOCK, Tom. Review of the Current Organizational Arrangements, Regulatory Framework & Procedures in Turkey for the Implementation of the Energy Labeling & Eco-design Framework Directives, November 2011
- [3] RUTANEN, Vesa. Proposal for the structure and the data collection and management arrangements for establishing a market monitoring system in Turkey, May 2012
- [4] EVANS, Chris. Proactive Market Surveillance Plan (PMSP), June 2012

- [5] EVANS, Chris. Proposed Training Programme for Market Surveillance Staff of the Ministry of Science Industry and Technology, May 2012
- [6] EVANS, Chris. Report on the Findings and Recommendations of the Inventory and Capacity Assessment of the Existing Laboratories in Turkey, June 2012
- [7] EVANS, Chris. Specifying and Organizing the Delivery of the Training Programmes for the Staff of Selected Laboratories, November 2012Akademia Ltd., Consumer Awareness Survey Report, June 2012

# Timely replacement of notebooks considering energy consumption and global warming potential

Siddharth Prakash<sup>1</sup>, Ran Liu<sup>1</sup>, Karsten Schischke<sup>2</sup>, Dr. Phil. Lutz Stobbe<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Öko-Institut e.V., Freiburg, Germany

<sup>2</sup> Fraunhofer IZM, Dept. Environmental and Reliability Engineering Berlin, Germany

# Abstract

The production of notebooks induces significant environmental impacts. However, these impacts are seldom considered by consumers in their purchasing decisions. The crucial question addressed in this paper is when the global warming potential associated with the production, distribution and disposal of a new notebook can compensate as a result of energy efficiency gains in the use-phase of the new notebook. This paper shows that the production, with about 56% of the global warming potential (GWP) of a notebook has a significantly higher impact than the use phase. Moreover, the GWP of the production of a notebook is so high, that it cannot be compensated in realistic time-periods by energy efficiency gains of new products. The paper recommends decision makers to give attention to the extension of the lifetime of notebooks, for example through hardware upgrading, modular and repair-friendly product design, standardisation of components, minimum warranty periods, and availability of spare parts, while defining mandatory product policy for Information and Communications Technology (ICT).

# Introduction

Recent life cycle assessments show that the raw materials and manufacturing phase of many ICT products have a proportionally increasing environmental impact as compared to the use phase. It is assumed that the reason for this lies in the energy efficiency gains during the use phase, especially those of mobile appliances, combined with the extremely short product life cycles of most ICT. The high rate of innovation in the sector and the falling prices for new units are causing the actual lifetime of ICT products to become ever shorter. There is empirical evidence that notebooks often have a useful lifetime of less than 3 years [1], [2].

To gain a full picture of the environmental impacts attributable to notebooks, it would be essential to include the material consumption and appropriation of environmental carrying capacity arising in both the upstream and downstream phases. Such a perspective would give policy-makers, public buyers and private consumers more certainty regarding the decision between the extension of lifetime of an existing notebook and the purchase of a new one. Furthermore, such a life cycle analysis makes it possible to determine with greater accuracy and predictive certainty when and under which conditions the replacement of an old device with a new one would be reasonable from an environmental perspective.

Against this background, the German Federal Environment Agency (UBA) commissioned the Öko-Institut e.V. and the Fraunhofer IZM with a study [3] to address the following questions:

- (1) What are the contributions of the different life cycle phases to the overall greenhouse gas emissions (GWP) of a notebook?
- (2) When is the optimum time to replace an old notebook by a new model in environmental terms?

# Methodology

The questions mentioned above were examined comparatively by using various data sources:

- (1) EuP Lot  $3^{1}$  PCs (desktops and laptops) and Computer Monitors => Scenario 1
- (2) Database Ecolnvent  $2.2^2 \Rightarrow$  Scenario 2
- (3) UFOPLAN 2009 environmental research programme of the UBA => Scenario 3 (End-of-Life Management = Business-As-Usual)
- (4) UFOPLAN 2009 environmental research programme of the UBA => Scenario 4 (End-of-Life Management = Best Practice)

The UFOPLAN 2009 project<sup>3</sup> generated a new dataset for the liquid crystal display (LCD) modules and for 8 GB memory ICs which are typically used in a RAM module of an average notebook [4]. These data are publicly accessible in the ProBas database at <u>www.probas.uba.de</u> and have been used for the modelling of the production phase.

The following table describes the detailed modelling scenarios for the individual life cycle phases:

	Calculation of				
Scenario	Production phase	Distribution phase [km]	Shopping trip	Use phase	End-of-life phase
1	Following EuP Lot 3			In accor-	Following EuP Lot 3
2	On basis of data from Ecolnvent 2.2	Assumptions:	Assump-	dance with the	Business-as-usual
3	On basis of data from UFOPLAN 2009 (dis- play module & ICs) + EcoInvent 2.2 (other	airport; truck: 500 2) Shanghai – War- saw; flight: 8000 3) Distribution to	tion: 10 km round trip by car	utilisation profile of Energy Star Ver- sion 5.0	Business-as-usual
4	components)	retailers; truck: 1000			Best practice

## Table 1: Overview of data sources and assumptions for the scenarios studied

In the EuP Lot 3 study, a lifetime of 5.6 years is considered for laptops. As for the database such as Ecolnvent and data from UFOPLAN, there is no assumption about lifetime. For our study, we assume a lifetime of 5 years to all scenarios in the basis analysis. A sensitivity analysis with a lifetime of 2.9 years will be conducted. The use phase in the scenarios 1 to 4 is assumed to be the same (they are based on the Energy Star 5.0 Specifications for Computers) as it enables a direct comparison between the results of the production phase in all the four scenarios.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> EuP 2007; European Commission, DG TREN; Preparatory studies for Eco-Design Requirements of EuPs, Lot 3: Personal Computers (Desktops and Laptops) and Computer Monitors, Final Report (Task 1-8), IVF Industrial Research and Development Corporation, 2007

<sup>2</sup> EcoInvent v2.2, 2010; EcoInvent Centre (Swiss Centre for Life cycle Inventories); http://www.ecoinvent.ch/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The overall project was titled "*Resource conservation in the field of information and communication technologies (ICT)*" (funding code 3709 95 308), under which sub-project C, titled "*Establishing a data base for the evaluation of ecological effects of ICT products*" generated the dataset in question.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Including consumption in production processes

Scenarios 3 and 4 only vary in terms of the end-of-life management. It is assumed that in scenario 4, the best-practice variant, precious metals such as Gold (Au), Silver (Ag) and Palladium (Pd) are recovered with greater efficiency than in the business-as-usual scenario 3. These efficiency improvements can be achieved mainly through optimised manual pre-treatment that largely avoids subsequent mechanical processing by shredding. The following table shows the recovery rates assumed in the scenarios 3 and 4:

Precious metal	Business-as-usual (Scenario 3)	Best Practice (Scenario 4)
Ag	40%	87%
Au	40%	93%
Pd	40%	91%

## Table 2: Estimated recovery rates used in this study

The data sources used in the present study (Table 1) refer to different notebook configurations and technical specifications. However, the function of the different notebook variants is considered to be equivalent (Table 3).

	Ecolnvent 2.2	EuP Lot 3	UFOPLAN 2009
CPU	Pentium 3, 600 MHz	1.7 GHz	Pentium 3, 600MHz⁵
HDD	10 GB HDD	60 GB HDD	10 GB HDD <sup>3</sup>
Memory IC	128 MB RAM	512 MB RAM	8 GB
Display size	12.1″	15″	15.4″
Weight with	3.15 kg	3.7 kg	3.3 kg
(without) packaging	(2.17 kg)	(2.8 kg)	(2.4 kg) <sup>6</sup>
Ref. year	2005	2005	2000-2010

## Table 3: Notebook specifications in EuP Lot 3, EcoInvent 2.2 and UFOPLAN 2009

It should be emphasized that the goal of the study is not to produce a comparative LCA of different notebooks, but rather to determine the best point in time in environmental terms to replace a notebook, on the basis of a range of data sources. The configuration of the notebook in the scenarios 3 and 4 is therefore a fictitious assumption – it does, however, correspond to the configuration of a *typical* notebook.

The procedure adopted for this LCA study follows ISO 14040/44 (2006), but only examines one impact category, namely Global Warming Potential (GWP). This is purposeful because GWP correlates directly with energy consumption in both the use and the production phase. Due to poor data availability, it was not possible in the context of the present study to consider further impact categories such as acidification and eutrophication potential, photochemical oxidant formation and ecotoxicity.

The functional unit is defined as 1 notebook over its entire useful lifetime. The lifetime of all notebooks studied was taken to be 5 years.

# Contribution of the different life cycle phases to the overall GHG-emissions of a notebook

The following Figure 1 illustrates the contribution of the different life cycle phases to the overall GWP of a notebook, calculated according to various data sources:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Taken from Ecolnvent 2.2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The weight of the display and memory ICs (from UFOPLAN 2009) and the weight of other components (from EcoInvent 2.2) were added.


# Figure 1: GWP emissions (in kg $CO_2e$ /notebook and percentage) outcome for all scenarios studied, differentiated according to life cycle phase

Overall, the EuP Lot 3 scenario (Scenario 1) results in 230 kg  $CO_2e$  over the entire life cycle of a notebook. The greatest proportion of GWP arises in the use phase with 60.2%, followed by the production phase with 35.2%. The EcoInvent 2.2 scenario (Scenario 2) results in the GWP of 362 kg  $CO_2e$  over the entire life cycle of a notebook. The production accounts for the largest proportion of GWP emissions with 54%, followed by the use phase with 38.2%.

Scenario 3 (UFOPLAN 2009, Business-as-Usual End-of-Life Management) results in 382 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e over the entire life cycle of a notebook. Production accounts for the largest proportion of GWP emissions with 56%, followed by the use phase with 36%. Scenario 4 (UFOPLAN 2009, Best Practice End-of-Life Management) results in 380 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e over the entire life cycle of a notebook. Production accounts for the largest proportion of GWP emissions with 56%, followed by the use phase with 36.5%.

In the scenarios 3 and 4, new datasets for the display module and integrated circuits (memory chip) of an average notebook were used for modelling the production phase, as prepared under the UFOPLAN 2009. The resulting GWP values are listed in Table 4 together with the GWP values of the other components from EcoInvent 2.2, with 1 notebook as reference unit. The production and transport of the display module account for about 18% of the GWP emissions of the entire production of a notebook. The production of the memory chip accounts for about 3.5% [4].

Table 4: Specific outcomes for the display module and memory ICs from the UFOPLAN 2009 (kg  $CO_2e$ /notebook) [4]

Outcomes	GWP [kg CO <sub>2</sub> e/NB]	Proportion
Display module: Production [4]	35.1	16.4%
Display module: Transport	3.4	1.6%
Memory ICs (8GB): Fabrication [4]	7.6	3.5%
Memory ICs (8GB): Transport (silicon wafer – front-end		
process – back-end process – notebook assembly)	0.03	0.01%
Other components (EcoInvent 2.2)	168	78.5%
Total	214	100%

In case of the memory chip, with around 66% the front-end process accounts for the largest contribution to the GWP emissions of the memory chip fabrication, followed by the back-end process with 20% and the silicon wafer production with 14% [4].

Comparing the four scenarios, it can be seen that the GWP of scenario 1 (EuP Lot 3) is the lowest. Furthermore, in scenario 1 the use phase is dominant, while in the other three scenarios the production phase makes the greatest contribution to the overall outcome.

The reason for the minor difference in the distribution phase of scenarios 2, 3 and 4 is that the notebooks studied have different weights (Table 3) and the environmental impact resulting from transport is calculated according to the weight of the freight (with the same assumptions regarding kilometres travelled, truck size and truck capacity utilisation).

The results for the use phase (assuming a useful lifetime of 5 years) and the shopping trip are the same in all scenarios. Due to their small proportion, the shares of the shopping trip and the end-of-life phase are not visible in Figure 1. Together they account for less than 1 per cent of the total GWP emissions.

# Calculations of amortisation periods based on the energy efficiency improvement in the use phase

In order to calculate amortisation periods (in years) it was assumed that the new notebook is more energy-efficient during the use phase than the old one. This assumption is based on the fact that computers have the continuous improvement of energy efficiency in the use phase along with the technological progress. To model different scenarios for different levels of energy efficiency improvement of new notebooks compared to old ones, energy efficiency improvement classes were formed with intervals of 10 per cent. A 10% interval is an assumption to show the development of energy consumption under a continuous improvement of energy efficiency. This means that the new notebooks are improved by 10% energy efficiency increments in the use phase (compared to the baseline scenarios 1 to 4), until an energy efficiency improvement of 50% is reached. A further calculation is performed for an increase by 70%. In other words, the GWP outcomes of the new notebooks in the use phase always develop in step with the energy efficiency improvements. This results in different GWP outcomes over the entire life cycle of the new notebook, whereby the GWP values of production, distribution (incl. shopping trip) and disposal always remain the same.

The saving potential in the use phase that results from energy efficiency improvement compared to the old device (base scenarios) can be calculated as follows:

GWP<sub>Saving potential</sub> = GWP<sub>Use</sub> [kg CO<sub>2</sub>e/year/notebook] \* x [%] whereby

 $GWP_{Use}$  (kg  $CO_2e$ /year/notebook) represents the annual greenhouse gas emissions of the old notebook in the use phase

*x* is the energy efficiency improvement (in %) of the new notebook.

The corresponding amortisation periods (years) can be calculated as follows: the GWP value of production, distribution (incl. shopping trip) and disposal is divided by the GWP values saved due to energy efficiency improvement (savings in use compared to the old notebook) of the new notebook.

It has to be noted that possible changes in the framework conditions were not taken into account, such as changes in the emission factor of the electricity mix that might arise from the substitution of an energy carrier, energy efficiency improvement of electricity supply, or changes in utilisation patterns over time. The analysis is therefore a static one.

Figure 2 gives an overview of the amortisation periods of all scenarios studied. As a general principle, the higher the energy efficiency improvement of the new notebook compared to the old one is, the shorter is the amortisation period.



# Figure 2: Overview of amortisation period as a function of energy efficiency improvement in the use phase, for all scenarios

As shown in Figure 2, if the new notebook is 10% more energy-efficient in use, the amortisation period for the replacement purchase is between 33 and 89 years (depending upon the data source). This means that the old notebook would have had to be used between 33 (scenario 1, EuP Lot 3) and 88 years (scenario 3, UFOPLAN 2009) to compensate the greenhouse gas emissions attributable to the production, distribution and disposal of the new notebook. If the energy efficiency of the new notebook increases by 70% compared to the old one, the amortisation period shortens between 5 (scenario 1, EuP Lot 3) and 13 years (scenario 3, UFOPLAN 2009), depending upon data source. The additional consideration of increased precious metal recovery has only a marginal impact on the overall outcome (cf. scenarios 3 and 4).

# Sensitivity analysis

The principal input quantities for the calculation of GWP emissions are:

- the quantity of electricity consumed,
- the operational modes in the use phase and
- methodological uncertainties.

Inaccuracies attached to these quantities can therefore significantly influence the GWP outcome. This section examines systematically the influence of the input quantities upon GWP emissions. This is done by performing sensitivity analyses examining those parameters that involve uncertainties or which were based on estimations.

# Sensitivity 1: Adjustment of electricity consumption values and of operational modes in the use phase according to EuP Lot 3

For the purposes of this sensitivity analysis, electricity consumption levels and the weighting of operational modes were taken from EuP Lot 3 (Table 5):

Operational mode	According to EuP Lot3	Hours per year	Power absorbed (kW)	Electricity consumption (kWh/year)
TOff	36%	3153	0.0015	4.73
TSleep	34%	2995	0.003	8.99
TIdle	30%	2613	0.032	83.62
Total	100%	8761	_	97.33

#### Table 5: Electricity consumption according to EuP Lot 3

Comparing this electricity consumption with that of the baseline scenarios 1 to 4, it is seen that the electricity consumption and GWP values in the use phase increase by 110%. The increased GWP values in the use phase cause the overall outcome to change by 40% to 66% (Table 6).

# Table 6: Results of sensitivity analysis 1 compared to the base analyses of all scenarios (Sc) examined

Total GWP of a notebook (kg CO₂e/notebook)	EuP Lot3 (Sc 1)	Ecolnvent 2.2 (Sc 2)	UFO-PLAN 2009 (Sc 3)	UFO-PLAN 2009 (Sc 4)
Base analysis	230	362	382	380
Sensitivity analysis 1	383	515	535	535
Deviation from base analysis	+66%	+42%	+40%	+41%

Consequently, due to the higher electricity consumption in use, the use phase of 5 years accounts for approx. 54% of overall greenhouse gas emissions in Scenarios 3 and 4 and has the following effect upon the amortisation calculation:

- If a new notebook is 10% more energy-efficient than an old one, the greenhouse gas emissions arising from production, distribution and disposal would only pay back after 41 years of use (instead of 87 or 88 years in the base analysis).
- If the energy efficiency improvement of the new notebook is 70%, the amortisation period in scenarios 3 and 4 shortens from 12 or 13 years to 6 years.

# Sensitivity 2: Consideration of the emissions of fluorinated compounds (FCs)<sup>7</sup> from display production

Studies suggest that in fabs without FC emissions treatment the GWP values of display production may be even higher than generally assumed [4]. The additional consideration of FC emissions results in a substantial increase of the GWP values for the display production by 22% (Table 7).

# Table 7: Compilation of GWP values of display production of the base and sensitivity analyses, with consideration of FC emissions as compared to the base analyses of scenarios 3 and 4

Production of display module	kg CO₂e/notebook display
Base analysis (scenarios 3 and 4)	35.1
Sensitivity analysis 2	42.7
Deviation from base analysis in %	+21.7%

Consequently, if FC emissions are taken into account, production of the display module accounts for 11% of total greenhouse gas emissions. If FC emissions are not additionally considered, production of the display module accounts for only 9% of total greenhouse gas emissions. The use phase accounts for 35% of total greenhouse gas emissions in scenarios 3 and 4. Sensitivity 2 analysis for scenarios 3 and 4 has the following effect upon the amortisation calculation:

- If a new notebook is 10% more energy efficient than an old one, the greenhouse gas emissions arising from production, distribution and disposal would only pay back after 90 years of use (instead of 87 or 88 years in the base analysis).
- If the energy efficiency improvement of the new notebook is 70%, the amortisation period in Scenarios 3 and 4 is with 13 years nearly the same compared to the base analysis.

#### Sensitivity 3: Adjustment of useful lifetime to 2.9 years

If an overall lifetime of only 2.9 years is considered (compared to 5 years of the base analysis), the electricity consumption and GWP emissions in the use phase drop by 42%. The reduced GWP values in the use phase result in an overall decrease between 15 and 25% (Table 8).

# Table 8: Results of sensitivity analysis 3 compared to the base analyses of all scenarios (Sc) examined

Total GWP of a notebook (kg CO₂e/notebook)	EuP Lot3 (Sc 1)	Ecolnvent 2.2 (Sc 2)	UFO-PLAN 2009 (Sc 3)	UFO-PLAN 2009 (Sc 4)
Base analysis	230	362	382	380
Sensitivity analysis 3	172	304	324	322
Deviation from base analysis	-25%	–16%	-15%	-15%

Consequently, due to the reduced lifetime of the notebook, the use phase of scenarios 3 and 4 only accounts for approx. 24% of the total greenhouse gas emissions. In other words, if the lifetime of notebooks is extended, the share of the production, distribution and disposal phases in total

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> In accordance with the Kyoto Protocol, "fluorinated greenhouse gases" comprise three groups of substances: hydrofluorocarbons (HFCs), perfluorocarbons (PFCs) and sulphur hexafluoride (SF<sub>6</sub>). In terms of chemistry there are further groups of substances that belong to fluorinated gases, such as the fluorinated ethers and nitrogen trifluoride (NF<sub>3</sub>). These substances are not yet listed by the Kyoto Protocol, but their inclusion is under debate. Fluorinated greenhouse gases (F-gases) have a global warming impact that is 100 to 24,000 times greater than that of CO<sub>2</sub>. The share of fluorinated greenhouse gases in the overall emissions of global warming gases is expected to grow threefold worldwide from its present proportion of just under 2% to around 6% by the year 2050. F-gases such as SF<sub>6</sub> and NF<sub>3</sub> are used in applications such as etching and cleaning gases for flat screen display, semiconductor and printed wiring board production [5].

greenhouse gas emissions is reduced. For this sensitivity analysis, the amortisation periods are the same to the basis scenario, since the GWP value in the upstream and downstream processes does not change compared with the basis scenario. The annual GWP value in the use phase, which is needed for the amortisation calculation, is also the same to the basis scenario. The reduced lifetime has only an impact on the total value and the proportion of the life phases.

# Discussion

Results of this study show that the share of the production phase in the total GWP of a notebook varies according to the database used. The share of the production phase in the total GWP of a notebook was highest when the database of UFOPLAN 2009 was used, and lowest with the EuP Lot 3 database. It is also worth mentioning that the GWP of the production phase was higher not only as the percentage share of the total GWP, but also in absolute terms with the dataset of UFOPLAN 2009. It is also expected that variations in the GWP in scenarios 1 to 4 are attributed more to the differences between the datasets used, and less to the differences in the production processes.

The sensitivity analysis 1 shows that even if electricity consumption in the use phase is increased or doubled, the greenhouse gas emissions arising from the production phase remain substantial. Moreover, the comparison of different data sources demonstrates that EuP Lot 3 significantly underrates the material and energy inputs required to produce a notebook ( $81 \text{ kg } CO_2 e$ ). Other studies find that the production-related emissions for the motherboard of a notebook alone are on the order of 70 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e [6], [7] to 85 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e [8]. Sensitivity analysis 3, in which the lifetime of a notebook was reduced to a period of 2.9 years, which is realistic under present market and consumption patterns [2], confirms that the use phase of a notebook only accounts for 25% of all greenhouse gas emissions.

Analysis of the end-of-life phase in this study distinguishes between business-as-usual and best practice. The difference between the greenhouse gas emissions of the two scenarios is minimal, being only 2 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e. The reason why the high recovery rates with best practice recycling deliver only a minor reduction in greenhouse gas emissions compared to business-as-usual recycling is that the proportions of gold, silver and palladium contained in a notebook are small. If, however, we consider the overall number of notebooks present in Germany (stock in the residential and business sectors in 2009/2010: approx. 47 million notebooks) the potential for reduced environmental impacts would be significantly greater. Moreover, the potential to reduce impacts associated with the raw material extraction could be further increased if the following aspects were considered:

- Environmental effects such as acidification, eutrophication, resource consumption, biodiversity loss, toxicity etc.
- Social impacts, such as safe and healthy living conditions of the people living in the vicinity of extraction sites.
- Consideration of the secondary recovery of further precious and special metals. Existing hightech facilities can in fact recover up to 17 different precious and special metals from e-scrap.
- Consideration of extreme scenarios such as notebook recycling and disposal in developing and newly industrialising countries where recycling infrastructures and technologies are under-developed.

The analysis of environmental amortisation periods has shown that the environmental impact associated with the production of a notebook is so great that it cannot be compensated in a realistic period of time by its savings through improved energy efficiency during the use phase – regardless of which data source is used. If we assume a realistic energy efficiency improvement of 10% between two notebook generations, the amortisation periods are between 33 and 88 years, while if energy efficiency improves by 20% the period is between 17 and 44 years, depending upon the data source used to analyse notebook production. Evidently, notebooks do not have such a long lifetime.

The study results suggest that from an environmental perspective (with regard to global warming potential) it is not reasonable to purchase a new notebook after a usage period of only a few years, even if the assumed energy efficiency of the new device exploits the full scope of cutting-edge technology.

# Conclusions

The findings of this study confirm that the production phase has a significant contribution to the overall greenhouse gas emissions of a notebook and should therefore be placed in the focus of sustainable product policy. Until now, however, European eco-design policy for energy-using products (EuP) has focussed on improving energy efficiency or reducing energy consumption in the use phase.

For the notebook product group this focus is of only limited usefulness in achieving policy goals, as notebooks are already designed to have high levels of energy efficiency in order to achieve long running times and long lifetimes of the rechargeable batteries for mobile applications. Thus, the focus of mandatory product policy measures for ICT devices should be placed on the following aspects:

- Recycling-friendly design,
- Modular construction,
- Standardisation of components,
- Reduction of the energy consumption and GWP of the production phase,
- Possibilities of hardware upgrading,
- Extension of minimum warranty periods, and
- Availability of spare parts.

The recommendations mentioned above serve two major purposes: reducing the absolute impacts of the production phase and extending the total life-time of a notebook. Furthermore, St-Laurent et al. [10] describe that a common reason for computer replacement is that they cannot run recent software at a reasonable speed. Swan (citied in [10]) argues that software design practices and marketing strategies have worsened the problem of e-wastes. Hence, maintain or technical support of old software on the corresponding old devices should also be guaranteed to avoid the early replacement.

Finally, the focus of assessing the environmental impacts of ICT devices should not be limited to greenhouse gas emissions, but should be broadened to include other impact categories such as acidification and eutrophication potential, resource consumption, biodiversity loss, toxicity etc.

# Outlook

The German federal government intends to reduce the energy consumption caused by ICT in Federal Administration Departments significantly. To achieve the quantitative saving potentials, policy makers and public buyers need robust bases for their decision-making regarding the choice for an environmentally friendly IT workplace. According to the study presented above, a decision for a prolonged usage of existing devices on the one side, or their substitution by more efficient products on the other side has to be taken.

Basis for robust political decision-making is a comprehensive knowledge about the environmental impacts of all life cycle phases of ICT products. ICT devices contain valuable materials like gold, silver, platinum group metals, indium etc., whose manufacturing is related to high environmental impacts. Only life cycle analyses address the whole range of those impacts. Thus, they are important instruments for the identification of optimization potentials. However, the current data basis regarding the resource consumption as well as the energy flows of ICT products in the up- and downstream production phases is insufficient. Due to technology dynamics, the existing data do not reflect state-of-the-art and require an update.

To improve the data basis and to derive robust recommendations for environmentally friendly IT workplaces in Federal Administration Departments, the Federal Environmental Agency has commissioned the scientific study "Environmental and economic aspects regarding the comparison of

workstation computers used in Federal Administration Departments taking account of the user behaviour." [9]

Due to the complex and global supply chains as well as the short innovation cycles of ICT, the focus of the study will be on scalable life cycle data for the three components CPU, unfitted PCB and HDD. They account for a large share of the total carbon footprint of the products and contain a high proportion of important resources like rare metals. Besides the greenhouse gas potential, also the resource consumption of the selected components will be analysed. Current publicly available data, for example from databases, research studies, company and sector reports, statistical production data etc. build the basis for the calculations.

Further, it is assumed that the currently applied measurement methods and standards regarding the use profiles of ICT devices are not up to date. Key parameters are simplified so much that no realistic statements can be made about the use phase, for example the calculation of the Active Mode. Additionally it is expected that the improvements by power management functions will lead to an overall decreased energy consumption compared to the calculated average values of standards. Thus, the study will also analyse existing measurement concepts regarding their applicability to current ICT in order to build the calculation of the energy consumption of the use phase on a more realistic basis and potentially to derive revision needs of the methods. The desk research is supported by findings from real measurements conducted at a number of workstation computers in the Federal Agency for Environment, as well as two Advisory Commitees composed of experts from industry, science, and Federal Administrations.

The study results are expected to be finalised in late 2014.

## Literature

- Deng, L.; Babbitt, C.W.; Williams, E.D.; Economic-balance hybrid LCA extended with uncertainty analysis: case study of a laptop computer; in: Journal of Cleaner Production (2011); doi:10.1016/j.jclepro.2011.03.004
- [2] Williams, E.; Hatanka, T.: Residential computer usage patterns in Japan und associated life cycle energy use. In: Proceedings of the IEEE International Symposium on Electronics and the Environment, IEEE, May 2005, Piscataway, New Jersey, pp. 177-182
- [3] Prakash, S.; Liu, R; Schischke, K. and Stobbe, L. (2011a); Timely replacement of a notebook under consideration of environmental aspects – life cycle analysis using the data basis of the EuP preparatory study, ProBas, and Ecoinvent; Öko-Institut e.V. in cooperation with Fraunhofer IZM; 2011
- [4] Prakash, S.; Liu, R.; Schischke, K. and Stobbe, L. (2011b); Creation of a database for determination of the environmental impacts of ICT products, with contributions by Gensch, C.-O., conducted within the context of UFOPLAN 2009 "Resource conservation in the ICT field of action"; Öko-Institut e.V. in cooperation with Fraunhofer IZM
- [5] Umweltbundesamt (UBA); Fluorierte Treibhausgase vermeiden: Wege zum Ausstieg; UBA 2010
- [6] PE International 2008; Environmental footprint of ICT equipment in manufacture, use and endof-life. Presentation held at ECOC Brussels, Belgium, 23. Sept. 2008
- [7] O'Connell, S.; Stutz, M.; Product Carbon Footprint (PCF) Assessment of Dell Laptop Results and Recommendations 2009; Sustainable Systems and Technology (ISSST), 2010 IEEE, ISBN: 978-1-4244-7094-5
- [8] Tekawa M.; Miyamoto, S.; Inaba, A.; Life Cycle Assessment; an approach to environmentally friendly PCs, Proc IEEE Int Symp Electron Environ, May 5-7, San Francisco, CA, pp. 125-130
- [9] Prakash, S.; Liu, R.; Graulich, K.; Schlösser, A.; Proske, M.; Environmental and economic aspects regarding the comparison of workstation computers used in Federal Administration

Departments taking account of the user behavior; Öko-Institut e.V. in cooperation with Technische Universität Berlin; ongoing

[10] St-Laurent J.; Hedin D.; Honée C.; Fröling M.; Green Electronics? – An LCA based study of Eco-labeling of laptop computers, Paper in EGG 2012+ conference in Berlin

# Best available technology of plug-in refrigerated cabinets, beverage coolers and ice cream freezers and the challenges of measuring and comparing energy efficiency

Eva Geilinger, Martien Janssen, Per Henrik Pedersen, Paul Huggins, Eric Bush

Topten International Services, Re/genT BV, Danish Technological Institute, The Carbon Trust, Topten International Services

## Abstract

Energy efficiency potentials for plug-in refrigerated cabinets, beverage coolers and ice cream freezers are shown by comparing typical and best models available on the market. A research project demonstrates efficiency potential when applying commercially available measures, and it investigates technologies for future improvements. This paper identifies the lack of a unified test methodology and energy efficiency rating system as challenges for energy saving initiatives in Europe. National and regional programmes for efficient refrigeration are portrayed. Their experiences can help the design of planned EU regulations. The programmes make implementing minimum requirements and energy labels faster and easier; for years they have raised awareness and supported manufacturers / importers to market high-efficiency products. One lesson to be learned from them is that market surveillance and verification tests are needed to ensure good data quality and fair product comparisons.

# Efficiency potentials today

Comparing the energy efficiency of commercial and professional refrigerators and freezers is not easy because little data is available. To date there is no product information requirement on energy consumption for manufacturers. Topten International researched energy consumption data for four common plug-in product types: beverage coolers, ice cream freezers, storage refrigerators and storage freezers [1]. The first two types are display cabinets; the latter two are also known as refrigerated service cabinets or refrigerated storage cabinets (chilled and frozen).

Best-efficiency models available are identified and presented online under www.topten.eu > Professional Refrigerators [2]. Their energy consumption data is provided according to one of the following protocols: EN ISO 23953-2:2005, EN 441-1995 or CECED Italia Test protocol for professional refrigerators and freezers<sup>1</sup>. One valuable data source is the Energy Technology List (ETL) by the Department of Energy & Climate Change (DECC) in the United Kingdom [3].

Energy saving potentials are estimated by comparing best-efficiency models to typical models with comparable net volume. Display cabinets are also compared to open models since they are commonly used for selling beverages and ice cream. Again, the energy consumption data conforms to the above protocols.<sup>2</sup> A domestic model was also included in the comparison. Note that household appliances are subject to less demanding conditions and are designed and tested accordingly (static

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The data is normalized based on the method described by Tait Consulting limited [7]

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  In the case of the refrigerated service cabinets the base case from the preparatory study Lot 1 was used as the typical model [5]. In the case of the display cabinets newer product data from ETL was used as the typical model since the preparatory study Lot 12 for display cabinets [6] is over 5 years old. For the open models the energy consumption data is from the manufacturer's technical documentation. Although the test standard is unknown we consider the values valid for comparison since no door openings are necessary for testing open models.

cooling system, no door openings, no load, lower ambient temperature); these factors can halve the energy consumption determined.

The comparison is summarized in Figure 1. It shows that:

- Typical commercial and professional refrigerators / freezers use 2 3 times more energy than best-efficiency models available.
- Open display cabinets use 8 times more energy than best-efficiency models available.
- Domestic models use 5 10 times less energy than best-efficiency models available.

Energy saving potentials of best available technology (BAT) are between 54 - 67% in all cases. Replacing open cabinets with BAT display cabinets brings energy savings of 87% for both beverage coolers and ice cream freezers.



Figure 1: Comparison of the annual energy consumption for an open cabinet (if applicable), a typical closed cabinet, a best-efficiency model and a domestic model with approximately the same net volume

The following three tables show the products used in the comparison.

#### Table 1: Comparison of 3 plug-in beverage coolers and a household refrigerator

	Open cooler	Typical glass door cooler	High-efficiency glass door cooler	Household refrigerator A+++
Net volume	324 liters	350 liters	346 liters	346 liters
Energy use	6753 kWh/year	2168 kWh/year	859 kWh/year	75 kWh/year
Electricity costs in 8 years (0.15 €/kWh)	8104 €	2602€	1031€	90 €
Refrigerant	R404A (high-GWP)	R134a (high-GWP)	R600a (low-GWP)	R600a (low-GWP)

# Table 2: Comparison of 3 plug-in ice cream freezers and a household freezer chest

	Open ice cream freezer	Typical glass top ice cream freezer	High-efficiency insulated top ice cream freezer	Household chest freezer A+++
Net volume	151 liters	183 liters	224 liters	200 liters
Energy use	4636 kWh/year	1606 kWh/year	615 kWh/year	117 kWh/year
Electricity costs in 8 years (0.15 €/kWh)	5563 €	1927 €	738€	140 €
Refrigerant	R404A (high-GWP)	R290 (low-GWP)	R290 (low-GWP)	R600a (low-GWP)

# Table 3: Comparison of 2 plug-in refrigerated service cabinets and a domestic model (each for chilled and frozen)

	Typical storage refrigerator	Best-efficiency storage refrigerator	Household refrigerator A+++	
Net volume	450 liters	449 liters	346 liters	
Energy use	1348 kWh/year	439 kWh/year	75 kWh/year	
Electricity costs in 8 years (0.15 €/kWh)	1618€	527€	90 €	
Refrigerant	R134a (high-GWP)	R290 (low-GWP)	R600a (low-GWP)	
	Typical storage	<b>Best-efficiency</b>	Household	
	freezer	storage freezer	upright freezer A+++	
Net volume	freezer 450 liters	storage freezer 449 liters	upright freezer A+++ 406 liters	
Net volume Energy use	450 liters 3690 kWh/year	449 liters 1685 kWh/year	upright freezer A+++ 406 liters 193 kWh/year	
Net volume Energy use Electricity costs in 8 years (0.15 €/kWh)	<ul> <li>450 liters</li> <li>3690 kWh/year</li> <li>4428 €</li> </ul>	storage freezer 449 liters 1685 kWh/year 2022 €	upright freezer A+++ 406 liters 193 kWh/year 232 €	
Net volume Energy use Electricity costs in 8 years (0.15 €/kWh) Refrigerant	<ul> <li>Typical storage</li> <li>freezer</li> <li>450 liters</li> <li>3690 kWh/year</li> <li>4428 €</li> <li>R404A (high-GWP)</li> </ul>	storage freezer 449 liters 1685 kWh/year 2022 € R290 (low-GWP)	upright freezer A+++ 406 liters 193 kWh/year 232 € R600a (low-GWP)	

#### Household refrigerators and freezers use 66% less energy than 20 years ago

Energy efficiency of household refrigerators and freezers has been a focus of European Union (EU) policies for almost 20 years. Today the lowest performing products allowed on the market are A+ compared to the initial lowest energy class G; this means a 66% decrease in energy consumption. More and more A+++ models are appearing on the market. They consume half the energy of typical A+ models sold today. Energy efficiency is still improving.

The household refrigerators and freezers success story raises hopes that similar energy savings can be realized for commercial and professional products.

There are 275 million household refrigerators and freezers in the EU; that is 23 times more than the professional plug-in products in this discussion (12 million units, see Table 4). Nonetheless, household refrigerators and freezers use only 4.5 times more energy.

Table 4: Stock and energy consumption in the EU

	Beverage coolers	Ice cream freezers	Refrigerated service cabinets	Household refrigerators	Household freezers
Stock in EU-27	6 million units	3 million units	3 million units	191 million units	84 million units
Energy consumption	16 TWh/year	4 TWh/year	7 TWh/year	82 TWh/year	40 TWh/year

Source: JRC Energy Efficiency Status Report [4]. Estimates are for the years 2007 (beverage coolers, ice cream freezers), 2008 (refrigerated service cabinets) and 2005 (household refrigerators/ freezers).

#### Summary of EU policies regarding energy efficiency of household refrigerators and freezers

As early as 1995 an energy label for household refrigerating appliances was introduced; it was redesigned in 2010 to reflect the changes in how appliances are rated regarding energy usage and efficiency and narrowing the measurement tolerance. Since 1999 household refrigerators and freezers must comply with minimum energy efficiency requirements in order to be placed on the market. These minimum energy efficiency requirements were revised and sharpened per July 2010. Since then, only class A or more efficient refrigerators and freezers are permitted on the EU market. Requirements were again tightened in 2012, and will be further tightened in 2014, introducing A+ as the minimum requirement in two steps (2012: Energy Efficiency Index (EEI) < 44, 2014: EEI < 42).

## Expected future efficiencies based on on-going research and development

Design of plug-in commercial equipment has been mainly focused on costs throughout last decades and less on energy efficiency. As during recent years more attention has been paid by especially large end-users of such systems, such as beverage companies and beer brewers, more energy efficient products are entering the market. There are effectively a large number of energy saving measures feasible for such kind of products, several of these have been developed and implemented in domestic refrigerator products. A non-complete list of energy saving measures comprises:

a) More energy efficient compressors. Where a COP level of 1.8<sup>3</sup> is quite typical for a reasonably sized domestic refrigerator compressor today, this has been far above typical values for commercial refrigerator compressors, this despite the larger sizes these typically have. Based on customer requests, compressor manufacturers have developed more efficient compressors getting close to the efficiency of domestic refrigerator compressors. In addition variable speed compressors are entering the market which offer an additional energy saving potential.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> At ASHRAE rating condition of 54.4/-23.3 °C and vapour/liquid temperatures of 32.2 °C

- b) More efficient fans have been introduced with electronically commutated motors which may reduce the fan consumption with as much as a factor 3. As the power used by the evaporator fan is effectively transferred to heat inside of the cabinet, which subsequently has to be removed by the refrigeration system, the power reduction on the total system is about double of what has been gained by the fan itself.
- c) Better insulating glass doors and thicker insulated walls.
- d) Increased heat exchangers performances by increased sizing and improved designs.
- e) Lighting systems are often used (especially in glass door coolers) which are being replaced with LED lighting. Also here a multiplying effect is present as the lighting power consumption is turned into heat in the product.
- f) Energy Management Systems controllers which ensure that the compartment temperatures are higher during the stand-by mode periods (i.e. a time frame where the cooler is switched on but no products are taken / sold).

Substantial energy saving by combinations of the measures quoted above are quite feasible. As an example, Re/genT is involved with a EU 7<sup>th</sup> framework research project called iCool, which already has demonstrated a reduction of a typical glass door cooler with a consumption of 3.9 kWh/day to a level of 0.9 kWh/day by commercially available measures; this means 77% energy savings. Further improvements are investigated in the iCool project such as the use of phase change materials to cover the peak heat loads of an appliance when it is loaded with warm products (see http://www.icool.fp7.co/ for more details).

## Challenges of measuring and comparing energy efficiency

Comparing product data on energy consumption is quite complex today because no product information requirement exists. The values in catalogues and on manufacturer websites cannot be compared between brands. Manufacturers generally test energy consumption according to their own criteria. Details about the test methodologies are often unknown. In some cases the methodology might resemble EN 153 for testing household refrigerators (e.g. no door openings, no control of inside temperatures, lower ambient temperature). This leads to significantly lower energy consumption values. Figure 2 shows the big difference in energy consumption values found in the catalogue and tested according to the standard EN 441-1995 for the same model.



Figure 2: Energy consumption values for the same models found in the manufacturer's catalogue and tested according to EN 441-1995.

International test standards do exist, but these are, at a European level, almost exclusively used to determine compliance with national and regional programmes. Display cabinets, including beverage coolers and ice cream freezers, are covered by EN ISO 23953-2005, of which an amended version was published in May 2012 (EN ISO 23953-2005/A1:2012). A new test standard for refrigerated service cabinets is currently being developed by a CEN TC44 working group; the final version is targeted for the end of 2013. There are two other test protocols used for service cabinets: EN 441-1995, which preceded EN ISO 23953-2005<sup>4</sup>, and the CECED Italia test protocol for professional refrigerators and freezers.

The acceptable temperature range for the load (so called M-packages) is described as temperature class in the test. The programmes portrayed below require products to conform to temperature class M1 for chilled goods ( $-1^{\circ}$ C to  $+5^{\circ}$ C) and L1 for frozen goods ( $-18^{\circ}$ C to  $-15^{\circ}$ C). Another commonly required temperature class is M2 ( $-1^{\circ}$ C to  $+7^{\circ}$ C); the test standards give a choice of 7 pre-set temperature classes.

The test standards also give a choice of 8 climate classes. They indicate the tolerable range for ambient temperature and relative humidity in the testing chamber. All the national and regional programmes require climate class 3 (ambient temperature 25°C, 60% humidity) for display cabinets and 4 (ambient temperature 30°C, 55% humidity) for service cabinets. Manufacturers might select a different climate class for use in their own product testing activities.

There are differences in the test protocols for cabinet door opening frequency in each of the standards. In general display cabinets are prescribed to be opened more often than service cabinets, and chilled cabinets are prescribed to be opened more often than frozen cabinets. Test protocols also differ regarding door opening time. Taken together these factors affect energy consumption measurements. Results due to EN 441-1995 are, in general, slightly higher than those measured according to EN ISO 23953-2005 and CECED Italia<sup>5</sup>. Doors are kept open for longer periods, allowing more infiltration of warm air and humidity.

Test protocol	Test duration with door openings	Duration initial door opening	Duration further door openings	Door is opened every	Total duration of door kept open (seconds
	(hours)	(minutes)	(seconds)	minutes	per 24 hours)
CECED Italia - chilled cabinets + counter freezers	12	2	6	10	552
CECED Italia - vertical freezers	2 x 4 <sup>6</sup>	2 x 1	6	10	408
EN 441-1995	12	3	12	10	1044
EN ISO 23953-2:20057	12	3	6	10	612
EN ISO 23953-2:2005 /A1:2012 - chilled cabinets	12	3	15	13	1260
EN ISO 23953-2:2005 /A1:2012 - frozen cabinets	12	3	6	10	612

#### Table 5: Single door opening behaviour: differences in test protocols

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The scope of EN ISO 23953-2005 is refrigerated display cabinets; that is why it was not well accepted for testing service cabinets and manufacturers as well as energy saving programmes continue to use EN 441-1995, even if it was officially replaced.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In their newest working document on ecodesign requirements for refrigerated service cabinets the European Commission suggests a test protocol that corresponds to CECED Italia.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> With a 4 hour break in between

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Same single door opening behaviour as in the Australian standard AS 1731.5-2003

# Strategies for market transformation

The European Commission plans to regulate ecodesign and energy labelling for several professional and commercial refrigeration product groups. Draft regulations exist for 5 product groups affiliated in DG ENTR Lot 1: refrigerated service cabinets, blast cabinets, walk-in cold rooms up to 400m3, refrigeration process chillers and remote condensing units. It is expected that these regulations will be adopted by the end of 2013. An energy label and minimum energy efficiency requirements are proposed for refrigerated service cabinets. Initially they were targeted to be applied from July 2014. In the most recent drafts the date of application has been delayed by one year to July 2015.

The European Commission with assistance from the Joint Research Centre, Institute for Prospective Technological Studies (JRC-IPTS), is currently updating the 2007 preparatory study for ENER Lot 12 commercial refrigerators and freezers: refrigerated display cabinets (remote and plug-in) including ice cream freezers and vending machines.

National and regional programmes for promoting energy efficiency in commercial and professional refrigeration products have been going on in the UK, Denmark, Switzerland and Italy for many years. These programmes lead the way in delivering energy savings on a European level and support the EU regulatory process. They will be portrayed in the following chapters. Table 6 gives an overview.

Programme	Energy Technology List (UK)	Energy Technology List (UK)	The Danish Energy Saving Trust/ Go' Energi	topten.ch (Switzerland) and topten.eu (Europe)	topten.ch (Switzerland) and topten.eu (Europe)	CECED Italia
Product list name	Commercial Service Cabinets	Refrigerated Display Cabinets	Commercial fridges / Commercial freezers	Glass door refrigerators / Ice cream freezers / Supermarket freezers	Storage refrigerators / Storage freezers	(no publicly available product list)
Active since	2003	2003	2005	2012	2012	2012
Products cove	ered					
Туре	plug-in only	remote + plug-in	plug-in only	plug-in only	plug-in only	plug-in only
Door / lid	insulated	glass	insulated	glass / insulated	insulated	insulated
Open cabinets	no	yes	no	no	no	no
Refrigerant	no requirement	no requirement	no requirement	only GWP < 5 (R290, R600a) <sup>8</sup>	only GWP < 5 (R290, R600a)	no requirement
Extent	236 <sup>9</sup> models of 13 brands	970 <sup>9</sup> models of 39 brands	46 models of 5 brands	7 models of 2 brands	CH: 48 models of 3 brands; Europe: 73 mod. of 3 brands	793 models of 5 brands
Eligible energ	y consumption	data				
Primary test standard	EN 441-1995	EN ISO 23953- 2005	EN 441-1995	EN ISO 23953- 2005(/A1:2012) <sup>10</sup>	CECED Italia Test protocol for professional refrigerators and freezers	CECED Italia Test protocol for professional refrigerators and freezers <sup>11</sup>

#### Table 6: Programme overview: products covered, eligible energy consumption data

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Other low-GWP refrigerants like CO2 (R744) would be eligible, but no such products have been registered at Topten so far.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Since the scheme's inception over 1550 refrigerated display cabinets (RDC) have been assessed for inclusion. Approximately 20% of proposed RDC products did not meet the criteria. Products are removed from the ETL when the underlying technology category performance criteria are made more stringent. Similarly, some 25% of commercial service cabinets failed to make the grade and the remaining 75% - some 273 products - were verified to be eligible

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> As of today no product data according to the 2012 version has been registered at Topten.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> The CECED Italia test protocol is based on EN ISO 23953-2:2005, but door openings have been altered: the duration of the initial door opening is only 2 minutes and for vertical freezers door openings are performed during only 8 hours.

Other accepted test standards	none	none	EN ISO 23953- 2005 (correction factor 1.1)	EN 441-1995 (correction factor 0.91)	EN 441-1995 or EN ISO 23953- 2005 (correction factors 0.8-1 <sup>12</sup> )	none
Test condition:	4 (ambient	3 (ambient	4 (ambient	3 (ambient	4 (ambient	4 (ambient
climate class of	temperature	temperature	temperature	temperature	temperature	temperature
testing chamber	30°C, 55%	25°C, 60%	30°C, 55%	25°C, 60%	30°C, 55%	30°C, 55%
	humidity)	humidity)	humidity)	humidity)	humidity)	humidity)

The programmes are coordinated to some extent, and therefore it is possible for the manufacturer / importer to use the same test reports for identical models supported under different programmes.

The Danish and the Topten programmes accept data according to more than one test standard. As described above, the energy consumption measurements vary between test standards and must therefore be adjusted.

#### Correction factors to adjust energy consumption between test standards

The Danish Technological Institute (DTI) tested 2 refrigerated service cabinets (1 refrigerator, 1 freezer) according to EN 441-1995 and EN ISO 23953-2005. The energy consumption was 9.7% lower for the refrigerator and 7.1% lower for the freezer when measured according to EN ISO 23953-2005. With this result a correction factor of 1.1 for energy consumption tested according to EN ISO 23953-2005 was set for the Danish programme.

The Carbon Trust tested 7 commercial service cabinets with volumes between 0.37 m3 and 0.57m3 (3 L1 and 4 M1 class) and 6 refrigerated display cabinets with total display area (TDA) between 0.21 m2 to 1.33 m2 (4 L1 and 2 M2 class) according to EN 441-1995 and EN ISO 23953-2005. For refrigerated display cabinets the energy consumption measured was between 4% more and 12% less under EN ISO 23953-2005 (although an outlier of 18% more was observed), and for commercial service cabinets it was between 0% and 43% less. Based only in part on these test results, the use of EN ISO 23953-2005 was not adopted for ETL compliance of commercial service cabinets.

A document by Tait Consulting for the ecodesign regulation impact assessment study in May 2012 [7] describes how to proportion energy consumption between EN 441-1995, EN ISO 23953-2005 and the CECED Italia test protocol. The proportions were derived from a data set of over 3000 products. Figure 3 shows a graph and description of the methodology. The Topten programme derived correction factors based on this methodology.

<sup>12</sup> see http://www.topten.eu/english/criteria/professional-storage-refrigerators.html



the ratio:

Test result as if under CECED Italia = [Test result under EN441] x (A / B)

# Figure 3: Graph demonstrating how to adjust energy consumption between different test standards

Source: Performance Data Normalisation Methodology for Professional Storage Cabinets, Tait Consulting [7].

#### Tests to verify product data

In the UK, the Carbon Trust has tested a number of cabinets listed on the Energy Technology List. On three separate occasions groups of refrigerated display cabinets and commercial service cabinets have been tested. Approximately 10% of commercial service cabinets and 5% of refrigerated display cabinets have been independently tested to confirm compliance to ETL performance criteria. The very significant majority passed ETL compliance testing.

The Danish Technological Institute has also conducted a number of accredited tests to verify product data. The Danish Energy Saving Trust / Go' Energi picked the models for testing and asked manufacturers / importers to give the serial numbers for three appliances from their storage. The Trust / Go' Energi then decided which one of the three to test. From 2005 to 2011 a total of 12 models were tested. 4 models failed; the test result showed that they do not comply with the criteria and the models were removed from the lists.

The CECED Italia committee selects representative samples that are tested by an independent laboratory before manufacturers are allowed to label the products. The approximate cost of 6000 Euro (excl. VAT of 21%) per product tested is covered by the manufacturer. It is foreseen that participating manufacturers will test one model annually at an independent laboratory; this will cost about 3000 Euro (excl. VAT of 21%).

Topten Switzerland intends to test 2-3 models every year to be able to check manufacturers' declarations.

## UK: Energy Technology List

The Energy Technology List (ETL) is part of the Enhanced Capital Allowance Scheme for Energy-Saving Technologies (ECA Scheme) and operates in the UK. It is a tax break scheme that enables businesses to claim a 100% first year capital allowance on investments in ETL products against the taxable profits from that period of investment. The ETL covers 58 technologies and over 16'600 qualifying products.

The ECA scheme began in 2003 and, after 10 years, continues to remain impactful in the UK cabinet market. The ETL is managed by the Carbon Trust on behalf of the Government (Department of Energy & Climate Change (DECC)).

Home	Find ETL Products	
About the Scheme	This search facility allows you to search for:	
The Energy Technology Product List	Currently Listed products - In order to claim an ECA, purchase.	a product from the list needs to be selected at the time of
Browse ETL	Products which were previously listed but which he	ve been removed since 1 April 2010. These products are still
Eligibility Criteria	displayed on the ETPL but show a removal date as part	t of the listing.
How to Claim	Note that products which have been removed from the You can drawing a list of products removed roles in 1	ETPL prior to 1 April 2010 are no longer included on the ETPL. Avril 2010
Resources		
News	Technology	:
FAQs	Manufacturer	1
Contact Us	Product Name: Nodel Number:	
Partner Login	Shew Currently lated products	1
	(hesh)	

#### Dissemination

**Website**: An ETL Website has existed since 2001 and is a key source of information on energy saving products. Each month over 10'000 users visit the site to check product information or learn more about energy saving technologies. In any one year the site has over 120'000 visitors who view over a million webpages. A range of publications focused upon a customer purchasing ETL products are available on the website; manufacturers and suppliers use them in pre-sales activities.

**Label**: Manufacturers or their suppliers can differentiate their products with the ETL logo. It is widely used in websites, data sheets, sales brochures, etc.

**Stakeholder events**: The Carbon Trust holds several events each year to ensure manufacturers or suppliers remain engaged in communicating the benefits of ETL technologies to their customers. Discussions include estimated impacts for the trading year (April to March), products added or removed, and coming changes.



#### Rationale behind criteria

The criteria for commercial service cabinets (CSC) and refrigerated display cabinets (RDC) are designed to support the top 25% of the market<sup>13</sup>. They were tightened in 2004 and 2008 for CSC, and in 2004, 2008 and 2013 for RDC, to adapt to product improvements. Minor changes were made in other years to clarify ambiguities; in total CSC and RDC criteria have each been updated 6 times.

#### Denmark: The Danish Energy Saving Trust and Go'Energi

The lists had been operated from the beginning in 2005 by the Danish Electricity Saving Trust and later on Go'Energi, which both were governmental institutions. A label "Recommended by Go'Energi" helped manufacturers and importers to market their products.

The list stopped in Spring 2013 due to lack of resources and decisions by the Danish Energy Agency to upgrade the work supporting EU Ecodesign and energy labeling systems. The label cannot be used since April 1<sup>st</sup>.

						🐺 A-Å
EN ERGI	N			Tilens	s.dk   Kontakt   Log ind på F	låndværkerk
FORBRUGER OFFENTLIG O	G ERHVERV	ARKIV				
Bygning   Processer   Belysning	Varme   Apparat	er   Energiledelse   Indkøb	og brug   <u>Værkt</u>	tjer	SØG	
Du er her: Offentlig og erhverv -> Værktøj	er > Produktlister > H	videvarer > Professionelle kaleska				8
Værktøjer	Find p	rofessionelle	køleska	be		
Adfærdskampagne	Her kan du	finde energirigtige hvidev	arer.			
Tjekister	O. Kalesk	a ha				
Kravspecifikationer	E Apresid	Marial	Netternieren	Farmiladawa	Farmielfablinitetriadelet	
Se Elforbrug			liter	pr. år	kWh/48h/m <sup>3</sup>	
Vejledninger	~			~	~	
Produktister	GRAM	MIDI K625 G	450	516	6,27	
B. Leville	GRAM	PLUS K600 G	441	508	6,32	
Beysning	GRAM	COMPACT K610 G	419	489	6,4	
Bærbare computere	ELECTROLUX	Ecostore Premium	513	622	6,65	
Stationære computere	Unitshinese	(hydrocardon) ESP/TRICG	603	630	7	
Computerskærme	ELECTROLUX	Ecostora Premium	1027	1351	7.21	
Print on knownskiper	sand balance	(Hydrocarbon) ESP142FRCG	1027	1351	7,41	
1	GRAM	TWIN K660 G	474	683	7,9	
Prvdevater	ELECTROLUX	Ecostore Premium ESP71FRG	513	752	8,04	
Professionelle køleskabe	ZANUSSI	Ecostore Premium NPT71FR	513	752	8,04	
Destauring to feature	GRAM	TWIN K600 G	422	630	8,18	

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> In general, the ECA scheme criteria are set to meet the top 25% of the market. More rigorous criteria (top 10%) are used in some markets to encourage innovation.

798

The list remained available until May 31<sup>st</sup> under http://www.ens.dk/offentlig-og-erhverv/vaerktoejer/produktlister/hvidevarelister

The scheme is coordinated with the corresponding UK scheme and therefore it was possible for the manufacturer/importer to use the test reports that were also used in the UK scheme if the cabinets are identical.

#### Dissemination

Label to use for manufacturers/importers: The appliances have been marketed and sold with help of recommendations from Danish Electricity Saving Trust and Go'Energi. It has been possible to place a label on the appliances: "Recommended by Go'Energi". This has been very efficient, and the products are believed to have had a marked share of at least 80 %. The remaining part of the marked consists of cheaper less efficient appliances.

**Website**: The product lists are presented with photos and technical data. Also selection criteria, user advice and purchase tips can be found there. The website has been very important for dissemination – especially because the manufacturers and the big suppliers used it as a part of their marketing campaigns.

**TV and internet commercials**: To support the communication of manufacturers/importers and raise awareness for the label, the Danish Electricity Saving Trust and Go'Energi advertised the label in TV and internet commercials.

#### Rationale behind criteria

The criteria were negotiated between the Danish Energy Saving Trust and the Danish Association of Contract Kitchen Equipment Suppliers. They are similar to the UK criteria.

#### Switzerland: Topten and regional rebate programmes

Topten originated in Switzerland and is now a global initiative coordinated by the Topten International Group (www.topten.info, [8]). It is a voluntary, non-profit project aiming to stimulate demand for the most energy efficient products in national markets. Topten is active in 17 European countries (funded by Intelligent Energy Europe (IEE) and coordinated by ADEME), China and USA.

Since 2010 Topten Switzerland together with eight cities and electricity utilities has been working on a project to promote efficient professional refrigeration products. Starting September 2013 five of the partner cities and electricity utilities plan to implement 3-year rebate programmes.

#### Dissemination

**Financial incentives**: Rebates of 160 to 1450 Euro<sup>14</sup> will be paid when buying a refrigerator or freezer from the Topten lists. Approximately 4500 cabinets will profit from this programme. Rebates will multiply communication as partner cities and utilities advertise in their region. Swiss suppliers will inform customers about rebates in sales conversations and marketing.

Website: From the Topten homepage, buyers can find all product lists with one simple click. Highefficiency products are represented with photos, technical data, an "inefficient" product for





<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> The rebate depends on the product type (catalogue prices range from 900 to 5000 Euro) and is limited to a maximum of 25% of the paid price as stated on the receipt.

comparison, selection criteria, user advice and purchase tips, downloads and links to publications, standards and labels. Swiss market lists are available in German, French and Italian. www.topten.ch is well received and used (statistics: 1 mio. visits with 47 mio. hits in 2012).

Product lists are also available in English at www.topten.eu: Professional Refrigerators<sup>15</sup>.

**Media**: Topten advises on best products and usage by offering expertise for professional articles, radio and TV shows. In 2012 Topten Switzerland had over 40 mio. media contacts.

#### Rationale behind criteria

As technologies improve, Topten criteria become stricter; lists stay limited to the 10 or so best products in each class.

#### **Italy: CECED Italia**

CECED Italia is the Italian Association of Home and Professional Appliances Manufacturers. Members of CECED Italia anticipated the forthcoming EU energy labeling regulations by voluntarily setting up a system for the energy efficiency classification of professional cabinets and counters.

Companies participating in the project have started to label their professional cabinets and counters to allow an objective evaluation of the products' efficiency for their customers.

CECED Italia in cooperation with the test laboratory IMQ has set up a voluntary evaluation and testing protocol based on EN ISO 23953-2, with adaptations on volume calculation and testing conditions (e.g. door opening frequency, loading patterns).



#### Dissemination

**Label to use for manufacturers/importers**: Participating manufacturers use the E.C.E. label to market their products.

#### Rationale behind energy efficiency classification

The label classifies energy efficiency on a scale from 7 (best) to 1 (worst). It is similar to the classical A to G scale of the EU energy label. One step up means an improvement of efficiency by 10 to 20%. The energy efficiency index (EEI) 100 stands for the typical model; it is the class threshold between 4 and 3. The thresholds were based upon a data set with several hundred models from four manufacturers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> The criteria for energy consumption are less strict for the European market and therefore more models are listed.

#### Proposed EU energy label

Starting 1<sup>st</sup> July 2015 an energy label and a product fiche shall be provided for professional storage cabinets. One year later A+ shall be added as top class. A++ shall be added in 2018 and A+++ in 2019. The energy label will indicate the annual energy consumption and the storage volumes. It will not show if the refrigerant used in the cabinet has high or low global warming potential (GWP).



The energy efficiency classes are defined as shown in Table 8.

Table 8: Proposed energy label classes

Class	<b>Energy Efficiency</b>
	Index (EEI)
A+++	< 15
A++	15-20
A+	20-30
А	30-40
В	40-55
С	55-75
D	75-90
Е	90-100
F	100-110
G	110-125

#### Draft ecodesign regulation

The draft ecodesign regulation distinguishes between heavy- and light-duty cabinets. Light-duty cabinets by definition are capable of maintaining their operating temperature in an ambient temperature of 25°C and 60% relative humidity (climate class 3) but not in 30°C and 55% relative humidity (climate class 4). Heavy-duty cabinets perform well in ambient conditions that correspond to climate class 4 (typical for restaurant kitchens).

In the draft regulation annex III the measurement method for energy consumption is described including door openings (corresponding to the CECED Italia test protocol), ambient conditions

(climate class 3 for light-duty cabinets, climate class 4 for heavy-duty cabinets), required temperatures of test packages and more. The calculation of the net volume is also described in detail.

For heavy-duty cabinets one single stage of energy efficiency requirements is proposed from 1<sup>st</sup> July 2015. Models worse than energy efficiency class G would then be phased out. For light-duty cabinets three stages of energy efficiency requirements are proposed:

- From 1 July 2015: EEI < 125 (phase out worse than G)
- From 1 July 2016: EEI < 110 (phase out G)
- From 1 July 2018: EEI < 100 (phase out F)

Product information requirements proposed for 1<sup>st</sup> July 2015 onward include all information needed to evaluate energy efficiency as well as the global warming potential of the refrigerant.

#### Summary

#### 54% to 87% energy saving potential today and room for improvement

The product comparison by Topten International shows that 54 - 67% of energy consumption could be saved if best-efficiency models were used instead of the current typical models. Choosing best-efficiency display cabinets over open cabinets brings energy savings of 87%.

The research project iCool found that commercially available measures can reduce a typical glass door cooler's energy consumption by 77%. Phase change materials could further increase energy savings in the future.

Household refrigerators and freezers decreased their energy consumption by 66% since energy labelling and ecodesign measures have been applied. Beyond this significant improvement, new best-efficiency models offer a further 50% energy saving potential.

These combined findings raise hopes that plug-in commercial and professional refrigerators / freezers will halve their energy consumption once EU policies have been adopted.

#### Existing programmes will ease market integration of the EU energy label

There are already widely known programmes in European countries that steer towards energy efficient products. Manufacturers act as multipliers for dissemination as these programmes support their marketing. Financial incentives offered by governments, cities and utilities encourage buyers, dealers and manufacturers to push for more energy efficient products. Planned EU energy labels and minimum requirements will be more quickly integrated by manufacturers and suppliers.

#### The European Commission can unify procedures and ensure quality product information

This paper identifies the lack of unified test methodology and energy efficiency rating system as challenges for energy saving initiatives in Europe. The European Commission and the standardisation organisation CEN are working towards unifying the procedures.

There will be a period when product data from different test protocols will have to be adjusted for comparison. The European Commission could issue a guideline document similar to the data analysis in *Performance Data Normalisation Methodology for Professional Storage Cabinets* by Tait Consulting [7].

One lesson to be learned from national and regional programmes is that verification tests are needed to ensure good data quality and fair product comparisons. Market surveillance should be a substantial part of EU policies.

# References

- [1] *Professionelle Beschaffung: Energieeffiziente Kühlgeräte.* Flyer with recommendations for restaurants, diners, hotels and retailers. Available in German and French at: http://www.topten.ch/deutsch/dokumentationen.html
- [2] Topten product lists 'Professional Refrigerators' on topten.eu by Topten International: http://www.topten.eu/english/criteria/professional-display-refrigerators-crit.html&fromid= http://www.topten.eu/english/criteria/professional-storage-refrigerators.html&fromid=
- [3] Energy Technology List 'Refrigerated Display Cabinets' and 'Commercial Service Cabinets' by the Department of Energy & Climate Change (DECC) in the United Kingdom: http://etl.decc.gov.uk/etl
- [4] Bertoldi P., Hirl B. and Labanca N. *Energy Efficiency Status Report 2012*. European Commission, Joint Research Centre, Institute for Energy and Transport.
- [5] Mudgal S. et al. Preparatory Study for Eco-design Lot 1 Refrigerating and freezing equipment, Final Report, May 2011. Bio Intelligence Service S.A.S. (Products in scope: Service cabinets, blast cabinets, walk-in cold rooms, industrial process chillers, water dispensers, ice-makers, dessert and beverage machines, minibars, wine storage appliances and packaged condensing units)
- [6] Monier V. et al. *Preparatory Study for Eco-design Lot 12 Commercial refrigerators and freezers*, Final Report, December 2007. Bio Intelligence Service S.A.S. (Products in scope: Refrigerated display cabinet (remote and plug-in) and vending machines)
- [7] Performance Data Normalisation Methodology for Professional Storage Cabinets. DRAFT Version 0.5: 15 June 2012. Tait Consulting limited. http://www.topten.eu/uploads/File/Storage%20Cabinets%20-%20Normalisation%20Method%20V0\_5.pdf
- [8] Bush E., Attali S., Brunner C.U., Dean N., Arquit Niederberger A., Bo H. *Topten: Global Project for the Most Energy Efficient Products*. EEDAL Conference on Energy Efficiency in Domestic Appliances and Lighting, Copenhagen, 2011.

# Efficiency strategies assessment for three appliances in the residential sector: refrigerator, dishwashing and washing machines

# Pombeiro, Henrique R. M. L.<sup>a</sup>, Silva, Carlos A. S.<sup>\*a</sup>

# <sup>a</sup>*MIT-Portugal Program, Sustainable Energy Systems Focus Area, Instituto Superior Técnico, Technical University of Lisbon*

# Abstract

The residential sector has become an important sector on what global energy consumption is concerned. Therefore, several policies have been developed towards the increase of efficiency in the residential appliances and, moreover, towards the increase of efficient consumption behaviors. Few policies, though, propose consumption strategies that change the usual operating cycles of the appliances.

This paper assesses the potentiality of improving the residential energy efficiency and cost savings through operational strategies for three appliances: refrigerator, dishwashing and washing machines. The approaches and main conclusions follow:

- Shifting the consumption of two refrigerators from "peak" periods: consumption increases 4.6 to 9.9% and costs raise 2.6 to 7.0%, depending on the refrigerator and chosen schedule;
- Connecting the dishwashing and washing machines to a pipe where water is heated by a gas heater: costs increase 23 and 82.5% and the CO<sub>2</sub> emissions 20 and 60%, respectively. If consumption to heat the water is not needed, the energy consumption would decrease until 89%;

Hereupon, results show that both strategies do not reduce consumption for energy and economic points of view. In order to reach more representative values, further experiments with more households and controlled parameters would be required.

## Introduction

This paper wishes to contribute to the development of energy efficiency strategies in the residential energy consumption behaviors through *in situ* experiments regarding a dishwasher a clothes washing machine and two refrigerators. These appliances account for a significant share in the total electricity consumption and in 2004 they were characterized by 3%, 5% and 22%, respectively [1].

Energy efficiency is a World's top agenda issue, namely in the building sector as it now represents 40% of the total primary energy that is being consumed in the world [2]. It is well stated that consumption behavior habits have a strong impact in the overall efficiency, especially in the residential sector, and so several campaigns have been developed to induce more efficient behaviors by exposing common inefficiencies and common strategies to tackle them (*e.g.* "switch your incandescent light bulbs in your house by more efficient ones, such as fluorescents") [3].

Proper energy efficiency methodologies to be applied to the final consumer are currently seek so that more global policies can be accomplished, such one of the the 20-20-20 goals defined by the European Commission that aims at reducing 20% of the energy consumption through increasing energy efficiency [4]. The strong potential with the reinforcement of more efficient consumption habits is scattered among a wide range of consumers, having 78.4% of them simple-rate tariff contracts [5], which may glimpse the lack of initiative by the consumers to gather more efficient consumption habits in their lives.

Several strategies can be applied to the consumption behavior side in order to improve the overall energy efficiency in a household. This paper tests strategies that are stated as boosting energy performance in the three previously mentioned appliances: refrigerator, washer and dishwasher.

[6] affirmed in his talk that economic benefits can outcome from the forced switch off/on of the refrigerator in strategic periods of the day. This is justified for the operation interruption during peak periods, which are highly charged in hour-sensitive tariffs, and a further switch on during low peak periods. Due to these tariffs, economic benefits may outcome to the consumer. On the other hand, during these periods in which electricity consumption is more intensive, also a lower energy efficiency occurs due to electricity losses during the distribution cables as a consequence of more resistance. Having so, this strategy of reducing consumption during peak periods is proven to be a benefit to the utilities. Therefore, this paper tests the performance of two different refrigerators with the forced switch on/off in strategic periods of the day.

It is found in [7] that by connecting a washer or dishwasher to the hot water pipe, in which water is heated by a gas water heater, is a strategy to decrease electricity consumption of these appliances. A dishwasher operates with an initial water feed and heat, followed by a water dispersion cycle. A new heating process occurs after a water renewal. These two heating processes are responsible for most of the electricity that is consumed in the whole cycle. Accordingly, also the washing machine has an initial heating cycle after the water intake and a further rotation cycle to wash the clothes. Beyond the particularity of consuming more water, the electricity consumption in this appliance during the heat process is also the main parcel of the whole cycle. Hereupon, by decreasing the electricity consumed) in the washer and in the dishwasher by a different heat source, [7] states that this can reduce the electricity consumption. This paper addresses this issue by connecting a dishwasher and a washer to the heat water pipe and analyze the tradeoff with natural gas consumption to heat water.

This paper was developed under the framework of a project named NetZero Energy School, a partnership between Instituto das Ciências Sociais (Social Sciences Institute), Laboratório Nacional da Engenharia Civil (Civil Engineering National Laboratory), QUERCUS (an Environment protection Portuguese association), under the coordination of the MIT Portugal Program. This project aims at promoting energy awareness among a High School population, namely in the households of fifty families and the strategies that are tested in this paper are aligned with the awareness increase purpose.

# Experimental

The experimental section is divided in two parts concerning the management of the usage of the appliances: refrigerator, and dishwashing and washing machines, in order to determine if the following proposals are environmentally and economically benefic:

- Turning off the refrigerator across few periods of the day;
- Connecting the washing and the dishwashing machines to the hot water pipe (the same as the hot water tap of the kitchen), instead of the regular cold water pipe, during the working time.

The electricity consumption of the appliances was measured with one *smart plug* – PlugMeter®, which provided data with a time resolution of 1 minute and the ability of scheduling the operating periods of the refrigerator.

#### Refrigerators

The study focused on two refrigerators:

- One, placed in a household, which is a BOSCH KGN46A03, with energy labeling A+ [9], compressor power of 150 W, refrigeration heater power of 220 W, freezing capacity of 82 L and refrigerating capacity of 264 L [8]. This refrigerator is a combined one, meaning that it has a freezer partition bigger than a regular refrigerator;
- Another, placed in the MIT Portugal Program offices, at the IST campus TagusPark, which is an INDESIT R 28, with energy labeling B, total power of 150 W, freezing capacity of 63 L and refrigerating capacity of 211 L [9]. This refrigerator has a lower energy label than the BOSCH but less than half of its power and lower volume capacity as well.

Three operating schedules were tested:

- (i) Working continuously;
- (ii) Disconnected from 9 to 10 h and from 15 to 16 h. These periods correspond to the highest intensity consumption periods, at a national level [10];
- (iii) Disconnected from 22 to 0 h. These periods correspond to the highest intensity consumption periods, at the residential level [10].

#### Mitigation of the temperature effect in the different experiments

Since indoor temperature can influence the refrigerator consumption, this parameter had to be known in order to correct the electricity consumption in the different experimental periods for the same temperature. Unfortunately, it could not be measured during the experiment. However, shortly after the experiment, it was then possible to measure the indoor temperatures of the rooms and those values were crossed with the registered temperatures in Barcarena and Amadora weather stations in [11]. It was then perceived that the weekly variation of the indoor temperature is roughly half of the outdoor one and so this served as an approximation of the room temperature during the experiment.

In [12], for tests under approximately the same experimental conditions, the consumption varies according to: (0.05T-0.47) [kWh/24h], where T is the temperature in the room. This is the variation assumed by the author. Unfortunately, the temperature inside the rooms was not measured because, at the time of the measurements, the author was not available to measure regularly the temperature and there was not any thermometer with data storage availability. So, the approximation made was as follows:

- The temperatures registered during the experimental period were collected in [11], using the registered data of the closest stations of TagusPark campus (Barcarena station – 1.5 km) and the experimental household (Amadora station – 4 km);
- The previous point was repeated for the first two weeks of September and the room temperature (in TagusPark room and in the household kitchen) of this period was measured during the day with a thermometer. Then, this temperature was crossed with that registered in [11] and a relation was established:
  - For the TagusPark campus, the measured temperature variation, during the day, is very mild (having a constant increase of the temperature until the end of the afternoon). But, as the average weekly temperature increases, the temperature inside the room increases approximately at the same rate. Thus, the average temperature collected for the tests will be considered as having the same variation as the room temperature, which is a fair approximation because, in that room, the sun strikes directly in the afternoon and the air conditioning is not usually turned on and the window is commonly opened.
  - For the kitchen in the experimental household, the measured temperature also varies slightly during the day, increasing until the end of the afternoon, but it is not as high as the average registered in [11]. The weekly increase of the outside temperature reflects a lower increase of the room temperature. This is a fair approximation because the kitchen does not have the sun striking directly, though the windows are frequently opened and has no air conditioning. Still, the house has a rather good thermal isolation. Therefore, the week variation of the room temperature will be considered as half of the temperature variation registered in [11].

Though this approach does not correspond to the real values that could be measured, it must be understood that, even if the temperatures in the weather stations are not the same as the outside temperature in the studied sets, the weekly amplitude shall be approximate in both places, what gives a reasonable accuracy to this methodology.

#### **Dishwasher and washing machines**

The measurements concerned the consumption of:

- A dishwasher, which is a BOSCH, model SMS40M02EU [13];
- A clothes washing machine, which is a SIEMENS, model WM10E120EE [14].

Two scenarios were simulated for each machine:

- (i) Working at the programs A, B and C, in a selected program;
- (ii) Working at the programs A, B and C, with water coming from the pipe in which the water is previously heated by the water heater by combustion of natural gas.

In each scenario, three programs were tested:

- A. Dishwashing machine, working in program at 70°C;
- B. Dishwashing machine, working in program auto at 45-65°C;
- C. Washing machine, working in program at 40°C.

Program A operates with 12 L, whereas program B operates with the consumption of 17 L per cycle. As it is shown in the Results section, the low water consumption in program A means a low water flow as well, whenever water is consumed, which is not enough to activate the gas water heater every time water is consumed. This is the reason why another program was tested in the dishwasher experiment, so that a higher water flow would exist and all the feeding water could activate the gas water heater.

#### Estimate of the water temperature variation

Since scenario (ii) concerns a test in which the feeding water is previously heated with a gas water heater, a careful analysis of this process has to be undertaken so that the heat efficiency can be modeled and consequently the temperature of the water at the entrance point of the machine. With this, and knowing the temperature of the water that is required by any selected program, the electricity that is consumed for heating the water can then be modeled.

Although the maximum and minimum heating powers of the gas water heater (19.2 and 7 kW, respectively) and the maximum gas flow ( $2.3 \text{ m}^3$ ) are specified in the supplier manual, the minimum gas flow is unknown and should be determined, by using the following expression in which 7 kW is the minimum heating power, 0.8404 kg/m<sup>3</sup> and 45.1 MJ/kg the natural gas specific weight and lower heating value (LHV) [15], respectively:

$$\frac{7 \text{ kW}}{0.8404 \text{ kg/m}^3 \times 45.1 \text{ MJ/kg} \times 10^3 \text{ kJ/MJ} \times \frac{1}{3600} \text{ h/s} \times 1 \text{ kWs/kJ}} = 0.66 \text{ m}^3/\text{h}$$

Regarding the water flow of the water that feeds the machines, a 4.3 L/min value was regulated, which is the minimum experimental flow able to activate the water heater.

The heat losses along the pipe between the water heater and the water can be quantified as follows:

In [16], this phenomenon is described and Eq. (1) is given to determine the heat loss  $(q_p)$ , depending on the length, diameter and material of the pipe. Such equation gives a linear approximation of the heat decay, which is an approximation. The air temperature surrounding the pipe (T2) was also considered as the average of the registered temperature in the kitchen, which is another approximation undertaken in this experiment.

$$q_p = \frac{2\pi k_p L_p (T_1 - T_2)}{\ln\left(\frac{D_o}{D_i}\right)} \quad [kJ/h]$$
(1)

In the experiment, the material of the pipe is a non insulated polyvinyl chloride (PVC) and the parameters values are [17]: Kp = 0.511 kJ/(m.°C.h) (thermal conductivity), Lp = 4 m (pipe length), Do = 0.0419 m (outside diameter), Di = 0.0329 m (inside diameter), T1 =  $70^{\circ}$ C (for test A and B) and  $45^{\circ}$ C (for test B) (water temperature in the water heater), T2 =  $25^{\circ}$ C (air temperature).

The rate of the temperature drop ( $\Delta$ T/dt) is given by Eq. (3) where Cp Eq. (2) is the mass thermal capacity of the water,  $\partial Q = q_p/dt$  and m is the mass of the water. Cp values for the experimental temperatures are [18]: 4.179 (25°C = 298.15K), 4.185 (45°C = 282.15K) and 4.193 (70°C = 343.15K) kJ/(kg.K). The water mass is given by m = V×  $\rho$  (kg, where  $\rho$  = 1 kg/L).

$$C_p = \frac{1}{m} \frac{\partial Q}{dT} \, [\text{kJ/kg.K}] \tag{2}$$

Knowing that  $\partial Q$  is obtained by  $q_p$ , the rate of temperature drop is now obtained in Eq. (3):

$$\frac{\Delta T}{dt} = \frac{q_p \times 60^{-1} \text{h/min}}{m \times C_p} \text{[K/min]}$$
(3)

 $T_1 = 70^{\circ}$ C,  $T2 = 25^{\circ}$ C: dt = 19min;  $\Delta T / dt = 2.36^{\circ}$ C/min  $T_1 = 45^{\circ}$ C,  $T2 = 25^{\circ}$ C: dt = 13min;  $\Delta T / dt = 2.28^{\circ}$ C/min

This means that, for simulation A, if there is an interval between two gas consumptions of more than 19 min, the water in the pipe (and that is about to be consumed) is already at the air temperature of  $25^{\circ}$ C. For simulations B and C, that period is 13 min. After these periods, the water heater only has an effect in the temperature of the consumed water if the water consumption lasts for enough time so that all the remaining water in the pipe is consumed and the current heated water crossed the all pipe length. This period is calculated by dividing the volume of the pipe by the water flow – the regulated water flow is of 4.3 L/min:

Time for the water to cross the pipe == 
$$\frac{\pi \times \left(\frac{0.0329 \text{ m}}{2}\right)^2 \times 4 \text{ m}}{4.3 \text{ L/min} \times 10^{-3} \text{ m}^3/\text{L} \times 60^{-1} \text{ min/s}} = 47 \text{ s}$$

With the above presented results, the efficiency of the water heating as a mean to provide heated water to both appliances can now be modeled dynamically at each moment.

A particular feature of the experiment that was undertaken regards the initial water intake. Instead of simply turning on the washer and the dishwasher, hot water was consumed before each tested program so that the feeding water could be at a high temperature at the entrance of the appliance. This assumes, however, that this water that is used 47 s before the program is not wasted. Evidently, this is an assumption that is not realistic for each washing program that a family may use but this was the way to feed the appliance with water at the desired temperature, instead than feeding with water at the room temperature that was retained in the pipe.

#### **Results and discussion**

This point is divided in the analysis of results concerning the experiments in refrigerators and then concerning the washer and dishwasher. The results cover not only the energy impact but also the costs, which were calculated according to the tariffs available for one Portuguese utility [19]. Costs from the use of gas are also addressed for the analysis in the tests performed in the washer and dishwasher.

#### Refrigerators

The simulations undertaken for the two refrigerators show different consumption profiles in the different scenarios, as it can be perceived in the following Figures. The overall consumption results are expressed in the following Table, as well as the  $CO_2$  emissions of each one.







Electricity consumption profiles (continuous lines) and average air temperatures (dashed lines) for the refrigerator BOSCH KGN46A03, working in the three different schedules.

As previously mentioned, the consumption in scenarios (ii) and (iii) suffered a correction in order to mitigate the effect of the outside temperature and so the measured consumptions were corrected at the temperature registered in (i).

	INDESIT			BOSH		
	(i)	(ii)	(iii)	(i)	(ii)	(iii)
Consumptions and costs						
kWh	1.115	1.177	1.189	1.028	1.113	1.075
kgoe	0.096	0.101	0.102	0.088	0.096	0.092
kgCO₂e	0.210	0.221	0.223	0.192	0.210	0.201
€	0.124	0.130	0.131	0.115	0.123	0.118
Balance relatively to scenario (i)						
$\Delta$ kWh	-	0.062	0.074	-	0.085	0.047
∆ kgoe	-	0.005	0.006	-	0.008	0.004
∆ kgCO₂e	-	0.011	0.013	-	0.018	0.009
Δ€	-	0.006	0.007	-	0.017	0.003

Overall daily consumptions and costs concerning each measured scenario for the tested refrigerators at temperature of (i).

The following results can be stressed:

- a) After a perturbation, the refrigerator increases the consumption and stabilizes. Such can be noticed in scenario (iii).
- Reckoning the refrigerator INDESIT, the consumption stabilizes after 1 h, maintaining a higher amplitude than in (i)
- Concerning the refrigerator BOSCH, the consumption stabilizes after 5 h, maintaining roughly the same amplitude as in (i).
- b) The refrigerator INDESIT has a consumption while working normally (i) with lower amplitudes than the BOSCH.
- c) Scenarios (ii) and (iii) have an associated higher consumption than in (i), corresponding to different values in each refrigerator, proportional to the associated environmental impact.
- The consumption registered in (ii) is higher than in (i), concerning the refrigerator INDESIT and BOSCH, by 5.6 and 9.9%, respectively.
- The consumptions registered in (iii) relatively to the refrigerators INDESIT and BOSCH are, respectively, 6.6 and 4.6% higher than in (i).
- d) The costs differ between the refrigerators within the same scenario.
- Concerning scenario (ii), the costs rise 4.8% in the refrigerator INDESIT but, for the refrigerator BOSCH, the costs increase 7.0%.
- Regarding scenario (iii), the costs increase 5.6% in the refrigerator INDESIT and 2.6% in the refrigerator BOSCH.

As previously mentioned, the switch off periods covered the peak periods which are usually higher priced and so the costs regarded to the different tariff schemes were also analyzed. The costs that are shown above regard the average costs across the different tariffs and the detailed costs for each are not depicted in this paper because despite the tariff, the costs increased from scenario (i) to (ii) and from scenario (ii) to (iii).

Firstly, one must keep in mind that the temperature measurements were not the most accurate ones but the important factor is the temperature variation, which is trusted to be accurately achieved. Also, though considering that the using habits of the refrigerators kept constant in each simulated period, this is a point that is impossible to be precisely controlled under an *in situ* experiment. Furthermore, one does not know the performances of the engine and the compressor, which are trusted to be the main influent factors in the consumption and in the performance losses during the "on-off" cycle [12].

The operating processes differ in the two refrigerators. In fact, the refrigerator BOSCH shows higher consumption amplitudes and longer shut-down periods, and the INDESIT has a flatter profile, with shorter shut-down periods. The BOSCH is a combined refrigerator, with a power of 370 W, contrasting with the 150 W of the INDESIT, what means a higher consumption, even though it has a higher energetic certification. The dimensioning of the capacity of the refrigerator according to the dwelling's needs is an important factor that must be consider together with the energetic label.

The usage – concerning also the induced working periods – influences the consumption profiles. In fact, the refrigerator INDESIT has a high usage during the day at lunch time and the BOSCH has generally a high usage at lunch and even higher during dinner time. The effects of such differences are explained, as follows.

Concerning the refrigerator INDESIT, the shut-down periods in scenario (ii) occurred during the day, when the probability of being used and the room temperature were higher, and with intervals of 5 h, which may not have given enough time to remove the extra heat that entered during the shut-down period. Such contrasts with scenario (iii), in which the probability of being used during, and after, the shut-down period is lower, which did not require such a high effort of the refrigerator to extract the accumulated heat during that period. Indeed, the high consumptions after the shut-down periods were

52.5% higher in scenario (ii) than in scenario (iii). This is justified by the usage, which is more intensive during the shutdown period in (ii). I Otherwise, a higher consumption peak after a shutdown period of 2 h (scenario (iii)) would be expected to be higher than in the 1 h period (scenario (ii)).

Concerning the refrigerator BOSCH, the consumption profile in (i) evidences the occurrence of periodical peaks which tend to be intercalated with the ones in (iii). This may be explained by the fact of the turn off period in (iii) being at the arising of a new peak, which implies a delay in that peak and, as well, an increase afterwards, affecting the remaining peak periods by also delaying them. As for the highest peak noticed in (iii) which occurs before the shutdown period, it may have not been a consequence of a different usage but, instead, due to the temperature increase and the fact that this period corresponds to the normal intensive usage period. Such does not happen in (i) because the consumption peak tends to be earlier. The high consumptions after the shut-down periods were 2.3% lower in scenario (ii) than in (iii), which evidences a higher need to extract the heat that got inside during the longer continuous turn-off period in (iii).

The approach that led to these results must be taken rather cautiously. The experiments were performed under some (and fair) considerations on the environments in which the two different refrigerators are placed. Surely, deviations have occurred in the usage that were not perceptive, but that is a feature of a real usage, with no exact routines by the users. Nonetheless, the relation was established concerning the induced shut-down of a refrigerator in two different schedules: an increase in the accumulated consumption at the end of the day and, furthermore, a costs increase, depending on the usage, on the refrigerator type and on the tariff. Concluding, the forcing shut-down of a refrigerator may contribute to reduce the peak loads but at the expense of higher energy consumption and clients costs. Thus, this measure does not lead to better environmental or monetary scenarios.

#### Dishwasher and clothes washing machines

For the sake of simplification, the programs that were defined for the washer and dishwasher are referred as follows: A – dishwashing machine, working in an intensive program at  $70^{\circ}$ C; B – dishwashing machine, working in an auto program at  $-60^{\circ}$ C; C – washing machine, working in an intensive program at  $40^{\circ}$ C. The figures and table below provide the analysis of the three programs and the comparison between the normal usage (scenario (i)) and with the operation with the water feed through the hot water pipe (scenario (ii)).



Average electricity consumption/min profiles (continuous lines) and gas consumption (dashed lines) for the dishwashing machine, working in the program at 70°C.



Electricity consumption profiles (continuous lines) and gas consumption (dashed lines) for the dishwashing machine, working in the automatic program at 45-65°C



Electricity consumption promets (continuous mes) and gas consumption (dashed line) for the washing machine, working in the 40°C program.

The higher consumption in program A, when comparing with B, in scenario (i), is due to the higher water temperature for that program (70°C vs. 60°C). Once it was not possible to measure the heated water in program A, as the water flow was insufficient to activate the gas water heater (therefore, the periods in which the dishwashing machine consumed water were not measured), one could not determine the heated water in scenario (i) and, thereby, the potential scenario (iii).

As said in the Experimental section, program A operates with low water flows and so most of that water was not sufficient to activate the gas water heater. Therefore, this scenario is poorly fitted to analyze the effect from the usage of a gas water heater for heating the feeding water. This is the reason why another program with higher water demand, program B, was tested in the dishwasher experiment.

Concerning programs B and C, it is then assumed that all the used water activated the gas water heater. The average temperature of the feeding water at the entrance of the machine is 39.7 and 37.1°C, respectively, which means that the machine had to heat the water by an average of 21.3°C and 2.9°C, respectively. This reflects the inefficiency of this experimental methodology, a consequence of heat loss across the pipe length. Further, the primary energy that is consumed in scenario (i) rises 2 and 18%, respectively for programs B and C, as a consequence of of natural gas consumption. Concerning program A, the consumption of primary energy decreases 6%. The corresponding lowering in electricity consumption is, respectively for programs A, B and C, 17.9, 21.9 and 77.4%.

As far as the costs are concerned, scenario (i) corresponds, averagely, to an associated increase of 2.1, 2.3 and 82.6% for programs A, B and C, respectively.

Finally, the  $CO_2$  emissions are characterized, respectively for programs B and C, by an increase of 0.06 and 0.15 kgCO<sub>2</sub>e. Concerning program A, there is no variation.

Overall consumption and cost per cycle, concerning each measured scenario. Costs are averaged for all calculated tariffs<sup>a</sup>.

	Α		В		C	
	(i)	(ii)	(i)	(ii)	(i)	(ii)
Electricity	1.17 kWh	0.96 kWh	0.64 kWh	0.50 kWh	0.53 kWh	0.12 kWh
	0.34 kgoe	0.28 kgoe	0.19 kgoe	0.15 kgoe	0.11 kgoe	0.03 kgoe
	0.55	0.45	0.30	0.24	0.25	0.06
	kgCO <sub>2</sub> e	kgCO <sub>2</sub> e	kgCO <sub>2</sub> e	kgCO <sub>2</sub> e	kgCO <sub>2</sub> e	kgCO₂e
	0.143€	0.115€	0.077€	0.062€	0.063€	0.017€
Gas	-	0.04 m <sup>3</sup>	-	0.05 m <sup>3</sup>	-	0.14 m <sup>3</sup>
	-	0.04 kgoe	-	0.05 kgoe	-	0.13 kgoe
	-	0.10 kgCO <sub>2</sub> e	-	0.12 kgCO <sub>2</sub> e	-	0.34 kgCO <sub>2</sub> e
	-	0.025€	-	0.033€	-	0.098€
Water	12 L	12 L	17 L	17 L	50 L	50 L
Water in heater	-	- <sup>a</sup>	-	17 L	-	50 L
Water temperature	25°C	- <sup>a</sup>	25°C	39.7°C	25°C	37.1°C
Balances (i) - (ii)	- 0.21 kWh -0.02 kgoe + 0.04 m <sup>3</sup> + 0.02 € 0.0 kgCO <sub>2</sub> e		- 0.14 kWh + 0.01 kgoe + 0.05 m <sup>3</sup> + 0.05 €		- 0.41 kWh	
					+ 0.02 kgoe + 0.14 m <sup>3</sup>	
					+ 0.05 €	
			+ 0.06 kgCO <sub>2</sub> e		+ 0.15 kgCO <sub>2</sub> e	
Electricity spent in water heating	-	-	0.33 kWh	0.17 kWh	0.47 kWh	0.06 kWh
	-	-	0.07 kgoe	0.04 kgoe	0.10 kgoe	0.01 kgoe
	-	-	0.16 kgCO <sub>2</sub> e	0.08 kgCO <sub>2</sub> e	0.22 kgCO <sub>2</sub> e	0.03 kgCO <sub>2</sub> e
	-	-	(52%)		(89%)	

<sup>a</sup> Could not be measured

# Conclusions

This work comprises an experimental analysis of the performance of two refrigerators, one dishwasher and one clothes washing machines, upon operational strategies being undertaken. Both energy consumption and costs were analyzed and the general conclusions follow.

Concerning the refrigerator, the tests showed that a forced turn-off period results in a higher daily accumulated consumption, as well as higher costs, which demystifies the belief sustained in [6]. The consumption increase depends on the working schedule and on the refrigerator type, reaching values between 4.6% and 9.9%. Furthermore, the costs do not increase at the same rate as the consumption, being this within 2.6% and 7.0%. Nonetheless, costs increase independently from the tariff in both scenarios (ii) and (iii).

The applied methodology had the purpose of testing real scenarios, leading to realistic results. However, more detailed experiences must be done in order to analyze the real effects of an induced shut-down on the functioning of the refrigerator since it may induce a deregulation of the engine and compressor and may cause a temperature drop which may affect the stored food. The tests in this work concerned two different refrigerators in two distinct environments, what constitutes a limited sample. Hence, further studies must be performed in order to prove irrefutably if this behavior is, or not, benefic or harmful to the refrigerator and the food, and if it implies an increase in consumption and costs.

Concerning the dishwasher and washer, the general results of the tested methodology (scenario (ii)) show, for programs B and C, worse energetic and economic scenarios than in the normal working way (scenario (i)), being a consequence of the consumption of natural gas for heating the feeding water. As for program A, the  $CO_2$  emissions maintain but the costs and the primary energy consumption decrease slightly, the main reason being that the electricity consumption in this program is higher and the gas consumption is lower than in the other tested programs, which means that the gas consumption does not have the same impact as in the other two tested programs. Hence, for the dishwashing machine working in program auto, at 45-65°C, the costs increase 23.4%, and, in the washing machine working in program at 40°C, they rise 82.5%.

The  $CO_2$  emissions raise until 60%, meaning that this methodology is worse environmentally and economically. The temperature loss in the water pipe between periods with no water consumption contributed to the loss of efficiency in the operation process. Since the electricity that was spent in heating the water by the appliances was determined, one can now dissert on the existence of a scenario that can achieve the same performance as these experiments, on what the temperature of the feeding water is concerned, but with a lower impact than natural gas combustion. Acknowledging such a system as e.g. a solar collector system for water heating, this could induce a reduction of electricity consumption during the washing cycles of 52% (0.33 kWh and 0.16 kgCO<sub>2</sub>e) and 89% (0.47 kWh and 0.22 kgCO<sub>2</sub>e), for the dishwashing and the washing machines, respectively.

This work succeeded in the experiment in four different appliances upon the application of consumption strategies that differ from their common operation. However, a more controlled environment should be set so that a proper quantification of the energy and costs balance between the scenarios can be undertaken. Experiments that tackle strategies such as the ones that were presented in this work are encouraged as these strategies can reveal lower energy and economic performances than the normal operating scenarios.

#### References

- [1] DGEG/IP-3E, Eficiência Energética em Equipamentos e Sistemas Eléctricos no Sector Residencial, April 2004
- [2] United Nations Energy Program. URL: <u>http://www.unep.org/sbci/AboutSBCI/Background.asp</u> (accessed in June 2013)
- [3] Kang, N. N., Cho, S. H., & Kim, J. T. (2012). The energy-saving effects of apartment residents' awareness and behavior. Energy and Buildings, 46, 112–122. doi:10.1016/j.enbuild.2011.10.039
- [4] European Commission. The EU and the energy package. <u>http://ec.europa.eu/</u> (accessed in June 2013)
- [5] CMVM (2011), Plano de compatibilização regulatória no âmbito do MIBEL Harmonização da metodologia de cálculo das tarifas de acesso às redes. Can be downloaded at: http://www.cmvm.pt/
- [6] Malaquias, J. L., Cegonho, N. (2010), *Telecontagem equipamentos de sensibilização e gestão de electricidade*. Presentation in Ponto de Encontro seminar Lisboa e-nova, Lisbon.
- [7] Persson, T. (2007). *Dishwasher and washing machine heated by a hot water circulation loop. Applied Thermal Engineering*, 27(1), 120–128. doi:10.1016/j.applthermaleng.2006.05.005
- [8] BOSCH KGN46A03 user's manual. Available at: <u>http://www.fridge-</u> manual.com/manuals/bosch/Bosch KGN 46A03.pdf (accessed in June 2013)
- [9] INDESIT R 28 user's manual
- [10] REN (2010). Electricity production data with a 1 hour resolution that was kindly provided by Rede Eléctrica Nacional
- [11] Weather Underground. URL: http://www.wunderground.com/ (accessed in June 2013)
- [12] Bjork, E. and Palm, B. (2005), Performance of a domestic refrigerator under influence of varied expansion device capacity, refrigerant charge and ambient temperature, Vol. 29, No. 5, pp. 789-798
- [13] BOSCH SMS40M02EU. URL: <u>http://www.bosch-home.pt/SMS40M02EU.html</u> (accessed in June 2013)
- [14] SIEMENS WM10E120EE. URL: <u>http://www.siemens-home.pt/WM10E120EE.html</u> (accessed in June 2013)
- [15] Portaria 519/2008 de 25 de Julho SGCIE. Diário da República No. 122 Série II
- [16] Cheng, C., Lee, M. and Lin, Y. (2006), *Empirical prediction method of transmission heat loss in hot water plumbing*, Vol. 38, No. 10, pp. 1220-1229
- [17] FERSIL (2011), Características dos tubos de PVC-U para acessórios de rosca gama TH
- [18] Shapiro, H. and Moran, M. (2006), *Fundamentals of Engineering Thermodynamics*.5th Ed., John Wiley & Sons Ltd, West Sussex, UK
- [19] EDP (2011), "Tarifas e horários", available at: http://www.edpsu.pt/
# Innovative add-on to the home energy management system for residential swimming pool energy efficiency

Pedro Adão<sup>1</sup>, António Coutinho<sup>1</sup>, Pedro Geirinhas Rocha<sup>1</sup>

# <sup>1</sup> EDP Comercial SA

# Abstract

Most of the existing private swimming pools were built before the present trend of energy efficiency had come into mainstream, many times with inefficient hydraulic circuits. This is an important factor in the fact that swimming pool energy consumption represents a significant share in the overall consumption of houses that have pools, and very frequently is considerably higher than necessary.

The energy consumers in a swimming pool are filtration, filter backwashing, lighting, water features, cleaners, automatic chemical balance equipments and heating systems.

Energy consumption of swimming pools became evident in developed countries where a large number of pools are installed. Hence a number of measures, such as scheduling, efficient motors, multiple and variable speed motors, and improved pool building regulations were introduced and on some countries were made mandatory.

In Portugal most pools are not heated, and hence the main pool energy consumption is the filtration. To reduce the energy consumption in filtration scheduling can be utilized without changes on the hydraulic circuit. Replacing specific equipments, such as filters, pumps and motors is normally applied only when the concerned equipments fail. And changes on the hydraulic layout of the system, such as pipe diameter and reduction of localized pressures losses, are generally only economic in the construction phase.

One of the biggest and easiest energy savings potential is related with scheduling of the filtration system. An innovative control of swimming pool equipment has been designed, that uses information gathered though weather information services to optimize the pool energy consumption, allowing very significant energy savings.

The system will be an add-on to the home energy management system, and will provide, through smart phone, tablet and PC, information to the owner about the pool energy consumption, forecasting and alarms. The user will also be able to interact with the system to optimize savings.

# Typical residential swimming pool energy consumption

Most of the existing private swimming pools were built before the present trend of energy efficiency had come into mainstream.

In countries with less developed swimming pool markets the construction and equipment standards are not sufficient to result in energy efficient pool construction. As a result many pools were built in an energy inefficient layout, in particular with inefficient hydraulic circuits and equipments.

Also sometimes there is inadequate knowledge on how to maintain a pool lacking, and pool maintenance is frequently subcontracted at a fixed rate. This results frequently in exaggerated preventive practices of filtration that excessively safeguard the pool water quality, at the expense of waste of energy.

This is an important factor in the fact that swimming pool energy consumption represents a significant share in the overall consumption of houses that have pools, and is frequently considerably higher than necessary.

Energy consumption of swimming pools became evident in countries with higher living standard where a large number of pools are installed. Hence in regions like for example the United States of America, Australia and to a lesser extent also in Europe, a number of measures, such as scheduling, efficient motors, multiple and variable speed motors, and improved pool building regulations are introduced and some of them made mandatory. [1][2][3]

The main energy consumers in residential swimming pools are identified in the following table.

Consumer	Description
Lighting	In most pools this is a reduced yearly energy usage due to the relatively low number of hours of utilization per year.
Water features and SPAS	Typically a low number of hours per year of utilization. In the case of high power booster pumps usage then the energy consumption will be more significant.
Filtration pump work	This is typically the majority of the energy consumption of unheated pools. Typically consisting of a large number of hours per day of pumping.
Heating	This can be done through heat pump, solar thermal and boilers. In a heated pool will frequently represent the major energy consumption, depending on the heating season duration.
Cleaning equipments, water quality equipments and filter cleaning	This includes vacuum cleaners of pool bottom and walls, which may be driven by the filtration pump on suction or pressure side, or may be a standalone electric system. The operation may be done manually, of by an automatic equipment that roams in the pool for a determinate period. The pressure side cleaners using booster pumps are more energy intensive than the other alternatives.
	Other, relatively small, energy consumers are the water chemical balance automatic equipments. These include chlorinators, PH balancing and other chemical dispensers.
	The filter backwashing in the case of sand, diatomaceous earth and zeolite filters also consumes energy, although the yearly amount is quite small when compared for example with the regular filtration energy usage.

Table 1: Main energy consumers in residential swimming pools

# Potential for energy efficiency

### Lighting

There is potential for energy efficiency, but the relatively low consumption and low number of yearly operation hours results in a moderate improvement potential.

#### Water features and SPAS

The potential of saving is very site and behavior specific. The first thing to do is to minimize the yearly number of hours of usage of these features. If the total yearly usage time is small then the driver for equipment changes for energy efficiency will be small.

#### Heating

Depending on the present setup and yearly heating utilization there may be significant energy efficiency potential. This can be addressed namely through pool covers, renewable energy using solar thermal, or efficient heating systems such as heat pumps.

#### Cleaning equipments, water quality equipments and filter cleaning

Some savings can be achieved changing the vacuum cleaner, in particular if the present cleaner uses a booster pump. A standalone electric cleaner may be the most energy efficient, although is a comparatively costly investment.

The automatic water balance equipments represent an overall low consumption.

Filter backwashing based on pressure reading rather than scheduling can eventually reduce this consumption.

#### **Filtration pump**

To reduce the energy consumption in filtration several options are available, which are described in the following table.

# Table 2: Possibilities for filtration pump energy consumption reduction

Area	Description
Duration and moment of filtration	Changes to the duration and moment of pumping can be utilized without changes on the hydraulic circuit. Some studies, in particular one in which about 100 pools were monitored during 2 years in Florida [4], challenge some concepts that are generally considered as good practices. For example the necessity of a minimum of one turnover per day, the need of 6-8h of pumping per day, the role of pumping in chemical dissemination through the pool, among others.
Reduce pressure drop by changing filters	Replacing filters by larger filters with lower pressure drop can sometimes be done, depending on the pump curve and the present operation point. For the same flow rate there would be a decreased pressure drop across the filter which would result in lower energy consumption. But this may result, in a single speed pump, in a higher flow rate, and the overall consumption may be higher as a result (see Figure 1). So this may result in higher energy consumption without changing the pump. Hence a pump change may be also necessary, which will result in an overall significant investment. As a result this will normally not be done except in new pools or when involved components fail. To adopt a filter with higher pressure drop may result in ineffective filtration, assuming the present filter is appropriate for the pool needs.
Replace pumps and motors	This is normally applied only when the concerned equipments fail. Hence measures such as efficient motors, multiple and variable speed pumps, apply mostly to pump replacement and new pools.
Changes to the hydraulic setup	Significant changes to the hydraulic layout of the system, such as pipe diameter and reduction of localized pressures losses, are generally only economic in the construction phase.



Figure 1: Sample pump curves

### The case of Portugal

In Portugal most pools are not heated, and hence the main pool energy consumption is the filtration pump.

According to our initial research it is not infrequent that pool pumps are run by a factor of 2 or more above the necessary to maintain water quality, being sometimes the larger isolated electricity consumer in a household [4] [5] [6].

# Pool filtration and water quality

#### Main functions of pool filtration

The filtration pump activation has the following main effects on the pool:

- Collects debris suspended in the water near the surface (contaminants less dense that water or that fell in the water recently)
- Collects in a very limited way sunken debris the suction of water through the bottom drain does not collect the majority of the debris that were already deposited in the bottom of the pool (which is what happens to the debris that are not on the water surface in case there is no significant agitation of the water (like swimmers).
- During or shortly after a scrubbing of the walls or floor collects the suspended debris.
- During vacuum cleaning with equipments that use the pool pump as a driver it collects the debris through the cleaning equipment.
- In case there is automatic chemical balance equipment (like chlorinators, PH balance, etc) that depend on the pool pump to operate efficiently (typically these are placed in the filtration circuit piping) the activation of the pump is necessary with a sufficient flow and duration that allow appropriate operation.

If an adequate level of filtration is ensured, additional running of the pump will not result in perceptible water quality improvement and is not the main factor to reduce the formation of algae - chemical treatment and scrubbing are more important than filtration. The algae formation occurs even if the filtration is run 24 hours per day. The way to reduce algae formation is to maintain the chemical parameters of the water in the correct range and perform physical cleaning (vacuum cleaning, scrubbing of floor and walls). [4] [6]

#### Pool contaminants and relation with climate

The following table identifies the most relevant pool contaminants and their relation with the weather conditions.

Table 3: Pool	contaminants	and relation	with climate
---------------	--------------	--------------	--------------

Contaminant	Relation with climate		
Swimmers – introduce lotions,	Higher pool occupation coincides with higher ambient		
perfumes, dead cells, detergents,	temperatures and solar radiation availability. In cold		
urine, sweat, transported dirt in the	weather there are generally no swimmers in unheated		
feet, etc	pools.		
Debris from natural surroundings –	Depends mostly on natural surroundings and the		
tree leaves, pollens, insects,	distribution along the year is variable. The usage of a		
contaminants resulting from storms,	pool cover minimizes these contaminants.		
dust, etc.			
Wear of the pool walls and bottom.	Some pool materials result in a mineral contamination of		
	the water that affects the PH.		
Algae and bacteria growth	Depends mostly on 4 factors: temperature, availability of		
	solar radiation, already existing base population of algae		
	and bacteria and the composition of the water. Rapid		
	growth can occur in warm months.		

# Optimized filtration by add-on to energy management system

The optimization of the pool consumption described in this paper is designed as an add-on to an existing energy management system. The already existing energy management system should have the ability of collecting energy consumption data, store it and make it available to the home owner. Furthermore it should have the capability of switching on and off electrical loads. The user interface of such existing energy management system should ideally be through smart phone, tablet and PC and have alarm, report and user interaction capabilities. For this, data storage in a remote server and communications are required.

As an add-on to such system, the pool consumption optimization will run as a process in the same hardware of the energy management system, and will have access to the capabilities already built in it, described above. Additionally the necessary modifications is the existing electrical connections to the swimming pool pump have to be made to allow switching on and off by the energy management system.

As seen in previous sections one of the biggest and easiest energy savings potential in existing residential pools is related with the amount and the moment of pumping of the filtration system, and there is scope for significant energy savings to be provided. Following the information of previous sections a baseline for pump running hours per day can be calculated based on these factors:

- ambient temperature (or as alternative, water temperature)
- solar irradiation
- if pool is covered or not
- pool occupation/usage

Using the mentioned resources of the energy management system, the add-on will have access to the actual pool energy consumption. It will also have the possibility of acquiring weather data from a central server or weather services. And will be able to share the user interface for data reporting.

And will also, through the same interface, be able to interact with the owner to receive feedback and configuration by the home owner, in order to optimize water quality and savings. For example the user can inform that the pool will be unused for the weekend and it is covered. Or, on the other hand, that additional cleaning is needed in one particular day, for example when inviting several friends. Specific instructions can trigger special pumping modes cases, for example, in the event of algae boom extra pumping will be needed for some time during and after the chemical and physical treatments.

The specific pumping needs are very site specific [4] [7], and hence a number of calibrations for each pool have to be made based on several factors, which will be done by collecting information from the user on an initial setup, for example:

- Pool volume
- Pump capacity
- Piping diameter
- Existing filter
- Natural surroundings
- Pool materials
- Pool usage

Then, based on variables and feedbacks mentioned the pool energy efficiency add-on will calculate an optimum running time for the pump each day. And will also determine in which times of the day these energy consumptions will take place, taking in consideration the electricity cost along the day, to ensure minimal energy costs

### Example

Considering one real case of a 92 m<sup>3</sup>, uncovered swimming pool in the region of Évora, with a 1,3 kW single speed pump that provides around 21 m<sup>3</sup>/h, it would take about 4,4 hours to make one full pool volume turnover.

Let us assume a not uncommon scenario in Portugal of a timed circulation pump, that is adjusted twice a year. In the winter months runs 4 hours per day, 2,5 of which in the low electricity tariff. In June the timer is adjusted to Summer mode and remains there for 5 months, running 7 hours per day, 3 of which in the low tariff.

Considering 0,097 €/kWh in the low tariff (taxes included) and 0,185 €/kWh in the rest of the day, a pumping cost of 349 €/year is found.

The pool efficiency add-on would calculate with daily temperatures and solar irradiation a necessary pumping. Figure 2 presents a sample result for Évora, for pool similar to the one used in this example. Of course the actual needs depend on several factors and specific calibration will be needed.



### Figure 2: Sample of yearly original and optimized pumping profile for uncovered pool

This optimized profile results in 50% of previous turnover in the coldest days of the year and a very significant reduction in many of the days previously fitted in the general "Summer setup" season. This is made possible by the effortless daily adjustment of the pumping needs, instead of adopting an high, preventive, pumping profile because there is no practical means of making constant changes. On the other hand by scheduling the energy consumption mainly to low tariff periods maximum savings are possible.



### Figure 3: Yearly energy savings and simple system payback

The specific pumping needs are very site specific [4] [8], and hence a number of calibrations for each pool have to be made based on several factors, including:

- Pool volume
- Pump capacity
- Piping diameter
- Existing filter
- Natural surroundings
- Pool materials
- Pool usage

One of the advantages of this approach to energy efficiency is that it can be applied to most existing pools with minimum intervention in the present layout and without changing equipments or piping.

# Conclusions

Swimming pool energy consumption represents a significant share in the overall consumption of houses that have pools, and is frequently considerably higher than necessary.

One of the biggest and easiest energy savings potential in existing residential pools is related with the amount and the moment of pumping of the filtration system, and there is scope for large energy savings to be provided by a pool filtration control that correlates weather data, pool occupation and pool cover utilization.

An innovative control of swimming pool equipment has been designed that uses this information, including data collected through weather services to optimize the pool energy consumption, allowing very significant energy savings.

The system will be an add-on to the home energy management system, and will provide, through smart phone, tablet and PC, information to the owner about the pool energy consumption, forecasting and alarms. The user will also be able to interact with the system to optimize savings.

One of the advantages of this approach to energy efficiency is that it can be applied to most existing pools with minimum intervention in the present layout and without changing equipments or piping.

Hence it can be easily fitted to existing pools, with low initial cost.

# References

References (Use "normal" style or Arial 10 justified here)

- [1] European Union of Swimming Pool and SPA Associations (EUSA)
- [2] National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL), U.S. Department of Energy
- [3] E3 Program (Australia and New Zealand)
- [4] Messenger & Hayes. *Swimming Pool Circulation System Energy Efficiency Optimization Study*, Florida Atlantic University (USA), 1984.
- [5] Measure Guideline: Replacing Single-Speed Pool Pumps with Variable Speed Pumps for Energy Savings, US Department of Energy (USA), May 2012
- [6] Jeremy Rivera, Chris Calwell, Laura Moorefield, *Synergies in Swimming Pool Efficiency, How Much can be Saved*, Ecos consulting, prepared for Noah Horowitz, Natural Resources Defense Council Sr. Scientist, March 2008
- [7] Building a Safer Florida and University of Florida's Program for Resource Efficient Communities, *Residential Swimming Pool Efficiency*, Florida Department of Community Affairs (USA), May 2006

# Are German consumers using their dishwashers in an energyefficient way? An online study of German households.

# Sandra Bichler, Susanne Gorny, Rainer Stamminger

# Bonn University, Institute of Agricultural Engineering, Household and Appliance Technology Section, Bonn, Germany

# Abstract

The implementation of the *Energy transition* in Germany constitutes a big challenge over the next few years. Within the changeover, 80-95% of greenhouse gas emissions should be saved up to 2050, for example, by increasing the usage of regenerative energy. However, end-users especially have to bear the costs of changing fossil fuels to renewable energy resources.

As a consequence, certain German politicians propose free energy consulting services for all private households. Nevertheless, an assessment of concrete usage patterns and reasons for certain consumer habits for every kind of residential appliance is essential for more detailed energy-saving advice particularly about using household appliances. Therefore, this study aims to investigate the usage of automatic dishwashers in detail by investigating the programme availability and choice, and the pretreatment of dishes. First and foremost, consumers' experiences of using various dishwashing programmes should provide information about improving the potential of optimising programmes technically, and also change the usage behaviour towards a more energy-efficient way of operating automatic dishwashers.

Data from 4002 German households were collected within the framework of an online study in December 2011. The participating households were selected by the representative distribution of age groups and the size of households in Germany. A standardised questionnaire about the dishwashers used and the way of operating the appliances were filled out via internet.

The results show a great variety of consumer habits. Nevertheless, the analysis also shows that 50% of households which have an automatic or eco-/label programme used it often or always, whereas the intensive programme is used by only 15%. In spite of the high share of eco-/label and automatic programme users, 30% indicated pre-rinsing or washing up their pots and pans by hand, which is also an energy consuming process. For those reasons, energy saving potentials have to be identified for the whole washing-up procedure.

# Introduction

Within the framework of the so-called *Energy transition*, an increasing usage of renewable resources, such as wind, solar power or photo-voltaic systems, should help to decrease 80-95% of the greenhouse gas emissions in Germany up to 2050. [1] Nevertheless, end-users will have to finance the costs of the expansion of using regenerative energy. Leading German politicians are striving for the implementation of free energy consulting services for end-users. [2] Therefore, saving electricity will be a major challenge for private households over the next few decades.

In 2010 the proportion of private households measured by the end-use energy consumption amounts to 29% of the total energy consumption of Germany. [3] Of this 29%, roughly 6% [4] is consumed by using automatic dishwashers. However, the use of automatic dishwashers lowers the resource consumption in comparison to washing up the dishes by hand. [5]

The market saturation of automatic dishwashers in Germany currently amounts to 67.0%. [6] Approximately 25 million dishwashers are in use, based on about 36 million private households.

Life Cycle Assessments have shown that most of the environmental impacts within the life cycle of automatic dishwashers arise from the use phase, which presents the most consumer-relevant phase. [7]

Studies were carried out to uncover existing saving potentials to investigate the use-phase or rather the consumer habits in cleaning dishes. The dishwasher programmes used by consumers often indicate the use of normal or intensive programmes and fewer eco-/label programmes. Furthermore, only 13% of households with dishwashers load everything into the dishwasher and do not wash up any of their dishes by hand. The other users use additional water and energy by cleaning their dishes by hand, for example, under running tap water instead of using the automatic dishwasher. [8] Other studies found out that pots and pans are more often cleaned by hand than in the dishwasher. [9]

The aim of the online-study presented is to answer the question if German consumers are able to use their automatic dishwashers in an energy-efficient way. In the case of identifying inefficient habits in handling the washing of dishes in private households, energy saving potentials should be derived.

# Material and Methodology

A total of 4002 private households in Germany were asked about their dish washing treatment and usage habits of their automatic dishwashers within the framework of a web-based study. The participants had to fill in an online questionnaire containing questions about different aspects relating to dishwashing in their private homes, e.g. type of dishwasher, dishwasher programmes (availability, programme choice), reasons for selecting specific programmes, and the pretreatment of their dirty dishes.

The following requirements for participation in this study were defined:

- 1. Households should possess and use an automatic dishwasher frequently.
- 2. The age of the dishwasher should not exceed 11 years (European Union energy label has to be introduced to guarantee the availability of an eco-/label programme or EN 50242 [10] programme, respectively)
- 3. Quotas of the first digit of the German postal code, the households' size and age groups were given according to current EUROSTAT Data. [11]

A control question ("*How often do you use your dishwasher per week?*") was asked twice in order to obtain reliable data from the respondents. In a following step, people whose indications differed substantially were not included in the analysis. Consequently, a panel of 3836 households was taken into account in the final data analysis.

# **Results and Discussion**

### Demography of the participants

The distribution of the demographical data – gender, age groups and size of households – is presented in Table 1.

It is noticeable that the distribution of age groups and household size in the panel surveyed corresponds well with the current distribution in the German population. For that reason, the panel investigated gives a realistic reflection of the population.

#### Table 1: Demographical data of the respondents (n = 3836)

Demographic characteristics	Number of respondents (%)
Gender (n = 3836)	
Female	2036 (53.1)
Male	1800 (46.9)
Age group (n = 3836 )	
20-39	1480 (38.6)
40-59	1475 (38.5)
60-74	881 (23.0)

Size of household (n = 3836)	
1 person	654 (17.0)
2 people	1477 (38.5)
3 people	804 (21.0)
4 people	630 (16.4)
5 people or more	271 (7.1)

#### Programme availability and choice

The most relevant impact factor on the energy consumption of automatic dishwashers is constituted by the programme selected. Therefore, a central issue within the framework of the study was the programme availability and, consequently, the programme choice consumers' made. In a first step, the respondents were asked which programmes are available on their dishwasher.



# Figure 1: Available programmes of the automatic dishwashers in the participants' households (n = 3836, yes/no question for each kind of programme)

Figure 1 presents the percentages of programmes available – categorized into seven different programmes. Five of the seven programmes (intensive, eco-/label programme, quick, and both normal programmes) are available in 56.6 to 64.5% of the households questioned. The other programmes are less available. The delicate programme was indicated by 44.2% and the automatic programme by 39.0% of the respondents. However, it should be noted that the consumers themselves have decided which programme is available or not. That means there was no control of the machine types by reading a manual or asking an expert. Indeed, the low percentage of the eco-/label programme is doubtful. Relating to the requirements stated (age of the dishwasher < 11 years), the machines had to be marked with an energy label and must have had an eco-/label programme (standard test programme according to EN 50242). Reasons for this discrepancy could be inattentive consumers, on the one hand, and the programme name not being clearly identifiable or ambiguous for the user, on the other hand.

The participants were next asked which of the available programmes they frequently used. The answers should be given on an ordinal scale (never, rarely, sometimes, often, always). The results are shown in Figure 2. Roughly 50% of the households use an eco-/label, automatic or a normal 50-55°C programme often or always. Nevertheless, a considerable share of 15% of the participants

chooses the intensive programme and almost 20% use the quick programme often or always. This data reveals that every programme is used on an everyday life basis by most private households. Even intensive and quick programmes are used very often by some consumers.



Figure 2: Frequency of use of the programmes available (*How often do you use this programme?*)

### Reasons for using specific programmes

Besides the frequency of using the dishwasher programmes available, the precise reasons for the programme choice reveals tendencies of the current consumer knowledge of energy-efficient dishwashing.

Predefined statements were given to the respondents to find out why people choose their specific dishwasher programme. The respondents had to decide if they agreed or disagreed with each statement. Only households which have the programmes and additionally use the specific programme at least rarely were asked.

Over 75% of the households agree with the statement that pots and pans get clean in the intensive programme, at the same time, not even 20% of them believe that using intensive programmes lead to savings of energy and water (Figure 3). Therefore, it seems to be known that intensive programmes have high resource consumption, but nonetheless, these programmes have also a high cleaning result. Similar results were found regarding the normal 60-65°C programme. In case of a high soil level and baked-on residues e.g. on a casserole dish the intensive programme is an efficient solution to receive a satisfying cleaning result.

Relating to the eco-/label programme, the exact opposite is the case. Almost 80% of the households indicate that water and energy savings are possible by using the eco-/label programme, but only 40% think the programme is useful for cleaning heavily soiled items. The question is how consumers define a hard soil level on their dishes and if they connect energy-saving programmes or options relating to dishwashers or household appliances in general, with less efficiency. If the users do so, the function and purpose, as well as the efficiency of such energy saving programmes and options should be communicated in more detail and should be suitable to defined target groups. Nevertheless the



programme choice should depend on the soil level of the item. However, for normal soiled dishes the eco programme enables us to save water and energy most.

# Figure 3: Consumers' opinions about choosing specific programmes – *Do you agree with the given statements?* Yes, *I do.*

### **Pretreatment of dishes**

Not only the appliance itself makes a contribution to the energy consumption of dishwashing processes in households; even the pretreatment of dishes and the additional manual washing-up raise the resource consumption of cleaning the dishes.

To take all processes of dishwashing into account, the participants were asked if and how they pretreat especially heavily soiled and huge items, such as pots and pans, in detail (Figure 4). Statements about pretreatment were given and the participants should answer on an ordinal scale (never, rarely, sometimes, often, always).

It is remarkable that 30% of all participants pre-rinse their dishes often or always. Furthermore, 30% also clean their dishes manually in most cases. That means more water and energy is consumed which cannot be neglected by a holistic approach to investigate dishwashing in private homes with automatic dishwashers.

Nevertheless, a remarkable share of 25% indicates cleaning the dishes only in the dishwasher even if the items are heavily soiled.





# **Conclusion and Outlook**

An energy-efficient usage of household appliances, especially automatic dishwashers, requires a large variety of actions. The replacement of old devices and the installation of a warm water supply could be notable solutions to create optimal conditions for low resource consumption of automatic dishwashers. Nevertheless, the use-phase of a dishwasher makes up the biggest part of the resource consumption. Therefore, the consumers themselves have the greatest impact on the energy consumption of dishwashers.

The results of this study have shown a broad range of consumer habits and usage patterns relating to cleaning the dishes in households with automatic dishwashers. Every partial aspect analysed has revealed a group of consumers whose dishwashing habits could be improved, for example, by knowing the programmes available in more detail or using the eco-/label programme more often. The programme names, for example, should be clearer and the consumer should know for what kind of dishes and soil levels the programmes are designed. Furthermore, the results show that energy-saving programmes are often valued as inefficient regarding the cleaning results of pots and pans. The function and purpose as well as the efficiency of such energy-saving programmes and options should be communicated in more detail and more clearly, and should be suitable to defined target groups.

In addition to the resource consumption of the dishwasher, different treatments of the dirty dishes have to be taken into consideration. Pre-rinsing or even manual cleaning of pots and pans is practiced by one third of the whole panel. Here again, consumer information about changing the habits of pre-rinsing or manual washing-up of items is necessary.

The detailed usage and, first and foremost, the reasons why consumers use their dishwashers in the way indicated is being investigated in on-going studies. These investigations will focus on the usage of eco-/label programmes and will include additional aspects, such as pre-rinsing and manual washing-up behaviour in households with automatic dishwashers.

# Acknowledgements

This work was supported by Henkel AG & Co. KGaA and Miele & Cie. KG.

# References

- [1] Bundesministerium für Umwelt 2012, Naturschutz und Reaktorsicherheit, *Fragen und Antworten zur Energiewende*, Can be ordered from: <u>http://www.bmu.de/themen/klima-</u> <u>energie/energiewende/fragen-und-antworten/allgemeines/#c1</u> (21.03.2013)
- [2] Tagesschau 2012, *Altmeier ergreit die Stromsparinitiative*, Can be ordererd from: <u>http://www.tagesschau.de/inland/energieberatung104.html</u> (09.10.2012)
- [3] Umweltbundesamt 2012, Endenergieverbrauch nach Energieträgern und Sektoren, Can be ordered from: <u>http://www.umweltbundesamt-daten-zur-</u> umwelt.de/umweltdaten/public/theme.do?nodeldent=5978 (21.03.2013)
- [4] EnergieAgentur NRW 2011, Erhebung "Wo im Haushalt bleibt der Strom?" http://www.energieagentur.nrw.de/\_database/\_data/datainfopool/erhebung\_wo\_bleibt\_der\_stro m.pdf (21.03.2012)
- [5] Richter, C.P. 2011, Usage of dishwashers: observation of consumer habits in domestic environment, Int J Consum Stud 35:180-186.
- [6] Statistisches Bundesamt 2013, Ausstattung privater Haushalte mit elektrischen Haushalts- und sonstigen Geräten – Deutschland 2013, Can be ordered from: <u>https://www.destatis.de/DE/ZahlenFakten/GesellschaftStaat/EinkommenKonsumLebensbeding</u> <u>ungen/AusstattungGebrauchsguetern/Tabellen/Haushaltsgeraete D.html</u> (21.03.2012)
- [7] Presutto, M. et al 2007: "*Preparatory Studies for Eco-Design Requirements of EuP, LOT 14: Domestic Washing Machines and Dishwashers*" Task 5, p. 49.
- [8] Richter, C.P. 2011, Automatic dishwashers: efficient machines or less consumer habits? IJCS Int J Consum Stud 34:228-234.
- [9] Stamminger, R., Streichardt, C. 2009, *Selected Aspects of Consumer Behaviour in the Manual and Mechanical Dishwashing*, SÖFW-Journal, 135, 11-2009.
- [10] EN 50242/EN 60436:2008. Electric *Dishwashers for Household Use Methods for Measuring the Performance*. European Committee for Electrotechnical Standardization, Brussels.
- [11] EUROSTAT, Can be ordered from: http://epp.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/portal/page/portal/eurostat/home

# Energy&Appliances 2015 project: a new approach for testing appliances with respect to end-users behaviour

P. Pistochini<sup>1</sup>, P. Zangheri<sup>1</sup>, S. Fumagalli<sup>1</sup>, M. Chiesa<sup>2</sup>, G. Bottani<sup>1</sup>, E. Gallo<sup>1</sup>, G. Leonardi<sup>1</sup>, V. Longoni<sup>1</sup>, D. Scarano<sup>1</sup>, V. Tarantini<sup>1</sup>, M. G. Villani<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> ENEA Ispra Research Laboratories, <sup>2</sup> University of Insubria (Dept. DISTA)

# Abstract

The paper will deal with the characterization of the market of household appliances with particular attention to the role of the consumer in selecting the greatest eco-efficient products and to new requirements related to electronics.

Characteristic user profiles have been defined, based on literature data, laboratory experience and *ad hoc* investigations at national and local level with deep analysis of the main parameters such as dimensions and type of families, type of house, appliances in use, use habits, consciousness and sensitiveness about aspects concerning the environment protection and the rational use of energy, perception of the user about economic aspects, information for improving the service given by appliances.

New testing procedures have been determined and tests have been performed on "standard" appliances and they are in progress on the improved, more efficient ones. The paper will show in particular the testing results for refrigerator-freezers.

### Introduction

In the framework of "Industry 2015 Energy Efficiency", funded by the Ministry of Economic Development - Area Technology B5.1 "Innovative technologies for the production of high efficiency appliances, with reduced environmental impact throughout the lifecycle in terms of reuse of materials also including the ease of assembly and disassembly", the project Energy&Appliances 2015<sup>1</sup> aims at creating of a family of highly innovative appliances, characterized by the use of materials and technology which so far have never been applied to the reference sector. These may greatly reduce energy consumption and environmental impact of their own, even at disposal and recycling. The main objective of the project is to develop a range of appliances within three years, characterized by a considerable reduction in consumption of energy and water, through the implementation of specific evidence. The various steps involved in the large enterprises, SMEs, research institutes, is located around the centers of Italian excellence ensuring access to skills necessary to consolidate the new solutions through research, validation, regulatory law and technological transfer.

In developing the project, across all product lines, the following main areas will be investigated:

- Innovative materials for improving energy efficiency and reducing environmental impact;
- Innovative technologies for cleaning clothes and dishes;
- Innovative technologies for the preparation and storage of food;
- Innovative Electronic Technologies (sensors, control logic, user interfaces);
- New methods for the qualification and certification of the products.

To achieve the objectives of the project, there are three main phases to be developed over the total duration: research on all macro-areas in order to demonstrate the potential applicability of the solutions through the development of prototype pre-engineered demonstrators (pre-technical,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> www.energyappliances2015.it

technological and economic); the final realization of demonstrators, including some most promising solutions, after verification of the technical, technological and economic aspects. The final phase involves energy impact analysis including product certification.

The EU energy label is designed to provide consumers with accurate, recognizable and comparable information on domestic household products regarding energy consumption, performance and other essential characteristics. It allows consumers to identify how energy efficient a product actually is and to assess a product's potential to reduce energy costs. The label is uniform for all products in a given category. Consumers can compare easily the characteristics of appliances in a given category such as energy or water consumption, or capacity. All the information the label contains is based on test standards prescribed in the European Legislation. The label initially classified products from A to G, A being the most efficient energy class and G the least efficient. The freshly revised European legislation introduces classes up to A+++ to adapt to technological developments and to allow further product differentiation in terms of energy efficiency.

New labels takes into account the state of art of the market, but also is more linked with user habits; this process is at different stages of implementation, depending on the different appliances. E.g., for Washing machines, the label no longer includes a washing performance class as an A class washing performance is mandatory for all washing machines with a washing efficiency class greater than 3 kg. Annual energy consumption is in kWh (no longer per cycle), and the annual energy & water consumptions, and the spin-drying efficiency class indicated on the label, are calculated on the basis of: 60°C cotton programme at full and partial load, 40°C cotton programme at partial load, Left-on mode and in off-mode. This choice comes from the analysis of user's habits. while in the past the high-temperature cotton cycle was the reference cycle, today people uses washing machines with a number of loads and prefers lower temperatures; furthermore, the actual washing machines include a lot of electronic devices – i.e. additional energy consumption - which operate also when no washing cycle is active.

Standards themselves are periodically reviewed, to take into account technological changes. For refrigerating appliances, the standard energy consumption is related to a "static" (e.g. without door opening or load operations) situation in a relatively severe boundary conditions (ambient temperature). It is considered a good approximation of the mean European kitchen, where ambient temperature is lower than the reference one, and simplifies the testing procedure.

Nevertheless, it is important to investigate user habits and define new testing standards, aimed to be more and more close to the real working conditions of appliances.

Moreover we observe that the standard conditions do not allow to exploit the energy saving potentials due to (new) technical solutions able to limit the air changes (by openings) within the cold compartments (e.g. some appliances switch on the controls immediately after each door opening, other appliances may use fuzzy logic or other devices to improve energy savings). This is the case of a new Indesit's prototype that ENEA will monitor in next few months, also defining *ad hoc* user schedules.

# Characterizing the market of household appliances and the user profiles

### General

To assess the effectiveness of the EU energy efficiency policy measures for household appliances on the national market an enquiry was developed by ENEA in the second half of 2010 to investigate the presence and the main energy efficiency and technical characteristics of the domestic appliances installed in the Italian households. The enquiry was developed in the framework of the Agreement between ENEA and the Italian Ministry for Sustainable Development [1].

The enquiry was realised through an on-line Questionnaire. It included questions with closed answers and was designed to last no more than about 20 minutes. The content of the questions was prepared by ENEA while the questionnaire layout and adaptation to the on-line environment and collection of the answers was done by the society ODC Services, a firm specialized in on-line interviews with a panel of 425.000 households in Europe. Among those having answered to the Questionnaire, and therefore owning a PC and able to use Internet, a sample of 3 000 answers was selected.

Within the participation in the Energy&Appliances 2015 project the Ispra Working Group of ENEA has promoted a monitoring campaign in the domestic and European context by involving the researchers of the European staff by the Commission DG JRC<sup>2</sup> of Ispra. JRC and ENEA have been collaborating in the promotion and implementation of their own researches especially in the energy sector within Memorandum of Understanding ENEA-JRC. The Institute for Energy and Transport - Renewable Energy Unit, the External Relations and the Green Team have supported this initiative.

Starting from a survey launched by ENEA in 2010, the questionnaire was revised focusing on the new target and the household appliances object to the project, while adapting the relative questions to the new European legislation on energy efficiency. The 2012 questionnaire was written both in Italian and English languages and made available online thanks to the collaboration with the ICT Technical Unit of ENEA in Casaccia (Rome) and Saluggia (VC). The survey was launched by the involvement of the Green Team within the JRC.

In order to find some similarities between this survey 2012 within JRC Ispra and the previous one (2010) promoted within Italian families, it is necessary to point out that the questions are not completely comparable as they refer to different communities and they have been adapted to different occupation profiles: the first one is targeted to a standard Italian family and the other is composed of personnel working in JRC-Ispra, coming from countries of the European Union. The JRC researchers have a medium-high professional profiles, often live in the surrounding area of Ispra, in municipalities with different population groups, overall only during the work week, some in residence and are aged 18-54 years.

The 25 participants in the survey were invited to apply to the monitoring campaign of the use of three kind of appliances during a week. Therefore during the month of January 2012 a logbook was filled in by 9 families. In accordance with the Company Indesit, only fridge-freezers, washing machines and dishwashers have been included in this monitoring campaign. The sheet was arranged to get back general information about the appliances and a weekly report of the use of it.



Figure 1 - Age and gender of the respondents to the 2010 and 2012 surveys.

Referring to Fig. 1 showing age and gender it is important to point out that the ODC investigation received the largest number of responses raised from the South and Islands with 35,4%, followed by North West regions with 25,5%, Central Italy with 20,3% and North-East regions with 18,8%. Participants in the 2012 survey lived near Ispra but came from different EU Countries.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> <u>http://ec.europa.eu/dgs/jrc/index.cfme</u>

### Object of the survey 2012

The 2012 questionnaire was composed of two parts. The first section listed questions for private data of the compilers:

- Sex;
- Age;
- Nationality;
- Profession;
- Educational qualification;
- Composition of the family unit;
- Years of residence in Italy;
- Type of housing situation;
- Population of the town of residence;
- Types and quantity of household appliances own;
- Types and quantity of household appliances in wireless;
- Weekly use of the kitchen nook;
- % of energy consumption of the different appliances in the electric bill;
- Most energy consumers appliances;
- Relevance of the habits for energy savings;
- Behaviour of the family to save energy;
- Respect of the environment.

The second part, reported a new list of questions on the basis of the appliances used; in particular, for cold appliances (refrigerating and wine storage) we asked for:

- Volume (estimated and real);
- Age of the appliances (estimated or real);
- Type of installation;
- Type of cooling system;
- Use;
- Automatic defrost system and frequency of use;
- Refrigerator:
  - Presence and quantity of low temperature compartments (refrigerator);
  - Quantity of stars at the low temperature compartments (refrigerator);
- Freezer:
  - Type of loading door;
  - Type of cooling system;
  - Freezing of fresh food;
- Refrigerator-freezer:
  - Number of opening doors;
- Wine storage appliances:
  - Number of compartments at different temperatures;
  - Range of available variable temperatures;
  - Type of wine storage appliances.

Moreover additional questions (same for all types of appliances) were proposed about:

- Purchase through Governmental incentives;
- Noise level;
- Energy Efficiency Class;
- Knowledge of energy labelling;
- Use of Operating Manual;
- Usefulness of the Operating manual;
- Interpretability of commands;
- Criteria adopted for choosing a new appliance;
- Criteria adopted for the disposal of the old appliance;
- Comments on information provided by TV, internet, advertising materials.

During the monitoring campaign by logbook on the use of washing machine, dishwasher and cold appliances a list of information were asked. In particular, for refrigerator and freezer:

- Model and brank;
- Type of installation and location;
- Class of energy efficiency;
- Date of purchase (real or estimated);
- Dimension and volume;
- Equipment of devices (inner LED, humidity control, inner shelves, door pockets, fruit and vegetable drawers, tempered glass shelves, chill compartments);
- Cooling system;
- Controls (display and selector of program).

In the weekly diary the users were asked to report for each day their behaviours:

- Maintenance: cleaning of back of the appliance, of inner compartments and drawers for freezer and refrigerator respectively, cleaning of gasket.
- Daily actions: storage of cold food, freezer of fresh food, use of closed containers, storage of food according to different level of chill, number of opening.

#### **General results**

.

The following table lists 2010 and 2012 survey results, focusing only on appliances analysed in both surveys.

	Survey 2010	Survey 2012
Subject	Italian families	JRC community in Ispra
N. of questionnaire	3000 families out of 60,6 Mio of	25 families out of 1600
	citizens	researchers
Most owned appliances	Fridge-freezer or Fridge+freezer →	Fridge-freezer or Fridge+freezer
	100%	→ 100%
	Washing machine $\rightarrow$ 95.3%	Oven → 84%
	Oven → 94.4%	Washing machine $\rightarrow$ 84%
	Cooker $\rightarrow$ 86.6%	Dishwasher → 60%
	Dishwasher → 60%	
Household appliances	Washing machine $\rightarrow$ 20.6%	Oven → 18%
networking	Oven → 18.2%	Fridge-Freezer → 17%
	Fridge-Freezer → 15.3%	Dishwasher → 13%
	Dishwasher → 12.7%	Washing machine $\rightarrow$ 13%
	Cooker → 13.6%	Cooker → 9%
Use of cooker	More time each days $\rightarrow$ 66.3%	One time a day → 59%
	One time a day $\rightarrow$ 27.7%	More time each days $\rightarrow$ 36%
Incidence of appliances	More than 75% $\rightarrow$ 7.3%	More than 75% $\rightarrow$ 14%
consumption on own	Between 50% and 75% $\rightarrow$ 37.9%	Between 50% and 75% $\rightarrow$ 41%
energy bills	Between 20% and 50% $\rightarrow$ 46.2%	Between 20% and 50% $\rightarrow$ 27%
	Less than $20\% \rightarrow 8.7\%$	Less than 20% → 18%
Most energy consumer	Washing machine	Electric Oven
appliances	Electric Oven	Washing machine
	Dryer	Dryer
	Dishwasher	Fridge-freezer
	Fridge-freezer	Dishwasher
Relevance of habits for	Yes → 60.1%	Yes → 60%
saving energy	Enough → 39.6%	Enough $\rightarrow$ 32%
	Other $\rightarrow 0.3\%$	Other $\rightarrow$ 8%
Behaviour of the family	Adoption of common rules $\rightarrow$ 72.5%	Adoption of common rules $\rightarrow$ 72%
	Individual behaviour $\rightarrow$ 25.1%	Individual behaviour $\rightarrow$ 28%
Respect of environment	Enough → 60.5%	Enough → 59%

able 1 – Sharp look at owners	p and remarks to household	appliances (2010-2012 surveys)
-------------------------------	----------------------------	--------------------------------

	Always $\rightarrow$ 32.6%	Always $\rightarrow$ 41%
	Sometimes → 6%	,
	Low $\rightarrow 0.9\%$	
Knowledge of the	Yes → 35.7%	Yes → 97%
energy labelling	$No \rightarrow 34.5\%$	$No \rightarrow 3\%$
	I have heard $\rightarrow$ 29.8%	
Purchase incentivated	Refrigerators – No $\rightarrow$ 33%	Refrigerators – No $\rightarrow$ 63%
by tax allowance <sup>3</sup>	Fridge-Freezer – No → 62.3%	Fridge-Freezer – No → 61%
-	Freezer – No $\rightarrow$ 34%	Freezer – No → 89%
Higher level of noise	Washing machine	Freezer
	Fridge-Freezer	Wash-dryer
	Refrigerators	Washing machine
	Freezer	Dishwasher
Consultation of	Often → 51.9%	Always → 32%
Operating Instructions	Always → 33.1%	Often → 32%
	Sometimes → 13.3%	Sometimes $\rightarrow$ 20%
	Almost never $\rightarrow$ 1.7%	Almost never → 16%
Remarks to Operating	Useful → 55.1%	Useful → 52%
instructions	Complex $\rightarrow$ 27.1%	Incomplete $\rightarrow$ 28%
	Incomplete $\rightarrow$ 21.6%	Exhaustive $\rightarrow$ 9%
	Easy → 9.4%	Complex $\rightarrow$ 8%
	Exhaustive → 5.6%	Easy $\rightarrow 3\%$
	Useless $\rightarrow$ 1.8%	Useless → 0%
Criteria for purchasing	Consumption	Consumption
a new appliance	Cost	Brand
	Brand	Cost
Disposal of the	Retailer	Retailer
replaced appliance	Garbage dump	Garbage dump
	Leave it to other person	Leave it to other person
Judgment on	Useful → 39%	Incomplete → 42%
information by media	Tendentious $\rightarrow$ 34%	Tendentious → 39%
	Incomplete $\rightarrow$ 11.3%	Useful → 11%
	Often false → 8.4%	Often false $\rightarrow$ 8%

In particular, we observed that:

- the vast majority of respondents judge themselves as people careful (very or fairly) to the energetic (92%-99%) and environmental (93%-100%) issues, implying that the nominal energy consumption of a new appliance is the most important criteria for purchasing;
- often (especially after purchase and until the useful programs are chosen) the respondents searching for information in the manuals, that they consider useful (52%-55%), but also incomplete (22%-28%) and complex (8%-27%);
- the information by media is often judged as tendentious or false (42%-47%) and incomplete (11%);
- the respondents of both samples did not recognize the cold appliances as the most energy consumer ones. Because, in general, the main household consumptions are due to these appliances [2] we impute these erroneous responses to an interesting misunderstanding

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In April 2010 the Italian Government issued a National decree promoting the replacement of dishwashers, electric ovens, hobs and other Household Appliances with energy labeling of the highest classes or more efficient ones. The incentives had been applied to buyers as a discount of 20% or reduction on price up to 2010. Even in the previous year a 20% tax deduction was issued for the purchase of low energy consumption appliances.

between energy and power, that don't allow a complete comprehension of the household energy consumptions.

### **Results about Cold appliances**

#### 2010-2012 surveys

The present paper will analyse in details only cold appliances. While considering the two surveys not comparable for the reasons mentioned before, an effort was made to find out their analogies.

# Table 2 – Sharp look at characteristics of the installed refrigerating appliances (2010-2012 surveys).

Question		Refrigerator		Refrigerator- freezer		Freezer		Wine storage appliance	
		2010	2012	2010	2012	2010	2012	2010	2012
	A++	15%	20%	18%	8%	13%	11%	13%	0%
Energy	A+	28%	20%	35%	33%	28%	11%	21%	100%
efficiency class	A	24%	40%	21%	25%	22%	56%	21%	0%
	don't know	25%	20%	20%	33%	26%	22%	40%	0%
	freestanding	51%	33%	62%	38%	82%	64%		
Installation	built-in	47%	67%	38%	62%	17%	36%	n.a.	n.a.
	other	2%	0%	0%	0%	1%	0%		
	static	30%	9%	20%	15%	36%	20%		
Cooling system	air- circulation	21%	9%	21%	15%	13%	0%	n.a.	n.a.
	no-frost	27%	18%	38%	31%	20%	10%		
	don't know	22%	64%	21%	38%	31%	70%		
	4-stars	0%	0%	100%		100% 0% 0%			n.a.
	3-stars	41%	14%	0%					
Low	2-stars	11%	14%	0%	<b>n</b> 0		n 0	n 0	
compartments	1-star	4%	15%	0%	n.a	0%	11. <b>a</b> .	II.d.	
•	0-star	8%	0%	0%		0%			
	don't know	37%	57%	0%		0%			
	combi			49%	42%			n.a.	n.a.
Number of	2 doors	n 0	<b>n</b> 0	45%	58%	<b>n</b> 0	n 0		
configuration	side-by-side	II.d	n.a	4%	0%	n.a	n.a.		
0	>2 doors			1%	0%				
Purchases with	No	89%	62%	88%	48%	91%	45%		
state	Yes	11%	38%	12%	52%	10%	55%	n.a.	n.a.
	No	78%	75%	80%	62%	70%	91%		
	Yes	18%	25%	16%	23%	12%	9%		
Noise	don't know	2%	0%	3%	0%	1%	0%	na	n.a.
	installed in another room	2%	0%	2%	15%	18%	0%	a.	
Average age	Years	6.8	5.5	6.0	5.3	6.5	4.5	5.3	

Average volume Litres	128.2	n.a.	159.2	201.7	129.1	89.4	n.a.	n.a.
-----------------------	-------	------	-------	-------	-------	------	------	------

In particular, we consider interesting to note that:

- on average, the most common energy class of cold appliances in use at home is A+, and class B and C are no longer represented unlike samples of period 2007-2008 [3]; the lower presence of appliances at the highest level of energy classes in 2012 is justified by the different sample analysed;
- many users do not know the energy class and the type of cooling system of their own cold appliances, as well the quantity of stars of the refrigerator units;
- the purchases with state incentives of the JRC Community (in 2012) result significantly higher (+30-35%) than the Italian ones in 2010;
- that the average age of cold appliances was reduced (from 6-7 years to 4.5-5.5 year) moving from national to local community (over the period 2010-2012).



Figure 2 – Sharp look at energy class of cold appliances (2010-2012 surveys).

As shown in Table 3 the survey 2012 aimed also at analysing the personal habits in the use of the appliances.

Table 3 – Personal habits	s in the use of the	e cold appliances	(Questionnaire 2012).

Question		
	always	6%
freezer of fresh food	often	50%
	sometimes	31%
	never	13%
use of freezer for fresh food	lower of the temperature of thermostat	0%
	use of fast freezer / super cool switch	27%
	neither of them	73%
automatic defrost	yes	43%
	no	57%

	once a month	0%
	once every 3 months	15%
defrost frequency	once every 6 months	23%
	once a year	54%
	never	8%

#### Monitoring activities by logbook 2012

All 9 participants have reported the brand of their appliances; only more than half of them reported the model.

All but one model was built-in, the other were self -standing, with freezer on the bottom. Most of them are in class A+ (45%), one in class A++. Bought in 2005 - 2011 with an average age of 4 years, all refrigerating appliances are in the kitchens.

All appliances are 2-5 shelves, 67% in tempered glass, have door pockets (75%), fruit and vegetable drawers (89%) and a fresh food compartment (50%). 56% of them do not have inner LED. The humidity control is installed in 38% of the refrigerators. Often the users do not know some features, over all inner LED (56%) and the humidity control device (25%).

	Inner LED	Humidity control	Door pockets	Fruit and vegetable drawers	Tempered glass shelves	Fresh compartments
Yes	22%	38%	75%	89%	67%	50%
No	56%	38%	13%	11%	22%	38%
Not known	22%	25%	13%	0%	11%	13%

Programs are selected by manual switch by 75% of users, the remaining 25% by touch control. 71% of the appliances do not have a display, while 29% has a LED display.

Elaborating the data of the logbook we obtained the results shown in Figure 3.



Figure 3 – Personal habits in the use of the cold appliances (Logbook 2012).

The form sheet of the weekly recordings shows that 40% of users do not freeze fresh food and the same percentage don't freeze ever. All users use airtight containers to store food, 78% of them on a daily base. Half of the users does not place the food into the specific cold level of the compartments, 22% performs this operation daily while 11% respectively 2 or 3 times a week. 10% of the users store hot food in the refrigerator for up to 4 times a week.

Cold appliances have been opened 512 times, with a weekly average per unit of 57 times and 8 times daily. Under item "other" a user reported the number of openings in the freezer, with an average of one day opening.

# Defining common user profiles for energy assessment

Starting from the data collected we defined new test procedures, able to consider standard user profiles unlike the standard methodologies (EN ISO 15502:2005 [4] and EN 153:2006 [5]) used to certify the cold appliances.

In general, the main factors that affect the energy consumption of a cold household appliance are:

- external air temperature (environment);
- air temperature within the unit (setting of thermostat);
- opening of doors (frequency and duration);
- inserting of loads (food or drink) and their temperature;
- proximity to other heat sources;
- ventilation conditions;
- condition of the seals.

Aware of this, we decided to set up a weekly user schedule for a family of 3 people, defined as follow:

 intermediate setting of the thermostats with respect to the two standard tests of energy consumption;

- opening of refrigerator and freezer doors during the day (Figure 4);insertion of thermal loads in the refrigerator, simulated by test packs and trays of water (Figure 5);
- insertion of thermal loads in the freezer, halved compared to standard tests (Figure 5);
- rotation of the loads in the fresh food compartment and freezer;
- freezing (with function super-freezing) of a mass equal to the freezing capacity declared (5 kg) once a week (on Wednesdays).



Figure 4 – Weekly user schedule.



Figure 5 – Thermal loads used within the refrigerator (a, b) and the freezer unit (c).

Setting different environmental air temperatures (19°C, 25°C and 32°C), several tests have been carried out on a testing appliance, obtaining the energy consumptions shown in the following table.

[k/M/b/dov]	Test 1	Test 2	Test 3
[KVVII/Gay]	T <sub>env</sub> = 25°C	T <sub>env</sub> = 19°C	T <sub>env</sub> = 32°C
Monday	1.45	1.12	2.08
Tuesday	1.45	1.16	2.10
Wednesday	1.71	1.50	2.24
Thursday	1.57	1.17	2.30
Friday	1.41	0.91	2.14
Saturday	1.17	0.89	1.84
Sunday	1.28	1.00	1.82
Daily average consumption	1.43	1.11	2.07
% difference respect the declared consumption	34%	4%	93%

Table 5 – Results obtained applying the new test procedure.

# Conclusion

Within the Energy&Appliances 2015 project, ENEA characterized the Italian market of household appliances and defined characteristic user profiles, also to evaluate the deviation between the real and the standard conditions now applied for energy certification.

Starting from the results of surveys here presented, some general recommendations can be provided:

- The contents of the manuals must be implemented, perhaps with an additional booklet for quick reference. However, it should contain all technical specifications of the appliance and practical tips to reduce energy consumption. Often the user has indicated a lack of knowledge of the requested information or adopted a more efficient use of the device.
- It would be more appropriate to carry out checks on the information transmitted by the media, having been judged often false and misleading, as required by the Framework Directive 2010/30/EC, as well as to perform more targeted and widespread information campaigns at sale's points by trade associations and independent third parties.

About the monitoring analysis carried out, we observe that the simplifying assumptions of standard measurement procedure have a small impact (-4%) only if a low ambient temperature (19°C) is considered applicable (e.g. freestanding appliances, away from other heat sources): the imposition of a high standard  $T_{env}$  (25°C) balances failure to consider door openings, thermal load insertions, freezing operations, etc.

# References

- [1] Villani M. G. Inchiesta su caratteristiche e utilizzo degli elettrodomestici del freddo, del lavaggio e della cottura da parte degli utenti finali. Report ENEA n. 317 (2011), Ricerca di sistema elettrico.
- [2] Grinden B., Feilberg N. *D10: Analysis of Monitoring Campaign in Europe*. Deliverable of REMODECE Project cofounded by IEE Programme. November 2008.
- [3] D9: Report with the results of the surveys based on questionnaires for all countries. Deliverable of REMODECE Project cofounded by IEE Programme. November 2008.

- [4] EN ISO 15502:2005. Household refrigerating appliances Characteristics and test methods. CEN.
- [5] EN 153:2006. Methods of measuring the energy consumption of electric mains operated household refrigerators, frozen food storage cabinets, food freezers and their combinations, together with associated characteristics. CEN.

# Consumer-relevant assessment of automatic dishwashing machines by a new testing procedure for 'automatic' programmes

# Anna Brückner, Rainer Stamminger

# University of Bonn, Department of Agricultural Engineering, Household and Appliance Technology Section

# Abstract

A new procedure for 'automatic' dishwasher programmes is developed and tested under laboratory conditions in comparison to the standard test programme (called Eco programme) to increase the comparative aspect of dishwasher testing and the consumer relevance of current dishwasher test standard EN 50242/EN 60436. It is assessed if the sensors in the 'automatic' programme are able to detect the current usage conditions and react adequately with varying amounts of load and soil. Due to the fact that consumers tend to underestimate the loading capacity of their dishwasher and that the amount of soil found in dishwashers at home is lower than in the standard, the new approach focuses on lower amounts of dishware and soil to be cleaned in a dishwasher using the "automatic" programme. Five different scenarios with one to three repetitions are tested and, while the highest level is a test with 100% of the rated loading capacity and soil, the amount is lowered until the machine is tested completely empty.

The comparison between the Eco and the 'automatic' programmes reveals big differences in the average consumption values, and also concerning the capability of the machine to adapt the programme course depending on the conditions applied. The results of the tests emphasise the importance of extending the test portfolio of household dishwashers and including the results of the 'automatic' programme test scenario onto the energy label. This would enhance the up to now limited information on dishwasher performance and consumption values due to testing only one programme with maximum load and soil. It is of great importance that the combination of low consumption and high performance values, which is essential for most consumers, is not only considered in the Eco programme, but also in the second most used 'automatic' programme under different consumer-relevant load and soil levels.

# Introduction

#### Environmental aspects concerning the use of household dishwashers

Food preparation and eating generate dirty dishes in every household, and these need to be cleaned either manually or in a dishwasher. Even though the market penetration of dishwashers differs from country to country with penetration levels up to 70%, the number of households owning a dishwasher is still increasing in all European countries. More than six million dishwashers are sold per year in EU [1]. Therefore, it is not surprising that the domestic dishwasher is one of the most intensively studied energy-consuming products, with the aim of reducing its electrical energy consumption [2]. The share of residential energy consumption which could be allocated to dishwashers in 2007 was 2,7%, which seems less in comparison to heating systems (18,7%) or cooling appliances (15,2%) but, nevertheless, leads to an annual energy consumption for household dishwashers of 21,5 TWh [1]. This high value emerges even though it was possible to reduce the average energy consumption of a dishwasher from 2,56 kWh per cycle in 1968 to 1,035 kWh per cycle in 2005, which means an improvement in energy efficiency of more than 50% [3]. A major reason for the significantly reduced energy consumption, along with enhanced technologies, is the reduction of water needed to clean the stated number place setting (ps) load in a modern dishwasher. Dishwashers are currently offered on the market which need 6,5 L of water and 0,93 kWh of energy to clean 13 place settings [4]. If new technologies, such as an automatic door-opening function or zeolite granules which rapidly adsorb moisture from dishes, are used, the dishwasher's electricity demand can be further reduced to values between 0,82 and 0,86 kWh [5]. If consumers are asked about the four most important aspects or features when purchasing a new white goods appliance, the research of Richter found that 83 % of the participating households are focused on buying a household appliance with low water and energy consumption [6].

Since the early 90ths the European Commission, as the driving force for the implementation of the Eco-Design and the Labelling Directive, is advancing those reductions through mandatory labeling. The labelling, first implemented by the Council Directive 92/75/EEC in 1992 requires informing the consumer about resource consumption and performance values of household appliances. The improvements induced through this and following measures can be seen in the fact that about 90% of the dishwashers in 2005 belonged to energy efficiency class A, and no devices were worse than class C, whereas only about 9% in 1999 were located in class A, and a third were worse than class C [2].

Since 2010 the commission regulation No. 1059/2010 describes the layout for the new dishwasher label and the values which have to be declared on the label and in the product data sheet. The label now depicts the energy efficiency of a dishwasher model using a system ranging from A+++ to D. It provides data on energy efficiency, annual energy and water consumption, drying performance, capacity, and airborne acoustic noise emission. Due to the fact, that the commission regulation No. 1016/2010 requires a minimum cleaning efficiency, the cleaning performance is no longer declared on the label. The values displayed on the label are measured in the standard programme for a normally soiled load, which is called 'Eco' programme [7]. The Eco programme is supposed to be the most energy efficient programme to clean normally soiled dishes. However, the definition of the term 'normally soiled dishes' has to be discussed, especially when consumer habits and usage conditions are taken into consideration. Only slightly soiled items could be cleaned at even lower consumption values if the machine reacts to them accordingly. Such an adaptation to the real usage conditions is often advertised for 'automatic' programmes, which are, to date, the second most frequently used programme, if available [8].

#### European dishwasher test standard EN 50242/EN 60436

The basis for the European Energy Label declaration of household dishwashers is the European Norm 'EN 50242/EN 60436: Electric dishwashers for household use: methods for measuring the performance' of 2008, which gives detailed instruction concerning cleaning and drying performance tests and the measurements of consumption values [9]. The EN 50242/EN 60436 is very similar to the international dishwasher test standard IEC 60436, but includes some necessary adjustments (e.g. more precise descriptions about soils to use or the drying of the load) for the EU labelling. Following this standard a well-defined amount of dishware is soiled with a well-defined quantity of soiling under standardised ambient conditions with specified water and room temperatures, humidity, water



pressure, and electricity supply (Figure 1).

# Figure 1: A 12 place setting load soiled according to the EN 50242/EN60436 [Source: own picture]

The capacity of a dishwasher is defined by the number of place settings it can hold. A place setting is a set of crockery, glassware and cutlery representing the amount of dishware used by one person. The majority of dishwashers are able to load at least 12 ps, i.e. 140 items. One of seven different types of soiling is applied to each item (except for the knives, teaspoons and dessertspoons), which amounts to a total soiling amount of 130 g. Either egg yolk, spinach, minced meat, milk, tea, oatflakes, or margarine is precisely specified and applied. The soiling is dried in a thermal cabinet for two hours at 80 °C after application. Afterwards, the dishes are placed into the test machines in accordance with the loading plan prescribed by the manufacturer. The test cycles are run in the Eco programme using detergent, while the consumption data is monitored. After the programme has ended, the cleaning performance of each item is visually evaluated with a cleaning performance scale ranging from 5 (free of stains) to 0 (full of stains). Either the soiled area or the number of discrete soil particles is assessed on each item. Subsequent to the cleaning performance evaluation, the drying performance is assessed in a separate cycle. Here the same programme is run with a clean load, detergent and rinse aid without measuring the consumption values. To assess the drying performance, the amount of water remaining on the dishes is evaluated visually with a scale from 2 (dry) to 0 (2 wet spots or more).

### Consumer behaviour versus European declaration and assessment conditions

Several studies have been conducted which directly or indirectly show that the conditions to test and classify a dishwasher are often different from the usage conditions in the households. A German study of 1999 revealed that the way of soiling the place settings described in the dishwasher test standard does not correspond to consumer reality because the amount of soiling is too high and some components (e.g. proteins) are over-emphasised [10].

According to Richter, the average number of dishes in European household dishwashers is more than 50% lower than in the dishwashing standard [11] and also the relative distribution of materials cleaned in a dishwasher is different. Regarding the dishware used, the consumer study from Zott showed that the loading behaviour and the style and shapes of the items used differ between the household and the test standard EN 50242 [12]. The authors were surprised by the variety of materials and the high number of plastic items found in consumers' dishwasher loads.

#### Sensors in household dishwashers

'Automatic' programmes in a dishwasher should adapt the programme structure to the conditions given. Those conditions may be determined through parameters such as the actual soil level, the materials used or the amount of load, and can be closely monitored by different sensors. The sensor signals serve as input data for control systems which transfer, process and analyse the signals and, due to circulation loops and fuzzy logic, adjust the control variables to achieve a good cleaning and drying result at lowest consumption values automatically [13]. The potential to utilise sensors in 'automatic' dishwashers is manifold and over the last years more and more sensors and microsystem devices are being used in household appliances [14]. Measuring the turbidity, or more precisely the optical transmittance and reflectance of the wash-water allows estimations about the water quality and the amount of soil dissolved in the fluid. While light-emitting diodes (LEDs) are used to emit the light, the radiation is often measured with photodiodes. In the course of turbidity measurements, parameters such as different wavelengths of emitted light, light polarisation, varying incidence angles of radiation, location of the sensors, different numbers of emitting or receiving sensors, and the frequency of measurements play an important role during the attempt to differentiate precisely between altering amounts and kinds of soil (e.g. small or large particles). The turbidity values measured at certain points in time are compared to data of known kinds and amounts of soils to optimise the programme cycle concerning water-changes, detergent dosage, programme duration, or selectable temperatures [15]. A further factor according to which the programme structure of a dishwasher could be adapted is the amount of load. The energy consumption of a dishwasher is influenced by the different heat intake capacities which depend on the amount of dishware and the material employed. Many different approaches are made to determine the amount and composition of dishware placed in the dishwasher. One possible method is the determination of the load-related change in thermal capacity of the actual dishwashing cycle. According to this concept, the heating up or cooling down rates of the wash-water are measured via temperature sensors and analysed. Large

loads change their temperature more slowly than small loads and, therefore, the temperature trend recorded of the wash fluid can be used as a measure for the load [16].

# Objective

For testing dishwashers, the environmental, the consumer-related and the comparative aspects have to be taken into consideration. But 'automatic' dish cleaning is a complex task, and the interactions have to be taken into consideration to combine high performance results with low consumption values. Several in-house studies have shown that many different amounts of load and soil and varying dishware shapes and materials occur in real life. By choosing 'automatic' programmes, the consumer may be disburdened from the task to choose the adequate programme for different types and amounts of dishes and different soiling levels but he still expects to get clean loads. Nevertheless, low consumption values are also requested by the consumer. To test this and to increase the differentiation between machines, a broader test portfolio for energy labeling may be useful, including tests of 'automatic' programmes. 'Automatic' programmes, which are most frequently used after the Eco programme, are today not included in labelling tests but manufacturers promise good results for all kinds and amounts of dishware at low energy and water consumption. If a scientifically sound test procedure for 'automatic' programmes with varying and consumer-relevant test conditions can be developed a more realistic real life energy and water consumption can be assessed.

Therefore this study aims to:

- Develop and verify a procedure to test the adaptation of 'automatic' programmes of dishwashers to varying amounts of soil and load to be cleaned.
- Compare the Eco and 'automatic' programmes of different dishwashers concerning their capability to deliver a good cleaning performance under fixed or varying conditions together with low consumption values.
- Present recommendations to increase the expressiveness of the current Energy Label and demonstrate means how the test portfolio for household dishwashers could be extended by including tests of 'automatic' programmes.

# **Material and Methods**

#### Laboratory conditions and measurement of consumption values

All tests are performed in the laboratory of the Household and Appliance Technology Section of the University of Bonn. The values for the ambient conditions and the water and electricity supply fulfill the requirements specified in the EN 50242/EN 60436 [9] and are recorded and assessed to guarantee that they lie within the given tolerances to obtain reliable results of the relevant performance and consumption values.

#### Machines and programmes tested

Four household dishwashers are used for the tests: machine 1 to machine 4. They are either labelled according to the 'old' labelling regulation 97/17/EC or according to the 'new' regulation 1059/2010. Each machine is tested in the Eco programme used for declaration purposes and the 'automatic' programme available.

#### Detergent and rinse aid

The new reference detergent type D of the draft of the 4th ed. IEC 60436 [17] is used. The actual amount of detergent used for each test is calculated depending on the number of place settings used for a 100% loaded, a 50% loaded and an empty machine by adding 1 g per place setting to a fixed amount of 8 g per test. The reference rinse aid formula III 'acid' is used [17] in the settings recommended by the manufacturers of the four machines. The water softener for all machines is

adjusted manually or automatically according to the manufactures' instructions depending on the water hardness of 2,5 mmol/l used for the tests.

#### Dishwasher test load and soils applied

The employed new load has been developed during the revision of the 3rd ed. IEC 60436 and is one of the major improvements established in the draft of the 4th ed. IEC 60436 [17]. The porcelain share of the current standard test load is reduced significantly to align the new load to the data assessed in the different in-house studies, and two pots and eleven plastic items are introduced. Additionally, more different glass and porcelain items are used to increase the variety of different shapes. Furthermore six porcelain cups are replaced by six porcelain coffee mugs, and six small glass bowls and one large glass bowl are added. While the kind of soils, their specifications, the requirements concerning their preparation, and total amounts are similar to the current EN 50242/EN 60436 [9], the way of application and the amount per item is often changed and is described in the draft of the 4th ed. IEC 60436 [17]. All items except the clean cutlery and the melamine serving pieces and bowls are placed in the thermal cabinet at 80 °C to fix the soil on the surfaces.

#### Combined cleaning and drying evaluation

The cleaning and drying performance assessment is carried out in a combined cleaning and drying evaluation as described in the draft of the 4th ed. IEC 60436 [17].

#### Test procedure for 'automatic' programmes

The total amount of soil and the number of load items is varied in five different tests scenarios to test the adjustment of the machine to varying load and soil conditions. The tests are carried out with the same dishware, the same kinds and amounts of soil applied on the specific items, and the same evaluation procedure. The amount of test load, the total amount of soil, the necessity of a cleaning and drying evaluation, and the number of cycles tested per scenario is described in Table 1.

Scenario	Amount of test load	Total amount of soil	Evaluation of the cleaning and drying performance	No. of cycles	Labelled as
а	100%	100% soil	with evaluation	3	Auto_100%load/soil
b	100%	no soil	without evaluation	2	Auto_100%load/no soil
С	50%	50% soil	with evaluation	2	Auto_50%load/soil
d	50%	no soil	without evaluation	2	Auto_50%load/no soil
е	no load	-	without evaluation	1	Auto_no load

Table 1: Test scenarios for testing 'automatic' programmes

A full load is used for three cycles, i.e. the dishwasher is loaded with the number of place settings declared by the manufacturer as rated capacity. To determine the amount of test load for the half load, the number of place settings for a full load is halved and rounded up to an integer number. A reduction of soil to 50% accompanies the load reduction of 50%. With a 50% load, the dishwasher is loaded similarly to the loading scheme for a 100% load, but every second position is left free. As it is not necessary to evaluate an originally clean load, the cleaning and drying performance evaluation is not an obligatory part of each test scenario.

# Results

Programme characteristics of the different machines

Important parameters to define a dishwashing cycle are the number of water intakes, the temperatures in the cleaning and drying phase and the duration of the different programme steps. All these parameters are subjected to the design criteria specified by the manufacturer and vary more or less for different programmes or machines (here exemplary discussed for machine 3 and 4). The total water intake in the Eco programme is divided into three to four smaller water intakes characterised by the declining temperatures when fresh water of  $15 \pm 2 \,^{\circ}C$  flows into the sump of the machine (Figure 2). The programme starts in both machines with a pre-cleaning of the dishes with cold water of about 20  $\,^{\circ}C$  for 10 to 20 minutes. After this pre-cleaning phase, the water is heated to temperatures between 44,7  $\,^{\circ}C$  and 47,7  $\,^{\circ}C$ . The heating up rate mainly depends on the amount of water used during the cleaning phase, the heat capacity of the load and the power of the elements. The subsequent drying phase is defined by a temperature between 62,9  $\,^{\circ}C$  and 64,3  $\,^{\circ}C$  in both machines.



Figure 2: Temperature profiles of machine 3 and 4 tested in the Eco programme or the different scenarios of the 'automatic' programme (Source: own data)

Machine 3 reveals the fewest differences in the 'automatic' programme because the programme courses for all scenarios look approximately alike and the temperature profiles mainly overlap each other. The programme profiles of the five scenarios are characterised through four water intakes of about 4 L each, a maximum cleaning temperature of approximately 64 °C and a maximum drying temperature of about 68 °C. After the pre-cleaning phase of 16 min, a cleaning phase follows where the temperature is increased in two steps. The intermediate rinse and the drying phase follow. The only noticeable differences in this graphical rendition are the different temperature increases in the intermediate rinse and the slightly varying rates of the temperature increase. When the machine is fully loaded with 12 place settings, the stored heat capacity in the dishes leads to a higher warming up of the inflowing cold water during the intermediate rinse than when only half-loaded or empty. Additionally, it takes slightly longer to heat up the complete load than reduced amounts.

In contrast to this machine 4 reveals a broad range of possible programme courses, and reacts slightly differently in each scenario tested. Despite the general increase of the temperature from clean load to soiled load, an adaptation can even be seen from 50% of load&soil to 100% of load&soil. When fully loaded with completely soiled dishes, four water intakes were measured, while the number is reduced to three for all other scenarios. The different amounts of load are clearly mirrored in the different heating up rates of the scenarios. A load-related delay can be seen in the temperature increase in the cleaning and drying phases, especially when different amounts of clean loads are used. The delay does not influence the maximum temperature during the cleaning phase, while the maximum temperature in the drying phase decreases with increased amounts of load. The empty machine is heated up to 69,3 °C within 15 minutes, while 20 minutes of heating in the drying phase are measured for 50% and 100% of load. The same input power and heating duration leads to a temperature of 65,2 °C when 100% loaded, and 68,3 °C when only partially loaded.

#### **Energy consumption values**

The energy consumption values for machines 2 and 3 in the Eco programmes are always clearly lower than in the different test scenarios of the 'automatic' programme, while the assessment of the values of machines 1 and 4 shows diverging results (Figure 3).



Figure 3: Average energy consumption values in the Eco programme or the different scenarios of the 'automatic' programme

Machine 4 reveals the highest average energy consumption in the Eco programme during the laboratory tests, but it is also the only machine where four of the five 'automatic' programme test scenarios tested have equal or lower values than in the Eco programme. In addition to that, machine 4 presents a gradual increase for each scenario from 'Auto\_no load' to 'Auto\_100%load&soil', while machines 1 and 2 are characterised through rather steep increases from scenarios without soil to those with soil. Machine 1 has the lowest energy consumption in the Eco programme, but this low value can only be reached during the tests of the 'automatic' programme in one scenario. Machines 1 and 2 have an exceptional programme course when tested without any load and this leads to energy consumption values which are higher in the 'Auto\_no load' scenario than when tested in the scenarios with clean load.

### Comparison of the Eco and the 'automatic' programme

The percentage differences ((Auto-Eco)/Eco)\*100 between the average consumption and performance values of the Eco and the 'automatic' programme are displayed in Figure 4. The average energy consumption increases from the Eco to the 'automatic' programme for machines 1, 2 and 3 and this increase varies between 15% for machine 1 and 46% for machine 2. Although machines 1 and 4 have the same absolute energy consumption values in the automatic programme, the difference to the Eco programme is -2% for machine 4 and +15% for machine 1 because the consumption values in the Eco programme were different.


Figure 4: Percentage differences in the consumption and performance values of the 'automatic' programme in comparison to the Eco programme

All machines reduce the programme duration between 11% (machine 3) and 36% (machine 4), except for machine 2, which requires 7% more time in the 'automatic' programme than in the Eco programme. The differences in the cleaning and drying performance values are associated with different resource or time inputs. Quite large increases of the average cleaning performance in the automatic programme can be observed for machines 2 (56%) and 3 (32%), while machines 1 and 4 reveal 12% higher results. Minor changes are noticeable for the drying performance, for machines 3 and 4, while increases up to 18% are visible for machines 1 and 2.

# Discussion

The previous assessment shows that the Eco and the 'automatic' programmes reveal large differences between those programmes and between the machines. This may be used to increase the differentiation between dishwashers. One possible way to compare appliances and to increase the consumer's awareness of the energy and water consumption is the current European Energy Label. It depicts efficiency ratings, the annual energy consumption ( $AE_c$ ) and the annual water consumption  $(AW_c)$ , based on values measured in the Eco programme. Due to the fact that the Eco programme is not the only programme used, a more real-life-based differentiation between the dishwashers placed on the market through introducing automatic programmes may facilitate the purchase decision. Low energy and water consumption values are, at 83%, very important parameters for the consumer during the purchasing phase [7]. Focusing solely on the first parameter, the energy consumption, it is interesting to see that the difference between the four machines tested is quite small when the values measured in the Eco programme are taken as a basis. However, clear differences can be seen when the average values over all scenarios of the 'automatic' programme are used for the calculation of the AE<sub>c</sub> (Table 2) according to the labelling regulation 1059/2010/EU [18] (similar to the preparatory studies for the Eco-design requirements of EuPs, the standby power consumption for this calculation is assumed to be 2 W for all machines during the left-on mode and 1 W during the off-mode [19]). If the AE<sub>c</sub> is only based on the values of the Eco programme (AE<sub>c</sub> 100% Eco), the difference between the machines is 49 kWh at the most while based on the usage of the 'automatic' programme it is 127 kWh.

#### AEc Difference AE<sub>c</sub> 100% Auto AEc to AE<sub>c</sub> 100 % Eco 100% Eco 100% Auto Absolute Percental 288 kWh 328 kWh machine 1 + 40 kWh + 14 % machine 2 312 kWh 443 kWh + 30 % + 131 kWh machine 3 332 kWh 455 kWh + 123 kWh + 27 % machine 4 337 kWh 330 kWh - 7 kWh - 2% Differences 49 kWh 127 kWh between machines 1 to 4

# Table 2: Differences in the annual energy consumption of the machines testedbased on the average values of the Eco or 'automatic' programme

Apart from a possible differentiation between the machines, the difference between the consumption values in the Eco and the 'automatic' programmes is quite striking. Assuming 280 test cycles, the average energy consumption of machine 2 in the 'automatic' programme is 131 kWh higher as in the Eco programme while in machine 4 it is 7 kWh lower.

Consumers may be totally mislead by purchasing a good rated dishwasher according to the Energy Label classification and using this appliance in the 'automatic' programme later on. It seems that for some manufacturers only programmes included in the energy labeling scheme are optimized regarding their energy consumption. But as 'automatic' programmes are getting more and more popular they should be optimised as well and this is more likely to happen, if these programmes are included in a new version of the Energy Label.

# Conclusion and outlook

During this study, the attempt was made to develop a new consumer-relevant test method for 'automatic' programmes. It should focus more on the real-life usage conditions of a dishwasher, on the one hand, and allow an increased differentiation of household dishwashers, on the other hand. A first step to increase the consumer relevance during dishwasher testing was taken during the revision of the 3rd ed. IEC 60436 with the newly developed load, the new detergent and the combined cleaning and drying evaluation. Complementarily, the test procedure for 'automatic' programmes focuses on the diverse usage conditions, beginning with a nearly empty to a fully loaded machine with different soil levels. The described method provides the possibility to assess average performance and consumption values of different load and soil levels combined with a high applicability and the possibility to test ten scenarios in one week. Even though the day to day practice in a performance lab has to be restructured and a single working day gets slightly longer the additional burden is limited. The emphasis on reduced load and soil levels challenges the currently existing 'automatic' programmes and reveals big differences between the programmes and machines tested concerning the average values and in the adaptation to different input parameters. The approach developed presents a great opportunity to further lower the consumption values of dishwashers if the Eco and the 'automatic' programme become part of the Energy Label in future. A first step into this direction has already been taken due to the implementation of the test procedure for 'automatic' programmes as an informative annex in the 4th ed. IEC 60436. Looking into the future, the informative annex should be changed to classify the approach developed as a normative test procedure. Additionally, the attention of the decision-making people within the European Commission should be drawn to the discrepancies between the current test and labelling conditions, and the consumer behaviour. Consequently, an alternative labelling approach which includes the results of tests of 'automatic' programmes could be developed. This may serve as an impulse for many manufacturers to incorporate the actual usage conditions seen in consumers' homes and the wish for low consumption values under these conditions even more.

#### References

- [1] BERTOLDI, P. & BOGDAN, A. 2009. *Electricity Consumption and Efficiency Trends in European Union Status Report 2009.* Joint Research Centre EU.
- [2] STAMMINGER, R. 2007a. Preparatory Studies for Eco-desing Requirements of EuPs, Lot 14 Task 2.3: Domestic Washing machines and Dishwashers.
- [3] STAMMINGER, R. & KEMNA, R. n.n. CECED Report on Energy Consumption of Domestic Appliances in European Households: Result of a stock model calculation. CECED.
- [4] SIEMENS ELEKTROGERÄTE GMBH. 2012. Standard Geschirrspüler [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.siemens-home.de/produktsuche/geschirrspülen/standard-geschirrspüler.html</u> [Accessed 13.03.2012].
- [5] STIFTUNG WARENTEST 2012. *Kurz gespült draufgezahlt*. Stiftung Warentest, 08/2012, 54-58.
- [6] RICHTER, C. P. 2011. Usage of dishwashers: observation of consumer habits in the domestic environment. International Journal of Consumer Studies, 35, 180-186.
- [7] EUROPEAN COMMISSION 2010b. COMMISSION REGULATION (EU) No 1016/2010 implementing Directive 2009/125/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council with regard to ecodesign requirements for household dishwashers.
- [8] STAMMINGER, R. 2007b. Preparatory Studies for Eco-desing Requirements of EuPs, Lot 14 Task 3: Domestic Washing machines and Dishwashers.
- [9] EN 50242/EN 60436 2008. Electric dishwashers for household use Methods for measuring the performance. European Committee for Electrotechnical Standardization, Brussels.
- [10] HUBBUCH, M. & GOODALL, K. G. 1999. *Amount and Composition of Soils in German Dishwashers*. Composition to Standard Test Method. SÖFW Journal Seifen Öle Fette Wachse, 125, 14-20.
- [11] RICHTER, C. P. 2010. In-house Consumer Study on Dishwashing Habits in Four European Countries: Saving Potentials in Households with Dishwashing machine. Universität Bonn.
- [12] ZOTT, A. & HUBBUCH, M. 2008. *Durchschnittliche Verbraucherbeladung beim maschinellen Geschirrspülen*. SÖFW Journal Seifen Öle Fette Wachse, 134, 48-55.
- [13] HAUTHAL, H. G. 2003. Reinigungs- und Pflegemittel im Haushalt. In: WAGNER, G. (ed.). Augsburg: Verlag für chemische Industrie.
- [14] TSCHULENA, G. & LAHRMANN, A. 2003. Sensors in Household Appliances: Sensors Applications Vol. 5, Weinheim, Wiley-VCH Verlag.
- [15] BERTRAM, A., EKELHOF, E., ENNEN, G., HETTENHAUSEN, U., SAILER, E. & TIEKÖTTER, S. 2002. *Trübungssensor zur Erkennung der Trübungen in der Spülflüssigkeit einer Geschirrspülmaschine*. Germany patent application.
- [16] HEIßLER, H. & PAINTER, K. 2010. *Method for detecting a load-related change in thermal capacity of a water-bearing domestic appliance*. US patent application.
- [17] IEC 60436 4TH ED. CD 2012. Electric dishwashers for household use Methods for measuring the performance. International Electrotechnical Commission.

- [18] EUROPEAN COMMISSION 2010a. COMMISSION DELEGATED REGULATION (EU) No 1059/2010 of 28 September 2010 supplementing Directive 2010/30/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council with regard to energy labelling of household dishwashers.
- [19] FABERI, S. 2007. Preparatory Studies for Eco-desing Requirements of EuPs, Lot 14 Task 6-7: Domestic Washing machines and Dishwashers.

# Heat Pump Tumble Driers: New EU Energy Label and Ecodesign requirements in Europe, MEPS in Switzerland, Initiatives in North America

Eric Bush, Diane Damino, Barbara Josephy

**Topten International Services** 

# Christopher Granda

Grasteu Associates

# Abstract

Electric laundry drying is becoming increasingly popular in European households. Therefore, promoting efficient tumble driers<sup>1</sup> is essential to limit the increase in household energy consumption. Tumble driers with an integrated heat pump use only 50% of the energy a conventional electric condensing tumble drier uses. This year the European Union (EU) has introduced efficiency measures for tumble driers: since June 2013 the new EU energy label for driers is mandatory, and from November 2013 the Ecodesign regulation will apply, which contains requirements on the energy efficiency and condensation.

This paper will give an overview on Best Available Technology (BAT) in Europe according to the online search tool www.topten.eu for the most efficient drier products. This will allow for interesting conclusions including: Have the top classes of the EU energy labelling scale been designed appropriately? Will the label continue to exert an incentive for the manufacturers to develop more efficient tumble driers? Are the Ecodesign requirements stringent enough?

The market share of heat pump driers in the EU varies between countries but has been steadily increasing. In Switzerland heat pump driers are a success story! In January 2012 Switzerland imposed a minimum performance requirement that effectively allows the purchase of only heat pump driers.

The United States (U.S.) is also introducing new policies to promote efficient driers, and energy efficient technologies are poised to change tumble drier market. The article will conclude with recommendations for EU and US policies.

## Introduction

Drying with an electric tumble drier in Europe is becoming more and more the trend. In the US using a tumble drier is the norm. However, these appliances use a lot of energy. Condensing driers with an integrated heat pump are a highly energy efficient technology. They use 50% less energy than conventional condensing systems. Thus it is worthwhile to promote this type of tumble drier and to push its market share.

The paper will give an overview on the main technologies of tumble driers, the European situation for driers such as market share, the new EU energy label, Ecodesign requirements, and the BAT

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The authors use in this paper the spelling «drier» as used in the European regulations and as opposed to the American spelling «dryer».

according to www.topten.eu. The focus then turns to Switzerland, which takes a leading role in pushing the market share of heat pump driers by its minimum energy requirements for all tumble driers. Finally we will have a look at the situation of driers in North America (the U.S. and Canada).

# **Technology of Tumble Driers**

#### Two Main Systems: vented driers and condensing driers

Tumble driers evaporate the moisture by blowing hot dry air through the laundry. The air is heated up by the electric resistance heating element. There are two different technologies that exist to remove the evaporated water [1]:

- 1. Air vented driers (open systems): Blow the exhaust air (initially air from the room) outdoors and cause disturbing smells, steam and noise at the external outlet.
- 2. Air condensing driers (closed systems): Room air is cooling down the warm damp air from the wash by a heat exchanger and thus condensing the moisture.

#### Heat pump driers cut energy consumption by 50%

Heat pump driers are condensing driers which integrate a heat pump. Warm, damp air flows out of the laundry drum into the evaporator, where the air is dehumidified and the warm air returned to the drum.

Heat pump driers consume only about half of the electricity of conventional condensing driers. This makes them a highly efficient alternative to conventional systems. However, within the group of heat pump driers the energy efficiency varies quite a bit [2]. Due to the low temperatures heat pump driers treat clothes with care.

#### Heat pump driers have the lowest life cycle costs

As shown in Figure 1 heat pump driers have the lowest life cycle costs and from a life time investment perspective thus they should be the only choice. On the other hand, as also shown in the Figure 1, they (still) have a higher purchasing price than conventional driers, which might be a purchase barrier especially for consumers from struggling economic countries. Another aspect of heat pump driers that must be noted, the cycle time in general is longer than with conventional condensing driers.



Figure 1: Tumble driers. Eco facts. January – February 2012. Panelmarket Germany. Outer left: Sales Units % Cclass to A-class; Left: Price in Euro C-class to A-class; Right: Energy Costs in life cycle in Euro C-class to Aclass; Outer right: Total Costs in life cycle in Euro C-class to A-class. (Source: GFK 2012 (Anton Eckl): Home Appliances – Markets with Strong Fundamentals).

# Market situation of Tumble Driers

#### In Europe, heat pump driers are gaining market share

The market penetration of household tumble driers in Europe is steadily on the rise. Four million tumble driers were sold for residential use in Europe in 2010. The stock is estimated to be about 54 million appliances. However, the level of market penetration is uneven across European countries. For example, more than 60% of Dutch homes have tumble driers, while they appear in less than 20% of Italian homes. The dominant tumble drier technology in Europe still is conventional condensing [3].

In general it can be said, that heat pump driers are gaining market share in Europe. However, the sales share of the energy efficient alternative «heat pump driers» varies in the EU between countries. Concerning the market share of heat pump driers Switzerland is leading (for details see chapter below), but it is also high in Germany, Austria and Italy (around 40%).

In 2012, around 90 residential heat pump drier models from 18 different manufacturers were available on the European market [4].

# 80% market penetration of tumble driers in North America, but no heat pump driers on the market yet

In North America, dryers have reached market saturation and can be found in over 80% of U.S. and Canadian homes [3]. Recent laboratory research in the U.S. has documented that European HP driers use only half (50%) of the electricity of conventional, vented (non-condensing) US driers.

However, despite these potential energy savings, no HP driers are currently sold on the North American market and consumer and retail awareness is virtually non-existent. The Super Efficient Dryer Initiative (SEDI) is working to bring more efficient driers to the U.S. and Canadian markets [3], [5].

# **Regulations in Europe**

#### New EU Energy Label for Tumble Driers since June 2013 is mandatory

After a transition period of one year, where the old [6] and the new EU energy labels [7] could coexist, the new EU energy label is now mandatory since June 2013. Revisions to the label include:

- Introduction of the energy efficiency classes A+, A++ and A+++: With the old EU energy label, all
  heat pump driers were placed in the energy efficiency class A. This although within the group of
  heat pump driers there exist considerable differences concerning their energy efficiency. The EU
  was aware of this fact and designed a new EU energy label for tumble driers. The introduction of
  the energy efficiency classes A+, A++ and A+++ was made to allow the distinction between more
  and less efficient heat pump driers. With the new EU energy label the classes A to A+++ are all
  reserved for heat pump driers.
- Introduction of the Energy Efficiency Index (EEI): With the old EU energy label the energy
  efficiency classes were based on the energy consumption (kWh) per kg of laundry. The new EU
  energy label calculates the EEI in a different way. The base for the calculations are for 160
  standard cycles which take into account the energy consumption at full and partial load, lefton/off-mode and programme (calculation details see Annex II of [8]).
- Introduction of the «condensation efficiency»: With the new EU energy label a classification for the condensation efficiency was also introduced. The classes range from A (most efficient) to G (least efficient). This parameter is key because low condensation efficiency can lead to humid rooms and the need for additional room drying equipment and therefore an increase in the need for electricity consumption.





Figure 2: Left: New EU energy label for tumble driers (mandatory since June 2013). Right: Old EU energy label for tumble driers.

#### Ecodesign Requirements for tumble driers from November 2013

According to the Ecodesign regulation following the Minimum Energy Performance Standards (MEPS) will be required for condensing driers [8]:

	Energy Efficiency Index EEI	Condensation Efficiency
From November 2013 (Tier 1)	< 85 (equals class C and better)	> 60% (equals class D and better)
From November 2015 (Tier 2)	< 76 (equals class B and better)	> 70% (equals class C and better)

Table 1: Ecodesign requirements for condensing driers [8].

As Table 1 shows, condensing driers with class D and below will be phased out in 2014, from 2016 on condensing driers with class C and below will be phased out<sup>2</sup>. In other words: non-efficient appliances with a class B (they have no heat pump) will be available on the market in the future.

Until 2016 it will be allowed that up to 40% of the moisture can be expelled into the room (condensation efficiency of 60%), from 2016 on only a range up to 30% will be allowed.

# Best Available Technology (BAT) of Tumble Driers on the European Market

#### www.topten.eu gives an overview on the Most Energy Efficient Tumble Driers in Europe

An overview of the most energy efficient tumble driers available on the European market is presented by the Topten site «Best Products of Europe» www.topten.eu [2, for Topten see box below].

In order to be listed on www.topten.eu, tumble driers must meet the following selection criteria (July 2013):

- Energy efficiency: A++ or A+++ according to the new EU energy label.
- Condensation efficiency: B or A according to the new EU energy label.

As Figure 3 shows, best performing models on www.topten.eu use between 172 kWh to 259 kWh of electricity per year (according to the declaration of the new EU energy label).

- The best EEI is 23.2.
- The threshold for A+++ is 24.
- The two 7 kg appliances reach both the energy efficiency class A++. One of them reaches the condensation efficiency class A, the other class B.
- From the ten 8 kg models, three models reach the energy efficiency class A+++, whereas two models are placed in the condensation efficiency class A, the other one only reaches class B.
- Seven 8 kg models reach the energy efficiency class A++. Three of them are classified A concerning the condensation efficiency, four models are places in the condensation efficiency class B.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Class C vented driers will remain on the market in tier 2, due to a different Energy Efficiency Index EEI calculation formula.

• The three models with a capacity of 9 kg all reach the energy efficiency class A++ and the condensation efficiency class A. The drying time at full load reaches from 145 minutes to 200 minutes.

Topten will add more models as soon as the data is available from the manufacturers. Topten also will strengthen the criteria according to the development of the market.

Brand		Siemens	BEKO	AEG	Siemens	Siemens	Siemens	Brandt
Model		WT48Y7W1	DPU 8306 GXE	T97689IH	WT48Y701	WT48Y731	WT48Y781	BFD82CH
Electricity costs ( years)	icity costs (€ 15 387		396	398	479	479	479	490
Capacity (kg)		8	8	8	8	8	8	8
Drying time (min)	full load	187	174	188	186	186	186	180
Energy class		A+++	A+++	A+++	A++	A++	A++	A++
Energy (kWh/year	)	172	176	177	213	213	213	218
Condensation cla	SS	В	A	A	В	В	В	A
Efficency Index		23.2	23.3	24	28.4	28.4	28.4	29
Countries availab	le	on demand	on demand	DE / on demand	on demand	on demand	on demand	CH / on deman
		0			e	0	e	
Gorenje	Gore	nje	Electrolux	AEG	Electrolux	BEKO	AEG	AEG
D 8565 H	D 750	65 NA/NB 65N	EDH3498RDL	T59880	EDH3497RDW	DPU 8305 XE	T86589IH3	T86594EIH
490	448		583	477	583	522	526	583
8	7		9	7	9	8	8	9
180	155		165	155	180	145	170	200
A++	A++		A++	A++	A++	A++	A++	A++
218	199		259	212	259	232	234	259
A	A		A	В	A	A	В	A
29.2	29.6		30.3	30.7	30.8	31.1	31.8	32
on demand	on de	emand	SE / on demand	DE / on demand	SE / on demand	on demand	DE / on demand	DE / on deman

Figure 3: Screenshot www.topten.eu: the most efficient tumble driers for residential use on the European market (July 2013), 7 kg, 8 kg and 9 kg capacity, energy consumption as declared at 60% initial moisture (according to EN 61121:2005).

# Topten

#### International online search tool for the most energy efficient products on the market

Topten is an international online search tool which presents the most energy efficient products on the market such as household appliances (e.g. heat pump driers), office equipment, consumer electronics, building components, lamps and cars. It aims to accelerate market transformation towards energy efficient products, while creating a dynamic benchmark for the most efficient technologies. The selection criteria are described transparently. They are primarily based on the EU energy label, but depending on the product group additional criteria may be required. Topten is neutral and independent from manufacturers.



#### Topten is online in Europe, China and the U.S.

The first Topten site appeared in Switzerland in 2000 (www.topten.ch). Since then it has travelled the world and is online in 18 European countries, China (www.top10.cn) and the U.S. (www.toptenusa.org).

#### Best Products of Europe on www.topten.eu

The «Best Products of Europe» are presented on www.topten.eu. The site also formulates recommendations for EU policy makers.



## Success Story of Heat Pump Driers in Switzerland

#### 100% market share of heat pump driers in 2012

In Switzerland, the sales share of heat pump driers has steadily risen since 2004. Figure 4 shows that heat pump driers (class A, green bars) reached a market share of around 25% in 2009, 32% in 2010, and 47% in 2011. In 2012 the market share went up to 100%. This is due to the introduction of the Swiss Energy Regulation for tumble driers [9].



Figure 4: Sales share of tumble driers in Switzerland 2004 – 2012. Energy classes according to the old EU energy label [6]. Class A (green bars) are heat pump driers. (Source: [10])

#### Swiss Energy Regulation only allows heat pump driers on the Swiss market

In the framework of the Swiss Energy Regulation [9] Switzerland introduced Minimum Energy Performance Standards (MEPS) for tumble driers. This allows only for the sale of heat pump driers on the Swiss market. The requirements have been in force since January 2012. In other words, non-efficient tumble driers are completely banned from the Swiss market. This also explains why the market share of heat pump driers rose to 100% in 2012 (see Figure 4).

With its strong requirements, Switzerland is a pioneer and is leading the way with transforming the market. The success of this was in part due to the pressure by Topten and partners from Swiss environmental organisations, the city of Zurich and Zurich's utility (ewz), who closely worked together to promote and push the market introduction of heat pump driers in Switzerland (e.g. by rebate programs).

#### Feedback from manufacturers and consumers is positive!

The stringent requirements for tumble driers in Switzerland showed its first impact:

- The requirements work well for the manufacturers: Although the number of drier units sold in Switzerland has come down by 5%, the turnover increased [10]. Thus, there was no economic disadvantage for the manufacturers.
- The requirements are great for the consumers: heat pump driers yield high savings on their electric bill.

# **Initiatives in North America**

#### SEDI is in the works to bring heat pump driers to the market

The Super Efficient Dryer Initiative SEDI, launched in 2010 by the New Jersey Clean Energy Program, brings together drier manufacturers, government agencies, utilities, and appliance retailers in the U.S. and Canada to promote the introduction of new, energy efficient and advanced tumble driers into the North American market. Since its launch, SEDI sponsorship has expanded to include thirteen energy efficiency programs across the U.S. and Canada [11].

#### A testing program for heat pump driers has been carried out

Programs and governments must have high-quality data on the energy savings that can be expected from heat pump technology before providing this support in North America. SEDI benefits from European experience and has tested the energy consumption of currently available European heat pump driers to North American conventional electric dryers to better understand the potential for energy savings if this technology were introduced into North America [12].

Main findings are:

- European heat pump driers use only 40-50% as much energy as North American conventional driers to dry the same amount of laundry.
- But also European heat pump driers take twice as long to dry a load of laundry as North American conventional driers.
- Further modifications to the new DOE test procedure, including the use of a test load that more closely represents real-world clothing, are needed to more accurately predict March 2013 actual drier energy consumption.
- The recently proposed 2013 revisions to the DOE clothes drier test procedure include automatic termination a significant improvement from the current 2005 test procedure.

#### Energy labels for tumble driers are in preparation

Due to the lack of more efficient technology options on the North American tumble drier market, tumble driers in the U.S. have never carried energy efficiency labels. The ENERGY STAR programme has not covered tumble driers yet, and the U.S. Federal Trade Commission has not implemented an Energy Guide label for this product group [3]. The only North American energy label for driers is the EnerGuide label which is issued by Natural Resources Canada for products sold there. However, the situation with labels is about to change.

#### **ENERGY STAR Emerging Technology Award**

In 2012 the EPA announced the ENERGY STAR Emerging Technology Award for Advanced Dryers. The Emerging Technology Award is a relatively new initiative for ENERGY STAR which recognizes new, promising energy efficient technologies which are not yet established on the market. On June 12, Samsung Electronics became the first manufacturer to receive the Emerging Technology Award for Advanced Dryers for their DV457 model. In order to meet the requirements of the Award, Samsung's drier must use about 30% less energy than the average conventional US drier, and be available for sale in the U.S. Although the expectation was that Award winning driers would likely use heat pumps or other significantly different technologies, the Samsung DV457 is a vented, resistance electric drier that uses improved controls and heat and air flow modulation to reach the Emerging Technology Award efficiency target.

#### Heat pump driers are not yet adapted to the needs of the North American market

In North America appliances are quite different than the European ones. For example, in the U.S. the voltage is 110 Volt (Europe: 230 Volt), the frequency is 60 Hz (Europe: 50 Hz), drier size is slightly larger although the capacity (of clothes than can be dried) are similar compared to Europe (see Figure 5). The programme duration of drying cycles also tends to be much shorter than in Europe.

The challenge for SEDI over the next two years is to help reconcile the desire of North American energy efficiency programme providers for a new technology with significant savings and the desire of the appliance industry, the ENERGY STAR programme and possibly also North American consumers for more modest, interim steps on the path to market transformation. Any successful super efficient drier for North America must be designed for the local market, and laundering habits.

The US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), which administers the ENERGY STAR programme, has released a preliminary draft of a technical specification for a U.S. (potentially also Canadian) ENERGY STAR label for clothes dryers. This draft proposes minimum efficiency requirements that are about 15% above the average for current, conventional, vented electric tumble driers sold in the U.S. This level would also be significantly less efficient than a typical European HP drier.



Figure 5: Drum size difference: European drier (left) and North American (right) drier [12].

#### No rebate programs for tumble driers yet

Until now no rebate programmes have been carried out to promote high efficiency tumble driers. Feedback from some of the utilities in the U.S. is that a barrier to entry for heat pump driers is that European models are too small in size and would be too expensive to purchase compared to current drier models.

## **Conclusions and Recommendations**

#### Europe

#### EU Energy label

In Europe, it is foreseen that the energy classes A to A+++ of the EU energy label are reserved for heat pump driers. This makes it possible a differentiation between efficient and less efficient heat

pump driers. It is no surprise that there are already A++ driers available at the time of the introduction of the new EU energy label (see www.topten.eu). But some have already reached the A+++ class indicates that the thresholds of the classes seem to be too low. Some heat pump driers also already meet the top class for condensing efficiency A. When designing new classes the best class should be kept empty for future developments. Otherwise a result might be that manufacturers do not have enough incentive to improve the technology.

Therefore it is recommended that the EU energy label for tumble driers should be updated in a timely manner to reflect the fast changing market. The new energy efficiency classes are weak, it is necessary to revise the EU energy label as soon as possible to facilitate further improvements. The top classes should then be held empty for future technical developments.

#### Ecodesign requirements

The requirements for tier 1 and tier 2 of the Ecodesign regulation for tumble driers do not seem ambitious enough. Non-efficient tumble driers will also be allowed on the market in the future. The requirements for the condensation efficiency also seem to be weak, taking into account what is already technically possible (class A and B, see the BAT according to www.topten.eu).

Therefore it is recommended that within the next revision of the Ecodesign regulation the future MEPS be more stringent for tumble driers regarding energy efficiency as well as condensation efficiency. The goal should be that only best performing appliances – heat pump driers – shall be allowed on the European market.

#### Good example: Switzerland

With the market for tumble driers having changed significantly in Switzerland due to the introduction of the Swiss MEPS, the feedback from manufacturers and consumers has been positive. The market stayed stable, sales are going well and considerable energy savings are being realized.

The example of Switzerland shows, that the introduction of stringent requirements for tumble driers is possible and brings a win/win-situation. The example should be followed by the EU.

#### **North America**

#### ENERGY STAR

Market push of existing tumble drier technology with ENERGY STAR is expected to bring efficiency improvements of about 15%. It now appears that improved conventional tumble driers will be capable of reaching ENERGY STAR. In the future, the label should be designed to set a more ambitious efficiency target. Improvements of test standards, labels and more research are important to enable a smooth development of new technologies.

#### ENERGY STAR Emerging Technology Award

The ENERGY STAR Emerging Technology Award brings an improvement of about 30% over conventional North American driers. It is recommended that future awards be designed to only be reached by driers with heat pump level efficiency.

#### Market introduction of heat pump driers

The current market environment in North America lacks market pull for heat pump driers. If there are no additional subsidies or market support for driers at the 50% efficiency improvement level or higher,

there will be little reason for drier manufacturers to introduce heat pump or other super efficient technologies to the North American market.

Therefore market introduction of heat pump driers needs special efforts. Policies are needed to give manufacturers incentives to develop heat pump driers adapted to North American market needs and consumer expectations. SEDI, ENERGY STAR and energy efficiency programmes are working to assist a successful market introduction, and to support the manufacturers in their endeavors. Programmes that run rebate programs should assist in educating and to successfully overcome the market barriers (e.g. higher purchase price) by promoting best performing appliances. Rebate programmes should be decided now, to enable long-term planning for the manufacturers.

## References

- [1] Nipkow Jürg, Eric Bush: Promotion of energy-efficient heat pump dryers. Swiss Agency for Efficient Energy Use (S.A.F.E.), Topten International Group. Paper for the proceedings of Energy Efficiency in Domestic Appliances and Lighting EEDAL, Berlin. 2009.
- [2] Topten: www.topten.eu Best Products of Europe.
- [3] Granda Chris, Christopher Wold, Eric Bush: Market transformation for Clothes Dryers: Lessons Learned from European Experience. Poster at eceee 2013, France.
- [4] Topten Focus: Heat pump driers: 50% energy saving potential. 30t<sup>h</sup> April 2012. Download: http://www.topten.eu/uploads/File/Topten%20Focus%20HP%20dryers%20Apr%2012.pdf
- [5] Werle Rita, Eric Bush, Barbara Josephy, Jürg Nipkow, Chris Granda: Energy efficient heat pump dryers European experiences and efforts in the U.S. and Canada. Paper for the proceedings of Energy Efficiency in Domestic Appliances and Lighting EEDAL, Copenhagen. 2011.
- [6] European Commission. Commission Directive 95/13/EC of 23 May 1995 implementing Council Directive 92/75/EEC with regard to energy labelling of household electric tumble driers.
- [7] European Commission. Commission Delegated Regulation 392/2012 of 1 March 2012supplementing Directive 2010/30/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council with regard to energy labelling of household tumble driers.
- [8] European Commission. Commission Regulation (EU) No 932/2012 of 3 October 2012 implementing Directive 2009/125/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council with regard to Ecodesign requirements for household tumble driers.
- [9] Energieverordnung (EnV) of 7<sup>th</sup> December 1998 (1st March 2012).
- [10] Swiss Agency for Efficient Energy Use S.A.F.E. and Swiss Association of the Domestic Electrical Appliances Industry FEA: Schweizer Verkaufsstatistik Geräte 2004 2012. July 2013.
- [11] www.clasponline.org/en/Resources/Resources/SLHeadlines/SEDI-Transforms-North-American-Market-for-Super-Efficient-Dryers
- [12] Denkenberger Dave, Chris Calwell, Nathan Beck, Brendan Trimboli, Debbie Driscoll, Christopher Wold: Analysis of Potential Energy Savings from Heat Pump Clothes Dryers in North America. Ecova and CLASP. March 2013. Download: http://www.clasponline.org/~/media/Files/SLDocuments/2013/2013\_Analysis-of-Potential-Energy-Savings-from-Heat-Pump-Clothes-Dryers-in-North-America.pdf

# Vacuum space insulation for household appliances

# Roland Brüniger, Johannes Eckstein, Hans Tischhauser, Gerhard Staufert

# Swiss Federal Office of Energy (Bern, Switzerland), Helbling Technik AG (Wil, Switzerland)

# Abstract

For decades, <u>vacuum space insulation</u> (VSI) has been recognized as an established technology for the thermal insulation of Dewar flasks, cryogenic equipment and so on. Although it is established in these domains, VSI technology is still not widely used as a thermal insulation in such application fields as white goods, home appliances, boilers and hot water tanks, as well as industrial equipment.

The findings obtained by our recent research – supported by the Swiss Federal Energy Office (several SFOE research orders within the SFOE research program "Electrical technologies and applications") – show that VSI has great potential for such applications as mentioned above:

- VSI requires relatively little space and thus provides additional useful volume
- VSI saves a lot of energy
- VSI can also be very interesting from an economical point of view

In addition, VSI can also have functional advantages, such as significantly reduced space requirements or internal volume gains with constant external dimensions.

Our paper discusses the basics of VSI and shows the technological possibilities which it offers. Presented are spacers which are cheap to produce, which have a sum heat transfer coefficient of approx. 0.01  $W/m^2K$  and therefore do not significantly reduce the thermal advantages offered by a vacuum.

In a first example it is shown that VSI technology is economically feasible for the thermoblock in a coffee machine, and offers the user increased comfort with significantly reduced energy consumption.

In the second example, the use of VSI for hot water boilers is discussed. With a functional model of an 80 liter boiler a reduction of the thermal losses of more than 70% is achieved, in comparison to the best commercially available model. The additional costs for the customers are redeemed within 8 years of purchase.

In a third example, the basic structure of a cylindrical refrigerator with VSI is discussed, showing that, at a slightly heightened useful volume, compared to a normal market cubic A++ refrigerator, energy savings of around 50% and higher are possible.

# Principles of vacuum space insulation (VSI)

VSI (see figure 1) consists mainly of two gastight boundary plates bordering the vacuum, which edges are connected by means of a hermetic seal (edge assemblage). The shape of the boundary is arbitrary. It may be two flat, parallel plates or two arbitrarily shaped boundaries with variable spacing.

Spacers are inserted into the vacuum in order to prevent the boundary plates from being pressed together by the exterior air pressure. This measure is only necessary if the boundary plates lack sufficient stiffness. This is typically the case if the boundary plates are flat or only slightly bent.



#### Figure 1 Schematic diagram of a vacuum space insulation (VSI)

The total heat transfer coefficient  $(U_t)$  of a VSI profile includes the three components of heat conduction through residual gas, heat radiation and heat conduction through solids in gaps and on edges:

(1) 
$$U_t = U_g + U_r + U_b \left\lfloor \frac{W}{m^2 K} \right\rfloor$$

 $U_g = U$  (residual gas)  $U_r = equivalent U(T)$  (radiation)  $U_b = U$  (solid body)

#### Residual gas heat transfer

References [1] and [2] contain formulas for calculating the heat conduction  $\lambda$  of the residual gas as a function of the pressure p, the wall spacing s and the temperature T. The heat conduction coefficient  $U_g$  [W/m<sup>2</sup>K] through the gap (generated by the heat conduction in the residual gas) is decisive. It is calculated thus

(2) 
$$U_g = \Delta T * A * \frac{\lambda}{s}$$
 whereby  $\Delta T = 1 \text{K and } A = 1 \text{m}^2$ 

Fig. 2 can be calculated from  $\lambda$  and (2) – it shows the heat transfer coefficient U<sub>g</sub> through a vacuum gap at room temperature in dependence of pressure p and the wall spacing s.



Figure 2 Heat transfer coefficient U<sub>g</sub> of air at room temperature as function of residual pressure p and wall spacing s

For a very good thermal insulation, usually, heat transfer coefficients of < 0.1 [W/m<sup>2</sup>K] are to be strived for. From Fig. 2 it can be seen that this can be accomplished only with a residual gas pressure of <  $10^{-4}$  mbar. This normally means that, at the beginning of a lifespan of a VSI, a vacuum pressure of < $10^{-5}$  mbar must be accomplished. It can also be seen that the heat transfer coefficient Ug with such a vacuum is fully independent of the wall spacing and determined solely by the prevailing residual pressure.

With this, it can be deduced that the wall spacing in a VSI can vary greatly e.g. from 0.1 mm up to 100 mm without the creation of any thermal vulnerabilities through heat conduction in residual gas. This differentiates VSI from all other known kinds of thermic insulation and offers great design freedom.

#### **Radiation heat transfer**

In addition to the direct heat transfer via the residual gas molecules in the vacuum, thermal radiation influences the quality of the insulation. Without additional measures, the thermal radiation in the vacuum gap will head directly from wall to wall and can reach very high values. The measure for the reduction of heat radiation which we have adopted for this, is the insertion of films between the two walls which delimit the vacuum gap. Structurally, it is important to ensure that these films do not touch the walls or each other (or only minimally). Helbling Technik AG ensures this with specially developed film backing.

Our detailed studies show that only inexpensive and rolled aluminum foils are accepted as suitable foils.

In the VDI heat atlas (section "superinsulation") [2], there are formulas that are used for the calculation of radiation through a sequence of n identical foils.

Fig. 3 shows the calculated equivalent heat transfer coefficients  $U_r$  with the mentioned formulas. In addition, the temperature range of some important household devices is referenced. The related interior temperature T1 can be read on the abscissa of the diagram. The exterior temperature T2, the room temperature, was assumed to be 23°C.

The Fig. 3-Fig. 2 comparison clearly shows that heat transfer by radiation  $U_r$  vs. heat transfer  $U_g$  through the residual gas ( $U_g = 0.002 \text{ W/m}^2 \text{K} \otimes 10^{-5} \text{ mbar}$ ) is in no way negligible.

With a vacuum gap without radiation-reducing intermediary films e.g. with most vacuum thermos bottles and mugs, the heat transfer coefficient is clearly dominated by the thermal radiation (Ur approx.  $1 \text{ W/m}^2\text{K}$ ). These are represented in Fig. 3 using examples like a boiler or a coffee machine.



Figure 3 Equivalent radiation heat transfer coefficient U<sub>r</sub> as function of temperature and number of anti-radiation foils

With thermos flasks, this high  $U_r$  value is acceptable, because to achieve the same U-value with conventional insulation would require e.g. an approx. 4-5 cm thick insulating sheath of expanded polystyrene or mineral wool. A similar consideration also applies with the insulation of the thermoblock of a coffee machine.

Fig. 3 also illustrates that the insertion of an individual radiation-reducing film is enough to bring about a reduction of the heat transfer coefficient by approx. a factor of 10, to approx. 0.1  $W/m^2K$ . With the insertion of additional films, the heat transfer coefficient can be reduced by a further factor of 10 to approx. 0.01  $W/m^2K$ .

Fig. 3 also shows that the equivalent radiation heat transfer coefficient  $U_r$  depends much on the temperature of the warm or cold internal wall of the vacuum gap. With an internal temperature increase from -20°C to 100°C the  $U_r$  increases by approx. a factor of 2; and with a further increase up to 300°C there will be recognized the additional factor of 2.5. But it is also clear that this rise in  $U_r$  can be approximately compensated with the insertion of additional radiation-reducing films.

#### Solid body heat transfer

Solid body heat conduction always occurs on the edge of a VSI profile, through the gastight connection of the two plates to each other. Also, in many cases, local so-called spacers are present at the interior of the VSI profile which additionally contribute to the solid body heat conduction. What we write for the total heat transfer coefficient (through solid body heat conduction  $U_b$ ) is as follows:

$$(3) \qquad U_b = U_e + U_s$$

 $\mathsf{U}_\mathsf{e}\,$  Equivalent heat transfer coefficient through thermal edge effects

U<sub>s</sub> Equivalent heat transfer coefficient of the spacers

It is obvious that a flat or slightly curved part (with vacuum gap) must include spacers in the vacuum if the two major bounding surfaces cannot have an extremely rigid profile. The air pressure 0.1 N/mm<sup>2</sup>

(= 1 ton per m<sup>2</sup>) would otherwise press the two boundary plates together and nullify the insulation effect of the vacuum.

The requirements for a useful spacer are clear: it must show a level of thermal conductivity that is as low as possible – at least in the vacuum – and a large compressive strength in order to minimize the required crossectional area of the spacers. In addition, it must be able to withstand very high temperatures during the pumping, and it may not subsequently leak gas in the vacuum. With this, it is important to note that the operating temperature can reach 300°C with some interesting applications (e.g. ovens).

Helbling Technik AG has made calculations with a large number of different types of spacers and performed measurements, from which it has become clear that such approaches as plastic or steel pressure elements, slender struts made from low-heat-conducting ceramic and pressure-to-tensile-load-change braced filaments in the lateral direction of the vacuum gap are sometimes insufficient thermically, or may not be eligible due to reasons relating to mechanical or thermal stability or due to unacceptably high costs. Thus, Helbling developed spacers – and applied for a patent with them – which are cheap to manufacture and which meet all requirements.

The structure of the new development – we refer to as ball spacers – is outlined in Fig. 4. The structure is simple: a thin, resilient and flexible cover encloses a flowable filling material. Thus there is a change from pressure to tensile load – similar to a ball. This change from pressure to tensile load is known to be mechanically beneficial.



#### Figure 4 Schematic diagram of a ball spacer

When implementing the principle, it must first be ensured that the flowable filling material conducts only very little heat, and can withstand high temperatures and pressures. Such material is available with e.g. granular fumed silica, which is known to show a thermal conductivity of only approx. 3 mW/mK at lower pressures of less than < 1 mbar.

Secondly, it must be ensured that the flexible cover material is of proper tensile strength and temperature-resistant. Furthermore, the flexible cover should also, naturally, conduct as little heat as possible, which means that the flexible cover material should be as thin as possible and show as little thermal conductivity as possible. Moreover, it must be highly gas-permeable, so that the filler material

in question will be evacuated during the pumping of the VSI. Such material is available at an extremely low price e.g. in the form of so-called glass filament tubes.

The mass production of such spacers (tested in small sample series by Helbling Technik AG) can be performed in accordance with the production of sausages: The filling material is injected into the flexible cover on a quasi-continuous basis; and the flexible cover is tied and cut at appropriate intervals.

In this way, with a simple test device it is possible to e.g. reproduce ball spacers with a diameter of 8 mm and a height of 12 mm which are temperature-resistant up to at least 400°C, and which can withstand up to 2500 N of pressure per spacer. The only mildly temperature-dependent thermal conductivity of such a spacer (filler material + cover) is approx. 45 [mW/mK] @ 20°C and approx. 55 [mW/mK] @ 300°C. Considering that a maximum of 49 such ball spacers is necessary per m<sup>2</sup> – due to the large compressive strength – this would mean a calculation of an equivalent thermal conductivity of the spacers inserted in the VSI profile (i.e. across the entire area) of  $\leq 0.1$  [mW/mK].

With the application of a similar approach, the equivalent heat transfer coefficient  $U_e$  resulting from the heat transfer at the edge of a VSI can also be overcome. A 10-20 µm thick stainless steel strip forms the gastight connection between the two boundary plates which border the vacuum gap. This thin strip must be supported against the air pressure on the vacuum side of the VSI which occurs with a thin body whose material shows a thermal conductivity of less than 5 mW/mK in a vacuum. In this way, a thermal conductivity of approx. 20 mW/mK can be achieved with a gastight edge seal that is, in total, approx. 10 mm wide.

Another very effective way of minimizing the conduction of heat across the edge, is the overlap principle, which involves the overlaying of adjacent VSI profiles in such a way that allows for the longest possible heat transportation through a wall that is as thin as possible. With this method, in most cases it is possible to muster structures for which the  $U_e$  contribution is almost negligible.

#### Total heat transfer

With the example of a VSI with 3 radiation-reducing films, 49 ball spacers, a residual gas pressure of  $10^{-5}$  mbar and an internal temperature 90°C, Fig. 5 shows a summary of the discussed components (U<sub>g</sub>, U<sub>r</sub>, U<sub>e</sub> and U<sub>s</sub>) which contribute to total heat transfer coefficient U<sub>t</sub>

It is clear that the components ( $U_r$  and  $U_g$ ) originating from the heat radiation and heat transportation in the residual gas, at the technically interesting wall spacing range of up to 100 mm do not depend on the wall spacing and, in total, show only an equivalent heat transfer coefficient of approx. 0.05 W/m<sup>2</sup>K.

The equivalent heat transfer coefficient U<sub>s</sub> resulting from the 49 ball spacers depends strongly on the height of the spacers, which is determined by the wall spacing. Very good U<sub>s</sub> values ( $\leq 0.05 \text{ W/m}^2\text{K}$ ) are yielded with a spacer height of only approx. 3mm. With a spacer height of approx. 10 mm the U<sub>s</sub> is almost negligible.

The equivalent heat transfer coefficient for the thermal boundary effects  $U_e$  was calculated in 2 different ways.

The curve  $U_e1$  in Fig. 5 results from the assumption that flat 2 m<sup>2</sup> VSI panels are positioned close together without overlapping, whereby, for each VSI profile, the two panels bordering the vacuum along the entire edge are welded together (gastight) with a steel band of a thickness of 20 µm; and, on the vacuum side, this steel strip is supported with a 10 mm-wide strip e.g. of pressed fumed silica. With this assumption,  $U_e1$  forms the dominant share of the corresponding total heat transfer coefficient  $U_t1$ .

If, for the curves  $U_e^2$  and  $U_t^2$ , it is assumed that the corresponding VSI profile recognizes an overlap of a width of 200 mm, the influence of the thermal boundary effects shall be greatly reduced. With this fact, it is to be concluded that much attention is to be devoted to the structure of the VSI edging.



# Figure 5 Total heat transfer coefficient $U_t$ of a VSI with spacers and 3 anti-radiation foils, at 10<sup>-5</sup> mbar and 90°C, as function of wall spacing

To illustrate how good the achievable  $U_t$  values are with the VSI in question, the insulation thicknesses s which are necessary for commercially available insulation materials of the same U value are shown in Table 1.

т		VSI @	210 <sup>-5</sup> mbar	mi	ineral v	vool	PU (polyurethan)		
°C		s	Ut	λ	s	U	λ	s	U
		mm	W/m <sup>2</sup> K	W/mK	mm	W/m <sup>2</sup> K	W/mK	mm	W/m <sup>2</sup> K
	1 foil	10	0.136	0.039	284	0.136	0.023	169	0.136
10	3 foils	10	0.071	0.039	541	0.071	0.023	322	0.071
	6 foils	10	0.054	0.039	719	0.054	0.023	428	0.054
	1 foil	10	0.187	0.048	256	0.187	0.036	193	0.187
90	3 foils	10	0.090	0.048	528	0.090	0.036	398	0.090
	6 foils	10	0.064	0.048	745	0.064	0.036	561	0.064
	1 foil	10	0.417	0.090	216	0.417	-	-	-
300	3 foils	10	0.176	0.090	512	0.176	-	-	-
	6 foils	10	0.110	0.090	818	0.110	-	-	-

# Table 1Heat transfer coefficient Ut of a VSI with different numbers of anti-radiation foils and<br/>temperatures and correspondent thickness s of customary insulation materials

Table 1 also illustrates the dependence of the  $U_t$  values of a VSI on the temperature and the number of radiation-reducing films. It is clear that  $U_t$  increases with increasing temperature, which is mainly due to the influence of heat radiation. With this, an increase in the number of radiation-reducing films doesn't just reduce the absolute  $U_t$  value, but also the influence of the temperature.

It is clear that a VSI profile with a wall spacing s of only 10 mm and with a single radiation-reducing film in the vacuum space is enough to replace a stone wool insulation with a thickness of 200-300 mm and a PU (polyurethan) insulation with a thickness of 150-200 mm. 3 films included in the vacuum space could be enough to replace approx. 500 mm of stone wool or approx. 350 mm of PU. With the insertion of 6 films, these values would once again rise significantly.

It can be concluded from these theoretical considerations (which are supported by many measurements) that attempts to use VSI (which has been used with such products as Dewar flasks for decades) with additional products are always worth it. Helbling Technology AG has done this –

primarily in the domain of household devices – with support from the Swiss Federal Energy Office (several SFOE research applications as part of the SFOE research program "Electrical Technologies and Applications").

There follows presentation of some of the results achieved.

# **Application examples**

#### **Example 1: Domestic coffee machine**

In the following example, we limit ourselves to (capsule) household coffee machines whose hot water is accomplished with the aid of a thermoblock. However, our investigations have shown that the results achieved with thermoblocks can be analogously transferred to instant water heaters and boilers.

Thermal losses with a coffee machine occur mainly at the hottest part – the thermoblock (unit heater). All thermal losses with other parts of the machine, on the other hand, are negligible. This means that one may limit themselves to the thermoblock as far as reduction of thermal loss (thermal insulation) is concerned.



Figure 6a Schematic diagram of thermoblock Figure 6b Schematic diagram of thermowithin Dewar-like VSI block within PU-foam half-shells

Helbling Technik AG has looked at various approaches regarding thermal insulation of non-insulated thermoblocks in the machines of today. With this, it was of major importance that the insulation does not increase the dimensions of the thermoblock exceeding 20 mm in diameter or 40 mm in height. Furthermore, adopting a maximum cost increase from 1\$ to 2\$ per coffee machine (due to the additional insulation) is valid. Finally, it has been shown that, under these conditions, only the two approaches outlined in Fig. 6 are worth pursuing (insulation of the thermoblock with a cup-type VSI – Dewar – or with PU foam).

Fig. 6a provides a detailed outline of the approach for insulation of the thermoblock with a cup-type VSI and Fig. 7a shows a photograph of an accomplished functional model. Thanks to the cylindrical shape with a small radius, the VSI profile does not require any spacers in the vacuum spacing. The height of the VSI profile is significantly greater than that of the thermal block, meaning that the open lower side of the cup underneath the thermal block (with a 20 mm-thick PU plug) can be insulated.

All leads and pipes are connected to the thermoblock via the PU plug. Thermally, this doesn't just provide insulation of the lower side, but also accomplishes the overlapping principle referenced in the theoretical part. With this, the heat from the thermoblock on the approx. 90°C-heated inner wall of the VSI cup travel 20 mm through the inner wall of the cup, which is only 0.1 mm thick, before it gets to the surroundings. With this, thermal losses are drastically reduced.



Figure 7a Thermoblock within dewar-like VSI Figure 7b Thermoblock within 10mm thick on mounting-plate of domestic PU-foam insulation coffee-machine

The above required conditions are satisfied with the structure indicated in Fig. 7a: the diameter increase caused by the VSI is only 10mm. The increase of the height the accomplished sample pattern is still approx. 80 mm, but it can be reduced to approx. 30 mm without any problems. As far as the expected additional costs are concerned, initial offers have been made available to Helbling. With this it is to be expected that the upper limit of max. 2\$ can be undercut with a corresponding number of pieces.

Fig. 6b and 7b show the insulation of the thermoblock with 10 mm PU foam, with eligible additional costs of less than 0.5\$. The approach with 2 half-shells allows for a very easy insulation assembly whereby the thermoblock is already fixed on the base plate. Regarding the function sample, the thermoblock was injected with 10 mm-thick PU foam all around prior to the assembly.

Fig. 8 shows cooling curves (solid lines, left scale), calculated and verified by measurements, which depend on the cooling time after the heating has been switched off. The current state of the coffee machine, which keeps the temperature of the thermoblock at approx. 90°C for 20 minutes (in the so-called auto-off state) before the heating is switched off, is indicated in black. The red curve shows the cooling with the above-described cup-shaped VSI, and the blue curve shows that recognized with the 10 mm PU insulation. With this, in both cases it is assumed that the heating will switch off without any kind of delay pending.

The dotted curves show, accordingly, the heating times (timescale right diagram side) which are required after the expiry of a certain cooling time in order to heat the thermoblock from the correspondent cooling temperature to a working temperature of 90°C.



# Figure 8 Cooling down temperatures (solid lines, left scale) and heating up times (dotted lines, right scale) as function of cooling down time

The differences are clear. In the current state, without insulation the thermoblock cools to approx. room temperature within 2 hours despite a holding time of 20 minutes. With a 10 mm PU insulation it is still 50°C warm after this cooling time, and with VSI it still has a temperature of 77°C. Naturally, the corresponding heating times are also shorter. Without insulation, the heating time is approx. 24 seconds after 2 hours; with a 10 mm PU insulation profile it is 15 seconds and with VSI it is only 5 seconds.

With this, with VSI it is possible to have a coffee machine which requires absolutely no standby energy, without any loss of comfort to the user. After the coffee has been dispensed, the machine turns itself off fully independently so it can then heat up again automatically when a new coffee capsule is inserted.

The corresponding energy savings can be calculated with the help of the curves shown in Fig. 8. We have done this in Table 2 according to the TopTen measuring guidelines [3]. As a reference we used a moderately good, commercial coffee machine, whose annual consumption is, according to TopTen, 42 kWh/a. (A similar comparison according to the Swiss energy label still shows significantly higher savings than those listed in Table 2 according to TopTen).

According to TopTen, the energy consumption is calculated as follows: 2\*3 cups (120 g) are brewed per day (within one hour), and one cup is brewed after 0, 30, and 60 minutes. The intervals between the hours in which the 3 cups are brewed, are 5 hours and 17 hours.

With this, the saved energy SE is calculated as follows

(4) 
$$SE \ per \ day = SE(17h) + 2 * SE(0.5h) + SE(5h) + 2 * SE(0.5h)$$

(5) SE per year = 
$$350 * \frac{SE}{d}$$

In addition, we have estimated the efficiency level of the coffee machine, which is calculated by comparing the theoretical minimum energy which is necessary for heating up the water (total 6\*120g) to 65°C. The theoretical minimum is:

(6) 
$$350*6*9.13Wh = 19.2 [kWh/a]; 350 \frac{d}{a}; 6^{cups}/d; 9.13 \frac{Wh}{120g} water$$

During the calculation, it is to be noted that the reference device maintains the brewing temperature for 20 minutes, and only then does it switch the heating off. With the insulated variants, on the other hand, it is assumed that the heating is fully turned off immediately after the brewing process has been fully completed i.e. a "Zero Standby Energy" strategy is adopted.

Insulation type	Saved energy per day [Wh]	Saved energy per year [kWh]	Resulting energy consum- ption [kWh/a]	efficiency level	Estimated insulation- related additional costs CHF	Additional construct. height [mm]	Additional Ø [mm]
Nothing	0	0	42.0	45.7%	0	0	0
PU 10 mm	33.5	11.7	30.3	63.3%	≤ 0.5	20	20
Dewar	46.6	16.3	25.7	74.6%	≤ 2.0	30	10

 Table 2 Comparison of both insulated devices with the reference device

These results are self-explanatory: the use of VSI in coffee machines appears worthwhile.

#### Example 2: Domestic storage water heater

Fig. 9a and 9b show the schematic diagram and photography of a VSI developed and evaluated by Helbling Technik AG – with support from the Swiss Federal Energy Office (SFOE research orders within the SFOE research program "Electrical technologies and applications") – for an 80-litre hot water boiler.

A design was selected where the hot water boiler was inserted in a tubular, double-walled structure with an open top and bottom, where the gap between the two walls of the pipe was evacuated at  $\leq 10^{-5}$  mbar. Thanks to the cylindrical form of the VSI and the corrugated outer wall, even with this kind of design no spacers in the vacuum spacing are necessary in order to ensure mechanical stability against air pressure and other forces.

The thickness of the external wall of the pipe is 0.5 mm. With the interior wall: a wall thickness of 0.1 mm is theoretically sufficient; however, in the functional model, for manufacturing reasons it was 0.2 mm. The external diameter of the domestic storage water heater is 0.46 m and it has a height of 1 m (see Figure 9).

The two pipe walls are directly welded together at the ends of the pipe. For this reason, the overlap principle was used to achieve good thermal conditions. The vacuum pipe is, in total, 400 mm longer than the height of the actual hot water boiler, and 200 mm-thick PU plugs are inserted in both ends of the pipe. Thus, an equally long thermal conduction route through the interior wall of the pipe (only 0.2 mm thick) ensures desired good thermal conditions.



Figure 9a Schematic diagram of storage Figure 9b Functional model of VSI duct for 80 water heater with VSI pipe liter storage water heater

Two types of functional models were built: one without radiation-reducing film in the vacuum spacing, and one with a quasi-free floating film in the entire vacuum spacing.



Figure 10 Power loss of VSI for 80-liter storage water heater with 1 anti-radiation foil as function of  $\Delta T$ 

Fig. 10 shows the result of a measurement with the test construction with the VSI profile containing radiation-reducing aluminum foil. During the measurement, a heating power and power dissipation equilibrium was kept with a  $\Delta$ T of 35°C and 54°C.

Table 3 shows the calculated thermal losses (taken from the measurements), compared with those of the 80-litre hot water boiler that is currently the best on the market (according to TopTen).

	size	vacu.	fail	calculated	calculated	loss	loss	loss
design	of PU	space	IOII	loss	loss	measured	reduction	reduction
_		width	count	analytic	FEM			%
	mm	mm		kWh /a	kWh /a	kWh/a	kWh /a	
best on market, PU-insulation	85	-	-	240				
function. model, without foil	duct- ends: 200	10	0	188	182	184	56	23%
function. model, with 1 foil	duct- ends: 200	10	1	64	67	65	175	73%

# Table 3 Calculated and measured thermal power loss of functional models of VSI for 80-liter storage water heater

It can be seen that the functional model, even without radiation-reducing aluminum foil (with a saved lost energy rating of 23%) is better than the state of the art boiler on the market.

The sample with a radiation-reducing film, with a 73% loss reduction, indeed shows very good values.

The costs were estimated for a possible series production of an 80-litre boiler with such a VSI type. The additional costs of such a boiler with a VSI, when compared with the costs of the PU-insulated boiler that is currently the best on the market, amount to less 300 \$ in sales. This means that the necessary additional investment would be recouped within 8 years with the current energy prices.

#### **Example 3: Domestic refrigerator**

Due to the space constraints of this publication, the "domestic refrigerator" example cannot be discussed in detail here and only the most important results can be presented.

Two different approaches for implementing a refrigerator with VSI were investigated: on the one hand a cylindrical refrigerator and on the other hand a refrigerator with the standard cubic shape.

Potential structures using VSI were devised for both approaches and detailed thermal calculations were carried out. These calculations were verified using a prototype of the cylindrical refrigerator. The possible usefulness of a cylindrical refrigerator depends to a large extent on whether or not it is possible to build one in such a way whereby the shape-based loss of usable volume is fully compensated by a thinner wall (compared to the conventional cube-form A++ refrigerator).

Appropriate calculations show that this is achieved when the full thickness of the wall of a cylindrical refrigerator with VSI is approx. 15-16 mm. This can be achieved with VSI.

The greatest challenge when producing a cubical refrigerator with VSI is to build the even walls so that they can resist the air pressure with the lowest possible total wall thickness. This is possible using the spacers described above.

Table 4 shows the achievable power loss (calculated by us) of similar cylindrical and cubic VSI refrigerators with 600 mm external diameter respectively 600x600 mm external profile and 1400 mm height.

design	ΔT	average value A++		calculated			exterior dimensions	wall thickness total	usable vol.
	°C	W/m <sup>2</sup>	W/L	W/m <sup>2</sup>	W/L	% A++	Mm	mm	Liter
A++ cubic: 48 mm PU- insul.	20	2.82	0.039			100 %	600x600x1400	52	258
cylindrical with VSI	20			1.87	0.017	44%	Ø 600 x 1400	16	285
cubic with VSI	20			1.78	0.017	44%	600x600x1400	16	369

# Table 4 Calculated power consumption of refrigerators with VSI compared to usual cubic A++ refrigerator

The saved electrical energy possible with such a refrigerator is significant. The consumption of 0.017 W/L amounts to only 44% of an average commercial A++ refrigerator.

Given that the usage volume of a cylindrical refrigerator with 285 liters exceeds the usage volume of a cubic A++ refrigerator with external dimensions  $600 \times 600 \times 1400$  mm by approx. 10%, there would be nothing standing in the way of the use of VSI technology with these products as well (bearing in mind the assumption – which we have still not yet verified – that the additional VSI-related costs are within the desired scale).

The potential offered by the cubic refrigerator with VSI is even greater. A considerable increase in usable volume with identical external dimensions is paired with energy savings.

# Conclusion

The use of VSI can bring about considerable energy savings. It also offers the potential for additional advantages such as a greater usable volume with the same external dimensions or the same usable volume but with smaller external dimensions and increased energy savings.

All estimates to date regarding the unavoidably higher initial costs of the VSI version (compared to using conventional thermal insulation materials such as PU and mineral wool) show that the additional investment pays for itself within a payback period of 5 to 8 years thanks to the energy cost savings generated.

It should be noted that examples such as using VSI for the themoblock or boiler will be implemented for large series products in the near future but for more complex applications such as VSI for refrigerators, considerable development work still remains to be done.

## References

- [1] Dieter Rath, Wärmetransport in evakuierten Dämmsystemen, Diss, Univ. Dortmund 1989
- [2] VDI-Wärmeatlas 10. Auflage 2006, *Superisolationen*, KF2, Springer Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2006
- [3] www.topten.eu

# Early replacement of circulator pumps - lessons from 400,000 PumpsChecks motivating one in two German home owners

# Dr. Johannes D. Hengstenberg, co2online gGmbH (non-profit ltd.) Justus von Widekind, M.A., co2online gGmbH (non-profit ltd.)

# Abstract

An online dialogue PumpsCheck was operated and promoted over the period 2006 - 2012 in Germany and used 430,000 times, motivating over 200,000 early replacements of inefficient circulator heating pumps with high-efficiency pumps in residential buildings. A government grant program operating over 2009 - 2010 was stopped because of overwhelming demand since it promoted a highly profitable investment.

A 24.4 year average life span of circulator pumps was derived from 28.234 PumpsCheck uses from 2010 to 2012, much higher than the often assumed 10 years. Thus, more than half of the standard pumps installed in 2012 might still run in 2037, if earlier replacement is not promoted successfully. About 1.200 € will be the average net loss of German home owners who miss early replacement, since standard pumps consume 2.1 kWh/sqm,a vs.0.4 for equivalent high efficiency pumps.

Also analyzed are questionnaire responses by a subset of users who gave their email addresses.

While online dialogue advice on low-cost products like high-efficiency pumps is shown to (a) motivate cost-effectively, (b) help time-pressured installers sell a low-margin product, and (c) be replicable cost-effectively in larger EU member state – it is insufficient to encourage full replacement within 10 years. However, cross-selling with boilers shows promise in also furthering early pump replacements.

# General overview

10% of electricity consumption of residential and commercial buildings in EU member states is caused by 100 million circulator pumps, which pump hot water from the boiler to the radiator and back again. Annual time of operation is – depending on regional climate – roughly 6.000 hours. At an average power of about 100 Watt, their electricity consumption amounts to roughly 60 Terawatthours per year.

Early in the last decade much improved pumps ("high efficiency circulators") entered the market, consuming just 10-20 per cent of the electricity of comparable old "standard circulators".

Replacing all standard circulators with highly efficient ones in the EU would, thus, cut electricity consumption and operating costs considerably, as well as CO2-emissions.

To capture the potential of this new technology, circulator pumps were included in the ErP directive<sup>1</sup>, which mandated installation of the new highly efficient circulators, starting 2013. This affected only the two smaller market segments: Installations in new buildings and replacement of broken circulators. The largest segment, however, the installed stock of inefficient pumps was left untouched.

The ErP directive does not impose an unacceptable burden on building owners, since the cost of installing a high efficiency circulator exceeds that of a standard circulator only by 50 - 125 Euro<sup>2</sup>. That is very little, compared to the 1.200 Euro net present value of future electricity costs saved over the 15 years average remaining life-time of a 10 year old standard pump (assuming 400 kWh/a saved at 0,30  $\in$ /kWh average future electricity price in Germany). However, no rapid reduction of electricity con-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> ErP Directive 2009/125/EC (Energy related Products; formerly EuP Energy using Products)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Grundfos UPS vs. Alpha 2, Wilo Star RS vs. Stratos Pico; total cost of high efficiency circulators, including 200 € for installation, are 350 - 525 € (source: www.pumpendiscounter.de, June 2013)

sumption can be expected, since the obsolescence rates of circulators are very low, their average life expectancy being about 25 years. So even in 2037, 25 years from now, only half of all standard circulators installed in 2012 will be replaced by highly efficient ones based on current trends.

Speeding up this process of replacement would thus benefit the environment and the citizens of Europe, and it would reduce Europe's dependence on fossil fuel imports considerably.

The early replacement of a standard by a high efficiency circulator adds considerably to the wealth of a home owner, since the net present value of such an investment outweighs the investment costs for a pump of average age by 300 - 400 percent.

There are two standard policies to encourage <u>early</u> replacement: (1) National legislation mandating early replacement, (2) incentives like national subsidy schemes or motivation campaigns among home owners for early replacement of the electricity "guzzler" in their boiler rooms. Only the latter have been used during the German campaigns "Klima sucht Schutz" (Climate seeks Protection, 2004 - ongoing) and "Sparpumpe" (Saving Pump, 2009 - ongoing), run by co2online<sup>3</sup> and backed by the German Ministry for the Environment. Only since 2013 the ErP directive forces the homeowner to buy a highly efficient circulator, while early replacement, even if highly profitable, is not mandated.

## Why are sales of high efficiency pumps so slow?

Before considering policies to speed up the early replacement of standard circulators by highly efficient ones, we need to analyse why a revolutionary device, which uses only 10-20 percent of the electricity its predecessor needs, is selling so slowly.

One reason is inherent in the multi-level structure of the boiler market: Manufacturers sell to wholesalers, wholesalers to installers, and installers to homeowners. Thus, not the manufacturer but the installer is or should be communicating the benefits of a highly efficient circulator to the homeowner. But selling a new circulator is of little interest to the installer because of its relatively low price<sup>4</sup> and therefore small margin. In the end the good news never reaches the homeowner, often not even once his/her circulator breaks down.

So two structural problems are at the core:

- The multi-level structure of the market and the consequently low incentive for the installer to actively promote an early replacement.
- The gap between the huge financial benefit of an early replacement for the homeowner and the low financial benefit for the installer from an order to replace the old circulator by a new one.

Since these structural problems can hardly be dissolved, co2online is looking for other ways to increase early replacement rates, as shown below.

## The motivation campaign for early replacement of circulators

In 2006, co2online launched its first version of the interactive PumpsCheck<sup>5</sup>, one of 2 dozen online energy savings advice tools, backed by annual grants from the German Ministry for Environment.

The PumpsCheck compares the electricity consumption, operating cost, and CO2-emissions related to the existing circulator with the full cost (including depreciation!), consumption, and emissions of a high

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> co2online gemeinnützige Beratungsgesellschaft is a non-profit limited liability consulting company campaigning to reduce emissions of carbon dioxide ( $CO_2$ ) by means of energy saving through dialogue. co2online motivates private households, trade and commerce to become actively involved in climate protection and to save money at the same time. co2online implements several campaigns for private households and communities, co-funded by the German Ministry for the Environment. (www.co2online.de)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Around 350 - 525 Euro, including installation and VAT.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> www.klima-sucht-schutz.de/energiesparen/energiespar-ratgeber/pumpencheck.html

efficiency circulator. The comparison is based on estimating the electricity consumption of both, by supposing 5,500 operating hours per year, and by reducing the power of a new circulator to that actually required by the building. Thus, the PumpsCheck serves a twofold purpose: As a sizing tool, it calculates the capacity (kW) needed for the new circulator, and as a decision support tool, it estimates the economic benefit of an early replacement. So every homeowner can find his/her old circulator in the circulator database, enabling him/her to correctly calculate the net present value of his/her investment and/or the payback period for a correctly sized replacement.

co2online offers this PumpsCheck as a free online service for anonymous use. Nevertheless, about 1 in 20 users also enter their email address to download a PDF-file with the complete calculation that led to the final recommendation ("a data-sheet") or for further questions. Those PumpsCheck users receive a questionnaire by email about one year later. The answers from those questionnaires allow the following conclusions:

Giving cost-free circulator advice to home owners via the internet is effective in that 44% of respondents to the 2010 questionnaire said that they had followed the replacement advice given by the PumpsCheck and had replaced their circulator within one year after the advisor session. A further 37% of users claimed that they had decided to do so within the next twelve months. Only 3% of the users had pumps that were not working<sup>6</sup>. In addition, 90% of those who had replaced the circulators confirmed that they followed the recommendation on the size of the new pump given by the PumpsCheck<sup>7</sup>.

At about 900 uses per week<sup>8</sup>, the PumpsCheck is not the only co2online tool that recommends the early replacement of old and inefficient circulators. Three more tools<sup>9</sup> address related household information issues, and also recommend early replacement of appliances, if appropriate:

- ThermostatCheck (ThermostatCheck), for advice on early replacement of old thermostat valves
- HeatingCheck (HeizCheck), for advice on hydraulic balancing of the heat distribution system
- RefurbishmentCheck (ModernisierungsCheck), for advice to people considering a partial or full thermal modernization of their building (heating system and building envelope).

In total, the impact of all those advice tools together adds up to the replacement of about 2,500 circulators per week, or more than 100,000 per year. Thus the number of pumps replaced due to co2online's pumps campaign roughly corresponds to the number of all early circulator replacements in Germany, estimated at roughly 100,000-150,000 per year, as corroborated by industry sources<sup>10</sup>.

Judging the German pumps campaign by the ratio of "pump replacements after completed advisor sessions" over "total completed advisor sessions", the campaign is astoundingly successful. Nevertheless, a look at the "total stock of old and inefficient pumps" versus the "pumps replaced early every year", shows its shortcomings. Industry experts<sup>11</sup> estimate the total stock of old and inefficient circulators still operating in the cellars of German residential buildings at 22 million. Over the next 10 years, about 10 million will break down and be replaced anyway. However, as high efficiency pumps recover their cost (parts plus labour) in less than 5 years, even 5 of those 10 million should still be replaced early. If replacement of these 17 million were to be spread evenly over 10 years, 1.7 million per year would be the target against which 100,000 - 150,000 actual early replacements are close to insignificant. Thus, even a good campaign hardly speeds up the replacement process as a whole.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> ISoMe Institut für soziologische Meinungsforschung Evaluation interaktiver Energiespar-Ratgeber im Rahmen der Kampagne "Sparpumpe"; PumpenCheck und <u>www.sparpumpe.de</u>, Ergebnisbericht Juli 2010, Download: <u>www.co2online.de/fileadmin/CO2online/PDF\_Evaluationen/PumpenCheck-Sparpumpe\_Evaluation-2010\_Bericht.pdf</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> As in footnote 6, above, page 29

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> <u>www.co2online.de/statistik-und-research/ratgebernutzung/index.html?no\_cache=1</u>, click on the first "Details" for usage of each adviser per week

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> www.klima-sucht-schutz.de/energiesparen/energiespar-ratgeber.html

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Personal communication from marketing managers of Grundfos, KSB, and WILO in Germany

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Personal Communication to Johannes D. Hengstenberg, 2012

Any increase of early replacements beyond 100,000 is hard to accomplish, because homeowners show limited active interest in saving electricity and costs. And, any "managed" increase of public interest in the topic by spending more money on internet advertising is getting increasingly expensive due to increased content competing for internet users' attention. Therefore, a pumps-only campaign is – beyond a certain limit – not scalable.

# Legislative measures to push the early replacement

Over 1,000 completed PumpsCheck sessions every week generate a vast collection of data on co2online's servers. This data shows:

- The payback period from early replacement is on average 4 years
- The average rate of return on investment (ROI) is as high as 13%
- The average economic benefit for a home owner from replacing a standard circulator with a high efficiency circulator early is about 1,200 Euro using the net present value of the investment (discounted future electricity cost saved minus cost of replacement).

This shows that the average early replacement of an inefficient circulator is beneficial for the average homeowner, because it increases his/her wealth in the vast majority of cases. Thus, a law mandating early replacements of circulators is viewed by the author as being:

• compatible with the Basic Law of the Federal Republic of Germany (Grundgesetz Art. 14<sup>12</sup>), which strictly forbids any infringements on private property by public authorities,

and it would be

 more cost-effective than a replacement campaign which must "buy" the attention of German homeowners for the benefits of early replacement through increasingly expensive web-based advertising campaigns.

In particular, a legal mandate would be best if limited to coincide with other refurbishment measures like replacement of the boiler or improvements in the building envelope. Given the current energetic modernisation rates of residential buildings in Germany of only 1 - 3% per year, the number of related early pump replacements could be handled by installers,

In the first case (boiler replacement), a new circulator would leverage the efficiency of the new boiler if it were a condensing boiler whose efficiency crucially depends on low return temperatures, which only a modulating high efficiency circulator can provide. In that case, the profitability of the boiler replacement would be increased by the additional savings of fuel caused by higher boiler efficiency.

In the latter case (thermal insulation), the original heating-demand estimate, on which the capacity of the old circulator was based, is no longer valid due to the reduced heat demand in the building after refurbishment.

Despite the vast empirical evidence supporting mandatory early replacement (e.g. in the upcoming German Energy Ordinance (EnEV) of 2014), the effort was stopped by German politics. Supposedly it is not compatible with the general "philosophy" of the ruling conservative (CDU/CSU) and liberal (FDP) parties, which tend to be rule-averse and hope for citizens' self-interest and market powers to realise savings potentials.

## Grants for early replacement of circulators

From April 2009 to August 2010, co2online had succeeded in convincing policy makers to set up a federal subsidy scheme: Grants of 25% to the total cost (labour & parts) of replacing a circulator, which roughly amounts to 400 € for small single family buildings and correspondingly more for multi-family buildings.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> dejure.org/gesetze/GG/14.html

The success of the scheme was tremendous. Up to 2,000 grant applications per day arrived at the KfW Förderbank, the German bank handling many state subsidies. That work load the bank could not cope with in the long run. After 161,000 grants<sup>13</sup> had been approved, the KfW added hydraulic balancing of the heating system ("Hydraulischer Abgleich") as an additional grant requirement<sup>14</sup>. As a result, grant applications shrank to less than 10% of the initial volume<sup>15</sup>, since not enough installers in Germany could provide this additional service at the time. But even if the KfW had been able to cope with 2,000 applications per day, the subsidy scheme suffered from a major deficiency: It subsidized a measure that was extremely profitable for the homeowner even without that subsidy. So, from a constitutional point of view, the subsidy scheme wasn't a sustainable solution to tackle the high stock of outdated and inefficient circulators.

# General outlook: What to do with outdated circulators?

As we have seen, the ErP directive does not tackle the large stock of old, still functioning circulators, since it only addresses replacement of broken ones (and new construction). Other measures, like online awareness campaigns, are successful but of limited reach because they are not scalable. The same holds true for government subsidies, which are inconsistent with the public finance principle that no activities should be subsidized which are highly profitable, per se.

For the moment, only one perspective might prove viable: Evaluations of the PumpsCheck impact show high cross-selling potentials of circulators, which means that one in six circulator replacements coincide with one boiler replacement. From a sales perspective, installers contracted to replace a pump on average end up with 2-3 times more turnover generated from the sale of boilers than from the sale of pumps.

So pumps may serve as lead generators for boiler sales – which implies that part of the marketing costs for pumps should picked up by boiler manufacturers – to their and the pumps manufacturer's benefit. Currently, co2online explores those cross-selling potentials with manufacturers of both, hoping to speed up early replacement and to shorten the time span needed until all circulators in Europe are highly efficient.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> www.kfw.de/Download-Center/Konzernthemen/Research/PDF-Dokumente-alle-Evaluationen/Monitoring-Energieeffizient-Sanieren-2010-Bauen-2006-bis-2010.pdf, page 30

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> www.sparpumpe.de/foerderung-sichern/kfw-streicht-sonderfoerderung/index.html

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> www.energiesparclub.de/?id=4124

# Office Luminaires: Voluntary Labels Can Pave the Way to the Next Level In Energy Saving

## Eva Geilinger, Tobias Schleicher, Stefan Gasser, Eric Bush

Topten International Services, Öko-Institut e.V., eLight GmbH, Topten International Services

# Abstract

Energy savings in lighting can be taken to a new level by introducing mandatory EU minimum requirements and an energy label considering the luminaire efficiency factor (LEF).

We look back on EU policies introduced during the last 15 years regarding luminous efficacy of light sources and ballast efficiency. The third parameter however, the light output ratio that defines the efficiency of a luminaire, has not yet been addressed by labelling or ecodesign measures. High energy saving potential is left to tap here.

Four voluntary labels and initiatives (*Minergie, Der Blaue Engel, Energy Star, Topten.eu*) guide to the current best available technology. They can be an inspiration to EU labelling and ecodesign measures. This paper portrays the four labels and discusses their different approach to set LEF requirements. Most ambitious requirements are specified for ceiling-mounted luminaires and pendant luminaires with minimum LEF of 75 lm/W at 3000 lumens (requirements ease with lower luminous flux, increase with higher luminous flux). It could be useful to base future LEF requirements on the formula described in the new regulations (EU) No 874/2012 and (EU) No 1194/2012. This would mean capped LEF requirements for luminaires above 1300 lumens.

## Introduction

Lighting offers great potential for energy savings. EU labelling and ecodesign policies have pushed to increase the luminous efficacy of light sources since 1999 when the energy label for household lamps was introduced. Starting in 2009, poorly performing lamps have been banned from the market in several stages. By 2016, the last stage defined in the current ecodesign regulations, only improved halogens<sup>1</sup> and well performing fluorescent lamps, LED lamps and high intensity discharge lamps will meet the minimum requirements. Also ballast losses have been limited in several stages since 2002. [1] - [6]

The efficiency of a luminaire is determined by three parameters: the luminous efficacy of the light source (Im/W), the efficiency of the ballast (%) and the light output ratio "LOR" of the luminaire (%). The luminaire efficiency factor "LEF" (Im/W) indicates the luminous flux emitted from the luminaire per watt electrical power consumed; it equates to the product of the three mentioned parameters as shown in Figure 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Infrared coated or xenon filled low voltage halogens and mains voltage halogens with transformer; exceptions: lamp cap R7s and G9


Figure 1: Parameters of the luminaire efficiency factor (LEF)

# Aim of this paper

Both luminous efficacy of light sources and ballast efficiency have been in the scope of EU policies for over a decade. The third parameter however, the light output ratio that defines the efficiency of a luminaire, has not yet been addressed by labelling or ecodesign measures. High energy saving potential is left to tap here. LOR ranges from very small, where most of the lamp luminous flux is lost, to high, where the luminaire emits nearly all of the lamp's light. This leads to a range in LEF between 5 Im/W to over 90 Im/W.

Against that background the authors of this paper advocate the introduction of a mandatory EU energy label and minimum requirements for office luminaires.

In public perception office lighting is less prominent than household lighting even though it accounts for twice the energy consumption. Office lighting consumed an estimated 164 TWh in 2007; household lighting consumed 84 TWh in 2007 and 80 TWh in 2009 [11].

Energy labelling and ecodesign measures could be more easily introduced for office luminaires for several reasons:

- Product information for most office luminaires on the European market is already available in lighting simulation software such as Dialux and Relux. The standardized data format is Eulumdat with the file extension \*.ldt (the American IES format can be transformed into Eulumdat).
- Office luminaires are generally installed by professionals. A mandatory energy label would be a strong incentive for electricians, planners, private and public procurement agents, and awarding authorities to consider the LEF.
- The energy label could provide information on the annual energy consumption (kWh/year) for typical use. This would directly support the goals of the recast Energy Performance of Buildings Directive 2010/31/EU which asks to consider built-in lighting installation for the calculation of energy performance of buildings. It would give EU countries a tool to implement energy performance standards. On the other hand the energy label could operate independently. Standards such as EN 12464-1 specify the minimum illuminance (lux) per square meter required for work places. These specifications can be met with manifold luminaire types. The energy label would help to distinguish whether the chosen luminaire is performing well or poorly regarding LEF.
- Office luminaires tend to require specific light sources; this makes determining the test lamps easier. Lamps with E27 cap are typically used for household luminaires and come in many variations; things become more complex.

Voluntary labels promoting office luminaires with high LEF are established in some countries. They can be an inspiration to EU labelling and ecodesign measures. This paper gives an overview of four voluntary labels and their LEF requirements.

Note that an EU energy label will be provided for household luminaires from March 2014 on [2]. This label is not important for the discussion in this paper, because it does not inform about the energy efficiency of the luminaire itself; it only informs about the type of lamps to be used in the luminaire. LEF or LOR are not addressed.

#### Voluntary labels promoting luminaires with high LEF – 4 portraits

*"Minergie"* from Switzerland, *"Der Blaue Engel"* from Germany and *"Energy Star"* from the USA belong to the classical type of voluntary label: manufacturers purchase the license to label their eligible products. *"Topten.eu"* is an initiative (funded by Intelligent Energy Europe (IEE) and coordinated by ADEME) aiming to stimulate demand for the most energy efficient products in national markets and to support EU labelling and ecodesign policies. For this purpose the best available technology is presented online with no cost to manufacturers.

Facts and figures for "*Minergie*" and "*Der Blaue Engel*" are summarized in Table 1, for "*Energy Star*" and "*Topten.eu*" in Table 2.



Table 1: Portraits of Minergie (Switzerland) and Der Blaue Engel (Germany)

Energy Star in the USA	Topten.eu for Europe			
Since 2008, today 7350 luminaires of 159 brands	Since 2012, today 71 luminaire lines of 18 brands			
21% LED products	28% LED products			
Only directional luminaires <sup>2</sup>	Non-directional and directional			
<ul> <li>accent lights (includes line-voltage directional track lights)</li> <li>downlights: recessed, pendant, surface mount (includes SSL downlight retrofits, excludes troffers or linear forms)</li> <li>under cabinet shelf-mounted task lighting</li> <li>portable desk task lights</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>ceiling-mounted</li> <li>recessed</li> <li>wall-mounted</li> <li>suspended</li> <li>spots</li> <li>floor-standing</li> <li>downlights</li> </ul>			
http://www.energystar.gov/lightfixtures	http://www.topten.eu/english/criteria/office_lighting_crit.html&fromid=			
Image: State	The function of the function o			
Rationale behind LEF requirement:	Rationale behind LEF requirement:			
Generally, a market share of Energy Star qualified products in a particular category of 50% or higher will prompt consideration for a specification revision.	LEF criteria are based on <i>Der Blaue Engel</i> . As products improve, Topten criteria become stricter; lists stay limited to the 10 or so best luminaire lines in each class. For this reason LEF criteria for ceiling-mounted and pendant luminaires are stricter than <i>Der Blaue Engel</i> .			
(no figure available)	(no figure available)			
Other criteria considered [9]:	Other criteria considered [10]:			
<ul> <li>Standby power (limits: 0 watt; exceptions: presence detection, daylight sensor etc.: 1 watt)</li> <li>For LED: CRI R<sub>a</sub> ≥ 80; lumen maintenance ≥ 94% at 6'000 hours; color angular uniformity; color maintenance; power factor ≥ 0.5 or 0.9 depending on power</li> <li>For FL and HID lamps: CRI R<sub>a</sub> ≥ 80; lumen maintenance ≥ 80% at minimum 4'000 hours; power factor ≥ 0.9</li> <li>All luminaires shall be shipped with a lamp for each lampholder (few exceptions)</li> <li>Warranty (minimum 3 years)</li> <li>And many more (ballast performance, thermal performance, product labeling &amp; packaging etc.)</li> </ul>	- Same as <i>Minergie</i> ; only exception standby power limit for dimmable ballast: 0.5 watt (same as <i>Der Blaue Engel</i> )			

 Table 2: Portraits of Energy Star (USA) and Topten.eu (Europe)

\_\_\_\_\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Non-directional residential luminaires can earn the *Energy Star* label, but criteria are set for the light source, not the luminaire.

# **Comparison of LEF requirements**

*Topten.eu, Der Blaue Engel* and *Energy Star* classify luminaires according to mounting types. *Minergie* classifies according to light source technology and directional characteristic<sup>3</sup>. For sake of comparison office luminaires that are typically directional (such as ceiling-mounted, downlight, accent and desk luminaires) are grouped and typically non-directional luminaires (such as pendant, wall and floor-standing) likewise. Figure 2 shows the minimum LEF requirements for directional luminaires as well as the future EU minimum energy efficiency requirements for directional lamps that will be applied from 2016 on ((EU) No 1194/2012 [6]). Figure 3 shows for non-directional luminaires and lamps.



Figure 2: Minimum LEF requirements for directional luminaires. T1-T4 = *Topten.eu*, B1-B3 = *Der Blaue Engel*, M1-M2 = *Minergie*, E1-E3 = *Energy Star*, (... lamps) = EU ecodesign 2016.

Luminaires with lower power, or lower luminous flux, have a lower LEF mainly because the ballast contributes proportionally more to the power consumption. All LEF requirements with the exception of *Energy Star* are less strict for luminaires with lower power / luminous flux. This relation is described either by the equation given in EU regulation 98/11/EC for lamps [1] (*Der Blaue Engel, Topten.eu*) or by a simpler approach like a linear function or simply a minimum LEF value (*Minergie*). Note that none of the 4 labels uses the approach given in EU regulation 1194/2012 for lamps [6]. Those newest minimum requirements are capped for lamps over 1300 lumens.

*Der Blaue Engel* LEF requirements become increasingly stricter with higher luminous flux. All other LEF requirements are capped (the highest cap being 70 lm/W for non-directional linear FL luminaires set by *Minergie*).

*Topten.eu* sets the strictest LEF requirements for ceiling-mounted and pendant luminaires; otherwise it is in line with the German Eco-Label *Der Blaue Engel*. The latter is stricter than *Minergie*, which again is stricter than *Energy Star*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> A revision of the *Minergie* criteria is foreseen for January 2014 switching to a classification according to mounting types too.



Figure 3: Minimum LEF requirements for non-directional luminaires. T1-T3 = *Topten.eu*, B1-B2 = *Der Blaue Engel*, M1-M4 = *Minergie*, (... lamps) = EU ecodesign 2016.

### Discussion

The four voluntary labels promoting luminaires with high LEF can serve as guideline, should the European Commission work out measures for office luminaires. They indicate the best available technology (and in the case of *Energy Star* the average available technology). A future EU energy label could base its top classes on the labels' LEF requirements, while considering that further efficiency improvements are expected for LED luminaires.

There are different approaches how to set LEF requirements, as explained in the above chapter. At this point the authors of this paper would recommend using the same formula as the new regulations (EU) No 874/2012 and (EU) No 1194/2012 (with capped LEF requirements for luminaires above 1300 lumens). *Minergie* intends to adapt that approach at a revision planned for January 2014.

Associated with the *Minergie* revision current luminaire data from the Relux database has been analyzed. There is no publication available (yet); still we would like to mention some of the results. The database contains ca. 600'000 data sets in total, though 71% are duplicates or incomplete. Data sets for 175'680 luminaires were found to be useful. 62% are equipped with linear fluorescent lamps (LFL), 20% compact fluorescent lamps (CFL), 12% high-intensity discharge lamps, 4% filament lamps and 2%, or 3760 luminaires, with LED. The median LEF of LED luminaires is 55 lm/W, of CFL luminaires 23 lm/W and of LFL luminaires 33 lm/W. This makes LED luminaires to date typically twice or so as energy efficient compared to luminaires with fluorescent lamps. The top 10% of LED luminaires have a LEF of 77 lm/W, of CFL luminaires 46 lm/W and of LFL luminaires 66 lm/W.

The four voluntary labels also indicate which criteria beyond luminaire efficiency might be worth considering. We highlight only two criteria here; please refer to the original specifications [7] - [10] for the complete criteria sets. All four labels limit standby to 0 watt (with exceptions for presence detection / daylight sensor and dimmable ballasts). They also set requirements for LED products that in some cases go beyond regulation (EU) No 1194/2012 (e.g. lumen maintenance factor 70-80% at 20'000 hours, lamp survival factor 90% at 20'000 hours, 100'000 switching cycles).

### References

EU labelling and ecodesign regulations

- [1] Commission Directive 98/11/EC of 27 January 1998 implementing Council Directive 92/75/EEC with regard to energy labelling of household lamps (to be replaced by regulation 874/2012)
- [2] Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No 874/2012 of 12 July 2012 supplementing Directive 2010/30/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council with regard to energy labelling of electrical lamps and luminaires
- [3] Directive 2000/55/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 18 September 2000 on energy efficiency requirements for ballasts for fluorescent lighting (replaced by regulation 245/2009)
- [4] Commission Regulation (EC) No 244/2009 of 18 March 2009 implementing Directive 2005/32/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council with regard to ecodesign requirements for non-directional household lamps
- [5] Commission Regulation (EC) No 245/2009 of 18 March 2009 implementing Directive 2005/32/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council with regard to ecodesign requirements for fluorescent lamps without integrated ballast, for high intensity discharge lamps, and for ballasts and luminaires able to operate such lamps, and repealing Directive 2000/55/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council
- [6] Commission Regulation (EU) No 1194/2012 of 12 December 2012 implementing Directive 2009/125/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council with regard to ecodesign requirements for directional lamps, light emitting diode lamps and related equipment

#### Voluntary labels: Specifications

- [7] Reglement und Nachweisverfahren zur Vergabe des MINERGIE®-Labels für Leuchten. Durch Labelkommission genehmigte Version vom 11.9.09. Ausgearbeitet durch Schweizerische Agentur für Energieeffizienz S.A.F.E.
- [8] Vergabegrundlage für Umweltzeichen, Leuchten für die Anwendung in Büros und verwandten Einsatzbereichen, Ausgabe 2012 (DRAFT)
- [9] ENERGY STAR® Program Requirements Product Specification for Luminaires (Light Fixtures), Eligibility Criteria Version 1.2
- [10] Topten.eu Selection Criteria for Office luminaires: http://www.topten.eu/english/criteria/office lighting crit.html&fromid=

#### Other References

- [11] Bertoldi P., Hirl B. and Labanca N. *Energy Efficiency Status Report 2012*. European Commission, Joint Research Centre, Institute for Energy and Transport.
- [12] Schleicher T., Liu R. Top 100: PROSA Leuchten für die Anwendung in Büros und verwandten Einsatzbereichen – Entwicklung der Vergabekriterien für ein klimaschutzbezogenes Umweltzeichen. Studie im Rahmen des Projektes "Top 100 – Umweltzeichen für klimarelevante Produkte", Öko-Institut e.V. 2013, http://www.oeko.de/oekodoc/1775/2013-464-de.pdf

# An investigation of the power consumption and quality of supply of LED lamps

# A Jakoef, HJ Vermeulen, S Fast, JC Bekker

# University of Stellenbosch, Department of Electrical and Electronic Engineering

### Abstract

Residential and Commercial Energy Efficiency projects conducted as part of Demand Side Management (DSM) interventions involve the exchange of inefficient lighting technologies with newer, more efficient lighting technologies to reduce the overall electricity usage. In the residential sector, these interventions often target halogen lamps which are replaced by Light Emitting Diode (LED lamps) lamps. The Measurement and Verification (M&V) of the energy savings impacts of these types of projects requires that baseline and post-implementation energy consumption profiles are determined for the lighting technologies removed and installed in the intervention. The relationship between the power consumption of the lighting technologies and the supply voltage magnitude are taken into consideration. Supply current waveforms of LED lamps loads have shown that the LED lamps give rise to zero-sequence, i.e. neutral, current loading. This is a potential cause for concern, especially for underrated networks.

This paper presents the results of a laboratory investigation to determine the effects of supply voltage magnitude on the power consumption of various LED lamps utilised in energy efficiency interventions. The power consumption is measured for supply voltages ranging from 207 V to 253 V, i.e. 90 % of the nominal supply voltage (in South Africa) of 230 V to 110 % of the nominal supply voltage. Variations up to 26 % of rated power are measured. Results of an investigation of the Quality of Supply related to LED lamps is also presented. Total Harmonic Distortions (THDs) as a high as 133 % are measured for the current waveforms.

#### Overview

The mass deployment of Light Emitting Diode (LED) lamps forms an important part of the current Demand Side Management (DSM) strategy designed to achieve energy savings and reduce the electrical demand in peak periods when generation and network capacity constraints are experienced. LED lamps are generally introduced in the place of conventional inefficient halogen lamps in the residential and commercial sector. Incandescent and halogen lamps represent a stable resistive load with little or no negative impact on the Quality of Supply (QOS) of the associated electrical supply networks. A typical LED lamp, on the other hand, features an electronic control circuit that drives single or multiple light emitting diodes, and therefore represents an active load. The supply current is highly distorted and thus represents a source of harmonic distortion with the potential to adversely affect QOS as defined in national standard NRS048 [1].

From a Measurement & Verification (M&V) perspective, the voltage dependency of the active power consumption of LED lamps loads differs from that of halogen lamp loads. This may impact on the methodology applied in determining the savings impacts of LED lamp interventions.

This paper gives details of a laboratory investigation undertaken with the view to determine the voltage dependency of the active power consumption as well as the spectral properties of the supply current. The following results are presented:

- Modelling of the voltage dependency of the active power consumption.
- A spectral analysis of the supply current.
- Neutral current loading for three-phase loads.

#### Overview of the measurement arrangement and LED samples

Figure 1 shows the measurement arrangement. An analog to digital converter is used to capture voltage and current waveforms for post processing.



#### Figure 1: Diagram of the measurement arrangement.

A number of tests were conducted on commercial LED lamps using the generic test arrangement shown in Figure 1. In order to determine whether the test results are consistent for LED lamps of the same rating from the same model, three samples of each rating per model were tested. These samples are denoted S1, S2 and S3 in Figure 1. Table I summarizes the subsection of the test results that are presented in this paper.

#### Table I: Summary of the LED lamps considered in this report.

Model	Power Rating [W]
A	4
В	3
С	3

Table II summarizes relevant specifications of the measuring equipment.

#### Table II: Specifications of the measuring equipment.

Equipment	Max. Voltage	Max. Current	Sampling Rate [kS/s]
NI CompactDAQ			
USB Data Acquisition Systems	-	-	-
300 Vrms Analog Input Power Measurement	300.1/		50
NI 9225	300 V <sub>RMS</sub>	-	50
4-Channel Current Input C Series Module		۶۸	50
NI 9227	-	SARMS	00

The data capturing and processing was performed with LabVIEW System Design Software. Table III summarizes the applicable power calculation formulas performed in LabVIEW System Design Software.

#### Table III: Post processing power calculation formulas.

Calculation	Formula
Average real power (P <sub>AVG</sub> ) [W]	$\frac{1}{T}\int_{0}^{T}v(t)\cdot i(t)dt$
Reactive power (Q) [Var]	$\sqrt{\left(\mathrm{V_{RMS}} \times \mathrm{I_{RMS}}\right)^2 - P_{AVG}}$
Apparent power (S) [VA]	V <sub>RMS</sub> × I <sub>RMS</sub>
Power factor	$\frac{P_{AVG}}{V_{RMS} \times I_{RMS}}$

# Voltage dependency characterisation and spectral analysis

The supply voltage  $V_{AC}$  was obtained from a generator and the supply voltage magnitude is controlled by a variac. The harmonic properties of the supply current should ideally be determined for a sinusoidal supply voltage source with zero internal impedance. For practical reasons, this was not possible and a supply voltage waveform, which exhibits a small degree of harmonic distortion, was used. In practice, a small amount of distortion is typical for low voltage (LV) supply networks [1]. As a result of the small amount of voltage distortion, it is important to qualify the results by giving information for the spectral properties of both the supply voltage and the supply current waveforms. The harmonic content of the supply voltage is shown in Figure 2.



#### Figure 2: Harmonic content of the supply voltage

#### **Measurement procedure**

The measurement procedure can be summarized as follows:

The LED lamps that are being measured are supplied with a supply voltage of 230 V and the lamps are allowed to stabilize for approximately 5 minutes. The voltage is reduced to 207 V (10 % under the nominal supply voltage of 230 V [1]) before gradually being increased in 2 % increments to 253 V (10 % above the nominal supply voltage). The voltage and current waveforms are sampled at 50kS/s and stored for post processing. LabVIEW System Design Software is used to perform the power calculations shown in Table III and to extract the desired spectral information from the recorded voltage and current waveforms.

#### Measurement results for voltage dependency

Figure 3 to Figure 5 show the supply current and active power as a function of the supply voltage for the LED lamps types listed in Table I. The values in the figures are presented in per unit.

The base value for the voltage, current and active power are determined by

$$V_{\text{base}} = V_{\text{nom}}$$
, (1)

$$I_{\text{base}} = \frac{P_{\text{rated}}}{V_{\text{nom}}}$$
(2)

and

$$\mathbf{P}_{\text{base}} = \mathbf{P}_{\text{rated}} \tag{3}$$

respectively, where  $V_{nom}$  is 230 V (nominal voltage in South Africa) and  $P_{rated}$  is the rated power of the lamp being measured.



Figure 3: Typical supply current and active power consumption versus supply voltage for the LED lamps of Model A.



Figure 4: Typical supply current and active power consumption versus supply voltage for the LED lamps of Model B.



Figure 5: Typical supply current and active power consumption versus supply voltage for the LED lamps of Model C.

#### Modelling of the voltage dependency of the active power consumption of LED lamps

Samples of LED lamps from the same model that have equivalent power ratings exhibit slight differences in the measured results. The following procedure was used to arrive at a representative model for the active power consumption of LED lamps versus RMS supply voltage for each respective model:

- The measured results for each LED lamp sample are modelled.
- The power consumption over the supply voltage range of interest is determined for each sample from the individual curve derived.
- The average of the power consumption of the test samples are obtained and then modelled with again in order to realize an active power versus supply voltage model for the specific LED lamp type.

Table IV summarizes the models or each of the LED lamp types evaluated. Figure 6 to Figure 8 compare the active power versus RMS supply voltage responses of the regression models to the original measurements obtained for each sample.

Table IV:	LED lamps	power	consumption	models
-----------	-----------	-------	-------------	--------

Model	Power Rating [W]	Active power model [W]	R square
А	4	$3.092 \times 10^{-3} V + 2.801$	0.9991
В	3	$1.195 \times 10^{-3} V + 1.160$	0.9997
С	3	$1.183 \times 10^{-3} V + 3.338$	0.9996

Figure 6 to Figure 8 show the active power consumption as a function of supply voltage for each of the samples tested for the LED lamps types listed in Table I. The values are presented in per unit [p.u.]. The base value for the voltage and active power values are as shown in equation 1 and equation 3.



Figure 6: Measured and modelled lamps active power consumption versus RMS supply voltage for the samples of Model A.



Figure 7: Measured and modelled lamps active power consumption versus RMS supply voltage for the samples of Model B.



# Figure 8: Measured and modelled lamps active power consumption versus RMS supply voltage for the samples of Model C.

#### Current spectral analysis

Figure 12, Figure 14 and Figure 16 shows a typical example of the current waveforms recorded for the test samples. The current waveforms are highly distorted.

The following two types of spectral results are given for the measured current waveforms:

- Line spectrums graphs that display the amplitudes of the harmonic components versus the harmonic order.
- The Total Harmonic Distortion (THD) of the waveforms is given.

The THD of a waveform is defined as the root of the sum of the square of the harmonic amplitudes divided by the amplitude of the fundamental component of the waveform. This is represented by the relationship

THD =

where  $V_n$  denotes the amplitude of the n<sup>th</sup> harmonic, N denotes the highest harmonic order taken into consideration and  $V_1$  denotes the amplitude of the fundamental component [2].

#### Harmonic Spectral Analysis

The supply voltage and current waveforms were digitized at a sample rate of 50000 samples per second. The Fast Fourier Transform (FFT) as implemented in LabVIEW was used to calculate the frequency spectrum of the transient voltage and current waveforms. The 50000-point FFT yields a frequency resolution of 1 Hz. In the spectral results given below, the amplitudes of the harmonic components spectrum are normalized relative to the amplitude of the 50 Hz fundamental frequency.

Figure 9 to Figure 11 shows the harmonic spectrum of the current waveform for the 3 samples of each of the models considered in this paper.



Figure 9: Current spectrum for the 3 samples of Model A.



Figure 10: Current spectrum for the 3 samples of Model B.



#### Figure 11: Current spectrum for the 3 samples of Model C.

The current spectrums exhibit large uneven harmonics. Table V illustrates the magnitude of the third harmonic relative to the fundamental for each of the tested LED lamps.

Table V: Magnitude of the 3 <sup>rd</sup>	<sup>1</sup> harmonics for sample 1	1 of the LED lamp	s considered in this paper

Model	Power Rating [W]	3rd Harmonic [%]	Current THD [%]
A	4	74.51	133.07
В	3	47.04	61.47
С	3	86.80	129.6

#### Zero sequence currents

One of the most important concerns of harmonic current distortion is the fact that the triplet orders, i.e. 3<sup>rd</sup>, 6<sup>th</sup>, 9<sup>th</sup> etc., represent zero sequence orders. This implies that these current components sum to produce a neutral current in three-phase loads. Measurements were taken in order to illustrate the order of magnitude of the zero sequence harmonic currents. Neutral current measurements were taken using three 40 W halogen light bulbs in order to determine if any neutral currents were present as a result of unknown sources. A neutral current of 5.1 mA was measured. This is possibly due to the slight imbalances of the three-phase supply voltage [2].

Figure 12 to Figure 17 show the results for the three-phase supply current and neutral current waveforms respectively for the LED lamps considered in this paper. The three-phase supply current yields large neutral current component, as expected based on the time-domain and frequency-domain properties of the phase waveforms.



Figure 12: Three-phase current of Model A.







Figure 14: Three-phase current of Model B.



Figure 15: Neutral current of Model B.



Figure 16: Three-phase current of Model C.



Figure 17: Neutral current of Model C.

Table VI contains a comparison between the phase A currents and the neutral currents of the LED lamps considered in this paper.

Model	Power Rating [W]	RMS Phase A Current [mA]	RMS Neutral Current [mA]	RMS Neutral current divided by RMS Phase A current
A	4	27.905	47.897	1.716
В	3	22.343	28.939	1.295
С	3	30.852	54.088	1.753

Table VI: RMS neutral current vs. RMS phase A current

### Conclusions

#### Voltage dependency

The power consumption of LED lamps as a function of supply voltage magnitude is approximately linear. The power consumption for the LED lamps at 207 V and 253 V respectively are as follows:

- Model A: Approximately 86 % of rated power at 207 V and 89.5 % of rated power at 253 V.
- Model B: Approximately 120 % or rated power at 207 V and 140 % of rated power at 253 V.
- Model C: Approximately 124 % of rated power at 207 V and 126.5 % of rated power at 253 V.

Model A and Model C exhibit an approximately constant active power consumption characteristic, with a less than 4% variation in the power consumption for the voltage range. Model B shows a greater variation in power consumption and exhibits a linear power consumption characteristic, similar to other lighting technologies such as incandescent lamps and compact fluorescent lamps [3].

From an M&V perspective, the variation of the power consumption characteristics of these models can influence the methodologies used to determine the savings impacts of LED lighting interventions, i.e. with models that have an approximately constant power consumption spot measurements at the project site may be sufficient for M&V purposes and for models with a greater variation in power consumption one would have to develop a model based on supply voltage and would have to log the supply voltage of the project site to determine the savings which could increase the cost of the M&V of such an intervention.

#### **Current spectral analysis**

The LED lamps supply current waveforms exhibit very high degrees of harmonic distortion, with the THD ranging from approximately 61.47 % to 133.07 % for the samples tested. Harmonic distortion gives rise to additional heat losses in the supply network, especially in distribution transformers [4]. However, because the LED lamps lighting load is small compared to restive loads such as cooking appliances and geysers, the overall impact on QOS is likely to be small [5].

The measured results for three-phase LED lamps loads have shown that the LED lamps give rise to high zero-sequence, i.e. neutral, current loading. This is a potential cause for concern, especially for underrated networks. The practical implications of the increased neutral current loads are increased voltage distortion at the consumer supply points, overheating of neutral conductors and connections, shift of the neutral voltage with respect to earth potential (with possible safety implications) and interference with protection schemes [6]. Overall, the severity of these effects is dependent on the relative LED lamps load rating, actual network ratings and network operating conditions. Most practical networks are likely to contain loads larger than LEDs and therefor the impacts of the neutral currents induced by LEDs are likely to have very little effect.

The results presented in this paper apply for an investigation conducted on the LED lamps referred to in this paper only.

#### References

- NRS, NRS048-2 Electricity Supply-Quality of Supply Part2: Voltage characteristics, compatibility levels, limits and assessment methods 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition, Republic of South Africa, Standards South Africa, 2003
- [2] J.D. Glover, M.S. Sarma, *Power Systems Analysis and Design*, United States of America, Brooks/Cole, 2002
- [3] A. Jakoef, *Impact assessment of energy-efficient lighting interventions*, MSc Eng, Stellenbosch University, Stellenbosch, South Africa, 2009
- [4] J. Arrillaga, N.R. Watson, *Power System Harmonic 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition*, England, John Wiley & Sons Ltd, 2003
- [5] S.K Rönnberg, M.H.J. Bollen, M. Wahlberg, Laboratory and field measurements of the power factor and the harmonic emission from energy-efficient lamps, EEDAL 2011, 6th International Conference on Energy Efficiency in Domestics Appliances and Lightning, Copenhagen, Denmark, 2011
- [6] R.C. Dugan, M.F McGranaghan, H.W Beaty, *Electrical Power Systems Quality*, United States of America, McGraw-Hill, 1996

# High quality energy efficient lighting for the domestic sector

Bernd Schäppi & Thomas Bogner, Austrian Energy Agency; George Zissis, LAPLACE University Paul Sabatier; Casper Cofod, Energy Piano; Suvi Salmela, Motiva; Reine Karlsson, TEM – Lund University; Pedro Esteves, ISR – University of Coimbra; Sabine Piller, Berlin Energy Agency; Michal Stasa, SEVEN; Aniol Esquerra Alsius, Ecoserveis; Liga Ozolina, EKODOMA; Andrea Roscetti, Energy Department, Politecnico Milano;Tom Lock, Energy Saving Trust

#### Abstract

New lighting legislation at European Union [EU] level and the fast development of Light Emitting Diode LED technology have been rapidly changing the market of lighting products for the domestic sector. While the classic incandescent lamps have largely disappeared from the market due to the new regulations, Compact Fluorescent Lamps [CFLs] have been improved and LED-technology has been further developed to meet high quality requirements for most applications in households. Nevertheless still many bad lamps are offered on the EU market and it remains challenging for consumers to make a good product choice. The new legislation has made comprehensive declaration of efficiency and quality criteria by manufacturers mandatory, however information criteria are complex and partly irritating for the buyer. A large variety of new products becoming available add to this complexity and many buyers feel discontent and search for guidance.

The IEE project PremiumLight has been designed to support consumers in the selection of efficient high quality products. The measures taken to reach this goal involve comprehensive action with the retail sector aiming at enforced placement and demonstration of efficient high quality lamps at the point of sale and in web-based sales channels. The core activities with retailers are supported by specific information and service tools and by testing of about 80 high quality lamp models. This testing shall confirm the high product quality claimed by manufacturers and provide a basis for concrete recommendations to consumers for LED, CFL and LFL linear fluorescent (LFL) amps.

Results from the product analysis and a basic preparatory research on current buyer behavior are presented. Essential approaches for the market measures are discussed.

#### 1. Introduction

New EU legislation for domestic lighting has strongly influenced the development of the lighting market between 2009 and 2013. The phase-out of the incandescent lamp had a strong impact on market development, in particular the recent development of CFL and LED technologies.

Facing the massive market change with well-known lamp types disappearing and many new lamp models appearing, many consumers felt themselves unguided and uncomfortable concerning the selection of appropriate products for their specific needs. Strong negative media campaigns in several countries against the incandescent lamps phase-out and against CFL technology further increased the uncertainty among buyers. Today, right after the phase-out of the incandescent lamps has been completed consumers find a large variety of LED-products and good quality CFL lamps. Furthermore halogen lamps are still available for applications where a lighting quality similar to standard incandescent lamps is needed.

Nevertheless, despite new EU-legislation, the products currently offered on the EU market still differ significantly regarding quality and efficacy. For the selection of efficient good quality lamps buyers have to consider and understand a number of quality and efficiency criteria. The selection of adequate

products from the different technologies is more than ever a demanding task. The initiative Premiumlight was designed to support consumers and retailers in good product selection.

This paper summarizes the results of some essential modules of the project covering among others consumer analysis, product testing and strategy for market measures.

# 2. Background – New lighting legislation and changing lighting technologies support transformation of the domestic lighting market

#### 2.1 New EU legislation for non-directional and directional lighting and its impact on the market

The market for domestic lighting products has been undergoing a significant change since 2009. In the period between 2009 and 2012 standard incandescent lamps typically used in households have been taken from the market due to new EU legislation [1]. The phase-out of incandescent lamps has strongly influenced the market development for the remaining lamp technologies, in particular for LED. In late 2012 additional regulations have been implemented by EC [2], [3] covering directional lamps and a label for all domestic lamp types.

Overall this new legal framework has introduced minimum requirements for lamps sold on the EUmarket covering both energy efficiency as well as quality aspects like color rendering, lamp lifetime, switching capability etc.. These criteria allow keeping bad quality lamps away from the EU market. Mandatory information requirements furthermore ensure that the consumer has access to all relevant product information which is to be presented on websites and on product packages. Finally the new label was designed to support consumers in the selection of most efficient products. Thus the new legal framework has provided an essential basis to accelerate market transformation to more efficient products.

Nevertheless the variety of lamp technologies and products available on the market and the number of now accessible efficiency and quality criteria make it more than ever challenging for consumers to select good lamps for various needs in households. While filtering the worst products from the EU-market, the new regulations still leave much room for mediocre product quality and efficiency: the framework still requires that consumers are very well informed about the different technologies and the essential quality and efficiency criteria. The label on the other hand provides a coarse information scheme on lamp efficacy which, however, due to the A+/A++ approach, is less effective as it could be.

Thus summarizing the new EU legislation without any doubts is an essential driver for energy efficient market development in the EU. However the concept leaves some gaps regarding information and stimulation of the demand side market which are to be filled with synergetic measures. The pros and limitations and the resulting need for complementary action can be summarized as follows.

#### Pros

The new EU legislation

- strongly supports the phase-out of the most inefficient lamp technologies, i.e. incandescent lamps and halogen lamps
- defines essential information criteria for all important efficiency and quality aspects which are now to be declared on lamp packages or on websites.
- provide minimum quality criteria (which however filter only the worst quality products from the market)
- provide new A+/A++ classes which allow a better differentiation of products in the upper segment of the label scale (at least in theory)

#### Limitations

The minimum quality criteria filter only the worst products from the EU market. It is thus very important for consumers to be able to distinguish between good and mediocre quality products remaining on the market.

- The now available comprehensive product information provided on the lamp packages and in web-based product information requires quite good knowledge of buyers. Consumers need to be able to interpret the information to take a good product choice.
- The label concept is coarse and with the A+/A++ approach not optimized to have a strong impact on the consumer, thus it is to be complemented with additional information measures.

# 2.1 Technology development – diverse market with different technologies and many different products CFLs further increases the challenge for consumers

LED technology for both domestic and professional lighting has been strongly improved within the last four years. Today almost all typical lamp types in households can be replaced with adequate LED lamps. Luminous flux of the most powerful LEDs is already higher than the flux of 75W standard incandescent lamps and regarding major quality and efficiency criteria like color rendering, lamp life time and efficacy, LEDs have already have been passing levels of CFLs. Color rendering values of 90 and above, average lifetimes above 25000 hrs. and efficacies of more than 80lm/W are declared for the best products.

On the other hand there is still the barrier of high production costs and high prizes. Efficient good quality LED lamps still cost between 20 and  $40 \in$  which is double the price of CFLs. Thus the selection of a LED for economic reasons only makes sense if double lifetime is provided.

Overall considering prices and types of applications LED is not necessarily always the better choice compared to a CFL. LEDs certainly are certainly to be preferred for applications where no warm-up time is acceptable and mercury in the lamps is to be avoided or where dimming is required (broad variety of dimmable LEDs). Furthermore LEDs provide a very competitive alternative to halogen spots, offering ten times longer lifetime and three times higher efficiency at comparable light quality.

Types and shapes of lamps from the major technologies halogen, CFL and LEDs are manifold and it is challenging for consumers to understand the advantages of different lamps and make a good product choice.

# 3. Current buyer behavior and some consequences for consumer information measures

#### 3.1 Short consumer analysis supporting the design of project measures

A short consumer survey conducted as part of the PremiumLight project was designed to get some insight into essential aspects of current buying behavior. The survey was designed as a limited "screening" approach involving a total of 500 consumers per country. The survey was based on a questionnaire covering questions on typical consumer preferences and aspects relevant to buying behavior. Interviews were limited to 20 min per person.

The following chapter shows only selected results of the investigation covering issues like the typical lamp types currently used in households, main lamp selection criteria as well as typical information and purchasing channels.

#### 3.2 Results from the analysis

#### Lamps used in households

As a first indicator of current buying and usage behavior, the average number and types of lamps in households have been analyzed. Fig. 1 provides a summarizing overview on the data for the different countries. The average total number of lamps currently used in households varies between 20 and 35 in the different countries. While in countries like Austria, Denmark and Sweden typically more than 30 lamps are installed, other countries like Czech Republic, France, Latvia and UK reported lower numbers close to 20 lamps per household. However it has to be considered that the bare installation numbers do not give an indication of real usage of lamps and luminaires. Even if in some countries typically more luminaires are installed, some of this luminaires may only rarely be used. The specific investigation did only include a rough analysis of the usage intensity indicating that depending on the country about 30-50% of the lamps

in the households are rarely used. No differences regarding usage intensity of different lamp technologies have been detected.

Still more interesting is the share of different lamp types which also indicates the average level of lighting efficiency already achieved in the households. Even after the complete phase-out of the standard incandescent lamp in fall 2012 a significant percentage of lamps in households still belong to this category. Shares of this lamp type in households range from 16% in Italy to about 42% in Latvia. This indicates that households still support stocks of incandescent lamps and it will still take some time until this low efficiency technology is completely removed from the market.

Concerning halogen lamp technology which is only slightly more energy efficient than classic incandescent technology the data shows the following situation. Halogen bulbs which have been introduced as replacement for classic incandescent lamps are still relatively rare, accounting for 5-10% of lamps in all countries (typically 1-3 lamps per household). On the other hand halogen spots are quite more common with shares between 10% and 28%. Halogen sticks (R7s) are used more frequently in Austria, Germany, Italy and Spain and are less abundant in the other countries. Although also in Austria, Germany, Italy and Spain only one lamp of this type per household is typically used, this may have a strong impact on overall lighting efficiency for the specific households. Halogen sticks are high power lamps rated 150-300W typically used for uplighters in living rooms. Thus one such lamp may use the same power as 10 CFL or 15 LED lamps and are often heavily used for several hours per day.

Overall the share of non-efficient lamps which include standard incandescent lamps, halogen spots and halogen bulbs ranges between 38% and almost 60% in the different countries. Consequently the potential for energy savings is still huge.

Regarding the use of lamps with fluorescent technology the number of installed lamps respectively the percentage of installed lamps also varies significantly between the different countries. The percentages range from 25% to 50%. In several countries also including the southern countries Italy, Spain and Portugal fluorescent lamp technology is quite well accepted while in other countries like Germany and Austria there are still more prerequisites against the technology.

Finally regarding LED lamps the results clearly show that the share of this technology is still low. The number of lamps per household ranges from 1% to 15% in the different countries. Most LEDs are currently used in Sweden, Portugal, Germany and Austria. Thus the potential for this technology clearly is high and currently mainly limited by high purchasing price.



Figure 1. Average numbers of lamps from the different technologies per household

#### Relevance of different criteria for lamp selection

Another aspect particularly relevant for the project is the criteria for lamp selection. In this context the project analysed the relative relevance of purchasing criteria like brand type, purchasing cost, lifetime, light color etc. in order to evaluate the specific key aspects primarily considered by the buyer.







# Fig.2 Importance of different lamp criteria from the buyers perspective in the different countries

Fig. 2 shows some of the survey results clearly indicating that purchasing price, light quality, lamp lifetime and energy efficiency (in parallel to operating costs, which is not shown) are of high or very high relevance for the buyers. On the other hand lamp brand, for example, is generally of little importance. Also lamp design is of limited importance for many buyers except for UK, Germany and Finland.

#### Information sources and purchasing channels for lamps

Knowledge on purchasing channels and information sources of consumers provides a central basis for the development of adequate information and communication measures. In the short survey buyers were asked about their specific habits for purchasing lamps. They were first of all asked about

the primary purchasing channels (selection of multiple important channels was allowed). Second they were asked to indicate the most used information channels.

Fig. 3 on typical buying channels shows that many consumers in the different countries are used to buy their lamps in super markets or simple grocery stores. This means that purchasing of lamps typically goes along with daily purchasing of groceries.



# Where do you typically buy your lamps?

#### Fig.3 Typical sales channels for lamps in the different countries

In most countries 60-80% of the consumers indicate that supermarkets and grocery stores are of major importance for lamp purchases. In many countries lamps are also bought in building and do-ityourself shops. 40-80 % of the consumers in these countries indicate these shops as very important for lamp purchases. Particular importance is indicated in Germany and Austria. On the other hand the relevance of specialized electronic shops is much lower with higher importance reported only from Czech Republic, Italy and Spain (highlighted by 40-60% of the consumers). In all other countries significant relevance is only indicated by less than 30% of the consumers. Sales via the internet besides Germany are mostly below or close to 10% and therefore rather negligible

Overall the buying patterns in the different countries have some significant relevance also regarding the demand of the different technologies. While supermarkets and grocery stores typically have sold low cost incandescent and halogen lamps the variety of energy saving lamps and LEDs is mostly small. Thus buyers mainly relying on supermarkets and grocery stores will have more difficulty in switching from old inefficient technology to energy saving lamps and LEDs. Variety of efficient lamps in do-it-your-self shops is generally much better.

Overall for a powerful communication strategy this means that both grocery stores/supermarkets and do-it-your-self stores are quite essential elements for effective promotion respectively for reaching a significant part of the target groups. However in the case of super-markets first of all the typical product assortment has to be influenced.

Concerning the primary information sources of consumers Fig. 4 provides some indication on preferences in the different countries. While the internet is a primary most important information source in all countries the relevance of other information channels is quite different from country to country. In some countries like Austria, Germany, France, Latvia, UK the relevance of information in do-it-yourself and building stores is quite high, while consumers in Portugal, Sweden, France, UK and Finland also claim high relevance of the information provided in super markets and grocery stores.

For strategic information purposes this means that information via web services is generally a very effective means for promotion and communication. For the other sales channels the relevance differs from country to country. Furthermore it is noticeable that a significant percentage of buyers reported that they do not know where to inform themselves about lamps. In seven of the countries 20-30% of the buyers indicated that they do not know where to be informed about lamps. Thus a significant share of the consumers is still to be reached.



# Where do you look for information about lamps?

Fig. 4 Typical information sources for buyers of lamps

# 4. Assessment of product quality and efficiency of LEDs

The PremiumLight initiative also has a focus on providing guidance to efficient high quality products. For this purpose also product testing of declared efficient high quality lamps is conducted. Selected LED products from the upper quality and efficiency segment of the EU market are tested to verify promised performance levels. It is not a goal to test average or lower quality products or to do market surveillance in terms of the EU-regulations. For the selection of lamps from the upper quality and efficiency segment concrete criteria had to be defined which are described in the following chapter.

#### 4.1 Quality and efficiency criteria

Product tests covered both directional and non-directional lamps typically used in households. Spot lamps included both high-voltage and low voltage lamps. It was a priority to select rather powerful lamp types and lamps that are the most advanced and relatively new on the market. Second, concrete criteria have been set in terms of colour temperature, colour rendering and lamp lifetime. The criteria are listed in the table 1. Regarding light colour and colour rendering only "warm-white" lamps with a colour temperature between 2600 and 3500K have been considered. Minimum colour rendering was Ra80 (f LED lamps with lower Ra are allowed on the market until fall 2013). The minimum declared lamp-lifetime was 20000 hrs. The minimum luminous was 200lm for spots and 400lm for bulbs. Thus typically lamps serving as replacement for 30-50W halogen spots and for 40W-75W bulbs were tested. Minimum efficiency was defined as 55lm/W for bulbs and 45 lm/W for spots with an exception for IKEA lamps which were included in the sample due to their abundance and frequent use.

The lamp sample included 3 tested lamps per sample and testing results are provided as average values from the three tests. For the initial test conducted in early 2013 only the parameters luminous flux, colour rendering, colour temperature, efficacy and power factor have been considered. The criteria lumen maintenance and switching cycles are part of the long-term tests with a first evaluation in fall 2013. Testing of the different criteria has been based on the available relevant standards.

Market surveillance testing is typically done with 20 lamps per lamp model. Thus this specific testing has not been designed as market surveillance but the results are also used as a type of pre-screening of products.

	LED-Bulbs	LED-Spots
Color temperature	2600-3500	2600-3500
Color Rendering	>80	>80
Luminous Flux	>400	>200
Efficacy	>55lm/W	>45Im/W
Lamp-Lifetime	>20000	>20000

#### Table 1. Minimum values for the selection of tested lamps

#### 4.2 Selected results from the initial testing period

Tables 2 and 3 provide a summary of the initial measurements for luminous flux, colour temperature, colour rendering, efficacy and power factor for both bulb-shaped and spot lamps. Both measured data and data declared by manufacturers (in brackets) are shown. Long-term testing also including indicators for lamp-lifetime (e.g. lumen maintenance and switching cycles) is continued until fall 2013 with results being reported before the end of the year.

Overall the results from the initial testing were quite promising. Test results for the well-known brands for several products were even better than the declared values. In contrast for a few less known brands there was a contrary tendency.

According to the test results and in agreement with the product declarations all lamps provided warmwhite light colour (between 2600k and 3200K) with only moderate deviations from the declared values.

The representation of light colours was mostly good and very good for a few models. The majority of the lamps showed colour rendering values between Ra80 and Ra85. Very good colour rendering was provided by two bulb-type products from Swedish and Austrian manufacturers, which both offer lamps with Ra 90. On the other hand part of the lamps with good colour rendering showed comparably low efficacy below 50lm/W. Lamps from one no-name brand showed low colour rendering of Ra 70 which is not desirable for indoor lighting and will not be allowed anymore by EU legislation after fall 2013.

Regarding brightness and energy efficiency most products showed quite good testing results largely in agreement with the declared product data. Energy efficiency was mostly above 60lm/Watt for bulbs and close to or above 50lm/W for spots. Unfortunately the lamp model with the highest measured efficiency (86 lm/W) could not comply regarding colour rendering requirements.

Only two lamp models showed dramatically lower luminous flux compared to manufacturer declaration. A measured flux of 24-33% below declared values is not acceptable from the consumer perspective.

Besides the quality and efficacy parameters also the power factor has been measured for most lamps. While not being a direct quality criterion for consumers, a low power factor typically has a negative impact on the grid. There has been significant debate in the eco-design process for domestic lighting to what extent minimum requirements for the power factor shall be considered. The current definitions require that lamps below 5W power will need to have a power factor >0,4, lamps above 5W a power factor of >0,5. As the data indicates not all lamps from the test would comply with this new requirements.

Overall the test results show that most lamps especially from the well-known brands provide good quality and efficiency and are in agreement with the manufacturer declarations.

	Туре	Luminous Flux [lm]	Power [W]	Power factor	Efficacy [Im/W]	Color temperature [K]	Color rendering index CRI
AustroLed	G50 clear bulb	416 (550)	4.8 (6)	0.44	86.1 (91.7)	2,983 (2,700)	70 (80)
Philips	LED 11W	861 (806)	10 (11)	0.57	85.8 (73.3)	2,673 (2,700)	80.7 (80)
Osram	Parathom Classic A 75	1,063 (1,055)	13 (14.5)	0.96	82.0 (72.8)	2,727 (2,700)	80.2 (80)
V-Light	Bulb	763 (810)	9.5 (10)	0.88	80.2 (81)	2,851 (2,700)	87.7 (85)
Philips	Master LED Bulb	1,248 (1,055)	16.3 (17)	0.71	76.4 (62.1)	2,673 (2,700)	81.1 (80)
Samsung	LEDA19	718 (650)	9.4 (10)	0.94	74.9 (65)	2,823 (2,700)	80.3 (80)
LEDON	G95 (Globe)	662 (600)	9.4 (10)	0.81	70.2 (60)	2,660 (2,700)	89.4 (90)
Bioledex	LIMA 17W	1,095 (1,200)	16.1 (17)	0.83	67.9 (70.6)	2,883 (2,900)	85.1 (85)
MegaMan	LED Classic, MM21015	699 (620)	11.3 (11)	0.69	61.9 (56.4)	2,857 (2,800)	79.9 (80)
MegaMan	LED Classic Professional, MM21016	720 (810)	11.8 (11)	0.68	61.2 (73.6)	2,887 (2,800)	80.4 (80)
IKEA	LEDARE Clear bulb	397 (400)	7.4 (8.1)	0.55	53.5 (49.4)	2,559 (2,700)	92.5 (85)
IKEA	LEDARE Frosted Bulb	384 (400)	7.5 (8.1)	0.55	51.1 (49.4)	2,662 (2,700)	93.6 (85)

### Tab.2 Declared and tested values of key parameters for non-directional LEDs (bulbs)

# Tab.3 Declared and tested values of key parameters for directional LEDs (high-voltage and low voltage spot lamps)

Brand	Туре	Light output [Im]	Power [W]	Power factor	Efficacy [Im/W]	Color temperature [K]	Color rendering index CRI
V-Light	Spot (GU10)	356 (380)	5.7 (6)	0.67	62.6 (63.3)	2,863 (3,000)	78.3 (80)
Philips	Reflektor 6.5W, (GU5.3)	409 (380)	6.6 (6.5)	-	62.2 (58.5)	2,690 (2,700)	84.8 (80)
Philips	Master Spot (GU10)	210 (165)	4.0 (4)	0.60	52.6 (41.3)	2,900 (2,700)	82.9 (80)
LEDON	7W LED (GU10)	314 (320)	6.1 (7)	0.41	51.5 (45.7)	2,813 (2,700)	84,6 (80)

Osram	LED Superstar PAR16 (GU10)	252 (200)	5.1 (5.5)	0.47	49.4 (36.4)	3,043 (3,000)	80.8 (80)
Barthelme	LED Spot MR 16 (GU5.3)	238 (315)	4.9 (6)	-	48.9 (52.5)	2,940 (3,000)	81.5 (80)
AustroLed	LED Spot MR16 (GU5.3)	263 (400)	5.5 (6)	-	47.5 (66.7)	3,120 (3,000)	81.4 (80)
TOSHIBA	Spot (GU10)	282	6.1 (6.5)	0.92	46.3	2,673 (2,700)	80.7 (80)

# 5. Strategic concept of PremiumLight to support the demand-side market - Cooperation with retailers

#### 5.1 Simplicity and clearness in consumer information

In the introductory section it has already been outlined that the current market situation and EU legal framework and information policy still leaves some challenges for the buyers to select high quality efficient lamps for the specific individual needs. Eco-design and labelling regulations have improved the situation by removing the worst products from the EU market and by providing a rough indication of the energy efficiency of products. However the framework leaves still leaves much room for very different levels of product quality and efficiency and it remains still a challenge to select adequate high quality lamps for specific purposes. Consumers need to be familiar with the advantages and disadvantages of the different lamp technologies and need to be able to interpret the most important quality and efficiency criteria:

Thus the PremiumLight-Initiative is strongly focusing on the following goals to support the demand side market:

- Making the most important product criteria easy understandable for the consumer and visible at the point of sale
- Inform the consumer of the advantages of the different lamp technologies and their suitability for different applications in a simple and transparent way.
- Inform and train retailers and enable them for effective consultation of consumers
- Promoting good products based on product testing

#### 5.2 Education and information of retailers and consumers

Information and education of retailers is achieved with new information tools focusing on the essential information on lamp technologies and quality parameters for a good lamp selection. For this purpose the following major measures are taken:

- A new type of information material (both digital and printed versions) is made available for both retailers and consumers focusing on the essential technology and criteria information linked to typical lighting applications in households
- Consumer information is supported by specific demonstration and visualization measures in shops
- Knowledge of sales personnel is supported by web-based training tools
- Additional tools concerning operation costs and incentives for purchases of energy efficient equipment are implemented.

The full roll-out of activities is done between summer and winter 2013 with major actions still continued until in 2014.

### 6. Conclusions

The results of the market analysis have shown that many consumers in the EU-countries were used to buy their lamps in grocery stores and supermarkets together with their daily purchases. In the age of the incandescent lamp standard 40-75 watt light bulbs were the typical most common light source in households. Thus the few lamp types from the major brands typically offered in grocery stores and supermarkets often were sufficient to meet the common needs for household lighting. Today the market has completely changed and a large variety of lamp types especially LEDs from different brands and of different quality are offered on the EU-market. Thus the consumer should consider that buying good lamp products requires more information but potentially also a change of the source respectively the type of shops where the products are purchased. Today it is clearly more effective to buy lamps in shops where more expertise and variety is provided such as in special electronic shops, electronic retail chains or do-it-yourself shops.

The investigations furthermore indicate that consumers in the EU countries are aware of the different essential criteria to be considered for lamp purchases including luminous flux, light colour, lamp lifetime, colour rendering and efficacy. However it is still essential to educate consumers and retailers about the proper criteria levels that make a good lamp. The product range currently offered on the EU-market especially for LEDs still includes quite different quality e.g. products with low lamp lifetime e.g.10000hrs or even below or a colour rendering of Ra<80. Thus a careful product selection by the consumer is quite essential.

Rather little attention is currently spent on lamp design and lamp brands. However both of these aspects have become much more important today as especially for LEDs quite different designs from a large number of manufacturers are sold. Lamp quality may differ significantly between different designs and manufacturers.

Lamp tests conducted as part of the PremiumLight initiative have been focussed on LED technology and primarily on the goal to test and finally recommend good quality lamps. Thus the specific tests do not allow conclusions on the average quality of LED lamps. For the tested premium segment of both non-directional lamps and directional lamps the tests showed an overall good product quality. Only few lamps from the sample showed lower quality respectively failed to comply with the declared quality or efficiency criteria. However some long-term tests providing more information on lifetime related aspects like lumen maintenance are still continued and will finalize the comprehensive assessment of the products.

# References

- [1] EC: COMMISSION REGULATION (EU) No 1194/2012 of 12 December 2012, implementing Directive 2009/125/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council with regard to ecodesign requirements for directional lamps, light emitting diode lamps and related equipment.
- [2] EC: COMMISSION REGULATION (EC) No 245/2009 of 18 March 2009 implementing Directive 2005/32/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council with regard to ecodesign requirements for fluorescent lamps without integrated ballast, for high intensity discharge lamps, and for ballasts and luminaires able to operate such lamps, and repealing Directive 2000/55/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council
- [3] EC: COMMISSION DELEGATED REGULATION (EU) No 874/2012 of 12 July 2012 supplementing Directive 2010/30/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council with regard to energy labeling of electrical lamps and luminaires

# Going down the efficiency road for domestic lighting: Detailed assessments of possible savings in one-person households by new, efficient lighting solutions - a study based on measurements and health aspects

# Egil Öfverholm , The Swedish Energy Agency

### Carlos Lopes, Zinaida Kadic, Peter Bennich, The Swedish Energy Agency

**Topic**: Measurement Methods and International Harmonisation; End-use Metering and Home Automation; Program and Policies Monitoring & Evaluation

**Key words**: Lighting, EcoDesign Directive, Energy labelling Directive, campaign results, monitoring and evaluation, consumer behaviour

#### Abstract:

The aim of this paper is to is to explore possibilities of decreasing energy consumption of lighting using the data collected in an in-depth measurement campaign. For the purpose, one-person households are chosen since it is only in this type of household the effects of occupancy control can be shown. Furthermore, one-person households are also becoming more and more common so they represent a significant part of all households.

The Swedish energy agency carried out an extensive measuring campaign during 2005 - 2008 in apartments and detached houses in order to measure most of the end-use equipment in ordinary homes, with respect to energy use, user patterns, etc [Zimmermann, 2009]. Previous reports from this study have shown that lighting is one of the most dominant end-uses; more than 20 % of the domestic use of electricity is from lighting, particularly incandescent light bulbs.

This study uses the full potential of the vast lighting data collected which allowed to analyse where and which lighting technology is used and how it is used by the consumers in different dwellings, room types, etc.

- The study comprises of four steps: retrofit of incandescent light sources with CFLs and LEDs retrofit of halogen lights with LEDs; introduction of more lighting controls; and adaptation of light levels to our circadian rhythm by dimming techniques for one-person households. In the first step the incandescent light sources were replaced by efficient lighting. LED based retrofits have developed rapidly in the past years and provide more and more of these alternatives up to correspondingly 60 W incandescent lamps.
- In step two halogen lights were replaced with LED retrofit lamps.
- In step three the possible savings by using more lighting controls have been assessed.
- In the final step an attempt to assess the savings by adapting light levels to our sleeping (circadian) rhythms by dimming techniques have been done.

The final result is a household lighting giving the same comfort as before or even better taking the circadian rhythm into account. At the same time energy consumption is reduced from 333 kWh per year to 60 kWh, which corresponds to a reduction of 82 per cent. Part of this reduction has been already been achieved with the ecodesign ban on sales of incandescent lamps. However as halogen lamps in many cases have replaced incandescent lamps the full potential of replacement is not yet there.

#### 1. Introduction

#### 1.1 Ecodesign

The ecodesign regulations for non-directional lighting<sup>1</sup> have been in place since 2009 and the last exemption for incandescent-based lamps was removed in 2012. The same year the new regulation on directional

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Regulation 244/2009

lighting and LED lamps<sup>2</sup> and energy labelling for all kinds of lamps<sup>3</sup> were adopted (although they come into force 1 September 2013 at first), finally putting requirements of this so-far only partly regulated lighting products. The phase-out of the incandescent bulb is therefore almost complete and new lighting solutions, not least based on LED-technology, is taking over at a rapid pace.

Following the implementation of the new regulations, an interesting task for governments is to explore whether the expected savings potential (at least 39 TWh annually from 2020) will be realised, or if, for instance, rebound effects will offset these savings. Possible effects include unforeseen lighting systems combined with altered user patterns. Thus, in order to analyse the change in technology and use of lighting, it is important to know the situation before the new regulation <sup>1</sup> came into force in 2009.

Ultimately, only new measurement campaigns combined with statistical sound questionnaires can give complete and detailed answers on the outcome of the impact of the ecodesign regulations. However, these are expensive and time-consuming exercises and thus beyond the budget for many governments.

#### 1.2 Selection of households

The selection has been done in cooperation with the Swedish statistics agency, "Statistics Sweden". Households were chosen so there would be a good variety of possible combinations regarding different family types, building type (house or apartment), location (city, village, countryside) and construction date (old, recent, new). By the end of the measurement period, it was difficult to find households with the right criteria in the original sample set; therefore some additional households were recruited via personal contacts. It can be discussed whether this is all right from a statistical point of view, but the decision was made that more households were of use despite possible problems with bias etc. However this is the first measurement campaign ever for household electricity with the ambition to have a statistically correct representation of a nation

#### 1.3 Geographical aspects

The geographic spread was limited to be within the region of Lake Mälaren, since it offered the desired variety of households within a practical distance. But since lighting use could probably vary as a function of latitude, a few households were chosen from the far north (Kiruna) and south (Malmö). Preliminary results, however, indicate no particular dependency of latitude.

#### 1.4 Enquiries

The invited households were asked to fill in a detailed enquiry, with questions on the socio-economic background (address, age, gender, income, etc.), technical information on the dwelling (including their household heating system), and finally their appliances. Also, questions on the manufacturing model of white goods and TVs were also included. This information has been used in correlation analysis between stated energy performance (via the energy label for white goods) and actual energy performance [Bennich, 2009]. In addition, the electricians who installed the measuring equipment also filled in a detailed installation sheet which complemented and, in some cases, corrected the enquiries.

#### 1.5 Measurements

The number of light sources in a typical Swedish home may be substantial; it can easily be over 60. Thus, measuring all of them was a difficult task and required a combination of direct and indirect measurements. It was performed in the following way, based on the concept used in the EURECO-study [Sidler, 2002]:

- Light sources were measured in an indirect way: light sensors measured when the lamps were on and
  off; together with information of the nominal power it was then possible to calculate the energy
  consumption (energy = power \* time).
- The dimmable lamps were measured by serial meters placed between the socket outlet and the fixture.

Swedish homes usually have one fixed lighting outlet, usually in mid ceiling, and one over the kitchen sink. The rest of the fixtures are plugloads. In order to make the measurements cost-effective only 40 measurements have been carried out for a whole year. 349 have been measured for a month, evenly distributed over the year and then scaled up to annual values using a seasonality factor for each month that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Regulation 1194/2012

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Regulation 874/2012

has been created from the yearly measurements. This has been done in order to correct for the considerable differences of daylight in summer and winter. See [Bennich, 2011]. All in all, measurements were performed in 200 houses and 189 apartments. The measurements started in September 2005 and ended June 2008. The measurements, most of the analysis and the reporting have been carried out by Enertech (French company) in collaboration with YIT (Swedish electric installer). Using the 10 minute data for lamp measurements, detailed load curves on a daily, weekly, monthly and yearly basis were achieved. In total there are more than 500 000 million data points for lighting.

#### 1.6 The database

Due to the amount of data the appliances and the lighting database are separate. All data is stored in SQL format. Qlickview and Powerpivot were used as analysing tools. The database with the raw metering data is available for research purposes. Reports are available at the Swedish Energy Agency's homepage <u>www.swedishenergyagency.se</u>. Apart from the energy and time measurements, data on wattage and type of lamp (CFL, fluorescent, halogen 230 V, halogen low voltage and incandescent) was collected. The measurements were made on each fixture. There is also data on light sources per fixture and indoor temperature. Metadata includes type of rooms, areas in m<sup>2</sup>, age of the building, age and sex of inhabitants, and household income.

#### 1.7 Basis for calculations

From the main database one-person households were extracted, thus decreasing the total amount of dwellings analysed from 389 to 57. For each household, data on type of light source (CFL, fluorescent tubes, 230 V halogen, low voltage halogen and incandescent) combined with power and time in ON-mode per fixture were used for the calculations. The ON-mode time was divided with the total measurement time and then multiplied with the total hours of one year and the seasonality factor resulting in hours-ON per year. From these data the average energy demand per household can be calculated to 333 kWh/year.

#### 2. Use of lighting

The measurements in the next tables and diagrams were made before the Ecodesign requirements came into force. Since the end of the 1990s very few, if any, CFL campaigns were carried out in Sweden and there was never a government subsidy. This could explain the low penetration of CFLs found in the study (Table 1). Fluorescent (tubular) light is used over kitchen sinks and in many flats attached to the kitchen ceiling. Table 1 Average light sources in one-person households

Light sources	Light sources/household		
CFL	2,2		
Fluorescent - tubular	1,5		
Halogen 230V	0,2		
Halogen low V	1,0		
Incandescent	10,5		
Dimmable	0,5		

Only data from 57 singles' households are presented, since it is only in this type of household the effects of occupancy control can be shown. One-person households are also becoming more and more common so they represent a significant part of all households.

Table 2. Use of existing light sources in one-person households.

Light source	Hours on/year		
CFL	968		
Fluorescent	725		
Halogen 230V	219		
Halogen low V	644		
Incandescent	661		

As CFLs and fluorescent light sources are more expensive than incandescent lamps, and have longer lifetimes, they are usually placed where light sources have to be on for longer times.

Regarding lighting, the annual energy consumed in a one-person household is 333 kWh. The analysis included only bathroom, bedroom, hall, kitchen and living room. If all rooms are included the sum is 373 kWh. The reason for not including other rooms, such as a second bedroom, office etc. is that these rooms do not occur in every household. As a comparison a two-person household consumption is 673 kWh/year and a 3+ household is 1068 kWh/year.



It can also be observed that the spread is considerable, see Figure 1.

**Figure 1**. Annual energy consumption for the considered one-person households. Seasonality factor has been accounted for.

The household consuming less lighting energy related (far right in the diagram), 11,3 kWh/year, was measured during May and June, a time of the year when daylight is present even during the evening. Measurements during this period can give a too low total annual consumption even when correcting for seasonal effects (using the seasonality factor; see Section "Measurements" above for further explanations). However it was a three-room apartment in the middle of Sweden. The apartment was used every day, it had 8 CFLs and one fluorescent tube. Lamps were only used in one room at a time.

#### 3. Change from incandescent to CFL/LED

The aim of this study is to quantify efficiency possibilities for lighting. This section deals with replacement of light sources. The first step is replacing incandescent light bulbs to the more efficient CFL or LED light sources. Since the annual hours-on and power for each light source is known, incandescent lamp's retrofit analysis can easily be made. Averages are then calculated for all fixtures and then divided with the number of households. The result is divided with the base case, 330 kWh/year giving the percentages in Figure 2. The same procedure is then used for halogen lamps replaced by LEDs.

This study assumes that when changing from incandescent to CFL or LED the power is reduced by 80%, and that all incandescent light bulbs are changed to CFL or LEDs. However, recent Swedish market data<sup>4</sup> suggest that the replacement in many cases have been halogen 230 V class C. But if stage 6 in the lighting regulation 244/2009 (non-directional lighting) is fulfilled in 2016, halogen class C will be phased out<sup>5</sup>. Thus, the replacement will then be directed to LED, CFL and halogen 230 V class B, leading to a closer realisation of the theoretical savings.

The figure below show the percentage of electricity use when 1) all incandescent lamps are replaced and 2) when both incandescent and halogen lamps are replaced.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Swedish Lighting Association, private communication

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> A possible abolishment of stage 6 is under current review by the Commission, and a decision is expected to be made under the fall in 2013.



Figure 2. Replacement savings. Reduction of the average households energy demand when incandescent and halogen lightsources are replaced with CFL and LED. One person households

If all households had only incandescent lighting from the beginning the percentage for incandescent to CFL/LED in Figure 2 would be 20%. However, taking into account the existing CFL:s and . fluorescent light sources in the household and their usage, hours on, the remaining energy consumption will be 31%.

In a second step directional halogen lamps are replaced with LEDs. The resulting consumption with both measures applied will be 28%. One explanation for the limited decrease of halogen lamp's consumption is the low ownership of these types of light sources at the time of the measurements, see Table 1.

#### 4. Occupancy and Circadian rhythms

In the foregoing section, savings due to simple replacements were addressed. In this chapter time-of-use will be explored, in two ways.

First, assuming a perfect control system, it would in principle be possible to use light only in the room where there is a person present; all other light sources in the other rooms should then be turned off. Since the normal case is that several rooms are lit all the time or at least a major part of the time, it is interesting to assess the relative savings if only one room is lit at any moment.

Secondly, recent insights of the relation between light and health suggest that we are not optimising the use of light from a health perspective. Depending on latitude and season, this can mean both under- and overexposure to light over the day, especially considering the light spectrum and time of the day. In Nordic countries it is normally assumed that people are underexposed to daylight, meaning that artificial light can be used to compensate for that in e.g. the evening. But care has to be taken of the light spectrum; as has been shown in recent years, a dose of blue light in the morning is a key component for entraining of the circadian rhythm. And opposite, a too strong exposure of not only blue light but light in general (flux levels should not be too high) in the evening could disrupt the onset of sleep and should therefore be avoided [Rea, 2013].

So, there are reasons to believe that artificial light is not used in an optimal way from a health perspective, and that there is a possibility to combine a both more healthy and efficient lighting by optimising the spectral distribution and total flux over the day. As a first estimate, based on discussions with Rea et al, it is assumed that the flux levels between 21.00 and 24.00 are actually too large with a factor of two. Thus, it is possible to assess what the savings will be if we adjust the flux levels to a more suitable level at the hours just before going to sleep.

So, assuming the perfect control system. Occupancy means how lights are lit in the apartment, for instance, whether all lights in all rooms are ON all the time, Figure 3, or only when the room is being occupied see Figure 4 and the discussion in section 2).


Figure 3. One-person household. Lighting energy consumption in kWh/10min. Example of having lights on in all rooms



**Figure 4.** One-person household. Lighting energy consumption in kWh/10min. Example of using light in one room at a time in most of the evening

In order to find out the savings potential, lights in all rooms but one were turned off, for each dwelling in the database. The room which used most energy for lighting was left with the lights ON. Therefore, an underestimation of the possible savings is being made, as it was impossible to know which of the lit rooms, and at which time, was occupied, hence the conservative approach. One possibility could be to check if the TV, radio or oven was on, but other studies [Ofverholm, 2011] state that a TV or radio could be on 24/7. The demand for the room using most energy is divided with the actual energy demand for that specific household. The relative savings (in %) are presented in Figure 5.

How can these savings be achieved? Of course we can hope that everybody through information campaigns will learn how to treat the off button in each room like our grandmothers and grandfathers did. Taking into account the growing number of fixtures per household and the more affordable electricity information campaigns might not be enough considering the small amount of money that can be saved. For example the average yearly demand for one-person households in this study is 333kWh/year. Replacement of

incandescent with 333kWh times 28% gives 93 kWh. Reducing the time-on gives 93 kWh times 29%, (Figure 5), resulting in 27 kWh/year. In Sweden that would mean a cost of  $27kWh^*0, 15 \in = 4 \in per$  year. The other way is through technology. In Sweden occupancy sensors are more and more common in offices and home control systems are emerging even though on a smaller scale. In addition occupancy and daylight sensors integrated into LED fixtures can be a very cost–effective solution.

However there is a psychological restraint, the fear of darkness. This could be overcome by dimming the lights to a low level in rooms not occupied. Dimmable CFL;s and LED;s exist on the market today but cost more.

Biological rhythms that repeat approximately every 24 hours are called circadian rhythms. Light is the main stimulus that helps the body's circadian clock, and thus circadian rhythms, maintain synchronization with the solar day. Humans need to be exposed to a sufficient amount of light of the right spectrum, for a sufficient amount of time, and at the right time, for our biological clocks to remain synchronized with the solar day. Otherwise, we may experience decrements in physiological functions, neurobehavioral performance, and sleep. No more than 100 lux at the cornea of a less circadian-effective white light source (i.e., less short wavelength energy), such as a 2700 Kelvin temperature (K) lamp, and minimizing any exposure to daylight, is recommended for evening hours. [Rea et al 2013]

The study does not allow to providing more specific recommendations as no lux measurements were done and since there was not enough data to calculate lux from lumens via the fixture performance and reflective surfaces of the room. In order to simulate the reduction in exposure for evening hours, light is halved between 21 and 24 o'clock. This could of course be done manually by shutting of some of the light sources in the room, but the preferable way is to do it with a home control system and dim the fixtures gradually. This will be called "flux regulation"; the resulting savings are presented in Figure 5.



**Figure 5.** Time of use savings. Calculated average savings for one person households as percentage of energy demand. Measured, corresponds to 333kWh/year. Occupancy - only one room lit. Flux regulation - between 21 and 24 hours, half power.

#### 5. Savings from applying all measures

In order to give an idea of all measures discussed above we can see from Figure 6 that for a one-person household the yearly energy reduction can be from 333 kWh to 59 kWh.



**Figure 6** One-person household, kWh/year. Summary of the energy savings considering all measures analysed.

Figure 5 summarises the savings achieved by the measures analysed i.e. 1) when replacing incandescent lamps including halogens by CFL /LED, 2) adding occupancy sensors equivalent to switching of lights in rooms not occupied; 3) "flux control" represents reduced time–ON or dimming for lamps in order to meet demands on lower flux towards the end of the day.

#### 6. Discussion

What are the chances that this will happen?

Regarding the type of light sources, a significant part of the changes has come true trough the ecodesign requirements. Unfortunately a considerable switch to halogen has occurred, but the entry into force of new ecodesign stages and the mandatory use of energy label, the halogen lamps will gradually be replaced. For the rest of the measures – occupancy and lowering white lighting during the evening, common sense, availability and use of control systems and time should play its role.

The technology, type of products on the market and the use of LED is evolving at an amazing pace. There are good reasons to believe that LEDs will take over the market entirely as it is beginning to do in Japan<sup>6</sup> and the Im/W ratio continuous to follow the performance curve. Thus the energy saving calculations presented in this paper from replacing incandescent and halogen lamps may be too conservative.

A trend we have observed is that more fixtures are being installed per home, namely for creating lighting ambiences. This trend may reduce the potential for energy savings presented in this paper .

Occupancy sensors in other households than one-person's, will probably have less impact than in this study, but still important especially combined with flux regulation.

Are our results representative for Sweden, Europe and in general? From a strict statistic point of view the results are probably not representative as the sample was not representative and we were not able to account all households that were measured. However, the measurement study provided, to our knowledge, the most detailed data that is available, wehich allow to produce very solid results,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Japan is planning to produce only LED from 2020 and only have LED in the entire stock from 2030, according to a presentation by Mr Yoshihiro Kudo, NEDO, at the international workshop on Solid State Lighting, 8 March 2012, Tokyo.

A planning for a new study has just started. There is an increasing interest to study the impact of ecodesign and labelling activities. The final decision to go ahead will be taken by the end of 2013 or early 2014.

### References

- Bennich, 2009 Energy demands for white goods, what influences? Answer from in-depth metering of electricity demand in 400 Swedish households. EEDAL 2009, paper 129
- Bennich, 2011 The need for seasonal correction functions when calculating the annual electricity use of appliances based on shorter period measurements. ECEEE 2011, paper 7553
- Rea et al, 2013 Lighting the Swedish Healthy Home (draft version June 2013)
- Sidler, 2002, End-use metering campaign in 400 households of four European countries. The SAVE-project EURECO, 2002.
- Ofverholm, 2011, Possible savings for audiovisual electricity demand. A study based on detailed electricity measurements in 387 Swedish households. EEDAL 2011
- Zimmermann, 2009 End-use metering campaign in 400 households in Sweden, assessment of the potential electricity savings. Swedish Energy Agency

# Comparison of Omni-Directional LED Lamp Performance: How Do the IEA 4E Performance Tiers Compare to Current LED Lamp Technology in the United States?

# Christopher Wold and Allison Hua Fan

# CLASP

## Abstract

Lighting is responsible for 16% of the world's electricity consumption (Tsao & Waide, 2010). Solid state lighting (SSL) technologies have the potential to reduce lighting electricity consumption by 30% globally (IEA, 2012). To achieve this goal, SSL technologies, including light-emitting diode (LED) lamps, will need to achieve high levels of market adoption. This will only occur if these products meet consumer expectations of performance. To that end, the International Energy Agency's (IEA) Efficient Electrical End-Use Equipment (4E) program established an Annex focusing on addressing gaps and barriers to greater market penetration of LED Technology. As one of its three tasks, the SSL Annex focused on LED quality, and through that work established a series of performance tiers for a range of popular lighting products, including non-directional lamps. The IEA 4E SSL Annex performance tiers were developed as a tool for policy makers, who could use them as a framework for the development of performance standards and labels. Using data on the performance of 60W equivalent omnidirectional LED lamps sold in the United States (US) in the last half of 2012, this paper assesses whether the IEA 4E SSL Annex performance tiers for omni-directional LED lamps for indoor residential applications are behind, ahead of, or in harmony with currently available LED technology.

The US LED performance data was obtained from recent testing conducted by the California Lighting Technology Center (CLTC) and funded by CLASP and the Pacific Gas and Electric Company (PG&E).<sup>1</sup> In 2012, the CLTC assessed the performance of omni-directional LED 60W equivalent lamps sold on the US market, focusing on several lighting characteristics known to be important to consumers – including efficacy,<sup>2</sup> color temperature, color rendering, and light output.

This paper provides valuable analysis to both IEA 4E members and US policy makers; IEA 4E members can use the analysis to inform future revisions to their performance tiers, while US policy makers can use it to inform the development of performance standards and labels for omni-directional LED lamps.

Key findings identified in this paper are summarized below:

- One lamp, out of the twelve different models of lamps assessed in this paper, meets the most stringent performance tier;
- Five lamps, out of the twelve different models of lamps assessed in this paper, failed to meet any performance tier, because they did not meet IEA 4E's requirements for luminous intensity distribution and/or light output;
- Four of the five lamps that failed to meet any performance tier did so because the lamps did not meet the IEA 4E SSL Annex performance requirements for omni-directionality. It should be noted that the manufacturers of these lamps claimed they were omni-directional; and,
- Three LED lamps, out of the twelve lamps assessed in this paper, had a color rendering index (CRI) value above 85, and one of these lamps had a CRI value above 90.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The test report can be found on CLASP's website: <u>www.clasponline.org/LEDTesting</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Efficacy is measured in lumens per watt, and is a ratio of lamp's light output (in lumens) divided by the power consumed (in watts).

Key conclusions identified in this paper are:

- Based on the data, the IEA 4E's performance tiers align well with omni-directional LED lamps available on the US market;
- The Tier 3 level provides a good incentive for the continued improvement of omni-directional LED lamps;
- When a new methods for measuring light quality is developed by lighting organizations, IEA 4E SSL Annex members may want to consider adopting one or more of the new measurements; and,
- Policy makers may want to consider requirements on manufacturer claims of LED omnidirectionality.

# Background

Compact florescent lamps (CFLs), a more efficient lighting technology than traditional incandescent bulbs, have not reached significant levels of market penetration in the US and Europe. This is primarily due to several initial performance issues that consumers experienced when CFLs were first introduced. For example, some early CFLs made a humming noise, had poor color quality, and did not last as long as advertised. Although CFL performance has since improved, consumers remain biased against the technology due to these early experiences. As a result, CFLs have not achieved the level of energy savings they would have if the technology had achieved higher levels of market penetration.

New light emitting diode (LED) lamps, which are often more energy efficient than CFLs, are gaining popularity in the market for efficient lighting. Without appropriate performance requirements, however, LEDs are susceptible to similar performance issues to those encountered by consumers when CFLs first entered the market. Ultimately, addressing LED quality issues early will help to ensure that this new technology meets consumer expectations of performance, accelerating market penetration around the world, and thereby promoting considerable energy savings.

# Sampling and Testing Methodology

The following section describes the sampling and testing methodology used by the CLTC to assess the performance of omni-directional LED lamps sold in the US.<sup>3</sup>

#### Sampling Methodology

The intent of CLASP and PG&E's testing was to assess the performance of LED main voltage (selfballasted) replacement lamps equivalent to general service incandescent lamps. It is more challenging for manufacturers to produce a lamp that is equivalent to a 60W incandescent than an incandescent of a lower wattage. Consequently, CLASP and PG&E's testing assesses the performance of 60W-equivalent LED lamps. To select lamps that were most similar to general service incandescent lamps, CLTC developed the following selection criteria (California Lighting Technology Center, 2013):

- Shape: A19 or A21
- Luminous Flux: >600 lumens
- Correlated Color Temperature (CCT): 3000K or lower
- Light Distribution: Omni-directional

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> For more information about the sampling and testing methodology, see the testing report on CLASP's website: <u>www.clasponline.org/LEDTesting</u>.

To identify LED lamps for testing, CLTC reviewed the US Department of Energy's (DOE) Lighting Facts Label database and identified 12 lamps fitting the selection criteria above. CLTC procured all 12 lamps from local or online retailers.<sup>4</sup>

CLASP and PG&E's testing does not identify manufacturers; thus, manufacturer's names, model numbers, and other identifying product information are not included in this paper. A description of each lamp tested is provided in Table 1 below.

Testing	Voltage	Luminous Flux (Lm)	Color	Correlated	Rated	Lamp Shape	Dimmable (Yes/No)	Beam Distribution
No.	(•)		Index	Temp. (K)	(H)	onape	(103/10)	Distribution
OMNI- 01	120	800	Not Listed	3000	25000	A19	Yes	Omni Directional
OMNI- 03	120	825	80	2700	25,000	A19	Yes	Omni Directional
OMNI- 04	120	1100	Not Listed	2700	25000	A21	Yes	Omni Directional
OMNI- 05	120	940	92	2700	25,000	A19	Yes	Omni Directional
OMNI- 07	120	900	80	2700	25000	A19	Yes	Omni Directional
OMNI- 09	120	800	82	3000	25000	A19	Yes	Omni Directional
OMNI- 10	120	810	90	2700	25000	A19	Yes	Omni Directional
OMNI- 11	120	800	Not Listed	3000	25,000	A19	Not Listed	Omni Directional
OMNI- 13	120	810	80	2700	40000	A19	Yes	Omni Directional
OMNI- 14	120	800	85	2700	50000	A19	Yes	Omni Directional
OMNI- 16	120	810	94	2700	50000	A19	Yes	Omni Directional

Table 1 Omni-directional 60W-Equivalent LED Lamps Tested<sup>5 6</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Due to budget and schedule constraints these lamps were not procured from different production batches; which should be taken into account when reviewing the results of our analysis.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> A total of 20 lamps were tested by CLASP and PG&E. Based on manufacturer self-reported claims, eight of these lamps were not omni-directional, and as a result they were not assessed in this paper. The Testing Serial Numbers in the paper are based on the testing serial numbers in the CLASP and PG&E testing report, thus some serials numbers are missing; e.g. OMNI-02.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Descriptions are based on manufacturer self-reported data found on DOE's Lighting Facts database.

OMNI-	120	1100	80	2700	25000	A19	Yes	Omni
20								Directional

Source: (California Lighting Technology Center, 2013)

#### **Testing Methodology**

All lamps were tested to assess their performance across several lighting characteristics, including:

- Correlated color temperature (CCT);
- Color rendering index (CRI);
- Luminous flux (lumens); and,
- Power.

CLTC followed the Illuminating Engineering Society (IES) Approved Method: Electric and Photometric Measurements of Solid State Lighting Products (IES LM-79). The test samples were divided into three distinct testing groups:

- **Multiple Orientations Testing Group**: This testing was done in a two-meter integrating sphere according to IES LM-79. Two samples of each lamp listed in Table 1 were tested in the base up, base down, and base horizontal orientation. This testing compares lamps' baseline operating conditions in each of the three most common base orientations.
- Lamp Consistency Testing Group: This testing was done in a two-meter integrating sphere according to IES LM-79. Ten samples of each of the products listed in Table 2 were included in this testing group. Five of the samples are tested in the base up orientation, and five of the samples are tested in the base down orientation. The results of this testing allow for an analysis of the consistency of the baseline operating condition between multiple samples of the same product.
- Light Distribution Testing Group: This testing was done using a goniophotometer according to IES LM-79. One sample of each product from Table 1 was included in this testing group. The results of this testing provide light distribution data.

Photometric and electrical integrating sphere measurements were taken in a Labsphere two-meter integrating sphere. Photometric measurements were taken with an SMS-500 Spectrometer. Electrical measurements were taken with a California Instruments 751ix power analyzer. Photometric and electrical goniophotometer measurements were taken using a Type C Goniophotometer. Photometric measurements were taken with a T-10 Konica Minolta Illuminance meter. Electrical measurements were taken with a Xitron 2802 power analyzer. All of this equipment was selected to meet the photometric measurement requirements of IES LM-79. CLTC's laboratory had participated in and passed the National Institute of Standards and Technology's (NIST) Measurement Assurance Program (MAP) prior to testing.

# **Comparison of Tested Lamps Performance with IEA 4E Performance Tiers**

IEA 4E SSL Annex has four performance tiers for non-directional (or omni-directional) SSL lamps: Tier 0, Tier 1, Tier 2, and Tier 3. This paper does not consider Tier 0, which only applies to off-grid applications. A summary of each performance tier is provided below:

- Tier 1 represents the minimum acceptable performance requirements for grid-connected applications.
- Tier 2 is similar in stringency to established voluntary performance requirements, such as those in the EU Quality Charter, the US ENERGY STAR program, or Japan's Green Procurement Law.

• Tier 3 is the most stringent performance requirement, and should capture the most advanced LED products in terms of efficiency and quality, such as products that qualify for the US DOE's L-Prize Award.

Each lamp was compared to the IEA 4E SSL Annex performance tiers. One lamp met the performance requirements for Tier 1. Four lamps met the performance requirement for Tier 2. Two lamps met the performance requirements for Tier 3. Five lamps failed to meet the requirements for any performance tier, because these lamps did not meet IEA 4E SSL Annex's requirement for luminous intensity distribution and/or light output. Table 2 below provides an overview of each lamp's performance.

Table 2: Summary of Tested LED Models'	<b>Characteristics Compared to IEA 4E Performance</b>
Tiers	

Testing Serial No.	Light Output	Luminous Efficacy	Luminous Intensity Distribution	Color Rendering Index (CRI)	Correlated Color Temperature
Omni-01	Pass	T1	Pass	T2/3	Т3
Omni-03	Pass	T2	Pass	T2/3	T1/2
Omni-04	Pass	T2	Pass	T2/3	Т3
Omni-05	Pass	Т3	Pass	T2/3	Т3
Omni-07	Pass	T2	Pass	T2/3	Т3
Omni-09	Pass	T1	Pass	T2/3	T1/2
Omni-10	Pass	T2	Fail	T2/3	Т3
Omni-11	Pass	T2	Fail	T2/3	Т3
Omni-13	Fail	T2	Fail	T2/3	Т3
Omni-14	Fail	T1	Pass	T2/3	T1/2
Omni-16	Fail	T2	Fail	T2/3	Т3
Omni-20	Pass	T2	Pass	T2/3	Т3

The following sections summarize each lighting characteristic individually.

#### Light Output:

Light output is the total amount of light that an LED lamp emits. The minimum light output requires the total light output of the LED lamp to be at least equivalent to the light output from an incandescent lamp.

The corresponding minimal initial light output (lumens) for 60W equivalent, applying to all the samples in this study, is 800 lm. Figure 1 shows the light output of each tested lamp. Among the 12 omnidirectional LED models, nine models passed the minimum light output for 60W equivalent while three failed.



**Figure 1 Average Light Output vs. Wattage of Tested LED Models** Source: (California Lighting Technology Center, 2013)

#### Luminous Efficacy:

Lighting products use luminous efficacy (Im/watt), the ratio of the total light output of a lamp compared to power consumed to evaluate energy efficiency. The higher the efficacy, the more efficient the lighting product is. The minimum lamp luminous efficacy is one the most important criteria to evaluate energy and cost saving potentials, because it ensures that LED lamps are saving the energy that manufacturers claim.

Figure 2 shows the average efficacy of each tested LED model, and performance tier levels. Among the 12 omni-directional LED models, eight are Tier 1 (>50 lm/W), 12 are Tier 2 (>65 lm/W), and one is Tier 3 (>80 lm/W).



**Figure 2 Average Luminous Efficacy vs. Wattage of Tested LED Models** Source: (California Lighting Technology Center, 2013)

#### **Luminous Intensity Distribution:**

Luminance intensity distribution is the measurement of the distribution of light, which can be used to determine if an LED lamp emits light uniformly. Omni-directional lamps will emit light spherically (in all directions). For most general incandescent lamps, this light is uniform. This is not always the case for LED lamps; because of their construction, some LED lamps have uneven light distribution. This can lead to performance issues. For example, LED lamps with uneven light distribution placed in light fixtures that have lamp shades may only illuminate the top portion of the lamp shade, leaving the rest of the lamp shade dark.

The IEA 4E SSL Annex developed a quality requirement for luminous intensity distribution in order to test for this performance characteristic.<sup>7</sup> Table 3 indicates which lamps meet IEA 4E SSL Annex's requirements for light distribution and which do not. All 12 lamps were reported as omni-directional by their manufacturers on the DOE Lighting Facts Label database. Of these 12 lamps, four lamps did not meet the IEA 4E's requirements for luminous intensity distribution.

Table 3: Summary of LED Models to the IEA 4E's Requirement for Luminous Intensity Distribution

Testing Serial No.	Omni-Directional	
	Beam Pattern	
OMNI-01	Pass	
OMNI-03	Pass	
OMNI-04	Pass	
OMNI-05	Pass	

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The IEA 4E SSL Annex requirement applies to lamps at Tiers 2 and 3 only, and it reads: "Products shall have an even distribution of luminous intensity within the 0° to 135° zone (symmetrical about the vertical axis). Luminous intensity at any angle within this zone shall not differ from the mean luminous intensity for the entire 0° to 135° zone by more than 20%. At least 5% of total flux must be emitted in the 135° - 180° zone. Distribution shall be vertically symmetric in three vertical planes, 0°, 45°, 90°."

OMNI-07	Pass
OMNI-09	Pass
OMNI-10	Fail
OMNI-11	Fail
OMNI-13	Fail
OMNI-14	Pass
OMNI-16	Fail
OMNI-20	Pass

#### Color Rendering Index (CRI):

The color rendering index (CRI) is a measurement of light quality. It measures how well the lamp renders eight unsaturated color samples relative to an incandescent reference source.

CRI is not a perfect measurement for white light LED lamps, because LED lamps do not radiate light evenly across the entire color spectrum. For example, an LED lamp may render the eight-color sample measurement for CRI well, but not render another color important to light quality. Consequently, the LED lamp could have a high CRI score but not meet consumer expectations of color quality.

Several researchers are investing better methods for measuring LED light quality. For example, the National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) have developed an alternative metric called the color quality scale (CQS); it is currently under consideration in the International Commission on Illumination (CIE). Until a better metric is adopted, CRI should be viewed as one measure of LED light quality, not as a definitive measurement.





**Figure 3 Average CRI vs. Efficacy of Tested LED Models** Source: (California Lighting Technology Center, 2013)

#### **Correlated Color Temperature:**

Correlated color temperature (CCT) measures the warmth or coolness of the light produced by a lamp in Kelvins (K). Consumers in the US and Europe generally prefer a warmer light (2,700K to 3,000K). IEA 4E SSL Annex does not require a particular CCT, but instead defines a maximum tolerance around a claimed CCT value by a manufacturer. So, for example, if a manufacturer claims their lamp is 27000K, then it must be measured at 2725K +/- 145 K or it would be considered mislabeled. These tolerance ranges were set by ANSI C78.377 and adopted by the Annex. The results of our comparison are shown in

Table 3 below.

	<b>T</b> ' <b>4</b>	T' 0	T'
Table 3 IEA 4E Performa	ance Tiers for Correlated	d Color Temperature Targ	get and Tolerance

	Tier 1	Tier 2	Tier 3
Correlated Color	Follow ANSI C78.377,	Follow ANSI C78.377,	Follow ANSI C78.377-
Temperature Target			2011 Table 6A, for 4-
(K) and Tolerance			step quadrangle
	excluding flexible CCT	excluding flexible CCT	excluding flexible CCT
	2700K (2725±145)	2700K (2725±145)	2700K (2723±82)
	3000K (3045±145)	3000K (3045±145)	3000K (2940±98)
	3500K (3465±245)	3500K (3465±245)	3500K (3397±125)
	4000K (3985±275)	4000K (3985±275)	4000K (4036±154)
	5000K (5028±283)	5000K (5028±283)	5000K (4991±220)
	5700K (5665±355)	5700K (5665±355)	5700K (5665±270)
	6500K (6530±510)	6500K (6530±510)	6500K (6432±340)

Source: (IEA, 2012)

Table 4 displays the assessment of each model's CCT performance tier. The first column lists the LED model number; the second column lists the tested CCT for each LED model, the third and fourth columns show the color temperature target for Tiers 1, 2, and 3. The last column is the performance tier for each LED model based on the criteria in Table 3.

Table 4 Correlated Color	Temperature (CCT) of	Tested LED Models ar	d Corresponding
Performance Tiers			

LED Model	Measured CCT (in K)	CCT (in K)	Corresponding Tier
Omni-01	3032	3000	Т3
Omni-03	2639	2700	T1/2
Omni-04	2677	2700	Т3
Omni-05	2733	2700	Т3
Omni-07	2858	3000	Т3
Omni-09	3054	3000	T1/2
Omni-10	2648	2700	Т3
Omni-11	2943	3000	Т3
Omni-13	3022	3000	Т3
Omni-14	2624	2700	T1/2
Omni-16	2777	2700	T3
Omni-20	2714	2700	T3

Source: (California Lighting Technology Center, 2013) and (IEA, 2012)

# Conclusion

Several conclusions can be drawn from comparing the performance of omni-directional 60Wequivalent LED lamps currently sold in the US to the IEA 4E SSL Annex performance tiers. These are as follows:

- Only one lamp (Omni-5) meets the luminous efficacy requirement set for Tier 3. This lamp significantly surpassed the requirement with an efficacy above 100 lumens per watt.
   Balancing efficacy with lower CCT and high CRI is challenging for manufacturers. With only one lamp meeting Tier 3 requirements, it appears that the Tier 3 level is a good target for the continued improvement of omni-directional LED lamps.
- All of the lamps meet the CRI requirement for Tier 2 and 3. Three of the lamps were significantly higher with CRI scores above 85; one of these lamps (Omni-5) had a CRI above 90. The IEA 4E SSL Annex performance requirements for Tier 2 and 3 are both set at 80 CRI. With three lamps at or above 85 CRI, it is possible that the Tier 3 requirement could be set at a higher CRI. However, as described above, a lamp that scores high in CRI does not necessarily have better light quality than a lamp with lower CRI. When a new a new method for measuring light quality is developed, IEA 4E SSL Annex members may want to consider adopting the new measurement.
- All of the lamps assessed in this paper were listed as omni-directional on DOE's Lighting Facts database. Testing found that four of these lamps did not meet the IEA 4E SSL Annex's requirements for omni-directionality, even though the manufacturers of these lamps listed them as omni-directional. Policy makers may want to consider requirements on manufacturer claims of omni-directionality.

# References

- California Lighting Technology Center. (2013). *Omnidirectional LED Replacement Lamp Testing Final Report.* Davis, CA: California Lighting Technology Center.
- CLASP. (2011). Assessment of Opportunities for Global Harmonization of Minimum Energy Performance Standards and test Standards for Lighting Products. UNEP.
- IEA. (2012, 8). Solid State Lighting Annex: Performance Tiers for Non-Directional Lamps. Retrieved 3 13, 2013, from International Energy Agency Efficient Electrical End-Use Equipment (4E) Solid State Lighting: http://ssl.iea-4e.org/files/otherfiles/0000/0039/IEA-4E\_SSL\_Non-Directional Lamp Tiers - file for download.pdf
- U.S. Department of Energy. (2013, 3 7). Measuring and Perceiving the Color of Ligh. Long Beach, CA, U.S.A.

# LEDs and Solid-State Lighting: the potential health issues

Georges ZISSIS<sup>1</sup>, Spiros KITSINELIS<sup>1</sup>, Lydie AREXIS-BOISSON<sup>1</sup>, Christophe MARTINSONS<sup>2</sup>, Pierre BOULENGUEZ<sup>2</sup>, Samuel CARRE<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Université de Toulouse; UPS, INPT; LAPLACE (Laboratoire Plasma et Conversion d'Energie) <sup>2</sup>CSTB-Centre Scientifique et Technique du Bâtiment

# Abstract

Solid-state lighting (SSL) is expected to become the most widely used type of light source, promising to bring significant energy savings as it replaces older technologies. However, due to specific spectral characteristics of white light emitting diodes (LEDs), as compared to other artificial sources, some concerns have been raised regarding safety. SSL products should be proven to be at least as safe as the products they intend to replace, and new or unusual conditions of usage should be considered.

This paper deals with potential health issues related to LED lighting, with a focus on light flickering and the "blue light hazard". An overview is given on current studies and latest expert opinions on photobiological safety. Following our measurements, the risk groups of a few consumer LED lamps are determined. We also make recommendations on how to limit the risk through regulation at the EU level. In addition, we have studied the flickering of fifty LED lamps, which were found to have widely varying behaviour (ranging from zero to one hundred per cent flickering). This last result is rather embarrassing because light flicker may cause temporary illness and visual fatigue. It is rather clear that the potential impacts of LED products on human health and well being has to be taken into account seriously before low quality and potentially harmful products submerge the European market.

#### Introduction

Solid-state lighting (SSL) is currently revolutionizing the field of lighting and its practices. In the long term, inorganic and organic light emitting diodes (LEDs) will become the most widely used light sources. White LEDs have shown a steady growth of their luminous efficacy for more than fifteen years; promising to bring significant energy savings as they replace older lighting technologies. However, as any new or emerging technology, SSL products should be proven to be at least as safe as the products they intend to replace. Also, in new lighting applications where older technologies could not be employed, the safety of SSL products should be assessed considering new or unusual conditions of usage.

The potential risks posed by SSL to the human health can be classified into the three following categories:

- potential risks due to the emitted optical radiations: interactions of the optical radiations with the skin and the eye (photobiological safety), undesired effects of optical radiations on vision (glare and flickering effects in particular);
- effects of optical radiations on circadian rhythms;
- electrical safety;
- and potentials risks due to exposure to electromagnetic fields.

The first two points are due to the specific spectral characteristics of white LEDs as compared to other artificial light sources. This paper focuses on these issues, and more especially on the blue light hazard and flickering. A paper section is devoted to each one of those points. Experimental results obtained at both LAPLACE<sup>1</sup> and CSTB<sup>2</sup> are used to support the discussion.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Laboratoire plasma et conversion d'énergie (LAPLACE) - UMR5213 – Toulouse, France

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Centre Scientifique et Technique du Bâtiment (CSTB) – Nantes, Grenoble, France

# Photobiological hazards

Photobiological hazards are related to the effects of optical radiation on the skin and the eye. The interactions of radiation with biologic systems occur through absorption, with the radiant energy being transferred to the biological tissues. Two main mechanisms can be distinguished [1]:

- heat related, where radiant energy is converted into molecular movement (kinetic energy) such as vibration, rotation and translation;
- photochemistry, where radiant energy causes excitation of atoms or molecules, displacing the outermost valence electrons to higher orbital energy levels. This energy can subsequently be utilized in (photo-)chemical reactions yielding 'photoproducts'.

Two key features of LEDs have attracted the attention of lighting specialists, ophthalmologists and photobiologists:

- most LEDs are small sources emitting very bright visible light;
- the vast majority of commercial LEDs producing white light rely on a chip emitting blue light associated with layers of phosphors to produce longer wavelengths by fluorescence. As a consequence, the emission spectrum of a white LED consists in a narrow blue primary peak and a large secondary peak in the yellow-orange-red region. These two peaks are separated by a region of very low emission in the blue-green part of the spectrum. Such typical white light LED spectrum is illustrated on Figure 1.



#### Spectral power distribution

#### Figure 1: The two components of a typical white high-brightness LED spectrum.

Note that LEDs currently used in SSL emit negligible amounts of ultraviolet and infrared radiations, hence only visible light related effects are under scrutiny.

#### Radiation hazards for the human eye

The exposure levels needed to produce thermal damage on the retina cannot be met with light emitted by LEDs of current technologies. As far as the eye is concerned, adverse photochemical effects of light are summarized in Figure 2.



#### Figure 2: Adverse photochemical effects on the eye tissues as a function of wavelength [2]

In general, photochemical damages on the retina depend on the accumulated dose to which the subject was exposed (*i.e.* short exposure of high intensity or low intensity over longer periods).

The only effect of acute exposure to UV, particularly UVB and UVC below 300 nm, is photokeratitis of the cornea and conjunctiva. The accepted threshold levels for photokeratitis is 3-4 mJ/cm<sup>2</sup> at 270 nm and 10 mJ/cm<sup>2</sup> at 300 nm. Infrared radiation may be responsible for cataracts; the accepted threshold is in the order of 4 W/cm<sup>2</sup> for wavelengths higher than 800 nm [2]. As LEDs used in lighting applications emit negligible amounts of UV and IR, it should not be expected to contribute to the apparition of photokeratitises and cataracts. However, chronic effects of exposure to LED light are unknown. It should be noted that chronic UV exposure from sunlight might cause corneal lesions (climatic droplet keratopathy), as well as cortical and nuclear cataracts of the lens.

As far as other wavelengths are concerned, visible light is focused on the retina by the cornea and the crystalline lens. The amount of light falling on the retina is directly proportional to the radiance of the light source. Due to the high brightness of LEDs, the retinal illuminance levels are potentially high and must be carefully considered. For this reason, it is important to consider the potential retinal toxicity of LEDs.

Radiations in the blue end of the spectrum have long been known to provoke photochemical retinal injuries [3]. The underlying physiological mechanism causes important injuries for exposures over ten seconds. Symptoms include permanent scotoma (or "blind spot"), and there is a strongly suspected link with age-related macular degeneration (AMD) [4]. Light-induced retinal degeneration is known to involve complex series of events such as apoptosis (cellular death), inflammatory response, and free radicals, but the full understanding of the phenomenon is still an active research field in ophthalmology.

Retinal blue light exposure can be estimated using the ICNIRP<sup>3</sup> guidelines [5]. A quantity called the blue-light weighted radiance  $L_B$  can be obtained as a function of the viewing distance and the exposure time. It can be calculated as follows:

$$L_B(\vec{x},\mathcal{J}) = \underbrace{\stackrel{700\,nm}{0}}_{300\,nm} L(\vec{x},\mathcal{J},\mathcal{J})B(\mathcal{J})d\mathcal{J}$$

Where L( $\vec{x}$ ,  $\vartheta$ ,  $\lambda$ ) is the spectral radiance at wavelength  $\lambda$  at a position  $\vec{x}$  on a surface in a direction defined by angle  $\vartheta$  to the normal of the surface and B( $\lambda$ ) is the Blue Light Hazard sensibility function given in Figure 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> International Commission for Non-Ionising Radiation Protection



#### Figure 3: Blue light hazard function as given by [6]

Maximum permissible exposure values (MPEs) were set by ICNIRP to provide limits for  $L_B$  as a function of exposure time [17,18]. These limits are dependent on the exposure time. In addition  $L_B$  is not intended to be measured for infinitesimal solid angle and surface, but averaged over a finite field of view called the "effective field of view" (FOV). The FOV is precisely defined by the ICNIRP guidelines. It increases with the exposure time in order to account for the spreading of the image of the light source on the retina with the micro-movements of the eye.

For all LEDs and products using LEDs, a photobiological blue light hazard assessment must be carried out to determine whether or not the MPEs can be exceeded in the conditions of usage. The main tool to perform photobiological risk assessment is the CIE S009 publication whose content was transposed in an international standard (IEC 62471) and other national standards (IESNA RP27, JIS C8159, etc.).

Based on IEC 62471, lamps and lamp systems are classified into risk groups for various photobiological hazards. The risk group depends on the maximum permissible exposure time (MPE time) assessed at a given viewing distance:

- Exempt Group (RG0: no risk): MPE not exceeded within 10<sup>4</sup> s;
- Risk Group 1 (RG1: low risk): MPE not exceeded within 10<sup>2</sup> s;
- Risk Group 2 (RG2: moderate risk): MPE not exceeded within 2,5x10<sup>-1</sup> s (eye blink time)
- Risk Group 3 (RG3: high risk): MPE exceeded even for momentary or brief exposure (less than 2,5x10<sup>-1</sup> s).

For the past few years, blue light exposure data have been provided by LED manufacturers, professional lighting associations, independent laboratories, and governmental agencies. It was found that the retinal blue light exposure levels  $L_B$  produced at a distance of 200 mm from the user by blue and cold-white LEDs (bare LEDs and LEDs equipped with a focusing lens) exceed the MPEs limits set by ICNIRP after an exposure time comprised between a few seconds for high power blue LEDs to a few tens of seconds for high power cold-white LEDs. Figure 4 shows  $L_B$  for the six blue LEDs chosen by the ANSES working group [7] and published in [8]. In this example, the LEDs were operated such that they emitted a radiant flux of 0,5W, which is about half the rated maximum value.



# Figure 4: Variation of $L_B$ with the exposure time determined for six types of blue LEDs (measured by CSTB). The red curve is the exposure limit value. The intersect point corresponds to the maximum permissible exposure time. It can be used to determine the risk group [8]

These  $L_B$  curves exhibit a first plateau corresponding to a uniform luminance when the FOV is smaller than the light source. When the FOV is greater than the size of the effective light source, the luminance  $L_B$  decreases following a 1/t law. The second plateau corresponds to a constant FOV, when the exposure time is comprised between 10 s and 100 s. After 100 s, the FOV increases again and the luminance  $L_B$  decreases again as 1/t. In this example, the maximum permissible exposure times of these LEDs are between 15 s and 20 s. These values correspond to the Risk Group 2 (moderate risk).

For this study, we used various single LEDs under conditions of constant luminous flux. When coldwhite LEDs were operated such as to provide a luminous flux of 100 lm, the exposure limit value was never reached and the risk group was always 0 (no risk). By increasing the luminous flux to 200 lm, all the cold-white LEDs fell into risk group 2 (moderate risk) with maximum permissible exposure times comprised between 40s and 100s. Similarly, neutral-white LEDs operated at a luminous flux of 100 lm all fell in risk group 0. When operated at 200 lm, the exposure limit value was reached at an exposure time of about 100 s, thus the studied products fell into the risk group 1 (low risk). Warm-white LEDs never exceeded the exposure limit value and were always in risk group 0 (no risk), even when they were operated at a flux of 200 lm. In fact these warm-white LEDs should reach a luminous flux of at least 500 lm to belong to risk group 1 (low risk). Table 1 recapitulates these results.

LED type	Luminous flux (lm)		Risk Group	Max exposure time (s)
Cold White	100	RG0	No Risk	-
cold white	200	RG2	Moderate Risk	40s-100s
Noutral White	100	RG0	No Risk	-
	200	RG1	Low risk	100 s
	100	RG0	No Risk	-
Warm White	200	RG0	No Risk	-
	500	RG1	Low risk	100 s

# Table 1: Risk groups and maximum exposure times for various LED lamps as measured by CSTB

None of the studied single-die LEDs presented a high risk (risk group 3). Blue LEDs and cold-white LEDs may belong to risk group 2, according to their colour temperature and their operating point. Likewise, neutral-white LEDs may belong to risk group 1. On the contrary, all warm-white LEDs belonged to risk group 0.

Several classes of products and applications based on bare LEDs or LEDs covered by a focusing lens (collimator) could result in high levels of retinal blue light exposure when viewed from a short distance. Such conditions may occur because:

- of testing and adjustments of high power blue and cold white LEDs by operators in lighting manufacturing facilities or by lighting installers;
- bright cold white LED lamps in the visual field of children;
- automotive LED daytime running lights when activated near children and other sensitive people.
- LED lamps sold for home applications (consumer market) in which case lamps can be viewed at distances as short as 200 mm.

The photobiological safety of a final SSL product (lamp, luminaire, etc.) must be assessed independently of its LED components. As a matter of fact, the  $L_B$  value of an SSL product is generally very different from the  $L_B$  value of the LED components that it uses. For instance, a higher  $L_B$  can be obtained for a luminaire using an assembly of low  $L_B$  LEDs. On the opposite, a lower  $L_B$  can be obtained for a luminaire using a diffuser in front of a high  $L_B$  LED.

The IEC 62471 standard defines two different criteria to determine the viewing distance. Light sources used for general lighting service should be assessed at the distance corresponding to an illuminance of 500 lx. Other types of light sources should be assessed at a fixed distance of 200 mm.

For LED components, there is no ambiguity in the distance since LED components are not used very often in general lighting. In this case, IEC 62471 requires using the distance of 200 mm. The application of the IEC 62471 measurement technique at 200 mm leads to a classification in risk group 2 (moderate risk) for some high power blue and cold white LEDs.

However, the choice of the viewing distance in IEC 62471 is sometimes ambiguous and not realistic in the context of the real usage conditions. For instance, let us mention stage lighting (*i.e.* theatres and concert halls) where artists are exposed to illuminance levels higher than 500 lx. Applying the 500 lx criterion would underestimate the exposure while the 200 mm criterion would largely overestimate it. In a more common context, directional household lamps fall under the 500 lx criterion, which corresponds to a typical viewing distance of a few meters. It is however quite common to have shorter viewing distances, as short as 200 or 500 mm at home. Another example is street lighting where the illuminance level is much lower than 500 lx, typically a few tens of lx. Assessing the blue light hazard associated of a street lighting luminaire by using the 500 lx illuminance distance is clearly inappropriate.

It is interesting to note that the strict application of CIE S009 and IEC 62471 to indoor LED lamps and luminaires lead to RG 0 and RG 1 classifications, similar to traditional indoor light sources (fluorescent lamps, incandescent and halogen lamps). Nevertheless, several measurement campaigns using the 200 mm viewing distance revealed that some indoor LED lamps and luminaires belong to RG2 while traditional indoor light sources (fluorescent and incandescent) remain in RG0 or RG1. This result shows that LED technology potentially increases the blue light hazard in home applications where the viewing distance is not limited, notably when light sources are accessible to children and other sensitive people. At the time of this writing, the general public is not aware of the potential since no mandatory labelling system exists for SSL products.

As a consequence, the potential toxicity of some LED components viewed at short distances cannot be neglected. When the viewing distance is increased to one meter, the maximum permissible exposure time rapidly increases to a few thousands of seconds, up to a few tens of thousands of seconds. These rather long exposure times provide a reasonable safety margin to assert than there is virtually no possible blue light retinal damage from LEDs at reasonably large viewing distances (statement valid for state of the art LEDs at the time of writing). However, lamp installers and users awareness on the notion of a safety distance should be raised. The safety distance of a SSL product would be the minimum distance for which the blue light hazard risk group does not exceed RG1.

For SSL products aimed at consumer applications (retrofit LED lamps, for instance), the policy makers in collaboration with health authorities advocate the adoption of a regulation to limit the risk group to RG1 at the minimum viewing distance encountered at home, which is 200 mm. Equivalently a mandatory safety distance less than or equal to 200 mm should be required. The measurement campaigns carried out by several laboratories showed that the vast majority of indoor LED lamps and luminaires already comply with this requirement. It is not a critical issue for the LED industry

Other widely used lighting sources, particularly high intensity discharge lamps (metal-halide lamps for instance), are also in RG2. However, this last example is intended for clearly identified usages and can only be installed by professionals presumably aware of the safety distance required to limit the exposure.

In addition, the maximum exposure limits defined by the ICNIRP and used to define the Risk Groups in both IEC 62471 and CIE S009 are not appropriate for repeated exposures to blue light as they were calculated for a maximum exposure of one 8-hours day but do not take into account lifetime exposure effects. Moreover, neither CIE S009 nor IEC 62471 account for specific light sensitivities, such as:

- individuals having pre-existing eye condition for which artificial lighting can trigger or aggravate pathological symptoms;
- aphakics (*i.e.* absence of crystalline lens) and pseudophakics (*i.e.* artificial crystalline lenses) persons, who consequently either cannot or insufficiently filter short wavelengths (particularly blue light);
- children, as their visual system is not mature;
- and elderly people, as their skin and eyes are more sensitive to optical radiation

#### The case of the skin

As far as interactions with the skin are concerned, the general population should not be concerned by risks arising from the use of LEDs in lighting.

Thermal effects from visible or IR radiation emitted by lighting sources are unlikely to cause any serious health effects in healthy skin; problems may only arise with excessively intense sources and close proximity with such sources (adherence to DIN 33403 for pain thresholds [9] or more conservative expansion of the ICNIRP limit to exposure times over 10 s). Considering the data on UV effects, the sunburn reaction would appear to be the practical key for proper control of UV exposure levels on the skin, both for short- and long-term health effects. In contrast to persons deliberately exposing themselves to sunbeds for cosmetic or presumed health effects, persons staying indoors do not expect to be exposed to UV radiation from the artificial lighting system, and LEDs should therefore evidently be adequately low in UV output.

Only a small number of people suffering from photosensitive syndromes might see an aggravation of their pre-existing condition triggered by exposure to LEDs emitted blue light. Patients taking photosensitizing drugs should also be aware of a potential risk.

#### Light Flickering hazards

Flicker is the modulation of the light output that can be induced by fluctuations of the mains voltage supply, residual ripples in the DC current powering, or deliberate modulations of the LED input current such as the pulse-width modulation (PWM) used for dimming applications.

It is known that exposure to light flicker (in particular at frequencies between 3 Hz and 55 Hz) can cause photosensitive epileptic seizures in various forms, depending on the individual and his visual pathology, the contrast, the wavelength and the viewing angle or distance [10].

According to the literature, light flicker is not usually perceptible at frequencies higher than 70 Hz, but it can still affect people. For example, people suffering from migraines are more likely to be sensitive

to flicker at high frequencies [11]. Also, for people suffering from specific medical conditions, flicker may have some serious consequences.

Light flicker combined to rotating motion or spatial patterns may be responsible for stroboscopic effects. Stroboscopic effects might induce hazards to workers in proximity to rotating machines and tools.

On the opposite, pulsed lights may also have some positive effects: it has been reported that the pulsed operation of lamps could offer opportunities for energy savings according to the Broca-Sulzer effect [12, 13] due to enhanced perceived brightness. Thus, it is argued that energy savings can be achieved by using pulsed LEDs at very high frequency. In that case it is absolutely necessary to understand the influence of flicker on humans in order to avoid any deleterious effects appearing with products using that type of pulsed light.

In this section, we present original results that prove that some readily available consumer SSL products have very high flicker behaviour and can potentially be harmful for the end-user.

Commercially available LED lamps may have serious light flickering behaviour at twice the mains frequency (in Europe mains frequency is 50 Hz thus the observed residual flicker frequency is equal to 100 Hz). This light flicker is mainly due to the residual voltage fluctuation after the AC/DC rectifier in the lamp power supply. For this paper, we developed an experimental method to quantify flicker and then evaluate the behaviour of various commercially available products.

#### Definition and Experimental evaluation of flickering

There are two widely accepted metrics for measuring lamp flicker. Figure 5 is used to illustrate these two metrics.



#### Figure 5: Definition of light flickering metrics [16]

The first, called the per cent flicker, uses the maximum and minimum points of the fluctuation levels through the following equation:

$$t_L(\%) = 100 \frac{\Delta L}{L_{av}}$$

The second metric is the flicker index and requires the calculation of the areas above and below the average level of the signal [14].

$$FI = \frac{Surface \ zone \ 1}{(Surface \ zone \ 1) + (Surface \ zone \ 2)}$$

For the moment, no regulation of light flicker is implemented in the EU regulations. In the USA, the present Energy Star specifications for lamps set maximum Flicker Index values for flicker frequency of 120 Hz or higher. Draft 4 of Energy Star requirements released in late April 2013 requires that all

marketed lamps should have a maximum flicker index at those frequencies and above. It defines a maximal flicker index requirement for dimmable lamps and under any dimming condition as follows:

 $FI \neq 0,001$  flicker frequency in Hz

The above formula defined an increase of the threshold with frequency in order to account for situations that might occur with pulse-width modulation supply.

This criterion leads to FI<1,2 for USA and FI<1,0 for Europe. The rational used by the US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) to establish that limit appears to originate from experiments on high-quality conventional light sources, including CFLs, performed by the US Department of Energy (DoE). In this work, the highest FI value is 0,11 for magnetically ballasted CFLs. There is also a statement suggesting a value of 0,15 for magnetically ballasted fluorescent lamps. In addition, the IES lighting handbook [16] presents a maximum flicker index value of 0,20 related to ballasted High Pressure Sodium lamps. A number of LED manufacturers are asking for a higher limit value, but none of their arguments are based on factual data. The 0,12 value might be fixed in the next months.

In order to evaluate the light flickering magnitude, a specific experimental set-up was designed in the LAPLACE laboratory. It is described in Figure 6. The set-up is based on an integrating sphere equipped with a selenium cell and a Tektronix 2002B oscilloscope for detecting and recording the light waveforms. A digital multi-metre is used to independently measure the average light output, directly proportional to the luminous flux of the lamp. All lamps were operated at 230 V, 50 Hz (mains) via a controlled voltage power supply. More than fifty different lamps of different brands have been tested with this device.



#### Figure 6: Diagram of the flicker measuring set up in LAPLACE

In our evaluation, the per cent flicker, as defined above, is used. However, as shown in Figure 7, we demonstrated experimentally that for periodic waveforms, there is an almost linear relationship between per cent flicker and flicker index.



# Figure 7: Correlation between flicker percentage and flicker index as measured in LAPLACE laboratory

Our set of test lamps included LEDs, as well as CFLs and incandescent lamps used as references. Figure 8 shows the experimental per cent flicker values for some tested lamps. It should be noted that a 100 W incandescent lamp has a flicker percentage of 10% due to the filament temperature variation that follows the power waveform. Good quality CFLs may reach a per cent flicker of 20%. The highest Flicker Index value for tested CFL lamps was found to be 0,14, a value rather compatible with the EPA requirements.



Figure 8: Some experimental percentage flicker values of various lamp technologies as obtained in LAPLACE laboratory and EU-PremiumLight projects

The situation is completely different for LEDs. As can be seen in Figure 8, LEDs had completely arbitrary behaviours. Some of them feature high quality power supplies that include reliable AC/DC rectifiers and filters. They displayed very low flicker, close to zero (not measurable). Other devices had per cent flicker values up to 100%. In this case, the light output goes off every 10ms. Eight LED lamps were found to fully respect the conditions imposed by the Energy Star requirements (Flickering Index < 0,1), whereas all examined CFLs fulfilled that condition.

It should be noticed that Kitsinelis et all [15] proposed a very effective way to detect light flickering using the camera of a cellular phone. Figure 9 shows the obtained results by this method. The simplicity of the method allows its use by the general consumer: just use a smart phone with an integrated camera, target the lamp and look at the phone screen. If striations appear around the lamp (dark fringes), then flicker is present. The contrast between the fringes is a straightforward estimation of the "flicker depth". The spatial frequency of the fringes is related to the flicker frequency and the frame rate of the camera.



Figure 9: Flicker detection using the built-in camera of a cellular phone obtained by LAPLACE. Flicker is leading to the appearance of dark fringes in the image.

#### Conclusions

Solid-state lighting (SSL) and more especially light-emitting diodes (LEDs) are presented as the next generation of light sources that may amount to 70-80% of the light source market by 2020. LEDs will unquestionably help making energy savings in both indoor (residential and tertiary) and outdoor lighting sectors. However, recent work showed that this technology might have some impact on human health.

This paper addressed potential health issues related to LEDs and based on original experimental data. More especially, we focused on the photobiological effects of blue light and light flickering phenomena.

Concerning the blue-light hazard, and more particularly in consumer applications (retrofit LED lamps for instance), we strongly support the adoption of a regulation to limit the risk group to RG1 at the minimum viewing distance encountered at home, which is 200 mm. The measurement campaigns carried out by the authors, as well as by several other independent laboratories, showed that most indoor LED lamps and luminaires already comply with this requirement. It is not a critical issue for the LED industry. However, the notion of a safety distance would actually be more appropriate to communicate to the installers and to the users, especially to the general public. The safety distance of an LED based product would be the minimum distance for which the blue light hazard risk group does not exceed RG1 and this value must be indicated on the package. For LED products handled exclusively by professionals, all necessary measures to limit the final risk group to RG1 have to be taken and guaranteed by the installers.

In addition, none of the single-die LEDs studied in the present work fell in high risk group (RG 3), corresponding to a maximum permissible exposure time of less than 0,25 s. Blue LEDs and cold-white LEDs according to their colour temperature and their brightness may belong at maximum to risk

group 2, especially if beam collimators are used. Likewise, neutral-white LEDs may belong to risk group 1. On the contrary, warm-white LEDs studied here all belonged to risk group 0.

Concerning light flicker, we tested more than fifty different lamps for flickering. Our samples included LED lamps as well as some CFLs and incandescent lamps as benchmarks. The highest Flicker Index value for tested CFL lamps was found to be of 0,14. LED lamps had completely arbitrary behaviour. Some of them, built with high quality power supply, displayed zero flicker (not measurable) while some other devices reached per cent flicker values of up to 100%. In fact only eight LED lamps have been found to fully respect the Energy Star requirement (Flicker Index < 0.1), while all the tested CFLs fulfilled that condition. Consumer should be vigilant about that fact. In this paper, we described a rapid method to detect flicker using a smart phone camera.

There is no clear requirement concerning light flicker limitation in Europe, which is clearly unacceptable. On the opposite, the value of FI<0,12 was proposed in the USA by the EPA in their last draft of Energy Star requirements. The requirement seems to be very stringent and is said to threaten some innovations such as the ac-LED technology. A limit value of about 0,25 may be more realistic at least for applications in which light flicker is not a critical issue.

All in all, the European Union must rapidly engage in a systematic and cross-disciplinary research effort to better understand and quantify potential health effects, and ultimately enforce a consistent regulation protecting end-users while promoting innovation in the growing SSL market.

#### References

- [1] Youssef P.N., Sheibani N., Albert D.M., Eye (Lond) 25(1): 1-14, (2011).
- [2] Health Effects of Artificial Light, Report of Scientific Committee on Emerging and Newly Identified Health Risks (SCENHIR), ISSN 1831-4783, 19 March 2012
- [3] Ham W.T., Ruffolo J.J., Mueller H.A., Guerry D., Vision Research, **20**(12): 1105-1111 (1980).
- [4] Algvere, P. V., Marshall, J. and Seregard, S., Acta Ophthalmologica Scandinavica, 84: 4–15 (2006)
- [5] Guidelines on Limiting Exposures to Non-ionizing Radiation, ICNIRP 7/99 (2006).
- [6] Okuno T et al., Ann Occup Hyg., 54: 293-298 (2009)
- [7] Effets sanitaires des systèmes d'éclairage utilisant des diodes électroluminescentes (LED), Saisine n°2008-SA-0408, Rapport d'expertise collective de l'Agence Nationale de Sécurité Sanitaire de l'Alimentation, de l'Environnement et du Travail (ANSES), 2010
- [8] Behar-Cohen F., Martinsons C., Viénot F., Zissis G., Barlier-Salsi A., Cesarini J.P., Enouf O., Garcia M., Picaud S., Attia D., Progress in Retinal and Eye Research 30(4): 239-257 (2011)
- [9] DIN 33403-3. Climate at the workplace and its environments. Deutsche Institut fr Normung Berlin, Germany (2001).
- [10] http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Photosensitive epilepsy
- [11] Shady S., MacLeod D.I.A., Fisher H.S., Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences (PNAS), 101(14): 5170–5173 (2004)
- [12] Hart WM Jr. In Adler's physiology of the eye. Clinical application. Editors Moses RA, Hart WM,. The C. V. Mosby Company St Louis (1987)
- [13] Jinno M., Morita K., Tomita Y., Toda Y., Motomura H., Journal of Light and visual environment, 32(2) (2008)
- [14] IES lighting handbook. New York: Illuminating Engineering Society of North America, Kaufman J., editor (1984)
- [15] Kitsinelis S., Zissis G., Proceedings of 13th Int. Symposium on the Science and Technology of Lighting Systems, pp. 363-364, 24-29 July 2012, Troy NY (USA)
- [16] Rea M., The IESNA Lighting Handbook: Reference & Application, 9th Edition, IESNA editions, New York (2000)
- [17] International Commission on Non-Ionizing Radiation Protection, Guidelines on Limits of Exposure to Broad-Band Incoherent Optical Radiation (0.38 µm to 3 µm), Health Physics, Vol. 73, Number 3, Sept. 1997
- [18] International Commission on Non-Ionizing Radiation Protection, Guidelines on Limits of Exposure to Incoherent Visible and Infrared Radiation Health Physics, Vol. 105, Number 1, 2013

# Product Classification for LEDs: Lessons Learned from Other Emerging Technology Efficiency Policies

Allison Hua Fan My Ton James E. McMahon Collaborative Labeling and Appliance Standards Program (CLASP)

# Abstract

When an emerging energy efficient technology enters the market, policymakers decide on standards and labels (S&L) for the new technology. Regulations dealing with emerging technologies can either treat the new technology as a large-scale substitute for existing technologies, or as a competitor among products with similar functions but with fundamentally different characteristics. Decisions on product classification and standards levels directly impact how manufacturers innovate, the range of consumer choices and, ultimately, the extent to which the full potential or energy savings are achieved.

S&L policymakers may want to look to past examples in developing regulations for light-emitting diodes (LEDs), a fast growing emerging technology with potential to save up to 42% of total lighting energy worldwide by 2020. Since 2007, at least twenty national, regional, and international specifications have been launched to regulate the quality and performance of LEDs. These specifications are not consistent due in part to lack of consensus regarding whether to categorize LEDs as a new product class regulated separately from existing technologies or as an addition to the general lighting category that is a competitor among products with similar functions.

To decide which regulatory path to take, this paper studies analogous rulemaking processes in the European Union, United States, and Australia for three products that were once considered emerging technologies: heat-pump water heaters, compact fluorescent lamps, and high intensity discharge lamps. Based on these case studies, this paper identifies advantages and disadvantages of possible regulatory paths for addressing LED product classification and global implications.

# Introduction

When an emerging technology enters the market with the promise of reduced energy consumption, energy efficient standards and labeling (S&L) policymakers typically are challenged to decide on the utility value of, and policy for, the new technology. This is because regulations dealing with emerging technologies typically can take either of two paths: treating the new technology as a technical innovation that is a large-scale substitute for existing technologies, or as a competitor among products with similar functions but with fundamentally different characteristics. Those decisions on product classification strongly influence the extent to which the full potential for energy savings can be achieved and also affect market structure and the range of consumer choices.

S&L policymakers may want to look to past examples in developing regulations for light-emitting diodes (LEDs), a fast growing emerging technology that has a potential to save up to 42% of total energy in the lighting sector worldwide by 2020 [16]. Over the past five years, at least twenty national, regional, and international specifications have been launched to regulate the quality and performance of LEDs [1]. However, these specifications are not regulated in a consistent way due to the lack of consensus in S&L policy regarding whether to categorize LEDs as a new product class that is a substitute for existing technologies or as an addition to the general lighting category that is a competitor among products with similar functions. Consistent policies have the potential to foster global energy savings sooner.

To decide which regulatory path to take, this paper studies analogous rulemaking processes in the European Union, United States, and Australia for three domestic appliances and lighting products that were once considered emerging technologies when they entered the market: heat-pump water heaters (HPWHs), compact fluorescent lamps (CFLs), and high intensity discharge lamps (HIDs). Based on analysis from these case studies, this paper identifies advantages and disadvantages of possible regulatory paths to take for addressing LED product classification issues so as to facilitate and accelerate the rulemaking process for LEDs around the world.

# How other emerging energy efficient technologies have been addressed by regulators

Table 1 summarizes the current product classification of HPWHs, CFLs, HIDs, and LEDs in Australia, the EU, and the US energy efficiency standards. We can see that in Australia, HPWHs, CFLs, and LEDs are considered to be separate product classes and are regulated as such. The EU regulates all the products as a general product class: HPWHs as water heaters, and all the lighting products as general lighting services. The US regulates HPWH as water heaters; and each lighting product has their own energy efficiency policy.

	Australia	European Union	United States
Heat- pump water heaters	Under consideration to be regulated separately AS/NZS 5125.1:2010 Heat pump water heaters - Performance assessment - Air source heat pump water heaters	Regulated as water heaters Lot 2: Water heaters and hot water storage tanks	Regulated as water heaters 10CFR 430.32(d) 2012
CFLs	Regulated separately from incandescent lamps AS/NZS 4847 Self-ballasted lamps for general lighting services	Regulated as general lighting services Lot 19: Domestic lighting: incandescent, halogen, and compact fluorescent lamps	Regulated separately from incandescent lamps Medium Base Compact Fluorescent Lamps 42 U.S.C. 6291 (16)
HIDs	Not regulated	Regulated as tertiary lighting Lot 8: Tertiary lighting	Under consideration to be regulated separately U.S. DOE (2010); U.S. DOE (2012); U.S. DOE (2013)
LEDs	Under consideration to be regulated separately	Regulated as general lighting services Lot 19, part 2: Directional lighting: luminaires, reflector lamps and LEDs	Not regulated

#### Table 1 Comparison of Product Classification in Australia, the EU, and the US

Source: E3, ECEEE, and DOE websites

We examine each policy in more details in the following in order to identify the pros and cons of each decision.

#### **Heat-pump Water Heaters**

Australia

In 1999, Australia introduced Minimum Energy Performance Standards (MEPS) for electric storage water heaters, with changes in 2005. The original product class was main pressure (unvented displacement) water heaters. In 2005, vented (low pressure) water heaters and heat exchange water heaters were added [9]. MEPS for gas water heaters are approved but not yet implemented in all jurisdictions [5]. HPWHs are exempt from the tank heat loss MEPS that apply to electric storage water heaters, provided they meet certain criteria for 'renewable energy' contribution under Australian Standard AS4234 [4]. As sales of HPWHs increase, so does the importance of achieving a satisfactory level of energy efficiency, together with an acceptable level of product performance. Australia plans to introduce MEPS for HPWHs by the end of 2013 to take effect in mid-2014 [5]. So far, Australia has developed three standards to determine the energy performance of heat pump water heaters [8]:

- AS/NZS 5125 (Heat pump water heaters performance assessment)
- AS/NZS 4234 Appendix H (Air source heat pump water heater task performance evaluation)
- AS/NZS 2712 Appendix H (Test for air source heat pump water heater low temperature classification)

Water heating -- the second biggest contributor to the residential sector's energy use in Australia -- accounts for about 22% of residential energy use in 2010. From 2007 to 2009, Australia's Equipment Energy Efficiency (E3) Program investigated the possibility of improving the efficiency and performance of heat pump water heaters [5], [33].

#### European Union (EU)

There are five stages for the Energy-using Products (EuP) policy making process: 1) product study; 2) consultation forum and proposal; 3) draft regulation; 4) regulation committee approves the draft regulation; and 5) final regulation. Water heater policy making is still at stage 2 - consultation forum and proposal [12]. A list of principles for categorization were found in the existing EU product and building standards, which together give the policy makers an understanding of the technical diversity and the various features of water heating equipment in the EU:

- Fuel type (gas, electric, solar, heat pump)
- Functionality (output)
- Storage type (instantaneous and storage)
- Power/capacity class (in kW, residential/commercial)
- Water heater flue gas/air intake system
- Burner flue gas/air intake configuration

- Condensation
- Boiler water temperature control
- Burner power control system
- Mounting position
- Emission rating (NOx, CO)
- Ignition type
- Pump type
- Materials
- Statistics classification

For some smaller market segments, the current harmonized test standards are not fully appropriate. They measure energy efficiency and performance in some way but would require a more substantial update for heat pump water heaters to be in line with the above. Further study would be required to explore the possibilities of approximating the tapping pattern approach from the energy efficiency and performance parameters that are currently tested as a provisional measure. The relevant EN harmonized product test standards for heat pump water heaters addressed in mandate M204 is EN 255 [1997]. [30], [34]

The EU efficiency metrics is water heating energy efficiency ( $\eta$ wh), that is, the ratio between the useful energy provided by a water heater and the energy required for its generation, expressed in %. Currently

there is no MEPS for water heaters in EU, but the draft labeling regulation categorizes ten energy efficiency thresholds for each of eight declared load profiles [13].

#### United States (US)

For residential water heaters, standards were adopted in 1987 (effective 1990), with updates in 2001 (effective 2004) and 2010 (effective 2015) [22]. The original list of product classes for residential water heaters originally included: a) gas water heater; b) oil water heater; and c) electric water heater [19]. Heat pump water heaters were included in definition of water heaters in the original legislation and have been included together with electric resistance water heaters in the product class: electric storage water heaters. In 1994, two product classes were added: gas-fired instantaneous and electric instantaneous.

In a final rule published in the Federal Register on April 16, 2010, U.S. Department of Energy (DOE) determined that heat pump type water heaters with an integrated storage tank are a type of electric storage water heater, but that heat pump type water heaters without an integrated storage tank do not meet the definition of a "water heater" and are, therefore, not covered equipment under the Energy Policy and Conservation Act (EPCA).

In 2010, different standards were established (effective April 16, 2015) for two size ranges of electric storage water heaters. The efficiency metric is Energy Factor (EF). For those with rated storage volume >55 gallons, the minimum standard corresponded to efficiencies of heat pump water heaters: EF=2.057 – (0.00113 x Rated Storage Volume in gallons). For electric storage water heaters with rated storage volume </= 55 gallons, the minimum standard can be met by electric resistance water heaters, EF=0.960-(0.0003 x Rated Storage Volume in gallons).

Subsequently, some stakeholders (mostly electric utilities) expressed concerns that the standards for larger water heaters would interfere with electric thermal storage (ETS) programs that utility companies administer to manage peak load, and asked for a new product class, "grid-interactive water heaters," which would be electric resistance water heaters having >55 gallons of rated storage volume. DOE is considering that issue, with a public meeting planned for March 15, 2013 [25].

#### **Compact Fluorescent Lamps**

#### Australia

Since November 2009, self-ballasted compact fluorescent lamps (CFLs) in Australia have been required to comply with AS/NZS 4847.2 Self ballasted lamps for general lighting services - Minimum Energy Performance Standards (MEPS) requirements [6]. At the same time, certain general purpose incandescent lamps (tungsten filament and tungsten halogen) were also required to comply with MEPS that are set out in AS 4934.2 – incandescent lamps for general lighting services – in Australia [7].

General lighting service (GLS) lamps are the common pear-shaped incandescent lamps with tungsten filaments. They are the most inefficient yet widely used lamp in the residential sector. They continue to sell remarkably well because, if their energy costs are ignored, they appear cheap. More efficient lamps such as CFLs and halogen types are facing a number of problems breaking into the market. Currently the market price for a single CFL light bulb can be five times higher than a regular GLS lamp.

There are significant information failures and split incentive problems in the market for energy efficient lamps. Energy bills are aggregated and periodic and therefore do not provide immediate feedback on the effectiveness of individual energy saving investments. Consumers must therefore gather information and perform a reasonably sophisticated calculation to compare the life-cycle costs of tungsten filament lamps and CFLs. But many lack the skills. For others, the amounts saved are too small to justify the effort or

they do not remain at the same address long enough to benefit fully from a long lived energy saving lamp. According to the 2006 census, 17% of people in private dwellings were at a different address 12 months earlier.

Both CFLs and lamp labeling have also had unfortunate histories. Early disappointments with aspects of the performance of CFLs – including problems with start up times, color and durability – have created uncertainties in the minds of users. Lamp labeling has evolved in a way that identifies the lighting power of a lamp with its energy use, inhibiting awareness of energy efficiency lighting options. It is estimated that, under business as usual (BAU) conditions, Australia's greenhouse emissions from lighting will increase by 150% from 1990 to 2010. Emissions will be approximately 32.4 Mt CO2-e in 2010 or 5.4% of Australia's projected total of 603 Mt CO2-e in 2010. By addressing market failures, the proposed measures will reduce greenhouse emissions by 28.5 Mt CO2-e over the period 2009 to 2020.

E3 initially proposed to phase out all incandescent lamps, albeit with long delays for certain types of lamp, to 2015. However this raised serious problems regarding the availability of replacement products, particularly for lighting systems that use dimmers, sensors, timers and other forms of electronic control. The proposal was revised to avoid potentially large costs of prematurely scrapping lighting assets. The revised MEPS proposal will:

- remove the least efficient incandescent lamps from the market, including the familiar pear-shaped tungsten filament lamps, otherwise known as GLS (incandescent) lamps of less than 150 watts;
- set standards for the efficiency and quality of CFLs; and,
- remove the least efficient extra low voltage converters (ELVCs)<sup>1</sup> from the market [3].

#### ΕU

The Ecodesign regulation on domestic lighting was adopted in 2008, and entered into force in 2009. The regulation covers incandescent, halogen, and compact fluorescent lamps, and is intended to phase out incandescent bulbs from 2009 to 2012.

It is appropriate to set specific requirements at a level that leaves alternative lamps available to service the entire installed stock of lighting equipment. In parallel, generic requirements should be set that are implemented by harmonized standards and that make new lighting equipment more compatible with energy-saving lamps, and energy-saving lamps compatible with a wider range of lighting equipment [18].

### US

Lighting involves a variety of technologies and diverse lighting products. For fluorescent lamps, other than compacts, ballasts and lamps are regulated separately. Legislation in 1988 (amendment to National Appliance Energy Conservation Act, 1988) set standards for fluorescent lamp ballasts. The Energy Policy Act of 1992 (EPAct 1992) established standards for some lighting products, including general service fluorescent lamps, HID lamps, incandescent reflector lamps, and luminaires. The Energy Policy Act of 2005 (EPACT 2005) established energy conservation standards for compact fluorescent lamps, effective in 2006, and added additional lighting products, including ceiling fan light kits, illuminated exit signs, mercury vapor lamp ballasts, torchiere lighting fixtures, and traffic signals.

#### High Intensity Discharge Lamps

EU

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Extra low voltage converters (ELVCs) are used to provide power to low voltage halogen lighting systems.

The Ecodesign regulation on tertiary lighting entered into force in 2009 [12]. The legislation sets requirements for linear and compact fluorescent lamps without integrated ballast, for high intensity discharge (HID) lamps, and for ballasts and luminaires able to operate such lamps. However, there are several limitations, for instance very small HID lamps now increasingly popular in the retail sector are not covered [11].

It is important for this eco-design study that the definition of office lighting covers products with similar characteristics in order to be able to derive meaningful conclusions regarding design options, improvement potential and finally potential policy options. The above definition of office lighting serves right for this study as product groups that are functionally similar are envisaged, according to the Methodology study for EcoDesign of Energy-using Products (MEEUP) Methodology Report [29]. Consequently, a similar group of design options will apply to improve the environmental performance of these products. This study focuses on lighting equipment for 'office work' areas as they are functionally similar.

In Eurostat's product-specific statistics for trade and production, office lighting luminaires can be reported in two manners:

- According to lamp technology; and
- According to the material from which the luminaires are made [28].

#### US

In 2010, DOE issued a determination that standards were justified for HID lamps. DOE assessed the potential energy savings for the lamps identified in the final coverage determination by analyzing product availability, potential lamp designs that improve efficacy, and other factors (such as the potential to serve as a substitute for other regulated lamp types). HID lamps can differ from each other based on a variety of characteristics:

- Ballast location
- Base type
- Bulb finish (clear or coated)
- Bulb shape
- Colored lamps
- Correlated color temperature (CCT)
- Directionality of lamps
- Lamps operated on electronic ballasts
   only
- Lamp operating orientation
- Lumens
- Luminaire characteristics (open or enclosed)
- Specialty applications
- Wattage

In 2012, DOE proposed equipment classes based on directionality, ballast location, CCT range and lumen range [24].

In 2013 interim analysis, the definitions of equipment classes were changed. DOE is considering exempting directional and self-ballasted HID lamps, so it dropped those factors, as well as ballast location. Proposed equipment classes are now based on CCT range, wattage, bulb finish (clear or coated) and luminaire characteristic (open or enclosed). Different lamp technologies are included in some equipment classes, and will be subject to the same standards (e.g., some metal halide and mercury vapor lamps). In summary, DOE is considering including in the scope of coverage for a standard:

- metal halide (MH) lamps with a rated wattage between 50W and 2,000 W, and CCTs from 2800 K through 6999 K
- mercury vapor (MV) lamps with a rated wattage between 50 W and 1,000 W and with CCTs from 3200 K through 6800 K, and
- high pressure sodium (HPS) lamps with a rated wattage between 50 W and 1,000 W and with CCTs from 1900 K through 2700 K.

DOE is considering excluding HID lamps designed and labeled for use with electronic ballasts only, directional HID lamps, self-ballasted HID lamps, colored MH lamps (CRI <40), electrodeless lamps, MV lamps intended for specialty applications, and high CCT lamps from the scope of coverage [26].

In Table 2, we group the major factors when these three economies consider how to classify an emerging technology. In general, the European Parliament and Council consider market size, environmental impact, and the potential to improve the environmental impact without imposing excessive cost [14]; DOE divides covered equipment into classes by the energy used, capacity, or other performance-related features that impact efficiency, and other factors such as the utility of the product to users (42 U.S.C. 6295(q)).

Table 2 Product	Classification	<b>Considerations in</b>	Australia,	the EU,	and the US
-----------------	----------------	--------------------------	------------	---------	------------

Australia		European Union		United States		
•	Market size	•	Market size	•	Market size	
Cost saving potentials		•	<ul> <li>Energy system(s)</li> </ul>		Capacity, size,	
<ul> <li>Energy consumption</li> </ul>		•	<ul> <li>Environmental</li> </ul>		volume	
•	Energy saving potentials		impact	•	Energy used (e.g.,	
•	Existence of a market failure that justifies the	•	Existing EU,		electricity, gas, oil)	
	Australian Government to intervene		Member State, or	٠	Other	
•	Greenhouse gas saving potentials		third country		performance-	
•	Industry impact, especially on local		legislation		related features	
	manufacturing	•	Test methods		that impact	
•	Net public benefit, demonstrated by a cost-	•	Product		efficiency	
benefit analysis			characteristics		Other factors such	
<ul> <li>Test standards, national or international</li> </ul>		•	<ul> <li>Materials</li> </ul>		as the utility of the	
	·				product to users	

Source: [31], [14], and US rulemakings

### Two possible policy approaches

There are two ways to regulate LEDs. One is to regulate LEDs as general lighting services by setting a single efficiency requirement common to all technologies (Scenario 1); the other option is to regulate incandescent, CFLs, and LEDs each as a separate equipment class with its own efficiency requirement (Scenario 2). Scenario 1 has the potential to lift the whole lighting market to a higher efficiency level, at the risk of eliminating less efficient technologies (e.g., incandescent lamps and perhaps CFLs). Figure 1 illustrates the impacts of the two scenarios. In Scenario 1, as the energy efficiency level was set at the average level across the entire general service lighting sector, CFLs and incandescent lamps would be required to improve efficiency in order to meet the threshold. In Scenario 2, on the other hand, each product class (e.g., lighting technology) has their own separate

minimum efficiency requirement. Although the efficiency requirement for LED would be higher than that in Scenario 1, the efficiency levels for CFLs and incandescent lamps would be set at lower levels, because at present those technologies are much less efficient than LEDs. Factors to consider are the tradeoffs between the utility provided by keeping a wider range of technologies, compared to the limitations that Scenario 2 places on energy efficiency. In other words, Scenario 2 retains less efficient technologies.

Practical and economic matters also need to be considered. Replacing all incandescent lamps with CFLs was not practical without sacrificing some utility when CFLs that could be dimmed were not available. The costs of replacing existing lighting infrastructure with different technologies can be high. If replacing one technology with another, the effort may involve more than substituting lamps, and could include replacing fixtures. Those costs should be included in estimating cost-effectiveness of policies.

According to a recent study of technical potential by the Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, if all lighting reached the same efficiency level in the range of LEDs (100 lm/W), rather than separate efficiency levels at 60 lm/W (CFL) and 15 lm/W (incandescent), respectively, Australia could save 2 TWh energy, and the EU and the US could each save 29 TWh in the year 2020 [16]. The total energy savings in those three economies would be equal to the elimination of 12 coal fired power plants [27]. The cost-effective potential was estimated to be less, 0.4 TWh in Australia and 20 TWh in the EU in the year 2020, and no savings in the US at a cost of conserved energy below \$0.01/kWh. The baseline case included phase-out of incandescent lamps s by 2030 [15].



# Figure 1 Illustration of the Impacts of Different Product Classification Scenarios on Lighting Products Efficiency Levels

Source: [32] and [2]

With respect to market developments, the choice of regulation can have significant effects on markets and stakeholders . One path may stratify the status quo, while the other may encourage more development and innovation.

As can be seen with past examples regarding advances in lighting technologies, the treatment of CFLs as a distinct product class has had a significant impact on the market. This treatment, and the promotion of CFLs by market transformation organizations (including electric utilities and state agencies) in the US, gave rise to a new group of product manufacturers and fostered competition. The widespread demand for CFLs in the US allowed smaller manufacturers to enter the market earlier in its development, changing the dynamics in a market previously dominated by three major manufacturers and a handful of no-name producers competing in the sale of a commoditized product. A few of the new market entrants eventually became major CFL suppliers that directly challenged the established manufacturers for market share. They also drove product innovations, including the "spiral" design, better electronic ballasts, and smaller diameter tubing. However, the challenge with CFLs which regulators had difficulty addressing was and still is product quality. With many manufacturers entering the market, price became the one distinguishing factor, and the market experienced a "race to the bottom" in terms of price and product quality.

Some similarities can be seen with the developing market for LEDs. Since their introduction up to now, the LEDs market is dominated by several LED chip manufacturers, and a few large lamp manufacturers. Increasingly, there are more entries by smaller manufacturers into the market, most competing on price. However, because LEDs can require sophisticated electronic drivers, there are more electronics manufacturers interested or are exploring entry into this market. Their entry could help to drive product innovation and accelerate advances in lighting derived from the electronics arena. The challenge for regulators once again is to anticipate this market shift, and design regulations in such a way to encourage innovation and advancement, while preventing the proliferation of poor quality products that can turn consumers away from this significant innovation. We also note that not only LEDS, but also incandescent and some CFLs are now innovating, some to twice past efficacy levels.

# Conclusion

LED is an emerging technology with a promise of significant energy savings potential. In considering how to regulate this technology, regulators may want to take into account of developments internationally, as well as the characteristics of their own market. In fact, regulators outside of the EU and US may find it advantageous to take into account of regulations that are under development in both of these regions to ensure alignment where possible, as well as considering domestic manufacturing and market characteristics.

For regulators wishing to maximize competition in their market, they may want to consider regulating LEDs as a separate product class. The full implications of this approach on the lighting market may not be known, however, they can include more consumer choice, potentially a higher cost for the service (but possibly lower lifecycle costs in the long run) and perhaps a limit on energy savings for lighting as a whole. Those who choose to take this path have a number of existing MEPS and other model regulations in place elsewhere internationally that can be adopted for the different lighting technologies. It should be noted that regardless of approach, alignment with international norms can also lower market entry costs for manufacturers and risks for S&L policies.

On the other hand, regulators can regulate incandescent lamps, CFLs, and LEDs together as a common lighting service. This can have the effect of minimizing (or providing more certainty about – in the case of incandescent phase-out) market disruptions. If a more stringent standard level can be reached by innovation in competing technologies, it can also have the effect of increasing innovation in product performance for those technologies competing with the emerging technology (as can be seen in CFL and recent incandescent developments). Depending upon the standard level, however, this can also mean a slower path to maximized energy savings. Market disruptions can be a positive or negative force, depending on whether or not consumers can be adequately prepared for such events through outreach efforts or clear and effective message on the label, for example. Consumers
who are not prepared for new technologies tend to distrust them more, and are less likely to adopt them early.

Whichever regulatory approach is taken, specifications (e.g., performance, lifetime, dimming) and safeguards are required to prevent "unintended affects", such as a "race to the bottom competition," where quality is sacrificed to achieve lower equipment price, and to ensure consumer protection against poor performing products. Table 3, below lists a number of factors that regulators may want to take into consideration, and possible effects, depending on the chosen approach.

Considerations	Lighting services as one class (Scenario 1)	Separate Classes by Technology (Scenario 2)
Service provided	All classes provide a	Classes may provide
	common service	different services
Utility	Some utility in common	Classes may provide
	among all classes	different utilities
Energy savings	Including substitution of	Within each class
	emerging technology for	
	existing	
Innovation	Interaction across	Within each class
	classes	
Specifications beyond EE	Maybe (other parameters	Yes
needed	such as color and	
	dimming)	

# References

[1] Collaborative Labeling and Appliance Standards Program (CLASP). LED State of Play. 2012.

[2] Clean Technica. *World's Most Efficient LED Bulb*? 4 February 2013. Can be downloaded at: http://cleantechnica.com/2013/02/04/worlds-most-efficient-led-bulb/

[3] Equipment Energy Efficiency Program (E3). *Decision Regulatory Impact Statement for Decision-Proposed MEPS for incandescent lamps, compact fluorescent lamps and voltage converters.* May 2009. Can be downloaded at: http://www.energyrating.gov.au/products-themes/lighting/compact-fluorescent-lamps/documents-and-publications/

[4] Equipment Energy Efficiency Program (E3). Product Profile: Heat Pump Water Heaters. June
 2012. Can be downloaded at: http://www.energyrating.gov.au/wp content/uploads/Energy\_Rating\_Documents/Library/Water\_Heating/Heat\_Pump\_Water\_Heaters/Heat

-Pump-Water-Heater-Product-Profile-June-2012.pdf

[5] Equipment Energy Efficiency Program (E3). *Heat Pump Water Heaters: Examining options to improve energy efficiency*. Can be downloaded at: http://www.energyrating.gov.au/wp-content/uploads/Energy\_Rating\_Documents/Library/Water\_Heating/Heat\_Pump\_Water\_Heaters/heat -pump-water-heaters-july-2012.pdf

[6] Equipment Energy Efficiency Program (E3). *Compact Fluorescent Lamps MEPS Requirements.* Can be downloaded at: http://www.energyrating.gov.au/products-themes/lighting/compact-fluorescent-lamps/meps/

[7] Equipment Energy Efficiency Program (E3). *Incandescent Lamps MEPS Requirements.* Can be downloaded at: http://www.energyrating.gov.au/products-themes/lighting/incandescent-lamps/meps\_req/

[8] Equipment Energy Efficiency Program (E3). *MEPS and Labelling Requirements Heat Pump.* Can be downloaded at: http://www.energyrating.gov.au/products-themes/water-heating/heat-pump/meps-and-labelling-heatpm/

[9] Equipment Energy Efficiency Program (E3). *Water Heating Electric Water Heaters MEPS and Labelling Requirements Electric.* Can be downloaded at: http://www.energyrating.gov.au/products-themes/water-heating/electric-water-heaters/meps-and-labelling-electric/

[10] Equipment Energy Efficiency Program (E3). *Water Heating Gas Hot Water MEPS and Labelling Requirements Gas.* Can be downloaded at: http://www.energyrating.gov.au/products-themes/water-heating/gas-hot-water/meps-and-labelling-gas/

[11] European Council for an Energy Efficient Economy (ECEEE). *Lot 8-9: Tertiary lighting.* Can be downloaded at: http://www.eceee.org/Eco\_design/products/tertiary\_lighting

[12] European Council for an Energy Efficient Economy (ECEEE). *Products covered and their status in the EuP process.* Can be downloaded at: http://www.eceee.org/Eco\_design/products

[13] European Commission. Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) of 18.2.2013 Supplementing Directive 2010/30/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council with regard to the energy labelling of water heaters, hot water storage tanks and packages of water heater and solar device. Can be downloaded at:

http://www.eceee.org/Eco\_design/products/water\_heaters/06\_Energy%20Labelling%20Water%20He ater-C%202013%20818.pdf

[14] European Parliament and Council. *Directive 2005/32/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 6 July 2005*. Can be downloaded at: http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2005:191:0029:0058:en:PDF

[15] Letschert, V., Bojda, N., Ke, J., & McNeil, M. *Estimate of Cost-Effective Potential for Minimum Efficiency Performance Standards in 13 Major World Economies - Energy Savings, Environmental and Financial Impacts.* 14 November 2012. Can be downloaded at:

http://www.clasponline.org/Resources/Resources/StandardsLabelingResourceLibrary/2012/BUENAS-Scenario-BAT-CEP

[16] Letschert, V., Desroches, L., Ke, J., & McNeil, M. *Estimate of Technical Potential for Minimum Efficiency Performance Standards in 13 Major World Economies.* 14 November 2012. Can be downloaded at:

http://www.clasponline.org/Resources/Resources/StandardsLabelingResourceLibrary/2012/BUENAS-Scenario-BAT-CEP

[17] Solid-State Lighting Product Quality Initiative. *LED Luminaire Lifetime: Recommendations for Testing and Reporting.* June 2011. Can be downloaded at: http://apps1.eere.energy.gov/buildings/publications/pdfs/ssl/led\_luminaire-lifetime-guide\_june2011.pdf

[18] European Commission. Commission Regulation (EU) No 1194/2012. Official Journal of the European Union implementing Directive 2009/125/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council with regard to Ecodesign requirements for directional lamps, light emitting diode lamps and related equipment.

[19] U.S. Congress. National Appliance Energy Conservation Act (NAECA). Public Law 100-12. 1987.

[20] U.S. Department of Energy. Federal Register Vol. 63, No. 90, 25996-26016 (May 11). 1998. Can be downloaded at: http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-1998-05-11/pdf/98-12296.pdf

[21] U.S. Department of Energy. 75 Federal Register 20112, 20126, 20135. 2010.

[22] U.S. Department of Energy. *Energy Conservation Program: Energy Conservation Standards for Residential Water Heaters, Direct Heating Equipment, and Pool Heaters: Final Rule.* Washington, DC: Federal Register Vol. 75, No. 73, 20112-20236. 16 April 2010.

[23] U.S. Department of Energy. *Energy Conservation standards for Residential Water Heaters, Direct Heating Equipment, and Pool Heaters: Final Rule, Federal Register.* Washington, DC. 16 April 2010.

[24] U.S. Department of Energy. Framework Document for High-Intensity Discharge Lamps. 2012.

[25] U.S. Department of Energy. *Energy Conservation Program for Consumer Products: Energy Conservation Standards for Residential Water Heaters.* Washington, DC: Federal Register Vol. 78, No. 38, 12969-12988, 26 February 2013.

[26] U.S. Department of Energy. *Interim Technical Support Document for High Intensity Discharge Lamps.* 2013.

[27] U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Greenhouse Gas Equivalencies Calculator. October 2012. Can be downloaded at: http://www.epa.gov/cleanenergy/energy-resources/calculator.html#results

[28] Van Tichelen, P., Jansen, B., Geerken, T., Vanden Bosch, M., VanHoof, V., Vanhooydonck, L., et al. *Final Report Lot 8: Office lighting.* April 2007. Can be downloaded at: http://www.eceee.org/Eco\_design/products/tertiary\_lighting/Final\_report\_Lot8

[29] VHK. *Methodology Study Eco-design of Energy-using Products*. 28 November 2005. Can be downloaded at: http://ec.europa.eu/energy/demand/legislation/doc/2005\_11\_28\_finalreport1\_en.pdf

[30] VHK. *Preparatory Study on Eco-design of Water Heaters*. 30 September 2007. Can be downloaded at: <u>http://www.eceee.org/Eco\_design/products/water\_heaters</u>

[31] Ton M.K. Personal Correspondence with Carroll N., the Department of Climate Change and Energy Efficiency of Australia. 21 March 2013.

[32] McMahon, J.E. Personal Correspondence with Rubinstein, F., Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory. 19 March 2013.

[33] http://www.energyrating.gov.au/programs/e3-program/.

[34] Note that because there is no consistent measurements for various types of water heaters, the European Commission issued a Mandate in 1996 (M204) with an objective to standardize the test procedures for water heaters.

# A preliminary study of lighting energy performance in houses with various window systems

# Jiangtao Du<sup>1</sup>, Bengt Hellström, Marie-Claude Dubois

# Division of Energy and Building Design, Department of Architecture and Built Environment, LTH, Lund University, Sweden

# Abstract

This paper presents a preliminary study on the impact of windows on energy performance in a detached house in Sweden. The parameters studied include window sizes, thermal and visual transmittances, solar gains, as well as one shading device. The energy consumption of electrical lighting system was the main factor to be first investigated. Furthermore, the heating and cooling demands were also assessed to demonstrate an entire profile of energy performance with the occurrence of various window systems and lighting conditions. Based on typical climate zones in Sweden, three locations (Umeå, Stockholm and Malmö) have been selected as the representatives. DesignBuilder (+EnergyPlus), a state-of-the-art package, was used to dynamically simulate environmental effect and energy performance. A clear relationship between window use and lighting energy performance has been achieved. The final results could be used for supporting earlier stage house design in northern Europe.

# 1. Introduction

The window system (including rooflight) has been considered as one of the most significant building components when evaluating energy and environmental performance of a house [1]. The indoor environment and energy use have a substantial relationship with window characteristics (thermal transmittance, solar gain, visual transmittance, etc.) and configurations [2]. Generally, the evaluation of windows is carried out in a specific built environment, because their performances are also dependent on the building type and outdoor climate [3].

Daylight (skylight and sunlight) has been regarded as one indispensable environmental factor in residential buildings [4]. It can illuminate the indoor tasks, reduce electrical lighting use and save energy, improve human health and well-being on the ground of physiological and psychological aspects [4, 5]. Windows could be used as an efficient approach to deliver daylight into buildings [6]. For the window use and lighting energy savings, most of the previous studies were completed in commercial and public buildings [7]. It might be determined by the scale of electrical lighting systems and their energy consumptions in these spaces. Recently, this topic in residential buildings has received more attentions. In Europe, a study [8] has been conducted to investigate the impact of windows on overall energy use (lighting, cooling, heating) in a single family house (with 20% windowto-floor area ratio) located in different cities. The findings show that the window is the most energyefficient way to provide biological light levels (500-2500 lx). Even though the basic conditions for energy analysis are significantly oversimplified, this study still expresses a clear relationship between windows and electrical lighting savings. Another Swedish study [9] in passive houses pointed out that enlarging a north glazing was actually a possible solution to increase the daylight utilization and save energy with the occurrence of energy-efficient windows. The integration of daylighting and artificial lighting systems has been apparently suggested in several important building standards in order to achieve an energy-efficient building [10, 11].

In addition, window energy performance relating to thermal environment could be another crucial issue concerning the house owners or builders. The thermal transmittance of the window (even one with a good performance) could be four to five times larger than a well-insulated wall [3]. Overall, the heat loss from windows could even achieve a level of around 1/3 of the total energy loss in a typical

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Corresponding author; Email: jiangtao.du@ebd.lth.se

residential building [12]. On the other hand, windows can make contributions to the energy gains by allowing solar radiation into the houses, which at the same time increases the risk of overheating [3]. An optimal energy balance for windows would be a basic requirement for the houses with good energy performances.

This paper presents a preliminary study on the impact of windows on energy performance in houses in Sweden. The parameters studied were composed of window sizes, thermal and visual transmittances, as well as one shading device. The electrical lighting energy consumption was the main factor to be first investigated. Furthermore, the heating and cooling demands were also calculated to demonstrate an entire profile of energy consumptions with the occurrence of various window systems and lighting conditions. In terms of typical climate zones in Sweden, three locations have been selected as the representatives. DesignBuilder (+EnergyPlus), a state-of-the-art package, was used to dynamically simulate environmental effect and energy. The achieved results would be used for supporting house design at the earlier stage.

# 2. Methodology

This section comprises the introductions of house model and locations, window systems and simulation tools.

#### 2.1 House model and locations

A one-story detached house (Figure. 1) was studied, which was built in terms of the basic Swedish house models [13]. With a floor area around 130 m<sup>2</sup> and south orientation, the house has a rectangular plan (length 19 m; width 7 m). The wall of the ground floor is 3.3 m while the pitched roof has a slope angle of 45°. No internal partitions have been used. Only the façade below the roof has been installed windows. The thermal properties (U-value) of the house envelop are the follows: U(wall) = 0.15 W/m<sup>2</sup>K; U(roof) = 0.1 W/m<sup>2</sup>K; U(ground floor & external floor) = 0.2 W/m<sup>2</sup>K.



Figure. 1: The Swedish house model studied in this paper.

With respect to the climate zones in BBR 2009 [14], three Swedish cities were chosen as the house locations: Umeå (Climate zone I; Latitude 63.80°, Longitude 20.28°); Stockholm (Climate zone II; Latitude 59.65°, Longitude 17.95°); Malmö (Climate zone III; Latitude 55.55°, Longitude 13.37°). Clearly, a relatively cold climate was the dominant weather condition.

#### 2.2 Window systems

According to thermal transmittances, two different windows were analyzed in the house such as common window and energy-efficient window. The common and energy-efficient windows used in the study consisted of clear-glass panes and low-e glass panes respectively. The thermal, solar energy and visual transmittances of the two windows are given in Table. 1.

Moreover, this study also assessed the effect of window sizes at facades below the roof. Eight various window areas were studied defined by the WWR (window-to-wall ratios): 10%, 20%, 30%, 40%, 50%, 60%, 70%, 80%. A medium-opaque roll shade was used as the basic outside shading device for each window if it is required.

Name	U(glazing)-value (W/m <sup>2</sup> K)	U(frame)-value (W/m <sup>2</sup> K)	g-value	Visual Transmittance
Common Window	1.60	2.00	0.70	0.74
Energy-efficient window	0.80	1.50	0.50	0.62

#### 2.3 Simulations

The energy performance of the house models was simulated using DesignBuilder (+EnergyPlus). It is a dynamic simulation package and could provide a comprehensive range of energy consumption and environmental data (heating, cooling, lighting, ventilation, etc) shown in annual, monthly, daily, hourly or sub-hourly intervals [15].

The annual electrical lighting demand (kWh/m<sup>2</sup>) was the first important component of energy consumption in this study. For the lighting analysis, only one lighting control zone and the general lighting have been set across the entire rectangular ground floor in order to simplify the environmental influence. The target illuminance level was 500 lx, which is regarded as the minimum lighting level concerning the issues of visual purposes and human well beings in residential buildings [8]. A working plane (0.8 m above the floor) was used for daylighting and lighting calculation. The electrical lighting was controlled through a linear model corresponding with the daylight illuminance level. The lighting power density was set as 17 W/m<sup>2</sup> [16]. Also, the roll shading device will be operated in terms of visual comfort (the maximum allowable glare index = 22, facing south) [16].

The annual heating and cooling demands (kWh/m<sup>2</sup>) were the second component of energy consumption. Even though it is not necessary to adopt cooling systems in residential buildings under Swedish climatic conditions, the cooling load was still calculated to clarify the impact of shading device. For thermal environment, the set points of 21°C and 26°C were used for heating and cooling systems respectively, which were based on energy-efficient use [6, 14]. Similar to lighting, the house has only one thermal zone in which no internal heat gains and mechanical ventilations have been considered. Most of the settings have been simplified to reduce the environmental effect.

#### 3. Results and Discussions

The simulated electrical lighting, heating and cooling demands in the house model with various window systems were analyzed in this section.

#### 3.1 Common Windows without Shading Devices

Figure. 2 shows the annual lighting and heating load ( $kWh/m^2$ ) in a house with common windows (U(glazing) = 1.6 W/m<sup>2</sup>K) and eight various window sizes at three Swedish locations. No shading devices are included. Generally, the annual lighting energy consumption slightly decreases with the increase of window area of the four facades at all the locations. For each WWR (window-to-wall ratio), no big differences of lighting load could be found between the three different locations. For example, houses with a WWR of 10% in Umeå, Stockholm and Malmö have annual lighting loads of 36.07, 35.18 and 34.68 kWh/m<sup>2</sup> respectively, while the three values will be changed into 31.46, 30.57 and 29.96 kWh/m<sup>2</sup> when the WWR becomes 80%. This could be explained by a fact that overcast sky condition dominates most of Swedish cities. The heating load, nevertheless, shows an opposite variation that the increasing window areas increase the heating energy use when the WWR is larger than 20%. The small window areas (WWR 10% and 20%) have a relatively similar heating load in houses. Interestingly, the curve of heating load at each location approximately parallels with others

and its distribution well corresponds with the latitude and basic climate condition. The northern city Umeå sees the maximum heating energy consumption while the southern city Malmö has the minimum value. With a location in the middle, Stockholm has a medium heating load in the house.



Figure. 2: The annual lighting and heating load in houses with various window areas (common window; no shading).

Table 2: The percentage differences of lighting and heating load between various window areas (common window; no shading).

R value (%)										
v	WR	10%	20%	30%	40%	50%	60%	70%	80%	
	Stockholm	0.0	-5.7	-7.7	-8.8	-10.2	-11.5	-12.4	-12.8	
Lighting	Malmö	0.0	-5.7	-7.9	-9.1	-10.4	-11.8	-12.8	-13.1	
load	Umeå	0.0	-6.1	-8.2	-9.5	-10.8	-12.2	-13.2	-13.6	
	Stockholm	0.0	0.3	3.0	7.7	13.4	19.8	27.1	35.3	
Heating	Malmö	0.0	-2.4	-1.2	2.4	7.2	13.0	20.5	29.1	
load	Umeå	0.0	-0.6	1.9	6.5	12.3	18.8	26.4	34.7	

Taking the lighting load or heating load at WWR 10% as a reference, R is defined as the percentage difference of energy consumption between other WWR values and the 10% by the equation (1):

$$R = \frac{E_{lighting (heating), n} - E_{lighting (heating), 10\%}}{E_{lighting (heating), 10\%}} \times 100\%$$
(1)

where, E lighting (heating),n is the lighting load or heating load when the WWR = n;

 $E_{\text{lighting (heating), 10\%}}$  is the lighting load or heating load when the WWR = 10%;

n is the WWR value (from 10% to 80%, with a step of 10%).

Table. 2 gives the R values of lighting and heating load in a house with common windows and eight various window sizes at three Swedish locations. It could be clearly found: for the WWR > 50%, the reduction rate of lighting energy use is less than the increase rate of heating energy use with an increasing window area; for the WWR < 50%, the decrease rate of lighting energy use is larger than the increase rate when window area tends to bigger. Moreover, the absolute percentage of lighting load reduction is similar to the absolute percentage of heating load increase for the half wall and half window configuration (WWR 50%). These indicate that increasing the sizes of smaller common windows in a range would benefit both the energy performances and environmental requirements.

#### 3.2 Energy-efficient Windows without Shading Devices

Figure. 3 displays the annual lighting and heating load  $(kWh/m^2)$  in a house with energy-efficient windows (U(glazing) =  $0.8W/m^2K$ ) and eight various window sizes at three cities in Sweden. The house windows have no shading devices.



Figure. 3: The annual lighting and heating load in houses with various window areas (energyefficient window; no shading).

Like the common window, the increasing energy-efficient window sizes still continuously decrease the lighting energy consumption. The three Swedish locations also see a similar lighting load at each window size. The WWR 10% has the maximum lighting load (around 36 kWh/m<sup>2</sup>) while the maximum lighting energy use (around 30 kWh/m<sup>2</sup>) can be found at WWR 80%. However, the variations of heating load express a different trend compared with the common window. With the increase of WWR value, the heating load slightly falls and reaches the bottom at 40% or 50% and then slowly goes up. The location effect keeps the same distribution for heating load curves: Umeå, Stockholm and Malmö have the maximum, medium and minimum heating energy use.

The R values of energy-efficient windows are given in Table. 3. In general, the reduction rates of lighting load are bigger than the varying rates of heating load with the increasing window areas. The heating energy use at WWR 10% is larger than most of the values with a larger window area except for the WWR 80% at Umeå and Stockholm. The R values of Malmö completely support the utilization of larger energy-efficient window systems. At Stockholm, houses with 30%, 40% and 50% WWR could save 6% heating consumption in the house with the 10% WWR. Combined with lighting energy use, the 50% and 40% WWR could be the most efficient. Similarly, the proper values at Umeå are 50% and 40% whilst Malmö has two larger ones of 50% and 60%. This could be explained by a fact: the energy-efficient windows with a lower heat loss (lower U value) increase the possibilities to use a

larger window, which allows more solar gains. A similar result can be found in a study of the window thermal properties and sizes in passive houses [9].

	R value (%)									
10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70%									80%	
	Stockholm	0.0	-6.5	-8.7	-9.8	-11.2	-12.6	-13.5	-13.9	
Lighting	Malmö	0.0	-6.5	-8.8	-10.0	-11.5	-12.9	-13.9	-14.3	
load	Umeå	0.0	-7.1	-9.5	-10.7	-12.2	-13.6	-14.6	-15.0	
	Stockholm	0.0	-3.6	-5.6	-6.3	-5.7	-4.3	-2.0	1.2	
Heating	Malmö	0.0	-6.3	-10.3	-12.2	-12.7	-12.2	-10.3	-7.3	
load	Umeå	0.0	-4.2	-6.8	-7.6	-7.0	-5.5	-3.0	0.3	

Table. 3: The percentage differences	of lighting	and heatin	g load	between	various	window
areas (energy-efficient window; no sha	ding).					

#### 3.3 Common Windows with Shading Devices

Figure. 4 indicates the annual lighting and heating load ( $kWh/m^2$ ) in a house with common windows (U(glazing) = 1.6 W/m<sup>2</sup>K) and an outside roll shade and eight various window sizes at three cities in Sweden.



Figure. 4: The annual lighting and heating load in houses with various window areas (common window; with a roll shade).

For the common windows with a roll shading device, the general varying trends of lighting and heating load with an increasing WWR value still keep the same as the windows without any shading devices. When the window area tends to larger, the electrical lighting energy consumption decreases while the heating load increases. According to Table.4, comparatively, the reduction rate of lighting load and the increasing rate of heating load at each WWR are both bigger than the values of common windows without shades (in Table.3). This could show that the roll shade makes the lighting and heating load receive more sensitivity to the change of window area. Even though the shading operation is controlled by visual comfort as mentioned above, the roll shade could also block some solar gains, especially for larger windows.

R value (%)											
	10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80										
	Stockholm	0.0	-7.7	-10.9	-12.5	-13.7	-15.3	-16.3	-16.7		
Lighting	Malmö	0.0	-8.5	-12.1	-14.1	-16.1	-17.5	-18.4	-18.8		
load	Umeå	0.0	-8.9	-12.7	-14.7	-16.6	-18.2	-19.2	-19.5		
	Stockholm	0.0	1.5	4.4	9.0	15.6	20.7	27.9	36.3		
Heating	Malmö	0.0	2.8	4.1	7.7	12.4	18.1	25.4	34.8		
load	Umeå	0.0	3.9	6.5	10.9	16.4	22.8	30.2	38.9		

Table.	4:	The	percent	age	differences	of	lighting	and	heating	load	between	various	window
areas (	(co	mmo	on windo	w;	ith a roll sha	ade	e).						

#### 3.4 Energy-efficient Windows with Shading Devices

Figure. 5 gives the annual lighting and heating load  $(kWh/m^2)$  in a house with energy-efficient windows (U(glazing) =  $0.8 W/m^2 K$ ) and an outside roll shade and eight various window sizes at three cities in Sweden. The percentage differences of lighting and heating load (R value) between various window areas of energy-efficient windows are given in Table. 5. The variations of lighting and heating load are similar to the energy-efficient windows without any shading devices (in Figure.3 & Table.3). The WWR 40%, 50% and 60% would promote an optimal energy performance in houses when only taking into account lighting and heating energy use. For the lighting and heating load with energy-efficient windows, the roll shade also brings in higher sensitivity to the varying window area.

R value (%)											
	10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80										
	Stockholm	0.0	-8.0	-11.4	-13.0	-14.6	-16.0	-17.0	-17.4		
Lighting	Malmö	0.0	-8.3	-12.3	-14.4	-16.4	-18.0	-19.0	-19.3		
load	Umeå	0.0	-8.9	-12.9	-15.0	-17.1	-18.7	-19.8	-20.2		
	Stockholm	0.0	-2.2	-4.0	-4.7	-4.3	-3.1	-0.9	2.6		
Heating	Malmö	0.0	-3.3	-6.8	-9.0	-9.8	-9.6	-7.9	-4.3		
load	Umeå	0.0	-1.4	-3.5	-4.5	-4.3	-3.2	-1.0	2.7		

# Table. 5: The percentage differences of lighting and heating load between various window areas (energy-efficient window; with a roll shade).



Figure. 5: The annual lighting and heating load in houses with various window areas (energyefficient window; with a roll shade).

#### 3.5 Comparisons between various windows

This section has the comparisons of energy performance (lighting, heating and cooling) between the various windows analyzed above.



Figure. 6: The comparison of annual lighting energy consumption between various window systems (C: common window; E: energy-efficient window).

First, Figure. 6 shows the comparisons of annual lighting load (kWh/m<sup>2</sup>) between various windows. Apparently, the lighting load of each window varies in a similar trend. The trend can be regressed into

a power equation:  $y = ax^{-b}$  (2), where, y is the lighting load (kWh/m<sup>2</sup>); x is the WWR; a, b is the constant. For the small and medium window sizes (WWR < 60%), the windows with a roll shade give rise to a higher lighting energy consumption than the windows without shading devices. The difference of lighting load between the two windows will decrease with the increase of WWR. For the larger windows (WWR 60%, 70% and 80%), roll shade takes little effect on the lighting load. Obviously, the maximum lighting load is found for the energy-efficient window with a roll shade at Stockholm while the common window at Umeå has the least lighting energy consumption.



Figure. 7: The comparison of annual heating energy consumption between various window systems (C: common window; E: energy-efficient window).

Next, Figure. 7 demonstrates the comparisons of annual heating load (kWh/m<sup>2</sup>) between various windows. It can also be found that the window with a roll shade at each location has a bit higher heating load than the window without shading devices. Clearly, the energy-efficient windows achieve a lower heating energy use than the common windows. Except for the smallest window size (WWR 10%), the differences of heating load between the two windows increase with an increasing window area. The largest window area (WWR 80%) sees the maximum absolute differences: 42.5 kWh/m<sup>2</sup> (Stockholm), 36.2 kWh/m<sup>2</sup> (Malmö) and 54.1 kWh/m<sup>2</sup> (Umeå).

Finally, Figure. 8 shows the comparisons of annual cooling load  $(kWh/m^2)$  between various windows. As mentioned in Section 2.3, the cooling system is not a crucial issue in Swedish residential buildings. The cooling load is only used for assisting the assessment of shading system here. The roll shade studied could substantially reduce the cooling energy consumption, in particular for the larger window sizes (WWR > 40%). The higher daylight levels would occur during the cooling season (e.g. summer) in Sweden. So, the roll shade used for visual comfort could also reduce the potential of overheating.

# 4. Conclusions

In this study, the effect of window properties (sizes, thermal and visual transmittances, as well as solar gains) and one shading device on energy performances was investigated in a medium detached house located at three different Swedish sites. The lighting energy consumption was the fundamental topic studied while the heating and cooling demand were also calculated to give a whole view of energy performance. Several main findings are mentioned as the follows:

(1) It is possible to increase daylight availability and reduce electrical lighting use by increasing window size across the façades in houses in high latitude areas of Europe. But, an energy balance between lighting and heating load has to be considered at the same time;

(2) For general windows with common thermal and visual properties, the increased window size would allow more daylight availability but at the same time increase the heating energy consumption. The area of façade window could be lower than the area of half wall in order to achieve a good energy balance between lighting load and heating load in houses;

(3) For special windows with high energy efficiency, a larger window size (around or more than half wall area) could be an optimal solution to achieve a reasonable energy consumption and more daylight availability;

(4) For lighting performance, the shading devices significantly influence the windows with small sizes while no clear impact could be found for the larger windows (especially for the WWWR > 50%);

(5) For thermal environment, the shading devices would not take substantial effect on heating systems while the cooling load could be clearly affected, particularly for the large window;

(6) An energy-efficient window could not only give rise in a better energy performance but also bring in more flexibility for the house design than the common window.

Limitations: this study was completed in a simply house model. Some environmental conditions (e.g. internal gains and ventilations) have not been included into the whole simulations, which might result in some differences of window energy performances. These works would be the centre topic carried out in the next stage. In addition, the economic issue would be studied and discussed in the future.



Figure. 8: The comparison of annual cooling energy consumption between various window systems (C: common window; E: energy-efficient window).

#### References

- Urbikain M.K and Sala J.M. Analysis of different models to estimate energy savings related to windows in residential buildings. Energy and Buildings 41(2009):687–695.
- [2] EN/ISO10077-1:2000. Thermal performance of windows, doors and shutters- calculation of thermal transmittance, part 1: Simplified method. Geneva, Switzerland, 2000.

- [3] Schultz J.M and Svendsen S. *WINSIM: a simple simulation program for evaluating the influence of windows on heating demand and risk of overheating.* Solar Energy 4(1998):251-258.
- [4] BS8206-2(2008). Lighting for buildings-Part 2: Code of practice for daylight. London, UK, 2008.
- [5] Veitch J.A and Galasiu A.D. *The physiological and psychological effects of windows, daylight, and view at home: review and research agenda.* report of IRC-RR-325, Ottawa, Canada, 2012.
- [6] CIBSE/Guide F: Energy efficiency in buildings. 2012, Norwich, UK.
- [7] LBNL/report47493: IEA/SHC/Task21: Daylight in Buildings a source book on daylighting systems and components. 2000, Berkeley, CA, USA.
- [8] Foldbjerg P, Roy N, Duer K and Andersen P A. *Windows as a low energy light source in residential buildings: analysis of impact on electricity, cooling and heating demand.* The Conference of Clima2010, Turkey, 2010.
- [9] Persson M L, Roos A and Wall M. *Influence of window size on the energy balance of low energy houses*. Energy and Buildings 38(2006):181-188.
- [10] CIBSE/LG10: Daylighting and Window Design. 1999, London, UK.
- [11] CIBSE/SLL: The SLL Code for Lighting, 2012, London, UK.
- [12] Karabay H and Arıcı M. *Multiple pane window applications in various climatic regions of Turkey*. Energy and Buildings 45(2012):67-71.
- [13] House models. www.myresjohus.se. Final Access: 19/03/2013.
- [14] Boverkets Byggregler (The National Board of Housing). *Boverkets Författningssamling* (*Building and Planning*). Karlskrona. 2009. (in Swedish)
- [15] Manual of DesignBuilder Version 3.0. <u>www.designbuilder.co.uk</u>. Final Access: 19/03/2013.
- [16] Engineering Reference of EnergyPlus. *http://apps1.eere.energy.gov/buildings/energyplus/.* Final Access: 19/03/2013.

# GfK Global Green Index: Consumers contribution to Energy Efficiency

# Patrick Niemeyer GfK SE Nuremberg, Germany

# 1. Background of the GfK Global Green Index

Recent disasters like in Fukushima brought the environmental awareness back in the focus of many consumers during the last two years. Especially in Germany, this topic is very present in the media and discussed almost daily in current energy-political debates. Besides, the change of social paradigms and the global dynamism caused consumers to change their attitudes towards the sustainability of their own consumption. Hence, the long-term and valid measurement of the environmental awareness is a key and trendsetting task.

This development prompted GfK, one of the biggest market research companies, with more than 11,000 employees in more than 100 countries worldwide, to initiate the GfK Global Green Index in August 2011, measuring the environment-conscious being of Germans in central dimensions. In addition to general settings, it is also lighting up whether and in which magnitude consumers are ready to bear arising expenses for environment-conscious behavior. Besides, the profile investigation serves for the explanation of setting changes with consumer groups, social environments or environments on lasting and green subjects. Through quarterly evaluations with N = 2,000 interviews in each wave, GfK was able to build up a valid database reflecting developments.

Amongst others, the GfK Global Green Index provides answers to the following questions:

- Is sustainability relevant for consumers in the long term?
- Which criteria matter for certain consumer segments, life styles, etc.?
- How do the attitudes to sustainability and green subjects change over time?
- Which external events are responsible for these changes?
- Which role do phenomena like the demographic change play for society?
- Which differences are there between certain cultural rooms, for example, India versus Germany versus Russia?

Since 2013, the GfK Global Green Index has been expanded to relevant markets across Europe, Asia and America. Currently, the following countries are components of the research:

Poland

Germany

Australia

- Russia
- Brazil
  Sweden
- France
  Spain
- India
  Turkey
- Italy
  UK
- Austria
  USA

# 2. Construction and contents of the GfK Global Green Index

A base of the GfK Global Green Index were extensive validity tests of approx. 60 statements on the subject of Sustainability and Environment-conscious being in Germany.

In two successional representative studies, each with a sample of n=2,000, respondents were asked to answer whether they agree or disagree to the mentioned criteria by using a 4-stage scale. In cooperation with GfK association, a factor analysis provided the means to identify the most expressive single criteria as representative variables for the formation of the GfK Global Green Index. Besides, the resultant factor loads of the analysis were used for the weighting of the single criteria.

After the extensive choice procedure to the inquiry of the relevant statements which form the base of the GfK Global Green index the respective sub-indices or the overall index were formed in a two-stage process.

# 2.1 Stage 1: Construction of sub-indices

In the first stage, suitable sub-indices were formed out of well-chosen statements for each case.

- Energy Efficiency
- Energy Supply
- Consumption & Production

- Tourism
- Waste/Recycling/disposal
- Environmental Protection & Resources

Mobility

Altogether, there are seven sub-indices which describe the Environment-conscious being extensively: Before the sub-indices could be formed, nevertheless, the answers from the single statements had to be made operationalizable. This was accomplished by generating so-called relative contraposition balances, a procedure which already has been used for a long time for the generation of index values across many studies of the GfK. Following an example in order to visualize the approach:

**Question / Statement:** "When shopping, I pay special attention to certified organic and seals of quality.

#### **Response Options:**

- Totally agree (A)
- Rather agree (B)
- Rather disagree (C)
- Totally disagree (D)
- Does not apply to me (E)
- Do not know (F)

#### **Relative Saldo RS:**

$$RS = \left(\frac{A+0.5*B-0.5*C-D}{A+0.5*B+0.5*C+D} + 1\right)*100$$

From the statements in each case so-called contraposition balances are formed. The part of respondents which do not agree is drawn off i.e. from the percentage of those which agree to the respective statement. Besides, the answer categories B and C (agrees rather, does not agree rather) are weighted only by half compared to the answers A and B ("agrees completely", "does not agree at all").

In another step, a so-called relative saldo (RS) is formed, while the absolute balance is divided by the sum of the percentage of the "Agreement" and "Disagreement" (again weighted). Finally, a value of 100 is added. As a result these relative balances of statements show a value range from 0 to 200. Consequently, the positive and negative answers are balanced at a score of 100.

Each single statement is then summarized to the respective sub-index in the next step. Nevertheless, the relative balances do not count same-weighted into the index (33% with three statements or 50% with two statements).

The factor loadings from the previous factor analysis, which have been the basis for the selection of incoming statements, are used for weighting. As a result, the respective sub-index is compiled, also showing a value range from 0 to 200.

# 2.2 Stage 2: Construction of the overall index out of the sub-indices

Finally, the overall index (GfK Global Green Index) is formed from seven sub-indices. In this case, the factor loads are also pulled up again for the weighting of the respective sub-indices. Specifically the

sum of the factor loads of the respective sub-index is authoritative as a weighting size. This implies that sub-indices, which consist of three statements, count with a higher weight.

# 3. What is special about the GfK Global Green Index

From the experience with a significant number of long-term consumer studies, GfK learned that asking for attitudes in areas that are in principle positive for the society, but may imply personal efforts to the respondents is a challenging task to get valid and accepted information about the actual expected behavior. Although there are existing experiments to defuse this problem as a pseudo-inconsistency [1], the prevailing opinion seems to support the theory of an existing gap. To shrink the interval between expressed future behavioral intentions and the actual behavior, GfK decided to face respondents with consequences, asking for most items within the dimensions for the GfK Global Green Index. The costs to pay for energy saving may serve as an example. Here we would like to know, to what extend consumers are attracted to use energy efficient devices. The measurements of the corresponding statement "I personally would only pay costs for energy saving e.g. with the purchase of energy efficient devices, if this is economically viable for me" showed that there is a wide variety of results among socio-demographic subgroups as gender or age, which could not be found in a control group survey with a similar statement without the monetary consequence. From GfK's point of view, this leads to more honest answers as the given consequences reflect the personal reality of the respondents even more.

# 4. The subject energy efficiency in the GfK Global Green Index

According to company specifications of Siemens, 40 percent of the worldwide energy consumption is caused by the building inventory. By a huge number of measures which reach from the intelligent house automation, through efficient lighting system to measures in the insulation and heating area, a very big energy saving potential comes up here. According to Siemens, saving effects can be reached with modern and intelligent applications and reduce power consumption in the area of household appliances by more than 50% compared with the 1990s [2].

Due to the commonly accepted importance of energy efficiency in private households, the GfK Global Green Index covers this topic by six criteria measuring the attitudes of consumers towards their own energy saving behavior over time. The items currently used are assigned to the sub-indices "consumption and production" as well as "energy-efficient":

#### Sub-index "Consumption & Production":

• When buying large and small electrical devices I make sure that they have a low energy consumption even though they may be more expensive than other devices.

#### Sub-index "Energy Efficiency"

- I personally would only pay costs for energy saving e.g. with the purchase of energy efficient devices, if this is economically viable for me.
- I personally would only pay costs for energy efficiency measures e.g. insulation, if this is economically viable for me.
- When purchasing energy saving products, the most important thing for me is environmental protection and not saving money.
- All property owners should be obliged to carry out energy saving renovation measures as you can save a great deal of energy if such measures have been carried out in a building.
- I would be willing to spend more on energy efficient products in the future to lower my energy consumption.

To be able to show a profound and holistic picture of the dimension "Energy Efficiency", the GfK Clobal Green Index also frequently contains questions to seasonal matters. In March 2012, the Global Green Index measured the prohibition of conventional bulbs and the reaction of consumers to this. In the other dimensions similar key topics were conducted over time as well.

# 5. Attitudes to energy efficiency in Germany

Looking at the results in Germany, it is clear, that the current willingness to realize energy efficiency measures depends heavily on the resulting additional costs and the expected benefit for consumers. Although nearly 90% of German consumers specify to pay attention on energy consumption when buying major and electrical appliances, only 80% would spend extra money on energy saving appliances e.g. energy efficiency if it is economically worthwhile.

The same applies to other energy efficiency measures such as insulation in their own house. Hereby 8 out of 10 persons were concerned that cost aspects are clearly ahead of the environmental aspect which could be realized by the measures, as well. Consequently, only relatively few consumers are for legal regulations in this area. Only 15% fully agree with it e.g. that for homeowners energy-saving renovations should be made mandatory by law. One third does not tend to the criterion; almost 20% oppose such a scheme even completely. For the future of energy-saving products, it begins to show a slightly positive attitude related to the willingness of investments. After all, nearly 2/3 of the Germans are certain to pay more for energy efficient appliances and products in order to reduce their own energy consumption in the future.

As mentioned before, in addition to the criteria evaluated in each survey wave, the Global Green Index regularly includes special measurements usually reflecting current issues treated in the media or policy issues.

In March 2012, the Global Green Index evaluated the prohibition of conventional bulbs in accordance with the 2009 EU Regulation [3] and the reaction of consumers to this.

Since September 2011, there were conventional bulbs (with filament) only with less than 60 watts of power to buy in German shops. However, old remnants of more than 60 watts of power could be sold off. From perspective of the GfK, the question arose, how consumers would react, if they would be in need of new bulbs with 60 watts of power or more?

According to GfK Global Green Index at this time, more than 40% of the Germans had old replacement bulbs with 60 watts of power or more in their households, which could be used in case of a required exchange. Only 60% would demand firstly to entire new light bulbs. 17% of the Germans said they exchange their old conventional bulbs again for the remnants of the conventional bulbs in stores. However, the advertising campaign by lamp manufacturers for the new generations of energy-saving light bulbs seemed to have reached consumers. Almost two-thirds would move to energy-saving bulbs to replace the old light bulbs at this time. 1 out of 5 persons would have used halogen bulbs instead.

A similarly interesting and in Germany currently highly topical issue is the debate over state accelerated energy policy and funding of it. In 2012, the increase of the allocation for "facilitating renewable energy" short EEG-allocation, increased by almost 50% on 5.277 Cent per kilowatt hour and added to the electricity price, as it was announced by the four German transmission system operators [4].

In consequence, this meant an increase in the cost of electricity for consumers raised the question, whether the importance of energy efficiency issues increased for consumers. It showed that the willingness of spending more money for energy efficient products to decrease the own energy consumption is higher than ever before – after all, 65% of Germans want to do this in future. Furthermore, a group of Germans is also willing to undertake even more measures to reduce their own energy needs at home. Almost 1 in 5 are currently thinking about consultancy to reduce energy consumption and do not hesitate to pay additional costs. Just as many Germans are going to purchase apparatuses for the control of power consumption, so called meter readers, to identify inefficient energy usage

17% of the Germans want to use the possibilities for the continuous monitoring and better control of the own power consumption through smart meters in the future as soon as possible. The overwhelming majority of consumers willing to improve their personal consumption shows that consciousness for "energy-saving" arrived. More than 80% will try to decrease the power consumption by paying more attention to the fact that for example televisions or computers are not running on stand-by mode.

The described measures above may not hide the fact that the Germans are facing the issue of "energy efficiency at home" still in a reluctant way. Once-only, higher costs for energy efficient appliances still seem to represent a very high barrier for a majority of consumers. In October 2012,

the associated index value for the field of energy efficiency reached with 34 out of a maximum of 200 points a very low value. A comparison over time also shows that since the first survey in August 2011 (Index value: 36), even a slightly negative trend is established.

This development is, in the context of the ongoing Euro Crisis and the growing uncertainty about the development of the labor market, quite understandable. At the same time, the question turns out if this rather reserved attitude towards specific energy efficiency measures affects all German citizens alike or if there are identified differences between certain groups.

To find an answer for this and to provide a deeper insight into the issue, some results will be considered in the following examples concerning the concept of biological lifestyles. It is possible to segment the German population according to their phase of life and socio-economic situation and to identify existing differences through this concept.

The life-worlds approach thus differs significantly from conventional types and outlines. It offers a new and substantiated view by an extensive research perspective on the population structure. The following table provides an overview with a rough description of the 15 biographical lifestyles and their summary to five lifestyles [5]:

Summary	Description						
Youth/ Students	<b>Youth</b> : The development of the social. Adaptation and protest. The youth cultures.						
	Students: The future elite. Big goals, lack of funds						
Upper class (Top)	Young Top: The best chance for self-development. Activity and the pursuit of success.						
	Middle Age Top: The ruling elites. Power and privilege.						
	Housewives Top: The world of women at senior levels. Self-realization.						
Middle Class	Young Average: The young middle class. On the way to success						
(Average)	<b>Middle Age Average</b> : The established. Protecting and expanding the achievements.						
	<b>Housewives Average</b> : The womens' world of the middle class. Individuality and duty.						
Simple life situation	<b>Men - Low:</b> Men in easy circumstances. Concreteness in work and leisure. The traditional masculinity.						
(LOW)	<b>Women – Low:</b> Women in easy circumstances. Concreteness in work and leisure. The traditional female role.						
Retirement	<b>Older Men, Middle class:</b> The world of the post-professional phase. The new freedoms and activities.						
	<b>Older women, Middle class</b> : The life world of older women. The new self-awareness and attention to the emotional.						
	<b>Older, working-class men:</b> The world of the post-professional phase. The new freedoms and activities.						
	<b>Older, working-class women</b> : The world of older women. The new self-awareness and attention to the emotional.						
	Single Mature (own household): The self-determined life in old age.						

The lifestyles are divided into two basic dimensions. On the first hand, there are stages of life, which can be divided into three main phases:

- School and vocational training
- Gainful employment or unpaid household work
- Retirement

On the second hand, the lifestyles are based on the dimension of the individual socio-economic situations. It expands the vitas into hierarchical levels which unfold especially in the period of employment. These lifestyles during the employment stage are differentiated into three levels (Top, mid and simple life situations). In addition, distinction is made according to status passages (Younger and middle age life forms).

To avoid becoming too complex with the following explanation, the original 15 biographical lifestyles are summarized in 5 lifestyles (Youth/ Students, Upper Class, Middle Class, Simple life situation, Retirement) for the Global Green Index.

In consideration of attitudes about energy at home and energy efficiency, there are some clear differences in the individual lifestyles. It is conspicuous that teenagers / students have a more sustainable attitude than the other lifestyles on the issue. With an index value of 63 points (out of a maximum of 200 points) in October 2012, this group even has a clear improvement potential, but it achieves nearly twice as high values as the average of the remaining segments.

In the socially deprived groups, the index values are at their lowest level. Retired working-class members exhibit, for example, at a value of only 21 points form clearly the weakest of the summarized lifestyles. The issue of sustainability seems to play a secondary importance, if the wallet is hard-pressed for money. In reverse, the better-off lifestyles (Upper Class, Older Single and Older Middle Class) are at the top of the leaderboard in the third quarter of 2012.

Apart from the individual phases of life, there are other criteria which play an important role. For example, the willingness to spend more money for energy efficient products in the future in the lower-income East Germany is clearly lower pronounced than in the western part of Germany. This "sacrifice money" also seems to be notably an issue of the level of education.

While only about half of the less educated population groups plan higher investments for energy efficient products in the future, there are nearly three quarters within the group of people with high school or college degree.

# 6. Preview on international results

The GfK Global Green Index has expanded its coverage on an international scale since 2013, now allowing a comparison on a global level. First results are already available and briefly outlined in the following. First of all, it is important to note that the issue of "Energy Efficiency" appears with an index value of 34 points (out of a maximum of 200 points) in Germany. It seems to be less important than in most other European countries considering the current study. However, in the interpretation of the values one must note, that people in different countries also have a different understanding of their own behavior towards actions for energy saving. Therefore a unilateral reflection of the index values is wrong. It rather requires a classification of the level of energy savings in each country to relate it to the index values.

The table below shows the various countries gathered in this research and the respective corresponding index value.

Country of interest	Index-Value "Energy Efficiency"
Russia	57,2
Austria	48,4
Poland	43,2
Italy	42,7
Spain	40,3
France	38,5
Sweden	35,4
Germany	34
UK	31,7
Brazil	37,7
US	29,4
Turkey	29,0
Australia	24,1
India	8,4

The total index values in all countries are relatively low across all countries. Compared to most European countries, residents of the US and Australia seem to have much lower interests in energy efficiency measures carried out for environmental reasons. This seems to be due to various life

circumstances historically grown in both countries, where resources such as fuel and energy for a long time were declared endless available.

The interesting point is that the statements of the Global Green Index reflect both a consideration of the present and the future expectations of the inhabitants of a country. While today 65% of Germans are willing to spend more money for energy efficient products in the future, more than 80% residents in the United States were willing to be more energy-conscious. In Australia, the value reaches almost 90%. This shows that the issue has already become very important in these countries.

The described results represent a sample of the current GfK Global Green Index study of GfK SE and the GfK Association. In Germany, the study has been conducted since 2011. In the international context, the interviews take place since 2013. In some of the countries listed on page three, the results are not yet available.

#### 7. Summary

Initiated in 2011, the GfK Global Green Index is an instrument to measure environmental awareness of consumers in Germany and since 2013 on an international level. The awareness of energy efficiency will be pressed ahead as part of the ongoing debate about the turnaround in energy policy in Germany. Here, the people become more sensitive and increasingly more informed about possible savings. The willingness to invest in energy-saving domestic appliances increases. Nevertheless, in Germany as well as in Anglo-Saxon countries a large growth potential can still be observed. This has to be operated through targeted programs of companies in these industrial needs. For Germany the GfK Global Green Index already offers detailed information on which action consumers give the first priority.

#### **References**

- [1] Katarzyna Byrka (2009): Attitude-behavior consistency, Campbell's paradigm, in environmental and health domains, Technische Universiteit Eindhoven
- [2] http://www.siemens.de/energie-effizienz/energie-effizienz.html?stc=deccc020192
- [3] http://www.stadtwerke-pforzheim.de/de/2155.php
- [4] http://www.handelsblatt.com/politik/deutschland/eeg-umlage-die-wichtigsten-fragen-zurerhoehung/7254574.html
- [5] Kleining, Gerhard (2003): Differenzierung Sinus versus Biografische Lebenswelten, Bericht für GfK Panel Services Consumer Research, Hamburg
- [6] General Source: GfK Global Green Index 2011-2013 (Own baseline study at GfK)

# Are people continuing to save electricity?: Consistency of measures and behavior changes in the electricity crisis in Japan

Ken-ichiro Nishio<sup>\*1</sup> and Kenta Ofuji<sup>\*2</sup>

<sup>\*1</sup>Central Research Institute of Electric Power Industry, <sup>\*2</sup>University of Aizu

# Abstract

Due to the Great East Japan Earthquake and the subsequent reduction in the operating rate of nuclear power plants, there have been continued shortages of electric power, particular in the summer months in Japan. In the summer of 2011, electricity saving with a target of 15% was carried out in the service areas of Tokyo Electric Power Company and Tohoku Electric Power Company. In the summer of 2012, efforts were made to save the electricity throughout Japan, particularly with a 10% target in the Kansai Electric Power Company's service area. This study aims to examine changes from 2011 to 2012 in terms of the electricity conservation rate, implementation rates of measures to save electricity, and awareness of electricity conservation. We conduct a follow-up survey of about 1500 households in Tokyo who participated in our previous survey, and a new survey was conducted to about 1100 households in Kansai. Excluding the effects of weather, the electricity consumption during the months of July-September 2012 was lower by an average of 11% than the 2010 level in Tokyo, and by an average of 9% in Kansai. The implementation rate was slightly lower than the level of the previous year in Tokyo. In Kansai, the implementation rate increased in 2012, although not to the extent of Tokyo households in the summer of 2011. In Tokyo, normative incentive and informational incentive became weaker, while economic incentive was stronger partly stimulated by the electricity rate increases in September 2012.

# 1. Introduction

Shortly after the Great East Japan Earthquake occurred in March 2011, apprehension arose regarding electricity shortages depending on some regions and seasons in Japan.

In the summer of 2011, a large-scale demand restraint was requested, i.e., a target of 15% peak electricity demand reduction was set in the service areas of the Tokyo Electric Power Company (TEPCO) and Tohoku Electric Power Company, and the legal restriction of electricity use was issued on large-lot users. Households were encouraged via the mass media and other means to conserve electricity [1][2]. Electricity users in the service area of the Kansai Electric Power Company (KEPCO) were also requested to reduce electricity consumption by at least 10%, and those in other service areas were asked to conserve electricity as much as possible without negatively affecting people's lives and economic activities. Thanks to massive electricity-saving efforts by firms and households [3][4], power outages were avoided. The government reviewed that households in the TEPCO service area reduced consumption by 11% and those in the KEPCO service area by 4% in terms of the peak demand after adjusting for weather conditions [5].

After the summer of 2011, electricity shortages became a nationwide problem, because of delays in the restarting of nuclear power plants that had been suspended due to regular inspections. Especially, the demand and supply situation in the summer of 2012 was expected to be severe again. Thus in June of 2012, the government decided to restart the KEPCO's Oi nuclear plants. The acquired prospect of an increase in power supply led to a gradual easing in the targets of peak demand reduction, and in the end, the targets for summer 2012 were as follows: Kansai and Kyushu - 10% or more, Hokkaido - 7% or more, Shikoku - 5% or more, and other regions had no numerical targets. The actual situation of demand and supply remained stable due to the continuation of the large-scale electricity conservation efforts just as made in the previous year [4][6]. It was reported that households in the KEPCO service area reduced its peak demand by 10%, and in the system as a whole, enterprises and households in the TEPCO service area saved 12.7%, and those in the KEPCO service area saved 11.1% during peak demand.

With such efforts as a given, an electricity crisis could be avoided in the summer of 2013; however, close attention needs to be paid to the unexpected decrease in supply capacity, lowering of electricity conservation awareness, and increases in demand accompanying the economic recovery. It is vital to continue to investigate the electricity conservation status, and to learn lessons from the experiences for better energy efficiency policy and programs after supply and demand have been stabilized. It is also necessary to examine the continuity of electricity-saving, just as reviewed in other countries [1].

Accordingly, we carried out a questionnaire-based survey of electricity consumers in order to elaborate the electricity conservation efforts in the household sector during the summers of 2011 and 2012. Firstly, Section 2 sets out an overview of the survey. Sections 3-5 cover the electricity-conservation rates, implementation rates of conservation measures, and changes in conservation awareness. Finally, Section 6 summarizes the key findings.

# 2. Survey outline

Our previous survey conducted in November of 2011 covered the electricity-conservation status of households that were served by TEPCO ("TOKYO") in the summer of 2011 [3]. For this research, we conducted a fixed point observation of the electricity-conservation situation by a follow-up survey of the respondents of the previous survey. We also attempted to compare results by region, by conducting a new survey of households under KEPCO ("KANSAI") who were faced with high electricity-conservation targets in the summer of 2012. Both surveys were conducted in November of 2012 with respondents participating via the Web, and we used the same questions and lists of answers to those of the previous survey as much as possible for comparison. The numbers of valid respondents were 1,517 for TOKYO and 1,119 for KANSAI, out of 19 million TOKYO customers and 9 million KANSAI customers.

# 3. Changes in electricity-conservation rates

We analyzed electricity conservation quantitatively by tracking changes in electricity consumed between 2010 and 2012. The electricity-conservation rates discussed in this paper are taken in comparison to electricity consumption (kWh) between July and September 2010. It is noted that the actual numerical targets and results reported by the government are based on the peak electricity (kW).

Figure 1 compares the average amount of electricity consumed by the target households between July and September before adjusting for weather conditions. The electricity consumption in both 2011 and 2012 are far less than the amounts used before the earthquake. Although this is not an accurate comparison since weather influences are included, TOKYO reduced electricity consumption by 15.4% and 17.5% in the summers of 2011 and 2012, respectively, when compared to the summer of 2010. Likewise, KANSAI achieved reductions of 9.9% and 13.6%, which were fairly small compared to statistical data.



Figure 1. Electricity consumption (before adjusting for weather conditions)

Electricity demand is easily affected by weather conditions. Especially since there was a record heat wave in 2010, it is necessary to remove the meteorological factor in order to study the actual effects of electricity conservation. Thus we adjusted the amount used for each household by standardizing

weather conditions in 2010. The adjusted electricity-conservation rates for both regions in Figure 2 were reduced compared to pre-correction figures after correcting for 2010's record heat. TOKYO saved 10.6% in 2011 and 10.9% in 2012, while KANSAI households saved 7.4% in 2011 and 9.2% in 2012.



Figure 2. Electricity conservation rate (after adjusting for weather conditions)

The figure above shows that TOKYO conserved almost the same amount of electricity in both 2011 and 2012. A brief look at this result is as follows. Looking at summer electricity consumption intensity trends over the past 10 years shows a slight reduction trend, which is due to the increasing energy-efficiency of air-conditioners. In the year leading up to the summer of 2011 in particular, the number of air-conditioners shipped reached record levels, stimulated by a government support measure for the purchase of energy-efficient appliances ("the Home Appliance Eco-Point System Policy") and an increase in the electricity-conservation awareness. The effects of these replacement purchases continued into 2012, meaning it is possible that, even though the electricity-conservation rates are the same compared to 2010, the effects by changes in behaviors such as patience and ingenuity might have been lower in value. Specifically, if we take into consideration that, in the previous study, about 15% of the electricity-saving effects in 2011 was due to replacement purchases, it is likely that the electricity-conservation effects based on actions may only reach 80-90% of the previous year.

# 4. Changes in implementation rates of measures

The changes in electricity consumption indicated in the previous section can also result from factors other than electricity-conservation efforts. What is more fundamentally important is a concrete understanding of the ways in which electricity-conservation measures have changed. This section will therefore cover the changes in the implementation rate of each type of measure.

First, Figure 3 compares the rates of awareness of electricity-conservation for each kind of end-use. Note that, since we did not perform a survey for KANSAI in 2011, data for this period does not exist. Comparison by region and by year shows that TOKYO in 2011 was the highest, while in 2012 it was KANSAI first and TOKYO second. The difference in the types of end-use shows awareness about air-conditioners and lighting as the highest at 70-90%, while awareness about electricity conservation for refrigerators was low at 40-60%.



#### Figure 3. Awareness of electricity conservation for each end use

Next, Figure 4 compares the implementation rates of the main electricity-conservation measures that had high effects overall, taking into consideration their implementation rates and their electricity conservation effects when implemented. Here, we took the top 10 measures derived from the previous survey for TOKYO that were most effective overall and then compared the implementation rates for each region and each year. The overall trend showed that implementation rates were highest for TOKYO in 2011 and fairly high for KANSAI in 2012. TOKYO in 2012 and KANSAI in 2011 often switched relative places depending on the conservation measure. A look at the change in the implementation rates of measures for TOKYO shows that continuous actions such as reducing the time of air conditioner use and lighting use experienced a fairly large decline in the implementation rate.



Figure 4. Main electricity conservation measures with high overall effects

#### 5. Changes in electricity-conservation awareness

This section paid close attention to electricity-conservation awareness, especially on its changes from 2011 to 2012. This section first takes a look at the overall trends, then examines the changes in the six awareness factors we had proposed in our 2011 study [3]. These factors are: Normative incentives, Informational incentives, Economic incentives, Patience, Ingenuity, and Continuity. Our findings in this section is summarized that, among the six awareness factors in the TOKYO samples, only Economic incentives saw a rise in 2012, while the other five awareness factors weakened. This transition is contrasted with that in KANSAI, where all awareness factors strengthened in 2012 than in 2011, due to a tighter power supply situation and more aggressive power conservation campaign experienced there. These observations are evidenced with the responses to the respective questions in the survey, which we depict one after the other in the following. We begin with the awareness structure discovered in our last study.

Figures 5a and 5b show the revealed structure using the six awareness factors. The quantitative data for statistical analysis was obtained through questions with 5 levels of evaluation, ranging from "Agree" to "Disagree." In Figure 5a, latent variables (in ovals) are connected with questions (in squares) that are used to quantify these latent variables. For example, "Normative incentives" variable is quantified on the basis of the four questions on the northwest of that oval. To simplify this figure, we present an excerpt of this result as Figure 5b, which only shows the latent variables and estimated influences among them. The influences can be either positive (+) or negative (-), and the widths of the arrows represent the strength of such influences. It is inferred that, for example, "Informational incentives" strengthen "Ingenuity" on one hand, while weaken "Patience" on the other, both resulting in increased "Continuity". On the basis of these results, we followed up on the questions with the aim of conducting a fixed point observation in order to elaborate how the feelings of the respondents had changed.



Figure 5a. Incentives, types of efforts and continuity (Source: Nishio and Ofuji, 2012)



Figure 5b. Incentives, types of efforts and continuity [Excerpt] (Source: *ibid*.)

#### **Overall trends**

Figure 6 shows impressions gained by comparing the electricity-conservation situation in 2012 to that of the previous summer. Regarding the three incentives, we took the questions that were statistically extracted as representative factors in the previous survey and scored the changes on 5 levels. An average positive score represents a strengthening over the previous year while a negative score represents a weakening.

According to the figure, economic incentives grew stronger while normative and informational incentives weakened in TOKYO. As a matter of fact, electricity tariffs were increased in September 2012 in the service area of TEPCO. As we concluded in the previous study, the weakening of electricity-conservation efforts involving patience is larger than that of those involving ingenuity. As a result, proactive efforts for electricity conservation became also slightly weaker.

The scores for KANSAI became higher than the previous year's scores for all items. Economic incentives were higher than for TOKYO; however, a direct comparison should be avoided, because they are linked to the degree of effort put into electricity-conservation (as explained later).



Figure 6. Changes in electricity conservation awareness

#### Trends in electricity-conservation awareness

For the items being scored on 5 levels for the fixed point observation, we compared the answers at each semantic group.

Figure 7 shows the four items that represent normative incentives. Overall, there were many answers of "Agree" and "Somewhat agree" for TOKYO in 2011. Opinions such as "Worried about electricity shortages" and "Wanted to do something for society" were especially strong. In 2012 however, those normative incentives weakened. KANSAI scored slightly higher than TOKYO ones in that year.



Figure 7. Normative incentives

From figure 8, it can be seen that receiving information was an important motivation for conservation for TOKYO in 2011. There are no great differences between TOKYO and KANSAI in 2012, but KANSAI tended to be slightly higher. As can be seen above, there are many common characteristics between normative and informational incentives.



Figure 8. Informational incentives

Figure 9 shows that, overall, "Agree" and "Somewhat agree" answers dominated. While "Agree" answers slightly decreased in TOKYO 2012, it is hard to draw conclusions from the figure about the magnitude of economic factors as main incentives for the height in awareness, since in some cases the motivation to save money on electricity charges is actually stimulated by increased electricity-conservation awareness. In fact, it can be seen from figure 6, which allows changes to be directly observed, that economic incentives were higher in TOKYO 2012. Interpreting these results comprehensively suggests that the level of electricity-conservation awareness decreased for TOKYO from 2011 to 2012 when compared to the level of the previous year, but that the increase in electricity charges led to economic incentives becoming stronger.



**Figure 9. Economic incentives** 

Figure 10 shows that the tendency towards electricity conservation by patience was strongest in TOKYO in 2011. More than half of the respondents reported that they "occasionally employed self-restraint and forbearance" and that it was "occasionally inconvenient or uncomfortable." KANSAI had a slightly stronger tendency towards patience than TOKYO in 2012.



Figure 10. Patience

As shown in Figure 11, TOKYO in 2011 had a fairly large number of positive answers in response to questions related to the electricity conservation by ingenuity in 2011. The degree of ingenuity reduced slightly for TOKYO in 2012. There was not a lot of difference between TOKYO and KANSAI in 2012.



Figure 11. Ingenuity

Trends shown from answers such as "attempted electricity conservation proactively" and "was able to achieve generate electricity conservation effects" show that the level of positive attitude was highest in TOKYO in 2011 and weakened in 2012, while KANSAI in 2012 grew closer to TOKYO in 2011 (Figure 12).



Figure 12. Proactive effort to conserve electricity

#### Intention to continue electricity conservation

Figure 13 shows a comparison of the results for the 5-level evaluation of the intention to continue the electricity conservation. The research hypothesis was that the intention to continue would differ in accordance with the severity of power shortages and the level of electricity conservation efforts. However, based on this comparison, even though there were many positive answers from TOKYO in 2011, there was almost no clear difference overall.



Figure 13. Intention to continue electricity conservation

In light of this, the question rises as to how to interpret these answers regarding the intention to continue. In order to answer this, we used the TOKYO household data that allows for fixed point

observation. First, we took the data from 2011 regarding positivity towards and desire to continue conservation. Then, we took the data from 2012 regarding the positivity towards conservation and we studied the changes. Specifically, the question that represented positivity was "attempted electricity conservation proactively," while the question that represented the intention to continue was "Can continue electricity conservation at roughly the same level as this summer even after power shortages are resolved." While both questions were originally graded on 5 levels, "Agree" was tallied as "High," "Somewhat agree" as "Medium" while "Not sure," "Somewhat disagree" and "Disagree" were tallied as "Low", in the following.

Figure 14 shows a clear relation between the proactive effort and intention to continue in 2011 and the proactive effort in 2012. Firstly, the people who gave high answers for positivity in 2011. Secondly, the people who gave positive answers regarding continuation also indicated high positivity the following year. However, when it comes to the question whether those who initially expected to continue "roughly the same amount" of conservation were actually able to do so, there were a lot of people who resulted in a regression in comparison to the positivity of the previous year. This implies that it is possible to guess the kinds of changes that will occur on the effort level by asking people about their plans to continue, however, it should be recognized that fairly positive answers tend to be obtained from the awareness survey compared to the actual situation.





# 6. Conclusions

# Key findings

In this study we examined changes from 2011 to 2012 in terms of the electricity conservation rate, implementation rates of measures to save electricity, and awareness of electricity conservation in the service areas of Tokyo Electric Power Company (TEPCO) and Kansai Electric Power Company (KEPCO), the two biggest power companies in Japan. The key findings from this study were the following:

- After adjusting for the weather conditions, the electricity consumption (kWh) during the months of July-September 2012 by the surveyed households declined by an average of 11% from the 2010 level in Tokyo, and by an average of 9% in Kansai. For households in Tokyo, electricity consumption was almost the same level of the summer of 2011, while for Kansai Electric households, there was an increase in the reduction rate. In Tokyo, the reduction by behavior changes became fairly small, whereas there was a continuing effect of switching to energy-efficient products, and thus it is conjectured that the same level of reduction continued.
- On the whole, electricity conservation continued in various appliances such as air-conditioners and lighting. However, the implementation rate in Tokyo was slightly lower than the level of the previous year. In Kansai, the implementation rate increased in 2012, although not to the extent of households in Tokyo in the summer of 2011 when there were serious concerns about a short supply of electricity.
- The similar results were also indicated in proactive behaviors to save the electricity. In Tokyo, normative incentive and informational incentive became weaker, while economic incentive was

stronger partly stimulated by the electricity rate increases in September 2012. A weakening of efforts was observed, primarily electricity-saving by refraining from use.

#### Discussions

#### Will electricity conservation continue or not?

In the last study, we stated that "While social norms played an important role in raising consciousness of electricity conservation, they tended to lead to electricity conservation through self-control on airconditioning, lighting, and other uses and in some aspects these effects are difficult to continue." This tendency was confirmed through this follow-up research. Nevertheless, in general, many electricity conservation activities were continued, which was also observed in the high reduction rate in terms of electricity consumption. It goes without saying that such efforts contribute to the stabilization of supply and demand balance. On the other hand, the conservation awareness has not dropped significantly and large numbers of people are still striving to conserve electricity while exercising self-restraint and forbearing. This implies that there is the continued need to keep a close watch on electricity conservation awareness and actions.

#### How to encourage action

After the earthquake, the awareness of electricity conservation spread widely through society. While advances in the replacement purchase of energy-efficient products played a part, a large part of the savings was driven by changes in behaviors, such as using energy-efficient settings and changing the way air-conditioners and lights are used. Some respondents said they were motivated not solely by a desire to save money but also by a desire to do something for society. Based on a deeper understanding of the importance of easily understandable information and of behavioral principles that social norms motive people in no small part, it is essential to keep improving information provisions on electricity conservation tips and electricity consumption feedbacks.

#### References

- [1] International Energy Agency. *Saving Electricity in a Hurry (update 2011)*, Information paper, 2011.
- [2] http://setsuden.go.jp/
- [3] Nishio K. and Ofuji K. *Behavior Change and Driving Forces to Save Electricity in the Electricity Crisis in Japan*. Proc. of the International Energy Program Evaluation Conference (Rome, Italy, 12-14 Jun. 2012).
- [4] Osamu K. and Nishio K. Saving electricity in a hurry: a Japanese experience after the Great East Japan Earthquake in 2011. Proc. of the 2013 ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Industry. Ed.: American Council for an Energy-Efficient Economy, Niagara Falls: 2013.
- [5] Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry. *Follow-up Results of Electricity Supply–Demand Measures for this Summer*, 2011.
- [6] Nishio K. and Ofuji K. *Ex-post analysis of electricity saving in the residential sector in the summer of 2012*, Central Research Institute of Electric Power Industry, Research report Y12026, 2013. (in Japanese only)
# Cold Wash – Do Prejudices Impede High Energy Savings?

# Barbara Josephy, Eric Bush, Jürg Nipkow, Karin Kleeli, Sandro Glanzmann

# Topten International Services TIS, Mibelle Group, Federation of Migros Cooperatives

# Abstract

The main share of washing machine electricity consumption is used for heating cold tap water to 30°C, 40°C, 60°C or even 90°/95°C. Washing at lower temperatures (max. 20°C) uses 70% less electricity compared to a 60°C cycle. The EU Eco-design regulation accounts for the high energy savings potential and requires that «from 1 December 2013 household washing machines shall offer to end-users a cycle at 20°C».

Appropriate washing machines and detergents for «cold wash» are already available to residential consumers. Therefore this paper will first give an overview on best-performing washing machines (Best Available Technology BAT) available on the European market according to www.topten.eu. Detergents designed for «cold wash» are available as well. Washing performance at low temperatures is crucial. Based on the experiences of a Swiss detergent manufacturer, it can be said that in cases of slightly and normally soiled laundry «cold wash» is effective.

In practice, it is consumers who opt for the washing temperature and thus determine by their behaviour the amount of energy that can be saved. Although for slightly and normally soiled laundry the washing performance at low wash temperatures is absolutely perfect, most consumers still wash at higher temperatures. Prejudices, which impede high energy savings, will be discussed in the following pages.

The paper also illustrates the experience of a large Swiss retailer, who promoted «cold wash» in 2008 as one of the first through a large Swiss-wide marketing campaign.

We conclude with recommendations for various stakeholders such as EU policies, producers, retailers, NGOs, science and test institutes, how to strengthen the implementation of «cold wash».

#### Introduction

The washing of clothes and textiles is part of our everyday routine. But by using energy and water it puts a strain on our environment. Consumers have the power! By making a conscious decision to change their washing habits, they can generate a profound impact on the environment and costs, simply by choosing a lower washing temperature or by adding the appropriate dosage of detergent. It may be worthwhile to rethink the everyday routine, because with low washing temperatures, up to 70% electricity can be saved.

This tremendous energy and  $CO_2$  savings potential can – concerning washing – through no other measure be reached so easily. This savings potential, however, lies idle. From the point of view of the authors it is important to take up the issue of «cold wash» EU-wide and to push its implementation.

The aim of this article is to give an overview of the subject and to discuss the status of literature, the popularity of «cold wash» in and outside Europe, the savings potential, the availability of energy-efficient washing machines and of detergents, which are also effective at low washing temperatures, prejudices of consumers against «cold wash» and conclusions of a «cold wash»-campaign carried out in Switzerland. Based on this, recommendations will be derived, how the issue «cold wash» could be pushed and promoted across the EU.

# **Status of Literature**

The topic «washing» has been researched extensively in the context of the Eco-design preparatory study Lot 14 [1]. The developments of washing machines in the EU are regularly analyzed by Paolo Bertoldi and his team [2], [3]. For many years the topic «washing» has been also intensively studied by Prof. Rainer Stamminger and his team [4], including user behaviour (e.g. [5]). A representative and often-cited study on «washing behaviour in Germany» was carried out on behalf of the Energy Efficiency Initiative (Berlin) [6].

Specifically on the topic of «cold wash» there is, at least in German speaking Europe, little scientific literature. An often-cited study was prepared by the Oeko-Institut (Germany) [7].

It is obvious that the washing performance at low washing temperatures is crucial. There are only few published tests on the washing performance of detergents at 15°/20°C (e.g. 2008 [8], 2010 [9], 2012 [10], 2013 [11]). However, these tests focus primarily on how well stubborn stains are removed at low washing temperatures. Their validity, therefore, is limited because the present article is focused on the wash performance for slightly and normally soiled laundry, which is the normal case. Additionally, formulations of detergents have changed in the meantime and some products are no longer available.

Source of numerous contributions on the topic of «cold wash», which sometimes reference some of the above mentioned studies and tests, is the internet (e.g. The German Federal Environment Agency [12], [13], Forum Waschen [14], Bund der Energieverbraucher e.V. [15], Umwelt Briefe [16], n-tv [17], N24 Nachrichten [18]).

# Cold Wash is Widespread in the United States, Japan, China and Spain

In the United States, Japan and China, for example, «cold wash» is common.<sup>1</sup> In Europe, the dissemination of «cold wash» differs. In Spain, «cold wash» is common. Also in Italy and France consumers do wash cold, but far less than consumers in Spain.<sup>2</sup>

In Germany, Austria, Switzerland and in Eastern Europe «cold wash» is not a common practice [19]. In Switzerland, for example, around 5% of the consumers still choose the boiling wash cycle. 80% of the laundry is washed at 60°C or 40°C. The 30°C cycle is chosen by around 15% of the consumers and only a marginal percentage of the consumers use «cold wash» (< 0.5%) [20]. Alike data were found in Germany [1], [6]. We estimate that the average washing temperature in Europe is around 40°C.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The washing machines often do not have their own heating element. In the United States, washing machines usually are provided with the warm water from hot water heater storage tanks, in Japan and China cold water flows in from the main.

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  In countries in which «cold wash» is widespread, often highly alkaline chemicals which strongly stress the environment are used to achieve a good washing result (e.g. javel water, peroxide). Additionally, the washing machines used in these countries usually consume a lot of water (e.g. in the United States: 100 - 150 litres for 5 kg laundry [21]).



Distribution of wash cycles and temperature in Germany [1]

# 70% Less Energy Consumption at 20°C instead of 60°C

The most energy intensive process during washing is the electric heating of the cold tap water up to  $30^{\circ}$ C,  $40^{\circ}$ C,  $60^{\circ}$ C,  $90^{\circ}$ C or even  $95^{\circ}$ C. Thus, «cold wash» uses by far the least electricity.<sup>3</sup>

The electricity consumption of the washing machine depends primarily on the selection of the washing temperature. Washing with a typical appliance (energy efficiency class A+) at 20°C instead of 60°C saves 70% electricity [20]. The savings potential depends also on the energy efficiency class of the washing machine (according to the EU energy label [22]) and the individual model. In best performing models the saving tends to be smaller. The temperature of the inflowing tap water also has an impact. The lower it is, the smaller the savings. Furthermore, the amount of water to be heated is decisive.

# Energy Savings Potential of 15 – 25 TWh per year in Europe

The EU-27 washing machine stock in the residential sector was estimated to be around 167 million units in 2005 [2], [23]. Their energy consumption is estimated at around 51 TWh per year [1], [2], [3].

If the most commonly selected washing temperatures of today (40°C/60°C [1], [6], [20]) are shifted down, significant savings will result: If in the mid-term the 60°C cycle only is selected every tenth wash and the rest of the laundry is washed at 40°C and 20°C (approximately fifty-fifty), the electricity consumption is reduced by about 30% (conservatively calculated) [20]. Depending on the household size, this results in a saving of around 50 to 150 kWh or around 8 to 22 Euros per year.<sup>4</sup> In some cases, this does not sound very impressive, but in total it takes on another dimension: relative to the EU-27 savings of around 15 TWh per year (15 billions kWh) are possible in the mid-term. This equals 1,5 times the annual production of the nuclear power plant Grundremmingen bloc B (10,3 TWh per year) or almost half of the annual production of the 4 nuclear power plant-blocs in Cattenom (37 TWh per year).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Energy is also used for the motor (e.g. rotation of the washing machine drum, spin-drying of the laundry) and for standby/lefton. «Cold wash» needs (almost) no electrical heating, which raises the share of energy used by motor and standby/left-on.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Assumption electricity tariff: 0.15 €/kWh, there however can be large differences depending on country or electrical utility.

In the long term, if «cold wash» is even more frequently used<sup>5</sup>, a savings potential of 50% is possible [20]. For EU-27 this would correspond to around 25 TWh less energy consumption per year (25 billion kWh), which corresponds to the double annual production of the nuclear power plant lsar block 2 (about 12 TWh per year) or two-thirds of the annual production of the 4 nuclear power plant-blocks in Cattenom (37 TWh per year).

Consumers that use low washing temperatures, continually contribute to 30% - 50% less electricity consumption and  $CO_2$  emissions caused by washing and thus contribute to the sustainable conservation of the environment.

# **Energy Efficient Washing Machines are the Trend in Europe**

#### www.topten.eu - Overview on the Most Energy Efficient Washing Machines in Europe

Washing machines are continuously optimized, particularly regarding their energy and water consumption. Today's best appliances are characterized by best energy efficiency (A+++) and best spin-drying efficiency (A) according to the EU energy label for washing machines [22].<sup>6</sup> Additionally, their water consumption is low.<sup>7</sup>

An overview of the most energy efficient washing machines available on the European market, is presented by the international online search-tool Topten – www.topten.eu [25]. Topten also declares whether the washing machine offers a «cold wash» cycle.

Household	Lighting	Office Equipment	Consumer B Electronics C	uilding Pr omponents R	ofessional frigerators							
are here: <u>Home</u> » Househ	old » Washing machin	ies + 8kg										🚔 Entra
commendations Washing Ma	achines 🕝 Selection C	Oriteria Washing Machines	R XLS Download									
compare						•	0					0
ind	V-ZUG	V-ZUG	Electrolux	V-ZUG	Electrolux	AEG	AEG	V-ZUG	Miele	Bosch	Bauknecht	Miela
del	Adora SLQ-WP	Adora SLQ	WA SL2 E	Adora SL	WA GL6 E	Bella 3661	Regina 2661	Adora S	W Supertronic	WAY32740CH	WAE 8748	W 59-61
ter models						Bella 3461	Regina 2461	Adora L		WAY32840CH	WAE 8848	W 58-90 CH / 58-92 CH
sts for electricity and ter (€/15 years)	653	696	709	741	801	801	759	786	880	841	857	876
acity (kg)	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8
argy efficiency class	A+++	A+++	A+++	A+++	A+++	A+++	A+++	A+++	A+++	A+++	A+++	A+++
argy Efficiency Index	27.1	31.7	32.6	36	37.7	37.7	38.9	40.9	42.5	44	44.6	44.7
n-drying class	A	A	A	A	A	A	A	A	A	A	A	A
rgy (kWh/year)	116	136	141	155	162	162	163	175	182	189	191	192
ergy (kWh/cycle) / 60 <sub>1/2</sub> / 40 <sub>1/2</sub>	0.62/0.48/0.43	0.78 / 0.62 / 0.37	0.83 / 0.54 / 0.43	0.94 / 0.67 / 0	37 0.90 / 0.65 / 0.49	0.90 / 0.65 / 0.49	0.89 / 0.74 / 0.49	1.0 / 0.7 / 0.58	0.91 / 0.76 / 0.66	0.99 / 0.81 / 0.69	0.98 / 0.78 / 0.63	0.94/0.94/0
er (litres/year)	9900	9900	9'899	9900	11'031	11'031	9'899	9900	11'880	10'500	10780	11'220
gramme time (min) / 60 <sub>1/2</sub> / 40 <sub>1/2</sub>	170 / 155 / 155	225 / 220 / 215	220 / 184 / 179	210 / 190 / 19	208 / 156 / 156	208 / 156 / 156	223 / 190 / 171	210 / 190 / 190	179 / 149 / 119	205 / 170 / 170	240 / 19 / 180	179 / 179 / 17
-on/off (W)	0	0	1/0.05	0	1/0.6	1/0.6	1/0.05	0	1.5/0.2	0.05 / 0.05	2.32 / 0.11	2.5/0.2
. spin speed (rpm)	1'600	1'600	1'600	1600	1'600	1'600	1'600	1'500	1'600	1'600	1'400	11600
C for cotton	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes			
Rain water supply	no / option	option / option	no / no	option / option	no / no	no / no	no / no	option / no	no / no	no / no	yes / no	no / no
intries available	on demand	on demand	on demand	on demand	on demand	on demand	on demand	on demand	on demand	on demand	on demand	on demand
			(E. (B))		1	1	BC 101-43		-	CARDING 1		
	(Carto)	(ATTACK)	0	(ATTAC)	0	(		1050		0		2. 1002
	9	-	-	9	-	-	-	9	9		-	
									La			10 M

Screenshot www.topten.eu: Example washing machines of 8 kg. The best appliance in this category (V-Zug, Adora SLQ-WP) due to its integrated heat pump has an Energy Efficiency Index (EEI) of around 27. This is 40% better than the EEI-limit (46) for the best class A+++. www.topten.eu lists the best performing washing machines with a capacity of less than 8 kg, 8 kg, and more than 8 kg.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> 75% at 20°C, 20% at 40°C and 5% at 60°C.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The washing efficiency is not declared on the EU energy label, because the class A is mandatory according to the EU-Ecodesign-regulation [24].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> E.g. best performing 8 kg-appliances according to www.topten.eu [25] use between 9'900 litres of water for 220 standard uses (declaration according to the EU energy label). This is on average 45 litres per cycle.

#### 20°C Cycle is Mandatory from 2014

In older washing machines the 30°C cycle for delicates or woolly laundry-items is often the lowest washing temperature that can be selected. However, this must not be an obstacle for consumers to wash cold: in this case the laundry can be washed in the 30°C cycle for delicates<sup>8</sup> and can be spun again at higher spin-speeds – especially when the laundry will be dried by machine (tumble dryer, air dryer).

Already in 2011 several machines offered a 20°C cycle [26]. In the meantime, some manufacturers have even gone a step further and for their latest generation of appliances created a 15°C cycle. Thus, even less heating energy is needed. Whether 20°C or 15°C, these cycles are specifically designed for «cold wash» and include correspondingly optimized mechanics and extended washing time to achieve good washing results.

The EU has recognized the high energy saving potentials of «cold wash». Therefore, the EU-Ecodesign-regulation states that from December 2013 a 20°C cycle for washing machines is mandatory [24].

# Detergents for Low Washing Temperatures are Available on the European Market

Nowadays all known European detergent manufacturers offer detergents designed for the washing temperature range of 15°/20°C to 60°C or 90°/95°C [19].<sup>9</sup> Such detergents exist as heavy-duty detergent (with / without bleach) and colour detergent.

# There are Some Prejudices against Cold Wash

On a rational level, consumers may be aware that «cold wash» is meaningful and both washing machines that run a 15°/20°C cycle, as well as detergents for low washing temperatures are available on the European market.

However, the emotional level is often much stronger and supercedes the rational level, because washing also has a lot to do with tradition and habits [19]. The reason why washing habits cannot easily be changed from hot to cold has a lot to do with the fact that there remain some reservations about the «cold wash». The concerns are related to the detergent, such as doubts about the washing result at low washing temperatures, dosage and chemicals, and to hygiene of clothing and textiles, the formation of biofilm in the washing machine.

#### Prejudices against the Detergent

Detergency: does the laundry get clean at 15°/20°C?

Clothing and textiles shall be clean after washing.<sup>10</sup> However, many consumers fear that their laundry at 15°/20°C does not get clean. Is this true? And what type of laundry is suitable for «cold wash»?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The use of the wool cycle for non-woolly laundry-items is not recommended. The wash temperature is low but it lacks the necessary movement of the laundry to achieve a good washing result for non-woolly laundry-items.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Henkel, Mibelle Group (largest Swiss detergent manufacturer), Procter & Gamble, Unilever.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> According to the Sinner circle – the mechanism of action, with which the cleaning processes (e.g. in the washing machine) are organized and accomplished [27] – a good washing result always depends on the interaction of the four factors mechanics (i.e. the agitation of the laundry in the drum), temperature, time, and chemistry. Mechanics, wash temperature and wash time are controlled by the washing machine and by the selected washing cycle, respectively. The chemistry is given by the chosen detergent. All four factors are interdependent, but inter-changeable in size. If one of the factors is changed, it must be

With detergents designed for 15°/20°C cycles slightly and normally soiled clothing and textiles get clean at these washing temperatures [19].<sup>11</sup> This is thanks to the improved and more effective formulations in recent years.<sup>12</sup> «Cold wash» thus is suitable to all the clothing for office life, but also underwear, bed linens, kitchen linen and towels.<sup>13</sup>

Regardless of the effective wash performance of a detergent, the consumers ultimately decide whether the laundry from their point of view has become clean or not. If a wash result is judged as unsatisfactory however, it is not necessarily the low washing temperature that is at fault. The washing result is also significantly influenced by the pre-sorting of the laundry, the (pre-)treatment of stains<sup>14</sup>, the correct loading of the washing machine<sup>15</sup>, the usage of a suitable detergent<sup>16</sup>, the correct dosage of the detergent<sup>17</sup> and the correct cycle selection<sup>18</sup>. Thus, washing requires a broad knowledge by the consumer – regardless of the washing temperature!

<sup>12</sup> The detergency at «cold wash» significantly was increased during the last few years. Progress was made especially in the area of enzymes and surfactants [19]. For the latest generation of low-temperature detergents other enzymes are used than few years ago and the proportion of enzymes that are effective particularly at low temperatures has been increased. In addition, other surfactants and combinations are used as before, which act even better in cold temperatures. Enzymes are proteins or protein body. They reduce contaminants as protein, fat, starch, etc. by splitting these specifically. They are made from genetically engineered organisms. Some manufactures declare this. Surfactants are surface-active substances (dirt solver). They take over the main task when washing. They accelerate the wetting of the fibres, replace dirt and prevent it settles back on the fabric. Surfactants are usually either produced from fossil resources (oil) or renewable resources (palm kernel oil).

<sup>13</sup> For heavily soiled clothing and textiles (what usually only is rarely the case) one is with a 60°C-cycle and bleach-containing detergent on the safe side. In this category are e.g. filthy rags, working clothes of workmen, clothes of children playing outside, and baby clothes.

<sup>14</sup> (Pre-)treatment of stains: Stains – from egg to fat splashes up to berries – have to be removed and the laundry-item has to be washed as soon as possible. The stain shall not be allowed to dry. If given, stains – especially oil and edges on shirts – have to be pre-treated with an agent (with / without bleach). If visible stains are dry and were not treated before washing, they are often immediately recognizable also after washing – regardless of the chosen wash temperature. Stains due to environmental contamination and skin fat are not seen at «first sight», but are noticed only after a certain time [19].

<sup>15</sup> Loading of the washing machine: At the best, the washing machine is fully filled according to manufacturer's instructions (exceptions: delicates and woolly laundry-items). Once the drum is overfilled, the laundry can not move enough. Furthermore less water is available per washing item, and so the laundry can not absorb enough water. Both lead to a reduced wash effect. In contrast, poorly filled washing machines stress the fabrics by the increased movement of the drum.

<sup>16</sup> Usage of a suitable detergent: When washing cold, detergent designed for low wash temperatures shall be used. Washing powder tends to wash better than liquid detergent. However, at short cycles they sometimes do not dissolve completely.

<sup>17</sup> Dosage of the detergent: At the best, the dosage is followed according to manufacturer's recommendations. If the dosage is too scarce, the laundry gets a greyish shimmer (greying). Generally it applies: as much as necessary, as little as possible.

<sup>18</sup> Cycle selection: For «cold wash» the use of the wool cycle for non-woolly laundry-items and short cycles is not recommended. The wash temperature of the wool cycle is low but it lacks the necessary movement of the laundry to achieve a good washing result. In short cycles the exposure time is shorter, so one may have to accept compromises in the washing result. On top of that, short cycles usually are no energy saving cycles.

compensated with one or more other factors in order to achieve the same satisfactory washing result. If, for example, the wash temperature is lowered to 15°C/20°C, it needs either higher mechanics, so that the laundry is milled enough or an extended wash time, so that the detergent has enough time to have its full effect, or improved chemistry of the detergent.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> The statement that slightly and normally soiled clothing and textiles get clean at 15°C/20°C is based on the knowledge of [19]. Published tests, as mentioned in the section «Status of Literature», have only a limited relevance as they primarily focus on the removal of stubborn stains, which is not the usual case. All detergent manufacturers do test the wash performance of their detergent regularly [19]. However, these results are intended for internal purposes and therefore are not citable here. There are two methods to measure the wash performance (cleanliness): a standardized and a non-standardized method. The standardized test method measures the remissions of soiled fabric strips (for bleach, surfactants (oil), etc.) before and after washing. Observed differences base on measurements and usually are not recognizable by the naked eye. The measured values of various test institutes are difficult to compare because each institution is testing slightly different. The non-standardized method is based on so-called in-home use tests in which the washing result is visually judged by eye. The assessment is subjective, because each household has its own test stains and feelings, which means clean.

#### Dosage: is more detergent needed when washing at 15°/20°C?

In general, among consumers often there is uncertainty regarding the amount of detergent they have to fill in. But must the dosage even be increased for «cold wash» so that the laundry really gets clean?

Detergents do not need to be dosed higher at 15°/20°C cycles than at other washing temperatures. It is best to adhere to the dosage recommendations of the manufacturers for slightly, normally and heavily soiled laundry.<sup>19</sup> The degree of soiling of the clothing and textiles is often overestimated by the consumers. Therefore, they often and independently of «cold wash» do overdose [19].

The detergent manufacturers generally are working to minimize the dose by using a synergy of enzymes and surfactants. Lower doses add up to tons, which do not need to be produced and which also do not go back into the environment [19].

#### Chemistry: Are stronger chemicals needed for washing at 15°/20°C?

In the context of «cold wash» and the Sinner Circle<sup>20</sup> also raises the question: Do detergents that are effective even at such low temperatures of 15°/20°C contain particularly strong chemicals?

For a good washing result at low washing temperatures no water-polluting javel water is necessary. In the detergents designed accordingly for 15°/20°C of all known European detergent manufacturers this task is performed by enzymes which are active and effective especially at low temperatures and little water [19]. Their use is classified as non-problematic for the environment [28].

The other ingredients in the common detergents for regular laundry (not wool or silk) are essentially the same everywhere: surfactants, builder, bleach, alkalis, processing aids, foam regulators, anti redeposition agent, dye transfer inhibitor, optical brighteners, perfumes and fragrances.

Detergents thus constitute a certain burden on our environment and waters.<sup>21</sup> However, the impact does not get higher with «cold wash».

#### Prejudices against the Hygiene

Is the laundry contaminated with germs after «cold wash» and does this harm the consumers health?

From the side of consumers in connection with «cold wash» there often exists some scepticism about hygiene.

Washing at low washing temperatures in private households with healthy individuals is considered as safe concerning hygiene [19].<sup>22</sup> The contact with microorganisms and bacteria is normal and is usually not dangerous for health.<sup>23</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> The dosage of detergent depends on the degree of soiling of the clothing and textiles as well as from the water hardness. Usually detergents contain around 30% substances for softening the water. In countries with very soft water (e.g. Nordic countries of Europe) sometimes builders are omitted entirely in the detergent, so that the amount of detergent required is automatically less there [19].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> See footnote 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> The EU Ecolabel [29] and the Nordic Swan [30] label especially environmentally friendly detergents. The «Charter for Sustainable Cleaning» [31] is the commitment of the manufacturers in the field of sustainable production and is an A.I.S.E. voluntary sustainability initiative (International Association for Soaps, Detergents and Maintenance Products, the official representative body of this industry in Europe [32]).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> This is different in public institutions such as hospitals and care facilities. There basically measures against a possible spread of pathogenic germs must be taken. These also cover the cleaning of textiles. But it does not make sense to transfer these measures to private households [13].

The laundry hygiene is positively supported when occasionally<sup>24</sup> a 60°C cycle is run with the addition of a detergent containing bleach.<sup>25</sup> This measure also prevents the formation of biofilm. In the situation where different households share the washing machine, such as in the laundromat or in the laundry room for joint use (as is common in Switzerland) and in case of concerns towards hygiene, it is recommended best to start the wash day with a 60°C cycle.

#### What about the risks of biofilm?

Consumers have also serious concerns about the formation of biofilm in the washing machine.

In the washing machine, there are always residual water deposits in which possibly not killed microorganisms find an ideal breeding environment – especially on plastic parts, hard to reach places and on the drum. This may in time lead to an unhygienic biofilm in the machine. Once inside the machine, it is very difficult to remove. So in order to prevent any bacteria and fungi from further multiplying after washing in the humid environment the laundry should always be taken out and dried as soon as possible. It is also recommended to wash occasionally at 60°C with a detergent containing bleach. Furthermore, the washing machine door and the rinse try is best left open after washing to allow the remaining moisture to evaporate.

# **Experience from Campaigns on Cold Washing**

In 2008, the Swiss retailer Migros was one of the first sellers who was strongly dedicated to the topic of «cold wash». From June to November 2008, Migros conducted a Switzerland-wide «cold wash»- campaign for the newly developed detergents by Mibelle Group which wash also at low temperatures. Posters were hung, advertisements switched, and on TV were shown add-ons displaying the positive message about the «cold wash» detergent. The conclusions on this campaign are [33]:

- The success of such campaigns is not measurable there are too many other influences at play such as the washing machine, prejudices, point of views and experiences of friends and neighbours, etc.
- In addition, the detergent market is heavily dependent on sales promotions and there is a constant high price war. Sometimes it is tried to cut costs by reducing quality and amount of the enzymes because these are the most expensive component in the detergent.
- For example, if consumers use less fat during frying, they get an immediate visual and sensory feedback. This is different when washing. The consumers here have no way to find out for themselves whether the washing performance is good. Instead, they have to believe that the washing machine and the detergent do their job well.
- Washing habits are usually passed from mother to daughter to granddaughter. It is important to disconnect this line. However, it takes a lot of time to get the consumers used to something new.
- Older consumers are generally very difficult to convince that something new is better. Therefore
  one has to start educating about the benefits of «cold wash» with the younger generation.
- The consumers need to be reminded again and again about the benefits of «cold wash», there
  needs to be a constant repetition and education. This is the only way the prejudices against the
  «cold wash» can be changed in the minds of consumers in the long-term.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> To regularly wash with 60°C is recommended only for households in which people live with weakened immune system, contagious disease (e.g. diarrhoea) or a dust mite allergy. If in doubt one should consult the treating physician [13].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Depending on the source «occasionally» means e.g. every 14 days, once or twice a month, every fifth laundry.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> If these recommendations are followed, the use of hygiene cleaners and of a hygiene cycle (75°C) is not necessary [19].



In 2008, Migros conducted a Switzerland-wide campaign on «cold wash». Left: Migros-advertisement 2008. Good for the environment: washing power even at low temperatures. Top right: Migros-advertisement 2008: A clean victory. Total – Most trusted brand. Bottom right: Migros-poster 2008. Good for your electricity bill. Detergency even at 20 degrees.



At about the same time as the Migros also Procter & Gamble intensively promoted then their also newly developed detergent for low washing temperatures within their energy-saving initiative «cold-active». Left: «cold-active». Save energy with Ariel. Below: Shift down! Save 40% energy!

# **Recommendations to Promote Cold Wash**

In this article it was shown that washing machines with a 15°/20°C cycle and appropriate detergents for low washing temperatures are available on the European market. The 15°/20°C cycle of modern washing machines are optimized for «cold wash» and the latest generation of detergent designed for «cold wash» is appropriate to wash slightly and normally soiled laundry at these low washing temperatures. In the case a consumer perceives the washing result as insufficient, it is not the fault of the «cold wash», but may have a number of other causes such as laundry sorting, treatment of stains, loading of the washing machine, etc. It is mainly prejudices, but also tradition and custom, that impede consumers from implementing the step towards using «cold wash» in their everyday lives.

The authors are convinced that «cold wash» is a good way to wash. The tremendous but still dormant savings potential cannot be so easily reached by any other measure of this magnitude in the whole washing process. Not seizing this opportunity, would be passing up on an opportunity where you have nothing to lose. Especially given the likely increasing electricity prices in the future, it should be an incentive for many consumers to begin using the «cold wash» in there everyday washing routine.

To promote the topic of «cold wash», the following measures are recommended:

- EU policies, washing machine manufacturers, detergent manufacturers and retailers: active and continued advertisement of «cold wash», ongoing optimization of the 15°/20°C cycles, of the detergents and of the purchasing of detergents.
- Environmental organizations, consumer organizations, energy agencies: active and continued information and education of the consumers regarding washing performance of detergents at low washing temperatures, dosage, chemicals, hygiene.
- Science, test institutes: Publication of studies (consumer and technical), continuing tests on «cold wash».

# References

- [1] LOT 14: Domestic Washing Machines and Dishwashers. Task 1 Task 7. 2007 2008. Download: https://circabc.europa.eu/faces/jsp/extension/wai/navigation/container.jsp
- [2] Bertoldi Paolo, Bettina Hirl, Nicola Labanca: Energy Efficiency Status Report 2012. Electricity Consumption and Efficiency Trends in the EU-27. 2012.
- [3] Bertoldi Paolo, Bogdan Atanasiu: Electricity Consumption and Efficiency Trends in European Union Status Report 2009. European Commission DG Joint Research Centre. 2009.
- [4] Stamminger Rainer, Publication overview under www.landtechnik.unibonn.de/forschung/haushaltstechnik/publikationen/publikationen-rainer-stamminger
- [5] Berkholz Petra, Anna Brückner, Anke Kruschwitz, Rainer Stamminger. Verbraucherverhalten und verhaltensabhängige Einsparpotentiale beim Betrieb von Waschmaschinen. Bonn: Shaker Verlag. 2007.
- [6] Bevölkerungsbefragung zum Thema: Waschen in Deutschland. Eine Studie im Auftrag der Deutschen Energie-Agentur GmbH (dena) im Rahmen der Initiative EnergieEffizienz für private Haushalte. Erhebungszeitraum: Oktober / November 2005.
- [7] Rüdenauer Ina, Dr. Ulrike Eberle, Dr. Rainer Griesshammer. Ökobilanz und Lebenszykluskostenrechnung Wäschewaschen. Vergleich des Waschens bei durchschnittlichen Waschtemperaturen mit Waschen bei niedrigeren Waschtemperaturen. Endbericht. Im Auftrag der Procter & Gamble Service GmbH. 2006. Download: www.oeko.de/oekodoc/289/2006-008-de.pdf
- [8] K-Tipp 12/2008 (17. Juni 2008): Kalt und sauber klappt nicht immer (Download: www.ktipp.ch/tests/1033026/Colorwaschmittel\_kalt); Kassensturz 17. Juni 2008: Dreckige

Wäsche: Waschkraft-Test bei 20 Grad (Download: www.srf.ch/konsum/tests/kassensturz-tests/dreckige-waesche-waschkraft-test-bei-20-grad).

- [9] test 10/2010: Colorwaschmittel eine kleine Sensation.
- [10] test 2/2012: Vollwaschmittel Weisses wird grau.
- [11] test 2/2013: Flüssigwaschmittel Viele sind überflüssig.
- [12] The Federal Environment Agency (Germany) / Deutsches Umweltbundesamt: www.umweltbundesamt.de/chemikalien/waschmittel/sparsam.htm
- [13] The Federal Environment Agency (Germany) / Deutsches Umweltbundesamt: www.umweltbundesamt.de/chemikalien/waschmittel/waschtemperaturen.htm
- [14] Forum Waschen eine deutschlandweite Initiative für nachhaltiges Handeln beim Waschen, Spülen und Reinigen im Haushalt: http://forum-waschen.de/waeschewaschen.html
- [15] Bund der Energieverbraucher e.V.: www.energieverbraucher.de/de/Zuhause/Hausgeraete/Waschmaschinen/Kalt-waschen\_\_2108
- [16] Umwelt Briefe. Aus Kommunen und Forschung: www.umweltbriefe.de/docs/ub\_17\_11/buergerinfo.html
- [17] n-tv: www.n-tv.de/ratgeber/Waschen-bei-20-Grad-article1407386.html (3rd September 2010)
- [18] N24 Nachrichten: www.n24.de/n24/Nachrichten/Verbraucher/d/1383976/waschgang-bei-20grad-frischt-kleidung-nur-auf.html (21.10.2011)
- [19] Mibelle Group, www.mibellegroup.com
- [20] Josephy Barbara, Eric Bush, Jürg Nipkow: Kaltwaschen Verhindern Vorurteile das grosse Energiesparpotential? Swiss agency for efficient energy use S.A.F.E. / Schweizerische Agentur für Energieeffizienz S.A.F.E., July 2013.
- [21] http://de.wikipedia.org/wiki/Waschmaschine
- [22] European Commission. Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No 1061/2010 of 28 September 2010 supplementing Directive 2010/30/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council with regard to energy labelling of household washing machines. In: Official Journal of the European Union, 30. 11. 2010.
- [23] European Commission, Working Document, Impact assessment, Accompanying document to the Draft Commission Regulation implementing Directive 2009/125/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council with regard to ecodesign requirements for household washing machines).
- [24] European Commission. Commission Regulation (EU) No 1015/2010 of 10 November 2010 implementing Directive 2009/125/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council with regard to Ecodesign requirements for household washing machines. In: Official Journal of the European Union, 11. 11. 2010.
- [25] Topten: www.topten.eu Best Products of Europe
- [26] Josephy Barbara, Eric Bush, Jürg Nipkow, Sophie Attali: Washing machines: Key Criteria for Best Available Technology (BAT). Paper for the proceedings of Energy Efficiency in Domestic Appliances and Lighting, 24-26 May 2011, Copenhagen.
- [27] http://de.wikipedia.org/wiki/Sinnerscher\_Kreis
- [28] Waschen heute. Informationen zum Thema Waschen und Umweltschutz. Schweizerischer Kosmetik- und Waschmittelverband SKW. 2010.

- [29] EU Ecolabel, www.ecolabel.eu
- [30] Nordic Swan, www.nordic-ecolabel.org
- [31] A.I.S.E. International Association for Soaps, Detergents and Maintenance Products, the official representative body of this industry in Europe: www.asie.eu
- [32] Charter for Sustainable Cleaning: www.sustainable-cleaning.com
- [33] Federation of Migros Cooperatives / Migros-Genossenschafts-Bund (Switzerland), www.migros.ch

# Acknowledgements

The Topten project team gratefully acknowledges the support from

- European Climate Foundation ECF, www.europeanclimate.org
- Elektrizitätswerke des Kantons Zürich EKZ, www.ekz.ch
- WWF Switzerland, www.wwf.ch

# Residential Survey to assess South Africa's Energy Saving Potential – Energy Efficiency

Theo Covary, Unlimited Energy, Yoshiaki Shibata, IEEJ

## Abstract

South Africa is facing multiple challenges in its electricity sector. Key amongst these is an acute supply shortage against ever-increasing demand, local and international pressure and commitments to reduce greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions from its almost exclusive use of coal for generation and a user base which is resisting this new paradigm as it has become accustomed, until recently, to a prolonged period of surplus capacity and enjoying the lowest electricity tariffs in the world which has led to the wasteful and inefficient use of electricity.

A government to government programme between South Africa and Japan **[1]** included a study to identify and quantify opportunities to reduce electricity consumption in the middle income residential sector. The research applied the following approach: 1) collect and consolidate all available research and data; 2) supplement the available data by conducting a quantitative study; 3) consider and apply Japanese and other international experiences; and 4) use an econometric model to develop energy efficiency scenarios.

This paper provides selected findings of the main report and is broken down into four sections: 1) An introduction and high level overview of the South African electricity landscape and the study objectives; 2) Contextual background of the residential electricity sector based on existing research; 3) Findings of the quantitative study; and 4) The residential electricity demand outlook and saving potential based on econometric modeling.

## Introduction

#### **Electricity Profile of South Africa**

Historically, the South African electricity supply prided itself for being stable, meeting and exceeding internationally accepted reserve margin norms and the lowest tariffs in the world. The South African electricity system was built on the country's vast coal reserves. A 2005 report estimated the reserves to be the 6<sup>th</sup> largest in the world **[3]**, these reserves were successfully exploited to build an energy intensive industrial and manufacturing economy. Coal contributed 70% to the country's primary energy supply (2009) **[4]** followed by Crude Oil and Petroleum (20%), Renewables (7%), Nuclear (2%), Gas (1%) and Hydro (<1%). Eskom, the state owned utility which generates in excess of 95% of the country's electricity **[5]**, reported that its total output for 2011 was 237,430 TWh – the breakdown is shown in Figure 1**[6]**.



Figure 1: Electricity by energy source (2011) - Eskom

The South African Government is responding to the electricity supply challenges. The Integrated Resource Plan **[1]** (IRP, 2011) provides a planning framework for the management of electricity demand in South Africa for the period 2010-2030. The IRP estimates that electricity demand by 2030 will require an increase in additional generation capacity of over 52GW. This will be met by the construction of two new coal generation plants (which are currently being constructed), 17.8GW of renewables, 9.6GW of nuclear, 6.3GW of additional coal as well as 8.9GW of other. The IRP makes reference to Demand Side Management (DSM) rising from 252MW in 2010 to 3420 MW in 2030.The combination of the above mentioned factors means that energy efficiency (EE) is a national imperative.

The National Energy Efficiency Strategy (NEES) issued by the South African Department of Energy (DOE) in 2005 sets a national aspirational target for EE improvement of 12% by 2015 (using a 2000 baseline). The NEES covers all energy using sectors and allocates a specific target for each one. The NEES categorises the usage of energy by sector. Figure 2 lists the sectors and their final energy use. The residential sector, which accounts for 18% of final primary energy supply, was allocated a target of 10%. Key interventions identified:

- Awareness Raising
- Appliance Labelling with Minimum Performance Standards
- Efficient Lighting Programme
- Standards for energy efficient houses.



Figure 2: 2009 Final Energy use by sector<sup>1</sup>

The NEES, and its two subsequent revisions of 2008 and 2012, also identified barriers which are impeding the uptake of EE. A primary barrier noted is '*Lack of knowledge and understanding of EE*'. Coupled with this is the growing demand for electricity in the residential sector as:

- Low income South African households are electrified resulting in a move away from the use of coal and biomass for water heating, spatial heating and cooking;
- Middle income households become more affluent, resulting in new and additional appliances; and
- Natural population growth and urbanization.

This accelerated switch to electricity, coupled with increasing per capita consumption leads to an electricity demand growth which is greater than the total energy demand growth rate. Given the fragile state of the electricity supply and the other pressures listed above it is vital that the NEES achieves and even exceeds its targets. A key intervention is the rapid introduction of energy efficient appliances.

<sup>1</sup> National Energy Efficiency Strategy of the Republic of South African, Department of Minerals and Energy, 2008 Note: All contents of this study are the copyrights of JICA unless otherwise stated

#### **Rationale for the Study**

The electricity landscape in South Africa has changed significantly over the last decade. Multiple above inflation tariff increases (averaging 23% per year for the period 2007 to 2012) **[7]**, rolling blackouts experienced in 2008 and a supply which is constantly under threat results in different consequences and risks for each sector. Even though the residential sector is the third largest energy user, limited research has been undertaken and most of what has been done was conducted prior to the rolling blackouts experienced in 2008. A further obstacle is that the limited research which has been conducted is generally not publicly available.

A larger study undertaken by Institute of Energy Economics, Japan (IEEJ), decided to consolidate the existing research in the residential sector via a desktop study, which was known to be limited and supplement with new research by conducting a quantitative study.

#### **Study Objectives**

The key objective was to investigate how middle-income households interact with energy and to gauge their understanding of EE, with specific reference to home appliances. The research focused on the following areas:

- Understanding EE: attitudes around the current supply shortage, billing and usage;
- Energy saving behaviour: activities in the home (behavioural changes) and investment in EE equipment;
- Appliances: understanding of EE appliances, motivation to buy EE appliances and future appliance purchases; and
- Communication and promotions: interest in EE communications, in store activity promoting EE, response to government and utility campaigns promoting EE and government EE programmes

# Desktop Research - Contextual Background of the South African Residential Sector

#### **Breakdown of Consumption**

The Community Survey undertaken by Statistics SA in 2007 **[8]** reported that electricity is the primary energy source in households for lighting (80%), cooking (67%) and heating (59%). Further insight was provided by the census **[9]** which was done in 2011 which found that 84% of households were using electricity for their lighting needs. The use of other selected household appliances is shown in Figure 3 below.



Figure 3: Percentage of Households with selected household goods in working condition: Census 2001 and Census 2011

Note: All contents of this study are the copyrights of JICA unless otherwise stated

A publication based on internal research conducted by Eskom **[10]** estimated that the average South African (middle income) household consumes 1,100kWh per month. Water heaters, domestic refrigerators, lighting and cooking appliances were the largest household electricity consumers. - The breakdown is given in Figure 4, while Table 1 provides a breakdown of the end use of all fuels for middle income households.



Figure 4: Average Household Electricity Usage Across the most common Appliances, Eskom

		0.1		D'	0111 00							
End-Use	Electricity	OII	Coal	Biomass	OII LPG							
		Paraffin		Wood								
Middle Income Electrified												
Lighting	9%	-	-	-	-							
Cooking	12%	67%	-	86%	28%							
Space Heating	10%	18%	100%	10%	72%							
Water Heating	35%	15%	-	4%	-							
Refrigeration	9%	-	-	-	-							
Other	25%	-	-	-	-							
Total	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%							
	Middle I	ncome Non-E	lectrified									
Lighting	-	1%	-	-	-							
Cooking	-	21%	49%	68%	28%							
Space Heating	-	25%	51%	13%	72%							
Water Heating	-	53%	-	19%	-							
Refrigeration	-	-	-	-	-							
Other	-	-	-	-	_							
Total		100%	100%	100%	100%							

Table 1: End-Use Shares by Fuel for Middle Income Electrific	ed and Non-Electrified
Households <sup>2</sup>	

# Quantitative Research

#### Methodology and Sample

The South African Advertising Research Foundation's (SAARF) Living Standards Measure (LSM) has become the most widely used segmentation tool in South Africa, and is endorsed by the Southern

<sup>2</sup> Energy Research Centre, University of Cape Town (UCT) 2012

Note: All contents of this study are the copyrights of JICA unless otherwise stated

African Market Research Association (SAMRA). In the SAARF LSM, the population continuum is divided into ten groups, from 1 at the bottom end, to 10 at the top. This study targeted homes in the LSM 5-8 category. Respondents for the quantitative research were interviewed using a face-to-face approach and were selected to be representative of the South African population. The sample structure, as defined by the various demographic splits is shown in Table 2 below. As South Africa has different climatic zones, two major metropolitan areas were selected (Johannesburg and Durban) as there was a hypothesis that the climate may influence the use of energy, particularly during the winter months as Durban has a sub-tropical climate. However, the study found that electricity consumption in Durban is not significantly lower than Johannesburg's at any time during the year.

Demographic Type	Demographic	Percentage	Count (n = 415)
	Black	84%	348
Race	White	8%	35
	Indian	5%	22
	Coloured	2%	10
	5-6	58%	240
LSM	7-8	42%	175
Quarter	Female	52%	217
Gender	Male	48%	198
	18-34	50%	207
Age	35+	50%	208
	Johannesburg	62%	258
Region	Durban	38%	157

#### Table 2: Sample Structure

#### Findings of Quantitative Study

#### Understanding of EE

When asked to define 'EE', the concept is understood at a very generic level, with the majority citing *"using less energy or electricity"* in explanation of the term. Most respondents link EE to concerns around energy capacity, understanding that it is necessary to be EE because of the current supply shortfall being experienced in the country. Verbatim responses include:

'I am concerned about the energy shortfall, I think we need to save energy where we can', 'it's to get us to make an effort to save power and for us not to pay so much on our bills' and 'to help Eskom to save power by not using to much lights'.

The understanding of "*using less energy to get the same results*" is articulated at very low levels - '*it*'s *using products that can perform the same job but use less electricity*', indicating a need for market education around the concept of EE. Once consumers are in a position to fully understand what EE means, there is greater potential for a behavioural shift within this context.

#### Attitudes towards Electricity

A high awareness of the electricity crisis is evident, and with this, there is strong awareness and understanding of the need to save electricity, and the need to change personal behavior. While a concern for the country and for Eskom's predicament is evident, respondents tend to make the link between saving electricity and saving money. Throughout the study, a trend is evident whereby the more energy saving (which includes fuel switching) has a personal impact on consumers (financial), the more engaged they are with the process.

#### Electricity Billing

A high distrust of the billing process is evident. Consumers don't appear to fully understand how they are billed, both in terms of what is owed and how this is calculated, although the calculation elicits lower understanding as compared to what is owed. At a total level, 6% of respondents do not look at their bills at all. This trend is seen most strongly in the older sample who are the most disengaged from the concept of EE. Within this context, there is a very high incidence (61%) of people feeling that they are being over-billed. Electricity price increases are strongly noted at 76%, with the majority claiming that these increases have affected them more than anticipated. Due to the effect these increases have had, electricity monitoring has become far more stringent over the past 4 years, and consumers are generally much more careful with their electricity usage.

#### Electricity Saving Behaviour

• Activities in the Home: In keeping with an understanding that personal behaviour needs to change, everyday activities such as turning off lights and using EE light bulbs are taken up at fairly high levels – as shown in Figure 5. The less affluent and younger sample displays the highest incidence of these everyday behaviour changes. A clear lack of engagement amongst the more affluent sample was found – while these respondents do notice electricity price increases, the impact on their lives is evidently not strong enough, and thus the incentive for real behavioural changes is lower.



#### **Figure 4: Energy Saving Activities**

• Home Modifications: When asked 'What changes have you made to your home to help with energy savings?, home modifications are not yet the norm. The respondents who appear the least engaged in everyday activities are also the respondents who display the highest incidence of having changed to prepaid electricity. This is indicative of a trend whereby consumers, who can afford to, are more inclined to make a once-off change with a higher cash outlay but lower hassle factor, as opposed to making smaller everyday changes. The

Note: All contents of this study are the copyrights of JICA unless otherwise stated

mentality here is one of "I have done my bit, and I have solved my personal problem. Now I don't need to worry about the electricity crisis". A breakdown of activities is provided in Table 3.

Activity	Total	LSM 5-6	LSM 7-8	Young	Old
Switched to pre-paid electricity	39	36	42	36	41
Made energy source switch (i.e: electricity to gas for cooking)	22	19	29	27	20
Installed Solar Water Heater or Heat Pump	10	9	11	11	9
Installed a timer on the electric geyser	9	5	12	5	11
Installed a geyser blanket	2	1	7	2	4
Installed ceiling insulation	5	2	9	6	2

#### Table 3: EE modifications made to the home (%)

#### Household Appliances

- Understanding EE Appliances: Understanding of EE within the context of an appliance speaks to using less electricity than another appliance, or to using less electricity to get the same result. Where on a conceptual level, "EE" was understood in generic terms, the concept is better understood when applied to an appliance. Once consumers have understood and bought into the benefit of an EE appliance, this could be used in leveraging education around EE at a broader level.
- **EE Appliances in the Home:** The incidence of having EE appliances in the home is still quite low, at 27% on a total level. This is driven predominantly through energy saving light bulbs, although fridges and microwaves are the most prominent large appliances that have energy savings labels. The younger sample is driving the ownership of EE appliances, which is in keeping with their far higher engagement with the electricity crisis and the need to change personal behaviour to overcome the problem.
- Factors influencing EE Appliance Purchases: As would be expected, price (48%) is the key driver to appliance purchase choice. Warranty's and after sales support (47%) is also very important in the purchase making decision. EE, at 23%, comes in as the fourth most important driver, indicating that there is awareness of the long-term benefits of purchasing an EE appliance. The other 'extremely important' consideration in the purchase making decision are: Safety Features (23%); Design / Features (20%); Brand (19%); Size / Capacity (15%) and Colour (9%). As 'buy-in' to the benefit of EE appliances increases, so too should the relative importance of EE when purchasing a new appliance.
- Appliances in the Home and Future Purchases: Fridges, followed by CRT TV's and microwaves are the most commonly owned appliances. Ovens and electric water heaters (geysers) are owned predominantly by the more affluent sample. These two appliances are also perceived as using the highest amount of electricity. The perception that geysers use the most electricity, while accurate, is clearly driven through the communication regarding switching off geysers when not in use. Washing machines drive future purchase intent, while geysers and ovens are cited strongly as a subsequent desired purchase, after the more 'essential' washing machine and microwave.

#### Communication and Promotions

• Interest in EE Communication: Claimed interest in finding out more about EE and savings is high at 75% at a total level. Interest is significantly higher in the younger sample (84%) as compared to the older sample who only displays an interest at 64%. Mass media is cited as the most preferred channels for education and communication. It is evident that a two-tiered

communication approach is required; mass media is required to inspire the nation to pull together in assisting with the energy shortage. However, a more tactical, 'on-the-ground' approach is required to underpin the mass media.

• In-Store Activity Promoting EE: In store activity promoting EE is not strongly noted. Promotions around EE are cited higher than salespeople promoting appliances due to their EE credentials, with only ¼ of the sample having been exposed to this. There is a higher incidence of EE activity in stores catering to the less affluent market.

# **Residential Electricity Demand Outlook and Saving Potential**

#### **Electricity Saving Potential**

The energy saving potential for South Africa's residential sector is estimated by using the BUENAS (Bottom-up Energy Analysis System) model [11]. BUENAS is a bottom-up stock accounting model that predicts energy consumption that predicts energy consumption for each type of equipment in each country according to an engineering based estimate of annual unit energy consumption (UEC) [12], scaled by projections of unit stocks. The ownership rate of appliances was estimated by the penetration model described in [12], and was adjusted in accordance with the historical ownership rate data collected from existing statistics and the survey carried out along with the quantitative survey described above. Figure 6 shows the forecasted ownership rate. The model assumes growth rates of 4.5% for GDP and 0.5% for population. *Note:* The dots in Figure 6 represent historical data based on the survey or existing statistics

The model forecasts that the ownership rate of refrigerators will increase from 0.8 units per household in 2010 to 1.3 in 2035, and electric water heaters from 0.4 to 1.2. Although the ownership rate of air conditioner is expected to triple (0.04 to 0.12), its absolute level stays much lower than other appliances, due to demographic concentration predominantly in the moderate climate condition region.





By using a combination of the findings of the survey undertaken and existing research **[13]**, the average UEC for the selected residential appliances, based on sales in 2011, is shown in Table 4. The corresponding UEC of the best available EE technology (BAT) for the same appliances currently available in Japan is also provided. The energy saving potential is calculated on the assumption that the average UECs of sales of appliances in South Africa in 2011, which is the base year of the forecast, is at the same level as the BAT. The study assumes that the sales average UECs will reach the level of BAT in 2035 in the Energy Efficiency Case.

Note: All contents of this study are the copyrights of JICA unless otherwise stated

As there was no available data for lighting the following assumptions were made: The wattage of incandescent lamps, tube fluorescent lamps, CFLs and LED as 60W, 32W, 15W, 8W, respectively. The ownership share is assumed to change linearly from 80%, 10%, 10%, 0% in 2010 to 0%, 20%, 30%, 50% in 2050. The interpolated share in 2035 is 30%, 16%, 23%, 31%. The usage hour is set at 2.5 hours per day.

	Current (kWh/year)	BAT (kWh/year)
Refrigerators	353	132
TVs	187	112
Washing machines	181	132
Stand-by	44	26
Room air conditioners (cooling)	477	198
Room air conditioners (heating)	2,019	871
Lighting*	48	14
Water heaters	1,111	0*

Table 4: Energy Efficiency of the	Current technology and Best Available	Technology
-----------------------------------	---------------------------------------	------------

Note: The UEC of BAT water heaters is zero because a solar water heater is assumed as a BAT. UEC of lighting is average weighted by ownership share of each lighting technology; incandescent lamp, tube fluorescent lamp, CFL and LED.

The estimated energy saving potential is shown in Figure 7. The potential in 2035 represents 46TWh, of which 55% comes from electric water heaters which have been replaced with solar water heater (SWH). The second largest energy saving is from lighting (19%), followed by refrigerators (12%), air conditioners (7%) and TVs at 4%. Even though the penetration rate of air conditioners is much smaller than that of the other appliances, as described above, the UEC saving potential is large as the majority of the models available on the South African market are extremely inefficient and the energy consumption is reduced significantly by BAT.



Figure 7: Residential Electricity Saving Potential in 2035

#### **Residential Electricity Demand Outlook**

South Africa's residential energy consumption, forecast by an econometric model, will grow by 3.8% annually reaching 106TWh in 2035 from 42TWh in 2010. The primary reasons for this are: 1) the Government's electrification programme; and 2) the replacement of coal with electricity for water

Note: All contents of this study are the copyrights of JICA unless otherwise stated

heating and cooking by low income households. However, if appliances with BAT are introduced rapidly, through programmes such as mandatory Minimum Energy Performance Standards (MEPS) and Appliance Labelling, it is possible to curtail the electricity consumption by 31% in 2035, from the expected 106TWh to 73TWh, as shown in Figure 8. The electricity saving will be equivalent to 72% of the electricity saving potential. The solar heat consumed by solar water heater in 2035 will be 39TWh, which represents 80% of the potential solar heat. **Note:** Solar heat demand for water heating overweighs electricity consumption decrease in electric water heater, since the efficiency of solar water heater is lower than electric water heater



#### Figure 8: Residential Electricity Demand Outlook

# Conclusion

The quantitative study was instrumental in that it confirmed and dispelled assumptions which are generally made about the middle income residential sector. Key findings include:

- A relatively weak understanding of what EE means and why it is important. There is a strong
  notion that electricity should be conserved but this is linked to Eskom's supply constraints and
  to a lesser extent with environmental and sustainability issues. This may result in consumers
  reverting to old consumption patterns and attitudes once the electricity supply constraints are
  addressed;
- In the post-paid market there is a poor understanding of how electricity consumption is converted to a monetary value and the way that this is presented to the consumer. Billing issues with certain municipalities has compounded the problem and there is a high distrust amongst residential consumers. This is prompting households to move to a pre-paid service. A positive outcome of the switch to a pre-paid service is that the estimated average monthly spend is significantly lower than on postpaid. While this may be perception to an extent, it is clear that pre-paid allows for closer monitoring of electricity usage, and it appears that actual Rand output on the prepaid system is lower;
- There is a strong resistance towards making behavioural changes in areas which affect lifestyle. The findings seem to indicate that consumers may be more willing to make once-off EE modifications to their homes, such as switching to pre-paid, the purchase of EE appliances, geyser blankets and CFLs; and

• 75% of consumers claim that they would like to learn more about EE and how it can benefit them. This presents an opportunity to the South African Government, Eskom and private sector companies involved in EE.

The econometric modelling found that if a business as usual path is followed and no EE measures are taken, electricity consumption in the residential sector is expected to grow 2.5 times between 2010 and 2035. Therefore, the promotion and implementation of energy-saving measures and programmes is essential to curb this rapid increase in electricity consumption - which will be driven by the switch to electricity from other energy sources as the country's electrification objectives are met and as the penetration rate of new and additional appliances / equipment continues to increase. It is thus recommended that policies are established which not only ensure that existing appliances / equipment are replaced with high-efficiency units, but that consumers who are purchasing appliances / equipment for the first time are persuaded to opt for the highest efficiency units, as the expected lifespan of these electrical appliances, once they are installed, can be as high as 10 years.

# Acknowledgement

The study described in this paper is one of the key products of "The Study on Energy Efficiency in South Africa" funded by Japan International Cooperation Agency (JICA). The authors would like to thank Barry Bredenkamp from the South African National Energy Development Institute (SANEDI) and Dr Ulrich Averesch from the Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ) for their support and contribution to this study.

# References

- [1] Japan International Cooperation Agency, *The Study on Energy Efficiency in South Africa, 2012*.
- [2] Department of Energy, Integrated Resource Plan 2010-2030, 2010. Can be downloaded at: <u>www.energy.gov.za/IRP/irp%20files/IRP2010\_2030\_Final\_Report\_20110325.pdf</u>
- [3] World Coal Institute, *The Coal Resource A comprehensive overview of coal*, 2005. Can be downloaded at: <u>www.worldcoal.org</u>
- [4] Department of Minerals and Energy, National Energy Efficiency Strategy of the Republic of South Africa (Draft), Second Review: July 20012. Can be downloaded at: http://www.info.gov.za/view/DownloadFileAction?id=179403
- [5] Basic Electricity, Department of Energy, 2013 <u>www.energy.gov.za/files/electricity\_frame.html</u>
- [6] Eskom, Annual Report 2011, 2011. Can be downloaded at: <u>www.eskom.co.za/c/84/annual-report/</u>. A summary annual report can be downloaded at: <u>http://www.eskom.co.za/content/AnnualResultsfinal~1.pdf</u>
- [7] Sourced from the National Energy Regulator of South Africa (NERSA) <u>www.nersa.org.za</u> and Statistics South Africa <u>www.statssa.org.za</u>
- [8] Statistics South Africa, *Community Survey* 2007, 2007. Can be downloaded at: <u>www.statssa.gov.za/community\_new/content.asp</u>
- [9] Statistics South Africa, *South African Census 2011 Key Results* 2011. Can be downloaded at: <u>www.statssa.gov.za/Census2011/Products/Census 2011 Key results.pdf</u>
- [10] Eskom Integrated Demand Management, *Trimming 10% is easier than you think, Eskom* 2011. Can be downloaded at: <u>http://www.eskomidm.co.za/wp-content/themes/eskom/pdfs/Commercial/2011 12 20 ESKD Trimming 10percent Brochure.pdf</u>
- [11] McNeil M. A., Letschert V. E., and Rue de Can S. Global Potential of Energy Efficiency Standards and Labeling Programs. Environmental Energy Technologies Division, Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, November 2008

Note: All contents of this study are the copyrights of JICA unless otherwise stated

- [12] McNeil M. A.,, Letschert V. E.,, Rue du Can S, and Ke. J, Bottom Up Energy Analysis System (BUENAS) – a international appliance efficiency tool, Environmental Energy Technologies Division, Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, Springer Science 2012. Can be downloaded at: <u>link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s12053-012-9182-6#page-2</u>
- [13] Covary T. Energy Performance and Labelling Requirements for Specific Electrical Appliances and Equipment. March 2012. Can be downloaded at: www.unlimitedenergy.co.za/index.php/consulting

# Age as a determinant of residential energy demand

# Philip Timpe, TU Dortmund University

# Matthias Deutsch, Prognos AG

# Abstract

Residential energy demand has a number of determinants. For example, the buildings' state of redevelopment, price elasticity or factors describing consumers' influence, as well as socio-economic and demographic household characteristics – including age. All else being equal, do households with older members demand more or less energy than those consisting of younger members? Answering this question is particularly relevant for long-term, capital-intensive infrastructure planning for grid-connected energy supply systems, such as gas or district heating, given that over- or underestimating future demand may involve considerable cost. With an ageing population, the EU-27 member states and especially Germany will need to plan their infrastructure accordingly. Yet, determining the effect of age is challenging because energy consumption statistics are usually not available at the level of individual households; and even if they are, it is difficult to match them with adequate socio-demographic data. First answers are found by the analysis of socio-demographic micro data. However, this type of secondary data is aggregated on the national level and needs to be substantiated on a local level because regions differ with respect to their socio-demographic and socio-economic properties.

Overcoming the difficulty of adequate data matching is at the core of an ongoing pilot project in Germany. The project will use the advanced methods of the statistical office to complement existing census data with additional data on households' energy consumption for three cities of different size. This paper reviews the literature and presents findings from the analysis of secondary data. For this purpose, micro data on energy consumption, socio-demographic household characteristics as well as building data are brought together to measure the effect of age on residential energy demand for heating and electricity. Finally, the paper describes the method used in the pilot project.

# Introduction

The oil crisis in the early 1970s radically changed the way of thinking about environmental issues. During this period, research focused on how to save energy and how to make buildings, appliances and people who use them more energy efficient [1]. As a consequence of this change, researchers began to consider demographic influence on energy demand forecasts. A good example is Ehrlich's and Holdren's IPAT-model (Impact = Population \* Affluence \* Technology).

Today it is unchallenged that there are different factors such as technical, economic and climatic as well as consumer-related factors that influence residential energy demand. All of these factors may capture a partial truth [1]. Firstly, for a long time, technical properties were considered as the main determinants. Therefore, much effort was undertaken to explore how residential energy demand is shaped by the energy efficiency of buildings and appliances [2]. As a result, there are valid results available how building characteristics such as building type, year of construction, heat insulation or heating systems influence residential energy demand [2,3,4].

Secondly, economic influence was found in terms of price elasticity for energy, the development of supply and demand and people's willingness to invest in energy saving measures [5]. Thirdly, climatic factors have an effect on energy demand, especially for heating and cooling. In this context, the following determinants were found: average annual temperature, the days of frost during a year and temperature fluctuations. There are also factors expressing consumers' direct impact on residential energy demand as socio-demographic household characteristics and individual consumer behaviour Figure 1 provides an overview of determinants of residential energy demand.



#### Figure 1: Factors influencing residential energy demand. Source: [6]

Many studies show that there are huge differences in consumption caused by the consumer. To consider this in more detail, energy demand in households which are comparable in terms of technical, economic and climatic conditions may vary by a factor of two [7] to three or more [8,9,10]. It is unchallenged that those differences are influenced by both socio-demographic and behavioural issues related to the consumer, although they are often neglected [2,11].

For the future, Germany's energy transition ("Energiewende") will improve the thermal properties of buildings; and the overall energy use associated with building characteristics will decrease. In other words, the more effort is put into improving the energy efficiency of buildings, the more influence consumers' impact will have [12].

With regard to future residential energy demand, the effect of an ageing society on consumer structure and consumer behavior is of special interest. Therefore, this research project asks the question:

"All else being equal, do households with older members demand more or less energy than those consisting of younger members?"

Answering this question is particularly relevant for long-term, capital-intensive infrastructure planning for grid-connected energy supply systems, such as gas or district heating, given that over- or underestimating future demand may involve considerable cost. With an ageing population, Germany will need to plan its infrastructure accordingly.

The remainder of this article is organized as follows. We start by exploring the future role of consumers in Germany and describe interactions with other changing circumstances – in particular demographic change. Subsequently, we provide an overview of the relevant literature and present the data situation in Germany regarding micro-level socio-demographic analyses of energy consumption. To overcome the inherent problems of such analyses, a new method for data collection has been developed, which will be outlined at the end of the article.

# How demographic ageing influences residential energy demand

Corresponding to most EU-27 member states and Western societies, Germany's population is ageing and shrinking for the long term. The latest forecast of Germany's Federal Statistical Office outlines a decline in population from 81.8 Mio. in 2010 down to 64.6 Mio. in 2060 [13]. As low fertility rates lead

to smaller cohorts of young age groups, and as the baby-boom generations of the 1950s and 1960s will reach their retirement age, the proportion of young and elderly age groups will change significantly. In this context, a dominant factor is demographic ageing. The age group of "65 and above" will increase from 20% in 2010 up to 34% in 2060, and the mean age will rise by 10 years (from 41 years in 2010 up to 51 years in 2060). While the baby-boom cohorts will lead to an increasing number of age-related deaths from 2030 on, the decline in population is directly related to demographic ageing.

Another point is that demographic ageing is characterized by regional disparities. While there are spatial and regional differences regarding demographic developments there will be a coexistence of strong ageing regions an regions with a fewer demographic ageing. Figure 2 below displays the development (in %) of households "60 years and above" on the level of counties and county boroughs from 2010 until 2030. The Western States of Germany will be shaped by a fewer demographic ageing compared to the former Eastern States (except Berlin).



# Figure 2: Increase of elderly households (60 years and above) from 2010 to 2030; Source:[13]

The three cities of different size that take part in the project described below are all located in the former Eastern States where demographic ageing will rise very fast. Germany's approach to demographic problems may be a helpful example for other EU-27 Member States where demographic change will occur at a later date. For example, In Slovakia, the age class 65 or over had a percentage of only about 12 % in 2010 (compared to 20% in Germany). Until 2060, however, its share in the total Slovakian population is projected to increase to more than 36 %. Despite those differences in the process of population aging, the overall direction of demographic development in EU Member States is unequivocal [32]

A radical decline in the German population is bound to influence Germany's residential energy demand. Since every inhabitant demands goods and services, all else being equal, a shrinking population implies shrinking (energy) demand. The focus of analysis, however, should be on private households, not on individuals. As residential energy is consumed within dwellings, households are the suitable demographic indicator [14,15,16].

In Germany the energy consumption of the household sector represents almost 30% of Germany's overall final energy consumption [17]. However, private households are a heterogeneous group and differ regarding demographic and socio-economic factors within their lifecycle. The following demographic developments may affect energy demand and energy infrastructure in different ways:

- All else being equal, a decline in population naturally means a shrinking number of consumers that may result in shrinking energy demand. It is well-known that energy infrastructure such as energy-grids or supply systems for gas and district heating are capital-intensive and lack flexibility. With an ageing and shrinking population Germany will need to plan its infrastructure accordingly. The main focus is on preventing bad investments which could mean an oversized energy infrastructure. Nonetheless, analysts agree that for the long-term overhead costs of energy infrastructure need to be financed by a shrinking number of consumers.
- The shift to an ageing society: As the consumer behavior of different age groups varies during their lifecycle, for instance regarding school books or baby food, such a lifecycle effect could also be valid for energy goods. In the context of demographic change it is relevant whether the energy consumption of elderly people differs from younger people and whether demographic ageing is a push- or a pull-factor for future energy demand [6].
- Demographic ageing strengthens the trend towards smaller households. Elderly people mostly live in single or 2-person households [18]. Ageing could have an indirect impact on households' energy demand through an associated decline in household size and consequently a loss of economies of scale in energy use at the household level. In Germany this leads to an increasing number of households in spite of a shrinking population for the medium term with an impact on the living space development: the inflexible housing stock is inhabited by smaller households. The outcome is an increase in living space per capita.
- Regional disparities will lead to different developments of demographic ageing. This requires analysis at the local level. While in shrinking and ageing regions follow-up costs of technical infrastructure will be on the rise and removal of technical infrastructure will be undertaken to save costs, growing regions need to extend their energy supply.

# Literature review

So far there have been relatively few attempts to operationalize the effect of age on residential energy demand for the use in simulation models or energy forecasts. Therefore, the following paragraphs aim to review the current state of research with regard to the question whether households with older members demand more or less energy than those consisting of younger members.

Much of the research literature has shown that households' age has a significant influence on residential energy demand. Both international and German research projects provide some evidence that energy demand rises within people's lifecycles. However, qualitative and quantitative research lacks a precise deduction of age-related effects. This may be explained by the fact that several demographic and socio-economic household characteristics interact and overlap with each other. That makes it difficult to disentangle whether and to what extent higher energy consumption is directly caused by age-related consumer behaviour or indirectly by a loss of economies of scale in elderly households, housing conditions of the elderly or income related issues.

As a consequence, explanatory approaches are contradictory, and for the most part, the existence of age-related effects was underpinned by assumptions. It was at least questionable to what extent the rising energy demand is caused directly by age-related effects. By using disaggregated microdata – the Scientific-Use-Files of Germany's Income and Expenditure Survey – Timpe [6] was able to separate a clear age-related effect from overlaps with household sizes, economies of scale and housing conditions.

#### Age and household size

In several countries, researchers came to the conclusion that household size plays a key role for the energy use of elderly households. Against the background of demographic ageing which accelerates the trend to smaller households in Japan and many Western societies, Yamasaki and Tominaga [19] analyzed various socio-demographic factors which determine households' energy demand. They found that elderly households have a tendency to higher energy consumption per capita. A reason for this finding may be the concurrent loss of economies of scale in elderly households.

Analyses of the Residential Energy Consumption Survey in the United States also show that per capita residential energy expenditure rises with households' age [20]. Higher per capita expenditure

may be explained by the fact that elderly households are rather small and therefore have less potential for economies of scale. In the case of Germany, researchers found that monthly energy expenditure increases with the age of household members, especially for heating and hot water production [14]. As 90% of the elderly households in Germany live in single-, or two-person households, a loss of economies of scale is assumed to be a reason for their higher consumption.

York found that an increase in the number of people aged 65 or over corresponds to an increase in energy consumption, all else being equal. He argues that older populations tend to a smaller household size which is seen as a push-factor for households' energy demand [21]. This may be a reason to expect that populations with a high proportion of elderly households consume more energy than those more dominated by younger households. In the future, demographic ageing will lead to smaller households and consequently to a loss of economies of scale. This may be a driver for households' energy demand.

#### Housing situation of the elderly

Based on consumer expenditure data, Engel found that per capita energy expenditure in Germany rises within people's lifecycles. However, Engel is rather confident that the higher energy consumption of elderly households is caused by "remanence effects" – i.e. human inertia. Those effects occur when households' living space is not adjusted to shrinking household sizes. In elderly households people tend to stay in the house which was originally built for the family, despite the loss of a partner or their children moving out once grown up. As a result, per capita living space rises with age. Therefore, the higher per capita energy demand of elderly households may be an outcome of increased per capita living space [22].

Another point is that the higher energy consumption of elderly households may be caused by their housing situation. In Japan elderly people feature a high ratio of owner-occupied and spacious housing [19]. Those houses are rather old and less energy efficient. This link is also observed in many European countries. For instance, in Germany elderly households generally live in older dwellings [23]. About 75% of Germany's real estate is older than 25 years and represents 90% of the overall energy consumption for heating [12]. Therefore, the higher energy demand of elderly households could also be explained by the fact that they live in older and less energy-efficient buildings.

#### Consumer behavior of elderly households

In addition, there are studies which attribute the higher energy demand of elderly households to behavioural aspects. First, Yamasaki & Tominaga assume that elderly people generally prefer higher room temperatures for space heating. They assume that in the future demographic change in Japan and many Western societies will be a push-factor for a rising residential energy demand – for the reason that the current middle-aged households with members in their 50s are the next ageing generation and "are the most active buyers of consumer durables" [19] and are therefore characterized by a more wasteful consumer behaviour in general.

Secondly, Schipper (1996) conducted a study on energy expenditure statistics in the United States. He found that energy expenditure is subject to considerable fluctuations. The increasing residential energy demand for both heating and appliances within people's lifecycles is attributed by Schipper to the consumer behaviour of elderly people. As 90% of elderly people are pensioners, they spend more time at home which, in turn, leads to more hours of heating [24]. Schipper is of the opinion that the elderly of the future "may carry with them their spending patterns of younger years, continuing to live in homes originally built to families with two children" [24].

Thirdly, Guerra Santín analyzed a combination of qualitative and quantitative data describing households' energy consumption in the Netherlands. The results showed that age is a significant factor for households' energy demand as elderly households tend to consume more energy than younger ones. Even though it was proven empirically that elderly households tend to have higher temperature settings, their higher energy consumption is primarily caused by the hours spent at home, resulting in an increase in hours of heating [4].

Moreover, research into the average annual energy requirements of households in the Netherlands, UK, Norway and Sweden by Moll [15] showed that elderly households have low energy requirements

for transport and fuel on the one hand, but a high demand for gas and electricity on the other. According to Moll, this is caused by the large amount of time elderly people spend at home.

Lastly, a quantitative data-based analysis examined the energy consumption for gas and electricity of private households in Austria. In comparison to other age groups, elderly households have a higher energy demand for electricity (+42%). This may be caused by the fact that many elderly households in Austria live in single households (43%) which generally have the highest per capita energy consumption. Another point is that elderly households tend to spend more hours at home which leads to longer running hours of consumer appliances and heating systems [25].

#### Age & household income

Much of the previous research found an overlapping influence of households' age and income which could be another reason for the higher energy demand of elderly people. For instance, Schipper argues that both household income and living space increase within people's lifecycles. Both factors are seen as push-factors and could drive the energy consumption of elderly households. Yamasaki and Tominaga point out that a low household income acts as a negative contributor. In the case of Japan, income of elderly households is rather low compared to other age groups and is a pull-factor with respect to energy consumption [19]. However, they found that the effect of low income is rather limited.

In Germany, researchers compared households' energy expenditure in the federal states of Hamburg and Mecklenburg-Western Pomerania. An analysis of different age groups showed that monthly energy expenditure has a wide range of between 71  $\in$  and 141  $\in$  per household member for Hamburg, and between 44  $\in$  and 79  $\in$  in Mecklenburg-Western Pomerania [26]. The higher expenditure is found to be due to higher household incomes in Hamburg. Nevertheless, the comparison showed an apparent age-related consumer effect. In both states per capita energy expenditure rises with age. A limitation might be that households' living situation was not considered. Therefore, overlaps with household size and living space per capita cannot be excluded. In addition, regional price differences were not considered although their difference is small. Finally, Kriström reviewed the current literature on socio-economic influence on household energy demand, but found it difficult to correlate household age positively or negatively to energy demand, particularly due to the "delicate issue of separating age from income" [5].

#### Evidence of age-related effects

In many studies, age-related effects were based on assumptions. By using disaggregated microdata, the Scientific-Use-Files of Germany's Income and Expenditure Survey, Timpe [6] was able to separate a clear age-related effect from overlaps with household size, economies of scale and housing conditions. Clustering and contingency analyses with raw data also showed that monthly energy expenditure per capita increased with households' age, starting from the age groups of 40-45 years (figure 3).

The data sources for this analysis are Scientific-Use-Files of Germany's Income and Expenditure Survey (2008). The survey contains socio-demographic information regarding different life conditions of Germany's households. Those micro data were used to calculate energy consumption patterns of different household types. With a sample size of over 100.000 people in about 54.000 private households it is one of the biggest data sets of its kind within the European Union. It provides information about the income situation, domestic appliances, socio-demographic household structures and housing conditions as well as monthly energy expenditures.



# Figure 3. Monthly energy expenditure, N=54.018. Source: [6]

Nevertheless, it is not clear whether the higher consumption is caused by economies of scale, the increasing living space per capita or simply by age-related consumer behaviour [6]. Therefore, the next steps of analysis entailed reducing the interactions with overlapping factors.

An outcome of aggregating data was the consideration of identical household sizes (reducing overlaps with economies of scale) and of dwellings with similar living space (reducing overlaps with housing situation). Given the sample size, it was not possible to consider all existing household sizes. For instance, the number of elderly households with 5 or more household members is rare. Moreover, it is known that the number of households with members of under 25 years in dwellings with more than 125 m<sup>2</sup> is also small [6]. Consequently, the analysis was restricted to single- and 2-person households in specific dwelling sizes (see table 1 and 2 below).

Table 1: Energy	expenditure	in comparable	single-households
-----------------	-------------	---------------	-------------------

Age	1-р	ers.	1-р	ers.		1-pers.		
groups*	< 5	0 m²	50 to 75 m <sup>2</sup>			75 to 100 m <sup>2</sup>		
	Expenditure No. of		Expenditure	No. of		Expenditure	No. of	
	per capita	observations	per capita	observations		per capita	observations	
< 30	44.6€	875	65.8€	602		74.5€	149	
30-40	60.3€	593	71.9€	978		83.8€	295	
40-50	63.9€	681	78.2€	1,333		99.3€	501	
50-60	68.3€	601	88.4€	1,378		105.5€	540	
60-70	70.3€	488	86.0€	1,202		118.8€	571	
70+	73.0€	399	92.5€	1,123		123.9€	586	
Overall	Ø = 63.4 €	3,637	Ø = 80.5 €	6,616		Ø = 101.9 €	2,642	

Source: [6]; Note: \* age group of household head

#### Table 2: Energy expenditures in comparable 2-person-households

Age groups*	2-p 50 to	ers. 75 m²	2-pers. 75 to 100 m <sup>2</sup>			2-pers. 100 to 125 m <sup>2</sup>		
	Expenditure	No. of	Expenditure	No. of		Expenditure	No. of	
	per capita observations		per capita observations			per capita observation		

< 30	43.2€	745	49.3€	313	73.5€	117
30-40	49.3€	648	54.7 €	630	68.7€	341
40-50	52.3€	911	65.2€	893	82.4 €	694
50-60	57.8€	968	73.9€	1,161	98.8€	1,269
60-70	56.1€	964	71.1€	1,201	95.8€	1,483
70+	55.2€	1,109	79.2€	1,107	98.3€	1,114
Overall	Ø = 52.3 €	5,345	Ø = 65.5 €	5,305	Ø = 86.3 €	5,018

Source: [6]; Note: \* age group of household head

Table 1 and 2 illustrate the existence of consumption differences that are likely to be caused by agerelated effects. In all cases the energy expenditure increases with the age group of household head [6]. As the number of household members and the size categories of dwellings are equal, energy expenditure reaches its highest amount within the age group 70 and over (with the exception being 2person households with dwellings from 50 to 75m<sup>2</sup>). Energy expenditure in single-households under 50 m<sup>2</sup> is almost 1.6 times higher compared to the age group of 30 and below. Similar results were found for the categories single-households 75 to 100 m<sup>2</sup> and 2-person-households 75 to 100 m<sup>2</sup>. Although the increase within other categories is smaller, an age-related increase is noticeable.

To sum up, both quantitative and qualitative analyses indicate that households' age has a significant influence on residential energy demand. The increasing energy demand within people's lifecycles is mainly caused by the fact that older households feature characteristics which are push-factors with respect to residential energy demand, whereas younger households feature characteristics which are pull-factors (as illustrated in figure 3). Older households tend to be small in size (little potential for economies of scale), occupy huge dwellings (remanence effects) and have a relatively high household income. However, research by Timpe [6] substantiates that apart from this, age-related effects are visible. Those are reflected by a consumer behaviour that is seen as a push-factor with rising households' age.

Against this background of existing research on residential energy demand and its determinants, a new methodological approach has been developed to shed more light on the effect of age on household energy demand. After presenting the currently available data and its problems, the new approach is described in detail.

# Currently available data

Any analysis of the influence of socio-demographic factors on energy use is limited by data availability. In Germany, at the municipal level, data is available on energy consumption, the housing situation and inhabitants' demographics.

Data on *energy consumption* is available through housing companies and municipal public utilities. Housing companies – with mainly multi-family houses in their portfolios which represent shared connections to the public energy grid – collect data for providing their tenants with regular heating and operating cost statements. Similarly, municipal public utilities have data on the energy consumption through individual connections to the electricity, gas and district heating networks. For gas and district heating, those connections are located in singly family or two-family houses.

*Housing* data is available through the owners of buildings and apartments. For the analysis of energy consumption, relevant housing data refers to building type, the state of redevelopment (e.g. not refurbished, partially refurbished, completely refurbished), energy source, heating system, year of construction and living space.

*Socio-demographic* data is with German registration offices. Their registers include a given resident's name, his address and further data such as gender, date of birth, family status, nationality and movein date. Additional data refers to a resident's spouse, registered partner or children. The registers, however, cannot provide complete data on households that live together in the same apartment. This aggravates the retracement of data to individual households with the result that only data with average values is available for multi-family households regarding the socio-demographic data of their inhabitants. To overcome this fundamental problem, we have developed the method described in the following section.

Table 3 below summarizes the relevant data and corresponding sources.

Table	3:	Available	data	on	energy	consumption,	housing	and	socio-demographics	by	data
source	e in	Germany									

Data	Details	Data source
Consumption	Customers' consumption of district	Housing companies
	heating, gas, electricity	(for shared grid connections)
		Municipal public utilities
		(for individual grid connections)
Housing	Building type, state of redevelopment,	Building or apartment owners
	energy source, heating system, year of	
	construction and living space	
Socio-demographics	Given resident's name, address and	German registration offices
	further data such as gender, date of	
	birth, family status, nationality and	
	move-in date. Additionally: spouse,	
	registered partner or children.	

# Method

The following methodological approach has been developed by Prognos and AGFW (the German District Heating Association) in the project "Urban restructuring and energy efficiency" commissioned by the Saxon State Ministry of Interior Affairs.

#### Data sources

As data sources, we rely on housing companies and associations in three different Saxon cities and municipal public utilities as described in the preceding section. In addition, the Saxon State Office of Statistics plays a central role in our approach because it has collected data on housing and sociodemographic characteristics from the registration authorities during the German Census 2011 [27,28,29]. More specifically, housing data from all 17.5 million owners of residential property in Germany has been gathered in the context of the Census of Buildings and Housing.

For *buildings*, this data includes municipality, postcode and official municipality key; kind of building; ownership situation; building type; construction year; type of heating system; number of apartments. For *apartments*, the data includes type of use; ownership situation; apartment of individuals not subject to reporting, if known; living space; WC; bath tub or shower; number of rooms [29].

For the project described here, information on the date of birth is particularly relevant for determining the age of household members.

#### Approach

At the beginning of the data collection process, the participating organizations coordinate with each other (separately for each participating city) to define and clarify the available data on residential energy consumption and housing. This involves characterizing the available housing data at an aggregated level. The main goal is to understand the distribution of the building stock across municipal districts and by building type (detached and semi-detached houses and multi-family houses), year of construction and state of renovation. Subsequently, the population of relevant buildings is defined dependent on data availability. The goal is to include all relevant subgroups and to increase the likelihood of having socio-demographic variance in the sample to be analyzed.

The remainder of this approach to data collection, which has been approved by the data protection supervisor of the state of Saxony in terms of privacy protection, is shown in figure 4 and described below. The approach has been derived on the premise that the data collected should be of the highest quality possible and that – at the same time – the procedure should still be practicably feasible for the cooperating partners in terms of effort required.



#### Figure 4: Data collection process

#### (1/2) Consumption data

The housing companies build address lists with relevant buildings and send them to the municipal public utilities (DS 1). Subsequently, consumption data from housing companies (DS 2, for shared connections) and municipal public utilities (DS 3, for individual connections) is send to the statistical office through the well-established IDEV procedure for secure online communication used by German statistical offices. Consumption data represents measured consumption, based on recent measurements. In Germany, meters are usually checked on a yearly basis. For shared connections (also see the section on available data above), consumption is attributed to individual households in conformity with the German Heating Cost Ordinance. Accordingly, property owners are generally obliged to install meters for heat and warm water consumption. At least 50 % and at most 70 % of total heating and warm water costs have to be attributed to individual households based on measured consumption. The remaining costs are attributed based on a household's share in total living space or floor space [30].

#### (3) Housing and demographic data

This data is already available from the German Census 2011 (see previous section).

#### (4) Data merging and household generation

The statistical office applies the procedure for household generation, based on the European Union's household-dwelling concept:

"The household-dwelling concept considers all persons living in a housing unit to be members of the same household, such that there is one household per occupied housing unit. In the household dwelling concept, then, the number of occupied housing units and the number of households occupying them is equal, and the locations of the housing units and house-holds are identical." [31].

Since German registration data do not directly allow for building households, Germany's Federal Statistical Office and the statistical offices of the states have developed a new approach. By bringing together building, housing and registration data, the statistical office is able to generate households. This approach encompasses four steps [27]:

- **Building core households**: In addition to a given individual's name, registration data also encompasses the name of the individual's spouse or life partner, children or legal representative. Such supplemental data are referred to as "pointers" [own translation]. They are used to link different persons to a common "core household". Core household members need to be first-degree relatives or linked through a direct legal marriage or a registered civil partnership.
- **Identifying dwelling inhabitants:** Data from the Census of Buildings and Housing are merged with registration data. This second step is necessary because registration data does not show in which exact dwelling a person lives at a given address.
- Using further criteria for building households: Given that real life has more to offer than traditional father-mother-child families, further registration data needs to be considered as hints for individuals that live together (e.g. names, date of the last change in family status, etc.). At the end of this step, the majority of individuals have been matched with a specific dwelling and a household.
- **Building households by means of statistical criteria:** The remaining individuals are assigned to households on the basis of statistical averages, for example, living space per capita. As a result, all individuals who live at a given address are matched with a household and a dwelling.

#### Final data provision

After the anonymization of data, the statistical office provides Prognos with the data (in conformity with the requirements of §16 German Federal Statistics Law) for further analysis. The resulting data set comprises both socio-demographic characteristics such as age and household size as well as households' consumption of grid-bound energy sources, and further housing data such as living space, building type and year of construction.

## Acknowledgements

This article is a revised version of the paper presented at the 2013 ECEEE summer study [33]. We thank our reviewers for helpful comments and our partners from the Saxon State Office of Statistics and the German District Heating Association (AGFW) for their cooperation. Moreover, Philip Timpe is grateful for the support he received during the completion of his Diploma thesis by Prognos and Jochen Hoffmeister in particular. Funding for this research is provided by the Saxon State Ministry of Interior Affairs. Any errors or inaccuracies remain the sole responsibility of the authors.

# References

- [1] Lutzenhiser, Loren & Moezzi, Mithra (2010): What's missing in Theories of the Residential Energy User. ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings. Portland State University. Portland. pp. 207-221.
- [2] Gram-Hanssen, Kirsten (2010): Residential heat comfort practices: understanding users. In: Building Research & Information 2010, 38 (2). Danish Building Research Institute. Roudletge. Aalborg. pp.175-186.
- [3] Tietz, Hans-Peter (2007): Systeme der Ver- und Entsorgung. Funktionen und räumliche Strukturen. Teubner. Wiesbaden.
- [4] Guerra Santín, Olivia (2010): Actual energy consumption in dwellings. The effect of energy performance regulations and occupant behaviour. Delft Centre for Sustainable Urban Areas (Hrsg.). Delft.
- [5] Kriström, Bengt (2008): Residential energy demand. In: OECD Organisation for Economic Cooperation and development (Hrsg.): Household Behaviour and the Environment Reviewing the Evidence. Paris.
- [6] Timpe, Philip (2012): Wechselwirkungen von Energieverbrauch und demografischem Wandel -Eine räumlich differenzierte Bewertung sozio-demografischer Einflussgrößen auf die Energieausgaben in den Stadt- und Landkreisen. Diplomarbeit an der Fakultät Raumplanung. Dortmund.

- [7] Morley, Janine & Hazas, Mike (2011): The significance of difference: Understanding variation in household energy consumption. ECEEE 2011 SUMMER STUDY Energy efficiency first : The foundation of a low-carbon society.
- [8] Larsen, Tine Steen et al. (2010): Occupants influence on the energy consumption. In: Gram-Hanssen et al. : Occupants influence on the energy consumption of Danish domestic buildings -State of the art -. Aalborg University Department of Civil Engineering Section for Architectural Engineering. DCE Technical Report No. 110. Aalborg.
- [9] Gram-Hanssen, Kirsten (2010): Households' energy use what are most important: efficient technologies or user practices? In: Gram-Hanssen, Kirsten et al. : Occupants influence on the energy consumption of Danish domestic buildings – State of the art -. Aalborg University Department of Civil Engineering Section for Architectural Engineering. DCE Technical Report No. 110. Aalborg.
- [10] Lutzenhiser, Loren & Bender, Sylvia (2008): The "Average American" Unmasked: Social Structure and Differences in Household Energy Use and Carbon Emissions. 2008 ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings.
- [11] Weber, Christoph &. Perrels, Adriaan (2000): Modelling impacts of lifestyle on energy demand and related emissions. In: Government Institute of Economic Research (Hrsg). VATT Discussion Papers. Helsinki.
- [12] Shell (2011): Shell Hauswärme-Studie. Nachhaltige Wärmeerzeugung für Wohngebäude. Fakten, Trends und Perspektiven. Hamburg.
- [13] Statistisches Bundesamt (2009): Bevölkerung Deutschlands bis 2060. 12. koordinierte Bevölkerungsvorausberechnung. Begleitmaterial zur Pressekonferenz am 18. November 2009 in Berlin. Wiesbaden.
- [14] German Institute for Economic Research (DIW) (2007): Auswirkungen des demografischen Wandels auf die private Nachfrage nach G
  ütern und Dienstleistungen in Deutschland bis 2050. Berlin.
- [15] Moll, Henri C. et al. (2005): Pursuing more sustainable consumption by analyzing household metabolism in European countries and cities. In: Journal of Industrial Ecology Vol. 9 Nr. 1-2. Massachusetts. pp. 259-275
- [16] Dalton, Michael G. et al. (2005): Population Aging and Future Carbon Emissions in the United States. International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis (Hrsg.). Laxenburg.
- [17] Bundesministerium für Wirtschaft und Technologie (BMWi) (2012): Energiedaten. Zahlen und Fakten. Nationale und internationale Entwicklung. Berlin
- [18] Statistisches Bundesamt (2011): Demografischer Wandel in Deutschland. Heft 1 Bevölkerungsund Haushaltsentwicklung im Bund und in den Ländern. Wiesbaden.
- [19] Yamasaki, Eiji &. Tominaga, Norio (1997): Evolution of an aging society and effect on residential energy demand. Energy Policy, Volume 25, No. 11.
- [20] O'Neill, Brian C. & Chen, Berlinda S. (2002): Demographic Determinants of Household Energy Use in the United States. In: Methods of Population-Environment Analysis, A Supplement to Population and Development Review 28. pp. 53-88.
- [21] York, Richard (2006): Demographic trends and energy consumption in European Union Nations, 1960-2025. Department of Sociology, University of Oregon, Eugene (Hrsg.). Social Science Research 36 (2007). Elsevier. Eugene . pp 855-872
- [22] Engel, Kerstin (2010): Demographische Determinanten der Energienachfrage der Haushalte in Deutschland. Dissertation der Philiosophischen Fakultät und Fachbereich Theologie der Friedrich-Alexander-Universität Erlangen-Nürnberg. Hildesheim.
- [23] Bundesministerium für Verkehr, Bau und Stadtentwicklung (BMVBS) (2011): Wohnen im Alter. Marktprozesse und wohnungspolitischer Handlungsbedarf. Forschungen Heft 147. Berlin.
- [24] Schipper, Lee: Life-Styles and the Environment: The Case of Energy. In: Daedalus. Vol. 125, No. 3, The Liberation of the Environment (Summer, 1996), pp. 113-138.
- [25] Statistik Austria (2011): Modellierung des Stromverbrauchs in den privaten Haushalten Österreichs nach unterschiedlichen Verwendungszwecken. Wien.
- [26] Kronenberg, Tobias & Engel, Kerstin (2008): Demographischer Wandel und dessen Auswirkungen auf den Energieverbrauch in Hamburg und Mecklenburg-Vorpommern. In: Zeitschrift für Energiewirtschaft Volume 34 Nr. 4. Jülich.
- [27] StaBu (2011): Das registergestützte Verfahren beim Zensus 2011, Statistisches Bundesamt in Zusammenarbeit mit den Statistischen Ämtern der Länder https://www.zensus2011.de/fileadmin/material/pdf/artikel/Zensus\_2011\_Methodentext.pdf (Zugriff am 20.08.2012)
- [28] Tuchscherer, C. (2009): Bedeutung des Anschriften- und Gebäuderegisters für den Zensus 2011, in: Zeitschrift für amtliche Statistik Berlin Brandenburg 3/09
- [29] ZensG (2011): Gesetz über den registergestützten Zensus im Jahre 2011 (Zensusgesetz 2011) vom 8. Juli 2009, u.a. verfügbar über http://www.zensus2011.de
- [30] HeizkostenV (2009): Verordnung über Heizkostenabrechnung in der Fassung der Bekanntmachung vom 5. Oktober 2009 (BGBI. I S. 3250)
- [31] Eurostat (2011): EU legislation on the 2011 Population and Housing Censuses. Explanatory Notes. doi:10.2785/12778
- [32] EC (2011): Demography report 2010. Older, more numerous and diverse Europeans, European Commission and Eurostat, ISSN 1831-9440
- [33] Deutsch, Matthias &. Timpe, Philip (2013): The effect of age on residential energy demand. ECEEE Summer Study on energy efficiency, 3-8 June 2013

# Study of the Energy Related Properties' Impacts on the Price of Appliances on the Chinese Market

# HU Bo, ZHENG Tan, LI Jiayang, ZHAO Feiyan Top10 China and CLASP China

# Abstract

Topics: Lifestyles and Consume Behaviour

# Key words: Price, Technologies, Energy Efficiency Tier, Energy Efficiency Indicator, Appliances

The price of the household appliances is affected by many factors, such as brand, design, dimension, quality, technology, and capacity, etc. The Chinese government implemented several rebate programs to promote the high energy efficient products, which is based on the assumption that high efficient products have higher price. The subsidy criteria are based on the technologies, capacities, energy efficiency tier and energy efficiency indicators, which are called energy related properties in this paper.

Six products are selected for the analysis, which are: air conditioner, refrigerator, panel TV, washing machine, rice cooker and monitor. All products are from the project named "Market Analysis for China Energy Efficient Products" (MACEEP) jointly conducted by Top10 China and Collaborative Labeling and Appliance and Standards Program (CLASP).

The analysis shows that the price of the appliances has very close correlation with the energy related properties mentioned above. It is strongly affected by the technologies, capacities and energy efficiency tiers. The technologies bring oblivious price differences for the air conditioners and washing machines. The price goes higher when the capacity increases. The price of better energy efficiency tier products is also higher than the lower tier products. However, the energy efficiency indicator has very weak correlation with the price of the products under the same technology, capacity and efficiency tier.

# Introduction

Appliances are widely deployed in Chinese households. The ownership rate of major appliances (refrigerators, air conditioners, washing machines and TVs) in urban households is higher than 90%[1]. The huge number of appliances consumes significant electricity. In 2012, the appliances consumed more than 10.1 TWh of electricity, which accounted for more than 12% of all electricity in China [2]. The electricity consumption of the household appliances is expected to keep increasing in next years due to the social and economic development, urbanization and life style evolution [3]. The Chinese government has realized the importance of appliance energy efficiency to the national policy and goal of "Energy Saving and Emission Reduction", which is to achieve 16% reduction of energy per capita in 2015 compared to 2010 [4]. Both mandatory and voluntary policies and programs are implemented to improve the efficiency of the appliances. The mandatory policies include the minimum energy efficiency performance standards (MEPS) and energy label program. The voluntary programs include the energy conservation certification program, government procurement for energy conservation products and rebate programs. Three nationwide rebate programs have been implemented in recent years, which are the "Subsidy program for home appliance replacement [5]", the "Appliances to Rural Areas [6]" and the "Project to promote energy-efficient products for the benefit of the people [7]". The last rebate program subsidizes the products only based on the energy performance. More than 3 billion Euros will be awarded to high efficiency products in the program of "Project to promote energy-efficient products for the benefit of the people" from June 2012 to May 2013. The major household appliances are included, which are: air conditioners, refrigerators, washing machines, flatpanel TVs and water heaters, etc.

It is thought that the high price of efficient products is the hurdle for the market penetration [8]. The Chinese consumers also realized the importance of the energy saving and environmental protection in their purchasing process, as more than 90% of the consumers took the energy consumption into purchasing decision making [8]. The rebate programs are considered as one of the most effective policy measures to promote the high energy efficient products [9]. The subsidy criteria are based on the technology, capacity, energy efficiency tier and energy efficiency indicator, which are considered as the energy related properties in this paper.

The price is the first factor to affect the purchasing decision of the appliance [8]. It is affected by many factors, such as brand, design, dimension, quality, technology, and capacity, etc. This paper will analyze the impacts of the energy related properties compared to the price. The "technology" refers to the methods to achieve the same or similar functions by different or similar theory, which will lead to different energy consumption. The "capacity" is the parameter characterizing the size of the product/service, such as the cooling capacity for the air conditioners, volume for the refrigerators, screen sizes for the flat-panel TVs, etc. The "energy efficiency tier" is the indicator to distinguish the general energy efficiency performance in the energy label system. In China energy label system, there are two scales with either 3 or 5 tiers. In both scales the lower the tier, the higher the energy efficiency. The "energy efficiency indicator" is the efficiency performance indicator of the product set in the MEPS and disclose on the energy label.

The data of this paper is based on the project named "Market Analysis for China Energy Efficient Products" (MACEEP) jointly conducted by Top10 China and Collaborative Labeling and Appliance and Standards Program (CLASP). This project focuses on available product models on the retail market. Several data sources including retailers, independent market research companies and labeling program were integrated into one database for the analysis. The energy related data such as the energy consumption, capacity, energy efficiency tier and indicator, comes from the manufacturers' declaration for the products such as the nameplates, product instructions and energy labels. The price information was sampled from two large retail-chains (Gome, Suning [10]), on-line stores and independent information providers (ZOL, ETao [11]) in June 2012.

# Impacts of the technology on the price

In the eight products analyzed in the MACEEP project, five products have at least two technologies. Separate energy efficiency requirements are set according to the technologies for air conditioners, flat-panel TVs and washing machines, while the rest of products regulate different technologies with the same indicators and requirements.



Figure 1 Cooling capacity, technology versus price of air conditioners \*n=2629

Under the same cooling capacity in figure 1, the price of the variable speed air conditioners is much higher than the fixed speed air conditioners, which is about 40% higher on average. The fixed speed air conditioner is traditional technology which appeared on the market at the very beginning of the 1980s. The variable speed technology was introduced into Chinese market in the middle of the 1990s. More than 50% consumers take the air conditioner as the most important appliance in energy saving [8]. Around 70% of consumers thought energy saving is the most important advantage of the variable speed technology compared to fixed speed technology [12]. As the air conditioner consumes significant shares of the electricity in the households, the variable speed technology targets the efficiency improvement. Variable speed air conditioners are considered as high-end products, which have a higher price than the normal products. The consumers are willing to pay a higher price for the high-end products[13].

Although the price is much higher, the market share of variable speed air conditioners increased from 8.4% in 2007 to 43.8 in 2012 [20]. The manufacturing cost of the variable speed air conditioner is higher than the fixed speed air conditioners, because it put extra controlling equipment on. However, it's doubted that the manufacturing cost difference between fixed and variable technologies is as high as up to more than 40%. A further study to disclose the manufacturing cost between those two technologies needs to be conducted.



Figure 2 Washing capacity, technology versus price of washing machines \*n=1316

Comparing with the front-load and top-load washing machines in figure 2, which are generally automatically programed machines, the twin tub washing machines are semi-automatic technologies. It's the technology that needs to be eliminated from the market. The price of the twin tub washing machines is much lower than the other two technologies.

Under the same washing capacity, the price of the front-load washing machine is much higher than the top-load washing machine, which is about 80% higher on average. The top-load washing machine is traditional technology and has existed for a very long time. The front-load washing machine was introduced into China in middle 1990s. According to the testing method and energy efficiency standard - GB 12021.4-2004 [14], front-load washing machines only have better performance in the water efficiency, but it can't lead to the 80% price differences. The manufacturers and retailers usually don't take the energy saving as the selling points for the front-load washing machines. The washing quality is usually taken as the selling point [13]. The front-load washing machine is also considered as the high-end product.



Figure 3 Screen size, technology versus price of flat-panel TVs \*n=2307

\*\*PDP - Plasma Display Flat-panel TV, LCD - Liquid Crystal Display, CCFL - Cold Cathode Fluorescent Lamp, LED - Light Emitting Diode

The PDP and LCD technologies have principle differences in the image display. The absolute energy consumption of PDP TVs for similar size models is much higher than the LCD TVs. However, those two technologies are set different efficiency requirements in the energy efficiency standard - GB 24850-2010 [15]. The energy efficiency index (EEI) for PDP TV is improved by a correction factor and the requirement for PDP tier 1 (1.2) is 0.2 less than tier 1 requirement of the LCD TVs (1.4). The energy efficiency standard helps the PDP panel TVs to get a better energy efficiency tier. The energy label of the flat-panel TV only discloses the efficiency tiers and EEI of the TVs. The consumers can't get the power information from the TV energy label. Although the LCD TVs have much better energy efficiency performance, the price differences between the technologies is not clear. It's advertised by the manufacturers and retailers that the PDP TVs have better image quality and dynamic range.

LCD TVs dominate the market now [16] and the price of the LCD TVs has continued to decreased in recent years [16]. Under the LCD technology, there are two backlight technologies - CCFL and LED. They are regulated by the same energy efficiency requirements. CCFL launched the market for the LCD TVs with LED following and then takeing the bigger market share [16]. However, the price differences between CCFL and LED TVs is quite small and can be considered as the same price bracket. About 75% of consumers thought the LED technology had better energy efficiency [17], which is ranked at the second of all advantages of the LED technology. The first ranked advantage of LED TVs is that they have thinner shape.

The market development and competence has huge effects on the price of the LCD TVs. In 2007, the average price of a 42 inch LCD TV was more than 1300 Euros [18], the price was reduced to around 500 Euros in 2012 when LCD TVs dominated the market.



Figure 4 Screen size, technology versus price of LCD monitors \*n=652

For the LCD monitors, the price difference between the two technologies is also very small.

For the LCD displays (flat-panel TV and monitor) the price of the LED displays was indeed higher than the CCFL displays [17], when LED displays were just put into the market. Due to the rapid market development, the market share of the LED technology caught up with the CCFL, which lead to the decrease in price.

The technology has obvious impacts on the price, which is not a surprise. The new technologies bring not only energy efficiency improvement but also other advantages compared to the old technologies. For air conditioners and washing machines, the new technology has a much higher price than the old ones and the new technologies are still

struggling to take more market shares. For LCD displays, the new LED technology has already taken significant market shares, which lead to the decrease of the price. The products have a differing level of importance in terms of energy saving ability for the consumers. Some products are considered more important in energy saving than the others, such as the air conditioner, which is recognized by 53% of consumers as the most important product [8]. It might be the reason that the price of variable speed air conditioners is much higher than the fixed speed ones, because the variable speed air conditioner is targeting for improving the energy efficiency of the air conditioners.



# Impacts of the capacity on the retail price

Figure 5 Volume versus price of refrigerators \*n=1667

Figure 1 to 5 show clearly that the price has very close correlation with the capacities (cooling capacity, size and volume, etc), in which the price maintains a linear increase with the capacity. The regression analysis results in table 1 also show that the price has close correlation with the capacity under the same technology.

Product	Technology	R2
Air Conditionor	Fixed	0.472
Air Conditioner	Variable	0.635
	Front-load	0.365
Washing Machine	Top-load	0.353
	Twin tub	0.608
Flat-Panel TV	PDP	0.493
	LED	0.361
	CCFL	0.414
Monitor	LED	0.509
	CCFL	0.280
Refrigerator		0.571
Rice Cooker		0.004

Table 1	Regression	analysis o	of capacit	y and price



Figure 6 Volume versus price of rice cookers \*n=1276

However, there is no obvious pattern in figure 6 for the rice cookers. The price decreases with the volume range from 1 to 4 liters, and then the price jumps and falls without any regular pattern. The average of 5 liters rice cookers is much higher than the other liters. The number of models at 5 liters is 324. Under the same volume, the price differences are so huge that it can be said the volume has very limited impact on the price. The average price of all rice cookers is about 47 Euros, but the standard deviation is high, up to 70 Euros. There are very cheap rice cookers for basic cooking and there are extremely expensive rice cookers with complicated functions for multiple cooking. There are also a lot of imported rice cookers whose prices are much higher than domestic products.

As the price increases with the capacity, the subsidy criteria are increased with the capacity in the rebate programs. The higher the capacity, the higher the subsidy. However, the subsidy should not be awarded to the oversized products, because the ratio between the subsidy and retail price decreases with the capacity. The low subsidy ratio has limited impacts on switching the consumer's preference towards the high efficiency products. It might also encourage the consumers to buy larger products, which they don't need. No matter what, the efficiency changes with the capacity, the absolute energy consumption increases with the capacity [3].

## Impacts of energy efficiency tiers on the retail price

Energy efficiency tiers play key roles in the policies. Tier 3 or 5 are the mandatory minimum requirements for products to access the market. Tier 2 and 1 are generally endorsement requirements for the energy efficient product certification and incentive policies. Energy efficiency tiers also have impacts on the product prices.



Figure 7 Energy efficiency tiers versus average price of 7 selected products \*n=9847

Figure 7 shows that the price has very close relation to the energy efficiency tiers for 5 products, with the price increasing with better tiers. The similar relation of price and energy efficiency tiers can be observed in Europe [19]. For rice cookers, the price is not related to the energy efficiency tier. Some low tier products even have much higher purchase prices than high efficiency ones. The price of tier 4 is very high, because most of the tier 4 products are the imported multi-functional rice cookers. The quality and other factors play a more important role in the product pricing than the energy efficiency tier.



Figure 8 Energy efficiency tier versus price of fixed speed air conditioner \*n=1714

\*\* CC = Cooling Capacity, Unit: W.



Figure 8 Energy efficiency tier versus price of variable speed air conditioner \*n=915

Generally, the manufacturing cost of the high energy efficient products is higher than the low efficiency ones. For the variable speed air conditioners, the price differences between tier 1, 2 and 3 are so significant that one can deduce that manufacturers and retailers develop their product pricing strategy according to energy efficiency tiers (and not according to the actual added cost of better equipment). The life-cycle cost of the higher tier products is also higher than the lower tier products, which means that the users can get the extra purchasing cost back from the energy saving [20]. Further research on the manufacturing costs, retail price, energy efficiency and market competition should be conducted for those products.



Figure 9 Energy efficiency tier versus price of refrigerators \*n=1667



**Figure 10 Energy efficiency tier versus price of washing machines** \*n=1163

A similar relationship between the energy efficiency tier and price can be found for the refrigerators. In general, the price increase with better tiers. However, for the rice cookers, the price has no correlation with the energy efficiency tiers.

# Impacts of energy efficiency indicator on the retail price

The energy label also discloses the energy efficiency indicator information. It provides further information for the consumers to compare the products within the same energy efficiency tier. Because there are too many products, tier 1 products for the refrigerators, washing machines, panel TVs and monitors [3][20], the detailed efficiency indicator information is the only source to distinguish the products. However, more than 58% consumers don't understand the energy efficiency information on the label [8].



Figure 11 EER versus price at different cooling capacity range of fixed speed air conditioner

\*n=1714

\*\* EER : Energy efficiency ratio



Figure 12 SEER versus price at different cooling capacity range of variable speed air conditioner

\*n=915

\*\* SEER: Seasonal energy efficiency ratio

For the fixed speed air conditioner, the price has a clear changing pattern with the EER. However, for the variable speed air conditioner, the price increases with the increase of SEER in four categories. The fixed speed air conditioner has the scale of 3 energy efficiency tiers, while the variable speed air conditioner has the scale of 5 energy efficiency tiers. The tiers might help to regulate the price with the SEER. The consumers also pay more attention to the energy efficiency of air conditioners [8].



Figure 13 Energy efficiency versus price at different washing capacities of front-load washing machine

\*n=428



Figure 14 Energy efficiency versus price at different washing capacities of top-load washing machines

\*n=735

All front-load washing machines are labeled under tier 1. In this situation, only detailed energy efficiency indicators could be used. However, no patterns can be observed from Figure 13, which indicates that the efficiency indicator information does not affect the price.

For top-load washing machines, the general pattern is that the price goes down as the energy efficiency decreases. There are 3 energy efficiency tiers for the top-load technologies. The similar phenomenon can be found for the water efficiency of front-load and top-load washing machines.

There are also no patterns between the price and energy efficiency information for the flatpanel TVs and rice cookers.

For most of the products, the energy efficiency indicator information has very limited impact on the price, because it's not easy for normal consumers to understand the technical background of the efficiency. Taking the flat-panel TV for example, the efficiency indicator is named Energy efficiency index (EEI). It's the ratio between luminance and power in principle. However, it's corrected by a factor according to the technologies (LCD and PDP). It can't be expected that the consumers will fully understand what the EEI represents. They can't compare the products according to the EEI. It's well known for them that the lower of the energy efficiency tier, the better the efficiency. However, for most of the energy efficiency indicators, the higher the value, the better the efficiency.

# **Conclusion and recommendations**

1. The technology has great impacts on the price. The new technologies bring new improvements, not only the energy efficiency, but also other features such as user experiences and shape, etc. All the improvements are jointly affecting the price. Generally, the new technology has a higher price than the older technology. The price of the new technology goes down when the new technology takes a bigger market share. The rebate program should help the technology with the highest energy saving potential to penetrate the market, and the subsidy should not be awarded to the low efficient technologies, such as

PDP TVs. This will accelerate the progress of the market transformation towards higher efficiency.

2. For most of the products, the price increases with the capacity. The subsidy criteria also increase with the capacity in the rebate programs. However, the absolute energy consumption increases with capacity accordingly. The subsidy for the large products might encourage the consumers to buy over-sized products they don't require. Not only the efficiency, but also the sufficiency should be taken into consideration in the rebate programs.

3. The price has close relationship with the energy efficiency tiers for most of the products, which increases with the better tiers. It's certain that the manufacturing cost of the high efficiency products is higher than normal products. However, for some products such as variable speed air conditioners, the price differences among the tiers is so high that it is possible to say that the manufacturers or retailers boost the price according to the energy efficiency tier.

4. Except for air conditioners, the price has low relationship with the energy efficiency information. The consumers lack in knowledge to fully understand the energy efficiency indicator. The public education of the energy label and reform of the energy label are needed.

#### References

[1] GF Securities, 2011. Household Appliances Industries Investment Strategy in the Second Quarter of 2011, 29.

[2] National Energy Administration (NEA), 2013. 2012 China Electricity Consumption Summary, http://www.nea.gov.cn/2013-01/14/c\_132100340.htm.

[3] HU Bo, Li Jiayang, ZHENG Tan, 2013. *Market analysis for China energy efficient products*. Presented at ECEEE, June 2013, France.

[4] State Council of P.R.C, 2011. *Work plan of the energy saving and emission reduction in the 12th five year plan period*. http://www.gov.cn/zwgk/2011-09/07/content\_1941731.htm.

[5] State Council of P.R.C, 2009. "Subsidy program for home appliance replacement" policy, http://www.gov.cn/gongbao/content/2009/content\_1336360.htm.

[6] Ministry of Commerce, 2007. "Appliances to Rural Areas" policy, http://jdxx.zhs.mofcom.gov.cn/index.shtml?method=articleList&type=3.

[7] National Development and Reform Commission, 2009. "*Project to promote energy-efficient products for the benefit of the people*" *subsidy program*, http://hzs.ndrc.gov.cn/newzwxx/t20090527\_282290.htm.

[8] ZDC, 2010, Survey of Chinese Consumer's Energy Saving Acknowledgement.

[9] China National Institute of Standardization (CNIS), 2012. White paper for the energy efficiency status of China energy-use products-2012.

[10] Gome, Sunning, www.gome.com.cn, www.suning.com.

[11] ZOL online: detail.zol.com.cn, ETAO: www.etao.com.

[12] ZDC, 2011. 2011 Chinese air conditioner consumer behaviour investigation, http://zdc.zol.com.cn/236/2360440.html.

[13] ZDC, 2011. 2011 Chinese high-end appliances consumer investigation, http://zdc.zol.com.cn/229/2294928.html.

[14] Standardization Administration of China (SAC), 2004. *GB* 12021.4-2004, *Minimum allowable value of the energy consumption and energy efficiency grades for household electric washing machines.* 

[15] Standardization Administration of China (SAC), 2010. *GB* 24850-2010, *Minimum allowable value of the energy efficiency and energy efficiency grades for flat-panel TVs.*[16] ZDC, 2012. 2011-2012 China LCD market annual research report, http://zdc.zol.com.cn/270/2703119.html.

[17] ZDC, 2009. Should the consumer to buy the LED TV? - LED TV market research report, http://zdc.zol.com.cn/123/1236906.html.

[18] ZDC, 2008. 2007-2008 China LCD market annual research report, http://zdc.zol.com.cn/80/802588.html.

[19] Sophie ATTALI, Eric BUSH, 2009. *Factors influencing the penetration of energy efficient electrical appliances into national markets in Europe.* 

[20] Top10 China, CLASP China, 2013. Market analysis for China energy efficient products.

# Understanding the consumer perspective: product solutions to enable and inspire consumers

# Abstract

According to the European Environmental Agency report in 2012 "Climate change is occurring globally and in Europe it can increase existing vulnerabilities...". Preserving the environment is a shared concern, but individuals do not consistently make sustainable choices: faced with 2 alternatives they maximize their benefit, responsible choices are possible when individuals are given a credible option where societal good is not completely opposite to their own.

To foster a sustainable behavior both rational and moral drivers must be leveraged. The rational drivers are addressed by devising mechanisms that realign personal benefits with societal benefits; while moral drivers can be reinforced by awareness and social feedback, both approaches taken singularly have their limits but well combined they can reinforce each other.

Appliances have done outstanding developments in improving their energy efficiency due to past progress the physical limit is approaching, further improvements come at greater costs and without a technology breakthrough they may be minimal. However an untapped potential still lays in users habits: this comes in energy saving potential and energy usage shifting potential. Both can be still helped by technology, but the human factor and motivation must be considered.

Indesit would like to reap the energy saving potential by exploring ways to give feedback and improving consumer awareness and it has thus started a field test aimed at understanding how feedback can help consumers.

Indesit believes that in the future flexible consumers who adapt their energy consumption to low time tariffs or green energy availability will contribute to the sustainability of the power grid, however a strong economic incentive is needed to pull enough flexible consumers which can make a difference.

#### Main Author:

Francesca	Technical	Indesit	Via Lamberto Corsi 55, 60044,	Francesca.Meloni@i
Meloni	Affairs	Company	Fabriano (AN), Tel	ndesit.com
	Manager		+390732668388, Fax	
	Ū		+300732637392	

## **Co-authors:**

Stefano Frattesi	Innovation Manager	Indesit Company	Via Lamberto Corsi 55, 60044, Fabriano (AN), Tel +390732668227, Fax +300732637392	Stefano.Frattesi@i ndesit.com
Fabioluigi Bellifemine	Project Manager	Telecom Italia SpA	Via Guglielmo Reiss Romoli, 274, I-10148 Torino (Italy), Tel +390112286175	fabioluigi.bellifemin e@telecomitalia.it
Lucio Bianchi	Smart Grid project manager	Indesit Company	Via Lamberto Corsi 55, 60044, Fabriano (AN), Tel +390732668383, Fax +300732637392	lucio.bianchi@inde sit.com

Main topic : Smart Appliances, Home Automation, Smart Homes, and Smart Grids

Keywords: Consumer Behaviour, appliances, energy efficiency, demand response, feedback

# Where Europe goals are not aligned with consumer drivers policies are difficult to implement

The skiing chairlift problem is a typical example of detrimental collective behavior stemming from a misalignment of drivers. After waiting in line for 15 minutes one seat is available in the next chair, will you leave your family behind and fill in the available space? Filling all the seats to reduce everybody's waiting time would be a rational behavior, but people usually don't take up the seat regardless the length of the line: in this case the perception of the link between collective waiting time and singular behavior is not strong enough to motivate an altruistic choice. In this example moral drivers could be stimulated by signs asking to fill in the seats, while rational drivers should be created by an improved organization like a fast line for single skiers. Rational drivers are naturally more motivating, moreover the presence of rational drivers usually indicates that a system provides for a fair sharing of rewards, they should be the first solution to explore before resorting to moral drivers. To tap the improvement potential that lays within consumers this human factor needs to be considered: people need incentives and enabling solutions, on top of information.

#### Energy prices schemes and consumer motivation

While the EU Commission asks Member States to ensure timely feedback for consumers and asks utilities to save 1,5% in final energy consumption each year, competition has brought some utilities to offer fixed monthly rates in order to retain consumers. Energy price is an enabling driver to reduce energy consumption however energy prices cannot be increased without hurting vulnerable consumers. There appears to be no easy solution to this issue: the price driver alone is not enough to motivate consumers to change their behavior: reduce their comfort and spend less; however the price driver, coupled with the moral driver of sustainable behavior and enabling technology, can bring consumers to reduce energy consumption if convenient solutions are presented to them.

If the energy price has a limited potential in reducing total energy consumption, its possibilities in profiling and shaving peaks are still largely untapped. Many sources point to the need to shave peaks in order to optimize investment in infrastructure while guaranteeing security of supply, in a system that depends increasingly on renewable stochastic and non controllable sources like wind and solar energy. The Energy Efficiency Directive (EED) calls for Member States to remove the obstacles against offering time of use tariffs, and the Commission in their "Communication on making the internal energy market work" asks that consumers are given the advantage of low tariffs in low demand periods and says "Even if regulated prices allow the cost of operations to be covered, they do not send the right price signals needed to secure efficient investment" [3].

Unfortunately in some countries in Europe the possibility to set effective time of use schemes is hampered by the heavy taxation on energy prices, taxation is a flat component which attenuates the price component. Revision of such tariffing systems is both a matter of energy regulation and taxation. Such a revision is now required by the EED, which Member States must transpose into national legislation by June 2014. Past experience with time tariffs shows that a real economic convenience coupled with an understanding of consumer experience are needed to change consumption profiles, so the possibility to spur the flexible demand resource depends on the tariff schemes that will be enabled and on devices that will facilitate it.

#### Economic advantage of time tariffs

The EED calls for flexible demand to be rewarded in a non discriminatory way and this entails a market where flexible demand can participate as a resource. Renewable energy sources are challenging grid management in many EU countries: as the EU shifts to solar and wind power, it also needs to change its energy consumption paradigm by adapting consumption to production patterns rather than the other way around.

In an ideal market flexible consumers, which accommodate their demand according to the available production, should see a marginal price of energy approaching its marginal cost. Renewable energy sources on which Europe is increasingly relying, at times produce excessive energy, then its real marginal cost becomes negative. Consumers who choose to start the washing machine only in these

time periods should not pay for the energy consumed. If the market were allowed to work, the incentive for managing demand would be very effective: as long as there is temporarily excessive energy from wind and photovoltaic sources a totally flexible appliance should have free energy. In practice the market cannot be totally free since one should consider the cost for ensuring consumers against the risk of very high tariffs in moments of peaking marginal prices; still the opportunities for energy market efficiency and filling those chairlifts are still promising.

# Engaging consumers while solving their problems

Engaging consumers into energy efficiency means both providing a moral motivation and a rational edge, household appliances can help by increasing consumer awareness on their consumption, provide energy saving advices where and when they are needed and making it all easy and fun. For household appliances manufacturers the challenge is threefold: developing new technologies, building new business models and strategic alliances, and understanding how to deliver tangible benefits to consumers.

As a way to address these challenges Indesit has been among the founders in of Energy@home association bringing together appliances manufacturers, utilities, telecommunication and solution providers to explore smarter ways to use energy while guaranteeing performance. Energy@home is a non-profit association registered under the Italian laws with the purpose of developing & promoting technologies and services for home energy efficiency based upon device to device communication. Founded in 2012 by Electrolux, Enel Distribuzione, Indesit Company and Telecom Italia, the Association now counts among its members also: Edison (energy retailer), ST Microelectronics, Vodafone, Whirlpool, while several technology providers count among its aggregate members<sup>1</sup>. It thus brings together a wide range of competencies to develop energy services in the residential sector.



Figure 1: Members of the Energy@home association

At the end of 2012 Energy@home has launched a trial of its services with the intent to understand the human factor: how people consume energy, the variability in consumption profiles, improvement potential, and consumer reaction to feedback. It was not possible in this trial to explore consumers flexibility and the potential for demand response, because energy regulation in Italy does not yet enable retailers to set dynamic time tariffs. However some sources also point to the importance of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> ICT (Altran Italia, Intecs), microelectronics Freescale Italia, inverter and storage (Power One), research institutes (Istituto Superiore Mario Boella) and other technology MSE (Fly-By, Flexgrid, Eurotherm, MAC, Gemino).

understanding consumers and make them aware of their energy consumption patterns before exposing them to dynamic tariffs [6]. 20 out of the 50 users had solar panels and therefore an incentive to use energy when they have own production.

#### **Consumer awareness applications**

The field test was launched in 50 homes in a town of central Italy in a rather homogenous social context. The consumers form a community of early testers as such they receive social feedbacks relating anonymously to the other participants. The project will last 3 years and is aimed at understanding which information are more useful, how they should be delivered and how consumers use feedbacks.

The field test deploys smart appliances, smart plugs to monitor energy of non smart devices, an interface to the digital meter, an in home gateway, and a PC user interface.



#### Figure 2: devices in the Energy@home field test

The smart appliances can estimate their power consumption and send the information to the home gateway which processes it and makes it available on the user interface. The system gives information on the best timing to use appliances, this is relevant for those consumers which have solar panels and can choose to use own energy rather than purchasing from the grid.



Figure 3: user interface of the Energy@home monitoring interface, it shows instantaneus, daily consumption, comparison with the average user, single appliances power consumption and expense by energy consumption.

These devices allow to provide targeted and social feedback to consumers. The following graphs show an example of the information which can be provided to consumers. From the small sample in the geographic area large differences are already visible. These differences are particular interesting since they indicate the improvement potential.

In [13] the relationship between energy uses in households and the behaviour of end users is discussed highlighting that two categories of determinants can be settled as influencing electrical consumption in residential buildings:

Behavioural determinants, involving "flexible" decisions where the energy-use is strongly correlated to household human factors, such as people habits, daily routine and needs.

- Physical determinants, involving "fixed" decision where, on the contrary, the energy-use is correlated with the number of occupants, the climate and building design, while it is low correlated to human factors.

Figure 4 shows the weekly energy consumption of a sample of 10 families in the same geographical area where the picture on top of each bar reports the family size. It is immediately evident that there is very small correlation between the energy consumption and the family size while the difference in consumption is mainly due to the difference in the occupant behavior, i.e. the behavioral determinant part of the consumption. Considered that these families are not using electrical energy for heating and air conditioning, the difference in consumption cannot be ascribed, apart for a very minimal quantity, to difference in other physical determinants such as the dwelling size, or the building design and energy efficiency.

Figure 7 shows the stand-by power measured in the same sample of 10 families, the so-called "vampire power" of the house that is that minimal electrical absorption that is constant over the 24 hours of the day. Even in this case there is a strong difference between the 10 families with two families having a stand-by power of more than 120 Watt which results in an electricity bill of about 200  $\notin$ /year due only to the stand-by of the household appliances!

Figures 4 and 7 were sent by e-mail, as a newsletter, to the users of the trial as a persuasive stimulus to motivate to change their behavior. Following these information consumers were also instructed on how to use their system to check which devices are responsible for the standby power consumption.

Figure 5 reports the average weekly energy consumption measured before and after sending the newsletter. The results are very preliminary as they refer to just 10 families and as such they require proper attention and discussion. In fact, on average a reduction in energy consumption of 16% was

measured but it must be considered that the newsletters were sent in March when there is a seasonal change that it is well known to impact the residential energy consumptions. In order to get more information useful to this analysis, we also measured the reduction in stand-by power after sending the newsletter: on average users reduced stand-by power by 12%, with 3 users reducing by more than 10 Watt and one user reducing by 77 Watt. The saving in stand-by of this user will result in an annual saving in electricity bill of about  $120 \in$  and it accounts for more than an half of its energy saving reported in Figure 6!



Figure 4: Social feedback weekly energy consumption compared with community average





Figure 5: energy saving following email notification with social feedback, data not cleaned by seasonality effect



#### Figure 6: saving forecast after receiving social feedback, data not cleaned by seasonality

By detecting the minimum value of power consumption throughout the day, consumer can be made aware of the hidden power consumption of standby. In some cases this was so high as 120 W. Following these information consumers have been instructed on how to use their system to check which devices are responsible for the standby power consumption.



# Figure 7: Social feedback minimum energy consumption as a proxy for standby compared with community average

The smart appliances can provide specific information about how they are used and the impact on energy consumption. For washing machines it is possible to inform consumers about the average power consumption of each cycle, about which programs they are using most and how much they are loading their washing machine compared to the rated capacity. Consumers have also been able to learn how much their refrigerator is consuming, this is a valuable information to better plan the purchase of a new refrigerator, or simply to adjust appropriately the temperature setting.





Figure 8: Weekly fridge energy consumption

By deploying smart plugs it is also possible to inform consumers about which devices are the most energy consuming; this is valuable information since each household is different in this regard: it is often but not always the fridge.



Figure 9: how often an appliance ranks in the most consuming 3

Even if the first 3 devices change and sometime include also TV and WiFi or the PC, the quota consumed by the first 3 is usually over 40% of the total consumption.



Figure 10: % of total energy consumed by the first 3 devices

After 2 months of monitoring consumers were asked to rank the features of the system in a scale from 1 to 10, the picture below reports the top 5 features:



#### Figure 11: Consumer ranking top 5 features

By end of July the installed sample has been increased to 50 households, which will be monitored for the next 3 years. One of the objects is to observe if consumers starting with a higher energy

consumption can take on energy saving habits or switch to more efficient appliances, differences in initial levels indicate that there is a high potential for energy saving by addressing users habits.

#### Smart grid and demand response applications

Another high potential for appliances to support a sustainable behavior is by helping consumers participate to a demand response scheme and take advantage of lowest time tariffs.

Appliances of the Energy@home test are already capable of planning their start time based external signals from the grid. The appliance can minimize user inconvenience by ensuring to meet the requested delivery time within a flexibility period, however the current tariffing schemes in Italy do not provide any incentive to do so. A new version of the Aqualtis washing machine can inform consumers about the energy cost of the selected options and program and informs consumers about the best time to start based on time tariffs or renewable energy availability. In addition to the information on the appliance, Indesit provides an application for tablet or PC allowing consumers to easily simulate the cycle cost and energy consumption and see varying the different options can affect it. It is thus possible to provide advice on the best spinning speed depending on the post washing treatment. The interface allows also remote monitoring of the appliance.



Figure 12: appliance consumption simulator on Indesit E@H application





#### Conclusions

Consumers will choose more sustainable ways to manage energy consumption and use appliances only if multiple conditions exist: there is a tangible benefit, the positive contribution to the grid is communicated in a clear and rewarding way, the user experience is positive: meaning performance and convenience of appliances should not be lower e.g. when operating in flexible mode. So smart grid ready washing machines are waiting for the time when more Regulators in Europe will allow tariff schemes which reward flexibility as the Energy Efficiency Directive recommends.

The speed with which consumer will start participating in consumer awareness and demand response schemes will depend on the benefit they receive. In the case of demand response utilities are required to estimate the value of flexibility and devise appropriate tariffing schemes. The EED does state a fundamental principle: that demand response as a resource must be guaranteed a non discriminatory treatment in the energy market. Ultimately the savings consumers will be able to achieve will depend on the energy regulation and features of demand response programs. In particular features that affect the slice of value given to consumers are: possibility for consumers to opt out, possibility to bypass signals from the grid, possibility to retain own data or sell to the grid data which ones aggregated have an economic value.

Final entry barriers are another issue: the cost consumers are willing to pay for the enabling equipment is related to expected savings or to additional services for consumers which can be enabled by the same technical means.

## References

- [1] European Environmental Agency Climate change, impacts and vulnerability in Europe 2012.
- [2] Is it irrational to vote?.The Economist Oct 23rd 2012
- [3] European Commission. COMMUNICATION FROM THE COMMISSION TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT, THE COUNCIL, THE EUROPEAN ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL COMMITTEE AND THE COMMITTEE OF THE REGIONS Making the internal energy market work. Brussels, 15.11.2012COM(2012) 663 final. Can be downloaded at <a href="http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ.do?uri=CELEX:52012DC0663:EN:NOT">http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ.do?uri=CELEX:52012DC0663:EN:NOT</a>
- [4] European Commission. Commission Directive 2012/27/EU on energy efficiency, amending Directives 2009/125/EC and 2010/30/EU and repealing Directives 2004/8/EC and 2006/32/EC Can be downloaded at <u>http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2012:315:0001:0056:EN:PDF</u>
- [5] Charlotte B.A. Kobus, Ruth Mugge & Jan P.L. Schoomans. *Washing when the sun is shining! How users interact with household energy management system*. Ergonomics, 2012. DOI:10.1080/001410139.2012.721522
- [6] Philip E. Lewis, Christophe Dromacque, Sean Brennan, Jessica Stromback, Daria Kennedy, VAASETT, "Empower Demand 2 Energy Efficiency Through Information and Communication Technology", can be downloaded at <u>http://www.esmig.eu/filestor/Final Empower%202 Demand Report FINAL Distr2.pdf/view</u>
- [7] Ben Foster, Susan Mazur-Stommen, ACEEE, *Results from Recent Real Time Feedback Studies*, February 2012,
- [8] Zhao Xu, Mikael Togeby, Jacob Østergaard, *Demand as Frequency Controlled Reserve, final report of the PSO project Research project.* September 2008, Centre for Electric Technology (CET) Technical University of Denmark, Lyngby, EA Energy Analyses Copenhagen.
- [9] Charles Vlek, Linda Steg. University of Groningen, Human Behaviorand Environmental Sustainability: Problems, Driving Forces, and Research Topics. Journal of Social Issues, Vol. 63, No.1, 2007, pp 1-19

- [10] 2013 Achieving energy efficiency throughbehavior change: what does it take?. EEA Technical report No 5/ Copenhagen
- [11] EA Technology. *Delivering the Benefit of Smart Appliances*, DEFRA September 2011. London.
- [12] *Evaluation of Benefits of Active Demand,* ADDRESS Integrated Project co-founded by the European Commission under the 7th Framework Programme. Work Package 5. can be downloaded at <u>http://www.addressfp7.org/config/files/ADD-WP5-T5%201-Evaluation%20of%20AD%20benefit.pdf</u>
- [13] T. Ueno, F. Sano, O. Saeki, K. Tsuji, "Effectiveness of an energy-consumption information system on energy savings in residential houses based on monitored data", Applied Energy 83 (2006) 166-183

# Waking up the dragon – Can energy efficiency induce new and more consuming lighting practices?

# Susana Fonseca

# ISCTE – Instituto Universitário de Lisboa (University Institute of Lisbon)

# Abstract

In the last four decades energy efficiency has become a central element of policy documents and public speeches. Success in promoting energy efficiency has been different across sectors. In households results are often more difficult to obtain and monitor.

A conjunction of factors related to agential powers and structural elements - lifestyles, information, education, social status, income, age, incentives, knowledge, technology, and infrastructure - seem to be shaping the way energy efficiency is being integrated in day-to-day practices.

Building on the theories of practice this communication aims to discuss the influence of factors like rules and knowledge, meanings, material structure and practical understanding in shaping lighting practices among Portuguese families and how energy efficiency has influenced the way people understand lighting as a practice.

Results show that, at the same time as energy efficiency became a central element in policies for the lighting area, diversification of solutions introduced new choice factors that made more complex the once simple act of acquiring a light bulb. Also partially due to the diversification of lighting solutions, changes have occurred on the cultural meanings and functions attached to lighting practices. This new context has resulted in the construction of new practices related to lighting, not necessarily more efficient or sustainable.

Combining data from a survey and interviews to families and to energy experts and technology manufacturers, different perspectives will be discussed aiming at a deeper understanding of the pros and cons of energy efficiency if the objective is to build a more sustainable society.

## Introduction

Ever since de 70's energy efficiency became a central element of public policies for the energy area enacted by the European Union. From a context where member states maintained full control over energy policy, a clear evolution occurred that resulted in a progressively stronger EU role.

But at the same time as this evolution occurred, based on the increased awareness of the centrality of energy and its efficient use for EU to achieve a sustainable development, a quieter change was also occurring. Public policies aimed at influencing households and families to use energy more efficiently were developed and implemented over several decades. Such policies usually implied that if citizens or families were empowered to use energy more efficiently, using information and making technological solutions available, sooner or later results would appear. But such a direct effect, except in some specific contexts, has shown to be elusive. It is true that at present, in the EU, energy is used more efficiently, but results are far less significant than could be expected, if assumptions backing public policies, namely those referring to the main barriers to be overcome, were the only variables to take into account.

The not so interesting results have open the door to disciplines like Sociology to try to contribute to a broader understanding of what, in fact, can induce social change and can influence practices involving energy use. And for that to be possible, we have to go beyond the usual suspects – agents and barriers – and integrate a broader context where public policies and technology development are scrutinized not only in their intrinsic capacity to promote a more efficient use of energy, but also, on

how they can induce more energy consuming practices, for example, by standardizing and legitimizing certain energy consuming practices.

In this article, our aim is to illustrate this complexity using the example of lighting practices. For that we will use practice theory, which by integrating agential and structural factors, allows us to analyze the interplay between these two dimensions and how they contribute to more or less sustainable practices.

For this article we use data gathered for the author's PhD thesis. Due to the field work time frame, CFL was the only lighting technology available in a large scale for households. For this reason, Led Technology was not included.

# The theory of practice and the analysis of lighting practices

Theory of practice emerged as a theoretical orientation that brings together a wide range of approaches that seek to overcome the classic division between agency or structure as the defining element of human conduct. The innovation of these approaches relates to the capacity to:

"(...) explaining and understanding actions by reconstructing the symbolic structures of knowledge which enable and constrain the agents to interpret the world according to certain forms, and to behave in corresponding ways. Social order then does not appear as a product of compliance of mutual normative expectations, but embedded in collective cognitive and symbolic structures, in a 'shared knowledge' which enables a socially shared way of ascribing meaning to the world." (p.245-246[1])

Theories of practice began to emerge in the 70s stimulated by authors like Pierre Bourdieu and Anthony Giddens, although the list of authors is extensive, as well as the interpretations and explanations offered [2] [1]. Despite this context, some of the authors who have recently focused on this topic and that have applied it to the area of consumption and energy identified a set of common concerns that constitute a way to address the social reality, namely, by underlining the significance of symbolic structures of shared and collective knowledge as a key element to explain and understand agency and social order [2] [1]. In short, theory of practice puts practices at the heart of understanding the social, where other theoretical approaches put agency, structure or language (p. 46 [3]) and seeks to give emphasis to the realm of the symbolic and cognitive exploring how these structures give meaning to the world in a contingent way [1].

Theories of practice aim to highlight that human subjectivity resulting from reflexive capacities and intentionality is closely related to how practices are structured and how they "co-constitute individuals and their values, knowledge and abilities" (p.815 [2]), underlining the importance of analyzing the direct relation between agential powers and social structure [4].

Schatzki defines practice as a nexus of actions and meanings that are connected by an understanding of what to say or do, by explicit rules, principles and instructions and teleoaffective structures, where purposes, projects, goals, beliefs and emotions come together [5]. This perspective implies the importance to analyze, not only the practical elements, but also social representations [6]. To Reckwitz a practice is "a routinized type of behavior which consists of several elements, interconnected to one another; forms of bodily activities, forms of mental activities, 'things' and their use, a background knowledge in the form of understanding, know-how, states of emotion and motivational knowledge (p.249 [1]). That is, "a practice is thus a routinized way in which bodies are moved, objects are handled, subjects are treated, things are described and the world is understood" and it is social because it is a way of behavior and understanding that "appears at different locales and at different points of time and is carried out by different body/minds" (p.250 [1]). In this context, agents are carriers of bodily behavior patterns and of certain routinized ways of understanding, knowing and wanting, but these are necessary elements and gualities of the practice in which agents participate and not a quality of the agents. Therefore, practices precede agents, since they are a collective and historic event, that is developed through time by all those who get involved in that practice, and this reproduction is fundamental to keep the practice nexus and to guarantee its existence (p.134 [6]).

As for the identification of the key elements to understand practices there are different approaches. Alan Warde and Elisabeth Shove present their own interpretation resulting from the previous work of Schatzki and Reckwitz. For Warde practices present four key elements: understandings, procedures, engagement and items of consumption [6]. Shove and Pantzar [7] reduce to three elements, namely, competences, meanings and products. Kirsten Gram-Hanssen offers a slightly different perspective by highlighting the importance to distinguish between two types of competences: "know-how or nonverbal knowledge and explicit, rule-based or theoretical knowledge" (p.155 [3]), particularly when analyzing energy consumption. Since we agree with this perspective, lighting practices where analyzed using four key elements: practical understanding/embodied habits, institutionalized technologies/material-structures. knowledge/rules, engagements/meanings and Practical understanding or embodied habits refers to knowing what to do or how to react to a situation. In the present article we include in this element of practices the knowhow of families to choose lighting bulbs, to installed them and embodied habits of use. Institutionalized knowledge or rules can be understood as the set of conditions to decide which are the best lighting solutions or to interpret labels on light bulbs, for example. Lighting practices fulfill certain objectives or ends that can be both objective (for example when light bulbs are use to provide conditions to proceed with a certain task like reading in the evening) or subjective (aesthetic value or comfort), and the meanings people attach to this practices play a role in structuring them. Finally we have technologies or the material structure that provides an important element of the practice. In the lighting area in the last few years important changes occurred not only due to the ban of certain lighting solutions considered to be least efficient. but also due to the increased diversity of lighting solutions offered.

Therefore, by combining these four elements and analyzing them when it comes to lighting practices, we try to highlight the importance to consider each element to understand a practice. By doing that we provide a different theoretical approach where agency and structure interact to structure patterns and practices, shifting the focus on individual choice to a broader approach where public policies and technologies are analyzed also by their "side effects" on "configuring the fabric and the texture of daily life" (p.1281 [8]).

# Public policies regarding lighting

Policy action on energy efficiency has looked at lighting as an area for intervention. Seen by some as a way to force consumers to see beyond the initial price of the more efficient light bulbs and, therefore, aiming at promoting energy efficiency [9] and by others as a way to force transition and overcoming a technological "lock-in" thru direct regulatory action [10], the decision to ban inefficient light bulbs is one of the few times where public policies interfered with families context of choice in a very direct way. For sure many initiatives taken at the EU level influence solutions that are available to families, but usually that happens upstream and the final consumer doesn't realize that, for example, the washing machine he is about to buy has to have an energy efficiency above a certain level or otherwise cannot be place on the market. But it is still a washing machine that requires no especial adaptation of routines. The ban of some light bulbs has introduced a certain degree of complexity that did not exist before. Besides the end of life problem posed by compact fluorescent light bulbs – CFLs - (presented as the main alternative to the inefficient light bulbs that were banned), choosing a light bulb became increasingly difficult because new variables were introduced. Are we buying a lamp with 'cold' or 'warm' light, are they suitable for the fixtures and lighting appliances at home, are they compatible with dimmers, are they reliable and how long will they take to achieve full brightness?

During this transition period, several factors influence the acquisition and use of efficient lighting solutions, especially CFLs. The main barriers seem to be: waiting until there is a need to replace an existing light bulb and the light bulbs technical features – color, response time, suitability regarding fixtures and lighting appliances and cost [11] [12] [13] [14].

The social practice of household lighting can be understood as involving three dimensions: "the acquisition, installation and the use of lighting technologies" (p.224 [15]). In each of these dimensions there is space for large discrepancies in energy use depending on the type and number of lamps, how they are used and for what periods of time. Some of the differences that can be observed may be explained by cultural differences, as has been shown by Hal Wilhite in his comparison between the Norwegian and the Japanese lighting culture [16]. But within the same culture differences can be significant and despite the penetration of more efficient lighting solutions, some studies highlight that energy consumption for lighting continues to increase, at least in some cultural contexts [15]. When we analyze the EU as a all, data points in a different direction, showing some improvement in energy consumption mainly due to the introduction of more efficient solutions (p.73 [17]) and the same trend can be found in countries where *per capita* energy consumption has been stable for many years [18].

Nevertheless, some of the trends highlighted in the Crosbie and Guy study can be found among the families interviewed for the present study, especially when asked to compare their present situation with the past. The increasing number of lamps that are used is a common trend and seems to result, not only of the tendency to live in larger houses, but also of the passage from the single ceiling lighting to a more diverse set of lighting solutions that, in some cases, go beyond functional use to respond to an aesthetic or comfort objective (although among the interviewed families the use of new lighting functions tends to be very carefully framed and justified, as we will see later on).

But at the same time as strong public policies are being implemented with the aim of increasing lighting energy efficiency, the image that is being conveyed by the media and particularly by some design and decoration experts or even by manufacturers doesn't always associates glamour, comfort and fashion to the most energy efficient lighting solutions. That is why some authors highlight the importance of working with different experts and at different scales in order to build an appealing image around solutions that represent sustainable forms of lighting [17] [18]. In short, this is a recognition of the need to act to prevent the institutionalization of practices that can induce increases in energy consumption.

# Methodology

This article explores a specific set of data from a broader project – Ecofamilies1 - using only the information related to social practices and the effects resulting from public policies on energy efficiency applied in the lighting area. The data was gathered using two different methods – a survey and interviews – addressing three different groups: families, energy experts and representatives from manufacturers of lighting solutions.

The survey was applied to 142 families involved in the project. Although an effort was made to build a sample that would express the distribution of some relevant social variables in the Portuguese population, in variables like age, education, profession and number of people in the household, the results are significantly different from the ones that can be found among the general population, according to the last Census initiative that was conducted in 2011. Since most families involved did so on a voluntary base, it became more difficult to guarantee the overlap of some social variables. In this sample the most common families are those with children (70%) and single person households are clearly under-represented (in Portugal 21% of households have only one person, whereas in our study not more than 6% of households are in that situation). Regarding age, the youngest and the oldest are under-represented while those between 30 to 44 and 45 to 65 years are on the opposite situation. As for education, those at the first level are under-represented and those with a university degree are clearly over-represented. According to Censos 2011, Portugal has 15% of its population with a university degree whereas in our sample that number is almost half (46,8%).

Taking this context under consideration, when selecting the families to be interviewed there was an effort to guarantee a higher proximity with the national population, something that was not attained only for the education variable. Fourteen interviews were conducted among families and seventeen among experts and manufacturers, although some of the testimonies are not included in this article since they had other areas of expertise in the energy sector (other than lighting).

# Lighting practices and energy efficiency

To carry out an analysis of energy consumption in the domestic sector in Portugal it is important to begin by considering its weight in the final energy consumption. According to 2011 data households<sup>2</sup> ranked third among the sectors that assume greater weight in final energy consumption, accounting for 17% of national energy consumption (the first is transport – 37,4% - and the second is industry – 30,1%). Portugal has one of the lowest final energy consumption in the EU27 and the same goes for

<sup>1</sup> Ecofamílias (eco-families) had as main goals: to analyze the energy consumption of 225 families spread throughout the country, taking climatic zones under consideration, and proposing alternatives to increase each family's energy efficiency. This project was developed by Quercus – Associação Nacional de Conservação da Natureza, an environmental NGO, promoted by EDP Distribuição, and had the financial support of the Portuguese "Plan for efficient consumption" (PPEC), administered by the Portuguese regulatory commission on energy (ERSE)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The values for the household sector do not include the fuel consumption associated with households vehicles (p.13 [21]).

the domestic sector. According to 2010 data, the Portuguese domestic sector uses around half the energy used in EU27 (0,28 toe/per capita vs 0,61 toe/per capita) and below the values used in Spain (0,36 toe/per capita), Greece (0,41 toe/per capita) or Italy (0,52 toe/per capita) (p.32 [20]). This difference in energy consumption across countries is normally associated with a combination of factors such as the different consumption patterns, climate, energy efficiency of buildings, types of heating systems and energy prices [20].

The lighting sector has been one of the most stimulated in order to build more energy efficient domestic lifestyles, given the fact that the implementation of measures, behavioral or technological, is considered to be relatively simple and easy to achieve due to rapid amortization of the initial investment (when needed) and the financial gain for the aggregate that results from reducing energy consumption.

The weight of lighting in the domestic sector in Europe is about 10% (p.73 [17]), whereas in Portugal, recent data indicate a value that is about half the one recorded at the European level. In fact, of the total amount of energy consumed in households, lighting refers only to 5% (p.40-43 [21]).

The difference in the proportion of energy used for lighting in Portugal and on average in EU countries can be explained by different lighting needs that result from the availability of daylight hours throughout the year, but also of cultural practices that value the use of artificial light as a building element of comfort [4] [14] [16], a trend that is far more common in northern countries [12].

Although it represents only a small fraction of the total energy consumption in households, national data point to the need to continue to encourage the use of efficient lighting, since there is yet a predominance of the incandescent light bulbs. In fact, approximately 81% of households possess light bulbs of this kind, whereas only 68% have efficient lamps (although tubular fluorescent lamps - those commonly used in kitchens – are used in 80% of Portuguese households). Considering mean values, it is important to note that the number of incandescent light bulbs in use (nine per household) is very close to the number of efficient lamps in use (eight per household).

Another aspect to consider relates to the fact that efficient light bulbs tend to have a higher wattage than inefficient light bulbs. That is, among incandescent light bulbs 40W is the most common wattage, but among efficient light bulbs the most common wattages range from 11 and 14W (the equivalent of 60W or 75W) (p.92 [21]). This situation may result from a rebound effect associated with people choosing a slightly higher wattage when buying efficient light bulbs, since they will still be saving energy and money even though they are acquiring a slightly higher wattage than needed to replace the existent light bulbs by efficient ones is likely to be directed, primarily, to contexts where lighting use is more frequent and requires higher lighting output, a trend that is corroborated by some studies [22]. On the other hand, due to the need to look for advice in order to identify the best lighting solution for each situation, we may be witnessing an adjustment in the lighting potencies used, assuming that, in some cases, the potency used before was not adjusted to the actual needs.

Among the families involved in the present study we found a very clear perception of the weight lighting has on the energy used in the household, since only 7% of the families refer to it as one of the three most important areas for energy consumption. This perception may be one of the reasons why only 10% of the surveyed families have efficient light bulbs in 75% to 100% of the situations at home. The most common situation is to use efficient light bulbs in between 1 to 49% of the situations (figure 1).

Figure 1. Percentage of efficient lighting in the house



Source: Ecofamilies survey (N - 142)

Regarding the use of efficient lighting solutions and the reasons for their greater or lesser acceptance and use at the household level, there are two aspects to highlight. One is that most of the interviewed families already use efficient lighting at home, although, there are several cases where lack of practical understanding and technical knowledge has hindered a broader use. In any case, public campaigns where CFL were offered had almost no influence among these families. The other is that when asked to identify the main reasons why CFLs are not used more widely at home, the reasons identified by other studies on this matter come up [12] [13]. The main reason identified is the trend to change a light bulb only when it becomes necessary (when the lamp previously used has reached the end of its life). The difficult articulation between efficient light bulbs and existing fixtures and lighting appliances at home, the always present theme of the color of the light, the aesthetical aspect and the response time (how long it takes to achieve full brightness) are also highlighted by families. Costs are seen as having potential impacts in two ways. The more direct impact refers to the need to compare prices when buying a light bulb and the possible tendency to select lighting solutions (for example, improved incandescent bulbs) that are cheaper and, usually, less efficient. The indirect impact may result from the buying of cheaper CFLs whose performance may be disappointing in some of the technical aspects (color of the light - color temperature; lifetime; warm-up times; number of switches) what may prevent future acquisitions. In this context, the fact that some of the interviewees point to the information dimension as one of the most relevant to frame their relationship with lighting technologies is not a surprise. Having difficulties in selecting the best technological solutions for their specific situation is seen as a relevant constraint regarding their agential powers, even when the cost is not a barrier:

"I bought only one because I didn't know if it fitted, because I don't know the lamp sockets. Of the incandescent light bulbs I know. But I wanted to try and bought one and I would like to replace other light bulbs. But then I was disappointed because it didn't fit in the living room lighting appliance I have. (...) I wanted to replace them all and that is way I bought one, but then I didn't buy any other because I don't know if they fit." Family 4

Despite recognizing the gaps of lighting technologies like CFLs and the difficulties in selecting the best lighting solutions, there seems to be an ability to look beyond them and to consider a wider spectrum of benefits, that include considerations regarding the contribution to society as a all, something that has been highlighted by studies conducted in other contexts [12].

The existence of a broad recognition of the limitations of some of the most efficient lighting solutions stimulated in recent years, allows us to move forward to a central question in this article: the complexity introduced by these new solutions in the decision context of households regarding lighting.

# **Diversity and complexity**

As we have seen, families recognize having difficulties in identifying the best lighting solutions for their needs and even simple features as lamp sockets can be a barrier to acquiring more efficient light bulbs. That can be easily understood if we take under consideration the fact that most families have

no technical knowledge about lighting, only practical knowledge that results for everyday practices throughout their lives. Since they now have to integrate different technical features in their choices and uses, some degree of difficulty is easily understandable.

Considering families testimonies and the experts' perspective on complexity and diversity resulting from the changes occurred in recent years in the lighting area, it is possible to identify common trends.

For some of the experts complexity associated with choosing and using light bulbs is understood as a natural reflection of the increasing complexity of modern society and a direct result of the constant technological evolution. For them, information campaigns and the free delivery of CFLs addressed any difficulties that might exist.

But for others, important gaps remain at the time of purchase, installation and use of different lighting solutions with clear disadvantages for families but also for energy policy goals defined at European and at the national level.

The suitability of the most supported technology by public policies (CFLs) to stimulate efficient lighting in different household contexts is challenged by some of the experts interviewed. They claim that in many circumstances CFLs are not the best technical solution and may induce unnecessary energy consumption while eluding families about the energy efficiency of their practices. At the same time, information provided to families on emerging lighting technologies (like LEDs), experts highlight, are not always accurate, since different performing light bulbs coexist and are marketed as equivalent to families that lack the expertise to identify the most relevant features to take into account to distinguish them. This context increases the risk of a bad experience and the possible backlash in the future preventing a wider and faster spread of promising technologies.

But for those experts that recognize complexity and diversity as a potential barrier to families faster and wiser adoption of the best lighting technologies, it's the moment of choice/buying that it is seen as the most relevant. Therefore, empowering families to select the best lighting technologies for the functions they want to see carried out is seen as the most relevant measure that can be taken. Among experts there is a relative consensus on the challenges faced by families in the area of lighting, not only through the generalization of different lighting solutions (CFLs; LEDs; improved incandescent and halogen light bulbs), but also due to the wider number of parameters that have to be taken into account while selecting the most suitable light bulb for each situation.

"We have many variables that influence lighting, lumens, the return of light, the colder or warmer light, etc... This was not addressed and we considered only the lower consumption. The only technical feature that was addressed by producers was the wattage correspondence in comparison with the incandescent light bulbs. But there are complicated things because some type of lights cannot be replaced by CFL or tubular fluorescent lamps. In the meantime, the improved halogen lamps appeared. And now LEDs are a different kind of light. Until people get used to it..."

Even at the EU level, the website prepared to "inform consumers, professionals and the media about the wide range of energy efficient lamps currently available, the phase-out of inefficient lamp types and what European legislation is already in place"<sup>3</sup>, clearly reflects the increased complexity in comparison to the previous selection criteria that needed to be taken into account when acquiring a new light bulb. In the past, choosing a light bulb implied knowing the desired wattage, the socket and the shape of the light bulb. Nowadays, an informed choice will require paying attention to: light output (lumens), energy efficiency, lifetime, color of the light, number of switches before failure, warm-up time, dimming, operating temperature, lamp dimension and how to dispose of lamps at the end of the lifecycle. Even if some of the technical features do not relate to all the lighting technologies available, knowing what they mean is important if the right choice is to be made according to the different lighting needs in a household.

Therefore, independent advising and information are seen as fundamental strategies to empower families. In a context where families tend to buy light bulbs in supermarkets, and not so much in neighborhood stores where some form of counseling is usually available. Providing standard

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> <u>http://ec.europa.eu/energy/lumen</u>

information about the different technical features of the different types of light bulbs and even allowing some experimentation by consumers is being recognized as an important step, but mostly regarding LED lamps. Regarding CFLs, the main strategy was to facilitate access to the technologies and not so much empowering families to make informed choices in the future.

# **Lighting functions**

Different studies highlight that changes in the way lighting functions are perceived and defined have a significant influence on consumption associated with this area [15] [16]. A transition from central lighting to o more widespread use of fixtures and lighting appliances (for example, going from a central lamp in the ceiling to lighting a space using decentralized lamps) may lead to an increase in the number of light bulbs per room and the use of lighting beyond functional needs (to include aesthetical, comfort and safety functions) may induce increased energy consumption.

Among the interviewed families there is a clear recognition that the number of lamps and chandeliers that they have today is significantly higher than during their childhood, even if this increase is often framed in a context of efficient lighting integration.

As for the functions associated with lighting it is clear that interviewees feel compelled to contextualize and frame their use of lighting as being the strictly necessary. Even in cases where, in addition to the functional component, lighting is used to provide a safer environment (in cases of detached houses), there is a special care to avoid using energy beyond what interviewees consider necessary.

"We don't use lighting to set the mood or to provide an environment, but to show that we're at home. That is, when we go out, there are certain light bulbs which are lit just to show that we are home. When we travel, we leave the clocks that turn lights on and off. But I only use lighting for this." *Family 1* 

"Maybe it is wrong, but one thing I do now and didn't do before is leaving the outside lights turned on all night. Although we have a dog, the fact is that we have several empty houses around us and there are robberies. So I turn some lights off earlier and others later...but outside I leave them turned on. Not all simultaneously, but either the ones from the top or from the ground floor. One of these sets is turned on." *Family 10* 

When it comes to the use of lighting to increase comfort or for aesthetical reasons families tend to assume a very defensive approach and seem to show a sense that such uses are not socially acceptable or can only be triggered in very specific contexts, like when receiving friends or family, contrarily to what happens in other cultural contexts [15] [16]. In most cases where other lighting functions, besides functional and safety, are valued we are dealing with situations that involve moments of social interaction, including receiving guests at home, where the way to light the house or the rooms is seen as an important element the "welcoming".

"If I get some friends for dinner is obvious that I turn on the lights for the house to become more beautiful. But when they come in I turn some external lights off. There is also the issue of aesthetics. There are lamps that I turn on when I have a dinner, to give a more welcoming environment. In ordinary days it is just what I need. I just create an environment when someone comes" *Family 10* 

For experts, the broadening of lighting functions is not regarded as a worrying situation, since they believe it is possible to create a comfortable and visually attractive environment in a house using lighting but without a significant increase in energy consumption. Nevertheless, as we have seen before, in some cultural contexts such a change as lead to an increase in energy consumption even if the discussion around efficient lighting was already settled in the public domain.

# Discussion

Considering theory of practice and applying it to this study it is possible to identify the role each component plays in defining families' practices regarding lighting. We start by highlighting the role of **technology or the material structure**. The adjustment recorded since the appearance of efficient lamps, with a clear evolution in the diversity of technologies available on the market, particularly from the moment when less efficient light bulbs were progressively withdrawn from the market, was an important step to consolidate practices of energy efficiency in the lighting sector, but also influenced and encouraged the development of different lighting functions. Difficulties in combining some of the
efficient solutions with pre-existent fixtures and lighting appliances and gaps in some of the technical features of technologies like CFLs seem to have played a role as barriers to a wider use of more efficient lighting solutions. Even if in the studied group we have detected a tendency to overcame such difficulties and an ability to look beyond the problems associate with some of the technological solutions, it is reasonable to assume that among the general Portuguese population (that on average is less educated and less mobilized by environmental values than this group) such a trend won't be as expressive.

In fact, even among the interviewed families, a set of technical features created doubts and worked as obstacles to a wider adoption of CFLs. The lack of **technical and practical knowledge** to identify the best lighting solutions for each case, continue to hamper the process of acquisition and adoption of more efficient lighting solutions, by contributing to a sense of insecurity in terms of investment. Fears about its functionality regarding the existing material infrastructure at home, lack of knowledge of some of the parameters that must be taken into account while selecting light bulbs and even the comfort provided by this type of lighting emerge as important elements. In terms of **meaning / involvement** to the interviewees, comfort provided by lighting, either by their color or by lamps disposition around the house, emerges as an increasingly important factor in structuring practices. It is interesting to note that in terms of lighting functions, comfort and aesthetical components emerge related to restricted contexts, not being admitted as a regular element in lighting practices. Moreover, despite the role lighting plays in constructing a sense of comfort and of well receiving (most of the references to the use of this lighting functionality are framed in the context of receiving guests at home), their adoption tends to be very contextualized in order to avoid falling into the category of wastage.

As for the energy experts, some point to the inadequacy of some of the solutions advocated by public policies in the area of efficient lighting, at least when adopted widely. In this context, the legislative and regulatory framework related to efficient lighting may contribute to their partial failure, mainly due to the stimulus to the generalization of a technology (CFLs) that presents limitations in some situations, particularly in the households' context (CFLs perform better in prolonged use, a situation that is not very common in many household situations). At the same time, the withdrawal of incandescent bulbs emerged as an incentive for the market to come up with new solutions, stimulating a diversification of technical solutions. Such a diversification presents two main consequences. On the one hand, the complexification of choice which could lead to inappropriate and possibly less efficient uses, due to lack of information and training. On the other hand, it opened up possibilities for the development of new lighting functions, broadening the range of parameters that structure the notion of lighting and its link to dimensions that go beyond the functional dimension.

Therefore, this study highlights the different effects that may result from public policies to promote energy efficiency, and that frequently tend to be ignored or disregarded by politicians and energy experts. By disregarding the collateral effects that may result from public policies, we lose the opportunity to understand how they can transform and redefine cultural contexts, concepts, perceptions and social practices and can result in new forms of energy consumption that might counteract the initial objectives of promoting energy efficiency.

Although in the case of lighting some of the interviewed experts consider that the development of new lighting functions does not necessarily imply an increase in energy consumption, because we may be facing contexts of optimal adaptation between technology and functions, when analyzing studies done on this issue we can see that an increase may occur, even if only to occupy the space created by the adoption of more efficient technologies.

## Conclusion

In this article we tried to demonstrate the relevance of looking into specific practices in order to better understand energy use. At the same time as we explained how the different components highlighted by theory of practice - technology or material structure; meanings/involvement; practical knowledge; technical knowledge - as the central elements of practices have evolved as a reflection of public policies that aim at improving families energy use, we tried to underline some aspects that point to collateral effects that such policies may have. In Portugal, certainly due to the geographical location of the country (warm climate and many hours of daylight) and to the prevailing culture who doesn't value, in the same way as we see in the northern European countries, the use of lighting for aesthetical functions and to build comfort, most lighting uses tend to be restricted to functional aspects. Nevertheless, the changes occurred in countries like the UK and the effects, even if not very evident, some public policies seem to be already having (the difficulties felt by families to identify the best technical solutions, something that can result in wrong choices; or the diversification of alternatives with the inherent diversification of uses) should be read as evidences that if the objective is to reduce energy consumption, than, a different approach must be followed.

Particularly in countries, like Portugal, where lighting practices seem to be framed in a dominant functional approach, a particular attention should be given to the effects of public policies and of the interventions of some stakeholders or professionals that play a relevant role in shaping trends regarding household lighting.

As in almost every situation, prevention is the best option. Therefore, acting in a way to prevent more energy consuming lighting practices to be established appears to be the most reasonable approach to be followed if the objective is to build a more sustainable society.

### References

- [1] Reckwitz, Andreas (2002): Toward a Theory of Social Practices A Development in Culturalist Theorizing in European Journal of Social Theory 5(2): 243–263
- [2] Spaargaren, Gert (2011): Theories of practices: agency, technology and culture Exploring the relevance of practice theories for the governance of sustainable consumption practices in the new world-order in Global Environmental Change, 21, pp. 813-822.
- [3] Gram-Hanssen, Kirsten (2009): Introducing and Developing Practice Theory: Towards a Better Understanding of Household Energy Consumption in Proceedings of the Sustaining Everyday Life Conference: April 22–24 2009, Campus Norrköping, Sweden http://www.ep.liu.sehttp://www.ep.liu.se/ecp\_article/index.en.aspx?issue=038;article=006 (accessed 4/19/2012)
- [4] Spaargaren, Gert (2004): Sustainable consumption: a theoretical and environmental policy perspective, in Dale Southerton, Heather Chappels e Bas Van Vliet (eds), Sustainable Consumption – The implications of changing infrastructures of provision, Reino Unido, Edward Elgar, pp.15-31.
- [5] Schatzki, T. R. (1996): Social practices A Wittgensteinian approach to human activity and the social, Cambridge, University Press.
- [6] Warde, Alan (2005): Consumption and theories of practice in Journal of Consumer Culture, 5(2), 131-153.
- [7] Shove, E e M. Pantzar (2005): Consumers, producers and practices: Understanding the invention end reinvention of Nordic walking in Journal of Consumer Culture, 5 (1), 43-64.
- [8] Shove, Elizabeth (2010) Beyond the ABC: climate change policy and theories of social change, **Environment and Planning**, A, 42 (6). pp. 1273-1285.
- [9] Bladh, Mats (2011): Energy efficient lighting meets real home life in Energy Efficiency (2011) 4:235–245.
- [10] Chappin, Emile J. L., Maarten R. Afman (2012): An agent-based model of transitions in consumer lighting: policy impacts from the EU phase-out of incandescent in Environmental Innovations and Societal Transitions, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2012.11.005 (in press).

- [11] Mills, Bradford F. e Joachim Schleich (2010): Why don't households see the light? Explaining the diffusion of compact fluorescent lamps in Resource and Energy Economics, 32, pp. 363-378.
- [12] Wall, Rob e Tracey Crosbie (2009): Potential for reducing electricity demand for lighting in households: an exploratory socio-technical study in Energy Policy, 37, pp. 1021-1031
- [13] Rasmussen, Tami, Rob Rubin e Anu Teja (2007): Are we done yet? An assessment of the remaining barriers to increasing compact fluorescent lamp installations and recommended program strategies for reducing them, in ECEEE 2007 SUMMER STUDY – Painel 9 – Dinamics of Consumption, pp.1951-1958.
- [14] Krantz, Helena, Anette Persson, Peter Bennich e Mats Bladh (2007): Swedish homes towards a delight future? in ECEEE 2007 Summer Study – Saving energy – Just do it, ECEEE, pp.1175-1179.
- [15] Crosbie, Tracey e Simon Guy (2008): En'lightening' energy use: the co-evolution of household lighting practices in International Journal of Environmental Technology and Management, Vol. 9, Nos. 2/3, p. 220-235.
- [16] Wilhite, H., H. Nakagami, T. Masuda, Y. Yamaga, e H. Haneda (1996): A cross-cultural analysis of household energy use behaviour in Japan and Norway, Energy Policy, Vol. 24, pp.795–803.
- [17] Bertoldi, Paolo, Bettina Hirl e Nicola Labanca (2012): Energy Efficiency Status Report 2012 electricity consumption and efficiency trends in the EU-27, Joint Research Center, Report EUR 25405 EN, Itália, http://iet.jrc.ec.europa.eu/energyefficiency/sites/energyefficiency/files/energyefficiency-status-report-2012.pdf.
- [18] Bladh, Mats e Helena Krantz (2008): Towards a bright future? Household use of electric light: a microlevel study in Energy Policy, 36, pp. 3521-3530.
- [19] Instituto Nacional de Estatística I.P. (2012): Censos 2011 Resultados definitivos Portugal, INE, Lisboa.
- [20] European Environmental Agency (2012): The European Environment State and Outlook 2010, EEA, Copenhaga.
- [21] Instituto Nacional de Estatística e Direcção-Geral de Energia e Geologia (2011): Inquérito ao Consumo de energia no Sector Doméstico 2010, INE e DGEG, Lisboa.
- [22] Schmidt, Luísa, Pedro Prista e Augusta Correia (2011a: Estudo qualitativo sobre valores, representações e práticas de consumo e eficiência energética, Observa - Estudo 25, Lisboa, Observa/ICS-UL.
- [23] Gram-Hanssen, Kirsten, Casper Kofod e Kirstine Noervig Petersen (2004): Different Everyday Lives: Different Patterns of Electricity Use in Proceedings from 2004 ACEEE Summer Study, ACEEE, USA, pp. 7.74-7.85.

# Household Energy Saved by Changing Behaviour — a Case Study from Four Islands

Antje Klaesener<sup>1</sup>, Jan Jantzen<sup>2</sup>, Sigurður Ingi Friðleifsson<sup>3</sup>, Alexis Chatzimpiros<sup>4</sup>, Kostas Komninos<sup>4</sup>, Elsa López Suarez<sup>5</sup>, Sandrine Carlier-Wiart<sup>6</sup>

<sup>1</sup>INNOVA S.p.A, Rome, Italy
 <sup>2</sup>Samso Energy Agency, Samso, Denmark
 <sup>3</sup>ORKUSETUR / Energy Agency Iceland, Akureyri, Iceland
 <sup>4</sup>Ios-Aegean Energy Agency, Ios, Greece
 <sup>5</sup>Tenerife Energy Agency / AIET, Tenerife, Spain
 <sup>6</sup>Forventi Media, Brussels, Belgium

### Abstract

Some energy can be saved just by changing behaviour, and this article focuses on advices that can reduce a household's end-use energy. We perform an awareness campaign on four islands (Iceland, Rhodes, Samso, and Tenerife), and the major tools are the following: home energy checks, webenabled calculators, direct interaction and teaching, as well as collaboration with other islands. We have developed relative saving factors associated with a set of 18 saving advices. Calculations of cumulative cash flows supplement these in order to raise discussions with the households around energy efficiency and also renewable energy. We have found savings in the range 5-20% per household. At least 1/5 of these savings is related to behaviour, that is, they can be implemented at a low cost for the household.

#### Introduction

There are three general motivations for a household to save energy: (1) Saving energy saves expenditures and taxes, (2) the household saves energy for the next generation, and (3) the household acts locally in the global endeavour to save energy. The European Union aims to increase energy efficiency by 20% by the year 2020, and furthermore, the EU wishes to have a secure supply, to be competitive, and to be sustainable. Home energy savings are thus congruent with the EU policies and regulations for energy efficiency [1][2][3][4][5], and that is an opportunity for energy agencies. There are at least 475 energy agencies in Europe funded by public authorities, and most of them are co-financed by the EU<sup>1</sup>. Four such energy agencies performed the background work for this article based on four islands: Rhodes (Greece), Tenerife (Spain), Samso (Denmark) and Iceland. Each island participates in an awareness campaign that lasts until late 2013.

Generally speaking, the energy flow in a building starts with the fuel input, which is converted by a heating or cooling unit into end-use energy (Figure 1). The figure indicates three major saving advices:

- 1. Reduce the end-use consumption.
- 2. Improve the efficiency of fossil fuel conversion.
- 3. Increase the share of renewable energy in the fuel.

Advice (1) is related to behaviour, and reducing the consumption is usually costless or inexpensive. Advice (2) is related to the building envelope, the efficiency of the energy conversion units, and the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> www.managenergy.net/energyagencies.html

reduction of losses. Advice (3) is related to free energy; it requires an investment to access a source of renewable energy, but the investment can be economically viable.

By a behaviour related saving we understand a reduction in end-use energy consumption (advice 1), which is costless or inexpensive. We focus on behaviour in this work, but we do also include the replacement of equipment and changes to the building envelope, although such changes can be expensive. We include those, because they often appear in our discussions with the households; furthermore, the potential savings are large.



Figure 1. The energy flow determines three major saving advices.

## Approach

Our four islands are located in different European geographic areas. Thus we represent four examples of diverse climatic conditions, which allow further islands, and any other geographic area, to extract the measures most suitable for their own context. Knowledge transfer takes place through workshops and pilot actions. Concrete action lines raise awareness among the island households and support the sustainability of the islands.

In total, we performed four workshops of which two were in Iceland. The first workshop, used as a pilot, took place in Grimsey, which is an Icelandic island on the Arctic Circle, north of the main island. The methodology of conducting the workshop, the way households are approached and involved, and the manner in which home energy checks are performed have been tested there. Three pilot action plans have then been set up for Iceland, Rhodes and Tenerife and the established action lines are currently implemented through the respective energy agencies.

A European awareness raising campaign approaches further islands. A workshop in Brussels (April 2013<sup>2</sup>) is the starting point, and at least four other islands are supported in replicating our activities.

We use mainly four tools to invoke the energy awareness of the households [6]. The tools have been selected by an evaluation panel identified in each island and involving local stakeholders that make energy decisions.

- Home energy checks. We perform home energy checks by means of a portable computer and spreadsheet software<sup>3</sup> (Excel). The household receives the result immediately in terms of foreseen annual savings of kilowatt-hours and saved costs in euro, or the local currency. Other agencies perform home energy checks using a checklist [7], but in our case, we cannot very well use one standard list of energy saving factors (in kilowatt-hours) in different climates. We have instead developed a set of relative saving factors in order to make the results as relevant as possible to each household (described in a technical annex, Appendix A).
- Web-enabled calculators. We have developed simple calculators in several languages<sup>4</sup>. A roof insulation calculator, based on the experience in Grimsey, finds the energy savings when extra roof insulation is added. Simple interactive cash flow diagrams show the economic viability of energy efficiency or renewable energy investments. An electricity price calculator explains and finds the price of electricity (Greece, Iceland). Finally there are four different transport calculators that can help the households make more energy efficient decisions when

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> brusselsconference.ieepromise.eu/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> www.ieepromise.eu

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> www.ieepromise.eu/en/energy-calculators

buying or driving vehicles. The calculators require no particular knowledge to use, and they provide important information about energy savings in transport, which is the most difficult energy sector.

- Direct interaction and training. In Tenerife, households that wish to do so, receive a small training on how to collect the information needed to perform an energy check by themselves. This will mean that apart from the 35 energy checks performed by the energy agency, some more will be performed by *energy ambassadors*, multiplying the results of our activities. In Rhodes, training to children is provided through interactive activities and games that are developed in order to attract children's attention on the topic of energy efficient behaviour. Seminars to teachers enable them to become energy ambassadors.
- Cooperation with other islands. Through a European conference, the awareness campaigns implemented in the four islands are disseminated to the public. Existing communication channels, such as the Network of Sustainable Aegean Islands (DAFNI<sup>5</sup>) in Greece, the European Islands Network on Energy and Environment (ISLENET<sup>6</sup>), and the network of islands that have signed the Pact of Islands (ISLEPACT<sup>7</sup>), are used for accessing as many European islands as possible and invite them to reproduce the results and activities.

We would like to uncover whether a household spends little or much energy. A norm would be ideal to have as a reference, but there is no such consensus in the EU. The energy consumption depends, among other things, on the heated floor space of the dwelling, whether it is an apartment or a house, the number of occupants, the climate, and the behaviour of the occupants.

Nevertheless, we reduce everything to a table lookup for all islands. We designed a standard house in a software package (RETScreen) [8], and the software calculates the energy consumption. The software package provides local climate data from satellites or weather stations. The standard house is 138 m<sup>2</sup> of living space — the size was chosen to be medium-sized.

The visited households, however, range from 60 m<sup>2</sup> to 300 m<sup>2</sup>. To allow for this variation, we calculate the savings on heating or cooling as relative savings in terms of percentages. For example, given that advice number *i* (*i* in 1, 2, ..., 18) saves  $x_i$  kilowatt-hours on heating, the relative saving factor is defined as follows:

$$f_i = \frac{x_i}{X} \times 100$$

Here X is the household's total heating consumption. We multiply the relative saving factor  $f_i$  by the actual, observed heating demand in the visited house, and that is our estimated savings in kilowatthours. In this manner, we mitigate the risk of giving advices that save more than the household actually consumes. Furthermore, the EU goals are themselves given in percentages. The Appendix provides more technical information about the calculations and also the list of basic saving advices that we use.

#### Assessment of our action

An intermediate and final assessment is being carried out in order to evaluate if the progress of the awareness campaigns is on track compared to the original expectations. The intermediate assessment has been done in April 2013, and the final assessment will be done by November 2013. Indicators that access the advancement of the awareness campaigns are, for example, the number of home energy checks performed in each island (at least 35), to reach energy savings of 450 – 2000 kWh/year per household depending on the island, to reach energy savings of 173,000 kWh/year in all islands together, to reach 1/3 of the island population by media.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> www.dafni.net.gr/en

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> www.islenet.netwww.islenet.net

<sup>7</sup> www.islepact.eu

## **Results and discussion**

We have found that a cash flow diagram provides a good starting point for discussions at public meetings and home energy checks. Figure 2 shows a cumulative cash flow diagram related to an investment in a solar hot water heater (Calpak, Selective 200GS, 2.84 kW, 4.4 m<sup>2</sup>) in Rhodes for a household of three occupants. The diagram immediately provides four pieces of information: (1) the initial investment, in euro, at the end of year zero; (2) the payback period, which is the duration until the balance of the investment account becomes positive; (3) the lifetime of the investment, which is the length of the horizontal axis; and (4) the final profit gained, which is the height of the last bar. The diagram is based on Greek prices and the local climate in Rhodes, or more precisely, the Diagoras airport near Paradisi.

Further background calculations show that the solar fraction is about 75%, which means that a backup, perhaps electric, must step in 25% of the time (RETScreen). We thus view the solar hot water heater as an energy conversion unit that provides 4 times the energy that it consumes, or in technical terms, it has a coefficient of performance COP = 4.

Solar hot water is widely used in Greece, there are several Greek suppliers, and several households are willing to discuss advantages and disadvantages of such an investment. Although the cash flow diagram indicates that it is an economically viable investment, the current financial crisis in Greece prevents many households from making long term investments.

The figure is a screen copy of a web-enabled cash flow calculator that we developed for the households<sup>8</sup>. The household enters basic information, such as the investment cost and the annual savings, upon which the calculator draws a simple cumulative cash flow diagram (disregarding inflation, interest and other, more advanced, financial influences).

Using cash flow diagrams, we have found that replacing an incandescent light bulb with a compact fluorescent lamp (CFL) is paid back in 1-2 years depending on the local electricity prices. The marginal price of electricity varies from 0.08 EUR/kWh (Iceland) to 0.24 EUR/kWh (Samso). The variation reflects the national policies to subsidise islanders. In any case, it is a good investment to buy class A light bulbs, provided that they last as many hours as promised on the package. Changing from incandescent to CFL is no longer regarded as a saving in Denmark, because consumers will change anyway, now that the incandescent lamps have been disqualified by the EU. However, it pays to invest in diode lamps (LED) compared to CFL. The payback period of the incremental investment from CFL to LED is much longer, which we can demonstrate to the households.

Based on 129 home energy checks we have found average energy savings ranging from 1000 kWh (Tenerife) to 8200 kWh (Grimsey) per household [6]. As a rough indicator for Samso, we find savings of 1000 kWh per household related to behaviour, but if we include changes to the building envelope and the heating unit, then we find 4000 kWh per household. The numbers correspond to 5 - 20% savings of the total fuel energy. In Rhodes, the numbers are as follows: 430 kWh of annual savings per household are related to behaviour, and if measures requiring an investment are added, we find at least 2000 kWh annual savings per household. In these two cases, the savings related to behaviour are thus 20 - 25% of the possible savings.

It is difficult to measure the actual savings, since we will not know exactly what the household decides to do, or whether they were going to do it anyway. There are cases, however, where we do know the actual savings. For example, the island of Grimsey decided to follow our advice after our visit, and 24 houses were insulated. Granules of mineral insulation were sprayed into the loft from a truck that was ferried to the island from the main island. Furthermore, 19 houses got new, improved windows. This resulted in 210 000 kWh saved per year. On Samso, a collaboration with a district heating company in 2012 resulted in 13 homes making improvements that they reported on a paper-form signed by the house owner.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> www.ieepromise.eu/en/energy-calculators



Figure 2. Investment in solar hot water in Rhodes. The diagram shows in one picture: (1) the initial investment, (2) the payback period, (3) the lifetime, and (4) the final profit.

## Conclusions

We reckon that at least 1/5 of the possible savings can be achieved by changing behaviour. From a performance viewpoint, building regulations and renewable energy technologies are thus more efficient means to reach the EU goals for the year 2020. However, our work is an awareness campaign, and its objective is to provoke a change in households' energy behaviour. We directly engage in a dialogue with the households, and in this respect the approach is more successful than, say, imposing regulations or penalties by law.

Households are involved through different activities. Firstly, through the workshops in the islands, where we receive the feedback from the households regarding their energy needs both from a technical and political point of view. This activity helped also tailor the awareness campaigns to local needs. Secondly, the home energy checks allow for an even closer and more direct interaction with each household, and they provide tailored solutions for achieving energy savings. These activities have proved to make the citizens become part of the whole activity, and that increases their

awareness. We believe that higher awareness increases the willingness to invest in energy efficient technology.

We have used a bottom-up approach, starting with the households and trying to change their behaviour. Multiplier effects are generated through the action lines that are implemented in the islands. In addition, policy makers have been involved in the workshop series and approached during the awareness campaigns. This gives us the possibility to 'intervene' in the political sphere and suggest long-term solutions that support the energy sustainability of the islands.

The impact of our started work will not get lost with the official ending of our initiative. With our work we intend to create the framework for reaching sustainability of started action lines and multiplying their effects even further into the future. Examples are the energy ambassador role of households in Tenerife, or the 'train the trainer' concept followed in Rhodes and addressed to school teachers. Also, the web-based energy efficiency calculators could be integrated into the daily work of the high number of energy agencies distributed throughout Europe.

### Acknowledgement

The work is performed within the PROMISE<sup>9</sup> project (IEE/10/312/SI2.589421), which is co-funded by the Intelligent Energy - Europe programme of the European Commission.

### References

- European Commission. Delegated regulation (EU) 1059/2010 on energy labelling of household dishwashers (2010a) OJ L314/1
- [2] European Commission. Delegated regulation (EU) 1061/2010 on energy labelling of household washing machines (2010b) OJ L314/47
- [3] European Commission. Delegated regulation (EU) 874/2012 on energy labelling of electrical lamps and luminaires (2012a) OJ L258/1
- [4] European Commission. Delegated regulation (EU) 392/2012 on energy labelling of household tumble driers (2012b) OJ L123/1
- [5] European Commission. Delegated regulation (EU) 1060/2010 on energy labelling of household refrigeration appliances (2010) OJ L314/17
- [6] Klaesener A., Jantzen J., Fridleifsson S.I., Chatzimpiros A., Komninos K., Lopez Suarez E. and Carlier-Wiart S. *Energy Efficiency in Households – A Case Study from Four European Islands*. Proc. 4<sup>th</sup> Int. Conf. On Renewable Energy Sources and Energy Efficiency, Nicosia, Cyprus, 6-7 June 2013 (Paper no 1340), 278-286 [www.mse.com.cy/energy, accessed 15 Jun 2013]
- [7] Energy Neighbourhoods. *Do it Yourself Home Energy Check*, Energy Neighbourhoods [www.energyneighbourhoods.eu, accessed 30 Jan 2013]
- [8] RETScreen International. *Clean Energy Project Analysis*, 3rd ed., Natural Resources Canada, 2005, RETScreen4 version 2012-11-23 [www.retscreen.net, accessed 30 Jan 2013]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> www.ieepromise.eu/en

#### **Appendix A: Technical Annex**

The physical relationship between the indoor and the outdoor temperature in a house is simple, in the sense that it is a linear relationship.

Figure 3 illustrates a heated house with indoor temperature  $T_i$ , heat loss Q, and an outdoor temperature  $T_o$ , which is assumed lower than the indoor temperature for the case of illustration. However, the following is also valid in the case of cooling.

One model is to view the wall as a resistor: The higher the resistance *R*, the less heat flows out of the house. The heat flow is proportional to the temperature difference, as described by the following fundamental law:

$$Q = \frac{T_i - T_o}{R}$$
(A1)

The corresponding energy is the flow of heat Q accumulated over time. Assuming that we measure temperatures at fixed sampling intervals of time  $t_s$ , the following is an approximation to the energy loss between two temperature samplings:

$$E = Qt_s = \frac{T_i - T_o}{R}t_s \tag{A2}$$

The energy spent for a given period is the sum of all such samples over that period. The indoor temperature is normally rather steady. The outdoor temperature  $T_o$  depends on the climate, but it is assumed to be a fixed value during the sampling period, which should be short, for example one hour.



Figure 3. Heat transfer. Definition of variables.

#### **Energy savings**

Equation (A2) indicates two ways to save energy: (1) to decrease the difference between the indoor and outdoor temperatures by adjusting the indoor temperature and (2) to increase the resistance R by adding more insulation.

In the first case, assume the indoor temperature is adjusted to  $T_i$ . That causes a new heat flow Q', and the new energy loss is the following:

$$E' = Q't_s = \frac{T_i' - T_o}{R}t_s$$

The saved energy is the difference E - E' between the original energy loss and the new energy loss. The relative amount of energy saved is then the following ratio:

$$\frac{E - E'}{E} = \frac{\frac{T_i - T_o}{R}t_s - \frac{T_i' - T_o}{R}t_s}{\frac{T_i - T_o}{R}t_s} = 1 - \frac{T_i' - T_o}{T_i - T_o}$$

By rearranging the equation, we find the energy saved in terms of the original energy consumption:

$$E - E' = \left(1 - \frac{T_i' - T_o}{T_i - T_o}\right) E \tag{A3}$$

The equation shows that the saved energy is the original energy E multiplied by a saving factor

$$f = \left(1 - \frac{T_i' - T_o}{T_i - T_o}\right) \tag{A4}$$

Since the outdoor temperature  $T_o$  depends on the climate, we conclude that the saving factor related to a change of the indoor temperature depends on the climate, through  $T_o$ , and not on the degree of insulation.

*Example*. Assume that the average outdoor temperature during the heating season in Rhodes is  $T_o = 14^{\circ}$  C. According to Equation (A4), the saving factor is the following:

$$f = 1 - \frac{T_{i}' - T_{o}}{T_{i} - T_{o}} = \frac{T_{i} - T_{i}'}{T_{i} - T_{o}}$$

A one degree decrease of the indoor temperature from  $T_i = 22^\circ$  C to  $T'_i = 21^\circ$  C results in the saving factor  $f = (T_i - T'_i)/(T_i - T_o) = 1/(22-14) = 0.125$ . In other words, lowering the indoor temperature 1 degree saves the household 12.5% of their energy consumption for heating. If the home is heated by an oil furnace, 12.5% oil is saved. *End of example*.

In the second case, assume instead that the resistance is adjusted from R to R'. That causes a new heat flow Q', and the new energy loss is consequently

$$E' = Q't_s = \frac{T_i - T_o}{R'}t_s$$

By a procedure analogous to the previous one for temperatures, we derive the energy saved, in terms of the original energy, as,

$$E - E' = \left(1 - \frac{R}{R'}\right)E \tag{A5}$$

The equation has the same form as Equation (A3). In this case, however, the saving factor in parentheses depends only on the insulation, through R, and not on the climate.

*Example*. Assume that the household increases the insulation, such that R' = 2.5R. Then the saving factor f = (1 - R/(2.5R)) = 0.6. In other words, improving the insulation 2.5 times, results in 60% savings on fuel for heating. If the walls are responsible for a fraction, say, p = 50% of the losses of the whole building, then the saving factor corresponding to insulating the walls is  $f(\text{walls}) = f \times p = 0.6 \times 50\%$  = 30%. *End of example*.

In summary, only savings related to changing the target indoor temperature depend on the climate.

Hot water is a similar case, because savings owing to a lower target temperature in the hot water tank depends on the climate (through the temperature of the inlet water), whereas savings owing to additional insulation of the hot water tank do not.

#### Heating value and efficiency

The energy content in a fuel amount *F* depends on its heating value *H*. The energy available for enduse depends on *H* as well as on the efficiency ratio  $\eta$  of the heating unit. In combination, the energy available for end-use is the following:

$$E = H\eta F$$

Since the heating value and the efficiency ratio enter the right-hand side as factors, a relative saving (in percent) of end-use energy corresponds to the same relative saving of fuel. The same energy saving factor can thus be applied to both end-use energy and fuel consumption.

For households, it is natural to speak in terms of fuel consumption, but for comparisons, such as energy performance certificates, it is natural to calculate in terms of end-use energy. For us, it is convenient to calculate savings in terms of relative energy saving factors, because we avoid having to consider heating values and efficiency ratios in the saving advices.

#### Saving advices

Table 1 shows the relative saving factors related to the four islands. Each saving factor is to be multiplied by the fuel consumption observed by the household. Furthermore, the result must be multiplied by the number of saving items found.

For example, if a household agrees to lower the indoor temperature by two degrees, rather than one, the first advice must be multiplied by a factor of two. Similarly, if the household agrees to lower the temperature by 1 degree during the night only, for 8 hours rather than 24 hours, the advice must be multiplied by 8/24.

Table 2 shows the advices related to electricity. These are not percentages, because the electricity consumption of the electric appliances, such as light bulbs, is assumed independent of climate; the numbers are thus absolute savings in kilowatt-hours (kWh).

Advice	Grimsey	Rhodes	Samso	Tenerife
Lower indoor temperature 1 degree C always	5	13	8	13
Same for cooling		17		31
Upgrade to energy windows	12	12	12	12
Same for cooling	_	12		12
Improve the wall insulation 2.5 times	30	30	30	30
Same for cooling	—	30		30
Improve the loft insulation 2.5 times	18	18	18	18
Same for cooling	_	18		18
Seal air leaks around doors and windows	5	13	8	13
Same for cooling	_	17		31
Improve heating unit: lower thermostat, lower pump	1	1	1	1
speed, insulate boiler, service checks, renew burner				
Lower the temperature in the hot water tank one degree	1	2	2	2
Save a litre of water per person every day	2	2	2	2
Install a solar hot water heater [8]	33	73	49	78

Table 1. Relative saving factors [%] related to heating and cooling advices.

Tahlo 2	Absolute savings	[kWh	I related to	alactricity	, savino	advices
i able z.	ADSUIULE Saviliys		j relateu tu	electricity	saving	auvices.

Advice	Grimsey	Rhodes	Samso	Tenerife
Avoid standby mode	40	40	40	40
Raise temperature in refrigerator or freezer 1 degree	22	22	22	22
Lower temperature in a washing device (dishwasher from	152	152	152	152
60 to 30 C, washer from 90 to 60 or from 60 to 30 C) [1]				
[2]				
Upgrade a washing device from class C to A++ [1] [2]	110	110	110	110
Upgrade a tumble dryer from class C to A++ [4]	311	311	311	311
Replace an old light bulb by a CFL [3]	45	45	45	45
Replace an old refrigerating device from class C to A++	414	414	414	414
[5]				
Replace an old circulation pump by a class A pump <sup>10</sup>	280	280	280	280
Install PV panels <sup>11</sup> , per m <sup>2</sup>	103	206	142	242

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> svk.teknologisk.dk
<sup>11</sup> re.jrc.ec.europa.eu/pvgis/

## Residential Energy Consumption Habits: The way European Consumers use energy and their perceptions regarding Energy Efficiency

#### Silviya Yordanova and Mihai Petcu

### **CODA Strategies**

#### Abstract

The new realities of implementing the 20-20-20 objectives have seen the main players of the electricity supply value chain turn more and more to consumers, be it through energy efficiency programs or more recently through dynamic tariffs and demand response initiatives. Research into the consumption habits of households and their views on energy efficiency are scarce, or are usually carried out on a country by country basis. As part of a wide multi-client study on residential energy consumption habits, CODA Strategies has carried out a study of just over 3,000 telephone enquiries, with consumers in France, Germany, Italy, Spain and the UK.

The study pointed out that a majority of the households in the surveyed countries do not own energy efficient heating, cooling and lighting systems. Investing in better control infrastructure, either for improving energy efficiency or for increasing comfort are not a priority in the current economic context.

#### **Consumption practices**

Through our survey we were able to determine the residential heating and lighting equipment parks in 5 large European countries.

#### Heating and cooling equipment in European households

Heating equipment differs in the European countries but conventional electric heating (radiators and convection heating) and gas boilers present a strong penetration in most of these countries.



Graph1: Heating equipment in the households Question: "What is heating system in your household?"

Collective heating is more common in countries with long and cold winters. In Spain and Italy the part of collective heating is 15% and 13% respectively, compared to France and the United Kingdom where the part is 22% to 30% respectively. The share of individual gas boiler use remains strong in all countries with at least 1/3 of households employing this source of heating. In Italy the share is even stronger, 58% of households being heated with gas boilers. Heat pumps are still a small market in most European countries, except for Germany and Italy where 11% and 13% of households respectively use this technology. Heat pumps in Germany are mostly used for heating and hot water only (non-reversible). In 2011, 65 873 systems were installed with 57020 of them used for heating. In Italy the heat pumps are usually reversible; they are thus used for both heating and cooling. 99% of all heat pumps installed in 2011, were reversible.



## Graph2: Households equipped with air-conditioning units Question: "Do you have an air-conditioning system?"

There is obviously a higher penetration of households equipped with air-conditioning systems in the Southern countries. In France and the United Kingdom, 95% of households do not use such systems; In Germany only 41% of households use cooling systems. Spain sees only 48% of households owning a cooling system. Previous CODA Strategies studies show an annual growth of the market over the last 12 years. In 2000, only 16% of Spanish households were equipped with such a system. Italy remains the country with the strongest penetration of air-conditioning in the residential sector; 86% of homes have an air-conditioning unit.

The share of mobile air conditioners is stronger than that of integrated systems. They are preferred mostly due to price consideration and apparent ease of use.

#### **Regulation systems**

Heating system regulation is obviously easier in the case of individual heating systems rather than of collective ones. The share of collective heating in the surveyed countries is not particularly high.

The CODA Strategies survey aimed to identify the most common heating regulation equipment in the residential sectors of the selected European countries, be it simple thermostats, programmable thermostats or more complex thermal regulation systems.

The graph below points out that households equipped with a more complex climate-based regulation system are mostly found in France and Germany. These two countries are considered the biggest markets in the area of thermal regulations and home automation systems in Europe.



Programmable thermostats that can turn on/off the heating at a given time are used by almost 1/3 of households.

Graph3: Thermal regulation systems in European households. Question: "What kind of regulation system do you have?"

The share of systems permitting remote regulation appears as considerably weak in most European countries, the only major exception being Germany, which sees uptake rates averaging 30%.



## Graph4: Use of remote regulation systems throughout Europe. Question: "Do you use regulation remote control heating?"

The above graph shows that remote regulation system use is scarce throughout the household park of the 5 countries covered by our survey. Only 10% of households in the United Kingdom, Italy and France and even less in Spain use such a system. This type of equipment is still perceived as unnecessary luxury and households with moderate incomes tend to avoid such systems.

#### Lighting equipment

Lighting consumption amounts to about 10% of the energy consumption of European households. An important factor in the reduction of electricity consumption is the penetration of LED technology as well as the increasing performance of lighting systems and their use by the occupants.

Through its survey CODA Strategies sought to determine household equipment rates of lighting control and lighting efficiency systems. The results show countries at a different level of development in terms of lighting control use. Spain shows the highest percentage of households with no energy efficiency improvements of their lighting systems - 73% of all households have made no investments

whatsoever. On the other hand, presence detectors for exterior lamps and detectors for places not permanently occupied are wide-spread solutions in UK, Italy and France.

Lighting control systems are still a small market in the 5 European countries surveyed. The most developed of these markets remains Germany with 12% of households possessing a lighting control system.



Graph5: Households having lighting equipment, Question: "Which of the following equipments do you have?"

## The consumer supplier relationship

One of the multiple expected effects of deregulation of the European electricity markets was more choice for the end-customer, in terms of the electricity supply. Retailer competition was expected to fuel this dynamic, lowering prices and providing better adapted tariff options. This implied that consumers would be looking to optimize their subscriptions and modify their consumption according to the different tariffs selected.

#### The use of "time-based" tariffs

The use of electricity time-based tariffs in Europe, which is particularly important in some of the countries covered by CODA Strategies' quantitative enquiry, is usually the consequence of historical programs (at times launched by the local monopoly before deregulation). For example, in France, time-of-use tariffs, with a day-night (high consumption – low consumption) price shift, have been in force since the late 70's.



## Graph6: Type of tariffs used by end-customers, for each country, Question: "What type of electricity tariff do you have?"

As the above graph shows, dynamic tariffs are in use in all of the 5 countries surveyed. Their use is particularly strong in Italy, where only 18% of interviewed consumers, were still using a flat tariff. The country showing the lowest rate of time-based pricing penetration is Spain, where historically the major utilities have not been involved with this type of programs. The United Kingdom also sees little dynamic tariff use, despite its considerable competition and the ease of associated to switching both rate schemes and suppliers in the UK. The country still uses pay-as-you go programs (which are considered flat-tariffs for the study as there seems to be no correlation between this type of pricing and a drive for energy efficiency), yet it sees essentially mostly flat tariff use. Only 16% of the British consumers interviewed for this study use a dynamic tariff, mainly a day/night tariff.

41% of the French consumers interviewed by CODA declare having subscribed to a dynamic tariff. About 28% of these consumers use a day/night ("Heures pleines / heures creuses") tariff, which is associated to an electric water heater (and a relay for controlling this water heater according to the tariff periods). 11% of consumers declare using other types of tariffs (with only 4% using the more complex Tempo tariff).

Germany and Italy both see high penetrations of price based schemes. Germans use mostly "2 period" day-night tariffs, while the Italians use more complex schemes with several price levels. 43% of Italian consumers interviewed for the study adhere to these more complex tariffs.

Consumers who use flat tariffs seem to do so, at least in part, due to a lack of knowledge of their alternatives. As the graph below shows, of the consumers that declared using such tariffs, only the German and to a certain extent, the Italian and British respondents are aware of the existence of dynamic tariffs.



## Graph7: Knowledge of customers using flat tariffs of their alternatives, Question:" Do you know other electricity tariff?"

The fact that close to 70% of German respondents and just over 40% of Italian and British consumers are knowledgeable of dynamic tariffs, yet choose to stay on a flat tariff, would indicate that these consumers consider these tariffs uninteresting from an economical point of view or requiring too much effort for what would be insufficient gains.

#### The levels of satisfaction with current suppliers and the interest in switching

The CODA Strategies survey identifies a generally positive relationship between consumers and their suppliers. For all energies with the exception of electricity and in some countries, for gas, most consumers are not aware of their alternatives (despite aggressive marketing campaigns from alternative suppliers in some of the countries that were surveyed).

In the case of electricity consumers are more knowledgeable of the euxistence of different suppliers, other than their own. In general however, most consumers appear pleased with their existing supplier. As the graph below shows, France and the UK showed significant levels of customer satisfaction, whereas Germany showed significantly less, fewer than 40% of consumers being happy with their current supplier.



Graph8: Satisfaction with current electricity supplier. Question: "Are you satisfied with your current supplier?"

Most Germans declaring themselves unsatisfied with their current supplier cited a lack of tariff options (and a poor adaptation of these tariffs to their consumption needs). The lack of "green energy" (from renewable sources) in the retailer's energy mix was also cited by about 20% of interviewees. The price competitiveness of the current supplier, compared to other suppliers, was not deemed a major issue of dissatisfaction.

While in France, where residential electricity prices are low, consumers not being dissatisfied with their supplier from a price performance point of view is understandable (4% of consumers nonetheless quoted high prices as their main point of dissatisfaction), this is not the case in the UK, in Italy, or in Germany, where prices are considerably higher. Although in Italy almost all unsatisfied respondents claim "electricity prices" as their main argument for dissatisfaction, they only stand for about 20% of all Italian interviewees, the rest being quite satisfied with their current supplier and not looking to switch.

In the UK, most interviewees also declare being satisfied with their consumer, fewer than 5% arguing either that prices are too high (which is arguably enough to motivate a switch), or that other suppliers may provide more assistance and technology (in-house displays, for example).

In Spain, the price of electricity is the main point of dissatisfaction for nearly all of the respondents declaring themselves unsatisfied with their current supplier.

In the case of gas, the only significant figures come from the UK, where close to 13% of consumers are unsatisfied with their current supplier, the single reason cited being high prices. Consumer dissatisfaction rates seem lower in the other countries, with Germany coming in at a distance second with about 7% of consumers being dissatisfied with their gas provider, with 6% considering switching as a result.

Consumer switching for electricity appears generally low. Throughout the 5 countries that were surveyed, only the UK and Germany show some consumer interest in switching electricity supplier – with 18% of British consumers and about 14% of German consumers declaring "having considered switching electricity" suppliers. French and Spanish consumers do not consider changing suppliers (0% and 2% respectively) and only about 6% of Italian consumers consider doing so, with price being the major driver for switching.



Graph9: Consumer switching rates in the different countries. Percentage of consumers having answered "Yes" to the question: "Have you considered switching suppliers during the last year?"

#### Consumer intentions to invest in energy efficiency systems

Energy efficiency systems are not largely developed in the European household park for a number of reasons such as the high price, the difficulties to install, lack of information from professionals etc.

Through the survey, CODA Strategies identified the main reasons for investment in energy efficiency systems and the short term investment plans of the interviewees.

#### Intentions to reduce energy bill

The reduction of the energy bill passes firstly by the household intentions to reduce them and the daily efforts toward this objective.



## Graph10: Households that answered the question "Could you consider to delay your usages according to the price of the energy?"

#### Intentions to invest in heating and lighting systems

Investment in the residential market for energy efficiency solutions have dropped significantly in the last 4 years, especially in Spain and Italy (previous CODA Strategies survey carried out in 2009, saw considerably higher rates on investment in all countries and across all equipment families). In the current market context, households are not willing to invest in new heating, air-conditioning or lighting control systems for energy efficiency.



Graph11: Propensity to invest in more efficient heating systems, throughout the 5 countries. Question: " Are you considering refurbishing your heating system in the following 5 years"

The CODA Strategies survey also focused on determining the investment priorities, in terms of energy efficiency projects, according to the different system classes.



## Graph12: Purchase of one of the following systems in the next years, Question:" Are you considering investing in one of the following systems in the next 5 years"

Only 20% of the households in France, Spain and Italy are planning to invest in rendering their current lighting systems, more energy efficient. The UK shows by far the lowest propensity to invest in lighting system refurbishments. Fewer than 5% of British interviews declared any willingness to improve their current configurations. German interviewees, on the other hand, show a considerably stronger propensity to invest in lighting control upgrades, within the following 5 years. More than 60% of Germans will carry out such a project.

In terms of systems, the French, Spanish and Italians will most likely upgrade their current configurations with the addition of dimmers, this type of project being announced by roughly 20% of interviewees. Full lighting control systems come in at a close second in France and Spain.

In Germany, the preference seems to be for a full system refurbishment and for the integration of a full lighting control system, complete with dimmers, remote controls and presence detectors. The results clearly show that German consumers are expecting to obtain a higher level of energy savings from upgrading their systems, than consumers from the other countries.

#### **Investment barriers**

The CODA Strategies survey also considered the main reasons why households in the selected European countries chose not to invest in more efficient lighting systems.



## Graph13: Reason not to invest in a lighting solution, Question: "What are your barriers in investing in lighting project?"

More than 80% of households in France, UK, Italy and Spain find it useless to invest in lighting systems, as they consider the expected gains in terms of energy efficiency as insufficient, especially when taking into account the costs of the equipment / systems. In Germany only 44% of interviewees see the investment as pointless. In France, UK and Italy a roughly 5% share of the study population expressed interest in investing in a more energy efficient lighting system, whilst also indicating not getting sufficient information on the subject from their traditional home automations provider or from different installers.

Price is also a barrier for investment in these solutions. The period of return on investment is considered as being too long, particularly among customers with small monthly bills. A good deal of consumers also considers control and regulation systems, both for lighting and for heating, as being of insufficient value, arguing that they are not required and that both heating and lighting can be run in an efficient manner, without the use of such systems.



## Graph14: Note from 0 (no interest) to 10 (essential) of the following services that could be proposed

As the above graph shows, in all countries apart from Germany, reducing energy consumption is not one of the central issues concerning households. Unsurprisingly, mainly due to high energy prices, any application being commercialized on a proposition of "reducing consumption" seems to be considered of some value (5 out of 10).

Applications that simply inform, but do not act independently also seem to gather significant interest from the interviewees. Monitoring of abnormal consumptions from a multi-fluid perspective (energy, gas, water) is of high importance in most countries, but particularly so in Spain, where monitoring systems are graded at close to7 out of a possible maximum of 10 as per the value they bring to the consumer.

British interviewees seem to see both monitoring and control systems as being of particularly low value, where as Spanish and Italian cosumers consider these applications significantly more valuable.

Remote control of household systems, either for energy efficiency or for comfort seems to be considered as the application with the lowest value, by the interviewees in all countries.

## Conclusion

The results of the CODA Strategies survey points out that the equipment parks in the 5 European countries that were studied are essentially inefficient from an energy consumption point of view. More so, the use consumers make of the equipment is also not oriented towards optimizing energy consumption or energy use. The study does seem to highlight the important potential that can be tapped into by a host of actors, through fairly simple measures such as providing better information to consumers and creating new incentives such as more dynamic tariffs and combining them with technology. The study also identifies the differences between consumers in the 5 countries: the French and especially the Germans seem more likely to invest in energy efficient equipment, while Italians and to some extent the Spanish are willing to change behavior to improve their consumption. This all shows that while one type of incentive will not be adapted to every country, developing programs for increasing energy efficiency related investment and practices can have an important impact on the contribution that consumers may make to balancing the European grids, in the context of the 20-20-20 objectives.

## References

- [1] Third study on home automation systems, conducted by CODA Strategies. "Home automation system in Europe through 2017". Paris, France 2013
- [2] Study on the demand response in the residential sector in Europe. "Demand response in the *European residential sector". Paris, France 2010*
- [3] Second study on home automation systems, conducted by CODA Strategies. "Home automation system in Europe through 2012". Paris, France 2008
- [4] First study on home automation systems, conducted by CODA Strategies. "*Home automation system in Europe through 2008*". Paris, France 2004

# Influence of user behavior and home automation on energy consumption

### Viktor Grinewitschus, Tanja Lovrić, Nele Rumler

University of Applied Science Ruhr West, Mülheim a.d. Ruhr/Bottrop, Germany

### Abstract

This paper discusses how consumer behavior influences energy consumption in buildings. The basis for this is measurements of temperature, humidity and CO<sub>2</sub> concentration which were carried out in more than 80 apartments over a two week period between November 2012 and March 2013 with a high temporal resolution. We analyzed the energy consumption in apartments with a separate energy meter. The data was corrected for climate variations and by using heating degree days the yearly energy consumption was estimated. As a result we found significant differences in energy consumption in comparable buildings concerning their structural and physical characteristics. These differences cannot be explained by the different room temperatures although the room temperatures varied a great deal between the apartments. Our results show that the reasons for these differences are different ventilation strategies. In apartments with low energy consumption the ventilation period was only a few minutes whereas in apartments with high energy consumption the windows were open for several hours. The different ventilation strategies are habits of the household members so that they were constant over the measurement period. Automatic temperature regulation with timed control of temperature is considered as one important task of home automation<sup>1</sup>, which is correlated to energy consumption. A number of sample households have time controlled temperature regulation of different rooms. In these apartments the room temperature varied more over a period of a day than in an apartment without automatic temperature control. In addition, the average temperature of apartments with automation was lower than the average of the whole sample. Interestingly, households with an automatic temperature control system were ventilated done for short periods of time more frequently. Due to these two facts the energy consumption of households with automatic temperature control is considerably lower than the average energy consumption of the sample. We expected lower energy consumption during the night but discovered that this is not the case in many households. Samples show that this is because of the settings of the circulation pump or the heating system characteristics. Almost every heating system had a programmable timer, but the measured temperatures in the night did not show expected temperature level reduction. Therefore the setting of the heating systems should be checked and adjusted.

#### Introduction

The city of Bottrop, where the University of Applied Sciences Ruhr West is located, participated successfully in the competition for Innovation City Ruhr [6]. The competition's aim was to find an exemplary region that showed how energy consumption in the region can be reduced by 50% by 2020. In addition to reduction of energy consumption in industry, trading and the service sector, Innovation City Ruhr is also focusing on the residential sector. It is important for the house owners to choose a proper strategy to improve energy efficiency. Several studies have shown that energy performance does not only depend on building properties (e.g. insulation), but also on user behavior [1], [2]. "It is found that the most important (sensitive) parameters are related to occupants' behavior." "This point will be even more important when the permitted energy consumption is further reduced in future due to the fact that a relatively higher proportion of the consumed energy is related to user behavior including hot water consumption." [4]

For that reason house owners were consulted about improving the energy efficiency of their buildings by the Innovation City Management GmbH in Bottrop. For this consultancy several data like energy consumption, year of construction and surface area were recorded. Based on this data the specific

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Home automation is the residential extension of building automation. It is the automation of the home, housework or household activity. Home automation may include centralized control of lighting, HVAC (heating, ventilation and air conditioning), appliances, security locks of gates and doors and other systems, to provide improved convenience, comfort, energy efficiency and security [7].

energy consumption in kWh/m<sup>2</sup> was calculated. The energy consumption varied widely between buildings with different years of construction but which are comparable to their structural-physical characteristics. Figure 1 shows the calculated yearly energy consumption per square meter for different types of buildings and heating systems based on the data of energy bills.

Despite a huge spread in the data, a dependency of energy consumption on the year of construction can be observed for natural gas powered one-family houses. This trend is not valid for multi-family houses. Taking all buildings into account it seems that the age of the building and its structural properties have only a small effect on the energy consumption.



**Figure 1:** Specific energy consumption depending on the age of the building according to the energy bills (SSD=single-storey dwelling, MSD=multiple-storey dwelling)

To understand this effect we worked with 800 households that had agreed to participate in the energy consultation. We asked if they were willing to participate in measurements of their indoor air quality for at least one week. We received more than 100 positive answers, so that measurements were carried out in 80 households between November 2012 and March 2013. Motivation of participants was not only based on prospect of energy and costs savings but also of increasing comfort (see also [5]). We asked the participants not to change their normal behavior of ventilation and heating during our measurements. The apartments were equipped with mobile data loggers in different rooms for one to two weeks. Indoor air temperature, relative humidity and CO<sub>2</sub> concentration were recorded with a temporal resolution of 3 minutes. After collecting the loggers the data was transmitted to a SQL data base.

## First evaluation of results

For analyzing the data a day was divided into four periods:

- 1. Morning from 6:00 am to 8:59 am
- 2. Day from 9:00 am to 5:59 pm
- 3. Evening from 6:00 pm to 23:59 pm
- 4. Night from 0:00 am to 5:59 am

These periods were chosen to characterize typical presence at home. For the time periods the average values were calculated. Figure 2 shows the average CO<sub>2</sub> concentration for the different periods in a day in the living room of the different apartments of the sample<sup>2</sup>. The CO<sub>2</sub> concentration is a good indicator for presence of people in a room, which can be seen in Figure 2. In all households we found periods were the living room is not used. The indication for this is the same CO<sub>2</sub> concentration in the room as that of the outside air in those periods. Figure 2 also shows the average air temperatures of the living room in the different households of the sample. The average temperature of the living room differs considerably (from 18 °C to 25 °C) between the different apartments. Although the living room is only used during some periods of the day, the temperature in the room is almost constant during the whole day in 75% of the households of the sample. In particular, the high nighttime temperatures are remarkable because modern heating systems allow for the automatic reduction of temperatures during the night. For households with high temperatures during night time it was found that the settings of the heating system were not correctly adjusted to the building properties.

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$  To guide the eyes the CO<sub>2</sub> concentrations are connected by a line, although the values are independent from each other.



**Figure 2:** Level of CO<sub>2</sub> concentration and indoor air temperature for different participants and daytime periods

Besides the  $CO_2$  concentration and temperature the energy consumption was measured. To compare measurements in different months, the energy consumption was corrected by using heating degree days and estimating the yearly energy consumption.

Heating degree days were calculated on the basis of German directive VDI 3807 [3] as follows:

$$GTZ_{t \ 20^{\circ}/_{15^{\circ}}} = \sum^{z} (t_i - t_a)$$
 [Kd] [1]

 $GTZ_{t 20^{\circ}/_{15^{\circ}}}$ : Heating degree days with  $t_i = 20^{\circ}C$  and heating limit temperature with  $15^{\circ}C$ 

 $t_i$ : Mean indoor air temperature [°C]

 $t_a$ : Mean temperature of outside air on the heating day [°C]

z: Number of heating days during measurement period [d]

We calculated the heating degrees days for the measurement period and divided this value by the long term heating degree days of the neighbouring city Essen [3].

$$k_{P} = \frac{\text{GTZ}_{t\ 20^{\circ}/15^{\circ}}}{G_{m(Essen)}} \qquad [\%]$$
[2]

 $k_P$ : Part of heating degree days of measurement period to long term heatig degree days

The forecast of thermal energy consumption for the whole year  $E_{VgP}$  can be calculated by

$$E_{VgP} = \frac{E_P}{k_P} \quad \left[\frac{kWh}{a}\right]$$
[3]

 $E_P$ : Thermal energy consumption during measurement period [kWh]

#### $E_{VgP}$ : Forecast of thermal energy consumption for the whole year

The characteristic value of thermal energy consumption  $e_P$  can be calculated as follows

$$e_P = \frac{E_{VgP}}{A_{EP}} \qquad \left[\frac{kWh}{m^2a}\right] \tag{4}$$

 $A_{EP}$ : Area of the heated space in the dwelling  $[m^2]$ 

 $e_P$ : Characteristic value of thermal energy consumption

This was only carried out for households which have a separate energy meter for heating. Figure 3

shows that the energy consumption is more widely spread than it was found in Figure 1. Due to the calculation procedure this spread is even higher compared to the energy consumption extracted from energy bills, because it is assumed that the consumer behavior is constant over a whole year. In practice, the behavior varies depending on the season. Furthermore, Figure 3shows that the households with automatic temperature control have on average a lower consumption than households without this kind of automation.



Figure 3: Calculated thermal energy consumption based on heating degree days referring to year of construction of the building

It could be assumed that high room temperatures results in a high energy consumption. But Figure 4 shows that in our measurements there is no strong correlation between room temperature and energy consumption. Furthermore, participants living in older buildings have nearly the same room temperatures in their living rooms as participants in newer buildings.



**Figure 4** : Indoor air temperature referring to calculated thermal energy consumption (forecast based on heating degree days)

On average the households with automatic temperature control have a lower indoor air temperature than households without automation (see Figure 5).



Figure 5: Average indoor temperature referring to year of construction

Furthermore, home automation is not only applied in new buildings but as well in buildings constructed in 1958. These automation systems are based on radio frequency communication and they are especially designed for retrofitting.

### Analysis of user behaviour

As room temperature and building properties cannot explain the wide variation in energy consumption we investigated ventilation behaviour more closely. We did this by plotting temperature and  $CO_2$ levels in a heat map which shows days in one column and the temperature/ $CO_2$  value represented in colour. Figure 6 shows households with low energy consumption and home atomised temperature controls (Measurement Point 1 in Figure 3). In the lower part of the Figure 6 one can easily identify the ventilation periods by a drop in  $CO_2$  concentration and decreased room temperature. Furthermore, the quick increase in room temperature indicates that the window is closed after a short time period. The temperature profile shows the impact of the automatic temperature control (increase in room temperature at 7:00 am). In buildings with comparable building characteristics without automatic temperature control the temperature profiles were not as distinctive as shown in Figure 5.



**Figure 6:** Heat maps showing indoor air temperature (upper diagram) and  $CO_2$ -concentration (lower diagram) for the living room of a household with low energy consumption and equipped with home automation.



**Figure 7:** Heat maps detail showing indoor air temperature (upper diagram) and CO<sub>2</sub>-concentration (lower diagram) for the same household as shown in Figure 6 for only one day (Friday) from 9:00 am to 11:00 am

Figure 7 shows only a short (3 to 5 minutes) ventilation period is needed to achieve a good indoor air quality indicated through the  $CO_2$ -concentration of 642 ppm (starting with 1448 ppm before ventilation). In this, the temperature fell from about 21°C down to 17.9°C. After only 15 minutes the temperature has risen again to a comfortable 20°C.

A different user behavior is shown in Figure 8. The thermal energy consumption of this household is higher than in the previous example and the indoor air temperature is higher (average of 25°C) and constant over the day (measurement point 2 in Figure 3). The ventilation can be recognized by decreasing  $CO_2$  concentrations but the ventilation duration is so short that the room temperature is not significantly affected. The air quality is good only directly after the ventilations.



**Figure 8:** Heat maps showing indoor air temperature (upper diagram) and CO<sub>2</sub>-concentration (lower diagram) for a household with mid energy consumption and without home automation

The last example shows a household without home autmation, high energy consumption and high room temperatures (see Figure 9) (measurement point 3 in Figure 3). The ventilation periods are long (over several hours). The room temperature is decreased during this period, but obviously the heating system prevents a drop in room temperature below 22°C. Except for the ventilation periods the  $CO_{2^{-}}$  concentration is too high for a good ambient air quality.



**Figure 9:** Heat maps showing indoor air temperature (upper diagram) and  $CO_2$ -concentration (lower diagram) for a household with high energy consumption and without home automation



**Figure 10:** Heat map detail of Figure 9 showing indoor air temperature (upper diagram) and  $CO_{2}$ -concentration (lower diagram) for two days from 9:00 am to 18:00 am.
In Figure 10 is shown the long ventilation period of more than 3 hours.  $CO_2$ -concentration decreased from 1498 ppm to 554 ppm. In this time the temperature is falling from 23.7°C to 22.8°C.

## Conclusion

Our results show that ventilation habits influence energy consumption more than the temperature level of the room. Good ventilation habits can be termed in case of often but short ventilation periods and bad ventilation habits can be termed such with long periods of ventilation through openig the windows. Automatic temperature control is used to reduce room temperature level during the absence of the user. This improves energy efficency even further. We have found automatic temperature control systems only in 5% of the households we investigated. These households have an energy consumption lower than average and can be characterized by a very efficient ventilation behavior although the automatic temperature control system does not support ventilation. As there are only a small number of households which have such home automation system it can be concluded that they are generally aware of the factors influencing the energy consumption. In case of a wider distribution of home automation systems and also assistance devices such as ventilation traffic lights, should include a support of ventilation behavior in future.

## References

- [1] Minna Sunikka-Blank & Ray Galvin: Introducing the prebound effect: the gap between performance and actual energy consumption. Building Research & Information, 40:3, 260-273
- [2] D. Majcen, L.C.M.Itard, H.Visscher: Theoretical vs. actual energy consumption of labeled dwellings in the Netherlands: Discrepancies and policy implications. Energy Policy 54 (2013) 125–136, Elsevier.
- [3] VDI 3807: Characteristic values of energy and water consumption in buildings, Beuth Verlag, March 2007
- [4] H. Brohus, P. Heiselberg, A. Simonsen, K. C. Sørensen: Influence of Occupants' Behaviour on the Energy Consumption of Domestic Buildings. Aalborg University, Denmark
- [5] A. Ingle, M. Moezzi, L. Lutzenhiser, R. Diamond: How Well Do Home Energy Audits Serve the Homeowner? Portland State University, Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory
- [6] Innovation City Ruhr, http://www.icruhr.de
- [7] http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Home\_automation

## Meeting the Challenge of Power Supply Efficiency in Regulations with Low Power Modes

## **Richard Fassler**

## Power Integrations, Inc.

## Abstract

The efficiency of a mains-operated consumer electronics product is determined primarily by three components – the power supply stage, the product's power requirement while providing its primary function, and the power management approach when not providing that function. Many regulations require external power supplies (EPS) to be efficient over a range from 25% to 100% of the power supply's rated output power plus meet a no-load power consumption limit. However, some regulations are now focusing on requiring electronic products to enter into one or more different lower power operating modes depending on the product's typical operating duty cycle. Examples include computers, set-top boxes, and networked appliances. The creation of these new low power modes puts design and performance pressure on the power supply to maintain high efficiency from 100% load to well below 10% load operation.

This paper discusses some key current and proposed efficiency regulations and agreements that focus on low power modes. A recent innovation in power conversion integrated circuits (ICs) that can cost-effectively meet this challenge for internal and external power supplies is presented, including an example design that demonstrates high efficiency across the entire load range. Additional solutions are presented to address power consumption reduction in circuits required to meet noise and power factor requirements.

## Introduction

The issue of energy wasted in consumer electronic products has been a topic of discussion for many years. Early studies focused on the most obvious and easiest metric – product standby power loss. An early study in 1999 estimated that up to 10% of electricity consumed by residential products was being wasted while the product was supposedly turned off by the consumer, but was still consuming high levels of energy <sup>[1]</sup>. Resulting government actions targeted common standby power waste. By 2005, the Korean government had initiated a voluntary program calling for a maximum 1 W standby power consumption limit in many appliances by 2010. The European Commission's (EC) Regulation 1275/2008 regarding Ecodesign requirements for standby and off mode electric power consumption of electrical and electronic household and office equipment (TREN Lot 6) initially mandated a 1 W limit for many electronic products (2 W if a display was present) by January 2011, reducing those limits 50% by January 2013<sup>[2]</sup>. Other countries have, or are embracing, similar standby power consumption limits.

Product efficiency specifications also began focusing on the amount of energy consumed in active modes, when the product was providing the function it was designed to provide (i.e. a television displaying video and audio programming). Early program requirements were modal in nature, having both active-on and standby consumption limits. Subsequent versions have combined active-on mode and standby mode(s) power consumption into a single metric referred to as Typical Energy Consumption (TEC) which approximates the total annual energy consumption for an electronic product in its typical daily use.

Regardless of the method, to maximize the energy efficiency potential of an electronic product, one must not only ensure that a product's power management approach allows the product to enter into one or more low power modes depending on reduced user activity, but just as importantly, that the power supply converts the high voltage AC mains to low voltage DC highly efficiently at all operating mode requirements.

## **Power Supply Efficiency Regulations**

The first EPS efficiency regulations focused on reducing power consumption at no-load (i.e. the adapter is plugged in to the mains but not attached to its application). Since then, EPS requirements have become more comprehensive. A good example is the current EC Ecodesign Directive Lot 7 standard (EC No. 278/2009), requiring both a minimum average active mode efficiency (the average

efficiency at 25%, 50%, 75%, and 100% load points) and a maximum no-load power consumption<sup>[3]</sup>. Other regulations, such as the mandatory U.S. EISA 2007 federal standard and the voluntary EC Code of Conduct (CoC), follow the same approach (see Table 1). While the U.S. Department of Energy (DOE) is currently working on tighter EISA 2007 requirements and the EC is in the process of revising Ecodesign and Code of Conduct EPS requirements, current EPS metrics have remained static for the last few years.

	EC CoC v4, EC Ecodesig ENERGY ST	U.S. EISA 2007	
	Standard Voltage PS <sup>1</sup>	Low Voltage PS <sup>1</sup>	
Nameplate Output Power (Pno)	Min. Ave. Efficiency, Active Mode	Min. Ave. Efficiency, Active Mode	Min. Ave. Efficiency, Active Mode
≤ 1 watt	≥ 0.480 * Pno + 0.140	≥ 0.497 * Pno + 0.067	0.5* Pno
> 1 to ≤ 49 watts	≥ [0.0626 * Ln (Pno)] + 0.622	≥ [0.0750 * Ln (Pno)] + 0.561	
> 1 to ≤ 51 watts	≥ [0.0626 * Ln (Pno)] + 0.622 <i>(Ecodesign only)</i>		≥ [0.09 * Ln (Pno)] + 0.5
> 49 watts	≥ 0.870	≥ 0.860	
> 51 watts	≥ 0.870 (Ecodesign only)		≥ 0.850
	No-Load Power <sup>2, 3, 4</sup>	No-Load Power <sup>3, 4</sup>	No-Load Power
< 50 watts	0.3 watts / 0.15 watts	0.3 watts / 0.15 watts	0.5 watts
≥ 50 to ≤ 250 watts	0.5 watts	0.5 watts	0.5 watts

#### Table 1. Current EPS Energy Efficiency Requirements

**Notes:** 1. Standard voltage power supply excludes low voltage power supplies which are defined as < 6 volts and  $\ge$  550 mA, 2. AC-AC is  $\le$  0.5 W for all power levels, 3. CoC - No-load spec for mobile handheld battery powered apps  $\le$  0.15 W, 4. Ecodesign power levels are  $\le$  51 watts and > 51 watts

Internal power supply (IPS) efficiency standards are not that common due to the difficulty in identifying where the power supply output can be tested on the end application circuit board. The most visible IPS efficiency program is the voluntary 80 PLUS computer power supply labeling plan (a computer's IPS is typically a discrete component with easy to identify outputs) which specifies minimum efficiencies at 20%, 50%, and 100% loading. This plan has been adopted by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency's (EPA) ENERGY STAR<sup>®</sup> computer program. Version 5, currently in effect, specifies a minimum compliance level of 82% efficiency at 20% load, 85% efficiency at 50% load, and 82% efficiency at 100% load<sup>[4]</sup>.

## **Emerging Low Power Mode Requirements**

Recently, some product efficiency programs have begun including minimum performance requirements for additional lower power modes, based on the product's typical daily duty cycle. Some examples follow.

#### **ICT Equipment (Computers)**

The final draft of version 6 of the ENERGY STAR Program Requirements for Computers supports the belief that computers spend a significant portion of their time in an idle state, defined as:

"The power state in which the operating system and other software have completed loading, a user profile has been created, activity is limited to those basic applications that the system starts by default, and the computer is not in Sleep Mode. Idle State is composed of two sub-states: Short Idle and Long Idle" <sup>[5]</sup>. An example of Long Idle could be 15 minutes after a computer has completed an active workload, the display has entered a low power state (backlight turned off) and hard drive has spun-down.

Idle mode power requirements typically require power below 20% of the power supply's power rating. They are used in calculating the computer's estimated annual Typical Energy Consumption (TEC) in kWh (excluding active mode) as shown below:

 $ETEC = 8760/1000 \text{ x } (P_{OFF} \text{ x } T_{OFF} + P_{SLEEP} \text{ x } T_{SLEEP} + P_{LONG_IDLE} \text{ x } T_{LONG_IDLE} + P_{SHORT_IDLE \text{ x }} T_{SHORT_IDLE} )$ 

Where  $P_{OFF}$  = measured power consumption in OFF mode (W),  $P_{SLEEP}$  = measured power consumption in SLEEP mode (W),  $P_{LONG_IDLE}$  = measured power consumption in Long Idle mode (W),  $P_{SHORT_IDLE}$  = measured power consumption in Short Idle mode (W),  $T_{OFF}$ ,  $T_{SLEEP}$ ,  $T_{LONG_IDLE}$ , and  $T_{SHORT_IDLE}$  are mode (time) weightings as specified in the ENERGY STAR specifications.

This version also includes an incentive to manufacturers who use higher efficiency power supplies than those required for compliance to the program specification. For the first time in a consumer product specification, it highlights power supply efficiency at a 10% load point, approximating Idle Mode power consumption of a computer (see Table 2). The allowance is part of the calculation that sets the computers' maximum allowed TEC.

Power	ower		Im Efficie Fortion of Curr	ncy at S Rated O rent	Minimum		
Type Type	10%	20%	50%	100%	Efficiency	Allowance <sub>PSU</sub>	
	Dealstan	0.81	0.85	0.88	0.85	-	0.015
IDC	Desktop	0.84	0.87	0.90	0.87	-	0.03
IPS	Integrated	0.81	0.85	0.88	0.85	-	0.015
	Desktop	0.84	0.87	0.90	0.87	-	0.04
	Natalia ala	0.83	-	-	-	0.88	0.015
	Notebook	0.84	-	-	-	0.89	0.03
EPS	Integrated	0.83	-	-	s <del></del>	0.88	0.015
	Desktop	0.84	-	-	-	0.89	0.04

Table 2.	ENERGY	STAR	Computer	V6 F	Final Draf	t Power	Supply	Efficiency	Allowance
			Computer		mai Diai		Cuppiy	Linoichoy	Allowalloc

Source: ENERGY STAR Program Requirements for Computers

Power supply efficiency limitations at lower power modes in ICT equipment was noted in a 2012 study published by the International Telecommunications Union (ITU) and the Global e-Sustainability Initiative (GESi). The report, <u>An Energy-Aware Survey on ICT Device Power Supplies</u><sup>[6]</sup>, covered test results on hundreds of external power supplies displaying different power efficiency levels in both low load condition (10% - 30% of the EPS's maximum rated power) and no-load condition, suggesting that an EPS regulation at low load could translate into reasonable energy savings. This report was also discussed during the 2012 EC EPS CoC meetings which focused on revising the current EPS efficiency agreement (version 4). The version 5 final draft has been published and includes a 10% load efficiency requirement (Table 3) based on the data in the ITU report. Version 5 of the CoC agreement becomes effective in January 2014.

Pated Output	Minimum Four	Point Average	Minimum Efficient	cy in Active Mode at
Power (W)	Tier 1	Tier 2	Tier 1	Tier 2
0.3 <u>&lt;</u> P <sub>no</sub> <u>&lt;</u> 1	≥ 0.500 * P <sub>no</sub> + 0.146	≥ 0.500 * P <sub>no</sub> + 0.169	≥ 0.500 * P <sub>no</sub> + 0.046	≥ 0.500 * P <sub>no</sub> + 0.060
1 < P <sub>no</sub> < 49	≥ 0.0626*In(P <sub>no</sub> ) +	≥ 0.071*ln(P <sub>no</sub> )	≥ 0.0626*ln(P <sub>no</sub> ) +	≥ 0.071*ln(P <sub>no</sub> )
	0.646	– 0.00115 * P <sub>no</sub> +	0.546	- 0.0014 * P <sub>no</sub> + 0.570
		0.670		
49 < P <sub>no</sub> < 250	≥ 0.890	≥ 0.890	≥ 0.790	≥ 0.790

Table 2 Dranacad	Active Mede	Enoral Efficience	v Critoria Cada /	of Conduct	Vorcion E
Table 5. Froduseu	ACLIVE WOUL	Energy-Enricienc	v Chilena - Coue d	JI COMQUCE	version 5
			<b>, .</b>		

## Set-top Boxes

A popular consumer product that historically hasn't been allowed to enter into lower power modes is the TV set-top box (STB). This is primarily due to service provider operating system requirements to meet customer expectations (i.e. consumers don't want to wait minutes for an STB to update information to become functional after spending time in a deep sleep low power mode). A Natural Resources Defense Council (NRDC) study revealed that significant energy could be saved if STBs were allowed to enter sleep modes instead of remaining in an active-on mode for 24 hours a day. Work continues between STB manufacturers, service providers, NGOs, and government agencies to allow STBs to go into multiple (light and deep) sleep modes. In Europe, the EC agreed to support an industry-generated Voluntary Agreement (VA) for complex set-top boxes which encourages STB manufacturers to incorporate an Auto Power Down capability, allowing an STB to automatically switch itself into the lowest possible standby mode appropriate within 4 hours of the last user interaction. A similar approach has been published by U.S. manufacturers and service providers. Meanwhile, the current U.S. ENERGY STAR STB program (Version 3) includes a Deep Sleep state defined as a power state that "shall be less than or equal to 15% of the power consumption in On Mode (as measured per the ENERGY STAR test procedure for "Watching Live TV" [PTV]), or 3.0 watts, whichever is greater"<sup>[7]</sup>. The TEC formula for calculating the STB's power consumption includes the Deep Sleep mode, as shown below.

 $\mathsf{TEC}_{\mathsf{PRIMARY}} = 0.365 \left( (\mathsf{T}_{\mathsf{TV}} \mathsf{X} \mathsf{P}_{\mathsf{TV}}) + (\mathsf{T}_{\mathsf{SLEEP}} \mathsf{X} \mathsf{P}_{\mathsf{SLEEP}}) + (\mathsf{T}_{\mathsf{APD}} \mathsf{X} \mathsf{P}_{\mathsf{APD}}) + (\mathsf{T}_{\mathsf{DEEP}\_\mathsf{SLEEP}} \mathsf{X} \mathsf{P}_{\mathsf{DEEP}\_\mathsf{SLEEP}}) \right)$ 

Where  $T_{TV}$  is the time coefficient for On mode,  $P_{TV}$  is the measured power in On mode (W),  $T_{SLEEP}$  is the time coefficient for SLEEP mode,  $P_{SLEEP}$  is the measured power in SLEEP mode (W),  $T_{APD}$  is the time coefficient for Auto Power Down,  $P_{APD}$  is the measured power after Auto Power Down (W),  $T_{DEEP\_SLEEP}$  is the time coefficient for DEEP SLEEP state,  $P_{DEEP\_SLEEP}$  is the measured power in DEEP SLEEP state (W)

## Networked Standby Power Consumption

Network-connected products are already arriving in our homes and offices. A recent report based on responses from U.S. adult TV owners revealed that American television buyers now are placing increased importance on Internet connectivity. Among US consumers who planned to purchase a television, 30.7 % said they would buy an Internet-enabled (or Smart TV) set, compared to 18 .1% who purchased a TV within the last 12 months<sup>[8]</sup>. Another example of the emergence of communicative appliances was on display at the recent U.S. Consumer Electronics Show where two of the industry's largest appliance manufacturers showed refrigerators that were able to communicate with the Internet.

While this expanded functionality may be great news for the consumer, it could be troubling news for energy efficiency since networked appliances can stay in an active mode continuously throughout the day, never entering a low power mode when not in use. According to the recent EC Ecodesign Directive networked standby preparatory study (Lot 26), the energy consumption of European household and office equipment that are able to be activated over a network is forecasted to be as high as 90 TWh by 2020 (approximately the annual final electricity consumption of Finland)<sup>[9]</sup>. As more consumer products are being offered with network connectivity, activity has begun to define low power modes for networked products and appliances. A proposed amendment to the current Ecodesign Directive on Standby and Off-mode power consumption (EC No. 1275/2008) addresses

networked standby products and divides products into two groups – those with High Network Availability (HiNA) and those without. HiNA equipment resumes functionality within milliseconds; non-HiNA equipment resumes functionality within more than one second (generally within 5 seconds). It's estimated that the amendment could encourage an increased adoption of lower power technologies, resulting in an estimated energy savings of 36 TWh by 2020<sup>[9]</sup>.

If approved, the maximum networked standby power consumption requirements would become effective in two tiers as shown in Table 4.

	January 1, 2015	January 1, 2017
Products with HiNA	12 W	8 W
Products without HiNA	6 W	3 W

#### Table 4. Proposed Limits of Ecodesign Lot 26 - Networked Standby Power Consumption

Based on the above examples, it's apparent that efficiency regulations going forward could include more requirements to allow electronic products to enter lower and lower power modes when they're not providing their intended function. In order to maximize overall system efficiency, the power supplies used with those products will need to deliver high efficiency at those lower power levels.

## Enabling High Efficiency, From High to Low Load

#### Changing from linear to switchers is no longer enough

Designing highly efficient power supplies to meet power supply efficiency requirements has become more challenging as requirements have evolved. In the beginning, just changing from a linear-based power supply to a switching power supply was a quick way to reduce standby power consumption as well as improve active mode efficiency. But simply changing to a switching approach doesn't guarantee compliance with emerging standards.

Let's look at the performance of a 10 year old "energy-efficient" switching power supply built with a power conversion integrated circuit that was introduced in the early 2000's (and is still available). The circuit (EP-18), shown below, provides 10 W of output power.

#### Figure 1. PWM Switching Power Supply Schematic and Circuit Board



The power conversion IC (TOPSwitch<sup>TM</sup>-GX) is a monolithic chip which combines a standard pulse width modulation (PWM) controller (switching at 132 kHz) with a high voltage power MOSFET plus a suite of protective functions such as under/over voltage protection, programmable current limit, thermal shutdown, and reduced Electromagnetic Interference (EMI) EMI can cause problems with other products if allowed back on to the AC mains. The output is regulated using an isolated winding on the secondary side of the power transformer (T1), an opto coupler (U2), a voltage reference IC (U3) and some miscellaneous resistors and capacitors.

The efficiency test data summary below confirms that even though this power supply was designed in 2001, well before power supply efficiency regulations were in effect, the IC's PWM switching profile enables good efficiency that complies with both the 25% to 100% load average active mode efficiency

and no-load power consumption requirements of the current U.S. EISA 2007 EPS efficiency standard and very nearly meets the EC Ecodesign Directive's EPS 2010 tier 1 levels.

Table 6. Active Mode Efficiency and No-load Power Performance of PWM EPS

	Requirement		EP-18 (*	115 VAC)	EP-18 (230 VAC)	
	Ave. Eff. (%)	No-Load (W)	Ave. Eff. (%)	No-Load (W)	Ave. Eff. (%)	No-Load (W)
EISA 2007	70.7	0.5	72.9	0.368	-	-
Ecodesign (Lot 7, tier 1)	70.7	0.5	-	-	68.9	0.418

However, this power supply becomes significantly less efficient below 25% load as shown in Figure 2 (X-axis is load and Y-axis is efficiency). For this circuit, the efficiency drops over 15% between 100% load and 10% loading.

This low load efficiency droop effect was also observed and discussed in the previously mentioned ITU and GESi report. In that 2012 report, a number of graphs are presented that show recent EPS performance curves of similarly rated EPSs with close efficiency at higher loads but with much different efficiency at lower loads.

## A New Switching Approach to Improve Efficiency

To address the problem, one needs to focus on the areas of loss in the power supply's output transistor. Regardless of the semiconductor technology used for the switching transistor (represented in Fig. 3 as a simple on-off switch), the two components of power loss are conduction losses (determined by  $I^2R_{DS(ON)}$  where I is the current flowing through the transistor and  $R_{DS(ON)}$  is the output resistance of the transistor) and switching losses. Switching losses are further broken down into capacitive and cross over losses. Capacitive losses are determined by  $I^2_{COSS}V^2f$ , where Coss is the output capacitance of



Figure 3. Simplified Power Switching Circuit



the transistor, V is the voltage across the transistor, and f is the switching frequency. Cross over losses are determined by the switching speed of the MOSFET, voltage, current being switched and frequency. Critically, both forms of switching loss are a function of switching frequency.

In lower power modes, reducing transistor switching loss is key in maintaining efficiency. One approach is to vary the frequency and waveform of the signal turning the switch on and off, depending on load level requirements. Another is by using a simple ON-OFF signal to turn the switch on and off, skipping cycles when less power is needed. Both can be used to successfully increase a power supply's efficiency at very different power levels.

To meet emerging efficiency regulations, a new controller was developed based on an innovative multi-mode control engine, delivering high efficiency continuous conduction mode (CCM) operation from high to low loads without the efficiency limitation of other switching modes or problematic audible noise. An enhanced peak current mode PWM control scheme is used that automatically adjusts to maintain high efficiency as power requirements change, based on a compensation input voltage which mirrors changes in the power supply's output power. This technology is the core of a new generation power conversion IC family known as LinkSwitch<sup>TM</sup>-HP<sup>[10]</sup>. The IC is made up of a single silicon chip monolithically integrated controller and high power MOSFET (725 V), assembled in a low

cost plastic package. It's capable of delivering up to 90 watts for a wide range of consumer and office applications. As with the TOPSwitch IC used in the previous power supply, it also includes comprehensive protective features including under/over voltage protection, programmable current limit, reduced EMI, and thermal shutdown.

Figure 4 illustrates the switching technique incorporated in the new device. The top graph plots switching frequency versus the compensation voltage; the bottom graph plots normalized peak output current versus the compensation voltage.

Moving right (high power) to left (lower power), the switching operation begins basically as a pulse width modulated (PWM) switcher running at 132 kHz. This is a common switching technique, found in many switching power



Figure 4. LinkSwitch-HP Switching Waveforms

supply designs such as the previous example, providing the benefit of good efficiency with small magnetics. During this period (represented in blue), the output voltage and switching frequency remain constant, while the output current decreases to satisfy lower load power requirements. At approximately 50% load, the voltage on the compensation pin causes the controller to automatically shift into a frequency reduction operation, maintaining efficiency from medium to light loads by reducing MOSFET switching losses. When voltage on compensation pin reaches  $V_{C(MCM)}$  (about 1.25 V), the peak drain current is reduced to 25% of programmed value with the switching frequency at approximately 32 kHz.

At approximately 5% load, the peak output current of the device is fixed at 25% of the full load current limit and the device automatically enters into multicycle modulation mode (MCM). From that point down to near zero load, the device, operates in pulse mode shown in Fig. 5. During MCM operation, the controller intelligently maintains а relatively high output sampling rate while reducing the average switching frequency to keep the output voltage in regulation. Switching at 25% of the set current limit dramatically reduces the transformer core flux density, which intelligent along with the MCM





operation, reduces audible noise well below acceptable levels.

Extremely low input power consumption at very low outputs (i.e. approaching and including no-load) of less than 30 mW is possible due to two features of the device: 1) a sampling rate maximum MCM off-time  $T_{MCM(OFF)} = 4$  ms (typ.) and 2) the inclusion of primary side regulation (PSR) in providing voltage control feedback. PSR eliminates the need (and cost) for the external voltage reference IC, optocoupler, and other components found in the first EPS example. This is especially critical for the highest efficiency at ultra-low output levels.

#### Power Supply Performance Results

To demonstrate the efficiency performance of the new device, a 30 W power supply was designed and built as shown in Figure 6<sup>[11]</sup>. The design goal was to cost-effectively achieve compliance with all current EPS regulations, plus maintain efficiency at lower and no-load power modes to meet proposed regulations.



## Figure 6. Multi-mode Switching Power Supply Schematic and Circuit Board

Figure 7 illustrates the power supply's multi-mode switching waveforms. At full load, the controller operates in 100% PWM mode at 132 kHz. As the load decreases down to ~ 50%, the number of switching cycles remain the same, but the duty cycle shrinks (upper yellow waveform) due to the reducing output current. Just below 50%, the controller shifts to frequency sliding operation with reduced load, down to 32 kHz, as seen in the 25% and 10% load graphs, resulting in fewer switching events and reducing switching losses (upper yellow waveform). The second LinkSwitch-HP operation switch point (~5% load) causes the switching mode to change to MCM with packets of switching cycles switching at hundreds of hertz compared to the 32 kHz previously.





c. 50% Load

d. 25% Load



e. 10% Load

f. No-Load Mode

Regarding efficiency performance, this power supply easily meets all the EPS requirements of EISA 2007, the Ecodesign Directive (Tier 2), and the final draft of the upcoming CoC. The average active mode efficiency between 25% and 100% loading is just under 87% at 230 VAC and just under 88% at 115 VAC.



	Requirement		(115 VAC)		(230 VAC)	
	Ave. Eff.	No-Load	Ave. Eff.	No-Load	Ave. Eff.	No-Load
EISA 2007	80.6%	0.5 W	87.7%	0.018 W	-	-
Ecodesign (Lot 7,tier 2)	83.49%	0.3 W	-	-	86.9%	0.029 W
EC CoC (ver 5, tier 1)	85.9%	0.15 W			86.9 %	0.029 W

Importantly, Figure 8 reveals that the efficiency at lower loads has not appreciably dropped. At 230 VAC, this power supply is still well over 80% efficient at 10% loading. Unlike the first circuit with approximately a 15% drop in efficiency between full load and 10% load, the LNK-HP circuit drops only ~2% at 115 VAC and only ~ 5 % at 230 VAC.

No-load power consumption is remarkably low, < 30 mW at 230 VAC, thanks to the IC's pulse skipping technique and PSR.

## Figure 8. Multi-mode Power Supply Efficiency



## Figure 9. No-Load Power Performance



Figure 10. 230V - Input Power vs. Output



A check of available output power at EC Ecodesign Directive Regulation 1275/2008 (Lot 6) standby power levels also reveals excellent performance. Using Figure 10, output power can be calculated by multiplying the output current (X-axis) corresponding to key input power points (i.e. 1 W, 0.5 W) by 12 volts (the power supply's output voltage). At 1 W power consumption, this 30 W power supply operates at ~75% efficiency, providing ~ 750 mW of usable power to an application in a very low power mode. At 500 mW input, 360 mW is available, for a respectable efficiency of 72%.

#### Additional Efficiency Enhancements at Very Low Power

There may be circumstances where achieving very low power consumption is difficult due to power consumption from additional circuits/components that are added to meet required safety, noise, or power factor regulations. Two recent "auxiliary" ICs have been introduced to address these situations.

Applications such as motor drives, domestic appliances, and industrial equipment can generate EMI. To meet EMI standards (EN 55022B and CISPR22B) a filter stage is inserted at the AC input. As part of this filter, capacitors are commonly placed directly across the AC input terminals. Unfortunately, the energy stored in the capacitor(s) is present across the input prongs of the power supply and could shock a consumer after unplugging the product. To prevent this risk, safety agencies mandate that capacitors with values above 100 nF be discharged automatically within <1 second (UL1950/IEEC950). This is typically achieved by placing discharge resistors directly across the capacitor, resulting in a constant power loss while plugged in. For example, a power supply that uses a capacitance of 1  $\mu$ F across the incoming AC will require a resistor which dissipates 53 milliwatts at 230 VAC, independent of the output load. With more stringent no-load and standby input power requirements, this power loss can become a significant portion of the overall power budget.

CAPZero<sup>™</sup> is a self-contained, two-terminal IC that can be added to any power supply with discharge resistors to completely eliminate power lost in the components. It's a simple product that easily meets safety requirements and helps in achieving the lowest possible no-load input power. CAPZero acts as a smart switch when placed in series with the discharge resistors. The switch is open while the AC is connected, eliminating the constant power loss through the discharge resistors. When the AC is disconnected, the switch is automatically closed, safely discharging the capacitor through the resistors.

Power Factor Correction (PFC) circuitry is often required to improve the supply's apparent power to real power ratio. Making the power factor ratio as close as possible to unity brings the voltage and current in phase and enables efficient delivery of electrical power to the consumer. An active PFC circuit (consisting of additional semiconductor switches and control electronics) is typically inserted after the power supply's input rectifier bridge. Most PFC controllers monitor DC Bus voltage and current to control supply operation, using a resistor chain between the high voltage rail and a low voltage monitoring pin. These sense resistors burn constant power whenever high voltage is present, even when the controller they're connected to has been disabled during standby. Adding an active PFC circuit can add ≥100 mW per resistor chain, significantly increasing standby input power. To reduce standby power consumption in PFC circuit high voltage bus sense resistors, the SENZero<sup>TM</sup> IC was developed. It eliminates wasted power by placing a smart switch in series with the sense resistor current when it's not required. It can easily save over 100 mW of power consumption. SENZero's integrated MOSFETS have ultra-low leakage, allowing the three channel device to consume just 0.79 milliwatts of total standby power.

## Conclusion

As consumer electronic products increase in functionality and network-ability, energy efficiency regulations are expected to continue to evolve and include requirements for products to enter additional lower power modes when not providing their primary function. To maximize overall efficiency, the product's power supply will need to be designed to deliver high efficiency at those lower power levels. The technology to accomplish this is currently available with power conversion ICs that automatically modify their switching characteristics to maintain good efficiency from full load to no-load. Additional ICs are available that target power consumption caused by supplemental circuits required to comply with non-efficiency regulations. Future power conversion ICs could tailor their

operation to target efficiency at specific load points as they become part of efficiency regulations (i.e. 10% load). On-going material and circuit design innovation in the power conversion area should continue to reduce energy waste in electronic products.

## References

- [1] Lebot, B., Meier, A., and Anglade, A. *Global Implications of Standby Power Use*. 2000 ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings, Asilomar, CA, USA
- [2] European Commission. Commission Regulation (EC) No 1275/2008 implementing Directive 2005/32/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council with regard to Ecodesign requirements for standby and off mode electric power consumption of electrical and electronic household and office equipment. Annex 2 Ecodesign Requirements. Can be downloaded at: http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2008:339:0045:0052:EN:PDF
- [3] European Commission. Commission Regulation (EC) No 278/2009 implementing Directive 2005/32/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council with regard to Ecodesign requirements for no-load condition electric power consumption and average active efficiency of external power supplies. Annex 1 Ecodesign Requirements. Can be downloaded at: http://eurlex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2009:093:0003:0010:EN:PDF
- [4] U.S EPA . ENERGY STAR Program Requirements Product Specification for Computers Eligibility Criteria Version 5.2. Section 3.2 Power Supply Requirements. Can be downloaded at: http://www.energystar.gov/ia/partners/product\_specs/program\_reqs/Computers\_Program\_Req uirements.pdf?c20e-108c
- [5] U.S EPA . ENERGY STAR Program Requirements Product Specification for Computers Eligibility Criteria Final Draft, Version 6. Definition section, page 4. Can be downloaded at: http://energystar.gov/products/specs/sites/products/files/Final%20Draft%20Version%206.0%20 Computers%20Specification.pdf
- [6] GeSi and ITU, An Energy-Aware Survey on ICT Device Power Supplies, September 2012, pg.2. Can be downloaded at: www.itu.int/dms\_pub/itu-t/oth/4B/01/T4B010000070001PDFE.pdf
- [7] ENERGY STAR Program Requirements Product Specification for Set-top Boxes Eligibility Criteria Version 3.0 Rev. Oct – 2012. Section 3.2.4 Can be downloaded at: www.energystar.gov/index.cfm?fuseaction=products\_for\_partners.showSetTopBoxes
- [8] Burger A. Report: Internet, 3-D Increasingly Important to U.S. TV Buyers. Article describing findings from HIS Screen Digest TV Systems Service report – HIS Smart TV consumer TV Survey 2012, 6 March 2013 on www.telecompetitor.com website
- [9] European Commission. Ecodesign Directive Draft Regulation for amending Commission Regulation (EC) No 1275/2008 with regard to Ecodesign requirements for standby, off mode electric power consumption of electrical and electronic household and office equipment, page 2. Can be downloaded at: www.powerint.com/sites/default/files/greenroom/docs/DraftRegulationNetworkedStandby\_forRe gulatoryCommittee.pdf
- [10] Power Integrations. LinkSwitch-HP Data Sheet. February 2013. Can be downloaded at: www.powerint.com/en/products/linkswitch-family/linkswitch-hp
- [11] Power Integrations. RDR 313 Reference Design Report, September 2012. Can be downloaded at: www.powerint.com/sites/default/files/PDFFiles/rdr313.pdf

# Battery Charger Systems: The Next Cross-cutting Policy Opportunity to Address Plug Load Energy Use

Suzanne Foster Porter, Ecova

David Denkenerger, Ecova

Peter May-Ostendorp, Xergy Consulting

Pat Eilert, Pacific Gas and Electric

## Abstract

By rough estimate, 2 billion electronic products that contain battery charger systems (BCSs) are currently in use in Europe. Bar code scanners, electric fork lifts and carts, cordless and cellular phones, and cordless appliances and tools are all examples of products that rely on BCSs. These products offer substantial economic and environmental advantages over those with throwaway batteries and are more convenient than corded products.

Efforts to improve the efficiency of ac-dc power conversion through internationally harmonized external power supply (EPS) minimum energy performance standards (MEPS) have resulted in substantial savings. Battery chargers represent another horizontal energy efficiency policy opportunity that can build on the success of EPS MEPS and again allow policymakers to address the energy use of many product types at once. Energy savings from BCS MEPS in California are expected to be 2 TWh per year after total stock turnover, equivalent to nearly one medium-sized coal power plant (1 Rosenfeld), about the same amount of electricity used by all the homes of Cyprus.

This paper provides a summary of the current battery charger policies in the U.S., including the MEPS adopted by the California Energy Commission in 2012 and those currently under consideration by the U.S. Department of Energy (DOE), as well as a discussion of the advantages and disadvantages of each U.S. policy approach. The authors also discuss possible interaction with EPS and European standby policy.

## Introduction

In 1974 California's legislature created the California Energy Commission (CEC) with the primary mission of developing the state's energy policy and plan. One of its many activities in support of that mission is to routinely develop, evaluate and adopt new appliance and lighting minimum energy performance standards (MEPS). Its authority is typically limited to those appliances and lighting applications that are not already covered by U.S. federal MEPS and only to measures that deliver cost-effective savings. This framework encourages California to be a "scout" for emerging MEPS opportunities that are not yet addressed by many policymakers.

The CEC has adopted more than 30 appliance standards since its inception, some of which have helped to lay the foundation for U.S. and even international MEPS. The initiative to reduce external power supply (EPS) energy use is a successful example of California stakeholders working with national and international partners to support a common testing and policy approach. Harmonization sent a clear message to Asia-based manufacturers regarding testing and requirements, supporting compliance in all jurisdictions and reducing the testing and design burden on manufacturers.

A similar harmonization opportunity exists for battery chargers. The CEC recently adopted the world's first battery charger system (BCS) MEPS that addresses many domestic, commercial, and industrial BCSs. Like external power supplies, the domestic systems are often manufactured in Asia, branded, and then distributed world-wide. They are fundamentally a portable power system (like EPSs), and they represent a relatively new opportunity without policy or test procedure precedent that can make harmonization more difficult to achieve. Given the large energy savings opportunity associated with battery chargers, leveraging the current U.S. policy activity to deliver energy savings outside of the U.S. is a promising opportunity to globally address electronics energy use.

Product Group	California Annual Energy Savings (TWh/year)*	Compliance Date	Other policy efforts supported by California MEPS action
External power supplies [1]	1	July 1, 2006 and July 1, 2008	International harmonization on metrics, test procedure and MEPS
Televisions [2]	6	January 1, 2011	Improved U.S. DOE test procedure
Battery Chargers [3]	2	Feb 1, 2013	Supported the development of a federal test procedure that included active mode
Pay television set- top boxes [4]	0.5	Currently unde Energy Commi	er consideration by the California ssion
Residential network equipment [4]	0.4		
Desktop and laptop computers[4]	2		
Computer monitors [4]	1		
Game consoles [4]	0.6		

Table 1: Current and Planned Electronics MEPS in	California
--	------------

\* Energy savings in California after complete stock turnover; table does not include digital television adaptors, which were an interim product developed for the U.S. transition to digital television broadcasting.

## **BCS** Overview

While many modern electrical appliances receive their power directly from the utility grid, a growing number of everyday devices require electrical power from batteries in order to achieve greater mobility and convenience. BCSs are used to recharge these batteries when their energy has been drained. BCSs take high-voltage alternating current from the wall outlet and convert it into lower voltage direct current that can be used to charge common battery chemistries. This basic function is common to all

battery charging systems, regardless of whether the battery-powered product is a cordless shaver, an uninterruptible power supply (UPS), or an electric vehicle. These systems are employed by a variety of end uses, from low power cell phones to high power industrial forklifts (also known as lift-trucks).



Figure 1: Various battery powered devices and their relative battery capacities [5]

Half of all electronic products in the U.S. contain BCSs and these systems draw nearly one-fifth of total energy used by electronic products in the U.S. [6]. Improving the efficiency of these systems is second only to ac-dc power supplies as a key horizontal strategy for improving the efficiency of all electronic products [7].



Figure 2: Battery chargers as the second opportunity to improve the efficiency of multiple electronic products [8]

All BCSs have three functional components:

- A power supply (either internal or external) that converts high voltage ac (either single phase or three phase) to low voltage dc;
- Charge control to regulate electric current going to the battery during charge and battery maintenance modes;
- A battery that stores energy for the end use product.

Battery chargers have three primary modes of operation: charge mode, maintenance mode, and nobattery mode (Figure 3). During charge mode, the battery charger delivers energy to the battery to bring the battery from a state of discharge to a state of charge. When the battery is at or near 100% capacity, many battery chargers will continue to deliver some amount of energy to the battery to counteract the effects of battery self discharge. This mode of operation is referred to as battery maintenance mode. In no-battery mode, the battery is removed from the power supply or charger cradle (e.g. when a cordless phone or power tool is removed from its charging base). The battery charger may still draw power in this mode even though no battery is connected to the system.



#### Figure 3: Switch-Mode Battery Charger Power Profile

Efficiency differences are evident, even when comparing nearly identical products. Figure 2, below, shows test results of two, 7 volt lithium ion power tools available commercially. The charger on the left is a linear design, which is 24% efficient over a 24-hour charge and maintenance cycle (see "Test Standard"). The charger on the right is switch-mode design and is nearly twice as efficient over the same 24-hour period with significantly less energy used in battery maintenance and no-battery modes.

Tool Charger	Tool Charger
Li-Ion battery	Li-Ion Battery
24% 24-hr Efficiency	43% 24-hr Efficiency
Maintenance Power: 0.5 W	Maintenance Power: 0.2 W

#### Figure 3: Power tool efficiency comparison [9]

Domestic battery charger systems can be cost-effectively improved through three key approaches:

*Increasing the efficiency of ac-dc power conversion.* Many of the internal and external power supplies for today's domestic BCSs do not yet incorporate best-in-market technology for power conversion. While some battery chargers that operate with external power supplies incorporate higher efficiency designs that meet external power supply MEPS, battery chargers with internal power supplies are not subject to any requirements. In some battery charger system markets (such as portable cordless power tool markets), there are no market drivers to improve the power supply efficiency in the absence of MEPS.

*Improving charge control, with an emphasis on effective charge termination.* Although lithium based battery chemistries typically employ some method of charge termination to ensure consumer safety, other battery chemistries, such as nickel cadmium and nickel metal hydride, can employ much simpler charge control approaches that overcharge the batteries for long periods of time. Overcharging heats up the battery, reduces its lifetime, and consumes more energy than more sophisticated charge control approaches. Voltage comparator and other charge control circuits can be implemented to enable a much lower trickle current, or hysteresis charge can be employed to counteract self-discharge periodically.

*Power scaling: reducing power draw when less functionality is required.* Currently, some domestic BCSs that incorporate additional consumer functionality do not effectively reduce power draw when these functions are "turned off" by the user. One example is a BCS that incorporates answering machine capability for a cordless landline phone. No-battery and battery maintenance power can be reduced by ensuring the button used to power off the answering machine function also cuts off power to the relevant circuitry. This helps ensure that when consumers are not using the answering machine, they are also not "paying" for that function on their electric bill. Circuit design options for improving power scaling vary. Reducing "no load" power supply losses are well understood and widely employed.

Although energy savings opportunities exist to employ efficient battery chemistries, the MEPS in California do not require battery chemistry changes in order to comply. Costs of more efficient battery chemistries are falling, but many opportunities to increase efficiency exist even without total market shift to more efficient chemistries. The list of BCSs compliant with California MEPS features all domestic battery chemistries, including nickel, lithium, and lead-based chemistries [10]. California estimated a 7:1 benefit to cost ratio based on California electricity prices, making the improvements highlighted above very cost-effective to citizens of California [11].

## **Energy Savings Opportunities**

Because battery chargers systems are incorporated into so many different end use products, the energy use and savings opportunities are extensive. Table 2 below represents our estimate of energy savings opportunity from the battery charger systems in power tools and lawn maintenance tools, phones and phone accessories, cameras, personal care appliances, laptops, auto/marine chargers, domestic uninterruptible power supplies, low-speed personal electric vehicles, and golf carts. Also, it includes non-consumer categories of emergency backup lighting for buildings, handheld barcode scanners, two-way radios, and forklifts. We derived these estimates by translating U.S. energy savings analyses for battery chargers to other regions based on a gross domestic product (GDP) weighting approach. This approach provides a first-order approximation of global energy savings potential if policy implemented is similar to MEPS implemented in California. In our experience, battery chargers are one of the largest untapped energy savings opportunities. There are multiple power plants worth of savings in several regions, including Europe, China, and Japan.

Territory or Region	Savings (TWh)
California [9]	2
North America	20
Europe	20
China	9
Australia/New Zealand	2
Brazil	3
Japan	7
South Korea	1

The California estimate was originally closer to 3 TWh, but the final standard was not quite as stringent and had some more exemptions. We scaled from California to other jurisdictions by GDP market exchange. Though purchasing power parity GDP is appropriate for local consumption with lower local wage rates, electronics tend to come from overseas, so the market exchange is more appropriate.

The only study we are aware of outside of the U.S. on battery charging systems is one done by BIOIS in Europe [12]. Though the authors state that battery chargers only consume a few percent of the total energy of battery chargers and EPSs, this is defining a battery charger as a system with no other purpose, e.g. charging AA batteries. If battery charger system is defined more broadly and all modes of operation are considered, the energy savings opportunity goes up considerably, and so we believe our estimates are consistent with this study.

## U.S. Policy Overview

#### Test standard

In 2005 the U.S. Department of Energy (US DOE) was directed by the U.S. Congress to create aMEPS for battery chargers, including developing an official test standard. An initial test standard that only covered the low-power modes of battery chargers was last revised in the U.S. in 2009, and then amended in 2011 to include the active mode charging efficiency [13]. The final test standard relies heavily upon the California test procedure adopted in 2008 with some important improvements and amendments. This test standard focuses on domestic BCSs. California also has a test standard (and MEPS) for larger commercial and industrial systems [14].

Small and large BCSs differ in design and application, so the measurements and metrics of charge mode efficiency are different for each. For small BCSs, charge mode efficiency is defined over a 24-hour period. Power conversion efficiency (ac to dc) and charge return factor (amount of charge (Coulombs) into the battery divided by amount of charge out) determine the charge mode efficiency in large chargers. The power drawn in battery maintenance and no-battery modes is also an important factor for all types of chargers. Table 3 below provides a snapshot of these test procedure outputs and their respective ranges measured in the lab.

	Small Battery Chargers	Large Battery Charg	jers
Active mode metrics	24-hr System Efficiency	Charge Return Factor	Power Conversion Efficiency
	2% - 71%	1.34 - 1.05	74% - 93%
Maintenance Power Range	0.12 W - 70 W	0.04 W - 290 W	
No-Battery Power Range	0.05 W - 70 W	0.04 W - 280 W	

#### Table 3: Snapshot of Unregulated Battery Charger Performance Ranges

In practice, 24-hour system efficiency can be replaced with 24-hour charge energy if the amount of charge energy allowed by the MEPS scales with the associated battery's energy capacity in watt-hours. An energy metric, instead of an efficiency metric may be a better conceptual approach in some cases, as the 24-hour energy can include additional low power functions that cannot be turned off by the consumer. We use 24-hour efficiency for this discussion as it enables us to easily compare efficiency ranges across the full range of battery capacity.

#### MEPS approaches

Although U.S. stakeholders achieved general agreement on test standards, the U.S. DOE and California take different approaches to regulating energy use of these systems (Table 4). California's authority to regulate not only domestic, but also commercial and industrial battery chargers gives the MEPS a more expansive scope than DOE's more limited authority focused on consumer products only. Also, DOE generally prefers to have one metric to use for regulation, and so combines the outputs of the test procedure with assumptions about representative product duty cycle to enable a single annual energy use metric. While annual energy use can be an effective approach to address the energy use of more homogeneous product groups, products that are powered by battery charger systems vary widely, even within one DOE product class. For example, both laptops and power tools are within DOE product class 4. Because not much data exist on the field operation of the more than 50 individual end uses that incorporate battery charger systems, California chose two metrics focused on low power modes (no battery mode and maintenance mode) and active mode. By focusing on modal power rather than annual energy use, California mitigated the risk that a product could meet the MEPS but not actually save energy in the field because its actual use could be vastly different

from the duty cycle assumed for the representative product. This metric is more similar to the external power supply metric approach adopted world-wide.

	U.S. DOE	California
Scope	Domestic only (includes golf carts)	Domestic, commercial and industrial
Metric	Annual Energy Use (kWh)	24 hour charge energy, combined low power limit
Product classes/categories	10 categories defined by battery voltage and charger utility	4 categories defined by battery charger utility: operation in a wet environment, backup power, general, and large (>2 kW)
Approach to scale within each product class	TBD	Continuous function that changes as the battery energy capacity changes
Effective Date	TBD; range includes 2015 to 2018	February 1, 2013 domestic for general BCSs, inductive and USB chargers; January 1, 2017 for small non- consumer products; January 1, 2014 large BCS and USB BCS
Status	Ongoing, latest action was request for information from stakeholders given recent compliance requirement in California	Complete

## Table 4: U.S. approaches to MEPS

Lastly, California divides battery charger systems into four product classes, whereas DOE has ten product classes. Ten product classes, each with a representative product, helps increase the possibility that the product and duty cycle chosen is more representative than it would be with fewer classes, but does make the MEPS framework more complex than California's four classes.

## Standby and External Power Supply Policy Interaction

Although the U.S. and California do not have comprehensive MEPS for standby power, many regions of the world do. Also, some battery charger systems include an external power supply (EPS) as well, and questions of overlap in scope and modal definitions must be addressed to support a common understanding for policymakers and manufacturers alike. For example, no load power (EPS), no battery mode power (BCS), and off mode power could all apply to the same situation (e.g. a cell phone external power supply is plugged into an outlet but disconnected from the phone).

Table 5 summarizes EPS and standby policy for various regions of the world. Possible implications include:

- BCS MEPS may require lower no battery/maintenance power than current 0.5 and 1 W standby provisions in the EU, Korea, Australia, and other jurisdictions. This may affect certain small battery charging products like cell phones or consumer portable audio/video products.
- BCS MEPS may encourage the use of more efficient power supplies than currently required under MEPS in order to meet 24-hour efficiency targets. Although improvements in batteries and charge control circuitry are other technological pathways to achieve the same energy

performance, the EPS is often one of the less expensive pathways because of the maturity of the market and relative ease of this design change.

Overlap with EPS MEPS has been effectively addressed in U.S. and California. In California, manufacturers are required to meet both EPS and BCS MEPS for products that use both technologies. Although DOE has not finalized its rule, prior publically released documents indicate DOE will take a similar approach to the overlapping scope.

Jurisdiction	Standby Policy	EPS Policy
Australia & New Zealand	Expected 1 W in 2013	MEPS
EU	Eco-design 1 W standby directive	Eco-design directive
South Korea	1 W voluntary standby initiative	MEPS
China		MEPS
US		MEPS

**Table 5: Summary of International Policy** 

## Conclusion

Opportunities for other international jurisdictions to leverage California's cutting-edge MEPS when setting their own policies can support increased compliance and ease manufacturer burden, particularly for products like electronics that are often manufactured in Asia and shipped globally. Standby definitions and external power supply scope overlap would need to be carefully considered in each jurisdiction. The current world-wide opportunity to leverage U.S. and California test procedures and California MEPS for battery charging systems could save Europe alone as much as 20 TWh per year, which is roughly equivalent to the entire electricity use of Iceland.

## References

- [1] Rosenberg, M. (2010). *Benefits Assessment of Seven PIER-Sponsored Projects*. Prepared for the California Energy Commission by KEMA, CEC-500-2009-014.
- [2] California Energy Commission (2013). *Frequently Asked Questions FAQs, Energy Efficiency Standards for Televisions.* Can be downloaded at http://www.energy.ca.gov/appliances/tv\_faqs.html.
- [3] California Energy Commission (2011). Notice of Proposed Action. Proposed Amendments to Appliance Efficiency Regulations, California Code of Regulations, Title 20, Sections 1601 through 1607, Docket Number 11-AAER-2. Can be downloaded at <u>http://www.energy.ca.gov/appliances/battery\_chargers/notices/2011-10-07\_NOPA\_Battery\_Chargers.pdf</u>
- [4] California Investor Owned Utilities (2011). *Title 20 Efficiency Standards Scoping Workshop*. Can be downloaded at <u>http://www.energy.ca.gov/appliances/2012rulemaking/documents/2011-08-31 workshop/presentations/IOU Title 20 August 31 2011 Scoping Workshop FINAL.pdf</u>

- [5] Geist, T., H. Kameth, et al. (2006). Designing Battery Charger Systems for Improved Energy Efficiency: A Technical Primer, Prepared for the California Energy Commission Contract # 500-04-030, Brad Meister, Contract Manager.
- [6] Foster Porter S., Herb K. and Meister B. Beyond Power Supplies: Addressing Battery Charger Systems as the Second Common Denominator in Electronic Products. Proc. of the 2006 ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings. Ed.: American Council for an Energy-Efficient Economy, Washington: 2006. Can be downloaded at: <a href="http://aceee.org/conferences">http://aceee.org/conferences</a>
- [7] Foster, S. and C. Calwell. If We're Only Snoozing, We're Losing: Opportunities to Save Energy by Improving the Active Mode Efficiency of Consumer Electronics and Office Equipment. Proc. of the 2004 ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings. Ed.: American Council for an Energy-Efficient Economy, Washington: 2006. Can be downloaded at: http://aceee.org/conferences
- [8] PIER, *Tapping into Plug Load Savings*, Ecos, 2008. Can we downloaded at: <u>www.efficientproducts.org</u>
- [9] Foster Porter S., Bendt P., Swofford J. and Herbert, J. *Analysis of Standards Options for Battery Charger Systems*. Codes and Standards Enhancement Initiative For PY2010: Title 20 Standards Development. California Energy Commission, 2010. Can be downloaded at <a href="http://www.energy.ca.gov/appliances/battery chargers/documents/prerulemaking.html">http://www.energy.ca.gov/appliances/battery chargers/documents/prerulemaking.html</a>
- [10] California Energy Commission. Appliance Efficiency Database. Can be downloaded at: <u>http://www.appliances.energy.ca.gov/QuickSearch.aspx</u>. Accessed July 8, 2013.
- [11] California Energy Commission (2012). *Frequently Asked Questions, Energy Efficiency Standard for Battery Chargers*. Can be downloaded at: <u>http://www.energy.ca.gov/appliances/battery chargers/documents/Chargers FAQ.pdf</u>.
- [12] European Commission DG TREN, Preparatory Studies for Eco-design Requirements of EuPs [Contract N°TREN/D1/40-2005/LOT7/S07.56433] Lot 7 Battery chargers and external power supplies Final Report, January 23, 2007
- [13] 2011-06-01 Energy Conservation Program for Certain Consumer Appliances: Test Procedures for Battery Chargers and External Power Supplies; Final rule. United States Department of Energy. Can be downloaded at: <u>http://www.regulations.gov</u>
- [14] Foster Porter S., Bendt P., Geist T., Kamath H., Smith J., Gaillac L. And Salazar J. Energy Efficiency Battery Charger Test Procedure Version 2.2, November 2008. Adopted by the California Energy Commission. Development funded by: Pacific Gas & Electric Co., California Energy Commission-Public Interest Energy Research (PIER) Program and Southern California Edison. Can be downloaded at: <u>http://www.energy.ca.gov</u>

## Potential for Energy Savings for Personal Video Recorders in Australia.

## Keith Jones and Paul Ryan

## Abstract

Personal Video Recorders (PVRs) continue to have increased popularity among consumers. They offer consumers recording, time slipping and replay of TV broadcasts as well as access to the internet to stream video and audio content from websites such as YouTube. Currently in Australia subscription television providers have STBs with recording capability and the energy consumption for these devices is covered under the Australian Conditional Access Set Top Box Code of Conduct (CSTB CoC), however, no programme exists for the free to air counterparts.

This paper reports the findings of a study conducted by Digital CEnergy Australia (DCA) that characterized the energy consumption of video recorders (VRs), assessed the market for VRs and the resulting energy consumption projected out to 2020. Modeling was conducted for low, medium and high market growth scenarios. In this paper only the medium modeling is reported in detail. The study also conducted measurements on 11 VRs available in the Australian market. The results of these measurements were used for the subsequent energy consumption modeling.

The result of the study showed that using similar limits as exist in the CSTB CoC that potential cumulative energy savings of up to 400GWh and cumulative carbon savings of around 340 kT by 2020. The report concludes that there is significant potential for energy savings through the implementation of a VR energy consumption programme.

## Background

Since 2001 Australia has been in the process of converting its free-to-air (FTA) television broadcasting from analogue technology to digital technology. This has seen the replacement of traditional video cassette recorders (VCRs) with digital video recorders (DVRs). These devices are also known as Personal Video Recorders (PVRs) and simply VRs. VRs, PVRs and DVRs have storage devices in the form of hard disk drives (HDD) and optical disks (DVD<sup>1</sup> and Blu-ray<sup>2</sup>). In this report the term VR will be used to describe all types of digital video recorders. New forms of recorders have emerged that contain combinations of HDDs and Optical disks.

These digital devices have not only replaced the functionality of VCRs but have also spawned new uses of recording equipment such as time shifting of programmes and real time review and playback of the programmes being watched.

VRs have been in the market for several years but more recently VRs with removable optical media have also emerged. The removable media are in the form of Blu-ray disc (BD) and DVD generally referred to as optical disks. All types of VRs are showing very strong growth according to GfK retail sales data [1].

## Product Coverage

Video recorders are the group of equipment which receive free to air digital TV broadcasts and can record these broadcasts. Video recorders include Removable Optical Disk recorders (DVD, BD). BD recorders operate in a similar manner to DVD recorders but have a higher memory capacity allowing them to record high definition programmes which can be played back on HD TVs. Solid state recorders have either fixed or removable solid state memory.

Video recording technology is expanding rapidly and has seen the optical disk/HDD become more widely available. Increasingly, the fixed media recording devices (with HDD) are penetrating the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> DVD is a trademark of the DVD Format/Logo Licensing Corporation

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Blu-ray is a trademark of the Blu-ray Disc Association

Australian consumer market. The sale of VRs in Australia are estimated at 300,000 units per annum between 2007 and 2010 [1] and the population of VRs in Australia is estimated at around 1 Million units in 2010.

Nearly all VRs can receive and decode free to air digital TV high definition broadcasts.

Video Cassette Recorders, generally known as VCRs, are now largely obsolete.

## Australian VR Market Growth

The forecasts in this paper are based on a number of assumptions and, like all forecasts, the end result will depend on how robust the assumptions are. For this study low, mid and high growth forecasts have been produced. They have been produced by considering the growth rate that is clear in the GfK data between 2009 and 2010. Another factor is the market saturation point, that is, how many homes are likely to buy an STB or VR. The last factor in the assumptions is the life of the product itself.

The actual growth of the VR market between 2009 and 2010 is shown in Table 1.

#### Table 1: Sales Growth of VRs between 2009 and 2010 (GfK 2009 - 2010)

Product Type	Growth
HDD VRs	+29.5%
Optical Disks Plus HDD VRs	+14.4%
Total VR Growth	+19.4%

VRs with HDD have a higher growth rate but VRs with optical disk drives and HDDs still have double digit growth. This is likely to be because VRs with a DVD or BD as well as a HDD are a newer product and the growth rate has not peaked yet. It is unlikely that these growth rates would continue in the long term because they will quickly saturate the market and growth will slow to the level determined by replacement of old units.

The study conducted by Digital CEnergy Australia used low, medium and high growth models, but in this paper only the medium growth model is presented. Table 2 shows the assumptions that have been made for the modeling.

Table 2: Assumptions	or the medium market	projections for VRs.
----------------------	----------------------	----------------------

Assumption	Medium Model
Growth	2011-2012 - 25%
	2013 – 2014 20%
	2015 – 15%
	2016 -2020 10% falling
	to 2% in 2020
VRs per House Hold	0.625
Usable Life	5 Years
Stock as at 2009	1M

The growth rate is based on the actual growth between 2009 and 2010 and the level of growth that is likely between 2010 and 2020 to achieve a saturated market at the levels of VRs per household stated for each model.

The usable life has been based on experience with STBs over the last 10 years. The main failures are in the power supply and the HDD unit. Some replacement will also occur as consumers seek to update their units to newer technology such as IPTV and MPEG 4 capable STBs and VRs.

The stock levels are based on GfK data from 2003 – 2010.

Figure 1 shows the market trend for STBs and VRs based on GfK data up to 2010 and provides a forecast to 2020.



Figure 1: Mid Sales Growth Model for the VR market growth from 2009 with forecast from 2011-2020

This scenario has the market saturating at around 5 million units most of which will be purchased post 2012.

## **Energy Consumption Testing**

Home electronics are estimated to be responsible for at least 5% of household energy consumption in Australia, making it larger than the combined energy consumption of clothes washers, dishwashers and dryers [2].

The International Energy Agency (IEA) [3] estimates that overall, home electronics and ICT products accounted for 15% of global residential energy consumption (700TWh/yr), and that energy use from these devices will increase threefold by 2030, and are likely to comprise the biggest end-use category in many countries before 2020. The video recorders considered here are a major part of this overall category.

#### **Product Coverage**

The video recorders tested include the following:

- Video Recorders that contain HDDs
- Video Recorders that contain DVD recorders and HDDs
- Video Recorders that contain BD recorders and HDDs.

All video recorders tested were manufactured outside Australia. The market is dominated by companies based in Japan, Korea and China with the manufacture taking place in a diverse range of countries, mainly throughout Asia.

#### **Description of Video Recorders Tested**

Nine units were tested, all of which had hard drives. The HDD capacity varied from 160 GB to 1 TB. This information is summarized in Table 3.

#### Table 3: Video Recorders.

Model	Make	Туре	HDD Capacity	DVD or BD	Number of Tuners
HHR787	Healing	DVR	500GB	N/A	2
SRT5495A	Strong	DVR	500GB	N/A	2
HDR2700T	TEAC	DVR	500GB	N/A	2
DMR-PWT500GL	Panasonic	DVR	320GB	Both	2
BD-8900A	Samsung	BD-HDD Combo	1 TB	Both	2
RDR-HDC300	Sony	DVD-HDD Combo	320GB	DVD	1
RH397D	LG	DVD-HDD Combo	160GB	DVD	1
HR698D	LG	BD-HDD Combo	250GB	Both	2
HDR-7500T	HUMAX	DVR	1 TB	N/A	2

A mix of brands was selected to ensure a good selection of well-known and lesser-known brands was tested. The selection included a mix of BD and DVD combination units as they are becoming popular choices of recording devices. Finally video recorders with only HDD recording were also included as they also represent popular consumer choices for both recording and displaying DTV broadcasts on an analogue television. All the VRs tested were capable of decoding high definition (HD) television signals.

#### Standards available for Video Recorder Power Consumption Testing

The only Australian Standard identified for testing video recorder power consumption was AS/NZS 62087.1:2010. This standard is based on IEC 62087 Ed 2. The section of AS/NZS 62087 that covers video recorders was found to be more concerned with VCRs and had not been updated for over 10 years. Therefore the standard was inadequate to cover the range of measurements that needed to be made with current VRs.

IEC 62087 Ed 3:2011 was studied as it contained an update to the power measurement of STBs that covered STBs with HDDs which is one of the categories of product covered by this document.

This study identified that with little modification all the operating modes of the VRs were covered in the STB section of IEC 62087 Ed3 with the exception of recording and playing optical discs. Using IEC 62087 Ed3 as the basic measuring standard and adding measurements for the optical disk operation produced an acceptable test method. Appendix A contains the measuring method used for the testing. The IEC TC 100 committee is currently revising IEC 62087 to update the video recorder section. The committee raft for this work is currently being circulated and is strongly based on the STB method of power measurement in IEC 62087 Ed3. For these reasons the IEC 62087 Ed3 was selected as the test method for STBs and VRs with the proposed Ed 4 requirements for VRs with removable Optical Media.

#### Power Modes

Table 4 shows the power modes for VRs and STBs from IEC 62087 Ed3. To make some of the terminology clearer for the testing in this report some of the modes have been clarified. This is shown in the third column of Table 4. Most of the clarification is concerned with examples of VR activity in the respective power modes.

#### Table 4: VR Power modes

Mode	Video recording equipment	
(e.g. VCR)	Comment	
Disconnected	The appliance is disconnected from all external power sources	
Off	The appliance is connected to a power source, does not perform any mechanical function (e.g. playing, recording) and cannot be switched into any other mode with the remote control unit, an external or internal signal	
Standby-passive	The appliance is connected to a power source, does not perform any mechanical function (e.g. playing, recording), does not produce video or audio output signals but can be switched into another mode with the remote control unit or an internal signal	This is the most common form of standby for STBs and VRs. This mode covers VRs that have been programmed to record a future programme and are waiting for a timer to signal that the recording is due and turn on the VR to record
Standby- active, low	Standby-passive and can additionally be switched into another mode with an external signal	This is not a common mode for terrestrial FTA VRs
Standby-active, high	Standby-active, low and is exchanging/ receiving data with/from an external source	This would cover downloading Electronic Programme Guides
On (Play)	The appliance is connected to a power source and plays the disc inside the appliance or a pre-recorded programme	
On (Broadcast)	The appliance is performing the function of providing a viewer with video and audio from a broadcast	
On (Record)	The appliance is connected to a power source and records a signal from an external or internal source	This could include copying HDD programmes to a DVD or BD.
On (Multifunction)	The appliance is performing multiple functions simultaneously	For example recording one programme at the same time as playing a previously recorded programme

#### **Test Process**

Testing for STBs and VRs was done according to IEC 62087 Ed3:2011 Section 8. This is the latest international standard for STB testing. For the VRs this included the testing for multiple tuner operation including multiple recording and playback.

#### **Test Results and Analysis**

Video Recorder Standby Test Results

The standby results for video recorders are shown in Table 5.

#### Table 5: Video Recorder Standby Test Results

Model	Туре	Standby Power (W)	Standby Power Factor (PF)	Standby (Recording Programme)	Standby (Recording Programme) PF
HHR787	DVR	0.64	0.17	0.6	0.17
SRT5495A	DVR	0.66	0.22	0.6	0.22
HDR2700T	DVR	0.70	0.17	12.2	0.49
HDR-7500T	DVR	0.83	0.14	0.8	0.14
DMR-PWT500GL	BD-HDD Combo	1.12	0.28	1.1	0.28
BD-8900A	BD-HDD Combo	1.48	0.25	1.5	0.25
RDR-HDC300	DVD-HDD Combo	3.37	0.39	3.4	0.39
RH397D	DVD-HDD Combo	2.78	0.35	2.8	0.35
HR698D	BD-HDD Combo	0.78	0.19	0.8	0.16

These results show that except for the HR698D the VRs with BD or DVD disks performed worse for standby than the VRs that only had a HDD. The passive standby mode was activated by programming a recording 2 hours into the future and then turning the VR into standby. As is evident from the results three of the four VRs with only HDD had an active standby similar to the passive standby whereas the model HDR2700 was considerably higher at 12.1W.

The VRs with optical disks all had similar active standby power consumption as their passive standby consumption. This would suggest that all VRs except the HDR2700T have a low power wake up processor that stores the time for the recording and will switch the recorder on at that time to record the programme. As is shown in the next section the active standby for the HDR2700T is only 0.6W lower than the On mode. This would indicate that in active standby this VR is only muting audio and blanking video.

#### On Mode Test Results

Table 6 and Table 7 show the On mode results for the STBs and VRs tested. For this test the On (Broadcast) mode was used. The output was connected to the display via HDMI cable. The results show that for On (Broadcast) the STBs were well within the allowable On (Broadcast) for STBs as specified in AS/NZS 62087.2.1. Both these STBs are High Definition and given the passive standby mode results for them, they would have a base allowance of 15 Watts.

Model	Туре	On	PF
HHR787	DVR-HDD Only	12.0	0.54
SRT5495A	DVR-HDD Only	20.3	0.57
HDR2700T	DVR-HDD Only	12.8	0.50
HDR-7500T	DVR-HDD Only	19.8	0.53
DMR-PWT500GL	BD-HDD Combo	20.5	0.56
BD-8900A	BD-HDD Combo	24.8	0.59
RDR-HDC300	DVD-HDD Combo	18.8	0.57
RH397D	DVD-HDD Combo	22.4	0.54
HR698D	BD-HDD Combo	20.1	0.58

#### Table 6: Video Recorder On(Broadcast) Test Results

Figure 2: The spread of On (Broadcast) Power consumption for the categories of VRs.



Figure 2 shows graphically the spread of power consumption for the three categories of VR. What is clear is the VRs with optical discs are consuming somewhat more power than VRs that do not have optical discs. It is also clear that VRs without optical drives have a larger spread of power consumption than VRs with optical drives. The reason for this is unclear as the optical drives are not being operated in this mode. One explanation for the power difference between the units could be whether the HDD is spinning regardless of any recording activity. However, other studies have concluded that the power consumption of a spinning disk drive should be less than 5W.

It also seems that DVD combo types consume a little less power than BD combo types.

Comparison of power consumption verses HDD Capacity

Figure 3 shows the power consumption for On (Play) and On (Record) by HDD Capacity.



Figure 3: On (Record) and On (Play) power consumption verses HDD Capacity

The chart does not show any significant trend between the disk size and the associated power consumption. The highest power consumption is for one of the 1 TB HDDs but the other 1 TB HDD is consuming less power than the 160 GB drive and the lowest power consumption is actually being achieved with a 500GB HDD. The second highest power consumption is from the 160 GB drive.

This means that it will not be wise to try and separate product into categories based on HDD capacity.

Comparison of power consumption for VRs with and without Optical Disc Drives

Figure 4 shows the power consumption of VRs with and without optical disk drives. Although the models with an optical disc drive exhibit on average higher power consumption some are actually below some of the models that do not have an optical disc drive. It may be also hard to categorize VRs on the basis of whether they have an optical disk drive. An alternative scheme is presented in the conclusions section.

Figure 4: Comparison of power consumption for VRs with only a HDD and those with an Optical Disc Drive.



## STB and VR Energy Use Modeling

#### Proposed Energy Use Profile

#### Australian Code of Conduct for CSTB

The Australian Voluntary Code for CSTBs is based on the European Union voluntary code. It contains functional adders that can form the basis for the allowances applicable to VRs for such features as recording. The CSTB Voluntary Code can be applied to determine the typical (annual) energy consumption (TEC) limits for the range of products from STBs to VR with and without removable optical media.

Allowances used for Business as Usual (BAU) Modeling.

Table 7 shows the allowances used for the BAU Modeling.

#### Table 7: Allowances used for BAU modeling.

Allowance Type	Allowance Level kWh/Year
Base Allowance	15
Additional Tuners	7
Adv. Video Processing	0
DVR	8
Home Network Interface	18
High Definition	0

The allowances have been calculated based on the measurements of the VRs tested and available information on how much power the features are likely to require. They are also predicated on

automatic power down (APD) being a requirement for any implemented programme which means that the On mode time per day is restricted to 4.5 hours if no one is watching the STB services.

An allowance for an optical disc drive has not been provided as it is not clear what this allowance should be. As can be seen from the reported measurements for a number of DVD/BD recorders, there was no difference in the power consumption whether the DVD/BD disk was playing or not. Also it is clear from the Top Runner program in Japan that average DVD/BD disc use is only about one hour per day so the contribution to energy use is actually very small. A determination on this allowance can be made at a future time.

#### General

This BAU modeling has used the allowances as explained in the previous section and the market data provided in this paper. The medium growth scenario has been modeled for VRs based on a regulatory framework from late 2014 which is the earliest practical year any regulation could be developed and implemented.

Table 8 shows the conversion factors to derive the  $CO_2$  emissions for each year. These are the same as those used for the CSTB BAU modeling. As the CSTB CoC is the only other programme in Australia that covers STBs with recording capability it seems useful to use the same conversion figures.

The TEC for each unit tested has been calculated and then the average for the VRs has been used to calculate the energy use. The VRs have not been split into those with and without optical disk drives because the relative proportion of the population in 2010 for each type cannot be readily determined. The average of all VRs is a reasonable representation of the overall energy use.

Year	kg/kWh
2009	0.99
2010	0.98
2011	0.96
2012	0.95
2013	0.93
2014	0.92
2015	0.90
2016	0.88
2017	0.86
2018	0.85
2019	0.83

#### Table 8: Energy use to CO<sub>2</sub> conversion factors for each year.

#### BAU for the Medium Growth Scenario

Table 9:  $CO_2$  emissions for the Mid Growth Scenario. shows the energy use for the medium growth scenario. For this scenario the energy use stabilizes after the MEPS becomes effect effective in 2015. This is due to older less efficient STBs being replaced after 2015 and the population of STBs still increasing with greater market penetration. If a second tier of MEPS was introduced in 2018 then there would be additional savings expected beyond 2018.

By 2020 the cumulative energy savings would be 400 GWh. At a minimum project cost of 29 cents/kWh this would total around \$117 million.

Year	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020
MEPS GWh	106.0	117.9	137.0	164.9	201.7	249.1	265.1	282.2	298.6	313.9	326.8	337.0
BAU GWh	106.0	117.9	137.0	164.9	201.7	249.1	284.6	322.6	359.0	393.0	421.7	444.4
MEPS CO2 kt	105.3	115.5	132.0	156.3	188.0	228.3	238.7	249.1	258.2	265.9	270.9	273.4
BAU CO2 kt	105.3	115.5	132.0	156.3	188.0	228.3	256.3	284.7	310.5	332.9	349.6	360.5

Table 9: CO<sub>2</sub> emissions for the Mid Growth Scenario.

Table 9 shows the CO2 savings to 2020. The cumulative savings of CO2 are 338 kT from 2009-2020.

Figure 5: BAU vs. Proposed MEPS Limits for CO<sub>2</sub> emissions – Mid Growth Model.



#### Conclusions

#### VR Market

The VR market is growing significantly and is expected to continue well into the future as consumers see benefit in the recording features that they offer. High in importance is the ability to time shift programmes so that they can be viewed at a more suitable time than when they were broadcast. The recorders also offer the ability to series record so that no episode of a series is missed. This also allows the viewer to watch the series again. VRs with optical disk also offer the ability to move recordings to DVD or BD disks for archiving. The combination of these benefits would indicate that the market for VRs is strong and will get stronger.

It is expected that by 2020 the VR market will be between 800,000 and 1,400,000 units annually and the stock allowing for replacement will be 4 and 6 Million. The stock as at 2012 is around 2 Million so between 2 and 4 Million units will be added before 2020.

#### DTV STB Market

The demand for STBs was fundamentally tied to the switchover from analogue to digital TV. This process is nearing completion and all TVs now sold in Australia have digital tuners. The STB market therefore has now begun a sharp decline and will become a market for FTA satellite services by 2020. By 2020 there will be less than 100,000 units sold annually and the stock will have declined to around 800,000.

#### IPTV STB Market

It is difficult to estimate this market as it is very embryonic. It is clear, however, that it is likely to grow quite significantly. With 8 million households in Australia, even if penetration is at the level of subscription television, it is likely that the market will be at least 3 million by 2020.

#### Power Test Results

The following conclusions have been drawn from the discussion of the power testing results:

- It is difficult to categorise VRs based on their functional attributes such as optical drives or HDD capacity.
- A VR is basically an STB with additional recording functions so the Australian Conditional Access STB Code of Conduct can be used as a basis for MEPS.

There is scope for better power management with regard to tuners and HDD operation.

The basic element of a VR is a tuner and decoder chip set. This is functionally the same as used for an STB. What distinguishes a VR from an STB is the additional tuners and recording mechanism that allow the recording and/or playback of multiple programmes. In the case of VRs that have optical drives, the distinguishing features are the optical drive and the additional components that make that drive functional. Nearly all VRs have at least an HDD. As will be seen in Part 2 of this profile there is little market evidence of VRs that only contain an optical disk drive.

Rather than trying to categorize VRs by the HDD capacity or the type of recorder in them, it is proposed that the same approach be taken as for the Australian Conditional Access STB Code of Conduct or the European Voluntary Agreement for STBs which provide a base level for a receiver (STB) and then applies adders to make allowances for the increased functionality for the various forms of VRs. It is also recommended that this approach be a TEC approach

Given the power consumption measurements for the STBs it is also clear that the base and additional allowances for free to air terrestrial based VRs in the Australian Conditional Access STB Code of Conduct needs to be reviewed.

Table 10 shows a summary of the savings for all three growth scenarios modeled in the DCA report. Clearly even for the low growth case there are significant savings to be obtained. For the high growth scenario the case for MEPS is even more compelling.

Growth Scenario	Energy Saving	CO2 Saving	Cost saving @ 29c/kWh
Low	218.6 GWh	184.4 kt	\$63.4 M
Mid	401.7 GWh	338.3 kt	\$117 M
High	457.1 GWh	384.4 kt	\$133.3 M

Table 10: Summar	v of Cumulative Sa	avinas for VRs to	2020 for the Three	e Growth Scenarios
	y or ournalative of	14111g5 101 4115 to		

It is also clear that given the declining market for terrestrial broadcast STBs that there may be little to gain in more stringent MEPS levels. However, this needs to be considered in the light of new types of STBs emerging such as IPTVs and STBs that can decode MPEG 4 or receive DVB T2 transmissions which can be used with TVs that lack these features to receive these services when they are offered in the future. For this reason there may still be good reason to include STBs and ensure that any new emerging technology STBs have appropriate MEPS levels.

## References

- [1] GFK 2009 and GFK 2011
- [2] www.energyrating.gov.au/.../2010-06-remp-heating-cooling.pdf
- [3] <u>www.iea.org/publications/TCEP\_web.pdf</u>

## Behave and save money in consumer electronics products

L. Carvalho<sup>a</sup>, F. Ferreira<sup>b</sup>, A.R. Antunes<sup>a</sup>, F. Alves<sup>a</sup>, S. Ramos<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Quercus – Associação Nacional de Conservação da Natureza

<sup>b</sup> CENSE / Faculdade de Ciências e Tecnologia da Universidade Nova de Lisboa

## Abstract

The household demand for consumer electronics products is rapidly increasing. Householders' behaviour is changing and is becoming more energy intensive, since they are spending additional time in several entertainment activities. This trend is causing an increase in the overall energy consumption, partially due to the products' standby and off-mode consumption. In addition, the lack of householders' awareness and sometimes unwillingness to change behaviours in order to eliminate standby and off-mode consumption is concerning as well.

One of the most effective approaches to raise householders' awareness to these issues and persuade them into behavioural changes is to give them specific recommendations and especially to demonstrate the impact of those recommendations on their electricity bill.

A study involving one thousand volunteer households in Portugal, between 2009 and 2011, highlighted that almost 60% of the households' electricity savings potential is related to entertainment and computing & telecommunication equipment. Within this category television sets (mainly CRT), in particular, DVD players and set-top boxes are the most widely used equipment in households, followed by HiFi systems and modems & routers.

The measurements and surveys carried out indicated that the participating families could save almost 2.6% of the annual average household electricity consumption by switching off the multiple sockets and shutting down or unplugging the consumer electronics equipment, but the remaining electricity savings potential is still 4.4%, equivalent to 30 €/year and corresponding to 41 kg CO<sub>2</sub>/year, per household. The correct use of set-top boxes and television sets alone are responsible for 50% of this savings potential.

## Background

The increasing energy demand observed over the years in the residential sector can be explained by more penetration of traditional home appliances and new electronic devices as a consequence of higher purchasing power. However, the responsibility for the rising of energy consumption must be shared with the dissemination of consumer electronics and with their design and marketing [1], since a major number these appliances are designed to be left in standby to facilitate updates [2].

The European Union (EU) has adopted several schemes and programmes to decrease the use of energy by consumer electronics. One is the ENERGY STAR, a two-decade voluntary programme started in the United States of America (USA) by the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and introduced in the EU in 2001, for office equipment only. This programme distinguishes, through a voluntary label that consumers can easily recognize, the products that comply with the energy efficiency standards [3]. The other is through the Ecodesign scheme, which specifies and restricts the maximum power consumption for standby and off-mode of electrical and electronic household and office equipment (Commission Regulation (EC) No. 1275/2008). This regulation states that the majority of consumer electronics present standby and off-mode losses, which were estimated to be 47 TWh in 2005 and could rise to 49 TWh in 2020, if no specific measures were taken [4]. In 2013 targeted regulation regarding various entertainment appliances and office equipment will be under discussion in the EU. Television sets were the first consumer electronics product to have an energy label, helping consumers to choose more energy efficient equipment.

In Portugal several studies have been undertaken to quantify the standby and off-mode losses of consumer electronics products. According to the REMODECE study, 14% of household electricity consumption in Portugal is spent in consumer electronics. Householders leave 85% of office equipment, like scanners, printers and copiers and 80% of entertainment equipment such as external hard drive and game console on off-mode when are not using the devices. Televisions sets and VHS recorders and cable/satellite set-top boxes stay in standby 50% and 43% of the cases, respectively, while for some office equipment (desktops, monitors and laptops) the rate is lower, 17% [5].

The SELINA project concluded that in 18.5% of the appliances measured in shops, the off-mode did not comply with the EU regulation limit for 2010 and if compared to the 2013 threshold the rate would rise to 41.5%. For the standby mode, 31% of the measured products did not observe the EU regulation limit and if compared to the 2013 threshold the figure would increase to 66.4%. Particularly for Portugal, another conclusion from this European study, revealed that the retailers' advice priorities and the shops information about energy consumption are insufficient and do not favour the consumers' choice [6].

Statistics data available for Portugal from periodic surveys, confirm the increase of consumer electronics products penetration rate in Portuguese households since 1995 (Figure 1) [7][8]. The last survey indicates that, per household, the average number of television sets is 2.0, 1.4 computers and 1.0 radio, HiFi system, printer and multifunction printer. Regarding the appliances electricity losses, the survey concludes that TV set is the appliance Portuguese households mostly leave on standby mode when not being in use, with 43.8%, followed by DVD player, HiFi system and radio which range from 21.5 to 17.8%. For the office equipment analysed, the multifunction printer has the highest share with 16.7%, the computer 10.4% and the printer 6.5% [9].



Figure 1 – Consumer electronic products penetration rate in Portuguese households [7][8]

## **Case study**

The previous studies recognize not only the enormous energy savings potential by standby and offmode elimination, but also that behaviour changes, like switching off electronic appliances is one of the most effective ways to achieve this goal [6][10].
The Ecofamilies II project was developed by Quercus, a leading Portuguese environmental nongovernmental organisation, and promoted by EDP Distribution under Consumption Efficiency Promotion Plan (PPEC) 2009-2010 monitored by the Energy Services Regulatory Authority (ERSE). Among other areas, the project aimed at reducing electricity waste in standby/off-mode consumptions of consumer electronics equipment and raising citizens' awareness to questions related to energy savings in their daily lives. The closer and contextualised contact with the families in their households enabled to show them how behavioural changes could reduce their energy consumption without interfering in their quality of life and also to highlight the correct behaviours already implemented. The fact that only voluntary families participated in the project was relevant since people who already have a positive environmental attitude tend to put into practice energy saving advices and behaviours more easily. Also the feedback that families received after the visit in the form of a short report with targeted energy saving tips encourages an active participation in the household energy management fulfilling the projects goals [11][12].

The project's target group was not limited to the participant families but also to the general community as to multiply its effect. Eleven short monthly TV shows, broadcast in national television, were produced in collaboration with the participating families to illustrate how the energy savings potential could be achieved. One of which was specifically dedicated to how to eliminate standby and off-mode consumptions in consumer electronics. Short radio shows, seminars, conferences and workshops were also undertaken to the general public and schools.

# Methodology

The project involved 1200 families whose registration was free of charge and voluntary as to engage more predisposed families to behavioural changes. All mainland districts were covered but most families lived in major urban centres near the coast line (72%). A thousand families were visited by trained technicians, but only data collected for 968 was considered valid. The overall participants, considering the family members, were 3017.

The evaluation of electricity savings potential due to standby/off-mode elimination of consumer electronics equipments was performed using a questionnaire and measurements with an energy data logger (Voltcraft Plus Energy Check 3000). In the questionnaires, the type and number of appliances, standby/off-mode consumptions and their usage habits by the family was registered. They were asked in which mode the equipments were left, when they were not being used, and for how long. During the visit, the family received a recommendation document regarding appliances energy usage and a multi-plug extension board with power switch to help them reduce the electricity consumption of standby/off-mode. The technicians involved the families in the assessment and demonstrated the correct behaviour for each appliance, enhanced the good practices already taken by the family and clarified their doubts. Only consumer electronic equipments on site were registered and measured.

The data collected was analysed to determine the savings potential in electricity, financial and environmental costs, in terms of  $CO_2$  emissions by behaviour change and the results were communicated to the families in a report along with specific and targeted recommendations on how to avoid specific energy consumption. The report also underlined and quantified, whenever possible, the positive behaviours and energy savings achievements already obtained by the family as a way to encourage the new recommended measures and the maintenance of the implement ones.

# Results

The project confirmed the increase in electricity consumption over the years and also the range and amount of home appliances in households, especially the consumer electronics equipments, when compared to a previous study developed by Quercus [13]. Each household spends on average 4002 kWh/year in electricity and 59% of the electricity savings potential is due to the entertainment (45%) and computing and telecommunication appliances (14%). Devices like TV sets, DVD readers and settop boxes are nowadays practically compulsory in every household whose penetration rate is 2.2, 0.85 and 0.83, respectively (Figure 2).



Figure 2 - Average number of consumer electronics equipments per household

The measurements and questionnaires made during the 2-years project indicate that typically this type of equipment has standby and/or off-mode consumption and is generally left in one of these modes when not being used. As shown in Figure 3, standby consumption was found mainly in entertainment equipment (43%) while off-mode consumption was more prevalent in computing & telecommunication devices (39%).



Figure 3 – Rate of consumer electronics equipments with standby and/or off-mode consumption

Most entertainment appliances with standby or off-mode losses are not connected to multiple sockets (62%) and for those that are (38%) only one third (12%) is actually switched off by the householder (Figure 4). On the other hand, the majority of computing and telecommunications equipment is connected to multiple sockets (53%) but the use given is nearly the same as the entertainment devices (14%).



# Figure 4 – Percentage of households with and without multiple socket and switch off behaviour

In order to encourage the good behaviours already put into practice by the householders and stimulate the implementation of new ones, the financial and environmental quantification of the former behaviours was computed, whenever possible to measure the electricity savings from switching off the multiple sockets, shutting down or unplugging the consumer electronics equipments. These actions account for 2.6% of the annual average household electricity consumption. The entertainment equipment is responsible for 76% of the electricity savings while the computing and communication devices are responsible for 24%. The standby and off-mode losses already cancelled by all participating households are equivalent to 101 MWh/year, corresponding to 17,270  $\notin$ /year and to 23.2 tCO<sub>2</sub>/year.

The remaining electricity savings potential is still 4.4% of the annual average household electricity consumption which represents 172 MWh/year, corresponding to  $29,430 \notin$ /year and to  $39.5 \text{ tCO}_2$ /year. Per household is possible to save 177.5 kWh/year, equivalent to  $30.4 \notin$ /year and correspondent to 40.8 kg CO<sub>2</sub>/year.

As seen in Figure 5, set-top boxes and television sets are responsible for more than 50% of this electricity savings, both in the potential and already achieved savings. The top three products in the two graphs belong to the entertainment category.



Figure 5 – Weight of major consumer electronics devices in the electricity savings potential (a) and electricity savings already achieved (b) of households

### The case of television sets, in short

Since television sets, whose technology has changed recently from CRT, to plasma, to LCD and more recently to LCD-LED, have seen their electricity consumption reduced (on-mode, standby and off-mode) but their size increased, a more detailed analysis was performed.

The majority of the nearly 2150 TV sets registered is still CRT (51%), followed by LCD (35% of which 2% LED) and last the plasma (4%). In 10% of the cases the type was not available. Householders on average watch television for 2h48m, plasma viewers state that they spend more time watching television (3h22m) than the LCD viewers (12 minutes less), and CRT's (50 minutes less).

The off-mode consumption of these three technologies is nearly the same, around 0.2 Wh (the CRT is the lowest) but the standby consumption of CRT (5.8 Wh) is almost three times the LCD's and around twice the plasma's average standby consumption. However, the multi-plug extension boards with power switch are mainly connected to LCD and plasma television sets (about 43% for each type) and used especially associated with LCDs. Nevertheless more than 61% of the electricity savings is already obtained by the households and the remaining savings potential (39%) can be accomplished by switching off the television set or installing and/or using a power switch plug, in particular for the CRT.

# Conclusions

The Ecofamilies II project surveyed one thousand volunteer households and is the most comprehensive assessment of energy savings potential in Portugal whose results were widely spread in order to induce a multiplier effect. Among other things, the project aimed at reducing electricity waste in standby/off-mode consumption of consumer electronics equipment and raising citizens' awareness to questions related to energy savings in their daily lives. The households received recommendations during the visits and afterwards they received a specific report with target recommendations highlighting financial and environmental implications along with the quantification of the good behaviours already implemented. The difficulty in accessing the plugs of some appliances and the householders' habits were some of the project's limitations which could have lead to underestimated electricity savings.

The entertainment devices are mainly left in standby, which is probably related to the updates sometimes these appliances automatically make and most of the computing equipment are left on offmode, perhaps because households are not aware that these devices are still consuming energy when switched off. The set-top boxes and television sets (mainly CRT) are responsible for more than 50% of this electricity savings, both potential and already achieved one. This technology of TV sets is also the one that contributes the most for the electricity savings potential.

Behavioural change is already taking place and the standby and off-mode losses cancelled by all participating households are equivalent to 101 MWh/year, corresponding to 17,270 €/year and to 23.2 tCO<sub>2</sub>/year. The remaining electricity savings potential is 4.4% of the annual average household electricity consumption which represents 172 MWh/year, corresponding to 29,430 €/year and to 40 tCO<sub>2</sub>/year. Per household is possible to save 178 kWh/year, equivalent to 30 €/year and correspondent to 41 kg CO<sub>2</sub>/year.

However it would be interesting and important, for this kind of project, to observe the implementation of the recommended measures and assess its effectiveness in the long-term period.

Consumers' education through specific programmes and information dissemination is essential to induce the behavioural change and to push energy savings to the higher limit.

# Acknowledgement

The Ecofamilies II project was developed by Quercus, promoted by EDP Distribution under PPEC (Consumption Efficiency Promotion Plan) and monitored by ERSE (Energy Services Regulatory Authority).

# References

- [1] Crosbie T. Household energy consumption and consumer electronics: The case of television. Energy Policy 36 (2008), pp. 2191-2199.
- [2] Hamza N. and Gilroy R. *The challenge to UK energy policy: An ageing population perspective on energy saving measures and consumption.* Energy Policy 39, 2011, pp. 782-789.
- [3] European Commission, EU ENERGY STAR ® Labeling Energy Efficient Office Equipment. Available: <u>http://www.eu-energystar.org/en/203.shtml</u>. 2013, March 22.
- [4] European Commission. Commission Regulation (EC) No. 1275/2008 of 17 December 2008 with regard to ecodesign requirements for standby and off mode electric power consumption of electrical and electronic household and office equipment. Official Journal L339, 18.12.2008, pp. 45-52. Can be downloaded at: <u>http://eur-lex.europa.eu/</u>.
- [5] REMODECE EIE/05/124/SI2.419657. *Residential Monitoring to Decrease Energy Use and Carbon Emissions in Europe*. 2008 (Final Report).
- [6] SELINA EIE/07/563/SI2.499206. *Standby and off-mode energy losses in new appliances measured in shops*. 2010 (Final Report).
- [7] INE. Proporção de agregados domésticos privados com equipamento de comunicação e lazer (%) por Local de residência (NUTS - 2002) e Tipo de equipamento de comunicação e lazer; Quinquenal. Available: <u>http://www.ine.pt</u>. 2012, December 11.
- [8] PORDATA. Agregados privados com os principais equipamentos domésticos (%). Available: <u>http://www.pordata.pt</u>. 2012, December 11.
- [9] INE/DGEG. Inquérito ao Consumo de Energia no Sector Doméstico 2010. 2011 Edition.
- [10] De Almeida A., Fonseca P., Schlomann B. and Feilberg N. *Characterization of the household electricity consumption in the EU, potential energy savings and specific policy recommendations*. Energy and Buildings 43, 2011, pp. 1884–1894.

- [11] Brandon G., and Lewis A. *Reducing household energy consumption: a qualitative and quantitative field study*. Journal of Environmental Psychology 19, 1999, pp. 75-85.
- [12] Ehrhardt-Martinez K., *Changing habits, lifestyles and choices: The behaviours that drive feedback induced energy savings.* Conference Proceedings of ECEEE 2011 Summer Study, Juan Les Pins, France, 2011.
- [13] Quercus (Grupo Ecocasa). *Programa EcoFamílias 225.* 2008.

# Energy efficient broadband infrastructure in mobile and fixed networks and use in the domestic sector

Slavisa Aleksic, Vienna University of Technology, Institute of Telecommunications

# Gerald Franzl, Vienna University of Technology, Institute of Telecommunications, Austria; Thomas Bogner, Oskar Mair vom Tinkhof, Austrian Energy Agency

# Abstract

The ever-growing number of Internet users, the introduction of new bandwidth-hungry applications and services as well as the vision of the Internet of Things<sup>1</sup> will set very high requirements on future access networks. Already today there are many different coexisting network technologies and protocols in the access area that have been developed and introduced to fulfill different needs of Internet users and heterogeneous applications. The growing complexity and increasing energy consumption of access networks raise a need for a comprehensive and effective modeling framework that enables a fast projection of energy efficiency of different access network infrastructures. This paper presents a comprehensive framework that joins technological parameters and various configuration options with socio-demographic characteristics and varying user behavior. The modeling framework can be used to evaluate different deployment and migration scenarios for both wireless and wired access networks by means of predicted energy efficiency. Taking into account possible further developments in technology, applications and traffic characteristics, the modeling framework enables predictions on the access related energy demands raised by forecast trends in conjunction with accompanying equipment change options. This modeling framework may serve operators of access networks to select network migration paths that are effective in the short term and efficient in the long term. Beyond that overall options for energy efficient and user oriented ICT<sup>2</sup> solutions have been described and evaluated. Finally policy recommendations have been developed supporting the development of sustainable ICT for the domestic sector on a national level.

# I Introduction

Both the number of broadband subscribers and the number of end-user devices have been increasing rapidly in the last decade [1] and this trend is expected to continue in the future. Additionally, introduction and a broad use of high-end applications increasingly drive the need for high capacity in access networks. The most complex part of today's Internet is the access network area, which also contributes mainly to the high total energy consumption of the global network infrastructure. According to the vision of the "Internet of Things", it is expected that in the foreseeable future, additionally to person-used applications also a huge number of intelligent, self-communicating devices will communicate with each other over the Internet. All these trends indicate an urgent need for more efficient access networks. Recently, there has been a lot of research effort to assess and improve the energy efficiency of access networks [2]-[9].

Most of the previous research works either concentrate on energy-efficient devices and structures or consider only a part of the complex and heterogeneous access network infrastructure. In most cases, wired and wireless parts of the network are treated separately. In this study, we evaluate the energy efficiency of the entire access network infrastructure by considering both wired and wireless networks as well as the wireless backhaul that is used to connect base station sites to the backbone network. Additionally, we consider end-user equipment, socio-demographic characteristics and application

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Internet of Things (abbrev. IoT): Network of physical objects that contain embedded technology to communicate and sense or interact with their internal states or the external environment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> ICT: Abbreviation for "Information and Communication Technologies"

usage to cover all important factors needed to appropriately estimate the energy efficiency of access networks and make projections for future developments.

The paper is organized as follows. The Section II introduces the modeling framework and describes the structures of models used to analyze end-user devices, application usage and access networks. Section III presents some exemplary results of the application of the framework to analyze the energy efficiency of a national-wide access network infrastructure. Finally, Section IV summarizes the paper and draws conclusions.

# **II Modeling framework**

The ultimate aim of the modeling framework presented here is to enable a holistic assessment of access networks and to help understanding complex independencies between socio-demographic trends, technology, applications and usage patterns. It could also serve to indicate potentials and risks of different approaches and to assist policy makers in developing a policy framework towards a sustainable Internet access.

The technical scope of the framework is shown in Fig. 1. The figure illustrates technologies and devices considered in this study. The boundaries of the system under consideration are the interface to the backbone network, i.e. the uplink of the aggregation switch that is usually located in premises of network providers on one side, and users of networked equipment on the other. In the following, we describe three sub models that are used to: i) analyze user behavior and applications ii) predict trends in the end-user equipment sector and iii) evaluate access networks by means of energy efficiency. The three sub models interact with each other to obtain an overall representation of the entire system. For example, development of new end-user devices affects both applications and user behavior, which is also influenced by socio-demographic trends. All these factors influence the bandwidth demand and the traffic pattern at network terminals, which, in addition, have an impact on network design and performance. Similarly, a broad availability of high data rate Internet access and powerful user devices can accelerate the development of new applications and lead to a notable user behavior change.



Fig. 1: The scope of the modeling framework<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Definitions of used acronyms can be found in the glossary section of this paper.

### A. User Behavior, Applications and Traffic

To assess the energy efficiency of different access technologies and deployment scenarios we need to model the traffic that is transported over the provided access capacity. We start with coarse assumptions on the traffic caused by typical applications while in use (Table 1). Next we sketch when and for how long an application is likely used by different user groups. We use five user groups, being children, teenagers, young adults, mature, and the elderly. The usage variation over any day is included by normally distributing the usage likelihood across the day. When doing so, we get usage patterns for each application per user group. Concluding the data base, we rate the popularity of applications for each user group. The application usage (the application mix) can be changed by adjusting the usage likelihood curves. The splitting into user groups enables us to flexibly consider diverging trends.

To obtain the utilization of wired and wireless access networks, the traffic caused by an average household and an average mobile customer needs to be calculated, respectively. This is outlined in Fig. 2. Using the socio-demographic distribution we sum up the popularity weighted usage patterns and get the average demand pattern over a day. A tricky challenge results if at certain times of a day the average demand exceeds the capacity provided by a technology, which causes application dependent performance degradation and diminishes the popularity of heavily affected applications. To consider this effect we add a feasibility weighting of applications per access technology. In the end we get a single average utilization curve per technology that can be used to realistically compare the practical energy-efficiency of technologies. The many degrees of freedom preserved are essentially needed to model socio-economic trends.

	SERVICES	Downlink [MByte/h]	Uplink [MByte/h]
	Telephone	28,8	28,8
Voice	VoIP (over Internet)	28,8	28,8
	Online Music Streaming (Internet Radio)	72,0	1,5
Video	Video conference	310,5	310,5
	SDTV (Broadcast)	900,0	18,0
	HDTV (Broadcast)	3600,0	75,0
	VoD (Video on demand)	900,0	16,0
	HDoD (HD on Demand)	3600,0	70,0
	Online Video Streaming	720,0	16,0
Data	Classic Internet Services	12,0	3,0
	Online Gaming	28,8	25,2
	File Sharing	52,7	47,7
	Home Office via VPN	41,9	31,4
	Cloud Services	21,1	9,0
	Remote Home Monitoring	0,5	3,0

### Table 1: Traffic caused by different applications/services in use



Fig. 2: Access utilization assessment model for an average household

### **B. Model of Access Networks**

The user traffic profiles are determined by the model described in Section II. A. represents an input parameter to the model of access networks. A generic representation of the access network model is shown in Fig 3. The access network is first designed according to the requirements on capacity, coverage, and number of subscribers and the choice of technology. Various technology and application related parameters are taken into account. There are different sub models for wireless and wired parts of the network as well as for the wireless backhaul. The mix of technologies for each sub model is chosen independently, while the input traffic of the wireless backhaul is determined by the traffic aggregated in a base station of the radio access network. The finite capacities of both link and nodes are considered by comparing the actual amount of upstream and downstream traffic to the maximum capacity of each network element. In order to keep the complexity of the model at a reasonable level, the model deals with time-of-day dependent average data rates instead to model the transmission of data packets. Following this approach we are able to perform traffic analysis without using a packet-based, event driven simulator, which would most probably lead to a complex and less scalable implementation. The instantaneous power consumption of the network is determined using the model presented in [7],[10],[11] and according to the characteristics and the number of active network components at each particular time. The results on energy consumption and network performance are combined to obtain the energy efficiency.



### Fig. 3: Generic representation for the access network model

Currently, a typical scenario is to have several network providers acting on the same market. As a consequence, there are usually several networks coexisting and serving their customers within the same region. As a consequence, there are parallel network infrastructures that have to be taken into account. Therefore, an efficient and realistic modeling approach has to be able not only to combine different technologies and network areas but also a number of coexisting networks owned by different network providers as illustrated in Fig. 4.



### Fig. 4: Multi-provider case

# III Case study

In this section, we illustrate the use of the framework for evaluating the energy efficiency of access networks based on a national network infrastructure for Austria. We apply the approach described

above to model the region-specific usage patterns for various end-user equipment and applications. An example of a result for energy consumption of different home appliances is shown in Fig. 5. Using a stock flow model and statistical data about usage of electronic devices in Austria, it is possible to determine the current, country-wide energy consumption caused by each type of device and to predict the future trends [12]. The results indicate that by far the most energy is consumed by the television set in active mode. The second largest contributor is the personal computer (PC). Thus, the particular attention has to be paid on the methods for improving the energy efficiency of these two devices.



Average Energy Consumption (active mode)

b)

a)

Average Energy Consumption (standby mode)



# Fig. 5: Projected electricity consumption of various home appliances in a) active and b) standby modes in year 2020 in Austria

According to statistical data of device and application usage as well as the demographic conditions in Austria, we developed traffic profiles for different user types and various combinations of services and technologies. The resulting user traffic profile that describes the time-of-day dependent traffic generated/consumed by a typical user or household is determined following the methodology already briefly described in Section II. A. and illustrated in Fig. 2. Two examples of such traffic profiles for users of UMTS and xDSL networks are shown in Fig. 6. Note that the profiles are different for users of different technologies and are directly influenced by changes in user behavior, applications and their usage patterns as well as by socio-demographic factors. The determination of traffic profiles is an important step in predicting the traffic demand, and thus evaluating network performance for different scenarios.

For the purpose of the evaluation of energy efficiency of Austrian-wide access network, we parameterized the model of access networks according to the data we received from the Austrian Regulatory Authority for Broadcasting and Telecommunications (RTR), Austrian network operators and the Forum Mobilkommunikation (FMK). We also used statistical data about technology penetration, market shares and population densities. The first step was to determine the numbers of mobile base stations required to achieve a desired coverage using the data at the municipality and the federal state levels. There is a very good coverage of both GSM and UMTS networks in Austria, especially in urban and suburban areas. LTE is implemented in some selected areas for test purposes.



Fig. 6: a) Exemplary user traffic profiles of a) UMTS users and b) xDSL users (households)

An example of the obtained numbers of mobile station sites per federal state is shown in Fig. 7 a). It can be seen from the figure that the numbers of sites obtained by the model are very close to the actual numbers. The difference is mostly below 2% and at most 6.4%. Fig. 7 b) presents the estimated energy consumption of a single-provider radio access network. The unequal energy consumption of radio networks in different states is due to the significant differences in sizes and population densities of the states. The total energy consumption per year of an Austrian-wide radio access network was estimated to be around 270 GWh/a.



### Fig. 7:

a) Comparison of estimated and actual numbers of base station sites in the Austrian federal states. The maximum relative difference is below 6.4 %.
b) Estimated yearly energy consumption of a radio access network in Austria.

Once we have determined the main characteristics of the radio access network, we can model the wireless backhaul. Here we also considered the actual realization of backhaul networks in Austria. The wired access network is designed independently of the requirements for the mobile network. In Austria, the predominant technology for wired access is the digital subscriber line (DSL), while the hybrid fiber coax (HFC) is the second most deployed technology in urban areas. According to our

results the entire access network infrastructure in Austria consumes about 1.03 TWh per year. This number includes the consumption of three mobile networks, wireless backhaul and wired networks. In order to assess different access network implementation options with regard to energy consumption we defined three scenarios for future developments. All three scenarios are for the year 2020 and imply an implementation of the goals of the Digital Agenda for Europe [13], which says that the entire European Union (EU) should be covered by broadband above 30 Mbit/s and 50 % of the EU to subscribe to broadband above 100 Mbit/s by 2020.

The business-as-usual (BAU) scenario envisage the use and adoption of currently available technologies for increasing the broadband coverage and limited increase in penetration of the new technologies enabling high-speed Internet access such as LTE and FTTx, predominantly within urban areas. The two other hypothetical scenarios are referred to as "highly energy-efficient" and "energy inefficient". The highly energy-efficient scenario bases on the assumption that the current network is replaced by a new, high-bandwidth and highly efficient network infrastructure. Thus, LTE becomes the predominant technology for wireless access, while the penetration of FTTH becomes high. The redundancy of network equipment is minimized and the methods for reducing the energy consumption such as alternative energy sources and low-power and standby modes are widely deployed. This scenario provides the minimum possible energy consumption.

The third scenario assumes that new technologies are deployed in a rather energy inefficient manner and the old technologies are kept operating. There are redundancies on the equipment and network levels, which mean that several network providers cover the same area and operate redundant networks. In the energy inefficient scenario, energy-efficient devices and approaches for increasing the network energy efficiency are not used at all.

Fig. 8 presents the estimated energy consumption of the entire Austrian access network infrastructure by 2020. It is evident from the figure that in the BAU scenario the energy consumption increases to 2.9 TWh/a in 2020, which is an increase by a factor of approximately 2.8. In case of an inefficient migration, the energy inefficient scenario, the total energy consumption increases more than 4 times (to 4.4 TWh/a). It is interesting to see that if much attention is paid to energy efficiency and a lot of effort is put into deploying energy efficient components and systems, the high broadband coverage envisaged by the Digital Agenda for Europe could be achieved with almost no increase in energy consumption (at 1.05 TWh/a).



Fig. 8. Prediction of the total energy consumption per year of the overall access network infrastructure in Austria (both wired and wireless networks, multi-provider case). The curves represent two hypothetical scenarios (highly energy efficient and inefficient) as well as a prediction of the energy consumption in a business-as-usual case.

# **IV Conclusions and final recommendations**

In conclusion, we presented a comprehensive framework for evaluating the energy efficiency of access networks. The framework joins technological parameters and various configuration options

with socio-demographic characteristics and varying user behavior. The modeling framework can be used to evaluate different deployment and migration scenarios for both wireless and wired access networks by means of predicted energy efficiency.

In a case study, we applied the framework to evaluate Austria-wide access networks. The results obtained by the model are in a good agreement with the actual data of the network in operation. We assessed different network realization options for achieving a high broadband coverage with at least 30 Mbit/s in 2020. In particular, we considered three scenarios, namely a business-as-usual (BAU) scenario, a highly efficient scenario and an energy inefficient scenario. In the BAU scenario, to cover the most of the populated areas in Austria with a high data rate Internet access one needs to pay with 2.8 times higher energy consumption than it is today. A highly inefficient network planning, deployment and operation could even lead to an increase of energy consumption by a factor of 4.4. However, when concentrating on energy-efficient technologies and approaches and exploiting all their potentials, one could achieve an optimized network infrastructure able to provide both high data rate Internet access to everybody and high energy efficiency. Thus such a high-capacity network would consume approximately the same energy as the current access network infrastructure does.

Aiming at the exploitation of energy efficiency potential a list of recommendations was formulated addressing the policy level as well as telecom network operators. The perspective in elaborating this catalogue reflected the upcoming implementation of Next Generation Access networks even driven by the targets of the EU Digital Agenda:

Area "Network equipment":

- Use of network equipment (for Base stations BS and point of presences PoP) with an extended range for operation temperature, aiming at minimizing the average cooling load throughout the year.
- Implementation of efficient cooling concepts (included forced free cooling and efficient cooling systems
- Use of network components which have the capability being operated in low power modes
- Decentralized energy supply based on renewable energy sources

Area "Network operation":

- Wide use of infrastructure sharing for base stations of mobile communication networks
- Dynamic adaption of mobile communication networks for efficient coping with load peaks
- Shut down of a share of base stations in multiple supplied areas by coexisting operators and wide use of national roaming to maintain service for all subscribers

Area "Network planning and next generation access roll out":

- Roll out of publicly financed LTE (4G) network in "white area" (according to definition in Communication of the Commission 2013/C25/01)
- Long term phase out of mature mobile network infrastructure (GSM, possibly UMTS) in the situation of a full scale LTE roll out
- System of incentives or obligations for laying of dark fiber or ductwork

# V Acknowledgment

The work described in this paper was supported by the project HOME-ICT funded by the Austrian Fund for Climate and Energy and accomplished within the framework of the program "NEUE ENERGIEN".

### **VI Glossary**

- **DVB-X** Digital Video Broadcasting (DVB) is a suite of internationally accepted open standards for digital television. Suffix X represents the generic placeholder, as DVB systems distribute data using a variety of approaches, including: Satellite (DVB-S, DVB-S2 and DVB-SH), Cable (DVB-C, DVB-C2), Terrestrial television (DVB-T, DVB-T2).
- FTTx Fibre to the x (FTTX) is a generic term for any broadband network architecture using optical fibre to replace all or part of the usual wired local loop used for last-mile telecommunications. The term is a generalization for several configurations of fiber deployment, ranging from FTTN (fibre to the neighborhood) to FTTD (fibre to the desk). Common types are FTTB (*fibre-to-the-building*) where fibre reaches the boundary of the building with the final connection to the individual living space being made via alternative means, similar to the curb or pole technologies as well as FTTH (*fibre-to-the-home*) where fibre reaches the boundary of the living space, such as a box on the outside wall of a home.
- **GPRS** General Packet Radio Service (GPRS) is a packet-switched technology that enables data communications over GSM network, often described as 2.5G (second and a half generation).
- **GSM** Global System for Mobile Communications (GSM) is a standard set developed by the European Telecommunications Standards Institute (ETSI) to describe protocols for second generation (2G) digital cellular networks used by mobile phones.
- **HFC** Hybrid fiber-coaxial (HFC) is a telecommunications industry term for a broadband network that combines optical fibre and coaxial cable. It has been commonly employed globally by cable television operators since the early 1990s.
- HSPA High Speed Packet Access (HSPA) is the most widely deployed mobile broadband technology in the world today. HSPA is the terminology used when both HSDPA (D stands for download) and HSUPA (U stands for upload) technologies are deployed on a network. HSPA builds on third generation (3G) UMTS/WCDMA.
- LTE LTE, an initialism of long-term evolution, marketed as 4G LTE, represents the fourth generation standard for wireless communication of high-speed data for mobile phones and data terminals. It is based on the GSM/EDGE and UMTS/HSPA network technologies, increasing the capacity and speed using a different radio interface together with core network improvements.
- **PLC** Power line communication (PLC) carries data on a conductor that is also used simultaneously for AC electric power transmission or electric power distribution to consumers. It is also known as power line carrier, power line digital subscriber line (PDSL), mains communication, power line telecom (PLT), power line networking (PLN), and broadband over power lines (BPL).
- **POF** Plastic optical fibre (POF) (or Polymer optical fibre) is an optical fibre which is made out of plastic. POF has been called the "consumer" optical fiber because the fiber and associated optical links, connectors, and installation are all inexpensive.
- **PON** Passive optical network (PON) is a point-to-multipoint, fibre to the premises network architecture in which unpowered optical splitters are used to enable a single optical fiber to serve multiple premises, typically 16 128. A PON consists of an optical line terminal (OLT) at the service provider's central office and a number of optical network units (ONUs) near end users. A PON reduces the amount of fiber and central office equipment required compared with point-to-point architectures. A passive optical network is a form of fiber-optic access network.
- **UMTS** Universal Mobile Telecommunications System (UMTS) is a third generation mobile cellular system for networks based on the GSM standard. UMTS uses wideband code division multiple access (WCDMA) radio access technology to offer greater spectral efficiency and bandwidth to mobile network operators.
- WLAN Wireless local area network (WLAN) links two or more devices using some wireless distribution method, and usually providing a connection through an access point to the wider Internet. This gives users the mobility to move around within a local coverage area and still be connected to the network. Most modern WLANs are based on IEEE 802.11 standards, marketed under the Wi-Fi brand name.
- **xDSL** Digital subscriber line (DSL, originally digital subscriber loop) is a family of technologies that provide Internet access by transmitting digital data over the wires of a local telephone network. The x is a variable that, in context, is replaced according to the appropriate variety of DSL (such as ADSL, VDSL, etc.).In telecommunications marketing, DSL is widely understood to mean asymmetric digital subscriber line (ADSL), the most commonly installed DSL technology.

# References

- [1] RVA Market Research and Consulting, 2011. "North American FTTH Status, March 2011, FTTH Council, 2011, RVA, Tulsa, OK, pp. 1-5, http://www.ftthcouncil.org/
- [2] S. Tombaz; L. Wosinska, J. Zander, "Mobile backhaul in heterogeneous network deployments: Technology options and power consumption" (invited), ICTON2012, July 2-6, Warwick, pp. 1-7, UK, 2012.
- [3] M. Deruyck, E. Tanghe, W. Joseph, L. Martens, "Modelling and Optimization of Power Consumption in Wireless Access Networks", Elsevier Computer Communications, Vol. 34, No. 17, pp. 2036-2046, November 2011.
- [4] G. Auer, V. Giannini, I. Gódor, P. Skillermark, M. Olsson, M. Ali Imran, D. Sabella, M. J. Gonzalez, C. Desset, and O. Blume., "Cellular energy efficiency evaluation framework," IEEE Vehicular Tech. Conf. Spring, pp. 1-6, May 2011.
- [5] S. Aleksic, "Energy Efficiency of Electronic and Optical Network Elements" (invited), IEEE Journal on Selected Topics in Quantum Electronics, Vol. 17, No. 2, March/April 2011, pp. 269-308.
- [6] S. Aleksic, A. Lovric, "Power consumption of wired access network technologies", in Proceedings of CSNDSP 2010, Newcastle, UK; pp. 177 – 181, July 2010.
- [7] S. Aleksic, M. Deruyck, W. Vereecken, W. Joseph, M. Pickavet, L. Martens, "Energy Efficiency of Femtocell Deployment in Combined Wireless/Optical Access Networks", Elsevier Computer Networks, pp. 1-18, 2012, doi: 10.1016/j.comnet.2012.12.013.
- [8] J. Baliga, R. Ayre, K. Hinton, and R. Tucker, "Energy consumption in wired and wireless access networks", IEEE. Commun. Mag., Vol. 49, pp. 70–77, 2011.
- [9] J. Baliga, R. Ayre, W. V. Sorin, K. Hinton, R. S. Tucker "Energy Consumption in Access Networks", in Proceedings of OFC/NFOEC, San Diego, CA, paper OThT6, Feb. 2008.
- [14] S. Aleksic, "Energy-Efficient Communication Networks for Improved Global Energy Productivity", (invited), Springer Telecommunication Systems, ISSN: 1018-4864 ,pp. 1 - 18, 2012.
- [15] S. Aleksic, A. Lovric, "Energy Consumption and Environmental Implications of Wired Access Networks", American Journal of Engineering and Applied Sciences, 4(4), pp. 531 - 539, 2012, doi:10.3844/ajeassp.2011.531.539..
- [16] T. Bogner, B. Schäppi, J. Gsellmann, A. Schiffleitner, M. Stachura, J. Wiener, A. Müller, "Outlook Life Style 2030 - Determinanten für den Stromverbrauch in österreichischen Haushalten", 2012. (<u>http://www.energyagency.at/fileadmin/dam/pdf/publikationen/berichteBroschueren/LifeStyle20</u> <u>30 Endbericht.pdf</u>)
- [17] Digital Agenda for Europe, European Commission, 2012. (http://ec.europa.eu/digital-agenda/)

# Energy Use Trends, Policies and Savings Opportunities Related to Consumer Electronics

# Noah Horowitz

# Natural Resources Defense Council (NRDC)

# Abstract

Consumer electronics products consume approximately 10% to 20% of household electricity use in the United States. The number of gadgets in use has exploded and only recently have the energy efficiency community and policy makers begun to fully understand and address the energy use of these products. In this paper, we take a close look at the energy use, recent developments, and savings opportunities related to the TV and computer "ecosystems", with a particular emphasis on set top boxes, video game consoles, and small network equipment. In some cases, the energy use and savings opportunities are larger for the devices connected to the TV and computer, then these devices themselves.

# Introduction

While the efficiency community and policy makers have for decades focused with great success on the energy use of residential appliances, heating and ventilation equipment, and lighting, these groups have only recently begun to understand the energy use of consumer electronics and to develop labeling and standards programs to reduce their energy use. Recent US studies by the Fraunhofer Center for Sustainable Energy Systems and the California utility Pacific Gas and Electric estimate that consumer electronics consumed 193 TWh/yr. in 2010 and 13.2% of national electricity use, and 18% of residential electricity use in California in 2006, respectively. [1,2] Test methods to measure the energy use of these products when they are in use and when they are in "standby" modes are being developed and updated as necessary, and studies to better understand the hours of use and duty cycles are just beginning to be performed.

In this paper, we take a close look at the energy use, recent technological and policy developments, and savings opportunities of the TV and computer "ecosystems", with a particular emphasis on set top boxes, video game consoles, and small network equipment.

# Televisions

Over the past decade the TV market has undergone a massive and dramatic shift from analog cathode ray tube (CRTs) televisions to digital flat panel TVs that offer superior resolution and a much thinner form factor. When this transformation began in the early 2000's, there was very little information known about the power consumption of these new flat screen TVs. The test method in the U.S. was completely outdated as it was based on static black and white test bars and did not adequately capture the energy used to receive and display digital moving images. U.S. policies were also in their infancy as these products were not covered by state or national minimum energy efficiency standards and the U.S. labeling program ENERGY STAR only covered standby power use in its specification.

The Natural Resources Defense Council (NRDC) and their consultant Ecos conducted an in depth study [3] of TV power use in 2005 based on the usage of a simplified test method that included playback of 2 minutes from the DVD Shrek. Key findings included:

- TV screen size is increasing dramatically and with corresponding increase in TV power use
- Plasma TVs used 2 to 3 times more power in active mode than similar sized CRTs, and often used considerably more power than LCDs. (Note plasma TVs have since become dramatically more efficient and are now much closer to LCD power use.)
- There was a wide spread in the power consumption of similar sized TVs rendering this category as a good candidate for effective labeling and standards policies.

- Americans are watching more hours of TV per day due to increasing number of channels on pay TV, and playing of DVDs and video games. This translates to increased national TV energy use.
- Household energy use for TVs and the equipment connected to them could exceed 10% of a household's electricity bill.

Since this study was completed the industry worked through its trade association CEA to develop an up to date test method (CEA #2043) for measuring active mode power of digital TVs that included a standardized 10 minute clip of digital images to play during the test. A number of policy initiatives were also undertaken in the U.S. including several updates of the ENERGY STAR specification and development of an ENERGY STAR Most Efficient specification that identifies the top 5% most efficient models on the market, rebates offered by some utilities to retailers for sales of ENERGY STAR qualified models and those that exceeded it by x%, and mandatory minimum efficiency standards set by the State of California under Title 20, its appliance standards.

These policies resulted in an immediate change to how TVs were shipped in the U.S. that resulted in energy savings of 10 to 25%. Historically TVs were shipped in their brightest selectable mode, often referred to in the trade as retail or torch mode, to ensure retail clerks who unpacked the TVs placed them on the shelf with a very bright setting. As retail floors are typically brightly lit and because all things being equal consumers often buy the TV with the brighter picture, all TVs were shipped in retail mode. This represented a huge waste of national energy as most consumers do not need such a bright picture setting and are unlikely to change the setting from its default. ENERGY STAR adopted the CEA test method and added a few additional requirements that essentially caused the industry to include a standard/normal picture setting during initial user set-up. The test method and specification also made it harder for manufacturers who continued to ship their TVs in the retail mode by default as this resulted in much higher reported energy values.

Figure 1 below shows the steady and dramatic decline in energy use of 42 inch TVs since this package of policies went into effect. These savings were due to the settings change discussed above, inclusion of automatic brightness control sensors that adjust screen brightness and power consumption based on room light levels, and numerous technical advances spurred by the California standards and ENERGY STAR specifications most notably the switch to more efficient LED backlights.



Figure 1: Change in Average Annual Energy Consumption of 42 Inch TVs in the U.S.

Based on modeling done by NRDC's consultant Energy Solutions, the improvements made in TV efficiency from the 2008 base case represent 10 power plants worth of electricity in 2020 and the prevention of more than 200 million metric tons of CO2-equivalent during this period. Consumers will also have saved \$27 billion between 2008 and 2020 in the form of lower electric bills. During this time period the price of a new TV has dropped more than 50%, counter to predictions of cost increases made by the industry during standard setting processes in the US.



Figure 2: U.S. Impacts from Improved Efficiency TVs

While dramatic improvements have been made to date, future incremental efficiency gains may be achieved through further advances in LED technology, the successful launch of OLED based TVs that eliminate the need for energy consuming backlights and other technological advances. In addition manufacturers and policy makers need to remain vigilant to ensure these hard earned savings are not lost due to new features, if poorly designed, such as ultra hi definition TV, and internet enabled TVs that have extremely high standby power as is currently the case with some implementations of Google TV which consume 24W (number of hours per day varies by manufacturer) of standby power if the Quick Start feature is selected. If this feature is always on when the TV is "turned off", it would account for an additional 166 kWh/yr. which is more than the **total** energy use of most 42 inch TVs today!

With the efficiency gains already made on TVs, a bigger focus is now being made on some of the devices connected to the TV, such as the set top box and video game consoles, which are discussed below. Note: this paper does not address the growing trend of sound bars and surround sound systems which provide superior sound quality to that provided by the TV, which has very little remaining real estate to include speakers.

# Set Top Boxes

A set-top box (STB) enables consumers to receive pay TV signals from their service provider – the cable, satellite or telephone company. In the United States there are approximately 160 million installed STBs and approximately 85% of U.S. homes subscribe to some form of pay TV. According to a 2010 study [4] performed by the NRDC, STBs in the U.S. consumed approximately 27 billion kilowatt-hours of electricity annually which is equivalent to the annual output of nine average sized (500MW) power plants. As a result of their operation, STBs were responsible for 16 million metric tons of CO2/yr.

Perhaps most compelling was the fact that STBs cost U.S. households more than \$3 billion per year in the form of monthly electric bills, with \$2 billion of that when the device is turned "off". Unlike almost

all other products on the market, pressing the on/off button on the STB remote did NOT result in a significant change in the STB's power consumption (e.g., 30W on, and 29W in standby mode). Below we provide further detail on the findings of the NRDC study and discuss efforts underway to reduce the energy consumption of these devices.

### Market Background

In the U.S., the service provider is the purchaser of the STB and they install the STB when a customer signs up for service. The service provider leases the box to the customer or the cost of the box is somehow configured in the monthly fee/lease agreement. As the customer and not the service provider pays the electric bill, the STB's energy consumption has historically not been a design priority for this industry.

Other trends in the U.S. worth noting are:

- 65% of the homes in the U.S. have 3 or more TVs and the typical pay TV customer has 2.4 STBs in their home.
- STB Digital Video Recorders (DVRs), which allow consumers to conveniently record and playback shows, have become extremely popular. Until recently some service providers had promotions that included installation of a DVR on each TV in the home that was hooked up to their service. As a DVR consumes approximately 40% more energy than a standard set top box, this trend would result in rapid growth of household STB energy use.
- Internet Protocol Television (IPTV) provides a third service provider option for U.S. pay TV subscribers. These services are typically offered by the telephone company and are gaining market share from the satellite and cable companies.

### **STB Power Use Data and Analysis**

As part of the 2010 NRDC study, NRDC's consultant Ecos Consulting (now called Ecova) made field measurements of the power use of 58 installed STBs – ranging from the most basic standard definition (SD) STBs, to full function STB DVRs with high definition (HD) and multiple tuners. These STBs were from a range of manufacturers and testing was done on several service providers. Below we present some of the measured data and analysis from the study.



Figure 3: NRDC's 2010 Survey of Power Consumed by U.S. Set-Top Boxes

The per model test results for each of the models tested are shown in Figure 3. As expected HD boxes consumed a little more power than SD boxes and DVRs consumed more power than

conventional STBs. With a few exceptions, there was very little difference between on and sleep mode (e.g., power use when power button on remote is turned off) power. The best models showed a 7 Watt difference between on and sleep mode which was probably due to the STB spinning down the DVR's hard drive when no recording or playback was occurring.

Converting this data to annual energy use values, one can see that annual energy use ranged from 100 -200 kWh/yr. for an HD STB and 200 to 400 kWh/yr. for HD DVR. The STBs provided by the IPTV providers used significantly less power than those offered by the cable and satellite companies.



Figure 4: Annual Energy Consumed by US Set-Top Boxes (kWh/yr.)

If one assumes that a typical subscriber has a HD-DVR STB on its main TV and a HD STB on the home's second TV, the annual household STB energy use is 446 kWh/yr. To put this into perspective, the annual energy consumed by a typical household for its STBs is more than a new ENERGY STAR rated mid-sized refrigerator (21 ft3) and the average HD-DVR STB consumed more energy per year than the new 42 inch LCD TV it was connected to. Figure 5 below provides this comparison in a graphical format.



Figure 5: Comparison of Energy Use of Set-Top Boxes with Other Appliances

It should also be noted that customers who physically unplug their STB or connect their STB to a power strip that is turned off at night in order to reduce their electric bill and carbon footprint, will experience delays of 30 seconds to as much as 5 or more minutes to receive full service when they return. This slow wake or recovery time has served as a barrier for manufacturers to implement a low power deep sleep state for STBs when the user is neither watching nor recording a show. In addition, a disconnected DVR will not be able to wake to record prescheduled shows.

### **Progress/Developments Since 2011**

There has been a lot of activity in the past two years by both U.S. service providers and STB manufacturers to reduce the energy consumption of their devices. These include:

- Establishment of updated ENERGY STAR specifications The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), which manages the voluntary ENERGY STAR labeling program, issued an updated specification, Version 3.0, for STBs that requires new STBs to use approximately 30% less energy. A list of qualified products can be accessed at <u>http://downloads.energystar.gov/bi/qplist/Set\_Top\_Boxes\_Product\_List.xls?8955-cdde</u>. EPA is also in the process of finalizing Version 4.1 which should deliver an additional 25% or more savings and is due to go into effect in the first half of 2014.
- Cable industry light sleep initiative In March 2012, the cable industry announced their plans to push a software update to their customers' boxes that will add a "light sleep" capability to 10 million STBs currently in the field. These boxes will enter light sleep after the user hits the power button or via a new auto power down (APD) feature whereby STBs left on will automatically enter light sleep after extended period of user inactivity (typically 4 hours). Per Cable Labs, this will save an estimated 35 kWh/yr. per DVR.
- Move to whole home solutions The satellite industry has begun to shift their business model from having a DVR or standard STB on the second and third TVs in the home. Many new customers are now receiving a whole home DVR, that uses slightly more power than a traditional DVR, for their main TV and a thin client on each of the additional TVs in the home. The TVs with thin clients receive their content from the whole home DVR. Today's thin clients use approximately 8W when on and have sleep mode power of 7.5W. As the thin clients are NOT connected to the service provider's "head end", they should be able to achieve sleep mode power levels of 1 to 2W with a quick wake time, providing additional savings.

# **Game Consoles**

According to a recent study by the International Data Corporation (IDC), there will be more than 250 million video game consoles in use by 2015.[5] The latest video game consoles offer superior gaming experiences and often include other features, such as online gaming and the ability to play DVDs and stream movies and music. There are only three game console manufacturers Microsoft, Sony and Nintendo and their current products are the Xbox 360, PlayStation 3 and Wii, respectively

As there was no publicly available data on the power consumption of game consoles in their main modes of operation, NRDC performed the first ever comprehensive study of the energy use of these devices in 2007.[6] NRDC's consultant Ecos Consulting (now Ecova) purchased each of the currently available game consoles on the market and measured their power consumption in the laboratory. NRDC and Ecos developed their own testing methodology for this study as no industry test methods existed for this category. Since then NRDC has worked with the game console industry to develop consensus test methods and has measured the energy use of updated versions of these devices. The power consumed for active game play, idle/navigation and off modes is shown in Figure 6. The Xbox 360 and PS3 consumed a factor of 3 to 5 times more power for game play than their predecessors the Xbox and PS2 did five years ago. Since the initial launch, the industry has taken advantage of the efficiency gains that are achievable due to more efficient chips and the smaller power supplies that can then be used and has dramatically reduced the power consumed by these devices in all operating modes.



Figure 6: Evolution of Game Console Power Use

One of the most important findings from our study was that these consoles continue to consume near full power levels if the device is left on. While no publicly available data exists on the percentage of devices that are left on, there is a lot of anecdotal evidence that some consumers leave their game console on accidentally (turn off TV but forget to turn off game console) or deliberately because they may lose their place in the game if the device is turned off. Users who leave their PS3 or Xbox 360 console on all the time will consume 1 to 2 new refrigerators worth of energy per year depending on the year they bought their console. This translates to an extra \$50 to \$100 plus per year in electricity costs.

Microsoft's Xbox 360 did come with a built in auto power down (APD) feature but it was shipped disabled. As such only the most dedicated and curious consumers would know about this feature and go into the menu to turn this feature on. A few years ago, Sony pushed a software update on to existing PS3 models that were connected to the internet that included its own APD feature. This feature had an awkward user interface which likely discouraged users from using it in Game Play and Media Play modes. We understand both devices will now ship with APD enabled by default.

Another interesting finding from this study and follow-up measurements is that game consoles consume considerably more power to stream a movie than a stand-alone Blu-Ray player or an internet streaming device such as Apple TV. This is of particular relevance as Sony and Microsoft are actively promoting use of their devices to access content over the internet to enable customers to stream video via services such as Netflix. In fact, at a recent conference a Microsoft executive (http://news.cnet.com/8301-1023\_3-57578389-93/microsoft-to-sell-mediaroom-iptv-business-to-ericsson/) stated that the majority of its 76 million worldwide users spend more time viewing entertainment than playing games. With more scalable processors or a dedicated video processing chip, significantly lower media play power could be achieved in the next generation consoles. Note the recently launched Nintendo Wii U requires 50% less power to display an HD movie than the current PS3.



Figure 7: Movie Streaming Power Use

The EPA has recently released a specification under its ENERGY STAR recognition program and it includes power limits for navigation, media play and standby modes. A copy of the specification and test method can be viewed at:

http://energystar.gov/products/specs/sites/products/files/Final%20Version%201%200%20EPA%20Vol untary%20Criteria%20for%20Energy%20Efficient%20Game%20Consoles.pdf. One of the key energy saving aspects of the specification is the requirement for new consoles to include an effective APD feature that is shipped enabled and does not require the user to "opt in" for it to work.

# Computers

There are approximately 260 million installed computers in the U.S. and per NRDC estimates they consume roughly 80 TWh annually, or 2 percent of U.S. electricity end-use. The energy consumed by these computers and associated monitors is equivalent to twice the annual electricity use of all the households in New York City.<sup>1</sup>

Over four fifths of that energy today comes from desktops.



Figure 8: U.S. Computer Use in 2012

While the current stock of desktop computers is roughly split 50/50 with notebooks, this is due to change significantly as sales of notebook computers outnumbered sales of desktop computer by a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This calculation includes an estimate of active mode power use and the power impacts of displays, which are not accounted for in the Energy Star test method.

two-to-one margin in 2012. This will take a while to make its way through the installed base as desktop computers tend to last 5 years whereas notebooks are replaced every 3 years. Two other industry trends are the fast adoption and growing sales of slates/tablets and all-in-one computers (desktop with integrated monitor like the IMac).

Figure 9 below shows the typical energy use of different types of computers. As slate/tablets and notebooks are portable devices and are designed to maximize battery life, these devices have been designed with energy efficiency as a priority. Most desktops are viewed by some as having unlimited supplies of available electricity and historically have not initially received the most efficient components/designs.

Despite the market trends towards these other devices, desktops are not expected to disappear anytime soon: both consumers and businesses still buy desktop computers for reasons ranging from performance to security, reliability and upgradeability. Desktops will continue to be responsible for the majority of aggregate computer energy use for most of the decade because a typical desktop still uses 4 to 5 times as much energy as a typical notebook.



# Figure 9: Comparison of Annual Energy Use by Different Types of Computers Including Display

Note: iPad 3, typical 2012 notebook, all-in-one, desktop. Typical display energy included. Power management not enabled for half of computers.

The biggest near term priorities should be to dramatically improve the energy efficiency of desktop computers and to harvest readily achievable incremental savings that can be obtained for laptop computers. In addition all in ones should be encouraged to incorporate notebook technology due to its small form factor and the need for heat management, and the energy savings it would provide. The key opportunities to reduce computer energy use are summarized below:

### **Efficiency Opportunities**

There are many opportunities for energy savings on desktops, such as incorporating mobile components, more efficient power supplies (over half of U.S. desktops still feature power supplies that are roughly 70% efficient at typical operating point, wasting 30% or more of the energy used before it even reaches the rest of the computer system), more efficient disks, and graphics cards that scale power down when little or no graphics processing is required.

Notebook efficiency opportunities generally include the adoption of tablet power-saving technology, such as higher motherboard integration, more efficient power supplies and displays, switching from discrete to integrated graphics when little graphics processing is required, and tablet-like sleep modes that can resume in milliseconds, dramatically reducing idle-mode power use.

### **Power management**

Setting the computer to go to sleep after an extended period of user inactivity is perhaps the largest, yet most challenging energy saving opportunity: a computer without power management uses three times as much energy per year as the same computer with power management enabled. Most manufacturers now ship their products with power management enabled by default, however this is not as effective as it needs to be: the majority of computers rapidly end up with power management disabled for a variety of reasons such as user inconvenience or software applications which disable/interfere with power management settings. Given the market imperative of long battery life in tablets, the industry has successfully solved this issue in devices that are used mostly on battery. Solving it in desktops and notebooks will require a real commitment and collaboration by hardware manufacturers, operating system vendors and application developers to remove the barriers that currently prevent computer power management from working as effectively as it does on tablets/slates.

# **Small Network Equipment**

In the U.S. today, there are approximately 145 million small network equipment (SNE) devices used to access the internet and move content around our homes. The most common of these devices are modems, which connect a household to its service provider; wireless routers, which connect computers, printers, tablets and other connected devices within the household; and combination devices called gateways, which perform both of these functions and sometimes provide telephone service as well. NRDC and its consultant recently measured the power use of these devices to better understand the per-box and national energy use of these devices.[7] The key findings from the study include:

- The household energy use for SNE is just under 100 kWh/yr., which is more than the energy use of a new 32 inch ENERGY STAR TV and roughly 30 times more than a smart phone.
- The energy use of these little boxes adds up as SNE consumed 8.3 billion kilowatt hours of electricity consumed annually, which is equal to the output of three large, coal-burning power plants (500 MW). The result is an estimated 5 million metric tons of carbon dioxide emissions each year, equivalent to the pollution from the tailpipes of 1.1 million vehicles.
- Replacing today's inefficient devices with equipment that is just 25 percent more energy efficient could save 2.8 billion kilowatt hours of electricity—or about \$330 million worth of customer energy bills—annually.



Figure 10: Annual Energy Use of Various Small Network Equipment



Most small network devices on the market today draw the same amount of power when sitting idle, ready to transmit data, as they do when transmitting large amounts of data at high data rate.

Figure 11: Installed Stock and National Energy Use of Various Small Network Equipment

Deployment of a new protocol commonly called Energy Efficient Ethernet (EEE) and other power scaling technologies incorporated into low power designs available today would allow network equipment to reduce their energy consumption when they are not actively transmitting data. When designed properly, these devices would be able to wake almost instantly and preserve a user's expectation of accessing content from the Internet immediately.

Network equipment manufacturers including D-Link, Motorola, TRENDNet, Sapido and LevelOne are already implementing EEE and other proprietary power scaling technologies in some of their small network devices. A new ENERGY STAR specification program for small network equipment coming in 2013 will highlight products that use less energy and incent manufacturers to sell products that implement EEE. When purchasing new network equipment, consumers should look for products that have the ENERGY STAR logo and EEE, designated by its standard number 802.3az.

The market is also moving towards faster data transfer rates of 1 Gigabyte per second or more and other features that offer greater functionality such as dual-band Wi-Fi, VDSL and DOCSIS 3. This trend heightens the importance of accelerating adoption of efficient SNE designs.

# Conclusions

Consumer electronics and their energy use are changing rapidly. The trend has been for products to have high energy use when first introduced and for their energy use to go down over time. This reduction is often due to the shift to new lower power consuming and power scaling chipsets and the resultant energy savings achieved by moving to smaller power supplies. Much of the recent savings for TVs and monitors is due to the shift to LED backlights. Minimizing energy use tends to be a design priority for mobile and portable products in order to maximize the length of time a battery can last before it needs to be recharged. The move from desktop to laptops and tablets will result in significant energy savings.

We also found that settings and user interfaces can make a huge difference in how much energy a product consumes in the field. Some of the power-saving features were shipped-disabled, such as the auto power down feature in video game consoles, resulting in significant missed energy savings. For TVs and displays, the picture mode/brightness settings can significantly impact TV energy use. In addition, we can expect to see more and more products in the home connected to the network. Again,

careful attention must be paid to make sure these connected devices do not use excessive amounts of energy while in standby.

# References

- [1] Fraunhofer Center for Sustainable Energy Systems." Energy Consumption of Consumer Electronics in U.S. Homes in 2010". Final Report to the Consumer Electronics Association (CEA). December 2011. Can be downloaded at: <u>http://ce.org/CorporateSite/media/Government-Media/Green/Energy-Consumption-of-CE-in-U-S-Homes-in-2010.pdf</u>
- [2] "Emerging Technologies Program: Application Assessment Report #0513 on Consumer Electronics: Market Trends, Energy Consumption, and Program Recommendations 2005-2010". Pacific Gas and Electric Company. December 2006. Can be downloaded at: <u>http://www.etcc-ca.com/images/stories/pdf/ETCC Report 370.pdf</u>
- [3] "Televisions: Active Mode Energy Use and Opportunities for Energy Savings. Natural Resources Defense Council". March 2005. Can be downloaded at: <u>http://www.nrdc.org/air/energy/energyeff/tv.pdf</u>
- [4] "Better Viewing, Lower Energy Bills, and Less Pollution: Improving the Efficiency of Television Set-Top Boxes". Natural Resources Defense Council. June 2011. Can be downloaded at: <u>http://www.nrdc.org/energy/files/settopboxes.pdf</u>
- [5] Worldwide Video Game and Entertainment Console Hardware and Packaged Software 2012– 2016 Forecast. International Data Corporation (IDC #238426). December 2012. Can be downloaded at: <u>http://www.idc.com/getdoc.jsp?containerId=238426</u>
- [6] "Lowering the Cost of Play: Improving the Energy Efficiency of Video Game Consoles". Natural Resources Defense Council and Ecos. November 2008. Can be downloaded at: <u>http://www.nrdc.org/energy/consoles/files/consoles.pdf</u>
- [7] "Small Network Equipment Energy Consumption in U.S. Homes: Using less Energy to Connect Electronic Devices". Natural Resources Defense Council. June 2013. http://www.nrdc.org/energy/files/residential-network-IP.pdf

# Audio/Video Inter-Device Power Control

# Bruce Nordman, H.Y. Iris Cheung

# Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory

# Abstract

There are many new digital communication technologies for procuring and displaying audio and video (A/V) content, and these are evolving rapidly in capability and integration into products. These enable new usage models for moving streams of A/V content among devices in a local network. A challenge this raises is ensuring that products do not remain fully on when they are not needed (often for hours or days between use) which can waste large amounts of energy. A near-term challenge is to create an architecture for how products should interact with respect to A/V content streams to maximize both user amenity and energy savings. Commonality across technologies and products is critical for this to succeed. In today's technologies, a content stream is either active or does not exist. This paper proposes a mechanism to address this problem – "sleeping streams". They have long-term persistence, going into a sleep state between uses, much as devices do when not in use. A stream that is asleep can be readily woken by any of the devices involved in it or by select external devices. This in turn should wake all devices needed for the stream to operate. When a device observes that it is involved with no active streams for a period of time, it can go to sleep. Knowledge of the stream and ability to control other devices, is distributed, not central. This paper addresses details of the concept, what it implies for existing and future A/V technologies, and the role of energy policy.

# Introduction

Audio and video devices in U.S. homes are estimated to consume about 140 TWh/year [1]. The portion of this from devices on but not in use is not known, but even if it is only 10% of this, that is well over \$1 billion/year in wasted energy. As the mechanisms described in this paper generally do not increase the manufacturing cost of products, attention to this topic is clearly merited.

Audio/Video systems today are of great variety in vintage, technologies, and size. While this paper primarily considers what power control of these devices should be like in future, with new devices, the current devices and context greatly influences that future in many ways.

A/V systems provide people with entertainment from traditional television broadcasts, subscription TV services, pre-recorded content, and, increasingly, from the Internet. These systems enable many different usage scenarios requiring different sets of devices to be on and active. With many devices, multiple users, and evolving technology, it is easy for devices to remain on long after the time they are needed, wasting energy. This paper proposes an architecture for managing A/V device power state with the key principle for each device to:

### "wake up when it needs to, and go to sleep when it can".

This should enable power control to be more automatic and reliable, and provide greater usability to people as well as saving energy. The rest of this paper is organized as follows. First, key concepts for A/V systems are defined and explained. Then, the candidate architecture is proposed and detailed operational issues considered. Finally, there is consideration of the transition period with many legacy devices and a summary of next steps.

# Audio/Video Systems

An A/V system is a collection of devices that provides video content (usually on a television), and/or audio content (usually on loudspeakers). Most A/V systems are found in residences, but they are present in all building types, including vehicles. Many A/V systems interact with devices in other locations via the Internet or in subscription television (cable/satellite) infrastructure. These remote

devices are not part of the local A/V system. Information Technology (IT) devices like computers are increasingly connected to A/V systems, and to be compatible, including for power control, they need to implement the same A/V protocols and behaviors.

Typical residential A/V systems fall into two categories. In a simple system, there is no separate A/V receiver, so that all audio comes from the TV itself. Complex systems have a receiver which provides multi-channel sound and is used to select among the various sources (and can be a source itself). These systems commonly included Ethernet, Wi-Fi, HDMI, Audio, Composite video, and pay-TV connections. Many devices sold today already have some power management capabilities. For example, many subwoofers will go to sleep automatically if the audio input is silent for an extended period of time, and then wake when the audio reappears. Many A/V devices have an auto power-down feature that initiates after an extended time with no user input, but these typically lack a corresponding wake-up feature.

### Concepts

The basic unit of an A/V system is a device, which has its own power state. Each device has a set of interfaces for communication. Connected interfaces on two devices form a link. The primary data transmitted across these links are streams of audio or video content. Devices can be the source (e.g. DVD player) or sink (e.g. TV or speaker) of a stream, or an intermediate device through which the stream passes that is not its source or sink. A component often ignored in considerations of A/V systems is the experience of the users who actually consume the content or otherwise interact with the devices. Data communicated other than the content streams includes control signals. Details of each of these concepts are covered below. Figure 1 shows how basic A/V devices map into the source, sink, and intermediate concepts. Figure 2 presents an abstract representation of the same thing.

### Devices

Each device is individually powered, and have one or many communications interfaces, usually of a variety of technologies (see *Interfaces and Links* below), and has its own power state.

### Power States

The overall power state of a device determines the types of functionality it is capable of, its responsiveness to the various interfaces it supports, its front panel user interface, and its power consumption. While the power levels of a device within a basic power state do vary somewhat, the basic power state is the primary determinant of overall energy use, and so the key consideration for saving energy in A/V devices.

Originally, A/V devices had only two basic power states: on and off. Decades later, two factors emerged to change this. First, the label "standby" was applied to any low-power state in which power consumption was non-zero, and as devices increasingly had off modes with non-zero power, standby became a synonym for off. Second, remote controls (usually with one-way infrared communication) were introduced which included the ability to turn a device on and off. When such devices were functionally off, they still required power to detect a power command from the remote control, creating a difference from the traditional off state. Such devices still had only two widely used power states, with disconnection from their power source occurring only rarely, and the "standby" state only exited with a power command and so still an off mode.

Some newer devices have three basic power states. An active mode, an off mode (which can only be exited with a power command), and an intermediate mode in which it is also responsive to communication from other devices. With Information Technology (IT) devices, these are usually called sleep states, but in A/V devices, no consistent terminology has been applied.

### Interfaces and Links

An interface is hardware that enables a possible communications connection (link) to another device. Interfaces can be of many different wired technologies (e.g. composite video, line level audio, HDMI, or Ethernet) or, more recently, wireless.

### Figure 1. Basic stream structure and typical components



Figure 2. Abstract stream structure (links to outside local network optional)



A data link is a point-to-point connection between two devices. There are many types: analog or digital, one-way or two-way, etc. A link is defined by the interfaces at each end, which must match. Originally, all A/V communication occurred in discrete links between two devices. HDMI introduced sequences of links of up to four devices. Network technologies enable arbitrary communication among any number of devices. Networks are not traditional in A/V systems, though as Internet Protocol technologies make inroads, they are beginning to be a factor.

### Streams

A stream is an ongoing flow of data that transports audio and/or video content. It flows from a source to a sink, across one more links, of the same or different technologies. It is an association between the source and sink devices, and the source context (e.g. channel, time in media, or playlist name).

Some A/V systems can have multiple streams operating at the same time. Examples are when one source is being recorded and a second source is displayed on a TV, and "picture-in-picture" features that show two streams on the same screen. Stream topologies are becoming more complicated with ability to replicate video content to a second TV, and split off audio from a video stream to a separate device.

A stream may contain typical TV or movie content, or a content navigation screen. Streams can also be static (e.g. when content is paused), audio-only, or audio with peripheral video content (e.g. artist and song title).

### Sources

A source is the initial appearance of a stream within an A/V system. Examples include local static media (e.g. DVDs), recorded media (on DVRs), remote content (e.g. from broadcast or service providers), or locally created content (from security cameras, PCs, or game consoles).

### Sinks

A sink is the final destination of a stream, with the most common sink a television display with integrated speakers. A "display" communicates media to a user. A TV's main component is its visual display; speakers are "audio displays".

#### Intermediate Device

Some devices are sometimes or always only a "pass-through" of content and neither a source nor a sink. An A/V receiver is the most common example of this. Some devices can be sources, intermediates, or sinks at different times or for different purposes.

#### Control Signals

Control signals are data not part of a media stream itself, but which actively determine or describe the content being displayed. Examples include infrared data from remote controls, and control paths on digital links such as HDMI. High-end A/V components sometimes include interfaces for control signals, some of which use RS-232 interfaces; these enable a central controller to direct the detailed operation of other devices.

### **Power Control in Current Systems**

Today's A/V systems are generally very good at accomplishing their primary function of displaying media content for people to enjoy. However, control of power states on these devices is frequently cumbersome and/or confusing. For a variety of reasons, devices are often left fully on when not needed, wasting energy. Users are annoyed and distracted by manually powering up devices when needed.

The core issue this paper addresses is the matching of content wanted (and actually consumed) by people, with devices being active as necessary to deliver that content. Energy efficiency is best served by doing this as precisely as possible, with the least burden imposed on users.

### An Improved A/V Architecture

This section describes principles for a new A/V power control architecture, which builds on existing technologies, but makes key changes and additions. The core concept only addresses how devices should behave in an optimal future with all new devices; how we manage the transition is considered later. Power control is primarily about transitions – how a device knows when its state should change. This section covers principles fundamental to the new approach, issues in changing power state, what this means for how devices behave, and user interface concerns.

Creating this new architecture is part of an ongoing project; earlier phases [2] reviewed characteristics and features relevant to power control, first of current A/V devices [3], and then for communications technologies [4]. The most recent phase [5] explored how the concept of sleeping streams would affect the operation of devices and protocols, by assessing use cases for device and stream operation, resulting needed device behaviors, and particular issues that require special attention.

Technology architectures cannot be proved to be optimal nor can they be derived from data in the way that many physical principles can be. Rather, they can simply be described and explored, as well as compared to other technologies for their capabilities and burdens (such as complexity). An alternative architecture to the sleeping stream one would include a central control device that would manage the power state of all A/V devices in a local network. This approach appears to be more costly, less effective, and more likely to fail than the sleeping stream approach. One could require that all devices participate in a single network protocol. This is unlikely, at least for the foreseeable future, and in comparison to the sleeping stream model, seems unnecessary. Thus, this scheme is proposed as the best solution to the problem, though alternatives are welcomed to test this hypothesis.

### **Starting Principles**

This project did not arise in isolation; rather, it builds on lessons learned over the last several decades in how to manage digital devices in a network context. A/V devices are beginning to adopt many

conventions and technologies from computers in how they communicate and behave. Examples include the change from using only data links, to increasingly making use of network connections (that are digital and bidirectional), and the ability of some A/V devices to perform multiple tasks simultaneously. Thus, lessons from how PCs are power-managed are likely to apply to A/V devices. Key among these are:

- Use a three-state power state model (not two) and make it clear in the user interface.
- Maintain network connectivity in sleep.
- Ensure that power management is as automatic as possible.
- Keep delays on device wakeup short (a few seconds at most).

These lead to several conclusions about devices; they should:

- Be aware of the power state of other A/V devices in the local network.
- Be aware of the functional state of other A/V devices in the local network.
- Mostly toggle between on and sleep.
- Be quick to wake, and (relatively) slow to go to sleep.

In constructing the use cases for this project (see below), a design principle was that users care most that devices are on and available when they are wanted so that it is important to minimize or avoid forcing people to power up devices manually (e.g. with its remote control, its power switch, or with a different remote programmed to do so). Devices need to always wake if they need to (or even just might need to), to maximize user convenience and match expectations. If they fail to do this, users will likely disable power saving features leading to much energy waste.

Most people value convenience and a system of powering-down devices that is automatic, and an automatic system will engage considerably more often than manual-based ones will.

These principles, and consideration of how people do today, and will in the future, use A/V devices led to the sleeping stream concept and associated content.

### Analysis

This project phase began with an assessment of abstracted use cases of device operation that affect power states in the context of sleeping streams. There is a minimum set of use cases that covers the needed complexity, and beyond this, additional cases only raise issues already covered by the basic set. For example, cases with more than three devices simply have several intermediate devices, each of which has the behaviors of the intermediate in the three-device case, so that no cases with more than three devices are needed. Table 1 shows an example use case with two devices and one content stream. The START and END lines show the power state of each device, while the intermediate lines show the sequence of actions taken by individual entities. If the TV had already been on at the start of the process, the resulting sequence would be effectively the same, since waking the stream would not require step 3 to wake the TV but would be otherwise identical. This is an example of an alternate use case that would add no new device behaviors.

Table 1 refers to a "fixed" stream. This is a content stream of finite duration, such as a movie. Other streams, such as broadcast media, are continuous and have no definite limit. Device behaviors will sometimes differ between these two stream types. The study [5] presented five one-device use cases, nine two-device cases, and two three-device cases. It also considered two cases in which the stream was addressed directly, rather than one of the devices, as well as two example cases of "failure" when a device does not behave as intended and so the resulting action is compromised. It is abnormal cases such as those that include failure that can create the most complexity for manufacturers and the most difficulty for users, so it is helpful when the core technology is as simple as possible.

Step	DVD	ΤV	Stream	Comments
START	Sleep	Sleep	Sleep	
				DVD power-up command (manual or internal timer) or manual play command
1	Wake			
2			Wake	DVD wakes up last stream it participated in
3		Wake		Stream involves TV so TV must power up
4		Input		Change Input (If necessary)
5	Play		On	Only after both devices fully wake (only applies to fixed streams)
END	On	On	On	

### Table 1. Use case example: DVD player powers up

Note that this architecture does not specify the mechanisms by which the communication occurs that enables these sequences of actions to occur – just the result. Other standards — extensions to existing ones — provide the mechanisms.

In addition to device (and stream) power states and actions that entities engage in, the use cases also contain other elements. One is user action, which can be direct (e.g. use of a remote control), or indirect (e.g. change of state in an occupancy sensor). Another is a delay timer, such as a period of time of no activity that might initiate a power-down sequence, or the length of time that a warning is displayed of an imminent power-down. A third type of action is unexpected failures of a device or communications link.

The use cases outlined were evaluated to identify standard behaviors that devices should implement. Table 2 shows a portion of the result – behaviors that a source device must have. There are corresponding tables for sinks, intermediates, streams, and failure modes. While the use cases in the full report [5] on first glance suggest significant complexity, the behaviors show that in fact the system is based on a modest number of rules. The relative simplicity of the system is good for the design of communication protocols needed to accomplish it, the design of products which implement the protocols and behaviors, and for the ordinary human beings who must use the resulting products and systems.

### Table 2. Source Behaviors

On	Notified stream to go to sleep - Pause stream if fixed	Source paused - Wait for X time
	<i>Fixed Streams only</i> Fixed content ends - Menu for X time - Tell stream to sleep	"All devices ready" signal from stream - Play content
Sleep	Powered up - Wake self - Wake stream	

In the course of the analysis, it became clear that several temporary transitional states were needed for such a system to work. Figure 3 shows a proposal for how the three basic stream states and three transitional states might relate to each other; "GTS" is going-to-sleep. Devices commonly have transitional states internally but the system architecture may not need to represent them externally in the way that it needs to be cognizant of detailed stream states.

Content streams today are usually simple, involving no more than three devices all arranged in a linear fashion. However, it is quite possible, and even likely, that future streams will include branches into or out of the core stream as well as being longer than three devices. Figure 4 shows this graphically, but it is not apparent that such complexity needs to change the basic operation of streams sleeping and waking, except for how failure modes are treated.



Figure 3. State diagram for stable and transitional stream states.

Figure 4. More complex stream topologies



### **Sleeping Streams**

Media content streams are the core of A/V system functionality and need to evolve to create new capabilities and to optimally support power control. Computers have three basic power states, and since applications are contained within a single device, they go to sleep with the device, and the operating system informs applications when sleep and wake events happen. In A/V devices, streams are the analog of applications, being the basic unit of activity. Since streams inherently involve multiple devices, power management of streams can be considered separately from the power state of the involved devices (that is, while stream state influences device state and vice-versa, they are often not the same). In general, the three-state model has advantages over its two-state counterpart.

A "sleeping" stream has its representation maintained within devices and networks, but no media content is communicated. This enables new functionality to more easily match the power and functional state of devices to what is desired by the user. A sleeping stream is more available than a stream which does not exist. Creation of a new stream requires a series of link and inter-device negotiation steps, requiring time and user effort. In contrast, waking a sleeping stream requires many fewer steps. A sleeping stream is distinct from one which is active but just paused, since a paused stream needs to be able to resume with no delay at all and should always contain a static image of the pause point. Pausing usually is for only seconds or minutes. Sleeping can extend for months or years. While a device can be turned off then turned back on again, the alternative to a stream being on or asleep is for it to be deleted. Once deleted, it must be recreated from scratch for it to exist again.

As with sleeping devices, people will need to be aware of the sleep state of a stream to understand its functionality, as it may be useful in how devices are used. For example, the video stream from a security camera could be set as a sleeping stream and so have authority/capability to wake up a specific television (or group of displays) when it becomes active. By contrast, a mobile phone
entering a space that does not have a relationship with the TV might need to have the TV powered up first before it can negotiate access to the display.

Another relevant analogy for streams in a network context is the Transmission Control Protocol (TCP), widely used in Internet communications [6]. It enables reliable bidirectional data transfer between two end points. Before any data can be transferred, a negotiation takes place between the two end points to agree to open the data connections, and the device that gets the request from the other can refuse it. Either side can close the connection at any time. TCP connections do not have the concept of a sleep state (although they probably should), but if an extended period of time passes with no data being sent, then either device can send a "keep-alive" packet with no stream data to assure the other side that it is still there. Since TCP includes acknowledgment packets, presence of both devices on the network is confirmed any time data or keep-alives are exchanged. The energy burden of occasional packets is minor, so long as doing this does not require a higher device power state. Thus, the existence of a potential flow of data is decoupled from the actual flow of data.

As the use case and behavior analysis showed, the combination of sleeping devices and sleeping streams provides needed flexibility for a variety of current and emerging usage scenarios while keeping the complexity of the system manageable for both devices and the people that use them.

An attribute of the sleeping stream concept is that when a new stream is to be created, all of the involved devices must be fully awake. This makes the complexity that a sleeping device must implement much less than otherwise. For example, security and authentication present significant challenges and these only are dealt with by devices that are fully on.

#### **User Interfaces**

Past experience with power control of electronics has shown that unclear or inconsistent user interfaces are a barrier to saving energy. In addition, standardizing user interfaces has a very low to no manufacturing cost, and improves the overall user experience. One need is to clearly embody the 3-state power model into A/V devices, in hardware (including indicator lights), and software controls [7,8]. Another need is to ensure that user interfaces for device control include device power state information, so that when devices available are presented, there are subtle distinctions made between those that are fully on and those that are asleep (off devices will generally not be visible at all). This distinction can help alert users when there are functionality differences between sleeping and on devices. It can also help a user to diagnose problems, e.g. to see when devices are fully on that don't need to be (many users do not commonly look at most devices, having them in cabinets, closets, or elsewhere).

Inertia is a powerful force in user interface design, and power control is not a feature that is likely to be a driver of purchase decisions, so manufacturers have little incentive to focus on it. However, it is clear that the energy savings benefits from improved user interfaces is orders of magnitude larger than the costs required to deploy them.

A further user interface challenge is how to represent content streams other than those actively being viewed. It remains to be seen what overall principles and approaches manufacturers will bring to this so it is premature to comment on it from the energy perspective. However, a clear visual distinction between streams that are on or asleep is needed, and this can be standardized once it becomes clear what that is (a possible approach is to dim or 'grey-out' a textual or iconic representation of a sleeping stream).

## **Other Considerations**

In the analysis, we considered a variety of issues that the architecture, protocols, and devices must cover. The following are the major issues considered; full detail in the main project report [5].

Named streams. For device-device communication as well as device-human communication, streams will need to be distinguished from each other, which requires some mechanism for

identification. The simplest way to do this is with a human-readable name. Such names will need to be unique within a local network.

**Occupancy.** As the purpose of audio/video streams is to communicate information to people, the occupancy of a person or people in a space can be critical information to know when to begin or end displaying a stream. Mechanisms to acquire and distribute occupancy information among devices will be a key technology innovation. This can also be extended to other uses of energy such as lighting and climate control.

**Failures.** When a device or communications link fails, the interaction between people and devices can be the most intense and important. Thus, how devices respond to failure conditions is critical to their user amenity and ultimately energy savings.

**Multiple streams in a network.** Local networks may contain multiple simultaneously active content streams, with some devices involved in more than one.

**Multiple streams per device.** While today collections of A/V devices usually only involve a single content stream at one time, in future many of these will be capable of, and commonly implement, more than one simultaneously. This will require adaptations to technologies, products, and user experience.

**Multiple sinks and/or sources.** Streams today usually involve a single source device and a single sink (an exception is when an A/V receiver sends audio to speakers independently of the video signal sent to a TV). As the availability of sources expands, we can expect more ability to merge multiple sources into a single stream. In addition, as the cost of displays drops, and the ability to direct data to multiple displays increases, it will be attractive for people in homes (and other use contexts) to replicate a content stream across multiple displays. Both of these will require the same sorts of changes that multiple simultaneous streams do.

**Creating and maintaining streams.** With persistent existence, there will necessarily be some overhead for both people and devices in managing streams. The burden of this needs to be kept as low as possible while providing needed capability and flexibility.

**Emergency broadcasts.** As content streams become networked, the possibility of using them for disaster notifications (natural and otherwise) will become apparent and implemented. This will require specific network availability of devices, authentication needs, and user preferences for this purpose.

## The Transition

Even when a well-functioning system is implemented in all new devices, we will still have a huge stock of existing "legacy" devices that the new devices will need to interoperate with. Systems with legacy devices will use more energy and lack usability advantages; effort will be needed to assure that problems in both areas are minimized. New devices will need to detect when they are interacting with legacy devices and so adjust their behaviors. Some existing technologies have command/control mechanisms useful here. A new device could use these to manage the power state of legacy devices it is connected to. New devices could also provide user direction to manually manage legacy device power state when no other mechanism is available.

## **Next Steps**

This architecture described here is being presented to the consumer electronics industry for consideration. If accepted, existing protocol standards will require extensions, in particular, adopting the three-state power model for devices and streams, and always exposing power and functional state to other devices on the local network. If accepted, the following steps are anticipated to result in products that implement it.

• Create a standard that describes the overall scheme of sleeping streams and associated details that could be forwarded to standards organizations for consideration. This should

enable product designers to understand what to do and why, how to present this to users, and how to adapt the system to new circumstances.

- Review communication technologies to determine gaps between what they do today and what the architecture describes.
- Fill those gaps by amending technology standards.
- Put the technology into new products. Some features can be put into products even before the standards development is finished.
- Create a detailed summary of recommendations for how to deal with legacy products.

Critical to the process will be to get critical review from manufacturers of A/V devices, and the standards committees for relevant interface technologies. If a critical mass of these individuals and organizations do not support the system, it will not succeed. Manufacturers need to be assured that user amenity is the top priority.

For communications standards, the principal one needed to accomplish this in use today is HDMI [9]. Apart from providing the needed data path to send video data, HDMI also has features for content protection, addressing piracy concerns for many companies. HDMI is most commonly understood as a point-to-point mechanism, but it does facilitate a tree of devices with a single display at its root. It is possible to directly embed the notion of a sleeping stream within the core HDMI protocol, or implement it at a "higher layer" over the Ethernet channel present in newer versions of the standard. The UPnP protocol may also be critical.

It is also likely that one or more standards will get wide use for transporting A/V streams over Ethernet and Wi-Fi. These standards will also need to implement sleeping streams.

## **Considerations for Energy Policy**

Energy policy can advance this technology in time and could make a difference in it being created at all. Past examples have shown that the Energy Star program has done this for communications technologies, and the nature of information technology suggests that this will be more possible and needed in future.

Many energy policy programs have a goal to be "technology neutral" to not favor or require technologies that may unfairly advantage specific companies. This is sometimes extended to not wanting to require network interoperability technologies. This is a mistaken application of the technology neutrality principle, as open standards do not favor specific companies but are rather available to any company. In addition, some energy savings opportunities are only available if companies implement specific technologies so that failure to embrace them forecloses some potential savings.

## Conclusions

A/V device control is a complex topic with diverse devices, interfaces, technologies, system construction, and usage models. As power control has not been a high priority for the industries involved, it is not surprising that it is not well articulated in current technologies and devices systems. Digital technologies not only bring functionalities not available previously, but also offer the possibility of a more robust system for power control. A new power control architecture seems possible to construct and implement in technologies and products. The bigger challenge will be to improve products in the interim that have some legacy analog interfaces which inherently complicate power control.

## Acknowledgement

This work was supported by the California Energy Commission's Public Interest Energy Research program and by the Assistant Secretary for Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy, Building Technologies Program, of the U.S. Department of Energy under Contract No. DEAC02-05CH11231.

Many thanks to Gari Kloss for her invaluable contributions.

## References

- [1] Urban, Bryan, Verena Tiefenbeck, and Kurt Roth. 2011. Energy Consumption of Consumer Electronics in U.S. Homes in 2010. Final Report by Fraunhofer Center for Sustainable Energy Systems for the Consumer Electronics Association.
- [2] Nordman, Bruce, Audio/Video Inter-Device Power Control, ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings, 2012.
- [3] Nordman, Bruce, 2012. Existing Product Assessment and Conclusions Memo, interim deliverable for this project, June 15, 2012. http://nordman.lbl.gov/avcontrol
- [4] Nordman, Bruce, 2012. Summary of Analysis of Communication Link Technologies, interim deliverable for this project, September 21, 2012. http://nordman.lbl.gov/avcontrol
- [5] Nordman, Bruce, and H.Y. Iris Cheung, Use Cases, Analysis Method, and Candidate Device Behavior Model Report, December 21, 2012. http://nordman.lbl.gov/avcontrol
- [6] Postel, Jon. 1981. Transmission Control Protocol, Internet Engineering Task Force, RFC 793.
- [7] Institute for Electrical and Electronic Engineers. 2004. Microprocessor Standards Committee of the IEEE Computer Society. P1621, Standard for User Interface Elements in Power Control of Electronic Devices Employed in Office/Consumer Environments. (approved December, 2004; reaffirmed December, 2009).
- [8] Nordman, Bruce. 2003. The Power Control User Interface Standard Final Report. prepared for the California Energy Commission, Public Interest Energy Research Program, LBNL-52526.
- [9] High Definition Multimedia Interface LLC. 2010. HDMI Networked Products and Consumer Electronics Control (CEC), HDMI Version 1.4a, March 2010. http://www.hdmi.org/manufacturer/specification.aspx

# What is an energy efficient TV? Trying to find the best TV in China and in Europe

## Anette Michel, Eric Bush, Conrad U. Brunner, Hu Bo, Diane Damino

## Topten International Services, Switzerland, and Topten China

## Abstract

Topten International launched a test project in order to find out whether there are large differences in energy efficiency between the TVs on the Chinese and the European market. For the test, the most energy efficient 46-inch TV models were selected from the lists of Topten Europe and Topten China. The TVs were tested and classified according to the Energy Labels and standards of Europe and China by three participating testing institutes. Apart from verifying the declarations and compliance with minimum efficiency requirements the main results support the initial theses: the On mode power of the European TV model is considerably lower than that of the Chinese model. The question which of the two TVs is more efficient however is not easy to answer: according to the European Union (EU) Energy Label, the EU TV is the more efficient of the two test TVs. On the Chinese Energy Label however, the Chinese TV reaches a better efficiency grade than the EU TV. Different efficiency definitions on the two Energy Labels make this possible: while an efficient TV in Europe is one with low power in On mode compared to a reference model of the same screen size, an efficient TV in China is bright relative to its power.

The results show that details of policy instruments can strongly influence product design. These instruments must therefore be carefully defined in line with their primary aim. The present project allows identifying aspects of the applied Labels and standards that could be improved.

## Background

Topten<sup>1</sup> is an international program designed to create a dynamic benchmark for the most energy efficient products [1]. It addresses consumer's needs, but also manufacturers, retailers, researchers and policy makers to push them to produce more energy efficient products. There are currently 20 national Topten sites throughout Europe, China and the USA. Each site provides information on the most energy efficient products available in their local markets.

Toptens goal is to contribute their expertise to the worldwide distribution of the most energy efficient technologies. Due to different measurement standards and efficiency assessments in many countries is difficult to compare the Best Available Technology (BAT) from one region to another. This is also the main limitation to the benchmarking document on TVs from the 4E project [2], which found that the average Energy Efficiency Index in the countries considered improved by 8% from 2008 to 2009. Its global presence allows Topten to closely look at some products from different regions and compare their efficiency levels [3].

A comparison of the energy consumption of TV models on Topten websites in China, Europe and USA, based on declared power values, showed that Chinese TVs have a higher energy consumption than European and American models [4] (figure 1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> <u>www.topten.info</u>



#### Figure 1: Annual Energy Consumption of Topten TVs

Source: [4]

Topten International wanted to look closer at the reasons for this finding: is it a fact that Chinese TVs are less energy efficient than European (and US-American) TVs? Or do different measurement standards lead to a higher power declaration in China? Topten International launched the testing project, which allows to better understand the details of the Chinese and the EU energy labels for TVs, and the measurement methods they are based on. The results are also used to verify the declared power and consumption values, and to determine the current level of the most efficient TVs on the market.

Also the Superefficient Equipment and Appliance Deployment (SEAD) Initiative<sup>2</sup> aims at determining the most efficient TVs of the world. Their results [6] are compared with the findings of the Topten test project in the final section.

Part of the project's findings have also been presented in [5] at eceee.

## Methodology

The most energy efficient 46-inch TV models on the Chinese and European markets were both purchased and tested according to the Chinese and the European Energy Label and the relevant measurement standards by three participating testing institutes.

#### Product selection

The following requirements were defined, so that the two TV models do not provide different functionalities, which would make them not comparable:

- Screen diagonal: 46 inch / 117cm
- Resolution: 1920 x 1080
- No hard disk integration
- Automatic brightness function (or similar function) that can be switched off manually

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> <u>www.superefficient.org</u>

At the end of June 2012 the TV models from the Topten China and Topten Europe lists with the lowest On mode power consumption - conforming to the above specifications - were selected for the test (figure 2). The technical specifications as declared by the manufacturers are presented in table 1.



Figure 2: Topten China and Topten EU product lists with the selected TV models (June 2012)

Declarations according to	Chinese Energy Label	European Energy Label
Brand	Hisense	Philips
Model	LED46K200	46PFL6806K
Technology	LED-LCD	LED-LCD
Diagonale (Inches)	46	46
Resolution (Pixel)	1920x1080	1929x1080
On mode power (W)	80	46
Standby power (W)	0.5	0.15
Annual electricity consumption	87	63
(kWh/year)		
Energy Efficiency Index EEI	2.10	0.16
Energy label grade / class	1	A++

Table 1: Selected TV models and technical specifications

## **Product testing**

Both TVs were tested by the three participating test institutes: CVC (Gunangzhou, China), NIM (Beijing, China) and VDE (Offenbach, Germany), according to the Chinese and the European measurement standards relevant for the respective Energy Labels and rated according to the Labels.

### The Chinese and European Energy Labels for TVs



Figure 3: Chinese and European Energy Label for TVs

The Chinese Energy Label rates the TVs from grade 3 (least efficient) to 1 (most efficient). The grade 3 limit corresponds to the minimum energy performance standard (MEPS). For plasma TVs this is higher (less efficient) than for LCD TVs [7]. The European Energy Label ranges from A to G [8], even though TVs less efficient than class D are banned from the market [9]. TVs reaching better classes (A+ or A++) feature a label including these classes. From 2014 the scale will be A+ to F for all TVs [8].

The two Energy Labels are based on different definitions of TV efficiency: While in Europe an efficient TV is one with low power in On mode compared to the power of a reference model of the same screen size ( $P/P(dm^2)$ ) [8], in China the most efficient TV is the one that is brightest relative to its power (high cd/W relation) [7]. European TVs are prevented from reaching low power simply by being very dark: the brightness in factory settings (this is how the TVs are measured) must be at least 65% of the maximum brightness.

According to both Energy Labels larger TVs can have higher power without getting a worse classification (EU: because larger reference TVs also have a higher power input; CN: because a larger TV has a higher luminous intensity (Cd = Cd/m<sup>2</sup> \* m<sup>2</sup>)). In Europe brighter TVs must be more efficient than darker ones in order to get an equal classification, while in China, in addition to larger TVs, brighter TVs can have a higher power without getting 'punished' with a bad grade.

The measurement of the On mode power consumption is based on the dynamic broadcast content of the IEC 62087 standard [10] for both energy labels, and both consider the average On mode power consumption over 10 minutes. However, the settings that are chosen for the On mode power and the luminance measurements are different for the two standards:

- Chinese energy label: brightness and contrast settings are adjusted to a 8-greylevel-signal, other image settings are set to 'factory setting'; Automatic Brightness Control (ABC) is switched off.
- EU energy label: factory settings ('out of the box'). ABC is switched off.

Apart from the different brightness and contrast settings, different signal input terminals are used (GB 24850: Rundfunk (RF, aerial broadcast); EU: High Definition Multimedia Interface (HDMI)) and different voltages are applied: 220V are used for the Chinese energy label, 230V for the EU energy label measurements.

#### Relevant regulations and standards

China: GB 24850: 2010 *Minimum allowable values of energy efficiency and energy efficiency grades for flat panel televisions* [7]. This paper contains the legal minimum efficiency requirements, the Energy Label details for TVs as well as the EEI calculation formulas and the measurement procedure. It is therefore referred to as 'standard' (as in Chinese). The standard refers to the dynamic broadcast content of the IEC 62087:2008 [8] for the measurement of the On mode power. GB 24850 also includes a method for measuring the luminance and the Standby power of the TV.

Europe: *EU regulation No 1062/2010 on energy labelling of TVs* [8]. For the measurement of the On mode power IEC 62087: 2011 Methods of measurement for the power consumption of audio, video and related equipment [10] is applied (as recommended in a separate Communication [11]). For the Standby measurement [11] refers to the standard for measurement of low power consumption [12]. The EEI calculation formula and the labeling scale are contained in [8].

## Results

#### Energy Efficiency Index (EEI) and Energy Class / Energy Grade

EU Energy Label – 1062/2010									
Philips 46PFL6806K			Hisense LED46K200						
Institute	EEI	Class*	Luminance	EEI	Class	Luminance			
			ratio			ratio			
CVC	0.161	A+	55%	0.302	В	54%			
NIM	0.163	A+	53%	0.302	В	99%			
VDE	0.169	A+	62%	0.301	В	99%			

#### Table 2: Main results according to the EU Energy labelling regulation

\*Including the justified 5% On mode power reduction for the ABC to calculate the EEI, the results confirm the declared A++ class of the Philips TV.

All test institutes report the Philips 46PFL6806K to be of higher efficiency than the Hisense LED46K200 when measured and classified according to the European energy label. The institutes' results on EEI and efficiency class are in line, for the luminance ratio the institutes however reach different results.

For the Philips model all institutes calculated an EEI slightly above 0.16 and thus reported an energy class A+ for the Philips TV – while Philips declared it to be in class A++. According to the Labelling regulation, TVs which have the ABC activated receive a 5% reduction on the measured On mode power for the calculation of the EEI. The test institutes did not consider the 5% reduction, even though the Philips TV does have its ABC enabled at factory settings. When considering the 5% reduction, the declared A++ class of the TV can be confirmed (see table 5 for more details).

Chinese Energy Label – GB 24850							
	Philips 46PFL6806K		Hisense LED46K2	00			
Institute	EEI	Grade	EEI	Grade			
CVC	1.15 (1.34*)	2 (2*)	1.36 (1.50*)	2 (1*)			
NIM	-	-	2.33	1			
VDE	1.43*	1*	2.86*	1*			

#### Table 3: Main results according to the Chinese energy labelling standard

\*Measured with HDMI input terminal, not RF as officially relevant for the Label

Contrary to the assessment of the European energy labelling regulation, <u>all test institutes report the</u> <u>Hisense LED46K200 to be of higher efficiency than the Philips 46PFL6806K when measured</u> <u>according to the Chinese standard.</u>

However, the three institutes reached different EEI results for both TV models, and even different energy grades on the Chinese Energy Label. (NIM did not report valid results for the test of the Philips TV according to the Chinese standard.)

#### Compliance check

Philips 46PFL6806K

#### Table 4: Compliance check for the Philips 46PFL6806K

Philips 46PFL6806K	On mode power (W)	Standby mode power (W)	Peak luminance ratio
Declared	45.5	0.15	65%
Incl. tolerance	48.7 (7%)	0.25 (0.1W)	60%
Result by CVC	44.25	0.12	55%
Result by NIM	44.59	0.16	53%
Result by VDE	46.11	0.12	62%
Compliance?	YES	YES	To be checked

The measurement tolerance for the On mode power of European TVs is 7%. The declared power of the Philips has been confirmed by the tests (table 4). The maximum allowed Standby power for TVs is 0.5W [9], the measurement tolerance is set at 0.1W. The Philips 46PFL6806K clearly meets this requirement. The brightness in factory settings or the home mode is required to be at least 65% of the maximum brightness. The institutes reached different results on the peak luminance ratio, but all are below 65%. How about the Energy Class? All institutes reported an A+ for the Philips TV instead of the declared A++. For the calculation of the EEI the institutes missed to include the 5% discount which is granted for TVs with an ABC: if the ABC is activated in the factory mode and the luminance of the TV is reduced at an ambient light intensity between 20 lux and 0 lux, the measured On mode power will be reduced for the calculation of the EEI and the annual energy consumption. This clause in [8] might not be obvious, and as the test reports show, it can easily be missed. Table 5 compares the relevant values with and without 5% ABC reduction.

Philips 46PFL	6806K	CVC	NIM	VDE	Declared
without	On mode power measured	44.3	44.6	46.1	45.5
reduction	kWh/a	64.6	65.1	67.3	
	EEI	0.162	0.163	0.169	
	Class	A+	A+	A+	
with 5%	On mode power	42.0	42.4	43.8	43.2
enabled ABC	kWh/a	61.4	61.8	64.0	63.1
	EEI	0.154	0.155	0.161	0.159
	Class	A++	A++	A+	A++

Table	5: E	El ca	Iculation	for	the	Philips	model	with	reduction	for	ABC
Table	J. L		iculation	101	uic	1 mp3	mouci	<b>WALCH</b>	readenon	101	ADO

The test institutes confirmed that the Philips TV has a light sensor with a brightness reduction function activated in the factory mode. Thus it deserves the 5% reduction. The On mode power measured by VDE is within the tolerance of 7% of the declared value. Therefore all results confirm the declared On mode power, EEI and Energy class of the Philips 46PFL6806K.

#### Hisense LED46K200

Also in China the maximum Standby power for TVs is 0.5W [7]. For the Hisense LED46K200 the declared standby power of 0.5W was confirmed by all three testing institutes (table 6). NIM and VDE also confirmed the declared grade 1 of the Hisense. CVC however reports an EEI of 1.36 (35% lower than what is declared) and grade 2.

## Table 6: Compliance check for the Hisense LED46K200

Hisense LED46K200	Standby power	EEI	Grade
MEPS	0.5 W	0.6	3
Declared	0.5 W	2.1	1
Measured by CVC	0.42 W	1.36	2
Measured by NIM	0.35 W	2.33	1
Measured by VDE	0.41 W	2.86	1
Compliance?	YES	To be checked	

MEPS: Minimum Energy Performance Standard

#### **Measured values**

#### Standby power

The institutes' results for Standby power differ by up to 0.12W for the Hisense TV and 0.05W for the Philips TV (table 7). These deviations are larger than the measurement tolerance of the EU Ecodesign regulation of 0.01W [11]. The deviations between the institutes are larger than those between the two measurement standards, which are no more than 0.1W. The deviations between CVC and VDE are no higher than 0.02W (Hisense/EU).

Table 7: Results of the Standb	y power	measurements
--------------------------------	---------	--------------

Standby power (W)	Declared	CVC	NIM	VDE
Philips/ CN		0.11	0.16	0.12
Philips/ EU	0.15	0.12	0.16	0.12
Hisense/ CN	0.5	0.42	0.35	0.41
Hisense/ EU		0.43	0.35	0.41
Hisense/ CN Hisense/ EU	0.5	0.42 0.43	0.35 0.35	0.41 0.41

CN: according to the [7], EU: according to [8]

#### On mode power

<u>All institutes report the Hisense LED46K200 to have a higher On mode power than the Philips</u> <u>46PFL6806K, for all measurements (figure 5)</u>. Results according to the EU labelling regulation are well aligned between the institutes, while for the measurement of the Hisense TV according to the Chinese standard NIM reports a lower value than the two other institutes.



On mode power (W)	Declared	сус	NIM	VDE
		50.44		
Philips/ CN	-	(51.93*)	-	51.35*
Philips/ EU	45.5	44.25	44.59	46.11
		81.53		
Hisense/ CN	80	(82.28*)	60.11	82.32*
Hisense/ EU	-	82.93	82.28	81.93

#### Figure 5: of the On mode power results

\*measured with HDMI input terminal instead of RF

On mode power measurements according to the EU standard:

For the power measurements of the Philips according to the EU labelling regulation all institutes reached very similar results close to the declared 45.5W (despite different brightness settings and at different luminance levels, see below). The measured On mode power of the Chinese TV is around 80% higher than that of the EU TV.

On mode power measurement according to the Chinese standard:

CVC's and VDE's On mode power results for the Chinese TV according to the Chinese standard are close to the declared 80W; the deviation is below 3%. The result from NIM however is 25% lower. (For the luminance however CVC and NIM's results are closer to each other, while VDE measured at a much higher luminance – see below).

Also for the power measurement of the EU TV the results by VDE and CVC are very close (51W) (also the measured luminance does not differ too much, see below). NIM could not adjust the Philips model to the 8-greylevel-signal and did not report a valid result for this measurement. Also VDE reported problems to adjust the Philips TV to the 8-greylevel-signal of the Chinese standard, and finally chose the same settings as CVC. Using the HDMI input terminal instead of RF for the measurement by VDE does not seem to be leading to large differences in the results.

#### Luminance



Typical lur		Max. L	uminance	e (EU)	
CVC	NIM	VDE	CVC	NIM	VDE
87.62					
(87.77*)		92.93*			
207.5	131.36	146	380.2	245.54	237.2
182.95					
(183.44*)	219.64	351.23*			
213.8	395.9	405.1	394.5	401.08	407.6
	Typical lur           CVC           87.62           (87.77*)           207.5           182.95           (183.44*)           213.8	Typical luminance           CVC         NIM           87.62         (87.77*)           207.5         131.36           182.95         (183.44*)           213.8         395.9	VDE           CVC         NIM         VDE           87.62         92.93*           (87.77*)         92.93*           207.5         131.36         146           182.95         (183.44*)         219.64         351.23*           213.8         395.9         405.1	Typical luminance         Max. Li           CVC         NIM         VDE         CVC           87.62         92.93*         207.5         131.36         146         380.2           182.95         183.44*)         219.64         351.23*         394.5	Typical luminance         Max. Luminance           CVC         NIM         VDE         CVC         NIM           87.62         92.93*

Figure 6: Results of the luminance measurements

\*measured with HDMI input terminal instead of RF

Figure 6 shows that for both TVs the luminance is higher at factory settings (EU standard) than when adjusted according to the Chinese 8-greylevel-signal. So, many Chinese TVs are measured at lower brightness than they are delivered with. The detail brightness and contrast setting chosen by the institutes for the luminance (and power) measurement are displayed in table 8.

#### Table 8: Brightness and contrast settings chosen for the luminance measurements

			Brightness setting	Contrast setting	Luminance (cd/m²)
	CVC	Philips	37	100	87.6
	000	Hisense	50	78	183.0
CP 24850		Philips	-		-
GB 24050		Hisense	54	73	219.6
	VDE	Philips	37	100	92.9
		Hisense	50 (48*)	78 (48*)	351.2 (303.2*)
		Philips	37	100	207.5
	CVC	Hisense	45	76	213.8
EU	NIM	Philips	Factory settings	Factory settings	
1062/2010		Hisense	Factory settings		395.9
		Philips	50	75	146.0
	VDE	Hisense	50	50	405.1

\*settings chosen by VDE's interpretation of the translated standard

Luminance measured according to the EU Energy Label:

The luminance should be measured at factory settings. Once the settings have been changed, they can be regained by selecting 'factory settings' in the menu. Still the brightness and contrast settings chosen by the institutes and the luminance measured differ (table 8).

In the case of the Philips TV, CVC measured a considerably higher luminance than VDE and NIM. NIM's detail settings are not known. When looking at the factory brightness and contrast settings reported by the two other institutes, the difference in the measured luminance cannot be explained.

For measuring the maximum luminance all menu settings should be set to achieve the brightest image that can be obtained. Again, VDE and NIM report similar results for the Philips TV, while CVC measured a much higher maximum luminance (figure 6). Coincidentally, the peak luminance ratios calculated by CVC and NIM (table 2) end up to be very similar, even though they are based on different values.

For the Hisense it is the other way round: CVC measured around half the luminance of the other institutes when the TV is in the factory settings (table 8). Again, the brightness and contrast settings by VDE and CVC differ, but do not provide an explanation for the different results, while information on the settings chosen by NIM is missing. The Hisense's maximum luminance results obtained by the institutes differ by only around 3% (figure 6).

Luminance measured according to the Chinese standard:

Especially for the Hisense TV, the luminance results the institutes reached according to the Chinese standard also differ. VDE had doubts about their settings and finally chose the settings according to CVC. While the luminance results by CVC and VDE with identical settings are similar for the Philips TV, VDE's luminance result for the Hisense is much higher. NIM chose similar settings for the Hisense, but reached a different result. NIM could not adjust the Philips TV model to the 8-greylevel signal. The other two institutes obtained very low luminance results between 87 and 93 cd/m<sup>2</sup> for the Philips TV (figure 6).

#### Interpretation and limitations

The results according to both standards and for both TVs seem to show little correlation between:

- the brightness settings chosen by the institutes and the luminance measured
- and the luminance measured and the On mode power.

In discussions with the institutes explanations for the deviations were sought.

Part of the background is, that principally there are two ways to change the brightness in LCD TVs: either by the LCD layer, which works as a shutter and varies the amount of light that can get through,

or by changing the intensity of the backlight. The LCD layer has no effect on the power, but the brightness of the backlight does. The two tested TVs use different technologies: the Hisense TV, a relatively simple model, adjusts its brightness through the LCD layer, while the intensity of the backlight cannot be changed. Therefore the product always has the same power while in On mode, and, during the test by VDE, its power ranged from 81.8W to 82.4W only over the course of the dynamic broadcast content. The Philips TV on the other hand is more sophisticated: the 'dynamic backlight' setting leads to a lower power at dark scenes through dimming some LEDs of the backlight. Its power ranged from 37W to 57W during the test, depending on the brightness of the scenes. So, in the case of the Philips TV, a higher brightness can be associated with higher power, but is not necessarily so (when achieved uniquely by the LCD layer). The Philips also has an Automatic Brightness Control (ABC) adapting the brightness to the ambient light intensity, while the Hisense does not have such a function.

For the <u>Hisense TV</u> an explanation could not be found regarding the deviations between the institutes' test results. NIM's power result according to the Chinese standard (60W) cannot be explained. VDE could not achieve any modifications in On mode power in this model, and also CVC reports only values around 82W. The deviations between the luminance measured by the institutes according to the Chinese standard could partly be explained by the bad repeatability of the test. The Chinese institutes follow a methodology where several test engineers separately define the brightness settings according to the 8-greylevel-signal to obtain the best visibility, before discussing and agreeing on a certain procedure. CVC and NIM chose different settings, which could have lead to the different luminance results. Why VDE measured a higher brightness when choosing the settings according to CVC is not understood. Also not clear is why the institutes chose different 'factory' brightness and contrast settings for the measurement according to the EU standard, which may have lead to the lower luminance result CVC reports here.

In the case of the <u>Philips</u> model, the complexity of the product's setting possibilities offers some explanations for the different results obtained by the institutes. At first look it seems that the institutes did not choose identical brightness and contrast settings when measuring in the factory settings for the EU Energy Label– despite there being a 'factory settings' function in the menu. First it was found that the factory settings defined in the menu can be changed by software updates. Secondly, the 'factory settings' button in the Philips does not reset all possible settings: the 'colour temperature' for instance, which does influence the power by around 5% and the luminance by 30%, has to be reset manually.

Also different sound volume settings can have a faint influence on the power ( $\triangle < 1W$ ), and there is a contradiction between the EU Labelling regulation (asking for factory settings) and the IEC 62087, which defines a certain sound power level. Additionally, the ABC should be switched off for the test. CVC and NIM however both reported to have left the ABC on for the measurements according to the EU Energy Label, due to a misunderstanding. In the dark conditions of a test room, switching on the ABC can change the power by 15% and the luminance by 20%. It seems that when combining different setting options, the power and brightness differences of 5 to 20% can multiply and add up to around 30%. This can explain the luminance differences the institutes report for the EU Energy Label. The maximum luminance should be measured 'with the brightest picture which can be obtained by changing the menu settings'. This open formulation includes all menu settings affecting the brightness. But the very high maximum luminance CVC has reported could not be explained.

The Chinese Labelling Standard does not seem to be ready for TVs with complex menus as the Philips. The instruction as how to adjust the picture to the signal contains reference only to a few settings, such as 'contrast' and 'brightness'. It is not clear how to proceed with other settings affecting the brightness, e.g. the backlight.

## Conclusions

The outcome shows three unambiguous results:

- 1. According to the EU Energy Label the most energy efficient European TV is more efficient than the best Chinese TV.
- 2. According to the Chinese Energy Label the most energy efficient Chinese TV is more efficient than the best European TV.

3. The Chinese TV has a higher On mode power than the European TV.

1 and 2 are possible because to the different definitions of 'TV efficiency' by the Chinese and the European Energy Labels: while in Europe an efficient TV is one that consumes little power relative to its screen size, the most efficient TV in China is the one that is brightest relative to its power.

The fact that the European TV performs better according to the EU Energy label, and the Chinese TV performs better according to the Chinese Energy Label shows that manufacturers adjust their products very much to the details of energy labels and standards; the energy label does have a strong influence on product design. The European Philips TV is even difficult to assess according to the Chinese standard (two of the institutes reported difficulties to adjust it according to the 8-greylevel-signal); the product was not designed to be measured with this standard. It is therefore crucial that an energy label (and other instruments such as MEPS) is well defined. If the label aims at saving energy, the label should indeed favour the most energy saving products by choosing an appropriate definition of energy efficiency. The measurement procedure should reflect real usage conditions and not leave room for interpretation.

The third result implies that the European Energy label does better when it comes to favouring energy saving TVs than the Chinese standard. The luminance results however also show that the European TV is darker than the Chinese TV for most of the measurements. The European standard favours dark factory settings (down to 60% of a – sometimes – low maximum brightness), which bears the risk that the brightness settings are tuned higher as soon as the product is installed at home and the effective energy consumption is higher than declared. Stiftung Warentest found that after improving the picture quality by changing the factory settings, the On mode power of (European) TVs could increase by 50% [13]. The Chinese standard on the other hand favours very bright TVs.

According to the EU standard, On mode power measurements deliver similar results, but the luminance results show bigger disparities. The differences in the results according to the Chinese standard are large - the results do not seem to be fully repeatable.

#### Comparison with SEAD results

SEAD awarded 'most efficient TVs' for four different regions of the world for three size ranges [6]. The two TV models tested in the present study were not among the awarded models. China was not a focus region of SEAD. In Europe and North America the awarded TV models were also on the Topten lists and are among the most efficient TVs. According to the Topten lists, which refer to regional or national standards and labels, the TVs awarded by SEAD are however not the most efficient models. A main reason for the different outcome can be the different selection methods: while Topten covers the entire market of interest, manufacturers had to apply for the SEAD award. TVs were tested for the SEAD award – for all regions according to the same measurement procedure. TVs that were awarded as efficient according to the SEAD method are not necessarily the most efficient TVs when assessed according to regional measurement standards and labels.

#### Main problems discovered in the standards

#### EU Energy Label

A major problem of the EU Energy Label for TVs is the staged introduction of the A+-classes, which is scheduled too late: in 2012, the best TVs already reached class A++ [14]. This class will however be displayed on all labels in 2017 only, and A+ in 2014 [7]. Before this, all TVs not reaching the A+ class feature labels where A is the top class – signalling to consumers that this is the BAT.

Another flaw is that the EEI and the energy class cannot be verified from the declared values. Apart from that, the minimum peak luminance ratio is not clearly defined. The standard favours dark factory settings with sometimes poor picture quality [13]. Consumers will in some cases have to change the settings to achieve a better picture and end up with a higher electricity consumption than declared. Other problematic aspects:

• The Pbasic for calculating the reference power depends on the number of tuners, but it is not clearly defined what an individual tuner is. The verification authorities from Germany and VDE assume that even a tuner which is capable of decoding DVB-T, -C and –S signals is only

accounted for as more than one tuner if more than one of these can be used in parallel. The Energy Labelling regulation however does not specify this interpretation, neither does the accompanying guideline [15]. Therefore the EEI and the energy class cannot easily be verified.

- TVs that have an ABC and/or a function that automatically reduces the luminance below at least 20 lux activated in the factory settings receive a 5% discount on the measured On mode power for the EEI calculation. From the technical datasheet nobody can tell if this is true or not. This also complicates the verification of the declared EEI and the energy class.
   For the revised Ecodesign regulation even a 10% reduction is recommended [16] with however appropriate measurement and requirements for an ABC (progressive reduction of screen illuminance below 300 lux).
- The EU Energy Label asks for measurements in the factory settings, but due to complex menus, these are not easy to retrieve once the settings have been changed. Also the detail factory settings in one model can change over time through software updates. Several changed settings can lead to differences in power and luminance of around 30%.
- The peak luminance ratio is problematic: the ecodesign regulation requires it to be 65% at least. In the very same document however it is stated that 60% is sufficient (including measurement tolerances). So manufacturers set the luminance at 60% of the peak luminance and declare it to be 65% all conform. Moreover luminance values are not declared, and therefore cannot be checked.
- A total of seven different documents are needed to define or to verify the declaration and compliance of TVs. Most documents and standards are not clearly referred to and not clearly defined (IEC 62087 is recommended to be used for assessing the On mode power; in a different document, two standards for the luminance measurement are recommended). Without insider knowledge it is not possible to measure a TV according to the energy label.

#### Chinese standard

The main problems are the lack of declaration and the settings for both the power and luminance measurement based on the 8-greylevel-signal, which do not seem to be fully repeatable.

- Nothing needs to be publicly declared by the manufacturers: neither the calculated EEI, nor the On mode power or the luminance. Instead manufacturers declare certain EEI and standby power values along the grade limit or subsidy line. It is not possible to compare the products within one label grade regarding their energy efficiency.
- The picture settings for measuring the On mode power do not seem to be distinct. The standard does not specify if the picture quality also needs be changed with the 'backlight' setting.
- The settings for a measurement over the HDMI input terminal are not defined in the standard. Accordingly HDMI is by now a trend on the market, but RF is still dominating.
- Different values for the signal processing power Ps are subtracted from the measured On mode power value, depending on the input terminal: Ps=10W for analogue RF input, but 17W for digital RF input. Manufacturers can thus achieve the best results by choosing the most convenient input terminal (with the largest Ps). Ps for the HDMI input terminal is not defined. The formula in the new draft standard GB 24850-201X [17] does not contain any Ps or other value to be subtracted from the measured power any more.

#### Recommendations for a harmonised Energy Label and standard

- An energy label should aim at reducing energy consumption by guiding consumers to the products that consume the least energy while still providing their function. As the results of this project imply, energy labels also strongly act on manufacturers and influence product design. Therefore it is important that a label is designed to label those products with good grades or classes that really help to lower the energy consumption.
- The usual approach however is to allow a higher energy consumption for products which offer 'more' function (larger screen, brighter image, higher capacity or volume, etc.) [18], and

usually for larger products it is easier to obtain good grades. This leads consumers to choose larger or brighter products than needed based on the good energy class or grade – which do not fulfill consumers' expectations to save energy, but actually consume more energy than needed.

- In order to contribute to energy savings, energy labels should make the higher energy consumption by larger, brighter or stronger products visible instead of rewarding increased size, brightness or capacity: grade and class limits should consequently be defined based on a degressive or even capped approach. This requires larger products to be of higher efficiency in order to reach good grades than smaller products.
- As for the brightness settings, the European approach seems reasonable: to measure at factory settings influences the way the products are delivered or the 'home' mode. TVs should be measured in those settings the consumer is most likely to choose in order to reflect real usage conditions and the factory settings are quite probable to be used also after installation, as long as these settings are not too dark. Since consumers can change the settings in any case, it is good to also tackle the maximum brightness. If this is much brighter than how the TVs are measured, the real energy consumption can be much higher than declared. The min. 65% of maximum brightness in delivery state requirement leads manufacturers to renounce on unnecessary high maximum brightness. Still, it cannot be excluded that dark factory settings are preset which have to be changed by consumers, who then end up with a higher electricity consumption than what is declared.
- The Chinese standard does the opposite: it favours bright (and large) TVs, which acts against the energy label's main aim to save energy. With an energy label similar to the European one, where higher brightness is not rewarded, manufacturers have to find a midway between too low (bad visibility in shops) and too high (bad energy grading) brightness.
- The measurement at factory mode seems to be clearer than at a predefined brightness (which has to be obtained first by changing the settings with a test pattern). The problem that the factory settings are difficult to retrieve and can change over time should be solved e.g. with a requirement for an easy reset possibility of all parameters.
- A harmonised standard should define test patterns to be used for the brightness measurement, which is distinct and leaves no room to adapt settings. A measurement standard should include advice as how to change the settings in order to obtain the brightest image (including 'backlight' setting, colour temperature, contrast etc.).
- ABC should be considered in an appropriate way (a discount that reflects the energy savings that are indeed achieved at real usage conditions).
- The relevant measurement standard instructions and broadcast signal materials should be clearly referred to, the procedure and broadcast content or test pattern should be distinctly defined, similar to the current Chinese standard.

## Acknowledgements

The test could be carried out thanks to the participation of the test institutes and its experts, of Topten China and CLASP China:

CVC: Guangzhou Vkan Certification & Testing Institute, China National Center for Quality Supervision & Test of Electrical Appliances. Guangzhou, China: Chen Yongqiang and Judy Zhu. <u>www.cvc.org.cn/</u>

NIM: National Institute of Metrology. Beijing, China. Wu Tong and Shen Qingfei. http://en.nim.ac.cn/

VDE: Association for Electrical, Electronic and Information Technologies VDE. Offenbach, Germany. Gerhard Heine und Patrick Moebs. <u>www.vde.com/en</u>

Top10 China: Zheng Tan. www.top10.cn, and CLASP China: Li Jiayang. www.clasponline.org

## References

- [1] Eric Bush, Sophie Attali, Conrad U. Brunner et al.: *Topten: Global project for the most energy efficient products*. Presented at EEDAL 2011, Copenhagen.
- [2] IEA: 4E benchmarking document: *Televisions*. October 2010.
- [3] Sophie Attali, Eric Bush, Norman Dean et al.: *Topten Europe, USA and China: Reaching a critical mass to face the global appliance market.* Presented at eceee 2011, France.
- [4] Sun Wei: *Topten International Comparison: TV.* October 2011. Presented in China in April 2012.
- [5] Michel, Bush, Hu Bo: *Finding the most energy efficient TV in China and in Europe: not such an easy job…* Presented at eceee. June 2013, France.
- [6] Superefficient Equipment and Appliance Deployment (SEAD) Initiative: SEAD TV Award competition. August / October 2012. http://superefficient.org/Activities/Awards/TV%20Awards%20Competition.aspx
- [7] China National Institute of Standardisation (CNIS): GB 24850: 2010 Minimum allowable values of energy efficiency and energy efficiency grades for flat panel televisions
- [8] European Commission: Commission delegated regulation (EU) No 1062/2010 of 28 September 2010 supplementing Directive 2010/30/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council with regard to energy labelling of televisions
- [9] European Commission: Commission regulation (EC) No 642/2009 of 22 July 2009 implementing Directive 2005/32/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council with regard to ecodesign requirements for televisions
- [10] IEC 62087: 2011 Methods of measurement for the power consumption of audio, video and related equipment
- [11] Commission communication in the framework of the implementation of Commission Regulation (EC) No 642/2009 implementing Directive 2009/125/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council with regard to ecodesign requirements for televisions (2010/C 114/05)
- [12] CENELEC. EN 50564:2011: Electrical and electronic household and office equipment Measurement of low power consumption
- [13] Stiftung Warentest: Stromverbrauch Fernseher: Hersteller tricksen bei Energielabel. 30. November 2011. http://www.test.de/Stromverbrauch-Fernseher-Hersteller-tricksen-bei-Energielabel-4287310-0/ (in German)
- [14] Topten Focus, June 2012: *Televisions: Energy Label speeds up efficiency development.* www.topten.eu/focus\_2.html
- [15] European Commission: Guidelines accompanying Commission Regulation (EC) No 642/2009 of 22 July 2009 implementing Directive 2009/125/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council with regard to ecodesign requirements for televisions.
- [16] European Commission: Discussion paper on the review of the Ecodesign and Energy Labelling Regulations for televisions and on the draft Regulation on electronic displays, including computer monitors. August 2012.
- [17] China National Institute of Standardisation (CNIS): GB 24850: 201X Minimum allowable values of energy efficiency and energy efficiency grades for flat panel televisions. Draft standard.
- [18] Chris Calwell, Nils Borg: *New approaches to reducing absolute energy consumption: sufficiency and progressive efficiency*. EnR working group, Madrid, September 2009

# Smart Appliances: The Future of Appliance Energy Efficiency

## Kevin Messner, Charlotte Skidmore

## Association of Home Appliance Manufacturers

## Abstract

Home appliances have made great strides over the last 20 years in improving machine efficiencies, but the traditional mindset of continually increasing machine efficiencies is leading to diminishing returns in terms of kilowatt-hour savings. However, there are yet untapped and plentiful efficiencies that can be achieved through an integration of smart appliances and the smart grid.

Smart appliances can provide energy savings which lead to consumers saving money, but there are challenges that need to be overcome. Home appliances, especially smart appliances, are a critical component to a modern electric grid in order to manage electrical energy more efficiently and effectively. In order to make the smart grid a reality, utilities and regulators must develop a new way of thinking and be willing to integrate innovative technologies such as smart appliances as part of the broader goal of increasing grid efficiency.

It is of utmost importance to recognize that smart appliances provide energy savings. By shifting residential load from peak times of day to when there is less demand for electricity, the entire power system is less costly and operates more efficiently. For example, in order to match supply and demand at all times, power system operators maintain spinning reserves that are invoked in the event of a contingency. These reserves are a necessary, but wasteful and expensive, component of the current electrical grid to maintain real time matching of supply and demand. Instead of generators supplying spinning reserves, electrical loads such as smart appliances can be used to instantaneously adjust demand to match supply – a new way of thinking, a lower cost option, and a more environmentally friendly path to the future.

## Introduction

Home appliances have made great strides over the last 20 years in improving machine efficiencies. Clothes washers use 70 percent less energy and refrigerators use half the energy. Today's average refrigerator uses less energy than a 60 watt light bulb. Another 10 percent improvement in refrigerator machine efficiency would achieve less than a 6 watt savings in power, but envision a smart refrigerator that can shift 500 watts of defrost power or ice-making power to periods when electrical demand is low or renewable energy is plentiful. Instead of continuing down the path of ever increasing appliance efficiencies, it is required to change focus to new areas with greater potential. The traditional mindset of continually increasing machine efficiencies is leading to diminishing returns in terms of kilowatt-hours in savings, as opposed to the yet untapped and plentiful efficiencies that can be achieved through an integration of smart appliances and the smart grid.

Of utmost importance is recognition that smart appliances provide energy savings (both machine and grid system savings). By shifting residential load from peak times of day to when there is less demand for electricity, the entire system is less costly and works more efficiently because of less congestion in the transmission lines and distribution system. The regional generation mix of base-load, intermediate-load, and peak-load generation type certainly influences the use of demand response capability, but these inherent inefficiencies in the current system lead to the need for "spinning reserves," which can be idling power plants needed to protect the system reliability. These reserves are a necessary, but wasteful and expensive, component of the current electrical grid to maintain real time matching of supply and demand. It is such an important part of the electrical grid that spinning reserves have their own market and pricing structure.

Traditionally, the need to match supply and demand of electricity has always been met by adjusting supply (generation), i.e., invoking reserves that are set aside to compensate for any imbalance between supply and demand. But adjusting demand instead of supply can be instantaneous and clean. Electrical loads from smart appliances can be used to instantaneously adjust demand to match supply – a new way of thinking, a lower cost option, and a more environmentally friendly path to the future.

There are challenges that need to be overcome to make a smart grid a reality. For example, consumer use and acceptance of smart appliances is critical. For this to occur, the consumer must have complete control of his or her appliance. However, the appliance needs to adjust its operations automatically so that lifestyle and behavioral changes are minimized, and electricity must be priced dynamically throughout the day so that the consumer can save money on his or her electricity bill by allowing reminders and unobtrusive operational changes to be made automatically. The appliance should use a "set it and forget it" type of model for the smart grid capabilities so that consumers will not have to continually monitor price signals and monitor their behavior continuously.

Smart appliances provide a significant contribution to energy efficiency and the development of a smart grid, which will improve efficiencies, increase the use of renewable energy, reduce costs, and increase reliability. However, there need to be incentives to manufacturers to sell smart appliances to hasten the development of an effective smart grid. One of the incentives recently implemented by the US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) is the integration of smart capabilities into ENERGY STAR specifications as mentioned in the White House Office of Science and Technology's recent report titled "A Policy Framework for a 21<sup>st</sup> Century Grid: A Progress Report." This report provides a national policy on modernization of the electric grid and states "a modernized electric system will also provide a foundation for innovative new products and services that can help families and businesses save money."

According to the report, "In another effort to improve end-user energy experiences, EPA is exploring the potential benefits of strategically connecting ENERGY STAR product functionality to the smart grid. EPA and its ENERGY STAR partners are focusing initially on residential refrigerators and freezers, room air conditioners, climate controls, and pool pumps, which, if connected to the smart grid, could potentially communicate with other devices in a home and enable information-sharing between and access control from networked devices such as personal computers, televisions, and smart phones. In the future, such connectivity could enable preferential operation of electricity systems when costs are lower or when renewable sources of energy are more plentiful."

Currently, the EPA has agreed to allow a 5% allowance for smart appliances on the energy levels in order to meet ENERGY STAR qualifications as an incentive to appliance manufacturers. EPA completed the Refrigerator/Freezer ENERGY STAR Specification on May 31, 2013, and proposed a similar allowance for clothes washers on June 5, 2013. EPA intends to also provide the same incentive for room air conditioners and other appliances to help jumpstart the smart grid.

#### The Problem: Electricity Use Is Increasing

The U.S. Energy Information Administration (EIA) projects that world net electricity generation will increase by 87 percent, from 18.8 trillion kilowatthours in 2007 to 25.0 trillion kilowatthours in 2020 and 35.2 trillion kilowatthours in 2035. And for world residential energy use the projection is an increase of 1.1 percent per year, from 50 quadrillion Btu in 2008 to 69 quadrillion Btu in 2035, or a 38 percent increase in electricity use by 2035.<sup>1</sup>



Figure 1: World Electricity by Fuel (Source: EIA 2010 International Outlook)

Peak demand increases may be even more pronounced. One industry forecast of peak demand, which extrapolates the North American Electric Reliability Corporation's 2005 Peak Demand and Energy Projection Bandwidths, predicts non-coincident peak demand that is 55 percent higher in 2030 than it was expected to be in 2008.<sup>ii</sup> Summer peak load was expected to increase 430 GW in 2030 from the existing 781 GW. This forecast <u>does not</u> include expected demand response programs, but does include modest forecasted efficiency savings. Peak demand is the most costly because 10 percent of the generation and 25 percent of the transmission infrastructure are needed to service only 400 hours per year (see Figure 2). However, the EIA 2010 Annual Energy Outlook projects that the U.S. electric power sector generating capacity will grow by only 8 percent from 2010 to 2030.



Figure 2: Distribution/Generation Needs (Source: Pacific Northwest National Laboratory)

#### The Smart Grid Is Critical in Addressing the Increase in Electricity Use

The smart grid is an important part of efforts to address projected increases in electricity use. The Electric Power Research Institute (EPRI) estimates that the implementation of smart grid technologies could reduce electricity use by more than four percent annually by 2030.<sup>iii</sup> And the residential sector is critically important to managing the electrical grid into the future. The residential sector represents 37 percent of electricity use in the U.S. and is the largest consuming sector of electricity (see Figure 3).



Figure 3 (Source: EIA Annual Energy Outlook)

Demand response, augmented by the smart grid and smart appliances, will result in some energy savings and reductions in costs. The North American Energy Standards Board (NAESB) has defined demand response as "changes in electric use by demand-side resources from their normal consumption patterns in response to changes in the price of electricity, or to incentives designed to induce lower electricity use at times of potential peak load, high cost periods, or when systems' reliability is jeopardized."<sup>iv</sup> In other words, when an electric utility company or third party energy service provider encounters a problem, it can send a signal alerting the consumer of the complication so that the consumer can react by reducing load. Critical time reductions of energy use can be accomplished by either "shifting" usage to a non-critical time of the day or by "shedding" load to reduce peak power.

According to EPRI ". . . load reductions offered by demand response and load control programs facilitated by a Smart Grid can yield energy savings and reductions in carbon emissions."<sup>V</sup> And former U.S. Department of Energy Secretary Chu has recognized that "[s]mart grid technologies will give consumers choice and promote energy savings, increase energy efficiency, and foster the growth of renewable energy resources."<sup>Vi</sup> Further evidence that reducing peak power is linked to saving energy is the EIA's 2008 Electric Power Annual Report at Table 9.2 in which utilities reported for every 1kW of peak load reduction there is a corresponding 139 kWh of energy saved.

Reducing peak load provides several other benefits:

- reduces transmission congestion
- minimizes operation of peaking plants
- defers the need for new generation

According to a report released by U.S. Vice President Biden on August 24, 2010:

Smart Grid technology, combined with supportive policy, allows for smarter use of energy, largely by increasing the transparency, measurement, and control of energy used by the players who supply, transmit, distribute, and demand it. Through automated sensors and controls as well as dynamic pricing, this intelligent infrastructure will make the electric system more reliable, empower consumers and utilities to use energy more wisely, help manage peak demand, enable larger scale use of renewable energy and electric vehicles, and reduce U.S. dependence on oil.<sup>vii</sup>

Reportedly in Europe, the smart grid could save €52 billion.<sup>viii</sup> The sizeable savings would arise from reducing losses in the electricity distribution network through automation and encouraging consumers to cut energy consumption with smart meters that provide more accurate and timely information, according to experts from the Smart Energy Demand Coalition in Brussels.

#### **Smart Appliances Used as Spinning Reserves**

To balance supply and demand continuously despite sudden, unexpected failures of generators and/or transmission lines, utilities typically maintain contingency reserves to compensate for such failures. Contingency reserves include 10-minute spinning reserves, 10-minute non-synchronized reserves, and 30-minute operating reserves. The 10-minute spinning reserves are typically provided by base-load generators operating below their rated capacity and then ramping them up when called

upon. Despite their importance to power system operation, the larger the spinning reserve requirement, the greater the emissions and capital costs for limited operation. This is a wasteful, but necessary, part of the current U.S. electrical grid.

Reserves are a significant cost to the system which is passed down to the consumer. Figure 4 shows the reserve margins around the U.S.<sup>ix</sup> Regional rules differ but typically, sufficient reserves in the form of capacity must be set aside to be invoked in the event of the largest credible contingency, which could be the loss of a generator or a transmission line. Such reserves are referred to as contingency reserves. Typically, half of the contingency reserves have to be spinning, i.e., available in 10 minutes. As an example, in the Electric Reliability Council of Texas (ERCOT), which operates the electric grid and manages the deregulated market for 85 percent of the state's load, typically has to maintain 2,500 MW of spinning reserves in case both nuclear generators go down. This represents 5-7 percent of the total load in the area.



Figure 4: Summer 2009 Reserve Margins By Region (Source: NERC 2009 Summer Assessment)

Fortunately, there is another way -- a cheaper, cleaner, more efficient way -- of handling spinning reserve requirements. It can come from load (demand) instead of generation (supply). If it comes from load it is "green" because it avoids additional generation and unused "idling" generation. In recent years, there has been considerable interest in exploiting the enormous potential of demand response towards providing spinning reserves.<sup>x</sup> This is over and beyond peak-load reduction. Residential loads capable of interacting with the grid (smart appliances) such as refrigerator/freezers, clothes washers, clothes dryers, room air-conditioners, and dishwashers are particularly suited as sources of 10-minute spinning reserves because the operation of such loads can be interrupted for short periods without causing any diminution of the quality of service for consumers. Furthermore, end-uses can often be curtailed almost instantaneously as opposed to generators that must ramp up and down subject to operating constraints in order to avoid equipment damage. Finally, given the potentially large number of responsive end-use loads, their aggregate response could be extremely reliable when called upon to provide alternative to traditional spinning reserves. Thus, residential loads could obviate the need for maintaining some fossil-fuel based generation for providing spinning reserves thereby reducing operating costs and also lowering emissions.

Consumers will save money when smart appliances are used for spinning reserves. One recent study sponsored by PJM<sup>xi</sup> and the Mid-Atlantic Distributed Resources Initiative estimates that a three percent load reduction during peak could reduce electricity prices by up to 12 percent. This price reduction corresponds to approximately \$330 million in savings per year, of which \$20 million is estimated to be saved by the demand-reducing customers. Two to three times that amount would be

saved by other customers in the Mid-Atlantic States due to lower market prices, and \$8-12 million would be saved by customers outside the region.

#### **Benefits of Smart Appliances**

The Pacific Northwest National Laboratory (PNNL), which is a U.S. Department of Energy (DOE) laboratory, undertook an in-depth analysis to evaluate the precise benefits of smart appliances (refrigerator/freezers, clothes washers, clothes dryers, room air-conditioners, and dishwashers) towards providing both peak-load reduction and spinning reserves through demand response.<sup>xii</sup> In this report, PNNL presents the results of a cost/benefit study of residential smart appliances from a utility/grid perspective. This study was prepared as an independent technical analysis of a joint stakeholder<sup>xiii</sup> petition to the ENERGY STAR program within the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and DOE. The goal of the petition is, in part, to provide appliance manufacturers incentives to hasten the production of smart appliances and jump start the development of the smart grid. The underlying hypothesis is that smart appliances can play a critical role in addressing some of the societal challenges, such as anthropogenic global warming, associated with increased electricity demand, and facilitate increased penetration of renewable sources of power.

The PNNL analysis found that the benefits derived from a smart appliance are more than equivalent to a corresponding five percent change in operational machine efficiencies. It is expected that given sufficient incentives, value propositions, and suitable automation capabilities built into smart appliances, residential consumers will adopt these smart appliances and more effectively manage their home electricity consumption.

The analytical model used in the cost/benefit analysis consists of a set of user-definable assumptions such as the definition of "on-peak" (hours of day, days of week, months of year), the expected percentage of normal consumer electricity consumption (also referred to as appliance loads) that can be shifted from peak hours to off-peak hours, the average power rating of each appliance, etc. Based on these assumptions, the wholesale grid operating-cost savings, or "benefits," that would be realized if the "smart" capabilities of appliances were invoked was estimated. The benefits considered were peak-load shifting for some percentage of appliance loads and ancillary services provided by responsive appliance loads. Specifically, responsive or dispatchable smart appliance loads that meet power system needs for spinning reserves that would otherwise have to be provided by generators were considered in this study. The rationale for this is that appliance loads can be curtailed for about ten minutes or less in response to a grid contingency without any reduction in the quality of service to the consumer.

A summary of the results is provided in Table 1 and Table 2. It shows that in virtually all the markets, in either optimistic or pessimistic assumption scenarios, the benefit-to-cost ratio for the addition of smart grid capabilities in appliances exceeds a corresponding change of 5 percent in traditional machine efficiencies, and in some cases by more than tenfold.

아프 11	DW	CW	RAC	Freezer	Refrigerator	Dryer
PJM 2006	528%	563%	733%	539%	536%	680%
ERCOT 2008	817%	871%	1060%	881%	877%	1054%
NYISO 2008	367%	403%	585%	357%	355%	462%
NYISO 2006	353%	389%	712%	346%	344%	442%
CAISO 2008	319%	356%	554%	313%	312%	396%

Table 1: Benefit-to-Cost Ratios of Smart Appliances Based on "Optimistic" Assumptions

Table 2: Benefit-to-Cost Ratios of Smart Appliances Based on "Pessimistic" Assumptions

	DW	CW	RAC	Freezer	Refrigerator	Dryer
PJM 2006	136%	134%	131%	150%	150%	207%
ERCOT 2008	203%	200%	295%	230%	228%	337%
NYISO 2008	107%	106%	139%	112%	111%	147%
NYISO 2006	112%	112%	160%	119%	118%	160%
CAISO 2008	99%	100%	135%	102%	101%	134%

Another important finding of the PNNL study is that the benefits are spread across peak-load shifting, spinning reserve, and feedback effect. Tables 3 through 8 show this spread for the optimistic scenario.

Table 3: Percentage of Total Smart Refrigerator Benefits Attributable to Load Shift	, Spinning
Reserves, and Feedback Effect	

Market and Year	Peak-Load Shifting	Spinning Resreves	Feedback Effect
PJM 2006	8%	70%	22%
ERCOT 2008	9%	78%	14%
NYISO 2008	11%	56%	34%
NYISO 2006	11%	54%	35%
CAISO 2008	12%	49%	39%

 Table 4: Percentage of Total Smart Freezer Benefits Attributable to Load Shift, Spinning

 Reserves, and Feedback Effect

Market and Year	Peak-Load Shifting	Spinning Resreves	Feedback Effect
PJM 2006	8%	70%	22%
ERCOT 2008	9%	77%	14%
NYISO 2008	11%	55%	34%
NYISO 2006	12%	53%	35%
CAISO 2008	13%	49%	38%

Table 5: Percentage of Total Smart Room Air Conditioner Benefits Attributable to Load Shift, Spinning Reserves, and Feedback Effect

Market and Year	Peak-Load Shifting	Spinning Resreves	Feedback Effect
PJM 2006	63%	20%	16%
ERCOT 2008	41%	48%	11%
NYISO 2008	55%	25%	21%
NYISO 2006	65%	18%	17%
CAISO 2008	63%	15%	22%

 Table 6: Percentage of Total Smart Clothes Washer Benefits Attributable to Load Shift,

 Spinning Reserves, and Feedback Effect

Market and Year	Peak-Load Shifting	Spinning Resreves	Feedback Effect
PJM 2006	31%	47%	21%
ERCOT 2008	37%	49%	14%
NYISO 2008	40%	30%	30%
NYISO 2006	42%	27%	31%
CAISO 2008	46%	20%	34%

Market and Year	Peak-Load Shifting	<b>Spinning Resreves</b>	Feedback Effect
PJM 2006	28%	55%	18%
ERCOT 2008	33%	56%	11%
NYISO 2008	37%	37%	26%
NYISO 2006	40%	33%	27%
CAISO 2008	44%	25%	30%

 Table 7: Percentage of Total Smart Clothes Dryer Benefits Attributable to Load Shift, Spinning

 Reserves, and Feedback Effect

 Table 8: Percentage of Total Smart Dishwasher Benefits Attributable to Load Shift, Spinning

 Reserves, and Feedback Effect

Market and Year	Peak-Load Shifting	Spinning Resreves	Feedback Effect
PJM 2006	26%	52%	23%
ERCOT 2008	31%	54%	15%
NYISO 2008	33%	34%	33%
NYISO 2006	35%	31%	34%
CAISO 2008	39%	23%	38%

#### Demand Response vs. Energy Efficiency

Increasing machine energy efficiency is not the only way to drive energy savings. Demand response can also yield some energy savings. For example, cycling the dryer heating coil off while continuing to spin clothes allows use of the residual heat in the drver, reducing heater-on time when the heater coil is restarted and yielding less total cycle energy use, but this also increases cycle time, which consumers are not enthusiastic about doing all the time. The residential consumer and smart appliances are important to the success of demand response. Since late 2007 and after passage of a U.S. energy law in 2007, for example, efficiency savings were estimated by the Electric Power Research Institute (EPRI), including savings from refrigerators, dryers, room air conditioners, clothes washers, and dishwashers. EPRI found that the savings from these appliances were a small percentage of maximum achievable potential in 2030 in relation to other residential, commercial, and industrial uses.<sup>xiv</sup> As appliance efficiency continues to increase, remaining opportunities for appliance efficiency savings will decline. Further information from the EPRI study is shown in Figure 5, which depicts that the maximum potential for efficiency savings in home appliances (highlighted in chart) is quite low compared with other products. In addition, in a Whitepaper released this month (May 2011) by the Institute for Electric Efficiency found that "For utility programs, changes in efficient standards and building codes may make it increasingly challenging to achieve energy savings through traditional energy efficiency programs, particularly those that target individual appliances and equipment."x



Figure 5: Maximum Achievable Potential by End Use in 2030 (Source: Electric Power Research Institute)

According to the EPRI assessment of achievable potential for energy efficiency and demand response in the U.S., demand response combined with increases in energy efficiency can offset 40 percent (173 GW) of the growth in summer peak demand by 2030 (see Figure 6).<sup>xvi</sup>





Significantly, residential customers offer as much demand response potential as small, medium, and large businesses combined (see Figure 7).



Figure 7: (Source: Federal Energy Regulatory Commission)

According to FERC, "... it is the residential class that represents most [sic] untapped potential for demand response... While residential customers provide only roughly 17 percent of today's demand response potential, in the AP [Achievable Participation] scenario they provide over 45 percent of the potential impacts."<sup>xvii</sup> <u>The FERC National Assessment of Demand Response, June 2009, found that</u> "pricing w/tech" (including smart appliances) offers more than half of the potential for peak demand reduction (see Figure 8). Furthermore, as the PNNL study indicates, further gains are possible through the utilization of smart appliances for providing spinning reserves.



Figure 8: (Source: FERC National Assessment of Demand Response, June 2009)

#### **Demand Reduction Yields Further Capacity Savings**

Reducing demand also yields capacity savings. Reducing demand may have a 24 percent higher impact at the generating facility, which equates to even more capacity savings (see Figure 9).



Figure 9: (Source: The Brattle Group, Power of 5%)

Transmission losses account for approximately two to four percent of the total electricity generated in the United States.<sup>xviii</sup> While the percentages may appear relatively low, the total amount of energy involved is considerable. The percentages equate to about 83 million MWh to 166 million MWh lost each year based on a total U.S. annual generation of 4,157 million MWh.<sup>xix</sup>

#### Increased Use of Renewable Energy

The benefit of the smart grid goes beyond energy savings. Due to environmental concerns, there has been increasing interest in recent years towards incorporating large amounts of renewable sources of energy such as solar and wind, and diminish the reliance on fossil-fuels to create a more diversified energy supply portfolio. For example, DOE has initiated a collaborative effort to explore the possibility of wind power supplying 20 percent of U.S. electricity needs by the year 2030.<sup>xx</sup> One of the key challenges involved with solar and wind as sources of energy is that they are intermittent and cannot be relied upon with certainty. Solar energy output can drop very quickly with passing clouds, while wind energy output changes very frequently, almost every hour. As a result, in order to balance supply and demand, a key objective of power system operation alluded to above is that energy reserves are required to be maintained based on conventional generation sources like natural gas. But doing so works against the very purpose of incorporating solar and wind energy, namely, decreasing reliance on fossil fuels. Fortunately, demand response through smart appliances can be invoked to curtail and/or defer demand for power during periods when solar and wind energy are in short supply, and to shift the demand to when there is an abundance, enabling greater utilization of renewable energy.

Thus, smart appliances and smart grid can play an important role in facilitating greater utilization of intermittently available renewable resources such as solar and wind, from which will accrue reductions in  $CO_2$  emissions.<sup>xxi</sup> The intermittent nature of the renewables is a critical impediment to their greater impact. By developing a truly smart grid that can shift demand to when supply is available, this impediment gets reduced significantly. A dynamic response system like that envisioned for residential usage of smart appliances will enable renewable energy to become a more significant part of the total energy picture.

#### Smart Appliances Will Also Help Reduce Carbon Emissions

PNNL published a study that estimates the role of smart grid towards reducing carbon emissions.<sup>xxii</sup> In particular, the study evaluated the carbon reductions through nine smart grid mechanisms. PNNL found that carbon emissions can be reduced directly through smart grid applications, and indirectly by investing the operational savings resulting from smart grid into renewable sources of power generation and efficiency programs. The table below (see Figure 10) summarizes the study's findings including the key conclusion: smart grid may facilitate a 12 percent direct carbon reduction, and a 6 percent indirect reduction.

Mechanism	Electric Se CO2Re	Electric Sector Energy CO <sub>2</sub> Reductions	
	Direct	Indirect	
Conservation Effect of Consumer Information and Feedback Systems	3 %	-	
Joint Marketing of Efficiency and Demand Response Programs	2	0%	
Diagnostics in Residential and Small/Medium Commercial Buildings	3 %	-	
M easurem ent and V erification for Efficiency Programs	1 %	0.5%	
Shifting Load to More Efficient Generation	< 0.1%	-	
Support Additional Electric Vehicles (EVs) / Plug-In Hybrid Electric Vehicles (PHEVs)	3 %	-	
Conservation Voltage Reduction and Advanced Voltage Control	2 %	-	
Support Penetration of Solar Generation (RPS > 25%)	(1)	(2)	
Support Penetration of W ind Generation (25% RPS)	< 0.1%	5%	
Total, Share of U.S. Electric Sector Energy and CO <sub>2</sub> Emissions	12%	6 %	

**Figure 10: Nine Smart Grid Based Carbon Reducing Mechanisms** (Source: PNNL, The Smart Grid: An Estimation of the Energy and CO2 Benefits)

The PNNL study does not explicitly identify the role of smart appliances in carbon reductions, but smart appliances could play a role in several of the carbon reducing mechanisms in the above table.

#### Smart Appliances Will Help Consumers Save Money

Smart appliances will also benefit the consumer. The development of smart grid tools for consumers will enable both utilities and consumers to use electricity more efficiently, thereby reducing their costs.<sup>xxiii</sup> For example, dynamic pricing of electricity creates the conditions that encourage consumers to change their or the appliances' behavior by using appliances when the rates are lower, which if properly developed to minimize the need for behavioral changes by the consumer, will save consumers money on their total electricity bill. According to FERC's Assessment of Demand Response and Advanced Metering Report, there were an estimated 7.95 million installed advanced meters nationwide in 2009. These smart meters are already helping to reduce energy costs for families and businesses.<sup>xxiv</sup> As stated above, EPRI estimates that the implementation of smart grid technologies could reduce electricity use by more than four percent annually by 2030, which would mean an electric bill savings of \$20.4 billion for consumers and businesses around the country <u>each</u> year.<sup>xxv</sup>

#### Conclusion

We must be mindful of the current problems associated with an antiquated U.S. electrical Grid that is based on 100 year old technology in some parts. Electricity is being used in the home to power many other hi-tech products. Today, low frequency of blackouts is due to several reasons, such as spinning reserves and the improved technologies of the grid's control center operations. Nevertheless, the dichotomy of 21<sup>st</sup> Century products, such as computers and iPhone, being powered by some technologies developed during the "horse and buggy" era highlights the need to modernize our electrical grid.

As this paper outlines, electricity use is increasing and peak power capacity, which is the most expensive part of the system, is increasing more quickly. It is time to trim some of the waste in the current system by developing an effective smart grid by integrating innovative technologies and services. Products such as smart appliances should be incentivized by governments to provide a national framework and platform such as through ENERGY STAR.

Such a national program will allow manufacturers to deploy smart appliances in the home while still allowing homeowners to maintain control of their appliances with the highest level of convenience.

Home appliance manufacturers are enthusiastic about the contribution their products can make to jump starting the development of the smart grid. But appliance manufacturers cannot do this alone. No one can. In the manufacturing engineering world, there is a saying that there is a time to stop designing and start manufacturing. We are pleased with the huge progress that has been made just in the last year with the acknowledgement of smart appliances in the ENERGY STAR program Now it is time to provide incentives in the EU and other areas of the world to make the smart grid a reality.

#### Endnotes

<sup>1</sup> U.S. Energy Information Administration, "2010 International Outlook," available at www.eia.doe.gov/oiaf/ieo/index.htmlk.

<sup>ii</sup> Ingrid Rohmund and Greg Wikler (Global Energy Partners, LLC), Ahmad Faruqui (The Brattle Group), Omar Siddiqui (Electric Power Research Institute) and Rick Tempchin (Edison Electric Institute), *Assessment of Achievable Potential for Energy Efficiency and Demand Response in the U.S. (2010 – 2030)*, Paper prepared for 2008 ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings, p. 5-264.

<sup>iii</sup> Press Release, U.S. Department of Energy, "Secretary Chu Announces Two Million Smart Grid Meters Installed Nationwide (August 31, 2010)," *available at www.energy.gov/news/9433.htm*.

<sup>iv</sup> Recommendation to NAESB Executive Committee (July 29, 2009), "Measurement & Verification for Demand Response Programs."

<sup>v</sup> Electric Power Research Institute, "The Green Grid," June 2008

<sup>vi</sup> Press Release, U.S. Department of Energy, "Secretary Chu Announces Two Million Smart Grid Meters Installed Nationwide" (August 31, 2010), available at <a href="http://www.energy.gov/news/9433.htm">www.energy.gov/news/9433.htm</a>.

<sup>vii</sup> Executive Office of the President of the United States and Vice President of the United States, "The Recovery Act: Transforming The American Economy Through Innovation," at 37 (August 2010), available at <u>www.whitehouse.gov/sites/default/files/uploads/Recovery Act Innovation.pdf</u> (emphasis added).

viii Available at <u>http://www.euractiv.com/en/energy-efficiency/smart-grids-could-save-europe-52bn-news-499738</u>, November 2010

<sup>ix</sup> Reserve margins are the extra supply that is available. It is calculated as the total supply capacity minus the peak demand, divided by the peak demand.

<sup>x</sup> B. J. Kirby, Oak Ridge National Laboratory, "Spinning Reserve From Responsive Load" (March 2003), available at certs.lbl.gov/pdf/spinning-reserves.pdf

x<sup>ii</sup> Quantifying Demand Response Benefits In PJM: http://pjm.com/documents/media/reports/brattle-report-quantifying-demand-response-benefits-pjm.ashx

<sup>xii</sup> Use of Residential Smart Appliances for Peak-Load Shifting and Spinning Reserves

x<sup>iii</sup> Stakeholders include Association of Home Appliance Manufacturers, American Council for an Energy-Efficient Economy, Natural Resources Defense Council, Consumer Federation of America, and others.

<sup>xiv</sup> Rohmund, Ingrid, et. al. (Global Energy Partners, Brattle Group, EPRI, EEI), "Assessment of Achievable Potential for Energy Efficiency and Demand Response in the US" (2010-2030).

<sup>xv</sup> Institute for Electric Efficiency, "Assessment of Electricity Savings in the U.S. Achievable through New Appliance/Equipment Efficiency Standards and Building Efficiency Codes (2010-2025) (May 2011).

<sup>xvi</sup> Rohmund, Ingrid ,et. al (Global Energy Partners, Brattle Group, EPRI, EEI), "Assessment of Achievable Potential for Energy Efficiency and Demand Response in the US" (2010-2030).

xvii Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, "National Assessment of Demand Response" (June 2009).

<sup>xviii</sup> U.S. Energy Information Administration, "Electric Power Industry 2007: Year in Review" (report released January 21, 2009).
 <sup>xix</sup> K. Forsten, Electric Power Research Institute, "Transmission Efficiency Initiative" (October 2009).

xx U.S. Department of Energy, available at www1.eere.energy.gov/windandhydro/wind\_2030.html.

xxi Electric Power Research Institute, "The Green Grid" (June 2008).

<sup>xxii</sup>Pacific Northwest National Laboratory presentation to the U.S. Énvironmental Protection Agency, "Smart Grid: An Estimation of the Energy and CO2 Benefits," available at <u>http://www.epa.gov/statelocalclimate/documents/pdf/pratt\_presentation\_3-23-</u> 2010.pdf.

<sup>xxiii</sup> Executive Office of the President of the United States and Vice President of the United States, "The Recovery Act: Transforming The American Economy Through Innovation," at 40 (August 2010), available at www.whitehouse.gov/sites/default/files/uploads/Recovery Act Innovation.pdf.

<sup>xxiv</sup> Press Release, U.S. Department of Energy, "Secretary Chu Announces Two Million Smart Grid Meters Installed Nationwide" (August 31, 2010), available at <u>www.energy.gov/news/9433.htm</u>.

xxv Ibid.

## Improving Energy Efficiency with Smart Home Appliance Monitoring

Amar Seeam, Jing Liao, Lina Stankovic, Vladimir Stankovic Department of Electronic and Electrical Engineering, University of Strathclyde, United Kingdom

## Abstract

Current smart home systems are often expensive, with a focus on luxury and comfort, rather than energy efficiency. Smart meter technology is slowly rolling out in the UK through trials (with every home to be fitted with one by 2020), bringing the potential for automated load management in the future. There is a clear demand for home energy management today, and with more and more people and devices connected via the Internet ("The Internet of Things"), there is an opportunity to meet this demand by integrating data analytic tools with current smart home technology.

This paper presents an in-depth survey of smart home technology kits, yielding our proposed energy monitoring, communication and visualisation platform that overcomes limitations of existing smart home kit, as well as some initial results of the analytics to help homeowners reduce energy by analysing smart home data for energy consumption patterns and understanding how electrical appliances are used. Additionally, we show how we can predict and potentially improve energy efficiency by correlating alternative sensor data with energy data to building mathematical models of appliance energy consumption as a function of a range of measurands. An energy smart kettle example is given in this paper whereby energy consumption is modeled, derived from measurements of temperature, power and the amount of water used. These will help develop tools for improving energy efficiency in everyday activities by analysing the collected data from appliances and sensors, providing feedback as to aspects of energy usage and advising of more efficient ways of operation or retrofit upgrades.

## **1.0 Introduction**

As the UK prepares for the roll-out of smart meters, electricity use is in fact on the increase, with households containing more electrical appliances than ever before. A recent report commissioned by the Energy Saving Trust [1] indicates that a household contains on average 40 electrical appliances or devices and that 16% of energy use is from devices on standby, showing the need for better consumer advice to manage appliance use efficiently.

There is a trend in home energy management systems (HEMS) to investigate the impact of smart home technology on reducing energy consumption using decision support tools[2]. Decision support tools form a key component of HEMS to advise on better appliance management and building envelope retrofit solutions based on user behaviour and engagement with smart home technology. In order to start this process, we have developed an energy monitoring platform to be deployed into a number of households to collect data on how and when appliances are in use in these homes, and how households react to visual energy consumption feedback, by taking advantage of the monitoring and display facilities available in modern smart home systems and related devices.

This paper presents an in-depth survey of smart home technology and monitoring techniques, our proposed energy monitoring and visualisation platform that overcomes some of the latter's limitations and exploits their advantages, and an example of the initial analytical work carried out using the data gathered from our platform that senses and communicates not only energy readings but other measurands such as temperature.

In this paper we first survey smart home technology and energy monitoring techniques, then describe how we perform energy monitoring using aggregate and individual energy sensors or monitors, and finally give an example of appliance modeling, by analysing the energy consumption of a conventional kettle, to determine how it performs, and the energy that can be saved through understanding its use. This analysis has provided a methodology for appliance performance prediction by modeling certain characteristics and behaviour.

## 2.0 Smart Home concept

Smart home technology has existed in some form since the 1970s, with the introduction of the X10 protocol, a primitive, yet innovative for the time, signaling technology which operated over the household's existing electrical wiring. Originally developed in Scotland, one of the key features of the X10 concept was the ability to turn appliances on and off using remote control over the electrical mains network. Later elements of automation were added with sensors aiding control to switch devices or lights on or off based on occupancy, temperature or luminance levels. The focus was on luxury, security, comfort and convenience, rather than energy saving.

The mid 80s saw the introduction of the X10 HomeMinder system, one of the first smart home automation systems, allowing control of lights, appliances, heating and cooling, all operated from a simple user interface on a television set.

#### 2.1 Communication Protocols

The evolution of smart home systems has coincided with the rapid development of computers, mobile devices, wireless technology and building automation technology found in large buildings. Presently, the smart home market is fragmented with several competing communication protocols such as KNX, LonWorks, Zigbee and Z-Wave, all operating over various communication channels, for wired and wireless transmission. These protocols have varying degrees of application across different types of buildings. For instance KNX can be scaled to very large buildings such as Airports, but can also be used to create smart homes, albeit at significant cost. While LonWorks and KNX cater for the high-end market, protocols such as Z-Wave and 433MHz based systems such as HomeEasy and LightwaveRF provide affordable solutions. Simpler protocols only support unidirectional control (e.g., 433MHz), though most offer full bi-directional communication, which permits querying of state (whether a device has been manually operated on or off). Interoperability between protocols is also an issue, as they all operate over different radio frequencies, and have incompatible signaling methods. Bridging by using middleware frameworks (e.g., Hydra, Niagara) and IP (Internet Protocol)

is possible, and some more recent solutions include multiple interface integration. The prevalence of IP and gradual deployment of next generation IPv6 is also stimulating development of new hybrid protocols such as Zigbee IP, which combines the benefits of IPv6 with the characteristics of Zigbee wireless mesh networking. Table 1 outlines some of the most popular protocols for smart home and building automation, contrasting the advantages and disadvantages of each.

Protocol	Communication	Advantages	Disadvantages
KNX	Cabling, Power line, Wireless (868MHz)	Solutions fit for all kinds of building (from small houses - airports)	Expensive, complex software tools to configure
LONWORKS	Cabling, Power line, Wireless (900MHz/2.4GHz)	Good manufacturer support for large building automation	Need to pay a fee per node to include devices in network
ENOCEAN	Wireless (315/868MHz)	Battery-less energy harvesting	Expensive, limited control options
ZWAVE	Wireless (868/915MHz)	Wide range of devices from different manufacturers	Supports only 232 nodes
ZIGBEE	Wireless (868/915MHz/2.4 Ghz)	Can support up to 65,000 nodes in a network	2.4 Ghz based devices have short range
X10	Power line / Wireless	Very low cost	Old technology, can be unreliable
INSTEON	Power line / Wireless (902- 924MHz)	Backwards compatible with X10	Few products on the market
HOMEEASY/ LIGHTWAVE RF	Wireless (433MHz)	Cheap, and quick operation	Not a wireless mesh network; nodes cannot be queried for state

 Table 1: Smart Home and Building Automation Protocols

Smart Homes provide rich features across several areas. Each area will be briefly discussed.

#### 2.2 Comfort & Convenience

Smart Home technology is often perceived as an enabler of improved comfort and convenience by giving the ability to interact with the living environment. This interaction is made possible by integrating communication modules into actuators such as light switches and thermostatic radiator valves, which then further introduce remote operation or conditional automation. The communication modules operate using the protocols outlined in Table 1, and when combined with Internet connectivity, allow remote setting and control of lighting, heating or even door locks. For example, one can activate heating remotely using a smartphone before arriving home, or open an entrance door from a remote location to allow someone to enter a house. Automation is made possible by programming scenes, which, in the context of smart home technology, are a set of operations which are performed once a condition is met either by triggering a sensor or when a certain time is reached. For example, scenes can be created to group sets of lights and attribute various levels of lighting for different mood settings (e.g., Romantic, Dinner Party, etc). Similarly, scenes can be set for heating where groups of thermostats can be scheduled to operate at various set points throughout the day. A smarter approach would be to anticipate heating demand from smart home rule learning, and turn on the heating to reach a desired setpoint for occupant arrival [3].

#### 2.3 Security & Safety

Sensors and actuators in a smart home can be used for multiple functions. In the context of security and comfort, a motion sensor now has a dual role; 1) to detect occupancy and turn devices on or off accordingly, and 2) to detect intruders during unoccupied hours. Similarly, light switches can be programmed to turn on during an evacuation procedure, and door locks set to automatically open

during events such as a fire. The safety aspect is further enhanced with other sensors normally used for control, now being used to sense odd behaviour which may indicate a life threatening accident has occurred (e.g., significantly raised temperatures during a fire).

#### 2.4 Energy

Recently, smart home technology has been perceived as a solution to reduce energy consumption in the home. By integrating energy monitoring sensors, scenes can be programmed to detect and react to peak consumption events and switch off devices if overall consumption reaches a certain limit. This form of local energy management provides a platform for smarter demand side management (DSM) using Smart Meter technology to connect the local home area network of smart home devices to the wider Smart Grid. Di Giorgio and Pimpinella [4] identify three reference scenarios for automated DSM. The first, based on the scene described previously, looks at managing the energy load through user specified automation, by managing devices and the times they are on. The second scenario describes dynamic Time of Use (ToU) tariffs based on changing energy price profiles. In this case, the bidirectional communication advantages brought by smart meters enable demand response, making ToU an attractive proposition to lower energy costs. The communication between the connected smart home and utility (via the smart meter) can also provide direct load control whilst also determining the best time to turn on a highly energy consumptive device. The third scenario is an extension of ToU, where consumers sign up to limit their energy consumption during an agreed period. If properly incentivised for consumers, the smart meter can provide greater energy savings.

## 3.0 Energy Monitoring

In this section we will discuss some of the methods used for energy monitoring of appliances. This is necessary to understand appliance use and identify potential energy savings. For instance, an appliance may start to consume more energy due to faulty usage, wear and tear or simply beyond what a consumer expects.

In order to give feedback and advice about energy use, we need to record the consumption of individual appliances directly or indirectly. Furthermore, we need adequate sampling rates to capture events for high consuming appliances, which are on momentarily, such as the microwave or kettle. There is a trade-off to be made between very high sampling rates (over a Hz) and cheap, off-the-shelf monitoring kit that samples at medium to low sampling rates (less than or equal to a Hz).

The simplest monitoring method is to deploy individual appliance monitors, and measure each appliance at the plug point. However, with an average number of 40 appliances in the home, this simply becomes impractical. From a technical standpoint, the collection of data will be impacted, due to limitations in the number of devices communicating their readings by personal area wireless communication, which is the method often used by these types of monitors to transmit data. Even with a more suitable communications medium (e.g., powerline), the installation of individual appliance monitors may be cumbersome, as some plug points may be inaccessible, or appliances may share a multi-gang extension. Furthermore, the cost becomes high, requiring one monitor per appliance.

The seminal paper by Hart [5] first describes non-intrusive techniques for appliance load monitoring to address these issues by using a single point energy disaggregation.

#### 3.1 Non intrusive appliance load monitoring (NALM)

NALM is a technique used to separate the measured load into separate components from a single sensor. Disaggregation is possible, by identifying unique signatures that an appliance may produce from an aggregate load. Hart [5] provided an early foundation in the 1980s, but since then many enhanced solutions appeared.

Disaggregation requires a well populated database of previously learned or recorded unique appliance signatures. There is a growing list of publicly available NALM datasets which can be used to apply disaggregation algorithms to databases with known appliances. Those of particular interest contain high frequency sampling current and voltage data, providing a richer dataset, and therefore more detailed characteristics can be extracted. Examples of these include the Reference Energy Disaggregation Dataset (REDD) [6] and Building-Level fUlly-labeled dataset for Electricity Disaggregation (BLUED) [7]. It was noted that even though the BLUED set sampled as high as
12kHz, all of the data beyond 300 Hz was redundant, due to low fidelity current sensors. The REDD set may also be subject to similar problems, due to the use of the same current transformers. High frequency sampling equipment is expensive, and not currently something an average household would typically invest in; thus, the authors are building their appliance database at the modest frequency of 1Hz or less. Furthermore, even though much research has scaled up to higher frequency sampling, there is very little effect on improving accuracy of detection. This could be due to low fidelity of sensors and limitations in communications. Recent advances in the area include the application of Artificial Neural Networks as a NALM disaggregation method [8], Fast Fourier Transform to perform disaggregation based on frequency components [9], and sensing EMI signatures over a powerline interface [10].

#### 3.2 Real-time monitoring, communication and visualisation platform

For high consuming appliances and for experimental purposes, it is sometimes effective to monitor energy usage at the plug point. The Plogg energy monitor is one of the most comprehensive individual appliance monitors, giving voltage and current measurements transmitted via Bluetooth (IEEE 802.15.1) or Zigbee (IEEE 802.15.4), while also calculating effective and reactive power, consumed and generated. Ploggs also have logging capabilities, though limited to 20 hours of collection in one minute resolution. Omitting some values can extend the logging to 35 hours, but even then, it is not a suitable method of data retrieval over long periods of time. Adjustments can be made to log only during an event, which can prolong the retrieval period, but this feature is not appropriate for the aggregate sensor, which will be continually recording events such as vampire loads of appliances in standby, which would impact the disaggregation algorithms. Furthermore, the one minute sampling limitation makes it inadequate for attempting NALM to identify some common appliances (e.g., 30 second microwave events).

We have assembled an energy monitoring platform by accessing the Plogg network using Zigbee USB sticks, and performing Plogg management by serial port scripting under the Linux operating system. The plogglinux<sup>1</sup> script was modified to collect and write directly to an SQL database every second, which gives the ability for fast database querying actions, such as operations for pattern matching. SQL database queries can be used to determine when appliances were on, for how long, how much they consumed, and the associated cost during that period. This information is displayed on a web interface (Fig. 1), which also shows a list of Ploggs detected and dynamically draws real-time consumption gauges based on Google Chart. A selectable graph using the RGraph Javascript framework for dynamic graph creation shows the real-time consumption against time and plots effective power values over 125 sec. A Linux cron job scheduler calls a perl script every minute to check the presence of Ploggs, through a database query, to dynamically refresh the interface.



## Figure 1: Our monitoring interface that is updated in real time showing appliance monitors that are being detected, their energy readings and key events.

Other appliance monitors have been considered, such as the Current Cost range, which measures and transmits power values using a custom 433 MHz based protocol (C2) every 6 seconds. However,

<sup>1</sup><u>http://code.google.com/p/plogglinux/</u>

as the Current Cost monitors only measure current, they can only provide effective power measurement, and without voltage sensing, cannot monitor reactive power, phase or frequency, which are variables that aid disaggregation. Other advantages the Ploggs bring include the ability to name them, simplifying querying operation and user interface management. Some other notable appliance monitors which only measure effective power, include the PlugWise and AlertMe systems which also operate using Zigbee, and the Aeon Labs series of Z-Wave Smart Switches.

The data monitoring setup (Fig. 2) comprises a low-power Raspberry Pi single board computer, running an Apache web server which dynamically accesses the SQL Database, enabling the monitoring interface to be viewed on any web enabled device or browser. Using a Raspberry Pi further gives the ability to use this system as a portable monitoring and remote logging device, which can be easily used in home and lab environments. It has been configured to automatically record to an SD memory card, upon detection of up to 10 Ploggs. Beyond 10 Ploggs, data collection at every second is impacted due to interference. Smart Home automation is being evaluated using a Z-Wave USB stick with multi-sensors which measure temperature, humidity, motion and light. Bridging software is being developed to allow the Z-Wave sensor to talk to the Zigbee based Ploggs, to turn them on or off based on sensed values and demonstrate protocol interoperability, and thus cross-automation. This is an example of multiple interface integration.



Figure 2: Monitoring Setup.

#### **3.3 Initial Analytics**

The benefit of collecting high resolution data is not only useful for building a NALM database, but such data can be used to analyse the performance of appliances. Appliance analysis can be used to evaluate the efficiency of appliances and to benchmark against those which have been rated as the most efficient. Furthermore, we can create useful models of appliances to estimate usage patterns.



Figure 3: Fridge instantaneous power operation over 12 hrs, showing open door events.

Analysis further helps to characterise specific appliance use. Medium resolution data can be used to assess the operation of high-load, heavily used domestic appliances which may require servicing

such as a refrigerator. Analysis will further determine whether the appliance is operating efficiently. For example, excessive consumption or frequent operation may indicate that the refrigerator coils need cleaning, or the positioning of the refrigerator is not optimal. Fig. 3 demonstrates regular consistent operation of a fridge from a 1 Hz dataset, which also shows when the door was opened, indicated by the short spikes in the graph, due to the switching on of an internal lamp. This type of data can also be useful for activity monitoring in assisted living applications.

### 4.0 Smarter Appliance: Kettle

The modern kettle is one of the most (inefficiently) used appliances. It requires a high power heating element to boil water, and is an appliance which is used daily during all times of the day, and can use three times the energy of a microwave [11]. Particularly, in office environments, it may be used many times and go through periods of boiling and re-boiling even though the water may still be at a suitable temperature for consumption of a hot beverage. Studies have shown that the heating element in a kettle is as efficient as it possibly can be [12], on average consumes between 2-3kW of electricity and the only ways of improving energy efficiency are to provide additional feedback about the amount and temperature of water, and for better insulation. This culminated in the design of the Kambrook Axis Kettle in 1997 [12], which had a number of energy saving features, including an easier to read water gauge and temperature indicator. Modern kettles now have these features, including the ability to boil to set temperatures; for example, to 80°C (recommended for tea) or 90°C (recommended for coffee).



Figure 4: Kettle use from 9am – 5pm in a typical office.

In this paper, we aim to improve on these features by adding data connectivity so that information about the amount of water remaining and temperature can be communicated wirelessly while also being able to detect occurrences of re-boiling to estimate wastage. The impact of real-time sensing and analytics of the kettle operation could be felt for instance in an office setting with multiple users, where a kettle with a communications interface will enable remote and wireless alerting of remaining cups and temperature, while also providing the ability for remote activation of boiling. These features could save time, water and energy. Our motivation lies in the observation from data collected from our in-house direct monitoring and communication platform during a typical day in an office, as shown in Fig. 4 where we believe we could reduce re-boiling events due to frequent use at 'peak' times.

#### 4.1 Experimental setup



Figure 5: Kettle experimental monitoring setup.

We have created a model of energy consumption of the kettle, after closely analysing through experimentation, how it consumes electricity for various amounts of water. We can now use this

model to estimate the amount of water that has been boiled, and further predict the consumption for various amounts of water and the initial start temperature. The start temperature will enable us to determine energy wastage through re-boiling. As shown in Figs. 5 and 6, a 1-Wire DS1820 digital temperature sensor has been placed inside the kettle to measure the air temperature, and interfaces to the Raspberry Pi using a Sheepwalk Electronics 1-Wire module. The sensor has been cased in aluminium to protect and water proof it, and is secured at the top of the kettle, essentially measuring the air temperature in the kettle. The volume of water is measured with generic kitchen scales, while the electrical consumption is monitored using a Plogg monitor. Data is collected by the Raspberry Pi, and stored in an SQL database every second.



Figure 6: (a) Kettle Setup



(b) Kettle Monitoring Interface

139 measurements were performed with different settings of water temperature and volume. After pre-processing, 24 incomplete measurements were discarded. Table 2 shows an example sample of our records from the dataset. Each row in the dataset relates to one measurement. The dataset consists of two subsets, one containing 103 records which are used for training, and the other subset contains 12 records which are randomly selected for testing.

Set	ting	Recording			
Water volume(ml)	Initial temperature (°C)	Effective power (W)	Duration (minutes)	Consumed Energy (kWh)	
1000	64	2648	0.9	0.04	
800	24	2635	2.1	0.09	

 Table 2: The sample of kettle data.

#### 4.2 Data analysis

Using the training dataset to build the kettle model, the first step is to analyse the relationship between effective power, water volume, initial temperature, duration and consumed energy. Fig.7 presents the raw data curve for analysis. As shown in Fig. 7(a), the relationship between temperature and consumed power is nearly linear. Fig. 7(b) shows the relation between duration and the initial temperature. Comparing Figs. 9(a) and (b), we found that the duration is dependent on power consumption. So we only need to consider the power consumption to build the kettle model. From Fig. 7 (c), we can find that the duration of boiling time is linear with the consumed power and with different settings, the curve is lapped which means the effective power of kettle will not change under a different environment. Fig. 7(d) shows linear relationships, thus we will use linear methods to build the model.

In this experiment, we selected three classical linear methods to build the kettle model: polynomial linear, locally weighted linear regression, and the linear interpolation method. Residuals are differences between the one-step-predicted output from the model and the measured output from the validation data set. In here the residual is used to evaluate the degree of 'goodness' fit of the model.



Figure 7: The kettle data curve.

Fig. 8 shows the three kettle models and the residual map of each model with the x-axis denoting the water volume, y-axis the initial temperature and z-axis the consumed energy The filled circle represents the collected data, while the coloured flat surface is the kettle model. Fig.8(a) is the prediction model of kettle built by the polynomial linear method. Fig.8(d) represents the residuals of polynomial linear model. As shown in Fig.8 (d), most of our training data is excluded in the linear model. Fig. 8(b) is the kettle model built by weighted linear regression method and the related residuals map is presented in Fig. 8(e). The interpolation model is shown in Fig. 8(c), and Fig. 8(f) is the residual data of the interpolation model. Note that there is only one residual data for the interpolation model. Comparing the residual map of the above three models shown, the best 'goodness' fit model for our training dataset is the interpolation model.



Figure 8: Kettle model and residual analysis.

#### **4.3 Prediction**

We applied the above three models in three ways: (i) predicting the consumed power based on the initial temperature and the amount of water in the kettle, (ii) predict the water volume based on energy

consumption and initial temperature, and (iii) predict the initial temperature from water volume and consumption.

#### (a) Prediction of consumed energy

The first application of the kettle model is to predict the consumed energy. Table 3 is the estimated consumed energy by the three models. Model (a) is the polynomial linear model, Model (b) is the locally weighted linear regression model, and Model (c) is the linear interpolation model.

Consumed Energy (kWh × 10 <sup>-2</sup> )	Test 1	Test 2	Test 3	Test 4	Test 5	Test 6	Test 7	Test 8	Test 9	Test 10	Test 11	Test 12
model (a)	12.56	6.28	4.81	5.22	1.47	11.31	7.66	5.20	6.04	2.47	3.27	3.68
model (b)	12.94	6.24	4.65	4.99	2.32	12.66	7.71	5.15	5.71	3.04	3.54	3.34
model (c)	NaN	6.16	4.46	4.76	2.46	NaN	7.57	4.84	5.54	3.06	3.49	3.61
Real	14.37	5.51	4.92	5.35	2.44	11.41	7.50	5.01	5.63	2.93	3.39	3.38

Table 3: The prediction results of consumption by three kettle models. We can see that the performanceof model (b) and model (c) is better than model (a), but the model (c) misses two predictions out of 12values.

Error(× 10 <sup>-2</sup> )	Model(a)	Model(b)	Model (c)
Mean absolute errors	0.46	0.41	2.36
Squared absolute error	0.05	0.04	3.38

#### Table 4: The predicted errors of consumption from three kettle models.

Table 4 presents the prediction errors of the three models. Model (b) has the lowest mean absolute error and squared absolute error. Hence the locally weighted linear regression model (model (b)) can predict the consumed power correctly with a smallest error distance even though the interpolating model (model (c)) is a perfect fit to our training data.

#### (b) Prediction of water volume

The next application of the kettle model is to predict the water volume. Fig. 9 shows the prediction results for water volume of the three models. We can see that the performance of model (a) and model (b) is better than model (c). Table 7 presents the prediction errors of the three models. Compared to the three kettle models, the local linear regression model still outperforms the other two models.



Figure 9: The results of water volume for test dataset using three kettle models.

Error(× 10 <sup>-2</sup> )	Model(a)	Model(b)	Model (c)
Mean absolute errors	8.48	4.71	14.79
Squared absolute error	13.59	4.02	128.70

|--|

#### (c) Prediction of initial temperature

The third application of the kettle model is to predict the initial temperature. Fig. 10 presents the prediction results for initial temperature of the three models. From Fig. 10, we can see that the performance of model (a) is the worst, and the model (c) still misses 1 prediction value out of 12 values.



Figure 10: the results of initial temperature	for test dataset using three kettle models.
---	---

Error	Model(a)	Model(b)	Model (c)
Mean absolute errors	3.06	1.35	3.98
Squared absolute error	178.30	46.24	928.40

#### Table 8 The predicted errors of initial temperature from three kettle models

Table 8 presents the prediction errors of the three models. The mean errors of model (a) is 3 °C which means the prediction error of model (a) is  $\pm$ 3°C, and the prediction error of model (b) and (c) is 1.35°C and 3.98°C, respectively. The locally linear regression model (b) gives the best performance. Through deeper analysis of the raw data, we find that the interpolation model cannot do the boundary prediction. All of the missing values are located at the boundary of the interpolation model.

#### **5.0 Conclusions and Future Work**

In this paper we have discussed and proposed energy monitoring methods in the context of smart home technology, and given an example of appliance monitoring and modeling to help improve appliance usage.

Our proposed system aims to integrate smart home automation, energy monitoring and data analytics on a single platform, which can provide decision support and efficient energy management of appliances in the home.

The study of the kettle model helps us to understand the relation between energy, water volume and water temperature. Comparing the three kettle models we built, the locally linear regression model is the best for the predictions. Based on the kettle model, we can now estimate how much energy is being consumed, how much water is being boiled to avoid instances of boiling too much water or reboiling water activities to save energy.

Future work includes further development of data pre-processing or cleaning tools to make better use of measured data, and development of a complete decision support system tool with energy feedback

disaggregation, which can advise on energy efficient appliance use and behaviour. This tool will be based on similar principles to the energy monitoring framework proposed in this paper. We will collect and analyse data from a sample of homes across the UK (Scotland and England) and will present the results which will identify energy consumption patterns and how these patterns relate with seasons, lifestyle and user behaviour.

We will also trial the connected aspect of our kettle in a typical office setting and quantify energy savings that can be made by providing additional information on energy use and communicated energy waste details through re-boiling. Other appliances under investigation include the refrigerator, and we intend to model the behaviour of various models and present the findings in a future paper.

#### References

- [1] Energy Saving Trust, 2012, Household Electricity Survey: A study of domestic electrical product usage.
- [2] T. Rist, S. Wendzel, M. Masoodian, P. Monigatti, André, *Creating Awareness for Efficient Energy Use in Smart Homes,* In Proc. Zusammenfassung der Beiträge zum Usability Day IX, At Dornbirn, Austria, 2011.
- [3] Makonin, S. Bartram, L. and Popowich, F. A Smarter Smart Home: Case Studies of Ambient Intelligence, Pervasive Computing, IEEE Vol 1,no1. pp58-56, Jan.-Mar. 2013
- [4] Di Giorgio A. and Pimpinella L., An event driven Smart Home Controller enabling consumer economic saving and automated Demand Side Management, Applied Energy Vol 96, Aug 2012, pp 92–103.
- [5] Hart G.W. *Nonintrusive appliance load monitoring*, Proceedings of the IEEE. 1992;80(12), pp.1870-1891.
- [6] Kolter JZ, Johnson MJ. *REDD: A Public Data Set for Energy Disaggregation Research,* Workshop on Data Mining Applications in Sustainability (SIGKDD). San Diego, CA, 2011.
- [7] Anderson K., Ocneanu A., Benitez D., Carlson D., Rowe A., and Berges M., *BLUED: A Fully Labeled Public Dataset for Event-Based Non-Intrusive Load Monitoring Research,* Proceedings of the 2nd KDD Workshop on Data Mining Applications in Sustainability (SustKDD), Beijing, China., 2012
- [8] Ruzzelli A. G., Nicolas C., Schoofs A., and. O'Hare G.M.P, Real-time recognition and profiling of appliances through a single electricity sensor, 7th Annual IEEE Communications Society Conference on Sensor Mesh and Ad Hoc Communications and Networks (SECON), pp.1–9, Boston, June 2010.
- [9] Froehlich J., Larson E., Gupta S., Cohn G., Reynolds M. S., and Patel S. N., *Disaggregated end-use energy sensing for the smart grid*, Pervasive Computing, IEEE, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 28–39 Jan.March 2011.
- [10] Gupta S., Reynolds M.S., and Patel S.N., *ElectriSense: Single-Point Sensing Using EMI for Electrical Event Detection and Classification in the Home*, Proc. Ubiquitous Computing (UbiComp), ACM Press, 2010, pp. 139–148.
- [11] Energy Saving Trust, 2012, Powering the nation household electricity-using habits revealed.
- [12] Sweatman, A and Gertsakis, J, *Mainstream appliance meets eco-design*. JSPD, Issue 2: July 1997.

## Where are the Smart Appliances?

#### George Wilkenfeld

#### George Wilkenfeld and Associates, Energy Policy Consultants, Sydney

#### Abstract

'Smart appliances' have been just around the corner for over two decades. Why has 'smartness' made almost no impact on the global appliance market, unlike energy-efficiency, which is now mainstream? This paper examines why smartness in appliances is so elusive, and reviews recent developments which might finally bring us smartness we can use, not just smartness we can read about.

The main barrier to be overcome is the creation of a market, not the creation of technology. Electronics, communications and information technology has influenced appliance design just as it has other aspects of material life. However, appliances deliver familiar energy services such as heating, refrigeration and cleaning, which are best appreciated as the background of daily life, not the foreground. People generally want to use their smart phones and their increasingly scarce time to communicate with each other, not with their washing machines.

Buying more energy-efficient appliances brings immediate benefits, because buyers start to save money as soon they take them home and plug them in. The benefits of smart appliances are more problematic and contingent. While many countries have energy labelling and minimum energy performance standards programs, there is as yet no standard way to define smartness, let alone indicate degrees of smartness on a consumer-friendly label.

Several 'architectures' of appliance smartness have been developed in Europe, Japan, the USA and Australia, but none of them has made a major impression so far on its home market, let alone elsewhere. As long as the global market for smart appliances is poorly defined and fragmented, global manufacturers are reluctant to commit to it.

The means to overcome these barriers may finally be at hand. The enormous costs of expanding electricity supply in developing countries and maintaining aging grids in developed countries has raised the interest of utilities and policy-makers in alternative means of network management. The variability of renewable generation is also creating a need for a more responsive appliance load.

Advanced metering technology is offering clearer price signals as well as a means of communication. More flexible business models and regulations are allowing the costs and benefits of smartness to be shared between all parties. Finally, the IEC and other global bodies have started work on common standards for smart appliances.

#### What is a smart appliance?

The first problem in developing a market for smart appliances is that there is no accepted definition of a smart appliance. 'Smart' is one of the most over-used marketing terms of our time, taking its place alongside equally vague terms such as 'sustainable' and 'eco-friendly'. This allows appliance manufacturers to define 'smartness' as any attribute that increases the appeal of their products.

Some have used the term 'smart' for an appliance with a wider range of settings or options than its competitors, or with touch controls and digital displays instead of switches and knobs. Others have used it for products that combine functions and technologies in new ways. For example, a refrigerator may have a bar code reader to scan items going in and out and a screen that can display an inventory of the contents. The screen could also function as a television and as an internet portal for the kitchen, through which the user (or the refrigerator's own software) could place grocery orders.

This expression of smartness now seems dated. None of these functions is new, and most homes have computers, televisions, internet connections and even bar-code scanners that could do the same job. Even so, the combination into one device may save space, increase convenience and create new possibilities for the user.

Other manufacturers have equated smartness with the ability of users to control their appliances from outside the home, or to program sequences and combinations conveniently so that, for example, lights and appliances can be energised and de-energised with one command when the householder leaves home or returns, gets up or goes to bed - with different configurations for different situations. The 'Smart House' – in the terminology of the 1980s – encompassed all appliances and lights, as well as devices not currently electrified or automated, such as taps, curtains and windows.

Remote control is of course possible without integrated home automation. Once individual appliances such as televisions or air conditioners acquire remote controls, it is relatively straightforward to extend the geographic field of control outside the home. Indeed, several manufacturers already offer air conditioners with downloadable applications software ('apps') that allow internet-connectable mobile telephones ('smart phones') to mimic all remote control functions.<sup>1</sup> In some cases the final communications link to the appliance is made by the same WiFi router that connects many computers to the internet. Even so, is a remote control that is connected to the internet and works anywhere in the world really 'smartness'? Why not just programme the timer and thermostat before leaving home?

One constant in the development of smartness has been the attempt to link the leading edge technology of the time (e.g. electronics, automation, the internet, smartphones) to common appliances. Another theme has been the difficulty of creating a genuine market demand.

In 2012 the journalist David Owen wrote, in relation to smart appliances (which he considered an aspect of the smart grid, another poorly defined concept):

'Sometimes it's hard to believe that the smart grid isn't partly a marketing scheme devised by manufacturers. At the 2011 Consumer Electronics Show, I attended a seminar on networked appliances and realized – as the panel's members described the wonders awaiting homeowners savvy enough to upgrade to smart refrigerators, dishwashers and clothes dryers – that I'd heard it all before, and not just once. On my smartphone I searched the New York Times online and found an article that closely tracked the discussion in the seminar room...That article, by Joseph Giovannini, was published in 1988.

...Because this was 2011, the main benefits for consumers were said to be energy savings, rather than Jetson-style convenience.<sup>2</sup> But the pitch was otherwise the same.<sup>2</sup> [1]

As the definition is so vague, we could say that appliances exhibiting some form of smartness have been around for a generation. However, they have made barely any impact on the global appliance market, despite decades of innovation, promotion and expectation. Takeup has been restricted to small groups of consumers who value novelty (the 'early adopters' of any new technology) and those who place special value on selected attributes such as out-of-home remote control.

This may be about to change, under the influence of the new metering technology, communications, appliance interfaces and novel forms of contracting between energy suppliers, demand aggregators and consumers (who may themselves be energy producers) – in other words, the 'smart grid'.

#### An emerging definition

Advanced metering technology allows electricity prices to vary not just between fixed 'peak' and 'offpeak' and 'shoulder' periods but at shorter intervals as well, up to the point where the change in price levels and time periods is flexible and continuous, ie 'dynamic'.<sup>3</sup> Appliances can be designed to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See for example http://www.samsung.com/au/air-conditioning/smart-zone/ and

http://panasonic.co.jp/corp/news/official.data/data.dir/2012/08/en120821-9/en120821-9.html

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Jetsons was an animated situation comedy program made for American television between 1962 and 1963. The Jetson family lived in a highly technological and automated home, set in 2056.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Interval meters can record energy use during different time periods for the purpose of differential pricing, but are not necessarily 'smart'. While there is no standard definition, smart meters can generally:

transmit the energy use data to the utility, so that meter readers are no longer required;

<sup>•</sup> receive and carry out commands such as disconnecting the supply when customers move out and reconnecting it when the next customer moves in;

respond to these changes by automatically modifying their operation. If this capability is deployed on a large enough scale, and if it can be called on with sufficient reliability, then the total economic investment required to maintain a high-quality supply of electricity is significantly reduced, and the resilience of the network in the face of peak demands and emergencies is enhanced.

The emergence of smart grids provides a new and sharper context for defining smart appliances. Up to now smartness in appliances has been seen as being of value primarily to consumers, and rather few consumers at that. If appliance smartness can create value for the electricity network as a whole, then all who use (and pay for) the network can benefit, not just those who own and use the smart appliances. Of course, consumers would have to accept some constraints on their freedom to use electricity but with sufficient planning, explanation, marketing and design for risk mitigation there is every reason to expect this could be achieved.

Linking smart appliances to the management of the network also means that the vast capital resources, revenues, pricing and marketing power of energy utilities can be brought to bear on promoting certain types of smart capabilities and so transforming the appliance market.

Some appliance manufacturers and industry associations have begun to make a distinction between 'connected' appliances, which are able to communicate with their owners or other appliances, and 'smart' appliances, which can also receive pricing or other information directly from or about the electricity network.<sup>4</sup> However, these distinctions are also unclear.

Connectedness and smartness should not be confused with any particular type of communications. Owners may access their appliances via GSM mobile phone system or the internet. Electricity networks have an even wider range of communication options available to them, including smart meters and power-line signalling systems such as ripple control, which may be just as effective for their purposes. It is entirely possible to have an appliance that is 'demand responsive' but communicates via pathways not accessible to the owner.

The following definition of a smart appliance was proposed in 2011 by the US Association of Home Appliance Manufacturers (AHAM) and the American Council for an Energy-Efficient Economy (ACEEE):

'The term "smart appliance" means a product that uses electricity for its main power source which has the capability to receive, interpret and act on a signal received from a utility, third party energy service provider or home energy management device, and automatically adjust its operation depending on both the signal's contents and settings from the consumer.'[2]

This definition has been incorporated into the 'Connected Product Criteria' proposed for the US Energy Star Product Specification for Residential Refrigerators, Eligibility Criteria, Draft 3 Version 5.0. [3] However, the terminology is 'connected', not 'smart' appliance.'[3]

The Australian and New Zealand Standard AS/NZS4755 *Demand response capabilities and supporting technologies for electrical products*, first published in 2007, does not use the terms 'connected' or 'smart', but 'demand response,' which it defines as:

'The automated alteration of an electrical product's normal mode of operation in response to an initiating signal originating from or defined by a remote agent.' [4]

Although there is considerable variation in terminology, there appears to be agreement that 'smart' capability in appliances consists of two key attributes:

- The ability to receive instructions from sources other than the user; and
- The ability to alter the mode of operation in response to those instructions.

<sup>•</sup> monitor the supply for faults and automatically advise the utility in case of problems;

act as a 'gateway' or point of communications to the home for important information such as changes in price or notification of emergencies; and/or

<sup>•</sup> act as a two-way interface with the customer's own appliances via what is called a 'home energy network' or HAN. <sup>4</sup> See for example <u>http://blog.bosch-si.com/appliances-in-a-smart-grid-12-the-north-american-perspective/</u>

These are the only agreed principles. There is a huge range in the possible pathways through which instructions may be received, their form and information content (e.g. when to start and stop the altered mode of operation, the type and degree of alteration required). There is also a wide range of design options regarding whether the appliance is limited to one specific communications system or can accommodate a range of systems with or without the use of add-on components.

#### The basic smart commands

The second key element of smartness, the 'ability to alter the mode of operation', can be broken down to as few as five basic instructions:

- 1. Turn off load, or go to least energy-intensive mode possible while maintaining essential ancillary services such as electronic controls or small fans and pumps;
- 2. Continue to provide the energy service which the product is designed to deliver, but at a reduced load or constrained level of operation;
- 3. Turn on load, even when user, timer or other controls would not normally call for energy;
- 4. Export energy stored or generated electricity to the grid, even when user, timer or other controls would not normally call for export; and
- 5. Do not export to the grid, even when user, timer or other controls would normally call for this.

Instructions 1 and 2 can apply to any appliance in principle, although further definition is needed before appliance manufacturers know exactly what functions to build in and test laboratories know how to verify them. For example, Instruction 2 can be expressed in a number of ways:

- In relation to the full output capacity or maximum operating load of the product;
- In relation to the average power (or energy used) over a given period prior to the receipt of the instruction (e.g. the last 5 minutes);
- As an absolute power level (e.g. no greater than 1 kW); or
- By prohibiting certain energy-intensive operations (e.g. defrosting in refrigerators or the use of resistance boosting elements in hybrid heat pump water heaters).

Basic instruction 3 - turn on load – only applies to products capable of storing energy or providing useful energy services without the user present. Examples include water heating, swimming pool pumping or electric vehicle charging. This can be of significant value when generation from variable renewable sources such as photovoltaics or wind is high. Switching on load at short notice may prevent the network operators disconnecting renewable generation sources, and so could raise the share of renewable generation that can be absorbed by a given network over the cycle of the year. Of course, a 'load-on' capability must be used carefully so that it does not lead to wasteful energy use – e.g. cooling or lighting buildings that are unoccupied.<sup>5</sup>

Instructions 4 and 5 obviously apply only to products capable of generating or storing electricity: batteries (both stationary and mobile, ie electric vehicles), and small scale distributed generators. At various times the network may require energy support – hence instruction 4 -or there may be local safety or over-voltage problems – hence instruction 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The AS/NZS 4755 standard provides for a 'load-on' function for water heaters, swimming pool pump controllers and electric vehicle charge controllers, but not for air conditioners. As water heaters and electric vehicles store energy, the induced consumption displaces later consumption, so is not wasted. Where swimming pool pump operation is brought forward the controller must subtract the induced run time from the pre-programmed run time so there is no overall increase in pumping in any 24 hr period. As these limits do not usually apply to air conditioners it was considered that the risks of energy waste from switching them on remotely would exceed the benefits in terms of overall network management.

#### The Architecture of smartness

Both smart and non-smart appliance operation can be broken down to the same basis instructions. For example, the ability for users to load a clothes washer, select a wash cycle but delay the start by a specified period (or to a clock time) is already a common feature in products. The washer does not need to know the cause for the delay. It could be that the user does not want noise for a few hours, or wants to time the finish of the cycle so that they can hang out the clothes when they come home, or perhaps the home is on a time of use (TOU) tariff and the user wants the washing to take place during a period when calculate – correctly or not – that the cost of energy is lower.

The operation becomes 'smart' if the user specifies (or has previously specified) that the cycle should take place at a time when certain criteria are met, e.g. when electricity prices are low. But how does the machine know the price of electricity at any given time? It could receive the information from the meter, from the internet or other means, or perhaps it could simply be programmed in by the user. Most TOU tariffs have fixed time steps, which can be programmed in to standard interval meters (which do not have to be 'smart meters'). The actual price of energy at each time step, which may vary from year to year or even month to month, may not be known to the meter, but is applied by the utility only when it generates bills from the customer's interval usage data.

Actual price information is only necessary for the washer if it needs to calculate the amount of energy that can be saved by a delayed start, either to display that information as an added service to the customer, or to use it in a more complex way to overlay expected cycle times with price steps to optimise cost saving in some way. As wash cycle times are generally shorter that TOU price intervals, this is unlikely.

Therefore the 'architecture of smartness' can be constructed in a number of different ways. At the simplest, the user programs the machine with the tariff time steps – either on the machine itself or remotely via a smartphone or other device. Although this would not necessarily meet the first criterion of smartness (the ability to receive instructions from sources other than the user) it does meet the second criterion (the ability to alter the mode of operation in response to those instructions).<sup>6</sup> If the tariff happens to be low when the user presses start, the machine's logic controller allows the cycle to commence immediately. If not, then the controller effectively issues smart instruction 1 (turn off load) and later, when the clock time matches the 'low cost tariff' criterion, smart instruction 3 (turn on).<sup>7</sup>

Alternatively, the logic control could be located entirely outside the washer. It could reside in the software of a laptop or smartphone, a home area network, a smart meter or some other device. It could reside in the computers of the energy utility, the 'cloud' or a third party demand response aggregator. The logic control could be designed to integrate a vast range of information – not just tariffs, but whether the baby is asleep, whether so many high power devices are in operation that the clothes washer load could trip the home's load limiter, a weather forecast for good line drying weather or any other factors the user considers important enough to program in or arrange to be sensed. Some users may wish to monitor and act on information that is not communicated through the energy price, such as the level of renewable energy available to the grid.

In the end the controller needs only to communicate the same two instructions to the clothes washer: instruction 1 (no load) when the criteria for washing are not satisfied, and instruction 3 (turn on) when they are. However, in this architecture, there would need to be a physical pathway for the washer to receive information from the external controller. As clothes washers are not generally designed to receive information from external sources, this pathway (or pathways) would need to be defined. This is in fact the architecture adopted in AS/NZS 4755 (although the range of appliances covered by that standard does not include clothes washers).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Miele has designed a clothes washer that can accept user-programmed tariff schedules and also has the capability to later be connected to a communications hub to receive the information directly from outside sources. This product is described, accurately, as 'smart grid ready' rather than smart. <u>http://www.miele-project-business.com/international/en/project\_business/products/miele-at-home.aspx</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> There may need to be other constraints – a user who has just missed the lowest cost period may not want to wait for 12-16 hours before the next one, and may settle for the next 'shoulder' cost period.

These examples represent two fundamentally different models of smart appliance architecture:

- A predetermined criterion for modifying product operation (in this case energy price) and the logic residing in the appliance (in this case a clothes washer); and
- No predetermined criterion, and the logic residing outside the appliance.

In fact there are many variations in smart architecture, combining aspects of both models. If some of the logic resides outside the appliance and some inside, this raises issues of communications protocols, message structures and priorities which require high levels of standardisation to resolve. This is not an insurmountable problem. It is analogous to the global standardisation which allows the internet to operate and for mobile phones to roam from one country to another.

However, it would require embedding information and communications technology (ICT) into appliances – perhaps to the point of assigning a distinct phone number and/or internet address to every product. While this is certainly possible, it may have a significant impact on the costs of appliances, especially if it forced lower-cost, lower-technology operators out of some markets. Alternatively, building a global smart appliance architecture on this basis may be of little value in developing countries, where the urgency of acquiring electricity load management capability is very high, if the necessary ICT platform does not extend to every house.

#### Who's in control?

There are legitimate concerns regarding the ability of appliance owners to influence the demand response process, and the risk that unauthorised persons or entities could exercise control over the operation of smart appliances or somehow exploit the information gained from their operation. One point of view is that users should always have the freedom to over-ride a demand response event. If the clothes washer does not start because it has been pre-set to wait for a lower price period, but the user wants the clothes washed straight away and does not mind paying a few cents more for the privilege, that is obviously their right.

This makes very little difference for clothes washing. Different households do their washing at different times of the day, so diversity is high. The power of washer motors is relatively low, and electricity use for water heating could range from high – where the user selects a hot wash and the water is heated in the machine – to nil, where the user selects a cold wash or the hot water is imported from a gas water heater.

Other appliances have very different characteristics. In Australia, the largest single contributor to electricity network peak demand is household air conditioning.[5] In most areas the last 10% of network capacity is used for less than 0.5% of the time, or about 40 hrs per year. If air conditioner load could be reliably reduced during those peaks, it would save billions of dollar of investment in the network – costs which have to be borne by all users, whether they contribute to the problem or not.

Although Australia has long had energy efficiency labelling and standards for new air conditioners and new buildings, where air conditioners are installed there is a 70% probability that they will be switched on during extreme peak periods, and most will be operating at maximum output without getting down to the thermostat set point.[6] The preferred air conditioner types are split units with internal thermostats, which makes it difficult to break into the control circuitry with after-market devices. Demand response strategies such as raising the set point of programmable communicating thermostats – which suits US air conditioner types and patterns of use, for example - are ineffective.

Nevertheless, trials have proven that even in the hottest conditions, customers will accept a reduction of up to 50% in the output of their air conditioner (ie smart instruction 2) provided the fan keeps operating and the period of output constraint is limited to about 2 hours. There will obviously be costs – room temperatures will be slightly higher during the control period than otherwise – but this is offset against enormous economic benefits.

It is estimated that in Australia the electricity networks need to invest an average of about A\$2,900 of capital to provide a firm kW of capacity during summer peak periods. The average electrical load per installed air conditioner is about 2.1 kW during peak periods (even allowing for the fact that 30% of units will be off). Therefore contracting with users for the right to restrict their air conditioner load by

50% for no more than 40 hrs per year would reliably avoid about 1.05 kW of peak demand, worth over A\$3,000 to the network.

This provides a lot of potential for savings to be shared between the network operators, the owners of the participating air conditioners (who may receive cash payments or lower tariffs) and with other network users. The potential can only be realised if users modify the way they use air conditioners. This could occur in three ways:

- If the price of using the air conditioner during peak periods is signalled to users at the time, they can make a decision about manually turning it on or off or setting it down. However, this requires both a time-variable price and a means of reinforcing the user's awareness of it at the right time. Time-variable prices have been available for many years but customers show an understandable reluctance to adopt them unless they are forced to.<sup>8</sup> If they do adopt TOU prices, in-home displays could amplify the price signal. None of this requires a smart appliance.
- Customers on TOU pricing who tire of having to respond manually could take advantage of the smart capabilities by programming their air conditioner to respond automatically when the price reaches a certain level. This is called 'price-driven demand response'. Users can decide to over-ride the response at any time, provided they are aware of when it occurs and are at home or able to control the product remotely. Any smart appliance should be capable of being used in this way, (although if the price information is programmed in by the user rather than conveyed directly from the outside world the arrangement would not meet the first criterion of smartness: the ability to receive instructions from sources other than the user).
- Customers could authorize their electricity utility or a demand response aggregator to control the cycling under agreed conditions. This is called 'direct load control'. The crucial difference is that no TOU pricing is necessary. Direct load control can work equally well under flat tariffs. The user's reward comes in the form of an up-front cash payment or a bill rebate, rather than as a saving in energy costs during high price periods. This allows the network to initiate demand response at times when the economic value to the network is greatest, which may be outside the pre-determined TOU price periods.<sup>9</sup>

In principle, smart appliance architectures should allow for either price-driven response or for direct load control, and for switching between them. However, the realisation of the economic benefit to the grid depends on the reliability of the demand response. In price-driven demand response, the network operators will have no idea of how many users have smart appliance capabilities, how many have programmed them to respond to price signals and how many will actually over-ride them during peak periods. Therefore the expected response must be heavily discounted and the potential to offer participation incentives will be limited.

In direct load control arrangements the network operator (or aggregator) has complete information on the number of households signed up and the product capacities and capabilities of each. If there is no over-ride button on the air conditioner, users cannot easily opt out during a demand response event. The costs may be higher than relying on price-driven response alone – not necessarily in extra equipment, since much of that would be required simply to communicate prices – but in marketing, incentive payments, call centres and data management. On the other hand, the economic benefits would also be much higher, because only through direct load control would demand response become large enough and predictable enough to factor into infrastructure planning.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> One estimate is that by mid 2012 about 1% of US households had adopted TOU tariffs, despite almost every utility offering the option. <u>http://blog.bosch-si.com/appliances-in-a-smart-grid-12-the-north-american-perspective/</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> A more targeted form of TOU pricing is Critical Peak Pricing (CPP), in which the utility sends advance notice of a very high price periods (possibly several times the higher the highest step o the TOU tariff). These get a higher manual response rate than TOU prices alone, but represent risks for both the utility and the customer. As a high share of annual revenue is collected in a short time, small miscalculations in price levels by the utility and in the response by the user can result in disproportionate losses or gains. Indeed, a rational user would only enter such an arrangement with the protection of automated response or, better still, direct load control.

Whatever the model of demand response, consumers are ultimately in control. They can always choose not to purchase a smart appliance, not to activate its capabilities or to manage the response themselves rather than enter a direct load control contract. If they elect for a direct load control arrangement they would do so on the basis their own weighting of the risks (constraints on appliance use) and rewards (electricity bill savings or other incentives). Most countries have consumer protection legislation that require full disclosure of the conditions and which protect the vulnerable from being coerced into such arrangements. The elderly and households with members who are more sensitive to extreme temperatures would be advised not to sign up.

Customers who did sign up would have to be made aware that they could not over-ride an air conditioner demand response event simply by pressing a button – they would have to call a centre, and possibly withdraw from the arrangement permanently and forego the remainder of their benefits.

Smart appliances allow for a wider range of energy service business models and a wider range of pricing and contractual relationships between energy suppliers and their customers. If no customers want to take advantage of those possibilities, that is their right. But then, all users would have to incur higher electricity prices or the risks of blackouts flowing from lack of demand response.

#### Creating a market

The problem with smart appliances is not a lack of technology but the lack of a market. In fact the abundance of technological options is itself a barrier to the creation of a market. Users are not able to compare the advantages of different approaches and decide what is the best for them, or indeed if a technology has any value at all given their current electricity tariffs and communications options.

This is analogous to the situation with regard to energy efficiency claims in the period before governments mandated that all products of a given type had to be tested in the same way and the information reported in a common format, which is the legal basis of the existing energy labelling and standards regimes now in use in many countries.

This process is more complex for smartness, because the value of a given smart technology may be contingent on the availability of compatible supporting technologies (e.g. particular types of smart meters or home area networks), time of use tariffs or direct load control contract offerings from the local utility. A product which is smart (or can be made smart) in one utility service area may be just an ordinary product in the neighbouring area.

These uncertainties make it very risky for appliance manufacturers to build smart capabilities into their appliances, unless they know there will be a market demand, at least in some parts of the world. In fact, attempts are being made to create the conditions for smart appliance markets in several parts of the world. Up to now these attempts have been largely independent of one another, but the first steps are being taken toward some level of global convergence.

Perhaps the earliest initiative with a smart appliance aspect is the Japanese Echonet (<u>Energy</u> <u>Conservation and Home Care Network</u>), which was established in 1997. The Chairman of Echonet states:

In the ECHONET Consortium, we have promoted the development of basic software and hardware for home networks that can be used for remote control or monitoring of home appliances. We have also established basic technology for the ECHONET Specifications. The aim in doing so has been to reduce  $CO_2$  emissions while responding to the increasing sophistication of home security and home healthcare. The ECHONET Specifications are universal communication standards for linking home appliances made by different manufacturers and providing various services using easily installed transmission media, in both new and existing homes. They have also been recognized as international standards.<sup>10</sup>

The first Echonet specification was published in 2000, and has been revised several times since. An Echonet Lite specification was published in 2011. The interest in using the Echonet standard to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> <u>http://www.echonet.gr.jp/english/index.htm</u> The appliance manufacturers supporting Echonet include Toshiba, Panasonic. Hitachi, Mitsubishi Electric and Sharp.

enable inter-operation between products from different appliance, home area networks systems and smart meter manufacturers has increased significantly since the earthquake and tsunami of March 2011 created long term disruptions in energy supply. A new Echonet Certification Centre was opened in November 2012. There has been no use of Echonet outside Japan so far, although as a result of participation in Echonet many Japanese appliance manufacturers have included basic demand response capabilities in some globally traded products, notably air conditioners.

Another initiative the smart appliance architecture is that embodied in Australian and New Zealand Standard AS/NZS 4755 the first part of which was published in 2007.[5] A technical specification for air conditioners was published in 2008 and revised in 2012. A specification for swimming pool pump controllers was published in 2012 and specifications for water heaters and electric vehicle charge/discharge controllers are due to be published in 2013.

The aim of AS/NZS 4755 is to give manufacturers all the information they need to build complying products. The standard specifies how an appliance should respond when it receives any of the five basic demand response instructions described earlier. It specifies a common physical and electrical interface (an RJ45 plug or a set of screw terminals) for connection of the product to an external demand response enabling device. This could be a smart meter, a Zigbee receiver, a ripple control receiver, an internet-connected device or any other. The appliance manufacturer does not have to know which. The architecture was deliberately designed so that the smart capabilities of the appliances could be used with virtually any communications device, either in a price-driven demand response environment where the user has sole control or under direct load control arrangements.

By August 2012 some 53 of the 1,160 air conditioner models registered for sale in Australia had an AS/NZS 4755 interface built in, and a further 178 models could comply with the addition of a standard interface card.<sup>11</sup> This included both imported and locally made models. The Department of Climate Change and Energy Efficiency, which manages the national appliance standards and labelling program, has indicated the intention to mandate compliance with AS/NZS 4755, so that all new air conditioners and other covered products sold after a date yet be determined must have an interface, subject to a national cost-benefit analysis and regulation impact assessment.[6]

Although it is expected that most appliances will never have their interfaces activated, the measure is still justified if the net community benefit is high enough and the benefits are widely distributed through lower network charges for all. This is the principle on which many countries have mandated energy labelling. Even though many appliance buyers pay no attention to the label when they buy an appliance, the presence of the label gives them the option to do so, and all buyers – including non-users of the label – benefit from the increase in appliance efficiency stimulated by labelling.

In the USA, interest in demand response and smart appliances was stimulated by the Energy Independence and Security Act of 2007 and by the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009, which contained about US\$3.5 billion in funding for smart grid projects, including some that test and deploy smart appliances.[7]

In 2011 the Association of Home Appliance Manufacturers and the American Council for an Energy-Efficient Economy petitioned the Environmental Protection Authority to request 'a five percent credit to the energy performance level required to meet Energy Star eligibility criteria for smart-grid enabled appliances'.[2] In other words, appliances with this capability were to qualify for the Energy Star endorsement despite using up to 5% more energy than would be required for 'non-smart' products of the same type.

The EPA agreed to this proposal and developed criteria for what it calls 'connected' appliances in the Program Requirements: Product Specification for Residential Refrigerators, Eligibility Criteria, Draft 3 Version 5.0.[3] The proposed implementation date is currently March 2014. EPA has also started work on connected appliance criteria for air conditioners, but these are not yet complete and no start date has been announced.<sup>12</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Some of these models are listed <u>http://www.energex.com.au/sustainability/sustainability-rewards-programs/households/energy-conservation-communities-ecc/whats-involved?a=76902</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> <u>https://www.energystar.gov/products/specs/node/170</u>

The EPA has indicated that it is including this allowance as a way of 'helping to "jump start" the market for refrigerators with smart grid capabilities', and definitions and rules for connected appliances could change over time.[2]. It is understood that there is no plan to have a special version of the Energy Star label for appliances that meet the 'connected' criteria.

The European effort on smart grids is led by the three organisations CEN (the European Committee for Standardisation), CENELEC (the European Committee for Electrotechnical Standardization) and ETSI (the European Telecommunications Standards Institute). The aim is an integrated set of standards for smart grids, smart houses and smart appliances although the preferred term for 'smartness' in appliances is 'demand response'.[8] CENELEC has published a Roadmap for 'SmartHouse and related systems' which states that:

'The technical requirements for the Roadmap that follow from the project's purposes are:

- Help manufacturers from industries to ship their products to a consumers home where they will be interoperable and provide services sharing resources by recommending a limited and helpful set of international (European) standards
- Advise consumers who want to access services in- and outside the home on appropriate standards
- Recommend a minimum of (existing) standards and specifications that fit in a common architecture providing seamless communication in and outside the home
- Assure that standards reach a higher level of interoperability instead of the whole market having to move to one particular standard'.[9]

As there are as yet no European standards for appliances which meet the criteria, there are none on the market, although some European manufacturers are offering products that they term 'smart-grid-ready'. The European standardisation effort is also closely linked with the International Electro-Technical Commission (IEC), which has set up a number of committees related to smart grid standards. The most relevant to smart appliances are:

- PC 118 Smart Grid User Interface (set up at the request of the China National Standards Committee, first met in February 2012);
- TC 57 Power systems management and associated information exchange; and
- TC59 Working Group 15 Connection of household appliances to smart grids and appliances interaction (first met in October 2012). This is the IEC body responsible for developing a global set of standards for smart appliances. It has representation from the National Standards Committees of Italy, Germany, Japan, China, Turkey, the USA and Australia.

To date, China has not developed its own smart appliance standards, preferring instead to take part in the IEC process. Some Chinese appliance manufacturers use the term 'smart' in their marketing, but the products so described are not capable of demand response, so do not meet the criteria for smartness proposed in this paper.

#### Legally smart

To date, no country in the world has succeeded in creating a market for smart appliances, but the ones most advanced are the USA, Australia and Japan. While they are using different technical and policy approaches, they share a critical principle – definitions of 'smartness' that are specific, testable and hence legally enforceable.

As it happens, none use the term 'smart' in the documents that define smartness. The US EPA uses the term 'connected', the AS/NZS standards use the term 'demand response' and Echonet specifies command structures for changing appliance operating status. Whenever the attributes of 'smartness' are analysed and stated to the level of precision required for standards, more precise terms become necessary.

The ideal basis for developing a global market for smart appliances would be an accepted international standard. Governments could then allow appliances to called 'smart' (or any other

agreed term) only they comply with the standard in question. This analogous to the requirement that statements about appliance energy efficiency to be made in relation to specified energy test.

However, the benefits of a smart appliance can only be realised once it becomes part of a system of technical elements that allows it to receive information from or about the outside world, and part of commercial arrangements which reward the user for allowing the appliance to modify its operation in some circumstances. The linking technologies (e.g. home area networks, connectors, smart meters) would also need to be compatible with the appliance standards, and labelled as such.

An over-arching set of standards that covers all possible elements of such a complex system may well be impossible, despite the efforts of the IEC. The best achievable outcome may be a set of smart appliance standards covering a limited number of generic technical categories, for example:

- Products that have internal communications capabilities and those that do not;
- Products capable of two-way communications and those restricted to one-way communications (ie receiving instructions but without confirming receipt or action);
- Products that require the presence of specific elements such as smart meters (themselves complying with standards yet to be defined) and those which do not;
- Products that are capable of being controlled only by the user (and hence have smart value only in the context of TOU tariffs) and those capable of participating in direct load control arrangements.

The main drivers of demand for smart appliances are likely to be electricity utilities and related service providers such as demand response aggregators. Communications pathways and commercial contracts are likely to differ significantly between countries. businesses, network regions and service areas. While these can never be standardised, it will be of great value to the development of demand response programs if utilities can refer to legally verifiable published standards when offering customers or manufacturers incentives for the promotion of smart appliances in their areas.

#### Conclusions

So where are the smart appliances? Until we agree what the term means, we cannot answer this question. 'Smart' is one of the most popular marketing terms of our times, and until now one of the most vague. We can bring some clarity by defining what is <u>not</u> smartness. Appliances capable of being accessed and operated by their user remotely using smartphones or over the internet are not necessarily smart. Appliances do not have to be energy-efficient to be smart, and smartness does not necessarily make them energy efficient.

Although there is considerable variation and confusion in terminology, 'smart' capability in appliances appears to consist of two key attributes:

- The ability to receive instructions from sources other than the user; and
- The ability to alter the mode of operation in response to those instructions.

These capabilities allow the appliance to interact directly and automatically with the electricity grid, and so contribute to the dynamic balancing of supply and demand which is one of the key objectives of the smart grid.

There is a huge range in the possible pathways through which instructions may be programmed or received, their form and information content (e.g. when to start and stop the altered mode of operation, the type and degree of alteration required). There is also a wide range of design options regarding whether the appliance is limited to one specific communications system or can accommodate a range of systems with or without the use of add-on components.

Smart capability can be realised in a vast number of ways and under a vast range of business models - some involving only the appliance owner and some involving electricity suppliers, aggregators or other service providers, acting with the agreement of the owner. Some arrangements involve smart metering and response to changing electricity prices, but some do not. In some business models the

utility which gains the economic benefits of controlling a smart appliance (through not having to build as much supply infrastructure) will return some of the benefit to the smart appliance owner as an upfront or recurrent incentive payment. Thus smartness creates both new forms of economic value and new ways to share that value between appliance owners, electricity suppliers and other stakeholders.

One of the keys to encouraging smartness (as it was for energy efficiency) is technical standardisation. Manufacturers must know what to build, and smart products need to be able to realise commercial value in many different utility service areas and under many different electricity pricing and regulatory regimes. While at present there is little prospect of agreeing on the means of communicating with smart appliances, standardisation of smart response is now possible. Any system or arrangement that can transmit five basic instructions – load off, reduce load, load on, store energy and discharge energy – is capable of achieving smartness in virtually any appliance.

Several national and now international standards bodies are working towards this objective. However, given the diversity of approaches and requirements globally, a single common standard may well be impossible, and the best achievable objective may be a series of standards – hopefully limited in number and linked by some common elements – related to different 'smart architectures'.

\*\*\*\*\*

#### References

- [1] Owen, D. (2012) *The Conundrum: How scientific innovation, increased efficiency, and good intentions can make our energy and climate problems worse.* Riverhead (Scribe, Melbourne).
- [2] AHAM, ACEEE et al (2011) Joint Petition to Energy Star to Adopt Joint Stakeholder Agreement as it Relates to Smart Appliances, American Council for an Energy-Efficient Economy, Association of Home Appliance Manufacturers and others, January 2011 http://www.aham.org/ht/a/GetDocumentAction/i/51594
- [3] EPA (2012) ENERGY STAR Program Requirements: Product Specification for Residential Refrigerators, Eligibility Criteria, Draft 3 Version 5.0, Environment Protection Authority. https://energystar.gov/products/specs/node/125
- [4] AS4755:2007 Framework for demand response capabilities and supporting technologies for electric products Standards Australia, http://infostore.saiglobal.com/store/Details.aspx?ProductID=317997&gclid=CMm63L3trQCFQYipQoduwsAWA
- [5] PC (2012) *Draft Report: Electricity Network Regulatory Frameworks,* Productivity Commission, Australia, October 2012 http://www.pc.gov.au/projects/inquiry/electricity
- [6] E3 (2013) Consultation Regulation Impact Statement: Mandating 'Smart Appliance' Interfaces for Air Conditioners, Water Heaters and other Appliances, Equipment Energy Efficiency Committee, Australia, March 2013.http://www.energyrating.gov.au/products-themes/demandresponse/
- [7] McMahon, J.E (2011) Smart Appliances and US Energy Efficiency Standards and Labels, James E McMahon, Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory. November 2011 http://www.egeec.apec.org/www/UploadFile/23.2011-11-12-McMahon%20US%20Smart%20Appliances.pdf
- [8] CEN/CENELEC/ETSI (2011) Final Report of the CEN/CENELEC/ETSI Joint Working Group on Standards for Smart Grids, May 2011. ftp://ftp.cen.eu/CEN/Sectors/List/Energy/SmartGrids/SmartGridFinalReport.pdf
- [9] Cenelec (2011) Production of a roadmap for an integrated set of standards for SmartHouse and systems related to it and an Open Event: Final Report. Cenelec – the European Committee for Electrotechnical Standardization, February 2011 ftp://ftp.cencenelec.eu/CENELEC/SmartHouse/SmartHouseRoadmap.pdf

## **Energy Efficient Products and Smart Homes**

#### Angeliki Papadopoulou, Bas Flipsen, Sacha Silvester, Han Brezet Delft University of Technology, the Netherlands

#### Abstract

The electricity sector is changing rapidly as we are moving from fossil fuel centralized power stations towards a more distributed and smarter electricity network. The electricity supply must be secured while also lowering the carbon emissions. Smart grid technologies offer the possibility to meet these challenges and develop a "cleaner", more efficient and sustainable energy system enabling also the wider penetration of renewable energy sources. Demand Side Management enables the control of energy exchange between consumers and energy utilities, focusing on the reduction of demand peaks. In this paper we explore the effects of using energy-efficient products and the use of Time Of Use (TOU) pricing on the total energy use, the energy costs for the consumer and the peak-power demand of the house.

We have developed an analytical model which simulates the total homes' energy consumption for specific appliances' use-profiles. The model is built up bottom-up and is composed of different consumer appliances which each have their own power-profile. Three scenarios are investigated and compared the Business As Usual (BAU) benchmark, a standard house without energy-efficient consumer electronics and without any smartness. The first scenario is the Energy-Efficient scenario, where the house is equipped with appliances using Best Available Technologies (BAT). Smart control is introduced in the Smart-TOU scenario, where the effect of TOU pricing on the power demand is investigated. In order to study what would happen if there was a limit in peak power we have simulated the Smart-Peak scenario, where a household does not exceed a certain power threshold during peak-time periods.

The results of the simulation show that a great reduction in energy usage and peak power demand can be achieved when the electrical appliances in a household are replaced by more energy efficient products without compromising on the users' comfort. When smart-controlling is applied a drop in peak power demand is shown of respectively 40% and 50% compared to the BAU scenario. As expected the energy-reduction of both smart scenarios are not significant compared the energy-efficient scenario, but a significant decrease in peak power can be achieved when a certain maximum power threshold is introduced. Unfortunately this does not significantly show a reduction in the users' energy-costs for the household in the specific case simulated, which makes it questionable if there is incentive enough for the household to introduce smart-shifting of appliances.

#### Introduction

The electricity sector is changing rapidly as we are moving from fossil-fuel centralized power stations towards a more distributed and smarter electricity network. Smart grid technologies offer the possibility to meet these challenges and develop a "cleaner", more efficient and sustainable energy system [1] enabling also the wider penetration of renewable energy sources. In the Netherlands, through smart grid concept, the objective is to reduce energy consumption as well as greenhouse gas emissions [2].

Smart house integration where automation systems are installed monitoring intelligently the daily living of the consumer and its energy use derives as a necessity from the significant changes that the electrical system will foresee while transforming to a smart grid. Smart houses changes the role of the current home, turning it into a more "autonomous block" in a smart grid [3]. That means that the users in a household can decide themselves about their consumption and/or production and with whom they exchange. Electricity consumers not only become more aware of their consumption and relevant subjects, but they also accept a wider installation of smart meters and technologies [4]. The efficiency and sustainability of smart homes is fully exploited through Demand Side Management (DSM), improving in this way the management of the total power grid and enabling the higher penetration of distributed generation.

Smart grid development leads to several emergent technologies each with different impacts on the market [3]. End end-user feedback can help enabling consumers to monitor their energy demand, be informed whether local green energy production is available, at what rate, and to get tips for further reducing energy consumption. The automated decentralized control of distributed generation combined with demand response enables better matching of energy demand and supply conditions. This can be achieved by stimulating users to accept demand management, for example the rescheduling of some of the appliances or other loads, whether this is pre-programmed by themselves or controlled by an external agent. One of the incentives for the consumer to react to this external agent and change its behaviour is lower market prices of electricity. Within this paper we want to investigate if the introduction of smart appliances acting on TOU tariffs will lower the total electricity use and costs of a single household.

A model is developed which generates a household-load profile based on different appliances with their own power profile, and a randomly selected operation time of the appliance. With this generated load profile different strategies decreasing energy- and power-usage are evaluated and compared. A simple home energy management controller is designed which effectively shifts appliances based on total power consumption, pricing variations, user prioritized needs and overload management. This house model forms the basis for testing smart grids in combination with sustainable energy-sources for residential areas, for instance on the island of Vlieland in the Netherlands.

#### **Relative work**

#### **Demand Side Management (DSM)**

Demand side management includes a number of methods to control the exchange of energy between consumers and suppliers and adapt the power production to the user energy needs. It also focuses on the reduction of demand peaks, which add a significant cost in energy production. According to Long Ha et al. [5] there are two basic forms of DSM: one form is aiming at a direct control of appliances' loads, by cutting off directly those requesting high power or, in other words, by absorbing the sudden variations in demand which cannot be supplied efficiently. This type of DSM is called "emergency DSM". The other form is the "economical DSM", which includes the encouragement of consumers to shift the energy from peak hours to off-peak hours providing financial incentives. With these forms the peak periods are reduced or shifted during the day.

Clastres [2] claims that when additional information about their usage and not just an energy bill is provided to consumers, a reduction of up to 20% in energy consumption can be achieved, consequently leading to significant cost savings. It is claimed that this number comes to 5-15%, while the reduction achieved when just looking at the energy bills ranges between 0-10% showing how low the benefit is when only the consumption status is provided to consumers [6, 7]. When dynamic tariff is applied, energy saving can reach 14% of the consumption. This percentage is twice that of the saving which can be achieved when only meters are adopted [2].

Because of the complexity of the electrical system, the total management and control can be divided in three layers interacting with each other via information flows [5]. The higher level is the load management layer, responsible for the dynamic control of the energy consumption of all the houses, adjusting an upper limit by taking into account customers' feedback and also capacity constraints of the production. The next level is the home automation level, which consists of the Home Automation Systems (HAS) of all houses. A HAS manages the predictions about future user requests and available resources, as well as the variation of market prices. Lastly, the appliance layer, characterized by the fastest dynamics, includes all the appliances and their embedded controls and is responsible for the real-time distribution of energy by taking actions of control like enabling and disabling certain appliances. At this level, the home energy management is one of the current issues nowadays in the market, and maybe the most interesting and promising, since the consumers are trying to save from energy bills and they are encouraged to reduce their consumption not only for decreasing the capital cost for production, but also for limiting the use of fossil fuels the energy of which, mostly goes for generating electricity [6]. Home management systems enable households and utilities to monitor all the appliances, which are connected to each other and to the entire system, control them even remotely and conserve energy. Combined with smart grid technologies, like smart meters home energy management can make us rethink about energy and its usage.

#### Time Of Use (TOU) Tariffs

Dynamic energy pricing schemes enable the user to decide how and when to use their appliances. Although there might be some people motivated by environmental friendly feelings, most are motivated by economic benefits. Thus, it is really important for the utilities to offer tariffs that can encourage consumers to shift their usage and rethink their daily use habits.

Time Of Use (TOU) tariffs can stimulate consumers to change the use of some appliances by shifting their operation to time periods when rates are lower and of course saving money. The smart appliances respond automatically to utility signals either by shifting the load to non-critical times or "spreading" it, which means extending their operation for longer time and lowering the power demand. Of course the utility, since the appliance cycle will be longer, must reassure that consumer will have an economic benefit for the total cycle [8].



Figure 1: Example of a 3-level TOU tariffs.

According to Stromback et al. [9] a possible scheme of TOU tariffs can include two levels of price, peak and off-peak prices, but there might be also a third level called "partial peak" or "shoulder" level as shown in Figure 1. Peak prices coincide with the time interval where the peak demand of the day appears. Therefore, consumers try to avoid this time period and shift their consumption to earlier or later hours. Furthermore, the TOU tariffs can vary depending on the day and season but consumers should always be aware of them in advance

#### Models for generating load profiles

Many models have been developed to predict load profiles because of their importance in research of distributed generation and demand side management. Capasso, et al. [10] present a method for load generation based on demographical, socioeconomic data, different functions for the set of appliances involved and probability factors to analyse consumer's consumption behaviour influenced by psychological and behavioural factors. Montecarlo process was used and the approach followed includes two basic steps: the aggregation of individual appliances in order to derive the household load profile and then the aggregation of all the load profiles to extend the model for more houses. However, the measured data used had been taken with 15 minutes time interval.

More recent Paatero et al. [11] used a bottom-up approach where statistics and public reports consist the source for many data needed. The consumption data generated are on an hourly basis while the model makes use of statistical averages and representative samples to overcome the lack of detailed and real data. However, DSM strategies like shifting the appliances to a later time or cutting off the operation of appliances in case of emergency where included for deriving the main demand curve. Novel methods such as generic algorithms and neural networks as well as fuzzy logic are suggested when little information is available about the appliances [11]. Gottwalt et al. [12] have developed a household model where the households are equipped with smart appliances and for which the consumer is charged based on time-based tariffs showing an interest in estimating the potential savings, the investment cost for the additional equipment but also for the amount of load that can be shifted and the peak load that can appear.

Armstrong et al. [13] and in a similar way Esser et al. [14] present a model for the development of which statistical data for the annual power consumption but also probability distributions were deployed. The load curve derived is generated under flat tariffs and then differences in the price for different times of the day are introduced to test the results from load shifting and consumer's response.

Yao & Steemers [15] suggest that the load profiles should be based on residential occupancy and seasonal factors and these methods are mainly based on average household profiles.

This paper proposes a model of a house which generates load profiles by aggregating the appliances in the house and enabling their shifting according to a 3 level TOU pricing scheme, allowing at the same time for different energy reduction approaches and the extension of the model for a wider area or community to be studied.

#### **Design approach and Analysis**

The model simulates the impact of energy efficient products and demand side management on the daily energy consumption and the costs of that for a single household. First a study was conducted to examine the potential energy conservation, when energy-efficient appliances replace the existing and less efficient ones in a household, the effects of Best Available Technology (BAT) versus Business As Usual (BAU). Second a simplified home controller was designed in Simulink<sup>TM</sup> which was used to explore how a home energy management system would contribute to more flexible energy use taking into account the individual consumption profiles of the appliances, the tariff rates and overload management. Technical possibilities such as peak shifting or clipping are inserted in this way, enabling to study what the effects of these scenarios are for the consumer.

The BAU benchmark is considered as a reference scenario depicting the existing trends in households and the energy market, while assuming their continuation in the future. It is also assumed that the structure of the system will be the same for the coming years as well as the consumer's demand behaviour and of course without any reduction in comfort. The houses in this scenario are equipped with a large variety of appliances with only a few of them being highly energy efficient and of the latest technology. Three scenarios are benchmarked against BAU:

- 1. **Energy Efficient scenario**: using only Best Available Technology (BAT) energy-efficient appliances, at least A-label appliances replace the older less efficient ones in the household. Furthermore three appliances the dishwasher, the washing machine and the dryer are chosen not to function at will but only during the low-tariff off-peak time periods (semi-automation).
- 2. **Smart-TOU scenario:** which uses the BAT appliances together with feedback about TOU tariffs. This scenario focuses on encouraging consumers to change their behaviour. This can be done by giving them feedback about their consumption so they can shift the operation of some appliances to periods when prices are lower. In the model it is assumed that the consumer is willing to change its behaviour based on changing tariffs.
- 3. **Smart-Peak scenario** where peak shifting and clipping is introduced, by limiting the maximum peak-power consumption of the household [16]. The overload threshold consumption, however, is determined via feedback and information exchange between the supplier and the household.

#### Modeling the controller

#### Load Profile generation

The focus of this paper is on developing a model of a house's electricity-use using a predefined load profile based on 25 appliances, and benchmark the different strategies to the BAU scenario. The

model was simulated in MATLAB/Simulink just like in [17, 18, 19]. Simulations are performed which help in comparing the energy consumption between the BAU scenario and the Energy Efficient and the two Smart scenarios. Some characteristics of the house model implemented and the inputs that are introduced are summarized and presented later on.

In general the daily load profiles are characterized by power spikes from the different appliances. Averaged data, on the other hand, tend to "lose" information because of the large time intervals they sometimes insert, leading to a considerable reduction in resolution or smoothens out the peaks giving the impression of a low (power) and more constant electricity profile. A typical household may be equipped with 10 up to 60 different appliances, each with its own characteristic and load pattern or use pattern. The household load profile used in this paper is derived from the aggregation of 25 individual appliances (see Table 1). Each household appliance has a unique load profile, which is represented as a pattern. In Figure 2 the load pattern of a three appliances are depicted, the dryer, the dishwasher and the washing machine. The rated power of both the BAU and also the A+ energy-efficient appliances are presented in Table 1, which are collected after a market research.

Appliances	Power (W)	Power (W)	User Priority
	BAU scenario	EE/Smart scenario	
Washing machine	2284	1102	3
Dryer	2756	828	3
Dishwasher	1600	807	3
Vacuum cleaner	2200	1250	2
Microwave	1700	900	1
Kettle	3000	2200	1
Laptop	100	50	1
Desktop	300	50 <sup>1</sup>	1
Toaster	1000	1000	1
Coffee machine	1000	1000	1
Electric shaver	13	13	1
Hair dryer	1500	1500	1
TV 40"	180	63	1
TV 32"	79	42	1
Food blender	500	500	1
Hob	3000	3000	1
Oven	1400	900	1
Iron	2000	2000	2
Freezer	110	48	1
Refrigerator	90	40	1
Lighting	30-562	30-360	1
CD player	100	60	1
Printer	200	45	1
Phone charger	3.5	4.5 <sup>2</sup>	2
Standby of laptop	15	8.9	1

Table 1: 25 appliances and at	tributes used for load	generation and there	rated power.
-------------------------------	------------------------	----------------------	--------------

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The desktop is assumed to be replaced by a laptop computer in the energy-efficient and the smart scenario's.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This value is higher than the BAU value because of the higher power consumption while charging new phones as smartphones.



Figure 2: Load patterns for three household appliance, the dryer, the dishwasher and the washing machine, as a percentage of the rated power versus the time in steps of 15 minutes.

Table 2: Level TOU Tarif	is used in the house	model simulated
--------------------------	----------------------	-----------------

	Time period	Tariff (€c / kWh)	percentage per day
Off-peak time period	00:00-07:29; 22:00-23:59	15.00	40%
Shoulder time period	07:30-11:59; 14:00-21:59	20.00	52%
Peak time period	12:00-13:59	25.00	8%

#### Smart shifting of appliances and control strategy

Nowadays the user prepares the home appliance and after asking for a program, the appliance starts. In smart houses this is not always the case. In both the Energy Efficient and Smart scenario's the user is also asked to set the latest time during the day that he wants the appliance to end its operation. When the user asks for an appliance to operate, the Smart Home Controller (SHC) checks the current market tariff and depending on the appliance's priority level (1, 2 or 3) either it loads the appliance or delays it untill the conditions for price and priority over previously requested appliances are met.

The priorities are set according to user's preference and apart from describing the urgency and consumption needs, they facilitate the shifting to the right price level. For this work, the priorities used for the appliances are based on different previous approaches that can be encountered such as in [16]. The priority numbering is used only in the Energy Efficient scenario, where only priority 1 or 3 appliances are used, and in the Smart Scenarios, where also priority 2 appliances are introduced. The shifting of appliances is based on three different price levels: peak, shoulder and off-peak hours pricing, see Table 2. To be more specific:

- 1. Priority 1: Appliances that will/have to operate on demand. No shifting is allowed
- 2. Priority 2: Appliances operate only during off-peak and shoulder periods, like the vacuum cleaner, the iron and the phone charger. The ones that are loaded during peak hours are advised to shift to the first allowed level in the order of appearance first in first out.
- 3. Priority 3: Appliances which are used only during off-peak hours, like the washing machine, the dishwasher and dryer unless the user has set a prior desired finishing time.

Priority 1 appliances have priority over priority 2, which in turn have priority over priority 3 appliances. In every case, priority 1 describes those appliances that need to be loaded on request, even if there is no "room" below the power threshold. The appliance needs to wait for the total consumption to be restored under the acceptable power limit. The user can set the latest time that he desires the appliance to end and if the appliance is not loaded by that time, the appliance skips the shifting and it is loaded at the end of that margin. Switching off the appliances while operating is not always desirable, so, this is not an option in the simulation model. Different control strategies are incorporated in the controller for the simultaneous request for operation of several appliances. For example, if more than one appliance at the same time and with the same priority are asked by the consumer to operate, the SHC enables the one with the higher power demand to be loaded first. However, it is unlikely that more than one or two appliances start at the same time.

#### Main Characteristics

Based on the analysis presented in [20] the main characteristics of the house model can be distinguished:

- It is event driven, meaning that it interacts in a dynamic way with the user's request for using an appliance. The controller decisions are based on the power level and price at the moment of request. If the time is appropriate for the appliance to be used or it needs to be delayed till a later time in the day when conditions of usage will be met.
- It takes into account the market prices. The controller shifts the appliances according to the price level that can be provided by the energy provider. It can be understood that the price levels can change from time to time, since the cost and availability of varies, especially for renewable sources
- Time varying signals: Power level showing the peak load demand, consumption profiles of the appliances, and price levels vary during the day. Load limits could also vary according to local renewable sources or in-house generation, for example. However, more variation in pricing and load limits can also be considered.

#### Results

#### Business as Usual (BAU) scenario

In Business as Usual (BAU) scenario where most of the appliances in the household are of low energy efficiency, the daily household load curve simulation is shown in Figure 3. According to the load curve depicted in the figure the peak power demand is 6228W while the daily energy consumption is estimated to be 20.1kWh. The energy bill that the consumer has to pay to the energy utility, according to the given TOU tariffs, as described in Table 2, the energy consumed will cost the household around  $4,33 \notin$ /day.



Figure 3: Daily load profile for benchmarked BAU scenario.

#### **Energy Efficient Scenario**

In Energy Efficient Scenario the appliances are replaced by energy efficient ones and semiautomated appliances which can be shifted in time (priority 3). The scenario also opperates without loss of comfort. A significant reduction in the daily demand curve can be observed in Figure 4 where the line represents the resulted load from the Energy Efficient scenario and the dashed line the load curve from the BAU.



#### Figure 4: Daily load profile for the Energy Efficient Scenario compared to the BAU benchmark.

The load curve presents an outstanding daily reduction in energy used from 20.1kWh to 12.3kWh (39%), while the peak power was reduced to 4066W (35% of that of the BAU), mainly caused by the lower consumption of the electrical equipment and to a lesser extinct by shifting the semi-automated appliances. Also a significant drop was observed in the energy bill, which was found to be 2.54  $\in$ /day, almost 41% of that of the BAU, which could be appealing to the consumer to shift to BAT appliances.

#### Smart-TOU scenario

For the first smart scenario, the consumer's contribution is necessary in order to reduce the energy consumption and peak power demand. The *Smart-TOU scenario* demonstrates how the Smart Home Controller plans smart appliances (and appliances equipped with smart sensors and smart plugs) starting times based on economic savings (lower operation cost). This is achieved by loading each appliance according to priority number and the first in first out waiting order. So appliances characterized by 2 or 3 priority number are shifted to off-peak hours, instead of being loaded at high-cost peak hours. Figure 5 represents the resulted load from the Smart-TOU scenario compard to the Energy Efficient scenario.



# Figure 5: Daily load profiel for the Smart-TOU Scenario compared to the Energy Efficient Scenario.

As expected the total energy consumption does not drop below the energy-consumption of the energy-efficient scenario (12.3kWh). However, since the home controller is now responsible for the

efficient and cost-effective management of the electrical equipment, the power demand dropped to 3734W, which equals to 40% of BAU. The total energy costs are estimated to be 2.52€ er day, 42% of BAU, which barely shows a reduction compared to the energy-efficient scenario.

#### Smart-Peak scenario

In the second smart scenario a 3700W power threshold is introduced together with the TOU tariffs as for the Smart-Peak scenario. Here, the simulation shows how the system allows the appliances to be loaded according to the lower execution cost, while assuring the overload management.

The results from the calculations show that the peak power is reduced to almost 3100W, 50% of the BAU scenario, despite the high threshold limit equal to 3700W (just below the maximum of the smart-TOU scenario). This can be explained, since some of the appliances that were to be loaded would exceed the power threshold if added to the total system's power and is thus shifted to a low-power region. Despite the reduction in the peak power there is no significant cost saving compared with both the Energy Efficient as the Smart-TOU scenario. What is more, a delay between the two load curves presented is observed. This is because the integrators used in the model hold the priority "queue" and the total consumption of the house every sample time, adding a quite remarkable delay in the load profile generation.

	Energy	Peak	Energy	Reduction in	Reduction in
	consumption [KWh/day]	load [kW]	costs [€/day]	Energy use [%]	peak load [%]
BAU	20.146	6228	4.33	-	-
Energy Efficient	12.285	4066	2.54	39%	35%
Smart-TOU	12.285	3734	2.52	39%	40%
Smart-Peak	12.285	3107	2.53	39%	50%

#### Table 3: Results overview of the different scenario's.

In Table 3 an overview is given of all scenario's compared. Based on this test it shows that energyefficient appliances will introduce a great reduction in the energy-consumption for households. Other "smart" appliances only introduce a reduction in the peak load, and not significantly in the total energy costs. It must be taken into account this simulation was only based on one on/off

#### **Discussion and conclusions**

In this paper we have designed a model which is used to evaluate the potential for reduction of the total energy consumption of a household by introducing energy-efficient appliances and smart control of some of the appliances. The smart home controller was able to effectively control the appliances taking into account the pricing tariffs provided and the feedback received, associated to the prioritized needs set in the model and the total consumption level signals.

Although the simulation results look quite promising, only when more user-profiles and more specific appliance' load-profiles are inserted in the model the true potential of these efforts can be revealed. The model developed can be considered as a showcase, which aims to demonstrate the influence of the scenarios evaluated.

A significant reduction in energy use and peak power can be achieved by replacing the existing appliances with more energy-efficient ones, and by introducing shifting the time of use of washing machines, cloth dryers and dishwashers, allowing their latest possible end times to be set. The energy savings were 39 % of BAU, while the peak power demand dropped by almost 35%.

In both the Smart-TOU and Smart-Peak scenario the peak power reduced by 40% and 50% respectively, compared with the BAU benchmark, while energy savings and the energy costs remain about the same as in the Energy Efficient scenario. The results of the calculation indicate that introducing smart shifting in houses does not give any incentive for the user to introduce this level of smartness into their own home. Introducing it will contribute to lowering the peak-power load of the

grid, and to give the user incentive to reduce its peak-power he/she should be rewarded for it, for instance, by lower connection fees.

#### Recommendations

To underpin the preliminary conclusions the model has to be evaluated with more randomized usescenario's where every application is used within certain time bandwidth or even excluded from the list based on penetration percentage. After producing this large amount of load-profiles different TOU tariffs settings can be evaluated and optimized for low peak-power load and/or the tariffs can be optimized for low total energy-costs for the home.

Low peak-power houses are not only interesting for larger utilities but also for smaller energyinitiatives at district level where sustainable energy is introduced in combination with temporarily energy storage. Lower peak-power and a more distributed energy consumption over the day will decrease the amount of costly power generators (like PV cells) and temporary storage systems (like batteries).

#### Bibliography

- [1] International Energy Agenc, "Technology Roadmap, Smart Grids.," 2011.
- [2] C. Clastres, "Smart grids: Another step towards competition, energy security and climate change objectives," *Energy Policy*, vol. 39, no. 9, pp. 5399-5408, 2011.
- [3] C. Warmer, S. Karnouskos, K. Kok, A. Weidlich, D. Nestle and P. Selzam, "Web services for integration of smart houses in the smart grid," *Grid-Interop Forum*, 2009.
- [4] EOLAS Magazine, "Rethinking electricity, smart generation, smart networks, smart users," in *Energy Ireleand Conference*, Ireland, 2011.
- [5] D. Long Ha, Ploix, E. Zamai and M. JAcomino, "Realtimes dynamic optimization for demand-side load management," *International Journal of Management Science and Engineering Management*, vol. 3, no. 4, pp. 243-252, 2008.
- [6] Aricent Group, "Home energy management beyond the numbers," Aricent Group, 2011. [Online]. Available: www.aricent.com. [Accessed 2011].
- [7] S. Darby, "The effectiveness of feedback on energy consumption," Environmental Change Institute , university of Oxford, Oxford (UK), 2006.
- [8] Association of Home Appliance Manufacturers, *Smart grid white paper, the home appliance industry's principles & requirements for achieving a widely accepted smart grid,* Washington : AHAM, 2009.
- [9] J. Stromback, C. Dromacque and M. Yassin, "The potential ofr smart meter enabled programs to increase energy and systems efficiency: a mass pilot comparison," VaasaETT, European Smart Metering Industry Group, 2011.
- [10] A. Capasso, W. Grattieri, R. Lamedica and A. Prudenzi, "Bottom-up approach to residential load modeling," *IEEE Transactions on Power Systems,* vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 957-964, 1994.
- [11] J. Paatero and P. Lund, "A model for generating household electricity profiles," *International Journal of Energy Research*, 2006.
- [12] S. Gottwalt, W. Ketter, C. Block, J. Collins and C. Winhrdt, "Demand side management A simulation of household behavior under variable prices," *Energy Policy*, vol. 39, no. 12, pp. 8163-

8174, 2011.

- [13] M. Armstrong, M. Swinton, H. Ribberink, I. Beausoleil-Morrison and J. Millette, "Synthetically derived profiles for representing occupant-driven electric loads in Canadian housing," *Journal of Building Performance Simulation*, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 15-30, 2009.
- [14] A. Esser, M. Franke and A. Kamper, "SESAM Arbeitspaket 3.7: Simulation und Einplanung dezentraler Energieerzeugungsanlage," Karlsruhe, 2006.
- [15] R. Yao and K. Steemers, "A method of formulating energy load profile for domestic buildings in the UK," *Energy and Buildings,* vol. 37, no. 6, pp. 663-671, 2005.
- [16] G. Veerabadhra, "Agent based economic framework for resource distribution in household smart grid," Delft University of Technology, department of Electrical Engineering, Delft, the Netherlands, 2011.
- [17] G. Haines, A. McGordon, P. Jennings and N. Butcher, "The simulation of vehicle-to-home systems - using electric vehicle battery storage to smooth domestic electricity demand," University of Warwick, ARUP, Blythe Gate, Blythe Valley park, United Kingdom, 2009.
- [18] N. Hatziargyriou, A. Dimeas, S. Hatzivasiliadis, M. Vandenbergh, R. Geipel and S. Tselepis, "Avanced architectures and control concepts for MORE MICROGRIDS," 2009.
- [19] S. Rahman and M. Pipattanasomporn, "Modeling and simulation of a distributed generation integrated intelligent microgrid," DoD Strategic environmental research and development programm (SERDP), Virginia, USA, 2010.
- [20] A. Di Giorgio and L. Pimpinella, "An event driven smart home controller enabling consumer economic saving an dautomated demand side management," 2012.
- [21] International Energy Agency, "Technology Roadmap, Smart Grids.," 2011.

# Smart Home System: Integration of Energy Facilities and Environmental Factors

#### Weiliang Zhao, Lan Ding, Paul Cooper, Pascal Perez, and Duane Robinson

#### University of Wollongong, Australia

#### Abstract

This paper proposes a power smart home system to manage and coordinate electricity consumption of household appliances and local power generation with consideration of the status of smart grid, weather forecast, and occupants' activities plan. The smart home system orchestrates electricity facilities and environmental factors to achieve an overall financial benefit. The proposed smart home system is a central point to manage and coordinate energy related activities at residential homes. It has the capability to take the advantage of the variable price of a smart grid and maximize the benefit of local power generation. It supports occupants of residential homes to reduce electricity cost by scheduling and rescheduling consumption of household appliances with running flexibility. The system architecture is presented with details of communication network, data storage, and system modules. The proposed architecture provides a solid foundation for evolving smart home system in its implementation in the reality.

#### 1. Introduction

Smart home technology targets residential buildings with facilities and devices that can communicate with each other and perform a variety of tasks with "ambient intelligence" [1,2]. It covers extensive technical advances that can bring intelligent features for homes in response to residents' needs in terms of management for energy efficiency, services for comfort and convenience, provision of home-based healthcare, and assistance to elderly or disabled people etc. In this paper, we focus on energy-related smart home technology with highlights on renewable energy sources [3], smart electronic appliances [4], smart grids [5], and robust forecasting and monitoring [6] of environmental factors.

As renewable energy sources such as solar power and wind grow fast as a percentage of overall power supplies, smart grids have become a promising means of the integrated management of electricity demand and supply. Smart grids technologies focus on digitally enabled electrical grid that collects, analyzes, and acts on information according to dynamic status of both suppliers and consumers in order to improve the efficiency and reliability of electricity services. Most of existing research of smart grid targets the achievement of decentralized coordination for networks of planners and controllers. The power supply and demand are considered at a coarse granularity level without considering the details of energy usages and renewable energy sources of individual homes.

Smart appliances utilize modern computer and communications technology to make functions faster, cheaper and more energy-efficient. The smart appliances can take advantage of an energy "smart grid" and contribute to load management in future energy systems with larger shares of renewable energy. Most of initiatives and proposals about smart appliances emphasize individual appliances with new capability to adapt smart grid technologies. It is still lacking of solutions to consider the complex relationships of multiple appliances, local renewable energy resources, and environmental factors.

Most of existing building energy management systems or software focuses on commercial buildings. These systems are designed for the automated control and monitoring of those electromechanical facilities in a commercial building which yield significant energy consumption such as heating, ventilation and lighting installations. The emerging technologies of smart home appliances and renewable energy sources from residential homes are beyond their concerns.

The residential homes are undoubtedly one of the main energy consumers. Existing solutions consider the power supply and consumption at a coarse granularity level where the details of smart appliances, sustainable energy sources, and environmental factors have not been taken into account.

The emerging technologies of sustainable energy sources, smart appliances, electricity sub-meters, and accurate monitor and prediction of environmental factor are summoning a robust solution with sophisticated consideration of the complex and complicated relationships of appliances, renewable energy sources, and external power suppliers. It is highly necessary to develop innovative models and frameworks which have the capabilities to manage and coordinate power consumptions and sources with the support of emerging technologies of ubiquitous computing, sustainable energy sources, smart appliances, electricity sub-meters, and accurate monitor and prediction of environmental factors. A scheduling scheme has been proposed in our previous work [7] for smart home electricity management.

In this paper, we propose a power smart home system as a central point to manage and control electricity consumption of household appliances and local power generation in the context of smart grid. The proposed system can help home occupants to easily manage and control devices and activities related with electricity consumption/generation and reduce electricity cost of a residential home. The proposed solution collects real data of electricity consumption and generation in the residential home and uses the collected historical real data to help the scheduling of electricity consumption and generation at the residential home. The system architecture will be presented with details of communication network, data storage mechanism, and system modules.

The paper is organized as follow. Section 2 discussed assumptions and the context of power smart home management. Section 3 presents the system architecture for power smart home management with details of communication network, data storage, and system modules. Section 4 provides the description of day-ahead static scheduling and runtime rescheduling of electricity consumption and generation at a residential home. Section 5 overviews some related work. Section 6 concludes this paper.

#### 2. Power Smart Home Management

This section discusses the context of power smart home control and management and provides an example of electricity facility and household appliances at an Australian residential home to illustrate the research motivation of this work.



#### 2.1 Residential Homes on Smart Grid

Fig.1. Power Smart Home System

Figure 1 shows the target smart home system in the context of smart grid and local renewable energy resources. The residential home is linked with smart grid utility to buy or sell electricity power. Home occupants can monitor and control home electricity facilities through computer and/or smart phones over the Internet. The residential home has local renewable energy resources, electrical appliances, and energy storage. Some of electrical appliances may be smart appliances which can provide power consumption forecast for each requested program and/or be able to adjust power consumption behavior to take the advantages of smart grid. The sensors can help to monitor the home environment and provide evidences for further control and management. The smart meters are able to collect and provide electricity consumption data at the home. Smart plugs can provide on/off control and power sub-metering for appliances that are connected to. The smart home system will combine ubiquitous computing and centralized computational intelligence to help home occupants manage electricity related activities and dynamically interact with home electricity facilities. There are the following assumptions for the smart home system targeted in this research:

- The residential home is connected with a smart grid that is capable of bidirectional power flow and has varying electricity price.
- The residential home has renewable electricity resources such as solar PV and wind turbine which are dependent on environmental factors such as weather conditions.
- The residential home has a set of household appliances that consume the electricity. The electricity consumption of these appliances are dependent on predictable occupants' behavior and environmental factors such as weather conditions.
- Home occupants have full control of their own electricity consumption and local electricity generation.
- Some requested electricity consumption has a degree of flexibility such as flexible time frames of execution.
- Home occupants have the access of the smart home system to monitor, schedule, and control electricity facilities at the smart home.
- Environmental factors are available, for example, local weather forecast is accessible.
- It may have smart plugs, sensors, and smart meters to monitor and control power related activities at the residential home.

#### 2.2 Electricity Facility and Household Appliances

This subsection provides an example of residential home in an independent house at Australia with a set of electricity appliances. It is assume that the residential home is linked with a smart grid and it has solar PV as its local electricity resources. In order to give readers some ideas of possible quantitative facts, the specifications with real figures rather than generic description of smart grid, solar PV, and household appliances are provided.

The smart grid utility has a variable electricity price for selling power to residential home. Here the "PowerSmart Home" plan [8] of Energy Australia is assumed to be the tariff scheme of the smart grid. The Peak time is 2pm - 8pm on working weekdays with use tariff 52.5470 cents/kWh. The Shoulder time is 7am - 2pm and 8pm - 10pm working weekdays and 7am - 10pm on weekends and public holidays with use tariff 21.3400 cents/kWh. The other time is off peak with use tariff 13.0900 cents/kWh. It is almost sure that electricity tariffs of the future's real smart grids will be more dynamic than above tariffs according to different time-periods.

A solar photovoltaic system with 3kW peak output is installed at the residential home and it is the only local renewable energy resource. Due to the existence of local electricity generation by solar PV, there is chance for the home to sell power to the smart grid. In this work, it is assumed that the price gap between buying and selling power from the smart grid is a constant value as 5cents/kWh.

As an example of a typical residential home in Australia, it is assumed to have multiple household appliances which are connected to the smart grid with smart plugs. A ZigBee Panel Meter from JetLun

[9] is installed at the residential home. With the help of smart plugs, the smart meter has the capability to collect and provide energy consumption data of individual household appliances. Some of these appliances may have running flexibility based on specific constraints. These appliances are connected to smart plugs and can be switched on/off by commands from smart home system. More details are:

- There is a dishwasher with power 1.5kW. The washing time is 40 minutes. As default, the starting time is flexible but dishwashing task must be completed in the specified 24 hours period.
- Swimming pool pump is used for poll maintenance with 1.1 kW power. The swimming pool
  pump will run 8 hours as total each day. As default, it can run at multiple time periods with
  constraint as that each period must be at least one hour This must be completed in the
  specified 24 hours period.
- An automatic washing machine runs with 500 W and cloth dryer runs with 3kW. The washing time is half hour. The dryer running time is 1 hour. As default, it can have a flexible starting time and the cloth washing and drying should be consecutive activities.
- There is a central air conditioning system with maximum power 3kW. The air conditioning system runs according to climate conditions and occupants' requirements.
- There is a smart electricity refrigerator/freezer with 400 W. Normally, this energy consumption is not affected by the target energy management.
- There is a range of electrical lamps that are switched on/off according to lighting requirements of home occupants.
- There are other electrical devices such as TVs, computers, alarms, etc. These devices run according to occupants' home activities.

#### 3 System Architecture

The details of electricity facility and household appliances in a typical Australian independent house have been provided in last section as a motivation example. This section presents the system architecture for power smart home management to deal with the motivation example. The proposed solution for power smart home management will be under a centralized architecture. The household appliances, local renewable energy generators, smart grid utility will be connected by the home network and controlled by smart home system. The smart home system also has the capability to get information from weather services and receive messages from remote computers and smart phones for home occupants to control or monitor the status of local power generation and electricity consumption by household appliances. The smart home system has the capability of static scheduling and runtime rescheduling for electricity consumption and local generation at a residential home to minimize the total cost of electricity power while satisfying power requirements. The communication network, data storage, and system modules will be described in this section.

#### 3.1 Communication Network

The smart home system needs to communicate with devices/services outside or inside the residential home. The communications between smart meters and smart grid utility will be supported by the Wide Area Network of the smart grid. The Internet technology is employed to enable the communication between the smart home system and applications on computers/smart phones and weather services. At the residential home, it is not necessary to have a home area network with a wide bandwidth for high communication speed. Communication needs between smart appliances, smart plugs linked with household appliances, local power generators, sensors, smart meter, and the smart home system can be handled with low cost, low power, low data rate, and short distance technologies such as IEEE 802.15.4 - ZigBee, IEEE 802.15.1 - Bluetooth, IEEE 1901 - HomePlug. As a wireless mesh network, ZigBee has a high reliability and low cost deployment capabilities; in particular, it is convenient to interface with smart metering and smart appliance purposes. In the proposed power smart home system, ZigBee is employed as the home networking solution.

#### 3.2 Data Storage

A permanent data storage mechanism is crucial in the development of power smart home system. The power smart home system aims to reduce the electricity cost at a residential home by scheduling the power demands according to a rich set of power related data that describe the dynamic status of smart grid, local power generation, energy consumption of household appliances, sensor data, weather data, and occupants' activity data. A "PowerDB" database implemented by MySQL is proposed to store these data and support queries from the smart home system. The "PowerDB" takes the responsibility as the central point for electricity related information at the residential home to be collected, organized, and searched.

**Smart Grid**: "*Smart\_Grid\_Tab*" is the table in "PowerDB" for smart grid related data. It has data fields "*time\_point, tariff, current, voltage, power\_consumption*". The data is collected by the installed ZigBee Panel Meter with time interval of 15 minutes.

**Air Conditioning**: "*Air\_Conditioning Tab*" is the table in "PowerDB" for data of air conditioning. It has data fields "*appliance\_id, time\_point, on\_off, mode, current, voltage, power\_consumption, temperature\_setpoint*". The air conditioning data is collected with time interval of 15 minutes.

**Swimming Pool Pump**: "*Swimming\_Pool\_Pump\_Tab*" is the table in "PowerDB" for swimming pool pump data. It has data fields "*appliance\_id, time\_point, on\_off, mode, current, voltage, power\_consumption*". The data is collected by the installed ZigBee Panel Meter with time interval of 15 minutes.

**Dishwasher**: "*Dishwasher\_Tab*" is the table in "PowerDB" for dishwasher data. It has data fields "appliance\_id, time\_point, on\_off, mode, current, voltage, power\_consumption". The data is collected by the installed ZigBee Panel Meter with time interval of 15 minutes.

**Washing Machine**: "*Washing\_Machine Tab*" is the table in "PowerDB" for washing machine data. It has data fields "*appliance\_id, time\_point, on\_off, mode, current, voltage, power\_consumption*". The data is collected by the installed ZigBee Panel Meter with time interval of 15 minutes.

**Cloth Drier**: "*Cloth\_Drier\_Tab*" is the table in "PowerDB" for cloth drier data. It has data fields "appliance\_id, time\_point, on\_off, mode, current, voltage, power\_consumption". The data is collected by the installed ZigBee Panel Meter with time interval of 15 minutes.

**Refrigerator/freezer**: "*Refrigerator\_Freezer\_Tab*" is the table in "PowerDB" for refrigerator/freezer data. It has data fields "appliance\_id, time\_point, on\_off, mode, current, voltage, power\_consumption". The data is collected by the installed ZigBee Panel Meter with time interval of 15 minutes.

**Electrical Lamps**: "*Electrical\_Lamps\_Tab*" is the table in "PowerDB" for electrical lamps data. It has data fields "*appliance\_id,, time\_point, on\_off, mode, current, voltage, power\_consumption*". The data is collected by the installed ZigBee Panel Meter with time interval of 15 minutes.

**Other Devices**: "Other\_Devices\_Tab" is the table in "PowerDB" for other devices data. It has data fields "appliance\_id, time\_point, current, voltage, power\_consumption". The data is collected by the installed ZigBee Panel Meter with time interval of 15 minutes.

**Weather Observation**: "Weather\_Observation\_Tab" is the table in "PowerDB" for weather observation data. It has data fields "local\_date\_time, air\_temperature, relative\_humidity, cloud, delta\_temperature,wind\_dir,wind\_spd\_kmh, dew\_ point". The data are obtained from broadcast service of weather observation on the Internet [10]. The time interval is 10 minutes.

**Weather Forecast**: "Weather\_Forecast\_Tab" is the table in "PowerDB" for weather forecast data. It has data fields "local\_date, cloud, sunrise\_time, sunset\_time, air\_min\_temperature, air\_max\_temperature, relative\_humidity, wind\_dir, wind\_spd\_kmh, dew\_point". The time interval is 3 hours.

**Temperature Sensor**: "*Temperature\_Sensor\_Tab*" is the table in "PowerDB" for sensor data. It has data fields "*time\_point, sensor\_id, location, measure\_value*". The time interval is 15 minutes.
**Home Calendar**: "*Home\_Calendar\_Tab*" is the table in "PowerDB" for home calendar data. It has data fields "*calendar\_item\_id*, *date*, *date\_type*".

**Schedule**: "*Schedule\_Tab*" is the table in "PowerDB" for scheduling details of electricity consumption and generation data at the residential home. It has data fields "*schedule\_id, calendar\_item\_id, schedule\_details*". The "schedule\_ details" includes detailed running mode, start time, and end time for each household appliance with running time flexibility.

### 3.3 System Modules

The power smart home system manages the power consumption at a residential home in order to reduce the cost of household electricity consumption by considering the varying power tariff of smart grid and predictable local power generation. The proposed system will take into account of a rich set of data about smart grid, local power generation, power consumption of individual household appliances, weather conditions, measured properties by sensors, and occupants' activity plan. The power smart home system collects these data and save them in the "PowerDB" database described in last sub section. The power smart home system has the interfaces to get control commands of home occupants from appliance controllers and/or applications on computer/smart phone. The smart home system will make the schedule for local electricity generation and consumption at a residential home. The smart home system will perform event-driven dynamic rescheduling according to dynamic power supply, local generation, and operations of household appliances. The smart home system will perform real time control on solar PV, household appliances, and sensors. The development of the power smart home system follows a typical object oriented design with multiple classes shown in Figure 2.



Fig. 2. System Modules of Power Smart Home System

The package "Environmental Factors" has classes "Weather Observation", "Weather Forecast", and "Sensor". The "Weather Observation" collects and saves local area's weather observation data of the residential home from online broadcast services of weather observation. "Weather Forecast" collects and saves local area's forecast weather data of the residential home from online weather forecast services. The "Sensor" class collects and saves temperature sensor data according. It has one method to collect data in a fixed time interval and another method to collect data at real time. The package "**Power Supply**" has classes "*Solar PV*" and "*Smart Grid*". The "*Solar PV*" has a method to fetch power generation data from ZigBee Panel Meter, a method to format and save data in the "*Solar\_PV\_Tab*" of "PowerDB" database, and a method to control the solar PV. The "*Smart Grid*" has a method to fetch smart grid data from ZigBee Panel Meter, a method to format and save data in the "*Smart\_Grid\_Tab*" of "PowerDB" database.

The package "**Power Demand**" has classes "*Lighting*", "*Air Conditioning*", "*Swimming Pool Pump*", "*Electric Oven*", "*Dish Washer*", "*Washing Machine*", "*Cloth Drier*", and "*Other Devices*". Each class in this package has a method to fetch power consumption data from ZigBee Panel Meter, a method to format and save data in the corresponding table of "PowerDB" database, a method to monitor the status of the appliance, and a method to set the running mode and control the appliance.

The package "**User Control**" has classes "*Control GUI*" and "*Mobile App*". The "*Control GUI*" has a graphic user interface for the home occupants to monitor and control the smart home system. The "*Mobile App*" provides the remote access of the smart home system. The "*Mobile App*" will run on smart phones as an application. Home occupants can remotely monitor and control electricity facilities including household appliances, solar PV, smart grid, and home sensors.

The package "**Schedule and Control**" has classes "*Static Schedule*", "*Runtime Reschedule*", "*Real Time Control*". The "*Static Schedule*" performs the task to make a static schedule for electricity consumption of household appliances in the context of local power resources and smart grid according to the weather forecast and occupants' predictable activities. The "*Runtime Reschedule*" looks after the rescheduling for electricity consumption of household appliances as response of real time status of power consumption. More details of "*Static Schedule*" and "*Runtime Reschedule*" will be provided in the following two sections. The "*Real Time Control*" manages real time control requirements by calling control methods defined in classes for solar PV, household appliances, and sensors.

## 4 Static Scheduling and Runtime Rescheduling

This section provides the description of day-ahead static scheduling and runtime rescheduling of electricity consumption of household appliances in the context of weather forecast and occupants' activity plan.

### 4.1 Static Scheduling

The proposed day-ahead scheduling scheme in our previous work [7] is employed to build up the "Static Schedule" class. In the proposed static scheduling scheme, the energy models and profiles of smart grid, local power resources, and household appliances at residential homes are defined in the context of weather forecast and occupants' activity plan. It is assumed that the smart grid has a variable electricity tariff and electricity power cannot be sold back to the smart grid when the electricity voltage of the smart grid is equal to or higher than a threshold value. The schedule of electricity consumption and local generation at a residential home has been identified as an optimization problem for minimizing the total cost of electricity power while satisfying power requirements at a residential home. A practical first-principle-based solution has been developed for making the static schedule to achieve the approximate minimum total electricity cost. The static scheduling scheme has taken into account of the dynamic relationships among local power generation, power supply of the smart grid, and consumption demand. In the "Static Schedule" class, the profiles of smart grid, local power resources, and household appliances are built up based on data stored in "PowerDB". The profile of smart grid is generated by querying "PowerDB" tables "Smart\_Grid\_Tab", "Weather Observation Tab", and "Home Calendar Tab" with local weather forecast data and occupants' activities plan. The profile of local power resources is generated by querying "PowerDB" tables "Solar\_PV\_Tab", and "Weather\_Observation\_Tab" with local weather forecast data. The electricity consumption profile of each household appliance is generated by querying the corresponding "PowerDB" table for the appliance and "PowerDB" tables "Weather\_Observation\_Tab", and "Home Calendar Tab" For lack of space, here we only provide the above high level description. The detailed description of static scheduling could be found in [7].

### 4.2 Runtime Rescheduling

The static schedule is created by optimizing the running of household appliances in one day period to minimize the total cost of electricity power. The "*Static Schedule*" class will take charge of this task. The static schedule is based on the statistical prediction of smart grid, local power generation, and consumption demands of household appliances in the context of predictable weather conditions and occupants' activities plan. In real time, weather conditions and occupants activities could have big differences from what they have been predicted to be. The operation status of the smart grid, local power generation, and household appliances could be far away from what they are in the original static schedule. It is necessary to reschedule the running of flexible household appliances. The runtime rescheduling happens in the following two cases:

- Weather conditions according to updated weather forecast are significantly different from what they are in previous weather forecast when the original schedule is made.
- Before running a household appliance with a flexible starting time, it is found that there is significant difference between the real time status of smart grid, local power generation, and electricity consumption of household appliances and what has been predicted when the original schedule is made.

The "*Runtime Reschedule*" class has one method to perform runtime rescheduling in above first case and another method to perform runtime rescheduling in above second case.

## 5 Related Work

The challenges, research questions of energy informatics have been discussed in [11]. The development of environmentally sustainable business practices have been highlighted in the perspective of information systems. [12] provides a survey of the common trends for renewable energy systems of wind and solar-PV and energy-storage systems of flywheels, hydrogen, compressed air, supercapacitors, superconducting magnetic, and pumped hydroelectronic. [3] presents the assessment of future costs and technical potential of renewable energy sources including wind, solar-PV, biomass, and liquid fuel from biomass. [13] discusses the surplus-electricity production problem due to fluctuations of sustainable energy resources. The flexibility in electricity management is recommended by either reducing the surplus production or moving electricity demands from high price periods to low price periods.

Smart home [1] has been coined as a concept to incorporate domestic devices that control features of the home by exploiting a broad range of enabling technologies such as smart appliances, sensor networks, smart grid, local renewable energy sources, and data communication technologies. There have been a number of projects being developed for the purpose of proof-of-concept demonstration of the smart home concept. [14] presents an overview of the smart home concept and some challenges that information and communication technology will face in the smart home environment. Related to smart home, domotics, more commonly known as "home automation", have attracted more attentions in recent years to control entertainment, heating, broadband, lighting and security from one of many types of digital computer control devices, panels and mobile handset [15].

The authors in [16] propose a rule-based framework based on Event-Condition-Action pattern inherited from the field of expert systems for heterogeneous subsystems management in smart home environment. This work focuses on Event-Condition-Action rule mechanism without detailed description of components of a smart home system. [17] explores the relationship between human and automated intelligence and how it is manifest in green buildings. The concept of "occupant intelligence" is emphasized for providing flexible, adaptive task environments, refined control zones and technologies that maximize occupants' access to adaptive opportunities. [18] reports a simulation system for validating contextual rules in smart homes in the context of a smart home being capable of sensing the home's occupants and their current requirements and states, and providing optimized services to them. This work is still at its early stage and only high level results are provided.

MavHome is proposed in [19] as an agent-based smart home which allows a home to act as an intelligent agent in an adaptive and automated environment. This research is at a high abstract level without considering specific features of home appliances and/or inhabitants. [20] reports the research on semantic representation of energy-related information in future smart homes. The proposed knowledge base follows the Web Ontology Language standard. This work focuses on the

representation of individual home facilities and their energy demand or supply. The dynamic relationships of facilities in smart homes are beyond it major concerns.

The smart grid is a convergence of information technology and communication technology with power system engineering by enabling utilities to make more efficient use of their existing assets through demand response, peak shaving, and service quality control [5]. In a smart grid, micro-grids will be integrated in a manner of plug-and-play through dedicated highways for data collection and power exchange. [21] overviews the approach toward a smart grid with high level description about how to make an electronic power transmission system smart, the advantages of an intelligent processor in each component, substation, and power plant, diagnostic monitoring of transmission equipment, and the electric power system as a complex adaptive system. [4] presents the approach to build smart appliances which can sense the environment. This work provides a terminology that discriminates the real-world situations, the data collected, the abstraction of data, and the application that makes use of the knowledge. [22] employs a user-centric perspective for mapping consumers' perception of the possibilities of demand side management through smart household appliances in smart grid.

On the foundation of existing academic research and industry initiatives on smart grid, smart appliances, smart homes, and renewable energy sources, we work on a smart home system approach focusing on power management at residential homes in the context of smart grid. The power smart home system aims to achieve more efficient use of energy utilities at a resident home by considering the status of smart grid, local power generation, and electricity demands of household appliances in the context of weather conditions and occupants' activities plan.

## 6 Concluding Remarks

The research interest of energy efficiency at residential homes is rapidly growing further with the advances of emerging technologies of smart grid, sustainable energy sources, smart appliances, electricity smart meters, and accurate monitor and prediction of environmental factors. This paper reports our early stage research on power smart home system in the context of smart grid. The system architecture has been presented with details of communication network, data storage, and system modules. The static scheduling and runtime rescheduling have been described. The proposed power smart home control and management approach has the capability to manage and coordinate household appliances and local power generation with consideration of the status of smart grid, weather forecast and observation data, activities plans and requesting commands of home occupants, real-time data from sensors. This early stage work highlights the research motivations and high level design of the proposed power smart home. The proposed architecture will provide a solid foundation for evolving power smart home system in its implementation in the reality. More details of proposed approach and the cost/benefit analysis will be provided in the future.

## References

- [1] Diane J. Cook. *How smart is your home?* Science, 335(8–13):1579–1581, 2012.
- [2] Scott Davidoff, Min Lee, Charles Yiu, John Zimmerman, and Anind Dey. *Principles of smart home control.* In Ubiquitous Computing, volume 4206 of *Lecture Notes in Computer Science*, pages 19–34. Springer Berlin / Heidelberg, 2006
- [3] Bert J.M. De Vries, Detlef P. Van Vuuren, and Monique M. Hoogwijk. *Renewable Energy Sources: Their global potential for the first-half of the 21st century at a global level: An integrated approach.* Energy Policy, 35(4):2590 – 2610, 2007.
- [4] A. Schmidt and K. van Laerhoven. *How to build smart appliances?* IEEE Personal Communications, 8(4):66–71, 2001.
- [5] H. Farhangi. *The path of the smart grid*. IEEE Power and Energy Magazine, 8(1):18 28, 2010
- [6] Xin Hong, Chris Nugent, Maurice Mulvenna, Sally McClean, Bryan Scotney, and Steven Devlin. *Evidential fusion of sensor data for activity recognition in smart homes.* Pervasive and Mobile Computing, 5(3):236 252, 2009.

- [7] Weiliang Zhao, Lan Ding, Paul Cooper, and Pascal Perez. *Smart home electricity management in the context of local power resources and smart grid.* In Proceedings of International Conference on Smart Grid Systems, 2013 (submitted).
- [8] Energy Australia. Residential customer price list. http://www.ipart.nsw.gov.au/Home/Industries/Electricity/Reviews/Retail\_Pricing/Changes\_in\_re gulated\_electricity\_retail\_prices\_from\_1\_July\_2012/25\_Jun\_2012\_-\_Energy\_Australia\_-\_\_Approved\_annual\_pricing\_proposals/EnergyAustralia\_\_Regulated\_Electricity\_retail\_tariffs\_an d\_charges\_for\_201213, 2012.
- [9] Jetlun. Zigbee panel meter. http://jetlun-estore.myshopify.com/products/zigbee-panel-meter.
- [10] Australian Bureau of Meteorology. Latest weather observations for parramatta. http://www.bom.gov.au/products/IDN60901/IDN60901.94764.shtml.
- [11] Richard T. Watson, Marie-Claude Boudreau, and Adela J. Chen. Information systems and environmentally sustainable development: Energy informatics and new directions for the is community. MIS Quarterly, 34(1):23–38, 2010.
- [12] J. M. Carrasco, L. G. Franquelo, J. T. Bialasiewicz, E. Galvan, R. C. P. Guisado, Ma A. M. Prats, J. I. Leon, and N. Moreno-Alfonso. *Power-electronic systems for the grid integration of renewable energy sources: A survey.* IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics, 53(4):1002–1016, 2006.
- [13] H. Lund and E. Mnster. *Management of surplus electricity-production from a fluctuating renewable-energy source*. Applied Energy, 76(13):65–74, 2003.
- [14] Dragan Markovic, Dragan Cvetkovic, Dejan Zivkovic, and Ranko Popovic. *Challenges of information and communication technology in energy efficient smart homes.* Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 16:1210–1216, 2012.
- [15] . Paolo Pellegrino, Dario Bonino, and Fulvio Corno. *Domotic house gateway*. In Proceedings of the 2006 ACM symposium on Applied computing, pages 1915–1920. ACM, 2006.
- [16] Chui Leong, A.R. Ramli, and T. Perumal. A rule-based framework for heterogeneous subsystems management in smart home environment. Consumer Electronics, IEEE Transactions on, 55(3):1208 –1213, august 2009.
- [17] Raymond J. Cole and Zosia Brown. *Reconciling human and automated intelligence in the provision of occupant comfort*. Intelligent Buildings International, 1(1):39–55, 2009.
- [18] Park Joonseok, Moon Mikyeong, Hwang Seongjin, and Yeom Keunhyuk. *Development of simulation system for validating contextual rule in smart home*. In The 9th International Conference on Advanced Communication Technology, volume 2, pages 1143–1146, 2007.
- [19] D. J. Cook, M. Youngblood, III Heierman, E. O., K. Gopalratnam, S. Rao, A. Litvin, and F. Khawaja. *Mavhome: an agent-based smart home.* In IEEE International Conference on Pervasive Computing and Communications, pages 521–524, 2003.
- [20] Mario J. Kofler, Christian Reinisch, and Wolfgang Kastner. A semantic representation of energy-related information in future smart homes. Energy and Buildings, 47:169–179, 2012.
- [21] S. Massoud Amin and B. F. Wollenberg. *Toward a smart grid: power delivery for the 21st century.* IEEE Power and Energy Magazine, 3(5):34–41, 2005.
- [22] J. Stragier, L. Hauttekeete, and L. De Marez. Introducing smart grids in residential contexts: Consumers' perception of smart household appliances. In IEEE Conference on Innovative Technologies for an Efficient and Reliable Electricity Supply, pages 135–142, 2010.

## **Use Cases & Requirements for Smart Home Environment**

# Josef Baumeister & Dr. Gerhard Fuchs, BSH Bosch und Siemens Hausgeraete GmbH

Josef Baumeister is also Convenor of CENELEC TC59X/ WG7 (Smart Grid/Smart Home Standardization of White Goods)

## Abstract

The main target of the European standardization group CENELEC TC59X/WG7 is to define the Smart Home/Smart Grid standard for Home Appliances, based on the scope

Standardization work to enable domestic appliances to improve functionality through the use of network communication.

Examples of network communication include smart grid, smart home and home network.

The main difference between Single Home Appliances and Smart Appliances in a Smart Home/Smart Grid environment is the dependency on networked systems with different stakeholders like <u>Grid</u> <u>operators</u> and <u>Home and Building Managers</u> realized by lots of <u>different manufacturers</u>.

This means that a Smart Appliance is not anymore a stand-alone device but embedded in a communication system with different other Smart Devices like Smart heating systems, Electric vehicles etc.

In this context <u>interoperability</u> is key to ensure the success of Smart Grid and Smart Home. A customer of a Smart Appliance does not want to be confronted with technology, he needs solutions. Having this in mind, interoperability requires open signals and messages to be understood by Smart Devices (like Smart Appliances) independent from different manufacturer

As this target influences the requirements of the whole chain from the interface of the Grid into the premises, the in-home management and the Smart Devices, TC59X/WG7 has liaisons with IEC TC57/WG21 (Definition of the interface Grid – Premises) and CENELEC TC205/WG18 (In Home Distribution and – Management).

The most significant tasks in these standardization bodies are

a common architecture (on a logical basis)

and

#### common use cases.

to set up the basis for interface definitions and common signals & messages to finally enable interoperability.

Within 2013, all these standardization bodies will deliver first drafts of their standards.

The presentation will show an overview about the work on common architecture and use cases, their impacts on Grid and Smart Appliances and the status of interoperability.

## Introduction

The transition to a new "electrical era" in which electricity is becoming the preferred energy source for most everyday applications is currently taking place. This is governed by three key factors: demographic change, scarcity of resources, and climate change. In the meantime, two development trends are of particular interest:

- the demand for electricity is continuing to grow
- the energy system is subject to dramatic changes

Until recently, load dictated production, a method which influenced how interconnected power systems were designed. Power generation was centralized, controllable, and above all, reliable. The load was statistically predictable, and energy flow was unidirectional, that is from producer to consumer.

These aspects of power generation are changing. Firstly, the rising percentage of fluctuating production within the energy mix brought about by renewable reduces the level of power generation control available. Secondly, the energy flow is no longer unidirectional sent from producer to consumer; now the consumer is slowly turning into a "prosumer," a term which denotes a person who produces and consumes energy. More and more consumers are installing their own renewable energy products to increase energy efficiency. These prosumers are cogenerating heat and power with their own solar panels or microCHPs, for example. This trend is set to continue, as government bodies continue to provide incentives to domestic users to become "prosumers" as part of their increased energy efficiency policies.

## <u>Ultimately, the way of the future will most probably have to be that, up to a certain extent, the load follows the energy availability</u>.

Figure 1 lists examples of Smart Devices and their capabilities.

The change, raised in this extract of a *Demand Response White Paper* of Siemens AG [7] does not only require technological solutions but also an economic framework to e.g. ensure customer benefits like flexible tariffs. However, as our standardization efforts are focusing on technological solutions, economical frameworks are not part of this report.

Furthermore, Smart Grid / Energy Management functionalities are only one part of Smart Home & Building capabilities. However, in terms of communication requirements, Smart Grid solutions can be used as blue print for interoperable communication methods. All other sectors like AAL, convenience, security etc. can be defined based on this blue print method and can be added on top of Smart Grid related signals & messages.

Table : Demand response communication infrastructure							
Device type	Influenceable Generation Consumption		Storage/ buffer	Comment			
Wind turbine				Only reduction of actual generation			
Photovoltaic generation				Only reduction of actual generation			
Backup generators							
Solar water radiators			В	Additional electrical heating in boiler required			
Combined heat and power		•	В	Additional electrical heating in boiler required			
Heat pump with boiler		•	В				
Electric radiators		•					
Central air-conditioning		•	В				
Decentral air-conditioning		•					
Drives for ventilation							
Drives for water pumps		•	В	Requires water tanks on top of buildings			
Other drives				Elevators, escalators, etc.			
Household appliances				Washing machines, tumble dryers, dishwashers, etc.			
Industrial processes			S/B	Storage/buffer capability depends on process type			
Batteries and supercaps			s				
E-cars (home charging)			S/B	Feedback is currently only future option			
E-cars (public charging)							

Figure 1: Examples of demand response devices & capabilities (see *Demand Response White Paper* of Siemens AG [7])

## Scope of this report

The success of the Smart Grid and Smart Home approach is very much related to interoperability, which means that all Smart Devices in a Smart Grid, Home & Building environment have a common understanding of signals & messages in a defined interoperability area (in a broader perspective, it doesn't matter if it as an energy related signal, a home management signal or an information signal).

Examples of signals & messages are:

- the expected energy consumption of the upcoming cycle of my appliance is 2kW
- please start in 2h
- my door status is open
- next tariff structure is "20ct from 8:30h 10:00h, 25ct from 10:00h 12:00h"

We use the term signals & messages instead of commands, as customer have the right to overrule decisions coming from e.g. the grid. Signals & messages represent a suggestion instead of a direct advice. Specific contracts between customer and supplier however may lead a signal to behave like a command.

This report describes the process, steps and involved parties to develop common signals & messages mainly for Smart Grid / Energy related purposes

## Involved standardization bodies

**IEC TC57/ WG21** (Interface into the premises), **CLC TC205/ WG18** (Inhome Distribution) and **CLC TC59X/ WG7 / IEC TC59/ WG15** (Smart Appliances) develop <u>individual standards</u> defining interfaces and related signals & messages within their area of responsibility.



Fig. shows a rough overview of main standardization bodies (map has no request to be complete)

Figure 2: Standardization bodies and association involved in Smart Grid & Smart Home activities

To ensure a proper and interoperable behavior of smart devices within smart premises, the whole chain from the interface into the premises until the Smart Device is affected and impacts. Therefore a Joint Working Group Use Cases & Requirements has been formed under the roof of IEC TC57/WG21 by members of all mentioned standardization bodies to develop a Technical Report as basis for the individual standards. This work is done collaboratively as it is tremendously important to prevent or at least diminish different interpretations. It also uses already existing results from other working groups like Smart Grid Coordination Group [5] or IEC TC8 but fills gaps left.

This work includes to

- describe a logical architecture
- describe a set of user stories that describe a number of situations related to energy flexibility and demand side management. The set of user stories does not have the ambition to list all home energy management possibilities, but is meant as a set of examples that are used as input in use cases and to check that the set of use cases is complete;
- describe a set of use cases based on the user stories and architecture. The use cases describe scenario's in which the communication between elements of the architecture is identified;
- further detail the communication identified in the use cases is by describing the signals and data models.

This procedure can also be used as a blue print for upcoming Smart Home solutions like Remote Control, Remote Monitoring, Ambient Assistant Living and so forth.

## **Architectural requirements**

The architecture, shown in this report, is focusing on in-home architectural requirements and is a functional reference diagram, described in the Smart Grid Coordination Group – Working Group Sustainable Processes Report [5].

In this logical architecture the Smart Grid Connection Point represents the interface from the Grid into the premises. The CEM (Customer Energy Manager) provides the flexibility of connected smart devices, through the energy management gateway, while the smart metering and the simple external consumer display provide a number of functionalities which are described in more detail in work of the Smart Meters Coordination Group [6]. The energy management gateway communicates with the metering channel and the smart metering through the Smart Metering Gateway. The gateways in this architecture split different networks (Wide Area Network, Neighborhood Area Network and Local Area Network) and may be, as further described below, integrated with other functional entities.

The Customer Energy Manager (CEM) is the central managing function. It decides and manages based on information coming from the grid and/or from the Smart Devices. The term "Energy" within CEM reflects the demand of SG CG to focus on Energy. In a typical home or building environment this manager will likely manage all kinds of future management scenarios and will be the basis for AAL (Ambient Assistant Living) and other future user scenarios.

The architecture does not force a CEM to manage more than one device. Therefore it can be part of a single Smart Device (e.g. included in a Smart Appliance) and manage only this device. As this is a redundant functionality (with probably proprietary interfaces, if included in a specific device), it is not specifically examined in this report

The external actors A and B, identified in this functional architecture represent (systems of) market roles that communicate through the Smart Grid Connection Point. Examples of these roles are a Grid operator, meter data collector, meter operator, aggregator, supplier, flexibility operator, etc.

The actual role of actor A or B depends on the local market organization in a member state and competition. In the scope of this report, actor A is defined as the external actor communicating with the energy management gateway while actor B is defined as the external actor communicating with the smart metering gateway.

For sake of simplicity, the use cases in this report do not represent the energy management gateway and the smart metering gateway - when developing the use cases we assumed that the gateways do not provide functionalities contributing towards the goals of the use cases. These do however provide functionality in terms of routing information, translation of protocols, device management, security and service capabilities

Within this Home Area Network architecture, 3 main different interfaces are necessary to support Interoperability between:

- 1) Smart Grid Connection Point & Customer Energy Manager via Energy Management Gateway
- 2) Smart Grid Connection Point or Smart Meter & Customer Energy Manager via Smart Metering Gateway and Energy Manager Gateway
- 3) Customer Energy Manager and a smart device.



Figure 3: Energy Management Architecture according to EU Mandate M490, Smart Grid Coordin. Group (Smart Devices can be in a range of very simple up to very complex devices)

The main target is to derive signals necessary to ensure interoperability between Smart Grid, CEM and Smart Devices.

These signals are defined on a neutral basis (technology neutral interfaces). Therefore, the mappings onto specific transmission technologies are the responsibility of the equivalent (standardization) bodies like KNX, ZigBee, BACnet, etc.

Figure 4 and 5 describe the neutral interfaces, the connection to domain specific technologies and different kind of Smart Devices

The architecture does neither reflect the intelligence of devices nor give any advice how and where to split the intelligence between CEM and Smart Device. (e.g. simple switch vs Smart Aplliance). It 's only requested to define specific signals like

- Switch on (more likely for simple devices)
- Start in 2h.(more likely for intelligent Smart Appliances)
- Switch off (could be valid for all devices)

Details will be part of the specific standard like the Smart Appliance standard (successor of CENELEC EN50523)



Figure 4: Neutral interface with neutral signals to ensure technology independent interoperability



Figure 5: Mapping of signals according to intelligence of Smart Devices

## **User Stories & Use Cases**

#### Why user stories & use cases?

Standardization does not standardize use cases. The user may use different ways to get to a target or the manufacturer may implement different solutions, means different interpretations of use cases. However the definition of signals and information flows between then different stake holders are essential to ensure interoperability.

Use cases help to collect requirements for necessary signals and messages by describing possible scenarios.

Figure 6 describes the process to define signals and structures.

As already mentioned, only signals & XML/JSon structures will be standardized. Then rest of the process is necessary to achieve the right requirements to ensure interoperability.



Figure 6: Process to define signals and messages

#### **Relationship between User Stories and Use Cases**

User stories are produced from the consumer perspective and describe typical scenarios that a consumer may experience. The list of user stories is not exhaustive. User stories are mapped to more detailed use cases, such that one user story may be realized using one or more use cases. These use cases list a set of data items and signals required for their operation.

## **Collection of User Stories**

The following slide present headlines of typical user stories



Figure 7: Collection of user stories

### Example of a user story: The user wants to get the laundry done by 8:00pm

The user prepares the washing machine Fills clothes Selects washing program Pre-selects the end time (e.g. 8:00pm) May pre selects the incentive program (e.g. cheapest tariff, greenest power etc.) Starts washing program The washing machine now informs the CEM about The start of the new program The pre-selected end time The pre-selected incentive program (if not already stored) The expected power consumption profile with duration and (e.g. time related specific) energy consumption The CEM calculates the operation plan and takes into account The pre-selected end time The pre-selected incentive program (if not already stored) The expected power consumption profile with duration and (e.g. time related specific) energy consumption Tariff information

Expected energy consumption other Smart Devices Expected local energy generation Amount of locally stored energy

The CEM sends the calculated start time to the Smart Device (washing machine)

The Smart Device starts the cycle based on the calculated start time

This user story describes the story of getting the laundry ready on a flexible energy demand basis. For the customer other stories could also have a side effect on this story like:

- Customer agrees upon a specific contract with his supplier to get financial benefits due to energy flexibility
- A Smart meter needs to measure the appropriate energy consumption and accounting
- And so forth...

For standardization, all stories which may lead to a signal & message on the outer or inner interface are relevant. It is important for the customer to also get a financial benefit but it doesn't influence any part of the technical standard. These stories are not treated here.

## **Use Cases**

The use cases are based on the above described user stories and the architecture defined earlier in this report. Note that the use cases only describe communication between Actor A/B, the CEM, the smart meter and the smart devices. For sake of simplicity, these use cases do not represent the energy management gateway and the smart metering gateway - when developing the use cases, we assumed that the gateways do not provide functionalities contributing towards the goals of the use cases.

Use cases describe a specific step to achieve the targets of my user story.

Figure 8 describes such a use case where the Smart Device informs the CEM about a flexible start request and gets back a starting time.



Figure 8: use case examples: Smart Device informs CEM about a flexible start

## Use Case mapping (User Stories – Use Cases)

The main intention of a standard should be simplicity. The re-use of use cases requested by different user stories is one of the biggest targets.

As already stated, Figure 8 describes such a use case where the Smart Device informs the CEM about a flexible start request and gets back a starting time. This use case can be used with a washing machine as well as with the charging process of an electric vehicle.

Figure 9 shows a verification table that all user stories are mapped with existing use cases.

	Generic use c								
	UC 1.1 + UC 2.1	UC 1.2 + UC 2.2	WGSP 2111 sc.1	WGSP 2111 sc.2	WGSP 2112	WGSP 2113 sc.1	WGSP 2113 sc.2	WGSP 2114	
User Story	Smart device informs CEM	Smart device sends instructions to smart device	Consumption information of individual devices	Total household consumption	Price & environmental information	Warning signal from smart device	Warning signal from CEM	Retrieve smart device status	
The user likes to get the laundry ready until 8:00pm									
The user likes to likes to use his Electro Vehicle at 8:00am again									
The grid recognizes stability issues				GAP		GAP	GAP		
The user wants to limit his consumption to his own local production (e.g. PV)						GAP	GAP		
CEM manages Simple Devices									
The Customer wants to sell his flexibility to the grid									

Figure 9: mapping user stories onto use cases (black = is used, grey = indirectly used, white = not used for this user story)

## Signals mapping (Signals - Use Cases)

Signals are derived from the use cases and need to be verified with use cases as well

	Generic use c								
	UC 1.1 + UC 2.1	UC 1.2 + UC 2.2	WGSP 0200	WGSP 2111 sc.1	WGSP 2111 sc.2	WGSP 2112	WGSP 2113 sc.1	WGSP 2113 sc.2	WGSP 2114
Signals / Messages	Smart device informs CEM	Smart device sends instructions to smart device	0//	Consumption information of individual devices	Total household consumption	Price & environmental information	Warning signal from smart device	Warning signal from CEM	Retrieve smart device status
On / OFF							Ī		
DIM									
HVAC (Temperature)									
Incentives (Tariff Inform.)									
Metering Data									
Sensing									
Time Information									
(Text) Messaging									
Power Scheduling									
Supply Condition									
Tariff information from Grid/Meter									
Real-time									
Schedule/amounts									

Figure 10: Mapping of signals & messages onto use cases (black = is used, grey = indirectly used, white = not used for this user story)

## Signals & messages

At the final end, only signals, conveyed between two peers, will be standardized. Therefore the requirements for these signals need to be defined.

## **Example: Incentives (Tariff information)**

A Smart Grid Market Role (SGMR) wants to send an incentive information (tariff, price + additional information such as CO2/kWh, percentage of green energy etc.) to a household / building / industry.

## incentiveReport requirements (aligned with incentiveRequest):

Basic goal: Send incentives to a smart device, a display or a CEM (these might be different data models)

- Must be able to cope with different (mainly existing and near future) tariff structures:
  - Tariffs which only vary over time (e.g. change every 15 minutes)
  - Tariffs which vary over "tiers" (e.g. change with the energy drawn from the grid or even contingent tariffs)
  - Combinations of those structures
- Shall be able to transport monetary values (\$s, €s...)
- Shall be able to transport the currency which applies
- Shall be able to transport forecasts of prices as well as currently applying prices (including forecasts for different price tiers and commodities [gas, water, etc.])
- Shall be able to transport incentives for gas, water, heating, ...
- Shall be able to transport multiple incentives for one single commodity (e.g. for energy drawn from the grid vs. energy fed into the grid, but also for feeding in photovoltaic energy vs. feeding in wind energy)
- .....



Figure 11: Requirements of a signal with XSD/XML structure

## Summary

IEC TC57/ WG21 has just circulated the commenting version of DC\_62746-2 (Use Cases & Requirements) document, the focus of this report.

This is the basis for upcoming standards off all mentioned standardization bodies.

All interface specifications of these standards are using the same methodology to achieve the same type of signals & messages and to ensure interoperability.

It is the intention of these standardization bodies to circulate the first drafts within 2013.

## References

- [1] Technical Report DC 62746-2 Use Cases and Requirements, IEC TC57/ WG21, 2013
- [2] IEC TC57/ WG21 working group (2011-2013)
- [3] CLC TC205/ WG18 working group (2011-2013)
- [4] CLC TC59X/ WG7 working group (2011-2013)
- [5] Smart Grid Coordination SGCG (EU Mandate M490)

CEN/CENELEC/ETSI Joint Working Group: Standards for Smart Grids. May 2011.

CEN-CENELEC-ETSI Smart Grid Coordination Group: Sustainable Processes. Nov 2012.

CEN-CENELEC-ETSI Smart Grid Coordination Group: First Set of Standards. Nov 2012.

CEN-CENELEC-ETSI Smart Grid Coordination Group: Smart Grid Reference Architecture. Nov 2012.

- [6] Smart Meter Coordination Group SMCG (EU Mandate M441)
- [7] Demand Response White Paper, Siemens AG, 2010

http://www.iec.ch/standardsdev/?ref=menu

http://www.cenelec.eu/aboutcenelec/whatwedo/technologysectors/smartgrids.html http://www.cencenelec.eu/standards/Pages/default.aspx

## Smart Domestic Solar - Why Solutions for Solar Thermal and Photovoltaic do not integrate into Home Automation?

## Gerfried Cebrat

## 1 Abstract

The term "smart" is widely used for example with "Smart Grids" and "Smart Metering". This paper extends its application to renewable energy systems. Based on the vocational training in the project *Smart-E-Learning*, lead by the University of Applied Sciences FH Joanneum in Kapfenberg and part of an extended elaboration within the project, the paper investigates possibilities for **intelligent control of domestic hot water (DHW) using appliances interfacing with solar thermal controllers** in order to maximise the utilisation of solar energy. Recent advancements of internet enabled micro-controllers using the TCP/IP transfer protocol would allow to (wirelessly) network with the solar controller, washing machines, and hence control the water outtake from the domestic hot water storage tank. Likewise, with island (or remote) power grids and PV controllers could switch on additional electric appliances when storage or feed in of electricity is not possible. The said approach was tested at a small domestic solar facility with a solar thermal system. The improvements comprise the connection of a dishwasher to the solar DHW and alternating water supply to a laundry washing machine allowing switching between cold tap water and water from the solar tank as well as heating DHW via surplus energy from a 12 V PV grid. An architecture for implementing networked demand control is presented. Based on the absence of ready to use solutions for small domestic appliances, the paper is also analysing the interest of the stakeholders.

## 2 State of the Art

## Photovoltaic (PV)

Currently, the most advanced integration of house-bound renewable energy facilities with home automation, is connecting PV to heat pumps or air conditioners, having embedded algorithms for cost optimization for the power supply to the appliances, choosing from grid power and own PV-power [1]. Having time variant electricity rates this system concept would require at least another component providing the actual electricity tariffs. The control overhead with such solutions is sold as add-on to the medium to high budget devices. For PV-inverters, Bluetooth communication also is used for switching electrical outlets [2], addressing the same optimization problem, but being not able to negotiate within the course of running processes in the white goods. On the other hand, grid operators are requesting action on the side of the Original Equipment manufacturers (OEMs) of PV-inverters, installing automatic cut out (emergency load shedding), if grid frequencies are surpassing a certain frequency [3]. Several PV-controllers may interact in a modular setting via CAN-Bus [4], which would offer staged feed-in control.

With 12V battery based PV-systems, feeding into the 230V grid could be used to increase the yield. Affordable controllers including switching logic, grid feed in and local 12V storage are not available yet, but the investment will be lower, because only one additional relay between 12V grid and appliance is necessary in the simplest case. With islandic PV-Grids, controllers are available which allow giving preferences to one of two batteries when charging [5]. Exchanging one battery by an electric load allows primitive use of excess power. With battery storage and feed-in inverters, an additional degree of freedom is given and may be exploited. In the absence of a communication bus, existing PV powered irrigation pump control is employing direct wiring to the controller/inverter [6] to switch the pumps according to the PV yield.

## Solar thermal

Solar thermal and combinations with PV (PV-T) have lower thermal efficiency at elevated fluid temperatures. Adding low temperature demand helps to rectify this, if operation is planned properly. Secondly, blending hot and cold water - adding entropy- should be avoided, providing water with the right temperature directly to the DHW appliances. Current hot water consuming appliances in households such as washing machines, dish-

washers and the like on the one and solar controllers on the other side do not share information and do not allow building upon intelligence, solving those problems.

Climate zones are leading to different types of domestic hot water solar systems. In the non-freezing climates, devices do work without electronic control being buoyancy driven. Those cheap systems are in sharp contrast to Central and Northern Europe, where the investments into domestic solar hot water are higher and thus contributing to a steep decline in new instalments, starting with the year 2008 [7]. Existing European controllers for solar thermal, being capable of implementing the logic needed for interaction with appliances and DHW temperature control, would add a few hundred Euros to those costs, pushing smaller DHWsystems (sized for monovalent operation during summer and located in less sunny climates) further into economic inefficiency.

With solar thermal instalments, the most advanced concepts for DHW and room heating integrate a solar storage into the central heating device, placing small DHW tanks in the storage tank or adding external heat exchangers for DHW [8]. This allows using solar heat at a lower temperature level, because of the final heating option using auxiliary fuels providing extra heat also at elevated temperature. However, in summer with not oversized solar collectors, auxiliary heating systems cannot be shut off because of the DHW demand, requiring low standby losses of the auxiliary heating system. In order to utilize most solar heat, solar storage can provide DHW of the right temperature level. For connecting DHW using appliances - such as washing machines - to solar controllers, only time based switching is used currently. The existing external switching devices [9] do cost approximately 200€, without having the ability to exactly follow the process of the washing machines and without the ability avoiding exergetic losses by providing non premixed warm water with the right temperature. Recently systems that are more complex allow even recuperation of solar heat when cooling brides of tumble-driers. Those systems which approach the target of increasing the solar use in summer very well, are based on bilateral co-operation between a producer of white goods and producer of solar thermal systems and do require four pipes between tumble dryer and solar tank; two for hot water supply and two for condensing cooling [10].

### **Energy Management in General**

So far, at least one OEM for white goods has liberated access for M2M communication, in this case using power line carrier (PLC) communication [11] allowing dynamic load control, but there exist several non-compatible company solutions in parallel [12]. Producers of external controllers may profit from PLC, but also negotiate other communication layers, EN50523 only specifies functional and data architecture.

Concerning predictive control, weather forecasts obtained via the Internet might be integrated. So far, this is mostly used employing the buildings mass for storing away solar excess heat with predicted energy deficits, and the author has written software and tested it in practice successfully [13]. With increasing power demand in households, the potential share of solar thermal on the total energy balance sheet is decreasing and more focus is to be given to demand control and storage of electric energy. The following Figure 1 depicts the options for an energy management, having different topologies, able to manage solar use better. Synthesis of compressed natural gas is a two-step process using electrolysis producing hydrogen [14] and not suited for a domestic scale. Bundled demand control might have enough potential in terms of switched power not requiring investments into energy storage equipment wearing out and generating additional costs:



## Figure 1 Energy Management approaches

## 3 Characterisation of Appliances

With domestic appliances, namely white goods, the temperature level for DHW demand widely varies. Lower temperatures allow increasing solar use. In order to save on exergy it is also possible to switch from electric heating to hot water supply. Figure 2 allows to judge whether this option is feasible for the appliances.



### Figure 2 Suitable heating sources for household appliances

With clothes washing machines, users may decide to lower temperature and use low temperature detergents, so electric heating is no longer necessary. In principle, use of electricity can be restricted to providing mechanical power for all those applications, if there is no excess in PV-power to be consumed. However, since feed in tariffs are cut, electrical heating returns on the agenda. Compared to solar thermal, electrical heating is much easier to erect, requiring no piping. Regarding efficiency, solar thermal systems starting with a yield of only 30% of the total insolation [15] are not much better than newest PV-panels reaching an efficiency of 20%, achieving 25% [16] on a cell level and targeting 34% for concentrating PV-systems [17]. Therefore, there is some need for improvement for solar thermal, keeping this pace of PV, increasing the utilization rate of the insolation when operating solar thermal systems. The measured test run of a test installation with connected dishwasher and clothes washing machine has shown that providing low temperature water to the appliances operating the DHW-tanks without electric heating may significantly reduce the gap between the solar yield and the energy used by DHW. Figure 3 shows the difference for the cumulated energy balance of the balcony based solar thermal test system for two years.



## Figure 3 Improvement of the DHW-utilization of the solar yield from 2011/12 to 2012/13, results from the test of a small balcony collector

In autumn 2012 and winter 2012/13 DHW was used for the washing machine independently on the water temperature, the DHW tank was discharged according to the needs disregarding of its temperature. Whilst increasing the efficiency of the solar collector a legionella problem might occur in this setting. It also has to be acknowledged that the total solar use was probably increased only half as much due to the location of the water tank in the kitchen, contributing to room heating during the heating period.

# 4 Proposition for a networked approach between appliance and solar controllers

In the following, an approach for networking appliances and solar controllers is depicted, following the aims developed in the previous chapters.

## Photovoltaic

By exchanging information between appliances and solar controllers, the economy of grid-connected systems may be improved, especially if utilities are practicing PV-cut-outs in times of over-supply or reduce tariffs in those periods. Home automation might support this by controlling the domestic appliances. Domestic systems having long time constants, like cooling or heating, are best suited to compete with feed-in for the **best-cost approach**, because they may absorb larger amounts of energy. In addition, the solar usage factor for 12 V islandic PV grids may be increased by utilising surplus power but feeding into the 230 V home grids is easier and sufficient for small PV-systems.

### Solar Thermal

Applying a good hydraulic scheme, the share of solar thermal may be increased significantly. New DHW appliances as dishwashers and clothes washing machines can provide sporadic DHW drain only. Solar cooling would be a more steady demand, contributing more in summer when the solar yield is high. Figure 4 shows a scheme avoiding legionella problems using fresh water heating, introducing new appliances consuming energy, but having bivalent approaches.



#### Figure 4 Hydraulic scheme featuring new heat sinks, using storage-tank

Apart from using the solar collector only as heat source, it is also possible using it as a heat sink. Power consumption for refrigeration units and for air conditioning (A/C) is reduced, if the refrigerator and/or the house are pre-cooled overnight. For the refrigerator even cold cloudy days may be used to dissipate heat. This kind of solar cooling does make use of the heat dissipation by the collector at night. With medium temperature solar collectors also, Solar Cooling using absorptive processes is a way making better use of the solar yield in summer but requires an elevated temperature above 80°C. Food and drink processors [18] are applications in focus, but load curves for A/C are more in-line with the solar insolation.

In Figure 4 the DHW temperature may be controlled via the mass flow, but this solution will extract energy also from the hotter part of the storage tank through the heat exchanger, thus decreasing exergetic efficiency. Targeting this weak point Pink Gmbh of Austria has introduced a hot water storage tank, allowing seamless variation of the input or output level and thus temperature [19], applicable especially for larger tanks.

### **Hybrid Schemes**

It is also possible to substitute solar heat by solar excess power, which might not be used otherwise or fed in for a reasonable price. Because of the high exergy of electricity, the upper part of a solar DHW tank or storage may be heated or even the water flow directly. Electric heating elements, either in water tanks or in domestic appliances, are cheap and flexible to control via the applied voltage, so this path might be less costly than applying changes to the hydraulic schemes supplying heat to the appliances. Hybrid schemes target an overarching control of DHW appliances and their heating elements on the one and solar controllers on the other hand.

## 5 Implementation proposal for a networked energy management

Intelligent overarching control for DHW and electric power is seen only with a few integrated sectorial solutions. What is hindering the development of a domestic energy management, including both domestic hot water and electric power partly fed by PV? Here are some hypotheses:

1. Interconnection does not need much hardware effort, but standardization not only on the data and functional level but also an industrial standard concerning the physical communication layer is necessary to lower cost,

2. Control of hydraulic systems is much more expensive compared to control of electric appliances, especially if this to be added individually and not part of the appliances themselves which are bought independently or pre-existing,

3. OEMs are very cautious giving away control over the appliance performance to external controllers because of customer retention policy linked to the washing performance for example.

Ensuring process quality, a negotiation protocol is necessary gaining acceptance from OEMs. The following figures show the data and control rationale, and also the proposed system architecture. It promotes the best effort principle to all connected appliances. This way, concerns about washing quality is no hurdle to the roll out. It is expected that connectivity of all white goods is improving with time. Concerning the substitution of electricity by solar domestic hot water, the hurdles are significant, because of the need for tank control and blending valves for the water supply of the washing machines. It is therefore of utmost importance to place the solar tank near the washing machines, if blending is to be done in the washing machines themselves. In multi-storey buildings, it is possible to use DHW fresh water stations, controlling them according to the demand. However, this way the exergy consumption may be controlled only with switched or actuated tank outlet, because otherwise the tank supplies only one kind of hot medium. With larger tanks, it is possible to switch the effluent outlet appropriately.

Synthetizing the requirements a networked intelligent approach is necessary. Figure 5 shows the data needed to perform strategic energy management and the processing solar controllers in the system.



### Figure 5 Data and control rationale overarching optimization

For data transmission, a networked system could use existing wireless data transmission networks like 802.11 (WLAN) or power line communication (PLC). Because commonly TCP/IP is used, a wide range of embedded electronics is usable, either combining communication modules with microcontrollers or integrat-

ed solutions based on the 8-bit  $\mu$ C 8051, 16-bit C16x or the 32-bit ARM architecture [20]. With 802.11n, there is the possibility to reduce the energy demand while idling [21], thus reducing standby losses of the added communication system.

The system architecture for networked strategic energy management shown in Figure 6 shall consist of three separate layers at minimum. The content of the layers differ, depending on the connected appliances and energy converters available. Switching to Solar DHW or alternative heat production and time shifting and are results of the information processing.



## Figure 6 Proposed Strategic Energy Management Architecture

For the function set covering DHW and power control, there could be a direct control of the appliances as shown in. However, the variant shown in Table 1 would require full knowledge of the local process parameters in the appliances to be able take the right decisions centrally. As favourite alternative, the central control could send messages to the appliances desiring a specific behaviour of the appliances only.

## Table 1 Discarded Machine-to-Machine (M2M) communication path variant

	Appliance-> solar controller	Solar Controller->appliance
Power	Prognosis of energy demand	Actual tariff high/low – island grids fed from batteries also do have higher tariffs if the insolation is not sufficient
		Prognosis of available power, based on solar yield
DHW	Required water temperature	Prognosis of available power and maximum temperature, based on ex-
	Required amount of water (Prognosis of energy demand)	pected solar yield

The algorithms to be developed shall account for the likely future solar yield and the tariffs or restrictions of the grid operator. Some Fuzzy-type logic is shown in Table 2.

Table 2 Draft additional Fuzzy rule set for controlling appliances

Issuing Device	Data used	Rule	Receiver
Central Controller	Best-Cost Scenario for PV-	IF FIT lower than actual power tariff	Appliances (
	power usage	THEN propose to store as much	Refrigerator,
		energy away as possible, adapting	DHW-tank)
		actual power demand of appliances	
		(via voltage control) to the actual	
		yield	
Central Controller	Expected solar yield using now	IF actual yield IS low AND prog-	Appliances
	casts	nosed yield increase high AND no	
		actual power decrease acknowl-	
		edged THEN propose time shifting	
Central Controller	Expected solar yield using now	IF actual yield IS high AND prog-	Appliances
	casts	nosed yield decrease high AND no	
		actual power increase acknowledged	
		THEN propose negative time shifting	
Appliance	End time of the process, free	IF proposed time shifting is active	Processes
	buffer	AND free buffer is positive THEN	within appli-
		speed down or halt the process until	ances
		the free buffer is consumed	
Appliance	End time of the process, free	IF proposed negative time shifting is	Processes
	buffer	active AND free buffer is positive	within appli-
		THEN speed up or start a new pro-	ances
		cess immediately	
Central Controller	Temperature solar tank	IF grid feed in tariff is very low AND	Appliances
	FIT tariff or (cut out)	temperature solar tank is low AND	
	Positive power balance (PV	PV surplus THEN substitute DHW	
	surplus)	use by resistive heating (PV).	
Central Controller	State of Charge (SOC) battery	IF SOC battery is high AND ex-	12V Appli-
	Expected solar yield using now	pected solar yield is high THEN in-	ances (refrig-
	casts	crease load	erator)
Central Controller	Expected solar yield using now		Central Con-
	casts		troller

## 6 Discussion of the proposed networked strategic energy management

Solar thermal instalments may profit largely from increased DHW demand, such as generated by adding (dish) washing machines to the list of DHW appliances. Even if additional logic and eventually piping is costly, the use factor for the solar irradiation will climb significantly. However, the need for legionella abatement and the minimum required DHW-tap temperature, especially for kitchens deteriorates the results. So new hydraulic schemes are necessary, which are reducing temperatures in the tank and are based on bivalent ex-post electrical heating, if necessary. Fortunately, washing machines already have that feature built in, and smaller amounts of hot tap water may be heated via flow-through devices. The solar storage tank variant was introduced mainly for room heating purposes [8], but may also exploited for smaller instalments e.g. smaller collector areas, if pre-fabrication and integration of pump and control allows for cost reduction of the indoor unit.

Concluding, making use of excess solar heat in summer requires only small adaptations, if the solar DHWtank is near the washing machines, including dishwashers allowing separate piping for temperated water. If a solar storage tank is placed inside a heated room, a higher use factor is achieved, because heat losses contribute to the heating demand of the room. Ex-post heating of the DHW before tap is not solving the problem because at 60°C legionella removal needs at least 2 minutes time [22]. So a fresh water heat exchanger would be the better option for low temperature demand as it is the case with laundry machines, showers etc.. Heating to 55°C would add unnecessary losses to the system, even if this done only infrequently to decrease legionella growth. Electric heating power for ex-post heating is low enough, so during the day, excess power from a PV-installation could be used for heating. Preferably, DHW is preheated via heat exchanger in the solar storage avoiding legionella problems allowing using a floating tank temperature below the recommended 60°C [23]. The inclination of the collectors towards the horizontal plane should follow the demand. If absorptive cooling in summer dominates having high temperature demand, then a lower collector angle is recommended, for DHW steeper angles result in higher yields in winter.

Standard solar collectors have selective coating, reducing the heat dissipation during the night. Figure 7 shows the results of a Monte-Carlo (MC) simulation, programmed using Mathcad<sup>™</sup>. The program is varying randomly ambient and medium temperatures applying a sophisticated thermal model, including differential equations for the fins, comparing the specific cooling power per absorber area.



Temp. Difference Medium-Ambient Air in K

Figure 7 Cooling Power for copper and glazed EPDM absorbers – results from a MC-simulation

The interpolated cooling power curve was used in the authors Mathcad program modelling a collector-DHWtank-system, developed within the *i.sol.e*<sup>2</sup> project funded within the Austrian *Neue Energien 2020* programme. However, the temperature of the cooling medium was fixed at 6°C. From simulating one year of operation using data from Klagenfurt, Austria [24], the cooling energy amounts to 66,6 kWh per m<sup>2</sup> of the absorber and is in the range of 11 to 21% of the DHW yield, depending on the amount of DHW needed. This might be not sufficient for an economic operation, especially in urban centres, because nightly temperatures decrease less. Direct cooling using unglazed EPDM-absorbers would have higher cooling yields, and works best in combination with pool heating having low collector inclination angles. DHW operation seems almost impossible in this setting, even if heating during winter might profit from the large collector size necessary for pool heating because of legionella problems even with additional heating rising the DHW temperature. Polymeric absorbers namely EPDM and Polypropylene PP might be also used in a system consisting of a solar hot water tank and indirect pool heating with a non-freezing medium containing polypropyleneglycol [27] although pumping losses and pool heating efficiency will deteriorate in such a system.

For PV, the economy is good, if no energy storage is involved. By controlling electric appliances using electronic devices in a networked system, the investment is kept low. However, there is a lack of power demand for load management using appliances if larger PV instalments are planned. It might be necessary to feed in part of the power into the grid outside munerative feed in tariffs (FIT) contracts, if power-to-heat is no option. A test installation at the author's premises has validated that using excess PV-power for heating the DHW-tank requires little investment; even 230 V resistive AC-heating elements may be used for DC heating, using affordable voltage adaptation (variable buck boost converter). Concluding, larger PV instalments might only be recommended without good FIT, if larger electric appliances having steady power demand are present like presentation coolers in shops and self-service restaurants or dairy coolers with farmers. House owners providing larger roofs for PV instalments in the multi-kW range and having only a one household may depend from attractive FIT; smaller facilities not able to implement extensive load management may also install electrical storage. Intelligent interaction between demand side (appliances and solar controllers) on the one hand and the supply side (grid operator, boilers) on the other hand requires networking of devices. Single appliances might not be suited being included into demand side management. Opening the focus and introducing co-operation connecting several households is needed, asking also for a legal acceptance doing so.

Figure 8 shows the preconditions and results for three alternatives for strategic energy management with PV as example. The methodology used, analyses four dimensions: the benefit for the environment and users, and the acceptance of producers, grid operators and users. With zero interaction between the appliances and controller the solar use factor is lower compared to the variant with co-operating stakeholders offering open standardized interfaces. Frequency cut-out as it is standard with larger PV-installations, switching feed-in inverters off, will reduce solar use factors.



Figure 8 Four-dimensional assessment of connectivity variants

Therefore, a networked best effort scheme will allow keeping the solar use factors high, especially in hybrid PV and solar thermal systems and might gain acceptance with grid operators, and users. Lacking acceptance by OEMs requires however, the set-up of binding standards or inclusion of requirements in funding schemes pushing the implementation of open standardized interfaces.

## 7 Recommendations

Networking of existing DHW appliances with solar controllers is necessary, even if the DHW appliances are sold together with a fuel-converting unit, comprising a storage tank. Open standards based on affordable local communication networks would allow more market entries and retrofit solutions inserting intelligence into withe ware operation when using solar energy. It is however not necessary to introduce the overhead for a full-blown home automation, to achieve those improvements, but an existing system could be integrated.

A memorandum of understanding shall be issued by the white ware OEMs, defining a short list of communication channels and presenting business models validated in European research projects. The EE-Bus [25] and a wireless communication network extending the existing EN50523-1 Home Automation profile [26] are candidates. The list shall also focus on affordable and ubiquitous networks like WLAN (802.11n with energy management). Strategic energy management tasks need to be pushed more into the CENELEC TC59X/WG7–Smart house by producers of solar and HVAC-controllers. The focus energy saving and demand management needs more political and regulators support to prevail over automation and comfort issues leading sometimes to rebound effects.

Concerning the high pumping energy demand at low temperatures and the heat losses with enhanced hydraulic schemes the above mentioned direct cooling scheme might not generate enough revenues. Unglazed absorbers however might provide thermal activation for buildings, mostly for precooling. Solar thermal installations in Northern Europe are differing much to the ones sold in southern Europe and China being more costly. Adding more intelligence in terms of valves and piping to a networked system certainly increases the solar uses factor but in order to improve the return on investment synergies should be used, and high volume components pre-mounted into modules.

## 8 References

[1] Soleg Product description: PVH - Die intelligente Solar-Heizung;

http://www.soleg.de/fileadmin/user\_upload/DE/Downloads/soleg\_Prospekte/Soleg\_Broschuere\_PV\_Heizung \_d\_web.pdf

[2] SMA Product description Sunny Home Manager; http://www.sma.de/en/products/monitoring-systems/sunny-home-manager.html#Accessories-9238

[3] Short J.; Presentation: DynamicDemand; page 6; 2010 http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20100919181607/http://www.ensg.gov.uk/assets/joeshort.pdf

[4] EPS Solar product description EMP\*\*\*\*\*H Solar Controller; http://www.epsolarpv.com/en/index.php/Product/pro\_content/id/170/am\_id/135

[5] Technical Information - 20A Dual Battery Solar Charge Controller, Beijing Epsolar Technology CO., LTD.

[6] Product flyer ALBA Off Grid System, Cadoppi s.r.l. Montecalvole; www.albasystem.eu

[7] ESTIF; Solar Thermal Markets in Europe: Trends and Market Statistics 2012; June 2013; page 5; http://www.estif.org/fileadmin/estif/content/market\_data/downloads/Solar\_Thermal\_M%20arkets%202012.pd f

[8] Thür A., Breidler J., Kuhness G.; D2.4: Updated State of the Art Report Of Solar Combisystems; Analysed within CombiSol AEE - Institute for Sustainable Technologies (2010); page 82ff

[9] Product description alfa-mix switching device for washing machines; http://www.gruenspar.at/alfa-mix-waschmaschinen-vorschaltgerat-strom-sparen.html?gclid=CN7ItaH697cCFYhQ3godUkEAMQ

[10] Press release 03/2013 ISH 2013: Miele und Solvis präsentieren Solar-Wäschetrockner; http://www.solvis.de/allgemeines/presse/pressetexte/pressetexte-2013/032013-ish-solarwaeschetrockner.html [11] Aisa V.; Introduction to Wr@p Technology, a very low cost communication technology for connecting household appliances at zero cost; 2010

[12] a) miele@home, for a discussion see http://www.photovoltaikforum.com/smaanlagenueberwachung-f48/mieleathome-t87074-s30.html (in German)

b) Samsung Smart Home Wireless; http://finance.yahoo.com/news/samsung-sns-introduces-smart-home-030200254.html

c) serve@home from Siemens has been discontinued; http://www.eibhome.de/siemens\_KNX\_serve\_at\_home\_intelligente\_haushaltsgeraete.htm

[13] Cebrat G., Innovation in PV-Operated Shading and Heat Recovery, Paper/Poster EuroSun 2010, Graz Austria

[14] Dr. Specht et al.,•Storing renewable energy in the natural gas grid; FVEE•AEETopics 2009, updated 2011; page 73 ff.

[15] Wesselak, V.; Schabbach, Th.; Regenerative Energietechnik Springer 2009; page 247 (solarer Nutzungsgrad)

[16] Solar Efficiency Limits http://solarcellcentral.com/limits\_page.html

[17] Siemens-Partner Semprius erreicht Rekord-Wirkungsgrad bei hochkonzentrierenden Photovoltaik-Modulen; Erlangen 31. Januar 2012

http://www.siemens.com/press/de/pressemitteilungen/?press=/de/pressemitteilungen/2012/energy/solarhydro/ex201201024.htm

[18] Pink W., Solare Kühlung - Absorptionskältetechnologie im kleinen Leistungsbereich; panSol Eisenstadt, 2007, pager 13 ff.

[19] Obermayer J.; Pink W.; Rabl P.; Patent AT 12587 (U1) - Vorrichtung zum Einbringen bzw. Entnehmen eines flüssigen Mediums in einen bzw. aus einem Speicherbehälter; 2012

[20] ARM Technical Support Knowledge Articles http://infocenter.arm.com/help/index.jsp

[21] Ki-Young Jang; Shuai Hao; Anmol Sheth; Ramesh Govindan; Snooze: Energy Management in 802.11n WLANs; ACM CoNEXT 2011, December 6–9 2011, Tokyo, Japan

[22] Legionella and the prevention of legionellosis; ISBN 92 4 156297 8; World Health Organization 2007; page 30

[23] Legionnaires' disease, A guide for employers; Publication IACL27;Health and Safety Executive 2010; page 3

[24] Källblad K.; Climate data file for JUL2000 and DEROB-LTH; METEO\_to\_JUL.F90

[25] Plonus B.; E-Energy–von der Vision zur branchenübergreifenden Realisierung Ein Blick aus Sicht der Haushaltsgeräte; Miele; Berlin, 2. Februar 2010; page 12

[26] Borean C.; ZigBee Home Automation and Telecom Services TELECOM ITALIA; WSN in the real world–Barcelona-2011 page 12

[27] Beständigkeitstabelle; Buerkert 896009 / 09/04/ Bureau Schirle; 2004 http://www.buerkert.de/media/DE\_Bestaendigkeit.pdf

# The potential for domestic hot water tanks and hot-fill appliances to help balance power systems and reduce CO<sub>2</sub> emissions

## Daniel Saker<sup>1</sup>, Phil Coker, Maria Vahdati, Charles Carey

## <sup>1</sup> Technologies for Sustainable Built Environments, University of Reading

## Abstract

The European Union is committed to having a 20% share of renewable energy in the overall energy mix by the year 2020. Due to the variable nature of renewable energy supplies, more balancing services will be required to maintain the stability of electricity supply systems. One area attracting considerable attention is the potential to engage domestic customers in providing demand response services. In particular this includes managing electric water heater and wet appliance loads, which together in the UK account for 20% of total domestic electricity consumption.

This article demonstrates a method of time shifting domestic energy use without being disruptive to occupant's usual lifestyles or comfort. A number of dwellings using electric water heating had meters installed to characterise the diversity of usage. Further analysis estimates that more dynamic electric heater switching can reduce standing heat losses from the hot water cylinder compared to how off peak switches are currently operated. Additionally, by replacing conventional cold-fill wet appliances with a new range of hot-fill appliances, resistive heating load is shifted away from the appliance to a hot water cylinder. The utilisation of hot-fill for washing machines and dishwashers was found to reduce electricity consumption on average by 64% and 34% in each appliance respectively.

Findings from this study highlight that electricity and carbon savings can be realised in a significant proportion of UK households; both through the demand response of electric water heaters and by using hot-fill appliances. The relative importance of heat source and appliance usage is examined in order to inform how much electricity can be shifted or reduced in different domestic configurations. A Markov Chain occupancy based model has been developed to simulate the aggregated load curtailment potential from electric water heaters, as well as the thermal capacity of hot water tanks that enables load on response.

## Introduction

The European Union [EU] has committed itself to reaching a 20% share of renewable energy supply by the year 2020 [1]. To help meet this target the United Kingdom (UK) Government has set out a plan to replace a number of fossil fuel power plants with wind power generation, which will utilise the strong wind resource found across the UK [2]. It is predicted that by the year 2025 there will be 30GW of wind generation capacity on the GB system, which is equivalent to half of the current maximum system peak demand (~60 GW in winter) [3]. Greater volumes of variable wind generation will likely require additional tendering of balancing services and reduce grid inertia, thus presenting a new set of challenges for the National Electricity Transmission System Operator (NETSO), Distribution Network Operator (DNO), Supplier and Generator to deal with. Already the Great Britain NETSO National Grid plc has reported wind curtailment events and issues with re-dispatching generation to manage high wind generation [4]. In addition to these constraints there is also a need for reserve when wind generation is low or when there are large generation outages. Projections for the use of 'flexible' fossil fuel generation as a backup to wind power, has for instance led to media coverage that suggests large scale wind investment is uneconomical and will not reduce CO<sub>2</sub> emissions compared to using modern Combined Cycle Gas Turbines [5]. Such claims are based on the premise that wind requires far greater reserve sizing compared to conventional generation; however a report commissioned by UKERC finds that any extra reserve required will only be marginal [6]. This debate has importance because of the current dependency on fossil fuel derived balancing services, but as this paper discusses there are opportunities on the demand side that offers an alternative solution.

Unlike energy trading in the open market, ancillary i.e. balancing services are only procured by the NETSO in order to ensure the system remains stable and balanced. Aside from pumped storage hydro that has a total capacity of 2.8 GW and a round trip efficiency of 78% there is no large scale

energy storage on the GB power system, meaning conventionally generation or demand must be directly adjusted in response to system conditions [7]. It is estimated that at the moment over 95% of the ancillary services National Grid tender to balance the network come from electricity generation supply [4][5]. Typically these services are derived from either part loaded fossil fuel plant that provide 'spinning reserve' to stabilise frequency, or else by back up generation from Open Cycle Gas Turbines or diesel generators [8]. Therefore there is a significant efficiency penalty and high CO<sub>2</sub> emissions factor associated with the current mix of ancillary services. Annually the cost of balancing the GB system is currently ~300 hundred million GBP, it is expected with the planned changes to generation in the next decade that this cost will run to over 1 billion GBP[10].

Demand side response (DSR) describes the control of demand to balance the power system via ancillary services. DSR requires energy to be converted into its final form or curtailed, rather than being stored in an intermediary form as is the case with large scale energy storage, hence it has a relatively high efficiency. Crucially, DSR can offset the use of carbon intensive balancing services and reduces the requirement for network reinforcement to manage transmission constraints. In recent years the use of DSR by industrial and commercial firms has grown significantly due to the financial gains available on the ancillary services market. This has been partly thanks to the creation of demand aggregators that manage a collection of companies to reach the minimum threshold specified by the NETSO. The greater complexity associated with the domestic sector has limited the use of DSR in households, but as the largest and most volatile demand group, domestic DSR has the vast potential. Many literature sources have highlighted the importance of implementing domestic DSR, including GB's energy regulator Ofgem and GB NETSO National Grid [11][12].

The demand flexibility of individual household appliances is reported in literature, with the greatest potential being attributed to electric storage heaters, electric water heating (EWH), wet appliances and refrigeration. Estimates of the combined domestic DSR capability vary between sources; the Sustainability First group reports the readily available domestic DSR as circa 1 GW [9]. This is readily available because of the Radio Tele-Switching (RTS) technology installed in approximately 2 million households, which permits remote load switching of electric storage heaters and EWH via long wave radio. RTS was developed in the 1980s as a way of providing overnight demand for inflexible nuclear generation. Despite the changes in generation mix overtime, off peak tariffs using RTS still use static charging schedules that results in electric heating load simultaneously switching on.

This paper aims to explore the benefits that can be realised through more flexible remote load switching, with particular reference to RTS controlled EWH. A Markov Chain occupancy based model is presented that simulates EWH load with the UK Economy 10 tariff restriction (10 hour off-park charging schedule). Subsequently a new optimisation algorithm is introduced that attempts to 'flatten' EWH load and provide the greatest demand response availability to the NETSO. The feasibility of shifting washing machine and dishwasher electricity expended by conventional cold-fill water heating to the hot water tank using hot-fill is investigated as a way of enhancing thermal storage capacity and load flexibility. The use of hot-fill is also considered for households benefiting from a local renewable heat supply, which can result in significant  $CO_2$  mitigation.

## Domestic electric water heating demand

Electric resistance heaters are a convenient and efficient way of providing direct heat using electricity, however, in terms of  $CO_2$  intensity they are limited by what the electricity generation mix is at anytime. They are used in households for space heating via storage heaters and direct panel heaters and they are also used to heat water in hot water tanks and wet appliances.

### **Hot Water Storage**

The UK has a relatively old housing stock and a diverse mix of heating configurations for the provision of domestic hot water. Condensing gas fired boilers presently dominate the market thanks to their high efficiency and cheaper fuel costs, which at the moment outperform EWH in terms of carbon efficiency. Estimations from stock models suggest that up to 3 million households use EWH as their primary domestic hot water source [13]. As well as offering the potential to act as energy storage for grid connected renewables, hot water tanks can also facilitate the integration of micro renewable heat systems. The UK Government has recently initiated the Renewable Heat Incentive that aims to have 4 million households connected to a low carbon supply of hot water [2]. In the last decade there has been a surge in ownership of combination gas boilers that offer instantaneous hot water without the

need of a hot water tank, which may put at risk both the integration of renewable heat systems and the role that EWH can play for providing an ancillary service [16].

Heat Source		Current	Annual	Advantages	Disadvantages
		Stock	kWh input		
Gas	Combination (Condensing)	11,550,000 (6,312,000)	5,000	Easy to maintain, Less space required, Always hot water available, Low running costs	Low flow rates, Does not offer any storage opportunity, higher water waste, Poorer DHW output when space heating
	Regular boiler (Condensing)	10,910,000 (2,109,000)	4,840	Option for high flow rates, Relatively inexpensive	Finite storage, Maintenance issues, Space required
Ele	ectric Water Heaters	12,000,000 1	3,500 <sup>2</sup>	Low capitol cost, Easily maintained, Off-peak option	High running costs, Carbon intensive, Finite storage
Solar Thermal		135,000	-	Running cost free, Zero carbon source, Longevity	Suitable dwelling required, Need additional secondary heat source
Oil		900,000	9,000	Provides heat for dwellings off gas network	High running cost, Carbon intensive

Table 1: Summary of household sources of hot water in the UK [13–17]

The perceptible lack of literature on the characterising the energy consumption from individual EWHs in UK households deemed it necessary to run a field trial to gain new knowledge. Eight households using EWH for domestic hot water were recruited and suitable equipment was installed to monitor EWH load at a high resolution. Five of the households monitored used RTS controlled EWH that came on at off peak times specified by their tariff. The other households either had their heaters always switched on or else manually used a switch (or boost) to turn on and off power when they required it. This suggests that EWH load may appreciably contribute to evening peak demand on the system. Three of the households reported that because the overnight tariff was not providing them with enough hot water, they had opted to switch off the off-peak heating or else had changed tariffs. Results from the trial have shown that a combination of poor tank insulation as well as RTS times that are the inverse of hot water usage times, are leading to end users either not having the desired hot water or consuming more energy than they need to. By requesting diaries from willing participants it was possible to in some cases disaggregate energy consumption into event types. For example figure 1 shows a household that had the EWH switched on 24 hours a day making it possible to determine time of use and characterise different hot water events. Moreover, when occupants were vacant from their household, the 24 hour standing losses from the hot water tank were recorded. It was found that when this data was compared to manufacturers declared losses; they were consistently higher by 30-60%. Due to the small sample size, as well as other potentially extenuating factors, it is difficult to ascertain whether this is the same for the wider population. The trial results did approximately agree with national data that states the average EWH consumption per household is 3.500 kWh (table 1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Estimated value of storage tanks with an EWH installed; based on MTP report and DECC information. Majority of these installations are not used

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Based on homes using only EWH as the primary heating source, however, many homes use as secondary heating back up



Figure 1: Example of a 24 hour EWH heater profile monitored in situ, with the occupants informing hot water event types

#### Cold-fill only appliances

Statistics from table 2 highlight the fact that washing machines and dishwashers are a commonly found appliance in UK households that are used by occupants frequently. Equipped with electric heaters rated between 1.8 - 2.2 kW they represent two of the most power intensive domestic appliances. Thanks to EU regulations and technology improvements modern washing machines and dishwashers have become much more energy efficient than their predecessors. It is estimated that 75% of UK washing machines in use are now at least 'A rated' [13] (EU labelling scheme requires all new appliances to have an efficiency rating between G and A; where A is most efficient). Nevertheless, washing machine and dishwasher energy consumption remains limited by the fact that these appliances must provide the heat for incoming cold water internally i.e. they are cold-fill only. Data from DECC has shown that the electricity consumption per appliance has reached a plateau since 2008; hence there is no reason to expect that the energy efficiency of wet appliances will significantly improve in the foreseeable future under current legislation. The use of cold-fill appliances limits the DSR capability to direct load switches, either activated by the occupier or by a utility. A recent project named SMART-A involving 9 partners across the EU, focused on this direct appliance control approach [18]. In the SMART-A trial, occupants were requested to set finish times on their washing machines and dishwashers, thus allowing the utility or NETSO to run the wash program at low demand periods or else interrupt during high demand periods. However, the findings did not provide robust evidence that occupants wanted to change their habits. There is also safety and hygiene complications associated with the remote switching of appliances that are may limit its use.

	Washing Machine	Dishwasher	Total
Number of million units [19]	22,4	9,41	31,8
Average number of cycles [20][21]	260	246	406
Average kWh/cycle	0.75	1.39	2.14
Total kWh per household	195	342	537
Total GWh/year UK [19]	4,368	3,220	7,588
Average Lifespan [21][22]	12 years	13 years	

Table 2: Summary	v of washing	machine and	dishwasher	use in the	UK
Table 2. Outlinal	y or waariing	machine and	uisiiwasiici		01
One solution that is being pursued in order to curtail electricity demand from washing machines is the use of low or cold water temperature programs. For example, many modern washing machines now facilitate a cold water option and detergent manufactures offer products that are designed to work with them to clean effectively. Aesthetically and in terms of performance, the results are encouraging; however, there have been concerns over the effects on hygiene. Research conducted by Terpstra, Bloomfield, Linke, and Lakdawala has suggested that washing at lower temperatures can lead to the survival of various types of bacteria [23][24][25][26]. There is also the question as to whether people in the UK are willing to adapt to cold water washes.

To assess the DSR opportunity presented by washing machines and dishwashers, it is necessary to characterise the appliances' resource usage as to determine the amount of electrical load that can be managed. This was initially achieved by monitoring typical modern appliances in a controllable laboratory environment. Under guidance from the European accredited appliance testing organisation Intertek, energy, water and temperature were recorded at a minutely resolution. Figure 2 displays one of the four selectable dishwasher program's that were measured. In standardised conditions the total consumption figures were in line with those stated by the manufacturer.



Figure 2: Characterisation of a 60°C dishwasher programme

# Methodology to manage loads

A strategy has been developed with the aim of maximising the DSR resource available from hot water tanks, without intervention from occupants or having an adverse affect on their normal usage and expectations. Figure 3 shows a schematic of how the system may operate to lower  $CO_2$  emissions in an efficient manner. By connecting washing machines and dishwashers to a hot water supply it can help integrate intermittent renewable energy both locally connected (e.g. solar thermal systems) and connected to the grid via EWH. The latter is made possible through a load control mechanism, which can be either an existing RTS or potentially a new smart meter system. Whilst it is recognised that renewable heat systems can provide greater  $CO_2$  emission reductions than grid electricity, the focus here is on the latter because of the limited take up of renewable heat systems in the UK at the moment and the more immediate need for low carbon ancillary services on the network.

#### Flexible electric water heater control

Fundamental to the proposed strategy is the more optimised use of EWH through more flexible load switching. A significant proportion of GB households actively use EWH and many of these households are on time of use tariffs, however, they are currently unutilised for providing ancillary services. Given the current GB grid carbon intensity, Government policy is focusing attention on delivering  $CO_2$  savings by disincentivising EWH and incentivising the use of efficient gas fired boilers and renewable heat systems. It is feasible that solar thermal installations will surge due to their affordability and the proposed financial incentives being offered by the Government. However, these hot water systems will need auxiliary heat for a large portion of the year and are often under utilised in summer when supply exceeds demand. The extra demand created by hot-fill appliances together with the flexibility of EWHs therefore has wider advantages.

# **Demand-Side Management**





#### Hot-fill washing machines

Washing machines using both hot-fill and cold-fill (commonly referred to as 'hot-fill') were the norm in the UK up until the 1990s. Appliance manufacturers removed the hot water valve for a number of reasons. Firstly, removing the hot-fill valve saved production and maintenance costs. Secondly, at the time boilers were less efficient than they are now and coupled with the dead leg pipe losses to the appliances, there were question marks over the energy efficiency of using hot-fill. Thirdly, at the time these appliances used more hot water for washing than modern machines, which also meant there was less hot water availability for other uses such as showers and baths. This last point was also more relevant in the past when tank insulation was less common and fewer households used pumps or electric showers. The argument for hot-fill vs cold-fill is largely dependent on the domestic configuration they are installed with and in particular to the hot water piping and hot water source.

Working with manufacturer Beko an investigation was carried out into the potential of a new range of hot-fill appliances for the UK market. Starting with existing models that are produced and sold in Turkey, a number of laboratory tests looked in detail at the performance of these appliances. Subsequently, alterations were made to the control software to optimise the benefits of hot-fill intake. This included the provision that the wash temperature is always reached from a lower temperature. In contrast to older legacy appliances that fed cold and hot water simultaneously, logic has been built in that ensures delicate clothes are not subjected to high temperatures.

Results in the laboratory shows that using hot-fill typically reduced appliance energy consumption by between 60-80%. In order to measure the baseline savings from using hot-fill, a 55°C hot water supply was used to represent a typical domestic supply and was compared to using cold-fill only by repeating the cycle with the hot inlet valve switched off. The cold water supply was recorded at 20°C, which is approximately the maximum value it reaches in the UK (in winter temperatures often fall to 5°C). The manageable load was measured in terms of the EWH only as table 3 shows. The results highlight that no electrical heating was required for either 30°C or 40°C programs.

#### Hot-fill dishwashers

Like washing machines, dishwashers are sold in the UK to be used with a cold fill supply. To test the performance of using hot-fill with dishwashers Beko supplied a model that was designed to take up to a 60°C hot water supply. Table 3 shows what baseline of savings can be expected. The percentage of savings are not as great as is found for the washing machine, however, the magnitude of savings are similar. This is because the electric heater is used to heat the thermal mass of the crockery, which aids cleaning performance and faster drying. Some existing UK dishwasher models present the opportunity to simply swap the cold-feed with a hot fill supply. Nevertheless in the future would be recommendable to have both a cold-fill and hot-fill valve to optimise wash performance and efficiency.

			Selection		
	30°C	40°C	50°C	60°C	70°C
Dishwasher Cold-Fill					
heater time on wash cycle (mins)			12.4	21.1	25.0
heater time on hot rinse (mins)			15.0	12.5	14.8
Percentage of total consumption from heating			90.1%	96.4%	93.9%
Dishwasher Hot-Fill					
heater time on wash cycle (mins)			8.7	16.3	17.0
heater time on hot rinse (mins)			5.8	5	7.1
Hot water consumed (litres)			16	12	19
Total reduction in heating time (mins)			12.9	12.3	15.7
Washing machine Cold-Fill					
heater time on wash cycle	5.0	9.2	20.9	21.6	
Percentage of total consumption from heater	38.1%	58.7%	72.0%	69.6%	
Washing machine Hot & Cold-Fill					
heater time on wash cycle (mins)	0	0	4.1	6.5	
Hot water consumed (litres)	10	12	14	14	
Total reduction in heating time (mins)	5.0	9.2	16.8	15.1	

Table 3: Appliance immersion heater time as a function of wash selection and fill type under standard conditions; all washing machine programs were cotton

#### **Domestic configurations**

A critical parameter in the value and efficiency of using hot-fill is the volume of dead-leg between the hot water source and the appliance. There is both the direct loss of heat associated with standing water in the pipes to consider, as well as the issue of cooled down water entering the hot water valve. As discussed previously an optimised appliance control board can ensure that in washing machines the balance between cold and hot water is monitored and adjusted. However with the selection of higher temperature dishwasher and washing machine programs, the volume and temperature of standing water becomes more important because of the limited volume of water the appliances intake. Table 4 presents the scale of energy loss that can be expected through using hot-fill given the normal range of domestic hot water pipe configurations. Also shown is the minimum efficiency of using typical hot-fill programmes as compared to cold-fill only, in terms of the absolute heat energy lost by hot water cooling in pipes. This therefore assumes that the cold water temperature is at 20°C and all the heat left from the standing hot water is subsequently not useful. In reality efficiencies will often be higher than those stated because of lower cold water temperatures and the potential for standing hot water to be used for other events (sink, shower etc). Furthermore it is also assumed that pipes are not insulated, yet insulating pipes can significantly improve the benefits of hot-fill and reduction of pipe standing losses in the household.

The majority of UK households have 15mm diameter pipe installed for domestic hot water. Pipe lengths between appliances and the hot water tank vary between each household and table 4 indicates the normal range that can be expected. An estimation of the pipe length to the appliance can be made if the pipe diameter is known and the time it takes fresh hot water to get to the kitchen sink is measured (assuming appliances are in the kitchen). The key factors in determining whether or not hot-fill will save  $CO_2$  depend predominately on the standing pipe volumes (shown in table 4) and the carbon intensity of the heat source. If the energy used to heat water in the tank comes from a low carbon source the acceptable efficiency of hot water delivery can be lower. If we use an example of a typical UK household configuration that has a gas boiler with 85% efficiency, a hot water pipe diameter of 15mm and a length of 4m to the appliance, it can be estimated that 46% and 30% of the

 $CO_2$  released per dishwasher and washing machine usage can be reduced respectively<sup>3</sup>. It is therefore plausible that a large proportion of UK households can reduce  $CO_2$  emissions by using hot-fill appliances in their current configuration.

Pipe length to appliance	2m	4m	10m	25m	25m (with
Pipe diameter					pump)
10mm copper					
Volume (litres of water)	0.122	0.244	0.610	1.53	1.65
WM 40°C min efficiency	62.3%	61.7%	59.9%	55.8%	55.3%
DW 60°C min efficiency	82.5%	80.9%	76.4%	67.1%	74.0%
15mm copper					
Volume (litres of water)	0.282	0.564	1.41	3.53	3.81
WM 40°C min efficiency	61.5%	60.1%	56.3%	48.6%	47.8%
DW 60°C min efficiency	80.4%	76.9%	68.1%	53.0%	63.9%
22mm copper					
Volume (litres of water)	0.642	1.284	3.21	8.03	8.87
WM 40°C min efficiency	59.8%	56.9%	49.7%	34.1%	36.2%
DW 60°C min efficiency	76.0%	69.3%	54.8%	48.5%	48.4%

Table 4: Hot water distribution efficiency from pipe standing losses when using hot-fill appliances in different domestic configurations

# Hot & cold fill appliances trial

A collaborative project between utility SSE, consultancy Sciotech Projects and appliance manufacturer Beko was setup to investigate the benefits of using new hot-fill appliances. In total 14 washing machines and 11 dishwashers were installed alongside monitoring equipment in fourteen households in order to record resource usage at high resolution. Ten of the households were part of a new net zero carbon homes development (awarded code for sustainable homes level 6) that benefited from a centralised hot water supply fed by a ground source heat pump, evacuated tube solar collectors and a biomass boiler. The other four terraced homes formed part of a retrofit project to reduce  $CO_2$  emissions by 80%, where the hot water supply came from a communal  $12m^2$  flat plate solar collector with auxiliary water heating from a gas boiler. The objectives of the field trial was to measure time of use, how much end use electricity could be displaced by using hot-fill in situ and whether occupants noticed any significant differences in performance.

In the first 6 months of the field trial the appliances were fed with cold water only to represent the conventional scenario resource consumption. In the subsequent 6 month period hot-fill replaced cold-fill for the dishwasher and the hot water valve was opened on the washing machine. It was appreciated that occupants may change their habits with knowledge that hot-fill was being used, but the trial results as well as a post trial survey indicated this was not the case. From a DSR perspective one of the key interests was when the appliances were being operated during the day. Figure 4 shows a histogram of when appliance programs were started in half hour intervals and includes a sample size of 2366 washing machine and dishwasher washes. It can be seen that these appliances significantly contribute to peak demand, which is typically registered as 07:00-09:00 and 17:00-20:00. Determining the wash temperature was achieved by installing a temperature sensor (thermocouple type K) in the drain house of each appliance. Previous studies into the distribution of washing machine program followed by  $60^{\circ}$ C [27][28]. Albeit from a small sample size, our results suggest that occupants are favouring lower temperature washes, which may be as a result of green marketing campaigns and improvements to wash performance at these lower temperatures.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This calculation assumes a 40C cotton washing machine program and a 60C dishwasher program have been selected. Carbon intensity figures of 0.185 kg/kWh for gas and 0.520 kg/kWh electricity are also assumed



Figure 4: Histogram of aggregated dishwasher and washing machine time of use over trial period



#### Figure 5: breakdown of temperature selection by occupants in 14 households during the trial period

The 50°C 'Eco' dishwasher program was the least favoured option for occupants due to its longer operation time and poorer wash performance. The post trial survey also indicated that there were no noticeable changes in wash performance with the use of hot-fill. This was an important finding, particularly with the use of hot water for 30°C washing machine programs and suggests that the new control software algorithm is successful.

Table 5: Summary s	statistics of washing	ng machine and	d dishwasher	usage with	and without	using hot-fill
across 5 households	s that had a hot wa	ter supply temp	perature betwo	een 50C-56C		

Appliance	Average weekly usage	Weighted average consumption per use cold fill only	Weighted average consumption per use with hot-fill	Potential annual CO <sub>2</sub> savings
Dishwasher	3.8	1.334 kWh	0.835 kWh	51 kgCO <sub>2eq</sub>
Washing Machine	7.3	0.485 kWh	0.175 kWh	61 kgCO <sub>2eq</sub>
Combined Total	11.1	1.819 kWh	1.010 kWh	112 kgCO <sub>2eq</sub>

It is evident from the field trial results that hot-fill appliance electricity savings vary in proportion to the hot water supply temperature. Initially all ten zero carbon homes were fed with domestic hot water

between  $33^{\circ}C - 38^{\circ}C$  in order to optimise the performance of the heat pump, however, one household was re-commissioned with a standalone hot water tank using EWH to deliver hot water temperatures up to  $55^{\circ}C$ . The remaining four households were fed by a communal hot water tank that delivered an average temperature of  $54^{\circ}C$ . To appreciate the savings that can be delivered by using hot-fill in typical configurations, only the cumulative results from the five households with higher hot water temperatures are shown in table 5. The total number of wash programs in this sample was 1785, with approximately half of these being hot-fill. A preliminary test for the equality of variances indicates the variances of the groups were unequal; therefore a two sample t-test assuming unequal variances was conducted on both datasets. With the use of hot-fill for the dishwasher there is a 95% confidence that average electricity saving per use is between 0.465 kWh (35%) and 0.528 kWh (40%). The addition of hot-fill for the washing machine has a 95% confidence of saving per use between 0.303 kWh (62%) and 0.350 kWh (72%). This shows hot-fill can be used to significantly reduce or manage electric load from the appliance. Using the trial results and assuming a true zero carbon source of hot water, over 100kgCO<sub>2</sub> can be annually cut from households using a washing machine and dishwasher.

# Aggregated demand response potential

Using an occupancy based Markov Chain approach a tool has been created to predict the DSR potential EWH can provide in households connected to the GB network. Figure 6 defines the model processes that are used to generate a simulation of EWH load at a one minute resolution over a 24 hour period. The model defines the number of occupants as the initial condition for each household, which is stochastically determined using statistics regarding the GB population. The size of hot water store, insulation type and hot water distribution are determined as a 'property' parameter. Using previous trial data and the data reported by the BRE, hot water demand profiles are assigned to each occupant and the household [17]. This leads to the calculation of initial tank temperature and the control parameter defines what the hot water tank thermostat is set to as well as what the tariff constraints are. For example a household on a particular off peak tariff with RTS may only have their EWH on between the times scheduled by their utility. For simplicity the model assumes the tank is perfectly mixed and calculates the tank water temperature based on the hot water demand, standing losses and the control parameter, which are all at one minute intervals. Once the load profile is generated the process is iteratively completed for any number of households.



Figure 6: Overview of household model to determine EWH load profile

Electricity suppliers offer a number of off peak tariffs that are predominately designed for customers that have installed electric storage heaters and EWH. One of these, which is referred to as 'Economy 10', is characterised by three on periods, usually between 01:00-05:00, 13:00-16:00 and 20:00-22:00. Unlike similar tariffs that only offer overnight heating, these provide afternoon and evening times, which can provide a better customer service and greater DSR service availability. Households using Economy 10 and EWH may have a variety of metering configurations, here an underlying assumption is made that households have an RTS meter with a separate controllable relay switch for EWH. At the moment broadcasts on long wave radio via the Central Teleswitch Control Unit act to control different groups of RTS meters that each have a unique code. In order to prevent transient voltages on the

network, RTS meters are grouped so that they come on +/- 3 minutes of their allotted time. Figure 7 shows a simulation of 500 EWH given the these various restrictions.



Figure 7: Simulation of as is EWH off peak switching with 500 households on a 10 hour tariff

Naturally as EWHs are all front charged, the aggregation of load has a large peak then will decrease over the allocated time windows as individual hot water tanks reach their thermostat temperature. From both an energy efficiency and ancillary service point of view this is inefficient and unsatisfactory, because firstly end user hot water demand is generally just after the charge windows, and secondly for the NETSO there is less load diversity to call upon at different times. Figure 8 shows how a more optimised i.e flattened RTS schedule can provide more distributed ancillary service availability. This is achieved by delaying or back charging a proportion of RTS meters, based on what their average charge time is historically. Since there is a risk that they may not reach the thermostat temperature in their given window an offset time is also factored in to prevent this happening. A second plot on figure 8 highlights what happens if a new simulation is generated with 500 households that use hot-fill appliances. It can be seen that whilst the trend is very similar there is noticeable additional load in the evening window.



#### Figure 8: Simulation of 500 EWHs with delay timer logic included; with and without the inclusion of hotfill to appliances

By re-scheduling the RTS times and providing more distributed load, aggregated EWHs can offer a more improved service for the NENETSO to utilise. Figure 9 includes a conventional load curtailment

event in which the EWHs are switched off for 15 minutes at 14:00, which in reality could be the result of a rapid ramp in demand e.g. TV pickup. Logic is added to the radio broadcast to randomly switch EWHs back on over the course of a subsequent 15 minute period, which avoids creating a new transient in voltage. The dashed plot on figure 9 shows how the aggregated storage capacity of EWH varies throughout the day. As greater levels of variable and distributed generation are added to the grid the requirement for switching load on becomes more valuable. Hot water tanks with EWH can provide an efficient resource for storing energy all year round. It is therefore seen how remote switches from either RTS meters or future smart meter systems can enable a highly dynamic domestic DSR resource to compete with other existing ancillary services.



Figure 9: Simulation of the load and energy storage capacity of 500 EWHs with the inclusion of a load curtailment event

# Conclusions

A large section of this report has been dedicated to the investigation of hot-fill appliances; both in their ability to reduce carbon emissions directly, as well as their ability to enhance DSR flexibility. The results have indicated that hot-fill washing machines and dishwashers when compared to their cold-fill counterparts can reduce electricity consumption by 64% and 37% respectively. This is particularly of interest to many households that already have renewable heat systems installed or the many more households that will do thanks to the Governments renewable heat incentives. Also noteworthy is the fact that many households with efficient gas boilers may also save carbon by switching to hot-fill.

Presently the GB NETSO depends almost entirely on supply based ancillary services to keep the electricity grid in balance. It is predicted that the volumes of ancillary service required will increase as more renewable energy is connected to the grid. The domestic RTS system offers a viable method to balancing the grid that can potentially reduce carbon emissions by replacing the need for existing and future supply side ancillary services. Engaging with end users in a trial monitoring EWH load has further shown that more dynamic EWH switching may improve energy efficiency, customer satisfaction and therefore reduce the requirement for user activated EWH that appears to contribute to peak evening demand.

# Acknowledgements

This work was completed under EPSRC grant number EP/G037787/1 as part of technologies for sustainable built environments (TSBE) centre. In particular I would like to thank those at SSE Plc who were involved with the zero carbon homes development at Greenwatt Way. Peabody Housing Association for allowing us to be part of their retrofitting project and Sciotech Projects for their help with commissioning the monitoring equipment. I would also like to thank Beko Plc for supplying us with the appliances for this project.

#### References

- [1] European Commission, "Directive 2009/28/EC." [Online]. Available: http://ec.europa.eu/energy/renewables/targets\_en.htm.
- [2] HM Government, "The Carbon Plan: Delivering our low carbon future," December, 2011.
- [3] National Grid, "Update June 2011: Electricity Transmission Networks in 2020 Operating the Electricity Transmission Networks in 2020," 2011.
- [4] S. Matthews (National Grid presentation), "Management of the GB system overnight," 2012.
- [5] L. Gray, [Online]. Available: http://www.telegraph.co.uk/earth/earthnews/9000760/Wind-poweris-expensive-and-ineffective-at-cutting-CO2-say-Civitas.html.
- [6] R. Gross, T. Green, "The Costs and Impacts of Intermittency: An assessment of the evidence on the costs and impacts of intermittent generation on the British electricity network," 2006.
- [7] "Elexon website." [Online]. Available: http://www.elexon.co.uk/.
- [8] L. Macleod (National Grid presentation), "Overview of National Grid's balancing services" 2012.
- [9] B. M. Pooley, J. Ward, and G. Owen, "Sustainability First GB Electricity Demand realising the resource Interim Report - Paper 3 What Demand Side Services Could Customers Offer in 2010?," 2012.
- [10] The House of Lords, "Economic Affairs Fourth Report: The Economics of Renewable Energy," 2008.
- [11] Ofgem, "Demand-Side Response: A discussion paper," Nov. 2011.
- [12] The National Grid, "Reserve Review Procuring Reserve for the next decade and beyond Pre-Consultation Document," 2010.
- [13] Department of Energy and Climate Change, "Energy Consumption In The United Kingdom: Data Tables," 2012.
- [14] J. I. Utley and L. D. Shorrock, BRE, "Domestic energy fact file 2008," 2008.
- [15] I. Cooper, Department of Energy and Climate Change, "Great Britain's housing energy fact file," p. 118, 2011.
- [16] Market Transformation Programme, "BNDH KO01: Domestic Central Heating Government Standards Evidence Base 2009: Key Outputs," 2009.
- [17] Energy Monitoring Company, EST, "Measurement of Domestic Hot Water Consumption in Dwellings," 2008.
- [18] C. Timpe, "Smart Domestic Appliances Supporting the System Integration of Renewable Energy," 2009.
- [19] Defra, "Saving Energy Through Better Products and Appliances," 2009.
- [20] Market Transformation Programme, "BNW01: Combined Laundry: Government Standards Evidence Base 2009: Key Inputs," 2010.

- [21] Market Transformation Programme, "BNW DW01: Dishwashers Government Standards Evidence Base 2009: Key Inputs," 2010.
- [22] Market Transformation Programme, "IBNW23: Innovation briefing note on domestic laundry washing products and services," 2007.
- [23] P. M. J. Terpstra, "Interference Between Hygiene Properties and Energy Saving for Low Energy European Laundering Processes," *EEDAL 2006 Conference Proceedings*, pp. 927-931.
- [24] S. F. Bloomfield, M. Exner, C. Signorelli, and K. J. Nath, "The infection risks associated with clothing and household linens in home and everyday life settings, and the role of laundry," *International Scientific Forum on Home Hygiene*, no. April, pp. 1-43, 2011.
- [25] S. Linke, S. Gemein, S. Koch, and J. Gebel, "Orientierende Studien zur Inaktivierung von Staphylococcus aureus beim Wäscheprozess," 2011.
- [26] N. Lakdawala, J. Pham, M. Shah, and J. Holton, "Effectiveness of low-temperature domestic laundry on the decontamination of healthcare workers' uniforms.," *Infection control and hospital epidemiology: the official journal of the Society of Hospital Epidemiologists of America*, vol. 32, no. 11, pp. 1103-8, Nov. 2011.
- [27] S. Faberi, W. Mebane, R. Esposito, R. Stamminger, R. Scialdoni, and M. Presutto, "Preparatory Studies for Eco-design Requirements of EuPs. Lot 14: Domestic washing machines & dishwashers," 2007.
- [28] T. Fawcett, K. Lane, and B. Boardman, "Lower Carbon Futures for European Households: Appendix F," 2000.

# Impact of Residential Demand Response on the Integration of Intermittent Renewable Generation into the Smart Grid

# Pedro S. Moura\*, Gregorio L. López\*\*, José I. Moreno\*\*, Aníbal T. de Almeida\*

\* Institute of Systems and Robotics, University of Coimbra, Coimbra, Portugal \*\* Telematic Engineering Department, Carlos III University, Madrid, Spain

# Abstract

The deployment of renewable generation infrastructures, such as photovoltaic and wind power, have been leading to a dramatically increase on the variability and randomness of energy generation, thus increasing the complexity of the grid management. At the same time, the energy consumption in households has been steadily growing during the last few years, driving the development of real-time monitoring and control systems to achieve energy and costs savings. Such systems could also be used to ensure optimization objectives and to improve the grid reliability, changing the demand profile to match the renewable generation.

The European FP7 project ENERsip has developed a novel energy monitoring and control system integrated at the edge of the service-oriented M2M-based platform for energy efficiency within energy-positive neighbourhoods which provides the required communications and processing capabilities to operate DR (Demand Response) programs with the aim of ensuring the generation and consumption matching. This paper presents the architecture and DR services ensured by ENERsip, as well as the potential impacts of such DR system to ensure the proper integration of renewable generation into the electric grid.

#### 1. Introduction

The efforts to reduce GHG (greenhouse gases) emissions related to electricity generation have been leading to a fast increase in the deployment of renewable generation, in particular photovoltaic and wind power. Such renewable energy sources are being deployed not only as bulk generation facilities but also as distributed local generation facilities connected to the electricity distribution grids or even to private consumption infrastructures [1]. However, wind and solar generated electricity presents characteristics that differ from conventional energy sources. The output of solar and wind power is driven by environmental conditions inherently variable and outside the control of the generators or the system operators. Additionally, supply of power from wind turbines is stochastic in nature and the actual power is more or less proportional to the third power of the wind velocity. The wind output presents large seasonal variations between summer and winter and the variations are also present on shorter time scales, such as on hourly basis. Unlike conventional capacity, photovoltaic and mainly wind-generated electricity cannot be reliably dispatched or perfectly forecasted, and exhibits significant temporal variability. As a result, the proper integration of renewables into the electric grid represents currently a major challenge and new tools are required to ensure the grid reliability.

At the same time, the energy consumption in EU (European Union) households has been steadily growing during the last few years due to the widespread utilization of new types of loads and the requirement of higher levels of comfort and services [2]. Indeed, the electricity consumption breakdown in EU households was recently characterized [3], showing that the loads with the highest share in the households' consumption are lighting and cold appliances (refrigerators and freezers). HVAC (Heating, Ventilating, and Air Conditioning) loads have also shown high consumptions and an increasing penetration rate in households. Other loads, such as washing and drying appliances, have a non-optimized operation, presenting high energy consumption at peak hours (Figure 1). However, if properly controlled, such loads can be used as a DR (Demand Response) resource [4]. Washing and drying appliances can be rescheduled to periods of lower energy consumption (thus flattening the demand curve) or of higher energy generation coming from renewable sources (thus matching consumption with renewable generation and so reducing GHG emissions. The thermal loads (cold appliances, HVAC, and water heating) can be interrupted during shorts periods of time, without major reductions of service quality, to avoid the most unbalanced situations between generation and consumption, compensating the effects of the variability and randomness of the renewable resources availability.



Figure 1: Load profile of an EU average household [3]

As far as security of supply is concerned, the most severe problems due to the wind power intermittence occur in the peak load hours, since the largest part of the available system resources to deal with the intermittence is already used and a sudden reduction of the wind power production can have critical consequences on the system reliability. Thus, instead of acting in the supply side, to avoid the most severe intermittent situations, Demand-Side Management measures can be promoted to achieve consumption reductions and mainly to reduce the peak load. However, in cases of high wind power penetration, the energy consumption reduction during the peak hours may not be enough, because due to the big production variations, such impact in the long term will not solve the supply-demand balance. In such situations it will be very important to have DR technologies to "force" consumption reductions at near real time, in the precise moment in which the critical situations occur [5]. Therefore, the domestic appliances in large scale could have a key role on the integration of intermittent renewable generation.

The case studies of DR in residential and commercial buildings have shown very good results, but with only very limited examples due to the lack of technology [6]. The available commercial solutions provide limited information and control capabilities to the users, with the absence of sub-metering capabilities and local generation monitoring. The communications services to allow information sharing between users and utilities are also limited, not ensuring the required conditions to operate real-time DR programs [7].

To solve these problems, several research and development projects and initiatives are currently underway. This paper is centred on the ENERsip project [8], which aims at developing an innovative ICT (Information and Communications Technology) platform that provides the required communications and processing capabilities to ensure real-time local generation and consumption matching within energy-positive neighbourhoods (i.e., neighbourhoods with high penetration of distributed generation based on renewables). Thus, the main objective of this paper is to present such platform along with the assessment of the potential impacts of residential DR programs to ensure the proper integration of wind power into the electric grid.

The remainder of the paper is structured as follows. Section 2 presents the architecture of the ENERsip system, putting special emphasis on the infrastructure to guarantee the required bidirectional communications for DR. The Energy Services ensured by the ENERsip system are presented in Section 3, highlighting how they can ensure the implementation of reliable DR programs. Section 4 presents a case study where DR actions were applied through simulation in the days with most significant wind output variations. Finally, Section 5 summarizes the paper, emphasizing its main conclusions.

# 2. Demand Response System Architecture

Figure 2 provides an overview of the system architecture designed to meet the requirements presented in the previous section [9]. Such system architecture is composed of four domains, namely the User Domain, the Information System Domain, the Neighbourhood Domain, and the Building Domain. The User Domain encompasses the UII (User Intuitive Interfaces), which are basically webbased interfaces that allow users to interact in a human-friendly way with the platform (e.g., subscribing some specific appliances to DR programs).

The Information System Domain is where the energy intelligence of the platform resides. It comprises two modules: the PS-BI (Power Saving – Business Intelligence) and the UAP (User Application Platform). The PS-BI is responsible for processing all the consumption and generation data and making the appropriate decisions so that they both are always balanced. The UAP works as a kind of middleware, adapting and serving the information coming from the PS-BI to the UII and vice versa.

The ENERsip system architecture tightly relies on a hybrid and hierarchical M2M communications infrastructure that enables the required real time bidirectional communications between the huge number of devices to be monitored and controlled and the information system and end-users. As it is shown in Figure 2, the Neighbourhood Domain comprises the core of such a M2M communications infrastructure; whereas the Building Domain represents – in ETSI (European Telecommunications Standards Institute) terminology - its "capillaries".

The Neighbourhood Domain is composed of an M2M Platform and a network of CNTRs (Concentrators). The M2M Platform routes commands coming from the Information System to the appropriate CNTR and forwards data coming from the CNTRs to the Information System. Every single CNTR manages, in turn, a set of consumption and generation infrastructures through the so-called ADR EPs (Automatic Demand Response End Points). Thus, the CNTRs forward consumption and generation data coming from the ADR EPs to the M2M Platform and route commands coming from the M2M Platform to the appropriate ADR EPs.



Figure 2: System architecture [9]

The Building Domain comprises the so-called I-BECI (In-Building Energy Consumption Infrastructures) and I-BEGI (In-Building Energy Generation Infrastructures), which represent the inhouse consumption monitoring and control system and the distributed generation facilities, respectively. The I-BECI architecture is composed of the following devices: the Plugs, the IR (Infrared) Box, the NILM (Non-Intrusive Load Monitoring) module, the Comfort Sensors, and the ADR EP-C [10].

The Plugs work both as sensors and actuators. On the one side, the Plugs act on the power supply of the appliances by cutting it OFF or ON. On the other side, the Plugs measure the electricity

consumption of those appliances and send it to the Information System, allowing accurate monitoring and abnormal behaviour identification. Thus, the Plugs represent a key piece to operate DR programs since they allow having a very accurate view of the consumption (not just at household level, but at the appliance level) and, at the same time, they allow acting on the power supply of those appliances subscribed to such programs. In addition, the Plugs allow the integration of legacy appliances into the in-house monitoring and control system right away, thus enabling energy efficiency and DR before the "smart appliances" come to the market.

The IR Box enables managing the IR-controlled appliances remotely. The IR Box represents a key element of the I-BECI, since it allows remotely controlling HVAC systems (which represent one of the main opportunities to reduce considerably the electricity consumption within households, as it has already been mentioned) and multimedia devices such as TVs or DVDs (which present standby consumptions that mean a relevant percentage of the overall electricity consumption). The IR Box constitutes an important bridge technology, since it allows integrating the huge number of already installed IR-controlled equipment into the I-BECI seamlessly (each IR Box can control all the IR-controlled appliances of the same room). It also ensures a higher degree of control, since with the IR Box it is possible to control the temperature of HVAC systems and not just the ON/OFF control of the appliances as with the Plugs.

The NILM module also represents a key element to enable backward compatibility, since it allows identifying (based on electrical signature) the appliances which are running, even if they are not equipped with a plug with sensor and communication capabilities. The theoretical NILM approach determines when a specific appliance is turned ON based just on its electrical signature, by applying non-supervised Digital Signal Processing methods to the overall electrical signal [11]. However, due to the complexity of such methods, in the ENERsip project the user will inform the NILM module about the appliance which has just been turned ON in order to help it to learn its electrical signature, based on the data received from each plug. The importance of the NILM for operating DR programs is that it helps having a more accurate estimation of the consumption at any time.

The Comfort Sensors measure different environmental variables, such as temperature, relative humidity or CO<sub>2</sub> concentration, which are taken into account when achieving energy savings without compromising the users' comfort levels. For instance, a temperature sensor can be used to control the HVAC equipment efficiently and to integrate it into DR programs by providing feedback on the actual temperature in a room, allowing actuating on the HVAC consequently.

The ADR EP-C works both as network coordinator and as communications gateway. It is equipped with multiple hardware interfaces and it supports two different wireless technologies: IEEE 802.15.4/ZigBee and Wi-Fi (IEEE 802.11). The Wi-Fi network interface is used to communicate with the M2M communications infrastructure, through the appropriate CNTR, in order to exchange information upstream with the remainder of the platform. The ZigBee network interface is used to communicate to communicate downstream with the already introduced I-BECI devices.

The I-BEGI architecture is composed of Energy Generation Equipment, Sensors, and the ADR EP-G [12]. The Energy Generation Equipment includes Photovoltaic Panels and  $\mu$ Wind Turbines, which represent two of the most extended technologies in buildings. Both the Photovoltaic Panels and the  $\mu$ Wind Turbines are equipped with Inverters, which play a double role: on the one side, they adapt the electrical signal (i.e., converting DC into AC) and, on the other side, they work as RTUs (Remote Terminal Units), measuring some key parameters associated to the generation equipment and sending them to the ADR EP. The Photovoltaic Panels are also equipped with panel temperature sensors, since this parameter influences their performance. Finally, the Energy Meters measure the energy that is generated by the installation.

The main objective of the Sensors is to measure variables related to weather conditions (e.g., temperature, humidity, wind direction and speed, and solar irradiation) and electrical variables (e.g., DC current or voltage, AC current or voltage) and send them to the Information System in order to allow accurate status monitoring and accurate generation forecast, which are two key parameters when operating DR events. The set of sensors in charge of monitoring weather conditions are integrated all together into the same Weather Station and the set of sensors in charge of measuring electrical variables are integrated into the same Network Analyser.

The ADR EP-G is equipped with multiple hardware interfaces and implements multi-protocol features in order to communicate, on the one side, with the I-BEGI equipment (using proprietary application protocols such as Fronius or Davis) and, on the other side, with the Information System through the M2M communications infrastructure (using the ENERsip proprietary protocol on top of Wi-Fi up to the appropriate CNTR, and GPRS up to the M2M Platform). As a result, the ADR EP enables managing in a uniform way the wide variety of devices within the I-BEGI, hiding this complexity and heterogeneity to the Information System, which is able to manage whatever equipment within such infrastructures using the same protocol.

### 3. Demand Response Services

ENERsip provides DR and energy management services for several groups of end-users, including primarily the owners of residential and commercial buildings, secondly the aggregators of consumption and generation, and finally the DSO (Distribution System Operator). Such users can take advantage of a wide variety of services, such as 'energy monitoring, visualization, and reporting', 'remote access and control of appliances', 'load management', 'microgrid energy management' and 'Distribution System Operation'.

Residential and commercial end-users are provided with a range of 'energy monitoring, visualization, and reporting' services, giving them near real-time information about their energy consumption or generation, prices, generation forecast and environmental impact. This information is provided at different levels of granularity, starting from the aggregated data at the whole building level, down to the detailed information about each individual appliance. Such service ensures, not only an increase of the user awareness about the energy consumption (leading to energy savings), but also the identification of the loads available to be controlled by DR actions at every moment.

Using the 'remote access and control of appliances' service the residential and commercial end-users can create an initial configuration of the network of energy consuming devices, turn a selected device ON or OFF, or change its properties (e.g., the air conditioning operating temperature). This is not just important to provide to the users the capability to turn OFF the appliances which are unnecessarily turned ON to reduce the energy consumption, but also to perform similar actions automatically through DR events. With such service it is possible to turn OFF remotely any appliances and therefore the appliances used in DR can be easily controlled by the user or by the utility, without the need of any manual operation.

The 'load management' is a key service to ensure the implementation of DR. With such service the end-user is able to specify individual devices or groups of devices to be included in the DR program, and consequently, those devices are directly controlled by the ENERsip platform (the user can also manually override it), ensuring the minimization of costs to the end-users (by shifting loads to periods with lower tariffs) and the adequate management of the DR requests received from the utility.

The 'microgrid energy management' service works at the local communities and neighbourhoods level, where multiple consumption, generation and storage units might be running. The DSO or the Aggregator receive real-time monitoring data from the consumption and generation sides, at the local communities' and neighbourhoods' level, improving the balance between generation and consumption in the microgrids. This enables the development of DR actions focused on specific parts of the electric grid in order to ensure the integration of the intermittent distributed generation.

With the 'Distribution System Operation' service the DSO receives near real-time information about generation and consumption of electricity in a given location, highlighting the deviations from the expected energy consumption behaviour and providing accurate short-term forecasts of the energy generation. Such information will be very important for the DSO to the planning and dispatching of the generation resources. However, the most important impact of this service is to ensure the required conditions to operate DR programs, namely providing data about the available loads in each neighbourhood, providing communication channels to send real-time tariffs and ensuring the ability to remotely control the appliances according with the user preferences.

# 4. Assessment of the Impact of Residential Demand Response

To assess the impact of residential DR on the integration of intermittent renewable generation, Portugal was chosen as case study. With 4.5 GW of wind power capacity (which represent 50% of the renewables capacity and 24% of the total installed power) and a yearly generation in 2012 of 10 TWh (20% of the total generation) Portugal already faces the impact of a high penetration of intermittent resources and such a new tool as DR can have a very positive impact on the grid management.

Several extreme ramp rates of the wind power generation were already recorded in Portugal. Therefore, the variations of the wind generation were characterized in order to identify the most substantial variations to be used as case studies. Observing the data from 2007 to 2012, 15 days were found with high variations (reduction of more than 1000 W in less than 8 hours). One of the most severe situations was recorded on 3<sup>rd</sup> June 2011 with a reduction of 2050 MW in 7 hours, achieving a maximum ramp rate of 560 MW/hour (Figure 3). To the 15 selected days, the impact of DR actions on the residential consumption profile was assessed (in this paper only the data of 3<sup>rd</sup> June 2011 is presented as example).



Figure 3: Variation of the wind power generation on 3<sup>rd</sup> June 2011

To the assessment of the DR, the load profile of an EU average household, presented in Figure 1, was used. In such figure the loads are grouped in 8 types (cold appliances, lighting, washing and drying, ICT, cooking, audio-visual, HVAC and others), but there are available average load profiles, with different load profiles to working days and weekends, from each main appliance [3] out of a total of 26 (freezer, refrigerator without freezer, refrigerator with freezer, lighting of living room, lighting of secondary rooms, washing machine, clothes dryer, dishwasher, desktop PC and monitor, laptop PC, printer, WLAN, router, microwave oven, electric cooker, kettle, TV CRT, TV LCD, TV Plasma, set-top-box, DVD player, HI FI Radio, HVAC, water heater, vacuum cleaner, and phone charger).

Such appliances can be divided into two main groups: controllable and non-controllable appliances. The non-controllable appliances use depends mainly on the user behaviour and its operation cannot be changed without a negative impact on the comfort level. This group includes appliances such has lighting, ICT, cooking or audio-visual appliances.

The controllable appliances can in turn be divided into two groups: reschedulable appliances and interruptible appliances. In the reschedulable appliances the start of the operation can be delayed or anticipated based on the load management requirements. This group includes mainly the washing and drying appliances. The limitations for this operation are mostly set by consumer preferences, but also by technical constraints (e.g., the noise during night operation should be avoided and wet clothes should not be left too long in the washing machine) [13]. ENERsip can ensure the reschedule of appliances with the 'remote access and control of appliances' service, controlling the appliance's operation with the Plugs.

In the interruptible appliances, the appliances are already in operation and under certain conditions it may be possible to interrupt the cycle of operation for a certain period, which is typically restricted for

technical reasons. This is typically done with thermal loads such as cold appliances, water heaters and HVAC, which can be turned OFF during several minutes without a major change on temperature. ENERsip can ensure it by using the 'load management' service to select the appliances to control and turning them OFF or ON through the Plugs. The thermal loads can be also controlled by adjusting the temperature to a level with a lower consumption. This can also be ensured by ENERsip to HVAC using the 'remote access and control of appliances' and the Infrared Box to set the temperature.

Considering the ownership rates of each appliance and the total number of households (3.9 millions), each load profile was adapted to the Portuguese reality. Figure 4 presents the load profile of the Portuguese residential sector, forecasted base on the average EU data, in which the loads are divided between controllable and non-controllable. It can be seen that controllable loads present an average power of 657 MW, ranging from 412 to 839 MW.



Figure 4: Load profile of the Portuguese residential sector

Figure 5 provides a higher detail about the potential of each controllable load. Cold appliances have the highest and most stable potential with an average controllable load from 268 to 302 MW (average power of 280 MW). The other controllable loads present a potential with higher variations depending on the time of day: washing and drying appliances ensure a controllable load from 17 to 276 MW (average power of 169 MW), HVAC from 36 to 78 MW (average power of 57 MW), and water heaters from 60 to 289 MW (average power of 152 MW).



Figure 5: Load profile of the Portuguese residential sector for each group of appliances

A previous study [14] estimated the annual gross economic benefits (including value of avoided  $CO_2$  emissions) of the availability of controllable appliances to purposes of balancing the variable wind energy production. Such benefits strongly depend on the flexibility of the generation system (with a lower benefit to systems with higher flexibility) and were assessed based on the scenarios for the expected shares of different types of power plants for the year 2025. For Portugal, the yearly economic benefits of controllable loads are expected to be from 34.8 to 55.2  $\in$ /kW. Therefore, considering an average benefit of 45  $\in$ /kW and an average controllable power of 657 MW, the control of such loads can represent an annual gross economic benefit of 29.6 million euros.

Considering a future full penetration of DR systems in the Portuguese households, depending on the time of day, variations of the intermittent generation from 412 to 839 MW can be entirely compensated by DR. The assessed historical data shows that the highest ramp variations are from 350 to 650 MW/hour. However, the controllable load shown in Figure 4 is lower than 650 MW only from 1 to 7 A.M. Since during such time period the wind power variations have a low impact of the electric system, due to the lower demand, the intermittence in that time period can be ignored. Therefore, all the extreme variations observed in the past could be full compensated by DR.

However, the controllable load cannot be turned OFF during all the period of wind power reduction due to technical limitations, such as the temperature change of thermal loads. Therefore, the following limitations were adopted on the assessment: each thermal load cannot be turned OFF during more than one hour; the operation of washing and drying machines can be delayed, but the new operation period should end before 12 P.M. With such limitations two different control strategies are possible: concentrate the load reduction on the beginning of the wind power variation or divide it between the hours were the reduction achieves the highest severity.

Figure 6 present the simulation of the DR impact with the load reduction divided between the hours with the highest impact of the wind power reduction on 3<sup>rd</sup> June 2011. In such situation the severity of the variation start to be more serious at 11 A.M. and the load reduction was achieved by turning OFF 50% of the thermal loads at 11 A.M., turning OFF the remainder 50% at 12 A.M., and delaying the start of operation of all reschedule appliances which would start the operation at 12 and 13 P.M. With the implementation of DR was possible to compensate the wind power variation during such period.



#### Figure 6: Impact of DR on the period with higher impact of wind power variation (3<sup>rd</sup> June 2011)

However, the main problems to the electric system occur in the beginning of the variation, due to the need of a fast answer from the system to compensate the lost generation capacity. If the system do not have enough flexibility to react immediately, e.g., with the increase of hydropower generation, it can have critical consequences on the system reliability. Therefore, concentrating the load reduction on the beginning of the variation to give enough time to increase the generation ensured by other sources is usually the best solution to avoid major reliability problems.

Figure 7 present the simulation of the DR impact with the load reduction concentrated on the beginning of the wind power variation. This was achieved by turning OFF 100% of the cold appliances

and 30% of the water heaters during the first hour and using the remainder controllable load during the second hour.



Figure 7: Impact of DR on the beginning of wind power variation (3<sup>rd</sup> June 2011)

As can be seen in Figure 8, the reduction capacity is enough to cancel the wind power reduction during the first hour and attenuate it in 87% during the second hour, ensuring the needed time to adapt the generation mix.



Figure 8: Compensation of lost wind power with DR

#### 5. Conclusions

This paper presents the monitoring and control platform designed and developed under the EU FP7 project ENERsip, whose main goal is to optimize, in near-real time, and to save energy by remotely monitoring, controlling and coordinating energy consumption and generation within the energy-positive neighbourhoods of the future Smart Grid. The proposed system was already integrated and validated under real conditions and all the test cases were successfully completed proving the effectiveness of the system. Such platform ensures the needed conditions to guarantee local energy generation/consumption matching and to operate large scale DR programs, which can provide very important benefits to the electric grid management.

In addition, the paper assesses the impact of the implementation of residential DR (as enabled by ENERsip) on the large scale integration of intermittent renewable generation into the Portuguese electric grid. The load profile to the controllable appliances was determined and used to simulate the possible changes on the load diagram during the wind power variations, considering the reschedule of

washing and drying machines and the interruption of the operation cycle in cold appliances, water heaters, and HVAC. It was demonstrated that the total DR potential is enough to compensate all the most extreme historic wind power variations during the first hours (tested with the 15 days with higher wind power variation during the last five years), ensuring the needed time to adapt the electric system to the new generation levels and therefore avoiding the most critical situations.

It can be concluded that domestic appliances, if properly controlled, can be a valuable tool to the electric grid management and consequently to promote the renewable generation with positive environmental and economic impacts.

### Acknowledgements

The research leading to these results has received funding from the European Community's Seventh Framework Programme FP7/2007-2013 under grant agreement n° 247624. The authors would like to thank the whole ENERsip consortium: Amplía Soluciones S.L, Honeywell SPOL, IEC, ISA, ISASTUR, ISR-UC, MSIL, TECNALIA, UC3M, and VITO, for the valuable discussions and collaboration. This work at ISR-UC has been framed under the Energy for Sustainability Initiative of the University of Coimbra and supported by the FEDER/PORC FCT Grant CENTRO-07-0224-FEDER-002004 (EMSURE – Energy and Mobility for Sustainable Regions).

# References

- [1] Claudy M, Michelsen C, O'Driscoll A, The diffusion of microgeneration technologies assessing the influence of perceived product characteristics on home owners' willingness to pay, Energy Policy, Vol. 39, Issue 3, Pag. 1459-1469, March 2011.
- [2] Firth S, Lomas K, Wright A, Wall R, *Identifying trends in the use of domestic appliances from household electricity consumption measurements*, Energy and Buildings, Vol. 40, Issue 5, Pag. 926-936, 2008.
- [3] de Almeida A, Fonseca P, Schlomann B, Feilberg N, *Characterization of the Household Electricity Consumption in the EU, Potential Energy Savings and Specific Policy Recommendations*, Energy & Buildings, Vol. 43, Issue 8, pag. 1884-1894, August 2011.
- [4] Kowli A, Negrete-Pincetic M, Gross G, A successful implementation with the Smart Grid: Demand response resources, Power and Energy Society General Meeting 2010, Minneapolis (USA), 25-29 July 2010.
- [5] Moura P, and de Almeida A, *The Role of Demand-Side Management in the Grid Integration of Wind Power*, Applied Energy, Vol. 87, Issue 8, pag. 2581 2588, August 2010.
- [6] Wang J, Kennedy S, Kirtley J, *Case studies of smart grid demand response programs in North America*, Innovative Smart Grid Technologies (ISGT), 2011 IEEE PES, January 2011.
- [7] Clastres C, Smart grids: Another step towards competition, energy security and climate change objectives, Energy Policy, Volume 39, Issue 9, Pages 5399–5408, September 2011.
- [8] ENERsip Official Site: http://www.enersip-project.eu/. Accessed 2013-03-22.
- [9] López G, Moura P, Moreno J, de Almeida A, *ENERsip: M2M-based platform to enable energy efficiency within energy-positive neighbourhoods*, IEEE INFOCOM 2011 Workshop on M2M Communications and Networking, Shanghai (China), April 2011.
- [10] Carreiro A, López G, Moura P, Moreno J, de Almeida A, Malaquias J, *In-House Monitoring and Control Network for the Smart Grid of the Future*, IEEE PES Innovative Smart Grid Technologies Europe 2011, Manchester (United Kingdom), December 2011.
- [11] Zeifman M, Roth K. *Nonintrusive Appliance Load Monitoring: Review and Outlook*. IEEE Transactions on Consumer Electronics, 57 (1), 76-84, 2011.

- [12] Pérez M, Blanco L, López G, Moura P, Moreno J, de Almeida A, *Monitoring System for the Local Distributed Generation Infrastructures of the Smart Grid*, CIRED 2013, Stockholm (Sweden), June 2013.
- [13] Timpe C, *Smart Domestic Appliances Supporting the System Integration of Renewable Energy*, Smart-A Project, November 2009.
- [14] Seebach D, Timpe C, Bauknecht D, *Costs and Benefits of Smart Appliances in Europe*, Smart-A Project, September 2009.

# Voluntary Peak Load Curtailment: What Drives Household Performance?

# **Dulane Moran and Hale Forster**

# Research Into Action, Inc., USA

# Abstract

The price of energy at critical peaks is an increasing concern in Europe as peak demand reaches ever higher levels. This is also the case in California. What happens when a utility asks everyone to reduce his or her energy use for specific days and hours and then pays bill credits for measured reduction? Do customers get the message? Do they understand it? And, what do they do?

This paper presents the results of a process evaluation of San Diego Gas & Electric's (SDG&E) Peak Time Rebate (PTR) program—an initiative that provided bill credits, but no penalties, to customers who reduced their electricity use during specific event periods. Post event surveys were designed to assess overall awareness among several key customer groups and to find out what, if any, actions these customers took in response to a request to reduce their energy use. In addition to the postevent surveys, the project included a survey to understand overall program awareness and perceptions of these requests.

This evaluation used post-event surveys to assess event awareness, actions, and attitudes among several customer groups. Results indicated that customers have high levels of awareness around the overall concept and language used for event days, but that recollection drops off precipitously as respondents are asked about specific event dates. Event awareness was higher among those who had opted-in to receive alerts, and among those who receive electronic communication from SDG&E. Classification And Regression Tree (CART) analysis confirmed that opting-in for an alert is an important correlate of curtailment.

#### Introduction

Utilities around the world are investing in advanced metering infrastructure (AMI), or digital Smart Grid meters, to replace old analog meters. These digital meters allow utilities to see minute patterns of consumption, in addition to the analog measures of volumetric consumption. According to a 2012 Federal Energy Regulatory Commission survey, the penetration of Smart Meters in the U.S. is currently 23%. [1] Investments in digital meters have been justified for the potential they bring for enhanced visibility into energy use patterns—for both utilities and end-use customers. This information is expected to be potentially quite valuable in the design and delivery of energy efficiency and demand response programs (collectively referred to as demand-side management, or DSM in many parts of the U.S.).

Utilities in the U.S. are increasingly offering demand response programs as a strategy for avoiding expensive investments in new generation or high priced market power. Demand response programs are designed to cause a reduction of energy use during peak demand periods, where market prices for power tend to be the highest, and the least cost-efficient power plants are brought online.

SDG&E, with Smart Meter infrastructure fully deployed to all 1.3 million residential customers, has launched several programs designed to encourage behavior change at critical periods of peak demand by leveraging the enhanced visibility possible from linking detailed consumption data with web-based displays of consumer-specific information. This paper presents the results of an evaluation of the 2012 PTR program, which offered bill credits for measured reductions in electricity use during specific time periods, but did not asses penalties for non-curtailment.

One of the key characteristics of any Smart Grid demand response program is the program's mix of direct load control (DLC) devices and end-user behavior to reduce household energy use during specific event periods. SDG&E, like other utilities, has both DLC and behavior-based programs. [2, 3] One of the limits of DLC programs is obtaining permission from individual residential customers—getting them to agree to allow the utility to control major equipment (typically air conditioning settings)

during critical peak periods. These periods often occur during high temperatures; therefore, participants can experience thermal discomfort. In addition, the requirement to have air conditioning equipment can exclude large sections of the market, even in sunny California.<sup>1</sup> PTR, a voluntary, behavior-based program, allowed any residential account to earn bill credits for energy saved on event days.

Like most utilities, SDG&E offers residential customers an opportunity to pay utility bills and manage accounts using an online system called 'My Account.' Once a customer has set up an account with SDG&E, they can access up to 25 months of account activity and information and have the potential to access detailed consumption data as uploaded by SDG&E's Smart Grid infrastructure. About half of SDG&E's 1.2 million residential customers have registered for the 'My Account' system. During the 2012 PTR season, SDG&E sent demand response event notification messages to all email accounts associated with 'My Account,' making this status an important variable for the purposes of the PTR evaluation.

# Peak Time Rebate Overview

SDG&E's 2012 PTR rate<sup>2</sup> gave a bill credit to all residential and individually metered small commercial customers who reduced their energy use when requested by SDG&E during a specific time. Customers were paid 75¢ per kilowatt-hour (kWh) reduction between the hours of 11:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m. on event days, and penalties were not assessed for households that did not achieve measurable reduction of electricity usage. To encourage customers to embrace technologies that enable automated demand response, customers enrolled in the Summer Savers (an air conditioning cycling program with DLC) earned a premium incentive of \$1.25 per kWh reduced. Using SDG&E's Smart Grid infrastructure, bill credits were calculated based on measured reduction in electric usage on an event day relative to an established customer-specific reference level for that day.

PTR events were called based on a combination of assessed power system capacity, expected demand, and capacity bidding triggers, which were based on the forecasted temperature and expected system load at 2:00 pm. In addition, California operates with statewide Flex-Alert<sup>3</sup> days that are independent of PTR's Reduce Your Use (RYU) days (weather or system events that cause capacity constraints in Northern or Central California do not necessarily constrain the San Diego system). Regardless of the location of power system capacity constraints, alerts for Flex-Alert days were reported in San Diego media. To minimize the potential confusion with Flex-Alert days, PTR staff decided to call RYU days on all Flex-Alert days during the demand response season.

SDG&E called a total of seven RYU day events during the summer of 2012. Customers could sign up in advance ("opt-in") to receive alerts either by email or text message. In addition to the opt-in alerts, SDG&E sent alert emails to all customers with 'My Account' and announced events broadly using mass media (including television and radio announcements), social media, and press releases carried by other media outlets.

#### **Evaluation Objectives and Methods**

Research Into Action, Inc. conducted a process evaluation of the 2012 PTR rate. The objectives of this process evaluation were to:

 Document and assess the implementation process and identify opportunities to improve effectiveness of the PTR program;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Reflecting the clustering of population in the mild costal climates in California, U.S. Census estimates that approximately 34% of residents in the San Diego Metro Area have central air conditioning.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This program was authorized by the California Public Utilities Commission in the SDG&E rate design proceeding by decision D-08-02-034.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Flex Alert is an urgent call to Californians to immediately conserve electricity and shift demand to off-peak hours. Flex Alerts are issued by the California Independent System Operator, responsible for providing early warnings of possible electricity outages.

- Assess customer awareness of the program including their perceptions of, and responses to, curtailment requests; and
- Evaluate the effectiveness of the messaging used in the program and suggest improvements to increase customer awareness and understanding.

To inform the evaluation, the research team conducted interviews with program staff, three surveys of post-events, a general survey assessing residential customer perceptions of PTR, and three focus groups.

Data collection centered on several aspects of awareness and understanding and included questions to assess:

- Overall awareness of RYU events
- Customers' sources of awareness
- The relationship between opting-in for an event alert and awareness or curtailment
- Customers action in response to event requests
- The extent to which reported behavior correlates with event performance

Table 1 provides the survey groups for residential survey data collection activities. All four surveys included Alert, 'My Account,' and No 'My Account' groups. In addition, the August and September surveys included samples of participants in two other SDG&E programs: San Diego Energy Challenge (SDEC), where participants signed up to compete to reduce energy use and win prizes for themselves and local schools, as well as receiving PTR alerts, and Summer Savers, a DLC program cycling air conditioners in exchange for an annual incentive.

Survey Type	Month Collected	Mode	Alert	My- Account	No MY- Account	SDEC	Summer Savers
	July	Phone	X	X	X	0020	Curoic
Post Event	August	Phone	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Lvon	September	Phone + Web	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
General	December	Phone	Х	Х	Х		

#### **Table 1: Residential Survey Groups**

The availability of actual consumption data from SDG&E's AMI provided the evaluation team with an opportunity to compare findings from the process surveys with actual curtailment performance. The evaluation team used CART analysis to assess the key drivers behind consistently measured curtailment during event periods and identify variables that could allow SDG&E to more effectively target RYU messaging and encourage participation among those most likely to respond. CART - also known as recursive partitioning - builds a classification or regression model represented as a binary tree by recursively splitting the cases into two groups using the split that maximizes the variance explained. The overall model conveys the relative predictive strength of the independent variables relative to the outcome. The CART analysis and results are discussed in more detail below.

To facilitate understanding and simplify this paper, only the results of the September post-event survey are included here.<sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> For a copy of the complete report and results of all survey waves, see the final report at <u>http://www.calmac.org</u>. Study ID SDG0269.01

# **Event Awareness, Behaviors and Attitudes**

Surveys revealed that awareness of the overall RYU message and concept was high (Figure 1), but that awareness decreased when respondents were asked about more detailed programmatic features (such as the bill credit opportunity or specific event call dates). Unsurprisingly, those that had voluntarily opted-in to receive an alert on event days also had the highest level of awareness.

#### **Event Awareness**

While general awareness was relatively high, awareness of programmatic or event-day details appeared to be driven by Alert/My Account status (Figure 1). Awareness of the RYU requests was relatively constant across the post-event surveys, where the lowest levels of general request awareness were over 65%, and the highest were nearly 100%. Respondents were less aware of programmatic details such as the opportunity to earn bill credits and were often unable to recall the specific date of the RYU event.





The general program survey results reveal differences in event awareness across groups (Figure 2) and, again, point to the importance of opting-in to receive notification. Approximately three months after the last event, over 90% of customers without My Account were unable to recall a single PTR event. In comparison, 86% of Alert group contacts recalled at least one event.

Figure 2: Number of RYU Events Recalled



The evaluation also found differences between the groups around the sources of awareness and desired method of notification, particularly between those with My Account and those without (Figure 3). Email was the best source of information for My Account customers, while those without My Account were most likely to report hearing about a RYU day on TV. Alert status was again an important variable in both level of awareness and overall engagement with PTR and SDG&E messaging, as was My Account. The fact that customers with My Account registered their email addresses with SDG&E made them easier to reach and more likely to be aware of programmatic details than those without My Account.



Figure 3: Top Methods of Event Awareness (Multiple Responses Allowed)<sup>5</sup>

The preferred means of notification also differed across response groups. Alert group contacts and My Account contacts preferred email and text message as means of awareness, while those without My Account preferred mail and TV. The large portion of the group without My Account that preferred notification by direct mail indicated that this group might be difficult to reach for the short-notice events that characterize demand response.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Asked only of event-aware contacts.

Ciaura.	۸.	Droforrod	Mathad	~ f	Alart	ماماندار.	Deeneneee	
Figure	4:	Preferred	wethou	01	Alert	(initible	Responses	Allowed)

	ALERT (n=188)	MYACCOUNT (n=155)	No MYAccount (n=128)
Email message	86%	71%	40%
Direct mail	26%	37%	55%
A text message	53%	50%	33%
TV announcement	25%	30%	41%
An automated phone call	29%	30%	35%
Radio announcement	19%	26%	27%
Newspaper articles	10%	12%	21%
Information on the SDG&E website	26%	21%	11%
Facebook, Twitter	18%	22%	9%
Other web news sources	10%	19%	9%

#### **Event Behaviors**

Only those aware of events were asked more detailed questions about event engagement. Among these contacts, a majority reported making an effort to reduce their energy use during even periods (68% overall, including 77% of alert group contacts). Those contacts who reported making an effort on an event day reported what actions they took to save energy (Table 2). Among those who made an effort to reduce their energy use, 59% reported turning off lights in unoccupied areas of their home, 56% said they avoided doing laundry during the event time, and 54% turned off or adjusted their air conditioner. Other actions mentioned included delaying running the dishwasher (38%), unplugging unused electronics (35%), leaving home (32%), and shifting cooking times (24%). An additional 50% reported they also "just tried to use less energy."

Table 2: Actions Taken Du	ring RYU Event
---------------------------	----------------

Action	Percent (n=687)
Turned off lights in unoccupied spaces	59%
Didn't do the laundry	56%
Turned off or adjusted air conditioner	54%
Didn't run the dishwasher	38%
Unplugged unused electronics	35%
Left home	32%
Cooked at a different time	24%
Pre-cooled the house	12%
Turned off pool pump	7%

Additionally, 52% of those contacts who were aware of events reported making changes in their dayto-day energy use as a result of RYU days and the information they received. Common changes reported included turning off lights (31%), adjusting air conditioner settings (23%), and turning off unused devices (20%).

#### **Event Attitudes**

Those contacts who had made an effort to reduce their energy use reported on their primary motivation to do so (Figure 5). Given three possible motivations, overall, respondent selections were relatively evenly distributed between earning a bill credit (38%), doing their part for San Diego (34%), and helping the environment (28%). Among the opt-in alert group, a majority (59%) reported that earning a bill credit was their primary motivation.



#### Figure 5: Primary Motivation to Reduce in Response to SDG&E's Request

Those contacts who had not made an effort to reduce their energy use also commented on their reasons. Although many contacts did not answer the question, among those that did, the most common reasons for not making an effort to reduce energy use included reports that they were already conserving energy, or that it was too hot to participate that day.

In open-ended comments responding to the question of how SDG&E could make event days work better for customers, 16% of respondents provided comments about their efforts (or lack thereof) to reduce their energy use on event days. Most of these comments discussed the circumstances that limited customers' ability to respond to events. The most frequently mentioned topic was that the respondent already makes a daily effort to conserve energy use (63% of these respondents). One-third of these contacts (37%) reported that there was nothing they could do to reduce energy on event days. Other comments included that customers would try, within reason, to conserve (15%), that they made an effort, but received no credit (13%), that they found the campaign unfair to low energy users (8%), and that medical or other household issues limited their ability to conserve (7%). Just a few contacts (4%) reported that they did not want to participate.

Overall, contacts were satisfied with their experience of events and willing to participate in the future. While just half of contacts agreed that the value of the bill credit was reasonable, most of those contacted reported that they would be "very" or "somewhat" likely to participate in the future (Figure 6), and 93% of contacts said that they would be "somewhat" or "very" likely to sign up for notifications if it was required to receive a bill credit.



#### Figure 6: Willingness to Participate in Future Events<sup>6</sup>

<sup>6</sup> Survey samples sizes for Figure 6:

July: Alert (n=198), MyAccount (n=97), No MyAccount (n=90);

August: Alert (n=154), MyAccount (n=69), No MyAccount (n=64); and

September: Alert (n=567), MyAccount (n=711), No MyAccount (n=212).

# **Curtailment Correlates**

A key component of this evaluation was understanding the extent to which reported effort on event days was correlated with greater observed curtailment, and the factors that moderated the effect of reported effort on actual curtailment.

Although the bill credit was based on the number of kWh curtailed during the seven-hour event period, the research team hypothesized that demographic factors and external constraints -such as house size, use of air conditioning, number of occupants, or presence of small children in the home - likely drove a substantial portion of the magnitude of event-day savings for customers. To try to isolate the effects of self-reported behaviors on curtailment, the research team explored three separate measures of performance in this analysis:

- kWh savings (the kWh saved during an individual event),
- Binary savings (whether any kWh was saved during the individual event), and
- Curtailment consistency (the number of event days out of seven with measured curtailment.)

The first two measures of performance quantify performance on a particular event day, while the third quantifies performance across all PTR events.

A preliminary examination of the relationship between effort and curtailment suggested that reported effort was only moderately correlated with actual performance (Figure 7). One-third of those who reported making no more effort to save energy than usual (including those who were unaware of the event) had saved energy on the event day, compared with 43% of those who reported making a lot more effort than usual. These non-effort performers, combined with the presence of high effort non-performers (57%), suggest that a considerable proportion of event performance could have been due to chance: reflecting only random variations in residential energy use. Analysis of the August 14 event and survey data revealed similar patterns.





#### Analytical Approach

CART modeling was employed to better understand which demographic and behavioral factors best associate with customers' curtailment during PTR events. This exploratory analysis examines the relative predictive strength of independent variables relative to a dependent variable (in this case, event performance.)<sup>7</sup> That is, these models determine which demographic, attitudinal, or behavioral factors are most strongly related to event performance, and also give us a sense of how well these predictors explained event performance.

Twenty-one predictor variables were included in each model. Demographic factors included average kWh use, climate zone, home size, income, number of occupants, presence of children under 5 years old, presence of children under 18 years old, presence of seniors, home ownership, ethnicity, air

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See Therneau & Atkinson, 2012 "An Introduction to Recursive Partitioning Using the RPART Routines" at <u>http://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/rpart/vignettes/longintro.pdf</u> for a more complete discussion of CART models.

conditioning use, and pool ownership. Behavioral factors included alert opt-in, SDEC opt-in, online account signup, reported number of actions taken, self-reported level of effort, and logon to tracking website. In addition, awareness and attitudinal factors considered were awareness of event, awareness of concept, and motivation to curtail. All variables were self-reported except for average kWh use, alert and SDEC opt-in status, and My Account signup.

The CART analysis was conducted with 2,885 responses from a post-event survey, matched with performance data both for that specific event and across all events. The evaluation team used multiple regression to confirm the relationships identified in the CART models, both with the responses from the same event day, and on the responses from a separate post-event survey of a different event day. [4]

#### **Curtailment Consistency Metric**

A series of CART models were conducted with different transformations of the three outcome variables (Table 3 summarizes the results of the best CART model for each)).<sup>8</sup> The overall predictive power of the "binary savings" model was very low, with an R<sup>2</sup> indicating that the model explained just 3% of the variance in whether or not customers curtailed on September 15. In fact, all models for this outcome variable predicted savings would be less than chance. The overall predictive power of the total "kWh savings" model was moderate. This model explained 16% of the variance among those customers who saved at least 1 kWh on September 15.<sup>9</sup> The only two significant predictors in this model, though, were demographic predictors (average kWh use and AC use) rather than behavioral or attitudinal ones. That is, reported awareness of the event and reported actions to reduce energy use during the event were not significantly related to increased savings among those customers who were able to save at least 1 kWh. Finally, the "curtailment consistency" model had modest predictive power (explaining 9% of the variance in the number of days curtailed), but included significant behavioral, as well as demographic factors. Specifically, both opting-in for an alert and participating in the SDEC predicted a greater number of days with measured curtailment.

Dependent Variable	Model R <sup>2</sup> Value	Independent Variables in Best Model
Binary savings (saved any kWh	0.03	N/A
during event)		
kWh savings (among those who	0.16	Average kWh use, AC
saved ≥1 kWh)		_
Curtailment consistency (number of	0.09	Average kWh use, Alert Opt-in, SDEC
days)		Opt-in

#### Table 3: September Event Regression Tree Explanatory Value

#### CART Results

Figure 8 shows the regression tree for the model predicting curtailment consistency (the number of days reduced, out of seven). Each rectangle, or node, is a variable where the tree splits. The labels below each node show the split points for the variable. Regression trees model the best "split" for continuous independent variables, such as average monthly kWh use. The circles are terminal leaves in the tree, the model's estimate for the number of days reduced by that subset of customers. Light colors indicate lower curtailment consistency, while dark colors indicate higher curtailment consistency.

The diagram below shows the best (black) and complete (gray) regression tree for curtailment consistency among the September 15 sample. Although these results do not conclusively indicate that the gray branches are meaningful predictors of curtailment consistency, they are included here because of the story they tell about the interaction between demographic and behavioral factors.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The best model was determined by "pruning" the initial tree according to the 1-Standard Error rule, choosing the simplest tree where the risk is within one standard error of its achieved minimum.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Because the kWh saved variable is highly skewed, we instead examined whether, among those contacts who had saved any energy during the event, behavior and attitudinal factors were related to the amount of savings.



# Figure 8: Regression Tree (Predictors of Curtailment Consistency, Data: September 15 Sample)

Black nodes are part of best model. Gray nodes not part of the best model, but each increase R<sup>2</sup> by at least 0.005.

The CART analysis suggests several takeaways about curtailment consistency:

**Low use customers may not be suited for this program.** For customers using less than 260 kWh per month, opting-in to receive an alert or enrolling in the SDEC program does not significantly predict greater consistency of event performance. There is a small subset of customers (n=18) in our sample for who use between 167 and 260 kWh per month and who reduced their use an average of 4.3 out of 7 days, by trying very hard (that is, they reported performing at least 6 of the 10 actions we listed during the 9/15 event). Even among Alert opt-ins, those with energy use above 477 kWh per month, particularly those who used air conditioning, had higher average consistency than the others.

**Voluntary engagement is important.** Among those customers using more than 260 kWh a month, signing up to receive alerts or enrolling in the SDEC program does predict increased performance consistency, relative to others. Among those who did not opt-in, those that reported tracking their performance via the website also had more performing days than their non-tracking counterparts (an average of 3.8 of 7 versus 3 of 7 days).

Overall, this model suggests that engagement with RYU events played a role in how many days customers were able to curtail, but that the largest predictor of consistent curtailment is average monthly electricity use. Confirmatory regression largely confirmed these findings: both the effect of opting-in for an alert, and to some extent, the effect of event day effort, is dependent on overall kWh use. [4]

# **Conclusions and Recommendations**

Based on the four waves of surveys and the CART analysis that augmented the research team's survey findings, several considerations emerged for future behavioral demand response programs, which are discussed below.

The PTR process evaluation identified several key decisions facing SDG&E and other utilities that might consider a territory-wide, behavior-based rate credit for voluntary demand response that result in measured curtailment. While respondents were generally satisfied with their experience and did not resent being asked to curtail their energy use during RYU days, comparing survey results with the

energy consumption reduced relative to customer reference baseline revealed the limitations of assuming that reported awareness and action would correlate to measured curtailment. Based on these findings, we provide the following recommendations for behavior-based demand response programs:

**Require an action to receive a bill credit.** Opting-in for an alert was the most important behavioral factor affecting curtailment performance across multiple event days. Opting-in for an alert is important for two reasons. First, lack of awareness and information is a key barrier to participation, and opting-in for an alert virtually ensures event notification. Second, opting-in for an alert likely reflects increased overall engagement with SDG&E generally, and PTR specifically, because of the commitment represented in the simple action of registering for alerts.

**Target recruitment: sectors are very hard to reach, and others can do little to participate.** Event awareness among customers without MyAccount lags behind awareness among those with MyAccount. Television is an effective alert tool for a portion of these contacts, yet many of these customers prefer mail notification of events, indicating a lack of understanding about demand response, as well as a lack of engagement. Generally, low users (260 kWh a month and below) only receive incentives through extraordinary effort. Furthermore, some low users (both actual and perceived) feel disadvantaged by the program and want recognition for their daily efforts to conserve energy.

Align incentives with existing motivations. The per-kWh incentive used in the PTR program has both positives and negatives: some customers found the kWh feedback motivating, but for others, the incentive was not well-aligned with community or environmental motivations to participate, and this engendered frustration that the program is unfair to low energy users. In addition, the payment per event is generally small – less than a few dollars – and may focus participants too much on the specific payment associated with what might be extraordinary effort. Providing a seasonal incentive for everyone that curtails for a certain number of days, or to save a threshold level, could allow a larger one-time payment (such as \$10). Providing an incentive for enrolling in voluntary alerts could also tap into the bill credit interest reported by the alert group, while also encouraging more widespread enrollment in alerts.

**Develop a strategy for encouraging ongoing energy savings or encouraging more engagement with premise-level consumption.** At least half of contacts who were aware of PTR events reported making day-to-day changes to reduce their energy use. Similarly, for a notable segment of customers, PTR created a desire for more information about their household's energy use. These may be opportunities for utilities to leverage demand response programs to increase participation in other programs, including detailed feedback strategies available through in-home displays or with enhanced websites.

#### **Evaluation Lessons Learned**

Matching survey results to impact data can help give a more complete picture of which customers are engaging with the program and the factors that are most correlated with successful curtailment. The CART model, in this case, was also a good analytical tool. From a methodological perspective, it helps isolate those variables that explained the most variance in curtailment consistency. From a practical perspective, it generates an easily-visualized segmentation of participants. The outcome of the CART model was more accessible and more actionable than a regression model, which would have revealed relationships between variables, but not cut points.

There are some practical considerations in implementing this approach in other evaluations. We found that memories of these demand response events faded quickly, and thus the post-event survey approach was useful in maximizing response accuracy. We also found that, while web surveys enable the large sample sizes that such data mining approaches require, using utility email addresses can introduce bias, particularly when email is the primary means of program alerts. From a process perspective, single demand-response events provide only a partial picture of how customers engage with events.

Finally, there are several cautions to using the CART methodology. Most fundamentally, CART requires very large sample sizes. CART models are optimized on a per-split basis, not on a model

basis, so there is a risk of over-fitting. Multiple highly-correlated variables are unlikely to appear in the same model.

#### References

- [1] EEnergy Informer. February 2013. Vol. 23, No 2. ISSN: 1084-0419 http://www.eenergyinformer.com
- [2] Mantei, G., Daunis, M. Lee, L., & Lutz, T. 2012. "Offer it... and they will save?" In Proceedings of AESP's 22nd National Conference. San Diego, Calif.: Association of Energy Services Professionals.
- [3] Moran, D., Forster, H. and Gettig, B. 2012. You Want Me to Do What? Smart Grid and Demand Response Pilots Test the Waters with Residential Customers. In Proceedings of ACEEE 2012 Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings. Pacific Grove, California.
- [4] Research Into Action, Inc. 2013. *Final Report: Peak Time Rebate Program Process Evaluation.* Study ID SDG0269.01. San Diego Gas and Electric Company.

# The Demand Reduction Potential of Smart Appliances in U.S. Homes

Atefe Makhmalbaf, Viraj Srivastava, Graham Parker

Pacific Northwest National Laboratory

# Abstract

The widespread deployment of demand response (DR)-enabled smart home appliances is expected to have significant reduction in the demand of electricity during peak hours. The work documented in this paper focuses on estimating the demand shift resulting from installation of DR-enabled appliances in the U.S. This estimation is based on analyzing the market for such DR-enabled smart appliances, using the number of appliances having replacement potential in the near future in addition to those installed in new homes. This estimate has been used to calculate total demand that can potentially be shifted by DR control in appliances and their sub components such as the refrigerator defrost cycle to identify power consumptions and savings resulting from interrupting and shifting their demand. In addition to major residential appliances, residential pool pumps are also included in this study, because their energy consumption profiles make them favorable for DR applications. Conclusions about the effectiveness of the smart appliances in reducing electrical demand have been drawn and a ranking of appliances in terms of their contribution to demand shift is presented. This research showed that DR-enabled water heaters result in the maximum demand shift; whereas dishwashers have the highest user elasticity and hence the highest potential for demand shifting through DR.

This work is part of a larger effort to develop novel home energy management concepts and technologies to reduce energy consumption and peak electricity demand through integrating renewables, storage technology, and changing homeowner behavior to manage energy by making more informed decisions about energy use.

#### Introduction

Ü^search work in the modernization of the power grid has led to increased efforts in the design and manufacturing of residential smart appliances. These appliances include clothes washers and dryers, dishwashers, refrigerators, cooking ranges, and water heaters. They are referred to as "smart" because they include demand response (DR) capability, allowing them to respond to signals sent by an electric utility as part of a demand reduction program. Several institutions have reported a favorable market potential for smart appliances, stating that residential appliances have a high potential to be integrated into DR programs. The widespread deployment of DR-enabled home appliances is expected to have significant reduction in the demand of electricity during peak hours. Such programs have been developed by various utility companies based on electricity tariffs and are projected to result in cost savings in electric transmission and distribution (T&D) infrastructure or cost deferment in new T&D through the wide-scale deployment of such appliances.

The residential class in the U.S. represents the most untapped potential for DR programs [1]. While residential customers currently provide only roughly 17 percent of today's demand response potential, in an achievable participation scenario, they could provide over 45 percent of the potential impacts [1]. In addition, in the U.S. household smart appliance market is projected to grow from \$1.42b to \$5.46b [2]. In terms of market share, it is very likely that all major home appliances will be "Smart Grid" ready within the next five years. For example, in 2009, Whirlpool announced that all of its electronically controlled appliances will be "Smart Grid" compatible by 2015 [3].

The work documented in this paper focuses on estimating the power demand shift resulting from the installation of DR-enabled appliances, calculated by analyzing the market potential for these appliances. Appliance operation is examined by considering their sub-systems individually to identify power consumptions and savings resulting from interrupting and shifting their demand. In the market analysis study documented in this paper, data from the U.S. Energy Information Administration's (EIA) Residential Energy Consumption Survey (RECS)[4] and National Association of Home Builders (NAHB)[5] databases are used to examine the expected life of an appliance and the number of appliances installed in homes constructed in 10 year intervals after 1940. These data were used as criteria to estimate the number of appliances that have potential to be replaced with smart appliances in the near future. The demand shift resulting from deployment of smart appliances was then estimated using total power consumption of each appliance. Other factors considered in the demand reduction potential were user elasticity, delay acceptance, duty cycle, and the total power used in one

appliance cycle. These analyses allowed the authors to draw conclusions about the effectiveness of the smart appliances in reducing electrical demand and rank appliances based on their potential for DR-enabled operation. Results show that DR-enabled water heaters result in the maximum demand shift because of their high energy usage; whereas dishwashers result in high load shift because of the high user elasticity associated with them.

The work documented in this paper is part of an overall objective to create a system that adjusts its recommendations to homeowners' expressed preferences for convenience of service (CoS), gathered at system configuration time. Also, the system monitors energy use behaviors under different activity or occupancy conditions and suggests adjustments to appliance use. The system monitors inputs from multiple sources to create a hypothesis of the current state and to build patterns of energy use in the home over time. These patterns enable the determination of homeowner CoS preferences and the generation of recommendations. The monitored inputs include occupancy sensors, indications from the security system, positions of light switches, hot water consumption, appliance activity (e.g., the operation of the dishwasher), and time of day. The system can then adjust the time of operation for these appliances to be recommended to the user to match the actual schedule followed by the user, rather than a pre-programmed schedule that ignores user preference. The value of this system is expected to increase as more context information becomes available, as the system learns more about occupant behavior and as more connected appliances are installed.

The work reported in this paper included the analysis of home appliance demand profiles and number of household appliances from publically available databases to recommend better modes of operations for DR-enabled appliances. In the following sections a background of existing work in the domain of evaluating DR-enabled residential appliances is provided followed by a description of the market analysis method and results. Residential-based data sources and resources that were found to be most relevant are also documented.

# Background

Various methods have been employed to determine the feasibility, benefits and impact of implementing DR features in residential appliances. In these methods, the benefits considered are distinct from those arising as a result of traditional machine enhancements that enable operational efficiencies; rather, these benefits are focused on the demand shift potential made possible by DR-enabled residential appliances. Residential appliances investigated in most studies include heating ventilation and air conditioning (HVAC) systems, electric water heaters (EWH), clothes dryers and washers, dishwashers, refrigerators, freezers, miscellaneous light and plug loads, and cooktop range and ovens. There is limited research addressing DR-enabled pool pumps. Although very small in number, given their energy consumption profiles, pool pumps are favorable for DR applications

Existing research has estimated the peak reduction of DR appliances as well as the monetary value brought through DR. The existing works may be categorized as:

- Those that focus on estimating the peak energy demand shifting potential of DR appliances through appliance models in simulation environments (typically using GridLAB-D<sup>1</sup>),
- Those that examine the feasibility of DR appliances to function as spinning reserves and ancillary services<sup>2</sup> benefiting the electric utility, and
- Those that estimate the market for new appliances with DR capabilities.

These are explained further in the sections below. The third category of estimating the potential for demand shifting through DR by estimating the market is the focus of this paper.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> GridLAB-D is an open-source, state-of-the-art software designed at PNNL for the Department of Energy's Office of Electricity Delivery and Energy Reliability to simulate the complexities of the smart grid from the substation down to the end-use load. http://www.gridlabd.org/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Ancillary services refer to balancing services in an electric utility supply system that help overcome fluctuations and maintain supply/demand balance. For example, services needed to correct for fluctuations in the minute to minute system load and generator output are referred to as "regulation" and "load following" services [30]. Balancing services over longer time frames include demand response programs.

#### **Model-Based Evaluations**

In works that examine the potential technical benefit, that is, peak energy reduction (or demand shifting) potential of DR appliances through simulation environments, several efforts have focused on modeling techniques for DR appliances. In [6], the authors developed individual DR-enabled models of residential HVAC, clothes dryer, and electrical vehicle loads. The authors claimed that these models can be used by others for DR studies at the household and the distribution circuit levels, given a set of customer behaviors and signals from a utility as inputs to the model.

In [7], the authors developed multi-state appliance models of GE Appliances' DR-enabled appliances that are used to represent power demand and energy consumption as well as the DR control systems developed by GE Appliances. A key conclusion of this work is that while the response of a single appliance in a home provides relatively small benefits compared to an HVAC system, given the greater number of appliances in the home, the aggregate behavior of a suite of DR-enabled appliances is significant. Through a simulation environment the authors concluded that even at low market penetration levels of 5% and 25% of General Electric DR-enabled appliances, the appliances alone are able to provide peak reduction capabilities of 1-2% and 4-5%, respectively.

In addition to creating models, several studies have used models in simulation environments to examine DR control strategies. For example, in [8], the authors examined DR strategies using a simulation of over 100 electric water heaters and provide guidelines for effective implementation of DR in these appliances. These guidelines include changing the temperature setpoint in the electric water heater to reduce electric demand (i.e. lowering the water temperature setpoint) or absorb excess capacity by increasing the water temperature setpoint in the tank and using a mixing valve to deliver water to the faucet at the original setpoint temperature. In [9], the authors examined the impact of residential-level DR on the operation of the power grid using detailed end-use load models. The authors implemented an active DR strategy, including active controllers, and examined 3 cases—no price signal, one hour price signal, and 15 minute price signal—to evaluate the impacts of DR on the distribution system operations. The authors demonstrated that a 15 minute price signal results in numerous but less severe demand peaks compared to one hour price signals. In addition, they demonstrated the level of modeling detail required for such studies.

In [10], the authors analyzed the effect of residential DR on the power grid with a double auction market where both suppliers and end-use loads simultaneously submit bids for price and quantity into a single market. The authors demonstrated the need for analytical models at multiple levels within the simulation through a demand response program utilizing distributed and centralized control. However, in [11], the authors stated that advanced DR-enabled simulation models of appliances are limited and do not adequately estimate the load shifting potential of DR-enabled appliances. The authors use a screening analysis of technologies and conclude that, while DR can be used to mitigate generation intermittency, the maximum potential for demand shifting, which does not harm consumers, may be significantly less than expected.

#### **Utility Company-Based Smart Appliance Programs and Evaluations**

In [12], the authors document a study to evaluate the benefits of DR-enabled appliances with respect to peak-demand reduction and spinning reserves, and evaluate DR-enabled appliances from a utility/grid perspective. The authors report the production cost savings to utilities and the extent to which DR-enabled appliances can provide ancillary services to facilitate greater penetration of renewable generation sources, specifically, wind and solar. The methodology adopted is based on expected smart appliance penetration and usage rates, daily usage patterns, and definitions of peak and off-peak periods. In establishing the monetary value of benefits, historical wholesale market clearing prices are drawn from various electric power markets including NYISO [13], CAISO [14], PJM [15], and ERCOT [16]. In [7], the authors look at historical market data to estimate the savings available to consumers and/or utilities by using DR capabilities in residential appliances. The authors examine the effects on wholesale energy cost and possible additional revenue available by consumer participation in frequency regulation and spinning reserve markets through the use of DR-enabled appliances.

Utility companies operate programs to reduce energy consumption during peak times by controlling cycling interval of some home appliances. For example, "EnergyWise Home" program offered by Progress Energy works across the community to lower energy usage during peak periods. Customer
participation is voluntary and includes the control switch/receiver. In a year, the customer can receive up to \$147 in bill credit. Table lists a sample set of utility companies in the U.S. that have residential demand management programs. Most of these are focused on AC and water heater cycling.

Company	Name of the Program	Location	Cycling Interval/Cont rol periods	Savings	Appliance/ equipment controlled
Progress Energy[18]	EnergyWise	Florida	Not identified	Up to \$147 credit (annual)	Water heater, pool pump, HVAC
Alliant Energy [19]	Appliance Cycling	lowa and Wisconsin	Every 15 min (1 pm -7pm)	\$45 credit (annual)	HVAC and water heater
DTE Energy [20]	CoolCurrents	Ohio	Not identified	Up to 20% annual saving on AC bill (there is a \$1.95 monthly charge)	HVAC
Price Electric Cooperative[21]	Water heater thermal storage program	Wisconsin	4 hour control program	\$50-\$350 rebates depending on the size of water heater	Water heater
Dairyland Power Cooperative/Jackson Electric Cooperative [22,23]	Water heater program	Wisconsin	Not identified/ limited to 6 hours per day	\$3 credit (monthly)	Water heater

Table 1.	Utility Com	npanies With	Community	v-Scale Home	Eneray	Management	Programs
	ounty oon	ipunico min			Lincigy	management	i rograms

#### **Market Study-Based Evaluations**

The current state of the smart appliance market is addressed in a report by Pike Research [24]. Here, the authors include an analysis of barriers and drivers, enabling technologies, regulatory factors, and key industry players. There are a limited number of studies focusing on deployment of DR-enabled appliances and evaluation of their operation in a population of normally functioning homes. Under the Pacific Northwest National Laboratory (PNNL) and Bonneville Power Administration (BPA) sponsored Olympic Peninsula Project approximately 100 homes were equipped with thermostats, electric water heaters, and clothes dryers that would react to pricing signals (both real-time and time-of-use) [25]. The participants were on either a time-of-use (TOU) or real-time pricing (RTP) tariff and thus were able to take advantage of the demand reduction. Over the course of a year, average peak reductions of 1.0–1.5 kW per household were observed, with cost savings of up to 30% based on TOU pricing and 27% based on RTP [25].

#### **Market Size Estimation**

In this section, the potential market for smart appliances in the near future in the U.S. is estimated. This estimation includes the number of appliances that are reaching the end of their life expectancy and are ready for replacement in the near future plus the forecast of appliances that will be installed in new residential constructions. Data were extracted accordingly from RECS [4] and the U.S. Census Bureau [26]. RECS is a national sample survey that includes energy-related data for different housing type units. The survey data included is from 2009, but the total and average consumption data are from 2005 databases. EIA states on its website that "RECS consumption and expenditures data for 2009 are currently being collected and processed and anticipated the first release of these data in early 2012 [4], however, these were not available when this research was carried out. 2009 data were collected from 12,083 households selected randomly (using a complex multistage, area-probability sample design). This sample represents 113.6 million U.S. households. The U.S. Census Bureau statistical estimate for all occupied housing units in 2009 is derived from their American Community Survey (ACS) [26]. EIA estimates energy consumption and end uses in the U.S. by collecting energy characteristics on the housing unit, usage patterns, and household demographics. Energy costs and usage for heating, cooling, appliances, and other end uses are then estimated using data from energy suppliers to these homes.

This paper assumes that all consumers will replace their old electric appliances reaching the end of their useful life with a smart one. For such assumption to be valid, we recognize that the consumer will only buy a high price smart appliance if they can see some monetary value over time or other benefits (e.g. environmental benefits). Household income will likely play a major role in a consumer's decision to buy a smart appliance as opposed to a conventional one because of the higher cost of DR-enabled appliances. However, the authors assume there will be enough incentives from the government or power utilities to eventually encourage all consumers to buy smart appliances. Such incentives or grants are required to support DR capabilities of the Smart Grid (i.e., time of use pricing) which cannot be realized without smart appliances in place.

#### Life Expectancy of Appliances

Home appliances have a limited life expectancy. To estimate the market, the first step is to determine the useful life of appliances. The National Association of Homebuilders (NAHB) and Home Inspectors (e.g., ATD Home Inspection) have undertaken studies to determine the approximate life expectancy of majority of household appliances. Table 2 shows a summary of NAHB's study of life expectancy of home appliances compared to minimum and maximum useful life of appliances reported from other studies.

Appliances	Expected number of years reported by NAHB	Average number of years from other studies
Pool pump	Not available	5–12
Range (electric)	13	8–15
Refrigerator	13	8–14
Clothes washer	10	5–15
Clothes dryer (electric)	13	8–14
Dishwasher	9	7–12
Water heater (electric)	11	10–11

#### Table 2. Life Expectancy of Home Appliances

Based on the data tabulated in Table 2, in the U.S., a good assumption is that clothes washers, dishwashers, and water heaters older than 10 years of age and refrigerators, ranges, and clothes dryers older than 15 years old will be replaced in the near future. The potential market size for smart appliances was estimated based on this assumption.

#### Number of Appliances Having High Replacement Potential

Analyzing data from RECS reveals the number of appliances reaching the end of their life expectancy. These data are plotted in Figure 1 based on year of home construction and also tabulated in Table 3. There are 12.4 million refrigerators, 7.1 million second refrigerators<sup>3</sup>, 25.3 million clothes washers, 10.7 million clothes dryers, 19.4 million dishwashers and 42.1 million water heaters [4]. Out of 113.6 million water heaters installed, 43.7 million (39%) are electric. Therefore, out of 42.1 million water heaters that are older than 10 years of age, about 16-17 million are electric and ready for replacement. RECS data also shows that about 79.5% of clothes dryers currently installed are electric. Therefore, 8.5 million of 10.7 million clothes dryers that are reaching their maximum life span are electric. Unfortunately, RECS has no data on age of electric ranges. Total number of electric ranges in 2009 was reported as 61.9 million, which is about 60% of total electric ranges. The trend for potential appliance replacement in the past 60 years is shown in Figure 1. This trend shows that on average about 11% of those appliances with life expectancy within 15 years have had replacement potential in the past six decades. These figures are used to estimate market size for ranges that are ready to be replaced. Because a range life expectancy is around 15 years, it is estimated that about

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> About 22% of total homes in the U.S. have second refrigerator [4]. However, these units are not expected to be replaced with smart ones the near future, but authors have considered these in the analysis to be consistent with the remaining data.



11 percent of them have replacement potential. Pool pumps and motors have an average life span of about ten years and there are about 120,000 units ready for replacement each year [27].

Figure 1. Replacement Trend of Appliances Based on Year of Construction of Homes

#### Number of Appliances Installed in New Homes

According to the U.S. Census Bureau [26], there were 306,000 new constructed homes sold in 2011, all of which likely needed a new refrigerator, clothes washer, and dishwasher. Analyzing RECS [4] database shows that currently 79.5% of clothes dryers and 39% of water heaters installed are electric. Therefore, it is assumed that 79.5% of new homes built would have a new electric clothes dryer and 39% would install a new electric water heater. Not all homes have pools and pool pumps. In [27], it is reported that there are about 22,700 new sales of pool pumps each year. The total market size for these appliances is estimated by adding the number of units that have replacement potential with the new units added each year. Results are tabulated in Table 3 and illustrated in Figure 2.

Appliance/Equipment	Units Ready for Replacement	New Units	Total Units (in 2009)
Refrigerator	12.4 million (11% of total)	306,000	12,706,000
Second refrigerator	7.1 million (27% of total)	70,035 <sup>4</sup>	7,170,035
Range	6.8 million (11% of total)	183,600	6,983,600
Clothes washer	25.3 million (27% of total)	306,000	25,606,000
Clothes dryer	8.5 million (11% of total)	243,270	8,743,270
Dishwasher	19.4 million (28% of total)	306,000	19,706,000
Electric water heater	16.25 million (37% of total)	118,129	16,368,129
Pool pump	120,000	22,700	142,712

Table 3. Estimate of Market Size of	f Appliances and Pool Pumps
-------------------------------------	-----------------------------





#### **Demand Reduction Estimation**

An estimation of the minimum and maximum amount of power that can be shifted in one cycle by a "typical" smart appliance is shown in Table 4 and plotted in Figure 3. The calculation is based on multiplying the estimated market size for smart appliances in the entire country by the demand response potential (i.e. the megawatts of power that can be shifted). These results are based on typical wattage of appliances reported by [28] as well as the estimation of market size given in Table 4 with the assumption that all appliances estimated in the market size analysis will be replaced with smart appliances. The results are not limited and do not consider only the portion of the country that has smart grid.

Based on results shown in Table 4, water heaters have the greatest potential for reducing demand during peak electrical demand. This is corroborated by other studies [17], which reveal similar results. Furthermore, these results are in line with DOE's residential water heater load control and electric thermal storage programs [29]. Programs shown previously in Table 1 support this finding as well; they show that utility companies have already started reducing electrical demand during peak hours by controlling cycling interval of water heaters. Many of these took place in response to the U.S. DOE's electric thermal storage program [29].

Appliance		Minimum Wattage	Maximum Wattage	Estimate of Smart Units (Based on RECS 2009)	Estimate of Minimum Total Demand Shifted [MW]	Estimate of Maximum Total Demand Shifted [MW]
Pool Pump		250	2000	142,712	36	285
Defrigerator	Defrost	400	400	12,706,000	5,082	5,082
Reingerator	Compressor	450	700	12,706,000	5,718	8,894
Clothes	Entire device	1800	5000	8,743,270	15,738	43,716
Dryer	Heater off	1800	1800	8,743,270	15,738	15,738
Clothes Was	her	350	500	25,606,000	8,962	12,803
Bango	Oven	500	2500	6,983,600	3,492	17,459
Range	Cooktop	1200	2500	6,983,600	8,380	17,459
Dishwasher	Entirely	1200	2400	19,706,000	23,647	47,294
Water Heater	ſ	4500	5500	16,368,129	73,657	90,025

Table /	Ectimato	Of Total	Domand	Shift h	( Smart	Appliances
I able 4		UT TOLAT	Demanu	Shirt by	y Sillari.	Appliances



Figure 3. Minimum and Maximum Appliance Demand Shift Possible for Residential Appliances and Pool Pumps

# Figure 3 also shows that after water heaters, smart dishwashers are second in the amount of demand shift. In addition to this observation, a study by PNNL [17] shows 90% of participants are willing (i.e., are elastic) to shift their dishwasher cycle to off-peak hours. Based on Figure 3, pool pumps have a low total potential for demand shifting because of their low numbers across the nation. However, the potential for demand shifting from on-peak to off peak for those residences that have pool pumps is approximately 2kW. Therefore, DR-enabled operation can be an advantage in controlling pool pumps.

Furthermore, the load shape of the dishwasher (Figure 4) indicates a potential for DR-enabled operation because there are several 'control' states (before wash cycle, before rinse cycle and before heated dry cycle) that may allow DR price signals to pause the dishwasher cycle, and then move to the next state when there is a lower price signal. Load models of other appliances indicate that the cooking range and clothes dryer do not have these 'control' states. However, clothes washers do have 'control' states before wash, rinse, and spin cycles, but pausing the operation between these cycles could harm wet clothes.



Figure 4. Multi-State Load Model of a Dishwasher Developed in GridLAB-D. These States are Determined Based on Level of Power Demand. *Source:* http://www.gridlabd.org/

#### **Results and Discussion**

The main objective of this paper was to analyze and estimate the market and identify DR-enabled appliances (i.e. smart appliances) that result in maximum load shift. The data presented show widespread deployment of demand response enabled home appliances (e.g., smart appliances) could have potential significant reduction in the demand of electricity during peak hours. This analysis is based on estimates of future market size, total power that can be shifted during peak electrical demand hours, and technical potential of appliances to respond to price signals. Conclusions about the effectiveness of DR-enabled appliances in reducing electrical demand have been drawn and a ranking of appliances is presented in Table 5. Further work may be required to account for the rebound effect of appliances coming out of their curtailment states during high demand periods.

Rank	Appliance	Summary of reasons
1	Water heater	Ubiquitous (everyone has one)
		High power use
		Maximum load shift of all appliances
		High user elasticity
		Demand shift can be undertaken with minimal capital cost (investment by the
		utility) and little impact on residents given the size of the water heater (thermal capacity) and time duration of the shift.
2	Dishwasher	Significant penetration of appliances in residences and therefore a high potential
		for load shifting
		High user elasticity
		Load shape allows cycle interruption and pausing to shift load
-		May provide additional savings due to shift in electric water heater demand
3	Pool pump	High power use/unit, therefore potential for large demand shifting
		High user elasticity
	-	Low numbers across the nation
4	Clothes dryer	Moderate user elasticity
		High power use
5	Clothes	Moderate user elasticity
	washer	Low power use
		May provide additional savings due to shift in electric water heater demand
6	Refrigerator	High user elasticity
		Relatively low power use
7	Cooking	Low user elasticity
	Range	Moderate power use

Table 5	Rank Orde	r of Appliances	Based on	Maximum	Potential for	r DR-Enabled (	)neration
I able J.	Nalik Olue	a of Appliances	Daseu Ull		F Olemilar IU		

#### Conclusions

The work documented in this paper examines the market for DR-enabled appliances and the potential for load shifting of DR appliances across the U.S. The numerical values in this paper are from publically available databases based on consumer surveys that are periodically updated. Therefore, the purpose of this paper is not to provide absolute market analysis numbers, but instead a demonstration of a method, factors to be considered and level of detail needed to analyze the market potential for DR-enabled appliances.

This paper presents scenarios based on technical potential. However the market study method reported in this paper does not address potential problems in implementing DR programs such as the rebound effect and coincident load shifting as described in [31]. For example, in the case of rebound effect, if all appliances start operating simultaneously at the termination of a DR period, a peak in electric demand will occur. It is necessary to understand and account for this phenomenon in DR study.

In addition, to determine 'true' impact DR programs, the behavior and attitude of the consumers is critical. The percentages of consumers who may override the DR signal cause difficulty in predicting the aggregate response of a large number of residences and thus additional research is needed to better understand consumer behavior. It is also critical to research the number of consumers who

would choose to purchase a smart appliance over another without DR capability, and at what price point for the smart appliance do consumers make these choices. Lastly, it is important to understand the monetary value (if any) required for consumers to engage in DR programs beyond the limited data from the current programs involving primarily water heaters.

#### References

- [1] U.S. Department of Energy, Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC). Assessment of Demand Response Report. June 2009.
- [2] Rodriguez J.S. *Smart Grid Insights: Smart Appliances*. Zpryme Research & Consulting. 2010. http://www.zpryme.com/SmartGridInsights/2010\_Smart\_Appliance\_Report\_Zpryme\_Smart\_Grid\_In sights.pdf
- [3] GreenBiz. *Whirlpool Set to Launch Smart Grid Compatible Appliances by 2015*, GreenBiz, May 08, 2009. Can be downloaded at: <u>http://www.greenbiz.com/news/2009/05/08/whirlpool-set-launch-smart-grid-compatible-appliances-2015</u> accessed on March 18, 2013
- [4] Residential Energy Consumption Survey (RECS). <u>http://www.eia.gov/consumption/residential/</u>
- [5] National Association of Home Builders (NAHB). <u>http://www.nahb.org/</u>
- [6] Shao S., Pipattanasomporn M. and Rahman S. *Development of Physical-Based Demand Response-Enabled Residential Load Models*. IEEE Transactions on Power Systems. 2012. vol. PP, no.99.
- [7] Fuller J.C. and Parker G.B. 2012. *Modeling of GE Appliances: Cost Benefit Study of Smart Appliances in Wholesale Energy, Frequency Regulation, and Spinning Reserve Markets*. PNNL-22128, Pacific Northwest National Laboratory, Richland, WA.
- [8] Diao R., Elizondo M.A., Mayhorn E.T., Lu S., Zhang Y. and Samaan N.A. *Electric Water Heater Modeling and Its Control Strategies for Demand Response*. In IEEE T&D conference. IEEE PES General meeting (San Diego, CA, USA, 2012).
- [9] Schneider K.P., Fuller J.C. and Chassin D.P. *Analysis of Distribution Level Residential Demand Response*. In IEEE/PES Power System Conference and Exposition, March 20-23, 2011, Phoenix, Arizona. IEEE, Piscataway, AZ.
- [10] Fuller J.C., Schneider K.P. and Chassin D.P. *Analysis of Residential Demand Response and Double-Auction Markets*. Presented by Jason C. Fuller (Invited Speaker) at IEEE PES GM 2011, Detroit, MI on July 28, 2011. PNNL-SA-82145.
- [11] Chassin D.P., Du P. and Fuller J.C. *The Potential and Limits of Residential Demand Response Control Strategies*. In 2011 IEEE PES General Meeting.
- [12] Sastry C., Pratt R.G., Srivastava V. and Li S. *Use of Residential Smart Appliances for Peak-Load Shifting and Spinning Reserves Cost/Benefit Analysis.* 2010. PNNL-20110, Pacific Northwest National Laboratory, Richland, WA.
- [13] New York Independent System Operator. http://www.nyiso.com/public/index.jsp
- [14] California Independent System Operator. http://www.caiso.com/Pages/default.aspx
- [15] Pennsylvania, Jersey, Maryland Power Pool. http://www.pjm.com/
- [16] Electric Reliability Council of Texas. http://www.ercot.com/
- [17] Fuller J.C., Vyakaranam B.G., Prakash Kumar N., Leistritz S.M. and Parker G.B. *Modeling of GE Appliances in GridLAB-D: Peak Demand Reduction*. PNNL-21358, Pacific Northwest National Laboratory, Richland, WA: 2012.
- [18] <u>Https://www.progress-energy.com/florida/home/save-energy-money/energy-efficiency-improvements/energy-wise/index.page</u>
- [19] <u>Http://www.alliantenergy.com/SaveEnergyAndMoney/AdditionalWaysSave/ApplianceCycling/</u>

- [20] <u>Http://www.dteenergy.com/residentialCustomers/saveEnergy/heatingCooling/interruptibleRate.html</u>
- [21] <u>Http://www.price-electric.com/waterheat.htm</u>
- [22] Http://docs.jackelec.com/programs/Water%20Heater%20Brochure.pdf
- [23] <u>Http://www.jackelec.com/programs/water\_heater\_program</u>
- [24] Walton J. and Gohn B. *Executive Summary: Smart Appliances*, PikeResearch. 2010. Can be downloaded at: <u>http://www.pikeresearch.com/research/smart-appliances</u>
- [25] Hammerstrom D.J., Ambrosio R., Carlon T.A, DeSteese J.G, Horst G.R, Kajfasz R., Kiesling L.L., Michie P., Pratt R.G., Yao M., Brous J., Chassin D.P., Guttromson R.T., Jarvegren O.M., Katipamula S., Le N.T., Oliver T.V. and Thompson S.E. Pacific Northwest GridWise<sup>™</sup> Testbed Demonstration Projects; Part I. Olympic Peninsula Project. PNNL-17167, Pacific Northwest National Laboratory, Richland, WA: 2008.
- [26] United States Census Bureau (USCB). 2012. http://www.census.gov/construction/nrc/
- [27] Fernstrom G. B. *Analysis of Standards Options For Residential Pool Pumps, Motors, and Controls,* Prepared by Davis Energy Group and Energy Solutions. May 2004.
- [28] U.S. Department of Energy (DOE). *Estimating Appliance and Home Electronic Energy Use*. Retrieved July 18, 2012, from Energy Savers. Can be downloaded at: <u>http://www.energysavers.gov/your\_home/appliances/index.cfm/mytopic=10040</u>
- [29] US Department Of Energy (DOE). 2012. Energy Conservation Program for Consumer Products and Certain Commercial and Industrial Equipment: Energy Conservation Standards for Residential Water Heaters. 77(114).35299-35304. Accessed on July 31, 2012 from http://www1.eere.energy.gov/buildings/appliance\_standards/pdfs/wh\_rfi\_2012\_06\_13.pdf
- [30] North American Electricity Reliability Corporation (NERC). 2002. *Control Performance Standards*. Accessed September 30, 2010 at <u>http://www.nerc.com/docs/oc/ps/tutorcps.pdf</u>
- [31] Black J.W. and Tyagi, R. *Potential problems with large scale differential pricing programs* Transmission and Distribution Conference and Exposition, 2010 IEEE PES, 19-22 April 2010.

# Review of load research studies applied to the Portuguese household sector

Pedro Miguel<sup>a,d</sup>, Luís Neves<sup>a,b,d</sup>, A. Gomes Martins<sup>a,c,d</sup>, João Sousa<sup>b,d</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Energy for Sustainability Initiative, University of Coimbra

<sup>b</sup> School of Technology and Management, Polytechnic Institute of Leiria

<sup>c</sup> Department of Electrical Engineering and Computers, University of Coimbra

<sup>d</sup> INESCC – Institute for Systems Engineering and Computers at Coimbra

#### Abstract

In order to allow decision makers to select local, regional or national end-use energy efficiency policies it is necessary to assess the technical, economic, environmental and societal effect of replacing a given equipment or technology, or of adopting a given measure.

The deployment of Demand-Response programs and the recent trend towards combining the use of smart meters requires assessing their possible aggregated impact and for that purpose, the knowledge of the household consumption pattern and its composition in terms of the individual end-uses is fundamental.

This paper intends to review the most recent load research studies in the household sector in Portugal, focusing on individual end-uses and discussing their possible contribution towards the development of a methodology to assess the impacts of demand-response through automated control of residential appliances.

The common strategies to load modeling are normally based on top-down or bottom-up approaches, the first kind trying to derive load models from statistical data and the second kind building an aggregated model from engineering models of end-uses. These methodologies can be improved by the growing availability of data from smart-grids and smart-meters, thus taking advantage of these new types of data, as well as reducing costs associated with energy modeling, avoiding the complexity of such models and reducing the time required to perform these simulations.

A simple evaluation procedure was also developed to compare load profiles obtained for the residential sector by different reference studies that provide load diagrams, including reference load profiles.

#### Load Research Review

Similarly to what happened in other European countries, several studies regarding electrical energy use (especially consumption) have been developed in the past years giving a special attention to the Portuguese household sector. This attention is explainable due to the overall and growing importance of electrical energy consumption in this sector and in the total energy consumption of the country which accounts for a total of 3.932.010 households (3.773 .956 in Continental Portugal, 77.222 in the Azores Region and 80.832 in the Archipelago of Madeira) [1]. Another reason for the existence of these studies has to do with the alleged homogeneity of this sector, in terms of appliances or equipment, energy usage patterns and energy behaviors, which allowed the development of typical load profiles that intend to represent the energy consumption in households. According to a recent study [1], electricity in Portugal arises as the main source of energy used in households with 42.6% share, clearly surpassing the 15.8% share obtained in 1989 and 27.5% in 1996.

The popularity of equipment/appliances that use electric energy increased significantly, which contributed to the growing importance of the use of this type of energy in the household sector and motivated researchers to develop studies on the electrical energy usage in dwellings. This work will focus in reviewing the work that has been done for this Portuguese portrayal in the last decade.

The contribution for the assessment can be divided in four major branches, namely, monitoring studies, statistical studies and surveys, behavioral studies and also the current regulatory framework regarding the measurement, reading and electrical energy data availability in Portugal.



Figure 1 - Contribution to the household energy usage understanding according to the authors vision.

#### **Monitoring studies**

The first branch refers to the monitoring studies that have been made, with European and/or National public and private funding. These studies generally intend to identify Demand Side Management (DSM) actions and measures in order to encourage the end-user to be more energy efficient. These studies are also a good support for the evaluation of Demand Response (DR) programs which are designed to encourage end-users to make short-term reductions in energy demand in response to a price signal from the electricity hourly market, or a trigger initiated by the electricity grid operator. However, for the studies presented, only in [2] is considered the use of DR.

The EURECO project [3] was one of the first joint European projects to describe the state and structure of the specific electricity end-uses in the residential sector of Denmark, Greece, Italy and Portugal. This project intended in a first stage to confirm the results of the ECODROME project [4] regarding DSM actions (especially in lighting) that were evaluated in France. A more simple, cheaper methodology was also attempted that allowed the project to be replicated in those four countries also taking into account the imperatives of the Commission of the European Communities. The second purpose of ECODROME was to discover new trends, or consumptions that are still not accurately defined or comprehended, which could represent an important share of total consumption in the near future, e.g. standby consumption. The need to evaluate standby consumption came also from ECODROME [4] where a standby power of 117 W in a low income family apartment, which consumed 1,025 kWh/year in standby mode. With the conclusion of the EURECO project [3] a characterization of electricity end-uses was provided in normal operation and in standby mode, and the potential electricity savings of DSM actions was assessed.

The Ecofamilias study [5] was a Portuguese project that consisted in evaluating energy consumption through the monitoring of 30 Portuguese families (equipment consumption and temperature/humidity of dwellings) and implement measures to reduce consumption. The main conclusion of this study regarding energy savings was the replacement of incandescent lamps by compact fluorescent lamps, the elimination of power-off and stand-by consumption and the economic advantage for families for the adoption of a bi-hourly tariff instead of a simple tariff.

The REMODECE monitoring project [6] was a European partnership involving Belgium, Bulgarian, Czech Republic, Denmark, France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Italy, Portugal and Romania. This study intended to understand better the electricity energy use in households, consumer lifestyles and comfort levels, taking into account the 2% yearly increase of electrical energy consumption in the EU-25 household sector that prevailed at the time. The study allowed an estimation of the average electricity consumption per household, excluding electric space heating and water heating, of 2.700 kWh and also a segregation of electricity end-uses according to the following percentages (Lighting 17%, refrigerator 25%, washing & drying 16%, office equipment 10%, entertainment 9%, air conditioning 10%, cooking 9% and others 4%). These percentages were drawn from the average daily load profiles.

The last monitoring study referenced is the Selina project [7], which focused exclusively on standby and off-mode energy losses in new appliances measured in shops. One of the findings of the project was that currently there is a large share of equipment in shops that do not respect the current legislation [8] regarding the consumption (power) in off mode, in standby for reactivation only and in standby for

information and status display. The Selina project considered that the monitored values are similar to others from other regions of the world reflecting the global nature of the world market of electrical and electronic appliances. The result of the retailer's survey shows that the most used selling arguments are the appliance functionalities and price instead of the energy efficiency. Retailers also admitted that sometimes they advise products that are not the most efficient in order to avoid stock problems. The Selina project recommendations include the need for information programs, financial and fiscal incentives, energy labeling, minimum efficiency standards, advertising standby and off mode consumption in labeling.

The knowledge and experience provided by these studies allowed researchers to better understand electrical energy usage in households and to evolve research from a particular country case study [4] to a European study extended to 11 countries [6]. This is possibly because the appliances (and their deployment) in this geographical location are relatively similar, allowing the transfer or use of a common methodology for the study of load research studies. This similarity also provides the possibility of defining policies (DSM and DR) that can be deployed/implemented at an European level and subsequently verified [7].

#### Statistical studies and surveys

The second branch comprises statistical studies and surveys. These studies, especially the surveys, are very helpful to illustrate the current household sector in terms of housing, the type of energy sources used and present end-uses.

The study with reference [9] makes use of data from monitoring studies, but especially statistical information to define a set of policies regarding two types of DSM actions. The first action intends to reduce consumptions by using more efficient equipment and also recommending more rational use of the equipment/appliances (not quantified). The second DSM measure consisted of shifting consumption from peak hours (peak and partial peak) to off peak hours (off peak and super off peak), especially of clothes and dish washers. One of the project outputs was the estimation of the structure of the load diagram for the residential sector segregated by major end-uses.

From the diagram of [9] it is possible to verify that three specific uses of electricity (lighting, audiovisual equipment and cold) represent more than a third of the total evening peak demand. The project updated the percentages of energy end-use percentages.

The Portuguese energy agency ADENE [10] performed a study to analyze the energy usage in residential buildings in Portugal which assessed energy reduction and growth rates in relation to feasibility and cost, thus evaluating the most beneficial options (within the chosen criteria) to be adopted in the residential sector.

The recommendations of this study point to the need of awareness raising campaigns, of having segmented financial schemes (according to consumers income), of supporting community based projects in order to raise awareness, the advantages of using solar thermal collectors and also of training the public to measure the energy usage. The average Portuguese consumer does not know the amount of energy he/she consumes.

The official survey [1] intended to provide an up-to-date knowledge of the energy usage in the household sector for the different energy sources segregated by end-use. The total energy consumption for the household sector was estimated at 5,902,024 toe in 2010 (being 49.4% consumed in the household and 50.6% in individual transportation). In 2010 electricity was the main source of energy used (42.6%). In terms of segregated consumption by living quarters, kitchen 39%, water heating 23%, heating the household 21%, other electrical appliances 11% and lighting 5%.

#### **Behavioral studies**

The third branch portraits studies regarding the study of behaviors. According to Lopes et al. [11], energy behaviors represent a significant untapped potential for the increase of end-use energy efficiency, being usually neglected although it is as high as that of technological solutions.

In Portugal the only use of time study was published in [12]. Usually these studies are a possible contribution, e.g., for building bottom-up model [13] [14] using people routines under statistical elements to simulate behaviors and therefore estimate energy usage. According to the findings of this study [12] the way people use their time strongly depends of gender, if people are employed, however, it is more probable for women to keep the house and tend for children. Women spend also, an average of one hour less than men in paid work, but on the other hand, women spend 4.07 hours in housework for an

average of 1.30 hours for men. The TV occupied three quarters of the whole time spent in recreation and leisure activities.

A more recent study entitled EnergyProfiler [15] was developed trying to focus exclusively on the energy profiles of the Portuguese household sector. This study was based upon the presupposition that there is a need to change current energy consumption patterns, increase the knowledge over this subject and constitutes a reason to save energy and surpass barriers to enable decisions for saving energy. In [15] aimed to identify consumer profiles, classifying itself as the first Portuguese study to identify the typology and household profiles of the household sector based on a statistical analysis considering social-economic factors and psychosocial factors.

This study identified five types of household consumers, namely, receptive to energy efficiency, action oriented, responsibility diffusers, energy responsible and energy efficient which were split by sex, age and region. Despite the very positive type of profiles found by the authors it is stated that there is still the need to embrace awareness programs regarding:

Political measures:

- Programs that allow to value the energy efficiency factor in times of increased investment;
- Additional information in labeling;
- Measures and partnerships promoted by PPEC and ERSE;
- Programs based on incentives;
- Programs that encourage the purchase of more energy efficient technologies.

And, Behavioral programs:

- Promotion of knowledge concerning concrete actions for energy savings;
- Promotion of individual responsibility;
- Promotion of active and continued information;
- Increase of the knowledge of the population regarding their own consumption;
- More and better information in retailers;
- Specific consumer information to the identified profiles;
- Invest towards education of the younger population.

#### **Regulatory Framework**

The fourth branch highlights the regulatory framework according to which commercial relations are regulated in the Portuguese electric sector and presents the contribution of the measurement, reading and data availability guide in Portugal.

The regulation of commercial relations (RRC) set by the Portuguese regulator of energy services (ERSE) was approved by [16] and published in the [17] establishes that the responsibility for approving the measuring, reading and data disposition guide belongs to ERSE.

With the approval of this regulatory instrument [17] it is intended to systematize in a single document several matters relating to the measurement of electricity, reading of the measuring equipment and provision of data to the agents acting in the electricity market.

According to [18] the approval of the measuring, reading and data disposition guide is particularly important in a fully liberalized electricity market which requires full transparency and exemption in the activities of network operators, responsible for the supply, installation and reading measuring equipment, as well as for validating and segregating data consumption associated with client portfolios of suppliers on the market regime.

It is detached for the purposes of this study the importance of the information contained in [19] regarding the data processing in (only) Low Voltage (LV), including the estimates of consumption and the methodological approach for consumption profiles.

The consumption profiles are applied to all final customers that do not have a measurement equipment with the capacity to register consumption in periods of 15 minutes. The estimation of consumption broken down in periods of 15 minutes is made from consumption recorded in other final customers measurement equipment or estimated, and the final profile applicable.

There are two sets of LV profiles, initial and final. The ERSE profiles (initial profiles) and the reference load diagrams are approved and published yearly by this entity after the joint presentation by network operators.

The end profiles are obtained by adjusting the initial profiles, based on variations between the Load Reference Diagram and the System Load Diagram. With this adjustment is intended to minimize the mistakes eventually created by load fluctuations due to unpredictable factors such as temperature and luminosity. These profiles are made available by Redes Energéticas Nacionais (REN).

There are three regular LV profiles, namely:

- Class A profile for costumers with contracted power above 13.8 kVA;
- Class B profile for costumers with contracted power below or equal to 13.8 kVA and annual consumption above 7140 kWh;
- Class C profile for clients with contracted power below or equal to 13.8 kVA and annual consumption inferior to 7140 kWh.

According to [20] the profiles are prepared in a monthly basis, so it is expected that during each month:

- all workdays assume a similar load shape;
- Saturdays and Sundays have particular profiles and also different from each other;
- in the presence of a holiday, the associated profile assumes a profile similar to a Sunday.

The last report provided by ERSE is referred in [21]. This report intends to present the assumptions that comprise the different tariff schemes for the year of 2013, as well as, the premises considered for defining the typical load diagrams used for the tariff calculation, according to the tariff regulation [22].

It will be referred next a summary table listing the studies that were mentioned in this article including, year, reference number, target region, suggestion of DSM and DR actions, if the study includes behavior evaluation, if electrical energy consumption is characterized and finally if a typical load profile is provided.

Year	Reference	Target	Suggests DSM actions	Suggests DR actions	Studies regarding behavior	Characterizes Electrical Energy Consumption	Presents a typical load profile
2001	[12]	Portugal	×	×	~	×	*
2002	[3]	EU	~	×	*	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$
2004	[9]	Portugal	~	×	*	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$
2007	[5]	Portugal	~	×	×	$\checkmark$	×
2008	[6]	EU	~	×	×	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$
2009	[10]	Portugal	~	×	×	$\checkmark$	×
2010	[7]	EU	~	×	×	$\checkmark$	×
2011	[15]	Portugal	$\checkmark$	×	~	×	×
2011	[1]	Portugal	×	×	×	$\checkmark$	×
2011	[19] & [22]	Portugal	×	×	×	×	$\checkmark$
2012	[2]	Portugal	×	~	×	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$
2012	[21]	Portugal	×	×	×	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$

## Table 1 – Review of studies regarding electrical energy usage/influence for the Portuguese household sector.

#### Methodology for evaluating profiles

The purpose of this methodology is to provide a simple evaluation procedure for the comparison of load profiles of the residential sector with the ability to be benchmarked by reference studies that developed

a load diagram. The general idea consists in comparing the load profiles which are approved for the civil year by the Portuguese national energy regulator (ERSE)<sup>1</sup>, before the changes provided by the transmission operator (REN)<sup>2</sup> caused by load fluctuations due to unpredictable factors such as temperature and luminosity, with typical load profiles provided by load research studies.

The profiles provided by ERSE and REN are comprised, for each profile and for each day of the year, by a 15 minute sampling represented in the per-unit system and is also provided the power value for the reference profile for the same period.

This methodology can be applicable to end-use global load diagrams as in [9] or typical/average individual end-use load profiles as in [6]. The fitting operations are represented in the following flowchart.

#### Figure 2 - Fitting operation flowchart for the profile comparison.



In order to compare the profiles it will be necessary to place them with the same sum, average and integration periods (96 15 minute periods to 24 1 hour period).

The evaluation comprised in Figure 2 provides the hourly difference between the load profile from ERSE with other chosen profile with the attainment of the maximum positive hourly variation (MPHV), the maximum negative hourly variation (MNHV) and the average variation (AV) for the profiles under study. After this initial investigation it is possible to try to assemble another load diagram on top of the ERSE profile, using available information (e.g., yearly domestic average electrical energy consumption) combined with the hourly weight of each load) and estimate the region or city per end-use energy, as in Figure 3.



Figure 3 - Methodology for obtaining an average day city segregated electrical energy consumption load diagram.

The average load diagram that is provided with this methodology benefits from the information provided by the study of the comparison between load profiles, namely, MPHV, MHNV and AV.

#### Results

As stated previously the load research studies considered here are produced with different methodologies, techniques, time-span and even target audience so it is required some caution while comparing end-use results.

For example, in [9] and [2] the end-use results were produced based on previous studies, e.g. [3], and it forecasted the increase of the role of electricity in the residential sector, the replacement of already older appliances/equipment and the application of *kill bill* measures (especially DSM). Another unknown mentioned in [9] was the impact of the, at the time, new thermal and energy regulation for buildings and the usage consequences for heating, ventilation and air conditioning (HVAC). This change, associated also with the increased thermal comfort required by people led to an increase in the percentages of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> www.erse.pt

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> www.ren.pt

Sorial #	Sovial # End use description		Study			
Senal #	End-use description	[9] <b>[%]</b>	[6] <b>[%]</b>	[2] <b>[%]</b>	[1] <b>[%]</b>	
1	Cold Appliances [%]	29,11	24,89	26,65		
2	Clothes washer [%]	4,27		3,94		
3	Clothes dryer [%]	2,39	16,40	3,48	40,50	
4	Dish washer [%]	3,25		4,05		
5	Cooking equipment [%]	-	8,69	-		
6	Office equipment [%]	6,73	10,33	12,21	22.90	
7	Entertainment equipment [%]	9,84	8,57	9,01	32,00	
8	Lighting equipment [%]	11,66	17,23	10,68	13,60	
9	Other equipment consumption [%]	32,75	3,72	29,98	-	
10	HV/AC = beating [%]			-	9,10	
	TTAC - Treating [76]	-	10,18			
11	HVAC – cooling [%]			-	1,60	
12	Water heating [%]	-	-	-	2,40	

electrical heating/cooling as shown in [6] and more recently in [1]. These end-use percentages are represented in Table 2.

## Table 2 - Comparison between end-use weights in the average consumption of reference studies.

Evaluating the data provided by these studies and possible "matches", it can be referred the similar role assigned to refrigeration equipment with 29.11% in [9], 24.89% in [6] and 26.65% in [2]. The combined percentage of serial #1-5 in [9] represents 39.02% while in [6] this value increases to 49.98% dropping to 40.5% in [1] while the updated values of [2] represent 38.12%.

The percentage for the office equipment (#6) and the entertainment equipment (#7) is similar in both [9], [6] and [2], but different from the announced value of 32.9% for [1]. This is justifiable because in the latter study it is also included the energy usage for the vacuum cleaner, the iron and the dehumidifier (or similar devices).

The usage ratio for the lighting equipment is similar in both three studies with an amplitude of 10.68% in [2] and 17.23% in [6]. Another relevant piece of information provided by the most recent statistical study [1] estimates a 9.10% ratio for HVAC heating and a more modest 1.60% for HVAC-cooling. It is also provided in this study, for the first time, the inclusion of percentage for electrical water heating, possibly explainable due to the former government support/incentive for thermal solar in households (http://www.paineissolares.gov.pt/) that can use electricity as a backup energy. Using the methodology described in Figure 2, it was initially calculated the value for the hourly difference between the average ERSE type C profile, which is considered to be the profile (among those provided by ERSE/REN) that can better represent/describe electrical consumption in Portuguese households and the adjusted average REN profile. This evaluation is demonstrated in Figure 4 for the 2012 values of these profiles covering the full year for the ERSE profile and the period of the first of January to the thirty-first of September for the REN profile.



Figure 4 – Comparison between type C average ERSE and REN profiles.

It was found, for the ERSE and REN profiles, a maximum positive hourly variation (MPHV) of 4.93% and a maximum negative hourly variation (MNHV) of -6.14% and an average variation (AV) of 0.11%. These figures (and similarity) demonstrate the reliability of the initial values provided by the ERSE profile.

The following profile comparison (Figure 5) considers the EEESECR2004 original profile of [9] which represents an average for the total demand segregated by end-use for the Portuguese household sector in 2004. It was reached and MPHV of 17.26%, and an MNHV of -28.91% with an average variation of -1.16%.



Figure 5 - Comparison between type C average ERSE for 2012 and the EEESECR2004 original profiles.

In Figure 6 it is compared the ERSE type C profile with the updated values provided by [2]. It was achieved an MPHV of 20.39% and an MNHV of -36.32% with an average variation of -1.40%.



Figure 6 - Comparison between type C average ERSE for 2012 and the EEESECR2004 updated profiles.



Figure 7 - Comparison between type C average ERSE for 2012 and the REMODECE2008 profiles.

It is shown in Figure 7 the comparison between the ERSE type C profile and the REMODECE2008 diagram which represents a residential European average profile by end-use for a typical day in Europe.

The MPHV and MNHV percentages are further to the ERSE profile if compared to the REMODECE2008 than in EEESECR2004 with 19.84% and -25.27% and an AV of 1.36%.

Within this methodology and considering the concept for the regulated load profile it is also possible to evaluate/compare the profiles provided by [9] and [6] with the ERSE profile multiplied by the integral of consumption over time for each load diagram provided by the studies. Since the load profiles have the same sum and average, the MPHV, MNHV and AV are equal to the unitary vector counterparts.

Comparing the 2012 type C ERSE profile with:	Maximum Positive Hourly Variation [%]	Maximum Negative Hourly Variation [%]	Average Variation [%]
2012 REN type C average profile (inserir referência previamente)	4.93	-6.14	0.11
[9] (EEESECR2004 original)	21.31	-32.94	-1.81
[2] (EEESECR2004 updated)	20.39	-36.21	-1.40
[6] (REMODECE)	19.84	-25.27	1.36

#### Table 3 - Summary table of the differences between profiles.

In [2] the author used the updated rates of possession of [1] to change the hourly end-use impact of the consumption diagram presented by [9].

Using this information and splitting the household equipment in different types of control, namely, schedulable and interruptible, interruptible and parameterizable and not controllable loads [23] [24] [25] it is possible to verify that in average it is possible to exert some kind of control over 48,79%.

				Type of loads	[%]		
Schedulable & Interruptible		Interruptible and Parameterizable		Not controlable			
Clothes Washer	Dish Washer	Clothes dryer	Lighting	Cold Appliances	Office Entertainment C Equipment Equipment Appl		
3,94	4,05	3,48	10,68	26,65	12,21	9,01	29,98
11,46		37,33		51,21			

Table 4 - Type of load by possibility of control.

City	Average Electrical Consumption [kWh/year]	Average# DomesticElectricalElectricityonsumptionConsumers[kWh/year]Consumers		Total electric consumption [kWh]
Coimbra	2.966,10	76.642	227.327.836,20	807.695.514

Table 5 - Electric domestic consumption in the City of Coimbra for the year of 2010 (PORDATA).

The fitting process considered the updated rate of appliances of [2]. The hourly impact (percentage) of each appliance/equipment is maintained. Using the methodology represented in Figure 3, this is multiplied by the power value for each hour, the value per equipment is obtained for a specific city.



Figure 8 – Estimation of the distribution of electrical energy for the average day for the city of Coimbra with loads represented by decreasing regularity of the standard deviation.

This consumption end use graph is obtained with an MPHV of 20.39%, MNHV of -36.21% and AV of - 1.40%.

#### Conclusions

From the obtained results it is possible to conclude that it is possible to relate the regulated typical profiles with profiles provided by load research studies considering the variation/difference among them.

The advantages of the developed methodology aims to be capable to provide the smart-grid range of value for the Energy Box per Municipality, considering MPHV, MNHV and AV, by using information regarding: the electrical energy consumption, the existence of regulated consumption profiles, the hourly information regarding the average energy usage of households.



Figure 9 - Usefulness of this procedure.

It is expected that in the near future this procedure can evolve to a methodology that can also make use of the information provided by other regulated profiles like the photovoltaic micro-generation model, also provided by ERSE, as well as to include electric energy storage, e.g. electric vehicles.

The information provided by this methodology can be updated every year and be used to model the importance of each end-use therefore enabling the study of DSM and DR actions.

The current disadvantages/limitations of this methodology is the fact that it is assumed the national percentage of equipment/appliances and hourly rate of consumption for all Portugal Continental. Another existent disadvantage is that it is provided an average value for the whole year, not allowing, yet, an evaluation for the different seasons of the year.

#### Acknowledgements

This work has been framed under the Energy for Sustainability Initiative of the University of Coimbra and supported by the Energy and Mobility for Sustainable Regions Project CENTRO-07-0224-FEDER-002004 and Fundação para a Ciência e a Tecnologia (FCT) under grant SFRH/BD/88127/2012, and project grants MIT/SET/0018/2009 and PEst-C/EEI/UI0308/2011.

#### References

- [1] INE; DGEG, "Inquérito ao consumo de energia no sector doméstico," ISSN 2182-0139, 2011.
- [2] M. G. C. Ribeiro, "Redes Inteligentes e o Conceito Energy Box Simulação do impacto do deslocamento de cargas no sector residencial, em Portugal," MSc Thesis, University of Coimbra, 2012.
- [3] EURECO, "End-use metering campaign in 400 households of the European Community," Save Programme Contract n.º 4.1031/Z/98-267, 2002.
- [4] O. Sidler, "ECODROME Rapport Final Etude Expérimentale des Appareils électroménagers à haute efficacité énergétique placés en situation réelle," Enertech, Programme Save Contrat n.º 4.1031/s/94-093, 1998.
- [5] Quercus Associação Nacional de Conservação da Natureza, "Programa Ecofamilias Relatório Final," Quercus, 2007.
- [6] REMODECE, "Residential Monitoring to decrease Energy Use and Carbon Emission in Europe," Intelligent Energy Europe and FCT POCI/V.5/B106/2005, 2008.
- SELINA, "Standby and Off-Mode Energy Losses in New Appliances Measured in Shops," ISBN 978-972-8822-21-7, IEE/07/563/S12.499206, 2010.
- [8] The Comission of the European Communities, "Commission Regulation no 1275/2008, implementing Directive 2005/32/EC of the EU Parliament and of the Council with regard to ecodesign requirements for standby and off mode electric consumption of electrical and electronic household and office equipment," Official Journal of the European Union, pp. L339/45-L339/52 (EN), 2008.
- [9] DGGE/IP-3E, "Eficiência Energética em Equipamentos e Sistemas Eléctricos no Sector Residencial," DGGE/IP-3E, ISBN 972-8268-31-9, 2004.

[10] ADENE,

"CASA+

Feasibility Analysis for energy efficiency technologies in residential buildings of Portugal," Final Report, 2009.

- [11] M. Lopes, C. Antunes and N. Martins, "Energy behaviours as promoters of energy efficiency: A 21st century review," *Elsevier, Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 16,* pp. 4095-4104, 2012.
- [12] INE, "Inquérito à ocupação do tempo (IOT) Principais Resultados 1999," INE, ISSN 1645-1961, 2001.
- [13] J. Seryak and K. Kissock, "Occupancy and behavioral affects on residential energy," in *Solar Conference*, Austin, Texas, 2003.
- [14] L. G. Swan and V. I. Ugursal, "Modeling of end-use energy consumption in the residential sector: A review of modeling techniques," *Elsevier - Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, pp. 1819-1835, 2009.
- [15] Energaia, Factor Social, TerraSystemics, "EnergyProfiler Transformar Atitudes em Ação:Perfil Energético do Setor Residencial," Final Report, 2011.
- [16] ERSE, "Despacho n.º 18 993-A de 31 Agosto Revisão: do Regulamento de Relações Comerciais, do Regulamento Tarifário e do Regulamento do Acesso às Redes," ERSE, 2005.
- [17] Imprensa Nacional da Casa da Moeda, "Revisão do: Regulamento de Relações Comerciais, do Regulamento Tarifário e do Regulamento do Acesso às Redes e às Interligações do sector elétrico," *Diário da República, II série, n.º 167 de 31 agosto,* pp. 12756-(2) to 12756-(154), 2005.
- [18] ERSE, "Despacho n.º 4 591-A- Guia de Medição, Leitura e Disponibilização de Dados," ERSE, 2007.
- [19] Imprensa Nacional da Casa da Moeda, "Diretiva (extrato) n.º 2/2012 Guia de medição, Leitura e Disponibilização de dados para Portugal Continental," *Diário da República, 2ª série, n.º 5 - 6 janeiro,* vol. Parte E, pp. 544-546, 2012.
- [20] J. Sousa, L. Neves and H. Jorge, "Integrating information available from load profiling in electric load forecasting," Research Report, No.17, INESC-Coimbra, Coimbra, Portugal, 2009.
- [21] ERSE, Caracterização da procura de energia elétrica em 2013, Lisboa: ERSE, 2012.
- [22] ERSE, "Regulamento n.º 496/2011 Aprovação dos novos regulamentos: Regulamento de Relações Comerciais, Regulamento Tarifário e Regulamento do acesso às Redes e Interligações," Diário da República, 2.ª série - n.º 159 - 19 de agosto, pp. 34035-34322, 2011.
- [23] D. Livengood and R. Larson, "The Energy Box: Locally Automated Optimal Control of Residential Electricity Usage," in *Service Science (1)*, Engineering Systems Division, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, 2009, pp. 1-16.
- [24] D. J. Livengood, "The Energy Box: Comparing Locally Automated Control Strategies of Residential Electricity Consumption under Uncertainty," PhD Thesis, Massachussets Institute of Technology, Massachussets, USA, 2011.
- [25] F. Zeilinger, "Simulation of the Effect of Demand Side Management to the Power Consumption of Households," in *3rd International Youth Conference on Energetics 2011*, Leiria, 2011.

#### Energy and Economic Optimization to Achieve Near Zero Energy Homes in Europe: Implications of Inclusion of Lighting and Appliances

#### Danny S. Parker, Philip W. Fairey, Andreas H. Hermelink Florida Solar Energy Center, Ecofys GmbH

#### Abstract

Achieving annual net zero energy use in homes has been demonstrated as feasible in dozens of monitored projects in the United States.[1] In particular, very low energy use homes in Europe have been proven within the Passivhaus approach.[2] Achieving "nearly zero energy buildings" (NZEB) has also been established as a vital objective over the next decade within the European Union (EU) (Boermans et al., 2011). However, reaching this result at the lowest possible cost remains a key challenge around the world. Balancing renewable power generation with energy efficiency will be vital in Europe as anticipated by Voss, Musall and Lichtmeß.[4] We describe new energy optimization software, EnergyGauge: CostOpt developed to address this need. The model performs detailed hourly sequential simulations showing how to achieve very low or zero energy home designs at the lowest possible cost in a variety of climates. The model can be used either for optimization of new or existing homes, which often have very different costs for various envelope measures. We have adapted the model to run in European climates and demonstrate it here simulating existing homes in 31 representative locations. A key result of our investigation is that energy reductions of 70-100% are economically feasible for existing EU residences. Finally, we illustrate how exclusion of lighting and appliances results in sub-optimal solutions, particularly for electricity use which has a disproportionate impact on greenhouse gas emissions. The results have important implications for the NZEB target established by the EU.

#### **Building Energy Simulation and Optimization Model**

The calculation model in *EnergyGauge* is rigorous, using the powerful hourly energy simulation, DOE-2.1E developed by the Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory.[5] This model estimates household heating, cooling, water heating and appliance loads by each hour. Fundamental building thermodynamics are estimated via transfer functions using a multi-zone representation. A variety of fuels can be simulated. The simulation has been indexed to real buildings to verify its potential to replicate measured energy use in cold versus hot climates.[6] The simulation model has been adapted to run in European climates by adding the needed hourly IWEC weather data files, converting to metric inputs and modifying cost data into a Euro format. Using similar inputs, favorable comparisons have also been produced against the Passivhaus Planning Package (PHPP) software.[7] The economic optimization method is consistent with established procedures for Nearly Zero Energy Buildings in the EU (OJ C 2010/31/EU).

For use with the optimization, we developed nearly one hundred energy conservation measures (ECMs) including insulation, window types, air tightness, heating, cooling, water heating, appliances and lighting. This includes a comprehensive cost database with measure characteristics, life, operation and maintenance and cost. Renewable energy production is evaluated using a photovoltaic (PV) simulation (PVFORM) and a prediction of solar water heating performance based on hourly correlations to the TRNSYS model. For a given location, this allows the cost effectiveness of energy efficiency measures to compete directly with the cost of renewable energy production to determine the least cost path to near zero energy. Even in cold climates, this method may offer some advantages against the more standard *Passivhaus* approach as it is may be possible to reach zero energy performance at similar cost.[8]

The optimization model evaluates the entire suite of options (typically 50-100 measures), selects the option with the highest benefit to cost net present value ratio (termed the Saving to Investment Ratio or SIR), incorporates this option, and then re-simulates all available options. The process continues in this manner until an SIR or 1.0 is reached or until zero energy is achieved using PV resources.

Within our example, an existing home in poor condition is optimized for Berlin, Germany, selecting from available ECMs. The simulated energy demand from each fuel along with the cost data are used to analyze the cost effectiveness of individual measures using the SIR metric. For existing homes, the analysis can consider two different scenarios: a) outright retrofit of existing components and equipment at full cost or b) incremental cost at time of natural replacement.

The cost effectiveness calculations are based on the present value of the life-cycle costs and benefits of the measures over an analysis period of 30 years. The procedures for estimating the life cycle cost calculations are well documented.[9] The assumed economic parameters for the example analysis are shown in Table 1 are based recommended guidelines supplementing Directive 2010/31/EU. The assumed costs, service lives, and maintenance fractions for each of the 75 considered retrofit measures considered are given in an easy to alter Excel spreadsheet which feeds the simulation. The analysis can conducted assuming that retrofit measures are purchased either outright, or through financing, the period of which can be varied. The assumed economic evaluation rates for the calculations presented here are given in Table 1 below as consistent with suggested macroeconomic trends.[10] The value for the energy price inflation rate implicitly approximates the EU Emissions Trading scheme with carbon pricing assumptions of  $25 \notin /tCO_2$  in 2020 to  $39 \notin /tCO_2$  in 2020.

Category	Rate
General Inflation Rate (GR)	2.0%
Energy Price Inflation Rate (ER)	3.0%
Financing Interest Rate (MR)	5.0%
Discount Rate (DR)	5.0%
Down Payment with Financing	10.0%
Current Electricity Price	€0.26/kWh
Current Natural Gas Price	€17.70/ GJ

	Table 1.	Economic	Parameters	for	Optimization
--	----------	----------	------------	-----	--------------

The physical building and economic parameters are easily modified for analysis; adding measures or combinations of measures to the library is straightforward. Depending on climate and building efficiency starting point, approximately 250-500 simulations with 5-25 iterations are required to reach the optimal set of building characteristics. A complete optimization takes approximately one to two hours on a desktop computer.

#### Example Results: Optimization of an Existing Home in Berlin

We illustrate the optimization approach for Berlin in a very poorly insulated existing 150 m<sup>2</sup> home loosely based on the prototype description in a recent study by Ecofys GmbH and the Danish Building Research Institute.[3] Fundamental characteristics are summarized in Table 2.

#### Table 2. Characteristics of Poorly Insulated Home for Optimization Example

House Size	150 m <sup>2</sup> over 2.5 m unheated cellar
Windows	23 m <sup>2</sup> double clear glass with significant air leakage (~3.0 W/m <sup>2</sup> K)
Walls	Un-insulated frame walls (~2.8 W/m <sup>2</sup> K)
Attic	R-3.3 existing insulation (~0.25 W/m <sup>2</sup> K
Doors	Un-insulated wood entry door (~2.8 W/m <sup>2</sup> K)
Air Leakage	Very leaky (8 ACH @ 50Pa blower door pressure)
Heating	Hydronic natural gas heating system,75% efficiency
Cooling	COP 2.9 mini-split cooling system in climates requiring cooling (not in Berlin)
Settings	20°C for heating, 18°C from 11 PM to 6 AM daily; cooling 26°C
Hot Water	155 I poorly insulated hot water tank in cellar providing 150 I per day @ 55°C
Appliances	Standard clothes dryer, washer, dishwasher, televisions etc.
Lighting	85% incandescent lamps (15% fluorescent)

The inefficient baseline existing home is predicted to use 4,077 kWh per year and 124 GJ of natural gas for space and water heating and cooking (space heat is approximately 100 GJ). For our initial

analysis, cost data is based on a database of the cost of various efficiency measures developed by the U.S. National Renewable Energy Laboratory and converted to Euros (<u>http://www.nrel.gov/ap/retrofits/about.cfm</u>). This was refined by review of costs in Europe for various components and equipment.

Rather than regional prices for electricity and fuels, for this evaluation we use a consistent price so that climate-related differences are highlighted. Representative energy costs for electricity and natural gas were taken from the Eurostat website (<u>http://epp.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/</u>). As such, the analysis presented here is more illustrative of the method and approach, rather than a definitive evaluation for specific locations.

No financial incentives were assumed for either efficiency or renewable energy sources so all can be evaluated on a fair playing field. However, differing measure life is specified for each measure. For instance, most insulation measures are assumed to last at least 50 years as opposed to renewable energy systems which might last 20-30 years and require operation and maintenance during that time and replacement before the end of the analysis period. A key leverage point in the analysis is that if PV electricity system is specified, its cost effectiveness becomes the key economic test for other competing measures, which should be installed before the PV system is considered.

The final selected options comprise insulating the un-insulated walls to R-2.3, improving ceiling insulation to R-8.6, insulating the cellar on the interior, a better insulated entrance door, substantially reducing building air leakage, a 96% efficiency fully condensing gas boiler and with improved pipe insulation, modern hot water saving plumbing fixtures,100% efficient lighting and an energy efficient clothes dryer. After the measure selection, a 4 kW grid-connected PV system is installed that more than produces all the electricity needed by the site.

Our example analysis shows the capability to achieve approximately an 80% energy savings in Berlin with cost effective retrofits at a lower cost than the current building, paying for energy costs without the improvements. The measures selected were as follows:

Code	Description
AirSealing	Building air leakage reduced from 8 ACH@50Pa to 4 ACH
FrmWR-2.3	Insulate un-insulated wall cavities to R-2.3 (drill & fill system)
CeilR5.3	Increase ceiling insulation level from R-3.3 to R-5.3
CeilR6.7	Increase ceiling insulation level from R-5.3 to R-6.7
Pipeins	Insulate exposed hot water piping in the cellar (R-1)
LowFISho	Change plumbing fixtures to modern low flow fixtures
InsDoor	Retrofit existing un-insulated door to R-1 insulated model
BsmtWR3.3	Retrofit R-3.3 insulation to the interior of the cellar walls with finished wallboard
Tighter	Building air leakage reduced from 4 ACH@50Pa to 3 ACH
CeilR8.6	Increase ceiling insulation level from R-6.7 to R-8.6
100% Lights	Convert all interior lighting to compact fluorescent or LED sources
Ef_Dryer	Install Class A heat pump clothes dryer
Eff Washer	Add Class A energy efficient clothes washer
Boiler-96%	96% efficient condensing boiler installed
4kW-PV	Add 4 kW <sub>dc</sub> roof-top photovoltaic system with 95% efficiency inverter

Table 3.	Selected	Order of	of Measures	for Berlin	Optimization	Example
					• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	

The selected package of measures in the example had a total costs of €28,050 of which the turnkey 4-kW PV system was €14,700. The efficiency improvements reduced household natural gas use by 61% (125 to 49 GJ annually) and electricity consumption by 33% (3,853 to 2,599 kWh/yr). After the efficiency improvements, a 4 kW PV system is able to produce more electricity (3,684 kWh/yr) than the improved home uses annually.

The combined total annual source energy required, considering both efficiency improvements and renewable power generation, is cut by 77% resulting in a reduction in annual  $CO_2$  emissions from the household of approximately 7 metric tonnes.

It should be noted that, the cost of improving existing buildings can be much greater than for new ones for certain building elements such as walls, air sealing and elimination of thermal bridges. To the extent that the cost data base reflects these differences, the selection by the optimization model will be dramatically different for new buildings which will typically more resemble *Passivhaus* levels of air tightness and insulation in Europe. Figure 1-3 detail the results of the optimization as sequential measures are selected for the example retrofitted house.



Figure 1. Impact of Optimization Measures on Household Natural Gas Consumption



Figure 2: Impact of Optimized Measures on Electricity Use and First Year Annualized Costs



Figure 3: Impact of Optimization on Net Present Value, Percent Energy Saved and Installed Cost

#### Sensitivity of Optimization Results to Climate

The above analysis was duplicated with the same building and assumptions in Madrid, Spain. In that sunny location, the 4-kW PV system shows much greater output (6,096 kWh/year). Also, the home itself shows greater electrical loads due to cooling- 4,990 kWh which are cut by installed efficiency measures to 3,303 kWh—a 34% reduction. With Madrid's milder weather, gas consumptions starts out at 70 GJ and is reduced by 56% to 31 GJ. The final selected options were similar to those selected for Berlin although with less emphasis on air tightness—a reflection of the milder climate.



Figure 4: Reduction in Site Energy by Optimization in Madrid, Spain

Total source energy and associated emissions in Madrid are reduced by 100% with a cost of the full package of measures of  $\notin$ 24,100. Figure 4 above shows the results in terms of the reduced site energy. There are also financial advantages. The homeowner annually saves approximately  $\notin$ 1,288 the first year even after accounting for interest expenses.

It should be noted that including a PV system in the analysis can truncate efficiency measures which are less cost effective than generating the same savings from the solar system. Although not shown here, an optimization for Rome, Italy shows less ceiling insulation and air tightness justified beyond that in Berlin before installing the PV system, because of increased solar electrical output and milder heating-related consumption. Similarly, the same evaluation for Oslo, Norway or Tampere, Finland justifies greater insulation efficiency levels due to the extreme climate and lower PV output.

Table 4 shows the comparative predicted energy use for the unimproved prototype building along with the PV output from the 4 kW PV system as well as the optimized near zero energy building in 31 selected European locations. Although the building stock, appliance saturation and fuels used vary by location (for instance most Norwegian homes are electrically heated due to low-cost hydroelectric power), such evaluation gives an idea of the physical influences of climate severity against the solar PV resource.

## Table 4: Predicted Initial Electricity, Natural Gas and PV electric output in 31 Locations for Base and Optimized Near Zero Energy Buildings in 31 Locations

IWEC	Base	Building	Optimized Near Zero Energy Building			
Location	Annual	Annual	Solar	Annual	Natural	Source
	Electricity	Natural Gas	PVH	Net	Gas	Savings
	(kWh)	(GJ)	(KWh)	(kWh)	(GJ)	(%)
Amsterdam, NLD	3,833	118	3,724	-970	44	79%
Athens, GRC	5,896*	46	6,170	-2,006	20	102%
Berlin, DEU	3,853	125	3,684	-1,084	49	77%
Bremen, DEU	3,875	134	3,608	-796	51	76%
Brussels, BEL	3,830	116	3,361	-597	45	76%
Copenhagen, DNK	3,897	143	3,792	-733	55	75%
Debrecen, HUN	3,829	115	4,711	-1,947	45	85%
Frankfurt, DEU	3,383	118	3,873	-1,195	46	79%
Köln, DEU	3,833	118	3,587	-823	45	78%
Geneva, CHE	3,810	108	4,410	-1,665	42	84%
Hamburg, DEU	3,868	131	3,604	-787	51	76%
Kiev, UKR	3,895	141	4,633	-1,565	56	79%
Linz, AUT	3,858	127	4,153	-1,344	50	79%
Lisbon, PRT	4,247*	39	6,301	-3,402	20	120%
London, GBR	3,810	109	3,832	-1,105	40	81%
Madrid, ESP	4,990*	70	6,096	-2,793	31	100%
Moscow, RUS	3,976	172	3,732	-782	43	84%
Munich, DEU	3,887	138	4,248	-1,296	54	78%
Oslo, NOR	3,940	158	3,438	-429	50	78%
Paris, FRA	3,798	104	3,941	-1,215	40	82%
Palermo, ITA	5,756*	28	6,304	-2,276	14	111%
Prague, CZE	3,904	145	3,523	-565	44	80%
Rome, ITA	4,785*	52	5,562	-2,630	25	103%
Salzburg, AUT	3,851	124	3,987	-1,190	49	79%
Seville, ESP	6,139*	32	6,576	-2,514	15	113%
Sofia, BGR	3,829	115	4,013	-1,246	44	80%
Stockholm, SWE	3,949	162	3,664	-656	47	81%
Stuttgart, DEU	3,851	125	4,139	-1,352	47	79%
Tampere, FIN	4,017	188	3,680	-913	46	85%
Vienna, AUT	3,846	122	4,223	-1,429	47	81%
Warsaw, POL	3,896	141	3,782	-834	40	82%

\*Assumes cooling system is available in these locations

HAnnual output of 4 kW<sub>dc</sub> photovoltaic system on unobstructed south-facing roof

If it is not desirable to judge efficiency versus renewable generation, alternate results can be obtained by deleting the PV system. Similarly, it is possible to optimize a building with no heating and/or cooling equipment upgrades available to assess the optimal building shell improvements alone. Although the EU specifies 30 years for this type of analysis, it can be argued that 50 years would be a more representative time line as many important options, such as higher levels of insulation, have very long life relative to shorter lived options. Finally, as the model has hourly output, it is possible to directly assess predicted winter and summer peak impacts of selected measures along with that of the PV element.

#### **Influence of Incremental Measures on Optimization Results**

Using the optimization model, it becomes apparent that the ratio of initial measure expense to energy savings level largely governs the resulting series selection. Service life is also a factor. This indicates the need to collect the most representative European cost data for use with future optimization.

Within an incremental analysis, also becomes clear that measures which are at the end of their useful lives are very often selected whereas they are not chosen in the "outright replacement" paradigm. This is because the cost for outright replacement to the most efficient appliance is often much greater than the incremental cost to choose the same efficient model over the standard one when it is worn out.

For instance, in the example given, if it is indicated that the heating system, dishwasher, clothes washer and refrigerator are all needing replacement, the optimization will readily choose the most efficient models for these (for instance the *Top-Runner*, or *A++* models) within the optimization whereas they are not selected otherwise.

The concept of an incremental evaluation has important implications for retrofitting existing buildings where a building-specific audit to evaluate remaining appliance and building component life may positively influence the savings potential. Based on an incremental analysis for Berlin in Figure 5, replacement of worn out windows, efficient washers, dishwasher and a more efficient heating system results in 11 GJ of additional site energy savings and 92% overall source energy savings at a lower total cost ( $\in$ 24,800). The same type of analysis conducted in Madrid also selected the better appliances, but improved the cooling system on replacement and also achieved more than a 100% reduction to annual source energy demand even with a smaller 3 kW PV system.



Figure 5: Source energy reduction from optimization for Berlin example with incremental costs for measures.

This approach may argue for a two-tiered analysis: one for of items that should be improved right away, along with another evaluation of those that should be upgraded to best technology at the time they reach the end of their service life.

#### Impact of Not Considering Appliances and Lighting in the Optimization

The current approach for locating optimal paths for achieving near zero energy buildings in the EU does not require the energy use in appliances and lighting be considered in the optimization process.[11] However, our results indicate that exclusion serves to limit achieved energy savings— particularly for electricity—and would require increase to more expensive photovoltaics to reach similar reduction levels. This is particularly true in the case of lighting where the economic advantage of CFL and LED lighting is very compelling for retrofitting existing homes.

To illustrate, we performed the same optimization analysis for Berlin and Madrid when appliances and lighting options are not available within the optimization. Achieved energy savings are lower in both locations. For the same prototype, source energy reductions are lowered from 77% to 71% in Berlin and from 113% to 93% in Madrid. In particular, not including lighting and appliances leads to compromised electricity efficiency. In Berlin eliminating lighting and appliances from consideration results a loss of economic savings of 1,311 kWh/year. This could be offset by more PV, but at a higher incremental cost. Results also showed the importance of considering appliance and lighting energy is progressively more important in warmer climates where lower internal heat gain levels can reduce potential space cooling.

Our results clearly indicate that including appliance and lighting energy in the optimization process is important to achieve nearly zero energy buildings at the lowest possible incremental cost. Moreover, this inclusion will likely become more important as the growth in home appliances and electronics continues to expand in the EU.

#### Summary

We describe a comprehensive energy simulation and cost optimization model that is a powerful means to find the least cost approach to achieve nearly zero energy homes. *EnergyGauge Costopt* consists of a detailed energy simulation, a detailed economic evaluation calculation and powerful optimization model. It is possible to evaluate both new and existing home designs and to consider how component remaining life influences the optimal choices for house retrofits.

We provided an example of the calculation method in action for a poorly insulated existing home in Berlin, Germany and Madrid, Spain. Parametric studies have also been completed for other European climates. We show it is possible to reach a very low energy design in existing homes with approximately a 75% - 100% source energy savings (and similar greenhouse gas reductions) at the lowest cost through using a combination of better insulation, windows, building tightness as well as improved Energy efficient Class-A appliances, lighting and home energy management systems along with a 4 kW PV system. In both locations, optimized building has less than zero net electricity consumption on an annual basis and natural gas consumption for space heating and water heating is reduced by 56% in Madrid and 61% in Berlin. However, the achievement of net electricity neutrality is only achieved if home lighting and appliances are optimized at the same time that the building "technical" systems are addressed.

While we provide a conservative economic assessment above, it is possible to alter the inputs to consider very long time horizons and/or higher energy inflation rates. The optimization can also be limited to only non-equipment related options, providing best evaluation of one-time opportunities such as building component insulation levels. It may be advisable to perform this type of optimization first since one can argue that heating, cooling and appliance systems are renewed several times during a building's life, whereas the envelope measures are in place for a long time with few points of possible intervention.

Using the model, we find somewhat different optimization results between cold and cloudy locations, such as Berlin and sunny ones, such as Madrid. For instance, in the warmer locations, interior appliance efficiency measures are selected earlier as heating loads are not as significantly increased, and in the case of the warmest locations—cooling loads may be reduced. In colder climates, insulation and building tightness appear most important.

Such an analysis method can provide important input on how to achieve very low or zero energy homes in the European climate at the lowest possible cost. This methodology may augment the efficiency-only *Passivhaus* approach since renewable energy resources can be fairly evaluated against incremental building improvements. Similarly, important building thermal improvements are not shortchanged since the differing lifetimes of insulation, equipment and renewable energy systems can be fully taken into account within a balance approach.

Finally, we examined how excluding appliances and lighting from the optimization process, as currently allowed in the 2010/31/EU approach, impacts results. We found that such an oversight reduces the achieved savings, particularly for electricity, and increases the cost for reductions achieved. Accordingly, we recommend that the adopted EU optimization process include lighting and appliances for best results. This inclusion becomes ever more important with future growth in home appliances and electronics grows and associated greenhouse gas emissions.

#### Acknowledgements

Thanks to Kjell Bettgenhaüser with Ecofys for assistance collecting cost and performance data. Brian Hanson and Lixing Gu made necessary adjustments to the simulation software coding and translation of hourly weather files. Justin Khan automated the output plotting process.

#### References

- [1] Parker, D., "Very Low Energy Homes in the United States: Perspectives on Performance from Measured Data," prepared for National Academy of Sciences, <u>Energy and Buildings</u>, Vol. 41, Issue 5, May, 2009.
- [2] Schnieders, J. "CEPHEUS: Measurement Results from more than 100 Dwelling Units in Passive Houses," <u>Proceedings from the ECEEE 2003 Summer Study</u>, European Council for an Energy Efficient Economy, Saint Raphael, France.
- [3] Boermans, T., Hermelink, A., Schimschar, S., Groezinger, J., Offerman, M., Thomsen, K.E., Rose, J. and Aggerholm, S., <u>Principles for Nearly Zero Energy Buildings</u>, ECOFYS, and the Danish Buildings Research Institute, Buildings Performance Institute, Brussels, November, 2011.
- [4] Voss, K. Musall, E. and Lichtmeβ, M., 2010. "From Low Energy to Net Zero Energy Buildings: Status and Perspectives," <u>Journal of Green Building</u>, Vol. 6, No. 1.
- [5] Parker,D., Broman, P., Grant, J., Gu, L., Anello,M., Vieira, R. and Henderson, H., "EnergyGauge USA: A Residential Building Energy Design Tool." <u>Proceedings of Building</u> <u>Simulation '99</u>, 6<sup>th</sup> National International Building Performance Simulation Association Conference, Texas A&M University, College Station, TX, September 1999.
- [6] Fuehrlein, B., Chandra, S., Beal, D., Parker, D. and Vieira, R., "Evaluation of EnergyGauge® USA, A Residential Energy Design Software, Against Monitored Data." <u>Proceedings of ACEEE 2000 Summer Study</u>, pp 2.115 2.126, American Council for an Energy Efficient Economy, Washington, DC, August 2000.
- [7] Feist, W., Pfluger, R., Kaufmann, B., Schnieders, J., Kah, O., <u>Passivhaus Projektierungs</u> <u>Paket</u> 2004, Passivhaus Institut Darmstadt, 2004
- [8] Straube, J. "The Passive House Standard (Passivhaus): A Comparison to Other Cold Climate Low Energy Houses," Building Science Corporation, BSI-025, Somerville, Massachusetts, September 2009.
- [9] Brandemuehl, M. and Beckman, W., "Economic Evaluation and Optimization of Solar Energy Systems," <u>Solar Energy</u>, 23 (1), 1979.

- [10] European Union, 2010. "EU Energy Trends to 2030: Update 2009," Luxembourg, August, 2010.
- [11] European Union, Official Journal, "Directive 2010/31/EU of the European Parliament and the Council of 19 May 2010 on the energy performance of buildings." L 153/13. Also, EU No. 244/2012 of 16 January 2012: "Framework for calculating cost optimal levels of minimum energy performance..." and 2012/ C 115/10, "Guidelines..."

# Advanced Renovation of three Residential Buildings – Evaluation of a Field Test

#### Davide Calì, Tanja Osterhage, Rita Streblow, Dirk Mueller

**RWTH** Aachen University, E.ON Energy Research Center, Institute for Energy Efficient Buildings and Indoor Climate

#### Abstract

In Germany exist, towards counts from 2009, about 18 million residential buildings with altogether 39 million dwelling units. Almost 71% of those buildings were built before 1979, which means those were built before the introduction of the first heat insulation ordinance. These buildings are today a substantial part of the German building stock. Their energy consumption is very high because most of them have low insulation standard and outdated heating technology. In this work the holistic renovation and the results from the monitoring activity of three identical buildings-blocks, located in Karlsruhe, is presented.

Each block has three separate entrances (buildings), each building ten apartments over five floors. The buildings were built at the end of the fifties, had no external insulation, "single glass windows", a single cackle stove per apartment and water flow heaters. Seven unique refurbishment layouts have been applied to the nine buildings of the three blocks. One layout is implemented for the first block (30 apartments), one layout per building in the second and the third block.

The refurbishment layouts vary in terms of insulation, heating engineering system and ventilation system. A high time resolution monitoring system collects data about the comfort conditions in the rooms, the energy flows in buildings and the status of the heating engineering systems.

In this work assets and drawbacks of the different refurbishment technologies, both at heating engineering system and at building insulation level, are analyzed and evaluated through measured data.

#### Introduction

In Germany exist, towards counts from 2009, about 18 million residential buildings with altogether 39 million dwelling units. Almost 71% of those buildings were built before 1979, which means those were built before the introduction of the first heat insulation ordinance. The lack of accommodations after the Second World War brought to a fast reconstruction process of residential buildings.



Figure 1. Pictures of the apartments before the refurbishment process. Left: dirt from an old cockle stove. Center: Domestic hot water flow heater. Right: Potable water pipes.

About eleven million apartments have been built in Germany between 1945 and 1965. Most of those apartments are located in big buildings and are still in use today. This large number of buildings consumes a big amount of energy due to low insulation standards and obsolete heating systems.

Since 1979, with implementation of the first Heat Insulation Ordinance (WSVO), the critical acceptable levels for new buildings standards have been tightened. At time of writing, the ordinances are farreaching and everyone has to fulfil the EPBD 2010 - European Directive Energy Performance of Buildings which takes into account building and engineering systems together (in Germany the directive has been received into the EnEV "Energieeinsparverordnung" [1], in English "Energy Savings Ordinance" for buildings).



Figure 2. East facade of block one before (left) and after (middle) the refurbishment process. Right: Orientation and enumeration of the nine buildings over the three blocks

In this work the holistic renovation and the results from the monitoring activity of three identical buildings-blocks (Figure 1, Figure 2), located in the Quartier "Rintheim", Karlsruhe, is presented. Each block has three separate entrances (referred as buildings), each building ten apartments over five floors (Figure 3). The blocks were built at the end of the fifties, had no external insulation, "single glass windows", a single cockle stove per apartment and water flow heaters. Seven unique refurbishment layouts have been applied to the nine buildings of the three blocks. One layout is implemented for the first block (30 apartments), one layout per building in the second and the third block. The buildings are owned from the municipal society Volkswohnung, which own circa 12,700 rented apartments in Karlsruhe.



Figure 3. Floor plan of each floor.

#### **Refurbishment layouts**

The seven refurbishment layouts have been planned and implemented for the nine buildings in close collaboration with Volkswohnung Karlsruhe. The first block has been completely refurbished with a Volkswohnung developed refurbishment layout based on their own refurbishment experience; each of the other buildings are refurbished with a unique refurbishment layout.

The retrofit of the second block is based on state of the art insulation and an advanced engineering system technology, available on the market. Advanced refurbishment solutions are realized for the third block with the use of vacuum panels as external wall insulation, high efficiency heat pumps and waste heat recovery units.

The third block is designed to reach the lowest primary and final energy consumption. In Figure 4the refurbishment solutions are described in details. WHRU indicate waste heat recovery units, the number in per cent next to WHRU is the efficiency of the heat exchange process. The thermal conductivity  $\lambda$  of the insulation is indicated by a number in each box, for example 035 means  $\lambda$ =0.035 W/(mK).



Figure 4. Refurbishment solutions: the white text on dark background is related to the thermal insulation, the dark text on grey background is related to the engineering system solution.

#### **Monitoring System**

Heating energy demand limitations for buildings should help reaching EU decarbonization goals for 2050 [2]. Through a high time resolution monitoring system it becomes possible to:

- prove how well calculated heating energy demands of buildings correlate with real heating energy consumption,
- to find out if the installed technology is working properly,
- evaluate the efficiency of each retrofit solution,
- optimize the engineering system,
- validate static and dynamic simulation models.

To reach these goals, a complex, high resolution monitoring system has been, in cooperation with the Technical University of Applied Science of Karlsruhe, planned and installed. Each room of each apartment of block 2 and block 3 is monitored in terms of:

- Room temperatures,
- room relative humidity,

- volatile organic compounds (VOC),
- carbon dioxide (CO2),
- luminosity on the roof (Lux),
- window's opening, ratio,
- infra-red/visible light(vis/IR)
- inlet air-flow temperature (through apposite windows' openings).

The energy flows are monitored through heat meters in all apartments. In addition, in four apartments per building, a heat meter per room is installed. The complete engineering system for heating and domestic hot water is monitored as well, from production up to storage and distribution, in such a way that system losses can be identified, step by step. A weather station has been installed in the field test and provides information about ambient temperature, ambient relative humidity, wind direction and velocity, luminosity and solar radiation. The monitoring system has been plant in such a way that the influence of the building construction and technical components on energy consumption and the space comfort can be determined.

The collection of the room data in the apartment is made via a bus system (M2-Bus). The monitoring system works with a time step of 60 seconds. More than five million data point per day are collected and transferred from Karlsruhe to Aachen. To provide an optimal handling of the data, these have been integrated into a HDF5 database. The HDF5 Database presents a hierarchical structure of groups (comparable to "directories" under the "Windows" operative systems) and leafs ("N x M" matrixes containing the data). One databank per month has been (since 2010) and will be generated.

The evaluation of the HDF5 databanks is executed in an own developed HDF5-viewer, based on the python HDF-Tables 0.9. This viewer offers several plotting and analysis tools. A screenshot of the viewer is shown in Figure 5.

MDF-Tables 0.9				
File Node Dataset Settings Fund	tions Window Help			
	List Analysis One	A1 A2 R i D	G hG lines ↑x↑ Sor Lin s	🔤 🚰 🚺 🗖 🐧 🔽 🖄 🔛 🕅 🕅 🖓 😯
Tree of databases	Analysis one Analysis Two Report show attributes Average Day Graph Average Hour Graph Plot datasets TwoAxesGraph sorted_Plot LinReg Cloud_Graph Calculation Calculation_1d Time matcher	onsole		Actions: Plots: Lines Graph Cloud Graph Sorted Lines Graph Sorted Cloud Graph Lines Graph2Y Fits: Linear Regression Exponetial Fit Logarithmic Fit
Apartment_0     Apartment_1     Cellar     Weather_Ennovatis     AT	Average Values per day Average Values per hour Sum Values per day Sum Values per hour	Execute	Evaluate	Analysis: AverageDay Graph AverageHour Graph
Weather Station		Start Date:	End Date:	
III ARH	_	16.01.2013 17:12:57 💌	16.01.2013 17:12:57 💌	10
Global Radiation		Export to respective CSVs	Export all to one CSV	Navigation:
Bill Lux		Clear all	Clear selected	Close Window Informations
Wind Direction	-	Config	Plot	
Build dataworkstation		G:/Vo	wo/iHD_2012_12.hdf5->/	/Field_Test/Building_3/Entrance_B3E3/Apartment_01

Figure 5. Screenshot from the own developed HDF5 Viewer. The tree of databases shows the HDF5 od December 2012.

Several analysis and graphical functions allows for fast data analysis. The chromatic representation of the data allow for a fast understanding of the data over a period; in Figure 6 the columns represent the hours over a day, the lines represent each day of December 2012. The color of the boxes depends on the average value of the measured parameter in the respective time. It can be seen how by night the air quality increase in the periods in which the window is open.

Through information about lighting (natural or artificial lighting),  $CO_2$  and volatile organic compounds (VOC) it becomes possible to extrapolate information about the presence of persons in the rooms Figure 7.



Figure 6. Chromatic representation of the measured variables. Left: Window opening time (0: Window closed, 1: window open for the whole hour). Right: CO2 average values in ppm. December 2012, a sleeping room of block 2.



Figure 7. Chromatic representation of the measured variables. Left: light On/Off (0: no light was switched on during this hour, 1: light was on for at least one minute). Right: VOC average values. December 2012, a sleeping room of block 2.

#### **Energy Demand of the buildings**

A first comparison of the several refurbishment solutions has been done already before the refurbishment started, through energy demand values. Their primary energy demand has been calculated following the monthly balance procedure as described in the EnEV 2009 (based on DIN V 4701-10, 08.2003 [3] and DIN V 4108-6, 06.2003 [4]). The EnEV monthly balance procedure balances gains and losses of the building and its engineering system. The results presented in this paper are based on the following boundary conditions: Standard weather file for the region in which the buildings are located (Karlsruhe), internal gains set to 5 W/m<sup>2</sup>Floor Space, Air exchange rate set to 0.55/0.6 1/h (Depending on the kind of Ventilation system), average indoor temperature set to  $19^{\circ}$ C.



Figure 8. Primary Energy demand per square meter of floor space and year, of the buildings before and after refurbishment. In per cent, the primary energy saving of the retrofit solutions, compared to the primary energy demand of the buildings before the retrofit.

In this work, only the specific primary energy demand is presented and more details on the static calculations, primary energy balances and CO2 balances for this field test are presented in [5]. A comparison of the specific primary energy demand values before and after the refurbishment process, Figure 8 shows how big the potential of energy saving is for this three blocks (between 84% and 94%). Block 2 would save, compared to block 1, about 20% energy, block 3 around 50%.

#### The Energy Consumption of the blocks

The static balanced energy demand of a building is not a prevision of a future consumption, rather a way to evaluate a building under standard conditions in a particular climate. Static- balanced energy demand levels are used to compare buildings with different layouts, in terms of insulation and engineering system, between each other. Those values are also used to categorise buildings: this should on the one hand guarantee that new buildings respect energy savings laws, on the other hand help the user to buy or rent an object that results energetically convenient. Generally demand and consumption values may differ from each other due to several reasons: wrong parameters used for the calculations, mistakes in the installation of the engineering system, real user behaviour different from the assumed behaviour used for the calculation. In facts, persons interact with the building in many ways: E.g. through window opening, settings for the engineering system, use of the ventilation system and internal gains. This brings a discrepancy between static-balanced demand and real life consumption. Additionally, users may act differently with different buildings and/or engineering systems. Buildings heated by an outdated engineering system will usually be heated less than buildings with a high-tech engineering system. People tend to use new, efficient, goods (e.g. cars, lighting, cooling and heating systems, white goods) more than old inefficient goods. This effect is known as "Rebound Effect" [6] [7] [8].



Figure 9. Weather season adjusted Primary Energy Consumption of the three buildings' blocks per month, after the refurbishment, year 2012.
The buildings, before the refurbishment process of 2008, were equipped (since 1980) with one gas boiler per apartment. The energy consumption values before the refurbishment process are directly comparable to the energy demand values, since the average temperature for Karlsruhe in this three year coincides with the average German temperature used for the calculation of the heating degree index of the EnEV (no weather seasonal adjustment needed). It has to be noticed that only gas consumption has been monitored before the refurbishment: for the primary energy consumption projection the auxiliary energy has been estimated in 6.5 kWh/(m²a) following the DIN V 4701-10, 08.2003 [3].

Between 2005 and 2007 the three blocks consumed in average 164 kWh<sub>Primary Energy</sub>/(m<sup>2</sup>a). The EnEV energy demand of each block is 347 kWh/(m<sup>2</sup>a). With the demand calculation the consumption has been overestimated for more than 100%. In contrast to this, the demand values after the refurbishment process underestimated the real consumption (more details about consumption, demand and rebound effect found on this field test can be found in [9] and [10]).

In Figure 9 the primary energy consumption of the three blocks after the weather season adjustment process is shown. The outdoor temperature in the year 2012 in Karlsruhe (measured in the field test) was about 2K above German average outdoor temperature used in EnEV calculation. Hence, a weather season adjustment has been executed. The consumption of block 3 appears bigger than the consumption of block 1 and 2. This was caused by many technical problems that came out during 2011 and 2012 (broken heat pumps substituted by electrical heating system, wrong setting of the circulation pumps).

#### The Energy Consumption of each apartment

The user behavior plays a huge role in the final energy consumption for space heating and domestic hot water production. Comparing the consumptions of the several apartments, this becomes clearer.

	B2, Bu	ilding 1	B2, Bu	ilding 2	B2, Building 3			
5 F	6.4	11.5	2.8	6.0	4.3	6.4		
5.1	22.9 9%	23.8 10%	21.2 30%	21.8 35%	22.8 5%	20.8 1%		
4. F	2.5	0.1	3.6	1.7	4.9	0.0		
	22.4 28%	22.1 21%	22.7 33%	20.5 17%	22.6 34%	20.9 25%		
3 F	7.1	1.3	8.1	4.1	11.7	12.6		
5.1	22.7 31%	20.9 22%	22.5 16%	19.8 21%	22.3 42%	23.7 12%		
2 F	1.3	5.2	3.9	0.4	1.6	0.0		
2.1	21.3 29%	23.6 18%	23.6 1%	19.8 10%	21.5 16%	21.5 22%		
1 5	1.7	0.8	0.5	7.4	0.7	12.7		
1.F	20.2 8%	20.4 9%	22.0 30%	22.6 1%	21.0 36%	20.6 61%		

# Figure 10. Energy consumption (for space heating) of 30 apartments in December 2011. The value in the middle of each box indicates the energy consumption of the apartment in $kWh/(m^2a)$ . The value on the left the average Temperature of the apartment, the value in % for how long have been the windows open, in average.

Figure 10 shows the average temperature, the average window opening time and the heating energy consumption of each apartment for December 2011. Beside the normal dependence between indoor temperature, window opening and energy consumption, it is interesting to see how "warm" apartment influence the temperature and the energy consumption of "cold" apartment. This phenomenon is very evident in this case and can be explained through the absence of any form from insulation between apartments (no inner wall insulation).

Also the domestic hot water consumption for the year 2011 reveals how differently can user act and hence influence the final energy consumption. The domestic hot water consumption for block 2 building 1 and block 3 building 1, 2 and 3 is shown in Figure 11.

Figure 12 shows the average heat load of three different apartments during December 2011, grouped depending on the ambient temperature. One user (W5) consumes a big amount of heating energy, and this amount strongly increase by colder temperatures. One user (W7) starts heating by colder ambient temperatures, his consumption depends on the ambient temperature. One user (W8) is almost not heating at all.

	B2, Bui	lding 1	B3, Building 1		B3, Building 2		B3, Building 3	
5. F	16.5	7.4	9.9	15.5	13.4	4.8	5.7	8.4
4. F	17.8	21.6		4.2	14.8		8.9	5.7
3. F	20.0	9.7	19.6	16.1	10.5	21.7	13.3	9.6
2. F	4.4	28.5	11.1	10.6	8.7	16.8	27.0	7.6
1. F	11.4	3.5	15.8	14.1	17.3	9.7	6.3	

Figure 11. Energy consumption of 40 apartments (block 2 building 1 and block 3 building 1, 2 and 3) in the year 2011 in kWh/( $m^2a$ ). The gray are omitted due to failures in the measurement process.



Figure 12. Average heat load value ambient temperature grouped per 1K.

#### Conclusions

The refurbishment process of nine buildings situated in a field test in Karlsruhe, Germany, has been described and evaluated in terms of consumption and demand values. It has been shown how demand (calculated EnEV 2009 values) and consumption (measured) values may differ. The central role of the user has been shown. In the next future the rebound effect will be in focus of the project. It will be analysed which technology may bring a bigger rebound effect compared to other.

In the near future more evaluation of the measured data will be executed. On one side it will be analysed which technologies may guarantee better comfort conditions (in terms of thermal comfort and air quality). On the other side it will be analysed which technology may bring a bigger rebound effect compared to other.

#### References

[1] Bundesministerium für Wirtschaft und Technologie, Arbeitsgemeinschaft Energiebilanzen. EnEV 2009, Energieeinsparverordnung 2009 (Energy saving ordinance for buildings in Germany), Juli 2010.

- [2] Europian Commission. A Roadmap for moving to a competitive low carbon economy in 2050. Brussels, 8.3.2011
- [3] Deutsches Institut für Normung e. V. Energetisch Bewertung heiz- und raumlufttechnischer Anlagen, Teil 10: Heizung, Trinkwassererwärmung, Lüftung. Norm: Energy efficiency of heating and ventilation systems in buildings - Part 10: Heating, domestic hot water, ventilation. DIN V 4701-10, 08.2003
- [4] Deutsches Institut für Normung e. V. Wärmeschutz und Energie-Einsparung in Gebäuden, Teil 6: Berechnung des Jahres heizwärme- und des Jahresheizenergiebedarfs. Norm: Thermal protection and energy economy in buildings - Part 6: Calculation of annual heat and annual energy use DIN V 4108-6, 06.2003
- [5] Davide Calì, Tanja Osterhage and Dirk Müller, Field study of retrofit solutions for residential housing. Publication presented at Sustainable Buildings Conference SB10 and published as Euregion best papers, The Netherland 2010.
- [6] Wigley, K.J., Assessment of the importance of the rebound effect. Publication presented at the 18th North American Conference of the USAEE/IAEE, San Francisco, USA, 1997
- [7] Greening, L.A. and Greene, D.L. Energy use, technical efficiency, and the rebound effect: a review of the literature. Center for Transportation Analysis, Oak Ridge National Laboratory, Oak Ridge, TN, USA, 1998
- [8] Reinhard Haas, Peter Biermayr. The rebound effect for space heating Empirical evidence from Austria, Institute of Energy Economics, Vienna University of Technology, Guszhausstr. 27-29/357, A-1040 Vienna, Austria
- [9] Calì, D., Osterhage, T. and Müller. D., Rebound effect related to retrofit solutions for residential housing – Monitoring data from a field test. Publication presented at Sustainable Buildings Conference SB11, Finland 2011.
- [10] Calì, D., Osterhage, T., Streblow R. and Müller. D., Holistic Renovation and Monitoring of Residential Buildings. Publication presented at ECEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency, 2013, France.

### Short Term Policy Strategies and Long Term Targets: The Case of the German Building Sector

Lukas Kranzl<sup>a</sup>, Veit Bürger<sup>b</sup>, Hans-Martin Henning<sup>c</sup>, Marcus Hummel<sup>a</sup>, ,Judit Kockat<sup>d</sup>, Andreas Müller<sup>a</sup>, Andreas Palzer<sup>c</sup>, Jan Steinbach<sup>d</sup>

#### <sup>a</sup> Energy Economics Group, <sup>b</sup> Oeko-Institut, Freiburg, <sup>c</sup> Fraunhofer Institute for Solar Energy Systems ISE, <sup>d</sup> Fraunhofer Institute for System and Innovation Research ISI

#### Abstract

The German government set targets for the reduction of heating energy demand in buildings (-20% of space heating energy need 2008-2020) as well as for the share of renewables in the overall heat sector (14% by 2020). In addition, long-term visions up to 2050 exist. The research questions of this paper are: (1) How can different policies affect space heating and hot water energy demand in Germany by 2020? (2) To which extent are these short-term policy interventions consistent with longterm targets? We use Invert/EE-Lab for modelling the German residential and non-residential building sector. The model takes into account barriers and investment decision patterns for the uptake of renovation measures and the investment in different types of heating, hot water and cooling technologies. More than 60 short-term scenarios until 2020 are simulated with different policy design options and energy price levels. They serve as a starting point for simulating a smaller number of scenarios until 2050. The short-term scenarios show that with ambitious policy design final energy demand in the German building sector for heating, hot water and cooling could decrease by about 16% from 2008 until 2020 (i.e. below 680 TWh in 2020 compared to 808 TWh in 2008), GHGemissions could decrease by more than 50% and the renewable share could more than double. Though, this may seem promising, the long-term scenarios indicate that most of the short-term scenarios do not prepare the ground for really ambitious energy efficiency and climate mitigation targets of the building sector in 2050.

#### Introduction

The German government set targets for the reduction of heating energy demand in buildings (-20% of space heating energy need 2008-2020) as well as for the share of renewables in the overall heat sector, including space heating, hot water, industrial heat and cold (14% by 2020) [1]. In order to reach these targets tailor-made policies are necessary. In addition, long-term targets and visions up to 2050 exist both on the European and the national level.[2] However, it remains unclear to which extent the short-term policy strategies until 2020 are in line with the 2050 targets.

The core research questions of this paper are: (1) How can different policies affect space heating, hot water and space cooling energy demand and related  $CO_2$ -emissions in Germany by 2020? (2) To which extent are these short-term policy interventions consistent with long-term targets regarding energy demand and related  $CO_2$ -emissions?

For this purpose, we start with a description and detailed investigation of the current policy framework for heating and hot water in Germany and develop innovative policy sets as options for the short-term implementation. These policy sets are investigated by means of a techno-socio-economic bottom-up model (Invert/EE-Lab, described below), based on a detailed, disaggregated description of the building stock and related heating and hot water systems. This set of policy scenarios is the starting point of long-term scenarios until 2050. As a guideline for the development of these long-term scenarios we take into account storylines, combining the level of efficiency improvement on the building envelope on the one hand and the uptake of different heating and hot water systems on the other hand. By comparing the results from both scenario families we derive conclusions.

The results of this paper have been elaborated in the frame of the project "Integrated heating and cooling strategy for Germany", commissioned by the German ministry of environment (see e.g. [3] and [4]. This project covers the whole range of the heating and cooling sector, i.e. district heating and decentralized heating, space heating and cooling, domestic hot water and also process heat and cold.

For the long-term scenarios until 2050, the results presented in this paper will be updated until the project end in Autumn 2013. In this paper we focus on space heating and hot water. So, we explicitly excluded process heat and cold and also a closer investigation of district heating supply structure. Space heating and hot water preparation are covered in residential and non-residential buildings.

#### Methodology

We use the disaggregated bottom-up model Invert/EE-Lab for the description of the German building sector. The model takes into account stakeholder-specific barriers and investment decision patterns for the uptake of renovation measures and the investment in different type of heating, hot water and cooling technologies. Policies change the structure of this decision-making process in the model. Short-term scenarios until 2020 are simulated with different policy design options and energy price levels. We take these results as a starting point for simulating a smaller number of scenarios until 2050. The results of these long-term simulation runs in terms of energy demand, technology mix and GHG-emissions are compared to literature-based energy and climate targets for the building sector.

#### The model Invert/EE-Lab

Invert/EE-Lab simulates space heating, AC and hot water demand in a region's or country's building stock and for evaluating the effects of different promotion schemes and energy price settings on the energy carrier mix, CO<sub>2</sub> reduction and costs for RES-H support policies.

The Invert/EE-Lab simulation tool has originally been developed by Vienna University of Technology/EEG in the frame of the Altener project Invert [5]. During several projects and studies the model has been extended and applied to different countries within Europe, see e.g. [6], [7], [8], [9], [10], [11], [12]. The last modification of the model in the year 2010 included a re-programming process of the tool, in particular taking into account the heterogeneity of decision makers in the building sector and corresponding distributions [13], [14], [15].

Invert/EE-Lab in this paper is applied for Germany with the time horizon until 2050. However, recent and previous work also covered other countries and other time horizon (maximum until 2080). Currently, the model is extended for EU-28 (+Serbia) within the IEE project ENTRANZE (<u>www.entranze.eu</u>). The model is flexible regarding the number of heating and hot water technologies and the detailed definition of renovation measures to be considered in the scenario simulation.

The core of the tool is a myopical, cost-based logit approach, which optimizes objectives of agents under imperfect information conditions and by that represents the decision-making process concerning heating and hot water preparation. Invert/EE-Lab models the stock of buildings in a highly disaggregated manner.

For each year of the simulation period Invert/EE-Lab determines for each building segment the probability (expressed as share) that a building-related component (regarding building shell and heating / domestic hot water system) remains as it is and the probability (share) that one or more of these components are replaced. The share of buildings applying changes (measures) is calculated based on the age distribution of the considered building elements (facade, windows, heating and hot water systems, etc.) within the whole building stock using a Weibull distribution. The demolition of buildings is calculated in the same manner, yet considers life time expanding measures such as refurbishment in previous periods.

The share of the actual installation (market share) of available types is calculated based on adjusted heat generation costs using the logit approach, an approved and most widely used approach in the field of discrete choice theory (Train, 2003), where decision makers have to choose from mutually excluding alternatives. This approach has already been applied for modeling the heating sectors by other working groups (e.g. Giraudet et al. 2011; Henkel, 2010; Marnay and Stadler, 2008); their results indicate that this approach is also pertinent to our research questions. In principle, the applied logit model ensures that low-cost options, based on adjusted heat generation costs get the largest market share, but more expensive options hold some share, too.

#### Consideration of individual investment decision-making and investor-specific barriers

In Invert/EE-Lab the logit approach is extended by a few additional mechanisms like consideration of energy price development in recent years, an extension to a nested logit model, diffusion restrictions and other barriers. The agent-specific decision module allows a definition of different investor types and the simulation of investment decision making as a function of investor-specific variables reflecting barriers and perceptions. Figure 1 shows the structure of the module.



#### Figure 1: Overview of the agent-specific decision module

For detailed description of the methodology refer to [16]. The simulation of investment decision making in this model is based on different economic and non-economic criteria which are calculated subsequently for each combination of technologies, buildings and investor types. The defined properties of an investor determine how an investment decision is made (relevance of different criteria) as well as the perception of investment options and influencing parameters. The latter might result in different values of the decision criteria if the same technology is considered by different investors. For instance, dissimilarities of criteria values among investors can result from unequal knowledge of subsidy schemes and their consideration in the investment decision-making process. With respect to regulative policies such as minimum efficiency standards defined by building codes the model allows defining agent-specific compliance rates. The usage of the building by the investor is also considered as a parameter in the decision process. Thereby, the model differentiates between investors occupying the whole building, collective ownerships, private landlords and housing associations. Energy cost savings through an energy retrofit or a heating system change are only a relevant parameter for owner-occupiers, whereas the refinancing of an investment through additional rents is considered for private landlords and housing associations.

Using the investor-specific criteria values, total utility values for each technology options are calculated. Therefore, economic and non-economic values are normalised to utility values using a linear transformation. The total utility value of a technology option is determined using weights for each criterion which are defined individually for each investor type.

$$u_{ti} = \sum_{k=1}^{K} w_{ki} \cdot n(c_{kti})$$

 $u_{ti}$ : totalutility value of technology tin choices et of investori  $w_{ki}$ : weighton criterion k set by investori  $n(c_{kti})$ : normalised value of criterion k for technology tin choices et of investori The result is a three dimensional matrix of utility values [technology options, building type x investor type] for each simulation year. [Steinbach 2013].

Typical investment behaviour of various agent groups is taken into account in the modelling approach. Thereby each agent is assigned with weighting factors for different decision parameters. These include total annual costs (annuity payment), amortization time, total investments, energy costs, comfort level as well as sustainability. The different agent types with their individual objectives and barriers are derived through a literature review, e.g. [17], [18] documented in [19]; [20].

#### Data sources

The German building stock is modelled on a highly disaggregated level. We distinguish five residential building categories (single-family houses, terraced houses as well as small, medium and large multi family houses) and 30 non-residential building categories (e.g. different private and public office buildings, shops, hospitals, schools etc.). For the residential sector we take into account 14 construction periods and different levels of previous renovation activities. For non-residential buildings, 3 construction periods are used, according to [21]. Combined with the different heating systems this results in a number of more than 4400 building segments.

To include these activities in the energy performance parameters the building stock in the base year 2008 was subdivided and U-values were adjusted for past renovation activity. To include the renovation information the building stock as laid out in the survey of [22] and updated in [23] was divided into 4 shares of different renovation levels according to their frequency. The first renovation level includes better energy performance parameters for one building component (e.g. windows). This is the most commonly renovated building part according to data interrogated in [24]. The second renovation level reflects the additional renovation levels three and four are determined in the same manner while the fifth share represents the buildings that were not renovated. The adjustment of the energy relevant parameters, i.e. the U-values of the building parts, was based on the renovation periods. For each period the most commonly used energy efficiency quality was assessed for the different building parts. The u-U-values for different renovation levels were subsequently adjusted to include a weighted average energy quality for the different renovation periods.

The main data source for the disaggregated description of the space heating and cooling demand in the non residential buildings in Germany is [21]. It is the follow-up of [25] and [26] each investigating the energy demand structure and developments in the German service sector based on bottom-up survey data. The innovative element in the 2011 survey was the integration of detailed questions regarding the energy demand for space heating and cooling. This led to the development of a buildings typology for the German service sector including the following main categories: type of building and use, size, age, specific demand as well as the number of buildings in each category. Data on the state of thermal insulation of the non-residential buildings is taken from [27].

In order to calibrate the model for the non-residential sector the bottom-up projections from [21] were compared to the German national energy statistics AGEB 2011. The comparison shows remarkable differences between the bottom-up and the top-down data for some energy carriers. The main reasons are: (1) a bottom-up projection based on a limited sample of data is characterized by a high level of uncertainty, (2) different assignment of technologies to energy carriers as is the case e.g. for small gas fired heating plants, (3) energy carriers that are not traded do not appear in the energy statistics while in the bottom-up projection they do, and (4) variations in the stocks of energy carriers influence the national energy balance while in the bottom-up survey they are out of the system boundaries.

The calibration of the model in the non-residential buildings sector furthermore led to the following findings: the heating demand of garages and storages calculated based on the national norms is much higher than in reality. On the one hand lower target temperatures are reached than foreseen by the calculations, and on the other hand only 30-50% (depending on the subsector) of the total floor area is fully conditioned.

#### **Policy instruments**

#### Existing policy instruments in the German building sector

Within the EU Germany is one of the few countries that have adopted long-term targets for the energy sector. In order to achieve a GHG reduction of at least 80% until 2050 (compared to the base year 1990) the building sector should become "nearly climate neutral" until the mid of this century. For the period until 2020 the sector's heat demand should be reduced by 20% compared to 2008 while the share of renewable energies in final energy consumption (space heating, cooling, process heat and hot water production) should be increased to 14% [28].

The building sector is addressed by various instruments. Sector-specific approaches include regulatory measures, especially the building code and the use obligation for renewable heating (RES-H); in addition financial support programs for new buildings, refurbishment measures as well as investments in RES-H in existing buildings.

The **building code** is set by the Energy Saving Ordinance (*Energieeinsparverordnung*, hereafter EnEV) which establishes minimum efficiency standards. For new buildings maximum building-specific levels of the primary energy demand and the required energy performance of the building envelope (expressed in maximum values of the specific transmission heat loss related to the heat transmitting surface area) apply.

Apart from the building code new buildings underlie a **use obligation for RES-H** which obliges building owners to cover a minimum share of their heating (incl. domestic warm water) and cooling demand by renewables (*Act on the Promotion of Renewable Energies in the Heat Sector*, hereafter EEWärmeG). For different technologies different minimum levels apply (for instance solar thermal 15%; biogas 30%; solid and liquid biomass, heat pumps 50%).

Substantial financial support is provided by two program lines: "Energy efficient construction" and "market incentive programme:

The programme "**Energy efficient construction**" is providing grants and tax-reduced loans to building owners of new buildings. Since the rate of construction of new buildings has been in the range of 1% in recent years the focus needs to be laid on the existing building stock, though. Here financial support is granted by the program "Energy efficient refurbishment". The support level is tiered according to the efficiency level a modernization measure is aiming at. The more ambitious the energy standard the higher the support equivalent. For the different support levels distinct efficiency levels (e.g. Efficiency House 55, 70, 85) have been established all exceeding the minimum requirements set by the EnEV.

The market penetration of RES-H installations in the building stock is supported by the **market incentive programme** (*Marktanreizprogramm*, hereafter MAP). Support is provided via grants (small scale installations) and soft loans (large scale installations). Similar to the EEWärmeG technology specific minimum requirements apply. The programme coverage is comprehensive, e.g. the majority of solar collectors that are installed on existing buildings are supported through the programme.

Apart from the sector-specific approaches there are a handful of cross-sectorial instruments that also have an impact on how the different actor groups behave in the sector. The most relevant instruments include:

- The **energy tax** that increases the end-consumer price of the main final energy carriers in the heating and cooling sector, namely natural gas, heating oil and electricity. In recent years the tax level was in the range of the typical market-induced price fluctuations of the respective energy carriers, though.

- The **Emissions Trading Scheme** (hereafter ETS) that has a direct impact on the price of electricity and district heat (provided the latter is generated in a power plant that underlies the ETS).

- The **European Ecodesign requirements** that define minimum efficiency standards for the most relevant technologies in the heating sector (e.g. boilers, warm water generators, pumps), and the energy labelling requirements for such devices, respectively.

- Regulations specifically addressing CHP (especially providing financial support).

- Furthermore, there are programmes that aim at **increasing the information and motivation level** of the different decision-making groups in the heating and cooling sector as well as training and education of those who produce, trade, sell, purchase, operate and maintain the respective efficiency and renewable energy technologies, and those who provide advice. Finally, specific laws regulate the

relationship between landlord and tenant (e.g. toleration and cost allocation rules) or under which framework conditions refurbishment decisions need to be taken in the case of joint ownership (owner occupancy in multi-family buildings).

#### Development of innovative policy settings

In order to achieve the targets for the building sector the policy framework needs to be further developed. This is of particular importance in view of the long-term targets. Due to the rather long reinvestment cycles in the building sector especially for the major structural components of a building, todays modernization standards will to a certain extent already determine the GHG level in 2050.

For that reason different policies and policy combinations are modelled that change the framework conditions in the building sector. In addition to several cross-sectorial instruments target group, sector and technology specific have been taken into account. The list of modelled measures includes instruments that are currently on the political agenda [28], approaches that proved to be successful in other countries as well as measures proposed by the authors. Several measures have been combined to jointly build policy bundles. The rationale behind policy bundles lies in the experience that many energy saving potentials in the building sector aren't hampered by only one isolated barrier but rather a multitude of simultaneous barriers. Moreover, different target groups, e.g. homeowners of single-family houses, actors in the rental housing sector, homeowner associations, low-income homeowners, often have rather target group-specific barriers [29], [20]. This implies the need of policy bundles that include different, partly rather target-group specific measures as to address various barriers simultaneously.

Policy bundles have been developed alongside different policy lines. The following bundles have been modelled:

- I. Focus on regulatory measures.
- II. Focus on financial support instruments financed through public budgets.
- III. Focus on financial support instruments financed independently from public budgets (or at least budget-neutral counter-financing by raising additional revenues to the public budgets).
- IV. Ambitious and target group-oriented measures.

The bundles combine instruments of different design (see table 1). In addition, all bundles involve a number of measures aiming at improving quality and quality assurance, information, motivation and advice as well as training.

#### Short-term policy scenarios up to 2020

For the analysis we developed a total of more than 60 scenarios grouped in three scenario families and two energy price scenarios (high price according to [30] vs. low price according to [31]): (1) "hesitant consensus" describes a future without clear climate mitigation targets and without effective policies. (2) "Two tempi" shows quite ambitious targets and effective policy measures in Germany. However, due to a lack of global consensus, technological development is slow and diffusion constraints can be overcome only partly. (3) Under "global consensus" favourable conditions lead to an environment where barriers can largely be removed and technological development allows a faster diffusion of RES-H and renovation technologies. The title of this scenario family suggests that these favourable conditions could be created in particular under a regime of worldwide consensus for ambitious climate targets and effective policies.

Table 2 shows the simulations and setting of policy packages in the different scenario families. Under "hesitant consensus", we simulated a "frozen policy" scenario. This frozen policy scenario assumes no further development of the policy framework for RES-H and building renovation after 2011. Under "two tempi" and "global consensus" we simulated different settings of policy packages as described above. For the purpose of this paper we want to derive conclusions regarding the requirements of short-term policy making compared to long-term targets. Therefore, a focus on the more ambitious scenarios is

relevant. Consequently, in the following we will present results for the scenario "frozen policy" and contrast them with several scenarios from the high-price "global consensus" scenario family.

	I	II	111	IV
New buildings	Gradual tightening of EEWärmeG: no subst	the building code until 2 antial changes	2020 (objective: nearly 2	zero energy standard)
	KfW "Energy efficient funds	construction": Freezing	of the available	redirecting the funds for new buildings to refurbishments
Existing buildings	Tightening of the refurbishment standards either once or twice by 30% each time. Improving compliance of these standards. EEWärmeG: Extension of the RES-H use obligation to existing buildings (trigger: boiler replacement).	KfW "Energy efficient refurbishment": Increasing available funds Introduction of tax incentives for refurbishment measures MAP: Increasing available funds	KfW "Energy efficient refurbishment": Increasing available funds by implementing a budget neutral financing mechanism (surcharge on energy tax) Replacing the MAP by a budget independent quota or premium scheme for RES-H	Tightening of the refurbishment standards either one off or two times by 30% each time. Improving compliance of these standards Replacing the MAP by a budget-independent quota or premium scheme for RES-H A range of target group- specific measures (incl. target group-specific financial support) for private small scale owners (self-occupancy and tenure), ownership associations, commercial owners and public buildings

#### Table 1: Main components of four different policy bundles

#### Table 2: . Clustering of simulated policy packages

			Focus	subsidies	
	Frozen Policy	Focus regulatory measures	through public budget	Independent of public budget	Ambitious and target group- oriented measures
Hesitant consensus	х				
Two tempi		X*	X*	X*	Х
Global consensus		Х	Х	Х	Х

(\*) ... without very ambitious measures

Table 3 shows the key results for selected scenarios in the year 2020. Compared to the base year 2020 the total final energy demand could be reduced by 13-16%, the share of RES-H could be increased to about 15-23%. The high share of RES-H in 2020 is a result of an ambitious mix of strong regulatory measures (RES-H use obligation coming into effect in case of heating system change), economic incentives and various target-oriented measures (see above).

		Reduction in				are of	are of			
		Total final energy demand gecentralls	ed fossil energy demand	RES-H	Biomass <sup>(c)</sup>	ambient energy	solar thermal	district heating	Electricity	fossil
	Frozen-Pol hp	13%	22%	15%	12%	1%	1%	14%	4%	68%
yry Se	Energy saving enforcement once Energy saving enforcement	15%	26%	16%	13%	1%	2%	14%	4%	66%
Regulato measure	twice Energy saving enforcement twice + use obligation for RES-H heating system change	16% 16%	26% 32%	16% 18%	12% 15%	1% 2%	1% 2%	14% 15%	4% 5%	67% 62%
independe	ent from public									
budget: pr	emium	14%	23%	15%	13%	1%	1%	13%	4%	67%
ough ublic idget	Subsidies RESH	15%	25%	16%	13%	1%	1%	13%	4%	67%
bu bu	Subsidies RES-	4 = 0 (	0.404	100/	100/	10/	4.07	100/	40/	070/
. <u></u>	H + renovation +	15%	24%	16%	13%	1%	1%	13%	4%	67%
Ambitious and target group- oriented measures	Renovation + premium Renovation + Premium + use obligation for RES-H heating system	16%	29%	17%	14%	1%	2%	14%	4%	64%
	change	16%	38%	23%	18%	2%	2%	16%	6%	56%

#### Table 3: . Key scenario results in the year 2020 in the short-term scenarios

(a) reduction refers to the reference year 2008

(b) electricity includes auxiliary energy, electricity for heat pumps, direct electric heating and hot water

(c) includes decentralised biomass and small biomass district heating (below 2 MW). Biomass in large district heating is not covered here but included in the column "district heating"

#### Long-term policy scenarios until 2050

#### Long-term policy visions and targets for the building sector

A number of scenarios illustrate how the building sector could look like assuming the long-term climate targets are met (e.g. [31], [32], [30]). The scenarios coherently highlight the importance of the sector to reach a GHG reduction target exceeding 80%. The scenarios are rather heterogeneous about how the building sector will look like in detail. For instance, in [31] the specific average space heating energy need of the residential building stock decreases until 2050 to around 22% of the average value in 2008 (excluding domestic warm water). With a reduction of 85% (compared to 2005) in [32] the cut is even higher. In both scenarios the specific demand of the 2050 average building stock is considerably lower than of average new buildings built today. The remaining heat demand is mainly covered by renewables making the sector almost climate-neutral in the long term. In [30] the average specific space heating demand is lowered "only" by 57%. Compared to the other two scenarios insulation measures reducing the heat demand in [30] are partly compensated by a larger volume of renewables entering the sector.

Based on this background we formulated different storylines for the future long-term development of the building sector, which all have to be in agreement with the long-term political goals and which are mainly characterized by the following attributes: development of living area; development of electricity consumption; level and extent of energy retrofit of the existing building stock including replacement of

buildings by new ones; fraction of the building sector covered by district heat; mix of used heating technologies with a particular focus on the extent of using electric heat pumps, and finally the form and amount of biomass used in the building sector. Six possible developments - storylines – were formulated which are characterized by different compositions of the extent of change of these attributes:

- 1. Electricity-dominated building sector with strong increase of efficiency: here only moderate construction of new district heating networks will take place and biomass will not be a major energy source for the building sector, but electrically driven heat pumps will play an important role.
- Electricity-dominated building sector with a low increase of efficiency: similar to the first one, but much more renewables will be needed in order to cover the higher remaining energy demand for space heating.
- 3. Building sector with a strong increase of district heating networks and with a strong increase of efficiency: district heating networks will play an important role in particular in urban areas and as such provide means for energy management on a city or district level.
- 4. Building sector with a strong increase of district heating networks and with a low increase of efficiency: similar to the system above district heating networks are important but a large of biomass will be needed in the building sector in order to fulfil the long-term political goals.
- 5. Building sector with a moderate increase of district heating networks and with a strong increase of efficiency: in such system a mix of all measures efficiency, use of electric heat pumps, increased employment of district heating networks will take place.
- 6. Building sector with a moderate increase of district heating networks and with a low increase of efficiency: in contrast to the storyline No 3 a large amount of biomass will be needed in the building sector in order to fulfil the long-term political goals.

#### Simulation results

Based on these key ideas of storylines, we carried out model-based simulation runs. All these model runs are ambitious scenarios in the sense that a strong reduction in fossil energy consumption and related  $CO_2$ -emissions is achieved. However, the way how this target is achieved is different in the scenarios.

For the model implementation of the storylines outlined above we made the following assumptions:

In the efficient scenarios we assumed that from 2015 on only high quality and deep renovation activities take place. This would imply that all renovation activities are carried out in the quality of the current "KfW55-standard". This would require a very strong regulative approach, combined with corresponding measures of training, quality assurance etc.

In the "less efficient" scenarios, from 2035 on, there is an obligation to carry out thermal renovation activities. Pure maintenance measures like painting the façade or the windows are not allowed anymore. In case that some refurbishment activity is set on some component of the building, a full renovation of the whole building has to be done. The financial support is the same as currently implemented in the German policy set.

The energy potential of district heating in 2050 is reduced to 50% compared to the base year in the "electricity-based scenarios". In the remaining scenarios there is no restriction.

For all scenarios a RES-H use obligation was implemented. Until 2020 it applies to all buildings fndergoing a major renovation. From 2020 on it is applied to all buildings changing the heating system. This instrument is a major driver for take-up of non-fossil heating systems in all scenarios. Financial support (investment subsidies) for RES-H systems is implemented in all scenarios, however with different intensity: in the electricity-based scenarios no subsidies for biomass are granted, and slightly higher support levels for heat pumps are granted compared to the other scenarios.

In the electricity-based scenarios we assumed coupling between the electricity and the heating sector in the form that heat pumps are incentivised by lower electricity prices due to their potential to shift the load to periods with high generation of volatile renewable electricity.

The potential of biomass for heating purposes has been reduced in the electricity-based scenarios. In the other scenarios, the potential for decentralised biomass has been reduced as well. However, due to the growth of small biomass district heating, the overall amount of biomass in the heating sector slightly increases.

Figure 2 shows the final energy demand by energy carrier for two exemplary cases: the scenarios "1 electric efficient" and "2 electric less efficient". Considerable progress is achieved in both scenarios and the reduction of fossil energy carriers is very similar. However, in the second case of lower energy efficiency higher electricity consumption and additional effort in exploiting renewable energy are required.



Figure 2: Final energy demand for space heating and hot water by energy carriers in the scenario "1 electric efficient" (left) and in the scenario "2 electric less efficient" (right) until 2050



### Figure 3: Energy need for space heating and total final energy demand for heating and hot water preparation in different scenarios until 2050, Germany

Energy need for space heating refers to the theoretical calculation of energy need, without taking into account rebound effects and user behaviour. Final energy demand takes into account user behaviour and rebound effect.

#### Table 4: . Key scenario results in the year 2050 in the long-term scenarios

	Reduction	on in <sup>(a)</sup>	Share of							
	Total final energy demand	decentrali sed fossil energy demand	RES-H	Biomass <sup>(c)</sup>	ambient energy	solar thermal	district heating	Electricity	fossil	
1 electric,	C00/	050/	E00/	250/	470/	100/	100/	100/	110/	
2 electric	08%	95%	58%	25%	17%	10%	19%	19%	11%	
less efficient	61%	94%	74%	25%	14%	18%	18%	23%	12%	
3 district heating, efficient 4 district heating	66%	96%	63%	37%	12%	14%	29%	15%	9%	
less efficient	52%	95%	64%	32%	20%	13%	26%	16%	8%	
5 mix, efficient 6 mix, less	67%	96%	61%	32%	13%	15%	23%	17%	10%	
efficient	52%	95%	63%	27%	21%	14%	19%	13%	7%	

(a) reduction refers to the reference year 2008

(b) electricity includes auxiliary energy, electricity for heat pumps, direct electric heating and hot water preparation

(c) includes decentralised biomass and small biomass district heating (below 2 MW). Biomass in large district heating is not covered here, but included in the column "district heating"

#### Table 5:. Key scenario results in the year 2020 in the long-term scenarios

	Reducti	on in <sup>(a)</sup>				S	Share of			
	Total final energy demand	decentrali sed fossil energy demand	RES-H		Biomass <sup>(c)</sup>	ambient energy	solar thermal	district heating	Electricity	fossil
1 electric, efficient	18%	31%	21%	17%		1%	3%	14%	5%	64%
2 electric, less efficient	14%	28%	22%	16%		1%	3%	13%	5%	64%
3 district heating, efficient	17%	31%	22%	18%		1%	3%	16%	5%	63%
4 district heating, less efficient	13%	28%	23%	18%		1%	3%	16%	5%	62%
5 mix, efficient	18%	31%	22%	17%		1%	3%	15%	5%	63%
6 mix, less efficient	14%	31%	22%	17%		2%	3%	14%	5%	61%

(a) reduction refers to the reference year 2008

(b) electricity includes auxiliary energy, electricity for heat pumps, direct electric heating and hot water preparation

(c) includes decentralised biomass and small biomass district heating (below 2 MW). Biomass in large district heating is not covered here, but included in the column "district heating"

Figure 3 shows that the energy need for space heating can be reduced significantly, to 23% and 40% in the "efficient" and in the "less efficient" scenarios, respectively. This refers to a reduction in final energy demand to about 32% (scenario 1 electric, efficient) and 48% (scenarios 4 and 6). The total amount and shape of the reduction curve of energy need and final energy demand are different. This has several reasons: (1) The replacement of outdated, low efficient heating systems by modern, efficient heating systems tackles a substantial potential for efficiency improvement. This potential is

exploited around 2030 due to the lifetime of the heating systems. (2) There is a considerable rebound effect to be considered for thermal renovation measures. With stronger diffusion of thermal renovation the rebound effect compensates a larger and larger share of the theoretical energy savings (depicted in the graph as the energy need for space heating). (3) Building renovation and the related reduction of space heating energy need does not automatically lead to a reduction in energy need for hot water. Overall, the rebound effect compensates for the efficiency gains in the heating system.

The final energy demand (including solar thermal energy and ambient energy) is very similar in all "efficient" scenarios on the one hand and the "less efficient" scenarios on the other hand. Also, all scenarios show a strong increase of RES-H from about 10% in the base year (2008) up to the range of 58%-64% in 2050. The reduction in decentralised fossil energy demand in all scenarios is about 95% in 2050.

However, the mix of different RES-H technologies and energy carriers varies strongly. Table 4 shows the share of different RES-H technologies in 2050 for the different scenarios. The restriction of the biomass resource potentials leads to the lowest share of biomass in the electricity-based scenarios. This drives the uptake of heat pumps and solar thermal systems. Scenarios 4 and 6 lead to the highest share of ambient energy without a significantly higher electricity demand. This can be explained by the higher uptake of low-efficient air-source heat pumps in the "efficient" scenarios: in better insulated buildings high investments in efficient technologies do not pay off and therefore consumers tend to heating systems with lower investment, even with lower efficiency, if there are no additional efficiency standards and requirements in place (which we did not take into account).

#### Conclusions and discussion of open questions

#### **Conclusions regarding 2020 scenarios**

Measures for thermal renovation have only moderate effect until 2020 due to the long lifetime of building components and corresponding inertia. However, the stronger enforcement of building regulation shows effect also in the short-term. Higher economic incentives for thermal building renovation also show short-term effect. However, this would only be the case if high additional public budget is available for these measures (in the range of about 5 billion Euro).

Those packages which combine different regulatory measures and economic incentives with target oriented measures as well as training, education, and promotion activities show the highest impact. In particular this also includes a change of tenant's laws, improved quality standard and higher compliance with standards.

The strongest diffusion of RES-H can be achieved with policy packages including use obligations coming into effect in case of heating system change. An improvement of financial incentives alone (investment subsidies) is not enough to reach the overall target of a RES-H share of 14% in the overall heating sector (which would require a share of at least 17-18% in the building sector).

Policy instruments financed independently from public budget by corresponding levies on fossil fuels may lead to a similar impact as current subsidy programs. However, a much lower amount of public budget would be required and a higher transparency and stability of the program could be achieved.

#### Conclusions regarding 2050 scenarios and the comparison with short-term scenario results

The competition for biomass for different purposes (energy and non-energy) is likely to become more and more severe. From an exergetic point of view, the use of biomass for providing low-temperature heat is not efficient. With an increasing decarbonisation of the space heating and hot water sector the availability of biomass for heating purposes becomes an increasingly crucial issue. The scenarios show that the restriction of biomass availability substantially drives the demand for other RES-H systems, in particular heat pumps but also solar thermal and district heating.

The most efficient short-term scenarios almost achieve the same values as the "efficient" long-term scenarios in the year 2020. The low-efficient short-term scenarios are quite far off from the efficient long-term scenarios. However, even the low-efficient 2020 scenarios (like the frozen policy scenario) are in a similar range as the "less-efficient" 2050 scenarios. This leads to some relevant conclusions:

It is possible to compensate lower efficiency of buildings with a higher share of RES-H. However, this puts pressure on the exploitation of renewable energy sources with corresponding social, ecological and economic consequences (see the discussion point regarding biomass potentials above).

The building stock has a high inertia and long lead-times. This leads to the conclusion that early action is required. On the other hand, it also means that lock-in effects have to be avoided. If they are not compatible with long-term targets early actions might counteract long-term ambitious targets. So, it might be reasonable to favour high quality renovations in the next years instead of aiming at increasing the renovation rate (while accepting low renovation standards). At least, all renovation activities should be designed in a way not to hinder later deep renovation activities.

Thus, in the design of short-term policies the focus should not necessarily be put on achieving high energy savings in the short-term. Rather, the required steps for medium and long-term high energy savings standards should be put forward. This may include high standards in building codes and energy efficiency of equipment, high efforts in increasing the quality by training, qualification, education and technology development. In general, a stronger focus should be put on high quality and deep renovation activities than on a high rate of renovation without high quality potentially leading to lock-in effects.

All long-term scenarios achieve a high RES-H share already in the short-term. This is due to the implemented policy settings (RES-H use obligation). Other policy sets could be investigated in further analyses.

#### Open questions:

The analysis in this paper opens up a long list of important additional questions, which should be addressed in further research, e.g. the following: Due to the increasing role of district heating, at least in some scenarios, the supply mix of district heating is a relevant issue for the overall assessment of the scenarios. This has to be investigated in further analyses. The same holds true for the mix of electricity generation. It is reasonable to assume that a high level of decarbonisation may be achieved in Germany. However, the marginal additional consumption of electricity, in particular during winter times, might nevertheless be covered by fossil peak load power plants. This should be taken into account in a comprehensive assessment. In particular this leads to the question of the potential of RES-E generation. An in-depth coupled investigation of heating and electricity sector would therefore be relevant to answer these questions. In the further progress of the project "heating and cooling strategy 2050", some of these questions will be addressed. Some aspects of technological learning and potential new technologies could affect the results of this paper. In particular thermal storage technologies could increase the potential of solar thermal and of combined heat pump – solar thermal systems.

#### References

- [1] EEWärmeG: Gesetz zur Förderung Erneuerbarer Energien im Wärmebereich. *BGBI. Jg. 2008 Teil I Nr. 36, S. 1658*, (in der Fassung vom 18. August 2008), 2009.
- [2] Deutsches Bundesministerium für Umwelt, Naturschutz und Reaktorsicherheit: Das Energiekonzept der Bundesregierung 2010 und die Energiewende 2011. Berlin, 2011.
- [3] Jochem, E. et al.: *Erarbeitung einer Integrierten Wärme- und Kältestrategie. Handlungsempfehlungen. Im Auftrag des deutschen Umweltministeriums.* 2012.
- [4] Kranzl, L. et al.: Erarbeitung einer Integrierten Wärme- und Kältestrategie. Integrale Modellierung auf Basis vorhandener sektoraler Modelle und Erstellen eines integrierten Rechenmodells des Wärme- und Kältebereichs. Wien, Karlsruhe, Bremen, 2012.
- [5] Kranzl, L. et al.: Tools for the efficient design of RES & RUE promotion schemes: Recommendations derived from the project Invert. Research project within the Altener Program of the European Commission, DG TREN – Contract No.: Altener contract 4.1030/Z/02-094, 2005.
- [6] Biermayr, P. et al.: Bestimmung der Potenziale und Ausarbeitung von Strategien zur verstärkten Nutzung von erneuerbaren Energien in Luxemburg. Endbericht im Auftrag des Ministeriums für Energie. 2007.
- [7] Haas, R. et al.: Energieszenarien bis 2020: Wärmebedarf der Kleinverbraucher. Ein Projekt im Rahmen der Erstellung von energiewirtschaftlichen Input-parametern und Szenarien zur Erfüllung

der Berichtspflichten des Monitoring Mechanisms. Im Auftrag der Umweltbundesamt GmbH. Wien, 2009.

- [8] Kranzl, L. et al.: Deriving efficient policy portfolios promoting sustainable energy systems–Case studies applying Invert simulation tool. *Renewable energy*, **31** (15), 2006, p. 2393–2410.
- [9] Kranzl, L. et al.: Integrating policies for renewables and energy efficiency: Comparing results from Germany, Luxembourg and Northern Ireland. eceee 2007 summer study. La colle sur Loup, France, 2007.
- [10] Nast, M. et al.: Eckpunkte für die Entwicklung und Einführung budgetunabhängiger Instrumente zur Marktdurchdringung erneuerbarer Energien im Wärmemarkt" Endbericht. Im Auftrag des deutschen Bundesministeriums für Umwelt, Naturschutz und Reaktorsicherheit. 2006.
- [11] Schriefl, E.: Modellierung der Entwicklung von Treibhausgasemissionen und Energieverbrauch für Raumwärme und Warmwasser im Österreichischen Wohngebäudebestand unter Annahme verschiedener Optimierungsziele. Wien: Technische Universität Wien, 2007.
- [12] Stadler, M. et al.: Policy strategies and paths to promote sustainable energy systems–The dynamic Invert simulation tool. *Energy policy*, **35** (1), 2007, p. 597–608.
- [13] Kranzl, L. et al.: Renewable heating: Perspectives and the impact of policy instruments. *Energy Policy*, 2013.
- [14] Müller, A., Biermayr, P.: Die Zukunft des Wärmebedarfs für Heizung und Brauchwassererwärmung in österreichischen Gebäuden bis 2050. 7. Internationale Energiewirtschaftstagung an der TU Wien. Wien, 2011.
- [15] Müller, A. et al.: Heizen 2050: Systeme zur Wärmebereitstellung und Raumklimatisierung im österreichischen Gebäudebestand: Technologische Anforderungen bis zum Jahr 2050. Gefördert vom Klima- und Energiefonds, 2010.
- [16] Steinbach, J.: Akteursspezifische Untersuchung von Strategien zur Steigerung der Energieeffizienz und zum Ausbau erneuerbarer Energien im Wohngebäudebereich. In: 8. Internationale Energiewirtschaftstagung (IEWT). Wien, 2013, p. 48–50.
- [17] Schätzl, L. et al.: Investitionsprozesse im Wohnungsbestand unter besonderer Berücksichtigung privater Vermieter. Forschungsbericht im Auftrag des Bundesministeriums für Verkehr, Bau und Stadtentwicklung (BMVBS). BMVBS, 2007.
- [18] Stieß, I. et al.: Handlungsmotive, hemmnisse und Zielgruppen für eine energetische Gebäudesanierung. Forschungsprojekt ENEF Haus. 2010.
- [19] Schulz, W. et al.: Erarbeitung einer Integrierten Wärme- und Kältestrategie Arbeitspaket 2 -Bestandsaufnahme und Strukturierung der Akteure des Wärme- und Kältemarktes. Forschungsbericht für das Bundesministerium für Umwelt, Naturschutz und Reaktorsicherheit. 2011.
- [20] Bürger, V. et al.: Darstellung des aktuellen Rechts- und Förderrahmens und dessen Wirkungen (Projekt Erarbeitung einer Integrierten Wärme- und Kältestrategie). 2013.
- [21] Schlomann, B. et al.: Energieverbrauch des Sektors Gewerbe, Handel, Dienstleistungen (GHD) in Deutschland für die Jahre 2007 bis 2010. Projektnummer 53/09. Karlsruhe, München, Nürnberg: Bjundesministerium für Wirtschaft und Technologie, 2011.
- [22] Diefenbach, N., Born, R.: Basisdaten für Hochrechnungen mit der Deutschen Gebäudetypologie des IWU. Darmstadt: IWU, 2007.
- [23] Diefenbach, N., Born, R.: Basisdaten für Hochrechnungen mit der Deutschen Gebäudetypologie des IWU. Darmstadt: IWU, 2011.
- [24] Diefenbach, N. et al.: Datenbasis Gebäudebestand. Datenerhebung zur energetischen Qualität und zu den Modernisierungstrends im deutschen Wohngebäudebestand. Darmstadt: Institut Wohnen und Umwelt GmbH, 2010.
- [25] Schlomann, B. et al.: Energieverbrauch der privaten Haushalte und des Sektors Gewerbe, Handel, Dienstleistungen (GHD). Karlsruhe, Berlin, Nürnberg, Leipzig, München: Fraunhofer Institut für Systemtechnik und Innovationsforschung (ISI), Deutsches Institut für Wirtschaftsforschung (DIW Berlin), Lehrstuhl für Energiewirtschaft und Anwendungstechnik (IfE) TU München, GfK Marketing Services, Institut für Energetik und Umwelt, 2004.

- [26] Schlomann, B. et al.: Energieverbrauch des Sektors Gewerbe, Handel, Dienstleistungen (GHD) für die Jahre 2004 bis 2006. Karlsruhe, München, Nürnberg: Fraunhofer Institut für Systemtechnik und Innovationsforschung (ISI), Lehrstuhl für Energiewirtschaft und Anwendungstechnik (IfE) TU München, GfK Marketing Services, 2009.
- [27] Dirlich, S. et al.: *Typologie und Bestand beheizter Nichtwohngebäude in Deutschland*. 16/2011. Bundesministerium für Verkehr, Bau und Stadtentwicklung (BMVBS), 2011.
- [28] Bundesregierung Deutschland: Energy Concept for an environmentally sound, reliable and affordable energy supply. 2010.
- [29] Heiskanen, E.: Literature review of key stakeholders, users and investors (Working paper) (D2.4. of WP2 of the IEE Entranze Project). 2012.
- [30] DLR: Vorabauszüge der 'Leitstudie 2011' zu Gestehungskosten und Preispaden. Persönliche Mitteilung, erhalten am 15.03.2012. 2012.
- [31] Prognos et al.: Energieszenarien für eine Energiekonzept der Bundesregierung. Studie im Auftrag des Bundesministeriums für Wirtschaft und Technologie. 2010.
- [32] Prognos, Öko-Institut: *Modell Deutschland Klimaschutz bis 2050: Vom Ziel her denken.* 2010.

## IMPACT ON ENERGY CONSUMPTION OF A HOME AUTOMATION SYSTEM. A CASE STUDY

#### Angelo Baggini\*, Franco Bua\*\*, Annalisa Marra\*\*\*

\* Engineering Department, University of Bergamo, Dalmine (Bergamo) Italy \*\* ECD Engineering Consulting and Design Pavia, Italy \*\*\* ECD Engineering Consulting and Design Pavia, Italy

#### INTRODUCTION

This case study refers to an existing flat purchased by a young couple and requiring a partial renovation. The flat is located in Pavia (Lombardy, Italy) and has a floor area of approximately 100 m2.

The flat and the consumer behaviour can be considered typical of the North of Italy. The main characteristics of the installation are the following ones:

- 1. heat generator (for water and space heating): wall mounted natural gas 24 kW boiler with hydronic radiators
- 2. cold generator: electrical AC 2,7 kW
- 3. lighting installation: fourteen lighting points and nineteen control points
- 4. seven blinds

Before renovation, on the basis of energy bills the energy consumption per year can be estimated:

- 1. for heating as 10,776 kWh
- 2. for summer cooling as 656 kWh
- 3. for lighting as approximately 328 kWh.

The case study compares three different home automation solutions and for each one of them evaluates the impact on energy savings.

The three solutions are compared on the basis of the document EN 15232. The paper provides also an economic cost/benefit analysis with reference to national energy and installation costs.

The initial higher cost of original equipment due to the inclusion of home automation devices and systems is evaluated together with the payback time and the internal rate of return in comparisons with energy savings from the three different solutions.

#### **EX ANTE SITUATION**

The flat is located in Pavia (Lombardy, Italy) and has a floor area of approximately 100 m2. It is a good example for home automation application.

The architectural layout of the flat is represented in Figure 1.



#### Figure 1 - Flat layout – Source: ECD archive www.ecd.it (architectural design Studio BP)

The flat is composed by the following rooms:

- 1. Entrance hall, living room and kitchen;
- 2. Hallways;
- 3. Bathroom and toilet;
- 4. Double bedroom with ensuite toilet;
- 5. Two single bedrooms.

#### Installation to be managed

#### HVAC

The heating system terminals are fan-coils.

The heat generator (a wall mounted natural gas 24 kW boiler) heats the thermal fluid (water) allowing, through the distribution network (manifold and pipes), the circulation of the fluid to reach the terminals for heating the environment.

During summer the fan-coil system makes cools of the flat by circulating chilled water to the radiators.

The young couple has expressed a desire to have an automatic ventilation system, to ensure the exchange of air between the flat and the outdoor, and to avoid manually opening and closing doors and windows.

#### Consumptions

Before renovation, on the basis of energy bills the energy consumption for heating were 10,776 kWh per year (3 years average), while summer cooling consumption per year amounts to 656 kWh (including consumption of auxiliary equipment required for air-conditioning throughout the year).

#### Table 1 – Boiler technical data

Heat input max	25,8 kW
Heat output in central max	23,5 kW
heating operation min	7 kW
Efficiency Pmax (80-60°C)	91 %
Nox emission class 3	3
Central heating operating pressure max	3 bar
Central heating operating pressure min	0,8 bar
Central heating temperature max	90 °C
Central heating water content	11
Central heating expansion vessel capacity	81
CH expansion vessel pre-charge pressure	1 bar
Index of protection IP	X5D
Power supply voltage	230 V/50 Hz
Power input	80 W

#### Table 2 – Fan coils technical data

Power Supply Cooling Capacity	2700 W
Heating Capacity	4500 W
Air Volume	510 m3/h
Water Volume	0,52 m3/h
Rated Input Power	30 W
Rated Input Current	0,14 A
Water Pressur	14 kPa
Max Noise	39 dB(A)
Net Weight	11,2 kg
Net Dimension	795*285*215 mm

#### Ligthting

The lighting installation consists of fourteen lighting points and nineteen control points, as shown in Figure 2.

#### Table 3 – Lighting system composition

50 W halogen bulbs	6
20 W halogen bulbs	12
16 W CFL	8

#### Consumptions

Before renovation, on the basis of energy bills the energy consumption for lighting has been estimated as approximately 328 kWh.



#### Figure 2 - Flat layout with lighting installation – Source: ECD archive www.ecd.it

#### Blinds

Before renovation the flat had seven blinds, five of them driven by a user-activated motor.

#### Consumption of systems and equipment

Figure 3 shows an estimate breakdown of historical energy consumption, which totalled 16242 kWh/yr. The major energy consumer is the heating system.



Figure 3 – Energy consumption by equipment and system (statistical evaluation).

Table 4 ·	- Energy	consumption	by	equipment and	d system	(historical	evaluation)
-----------	----------	-------------	----	---------------	----------	-------------	-------------

Lighting	3,00%	328 kWh
Water Heating (gas)	16,00%	1749 kWh
Space Heating (gas)	50,00%	10776 kWh
Cooling	6,00%	656 kWh
Appliances and other (elect. and gas)	25,00%	2733 kWh
Total (gas)	66,00%	12.525 kWh
Total (electricity)	34,00%	3.717 kWh
Total (all)	100,00%	16242 kWh

#### **DESIGN SOLUTIONS**

Before the renovation, the designer proposed three alternative solutions characterised with three different levels of automation as defined in the standard EN15232:

- 1. solution # 1: corresponding to the high energy-efficient class (Class A)
- 2. solution # 2: advanced energy efficiency (class B)
- 3. solution # 3: standard energy efficiency (class C).

The automation options considered were: automatic motor-driven blinds and lighing sensors, to manage the contribution of solar radiation, for optimum balance of solar heat and light.

The light control points in the kitchen and on the mirrors in the toilets were not connected to the bus in any design solutions. The number of control points and light points are unchanged, so it has not been taken into account in the estimation of the cost.

The costs and savings from these options were calculated, and presented to the clients for their decision.

#### Solution #1 (Class A)



#### Figure 4 – Indicative scheme of the BUS of solution #1

Solution#1 includes two fully automated occupancy sensors: the first one for entrance hall and the living room and the second one for the corridor.

In these two environments the switching on and off of lights are automated depending on the passage of people.

Communicating by way of the wired bus system, a control panel allows the control through a suitable adjustment of heat and cold generator that feed the fan coil terminals. By regulating the climate of the whole living environment consumptions are optimized. In fact the temperature in every room of the flat can be controlled independently, and each terminal can also be scheduled to avoid unnecessary losses of energy during periods when the relevant rooms are not occupied.

Control of blinds (shading) is motorized and automatically driven by two light sensors depending on external lighting, which open them to maximize the free energy contribution of solar radiation in winter, or (in the rooms not occupied) close them during summer to avoid the sun's heat load (which would increase consumption for cooling).

It is also possible to schedule all blinds to close during the night for security reasons and to reduce heat loss both winter and heat gain in summer.

The motors driving the blinds are not additional costs because they were already existing; but new drivers and sensors were necessary.

Each of the seven windows of the flat is equipped with a radio frequency magnetic contacts that communicate with the system bus to indicate whether the window is open or closed, so the control system can turn off local terminals in order to avoid thermal energy losses.

The ventilation system, based on a single fan installed in the ceiling, allows the automatic change of the air in each of the five rooms. The air exchange system is regulated and programmable by the control panel and controlled via the system bus.

The electricity price is based on twin rates, and . before the renovation, energy use during the higher cost period led to high charges for electricity consumption.

The home automation system, through the control panel will allow the easy programming of appliances (like washing machine and dishwasher) to operate at night and on weekends, when the specific cost of electricity is lower.

Two channels, respectively connected to the washing machine and dishwasher, getting the signal from the bus system, allow the use of these appliances in fully automatic mode.

Solution #1 will allow the owners to move approx 90% of the electricity consumption in lower cost bands.

Finally, always through the control panel, users can manage two simple scenarios contributing significantly to energy savings and security. The first scenario is the central locking of the dwelling, like in a car:

- 1. switching the space conditioning off or to economy mode to reduce energy consumption;
- 2. closing all blinds for security;
- 3. switching off all the lights.

The second scenario is the central opening, which re-starts all functions disabled from the previous scenario.

#### Table 5 - Bill of material for solution # 1 (Class A)

Quantity	Description	Cost (€)
1	Power supplier 320 mA	249,80
3	Actuator 4 channels KNX-Easy	169,00
5	Actuator 1 channel KNX-Easy	236,70
8	Contact interface 4 channels KNX-Easy	282,20
2	Infrared motion sensor KNX-Easy	105,00
1	Box 8P. (4+4)	1,40
5	Motor control 1 channel KNX-Easy	298,70
2	Twilight sensor 1-100lux IP55	56,20
7	Security magnetic sensor RF	79,20
1	Master control panel KNX-Easy	331,20
4	Thermostat KNX-Easy	250,40
	Total equipment cost	2094,00

Note: costs of all components have been taken from the best economic offer collected by the customer. Labour is estimated at 1370,00 €.

In the table above all the main components of the automation system needed for Solution #1 have been listed.

#### Costs

The total cost of material and labour power is equal to 3.433,37 € excluding VAT.

#### Solution #2 (Class B)



Figure 5 - Suggestive scheme of the BUS of solution #2

The second proposed solution provides for the same lighting and ventilation components as the first solution. The HVAC system is not interfaced with the windows, so it is not possible to turn off the local heating/cooling terminal with an opened window. The blind motion control is automatic through twilight sensors (as for solution # 1). The control panel allows the automatic supervision of whole system, allowing also control of climate parameters and their scheduling per area. With solution #2, the control panel also controls the actuator connected to electrical appliances, allowing a better use of the twin rate tariff. In the following table all the main components of the automation system needed for Solution #2 have been listed. To be noted that there are not seven magnetic contacts and the interfaces became six instead eight.

Quantity	Description	Cost (€)
1	Power supplier 320 mA	251,50
3	Actuator 4 channels KNX-Easy	170,10
5	Actuator 1 channel KNX-Easy	238,30
6	Contact interface 4 channels KNX-Easy	213,10
2	Infrared motion sensor KNX-Easy	105,70
1	Box 8P. (4+4)	1,40
5	Motor control 1 channel KNX-Easy	300,70
2	Twilight sensor 1-100lux IP55	56,60
1	Master control panel KNX-Easy	333,40
4	Thermostat KNX-Easy	252,10
	Total equipment cost	1958.00

Table 6 - Bill of material for solution #2 (Class B)

Note: costs of all components have been taken from the best economic offer collected by the customer. Manpower have been estimated to be 1282,00 €.

#### Costs

The difference in cost of the system in question compared to a traditional amounts to  $\in$  3,205.02 excluding VAT, about 7% less than solution #1.

#### Solution #3 (Class C)



#### Figure 6 - Suggestive scheme of the BUS of solution #3

Compared to the previous cases the third solution involves a substantial decrease in automation. The designer has kept blind motion, but only manually and not automatically through the light sensor. Sensors, actuators and motor control are therefore not listed in the bill of material of this solution.

The lights are always controlled via the system bus and actuators, but there are no presence sensors at the entrance and in the hallway. One night scenario allows turning off all the lights to avoid unwanted consumptions, due to any neglect of the couple.

A thermostat connected to the system bus schedules and controls the air conditioning in the areas of the flat according to the needs of the inhabitants.

Over the time periods when the house is uninhabited, it is possible to implement the climate scenarios, turning off air conditioning or regulating the temperature of various areas (according to the needs of the couple),.

In the following table main components required for solution 3 are listed. This solution provides a basic level of automation, but, at the same time the possibility to easily expand the number of home automation components, improving the level of automation, comfort and energy savings.

Quantity	Description	Cost (€)
1	Power supplier 160 mA	174,60
3	Actuator 4 channels KNX-Easy	179,40
3	Actuator 1 channel KNX-Easy	150,80
5	Contact interface 4 channels KNX-Easy	187,20
3	Thermostat KNX-Easy	199,30
1	Cronothermostat KNX-Easy	90,60
	Total equipment cost	1008,00

#### Table 7 - Bill of material solution #3 (Class C)

Note: costs of all the components have been taken from the best economic offer collected by the customer. Manpower have been estimated to be 655,00 €.

#### Costs

In the solution #3 the quantity of used components is quite small, keeping a lower total cost. The designer estimated the delta cost of this solution equal to 1.636,50 € plus VAT.

#### **ECONOMICAL EVALUATION**

#### **Expected savings**

Due to lack of detailed information on load profiles (as usual in domestic environments), expected savings coming from the implementation of design solutions outlined in the previous paragraphs have been estimated on the basis of EN15232 BAC factors. The BAC factors method is based on statistical factors provided by standard and based on the:

- 1. User profile
- 2. Internal heat gains
- 3. Control accurancy and quality

This led to the calculation of the figures shown in the following table.

Table 8 - Energy savings estimation by equipment and system for different building automation classes according to EN 15232.

System class	С	В	A
Lighting system	24,33 kWh	45,67 kWh	48,67 kWh
Water Heating			
Heating system	981,00 kWh	2155,00 kWh	2845,00 kWh
Cooling system	48,67 kWh	91,33 kWh	97,33 kWh
Appliances and other			
Total	1054 kWh	2292 kWh	2991 kWh

The energy consumption in the 3 years before the renovation was used as the baseline for estimating energy savings. savings was the .For each design solution consumption were calculated by multiplying the coefficient kn for heat and electricity consumed by the couple in one year. The total energy savings ranging from 9.0% of the solution # 3, to 25.4% of the solution #1.

#### Table 9 - Energy consumption of different design solutions (Automation classes defined by EN15232)

Design solution	Gas consumption (kWh/year)	Electrical consumption (kWh/year)	Total consumption (kWh/year)	Energy savings (kWh/year)	CO <sub>2</sub> emission reduction (kg/year)
Before the renovation (Class D)	10.776	984	11.760	-	-
# 3 (Class C)	9.795	911	10.706	1.054 (9,0%)	238,9
# 2 (Class B)	8.621	847	9.468	2.292 (19,5%)	515,8
# 1 (Class A)	7.931	838	8.769	2.991 (25,4%)	666,9

#### Energy costs after the renovation

The annual cost of energy consumption excluding VAT and the relative savings obtained comparing the existing system with the automated system are summarized in Table 11 and in Table 12.

#### Table 10 - Energy annual costs estimated on the basis of the energy bills of the previous 36 months

Energy source	Cost (€/kWh)
Natural gas	0,0613
Electricity (Band A <sup>1</sup> )	0,1584
Electricity (Band B <sup>2</sup> )	0,3078

Energy savings and costs have been calculated referring to the values shown in Table 10.

As shown by Table 11, the thermal energy costs represent an important percentage of the total energy cost and subsequently thermal energy cost savings are the highest (Table 12). Simple payback is also shown in Table 12 even if it's never a good index to evaluate EE investement because payback does not show savings after the payback time even if such savings are the real value of the EE investement.

<sup>1</sup> Band A: consumption in the range from 19:00 to 8:00 from Monday to Friday, Saturday, Sunday and national holidays.

<sup>2</sup> Band B: consumption in the range from 8:00 to 19:00 from Monday to Friday.

Table II - Lileigy Cosis
--------------------------

Design solution	Thermal energy cost (€/year)	Electrical energy cost (€/year)	Total energy cost (€/year)
Before the renovation (Class D)	660,55	203,85	864,40
# 3 (Class C)	600,44	188,76	789,20
# 2 (Class B)	528,44	175,51	703,95
#1 (Class A)	486,16	173,68	659,84

#### Table 12 - Saving related to each design solution

Design solution	Thermal energy savings (€/year)	Electrical energy savings (€/year)	Consuption shift savings (€/year)*	Total savings (€/year)	Simple payback (years)
Before the renovation (Class D)	-	-	-	-	
# 3 (Class C)	60,11	15,08	0,00	75,19	1637/75 = 21.8
# 2 (Class B)	132,11	28,33	67,19	227,63	3205/228 = 14,1
# 1 (Class A)	174,38	30,17	67,19	271,74	3433/272 = 12,6

\* Note: savings corresponding to the shift a greater share of consumption to band A was estimated assuming that approximately 450 kWh, representing 13% of total electricity consumption, mainly related to the use of large white goods can be moved nighttime (A). From here, 450 kWh \* (0.3078 to 0.1584) = 67.19 €

#### CONCLUSION

The owners compared the initial higher cost of equipment due to the inclusion of home automation devices and systems together with the payback time, for the three different solutions, and selected solution # 1. This solution has the lower payback time, results in the greatest reduction in energy consumption and allows considerable comfort. In the future, features and devices can be seamlessly integration with the control system, , keeping in line with technological innovations.

The savings could have been achieved also at no cost by the owners, by simply remembering to swich on and off appropriately the appliances but the statistics and experience show that in practice, an automated system works better than a human for energy savings, for the following main reasons:

- 1. Humans don't pay enough attention to energy savings because they are focused on they other main activities.
- 2. The human senses are usually not sensitive enough to recognize in real time the need or the possibility of switching off a service. For example, lighting is switched on in the morning before sunrise. During the day the contribution of daylight is more than sufficient, but our senses do not immediately perceive that the light level is more than the minimum needed but are only aware of this when the level becomes really excessive.

One year later the analysis of energy bills showed actual savings of  $292 \in$  in comparison with the pre renovation energy bills of 864  $\in$  (and the savings were higher than the predicted 272  $\in$ ). One year is not a sufficiently meaningful statistical period time, but the owerns were satisfied with their investment.

		(€)
0	-3.776,71	-3.776,71
1	399,71	-3.377,00
2	391,87	-2.985,13
3	384,19	-2.600,94
4	376,65	-2.224,29
5	369,27	-1.855,02
6	362,03	-1.492,99
7	354,93	-1.138,06
8	347,97	-790,09
9	341,15	-448,94
10	334,15	-114,49
11	218,55	104,07
12	214,27	318,33
13	210,06	528,40
14	205,95	734,34
15	201,91	936,25
16	197,95	1.134,20
17	194,07	1.328,27
18	190,26	1.518,53
19	186,53	1.705,06
20	182,87	1.887,93

#### REFERENCES

- [1] Angelo Baggini, Annalisa Marra: *Efficacia Energetica negli edifici. Il contributo della domotica e della building automation*, Editoriale Delfino, Milano 2011.
- [2] Angelo Baggini, Andreas Sumper: *Electrical Energy Efficiency. Technologies and Applications.* John Whiley and Sons, Chichester, 2012
- [3] EN 15232 "Energy performance of buildings Impact of Building Automation, Controls and Building Management"

#### Economic and Environmental Analysis of Residential Heating and Cooling Systems: A Study of Heat Pump Performance in U.S. Cities

#### Kenji Takahashi, Patrick Knight, Jeremy Fisher PhD, and David White PhD

Synapse Energy Economics, Inc.<sup>1</sup>

#### Abstract

As more efficient heat pump systems have been introduced in the residential HVAC market over the past few years, including systems that rely on inverter (INV) technologies or variable speed motors, policymakers and energy efficiency program administrators have started to pay close attention to these technologies as key efficiency measures to reduce energy consumption,  $CO_2$  and air pollution.

In a recent study, Synapse Energy Economics (Synapse) examined the hypothetical operation of two "efficient" HVAC technology options—a 2-stage heat pump and an inverter heat pump—for single family homes that were built around 1990 and that require replacement of a ducted HVAC system. Synapse then compared those options to a reference-case option—consisting of an efficient natural gas furnace and a central air conditioning system—on the basis of energy, environmental, and economic impacts for 11 U.S. cities with varied climates.

This was one of the first studies, if not *the first*, to use detailed performance curves of a ducted inverter heat pump system in the U.S., and to analyze and compare the energy and environmental impacts of these HVAC options on an hourly or seasonal basis.

This paper discusses the methodologies and results of our analysis. Key findings include the following:

- Which options are most cost-effective? In all cities studied, the INV heat pump SEER 16 option had the shortest payback, the highest benefit cost-ratio, and offered the largest net benefits to consumers.
- Which provided the greatest CO<sub>2</sub> reductions? The INV heat pump saw significantly more CO<sub>2</sub> savings across all studied cities (except Chicago and Minneapolis) than the 2-stage heat pump option.
- In which cities are consumers, the society, or both likely to gain the most benefit from installing one of the studied HVAC technologies? Among all cities studied, we found that Atlanta and Houston provided the best balance among all analysis results, including customer payback, benefit cost ratio, and net benefits and CO<sub>2</sub> reduction.

#### The Case Studies

Three single-family-home replacement HVAC technology options (or combinations of options) were selected for this analysis, which are summarized in Table 1. Option 1, which consists of a central air conditioning unit (CAC) plus a natural gas (NG) furnace, is a reference case against which the energy, environmental, and economic impacts of the other options are compared. These technology options are intended to represent the choices that owners of single-family homes with a ducted HVAC system are likely to face when they plan to replace their heating and cooling systems. All of the heat pumps shown are 4-ton units (or 48,000 Btu).

- Á
- Á

<sup>1</sup> Mike Duclos, a HERS Rater and a Certified Passive House Consultant, analyzed annual heating and cooling energy loads using the REM/Rate™ model as a subcontractor to Synapse for the original analysis upon with this paper was based.

Á Á

#### Table 1: Studied HVAC Systems<sup>2</sup>

	Option 1: CAC & NG Furnace	Option 2: 2-stage HP (SEER 16)	Option 3: INV HP (SEER 16)
Cooling	SEER 13 CAC	SEER 16 2-stage heat pump (ducted)	SEER 16 inverter heat pump (ducted)
Heating	95% AFUE NG furnace	HSPF 9.5 2-stage heat pump; 95% AFUE NG furnace backup at 15°F	HSPF 9.5 inverter heat pump; 95% AFUE NG furnace backup at 5°F

As noted in Table 1, our study assumed a 2-stage heat pump switches its operation to a back-up gas furnace at 15°F, and an inverter heat pump switches its operation to a back-up furnace at 5°F.<sup>3</sup>

The 11 cities addressed in this analysis include Atlanta, Boston, Chicago, Houston, Los Angeles, Miami, Minneapolis, New York City, Phoenix, Portland, and Salt Lake City. These cities were selected to cover broad climate regions, and to include cities and states that have aggressive state and utility energy efficiency programs.

**Figure 1** shows a map of the selected cities and their respective climate zones based on heating degree days (HDD) and cooling degree days (CDD).



Figure 1: The selected cities superimposed on a climate map of the U.S. [1]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> SEER and HSPF stand for Seasonal Energy Efficiency Ratio and Heating Seasonal Performance Factor, respectively. SEER is a standard efficiency metric used in the U.S. for the cooling performance of air conditioners. HSPF is a standard efficiency metric used in the U.S. for the heating performance of heat pumps. Both SEER and HSPF are calculated as Btu energy output over Wh electrical input during one season at certain test conditions. AFUE represents efficiency of furnaces and boilers and stands for Annual Fuel Utilization Efficiency.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> These temperature thresholds were set to minimize the source energy consumption in the two coldest cities for this study, Boston and Minneapolis.

#### Methodology and Assumptions

#### **HVAC Performance Data**

HVAC performance data for CAC and the 2-stage heat pump were obtained from publicly available data sources. We reviewed manufacture specifications from Goodman, Carrier, and Acadia as well as the DOE building energy simulation software's underlying data, and decided to use Goodman's manufacturer data sets for central AC and the 2-stage heat pump because (a) they are comprehensive and reflected changes in performance given changes in indoor humidity and ambient temperature; and (b) the company has significant market share in heat pump technologies. Detailed performance data for the inverter heat pump were obtained from a global HVAC manufacture company which is developing inverter heat pumps for the U.S. market. Comparisons of heating and cooling performance for these HVAC options are presented in Figure 2 and Figure 3. Figure 2 shows that INV heat pump systems perform significantly better on average than the reference CAC and 2 stage heat pump systems for cooling when they are operating at partial load conditions and at non-extreme temperatures, as indicated by "INV Low" lines.



Figure 2: Cooling performance comparison between INV HP SEER 16, 2-stage HP (at Indoor Wet Bulb or IWB 59 on left, at IWB 71 on right), and CAC (at IWB 59 on left, at IWB 71 on right).<sup>4,5</sup> [2],[3],[4]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> While Figure 2 uses indoor wet bulb (IWB) 59 and 71, data for other IWB points were also obtained and used.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Sensible cooling outputs were used to estimate COP values. Sensible output over total output ratios for the 2-stage HP were used to estimate COP and consumption for the INV HP because sensible output data for the INV HP were not available.



Figure 3: Heating performance comparison between HSPF 9.5 INV HP and HSPF 9.5 2-stage HP [3],[4]

#### Synapse's Building HVAC Energy Analysis Model

Synapse developed its own integrated, spreadsheet-based model (the Synapse Building HVAC Energy Analysis Model) to estimate energy consumption and energy savings, and to analyze the associated economic and environmental impacts for single family houses in the 11 U.S. cities. This model provides a rigorous first-cut analysis of efficient heat pumps and natural gas furnaces, built upon detailed analysis of climate data, building characteristics, HVAC performance curves, avoided energy costs, retail energy prices, and avoided emission factors for each study region. The model is composed of two major components: (a) the HVAC Energy Consumption Model, and (b) the HVAC Economic and Environmental Analysis Model.

#### HVAC Energy Consumption Model

This model was used to estimate hourly consumption for each technology option in each city based on hourly average heating and cooling sensible load factors (kBtu/F per house), hourly climate data (e.g., temperature and humidity), HVAC performance, and heating back-up temperature setting. A detailed model house was developed for each city to specify building structure, insulation levels for various parts of the house, appliances, and equipment based on publicly available data sources and the authors' experience with building energy codes and practices. Synapse incorporated the model house for each city in REM/Rate™, a widely used building energy model for code compliance, and estimated annual load by city in order to produce annual total energy consumption.<sup>6</sup>[5] Annual total consumption was then divided by total hourly heating and cooling degree hours to estimate hourly "average" sensible load factors (kBtu/°F/hr). Hourly climate data were obtained from the Typical Meteorological Year 2 (TMY2) data set, available from the National Solar Radiation database.[6] The load factors were then applied to temperature in each hour to estimate hourly load. HVAC curves which account for latent load were then used to estimate hourly consumption based on hourly load.

#### HVAC Economic and Environmental Analysis Model

This model was used to estimate the economic and environmental impacts for each "efficient" HVAC option in terms of total energy costs, HVAC costs, and  $CO_2$ , NOx, and  $SO_2$  emissions caused by an on-site reduction or increase in energy consumption (as compared to the reference case).

For the economics of efficient HVAC systems, we analyzed simple payback years, benefit cost ratios, and net benefits from both the consumer and societal or regional perspectives. The Total Resource Cost (TRC) test, which is the tool most widely used to evaluate the economics of utility programs in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The consumption outputs from REM/Rate™ do not include consumption associated with latent cooling load.

the U.S., was used to evaluate the total lifecycle benefits and costs of efficient HVAC systems from a regional or societal perspective, which includes the impacts on all utility customers. The TRC benefits and costs in our analysis are represented as avoided electricity and natural gas cost impacts, plus the difference in the installed costs between efficient measures and the reference measures. The Participant Cost (PC) test was used to evaluate the economics of energy efficiency from the perspective of consumers who install efficient systems. The PC benefits and costs are represented as energy bill impacts based on "retail rates," plus the difference in the installed costs between the efficient options and the reference option, minus any program incentives.

Some key assumptions and methods are presented as follows:

- Our economic and environmental analyses reflect the cost and benefit of operating HVAC equipment for its entire life, which we assume to be 18 years. A real discount rate of 6 percent was used to estimate the present value of benefits and costs.
- Consumer benefits were estimated based on historical regional retail electricity and natural gas rates based on the Edison Electric Institute (EEI) Typical Bills report and the regional electric cost forecasts available in the Energy Information Administration (EIA)'s Annual Energy Outlook (AEO) 2010. Further seasonal natural gas retail prices were developed using historical price data.[7]
- Societal or regional benefits were estimated based on our estimates of avoided energy costs for electricity and natural gas. Avoided costs represent the costs *all* energy customers (including those who invested in energy efficiency and those who did not) could avoid. However, as a conservative measure, our analysis did not include avoided transmission and distribution capacity costs and various other benefits.<sup>7</sup>
- Avoided natural gas cost is best represented by the wholesale natural gas price plus a certain portion of the retail margin price, both of which vary by season.<sup>8</sup> The retail margin is the difference between residential prices and wholesale prices; we assumed 35 percent of retail margin can be avoided.<sup>9</sup> [9] Finally, we applied seasonal price variation factors based on NYMEX natural gas future monthly prices and estimated levelized seasonal costs for each city.[10]
- Our avoided electricity cost consisted of avoided electricity costs and avoided power plant capacity costs. Seasonal and peak and off-peak avoided electricity costs were estimated based primarily on (a) the wholesale electricity prices in 2010, (b) regional electricity price projections, and (c) seasonal and time-of-use price factors, available from the AEO 2010 [11], the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission's website [12] and the Independent System Operators (ISOs).
- Our avoided capacity cost was \$100/kW-year, which roughly represents the cost of a natural gas peaking unit.[13]
- The costs of the HVAC systems except the INV heat pump are based on data from a U.S.wide commercial HVAC distributor.[14] The costs we decided to use for the natural gas furnace, the central AC, and the 2-stage heat pump are \$1374, \$2005, and \$3858, respectively. Based on our discussion with the HVAC company that provided the INV performance data, we decided it is reasonable to assume the cost of the INV heat pump is equal to the cost of a 2-stage heat pump at the same SEER and HSPF level.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> A more comprehensive TRC test should include other benefits such as avoided transmission and distribution costs, avoided cost of environmental compliance and avoided emissions, and quantifiable non-energy benefits (e.g., water savings, increased property values, improved safety and comfort).[8]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The AEO 2010 regional natural gas prices for the electric power sector was used as a proxy for city gate wholesale natural gas prices.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> A study called Avoided Energy Supply Costs in New England determined 70% of the retail margin is avoidable. However, how much can be avoided depends on region and whether and how fast the industry is growing and increasing natural gas sales. Considering this fact, we adopted a more conservative approach and used 35% as an avoidable retail margin factor across the study cities.
Average retail prices and avoided costs for electricity and natural gas are presented in Table 2.

	Elec. Price (cents/kWh)	Average Avoided Elec. Cost (cents/kWh) <sup>10</sup>	Average NG Price (\$/mmBtu)	Average Avoided NG Cost (\$/mmBtu)
Atlanta	8.7	3.9	14.1	10.7
Boston	15.3	5.0	15.1	10.4
Chicago	10.5	3.6	10.7	7.8
Houston	7.6	3.9	11.1	8.2
Los Angeles	15.3	4.1	11.5	8.6
Miami	9.7	4.9	14.1	10.7
Minneapolis	9.1	2.8	10.8	8.2
New York City	21.2	5.5	13.1	9.4
Phoenix	10.5	3.5	10.8	8.5
Portland	10	3.8	11.5	8.6
Salt Lake City	8.1	3.8	10.8	8.5

 Table 2: Summary of Average Retail Price and Costs for Electricity and Natural Gas

Avoided emission rates for NO<sub>x</sub>, SO<sub>2</sub>, and CO<sub>2</sub>—which were used to estimate emissions avoided due to a reduction in energy consumption with efficient HVAC options—are based on our analysis of historical hourly emissions data. In this analysis, we determined the mix of marginal generation units during each hour for each U.S. EPA eGrid region.[15]<sup>11</sup> The weighted average emissions rate from this marginal mix is an estimate of the displaced emissions rate. In this analysis, the marginal (or avoidable) emissions rate was estimated empirically by quantifying which units had a marginal behavior—i.e., ramp with changes in demand on a regular basis. The method used the Continuous Emissions Monitoring (CEMS) data of the US EPA's Clean Air Market Division (CAMD).[16] This CAMD dataset contains hourly reported generation, CO<sub>2</sub>, SO<sub>2</sub>, and NO<sub>x</sub> emissions for fossil boilers over 50 MW in size.

## **Energy Savings and Consumption Analysis Results**

#### **Cooling Energy Savings**

Figure 4 below shows annual cooling energy savings results 1) in MMBtu (on the left side), and 2) as a percent of the reference case's total energy consumption (i.e., CAC + NGFurnace) on the right side. Overall, the cities with hot climates, such as Houston, Miami, and Phoenix, had three to four times more annual savings than the other cities in absolute terms (MMBtu). Average temperature, maximum temperature, cooling degree days (CDD), and degree days above 87°F for these cities (along with the other cities) are presented in Table 3. Key findings for each of the efficient HVAC options are summarized below:

- **2-stage Heat Pump:** The annual cooling energy savings for the 2-stage HP relative to the reference case consumption was about 20% for each city, and ranged from 0.5 MMBtu per year in Portland to about 3.6 MMBtu per year in both Phoenix and Miami.
- **INV HP SEER 16:** The cooling energy savings for the INV HP SEER 16 was more than 30% for the majority of the cities, except Los Angeles, Phoenix, and Salt Lake City. The absolute

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The values do not include the avoided capacity cost of \$100/kW-year. For example, the annual avoided capacity value for the INV HP SEER 16 is \$52 in New York City given that our model estimates that the system provides 0.56 kW peak savings.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Marginal units respond to fluctuations in demand and price. As the demand for electricity grows during a typical day, more expensive units are added as required; consequently, if less energy is demanded, these expensive units will drop off sequentially and are hence "avoided."

savings ranged from 0.7 MMBtu in Portland to 7 MMBtu in Miami. Houston had the second highest cooling savings at 4.8 MMBtu.

In general, for all the heat pump technologies, cities with humid, hot climates saw the most cooling savings compared to the reference case, and cities with dry, hot climates saw the least cooling savings compared to the reference case. Cities with cooler climates tended to see intermediate savings compared to the reference case. In Phoenix, a city with an extremely hot climate, the inverter heat pump did not perform as well as it did in other cities (relative to the reference case), while the 2-stage heat pump maintained a lower, but more standard percent savings across all cities, as shown in Figure 4. This is mainly because the INV HP performance has a more significant decrease than the performance of the 2-stage HP in Phoenix's extremely hot climate. (See Figure 2 for the HVAC performance, and Table 3 for the climate data for the study cities.)



Figure 4: Annual Cooling Site Energy Savings in MMBtu (left) and as a Percent of the Reference Case Energy Consumption (right)<sup>12</sup>

	Annual Average Temp (F)	Мах	Min	HDD at 65°F	Degree Days under 32°F	CDD at 70°F	Degree Days above 86°F	Average Rel. Humidity (%)
Atlanta	61	97	12	3,265	18	904	8	65
Boston	51	92	5	5,959	56	346	2	59
Chicago	50	96	-9	6,586	78	520	5	58
Houston	68	97	14	1,771	5	1,798	29	72
Los Angeles	63	98	35	1,707	0	427	3	53
Miami	76	93	38	218	0	2,557	19	72
Minneapolis	45	95	-21	8,049	109	422	3	60
New York City	54	95	4	5,159	45	563	4	59
Phoenix	73	115	27	1,535	0	3,216	90	27
Portland	53	92	20	4,813	8	241	2	43
Salt Lake City	52	101	0	5,919	61	825	19	27

Tahla	з.	Climato	Statistics	hv	City	[6] <sup>13</sup>
rable	J.	Ciimate	Statistics	Dy	City	וסו

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Consumption is presented as consumption to serve sensible load.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> "Average Rel. Humidity (%)" refers to average humidity during cooling degree days for each city, and is different from annual average humidity.

#### Heating Energy Savings

Figure 5 shows total annual "site" heating energy savings in MMBtu in the left chart, and total annual "source" energy savings as a percent of the reference case consumption in the right chart. The reason to show "source" energy savings instead of "site" energy savings, in relative terms, is to give an alternative comparison between consumption by electricity and consumption by natural gas. Site electricity consumption does not reflect energy lost between electricity generation and delivery to houses.



Figure 5: Annual Heating "Site" Energy Savings in MMBtu (left) and Annual Heating "Source" Energy Savings as a Percent of the Reference Case Consumption (right)<sup>14</sup>

The cities with the greatest absolute site heating energy savings were cities with cooler/cold climates such as Boston, Chicago, Minneapolis, New York City, and Salt Lake City. (See Table 3 for the climate statistics for heating). The energy savings for those cities ranged from about 50 to 80 MMBtu, which is roughly five to eight times greater savings than cities with hot climates such as Houston, Los Angeles, and Phoenix. However, the warmer cities had much greater savings when viewed as a percentage of the reference case, as presented in the right-hand chart in **Error! Reference source not found.**. This ability to perform well compared to the reference case is due to the fact that for heating, heat pumps work more efficiently in less extreme weather. Key findings for each of the efficient HVAC options are summarized below:

- **2-stage Heat Pump:** Minneapolis, the coldest city, had the lowest relative source energy savings potential (12%) for the 2-stage HP (excluding Miami, with no heating requirement), while the other cities saved about 20 to 30%.
- **INV HP SEER 16:** All cities (excluding the coldest cities, Minneapolis and Chicago) saved 40 to 50% of the reference case energy consumption.

#### **Economic and Environmental Analysis**

#### **Economic Analysis**

Figure 6 and Figure 7 present the results of our economic analyses from the consumers' perspective. Based on our review of these results, we found that the INV HP SEER 16 was the most attractive investment for all of the study cities for consumers. This is mainly because (a) the cost of the technology is equal to or smaller than the costs of the 2-stage HP, and (b) the energy savings resulting from this HVAC option are significantly higher than the savings from the 2-stage HP.

Additional economic findings (from the consumer perspective) are summarized below:

• **Simple payback:** The INV HP SEER 16 had the best (i.e., shortest) payback for all cities, averaging approximately 2 to 3 years in all cities except New York. (See Figure 6) New York had a long payback period or did not pay back at all, depending on the HVAC system,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> We assume on-site electricity utilizes only 35% of the primary energy input at power generation

because the lifetime costs for these systems exceed the lifetime benefits. The higher lifetime costs in New York were due to the city's highest retail electricity rate among the study cities, along with an average retail natural gas rate.

- **Benefit cost ratio:** The INV HP SEER 16 provided the highest benefit cost ratio for all cities. (See the left chart in Figure 7.) For example, a dollar investment in the INV HP SEER 16 (i.e., the incremental cost of the system over the reference case system) yielded about eight dollars return in Houston, while a dollar investment in the other technology yielded slightly above a dollar return.
- Net benefits: In terms of net benefits to consumers, the 16 SEER Inverter HP was the best option for all cities. (See the right-hand chart in Figure 7.) The largest net benefit was slightly over \$6,500 with the INV HP SEER 16 in Atlanta.
- **Consumer economics:** The top five cities with good consumer economics with the INV HP SEER 16 were Atlanta, Houston, Portland, Phoenix, and Salt Lake City, due to a combination of favorable retail energy rates for heat pumps, the level of energy savings, and/or low incremental HVAC system costs.



Figure 6: Simple Payback Year Comparison



Figure 7: Benefit/Cost Analysis (left) and Net Benefits (right) with the Participant Cost Test

Figure 8 shows the benefit cost ratio and net benefits from the societal/Total Resource Cost (TRC) perspective by HVAC system and city. The TRC perspective differs from the consumer perspective in that the INV HP SEER 16 had the highest benefit cost ratio and highest net benefits among HVAC options for all cities except Portland. This is mainly because (a) the cost of the technology was set equal to the cost of the 2-stage HP, and (b) the energy savings of this HVAC option were significantly higher than savings from the 2-stage HP. Portland is in a winter electricity peaking region, and the use of heat pumps during the winter period for heating requires extra generating capacity. This adds extra costs to the electricity grid instead of providing benefits in terms of reducing peak load.

Among cities, the TRC ratios for the INV HP SEER 16 systems were particularly high in Atlanta, Houston, Miami, and Phoenix, where the INV systems do not require a back-up furnace, and the electricity consumption increase for heating is largely offset by the electricity savings for cooling.

Interestingly, the cities with the highest TRC benefit cost ratios for the INV HP SEER 16 are Houston, Miami, Los Angeles, and Phoenix, which had *lower* net benefits than other cities. Heat pump systems in these cities were relatively small as the mild winter climate in these cities did not require back-up furnaces. Alternately, cities such as Atlanta, Boston, Chicago, and Salt Lake City, which had low benefit cost ratios, provided very high net benefits to consumers across different HVAC types. It appears that these cities had either high energy savings (especially heating savings) or favorable avoided energy costs for heat pumps (i.e., low avoided electricity and high avoided natural gas costs), or both.



Figure 8: Benefit/Cost Analysis (left) and Net Benefits (right) with the TRC

#### **Environmental Analysis**

In terms of lifetime emissions impacts, many cities saw significant  $CO_2$  and  $NO_x$  savings with heat pumps, but almost all cities except Miami saw  $SO_2$  emission increases, and Los Angeles and Phoenix saw negligible  $SO_2$  emission increases or decreases. In addition, the cities in the Midwest (Chicago and Minneapolis) saw a significant increase in all emissions ( $CO_2$ ,  $NO_x$ , and  $SO_2$ ) because this region has significant amounts of coal-fired electric generation on the margin (Figure 9).<sup>15</sup>

Additional environmental findings are summarized below:

- **CO**<sub>2</sub> savings: The INV heat pump saw significantly more CO<sub>2</sub> savings across all cities (except Chicago and Minneapolis) than the 2-stage HP option.
- **NO<sub>x</sub> savings:** The INV heat pump option saved NO<sub>x</sub> emissions in all cities except Chicago, Minneapolis, and Salt Lake City. The 2-stage HP saved NO<sub>x</sub> emissions in all cities except Chicago, Minneapolis, Atlanta, Portland, and Salt Lake City. Among all cities, Boston and New York (which have low emission rates and high energy savings) saved the most emissions.
- **SO**<sub>2</sub> **savings:** In many of the study cities, SO<sub>2</sub> emissions increased with both HP options because the baseline SO<sub>2</sub> emission rate estimates based on a natural gas furnace are negligible. The increase was again particularly acute in Chicago and Minneapolis. Cities with significant cooling energy savings relative to heating energy savings (i.e., Miami, Los Angeles, and Phoenix) saw some positive SO<sub>2</sub> emission reduction or negligible SO<sub>2</sub> emission increase with INV heat pumps.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> This means that marginal emissions from electricity in the region are so high that they exceed emissions from natural gas per mmBtu "heating load."



Figure 9: Avoided Lifetime CO2, NOx, and SO2 Emissions (tons or lbs.)

## Synthesis of Economic and Environmental Impacts from Consumer and Societal Perspectives

Ultimately, the type of heat pump that makes the most economic and environmental sense for each city depends on the perspective the analysis is being conducted from—particularly whether it is from the consumers' or the societal perspective. Given that our analysis of the different HVAC options found that the INV HP SEER 16 provided the greatest benefits across all cities with a few exceptions, we took a closer look at the energy and environmental impacts of the INV HP by city, and synthesized the results as one total score for each city as shown in Table 4 (below). The higher the score, the better for each analysis category in the table. For example, Atlanta received a score of 11 for payback because it had the shortest payback period among all cities for this technology option, and New York received the lowest score of 1 because the payback for the city was the longest.

Among all cities, we found that Atlanta and Houston provided the best balance among all analysis results, including customer payback, benefit cost ratio, and net benefits with the Participant Cost Test and  $CO_2$  reduction. Salt Lake City, Portland, and Boston rounded out the top five cities.

However, when we consider NOx emission impact, Salt Lake City, the third ranked city, showed reduced benefit from investment in heat pumps (as shown in Figure 9), In contrast, Houston, the second ranked city, saved a great deal of  $NO_x$  emissions with heat pump technologies.

In terms of lifetime SO<sub>2</sub>, emissions increased in all cities except Phoenix and Miami with the use of heat pumps, while Los Angles saw negligible emissions increase.

The cities with the lowest total scores were Minneapolis, New York City, and Chicago. The benefit cost ratios and simple payback years were very low for these cities. Additionally, lifetime  $CO_2$  emissions increased for both Chicago and Minneapolis with the use of heat pumps due to the high electricity marginal emission rates in the Midwest region

Also note that New York was the only city that the benefit cost ratios for the 2-stage HP and the INV SEER 16 were below 1 from the consumer perspective, while the ratio for the INV is very close to 1. This means that these technologies do not provide net benefits to consumers in this city. However, lifetime  $CO_2$  and  $NO_x$  emission savings in New York were the highest among all cities across all HVAC options, which implies that the net benefits could be significantly increased if monetary values were assigned to such avoided emissions.

	Payback	PTC Ratio	PTC Net Benefit	TRC Ratio	TRC Net Benefit	CO <sub>2</sub>	Total Score
Atlanta	11	8	11	10	9	4	53
Houston	9	11	7	11	4	9	51
Salt Lake City	5	5	10	5	10	10	45
Portland	10	6	8	6	5	6	41
Boston	4	4	9	4	11	7	39
Phoenix	8	10	4	9	2	5	38
Miami	7	9	3	7	1	8	35
Los Angeles	6	7	2	8	3	3	29
Chicago	3	2	6	2	8	1	22
New York City	1	1	1	1	7	11	22
Minneapolis	2	3	5	3	6	2	21

#### Table 4: Economic and Environmental Scores for the INV HP SEER 16 by City

## Recommendations

Our analysis shows that when replacing an aging central AC and natural gas furnace system, the INV HP SEER 16 in a single family house with a ducted HVAC system is a very attractive investment from both the consumer and societal perspectives, and also reduces CO<sub>2</sub> emissions. However, more research is needed to verify this finding and detailed results from this analysis. In particular:

- a. More heat pump models need to be investigated for their performance, including field data, to ensure that performance data are reasonably accurate.
- b. Electricity and fuel price forecasts need to be updated to reflect the most recent forecasts.
- c. Avoided emissions analysis could be improved by using updated emissions data and a more sophisticated avoided emission model, such as the U.S. EPA's Avoided Emissions and Generation Tool (AVERT).
- d. More precise hourly load factors may provide more accurate results.
- e. Adding benefits not included in this analysis will improve the economic analysis of HVAC systems. An expanded analysis could include T&D avoided costs; current and expected environmental compliance costs for NOx, SO<sub>2</sub>, and CO<sub>2</sub>; and other non-energy benefits.

Nonetheless, the results of our analysis offer valuable information to policymakers, consumers, and HVAC companies by identifying HVAC options that are more economically and environmentally advantageous than a NG heating + central AC combination system, and to what extent.

Based on the results of our analysis, Synapse recommends that policymakers further investigate the benefits of these technologies, particularly the 16 SEER Inverter HP system, and consider them for inclusion in energy efficiency programs at the state and federal levels. State governments and utility or third-party energy efficiency program administrators may want to consider including INV heat pumps as a technology eligible for incentives (e.g., rebates). Additionally, the Federal Government could consider adopting higher federal heat pump standards that reflect the energy efficiency attained by inverter heat pump technologies.

In considering INV heat pumps (particularly the INV HP SEER 16), state agencies and energy efficiency program administrators should consider paying particular attention to Houston, Los Angeles, Phoenix, and regions/states with similar building and climate characteristics due to the societal benefits provided in those cities. Minneapolis and Chicago should be considered last. In light of consumer economics, the regions covering Atlanta, Houston, Salt Lake City, Portland, and Boston are also good places to consider promoting the INV HP SEER 16.

Private companies—such as manufacturers, wholesale HVAC companies, and local HVAC contractors—can utilize the information in this study to effectively market their products and provide useful information to customers who are considering replacing their current HVAC system with one that is more efficient. The information from this study would be particularly useful to customers with homes similar to those analyzed in this analysis: single family homes with a ducted natural gas and central AC system. Private companies may want to begin by promoting these technologies in Atlanta, Houston, Portland, Phoenix, and Salt Lake City, where the consumer economics are strongest.

## References

- [1] U.S. Energy Information Administration RECS (Residential Energy Consumption Survey). 1997. Accessed July 5, at <u>http://www.eia.gov/emeu/recs/origin/climzone.gif</u>
- [2] Goodman Manufacturing Company. 2008. *Product Specifications: GSX13 Split System Air Conditioner*. 2008. Model #. GSX130481A\* / CA\*F4860\*6A\*. pp. 16-19. Available at <a href="http://www.alpinehomeair.com/viewresource.cfm?ID=1189">http://www.alpinehomeair.com/viewresource.cfm?ID=1189</a>.
- [3] Goodman Manufacturing Company. 2008. Product Specifications: DSZC Split System Heat Pumps. Model # DSZC160481A\* / CA \*F4961\*6\*\* + TX V / MBVC2000\*\*-1, pp. 4-19 for cooling and pp. 20-21 for heating. Available at http://www.alpinehomeair.com/ viewresource.cfm?ID=2368.
- [4] A global HVAC manufacture company, which preferred to remain anonymous. 2012. Data for a SEER 16 inverter heat pump.
- [5] Architectural Energy Corporation. Not dated. REM/Rate<sup>™</sup> building energy software, available at <u>http://www.archenergy.com/products/remrate</u>
- [6] National Renewable Energy Laboratory. Not dated. Typical Meteorological Year data 2 (TMY2) available from the National Solar Radiation database. Available at <a href="http://rredc.nrel.gov/solar/old\_data/nsrdb/1961-1990/tmy2/WBANIs.html">http://rredc.nrel.gov/solar/old\_data/nsrdb/1961-1990/tmy2/WBANIs.html</a>
- [7] Edison Electric Institute. 2010. *Typical Bills and Average Rates Report Winter 2010*.
- [8] Woolf, T. Erin Malone, Kenji Takahashi, William Steinhurst. 2012. Best Practices in Energy Efficiency Program Screening: How to Ensure that the Value of Energy Efficiency is Properly Accounted for. July 2012. Available at <u>http://www.synapse-energy.com/Downloads/SynapseReport.2012-07.NHPC.EE-Program-Screening.12-040.pdf</u>
- [9] Synapse Energy Economics. 2009. Avoided Energy Supply Costs in New England: 2009 Report. August 2009.
- [10] NYMEX. Henry Hub Natural Gas Futures. February 8, 2012. Accessed March 21, at <a href="http://www.cmegroup.com/trading/energy/natural-gas/natural-gas.html">http://www.cmegroup.com/trading/energy/natural-gas/natural-gas.html</a>
- [11] [U.S. EIA] U.S. Energy Information Administration. 2010. Annual Energy Outlook 2010
- [12] Federal Energy Regulatory Commission. Not dated. "Electric Power Markets: National Overview." Available at <u>http://www.ferc.gov/market-oversight/mkt-electric/overview.asp</u>
- [13] The Brattle Group. 2011. Cost of New Entry Estimates for Combustion Turbine and Combined-Cycle Plants in PJM, prepared for PJM, August 2011. Available at <u>http://www.pjm.com/~/media/committees-groups/committees/mrc/20110818/20110818-brattle-</u> <u>report-on-cost-of-new-entry-estimates-for-ct-and-cc-plants-in-pjm.ashx</u>
- [14] Alpine Home Air Products. Not dated. HVAC system cost data. Available at <a href="http://www.alpinehomeair.com/">http://www.alpinehomeair.com/</a>
- **[15]** U.S. EPA. Not dated. eGrid (the Emissions & Generation Resource Integrated Database). Available at <u>http://www.epa.gov/cleanenergy/energy-resources/egrid/index.html</u>
- [16] U.S. EPA. Not dated. Continuous Emission Monitoring Database. Available at <u>http://www.epa.gov/ttnemc01/cem.html</u>

## **High Efficiency Motor and Drive for Residential HVAC**

## Vijay Earanky, Paul Mullin

## Regal Beloit Corp, EPC Division

## Abstract

A high efficiency drive for a hermetic compressor application for residential HVAC is presented. The objective of this work is to develop a drive with high power factor and high system efficiency (above 90%) that can start reciprocating compressors with large differential load with stateof-art technology in a small foot print. A position sensor-less software algorithm is uniquely developed for starting the motor with high differential load using low starting current enabling the drive electronics to have smaller foot print. Field oriented control software optimizes running performance for any load. Software and electronics are designed to take advantage of the unique characteristics of the interior permanent magnet motor. Performance adjustments are possible allowing optimization for audible noise or for system efficiency etc. The drive supports communications and inputs from system controllers and potentially smart grid devices in the future. A laboratory proof-of-concept drive intended for 6 KW output was built to investigate the performance of the proposed drive with embedded software in a practical application. The experimental results verify that the proposed drive achieves nearly unity power factor providing a constant voltage for the inverter with high efficiency. In order to achieve near unity power factor and drive efficiency above 95%, the front end power factor corrected converter was designed using interleaved topology with swinging choke design. The drive and compressor system meets or exceeds new US Government regulations for residential HVAC systems to operate at high SEER values in order to conserve energy. The drive with compressor was tested extensively for the measurement of SEER outputs under different cooling and heating requirements of a residence and different weather conditions. The data obtained shows that the system achieves satisfactory results exceeding the SEER values stipulated by US government.

## **Energy Background**

According to the U.S. Energy Information Administration the average residential home in the US uses 5.6 million Btus or 1640KWh for air conditioning purposes annually. This represents 7.5% of the total average household energy use. Total air conditioning consumption in the US is 0.635 Quads (or quadrillion Btus). Residential cooling is a major energy consumer; efficiency improvements in cooling systems have the potential to greatly impact energy use.

In the United States air conditioning system efficiency is rated in the units of SEER or "Seasonal Energy Efficiency Rating". The SEER rating involves testing the system at various operating conditions, that is, different external temperatures. Each test point is weighted and then all are averaged for the final SEER. The term "EER" is used to describe one of the test conditions only. Units for EER and SEER are British thermal units per electrical watt-hour. EER is related to the globally more common, unit less, COP (Coefficient of performance) by the equation: EER =  $3.4 \times COP$ . Similarly SEER is related to the seasonal version of COP, SCOP "Seasonal Coefficient of Performance" by the equation SEER =  $3.4 \times SCOP$ .

The minimum SEER permitted in the US is 13 (SCOP = 3.8), and if it were to increase to 21 (SCOP=6) energy consumed for residential air conditioning will reduce by up to 38%. A viable, cost effective variable speed compressor is a key component in realizing this energy usage reduction.

SEER and SCOP are clearly improvements to EER and COP as they account for some variation in operating conditions. However, SEER/SCOP represents a set of fixed loading conditions and weighting factors. It would be most instructive to use operating conditions and weighting factors specifically designed to mimic actual conditions where the particular unit was to be installed.

Driven by existing and future requirements for energy saving for domestic HVAC systems stipulated by the government, a high efficiency motor drive for a hermetic compressor application was designed and developed using state of the art technology with active power factor control. This paper presents each functional block of the system and provides a brief description of each block explained.

## **Power Factor Background**

Power conversion equipment that processes AC (alternating current) power to DC (direct current) such as power supplies or variable speed drives have to use rectification to transform power. Most of these applications are non-resistive and always have low power factor (PF). The power factor of an AC electrical power system is defined as the ratio of the real power (expressed in Watts) flowing to the load the apparent power (expressed in Volt-Amps) in the circuit.

Government agencies around the world, driven by the US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and its ENERGY STAR program are announcing new performance standards for active mode performance of the power converters.

Low power factor is expensive and inefficient. Many utility companies charge large commercial and industrial customers an additional fee when power factor is less than 0.95. Low power factor also reduces an electrical system's distribution capacity by increasing current flow and causing voltage drops. It requires an increase in the electric utility's transmission and distribution capacity in order to handle the reactive power component caused by capacitive and inductive loads.

An illustration of a non-power factor corrected electronic drive current waveform is shown in Figure 1. The consequence of low PF "Power Factor" is that a load with a low power factor draws more current than a load with a high power factor for the same amount of useful power transferred. The higher currents increase the energy lost in the distribution system, and require larger wires and transmission and distribution equipment. With the advent of switch mode power supplies (non-linear loads) the problem is even more severe as such loads tend to distort the current drawn from the utility and introduce higher harmonic content. Some certifying agencies specifically IEC 61000-3-2 are requiring that the total harmonic distortion THD shall be less than 5% to comply. In order to overcome the undesired effects of passive rectification, active power factor correction has been implemented in this drive design.



#### Figure 1: Input current waveform without PFC

#### **Development Goals**

Our intent at the beginning of this project was to develop a commercially viable electronic drive for a brushless motor for U.S. residential HVAC systems. These systems typically use large compressors as one compressor cools the entire household. A primary goal was increasing total system efficiency by providing a variable speed motor drive. When used to control the system compressor the drive enables the refrigeration system to operate at its' peak efficiency point under varying temperature conditions. An additional goal was to provide near unity power factor further reducing losses in the electrical power supply.

## Design

#### Overview

A functional block diagram of the drive system is shown in Figure 2. Single phase AC ("AC In") is rectified and unfiltered DC voltage is fed to active power factor controller ("APFC") to provide DC voltage via the DC Link to a three phase inverter. The APFC is designed around a two phase interleaved boost topology for high power factor and efficiency. The microcontroller controls the inverter to drive the motor using a sensor-less Field-Oriented-Control algorithm. Both PFC control and microcontroller provide required safety features to the respective circuits. An overall health monitoring system has been incorporated. Further explanation of the important blocks will be discussed as follows.





## **Active Power Factor Controller**

Active power factor correction (APFC) can be realized by using standard topologies such as buck, boost and buck-boost depending on the input voltage and DC bus voltage requirement. For this design a boost power factor topology is chosen based on system requirements. The principle of APFC using boost topology is shown in Figure 3. The controller generates PWM "Pulse Width Modulation" signal to turn the switch on and off at a fixed frequency. The pulse width changes depending on the load condition and input voltage level. It gets a reference voltage from the output and current reference from switch current. It also gets a reference input voltage waveform. Based on all the above information the controller makes a mathematical assessment of how much duty cycle is applied to the switch. The switching action of the transistor when on period causes the inductor to store energy and in off period discharges the stored energy in to the bulk capacitor.



Figure 3: PFC with boost topology

#### Interleaved 180° Phase Sifted APFC

Given the power requirements for this drive (6 KW), a single stage PF converter will have low efficiency. A two stage converter is proposed with interleaved topology. In the interleaved circuit, the two stages are set 180° out of phase from each other. Therefore the addition of two phases which are 180° out of phase causes the ripple current to cancel when combined additively. The interleaved boost topology for the PFC controller is shown in Figure 4. In figure 4, the output ripple current has decreased significantly. Input current ripple reduction can save significant system cost as the EMI filter and the output capacitors do not need to attenuate large ripple currents.

There are several advantages to the interleaved topology. It allows distributed components which are more efficient as they are smaller for high power applications. Since the components are distributed spatially, thermal management for heat transfer becomes easier and efficient. The circuit can be designed and packaged for an optimum size and efficiency and can be modularized to achieve high power requirements by paralleling several modules.

By phase shifting the control signal by 180°, the input ripple current is reduced significantly allowing smaller filter components for the EMI filter. As a result of input ripple current reduction, core losses in the boost inductor are reduced and allow smaller cores for the inductor.

This phase shifting method of control to operate the switching devices results in reducing the output current ripple by half and increases the switching frequency as seen by the output bulk capacitors. A typical waveform is shown in Figure 4.



#### Figure 4: APFC with 180° Phase Shift Interleaved Topology

#### Phase Management

The interleaved PFC converter topology utilizes two converters to get high performance and efficiency by controlling them with phase shift. Phase management technique used to selectively turn off one of the converters during light loads. During light loads the converter losses remain the same yielding low efficiency. The controller can sense the load, and at appropriate level, one of the phases of PFC converter can be switched off completely. By turning off one phase at lighter loads, efficiency can be optimized over a wider power band. The switching losses of the MOSFETs and reverse recovery losses for the diode remain constant irrespective of load. In most applications in the light load operation, one phase of the converter can deliver the load. Under these conditions one of the converters can be switched off and eliminate these losses. Figure 5 shows the performance of APFC with phase management.



#### Figure 5: Phase Management

#### Inverter

A conventional three phase buck inverter is chosen to drive the motor from the DC bus. Motor winding current is monitored by three in-line current sensors. The inverter was designed to protect itself from under voltage, short circuit and temperature rise faults. An MCU controls the switching of the IGBTs in the inverter. The inverter schematic is shown in Figure 6.





#### Motor

We used a four pole Interior permanent magnet (IPM) motor using high-energy Neodymium magnets. The BLDC motor is designed to deliver higher efficiency at elevated temperature with chemical compatibility in refrigerant and oil in a hermetically sealed environment.

The motor was tested on a dynamometer and in a piston type compressor. The test results had shown that the motor efficiency of 96% at rated operating conditions.

## **Control System Software**

#### Overview

In the end application the motor will be installed inside a hermetic compressor. The motor (stator and rotor both) will be flooded with refrigerant. Any rotational sensor that could withstand the corrosive refrigerant is expensive. Such sensor arrangements would also incur additional cost to run the control wire through the compressor shell and therefore cannot be utilized. The control algorithm, therefore, must operate in "sensor-less" mode. For maximum efficiency and sensor less operation we chose to use a Field-Oriented-Control system.

The control flow diagram is shown in Figure 7. Motor three-phase currents ( $I_a$ ,  $I_b$ ,  $I_c$ ) are measured by the electronics, read my the microcontroller and fed into a Clarke transform. The Clarke transform outputs two-phase currents denoted  $I_{\alpha}$  and  $I_{\beta}$ . The following Park transform converts the  $I_{\alpha}$  and  $I_{\beta}$  with the angle information  $\theta$  into dq reference frame currents  $I_d$  and  $I_q$ . A regulator in the d-q reference frame controls voltage output to the motor in the same d-q reference. The regulator runs at a frequency of 8 KHz. This regulator also controls motor speed with a response time of 1 KHz. The inverse park transform uses the  $\theta$  angle to convert the Vd and Vq command into two phase voltages  $V_{\alpha}$  and  $V_{\beta}$ . The Space Vector Modulation block includes the inverse Clarke transform to convert two phase voltages to three phase and a Pulse Width modulation algorithm to drive the six power switches connected to the motor terminals.

Rotor position is estimated using a two stage observer ("Sensorless Observer System") to generate accurate position estimates based on phase current and phase voltage. The Sensor-less Observer system outputs an estimated  $\theta$  used by several other blocks as described above. Finally a state controller manages motor start-up, speed ramping and motor shut down.



Figure 7: Software Control System Block Diagram

#### Start up

Ramping the motor speed from 0 to 1200 rpm is accomplished by driving an open loop three phase voltage waveform. The amplitude and frequency of the voltage waveform are ramped up uniformly during this period. At the target switch over speed of 1200 rpm, the frequency and amplitude remain constant. The state controller then manages the switch over from open loop to closed loop control.

#### Current regulation with pulsing load

The two-piston torque profile is shown in Figure 8. There are two complete and extreme cycles per motor mechanical revolution. To keep up with dynamic loads and the varying piston load profile the position estimator runs at a 2KHz rate.



Figure 8: Two Piston Compressor Torque Profile

#### Regulation and relationship to noise

The speed regulator runs as part of dq frame regulator as seen in Figure 7. Speed was initially regulated quite tightly with an update rate of 2 KHz and optimized control loop constants. To maintain constant speed our torque output oscillated from 50-100% twice each revolution. This pulsating torque caused the compressor to vibrate and generate excessive noise. By de-tuning (slowing response) of the speed and current control loops we were able to mitigate noise.

## System Performance

#### **Physical Implementation**

A development drive used for initial testing and qualifications shown in Figure 9. This platform includes an eight channel analog diagnostics module used to develop the control algorithms and do initial testing of the output. Configurable analog circuit sections and digital data output circuits are also included.



#### Figure 9: Development Drive

A compact 6 KW drive was also built and subjected to drive level and system level testing. The picture of the drive is shown in Figure 10 for reference. The drive with motor was tested on dynamometer for various torque levels and speeds to evaluate the drive performance. The drive was also tested running a two piston compressor in the laboratory.



Figure 10: Completed Drive Assembly

#### **Test Setup and Results**

Test setup with compressor is shown in Figure 11. The compressor (lower left) is connected to a refrigerant system (410A) capable of reproducing all operating conditions seen in field installations. Our development platform drive is shown in the lower right. Drive efficiency and power factor data was collected with a Yokogawa 3000 power analyzer. A Yokogawa DL850 (to the right of the top shelf) was used to display live data from the control software with actual measurements of current and voltage. With this test configuration we can measure EER data points and compile a complete SEER rating.



#### Figure 11: Test setup with compressor

The drive was tested on a dynamometer at various torque levels to verify the performance. A Yokogawa 3000 power analyzer was used to measure power factor, voltages and currents to evaluate the drive performance. The performance curves are shown in Figure 12 for power factor and Figure 13 for system efficiency.

Figure 13 presents final optimized motor and drive performance. Motor and drive contributions to system efficiency are close to balanced in the fully loaded (normal operation) range. Total system efficiency (as defined below) just exceeds 90% over a range of normal operational loads.

With Power input and output defined as follows:

 $P_{in}$  = Power input from utility

 $P_{out}$  = Shaft Power

Efficiency of the system is defined in % as:

$$Efficiency (\%) = \frac{P_{in}}{P_{out}} \cdot 100\%$$



Figure 12: Power factor at various loads



Figure 13: Motor and system Efficiency

## **Summary and End-Application Efficiencies**

A comparative study was conducted to find the effect of adding a PFC circuit to the drive and its impact on the system efficiency. Similar conditions were applied to two drives – one with APFC which is the proposed drive and another drive without a PFC circuit. The data is shown in the Table 1 below. For ease of comparison the input current and power were normalized to 6KW resistive load. It is clear from the data under different load conditions EER values are very close while there is a 35% increase in input current with non-PFC drive.

Drive Name	Input Current (normalized)	Input Power (normalized) %	Power Factor	BTU	EER
Drive – PFC	1.01	100	0.997	49644	8.2
Drive – No PFC	1.37	100	0.726	49828	8.3
Drive – PFC	0.64	60	0.997	70316	18.3
Drive – No PFC	0.90	60	0.701	69612	18.3
Drive – PFC	0.27	25	0.992	44051	27.2
Drive – No PFC	0.41	25	0.651	43477	27.3

Table 1: Performance comparison of drives with and without PFC

Single phase induction motor driven compressor might be part of a typical system with SEER of 13. 13 SEER is currently the minimum required in the U.S. and is equivalent to a COP of 3.8. With a variable speed compressor the system can be brought up to 18 SEER and with more variable speed components (air movers) a SEER of 20 or 22 is possible. Table 2 shows potential cost saving for a residential application using a 5ton air conditioning system. Costs are totals for one average cooling season. Cost savings are significant, easily reaching \$300 per year even in regions with inexpensive electricity. The cost benefits are even greater in areas with higher electricity prices and/or longer cooling seasons.

A lot of work was performed and reported by many authors comparing a constant speed air conditioners (CASC) and variable speed air conditioners (VSAC). The study conducted by Ing Youn Chen [4] showed that the comfort for the user is far greater with variable speed air-conditioner than the constant speed air-conditioner as the variation of temperature around a set point is  $0.4^{\circ}$ C in the case of VSAC verses 2°C for CSAC. It has been reported that while the user comfort is increased with VSAC, the power consumption is reduced installing VSAC as compared to CSAC. In another study conducted by Florida Solar Energy Center "Measured Energy and Peak Demand Reduction from High Efficiency air Conditioner Replacement" by John A. Masiello and Mathew P. Bouchelle of Progress energy Florida, Inc and Danny S. Parker and John R. Scherwin of Florida Solar energy Center [1] had shown an average energy saving of about 50% when SSACs were replaced with high efficiency VSAC equipment. The study was conducted over a long period to cover all four seasons to evaluate the differences in energy consumption and user comfort properly and conclusively. Apart from savings in energy consumption the study also found a significant reduction in peak demand by about 35 – 50%.

From various studies and published data it is very clear that variable speed air handling systems provide more comfort to the consumer at reduced energy cost. Along with the consumers, utility companies are also benefited from the variable speed air handlers with reduced peak demands.

In Table 2 below as shown, there are significant savings to be realized in systems using this type of variable speed compressor. In addition, our drive does not degrade the power factor of the end system maintaining low losses and an optimized electric power distribution system.

#### **Table 2: Typical Air conditioning Systems Cost**

EER (BTU per Watt hour)	COP (Coefficient of Performance)	Power Consumed (Kwh)	Electricty Cost (\$0.20 Per KWh)	Savings (Compared to 13 SEER)
13	3.8	3846	\$769.23	\$0.00
18	5.3	2778	\$555.56	\$213.68
21	6.2	2381	\$476.19	\$293.04

## Conclusions

The need for improving the efficiency of HVAC systems has been imposed by various government agencies for energy conservation and to improve user comfort level. With this as background a HVAC system using reciprocating compressor and variable speed electronic drive has been demonstrated with experimental system results.

The design methodology for the drive electronics to achieve near unity power factor and high system efficiency (90%) has been illustrated and experimentally demonstrated in a 5 ton compressor system. Unity power factor can be achieved without significantly reducing motor drive efficiency.

A comparative study is conducted and presented between the existing fixed speed drives and variable speed drives as proposed in the literature and benefits of such a drive in the light of current government regulations has been demonstrated.

The design for the drive electronics has included necessary frame work for easy adaptation to meet interface requirements of various system controllers and agency requirements including forthcoming smart grid devices.

## References

- [1] "Measured Energy and Peak Demand Reduction from High Efficiency Air Conditioner Replacement", John A. Masiello and Matthew P. Bouchelle; Progress Energy Florida, Inc. Danny S. Parker and John R. Sherwin, Florida Solar Energy Center
- [2] U.S. Energy Information Administration, www.eia.gov, "Residential Energy Consumption survey (RECS)", 2009
- [3] "ANSI/AHRI 210/240-2008: 2008 Standard for Performance Rating of Unitary Air-Conditioning & Air-Source Heat Pump Equipment". Air Conditioning, Heating and Refrigeration Institute. 2008.
- [4] Ing Youn Chen, 2009: A comparative study between a constant speed air-conditioner and a variable speed air-conditioner. (Report) ASHRAE Transactions – January 1, 2009
- [6] Burns, R. and Hough, R. E., 1991. Monitoring and Evaluation of Rplacing Low-EFFICIENCY Air Conditioners with High-Efficiency Air Conditioners in Single-Family Detached Houses in Austin, Texas, ORNL/Sub/86-SA566/V, Oak Ridge National Laboratories, Oak Ridge, TN.
- [7] Neal, L. and O'Neal, D. "The Impact of Residential Air Conditioner Charging and Sizing on Peak Electrical Demand," 1994 ACEEE Summer

## Study of China Variable Speed Air Conditioner: Energy Efficiency, Life-cycle Cost and Impacts of Subsidy Program

## ZHAO Feiyan, HU Bo, ZHENG Tan, LI Jiayang, ZENG Lei

## Abstract:

Sales of variable speed room air conditioners (AC) in China reached 25 millions in 2011, expanding from 10% to 42% of all the ACs in only 5 years.

This development was supported by a series of national policies: a MEPS (Minimum Energy Performance Standard) for variable speed ACs was implemented in 2008, followed by an energy label in 2009, and the national energy efficient product subsidy program since June 2012.

This paper is based on retail market data gathered in the framework of the MACEEP study ("Market Analysis of China Energy Efficient Products" study led by Top10 China and CLASP (Collaborative Labeling & Appliance Standards Program). The data cover the ACs' energy related properties such as SEER (seasonal energy efficiency ratio), cooling and heating capacity and power, cooling season consumption and purchase price for end-consumers.

The cooling capacity is the crucial property, which influences also the heating capacity, the SEER, energy efficiency tier and retail price. The energy efficiency tier is the key element regarding the MEPS, label and subsidy. The market shares according to tiers show that revising MEPS and label is urgently needed to promote the market transformation.

Based on the retail price and electricity consumption, the life cycle cost and payback time of the high efficient products can be calculated. The results show that the subsidy program and other incentive policies should be improved to help the expansion of the high efficient conditioners.

## 1 Product background

#### 1.1 Market status

The variable speed air conditioners were introduced to the Chinese market in the 1990s. The sales remained low with slow growth rate up to 2009. In 2010 and 2011, the sales doubled over each of the previous years and the market share rapidly expanded from 16% in 2009 to 35% in 2011. The growth rate of sales plateaued in 2012, but the market share of the variable speed air conditioner increased to 44%, which was resulted from the significant decline in the sales of the fixed speed air conditioner.

#### **1.2 Energy efficiency standard and label**

The first energy efficient standard for variable speed air conditioner - GB 21455-2008, was implemented in September 2008 and hence covered by China Energy Label Program in March 2009. The implementation of efficiency standard and energy label contributed to the rapid expansion of the market share of the variable speed air conditioners.

GB 21455 - 2008 adopts SEER as its main energy efficiency performance indicator. SEER is calculated according to the testing results under maximum and half load operating conditions and the cooling season operating time, which is 1,136 hours. The MEPS has 5 tiers and only sets the requirements for the cooling function (not for heating).

Table 1-1 Minimum efficiency requirements of tiers in GB 21455 – 2008 Unit: [W\*h/(W\*h)]

Cooling capacity range (W)	Tier 1 SEER require ment	Tier 2 SEER require ment	Tier 3 SEER require ment	Tier 4 SEER require ment	Tier 5 SEER require ment
CC≤4500	5.20	4.50	3.90	3.40	3.00
4500 <cc ≤7100</cc 	4.70	4.10	3.60	3.20	2.90
7100 <cc< td=""><td>4.20</td><td>3.70</td><td>3.30</td><td>3.00</td><td>2.80</td></cc<>	4.20	3.70	3.30	3.00	2.80

#### 1.3 Subsidy program

The variable speed air conditioner was included in the subsidy program from June 2012. Comparing to the same cooling capacity with the fixed speed air conditioners, the variable speed air conditioner receives more subsidy, which helps its market penetration.

Table 1-2 Subsidy for Variable Speed Air Conditioner	Unit: RMB	

	CC≤2800	2800 <cc≤4500< th=""><th>4500<cc≤ 7100</cc≤ </th><th>CC&gt;7100</th></cc≤4500<>	4500 <cc≤ 7100</cc≤ 	CC>7100
Tier 1	300	300	350	400
Tier 2	240	240	280	330
Tier 3	0	0	0	0
Tier 4	0	0	0	0
Tier 5	0	0	0	0

#### 1.4 Data information

The main performance and energy efficiency related properties analyzed in this paper are listed below. All the analysis will be performed based on the market data of those properties.

- Cooling capacity (CC)
- Energy efficiency tier (EET)
- Seasonal energy efficiency ratio (SEER)
- Price
- Heating capacity (HC)
- Co-efficiency of the performance (COP)

## 2 Product analysis

#### 2.1 Product types and market distribution

Variable speed air conditioner has two types of products – wall mounted and free standing. The wall air conditioners have over 2/3 shares of the market. Besides the traditional cooling function, consumers have become accustomed to the heating function. About 97% of variable speed air conditioners on the market have the heating function.

It is discovered that many models have cooling capacity between 2400W and 2700W. The products are classified by their cooling capacities in 4 groups as shown in Table 2-1.

#### Table2-1 Variable speed air conditioner product groups

Product group NO.	Cooling capacity range (W)	Number of product models
1	CC≤2800	315
2	2800 <cc≤4500< td=""><td>379</td></cc≤4500<>	379
3	4500 <cc≤7100< td=""><td>174</td></cc≤7100<>	174
4	7100 <cc< td=""><td>136</td></cc<>	136

4500W is the point of distinction in cooling capacities between the wall and standing conditioners. Very few wall air conditioners have cooling capacity of 5000W or higher.

The heating capacity has the similar distribution pattern with the cooling capacity. 3600W and 4300W are the most popular heating capacities among variable speed air conditioners. The cooling and heating capacities are closely correlated with a coefficient of correlation of 0.873. In general, heating capacity is slightly higher than cooling capacity.



Figure 2-1 Correlation between the cooling and heating capacities

#### 2.2 Energy efficiency

#### 2.2.1 Energy efficiency tier distribution

The current energy efficiency tiers distribution is shown in Figure 2-2. The tier 5 products are almost eliminated from the market, while tier 1 products only occupy a small percentage of the market. Tier 3 dominates the market with over 50% market share. The total percentage of the energy efficient air conditioners (tier 1 + tier 2) is 31.3%, which is higher than normal percentage ( $20\% \sim 25\%$ ) of the energy efficient products among other appliances.





#### 2.2.2 Seasonal energy efficiency ratio (SEER)

GB 21455-2008 adopts seasonal energy efficiency ratio as the efficiency indicator. Most products have SEERs that are of the minimum requirements of tier 2 and 3. The best available variable speed air conditioner's SEER is higher than 7.



Figure 2-3 Average SEER and cooling season energy consumption

As shown in Figure 2-3, the SEER generally decreases with the increase in the cooling capacity, while the cooling season energy consumption increases proportionally with the cooling capacity in a near-linear relationship.

#### 2.2.3 COP

In GB/T 7725 - 2004 "Room air conditioners", which sets the testing method and defines the performance indicators of the air conditioners, the heating seasonal performance factor

(HSPF) is introduced as the energy performance of the heating function. It is a voluntary indicator declared by the manufacturers. Due to the lack of data of HSPF, COP is calculated based on the rated heating capacity and heating power consumption. It can also indicate the heating energy efficiency of the variable speed air conditioners.



Figure 2-4 COPs distribution

The COPs follows a normal distribution ranging from 2 to 5. Most of the COPs lie within the intervals of 3 to 3.5.

#### 2.2.4 Price

Figure 2-5 shows that the price increases with the increase in cooling capacity. However, the price of air conditioners with cooling capacity of 2500W is much higher than those with cooling capacities between 2600W and 3500W. It can be explained that the average SEER of the 2500W models is much higher than others. This is what the figure shows energy efficiency significantly affects the price of air conditioners with cooling capacities between 2500W and 3500W.



Figure 2-5 Correlation between cooling capacity and price

The subsidy is set based on the fact that the price of the high efficiency products is much higher than the normal or inefficient ones. Figure 2-6 shows the correlation between price and efficiency tiers.



Figure 2-6 Average price of each efficiency tier in four groups

It is evident that the price increases with the cooling capacity. With each product group, from tier 3 to tier 1, the average price increases with the decrease in tiers with a constant rate, especially for the three groups below 7100W. The price differences among tier 3, 4 and 5 are not as big as tier 1 and 2. Products under tier 1~3 can be considered in the same price level, barring some cases where tier 4 and 5 air conditioners are more expensive than those under tire 3. Taking the subsidy into consideration, it cannot sufficiently close or reduce the price gap between tier 1, tier 2 and tier 3 products.



Figure 2-7 Subsidized average price of each efficiency tier in four groups



Figure 2-8 Correlation between SEER and average price

Each mark in Figure 2-8 represents the average price of the SEER whose value is calculated from at least 2 samples. In every product group, the similar trend shows that the price increases with the increasing of the SEER, which has the similar trends of the EET-Price.



Figure 2-9 10 years total cost of different product groups

Figure 2-9 follows the similar trends with the purchasing price trends. Among all product groups, tier 3 products have the lowest total cost, since tier 3 products have much cheaper price than the tier 1 and tier 2 products. This also indicates that the energy cost savings of high efficiency products cannot offset the high purchasing prices in 10 years time.



Figure 2-10 10 years total cost of different product groups

Figure 2-10 shows that the subsidy has little or limited impacts on the total cost.

#### 2.3 Recommendations

1. Increase the requirements of the minimum energy performance and hyper energy performances: 1) It has been 4 years since the implementation of the current standard in 2008. It is the time to review and revise this standard. It has been proven that the standard played an essential role in helping the variable speed AC expand its market since 2008; 2) Tier 3 of current standard should be set as the MEPR (Minimum Energy Performance Requirement) in the new MEPS, since the market share of tier 4 and 5 products are already reduced to less than 20%. Based on the experience from the fixed speed air conditioner standard revision, the new MEPS can even use the tier 2 of current standard as its new MEPR, since the variable speed AC has already been included in the new subsidy program. It is well known that the subsidy program phase I played key role in upgrading the fixed speed air conditioner MEPR from tier 5 to tier 2; 3) The average SEER of top efficiency products on the market is much higher than the requirement of tier 1, which means that the manufacturers have the capability to produce products with energy efficiencies much higher than the current tier 1. The requirement of tier 1 should be increased to help these higher efficiency products to distinguish themselves from others.

2. Increase the subsidy and reduce the product models covered by the subsidy program: 1) more subsidy is needed for the high efficiency products in order for them to compete with the normal products in terms of life-cycle cost. The current subsidy is very low compared to the total cost of high efficiency products. In order to close the price gap between higher and lower efficiency products, the subsidy for higher efficiency products should be increased to a point where it is sufficient to affect the decision of the consumers'; 2) subsidy should only be available for top performance products. The existing subsidy program covers both tier 1 and tier 2 products with little distinction. The tier 2 products should be eliminated from the subsidy program and only the top products from tier 1 should be subsidized in order to maximize the impact.

3. Add heating performance requirement to the new MEPS: The COP distribution shows wide range of COPs of the conditioners. The classification scheme of the heating efficiency should be introduced to distinguish high efficiency products from low efficiency products. Users are becoming accustomed with the heating function of air conditioner, as indicated in the study that more than 97% conditioners on the market are with heating function. It was proposed to

include the heating function during the revision of the fixed speed air conditioners MEPS, but the proposal was denied. The latest European standard "Implementing Directive 2009/125/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council with regard to eco-design requirements for air conditioners and comfort fans" included both cooling and heating functions of air conditioner in the MEPS.

## Reference

[1] GB 21455-2008, the minimum allowable values of the energy efficiency and energy efficiency grades for variable speed room air conditioners.

[2] GB/T 7725-2004, Room air conditioners (ISO5151: 1994, Non-ducted air conditioners and heat pumps testing and rating for performance. NEQ).

[3] http://www.etao.com

[4] http://www.sdpc.gov.cn/

[5] http://www.energylabel.gov.cn/

# Ground-Source Heat Pump coupled with Thermal Energy Storage

Joao Fong\*, André Quintino\*, Anabela carvalho\*,\*\*, Aníbal de Almeida\*

\* ISR -University of Coimbra, Coimbra, Portugal

\*\* Polytechnic Institute of Coimbra, Coimbra, Portugal

## Abstract:

The GROUND-MED project develops and demonstrates the next generation of geothermal ground-source heat pump (GSHP) systems for heating and cooling in 8 demonstration sites of South Europe.

The project aims at increasing the Seasonal Performance Factor (SPF) of the heat pump installation by using the best components available as well as improved control methods.

This paper presents the preliminary monitoring results of the main performance parameters of a vertical borehole ground source heat pump system installed in a recently renovated administration building, in Coimbra. The installation satisfies the heating and cooling needs of 22 rooms (offices) with an approximate space conditioned area of 600  $m^2$ .

Furthermore, it describes the Phase Changing Materials Thermal Storage System to be coupled to the GSHP, reducing the electricity costs by taking advantage of variable electricity rates while helping the grid to overcome the intermittent output of renewable energy. The Thermal Storage System has a storage capacity of 100kWh.

The paper also recommends possible strategies to further improve the performance of the installation.

Key words: Heat Pump, Ground Source Heat Pump, Energy, Energy Efficiency, HVAC

## Introduction

The Coimbra pilot site is included in a broader project aimed at increasing the Seasonal Performance Factor (SPF) of Ground Source Heat Pump (GSHP) installations by using the best components available as well as optimized control methods.

The GSHP is installed in a recently renovated building, with three floors. The GSHP was designed and installed to satisfy the thermal needs of the whole 3rd floor. This is the floor which presents higher thermal gains and losses due to its connection to the roof and due to the large glass area. This floor has 22 rooms (offices) and a space conditioned area of approximately 600 m<sup>2</sup>. The same solution could be used for a multi-apartment residential building.

## **System Description**

The system has four main elements: the ground source heat exchanger, the heat pump, the indoor hydraulic loop supplying the fancoils, and the Thermal Storage tank and circuit (not yet installed). A simplified schematic of the system can be seen in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Simplified schematics of the installation

The Ground Source Heat Exchanger (GSHE) consists of seven vertical boreholes connected in a balanced parallel configuration. The seven boreholes are arranged in a 5x5 m rectangular grid. Each borehole is Double-U type and 125m deep.

A prototype water source heat pump of improved seasonal efficiency was developed by CIAT. It is a reversible water to water heat pump with optimized performance. Its key technologies include the next generation of high-efficiency compressors and brazed plate heat exchangers. Reversibility is done on the water side in order to always be in counter current on the heat exchangers. This is achieved by 3-way motorized valves as shown in Figure 2.



#### Figure 2. Principle of the water reversibility with 3 way valves

Two networks constitute the indoor loop: the primary network heated or cooled by the heat pump and the secondary network to feed the fan coils units. Separation between two, is made by a decoupling tank and allow separating request and supply. There is also a buffer tank, to increase thermal inertia of the primary network. This additional volume, reduces the on/off heat pump cycles.

Water circulation in the primary and secondary water circuits is ensured by high efficiency, variable speed permanent magnet motor pumps.

The fan-coil units are equipped with high efficiency impellers and high efficiency permanent magnet motors capable of varying speed. Their speed is automatically regulated and decreases as the temperature in the room approximates the user set-point. This greatly reduces the electricity consumption of the fan, which can be as low as 5 Watt.

Additionally, the fan-coil units are designed to operate at a lower temperature – less than  $40^{\circ}$ C – when in heating mode, and at higher temperatures -  $10^{\circ}$ C /  $15^{\circ}$ C – when in cooling mode, than the temperatures normally used in these applications. This approach allows for a considerable improvement in the heat pump performance.



Figure 3. High efficiency impeller and permanent magnet motor

## **Preliminary Monitoring Results**

A Data Acquisition System was developed, specifically for this project, which allows for the monitoring of the system's performance through the collection of all the relevant system variables (heat pump and building). Such a system also allows for the constant improvement of the installation performance.

The next figures present the monitored values of some of the key performance variables of the system for one average heating day.



Figure 4. Temperature evolution in the two water loops for one heating day



Figure 5. Thermal power for one heating day



Figure 6. Heat Pump compressor electrical power for one heating day



Figure 7. Auxiliary equipment electrical power for one heating day

For the purpose of technology evaluation four different Daily Performance Factors (DPF) values are calculated as follows:

$$DPF = \int_{0}^{t} \dot{Q} \cdot dt \bigg/ \int_{0}^{t} \dot{P} \cdot dt$$

where Q corresponds to the heating or cooling energy supplied to the building and P is the power consumption considered:

- Heat Pump compressors in the case of DPF1,
- compressors and external circulation pump in the case of DPF2,
- compressors and both external and internal circulation pumps in the case of DPF3 and
- compressors, all pumps and fan-coils in the case of DPF4.

Because of limitations in the data collected so far the above values are only shown for one average heating day, in Figure 8.



Figure 8. Daily performance factors for one average heating day.

As it can be seen, the performance factors achieved are very high. DPF2, which takes into account the energy consumed by the external circulation pump was improved by restricting the pump to work only when the heat pump is on. Further improvements are expected by optimizing all circulation pumps speed, and consequently the flow rate, according to the thermal demand from the building.

For this purpose, a methodology is being developed by the Polytechnical University of Valencia (Spain) in collaboration with the University College of Dublin (Ireland) and the project partners responsible for the demonstration sites, including the University of Coimbra (Portugal). This methodology allows finding the optimal operating flow for the circulation pumps as a function of the instantaneous thermal load. The advantage of the proposed methodology is that it can be carried out on site and therefore is able to take into account the complex phenomena occurring at the heat pump and the ground source heat exchanger when the flow rates are varied.

## **Thermal Storage**

A latent heat thermal energy storage (LHTES) is planned to be coupled with the already installed system. This will help reduce the electricity costs taking advantage of variable electricity rates while helping the grid to accommodate the intermittent output of renewable energy, which allows for the wider deployment of renewable energy generation in the wider electricity grid. The increasing integration of intermittent nature renewable energy requires the need to consider new ways of managing the grid since this type of supply often does not coincide with periods of increased demand. It is therefore necessary to develop solutions that allow the flexible integration of energy generation.
The occupancy period of the building is from 8 AM to 7 PM is made evident by the load profile presented in Figure 9.



Figure 9. Electrical Load profile of the building – Mid-winter.

As can be seen, the peak load of the building occurs in the morning, when workers turn on all the electric equipment, including the space heating system. This peak load period coincides with the national peak load demand period in Portugal, where electricity and power have a higher price, as can be seen in table 1. The peak period has two penalizing rates, one for the electricity consumption and another one for the power demand.

Period	Period	Electricity (€/kWh)	Peak Power (€/kW.day)
Peak period	9 AM to 10.30 AM 6 PM to 8:30 PM	0,2124	0,4311
Middle peak period	8 AM to 9 AM 10:30 to 6 PM 8:30 PM to 10 PM	0,1173	
Off peak period	10 PM to 2 AM 6 AM to 8 AM	0,0808	
Special off peak period	2 AM to 6 AM	0,0727	

Table 1: Contracted e	lectricity prices o	of the building i	in 1st trimmest	: of 2013.

The use of thermal storage will, therefore, reduce the electricity bill of the building (moving consumption to lower cost off-peak periods) and reduce the peak power.

Energy storage with phase change material (PCM) has numerous advantages over sensible systems. The energy is stored at a relatively constant temperature, and because the required mass and volume of the system are lower energy losses to the surroundings are lower than with conventional systems [1] [2].

The desired operating temperature range is one of the most important criteria for the selection of phase change heat storage materials, since the heat transfer rate and thus the performance of the system mainly depends on the difference between the temperature of the heat transfer fluid and the melting point of the PCM.

Taking into account that the GSHP and the fan coils were designed to operate with a supply temperature of  $40^{\circ}$ C and a return temperature of  $35^{\circ}$ C in the space heating loop and that a delta T of at least 5°C is needed to charge and discharge the stored thermal energy, the melting point range must be within the range of  $44 - 48^{\circ}$ C, ideally  $45^{\circ}$ C.

The selected PCM is a hydrate salt (sodium thiosulfate pentahydrate) with a melting point of 46°C and a heat of fusion of 190kJ/kg. This PCM is already commercially available in rectangular plastic containers that can be stacked on top of each other forming a self-assembled large heat exchanger inside the tank.



Figure 10. PCM encapsulated in rectangular plastic containers [PCM Products Ltd]

The thermal storage capacity was determined based on the estimated thermal load of the 3rd floor, the electricity rates and the cost of the thermal storage system. A full thermal storage strategy would not be cost effective, since in Portugal the heating season rarely exceeds twelve weeks. Therefore, a partial-storage strategy will be used to meet thermal needs during peak periods.

The thermal storage unit consists of a tank, with a total volume of 3m<sup>3</sup>, filled with 400 containers of a Phase Changing Material (PCM) resulting in a storage capacity of 100kWh.



Figure 11. Capacity Storage of 100kwh supports thermal needs during 3,5h

As it can be seen in the previous figures a thermal storage capacity of 100 kWh can support the thermal needs of the 3rd floor during the peak period in a typical cold day. In less cold days in winter the thermal storage may satisfy most of the thermal necessities.

# Conclusions

High performance Geothermal Heat Pump systems, such as the one demonstrated here, have the potential of completely replacing the use of diesel oil and natural gas boilers for domestic space and water heating and of reducing electricity consumption for cooling by at least 50%, by replacing old air conditioning systems. The latter occurs, as the SPF of high performance geothermal heat pumps is twice that of split air conditioning units.

Although the GSHP is already a very efficient technology for space conditioning, the addition of a thermal storage may still be an attractive solution leading to additional benefits for the power grid, by reducing peak demand and integrating intermittent sources and for the consumer. In this case study a reduction of around 50% of the electricity costs for space heating during the winter period was estimated.

Most EU countries have large-scale programs to increase renewable electricity generation. The above mentioned impacts will strongly increase if the electricity used in the heat pumps is provided by renewable generation. The use of thermal storage, will contribute to balance the demand for heating with variable renewable electricity supply in a cost-effective way, creating a path towards sustainable heating of buildings.

At the end of this project the demonstration of the combination of both technologies is expected to result in a high efficiency solution for space conditioning, with great potential for replication. It has the additional benefit of using intermittent energy, storing this energy to be consumed when necessary, thereby contributing to a more efficient integration of renewable energies and a more cost-effective operation of the power grid.

# References

[1] Benli, H. & Durmus, A., 2009: "Evaluation of ground-source heat pump combined latent heat storage system performance in greenhouse heating", Energy and Buildings, 41, pp 220-228.

 [2] Conference Proceedings: Rousse, D. R., Salah N. B. & and Lassue, S., 2009: "An Overview of Phase Change Materials and their Implication on Power Demand", Proceedings from IEEE Electrical Power & Energy Conference (EPEC), October 22-23, 2009. Montreal, Canada.

# Domestic Refrigeration: Low climate change impact solution for energy efficiency

James M. Bowman, P.E. Honeywell International

Tim G. A. Vink, Honeywell Fluorine Products EMEAI

# ABSTRACT

On a global basis, the industry, government regulators, and NGOs are continually striving for a low environmental impact energy solution across all energy consuming applications, including household refrigerators. Highly energy efficient blowing agents, in the manner of polyurethane insulation, are a primary solution to climate change impact reduction. This solution outlines the climate change impact imparted from not only indirect contribution, that is, energy consumption, and also additionally, the direct contribution to climate change from the associated raw materials, that is, the global warming impact of the blowing agent, utilised in manufacture of household refrigerators. The solution description characterises the energy consumption performance, the manufacturing impact considerations, and end of life management in the construct of a pro forma life cycle climate performance. Prototype household refrigerator/freezer product, of significant scale, has been manufactured with current commercial household refrigerator platforms, utilising these low environmental impact blowing agents. These refrigerator/freezers were assessed for energy performance under rigorous methodology. Detail of the manufacturing process, materials performance, and quality metrics, compared to baseline, current, commercially available refrigerator product will be discussed.

Key words: energy efficiency; sustainability, climate change impact

# DEVELOPMENT SUMMARY

A key raw material in the production of high performance, rigid polyurethane (PUR) insulation foam is the blowing agent. Although many blowing agent technologies are available to the foam formulation chemist, the use of fluorocarbon blowing agents has historically resulted in foams with the highest insulation performance, best physical properties, safest and simplest processing characteristics, and best value in use. The use of fluorocarbon blowing agents began as early as the mid-1950s with the introduction of trichlorofluoromethane, or CFC-11. This blowing agent became the industry standard until the mid 1990s, when concerns over ozone depletion led to the development of a second generation of high performance foam blowing agents, the HCFCs. For the rigid polyurethane foam industry, the most commonly used HCFC was 1,1-dichloro-1-fluoroethane, or HCFC-141b. Although conversion to HCFC-141b reduced the ozone depletion potential of the blowing agent by 90%, subsequent regulation required that these HCFC blowing agents also be phased out and a third generation of high performance blowing agents was developed, the HFCs. The most commonly used HFC blowing agent in rigid polyurethane foam is 1,1,1,3,3-pentafluoropropane, or HFC-245fa. This material satisfied the requirements of ozone depletion regulation while, at the same time, retained the high performance and non-flammability required in many foam applications. In many parts of the world, conversion from HCFC technology to HFC technology is complete while, in certain other regions, this conversion is now occurring.

In recent years, concern over climate change is driving the development of a fourth-generation fluorocarbon, one that meets the requirements of both ozone depletion and climate change regulations, current and anticipated. Honeywell, formerly AlliedSignal, has been the leader in the development of fluorocarbon blowing agents and is now leading the development of this fourth-generation fluorocarbon technology. Honeywell has developed two such fourth-generation products: 1234ze(E) - a gaseous blowing agent and 1233zd(E) - a liquid blowing

agent, both of which are non-persistent in the environment. Described in this paper, the liquid blowing agent: trans-1-chloro-3,3,3-trifluoropropene (1233zd(E) - trade named Honeywell Solstice <sup>™</sup> Liquid Blowing Agent (LBA), successfully incorporates required environmental properties, while maintaining the non-flammability, low POCP, and high performance characteristics that have differentiated fluorocarbon blowing agents for high performance rigid foam insulation applications. These two fourth-generation blowing agents also find application where a flammable blowing agent is unsafe, too costly to use, or fails to provide the desired foam performance. These new high performance materials, while they contain fluorine, also contain an olefin structure, and are therefore referred to as haloalkenes. Because of the presence of a double bond in the molecule backbone, these haloalkenes are a separate and distinct class of materials from their predecessor HFC materials, resulting in a much shorter atmospheric lifetime than their predecessor fluorocarbons, thereby resulting in a much lower global warming potential, or GWP.

## **BLOWING AGENT PROPERTIES**

Table 1 lists certain, select properties of blowing agents compared to 245fa and other commonly used blowing agents. In order to be successful in the application, the fourth generation blowing agent must satisfy a complex and unpredictable mosaic of properties and performance attributes beyond those listed here. Note that the GWP of Solstice LBA is less than 5, is more than two orders of magnitude lower than that of currently utilized HFCs, and is more than one order of magnitude lower than the present limitations in the EU F-Gas Regulation.

Beyond the excellent insulation performance that Solstice LBA imparts to polyurethane foam, it is distinctly different from hydrocarbon blowing agents in flammability characterization. Solstice LBA shipment, storage, handling, and processing does not require flammability risk mitigation, as is the case with flammable blowing agents such as cyclopentane and certain other flammable blowing agents. Solstice LBA is nonflammable by ASTM E-681 test method and has no limitation on hazards classification. Solstice LBA is further distinguished from cyclopentane and other hydrocarbon blowing agents by the low potential to contribute to ground level smog formation (POCP measure), and the U.S. EPA has proposed to classify Solstice LBA as non-VOC. Flammability and VOC mitigation may contribute significantly to the OEM's cost of adoption and use and, in certain cases, prohibit their use due to safety considerations.

Table 1. Liquid Blowing Agent Select Properties					
Properties			Cyclo		
	Solstice LBA	245fa	pentane	365mfc	141b
Mol. Weight	130	134	70	148	117
Boiling Point					
°C	19.0	15.3	49.3	40.2	32.0
°F	66.2	59.5	120.7	104.4	89.6
Flashpoint					
°C	None	None	-7.0	-27.0	None
°F	None	None	19.0	-16.6	None
LFL/UFL					
(Vol% in Air)	None	None	1.5-8.7	3.6-13.3	7.6-17.7
GWP, 100yr <sup>[1]</sup>	< 5 <sup>[2]</sup>	1030	< 25 <sup>[3]</sup>	794	725
VOC (US)	No	No	Yes	No	No
PEL <sup>[4]</sup>	800	300	600	1000	500

1. 2007 Technical Summary. Climate Change 2007: They Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group 1 to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. (except where noted)

2. Private Communication, Prof. Don Wuebbles, University of Illinois, Department of Atmospheric Sciences

3. Generally accepted value

4. Manufacturers' literature except where noted

# LOW CLIMATE CHANGE IMPACT HOUSEHOLD REFRIGERATOR

Honeywell has reported in various papers and proceedings on the development of LGWP blowing agents in the various polyurethane PUR applications, including appliance foams. PUR foam properties of thermal conductivity (also known as lambda or k-factor), compressive strength, and dimensional stability derived from characterization of hand mix foams or foam panels prepared by means of a high pressure foam machine have evidenced efficacy in comparison to 245fa foams. This type of effort to develop baseline data is necessary to estimate the performance in the commercial manufacture of refrigerators, refrigerator/freezers, and freezers. However, until commercial refrigerator product has been manufactured under industrial conditions, and assessed for energy performance and ancillary performance, for example, liner compatibility, adhesion to liner and metal cabinet and doors, freeze stability, and other quality aspects, an OEM cannot make a prudent decision that a commercially viable, 'real world' solution is available.

Honeywell reported the performance of household refrigerators/freezers manufactured utilizing Solstice LBA, compared to baseline 245fa blowing agent in the same refrigerator platform. Further assessment has been performed utilizing a Solstice LBA appliance polyurethane system optimized for thermal conductivity, for which the resulting assessment will be discussed and contrasted to the prior reported data. To that end, a full scale trial, utilizing Honeywell Solstice LBA, with an optimized polyurethane system, in a commercially available 623 liter (22 ft<sup>3</sup>) household refrigerator/freezer [bottom freezer, counter-depth platform] was undertaken. These 30 refrigerator cabinets, with associated door sets, were foamed to investigate:

- Lambda (k-factor) performance in various locations of the refrigerator
- Liner compatibility with High Impact Polystyrene (HIPS)
- Dimensional stability
- Freeze stability at target density
- Compressive strength
- Adhesion to plastic liner material and metal case
- Foam closed cell content
- DOE (Department of Energy) Energy Performance
  - Energy consumption with 134a refrigerant working fluid

The baseline comparison for these low climate change impact refrigerators is the same commercial household refrigerator/freezer product utilizing 245fa blowing agent and 134a refrigerant (unmodified compressor system). It should be noted that the Solstice LBA was substituted for 245fa at an equal molar level in the PUR foam formulation.

## **Polyurethane Foam Formulation**

As discussed previously, the polyurethane formulation comprised commercially available materials, and was supplied by a major PUR systems house, with Solstice LBA equal molar substituted for 245fa. The foaming process conditions including machine temperatures and pressure were identical to the conditions for the 245fa baseline cabinets and doors. The polyurethane process parameters are illustrated in Table 2. Those familiar with refrigerator factories and scale will observe the scale of foam throughput is consistent to scale found in North American world-scale factories, and is consistent with the size refrigerators manufactured in this trial.

Solstice LBA processed very similarly to 245fa and no modifications were made to the PUR foaming equipment or process- effectively, conventional existing PUR equipment, existing in the factory, accommodated Solstice LBA.

Additionally, characterization of the Solstice LBA versus 245fa foamed cabinets and doors suggest no differences in minimum fill weight or over-pack conditions.

Component	245fa (% wt)	Solstice LBA (% wt.)
Polyol Blend	71.3	→
Additives	4.3	→
Water	1.0	1.0
Blowing Agent	23.4	24.0
Isocyanate	100	100
Door Foam Rate: kg/min (Ibs/min)	40.8 (90)	40.8 (90)
Cabinet Foam Rate: kg/min (Ibs/min)	90.7 (200)	90.7 (200)
B-Side Temperature °C (°F)	18.3 (65)	18.3 (65)
A-Side Temperature °C (°F)	23.9 (75)	23.9 (75)
Gel Time (sec)	30.0	30.0
Tack Free (sec)	45.0	45.0
Injection Pressure MPa (psi)	10.4 (1500)	10.4 (1500)

## Table 2. Appliance PUR Formulation and Process Parameters – Typical

## Lambda (k-factor) Performance

Foam samples from various locations in the fresh food compartment and freezer compartment were assessed for lambda (k-factor) performance. PUR foam thermal conductivity can and will vary throughout the refrigerator/freezer due to foam flow characteristics and associated density variation. Chart 1 illustrates the average lambda (k-factor) performance measured in varying locations of the refrigerator/freezer. Solstice LBA lambda performance is approximately 3% improvement to 245fa baseline. Across multiple Solstice LBA household refrigerator assessments, across the various regions, the lambda performance has exhibited improvement to 245fa baseline, as well as significant improvement to cyclopentane.

## **DOE Energy Assessment**

The U.S. Department of Energy (DOE) established, in July 2001, a standard for the maximum energy consumption of household refrigerators. In simplified terms (Federal Register 10CFR 430 for more detail) the standard allows a maximum energy usage by refrigerator internal volume, adjusted for various accessories, such as through-the-door water and ice dispensers. In addition, the DOE provides for the Energy Star label for refrigerators, refrigerator/freezers, and freezers, which, as of March 2008 is DOE Standard minus 20% energy consumption. Presently the DOE is in the process of establishing, for promulgation in 2014, a revised and presumably more stringent energy standard for household refrigerators, refrigerator/freezers, and freezers.

Lambda (k-factor) assessments aside, meeting the DOE energy standard is the only criteria that determines whether a refrigerator meets the energy requirements to be sold in the U.S. The refrigerator/freezers manufactured in this trial not only met the DOE Standard, not only met the DOE Energy Star label, but exceeded the Energy Star label requirements. Five refrigerator/freezers utilizing Solstice LBA in an optimized PUR system / 134a refrigerant were assessed by the DOE Energy Star test method. Five refrigerators/freezers utilizing 245fa blowing agent in an optimized system / 134a refrigerant was the baseline comparison.

Effectively, the 2011 refrigerators, as well as the 2009 refrigerators, containing Solstice LBA in an optimized PUR system, exceeded the proposed DOE 2014 Energy Standard, without employment of further energy solutions to the platform, such as vacuum insulation panels or compressor modification.

# **Comparative Energy Consumption Performance**

Resulting from comparative blowing agent assessment conducted by the Association of Home Appliance Manufacturers / Insulation Technical Advisory Committee (AHAM / ITAC) in the mid 1990s, it was recognized that refrigerators manufactured utilizing cyclopentane blowing agent exhibited approximately 8-10% energy efficiency penalty compared to those manufactured with 245fa. While PUR systems for both blowing agents have improved over the last decade, the relative energy efficiency gap has remained. While Solstice LBA has demonstrated improved energy efficiency to 245fa, the continual question surrounds the comparison to cyclopentane, and the relative energy efficiency thereof. For comparative blowing agent performance to have validity, requires build up and energy consumption assessment be performed on identical refrigerator platform. Additionally, accepting there are formulation nuances between fluorocarbon systems and hydrocarbon systems, the PUR formulations utilized were commercially utilized performance systems. Illustrated in Chart 2, with 245fa refrigerator energy consumption performance has the zero point on the y-axis, Solstice LBA consistently is 1.5-3.0% energy consumption reduction to the commercial 245fa baseline, and 8.0 – 10.0% improvement to cyclopentane (95%) baseline. Further noted is that multiple data points on differing refrigerator platform configuration and sizes were incorporated into this analysis.



Chart 1. Average lambda measured across various refrigerator/freezer locations-Typical



Chart 2. Comparative Energy Efficiency Performance.

# Climate Change Impact

Climate change impact of a household refrigerator, over a typical 15 year lifetime, encompasses two discrete elements: direct and indirect. Direct climate change impact associates the impact of raw materials, which for this analysis includes impact of blowing agent manufacture, transportation, emissions in refrigerator manufacture, and end of life emissions [with the general assumption that blowing agent will be released to the atmosphere from the PUR insulation foam]. Indirect climate change impact relates to the lifetime energy use for the refrigerator. While modern HFC blowing agents, such as 245fa exhibit improved insulation performance over non-HFC blowing agents, such as hydrocarbons and others, various regulatory bodies have expressed concern over GWP property of these materials, particularly as relates to end of lifetime management and fugitive emissions from manufacturing processes, despite the energy efficiency imparted in PUR insulation by these blowing agents.

At EEDAL 2003 conference, 'The Effect of Blowing Agent on Energy Use and Climate Change Impact of a Refrigerators' [Johnson and Bowman], a comparative analysis for a Whirlpool 'Combi' 358 liter refrigerator was reported for which validated data was available. This analysis was constructed around the separate use of HFC-245fa and a hydrocarbon blend (cyclopentane) as blowing agent for the PUR insulation, and the resulting energy consumption performance. This analysis showed that the direct impact of either blowing agent was orders of magnitude less than the indirect impact (lifetime energy consumption of the refrigerator). LCA calculations for Solstice LBA have shown the carbon footprint to be of the same order of magnitude as 245fa and hydrocarbons. Hence indirect impact (lifetime energy use of the refrigerator) is the overriding factor, for minimizing climate change impact, and the choice of blowing agent for PUR insulation foam – the underlying assumption of GWP < 15 property of the blowing agents.

Chart 3 illustrates the comparison of PUR insulation containing Solstice LBA to PUR insulation containing a pentane blend utilizing the same analysis. The difference in  $CO_2$  equivalent, exceeding 15% (including PUR ageing effects, op.cit.), represents the respective lifetime climate change impact of the blowing agent choice, all other refrigerator platform design elements equal. The caveat: within the construct of regulation (absolute energy consumption or labeling) the 15% energy consumption gap must be recovered by design elements, which may include: changes to insulation wall thickness, incorporating vacuum insulation panels, improvement in compressor efficiency or fan motor efficiency, as well as other solutions. Inclusion of these design elements, for recovering the energy consumption gap into finished refrigerator product represents a manufacturing cost to the OEM, as well as a societal cost to the consumer at retail.



Chart 3: Energy Consumption: Refrigerator Lifetime

# SUMMARY: Household Refrigerator Energy Performance

Commercially manufactured in 2009, 710 liter (25 ft<sup>3</sup>) household refrigerator/freezers with Solstice LBA, equal molar substituted for 245fa, in a commercially available 245fa appliance PUR formulation, exceeded the DOE Energy Star performance criteria and exceeded the 245fa baseline performance.

Commercially manufactured in 2011, 623 liter (22 ft<sup>3</sup>) household refrigerators, utilizing an optimized Solstice LBA PUR system exhibited an energy efficiency improvement to the baseline 245fa refrigerators exceeding 4%. Further, this 623 liter refrigerator/freezer platform exceeded the 'proposed' DOE 2014 Energy Standard for this platform.

Across multiple differing household refrigerator platforms, use of Solstice LBA blowing agent in the PUR insulation has exhibited 8 - 10% improvement (reduction in energy consumption) compared to use of cyclopentane (95%) as the blowing agent in the PUR insulation.

Within the scope of a limited life cycle climate performance analysis, the climate change impact of blowing agent choice is not insignificant, and may offer manufacturing cost improvements to the OEM.

Solstice LBA, in all ancillary assessments related to a household refrigerator/freezer, met or exceeded all requirements, including liner compatibility, compressive strength, dimensional stability, and freeze stability. At this writing, numerous scale household refrigerator assessments have been performed in not only U.S., but in various regions. Efficacy of Solstice LBA energy efficiency in refrigerator/freezers and related economic improvement in raw materials utilization is being demonstrated and acknowledged.

## **ENVIRONMENTAL and REGULATORY STATUS**

The European Parliament and the Council of the European Union have committed the Community and its Member States to the adoption of the Kyoto Protocol in reducing anthropogenic emissions of greenhouse gases listed in Annex A to the Kyoto Protocol by 8% compared to 1990 levels in the period from 2008 to 2012.

The F-Gas Regulation as outlined in (EC) No 842/2006 (OJEC L161 of 14.06.2006) prohibits the use of fluorinated greenhouse gases in certain (emissive) applications. F-Gases include certain HFCs (hydrofluorocarbons), PFCs (perfluorocarbons), and SF6 (sulfur hexafluoride) as listed in Annex I (EC 842/2006). The EU F-Gas Regulation is under review, which may result in additional use restrictions for high GWP fluids (Article 10, F-Gas Regulation), as well as introduction of a 'cap and phase-down' mechanism.

Although current activity is limited, the United States government is considering various approaches to address climate change, particularly regulatory-driven changes. While still too early to predict the final structure and language, changes will impact high global warming potential materials to some degree. In anticipation of these regulations, and in response to similar regulatory initiatives globally, industry is preparing solutions to meet current and future climate change regulations. Honeywell counts among this group of industries with its low GWP development program, including, in addition to blowing agents, refrigerant gases and other fluorochemicals.

Japan has made voluntary Kyoto Protocol commitments to reduce or limit emissions of greenhouse gases, though has not formally promulgated domestic regulations to enforce these commitments. Solstice GBA and Solstice LBA can play an important role in meeting these voluntary commitments.

It is anticipated that, as climate change regulations are developed in other countries, these regulations will contain GWP limits similar to those being promulgated in Europe and, voluntarily, in Japan. Solstice GBA and Solstice LBA will, in all likelihood, satisfy the requirements of these regulations and will therefore be an integral part of any GWP reduction strategy, as well as ODS (ozone depleting substances) strategy for Article V countries. Indeed,

Canada, Mexico and the USA have submitted proposals for a "Cap and Phase Down" mechanism under the Montreal Protocol that envisages a gradual reduction in the GWP-weighted consumption of certain fluorinated greenhouse gases (mainly HFCs) globally. If adopted, the effect of such a mechanism would be that low GWP fluids would become the preferred solution in many applications.

Low GWP materials, because of their very short atmospheric lifetime, often prove to be volatile organic compounds (VOCs), contributing to ground level ozone formation. The measure that characterizes whether a chemical is a VOC is the Maximum Incremental Reactivity (MIR). This measure (MIR) at which chemicals are generally considered to be a VOC, by U.S. regulation, is that of ethane. The MIR of Solstice LBA has been measured at less than the value for ethane, hence has been classified as VOC-exempt in the U.S. (Carter, W. P L., 2009). The European Union uses a somewhat different measure to characterize propensity for ground level ozone formation -- photochemical ozone creation potential (POCP) -- which is compared to ethane, which has a POCP of 12.3 (Nielsen, University of Copenhagen). The POCP of Solstice LBA [1233zd(E)] is less than ethane, and calculated POCP to be approximately 3. The short atmospheric lifetime of Solstice LBA also explains why, in spite of the presence of a chlorine atom in its structure has a negligible Ozone Depleting Potential [Wuebbles – University of Illinois (private communication): 1233zd(E) exhibits no impact on depletion of ozone layer and is commonly referred to as zero (0)]. Solstice LBA degradation products are well known compounds that are abundantly present in the natural environment.

Honeywell's Solstice LBA can provide insulation performance improvement, while additionally providing a substantial reduction in greenhouse gas emissions when used in place of high GWP products currently regulated under the F-Gas regulation. Since the purpose and intent of climate change regulations is to control emissions of high GWP materials, Solstice LBA, with a GWP of < 5, is in the same GWP range as many other blowing agents that are considered low GWP solutions, such as hydrocarbons and certain other blowing agents. Therefore, Solstice LBA provides a path to lessening the global warming potential issues facing the industry.

The Solstice family of blowing agents is unique in possessing four important environmental properties: no impact on the ozone layer; very low global warming potential; low photochemical ozone creation potential; and no flammability.

# PRODUCT REGISTRATION STATUS

In the European Union, REACH [Registration, Evaluation, Authorization and Restriction of Chemicals, (EC) 1907/2006] regulation has, effective June 1, 2008, replaced the notification provisions of directive 67/548/EEC. Under REACH, each manufacturer or importer of a substance over 1 metric ton per year is obliged to submit a registration file, including a chemical safety assessment for volumes greater than 10 tons. For volumes over 100 and 1000 metric tons, additional data must be submitted. Moreover, for these volume bands, the registrant must submit proposals for animal tests needed to obtain certain (eco) toxicological data points. The goal of the latter provision is to prevent, as much as possible, duplication of animal tests. In many cases, waivers for such tests can be proposed. The registration should indicate the intended uses for which the substance is notified. Use outside these registered uses is prohibited, unless a downstream user submits a separate registration file for that use. REACH Registration of Solstice LBA is in progress, and presently at the 10 metric tons band.

In the United States, commercialization of new materials requires U. S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) compliance with Section 612 of the Clean Air Act (CAA). Toxicology data is submitted to the EPA, together with an application for a Premanufacturing Notification (PMN). Approval of the PMN includes the material's listing on the Toxic Substances Control Act (TSCA) inventory. Further, materials to be used as blowing agents or in certain other applications must have listing as an acceptable substitute for ozone-depleting substances under the Significant New Alternatives Program (SNAP). Completion of the PMN review process and listing on the TSCA inventory is a requirement for all new chemical materials. SNAP listing is a requirement for all materials in applications that have historically used chlorofluorocarbons (CFCs). Upon completion of these regulatory requirements, new materials can be commercialized in the United States. Additionally, these materials may be regulated at

the federal, state, or local levels to comply with volatile organic compound (VOC) regulations. Solstice LBA filing for SNAP and PMN has been completed and is currently under U.S. EPA review, as is VOC exemption status.

For Japan, the requirements for commercialization of new chemicals requires submission of toxicological and environmental data to the Japanese Ministry of Health, Labor and Welfare (MHLW), the Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry (METI), and the Ministry of the Environment (ME) for compliance with the Chemical Substances Control Law. Solstice GBA and Solstice LBA registration in Japan is complete.

Other regions of the world have requirements for toxicology assessment and environmental impact assessment prior to commercialization of new materials. Honeywell is committed to obtaining the necessary regulatory clearances for sampling and eventual sales of the Solstice family of blowing agents, and more specifically, Solstice LBA globally. This registration process is in progress for Solstice LBA in several countries, including China, South Korea, Australia, Canada, and others.

# TOXICITY ASSESSMENT

At the writing of this paper, Honeywell has made significant progress towards completing all necessary toxicology studies and assessments for use and commercialization of Solstice LBA. Toxicology data has been submitted to regulators in connection with regulatory filings in the United States, specifically the SNAP, PMN, and the EU REACH programs, and has been independently reviewed by leading toxicology labs and third party reviewers.

# CONCLUSIONS

Across multiple refrigerator assessments, incorporating various platform configuration and size, Solstice LBA blowing agent (PUR insulation) has exhibited improvement to energy efficiency contrasted to 245fa baseline, and significant improvement to cyclopentane baseline.

Solstice LBA regulatory approvals are in place or in process in major markets, encompassing excellent properties of ultra low GWP (GWP < 5), no flammability, and low POCP (classified as non-VOC by U.S. EPA).

With the global attention to climate change, and potential restrictions on the use of high GWP blowing agents and refrigerant gases in various regions of the world, Honeywell and Whirlpool have validated the energy efficiency of Solstice LBA low GWP blowing agent in the context of North American design household refrigerator platforms.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Honeywell acknowledges the significant contributions by the Whirlpool Corporation and other multinational appliance OEMs for their collaboration in providing the manufacturing site and refrigerators, as well as the multinational polyurethane systems companies in providing the polyurethane formulations utilizing Solstice LBA.

# REFERENCES

- 1. James M. Bowman and Yordani Sinaga. "Household Refrigerator: Low GWP Refrigerator Performance Update", CPI Proceedings 2011
- 2. James M. Bowman, David J. Williams, and Samuel F. Yana Motta: "Low Climate Change Impact Solution: Household Refrigerators/Freezers", CPI Proceedings 2010
- 3. J. M. Bowman and S. F. Yana Motta. "Advances in Environmentally Sustainable Blowing Agents and Refrigerants". EEDAL Proceedings 2009
- 4. Robert W. Johnson and J. M. Bowman. "The Effect of Blowing Agent on Energy Use and Climate Change Impact of a Refrigerator". EEDAL Proceedings 2003

## DISCLAIMER

Although all statements and information contained herein are believed to be accurate and reliable, they are presented without guarantee or warranty of any kind, expressed or implied. Information provided herein does not relieve the user from the responsibility of carrying out its own tests and experiments, and the user assumes all risks and liability for use of the information and results obtained. Statements or suggestions concerning the use of materials and processes are made without representation or warranty that any such use is free of patent infringement and are not recommendations to infringe on any patents. The user should not assume that all toxicity data and safety measures are indicated herein or that other measures may not be required.

# BIOGRAPHIES

#### J. M. Bowman, P.E.

Jim holds a B.S. degree in Chemical Engineering from Iowa State University, Ames, Iowa, a M.Eng. degree from McNeese State University, Lake Charles, La., a MBA from Northern Illinois University, DeKalb, III., and is a registered professional engineer in the State of Louisiana. Jim joined Allied Corporation (AlliedSignal, now Honeywell) in 1984 and has worked in sales, marketing, commercial development, and technical service capacities. He is a Honeywell Research and Development Fellow.

#### Tim G. A. Vink

Tim is currently Director Regulatory Affairs, Compliance and QA with Honeywell Fluorine Products Europe, Middle East & Africa and adviser to Honeywell's UOP Renewable Energy & Chemicals business. He holds leading positions in Industry Bodies such as the European Fluorocarbon Technical Committee (EFCTC), EPEE (European Partnership for Energy and the Environment) and CEFIC. He also chairs the Fluorocarbon REACH Consortium Coordination Group.

Mr. Vink was a lead author for the IPCC/TEAP Special Report on the relationship between the Montreal Protocol and Kyoto Protocol as it affects Fluorocarbons. He is (co-) author of several articles related to chemicals. In addition, Mr. Vink has been actively involved in the development and application of a wide body of EU legislation, including REACH, the European Climate Change Programme, Waste- and Energy Efficiency rules, Renewable Energy and Fuel Quality, as well as Trade related issues. A Dutch citizen, Mr. Vink received a Masters Degree in Economics from the University of Nancy II (France) with honours. He is also a graduate from the Centre Européen Universitaire de Nancy (France) and the Nijenrode School of Business (NL).

# Unveiling the mysteries of refrigerator energy consumption

# Lloyd Harrington

# Energy Efficient Strategies, Australia

# Abstract

We all know what a refrigerator looks like. Most households in developed countries have one (or more) at home and many households in the developed world have one already or will have one soon.

It is well known in general terms that household refrigeration uses a lot of energy. Refrigerators and freezers are regulated for energy consumption in as many as 60 countries. While generalised modelling approaches allow us to make reasonable guesses about their energy consumption at a national or global level, the reality is that we do not really know much about the drivers of energy consumption when it comes to individual appliances (such as number of householders and climate).

The problem is that the way we measure the energy consumption of a refrigerator in the laboratory (for energy labelling and Minimum Energy Performance Standards) is really nothing like the way they are normally used. In fact, we don't really have much of an idea of how they are normally used. We don't know what temperatures are inside people's houses, we don't really know how different refrigerators respond to changes in ambient temperature. We don't know how much energy is associated with usage such as door openings and cooling food and drinks and how this impacts on appliance energy.

As part of his PhD research, high quality energy data (as well as indoor temperature data) has been collected from some 300 refrigerators and freezers installed in real homes (over a period of 6 months to 1 year). This is the most comprehensive study of its type anywhere in the world. The data set collected to date is formidable and provides deep insights. To complement field data, the research also utilises extensive laboratory data for hundreds of models.

The paper explores the key findings of these important field and laboratory measurements and what they mean for our understanding of energy for these appliances. Importantly it provides insights into what to measure to facilitate more accurate energy consumption estimates during normal use and how the new IEC test method sets out these key components. The paper also outlines new government proposals to increase MEPS levels in 2017 and to change the whole approach to energy labelling of these products into Australia to make it more accurate and consumer relevant.

## Introduction

Most developed countries have large numbers of household refrigerators installed and operating. Australia, which is by no means exceptional, currently has an ownership of household refrigerators of about 1.4 per household. Separate freezers account for a further 0.4 appliances per household [1]. Australia has almost 9 million households, so this accounts for about 16.2 million appliances operating in 2013 (for a population of almost 23 million in March 2013). In addition it is estimated that there are a further 1.5 million appliances operating in offices and workplaces that are effectively used for household purposes, bringing the total close to 18 million appliances. These appliances account for some 12% of residential electricity consumption in Australia [2]. By any measure this is a significant end use.

Globally, some 100 million new refrigerating appliances are produced every year. There are nearly 1.5 billion products installed world wide [3]. These products are estimated to consume some 1,000 TWh of electricity a year, equivalent to around 5% of global electricity consumption [4].

It is therefore somewhat surprising how little is known and published about refrigerator energy consumption during normal use and the key drivers for this energy consumption. While there have been many end use metering campaigns over the years to measure energy of household refrigerators in the field, this data has provided little insight and understanding on the key elements that can affect efficiency. This paper sets out some of the early finding of a major research project undertaken by the author as part of his PhD at the University of Melbourne which aims to provide a much deeper view

into the conditions of use and how this impacts on energy. While the research is still in progress, this paper sets out many of the key drivers that have been gleaned from years of experience and research in the field. Hopefully this will provide useful background to policy makers in all countries on how to deal with this ubiquitous product in a more coherent manner.

# **Technical Basis of Operation**

Before delving to a deep technical analysis of laboratory and field data, it is useful to recap what a refrigerator actually is and how it works. This discussion is limited to products that use the vapour compression cycle as overwhelmingly these dominate systems that are connected to electricity grids around the world.

In its simplest manifestation, a refrigerator is an insulated box to which is attached a heat pump. The heat pump consists of a compressor, a condenser, an expansion control system (typically capillary tubes for household style refrigerators) and an evaporator, all connected in a loop and filled with an appropriate charge of refrigerant. The heat pump collects energy from inside the refrigerator and pushes it to the outside using the vapour compression cycle (or Carnot refrigeration cycle).



Figure 1: Schematic representation of a simple refrigerator

Typically, the refrigerants most commonly used are R134a and R600a (iso-butane). The most common insulation used is polyurethane as this is one of the best performing insulation materials available (blowing agents for the foam do vary). There are some other components in the system (such an accumulator to stop liquid exiting the condenser from reaching the compressor in liquid form, and some more exotic designs like multiple evaporators and complex expansion systems), but these all work within the same broad principles. Other common options are inverter driven (variable output) compressors, which offer advantages in many operating conditions, options for automatic defrosting, a range of auxiliaries like through the door dispensers, automatic ice making and so forth. Heaters are also commonly used for a range of purposes such as temperature balance, external humidity control and keeping water lines to freezers in a liquid state, as well as for maintaining stable operation in some ambient conditions.

In simplistic terms, the energy consumption of a refrigerator under any operating condition (excluding user interaction) is determined by 2 main factors:

 The effective overall average insulation of the cabinet walls – this determines the heat flow from the surrounding ambient air into the refrigerator cabinet;  The efficiency of the refrigeration system to remove that heat gained in order to maintain constant internal temperatures.

For a simple, single compartment refrigerator or freezer, the measured steady state energy consumption is given by the following equation:

$$P = \frac{U \times A \times (T_a - T_i)}{COP}$$

Where:

U is the overall average U value of cabinet walls

A is the surface are of the cabinet walls

T<sub>a</sub> is the average ambient temperature around the refrigerator

T<sub>i</sub> is the internal average temperature of the refrigerator

COP is the efficiency of the refrigeration system.

Increasing insulation decreases the heat load while increasing the COP of the system reduces the energy required to extract the heat load. There are of course many small elements that can impact on the overall effective U value of the cabinet such as penetrations, variable thickness, use of composite materials like vacuum panels in some areas and heat gain through door seals (gaskets). Once a refrigerator is designed, the insulation, surface area and to some extent internal operating temperature are fixed (once a control setting is selected by the user).

The following elements that impact on energy are explored in some detail below:

- Impact of ambient temperature on energy
- Typical indoor temperatures
- User loads
- Defrosting
- Compartment temperature controls

#### Impact of Ambient Temperature

Change in ambient temperature is an obvious element that a refrigerator has to deal with in normal use. The first important effect is that an increase in ambient temperature results in a linear increase in heat load through the compartment walls (irrespective of the number of compartments present and their operating temperature, as many straight lines add to give a composite heat gain as a straight line). The only way to reduce this heat load is increased insulation (lower U value) or a smaller surface area (there is limited scope to alter this parameter for a given compartment size). An increase in ambient temperature decreases the operating efficiency (COP) of the compressor. Clearly user interactions add additional heat to be extracted in the top row of the above equation. In many situations that can comprise a substantial heat load on the product. User related heat loads also increase with ambient temperature (as a result of hotter temperatures and also heavier use).

The second important effect is that an increase in ambient temperature increases the condenser temperature for the refrigeration cycle, thus reducing the overall operating efficiency of the system. While academic literature notes that changes in condensing temperature normally result in a fairly linear change in compressor COP (at least for reciprocating compressors, which are widely used in household refrigerators) this is not widely known or understood (not that the idealized Carnot efficiency is not linear with changes in condensing temperature). To examine this issue in more detail, published data from a wide range of compressor manufacturers has been examined.

When designing a product, refrigeration engineers focus on the worst likely operating condition for the product – typically this is an ambient temperature of 40°C or warmer. This is the condition where the heat load into the cabinet is extremely high and the condensing temperature is very high so the compressor is operating at minimum capacity and efficiency. The two main compressor rating systems are ASHRAE (American Society of Heating, Refrigeration and Air Conditioning Engineers) and CECOMAF (Comite Europeen des Constructeurs de Materiel Frigorifique = European Committee of Manufacturers of Refrigeration Equipment – see EN12900). Both rate compressors at these extreme conditions<sup>1</sup> as this is what designers need to know to correctly size them for their products.

During product operation the evaporator remains within a relatively small temperature range – this is dictated by the operating temperature of the compartment (typically the evaporator would be 7K to 10K colder than the coldest compartment temperature it is cooling), so around -21°C to -25°C for a typical freezer (the issue of user selected temperature change is discussed later). So the effect of most importance during normal use is the change in condenser temperature (as we can assume that the evaporator stays within its normal hysteresis limits). The following figure shows data compiled from published on line catalogues for Embraco in Brazil.



Figure 2: Condensing temperature versus compressor COP - ASHRAE

Source: Author analysis and compilation of data from <u>www.embraco.com</u> – note that published rating figure is for a condensing temperature of +54.5°C.

The data in this figure suggests that the slope of COP per K change in condensing temperature is linear (as expected) and almost constant for different sizes and different COP ratings for different compressors. The remarkable point here is that all compressors, irrespective of their rated COP, appear to exhibit roughly the same slope in response to changes in condensing temperature. The reason for this is being investigated, but one theory is that once the compressor overcomes it operating inefficiencies (such as clearance volumetric efficiency, which largely dictates its overall operating efficiency) then the compressor responds to changes in operating conditions somewhat like an ideal gas compressor (hence similar slope).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> CECOMAF conditions are a condenser and liquid temperature +55°C and an evaporator temperature of -25°C. ASHRAE conditions are condenser temperature +54.4°C, liquid temperature of +32°C and an evaporator temperature of -23.3°C.

Deeper analysis shows that there is no obvious difference between R600a and R134a compressors. There is a difference between ASHRAE (COP slope on average of about 0.018 per K) and CECOMAF (COP slope on average of about 0.03 per K - the difference being the assumed subcooling in the ASHRAE rating system). In effect this means that we can expect all compressors to respond to changes in condensing temperature with the same COP change per K, which effectively means that the slopes of all compressor maps are roughly parallel with changes in condensing temperature. This is a useful fact that can help understand the changes in appliance energy with changes in ambient temperature.

An increase in ambient temperature results in a linear increase in heat load and a linear decrease in the operating COP. The result is a non linear increase in steady state power in response to an increase in ambient temperature (this can be approximately represented as a quadratic equation).



## Figure 3: Typical change in steady state power with change in ambient temperature

Over a fairly typical range of operating temperatures (from 15°C to 30°C), the expected underlying power could be expected to double. A smooth curve, such as shown in Figure 3, occurs where the internal temperatures are steady across ambient temperatures and there are no heaters used. Heaters, which are commonly used at low temperatures for internal temperature balance, can make this type of curve appear to kink significantly.

#### **Typical Indoor Temperatures**

Having established that ambient temperature has a strong impact on energy, it is useful then to examine the like range of indoor temperatures that an appliance may experience. This gets into an area that appears to be highly variable across countries and regions and is driven by a range of factors such as climate, building shell performance, use of space conditioning equipment and user habits and practices.

In Australia, there have been extensive indoor measurements by the author, which provide some insights indoor the range and distribution of indoor temperatures. Culturally, most householders do not operate space cooling in summer except on hotter days (at least in the major cities – in the far north air conditioner use is more prevalent). Indoor temperatures tend, on average, to reflect ambient temperatures and they tend to be slightly warmer than outdoor temperatures, on average. The main

user related influence, when examining capital city data in in Figure 4, is that some heating is used in Sydney in winter and quite a bit of heating is used in Melbourne in winter (divergence between outdoor and indoor temperatures). Most households tend not to heat to a constant temperature all day in winter (even in Melbourne). This means that average indoor temperatures are cooler than would normally be considered comfortable. In contrast, countries like Sweden tend to have constant indoor temperatures in winter of around 20°C even though outdoor temperatures are very cold [5], while southern European countries tend to have cooler indoor temperatures in winter.



Figure 4: Typical monthly indoor and outdoor temperatures in Australian homes

Sources: Author field measurements and Australian Bureau of Meteorology

It is important to note that the indoor temperatures by city are for living areas which are typically conditioned spaces – i.e. where the householder identifies that there is a heater or cooler and that this is used in winter and/or summer. In Australia about 30% of all household refrigerating appliances are in unconditioned spaces or effectively outdoors, and are therefore exposed to more extreme temperature ranges. Deeper analysis of the data suggests that for outdoor temperatures the daily standard deviation is around 3K to  $4K^2$ , while for indoor temperatures, the standard deviation is more typically 1K to 3K (less for an efficient building shell and/or where space conditioning equipment is used more consistently. Use of space conditioning is clearly influenced by climate and culture. In Australia, New Zealand and Japan, indoor temperatures in some households can be as cold as  $5^{\circ}C$  [6] and [7] at some times of the day in winter.

## User Loads and Energy

There is currently a poor understanding of user related loads and even less documentation on their energy impact. Conceptually, user store food and drink in their appliances for later use. Temperatures need to be controlled to preserve foodstuffs or to ensure that it is at a temperature suitable for serving. To access the stored food, users have to open the door(s) to place items in the refrigerator or to remove items. So user related loads can be broken down into the following elements:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In practical terms, this is a typical max-min temperature difference on a daily basis of around 7K.

- Cold air inside the appliance being displaced by warmer ambient air during a door opening which then has to be cooled (sensible heat load)
- Humidity in the ambient air being transferred by air exchange (latent heat load)
- Cooling of food or drink items placed in the appliance (sensible heat load)
- Humidity load from food or drink items (especially respiration by fruit and vegetables and evaporation from uncovered liquids) (latent heat load)
- Radiant heat gain when the door is open (generally considered to be negligible).

The latent loads above also contribute to frost build up on the evaporator. Where remote evaporators with fan forced air circulation are used (now very common in higher end refrigerator-freezers) humidity loads also may decrease defrosting intervals (although this is a second order effect in terms of energy impact, unless the defrost interval is very short). All of these user loads increase the heat load on the inside of the refrigerator that has to be removed by the refrigeration system – this is on top of the normal heat gain through the cabinet walls.

To gain an understanding of how much impact user interactions have on energy consumption of refrigerators, it is necessary to examine field measurements of energy consumption of refrigerators during normal use. But field measurements of energy are highly variable and potentially very confusing unless there is a rigorous framework for analysis and disaggregation of the data. The author has developed a methodology to allow such disaggregation of field energy data into its component elements. The principle of the approach is that the steady state power consumption of an appliance should be constant where there is no user interaction and no defrost activity. Therefore, examination of the actual energy consumption of the appliance at any point in time can provide a means of quantifying the energy associated with user interaction, as long as the ambient temperature at the time is known and an ambient response curve for the appliance can be determined.

If the appliance is measured for long enough, there will eventually be a large number of points where there is no user interaction spread across a wide range of ambient temperatures. These will effectively define an ambient response curve for the appliance, like the one shown in Figure 3. For this approach to be successful, it is necessary to measure the energy for at least 6 months with coverage for both summer and winter, as indoor temperature and user loads are both strongly seasonal. The other requirement for this approach is that the energy data has to be collected in a way that allows individual compressor cycles to be identified and separately analysed. Compressor cycles are the fundamental building block of energy consumption for a refrigerator, so all energy measurements are normally examined in terms of these control cycles. While this technique has long been applied to the analysis of laboratory test data, it is not applied, as a general rule, to field data. In part this is because this requires data to be collected at equal intervals of 3 minutes or less so that the start of each compressor cycle can be accurately identified. Extensive experience has shown that 10 min data, which has been commonly used for field measurements of appliances, cannot be applied in that manner.

This approach allows user loads to be calculated by deduction. It is also possible to identify each defrost event and the energy associated with them. The no usage "edge" to the data in Figure 5 is effectively an equivalent curve to that shown in Figure 3.

Over the past decades, as well as recently, there has been a lot of focus on door openings and their impact. Part of the research being undertaken by the author is examining door openings and their influence as a component of user loads. Generally, it is extremely difficult to obtain reliable door opening data in the field, as this normally requires the fitting of special data logging equipment. The published literature reveals few studies that quantify measured door openings in the field: a UK study in early 1990's (60 appliances, 39 door openings per day) and one in Germany in 2007 (34 appliances, 24.7 door openings per day) (both cited in [8]). Some field work has been undertaken in Japan where some 52 appliances (in 26 homes) were measured, each over a 2 week period. The data logging equipment to measure door openings was able to provide a distribution of the length of time for each opening (averaging about 10 seconds across all door types, but with a range from 2 sec to 50 sec). The number of door openings was recorded as 36/day for the fresh food compartment, 7.4/day for vegetable, 7.4/day for freezer and 1.3/day for ice making. Most of these products had 3 to

5 separate doors. Total door openings were 51/day for all doors. This is somewhat higher that the other two field studies that recorded door openings (as reported above), but differences may be due to cultural differences and product configurations. Door openings seem to be an area that is systematically underestimated by users when they are asked to self report.



## Figure 5: Individual compressor cycle data for over 1 year

As part of the field research undertaken in Australia, door opening data has been provided via access to data collected by the refrigerators themselves. The range of Active Smart refrigeration appliances made by Fisher & Paykel in New Zealand have an on board computer that collects a wide range of operational data as part of its ongoing control strategy. Some of this data is available for download via a special tool for service personnel<sup>3</sup>. One aspect of great interest is a listing of door openings for the past 10 defrost cycles and for newer models, a count of door openings by compartment over the life of the appliance. A routine analysis of these downloads by Fisher & Paykel in 2008 allowed information to be established in door openings for about 50 refrigerators spread across Australia, New Zealand and the USA, each with data recorded for about 280 days (total period covered 13,000 days).

This data was reported at the IEC SC59M meeting in Munich in November 2008 [9]. The mean number of openings for fresh food were 30.5 per day and for freezers 4.5 per day and the average was similar in all 3 countries covered. Clearly these values will be affected by factors such as demographics and whether the appliance is primary or secondary, and these factors have not been controlled in this data collection process. Preliminary analysis of 80 on-board downloads from 45 Australian refrigerators puts the average fresh food door openings at 42 per day (ranging from 11 to 94 per day averaged over 1 week) and freezers at 4.7 per day. Clearly these are influenced by demographics, so the author is looking to develop a model of door openings by householders.

A range of laboratory test data has been examined on the impact of door openings. Most laboratory tests report this impact as a percentage of the test room steady state power consumption (typical values are reported in the range 3% to 10%, depending on the frequency and duration of door openings tested). However, laboratory results are of limited value for two reasons. Firstly, the number of door openings tested is usually significantly less than the actual number of door openings (based

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Fisher & Paykel have been very generous with their support of field research on refrigerators through the provision of software and tools to collect this type of data and their support is gratefully acknowledged.

on field measurements). A related issue is that ambient humidity in refrigerator test rooms is usually quite low, so the latent component can be significantly underestimated. The second reason why these sorts of tests and calculations are of limited value is that they manifest as an energy consumption impact on the appliance itself – they do not directly estimate the heat load that the appliance has to remove. To understand this, we need to estimate the operating COP of the refrigeration system. For example, two refrigerators may have the same general internal layout but may have very different operating COPs. One with a high COP will only show a small energy impact from user loads while one with a low COP will show a much larger energy impact from user loads under the same operating conditions.

It is possible to calculate the heat load equivalent of a door opening using psychrometric data. An example of this was given in Annex L of an early Committee Draft of the global IEC standard (IEC 59M/24/NP – see www.iec.ch). The example given in that document is of a 300 litre fresh food compartment and a 100 litre freezer: this would have a total heat load equivalent of 4.4 Wh per opening for the fresh food and 2.63 Wh per opening for the freezer (assuming a complete air exchange and an ambient temperature of 32°C with 40% relative humidity). At an ambient temperature of 16°C and a relative humidity of 70%, these values are 2.52 Wh and 1.86 Wh respectively. In reality, door openings are mostly short<sup>4</sup>, so there is only limited air exchange (probably around 50% of these values). But given that in summer humidity may be more than 40% (the energy load is quite sensitive to humidity) and the number of door openings can be quite high, the expected heat load from door openings alone in summer would be on average of the order of 150 Wh/day<sup>5</sup>. On top of this is the sensible heat load of food and drinks (a single 2 litre bottle of drink cooled 28K is equivalent to a heat load of 65 Wh), which can be very significant. There can also be radiant heat impacts if the door is left open for a significant time.

Field measurements for some 200 refrigerators have been completed and another 100 appliances are currently being measured. Analysis of the data is still in progress, but preliminary data suggests that typical summer usage impacts are around 300 Wh/day or more while in winter these may be around 150 Wh/day. These estimates clearly are impacted by factors such as the number of householders (more users generate more interactions) and the presence of second or third appliances (the most significant impact being that a separate freezer appears to reduce user interactions on freezer compartments of refrigerator-freezers). Work is being undertaken to develop a demographic model of user related loads. Initial investigations suggest operating COP of refrigerators varies in the range 0.7 to 1.3 under warmer test conditions (32°C ambient). Interestingly, this is often significantly lower than the rated COP of typical compressors used even taking into account the likely temperature rise across the evaporator and condenser. This is an area where more intensive research is being undertaken. One area of fruitful research is measurement of practical field operating COP values through the use of small heaters<sup>6</sup>. This provides a quick and relatively simple way of quantifying performance in the field with minimal equipment.

#### **User Selected Temperature Settings**

This is an area that has traditionally received a lot of attention in test methods. However, based on responses to user questionnaires, the majority of users never or only rarely adjust their temperature settings. The results of a research questionnaire conducted by the author of household participating in field measurements are summarized below:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Japanese data showed that average door openings were around 10 sec and Fisher & Paykel data indicates that 99% of door openings are less than 30 sec in duration.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> It is important to consider these heat loads in context. A typical refrigerator-freezer at an ambient test temperature of 32°C will use from 40W to 80W steady state, so 300 Wh could represent as much as 35% of total energy in the normal use. Field measurements suggest that user impacts can be as high as 50% of total energy in some cases, but 20% to 25% is more typical. This depends on the household and the refrigerator characteristics as the COP affects the impact of user loads.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Horticultural heating mats made of rubber with an embedded element with a rated power of about 20W have been found to be very useful. It is important to measure energy input in the heat as well as the change in the refrigerator power consumption. This is best done overnight when there is little user interaction. Products with limited temperature balance capability have been found to have a poorer apparent operating COP as the temperature in the non-heated compartment often drops even though additional cooling is not required – but this to some extent is a reflection of actual use as user loads are never proportionally added to both compartments at the same time.

Fresh food compartment temperature control changes (count 171 appliances):

- Never 61%
- Once or twice a year 34%
- 2 monthly or more often 5%

Freezer compartment temperature control changes (count 154) of refrigerator-freezers:

- Never 77%
- Once or twice a year 21%
- 2 monthly or more often 2%

For separate freezers, 93% never adjust the temperature controls (in fact many people do not realize that there is a temperature control for the separate freezer or the freezer compartment). This is a significant finding for a number of reasons. Firstly, there is some anecdotal evidence that those appliances where the users reported "regular" changes to compartment temperatures tended to be older ones, ones that are not working very well and those with poorer temperature control (e.g. where lettuce freezes etc.). The second point is that changes in fresh food temperatures tend to have small overall impact on energy consumption. Detailed analysis of test report data for many hundreds of appliances concluded that the energy impact per degree K temperature change for fresh food compartments was 1% to 2% while the energy impact per degree K temperature change for freezer compartments was 3% to 4% (for refrigerator-freezers) [10]. For separate freezers and all refrigerators the impact is around 5% per K. But the reality is that these controls are rarely changed in practice.

If an appliance is working properly, the user will have little need or inclination to change the control settings. Of course it is important when undertaking comparative laboratory tests to control the compartment temperatures to obtain fair and accurate results.

## **Defrosting Energy**

While direct cooling (manual defrost) products are still common in developing countries, frost free products (with a remote evaporator and forced air) now predominate refrigerator-freezers in developed regions such as Japan, North America and Australasia. Due to the advanced analytical techniques developed for the forthcoming global IEC test method for refrigerators, a deep understanding of defrost energy characteristics has been obtained in recent years.

Consider the data in Figure 6. The product is in a lab in a steady state condition – both power and compartment temperatures are stable with compressor cycles of around 50 minutes. A defrost occurs from period 17, made up of:

- a) A short compressor cycle at the start (truncated) at 139W for 20 minutes (cycle 17)
- b) Immediate operation of the defrost heater at 165W for 19 minutes (average 135W over 24 minute cycle) (cycle 18)
- c) Recovery cycle at about 95W for about 1 hour 20 minutes (cycle 19)

Note that these "cycles" are control events and are not of equal length as noted above. For this appliance there is a change in freezer temperature during the defrost (small kink in the freezer trace), but this is quite small. From an analysis perspective, the area under the defrost and recovery "hat" (as shown in Figure 6) is the incremental energy associated with a defrost and recovery event. In this particular case the incremental energy is about 95 Wh (integrating power difference with time across cycles 17 to 21). This is a fairly typical value for defrost and recovery – most products are in the range 70Wh to 130Wh in the test laboratory, based on the analysis of many hundreds of products. To put this into perspective, in this particular case, the steady state power is about 65W, which equates to 1560 Wh per 24 hours. If the defrost were to occur once per day (fairly typical), the incremental defrost energy of 95 Wh would account for a 6% increase in energy above steady state. If the defrost were to occur every 12 hours (quite short) the defrost energy would account for a 12% increase in

energy above steady state. If the defrost were to occur once every 36 hours (also possible for intelligent products), then the incremental defrost energy would account for a 4% increase in energy above steady state. Consideration of the incremental defrost energy in isolation is of little value – the typical defrost interval in each condition also needs to be estimated. This also shows that modest changes in defrost intervals do not have large impacts on total energy consumption, except where these are very short in normal use.



## Figure 6: Average power (W) and temperature data (°C) by compressor cycle, with defrost

The thing that is most interesting and non-intuitive about incremental defrost energy is that this value changes little with changes in temperature control setting or even with ambient temperature. The reason for this is based on solid physics of the event. The process of defrosting involves stopping the compressor, melting ice from the evaporator and then restarting the compressor to "recover" back to the conditions before the defrost (for sample calculations see [11]). It is possible to calculate the energy required for this process: the main components are melting ice, warming the metal in the evaporator and any refrigerant inside, cooling the evaporator (and refrigerant) down again. While it is true that some product designs are not very good and appear to allow some heat from the defrosting process to enter the compartment during this process, this effect is generally small and the new IEC test procedure now penalizes designs where the compartment temperature rises during defrost (and reward products that have a pre-cool before defrost to avoid temperature rises) as the temperature through the defrost is counted in the overall compartment temperature<sup>7</sup>. The compartment often warms a little during defrost just because the cooling system has stopped. The energy impact of an enforced stop of refrigeration is very small (if anything, this reduces energy slightly by allowing compartment temperatures to warm a little). So it is the melting of ice and warming and cooling the evaporator that is important in terms of defrost energy (not the temperature setting or the ambient conditions). A larger evaporator will have a larger incremental defrost energy, but it will also have a larger surface area (greater operating efficiency) and most likely a longer period between defrosts.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Note that the new US Department of Energy test procedure for refrigerators, which is largely aligned with the new IEC, does not measure temperature change during defrost and recovery, so suppliers in North America may have less incentive to minimise temperature transients during defrost and recovery.

In a test laboratory, the frost load on the evaporator is generally low as there are no scheduled door openings and no food loads. Even still, some ambient humidity will always find its way into the compartment as the air inside the compartments expands and contracts with each compressor cycle (often called "breathing"). But the defrosting load in the lab is much lower than in normal use. Most products with electronic variable defrost controllers will vary the defrost interval through a learning process during normal use to keep the defrost heater on-time between optimum limits (typically between 15 and 20 minutes). These types of products assess refrigeration load, door openings and defrost heater on times for each defrost and revise the defrosting interval based on a fuzzy login algorithm. In the lab with a low humidity loading, these types of systems can have defrost intervals of 60 to 100 hours (which can create issues for test labs).

In normal use the frosting load on the evaporator will be much higher than in the lab. Typically a product in the lab with an incremental defrost and recovery energy of 100Wh will have a value in the field of the order of 150Wh in the field, mostly of the difference due to the increased frost load. This is one area where the test method needs to be adjusted to take into account normal use. It is important to examine defrosting intervals in the field versus the test laboratory – this is an area where some manufacturers have employed so called circumvention tactics to reduce the apparent energy in the test laboratory when compared to field use.

## **Other Factors**

There are a range of other factors that can impact on energy consumption of refrigerators. These include auxiliaries (e.g. ice makers and water dispensers), humidity control devices (e.g. electric ambient controlled anti condensation heaters) and other small heaters and fans to provide stable temperatures. Mostly these are uncommon, are of small consequence to energy and/or are directly measured and accounted for in test procedures.

One important issue that has received little attention in the academic world is the impact of compressor starts and stops on overall refrigeration efficiency. When the compressor stops, refrigerant flows around system until pressures equalize, much of this ending up in the "wrong places" when the compressor next starts. When the compressor starts, any liquid refrigerant in the evaporator must be stored in an accumulator, to stop liquid entering the compressor (liquid refrigerant will normally damage the compressor). So typically the system is starved of refrigerant for some minutes until the refrigeration cycle is fully re-established again. Initial investigations suggest that around 2 minutes of compressor running is effectively lost at each compressor start (the output is zero at the start and this gradually builds up to full output over 7 to 10 minutes, but the overall effect is a few minutes of ineffective compressor operation). This is relatively minor at a hotter ambient temperature with long compressor run times, but in lower ambient temperatures, compressor run times can be as short as 8 minutes, meaning that 25% or more of total running is starting losses. A useful examination of the issues is given in [12].

## New Global IEC Test Procedure for Household Refrigerators

As reported at previous conferences, IEC SC59M has been working on a new global test method for household refrigerators for the past 6 years. In May 2013, this was released as a Committee Draft for Voting and it is hoped that the standard will be published in early to mid 2014. This approach to energy and performance testing has been developed using state of the art measurement and analysis techniques and importantly, it has a global perspective in mind during its development. The key points that make this a truly global test method are:

- Options for ambient test temperatures at 16°C and 32°C, providing a sound basis to estimate regionally relevant energy values for a wide range of climates and operating conditions
- Separate characterization of defrost and recovery events
- Calculation of defrost intervals using a range of techniques allowing defrost behaviour to be tailored to local regions without the need to retest, and including their energy impact by calculation
- Measurement of load processing efficiency, to allow regional impacts of user interactions to be more accurately estimated

- Standardised compartment temperatures for energy tests
- A suite of uniform tests that aim to meet the testing and measurement needs of all regions.

One of the most exciting developments is that the US Department of Energy released a new test procedure in 2011 (finalized in 2012) that largely aligns with the requirements of the new IEC test method (IEC62552 Edition 2) (see [13]). This brightens prospects for a global alignment of testing approaches for what has traditionally been a difficult product in terms of harmonization. Australia has announced that it will align with the new IEC test method ([14]) and Japan is also likely to align shortly after publication. It is also being considered in a number of Asia countries.

Importantly, the test method will allow estimates of energy that are closer to actual use to encourage suppliers to optimize performance and energy consumption in that condition (suppliers currently only have an incentive to optimize energy for the test method, which is often far from normal use). Australia is proposing to adjust its approach to energy labeling based on the use of energy data at two ambient temperatures and processing load in order to move closer to that objective. While this is an important change, a bigger energy impact is expected from the new Minimum Energy Performance Standards (MEPS) announced for introduction in 2017. These MEPS levels broadly align with the efficiency standards announced for introduction in the USA in 2014. More technical detail is available in [15].

# Conclusion

Energy consumption of household refrigerators has been an area that has long suffered from poor test procedures and little understanding of how the products are used in households. Not only are existing test procedures poor in their design and application, there are many different variations in force in different regions, creating a mine field for manufacturers that operate in the global market.

Because of their significant energy consumption, refrigerators have been widely regulated for energy efficiency around the world. And there is little doubt that these regulatory programs have reduced energy consumption considerably over the long term. The next objective is to target energy programs so they encourage manufacturers to design their products so they minimize energy during normal use, not just at some artificial test condition. An important component of this will be rewarding products that have good load processing efficiency, as this makes up a substantial check of normal energy use.

Despite the strong regulatory interest in the energy consumption of these products for over 30 years (Canada and the US put mandatory energy labels on these products in 1978 and 1980 respectively, with Australia close behind in 1986) the overall understanding of what drives their energy consumption and what are the key components of their design and operation during normal use has been poor. The author is part way through an ambitious research project to measure energy consumption of nearly 300 refrigeration products in households over a long period to better understand the conditions in which they are used and the impact that users have upon their energy consumption. While much has been revealed in this paper on the inner workings of refrigerators, there is still much more to be done to conclude this important area of work.

## References

[1] Australian Bureau of Statistics, Environmental Issues: Energy Use and Conservation, 2011: Canberra, Australia.

[2] EES, Energy Use in the Australian Residential Sector 1986 – 2020, 2008, Energy Efficient Strategies.

[3] Klinckenberg Consultants, Global Carbon Impacts, 2009: Meersen, Netherlands.

[4] International Energy Agency, Key World Energy Statistics, 2011, International Energy Agency: 9, rue de la Fédération 75739 Paris Cedex 15. p. 82.

[5] Zimmermann, J.P., End-use metering campaign in 400 households In Sweden: Assessment of the Potential Electricity Savings, 2009, Enertech, France. p. 344.

[6] Issacs, N., et al., Energy Use in New Zealand Households: Report on the 10 year analysis for the household energy end-use project (HEEP), N. Issacs, Editor 2006: Wellington, New Zealand. p. 134.

[7] JEMA, Refrigerator Market Monitoring Project - 2008: Refrigerator Monitoring Survey Report, 2009: Tokyo.

[8] Geppert, J., Modelling of domestic refrigerators' energy consumption under real life conditions in Europe, in Institut für Landtechnik2011, Rheinischen Friedrich-Wilhelms-Universität zu Bonn: Bonn. p. 145.

[9] Harrington, L., Review of In Use Energy Data for Refrigerators, 2008, IEC SC59M - Household Refrigeration: Munich.

[10] Harrington, L. and J. Brown, Household Refrigeration Paper 3: MEPS3 in Australia and NZ – Preliminary Impact Assessment of New MEPS Levels in 2015, 2012, Energy Efficient Strategies: Canberra, Australia.

[11] Stein, M.A., C.W. Bullard, and T.A. Newell, Moisture Transport, Frost Visualization, and Dual Evaporator Modeling in Domestic Refrigerators, 2000, Air Conditioning and Refrigeration Center, University of Illinois, Mechanical & Industrial Engineering Dept. p. 82.

[12] Coulter, W.H. and C.W. Bullard, An Experimental Analysis of Cycling Losses in Domestic Refrigerator-Freezers, 1995, Air Conditioning and Refrigeration Center, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign.

[13] US Department of Energy, Energy Efficiency Program for Consumer Products: Test Procedures for Residential Refrigerators, Refrigerator-Freezers, and Freezers, in Federal Register Vol. 77, No. 162012, US Government Printing Office,: Washington DC. p. 21.

[14] Department of Climate Change and Energy Efficiency, Government agency proposed pathway to regulate refrigeration equipment sold to consumers in Australia and New Zealand from about April 2015, 2012: Canberra, Australia.

[15] EES, Household Refrigeration Paper 4: Technical Support Document on MEPS and Labelling for 2015 for Energy-using Refrigeration Equipment, 2012: Canberra, Australia. p. 72.

# Dynamic Model for Predicting Energy Consumption of a Household Refrigerator

# Hiromi Habara, Sayako Nagayama, Ryo Nakano, and Yoshiyuki Shimoda

## Graduate School of Engineering, Osaka University, Japan

# Abstract

A dynamic model for predicting power consumption of household refrigerators is complicated because such a model must include not only refrigerator cycle components, but also refrigerator system software, variations in ambient temperature and occupants' usage behavior such as frequency and duration of door openings. We are developing a dynamic model for predicting power consumption of a household refrigerator that includes a refrigerator model, a compartment model, an occupants' behavior model, and a building simulation model. We are also using an actual refrigerator to obtain data for testing our models.

Evaluation of our model suggests that although some problems were present in predicting the working state of the compressor, the predicted value for total power consumption over twelve hours was close to that experimental value. The model application results show that the model can successfully simulate changes in working modes and increases in compressor runtimes in response to door openings. Results from the simulations suggest that annual power consumption can increase when operating the refrigerator in an air-conditioned room.

## Introduction

As smart appliances, on-site power generation and demand response continue to expand, more importance is being attached to dynamic methods for simulating energy consumption by residential appliances. Household refrigerators play an important role in these expanding technologies because they contribute significantly to residential electricity consumption and their working mode can be controlled by external signals.

Much work has been done on developing the numerical simulation models for individual refrigerator components, including compressor, heat exchanger, capillary tube, cabinet, refrigerant loop, and control system. Recently, Hermes et al. [1, 2] proposed a transient model for household refrigerators that combines models for individual components. Later, Hermes et al. [3] and Borges et al. [4] simplified the model to predict energy consumption. However, predicting power consumption of a household refrigerator is more complicated than merely combing models of components; a reliable model must also account for variations in room temperature, occupants' usage behavior such as door openings.

Our research group is developing a dynamic model for predicting power consumption of a household refrigerator that includes a refrigerator model, a compartment model, an occupants' behavior model, and a building simulation model (see Figure 1). The purposes of this paper are to 1) understand physical and mechanical characteristics of a household refrigerator through laboratory experiments, 2) develop a simulation model for predicting the power consumption of the refrigerator, and 3) evaluate the power consumption of the refrigerator, considering occupants' behavior and variations in ambient temperature.



Figure 1: Schematic of the simulation model for household refrigerators

# **Experimental Method**

The studied refrigerator and its basic features are shows in Figure 2. To understand the physical and mechanical characteristics of the refrigerator, experimental tests were carried out in an artificial climate chamber.

	Release year	2011
	Refrigerant	R600a
	Refrigerant charge	80 g
	Rated capacity of compartment	501 L
	Rated power consumption of compressor	105 W
	Rated power consumption of heater	197 W
12 M	Annual power consumption	220 kWh/year

Figure 2: Photo and basic features of the studied refrigerator

In order to determine model parameters, the experimental tests were conducted under the stable condition of the ambient temperature (5, 15, 20, 25, 30, 35, 40 °C) and the ambient humidity (50 %). In order to correct data for model validation, the ambient temperatures were represented by a sine function over time. The surface temperature of the refrigerant tube, the compressor speed and the power consumption were measured at intervals of 5 seconds (see Figure 3). The condenser heat transfer rate, the evaporator cooling capacity, and the isentropic compression work were calculated from experimental data on the basis of the theoretical refrigerating cycle.



Figure 3: Points on the refrigeration cycle at which measurements were taken

# **Mathematical Modeling**

The simulation model consists of the compartment sub-model, the software sub-model, the refrigeration loop sub-model and the power consumption calculation sub-mode (see Figure 4). The compartment sub-model calculates the mean compartment temperature on the basis of the ambient temperature and the time schedule of refrigerator door openings. The software sub-model determines the working mode (refrigerating and freezing, freezing only, defrosting, or standby) and the compressor speed on the basis of the ambient temperature and the compartment temperature. The refrigeration loop sub-model uses REFPROP ver.9 [5] to calculate the condenser heat transfer rate, the evaporator cooling capacity, and the isentropic compression work on the basis of the refrigerant temperature. The power consumption calculation sub-model provides the power consumption by using a linear equation that relate the power consumption to the isentropic compression work. Details of the sub-models are described below.



Figure 4: Flowchart of the simulation model

## Refrigeration loop sub-model (steady-state)

The refrigeration loop sub-model provides the isentropic compressor work,  $W_k$ , the evaporator cooling capacity,  $Q_e$ , and the condenser heat transfer rate,  $Q_c$ , which are represented by the following equations.

$$W_k = m_r (h_2 - h_{1,sup}) / \eta_g \tag{1}$$

$$Q_e = m_r \left( h_{1,sup} - h_3 \right) \tag{2}$$

$$Q_c = m_r \big( h_2 - h_3 \big) \tag{3}$$

where  $h_1$  is the refrigerant enthalpy at the compressor outlet,  $h_2$  is the refrigerant enthalpy at the compressor inlet,  $h_3$  is the refrigerant enthalpy at the capillary tube-suction inlet, and  $\eta_s$  is the overall compressor efficiency (= 1.0, assuming to be the isentropic process). The refrigerant flow rate,  $m_r$ , is obtained from:

$$m_r = \eta_v V_k N_k / v_1 \tag{4}$$

where  $\eta_{v}$  is the compressor volumetric efficiency (= 0.7),  $V_{k}$  is the compressor swept volume rate (= 10.17×10<sup>-6</sup>), *N* is the compressor speed, and  $v_{1}$  is the specific volume of the refrigerant.

The refrigerant temperatures at the compressor outlet, compressor inlet, and capillary tube-suction inlet were calculated from the following regression equations obtained from experimental tests.

$$T_{*}(t_{*}) = T_{*,s} - c_{1,*} \left( T_{*,s} - T_{*}(0) \right) \exp(-c_{2,*} t_{*})$$
(5)

where  $T_{*,s}$  is the refrigerant temperature at steady state,  $T_*(0)$  is the refrigerant temperature at which a particular refrigerating mode starts ( $t_r = 0, t_f = 0$ ),  $t_*$  is the elapsed time after a particular refrigerating mode starts, while  $c_{1,*}$  and  $c_{2,*}$  are regression coefficients.  $T_{*,s}$ ,  $T_*(0)$ ,  $c_{1,*}$ , and  $c_{2,*}$  are given in Table 1 and Table 2 for each working mode.

Parameter	$T_{*}(0)$		$T_{*,s}$		<i>C</i> <sub>1,*</sub>	<i>C</i> <sub>2,*</sub>	-
$T_1$	0.98 T <sub>amb</sub>	+ 6.34	1.10 <i>T<sub>amb</sub></i>	+ 6.91	1.0	0.00411	—
$T_2$	1.23 $T_{amb}$	+ 17.81	1.16 <i>T<sub>amb</sub></i>	+ 29.58	1.0	0.00169	
$\overline{T_3}$	$0.90 T_{amb}$	+ 3.77	0.98 T <sub>amb</sub>	+ 4.66	1.0	0.00052	
$T_c$	0.86 T	+ 1.76	0.90 T <sub>amb</sub>	+ 8.91	1.0	0.00439	
$T_e$	-28.26		-24.18		1.0	0.01076	

Table 1: Terms in Eq. (5) for refrigerating and freezing mode

Table 2:	Terms	in	Eq.	(5)	for	freezing	mode
----------	-------	----	-----	-----	-----	----------	------

Parameter	$T_{*}(0)$		$T_{*,s}$	$C_{1,*}$	C <sub>2,*</sub>
$T_1$	1.10 <i>T<sub>amb</sub></i>	+ 6.91	-	1.0	0.0
$T_2$	1.16 <i>T<sub>amb</sub></i>	+ 29.58	-	1.0	0.0
$T_3$	0.98 T <sub>amb</sub>	+ 4.66	-	1.0	0.0
$T_c$	0.90 T <sub>amb</sub>	+ 8.91	-	1.0	0.0
$T_e$	$T_e(t_{r,end})$		-27.52	-1.0	0.00388

The refrigerant superheating at the evaporator outlet was calculated from the following equation, where  $\Delta T_{sup}$  represents the degree of superheating (assumed to be 5.0):

$$T_{1,sup}(t) = T_1(t) + \Delta T_{sup} \tag{6}$$

The condensing and evaporating pressures were given by:

$$P_c = P_{sat}(T_c) \tag{7}$$

$$P_e = P_{sat}(T_e) \tag{8}$$

The condensing and evaporate temperatures,  $T_c$ ,  $T_e$ , were calculated from Eq. (5) by using the parameters given in Table 1 and Table 2.

#### **Refrigerated compartment sub-model**

The compartment air temperature can be described by the heat balance equation.

$$C_{com} \frac{dT_{com}}{dt} = UA_i (T_c - T_{com}) + C_p \rho_a V_a (T_{amb} - T_{com}) + Q_H + Q_c$$
<sup>(9)</sup>

where  $C_{com}$  is the thermal capacity of compartment inner air, and  $T_{com}$  is the mean temperature of all the compartments.

The first term of the right-hand side of the Eq. (9) represents the heat transfer through the cabinet wall. The cabinet wall was modeled with two thermal resistances and two thermal capacities (see Figure 5), because when the compressor is running, the inner temperature of cabinet walls is generally higher than the ambient temperature.  $C_*$  and  $UA_*$  were obtained from experimental tests as summarized in Table 3.



Figure 5: Schematic of the model used for cabinet walls

Table 3: Terms of Eq. (9)

Parameter	Value	
$C_{cab}$	30925.72	J/K
$C_{com}$	6046.76	J/K
$U\!A_o$	1.65	W/K
$UA_i$	8.55	W/K
$\alpha A$	0.0545	m <sup>2</sup>

The second term of the right-hand side of the Eq. (9) represents the heat transfer through air displacement caused by opening the refrigerator door. The displaced air flow rate,  $V_a$ , was calculated from:

$$V_a = \alpha A \sqrt{\frac{2}{\rho_a} \Delta p} \tag{10}$$

$$\Delta p = \left| \rho_{com} - \rho_{amb} \right| g h_c \tag{11}$$

$$\rho_* = \frac{353.23}{T_* + 273.15} \tag{12}$$

where  $\alpha A$  is the equivalent opening area,  $\Delta p$  is the pressure difference,  $h_c$  is the height from the floor to the center of the opening, and  $\rho_*$  is the air density. The equivalent opening area which represents the configuration resistance of the opening was obtained by using tracer gas decay method with CO<sub>2</sub> (see Table 3).

The third term of the right-hand side of the Eq. (9) represents the heat emission inside the refrigerator including radiation from foods, which was neglected in this study.

#### Software sub-model

The software sub-model provides the refrigerator working mode by following the flowchart in Figure 6. The refrigerator working mode is roughly divided into 4 modes: refrigerating and freezing, freezing only, defrosting, and standby. The temperature at which the refrigerating and freezing mode starts,  $T_{on,r}$ , is given by:

$$T_{on,r} = 0.05 * T_{amb} - 5.10 \tag{13}$$

 $T_{on,f}$  is the temperature at which the freezing mode starts (= -5.01).  $T_{off}$  is the temperature at which the standby mode starts (= -5.28).  $\Delta t_{def}$  is the interval time of defrosting (= 50839).



Figure 6: Flowchart for determining the refrigerator working mode

During the refrigerating and freezing mode or freezing mode, the compressor speed was determined from the procedure in Figure 7. At the first step, the compressor speed,  $N_{k,1}$ , is determined by the temperature difference between the set point for the temperature of the compartment and the ambient temperature (see Table 4). Either when the temperature difference between the set point and the actual compartment temperature falls below 14.5 °C, or when 3600 seconds have passed after the compressor starts working, the compressor speed moves to the second step. After the third step, the compressor speed changes every 600 sec.



Figure 7: Procedure for determining the compressor speed

$N_{k,i}$	$T_{amb} - T_{con}$	$T_{amb} - T_{com}$				
	< 25	25 - 35	35 <			
<i>i</i> = 1	30	35	42			
<i>i</i> = 2	35	42	52			
<i>i</i> = 3	42	52	62			
<i>i</i> = 4	52	62	62			
<i>i</i> > 4	62	62	62			

Table 4: Steps of the compressor speed

The defrosting mode includes pre-cooling, heater working, and post-cooling. The duration of each state is obtained from the following equations.

$$\Delta t_* = c_{3,*} T_{amb} + c_{4,*}$$

The terms of Eq. (14) are given in Table 5.

Parameter	$T_{amb} <$	$T_{amb} < 30$		$T_{amb} >= 30$		
	<i>C</i> <sub>3,*</sub>	$C_{4,*}$	<i>C</i> <sub>3,*</sub>	$C_{4,*}$		
$\Delta t_{pre}$	0	1839	62	-21		
$\Delta t_{heater}$	0	2071	118	-1469		
$\Delta t_{post}$	0	4803	1465	-39147		

Table 5: Terms of Eq. (14)

#### Power consumption calculation sub-model

In the refrigerating and freezing mode, and the freezing mode, measurements of power consumption, E, and isentropic compression work,  $W_k$ , gave the data shown in Figure 8. A liner fit to that data gives:

$$E = 1.22W_k + 26.21$$

accessories.

which is the line in Figure 8. The intercept of that line represents the power consumption of



Figure 8: Relation between power consumption and isentropic compression work

(14)

(15)

In the defrosting mode, the power consumption was calculated from the duration and the mean power consumption of each state by the following equations.

$$E_* = c_{5,*} T_{amb} + c_{6,*}$$
(16)

The terms of Eq. (16) are given in Table 6.

## Table 6: Terms of Eq. (16)

Parameter	$T_{amb} < 2$	$T_{amb} < 20$		$T_{amb} >= 20$		
	C <sub>5,*</sub>	C <sub>6,*</sub>	C <sub>5,*</sub>	${\mathcal C}_{6,*}$		
$E_{pre}$	0.00	70.58	3.96	-10.10		
$E_{heater}$	0.00	192.92	0.00	192.92		
$E_{post}$	0.00	70.58	2.89	12.78		

## **Model Evaluation**

Time-series data for the power consumption predicted by the model are compared with experimental results in Figure 9. The model did not predict the working state very well. For example, the duration of a compressor on-off cycle predicted by the model was smaller than that observed in the experiment. Consequently, the number of on-off cycles predicted by the model was larger than observed in the experiment. One of the reasons for this was that the model underestimated the compressor runtime especially at average ambient temperatures above 23 °C, as described in Figure 10. The power consumption during the compressor runtime was slightly overestimated, as shown in Figure 11. Over the twelve hours observed in the experiment, the total power consumption was 728.3 Wh, while that predicted by the model was 6.6% (0.9 Wh).



Figure 9: Comparison of calculated and measured power consumption over 12 hours



Figure 10: Comparison of compressor runtime


Figure 11: Comparison of average power consumption

# **Model Application Results**

#### Simulation setup

In the simulation, the refrigerator was placed in a detached house with average thermal insulation. The user was the member of a four-person family: a male office worker, a housewife, a female high school student, and a male junior high school student.

Every 5 minutes, occupants' activities and the state of air conditioning were randomly provided to the simulation by the sub-models of the residential energy end-use model [6]. The refrigerator door was assumed to be opened during cooking, eating, and clearing up after meals. The durations of door openings were taken to be given as Table 7. The daily average cumulative duration of door openings was 320 s/day, which is close to the value provided by the Japanese Industrial Standard (350 s/day) [7]. Door openings occurred intensively during breakfast and dinner (see Figure 12).

Table 7. Assumed	uurau	0115		penng	suuring	upan	lies

Activity	At the beginning of the activity	During the activity
Having meals	10 sec.	-
Cooking	20 sec.	5 sec. every 5 min.
Clearing the table	10 sec.	5 sec. every 5 min.



Figure 12: Hourly cumulative durations of door openings over one year

The ambient temperatures were calculated by the thermal network model at 5-min intervals, using the weather data for Osaka city, Japan. The power consumption of the refrigerator was calculated at 1-min intervals by giving a time schedule for door openings and ambient temperatures to the developed refrigerator model. In order to discuss the effects of door openings and ambient temperatures on the power consumption of the refrigerator, the three cases were set up. In Case 1, door openings followed the daily schedule described above, but no air conditioning was done to ambient air. In Case 2, neither door openings nor air conditioning occurred. In Case 3, both door openings and air conditioning occurred.

#### **Results and discussion**

Daily variations in the predicted power consumption of the refrigerator are presented in Figure 13 for Case 1. The model was successful in simulating changes in working modes and increases in compressor runtimes in response to refrigerator door openings.



Figure 13: Daily variations of power consumption for Case 1, intermediate season

Table 8 compares annual power consumption of the refrigerator for three cases. In Case 2, in which door openings were excluded, the annual power consumption decreased by 26.0 kWh (4.9 %), as compared with Case 1. This is because the heat transfer through air displacement caused by door openings was reduced. However, in Case 3, in which the ambient air was air-conditioned, the annual power consumption increased by 15.0 kWh (2.9 %), as compared with Case 1. If the ambient air was air-conditioned, the power consumption of the refrigerator decreased in summer, whereas it increased in winter, because the heat exchange rate at the condenser and the heat transfer rate through the cabinet walls were affected by the ambient temperature (see Figure 14). In particular, when the daily average outside temperature was below 17 °C or above 28 °C, there was a distinct difference between Case 1 and Case 3, as Figure 15 shows. In Case 3, the power consumption remained stable within that range of outside temperatures, because the ambient temperature was controlled by the heating or cooling system in the presence of occupants.

Calculat	ion Setup		Annual power	Difference from C	ase 1	
No.	Door opening	Air conditioning	<ul> <li>consumption [kWh]</li> </ul>	[kWh]	[%]	
Case 1	$\checkmark$		527.4			
Case 2			501.4	-26.0	-4.9	
Case 3	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	542.4	15.0	2.9	

Table 8: Comparison of the calculated annual power consumption



Figure 14: Monthly power consumption and ambient temperature in Case 1 and Case 3



Figure 15: Daily power consumption at a given daily average outside temperature

# Conclusion

The simulation model was proposed for the power consumption of a refrigerator, considering the effect of door openings and variations in ambient temperature. Comparisons with experiment show that the model has some problems in predicting the working state of the compressor; however, the total power consumption over twelve hours estimated by the model was close to the experimental value. The model was successful in simulating changes in working modes and increases in compressor runtimes in response to door openings. Moreover, the model predicted that annual power consumption could increase if the refrigerator operates in an air-conditioned room.

A refrigerator constantly imposes heat load on the surrounding room by exchanging heat at the condenser and by consuming electric power. The next step in this study is to improve the model and combine that model with the building simulation model.

# Preferences

- [1] Hermes, C.J.L. and C. Melo, A first-principles simulation model for the start-up and cycling transients of household refrigerators, International Journal of Refrigeration, 2008. 31(8): p. 1341-1357.
- [2] Gonçalves, J.M., C. Melo, and C.J.L. Hermes, A semi-empirical model for steady-state simulation of household refrigerators, Applied Thermal Engineering, 2009. 29(8–9): p. 1622-1630.
- [3] Hermes, C.J.L., et al., Prediction of the energy consumption of household refrigerators and freezers via steady-state simulation, Applied Energy, 2009. 86(7–8): p. 1311-1319.
- [4] Borges, B.N., et al., Transient simulation of household refrigerators: A semi-empirical quasisteady approach, Applied Energy, 2011. 88(3): p. 748-754.
- [5] National Institute of Standards and Technology, NIST Reference Fluid Thermodynamic and Transport Properties Database REFPROP ver 9.0, (2010).
- [6] Yoshiyuki Shimoda, Takahiro Asahi, Ayako Taniguchi and Minoru Mizuno, Evaluation of cityscale impact of residential energy conservation measures using the detailed end-use simulation model, Energy, 2007. 32: pp.1617-1633.
- [7] JIS C 9801: 2006, Household refrigerating appliances- Characteristics and test methods, Japanese Industrial Standard.

# Nomenclature

С	thermal capacity [J/K]	
С	regression coefficient [-]	
$C_p$	isopiestic specific heat (= 1005) [J/kg·K]	
Ε	power consumption [W]	
8	gravity [m/s <sup>2</sup> ]	
h	enthalpy [J/kg]	
$h_c$	height from a floor to the center of an	
	opening (= 1.45) [m]	
$N_k$	compressor speed [Hz]	
$Q_c$	condenser heat transfer rate [W]	
$Q_e$	evaporator cooling capacity [W]	
$Q_{\scriptscriptstyle H}$	heat emission (= 0.0) [W]	
Т	temperature [°C]	
$T_{off}$	temperature at which the standby mode	
	starts (= -5.28) [°C]	
$T_{on,f}$	temperature at which the freezing mode	
	starts (= -5.01) [°C]	
$T_{on,r}$	temperature at which the refrigerating	
	and freezing mode starts [°C]	
$T_{set}$	temperature set point of compartment	
,	[°C]	
I ,	calculation time step [sec]	
$t_f$	elapsed time after the freezing mode	
4	starts [Sec]	
$l_r$	freezing mode starts	
<i>t</i> .	total runtime of the refrigerating mode	
<sup><i>v</i></sup> r,end		
UA	thermal conductance [W/K]	
$V_{a}$	displaced air flow rate [m <sup>3</sup> /s]	
$V_{\iota}$	compressor swept volume rate (=	
·κ	$10.17 \times 10^{-6}$ ) [m <sup>3</sup> ]	
$v_1$	specific volume [m <sup>3</sup> /kg]	
$W_{\iota}$	isentropic compression work	
ĸ		

αA	equivalent opening area (= 0.05	645)
		[m <sup>2</sup> ]
$\Delta p$	pressure difference	[Pa]
$\Delta T_{sup}$	degree of superheating (= 5.0)	[°C]
$\Delta t$	calculation interval	[sec]
$\Delta t_{def}$	interval time of defrosting (= 508	339)
		[sec]
$\Delta t_{heater}$	duration of heater working	[sec]
$\Delta t_{post}$	duration of post-cooling	[sec]
$\Delta t_{pre}$	duration of pre-cooling	[sec]
$\eta_{\scriptscriptstyle g}$	compressor overall efficiency (=	: 1.0)[-]
$\eta_v$	compressor volumetric efficience	y (= 0.7)
		[-]
$ ho_a$	air density at the temperature of	f 0 °C
	(=1.293)	[kg/m³]
ρ	air density	[kg/m <sup>3</sup> ]

# Subscripts

amb	ambient
С	condenser, condensing
cab	cabinet
сот	compartment
е	evaporator, evaporating
f	freezing mode
heater	heater working
i	inside
k	compressor
0	outside
pre	pre-cooling
post	post-cooling
r	refrigerating and freezing mode
S	steady state
sat	saturation
sup	refrigerant superheating

$T_{*}(0)$									
$T_{*,s}$									
C*									
$T_1$	$T_2$	$T_3$	$T_e$	$T_c$	$T_{amb}$				
$T_e(t_{r,e})$	<sub>nd</sub> )								
$C_{cab}$	$C_{com}$	$U\!A_o$	$UA_i$						
$N_{k,1}$	$N_{k,2}$	$N_{k,3}$	$N_{k,i}$	<i>i</i> = 1	<i>i</i> = 2	<i>i</i> = 3	<i>i</i> = 4	<i>i</i> > 4	$T_{amb} - T_{com}$
C <sub>3,*</sub>	C <sub>4,*</sub>	C 5,*	C <sub>6,*</sub>						
$T_{amb} <$	: 30	$T_{amb} >$	= 30	$T_{amb} <$	: 20	$T_{amb} >$	= 20		
$E_{pre}$	$E_{heater}$	$E_{post}$							

# Techno-economic analysis for introduction of superefficient refrigerators in India

Sumedha Malaviya<sup>1</sup>, Amit Khare<sup>2</sup> and Pramod Kumar Singh<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>ICF Consulting India Private Limited <sup>2</sup>CLASP

# Abstract

Energy performance improvements in appliances and equipments are essential elements in any government's portfolio of energy efficiency and climate change mitigation programs. The Indian Standards and Labeling (S&L) program for appliances and equipment has been implemented since 2006 by the Bureau of Energy Efficiency (BEE). At present, star rating on a scale of 1 (least energy efficient) to 5 (most energy efficient) is mandatory for four products including frost free refrigerators. The S&L program also includes a strategy of *ratcheting* that is increasing the stringency of both standard and labels every few years for appliances. While revision of standards eliminates less efficient products from the market, they also provide manufacturers to improve efficiency for getting a better star rating. However, increasing efficiency also increases prices and creates a price barrier for consumers.

On the other hand a technology push through the introduction of super-efficient appliances (SEAs) increases the average efficiency in the market and can guide fixing of energy performance standards. In the case of refrigerators there is still a gap between efficiency of a 5-star refrigerator and the best available technology globally; average energy consumption of currently available BEE 5-star models is 26% more than ENERGY STAR© model of same capacity in the US.

Presently, achieving super-efficiency is not on the agenda of Indian refrigerator manufacturers because of two main barriers: first, is the uncertainty regarding market demand for super-efficient refrigerators and second is the uncertainty about cost-effectiveness of manufacturing high-efficiency models. In the present paper, we explored the introduction of super-efficient refrigerators in the India through a techno-economic analysis of commercially available technology options that improve energy performance of refrigerators. Based on literature review and consultations with technical experts of leading refrigerator manufacturers, we compiled a list of design options most feasible for bringing energy efficiency improvements over the baseline. Based on the efficiency improvements and associated incremental manufacturing costs, cost-efficiency curves were generated to understand their relationship. The impact on consumers due to the increase in purchase price of more efficient or super-efficient refrigerators was also evaluated through a Life cycle Costs (LCC) and Payback period analysis. Findings from this study will be useful in indicating the maximum efficiency levels that can be achieved cost effectively using commercially available efficient technologies. This analysis will also help in designing incentive mechanisms for accelerating and commercializing superefficient technologies so that high cost of very efficient or super-efficient appliances does not become a barrier.

**Keywords:** Superefficient appliances, refrigerators, efficiency, cost-efficiency curves, payback period, technology options

#### Introduction

Energy efficiency is rapidly becoming a key policy tool all over the world to meet the substantial growth in energy demand. According to the International Energy Agency [1] 71% of the global emissions reductions would come from energy efficiency improvements in 2020 and 38% by 2050. The mitigation potential of energy efficiency in most sectors can be realized by policies that are designed to encourage the purchase of energy efficient appliances and equipment. By all accounts, programs on energy efficiency are among the least cost options which provide positive returns to government, energy consumers and the environment.

Amongst all regulatory and policy instruments, energy performance standards for energy consuming products are the easiest to implement and have the highest potential to achieve energy savings targets in a short span of time. Globally, implementation of energy performance standards that prescribe either minimum efficiencies or average efficiencies that manufacturers must achieve in their products have helped bring about major improvements in the energy efficiency of home appliances like refrigerators.

In all homes either in the developed or developing world, a refrigerator runs for 365 days a year and almost the whole day. In the US, Minimum Energy Performance Standards (MEPS) for residential refrigerators and freezers were first introduced in 1990 and subsequently revised in 1993 and 2001. A decline in energy consumption by 20% with each revision indicated that these efficiency gains were driven by stringent MEPS that encouraged manufacturers to innovate and design more efficient products. Between 1980 and 2001, the average energy consumption of refrigerators in US declined by 60%. In UK too, the energy consumption of domestic refrigerators and freezers declined by 20-25% between 1989 and 2000 when energy label for refrigerators and freezers was introduced in 1995 [2]

Programs that introduce and implement energy performance standards and energy labeling for energy consuming appliances and equipment, either through voluntary or mandatory compliance, are commonly referred to as Standards and Labeling(S&L) programs. These programs aim to remove inefficient products from the market and promote development of cost-effective energy efficient products.

In India, the Energy Conservation (EC) Act, 2001 identified S&L as a major program area for improving energy efficiency in the residential, commercial, industrial and agricultural sectors and designated the Bureau of Energy Efficiency (BEE) for implementing the provisions of the EC Act. The Indian S&L program comprises implementation of MEPS and 'Star' labeling of energy products on a scale of 1 to 5 in order of increasing efficiency (Figure 3). The star label on products is aimed at helping consumers make energy efficient purchases. For household appliances labeling was first introduced in 2006 on a voluntary basis for refrigerators. In India there are primarily two categories of refrigerators:



- Frost free (FF) refrigerators: These refrigerators come with either two or three doors. Cooling in these refrigerators is by forced air circulation which leads to automatic frosting of the unit. The gross volume of Frost Free models ranges from 200 litres to 600 litres.
- **Direct Cool (DC) Refrigerators**: These are single door refrigerators where the upper portion of the unit houses the freezer, the middle portion is the refrigerator and the bottom portion is normally used for storing vegetables. In a Direct Cool refrigerator, cooling is obtained by natural convection only. These refrigerators require manual defrosting of the frost accumulated in the freezer. Storage capacities of Direct Cool refrigerators range from 50 litres to 300 litres

Historically, DC refrigerators have dominated the refrigerator market and had a 75% market share in 2010-11. However, market size of larger FF refrigerators is also increasing gradually (Figure 2).





Source: Euromonitor, 2012

Foreseeing the changing market conditions, BEE declared mandatory star labeling for FF refrigerators in January 2010. BEE is also considering the same declaration for DC refrigerators in July 2016.

#### Market transformation of energy efficient refrigerators

Table1 shows the market share of star labeled refrigerators from 2007-10. It can be observed that, when star labeling for refrigerators was first introduced in 2006 by BEE, no refrigerator model was a 1 star and 2-star labeled models also had negligible market share. However, the total market share of 5-star labeled refrigerators had increased from 0.20% in 2007-08 to 58.09% in 2010-11 while that of 4-star labeled refrigerators declined from 76.69% in 2007-08 to 20.63% in 2010-11. This indicates a gradual market shift from less efficient refrigerator models to more efficient refrigerators.

Category wise market penetration of star labeled refrigerators shows similar results. In the FF segment, production of 5-star refrigerators was very low till 2008-09 after which there was a surge in production and a 130% increased from 6474 units in 2008-09 to 844,791 units in 2009-10. Market share of 5-star FF refrigerators has increased from 0.5% to 58.1% and together the more efficient 4 and 5-star refrigerators had almost 80% market share in 2010-11. For DC category also, market has gradually moved towards 5-star, with 56.8% market share in 2010-11 compared to just 0.1% in 2008-09.

Star	Market share (%)											
category	2008-09			2008-09			2009-10			2010-11		
	DC	FF	Total	DC	FF	Total	DC	FF	Total	DC	FF	Total
1 star	0	0.0	0	0	0.0	0	0	0.0	0	0	0.0	0
2 star	0.5	0.0	0.3	0.2	0.0	0.1	0.2	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.1
3 star	24.3	19.1	23	14.7	13.4	14.4	24.5	10.9	21.4	23.4	12.8	21.2
4 star	75.2	80.4	76.7	77.2	86.2	79.8	29.4	41.3	32.1	19.7	24.3	20.6
5 star	0.1	0.5	0.2	7.9	0.4	5.7	46.0	47.8	46.4	56.8	62.9	58.1
	1											

#### Table 1: Market share of star-labelled refrigerators

(Source: BEE)

#### Mapping energy performance of Indian refrigerators on international standards

Refrigeration appliances are perhaps the most regulated products globally with respect to energy efficiency and yet, test procedures for these appliances are least harmonized with most complex and diverse range of national and regional test procedures used globally. This is also because energy

consumption of refrigerators is affected by climatic and ambient temperature conditions in addition to lifestyle which vary considerably by the region. This makes international comparisons of energy performance of refrigerators challenging.

Many countries have programs for energy labelling and use different methods for determining energy efficiency standards for electrical equipment. The MEPS system is used in many countries like the US, Australia and India under which all efficiency levels of energy consuming products must not exceed certain standard value, which is the minimum efficiency. The second method is *class- average standard value system*, under which the average efficiency of all products covered in this system should exceed standard value. This system was used in Japan until 1999, when top runner standards were introduced. The Top Runner standards used a maximum standard value system which uses a base value of the product with the highest energy efficiency available in the market at the time of standard setting process and sets standard values by considering potential technological improvements added as efficiency improvements<sup>1</sup>.

The US Department of Energy's (US DOE) Appliances and Commercial Equipment Standards Program is managed by the Office of Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy (EERE), which develops and announces test procedures and prescribes mandatory MEPS for consumer appliances and commercial equipment required under the National Appliance Energy Conservation Act (NAECA, 1987). Under NAECA standards for residential refrigerators, refrigerator-freezers and freezer were first announced in 1989 which were revised in 1997 and 2007. The next revisions are to be implemented in July 2014. Besides, there is also the US Environment Protection Agency's (EPA) voluntary labelling program "Energy Star" under which energy star label is given to energy consuming products that are at least 20% more efficient than the existing NAECA standard. In Japan, the Top Runner Program had resulted in an improvement of energy efficiency levels by 55.2% between 1998 and 2004.

Australia also has a standards and labeling program similar to India for nine categories of refrigeration appliances. India's test standards for refrigerators have been derived from Australia (AS/NZS 4474). Since both climatic conditions and consumer preferences are similar between Australia and India, it will be logical to benchmark energy performance of refrigerators in India (both DC and FF) against standards in Australia

Figure 3 shows comparison of energy performance standards of Australia with India for FF refrigerators. Energy consumption of frost free refrigerators available in the Indian market today has also been mapped on the same graph to illustrate their energy performance compared to Australian standards. The Highest energy performance standard or HEPS for FF refrigerators in India is BEE 5-star while the MEPS is BEE 1-star. In Australia, the HEPS is defined by the 6-star label and MEPS by the 1-star label. Comparing the MEPS and HEPS of India and Australia for FF refrigerators (group 5T), it can be observed that the Indian MEPS lags significantly behind the Australian MEPS, the difference being as high as 45%.

Comparing the HEPS in FF segment, the Australian energy performance thresholds for 6-star topmounted refrigerators are 65% stronger than that for BEE 5-star.



Figure 3: Comparison of Indian standards for FF refrigerators with Australian standards

<sup>1</sup>METI, 2010. Top Runner Program: Developing the world's most efficient appliances

BEE's star labeling plan for refrigerators

In India, the BEE declares mandatory energy labeling of products through a notification in the official gazette. For FF refrigerators, such a notification was released on January 12, 2009 instructing manufacturers to compulsorily affix star labels on their FF products from January 2010 onwards. In parallel, BEE had also released energy labeling requirements for FF and DC refrigerators in schedules 1 and 5A respectively in 2006. These schedules informed manufacturers about time bound revisions in the energy performance standards of refrigerators up till December 2015.

Released much in advance, the schedules were aimed at giving manufacturers sufficient preparatory time for moving to higher energy efficiency in the future. However, keeping in view changing market conditions, BEE also convenes technical committee meetings before a forthcoming revision and seeks manufacturer inputs on energy performance thresholds prescribed. Being a mandatory product, revisions in energy performance thresholds for FF refrigerators have so far been on time.

The same cannot be said for DC refrigerators though. The voluntary nature of the labeling scheme for this product category has led to frequent delays in the plan envisaged and prescribed by BEE in the schedule. For FF refrigerators, the rating plan was revised for the first time since 2006 in January 2010 and for the second time in January 2012. This will be followed by the third revision in January 2014. With each revision since 2006, there has been a 20% ratcheting of standards. The next revision in 2014 aims at a 40% jump from the current levels.

For DC refrigerators, the rating plan has not been revised since 2006. Recent developments have indicated at a next revision for DC category in July 2014, followed by a mandatory labeling and threshold revision in January 2016. Thus for both categories of refrigerators, BEE does not have a plan for revising energy performance thresholds beyond 2016.

#### Need for techno-economic analysis

Prior to launching the S&L program for refrigerators in 2006, BEE had conducted several studies and collected manufacturer data to decide and fix energy performance thresholds for refrigerators in the coming few years. Similar studies need to be undertaken by BEE well in advance to make informed decisions on fixing energy performance standards that reflect changing market and technology conditions. Most countries undertake techno-economic analysis to seek answers to the following questions:

- Determining the best target efficiency level for standards: Considering that technologies for improving appliance efficiency are evolving continuously over the last few decades, there is a certain achievable limit to energy performance that can be reached. A techno-economic analysis helps in estimating the best target efficiency level through the introduction of the best available technology
- How will the technology intervention(s) effect consumers and manufacturers financially? It is a well-established fact that all new technological interventions in existing products have a cost associated with them. In general, it has been observed that more efficient products are more expensive than those that are relatively less efficient. By conducting a techno-economic analysis, the impact on the manufacturer as an increase in manufacturing cost and on the consumer through an increase in purchase cost can be determined
- *Impacts on national energy consumption and GHG emissions*: A more efficient product or super-efficient appliance will result in reduction in national energy consumption and consequently lead to a decline in net GHG emissions

A potential drawback of techno-economic analysis is that the efficiency and cost of a project model may be subject to significant uncertainty since it has not been mass produced [3]. Projecting prices of models that are significantly more efficient than existing models is difficult and subject to uncertainties and variations (over time and for models of differing efficiencies). Also typically manufacturers do not perform a rather theoretical techno-economic analysis for deriving at efficiency improvements. In most cases, manufacturers try out different combinations of options on the field, test the energy performance of the model and evaluate whether this meets prescribed standards and finally based on cost estimates mass produce the new improved model.

However despite these limitations, a techno-economic analysis helps policy makers in making a broad assessment of efficiency possibilities and cost implications.

In the present paper, we have presented the findings from a techno-economic analysis for determining efficiency levels economically feasible for refrigerators in India. A consumer-impact analysis was also done to estimate payback period, cost of conserved energy.

Under, the Super-Efficient Equipment Program (SEEP) BEE plans to offer manufacturers incentives to produce superefficient appliances that are 30-50% more efficient than the most efficient ones available in the market. Findings from this study will be useful in indicating the maximum efficiency

levels that can be achieved cost effectively using commercially available efficient technologies. This analysis will also help in designing incentive mechanisms for accelerating and commercializing superefficient technologies so that high cost of the Super-efficient appliances (SEA) does not become a barrier

### Methodology

We conducted a techno-economic analysis of commercially available technology options for improving the energy efficiency of Indian refrigerators. Described below is the approach followed for conducting the techno-economic analysis.

**Selection of baseline units**. Selection of the baseline unit is the starting point for analyzing design options for improving energy efficiency. The baseline model selected should be representative of the class. In the previous sections we have described how market for refrigerators has transformed and 5-star labeled refrigerators account for more than 50% of the total refrigerator market for both categories (DC and FF). Therefore 5-star labeled unit was selected as the baseline for additional efficiency improvements. Also, based on volume-wise market share data obtained from [4] for DC refrigerators, a 170 litre model was selected as baseline and for FF refrigerators a 220 litre model was selected.

**Selection of design options for improving refrigerator efficiency**: Based on a comprehensive review of similar studies done by agencies like US DOE [5] European Ecodesign Initiative [6] and Japan's Top Runner Program [7], a list of design options for improving energy efficiency of both frost free and direct cool type of refrigerators was prepared. The different design modifications were listed under the following components of refrigerator design:

- Insulation
- Improvements in design of door gasket
- Anti-sweat heater
- Heat exchanger (condenser and evaporator)
- Fan and fan motors
- Compressor
- Expansion valve
- Defrost system
- Optimization of system controls
- Alternative refrigeration cycles
- Alternative refrigeration systems
- Other technologies (not mentioned under any of the above categories)

The list of options compiled and discussed with Indian manufacturers did not take into account global experience and evaluation of these options. This was because, Indian conditions are unique and while some options could have been rejected in other studies they might be feasible and implementable for Indian refrigerators. Therefore, a complete list of design options was taken to the manufacturers.

**Consultations with manufacturers**: The initial list of design options was prepared based on review of studies done globally on improving energy performance standards for refrigerators. Meetings were conducted with four leading refrigerator manufacturers for discussing these options. Two of these manufacturers are domestic and while the other two are international players that together comprise more than 50% of the market. All the consulted manufacturers have refrigerator manufacturing facilities in India. For getting the desired inputs from manufacturers on the identified design options, a spread-sheet based questionnaire was prepared for manufacturers. The spread sheet served as a database for compiling information from manufacturers under the following categories:

- *Feasibility or implement ability*: For each of the identified design option, the feasibility of implementing the option in India and the time period for bringing the technology to India was asked from consulting manufacturers
- Applicability: Applicability of the design option to Direct cool or/and frost free refrigerators was asked
- Improvement in energy efficiency (%): The improvement in the energy efficiency of the baseline refrigerator models relative to the baseline BEE 5-star model was needed from

manufacturers. Consulted experts were asked to provide an estimate of an improvement in energy efficiency with the introduction of each design option under each component category

- Incremental manufacturing cost (INR): Each change in design of the component has a cost associated with it. This cost is reflective of the manufacturing cost (if the component is manufactured in India) or the import cost (if component is imported). The incremental cost to manufacture relative to baseline of 5-star was asked
- Increase in consumer price (INR): Manufacturers pass on any increase in the manufacturing cost to consumer. Therefore any change in the price of the product due to the introduction of a design option in the baseline model was captured through the questionnaire
- Any other option: Manufacturers were asked to provide information about any other option that was not included in the original list, which they felt could contribute to energy use reduction in a refrigerator

Consulted experts were encouraged to share more information with respect to the challenges faced by manufacturers in improving energy performance for refrigerators in India and their general perception about how these challenges can be overcome was also discussed. It must be noted that estimates given by manufacturers on the incremental costs to producer and consumer are indicative. High estimates can often be provided for more efficient technology since the technology has not been imported or manufactured in India, in which case the estimates are subject to changes in exchange rates, global component/commodity prices and may change due to economies of scale.

1. Insulation       Increased insulation thickness         improved resistivity of insulation         Increase in density of PU foam density	
improved resistivity of insulation Increase in density of PU foam density	
Increase in density of PU foam density	
improved thermal properties of insulation foam	
Vacuum-insulated panels in the model door	
2. Design of door gasket Double door gaskets	
improved door face frame	
gas filled panels	
3. Anti-sweat heater Electronic control of hot gas discharge tube embedded around freezer door frame	
Optimal positioning and design of electric anti-sweat	
heaters of freezer doors	
Electric anti sweat heater sizing	
Variable anti-sweat heating	
Electric heater controls	
4. Heat exchanger (Condenser and Improved heat exchange through use of enhanced	
Evaporator) fins/tubes of evaporator and condenser	
Increase in area of condenser	
Increase in area of evaporator	
Incorporating forced convection heat exchangers	
5. Fan and fan motors Use of more efficient fan motors like Brushless DC fan motors	
Use of phase-change materials integrated into heat exchanger to increase effective thermal capacity	
Phase-change materials+ optimization of the compresso on/off cycling	Sr
6. Compressor Variable speed compressors/variable capacity compressors	
Linear compressors	
Alternative technologies to reciprocating compressors	
7. Expansion Valve valves) Use of fluid control or solenoid valves	
8. Defrost system Reduced energy for automatic defrost	
Use of adaptive defrost system	
Condenser hot gas defrost system	

Table 2: List of design options compiled and discussed with Indian manufacturers

9. System controls	Electronic temperature controls
	Air distribution control
	improved electric controls with VCCs
10. Alternative Refrigeration cycles	Lorenz Meutner cycle
	Dual loop system
	Two-stage system
11. Alternative Refrigeration systems	Stirling cycle,
	thermo-electric refrigeration
	thermo-acoustic
12. Other Technologies	Alternative refrigerants
	Change in component location

**Generating cost-efficiency curves**: Based on the inputs from consulted manufacturers, cost-efficiency curves were developed, indicating the relationship between incremental manufacturing costs (INR) and the percentage efficiency improvements associated with each design option.

**Estimating Life cycle costs (LCC)**: To assess the impact of a new more efficient product on the cost to the consumer during the lifetime of the product, Life Cycle Cost is calculated. The US DOE calculates LCC as the sum of the purchase cost and the annual operating costs discounted over the lifetime of the product and calculated based on the equation below:

$$LCC = PC + \sum_{1}^{N} \frac{OC}{(1-r)^{t}}$$

Where, PC= Product Cost OC= Annual operating cost of the product r= discount rate t= lifetime of the appliance

The annual operating cost of the product reflects the savings accruing to the consumer on account of the higher efficiency and is equal to the product of the Unit electricity Cost or tariff (Rs/kWh) and the energy consumption of the product. It is expected that the Life cycle cost of a more efficient product is likely to be lower than that of a less efficient product because of lowered operating costs associated with the former. The monetary savings to the consumer over the lifetime of the appliance have to also be discounted by using a constant discount factor r. Since consumers value immediate savings more than future savings, the time value of money is typically accounted for by discounting future savings using a discount rate [8].

For this study, LCC for each design option was calculated as:

LCC= Product Cost + NPV of operational costs, discounted over lifetime of the product

**Consumer impacts analysis:** to understand the cost implications of purchasing more efficient refrigerators from consumer perspective, payback period and benefit-cost ratio.

• **Payback period:** The Payback period is an often used number when estimating the time period of returns from an initial investment in any product or service. As discussed in the previous sections, energy efficient appliances cost more than lesser efficient appliances. Similarly, introduction of a super-efficient refrigerator incorporating one design option or a combination of design operations has high initial investments associated with it. A payback period is the number of years after which cumulative operating cost savings exceed the incremental equipment cost. The incremental equipment cost is additional to the cost paid for by the consumer for a lesser efficient model:

#### Payback Period= $\Delta IC / \Delta OC$

Where  $\Delta IC$  is the purchase cost difference between a more efficient and less efficient product and  $\Delta OC$  is the difference in operating costs of a more efficient and less efficient product.

• **Cost of Conserved Energy (CCE):** the cost of conserved energy divides the incremental investment cost by the annual energy saved (INR/kWh)

The parameters used for calculating payback period, CCE and Life cycle cost (LCC) are given below:

<u>Product cost:</u> Manufacturer consultations provided information about the change in product costs associated with specific design options. We assumed that these incremental values over the cost of the baseline of BEE 5-star was inclusive of the retail mark-up. We used market data<sup>2</sup> collected from trade magazines to estimate the average price of 180Litre 5-star Direct cool refrigerator and a 220Litre 5-star frost free refrigerator.

<u>Appliance lifetime (t)</u>: The typical lifetime of a refrigerator is 10 years [4]. However our experience conducting market research in North Delhi on refrigerator replacement cycle indicated that vintage of refrigerators owned range from 6 years to 20 years. In another study [8] assumed a refrigerator lifetime of 15 years for Indian refrigerators. The feedback from manufacturers on refrigerator lifetime was also approximately 7 to 10 years. We have therefore used an average lifetime of 10 years for refrigerators for doing the LCC analysis.

<u>Unit electricity cost (UEC)</u>: UEC used for payback period analysis was based on published tariffs from the ARR of Delhi based private distribution company<sup>3</sup> assuming that a domestic consumer using a refrigerator will fall in the tariff slab corresponding to 100 kWh/month would give a national average rate of INR 4.5/kWh (based on domestic sales). Using national average tariff rate from 2009-10 is a conservative assumption, since higher electricity prices at present and in the future will yield larger monetary savings to the consumer. To refine payback period and BCR estimates for the design options, a year on year tariff escalation rate of 5% for determining the NPV of operational costs over the lifetime of the product was also used. The escalation rate is based on average long term inflation rate.

<u>Discounting factor (r)</u>: Calculating the discount factor for discounting operational energy savings to consumer overtime is challenging. Discounting factor used by [9] for estimating potential energy savings from improved energy efficiency of refrigerators in India was 15% for domestic consumers. It was based on the rate used by utilities for their investment in Demand Side Management or efficiency programs. In India, very few utilities have guidelines for estimating cost-effectiveness of DSM interventions. Maharashtra Electricity Regulator Commission (MERC) has published Regulations for DSM measures and Program's Cost Effectiveness Assessment in 2010. In the present study we have used MERC's prescribed discounting factor for participants (consumers) in a DSM program, which is 13%.

#### Results

#### (1) Design options for efficiency improvements in Indian refrigerators

As described above, four leading manufacturers were approached with a list of design options studied globally for bringing about further energy improvements in existing domestic refrigeration appliances. Not all design options discussed with the manufacturers were found feasible for Indian conditions. The Indian scenario as described by one of the experts is different from rest of the world; it is characterized by diverse climatic conditions in different parts of the country, differing quality and reliability of supplied power and voltage fluctuations, differing ambient conditions (where in many domestic households refrigerators are kept in warm kitchens). These factors have prompted Indian manufacturers to over-design components used in Indian refrigerators to enhance their ability to withstand varied conditions.

Table 3 shows the final list of design options, for which the consulted experts provided complete information (1) % improvement in efficiency over baseline (2) incremental costs to manufacturer and (3) cost to consumer.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> TV Veopar Journal, January 2013 issue

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Tata Power Delhi Distribution Limited: www.tppdl.com

Component	Design Option	Energy efficiency improvement over BEE 5- star	Time period for implementation	Incremental Manufacturing Costs (INR)
Insulation	Increased insulation thickness ( 8 to 10 mm)	10%	3-5 months	Rs.400/- approx
	Increase in density of PU foam	4 ~ 5%	1 month	Rs.250/-
	Vacuum-insulated panels in the model door	10 ~ 12%	3-5 months	Rs.400 ~ 500/-
Heat Exchanger Improvements	Increase in area of condenser (20%)	5-6%	2-3 months	Rs.150 ~ 180/-
	Increase in area of evaporator (by 20%)	5-6%	2-3 months	Rs.150 ~ 180/-
	Incorporating forced convection heat exchangers	5-6%	4-5 months	Rs.150 ~ 180/-
Fan Motors	Brushless DC motors	2-3%	4-5 months	Rs. 300
Compressor	Variable speed compressors/variable capacity compressors	25 to 30%	1- 1.5 years	Rs.2500 ~ 3000/-
Electronic Controls	Electronic temperature controls.	5 to 10%	6-8 months	Rs.250 ~ 300/-
	air distribution control	5 to 10%	6-8 months	Rs.250 ~ 300/-

Table 3: Final list of design options for improving efficiency of Indian refrigerators

It must be understood, that complete data for all design options was difficult to obtain from the consulted experts. For e.g. for some options even if information with respect to feasibility, time period of implementation and efficiency improvements was available, the cost estimates were not provided by consulted experts. We observed that most technical experts in leading manufacturing companies do not willingly share data on cost estimates since this information is highly confidential. Also, some of the experts consulted confessed to having limited knowledge about costs and efficiency estimates since no prior research has been conducted on these aspects by the Indian refrigerator manufacturing industry. According to one expert, during product development and designing, field technicians experiment with different combinations of design changes in a few components to meet the energy performance standard prescribed by BEE under the star label.

Some options like Variable Speed Compressors have high initial investments associated with their introduction although the efficiency gains are significant (25-30%) while some options like better electronic controls of temperature and air distribution result in 5-10% energy savings at a much lower cost (Rs. 250-300). The time period required for most design options is less than 6 months which is a good indication since it implies that future improvements in energy efficiency of refrigerators will be able to meet BEE targets timely.

#### (2) Combining options for energy efficiency improvements

As mentioned above, efficiency improvements in refrigerators while designing and development are brought about through a combination of changes in key components. We followed the same logic while arriving at different design options for improving efficiency of baseline BEE 5-star in both Direct cool and Frost free categories of refrigerators.

In the previous sections, alternative insulation technologies like VIPs were discussed. VIPs in the model door alone can lead to 10-12% improvement in the energy performance of BEE 5-star refrigerator. VIPs can also be used in combination with PU foam insulation wherein, VIPs can be fixed in certain critical parts of the refrigerator like the freezer door, near the compressor etc, where better

insulation will result in significant reduction in energy consumption of the refrigerator. We therefore identified two cases for design improvements

- **Case 1: Without VIPs:** This combination of design options ruled out the introduction of VIPs in the model door and was focussed on achieving energy efficiency improvements through changes in the existing PU foam insulation, heat exchangers, compressor, fan motors and electronic controls
- Case 2: With VIPs: This combination of design options was based on the assumption that assuming that PU foam insulation cannot be used and VIPs replace PU foam insulation in all parts of the refrigerator.

For both the cases, with each successive improvement in % energy efficiency, options were combined and finally cumulative impact of combining options, one step at a time on the energy efficiency was estimated. The design options for direct cool and frost free refrigerators are described below.

<u>Direct cool Refrigerators</u>: The final list of design options and the associated energy efficiency improvements and incremental manufacturing costs for direct cool refrigerators is described in tables 4 and 5.

Design Number	Options	Efficiency Improvement (%)	Incremental Manufacturing Cost (INR)
1	increase in area of condenser by 20%	5%	170
2	1+ increase in area of evaporators by 20%	10%	340
3	2+increase in density of PU foam	15%	590
	3+ incorporating forced convection heat		
4	exchangers	20%	760
5	4+ increase in insulation thickness	28%	1160
6	5+ variable speed compressors	53%	4160

#### Table 4: Design options under Case 1- Without VIPs for Direct Cool Refrigerators

It must be noted that the efficiency improvements associated with related options cannot be summed *up*. Therefore, and any impact on the energy efficiency cumulatively between related options needs to be discounted to account for any reductions that may occur when related options are combined. For e.g. although when individually implemented, increasing the thickness of PU foam and increasing the density of PU foam result in 10% and 5% energy efficiency improvement, when combined together, the resultant energy efficiency improvement will not be 10%+5% or 15%; in fact since both are related to insulation improvements, the efficiency improvement will be discounted by a small factor. Based on experts consulted, this discounting percentage ranged from 5% to 10%.

#### Table 5: Design options under Case 2- With VIPs for Direct cool refrigerators

Design Number	Options	Efficiency Improvement (%)	Incremental Manufacturing Cost (INR)
1	Vacuum-insulated panels in the model door	12%	500
2	1+ increase in area of condenser by 20%	18%	680
3	2+increase in area of evaporator by 20%	22%	860
4	3+ incorporating forced convection heat exchangers	26%	1020
5	3+ variable speed compressors	52%	3860

<u>Frost free refrigerators</u>: The final list of design options and the associated energy efficiency improvements and incremental manufacturing costs for direct cool refrigerators is described in tables 16 and 17

Design Number	Options	Efficiency Improvement (%)	Incremental Manufacturing Cost (INR)
1	increase in area of condenser by 20%	5%	170
2	1+ increase in area of evaporators by 20%	10%	340
3	2+increase in density of PU foam	15%	590
	3+ incorporating forced convection heat		
4	exchangers	20%	760
5	4+ BLDC fan motors	23%	1060
6	5+electronic temperature controls	33%	1360
7	6+ air distribution controls	40%	1660
8	7+ increase in insulation thickness	47%	2060
9	8+ Variable speed compressors	70%	4660

#### Table 6: Design options under Case 1- Without VIPs for Frost free Refrigerators

#### Table 7: Design options under Case 2- With VIPs for Frost free refrigerators

Design Number	Options	Efficiency Improvement (%)	Incremental Manufacturing Cost (INR)
1	Vacuum-insulated panels in the model door	12%	500
2	1+BLDC fan motors	15%	800
3	2+increase in area of condenser by 20%	20%	970
4	3+ increase in area of evaporator by 20%	25%	1140
5	4+ incorporating forced convection heat exchangers	28%	1310
6	5+ electronic temperature controls	35%	1580
7	6+ air distribution controls	40%	1830
8	7+VSCs	60%	4830

#### (3) Cost-efficiency curves

The cost efficiency curves in Figures 4 and 5 for DC refrigerators and in figures 6 and 7 for FF refrigerators show the relationship between incremental manufacturing costs and corresponding efficiency improvement.

In Case 1, for both DC and FF refrigerators, where VIPs have been ruled out as a means for improving energy efficiency, improvements in the existing PU foam insulation through various means like increasing insulation thickness and increasing density of PU foam have been considered. The range of efficiency improvements in this case ranges from 5% to 53% in case of Direct cool refrigerators (Figure 4) and upto 70% for frost free refrigerators (Figure 6). At each stage, cumulative improvements in energy efficiency and the incremental manufacturing cost are calculated. The introduction of Variable Speed Compressors (VSCs) leads to a 23% increase in energy efficiency improvement from 47% to 70% in frost free refrigerators.

It can be observed that in Case 2, through the introduction of VIPs, a 12% improvement in the energy efficiency is possible, this is the first option in this case for both DC and FF refrigerators and has an incremental manufacturing cost of INR 500. There is a steep 60% increase in incremental manufacturing cost with design number 8 when VSCs are added to design number 7 and efficiency improves by 20% for frost free refrigerators (Figure 7)



Figure 4: Cost-efficiency Curve -without VIP (Case 1) for Direct Cool refrigerators





Figure 6: Cost-efficiency Curve -without VIP (Case 1) for Frost free refrigerators





# Figure 7: Cost-efficiency Curve without VIP (Case 2) for Frost free refrigerators

# (4) LCC and payback period analysis

The Life cycle costs for baseline and the design options under both case 1 and 2 were calculated assuming an appliance lifetime of 10 years and a year on year tariff escalation rate of 5%. These constants were used to calculate the NPV of operational costs of baseline product and improved products over the lifetime of the product discounted at 13%.

The simple payback period of improved product was calculated by dividing the difference in the retail cost of more efficient product and baseline 5-star and the monetary savings from the operation of more efficient product over the baseline. The LCC and Payback period was calculated for all design options and for both cases (case 1 and 2) for DC and FF refrigerators.

#### Direct Cool Refrigerators

Tables 9 and 10 show the LCC and Payback period associated with each combination of design options under cases 1 and 2 respectively for DC refrigerators. For DC refrigerators, the LCC of the baseline was calculated to be INR 20,585 and the LCC of the option that led to maximum improvement in energy efficiency (design number 6 leading to 53% improvements in case 1) was INR 22,029. This was because the product cost of design number 6 was high. The LCC of this design option exceeded that of the baseline.

However, for all the other design options, with subsequent improvements in the energy efficiency, the LCC reduced since NPV of operational savings associated with improved product decreased over the lifetime of the product. Under case 1, the payback period for all option was less than 5 years, which is lesser then assumed lifetime of 10 years for the product. An improvement in efficiency of up to 28% over the baseline 5-star labelled refrigerator has a payback period of less than 4 years. The CCE varies between INR 13.9/kWh to INR 32/kWh. This indicates that CCE increases with increasing efficiency and cost for conserving each unit of energy is also increasing.

Design Number	Efficiency improvement over baseline (%)	Annual Energy Consumption (kWh/year)	Annual Operating Costs (INR)	Retail cost of Product (INR)	Payback period (Years)	Life Cycle Costs (INR)	CCE (INR/ kWh)
0	0	245	1103	12,948	0.0	20585	0
1	5%	233	1047	13,220	3.1	20380	13.9
2	10%	221	992	13,492	3.1	20173	13.9
3	15%	208	937	13,892	3.6	20029	16.1
4	20%	196	882	14,164	3.4	19817	15.5
5	28%	176	794	14,644	3.8	19939	16.9
6	53%	115	518	15,124	7.1	22029	32.0

#### Table 8: Case 1 for 180 L Direct Cool Refrigerators

Under case 2, with addition of VIP, the LCC of the design option leading to maximum efficiency improvement i.e. design 5 resulting in 28% improvement in efficiency is higher than the baseline LCC. The payback period of all options except the fifth option was less than 5 years. The CCE varies between INR 17/kWh to INR 56.3/kWh. It can be concluded that case 2 for DC refrigerators, where VIPs are used is not a very cost-effective measure. It hikes the price of the product resulting in much higher payback periods and CCE.

Design Number	Efficiency improvement over baseline (%)	Annual Energy Consumption (kWh/year)	Annual Operating Costs (INR)	Retail cost of Product (INR)	Payback period (Years)	Life Cycle Costs (INR)	CCE (INR/ kWh)
0	0	245	1103	12948	0	20585	0
1	12%	233	970	13448	3.8	20168	17.0
2	15%	221	937	13628	4.1	20119	18.5
3	20%	208	882	13808	3.9	19917	17.6
4	25%	196	827	13968	3.7	19695	16.7
5	28%	176	794	16808	12.5	22306	56.3

#### Table 9: Case 2 for 180 L Direct Cool Refrigerators

#### Frost free Refrigerators

Tables 10 and 11 show the LCC and Payback period associated with each combination of design options under cases 1 and 2 respectively for FF refrigerators.

For FF refrigerators, the LCC of the baseline was calculated to be INR 30,695 and the LCC of the option that led to maximum improvement in energy efficiency (design number 9 leading to 70% improvements in case 1) was marginally lower at INR 30,612. For all design options, with subsequent improvements in the energy efficiency, the LCC reduced since NPV of operational savings associated with improved product decreased over the lifetime of the product.

For frost free refrigerators, under case 1, all design options except option 5 and 9 had a payback period less than 5 years. This implies, that design options for improving efficiency of baseline 5-star are cost-effective with small payback time periods. The CCE of options in case 1 range from INR 17.3/kWh to INR 33.8/kWh.

Table 10: Case 1 for 220 I	Frost free Refrigerators
----------------------------	--------------------------

Design Number	Efficiency improvement over baseline (%)	Annual Energy Consumption (kWh/year)	Annual Operating Costs (INR)	Retail cost of Product (INR)	Payback period (Years)	Life cycle costs (LCC)	CCE (INR/kWh)
0	0	315	1418	19,925	0.0	30,695	0
1	5%	299	1347	20,197	3.8	30,428	17.3
2	10%	284	1276	20,469	3.8	30,162	17.3
3	15%	268	1205	20,869	4.4	30,023	20.0
4	20%	252	1134	21,141	4.3	29,757	19.3
5	23%	243	1091	21,621	5.2	29,914	23.4
6	33%	211	950	22,101	4.7	30,612	20.9
7	40%	189	851	22,581	4.7	29,043	21.1
8	47%	167	751	23,221	4.9	28,929	22.3
9	70%	95	425	27,381	7.5	30,612	33.8

Even in case 2, all but two options had a payback period of less than 5 years. Comparing cases 1 and 2 for FF refrigerators, it can be concluded that for almost the same level of efficiency improvement (33% in case 1) and 35% in case 2, the payback period is different: 4.7 years for option 6 under case

1 and 5.1 years for option 6 under case 2. This also indicates that the return on investment for VIPs in FF refrigerators is not very lucrative and other simpler, cheaper options should be explored for improving efficiency like use of BLDC fan motors, increasing area of condenser and evaporators, improving electronic controls etc.

Design Number	Efficiency improvement over	Annual Energy Consumption	Annual Operating Costs	Retail cost of Product (INR)	Payback period (Years)	Life cycle costs (LCC)	CCE (INR/kWh)
0	Daselille (70)			10.005	0	20.005	0
0	0	315	1418	19,925	0	30,695	0
1	12%	277	1247	20,725	4.7	30,202	21.2
2	15%	268	1205	21,205	6.0	30,359	27.1
3	20%	252	1134	21,477	5.5	30,093	24.6
4	25%	236	1063	21,749	5.1	29,826	23.2
5	28%	227	1021	22,021	5.3	29,775	23.8
6	35%	205	921	22,453	5.1	29,453	22.9
7	40%	189	851	22,853	5.2	29,315	23.2
8	60%	126	567	27,653	9.1	31,009	40.9

#### Table 11: Case 2 for 220 L Direct Cool Refrigerators

#### Conclusions

The evaluation of efficiency improving design options for direct cool and frost free refrigerators is based completely on manufacturer inputs specifically on the costs of imported technologies and subsequent impact on the overall cost of the product as sold to the end consumer. Therefore, the increase in costs associated with increase in efficiency are strictly indicative and may not accurately represent true market conditions in the future, when these technologies will have to be deployed for meeting stricter energy performance standards (BEE has prescribed a 40% increase in efficiency over present baseline in the revisions that come into effect in 2014). Market dynamics will bring down the costs of these component design modifications in the future, substantially decreasing the pay back periods and costs borne by consumers.

Also, our consultations with manufacturers have indicated that some of the design options evaluated in the study have been introduced by some manufacturers for meeting the revised energy performance standards this year. As one manufacturer confirmed, BLDC fan motors have been used in its 5-star labelled frost free refrigerators launched this year. Advanced technologies like linear compressors have been introduced in premium segment frost free refrigerator models of one brand.

There is therefore no doubt that both incremental manufacturing costs and retail prices will change when manufacturers bring about efficiency improvements using the studied design options in future as they would have the benefit of competitive pricing and economies of scale.

The paper also throws light on costs involved for introducing super-efficient refrigerators in India. These findings will be useful in indicating maximum efficiency levels that can be achieved cost-effectively and pave way for further understanding of incentives requirements for promoting highly efficient refrigerators.

#### References

- 1. IEA, 2011. Energy efficiency policy and carbon pricing: Information Paper (available online at: http://www.iea.org/publications/freepublications/publication/name,4001,en.html)
- 2. Ellis, M., Jollands, N., Harrington, L. and Meier, A. 2007. Do energy efficient appliances cost more?, *ECEEE 2007 Summer Study*, 1127-1137
- 3. Turiel, I., Chap, T. And Mc Mahon, J.E. 1997. Theory and methodology of appliance standards, *Energy and Buildings* 26, 35-44
- 4. Euromonitor International, 2011. Refrigeration Appliances in India
- 5. US US DOE, 2005, Technical Support Document: Analysis of Amended Energy Conservation Standards for Residential Refrigerator-Freezers, available online at: http://www1.eere.energy.gov/buildings/appliance\_standards/pdfs/refrig\_finalrule\_tsd.pdf

- 6. Presutto, M. and Mebane, B. (2010) Lot 13: Domestic refrigerators and Freezers, Part 2: Improvement Potential. Preparatory studies for Eco-design requirements of EuPs. [report] European Union, p.3-133.
- 7. Energy Conservation Center, Japan. 2008. Top Runner Program REVISED EDITION/JAN 2008. http://www.eccj.or.jp/top\_runner/index.html
- Mc Neil, M.A., Iyer, M., Meyers, S., Letschert, V.E. and McMahon, J.E. 2008. Potential benefits from improved energy efficiency of key electrical products: The case of India, *Energy Policy* 36, 3467–3476s

European Commission EUR 26660 EN – Joint Research Centre – Institute for Energy and Transport

Title: Proceedings of the 7th International Conference EEDAL 2013 Energy Efficiency in Domestic Appliances and Lighting

Authors: Gueorgui Trenev, Paolo Bertoldi

Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union

2014 – 1499 pp. – 21.0 x 29.7 cm

EUR – Scientific and Technical Research series – ISSN 1831-9424

ISBN 978-92-79-38406-6

doi: 10.2790/2313

#### Abstract:

This book contains the papers presented at the seventh international conference on Energy Efficiency in Domestic Appliances and Lighting. EEDAL'2013 was organised in Coimbra, Portugal in September 2013. This major international conference, which was previously been staged in Florence 1997, Naples 2000, Turin 2003, London 2006, Berlin 2009, Copenhagen 2011 has been very successful in attracting an international community of stakeholders dealing with residential appliances, equipment, metering and lighting (including manufacturers, retailers, consumers, governments, international organisations and agencies, academia and experts) to discuss the progress achieved in technologies, behavioural aspects and policies, and the strategies that need to be implemented to further progress this important work.

Potential readers who may benefit from this book include researchers, engineers, policymakers, and all those who can influence the design, selection, application, and operation of electrical appliances and lighting.

As the Commission's in-house science service, the Joint Research Centre's mission is to provide EU policies with independent, evidence-based scientific and technical support throughout the whole policy cycle.

Working in close cooperation with policy Directorates-General, the JRC addresses key societal challenges while stimulating innovation through developing new standards, methods and tools, and sharing and transferring its know-how to the Member States and international community.

Key policy areas include: environment and climate change; energy and transport; agriculture and food security; health and consumer protection; information society and digital agenda; safety and security including nuclear; all supported through a cross-cutting and multi-disciplinary approach.



doi: 10.2790/2313 ISBN 978-92-79-38406-6